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PREFATORY,

The province of the historian is to gather the threads of the past ere they elude forever his

grasp, and weave them into a harmonious web, to which the " art preservative" may give immor-

tality; therefore he who would rescue from oblivion the deeds of a community, and send them

on to futurity in an imperishable record, should deliver " a plain, unvarnished tale,"

—

" Nothing extenuate,

Nor aught set down in malice."

In such a spirit have the compilers of the following pages appi-oached the work of detailing the

history of the county embodied herein, and trust they have been fairly faithful to the task

imposed.

It has been our lionest endeavor to trace the history of the development of this section

from that period when it was in tlie undisputed possession of the red men to the present, and to

place before the reader an authentic narrative of its rise and progress to tlie prominent position

it now occupies among the counties of New England.

That such an undertaking is attended with no little difljculty and vexation none will deny

;

the aged pioneer relates events of the early settlements, while his neighbor sketches the same

events with totally different outlines. Man's memory is ever at fault, while Time paints a

different picture upon every mind. With these the historian has to contend ; and while it has

been our aim to compile an accurate history, were it devoid of all inaccuracies that jjerfection

would have been attained of which the writers had not the faintest conception, and which Jjord

Macaulay once said never could be reached.

From colonial and other documents in the State archives, from county, town, and village

records, family manuscripts, printed publications, and innumerable private sources of informa-

tion, we have endeavored to produce a historj' whicli should prove accurate, instructive, and in

every respect worthy of the county represented. How well we have succectlitl in our task a

generous public, jealous of its reputation and honor, of its traditions and triumphs, must now be

the judge.

We desire to acknowledge our sincere thanks to the etlitorial fraternity generally for much

valuable information, which has greatly lessened our labor in the j)rej>aration of this work, and

also to each and every one who has assisted in its compilation, and would clieerfully make jxr-

sonal mention of each, but it is impracticable, as the number reaches over a tliousnnd.

I'UILADBLI'UIA, Junc 10, 1881.
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GEOORAPHICAL AND DESCRIPTIVE.

Litchfield County lies in the extreme north-

western portion of the State of Connecticut, and is

bounded as follows : On the north by Massachusetts,

on the east by Hartford and New Haven Counties,

on the south by New Haven and Fairfield Counties,

and on the west by the counties of Dutcliess and Co-

lumbia, in New York. It comprises about eight hun-

dred and eighty-five square miles of territory, and is

the largest county in area in the State.

The physical features of Litchfield County present

a bold outline of irregular hills and deep valleys.

The county is watered by the Housatonic, Naiiga-

tuck, Shepaug, and Farmington Rivers, and numer-

ous smaller streams. The Naugatuck anil Shepaug

are tributaries of the Housatonic, which flows into

Long Island Sound, while the Farmington empties

into the Connecticut River a few miles above Hart-

ford. The soil is generally a gravelly loam, in many
portions strong and fertile, and well adapted to graz-

ing. The manufacture of iron is carried on in this

county—principally in the town of Siilisbury—more

extensively than in any other section of the State.

ORGANIZATION OF THE COUNTY.

Litchfield County was organized in the year 17ol,

and at that time consisteil of the following towns:

Canaan, Cornwall, Goshen, Harwiiitoii, Kent, New
Hartford, New ^lilford, Salisbury, Sharon, Torriiig-

ton, and Wnodbiiry,—eleven in number. .\s the |Mip-

ulation increased new towns were f4>rmed, and at the

present time the county consists of twenly-six civil

subdivisions. The following is a list, with dates

of incorporation: Ilarkhamsted, 177'. * ; IJethleliem,

_1787; Bridgewater,JSo(]j (;anaan,"jT37; Colebrook,

1779; Cornwall, 1740; Goshen, 174'.i; Harwinton,

1737; Kent, 1739; Litchfield, 1724_l Morris, 1859j^

New Hartford, 1733, about ; New Milford, 172->^ prob-

ably ; North Canaan, 18o8_^Norfolk, 17oS; Plymouth,

1795 ;.
Roxbury, 180U Salisbury, 1745; Sharon, 1739 j_

Thomaston, 1875
^
Torrington, 1732 ; Warren, 1786

;

Washington, 1779j Watertowu, 1780; AVinchester,

WoodtJurv,1771j WoodlJiTry, UiZii
When the movement started for the organization

of the county much diversity of opinion existed re-

garding the location of the county-seat. Cornwall

and Canaan made their claims and had their advo-

cates, but the chief contest was between Litchfield

and Goshen. The latter town was supposed to occupy

thegeograjdiical centre, and many persons had settled

there in expectation that that would become the fixed

seat of justice, and, among others, Oliver Wolcott,

afterwards Governor of the State. But at the October

session of the General Court, in 1751, Li tchfielil County

was organized with Litchfield as the county-seat.

THE F[R«;T COUNTY OFFICERS.

The fidlowing were appointeil by the General Court

fipit officers of the county: Chief Justice, William

Preston, of Wootlbiiry; Associate Justices, John Wil-

liams, of Sharon ; Samuel Canfield, of New Milford
;

and Ebenezer Marth, of Litchfield; Clerk, Isaac

Baldwin: SheritV, Oliver Wolcott.

Mr. Kilbourne in his history says,

—

" EvMi aftpr thu county «n» lliu!i formetl ami Its offli-ers Apindnteil the

towo of Wtxxlbury cnntlnuml tii manlfrat her 4llisatlj»fiu-t)on In Tnrloui

ways auij at all reasunatio tinira. I nslead uf ticlng niailv the central and

slilra town of the new cuuiity, ttlie wiu left quilo In one ci>rncr. She Ant

petlttone«l the LrKlnlaturc (in Mny and Apiln In Oi-tol cr, 175-') to (h< n^

annexeil to the county of Falrflehl. Twenty years later an efl^irt was

again ninde to pcrauade llie General Aawnildy to orfcaoUe a CKinnly

to be talle,! Wiio«lbury. On this ucr.t,i|un Iho town of Woudbury laid a

rate of a jK'nny and a half i>n the pound, In addition tu the rvipilar t.i\,

ti> lie npplltxl towanls ererlluK the cowHfy ImiliHinj* : and. further, nhe

genortuuly ofTercO the use of her Toitm'll'tH for a CocaT-llotsa.

" Mr. Collirrn liifurina us thai In Uay, I74ti, the lnhal>ilants of Wuol-

bury sp|«ilntnl Od. William Preston an a^teut tu prefer a memorial tu

the General Assembly for the organitaflon of a new ci>unty to Iw calle.1

the county of Wtimlbury, to embrmce the t^wnsuf WiMnllmry, Walerlmr}-,

New MllfonI, Llttlifleld, and New Falrflehl, and as many of tbe norlheni

towns as mitiht cIunwo to J.dii them, with WiMMlbiiry for the cvunty-s»<aL

The reaull necl not lie told."

* Uarllaiid, HarUiml Co., originally boloDgeU lo Uil* county.

IS
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The County Court at its first session in Decemberof

the same year appointed Samuel Pettibone.of Goshen,

to be King's attorney, who was within a few years

succeeded by Reynold Marvin, of Litchfield, and these

two gentlemen Avere the only ones in this county in

this capacity who ever represented the King's majesty

in that administration of criminal justice.

COUNTY BUILDINGS.

The first jail erected was a small wooden building,

on the north side of East Street. This stood but a

few years, and in its place a more commodious one

was built, nearly on the same foundation. The present

jail was built in 1812, and has been subsequently im-

proved. The first court-house stood on the open

grounds a little easterly from the West Park. It was

a small building, but in it were often witnessed some

of the most able eflbrts of American eloquence. In

this humble temple of justice Hon. S. W. Johnston,

of Stratford, Edwards, of New Haven, Reeve, Tracy,

Allen, and the Smiths, of this county, exhil)ited some

of the best essays of forensic power. The present

court-house was erected in 1798.

CUIEF JUDGES COUKT OF COMMON PLEAS.*

William rieatou, WodJburj', 1751-54; Jolin Williams, SliHron, 1754-":!;

Oliver Wok-Dtt, T,itilifii-lil, 177:i-8C; Uunii-l Slierman, Woodbury,

1780-01; Jus'.ina Porter, Salisbury, 1701-1808; Aaron Ausliu, Now

Ilartforil, 1808-16; Augustus I'ettibolie, Norfolk, 1810-30; David S.

Uoardiiuin, Now Milford, 1831-:i0; William M. Burrall, Cuiuiau,

1830-38; Ansel Sterling, Sharon, 1838-39; Culvin liuller, Pljnioutli,

18:KI-40; Ansel Sterling, Sharon, 1840-42 ; William M. Burrall, Ca-

iman, 184;;-44; Abijah Catlin, llarwinton, 1844-40; Elisha S. Abor-

liethy, Litehlield, 1840-47; llolbrook Curtis, Watertown, 1847-40;

Ilir.im Goodwin, liarUliainsted, 1849-50; Charles 1!. I'hel|i6, Wood-

bury, 1850-51; Hiram Goodwin, Darkliamsted, 1851-52 ; Charles B.

Phelps, Woodbury, 1852-54; Uirain Goodwin, BnrkhamBted, 1854.

SHERIFFS FKOM 1751-1SS2.

Oliver Widcotl, 1751-72; Lynilo Lord, 1772-1801; .John R. Landon, 1801-

19; Bloses Seymour, Jr., 1819-25; Ozias Seymour, 1825-34; Albert

Sedgwiek, 1834-:i'.; Charles A. Judson, 1835-38; Albert Sedgwick,

1838-54; Levorett W. Wessels, 1854-06; H. W. Botsford, 1806-70;

George U. Baldwin, 1570-78; John D. Yale, 1878-81; Charles J.

Porter, 1881.

TREASUEEIiS FROM 1751-1882.

John Catlin, 1751-01; Elisha Sheldon, 1701-79; Reuben Smith, 1770-

1801; Julius Deming, 1801-14; Abel Catlin, 1814.42; Charles R.

Webb, 1842-04; G. A. Hiekos, 18C4-7C ; William C. Buell, 1876-81.

COCNTT CLERKS, 1751-1882.

Isaac Baldwin,1751-93;Freilericl;Wolcolt,1703-1830;Oiigcn S.Seymour,

183G-44 ; Gideon H. Ilollister, 1844-40 ; Origeu S. Seymour, 1840-47
;

Gideon II. Ilollister, 1847-50; Elisha Johnson, 1850-51; Frederick

D. Beeman, 1851-01 ; W, L. Rausom, 1801-81.

STATE'S ATTORNEYS.

Kia^'if Atlm-iipyn.—Sanuiel Pettibone, Goshen; J. Whitney, Cauaan;

Reynold Marvin, Andrew Adams, Litchfield.

iStal'i^s Altoriit^lfs.—Andrew Adams, Tapping Reeve, Litchfield; John Can-

field, Sharon; John Allen, Uriah Tracy, Daniel W. Lewis, Uiiel

Holmes, Jr., Litchfield; Elisha Sterling, Salisbury; Selli P. Beers,

Litchfield; Samuel Church, Salisbury {and Litchfield); Leman
Church, Canaan ; David C. Sanford, New Milford (and Litchfield);

John H. Hubbard, Salisbuiy (and Litchfield) ; Julius B. Ilanisou,

New Milford; Gideon Ilall, AVinchester ; Charles F. Sedgwick,

Sharou ; James Huntington, present iucuDibent.

* Court abolished in 1855.

CHAPTER IL

BENCH AND BAK.l

Among the prominent agencies which give shape

and order in the early development of the civil and

social condition of society, the pulpit, press, and bar

are perhaps the most potential in moulding the insti-

tutions of a new community ; and where these are

early planted, the school, academy, and college are

not long in assuming their legitimate position, and the

maintenance of these institutions secures at the start

a social and moral foundation upon which we may
safely rest the superstructure of the county, the State,

and the nation.

The establishment of court and judicial tribunals,

where society is protected in all its civil rights under

the sanction of law, and wrong finds a ready re-

dress in an enlightened and prompt administration of

justice, is the first necessity of every civilized com-

munity, and without which the forces of society in

their changeable developments, even under the teach-

ings of the pulpit, the direction of the jiress, and the

culture of the schools, are exposed to peril and disaster

from the turbulence of passion and conflicts of in-

terest ; and hence the best and surest security that

even the press, the school, or the pulpit can find for

the peaceful performance of its highest functions is

when prDtected by and intrenched behind the bul-

warks of the law, administered by a pure, independent,

and uncorrupted judiciary.

The Litchfield County bar has from its beginning

numbered among its members able jurists, talented

advocates, and safe counselors. Here many have lived,

flourished, and died, while others still are upon the

stage of action who have been prominent in the ad-

vancement of the interests of the county and figured

conspicuously in the councils of the State.

" Patridge Thatcher was the firet man who

practiced the legal profession in New Milford. He
was not educated to the profession, but took up the

trade because there were none of the craft hereabout

when this county was organized, which was after he

came to middle age. He was a native, I have been

told, of Lebanon, in this State, and came to New Mil-

ford I know not how long ago. He was, however, a

married man at the time. He had no children, but

a large number of negroes, whom he treated with

kindness enough to put to shame the reproaches of

all the abolitionists in New England. He was a man

of strong mind, of rigid morality, and religious to the

letter according to the strictest sect of orthodox Epis-

copacy. He adored Charles I. as a martyr, and he

hated Oliver Cromwell worse than he did the evil

one. Loyalty, unconditional loyalty, was the prime

element of his political creed. Of course, his name

f This chapter embraces the reminiscences of the late David S. Board-

man, of New Milford ; the remainder, except sketches of living lawyers,

being furnished chiefly by Gen. Charles F. Sedgwick, of Sharou, to whom

wc are under special obligations.
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was not found in any list of the wicked Whigs of the

Eevolution, and had he lived in these days he would

most thoroughly have eschewed Democracy and Ab-

olitionism. On the breaking out of the Eevolution-

ary war his loyalty necessarily silenced his voice in

court, and he died soon after its conclusion. Lawyer

Thatcher, as he was always called, was undoubtedly

a very odd, a very honest, and a very good man.
" Daniel Eveeitt was a native of Bethlehem, and

settled in New Milford as a lawyer some time during

the early part of the Eevolutionary war, probably as

early as 1776 or 1777, possibly earlier, as from a record

I have access to I see he was married to a daughter

of the Eev. Nathaniel Taylor on the 1st of January,

1778, and I remember that he lived here some time

before that event. He had not a collegiate education,

but was a man of good education and received an

honorary degree. He read law with Judge Adams, of

Litchfield, and I remember to have heard him say that

he occasionally officiated in Mr. Adams' place as State's

attorney when he (Adams) was absent in Congress,

which he often was during the war of the Eevolution.

Mr. Everitt was a man of much wit, boundless ex-

travagance of expression, quick conception, and in

command of language and fluency of utterance unsur-

passed, but not a man of much depth of mind, nor

had he much legal learning, his library extending

little beyond Blackstone and Jacobs' Law Diction-

ary.

"He had, I believe, a very good run of practice,

when the court rca//yopened to do civil business after

the conclusion of the war. His success in tliis respect

was, however, of rather sliort duration, a number of

younger lawyers having about that time commenced
practice here, and otlier circumstances conspired to

carry business away from liim, and he never recovered

it. While studying law I heard him argue a case or

two, keeping tlic court-house in a roar by his wit and

sarcasm, but by tlie time I was admitted—viz., in 1790

—he had about given up attending courts at Litchfield,

though ho was not fifty years of age, and indeed he

was, I think, but fifty-seven when he died, in 1805.

I met him, however, a few times before arbitrators

and justices, and had enougli to do to parry his home-

thrusts of good-natured wit. Before him I often

went, as lie tried almost all the justice ca.ses, which

he always did with entire integrity and usually came

to a correct conclusion. He represented this town, I

think, tiirec times in the General Assembly, and as

a member of the convention which ratified the Con-

stitution of tliu United iStates. He was a man of

strict honesty, entire moral rectitude of conduct, and

a professor of religion. He was, however, much given

to sociality, and to that conviviality which sometimes

borders on a kindred indulgence. Mr. Everitt suc-

ceeded the late Col. Samuel Canfield n-s judge of

probate in this district in 171K), and held that utBcu

till his death, at the time above mentionetl.

" Tapping Eeeve.*—I saw much of Judge Reeve's

practice at the bar for nearly five years, during which

time he was engaged in almost every case of import-

ance tried in the Superior Court at Litchfield, and
never failed to argue every one in which he was en-

gaged, if argued at all. In the County Court, after I

became acquainted with him, he did not practice.

His school had become numerous, and he gave up his

practice in that court because (I suppose) it too much
interrupted his course of daily lectures, and knowing

as he did that he should have a part in every cause

expected to be tried in the Superior Court. And, by

the way, trials were then managed and got through

with in a reasonable time, and not suft'ercd to be

dragged out to the abominable and shameful length

which they now are, to the disgrace of the profession

for indulging in it, and of the courts for permitting it.

"I joined Judge Reeve's school in the fiiU of 1793,

and he was not placed on the bench till the spring of

1796 ; so that I saw him at the bar during nine ses-

sions of the Superior Court, and never failed to listen

to him, if 1 could avoid it, with unqualified love and

admiration through every speech he made to its con-

clusion. I say with love, for no instructor was ever

more generally beloved by his pupils, and indeed en-

tirely so, except it was by those whose love would

have been a reproach to the object of it. As a rea-

soner he had no superior within the compass of my
observation of forensic performances. I mean true,

forcible, and honest rciisoning. In sophistry he was

too honest to indulge, and too discerning to sutler it to

escape detection in the argument of an adversary.

"As a speaker he wjis usually exceedingly ardent,

and the ardor he displayed appeared to be prompted

by a conviction of the justice of the cau.se he was ad-

wpating. Hia ideas seemed often, and, indeed, usu-

ally, to How in upon him faster than he could give

utterance to tliem, ami sometimes seemed to force him

to leave a sentence unfinished to begin another, and

in his huddle of ideas, if I may so express it, he was

careless of grammatical accuracy, and, though a thor-

ough scholar, often made bad grammar in public

speaking. Careless as he was of his diction, and

thoughtless as he wits nf ornament in ordinary eiLtes,

yet some elegant expressions and line sentences would

seem, as if by accident, to escape him in almost ever)'

speech. But in such coses as atlbrded the proper field

for the display ofeloquence, such as actions of slander,

malicious prosecutions, etc., and in that part of such

cases as usually prompt to exertions of tlie kind, his

hurried enunciation and grammatical inaccuracies

all forsook him, and then he never faileil to electrify

and astonish his audience. Many of these used to bo

recited to mc by tlioAC who had often heard him, and

it fell to my lot to witness one such occasion. In an

action for malicious prosecution, in closing the argu-

ment on entering U|K)n the subject of dumage.'t, he

• Sm Uiitvrjr gf Lllchfltlii, clHwbrr* Im Uil< work.



16 HISTORY OF LITCHFIELD COUNTY, CONNECTICUT.

burst forth into such a strain of dignified and soul-

tbrilling eloquence as neitlier before nor since has

ever met my ear. The first sentence he uttered

thrilled through every nerve of my entire frame to

the very ends of my fingers, and every succeeding

sentence seemed to increase in overwhelming effect.

I was perfectly entranced during its delivery, and for

an hour afterwards I trembled so that I could not speak

plain. His manner was as much changed as bis lan-

guage, and to me he looked a foot taller than before.

The next day I went to him and asked him to commit

to writing the concluding part of bis speech, to W'hich

request ho said in the simplicity of bis nature, 'Why,

if I should do that, perhaps I should make it better

than it really was, and that would not be fair.' We
told him (Mr. Bacon was with me) there was no

danger of that, for we knew it could not be bettered.

Well, ho said, he would try, but he did not know

whether he could recall it to memory, for there was

not a word of it written beforehand. A day or two

after he saw me in court, behind his seat, and beck-

oned me to him and said he had tried to comply

with my request, but it was so gone from him that he

could make nothing of it.

" I believe I have said enough in regard to Judge

Reeve as an advocate, and that is the e.xtent of your

inquiry. As a judge you are acquainted with his rep-

utation historically, though you probably never saw

him on the bench, as he left it in May, 1816, to the

regret of all admirers of legal learning and lovers of

impartial justice.

"John Allen was born in Great Barrington,

Mass., some time, I believe, in 1762, of respectable

parents, though not distinguished in society, as I re-

member to have heard him say that he was the son

of a joiner. There were but two children in ^e
family, a son and a daughter, both much distinguisned

in life for many good qualities, and especially for dig-

nity of manner and deportment, but the winning and

amiable accomplishments all fell to the lot of the fe-

male, gaining her many admirers, and among others

a husband worthy of her in that excellent man, Elizur

Goodrich, of New Haven. Their father died during

the minority of both the children. Mr. Allen, having

an excellent common-school education, though not a

classic education, became a teacher, and, being im-

pelled by a spirit of adventure, somewhat romantic

as he was thought in those days, went suddenly, and

without the knowledge of his friends, and while yet

a minor, to Germantown, near Philadelphia, where

he obtained a place as instructor of the younger

classes of an academic establishment of some note at

the time. How long he remained in the above-men-

tioned establishment I do not know, but soon after

leaving that place, and I believe almost immediately,

he came to New Milford, and taught a school for some

six mouths, and from here went immediately into Mr.

Reeve's law-school, and after the accustomed period

of study was admitted to the bar, and immediately

settled in practice in Litchfield, where he spent his

life. He confined himself almost entirely to the

practice of Litchfield County, though occasionally,

when calted, in consequence of the eminence to which

he soon attained in the profession, he practiced in other

counties in some cases of importance, and especially

in the Federal Circuit Court, in which, for a few

years after the formation of the present Constitution

of the United States, some considerable business was
done. Mr. Allen, however, never went abroad in

quest of business, thinking that the very great share

of attorney business which he acquired in being al-

ways found in his otfice equal, at least in point of

profit, to what counselor business he might obtain by
attending courts in other counties, considering that

all the counselor business flowing from the attorney

business which he did he was sure to be engaged in.

From the time I entered the law-school, in the fall of

1793, 1 occupied a room in his oftice, and had free ac-

cess to his ample libi'ary, and boarded at the same
house with him. During all that time, and all the

remaining years of his prosperous practice, which

indeed lasted till the apparent commencement of his

rapid decline, soon followed by death, he was engaged

in almost every case of any importance in the Sujoe-

rior and County Court. He was certainly a very suc-

cessful and powerful advocate, equally with the jury

as with the court, a thoroughly read lawyer, equal in

point of legal science to any one at our bar during

the fore part of the time I am speaking of, except

Tapping Reeve, who had no rival, and in the latter

part of the period James Gould, of whom I need say

nothing, as you knew him in his meridian light. Mr.

Allen always made diligent and faithful preparation

of all cases committed to his care, and made himself

fully acquainted with every point of law and every

accessible point of evidence which could arise in the

case, and was, therefore, usually successful when the

case deserved success.

" He was six feet four or five inches high, very

erect, and with an attitude and walk well calculated

to set off his full stature, and, though quite lean,

weighed full two hundred and thirty pounds. His

countenance was strongly marked and truly formi-

dable, his eyes and eyebrows dark, bis hair dark, what

little he had, for he was quite bald, far back, even be-

fore middle age, and indeed his whole appearance

was calculated to inspire dread rather than affection.

His manners and conversation were, however, such

as to inspire confidence and respect, though little cal-

culated to invite familiarity, except with bis intimates,

of whom he had a few, and those, knowing the gen-

erous and hearty friendship of which he was capable,

were usually much attached to him and ready to over-

look all his harsh sallies, imputing them to the ' rough

humor which his mother gave bim.' His feelings

were not refined, but ardent, generous, and hearty.

His friendships were strong and his aversions equally

so, and, as I used to say of bim speaking to others.
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' his feelings were all of the great sort.' He neither

enjoyed nor suffered anything from many of those

little incidents which so often affect, either pleasingly

or painfully, minds of a more refined texture. As

he had no taste for such things, nor, as it would seem,

any faculty of perceiving, so he knew no language

appropriate to their description, but in respect to those

things and principles which he thought worthy of his

regard he lacked no power of language to make him-

self fully and forcibly understood. For neutral ground,

either in morals or politics, he had no taste, and but

little less than absolute abhorrence. As a specimen

of his feelings and language, better than I describe,

I will give you the laconic answer to an inquiry

of him, why he took the Aurora, the leading Demo-
cratic paper in the county, then under the guidance

of that arch-Democrat, Duane ; he replied it was be-

cause he wanted to know what they were about in the in-

fernal regions. And after giving this specimen I need

make no further attempt to give you an idea of his

humor, manners, and language.

" After Mr. Allen was married, which was not till

he was towards forty years old, and went to house-

keeping, I boarded at his house at his express solicita-

tion for many years while attending court, though

he took no other one, nor ever named to me any price,

nor would he count the money I handed to him when
leaving for home, seeming to receive it only because

I refused to stay on any other terms. I therefore saw

much of him in his family, where his conduct wiis

always dignified, proper, and kind. He was proud,

very proud, and justly so, of his wife, who was a

woman of much jjcrsonal beauty, polished manners,

and great and even singular discretion, and for whom
he entertained, I believe, an ardent affection.

"Before his marriage and at the age of thirty-fivo

Mr. Allen was elected a member of the Fifth Con-

gress, where he distinguished himself at a time when
Connecticut Wiw never more ably represented in the

House of Representatives, and would undoubtedly

have been chosen for as long a period as he would

have desired to be a member of that body, but ho

declined a further election. He was elected an as-

sistant in 1800, and was re-electe<l for tlio five suc-

ceeding years, and as such was one of the judges of

the Supreme Court of Errors. For several ycnrrt pre-

vious to his election to Congress he had represented

the town of Litchfield in the General Assembly. His
wife was a granddaughter of the first (loveruor Gris-

w old.

" Bahzii.lai SLoasoN.— In speakingof Mr. Slosson,

I must first observe that I had Ibrnu'd a toleralily

correct notion of him before I ever saw liini. When
I was a boy his father was often at my father's house,

intimately ac<|uainted there, and, I believe, scarcely

ever pa.s.sed that way without calling and holding a

pretty long chat, for he never was in a hurry, and his

peculiar turn of mind, abundance of common .nense,

and great fund of wit, joined to his singularly slow,

emphatic, and sententious mode of talking, was such

as to secure the attention of any one, and especially

a boy. He used occasionally to speak of his children,

and especially of his oldest son, Barzillai, of whom he

was manifestly very proud, representing him to be

always at the head of the school when small, and af-

terwards used to speak with high gratification of his

industry and tact at acquiring the higher branches

of knowledge without the aid of an instructor, and

more particularly the knowledge of the dead lan-

guages, of which he knew nothing himself. And this

account given by the old gentleman, from intimate in-

tercourse and frequent conversation with his son when
I afterwards became acquainted with him, I found was

by no means exaggerated. And to his excellent and

accurate common-school education he owed much, very

ranch, of his character for exact accuracy and correct-

ness in all that he said and did through life. He was

about the best reader I ever heard, wrote a fair, hand-

some, and legible hand, and in the unfailing correct-

ness of his orthography and use of terms no lexicog-

rapher excelled him, and in everything pertaining to

mere English, home, and common-school education

no one appeared to be a more thorough proficient.

And in Greek and Latin I never saw his superior,

except old President Stiles, nor, with that exception

perhaps, his ei|uitl, unless it was old Parson Farrand,

of Canaan, and in the other branches of collegiate

education he was, to say the least, above mediocrity.

,
As he entered college not until the senior year, and,

;
I believe, did not even attend during the whole of

that year, he could not, of course, expect to shine and

did not shine in the college lionors depending upon

the faculty, but availed himself of the right to become

I

a candidate for the honors of Dean Scholar, and ob-

I

tuned the first premium for excellence in Greek and

Latin in a class of unusually high reputation. This,

I suppose, he did merely out of a laudable pride, for

he did not avail himself of the ]iecuniary reward,

which would have refpiired him to reside in New
Haven ; for he went, immediately after his gradua-

tion, with one of his classmates (Mr.—afterwards the

Rev. Dr.—Smith) to resiile in Shan>n as one of the

I
instructors in the Sharon Academy, then in full and

succe-Hsful operation. lie soon after became a stu-

dent-at-law under Governor Smith's instruction, and

the first County Court, which sat Bl\er his two years'

clerkship had expired, being in Fairfield County, he

, went there for examination and admission to the bar.

, This was, I believe, at the November term, I'Wi. It

was not until he began to atteixl court at Litclifield,

and while I wa.s in the law-school there, that I first

became personally acquainted with Mr. Slixinon,

though I had barely seen him onco or twice before.

After my admission to the bar, being locateil in ad-

joining towns, wo often met each other before justictw,

anil conHecpiently before the upper courts. From our

frequent meetings and intercourse at Litchfield and
' elsewhere I became greatly attached to him, and
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finally for <a number of years he and I, with South-

niayd for our constant companion, always occupied

the same room at Catlin's Hotel during every court

until his death, and there was the last time I ever

saw him in life. Soon after the court adjourned,

hearing of his rapid decline, I set out to visit him,

and on the way heard that he had died the night

before. I however went on and stayed with the fam-

ily until I assisted in burying him. This was in Jan-

uary, 1813, and in that grave I felt that I had buried

a sincere, and I am sure a much-loved, friend, on

whose character and conduct in life I could reflect

with melancholy satisfaction unmarred by a single

reproacliful recollection or one which I could wish

to have forgotten.

" Mr. Slosson's great fondness for ancient litera-

ture rendered him scarcely just in his comparative esti-

mate of that with modern improvements. As a lawyer

he was highly respectable in theory and remarkably

accurate in practice ; as a pleader I do not remember
that he ever had occasion to ask for an amendment
or to alter a tittle of what he had written. As an

advocate he was clear, deliberate, methodical, and
logical in his deductions. He sjioke in much of the

peculiarly emphatic numner of his fother above

mentioned, though not with his unusual slowness.

He was always cool and self-possessed, rarely warm-
ing into any high degree of animation or aiming at

efi'ect to appear eloquent, but he never failed to secure

a respectful and satisfied attention. Though not one

of the most leading advocates, of which there are al-

ways some three or four at the bar, he might, at least,

be estimated an equal to any of the second class of the

Litchfield bar, which was then certainly a highly

respectable one.

" Though not an aspirant after public preferment,

and from his habitually modest and retiring habits

not calculated to push his way when opportunities

ofiered, he was yet at the time of his decease in a fair

way of promotion. He was early and often elected

to the Legislature from his native town, and indeed

their usual representative until the October session,

1812, when he was elected clerk, which in those daj's

was a sure stepping-stone to future advancement;

and having myself been a witness of the manner in

which he performed the duties of that office, for

which no man was better qualified, I am sure he es-

tablished a reputation, which, had Providence per-

mitted, promised a solid and lasting existence.

" Mr. Slosson's political opinions were of the gen-

uine Washingtonian political school. None of your

heady, rash, and merely partisan notions found favor

with him. He was a constant and honest adherent

to the political views then prevalent in this State.

" The foregoing sketch of the leading incidents in

Mr. Slosson's life may be a sufiicient indication from

which to deduce his true character, but I must indulge

myself in adding that I never knew or heard of a

single act of his life, either in youth or mature years,

that left even a shade upon his reputation. Cool and
deliberate in his temperament, never hurried away
by enthusiasm,—for enthusiasm never manifested it-

self in his nature except in his passion for ancient

literature,—he was sure to think and act with pro-

priety. He was nevertheless warm and faithful in

his attachments, but not so far as to warp his con-

scientious regard for integrity. He was perfectly

just and generous in his intercourse with the world,

honest in his predilections, and uncompromising in

his love of virtue and detestation of vice. In moral-

ity his principles were without a taint, and his prac-

tice through life in conscientious conformity with them.

In religion he was a firm and steadfast believer in the

great doctrines of the gospel, though not a public pro-

fessor. His principles were those of true rational

Calvinism, unswayed by vindictive zeal or hysterical

weakness.
" He was a small man, not much, if any, under

medium height, but of slender frame and counte-

nance. Though not dark complexioned his coun-

tenance was rather dusky, his skin not clear; his

features, though far from handsome, bespoke intelli-

gence, and were therefore not disagreeable. His gen-

eral appearance was more like that of the late Leman
Church than any other member of the bar I can think

of, though he was somewhat larger and more erect.

J\r' Samuel W. Southmayd.—In the life, conduct,

/nd cnaracter of Samuel W. Bouthmayd there were

some peculiarities, such as render it a matter of diffi-

culty to describe him in such a manner as to make
them intelligible to one who did not personally know
him.

"I never saw or heard of him until I became a

member of the law-school, in the fall of the year 1793,

of which he had then been a member about one year,

I believe, and of which he continued a constant at-

tendant during the eighteen months which I spent

there. He was admitted to the bar the next term

after I was,—to wit, September term, 1795,—and

passed as good an examination as I ever heard there or

elsewhere, he having been for the full period of three

years under Judge Reeve's tuition. He was a native

of W.atertown, where he settled in practice, and where

he spent his life. Like Mr. Slosson, he had an ex-

cellent common-school education. Beyond that his

acquirements did not extend far in an academic course,

enough, however, I believe, to enable him to under-

stand the homely law Latin used in our books. Few
have entered upon the practice of law with a better

store of legal learning than Mr. Southmayd, but the

place in which he settled was not calculated from its

location and the habits of the people, by no means

litigious, to furnish much practice, and he was too

honest to promote litigation ; and furthermore, he

had no legal adversary there except an old gentleman

who never had any more legal learning than was

necessary for a church warden, and whose ignorance

made him the victim of Southmayd's merry witchery
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and innocent cunning, of both of which he had a

superabundance, though he never indulged in ma-

licious or even very serious mischief, and indeed in

none except such as would do to relate for the pur-

pose of making fun in merry company. Anecdotes

of that description used to be related in great num-

bers. As a pleader Mr. Southmayd was always sure

to have all in his drafts which was requisite and per-

tinent to the object in view, and in all his declarations

affording room for coloring circumstances to be in-

serted there was pretty sure to be found, slyly slipped

in, some ingenious slang whang, or Southmaydism,

as we used to call it. He was not ambitious of argu-

ing cases in court, but when he did he always dis-

played much ingenuity, and attracted respectful at-

tention from the audience as well as from the triers.

And before arbitrators, referees, and committees a

more formidable opponent could hardly be found.

And although his practice was not large, and as was

observed of Mr. Slosson he was not among the lead-

ing practitioners at the Litchfield bar, he was certainly

a very respectable lawyer, upon a par with the fore-

most of the second class, and much beloved and re-

spected by all whose good opinions are desirable.

" As was observed in the outset, there were peculi-

arities in Mr. Southm.iyd's private character and de-

portment which it is difficult to dcscril)c or reconcile.

Though of a benevolent disposition and full of good

nature and kind feelings, there was yet in him a vein

ofadventure after intellectual amusement, which, from

it« very nature, could not be gratified but at the ex-

pense of others, and often to such an extent as to render

them ridiculous in the view of third ))ersons to whom
the result of the adventure wa-s related. I have many
times joined most heartily in the laugh at the relation

of the result of many such seemingly innocent pieces

of roguery, though I could not help condemning the

mischief while participating in its fruits. In all such

indulgences Southmayd never cntcrtuined the loii-st

malice, for his heart wivs a stranger to it, but his in-

tense love of fun and enjoyment of the ridiculous

often impelled him to go beyond the line of honest

propriety. I used often to reproach him with it, but

my admonitions were not well calculated to take ed'ect

when given at the close of a hearty laugh.
" From what I have been saying of Mr. Southmayd

you would, 1 presume, bo ready to concluilo that he

was one of the most clicerly and happy of men. But

the case was directly the reverse, and during a consid-

erable period of his life, and that, too, the most val-

uable part of it, he was a very unhappy man indeed,

and I have no doubt he had recourse to much of the

indulgence of that peculiar propensity I have at-

tempted to describe for the purpose of dispelling a

mental malady which for a long timo opprc8.sed and
preyeil upon his heart. Ho was for many years the

victim of tlu^ strongest species of hypochondria that

ever mortal man was. It never showed it.self in long

tits of settled melancholy or monomania, but in sud-

den fits and starts. After hours of cheerful conversa-

tion, and while in entire health, he would suddenly

complain of great distress, and exhibit unmistakable

evidence of great terror and apprehension of imme-

diate dissolution. One very extraoi-dinary instance I

will relate. He and I had been alone many hours,

conversing and reading together, and he not in the

least complaining, when he at once sprung from his

seat and with a scream as would have alarmed me
had it been any other person, and pressing both hands

upon his breast, he exclaimed that he was going to die

immediately. I stepped to him and gently and calmly

said to him, ' Don't be alarmed, you are not going to

die' (for we never treated him as if we thought his

distress imaginary), and put my hand gently upon

him to lead him to the bed, when he raised one hand

from his breast and thrusting his finger against the

side of his head declared, with another outcry, that

something was passing through his head. I persuaded

him to lie down, telling him the feeling would pass

off in a few minute.s, but he continued to groan for

some time. I, knowing what would cure him, took

up and began to read to him one of Uurke's finest

essays, which lay by rae, and, turning to a passage of

extraordinary eloquence, read it, on which he sprung

up on end in the bed, and exclaimed, ' Was ever

anything finer than that I' I continued on reading,

and in the course of half an hour he wius well and

cheerful as ever. This was the most extraordinary

instjince I ever saw in him, but those in a degree like

it were frequent. He always went to bed an hour or

two before Slosson and I did, he saying that he never

was able to get asleep until he had gone through a

great deal of such feelings as he never would attempt

to describe.

" Mr. Southmayd was greatly esteemed in his na-

tive town by, I believe, almost every one, both old and

young. He was early in life sent to the Legislature,

and that often, and was so, I know, the last year of

his life. He ilied of lung fever in Xfarch, 1H13, about

two months after the death of his friend Slo.sson. At

the December term, ISl:!, the three who had .so long

occupied the same room in perfect harmony were for

the last time there together. At the February term of

the Siiprome Court, Southmayd and I oceupiiil it,

but felt that we were in solitude, and in the next term

it seemed U> me most emphatically a solitude, and

more like a family vault than like an abode for living

men, and I believe I have never been into it since.

" .Mr. Southmayd was undoubtedly an honest and

honorable man, of uncommon pleasing manners and

much beloved, and I never heard that he hail an

enemy. Indeed, the amenity of his mannem and the

gentleness of his temper almost forbade it.

"The family to which Mr. Southmayd bclongeil

was of the Congregational order, and two of bis sis-

ters married Congregational clergymen. He, how-

over, joined himself to the Kpi^copal Church, o(

which bo was a member after he settled iu life, and
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of which I believe he was a comiminicant, but am
not sure. He died unmarried, ami I believe in the

thirty-ninth or fortieth year of his age.

"Hon. John Cotton S^mith, the most eminent

citizen of the town of Sharon, was a son of Rev.

Cotton Mather Smith, and was born Feb. 12, 1765.

He was graduated at Yale College in 1783, ad-

mitted to the bar of Litchfield County in 1786, and

married to Miss Margaret Evertson, of Amenia,

N. Y., in October of the same year. Their only

child, the late William M. Smith, Esq., was born in

August, 1787. Mr. Smith was soon introduced into

the active duties of his profession in his native town

by rea.son of the pecuniary embarrtissments of the

community in consequence of the Revolutionary war,

and particularly from the extensive and embarrassed

affairs of his uncle, Dr. Simeon Smith, who removed
to Vermont, leaving the management of his extensive

and complicated concerns in the hands of his young
and inexi)erienced nephew. Through unwearied ex-

ertions he was able to extricate the affairs of his uncle

from a nearly hopeless condition by the full ]iay-

ment of all just demands against liim, and leaving

him at last in the enjoyment of a handsome estate.

It is but justice to his uncle to .say that he, having

no children of his own, made ample compensation to

his nephew by the bequest in his will of a large and
valuable estate. He was first elected to the Legis-

lature in 17!).3, and was very frequently a member,
and twice Speaker before 1800, when he was elected a

member of Congress. There he remained six years,

when the declining health of his father compelled his

resignation. He was immediately elected to the Leg-

islature of the State, and represented the town with-

out intermission till 1809, and held the place of

Speaker at each session. He was then elected to the

Council, and in the October .session of the same year

was appointed a judge of the Supreme Court. In

1811 he was elected lieutenant-governor, and in 1813

Governor, of his native State. In this office he was
continued till 1817, when the public voice demanded a

change in the form of the government of the State,

and the substitution of a written constitution for the

less stable provisions of the charter of King Charles

II. Governor Smith, not sympathizing with the ma-
jority on this question, retired to private life, and
lived, for nearly thirty years, a private citizen of

Sharon. In jjublic life he was never appointed to a

position which he was not fully competent to fill. As
a presiding otficer in a deliberative assembly he had
no peer, and although while he was member of Con-
gress, except for one short term, he was associated in

principle and feeling with the minority, he was called

upon to preside in committee of the whole more fre-

quently than any other member. The late Luther
Holley, an eminent citizen of Salisbury, who had
been a member of the Legislature when Governor
Smith was Speaker, once remarked that he had never

seen a man who could take a paper from the table

and lay it back again so handsomely as could John
Cotton Smith.

"In private life Governor Smith was a fine speci-

men of the polished Christian gentleman. He de-

voted some of his time to reviewing the studies of

his early life, and in the preparation of useful and
entertaining articles for the more elevated literary

periodicals. He was for several years president of

the American Board of Commissioners for Foreign

Missions, and of the American Bible Society, which
latter olfice he retained till his death, which occurred

on the 7th day of December, 1845, when he had
nearly reached the age of eighty-one years.

" Nathaniel Smith.*—I received a line from my
friend, Gen. Sedgwick, stating that it was your de-

sire that he would ask of me, in your behalf, to

furnish you with some facts in relation to the late

Nathaniel Smith, and my views of his character,

which might be of use to you in the preparation of

the work you have in hand.
" I am, of course, aware that this application is

owing to the accidental circumstance that I am the

oldest, if not the only, member of the profession now
living who had much personal acquaintance with

that truly able and excellent man, or saw much of

him in the exercise of his forensic or judicial talents.

Judge Smith was indeed one of nature's nobles, and,

considering the limited range of his early education,

he had few equals and perhaps no superior in the

profession which he chose, and which he eminently

adorned. You are doubtless aware that Judge Smith
had only such an education in childhood and youth

as the common schools of the country afforded at the

time. It was such, however, as a boy of unusual

capacity and industrious habits would acquire from

such a source, and such as, under the guidance of un-

common discretion through life, rarely permitted its

defects to be disclosed.

" When I first went to the law-school in Litch-

field, which was in the fall of 1793, Mr. Smith,

though not over thirty years old, was in full practice,

and engaged in almost every cause of any import-

ance. Indeed, he was said to have established a high

reputation for talents in the first cause he argued in

the higher courts. It was upon a trial for man-
slaughter, which arose in his native town, and in

which he appeared as junior counsel, and astonished

the court, the bar, and all who heard him. Not long

afterwards, in the celebrated case of Jedediah Strong

and wife, before the General Assembly (she having

applied for a divorce), he greatly distinguished him-
self again, and thus became known throughout the

State as a young lawyer of the first promise, and the

reputation thus early acquired was never suffered to

falter, but, on the other hand, steadily increased in

strength until his elevation to the bench.
" During my stay in Litchfield, and after my ad-

* From HoUister's " History of Connecticut."
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mission to the bar, I of course saw Mr. Smith, and

heard him in almost all the important cases there;

and as I was located in the southwest corner town in

the county, adjoining Fairfield, I almost immediately

obtained some business which, though small, was

such as during nearly all my professional life caused

me to attend the courts in that county, where I found

Mr. Smith as fully engaged and as highly esteemed

as in his own county. In New Haven I also know he

had a very considerable practice.

" It is worthy also to be observed, in forming an

estimate of Mr. Smith's professional talent and char-

acter, that there never at any period was an abler bar

in Connecticut than during his practice. In Litch-

field County were Judge Reeve, Judge Adams, Gen.

Iracy, John Allen, Judge Gould, N. B. Benedict,

and others ; at the Fairfield County bar were Pier-

pont Edwards, Judge Ingersoll, and Judge Daggett,

constantly from New Haven, Judge Edmunds, S. B.

Sherwood, R. M. Sherman, Judge Chapman, and

Governor Bissell ; and in New Haven, besides the

three above named, were James Hillhouse, Judge

Baldwin, and others.

"As I suppose it not probable that you ever saw

Judge Smith, as he ceased to attend courts in 1819,

and died wlien you were very young, I will observe,

what you have doubtless heard, that he wa.s a large

and fine-appearing man, much of the same com-

plexion of the Hon. Truman Smith, his nephew, with

whom you are so well acquainted ; less tall than he,

but of rather fuller habit. His face was not only the

index of high capacity and .solid judgment, but un-

commonly handsome; his hair wa< dark and tliin,

thougli not to baldness, e.\ce|)t on the fore part of his

head, and was very slightly sprinkled with gray. His

fine, dark eyes were remarkably pleasing and gentle

in ordinary intercourse, but very variable; always

kindling when highly excited in debate, they became

almost oppre.-isive. His voice wa.s excellent, being

both powerful and harmonious, and never broke

under any exertion of it.s cajiacity. His manner wa.s

very ardent and the seeming dictate of a strong con-

viction of the justice of liis cause, and his gestures

were the natural expression of siu-h a conviction.

Mr. Smith's style was jiure and genuine Saxon, with

no attempt at classic ornament nr allusion. His

train of reasoning was lucid and direct, and evincive

of the fact that the whole of it was like a map .spread

out in his mind's eye from the beginning. IFis in-

genuity was always felt and drea<led by his opponent.

He spoke with much fluency, but with no undue

rapidity ; lu^ never hesitated for or har/i/lcit at a word,

nor did he over tire his audience with undue pro-

lixity, or omit to do full justice to his ca.se for fear

of tiring them ; and indeed there was little danger of

it. Though certainly a very fine speaker, he never

achieved or aspired to those strains of almost super-

human eloquence witli which hiw old master Heevc

sometimes electrified and astonished his audience,

and yet, in ordinary cases, he was the most correct

speaker of the two, though Judge Reeve was, and he

was not, a scholar. Mr. Smith, though quite unas-

suming, and often receding in common intercourse

and conversation, was, when heated in argument, it

must be confessed, often overbearing to the adverse

party, and not only them, but to their counsel.

Upon all other occasions he appeared to be, and I

believe was, a very kind-hearted, agreeable, and

pleasant man. To me he always so appeared, and I

have been much in his company.
" Mr. Smith came early into public life, and was

frequently elected to the General Assembly from

Woodbury. In 1795 he was elected a member of the

Fourth Congress, and in 1797 he was chosen to the

Fifth Congress, but declined further election. In May,

1799, he was made an assistant, and was re-eleeted for

the five following years, when he resigned his seat at

that board in consequence of the passage of the act

in 1803 i)rohibiting the members of the then Supreme

Court of Errors from practicing before that court.

He remained in full practice at the bar until October,

180G, when he was elected a judge of the Superior

Court and continued to fill that office until May, 1819,

when the judiciary establishment of that year went

into operation, from which time he remained in

private life until his death.

"In every public station in which Mr. Smith was

placed he distinguished him.Helf He did .so in Con-

gress, at a time when our representation was as able,

perhaps, as it ever has been, and when the character

of the house to which be belonged was far higher than

it now is. In the Superior Court he was certainly very

greatly respected and admired as an able and perfectly

upright judge.
" In private life his name was free from all reproach.

A strictly honest and pure life, free from any of those

little blemishes which often mar the fame <if distin-

guished men, may, I think, be fairly claimed by his

hiogrnpher to be his due. As a husband, a parent, a

friend, a neighbor, a moralist, an<l a Christian, I be-

lieve few have left a more faultle.-w name."
" Jame.>* Gori.i), the son of Dr. William Gould, an

eminent jdiysician, was born at Brandford, in this

State, in the year 1770. The goodness of his com-

mon-school eiluention is inferable from the perfect

accuracy of it, which showed itself in all lie did or

said in after-life. He graduated, when a little over

twenty -one, at Yale College, in September, 1791, with

distinguished honor in a class distinguished for

talents.

" The year next following his collegiate course he

spent in Baltimore as a teacher. He then returned

to New Haven and commenced the study of law with

Judge Chaunccy ; and in Se|>tenibcr of that year he

was chosen a tutor in Yale College, in which office he

continued two years. He then joined the hiw-schofd

of Mr. Reeve, at Litchfield, and witt soon at^er ad-

' mitted to the bar. Imuiediutelv atler his adiuissioii
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to the bar he opened an office for practice in that

town, where he resided during the remainder of his

life.

"On his first appearance as an advocate he evinced

such an apparent maturity of intellect, such a self-

possession, such command of his thoughts and of the

language appropriate to their expression, that he was

marked out as a successful aspirant for forensic emi-

nence. His i^rogress in the acquisition of professional

business was steady and rapid.

" Fortunate circumstances concurring a few years

before his choice of Litchfield as the field of his ))ro-

fessional labors, in the removal by promotion of two

very distinguished i)ractitioners at that bar, opened

the way to such a choice, and by like good fortune a

similar event removed one of the two only remaining

obstructions in that town to his full share in the best

business as an advocate, the only business to which he

aspired. As a reasoner Mr. Gould was forcible, lucid,

and logical ; as a speaker his voice was very pleasant

and his language pure, clear, and always appropriate.

He never aspired to high strains of impassioned elo-

quence, and rarely, if ever, addressed himself to the

passions of the court and jury, but to their under-

standing only, and was a very able, pleasing, and

successful advocate. His argument was a fair map of

the case, and one sometimes engaged against him, l)ut

feeling his superiority, observed that he had rather

have Gould against him in a case than any other of
j

anywhere equal powers, because he could perfectly

understand his .argument, and if suscejitible of an

answer could know how to apjily it. In his practice

at the bar he was always perfectly fair and honorable.

Within some two or three years after Mr. Gould com-

menced jiractice, Mr. Reeve, the founder and until

that time the sole instructor of the Litchfield Law-
School, accejited a seat upon the bench of the Su-

perior Court. This court made it necessary for him

to give up the school or to associate some one with

him in its management, and to deliver lectures in his

absence upon the circuits. The judge selected Mr.

Gould as that associate, and for a number of years

they jointly conducted and received the profits of the

school ; and on the final retiring of Judge Reeve

from any participation in the instruction of the

school, Mr. Gould became its sole instructor and so

continued until elevated to the bench of the Superior

Court in the spring of 1816, when lie in turn had to

have recourse to temporary aid for the short time he

remained on the bench. But a thorough political

revolution having taken place in this State, and a

new constitution formed which entirely new-modeled

the courts of law, Mr. Gould took no further share in

public employments ; and, his health being greatly

impaired, he never resumed practice at the bar, but

confined himself wholly to his school during the re-

mainder of his life, as far as severe infirmities would

permit. He died, as appears by the college catalogue,

in 1838.

" In person Mr. Gould was very handsome. Of
about medium height, or perhaps a little over, but

r.ather less in body and limbs than medium size; his

complexion fair, with fine dark eyes and beautiful

brown hair; all his features good, and in connection

indicative of much intelligence and good nature, and

his form for symmetry and gracefulness could hardly

have been mended ; and in all respects, in body,

mind, and education, he may be fairly styled a fin-

ished man. In private and social intercourse he was

highly pleasing, facetious, and witty.

" Soon after his settlement in Litc'.ifield he married

the eldest daughter of the Hon. Uriah Tracy, so well

known for his long and distinguished services in the

councils of the State and nation.

"Mrs. Gould in person and mind was a fit wife for

such a husband, and partook with him in the happi-

ness of raising a very numerous and promising family

of children.

" Judge Gould wrote and published a volume of

pleadings, which, together with his fame as an in-

structor, gave him a distinguished name among the

eminent jxirists of the country."

" Ho>f. Noah Bkxnet Bexedict was a native of

Woodbury, in which he resided during his whole life.

He was the son of the Rev. Noah Benedict, long the

pastor of the First Congregational Church in that

town. Mr. Benedict's early school education must

have been correct and good, as its fruits invariably

showed itself in after-life. He graduated at Yale

College in September, 1788, when a little short of

eighteen years of age. His legal studies commenced
soon after his graduation, which were, I believe, pur-

sued principally, if not wholly, in the oflice of his

brother-in-law, Nathaniel Smith, afterwards so highly

distinguished as a jurist, which was near the residence

of Mr. Benedict's father. As soon as he arrived to

lawful age Mr. Benedict came to the bar, and for the

remainder of his life—to wit, about thirty-nine years

—

it is believed he never failed to attend every regular

session of the courts holden at Litchfield ; and, though

he never habitually attended courts in other counties,

he occasionally did so for the purpose of arguing a

particular case. During the long course of his prac-

tice Mr. Benedict had an ample share of business, and

for the latter half of that period he was, especially

in the Superior Court, the leading advocate on one

side or the other in most of the trials either to the

court or to the jury. His management of a trial was

discreet, his arguments sgund, sensible, and, being

aided by the well-known and generally esteemed in-

tegrity of his character, had their due etTect. He
never attempted to play the orator or to attract atten-

tion by fine turned periods, but contented himself

with plain reasoning, of which he was no indifferent

master.

" At a very early period Mr. Benedict was a mem-
ber of the Legislature. But the political majority of

the voters in Woodbury, becoming about this time
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and for long afterwards decidedly Democratic, proved

an effectual bar to his political promotion, as far as

depended upon that town, but by the vote of the State

at large he was elected in 1813 one of the twelve as-

sistants (as they were then styled who composed the

upper house of the Assembly), and was re-elected the

two following years ; but in the year 1818 an entire

political revolution took place in Connecticut, and

Mr. Benedict shared the fate of almost every one who
held any post of dignity or profit depending upon

public suflrage at large in the State. He was subse-

quently many years later elected once more to the

lower house. He was also for several years judge of

probate for the district of Woodbury, an appointment

then depending upon the Legislature. Mr. Benedict

was twice married, but left no living issue. He died

in June or July, 1831, at the age of sixty, or in his

sixtieth year.

"In private life Mr. Benedict was entirely unas-

suming, and a very pleasing companion to all who
could relish purity of moral character and conduct,

which his whole life was an eminent example; his

feelings were peculiarly sensitive and delicate; a loose

or profane expression never escaped his lips ; and in-

deed so fastidious was he in respect to the former

that it used to be a matter of amusement with his less

scrupulous associates in jocose conversation to tease

his feminine delicacy upon sucli subjects. Tiiough

wlien alone and unoccupied he had a propensity to

indulge in somewhat gloomy reflections, yet he was

not averse to participate in facetious conversation

when due delicacy was observed. He liad a profound

respect for religion, and was in all respects a gooil, a

very good, nuoi.

"Mr. Benedict was of somewhat less than middling

size, of a medium complexion, but his eyes and hair

rather dark.

" Hon. Jabez W. Huntington, son of the late Gen.

Zachariah Huntington, of Norwicii, and grandson of

the Hon. .Tabo/. Huntington, of that place, tlie tHK-

sistant and a.ssociato of the first (tovcrnor Trumbull,

was born in Norwich in the year 1787 or 1788. He
received his early training and in.struction in his na-

tive town, which after-times evinced to be accurate

and good. He became a member of Yale Oolloge in

September, 18((2, ami gnuluatod in September, ISOC),

with the reputation of a good scholar. Soon after

his graduation he became a teacher in an academic

school under the government of it.s founder, Esquire

Morris, of Litchfield South Farms, as then calleil, miw
the town of Morris, named after the founder of saiil

school. After about a year thus employed, Mr. Hun-
tington entered Judge Heeve's law-school, in which

he continued a diligent .student until admitted to the

bar in Litclifield County, of wliich ho soon showed
himself to be a worthy member, and in due time a

distinguislied one, lie having commenced the practice

of his profession in F<itchfielil, and there continueil it

until its final termination by an ofiico conferred upon

him incompatible with its further pursuit. In prac-

tice his whole aim and ambition was to become an

advocate, and had no desire to obtain any share of

collecting business, though in many hands not less

lucrative, and, as he was always ready to aid the less

ambitious of speaking, he early acquired a very con-

siderable share of the portion of practice of which he

was ambitious, and which was improving to him.

His forte as an advocate was in detecting error in

declarations and other parts of pleadings, and in a

lucid manner of pointing them out. Upon the whole,

he was an advocate clear and accurate, rather than

peculiar for the gracefulness of manner or refinement

of diction, though his manner was by no means dis-

gusting, and his language entirely free from any ap-

proach to vulgarity. His manners were pleasing and

popular, and he repeatedly represented Litchfield in

the General Assembly, and distinguished himself

there. He was elected to the Twenty-first Congress,

and re-elected to the Twenty-second and Twenty-

third Congresses, and near the expiration of the last of

his congressional career he was chosen a judge of the

Superior Court, and held that office until 1840, when,

being chosen a senator of the United States, he re-

signed the judgeship and accepted the latter appoint-

ment, and continued to hold it by virtue of a second

ap))ointment until his death, in 1847, in all which

stations he performed the duties thereof with honor

to himself and to the entire satisfaction of the public.

His moral character was irreproachable ; a professor

of religion and an observer of its precepts. Late in

life he was married, but it is believed left no issue.

Soon after election to Congress he removed to his na-

tive town, and ilied there.

" PiuxEAS MiXEK, a very respectable and some-

what eminent member of the Litchfield County bar,

was a nativeof Winchester, in that county, and there,

and in that region, as far as by the writer hereof

known, received his entire training and education in

all respects. At an early period in life he commenced

the practice of law in the place of his birth, in the

society of Winsted, as is believed, a place of a great

deal of active manufacturing business and furnishing

an ample share of employment for gentlemen of the

legal profession, of which Mr. Miner soon acipiired an

ample share, and at no distant period an engrossing

one, with wliich he appeared in court from term to

term until ho felt warranted in the expectation of

drawing after him an engagement in all the disputa-

ble caseH from that fruitful (piarter, when ho removed

to Litehfied, and wiut much employed as an advocate for

a number of years, ami until his health rather prema-

turely failed, and he became the victim of great men-

t4il and bodily sutfering, until relieved by death before

reaching the ordinary period at which old age begins

til make its elleets much perceptible in the human
frame. As an advocate Mr. Miner was ardent, impas-

sioned, and Huent, but in his apparent great ambition

to be eloquent he often made use of figures of speech
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w]iich a more chastened and correct training in youtli

would have taught him to avoid, and less wounding

to an ear of taste, but the fault apparent to all was

the extreme prolixity of his arguments, but, these

faults notwithstanding, Mr. Miner was a respectable

and able advocate.

" Before his removal to Litchfield, Mr. Miner was

an early and frequent member of the Legislature from

his native town, and after his removal there a member

of the State Senate for the Fifteenth District, and was

also elected to fill a vacancy in the second session of the

Twenty-third Congress.

" Mr. Miner was twice married, but, it is believed,

left no issue, but of this the writer is uncertain. He
led a strictly moral life, and was justly esteemed a

good man.
" Leman Church, a late member of the Litchfield

County bar, was a native of Salisbury, in this county,

a son of an opulent farmer of that town, and in it, it

is supposed, he received his education, both scholastic

and professional, the latter in the office of his half-

brother, Samuel Church, afterwards a judge of the

Superior Court, and finally chiefjustice of the same;

and after his admission to the bar he opened an office

in North Canaan, where he resided during the re-

mainder of his life. Mr. Church was successful in

acquiring at an early period a promising share of pro-

fessional business, which steadily increased, until

by the middle of professional life he occui)ied a

stand among the leading advocates at the bar ; and

towards the close of life there was scarce a cause,

especially in the higher courts, of considerable im-

portance, discussed in which he was not engaged.
" In September, 1833, Mr. Church was appointed

by the court State's attorney as successor to his brother

Samuel, on the latter's elevation to the bench of the

Superior Court, and held that office by annual reap-

pointments until September term, 1838, when by a

political change in the court he was required to yield

the place to another ; it is believed, however, that he

afterwards for a time reoccupied that place, but not

positively recollected.

" As a speaker he was cool, unimpassioned, and in-

genious ; he never attempted to affect the passions of

those he addressed, and, being destitute of passion

himself, was consequently incapable of moving the

passions of others ; he never attempted to be eloquent

or made use of a merely ornate expression, his object

in speaking was effect, and that wholly directed to his

cause and not to himself; in the management of a

case he was always cool and self-possessed ; no sudden

and unexpected turn in the progress of a trial discon-

certed him or appeared to be unexpected by him ; no

collision at the bar ever appeared to affect his temper

in the least. With such a temperament, it is obvious

that the legal profession was of all the professions the

one for him, and that in which he was calculated to

excel.

" Mr. Church was always entirely regardless of per-

sonal appearance and dress ; he was very small,

meagre, and. ill formed, his features quite ordinary,

but all this very indifferent appearance was rescued

from inattention by a most remarkably attractive and

intelligent eye.

" Mr. Church was frequently a representative to the

Legislature from Canaan, and never failed to make
an impression upon that body ; and to his sagacious

management is attributable the preservation of the

Housatonic Railroad from ruin, as a commissioner

thereon appointed by the Legislature, with power, to-

gether with his associate in office, Mr. Pond, to sell

and consequently to destroy the road, which seemed

to be a favorite object with them for a time.

" Mr. Church died in the midst of life as a profes-

sional man, July, 18-19."

The Hon. Ansel Sterling was born in Lyme,

Conn., Feb. 3, 1782, the seventh son of William Ster-

ling, a man of position and considerable wealth in

that town. His grandfather, Joseph Sterling, born

in 1700, was one of the early settlers of Lyme. The

name originally was spelt Stirling, as seen in the old

cemetery in that place.

On the maternal side Judge Sterling is descended

from William Hyde, whose name is on the monument
in the old cemetery at Hartford, Conn., as one of the

original settlers of 1G3G, and one of the original pro-

prietors of the town of Norwich, Conn.

Mr. Hyde's great-great-great-granddaughter, Jemi-

ma Sill, married Capt. William Stirling, Jan. 3, 1763,

the subject of this sketch being their tenth child and

seventh son.

Judge Sterling, at the early age of twenty-three,

was a iiracticing lawyer at the bar of Litchfield

County, and for fovli/ years there were no interrup-

tions to his attending each session of the different

courts. He studied his profession with his eldest

brother, Hon. Elisha Sterling, of Salisbury, Conn.,

who was a graduate of the class of 1787 of Yale Col-

lege, " a man of a high order of talent."

Judge Sterling settled in Sharon in );he year 1808,

where he spent his life. Oct. 8, 1804, he married

Isabella Canfield, seventh daughter of Hon. John

Canfield and Dorcas Buell, of Sharon.

Hon. John Canfield was a son of Samuel Canfield,

Esq., of New Milford, Conn., a judge of the court of

Litchfield County, and deacon of the Congregational

Church in that place. Samuel Canfield's wife was

Elizabeth Judson, the great-great-granddaughter of

William Judson, who came from Yorkshire, England,

in 1634.

The Hon. John Canfield was born in New Milford,

Conn., 1740 ; was graduated at Yale College 1762. He
was a great-grandson of Matthew Canfield, an original

settler of Norwalk, Conn., a judge and leading man
in the colony. Hinman says,

—

*' As a proof of liia. standing, I may only mention lie was one of the

nineteen signei-s of the petition to King Cliarles II. for the Charter of

the colony, and his name is mentioned in that invaluable grant to Con-
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necticut in 1C02. TUis is ample proof of liis exalted standing in the

colony, as no gentleman would have been called upon to sign the peti-

tion but sucli men as had sustained a high reputation in England before

they came to New England."

John Canfield established himself in his profession

in Sharon, 1765, being the first lawyer in the town.

He fitted for the legal profession several gentlemen

who afterwards rose to eminence; among them his

son-in-law, Ambrose Spencer, chief justice of the

State of New York, Hon. John Cotton Smith, and

Noah Webster.

"Mr. Canfield enjoyed a most enviable reputation

and was held in the highest estimation by his fellow-

citizens. He represented the town in the Legislature

at ten different sessions." In 1786 he was elected a

member of the Continental Congress, but died on the

26th of October of the same year. Not living to take

his seat in that body, his name is omitted from the

honorable roll of those early days.

Mr. Canfield wa^ a friend of Benjamin Franklin,

with wliora was held many earnest consultations, the '

"ta.\ on tea" being at one time a subject of special in-

terest. His wife, Dorcas Buell, was the only daughter

of Solomon Buell, eighth son of John Buell, and

grandson of William Buell, who came from England

in 1643. Their children, eight in number, were

Laura, wife of Ambrose Spencer; Annis, wife of'

Andrew Adams, Jr., son of Chief Ju.stice Adams, of

Litchfield; Eunice, wife of Samuel Rockwell, M.D.

;

Avis, who died aged thirteen years; Alma, wife of'

Hon. Elisha Sterling; Almira, wife of Gen. Elisha

Buel ; John Montgomery, married Fanny Harvey

;

Isabella, wife of .\nsel Sterling.

Judge Sterling was a man of unimpeachable in-

tegrity, "of diversified talent. As a lawyer his fo-

rensic ability was of a high order, nor wa.-i he deficient

in legal science. His language flowed rapidly, and at

times his appeals to the jury were verj' cflective."

Judge Church, of the Supreme Court, thus writes

of him

:

"This dhtiugiilshwl gentleman wiu lung an active and prominent

member of the bar of LltchflelU County, for many tcMlons an tnrtuentlal

member v»f the (Jeiieral A«embly of the Sliito of Connwiicut, a circuit

Judge uf Die County Court, a nienil>or of Congreaa for two M«>lon«, and

an estimable man hi all tlio relalluiia uf loclal and doniesllc life."

Judge Sterling died Nov. 6, IS.W, aged sevonty-onc.

His wife died July 2G, 18-')5, aged seventy-four.

Their children, eight in nuinhor, are Laura Spencer;

George Aupustino, who graduated at West Point,

served for a time in the I'nited Stati-s army stationed

at Fort Gibson, in the then Territory of Arkaii!*a.t,

resigned ami entered the ministry of the Kjiiicopal

Church. He died at Sharon, Oct. 17, IWl". He
married Flora J. Chamberlain. Their children were

Mary Isabella, wife of Walter M. I'atterson, E"M|.,

who died Feb. 18, 1864; George Ansel, M.D., married

Mary 1'. Havens.

Ambrose Spencer, second son of .Vnsel Sterling,

died July 1, 1880. His wife, Louisa M. Clarke.

Their children were Louisa M., wife of L. H. Stewart

;

Pierre Clarke; George Edward.

Charles Ansel, third son, married Augusta A. Shel-

ton. Two children : Charles Frederick, M.D., wife,

Mar}- C. Anthony ; Isabella Canfield, wife of William

C. Atwater.

Isabella Dorcas, married Eev. George Kyerson ; one

son, George Ansel Sterling Ryerson, M.D.

Thomas Sterling, fourth son, married Louisa T.

Winchell, deceased.

Avis Canfield, married Frederick S. Bogue.

Eev. John Canfield, fifth son, was graduated at

Trinity College, Connecticut, a clergjman of the

Episcopal Church; died at Hartford, Conn., Dec. 10,

1874. He married Caroline Sargent L'pson. Their

children are Caroline, Isabella, Alice, Clarance Can-

field.

For notices of Ephraim Kirby, Uriel Holmes, E.

C. Bacon, Francis Bacon, and John Bird, see Litch-

field history ; and for John and Judson Canfield, see

history of Sharon.
" Stephen Titus HosMER was a lawyer of eminence

in his peculiar way. He had no very high standing

as an advocate, but, as a lawyer learued in elementary

principles, his position was a very good one. A gen-

tleman who had heard him told me that his manner

was hard and dry and his elocution very defective,

but in some branches of legal science he had few

superiors. He seemed to delight in e.vploring an-

cient paths in search of legal principles, and in get-

ting up old legal tracts and dissertations. In the first

volume of Day's Reports there is a note of forty pages

of fine print containing an opinion of Lord Camden,

of the English Court of Common Pleas, which has

hardly a rival injudicial learning or eloquence. Mr.

Day informed me that this was presented to him in

manuscript by Mr. Hosnier, there being then no

printe<l copy of it on this side of the Atlantic. He
was appointed a judge of the old court in 1815, but,

being one of the younger judges, it never fell to his

lot to preside on the trial of a ca.-<e until his accession

to the chief justiceship. His career on the whole

was very successful, both at niti priut and on the

bench of the Supreme Court. His opprehension of

the points involved in the case before him wa.n very

(|uick, anil the (irst intimation he gave on incidental

matters occurring in the course of the trial was a sure

indication of what the result would be, and, although

he would take special pains to soy to the counsel that

ho had formed no opinion, the party against whom
he leaned knew that his fate was sealed. His labors

in his otllcial iliities must have been immense. It

fell to his lot to give the opinion of the court in neorly

all the cases tried in the Supremo Court for sovenil

years after his appointment, and nearly all the ma-

terial of the third, fourth, and fifth large volumes of

the Connecticut RoporU ore the result of his study

of the ciuses belbre the court, and some of them arc

very learned uud labored. His illustrations in the
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case of Mitchell vs. Warner, in the second of Connec-

ticut Reports, of the extent of tlie obligations incurred

in the covenants of a deed, explained the subject to

me when I was young better than anything I had

before read on the subject.

" It seemed to be his object to render himself as

agreeable as possible to the members of the bar,

sometimes employing his leisure moments on the

bench in furnishing prescriptions for human ail-

ments, such as corns on the toes, and handing them
over to such members as stood in need of them.

Then he would hand over a formula for making, as

he said, the best kind of liquid blacking for our

boots. In fact, everything which he had prescribed

he always designated as t/ic very best. At one term

of the court, Phineas Miner, Esc)., who had lived a

widower for several years, was about being married,

which fact was intimated to the judge. While he

sat waiting on the bench for the preparation of some
business, he s])oke out suddenly :

" Gentlemen, is there

a vacant cell in your jail ? Won't it be necessary for

me to commit Mr. Miner to prevent his doing some

rash act?" The laugh was thoroughly turned upon
poor Miner, and the whole scene was very enjoyable.

He employed all his leisure hours in obtaining all

the relaxation which was within his reach. He
played on the piano and violin, and sang with great

power and effect.

" There was no perceptible waning of his powers,

physical or mental, during the time of his service on

the court. He retired from the bench at the age of

seventy years, in February, 1833, and died, after a

short illness, in less than two years thereafter."

"John Thompson Teters was the senior asso-

ciate judge of the court, and he held his first circuit

in this county. He was a native of Hebron, and a

lawyer of respectable standing. His fellow-citizens

had often honored him with a seat in the Legislature,

and thus he had become tolerably well known in the

State. When the United States direct tax was laid,

in 1814, he was appointed collector for the First Dis-

trict, removed to Hartford, and held that office when
he was appointed judge. He had been one of the leaders

of the Democratic party from its formation, and as an

Episcopalian had opposed the claims of the 'Standing

Order' to ecclesiastical priority, and some apprehen-

sions were felt lest his well-known views on these

subjects might temper his opinions on those questions

incidentally involving them. Many fears were en-

tertained as to the stability of ecclesiastical funds

which existed in almost every Congregational parish,

and those who desired to break them down looked to

Judge Peters and to his influence with the court to

aid them. But those who entertained such hopes

were destined to an early disappointment, as their

past experience of his administration on such ques-

tions showed him to be disposed to stand firmly on
the old paths. He used to tell an amusing anecdote

relating to his first trial of such a case in one of the

eastern counties of the State, where he was appealed

to very strongly to decide that a promise to i)ay money
in aid of such funds was without consideration. But
he told the parties that the law on that subject was
well settled, and, in his opinion, founded on correct

principles, and that if he had the power he had not the

disposition to change it. It had been the practice of

the Congregational pastor of the village to open the

proceedings in court with prayer, but, considering

Peters to be a heretic (I use the judge's own lan-

guage), he had never invited Divine favor for him,

but after that decision every prayer was charged with

invocations of blessings upon ' thy sarvant, thej^idge.''

" He was very severe in meting out the punishments

of the law to convicted criminals, generally inflicting

the severest sentence that the law would allow. One
case was tried before him which excited much remark
and some reprehension. A man had been convicted

before Judge Lanman of a State-prison offense;' had
been sentenced to four years' imprisonment, and had
served a part of a year, when he obtained a new trial. He
was tried again, before Judge Peters, and again con-

victed. When the time came to pass sentence on the

last conviction, his counsel asked for some mitigation

on account of the imprisonment already suffered.

Said the judge, ' He must settle that account with

Judge Lanman. He owes me five years' imprison-

ment in State prison,' and such was the sentence.

One prisoner who had received a severe sentence at

his hands after the expiration of his confinement

burned the judge's barn, and he petitioned the Leg-

islature of the State to pay for it in 1831, but they

declined to make the compensation.
" For a few years the services of Judge Peters on

the bench were very acceptable. His decisions were

prompt and generally founded on a sensible view of

the matter before him, without any affectation of

learning or a display of oratory. His entire candor

and fairness were never called in question, and the de-

cay of his powers, which was very apparent towards the

close of his career, was observed by the bar with sor-

row and regret. I witnessed an aff'ecting scene con-

nected with his experience on the bench which excited

a deep feeling of sympathy. He had a favorite son,

Hugh Peters, Esq., whom he had educated at Yale

College, and in whom all his hopes seemed to centre.

This young man, in connection with George D. Pren-

tice, the noted editor, had much to do in conducting

the New England Weekly Review, a paper just estab-

lished in Hartford, and which was the organ of the

party which elected William W. Ellsworth, Jabez

VV. Huntington, and William L. Storrs to Congress.

He had acquired a wide reputation as a writer of

brilliant promise, and after a while went to Cincin-

nati to go into business as a lawyer. On his way
across Long Island Sound he wrote a farewell to New
England in poetry, which was published with great

commendation in most of the newspapers in the

country. Soon after his arrival at Cincinnati his
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dead body was found floating in the Ohio, several

miles below the city, and circumstances were such as

to create the belief in some minds that it was a case

of suicide. The intelligence of this sad event was

brought to Litchfield while the Court of Errors was

in session, in June, 1831. It was first communicated

to Judge Williams, who sat next to Judge Peters,

and he, with all possible tenderness, informed the

latter. The reporter, Mr. Day, in giving the report

of the case on trial, closes it by saying, ' Peters,

Judge, having received, during the argument of this

case, intelligence of the death of his son, Hugh
Peters, Esq., of Cincinnati, left the court-house,

' multa gemens casuque animum concusstis,' and gave

no opinion.' I witnessed the mournful scene, and I

well remember the loud aud plaintive groans of the

afflicted old man as he passed out of the court-room

and down the stairway to his lodgings.

" When Chief Justice Hosmer retired from the

bench, the Legislature, by a very strong vote, elected

Judge Peters' junior. Judge Daggett, chief justice.

Pie felt the slight, but did not retire, aud held his

place till his death, in August, 18.34. A few weeks

longer and he would have reached the age of seventy

years. '

" Asa Chapmax.—The next judge in seniority was

Asa Chapman, of Newtown, in Fairfield County.

For several years before he received the apjioiiitment

he practiced to some extent in this county, and was, of

course, well known here. He was the father of the late

Charles Chapman, of Hartford. He was somewhat
taller than the son, and, with his bald head, white locks,

thin face, and gray eyes, he resembled him not a

little in persona! appearance, but lie hail none of that

bitterness of nuinncr or spirit whicli cluiracteri/ed the

efforts of the younger Chapman. He was an Epis-

copalian in religious faith, and he Iiad very naturally

fallen into the ranks of tiie new party, and, being

well (jualified for the place in point of legal ability,

he made a very acceiitable and popular judge. He
was a man of good humor, genial temper, and great

colloquial powers, which lie exercised very freely on

the trial of cases. If a lawyer undertook to argue a

case before him, he soon found himself engaged in a

friendly, familiar conversation with the judg(', the

evident intent of the latter being to draw out the

truth and justice of the case. His ndniinistrntion

was very popular, and his early death was greatly

deplored. He died of consumption, in 1826, at the

age of fifty-six years.

" Jekkmiaii Oaths IJitAiXAun, of New London,

the fatlur of the poet ISraiiianl, was next In seniority

on the bench. He ha<l been a member of the old

court from 1807, and he wa-s elected to the new court

under the circumstances which I have mentioned.

He was a man of no showy pretensions, verj* plain

and simple in his manners, and very familiar in his

intercourse with the bar. He affected very little dig-

nity on the bench, aud yet he was regarded an un ex-

cellent judge. He despatched business with great

facility, and implicit confidence was placed in his

sound judgment and integrity. He resigned his place "

on the bench in 1829, his health not being equal to

the duties of the office, having served as judge for

twenty-two years.

" WiLi.iAM Bristol.—Of all the judges on the

bench, William Bristol, of New Haven, was the

youngest in years as well as in rank. He had not

been much known as a lawyer out of the county of

New Haven, and, of course, his coming here was
looked for with considerable interest. He evidently

had a high sense of judicial dignity, his manners on
the bench being very taciturn, approaching severe-

ness, very seldom speaking except to announce his

decisions in the fewest possible words, and I doubt if

any one ever saw him smile in court. His decisions

were sound and well considered, and upon the whole

his administration was respectable, although he could

not be said to have had much personal popularity

with the bar.

" David Daggett.—The decease of Judge Chap-
man and the resignation of Judge Bristol in 1826

created two vacancies in the court whicli were to be

filled at the session of the Legislature of that year.

The same party which had effected the change in the

government of the State and in the constitution of the

court was still in power, but nearly all the eminent
lawyers in the State adhered to the Federal party.

Probably the most obnoxious man in the State to the

dominant party was David Daggett, not so much
from personal dislike as from his prominence in the

ranks of his party. His talent.s, integrity, and high

legal abilities were conceded by every one, but when
tlic Legislature assembled there was probably not a

man in the State who looked to his election as a

judge.

"There were a few men in the State belonging to

the toleration party who felt deeply the importance

of having a reputable court, and who, on this ijues-

tion, were willing to forego all party considerations.

Morris Woodruff, of Litchfield County, Thaddeus
Belts and Charles Hawlcy, of Fairfield County, Wal-
ter Booth, of New Haven County, and Charles J. Mc-
Curdy, of New London County, were men of that

stamp; and it was through the influence of these

men, and of othera of k-ss pmmineru-e, that David

Daggett was elected a judge of the Supreme Court.

The same influences, exerted by the same men, se-

cured the election of Juilgca Williams and l<is.sell,

three years later.

" .\fler the election of Judge Daggett was effected

no one seemed to care who the other juilge might bo,

OS with Chief Justice Hosmer at the head of the

court, and Judge Daggett as an a«8ociate, it was felt

that it could have a highly respectable character.

The Hon. James Lanmun received tlie nj>|Hiintment,

but af^er a short term of service resigned.

" JoHX Welch.—The Junior judge of the court
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was the Hon. John Welch, of Litchfield. He was a

native of the parish of Milton and a graduate of Yale

* College in the class of 1778,—a class which is said to

have produced more eminent men in proportion to

its numbers than any other which ever graduated at

that institution. Joel Barlow, Zephaniah Swift,

Uriah Tracy, Noah Webster, and the last Governor

Wolcott, with many other distinguished men, were

of the class.

" Judge Welch never entered either of the profes-

sions, but he lived to a very great age. He was ap-

pointed a judge of the County Court in the place of

Cyrus Swan, Esq., of Sharon, who had resigned his

position on the bench of the court in 1819. Judge

Welch continued on the bench till lie became dis-

qualified by age in 1829. He made no pretensions to

legal learning, but his decisions were based on a fair,

impartial view of the questions as they came up. He
always gave reasons for the opinion he had formed,

always made himself well understood, and his candor,

fairness, and sound judgment were admitted by all.

"JuiXiliS BURRALL, WoollRfl'F, AND BoARD-

MAN.—In 1829, when Judge Welch must retire on

account of his age, it was deemed jjroper by the Legis-

lature to make new appointments of both associate

judges. Judge Strong had been twelve years on the

bench, and in his place William 51. Burrall, Esq., of

Canaan, was appointed senior associate judge, and

Gen. Morris Woodrurt" tonk the |ilace of Judge Welch.

The court continued thus organized till the resigna-

tion of Judge Pettibone, when, not only with the

consent, but with the decided approval, of both asso-

ciate judges, David S. Boardman, Esq., of New Mil-

ford, was taken from the bar and installed chiefjudge

of the County Court, which as then constituted held

a high position in public confidence.

" Jauez Swift was the first lawyer who settled in

Salisbury. He was a native of Kent, and upon the

breaking out of the war of the Revolution he joined

the army in Boston, and there died.

" Adom.jah Strong was a pupil of Mr. Swift, and

succeeded him in practice. Col. Strong was a man
of vigorous mind, had a large practice, but possessed

none of the graces of eloquence. For many years he

was an efficient magistrate, and a member of the Gen-

eral Assembly. He died in February, 1813.

" Joseph Canfield, Esq., commenced his profes-

sional studies with Col. Strong, and finished them at

the Litchfield Law School. He commenced his prac-

tice at Furnace Village, in Salisbui-y, about the year

1789. Mr. Canfield was a gentleman of graceful

manners and good talents; he died in September,

1803, having been several times a member of the As-

sembly.
" Martin Strong, of Salisbury, son of Col. Adon-

ijah Strong, of that town, was a lawyer of the olden

time, of whose wit, as well as blunders, many stories

were rife fifty years ago. Col. Strong had four sons,

all of whom entered into professional life,—two as

clergymen, and two as lawyers. His son, the Eev.

William Strong, was father of the Hon. William

Strong, of Pennsylvania, now one of the associate

justices of the United States Supreme Court. Judge
Martin Strong had been a member of the bar for sev-

eral years, but had never made a very high mark in

his profession; in fact, he had never devoted himself

assiduously to the discharge of its duties. He owned
a very large and valuable farm on the town hill in

Salisbury, and his principal business was to attend to

that. When he came upon the bench he seemed to

have a recollection of a few plain legal maxims, but

his method of applying them to cases was not always

the most skillful. He was a man of immense physi-

cal dimensions, and when he had taken his seat on

the bench he sat in perfect quiet until the loud proc-

lamation of the sheriff announced the adjournment of

the court. He remained in office till 1829, when
William M. Burrall, Esq., of Canaan, took his place.

" Asa Bacon was a native of Canterbury, and came

to Litchfield as early as 1806, after a short period of

practice at East Iladdam, and for a while was a part-

ner of Judge Gould. lu 1820 he had become a leading

spirit at the bar. He had a fine personal appearance,

being tall and well proportioned, and usually richly

dressed. The first time I saw him before the jury his

head was well cased in powder and jjomatum, and a

long queue was dangling at his back; but he soon laid

aside this conformity to old-time fashions, although

he was the last member of the bar to do so. He was

undoubtedly a very hard student, and his briefs were

the result of extensive and faithful study. He was

not a very fluent, but was after all an interesting,

speaker. He would sometimes interlude his argu-

ments with specimens of drollery and flashes of wit,

and the expectation that these would be put forth se-

cured a very strict attention from all his hearers. He
frequently quoted passages of Scripture and com-

mented upon them, not always irreverently, but some-

times with rather unbecoming levity. He was a mortal

enemy of universal suffrage, and once in commenting

upon the parable of the talents he called the bailee

of one talent who had hid it in the earth a universal

suffrage man. He was a genial, jolly, companionable

man, and, although not addicted to excessive liberality

in his benefactions, still kept himselfin good standing

while he remained here. When he had reached the

age of sixty years he was appointed president of the

branch of the Phoenix Bank, located in Litchfield,

and after that was never seen professionally engaged

in court. The last years of his life were spent in New
Haven, where he died at a very advanced age.

"Gen. Elisha Sterling was a native of Lyme and

a graduate of Yale College in the class of 1787. He
studied law with the Hon. John Canfield, of Sharon,

who was his father-in-law, and settled in Salisbury iii

1791. He was a man of a high order of talent, and

had he addressed himself solely to professional points

would probably have stood at the head of the bar in
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this county. But he loved money and gave much of

his time to different kinds of business, and acquired

great wealth for those times. Notwithstanding this

propensitj' he had an extensive practice and was en-

gaged in most of the cases coming from the northern

portions of the county. He was a ready speaker, not

very select in tlie clioice of his words, and not elo-

quent by any established rule of elocution, but there

was a kind of impetuosity in bis manner, accompanied

by a rapid but distinct utterance of language, which

gave him, popularity as an advocate. He was ap-

pointed State's attorney in 1814, and held the office

six years, when Seth P. Beers, Esq., was appointed in

his place. He retired from practice soon after, and

died in 1836, at the age of seventy-two years. His

wealth enabled him to indulge the strong taste he had

for a handsome style of living and equipage, and in

that direction his mind had strong aristocratical tend-

encies.

"David S. Boardman was a native of New Mil-

ford, and settled there in the practice of law after bis

admission to the bar, in 179o. He wiis a man of re-

tiring disposition, in no way giving showy display of

his powers, but he was a finished legal scholar, and

was deemed a very safe and prudent professional ad-

viser. He had a very nice literary taste, and the

least grammatical blunder by a judge or lawyer at-

tracted his attention and frequently liis ridicule. His

arguments were pointed specimens of pcrs))icuity,

precision, and force, but he failed to attract much at-

tention as an advocate tlirougli a defect of vocal

power. His voice was feeble and could scarcely be

heard except by those who were near him. Ho had

a high character for moral rectitude, and his four or

five years' service at the liead of the County Court

gave it a dignity and moral power whicii in other

years it had scarcely obtained. Sketches from Iiis

pen descriptive of some of the members of the bar

in this county of the last century may be found in

the beginning of tliis chapter. He was a college

classmate of Asa Bacon, and they wore warm personal

friends. He lived to the great age of ninety-seven

years.

" Ehineha.s Mixer, the last, because tlie youngest,

of the class of lawyers to whom I iiave referred, de-

serves a much more extended notice than I sliull be

able to give him. His amiable and genial temper as

a man seemed to make him very popular iis a lawyer.

Fidelity to his clients and a laborious attention to their

interests was a marked trait in his professional career.

He commenced practice in Wincliester, his native

town, and had there acquired a good standing in his

profession, when he came to Litchfield in 181(i. He
had an extensive practice and was notrd for the dili-

gence with whicli he pressed every jmint, however

unimportant, which could be made to tell In favor of

his client. His arguments were generally extended

to a great length, and I have known him to receive a

gentle hint from the Judge recomuicudiug a condensa-

tion of his thoughts. He died in 1839, at the age of

sixty years, and Mr. Day, the reporter, gives a flatter-

ing estimate of him in a foot-note on 134th page of

the 18th volume of Connecticut Keports.

" William G. AVilliams, of New Hartford, stood

as high as any member of this class. He belonged to

the eminent and reputable Williams family, of Massa-

chusetts, his father being a nephew of Col. Ephraim

Williams, the founder of Williams College, and him-

self the first cousin of Bishop Williams, of the Epis-

copal Church of Connecticut. As a special pleader

he had no superior at the bar. He had a tolerably

fair standing as an advocate, and was indefatigable in

pursuing to the last possible effort any purpose he had

undertaken. If he failed iu one form of action he

would try another, and never gave up till further per-

sistence was hopeless. He commenced business as a

lawyer in Sharon, where he married, but after a few

years he removed to New Hartford, where he re-

mained during his life. He had scarcely reached the

age of sixty years when he died.

" John Stkoxg, Jr., of Woodbury, his native town,

was a lawyer of very fair standing. I remember once

to have heard Judge Boardman say ' that if he found

John Strong differing from himself on a law point, he

always doubted the correctness of his own conclusions.'

He was a ready speaker and had a peculiar habit of

looking all over the hall, frequently directly behind

himself, while he wiw addressing the jury. His argu-

ments were clear and logical, and he was always lis-

tened to by the court with attention. He had scarcely

reached the age of fifty years when he died.

" Calvix Bl'TLER, of Plymouth, had a very good

reputation as a lawyer. He also stood well witli his

fellow-citizens of Plymouth, as he was often a mem-

ber of the Legislature, and he Wius nl' the convention

of this State. He was also a member of the Senate in

1832. He had a part in all cases which came from

that town and managed a trial very well. He was

earnest iu his manner of addressing the jurj-, and he

was in full practice up to the tinu' of his death, when

he had reached the age of seventy-two year^. He
died suildenly while away from hi>me, and left behind

a good record as a faithful lawyer and an honest num.

"Cyhis Swax, of Stonington, cunie to the bar of

this county in 17'.>S. He -settled in Sharon, and con-

tinued in full practice for twenty years. He wa.s ap-

pointeil a judge of the County Court in 1S18, and reap-

pointed for the succeeding year, but resigneil the of-

fice before the close of the term. His health becom-

ing intolerant of sedentary liabits and ropiiring out-

door pursuits, he never resumed full practice, although

he occasioiuilly appeared in trials where his old friends

denuuided his aid. His arguments were clear, sound,

and sensible, and were listeiu-d to with attention.

His mind was well stored willi sound legal maxims,

and his aim seemed to be to make a sensible applica-

tion of these to the case in hand. He died in I5si5, at

the age of sixty-five years.
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" Joseph Miller, of Winsted, who died recently

in Michigan at a very advanced age, was a man of

moral talent and of a higher order of legal acquire-

ments than he usually had credit for. After the re-

moval of Mr. Miller to Litchfield his practice was

large, and continued to be so for several )-ears. His

arguments were short, compact, and logical, and were

listened to with attention and interest. In middle

life he removed to Michigan, where he had a pros-

perous career.

" William M. Burrall, a native, and through

life a resident, of Canaan, was a lawyer of very ex-

tensive practice in one branch of busines.s. He com-

menced a great many cases to the court, but never

argued one on the final trial. He would sometimes

argue motions for continuance or for other purposes,

and liis success on such occasions showed that he had

underrated his own powers. Although he did not

argue his cases, he was the master-spirit in managing

all the details of the trial, iu what order witnesses

should be called, and the points of testimony brought

out. His associates depended greatly on his skill in

conducting this part of the proceedings. He had a

kind, affable, and winning way in his social inter-

course, and his offices were employed in adjusting and

settling legal controversies. He acted as committee

and arbitrator in more cases than any other member
of the bar of his time, and if a desire to make him-

self as indifferent as possible to all parties sometimes

seemed to hold him back from decisive action, he

always, in the end, showed true firmness and integrity.

He was an associate judge of the County Court from

1829 to 1836, and after that chief judge for ten years.

He died at the age of seventy-seven years.

"CoL. William Coggswell, of New Preston, a

very worthy and respectable gentleman, was a mem-
ber of the bar, and was very seldom absent from the

courts. He never engaged in the trial of a case, and

very seldom spoke to the bench, but he was always a

busy man in the court-room. He was one cf the

electors who cast the vote of Connecticut for John

Quincy Adams for President in 1824. He died before

he had reached a very advanced age.

" Seth p. Beers.—When I came to the bar, in

1820, Seth P. Beers, Esq., was in full practice. He
was appointed State's attorney soon after, but re-

signed in three years, having been appointed commis-

sioner of the school fund, which office he held for

twenty-five years. I have heard him say that at some

terms of the court he had commenced as many as one

hundred and fifty cases, and he was very thorough in

all matters committed to his trust. His talents as an

.idvocate were respectable, his briefs being very full

and his knowledge of every minute point being very

complete.
" Perry Smith, of New Milford, held a somewhat

prominent place at the bar, and his practice was ex-

tensive. So many different estimates have been made
of Mr. Smith's real qualities that it is difficult to

speak of him with any very strong assurance of cor-

rectness. That he had talents and friends the success

which he achieved both as a lawyer and a politician

renders certain, but those who remember the time of

his professional experience here know that he had
enemies, and such would be the natural result of the

unrelenting bitterness with which he pursued his ad-

versaries in his efforts before the courts. There was a

bitterness in his invectives, a persistence in his perse-

cutions, an implacability in his enmities, which gave

a decided character to his professional career, and
which insured to him the enmity of all against whom
his efforts were directed. He was always listened to

with a kind of inquisitiveness as to what new fountain

of bitterness he would open, or what new invectives

he would invent to pour out upon his adversary.

These were sometimes directed against the opposing

counsel as well as the opposing party, and upon the

whole he incurred a great amount of hatred. I am
only speaking of what occurred in court, and express-

ing the opinion which we would form in witnessing

his professional conflicts. It cannot be doubted that

he had many friends and supporters outside of this

scene of action, and it is not unlikely that he was as

warm and constant in his friendships as he was bitter

and unrelenting in his hatreds. After his election to

the United States Senate he retired from the bar and

was very seldom seen here.

" Roger Mills, of New Hartford, was at one time

a partner with Mr. Williams, of whom we have

already spoken, from whom he differed in every re-

s])ect except that both held the position of honorable

and worthy gentlemen. BIr. Mills was slow in his

conception of thoughts, slow in all the movements of

his mind, and very slow in the delivery of his argu-

ments, and yet when all his duties in a case were ac-

complished it would be seen that he had made a cred-

itable effort, and that he was far from being a lawyer of

indifferent pretensions. His son of the same name
succeeded him in the practice of law at New Hart-

ford, but has since removed to Wisconsin, where he

has had a successful career.

Michael F. Mills was born in Norfolk, March

22, 1776. He was the youngest of a family of nine

children, all of whom attained advanced age except

one brother, who died in early life. Mr. Mills sur-

vived all of them and most of his early friends, and

at the time of his death, with one exception, the late

Deacon Amos Pettibone, was the only male first de-

scendant of the original landed proprietors of Nor-

folk. The other members of the family were born in

the town of Simsbury, Hartford Co., from whence

Mr. Mills' parents as well as many others of the first

settlers of Norfolk emigrated.

Mr. Mills, never having lived out of his native town

and never having held any high public station, may
not have been as publicly known out of his own town

and county as many other men less gifted, but so far

as his townsmen could testify their respect and con-
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fidence in him they did so by elevating him to every

place of trust and responsibility within their gift. He
represented his town in several sessions of the Legis-

lature, was appointed judge of probate in 1822, and

held the office twenty years; in 1812 was appointed

justice of the peace and officiated in that capacity

until he was seventy years of age. He w.as the first

postmaster at Norfolk, appointed by Thomas Jeffer-

son in 1804. At that time the mail only arrived twice

a week in Norfolk, and only two papers were received

at the office,—the Connecticut Courant and Litchfield

Monitor.

Mr. Mills never figured conspicuously as an advo-

cate in the higher courts, but was regarded by the

ablest lawyers as one of the best men in the State to

prepare a case. Most people know how very liable

members of the legal profession are to make enemies

in discharging the duties of their calling, but in this

Mr. Mills was peculiarly fortunate. Being of a happy

and generous disijosition, whatever he said or did

never partook of ill-will or malignity.

Mr. Mills died Aug. 2, 1857, and a friend, in speak-

ing of the departed, says, "As might be expected, the

funeral obsequies of the deceased were solemn and

impressive to his friends and neighbors and particu-

larly to the aged inhabitants of the town. The funeral

discourse was delivered by Rev. Joseph Eldridge.

We have attended a great many funerals, but seldom

one where we have seen so large a number of mourning
relatives, a circumstance thatgoes to show theantiquity

of the family in the town." Mr. Mills was interred

in the old burying-ground, where his remains rest

amidst departed kindred and friends.

Gen. Charles F. Sedgwick, in speaking of Mr. Mills,

says, "He never attempted to argue cases in the higher

courts, but on the trial of motions as they came before

the courts he was very prominent. We all thought

well of 'Uncle Mich,' as we used to call him, and so

did the people of Norfolk, for he was always a promi-

nent man in the affairs of the town. He was a mem-
ber of the Legislature in 1830 and 1831."

Two daughters of Mr. Mills survive,—Mrs. John A.

Shepard and Mrs. John K. Shepard.

"Ei>WAiU) AiKEX resided in Norfolk, and gained

some prominence lit the bar.

"CllAKLES B. I'll ELI'S settled in Woodbury soon

aftor his admission to the bar, nearly si.xty years ago.

He continued in jiractice while he lived. Ho died

suddenly from a disease of the heart, at the age of

seventy-two years. He held a respectable position as a

lawyer, and for two years was a judge of the County
Court while that court was holden by a single judge.

All who knew him have a very pleasant memory of

his genial humor, pertinent anecdotes, and witty and
pungent sayings. The younger members of the bar

were delighted with his company, and all deeply de-

plored his sudden death.

"Matthew Misou, of Woodbury, was a lawyer

of good classical education and respectable legal at-

tainments. He had a native diffidence which pre-

vented him putting himself forward very often on the

trial of cases, but when his powers were brought out

he made a respectable show. He belonged to one of

the eminent families of Woodbury, and for personal

qualities was very much respected.

" Nathaniel P. Perry, of Kent, was a quiet, un-

obtrusive, conscientious man. He was the only law-

yer in that town during the greater part of his profes-

sional life, and did a good local business. He was

very diligent in the pursuit of his profession, and gen-

erally argued the cases that he commenced. He was

a member of the Senate for two successive years, and

died at the age of about sixty years."

HoLBROOK Curtis, lawyer, of the class of 1807,

died at Watertown, Conn., Feb. 21, 1858, of apoplexy.

The deceased was born at Newtown, Fairfield Co.,

July 14, 1787. When eleven years of age he was

placed by his parents in the family of the Rev. Dr.

Burhans to be prepared for college. Remaining with

him two or three years, he subsequently pursued his

studies with that accomplished jurist and classical

scholar. Judge Chapman, from whom he imbibed a

taste for the cla.<isics, which he cultivated and enjoyed

through life. He entered the junior chiss of Yale

College in 1805, and on graduating returned to his

native town, studied law with Judge Chapman, and

was admitted to the bar, at Fairfield, in 1S09.

He pursued the practice of his profession at New-
town until 1SI3, when upon the death of Samuel W.
Southmayd, Esq., a lawyer, at Watertown, Litchfield

Co., Conn., he was invited by several gentlemen of

that place to remove there. The invitation w:i3 ac-

cepted and he remained there until his death. During

almost fifty years of professional life he received the

confidence and e-steem of those around him, and bis

good sense and kindness of heart were very frequently

enlisted to make peace and heal dis.sensious among
neighbors and friends. He |>ursued an honorable,

highminded, liberal course in the performance of his

duties as n lawyer, as a citizen, and as a man. In the

various public trusts he was called upon during periods

of many years to discharge, as a magistrate, member
of the Legislature, judge of probate and of the county,

and member of the general conventions of the Epis-

copal Church, in which he wils educated and thniugh

life attached, his sound judgment, strict integrity, and

conservative views were pre-eminent.

He was a man of constiint and extensive reading,

had made sonic progress in modern languages, and of

the Latin poets could repeat large portions of Horace

and Virgil from memory. He was warm and nocial

in his feelings and possessed an immense fund of

anecdote, not only of tbo bench and bar of his early

days, but the traditional, extending back into the

colonial tiun-s; and even the unpublished! stanzas

with vhich the legal witd honored the king's attorney

in the days of the Stamp Act, or the ancient clergy

occoaionally prepared iu commemoration of some
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ludicrous mishap of one of their number, were stored

away in his retentive memory.

The men of those times have long since passed away,

and he has been called to follow them, regretted by

all who knew him.

" Jam te premet nox, ftibiilieque Maues,

Et domiiB exiliB Plutonia."

AViLLiAM Edmoxd Curtis was the eldest son of

Holbrook and Elizabetli (Edmond) Curtis, and was

born at Watertown, in the same room in which he

died, Sept. 29, 1823. A sketch of his father appears

elsewhere in this work. His maternal grandfather.

Judge William Edmond, of Newtown, Conn., was of

Irish descent, but was born in this State, graduated at

Yale College in 1773, served as a volunteer, and was

wounded in the attack on Danbury in 1777 ; married,

for his second wife, a daughter of Benjamin Payne,

Esq., of Hartford ; was a member of Congress and a

judge of the Supreme Court of this State.

Young Curtis had a brother Henry, near his own
age, and the two boys grew up together, studying

partly at the schools of the town and partly witli their

father until about twelve years of age, when Henry
died, leaving William the only child of his parents.

He had begun the study of Latin with his father at

the age of eight, and pursued his classical studies

under his guidance until he was tifteen, when he went

for a year to the Episcopal academy at Cheshire, then

under the care of the Rev. Allen C. Morgan and the

Rev. Dr. Beardsley, where he finished his preparation

for college, and entered Trinity College, Hartford, the

ensuing year. He graduated with distinguished honor

in 1843, and entered the law-office of Hon. William

Curtis Noyes, then a prominent member of the New
York bar.

He undertook, in addition to his legal studies, the

acquisition of a more thorough knowledge of the

French and Spanish languages, and with such success

that by the time he was admitted to the bar he was

able to speak both langu.iges with sufficient facility

for business purposes, and immediately reaped the

benefit of his labors by attracting French and Span-

ish clients, and thus early laying the foundation of

an extensive and successful practice.

It is worth while to notice, however, for the encour-

agement of younger members of the profession, this

entry in his diary :

"June 2G, 1846. Notlnng to do; business dull. If things are not bet-

ter, I sliall emigrate to Texas."

This probably does not indicate any intention of

going to Texas, but was a figurative expression of the

time, indicating merely the intention of making some

change of location for the purpose of bettering his

fortunes.

Soon after his proposed emigration to Texas busi-

ness prospects began to improve, and from that time

forward he never lacked professional occupation. He
was not only a careful student of the law, but he was

a man of excellent business judgment, so that his

advice was much sought and greatly valued. Faith-

fulness to duty was a marked feature of his character.

He prepared his cases with care and fidelity, giving

careful thought to every consideration by which his

clients' interest might be affected. As a consequence

of this he won many causes without a trial. He was
fair and honest by nature, and people instinctively

confided in him in regard to their property interests

and their personal affiiirs. His courtesy was remark-

able, and it was only when occasion seemed to demand
it that he assumed a tone of severity with the air of dis-

charging a duty rather than of giving way to the in-

dulgence o-f personal feeling. His whole demeanor

was eminently dignified and judicial, and when, in

1871, he was elected on the Reform ticket one of the

judges of the Superior Court of the City of New
York, there was a very general feeling that he was in

his right place. His career on the bench fully justi-

fied this feeling, and on the death of Chief Justice

Monell, in 1876, he was with great unanimity selected

as presidingjudge.

One of his late associates, in speaking of his char-

acter at a meeting of the bar held with reference to his

death, said, " He seemed to have an intuitive idea of

right and justice from which he never swerved. He
was a safe guardian of every interest committed to his

management, and allowed no selfish purpose to swerve

him from entire justice to others. This sentiment

was carried in instances to self-sacrifice. He was a

large-minded man, and the current of his thoughts

and actions was limited by no narrow bounds ; it

deepened and widened according to the subjects he

was called upon to consider."

Perhaps the highest praise that can be given to a

judge is that he has no history but the reports.

Outside of his profession Judge Curtis' chief efibrts

were in the cause of education. To Trinity College,

as his Alma Mater, his ties were strong and his rela-

tions intimate. In 1846 he was appointed to deliver

the Master's or.ation. In 1857 he became a Fellow of

the college and a member of the corporation, and in

1862 he received the honorary degree of LL.D.

In 1857 he was elected a member of the board of

education of the city of New York, and served in

that capacity for nine years and, during the last four

years, as president of the board. He was a vestry-

man of St. George's Church, a member of the council

of the New York Geographical Society, and of various

other religious, literary, and social organizations.

All these duties he discharged with conscientious

fidelity, and especially to those connected with the

board of education he devoted a large amount of

time.

His personal friendships, though not demonstrative,

were lasting, and an old friend or acquaintance in

need never appealed to him in vain. Many could

testify to this, but he was naturally secretive, and

probably few comparatively of these acts of kindness

were ever known beyond himself and the recipient.
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His local attachments were very strong. He always

retained the old place in Watertown which he had

inherited from his father, where he himself was born,

and which had always been his home. Here his

family spent their summers, and here he came to rest

when ^est was permitted, thoroughly enjoying the

scenes of his childhood and the familiar faces and

voices that greeted each return. He was deeply at-

tached to the place and greatly respected and esteemed

by the people. " We have lost our great man," was

the simple tribute paid to him by one of his towns-

men.

The character of his mind was in all things strongly

conservative, and although he kept pace with the time

in knowledge and habit of life, yet to him personally

change was painful, and he endured rather than en-

joyed the little that circumstances compelled him to

adopt of what was new in all his personal belongings.

In his youth he was tall, slender, and delicate, and

although in later years he became a large man, and

had the ajipearance of physical vigor, he was not as

strong as he appeared. Nearly two years before his

death ie had a severe .sickness which prostrated him
for many weeks. The following summer he spent in

Europe and partially regained his health; but the

severe work of a long winter was torj great a tax upon

his enfeebled vitality, and on the (Ith day of .luly,

1880, at his old home, and surrounded by his family,

he suddenly sank under what appeared to be but a.

slight indisposition.

Judge Curtis married, Sept. 2, 1851, Mary A.,

daughter of William H. Scovcii, Esq., of Watcrbury,

and great-granddaughter of the Kev. Jame.^ Scovill,

a native of Watertown, and the first Episcopal min-

ister of Watertown and Waterbury.

His widow, with five sons and two daughters, survive

him.
" Isaac Leavenworth and Royal R. Hin.man.

—There were two lawyers in Roxbury fifty years ago,

Isaac Leavenworth and Royal R. Ilinnian, wlio made
a considerable show of business before the courts, but

who retired from practice in the course of a few years.

Mr. Leavcnwortli went into other busine.** in New
Haven, where it is said he has been very successful,

and is still living at a very advanced age. Mr. Hin-

man held the office of Secretary of State for eight

years, and published several pamphlets containing

the statistics of many of the most prominent families

in the State.

"JosKPir II. Hkm.amy, of IJethiehem, deserves

more than a pa.ssing tribute. He was a grandson of

the celebrated divine of that name, and was a man of

great moral worth. He never had a very extensive

practice as a lawyer, but was much employed in va-

rious branches of public business. He was frci|uently

a member of the Legislature, and once rcprcsentcil the

Sixteenth District iu tlie Senate. He died in middle

life, and all, of all names and parlies, pay him the

tribute of an alluctionatc and respectful remembrance.

" Theodore North, of Goshen, his native town,

removed to Chenango Co., N. Y., about 1823. He
graduated at Williams College in 1806 with the high-

est honors of his class. He was a remarkably well-

read lawyer, and had a respectable standing as an

advocate. He attained to eminence in his profession

in the State of New York. He died some twenty

years since.

" Hon. William S. Holabirp, a native of Canaan,

Conn., studied law with Hon. W. M. Burrall, attended

the law lectures of Judge Gould at Litchfield, was

admitted to the bar about 1820, and soon after

commenced j)ractice at Colebrook, Conn., whence

he moved to Winsted in 1S24, and soon after secured

a large practice and high standing at the bar. He
held the appointment of district attorney for four

years under President Jackson, and was Lieutenant-

Governor of the State in 1842 and 1844 ; besides which,

he held the offices of po.stma.ster and a.ssignee in

bankruptcy. He was a man of commanding person

and pleasing address. As a lawyer he was adroit

rather than learned, thorough in preparing his cases,

([uick to discern the weak points of his adversary,

and energetic beyond most men in carrying forward

his cases to a final issue. The same qualities were

prominent in his political career, but his success as a

lawyer was more decided than as a politician. About

IS.jO he withdrew from legal practice and devoted

himself to financiering with decided success. He
died May 22, ISoS, at the age of sixty-one.

"Geokok S. 15oaui>.mas, son of the Hon. Elijah

noardman, of New Milford, was admitted to the bar in

1821. He was a young man of decideil promise, and

was a special favorite of his uncle, Judge Boardman.

His death was greatly lamented throughimt the com-

munity. His efforts at the bar gave proof of decide«l

talent, and lie had made liimsclf a special favorite

among the members.
" Joiix Ei.MoKK was a native of Sharon. He set-

tled as a lawyer in Canaan about 17'J3. He hail no

great eminence at the bar, but was a great favorite

with his associates for liis genial humor, |»ertinent

anecdotes, and witty sayings. He lived to a very ad-

vanced age. The last years of his life were devoted

to zealous etfort.s in the cause of temperance. His

son, of the same name, wa.s also in the practice of the

law for several years in Canaan.

"Oeoruk Wiieaton" spent a somewhat protracted

life in (^irnwall in the practice of law. He was ad-

mitted to tlie bar about IH12, and at once engaged in

professional occupations. He was an ingenious, sa-

gacious, and jierliaps it may be said crajly, lawyer,

for opiHMing counsel were always fearful that ho

woubl spring upon them some new point.s to which

their attention had not been directed. He wius defi-

cient in early education, but even his blunder* in the

use of language were often witty, and he was always

listened to 'in his argument.-< with close att^-ntion.

He undchttooti well all the points in his caxr, and
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presented them with great skill to the court. He had
a successful career, and left a good name behind him.

"Samuel Church was a native of Salisbury, and
a graduate of Yale College of the class of 1803, and
he continued his residence in Salisbury while he was
a member of the bar. He held quite a respectable

standing as a lawyer, and for several years was the

State's attorney for the county. He had not attained

to the higher ranks in his profession when, in 1S32,

he was appointed a judge of the Supreme Court, but

to the duties of the latter office he devoted himself

with great assiduity and success, and was in no degree

inferior to his associates on the bench in those qual-

ities which go to make a good judge of our highest

court. On the ex|>iration of the term of Chief Justice

Williams, in 1847, he was appointed his successor,

and held that position during the remainder of his

life. After his appointment as judge he removed to

Litchfield. He died a few months before he had
reached the age of seventy years.

'Jabkz W. Huntington, a native of Norwich,

graduated at Yale College in 1806 ; came to Litch-

field as a teacher and student-at-law in 1807, and

continued to reside here until October, 1834, when he

returned to Norwich, and died there in 1847, in his

sixtieth year. While a resident of Litchfield he was

elected a representative member of Congress, and

judge of the Superior Court. From 1840 until his

death he was a member of the United States Senate.
" Gideon Hall was a native of Winchester, and

had abundant early advantages for an education,

although he did not go through a college course. His

father was a man of large estate, and the son was left

in easy circumstances. He had a fair standing at the

bar and did a considerable amount of professional

business. Towards the close of his life he received

the appointment of judge of the Supreme Court, but

after a short term of service in that office consump-
\

tion terminated his life."

Hon. Tku.man Smith was the oldest son of Phin-

eas and Deborah Ann (Judson) Smith, and was born

in Roxbury, on the 27th day of November, a.d. 1791.

His father was the oldest son of a family, two of whose

members, Nathaniel Smith, of Woodbury, and Nathan

Smith, of New Haven, became very distinguished at

the bar and in public life in Connecticut. Phineas

Smith was a farmer, and was in no degree inferior in I

intellectual ability to either of his brothers. The sub- i

ject of this notice was brought up on his father's farm,

and owes whatever success he achieved in after-life to

habits formed and principles inculcated in the home
of his childhood. He was graduated at Yale College

in 1815, and soon after commenced the study of law.

He was admitted to the bar of Litchfield County in

March, 1818. In the fall of the same year he opened

an office for the practice of the law in Litchfield, and

that village was his home until 1854. The bar of

Litchfield County then numbered more than forty
[

members, and several of them were eminent in the

profession. Mr. Smith felt that at such a bar as this

faithful study and indefatigable labor alone would
insure success, and to such study and labor he devoted

himself strictly, and he soon became known as a

5'oung lawyer of decided promise and marked ability.

He soon acquired professional business, and at the end
of ten or twelve years took rank among the able mem-
bers of the bar in the management of the most im-

portant cases before the courts in Litchfield County,

and was sometimes engaged in such cases in other

counties in the State. His habits and methods of

practice were peculiar to himself. In the examination

of witnesses and in the discussion of interlocutory

questions he showed peculiar ability. The reluctance

of a witness to disclose the truth and give a fair state-

ment of the matters of which he was testifying, would
sometimes provoke the most severe reprehension of

the advocate, which he was not backward in exhibit-

ing in court. He never went into the trial of an im-

portant case without having made a thorough study

of all questions likely to arise in the course of the

proceedings, and was generally well prepared to give

such questions a thorough discussion. His method of

argument to the court and jury was also peculiar to

himself His style and manner showed nothing of

the polished refinement which marked the perform-

ances of James Gould and Roger M. Sherman, but

there was a power of thought and a strength of argu-

ment attending his oral deliveries which made him a

popular advocate. In his arguments at the bar he

discussed nothing but the merits of the question, and

he was hoard with strict attention by the triers whom
he was addressing. Upon the whole, his career as a

lawyer was eminently successful.

Mr. Smith early took a deep interest in public af-

fairs, and a considerable portion of his subsequent

career was devoted to public employments, to which

he was appointed by the voice of his fellow-citizens,

and to all matters which agitated the public mind he

devoted the same assiduous attention and thorough

examination which marked his professional labors.

It followed, of course, that he became a prominent

member of the different legislative bodies to which

he was elected, and all the speeches which he de-

livered in either house of Congress, to which he was

elected, bore evidence of thorough labor in their

preparation. He was elected to the Legislature of

Connecticut, by the town of Litchfield, in 1831, 1832,

and 1834, and had much to do in shaping the legisla-

tion of those years. But a wider field soon opened

before him, and higher posts of duty awaited him.

It was not the fashion of those times for candidates

to urge their own claims, or spend their money in

promoting their own advancement in public life. It

has been said of Mr. Smith, and probably with truth,

that he never packed a convention, never solicited a

nomination, never asked a man to vote for him, and

never addressed a political meeting when he was a

candidate for office.
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In 1839, and again in 1841, lie was elected to the

National House of Representatives by decided ma-

jorities in the district to which he belonged, which

then embraced the county of Litchfield. The census

of 1840 rendered necessary a new apportionment of

members of Congress in the different States, and

under that arrangement the counties of Fairfield and

Litchfield were embodied into a single district, and

from this district, thus enlarged, he was twice elected

by large majorities. He was elected to the Senate of

the United States for the term commencing March

4, 1849, but he resigned his place before the expira-

tion of the time to which he had been appointed.

His career in both branches of Congress was honor-

able and successful, and the speeches which he made
in each were marked by the evidence that much study

and reflection had been employed in their prepara-

tion. In the House of Representatives his published

speeches were : 1. On the New Jersey Broad Seal elec-

tion case. 2. On our wool-growing and wool-manu-

facturing interests. 3. On the territory to be acquired

from Mexico by a treaty then pending. In the Sen-

ate he delivered speeches on the following subjects:

1. Ou removals from oflice. 2. On a bill to admit

California into the Union, and to establish several

territorial governments. 3. On French spoliations,

etc. 4. On the proposition of Mr. Douglas to levy

tonnage on the States for the improvement of rivers

and harbors. 5. On the construction of a railroad to

the Pacific coast. 6. On the Nebraska question. Of
the speech on the bill to admit California into the

Union, and to establish several territorial governments,

Mr. Webster, in a sjjeech on the same question, made
a few days afterwards, said, " It contained one of the

clearest and strongest demonstrations that I have

heard from the mouth of maji." All the speeches of

Mr. Smith were fraught with good sense and sound

logic. The last one delivered, Feb. 10 and 11, lSi)4,

was a discussion on the repeal of the Missouri Com-
promise, and expressed his full conviction that the

measure foreboded incalculable mischief to the coua-

try, and he felt bound to oppose to it an uncompro-

mising resistance. He undertook to denionjitrate that

there was, and had ever been, an entire harmony in

the elements on which the jirosperity of the ditlereat

sections of the Union depended; that there was au

utter impossibility of maintaining an equilibrium be-

tween the free and slave States, and that such etiui-

libriuni, if attainable, would be useless to the latter;

that the slavery ([ucstiori, which, during the few pre-

ceding years, had made so much <listurbance in and

out of Congress, was of very little impurtance. Sub-

sequent Itistory has disclosed events which no one

then foresaw.

Mr. Smith had a decided preference for Gen. Tay-

lor as a candidate for the Presidency in 1848, and was

a member of the convention which gave him the

nomination. He was also the chairman of the Na-

tional Whig committee by which the canvass for the

general was . conducted. One of his colleagues ou

this committee was Abraham Lincoln, who spent a

considerable time in Washington as a member of the

committee during the canvass.

On the accession of Gen. Taylor to the Presidency

he proposed to Mr. Smith to make him Secretary of

the Interior, thus constituting him a member of his

cabinet, but Mr. Smith preferred to occupy his seat

in the Senate as best suited to his habits and method

of life.

Soon after the accession of Mr. Lincoln to the

Presidency, a treaty was entered into between the

United States and Great Britain for establishing in-

ternational courts, to be located, two in Africa and

one in the city of New York, to adjudicate slave-

trading cases, each to consist of two judges, one rep-

resenting the United States and the other Great Brit-

ain. Mr. Smith was appointed to the New York
court, and held the .situation for several years ; but

our coiist having been blockaded during the war, and

slavery in the United States being abolished, there

could be no cases to be submitted to the court except

in connection with Cuba or some other slave-holding

country, of which there was very little probability,

the two governments, by a new treaty, abrogated the

courts and left the matters regarding them to the or-

dinary courts. This was the last public office held

by Mr. Smith.

Mr. Smith established his home in Stamford in 1854,

where he has ever since resided. Ho had a law-office

in New York, and practiced in the courts of that State

and in the Supreme and Circuit Courts of the I'nited

States till 1872, when he retired from the profession.

He has, to some extent, of late years occupied him-

self in submitting his views to the public on topics

which he deemed important, sometimes in pamphlets,

but more generally through the newspaper press. He
has tuken much interest in the temperance cause, and

his articles on that subject furnish very strong argu-

ments in favor of the entire suppression of the traffic.

Various other matters of much public interest hare

also received his attention.

Mr. Smith was married, June 2,1832, to Miss Maria

Cook, daughter of Roger Cook, Ii*q., of Litchfield.

She die<l April 24, 1849. He was again married, Nov.

7, 18f)0, to Miss Mary .Vnn Dickinson, who still sur-

vives.

He now (1881), at the ago of ninety years, enjoys

comfortable beallli and bus a good shore of mental

activity.

Cjiaules F. SKiMiWifK, of Sharon, was born in

Cornwall, Conn., Sept. 1, 1795. He prepan-d for col-

lego with Rev. Truman ^larsli, of Litchfield, and

Rev. A. R. Robbius, of Norfolk, principally with

the latttT. He entered Williams College in 18U9,

and grailuatcd in 1813. After graduation he taught

about three years and fitted several young men fur

college. He studied law with Gen. Klislia Sterling,

of Salisbury, aud Cyrus Swan, Esq., of Sharon, and



3G HISTORY OF LITCHFIELD COUNTY, CONNECTICUT.

in March, 1820, was admitted to the liar. He married

a daughter of Mr. Swan in 1821. He has been much
in jniblic life, and has ever been faithful to the trusts

imposed. He was a member of the House of Repre-

sent.atives in the Legislature in 1830 and 1831, and of

the Senate in 1832; was .ippointed brig.adier-general

of militia in 1829 and major-general in 1831 ; was ap-

pointed State's attorney in 1856, and held that office

by reappointment for eighteen years. Soon after he

retired from office, and has since been a citizen of

Sharon.

Gen. Sedgwick has a decided taste for literary

pursuits, and has added many highly interesting and

valuable works to the historic literature of this sec-

tion, among which may be mentioned "Sedgwick's

History of vSharon," two editions, an excellent work,

sketches of members of the Litchfield bar, various

historical addresses, etc. Gen. Sedgwick has taken

an active interest in historical matters, and to him
more than any other person is due the preservation of

thehistoryof the barof Litchfield County.—(Editor.)
Oeigen Storks Seyjioue was born at Litchfield,

Conn., Feb. 0, 1804; has always resided in his na-

tive village and within a few rods of the place of his

birth. After graduation he commenced the study of

law. His own eyes were too weak to allow him to

read for himself; his friend and classmate, Treat,

therefore read aloud to him. He was admitted to the

bar September, 1826, and at once commenced the

practice of the law. He devoted himself without in-

terruption to his professional duties for the space of

twenty-five years ; during that time, however, he sev-

eral times represented his town in the General As-

sembly, and in 1850 served as Speaker of the House.

In 1851 he was elected a member of the United

States Congress, and then for four years was occupied

in public political life. He was elected as a Union
Democrat, pfedgcd to the earnest support of the com-

promise measures then receutly adopted on the subject

of slavery. He strenuously opposed the well-known

Kansas and Nebraska bills as being a violation of

those compromises.

On his retirement from Congress he was elected

a judge of the Supreme Court, and held that laborious

office eight years, from 1855 to 1863, that being the

term for which be was elected. He then resumed the

practice of law in cop.irtnership with his son, Edward
W. Seymour, and continued in a full practice till

1870. He was then chosen judge of the Supreme
Court of Errors of Connecticut, which office he held

until he became seventy years of age, having been

chiefjustice during his last year of service. The con-

stitution of the State limits the term ofjudicial life to

the age of seventy. Since his retirement from judi-

cial life he has declined to appear as an advocate at

court. He, however, spends some of his time in office

business and as arbitrator and referee.

Mr. Seymour was married, Oct. 5, 1830, to Lucy
M. Woodruff, daughter of Hon. Morris AVoodrufT, by

whom he had four children,—Edward WoodruflT, set-

tled at Litchfield in the legal profession ; Storrs Ozias,

clergyman of the Protestant Episcopal Church, set-

tled in Litchfield, Conn. ; Maria (deceased) ; Morris

Woodruff, settled in the legal profession at Bridge-

port, Conn., present State senator.

He is a member of the Protestant Episcopal

Church, and as such was one of the lay delegates for

the Diocese of Connecticut in the Triennial General

Conventions of 1865, '68, '71, '74, '77, and '80. Re-

ceived the degree of LL.D. from Yale in 1873.

George C. Woodruff, descended from Matthew
Woodruft", one of the earliest settlers of Connecticut,

and from Nathaniel Woodruff, one of the first settlers

of Litchfield, is the eldest son of the late Gen. Morris

AVoodruff, of said town, and was born in Litchfield,

Dec. 1, 1805. He graduated at Yale College in 1825,

studied at the Litchfield Law School, and came to the

bar in 1827. For more than half a century he has

been in the successful practice of his profession in his

native town, where he has ever been intrusted with

positions of honor and responsibility, besides repre-

senting his district in the Thirty-seventh Congress.

In 1845 he published a history of his town. In 1829

he married Henrietta S. Seymour, daughter of the

late Ozias Seymour, and sister of ex-Chief Justice

Origen S. Seymour, by whom he has one child living,

—George M. AVoodruff, of Litchfield.

John Henry Hubb.\ed was born in Salisbury,

Conn., in 1804. His childhood and youth was

spent on his father's farm, with only those advan-

tages for education which the district school af-

forded. Of these he made such diligent use that at the

early age of fifteen he was found qualified to be a

teacher. Shortly after this he entered the office of

the Hon. Elisha Sterling, of Salisbury, then a very

prominent lawyer, as a law student. AVhile a student

he supported himself by teaching school winters.

In addition to his studies in the law, before he

reached his majority he had acquired a very good

knowledge of Latin, and had read many standard

books with great care, such as '• Rollin's Ancient His-

tory," "Plutarch's Lives," "The Spectator," and

others. He also attained some proficiency in mathe-

matics. In these studies as well as in law he

was guided and encouraged by the sound advice of

Mr. Sterling. In later life he extended his reading

into works of fiction, and somewhat into the realm of

poetry ; of AYordsworth and Burns he was especially

fond, reading and rereading their poems with the

keenest interest.

At the April term of the County Court in Litchfield

County, 1826, and before his twenty-second birthday,

he was admitted to the bar, and immediately estab-

lished himself in practice at the village of Lakeville,

in his native town, where he continued to reside for

nearly thirty years. At that time Samuel Church,

afterwards chief justice of the State, was living in

Salisbury, and was in full practice at the bar, as was
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Philander Wheeler, a man of high ability. Leman
Church and Judge Burrill were in Canaan ; Ansel

Sterling, Cyrus Swan, and Charles F. Sedgwick were

in Sharon ; George Wheaton was at Cornwall, all of

them men of eminence and lawyers of great skill.

Surrounded by such opponents and competitors,

young Hubbard found no time for idleness. He was

spurred to his best. But whatever he may have

lacked, he did not lack industry. Genuine mettle

was in him, and before he left Lakeville he had liter-

ally conquered for himself a jslace among the very

foremost lawyers in the State, and had secured a very

handsome estate.

As a practitioner he was painstaking to the last de-

gree. He spared no effort. He was always intensely

in earnest, believing thoroughly in his client and his

cause. As a student of the law he practiced all his

life upon the maxim, which he said was given him by

Gen. Sterling, " to know a few books well." He had

studied "Swift's Digest," "Starke's Evidence," and
" Chitty's Pleadings," till he knew them by heart.

He knew the " Connecticut Reports" so familiarly

that there was no case and hardly a dictum that he

could not recall. Other books were to him books for

reference and not for study in the sense that they

were. He was wont to say that everything could be

found in our own reports ; if not expressly decided, the

principle was there which would control.

In 1847, and again in 1849, Mr. Hubbard was

chosen State senator from the Seventeenth District.

The latter year ho gained considerable ockl)rity for a

very able and vigorous opposition to the sclicmc for

bridging the Connecticut River at Miildletown. He
defeated the project for a time, but lived to sec it ac-

complished more than twenty years later. The same

year, 1849, he was appointed State's attorney for Litch-

field County, which office he held for four years. In

1855. Jlr. Hubbard removed to Litchfield, where he

resided till his death.

All his life Jlr. Hublmrd had been a Wliig, and

subsequent to 1850 he was one of the " Conscience

Whigs," synipatlii/.ing deeply with the anti-slavcr)-

feeling then prevailing all over the North, and so

naturally lie became a leader in the Republican party

from its formation. He took an active part in the

campaign of ISOO, which resulted in the choice of Mr.

Lincoln to the Presidency. On the breaking out of

the Rebellion he sacrificed a large part of his practice.

The cause of the Union wa-s to him in the place of a

client. He actively engaged in rousing up a war

feeling and in enlisting men. Knjoying a gcnerou.s in-

come, he si>cnt money liberally to promote thejse ob-

jects. He made presents of needful articles to the

men who volunteered, or gave them money. >[any

times he i)rovided for their families, and in all other

ways lie sought to carry forward the work of defeat-

ing Bcce-ssioii. Ho devoted him.ielf to this work for

the greater portion of the time <luriiig the years ISlil

and 18G2, rendering especial aid in recruiting the

Thirteenth and the Nineteenth Regiments. The lat-

ter regiment (afterwards the Second Heavy Artillery,

Connecticut Volunteers) was composed entirely of

Litchfield County men.

In the spring of 1863 he was elected a member of

Congress from the Fourth District, and was re-elected

in 1865. In the Thirty-eighth Congress he served on

the committee on patents, and also on committee on

post-offices and post-roads. In the Thirty-ninth Con-

gress he was continued on the committee on patents

and was on committee on roads and canals. He also

was placed on several special committees. No man
was ever more faithful to public duties than he.

During the entire four years of his service in Congress

he never failed to answer on a call of the House, ex-

cept when absent on official duty by its direction, and

once when sick. Outside this official labor, Mr. Hub-

bard while in AVashington found himself under great

responsibility in caring for the soldiers from his State.

Many Connecticut regiments were in the army of the

Potomac, among them the Litchfield County regi-

ment. In the terrible battles of the Wilderness hun-

dreds of their numbers were killed, and hundreds

more were brought wounded to the hospitals around

Washington. In the battle of June 1, 1864, more

than four hundred men of his own county regiment

were killed and wounded. They were his neighbors,

his acquaintances, his friends. Many of them had en-

. listed at his solicitation. It was an anxious time.

Every hour that he could snatch from his public duty

he devoted to the soldiers. There was not a day that

he did not visit one or more of the hospitals. He
sought out every Connecticut man, .tat by their bed-

sides, wrote letters for them, procured for those who
were themselves unable medicine and delicacies at

his own expense. No one appealed to him in vain.

Many dying mes-^agcs he faithfully transmitted to

loved ones at home. He assisted friends to identify

and obtain the bodies of their dead, and in more than

one instance he paid from his own pocket for embalm-

ing bodies to be sent North. All this was to him

a labor of love. He never regretted it. He always

declared that he had his abundant reward in the suc-

cess of the cause for which these men had fought.

After his return from Congress, Mr. Hubbard en-

gaged again in tlie practice of his profession, and con-

tinued in it up to a short time before liis death. He
died on the 30th day of July, 1872.

MlLE.s T. Gn.vNiiER, son of James L. Granger and

.Vbigail Tobey, was born in .Vew Marlborough, Hcrk-

shire Co., Masw., .\ug. 12, 1>*17. Early in life he be-

came dejiendcnt ujion his own resources for a liveli-

hood, having commenced at the early age of ten years

to work in a woolen-mill for twelve and a half cents

jier day. He reniaineil in this employment about two

years and then hired to a farmer in Norfolk, receiving

twenty-five cents per day, and continued working as

a farm-hand in various localitie.-* until 183.">, when,

concluding that farming was a hard life, and, at the
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wages then paid hired men, not a quick way to get

rich,—besides his health was failing,—he concluded to

try teaching school. He entered the office of Dr.

Benjamin Welch, in Norfolk, and began "reading

up" for a schoolmaster. In the fall of the same year

he p.assed examin.ation and engaged a.s a teacher

at twelve dollars and fifty cents per month for four

months. He continued chiefly in this occupation

until 1838, when he was induced to attend the

seminary at Araenia, to better qualify him for the

work he had chosen—teacher of common school. He
remained here one terra, and returned to Canaan,

helped his uncle do the " harvesting" on the Benedict

farm ; worked out in haying during the balance of

season, and then concluded to return to Amenia, com-

plete two or three branches of study which he had

commenced, and at the close of the term find a school

for the winter. He fully expected to close his " going

to school" at the expiration of this terra, but things

transpired quite otherwise. Upon his arrival at the

seminary the second term, the principal, Davis W.
Clark, sent for him to come to his room, and, after

paying him some compliments upon his scholarship,

etc., advised him to prepare for college. He followed

his advice and commenced the studies required at

Wesleyan University to enter freshman year. Went
over the course during the academic year, and, with

what he had done the first term at the seminary, he

entered Wesleyan a freshman, in August, 1839, and

was allowed to enter the sophomore class in mathe-

matics. He was then, and always had been, without

any means or money except what he had earned, and

his earnings were well-nigh exhausted; but he ob-

tained a school in Glastonbury in the winter after

entering college (six months for twenty dollars per

month), kept the school and kept up with his class,

except that he fell back at the end of the college year

in mathematics. Entered on sophomore year with-

out condition in all studies. Kept school that year

three months, and managed to be up with the class

at the end of the year. Junior year he asked and ob-

tained from the faculty the privilege of taking the

junior and senior year together—to do two years'

work in one. He undertook it, had double recita-

tions every day in most of the studies, kept school

three months that winter, -was examined in both

classes at end of year, passed, and received his diplo-

ma as A.B., August, 1842. In August, 1845, received

the degree of A.M. In 1843 went to Louisiana; em-

ployed as preceptor in family of Francis A. Evans,

parish of West Feliciana ; engaged for a year. Kead
law at same time. In April, 1845, was admitted to

the bar in Wilkinson Co., Miss. Came back to Ca-

naan, June, 1845. Entered the law office of Leman
Church, Esq., as student. In October, 1845, he was

admitted to the bar in Litchfield County. Remained
in Mr. Church's office till the spring of 1847, when
he opened an office at the old village of " Canaan
Four Corners," in Couch's "hat-shop." Here he re-

mained a year, and then went to the Depot, where he

remained during his whole practice. In 1849 he was
elected judge of probate, and held the office, with

exception of two years, till elected judge of Superior

Court. Was town clerk and treasurer. In 1857 was

elected member of House of Representatives ; Gen-

eral Assembly of Connecticut in 1860. Elected sen-

ator of Seventeenth District in 1867. Re-elected sen-

ator, and during this session was elected judge of Su-

perior Court for eight years. At expiration of term

was re-elected, and in 1876 elected to present position

—associate judge of the Supreme Court of Errors

;

term commenced Nov. 16, 1876. He was married

Oct. 22, 1846, to Miss Sarah C. Ferguson, of Sheffield.

Judge Granger says, " For the benefit of young men
dependent on brain or muscle in the battle of life, it

might be stated that I never had but one dollar in my
life except what I earned by hard work. My father

once gave me a silver dollar,—my whole inheritance

and patrimony."

Henry B. Graves was born in Sherman (for-

merly a part of Litchfield County) on the 4th day of

April, 1823. He received a good common-school ed-

ucation, and for a few months pursued more liberal

studies in an academy with a view of entering college,

but, owing to a sudden death in his father's family of

an elder brother, the boy of fourteen was needed upon

the farm, where he remained till he was eighteen

years of age, when he entered the law-office of James

C. Loomis, Esq., of Bridgeport, and after pursuing

the study of the law with that gentleman for three

years and a half was admitted to the bar, at Litch-

field, in April, 1845, and upon the 1st of May, 1845,

commenced the practice of his profession at Plymouth,

and continued there till October, 1849, when he

opened an office in Litchfield, where he has since

continued in the active labors of the forum. He
represented Litchfield in the General Assembly in

1868, 1866, 1867, 1876, 1877, and in 1879, taking a

leading position in the legislation of the State, and

drafting many of the laws now to be found in the

public statutes. For many years he has been re-

garded as one of the prominent attorneys of the

county, and has been engaged in a large practice, as

the dockets of the courts will attest, and the volumes

of the Supreme Court of the State will verify.

As a counselor he has been faithful and true to

his clients, deferential to the court, courteous to op-

posing counsel, and kind and helpful to his younger

brethren.

William Cothren, son of Willi*'.i and Hannah
Cooper Cothren, was born at Farmiugton, Me., Nov.

28, 1819. He prepared for college at the Farmington

Academy
;
graduated at Bowdoin College (Maine) in

1843 ; received his second degree in course at the

same institution in 1846, and the degree of Master of

Arts, ad euiidem, from Yale College in 1847. He
studied law under the direction of Hon. Robert

Goodenough, of Farmington, Me., a member of Con-
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gress from his district, and the leader of the bar in

his countj', and with the late Hon. Charles B. Phelps,

of Woodbury. He went to Woodbury in 1844, taught

school for a while, continuing his law studies at the

same time, and was admitted to the Litchfield County

bar October, 1845. He immediately commenced the

practice of his profession at Woodbury, and has con-

tinued there in the performance of his duties as coun-

selor to the present time. He immediately acquired

a large practice in the several courts of the western

half of Connecticut, and later in the District, Circuit,

and Supreme Courts of the United States. For many
years he has taken rank among the leading members
of the bar of Connecticut. He takes great pride in

his profession, and prefers excellence in that to any

oflScial station. He has mingled little in the political

controversies of hi.s time, preferring to devote his en-

ergies to professional and literary pursuits. In the

practice of his profession he prefers the investigation

and discussion of intricate legal questions to the more

strong display of forensic eloquence before a jury,

though he holds himself ready for the performance

of any duty of his profession. In short, he has a,

sincere love of his profession, and believes in no

higher honor than that of a wise and upright coun-

selor.

A marked feature in the professional career of Mr.

Cothren is his faithfulness and untiring devotion to

the interests of his clients. No matter how trifling

the amount at stake, or how uncertain the prospects

of remuneration for his services, he labors just as

hard and with the same zeal as though the case in-

volved large interests and abundant reward. As a

man of unflinching rectitude and integrity, as a care-

ful and sagacious counselor, as a bold and successful

advocate, ever contending for the right, he occupies

an enviable position.

He has a strongly contemplative mind, and he is

never happier tlian when lie can steal a passing hour

to be "alone in nature's fane," in the grand old

woods, by the falling waters of the silvery cascade,

or in the .shaded dell, where he can hold silent com-
munion with nature, in all her beauty and granileur.

He has a strong, logical, and practical mind, an

exceedingly retentive memory, and great clearness

and quickness of apprelieasion. He (teizes a point

at once, and states it clearly and precisely. lie

makes careful preparation, and manages bis cases

with skill and ability. Dilfu iilties do not discourage

him; obstacles do not emliarra.is him; they but serve

the purpose of making the attainment of his object

the more secure. He is emlowed with a will of the

ver)- highest order. It subjects the material to the

spiritual in a degree rarely attaine<l. He is the most

diligent and laborious of men, never losing a mo-
ment from his occupations.

No man treats his r<|ual.'< with more courtcay and
candor, his superiors on the beiieh or elsewhere with

more respect and deference, and his juniors and infe-

riors with more aflability and kindness. Liberal and

honorable in his practice with his professional breth-

ren, he scorns all subterfuge, trick, or unfair advan-

tage. As a citizen he is public-spirited and generous.

His liberality is bounded only by his ability, and he

gives freely to every worthy object for which appli-

cation is made to him for assistance. His hand has

aided every public work or improvement in his com-

munity during his time.

On the 3d of September, 1840, he was married, in

Woodbury, to Jliss Mary J. Steele, daughter of the

late Dr. Samuel Steele, of the same place. They had

one son, who died young. They have now an adopted

daughter. He joined the First Congregational Church

in Woodbury, July 7, 1850, of which he continues

an influential member.
He was elected a county commissioner for Litch-

field County at the May session of the General As-

sembly in 1851. He was elected senator of the Si.\-

teenth Senatorial District in 1855. In April, 18.5G, he

was admitted an attorney and counselor of the United

States Circuit Court, and on the 8th of March, 1865,

he was admitted an attorney and counselor of the Su-

preme Court of the United States. He was elected

corresponding member of the New England Historic

Genealogical Society at Boston, Ma.'is., May 5, 1847;

a member of the Connecticut Historical Society, Nov.

2.3, 1852, of which for many years he has been a vice-

president ; an honorar)- member of the Old Colony

Historical Society, at Plymouth, Mass., April 24, 18.54

;

a corresponding member of the Wisconsin Historical

Society, Jan. 17, 18.55 ; a corresponding member of

the Vermont Historical Society, Feb. 3, ISfiO ; a cor-

responding member of the Maine Historical Society,

Sept. 18, 18G1 ; an honorary member of the Rutland

County Historical Society, Oct. 8, 1868 ; and a mem-
ber of the Phi Beta Ka|>pa Society, .\lpha of Maine,

Sept. 20, 1873.

From the twentieth year of his age he has been a

fre<iuent contributor, in prose and verse, to the press

and the stjindard magazines of the day. Ho has

steadily pursued this course in his leisure moments

as a sort of rt'st and recreation, his latest literary

lalK)r being the preparation of the article on Wooil-

bury for this volume. No one holds a more rcaily

and facile pen. It has Ix'en well said that a lawyer

who confines himself exclusively to the study of his

profession is a " man of one book." A dread of

being inipale<I in this category led him, in part, to ^
literary labor. ^^

.V short time after his settlement in Woodbur)' ho

turned his attention to the collection of the historical

dataof tho town. The result has l>ecn the publication

of an elalMimto history of that town, comprising throo

octavo volumes, and containing alniut two thousand

five hundred pages in tho whole. The fint volume

was issued in 18.54, and was the pioneer work, as a

full history of a town, tliat had In-en i.«tuc<l. Many
histories of towns have succeeded, but none bare



40 HISTORY OF LITCHFIELD COUNTY, CONNECTICUT.

excelled it. It has received the highest commenda-

tions of the public press and of well-informed critics.

Though professedly a local work, it contains a very

complete epitome of the historical events of Connec-

ticut. His chapter on the early ecclesiastical troubles

of the colony of Connecticut is the most complete,

exhaustive, and authoritative that has yet been pub-

lished.

Of this work the late Rev. Dr. Chapin, of Glaston-

bury, Conn., remarked :
" The author has made a

place for himself among the ' men of the times,' and

his name will be blessed as long as ' Ancient Wood-

bury' has a son living worthy of herself." The late

Governor Button, of Connecticut, said of it, " It

embodies a large number of historical facts not to be

found in other publications, of great interest not only

to those who have a peculiar regard for the town of

Woodbury, but to all who cherish the memory of our

forefathers." Rev. Dr. Fuller, late of Andover, Mass.,

said of it, "The historical portion, extending through

a period of nearly two centuries, has all the absorbing

attractions of a romance. The author has placed

Connecticut, and the community generally, under

perpetual obligations to him." Judge Williams, late

chief judge of Connecticut, said, " It will be highly

valuable to the future historian of Connecticut."

Ex-President Day.of Yale College, remarked, "That

the style of composition is such as history, biography,

and statistics require ; simple, lucid, and unostenta-

tious." Hon. Thomas Day, LL.D., late of Hartford,

Conn., speaking of the work, said of it, " As a part

of the history of the State, no authority is more re-

liable. It is minutely accurate, without being in the

least degree tedious." In a letter to Mr. Cothren,

President Wayland, late of Brown University, assured

him, " I have no doubt yours will take an honorable

place in this most interesting class of historical works
;

for you have done laborious and patriotic service to

our common country, and will have the thanks of all

those who cherish a veneration for our Puritan fore-

fathers."

In all the social and confidential rel.ations in life

the character of Mr. Cothren is worthy of imitation.

Few men have had truer or more devoted friends than

he has always found for himself wherever he has been

intimately known. The sentiment of friendship with

him partakes of a high nobility. Of course it is not

promiscuous, but is confined to those who can appre-

ciate the same afl'ection which he himself feels. For

such his respect and esteem are entire. Those that

are once loved are loved to the end. He does not see,

or seeing, has not the heart to notice a fault in one

whom he admits as a friend. To others he is gener-

ous ; with a friend he is more than paternal. He rev-

erences only what he truly admires, and- can love no

one whose character he does not really respect. With

these sentiments he has won for himself a circle of

warm friends both in his public and private relations.

It is to be hoped that he may long enjoy their friend-

ship, and live many years to add to the well-earned

fame which already gathers around his name.

George A. Hickox was born in Washington,

Conn., in 1830, and graduated from Trinity College,

Hartford, in 1851. He pursued the study of the law

in the law school at Ballstou, N. Y., and Y''ale law

school, and in the office of Hollister & Beeman, in

Litchfield. In 1853 he was admitted to the bar and

commenced practice in Litchfield, where he has since

resided. Since 1866 he has combined the practice of

his profession with editorial work, having in that

year become editor of Tlie Litchfield Enquirer, and

three yeai's later its sole proprietor. He was a mem-

ber of the Legislature in 1862.

Marcus L. Delavan.—When nearly half a mil-

lion of Huguenots left France because of the revo-

cation of the Edict of Nantes, they sought homes in

those countries where their Protestant faith would be

respected and could be enjoyed. Every nation that

opened its arms to receive them brought within its

limits a class of citizens honest, conscientious,

deeply religious, industrious, energetic, intelligent,

and generally far advanced in all arts of industry,—

a

class whose presence was of immense benefit to it.

JIany came to what, about a century later, became

these United States. Among them was the progenitor

of the present Delavan family, the name then being

spelled De La Van. Later the last capital was dropped

and the last two syllables were united, making the

name De Lavan, and in process of time it became the

more convenient Delavan of the present time. At

the time of the Revolutionary war there were eleven

brothers, descendants of the progenitor alluded to,

all of whom took an active part in our struggle for

national independence. Gen. Daniel Delavan was

the trusted friend and adviser of Gen. Washington,

and the warm, personal, and intimate friend of La-

fayette, who presented him with a beautiful sword as

a mark of his esteem. Gen. Delavan was wounded in

the engagement at Stony Point, but not one of the

brothers was killed,—a fact which, historians have

declared, finds no parallel in the recorded history of

this or of that of any other country. The general

was also actively engaged in the war of 1812. The

subject of this sketch came from the same stock. On
the maternal side his ancestors, as far back as can be

traced,—which is for several generations,—have been

among the most solid, respectable, influential, and

well-to-do natives of the towns adjoining New Haven,

Conn., in which city, on the 23d day of August, 1832,

Mr. Delavan first saw the light. By the dishonesty of

those who should have protected the defenseless, the

property his mother should have received was never

permitted to come to her, and when she married she

could call only a few hundred dollars her own. Hav-

ing a large family, and her husband being laid up for

many years with consumption, the little pittance which

had been inherited, and that which had been accumu-

lated in the early life of their union, was swept away



BENCH AND BAR. 41

before our subject was boru. At three years of age

one of the members of the church with which his

parents were identified called upon them, and, taking

the little one upom his lap, began to question him

about religious subjects. He was so pleased with the

child's answers, questions, and remarks that he wrote

a Sunday-school book about him,—a work, however,

which he never saw, the only copy his parents had

carefully treasured up to present to him when he be-

came old enough to fully appreciate it having myste-

riously disappeared before that time arrived. When
he was five years of age his father died, leaving one

son younger than our subject, and one son and four

daughters older. The death of his father forced his

mother, in order that she might engage in the means

of supporting those who were too young to care for

themselves, to send him to the orphan asylum, where,

however, she paid his board weekly. His health had

always been quite poor, and, after several months of

living on the the meagre and innutritious food of the

institution, it was found necessary to send him to a sea-

side country town in order to save his life. There his

health improved, and, returning to the place ofhis birth,

he was sent to school until he was ten years ofage ; then,

with a maturity unusual in one so young, he saw the

necassity of contributing to the support of the family,

which, by the second marriage of his mother, was in-

creasing. The illness and death of his step- fat her, at

about this time, strengtlicncd his conviction that he

should be a help to, and not a drain upon, the family

;

so he obtained a situation in a printing-office,—that of

the New Haven Daily Herald. This was finally merged

into the Courier, and made a morning paper. As this

change required nigiit-work, ancl only the poorest '

kind of lights were used,—for ga.s had not then been '

introduced into New Haven,—our subject's eyes com-

pelled him to give up his position, after about seven

years' service in the same office without the loss of a
'

single hour. Finishing his trade, a few months later,

in the Waterbury.lwfnV(n office, he worked there for a

while as a journeyman, in Litchfield, and in Chicojtce,

Mass., and otlier places, in the same capacity, for a

short time, and then gave up the mechanical part of
[

the business. From his earliest recollection lie had

had an intense desire to (lunlify himself for the prac-

tice of law, l)ut he saw the necessity of a general

education before he could properly pursue legal

studies ; so, befiire his day's work was begun, and after
'

it was finished, until long alter midnight, it was his

daily custom to take his books to a quiet place and
study them. So intense was his desire for an educa-

tion that he used to carry his ilinner and his hooks to

the office where he woa employed, and di'vote the

noontime to study. This course was adopted when
he first entere<l a printing-office, at about ten years of

age, and was persevered in until after his admission

to the bar. He has often said he " never had a l)oy-

hood." He seldom engaged in the pa.stinu's which
gave others of his age great delight, but always pre-

ferred his books, or the society of much older persons

than himself, to them. He had also a strong love of

disputation and of public speaking, and while in his
" teens" he would walk ten miles any evening, how-
ever bad the walking was, or however stormy it might
be, for the purpose of attending a lyceum. He was
" brought up" in the Democratic party, and his first

votes were cast for that party ; but when the struggle

for prohibitory legislation was going on in this State,

and slavery was pushing itself into the Territories, he
thought the main-springs of that party were " Rum,
Romanism, and Human Bondage," so he left it, and
as soon as the Republican party was organized he
united with it, and at every Presidential election since

then he has " stumped" some portions of this or some
other State for that party. He has been elected a
number of times collector of taxes of the town of

Naugatuck, and has often been named for other offices,

for which he has declined to run. As we have inti-

mated, he qualified himself for admission to the bar
before people were generally awake in the morning,
or after they were asleep at night, though he attended
a course of lectures before the law-school of Columbia
College. An incident connected with his admission
to the bar may be worth giving here. His strong

political convictions, and his outspoken manner of
presenting them, gave great otfence to a former judge
of one of the highest courts in the State and his son-

in-law, and when his application for admission waa
presented by the State's attorney of the county, who
was his warm friend, the judge and his son-in-law ob-

jected to its reception. IJeing pressed for the reason
for such an unusual objection, they claimed that the

ajiplicant was not a resident of that county. Liter-

ally, at that moment, that may have been the fact,

but it was not when the application was placed in the
State attorney's hands, nor would it have been at any
time for many months before that. Some of the mem-
bers of the bar learned that the reason assigned was
not the real one entertained, and it did not take them
long to become convince<l that the opposition was
really for political reasons. Still the judge and his

obedient son-in-law had succeeded in presenting the

matter in such a way that the members present were
fearful of oH'ending them if they were found to bo
verj' strongly opposed to them, so, though they voted
to accept the application and examine the apjdicaut,

not a single member would consent to be one of the

committee of examination. For forty years three at-

torneys, appointed by the bar, had constitutol the ex-

amining committee, but so much feeling had been ex-

cited in this case that it was decided the whole bar
should conduct the examination. There were alKiut

thirty or tliirty-five members of the bar present. Mr.
Delavan had listened to nil that had been said in op-

position to him, and, taking into considerntidu tlio

bitterness shown, the fact that he, though nominally
in a law-office during his studies, had really had to

pursue thcui when he shuuld have been osleei', ^'^
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he had not had the most ordinary advantages of law-

students, and that instead of being examined by a

committee of three who were without prejudice, he

must be examined by the entire bar, some of whom
were known to be strongly opposed to his admission,

he keenly felt the injustice, and also the danger of

rejection. It seems, however, to have made him all

the more cool and determined, and, after an examina-

tion lasting nearly three hours, conducted by some of

the best lawyers in the State, in which he answered

correctly every question put to him except two, and

corrected himself on one of those before it passed

from consideration, the bar voted unanimmtiibj for his

admission, paying him a very high comiiliment for the

way in which he passed through the trying ordo.al.

When the war broke out Mr. Delavan was under

bonds of many thousands of dollars as tax-collector,

but, collecting all he could collect, he made a satisfac-

tory arrangement with the authorities of the town,

by which another collector took his place and his

bondsman was released, and he hurried to enlist in the

Fifteenth Regiment Connecticut Volunteers, influen-

cing many to go with him.

For his interest and activity in the Union cause he

was ottered various official positions, but his reply

always was, " No ! If I live through this struggle I

want to feel th.at no man can say he has borne more

of the ' brunt of the battle' than I have ; and I do

not mean that any one shall have even the shadow of

a reason for saying that I enlisted only for some office."

So he remained a private until physical disability ren-

dered him unfit for military duty and confined him in

the hospitals at Washington and Darby, near Phila-

delphia, from which latter place he was discharged,

greatly to his surprise, and in opposition to his earnest

protest. From the age of sixteen he had been a pro-

lific writer for newspapers, and before the close of the

war he was employed editorially on various papers.

Twice he was one of the editors of the New Haven
Palladium, for extended ]>eriods ; for about two years

he edited the New Britain Record, and for over five

years he was the owner and chief editor of the Meri-

den Daily Republican. For a number of years he

also owned and edited the State Temperance Journal.

All these papers were in Connecticut. While editing

the Daily Republican his health became so shattered

that his physician insisted upon a change. For a

number of years he had been a licensed preacher in

the Methodist Episcopal Church, supplying the pul-

pits of pastors who were ill or absent, and visiting the

various school districts in Meriden, evenings, to hold

religious meetings, and when he was compelled to

give up his Meriden paper a church in Hartland,

Conn., which is situated in a very mountainous and
healthy region, invited him to become their pastor.

Believing that he could recover his health there while

laboring in a cause to which he was warmly wedded,

his presiding elder sent him there, putting him in

charge of three churches. Five months after he went

there the greatest revival ever known in that section

broke out, and about forty professed conversion. The
labor of attending meetings every evening for a
month, and being out until about midnight every

night, brought his health back to the point where it

was when he first went there, and recuperation seemed
impossible. He remained more than a year afterwards

with his people, but finally had to bid them good-by.

Believing that a weekly paper would furnish sufficient

mental exercise to keep him in working order, he pur-

chased a paper in New Milford, named it The Housa-

tonic Ray, and has published it ever since. Though
so attached to newspaper labors, he has, much of the

time while engaged in them, been in the full practice

of his legal profession. In this State he has practiced

at Southington, at New Britain, in New Milford,

where he now is, and in other places. He has taken

a somewhat unusual stand in his practice, publishing

to the world that he will be connected with only those

cases in which he feels that the moral right is on his

client's side, and no inducement is sufficient to make
him violate that rule.

CoL. Jacob B. Hardenbeegh was born in Wa-
warsing, Ulster Co., N. Y., Aug. 4. 1831, the son of

Col. L. Hardenbergh. At the age of thirteen he

entered the Kingston Academy, at Kingston, for a

four years' business course, from which he graduated

in 1848. Immediately after his graduation he took

up the study of law, in the office of Judge J. O. Lin-

derman, with whom he remained four years, being

admitted to the bar in 18.52. He practiced in King-

ston until the breaking out of the Rebellion in 1861,

when the Twentieth New York militia, of which he

was a member, under Col. George W. Pratt, entered

the " three months' service," during which term he

was elected major. At the expiration of the engage-

ment the regiment returned home and immediately

proceeded to reorganize for the war, entering the

service again in October, 1861. Col. Pratt was killed

in the battle of Second Bull Run, when Lieut.-Col.

T. B. Gates took command, Maj. Hardenbergh suc-

ceeding the latter as lieutenant-colonel. He was

appointed colonel on the muster out of Col. Gates in

the fall of 1864, and by that title he is familiarly

known, although justly entitled to the preface of

"general," having received the appointment of brevet

brigadier-general, " for gallant and meritorious ser-

vices," in 1865. His regiment participated in some

of the fiercest and most decisive battles of the war,

Second Bull Run, South Mountain, Antietam, Fred-

ericksburg, Gettysburg, Wilderness, Petersburg, and

earned a most honorable record. They were mustered

out Feb. 1, 1866, after having served nearly five years.

At the close of the war, Col. Hardenbergh returned

to Kingston, and resumed the practice of law until

the fall of 1867, when he came to North Canaan, and

purchased the law-office of Judge M. T. Granger, his

present location. He was appointed clerk of the

Probate Court—Frederick Watson, judge—the same
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year, and was subsequently elected by the Democrats

judge of probate, town clerk, treasurer, registrar, etc.,

which offices he still holds. He was married in April,

1869, to Miss Delia Watson, of North Canaan. In

1870 he was elected to represent the town in the

General Assembly, and in 1876-77 was senator from

the Seventeenth Senatorial District of Litchfield

County. He has several times been chosen as

delegate to attend Democratic conventions, and is

identified with almost every enterprise relating to

the welfare of his town. He purchased the Connecti-

cut Western News on Dec. 18, 1878, from which, in

connection with his law business, he derives a com-

fortable income.

As a lawyer, Col. Hardenbergh is widely known
for his natural ability, dignified courtesy, and thorough

knowledge of the science of law ; and his biting sar-

casm, combining these three elements, makes him an

opponent to be respected. Of the confidence reposed

in him by his fellow-citizens, witness the various town

offices he has held consecutively since his location

here.

The fraternal disposition of Col. Hardenbergh can

be felt and appreciated only by those whose privilege

it is to enjoy his confidence and intimate acquaintance.

His unconscious dignity, almost severe, inspires at

once respect, and the impression that his stem ex-

perience on the field and the cynical character of

his profession have blunted the .susceptibility in his

nature that is calculated to insure .success in one's

social and domestic relations. But a thorough ac-

quaintance with the man discovers the contrary to be

the fact. Few men iiavc a faculty for retaining friends

and commanding their respect to a greater extent

than Col. Hardenbergh, and no man has a greater

respect for the rights and opinions of others than he.

No adequate review of his life and characteristics can

be given in a brief sketch like tliis. In him arc com-

bined tlie qualities found only in that rarity to which

can truly be applied the words—without the irony

—

of Antony :
" An honorable man."

GeokoeWheaton was boni in East Haven, Conn.,

in 1790. He lost his father when very young, and

went to live with a Congregational clergyman, prob-

ably in ."^outhbur)', when about twelve years of age.

His mother died soon after. He availed himself with

eagerness of his advantages for e<lucation, soon be-

came a teacher, and steadily pursued his studies in

preparation for the profession of his choice—law; and

in course of time came to Salislmry to l>ecomc a stu-

dent in the oflioe of Judge Cliurch, wlm oecupieil a

high standing in legal circles. He wiu» a close and

careful stn<Icnt, was admittiil to practice in ISl.S, and

settled in Cornwall Centre, then a thriving jilace. Ho
there married Lcwey, daughter of Medad .\lling, an

early settler of Canaan. Their children were Nancy
(Mrs. William Baldwin), Cynthia (Mrs. Klbert Shep-

ard), and ( ieorge A. Mr. Wlieaton soon became an

important factor in Cornwall, and was .selected to hold

various positions of public trust, was many times the

representative of Cornwall in the General Assembly

of the State, and for twenty years the postmaster at

Cornwall Centre. For his second wife he married

Eliza, daughter of Andrew Cotter, of Cornwall.

Their only child, Lucetta, married Dr. P. C. Cum-
mings.

About 1840, Mr. Wheaton moved to West Cornwall,

then making rapid growth from the advantages given

by the opening of the Housatonic Railroad, and made
that place his home until his death, Nov. 5, 1865, at

the age of seventy-five years.

For over half a centurj- Mr. Wheaton moved among
the citizens of Cornwall, active in political, educa-

tional, and religious matters, and none ever questioned

the purity of his motives, the honesty of his convic-

tions, or the soundness of his judgment. He was a

member of the Congregational Church for years. In

politics he was in early life a Whig, afterwards a Re-

publican.

As a lawyer he was not so much noted as an advo-

cate as for the thorough manner in which he prepared

his cases. They were carefully arranged, and every

little point on which dispute might arise was properly

fortified. His knowledge of law was extensive, and
it has been said of him that he never gave advice

that was not the very best that could have been given

under the circumstances as expressed to him. In pre-

paring a case he was absorbed in his work, paying no

attention to meals or sleep, and when made up and

presented to a court he was uniformly found to be

successful. Of one thing his clients were assured:

all the law favoring their side would be presented, and

in the clearest, briefest manner, and the court always

listened when they were presented. As a consctjuence,

he had many and good clients and acquired a hand-

some property.

As a citizen, Mr. Wheaton was conservative, and in

favor of all things tending to improve, elevate, and

dignify society, but he did not a.H.snme that all things

claiming to be of benefit were really so. If, on in-

vestigation, they pnived to be desirable, he gave

them his persistent and unwavering 3up|>ort. By his

death Cornwall lost an able lawyer, a gootl citizen, and

an honest man, one lamented by all of the better class

of the community.

(1. W. Shepanl, son of Elbert Shepanl, bears bis

grandfather's name, and inserts his portrait in this

work.

Florimoxd D. Fyi.er was bom in Torrington,

Conn., Dec. 11, 1S.'14. He commence*! the study of

law in the oHice of Judge Gideon Hall, at Winsled,

where he continued a.s his lu-ulth wouM allow until

the spring of 1S6-1, when he attended Yale Law School

that term. He was admitted to the bar in 1864, and
returned to Yale Law School and Mtudied one year,

and received the degree LL.B., July, ISO.'i. In Se|>-

teniber, l*;.'), he located in Winsted n-x an attorney-at-

law. Ho was a member of the Legislature in tho
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May session of 1872. He was elected by the Legisla-

ture of 1S77 judge of the District Court of Litchfield

County for four years from July 1, 1877.

Au(irsTr.s Hall Fexn was born in Plymouth,

Conn., Jan. 18, 1844. In March, 1862, he commenced
the study of the law in the office of Ammi Giddings,

of Plymouth, and in the following August enlisted in

the Nineteenth Regiment Connecticut Volunteers,

subsequently the Second Artillery.

The following extract concerning his military

career is taken from Vaill's history of the regiment:

" He proveil liimself one of tlie best ilrill-nmeterB and disciiiliDarians in

tlio regiineut, and cue of the most competent otiicei's in every position.

Before going to tlie front he was made captain of Company C. Ou tlie

22d of June lie led liis company into tlio sliirniish at Petersburg as far

as it advanced, and was tlien and tliere detailed assistant adjntatit-gen-

eral on Upton's staff, vlcf Capt. Sanborn, of tlie Fifth Maine, and, mount-

ing a horse whicli had been brought to him, comineiiced his duties at

once. When the regiment left the Sixth Corps at Tenallytown, in July,

he was relieved. In September he was appointed judge-advocate of tlie

division court-martial, which tried twenty-live cases. At Cedar Creek

he lost his loft arm. The surgeons at Annapolis proposed to muster him

out and discharge him for disability, but he protested, and wrote t*) Gen.

Mackenzie, urging his interference. Tho consetpionce was that he was

retained, and in less than aei-en u-eeJ;s from the time lie had an arm taken

off at tho shoulder he reported for full duty at the front, and was at once

detailed as assistant adjutant-general of the brigade again, which detail

was afterwards changed to brigade insjiector. He suliBefjuently partici-

pated in several fights. Ho was detailed as judge-advocate five difl'erent

times, was brevetted major after Cedar Creek, promoted to major in Jan-

nary, lyG5, brevetted lieutenant-colonel for Little Sailor's Creek, and

colonel for 8er\'ices during the war."

At the close of the war he returned, and in Septem-

ber, 1865, resumed his studies in the office of Kellogg

& Terry, in Waterbury, Conn. He remained there

until Feb. 15, 1867, when he was admitted to the bar

at Litchfield. After passing one year in the law

school of Harvard University, obtaining the degree

of LL.B., he commenced practice, Jan. 1, 1868, in

Waterbury. Eetnoved to Plymouth, April 1, 1869,

remained there until March 14, 1876, but opened an

office in Winsted, July 1, 1875, where he has since

practiced and now resides.

Col. Feiui was city clerk of AVaterburj' in 1866-67
;

judge of probate, town clerk, and register of births

and deaths in Plymouth, 1869 to 1876 ; and is now
judge of probate for the Winchester District. In

1875 he was the Republican candidate for Secretary

of State.

Albert P. Bradsteeet, son of Thomas J, and

Amanda T. Bradstreet, and grandson of Seth Thomas,

deceased, was born in Thomaston ou the 9th day of

June, 1846. He attended school in his native village

and worked uiJOii his father's farm until the fall of

1867, when he entered Yale College, where he gradu-

ated in the year 1871. In October of the same year

he entered the law department of Columbia College

in New York City, and graduated with the degree of

LL.B. in the spring of 1873. After remaining in the

office of Webster & O'Neil, in the city of Waterbury,

a few months, he opened a law-office in Thomaston,

where he has since remained, in the enjoyment of a

lucrative practice. He was elected as representative

of Thomaston in the Legislature in the years 1877

and 1878, and in the year 1880 was elected senator

from the Sixteenth District for two years, being the

first Republican elected to that position in his district

since 1873. He was also appointed deputy judge of

the Waterbury City Court in 1879, a position which,

he now holds. Mr. Bradstreet has held the office of

town clerk of Thomaston since the incorporation of

the town in 1875, and is at present a member of the

board of education. Mr. Bradstreet is held in high

esteem by the bar of Litchfield County, and his

legislative experience has brought his name quite

prominently before the people of the State.

Hon. Augustu.s Pettibone was born at Norfolk,

Conn., Feb. 19, 1766. He was a descendant of John
Pettibone, who came from Wales, and served under

Cromwell until the end of the wars, and emigrated to

I

America about 1650. He was admitted a citizen of

Windsor in 1658. John Pettibone shortly after this

removed from Windsor to Simsbury, and was the

ancestor of the Pettibone family now spread abroad

through most of the United States. Giles Pettibone,

a descendant of this John Pettibone, removed from

Simsbury to Litchfield County, and settled in that

portion of it which the next year (1758) was incorpo-

rated under the name of Norfolk. At the first town-

meeting, held in 1758, forty-four citizens attended,

three of whom were Pettibones,^Eli, Isaac, and Giles,

the father of Augustus Pettibone. Giles Pettibone

was the first representative from Norfolk in the

General Assembly, a position which he occupied for

twenty-six sessions; he was also judge of probate

from 1779 to 1807 ;
justice of the peace for thirty

years ; and treasurer of the town for forty years. He
served in the war of the Revolution, as a commissioned

officer, at the battles of Saratoga and the capture of

Burgoyne, and in the campaigns on the Hudson,

carrying his title of colonel during his life. He was

twice married and had eleven children. The mother

of Augustus Pettibone was the daughter of Col.

Michael Humphrey, of Simsbury, and left four chil-

dren. Augu.stus Pettibone, at the age of fourteen,

accompanied his father to the field and served several

months. In 1784 he entered Yale College, where he

contiuu-ed about two years, but did not graduate. In

1787 he began reading law with Dudley Humphrey,

Esq., of Norfolk, then in practice there, and continued

with him from September to the following April,

when he went to Litchfield, and attended Judge

Reeve's lectures until March, 1790. He was admitted

to the bar in Litchfield in 1790, and settled in prac-

tice at Norfolk. He continued in active practice

until 1812, when from infirm health he relinquished

his practice ; but in the same year he was appointed

associate judge of the County Court for Litchfield

County, and continued such until 1816, when he was

appointed chief judge of the County Court, and held

that office until May, 1831. At the age of sixty-five
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years he resigned, declining to hold any public office.

Judge Pettibone represented the town of Norfolk

in thirty-two sessions of the General Assembly, and

in 1830 and 1831 he was senator from the Seventeenth

Senatorial District. In 1818, Judge Pettibone was

a member of the constitutional convention, and a

member of the committee which drafted the con-

stitution for consideration of the convention, and

voted for its adoption. He was a justice of the peace

for nearly forty years, and judge of probate from 1807

to 1822, succeeding his father in that office.

Judge Pettibone occupied an honorable position

in his profession, and was greatly esteemed by his

brethren of the bar for his ability and integrity. He
was forcible and logical in his address, but wholly

without effort at display, and with little personal

ambition. Thoroughly sincere and earnest himself,

he despised all attempts at deception or trifling, and

could not endure any resort to subterfuge, or any

hypocrisy.

The latter years of his long life were spent at his

home in Norfolk, in the care of a small farm, which

afl'orded him needed exercise and recreation, and in

the management of the e.state he had accumulated in

his business. He died Oct. 4, 1847, leaving a wife,

but no children.

The following inscription, found upon the monu-

ment of his father, Col. Giles Pettibone, in the old

burying-ground at Norfolk, so fitly describes and

applies to the life of Judge Pettibone that it is in-

serted here

:

"Ili« life was lionoralilo to liiniself ami useful to socli'ty. Ho wm
diatiiiguislicd by various niiirks uf huuur fioui IiIh (vllow-inon, was prompt

lu their service and elijnyed tlieir coutideiice tItrouKli u long life devotwl

to {lublic eniploynjenlrt. To tlie newly niid utiprolecled |M>nr lie wiw a

fattier and a friend. Teunt of stuTow liedcw lii-* jfnivo wlio felt for the

utlerings of others. Mortality, tho' it presents a barrier to tlie works of

good men, does not oliscure their virtues. Tho life uf the Just mausl)iue«

with lustre beyond the grave.

"

Rufus Pettibone, a brother of Hon. Augustus Petti-

bone, graduated at Williams College in 180.'>, studieil

law, and about 1818 emigrated to Missouri, then a

territory, and settled there as a lawyer. He vioa a

man of brilliant talents and education, and imme-

diately took high rank as a lawyer. He wn.s a mem-
ber of the constitutional convention of Missouri, and

was chosen one of the circuit judges of the Stutc.

Afterwards he was appointed chief justice of the

Btate by Governor McNair, the first Governor of the

State, and held the otilce until his death in 1825.

8. Pettibone, another brother of Augustus Petti-

bone, a man of exci'llent ability and education, also a

lawyer, was a graduate of Williams College, class of

18110. He died in Norfolk, Conn., in the prime of

life.

Levi Pettibone, another brother of Augustus Petti-

bone, was tho companion of Henry U. Schoolcraft in

his exploring tour through Southwestern Mis-soiiri and

Arkansas in 1817, and iiflerwunls settled in Mis.souri,

where he was many years in responsible positions, as

judge of probate and clerk of the Circuit Courts. He
is still (in 1881) living in the city of St. Louis, in his

one hundred and Jirst year, in the enjoyment of lair

health and considerable vigor. Until his eyesight

failed, when he was ninety-seven years of age, he w;is

an excellent correspondent, and engaged to a con-

siderable extent in active business pursuits.

Hiram P. Lawrence was born at Norfolk, Conn.,

in 1833. Was a member of tlte class of 1855 in Yale

College, but did not graduate. Read law with Hon.

F. D. Fyler, of Wiiistcd, in 1870, was admitted to the

bar in Litchfield County in 1873, and is settled in

practice at Winsted, Conn.

James Huntington was born in South Coventry,

Conn., June 4, 1833. He studied his profession in

the office of Loren P. Waldo and Alvan P. Hyde, at

Tolland, Conn ; subsequently graduated at the law

school at Poughkeepsie, N. Y.; was admitted to the

bar of Fulton County in ISoS), and in the same year

commenced practice in Woodbury, where he has since

resided. He is judge of probate for Woodbury Dis-

trict, and State's attorney for Litchfield County.

ATTOllNEYS- FEES IX 1T93.

The following interesting extracts are from the

records of a " Barr" meeting held Dec. 18, 1793 :

"At a meeting of tlie bur held Dee. IS, 179:),..f whi. h Ailoiiijah Stning,

Ksq., was chairman, it was vttleO, * that Frederiek Wolentl, K-*q., of Litch-

field, be Clerk of this Uurr, and have iiouer tu make lU'corda of ail Re-

solves of this Rarr, to make and certify Copies lliereof, and to jturform

all other Duties incident to sui.l Onlcc.'

" Itetohed, That in future tho Fe*t to lie ehargo<l by each Momlwr of

this llarr in all Causes iu which ho may IfO employed bo eetllUUhed aa

follows, vlz<:

" /m CVmtaoH rtftu.

t .. d.

"Retainer 12

Term Fee« U 18

On aiipiilntmenl of Audltiire 1 10 tl

ArKuiiig Itemonstrnnce to Kepurt uf Aadilure „ 2 2 U
Atteii'ling Arbitrator ert.-h Pay 1 10

" Before' a Justice, nine Shillings at least, and
uii>re iu pro|iorliou tu tho distance and Iniportuuce of

tlie case.

"Tho MenilK'f* presout and who stilM.'rll-e.t to the alN)ve table of fe»«

are aa follows: Tnpplnc Keeve, .\doiilJah Stnuig. I>»iil<-1 Rverilt. Ihivld

N. Diiusuiade, iraac lUldwiu, Jr , EptirMlni Kirb\, itonjamln Stilea, Jr.,

Nathan Proatun, JudK>u (.'anltrhl, Samuel Ibailnlck, John C. ^Smilh,

Nicholas S. Master*, John Allen, I'llel IIuIiuck, Nathan Smith, John

Elmore*, Jueeph Canfleld, Augiittus Pettibone.

£ •. i.

"Arguing Plea of .\twtement, there being iio other tiefonso

in the ca«e 14
The same with further defeneo » I> IJ (I

Arguing Deuiiirrer oi IVililun for new trial 1 Ifl

Hill in Chaurery 2 2

Silent .\p)>«.al, Im lii.lliig term feee 14
Arguing Issue In fwl 2 2

" Motion ill ArreNt of Judgment. .- 14
On appointment of Aiidltora 14
Arguing Itenionstraiice to repi>rl of Audllure 14

" /n Stip^iur (berC
t l. d.

"Retainer - U U
Term K.-o 1 4
Arguing Plea u( Abaleweat ~ I 10
IVuiurrer - 2 » O
iBuelurael „ »....«....»....„..,. SOU
ArgiiluK Moll'iii In Am-slof Judgmrol 1 10 M

Hill lu Cbaurery ». 4 10

"(Ulmond Aklns, Plillo Itiigglea, Daniel W. I.ewis William Togswell,

MetUtew U. Whlllleaey, I'tederlck Wolooll, LlUlia Slodlug,Jarm Thou.
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8011, David Tiillinan, Eli Curtis, Aaron Smith, Roger Skiuner, David Dag-

gett, Isaac Mills, M. Strong, Joel P. Pcttett."

THE COURTS I\ 1S20.

Under the old goverument the Superior Court con-

sisted of nine judges, and they were selected annually

by the Legislature. Under the constitution the num-
ber was reduced to five, and they held their office

during good behavior or until they reached the age

of seventy j'ears. In like manner the judges of the

County Courts were reduced from five to three.

Formerly these judges held the Superior Courts, but

now they are holden by one judge.

THE SUPERIOR COURT.

Tlicrc were sessions of the Superior Court in each

year, holden on the third Tuesdays of August and Feb-

ruary, and the terms rarely extended beyond two weeks.

If they reached to the third week, they were deemed to

beof extraordinary length. The Superior Court had no

original jurisdiction except as a court of equity. All

iis actions at law came up by ajipeal from the County

Court, and generally important cases were carried up

without a trial in the court below. The party wishing

to appeal his case would demur either to the declara-

tion or plea, as the case might be, suffer a judgment

to be entered against him, and appeal from it, and

then change his plea in the Superior Court as the

exigencies of his case may require. The making of

copies iu the case appealed was a very profitable item

in the business of the clerk. All cases at law wherein

the matter in demand exceeded seventy dollars were

ajqiealable, and all matters in equity in which the

sum involved exceeded three hundi-ed dollars were

l)rouglit originally to the Superior Court. In criminal

matters the jurisdiction of both courts was concurrent,

except in crimes of a higher grade, which were tried

exclusively in the Superior Court. A case was pretty

certain to reach a trial at the second term after it was

entered in the docket unless special reasons could be

shown for its further continuance.

THE COUNTV COURT.

The County Court had an important agency in the

administration of justice fifty years ago. Under the

old form of government it consisted of one judge and

four justices of the quorum; under the constitution,

of one chief judge and two associate judges.

There were three sessions of the old County Court

iu each year, in March, September, and December.

The September term was generally short, merely dis-

posing of the criminal business and such other pre-

liminary matters as could not be passed over. The
March term lasted three weeks, and the December

term from four to six weeks, as the business might de-

mand. The first half day was always taken up in

calling the docket. Mr. Woleott had his files ar-

ranged alphabetically, corresponding with the entries

(jn the docket, and of these some member of the bar,

usually one of the younger, had charge. The sheriff

took his station in the centre of the bar, and as the

eases were named by the clerk the proper entries were

made both on the docket and on the file, and then the

file was passed to the sheriff, who delivered it to the

party entitled to it, and thus, at the close of the pro-

ceedings, all the files had passed into the hands of the

members of the bar, where they remained until the

case received final disjjosition. Three hundred cases

were considered as constituting a small docket, and

there were as many as nine hundred entered at a

single term.

In 1820 there were two grades of lawyers in the

State. The first admission only authorized the candi-

date to practice at the County Court, and a service of

two years was required at that bar before he was al-

lowed an examination for admission to the bar of the

Su)ierior Court. The statutes of the State were sub-

sequently revised under the superintendence of Judge

Swift, and many and material alterations had been

made to conform the provisions of the law to the new
order of things under the constitution. The question

came before Judge Mainard, and he decided that

under the revised statutes an admission to the bar of

the County Court gave the candidate authority to

practice in all the courts in the State; and that de-

cision was assented to by all the judges.

The matter of examining candidates for admission

to the bar was, in those days, an imposing solemnity,

and the day for that proceeding was a marked day of

the term. All the members of the bar were expected

to be present, and few failed of attending. The com-

mittee of examination occupied the judges' seats,

the chairman, holding the place of the chief judge,

indicating to each separate member of the committee

the subject in which he was expected to examine the

candidate, and thus a thorough and searching exami-

nation was had. After the examination was closed

the candidates retired, and the members of the bar

gave their opinions seriatim on the question of the ad-

mission of the applicant. Sometimes candidates

were rejected. It had been the practice in early

times to have an entertainment at the close of the ex-

amination at the expense of the successful condidates,

but this had been dispensed with when I was ex-

amined. Stories were told of some eminent members

of the bar who, on such occasions, indulged in prac-

tices which were not credible to their reputation for

temperance and sobriety. Perhaps it was for this

reason that the practice was abolished.

PRACTICE.

Statutory provisions and the advance of legal sci-

ence, as well as a more just sense of what is due to

the best interest of litigation, have made great

changes in the course of proceedings before the courts

during the last fifty years. Then it was customary

for counsel to take advantage of any trivial omission

which could be found in the proceedings, and a case

never came to trial until every possible effort for
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abatement or delay had been exhausted. Our statute

in relation to amendments had not then received so

liberal a construction, nor was it in itself so liberal

in its provisions as it now is ; and thus opportunity

was aftbrded for the display of much ingenuity in the

prosecution of dilatory pleas.

Then there were no statutory provisions relating to

injunctions, all the power which the court had in

that matter being that with which it was invested by

the common law as a court of equity, and hence

very little will be found in our reports on this subject

until about 1826, after the statute authorizing the

judges to grant temporary injunctions had been

passed. This statute was introduced into the Legis-

lature by Judge Swift, who was a member for several

sessions after his retirement from the bench. Since

then many cases relating to this branch of jurispru-

dence have been before our courts.

Probably more than half the suits commenced in

our County Courts fifty years ago were brought to

enforce the collection of debts, and in some localities

this was a ]>rofitable business. The County Court

then had jurisdiction in all cases where the matter in

demand exceeded the sum of fifteen dollars, and this

brought into it a great number of suits now tried by

single justices, and accounts for the great diminution

in the number of cases now brought here.

Piles of learning were devoted to destruction by the

edict of the Legislature admitting parties and other

persons in interest to be heard as witnesses. The
nicest and most refined legal questions were fre-

quently brought before the courts for decision in

matters relating to the interest of witnesses, but now
they are almost forgotten by the most learned of the

profession.

THE AUTUORITIES THEN IN USE.

The statutes then in force were the revision of 1808,

by far the most elaborate and complete of any ever

publislu'd. It contains a complete history of the

legi.slatioii of Connecticut on all subjects of statutory

enactment from the first, and is still a useful hook for

study by the profession. The principal labor of its

preparation for publication was performed by Thomas
Day.

Comparatively few American authorities were cited

in our courts tlien. Mr. Day had published four vol-

umes of Day's Reports, and then had suspended
further publication for want of encouragement. The
Legislature, in 1815, had authori/.ed the court to ap-

point a reporter, and had given him a salary. Under
such an uppointment .Mr. Day had commenced pub-

lishing the Connecticut Heport.s, and had published

three volumes of them when he j>ublisheil the fifth of

Day, thus filling the gap between the fourth of Day
and the first of Connecticut. The New York Re-
ports, by Caine and Johnson, down to the twelfth of

Jolinsoti, and twelve volumes of the Massachusetts

Reports were out, and these, with our own reports,

were about all the American authorities which were

cited in our courts. Not a single American ele-

mentary work had then been published except Swift's

(System and Swift's Evidence. The Engli.sh Reports

from Burrows down, including Douglas', Cowper's,

Term, and East's Reports, down to the twelfth vol-

ume, with Blackstone's Commentaries, which were

always on the table, were the staple authorities of the

times. Judge Reeve said that he considered Cowper's

Reports the best that had then beeu published of the

decisions of the Court of King's Bench.

The following is a list of the present members of

the Litchfield bar

:

Litchfield.—George C. AVoodruff, George M. Wood-
rufi" (railroad commissioner), Origen S. Seymour (does

not appear in court as counsel), George A. Hickox,

Henry B. Graves, Henry H. Prescott, Dwight C. Kil-

bourn, Wm. L. Ransom (clerk of the Superior Court),

Charles B. Andrews, Frank AV. Wessells, Edward W.
Seymour.

Winchester.—'R. Hitchcock (judge of the Superior

Court), Augustus H. Fenn, Hiram P. Lawrence, Wel-

lington B. Smith, Samuel B. Home, William H. Ely,

William F. Hurlbut, Florimond D. Fyler, Samuel A.

Herman.

New Hartford.—Jared B. Foster, John B. Betts,

Nathan Morse.

Jiiverlon.—Hiram Goodwin.

Uo/'v,//(iV/e.—Gideon H. Welch, George AV. Cole.

Tliomnnton.—Albert P. Bradstreet, F. AV. Ethcridge.

Terryville.—Henry Plumb.

Harwinton.—Abijah Catlin.

UouMuri/.—James Huntington, AVilliam Cothren,

George F. Shelton.

Neir Mi/jord.—Jolin S. Turrlll, James H. McMahon,
T. Dwight Merwin.

Sharon.—J. AVade Hughes, Charles F. Sedgwick.

Wal Cbrnira//.—Arthur D. AVarncr, N. A. Nicker-

aon.

Lakeville.—Hubert AVillianis.

Salithuri/.—Donald J. Warner, Donald T. AVarncr.

Canaan.—M.T. Granger (judgeof Court of Errors),

Jacob li. Hardenbcrg, A. T. Roraback.

Fnlh Vi/lage.—Lvc P. Dean, Dwight W. Clarke. '

Wathinf/lon.—AVillium H. O'Haru.

The senior member* of tlie bar of this county have,

many of them, made up their records; those still left

arc soon to follow, and the juniors arc to a.ssume their

places at the bar and on the bench ; to them will soon

be committed these great responsible trustii. The per-

petuity of our free institutions is committetl to the

guardianship ami keeping of the bar and judiciary of

our free country, for the history of the world teaches,

and all free government illustrates, this truth,—treat

the subject lightly as you will,—that to the profemioii

of the law civil government is indebted for all the safe-

guards and intrcnchmeiits with which the liberties of

the people are protected ; that legislation is shape*!,

eoDstitutious eularge<l, amended, and adopted by the
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enlightened administration of the statesmen, both of

England and the United States, who have been in

both, and are in all free governments, educated for the

bar, and, ascending by the inherent force of their dis-

ciplined, professional life, they become the directors of

the destinies of states and nations.

Military chieftains may spring into power, tyrants

may dazzle with the glamour of military parade and

the pomp of war an oppressed and frenzied people,

but they turn as the cannonade dies away to the states-

manship of the country, and call to the parliaments

and congressional halls for final debate the arbitra-

ments of the liberties of the people.

From the days of King John to the present hour

the bench and bar have furnished the statesmen who
have erected the bulwarks of constitutional law, and

extorted from tyrants the Magna Chartas which have

secured to the oppressed the guarantees of free insti-

tutions.

Imbued with the historical traditions of their pre-

decessors, and tracing the paths they have trod, emu-

lating their good example, it should become more and

more tlie resolute purpose of the Litchfield County

bar to so walk in the light of their professional teach-

ings that when they are called to follow them to that

ujiper court, and file their judgment-roll of the great

trial of life with that (Supreme Judge from whose bar

they can take no appeal,

—

" Thou go not like the quarry-slave at night

Scourged to his dunpeon, but, sustnined and soothed

By iiu uufiiltpiing trust, upproach thy grave

Like one who wraps the drapery of liis couch

About him aud lies down to [deasaut dreams,'*

CHAPTER IIL

MEDICAL HISTOKY.

Organization of Medical Aesociatiou in 17G7—Early Physicians—Names

of Jlenibers of Medical Society from 1808, with Dates of Admission

—

List of Presidents and Secretaries from ISOS to 1881—Present Members

—Present Officei's.

As early as January, 1767, a medical association

was formed in this county, composed of the most emi-

nent physicians then in practice here. Its object was to

establish rules of practice and intercourse, promote

medical science by providing for annual consultations

aud dissertations, and to protect the reputation of the

profession and the health of the community from the

inroads of ignorant pretenders to medical science.

Among the gentlemen composing this body were

Joshua Porter, Lemuel Wheeler, Joseph Perry, Seth

Bird, William Abernethy, Samuel Catlin, Simeon

Smith, Cyrus Marsh, Ephraim Gitteau, John Calhoun,

etc. One of the earliest physicians of the county was
Oliver Wolcott. He was the son of Hon. Roger Wol-
cott, of Windsor, a former Governor of the colony.

He had served as an officer in the French war, and
settled himself in Goshen before the organization of

the county in the practice of his profession. Whether
he continued in practice as a physician after his re-

moval to this town is not known
;
probably, however,

his official duties as sheriff prevented it. He was sub-

sequently honored with almost every official place

which a good man would covet : he was a member of

the House ofRepresentatives, of the Council, a judge of

probate, a judge of the County Court, a representative

in Congress, a signer of the Declaration of Independ-

ence, lieutenant-governor and Governor of his native

State, and, more than all, the father of an excellent

family. He is said to have been a man of uncommon
diffidence and distrustful of his own ability. His

public communications display sound judgment, and
his more confidential correspondence a warm affec-

tion and a pure purpose.

Dr. Seth Bird, of Litchfield, probably held the

first place among the early physicians of the county.

His reputation was widespread. For acuteness of

discrimination and soundness ofjudgment he was not

excelled.

Dr. Joseph Perry, of Woodbury, was not only

eminent in his profession, but, what was unusual in

his day, he excelled as a belles-leltre scholar and

was a gentleman well read in various branches of

science.

Later generations produced eminent and accom-

plished physicians : Db. Nathaniel Perry, son of

the gentleman just named ; De. Daniel Sheldon,
of Litchfield ; Dr. Fowler, of Washington ; Rock-
well, of Sharon ; Welch, of Norfolk ; Ticknor, of

Salisbury.

Dr. Samuel Woodward, of Torrington, was not

only a physician of high repute himself, but he was

almost literally a father of the faculty.

Among the surgeons of note, in earlier times, were

Dr. Samuel Catlin, of Litchfield, and at a later

period Dr. Samuel R. Gauer, of Sharon.

The medical profession in this county has pro-

duced some writers of respectability. Dr. Elisha
North was for several years a physician of extensive

practice in Goshen, and he afterwards removed to

New London. He published an approved treatise on

spotted fever, which extensivelj' prevailed in Goshen

and its vicinity while he resided there.

Dr. Caleb Ticknor, of Salisbury, was brother

of the late excellent Dr. Luther Ticknor, of that town,

and of Dr. Benajah Ticknor, for many years a surgeon

in the navy of the United States, and, although a

young man when he removed to New York City,

about the year 1832, he rose rapidly to a high place

in his profession. He published several medical

works, the most popular of which was the " Philoso-

phy of Living."*

* The above reference to the physicians of the early days is taken

from the address delivered by the late Judge Samuel Church at the

Litchfield centennial, in August, 1851.
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THE MEDICAL SOCIETY.*-

The records of the old society are doubtless lost.

The following is a list of members of the Litchfield

County Medical Society in 1808 : Samuel Woodward,

President ; Samuel Buel, Clerk ; Anson Tuttle, John

Kaymond, Aaron Coleman, P. B. Fowler, Ebenezer

Smith, William H. Taylor, Roswell Abernethy, Jesse

Carrington, John Calhoun, Samuel Rockwell, J. R.

Eastman, Elijah Lyman, Samuel Orton, Timothy

Clark, Gideon Woodruff, Asahel Humphrey, Joshua

Cornwall.

Since then the following admissions have been

made

:

1808.—Anson Wright, John C. Warner, Dftvid Warner, Launcelot Phelps.

1809.—Samuel B. Woodward, Ueury Tuttle.

1810.—Jeliial Williams, Edmond Allen.

1811.—Elisha North.

1812.—Frederick Graves, John Warner.

1813.-James R. Dodge, Conaut Catlin, Asahel Hale, E. L. Hart, Ira N.

Bronson.

1814.—John M. West, Elmore Everitt, Curtis Hard.

1815.—Normau Smith.

1816.—William Bnel, Eriistus Bancroft, William Marsh.

1817.—Benjamin Piatt.

1818.—Samuel Enstie.

1819.—Henry Fisli, I.uther Tichnor, Gaylord Wells, Samuel Andrews,

George 0. Jarvi**, Orv'id Plumb.

1820—Boswell Ahoruethy, John M. West.

1821.—Horatio Grldloy, Chauncey B. Foot, Samuel W. Gold, Johnson C.

Hatch.

1822.—Benjamin Welch, Ellas W. Williams, Thomas Brinsmade.

1823.—Sherman Woodward, Clark Chapman, Samuel Chittenden.

18li4.—Ji'hial Abljott, Uriah Turner.

182.'>.—Benjamin F. Cleavoland, Samuel B. Cliitds.

1820.—Eli Keed, Ives Cowles, William Woodruff.

The following is the first complete list of members,

made in 1827:

Alanson Abbe, William Buel, Samuel Buol, John M. West, Samuel R.

Childs, Manly Peters, John W. Kunell, Norman Ijaadon, Samuel
W. Gould, Solyman RusMell, William Mar!.h, Luther Tirknor, Houry
Fish, Adonijah Slronc, Benjamin Wflrb, JomIiua S. Cornwall, Amaaa
Kellogg, Benjamin Welch, Jr., John Cnlhouu, Uriah Turner, John

Scars, George Taylor, Jeliial Williams, Clark Chapman, Itjilph Den-

ning, Reuben Warner, Lyman Catlin, Rijyal Cook, Ives Cowles,

William Woodruff, Gaylord Wells, Joel G. Caudee, Ruswell Alier-

nethy, Frederick II. WoodwanI, Comint Catlin, Kllaa Williams, Nor-

man Buel, Johnmui C. Hatch, Remus 31. Fowler, William C. Wil-

linms. George O. Jones, Kra»tus Baii.r..n, H. Scovlll, William 0.

Talcolt, Andrew De Wolf, Wells IWardslcy, 11. .well II. Graham, Slllos

Belden, Garry 11. Miner, Jnrvls Cose, Amos Beech er. Will iajn Krwin,

Andrew Abernethy, Paul W. auseboruugb. Ell Reed, William Otr-

rlngton, Warren U. Fowler.

The following have been admitted since that date:

1828.—Stephen Reed, Jothro Hatch, Bushroil Camp.
1820.—Norman Lyman, llolllster, John I>e Forest, Joolah Bameo,

Amos Buller, Jofforaon Stone, C. 8. TIcknor, A. S. Lewis.

1830.—HoM>s A. Lee, Albert Wright, William I", Buel, J. 0. U«:kwilh,

Burritt North, Mynui Downs.

1831.—Oeorgo L. lliiiil, Theodore C. Ilunl, George M. Fowler, Charlsa

Vain, E.l»lu C. Kly, L. !». Adauu.

1832.—Charles 11. Webb, .Stanley Qrlswold, 0. II. St. John, Samuel Mc-
Alpen, Ambniee Ives.

1833.—Wolter P«k, Asahel Humphrey, KIbbe, Horace Judam, A.

M. Huxley, Ullas Lewis, AlUrt C. Knight.

1834.—Aaron Wlldnian, J. II. Kaalman, K. D. Hudson, Karson.
la-ld.-Horace K. Dencli, Wells lleanlsley, I'lillando Stewart.

1830.—Joins* Barrx, Joseph MrComb, Klniore Kversit, Rasssll CTsrsIL

* Oontrlbntsd by J. J. Newcomb, U.D., of LltcliBeld.

1837.—Samuel T. Salisbury.

1838.—John S. Wolcott, R. Tiffany, Loomis North, Horace Buttolph,

Reuben M. Woodrnff, W. J. Barry, William B. Lacy, J. A.

Gillette.

1839.—George Adams, C. H. Reed, Moody, Sylvanus Stew.«t.

1840.—William W. Welch, Eliada Osborn, Perry, Piatt,

Freeman.

1841.—Henry Baldwin, William B. De Forest.

1842.—George Seymour, L. S. Turner, Myron K. Hubbard, Sidney P.

Lyman, Charles Byington.

1843.—Baldwin Seeley, Thomas Seeley, William Cockie, Edward P. Ly-

man, Joseph North.

1844.—John Stootcote, George Lyman, John Yale,

1847.—W. E. Bulkley, David E. Bostwick, Seth Porter.

1848.—John L. WakefieM, Graham Lee, J. Edward Smith.

1849.—G. S. Bissell, P. Beardsley.

1850.—William Werden, Ilhaneer H. Smith, II. G. Westlake.

1851.—OrIandoBrown,Erastmu3Hugins, Asiibel Catlin, Jr., J. W.Phelps,

J. B. Whiting, Setri Pease, John H. Welch, Samuel Catlin.

1852.—Charles B. Maltby, George B. Parsons.

1854.—Henry M. Knight, William J. Burge, Gaylord B. Miller, J. U. T.

Cockey, J. W. Bldwell.

1855.—Albiu E. Barber, Henry W. Buel.

1856.—John B. Derrickson.

1857.—William W. Kuight, William Deming.

1858.—William Bissell.

1859.—Harmon W. Shove.

I860.—Edward Sauford.

1863.—Henry Davis.

1807.—Francis J. Young.

1808.—J. K. Bacon.

1809.—G. W. Bell, J. 11. Blodgett.

1870.—J. Jlorgan, 11. E. Gates, William Porter, B. S. Goodwin, T. S.

Ilancholt, W. S. Munger, C. \V. Dull, W. J. Deach.

1S7I.—Franklin Booth, R. C. Eu>igu.

1872.—E. H. Heady, L. T. Piatt, C. F Couch.

1873.—T. G. Wright, J. H. North, L. H. Wood.

1874.—F. r. Eaterler, C. W. Camp.

1875.—Virgil Buel, J. J. Newcomb.

1876.—J. II. Stevens, A. .M. Keaaler.

1877.—A. G. Ileaney, W. L. Barbour, B. S. Thompaan, Samuel II. Hunt-

ington, F. W. Brown.

Itna.—J. H. Trent, W. P. SwetU

1879 —Ooirge K. Roberts, Jerry Durwrll, C. L. DIake, Isaac R. SanforU.

I8«0.—Frederick E. Barrows.

LIST OF OFFICERS.

The following is a Hat of presidents and secretaries

from 1808 to 1880:

PRESIDKNTS.

1808, Samuel WoodwanI ; I8ns-I(l, Jrae Carrington ; 1811-13, Nathaniel

Perry; IK14, Jesse Carrington ; li<l.VIO, Nathaniel Perry; I8IT, Jesse

Carrington; 1«I8, Wllllnm Buel; 1XI9. Nslhanlel Perry; 1820-22,

Samuel Rockwell; U:^. Wllllnm lluel ; 1824, Samuel ll<ickwell:

1824, Warren S. Fowler ; IS2C., lUmwell Alwrnethy ; 1S27- 29, William

Buel; 1830, llowell AlxTUelliy; IKIl, Iteulx'n 8. W<>i.l»ar^l; 1832,

William Buel; l«13-34, Norman Lyman; IK.U, Johnson C. Hatch;

1830, Remus M. Fowler; 18.^7, Samuel lluel; 1K18, Gaylord Wells;

1830, Ik-ujanilu Welch; IMo, Samuel W. (^.dil; 1841, U. II. St. John;

1842. Mauley Polsrs; 1843, Char In Vaill; 1H44, HenlKin Woodruff;

18».\, Wllllsni J. Harry; 1 Ml,, Harvey HiMwiri; 1S47, A. M. ICmley;

1848, Johwm C. Hatch; IH4'J. Ilurrit II. North; IKMI, Ralph Deniing;

18SI, James Welch ; I8.V2, M)rou Downs; 18^1, S. T. Salisbury ; I8M,

Sidney II. Lyman; 1K.U, William II. Welch, IHM, William Wood-

ruff; I8i7, George Seymour; I.^M, Henry M. Knight; IV,'.I, Joniss

Welch; laCO, Henry W. Duet; IKOI, J. H. Welch; 1802, D. K. BoM-

wlck; 1861, C. II. Welili; 18G4, J. W. l-hel|« ; DMU, 11. M. Knight;

18«<I, J. W. Phelps; IHi;7, Henry M. Knight; 1808, J. W. Phelps;

1800, r. S. Yoiing; Is7u 71, Henry W. lluel; 18*2, J. W. Illdiiell;

1873-74, Orlan.lo Brown; 187^-70, Durrllt D. North ; 1877, William

Pemlng; lll78-7«, R. 8. Goodwin; 1880, W. 8. Munger.

SKCRETARIIX

1808-11, Samuel Buel; I8l2-l.'i, KlUah I.ynun; I8IC-I>, ConanI Osllln;

1810, Eroslus L. Heart; l.'>2U-X.-, Ikawell Abernethy, 1821-211, llo-

rallu Gridley ; la-M-211, SomueU-hllds ; !«»«), Bkmnsl Uvid ; 1831,
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Moses A. Lee; 1832-47, J. C. Beckwith; IMS-IO, A. M. Huxley;

1650-54, George Lyniiui; ISoS-ST, Henry W. Biiel; 1858-50, David

E. lioBtwick; 1800-02, G. B. Miller; 1803-00, Henry Diivis; 1807-08,

J. G. Beckwilli; 1800, G. W. Bell; 1870^71, Ilowarii E. Gates; 187-',

William Porter; 1873-74, Willis J. Bench ; 1875-77, T. G. Wright;

1878-80, J. J. Nowcomh.

The following record appears among the proceed-

ings of the society under date of April 21, 1828:

" A conmiuiiicatioii from the American Temperance Society was laid

before the society, and the following resohition was passed:

"* Itesotvpilf That this society liiglily appreciate the exertions of the

Temperance Society for the suppreshion of the deplorahle evils under

which our country is sulTering from the abviso of ardent spirits, and tliat

wo will tiso our best endeavors to further the views of that highly-re-

spectahte association; and we hereby pledge ourselves that we will at

this and at all future meetings of our society abstain from and discourage

the use of that highly deleterious article.'
"

The present officers and members are as follows

:

President, Walters. Mungcr, Watertown ; Vice-Presi-

dent, WillLs J. Beach, Litchfield ; Secretary, J. J.

Newcomb, Litchfield ; Committee on Membership

and Ethics, Henry W. Buel, J. W. Bidwell, Luther

H. Wood ; Fellows to the State Society, R. S. (rood-

win, (t. H. Miner, J. B. Derrickaon, Orlando Brown,

W. .1. Beach.

Reporter, L. H. Wood.
Members, Henry AV. Buel, W. J. Beach, J. W. Bid-

well, 0. Brown, William Bissell, T. W. Brown, J.

Burwcll, C. L. Blake, T. E. Barrows, C. W. Camp, C.

F. Couch, William Deming, J. B. Derrickson, Myron
Downs, H. E. Gates, R. S. Goodwin, F. P. Esteriey,

T. S. Hanchett, A. G. Heavey, W. W. Knight, E. P.

Lyman, G. H. Miner, W. S. Munger, J. J. Newcomb,

J. H. North, Edward Sanford, J. H. Stevens, H.

W. Shove, W. P. Swett, I. R. Sanford, B. S. Thomp-
son, James Welch, William Woodruff, L. H. Wood.

CHAPTER IV.

MILITAKY HISTORY.

The Second Kegiment—Tlie Fiflli Regiment—The Eighth Regiment—

The Ninth Regiment—The Tenth Regiment—The Eleventh Regiment

—The Twelfth Regiment—The Thirteenth Regiment.

The lightning had scarcely fl.ashed the intelligence

to the expectant North that Maj. Anderson and his

gallant band had surrendered as prisoners of war to

the Southern confederacy ere the patriotic sons of

old Litchfield were rallying to the support of their

imperiled country. Men and money were promptly

raised, aud the record of the county during the whole

struggle is one in which her citizens may justly feel a

patriotic pride.

SECOND REGIMENT INFANTRY.

The Second Regiment of Infantry was enlisted for

three months and recruited from the volunteer militia.

It w.as mustered into the service May 7, 1861, under

the command of Alfred H. Terry, of New Haven, an

efficient and accomplished officer. The regiment left

for Washington, May 7, 1861, numbering seven hun-
dred and eighty. There were two companies from

Litchfield County in this regiment,—infantry com-
pany B, Abram G. Kellogg, of New Hartford, captain,

Charles W. Morse first lieutenant, and Charles War-
ren second lieutenant, and rifle company E, with

Sherman T. Cooke as captain, Wheelock T. Batchel-

lor first lieutenant, .and Charles E. Palmer second

lieutenant. The former company was recruited prin-

cipally from Winchester and New Hartford, and
the latter, except eight men, entirely from Win-
chester. The regiment was present at the battle of

Bull Bun, where both officers and men acquitted

themselves with honor. It was mustered out of the

THE FIFTH REGIMENT

was organized in the summer of 1861, and entered the

service with ( )rris S. Ferry, of Norwalk, as colonel.

He was subsequently United States senator. There

was one company principally from this county in the

regiment,—Company I,—withG. A. Stedman, of Hart-

ford, captain. The first and second lieutenants, W..

S. Cogswell and W. H. Webster, were also from

Hartford. The regiment participated in the follow-

ing engagements : Winchester and Cedar Mountain,

Chancellorsville, Gettysburg, Resaca, Dallas, Mari-

etta, Peach-Tree Creek, Atlanta, Chesterfield Court-

house, and Silver Run.

THE EIGHTH REGIMENT.

This regiment was mustered into the service in

September and October, 1861, under the command of

Edward Harland, of Norwich. Litchfield County

was represented by two companies,—C and I. Com-
pany C was officered as follows : Captain, Charles W.
Nash ; first lieutenant, Samuel Glasson ; second lieu-

tenant, Robert H. Burnside ; sergeant, Henry R.

Jones. Company I had for its officers F. W. Jackson,

of Danbury, captain ; William J. Roberts, of New
Milford, first lieutenant ; and F. E. Nearing, of

Brookfield, second lieutenant. The regiment left

Connecticut Oct. 17, 1861, one thousand and twenty-

seven strong, and at Annapolis, Md., was joined to

Burnside's corps. " Its earliest services were in the

battle of Newbern, N. C, March 14, 1862, and the

siege of Fort Macon the following month. It accom-

panied Gen. Burnside when he was ordered to join

the Army of the Potomac, and subsequently went

with the corps into Maryland. At Antietam, in Sep-

tember, 1862, the regiment lost: Killed, one officer

—Lieut. Mason Wait, of Norwich—and 3.3 men

;

wounded, 10 officers and 129 men ; missing, 21 men

;

total, 194.

" In December the Eighth was engaged at Fred-

ericksburg, but suffered slightly, and in February,

1863, was sent to Southeastern Virginia. In April the

regiment was in the fight at Fort Hagar, Va., and

remained in Virginia until January, 1864. It then
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returned to Connecticut on veteran furlough, three

hundred and ten men having re-enlisted as veterans.

In March it returned to its old camp near Portsmouth,

Va., and, after outpost- and picket-duty at Deep Creek

and vicinity, was in the battle at Walthall Junction,

May 9th, and lost eighty men. Col. Harland having

been promoted to be a brigadier-general, the regiment

was at this time in command of Col. John E. Ward,

who was severely wounded by a shell at the battle

named. A week later the regiment participated in

the engagement at Fort Darling, and on the night of !

the 16th returned within the fortification, the men
worn out with eight days' constant warfare. In this

short time the Eighth lost one-third of its fighting

strength. Early in June it was engaged with the

enemy at Cold Harbor, and from June 16th to Aug-

ust 27th in skirmishes and siege-work around Peters-

burg, losing heavily. The following four weeks were

spent on the James River, picketing the Bermuda

Hundred post, and September 27th the regiment lost

seventy-three men in the storming of Battery Harri-

son. This was the last general engagement of the

regiment, which was mustered out Dec. 12, 186.5."

The regiment saw severe service, and participated

in the following engagements : Newbern, Fort Macon,

Antictam, Fredericksburg, Fort Hagar, Walthall

Junction, Fort Darling, Cold Harbor, Petersburg,

Fort Harrison. There were killed, 72 ; died of

wounds, 40; died of disease, 132; missing, 11.

THE NINTH REGIMENT

was mustered into the service in the fall of 1861 as

the " Irisli Regiment," under the comman<l of Thos.

W. Cahill, of Hartford, with Richard Fitzgibbons, of

Bridgeport, lieutenant-colonel. It had a few men
from this county.

Its principal engagements were Baton Rouge,

Chackaloo Station, Deep Bottom, and Cedar Creek.

Mustered out Aug. 3, 1865.

THE TENTH REGIMENT

was recruited in tlie full of 1861, and mustered into

the service during Scpteniber and October of that

year, with Charles L. Uus,sel1, of Derby, lu colonel,

and A. W. Drake, of Hartford, as lieutenant-colonel.

There was one company from this county,—Com-
pany D,—commanded as follows: Captain, Lewis

Judd, of Ro.xbury ; first lieutenant, Charles II. Ilurl-

burt, of Roxbury ; second lieutenant, Sanford B.

Palmer, of Sharon.

The regiment left for the seat of war in October,

and wa.s assigned to Gen. Burnside's command. The
Tenth received its baptism of fire at the battle of

Roanoke Island, where it fought nobly, and its gal-

lant colonel, Russell, was killed while leading the

charge.

"A month later the regiment lost twenty-throe

killed and wounded in the battle of Newbern, and

then had rest from close warfare until the 14th of

December. It then participated in the sanguinary

battle of Kiugston, ^. C, and lost one hundred and .

six officers and men, and only two days later was in

another fight at Whitehall. March 28, 1863, after a

winter's "rest, the Tenth was in the battle of Seabrook

Island, S. C, and spent the spring, summer, and fall

before Charleston. December found the regiment in

Florida, where twenty-two men were lost in a fight at

St. Augustine.
" In the spring of 1864 the regiment went to Vir-

ginia, and suffered the loss of all the garrison and

camp equipage and regimental and company records

by the sinking at Norfolk of the transport on which

they were stored. Its first fight in the Virginia cam-

paign was at Whitehall Junction, May 7th, and from

this time the history of the organization shows battle

after battle clear through to the surrender of Appo-

mattox, the Tenth being 'in at the death.' "

—

Battle-

Flarj Day.

A total of 2124 was credited to the organization

during its existence, embracing the original 9% ; re-

cruits, 848; re-enlisted vetcran.s, 280. Casualties:

Killed in action, 57; died of wounds, 59; died of dis-

ease, 152.

The regiment sustained a very heavy loss of olHcers

and otherwise. It had four cob)nels during its first

eighteen months of service.

The Tenth participated in the following engage-

ments : Roanoke Island, sieges of Charleston and St.

Augustine, Walthall Junction, Drury's Blulf, Ber-

muda Hundred, .Strawberry Plains, Deep Bottom,

Deep Run, siege of Petersburg, Laurel Hill Church,

New Market Ro.id, Darbytown Road, Johnson's Plan-

tation, Hatcher's Run, Fort Gregg, and Appomattox

Court-house.

THE ELEVKXTH llKcJIMENT.

This regiment hail one company from Litohlield

County,— I,—officered as follows; captain, John D.

Griswold, of Old Lyme; first lieutenant, P. C. Cum-
niings, North Canaan ; second lieutenant, William

H. Sacfcett, of Hartford. The regiment was raised in

1SI'>1, and nccember li'ith left Hartforil for the front,

under command of Thomas H. C. Kingslmry, of

Franklin. It participatcil in the following engage-

ments: Newbern, South Mountain, Antietam, Fn-d-

erick.sburg, Suffolk, near Suffolk, Swift's Creek,

Drury's Uluff, Cold Harbor, before Petersburg. Total

loss of men, 85.

THE TWELFTH UE(iIMENT.

The Twelfth Regiment was mustered into the ser-

vice in the winter of 18l>l-<32. It had but few men

from this county. Dr. John B. Welch wius uaintant

surgeon.
JOHN IIENJAMIN WELCH.

John Benjamin Welch was horn at Winsted, Conn.,

Sept. 14, 18.'W. Me coniinenceil regularly the study

of medicine with his father at the age of sovcntcrn.
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During the term of his professional study, his time,

when not in attendance upon lectures, was divided.

A portion of it was spent in the office of his father,

and portions of it in the offices of his uncles, Dr.

Benjamin Welch, of Salisbury, and Dr. William W.
Welch, and Dr. John H. Welch, of Norfolk. He at-

tended his first course of medical lectures in Washing-

ton, D. C, his second and third at the medical college

in New Haven, where he received the degree of M.D.,

January, 18<;0. Much the larger part of the two

years after his graduation lie spent with his father,

more or less engaged in the practice of his profession,

the last year especially, doing quite as much business

as was best for so young a man.

He was ardently devoted to his profession, nobly

ambitifius to excel in it, and eager to avail himself of

every opjiortunity within his reach to i'ully qualify

himself for its responsible duties.

On the breaking out of the late Rebellion there

arose a demand for surgeons for the army. He pre-

sented himself to the Military Board of Medical Ex-

aminers for the State of Connecticut, and underwent

an examination. He applied for the jiost of assistant

surgeon, for wliich he was recommended by the board

of examiners and by others. He obtained the posi-

tion, and received his commission, which was dated

Dec. 11, 18G1, as assistant surgeon of the Twelfth

Regiment, Connecticut Volunteers, then stationed at

Hartford.

He immediately went to Hartford, signified his ac-

ceptance of the appointment, and soon entered upon

its duties. The regiment remained in Hartford till

Feb. 24, 1862, when it left to join the division of

Gen. Butler, at Sliip Island.

During the voyage he was quite sea-sick in rough

weather. On pleasant days he often mounted the

wheel-house, and appeared to enjoy very much ocean

scenery. On the 6th of March he began to complain

of lieadache and debility. These symptoms, however,

excited no serious alarm, as they were attributed to

the eft'ects of the sea-sickness ; and it was confidently

anticipated that they would disappear on his reaching

land.

The .steamer came to anchor off Ship Island at sun-

rise, March 7th, when Dr. Brownell hastened to the

state-room of Dr. AVelch to give him the information

and to offer him his congratulations. He requested Dr.

Brownell to look at his throat, remarking that it felt

sore. Two or three small ulcers were visible, and the

next day the rash made its appearance,—decisive

symptoms of scarlatina.

The accommodations being much better on ship-

board than ashore, Dr. Brownell decided that it would

be better for Dr. Welch not to attempt to land in

the condition in which he then was. Dr. Brownell

came off shore to see him daily, and Dr. Fernandez,

the surgeon of the ship, was constantly at hand.

Dr. George W. Avery, in his letter, says,

—

" When the steamer ' Fulton' dropped anchor in

our harbor, I hastened to the wharf to greet your

son, my old college friend and professional brother.

I was disajijiointed as to seeing him, and was told by

Dr. Brownell that he was slightly ill, and that it would

not be advisable to attempt to bring him ashore. Im-

mediately I obtained permission of Gen. Phelps to

visit him. He was much rejoiced to see me, and I

spent nearly all of Sunday afternoon with him. I

found a b.id pulse ; it was soft and small. On Tues-

day following, the 11th, I visited him again, and found

him, as before, very glad to see me. It had now been

decided to send hira home, a furlough to that effect

having been granted by Col. Deming. I found him

so weak that it was with great difficulty that he could

speak. He complained very much of his throat."

The late Dr. Eldridge, who preached his funeral

sermon, in speaking of his prominent traits, said,

—

" His intellect was clear, strong, and remarkably

well balanced. Endowed with strong common sense

and a sound practical judgment, he was peculiarly re-

liable, and always proved liimself adequate to an

emergency. Though modest and unobtrusive, he

shrunk not from responsibility, and on several import-

ant occasions met and sustained it with a composure,

self-possession, independence, and ability that even

surprised his most intimate friends. They hardly

looked for so much vigor and force in one whose

kindness of heart had been deemed his most promi-

nent characteristic. He evidently possessed traits that

gave promise of tlie higliest distinction as a physician

and as a man. His disposition was exceedingly ami-

able and affectionate. He was greatly beloved. He
soon won a jjlace in the hearts of those who were

brouglit into association with him.
" Dr. Brownell says,

—

"
' His affectionate disposition had endeared him

very much to myself. ]My heart grows heavy as I

think of the many dull hours I shall pass in my tent

alone, when I had expected to have his pleasant face

before me ; for I had decided that he and I should

have quarters together.'

" Dr. Avery observes in his letter,—
" ' When your son was a student in New Haven I

formed a very strong attachment to him, and have al-

ways considered him as a man of great pui'ity of char-

acter. I had anticipated much pleasure in having him

here.'

"

Dr. Welch had gained the confidence and the love

of the soldiers of his regiment, who deeply deplored

his death. His piety was humble, sincere, and un-

questionable. He had quarters with the chaplain at

Hartford and on ship-board. Rev. Mr. Bradford, the

chaplain, mentions a circumstance that was very sig-

nificant. He says, " I have seen Dr. Welch in his

private devotions, both in Hartford and on the

steamer." Hence, it is evident that he did not in-

tend to be deprived of his communion with his God,

though he could not command that degree of retire-

ment that he would have desired. He was sincere

;
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he bad a true, manly independence. How clear it is

that he was getting ready for that event which, though

then unlooked for, was so near at hand

!

Such was the young man whom God in his Provi-

dence removed from the earth. He summoned into

eternity a native of this place, known, esteemed, and

beloved by all ; he took from the family a beloved

and devoted son and brother; he called away from

the medical profession a well-educated and promising

young physician ; he struck from the roll of the

United States army a genuine patriot ; he took to

Himself, from the bosom of the Church here, a sincere,

humble, devoted member.

"It were easy," says Dr. Eldridge, "to imagine

reasons, many and weighty, why the life of such a

young man should be prolonged : his promise of use-

fulness in his profession and as a man; the comfort

and the stay be would have been to his parents; the

honor he would have done religion. Oh, how many
such things crowd on the mind !"

The reasons why God took, though satisfoctory to

God, are hidden from man. Still it is the Lord that

hath done ; be content to leave the mystery unex-

plained now. You shall know hereafter.

Then the affliction is very severe ; the sensibilities

wounded are very tender; the hopes blighted were

very bright; the object taken away was very dear.

Yet complain not; murmur not. It is the Lord, your

Father, and the Father of him who is gone.

•' For Gild hna marked each sorrowing day.

And Diinilicred every Bocret tear,

And heaven's long years of IiIIsh shall pay

For all his children suffer hero.*'

THE THIRTEENTH REGIMENT

was organized in November, 1801, and mustered into

the service with Henry W. Birge as colonel, and

Alexander Warner as lieutenant-colonel.

Only one company was recruited entirely from this

county,—C,—officered as follows : Captain, f'hiirles

1). lilinn, of Cornwall ; first lieutenant, Isaac F. Nat-

tleton, of Kent ; second lieutenant, Ciiarle;* K. Til)-

betts, of New Milford. Company I wa.s raised prin-

cipally from this county, its captain being H. L.

Schleiter, of New London. Its first lieutenant, Frank
Wells, was from Litchfield. The second lieutenant,

Josepli Strickland, wsis also from New London.

The regiment enjoys the distinction of having been

in the service longer than any other Connecticut or-

ganization. In Januarj-, 1864, the Tliirtecnth, almost

to a man, re-enlisted. In the following December it

was consolidated into five companies, called "The
Veteran Battalion Thirteenth Connecticut Volun-

teers."

During the regiment's long service it jmrticipated

in numerous hard-fought battles, a few of which are

here enumerated: Georgia Landing, Irish Bend,

siege of Port Hu<lson, Cane River, Mansura, Ope-

quan, Winchester, and Fisher's Hill. It was mus-

tered out April 25, 1866, and paid off May 5th follow-

ing, having been in the service four years and six

months.

CHAPTER V.

MILITARY HISTORY (Continued).

THE XINETEENTU REGIMENT.*'

This regiment was raised during the dark days of

1862, when the glamour of military life bad died

away and grim-visaged war in all its horror stood out

before the jieople of the country. At the close of

Gen. McClellan's disastrous Peninsula campaign,

1862, President Lincoln called for three hundred thou-

sand volunteers, and on the 22d of July a meeting of

the citizens of this county was held at Litchfield, and

it was resolved to recruit an entire regiment from

this county, and the convention unanimously recom-

mended Leverette W. Wessells, of Litchfield, for col-

onel, and requested the Governor to rendezvous the

new regiment at Litchfield. Recruiting immediately

commenced, and on the 24th of August nine com-

panies had been raised, as follows : Company A was

recruited by Wm. Bis.scll, A. B. Shumway, and C. B.

Hatch ; was composed of men from the following

towns: Litchfield, 63; Harwinton, 10; Morris, 7;

Washington, 5; other towns, 7. Company B, re-

cruited by James Hutton and F. A. Cooke: Salis-

bury, 43 ; Kent, 24 ; Canaan, 7 ; other towns, 14.

Company C, recruited by James Q. Rice and W. T.

Spencer : Goshen, 42 ; Torrington, 34 ; other towns,

12. Company D, recruited by A. H. Fenn, W. H.
Lewis, Jr., and Robert A. Potter: Plymouth, 53;

Walertown, 18; Harwinton, 13; Burlington, 1;

Morris, 1. Company K, recruited by Jetlrey Skinner,

B. F. Hosronl, ami IL D. Gaylord : Winchester, 62
;

Norfolk, 16; Barklianistcd, 5 ; other towns, 7. Com-
pany F, recruited by E. W. Jones and James Dean

:

New Hartford, 30; Canaan, 16; North Canaan, 19;

Colebrook, 14; Barkliamsted, 0. Company G, recruited

l>y Lyman Teator and tieorge N. Smith : Sharon, 41
;

Conwell, 34; other towns, IT). Company H, recruited

by G. S. Williams: New Milford, 37; Washington,

21 ; Warren, 5; other towns, 3; Company I, recruited

by EliSperry : Woodbury, 61 ; other towns, 20. Com-
pany K was composed of recruits from the dilTerent

towns in the county. The rendezvous of the regi-

ment was at Camp Duttnn, Litchfield.

"On the 10th of September the regiment marche<l

to the village to receive an elegant stand of colors

from Mrs. William Curtis Noyrs, and to listen to a

jiresentatiiin address by her husband, then in the ze-

nith of his power and fame. On the Ilth the regi-

* rumpilfid and oindenii«il from th* «ic«ll<*nt " lltvlory of the Svcond

Coiinrcllctit Voitnitecr lle*Ty Artillnry, urigliialty the NluetMutli Coo-

neclicut Viilunteon," t>y ThftMlore F. ViUll.
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ment was mustered, hy Lieutenant Watson Webb,

into the service of the United States ' for three years

or during the war;' arid on the 15th, having formed

in line and given three parting cheers for Camp
Dutton, the long and firmly-treading battalion, con-

sisting of eight hundred and eighty-nine officers and

men, moved to Litchfield Station, where a train of

twenty-three cars stood ready to take them to New
York. The journey was a continuous ovation. The
deep interest everywhere felt in the 'Mountain County'

regiment was attested by crowds of people at the

stations and all along the railw.ay, and by white hand-

kerchiefs and white hands that waved us a farewell

and a blessing from window and veranda and hill-top.

The good people of Bridgeport and Stamford entered

every car without ceremony, and fortified the soldiers

with melons and cakes and sandwiches, and with the

last cup of real, civilized, cultivated Connecticut

cofl'ee that they were to taste for months and years.

The next day found us in Philadelphia, that noblest

city of America, where we were treated like royal

guests, as hundreds of other regiments had been, by

the beneficence of her private citizens. At night we
slept on the floor of the immense railway station at

Baltimore, and the next night in the barracks at

Washington, where the government insulted us with

coffee that was viler than anything else in the world

except the unwashed cups that lield it. On the 18th

we moved to Alexandria in transports, and bivouacked

after dark just north of the city. The line wheeled

into 'column by company,' and, being informed that

that would be their rest for the night, the tired men
spread their blankets on the ground, and, with their

blue overcoats for a covering and their knapsacks for

pillows, were soon deeply and earnestly sleeping their

first sleep on the 'sacred soil,' all unconscious of the

rain that washed their upturned faces.
"

' What are they going to do with us ?' was the

question in every man's mind the next morning, as

soon as he was sufficiently awake to take his reckon-

ing. Would an hour later find us en route for Har-

per's Ferry to join McClellan's army and take the

place of those who had fallen at Antietaui only forty-

eight hours before? or on board a transport bound

for Charleston or the Gulf? Nobody knew. Out

came pencils and rumpled paper from hundreds of

knapsacks, and behold a bivouac of reporters, all

briskly engaged in informing friends at home that we
had got so far, but there was no telling where we
might be to-morrow. But the order which was to

decide our fortunes for at least eighteen months had

already been issued, and before night the regiment

moved to a pleasant slope about a mile west of Alex-

andria which had been selected for a permanent

camp ; and it was announced that we were attached

to the command of Gen. John P. Slough,* military

governor of Alexandria, and that our first actual

* Pronounced like " plow."

milit.ary service was to consist in doing patrol- and

picket-duty in that city. On the following day we
received our first hard bread, and our arms and A
tents ; and the Nineteenth Connecticut thenceforth

had a local habitation as well as a name.
" Yes, a name. Alexandria, under martial law ever

since the breaking out of the war, had suffered un-

speakable things from the troops on duty in her streets

or quartered in her environs, and the Alexandrians

had come to regard a soldier as a scoundrel, always

and everywhere. But the Nineteenth Connecticut

had not been a week in Virginia before the self-

respecting good behavior of its men became the gen-

eral theme, and the authorities were petitioned by the

citizens—nearly all of whom were rebels—not to re-

move that regiment from Alexandria.

"The arms were Enfield muskets. In process of

time the men became acquainted with the nomencla-

ture and functions of every part of the weapon from

bayonet to butt-plate, although at first it seemed

wonderful how so awkward and inconvenient a tool

could ever have been constructed. Emery paper and

crocus cloth were soon brought to bear upon the

bronzed barrels, and by the middle of October there

were a good many men—the foremost of whom was

Pendleton, of Company C—who could use their

' lock-plate' or ' upper band' for a looking-glass.

The A tents were of linen, woven about as compactly

as a sieve, and were intended for just five men and no

more ; and woe to the stiuad that contained a fat man
or one over six feet long, for somebody, or at least

.some part of somebody, must sleep out of doors.

' Sjjoon-fashion' was the only possible fashion ; no

man could make a personal revolution on his own
axis without compelling a similar movement on the

part of each of his tent-mates, and a world of com-

plaint besides. Most of the days of that autumn
were warm, and even hot; but the chill of night

would penetrate the bones of the soldiers and cause

them to turn over and over from midnight until dawn,

when each company, without waiting for reveille,

would rally in a huddle on the long sheet-iron cook-

stove at the foot of the street, and endeavor to burn

the pain out of their marrows while toasting their

bread.

" On the 22d of September a detail of five officers

and seventy men relieved the patrol of the Thirty-

third Massachusetts in Alexandria, and the same was

daily furnished during the remainder of 1862. It was

the duty of the patrol to move about the city in

small squads, or stand guard at theatres and certain

other places, and arrest all soldiers who could not

produce passes, or who were in mischief, and bring

them to the provost-marshal's office, whence they

were usually escorted to the 'Slave-Pen' in Duke
Street,—a horrible den, with the following sign in

large letters over the door :
' Price & Burch, Dealers

in Slaves.' It had a large room or yard, about fifty

feet square, with windowless brick walls fifteen or
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twenty feet high, a door of iron bars, and no floor

except the earth. It had been one of the chief insti-

tutions of Alexandria, and any urchin could direct a

stranger to the ' Slave Pen' as readily as a New York

boy can point out the City Hall.

" From the soft beds and regular habits of Connecti-

cut homes to the hard ground, severe duties, irregular

sleep, bad food, and worse water of a Virginia camp

was a change that could not be made without loss of

health and life. Measles and mumps began to pre-

vail, rheumatism made the men lame, chronic

diarrhoea weakened them, typlioid fever fired their

blood, and jaundice painted their skins and eyeballs

yellower than saffron. Two hospital tents were soon

filled to overflowing, and an African church near by

was appropriated as regimental hospital ; while the

'sick call' brought to the surgeon's quarters a daily-

increasing crowd who desired medical treatment or

an excuse from duty. The first death— that of Daniel

E. Lyman, of Company C—occurred on the 2d of

November. Corporal Frederick B. Webster, of D
Company, followed him on the 6th, and Arthur G.

Kellogg, of C Company, on the 10th ; and by New
Year the number had increased to seventeen. Some
of them were embalmed and sent home, and some

buried in the soldiers' cemetery in the southern edge

of the city with military honors, which consisted of

an escort of their comrades with reversed arm.s, a roll

of muffled drums, the mournful ' Pleyel's Hymn'
tremulously executed upon the fife, and a salute fired

over the grave, with sometimes a prayer from the

chaplain, and sometimes without.

" Colonel Wessells, having been taken ill soon after

reaching Alexandria, was confined at King Street

Hos])itaI during the greater part of the fall, and went

home about New Year on a two months' leave of

absence; so that Lieut.-Col. Kellogg had almost un-

interrupted command from the time the regiment left

Connecticut until the following April.

"Comi)any A was .sent into the city and quartered

at the foot of Duke Street on the l.'ith of November,

to guard the government stores, wlierc it remainc<l

until about New Year, when the regiment was trans-

ferred to Gen. Robert O. Tyler's command, which now
consisted of the Nineteenth Connecticut, First Con-

necticut Artillery, Fourteenth Massachusettt*, and a

New York regiment, and was entitled the 'Military

Defenses of Alexandria.'

"Jan. 12, 1803, the regiment moved up the Lees-

burg pike, passeil Fairfax Seminary, and encamped
among the stumps a few rods from the abatis of

Fort Worth. The liability of an immediate call to

the front wius now .so far diminished that there wivs a

very noticeahle relaxation of military rigor. Dre.^s

parade, guard mounting, and camp guard were for

some days the only disciplinary dutie-s required, and

great was the enjoyment atforded by the respite.

Stumps were to be cleared away, and dit<-hing and

draining done for a camp and parade-ground, and the

change from constant duty under arms to chopping,

grubbing, and digging fresh earth was extremely

grateful and beneficial. True, the month of January

witnessed a greater mortality than any other of the

entire twenty months passed in the ' Defenses,' but

it was the result of disease previously contracted.

The improved and improving condition of the regi-

mental health is shown in the record of deaths for

186.3, which is as follows: January, 16; February, 5;

March, 3 ; April, 5 ; May, 1 ; June, 1 ; July, ;* Au-

gust, 1 ; September, 3 ; October, 3 ; November, 2 ; De-

cember, 2.

" Fort Worth was a neat little earthwork, situated

about a quarter of a mile in rear of Fairfax Seminary,

overlooking the broad valley of Hunting Creek and

the Orange and Alexandria Railway, and mounting

some twenty-four guns of all kinds,—Rodman, Par-

rott, Whitworth, eight-inch howitzers, and iron and

Coehorn mortars. Here the winter was passed.

" After the middle of March a large number of men
were daily sent to load cars with wood, several miles

out on the Orange and Alexandria Railway, and each

man always brought home a stick on his shoulder, so

that firewood was no longer dug out of stumps. On
the 13th of April orders were received from Gen.

Heintzelman, the commander of the Department of

Wa.shington, directing the Nineteenth Connecticut

Volunteers to be i)rovided with shelter tents and seven

days' cooked rations, and to be held in readiness to

march. The regimental pulse was instantly quick-

ened. Troops were hourly parsing, on their way to

join Hooker's army, and the command to ' fall in'

and take the ' route stop' in the same direction

was hourly expected. Superfluous property was dis-

posed of, and bushels of letters dispatched northward.

Capt. His.scll, <[uite as much excited as any of his men,

gave an enormous ham to a squad in Company A,

with much the same liberality wherewith a death-

doomed voyager flings liis gold and jewels about the

cabin of a sinking ship. lUit army life is full of va-

rious surprises. Troops sometimes unexpectedly go,

and sometimes unexpectedly stay. Not only that

April, but the next April also, left us still in the de-

fenses of Washington.
" On the rith of May the regiment was for the first

time broken up into separate garrisons. Companies

n, F", anil G went to Fort Kllsworth ; Company A,

to Redoubt A; CNmipany D, to Redoubt 15; Com-

panies C and K, to Redonbt C ; and Comjianies E,

H, anil I, t<) Redoubt I); and this arrangement oon-

tinueil during the summer. These redoubln were

snuill works in the vicinity of Fort Lyr)n, mi the

Mount Vernon road, and commanding the land and

water approaches to .\lcxandria on the south. About

this time Gen. Tyler wits relieved in command by

Qen. Do Russy, and all the fortiflcations from Alex-

• Jaljr, IMS. 1

dmih occurrwl.
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andria to Georgetown received the name of the ' De-

fenses of Washington South of the Potomac,' and

the troops stationed therein constituted the Twenty-

second Army Corps. During the entire season the

Nineteenth was called upon for nothing more labori-

ous than drilling, target practice, stockade-building

in Alexandria, picking blackberries, drinking a quar-

ter of a gill of whisky and quinine at reveille and

retreat, and drawing pay from Maj. Ladd every two

months. Yet a good many seemed to be in all sorts

of affliction, and were constantly complaining because

they could not fjo to the front. A year later, wheu the

soldiers of the Nineteenth were staggering along tlie

Pamunkey with heavy loads and blistered feet, or

throwing up breastworks with their coffee-pots, all

night under fire, in front of Petersburg, they looked

back to the defenses of Washington as to a lost

Elysium, and fervently longed to regain those bliss-

ful seats. O Happiness ! why is it that men never

recognize thy features until thou art far away ?

" Col. Wessells resigned, on account of ill health,

on the 16th of September. In October the regiment

was withdrawn from the redoubts and brigaded with

the First Connecticut Heavy Artillery, under the

command of Col. Henry L. Abbott. The regimental

headquarters were established at ' Oak Grove House,'

and the companies distributed at three forts,—Ells-

worth, Williams, and Worth,—where they remained

until the following May.
" About the middle of November, Gen. Barry, chief

of artillery of the Department of Washington, re-

viewed Col. Abbott's brigade, and made a particularly

carcliil inspection of the Nineteenth Connecticut

;

and, from what occurred a day or two thereafter, it

was inferred that he bore to Washington a good report

of Col. Kellogg and his command, for on the 23d

of November the War Department issued an order

changing the Nineteenth Connecticut Infantry to a

regiment of heavy artillery,* and directing it to

be filled up to the maximum artillery standard.

This was joyful news. It did not take long (for every

man was his own tailor) to exchange the faded blue

straps and chevrons for bright red, and that soldier

could not be accused of overmuch ambition who did

not see some chance for promotion among the two

majors, two companies, two captains, twenty-eight

lieutenants, forty-six sergeants, and sixty-four cor-

porals that would be required in addition to those

already on hand. Lieuts. Edward W. Marsh and Oren

H. Knight were already in Connecticut on recruiting

service, and on the 30th of November Lieut. Benja-

min F. Hosford, with a party of ten enlisted men,

left for home on the same duty. A draft was then

pending and enormous bounties were oflFered for vol-

unteers, and these officers and men entered upon their

duties with vigor, and achieved a success which, it

* The name of " Second Connecticut Artillery" was given by Governor

Buckingham,

may safely be said, had no parallel in the history of

recruiting during the entire war. The first install-

ment—68 men—arrived on the last day of the year

;

on New Year's day (1864), forty-four more; fifty on

the 6th of January ; another lot on the 9th ; one

hundred and fifteen on the 10th; more on the 17th;

and so on until the 1st of March, by which time the

regiment had received over eleven hundred recruits,

and now contained eighteen hundred men. The new-

comers were divided equ.iUy among the several com-

panies, and the full complement of officers and non-

commissioned officers forthwith ordered. It was as-

tonishing to see with what celerity a promoted ser-

geant would shed his enlisted man's coat and appear

in all the pomp and consequence of shoulder-straps

and terrible scimitar, and it was for some time a

question of serious discussion among the older officers

whether the fort gates would not have to be enlarged

in order to facilitate the ingress aad egress of the new
lieutenants who drew such an alarming quantity of

water.

" After the resignation of Col. Wessells, the colo-

nelcy remained vacant for some time. It was sup-

posed that Governor Buckingham hesitated to give

the eagles to Lieut.-Col. Kellogg on account of his

rude treatment of Maj. Smith a few months before,

and a rumor reached camp that a certain unpopular

major of the First Artillery was endeavoring to ob-

tain this position. A petition praying that Kellogg

might not be thus ignominiously 'jumped' was in-

stantly signed by nearly every member of the regi-

ment and forwarded to the Governor, who thereupon

immediately sent him a colonel's commission.
" It was about one o'clock on the morning of the

17th of May when an orderly galloped up and dis-

mounted at headquarters near Fort Corcoran, knocked

at the door of the room where Col. Kellogg and the

adjutant lay soundly sleeping, drew from his belt and

delivered a package, received the indorsed envelope,

and mounted and galloped off again, as little con-

scious that he had brought the message of destiny to

hundreds of men as the horse which bore him. The

dispatch, as nearly as can now be remembered, read

thus:

"
' War Depaetmest, AnjT -Genl's. Office,

"Washington, May 16, 1864.

"
' [Special Oedehs, No. 438.]

"'The commanding officer of the Second Connecticut Heavy Artil-

lery will proceed at once, with his command, to join the Army of the Po-

tomac, now in the vicinity of Spottsylvania Court-house. Transporta-

tion from Alexandria to Belle Plain will be furnished by Capt. A. S.

Lee, A.Q.M. At Belle Plain he will report to Brig.-Gen. Abcrcrombie

for supplies, and for directions how to proceed.

" ' Having arrived at the Army of the Potomac, he will report imme-

diately to Maj.-Gen. Meade, commanding, for duty.

" * By order of the Secretary of War,
" ' E. D. TowNSENn,

"
' AssUtant AdjuUint-Generol.^

" Five minutes had not elapsed before staff-officers

and orderlies were hurrying from fort to fort, and in

less than five minutes more the sound of the reveille
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and the sharp command ' Fall in /' broke upon the still

night air, and the soldiers came pouring from their

cosey bunks, like angry bees when their hive is rudely

disturbed, and formed in line to hear the order.

" The day was passed in busy preparation for de-

parture. In the evening the companies assembled

near the Arlington House, and the regiment moved to

the outskirts of Alexandria, where it bivouacked a

little after midnight. Early in the morning* we em-

barked for Belle Plain, at which place we arrived in

the afternoon, in a pouring rain and in mud knee-

deep, in floundering through which many a soldier

lost one or both of his shoes. Night found us curled

up and shivering under shelter tents among the drip-

ping bushes on the steep hillsides, each man svipplied

with five days' rations and one hundred rounds of

ammunition, with orders to carry the same somehow

on his person. About midnight the rain ceased, and

Maj. Ladd, who had failed to reach us at Alexandria,

and had followed right on, paid off the regiment. On
the 19th we marched to Fredericksburg, at that time

the hosijital city, nearly every house of which was

filled with wounded, and on the 20th, after passing

Massaponax church and crossing the Mat, the Ta, the

Po, and the Ny, four small streams that form the Matta-

pony, we reached the headquarters of the Army of the

Potomac, and were at once assigned to the Second Bri-

gade, First Division, Sixth Corps. The army had been

lying for several days where we found it, resting a

little (although with constant skirmishing and picket-

firing) after the recent severe fighting in the Wilder-

ness, and waiting for reinforcements, and now, having

received them, it began to swing to the 'left,'

—

i.e., to

the southward. On the 21st the Second Connecticut

found itself for the first time face to face with the

enemy. Yes, that dingy-looking line, slowly moving

to the north along that slope, a mile and a lialf in

front of us, wa.s a body of real, live Jnhnniet, and

those puffs of smoke in the woods below were from

the muskets of rebels wlio were firing on our pickets.

During that afternoon and evening our regiment, al-

though so lately arrived in the field, occupied a posi-

tion perhai)s more important and iKuardoiis than any

other portion of tlie entire army. Tlie Ninth Corps

had been withdrawn from tlie right aiul luid pa.sscd by

our rear to the left, leaving the Si.xth Corps on the

right, and for several hours our men lay with their

bayonets pointing over a semi-circular line of breast-

works which constituted tlic extreme riij/il of the vast

army, nearly all of whicli, except our own brigade,

was in motion towards tlie left. Just at dark our

batteries opened on the rebel lines, eliciting no reply,

but fru.stratiug an attempt nf the enemy to get in

upon our left and cut us off from the rest of the army.

Late in the evening we silently moved out, following

the track of the troops that had preceded us, and

began that long and terrible series of marches which

* Hay 18. 1864.

were continued, almost without a breathing-spell, until

the 1st of June. The next dayf we passed Guienna
Station and reached Bowling Green. About noon of

the following dayj the first rations were issued since

we left Belle Plain, and late at night we arrived at

the North Anna River, near Oxford. The men were
strung along for miles in the rear, so that when a

picket detail of one hundred and twenty men was
ordered, immediately upon our arrival, it seemed to

take half the regiment. The pickets, although hardly

able to stand up, were sent across the river that night.

The rest of the men, as they came up, tumbled upon
the soft and delicious ground of the corn-field where
we had halted, and

*'*Not poppy nor manilragora,

Nor all the drowsy syrups of the world,'

could have medicined them to a sounder sleep than

their unutterable weariness quickly brought them.

On the 24th the river was crossed by pontons at

Jericho Ford, and the corps disposed for action ; but

no general engagement occurred, although there was
lively skirmishing all day, in which the " first blood"

of the Second Connecticut was drawn. The rebels

fired upon and drove our pickets, but they were ral-

lied behind rifle-pits by Capt. Wadharas, who was in

command, with the loss of Patrick Keegan, of Com-
pany M, killed, ami three others wounded. Our regi-

mental and brigade headquarters that day were at the

house of one Fontaine, a wealthy and grand old rebel,

who had fled on the approach of our army, with all

his household except one or two slave women.
" While some of the field- and stall'-otticers were ly-

ing on the ground near this house that afternoon,

Maj. Hubbard suddenly asked, 'What was that? I

thought I heard a "thud" just now.' Maj. Uice, who
lay not more than six feet off, replied, ' I guess you
did, for I felt something go through me ;' and, putting

his hand beneath his clothing, drew it forth stained

with blood. It was the work of a rebel sharpshooter,

who could not have been less than a mile distant, and
whos« telescopic rifle had probably mistaken the ma-
jor's gilt leaves for the stars of a major-general,

which they resemble. The projectile piuksed through

the scrotum ami the fleshy part of the rump, and
could not have exceeded the sixteenth part of an inch

in diameter. Maj. Rice was disabled but two or

three days. It was in this manner tliat Maj.-Gen.

Sedgwick had been picketl off a week before, and
possibly by the same skillful hand.

I

" On the 2Gth the Fifth and Second Corps were

engaged on our left, which extended tnwards Hano-
ver Junction ; but our own operations were confined

to tearing up a quantity of railroad-track near Noel's
' Station, and forming a line of battle nl>out nightfall

in a thick wood on the crest of a hill ailjaceiit to Lit-

tle Uivcr. Here again we were on the extreme right

of the army. Whether this formation was for the pur-

t M*T «, 1804. tlt«]P«S,18M.
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pose of making or resisting an attack 1 do not know

;

but, at all events, the attempt to dislodge Lee from his

position here seems to have been abandoned about

that time, and at daylight we recrossed the river and

marched to Chesterfield Station, where we halted

from noon until evening. During the afternoon

Upton called on Col. Kellogg and said, ' Colonel, let

your men know that we are to have a liard march to-

night, so that they may get as much rest as possible.

We shall jirobably be within fifteen miles of Rich-

mond to-morrow morning.' At eight o'clock the col-

umn was again in motion, on the road following the

left bank of the Pamunkey ; and oh ! what language

will convey to those who were not there the least idea

of the murderous cruelty of that march? We had al-

ready sull'ered all that flesh and blood seemed able to

bear on the road from 8pottsylvania to the North

Anna, and the future had in store for us many other

marches that were grievous beyond expression ; but I

am persuaded that if all the regiment were to be sum-

moned—the living and the dead—and notified that

all their nuirches except one must be performed over

again, and that they might choose vhich one should

be omitted, the almost unanimous cry would be, ' De-

liver us from the accursed night-march along the Pa-

munkey !' In darkness and silence, hour after hour,

without a rest of more tlian five minutes at a time, the

corps was hurled along that sandy road. There was

no danger that the head of the column would lose its

way, for a large body of cavalry had preceded us a

day or two before, and dead horses lined the road

throughout at intervals averaging not more than a

quarter of a mile, sickening all the motionless air.

Ten o'clock, — eleven o'clock, — midnight, — two

o'clock,—four o'clock,—the darkness began to fade

before the inflowing tides of the morning light, but

still the jaded men moved on. Capt. Burnham, with

stockings and rags bound upon his blistered feet like

sandals (his boots h.aving been used up and thrown

away), hobbled painfully along beside his men, whose

feet, like those of all the rest, were in the same con-

dition. In the morning, after passing Mongohick

and turning to the right, we crossed the Pamunkey
on pontons, and encamped on the southern bank,

not I'ar from Hanovertown, where we lay until the

afternoon of the next day, when we moved three

miles and encamped again. The whole army seemed

to be close along, and there was considerable cavalry

skirmishing somewhere in the neighborhood.
" On the 29th the First Division was sent on a rec-

onnoissance, and marched in a roundabout way until

it struck the railroad. Having thrown out a strong

picket and destroyed a portion of track, we lay down
for the night on the direct road leading from Han-

overtown to Richmond. On the 30th we were roused

at dawn, returned to the Richmond road, drew three

days' rations, and marched five or six miles towards

Mechanicsville. Some of our men were on picket,

and there was more or less firing all day in front.

On the 31st we lay along the edge of a piece of woods
near Tolopotomy Creek, behind breastworks, passing

the day without much danger of position. During

the entire day there was very lively firing along our

front, and we had two B men and three L men
wounded,—those two companies being on the skir-

mish-line until afternoon, when they were relieved

by A and another company. Here again the Sixth

Corps held the right; but only twelve hours elapsed

before it had been moved (and our regiment with it,

of course) in rear of the rest of the army and ap-

peared on the extreme left at Cold Harbor.
" June relieved May at midnight. Half an hour

afterwards we had withdrawn from the Tolopotomy

and were swinging along the road, through pitchy

darkness, towards the south. Having marched, with

short and few rests, nearly until the following noon,

we halted along the eastern edge of a pine wood,

where we lay for perhaps half an hour. Col. Kel-

logg remarked that it seemed as though he had been

on that ground before, and so he doubtless had in

JlcClellan's campaign. At first there was nothing to

indicate that this was more than an ordinary halt,

and the men fell to hard-tack and sleep, according as

their hunger or weariness predominated, though it

was generally the latter, for hard-tack could be taken

on the march, while sleep could not. Near us was an

unpaiuted house, inferior looking in everything ex-

cept its dimensions, and about half a mile to the

south were two or three others of the same sort. At
the time we did not know, nor care, what buildings

these were, but those of us who were alive the next

day learned that they constituted the settlement

known as Cold Harbor. In a few minutes the ad-

vance of several other columns, together with bat-

teries of field artillery and ammunition-trains, began

to appear on the open level fields in our rear; but

we were so nearly dead with marching and want of

sleep that we hardly heeded these movements, or re-

flected on their portentous character. ' Jim, there's

a pile of troops coming. I guess there's going to be

a fight. You'd better wake up.' Such a jiiece of in-

telligence and advice as this, given to a prostrate sol-

dier by some less exhausted comrade, would elicit

some such reply as this :
' I don't care a damn. I

wish they'd shoot us and done with't. I'd rather be

shot than marched to death.' And the sleeper would

not even raise his head to look. But if the prosi^ect

of a coming battle could not move them, there was

one other thing that could, and that was the com-

mand 'Fall in !' The brigade moved again towards

the left about one o'clock, and, leaving the road, fol-

lowed along the edge of the woods until our regiment,

which was in the advance, reached a position almost

in front of the Cold Hai'bor houses before mentioned,

and about fi fteen rods north of the road that led from

these houses direct to Richmond. Some of the men
began to go for water and to gather fuel for cooking

coffee, having eaten nothing except raw hard-tack
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since the night before ; but this was at once forbidden,

and they were ordered to keep near the stacks of

muskets. Sheridan's cavalry had been skirmishing

on this ground tlie day before, and five dead rebels

lay within thirty feet of where we had halted. Our
men dug a grave about two feet deep on the spot, and

scarcely were the five laid side by side therein and

covered up before a few shots from pickets or sharp-

shooters came singing over our heads from a little to

the left of our front. It was evident, therefore, that

the enemy was there, but in how great force we did

not know. It is said that Longstreet's corps, which

was in front of the Sixth Corps on the Tolopotomy

the day before, had moved, in like manner, from one

flank of the rebel army to the other, and now again

confronted us at Cold Harbor. But it is hardly prob-

able that there was any such force in our front at

noon as was found there at five o'clock.

" Just at the left of the spot where we had stacked

our muskets was a hollow, basin-like spot, containing

about an acre of land and a few pine- and chestnut-

trees, and well protected on the front by a curved

line of breastworks which were thrown up during

McClellan's campaign, two years before, or else had

been erected by Sheridan's cavalry. In this hollow

the three battalions of our regiment were massed

about two or three o'clock, preparatory to a charge

which had been ordered by Gen. Meade to take place

at five. By this time the field-pieces of the First Di-

vision had taken position directly in our rear, while

the rebels had batteries directly in our front, and for

a long time the solid shot flew back and forth between

them, riglit above our heads, lopping off twigs, limbs,

and even large branches, wliicii came crasiiing down
among the ranks. Said Col. Kellogg to the first bat-

talion, ' Now, men, when you have the order to move,

go in steady, keep cool, keep still until I give you the

order to charge, and then go, arms a-port, with a yell.

Don't a man of you fire a shot until we are within the

enemy's breastworks. I shall be with you.' Even all

this, added to a constantly-increasing picket-fire and

ominous signs on every liand, could not e.xcite the men
to any great degree of interest in what was going on.

Their stupor was of a kind that none can d&'<cribc,

and none but soldiers can understand. In proof of

this only one incident need be mentioned. Corp.

William A. Hosford, then of Com|)any E, heard the

foregoing instructions given by Col. Kellogg, and yet

wa.s waki'il out of a »ound tiecp when the moment
came to move forward.

" Col. Upton, the brigade commander, was in almost

constant conference with Col. Kellogg, giving him in-

structions how and when to proceed, -lurveying the

ground, and an.xiously hut <|uietly watching tlii.s new
regiment, which, although it now constituted more
than half his command, he had never seen in action.

The arrangement of companies and battalions was

the same that had been c.slablished in the defcnsc.t

ujiou the change from infantry to artillery. The

following diagram will show the formation at Cold

Harbor

:

FEONT.

FIRST BATTALION—MAJOR HUBBARD.

A B K E
Left. -

Wadltaitts. Lewis.
-I-

Spencer. Skinner.

Eight.

SECOND BATTALION—MAJOR RICE.

C H

Denne. Fttiii. Berry,

THIRD BATTALION—MAJOR ELLS.

M D I

Gold.

Hon/urd. Bumh'tm. Jones.

" Ai five o'clock—or it might have been somewhat
later—the three battalions were moved just in front

of the curved breastworks, where they remained for

two or three minutes, still closed in mass. Knapsacks
were left behind the breastworks. Pine woods—or

rather a few tall pine-trees, not numerous enough to

hide our movements—extended about ten rods to the

front, and then came an open field. Col. Kellogg,

having instructed Majs. Kice and Ells to follow at

intervals of one hundred paces, placed himselfin front,

and gave the command, 'Forward! Guide Centre!

March !' The first battalion, with the colors in the

centre, moved directly forward through the scattering

woods, crossed the open field at a double-quick, and
entered another pine wood, of younger and thicker

growth, where it came upon the first line of rebel rifle-

pits, which was abandoned at its approach. Passing

this line, the battalion moved on over sloping ground
until it reached a small, o])en hollow, irilliin fifteen

or twenty yarih of the enemy's main line of breastworks.

There had been a thick growth of pine sprouts and
saplings on this ground, but the rebels had cut them,
probably that very day, and had arranged them so

as to form a very eflective abatis, thereby clearing

the spot, and thus enabling them to see our move-
ments. Up to this point there had been no firing

sutllcient to confuse or check the battalion; but here

the rebel musketry opened. The cummander of the

rebel battalion directly in our front, whoever he was,

had his men under excellent control, and his fire was
held until our line had reached the abatis, and then
.systematically delivereil,— first by his rear rank, and
then by his front rank. \ sheet of (lame, sudden as

lightning, red a.s blood, and so near that it .seemed to

singe the men's liices, burst along the rebel breast-

work ; and the ground and trees close behind our line

were plowctl and riddled with a thousand halls that

just missed the heads of the men. The battalion

droppe<l flat on the ground, and the second volley like

the first, nearly all went over. iSeveral men were struck,

but not a large number. It is more than probable that if

there had been no other than this front fire, the rebel

breastworks would have been ours, notwitlistanding

the pine boughs. But at that moment a long line of

rebels on our left, extending all the way to the Uicb-
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mond road, having nothing in tlieir own front to

engage their attention,* and having unobstructed

range on the battalion, opened a fire which no liunian

valor could withstand, and which no pen can ade-

quately describe. The appended list of casualties tells

the story. It was the work of almost a single minute.

The air was filled with sulphurous smoke, and the

shrieks and howls of more than two hundred and fifty

mangled men rose above the yells of triumphant

rebels and the roar of their musketry. About Face !

shouted Col. Kellogg; but it was his last command.
He liad already been struck in the arm, and the

words had scarcely passed his lips when another shot

pierced his head, and he fell dead upon the interlacing

pine boughs. Wild and blind with wounds, bruises,

noise, smoke, and conflicting orders, the men stag-

gered in every direction, some of them falling upon
the very top of the rebel parapet, where they

were completely riddled witli bullets, others wan-

dering oti' into the woods on the right and front, to

find their way to death by starvation at Anderson-

ville, or never to be heard from again. LIE DOWN!
said a voice that rang out above the horrible din. It

was the voice of Col. Ui)tou, whose large bay horse

was dancing with a bullet in his bowels. The
rebels in front now fired a-s fast as they could load,

and those of our men who were not wounded,

having worked their way back a few yards into the

woods, began to reply with energy. But the wounds
showed that nine-tenths of our Ciisualties were inflic-

ted by that unopi)Osed fire on the left flank. The
second battalion followed the first, according to in-

structions, crossed the open field under a» scattering

fire, and, having moved through the woods until within

perhaps seventy-five yards of the first battalion, was

confronted by Col. Upton with the command Lie

down! LIE down!—which was obeyed with the

utmost alacrity. Maj. Ells was wounded very soon

after the third battalion commenced to follow, and
his command devolved upon Capt. Jones. Upon
reaching the woods, this battalion also had orders

to lie down. The rebel fire came through the woods
from all parts of the line, and most of the losses in

these two battalions occured while lying here. ' Put

xip your sabre,' said Col. Upton to a young officer,

' I never draw mine until we get into closer quarters

than this. See the Johnnies ! See the Johnnies

!

Boys, we'll have these fellows yet!' said he, pointing

to the front, where a long string of them came run-

ning through the lines towards us. Tliey were the

very men who had delivered the first two volleys in

our front, and (there being a lull in the firing at the

moment) they came tumbling over the breastwork in

* The rest of the brigade— i.''., the One Hundred and Twenty-first and
Sixty-fifth New York, Ninety-fifth Pennsylvania, and Fifth Maine—wore
formed in three lines immediately on our left, and advanced when we
did. But they received a heavy fire, and advanced but part of the way.
Indeed, the first battalion of our regiment went uji to the enemy's breast-

work alone. Our right was nobody's left, and our left nobody's right.

a crowd, within two or three rods of where Kellogg's

body lay. We had too much on hand just then to

run after safely-bagged prisoners, and when they got

to the rear the Third Division (who, by the way,

having at first advanced on our right, had broken

and run to the rear through our first battalion as it

was charging, and were consequently in a convenient

position to make the 'capture') jjut a guard over

them and triumphantly marched them to army head-

quarters ; and in due time Gen. Meade issued an
order complimenting the Third Dicision of the Sixth

Arviy Corps for having captured between three and

four hundred prisoners, which they never captured

at all.t The lines now became very much mixed.

Those of the first battalion who were not killed or

wounded gradually crawled or worked back ; wounded
men were carried through to the rear; and the woods
began to grow dark, either with night or smoke, or

both. The news of Kellogg's death quickly found its

way everywhere. The companies were formed and
brought up to the breastwork one by one, and the

line extended towards the left. As Lieut. Cleveland

was moving in with the last company, a squad of

rebels rose directly in front, fired a volley very wildly,

and drojijjed. The fire was vigorously returned, and

the enemy soon vacated the breastwork in our im-

mediate front and crept off through the darkness.

Thousands and thousands of bullets 'zipped' back

and forth over the bodies of the slain, now striking

the trees high uj) with a ' spud,' and now piercing

the ground under foot. Upton stood behind a tree in

the extreme front, and for a long time fired muskets

as fast as the men could load and hand them to him.

Some sudden movement caused a panic, and they

started to flee, when he cried out with a voice that no

man wlio heard it will ever forget, 'lien of Connecti-

cut, stand bij me! We MUST hold this line!' It

brought them back, and the line was held. Firing

was kept up all night long, by a few men at a time,

to let the enemy know that we were there and awake,

and thus to deter them from attempting to retake the

line, which they could easil}' have done. Maj. Hub-
bard sent word twice to Col. Upton that if the enemy
should attempt to return he could not possibly hold

it. Upton's reply was, ' He must hold it. If they

come there, catch them on your bayonets and pitch

them over your heads.' At the first ray of dawn it

was strengthened and occupied by skirmishers; and

during our stay at Cold Harbor, which lasted until

midnight of June 12th, it remained our front line,

the rebel front line being about thirty-five rods dis-

tant and parallel with it.

" On the morning of the 2d the wounded who still

t Kvery surviving man of the Second Connecticut Artillery will bear

witness that the Ninth New York Artillery (which belonged to tho

Third Division) came pell-mell through our regiment towards tlie rearaa

we were charging, and that the captuie of these prisoners was made by

our regiment alone. Col. Upton, who saw the whole of it, said that the

matter should be rectified, aud the credit given to the Second Connecti-

cut. But it never was.
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remained were got off to the rear and taken to the

division hospital, some two miles back. Many of

them had lain all night, with shattered bones, or weak

from loss of blood, calling vainly for help, or water,

or death. Some of them lay in positions so exposed

to the enemy's fire that they could not be reached

until the breastworks had been built up and strength-

ened at certain points, nor even then without much
ingenuity and much danger ; but at length they were

all removed. Where it could be done with safety,

the dead were buried during the day. Most of the

bodies, however, could not be reached until night, and

were then gathered and buried under cover of the

darkness.

" On the morning of the 3d the regiment was again

moved forward, under the personal command of Col.

Upton, from the same spot whence the fatal charge

had been made thirty-six hours before ; but this time

we proceeded by a circuitous route which kept us tol-

erably well protected. Several, however, were killed

and wounded during this movement, and after we had

taken position. The line was pushed to the left, con-

siderably nearer the Richmond road than we had been

before, and there speedily covered by breastworks.

This, I presume, was our part of the movement of

June 3d, which the larger histories regard as the battle

of Cold Harbor. Perhaps it was. It has always

seemed, however, to the survivors of the Second Con-

necticut Heavy Artillery (Upton's Brigade, Russell's

Division, Wright's Corps) that the affair of June Ist

was entitled to more than the two or three lines of

bare mention with which it is tossed off in ' Greeley's

American Conflict,' ' Dcming's Life of Grant,' 'How-
land's Grant,' and i)robably every other of the more

important and comprehensive histories of the war.

"Artillery and picket firing continued through the

entire twelve days during which the lines at Cold

Harbor were held, and casualties occurred in the reg-

iment almost daily.

"The ranking officer* of the regiment, after the

death of Col. Kellogg, was Lieut.-Col. James Hub-
bard, to whom Governor Buckingham immediately

forwarded a commission as colonel. Hubbard, how-
ever, was unwilling to a-ssume the responsibility of

the command. In common with all the officers and
men, he was worn out. The purely murderous charge

of June 1st was our first, and thus far our only, fighl-
,

ing experience, and Lieut.-Col. Hubbard drew the
,

hasty inference that all the fighting was likely to con-

sist in a similar walking right into the jaws of hell.

He afterwards found that this was a mistake. During
the ten months which fullowcd, the regiment was in

the hottest of many a hot fight, and did its whole
duty, but it never found another Cold Harbor. Col.

Upton advised him to head a recommendation from
his officers for the appointment of Randal 8. Macken-

* MiO. Nathkiilel .Sniltli wiu imininto'l t» lioiiloii*iit.culuu«l u|<oii tlig

cliBiigo to nrtlllory, ouU migiinl for dlauMllt}', M«y 0, 1804. '

6

zie, a graduate of West Point, and cagtain of engi-

neers, who was then on some duty atarmy headquarters.

Hubbard called a meeting of his officers and laid the

matter before them. They unanimously opposed the

proposition ; but he assured them he should decline

the colonelcy, and at his request all the officers

joined him in recommending to Governor Bucking-

ham the appointment of Capt. Mackenzie. The
recommendation was forwarded ' through the regular

channel,' favorably indorsed by Upton, Russell,

Wright, Meade, and Grant ; and on the 6th of June

Col. Mackenzie appeared and assumed command.
" New and strong lines of breastworks were built

at Cold Harbor during the 10th, 11th, and 12th of

June, and it began to be the general opinion that the

place was to be permanently occupied and fortified.

By the term ' general opinion' I mean the opinion

along the line ; and that was not always well founded.

Things had changed in the Army of the Potomac

since the peninsular campaign, and it was not now
the custom to inform the rank and file, and the news-

papers, and the enemy, ofintended movements. Work
was continued on the breastworks, by large details of

soldiers, until almost the hour of leaving Cold Har-

bor,—probably to protect the withdrawing troops in

case of attack. It was nearly midnight on the 12th

of June when we found ourselves in motion on the

road to White House, and innumerable were the

conjectures as to our destination. The night was in-

tensely dark, and after having nuirched a mile or two

we became entangled with the Second Corps (which

was also in motion) in such a manner that there

would have been ugly work in the event of an attack.

But at length the difiiculty was overcome, and we
moved rapidly on until morning, when the sun indi-

cated that our destination must be some other place

than White House, for we were marching south-

east instead of northea.st. ISy seven o'clock that

evening we had marched thirty miles, and were en-

canij>ed a mile and a half south of the Chickahominy,

and six miles from Charles City Court-house. On
the 14th we marched at seven o'clock A.M., and en-

camped about noon not far from the river. On the

15th we moved a mile and a half. On the IGth

moved again a short distance; hoard firing for the

first and only time since leaving Cold Harbor; threw

up a line of breastworks, and took a bath in the river.

It was the only luxury we had had for weeks.

Troops were embarking all day at the landing, and at

midnight we went aboani,—half the companies on

one transport, and half on another,—and soim were

so quietly and pleasantly gliding up the brond and

beautiful river that imagination and mcnior) could

make it seem, for a moment now and then, like some
pleasure excursion on the Hudson or Long Island

Sound.
" Companies C, D, F, I, L, and M disembarked soon

after sunrise at Point of Rocks, on the Ajiponiattox
;

while the other transport, being a little too late for



62 HISTORY OF LITCHFIELD COUNTY, CONNECTICUT.

the tide, landed A, B, E, G, H, and K at Bermuda

Hundred, whence, after a march of three miles, they

joined the others, and bivouacked until noon. In the

afternoon we moved two miles farther, and encamped

in the woods, in the neighborhood of the Sixth and

Seventh Connecticut, and the First Connecticut Ar-

tillery. At one o'clock next morning we moved out,

marched a mile or two in the darkness, halted, and

stood in ominous silence for a few minutes while

mounted officers rode silently by, after which we
returned by the same way to camp. It has always

been supposed that this move was intended for a

charge, which, for some reason not known (but which

would doubtless have been deemed abundantly suffi-

cient by the regiment, if their opinion had been asked),

was not made.
" Reveille was sounded next morning* at three

o'clock, rations issued, and orders received to be ready

to move at four; but the "pack-up" bugle did not

sound until five. Such delays may or may not cost a

campaign ; they are always welcome to soldiers while

cooking their breakfast. After marching back for

some distance towards the Point of Hocks, and cross-

ing the Appomattox by a ponton, we moved directly

towards the city of Petersburg.

" In the afternoon we movedf to Harrison's Creek

and relieved a portion of Hinks' Brigade of colored

troops, who were holding a line of rifle-pits which,

together with two guns, they had captured four days

before.

"The day was Sunday,— and what a Sunday 1

Shells whistled and muskets rattled, both to the right

and left, as far as the ear could reach. Petersburg

and its inner defenses were in jilain sight; and if our

troops had not captured the city, we had at least got

so near that it would be an uncomfortable place for

trade and residence unless we could be pushed farther

offi After dark (for no such move could be made by

daylight) the regiment moved down a steep bank in

front of Harrison's house, relieved the Eleventh Con-

necticut, and took position on the eastern edge of a

broad, level wheat-field. The minie-balls that came

singing along overhead with a Kee-ooh! oo-oo, told

that the enemy held the opposite side of the wheat-

iield, and no time was lost in ' covering.' Spades

did not come for a long time, and only a few of them

at last. Tons of loamy earth were thrown, all night

long, with coffee-pots, bayonets, hands, and shovels

whittled out of hard-tack boxes. Pickets were sent

ahead several rods into the field, and three men sta-

tioned at each post. The 'posts' were holes dug in

the ground by bayonets and fingers. The deeper the

* June 19, 1864.

f The term " we," which so frequently occurs in this volume, is used

Bometinies for the regiment, sometimes for the hrigade, division, corps,

or avniy, according to circunistiinces. And tlie writer himself does not

always know how large a "we" it is. The whole of Kussell's Division

moved in at Harrison's Creek ; but whether the other two divisions of

the corjts were there theiimited ninge of vision enjoyed by a regimental

officer did not enable the writer to know.

hole, the higher the bank of earth in front ; and the

pickets very naturally kepi digging to strengthen

their position. The tall wheat rustled with ripeness

as they moved through it to and from their posts.

Are these men who lie here and there dead or asleep?

Here is one who, at all events, has krinkled and spoiled

a good deal of wheat in settling down to his rest. Is

he a reb or one of our men ? It is difficult to tell, on

account of the darkness, but that is the Union blue.

Take hold of his arm. Ah ! there is a certain stiff-

ness that decides the point at once. He probably

answered to his name this morning at the roll-call of

the Eleventh Connecticut ; but he will not do so to-

morrow morning.
" The first and second battalions dug all night.

The third went to the rear about nine o'clock, and

lay in some old rifle-pits, but were ordered to the

front again just after midnight to help dig. The city

clocks could be heard" tolling the night-hours away,

for they were not so far off as Camp Button from Litch-

field Hill. The morningj revealed a magnificent line

of earthworks which had grown up in the night for

our protection. Had they sprung by magic, like the

palace of some Arabian fable ? No. Our worn and

weary men knew where they came from.

" This was the most intolerable position the regi-

ment was ever required to hold. We had seen a dead-

lier spot at Cold Harbor, and others awaited us in the

future ; but they were agonies that did not last. Here,

however, we had to stay, hour after hour, from before

dawn until after dark, and that too where we could

not move a rod without extreme danger. The enemy's

front line was parallel with ours, just across the

wheat-field ; then they had numerous sharpshooters,

who were familiar with every acre of the ground,

perched in tall trees on both our flanks ; then they

had artillery posted everywhere. No man could cast

his eyes over the parapet or expose himself ten feet

in rear of the trench without drawing fire. And yet

they did thus expose themselves ; for where there are

even chances of being missed or hit, soldiers will take

the chances rather than lie still and suffer from thirst,

supineness, and want of all things. ' Keep down I'

roared Maj. Skinner at a man who seemed bent on

making a target of himself. ' Tell John Meramble

to stop putting his head over,' said Col. Mackenzie,
' or he will get it knocked off.' Harvey Pease, of

Company H, straightened himself up and essayed to

walk, but was struck in the head before he had taken

five steps, and fell like a log. Matthias Walter, of

Company D, was wounded in the thigh by a sharp-

shooter. John Grieder, of D, received a fatal wound
in the thigh from a piece of three-inch shell. Corp.

Disbrow, of H, was hit in the shoulder ; and other

casualties occurred, until there were eleven in all.

There was no getting to the rear until zigzag passages

were dug, and then the wounded were borne off. A

\ June 20, 18G4.
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new relief of pickets had gone on just before day-

break, and each man was notified to have two can-

teens of water, because they must remain until night.

Reader, do you like to drink warm water ? Then en-

list in the next war, and stay twelve hours in a hole

in the ground, without shelter from the fierceness of

a Virginia sun in June, with bullets passing two feet

above your head, with dead bodies broiling all around

you, and with two tin canteens of muddy water.

"The day wore on, and welcome darkness came at

last, giving us a chance to stand erect. Our occupa-

tion continued during the night and the next day,

the regiment being divided into two reliefs, the one

off duty lying a little to the rear, in a corn-field near

Harrison's house. But it was a question whether
' off' or ' on' duty was the more dangerous. During

the day* Col. Mackenzie directed his staff-officers to

occupy separate shelter tents, and to leave him in one

by himself, in order to diminish the ' chauces' of in-

jury. When one of them looked into his tent an hour

afterwards he pointed to a hole through his straw hat,

remai-king that if any one else had been there some-

body would have been hurt. Frequent shells came

just overhead and plunged into the corn-field behind

us. Company E had a man killed, and K had several

wounded. A three-inch shell struck right among the

boys of Company H and threw dirt into their coffee,

but did not explode. The only shot that was ever

unmistakably meant for the author of this history, so

far as he knows, was on that day. There was a well

ill front of Harrison's house, covered by a roof, which

was supported by four posts. Tlie writer was sitting

and drinking with his head leaning against one of

these posts, when a musket-ball buried itself with a
' tuiik' in the wood just about four inches too high

to prevent the writing of this history. I luive ever

since had some desire to see tliat well. If the post is

still there, I am quite sure it contains lead.

"At eight in the evening we were relieved by the

Eighth Connecticut, and there saw the brave and

noble Lieut. Seth F. Plumb, of that regiment, for the

last time. Moving by the left-in-front ( wliieli, by the

way, was the order of march all the way from Spott-

sylvania to Petersburg), we rros.sed the City Point

Railroad, passed Grant's headquarters, and nuirchcd

by a semi-circular route towards the east, southeast,

south, and west until three in tlie morning, when we
bivouacked, not much farther from I'etersburg than

before. How can we march so far and yet go so little

way? was the (luestion here, as it iiad been between

the Toloi>otomy and Cold Harbor. At eight o'clock

in the morningf we entered the woods, and alter sun-

dry moves and halts came to a square, open field

surrounded on all sides by thick woods, where the

l)rigade was disposed in two lines. \n officer and
twcTity men were immediately sent out by Mackenzie,

with orders to push into the wooils directly in ("rout,

and find the left of the Second Corps pickets. They
were soon found, and the line was extended from the

left by details from our regiment. Upton and Russell

were both out in the jungle on foot, to see the connec-

tion made. Soon afterwards the first line of the bri-

gade, which contained our regiment, was advanced

into the dense wood, perhaps two hundred yards,

the second line being not far behind, and a few min-

utes later the pickets were engaged in a sharp skir-

mish with Hill's rebel division close in our front,

which resulted in a loss to the Second Connecticut of

six killed, seven wounded (several of them mortally),

and six missing, some of whom were afterwards heard

from at Andersonville. Mackenzie had two fingers

shot off and afterwards amputated. A good deal of ma-

noeuvring followed which was difficult to underetand.

We retired to the open lot, moved about a regiment's

length to the right, and advanced again, somewhat
farther than before, into a wilderness of woods, bushes,

brambles, and vines so thick that a man could hardly

see his neighbor. This position became a permanent
picket-line, while the main line was established the

next dayt along the open field in the rear, and daily

strengthened until it became impregnable. Here, as

at Cold Harbor, there was no telling where we were

until the day after the fight. Kellogg, Wadhams, and
the multitude who fell with them on the 1st of June,

never knew that they fell at 'Cold Harbor,"—indeed,

most of them never heard that name, which ha-s since

become so familiar to their surviving friends. And
so with the victims and the survivors of June 22d.

Pine woods, with a jungle of undergrowth, extended

to an unknown distance in every direction, and the

only data from which any sort of reckoning could be

made were the sun and the moon and the firing.

Time revealed the fact that we were about three miles

south of Petersburg, and a mile cast of the Weldon
Railroad, which the enemy held.

Here, then, the .\rmy of the Potonuic settled down
to stay. The little barricade of rails where Knight,

Hempstt^'ad, Guernsey, and many others had found

their deaths grew day by day into brea-stworks, par-

allels, batteries, and mighty forts which all the artil-

lery of the World could not shake. The enemy began

to fortify with equal strength, and henceforth there

was more digging than fighting. The seventeen days

following the 22(1 of June furnished several episodes

which miijhl have grown (but happily did not) into

events that would have required a chapter instead of

a lew lines,—such, for example, as moving out on the

night of the 2.'t(l and nuissing for a charge; building

brea-stworksall night on the 24th; marching to lieanis'

(Station on the 30th to support troo]>s that were tear-

ing up eight miles of track ; and being under arms

before daylight, on the (>th of July, in anticipation of

an attack. Nevertheless, these were days of compar-

ative rest, quiet, uml comfort. Cam|>s were regularly

• Juna 21, 1804. t Jnn*^ 1804. t JuB* 13, 1801.
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laid out and well policed. The band and drum corps

encamped with the regiment, which was an infallible

sign that danger had evacuated. Each company
dug a well in the clay and provided it with an old-

fashioned ' sweep ;' and, inasmuch as the deepest

well drained all the rest, they were constantly scoop-

ing out deeper and deeper. The commissary-wagons

came up, and rations consisted of hard-tack, salt pork,

coffee, sugar, potatoes, pepper, salt, and rice. The
sutlers also—those noble patriots—drew near, and the

soldiers renewed their almost-forgotten acquaintance

with sardines, bologna, bolivars, condensed milk

(si.xty cents per can), canned fruits, and a kind of

bog hay tea, which, after all, was tea. The region

abounded in young pines ironi one to three inches

in diameter, and every man had a bedstead con-

structed of these pine ' poles,' while the long, needle-

shaped pine leaves made bedding which, if not luxu-

rious, was certainly better than none. And thus the

Second Connecticut Heavy Artillery played its part

on the theatre of war, until a sudden bugle blast on

the night of the 9th of July announced a shifting of

the scene. The regiment was then ordered to City

Point.

" The morning of July 10, 1SG4, found us—the First

and Second Divisions of the Si.xth Corps, perhaps

twelve thousand men in all — embarking at City

Point as fast as the transports could get up to the

dock, load, and move off", era route to Washington to

defend the capital from the expected attack of Gen.

Early.

" We passed Alexandriajust aftersunriseofthe 12th,

reached Washington at six o'clock, and marched di-

rectly up Seventh Street. At ten in the evening the

regiment marched two or three miles up the road, by
Fort De Russy, to Fort Kearney, and after much
shifting lay down on their arms to sleep. In the

morning Companies C and H were sent to man a

battery, but returned in half an hour. Early had

learned of the presence of the Sixth Corps, and also

of the Nineteenth (Emory's), which had opportunely

arrived from New Orleans; and he concluded not to

capture the capital and Capitol, Congress and ar-

chives, arsenal and navy-yard, Lincoln and Cabinet,

until (as Pollard says), 'another and uncertain time.'

He had begun his retreat towards Snicker's Gap, and
pursuit was instantly made by the Sixth and a divi-

sion of the Nineteenth Corps, under command of

Gen. Wright. Our brigade moved up the river at

2.20 P.M., and bivouacked late in the evening near

Potomac Cross-Roads. Next morning* we moved at

half-past five, but not much progress was made for

some hours, on account of a handful of rebel cavalry,

who annoyed our advance and covered the enemy's

retreat. Two of them were captured. But after noon
the pace was quickened, and, it being intensely hot,

the march was very severe. Mackenzie stormed at

* July 14, 1864.

the company commanders on account of the strag-

gling, but it was no use. The men fell out inces-

santly. At seven in the evening we were only two
hours behind the graybacks, whose rear-guard, as we
learned from citizens, had skirmished over that region

during the afternoon.

" On the 16th we forded the Potomac at Edwards'

Ferry, and after marching through Leesburg and a

mile beyond encamped in plain sight of the rebels.

During this entire march they kept moving as fast as

we approached, manifesting little or no disposition to

dispute our progress ; and there was a delay in the

pursuit which Mr. Greeley, in his ' History of the

American Conflict,' characterizes as 'timid and fee-

ble.' It was certainly neither timid nor feeble after

Ricketts came up with his Third Division on the 17th.

Starting before sunrise, the entire force moved all

day and had nearly all passed through Snicker's Gap
at sunset. The top of the Blue Ridge, overhanging

the gap, afforded an excellent position for counting

our troops, and several rebels, thus occupied, were

captured. As we reached the middle of the gap we
caught our first glimpse of the beautiful Shenandoah
valley, with which we were destined, before long, to

have an intimate and bloody acquaintance. Lively

artillery-firing could be seen upon a knoll a couple of

miles to the west, and sharp musketry heard to the

right of it. We cleared the gap, filed to the right

into a blind, steep, and narrow defile, which suddenly

became almost impassably blocked by troops who had
been driven by the enemy, and were in confused re-

treat. Having forced a passage through them, we
reached an opeu field sloping to the Shenandoah
River, and encamped. Nothing remarkable occurred

the next day, except an issue of three days' rations,

including beans and dried apples, with instructions to

make them \sLStJive days. On the 20th we forded the

Shenandoah,—which was about four feet deep, and as

wide as the Housatonic at New Milford,—and moved
towards Berryville, left in front. The Second Con-

necticut was the advance regiment of the advance

brigade, and a portion of it was deployed as skir-

mishers and marched through the fields parallel with

the column, and about forty rods on the right of it.

Few of the regiment will ever forget the shower that

soaked us that day. A halt was made in the woods

not far from Berryville, and foraging-parties detailed,

who secured a large quantity of bacon, vegetables, and
meal. There must have been some conflict or misun-

derstanding in the foraging orders, for Lieut. Warren
Alford, who was on his way to camp with several

head of cattle and a barrel of flour, was directed by

Gen. Russell to take them back where he found them.

Cavalry scouts reported no enemy within eight miles,

and at midnight the column moved eastward. The
river was forded again by bright moonlight, and the

gap passed before day. It seems to have been the

presumption (an erroneous one) that Early, having

succeeded in decoying a large army into the valley on
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a wild-goose chase, was now hurrying back to Peters-

burg to enable Lee to strike a heavy blow at Grant

before the Sixth and Nineteenth Corps could be

moved back to City Point. This, then, was the ex-

planation of our return through Snicker's Gap.
" The march back to Washington was severe enough

to be called a forced march. Moseby's guerillas

were close upon our rear, and although straggling was

continually punished by rail-carrying, yet a vast

number of stragglers were 'gobbled' by the enemy,

and doubtless found their way to Andersonville or

some other prison. Tenallytown was reached, by

way of Chain Bridge, on the 23d, and the stiff", lame,

sore, tired, hungry men found thirty-six hours' rest,

new clothing, new shoes, soft bread, and surreptitious

whisk)', for all of which they were truly thankful

;

also cross-cannon to adorn their hats, for which they

would have been more thankful if this brazen badge

had not been to them such a bitter mockery.
" But it suddenly seemed as though the cross-cannon

w-ere to be no longer a mockery. The powers at

Washington had been pretty well shaken up by the

thunder of the enemy's guns at the gates of the capi-

tal, and they resolved that the Sixth and Nineteenth

Corps should not embark for Petersburg again with-

out leaving at least a few troops to reinforce the in-

valids and hundred-days men. For this purpose the

Second Connecticut Heavy Artillery wsis detached

from the Sixth Corps and ordered to report to Gen.

De Riissy, at Arlington.
" July 25, 1864, the regiment moved through George-

town, across A(iueduct Bridge, up to Fort Corcoran, and
by noon the companies were distributed at the same
eleven forts which they had garrisoned for forty-eight

hours before going to the front in May. The Ohio
regiment of hundred-days men which had relieved

us in May and was still there, with its gawky officers,

moved out and turned over its comfortable barracks,

bunks, cook-houses, and light duties to those who
were able to appreciate them.

"From this time until tiie following September
the time was principally passed in marching and
countermarching.

"Sei)tcmber 2d found us at Clifton, where we en-

camped and remained for two weeks, drilling and
]>rcparing for the grapple which was hidden in the

immediate future.

"At three o'clock on the morning of the 19th of

September the advance was in motion. Our brigade

started from Clifton about daylight, and, having
struck the Borryville ])ike, moved five or six miles

towards Winchester, and halted for an hour aliout

two miles east of the Opequan, while the Nineteenth
Corps was crossing. The cavalry had previously

moved to secure all the crossings, and firing was now
heard all along the front, and continually increasing.

The Sixth and Nineteenth Corps, following Wil-
son's cavalry, which fought the way, croH.se<l at and
near the pike bridge, our brigade wading the stream

a few rods north of it. West of the creek the pike

passed through a gorge over a mile long, from which

the rebels had been driven by the cavalry. The
Nineteenth Corps and a portion of our own had
moved through it and formed a line of battle some
distance beyond, under a heavy artillery-fire, when
our division emerged from the gorge and filed to the

left into a ravine that ran across the pike, where it

was held in readiness as a reserve. This was about

half-past nine. The fighting now waxed hotter,

louder, nearer; nevertheless, some of the men found

time while their muskets were stacked in this ravine

to dig potatoes from a neighboring field. At length

the enemy made a vigorous charge upon the centre

of the front line, at the point where the Third Brigade

of the Second Division joined the left of the Nine-

teenth Corps. The line broke and retreated in com-

plete disorder, each broken flank doubling and crowd-

ing back on itself and making for the rear. The
enemy pushed its advantage and came rolling into

the breach. It was the critical moment of the day

;

for if he had succeeded in permanently separating

the two parts of the line, there would have been no

possible escape from utter defeat for Sheridan's army.

At this juncture Gen. Russell, who was watching

from the rise of ground just in front of the ravine

where his division lay, exclaimed, 'Look here, it is

about time to do something! Upton, bring on your

brigade.' The brigade was at once moved out of the

ravine, passed through a narrow strip of woods, crossed

the pike, halted lor a moment in order to close and

dress up compactly, then went at a double quick by

the right Hank into the gap that had been made in the

first line, and made a short halt, just in rear of a

piece of woods, out of which the reninanta of the

Second and Third Divisions were still retreating, and

on the other side of which was the advancing line of

UdcIos' and (fordon's rebel divisions. The first fire

that struck our brigade and regiment during the day

was while coming to this position, (ien. Ru.ssell was

killed by a shell at the same time, having been pre-

viously wounded and refused to leave the field. It

was this movement of our brigotle that checked the

enemy until the lines were restored and the two or

three thousanil fugitives brought back. Some of our

men began to fire, but were quickly ordere<l to desist.

After a very k\\ minutes the brigade was pushed for-

ward, the letl half of it being somewhat covered by

woods, from which position it instantly opene<l a

terrific fire, while the Second Connecticut, which

constituteil the right half, passed to the right of the

woods into an open field of uneven surface, and

halted ou a spot where the ground was depressed

enough to atlbrd a little protection, and only a little

;

for several men were hit while lying there, as well as

others while getting there. In three minutes the

regiment again advanced, passed over a knoll, lost

several more men, and halted in another hollow spot

similar to the first. The enemy's advance hail now
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been pushed well back, and here a stay was made of

perhaps two hours. Col. Mackenzie rode slowly back

and forth along the rise of frround in front of this

position in a very reckless manner, in plain sight and

easy range of the enemy, who kept up a fire from a

piece of woods in front, which elicited from him the

remark, ' I guess those fellows will get tired of firing

at me by and by.' But the ground where the regi-

ment lay was very slightly dei)ressed, and although

the shots missed Mackenzie they killed and wounded

a large number of both otBcers and men behind him.

Lieut. Candee merely raised himself from the ground

on his elbow to look at his watch, but it was enough

to bring his head in range of a sharpshooter's ball,

and he was instantly killed. About three o'clock, an

advance of the whole line having been ordered by

Sheridan, the regiment charged across the field, Mac-

kenzie riding some ten rods ahead, holding his hat

aloft on the point of his sabre. The distance to the

woods was at least a quarter of a mile, and was tra-

versed under a fire that carried off its victims at

nearly every step. The enemy abandoned the woods,

however, as the regiment approached, in consequence

of which the line obliqued to the left and halted.

Companies F and D were here detached and taken off

to the right on a small reconnoissance, but were soon

brought back, and the regiment proceeded to the

right of the woods and partly through them, and ad-

vanced to a rail-fence which ran along the side of an

extensive field. Here, for tiic first time during the

whole of this bloody day, did the regiment have

orders to fire, and for ten minutes they had the priv-

ilege of pouring an effective fire into the rebels, who

were thick in front. Then a flank movement was

made along the fence to the right, followed by a

direct advance of forty rods into the field. Here was

the deadliest spot of the day. The enemy's artillery,

on a rise of ground in front, plowed the field with

canister and shells, and tore the ranks in a frightful

manner. Maj. Rice was struck by a shell, his left arm

torn off, and his body cut almost asunder. Maj.

Skinner was struck on the top of the head by a shell,

knocked nearly a rod with his face to the earth, and

was carried to the rear insensible. Gen. Upton had

a good quarter pound of flesh taken out of his thigh

by a shell, and was laid up for some weeks. Col.

Mackenzie's horse was cut in two by a solid shot,

which just grazed the rider's leg, and let him down

to the ground very abruptly. Several other oflicers

were also struck, and from these instances, as well as

from the appended list of casualties, some idea may
be gained of the havoc among the enlisted men at

this point. Although the regiment had been under

fire and losing continually from the middle of the

forenoon until it was now almost sunset, yet the losses

during ten minutes in this last field were probably

equal to those of all the rest of the day. It was

doubtless the spot referred to by the rebel historian

Pollard when he says, ' Early's artillery was fought

to the muzzle of the guns.' Mackenzie gave the

order to move by the left flank, and a start was made;

but there was no enduring such a fire, and the men
ran back and lay down. Another attempt was soon

made, and after passing a large oak-tree a sheltered

position was secured. The next move was directly

into the enemy's breastwork. They had just been

driven from it by a cavalry charge from the right and

were in full retreat through the streets of Winchester,

and some of their abandoned artillery, which had

done us so much damage, stood yet in position, hiss-

ing hot with action, with their miserable, rac-a-bone

horses attached. The brigade, numbering less than

half the muskets it had in the morning, was now got

into shape, and, after marching to a field in the east-

ern edge of the city, bivouacked for the night, while

the pursuit rolled miles away up the valley pike.

"Koll-call revealed the fact that the regiment had

lost one hundred and thirty-six in killed and wounded,

fourteen of whom were officers. Company A, out of

its entire list of officers and non-commissioned officers,

had left only First Sergt. Henry Williams, who had

command of the company during nearly the whole

of the fight, and two corporals. Company H had

three noble officers killed, including Capt. Frederick

M. Berry, of whom Col. Kellogg once said that he

was the most perfect officer, gentleman, and man, all

things considered, in the regiment. Companies A,

B, and E suffered heavily ; C and G still more ; and D,

F, and I most of all.

" But, unlike Cold Harbor or Petersburg, there was

victory to show for this fearful outlay. And it was

the first cup of palpable, unquestionable, unmistak-

able victory that the Second Connecticut, with all its

marching and fighting, had ever tasted.

" Nobly did the valiant regiment sustain itself in

this sanguinary conflict, and, summing up his opera-

tions in the Valley, Sheridan said,

—

"'At Winchester, for a moment, tlie contest was uncertain, but tlie

gallant attack of Gen. Upton's l>rigade, of the Sixth Corps, restored tlie

line of battle, until the turning column of Crook, and Merritt's and

Averill's divisions of cavalry, tinUer Torbert, "sent the enemy whirling

through Winchester."

'

" It would seem, from Sheridan's report, that the

brunt of the fighting at Fisher's Hill did not fall on

Wheaton's division. Nevertheless, the Second Con-

necticut had five killed and nineteen wounded, while

the entire loss of the Sixth Corps was only two hun-

dred and thirty-seven. So that the loss in our regi-

ment was fully eight per cent, of that of the entire

corps, although the regiment probably did not con-

stitute more than four per cent, of the corps,—perhaps

less. Among the killed was Quartermaster-Sergt.

David B. Wooster, of Company D, one of the best

men that ever entered the service. The Nineteenth

Corps lost sixty, and Crook probably less; so that the

victory at Fisher's Hill was very easily and cheaply

bought, in comparison with the price paid for some

other victories.
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" The regiment moved from bivouac near Win-

cliester before daylight on the 20th, and by the mid-

dle of the afternoon encamped just south of Cedar

Creek, remaining until the afternoon of the next day,

when it moved off to the right of the pike, taking a

circuitous route through wooded ravines and over

wooded hills, and at length came out upon open

fields about a mile and a half west or southwest of

Strasburg. This was on tlie evening of the 21st.

Here lines of battle were formed, and a stay was

made of about two hours, after which the march was

continued by the right flank, up a steep and winding

hillside, until midnight, when the regiment halted

under arms until daylight on the very top of a hill

fully as high as Fisher's Hill, and separated from it

by Tumbling River. The enemy's stronghold was on

the top of the opposite hill, directly across the

stream. In the morning breastworks were com-

menced, part of the men building while the rest re-

mained in line of battle. Lively skirmishing was

going on all day, and once or twice things were

hastily put in readiness to meet an anticipated

charge, which, however, did not come. About three

o'clock in the afternoon orders were given to pitch

tents, but while the men were at it a general advance

was ordered. The regiment had but just commenced

to move directly forward when the rebels (who knew

every inch of the ground, and could tell where our

lines oiKjht to be, whether visible or not) began to

drop shells into their new breastworks and upon the

very spot where they had begun to pitch tents. The

regiment moved down the steep liill, waded the

stream, and moved up the rocky front of the rebel Gib-

raltar. How they ever got up tiicrc is a mystery, for

the ascent of that rocky declivity would now seem an

impossibility to an unburdened traveler, even though

there were no deadly enemy at the top. But up they

went, clinging to rocks and bushes. The main rebel

breastwork, wiiich they were so confident of holding,

was about fifteen rods back from the top of the blutf,

with brush piled in front of it. Just as the top was

reached the Eighth Corjw struck tlic enemy on the

right, and their flight was very disordered and pre-

cipitate. The Second Connecticut wius the first regi-

ment that reached and i)lanted colors on the works

from the direct front.* After firing until tlic rebels

were so far ott"that it was a waste of powder, the pur-

suit was resumed and kept up all night, although

but little progress was made on account of the block-

ade of the road both by tiie pursuing army and the

property abandoned by the enemy. Although the

regiment experienced considerable marching, nothing

of especial importance occurred until October 10th,

when the Sixth Corps left Strasburg and moved to

Front Royal, on its way to Alexandria,—whence it

* Tho men wore so bowlldorml by th« dmlly antl Dlgbtly nmixblnc nod

flgbtlng tbat Mtnio of tlioiii Imt tbrlr rcrkonliiK, anil tbor« hfts «v»r

sliico bi'oii a dlHpulo whittlit^r ttiv Finhor'* HIM afTnir cliaio off on the

2lBt or 22d. It wiu on tho 22d, ftt about live o'clock In the aftvrnooD,

was to embark for Petersburg. It was believed that

the punishment inflicted on the rebels at Winches-

ter, Fisher's Hill, and all through the valley would

incline them to give up the project of carrying

the war across the Potomac. This was evidently the

opinion of Grant, Sheridan, and the authorities at

Washington ; and thus it happened that we were on

the way back to City Point, leaving the valley in the

care of the Eighth and Nineteenth Corps and the

cavalry. After resting near Front Royal until the

morning of the 13th, the corps started to cross the

Blue Ridge ; but, instead of going through Manassas

Gap, as was at first intended, the route was changed

for the one via Ashby's Gap, a few miles farther

north, and we moved in that direction. We had

passed through White Post and Millwood, and the

advance had almost entered the gap, when there was

a sudden ' right about,' and the whole corps moved

back and encamped at Millwood. 'What's up now?'

was the universal question. And when the answer was

given that Early, strongly reinforced, had followed us

up again, and was in his Gibraltar at Fisher's Hill,

and his outjwsts challenging another 'set-to,' the

next universal and wondering question was, ' Hasn't

old Jewball had drubbing enough yet'?'

" He doubtless had. But Mr. Davis' government

was in a fearful strait, and the suddenness and vigor

of Early's return to the ' scratch' proved that even

before the roar of battle at Fisher's Hill had died

away it had been decreed that one more desperate

attempt should be made to defeat Sheridan in the

Shenandoah valley.

"The corps moved westward early in the morning.t

struck the valley pike at Newtown, rejoined the

Eighth and Nineteenth Corps at Middletown, and

the whole army encamped between Middlotow n and

Strasburg, along the northern bank of a tributary of

the Shenandoah called ' Cedar Creek.' The Eighth

Corps was on the left, the Nineteenth in the centre,

and ours on the right, and somewhat in tho rear. For

the next few days there was much quiet, and a good

deal of speculation among the troops as to what would

be tho next shift in the scenes. The enemy was close

in front, just as he had been for weeks preceding the

battle of Winchester; but this attitude, which might

once have been called defiance, now seemed to be

mere impudence, anil it was the general opinion

that Early did not wish nor intend to fight again, but

that ho was to bo kept there, with a small force, ns a

standing threat, in order to prevent Sheridan's army

from returning to tirant. And yet there wa.s some-

thing mysterious in his conduct. He was known to

be reociving reiiilVircoment.s, and his signal-llags on

Thrcetop MountJiin (Just south of Fisher's Hill | were

continually in motion. From the top of Massiinutton

Mountain—the peak at the north end of the range

that separates the Luray from the main valley—his

t Oct. 14, IVU.
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videttcs could look down upon the whole Union

army, as one can look down upon New Haven from

East Rock; and there is no doubt that the exact

location of every camp and the position of every gun

and every picket-post were thoroughly known to him.

Nevertheless, it seemed the most improbable thing in

the world that he could be meditating either an open

attack or a surprise. One would liave supposed that

the more he saw of our camp, the less inclined he

would have been to disturb it. The position was

strong, the creek and its crossings in possession of our

pickets, both along the front and well out on either

flank.

"Mr. Greeley, in his 'American Conflict,' thus de-

scribes the surprise

:

"' Our forces were enermiped on three creeta or riilgea : the Army of

West Virginia (CrooU'aUn front; tlie Nineteenth CorpB (Emory's) half

a niilo behind it; the Sixth Cori« (Wright's) to the right nnd rear of

the Nineteenth. Kitehing's provisional division lay behind Crook's

left ; the cavalry, under Torbert, on the right of the Sixth. It is a fact,

though no excuse, tiiat they had no more apprehension of an attack from

Early tlian from Canada.

"'Early had arranged his army in two columns, in order to strike

ours at once on both flanks. He had of course to leave the turnpike

and move over rugged paths aUmg the nionntain-sido, climbing up and

down steep liills, holding on by bushes, where horses could hardly keep

their feet, and twice fording the north fork of the Shenandoah,—the

second time in the very face of our pickets. For miles his riglit column

skirted the left of Crook's position, where an alarm would have exposed

him to utter destruction. .So imperative was the requirement of silence

that his men had been made to leave their canteens in camp, lest they

should clatter against tlieir muskets. The divisions of Cordon, Kamseur,

and I'egram thus stole by our left, those of Kei-shaw and Wharton

simultaneously flanking our riglit.

"'At two A.M. the pickets of the Fifth New York Heavy Artillery

(Kitching's division) heard a rustling of underbrush and a sound as of

stealthy, multitudinous trampling, and two |>ost8 were relieved and

sent into camp with the re|X)rt. Gen. Crook thereupon ordered that a

good lookout be kept, but sent out no reconnoitring party; even the

gaps in his front line caused by detailing regiments for picket-duty were

not filled ; and, when the crash came, the muskets of many of our men

were not loaded. There was some suspicion and uneasiness in Crook's

command, but no serious preparation.

"*An hour before dawn the rebels had all reached, without obstruc-

tion or mishap, the positions severally assigned them, and stood shiver-

ing in the chill mist, awaiting the order to attack. No sound of alarm,

no hum of preparation, disquieted them. At length, as the gray light

of dawn disclosed the eastern hilltops, a tremendous volley of musketry,

on either flank and away to the rear, startled the sleepers into bewil-

dered consciousness; and the next moment, with their well known bat-

tle-yell, the cliargiug lines came on.

"'"Tell the brigade commanders to move their men into the trenches,"

said Gen. Grover, calmly ; and the order wiis given ; but it was already

too late. The rebels, disdaining to notice the picket-fire, were them-

selves in the trenches on Ixith flanks before our soldiers could occupy

them in effective force. On our side, all was amazement and confusion;

on theii-s, thorough wakefulness and perfect comprehension. In fifteen

minutes the Army of West Virginia was a flying mob; one battalion of

its picket-lino had lost one hundred killed and wounded and seven hun-

dred prisoners. The enemy, knowing every foot of ground iia familiarly

as their own door-yards, never stopped to reconnoiter or consider, but

rushed on with incredible celerity.'

" The Second Connecticut had its full share of

the varied fortunes of that wondrous day. The
exact number present for duty on that morning

cannot be given,—for there was no time for roll-

calls,—but the morning report of a day or two pre-

vious showed

Officers.
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Left! Face! File Left! March! Double Quick!

March ." The brigade moved briskly off towards the

east, crossing the track of other troops and batteries

of artillery which were hurriedly swinging into posi-

tion, while ambulances, orderlies, staff-officers, camp-

followers, pack-horses, cavalrymen, sutlers' wagons,

hospital-wagons, and six-mule teams of every de-

scription came trundling and galloping pell-mell to-

wards the right and rear, and making off towards Win-

chester. It was not a hundred rods from our own

camp to the place where we went into position, on a

road running north. Gen. Wright, the temporary

commander of the army, bareheaded, and with blood

trickling from his beard, sat on his horse near by, as

if bewildered, or in a brown study. The 8ixty-fifth

New York was on our left, and then came the Second

Division. The First Brigade* (Penrose's) was on the

right of ours, and then came the Third Division.

The ground was cleared in front of the road, and

sloped off some thirty rods to a stream, on the oj)po-

site of which it rose for about an equal distance, to a

piece of woods, in which the advance rebel line had

already taken position. Truly does Pollard say that

'a heavy fog favored them.' The newly-risen sun,

huge and bloody, was on their side in more senses than

one. Our line faced directly to the east, and wo could

see nothing but that enormous disk rising out of the

fog, while they could see every man in our line, and

could take good aim. The battalion lay down, and

part of the men began to fire, but the .shape of the

ground afforded little jirotection, and largo numbers

were killed and wounded. Four-fifths of our loss for

the entire day occurred during the time we lay here,

which could not have been over five minutes, by the

end of which time the Second Connecticut found itself

in an isolated position, not unlike that at Cold Harbor.

'Go and ask Penrose where he's going witli that liri-

gade,' said Col. Mackenzie to the writer hereof. (Tiie

Jerseys had withdrawn from our riglit, and were mov-

ing directly across our rear to tiic left, with Penrose

on foot, some distance ahead of his line.) 'Col. Pen-

rose, Mackenzie wants to know where you are going

with that brigade.' ' I'm not going anywhere. I'm

wounded,' was the energetic reply, wliich wa-s carried

to Col. Mackenzie. Just then Lieut. Cleveland rode

up on a keen jump and said, ' Col. Mackenzie, (Jon.

Wheaton wants you to move directly to the rear by

right of companies.' Mackenzie replied, ' My God !

I cannot! This line will break if I (h..' ' Well," said

Cleveland, pointing to the left, 'there goes the Sixty-

fifth, and the First Brigade is gone.' A few scconils

later, Mackenzie's horse, ' Old Pop,' was struck sijuare

in the head, and after spinning around two or three

times on his hind-legs went down dead as u stone

;

and the colonel, who had previously got a shot through

the heel, went off over his head. The fog had now

thinned away somewhat, and a firm rebel line, with

* Alio o*)l«d th« Jetiajr Brigiida.

colors full high advanced, came rolling over a knoll

just in front of our left, not more than three hundred

yards distant. ' Rise up ! Retreat !' said Mackenzie

;

and the battalion began to move back. For a little

distance the retreat was made in very good order, but

it soon degenerated into a rout. Men from a score of

regiments were mixed up in flight, and the whole

corps was scattered over acres and acres, with no more

organization than a herd of buffaloes. Some of the

wounded were carried for a distance by their comrades,

who were at length compelled to leave them to their

fate in order to escape being shot.

" About a mile from the place where the retreat

commenced there was a road running directly across

the valley. Here the troops were rallied, and a slight

defense of rails thrown up. The regimental and bri-

gade flags were set up as beacons to direct each man

how to steer through the mob, and in a very few min-

! utes there was an effective line of battle established.

1 A few round shot ricocheted overhead, making about

! an eighth of a mile at a jump, and a few grape were

i dropped into a ditch just behind our line, quickly

clearing out some soldiers who had crawled in there,

but this was the extent of the pursuit. Mackenzie

and Hamblin now left for the hospital to have their

wounds dressed, and the whole brigade (and a very

small brigade it wa-s!) was deployed as skirmishers

under Col. Olcott, of the One Hundred and Twenty-

first NewYork. Three lines ofskirmishers were formed,

and each in turn constituted the front line, while the

other two passed through and halted; and so the re-

treat was continued for about three miles, until a halt

was made upon high ground, from which we could

])lainly see the Johnnies sauntering around on the

very ground where we had slept.

" It must have been after noon when we left that

position, and moved eastward through the wood, by

Sheridan's order, to join the Second Division and meet

the enemy.
" About two o'clock we were posted, in two lines, in

the southwestern edge of a piece of woods, in front of

which was an open, side-hill field, at the top of which,

along a stone wall, was the rebel skirmish-line, while

the main line w:is not a great distance back of it.

Their assault had already been m.iilc, and repulsed by

the Nineteenth Corps. .Vbout three o'clock we could

hear the cheering to the right as Sheridan rode along

the line, but that personage did not get within sight

of our regiment. By this time Hamblin and Macken-

zie had returned to Hike part in the ' left half-wheel'

which had been onlered. The lines moved for^vard

over the ascending ground, under a galling but not

very destructive fire from the rebel skirmishers, who

soon gave up the stone wall to us and retreated on

their main line. A square musketry fight wius kept

up here for ten minutes, when the enemy left, not,

however, before inflicting considerable damage on us.

Here Col. Mackenzie was again struck by a solid shot

or shell which just grazed his shoulder. A reniarka-
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bly large number of our officers were wounded at this

point, but none fatally, nor even verij severely. (In

the morning the casualties among officers had been

few and severe, Hosford being killed, and Fenn and

Gregory losing each an arm.)
" The enemy attempted to rally behind another

fence, a little farther back, but after a moment or two

gave it up and ' retired.' Not only in front of our

regiment, but all along as far as the eye could reach,

both to the right and left, were they flying over the

uneven country in precisely the same kind of disor-

der that we had exhibited in the morning. The

shouts and screams of victory mingled with the roar

of the firing, and never was heard

" 'So musical ft discord, sncli sweet thunder,'

The sight of so many rebel heels made it a very easy

thing to be brave, and the Union troops pressed on

utterly regardless of the grape and canister which, to

the last moment, the enemy flung behind hira. It

would not have been well for them to have fired loo

much if they had had ever so good a chance, for they

would have been no more likely to hit our men than

their own who were our prisoners and scattered in

squads of twenty, squads often, and squads oi one all

over the vast field. At one time they made a deter-

mined stand along a ridge in front of our brig.ade. A
breastwork of rails was thrown together, colors planted,

a nucleus made, and both flanks grew longer and longer

with wonderful rapidity. It was evident that they

were driving back their men to this line without re-

gard to regiment or organization of any kind. This

could be plainly seen from the adjacent and similar

ridge over which we were moving, the pursuers being

in quite as much disorder (so far as organizations were

concerned) as the pursued. That growing line began

to look ugly, and somewhat quenched the ardor of the

chase. It began to be a question in many minds

whether it would not be a point of wisdom to 'survey

the vantage of the ground' before getting much farther.

But just as we descended into the intervening hollow

a body of cavalry, not large, but compact, was seen

scouring along the fields to our right and front like a

whirlwind, directhj towards the left flank of that for-

midable line on the hill. When we reached the top

there was no enemy there ! They had moved on, and

the cavalry after them. Thus the chase was contin-

ued, from position to position, for miles and miles, for

houi-s and hours, until darkness closed in, and every

regiment went into camp on the identical ground it

had left in such haste in the morning. Every man
tied his shelter tent to the very same old stakes, and

in half an hour coffee was boiling and salt pork sjjut-

tering over thousands of camp-fires. Civil life may
furnish better fare than the army at Cedar Creek had

that night, but not better appetites ; for it must be

borne in mind that many had gone into the fight di-

rectly from their beds, and had eaten nothing for

twenty-four hours.

" Late in the evening, after many were sound asleep,

the regiment was ordered to be formed in line with-

out arms. When the command to ' fall in' was heard

the general question was, ' Well, old Jubal hasn't for-

gotten anything and come back after it, has he ?' The
clause, ' without arms,' however, showed that he had

not, although the soldiers expressed their perfect wil-

lingness to fight him in that way if he found himself

still unable to restrain his pugnacity. The line being

formed, Capt. Jones—now in command of the regi-

ment—said, 'Soldiers, I have just received a dis-

patch from Gen. Sheridan's headquarters which an-

nounces that we have this day taken not less than

two thousand prisoners, forty-seven guns and caissons,

a large number of battle-flags, all the wagons and

supplies taken from us this morning, besides horses,

mules, wagon-trains, and material of all kinds in un-

known quantities, and that our victory is complete.

I now propose three cheers for Sheridan, ourselves,

our army, and the Union !' They were given with

indescribable heartiness, while all the camps far and

near joined in full chorus. The battalion was dis-

missed, and thus ended the day that had witnessed

a battle which was, in many respects, without a par-

allel in ancient or modern history.

"The killed, wounded, and missing of the Sixth

Corps were two thousand two hundred and fifteen,

of which the Second Connecticut had its full share.

Men from every company started out the first thing

after reaching camp to look for our dead and wounded,

many of whom lay not fifty rods off". The slightly

wounded who had not got away had been taken jsris-

oners and sent at once towards Richmond, while the

severely wounded had lain all day on the ground near

where they were hit. Some of the mortally wounded

were just able to greet their returning comrades, hear

the news of victory, and send a last message to their

friends before expiring. Corp. Charles M. Burr, of

Company E, went into the fight with Company B (his

own company being on picket), and was shot above

the ankle just after the battalion had risen up and

started to retreat. Both bones of his leg were shat-

tered, and he had to be left. In a few minutes the

rebel battalion, which I have already mentioned, came

directly over him in pursuit, and was soon out of his

sight. Then, being alone for a short time, he pulled

off' the boot from his sound leg, put his watch and money

into it, and put it on again. Next a merciful rebel

lieutenant came and tied a handkerchief around his

leg, stanching the blood.

" Capt. Benjamin Hosford was shot in the morning

through the head and instantly killed. His brother

and other men of Company D carried the body about

half a mile on the retreat, and were compelled to

leave it there. At night it was found that the rebels

had taken a ring from his finger, the straps from his

coat, and the shoes from his feet. Corp. Henry L.

Vaill, of Company C, was found alive stripped of

everything, and so were many othei's.
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" Company D mustered only nineteen muskets,

and its commanding officer was Sergt. Hough. Tlie

other companies were reduced to nearly the same

extent. The loss in officers was so great that for a

few days there were but six officers on duty with

twelve companies ; while little short soldiers who had

always been at the left end of the companies suddenly

found themselves corporals and sergeants. We re-

mained at Cedar Creek until the 9th of November,

when, on account of the scarcity of wood, and the

long distance from our base at Harper's Ferry, the

army was moved to Camp Russell, near Kearnstown,

about four miles south of Winchester, where it re-

mained until the 2d of December. The morning re-

port for November 20th showed three hundred and

seventy-nine men and seventeen officers present for

duty, and the regiment was recruited daily both in

numbers and condition.

..^ *'Now that the rebels bad been thrice defeated in

the valley, there remained no temptation for another

invasion of the Northern States. It was absolutely

certain that it would not be again attempted ; and

therefore the Sixth Corps was ordered to City Point

again. On the 1st of December, Wheaton's Division

marched to Stephenson's Depot and took the cars for

Washington, en route to City Point. The regiment

went into camp at Parke Station.

** From this time until the Otli of Februarj* the

regiment had no fighting to do, and no very startling

experiences of any kind. Some mention, however, of

the more noteworthy occurrences of this period will

be acceptable, at least to my soldier readers ; and it

will perhaps be well to transcribe them direct from

some of the diaries in my pos.scssion. The following

entries are copied, mostly witiiout alteration, from

the diaries of several officers and men, besides my
own

:

" Dec. II. Tweiity-tiino convalescents returned.

"Dec. 12. Kifty conviiK-accnU retiirneti.

" Dec. 13. Cajit. A. H. Feun rotiirne<t and loportod for duty, although

it is not seven weeks since he lust his iirm at Odnr Crook. What hts

heconie uf the iiiljntnnt'e dettk ? It woii turned over tn tlio r)tiarterniaater

at Camp KuiiHcll, Imt liues nut conio.

" Dec. 14. Gnud ileal of anxiety in camp alHiiit Sherman's march ooftst-

nard. A Richmond minister told hb congregation last Sunday that

God tind a hook tu Shennao*s nose, aud wu loading hfm to dntnicUoo.

Kout verroiu I

"Dec. \ti. Wo now linvc to furnish four ufflrem and one hundred and

twenty-flvo men dally for |iickct. They are |ioslod out hy Ihe rohel lead

mines. They froqnnntly see the Johnnies atnl talk with them.
" Doc. 10. Heavy cannonading, Ser^t. Soulu and fl<|Ufid of carpenters

detailed fur duty at divisiun heo'liiuartora. They will flx things up gor-

geous. This is the regiment they tuivo to apply to when they want

tilings done nice.

" Dec. 18. One hundred guns from Fort Sedgwick In honor of Thomas*

victory over Hood. Tliey ninnt enjuy the salnlo In IVterslmrg.

"Dec. 21. Rain played lullahy on the tent nil last night. Quarters

Mell ventilnteii this murnhiK. l>ecau»o rain wnshivl mud otT logs. Put it

on again. I*h>nty of water to mix mortar with. Kolley, McKiuuey,

Tuttlo, Twiss, and Jo Fenn mnntorrd as first lieutenants hy Capt. Tyler,

conimlsMiry of mnstora.

" D* •'. -Z3. Went clear up to IIaucock*i StatloDi via corduroy, tu have

a brigatio drill under Mackenzie.
*' Dec. 2fl. Sherman presents Lincoln with a \-mas gift of Savannah,

one hundred and fifty guus, and tweuty-llve Ihouaand hale* cotton.

Much rejoicing thereat. Story afloat that Lee is going to do something

surprising on New Year's day.

"Dec. 21. Muster day. Very busy with the pesky rolls. Capt.

Marsh's rolls firet in, of course.

"ISGo.

"Jan. 1. Gad Smith and John Wlieeler returned.

"Jan. 2. Wheeler mustered as first lieutenant, and goes on brigade

Btaflf as A. A. A. G., vice Ed Hubbard, who is discharged and goes home.

"Jan. 3. Eight companies on fatigue duty. News received of Butler's

fizzle at Wilmington.

"Jan. 4. Three inches snow. Good many men sit by their fires all

night because too culd to sleep.

" Jan. 5. Muddy. New Springfields came to take the place of En-

fields. Farewell, uld Enfields! Every one of you could tell thrilling

tales if you could speak. And you can speak !

"Jan. 6. All our division moved down corduroy, a mile to left, and

formed square to witness execution of Peter McCox, deserter from Com-

pany A, Fourth New Jereey, First Brigade, First Division, Sixth Corps.

Stood ' in place rest' an hour, waiting. Prisoner unable to walk, brought

clear round the square in ambulance, preceded by band playing Dead

March in Saul. Coffin placed on the ground in front of open grave.

PiTsoner seated on foot of coffin. Proceedings, findings, and sentence

of court-martial read in front of each regimeut. Prisoner blindfolded,

aud firing party of twelve men drawn up in front, in single rank, about

twenty paces off. Captain of provost-guard gave the order 'Fire!'

Good many men turned away their lieads. Prisoner fell Imck and off ou

the ground, leaving uue leg on the coffin. Division then w*heeleil into

column by companies, marched by the coffin, and then home.

"Jan. 7. Inspection. Mackenzie appeared in stars. Cleanest man
in eacli regiment to go to division headquarters to compete for a twenty

days' furlough. One man from cacli of B, D, K, E. and M Cumpaniee

sent to brigade headquarters. Sam Terrell, the lucky man out of the

whole division.

"Jan. 0. Rebels made charge on Third Division picket-line, a little

to our left. Promptly met and defeated. Caused no disturbance In

camp,

"Jan. 10. Snowdy returned. Our doily picket detail is now five uffl-

cors and one hundred and five tneu. Pretty rough. Makes a man's turn

Come pretty often.

" Jan. 1 1. Got eighteen potatoes from brigade commissary. Moj. Jef-

frey Skinner appointed tu conrmaud the Sixty-fifth New York while

Col. Fisk is absent on leave.

"Jan. 12. Nuisy picket firing. Curtis made regimental onlnancc

ofhcor. Capt. Cleveland ordnanro officer on Wheaton's staff.

" Jau. 14. Picket tiring in our front.

"Jan. 15. Cuiumenced to have hrigailo giianl-mounting. Gen. Mac*

kenzie rutio over to insiMH:tion on his nankiMjn, in that new gawky hat,

and Inspected the regiment nt a support. Niram Buttolph, of Company

G, sent to division headquartere, aud got the division furlough. Qen.

W'healon said he was the handsomest eoldlor he ever saw. Cleveland

ami Fonn ore minora.

"Jan. 10. Il«M:eive4l four hundriMl and eighly-nlno sets of 'Mann's

Patent Accoutrrments.' Hoys duu't like 'em. Call 'em * Iwlly trunks.'

Company F Is at Fort 31c>lahun.

"Jan. 17. Salute of ono hundrni guns for Terry's capture of Fort

Fisher and twelve hundred pr1s<mcrs. Ckpt. Woodman made A. A. A. O.,

and Johnny Wh«>eIor A. A. D. C.

"Jan. IH. Lieut. t>Mar Piatt dischargM. Ab. Dunham and Mr.

Dewell arrived. Their goo<ls are at City Point, awaiting tmns|iortaUou.

Thirty-eight conraleitconts and suUtltules arrived in evening.

"Jan. 20. Mackcnxlo on fifteen days' leave. Lleul.-Col. Olcolt, One

Hundred and Twenly-liist Now York, commands brigade. Lleut.-Ool.

Skinner ruturneil to regiment.

"Jan. 22. In the oveniug went with Capt. Marah and chaplain to

Mi^. Jone^' quarters to hour a large dlocusoion on (ho resurrection.

Later, wont over to Capt. Blareh's and talked of war, love, and the kin*

dred deetructlvu arts.*

"Jan. 2^1. I^argo lot of dnn'rtors came In on the left. They c«>me

thicker since the fall of Kort Fisher, CliarleMton, and Savannah. Won*

der what Is going on at the right * Furious canitonadlug. heaviest we ever

heard; fairly shook the rarth.

"Jan. 24. It was the l«ttlu of the mi>nltor«. Rel»rls tried tu take

City Point. Wo should hare l>e«n In a pretty fix If they had succeeded 1

Inepoctlon, Qrannb (of D Company) eent to brigade head<iuar1aii as

• Cortli* dtaiy. (Of eoara*.)
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cleanest man, liut Olcott villainously tlirew him out, and sent a One

Hundred and Twent,v-fir3t man to division Ueadiinartei-s.

"Jan. 2G. Hubbard mustered a^ colouel, and relieves Olcott in com-

mand of brigade. Skinner mustered as lieutenant-colonel, and commands
regiment.

"Jan. 29. Inspection. Zelotes Grannis got it this time. Iselton, of

H, Dugette, of L, Atwood, of A, and a B man also received furloughs.

"Feb. 1. Orders received at three a.m. to be ready to move at a mo-

ment's notice. Ed Sedgwick mustered as second lietitenaut of Company

C. Somebody checkmated.

"Feb. 2. James W. Dixon, son of Senator Dixon, has been kindly

given to the regiment, and mustered into a vacant lieutenancy, to serve

on the staff of Gen. Wright. Gen. Wright mu«t liave a poor opinion of

his corps if he cannot by this time find timlier jn it good enough to

make aides-de-camp of without going to Connecticut. There are plenty

of men in this regiment yet uncommissioned, and yet unkillcd, as re-

spectable, as able, and protxihli/ as brave, as can be found anywhere, and

they deem it ratlier shabby treatment, after thoy have marched through

fire and blood for montlis, after many of them have been perforated with

rebel bullets, and are now on duty with scarcely healed wounds, for

Gen. Wright to fill a vacancy in tlie Second Connecticut by the 'dona-

tion' (that is what they call it) of a boy who ha.s remained with his

mother all through the war, until the fighting is all over, and the whole

world knows that the Rebellion is in the article of death. But then, you

know, his father has beeu of enormous service to the coutUry. SoMiers

must take what they can get. They must put their heels together, keep

their eyes to the front, and ask no questions. If I ever get home with

a whole cuticle, I will be grateful evermore.

" Feb. 4. Biisk firing on right. Officers' recitation at brigade head-

quarters two evenings per week.

"On the morning of February 5th we had orders

to be in readiness to move with four days' rations,

leaving our pickets out, and leaving the minimum
force necessary to hold the lines. Companies A, K,

and portions of H and E were detailed to remain

(which was not an unpleasant 'detail'). The Fifth

Corps was fighting on the left, in the vicinity of

Hatcher's Run, and it was guessed (and truly) that

we were to go in that direction. After remaining in

readiness until four o'clock in the afternoon, the First

Division moved off to the left, and after going about

five miles bivouacked for the night. It was bitter

cold sleeping that night,—so cold that half of the

men stood or sat around fires all night. In the morn-

ing the movement was continued, and the day* was

mostly consumed in manreuvring. We were there

for the purpose of protecting the left flank of the

Fifth Corps, which had been fighting all day. A
little before sundown we crossed Hatcher's Run, and

moved by the flank directly into a piece of woods, the

Second Brigade, under Hubbard, leading the division,

and the Second Connecticut, under Skinner, leading

the brigade. Wounded men were being brought by

to the rear, and the noise just ahead told of mischief

there. As the brigade was moving into the woods,

staff'-ofticers came riding along the column with the

order, ' Load your pieces, load your pieces without

halting.' Col. Hubbard filed to the left at the head

of the column, along a slight ridge, and about half

the regiment had filed, when troops of the Fifth

Corps came running through to the rear, and at the

same moment Gen. Wlieaton rode up with, ' Oblique

to the left, oblique to the left!' and making energetic

gestures towards the rise of ground. The ridge was

« February 6th.

quickly gained, and fire opened just in time to head

off' a counter-fire and charge that was already in

progress; but between the 'file left' and the 'left

oblique,' and the breaking of our ranks by troops re-

treating from in front, and the vines and underbrush

(which were so thick that they unhorsed some of the

staff-officers), there was a good deal of confusion, and

the line soon fell back about ten rods, where it was

re-formed, and a vigorous fire poured—somewhat at

random—a little to the left of our first position. The
attempt of the enemy to get in on the left of the

Fifth Corps was frustrated. Our casualties were six

wounded (some of them probably by our own men)

and one missing. The position was occupied that

night and the next day, until aboutsundown, when the

brigade shifted some distance to the right and again

advanced, under an artillery fire, to within a short

distance of the rebel batteries and built breastworks.

One shot on this occasion was particularly memorable.

The regiment was moving across a cleared field, by

the flank, when a solid shot came through the woods

from directly in front, and passed the column ap-

parently so near as to singe the left ears of the whole

line. If it had come ten feet farther towards the

right it might have ' flanked' the entire regiment and

cut a swath from one end to the other. The rebel

picket-shots whistled overhead all the time the breast-

works were building, but mostly too high to hurt any-

thing but the trees. At midnight the division moved

back to quarters, arriving at sunrise. Again we found

our domiciles appropriated, this time by a regiment of

engineers,—but out they went, and in went we ; and,

having taken a ration of whisky,—which had been

ordered by Grant or somebody else, in consideration

of three nights and two days on the bare ground in

February, together with some fighting and a good

deal of hard marching and hard work,—the men lay

down to sleep as the sun rose up, and did not rise up

until the sun went down.
" It was now the 24th of March. The weather was

fast improving, and signs of coming great events mul-

tiplied. No positive orders of a very important nature

had been received ; but the discontinuing of furloughs

plainly meant something in the aggressive line, while

the condition of things on the other side, as revealed

by the tattered and cadaverous deserters who now
came over to us not only in the night but also in

broad daylight, made it evident that Lee must do

something of dreadful note or else give over the

contest.

" What would be the particular manner of his coup

was a question much discussed, but not settled until

the coup occurred. Very early on the morning of

March 25th, after a noisy night all along the picket-

line, heavy firing was heard on the right, but there

was nothing uncommon about that, and little notice

was taken of it until orders came from brigade head-

quarters to 'move out instantly.' Shortly after. Gen.

Hamblin arrived to expedite matters, and in a few
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minutes the brigade was on the corduroy moving

rapidly to the right, whicli was of itself quite a note-

worthy circumstance, for we usually went to the left

when mischief was brewing. ' Oh, we sha'n't get into

a fight,' said the men ;
' we always have to go the other

way to find onr fighting.' These remarks were of

course made in a partially jocular vein, but they were,

nevertheless, entirely true. Indeed, that very day

proved both parts of the proposition,—viz., first, that

the Second Connecticut never fought to the right,

and, secondly, always did fight to tlie left.

" The firing subsided after we had gone a mile or

so, but there was much moving of troops, and evi-

dently something the matter ahead. The rebel bat-

teries had range on portions of the column, and fired

at us as we were on the corduroy, dropping several

shots only a few feet away. One struck within a rod

of our regiment, splashing into a small puddle of

water and burying itself in the earth directly under a

soldier of the division who was sitting on the ground

and fixing his shoes. He did not stir for a second or

two, but then, picking uji his musket and shoe, he

started on half a dozen double-quicks, and it is to

this day a mooted question with our men whether

that man has stopped running yet. After moving a

little farther, a staff-oflicer rode up with the informa-

tion that the rebels had surprised and cai>turcd Fort

Stedman, on the Ninth Corps front, and a quarter of

a mile of breastworks, including tiiree batteries; but

that they had been retaken, together with eighteen

hundred prisoners, and that therefore our assistance

would not be required.

"After a rest of half an hour the division moved
homeward. But instead of going into camp there

was an ominous halt of a few minutes in rear of our

quarters, and then the march was continued towards

the left, where a brisk artillery fire was going on.

Grant knew that the massing of troops for the assault

at Fort Stedman must iiave left the rebel lines with

little or no protection in some places, and he resolved

at once to find the weak spots. Accordingly, an ad-

vance was ordered in front of Fort Fisher, near the

tall frame lookout, about a mile to the left of Warren's

Station. Our troops were posted under cover during

nearly all the afternoon, while the large guns threw

shot and shell at each other over our heads. At
length a train of ambulances moved up from the

right, and halted just in rear of the division. There
was no mistaking that symptom.
"The sun had already bcguti to grow large and red

with its nearness to the western horizon when the

brigade wiis moved down in front within twctity roils

of the rebel picket-line, and haltcil behind a slight

rise of ground, just high enough to intercept their

fire. After standing there for some ten minutes wait-

ing for orders, Col. Hubbard rode slowly along to the

right think of his line, and said in a low tone t<> the

writer, 'If they don't put us in soon, we sha'n't have

much fighting to-night.' After he hud gone back,

Sergt.-Maj. E. Goodwin Osborne stepped up and

asked what the colonel said, and was informed.
' There is time enough yet,' he replied, in a low but

foreboding tone. The parting sunset ray had not

vanished before his lifeless form was borne on a rub-

ber blanket towards the rear, across the very spot

where he had uttered these prophetic words.
'-' The fire from our batteries suddenly ceased. Gen.

Hamblin rode up to Hubbard, and said, ' Colonel,

move directly forward. Conform your movement to

the Second Division, on your left.' The front line,

consisting of the Second Connecticut and the Sixty-

fifth New York, advanced on the rifle-pits as steadily

as though on a battalion drill, while the rest of the

brigade followed in a second line. There seems to

have been a vacant space in their line of rifle-pits, or

else the Second Division and the greater part of our

brigade must have entirely flanked their pickets on

the left. At any rate, the only part of our regiment

that went over any rifle-])its was the extreme right,

—

perhai)S one or two companies. When we were with-

in fifty feet of them the rebels jumped over in front,

threw down their muskets, threw up their arms, and
yelled, 'Don't shoot, don't shoot!' and then passed

through to the rear in large numbers as fiist as they

could move. The right flank was a little demoralized

by its success in taking these rifle-pits, and by the

fire which came from the pits farther to the right,

which the enemy still held ; nevertheless, the regi-

ment moved on, across a swampy run, then over as-

cending ground, among stumps and scrub-oaks, for

twenty or thirty rods, and there halted and lay down.

This distance was all traversed under a combined

artillery and musket fire, the former coming from a

battery about half a mile to the right and front, which

was very effectively served. It apparently had three

guns in use, and the air was blue with the little cast-

iron balls from spherical case-shot, which shaved the

ground and exjiloded among the stumps ju.st in rear

of the line at intervals of only a few seconds. Prob-

ably the musket fire came entirely from the enemy's

pickets, who still remained on the right. Twenty of

the Second Connecticut were wounded—seven of

them mortally—in reaching, occupying, and aban-

doning this |)osition, which, proving entirely unten-

able, was held only a few minutes. The line faced

about and moved back under the same mixed fire of

.solid shot, spherical case, and musketry, across the

swampy run, and halted not far in front of the spot

whence it had first moved forward. Other troo]>s, on

the right, now engaged the batterr-, and captured the

rest of the picket-line, and after half an hour the l<ri-

gade again moved forward to a position still further

advanced than the previous one, where a pennuneut
picket-line was established. Thus ended the event-

ful 2.')th of March. Its dawn ushered in the surpris-

ing attack on Fort Stc<lnian, an<l its close found mileo

of the rebel picket-lines in our posscuiion, thousands

of prisoners in our hands, and the grip of the Union
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armies upon Petersburg greatly tightened. At mid-

night the brigade returned to camp, leaving a strong

picket. Tlie picket detail from our own regiment,

which had been on duty all day in front of our own

camp, had its share in the work and success of the

day, occupying the rebel rifle-pits that night, and cap-

turing more than their number in prisoners.

'* The Fort Fisher picket was relieved about noon

of the next da}', and returned to camp. All hands

were compelled to come out on inspection and dress

parade that afternoon; and immediately afterwards a i

detail of one hundred and fifty men relieved our

regular pickets in front, who had been out since the

morning before,— i.e., thirty-six hours. At midnight a

working-party was also sent out to move forward our

picket abatis to the new line. At three o'clock on

the morning of the 27th, mounted Orderly Keith

.came with orders to have the regiment fall in at

four and stand by the breastworks. Lively firing

was going on all along, but nothing momentous oc-

curred, and at sunrise the line broke ranks and fell

to cooking coffee.

'*The experience of the regiment for the next six

days cannot be set forth in a more readable manner

than as it stands recorded in the spicy diary of Lieut.

Homer S. Curtis, who became acting adjutant after

the affair at Fort Fisher, although still retained as

ordnance officer.

**MnrcU 27. Brisk bkirtnisli uiul a charge just before light on Second

Division picket-line. Some movement near tlie lookout to-day that

looked like a charge ; but none came off. Picket firing nil day. Our

picket not relieved. Got four thousand E. B. cartridges from division

ordnance officer. Charley Goslcy runs the ailjutanfs department pretty

much. Capt. Woodman (A. A. A. G.) ordered detail of five officers and

two hundred men fur night fatigue. Battalion drill one hour p.ai.

*' March 28. Spring-like, hazy, fair. Fatigue detail came into camp

at three a.m., and the entire force was called nji and got under arms at

four. Some officers not very punctual. Tuttle.Fenn. etc., got rats from

the colonel. We stood till sunrise, and returned to quarters. Very funny,

especially for the boys that have not bad any sleep in three nights.

Plenty of swearing. I went over to brigade guard-mount, and made a

buUof it considerable, Johnny a veiy sliowy sergeant-major, but just a

liit careless or so. Parts of Sheridan's cavalry—Twenty-fourth and

Twenty-fifth Corps—moving by to the left. Good news. Occupation of

Goldbboro' by Sherman, and junction of Terry, Schofield, and Sherman.

Owr loss on the 25th is found to have been five hundred ; rebel loss, six

thousand.

"March 29. Orderly came from brigade headquarters at one a.m. with

ordei's for detail of five officers and two hundred men for reserve picket,

and ordei's fur regiment to be under arms from four o'clock till sum iee.

I got up and made tlie details, and had just lain down when Maj. Fenn

came riding up and ordered the regiment out instanter. So we got out

and stood in line until broad daj light. Capt. Redway, brigade officer of

the day. Very quiet all along the lines through the day. Troops and

trains moving to left all day. Gen. fliackenzie with his cavalry corps,

two thousand strong, went by. Johnny Wheeler called at brigade head-

quarters. We were ordered and re-ordered to pack up and be (dl ready to

move, but stayed the day out in camp finally. Tremendous cannonade

after taps, evening. We hustled out into line double quick, stood an

hour or so, then went in.

" March 30. Got out about five o'clock a.m., and Btood in line about

an hour, in a right smart rain. Post guard-mount. Swept out huttie,

built fire, aud took a doze. The adjutant's tent is a leaky old concern,

and so ciibbed up that one cannot move at all. Col. H. says we are to

make a charge at daylight.

" Blarch 31. Rained all last night, and until ten a.m. Ordora came at

eleven o'clock last night to pack up everything, shelters and all, for a

march. This was accomplished in a few minutes, and we stood ready to

form line some time, when Capt. Goi'don came over to advise us that the

movement was temporarily suspended, and that the men might lie down
to sleep, but uot unpack knapsacks. Gut orders soon after for picket detail

of four officers and one hundred and forty-seven men. Also to form line at

three o'clock A.ai. We got out and stood shivering in the rain until day-

light, when we went in and put up canvas. Heavy firing on left all a.m.

At two P.M. ordeis came to pack upeverything all ready for a move. We
go this time, sure, to see what the racket is down on the left. Moved out

as per order, formed Vine, stacked arms, unslung knapsacks, and went

back to quarters to wait orders to move, and to draw rations. Waited

patiently until retreat, until tattoo, and then got orders to take in guns

and packs, and sleep in clothes, all convenient for getting out quickly.

One thousand rumors around,— all lies, of course, except the one about

the strengthening of the reb lines in our fi'ont. Stones of the Fifth

Corps swinging across the S. S. K. road and occupying it, besides also

thieatening the reb right Hank. Bush I If there were anything in it

we should have official desi'atclies a plenty. Good-night.

. "April 1. Lovely day. Wc got out at tliree o'clock a.m., and got up

all the men. Sent one hundred and fifty out as picket reserve; formed

line with the remaining three companies, but soon a stafl'-officer came

over aud ordered them out to the line. So every man but the guard went

out. Col. Hubbard bad the camp patrolled for bummers, but got only a

lean haul. Companies returned alter sunrise. New picket went out at

nine A.M.,—one hundred and fifty men under Lucas, Andereon, Hojt,

and Griswold. Smart firing in the morning on the left, but it soon died

away, and it remained veiy quiet all the rest of the day. At two p.m. I

rode out to new picket-line, which is one-half mile in advance of the

old one. Found everything lovely,—boj's gay, rebs civil. Saw Itich-

numd Henthtel of this morning,—exchanged by Fenn of 'G' for Herald,

—no news in it. We had a dress parade, and the day altogether has

seemed like one of the old fort days, but it cannot last long, and even as

I write the quartermaster has orders to i)ack up all his stores.

•'Ten o'clock p.m. Colonel has just had all the commandants of compa-

nies up at his (juarters, giving them instructions for the morrow. We
are to move out by tlie k-tt Uauk some time in the night, and form line

near Fort Fisher, by brigades, in two lines. Our biigade is on the light

of the corps, our regiment on the right of the brigade, in the front line.

The whole army is to charge sinmltaueonsly at four o'clock in the morn-

ing, and colonel says we are to take Petersburg. I am very hopeful.

*' The events of the next twenty-four hours justified

the hopefulness of Lieut. Curtis.

" On the 1st of April, Sheridan, with cavalry and

infantry, won a great victory at Five Forks over the

divisions of Pickett and Bushrod Johnson. Mr. Pol-

lard tells us that on thi?t occasion five thousand rebels,

' having got the idea that they were entrapped, threw

down their arms and surrendered themselves as pris-

oners.* Indeed, the rebels all along the Hue seemed

about this time to have 'got the idea' badly; and

Gen. Grant determined to strengthen their hold upon

it by a shotted salute in honor of Sheridan's victory

at Five Forks. It was about eleven o'clock on the

evening of the 1st of April, aud all quiet, when bang!

went a gun frcm Fort Wadsworth. Heavy firing at a

distance of three miles or more will not start soldiers

from their bunks. Every shot may destroy a regiment

or sink a ship : it will not destroy their repose. But

Fort Wadsworth was too near camp,—only fifty paces

offj—and the men were constrained to look out and

see the cannonading of which that shot was the open-

ing gun. Waterloo's opening roar and Hohenlinden's

far flashes were but the work of pop-guns in compari-

son with the artificial earthquakes that shook Peters-

burg and its bristling environs, and the lightnings

which came in such quick succession that the jaws of

darkness were not able to devour them up. Mr. Pol-

lard says of it,

—
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"
' On the night of the let April, Grant celebrated the victory of Five

ForliB, and performed the prehide of what was yet to come by a fierce

and continuous bombardment along his lines in front of Petersbui'g.

Every piece of artillery in the thickly-studded forts, batteries, and mor-

tar-beds joined in the prodigious clamor; reports, savagely, terrifically

crashing through the narrow streets and lanes of Petersburg, echoed up-

wards ; it appeared as if the fiends of air were engaged in a 6uli)hurous

conflict.'

" At about midnight the regiment was called up

and ordered to pack up everything. Knapsacks,

however, were to be left behind ; and, to secure greater

silence, canteens were to be worn on the right side.

Six companies and a half fell in (the rest being on

picket), and proceeded to brigade headquarters, and

thence to the neighborhood of Patrick's Station. All

mounted officers were ordered to leave their horses

inside the earthworks; and the division moved out

in front, a little to the left of the lookout. A heavy

picket-fire was opened, under cover of which the

lines were formed, three or four deep in all except

our brigade, which had only two, although on the

right of the division, and our regiment (of course) in

the front line. The charge was expected to come off

at four o'clock, but day began to dawn before the sig-

nal-gun was fired. Skinner had command of the right

wing of the battalion, Jones of the left wing, Hub-
bard of the whole. The advance was made en echelon

by brigades, with a great rush and yell, although a part

of the First Brigade (the Jerseys) broke and ran in-

gloriously. The advance was over precisely the same

ground as on the 25th of March, and the firing came
from the same battery and breiustworks, although

not quite so heavy. Lieut.-Col. Skinner and seven

enlisted men were wounded,—none of them mortally.

"A shot, which, judging from the hole it made, was

something smaller than a minie-ball, struck Skinner

on the side, under the right arm, went tiirough an

overcoat, wadded blouse, and vest, i)ierced the skin

and traveled seven indies on tiie ribs, then came out

and si)edon, and may have wounded another man, for

aught that is known to the contrary. There was but

little firing on our side, but with bayonets fixed the

boys went in,—not in a very niatliematical right line,

but strongly and surely,—on, on, until tlie first line

wiis carried. Then invigorated and greatly encour-

aged by success, tliey pressed on,—the opposing fire

slackening every moment,—on, on, througli the abati.s

and ditcli, up the steep bank, over the parapet, into

the rebel camp tiiat iiad but just been deserted. Then,

and there, the long-tried and cver-fiilthful soldiers of

the Republic saw D.WLKillT! ami such a shout

as tore the concave of that morning sky it were worth

dying to liear. On the ground where so long the '

rebels hud formed nnrl drilled their battalions our

line was now reformed, and then pusiied on, over the

hills and far away, across a pike anil piust a telegra[)li,

which was i|uickly cut, then on, until at length Col.

Hubbard found himself and his half battalion alone

on the Uoydtown plank road. After cutting oil' and
burning a small wagon-train loaded with medical

stores, we marched back to the rebel camp, where we
found the remainder of our brigade holding the right

of the captured line. The rest of the corps was in

line two miles farther to the left, where it had some

sharp fighting. Our skirmishers took several works

and guns, but for want of support had to relinqiush

them, and the rebels, following up their slight advan-

tage, turned the guns on us, making it very uncom-

fortable for a few minutes,—our flank being quite

uncovered,—when, suddenly, hurrah ! a column of

reinforcements come over the hill by Fort Fisher.

The rebels turn their guns in that direction, but to

no purpose ; for the Twenty-fourth Corps marches

steadily forward, goes into line by regiments, ad-

vances a heavy skirmish-line, and then a superb line

of battle, whereupon the enemy abandon their works

and flee. This advance of the Twenty-fourth Corps

was one of the most magnificent sights our soldiers

ever saw ; it drove the Rebellion before it as the

hurricane drives dead leaves. Our men watched the

charge until the line was a mile to the right, then

moved inside of our own works and rested an hour.

" The corps followed the Second Corps,—all except

our brigade, which was detached and ordered to re-

port to Gen. Parke, commanding the Ninth Corps.

We marched to the right, by the old camp near War-
ren's Station, and up the corduroy to the rear of Fort

Hell, where a rest of an hour was made, in a fiercely

hot sun. Then the brigade advanced through a

covered way, past Fort Hell, and out in front to the

works that had been capture<l early that morning by
Hartranft's division of the Ninth Corps. There the

men lay down in muddy trenches, among the dying

and the dead, under a most murderous fire of sharp-

shooters. There had been charges and counter-

charges, but our troops held all they had gained. At
length the hot day gave place to chilly night, and the

extreme change brought much sud'cring. The men
had flung away whatever was flingawayable during

the charge of the morning and the subsequent hot

march,—as men always will under likecircunistancca,

—and now tliey found themselves blaukotle.'«s, stock-

ingless, overcoatless, in cold and damp trenches, and

compelled by the steady firing to lie still or adopt

a horizontal, crawling mode of locomotion which did

not admit of speed enough to quicken the circulation

of the blood. Indeed, it was very cold. Some took

the clothing from the deud and wrai>pcd themselves

in it ; others, who were fortunate enough to procure

spodes, dug gopher holes and burrowed. .\t day-

light, Col. Fiske and the Sixty-fifth New York clam-

bered over the huge earthwork, took possession of

Fort Hell, opcnc<l a picket fire, and fired one of the

guns in the fort, eliciting no reply. Just then a huge

fire in the direction of the city, followed by several

explosions, convinced our side that Lee's army had

indeed left. The regiment was hastily got together,

ninety muskets being all that couM be produced,

and sent out qd picket to relieve the Two Uundre<lth
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PenDsylvania. The picket-line advanced, and, meet-

ing with no resistance, pushed on into the city.

AVhat regiment was the first to enter the city is, and

probably ever will be, a disputed question. The
Second Connecticut claims to have been in first, but

Col. Hubbard had ordered the colors to remain be-

hind when the regiment went out on the sliirmish

line, and consequently the Stars and Stripes that first

floated over captured Petersburg belonged to some

other regiment. Col. Hubbard was, however, made
provost-marshal of the city, and for a brief while

dispensed government and law in that capacity. But

city life was not conducive to good order and mili-

tary discipline, and the brigade shortly moved out

and marched gayly down to the old camp, four miles

away. After remaining there two hours everything

of a portable nature was packed up, a farewell leave

taken of the camj? near Warren's Station, and the

line of march taken up due west. The brigade now
furnished a striking illustration of the difference be-

tween the marching and fighting strength of an army.

It liad come down from Petersburg to camp number-

ing three hundred ; now nearly two thousand men,

all of the Second Brigade, started in pursuit of the

retreating Rebellion.

" And now came the day of the last fight for the

Second Connecticut. It was the 6th of April, 1865.

Reveille sounded at 4.30, and at .5.30 the lines were

formed for an advance upon the enemy, who were in

force immediately in front. The affair is thus de-

scribed by Liout. Curtis

:

" After marching back two miles on the road by

which we came on the previous evening, we halted

for half an hour, and were then ordered back to the

ground from wliich we had just come. We had just

halted there, after a muddy, slippery march, and were

mourning that Lee had outwitted and escaped us,

when, hark ! Firing in advance and to the right.

All right. We'll have him yet. We moved on and

struck the Danville Railroad at Amelia Court-House,

marching alongside of it for two miles, and on it for

a mile more, toward Burkesville. Here we met Johnny

Wheeler, wounded, and Mackenzie and his cavalry.

We struck off' west-northwest from the railroad and

marched steadily forward, hour after hour, toward a

distant cannonade. At four o'clock we began to over-

take the cavalry, who reported everything going on

well. We passed fifteen hundred prisoners just taken

from Messrs. R. E. Lee & Co. The firing grew heavier

and nearer, and at five o'clock we reached the cavalry

battle-field of the morning. Although tired and
' played out,' there was no halt for us, but we moved

forward into position, advancing beyond our batteries,

which were playing a lively tune from a hill close by.

When formed, the line was advanced—sometimes by

brigade front and sometimes by a flank, but always

on, until we crossed Sailor's Creek* and came to a

* A small tributary of tho .\ppoDiattox.

halt under a steep bank, from the crest of which the

rebels poured down a murderous fire. Two lines were

formed, the Second Connecticut Volunteer Artillery

and Sixty-fifth New York in the second line. Every-

thing being ready, " Forward !' sounded along the

wliole line, and away we went up the hill, under a

very hot fire. It was tough work to get over the

crest, but at last we got the Johnnies started, and

made good time after them. The Second Heavies

captured Mahone's headquarters train and many pris-

oners, besides one battle-flag. We were badly broken,

but after running on for some distance were finally

halted and reformed. Col. Hubbard and Maj. Jones

came up in time to present us to Gens. Sheridan,

Wright, Wheaton, and Hamblin, who all rode along

to the front. We also advanced soon after, and found

things in a promising condition. Gen. Ewell and
staff and several thousand other prisoners had been

taken, together with wagon-trains, guns, caissons, and
small-arms without number. One of the prisoners

told us that they had but three guns left. Our loss

in the charge was seven wounded, three of them mor-

tally,—viz., Emory W. Castle and Erastus W. Con-

verse, of D, and Charles Griswold, of F. At ten

o'clock we moved up a mile further to the front, and

bivouacked for the night.

" When the long and firmly treading battalion of

the Nineteenth Connecticut moved from Camp Dutton

to Litchfield Station, on the lotli of September, 1862,

followed by hundreds of relatives and friends, none

but God knew what was to be its history. We have

now found out. The regiment has fought its last bat-

tle, and made up its Roll of Honor."

LEVERTTE WARD WESSELLS.

Leverette Ward Wessells, youngest son of Dr. Ash-

bel and Grace (Ward) Wessells, was born in the town
of Litchfield, Conn., July 28, 1819, where he contin-

ued to reside till he was twenty years of age, receiving

an academical education. In his twentieth year, in

consequence of serious hemorrhages of the lungs, he

went to Florida and remained two years with his

brother, H. W. Wessells (then lieutenant Second U. S.

Infantry), during the progress of the Seminole war.

After his return to Litchfield he entered upon the

study of medicine with Dr. John S. Wolcott, but was

obliged to abandon it at the end of two years on ac-

count of ill health. In 1842 he was appointed deputy

sheriff, performing the duties of that office for nine

years. Upon the death of Reuben M. Woodruff, in

1849, he was appointed postmaster of Litchfield,

Conn., retaining that position during President Fill-

more's administration.

In 1854 he was elected high sheriff of Litchfield

County, and continued to hold the office by re-election

for twelve consecutive years.

In 1862, at the earnest solicitation of Governor

Buckingham, he organized the Nineteenth Regiment

Connecticut Volunteers, or the Litchfield County
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Regiment, as it was termed (afterwards known as

the Second Heavy Artillery), and was commissioned

colonel of the same July 28, 1862. The flower of the

county was enrolled in the " Old Nineteenth," and

no regiment achieved a more honorable record. In

September, 1862, Col. Wessells was ordered to Alex-

andria, Va., with his regiment, where it performed

provost duty until the following winter, when it moved
to Fort Worth and became a part of Gen. R. 0. Tylers

brigade. In April, 1863, Col. Wessells assumed com-

mand of the " Second Brigade, defenses south of the

Potomac," occupying Forts Williams, Ellsworth,

Lyon, and A, B, C, and D redoubts, in which he

continued until the following September, when ill

health obliged him to resign. In December of the

same year he was sent to Virginia by Governor

Buckingham to procure re-enlistments in the First

Regiment Heavy Artillery, and on the 9th of Febru-

ary, 1864, was appointed provost-marshal of the

Fourth District of Connecticut, with headquarters

at Bridgeport, where he remained until the close of

the war, since which time he has been engaged in the

drug business at Litchfield, Conn.

In 1868, Col. Wessells was nominated for treasurer

on the State ticket, with Marshall Jewell as nominee

for Governor. He was also tendered the nomination

the following year, but declined it.

In politics he is a staunch Republican and as such

represented Litchfield in the State Legislature in

1879, though the town was strongly Democratic. In

January of the same year he was appointed quarter-

master-general by Governor Andrews, and performed

the duties of that office during his administration.

He married Mary M. Parks, of Litciifield, Conn.,

November, 1840, and to them have been born two
children, viz. : Grace, wife of Dr. Howard E. Gates, of

Litchfield (they have one daughter, Annie Howard),
and Harry Walton Wessells, a merchant of Litchfield.

ENGAGEMENTS.

The regiment participated in the following battles:

North Anna, near Mechanicsville, Cold Harbor, Pe-

tersburg, Winchester, Fisher's Hill, Cedar Creek,

Hatcher's Run, Fort Fisher, Petersburg, and Sailor's

Creek.

The following is a list of the colonels who at differ-

ent times had command of the regiment: Levcrette

W. Wessells, resigned Sept. 15, 18G3 ; Elisha S. Kel-

logg, killed at Cold Harbor, June 1, 1864; James
Hubbard, declined commission ; Ranald S. Macken-
zie, promoted brigadier-general Dec. 28, 1864; James
Hubbard, brevet brigadier general, must out Aug.
18, 1865.

CASUALTIES.

Killed in action, 134 ;• died of wounds, KH) ; died

of disease, 152 ;t missing, 24 ; died in prison, 21 ; total,

431.

• Th» adjatent-gsneral'a report placn the number it on* hnndrod tuil

forly.three.

t AilJuUnt-geDenl'i report, one hundred and fl2btT.elx.

6

The regiment was mustered out Aug. 18, 1865, and

on the 20th reached New Haven, " and passed up

Chapel Street amid welcoming crowds of people, the

clangor of bells, and a shower of rockets and red

lights that made the field and staff" horses prance with

the belief that battle had come again. After par-

taking of a bounteous entertainment prepared in the

basement of the State-House, the regiment proceeded

to Grapevine Point, where, September 5th, they re-

ceived their pay and discharge, and the Second Con-

necticut Heavy Artillery passed into history."

THE DEAD OF THE REGIMENT.

Field and Staff.

Killed at Cold Harbor—Co]. Elishn S. Kellogg.

Jt Winchegler.—Maj. Janiea Q. Kice.

At Fort Fisher.—Sergt.-Maj. E. Goodwin Oslwrne.

Company A.

Killed at Cold Harbor.—1st Sergt. Joseph P. Parks, Corp. AUiert A. Jones,

Corp. Benjamin Meeker, Lyman J. Smith, Jr., Robert AVntt. John

Ifiland, Willard 11. Pannelee, Almon D. Bradley, Oliver Uitch-

cock, W'illiam Barton, William Braebing, George Everett, Stephen

Fallen, Patrick Ryan, Robert Scull, Homer F. Tilford, James Brad-

ley.

At Winctiealer.—Joseph Gardner.

Died of Tl'oinicZs lieceired ot CuM Harbor.—Cftpt. Luman Wadhoms, Corp.

George Wilson Potter, Corp. Charles Adam, Jr., Corp. ApoUos C.

Morse, Andrew J, Brooker, Truman Mallory, George Savage, Amos
n. Stillson, Ransoii E. Wood, John Benedict.

At Winchester.—Horatio P. Bennett, Corp. Franklin U. Bunnell.

At Cedar Creek.—Corp. John L. Witcox.

Died in Rebel Pruions.—David M. Candee, Benjamin IL Rathbun.

Vied of Disease.—WutBon Parmelee, William S. Wilson, Henry M, Jliner,

Nelbert V. Xewberry, Corp. Joseph E. Coe, Nonuun L. Barber, Julius

Winship, Edward F. Perkins, Lewis Ludinglou, Sylvester Lami«ou,

Simeon W. Loud.

COUPAXT B.

Killed at Cold Harbor.—Con). Walter C. Sparks. Con>. Monroe W*liitemnn,

Corp, Myron R. Sterry, Robert W. Bragg, Francis Burger, Daniel O.

Page, Samuel V. Benetliet, Janiea Caul, John Handel, Kxrn B. Mor-

ris, Adam O'Strunder. Franklin D. Stevens, Jobu B. Sl<dil, George .\.

SkllT, Ellas P. Scott, Charles U. Segur, Uunry Voelker, Henry WIe-

sing.

At It'iiicAssler.—Daniel Glaren.

At f\sJterU //iU.—Lucleii O. S|iencer.

At Fort Fisher.—Corp. John Il«it.

Ditd of H'ounili tteceired at Old W.irknr.—Wilson W. Seville, John W.
Coons, Henry Tanner, I'hcvtor A. Johnson, Anioe Woudin, Sergt.

Jidin McGraw.

At Hiiuhtsler.-'M Lieut. William H. Cogswell.

At Fisher's Hill.—Corf. Jacob F. Rnpp.

At Oder Ont.—Sergt. Henry S. Wheeler, Robert Amea.

listing at CUii Harl>or.—i\ir\t. Willlum Dunn, Darld Lacy.

J^risoner at CutJ //urfcor.— Rcul en R. Slwcd.

Died »/ DisoiM.—John H. While. Cliarira D. Hall, Jamea Oatrander, Jr.,

Sergt. Moaea C<>ok, Jr., Peter Ostmuder, Carlf Voluseo. Tbomaa

Hyer, Almeron Burton, Wlllinni S. Hortou, Henry Winters, Patrick

Delaney, Gurdon C. Davidson, Hiram Fanning,

CoitrAXt C.

Kitted at Chid Harbor.—Sargt. David J. Thori>e, George W. Pierce, Jidin

H. Vrv, Eira B. Bouton, Cor)'. Oraon M. Miner.

At n'iocAnifsr.—Corp. William U. Beach, Peter Burka, Jarcmlah Mc-

carty.

At Olor Creek.-Carf. Georgs W. CleTeland, Corp. William II. Bray,

Cynis SI. Bartholomew.

Died o/ H'oiiH.b llectiMd al 04d /r.irter.—Christian Blornseo, Lucius B.

Palnu.r, Corj). Enijtns Cleavvlanil.

At iVinrhestrr.—Anson K. Ihik-t>m.

At Cedar CVer*.—Corp. Henry L. Valll, Altwrt M. Scotllle

Ditd ia lleM iVisoM.—Alfred Ulackman.
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Died of Disease.—1st Lieut. William McK. Kice, Sergt. Matthew H. Hux'

Icy, Daniel E. Lyman, Arthur G. Kellogg, William S. Eoliiiison, Or-

lainlo Evans, John H. Stewart, Corp. Uri Wadhanie, William H
Norville, William 11. Herald, George W. Brown, Giles A. Cone, Wil-

liam Butler, William II. Hart, Andrew H.Sanford, James M. Hayes,

Henry M. Woodruff, Corp. Willard N. Wadhams, Koyal G. Andrua,

Harlow S. Johnson, Milo Young, James Rogers, John J. Abbott.

Company D.

liiUcd at Cold Harbor.—Pomeroy Beecraft, Philo A. Fenu, Henry W.
Miller, John Murphy.

At Vvtersbnnj.—George Comatock (real namo George Roberts), Walter M.

Fox.

At Winchester.—Richard Beehe, Hiram F. Coley, James Slater.

At Fisher's llUl—Qv.-Mr. Sorgt. David B. Wooster.

At Cx'dar Crecli.—Capt. Benjamin F. Hoaford, Corp. Edward C. Ilopson,

(^jrp. William Wright, John H. Conklin, Daniel A'an Allen, Charles

R. VVarner.

Died of Wounds Received at Cold Harbor.—George L. Beach, Corp. Edgar

J. Ciistle, Thomas Mann, Walter Stone, Hiram Mattoon.

At Pelercburij.—Corp. Cliarlea E. Guernsey, Jacob Demuth, John Grieder.

At Witicfie$ter.—George 11. S. Goodwin, George E. Clark.

At Cedar Crtek:—Henry Gilboit, Henry Lynch.

At S((i7or'8 Creek.—Emery W. Castle, Eraatus W. Converse.

Died in Rebel Priw/w.—Bonjamiu Filley, James Strawn, Charles D. Han-

son.

Missiiuj.—Walter Gates, William S. Barnes.

Died of Disease.—Corp. Froderibk B. Webster, Corp. William W. John-

son, Burritt H. Tulles, Charles J. Cleveland, George H. Holt, Frank-

lin W. Hubbard, Sergt. E<lgur B. L«?wi3, Joeiali J. Wadsworth, Wil-

liam W. Richardson, James H. Pritchard, Sergt. Salmou B. Smith,

David Davenport, Horatio G. Perkins.

Company E.

Kdlid at Cold Harbor.—C*.)rp. Frederick W. Daniels, Corp. Alonzo J. Hull,

Corp. Willard Hart, Corp. Henry A. Roxford, Frederick D. Painter,

Blyron Ferris, Lewis Downs, Alfred Conimins, John M. Teeter,

George A. Tatro, Charles H. Stanley, Ruel II. Perkins, Daniel Mc-

Donald, James Moouey, Walter Martin, William Kelly, Patrick

Kaine.

At Pelei-shnrf/.—Jared P. Evarts.

At Cedar Creel-.—John BIcDonough.

Died of Wounds at Qjld Harbor.—Sylvester Barrett, Qr.-Mr. Sergt. James

A. Green, Elizur Maltbie, Stephen J. Green.

At Peteraburg.—Birdseye Gibbs, Capt. Oren H. Knight.

At Winchester.—Corp. George H. Pendleton, Corp. John H. Boughton,

Asa Ilumaston.

At Cedar CVefi.—David Backus.

Missing at Odd Harbor.—'Id Lieut. Calvin B. Hatch, Corp. James R. Bald-

win, James Simpson, John J. Toole, John Scully, Boughton D. Knapp,

Henry C. Kent, John Cook, Bernard Carberry, Martin Blake, Sher-

man Apley.

At Petersburg.—Charles Bohan.

Died in Pebel Prisons,—Michael Donahue, Allen B. Tonng, Matthew Fitz-

gerald.

Died of Dweasf.—2d Lieut. Hiram D, Gaylord, George W. Hurlbut, Wil-

liam S. Hurlbut, Darwin E. Starks, Jerome Preston, Julius Wood-

ford, William R. Hubbard, Joseph Rubinsou, Julius Rogers, Edwin

E. Rowe, Charles Long.

Killed b^i Accident.—Manwaring Green.

Company F.

Killed at Cold Harbor.—Sargt. Samuel E. Gibbs, John E. Hall.

At Peteriiburg.—V/nimm H. Colt.

At Winchenter.-Sergt. Lorenzo P. Light, Sergt. Alfred C. Alford, Tim-

othy ( t'Callaghan.

Al Cedar Creek,—George Simons.

Died of Wonnds Peceived at Cold Harbor.—George N. AndruB.

At Fither's i/i//.—Cornelius H. Merrell.

Al Winchester.—Edmund Dougherty.

At JSdi/or's Creek.—Charles A. Griswold, Jay J. Cushmao.

Died in Pebel Prisons or After Release.—Robert Gahill, Solomon G. Hay-
ward.

Missing.—John Busby.

Died of Disease.—Harlau D. Benedict, Augustus H. Barrett, Albert Beck-

with, RithardS. Thompson, Corp. William G. Henderson, Philander

Emmone, Peter Riley, Lorenzo K. Lamoine, Harvey Ford, Philander

Eggleston, Horatio G. Eggleston, Henry Tan Dusen, Charles Tuttle,

Jefferson T. Lent.

Company G.

Killed at Cold Harbor.—Qr.-Mr. Sergt. Joseph B. Payne.

At Winchester.—Wilson Waterman, Cliauncey L. Warner, Henry Peck.

Al Cedar Creek.—Corp. Charles J. Reed, Corp. George W. Page, Elisha

Soule.

Died of Woumls Recelced at Cold Harbor.—Horace Sickmund.

At Winchester.—Corp. Patrick Troy, James H, Vanburon, Qr.-Mr. Sergt.

Charles Ingei-soll, George Clinton.

At Cedar Creek.—James M. Palmer, Barney Kinney.

At Fort Fisher.—Corp. Dwight B. Studley, Sylvester Prout.

Missing.—Robert Bard, Corp. James Stanley.

Died of Disease.—Myi'on H. Hubbell, Philo Cole, Lucien Rouse, Merritt

Stone, Charles C. Herman, Harvey Clark, John H. Bradley, Paschal

P. North, Herman E. Bonney, Lewis Sawyer, Henry H. Waters, Al-

bert A. Peck, Allen Williams, John M. Hamblin, William Whit«,

Sergt. Albert Robinson, Joliu Lapham, William Slover,

Company H.

Killed at Cold Harbor.—Renry C. Straight, Charles W. Jackson, Theo-

dore A. Barnes.

At Winchester.—2d Lieut. Horace Hubbard, 1st Lieut. Franklin M.
Candee.

At Ccdiir Oeci.—Edward Blead.

Died of Wounds Received al Cold Harbor.—Jerome Johnson.

At Petersburg.—Harvey Pease.

At Winchester.—Capt. Frederick M. Berry.

At Cedar Creek.—Daniel Payne.

Missing.—Patrick Lynch.

Died in Rebel Prison^t.—Herbert H. Reed, Moses L. Wigglesworth.

Died of Disease.—Henry A. Calhoun, William C. Warner, William H.

Dains, Lewis St. John, Sheldon Clark, Sergt. Garwood R. Merwin,

Ira S. Bradley, Henry Bridge, Sylvester C. Piatt, Joseph R. Love-

ridge, Willis Hartwell.

Company I.

KUled at Cold Harbor.—Friend F. Kane, Almon D. Galpin.

Al Winchester.—Charles Barney.

At Ced^ir Creek.—William Fitzgerald, Samuel B. Ferris, Addison Cook.

At Foil Fisher.—David Cramer, Thomas Wheeler.

Died of Wotnuh Received at Cold Harbor.—Curtis Wheeler.

At Winchester.—Sergt. Walter J. Orton, Corp. Charles F. Flueliman,

George W. Locklin.

Al Cedar Creet.—Seymour Lobdell, Sergt. George E. Judson, Charles

Bennet, Corp. Patrick Brady.

At NoeCs Station.—Ham A. Barnes.

Missing.—Timothy F. Walsh.

Died in Rebel Prisons.—Albert Woodruff, Marshall Lines.

Died of Disease.—John S. White, James C. Polley, Harvey H. Fox, Corp.

Henry F. Hard, Charles L. Thomas, Corp. Horatio S. Thomas, Banks

Lounsbury, Timothy Elwell, James Sidney, Isaac Briggs, Corp. Ed-

ward Bell, Joseph Colonel, Coi-p. Cornelius Goebel, John K. Northrop.

Cosipany K.

Kitl€<l at Cold Harbor.—Sergt. George H. McBurney, John Warner,

Robert Sothergill, David D. Lake, Andrew Jackson, Edmund
llickey, Peter Gallagher, Henry B. Bristol, Isaac Baldwin, Franklin

Andrus.

At Petersburg.—Henry H. Hyatt.

At Winchester.—Lucien Button.

At Cedar Greet.—Alexander D. Kasson, John H. R. Hipwell.

Died of Wounds Received al Cold Harbor.—Jacob Wentworth, Edward B.

Griffin, Charles Reed, Asaiiel N. Perkins, John Munson, William B.

Leach, Patrick Kennedy, Owen Cromney.

At Petersburg.—Alfred June.

At Winchester.— Ist Lieut. James P. McCabo.

At Cedar Creek.—Albert J. Miner, Charles A. Johnson, Charles Haviland.

Mismng.—Charles H. Russell.

Died in Rebel Prisons.—Sergt. Lant Ryan, Amaziah Downs, Noble An-

drus.

Died of Disease.—Corp. Wesley T. Glover, Charles B. Ferris, Sergt. Wil-

liam S. Watson, Fifer George A. Hoyt, Leander Ide, George W.
Harrington, Eben Norton, John Burch, Anton Barth, Wolcott Cook,

Corp. Sidney A. Law, Henry Colby.
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Company L.

KUled at Cold Harbor.—John Martin.

At Winc7iester.—Augii6t Berg.

Died of Wounds Received at Wiifchester.—V^iWiam Day.

Near Tolopotomtj.—John Pullard, Corp. Norman Mansfield.

At Cold Harbor.—Sergt. George Parker, Amos L. Ives.

Died in Rebel Ftnsons or After Release.—Feed. Hooker, George Grover,

Patrick Butler, Corp. 'William Dixon.

Died of Disease.—Corp. Henry A. Hubbell, Corp. William Morton, Horace

B. Wood, Fred. Slade, William Malloy, Thomas B. Foster, Charles

Davenport.

Company M.

EUled on Picket at NvrtJt, Anna J?ii;er.—Patrick Keegan.

At Cold Harbor.—Samuel S. Osborne.

At Wincliester.—Abner W. Scott.

Died of Wounds Received at Fort Fisher.—John Fay.

At Winchester.—Thomas Doyle.

At Petersburg.—Thumaa Colburn.

Missiitg.—Aaron Joseph, William Bergen.

Died of Diseiise.-John Thomas, Loriu L. Morris, James H. Case.

WOUNDED.

Field and Staff.

Col. (afterwards Brig.-Gen. and Bvt. Maj.-Gen.) Ranald S. Mackenzie.

Maj. William B. Ells, at Cold Harbor. A musket-ball passed through

the bone of the right leg, between the knee and ankle, in euch a

mnnner as to inflict permanent injury.

Mflj. (aftei wards Lieut.-Col.) Jeffrey Skinner, was twice wounded; first

by a shell at Winchester, and at the capture of Petersburg, April 2,

1865, by a musket-ball in the side. In the first iustauce he was

absent from duty not more than a month, and only six weeks after

receiving the latter wound, althongh it was quite severe.

Capt. (afterwarcls Maj.) Cheater D. Cleveland, then ordnance officer of

First Division, Sixth Corps, was slightly wounded in the arm al

Cedar Creek, but did not report it.

Sergt.-Maj. (aftenvards 2d Lieut.) Frederick A. Lucas, received a wound

in the left thigh at Cedar Creek, which disabled him for several

months. He returned to the regiment just in time to receive

another wound (a slight one) in the affair at Hatcher's Itun. Ho

was promoted for gallantry at Winchester and Fisher's IHIl, and

Col. Mackenzie said, just after those battles, that ho never saw a

braver man than Sergt.-Mnj. Lucas.

iBt Lieut, and .\djt. Theodore F. Vaill, at Fort Fisher. Flesh wound,

left hip, by cast-iron ball from spherical case-shot.

Company A.

At 0>ld Harbor.

Q.-M. Sergt George W. Maaon. Head. Very severe, and at flnit sup-

posed to he mortal, but after many montlis he recovered, and was

muHtercd as captuln and aitsislant 4uartennasler in the geiiorul ser-

vice, having been comnii»--<ioncd thereto by President LiDCulu before

ho was wounded.

Watson Cogswell. Left arm.

Samuel Gunn. Shoulder.

Corp. Curtis P. Wedge. Kight hand.

Corp. Seth Whiting. Hand.

Edward Mull. Buttocks.

Lyman F. Morehouse. Wrist.

Jamefl Ferris. Leg amputated.

Robert W. Coo. Arm amputated. Also wounded Id toe.

Charles Belcher. Shoulder.

John Beneillct. Breust.

Michael Brny. Hip.

John It<iik<y. Arm.

Charles Carter. Shoulder.

Robert Crawford. Ann.

EdaoD S. Dayton. Thigh.

Myron K. Kllbonrn. Finger amputated.

John Lawlor. Both thighs.

David McBath. Arm.

Noniuin B. Perkins. Han<l.

Harvey B. Perkins. Side.

James M. Prlndlo. Fingers.

Jaiiun 8t. John. Knee. Had previously been wounded In the other

kneo, when a memlwr of the Eighth Connecticut Vulunteen.

Roubeu A. Swift. Cheek and tlilgh.

George F. Waugh. Breast.

David P. Wetmore. Leg.

Ist Lieut. Hubbard E. Tuttle. Head.

Ist Lieut. Buslirod H. Camp. Leg.

At Winchester.

Frederick T. Jennings. Left hand and head. Wounded while passing

over the knoll between the two ravines.

Capt. Alexander B. Shumway. Leg. Wounded where the regiment was

first moved into action.

2d Lieut. Daniel E. Marsh. Arm. Wounded in the first ravine.

Watson Cogswell. Arm.

Corp. Henry T. Cable. Abdomen. Severe. Wounded while going from

the fii-st to the second ravine.

Edmund P. Aiken. Head.

James Moll. Leg. Real name James Moore. It was entered wrong at

fij-st, and, like that of Hiram U. Grant, had to remain wrong.

Edmund Haley. Leg.

At Fisher'a HiU.

James L. Osborn. Side.

At Cedar Creek.

Sergt. William S. Smith. Head. Also at Fort Fisher in foot, slightly.

Thomas Monis. Face.

Joseph Moody. Ankle.

At Fort Figher.

Corp. Horace N. Williams. Bfouth. Ball could not be found, and after

four months was taken out from the l>ack of lus neck. The muscles

of one eye were cut or destroyed, so that it cannot be shut.

Com PANv B.

At Skirmish on Tolopotomy^ May 31, lSr4.

Mortimer M. Lillibridgo. Foot.

William H. Sufdom.

At Cold Harbor.

George W, Mansfield. Log. Also wounded at Fisher's Hill in leg, ond

had thumb shot off at Sailor's Creek. Was scalded to death by col-

lision on Ilonsatonic lUi)roa<l on his way home, after being dls-

chargc<l. Had never been home since enlisting.

Daniel 0. Page. Paroled prlnoner.

Sergt. George L. Johnson. Hip.

Augustus Adams. Leg.

Horace Ball. Breast.

Rlchanl Brown. Head.

Sheldon Carley. Hca<l.

Newton W. Cogswell. Arm.

John Coonj. Breast and back.

Ezra Clark. Neck.

William Connell. Arm amputatod.

John Decker. Right hand.

Daniel Dunlavoy. Left hand.

Henry Dryer. Foot.

John Funk. Neck.

Solomon llinkley. Hand and hco'l.

R4igcr Lyddy.

Peter Mulath. Thigh.

Godfrey Miller. Ankle.

Gc^orge McLauo. Hand.

John McMolion.

Joel Snyder. Neck.

Henry Tanner. Thigh.

Daniel Taylor. Hand.

Cbarle«0. Whaplos. Thigh.

Franris Burger.

At n'iuch

Capt. William II. Lowi«, Jr. Wrist.

Sergt. (afterwants Lieut.) WlllUm S. Cooper.

Peter FI<hmI. Leg, flesh wound.

Gilbert McMahon. hvtf.

Lewii Morey. Loft arm.

.It Fi»h«r'i lliU.

Luther E. Speed. Neck.

John McOovern. Finger amputatfkl.

George W. Mansfield. Leg.

Al 0$^{ar OfcA.

Ut Sergt. Jnme« Park*. Left leg. PIrco of thtll.

Sergt. CuriL* Hall. Right shoulder.
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John Hughes. Fingers.
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Charles Walsh. Neck and wrist.

Christopher Arnold. Arm.

Edward Beach. Hip.

Samuel U. Brewer. Leg.

Corp. David Miller. Hand.

Corp. William A. Hosford. Shoulder.

Charles B. Howard. Lung.

Philip D. Carroll. Hand.

At Petersburg.

Robert Bulcraft. June 22d. Thigh.

Charles Walsh. June 2Gth. Foot.

Al Winchester.

Edmund B. Sage. Groin.

Sergt. (afterwards Lieut.) William S. Cooper.

Clark. Foot.

James Maloy. Thigh.

Martin Keaton. Leg.

Elbert B. Bowe. Knee.

Julius Collins. Groin.

At Fisher's Hill.

John Campbell. Leg.

At Cedar Creek,

Corp. Charles M. Burr. Leg amputated.

A I Hatcher^s Bun.

Thigh.

Charles Walsh. Side.

Peter Larive. Finger.

Company F.

At the North Anna.

Charles J. Thompson. Right arm.

At Cold Harbor.

Alexander Waters. Bight hand.

James 0. Hotchkiss. Left arm.

William Malthouse. Left leg.

John W. Shaw. Right leg.

William Burke. Breast and arm.

Bernard Kelly. Hand.

Thomas Smyth, Hand.

Alexander McCormick. Leg.

Timothy F. Kelly. Hand.

At Petertburg.

Sergt. E. D. Lawrence. Shoulder. Severe. Juno 21!<J.

Sergt. JameH H. Hakes. Hand. Slight. April 2, ldC5.

At Winchttter,

Ist Lieut. Wurron Alford. Slight.

Corp. Byron O. Ha^vley. Leg.

Corp. Ira D. Jones. Arm.

Corp. Thomas Noonan. Abdomen.

Parley B. Gammons. Thigh.

John Johnson. Foot.

Timothy F. Kolloy. Right Bide.

James F. Koith. Back.

Ephralm Tucker. Arm.

Michael McMahon (3d).

Edwin Wahlen. Thigh.

Horace F. Calkins. Shoulder.

Joseph McManus. Right Hide. Slight

George Simons. Hand. (Afterwards killed at Cedar Creek.)

At FUh«r*$ HUt.

Corp. James H. Hakes. Shoulder.

John Rodemyer. Uoel.

At Ceilar CrtcJc.

Sorgt. Jesse Turner. Leg and buttocks.

Otis Billin^i). Leg.

Klislm L. Baucrc^. Leg.

Dwight Case. Severnl wounds,—arm, side, and thigb.

Wuyoo B. Cnstlo. Arm and side.

Robert Cahlll. Leg. Also taken prisoner.

Morris E. MuDger. Toe amputated.

Buftis B. Smith. Ann.

At Saaor'$ Cn«k.

James Hyde. Arm. Slight.

Corp. Seth Uasktas. Shoulder. Serore.

At Cold Harbor.

Charles IngersoU. Shoulder. (Afterwards mortally wounded at Win-

chester.)

John Harris. Arm.

Andrew J. BoUes. June 5th. Foot.

Horace Sickmund. June 3d. Knee.

John Christie. June 8th. Hand.

let Sergt, Henry Dean. Leg and thigh. Very severe.

John O'Dougherty. Arm.

Timothy Leonard. Hand.

John R. Thompson. Arm.

Wesley Bunnell. Haad.

John Byrnes. Arm.

Michael Curley. Leg amputated.

George Barton. Head.

John Hawver. Shoulder.

At Peterehnrg,

Patiick Murphy. Hand, Slight April 2, 1865,

At Winchester.

Sergt Julius A. Glover. Shoulders and head.

Corp. Alfred L. Benedict. Ankle.

Michael Gidlagher. Arm.

William Frazier. Hip.

Asa Lee. Leg.

George A. Case. Leg,

At Cedar Ovek.

Corp. Mattliew P. Bell, Jr. Thigh and back. Very severe.

Corp. Edward Hawver. Thigli.

William C. Bowuo. Leg.

Peter Gilmet Foot.

Lewis Hamlio. Arm.

John Curtiu. Arm.

Ira Chapman. Arm.

At Fort Fisher.

Ssrgt. Charles B. Swift. Shoulder. Severe.

Corp. WllUam CUntou. Leg, Slight.

COMPANV H.

Jt Cold Harbor.

Sergt Lewis W. Moelier. Elbow. Shell.

Cori>. Henry A. Burton. L«ft hand.

Corp. Uriah F. Snediker. N'm-R. Severe.

Charlea H. Butler. Hand, flight

George Chamborlnin. Leg. Slight

John Harris, Too oniputMted.

Henry Bf, Marshall, ]Ught forearm.

Henry I'aino. Heel.

Frank J. Warner. Arm and hand.

Uugh O'Donoell. Head. Slight

Daniel T. Somen. Foot Severe.

Alttwi S. Whltllesoy. Shoulder.

Charles McDennutt. Juno 8th. 1

States B.rUndrean. Side. SheJl.

mont
Edward Harrington. Muutli.

Very severe,

laud. Accidental.

SUght ]lail serred (n a rebel regl-

.If Prttrthmrg.

Corp. WUIlam E. DUbruw. June :»tli. HU while carrying Uanrey

Pease to the rear.

At WiiKkttttr.

2d Lleat James M. Snowden, l^ft wrist

Charles II. Butler. Lo«t right leg.

Curi>. William K. lUxbrviw, Shoulder.

Cliarlea K (:ill>ert Thigh. Serore.

ApolliM Jeiiniugs. Hand, Slight

Ileury W. Mullott Hand.

Corp. Henry S. Grldlry. Forearm.

Loulfl Weber. Nueo.

Jeremiah Thum|«t)n. Thigh. Very eeTera.

Charlea A. Way. Wrlut

Alfh»] CablM. Knee. SUght
Lucius 8. Sherman. Foot

Uirani Cablea. Sererml places with shell. Shoulder and hand.
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At Cedar Creek.

1st Lieut. John M. Gregory. Kight arm amputated at shoulder.

Sergt. Robert Erwin. Itiglit eboulder. Slight.

Sergt. Minor A. Strong. Eight tliigh. Severe.

Sorgt. Irwin C. Buckingham. Thigh.

Corp. Horace N, Sanford. Shouhler and leg. Slight.

Joseph S. Knoulea. Lower jaw shattered.

Franklin Nichols. Back. Severe. *

Alansou Poet. Kight arDi. Slight.

Edward O'Brien. Abdomen.

Homer S. Sackett. Chest.

AVilliam Smith. Foot.

Charles llurd.
At SaiIor*a Creel:

Charles A. M'ay. Arm. Slight.

Frank J. Warner. Slight.

Company I.

At the XoHh Anna,

Charles Smith. Buttocks.
At Cold Harbor.

Charles S. Tyrrell. Back.

Corp. Bfiujamin Wellman. Left cheek and back.

Abner Bennett. Arm amputated.

Samuel Eostnmu. Juno 3d.

Daniel P. Galpin. Aukle.

Sergt. Thounis Shaw. Arm.

AVilliam Gregg. Lost right arm.

Levi Hotchkiss. Hand and arm.

John Hutchinson. Left breast.

Israel Lucaa. Head.

Seymour Lobdell. Thigh. (Afterwards killed at Cedar Creek.)

At Petersburg.

Corp. William H. Smith. June22d. Foot.

Ruel Uazcu. June 22d. Face.

At Winchester.

2d Lieut. Orsamus R. Fyler. "Wounded in the leg very much in the same

manner as Maj. Ells at Cold Harbor.

Sergt. CyruM T. Nicliolson. Jaw and neck.

Sergt. Marcus D. Smith. Right forearm.

Corp. George W. Root. Leg.

Charles Botsford. Leg.

David Cramer. Foot. (Afterwards killed at Fort Fisher.)

John Harrigau. Elbow.

ThoDias Harper. Leg.

Andrew Kuoph. Leg.

Amos A. Lucas. Knee.

Tlieodore Lockwood. Leg.

William H. Reynolds. Knee.

S«rgt. Hubbard Hotchkise. Hand.

Henry Taylor. Breast.

John Turley. Shin.

Daniel B. Galpin. Leg.

William Webster. Knee.

Corp. Charles S. Terrell. Thigh.

Timothy F. Walsh. Knee. (Afterwards missing at Hatcher's Run.)

Corp. Charles T. Squires. Foot.

William O'Brien. Breast.
At Fi$her'8 Hill.

At Cedar Creek.

Capt. Walter Burnham. Tliigh. Spherical case-shot.

Sergt. Thomas Shaw. Arm.

Sergt. David W. Manning. Thigh.

Sergt. Warden Stammer. Leg.

John B. Parker.

W'illiam Davis. Hand.

John Hutchinson. Leg amputated.

David Backus.

Frederick R. Hard. Leg.

Edwin Holland. Leg.

John McQueeny. Head.

Jeremiah Newcomb. Leg.
,

Andrew Tiernay. Arm.

Daniel S. Taylor. Arm.

Theron M. Woodruff. Face.

Albert Woodruff.

Charles Wright. Shoulder.

Corp. Bela Potter. Leg.
At Fort Fisher.

Henry C. Rogers. Hand. Severe.

At Sttilor^s Creek.

Charles Fox. Arm. Slight.

Company K,

At Cold Harbor.

Edgar J. Stewart. Back. Piece of shell.

Corp. James Tracy. Head and arm.

John A. Ludford. Right arm amputated.

Francis SothergiU, Arm.

Thomas Coleraine. Back. Sent to White House, and never heard from

again.

George A. Wood. Hip and arm. Sent to Wliite House, and never heard

from.

William H. Stevens. Thigh.

Chauncey Stevens. Leg.

George Brown. Shoulder.

William W. Wheeler. Arm and shoulder.

Corp. Enoch M. Warhurst. Head.

Philo H. Bassett. Arm and breast.

Coi"p. Patrick Farrell. Head.

Stephen P. Harlow. Leg.

Homer W. Hodge. Arm.

Charles A. Hoyt. Leg.

Bernard C. Keegan. Lost leg.

George E. Taylor. Arm.

Evelyn L. Thorpe. Arm.
At Petershurg.

Truman Favereau. Thigh. June 22d.

Michael Convoy. June 22d.

George H. Knapp. Left shoulder. June 22d.

John Ette. Right elbow. June 21st.

William S. Hines. Head,

Allen S. Tuttle. Finger.

At Winchester.

At Fisher's Hill.

At Cedar Creek,

Slight.

William Hart. Hip.

Erwin Monroe. Left hip,

John Burns. Both legs.

Daniel Briggs. Thigh.

Anglebert Hermann. Breast.

George D. Bemau. Right leg amputated below knee.

ComPANT L.

In Skirmish near Vie Tolopotomy.

Corp. James Wilson. Neck.

Henry McGiuety. Leg.
At Cold Harbor.

Capt. James Deane. Forehead.

Sergt. (afterwards Lieut.) Austin P. Kirkham. Head.

Corp. (afterwards Sergt.-Maj.) John L. Parmelee. Leg.

James Gillen. Hand.

Edward Thomas (1st). Leg.

William Vrooman. Groin.

George Reed. Foot.

Thomas Dailey. Thigh. June 3d.

At Petershurg.

Sergt. George Parker. Side. June 20th.

Corp. George Babcock. Hand. Slight. April 2, 1865.

John Owens. Hand. Slight. April 2, 18G5.

At Winchester.

Sergt. Andrew Clark. Leg.

Charles H. Ryan. Arm.

James Hyatt. Thigh.

Peter D. Nelson. Arm.

William Hall. Side.

James McDonald. Arm.

Frank Sabine. Shoulder.

At Cedar Creek.

2d Lieut. James M. Snowden. Arm.

Sergt. William A. Slenker. Leg.
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At Hatcher's Bun.
Jesse Cady. Thighs.

At Fort Fieher.

Corp. John Uult. Mouth. Slight.

2d Lieut. Admatha Bates. Foot. Slight.

Company M.

At the North Anna.
James Graham. Thigh.

At Cold Harbor.

Sergt. Silas A. Palmer. Finger.

Sergt. William E. Canfield. Hand. Slight. June 3d.

Corp. Amaziah Livingston. Leg and arm.

Myron W. Schultz. Face.

Patrick Kennedy. Leg.

John Burns. Arm. June 3d.

At Petersburg,

Thomas Colburn. Shoulder. June 20th.

James Parker. June, 1864.

At Winchester.

Charles Brant. Back and hand.

Thomas Doyle. Back.

Martin H. Grube. Adbomen.

William HofTman. Wrist.

Theodore Drune. Leg.
At Fisher's Hill.

Corp. William Muneon. Leg.

At Cedar Creek.

Charles Allen. Leg.

Sergt. Henry Maskell.

Charles 0. Bosworth. Wrist.

George Dayton. Leg.

James FitzBimmons. Arm and breast.

Peter Ward. Leg and breast.

Henry Strih. Jaw.

Patrick Fenereu. Ear.

Peter Ilayden. Head.

Sergt. (afterwards Lieut.) Azario N. Lamorcux. Shoulder.

At Hatcher's Eun.
Starr L. Booth. Leg.

Peter Hayden. Head. Slight.

At Fort FMier.

Sela Wheeler. Neck. Severe.

James Fuy. Thigli. Severe.

CATALOGUE OF THE BEGIMEXT.

Commissioned OrriOKSS.

Coloneli.

Levorotte W. Weswds, res. Sept. 15, 18C3.

Elisha S. Kellogg, killed in action Jnno 1, 1804.

James Hubbard, declined cumitiiwiun.

Ranald S. Mackenzie, pro. to brigadier-general Doc. 2S, 18M.

James Uubbard, bvt. brlgadter-gonoral ; muHt out Aug. 18, 1866.

LieuUnant-OotoneU.

EUsha 8. Kellogg, pro. to colonel Oct. 23. 180.1.

Nathaniel Smith, ros. for disability May C, 1804.

Janu'S Hubbard, pro. to colonel Jan. 7, 1^05.

JelTroy Skinner, muHt. out Aug. IM, 1806.

William B. Ells, mm. vacated, Liout.-ColoDel Hubbard tiavlng docllDod

COD). OS colonel.

Nathaniel Smith, pro. to lieutenant-colonel Nov. 6, 1803.

JanieH Hubbard, pro. to 1 1outenant-colonel May i:i, 1804.

WIIHain n. Ells, disch. Dec. 24, 1804.

James il Bice, killed In action Sept. 10. 1HG4.

Jeffrey Skinner, pni. lo lloutonant-cotonfl Jan. 7, 1806.

Eilward W. Jones, munt. out Aug. 18, 1806.

Chester D. Cleveland, must, out Aug. 18, 1806.

Augustus U. Fonn, must, out Aug. 18, 1806.

A{^utaulM.

Charle*! J. Deming, ro«. July 30, 18«j3.

Buhlmnl II. (amp, diach. fur lUiuibiUty Nov. A, 1804.

Theodore F. Valll, uiuat. out Aug. 18, 1866.

Quartermasters.

Bradley D. Lee, pro. to captain Feb. 17, 1804.

Edward C. Huxley, must, out Aug. IS, 1865.

Cliaplains.

Jonathan A. Wainwright, res. Jan. 20, 18G3.

Winthrop H. Phelps, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Surgeon.

Henry Plumb, disch. Aug. 12, 18G5.

First Assistant Surgeons.

John W. Lawton, must, out to enter U. S. A. April 4, 18G3.

Robert G. Hazzard, must, out Aug. IS, 1SG5.

Second Assistant Surgeons.

John W. Lawton. pro. to first assistant surgeon Oct. 28, 1862.

Robert G. Hazzard, pro. to first nssistant surgeon July 21, 1863.

Judson B. Andrews, must, out Aug. IS, 1SG5.

Captains.

William Bissoll, res. July 21, 18G3.

James Hubbard, pro. to major Nov. 5, 1863.

James Q. Rice, pro. to major Feb. 17, 18G4.

William B. Ells, pro. to major Feb. 6, 1SG4.

Jeffrey Skinner, pro. to major May 13, 18C4.

Edward W. Jones, pro. to mnjor Oct. S, 1864.

Edward F. Gold, di^ch. Feb. 21, 1865.

George S. Williams, res. March IG, 1804.

Eli Sperry, res. March 30, 18G4.

Edward 0. Peck, res. July 25, 18G3.

Lnumn Wadhams, died of wounds Juno 3, 1864.

William T. Spencer, must, out July 20, 1805.

William H. Lewis, Jr., disch. Jan. 25, 1805.

Bradley D. Leo, com. revoked March 22, I8C4; appointed A. C. S. of

volunteers.

Edwnnl W. Sfarsh, must out July 20, 1865.

Janiea Deane, mu8t. out July 20, 1863.

Boigamin F. Hosford, killed In action Oct. 19, 1861.

Frederick M. Berry, died of wounds Sept. 28, 1804.

Augustus II. Fenn, pro. to miO*^'' Jan. 7, 1806.

Waller Burnhani, disch. Feb. 2 1. 1S06.

Oren H. Knight, died of woundn July 6. 18C4.

Alexander II. Shumway, dlich. Fob. 4, 1806.

Robert A. Potter, nuist out Aug. 18, 18CA.

Morris H. Sanfonl. dlseh. (aa finst lieutonanl) Jan. 13, 1805.

Clieater D. Cleveland, pro. to major Jnn. 7. IH06.

Gad N. Smith. niMRt. out Aug. is, 1^06.

Daniel E. Marvli, must, out Aug. 18, 1H06.

Hubtiard E. Tutlle, muat. out Aug. 18, 1806.

James N. Coe, muit. out Aug. IM, 1806.

Theodore F. Vaill, must, out (as first lieutenant) Aug. 18, 18C6.

Ulchaol Kclley, must, out .\ug. 18, 1806.

Henry S. McKinney. must. «ut Aug. 23, 1806.

Orlow J. Smith, must, nut Aug. 18, 1H05.

Henry Sklnnt-r, must, out Aug. 18, 1806.

FirtI LitHienamts.

Luman Wailhama, pro. to captain Aug. 11, 1803.

Frederick A. Cook, rea. Juno 6. 180a.

William T. Spencer, pn). to captain Aug. 11, 1803.

Wllllnni II. Lowls, Jr., pro. to caplaln Nov. 2<t, 1803.

Benjiimin F. lIosr<inl, pn>. to captain Blarch 16, 1804.

Janirt Dt-anc, pro. to capiatn Fob. 10, 1804.

Gideon I>. Cnine. rra. P<«. 20, 1802.

FrcHleriek M. IWrry, pro. tn raptnln March 20, 1804.

Lyman Teater. n-a. Marrh 2, lw;;i.

Augunlus II. Kcnn, pro. tu captain 3larch 31, 1804.

Walter Burnham, pro. lo laptaln April 21, 1804.

Orvn H. Kntghl. pro. U> raptnln June 21, 18i>4.

Alexander B. Shumway. pn*. to captain July 11, 1804.

RulHTt A. Putter, pro. to capuln Aug. 12, 1804.

Morris II. Sanfonl, pro. tu captain CK I. 22, 1804.

Chaaler D. Cleveland, prv. to raptain Oct. 22, 1804.

Wilbur W. BlrgP, dl«ch. S^-pt. T, IMA.

John M. Gregiiry.dlich. Jan. In, 1K06.

Jaoios N. Cue, pru. to captain Feb. 4, 1906.
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Oliver P. Loomis, disch. Aug. 30, 1804.

William McK. Rice, died of diseiise Nov. 8, 1804.

Gad N. Smith, pro. to captniu Nov. 30, 18G4.

Tlieodoro F. Vaill, pro. lo cuptain March 2, 1805.

Philip E. Chapin, disch. Oct. 17, 1864.

Edwin S. Hubbard, diach. Dec. 31, 1SG4.

Franklin J. Candce, killed in action Sept. 19, 18Gi.

Warren Alfurd, uisch. fur disability April 20, 18G5.

James P. McCiibe, died of wounda Oct. 3, ISOA.

Edward C. Huxley, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Orlow J. Smith, pro. to captain March 30, 1805.

Henry Skinner, pro. to captain March 30, 18G5.

Daniel E. Marsh, i)ro. to captain Jan. 7, 1805.

Hubbard E. Tuttle, pro. to captain Jan. 7, 18G5.

Michael Kelley, pro. to captain March 2, 1805.

Orsamus R. Fyler, disch. as Becond lioutenaiit March 9, 1855.

Joseph E. Fenn, must, out Aug. 18, 18G5.

Henry S. McKiniiey, pro. to captain March 2, 1805.

William L. Twins, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

John E. Wheeler, disch. May 15, 18C5.

James AV. Di.\on, must, out July 20, 1805.

Dwight C. Kilbonrn, must, out Aug. 18, 18G5.

JTomer S. Curtis, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

James M. Snowden.muHt. ont Aug. 18, 18G5.

Lewis Mungor, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

CliarU's A. Reynolds, decPd and com. revoked Mnrch 31, 1865.

John E. Sedgwick, must, out as second lieutenant Aug. 18, 1805.

David C. Munson, must. ..ut Ang. IS, 1865.

Orvillc U. Tillany, decl'd and com. revoked March 27, 1805.

Salmon A. Granger, decl'd and com. revoked April 27, 1865.

William A. Ho^ford, must, out Aug. 18, 18C5.

Henian Ellis, decl'd and com. revoked March 27, 1805.

Henry R. Hoyt, must, out Aug. 18, 1805.

Ilower W. Griswold, decl'd and com. revoked March 27, 1865.

Second Lieutemmts.

Ale.xander B. Shumway, pro. to first lieutenant July 8, 1863.

Oren H. Knight, pro. to lirat lieutenant Marcli 21, 1803.

Morris II. Sanfunl, pro. to first lieutenant Aug. 11. 186.1.

Robert A. Potter, pro. to tiret lieutenant Aug. 11, 1803.

Chester D. Cleveland, pro. to first lieutenant Nov. 20, 1863.

Oliver P. Loomis, pro. to first lieutenant Feb. 6, l8i>4.

John M. Gregory, pro. to first lieutenant Feb. 0, 1804.

Walter Rurnlinu), pro. to first lieutenant Dec. 2G, 1SG2.

Georgo E. Botts, res. Nov. 25, 1802.

James N. Coe, pro. to first lieutenant Feb. 6, 1804.

Wilbur W. Birge, pro. to first lieutenant Feb. 0, 1864.

Edward W, Marsh, pro. to captain Feb. 17, 1804.

Wm. McK. Rice, pro. to first lieutenant Feb. G, 1864.

Himm D. Gaylord, died Nov. 19, 1803, while firet sergeant.

Edwin S. Hubbard, pro. to first lieutenant March 31, 1864.

Dwight C. Kilbonrn, pro. to first lieutenant Feb. 4, 1866.

William H. Cogswell, died of wounds Oct. 6, 1804.

Michael Kelley, pro. to first lieutenant Nov. 18, 1864.

Orsamus R. Fyler, pro. to first lieutenant Nov. 18, 1864.

George B. Hempstead, died of wounds Juno 30, 1804.

James P. McCabe, pro. to fii-st lieutenant March 31, 1804.

Calvin B. Hatch, missing since June 1, 1SC4.

Hubbard E. Tuttle, pro. to first lieutenant Oct. 8, 1804.

Orlow J. Smith, pro. to first lieutenant July 11, 1804.

Edward C. Huxley, pro. to first lieutenant March 31, 1864.

Horace Hubbard, killed in action Sept. 19, 1804.

George K. Hyde, disch. Oct. 23, 18G4.

Franklin J. Candee, pro. to first lieutenant March 31, 1864.

Daniel E. Marsh, pro. to first lieutenant Oct. 8, 1864.

Warren Alford, pro. to first lieutenant March 31, 1864.

John E. Wheeler, pro. to first lieutenant Nov. 30, 1804.

Henry S. McKinney.pro. to first lieutenant Nov. 30,1864.

David R. Norman, dismissed Sept. 1, 1804.

James M. Snowden, pro. to first lieutenant Feb. 4, 1805.

Lewis Muuger, pro. to first lieutenant Feb. 4, 1865.

Oscar Piatt, disch. Jan. 18, 1865.

Henry Skinner, pro. to first lieutenant Aug. 12, 18G4.

Homer S. Curtis, pro. to first lieutenant Feb. 4, 1805.

William L. Twiss, pro. to first lieutenant Nov. 30, 1864.

Austin P. Kirkham, must, out Aug. IS, 1805.

Joseph E. Fenn, pro. to fiist lieutenant Nov. 30, 1804.

Charles P. Travers, must, out July 20, 1805.

Frederick A. Lucas, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Charles A. Reynolds, must, out Aug. 18, 18G5.

Salmon A. Granger, must, out July 20, 1865.

John E. Sedgwick, pro. to first lieutenant March 2, 1865.

David C. Mnnsou, pro. to first lieutenant March 2, 1865.

Orville B. Tiffany, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Homer W. Griswold, must, out July 20, 1865.

Amzi P. Clark, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

William S. Cooper, must, out Aug. 18, 1805.

Henry S. Dean, declined commission.

Charles F. Anderson, must, out Aug. 18, 1805.

Henry R. Hoyt, pro. to first lieutenant March 2, 1865.

George D. Stone, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Admatha Bates, must, out July 20, 1865.

M''iniani A. Hosford, pro. to fii-st lieuteuant March 2, 1865.

Heman Ellis, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Joseph Pettit, must, out Aug. 18, 1805.

David E. Soule, must, out Aug. 18, 1805.

Seneca Edgett, must, out July 20, 1805.

Frederick M. Cook, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

A. N. Lamoreux, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Calvin L. Davis, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

NON-COMMISSIONED StAFF.

Sergeant-Majors.

Wilbur W. BIrgc, commissioned.

Bushrod H. Camp, commissioned.

Theodore F. Vaill, commissioned.

Lewis Munger, commissioned.

Frederick A. Lucas, commissioned.

E. Goodwin Osborne, killed.

John S. Parmelee, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Qunrtennajtler-Sergemita.

Edward W. Marsh, commissioned.

Edward C. Huxley, commissioned.

Edward F. Carrington, must, out July 7, 1865.

Robert Erwin, must, out Aug. 18, 1805.

Commisg'trtf-SergeanU.

Franklin M. Candee, commissioned.

Prosper W. Smith, must, out Sept. 11, 1865.

Hospital Steicards.

James J. Averill, must, out July 7, 1805.

Orson Buell, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Senior Principal Masiciajia.

Hicks Seaman, must, out July 7, 1865.

Wilson B. White, must, out July 7, 1865.

Frank J. Thomas, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Junior Principal Musicians.

Wilson B. Wniite.

Albert R. Nettleton, must, out July 7, 1865.

Company A.

The original infantry company, mustered In at Litchfield, Sept. 11, 1862.

Oyj/fiiJi.—William Bissell.

First Lieutenant.—Luman Wadhams.

Second Lieutenant.—Alexander B. Shumway.

Sergeants.

Dwight C. Kilbonrn, commissioned.

George B. Hempstead, commissioned.

Calvin B. Hatch, commissioned.

Joseph P. Parks, firet sergeant ; killed.

Henry Williams, first sergeant; must, out July 7, 18G5.

Corporals.

William H. Hull, disch. for disability Feb. 17, 1865.

Hiram S. Spencer, must, out July 7, 1865 ; sergeant.

Joseph E. Coe, died.

Ferris Pond, must, out July 7, 1865 ; sergeant.

Henry F. Cable, disch. for disability.

Charles W. Hinsdale, must, out July 7, 1865
;
quartermaster-sergeant.
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George W. Mason, quartermaster-sergeant ; com. as captain and A. C. S.

Beebe S. Hall, discb. for disability Feb. 12, 1SG3.

Musiciifiis.

Albert R. Nettleton, trans, to field and staff.

Frederick S. Fenton, must, out July 7, 1865.

Wagoner.

Edward S. Hempstead, must, out July 7, 1865.

Privates.

Charles Adams, Jr., died of wounds ; corporal,

Norman B. Barber, died.

Cbarles S. Barber, must, out July 7, 1865.

Nelson Barker, must, out July 7, 1865.

Howard W. Baldwin, discli. for disability April 11, 1863.

Nelson H. Barnes, discb. for disability Feb. 9, 1863.

Cbarles Belcher, discb, for disability.

Hiram Bradley, disch. for disability April II, 1863.

George Bradley, must, out June 14, 1865.

Leonard 0. Bradley, disch. for disability April 29, 1863.

Joseph D. Bradley, must, out July 7, 1805.

Andrew J. Brooker, died of wounds.

Thomas W. Beacli, must, out June 19, 1865.

Lewis Bissell, must, out July 7, 1865 ; corporal.

Leonard C. Bissell, disch. for disability May 8, 1863.

John S. Bishop, must, out July 7, 1863.

Apollos W. Bufll, disch. for disability Fob. 9, 1863.

Franklin M. Bunnell, died of wounds; corporal.

Lyman 8. Catlin, com. in colored troops.

Henry H. Catlin, disch. for disability June 3, 1863,

Edward Coe, com. in colored troops.

Eobert \V. Coe, disch. for disability April 26, 18G6.

Watson Cogswell, trana. to Veteran Reserve Corpe.

Russell Curtis, must, out July 7, 1865; sorgeant.

John Flesar, disch. for disability June 6, 18G5.

Henry G. Gibba, disch. for disability April U, 1863; corporal.

Silas M. Griswold, must, out June 15, 18G5.

Samuel Gunn, must, out July II, 1865.

William J. Hall, disch. for disiibility Doc. 26, 1863.

George N. Hannans, must, out July 7, 1865.

Anson "W. Heuloy, must, out June 22, 1865.

Henry W. Hotchkiss, must, out June 14, 1865.

Edward Hull, must, out July 7, 18Co.

Joseph S. Hubbard, must, out May 14, 1865.

John imand, killed.

Frederick T. Jcnninga, must, out June 28, 18C5.

Albert A. Jonetn, killed ; corporal.

Myron E. Kilbourn, must, out July 7, 1865.

James B. Lyons, must, out July 7, 1865.

Charles Slerrlman, must, out July 3, 1066.

Ueury W. Miner, died.

Lyman F. Morohougo, disch. for disability Juno 21, 1865.

Apollos C. Morse, died uf wounds; cor|)oral.

Kolbort P. Newberry, died.

£ben L. Cakes, must, out July 7, 1805; corporal.

E. Goodwin Ocl-orne, klllod; sorgcant-m^lor.

Luther Priilt, disch. for dittabilily March 27, 1806.

Watson Parnielee, die<I.

WlllanI H. Parnieleo, klllod.

Edwin F. Perkins, dlod.

Noruiau B. Perklus, disch. for disability.

WilUam H. I'lumb, must, out July 12, 18A5.

8«th C. Pund, niUBt. out July 7, 1865; corporal.

Gideon D. i'ond, disch. for disability 1>«. \H, 1862.

Edwin W. Pund, must, out July 8, 1865.

Goorgo W. I'ottur, dlod uf woun<ls; corporal.

Isaac L. Sauford, mutit. out July 7, 1865.

Garwood T. Sauford, must, out July 7, 1805.

Harry Scovillo, must, out July 7, IS05; »orgMin(.

Whiltng P. 8mtth, trans, to Veteran Heavrv* Curpa.

Wltllaui S. Smith, must, out May 31, 1805 : Mrgaaot.

Lyman J. Smith, Jr., klllml.

Goorgo 1), Stono, sorgeaDt ; comnilnlono«l,

Jackson Tompkins, dtsch. for disability April 20, 1902.

Thootlnro v. Vttlll, Bcrgoaut-msjor ; ctimiiilwloncd.

Wlllard J. Watruuo. must, out July 7, 1805.

DaTid P. Wetmore, must, out June 10, 1865.

Seth Whiting, disch. for disability in 1865; sergeant.

William S. Wilson, died.

.Tohn L. Wilcox, died of wounds; corporal.

Julius Winship, died.

Curtis P. Wedge, must, out June 19, 1SG5; corporal.

Robert Watt, killed.

Tlie RecruiU of Company A.

Atwood A. Aiken, must, out August, 18G5.

Newton T. Abbott, disch. for disability June 16, 1865.

Minott M. Atwood, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Josiah Atwood, must, out Aug. IS, 1865.

John Ames, must, out July 7, 1865.

Edmund P. Aiken, must, out June 22, 1865.

William Barton, killed.

John Bailey, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Edward A. Banks, must, out June 20, 1865.

Edwin A. Banks, must, out Aug. 18, 18G5:

Horatio N. Bennett, killed.

William H. Brewer, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

John Benedict, must, out July 14, 1865.

John A. Belden, must, out June 2, 1865.

Frederick W. Brashiug, killed.

Charles F. Blackniun, must, out Aug. 18, 1865,

Almon D. Bradley, killed.

Frederick G. Buetl, must, out Aug. 15, 1865.

James Bradley, killed.

Charles Carter, must, out Sept. 9, 1865.

Thomaa Cashmao, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Cliarles T. Conger, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Robert Crawford, must, out Aug. 18, 1865; corporal.

Robert Cogswell, must out Aug. 18, 1865.

David BI. Caudeo, died at AndersoDville.

Josoph Cusbor, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Edsoo S. Drayton, dlscb. for disability Feb. 27, 1S65.

Bobort Elill, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Stephen Fallen, killed.

Jamoe A. ForrK disch. for disability Aug. 4, 1805.

Charlca F. Goaleo, must out Aug. 18, 1865.

James Gibbons, must out Aug. 18, 1805.

John L. Gibbons, truiis. to the uavy.

Joseph Gardner, killed.

Albro W. Hopkins, disch. for diaaUIIty April, 1865.

Oliver Hitclicock. killed.

Abram Uuotor, must out May 20, 180S.

Edward Haley, trans, to Veteran Reaenre Oorpn

David J. Jennings, must out Aug. 18, 1805.

Sheldon B. Joneo, niuitt out Aug. 18, 186ft.

William Johnson, must, out Aug. 38, 186ft.

Mareellus J. Judd, dUch. r»r disability Juoa 10, 186ft.

Jacob June, must out Aug. 18, 1865.

Sylveeter Lampaon, died.

Herman S. Lathnip, must out Jaoe 23, 1805.

Lewis S. Ludlngton, dlod.

Simeon W. Loud, died.

John lAwIuf, must, out Aug. 18, 180A.

Daniel M. Lvlghlnn. must out Juno 21, 1865.

Tli»ma« LyiMts, must, out June 17, 1805.

Matthew McEim>«>, must out Aug. 18, I86ft.

JiMoph M<HMly. must out May 14, 1805.

John L. Miulsch, must out June 17, 1866.

Itenjaniln Merkor, kitio*!; corporal.

James Moor*, must out Aug. 18, 186ft.

Trunuu) Maltory, died of wouoUa.

I>avld UcBath. must out Aug. 18, 1866.

Tbunias Murri*, must out Aug. 18,1806; oorporaL

James Oswald, muat. uut

Jamoe L. Oiborn, must out May 26, 188A.

Ueury OslKirn, must out Aug. 18, 1865.

Jaoies M. Prindlo, must uut Aug. 18, 1866,

William IMert-o, must, out June 14, 1865.

Patrick Ryan, kllM.

DoiOaniln II. Ralhbun, died al AnderaonvUle.

Nohomlah Reynolds, mutt out June 3, 1805.

l^iomos Ityan, must out Aug. IM, lMfi6.

WlllU T. RJcharUson, dt«:b. fur dlsaUllly FeU 4, 1865.
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Jasoii St. John, diech. for disaltiiity June 6, 1SG5.

AmosH. Stilson, died of wounds.

Clarence Smith, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Robert Scull, killed.

Michael Shearer, must, out May 20, 18G5.

George Savage, died of wounds.

Reuben A. Swift, disch. for disability Nov. 1, 1SG4.

Homer F. Tilford, killed.

Ransom E. Wood, died uf wounds.

Horace N. Williams, diach. for disability Aug. 8, 1SG5; corporal.

Luther L. Weeks, must, out Juno 20, 1865.

George F. Waugh, must, out June 10, 1865.

Not Mustered Out ivilh Company.

Henry L. Bly, Johu J. Cogswell, Jeremiah Greany, James Hams, Charles

P. Lamb, Thomas Ledger.

Company B,

Captain.—James Hubbard.

First Lieutenant.—Frederick A. Cook.

Second Lieutenitnt.—OvGn H. Knight.

SergeanUt.

William H. Cogswell, comDiissioned.

Admatha Bates, commissioned.

Ambrose N. Nogue, must, out July 7, 1865.

Moses Cook, Jr., died.

James Parks, disch. for disability June 23,1805; first sergeant.

C-orporals.

Charles B. Benedict, must, out May 18, 1865.

George L. Johnson, must, out June 6, 1865; sergeant; quartermaster-

sergeant.

Ambrose Ilufcut, must, out July 7, 1805; sergeant.

James S. Thayer, disch. for disability Jan. 24, 1SC3.

John McGovern, must, out July, 1865.

Francis J. Young, trans, to Veteran Reserve Corps.

George W. Mansfield, disch. for disability August, 1865.

Musicians.

John H. Ward, must, out July 7, 1865.

Bradford B. Brown.

Wagoner.

KatbanicI Roraback, must, out July 7, 1805.

Privates.

Augustus Adams, must, out July 7, 1865.

Lewis Burton, must, out July 7, 1865.

Joseph D. Bierce, disch. Aug. 14, 1863.

Elislia A. Briggs, must, out July 7, 1865 ; corporaL

Heury Burgess, must, out July 7, 1865.

John H. Bruce, must, out July 7, 1865; corporal.

Frank Benedict, must, out July 7, 1S65 ; corporal.

Johu H. Brazee, disch. Sept. 10, 1863.

James Burns, must, out June 15, 1865.

Martin A. Besler, must, out Aug. IS, 1865.

Sheldon Carley, must, out July 7, 1805.

James Caul, killed.

Michael Casey, disch. for disability May, 1865.

Thomas Casey, disch. for disability Nov. 6, 1802.

Daniel T. Clark, must, out Aug. 18, 1865 ; corporal.

Joseph E. Dwy, must, out July 12, 1865.

Gurdou C. Davidson, died.

Austin Frink, disch. Feb. 12, 1863.

Frank Friar, must, out July 7, 1865 ; coi-poraL

John Funk, disch. May 29, 18G5, by order of War Department.

Franklin S. Graves, must, out July, 1865 ; corporal.

Wesley Gibbs, must, out July 7, 1865 ; sergeant.

James Gibbons, trans, to the navy.

Daniel Glaveen, killed.

Solomon Hinckley, must, out July 7, 1865.

John Handel, killed.

Luther Hall, must, out July 7, 1865.

Curtis Hall, sergeant ; trans, to Veteran Reserve Corps.

Benjamin E. Halleck, must, out July 7, 1865.

Dwight Halleck, must, out July 7, 1865 ; corporal.

Charles D. Uall, died.

William H. Ingraliam, disch. for disability Jan. 12, 1802.

Chester A. Jolinsun, died of wounds.

Lewis Slorey, disch. for disability Juno 9, 1866.

Henry M. Mai-shall. disch. for disability Feb. 12, 1863.

George Methveu, disch. for disability Jan. 3, 1865.

John McGraugh, sergeant; killed.

Peter Ostrander, died,

Adam Ostrander, killed.

William O'Rourke, must, out July 7, 1865.

James Ostrander, Jr., died.

Watson W. Peck, must, out June 1, 1865.

DauielO. Page, killed.

Charles Powell, must, out Aug. 18, 18G5.

Jacob F. Bapp, died of wounds.

Henry Slerry, disch. for disability April 3, 1863.

Myron R. Sterry, corporal ; killed.

George L. Sterry, must, out July 7, 1865.

Charles H. Segur, killed.

Luther E. Speed, must, out July 7, 1865.

Warren Silvernail, disch. for disability Nov. 3, 1862.

Joel Snyder, disch. for disability June G, 1865.

James Surdam, must, out July 7, 1860.

Johu W. Turner.

Henry Voelker, corporal ; killed.

Carlf Vohisen, died.

John H. AVhite, died.

Henry S. Wheeler, sergeant; died of wounds.

Monroe Whitenuin, corporal ; killed.

William Waters, Jr., must, out July 7, 1865.

Amos Wooden, died of wounds.

Heury Wiesing, killed.

Not Mustered out with Compmnj.

Corp. Franklin Miller, Joseph Brennan, William Beecraft, George A.

Caul, Sheldon Daskam, Patrick EUwood, William H. Hotchkiss,

Thomas Lee.
The liecruiU of Company B.

Henry L. Ayers, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Robert W. Ames, died of wounds.

Charles H. Ball, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

John Best, killed.

Francis Burger, killed.

Samuel V. Benedict, killed.

Ambrose Brazie, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Richard A. Brown, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Thomas Baldwin, corporal ; must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Silaa Burton, must, out Aug. 18, 1805.

Robert W. Bragg, killed.

Almeron Burton, died.

William Bradley, trans, to the navy.

Newton W. Cogswell, disch. by order War Department May 27, 1865.

John W. Coons, died of wounds.

Ezra Clark, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

George Cooper, must, out June 10, 1865.

Patrick Canfield, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

William Connell, disch. for disability June 0, 1865.

Joseph Compton, must, out March 10, 1865.

John Crothers, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

James Collins, trans, to the navy.

Thomas Carroll, trans, to the navy.

Thomas Carral, must, out Aug. 18, 1805.

John A. Decker, disch. for disability June 9, 1865.

William Dunn, missing.

Daniel Duulavey, must, out Aug. 18, 1805.

Patrick Delaney, died.

Philip Davis, trans, to the navy.

Hiram Fanning, disch. for disability Feb. 26, 1865.

John C. Foote, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Peter Flood, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Thomas Fox, corporal ; must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

William Finn, trans, to the navy.

Paul Gaetel, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Thomas Hyer, died.

Walter D. Hoag, sergeant; must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Thomas Huskinson, must, out June 17, 1865.

William S. Horton, died.

Ciiai'Ies S. Higgins, must, out June 10, 1865.
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William Howard, must, out Aug, 18, ISGj.

Louis Kraeger, must, out Aug. 18, ISGo.

Moi-tkner M. Lillibridge, discli. for disability June 13, 1SG5.

Thomas G. Lombard, must, out June 1, 1865.

David Lacy, missing.

George Lowe {1st}, must, out May IS, 18G5.

George Lowe ('2d), must, out May 18, 1805.

Peter JIalatli, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Ezra B. Morris, killed.

Gillitrt McMahun, must, out June 4, 18G5.

Godfrey Stiller, must, out Aug. 18, 18G5.

John McMaliOD, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Thomas Moore, must, out Aug. 18, 1866.

John Murphy, trans, to the navy.

John Manross, disch. for disability Feb. 3, 1865.

Correl F. North, quartermaster-sergeaut ; must, out July 7, l^^'es.

John O'Brien, must, out May 23, 1865.

William F. Ohmau, disch. for disability May 22, 1865.

Daniel T. Phillips, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Charles Powel, nuist. out Oct. 18, 1865.

Jolm Quirk, must, out July 28, 1805.

Allen Rogers, must, out June 10, 1865.

Reuben R. Speed, died after release from Andersonville.

William H. Surdam, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Henry Stevens, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Franklin B. Stevens, killed.

Walter C. Sparks, corporal ; killed.

Wilson W. Scoville, died of wounds.

George F, Sherwood.

James Sheridan, coriroral; must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Lucius 0. Spencer, killed.

George A. Skiff, killed.

Eliaa P. Scott, killed.

John B. Stohl, killed.

Henry Tanner, died of wounds.

Horace N. Thoi-pe, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Chester A. Weller, must, out Aug. 18, 1805.

Charles 0. Wimples, sergeant; must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Henry Winters, died.

Not Musteretl Out with Company.

Horace Ball, Isaac Bcardsloy, Benjamin Caae, William B. Curtia, Henry
Dryer, William W. Foster, Janioo Graham, John Hughea, Iloger

Lilly, George W. Ml Lean, William Mooro, Hcdf}* Ostrandor, John
Ross, Daniel E. Taylor, Corp. Charles Turner.

CoMp.iNy C.

The original Infantry company, mustered in at Litchfield, Sept 11, 1862.

Otptaiii.—James Q. Rice.

First Z,iVi((e(ifii(r.—William T. Spencer.

Second LUtUeiuint.—Moiris H. Sanford.

SergtnnU.

William SIcK. Rico, comnilHstonod.

George K. Hyde, Ilr«t sergeant; commissioned.

James P. MoCabe, commiiisioned.

Mattbew H. Huxley, died.

Orsamtis R. Fylor, commissioned.

Oorporais.

Humor W. Grlswold, first sergeant; commissioned.

Url Wailhaina, died.

David C. Munson, sergeant; commlMioned.
George W. Nowcomb, tlrst sergeant ; must, out July 7, 18C.'».

Frederick A. Lucas, sergeant ; sorgeaut-mi^or: commlwloneU.
Duvid J. Thorp, killed.

Martin L. Judil, sergeant; must, out July 7, 1865.

AVIIIiam W. Hyde, disch. for dlsabillly Aug. 8, 1803.

MuMiciiinM.

Hit kd Seaman, Junior primary niUBlrliin
; must, out July T, 186&.

Andrew E. Workman, must, out July 7, 1865.

\y<igoH*r.

George D. Beutley, must out July 7, 1669.

}\watm.

Cliarlos G. Adams, corporal ; mui*t. out July 20, ISCJV,

Wllllnm L. Adams, must out July 7, 18Q6.

Avory M. Allyn, must out June 20, 1865.

Milo F. Barber, disch. for disability April IS, 1804.

Frederick Barber, must, out July 7, 1865.

Edward M. Balcom, corporal; must out July 7, 1865.

Cyr. M. Bartholomew, killed.

William H. Beach, corporal; killed.

Zophar Beach, must, out June 20, 1865.

Darius C. Beach, corporal ; must, out July 7, 1865.

James M. Benton, must, out May 18, 1865.

John R. Blakeslee, must, out July 7, 1865.

George P. Blakeslee, must, out July 7, ISGo.

Virgil B. Bissell, must out July 7, 1865.

Philo Cleveland, must, out July 7, 1865.

Alberts. Cleveland, sergeant; must, out July 7, 1805.

George W. Cleveland, color corporal; killed.

Erastus Cleveland, died of wounds.

Orrin H. Cooke, must, out June 22, 1865.

George W. Curtiss, must, out July 7, 1865.

Daniel B. Curtiss, must, out July 7, 1865.

Calvin L. Davis, sergeant; commissioned.

Edward M. Dunbar, corporal ; must out July 7, 1865.

Joseph Durocher, must, out July 7, 1865.

Orlando D. Evans, died.

Seymour H. Eldridge, sergeant ; must, out July 7, 1865.

John Friend, must out July 7, 1805.

Hobart Griswold, corporal ; must, out 1865.

William Herald, died.

Samuel Hunter, must, out July 7, 18G5.

Edward C. Huxle3', regimental (luartermoster^ergeant ; commissioned.

Cornelius A. Hnnimond, disch. for disability Nov. 9, 1802.

Fretlerick O. Hills, cori>oraI; disch. for disability Aug. 19, 1865.

Henry H. Ives, must, out July 7, 1805.

James Jukes, must, out July 7, 18G5.

Arthur G. Kellogg, died.

Daniel E. Lyman, died.

Orson M. Miner, corporal; killed.

Avor>' F. Miner, sergeant; must, out July 7, 1865.

Dennis Murphy, must, out June 22, 1865,

McKonzie Millanl, must out July 7, 1865.

James Moran, must out May IH, 18G5.

Cliarlee E. Morse, must, out July 7, ^SG5.

William E. McKee, disch. for dltal>illty Juno 24, 1865.

Correl F. North, traus. to Co. II as quartormastor^sergeant

Carlton N. Nichols, disch. for disability April 20, 1865.

Tliood. A. Pendleton, quartermaster-sergeant; must out Juljr 7, 1865.

Henry I). Pierce, must, out July 8, 1865.

Joseph P. Reed, muttl. out June 1, 1866.

Owen Reddy, must. i>ut May 20, 18G5.

William T. Robinson, die<l.

Sooley Richmond, must, out May 18, 1863.

JoMpb Sherry, sergeant; dis* li. fur dlmbilUy Aug. 1, 1865.

Charles J. Soudant, munt. out May 18, 18G5.

Henry A. Stoddard, di»h. fur disability Dec. 20, 1862.

George C. Stewart, must out Jul> 7, 1H05.

John H. Stewart, died.

Royal Stone, corpural ; must out July 7. 1660.

Alonzo Smith, sergeant ; must out July 7, 1865.

George C. Thompson, must out July 7, 186S.

Henry L. Vaill, corporal ; died of wountls.

Wright Waterhotise, curiK>ral ; inunt. out July 12, 1805.

Wiltiiun V. Wadhanis, must out July 7, 1805.

Wlltanl N. Wailhanis, cut-ponU ; died.

Henry Bl. WootlrufT. illml.

Lucien N. Whiting, disch. for disability Jan. :11, 1865.

Harrison Whitney, corporal ; disch. for disability June 2, 1805.

Charles G. Whooler, cor|toral ; must, out June 2, 1BO0.

Mito Young, died.

TAs RtcmiU of Cvrnpan^ C
William E. Albln, corporal ; must, out Aug. 18,1865.

Charles H. Albln, corporal ; must, nut Aug. IS, 1005,

John J. Abliott, diml of acciilental wouuils.

Koyal G. Andrews, died.

Eugene G. Austin, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Thomas Bldwidl, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Alfri^l Hlnckmsn, died at .\ndorsonvllle.

Peter ilurkc, klllo<I.
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Jamea A. Brjan, must, out May 21, 1865.

Eichanl Butler, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Henry Barnes, must, out Aug. IB, 1805.

William Butler, died.

Peter Bunts, must, out July 20, 1805.

Ezra B. Bouton, killed.

Chauucey E. Brown, trans, to Veteran Reserve Corps.

George W. Brown, died.

Enos S. Benedict, disci), for disability June 22, 1SG5.

Orange S. Brown, corporal ; must, out Aug. 18, 18G5.

William H. Bray, killed.

Christian Bjornsern, died of wounds.

Newton A. Calkins, trans, to Veteran Reserve Corps.

Georgo C. Curtis, must, out Aug. 18, 1805.

AdelLert M. Calkins, trans, to Veteran Reserve Corps.

Marshall A. Calkins, trans, to Vetoian Reserve Corps.

Alfred Calkins, must, out June 14, 1805.

Joseph II. CaiiHcliI, curporal ; must, out Aug. 13, 1865.

'

Giles A. Cone, died.

Charles Clark, disch. for disahility June 30, 1805.

William Dover, must, out June 22, 1865.

John Belowry, disch. for disability June 12, 1865.

Watson E. Foster, trans, to Veteran Reserve Corps.

Patrick Harvey, must, out Aug. 18, 1805.

Franklin Iloxie, must, out Aug. 18, 1805.

\Villhim II. Hart, died.

Leonard Ilowor, must, out Aug. 21, 1865.

Soth M. Iloi-sey, must, out Aug. 18, 1805.

Engene Hyatt, must, out Aug. 18, 1805.

James M. Hayes, died.

Anson W. Johnson, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Edward B. Janes, must, out Aug. 18, 1-65.

Harlow Johnson, died.

Ilezekiah Johnson, disch. for disability June 23, 1865.

William Kelley, killed.

James Karney, must, out Aug. 18, 1805.

James Lynn, corporal ; must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Abraham W. Losey, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Wolcott Little, must, out Aug. 18, 1805.

Frederick G. Lampson, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Thomas 0. Mui-phy, must, out Aug. 18, 1S65.

Jeremiah McCarty, killed.

Thomas Milnes, must, out May 18,1865,

Timothy Mahar, corporal ; must, out July 18, 1805.

John McDonald, must, out Aug. 18, 1805.

George W. Manning, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

William H. Norville, died.

Andrew H. Nichols, must, out June 1, 1805.

Patrick O'Connor, must, out Aug. IS, 1865.

George O'Brien, must, out May 18, 1865.

Henry W. Ostrum, must, out Aug. 18, 1805.

Henry Prindle, must, out Aug. 18, 1805.

George Pierce, killed.

Lucius B. Palmer, died of wounds.

James P. Qninn, first sergeant; must. onfAug. 18,1865.

John Qninn, must, out Aug. 18, 1S65.

James W. Roswell, must, out June 13, 1805.

Hawley Reed, must, out June 13, 1805.

Erastus Ruscoe, must, out Aug. IS, 1865.

Charles Ruscoe, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

James Rogers, ilied.

Jarvis M. Richards, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

John W, Steele, must, out Aug, 18, 1805,

Thomas B, Stewart, must, out Aug. 18, 1805.

Albert M, Scoville, died of wounds.

Andrew H, Sanford, died,

John Smith, must, out Aug, 18, 1805.

Edwin Thorn, disch, for disability June 5, 1865.

George Taylor, must, out Aug, 18, 1805.

Freeman M, Thurston, must, out Aug, 18, 1865.

John H, Ure, killed,

Edward White, must, out June 20, 1865.

George E, Warren, must, out Aug, 18, 1865.

Albert r, Williams, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

William S. Wilson, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Peter 0. Wilson, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Not Miislered Out with Compmnj.

Henry Benson, Jerome Chapman, William Curtland, James Dayton,

John Devirnne, Charles Flannigan, John H. Hayes, Andrew Harris,

James Hill, John Jones, Philip Manly, Edward Northrop, Henry

W. Richards, Henry Sminer, Robert Scott.

COMI'.^NY D.

The original infantry company, m\istered in at Litchfield, Sept. 11, 1862.

CnjjdiiH.—William B. Ells.

Fimt LiCTtoiii"'.—William H. Lewis, Jr.

Second Lieutenoiit.—liohert A. Potter.

Sergeants.

Thomas D. Bradstreet, disch. for disability March 9, 1863.

Theodore C. Glazier, disch. for disability Dec. 26, 1862; afterwards com.

in U. S. C. T.

Horace Hubbard, commissioned.

Andrew J. Tuite, must, out July 7, 1865.

Edgar B. Lewis, died.

Corporals.

Salmon B. Smith, sergeant ; died.

Samuel Brown, sergeant; must, out June 1, 1S05.

Lewis Munger, sergeant ; sergeant-major; commissioned.

James McCormick, sergeant; must, out July 7, 1865.

William W. Johnson, died.

David B. Wooster, quartermaster-sergeant ; killed.

Emery B. Taylor, sergeant; must, out May 18, 1805.

Frederick B. Webster, died.

Musicians.

Belden S. Brown, must, out July 7, 1805.

John S. Atwood, disch. for disability Juno 3, 1805.

W'lgoner.

Henry Pond, must, out July 7, 1865.

Prirates.

Albert F. Alfred, disch. for disability May 31, 1805.

William C. Atwood, com. in U. S. C. T.

Norman W. Barnes, must, out July 7, 1805.

Henry C. Barnum, disch. for disability July 11, 1864.

George H. Bates, corporal ; must, out July 7, 1865.

George L. Beach, died of wounds.

James A. Beach, must, out June 3, 1805.

Wallace E. Beach, sergeant; must, out July 7, 1805.

John D. Benjamin, must, out July 7, 1865.

Harvey Bronson, must, out June 2.'>, 1805.

Charles L. Bryan, must, out July 13, 1865.

David A. Bradley, sergeant; disch. for disability July 18, 1865.

Henry N. Bnshnell, sergeant; must, out July 7, 1865.

John D. Castle, disch. for disability June 9, 1865.

Emory W. Castle, died of wounds.

Edgar J. Castle, died of wounds.

James H. Cable, must, out July 7, 1865.

Martin H. Camp, must, out July 7, 1805.

John C. Chase, sergeant ; must, out July 7, 1865.

Charles G. Cleveland, died.

Amzi P. Clark, commissioned.

Hiram T. Coley, died of wounds.

George T. Cook, must, out July 7, 1865.

David Davenport, killed.

Philo A. Fenn, killed.

Joseph B. Fenn, first sergeant ; commissioned.

Benjamin Filley, died a prisoner.

Joseph Gooley, must, out July 7, 1805.

George H. S. Goodwin, died of wounds.

John Grieder, died of wounds.

Zelotes F. Grannis, sergeant ; must, out July 7, 1865.

Charles E. Guernsey, corporal ; died of wounds.

Albert J. Hotchkiss, must, out July 7, 1865.

George H. Holt, died.

Edward C. Hopson, corporal ; killed,

Charles I, Hough, sergeant ; must, out July 7, 1865.

Franklin W, Hubbard, died.

Swift McG. Hunter, must, out May 30, 1865.

William Lindloy, disch. for disability April 11, 1863.

Timothy Malone, must, out July 7, 1805.
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Thomas Mann, died of wounds.

Hiram Mattoon, died of wounds.

Jerome Hunger, must, out July 7, I8G0.

Kalph W. Munsou, sergeaut; must, out July 7, 1865.

John MurpJiy, killed.

Simon J. tJ'Donnell, must, out July 7, 1865.

George L. Penfield, must, out July 12, 1865.

Horatio G. Perkins, died.

James H. Pritchard, died.

Daniel 0. Purcell, sergeant; must, out July 7, 1865.

^N'alter Stone, died of wouuds.

Mark B. Stone, must, out July 7, 18G5.

Ira H. Stoughton, sergeant; must, out July 7, 1365.

Justin 0. Stoughton, must, out July 7, 1865.

James Straun, died at Andersonville.

Charles V,'. Talcott, must, out July 7, 1865.

Samuel R. Terrell, must, out July 7, 1865.

Rurritt H. Tulles, died.

Heury Tollea, must, out July 7, 1865.

Josiah J. Wadsworth, died.

Matthias Walter, must, out Juue 13, 1865.

Charles R. Warner, killed.

Charles Warner, must, out Juue 13, 1865.

William H. Whitelaw, disch. for disaUlity May 18, 1865.

William Wright, corporal ; killed.

William Westou, must, out July 7, 1865.

Not Mustered Out uoUh Company.

Abraham Dobsou.

The BecruiU nf Company D.

George E. Atwood, must, oxit Aug. 18, 1865,

Dwiglit S. Atwood, missing.

Henry Ashiairn, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

George W. liutler, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Richard Beehe, killed.

Charles Barley, must, out May 18, 1865.

Joseph Iluyce, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Pomeroy Becraft. kilU-d.

William I'. Burr, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

William J. P. Buck, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Charles F. Brown, must, out June 15, 18(J5.

Tlioniiis BiiUuss, corponit ; must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Willium li. Barnes, died a prisoner.

John H.Conklin, killed.

Erastus W. Converse, died of woundfl.

Edgar W. Conklin, must out Aug. 18, 1865.

George Comstock, killwl.

Johu L. Couklin, mutrt. out Aug. 16, 1865.

Geurgo (>. Conklin, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Henry Can*, must, out Aug. 18, 18<!5.

George E. Clark, Irane. to VeteraD Rosorro Corps.

Carlos Curtis, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Chauncey Culver, must, out Juno 20, 1865.

Joseph Cleveland, trons. to Uie DftTy.

lliram K. Castle, muHt. out Aug. 18, 1865.

Kelsoy I). Clark, must, out Aug. 18, 1665.

William N. Cuckofair, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

JohnrHui S. Dow, must, out July 6, 1865.

Nehemiah H. Diitti^n, must, out Aug. 15, 1865.

Edward Dwyor, curpural ; must, out Aug. 15, 1865.

Jacob Deniuth, died of wounda.

William KIttut, Jr., must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Walter M. Fux, killed.

Nathan II. Goer, di»ch. for dlaahHity May 31, 1865.

Phili|> II. Coldf, must, out Juue 4, 1K65.

Everett GnswoUl, trans, to Vt'tprou Itraerve Corp*.

Charles B. Guttnmn, returned to a PaniuyUanU regiment.
William 11. Harrison, tram, to Veteran ReMrve Corfia.

Honry Jones, trans, to the navy.

Elmore HotchklM, must out Aug. 18, 1869.

Irfiwrence A. Hunt, must, out Aug. 18, 1866.

CharlcM I>. Hanson, dietl a prisoner.

Jonathan Hall, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

FmiiciM Howiinl, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Olel F. Hanson, trans, to the navy.

William UlUikor, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Samuel Hine, must, out Aug. IS, 18G5.

James Holland, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Francis Hawley, disch. for disability Oct. 3, 1864,

Morris B. Hanford, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Frederick R. Keith, fii-st sergeant ; must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

William Kapser, must, out June 10, 1865,

Edwin LyoD, trans, to the navy.

George A. Lyon, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

George L. Lyon, must, out Aug. 18, 18C5.

Henry Lynch, died of wounds.

Robert Lowrie, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

William H. Liudley, trans, to Veteran Reserve Corps.

Seeley S. Moi-sc, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Henry W. Miller, killed.

John Moore, trans, to the navy.

John M. Moseley, must, out Aug. 18,1865,

Heuiy Munger, must, out Juue 13, 1865.

Samuel Nelson, trans, to the navy.

Walter Gates, must, out July 3. 1865.

Frederick Olroyd, must, out July 7, 1865.

Frederick Patchen, nmst. out Aug. 18, 1865.

John Peterson, trans, to the navy.

Tompkins J. Patterson, trans, to the navy.

William W'. Richardson, died.

William Russell, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

CliauDcey F. Reed, must, out June 19, 1865.

Charles H. Sherwood, disch. for disability Sept. 21, 1865.

William Smith, disch. for disability June 19, 1865.

Peter Schultz, trans, to the navy.

Stephen C. Smith, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Austin Shelley, disch. for disability July 8, 1865.

James Slater, killed.

Henry Smith, most, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Robert Tompkins, must, out .\ug. 18, 1865.

Frank J. Thomas, sergeant; leader of band ; must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Daniel Van Allen, killed.

Alexander Vogel, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Truman D. Wooeter, dlscb. fur disability Jan. 12,1865.

Beivjamtn Williams, must, out May 18, 18G5.

John L. Wheeler, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

William Wirt, musL out Aug. 18, 1865.

KtU Mtutervd Out vciUt Company.

Irwin C. Beach. Daniel Itoyce, Cliarles F.Gaio, Heur^- J. HubUrU, Mor-

timer Uolcomb, Fraacls McLaughlin, Charles U. Webb.

Company E.

The original Infantry company, musleretl In at Lltchfleld, Sept. 11, 1863.

OipfaJa.—Jeffrey Skinner.

Fim Z.inUmaN(.—Benjamin F. llueforrl.

Sacond IMuUmini,—Chester D. Cleveland.

IHram D. Gaylonl, oommlMloned.

Orlow J. Smith, first sergeant; coramUsloned.

Salmon A. Granger, first sergeant; c«>mmlMloDeU.

George While, disch. |ier onler March 9, 1865.

Henry Skinner, commiailuuad.

Cbfporaia.

David Miller, mutL out June 30, 1866.

Sherman II. Cowlea, dlsih. for dlsaUlltj May 31, 1863.

William S. Cooper, sergeant; cuaunlssloned.

Stephen W. Sage, sergeant ; raost. oat Jaljr 7, 1865.

Mason Adkins, most oot July 7, 1666.

Frederick W. r>aniels. killed.

Charlrs A. Hsynohla, sergeant; commlalonad.

Ruel U. PerklDS, killed.

Wilson D. White, Junior priadpal moticiaD; miut o«t July 7, 1866.

Myron Ferris, killed.

Wagomtr,

Alf^vd O. Dlia, must oat Jaly 7, 1665,

Sherman A. Apley, mining.

James R. Baldwin, cori<oral ; missing.

Edward Beach, must, out July 7, 1665.

Edwio 8. BMcher, dlach. Uarvh 25, 1863.
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Patrick T. Birmingham, must, out July 7, 1805.

Almeron Bunnell, must, out July 7, 1865.

Charles M. Burr, corporal ; disch. for digability May 23, 1865.

Edwin R. Canfield, quartermaiiter-sergeaut ; must, out July 7, 18G5.

John Clirietina, must, out July 7, 1865.

Edward F. Carrington, regimental quartermaster-sergeaut; must, out

July 7, 1865.

Philip D. Carroll, sergeant; must, out July 7, 1805.

Frederick M. Cook, sergeant; commissioned.

Alfred Comine, killed.

Robert A. Cutler, must, out July 7, 1865.

Henry A. Dayton, sergeant; must, out July 7, 1865.

Adam J. N. Dilly, must, out July 7, 1805.

Edwin Downs, disch. for disability May 1, 1863.

Lewis Downs, killed.

Bernard W. Do.vle, must, out July 20, 1805.

Adam Feathers, must, out July 7, 1865.

Oliver C. Fitch, disch. Nov. 20, 1802.

Birdsey Gibba, killed.

George N. Gibbs, disch. for disability March 31, 1864.

Richard C. Gingell, disch. for diaability.

Jamps A. Green, disch. for disability July 5, 1804.

Manwarini? Green, accidontully killed.

Anthuny B. Guernsey, disch. Nov. 2, 1802.

William Hall, sergeant; must, out July 7, 1805.

Charles II. Hart, sergeant; must, out July 7, 1805.

Luther W. Hart, disch. Nov. 25, 1803.

Timothy A. Hart, sergeant; must, oilt July 7, 1865.

\Villard Hart, killed.

George W. llinlbut, died.

"William S. Hurlbut, died.

William R. Hubl)ard, died.

Asa Humiston, died of wounds.

Alouzo J. Hull, corporal; killed.

Julo Jacksou, must, out July 7, 1805.

Matthew Jacknian, must, out Sept. 10, 1865.

Henry C. Kent, missing.

Isaac R. Knapp, corporal ; must, out July 7, 1865.

EHziir Slitltbie, died of wounds.

Walter Martin, killed,

Charles G. Mason, mvist. out July 7, 1805.

Herman P. Moore, must, out July 7, 1865.

Henry Overton, trans, to the navy.

George H. Pendleton, corporal ; died of wounds.

Joseph Pettit, sergeant; commissioned.

Charles Henry Pine, must, out June 20, 1865.

Jerome Preston, died.

Henry A. Rexford, killed.

Theodore Rubbins, corporal ; must, out June 1, 1865.

Ednuind B. Sage, must, out July 7, 1865.

William Seymour, disch. for disability March 25, 1805.

Lucius S. Skinner, must, out July II, 1865.

John Smith, must, out July 7, 1805.

Prosper W. Smith, regimental commissary-sergeant ; must, out Sept.

11, 1865.

Philip Stabell, musician; must, out July 7, 1805.

Darwin S. Starks, died.

George A. Tatro, killed.

John M. Teeter, killed.

Benjamin B. Thayer, sergeant; must, out July 7, 1865.

William H. Turner, trans, to Veteran Reserve Corps.

Hubbard E. Tuttle, sergeant; commissioned.

Wells Tuttle, must, out July VZ, 1865.

Hubert A. Warner, sergeant; must, out July 7, 1865.

Marcus J. Whitehead, disch. for disability June 2, 1865.

Warren M. Wood, disch. June 13, 1865, by order of War Department

Julius Woodford, died.

Wallace W. Woodruff, corporal ; must, out July 7, 1805.

Not Muetered OiU leitk Company.
William Gager.

The. Recruits of Company E.

Jackson Ayres, must, out June 20, 1865.

Jacob P. Arnold, must, out July 7, 1865.

Christopher Arnold, trans, to Veteran Reserve Corps.

John H. BoughtOD, corporal ; died of wounds.

Henry Bush, 1st sergeant; must, out Aug. 18, 1805.

Ernst A. Basnej*, disch. for disability Oct. 14, 1864.

Joseph E. Baton, must, out Aug. 18, 1865,

Robert J. Bulcroft, must, out June 19, 1805.

Samuel U. Brewer, must, out Aug. IS, 1865.

Sylvester Barrett, died of wounds.

Martin Blake, missing.

Thomas H. Birge, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

James E. Billings, disch. for disability April 20, 1865.

Henry Clark, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Welles Clark, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Benjamin G. Carman, must, out May 12, 1865.

Bernard Carbury, missing.

John J. Cummins, trans, to the navy.

Julius Collins, sergeant ; must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

John Campbell, disch. for disability June 15, 1865.

William Downer, must, out Aug. 18, 1805.

Cliarles N. Decker, must, out Aug. IS, 1865.

Michael Donahue:, died a prisoner at Salisbury.

David Durand, must, out Aug. 18, 1805.

Jarcd P. Evarts, killed.

Jolin D. Ellis, must, out Aug. 18, 1805.

Heman Ellis, commissioned.

Matthew Fitzgerald, died a prisoner.

Stephen J. Green, died of wounds.

Francis Gallaghei', must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Thomas H. Gilbert, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Charles Griffin, must, out June 13, 1865.

Augustus Hain, disch. for disability Oct. 1, 1864.

William A. Hosford, trans, to Co. D and conmiissioned.

Erie Hamilton, band ; must, out Sept. 9, 1805.

Charles B. Howard, disch. for disability June 27, 1865.

Peter Jordan, disch, for disability Jan. 10, 1865,

Louis Jaeger, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Boughton D. Knapp, missing.

John Koons, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Patrick Keegaii, tians. to Veteran Reserve Corps.

Patrick Kaine, killed.

Jacob Leroy, must, out June 1, 1865.

John Lemley, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Patrick Lynch, disch. for disability May 23, 1865.

CImuncey S. Loomis, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

John Leonard, must, out July 3, 1805.

Heni-y G. Mitchell, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

John McDonougli, killed.

James Mooney, killed.

John Mcl'herson, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Edward Moggon, must, out June 21, 1805.

James Maloy, sergeant; must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Charles Martin, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

John McDonald, must, out Juue 9, 1865.

John O'Connell, disdi. for disability May 22, 1865.

Frederick D. Painter, killed.

Nathan Perry, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Joseph Robinson, died.

Edward Reicker, disch. for disability April 29, 1865.

Jacob Riley, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Charles H. Rowe, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

William H. Rowe, must, out Aug. IS, 1805.

Julius Rogers, died.

Edward Rugg, must, out Aug. 18, 1804.

Elbert B. Rowe, must, out Aug. 18, 1805.

John Rankin, disch. for disability June 9, 1805.

Pliilip Shelley.

John Sculley, missing.

John Scott.

James Simpson, missing.

Charles H. Stanley, killed.

Levi B. Stone, must, out Aug. 18, 1805.

Thomas Tracy.

Edward H. Turner, trans, to Veteran Reserve Corps.

Ebeuezer C.Terrell, discharged.

John J. Toole, missing.

Talmer Tatro, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Henry Van Dusen, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

William Warner, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Erastus Woodworth, killed.

Prelott Wilbur, must, out Aug. 18, 1866.



MILITARY HISTORY. 91

Michael Welch, must, out July 10, 1865.

Henry P. Warner, must out May 22, 1865.

Henry Wenzel, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Thomas Welch, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Charles H. Walsh, must, out Aug. IS, 1865.

Allen B. Young, died a prisoner at Salisbury Nov. 10, 1864.

Charles H. Ziegelmeyer, must, out June 28, 1865.

Not Mustered Out with Company.

George W. Boger, William Brown, Charles Collins, William Drew, John

Dunigan, Tierre Gigin, John Jackson, John Keon, George Kenna,

Michael Klein, Robert Livingston, Lorenzo Moseley, Augustus V.

Mercken, John Miller, Philip Nagle, John Neickel, Henry Saggan,

Charles Warren, William J. Wood, Guorge Williams.

Company F.

The original infantry company, mustered in at Litchfield, Sept, 11,1862.

Oii?^im.—Edward W. Jones.

First Lieutenxnt.—James Deane.

Second Lieuteniint.—Oliver P. Loomis.

Sertjeants.

Warren Alford, commissioned.

Samuel E. Gibbs, killed.

Alfred C. Alford, killed.

Carlton Seymour, com. in colored troops.

William L. Twiss, commisBioned.

CorporaU.

John E. Wheeler, sergeant; commissioned.

Edward S. Roberta, sergeant; must, out July 7, 1865.

Roswell G. Benham, regimcDtal quartermaster-sergeant ; diech. June 15,

18G5.

Norman M. Rust, com. in colored troops.

Edward D. Lawrence, sergeant; must, out July 7, 1865.

Thomas IJ. Spencer, sergeant; must, out July 7, 1865.

Ruel S. Rice, diseh. for disability April 11, 1863.

John Rodemyer, must, out July 7, 1865.

Municiatu.

Watson H. Deming, discli. Nov. 26, 1862.

John L. Merrill, must, out June 23, 1865.

Wagoner.

Henry H. GrilTln, must, out July 7, 1865.

rrinite*.

George N. Andrus, died of wounds.

Abornelliy Baker, must, out July 7, 186G.

Eli!4ha L. Bancroft, must, out May 18, 18G5.

Augiitttus K. Barret, died.

Albert Beckwith, died.

Hopkins J. Bunham, niUHt. out July 7, 1865.

Charles Burr, disch. for disability July 30, 1863.

Harlan D. Benedict, died.

Albert F. Bradley, discli. for dlsubflity June 21, 1805.

Albert P. Briggs, disch. fur diaubiiity May 5, 1863.

Henry C. Butler, i<ergeaiit; must, out July 7, 1865.

Willlani Burku, must, out Juno 3, IKU'i.

Horace F. Ctilkins, corporal ; must, out July 7, 1865.

Wayne B. Castle, disrii. for disability June 3, 1865.

William II. Cult, killed.

John Carroll, must, uut June 1, 1865.

Abraiu Coons, corporal ; niunt. out July 7, 18G5.

Henry G. Dailey, dIsch. for dldabiltty March <J, 1865.

Miles H. Day, dIsch. for diiiabiilly Full. 13, 1863.

Edward K. Dayton, disch. for dlaabiUly 3lay 16, 1861.

Kugeno Decker, must, out July 7, 1866.

Watson W. Deane, must, out Juno 22, IHCo.

Alfred M. Dowd, cor|ioral; must, uut July 7, 1806.

Ilunillu X. Kggleston, died.

Pliilandor Ktumonn, died.

Georgp L. Fairchlld, must, out July 7, 1H65,

William O, Ganluor, curpurul ; muni, out July 7, 18G5.

William Gorman, must, uut July 7, 18ti>'>.

Jumefi H. Hakes, sergeant; discli. for dlsublllty June 15, 1866.

Setli Iluklus, color curpoml; disch. by order War Deimrtuicnt May 4,

1806.

Solomon G. Hayward, died a prisoner.

Alg'n G. Henderson, must, out July 7, 1865.

William G. Henderson, died.

Bennett Hines, must, out June 15, 1865.

Ira D. Jones, sergeant ; must, out June 11, 1865.

Lorenzo Light, sergeant; killed.

Joseph M. Marsh, disch. for disability Feb. 18, 1S63.

Patrick McGrath, must, out July 7, 1865.

Edward McGrath, must, out July 7, 1865.

Andrew McGrath, trans, to Co. L.

Joseph McManus, must, out June 15, 1865.

Cornelius H. Merrell, died of wounds.

Henry C. Merrell, must, out June 22, 1865.

Charles H. Mitchell, disch. for disability Dec. 20, 1864.

Edwin R. Mitchell, corporal; must, out July 19, 1865.

Pierre Mundry, disch. for disability April 8, 1863.

Morris E. Munger, must, out July 7, 1865.

George Munson, must, out July 7, 1865.

Thomas Noonan, sergeant; must, out July 7,1865.

Joseph Nul, must, out July 7, 1865.

Koswell Root, must, out July 7, 1865.

Edward H. Roys, must, out July 7, 1865.

Charles N. Rust, must, out July 7, 1865.

Daniel Ryan, must, out July 7, 1865,

Patrick Ryan, must, out July 7, 1S65.

John W. Shaw, disch. for disability Aug. 1, 1865.

George Simons, killed.

Edward P. Smith, sergeant; must, out July 7, 1805.

Homer D. St. John, must, out July 7, 1866.

Allen B. St. John, sergeant ; must, out July 7, 1865.

Richard S. Thompson, died.

William H. Tiffany, must, out July 7, 1805.

Oiville B. Tiffany, first sergeant ; commissioned.

Epbraim Tucker, must, out March 28, 1865.

Harvey Tucker, corporal; must, out July 7, 1865.

Jesse Turner, sergeant; must, out Juno 17, 18(>5.

Jefrers>.ui 51. Tyler, corporal ; must, out July 7, 1805.

George W. Warren, must, out May 18, I8G5.

Juhu C. Weeks, disch. by order uf War Deftartmeut Majr 29, 1805.

Kot Slustered OtU teUA Compatiff.

John H. Batterman.

The ltf<rrv%U o/ Company F.

George V. Allen, must, out Aug. 18, 1808.

William Allen, mu.tt. out Aug. IH, 1806.

Hyron C. Benson, must, out Aug. 18, 1866.

Stautun S. Belden, must, out Aag. lb, 1866.

Anmil Bnlley, must, uut Aug. is, 1865.

JoiH'ph Busby, milling.

Oils Billings, must, out June 10, 1S05.

Juhn Brown, muttt. out Aug. 18. 1806.

Olaph Beu«t>n, moA. out Aug. 18, iKOS.

CliMtcr Barnoft, muMt. out Aug. IH, 1805.

Alexander Blerce, miut. out Aug. 18, 1865.

Jay J. Cushman, must, nut Aug. 18, 1806.

John Crupea, muni, out Aug. 8, IHG.*!.

PwlglK Caar. diwli. fur dlmbllity Juno 3. 1K65.

Juhn II. M. Cbavelaud, dis< h. fur diMibtllly Feb. 8, lK>l.

Timothy B. Cnnnon, muat. uul .\ug. ix, 1865.

Thomas r«lnen, niiut. uut Aug. IH, IMIA.

Rol«rt Cahlll, must uut Aug. 181, 1866.

Gt'urge Decker, must, out Aaf. 18, 1866.

Etlmund Dohcrty, dl*^.

rhilaiidor Egglestuii, iHmI.

Harvry Funl, dl«l.

Cliarlra W. Urlswidd, dioil of woundi.

Parley B. (iumnions, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Juhn K. Hnll. kille<l.

Dyruuo lUuh y, cur])unil ; dlMrh. for diMblllty June 20, 1865.

Janira Hyde, muot. out July M, 1805.

Jamea O. Ilulclikli«, must, out June 20, 1860.

Charica llerrllle, must uut Aug. IH, 1866.

Ot*urge llowanl. must, out Aug. 18, IhOA,

Juhn Johnmrn, disch. fur dlsAMIIIy June 4, 1866.

Tinintby F. Kvlly. disch. fur dUablllly Juiw U, 1866.

John Kelley, must, uut Juno 20, 1805.
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John Koni, must, out Aug. 18, 186.5.

Guilford M. Kirkliam, band; muBt. out Aug. 18, 1865.

James Keith, discli. for disability May 14, 1805.

Lorenzo K. Lemoine, died.

Micliael Lloyd, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Thomas Lomax, must, out Avig. 18, 1865.

Louis Laugelile, trans, to the navy.

Jefferson T. Lent, killed by accident.

Oscar M. Mitchell, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Henry J. McLean, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Benjamin A. Murphy, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

George F. MoNary, Ist sergeant; must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Thomas BIcMahon, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Michael McMahou (1st), must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Michael McMahon (2il), must, out Aug. IB, 1865.

Michael McMalion (3d), nuist. out Aug. 18, 1865.

Sherman Messenger, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Alexander McCormick, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

William Malthouse, nuist. out Aug. IS, 1865.

William C. Jlorris, nuist. out Aug. 18, 1866.

Timothy O'Callaghan, killed.

Robert II. Bunt, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Peter Riley, died.

John Biley, must, out Aug. 18, 1805.

William Scoville, must, out Aug. 18, 1805.

George W. Scoville. corporal ; must, out .4ug. 18, 1865.

Xlonry 0. Sweet, sergeant ; must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Charles Spreyor, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Rufus B. Smith, must, out July 7, 1805.

Thomas Smith, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Charles Thompson, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Henry Van Dousen, died.

Robert J. Van Deusen, nmst. out Aug. 18, 1865.

Martin Wilcox, must, out Aug. 18, 1805.

Elibha Wells, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Edwin Walden.must out Aug. 18, 1865.

Edward Wadsworth, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

John Williams, must, out Aug. 18, 1805.

Alexander Waters, quartermaster-sergeant; disch. for disability May

18, 1805.

John Williamson, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

K«t Mmtereil Out with Company.

Patrick Burke, Ilenry II. lleofman, Thomas Kelly. Lack Murray, James

Mahouey, General H. Morgan, John O'Brien, Charles Van Roden.

Company G.

The original infantry company, mustered in at Litchfield, Sept. 11, 1862.

C<ii)(iu'ii.—Edward F. Gold.

FirU Lit'tttetiaitt.—Lyman Teator.

Second Lieutenant.—J. Milton Gregory.

Serg&nite.

Michael Kelley, commissioned.

Gad N. Smith, commissioned.

Henry S. Dean, 1st sergeant; declined commission ; disch. for disability.

Silas A. Palmer, trans, to Co. M.

Ira Chapman, disch. by order of the War Department June 10, 1865.

Corporals.

Julius A. Glover, sergeant; disch. for disability July 6, 1805.

Charles P. Tniver, sergeant ; commissioned.

Henry P. Milford, quartermaster-sergeant; must, out July 7, I860.

Albert Robinson, disch. for disability Dec. 21, 1864.

Joseph B. Payne, quartermaster-sergeant ; killed.

Gilbert E. Lake, disch. for disability April 11, 1863.

William S. Shepard, sergeant; must out July 7, 1806.

Musicians,

Myron Hubbell, died.

James H. Van Buren, died of wounds.

Wagoner,

Rufus S. Frink, must, out July 7, 1866.

Privates.

George M. Bennett, disch. for disability Dec. 31, 1862.

William H. Bowen, must, out June 1, 1806.

Alfred L. Benedict, must, out July 7, 1806.

Mathew P. Bell, Jr , sergeant ; disch. for disability June 22, 1865.

FieJerick F. Butler, must, out July 7, 1805.

Franklin B. Bierce, must, out May 30, 1805.

Henry W. Baker, disch. for disability Sept. 11, 1863.

Daniel Buxton, disch. for disability Jan. 21, 1863.

Rnsselt T. Barnum, disch. fur disability Jan. 5, 1866.

George W. Braguc, nmst. out July 7, 1866.

Jerome Chipman, disch. for disability Fob. 22, 1805.

George V. Capron, must, out June 12, 1805.

Nelson Clark, must, out July 7, 1865.

John Chase, must, out July 7, 1865.

John Curtin, disch. fur disability March 15, 1865.

William Cliuton, must, out July 7, 1803.

Michael Curley, disch. for disability March 15, 1865.

Philo L. Cole, died.

James B. Capron, must, out July 7, 1865.

Harvey Clark, died.

Jusiah B. Corban, must, out May 18, 1865.

John 0. Doherty, must, out July 7, 1805.

Miles E. Dean, must, out July 7, 1805.

Patrick Delaney, must, out July 7, 1805.

William Frazear, disch. for disability June 8, 1805.

John Grady, must, out July 7, 1806.

Frederick D. Holmes, must, out July 7,1865.

Charles C. Ilinman, died.

Edmund E. Hoffman, nmst. out July 7, 1865.

Edward Hover, must, out July 7, 1805.

Wesley L. Holmes, must, out June 22, 1865.

William H. Ingrabam, must, out July 7, 1865.

Charles Ingersoll, sergeant; died of wounds.

Nelson T. Jennings, must, out June 6, 1865,

George L. Janes, must, out June 1, 1865.

Nathan H. Jewitt, disch. for disability Dec. 22, 1802.

Barney Kinney, died of wounds.

David Kimball, must, out July 7, 1865.

David Killmer, must, out July 7, 1865.

Charles King, must, out July 7, 1805.

Walstein Lounsbury, trans, to Veteran Reserve Corps.

Sidney Lapham, must, out July 7, 1865.

John Lapham, died.

Elijah C. Mallory, disch. for disability Jan. 21, 1863.

Ralph J. Miner, disch. for disability March 8, 1863.

Rullin B. Korthrop, must, out July 7, 1806.

George D. Palmer, must, out July 7, 1866.

Henry Peck, killed.

George W. Page, killed.

John F. Peck, nmst. out July 7, 1865.

Albert A. Peck, died.

Charles J. Reed, killed.

Lucien G. Rouse, died.

Charles R. Swift, sergeant; must, out June 9, 1865.

Frederick Skepard, sergeant; must, out July 7, 1865.

Lewis J. Sawyer, died.

Thomas Sherman, must, out July 7, 1865.

Dwight B. Studley, died of wounds.

Charles II. Smith, discharged for disability June 6, 1865.

Merritte H. Stone, died.

George W. Studley, sergeant ; must, out July 7, 1865.

Elisha Soule, killed.

Henry Sliadt, must, out July 7, 1865.

Patrick Troy, corporal ; died of wounds.

Elmore E. Waldron, disch. for disability Nov. 1, 1864.

Allen Williams, died.

Horace Williams, must, out July 7, 1865.

William Young, disch. for disability May 10, 1863.

Ji'ot Mustered Out wUh Company.

Robert A. Bard, Edward H. Cross, Dayton S. Reed, Isaac L. Reed.

The liecruits of Company G.

Edward F. Brague, must, out Aug. 18, 1866.

Herman E. Bonney, died.

George Burton, disch. by order of War Department April 14, 1805.

Niram Buttolph, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Charles H. Bentley, must, out Aug. 18, 1805.

John Byrnes, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Wesley Bunnell, trans, to Veteran Reserve Corps.
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Andrev J. BoIIpr, must, out Aug. IS^ 18G5.

John H. Bradley, died.

George W. BiiUUvin, must, out June 9, 1SG5.

Albert H. Builey, must, out June 12, 1865.

George Clinton, died of wounda.

John Christie, disch. for disability Blay 17, 1S65.

Frank L. Cadwell, band ; must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

George A. Case, disch. for disability June 15, 1865.

Henry E. Fenn, must, out Aug. IS, 1865.

Charles I. Fenn, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Lions S. Goodrich, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Eli Grover, must, out Aug. IS, 18G5.

Peter Gilmet, disch. f .r disability May 31, 1865.

Michael Gallagher, disch. for disability Feb. 28, 1865.

Thomas H. Graham, must, out May I'J, 1S65.

Frederick Ilyer, must, out Aug. 18, 1805.

William H. Hosnier, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

John Hawver, trans, to Veteran Reserve Corps.

John W. Ilamblin, died.

Lewis Ilamblin, trans, to Veteran Reserve Corps.

Michael Henry, must, out Aug. 18, 18G5.

James Hicks, must, out Slay LJO, 1865.

Hubert D. Hoxley, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Zina D. Hotchkiss, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Dwight A. Hotchkiss, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Peter Joray, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Charles Keech, disch. for disability Jan. 13, 1865.

Timothy Leonard, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Asa Lee, disch. for disability Jan. 8, 18C5.

Stephen McMastfi-8, disch. for disability Sept. 8, 1864.

John BI. McLaughlin, must, out .\ug. 18, I860.

Patrick Murphy, must, out Aug. 7, 1865.

Paschal P. North, died.

Sylvester Prout, died cf wounds.

Nathan Payne, disch. for disability F«b. 13, 1864.

"SViIliaui S. Palmer, nmst. out Aug. 18, 1865.

James M. Palniei-, died of wounds.

Frederick J. Pierce, corporal; must, out Aug. 18, 18C5,

Henry W. Parker, trans, to navy.

Gilbert G. Rose, must, out June 1, 18C5.

Erastus Rusco, must, out Aug. 18, 1865,

George Roberts, trans, to the navy.

John lU-ynulds.

Junios Stanley, must, out May 30, 18C5.

Orville Sluver, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Swift B. Smith, first sergeant; must, out Aug. 18, 18G5.

Horace (.'. Sickmund, died of wuuuds.

William A. Slover, died.

Micliuul Sliannon, muBt out Aug. 18, 1865.

William Smith, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Thunuu Si/.br, niuttl. out Aug 18, I860.

Albert N. Smith, must, out Juuo 1, 1865.

George C. Short, traim. to the navy,

Julin R. Thompson, must, unt Aug. 18, 18G5.

John Tully, must, out Aug, 18, 18G5.

William Thompson, trans, tu the navy.

Quincy Thayer, trans, to Veteran ReMtve Cur|>e.

Goorgo E. Wansor.

Lockwuod Wuldron, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

William White, died.

Chnrlos A. Whet-h-r, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Chauncey L. Warner, killed.

WiU.m G. Waterman, klllud.

Heniy II. Watrons, died.

Not 3ftut^tftl Out with Compmty.

Lorenzo Buttulph, Jul. uByford, John Ihirn«,WlIllnm Burgi-w, Uwrenc*
Canllold, JHnieit Lynch, Joseph Mnllor, Thoniwi MtOiuloy, John
McCu.d, Mark SIniy. Dwight Suiilh. John II. Taylor, D«iOuuln
WUiwn, John \V. WllUamii, ClmiloB Way.

COHPA.NV II.

The original infimtry company, mustore^l In at LUchfiild, 8«pt. II, I86i
Cn])<(itti.—Goorgo S. Wltllums.

Fir»t /.iVH/rnanf.—Frederick M. Berry.

tkcoml /.J«u/rnaRt—Walter Buruliou

7

Sergeants.

Daniel E. Marsh, commissioned.

Charles W. Eobertsou, disch. for disability Feb. C, 1803.

Garwood R. Merwiu, died.

Charles F. Audei-son, first sergeant; commissioned.

Romulus C. Loveridge, com. in colored troops.

Corporals.

David E. Soule, sergeant; commissioned.

Henry C. Noble, sergeant; disch. for disability Feb. 4, 1S04.

Minor A. Strong, sergeant; nmst. out July 7, 1865.

Lewis W. Mosher, sergeant; ilisch, for disability May 24, 1804.

Homer S. Curtis, sergeant ; commissioned.

Irwin C. Buckingham, sergeant; disch. for disability May 24, 1804.

Edward F. Lyon, sergeant; must, out July 7, 1805.

Horace E. Jones, must, out July 7, 1865.

ilusicLans.

Andrew E. Bailey, must out May 18, lSO.i.

Orlo H. Buckingham, corporal ; nmst. out July 7, 1805.

Wuijoner.

Harmon T. Edwards, must, out July 7, 1S05.

Pricates.

Charles Brinell, disch. for disability May 20, 1SG3.

Henrj- A. Burton, corporal ; disch. for disability June 7, 1805.

Gustavus H. Black, nmst. out June IC, 1805.

Ira S. Bradley, died.

Edgar W. Calhoun, nmst. out July 7,1863.

Henry A.Calhoun, died.

Russell B. Camp, must, out June 1, 1865.

Alfred Cable, disch. for disability Juno 1, 1865.

Sheldon Clark, died.

Hiram Cable, disch. for dlsjibility May IS, 1805.

George Chamberlain, disch. for disability Juno 3, 1865.

William E. Canflchl, trans, to Co. 31 as sergeant.

Benjamin F. Dujihani, sergeant ; must, out July 7, 1865.

William E. Disbrow, coriKiral ; must, out July 7, 1805.

William H. Dains, died.

George S. Er» In, corjiornl ; must, out July 7, 1865.

Olivoi B. Evltb, must, out July 7, 1805.

Sheldon Fox, corjioral; muat. out July 7, 1865.

Henrj' Fry, must, out July 7, ISlVi.

Frauds L. French, must, out July 7, 180.'».

Henry S. GrlJIey, corp.rul; disch. for disahllily April 3, 18<H.

Hornliu S. Hoyt, corporal ; uiiMl. out July 7, I8C5.

Heury R Hoyt, trans, to Co. M ; 1st sergeant ; cumniinluogd.
Austin 11. Humphrey, Mirgratit; mutt, out July 7, lt)6S.

John Ilurrlngtun, must, out July 7, 1465.

Cyrus lluwlau<l, niusl. out Juno 1, 1805.

Ilurnmn IlorTnian, must, out July 7, 1803.

Charica W. Jackson, killed.

EIroy .S. Jeniilngv, must, out July 7, 1805.

Jerome Juhnaun, dlwl.

ADdrow S. Kinney, niutl. out Feb. 0, 1863.

JuiH'ph S. Knowles, dlach. fur iliuMllly April 0, 1865.

rre.lerlck J. Logan, disch. for diMblllty April 12, 18(13.

Daniel U. Manhall, nmst. out July 7, I8C5.

John N. .Meriinible, culor cur|>inil ; must, out July 7, 1845.

Jalrua W. Mourvw, Jlich. for illsul.lllly March 0, 18A3.

Henry S. Morehouse, niu.t. I'Ut July 7, 1805.

Aiuun D. KIchuls, must, out July 7, I8S5.

Fraiikliu NIclioU, corporal ; dlKli. for dUaklllly Mi^jr 'U, I86t.

George P. Toller, must, out July 7, IHC'i.

Oeorga 11. Puller, curpural ; must, uut June 12, 1806.

Alauaon Teet, must, out July 7, 1865.

I.uren Peel, must, uut July 7, 1805.

ilerlert A. lived, died a prisoner.

Nathan II. Itooi, trans, tu Co. M u 1st nrgewil; muot. out July 7, 1803.

Henry C. Straight, killed,

lleulien II. 8horwwKl, must, out July 7, 1805.

Lucius 8. Sherman, must, uut July 7, 1805.

Iltimer S. Sackett, cur^iural ; must, out July 7, 180A.

Slppheu V. Sne<llkGr, niiut. out May 21, 1IH15.

Uriah F. Sueillker, curiural ; disch. fur disability Judo 0, 1865.

Onrlllo A. Sawyer, must, out July 7, 1866,

LewlsSt. John, died.
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Horace N. SaiiforJ, sergeant; must, out July 7, 1865.

Dauiel T. Sumers, must, out June 22, 1805.

Jerome Tiius, must, out July 7, 18G5.

Setli N. Ta>lor, sergeant ; must, out July 7, 1SG5.

Williiim H. Tliompsoii, corporal; must, out July 7, 1S65.

Kilward K. Thompson, must, out June 22, 18G5.

AVilliaui C. Waruer, died.

Frank J 'Warner, corporal ; must, out July 7, 18C5.

Charles A. Wiiy, must, out Juno 20, 18li5.

John F. Williauis, must, out July 7, 1805.

Alfred N. Whittlesey, diacli. for disahility June 3, 1865.

Burr WilliamB, disih. for disahility March 27, 1805.

David V. Wright, dis<-h. for disahility Jan. 23, 1863.

Lewis S. Young, must, out July 7, ISOS.

T}ie lievniits uf Compaiiij II.

Newell W. Andrews, must, out Aug. 18, 18G5.

Doctor Brouaon, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Orson Biiel, regimental hospital steward; must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Charles E. Bet-man, must, out Aug. 18, 18G5.

Rufus Bceman, must, out Aug. 18, 18G5.

John A. Becmiin, discli. for disahility May 31, 1864.

Henry Briilge, died.

Henry I). Burr, corporal ; must, out Aug. 18, 18G5.

Tlieodoro A. Barnes, killed.

Charles H. Butler, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Frank A. Beanisloy, must, out May 18, 18G5,

Jesse A. Banlen, muwt. out Aug. IH, 180r>,

Thomas IJono, must, out June 30, 18G5.

Daniel Cahill, sergeant; must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Daviil B. Iiishrow, must, out Aug. 18, ISGo.

Robert Krwin, trans, to field and staff na qnartermaster-sergeant ; must.

out Aug. 18, 1865.

Stales B. Flandreau, corporal ; must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Charles V. Fhuidreau, must, out Aug. IS, 1865.

Adam U. Graham, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Charles K. Gill'ert, trans, to Veteran Reserve Corps.

John B. Cavitt, must, out Juno I'.i, 18G*».

Charles A. llnul, must, out July 15, 1865.

Kdwin llnrringtou.

John Hania, trana. to Veteran Reserve Corps.

John Haley, must, out Aug. 18,1865.

John Ilickey, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Julin J. narrower, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Willis Hartwell, died.

Charles Iseltiui, sergeant; must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Iiu Jones, must, out Aug. 18, 1SG5.

Apollos Jennings, must, out Aug. IS, 18G5.

William Kcclor, disch. for disahility Jan. 23, 1864.

Michael Kelly, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Joseph R. Lovoridgo, died.

Patrick Lyncli, missing.

Charles E. Lampson, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

William F. Lane, must, out July 3, 1865.

Henry Mallett, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Henry Murphy, disch. for disixhility April 18, 18G5.

Hiram Murphy, must, out June 20, 1865.

Charles McDermott, must, out June 30, 1865.

Heuo' M. Marshall, must, out Aug. 18, 1863.

Edward Mead, killed.

Ernest Micliaelis, must, out June 1, 1865.

Albuit N. Mai-sh, must, out July 21, ISfio.

Harvey J. Kicliolson, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

George Northrop, must, out Aug. 18, 1SG5.

Hugh O'Donnell, quartemiaster-sergeant ; must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

John O'Brien, must, out Aug. IS, 18G5.

James M. Parsons, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Harry Payne, must, out June 10, 1865.

Sylvester C. Plait, died.

Daniel Payne, died of wounds.

Marcellus R. PisUon, trans, to Veteran Reserve Corps.

John R. Phelps, corporal ; must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Harvey Pease, died of wounds.

John Rogers.

George Squire, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Homer Sterling, disch. for disability April 18, 1864.

Adam Sebastian, mxist. out Aug. 18, 18G5.

Jonathan T. Salmons, must, out June 12, 1865.

AVilliam L. Stoddard, must, out June 19, 1865.

William Smith, must, out June 12, 1865.

James K. Taylor, must, out Aug, 18, 18G5.

Henry J, Thompson, must, out June 21, 18G5,

Jeremiah A, Thompson, must, out June 17, 1865.

Henry Thecklenherg, must, out Aug, 18, 1865,

George Wedge, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Botsford Whiteheiid, disch. for disahility Feb. 4, 18G4.

Edward H. Willard. cori>oral ; must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Theodore F. Warner, must, out May 14, 18G5.

Moses L. Wigglesworth, died a prisoner.

John Williams, must, out Aug. 18, 18G5,

Louis Weber, must, out Aug. 18, 1S65.

Not Mustered Out irUh Company.

Benjamin Bierce, Andrew A. Bronson. John Blaney, James Brown, Fer-

dinand Cole, Barney Casey, Henry W, Davis, William W. Fox,

George Hancock, William S. Kohler, Henry Miller, William H. Rice,

Samuel Turner, George Wood, George Wilson.

Company I.

The original infantry company, mustered in at Litchfield, Sept. 11. 1862.

C'tpUtiu.—Eli Sperry.

Fir»t Lu'uteiitint.—Gideon D, Crane,

Seeoiid Lieutenant.—George E. Belts.

Sergeants.

James M, Bradley, com, in colored troops,

Walter J, Ortun, quartermaster-sergeant; died of wounds.

Henry S. McKinney, commissioned.

Marcus D. Smith, sergeant; must, out July 7, 18G5.

Corporiil».

Cyrus T. Nicholson, 1st sergeant ; disch. for disahility June 23, 1865.

George C. Bradley, sergeant; must, out July 12, 1865.

Herbert V. Peck, disch. for disahility Dec. 5, 1862.

Charles M. Rowley, must, out May 18, 1865.

Henry F, Hard, died.

John S. White, died.

Dexter C. Northrop, must, out July 7, 1865.

Musicinns.

Frederick M, Minor, discli, for disability Juue 5, 1865.

James C. Policy, died.

Wagoner.

Charles P. De Forest, disch. for disability April 8, 1865,

Privates.

Charles N, Baldwin, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Isaac Briggs, died.

Wiljiam Barry, disch. for disability Jan. 31, 1865.

Edward Botsford, corporal; must, out July 7, 1865.

Patrick Brady, corporal; died of wounds.

Charles Botsford, must, out May 18, 1865.

Hennan Bachman, disch. for disability March 9, 1863.

George X>. Bennett, must, out June 23, 1865.

Charles Barney, killed.

Henry Dunliam, Jr., disch. for disability Feb. 12, 18G^.

Charles F, Flushman, corporal; died of wounds.

Charles H. Fogg, sergeant; must, out July 7, 1865.

Harvey H, Fox, died.

James W. Green, disch. for disability Feb, 27, 1865.

AIdiou D. Galpin, killed,

John F. lliirrigau, corporal ; must, out July 7, 1865.

John Hutchinson, must, out July 7, 18G5.

Ruel Huzen, disch. for disability Juue 0, 1SG5.

Juhn S. Hall, corjKiral ; must, out July 7, 1865.

John T. Hall, disch, for disability Nov. 20, 1863.

Frederick R. Hard, disch. for disability May 27, 1865.

Hubbard Hotchkiss, sergeant; must, out July 7, 1865,

Levi H. Hotchkiss, disch, fur disahility April 26, 18G5.

Samuel D. Hayes, must, out May 22, 18G5.

George E. Judson, sergeant; died of wounds.

Friend F. Kane, killed,

Daniel E, Leach, trans, to Veteran Re8er\'e Corps,

Amos A. Lucas, disch. for disability June 22, 1865.

Israel Lucas, disch. for disability Dec, 18, 1865.
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John McLaughlin, must, out June 22, 18G5.

\Villis J. Mallory, must, out July 8, 1SG5.

Oscar H. Manchester, ilisch. for disability Feb. 7, 18G5.

Joseph Miller, must, out July 7, lS(j5.

Samuel M. Mallory, diach. for disability May 8, 1863.

Arthur B. Newy.

Harson B. Northrop, must, out July 7, 1865.

William O'Brien, must, out July 7, 1865.

Erastus F. Pi-ck, must, out July 7, 1865.

Bela Potter, corporal; must, out July 7, 1865.

William H. Reynolds, must, out July 7, 1865.

John J. Rogers, must, out JuJy 7, 1865.

Henry C. Rogere, corporal; must, out July 7, 1805.

George W. Root, corporal ; must, out Maj* 28, 1865.

Thomas Shaw, sergeant; disch. for disability June 1, ISGl.

Frederick C. Slade, must, out July 7, 1865.

Chauncey Seeley, corporal ; must, out July 7, 1865.

Charles T. Squires, corporal ; trans, to Veteran Reserve Corps.

Andrew Tiernay, disch. for disability June 7, 1805.

Charles T. Tyrrell, corporal ; must, out July 7, 1865.

Ira Thomas, disch. for disability March 4, 1864.

Horatio S. Thomas, died.

Charles L. Thomas, died.

Daniel S. Taylor, must, out June 1, 1865,

Timothy F. Walsh, sergeant; missing.

Curtis Wheeler, died of wounds.

Jareb B. Wiiiton, must, out July 7, 1865.

Ambrose H. Wilsey, disch. by order of War Department Aug. 17, 1865.

Benjamin Wellman, quartermaster-sergeant ; must, out July 7, 1865.

Kot Mustered Out with Company.

Elliott Dibble, sergeant; Charles H. Lum, corporal; Jamea Burton,

George A. De Forest, Thomas Soothill.

The Itecrtdte of Company I.

Edward Bell, corporal; died.

Ham A. Barnes, died of wounds.

Asahel 1>. Brockett, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Charles Bennett, died of wounds.

Abner Bennett, disch. for disability Nov. 16, 1804.

David Backus.

George I. Babuock, Jr., trans, to Co. Los sergeant.

Harnum Clark, niU!>t. out .\tig. 18, 1865.

James C^>mbor, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Levi Callendor, must, out June 1, 1865.

Addison Cook, kille<l.

David Cramer, killed.

Steptu'U Carney, must, out May 30, 1863.

Joseph Ctirnal, died.

Lewis Clark, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Francis Dugau, must, out Aug. 18, 1805.

William Davis, must, out July 8, 1866.

Timothy Elwell, died.

Suntufl East man, must, out Aug. 18, 18G5.

Samuel B. Ferri.-*, killed.

Charles Fux, di»ch. for dionbility Juno 17, 1805.

William Fitzgerald, killed.

William Gregg, dlctch. for disability Aug. 23, 1804.

Fetlx Gillick, niuat. out Aug. 18, I80-V

Ctuiielius Gnebel, coriwral; dlwl.

Thonuw llarjior, must, out Aug. 18, 1805.

John llolt, coriH>ral ; muHt. out Aug. 18, 1805.

Edwin Holland, iMncU. for diutbillty Juno 22, W>5.

JamoH Ileuly, niUHt out June 10, \S(>^.

Myioii M. Junnliig(4, must, out Aug. IB, 1805.

Andrew KuofT, muHt. out Aug. 18, 1605.

Thomoii Kooler.

Jtwon T. liaraiieon, muit out Mf^ 18,1805.

Mantliall Lines, illcd a prisoner.

Charles A. Locklln, uiust. out July 8, 180A.

Davis A. Lo4-klln, niuHt. out Aug. 18, 1805.

Itiaac W. Lucklln, inutit. out .\ug. IH, 1805.

tieorgo W. Loi'klln, dleil of wouiida.

Tlu^ure LtK-kwiHxl, curpoml ; mutt, out .\ug. 18, 1805.

Seymour LolMlelt, divU of Mouuda.

Bunks Louiubnry, died.

John Mcgueony, dlw:li. for dlMbllity June 10, 1805.

Hanford Meeker, must, out Aug. 18, 1805.
"

Charles S. Meeker, must, out Aug. IS, 18G5.

John McDavitt, must, out June 1, 1865.

David W. Manning, corporal; disch. fur disability July 15, 18C5.

Olin Nash, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

John K. Northrop, died.

Jeremiah Newcomb, must, out June S, 1865.

Stephen Olmstead, must, out June 22, 1865.

Henry Payne, must, out .\ug. IS, 1865.

John B. Parker, must, out June 27, 1865.

George Parsons, trans, to the navy.

James Ragao, must, out Aug. IS, 1865.

James T. Roche, must, out Aug. IS, 1865.

Charles Smith, must, out June 3, 1865.

Charles W. Speer, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

James Sidney, died.

William Smith, trans, to the navy.

William H. Smith, trans, to A'eterau Reserve Corps.

Warden Stammer, sergeant ; must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

John Smith, trans, to navy.

James Sweeney, must, out Aug. 18, 1805.

Edward Sturges, disch. for disability 3Iay 23, 1865.

Leandar Snider, must, out Nov. 23, 1865.

John Simmons, must, out Aug. 18, 1805.

John Stephenson, must, out Aug. 18, 1805.

William B. Shaw, must, out June 18, 1865.

Henry Taylor, disch. for disability April 29, 1865.

John Turley, disch. for disjtbility Juno 20, 1805.

Theron M. Woodruff, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Nelson B. Williams, trans, to Veteran Reserve Corps.

John Wright, must, out Aug. 18, 1805.

Charles Wright, disch. for disability July 30, 1865.

Albert Woodruff, died a pii:$oncr.

Daniel P. Wakcman, must, out Aug. 18, 1805.

John Wells, must, out Aug. 18, 1805.

William P. Walker, must, out Aug. 18, 1805.

George U. Walker, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

William Webster, must, out June 13, 1865.

Nut Miuitfred Ottt irtlh Ounpanjf.

George Alfurd, Domiulck Burns, Allen Brundage, TlioDiaaS. Carter, John
Clayton, John Farley, Williaiu HeoilUons. Jamott Hill, Joseph Miller,

Jftoies K. Tuylor, James W. Wi-uver, Slelviu It. Warner, Irviu E.

Warner.

COMPANV K.

The urigiaal infantry company, musterwl i» at Lllchtteld, ^ej-t. U, isoi.

Cupl'tin.—Edward U. Pock.

f'iral Z.irn/«H>iHf.—Augustus H. Fenn.

Stcoitd LifuicHatU.—Jaoiea X. Cue.

Smj^attt*.

Biuhrod n. Gamp, wrgeant-iniO'ir; coiumiMionrtl.

Joliii E. Se<lgwlck. Jr., flmt sergeant; conuniMloued.

Oicur Piatt, commi«sluned.

William S. WatBou, died.

Edwla D. Deeniaii, Ant •crgeant ; must, out Julj 7, 1605.

i'urpiirtih.

Janiw R. JohnaoD, ilbcli. for dL«bllity Jan. 13, 1804.

Wolcitt Co<»k, dlwl.

ilinuii Uu UoU, disch. for dlsabllltj Nor. 17. 1802.

Alait»tin A. Neguo, must, out July 7, 1805.

David D. I^ke, killH.

Tniman O. SnufonI, must, out July 7, 1805.

Lant Kyan, died a prtaaoer.

Jamea Martin, most, out July 7, 1805.

Qaurce A. Uoyt, Jr., dlc«l.

M'tiijom^r,

Minor C. Wedge, diKli. for diMtllUy Aog. 13, ISO.

Franklin Amlnis, kilh-l.

Noble Audrus, nilMlug.

laonc Baldwin, kille«l.

Cheater L. DaiicmO, mtiaf. out July 7, 18GA.
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Hiram L, Bronson, must, out July 7, 18G5.

John II. IJuruw, must, out Juue 24, 1865.

Clmiles A. Ciiiuiibell, must, nut July 7, 1SG5.

Submit B. Castle, disch. for disability Nov. 20, 1SG3.

Cyrene M. Clark, discli. for disability Feb. 6, 18G3.

John II. Cooper, sergeant ; must, out July 7, 18Go.

George R. Colby, must, out May 18, 1SG5.

Heniy Colby, died.

Daniel Conley, disch. for disability May 1.'), 18G4.

Frederick A. Dauchy, disch. for disability Nov. 24, 18G4.

Frederick Ette, must, out July 7, lSCi>.

John Ette, must, out July 7, ISGo.

Charles D. Kerris, died.

Patrick Farrell, sergeant ; must, out July 7, 1SG.3.

Edward Griffin, killed.

"Wesley F. Glover, dieil.

Charles Gregory, corporal; must, out July 7, 18G5.

EHzur A. Hodge, corponil; must, out July 7, 18GJ.

Uillium Hart, must, out Blay 18, 18Go.

John Million, disch. fur disiibility Aug. 12, 18G3.

Steiilu'u P. Ihuluw, trans, to Veteran Reserve Corps.

Thomi\s Herbert, must, out July 7, ISCo.

Anglehert Herman, nnlBt. out July 7, 1*>G5.

Charlt?s Hungerford, must, out July 7, 18G5^

Levi X. JacMS, disch. fur disability Jan. 24, 18G3.

Alfred Juno, died of wounds.

Bernartl C. Keegan, disch. fur disability Aug. 11, 18G5.

Alexander D. Kasdon, killed.

Sidney A. Law, died.

Artlmr Lockwood, sergeant ; mnst. out July 7, 18G5.

John A. Ludford, disch. for disability Feb. 25, 18G5.

George H. McBurney, killed.

Erwin Munroe, must, out July 14, 1865,

John Munstiu, died of wouuds.

Henry Murpliy, disch. for disability Nov. 3,l&(>2.

Eben Norton, died.

John O'Connor, disch. for disi\bility May 18, 1863.

Frank Paiker, must, out July 7, 18G5.

"William R. Parnielee, disch. for disability Dec. 5»1862.

Abner B. Palmer, must, out July 7, 18G5.

Asaliel N. Perkins, died of wounds.

Asa Pettis, mnst. out July 7, 1865.

Charles Kecd, killed.

John Shores, must, out July 7, 18G5.

Allen Sawyer, trans, to "Veteran Resen-e Coii>9.

Alonzo Stewart, disch. for Uisubility Juuo 29, 186;i.

Edgar J. Stewart, corporal ; must, out June 9, 1SG5.

George E. Taylor, must, out July 7, 1865.

Thomas P. Tompkins, corjtoral ; must, out May 13, ISCSi.

James Tracy, disch. for disability June 8, 1865.

Enoch G. Warhurst, corporal ; must, out July 7, 1SG5.

John AVarner, killed.

Francis AVedge, sergeant ; must, out July 7, 1S65.

Lebbeus J. Welch, must, out July 7, 18G5.

Jacob AVentwoith, died of wounds.

Thomas AVheeler, must, out July 7, 1865.

Alfred White, must, out July 7, 1865.

George A. Wood, mnst. out July 7, 1865.

Ni't Mustered (hU ivUh Compnwj.

William II. Knickeibocker. Jason W. Johnson, Ira Warner, Jacob War-

ner, Noah B. Welch.

The Ilerruits of Company K.

Charles N. Beeman, sergeant ; must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Orson Buell, sergeant ; trans, to field aud staff".

Lucieu Button, killed.

George Brown, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Charles A. Bristol, corporal ; must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Philo K. Bassett, disch. for disability Dec. 20, 1865.

Daniel Buckley, corporal; must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

John Birch, died.

Anton Barth, died.

Henry B. Bristol, killed.

Hubert E. Banker, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Daniel Briggs, must, out June 13, 1865.

Charles A. Bigelow.

John Branan, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Lucius Brown, must, out Aug. 18, 18G5.

George D. Beeman, disch. for disability July 25, 1865.

Andrew Carney, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

John H. Call, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Thomas Coleraine.

Joseph E. Camp, missing.

Owen Cromney, died of wounds.

Robert Clark, must, out June 1(1, 1865.

Michael Convey, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Lymau F. Cole, trans, to Veteran Reserve Corps.

George H. Curtis, must out Aug. 18, 1865.

Amaziah Downs, died a prisoner.

John Fitzpatrick, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Truman 1*. Favereau, trans, to Veteran Reserve Corps.

John Foley, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Tliomas Fiiiiiigan, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

William H. Gorham, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Peter Gallagher, killed.

William S. Hines, must, out Aug. IS, 18C5.

John H. R. Hipwell, killed.

William Harrington, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

George W. Harrington, died.

Homer AV. llodge, disch. for disability Jan. 10, 1865.

Edward D. Hall, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Edmund D. Hickey, killed.

Charles Ilaviland, killed.

Dennis Haley, uiust. out Aug. 18, 1865.

Henry H. Hyatt, killed.

George IIo.\ley, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Benjamin W. Higby, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Leander Ide, died.

Charles A. Johnson, died of wounds.

Andrew Jackson, killed.

Patrick Kennedy, killed.

George H. Knapp, must, out Aug. 18, 18G5.

Roswell Kelly, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

William B. Leach, died.

Joseph Lewis, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Edward Monioe, tiisch. for disability Jau. 24, 1864.

Fnmcts McAdam.
Henry Miller.

Charles Rlay, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Ransom L. Maloney, must, out Juno 28, 1865.

George W. Murphy, nnist. out Aug. 18, 1865.

Charles F. Morris, niust. out Aug. 18, 1865.

Albert J. Miner, died of wounds.

Robert Morris, corporal ; must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Henry H. Mason, corj^oral ; must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

John Martin, killed.

Dennis Moore, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Oliver P. Piatt, must, out Aug. 21, 1865.

George Piatt, disch. for disability March 8, 1865.

Austin V. Rogers, must, out July 10, 1665.

Charles H. Russell, missing.

Isaac Smith, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

John Smith, must, out July 3, 1SG5.

Robert Sothergill, killed.
.

Chauncey Stevens, disch. for di.sability June 6, 1865.

Edgar Smith, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

William II. Stephens, disch. for disability June 6, 1865.

James Slatery, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Robert 8. Short, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Francis Sothergill, must, out Sept. 5, 1865.

Charles Simoson, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Evelyn L. Thorpe, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Abram A. Tolles, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Allen S. Tuttle, disch. for disability June 23, 1865.

William W. Wheeler, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Nathan B. Westbrook, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Not Mustered Out ivith Company,

John Bray, Henry S. Cummings, John Clarke, John Campbell, Orrin

Ferguson, James Finnegan, Solomon Gorham, Charles A. Hoyt, Wil-

liam Howe, James Jones, William Kendrick, Daniel Lavell, Oakley

Middlebrook, John Murphy, Frank Morton, Jamea Monrow, Michael
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Riley, Cliarles 11. Trii,4er, Samuel Williams, Benjamin Welle, Wil
liam Weuslor.

Company L.*
Captain.—Jnmea Deans.

First Lientenanfn.—VUiUxi E. Chapin, EJward C. Huxley.

Second LientenaulM.—J-Ames M. Snowden, Oscar Piatt.

William H. Allen, first sergeant ; must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

AVilliani Alfreds, trans, to the uavy.

George I. Babcock, Jr., sergeant; must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Timothy Brown, must, out Aug. IS, 18G5.

Calvin A. Bowers, must, out Aug. 18, 18G5.

Patrick Butler, died a prisoner.

James Busse, must, out Aug. 18, 1SC5.

August Berg, killed.

Tliomas Burns, corporal; must, out Aug, 18, 1865.

"William J. Burke, must, out Aug. 8, 18G5.

James Bishop, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

George Btackman, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

James Barry, must, out Aug. 18, ISGo.

John Boyce, must, out Aug. 18, 18G5.

Jesse Cady, must, out Aug. 18, 1805.

Bugald Campbell, quartermaster-sergeant; must, out June 10, 1865.

John Caliion, must, out Juno 1, 1865.

John Clow, disch. for disability Jan. 15, 1805.

William J. Dixon, corporal ; died.

Ezra Daggett, discharged April IS, 1805.

Charles Davenport, died.

WiUiam Postman, sergeant ; must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Marsliall Davenport, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

John Dostman, must, out Aug. 18, 1805.

Anthony Douglierty, must, out Aug. 18, 1805.

Oliver Dugette, corporal ; must, out Aug. 18, 1855.

William Day, died of wounds.

Pctor Dohin, must, out Aug. 18, l.sG.j,

Seneca Edgt-tt, sergeant; commissioned.

Thomas B. Foster, dieil.

Thomas Furrell, must, out Aug. 18, 1805.

Clark Fox, must, out Aug. 18, 1805.

Patiick Farrell, must, out Aug. 18. 18C5.

George R. Grovor, die<l a prisoner.

S>Ivt'ster Graves, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Charles A. GouUct, must, out Juno 1, 1865.

Charles E. Groat, corporal ; must, out Juno 10, 18C5.

James Gillin, must, out Aug. is, iHfi.'i.

Cliarlrs W. Halo, sergeant; must, out Aug. IS, 1805.

UMbert Ilarririgtou, disch. for disability Nov. 1, 1864.

Noah Hart, disch. for digability Nov. 15, 18G5.

Frederick Hooker, died.

llciiry A. Hubbell, c(ir|toral ; died.

William Hall, must, out Aug. IS, 181>>.

Jainvs HnglK>ti, must, uiit Aug. 18, 1865.

Clmrlett Ileidonrich, must, out May 31, 1805.

Jame^ Hyatt, corporal ; must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Ania-s L. IvL>t), died of wounds.

Henry Jones, traus. to the navy.

Van liceaon Jonka, must, out Juno 12, 1805,

Hicbard M. Kolley, trans, to the navy.

Auatin P. KIrkham, sergeant; conunissionoU.

iJeorgo McCoy, trans, to Votunui Iluservo Corps.

WilUam M(dloy, died.

Noriimn Mansfield, cor|M>raI ; diod of wuuiids.

Thomas McDcmaM, must, out Aug. 18, 1805.

Andrew McGrath, Horgennt; must, out July 7, 18C5.

Williiiui Morton, coriHirnl; dlod.

Juhn Martin, killed.

John Mullen, must, out Aug. 18, 18fl5.

Henry McGinoty, must, out Aug. 18, 18C5.

Thnnias May, must, out Aug, 18, 1865.

ICdwanl H. Nortbi-op, torponil; must, out Aug. 18, 1805,

Peter D. Nelson, mmtt, out Aug. IH, ISfVi.

Goorgo Norman, must, out Juno 23, 1805.

John Owon, nnntt. out Juno 0, 18(VS.

DoMiinick O'Brien, muHt. out Aug. 18, 18Q5.

Elislfa Peck, muHt. out Juno 17, 1K05.

John 3. Pnrniuloe, lurgcant-mivlor; tnini. to fleld and tlnfT.

* OompOMd tnliraljr of racrniU.

Walter William Payn, disch. for disability Jan. IS, 1SG5.

George Phelps, must, out June VJ, 1865.

William Parr}', must, out Aug. IS, 1865.

George Parker, sergeant; disch. for disability Sept. 24, 1804.

John Pollard, died.

George M. Perkins, must, out Aug. IS, 1865.

Charles H. Ryan, corporal; must, out June 9, 1865,

William Rodman, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Isaac Reimert, must, out Aug. IS, lS6-'».

George Reed, disch. for disability June 5, 1865.

William Ragan, must, out June 10, 1865.

Samuel X. Scranton, corporal ; must, out June 1, 1865.

William A. Slenker, sergeant; must, out Aug. IS, 1805.

Watson W. Stone, disch. April 2, 1S64; furnished substitute.

John S. Strickland, 1st sergeant; must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

George W. Scott, coi*poral ; must, out -Vug. IS, 1S65.

Edward A. Snow, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Frederick Slade, died.

Frank Sabine, discli. for disability April 29, 1865.

Geoi-ge Stringer.

Biard Tuttle, must, out Aug. 18, 1805.

Edward Tliomas (2d), must, out Aug. 16, 1865.

William Travers, trans, to Veteran Reserve Corps.

Thomas Taylor, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

William Vrooman, must, out Aug. 18, 186.1.

Nelson Viooman, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Adclbert D. Webster, corpoiiil ; must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

John Woods, must, out .\ug. 18,1865.

William Willi;ini^, corporal; nmst, out Aug. 18, 18G5.

Janien WilHtm, coriKinil; must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Petor Welltrot, mu<*t. out Aug. 18, 1805.

Horace B. Wood, died.

Clnirttopher C. Wells, must, out Juno 15, 1865.

Morris W. White, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

Patrick Wallace.
Sot ^Tastered Out tcUh C9mp<mg.

<3«orge Alexander, William Brown, John Brown, Ernest Baner, Thomu
Bntterfield, Jame« W. Blake, Robert Burk. David Brown, Adam
Bartholomew, Byron Booth, Andrew Clark, Richartl Crawfonl, John
Clark, Ilichanl Ibirilng, Elliott L. Dorman,(_>rtcar Itavidson, John Da-

Tidson, EilwanI M. Dunliuiu, Thomas Daley, James EdmondR, John
Eiuerton, Andrew IMwanli, Joecph Furni«,Ge<irgi>F«rgtM<in,r,vorfce

FIsa, Julin Finnegan, Goirgo Kalrltaiik*. .\ll*ert Visitor, Thomas A.

Gooilman, John M. Grant. J<weplt Gvllier, George Green, John Gil-

muro, John GreenwtKid. It{t:hAr>l G. Hawkins, .\lbcrt Howe, JnDiee

Haywood. Peter lUnnon. .lolin Hilton. James Hart, William Hall,

Charter Hart, llenjiimin llawkinn, George Jackson, William Jouf«,

Edward King, John Kt'eler, Putrhk Kelly, James Kenar, George

King. John Lvwii«, Henry Li^wln, Wendell I.ehmiin, William I.eo.

John McQnanne, Tlixmait McCarly, Alexander .McCArty. David 9HI-

l«r. Thonuu Mnxwell, Janieit McDonabI, Michael Morufl, Frank Mo
K*y, Patrick Murray, Willium Myor, John M.lntyre, Patrick Blc-

Cormirk. John O'Brien, E IwanI O'Brien, Henry Privra, Duviil Pnnly,

WnHamProT.«t.Jo««»ph PulmT, John K<>lH>nN, Patrick Kiley.Charlea

Bui«<te|l, Jamen ^niith. CliArli-Hi f^nilth, Ivlwuni 1^ 9angiilon, Martin

SiilltTiin, Jnmen SImw, (ieurge rhow|«on, Charles ThomfHiin, E<l-

wftpl Tli'TitiiA ( Inl), William ThomiHon, John Tnt'-y <(in)"tltute for

WaUon W. .**tiiu''). Juni -i Van Slyk«, All^n O. Wlnnejnir, Thomaii

Weldon. John Whit*-, James Wniu, Jolm Wright, Andrew Wiljou.

COMPAKT XLf

Oip*.ii«.— K.lwnnl W. Mamh.
FV«* lAeuUnnnt.—Jamen P. McOibe.

Strotfl LirnU Hiimt.— Henry SkiniK*r.

Henry li. Ilnyt, Urat Mirgeant; commlMlono*!.

iMhw \. Piilnifr, •pMrtrrniailcr-ecrgnanC; niuat out Majr 12, 1805.

CharlM Allen, mnnt. out Au(. 18, IM3w

William lt4*rgen, nilMlng.

George Bunnell, niUitl. out Aug. 18, ISfVI,

Wllllan) T. Blake, mn«(. out June '^i, 18G5.

Clurlei llrant. mnnt. out Aug. IH. 1H«A.

John Ikiriia. nmat. out Ang. 18, 1K6A.

Clnirli** C. IhMWorlli, niiut. out Aug. 18, 180.%.

iNilrick r««gniv«, dif h. r>r dlwbllltr Not. -^i, 1804.

Rlwnnl Corcuraa, mtul. out Ang. 18, 1805.

t CunpoMil •otJnIjr of neralu.
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Samuel Cunimings, niiiBt. out Aug. 18, ISCj.

Thomas Culburn, diud of wounds.

James II. Case, dieii.

Edward Crosby, must, out June 13, 18Gj.

Oeorge 11. Couth, uuist. out June 22, 18G5.

James Doyle, must, out Aug. IS, 18Go.

Thomas Doyle, died.

Theodore Drune, must, out Aug. 18, I860.

George W. Dnytou, must, out June 1, 18G.>,

Alexander Ellcock, must, out June 1, 18G5.

"William Erwin, must, out May 30, lSt>5.

Cornelius L. Eveiett, mwst. out Jnne 8, 18G5k

•Tames Fitzsimnions, must, out June 9, 1SG5.

John Feeney, must, out Aug. 18, 1SG;>.

Patrick Feneren, must, out Aug. 18, 1SG.\

Peter Fitzgerald, must, out Aug. 18, 18G5^

"William Fisher, trans, to the navy.

MnrtiQ II. Gruhe, disch. for disability May 30, I86&
James Gallngbor, nnist. out Aug. 12, 18G5.

Charles E. (lilbei I, must, out June 1, 18G5.

William lIolTnian, must, out Aug. IS, 1805^

Peter IlaydiMi, must, out Aug. IS, 18K>.

John Jay, nuist. out Aug. 18, 18C5.

Patrick Keegau, killed.

Azarie N. Lam<u-eu.\', seigeflnl; comtuissiouetl.

Patrick Little, uuist. out Aug. 18, ISCo.

James II. Lee, disch. for ili^nbility Oct. 8, 18C5.

Amaziah Livingstone, disch. for disability June-SO, ISfiSu

Williaui Munson, disch. for disability Aug. t>, 1S<>>.

Johu McFardeu, nuist. out Aug. 18, 18G.').

Henry IMaskell, sergeant ; must, out Aug. IS, 1805.

Samuel S. Osborne, killed.

Jamee M. Piice, disch. for disability Mardi 21, ISGo.

James Parker, must, out Aug. IS, 18C»>.

George M. Price, must, out Aug. IS, 1S&">.

Bernard Kiley, must, out Aug. 18, 1865.

31iehael Roach, nuist. out Aug. 18, IStVi.

Ellswoilli JI, llusBcll, must, out June 28, ISCA.

Edwin Itawson, disch. for disability Feb. 17, ISGii.

Myron W. Sehultz, nuisl. out Aug. IS, 1805.

Sau\uel Simpson, umst. out Aug. IS, I860.

Jlerritt W. Sweet, uuist. out Aug. IS, 1865.

Charlie Smith, nuist. out Aug. 18, 1SC.5.

George Schmidt, must, out Aug. IS, 1865.

Henry Strih, disch. for disjibility Juuo 13, 18G5.

Abiier W. Scott, killed.

John Thomas, dietl.

Edward S. Tubbs, must, out Aug. IS, I8G0.

George Taylor, trans, to the navy.

Selali T. Wheeler, must, out Aug. 18, I860.

Peter Ward, must, out June 10, 1SC5.

Not ^listcreii Oiti wUh Compnutj.

Charles Andetson, James Audei"son, John Anderson, Thomas Adams,
William .\sken, Thomas Crown, James Brauuun, .\ndrew Burns,

James Brown, James A. Brown, Joseidi Baiber, John Blaney, Nich-

olas Burk, John Bruce, David Bartly, Patrick Birmingham, Vinson

Clark, Thomas Crane, Robert Colinan, Joseph Carr, Joseph M. Cooper,

George Cashier, John Cole, William Culver, John Dow, Alfred Dick-

enson, John Davis, Thomas Donahue, John Dnkiii, James Devine,

James BI. Eagan, John Flannigan, Ransom J. Fargo, Thomas Foley,

BMchael Farrell, James Flinn, Andrew Flannigan, James Gnaham,
John Ilargent, Frank Henry, Patrick Ilyland, Patrick Ilagen,

George Holland, William E. Joy, James Jones, Johu Jones {1st),

John Jones (2d), George Jones, John Kennedy, John King, Arthur

Kemp, Patrick Kennedy, John Larkins, Robert Mullen, John BIc-

LaugliHu, Tliomas Mack, Charles 3Iilton, Charles Mareli, John Mc-
Shajihy, Terence O'Neil, George Pennington, William Potter, John
Perston, Edson Patrick, William Ryan, Henry Roth, John Rork,

John Robinson, William Rouke, James Roberts, James Robinson,

Heury Sniith, John Smith, James Smith (1st), James Smith {2d), John
Shaahan, James Slielljuan, John Sweeny, Jacob Smith, William A.
Taylor, John Turner, Charles Thomas, George Thomitson, Johu G.

Terrell, Horace .\. Thompson, Peter Welch, Robert Willis, George

M. Washington, James Wilson (1st), .Tames Wilson (2d), Joseph Welch,
John Williams, George White, John Wilson, Charles E. Wold, James
Winslow, James C. Williams, Julius Ziiuber.

CHAPTER VL
MILITARY HISTORY (Continued).

The Twenty-third Regiment— The Twenty-eighth Regimeut— First

Regiment Heavy Artillery.

THE TWENTY-TIIIRD REOIMENT.

The Twenty-third Regiment was recruited mainly

from Bridgei)ort, Danbury, Waterbury, Newtown,
Fairfield, Georgetown, Bethel, Naugatuck, Ansonia,

and Trumbull, in Fairfield County, and Watertown,

in this county, during the months of August, Septem-

ber, and October, 1862. It was designed as a nine

months' regiment, though every man served a year,

and some two years, before being mustered out of ser-

vice.

The companies rendezvoused at Camp Terry, Oyster

Point, New Haven, early in September, where they

commenced the drill, and did guard duty until the

16th of November, when they embarked on the Sound
steamer "Elm City" for "Camp Buckingham," at

Centreville Race Course, near Jamaica, L. I.

This regiment was under the command of Col.

Charles E. L. Holmes, of Waterbury, with Charles

W. Wordin, of Bridgeport, for lieutenant-colonel, and
David H. Miller, of Georgetown, as major.

Camp Buckingham was a mud-hole of the worst

possible descrii)tion, and the Twenty-third pitched

tents in a rain-storm that lasted a week.

November 30th the regiment marched twelve miles

to the foot of Atlantic Street, Brooklyn, thence on

board the " Che Kiang," a river steamer totally unfit

for "outside" weather; and because of being over-

loaded, after three days. Companies H and I of the

Twenty-third, with one company of the Twenty-

eighth and another of the Twenty-fifth Connecticut

Volunteers, were transferred to the barracks at Pier

1, New York. All but these companies left New York
City for the Gulf of Jlexico, on the "Che Kiang,"

Dec. 3, 1862. The steamer was nearly swamped in a

terrific storm on the night of December 5th, and the

suffering on board for several days was very great.

They arrived at Ship Island on the 11th.

The portion of the regiment left inbarracks at New
York received orders, December 12th, to go on board

the ship " Windermere," while the balance were dis-

patched on the ship " Planter," an old hulk that was

wrecked off Florida Keys. A few stragglers reached

Louisiana on the ship "Alice Counce."

These divisions arrived at New Orleans at long in-

tervals apart, and when once there were assigned to

guard duty along the eighty miles of the New Orleans,

Opelousas and Great Western Railroad, and kept at

such duty almost continuously till their term of ser-

vice had expired, though they repeatedly asked that

they might be relieved and sent to the front. The

I

Twenty-third was never brigaded, but left to itself,

shunned by paymasters for many months, kept a year

I instead of nine months in service, and its officers,
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most of them, confined nearly fourteen months in

rebel prison-i^ens.

June 20, 1863, the rebels under Gen. Dick Taylor

captured Terre Bonne, and on the 21st drove in the

pickets of the Twenty-third at Lafourche Crossing.

The same night the rebels made several attempts to

capture Lafourche, but were repulsed with three hun-

dred and seventy killed and wounded. Federal loss,

thirty wounded and nine killed.

The rebels shelled Brashear City on the 23d, which,

being defended almost solely by convalescents, was at

last forced to surrender. The officers captured by

Taylor were all marched to Tyler, Smith Co., Texas

(Camp Ford), and held nearly fourteen months, while

the men were paroled, and Aug. 9, 1863 (Sunday), at

one o'clock p.m., left New Orleans on a Mississippi

River steamboat "homeward bound." They arrived

at New Haven, Conn., at six a.m. August 24th, and

were welcomed with military and civic honors.

THE TWENTY-EIGIITU REGIMENT.

This regiment was organized Oct. 11, 1862, at New
Haven, and was mustered into the United States

service November 15th, with the following officers

:

Colonel, Samuel P. Ferris; lieutenant-colonel, Whe-
lock T. Batcheller; major, William B. Wesconie;

adjutant, Charles H. Brown; quartermaster, Milton

Bradley, Jr. ; chaplain, Richard Wheatly ; sergeant-

major, William A. Bailey
;

quartermaster-sergeant,

Wilfred H. Mattson ; comnii.ssary-sergeant, N. B.

Bennett; hospital steward, William E. Bissell ; sur-

geon. Ransom P. Lyon ; first jwsistant surgeon, Levi

S. Pease ; second assistant surgeon, Henry Rockwell.

LINE-OFnCEn.S.

Ciimpany A.—Captain, Francis R. Leeds ; first lieu-

tenant, Philip Lever ; second lieutenant, F. R. War-
ner.

Ciimpniii/ IS.—Ca|)tain, Cyrus D. Jones ; first licu-

tutiant, Cliarles Durand ; second lieutenant, Henry
L. Wilmot.

CamiMuuj O.—Captain, L. R. McDonougli ; first

lieutenant, William M. Whitney ; second lieutenant,

J. C. Taylor.

Coiiijxiiii/ ]).—Captain, David D. Hoag ; first lieu-

tenant, Cliarles M. Booth; second lieutenant, Levi
llungerford.

t'ompwty /^.—Captain, Cliarles B. Landon ; first

lieutenant, Joseph Bostwick; second lieutenant, War-
ren C. Dailey.

Ciim/)iiiii/ F.—Captain, L. B. Wlieelock ; first lieu-

tenant, C. P. Newman; second lieutenant, Jabez Al-

ford.

Comiiiiii;/ ^.—Captain, T. L. lleikwitli ; first lieu-

tenant, William Mitchell; second lieutenant, Henry
Ayres.

Companij //.—Captain, George W. Middleton ; first

lieutenant, James Kilcy ; second lieutenant, Thomas
G. Bennett.

Three companies,—D, E, and F,—with the excep-

tion of one man, were enlisted from Salisbury.

The regiment left New Haven November 18th, and

proceeded to Camp Buckingham, L. I. Here it re-

mained until the 28th, when, having been assigned

to the Department of the South, it embarked on the

" Che Kiang" for a Southern clime. The Twenty-

third Connecticut also embarked in the same steamer,

thus crowding fourteen hundred men in quarters

which would comfortably accommodate about eight

hundred.

The steamer weighed anchor at ten a.m., December

3d, with sealed orders, which finally assigned the regi-

ments to Ship Island, La. During the voyage a storm

arose, and for twelve hours the heavily-laden steamer

battled with the angry waves which lashed in fury

about it, seeming every moment to swallow it up in

the awful abyss. During the night, while the storm

was on, an officer sent the intelligence, " We shall

never see another sunrise ; the vessel cannot stand it

much longer." The vessel, however, rode safely on,

and the voyage was comi)leted in safety.

December 12th the regiment disembarked on Ship

Island. On the 17th it re-embarked for New Or-

leans, and after stopping a few hours in the city

started for Camp Parapet, some seven miles up the

river, where it landed and pitched tents, but was

immediately ordered to re-embark for Pcnsacola,

Fla. By eleven that night it was on board again and

ready for starting. It reached Pcnsacola Monday
morning, and stacked its arms on the Grand Plaza.

On the 20tli it wits onlcred to evacuate Pcnsacola and

go to the Barrancas Navy-Yard, where it remained

until May 20th, when it was ordered to take the

steamer " Cro.<cent" and proceed to Brashear City,

La. On tlie 2.")th it w.is ordered to Port Hudson, and

at noon reached Spririgiield Landing, having now
come within hearing distance of the strife of arms.

Marching twelve inile.s towards the scene of conflict,

it found itself now, by some oversight of the move-

ment, right between the two contending armies. It

fairly ran the gauntlet, escaping unharmed, and the

next day, after a march of about thirty iiiiles, when
four might have sufiiced, it reached ( Jrover's ilivision,

to which it had been assigned. I'ntil Juno 3d it here

sutfcred for wantof rett and food, when it was orderc<l

to the front. At this time Col. Ferris wiw acting briga-

dier, with MaJ. Woscomo in charge of the regiment.

The regiment was now called up<m to test the

music of whistling balls, ami there was for the prt"sent

to be no more rest for it. .luiie 4tli it wat ordereil to

be ready to go into the rifle-pits. In spile of blun-

dering movements, Company .\ in advance, it at length

reached the pits, where it spent the night. The ne.xt

day, until eight in the evening, the men did their best,

" firing fiuit and well," to harm the enemy, when they

were urdered hack to camp. Tliis move was exe.'Ute<l

withiiut loss, and the regiment next did good service

in the trenches.
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The regiment participated in tlie second assault on

Port Hudson, when it lost fifty-nine killed, wounded,

and missing. Among the killed were Capt. Hoag, of

New Milford, and Lieut. Durand, of Stamford. This

was one of the most desperate charges made during

the Rebellion, but in that holocaust of fire not a m.an

in that noble legion shrank from his duty.

After the surrender of tlie place the Twenty-eighth

did garrison duty until the expiration of its term of

service. The regiment lost,—killed, 9 ; died of wounds,

. 9 ; died of disease, G.5. It was mustered out at New
Haven, Aug. 28, 18G3.

FIRST REGIMENT HEAVY ARTILLERY.

There was one company—I—in this regiment from

Litchfield County. Its officers were as follows : Cap-

tain, Sanford H. Perkins ; first lieutenant, Albert

F. Brooker; second lieutenant, Edward H. Mix, all

from Torrington. The regiment w»s organized as

the Fourth Regiment of Infantry, and remained as

such until June 2, 1862, when it was changed to heavy

artillery. It was a gallant regiment, and participated

in the following engagements: Siege of Yorktown,

Hanover Court-house, Gaines' Mills, Cliickahominy,

Golden Hill, Jlalvern Hill, siege of Fredericksburg,

before Fredericksburg, Kelly's Ford, Orange Court-

house, siege of Petersburg and Richmond, Fort

Fisher.

CHAPTER VIL

INTERNAL IMPROVEMENTS.

The Housatonic Railroad—Tlie Xangatiick Railroad—The Connecticut

Western—The Sheiniu;^—Tlio New Haven and Nortliampton.

THE IIOUSATONIC RAILROAD CO.MPAXY

was incorporated in 1836, with authority to bdild

a road from Sheffield, Mass., to Brookfield, Conn., and

from thence to tide-water at Bridgeport, or such other

point as might be deemed expedient.

In order to aid the undertaking, the city of Bridge-

port, at a meeting held March 2, 1837, voted to sub-

scribe for stock of the new company to the amount of

one hundred thousand dollars, and individuals resid-

ing in other towns upon the route subscribed for two

hundred thousand dollars more.

Ex-Governor Gideon Tomlinson acted for a time

as president of the company, but at the first regular

election, April 5, 1837, the following persons were

chosen officers of the road: William P. Burrall,

President; William H. Noble, Secretary; Jesse Ster-

ling, Treasurer; William P. Burrall, Edwin Porter,

Samuel Simons, Stephen Louusbury, Charles De
Forest, of Bridgeport, Anan Hine, Asa Pickett, of

New Milford, Alpheus Fuller, of Kent, and Peter

Bierce, of Cornwall, Directors.

Mr. Horace Nichols subsequently became treasurer

of the road, and held the position until his resigna-

tion, in 1848. A contract was made by the board of

directors with Messrs. Bishop and Sykes to build the

entire road for the sum of $936,000,—viz., cash,

$636,000, and stock of the company at par, $300,000.

Work was commenced in July, 1837, about three

hundred men being employed by the contractors.

Owing to the panic of 1837, which caused nearly

all the banks and moneyed institutions of the country

to suspend specie jiayments, subscriptions for stock

were not received as rapidly as had been anticipated,

and the progress of the road was delayed.

In February, 1840, the southern division of the

road—viz., from Bridgeport to New Milford—was

completed and opened for travel. The cost up to

that time had been, for the road proper, $476,000 ; ^

for cars, engines, depots, tanks, etc., $99,000 ; total,

$575,000.

The remaining portion of the road was opened Dec.

1, 1842. Much annoyance was caused by the original

track, which consisted of an iron .strap fastened upon

wooden sills by spikes, which often became loose,

when the weight of passing trains caused it to curl

up into "snake-heads." In 1846 it was replaced by

iron rails of the present pattern.

March 25, 1838, the city of Bridgeport voted to con-

firm the previous subscription of one hundred thou-

sand dollars, and authorized an additional one of fifty

thousand dollars, and Messrs. Henry Dutton, F. C.

Bassett, and Lockwood De Forest were appointed

agents for the city to raise the necessary funds by

issuing coupon bonds. These bonds were paid to the

railroad company in lieu of c.ish, and by the company

were disposed of to other parties.

At the May session in 1838 the Legislature by a

special act validated the action of the city of Bridge-

port, referred to above, in subscribing for the stock

of the Housatonic Railroad Company, and in issuing

bonds in payment for the stock. This act of the

General Assembly was approved at a city meeting

held for the purpose, but no provision was made for

the payment of the bonds or of the coupons as they

fell due.

The action of the majority was viewed with alarm

by many of the leading tax-payers, who in January,

1839, appointed a "Council of Safety," to advise as

to what measures should be taken in regard to these

bonds. This council was composed of thirteen mem-
bers, Philo Hurd being chairman and Isaac Sherman

secretary. Eminent counsel were also retained by the

city, and an effort was made to secure the services of

Daniel Webster, but Mr. Webster was obliged to de-

cline the case on account of other engagements. No
active effort seems to have been made by any one to

repudiate the debt, but a very general desire was man-

ifested that some competent tribunal should decide

to what extent the i^rivate property of citizens in the

minority could be taken to satisfy a debt created by

the vote of a majoritj', many of whom were not tax-

payers.
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In June, 1843, the railroad comiiany obtained judg-

ment against the city in the Superior Court, and, an

appeal to the Supreme Court of Errors having been

decided in favor of the plaintifl', an execution on this

judgment was issued and placed in the hands of

Deputy Sheriff Smith, of Norwalk, to be by him

levied and collected. This officer then first demanded

payment of the amount from the mayor, clerk, and

treasurer of the city in turn, and then, payment not

having been made, called upon them to exhibit goods,

chattels, or lands belonging to the debtors,—viz., the

mayor. Common Council, and freemen of the city,

—

which they were either unable or unwilling to do.

The deputy sheriff then, acting under legal advice,

broke open the dry-goods store of Bronson B. Beards-

ley and the wholesale grocery of Niles, Thorp & Co.,

and, seizing a quantity of goods from the former, sold

them at the post. Mr. Beardsley brought an action

against the deputy sheriff for taking his property un-

lawfully, but in June, 1844, the case was decided

against him. It was then carried to the Supreme
Court of the State, where the decision in favor of the

defendant was affirmed. Judge Church, in giving the

opinion, using the following language:

" The cily of Bridgeport, with great deliberatiun and unanimity, and

under Banction of tlie General Assendily, has contracted a delit. Tlie I

securities issued by tlio city Jiave been purclinsed hy homi-tiili- holileis,

witli its iLst^eut, and upon tlie faitli of tho city and tlio laws. No funds,

eitlior by taxation or otiierwiso, luive been provided for payment. A
riglit without a remedy is not an admitted principle. M'o know of no

other practical remedy but tho one to which this plaintiff has resorted."

This was a very important decision, as the question

at issue—viz., the liability of private property for

the debts of a municipality—had never before been

adjudicated. Once definitely settled, however, im-

mediate steps were taken for the payment of ovenlue

interest and legal expenses, and a tax of seven and a

half per cent, upon the entire property of the city was

laid and collected.

In 18,50 a sinking fund of fifty thousand dollars

—

this being the sum derived from the sale of the stock

owned by the city—was establi-shed by Mayor Cal-

houn, which, by careful management, has increased

from year to year, until the greater part of the rail-
'

road debt of the city has already been paid olT, ami
for the balance, due in 188(i, full provision is already

made.

In 1844 the road, which had largely been built

with borrowed capital, was much crippled. It pa.><sed

into the hands of a committee of twenty citizens, and
for some time was operated under the name of E.

Gregory & Co. Preferred stock to a large amount
was finally issued, and a reorganization of the com-
pany etl'ected.

Judging from the last report of the railroad com-
missioners, however, this road is now in a prosperous

.state. At the beginning of the year 1S80 it had 74

milosof track, extending from Bridgeport toShetlicId,

Mass., besi<les several branches and leased lines. Its

capital stock is «2,()00,000,— viz., i!820,000 old stock,

and $1,180,000 preferred. Its bonded debt is $.5.50,000,

and its floating indebtedness $228,038.73 ; total, $778,-

038.73. It has 20 locomotives, 32 passenger- and bag-

gage-cars, and 440 freight-cars, 420 employees, and 20

stations. It carried last year 252,740 passengers and

225,037 tons of freight, and its revenue from all

sources was $599,660.09.

The railroad commissioners, in concluding their re-

port, say of this road,

—

" steel rails have been laid as far north as Merwinsville, and it is pro-

posed to continue the steel track during the present year to the State

line. The bridges, track, and rolling stock of this road are all in good

condition. The usual dividend of eight per cent, lias been paid to the

preferred stockholders."

The following are the officers of the company:
William H. Barnum, President; David S. Draper,

Vice-President; Charles K. Averill, Secretary and
Treasurer ; Henry C. Cogswell, General Freight

Agent ; Hobart \V. Watson. Chief Clerk ; L. B. Still-

son, Superintendent ; William H. Barnum, of Lime
Rock, Conn. ; Samuel Willets, of Xew York ; Horace
Nichols, William D. Bishop, of Bridgeport ; George

W. Pect, of Falls Village; Edward Lcavitt, John B.

Peck, of New York ; D. S. Draper, of Great Barring-

ton ; A. B. Mygatt, of New Milford, Directors.

NAUOATUCK RAILROAD.

The Naugatuck Railroad, from Derby to Plymouth,

was chartered in 1845. In 1847 the company was al-

lowed an extension of one year for commencing its

road and expending thereon the sum of fifty thousand

dollars, and were authorized to extend its line to Win-
sfed. Prior to the awarding of the contracts and ex-

tending the line to Winsted, it had been transferred to

Alfred Bishop, of Bridgeport, and his associates, who,

in consideration of a bonus of thirty thoustiud dollars

and payment of the land damages along its line to

Waterbury, by the citizens interested in its comple-

tion, contracted to build the road and open it to that

point in 1849. Soon after the extension to Winsted

was authorized, Mr. Bishop proposed to so extend it,

on being secured another cash bonus of thirty thou-

sand dollars and a right of way from Waterbury

northward. The propf»sition was unlookcd for, but

was promptly responded to. A meeting of citizens

interested along the line was immediately called, and

a division of responsibility was agrcetl upon, by which

the citizens of Winsted a.«.sunied half the bonus and

the securing the whole right of way antl depot grounds

within the town of Winchester; and the citizens of

Wolcottville and Plymouth agreed to a.ssumo the

other half of the bonus and the whole exi)ense of the

remaining land title.

A spirit of liberality, before unprecedented, pre-

vailed. Men gave their thousands who had never

before given a hundred for any public object. Tho
subscription was speedily fille<l up, when the chronic

seetioiuil disease of nur coniniunity broke out on tho

ipiestion of locating the terminus,—whether it should
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be on East village green, on the Flat, or in the West

village. There was a backing down of a portion of

subscriptions, which rendered a new subscription ne-

cessary on the basis of locating the terminus on the

Flat, where the depot now stands. A reassessment of

the adhering subscribers was proposed and speedily

adopted. About five thousand dollars was assumed

by adhering subscribers to make good the withdrawn

subscriptions, and the contract with Mr. Bishop was

thereupon perfected.

The iron horse i)aid his first visit to the Winsted

depot Sept. 21, 1S49. The first passenger-train came

up on Saturday the 22d, and returned on the follow-

ing Mon<lay.

Mr. Bishop, the projector and builder of the road,

died before its completion. He was a man of far-see-

ing and comprehensive views, of quiet energy and

liberal si>irit.

The present officers and directors are as follows :

President, E. F. Bishop, Bridgeport, Conn. ; Secre-

tary and Treasurer, Horace Nichols, Bridgeport,

Conn. ; Superintendent, George W. Beach, Water-

bury, Conn.; Chief Clerk, James Potter, Bridgeporl,

Conn. ; General Ticket Agent, William Tomlin,

Bridgeport, Conn. ; Freight Agent, B. Soules, Bridge-

port, Conn. ; Board of Directors, E. F. Bishop, Wil-

liam D. Bishop, R. Tomlinson, Bridgeport, Conn.

;

J. G. Wetniore, Wiusted, Conn.; F. J. Kingsbury,

Waterbury, Conn. ; A. L. Dennis, Newark, N. J.

;

H. Bronson, J. B. Robertson, New Haven, Conn. ; R.

M. Bassett, Birmingham, Conn.

CONNECTICUT WESTERN R.MLROAD.

After the opening of the Naugatuck Railroad, in 1850,

the necessity of a railroad communication eastward to

the Connecticut River, and westward to the Hudsou,

became more and more apparent, but until recently

seemed impracticable, by reason of the high grades

and circuitous lines required iu running roads easterly

and westerly over the mountain ranges between the

Hudson and Connecticut Rivers.

The steady growth of Collinsville, New Hartford,

and Winsted, and the great enlargement of the iron

interests of Salisbury and Canaan, stimulated the

desire to overcome difficulties iu the way of the en-

terprise which had seemed to the communities inter-

ested to be insuperable.

Public attention was first called to the practicabil-

ity of the enterprise by E. T. Butler, Esq., of Norfolk,

in 1865, and, mainly through his instrumentality, ex-

perimental surveys were made during that year ; and
iu 1866 a charter was granted to the " Connecticut

Western Railroad Company," with power to construct

a road from Collinsville, Conn., to the Massachusetts

State line, ou the border of North Canaan. Strenuous

eftbrts were made by Mr. Butler and others to interest

capitalists in the scheme. The Boston and Erie Rail-

road Company were vainly solicited to make the route

a part of their line. Hartford and Springfield capi-

talists were appealed to in vain. The Canal Railroad

Company would have nothing to do w'ith it. The
Harlem, Housatonic, and Naugatuck Companies,

with which it was to form connections, gave it a

cold shoulder.

At this nearly hopeless stage of the enterprise the

Dutchess and Columbia Railroad Company, under

the auspices of George H. Brown, Esq., of Washington

Valley, N. Y., had completed their road from Fish-

kill-on-the-Hudson, opposite Newburg, to near Pine

Plains, in Dutchess Co., N. Y., and were seeking an

eastern connection. The existence of the Connecticut

^\'estern charter was made known to Mr. Brown,

who, with characteristic energy, at once embarked

with Mr. Butler and others in the enterprise. A new
charter was obtained from the Legislature of 1868,

granting jjower to extend the road from the city of

Hartford to Collinsville; thenee to follow the line of

the charter of 18t!6, through New Hartford, Winsted,

and Norfolk ; and thence to diverge westerly through

North Canaan and Salisbury, in the direction of Mil-

lerton, on the Harlem Railroad, so as to connect with

the Dutchess and Columbia Railroad at the State

line. The charter authorized towns along the line of

the road, in their corporate capacity, to subscribe and

\)a.y for stock in the road to an amount not exceeding

five per cent, of their grand lists last made up, on

being empowered so to do by a two-thirds vote of the

inhabitants of such towns at meetings duly called and

notified for that jiurpose.

The town of Wiuchester, on the 22d of August,

1868, by a ballot of three hundred and sixty-six to

sixty-six, voted a subscription of five per cent, on its

lists, amounting to one hundred and sixteen thousand

dollars, to the stock of the company, and individual

citizens of the town made further subscriptions to the

amount of seventy-four thousand nine hundred dol-

lars. Winchester was the first town on the line to

vote on this test question, the result of which was to

determine whether the road should be carried through.

Subscriptions of other towns along the line were soon

afterwards voted as follows

:

B.v Town. By Cilizens.

Salisbury 850,000 S10:!,090

Oiinaan 34,000 16,000
Norf.ilk 41,501 10,800
Canton 40.000
Sinisbnry 50,000 20,100
Bloomfleld 42.300 25,900
Hartford 750,000 M.OOO
Wincliestcr 116,000 74,900

The surveys, estimates, and location of the road

were completed in 1870, and the whole line was put

under contract immediately afterwards. The first

passenger-train passed over the road from Hartford

to Millerton, N. Y., on the 21st of December, 1871, and

returned the same day, and since then the communi-

cation has been uninterrupted. Its connections with

other roads along its line, and at its termini, will

make it a trunk-line of equal importance with the

other east-and-west roads of New England. Its con-

nections with roads already completed are with three
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roads at Hartford, witli the Canal Road at Simslsury,

its branch at Collinsville, the Naugatuck at Winsted,

the Housatonic at Canaan, the Poughkeepsie and East-

ern, the Dutchess and Columbia at State line, and the

Harlem at Millerton. Other connections are shortly

to be completed with the Connecticut River and Bos-

ton and Albany roads at Springfield, the Collinsville

and New Britain branch at Collinsville, the Farming-

ton River road from Lee to New Hartford, or Win-
sted, and the road from Rhinebeck-on-the-Hudson to

the State line, the three latter now in process of con-

struction.

The present officers are as follows: President, C. J.

Camp, West Winsted, Conn. ; Vice-President, C. T.

Hillyer, Hartford, Conn. ; Secretary, E. R. Boardsley,

West Winsted, Conn.; Treasurer, William L. Gil-

bert, West Winsted, Conn. ; Superintendent, John F.

Jones, Hartford, Conn. ; General Ticket Agent, Walter

Pearce, Hartford, Conn. ; General Freight Agent,

John F. Jones, Hartford, Conn.; Board of Directors,

C. T. Hillyer, T. M. Allyn, H. S. Barbour, L. B. Mer-

riam, N. B. Stevens, Hartford, Conn. ; Joseph Toy,

Sim.sbury, Conn.; C. J. Camp, William L. Gilbert,

George Dudley (deceased). West Winsted, Conn. ; E.

T. Butler, Norfolk, Conn. ; D. J. Warner, Salisbury,

Conn. ; A. H. Holley, Lakeville, Conn. ; L. AV. Cutler,

Watertovvn, Conn.

SIIEPAUG RAILRO.-VD.

The first meeting of the corporators of the Shepaiig

Valley Railroad Company was hold at Litchfield,

April 25, 1800, when it was voteil that books be

opened for subscription to the ca|)ital stock. At the

second meeting of the corporators, lield at Litchfield,

Nov. 13, 1869, it was voted that the first meeting of

stockholders be called at Litchfield, Nov. 27, 18fi9, for

the purpose of choosing directors. At the meeting,

which was held pursuant to call, tlie following were

chosen : David C. Wliittlcsey, Ciiairman ; Edward W.
Seymour, Clerk ; Directors, J. Deming Perkins, Henry
W. Buel, George A. Hickox, Henry R. Coit, Edwanl
W. Seymour, George M. Woodrulf, Willinni Dcniing,

Simon H. Mitchell, Seth S. Logan, (ieorge C. Hitch-

cock, Alliert L. Hodge, fJlover Sanford. J. Deming
Perkins was elected Presidcuit; Simeon H. Mitclioll,

Vice-President; Henry 11. Coit, Treasurer; and George
M. Woodruff, Secretary. Sept. D, 1871), the directors

met and voted to invite Mnj. Edwin McNeill to meet
with the board, he having taken ii deep interest in the

enteriiriseand made the preliniimiry survey at his own
expense. On the 24tli of the same month it waa voted

to adopt as the location of road the line as laid in the

vallej'of Shepaug River, through Roxbury, more than

four hundred thousand dollars having been subscribed

to the capital stock.

Maj. Edwin McNeill was elected director Oct. 1,

i

1870, in place of Glover Sanford, resigned. The con-

struction of the road commenced October, 1870, and

it was opened for business Jan. 1, 1872. In 1873 the

second mortgage bondholders foreclosed, a new charter

was obtained, and a new company was organized in

June, 1873, as " The Shepaug Railroad Company,"

the second mortgage bondholders of the Shepaug Val-

ley Railroad Company becoming stockholders in the

I
new corporation.

The first board of directors were Edwin McNeill,

Origen S. Seymour, Henry W. Buel, George M. Wood-

l'

ruff, Henry R. Coit, F. Ratchford Starr, J. Deming

I

Perkins, and M'illiam Deming. J. Deming Perkins

I was elected President ; Henrv R. Coit, Treasurer

;

George M. AVoodrulf, Secretary.

ilaj. Edwin McNeill died in September, 1875, and his

son, Edwin McNeill, was chosen director in his place.

The present board of directors are Henry W. Buel,

I

Henry R. Coit, William Deming, Origen S. Seymour,

Dorsey Neville, Asahel H. Jlorse, Holmes O. Morse,

Leverett W. Wessells, and E<lwin McNeill. The
officers are Henry W. Buel, President ; Henry R. Coit,

Vice-President ; William Deming, Secretary ; Henry
R. Coit, Treasurer; Edwin McNeill, Superintendent.

The road extends from the borough of Litchfield

thirty-two and one-half miles to Hawleyville, in Fair-

fielil County, where it connects with the Housatonic,

Danbury and Norwalk an<l New York and New Eng-

land Railroads. Arrangements have been made for

the erection of u union freight and pas-senger station

building and platforms for the accommodation of the

business of the four roads meeting at that point. The
cost of the Shepaug road has lieen about one million

dollars, a local entirprise, the entire cost furnished by

the section of country tniversed by the road, about

three-quarters of the amount named having been

raised in the town of Litchfield. The road traverses

a good section of country heretofore conipanitively

isolated, and mucli credit is due to its enterprising

progenitors anil those through who«>e influence and

energy it has been sustained.

A branch of tliu New Haven and Northumptou

Railroad extends :"rom Fannington to New Hartford,

the New York ami New England road piw-nes through

Woodbury, and a brnncli of the Nuugatuek extends

from Waterbury to Watertown.
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CHAPTER VIIL

POPULATION AND SCHOOL STATISTICS.

POPULATION OF LITCHFIELD COUNTY.



LITCHFIELD. 105

SCHOOL STATISTICS (Continued.)
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" Memorajidum.—Before the executing of tliis inatruraent, it is to be

understood, tliat the grautors above uanied have reserved to themselves

a piece of ground sufficient for their hunting houses, near a mountain

called Mount Tom.

" Chvsquxnoa

' Corkscrew

OAQ Ctp ^lis mark. [l. 8.

[ J
his mark. [l. s.

Qi'iiMi- /p '''^ mark. [l. s.

his mark. [l. 6.

mark. [l. s.

'* Mansv

"Kehow /^

"Skpunkum ^\^ 1''-^

"Pom f
'"'* ""''"'^- ['

J
.yL his

\Jl\r^ his mark. [t,. s.

MPANSH I his mark. [l. 8.

"SrCKQr.VNuCK,glEE\

* Taweecitmf.

is mark. [l. s.|

mark. [l. s,

" Signed sealed and deliv-)

e, Jered in our presence,

*' ^VER0AMAU^1

" WoONACVn

'* ToXItOCKS

2o

is mark,

his mark.

t bis mark.

"John Mitchell.

"Joseph Minor.

"The Indians tliiit snbscribed and scaled tlie above said deed, appeared

pci"sonoll,v in Woodbnry, tlie day of tlie date tliereof, and aclinowledged

tlie said deed to be tlieir free and voluntary act and deed. Before me
"John Minor, Justice"

The committees uamed in this JecJ conveyed all

their interest in said lands to the towns of Hartford

and Windsor by deed dated Aug. 29, 1716.

The conflicting claims in this township, between

the towns of Hartford and Windsor on the one part,

and " certain considerable persons in the town of Far-

mington" on the other, arising out of the preceding

conveyances, were subsequently amicably adjusted by

the parties. The Farmington company, by their at-

torney, John Stanley, on the 11th of June, 1718, con-

veyed their interest to the towns of Hartford and

Windsor, and, in consideration thereof, those indi-

viduals were invested by those towns with one-sixth

part of this township.

The title to the lands having been acquired from

the aborigines, the town took immediate measures to

explore and survey the township of Litchfield.

Mr. John Marsh, of Hartford, one of the settlers of

this town, and the ancestor of the Marshes of Litch-

field, was one of the committee appointed for that

purpose by the town of Hartford. He was an ener-

getic and courageous man, and in May, 1715, under-
took what was then a perilous journey into the path-

less wilderness. His bill, as appears from the ancient

records, was as follows

:

" The Town of Hurlford, Dr.
To John Marsh.

May, 1815, For 5 days man and liorse. with expenses in
viewing the Land at the New Plantation £2

" Tlie Tou-n of Harl/urtl, Dr.
Jan. 22, 1715-1 0, To G days journey to Woodbury, to treat

with the httli^wfi about the M'entem Ltimh, by Thomas £ «. rf,

Seyniour 14
To exp'euses in the journej* 1 14 9

2 18 9

" The Town of Hiirtfml, Dr.
To Thomas Seymour, Committy. £ s. d.

May, 1716, By '2 quarts of Bum 2 «
Expenses at Farmington 4 9

' at Waterbnry 1 7
Paid Thomas Miner towards the Indian purchase 7 10
Expenses at Woodbury 2 11

* for a Pilot and ]trotection 1 10
Fastening hort^e-shoes at Waterbnry 2
Expenses at Waterliury 1 i

" to Col. Whiting for wilting 40 deeds 1 10
" to f'apt. Cooke for ackuowledging 18 deeds 18
" to Ensign Seymour 10
" at Arnold's 17
" by sending to Windsor 4

Aug. 4, 1718.—Sold 11 lots for 49 10
Expenses for writing 20 deeds, to Mr. Fitch 10

" to Capt. Cooke for acknowledging deeds 7
" for making out a way 2
" at Arn<ild's 11
" toTlioVSeymour for perambulating nortli lino 16 4
" at Arncdd's 10 4

Feb. 10, 181S.—At a meeting of the Committees, then
sold 16 lots reserved by Marsh for Hartford's part 37 17 9

At same meeting, paid by John Mai-sli for expenses 12
At same meeting, loss of money by mistake in acc't 3
April 14, 1719.—A meeting of the Conmiittees, expenses 6
April 27.—At a meeting of the Committees, expenses.... 7 0'*

LIST OF PROPRIETORS.

In 1818 a company was formed for the settlement

of the town, and the individuals composing it were
known as the " proprietors" of the town. The fol-

lowing is the list : John Marsh (two rights), Samuel
Sedgwick, Jr., Nathaniel Goodwin, Timothy Seymour,

Paul Peck, Jr., Joseph Mason, Nathaniel Messenger,

Benjamim Webster, Joshua Garrett, from Hartford

;

Samuel Forward, Thomas Griswold, Jr., Jacob Gibbs,

Joseph Birge, Benjamin Hosford, from Windsor

;

John Hart, Timothy Stanley, John Bird, Joseph.

Bird, Samuel Lewis, Ebenezer Woodruil', Samuel
Root, Nathaniel Winchell, Hezekiah Winchell, from

Farmington ; Joseph Gillett, from Colchester ; Jona-

than Buck, from New Milford ; William Goodrich,

Jr., John Stoddard, Ezekiel Buck, from Wethers-

field ; Jacob Griswold, John Buel (two rights), Ed-
ward Culver, Hezekiah Culver, Thomas Lee, Eleazer

Strong, Supply Strong, Caleb Chapel (two rights),

Thomas Treadway, John Caulkins, from Lebanon

;

Ezekiel Sanford (two rights), Nathan Mitchell,

Thomas Pier, John Mann, Joseph Peet, Samuel Som-
ers, from Stratford ; Nathaniel Smith (two rights),

John Collins, Ephraim French, from Taunton, Mass.

;

Josiah Walker, Samuel Orton, Joseph Waller, Isaac

Judson, from Woodbury.
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Of the above, the following became residents of the

town : John Marsh, Paul Peck, Jr., Joseph Mason,

Benjamin Webster, Joshua Garrett, Jacob Gibbs, Jo-

seph Birge, Benjamin Hosford, John Bird, Joseph

Bird, Joseph Gillett, William Goodrich, Jr., John

Stoddard, Ezekiel Buck, Jacob Griswold, John Buel,

Hezekiah Culver, Thomas Lee, Eleazer Strong, Sup-

ply Strong, Thomas Treadway, Nathan Mitchell,

Thomas Pier, Nathaniel Smith, Josiah Walker, Sam- '

uel Orton, and Joseph Waller.

"The town was divided into sixty shares, three of

which were reserved for pious uses—one to the first

minister and his heirs forever, one for the use of

the first minister and his successors, and one for the

support of the school. The title was conveyed to the

adventurers, and in May, 1719, was confirmed by the

Legislature, which granted leave to settle a town at

Bantam, to be called Litchfield,

" At the October session of the Assembly of the

same year, a Court of Probate for the town was ordered

to be held at Woodbury, and at the October session,

1722, the town was annexed to Hartford County.
" The town was in length, east and west, eight

miles, three-quarters, and twenty-three rods, and in

breadth seven miles and a half. The cost to the pro-

prietors did not exceed one penny three farthings

per acre.
THE PATENT OF LITCHFIELD.

'* In 1724, a formal patent of the town, signed by

Governor Saltonstall, was granted by the Governor

and company of the colony, to John Marsh and John

Buell and their partners."* It read as follows:

" The Governor and Compantj of the Emjliith Colony of Connecticut in New

Eu'jlnml, III all to ichnm the«e PreMeiiln nhnU cumf^ Gkkrtino:

**Knuw yc, That tliu Huid Guveriiur luid Company, l>y vtrtno of the

power gnuiteii unto tliuin by our lute wuVL'r»-i>i:ii, King Ctiurh^s tliu Sec-

onil, of l>k>sseil nioniory, in and by IIih Mitjonty'it riitunt, under tlio grcnt

8eul of Kngland, diitcd tho twenty-third ihiy of April, in tho fonrlcvnth

ycaruf HJH Mt«J0Hty'e» rutgn, and In puniuiuico tliurouf and in Ouneral

Court asstnibhHl, according to charter, did, by tlitdr act, made BI»y four-

teonth, Anno Domini, 17l'J, upon tlio huuihio i>etitloQ of Lieut. Jolio

3Ini-Hh, of Hartford, within thu Maid Colony, and Den. John Ilnull, of

Lebanon, grant unto tlio Kaid John Marsh and John lluell, ami jiurtnoni,

Kettters, being in tliu wlmto llfty-Koven in number, libvity to M'ltle «

town weBt\^alllof Fiirmirigtnn, in the county of Ilartfttrtl, at a place

called 7j•lfl^llll, which town wiit to Iw in length evwt ami vv%X right

mileti, throe (inarliirtt, and twenty-eight ro<lH, and In hrrudth, aereu

utiles and an half—to be bounded eattt on Matlatuck river ; ueat, part uu

Shcpaug river and part on tho uildernefw; north, by tlie wlldvrneta; and

south by Watorbury Imun^ls anti a Mont lino fnuu Waterbury corner to

tho said Shepaug river. And Ordered, that the sanl town should be

called by tliu name of LiTCHrii:i.i>, ns niont fully upp«>ars by the suid net.

The Bidd Guvornor and Company, by virtue of the nftMcsaid |N>wur, aud

by their special act bearing even date with theiie presenl*, fur divers gtKxl

caUHes and considerations them bereuntu moving, have given, grmnteil,

and by these presents, for theuiselves, thetr helm, aud succnsura, du

full)', cleatjjr, and alaolutely glv«, gnnt, ratify, and couflrm auto tha

*** The families of Jfdin Manih and John Ruell lnlermMnie<l. Their

deecondantH had a family picnic In the gruve of Mr. K. A. Marsh, on th«

shore uf Danlnm Lake, S<<pt. 3, 184(1, at Mbidi ut least six hundrrti of the

family were present, and thu nanifs uf A^e hundred iind eighty -tjue were

regintnred. Mrs. John Ihiell dlixl in 17(^, Imving bail thirteen chlblren,

one hundred and one gmndchlldrvn, two hundred and seveuty-fuur greaC-

grundchildrun. and twenly-two greatgreal-gmndchlldron. TuUl, four

hundred and ten, of whom three hundreU aud tblrty>sU surrlrad h«r.**

—JIou. Geofffe C. Woodruff, in 187ti.

said John Marsh and John Buell, and the rest of the said partners, set-

tlers of said tract of laud [in their actual, full, and peaceable possessiou

and seizin being], and to their heii-s and assigns, and such as shall legally

succeed and represent them, forever [in such proportions as tliey, the

said partners and settlere, or any of them, respectively, have riglit in and

are lawfully possessed of the same], all the said tract of laud now called

and known by the name of Litchfield, in the county of Ihirtford afore-

said, be the same more or less, butted and bounded as fuHoweth, viz.:

Beginning at the north east corner, at a tree with stones about it, stand-

ing iu the crotch of Mattatuek river aforesaid, and running southerly

by the side of said river until it meets with Waterbury bounds, where is

a well known white oak tree standing about fifteen rods west of said

Slattatuck river, anciently marked with IS: IN: From thence running

west twenty-three degrees thirty minutes south, to two white oak trees

growing out of one root, with stones about them, and west one mile and

a half to Waterbury north west corner bound mark; and from thence

west five degrees thirty minutes nortli to Shepaug river, where is a tree

and stones about it butting upon Waterbury township; then beginning

at the first mentioned tree by Mattatuek river and rnuning westward

into the wilderness, to an oak tree marked and stones hiid around it;

then south to a crotch iu the Shepaug river ; aud thence by the wester-

most branch of Shepaug river to Woodbury bounds. And also all

and singular, the lands, trees, woods, underwoods, wood-grounds, up-

lands, arable lands, meadows, moors, marshes, pastures, iH)uds, waters,

rivers, brooks, fishings, fowlings, huutings, mines, minerals, quarries,

and precious stones, upon and within the said land. And all other rights,

members, heruditaments, easements, and commodities whatsoever, to the

same belonging or in any wise appertaining, so butted and Utunded as ia

hereiu before particularly expressed or mentioned, and the reversion or

the reversions, remainder or remainders, rights, royalties, privileges,

powers, or jurisdictions whatsoever, of and iu all and singular the said

tract of land and i>rcmise3 hereby granted, aud of and iu any and every

part and jmrcel thereof. And the reuts, services, and profits to the same

incident, belonging, or appertaining

—

T'> llarromltu Jlnhi all the said

tnict of hind, and all and singular other tho premises hereby given or

granted, or mentioned, or inteniled to be granted, with all the privileges

and appurtenances thereof, untn the said John Marsh and John Buell,

and the rest of the partnem, sctlleis of the same, their heirs and assigns,

to their only proper use, benefit, and l>ehoof, forever; and to aud for do

other use, intent, or purpose whatst>ever. Aud the said Governor and

Company, for themselves aud their successors, have given aud grvDted,

and by these presents do give and grunt, unto the oahl John Marsh and

John Diiull, aud the rest of the i>arlners, settlers of tho tract of laud

herein before granted, their helra and owlgiis; tho said tr«ct uf laud so

butted and Iroundoil as afoi ooald, shall from time to time and at all timoa

forever hereafter, be deeme«l, reputed, dououdnaled. and l>e an entire

town of llseir, and shall l>e culled and known by the name of Lit< mmbu>,

Iu the county of Hartford, and that the aforesaid |*artn«r8, settlers, and

inhabltunts thereof, shall and lawfully may from time to lime and at all

times, forever hereafter have, use, exervlM-, and enjoy all such righto,

{lowers, prlvllegra, Immuultlea, and franchises. In awl among them-

selves, as are given, grunteil, allo«e«l, utK^I, exerrlsoil, and oidoyrd, to,

by, and amongst the pn)i>«r luhabllants of other luwiis In ihls t'oluuy,

according to common approval custom aud Ml»erTauci< ; and that thu

said tract of laud and premlnca heri-by grante^l ns nforcsuid, and appur-

touanitw, nIiaII reuutin. ciinilnuo, and U< unto the said John Marsh and

John Buell. and tho rt^tof the iNirtuens, settlors, their helrn uud assigns,

In pniiM-irllun afoiiwald furovor, a good, |>oaccablo, pure, (Hirfect, abauluto,

and Indefuoslblo mlutf of luherltance In foe simple, to l>« hulilen of Uls

Mi^esty, his heirs aud succoMom, as of Ills Mi^t-sty's Muitor uf East

Grvenwich, In thn Cuunly of Kent, In the Klngtluni of Englnud, In fre«

aud common succuge, and not In caplte, n<ir by Knight's service.— Yield-

ing theii'fur and l>a)liiK unlonur Sovereign l^>nl King GiMirge, his heln

and Huccraaurs forever, one titlU part of all ore of <iold aud Silver, which

from time to lime, and at all tlDu<o forever herenflor, «hall Ixt there got-

lou, had, or blatued, Iu lieu of all serrlcas, duties, aud demands whalso-

•Ter.

** In Witmbm wiiKRKor, Tha said Gorarnor and Company bavo cauaad

tho Seal of the sahl Colony to Iki hereunhi afflxed.

'*Ditle4l III iloitfoid, May tho lUth <Uy, Aniui rogul rvgla Dadnio

Georgll, Miig'n- Brlll'ir, Fran'a'. Ilybern'ie, Aunoque Dumlol, Ou«
ThoUMud 8f\ou lluudr\il and Twenty Four, 172-1.

**0. ?ALTOSST»LL, Gi'v'r.
** By orilcr of the Gov'r and ^

Comimuy In General Court >

awrmblod.
*

- Hu. WTLtia, Srcrstery.**
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THE FIRST SETTLEMENTS.

The first settlement was made in the summer of

1720, by Capt. Jacob Griswold, from Windsor, Ezekiel

Buck, from Wethersfield, and John Peck, from Hart-

ford. The little settlement rapidly increased, and

within three years from the pioneer location the fol-

lowing were residents of the town : Xehenuah Allen,

from Coventry ; Joseph Birge, from ^^'indsor ; John

Bird, Joseph Bird, from Farmington ; Ezekiel Buck,

from Wethersfield ; Samuel Bcebe, from Fairfield

County ; John Buell, from Lebanon ; John Baldwin,

from Stratford ; Daniel Culver, Samuel Culver, Heze-

kiali Culver, from Lebanon ; Timothy Collins, from

Guilford ; John Catlin, James Church, from Hart-

ford ; Joseph Gillett, from Colchester ;
Abraham

Goodwin, Joshua Garrett, from Hartford ; Benjamin

Gibbs, Jacob Gibbs, from Windsor; William Good-

rich, Jr., Jacob Griswold, from Wethersfield ; John

Gay, from Deilhani, Mass. ; Benjamin Hosford, from

Windsor; Joseph Harris, from Middletown ; Joseph

Kilborn, from Wethersfield ; Thomas Lee, from Leb-

anon ; Joseph Mason, John Marsh, from Hartford

;

Nathan Mitchell, from Stratford ; Samuel Orton,

from Woodbury; Edward Plielps, from Windsor;

Thomas Pier, from Stratford ; Paul Peck, Jr., John

Peck, from Hartford ; Johu Stoddard, from Wethers-

field ; Eleazer Strong, Supply Strong, from Lebanon

;

Joseph Sanford, Lemuel Sanford, from Stratford

;

Nathaniel Smith, John Smith, from Taunton, Mass.

;

Samuel Smedley, from Woodbury
;
Thomas Tread-

way, from Lebanon ; Benjamin Webster, from Hart-

ford ; Josiah Walker, Joseph Waller, from Wood-

bury ; Nathaniel Woodruff, from Farmington.
" The township was divided among the proprietors,

giving to each a home-lot of fifteen acres, as nearly

as could conveniently be done. The choice of home-

lots was decided by lot. The lot first selected was about

half a mile south of the court-house, and next to

Middle Street or Gallows Lane ; the second was half a

mile further south, and on the corner opposite the

residence of Mr. Arthur D. Catlin; the third three-

fourths of a mile west of the court-house, known as

the Strong place.

" The eleventh choice was the lot thirty rods next

west of the county-house corner, which subsequently

the town voted was not fit for building a house upon.

The mansion-house corner was the twentieth choice

;

the corner now owned by Mrs. Bostwick the twenty-

fifth choice ; and the county-house corner the thirty-

third choice. Ten lots were selected on Chestnut

Hill, southerly from the school-house, and the last

choice (the 57th) was the lot on which is the dwelling-

house of Mrs. A. C. Smith.
" The home-lot of the first minister was the corner

lately owned by Mrs. Weller, deceased, and the twenty-

acre division appurtenant thereto was laid adjoining

on the north, and extended to the north liue of the

land of Mr. Charles Jones.

" The highway from Bantam Kiver, running wester-

ly through the village, was laid twenty rods wide, and

called Meeting-House Street; that now called North

Street twelve rods wide, and was called Town Street;

that now called South Street eight rods wide, and

was called Town Hill Street, the east line of which

terminated si.x rods east of the front of Mrs. Bost-

wick's dwelling. Gallows Lane, then Middle Street,

was twenty-eight rods wide. The highway running

southerly from Mr. David De Forest's house was
named South Griswold Street, and that running

northerly North Griswold Street. Prospect Street,

then called North Street, was seventeen rods wide.

"The first church, court-house, and school-house,

stood nearly in the centre of Meeting-House Street;

the court-house about opposite the centre of Town
Street, and the church east and school-house west of

the court-house.

"The first white child born in Litchfield was

Eunice, the daughter of Jacob Griswold, afterwards

the wife of Capt. Solomon Buell. She was born

March 23, 1721. The first white male child born in

Litchfield was Gershom Gibbs, on the 28th of July,

1724. He was taken prisoner at Fort Washington in

1776, and died on board a British prison-ship on the

29th of December of that year.

" Mrs. Mary Adams was born in Stratford in 1698,

and died here in 1803, aged one hundred and five.

Mr. Keuben Dickinson was born in 1716, and died

here in 1818, aged one hundred and two. Capt. Sal-

mon Buell was born here in 17G7, and died here in

1868.

'"TliG first fuunilers built Itig houses. The settlement iiroceeded as

fast as could reasonably bo expected. During the frequent wars betweeD

England and France the Canadians and ludiane often liarassed our bor-

ders, and Litchfield, being a froDlier town, was exposed to their ravages.*

" It is not strange that the natives, accustomed to

rove over these beautiful hills, through these pleasant

valleys, and about our delightful lakes (gems in eme-

rald), should have viewed with jealousy the approach

of the white man.
" But of course our predecessors, the owners of the

soil by fair purchase, stood on their defense.

"
' Between the years 1720 and 1730, five houses were surrounded by

pallisadoes. One of these stood ou the ground near the present court-

house, auother half a mile south, one east and one west of the centre,

and ouo iu South Farms. Suldiel-s were then stationed here to guard

the iuhabitauts, both while they were at work in the field and while

they were attending public worship ou the Sabbath.

'"In May, 1722, Capt. Jacol) Griswold being at work alone in a field

about one mile west of tlie present court-house, two Indians suddenly

rushed upon him from the woods, took him, pinioned his arms, and

carried him off.

"'They traveled in a northerly direction, and the same day arrived in

some part of the township called Cansian, tiieii awilderness. The Indians

kindled a fire, ami aflei- binding their prisoner hand and foot lay down

to sleep. Griswold, fortunately disengaging his hands and feet, while

las arms were yet pinioned, seized their guns, aud made his escape into

the woods. After traveling a small distance he sat down and waited the

dawn of day, and although his arms wt;re still pinioned he carried both

their guns. The savages awoke in the morning, aud finding their pris-

oner gone immediately i)ui"sued him; they soon overtook him and kept

in sight of him the greater imrt of the day, while he was making his

way homeward. When they came near he turned and pointed one of his

pieces at them; they then fell back. In this manner he traveled till
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near snnset, viien he reacheil an eminence in an open field, about one

mile northwest of the coiirt-hotiHe. He then discharged one of his guns,

which immediately summoned the people to his assiatauce. The Indians

fled, anil Griswold safely returned to his family.

"
' The capture of Griswold made the inhabitants more cautious for

a while, but their fears soon subsided. Afterwards, in IT2Z, Mr. Joseph

Harris, a respectable inhabitant, was at work in the woods not far from

tlie place where Griswold was taken, and, being attacked by a party of

Indians, attempted to make his escape. The Indians pursued him, and,

finding that they could not oveitake him, they shot him dead and scalped

hiru. As Harris did not return the iuhabitants were alarmed, and some

search was made for him, but the darkness of tlie night checked their

exertions. The next morning tli^y found his body and gave it a decent

burial. Harris was killed near tlie north end of the plain, where the

road turns to Milton, a little cast of a school-house, and for a long time

after this plain was called Harris' Plain.'*

'*The place of his interment remained unmarked

for more than a century, but rested in the memory of

the older inhabitants. He was buried in the west

burial-ground, near the village of Litchfield. In 1830

a suitable monument, with an appropriate inscription,

was erected at his grave by voluntary contribution.

"The summer of 1724 was a period of excitement

and alarm. The war between the English and the

French was then prevailing, and the latter used great

efforts to incite the Northern Indians to attack the

frontier settlements of the whites.

" The conduct of the Indians at the North and West

during this year, and especially their hostile move-

ments in the vicinity of Litchfield, induced the

government to take such precautionary measures as

the occasion demanded in order to furnish protec-

tion to the weak and exposed settlements. A line of

scouts was established extending from Litchlicld to

Turkey Hills, curving around the most northerly and

westerly settlements in Simsbury. On the 4th of

June, 1724, Capt. Richard Case, of Simsbury, was

directed to employ ten men on this scouting-party

to rendezvous at Litchfield. They continued in ser-

vice until early in October.

"During these difficulties some of the more timid

of the inhabitants deserted their posts, and the inter-

position of the Legislature was deemed necessary, and

therefore the following enactment was made,—viz.

:

"* A General Court hobleii at Now Haven, Oct. 11, IT'i-l, u|Kjn Ihc m^
moHal of the inhubiluntH of the town uf Ljtchflulil, bv it umurtcU «nil

ordaiiie<I, by the Governor, nHsistanl^, and deputies In Ouiicrnl Courl as-

sembled, and by the authi<rity of the Htime, that whowHtvor hath «r*>u^bt

to have been an inhal'itiiiit, and !» a pn>prk'tur of iiiiy lundft wlihlu the

town of Litchfield, or have dusorled and left suM town alnco <hl1tcullira

have arisen there on account of an em>my, ami shall n«<tclt,>rt fiir lhi> »|Mire

of one month nftur the rlitlnKortlilii Aueuibly to ri>lurn to the mild town

and tlioro abide, or send (tome nnm In their r^Kjni ur ntcml to i>orfi>rni not!

(In the nueeBMiry dntieo of watching and uardiutJ: and the like during

Iho tontlnuancoof the iUfT)cullle« of the war, sliall lone and forfeit all

their right and e«talo In and upon any and ull of the tundtarorrnild.an*!

their entate, right, and InturfNt thoro.n, unto the cur|iiimtl<>n of Conneo
ticut. And further, it Is pruvldefl, thnt If any other nmn being now a
proprietor and Inliabltunt. or a proprietor and uiitfhl to ha\ o l*ccn nu In-

liabltiuit in the miIiI town, shall livreancr during the conlhiuance nf frar

an<l danger uf the enemy, dewrt and leuvo the »n|i| i>>w n, or neglect tu

repair thither, and there pui-winully abide, without cuminnlly pn>vl«llng

Monio other MitHelent |>er»i)n In his ruoni and strad, there to i>«rfurm all

dntlcfl OB before inuntloneil lu the case of (hem who linvo alretidy desetletl,

shall likewise forfeit their cstatu In and on all the lamU In Iho t>mti

•foroMUd UDto thU ror|iurailun.

• Horiis' •tntiitlcal acoouDt of Litohflvld.

" * And further, it is provided, that upon complaint made to the Com-

mittee of War at Hartford, uf or against any such deserter, upon their

satisfaction of the truth thereof, the said committee shall declare the for-

feiture, and the said committee are enabled to admit any other person

who shall go and abide there in the room of the deserter, and perform

the necessary duties as aforesaid, and that he shall hereafter receive a

grant from this court of the estate escheated as aforesaid for his further

confirmation therein. And it is further ordered, that five shillings per

week shall be allowed for billeting soldiers in Litchfield for the summer

past.'

" In 1726, upon news of the Indian enemy coming

down towards our frontiers, the Assembly resolved

that thirty-five effective men be raised to march to

Litchfield for its defense, to be under the command

of Capt. John Marsh.
" Dr. Dwight, the former president of Yale College,

wrote

:

"' Not many years after the county of Litchfield began to be settled

by the Entjlish, a strange Intliau came one day into an inn in the town

of Litchfield, in the dusk of the evening, and requested the hostess to

furnish him with some ilrink and supper. At the same tinio he observed

he conld pay for neither, as he Iia»l hail no success in hunting, but prom-_

ised payment as soon as he 8h»)uld meet with better fortune. The hostess

refused him both the drink and the supper, called him a lazy good-foi-

nothing fellow, and told him she did not work so liard herself to throw

away her earnings ujKjn aucli creatures as he was.

'**.\ man sat by and observed that the In<lian, then turning about to

leave so Inliospitabic a place, showed by his countenance that he was

suffering vprj* severely from want and weariness, and directed the hostess

to supply him with what he wished, and engaged to pay the bill himself.

She did s >. When the Indian bad finirihed his supimr ho turned to h'n

bencfactoi, thanked him, and assured bini that he shotiM remember his

klndiiecs, and whenever he wm able would fulthfully recom|>eni<e it

"'Some years after the man who had befriended him had (Kio^lun to

go wime distance into the wllderncM between LitchlU-ld, then a fnuitler

Kettlenient, and Albany, when lie was taken pHwmer by an Indian scuut

and carrle<I to Canada. When he arrlve<l at the piiut'l|>nl settlement of

t)io tribe, on Che southern Itorder of the St. Ijiwrence, it was pruitosMl by

s<jnie of the captors that he should be put to death. Duiiiig the consul-

tation an old Indian wotnan demanded that he shouhl be giten up to

her, that she nilght adopt him In the place of a son whom she had lost

in the war. lie was accordingly given to her, and Uvvtl through the en-

suing winter in her family, exi>eriencing the customary elTvits uf savage

hoi>|>ltHllty.

"*Tlie following pumnter.ns he was at work In the fureiit alone, aa un-

known Indhtu cnnie up to hini and asked hlni to meet him at a ploro

whh'h he iH'intetl out on a given day. The prlotmer agreed tu the pm-

|Mi«al, but not without ftoni<> apprvheiuilous that mischief was intentleU

him. Duting the Intorviil iheoe apprtdien-ions Increiueil tt> such a de-

grre OS to dlniuado blni eflcclunlly fr\>m fulAIIIng his etigogrmenU

I

**'StMui after the Mime Indian fi>und hint at his work ag»ln, and very

gravely reproved blm fur not |N>rf<irniing bin prvmiiso. The man apoli>-

gl7rd awkwanlly motigh, l<nl iu tlM< )«^t mitnner In his power. The

Indian told him ho sluMibl be satUfiM If lie woubl meet him at the nuiie

place un a future day w hkh he nuniod. The man prooiloed tu meet hini,

and fuintle<l his proniUe.

" When hearrtvwl at the n\^^t he found the Indian pn>r|do«l with Iwu

muskets, anmiunltloii for them, ami kniiiwiu-k«. The Indian onlore*l

him to take one of eoih and roll-<u him. The directb>n uf their marvli

:
was to the south. The iu»n fidbiWMl without the leoAt knowledg* of

what he was to do <>r whittirr be was g'dng. but com bided that If lh«

Indbiii liilfudiHl him hntni he wnutd have dhpal*. Iu'<: hlni nt the l<rg|ii.

niiig. and at the wurvt he wa« as safe where he was as he could be in any

other place.

"' Within ashorttime, therefore, his fsAnsiiUlded.altliuugh the Indian

ulwervr*! » pnifimnd and myslerluut slleiici* concvrning the object of the

e.v|>etllllon. In Uie dny-tlme Ihry shut such gnnie as c*nie In their way,

and at night kindled a Are, by whUh they slept. After a leilluus Journey

of many days they c«mo one m»rnlng to the top uf an eminence preeent-

lug a pDMpcct of aculihale^l CMnntry. In whKh was a niinilK<r of ht>UM<s

The Indian aiik«*<l hlNCi>niiMtnl<<n whether he knew the place. Il« r«plle<l

eagerly that It was LItirhAebl. IU» guide then, aflvr rrmlndlng hlni that

I

ho had so many years lM?f>tre relle«etl the wants of a fumUhliig Indian

' at an Inn lu tliat town, snijolnel, " I thul lotllan; now I |>ay }ou; g>
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home." Havinff said this he bade him adieu, and the man joyfully re-

turned to liis own house.'"

LITCHFIELD IN THE FRENCH WAR, 1755-63.

In this struggle Litchfield furnished her full quota

of men and contributed largely in means. There is

but a single list of the soldiers who went from this

town preserved. This list appears as "A Pay-Roll

forCapt. Archibald McNeile's Company in the Second

Regiment of Connecticut Forces for the year 1762,"

which is on file in the Secretary of State's office in

Hartford

:

Archibald McXeilc, captain; Isaac Moss, first lieutenant; Increase

Moselcy, scLOud lioutenant; Klisha HHun, ensign; Tliomaa Catlin,

Nathaniel Tayloi-, liezaleel Beehe, Ilezekiah Lee, Archibald Mc-

Keile, Jr., sergeants; Roger Cutlin, Win. Driukwater, Nathan Stod-

dard, James Lassly, corporals; Daniel Barns, Jacob Bartholomew,

driiniinei-s ; Cluules BichardB, Sanuiel Warner, Samuel Gibsun, Jo-

sepli Jones, J'diu Bariett, John Barrett, Jr., William Forster, Francis

Mazuzan, Thomas Wedge, Reuben Smith, Jeremiah Oaborn, Benja-

min Laudon, Isaac Osboi n, Benjamin lU^^sell, David Nichols, Icha-

ho.l S'liiire, Comfort JucUsuu, Klisha Walker, Amos Bruugton, Na-

thaniel Lewis, Levi Bonny, Thomas Barker, Samuel Driukwater,

Asahel Gray, EUakim Cibbs, Samuel Peet, Ephraim Smedley, Ed-

mund llftwes, Silas Tucker, Robert Bell, Thomas Sherwood, Ephraim

Knajip, Titus Tyler, Robert Coe, Adum i'^Iott, Asahel Uinuiau, Roswell

Fuller, Daniel Grant, William Emons, Bloses Stoddard, Gideon Smith,

Jonathan Smith, Ilexekiah Leach, Adam Ilurlbut, Jeremiah Harris,

Eli Emons, Alexander Waugh, (hnnge Stoddard, Ezekiel Shepard,

Ozias Ilurlbul, Daniel Harris, John t'ullins, Solomon Palmer, Juna-

llum Plielpy, Jttliu Cogswell, Maik Ivenney, Aaron Tlirall, Timuthy

Bri'Wii, Roswell Dart, William Biilford, Janiea Mauvjlle, Thomas

Williams, Justus Seelye, Jnnies Francior, George Peet, Nathaniel

Bflrnum, Adonijah Ruice, Elisha Ingraham, Daniel Hurlbut, Ebene-

zer Blackman, Domini Doughui, Amos Tulls, Tlumias Ranny, Daniel

Hamilton, Asahel Hodge, Daniel Warner, Titus Tolls, John Ripner,

Caleb Nichols, John Fryer, Ebenezer Pickett.

" It is not to be inferred," says Mr. Kilbourn, " that

all the members of Capt. ^McNeile's company belonged

in Litchfield. Some in the list are recognized as resi-

dents of neighboring towns. Lieut. Moseley, for in-

stance, was a Woodbury man. He became an eminent

lawyer, legislator, and judge in his native county, and

afterwards removed to Vermont, and was there ele-

vated to the bench of the Supreme Court.
** The name of the late CoL Beebe, of his town, will

be noticed among the sergeants of this company. At

a still earlier date he had been a member of Maj.

Rogers celebrated corps of Rangers, and was engaged

in one of the forest fights, when the soldiers were dis-

persed by order of their commander and each man
was directed to fight, in true Indian style, from behind

a tree. Beebe chanced to be stationed near Lieut.

Gaylord, who was also from Litchfield County. He
had just spoken to Gaylord, and at the moment was

looking him in the face for a rejily, when he observed

a sudden break of the skin in the forehead, and the

lieutenant instantly fell dead,—a ball from the enemy
having passed through his head.

'* The names of some of the Litchfield officers who
received commissions between the years 1755-63 are

here given, as it is known that a part of them were in

the war,—viz.

:

Solomon Buel, captain, 175G; Ebenezer Marsh, colonel, 1757 ; Isaac

Baldwin, captain, 17''7; Jushua Smith, lieutenant, 1757; Ahner

Baldwin, ensigns; Archibald McNeile, captain, 17o8 ; Zebulon Gibhs,

ensign, 175S ; Stephen Smith, lieutenant, 17G0 ; Eli Catlin, lieutenant,

1 760 ; Isaac Moss, lieutenant, 1701 ; Josiah Smith, lieutenant, 1761 ; Asa

Hopkins, lieutenant, 17GI ; Gideon Harris, ensign, 1761 ; David Lan-

don, ensign, ITGl ; Lynde Lord, ensign, 1762.

" Zebulon Gibbs was in the northern army from

1756 to 1762. In March, 1758, he was commissioned

as ensign in Capt. Hurlbut's company, which was

raised as a part of the force designed for the capture

of Crown Point."

CHAPTER X.

LITCHFIELD (Continued).

Fii-st Indication of Revolutionary Spirit in Litchfield—Letter of Aaron

Burr—The Fii-st Company of Subliera—Capt. Bezaleel Beebe—The

Bowling Gieeu Statue of George IIL Demolished—Carried to Litcli-

field—Converted into Cartridges—Continental Stores—Army Work-

gliops— Prisoners of War—Arrest of David Matthews, Mayor of New
York—Conveyed to Litchfield-Governor Frankliu a Prisoner here

—

Visit of Count Kochambeau and Gen. Lafayette—Gen. "Washington

Visits the Village—Various Votes of the Town— Rev. Judah Cham-

pion's Prayer—Resident British Soldiers—Incidents, etc., etc.

WAR OF THE REVOLUTION.*

The first indication of the rising spirit of revolu-

tion in tliis town is contained in the following docu-

ment, which emanated from a town-meeting held Aug.

17, 1774, of which Oliver Wolcott was moderator:

*' The Inhabitants of Litclifiold in legal Town Meeting assembled on

the 17th day of August, A.D. 1774, taking into consideration the distress

to which the Poor of the Town of Boston may likely be reduced by the

operation of an Act of the British Parliament for Blocking up their Port

and deeply commiserating tlie unhappiness of a brave and loyal People,

who are thus eminently sufTering in a General Cause for vindicating

what every virtuous American considers an essential Right of this

Country, think it is their indispensable Duty to afford their unhappy dis-

tressed brethren of said Town of Boston all reasonable Aid and Support.

And this they are the more readily induced to do, not ouly as the In-

habitants of said Town are thus severely condemned for their reluctance

to submit to an arbitrary, an unconsented to, and consequently uncon-

stitutional Taxation, but the whole of the great and loyal Province of

the Massaclnisetts Bay have been cmulemind uuheunJ, in the loss of their

Cbarter Privileges, by the heretofore unknown and unheard of exertions

of Parliamentary Power, which they conceive is a power claimed and

exercised in such a manner as cannot fail of striking every unprejudiced

mind with Horror and Amazement as being subversive of all those in-

herent essential and constitutional Rights and Privileges which the

good people of this Colony have ever held sacred and even dearer than

Life itself, nor ever can wish to survive ; not ouly every idea of Property,

but every emolument of civil life being thereby rendered precarious and

uncertain.

" In full confidence, therefore, that no Degree of Evil thus inflicted on

BJiid Town and Province will ever induce them to give up or betray their

own and the American Constitutional Rights and Privileges, especially

as they cannot but entertain the most pleasing Expectations that the

Committees of the several North Amejicau Provinces, who are soon to

meet at Pliihidelphia, will in their wisdom be able to point out a Method

of Conduct effectual for obtaining Redress of their grievances,-a Method

to which (when once agreed upon by said Committee) this Town will

look upon it their duty strictly to attend. And in the mean time earn-

estly recommend that subscriptions be forthicith opened in this Toirn, under

* This chapter is compiled mainly from the late Payne Kenyon Kil-

bourne's " History of Litchfield," and Hon. Geo. C. Woodruff's " Histori-

cal Address," delivered in 1876.
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the care of Reuben Sraitli, Esq., Crtpt. Lyuilo LorJ, and Mr. William

Stanton, who are hereby appointed a Committee to receive and forward

to the Selectmen of Bustun, for the use of the Poor in that place, all

Buch Donations ag shall bo thereupon made for that purpose, and also to

correspond with the Committee of Correspondence there or elsewhere,

as there may be occasion.

" We also take tliis opportunity publicly to return our thanks to the

members of the Honorable House of Representatives of this Colony, for

their patriotic and loyal Kesolutions iiassed and published in the last Aa-

sembly on the occasion, and order them to be entered at large on the

Public Records of this Town, that succeeding ages may be faithfully fur-

nished with authentic Credentials of our inflexible attachment to those

inestimable Privileges which we and every honest Aniericau glory in

esteeming our unalienable Birthright and Inheritance."

At the annual town-meeting held December G, 1774, it was voted,

" That the Honorable Oliver Wolcott, Esq., and Messrs. Jededi.ih Strong,

Jacob AVoodruff, John Marsh, John Osborn, Jehiel Parmelee, Abraham

Bradley, Seth Bird, Arcliibald McNeile, Abraham Kilbonrn, Nathan

Garnsey, James Morris, and Ebeuezer Benton be a Committee for the

Purposes mentioned in the Eleventh Article of the Association Agree-

ment uf the Grand Continental Congress iu Philadelphia, 5th of Septem-

ber last, and approved, adopted, and recommended by the General As-

sembly of this Colony at their session in October last."

*' The ' Eleventh Article of the Association Agree-

ment' here referred to provides for the appointment

of 'Committees of Inspection' in each city and town,
' whose business it shall be attentively to observe the

conduct of all persons touching this Association ; and

when it shall be made to appear that any person has

violated its articles, they arc to cause their names to

be published in the Gazette^ to the end that all such

foes to the Rights of British America may be publicly

known and universally contemned as the enemies of

American Liberty, and thenceforth we break off all

dealings with him or her.' Committees of Inspection

were also appointed at the annual town-meeting in

1775 and 1770. In addition to the above, the follow-

ing pers(ms were appointed, viz.: Messrs. Reuben
Smith, Lynde Lord, Andrew Adams, Archibald ^Ic-

Neile, Jr., Moses Sanford, Tapping Reeve, Jonathan

Mason, Caleb Gibbs, Nathaniel Woodruff, William

Stanton, and Nathaniel Goodwin.

"The celebrated Aaron Burr (afterwards Vice-

President of the United States) became intimately

associated with Litchfield during this period. He
graduated at Princeton College in October, 1772, and
in the following June his only sister, Sarali Burr,

became the wife of Tapping Reeve, Esq., of this town.

" In May, 1774," »ay» his bfogmpher,* *' hu left tlio lU-v. Mr. IfeMamy>,

and wont to the Ixniso of \\\a Uruther-hi-hiw, Tapphig Ilcvrp, Hhvro hit

time wiu occnplod iu reading, principally hliitury, but cspcclully Ukim
portlouti of It which related to wnn^ bnllloit, ami nlogen, whlrh Ivmird to

inflame his natural Dillitary anlnr. The nlntorMng topics of inxMlion and
the rights of the people wuro agltntlng the then British Ctdunlea fn.m

one extreme to the other. TIh-mo subJiHts, thcrcfuro, cuuld not \mm un-

noticed by a youth of the hnpiiriug mind and nnlvnt feellnga of Burr.

CouHtltutlonnl law, and the n-lallvo rights of Iho crv>wn and tito culo-

nistf, wore exanducti with all the a< umcn nhUh ho iHissoMrd, HncI ho

became a \Vhlg from rcllectlou and conviction, an wvll ua fntm fcvllng."

" Burr remained in Litchfield on this occasion some-

thing over a year. The letters written by him while

here contain frequent allusions to local matters and
to individuals (especially the young ladies) residing

•Dsvlt.1. 40.

in the place. In a communication to Matthias Ogden
(dated at Litchfield, Aug. 17, 1774) he says,

—

" Before I proceed further, let me tell yon that a few days ago a mob of

several hundred persons gathered at Barrington, and tore down the

house of a man who was suspected of being nufriendly to the liberties of

the people; broke up the court then sitting at that place, etc. As many
of the rioters belonged to this colony, and the Supreme Court was then

sitting at this place, the sheriff was immediately despatched to appre-

hend the ringleaders. He returned yesterday with eight prisonere. wlio

were taken without resistance. But this minute there are entering the

town on horseback, with great regularity, about fifty men, armed each

with a white club; and I observe others continually dropping in. I shall

here leave a blank to give you (perhaps iu heroics) a few sketches of

my unexampled valor should they pn>ceed to hostilities; and should

they not, I can tel) you what I would have done.'*

After the " blank," the young hero adds

"The above-mentioned sneaks all gave bonds for their appearance to

stand a trial at the next court for committing a riot."

" While Burr remained at the house of Judge Reeve

he Avas startled by the news of the battle of Lexing-

ton, which took place on the 19th of April, 1775.

Immediately thereafter he addressed a letter to his

friend Ogden, urging him to come to Litchfield and

make arrangements with him for joining the stand-

ard of their country. The battle of Bunker Hill soon

followed (June IGth). As Ogden could not come at

once to Litchfield, Burr started for Elizabethtown,

N, J., to assist his friend in arranging for a speedy

trip to Cambridge, where the American army was then

encamped. In July they reached Cambridge, and in

September Burr enlisted as a private soldier in Ar-

noM's expedition through the wilderness to CJucbec.

It may be added that Litchfield was Col. Burr's recog-

nized home for some half-dozen years.f

"On the morning of the 10th of May, 1775, Col.

Ethan Allen, a native of Litchfield, at the head of

his brave Green Mountain I5oys, surprised and cap-

tured the fortress of Ticonderoga. Several of this

little band of heroes were born and bred in this vi-

tOn tb« S7th of Jannary, 1770, Jady* B«eT» wrote to Burr that:

"Amitl llio tnnicntatluns for llie low of ft bmvc, eiiturprinlng general

[Mulilgomery], your raca|to from such ininiinont danger \o which you

have brrn pX|k«ch1 hait ulT>>nktl u» tho grentitit nntlsfitctiiui. Tlio i)vw«

of tho unfnrlunale nttaik u|kiin IjuelMH; »rrt«(Ml amtuiR uh <<n tlu* 13ih uf

thin muutli. I ctniceattHl it fmui your vlittor uiiill titu isth, whon »hu

found it out ; but In lt>M than half an huiir I reci'lved |**ltoni frum At-

Imny m-quniuHng mo that yoit wvro in saft^ty, and had piiuiM] girat

hitnor by yunr Intrepid ctuiduct. ... It uu happy for us lliat wo did

not know yuu were an aid-Ui>t-anip uiilll we heanl of your wrifaro; for

we hoard Ihnt Mouleuniory luttl hU nldn were kille<|, without knowing
who hi* aidi were. Your ilnter enjoyii n nilddttntj; Rtnto of health. S)io

hiui many aiixlona houra on ymir accunut; hut bIip tells me that, aa the

;
l>fliuvi« you may terve thu rounlry In tho liu»lne« In which you are now

,
cm|>loyr<l, nho l.i C4>ii(eittod that you should remain In Uie umiy. li must

he an exalted puhllr >|drlt Ihat could pmduce such an effect ui>un asia*

ter a> arrectionnle as youni.**

For several nxinths In 17?*l, Sirs. Tho^uclnProriMt (the dnwhlntc young
wtduw uf Colonel Pro%'i«t, uf the llriilali Army) was u rtwllt'ut <>l Lltch-

fleld ; ami a few of her U'ttvn written fnmi this |daco are piesorvnl Iu

I>avU' life uf Hurr, vol. I. p|>. 2:i4-2-i7. She l>ecame the wife uf Ilurr,

July 2. I7(«l>.

Aaron Burr became ai«l-do-ramp tu Orneral Washington, Atlurney-

Ooneral of the SUte of New York, l'iilto>l SUlea Senator, ami In 18U1

was a candidate with JefToiK-iu fi>r tho Preshleocy of Iho L'nite*! Stalea,

the two rvrclvluKan ciiual number of t^Kn-toral votes. AfliT an exrlllDg

ouiileat of sevrml days Iu \\\f Uullud Stairs House of Re|trc«ruUllveis

JeSenuu woi chueeu Proaident, aud Durr Vlce-PreaiUenl.
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cinity. Lieut. Crampton, who entered the fort by the

side of Allen, was also a native of this town, and had

resided here during a large part of his life. On this

occasion was captured the first British flag that fell

into the hands of the Americans in the Revolutionary

contest ! The magnitude and importance of this ex-

ploit will be better understood, when considered in

connection with the vast amount of time, and treas-

ure and blood, which the fortress had cost the Brit-

ish government. The day following the capture of

Ticonderoga the garrison at Crown Point, with all its

military stores, was surrendered to Col. Warner, a na-

tive of Roxbury, in this county.
** In January, 177G, Capt. Bczaleel Beebe, of Litch-

field, received orders to enlist a company for the de-

fense of New York. The tidings sj>read rapidly

throughout the town, and awakened anew the enthu-

siasm of the Whigs. A veteran who died within the

last few years stated that when the intelligence

readied him he sfnried on a run for the captain's

headquarters, fearing the roll would be full before he

could reach there. Capt. Beebe's orders reached him

on a Sunday, and by the following Saturday the

company had been raised, armed, and equipped, and

were on their march towards Fairfield. The following

paper, with the names attached, is inserted here for

preservation

:

" Wk, llio Sultacilbere, being convinced of tho Necessity of a Ixuly of

Forces to dflt'iit cerluiu Wicked PnrjMJBes formed by llie instninieuts of

Miui^toritil Tyrnnny, do solemnly en(;iige otirselvcB nud euliat as Private

Soldiers, in n llegimont to be O.tmmaiulod by Colonel Andrew Ward, Jr.,

under tho command of Major-Gonernl Lek, for tho Term of Eight Weeks

nt tho utmost from tho Day wo Mnrch from Fairfield, which is the place

of Koude/vous; tho H.inoruble Miyor-General Leo having given his

AVord nud Iluiiitr that wo shall not be Detained a single Day a^er said

Term. Dated at Litchfield, 2l8t day of January, 1770.

**Sergt. Benjamin Bissell,"Lieut. Jonathan Manon,

Briant Stoddard,

James Woodrufi",

Oliver WoudrufT,

Phineas Goodwin,

Zebulon Bissell,

Benjamin Taylor,

Moses Taylor,

Frederick Stanley,

Jamea Crampton,

Caleb Munson,

Abraham Wadhams,

Slartin Nash,

Oliver Griswold,

Zadock Gil)b8, Jr.,

Josiah Bartholomew,

Jesse Stanley,

Elisha Mayo,

Nathaniel Newell,

Lumau Bishop,

Asaph Benham,

Joseph Finney,

Zebedee Stuitevant,

MartiQ Curtisa,

Levi Swan,

Joel Barnes,

Peleg Holmes,

Alexauder Sackett,

£lihu Harrison,

Roger N. Whittlesey,

Charles Woodruff, Jr.,

Joseph Suuford,

Stephen Brown,

William PattersoD,

John Lyman,

Obed Stoddard,

T. Weed,

George Dear,

Jacob Gaylord,

Elihu Grant,

Abram Beach,

Ichabod Tuttle,

Chauncey Beach,

George Dear, Jr.,

Adino Hale,

Allen Lucas,

>Villiani Starr,

Heber Gilbert, Jr.,

Zebnlou Palmer,

Joseph Peters,

Truman Gilbert,

Heman Brown,

Luther Comstock,

Daniel Swan."

" Those who have a knowledge of the leading men
of I^itchfield County from forty to seventy years ago
will recognize in the above list the names of many of

her most prominent and influential citizens,—men of

wealth and enterprise, who, though surrounded by
the endearments of domestic life, voluntarily enlisted

a.s private soldiers in that dangerous expedition. The
roll as here given is not complete. About two-thirds

of the persons named in the list belonged to this town
;

the remainder were from Goshen, Tornngton, and War-
ren. They were all enlisted from the 21st to the 25th

of January, 177G. The names of a few additional

members of this company may be gleaned from the

following appraisal:
*' Litchfield, 2r)th Janvniry, 1776.

"We, being requested to apprise the Arms belonging to Capt. Bezaleel

Beebo's Company, in Col. Andrew Ward's Kegiment, going on an exp»>

dition to New York under the command of Gen. Charles Lee—we accord-

ingly apprized the same, beiug first duly sworn, viz.

:

Elihu Harrison's Gnn, Bayonet nud Cartridge Box, in his own hands.

[F'i'/urfti itmitleil.]

Roger N. Whittlesey's Gun in the hands of Briant Stoddard.

Joseph Sanfurd's Gun, Bayonet and Belt in his own hands.

Nathaniel Allen's Gun, Bayonet and Belt in his own hands.

Obed Stoddard's Gun, Baynnet, Cartridge box and belt.

Joshua Smith's Gnu in his own hands.

Zebulon Bisscll's Gun in his own hands.

James WoodrufTs Gun carried Viy Stephen Brown.

Phiueas Goodwin's Gnn, bayonet and belt.

Whiting Stanley's Gun earned by James Crampton.

Oliver Woodruff's Gun carried by himself.

Hezokiah Agard's Gun carried by John Lyman.

Jedediah Strong's Gun, bayonet and belt carried by William Patterson.

Lieut. Jonathan Mason's Cartridge box.

Samuel Canfield's Gun carried by himself.

Noah Garnsey's Gun carried by T. Weed.

Sergt. Benjamin Bissell's Gun and Bayonet carried by himself.

Asa Osborn's Gun and Cartridge box carried by himself.

Jedediah Strong's Gun carried by Benjamin Taylor.

Jedeiiiah Strong's Gun carried by Frederick Stanley.

Reuben Smith, Esq's, Gun, Bayonet, Case nud Belt carried by Capt.

Beebe.

Capt. John Osborn's Gun carried by Moses Taylor.

"Abraham Bradley,

"Thomas Catlin,

" Obed Stodder,

:ADLEY, 1

.IN, r

R. J

Appraisers on

Oittu:*

"In May, 1776, a regiment was ordered to be raised

for the defense of the State, 'to be subject to join the

Continental army, if so ordered by the Governor.'

Captain Beebe was appointed to the command of one

of the companies of this regiment, with Jesse Cook

for first lieutenant, and James Watson for second

lieutenant. Lieut. Watson was soon transferred to

another corps, and John Smith, of Litchfield, was

commissioned in his place. The following is a com-

plete list of the officers and soldiers of this company :

Bezaleel Beebe, captain; Jesse Cook, John Smith, lieutenants; Wait

Beach, ensign; Levi Peck, Cotton Mather, Heber Stone, Solomon

Goodwin, sergeants; Samuel Cole, Ezekiel Bissell, Elijah Loomii,

David Hall, corporals; Joel Taylor, drummer; Epaphras Wads-

worth, fifer; Nathaniel Allen, Cyrenius Austin, Enos Austin, Joseph

Austin, Andrew Austin, Elihu Beach, Barnias Beach, Zebulon Bia-

sell, James Beach, Asa Brooks, Daniel Be?iedict, Samuel Baldwin,

Elisha Brownson, Benjamin Bissell, Daniel Barns, Ebenezer Bacon,

Noah Beach, Elisha Bissell, Frederick Bigelow, Hezekiah Bissell,

James Davis, Friend Dickinson, Jesse Dickinson, Solomon Dickin-

son, Ebenezer Dinion, Gershom Fay, Remembrance Filley, Joel

Frost, John German, Phinea« Goodwin, Beriah Birge, James Birge,

Noadiah Bancroft, Ithamar Gibbs, Moore Gibbs, Samuel Gleason,

Isaac Hosford, Abraham Haskins, Amos Johnson, Charles Kilbourn,

Henry Mclntire, Thomas Mason, Oliver Marshall, Timothy Marsh,

Alexander McNiel, Ebenezer Landon, Remembrance Loomis, Jamea
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Little, Juhn Lyman, Noah North, David Olmsted, Ethan Oshorn,

Jolin Parmeley, Solomon Tarmeley, Joseph Goodwin, Benjamin

Gihbs, Gershoni Gibhs, Henry Plumb, Eliphaz Parsons, Joseph San-

ford, rrederick Stanley, Timothy Stanley, Jared Stewart, Joseph

Spencer, Daniel Smith, Aaron Stoddard, Ira Stone, John Strong,

Peleg Sweet, Stephen Taylor, Joseph Taylor, Samuel Vaill, Jeremiah

Weed, John Weed, Gideon Wilcoxson, John Wliiting, Oliver Wood-

ruff.

" These names are copied from the account-book and

billet-roll preserved among the papers of Col. Beebe.

From various accounts and memoranda found in these i

papers, we are able to gather certain facts in the his-

tory of some of these soldiers. Thus

:

"August 9, To cash paid for cojHn for Ira Stone;" Sept. 7, "Lient. John
'

Smith was discharged from the army in New York ;" *' John German was

dismissed from my company by order of a General Court Martial, July 9,

1776;" "Aug. 9, James Beach tUt-d about 8 o'clock in the morning;" \

" Sept. the 5th, 10 o'clock at night, Samuel Gleason <?(></ ;" in the account

with Joel Taylor—"Paid one dollar to Zebulon Taylor to deliver to (/iff

mother of the above Joel Taylor, ileceaxe'l, It being cash that was with

him when he died;" " Sept. 27, 1777, Receive<l of Capt. Beebe 22 shillings

for mileage from Philadelphia to Litchtield. (Signed) Abraham Has-

kins."

" From the account of Gershom Gibbs:

" Received of Capt. Beebe three dollars that hrhtngfil lo my htubantl and

son, which was part of the money sent to them whilst prisoners in New
York. (Signed) Tabitha Gibbs." I

" From the account of Nathaniel Allen :

" Sept. 27, 1777, To cash left with Joseph Agard to be paid to Mm. AUm,
that was left with me when Mr. Allen lUed."

" From the account with Phincas Goodwin :

"To back rations 16 days at Fort Washlnglon," Ac.

The fate of some of these individual.^, together with

that of many others belonging to tliis company, will

be more fully explained in tlie narrative which fol-

lows :

"About the 1st of November, 177G, thirty-si.x

picked men (all of whose names are given in the pre-

ceding roll) were placed under the command of Capt.
|

Beebe and sent to Fort Washington to aid in its

defense. Thia fort was captured by tlie enemy, and

Cai)t. Beebe's company, with the rest of tlie garrison,
^

were crowded, with hundred of others, into the sugar-
[

liousc and on board the prison-ships; witlioiit air or

water, and for the first two days witliout food, conta-

gion and death were tlie natural consopicnces. The
dysentery, smallpo.x, anil other terrible di.sea.ses broke

out among them, and very few of the whole number
survived the terrible ordeal.

" On the 27th of December, 1776, an exchange of

prisoners t<^)ok place. Only eleven of Capt. Bccbc's

company were al)le to sail for Connecticut,—vir..

Marsh, Woodrutl', U. Looinis, H. Beach, N. IWnch,

Marshall, Brownson, liissell. Little, IJcnedict, and Ma-
son. Six of these died on their way home,—viz., >

Bissell, Brownson, B. Beach, Marsh, Marshall, and
,

Loomis. The remainder of those who were living at

tha^ date, being too ill to be removed, were left be-

hind, where nil (except S<'rgt. Mather) died within a

few iLiys, most of them with the Hniiillpox. Here

follow the names of these ' picked men.' The notes

prefixed appear to have been added by Capt. Beebe

at the different periods corresponding with the dates

:

"AN ACCOUNT OF THE PRISONER'S NAMES AND PLACES OF
CONFINEMENT.

Sergt. Cotton blather—returned home.

Sergt. David Hall—died of the smallpox on board the ' Grosvenor,' Dec.

11, 1776.

Elijah Loomis—died.

Gershom Gibbs—died on lioard the ship, Dec. 29, 1776.

Timothy Stanley—died on board the ship, Dec. 26, 1776.

Amos Johnson—died Dec. 26, 1776.

Timothy Marsh—died on his way liome.

Barnias Beach—died on his way home.

Samuel Vaill—died on board the ' Grosvenor,' Dec. 27,1776.

Nathaniel Allen—died of smallpox, Jan. 1, 1777.

Enos Austin—died of the smallpox, Dec. 4, 1776, in the evening.

Gideon Wilcoxson—died.

Thomas Mason—»reac!ied home.

Alexander McNiel—died.

Daniel Smith—died in New York, of smallpox, Jan. 1, 1777.

Noah Beach—reached home.

Daniel Benedict— reached home. '

Isaac Gibl*—died Jan. 15, 1777.

Oliver Marshall—died on his way home.

Solomon, Parmeley—wont on Iwartl the ship, and I fear he is drowned,

as I cannot find him.

David Olmsted—died Jan. 4, 1777.

Jared Stuart—dietl Jan. 26, 1777, in the morning.

John Lyman—illed Jan. 26, 1777.

Elistia Brownson—died on hts way home.

[ The iiltort PrifiniTH arr at Lirinijottm'" Sutfar^Hotue.]

Zebulon Bissell—died in Woodbury, on his way home.

Aaron Sto<ldanl—died Jan. 12, 1777.

John Parmeley—<lied Jan. 15, 1777.

Joel Taylor—dlwi Jan. 9, 1777.

Janiot Little—reached home.

Phlnru Goo<lwln—died Jan. .'<, 17T7.

[Tht al:,re al Ihr Churrk callM Uu Korik Clarrlk.]

OllTer Woodruff— reached home.

R«aiembruice Loouila—diod on hii way home.

[T*r nl-rr at Brflrrrll]

" Tti« aImjto priwnen belong to Capt. B««b«*a compttUT, Oil. Bnulley't

regiment

Oirji. .Samuel Cole, 1

J>>ri-ml»)i Weed,
| Were cither killed or made their eecn|s» fh>m

Joeeph Si-encer,
|

Fort WashlDgton, on Uie li'.tli of Nt.irmlwr, ITTi'i."

John Whiting. I

" Probably no similar instance of niortiility oc-

curred during the entire war. Only fir survivors out

of a company of thirty-six hale and hearty young

men is a percentage of loss rarely reached even in

the most fatal engagements. But few, if any, of these

men were slain in battle. They died miserable deaths

from cold, hunger, thirxt, sulfocation, di.sease, ami the

vilest cruelty from those to whom they had surren-

dered their arms im a solemn promise of fair and

honorable treatment. Well might Ethan Allen (a

professed infidel), with elinchetl teeth, exclaim to

Capt. Heebe, as he did on one (K-casion, ' I confess my
faith in my own creeil Is shaken; thrre oui//tl to be a

hell for such infernal scoundrels as that Ixiwrie!' re-

ferring to the ollicer In charge of the pris<mer».

" Capt. Beebe, in consiileration of his office, was

allowetl the limits of the city on his parole of honor,

but was compelled to proviilc hims«-lf with food,

lodging, and shelter. He was accu.stnmed to visit his

men daily, .so long as any reiiuiini'd, and did what-

ever he wus allowed to do to alleviate their wn-lclitd
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condition. He was not exchanged with the other

prisoners, but was detained within the 'limits' for

nearly a year at his own expense. During much of

this time Col. Allen was held in New York as a pris-

oner of war, and, before the remnant of the Litchfield

soldiers were exchanged, these two gallant officers

often met for consultation.

'"'In June, 1776, the general assembly ordered six

battalions to be raised in this State and marched di-

rectly to New York, there to join the Continental

army. A company was raised in Litchfield for this

service, of which Abraham Bradley was captain

;

Tillcy Bhikesley, first lieutenant; Thomas Catlin,

second lieutenant; and James Morris, Jr., ensign.

"Defuiothn Uevoliitiun," siiys Mr. Gibbs, in Iiis ' History of t!ie Ad-

niinietralioiis of WimlitriKton hihI Adains,* "n IcitJon equestrian Htatueof

GoorRO III. etuort in the Huwling Groen, in tho city of Now York. At

the broaltiiig out of tlio war tills was oveitlirowii, and lead being highly

valuable, was sent to Gen. Wolcott's, at Litchliolii, for safe l^eeping,

where, in process of time, it was cut up and run into bullets by his

daughters and their friends."

In a paper read before the New York Historical

Society, by the author above quoted, in October, 1844,

he gives a curious and interesting history of this

statue, from which the following extracts are made:

"ACCOUNT OF THE STATIJK OF GKOUGE HI, FORMERLY
STANDING ON THE BOWLING GUEEN, NEW YOHK.

" Most of tho membera are probably nwaro thiit an e<incBtriau statue

of King George III, stood upon the Bowling Green, iu this city, pn'or to

tho Itovobition, and wa« overthrown soon after its coniniencenient. I

believe, liowovor, that its subseiiuerit fiito has never been recorded, and

having in my possession a paper giving authentic infonuatioii on the

subject, I have supposed that tlie royal etiigy might be worth u brief

obituary.

" Hoit'a (Xew Y'orlc) diJcWf, as ijuoted by Mr. Dunlup, gives tho fol-

lowing notice of its erection:

"'August "2181,1770, being thobirth-day of Piince Frederick, the father

of George III., an elegitiit Equestrian Statue of his present Majesty,

George HI., was erected in tho B"\vling Green, near Fort George. On
this occnslon tho niembore of his Maji'sty's Council, the City Corpor-

ation, the Cor|x>ra1ion of the Chamber of Commerce, the Corpotution of

tho Marino Society, and most of tho gentlemen of tho City and Army,
waited on his Honor, the Lieutenant-Governor Colden, in tho Fort, at

bis request; when his Majesty's and other loyal healths were drunk
under a disclnirge of thirty-two jueces of cannon from the Battery, ac-

companied with a band of music. This beautiful Statue is made of

metal [Dunlap says, by way of parenthesis, ' the writer did not like to

suy tchnt metal represented his royal majesty, the best of kings— if waa

h<t>V], being the tiret equestrian one of bis present Majesty, and is the

workmanship of that celebrated stiituary, Mr. Wilton, of London.*

"Symptoms of disloyalty, betokening revolution, I suppose, soon

manifested themselves in the rude treatment of the efBgy, for on the Gth

of February, 1773, an act was passed ' to prevent tho defacing of statues

which lire erected iu the city of New York.'

"Upon the above account BIr. Duulap obs -rves, 'This statue stood

till some time in 1770. I saw it in 1775. In 1776 it was thrown down,

and tradition says converted into bullets to resist his gracious mnjesty'i

soldiers when sent to enforce the doctrine of ' the sovereignty of the

British Parliament over the colonies in all cases whatsoever'—the doc-

trine of Mr. Pitt, Lord Chatham, whicli he died in an effort to enforce

The pedestal stood until long after the Revolution. No fragment of the

horse or his rider was ever seen after its overthrow, and so completely

had tho memory of the event been lost, that I have never found a person

who could tell me on what occasion it was ordered, or when placed in

the Bowling Green.

"Some coteniporary notices of the destruction of this effigy have been

pointed out to me, which I will cite. The first is from a hook of general

ordei-8 issued by Washington, the original o f which is In the poS9ession

of this society. It is as follows :

"'July 10.—Though tho General doubts not the persons who pulled

down and mutilated the statue in Broadway last night acted in the

public cause, yet it has so much the appearance of riot and want of order

in the army that he disappnives of the manner, and directs that iu future

these things shall be avoided by the soldiery and left to be executed by
projier authority.'

" The next is in a letter from Ebenezer Hazard to Gen. Gates, dated July

12, 177G, which will lie foundamongthe Gates papers, and in the society's

collection, and is as follows ;

" • The King of England's arms have been burned in Philadelphia, and

his statue here has been pulled down to make musket balls of, so that

his troops will probably have imhe'I mnje^i/ fired at them.'

" Another is iu a letter from New York, of July 11, 177G, published in

the New Hampshire OnzetU- of the 27th:

" ' LuBt Monday evening the Equestrian Statue of George III., with

tory pride and fully raised in the year 1770, was, by the Sons of Freedom,

laid prostrate in the dust— the just desert of au ungrateful tyrant. Tho
lead wherewith this nionuniont is made is to bo run into bullets, to

assimilate with the brains of our infatuated adversaries, who, to gain a

peppercorn, have liist au empire. A gentleman who was present at the

ominous fall of his leaden majesty, looking back to the original's hopeful

beginning, pertinently exclaimed in the language of tho angel to Lu-

cifer, ' If thou be'est ho, but ah how fallen I how changed !'

" Mr. Stephens* (Incidents of Travel iu Russia, etc., vol. ii. p. 23) men-
tions having met with a curious memorial of its destruction, and at an

out-of-the-way place. This was a gaudy and flaring engraving in a black

wooden frame, representing the scene of its destruction, which he found

in a tavern at Chii>j}\ in Ititnitia. 'The grouping of picture,' he says,

' waH rude and grotes<iuo, tlie ringleader being a long uegro stripped to

his trowsurs, and straining with all his might upon a rope, one end of

which was fastened to the head of the statue and the other tied aiound

his own waist, his white teeth and the whites of his eyes being particu-

larly consjiicuous on a heavy ground of black.' How this picture found

its way to Russia it wovild bo diflicult to imagine ; it would certainly b«

not less a curiosity here than there.

"Tlie document I have mentioui'd gives au account of its remaining

history in a shape which history seldom assumes, that of au «ccouji/ cur-

Tiitt. It is preserved among the papers of Gen. (afterwards Governor)

Wolcott of Connecticut. It is a statement of the number of cartridges

made from the materials of the statue by the young ladies of Litchfield,

and is iu these words

:

Cartridges.

"'Mrs. Marvin MbCt
" " on former account 2G02

G,058
Knth Marvin, on former account 6204
Not sent to court-house, 449 packs 5388

11^92
Laura, on former account 4250
Not sent to court-house, 344 packs 4128

8,378
Mary Ann, on former account 57G2
Not sent to the c^nrt-house, IU) packs, out of
which I let Col. Perley Howe have 3 packs.. 5028

10,790
Fredeiick, on former account 708
Not sent to court-house, 10 packs 228

936

37,754
Mrs. Beach's two accounts. 2,002
Made by sundry persons 2,182
Gave Litchfield militia, on alarm 50
Let the regiment of Col. AVigglesworth have 300

Cartridges, No 42,288
Overcharged ID Mrs. Beach's account 200

42,088'

"The original document is in Gen. Wolcott's hand-

writing, and is indorsed ' number of cartridges made.'

There is no date to it, nor is there mention made by

him of the fact of their being made from the statue;

but a memorandum added by his son, the last Gover-

nor Wolcott, explains it as follows

:

"'N. B.—An equestrian statue of George the Third of Great Britain

was erected in the city of New York, on the Bowling Green, at the lower

end of Broadway. Most of the materials were lead, but richly gilded to

* John L. Stephens, the celebrated traveler, was a graduate of the

Litchfield Law School.
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resemble gold. At the beginning of the lievolntiou tliis statue was

overthrowu. Lead then being scarce and dear, the statue was broken In

pieces, and the metal transported to Litchfield as a place of safety. The

ladies of the village converted the lead into cartridges, of which the

preceding is an account. 0. W.'

" The Mrs. aud Miss Marvin and Mrs. Beach, men-

tioned in tlie paper, belonged to families who yet re-

side in Litchfield ; the other persons named were the

two daughters and youngest son of Gen. Wolcott."

" A few miscellaneous facts relating to Litchfield

men are here introduced nearly in chronological

order.

" It should have been mentioned previously that

Capt. David Welch, of Litchfield, commanded a

company that was called into active service early in

1775, and in April of that year he was commissioned

as major in Col. Hinman's regiment. He served

throughout the war, and was an efficient and popular

officer. During this year, also, Jedediah Strong was

api)ointed a commissary to purchase horses for the

army, and Oliver Wolcott was chosen a member of

the Continental Congress. Fisher Gay, of Farming-

ton (a native of this town), was one of the lieutenant-

colonels appointed and commissioned at the special

session of the Legislature held in March.

"In May, 1776, Amos Parmeley was allowed by

the Assembly £14 11.?. hi. lawful money 'for nursing

his sick son, John, who was a soldier in Maj. Welcli's

company, Gen. Wooster's regiment, in the Northern

army, in 1775.' This is the John Tarmcley wlio died

in captivity in New York, in January, 1777. Jede-

diah Strong wa-s appointed commissary for the pur-

chase of clothing, and on a committee to exchange

bills of credit for specie.

"t)n the 4th of July, Oliver Wolcott appended Aw
name to the Declaration of Independence. In October

he was reappointed a member of the Continental

Congress.
" Drs. Reuben Smith and Seth Bird were appointed

by the Legislature, in October, on a committee 'to

examine all persons in this State that shuulil be of-

fered as surgeons or surgeons' mates in the Conti-

nental army, and, if found (lualificd, to give thera

certificates.'

" Andrew Adams was appointed, with others, to

cause the arrest of all suspected persons, and tiiose

dangerous to the liberties of America.

"In December tlie Legislature ap|>uintcd Tapping

Reeve and Lynde Lord on a committee to ' rouse

and animate the people,' ami endeavor to procure the

enlistment of vohuiteers for Washington's army. A
company was forthwith raised in Litchfield, and the

following otlicers were commissioned: Nathaniel

Goodwin, captain; Alexander Waugh, lieutenant;

and Ozias (toodwin, ensign. At the S4ime .nessioa

Col. Wolcott was promoted to the rank of brigadier-

general, and given the command of the Fourth Bri-

gade.

"The last Governor Wolcott (then a stutlent at

Yale College) was in Litchfield at the time of the

Danbury alarm. Awakened at midnight by the

summons to repair to the rendezvous of the militia,

he armed himself; his mother, furnishing his knap-

sack with provisions and a blanket, hastened his de-

parture, and dismissed him with the charge 'to con-

duct like a good soldier.' He, with the other volun-

teers from this town, participated in the skirmish at

Wilton, as well as in the subsequent attacks during

the retreat of the British from the burning of Dan-

bury.
" Early in 1777 orders were issued for raising eight

battalions in Connecticut for the Continental service,

' to serve for three years or during the war.' Ninety-

two of the soldiers for these battalions were ordered

to be raised in Litchfield. In April, of this year, the

town voted to pay out of the treasury to each soldier

that should enlist for the full term specified, the sum of

£V2 per annum, in addition to the pay they might re-

ceive from the State or general governments. Theselect-

men were at the same time directed to lay a tax for the

|)urpose designated, and Messrs. Miles Bach, Leman

Stone, Moses Barns, and Stephen Bidwell were ap-

pointed collectors.

"A letter written by Dr. Reuben Smith, of Litch-

field, dated May 12, 1777, relating to the Danbury

alarm, states that

"'Sunday morning, 27lh .\pril, about ono o'clock, «« were alanucil

;

our people turncU out •piriteilly ; came up willi (lio enemy next day a

lilllc below Wittui) niw'titig-Iiiiu.'O. and pur»no<l them at>uanl Ihoir 8hip«.

I'aul I'eck was killed in the last attack on the enemy.*

" It is stated that on this occasion fourteen men,

the last in JAIchfield capable oj bearintj ariiu, were

started at midnight to aid in repulsing the enemy.
" Of Paul Peck, alluded to in the letter of Dr.

Smith, it is reconied

"'That lie wu llio moat expfrt hnnloraf Ui« time In which tia llTad.

At the Danbury alanii lie put liU lonit gun In oiJor and followed the

enemy to ('ont|>. tliclr relrriil, ami t.Mik a ttatlou Whlnil a ituie wall.

Every •hot told uulll he was m.lie.1 u|iiin by the enemy, wli.. i..k bl«

gun fn>Di him and daahe<l hi< brains uut witb II.*

"He was killed April 28, 1777, aged scveiity-five

yeans.

" During the war Litchfield wa.'* a place of de|>osit

for provisions and other Continental stores. Work-

shops fur the army were cstablishotl here. Prisoners

of war were here confined.

" On the 21st of .Fuue, 1776, David Matthews, the

English mayor of New York, was arresteil by onler

of Gen. Wiuthingtoii, in pursuance of authority from

the New York committee, for dangerous dcstigns and

treasonable conspiracies. lie was sent to Litchfield

for safe custody, and while here he wrote to Mrs.

Matthews, at Flutbush, a letter, dated Litchfield,

Aug. 12, 1770, in which he says,—

" ' Enr lion my aiTltml h«n I h»r» Iimo at Iha huoaa of C»|>L Mu«-«

SvyniiHir, wild, logellier •rith hU « Ifr, bare bahavol In the moat (enlol,

kind manner, an<l have d.ino ei.rvlhinf In thrlr ;«jwer tu auk* my
I timeaaattieeable aa|>owlblK. lie laa One, men? fellu*, and alielta warm

I'lolratanl ; and If It waa n.>l the Ihoughll of bvme nera cunlluually In

m. niinJ, I might bo lia|i'y xlth mj gojd lanUlunl aixl bla family.'

-:
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" He adds, by way of postscript

:

" * The Congress were much iifiaid I should run away if I liad my lib-

erty, but this good ninu with wlioni I lodge, and wlio uever Iieard of nie

liofore, lias such an opiniou of me that he has wrote to them that he will

bo aufewerable for nio whenever they shall call for me.'

" On the 19th of August, 177G, he was taken to

Hartford, and on the next day wrote to the secretary

of the Convention of New York a letter, dated Hart-

ford, Aug. 20, 1776, in whicli he says,

—

"' It is verily believed throughout thi^ colony that I was coucernoti in

a plot to assasshiato Gen. Washington and to blow up the magazine in

New York. . . . Solely owing to this report I have been obliged to de-

canip from Litchfield where I «as ctationed, and where the committee

tliought my life was in imminent danger. I arrived here yesterday, and

am shunned as nuicli as Lucifer would be. . . . Surely, if my life was to

be made a sacrifice there was a more gentlemanly way of doing it than

of being sent into a country to be filed at from behind a barn or stone

fence.'

" On the 22d of the same month he was reconveyed

to Litflifield. The original ordbr of Governor Trum-
bull directs Capt. Moses Seymour to carry Mr. Mat-

thews to Litchfield and hold him in custody, permit-

ting hitn to walk abroad for the benefit of the air

and to attend divine worship. To his letter of the

20th, Mr. Matthews adds a postscript, dated the 22d,

saying,—

" * I am now on my march back to Litchfield again. . . . What horrid

treatment is this ? Our convention say I must be confined. It is too much
for mortal man to bear. I am now to stand fire at Litchfield. May God
spare my life to meet my enemies face to face.'

"The British royalty evidently did not relish the

atmosphere of freedom prevailing .at Hartford and
Litchfield. Under date Litchfield, Sept. 26, 1776, he

writes,

—

" ' The committee have been compelled to request my removal in order

to pacify some people. They insist I can blow up this town. Oh that I

could ! I would soon leave them to themselves. The sheriff has given

orders that I shall not approach the gaol, lest the doors should fly open

and the prisoners escape. I should not have returned to this cold wilder-

ness had not the sheritT of Hartford declared lie must lock me up in

gaol.'

"The first pleasure-carriage brought into this town
was by him presented to Mrs. Major Seymour, and
was in use as late as A.D. 1812. The mayor's travel-

ing-trunk is still here in the possession of the Hon.
Origen S. Seymour, one of Maj. Seymour's descend-

ants.

" It is stated in a letter received in London from

a British officer in New Y'ork, dated Dec. 2, 1776,

that

"
' Honest David Matthews, the mayor, lias made his escape, and arrived

here this day.'

"The tradition is that the public authorities did

not well know how to deal with his case, and that

one day when he ' walked abroad for the benefit of

the air' he neglected to return, very much to the sat-

isfaction of all concerned in his detention.

"Dr. Smith, at the close of his letter of May 12,

1777, says,—

"'Governor Franklin is confined in our gaol, and constant guard is

kept. We trust he will find it dilflcult to escape should he attempt

" This gentleman was the Eoyal Governor of New
Jersey, and was the only son of the distinguished

Dr. Benjamin Franklin. He was accused of being a

virulent enemy of the United Colonies, and in June,

1776, Congress directed that he should be sent to

Connecticut under a guard. In July, 1776, he was

sent by Governor Trumbull to Wallingford to reside

on his parole, and was soon permitted to reside at

Middletown. But on the 30th of April, 1777, an
order from Congress was received to confine Gover-

nor Franklin without pen, ink, or paper, and directed

him to be conveyed under guard by the sheriff of

Hartford County forthwith to Litchfield jail. On the

19th of September, 1777, an order on the pay-table

was drawn in favor of Lynde Lord, Esq., for £100

towards the expense of the guard jilaced over Gov-

ernor Franklin. On the 15th of January, 1778, an-

other similar order was drawn in favor of Mr. Lord,

who was the sheriff of Litchfield County.

"The following account of him was published in

1856, viz.

:

*' * Dr. Fr.\nklin's O.n'lt Son.—While the name of Franklin has been

so prominently before the public of late in connection with the celebra-

tion at Boston, it may not be uninteresting to give some account of bis

only son, W'illium, about whom we think little is known by the commu-
nity at large. Unlike his father, whose chief claim to veneration ia for

the invaluable services he rendered his country in her greatest need, the

son was from firet to lait a devoted loyalist. Before the Revolutionary

war he held many civil and military offices of importance. At the com-

mencement of the war he held the olfice of Governor of New Jersey,

which appointment he received in 1763. When the difficulties between

the mother country and the colonies were coming to a crisis he threw

his whole influence in favor of loyalty, and endeavored to previrnt the

Legislative Assembly of New Jersey from sanctioning the proceedings of

the General Congress of Pliiladelphia. These efl"ortfl, however, did but

little to stay the tide of public sentiment in favor of lesistance to tyranny,

and soon involved him in difficulty. He was deposed from office by

the W'higs to give place to William Livingston, and sent a prisoner to

Coutiecticnt, where he remained about two years. ... In 1778 he was

exchanged, and soon after went to England. There he speut the re-

mainder of liis life, receiving a pension from the British government for

the losses he had sustained by his fidelity.

"' As might be expected, his opposition to the cause of liberty, so dear

to the heart of his father, produced an estrangement between them.

For years they had no intercourse. When, in 1784, the son wrote to his

father, in his reply Dr. Franklin says, 'Nothing has ever hurt me bo

much, and affected me with such keen sensations, as to find myself de-

seited in my old age by my only sun ; and not only deserted, but to find

him taking up arms against me in a cause wherein my good fame, for-

tune, and life were all at stake.' In his will, also, be alludes to the part

his sou had acted. After making him some bequests, he adds, 'The

jtart he acted against me in the lale war, which is of public notoriety,

will account for my leaving him no more of an estate he endeavored to

deprive me of.' The patriotism of the father stands forth all the brighter,

when contrasted with the desertion of the son.'

" Up to this period ' Fair Wyoming on Susque-

hanna's side,' called Westmoreland, was claimed as

ours. Its jurors and justices were officers of this

county, and its civil processes were directed to the

sheriff' of Litchfield County, were returned to and

decided by the courts held in this village, and are now
among our records. Settled from Connecticut, it may
be imagined what grief and consternation pervaded

us when the inhabitants of that infiint settlement

were massacred by the ' Monster Brandt' and his Indian

allies.
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" During the Revolutionary war Litchfield was

visited by Count Rochambeau, in May, 1777, and by

Gen. La Fayette, as the guest of Judge Reeve. And,

according to Mr. George Gibbs, on the evening of

Saturday, Aug. 23, 1780, Gen. Washington arrived

here on his way from Hartford to West Point, and

was entertained at the hospitable mansion of Gen.

Wolcott, in South Street (now Mrs. Harney's). He
spent the night in the village, and on the following

morning proceeded westward, arriving at West Point

about 11 o'clock on Monday morning. It was at this

time that he discovered the treason of Benedict Ar-

nold, who commanded at that post. The next year

he was here, as appears from the following extract

from his diary :
' May 18, 1781, set out this day for

an interview at Wethersfield with Count de Rocham-
beau and Admiral Barras. 19th, breakfasted at Litch-

field.' Again he was here with Count Rochambeau.

"From 1776 to 1780, Litchfield was a depot for

military stores and provisions, which were guarded

by a considerable military force. The depot for pro-

visions stood on the premises now occupied in part by

Dr. Buel's ' Spring Hill,' on North Street, where a

building was erected for that purpose sixty feet long

and two stories high. On the site of the present

court-house was erected a building of similar dimen-

sions as a depot for other military stores. A work-

shop for the army (which was also sixty feet in length

and two stories high) stood on the north side of East

Street, just west of the burying-ground. The pris-

oners of war were generally kept in the old jail, which

stood in East Street. At each of the places here

designated a military guard was stationed night and

day, the roll being called, the soldiers drilled, and

the guard set, at stated intervals, with as much pre-

cision as would have been observeil by an army en-

camped in the vicinity of the enemy. The stores and

provisions deposited here were for much of the time

under the general su]ierintendence of Commissary

William Kicliards, of Elizabcthtown, N. J. Aslibel

Baldwin, a native of this town, graduated at Yale

College in 177C, and soon received the appointment

of quartermaster and was stationed here. He re-

mained at this post between two and three years,

when he received an lionorable discharge, and was

succeeded in oflSce by Oliver Wolcott, Jr., who gradu-

ated in 1778.

"On the 30th of June, 1777, Governor Trumbull

wrote to Gen. Wolcott, informing him tiiut a team

would be sent to Litchfield loaded with powder, lead,

and Hints, and requesting him to send a team to Salis-

bury for a load of cannon-shot to be forwarded to

Hartford by the returning teams. By a sulisequent

record of the Council of Safety, it appears that on

this occasion there were sent to Litchfield seventeen

hundred pounds of gunpowder, two tliousand pounds

of lead, one thousand flints, and three hundred pounds

of cannon-|)owder.

" On the 23d of July following, an order was drawn

on David Trumbull for £25 5«. lOrf., in favor of John

and Daniel Dewey, ' for carting powder and lead from

Lebanon to Litchfield.' Late in the autumn of this

year a large proportion of the military stores taken

at the capture of Burgoyne were deposited here.

" In August, Gen. Wolcott wrote to the Governor

and Council, stating that he had ordered all the ef-

fective men of Sheldon's Horse and Humphreys' regi-

ment (who had not been called to do duty under the

recent act and were liable to be called out of the

State) to march immediately to Peekskill, well pro-

vided with arms, and with forty days' provisions. The

general's course was approved, and an order was

directed to be drawn on the State treasurer, in his

favor, for the sum of £1000. About the same time

Sheriff Lord was directed to procure from the mer-

chants of Litchfield County, for the use of the army,

four hogsheads of rum, six hogsheads of sugar, and

two thousand pounds of coffee, at a stipulated price.

If the merchants refused to furnish the goods at the

price named, the sherift' was ordered io take the articles

wherever he could Jind them, at the appraisal of two or

three judicious freeholders, and to make return of his

doings to the Council.

" In September, Litchfield was established by the

Council a.s the place of rendezvous for the Sixth

Brigade, and Maj. Beebe was stationed here as the

recruiting officer of the brigade.

"On the 7th of October, a special town-meeting

was held, of which Jacob Woodruff, Esq., was moder-

ator. At this meeting it was voted that Messrs. Lynde

Lord, Thomas Catlin, Caleb Gibbs, David Welch, and

Alexander Catlin, be a committee to purcha.se and

provide sliirts, frocks, overalls, stockings, and slioes

for tlie nou-conimissioneil officers and soldiers in the

Continental army belonging to this town, agreeable

to a resolve of His Excellency the Governor and

Council of Safety passed Sept. 12, 1777.'

"The Committee of Safety, at a session held De-

cember 4th, api'ointcd one person in each county to

see that the clothing for the army demanded of the

several towns was forthwith provided by the select-

men ; and to furnish pack-horses or other means of

transportation to convey the same to the commissary

at MiddUtown. Ale.vaiuler Catlin, of this town, was

appointed the uienibcr of this committee for the

county of Litchfield.

"On the 10th of December the following votes

were passed in town-meeting, viz.:

"1. TolM, That Umn. Dii'l<l Wrlcli, Nalhaolel WoalnilT, Archibald

I
McNlol, Jr., KlwuMcr lleiili>n, and Tlu.n.in Wnugh are horsbji nppalntwl

a Cuininllli'o li> [inivlilo fur tlio funilllii! of nulillon accurOhig to law and

' to tho TotM of the town.

i
***2. To i»y the CoDinilltM a raaaonablo companaatton fur Utclr time

anil troul'lo.

"3. That Iho SeloilnH'n, logothor with McMT*. Tapping Becvo, Setli

BInl, Anilrew Ailanis, Saniurl Lyman, and Ljnde Loid, lie a cummltta*

to proi«re. sttte, and preaent for recovery sundry niatten and acoounta

for moni'jr iupiiommI Io bo duo tlio town.

"
' 4. Thai the Svlec'tnieu bo oiii|i»iworod and deainxl to dUtrllnlle to the

nonHwmmbaloued offlcon and luMlera lu tho (Xintluonlal anny liolonglng
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to thi8 town, and to the poor of the town, and to the families of such as

have died in tlie service, wlietlier Continental or militia, or in captivity,

and to such other families in this town as are not in circumstances to

sujiply tliemselves, forty-two bushels of Salt lately brought from Boston

—in such proportion as they shall judge most suitable and right—at the

rate of ten shillings per bushel ; and the residue to such as are able to

purchase the same at prime cost.'

"'At a meeting of the inhabitants of Litchfield, legally warned and

convened on the 0th day of January, a.d. 1778, to take into considei'ation

the Articles of Confederation and Perpetual Union between the States of

New Hampshire, Massachusetts Bay, Rhode Island, and Providence Plan-

tations, Connecticut, New York, New Jersey, Pennsylvania, Delaware,

Maryland, Virginia, North Carolina, South Carolina, and Georgia, ex-

hibited by- the selectmen pursuant to a requisition from His Excellency,

the Governor, the said articles being distinctly and repeatedly read and
considered

;

*" Vnled unanimously. That the said Articles of Confederation he ap-

proved, and tliat the Kepresentatives of this town be instructed to use

their in(iuenc4! and votes in the General Assembly to invest the delegates

of this State with competent powers, in the name and behalf of this

State, in Continental Congress, to subscribe and confirm the said Articles

of Confederation and Perpetual Union between the States.'

" Andrew Adams, Esq., was moderator of the pre-

ceding meeting.

" At different dates during the continuance of the

war the following persons (in addition to those al-

ready named) were appointed to furnish clothing, etc.,

for the soldiers in the public service from this town,

and to provide for their families,— viz. : Capt. Joseph

Vaill, Arthur Emons, Phineas Baldwin (2d), Capt.

Solomon Marsh, Lieut. David Stoddard, Judson Gui-

teau, Jonathan Wright, Timothy Skinner, Gad Farn-

ham, Benjamin Webster, John Smith, Ebenezer

Plumb, and John Marsh.

"In March, 17S0, the following inhabitants of this

town were appointed Inspectors of Provisions for the

Army,—to wit: Mr. Asahel Strong, Capt. Miles Beach,

Capt. Reuben Stone, Lieut. Thomas Catlin, Capt.

Archibald McNiel, Jr., Ensign Jonathan Wright,

Mr. Abel Camp, Jr., Lieut. Lemuel Harrison, Cajit.

Zebulon Taylor, Capt. Alexander Waugh, Mr. Edward
Linsley, and Mr. Levi Stone.

" In the spring of 1780, in consequence of the dis-

tressed situation of the army that had wintered at

Morristown, Washington appealed to Governor Trum-
bull for assistance, and he never appealed to him in

vain. The following was related by the late George

Washington Parke Custis to Charles Hosmer, Esq., of

Hartford. A special messenger was dispatched from

Washington's headquarters to Governor Trumbull,

to ascertain whether he could rely on any supplies

from Connecticut. The messenger was detained but

a short time, when Governor Trumbull placed a sealed

letter in his hand directed to Gen. Washington. The
contents of the letter were unknown to the bearer,

but he arrived safely in camp and delivered it to

Washington. After the commander-in-chief had
looked it over in the presence of Mr. Custis, he re-

marked, in the words of the unbelieving Lord of

Samaris, ' If the Lord would make windows in

heaven, might this thing be.' He then read the

letter aloud in the presence of Mr. Custis. Its pur-

port was, that on a certain day, and at a certain hour

of the day, he would receive at Newburgh, by a

wagon-train from Hartford, two hundred barrels of

flour, one hundred barrels of beef, and one hundred
barrels of pork. It also contained a request that a

guard might be sent to a place specified, for the pro-

tection of the train. Notwithstanding AVashington's

unbelief, he sent a horse-guard, as requested. At the

hour appointed, they saw the wagon-boys of Connec-
ticut approaching with their train of provisions. This

train passed through Litchfield on their way, where
they obtained some additional supplies. When Wash-
ington received these provisions, he remarked to Mr.

Custis, ' No other man than Governor Trumbull
could have procured them, and no other State than

Connecticut would have furnished them.' Accom-
panying the train, Col. Henry Champion had a drove

of cattle, which were tolled across the Hudson by the

side of small boats. Col. Champion (who held the

oflSce of commi-ssary-general) was the father of the

Rev. Judah Champion and Mrs. Julius Deming, and
the grandfather of Mrs. Asa Bacon, all of this town.

" Early in the spring of 1780 a train of sleds, loaded

with provisions for the army, passed through Hart-

ford and Litchfield on their way to Newburgh. Their

progress was slow, and the teamsters (among whom
were Eleazer Pinney and Ebenezer Nash, of Elling-

ton) suffered incredible hardships on account of the

unprecedented depth of snow and the unbroken state

of the roads over which they passed. On arriving at

the Hudson they attempted to cross on the ice, when
their teams broke through. The horse at the head

of Mr. Nash's team was detached from the oxen and

floated under the ice. In due time, but not till after

a desperate struggle, the oxen were all rescued from

their perilous situation. The principal part of the

stores were then drawn across the river on light sleds,

with but a single horse attached to each. These sup-

plies were so much needed by the army that no risk

was considered too great in conveying them speedily

to Washington's camp.*
"' At a legal Town-BIeeting, holden at Litchfield on Saturday, the 8th

day of July, AD. 1780, tlio Hon. Oliver Wolcott, Moderator, it was

voted. That to every able and effective man belonging to this town, to

the number of fourteen, who shall voluntarily enlist himself into the

Connecticut Battalions of Infantry of the Continental Army, for three

years or during the war, this town will pay every such recruit such a

sum in money, including tlie wages he shall receive from the State or

the United States, as shall be sufficient to procure ten bushels of good

merchantable Wheat for every month he shall so serve, the price of which

Wlieat shall be computed and the money paid to such recruit, or his as-

signs, in Litchfield, in every year, on the 1st day of January, during the

time such recruit shall serve as aforesaid; and that this town will also

p,ay as a Bounty to every such recruit, or his assigns, in Litchfield, on the

1st day of January of every year for so long a time as such recruit shall

serve as aforesaid, at the rate of thirty bushels of good merchantable

Wheat for one year's service, or the full value thereof in money, for the

payment of which monies or wheat as aforesaid to such recruit or his

assigns, in case he shall enlist himself into said Battalions by tlie 15th

day of July instant, this town hereby becomes bound as aforesaid.'

' At the same meeting it was
"' Vutcd, That whereas the Militia of this town are required by an

order of Colonel Andrew Adams, grounded on an act or order of the

Governor and Council of Safety made the 30th day of June, 1780, to fur-

's See No. XV., " South Windsor Sketches," in Hartford Times.



LITCHFIELD. 119

nisb fourteen able and effective men to serve in the Connecticut Line of

the Continental Army until the Slst day of December next, this town,

being fiuxiouB to give every necessary encouragement to tlie public ser-

vice, hereby plight themselves to pay to every such recruit, or bis assigns,

as shall voluntarily enlist himself into said Battalions by the 10th day of

July instant, to serve in said Battalions until the last day of December

next, such sum in money &s shall be sufficient, including the wages he

shall receive from tliis State or the United States, to procure as much

good mercliantable Wheat as might be obtained by the monthly wages

of forty shillings in the year 1774. Provided, nevertheless, that the

Militia of this town not being called upon by virtue of said order to fur-

nish more than fourteen able recruits to serve in said Battalions. This

town will not consider themselves bound by the votes of this day to pay

Bounties or AVages to more than fourteen such recruits; and, in case a

greater number shall enlist, the preference shall be given tu such as shall

enlist for three years or during the war, and of them, to such afl shall

first enlist. And the Colonel or Commanding Otficer of this Itegiment

is desired to dlecharge any supernumerary recruits, agreeable to these

votes.
'*

' Voted, That a Rate or Tax of sixpence ou the pound, on the list of

1779, be and tlie same is hereby laid, and made payable in Gold or Silver

Coin or Bills of Credit of this State of the emissions of the present year,

by tlie 1st day of September next.'

"Judson Gitteau, Timothy Skiuner, Jonathan

Wright, and Ozias Lewis, were appointed to collect

the said tax.

"At a legal Town-Meeling holden at the Meeting-House in the first

society in Litchfield, on the 15th day of November, Anno Dom, 1780,

Major David Welch, Modeiator, it was
*" Voted, That a Tax of one shilling upon the pound be laid upoD the

Polls and Rateable Estate contained in the Grand List of this toMrn, given

in the year 1779, to be collected and paid to the Town Treasurer by the

let day of Deceniber»-next, in the Bills of Credit emitted by this State

since the Ist day of January last, new Continental Money issued under

the authority of this State, Gold and Silver, or old Continentjtl Money

after the rate of forty shillings in old Continental Money fur one tthijling

Lawful Money, fur purchasing Provisions and requisite Supplies for the

Army, and to defray other necessary expenses of the town.'

"'Votiil, That Messrs. Timothy Skinner, Seth Farnham, Theodore

Catlin, and Harris Hopkins bo Collectors of the said Tax accordingly.'

"'Provided, Nevertheless, that any person may pay any part of said

Tax iti Provisions required, and at the respective prices fixed in tho Act

of Asfli-ml'ly made at their Hcssiou in October laat, entitled "An Act for

Collecting and Storing a Quantity of Provisions for the \^l^*• or tho Conti-

nental Army and tho Forces raiseil for tho Defense of thia State." *

"MVWe(/, That Mesare. Timothy Skinner, Seth Furnhani, Theodore

Catlin, and Harris Hopkins be a CommKteo to purchase Prorlaioiu agree*

able to wiid act of Assembly.'

"' V"ted, That Messrs. Miles Beach and Lcman Stone bo appointed to

receive tho Salt, procure Casks to contain said Provisions, to n-iolvc and

inspect the siinie, sue that it Is good and mercbantabic and well put up,

and mark and store the casks, nod rei>ort to tlie Governor, agreeable tu

said Act of Assembly,'

" ' Voted, That said Beach and Stouo l>o also employed to purchase any

of such ProvislouK as occasion may offer or opportunity proHeut.*

"
' V'd>d, That said Tiuiothy Skinner, Seth Farnham, Theotloro CalUn,

Harris Hopkiiis, Miles Beach, ami Lennm Stone be also apptdiited to

purchase the Clothing required for the Army, ngn^oablo tu dlroctluns to

bo given to them from time to time b] thv Selectmen.'

"Doc. 20, I7H0. Ueuben Smith, Katy, Bloderator, * Voird, Tbnt Timothy

Skinner, Heber .Stono, JamrH Stoddard, Itvuben Stone, David Web h, and

Zebulon Tuylur be a Committee to liiro, at tbo cont of the town, the

requisite nnoiborof recruits to cunipletu the quota of this town In the

Connecticut Line of tho Army of tho United Stales for thrvu yrnn ur

during tho war.'

"January !l, 1781, C<donol Andrew Adams, Moderator, * VnUd, That

whereas It la ni-cessary that thl.t town raUe a number of wddlent to ftll up

their quota In the Anny of the lUilled .Stjite*. the town diH>ii pmnilAo and

engage to each suldler that shall enlliit into said sei-vico In ullhor of the

Connecticut Ballallous iM-foro Ihe lot day of February nrxl, Ihnt tticy

will nmku good to him bin forty shilllngM |kt month by tuch a*Mlllon b)

the pity ho ithall receive from the Stale or Iho United States as shall make
said pay sufflclent to purchase as much Pruvlstons as forty shillings would

have done In 1774."

" A tax of three ponce on a pound was laid ou Iho llat of 1T70, OD^-hal^

to be paid in wheat flour, rye flour, and Indian corn. Capt. Abraham

Bradley and Leman Stone were appointed receivers of the flour and corn.

" Jan. IS, 1781.—It was voted to divide the town in classes for the pur-

pose of procuring the requisite number of recruits; and the selectmen,

together with Capt. Abraham Bradley, Capt. John Osborn, Ensign Ed-

ward Phelps, and Dr. Seth Bird, were appointed a committee for that

purpose.

" March 26, 1781.—Nine foot-soldiers and two horsemen are required

of this town, in addition to those already in the field ; and the necessary

steps were taken to raise them.

" July 9, 1781.—' Voted, That the men belonging to this town, lately

detached for a term of three mouths by special order of the Captain-Gen-

eral, agreeable to a resolve of His Excellency the Governor and Council

of Safety of the 19th of June, founded on an earnest Requisition of His

Excellency General Washington for eight hundred men, etc., have and

receive out of the Town Treasury, by the Ist of January next, each the

sum of twenty shillings in silver, or other equivalent, for each month he

shall be in actual service agreeable to such detachment.'

" Sept. 18, 1781.—' Captain Miles Beach was chosen Keceiver of Cloth-

ing and Provisions on the 2«. G«. tax payable in December next; and

Leman Stone was chosen Eeceiver of such part of said tax as shall be

delivered to him.'

" Jan. 3, 1782.—' Voted, That the Town Treasurer be desired to procure

the order or orders drawn by the Committee of Pay Table in favor of thia

town, for Bounties ou raising recruits iu the year 1781, now in his hands

and office, to be exchanged for small orders to tho same amount; and to

deliver out thirty pounds thereof to each of the respective classes, taking

proper receipts therefor.'

" Feb. 25, 1782.—' Voted, to raise ten men for State Service or the Regi-

ment of Guards for Horseneck, as required by Act of Assembly, by di-

viding the town into classes on the List of 1781.*

" (apt. Abraham Bradley, Col. Bezalecl BeelK), and Capt. Lynde Lord,

wore appointed a committee for that purpose.

'" Voted, That ten men be added to the al)ove Committee, whoso buai-

ness it shall bo to notify tho respective classes to meet at tho time and

place by them appointed, to proceed In raising recruits as aforemen-

tioned, viz.

:

For the Ist cIoas, Ensign Edward Phelps.

" " 2d " Oiia* Lewis,

" " 3d " Benjamin Peck, Jr.

" " 4th " Ellhu llarrlfcm.

" " 5th " Ephraim Smedley, Jr.

" " Cth *' Learning Bmdloy.
" " 7th •• Ensign Jonathan Wright
" '* 8th ** Lieutenant David SttHldanl.

II M
9t|| .1 Cnptaln Alexander Cutlhi.

" " lOlh " Lieutenant TlmoUiy Skinner.

" * Voted, That each non-comml!*Bloneil oflicer ond soMier that Is or shall

bo detached out of this town Into actual Mnlcu tho current year shall

receive twenty Hhlllings per month fur tho time ho shall thus continue In

actual servic*' on such draft, or pnKuro a man lo servo for him; and that

the SiliM-tmcn draw orders on Iho Treasurer acconllugly.'

'* Mortb I'A, 17K2.—'Stephen Stone, F.lljah Grinwold.and Dcnjamin Kil-

liourn having lately been aasctw«don examination by tho Civil Authority

and Stdvclmen, agreenblo to low, /or ntch n mm !/*>«« to tht mrmy, and

having requesl<Ml a hearing In Town Meeting, and being heiinl accord-

ingly, tho qur-ttlon was pn>|wiso4l relalivo to sold Stone In i>ar11cular; and

tho town t>y vole did not dlschargo said AsMwnionL Whereupon, It being

late, and other btulness requiring attention, adJourne<t till Thurvlay, the

28lb, at 10 o'cloik I'M.'

" At an adjourned meeting, the vote in the cose of

Stephen Stone was reconsidered, and he was released

front hia a'^aessment. In the other cases* mentioned

the asae.i.sment was eonfirmed.

Apill 2, 17(*2.—" Mcei«r». TInn-tby Skinnor, B(t«M Seymour, and Abra-

ham Bradley wore appi>ln1oO a ci>mniltlco to niake Inquiry whether any

of the dosortem frt^m the army IvIunglngUi this town, and not accounted

as (tart uf the quota of tlio town Iu the late returns of the army, have

Joln<>d or arc likely Iu Join the army in cunsv<)uenco uf tbo gouorml's

pr^K-Uniollou, and nhelhor thh town Ls not ovcrralcnl by a mistake In

tho rop«jrt of Iho commilteo for aerortalulngdenclencloa,"ptc.

"Ill town-meeting, IGlh Ortol>or, 1Th3, Capt. Muera St<yniour. moder-

atur, It was voted that the present selin tmon adjust Iho claims of tlie non-

comnilMU)ne«l onicers and MdiUors who lately vrvod In the eight bal-

talluus of this Stale as part uf the quota of this town, and ilalm a grant
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of twenty sbillings per month agreeable to a vote of tliis town passed

April 15, 1777; and having by agreement with said claimants or otlier-

wise ascertained tlie sum to tlieni respectively dne, to divide encli man*8

snm into three eqnal parts, and give certificates thereof in belialf of tlie

town, payable at tliree different periods,— viz., on the 1st days of Janu-

ary, 1784, 1785, and 178G, tlie last to be on interest; whicli certificates

shall be paid by tlie treasurer according to the tenor of them, the one-

lialf of each in money, and tlie other lialf in provisions at tlie market

price ; and tliat the selectmen for the time being make tliree town-rates

for that purpose,—viz., in tlie years 178:i, 1784, and 1785, to be collected

by the collectors of town-rates for those years respectively, in Docember

annually, and paid into the town treasury and kept distinct from all

other town-rates or moneys, orders, and accounts, whatsoever."

" Through the entire war Litchfield was represented,

in the persons of one or more of her sons, on the

Committee of Safety, in the Council of State, and in

the Continental Congress. At the regular session of

the Legislature in May, 1780, the representatives from

this town were Andrew Adams and Jedediah Strong;

the former was chosen speaker and the latter clerk of

the House. Maj. Moses Seymour commanded a Litch-

field company of cavalry at the capture of IJurgoyne.

Col. Beebe was, during the latter part of the war, chief

in command of the troops raised for the defense of our

sea-coast. Gen. Wolcott, Gen. David Smith, and Col.

Tallraadge were active and energetic officers from tlie

commencement to the close of hostilities. Col. Shel-

don, commander of tlie celebrated corps of cavalry

known in history as 'Sheldon's Regiment of Horse,'

had been for some twenty years a resident of Litch-

field, and his troops were raised almost exclusively in

this vicinity. Capts. Seymour, Stanton, and Wads-
worth, of this town, commanded companies in this

corps ; Caj)t. Stanton being at the same time paymas-

ter of the regiment. Col. Tallmadgo was one of Shel-

don's most efficient majors. This regiment was Wash-
ington's favorite corps, and continued to act under

his immediate direction till the treaty of peace was
signed, constituting at once his messengers, his body-

guard, and his agents for the accomplishment of any

enterprise, however, desperate. Capt. Morris, also of

this town, commanded one of the companies of the

'forlorn hope' at the siege of Yorktown. Indeed,

the citizens of Litchfield were found at the head of

their battalions or in the ranks in nearly all the great

battles of the Revolution, including those of German-
town, Trenton, Princeton, Long Island, and Stony

Point.

"Mr. Hollister, in his 'History of Connecticut,

says,

—

" When the whole country was in a state of alarm at tlie intelligence

that Lord Cornwallis, with a large tleet and armament, was approaching

the American coast, Col. Tallniadge h.appened to pass through Litchfield

with a regiment of cavalry. While there he attended public worship

with his troops on Sunday at the old meeting-house that stood upon the

village green. The occasion was deeply interesting and exciting. The
Rev. Judah Champion, then the settled minister of the place,—a man of

great eloquence and of a high order of intellectual endowment,—in view

of the alarming crisis, thus invoked the sanction of Heaven :

" Oh Lord ! we view with terror the approach of the enemies of thy

holy religion. Wilt thou send storm and tempest to toss them upon the

sea and to overwhelm them upon the mighty deeji, or to scatter them to

the uttermost parts of the earth. But, peradventure, should any escape

thy vengeance, collect them together again, Lord ! as in the hollow of

thy band, and let thy lightniag play upon them ! We beseech thee.

moreover, that thou do gird up the loins of these thy servants who are

going forth to fight th.v battles. Make them strong men, tliat 'one

shall ch.ose a thousand, and two shall put ten thousand to flight.' Hold

before them the shield with which thou wast wont in the old time to

protect thy chosen people. Give them swift feet tliat they may pursue

their enemies, and swords terrible as that of thy Destroying Angel, that

they may cleave them down when they have overtaken them. Preserve

these servants of thine. Almighty God! and bring them once more to

their homes and friends, if thou canst do it consistently with thine high

piii-poses. If, on the other hand, thou bast decreed that they shall die in

battle, let thy Spirit be present with thein and breathe upon them,

that they may go up as a sweet sacrifice into the courts of thy temple,

where are habitations prepared for them from the fuuudations of the

world."

Several British soldiers became citizens of the

town, among whom were Richard Morris, John I.

Gatta, John Gla.^s, William Burrell, Henry Poulson,

James Glass, and Adam Tilford.

Mr. Kilbourn, in his history, says that at the period

of which we are writing, " Litchfield was the home of

a remarkable number of educated thinking men, some

of whom were already distinguished and others who
were destined to act an important part in their coun-

try's history. Indeed, no town in the State could

boast of a community more refined and patriotic.

Within the present borough limits resided Oliver

Wolcott, Andrew Adams, Reynold Marvin, Tapping

Reeve, Isaac Baldwin, Samuel Lyman, Isaac Bald-

win, Jr., Elisha Sheldon, John Pierce, Jr., Dr.

Thomas Little, Lynde Lord, Rev. Timothy Collins,

Rev. Judah Champion, Dr. Lemuel Hopkins, Dr.

Reuben Smith, Moses Seymour, Timothy Skinner,

Abraham Bradley, William Stanton, Ambrose Col-

lins, Elijah Wadsworth, and Ephraim Kirby.

To this goodly company were soon added Oliver

Wolcott, Jr., Ashbel Baldwin, Ezekiel Woodruff,

Julius Deming, Uriah Tracy, and Dr. Daniel Shel-

don.

Sixteen of the gentlemen named were graduated at

Yale College, and one (Judge Reeve) at the College

of New Jersey ; three were membere of the national

Congress, or became such ; seven were captains in the

Revolutionary war, and four rose to the rank of gen-

eral officers; two became chief justices, and two gov-

ernors of the State.

CHAPTER XL
LITCHFIELD (Continued).

Ethan Allen—Elisha Sheldon—Oliver Wolcott—Andrmv Adams—Bez-

aleel Beebe—Jedediali Strong—Benjamin Talmadge—Tapping Reeve

—Moses Seymour—Elisha Mason.

MEN OF THE REVOLUTION.*

" The historic names of the Revolutionary period

most intimately associated with Litchfield are those

of Ethan Allen, Oliver Wolcott, Elisha Sheldon, An-

drew Adams, Bezaleel Beebe, Moses Seymour, Jede-

diah Strong, and Tapping Reeve. This chapter will

* From Ellbourne'e " History of Litchfield."
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be mainly devoted to brief biographical sketches of

these eminent and useful men.
" Gen. Ethan Allen,* the hero of Ticonderoga,

was born in Litchfield, Jan. 10, 1737-38. He was the

eldest child of his parents—Joseph and Mary (Baker)

Allen—who, when Ethan was about two years old,

removed to the adjoining town of Cornwall. The

subject of this sketch spent his youth and early man-

hood in Cornwall and Salisbury ; and about the year

1765 emigrated to the ' New Hampshire Grants,' as

they were then called, a wild, mountainous region

lying between Lake Champlain on the west and the

Connecticut River on the east, and extending from

the Massachusetts line northward to the Canadas.

This territory was claimed alike by the governments

of New Hampshire and New York, a fact which led

to a fierce and long-continued struggle between the

settlers and Governor Tryon of the latter province.

The hardy and resolute pioneers banded themselves

together under the name of the " Green Mountain

Boys," chose Allen as their commander, and waged a

war of extermination against all intruders from New
York. This contest continued until the attention of

both parties was diverted by the more important

events which immediately preceded the Revolution.

By this time Allen was famous throughout the North.

When, therefore, the seizure of the British fortresses

on Lake Champlain was secretly resolved upon by the

Whigs of Massachusetts and Connecticut, Col. Allen

was, by common consent, selected as the leader of the

hazardous enterprise. In another part of this vol-

ume I have referred to this subject, and can here only

give it a passing notice. In the twilight of a peace-

ful May morning, in 1775, the hero, followed by a little

band of trusty soldiers, entered the fortress of Ticon-

deroga and thundered at the door of the commander,

demanding the instant surrender of the garrison.

" By wiiat authority do you demand it?" asked Capt.

Delaplace, as he stood trembling before the giant

apparition. "In the name of the oreat Jeho-

vah AND the Continental Conores-s 1" responded

Allen, at the same time threatening the captain with

instant death if his demand wixs not forthwith com-

plied with. There was no alternative. With a coun-

tenance and manner not to be mistaken, Allen stood

with his drawn sword ready to execute his threat.

The garrison were at once surrendered a.s prisoners of

war, and all the arms, ammunition, provisions, etc.,

contained in the fort fell into the hands of Allen. The
capture of Crown Point by Col. Warner, on the fol-

lowing day, gave the Whigs complete possession of

Lake Champlain. Col. Allen now visited the Pro-

vincial Congress of New York and the Continental

Congress at Philadelphia, and was received with

marked consideration by both of those illustrious

bodies. He was admitted to tlic floor of each, and

* Severn) towiiH clniln lib Urtlipliico. 9«e bUlorjr of Woodbury, elao-

wbcre In this work.

permitted to detail his plan for the conquest of Can-

ada. His plan was approved, and he was commis-

sioned as a colonel in the Continental army. In Sep-

tember following he made an unsuccessful attack

upon Montreal, was taken prisoner, carried to Eng-

land, and confined in Pendennis Castle. As Ticon-

deroga had long been a famous place in that country,

the renown of his exploit had preceded him thither.

On his arrival at Falmouth, so great was the curiosity

to see him that crowds of people thronged the high-

ways, housetops, and rising grounds in the vicinity,

the oflScers being compelled to force their way through

the throng for a mile with drawn swords. He was

dressed in a fawn-skin jacket, an underdress and

breeches of sagatha, worsted stockings, coarse shoes,

and a red worsted cap. On shipboard he was treated

with great severity, being a part of the time hand-

cuffed and impri.soned in a dirty cell. When angry

his rage was terrible. Once, on being insulted by a

petty officer, he twisted off" with his teeth a tenpenny

nail with which his shackles were fastened ! During

the spring of 1776 he was brought back to America,

but was detained in New York as a prisoner of war

until May 6, 1778, when he was exchanged for Col.

Campbell. After repairing to headquarters and offer-

ing his services to Gen. Washington, Allen visited the

Grants (or Vermont), where his arrival was an-

nounced by the discharge of cannon, and other dem-

onstrations of joy. The newly-organized State of

Vermont appointed him to the office of major-general

and commander-in-chief of the State militia, and

sent him as a special delegate to the national Con-

gress. He was also elected a representative to the

Legislature, a post to which he was repeatedly re-

elected.

"Aside from several pamphlets, which had their

origin in the controversy with New York, Allen pub-

lished a narrative of his captivity in a volume of two

hundred pages, and a theological work entitled ' The
Oracles of R^jison,' in which he attempts to subvert

the doctrines of Christianity. His writings are bold,

artful, and egotistical, and, though sometimes crude

and unpolished, evince talents of a high order.

" The following anecdote (indicating that Allen in

reality had very little faith in his own system of di-

vinity) is contained in a note to page 4tl!l, vol. ii., of

President Dwight's ' Travels in New England and

New York'

:

" Dr. KlUut, who reaiovcil from Guilfunl, In Connecticut, to VennoDt,

wiia well ac<|iiaiiitc4l with Cul. Allen, An<l ltn«l mmlo lilni r vialt At a

time when liia Oaugtit«r was very nick nml uonr dcntli. llt< wiu Intro*

(luceil to the Ilhrary, wlioro the colonel rcail to hint Home of hli writings

with much fi4;ir-cim)|i1ucency, nod aiketl, * Im not that well <lonu?' While

thi-y wcru thud iMn|iloyo<l a nicncugor entereil ami Informoil Col. Alien

that IiIh tlanglitor wiui <l>lng an<l iktilrtKl to ««<> him. tie Imninllalely

wont to lu<r chnnilH>r accunipAniml hy Dr. Elliot, who wiu tlefflnnm of

wlliieMlng the Intenicw. Tliuwiri>nr Alien wan a pioti« woman, and

ha<l InntrncttHl hor diuighttT in the prlnclplDA of rhri«llnnlty. A* MMin

as her Uthcr nitpcareU at hor boiliiile she ealtj to him, * I aoi nNrnt to die
;

shall I Ifclleve In the principle yuii have taught me, or ihall I believe

In what my mother hat taught me ?' Ua Iwcamo extremely agitated, bit
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cliin quivered, his whole frame shook, and, after waiting a few moments,

he replied, ' Ddieve ichiit your mother has Utuijht yOH.'

" While Allen was on parole in New York, a Brit-

ish officer of honorable rank sent for him to call at

his lodgings. On his arrival the officer told him that

his fidelity, though in a wrong cause, had won the

good opinion of Lord Howe, who was disposed to

show him favor. He at the same time held out to

him brilliant prospects of promotion and money, and

large tracts of land either in Connecticut or Vermont

at the close of the war. Allen replied, that if by faith-

fulness he had recommended himself to Gen. Howe,

he should be loth by unfaithfulness to forfeit the

general's good opinion ; and as to the lands, he re-

garded the offer not unlike that made by Satan to

Christ, who promised him ' all the kingdoms of the

world,' when in fact ' the old devil didn't own an

acre' ! The officer thereupon sent him away as incor-

rigible.

" Jared Sparks, LL.D. (late president of Harvard

College), in his biography of the subject of this

sketch, says,

—

*' Tliere is inucli to admire iu tlie character of Etlian Allen. lie waa

brave, generous, and frank ; true to liis country, consistent and unjield-

ing in liis purposes, seeking at all times to promote the best good of man-

kind, a lover of social harmony, and a determined foe to the artifices of

injustice and thu encroachments of jiowor. Few have suffered more in

the cause of freedom, few have borne their sufferings with a firmer con-

stancy or a loftier spirit. His courage, even when approaching to rash-

ness, was calm and deliberate. No man probably ever possessed this at-

tribute in a more remarkable degree. Ue was eccentric and ambitious,

but these weaknesses, if such they were, never betrayed him into acts

dishonorable, unworthy, or selfish. So rigid was he in bis patriotism,

that, when it was discovered that one of his brothers had avowed tory

principles and had been guilty ol a correspondence with the enemy, he

entered a public complaint against him in his own name, and petitioned

the court to confiscate his property in obedience to the law. His ene-

mies never liad cause to question his magnanimity, or his friends to

regret confidence misplaced or expectations disappointed. Ho was kind,

benevolent, humane, and placable. In short, whatever nniy have been

his peculiarities, and however these niay have diminished the weight of

his influence and the value of his public services, it must be allowed that

he was a man of very considerable importance iu the sphere of his ac-

tivity, and that to no individual among her patriot founders is tlie State

of Vermont more indebted for the basis of lier free institutions aud the

achievement of her independence than to Ethan Allen."

This is certainly a high compliment, coming from

the source it does. The theological writings of Allen,

however, were not calculated to render him popular

with the good people of New England. Preachers,

poets, and critics joined in a furious crusade against

him, to all of which he affected the utmost contempt.

Soon after the publication of his "Oracles," alluding

to the anticipated attacks of the clergy (in a letter to

a friend), he says, "I defy the whole artillery of hell-

fire." The following piece of satire from the pen of

Dr. Lemuel Hopkins (himself for some years a resi-

dent of Litchfield), is preserved in Dr. Elihu Hub-
bard Smith's "Collection of American Poetry," which

was printed at Litchfield, by Collier & Adam, in

1792:
*' Lo, Allen, 'scaped from British jails,

His tushes broke by biting nails.

Appears in hyperborean skies.

To tell the world the Bible lies.

See him on Green Hills north afar.

Glow like a self-enkindled star,

Prepared (with mob-collecting club,

Black from the forge of Beelzebub,

And grim with metaphysic scowl.

With quill just plucked from wing of owl).

As rage or reason rise or sink.

To shed his blood, or shed his ink.

Beholii, inspired from Vermont dens.

The seer from anti-Christ descends,

To feed new mobs with hell born manna
In Gentile lands of Susquehanna;

And teach the Pennsylvania Quaker

nigh blasphemies against his Maker.

Behold him move, ye staunch divines!

His tall head bustling through the pines;

All front he seems, like wall of brass.

And brays tremendous as an ass.

One hand is clenched to batter noses.

While t'other scrawls 'gainst Paul and Moses I"

On the 23d of June, 1762, Allen married Mary
Bronson, of Woodbury, who died in 1784. Their

children were Joseph, Loraina, Lucy, Mary Ann, and
Pamela. Loraina died young, and was the subject of

the anecdote iust given.

Gen. Allen died of apoplexy, on his estate at Col-

chester, Vt., Feb. 12, 1789, aged fifty-one years.

Elisha Sheldon, a native of Lyme, and a gradu-

ate of Yale College in the class of 1730, became a

resident of this village in 1753, and here spent the

remainder of his life. He was an associate judge of

the Court of Common Pleas for Litchfield County

from 1754 to 1761 ; at which latter date he was elected

a member of the Council, or Upper House, in which

distinguished body he sat until his decease, a period

of eighteen years. He was also chosen a represent-

ative by the freemen of this town at ten semi-annual

elections. Mr. Sheldon was equally conspicuous in

the civil and ecclesiastical aff'airs of the town, and

was often called upon to preside at our town-meet-

ings. . He also, for a period of eighteen years, held

the office of county trea.surer. An active patriot in

the Revolution, he was not unfrequently appointed

by the Legislature and by his fellow-citizens on im-

portant committees, having for their object the ad-

vancement of the common cause. He died in the

midst of the great contest. His remains rest in the

West burying-ground, beneath a marble tablet, on

which is inscribed the following epitaph

:

'* This Monument is erected to the Memory of the Hon. Elisha Shel-

don, Esq., who departed this life September the firet. Anno Domini 1779,

in the 79th year of his age. A Gentlenuin of e-xtensivo genius and Lib-

eral Education, called in early life to various public employments, both

Civil and Military, all of which he executed with punctuality and fidel-

ity ; much respected for his Generosity and Benevolence, and greatly

lamented by his e.xtensive Acquaintance. In early life he made a pro-

fession of the Christian Keligion, and till his Death adorned it by a very

E.xemplary Conversation. ' Blessed are the Dead who die in the Lord.' "

The wife of Mr. Sheldon was Elizabeth Ely, by

whom he had five children,—viz., Lois (married

Lynde Lord, Esq., sheriff), Mary, Thomas, Samuel,

and Col. Elisha (commander of the Second Regi-

ment of Light Dragoons in the Continental army).

Oliver Wolcott, LL.D. (son of his His Excel-
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lency the Hon. Roger Wolcott, Governor and chief

justice of Connecticut), was born in Windsor, Dec.

20, 1726, and was graduated at Yale College in 1745.

In early manhood he commanded a company of volun-

teers in the Northern army in the war against the

French. Having pursued the usual course of medi-

cal studies, he established himself as a physician in

Goshen, and was residing there at the date of the or-

ganization of the county of Litchfield, October, 1751.

The Legislature appointed him the first high sheriff

of the new county, and he immediately took up his

abode in this village and continued to reside here

until his decease, a period of forty-six years. He
was thus but twenty-five years of age when he be-

came a resident of Litchfield, and hence his fame,

subsequently achieved, as really belongs to us as if he

had been born in the town. In 1752 he erected the

"Wolcott House" in South Street, which is still

one of the most desirable residences in the place.

With a commanding personal appearance, digni-

fied manners, a clear and cultivated intellect, and
a character for integrity far above the reach of

.suspicion, it is not to be wondered at that he be-

came a favorite of the people with whom his lot

was cast. Besides holding the office of sheriff for

over twenty years, he was chosen a representative to

the Legislature five times between the years 1764 and

1770, inclusive; a member of the Council or Upper
House from 1771 to 1786; judge of the Court of Probate

for the district of Litchfield from 1772 to 177!)
;
judge of

the Court of Common Pleas from 1773 to 1786; and
member of the Continental Congress from 1775 to 1784

(except two years). He was one of that memorable
band of patriots and sages who, on the 4th of July,

1776, afti.xcd their names to the Declaration of Inde-

pendence.

In the early part of the war of the Revolution,

Judge Wolcott was commissioned as a' brigadier-

general, and Congress appointed him a Commissioner

on Indian AfFairs for the Northern Department, with

Gen. Schuyler and others. In May, 1779, he was

elected by the Legislature and commissinneil by Gov-

ernor Tnunbull as major-general of the militia of

Connecticut to succeed Gen. James Wadsworth, re-

signed. In these important and responsible stations

lie rendered the country essential service. On the

field, in the camp, at the rendezvous, in the depart-

ments of tlie commi.ssary of supi)lics, in fact, wlicrc-

ever he could render iiimself useful—he was found,

ever prompt in planning and efficient in executing.

At the same time he was an active member of the

committee of safety, and when at Iiome was equally

zealous and conspicuous in the local alVairs of the

town, officiating as moderator, selectman, committee-

man, etc Indeed, no man in the State at tiiis period

discliargcd so many and varied public duties. A
considerable share of the reputation wiiich Connecti-

cut ac(|uircd for promptness in furnishing men and
means lor the army is due to Gen. Wolcott. Cer-

tainly, to no other individual in the western counties

could Governor Trumbull or Gen. Washington appeal
for aid, with the certainity of success, as to him.

In 1786 he was elected to the office of Lieutenant-

Governor of the State, and was annually re-elected

for a period of ten years. In May, 1796, he was
chosen Governor, the highest executive office in the

gift of the people of his native State. To this dis-

tinguished position he was again elevated at the

annual election in 1797. He was now seventy years of

age. His naturally robust constitution began to feel

the weight of care and responsibility which had been
so long pressing upon it. He departed this life at his

residence at Litchfield, Dec. 1, 1797, aged seventy-

one years. A sermon was preached at his funeral by
the Rev. Azel Backus, D.D., which was published.

Governor Wolcott had long been a professed disciple

of Christ, and his faith in the efficacy of the great

atonement sustained him in the decisive hour.
" With all the splendor of his station and his well-

earned fame," says Dr. Backus, " he was not ashamed
to pray in the expressive language of the publican,

'God be merciful to me a sinner,' and to make the

most feeling declarations of his own personal un-
worthiness. For several days before his death the

shattered remains of a once noble mind and vigorous

body were devoted continually to God. His very
breath appeared to be prayer, until, after many pain-

ful struggle,*, he fell asleep. O, death ! in what a
mortifying light doth thy power put the little glory
of this diminutive world! To what insignificance

do earthly honors dwindle before the grandeur of
eternity ! Nevertheless, the death of such a charac-

ter is a grievous loss, especially under the present
threatening aspects of Divine Providence and the
perilous situation of the countrj'. Such tried charac-
ters are the 'salt of the earth' and tlie pillars of our
national existence. The presence, firmness, counsels,

prayers, and example of such fathers should be
esteemed the 'chariots of Israel and the horsemen
thereof.' But God governs the world, ami his will is

done. Let it be the -solemn care of each one of us to

make a profitable improvement of the frown ofHeaven
in this removal."

Joel Harlow, in his great national poem. The Co-
lumbiad, thus refers to his zeal and efforts in the cause
of Independence:

" n*»M W.ii.roTT urgod tho all'ini{iorUnt caUM,
With (tteatly hituti tlio !«<.i|t>iiiri occDe ho dniwi;

Undaunted f1riniK>!ii »ith Ilia wlddooi Joiuod,

Nur liliigx nur worlds cuuld warp bii stoadlut mind."

" No resident of the town ever achieved a more
honorable and wide-spread fame than Oliver Wolcott
and no name in the historic annals of the town and
State in which his life was passed is more earnestly
and atVectionately cherished than his. His family
have been and are distinguished—some for liigh po-
litical stations, others for enterprise and wealth, some
as professional or literary men, and all for their lib-
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erality, sterling moral qualities, and exalted social

position. His mortal remains rest in the East bury-

ing-ground, surrounded by those of many of his de-

scendants and kindred.

" Governor Wolcott married Lorana Collins, of

Guilford, in 1755 ; she died April 19, 1794. Their

children were Oliver (who died in infancy), Oliver

(2d), Lorana (married Hon. William Moseley, M. C,
of Hartford), Mary Ann (married Lieutenant-Gov-

ernor Goodrich, of Hartford), Frederick (see bio-

graphical notes). Ursula Wolcott (a sister of Gover-

nor Wolcott, next older than himself) married Gov-

ernor Matthew Griswold, and was the mother of

Governor Roger Griswold. Thus, her father, brother,

husband, son, and nephew were all Governors of

Connecticut, a fact which cannot, probably, be said of

any other lady who ever lived in the State or United

States.

"Andrew Adams, LL.D. (a native of Stratford,

and a graduate of Yale College in the class of 1760),

commenced the practice of law in Litchfield in 1774,

and continued to reside here until his death, which

took place in November, 1797. He rose rapidly in

public esteem, and was chosen a representative in

October, 177G, a post to which he was nine times re-

elected. A friend of the Revolution, he took a promi-

nent part in its favor in our town-meetings, and by

his influence and ettbrts did much to promote the

cause of the patriots in this vicinity. He rose to the

rank of colonel, and was for a short time in actual

service in the war. In 1779, and again in 1780, he

was speaker of the House of Representatives, the

other member from Litchfield (the Hon. Jedediah

Strong) being at the same time clerk of the House.

Col. Adams was a member of the Council of Safety

two years, a member of the State Council nine years,

a member of the Continental Congress three years, a

Commissioner of the Northern Congresses at Hartford

and Providence in 1780; an associate judge of the

Superior Court four years, and chiefjustice from 1793

until his decease. He was also for a few years a dea-

con of the First Church in this town.

" The body of the subject of this sketch rests be-

neath a marble tablet in the West burying-grouud.

His epitaph is as follows

:

" In Memory of the Hon. Andrew Adams, Esq , Chief Judge of the

Superior Court, who died November 27, 1797, in the 63d year of liis age.

Having filled many diBtinguished offices witli great Ability and Dignity,

he w.is promoted to the higliest Judicial Office in tlie State, whicli he

held for several years, in which his eminent Talents shone with uncom-

mon Lustre, and were exerted to the great Advantage of the Public and

the honor of the High Court in which he presided. He made an early

Profession of Religion, and zealously sought to promote its true Inter-

ests. He lived the Life and died the Death of a Christian. His filial

Piety and paternal tenderness are held in sweet Remembrance."
•

" Mrs. Eunice Adams, his wife, died June 4, 1797,

aged fifty-three years.

" The Litchfield Monitor mentions it as a sad and

singular coincidence that Governor Wolcott and Chief

Justice Adams (the two highest official dignitaries of

the State), both residing in the same village and on
the same street, should be lying apparently at the point

of death at the same time. Governor Wolcott sur-

vived his distinguished neighbor about three days
only.*

"Col. Bezaleel Beebe was born in Litchfield,

April 28, 1741, and spent his life in his native town,

except when absent in the service of his country. At
the age of seventeen he enlisted as a soldier in the

French war, and marched with Capt. Evarts' com-
pany to Fort George, where he was for some time

stationed. He was afterwards a member of Maj.

Rogers' celebrated corps of Rangers, an account of

whose exploits was published in London by their he-

roic commander; and, with Rogers, he participated

in the engagement which resulted in the capture of

Maj. Israel Putnam. During much of the succeeding

year he was stationed at Fort Miller under Capt.

Whiting. In 17G0 he enlisted in a company com-

manded by Capt. McNeile, of Litchfield, and con-

tinued in the service for three years, having in the

mean time been chosen one of the sergeants of the

comi)auy. On the 11th of July, 1764, he was mar-

ried to Elizabeth, daughter of Capt. John Marsh, of

this town, and settled on the paternal homestead,

north of Bantam Lake, which is still owned and oc-

cupied by his descendants. On the breaking out of

the Revolutionary contest he was once more sum-

moned to the field, having been commissioned as a

lieutenant in the first recruits raised for that service,

April, 1775. He forthwith marched with his com-

pany to Boston, and thence, after a short detention,

to Crown Point, where he was transferred to the

quartermaster's department. From this time onward

he was in actual service (except while detained as a

prisoner of war) until the spring of 1781, at which

time he applied for and received an honorable dis-

charge, and once more returned home. As his dis-

tinguished public services have been frequently re-

ferred to in the preceding pages, it will not be ex-

pected that I should repeat them here. Suffice it to

say, that he rose to the rank of colonel in the Conti-

nental army, and enjoyed in an eminent degree the

confidence and respect of his superiors in office as well

as of the soldiers under him. While chief commander
of the coast-guard of this State he performed the

duties and received the pay of a brigadier-general.

A commanding figure, and a peculiar dignity of char-

acter and manner, united to an innate kindness of

heart and a courage equal to any emergency, con-

tributed to render him an efficient and popular officer.

" He was chosen a member of the House of Repre-

sentatives for the first time in the autumn of 1781, as

a colleague of the Hon. Jedediah Strong, and was re-

* I have said that Judge Adams commenced the practice of law in

Litchfield in 1774. The indications are that he became a retfident here

some eight or ten years earlier than that date. .-Ih Andrew Adams of

this town was a commissioner on two estates as early as 17GG, and was

chosen a lister in 1772 and 1773.

—

Kilboiirne.
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elected during the two succeeding years. In 1788 the

Constitution of the United States was ratified, and the

general government reorganized. In 1792, '93, and

'95, Col. Beebe was returned to the Legislature. He
also served his fellow-citizens as a selectman both

before and after the war; and through life was much
employed by the Court of Probate in settling estates

of persons deceased. He departed this life May 24,

1824, aged eighty-three, his widow surviving him

about a year. Several of his Revolutionary letters to

Governor Trumbull, Gen.Silliman, etc., are preserved

among the ' Trumbull Papers' in the library of the

Massachusetts Historical Society, Boston.

" Jedediah Strong was born in Litchfield, Nov.

7, 1738, and here spent his entire life. He graduated

at Yale College in 1761, and, with a single exception,

he was the first native of the town who ever received

a collegiate degree. He first studied divinity, but,

being early elected to office, he abandoned the sacred

profession for the more congenial pursuits of petti-

fogger and politician. He acquired and long main-

tained a political ascendency second only to that of

Wolcott and Adams. He was a representative at

about thirty regular sessions of the Legislature, at

fourteen of which he was clerk of the House. In

May, 1773, he was appointed (with Roger Sherman,

Eliphalet Dyer, Matthew Griswold, and William Sam-

uel Johnson) a commissioner to wait on Governor

Penn at Philadelphia, to negotiate relative to the

lands west of the Delaware. In May, 1779, he was

appointed a delegate to the Continental Congress in

place of the Hon. Stephen Titus Hosmer, resigned

;

and was reappointed in the October following. He
was also an associate judge of the County Court for

eleven years, a member of the Council of Safety, a

member of the State Council, and a delegate to and

secretary of the convention which ratified the Con-

stitution of the United States. He was a lister six

years, a selectman thirteen years, and town clerk six-

teen years. The first wife of Judge Strong was Ruth

Patterson, who died leaving an only daughter, Ida

Strong. In 1788 he married Susannah, daughter of

the Hon. George Wyllys, Secretarj' of State, Hartford.

"Col. BEN.JAMIN Tali^madoe was born at Brook-

liaven, L. I., Feb. 25, 1754. His father, who bore the

same name, was the pastor of the church in that place,

and his mother was a daughter of the Rev. John

Smith, pastor of the church at White Plains. The
subject of this sketch graduated at Yale College in

1773. While superintendent of the high school at

Wethcrsfield, in this State, he received a lieutenant's

commission, with the appointment of adjutant of the

regiment, both commission and warrant bearing date

June 20, 1776. In these capacities he joined the army,

and continued in actual service until the close of the

war. ( )n the 15th of December of the year Inst named
he received a captain's commission in Sheldon's Second

Regiment of Light Dragoons. As this commission

came from Gen. Washington him.self, the honor was
9

conspicuous and highly appreciated. He was pro-

moted to the rank of major, April 7, 1777, and took

his station as a field-officer of the regiment. A sepa-

rate detachment for special services was committed to

him several times in the course of the war, on which

occasions he received his orders directly from the

commander-in-chief. On the opening of the spring

campaign, 1777, Gen.Washington, foreseeing that Gen.

Howe meditated some decisive blow, directed that all

recruits should be sent forward to headquarters as fast

as they were collected. He also sent a particular

order to Col. Sheldon {who was at his winter quarters

in Wethersfield) to send on all the effective men of

his regiment. Having about men and horses enough

for four companies, they were placed in the best possi-

ble order, and the command given to Maj. Tallmadge.

His own company were all mounted on dapple-gray

horses, which, with black straps and black bear-skin

holster-covers, looked superbly. On his route to

Washington's encampment, at Middlebrook, N. J.,

he passed with his troops through Farmington, Litch-

field, Kent, Peekskill (where he crossed the Hudson),

Haverstraw, Pompton, and Morristown, reaching the

headquarters of the commander-in-chief on the 23d of

June. Maj. Tallmadge participated in the battles of

Short Hills and tlie Brandywine, though before the

latter engagement the remainder of the regiment,

commanded by Col. Sheldon in person, had arrived.

In the battle of Germantown the position of Mnj.

Tallmadge's squadron was at tlie head of Gen. Sulli-

van's division on the left of the centre. In the early

part of this sanguinary engagement the .Vmcricans

seemed almost certain of success, but the heavy fog

which soon enveloped botli armies i)revented them
in some cases from distinguishing tlieir friends from

their enemies. They were thus thrown into confu-

sion, a panic ensued, and our men fled in every direc-

tion. By order of Gen. Washington, Maj. Tallmadge

repeatedly threw his dragoons across the principal

thoroughtare to check the retreat of the infantry, but

the effort was inell'ectual.

" While our army were encamped at Valley Forge, in

the gloomy winter of 1777-78, the major was stationed

with a detachment of dragoons, as an advanced corps

of observation between our army and that of the

enemy. In the perfornuince of his duty he scoured

the country l)etween the Schuylkill and Delaware

Rivers, a distance of five or six miles, for the double

purpose of watching the movements of the enemy,

and preventing the disallected from carrying provis-

ions to the enemy at Philadelphia. While on this

service he wivs attacked, about two o'clock one morn-

ing, by a large body of British light horse com-

manded by Lord Rawdon, and, after defending him-

self resolutely for u while, efTeeted his escape with the

loss of but three or four men killed and as nmny more

wounded. While temporarily halting soon after nt

the ' Rising Sun' inn, within sight of the British out-

posts at Philadelphia, a country girl arrived from
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the city, whither she had been sent with eggs, with

instructions to obtain some information respecting

the enemy. While slie was communicating with the

major on the subject the British light horse were seen

advancing. In an instant he mounted his horse, when
he found the poor girl at his side, begging him to pro-

tect her. Without a moment for reflection, he told

her to mount behind him, which she did, and in this

w.ay they rode at full speed to Germantown, about

three miles.

" After taking part in the battle of Monmouth, and

in the defense of Norwalk (Conn.), Maj. Tallmadge

planned and executed an expedition against the en-

emy at Lloyd's Neck, on Long Island. Here was a

strongly fortified post, manned by about five hundred

troops, in the rear of which post a large band of ma-

rauders were encamped. For the purpose of break-

ing up this band of freebooters, he embarked at Sliipan

Point, near Stamford, Sept. 5, 1779, at eight o'clock

in the evening, taking with him about one hundred

and twenty men. The attack was so unexpected,

that nearly the whole party were captured. Having

destroyed the boats and huts of the enemy, the party

re-embarked with their prisoners, and before daylight

landed on the Connecticut shore without the loss of a

man.

"In the autumn of 1780, Maj. Tallmadge was sta-

tioned on the lines in Westchester County. Re-

turning from below to the regiment, then near North-

castle, on the evening of September 23d, he was

informed that a prisoner had that day been brought

in by the n.ame of John Anderson. On inquiry, he

learned the particulars of his capture by three militia-

men,—Paulding, Van Wert, and Williams. He fur-

ther ascertained that Lieut.-Col. Jameson (who, in

the absence of Col. Sheldon, then had command of the

dragoons) had sent the prisoner to Gen. Arnold's

headquarters, accompanied by a letter of information

respecting his capture. At the respectful but earnest

solicitations of Maj. Tallmadge, Anderson was brought

back to Northcastle, but Jameson persisted in sending

the letter forward to Gen. Arnold. The observation

of the major soon led him to the conclusion that the

prisoner had been bred to arms, and communicated

his suspicions to Lieut.-Col. Jameson, requesting him

to notice his gait, especially as he turned on his heel

to retrace his course across the room. The major

remained with him almost constantly, and became

deeply interested in his new acquaintance. After

dinner on the 24th he requested the use of pen, ink,

and paper, which were readily granted him. He im-

mediately wrote the celebrated letter to Gen. Wash-
ington, in which he acknowledged himself to be ' Maj.

John Andre, Adjutant-General to the British Army.'

This letter he handed unopened to Maj. Tallmadge,

who read it with deep emotion. The sad and im-

portant sequel of the story is familiar to every reader.

A court-martial of fourteen general officers (Gen.

Greene presiding) adjudged him to be a spy from the

enemy, and that, 'agreeable to the law and usage of

nations, he ought to suffer death.' At five o'clock in

the afternoon of October 2d, Maj. John Andre died on

a gibbet, in the presence of an immense concourse of

sympathizing people. His military suit having ar-

rived from New York, he was executed in full uni-

form. Maj. Tallmadge walked with him from his

place of confinement to the foot of the scaffold, where

he bade him an affectionate farewell. Years subse-

quently, he wrote, 'I became so deeply attached to

Maj. Andre, that I can remember no instance where

my affections were so fully absorbed in any man.

When I saw him swinging under the gibbet, it seemed

for a time as if I could not support it. All the spec-

tators seemed to be overwhelmed by the affecting

spectacle, and the eyes of many were sufiused in

tears.'

" In the autumn of 1780, Maj. Tallmadge requested

permission of the commander-in-chief to attempt the

destruction of the enemy's works at Smith's Manor,

L. I., but the general regarded the expedition as

too hazardous to be undertaken. Maj. Tallmadge

did not, however, abandon the project, but secretly

visited Long Island for the purpose of making obser-

vations and gaining information. On his return he

made another application, and obtained the consent

of Gen. Washington. On the 21st of November, with

one hundred dismounted dragoons, he embarked at

Fairfield, crossed the sound, and marched toward Fort

George, on south side of Long Island. The garrison

was surprised and captured, the works were de-

molished, and the houses, shipping, and an immense

quantity of stores were burnt. Some valuable arti-

cles of dry goods were made up in bundles and bound

upon the shoulders of the prisoners, who were pinioned

two and two. The victors then recrossed the island

to their boats with their prisoners and booty. While

the main body were thus on the march, the major

selected eight or ten men, mounted them on horses

which he had taken at the fort, and made a digression

for the purpose of destroying the king's magazine at

Coram, which he accomplished, and in the course of

an hour and a half joined his associates at a place

where he had ordered them to halt. The whole com-

pany arrived in Fairfield, only one person engaged in

the expedition having been seriously wounded. Among
the prisoners taken were one lieutenant-colonel, one

lieutenant, one surgeon, about fifty rank and file, and

a host of others in the garrison. For this daring and

successful exploit Maj. Tallmadge received the public

thanks of the commander-in-chief and ofthe Congress

of the United States.

" He continued in actual service until the close of

the war, and was engaged in several other desperate

enterprises. Our article, however, is already too long,

and we must close the narrative of his Eevolutionary

services with the relation of a single additional fact.

From 1778 to 1783 an important and confidential

correspondence was carried on between Gen. Washing-
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ton and Maj. Tallmadge, a large part of which is still

in possession of the Tallmadge family.

"In November, 1782, he purchased of Mr. Thomas
Sheldon (for the sum of £800) the premises in North

Street, in this village, still known as The Tallmadge

Place. In the purchase-deed of this property he is

styled ' late of Long Island, now of the Continental

army.' He continued in the public service about a

year longer, when the army was disbanded and the

subject of this stetch retired to private life with the

rank of colonel. Before separating the officers of

the army formed themselves into a national associa-

tion, called The Society of the Cincinnati, of which

Washington was chosen the first president. At the

same time a similar society was formed for each State.

Col. Tallmadge was chosen the first treasurer, and

subsequent president of the Connecticut society.

" On the 16th of March, 1784, Col. Tallmadge was

united in marriage to Mary Floyd (daughter of Gen.

William Floyd, of Mastic, L. I., a signer of the Dec-

laration of Independence), and at once took up his

residence in this village. Here he engaged exten-

sively and successfully in merchandising until 1801,

when he was elected a member of the Congress of

the United States. For a period of sixteen years

(by re-election every two years) he held his seat

in that distinguished body. Once more retiring

from public life, he devoted himself witli even more

than his usual zeal to the advancement of every

good cause. For many years he was an officer and

liberal benefactor of various charitable institutions

and societies, while his contributions to the needy in

his own town were much more freciuent and extensive

than were known to the public.

"On the 3d of June, 180-5, Mrs. Mary Tallmadge

died in Litchfield, leaving five sons and two daughters,

viz. : William S., Henry F., Maria, Frederick A.,

Benjamin, Harriet W., and George W. May 3, 1808,

Col. Tallmadge married Maria, daughter of Joseph

Hallctt, Esq., of New York. He died at his residence

in this village, March 13, 1835, in the eighty-second

year of his age.

" Col. Tallmadge possessed a tall and portly figure,

and a courtesy and dignity of manner wiiich seemed

to have belonged peculiarly to the era in which he lived.

At the same time he was as accessible to the humblest

as he was to the highest in the land. All loved and

reverenced him. The old soldiers of the Revolution

were wont to seek his assistance and advice, and they

were ever received with cordiality and their wishes at-

tended to. Officers, also, of every, grade frequently

visited him, and never failed to meet with a hospita-

ble welcome.

"The beautiful homestead where Col. Tallmadge

spent more than fifty years of his life adjoins that

where his comrade in arms. Col. Sheldon, spent his

chiUlhood, youth, and early manhood.

"Taiting Keeve, LL.D., became a resident of

Litciifield in 1772, and spent more \.\u\njijli) yean of

his life in this town. A son of the Eev. Abuer Reeve,

of Southold, L. I., he was born in that place in Octo-

ber, 1744. He graduated at the college of New Jer-

sey in 1763, and spent four years as a tutor in that in-

stitution. On the 24th of June, 1773, he married

Sally Burr, a daughter of President Burr, of New
Jersey College, and a granddaughter of the renowned

President Edwards. So long as she lived she was an

invalid, and for many years her husband spent a large

portion of his time in ministering to her wants.

"Though liis domestic Hfflictions withlieUl him from the active scenes

of the Revolution," Si-iys Dr. Beecher, in his funenxl tliscouree, "none

entered more deeply into his country's c.iuse than he. He shared with

his generation all the vicissitudes, hopes, fears, self-ilenials, and losses of

that arduous day. He possessed, though early in life, the confidence,

and participated in the couusels, of the wise and great and good men of

that era; and at the moment ol greatest dismay, when Washington fled

with his handful of troops through the Jerseys, and ordei^s came for New
England to turn out m mii'*se and make a diversion to save him, the

judge w.is among the most ardent to e.\cite the uuivereal movement,

•and actually went in the capacity of an officer to the vicinity of New
York, where the news met them of the victories at Trentou and Priuce-

toD, aud once more Wasliington and the country were delivered."

" At one time he had the honor of entertaining at

his house in this village Gen. Lafayette and some of

his brother officers, who were passing through this

region on important public business. In 1784 he

opened his celebrated law-school, of which he was

the principal for nearly forty years. Though fitted

to shine in public life, and though official honors were

always within his reach, he seems rather to have

shunned than sought promotion. He was once elected

a repre-sentative, and once only a member of the

council. He was an enthusiast in his profession, and

had, indeed, but little taste fi)r anything else of a

secular nature. In 17i'8 he was appointed a judge of

the Superior Court and of the Supreme Court of

Errors. Here his peculiar talents found ample scope

for their full development. Until the adoption of

the constitution of 1818, all our judges were elected

annually by the Legislature. Judge Reeve gave such

universal satisfaction that ho continued to be reap-

pointed from year to year until 1814, when he was

promoted to the office of chief justice, (^n reaching

the age of seventy years he retired to private life, still,

however, devoting much of his time to his favorite

law-school. He died here, Dec. 13, 1823, in the

eightieth year of his age. He was eminently dis-

tinguished for his piety and learning. In seasons of

revival, and indeed at all times, no layman in the

parish was so efficient as a colaborer with the pastor

as Judge Reeve."

Mrs. Saliic Reeve died soon after the war, leaving

an only smi, Aaron Burr Reeve. The latter died in

Troy, N. Y., in 1809, leaving an only son, Tapping

Burr Reeve, who received his first degree at Yule Col-

lege in 1829, and died the same year. With him the

family of Judge Reeve became extinct. April 30,

1798, the Judge married a second wife,— Betsey Thomp-

son,—who snrviveil him a few years.

Maj. MosEei Sey.mouk was bom in Hartford, July
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28, 1742, and liccamc a resident of Litchfield in early

manliood. Early in the war of the Revolution, he was

commissioned as captain of the troop of horse attached

to the Seventeenth Regiment of Connecticut militia.

In June, 1776, Elisha Sheldon, Esq., of Salisbury,

was appointed major-commandant of the Fifth Regi-

ment of Cavalry ; and the subject of tliis sketch re-

ceived the appointment of captain of one of the com-

panies of this regiment. Though Maj. Sheldon was

subsequently transferred to the command of the Second

Regiment of Dragoons in the Continental army, Capt.

Seymour retained his connection with the Fifth until

the close of the war.

In April, 1777, on the occasion of the Danbury
alarm, Capt. Seymour mustered his troojjs and pro-

ceeded forthwith to assist in repelling the invasion of

Governor Tryon. He participated in the skirmishing

which followed the retreat of the enemy towards the

Sound. At the cajiture of Burgoyne, in October of

the same year, he was once more at the head of his

favorite corps, and did good service in that most im-

portant and decisive engagement. A day or two after

the terms of ca])itulation were signed, the American

officers invited Burgoyne and liis associate officers to

dine witii them. At this interesting festival Capt.

Seymour was present. His account of tlic conversa-

tion that took place on the occasion between the con-

querors and the conquered, and particularly his minute

recital of the toasts given on lioth sides, are still re-

membered with interest by his neighbors. The utmost

courtesy and good feeling prevailed on the jiart of the

principal officers, and the responses to the sentiments

given were hearty and enthusiastic. At length, Gen.

Burgoyne was called upon for a toast. Every voice

was for the moment hushed into the deepest attention,

as he arose and gave

—

"America and Great Britain

againitt tlie trorld.'" The response which followed

may be imagined.

During the night which succeeded the final battle

between Generals Gage and Burgoyne, Capt. Seymour
watched with a British officer who had been wounded
and carried off the field in tlie midst of the engage-

ment. Soon after he had entered the room the officer,

who had not before learned the fate of the day, in-

quired eagerly of Capt. Seymour as to the result. On
hearing that the British had been defeated, he re-

marked, " Then the contest is no longer doubtful

;

America will he independent. I have fought earnestly

for my king and country, but the contest is ended !"

The kindness of Capt. Seymour to him, an enemy,

deeply afieetcd him. He thanked him again and

again; and finally offered him his w'atch and other

rewards, which were of course refused. The gallant

American did all in his power to relieve the distresses

and soothe the mind of his charge, but his wounds
proved fatal.

During the greater part of the war Capt. Seymour
was stationed at Litchfield as a commissary of sup-

plies for the army. In this department of the public

service his zeal and efficiency were conspicuous, and
duly apjireciated by Governor Trumbull, Cien. Wol-
cott, and others. Few men in this section of the State

labored as untiringly or accomplished more. I have

elsewhere stated that Litchfield was a depot for mili-

tary stores and jirovisions. Capt. Seymour was em-

ployed not only in the purchase of these articles, but

assisted in storing and guarding them while here, and
in superintending their transportation wherever they

might be ordered by the competent authorities. In

September, 1781, we find him with his dragoons, by
order of Gen. Wolcott, guarding a train of wagons,

loaded with supplies for the French army, from Litch-

field to Fishkill.*

With the peace of 1783, the subject of this sketch

retired to private life with the rank of major. In

1789 he was elected by his fellow-citizens to the office

of town clerk, a post to which he was annually re-

elected during the remainder of his life, a period of

thirtij-seren years ! This uuintorrupted bestowment

of an office upon one individual for so long a time is

unprecedented in the history of the town. He was
also a member of the House of Representatives at

sixteen regular sessions, commencing with the Octo-

ber session, 1795. In the early part of the present

century Maj. Seymour was occasionally a candidate

of the political party with which he was connected

for the council of State. In 1805 he received 7426

votes, and at the election of the succeeding year he

received 7671 votes, for that office.

Maj. Seymour was a gentleman of the old school,

retaining to the last the manners and costume of that

now obsolete class.

On the 7th of November, 1771, he married Molly,

daughter of Col. Ebenezer Marsh. Their children were

Mrs. Carissa Marsh, wife of the Rev. Truman Marsh
;

Moses Seymour, Jr., for many years sheriff of Litch-

field County ; Ozias Seymour, also for many years

sheriff of the county; Horatio Seymour, of Vermont,

who for twelve years was United States Senator;

Henry Seymour, one of the first canal commissioners

of New York, and father of ex-Governor Seymour;

and Epaphro Seymour, Brattleboro', Vermont.

Maj. Seymour died at his residence in this village,

Sept. 17, 1826, in the eighty-fourth year of his age.

"There is yet another name which should be men-

tioned with respect in this connection, that of Elisha

Mason, the last of the Serolutionary soldiers in Litch-

field. With a patriotism as unquestioned and a zeal

* Tlie French conimissjiry, Jujardy N. Granville (who appears to have

possessed a very iuiperfett knowledge of our language), left the following

curious acknowledguieut of the service, which is on file in the comp-

troller's office

:

" We, Commissary of "War, employed in the Army of Bochambeau,

Certified that the Detachment composed of 24 Dragons or Light Horses,

commanded liy 5Ir. Moses Seymour, capitaine, came on with our teams

and stores from Litchfield. M'e certified beside that the said Capitain

Moses has taken a great care for the security of our convoy and baggage

while he stay with us till this place.

"JuJAEDY N. Granville.

"Fishkill, Sep. 22, 1781."
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as ardent as can be claimed for the most renowned of

our heroes, he performed the humbler duties of his

sphere as faithfully as they, though all uncheered by

the hope of fame or pecuniary reward. He died in

this village, June 1, 1858, in the one hundredth year of

his age. I frequently had occasion to consult him on

matters of local interest, and found his mind clear

and his memory retentive almost to the last. He
seemed like one who had come down to us from a dis-

tant generation. In the last interview I had with him
(Jan. 18, 1858), he assured me that he well remem-
bered the first meeting-house ever built in this town,

and which was demolished when he was about three

and a half years old. He also recollected the old fort,

which occupied the site of the present court-house, as

well at that which stood on Chestnut Hill, both of

which v.'ere erected as a defense against the Indians.

In the great struggle for independence he had periled

his life in the cause of his country. And what was

his reward? On one occasion, at the expiration of a

term of service, he was discharged on the Hudson,

and paid oft' in Continental currency. Starting home-

ward, on foot, he reached Danbury, where he spent

the night. In the morning, on attempting to settle

his bill, his Continental money was refused. He
offered larger and still larger sums, and finally ten-

dered bills to the amount of forty dollars for his lodg-

ing and meals ; but the landlord refused to take the

currency on ani/ terms. Mr. Mason was finally com-

pelled to pawn his rifle to cancel his indebtedness. As
his wages were but eight dollars per month, he thus

oftered the avails of five months' services for his keep-

ing for twelve hours ! But, though so poorly re(iuited

by the country for which he had fought, tiie soldier

lived to enjoy the blessings of a free government, and

in bequeathing them as a rich legacy to liis posterity,

he felt himself abundantly repaid for all his toils and
privations."

—

Kilboukxe.

CHAPTER XIL

LITCHFIELD (Continued).

ECCLESIASTIC.VL Ilt.-^TORY.

Congregational Cliuruli, LitctiflcIU—Congregntlnnnl Cliiirch, Miltun

—

ConKi'cgatiuiialCliiircli, Niiitlifli>lil—St. MIlIhu'I's Cliiinli, Utcliflclil—

Melhoilist fhuKii, Utcliflcld— St. PBiifa Cliunli, Hanlain Kiilli—
Trinity Chiircli, Milton — lUi|ilii»t Cliurrli, ItaiitiUn Falls— Iloniuu

Catliulk Church, Lltchfleld.

The pioneers of this town brought with them from

Lebanon the Rev. Timothy Collins, and at the first

town-meeting of wiiich any record is extant, Nov. (i,

1821, lie was "calleil to a settlement in the place in

tlic work of the ministry." He wits orihiined a.s pas-

tor July 19, 172.3.

" There is no evidence, either recorded or tra<li(ion-

ary, which would lead us to suspect that aught but

the most perfect harmony existed between pastor and
people during the early part of his ministry. The
first inference to the contrary may be drawn from the

i

doings of a town-meeting held Dec. 25, 1728, when a

memorial from Mr. Collins was read, and the consid-

eration thereof ' postponed till the next meeting,'

which, however, was not called until nearly three

months afterward. It appears from the records of the

meeting in March that the memorial had reference to

' the discount of money since the agreement was made'

between the parties. It was finally resolved to pay

him ten pounds per year, in addition to the eighty

pounds originally agreed upon as his salary, ' until

the town shall see cause to order otherwise.'

"On the 14th of April, 1731, the first vote was

passed for ' seating the meeting-house.' In the doings

of the same meeting occurs the following entry

:

"ToftW, aj'ler dark, that Mr. Cullinei have the choice of the pews for

himself and family.'

"The peculiar significance of the wording of tins

vote will be understood when taken in connection

I

with a previous vote, which jprovided that 'no act of

,
the town sliould stand in force that was passed a/ler

daylight failed to record it.'

" The controversy, which began in a dispute con-

cerning the salary of Mr. Collins, was continued

through a long series of years, and increased in im-

portance and acrimony. Though a decided majority

of the church and society took sides against their pius-

tor, there was still a respectable minority who sus-

tained him. In 1744 the town voted ' not to make
any rate for Mr. Collins under pre.-:ent difiiculties.'

At the same time a committee was appointed to treat

with the pastor respecting his salary 'and absence

from the work uf the ministry.' In December, 174.'>, a

committee wass appointed ' to eject Mr. Collins from

the parsonage right.' In December, 17-')0, Mr. Collins

was desired to ' resign his ministerial office.' During

the succeeding month a committee wius appointe<I to

carry a charge against Mr. Collins to the Consociation,

'for unfaithfulness in the ministerial olficc.' To this

last vote Scrgt. Joseph Ma.son, Lieut. Moses Stod-

dard, and Messrs. ( Jeorge Marsh, Archibald McNoile,

John Alarsh, William Teck, Sylvanus Stone, Asa
Hopkins, and Alexander McNelle ' did protest.'

Two years later a similar vote to the last was offered

in town-meeting, and negatived by a decided ma-

jority,—yeas, 13; nays, 41.

" After a ministry in this town of about tliirty years,

Mr. Collins vacated the pulpit in 17.'J2. Though his

pecuniary contest with the town continued for a few

years later, he seems to have been not unpopular

either as a ciliiicn or civilian. Like many of the

clergy of that diiy, he had received a medical educa-

tion, and he continued here as a practicing physician

during the remainder of his life. He wilh elected by

the voters of this town to the offices of lister and

selectman, and was appointed by the Legislature a
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justice of the peace for Litclifield County. In 17-55

he was appointed a surgeon of one of tlie Connecticut

regiments in tlie expedition against Crown Point. He
is represented to have been a gentleman of good tal-

ents and stately demeanor, but with manners by no

means conciliatory or popular. It is worthy of men-

tion, as indicating that he may have been ' sinned

against' in his controversy with the town, that he was

successful in the only lawsuit growing out of it. He
died in Litchfield in 1776.

"In February, 1753, the town voted a call to the

Kev. Judah Champion, of East Haddam, who had

graduated at Yale College in 1751. Two thousand

pounds, old tenor currency, was voted as his settle-

ment, and eight hundred j>ounds, old tenor, was voted

as his yearly salary. Mr. Benjamin Webster was ap-

pointed to visit Mr. Champion and deliver to him

these votes of the town. Mr. Champion accepted the

call, and was ordained as pastor of the First Church,

July 4, 1753.

" On the 30th of December, 17G0, the town voted

to build a new meeting-house on the green, and Mr.

Joseph Yuill, Mr. Alexander McNeilc, Deacon Peter

Buel, Jacob Woodruff, Esq., and Capt. Solomon Buel

were appointed a building committee. At the same

time Keynold Marvin, Esq., was designated as the

town's agent to apply to the County Court for a com-

mittee to fix the place for said meeting-house, and

Col. Ebcnezer Marsh, Timothy Collins, Esq., and

Capt. Elisha Sheldon were appointed to wait on the

committee of the court. The edifice was erected near

the site of the old one, and was sixty-three feet long

by forty-two feet wide, with a steeple and bell. It was

comjiloted during the autumn of 17G2. The old meet-

ing-house was sold at auction in November of that

year, Mr. Asa Hopkins vendue-master.

" Mr. Champion proved to be an able and popular

minister, and continued here iu the pastoral ofl5ce

until 1798. He died in this town, Oct. 5, 1810, in his

eighty-second year.

" From the organization of the town to the year

1768 all business relating to schools and ecclesiastical

affairs was transacted in town-meeting. The society

of South Farms (or the Second Society of Litchfield)

having been incorporated, the First Society met for

the first time. May 9, 1768. Elisha Sheldon, Esq.,

was chosen moderator; Isaac Baldwin, Esq., clerk;

Mr. Joshua Garrett, treasurer ; and Mr. Edward
Phelps, Jr., Capt. Oliver Wolcott, and Capt. AVilliam

Marsh, society's committee. There was little done at

these society's meetings, from year to year, except to

appoint officers, committees, and choristers. Now
and then we find an entry in the records of a different

character. Thus, December, 1772, measures were

taken for ' coloring the meeting-house, and putting up

electrical rods' At the same meeting the society's

committee were directed ' not to let the town's stock

of powder and ball to be store.d in said house.' Two
years later it was voted that ' the new method of singing

at present taught by Mr. Lyman' should be intro-

duced into the public worship of the congrega-

tion ; and the singers taught by Mr. Lyman were

granted ' the use and ]irivilege of the front seats in

the gallery.' The subject of the minister's salary still

gave the society much trouble. Mr. Champion com-
plained of the depreciated and fluctuating currency,

as Mr. Collins had done before him. To obviate this

difficulty the society, in 1779, voted to give him as

his salary for the then current year the sum of seventy-

five pounds sixteen shillings, money, ' to be paid in

the following articles at the usual prices affixed, viz.,

wheat, at four shillings per bushel ; rye, at three shil-

lings do. ; Indian corn, at three shillings do. ; flax, at

sixpence per pound
;
pork, at twenty-five shillings per

hundredweight; beef, at twenty shillings do.; tried

tallow, at sixpence per pound ; lard, at fivepence do.

;

oats, at one shilling per bushel.'

" Mr. Champion's successor was the Rev. Dan
Huntington, who at the time he received the call to

settle here was a tutor in Yale College. He was or-

dained in October, 1798. As he was a gentleman of

learning and eloquence, the church and society were

delighted with their new pastor, and he appears to

have been no less pleased at being settled in such a

place and over such a people. He thus wrote con-

cerning them,

—

" 'A delightful villnge, on a fruitful hill, richly eiiduwod with its schools,

both professional autl scientific and their accomplished teachers. With

its venoralde Governors and judges, witli its learned lawyers and sena-

tors and representatives, both in the National and State departments,

and with a population enlightened and respectable, Litchfield was now
in its glory.'

" During Mr. Huntington's ministry in this place a

remarkable religious awakening overspread this and

the adjacent parishes, resulting in the hopeful con-

version of about three hundred persons among the

different denominations of Litchfield.

" ' This town,' siys Mr. Huntington, ' was originally among the num-

ber of those decidedly opposed to the movements of former revivalists,

and went so far, iu a regular church-meeting called expressly for the

purpose under the ministry 6f the venerable Mr. Collins, as to let them

know, by a unanimous vote, that tliey did not wish to see them. The

effect was they did not come. The report circulated that Litchfield had
* voted Ciirist out of their borders.' It was noticed by some of the older

people that the <leath of the last person then a member of the church

was a short time before the commencement of our revival.*

" Previous to the settlement of Mr. Huntington, the

society voted him a ' settlement' of one thousand dol-

lars and an annual salarj- of four hundred dollars,

also agreeing to continue to Mr. Champion, during

life, a salary of one hundred pounds. In December,

1805, a subscription was made of funds to be placed

at interest, for the purpose of adding two hundred

dollars to the salary of the pa.stor. It would seem,

however, that, notwithstanding these efibrts to increase

his income, Mr. Huntington had resolved upon leav-

ing. The church and society, in February, 1807,

voted not to concur in his request that a separation

should take place between them. A council, how-

ever, was called, and the connection amicably dis-
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solved. In March, 1810, the society voted a unani-

mous call to the Eev. Lyman Beecher, which was

accepted, and he was installed on the 30th of the

succeeding May, President Dwight, of Yale College,

preaching the installation sermon. After a successful

ministry in this town of about sixteen years, he ac-

cepted a call from the Hanover Street Church,

Boston, and was dismissed Feb. 21, 1826. His

successor in the ministry here was the Kev. Daniel

Linn Carroll, who was ordained Oct. 3, 1827, and was

dismissed, at his own request, March 4, 1829.

" In 1827 the society voted to erect a new church

edifice, and Messrs. Frederick Wolcott, Stephen Dem-
ing, Salmon Buel, William Buel, and Leonard Good-

win were appointed a building committee. This

church was located upon the site of the present

church, and was dedicated July 15, 1829.

" The Rev. Laurens P. Hickok, of Kent, was the

next pastor, having been installed July 15, 1829.

During his ministry here of about seven years two

hundred and fourteen persons united with the church.

Ninety-five of these were added at two communion
seasons in the autumn of 1831, being a part of the

fruits of the great revival of that year. In Sep-

tember, 1836, Dr. Hickok, having been elected pro-

fessor of theology in the Western Reserve College,

Ohio, requested a dismission from his pastoral charge,

which was reluctantly granted, and he was dismissed

Nov. 15, 1836.

"June 12, 1838, the Rev. Jonathan Brace, of

Hartford, was ordained as pastor of the church, and

was dismissed, at his own request, Fob. 28, 18-14.

During his pastorate of about six years not far from

one hundred and fifty persons united with tlic church.

"The Rev. Benjamin L. Swan was installed as the

eighth pastor Oct. 22, 1846, and closed his labors here

on the 10th of May, 1850, having supplied the pulpit

with much ability and acceptance for nearly ten

years.

" Rev. Leonard Woolsey Bacon wa.s ordained Nov.

16, 1856, on which occasion the ordination sermon

was prcaclied by his fatlier, tlie Rev. Leonard Bacon,

D.D., of New Haven ; resigned in 1860. Rev. George

Richards, acting pastor, January, 1861, to December,

1865; Rev. William B. Clarke, pastor, Dec. 27, 1866,

to November, 1869; Rev. Henry B. Elliott, acting

pastor, April 1, 1870, to April 1, 1H74; Rev. Allan

McLean, acting pastor, Nov. 21, 1875, still here.

"Beacons of the First Cliurch from 1723 to 1859,

John Buel, Nathaniel Baldwin, Benjamin Hosford,

Benjamin Kellogg, Benjamin Webster, Thomas Har-
rison, Peter Buel, Moses Stoddard, Andrew Adams,
William Collins, Ozias Lewis, Thomas Trowbridge,

Andrew Benedict, Frederick Buel, Truman Kilbourn,

Charles Adams, Cyrus Catlin, IKiiry W. Buel, Henry
B. Bi.ssell, Frederick D. McNeil, George >L WoodrulV."

The present oflicers of the church are Cliarles

Adams, Clerk; Frederick D. McNeil, Treasurer;

Henry R. Coit, Auditor; Henry B. Bissell, Henry

W. Buel, Frederick D. McNeil, George M. Woodruff,

Deacons. Present number of members, two hundred

and seventy-four.

Sunday-School.—George M. Woodruff, Superinten-

dent and Treasurer ; Charles B. Bishop, George H.

Trowbridge, Librarians.

Jan. 4, 1867, Frederick D. McNiel and George M.
Woodruff were chosen deacons in place of Charles

Adams, resigned, and Frederick Buel, deceased.

The present church edifice was completed and oc-

cupied in 1873.

MILTON CONGREGATIONAL CHnUCH.*

The first record now in existence connected with

the history of this church is dated in the year 1779,

but the date of month and day are so dim as to be

undecipherable, and is a record of an adjourned meet-

ing of the Third Society of Litchfield. David Welsh,

Esq., was chosen moderator and Jesse Judd clerk.

It was

" Voted, That we will hire Mr. Steplien ITeaton to i)reaLh with us seven-

teen (lays, for which we agree to give him thirty-five bushels uf wheat,

or equivalent in money, to be paid by the 20th of November, 1780."

Another society meeting was held on the 8th of

April following, when it was voted to hire Mr. Hcaton

yet longer, a.s the language is, " to complete our winter

privileges." There are several records of this sort

:

" Voted, That wo will improve our church pnvilcgcs this winter."

This seems to mean that public worship was main-

tained within the bounds of the society during the

winter, while the inhabitants went to Litchfield

during the summer.

The society took tiie name of Milton on the second

Monday of June, 1795, under an act of the tieneral

Assembly of 1795, May se.ssion, incorporating it as

an ecclesiastical society. The society is composed of

the northwest part of Litchfield and adjoining terri-

tory in the towns of Goshen, Cornwall, and Warren.

There are persons from all four of these towns in the

communion of the church.

The church was organized Aug. 19, 179.S, with

eleven male and thirteen female members. For the

first few years it was served by supplies. April 26,

1802, Rev. Benjamin Judd was invited to settle, and

was installed as pastor on the 19th of May. Within

a year, or a year and a half, tlie church was greatly

weakened by the withdrawal of several intluential

members, so that Mr. Judd was led to propose the

dissolution of the pastoral relations. This took place

in June, 1804.

Rev. Abraham Fowler was installed Sept. 16, 1807,

anil was dismissed June, 1813, in conseciuence of the

financial weakness of the society. From this time

forward there was no settled ministry or steady wor-

ship until 1841, more than twcnty-sovon years.

During this period, however, there were two very

powerful revivals of religion, adding many members

* ContrlbnM bj' B«*. Qtorg* J. n^rtbun.
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and preserving the church from destruction. The
first of these occurred very soon after the dismission

of Mr. Fowler, and in connection with the labors of

the celebrated Dr. Nettleton. An interesting account

of this revival is given in the "Life of Nettleton."

As a fruit of this work twenty-seven persons united

with the church. One of these, Daniel Page, still

survives, after an interval of nearly sixty -seven years.

There was another powerful revival in the winter

of 1825-26, in connection with the labors of Rev.

Lewis Smith, an evangelist. As a fruit of this work

twenty-seven persons united with the church on the

16th of April, 1826, and fourteen on the 28th of May.

Of these, one only is still living and in the communion
of this church.

In the year 1841 some of the members of the church

and society were led to feel that they could not live

longer without regular public worship. Proper steps

were taken, and Rev. Ralph Smith was employed as

minister. He began his labors in October, 1841, and

remained till April, 1844.

Rev. John F. Norton was ordained pastor in Oc-

tober, 1844, and at his own request, under a feeling

of discouriigement, was dismissed in April, 1849.

Rev. Heman L. Vaill began to supply the pulpit

June 3, 1849, and closed hi^abors Dec. 1, 1851. The
society was then in debt, and felt unable to continue

worship. A meeting w.as called to arrange for the

payment of the debt, and then to cease further effort.

At that time Mr. A. P. Smith, a citizen of Milton,

who hitherto had taken no active interest in the

affairs of the church, encouraged them to go forward.

The debt was paid, the seats rented at a higher rate,

and Mr. Francis Williams employed as preacher.

Mr. Williams commenced on the second Sabbath of

December, 1851, and closed his labors on the last Sab-

bath of April, 1853. He was followed by Rev. James
Noyes, who remained about eleven months.

Rev. George J. Harrison began his ministry here

Sept. 14, 1854, and is still in charge (March, 1881),

having now served the church nearly twenty-seven

years.

Jan. 1, 1881, there were fifty-five members of the

church,—nineteen males and thirty-six females.

This church, during its entire existence, has en-

countered great trial and difliculty. It has been weak
in numbers and resources, and has been maintained

under much discouragement, and at the cost of much
personal sacrifice and self-denial. Its members trust

that God, who has thus far watched over and kept

them, will continue to keep and bless them.

CONGKEGATIONAL CHUECH Or NORTHFIELD.*

Northfield was first known as Southeast Farms,

and was composed of territory lying part in the town

of Northbury and part in the town of Litchfield, from

which the settlement obtained the name of Northfield.

It is not known at what date an ecclesiastical society

*Conlriljiited by Rev. H. A. Otraan.

was formed, but the first society meeting of which
there is a record was held Oct. 15, 1789, when it was
voted to hire a minister for six months.

In 1792 a committee was appointed to build a

meeting-house, and on April 21, 1794, it was voted to

petition the general assembly to be set ofl' as a distinct

society. On the 10th of the following November it

was voted to give Rev. Joseph E. Camji a call to be-

come pastor of the church. November 24th it was
voted to give Mr. Camp a settlement of one hundred

pounds, and more if it could be raised, with a salary of

seventy jjounds a year for four years, seventy-five

pounds the fifth, eighty pounds the sixth, and eighty-

five pounds thereafter.

The struggle to obtain the first meeting-house was

a long one, for not until eleven years after the com-

mittee was ajipointed to build a meeting-house was it

completed. The expense of the building was three

thousand one hundred and sixteen dollars. The land

upon which the house was built was the gift of a Mr.

McCall.

The Congregational Church was formed Jan. 1,

1795, consisting of fourteen members, as follows

:

Samuel Peck, Steven Sanford, Titus Turner, John
Warner, Abigail Sanford, Anna Warner, Tabitha

Merriman, from the Northbury Church ; Abel Atwa-

ter and Bethiah Peck, from the church in Litchfield
;

Ebenezer Todd and Ebenezer Todd, Jr., from the

church in North Haven ; Israel and Hannah Wil-

liams, from the church in Westbury; and Zerviah

Curtiss, from the church in Cheshire. The sermon

was preached by Rev. Mr. Waterman, of Northbury,

admonishing the new church to let its light shine.

Rev. Joseph E. Camp became the first pastor of

this church, and served it for a term of forty-two

years, being dismissed in 1837, living only a year after

the relation between himself and the church was sev-

ered. During his ministry one hundred and seventy-

five members were added to the church.

This church was connected with the Litchfield

South Consociation until June 20, 1859, when it sev-

ered its connection with that body. Since the dis-

mission of Mr. Camp the church has had but two set-

tled pastorates, both of them being quite brief. The
present membership of the church is one hundred and

one.

This church has received occasional bequests dur-

ing the more recent years of its existence, the largest

being a munificent gift, by Mr. Asa Hopkins, of about

ten thousand dollars, the interest of which is used an-

nually for the ' support of the gospel" in Northfield.

ST. MICHAEL'S CHURCH.t

Among the first settlers of the town of Litchfield

none were Episcopalians. Mr. John Davies, who came

from England in the year 1735, was in all probability

the first Episcojialian who settled here, and for some

years the only one. But in the year 1745, on the 5tli

I Contributed by Rev. Storrs 0. Seymour.
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day of November, a number of persons, thirteen in

all, who were anxious to have the services of the

Church of England, met at the house of Mr. Jacob

Griswold, who lived about a mile west of the village.

The result of this meeting was that the services of

Mr. Cole were secured to act as lay reader. These

services were kept up for two years, when Mr. Davies,

in 1747, executed a deed conveying, by a lease for

nine hundred and ninety-eight years, fifty-two acres

of land to Mr. Cole, for the use of the " Society for

Propagating the Gospel,"—a missionary society of

the Church of England which is still in existence.

For this Mr. Cole and his heirs were to pay annually

on the trust of St. Michael one peppercorn, if law-

fully demanded. In addition to this land, fifty acres

more were procured and deeded to the same society.

Both lots were to be for the benefit of the Episcopal

minister in Litchfield. This land was situated in the

southwest part of the town, a little northeast of " Lit-

tle Mount Tom," and is now owned by Harvey

Waugh and Lucius L. Griswold, and is still called

the " Glebe."

The first service held by a clergyman episcopally

ordained was by the Rev. Dr. Johnson, of Stratford,

but there is no record of the date.

There have been three church edifices in the his-

tory of St. Michael's parish. The first one was built

on the hill west of Kilborn's Brook, just south of the

barn which stands on the land now owned by Mr.

Joseph Merriman. This building was raised on the

2.Sd of April, 1749. It has generally been su]ipose<l

that Mr. Davies gave the land for this building ; but

this is a mistake. An examination of tlie town rec-

ords shows that Mr. Davies never owned this land.

The Rev. Mr. Mansfield, of Woodbury, officiated

when the church was opened for divine service.

The records of the parish do not show when the

second church building wa.s erected. Tlie land on

which it stood, on the east side of South Street, Wius

given to the parish by Samuel ALirsli, Esq., of Nor-

folk, Va., the brother of the Rev. Truman Marsh,

who was rector at that time. The building must iiave

been so far advanced that services could be held in it

by 1S12, for a vote was pa.<sed in that year to dispense

with tlie use of the old church in part, and to use the

new one at such times as the clergyman and society's

committee deemed expedient.

At a special meeting held Dec. 12, 1814, a commit-

tee was a|ipointed to dispose of the old church as they

thought best.

This second building was consecrated by the Right

Rev. Bishop Brownell, D.I)., June 3, 1824. It re-

mained in use till 1851, when it was torn down to

make room for the present edifice. Of this the cor-

ner-stone was laid July 15, 1851. It was finisiied

December 10th, and consecrated by Bishop Brownell

on December Kith of the same year. No change wiig

made in it until the winter of 1S81, when the galleries

were removed and some other slight changes made.

Since the time when the services of the Church of

England were first used here—viz., in 1745—down to

the present time the parish of St. Michael's Church

has been served by a long line of able, learned, and

godly men. The first missionary who served here

was the Rev. Solomon Palmer, at one time the Con-

gregational minister in Cornwall. He went to Eng-

land, and, after being ordained to the deaconate and

the priesthood, was sent by the Society for the Propa-

gation of the Gospel as missionary for Litchfield,

Cornwall, and Great Barrington, Mass. He remained

in this position for nine years, and was succeeded by

the Rev. Thomas Davies, a grandson of Mr. John

Davies, to whom the church in Litchfield owes .so

much. In one of his reports to the society in Eng-

land, Mr. Davies says that there were sixty-one fami-

lies in his charge here. Mr. Davies died at New Mil-

ford in the spring of 1766. The Rev. Mr. Palmer

then returned here, and acted as missionary until his

death, in 1771.

In 1772 the Rev. Mr. Moseley came here as mission-

ary. He was not much liked, and, some difficulty

arising between him and the people, he was with-

drawn. He was the last clergyman whose stipend

was paid by the English society, for, although the

Rev. James Nichols came here in 1775, under an

appointment from the society, the outbreak of the

Revolutionary w-ar led, of course, to a suspension of

relation between the church in this country and in

England. During this war Mr. Nichols either did

not remain in Litchfield or, if he did, did not offi-

ciate, for Mrs. Anna Dickinson, in her account of

the parish, says that during this time Mr. Daniel

London was in the habit of reading service and a ser-

mon, and that he was not deterred from it even by

the stones which the soldiers threw through the win-

dows while he was reading. After peace was declared,

Mr. Nichols officiated here until 1784, when he re-

signed and removed to Vermont.

When the independence of the colonies had been

acknowledged by Great Britain, and State govern-

ment had been set up, the churchmen of Litchfield

organized as a society under the laws of the State.

This was done on Oct. 26, 1784, and the jiarish as-

sumed the legal title "The First Episcopal Society

of Litchfield." The society compriscil then, as now,

three parochial organizations,—St. Michael's Church,

Litchfield ; St. Paul's, Berntown ; and Trinity, Milton.

Mr. .\slibel Baldwin was their first rector. He offi-

ciated here as lay reader, being then a candidate for

holy orders, for about a year. On .\ug. It, 1785, he

was ordained deacon by the Right Rev. Samuel Sea-

bury, D.D., the first American bishop. This ordina-

tion, which WHS held at Middletown, was the first in

this country.

The following is a list of the clergymen who have

been connected with St. Michael's Church : Revs.

Solomon Palmer, 17.54-63; Thomas Davies, 1763-60;

Solomon Palmer, 1766, to Nov. 2, 1771 ; Richard
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Moseley, 1772-73 ; James Nichols, April 20, 1775, to

May, 1784 ; Ashbel Baldwin, Sept. 9, 1785, to Oct.

28, 1793 ; David Butler, D.D., Nov. 28, 1794, to Feb-

ruary, 1799 ; Truman Marsh, Nov. 5, 1799, to Nov. 1,

1829; Isaac Jones (associate rector), Sept. 7, 1812, to

April 1, 1826; John S. Stone, D.D. (associate rector),

Dec. 26, 1826, to January, 1829; William Lucas (as-

sociate rector), 1829-32; Samuel Fuller, D.D., Octo-

ber, 1832, to July, 1837 ; William Payne, D.D., April,

1838, to May, 1845 ; Samuel Fuller, D.D., July 27,

1845, to Oct. 1, 1849 ; Benjamin W. Stone, D.D., Oct.

8, 1849, to May, 1851 ; John J. Brundage, D.D., Aug.

1, 1851, to Feb. 1, 1854; James M. Willey, April 8,

1855, to April, 1858; Henry N. Hudson, June 27,

1858, to Nov. 1, 1860 ; William S. Southgate, Nov. 1,

1860, to Jan. 1, 1864 ; Rt. Kev. Wm. Stevens Perry,

D.D., Nov. 27, 1864, to May 6, 1869 ; C. S. Henry,

D.D., 1870, to Nov. 30, 1873 ; G. M. Wilkins, Feb. 20,

1874, to Jan. 9, 1879 ; S. O. Seymour, April 27, 1879,

present rector.

In addition to the gifts of land spoken of above, the

parish has received many interesting and valuable

gifts during its existence. Early in its history it re-

ceived from the Society for the Propagation of the

Gospel a number of volumes of ecclesiastical history

and doctrinal theology. Most of them have been

scattered. A few, however, are still in the parish

library. In 1803 the Hon. Ephraim Kirby presented

to the parish a folio copy of the Book of Common
Prayer and a Bible. These were in use for many
years, and are still preserved. After the second church

was erected, and about 1822, Mr. Solomon Marsh pur-

chased a fine-toned organ and placed it in the church.

In May, 1852, he gave it to the parish, where it was

used till the present one was bought, about fifteen

years ago. In 1857, Mrs. Marsh, widow of the Rev.

Truman Marsh, gave the present rectory and the lot

on which it stands. This was for the use of St. Mich-

ael's parish, and not for the benefit of the whole so-

ciety.

In 1856, Mr. Hosea Webster, of Brooklyn, who has

always manifested a deep interest in the parish, gave

a thousand dollars, the interest of which is to be used

for the benefit of the Sunday-school. In 1863 the

parish lost a warm friend in the death of the Hon. S.

P. Beers. For half a century he had been connected

with the parish, and no one has ever devoted more

time and thought to its interests than he did. The
bulk of his jjroperty was left by will to the " First

Episcopal Society." The income from this source is

divided equally among the three parishes.

Besides these, the parish has received from many
individuals gifts of less value, but highly esteemed

for the sake of the donors. During the last year a

collection has been made of portraits of former rectors.

By great pains likenesses have been found of all who
have ever been connected with the parish excepting

the Rev. Messrs. Palmer, Moseley, and Nichols. These

have been hung in the vestry-room of the church,

where, as a sort of " cloud of witnesses," they may
seem to their successors as a reminder that " the night

Cometh when no man can work."

METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH.

" In June, 1790, the Rev. Freeborn Garretson, one

of the ablest and most earnest apostles of Methodism

in America, visited Litchfield on his way from the

Hudson River to Boston. He was at that time super-

intendent of the Northern District, and in his itiner-

ant journeyings was almost invariably attended by
his colored servant Harry, who was himself a licensed

preacher of no mean distinction. They traveled to-

gether on horseback, apparently vying with each other

in their zeal for the promotion of the cause of their

common Master. On Wednesday, June 23d (as we
learn from Dr. Stevens' 'Memorials of Methodism'),

Mr. Garretson 'rode seven miles to Litchfield, and was

surprised to find the doors of the Episcopal church

open and a large congregation waiting for him. He
discoursed from the words "Enoch walked with God,"

and believed good was done. He left Harry to preach

another sermon, and went on to the centre of the

town; the bell rang, and he preached to a few in the

Presbyterian meeting-house, and lodged with a kind

churchman.' On the same day Mr. Garretson wrote

in his diary

:

'"I preached in the skirts of the town, wliere I was opposed by ,

who made a great ilistiirbance. I told him tlie enemy liad sent him to

pick up tiie good seed, turned my baciv on him, and went my way, accom-

panied by Brotheia W. and H, I found anotlier waiting company in

anotlier part of tlie town, to whom I declared, *' Except ye repent ye

shall all likewise perish." In this town we have given the devil and the

wicked much trouble ; we have a few good friends.'

"On his return from Boston, Mr. Garretson again

preached in Litchfield, Friday, July 13, 1790. So far

as I have learned, these were the first Methodist ser-

mons ever preached in this town.

" The Litchfield circuit was organized during the

spring of 1790, and embraced, according to Mr. Ste-

vens, 'the northwestern section of Connecticut.' In

May, 1791, the Rev. Messrs. Matthias Swain and

J.ames Covel were appointed by the Conference to

labor in this circuit. Their immediate successors,

previous to the commencement of the present cen-

tury, were Rev. Messrs. Lemuel Smith, Samuel Os-

trander, Philip Wagner, James Coleman, Enoch

Mudge, F. Aldridge, Jesse Stoneman, Joseph

Mitchell, Daniel Dennis, AVesley Budd, Ezekiel Can-

field, AVilliam Thatcher, Ebenezer Stevens, Freeman
Bishop, and Augustus Jocelyn.

" On the 21st of July, 1791, the famous Bishop As-

bury preached in the Episcopal church in this town.

In reference to his visit here he wrote,

—

"' I think Morse's account of his countrymen is near the truth ; never

have X seen any people who could talk so long, so correctly, and so seri-

ously about trifles.'

" There are no records whatever indicating the

progress of this denomination in Litchfield for many
years subsequent to the last of the dates here given.
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The names of the following persons in the grand list

for 1805 are put down as ' members of the IMethodist

Society,'— viz., Noah Agard, Isaac Baldwin, Ebenezer

Clark, Thomas F. Gross, Elisha Horton, Samuel

Green, Jonathan Hitchcock, Roswell McNeil, Jona-

than Rogers, Daniel Noyes, John Stone, and Arthur

Swan."

This church was organized Aug. 23, 1836, and a

church edifice erected on Meadow Street. The first

board of trustees were William R. Buell, Benjamin

Moore, William Scoville, Abiel Barber, and George

Bolles.

The pastors have been as follows : Charles C. Keyes,

first pastor; among his successore were Wm. Dixon,

Wm. B. Hoyt, N. C. Lewis, H. N. Weed, D. Louns-

bury, David L. Marks, Wm. Howard, Joseph Vinton,

Wm. Lawrence, Joseph Munson, Chapman, Syl-

vester Smith, J. Taylor, Wm. H. McAllister, Wm. L.

Douglass, F. Cromlish, and Thomas J. Watt, present

pastor.

The present trustees are Leonard Stone, George W.
Thompson, Jacob Morse, David E. Buell, P. H. Cum-
uiings, and A. B. Shumway. The church edifice was

erected in 1837, and a chapel has since been added.

Extensive repairs were made in ISOG, and others since;

the chapel was repaired and furnished in 1879.

ST. PAUL'S CHUECH, BANTA5I FALLS*

This church is an oiTshoot from St. Michael's, Litch-

field Centre, and. though a separate ecclesiastical or-

ganization, is included in the First Episcopal Society

of Litchfield. A number of members in the western

part of the town determined on withdrawing from the

society, and accordingly petitioned to be released from

paying taxes, with permission to organize a aeiiarate

parish. The petition was granted, and on Nov. 14,

1797, an organization was duly efl'ected under the

name of the Second Episcopal Society of Litchfield,

when officers were appointed consisting of society's

committee, clerk, and treasurer. A churcli edifice

was soon afterwards erected, fifty by thirty-six feet,

surmounted with tower and stee|)le, the interior being

furnished with deep galleries, a high pulpit, st capa-

cious sounding-board, and other ancient appendages.

This I)uilding was situated on the height directly

opposite the burial-ground, and was known as the

West Church. Mr. Nathaniel Bosworth contributed

one hundred pounds for purcliasing a bell, wliich

amount was increased by other contributions. The
bell thus purchased bears the inscription, " Fenton &
Cochniti, New Haven, 1802."t

In June, 1799, the parish applied to reunite with St.

Michael's, Litciifield, which application was granted,

and articles of union were agreed to on the lOtli of

the following September. It was agreed that two-

* Contributed by Ror. Blram Bton*.

t An mroneons ImprawioD lina somonhiil «xleiulTe1]r prevniled that

ttilH ht'll xvu of vory tncient Jato iind cnitt In a foreign country. The
above lii»cTlptlon Bervee to correct the luifwjiprehriuiiou.

fifths of the clergyman's services should be given to

St. Michael's, two-fifths to the West Church, and one-

fifth to Milton.

The first edifice had become much out of repair, and

at a meeting of the parish on July 21, 1843, it was

voted to take it down and erect a new one, forty-six

by thirty-two feet, in its stead. Work immediately

began, and the new church was opened for service on

Sunday, Dec. 24, 1843. Soon after, at a parish meet-

ing, it was voted to call the church St. Paul's, by
which name it was consecrated, Nov. 1, 1844, by the

Right Rev. T. C. Brownell, D.D., bishop of the diocese.

The first edifice seems never to have been consecrated.

In 1826 occurred the first practical separation of

the three parishes, when a society's committee was

appointed for this parish. In 1832 wardens and

vestrymen were first appointed by the First Episco-

pal Society, which manner of appointment has been

continued annually on Easter Monday for the three

parishes. July 20, 1879, Mrs. Mary Ann Wilmot,

widow of the late Lucius Wilmot, died, leaving by

will her new, commodious, and convenient house

as a rectory for St. Paul's Church. This parish

shares with St. Michael's, Litchfield, and Trinity,

Milton, the proceeds of a fund given by Mr. John
Davies about the middle of the last century, as also a

later fund donated by Hon. Seth P. Beers. A small

income likewise accrues to the parish from a fund left

many years since by Mr. Nathan Landon.

The present church edifice h.as been enlarged by

the addition of a chancel, wiiilc receiving several

improvements in it-s interior arrangements.

The churches of Bantam and Milton still continue

component parts of the First Episcopal Society of

Litchfield, yet, as independent parislie«, they conduct

their affairs in their own way.

The following is a list of rectors or officiating min-

isters: Revs. Truman Marsh, 1799-lSlO; Isaac Jones,

1811-26; John S. Stone, 1826-31 ; David O. Tomlin-

son, 1831-35; Amos Beach, 1836-37; Willanl Bryant,

1837-40: Emery E. Porter, 1842-43; G. C. V. East-

man, 1843-45; J. D. Berry, D.D., 1846-48; F. D.

Harriman, l«48-50; G. W. Nichols, 18.50-51; Asa

Griswold, Jan. 5, to Nov. 8, 1852 ; Daniel E. Brown,

Jan. 5, 18.5.'5-,57; John K. Williams, Jan. 5, 18.58-60;

J. A. Wainright, Jan. 5, 1860-61 ; J. D. Herry, D.D.,

Jan. 5, 1862-63; J. D. Berry, D.D., April 24, 1864-66;

William L. Peck, April 24, 1866-71; F. A. Henry;
Hiram Stone, Nov. 1, 1873, to Sept. 1.5, 1874; G. M.
Wilkins.Sept. 15, 1874, to July 1, 1875; Hiram Stone,

July 1, 1875, present rector.

TRINITY CIIURCII, MILTON.:

During the early settlement of Litchfield there were

but few churchmen in this part of the town, but event-

ually a number of families joined the Episcopal

Church. In 1798 an application was made to the

Firat Episcopal Society, which voted that a chapel

X Contrltiutetl by R«t. Ulram Stunn.
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might be built in the village of Milton. A church

edifice was accordingly raised June 25, 1802, but,

owing to a lack of means, it was only put in condition

for use by way of being covered in and furnished with

benches, in which incomplete condition it remained

until finally completed in 1826. Aug. 18, 1837, it was

consecrated by the Right Rev. T. C. Brownoll, D.D.,

bishop of the diocese. The original structure is still

standing. The architecture is of the old style, with

galleries and large windows rounded at the top. It

has been enlarged by the addition of a chancel, and

improved by way of new seats, a stained chancel-

window, and other internal arrangements. In 1843,

Messrs. Garritt P. Welch and Hugh P. Welch pre-

sented the bell which now hangs in the tower.

In 1799 the Rev. Truman Marsh commenced his

rectorship with St. Michael's Church, Litchfield, when

he promised to i)reach in Milton one-fifth of the time,

in accordance with an arrangement made on the oc-

casion of reunion of the West Church with the First

Ei)iscopal Society. In 1803 the society voted to di-

vide its services equally between the parishes of Litch-

field, Bantam Falls, and Milton. In 182<! a society's

committee was for the first time appointed for this

parish, and in 1832 the first appointment of wardens

and vestrymen was made. At [iresent, as also during

a large part of their existence, the parishes of Bantam

Falls and Milton are under the charge of one minister,

who ofliciates in each on alternate Sundays, thus di-

viding the services between them, each parish con-

tributing an equal amount to his support.

The following is a list of rectors or officiating min-

isters : Revs. Truman Marsh, 1799-1810 ; Isaac Jones,

1811-26; Ezra B. Kellogg, 1827-28; Harry Finch,

1829-31 ; David G. Tomlinson, 1831-35 ; Amos B.

Beach, 1836-37; Hillard Bryant, 1837-10; Emery E.

Porter, 1842-43 ; Samuel J. Carpenter, 1844-i5 ; Isaac

Jones, 1845-47; F. D. Harriman, 1848-50; George

W. Nichols, 1850-51 ; Asa Griswold, Jan. 5, 1852, to

Nov. 8, 1852 ; Daniel E. Brown, Jan. 5, 1853-57 ; John

R. Williams, Jan. 5, 1858-60 ; J. A. Wainwright, Jan.

5, 1861-62 ; W. F. B. Jackson, April, 1863, to Sep-

tember, 1863; J. D. Berry, D.D., April, 1864-66; Wil-

liam L. Peck, 1866-71 ; F. A. Henry ; Hiram Stone,

Nov. 1, 1873, to Sept. 15, 1874 ; G. M. Wilkins, Sept.

15, 1874, to July 1, 1875; Hiram Stone, July 1, 1875,

present rector.

BAPTIST CHURCH, BANTAM FALLS.*

Several years ago an eminent Sunday-school laborer

in Connecticut, to facilitate bis work, prepared an en-

larged map of the State, on which he located every

Sunday-school and church in the State, indicating

the various denominations by different colored inks,

such as red, blue, green, etc. He had exhibited this

at a large public meeting, and explained the needs

and peculiarities of the different localities, when he

said, " Gentlemen, I bid you notice these green spots,

* Contributed by Kev. H. G. Smith.

they indicate the Baptists. And you will notice,"

said he, " that they are thickest along the shore of the

Sound and along the principal water-courses, such as

the Thames and the Connecticut. Like the grass, by

whose color they are represented, you perceive they

flourish best in wet places." This may account for

the paucity of churches of this denomination in the

county. Although it abounds in hills, it also rejoices

in the most extensive sheet of water in the State,

—

Bantam Lake,—and close around this, in the old town

of Litchfield, there have been, at different times, three

Baptist churelios, all of them small, but large enough

to illustrate the truth of the Sunday-school speaker's

remark,—that they flourish best in wet places. Some-

thing less than a century ago there was a, church in

Northfield, and about the time that went down an-

other was started in Footville, South Farms, now
Morris. This was never a flourishing church ; but, if

it did no other work than to prepare the way for two

grandsons of Deacon Pickett to become most success-

ful Baptist ministers, it fulfilled its mission.

From this issued the Bantam Falls Baptist Church,

which was constituted Oct. 31, 1850, with the follow-

ing members : George Harvey, Sirs. George Harvey,

Ephraim K. Bunnell, Cornelia Bunnell, Samuel

Bronson, Polly Bronson, Christopher C. Palmer, Re-

becca Palmer, Eurana Canfield, and Eunice Stone.

The first entry upon the records is this :

" Reanlred, To adopt tlie New Testament for our articles, and to be

governed by its directions, precepts, and examples."

The covenant is substantially the same as that of

the Cornwall Hollow covenant, here given. In 1852

the present house of worship was erected, and the

same year the church was recognized as a regular

Baptist church by a convention of sister churches.

Its pastors have been Revs. Jackson G. Gakun, 1857-

62; C. N. Potter, April, 1863-67 ; J. Fairman, 1867-

71; D. F. Chapman, July, 1871-75; E. D. Bowers,

February, 1876, to May, 1878 ; H. G. Smith, June,

1878, to the present time (1881).

Its present membership is forty-two, being the

largest number of active members it has ever enjoyed.

Its pastors have always combined with this pastor-

ate the care of the church in East Cornwall, preaching

in each place on alternate Sundays until the present

year, which was opened by the pastor's preaching in

this place in the morning, in East Cornwall in the

afternoon, and in Cornwall Hollow in the evening of

each Sabbath.

At its organization C. C. Palmer was elected dea-

con, and, with the exception of a brief absence in the

West, when Enoch Fennell was chosen to the office,

he has occupied that station faithfully to 'he present.

The history of this has ever been identified with that

of the College Street Baptist Church at East Cornwall.
^

The Roman Catholics also have a church in Litch-

field, but have no resident pastor.
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CHAPTER XIII.

LITCHFIELD (Continued).

BOROUGH OF LITCHFIELD.

Tlic Villuge of Litchfield—Incorporation—First Officers—Presidents anil

Clerks from 1818 to 1S82—Borough Organization-The Press—The

Weekly Blonitor and American Advertiser—The Witness—The Edi-

tors Convicted of I.iljel—Imprisoned—Political Kxcitement throughout

Immediate and Distant States— Grand Oration to the Imprisoned

Editor—Excitement in the Town—The Litchfield Gazette—The Litch-

field Journal— The Litchfield liepuhlican— The Miscellany— The

American Eagle—The Litchfield County Post—The Litchfield En-

qnircr—The Litchfield Democrat—The Litchfield Sun—The Mercury

—The Democratic Watchman—The Litchfield Repuhlican—The Litch-

field Sentinel—The Litchfield Law-School—The Post-Offlce—Banks-

Savings Society — Insurance Company—"Spring Hill"— St, Paul's

Lodge, No. 11, F. and A. M.—Minerals—Temperance in 1789—Slavery

in Litchfield— Bantam Falls—Northfield—Milton—Biographical Notes

—College Graduates—Physicians—Lawyers.

At the May session of the Legislature of this State,

1818, the inhabitants of this village presented their

memorial praying for a borough charter. In their

petition they state that " the houses are as contiguous

as they are in many of our cities ; that the public

schools, which for many years have been established

in this village, make a great addition to its oj-dinary

population ; that, on account of their local situation

and compact settlement, they are, as they conceive, in

an unusual degree exposed to injurj' from fire," etc.

The application was successful, and the petitioners

and their associates, residing within the limits pre-

scribed, " were constituted and declared to be forever

thereafter a body corporate in fact and in name, by

the name of the ' Corporation of the Village* of Litch-

field.' " The powers vested in the corporation were

similar to those of the ordinary borough charters of

this State,—viz., to levy ta.xcs for the purdiase of fire-

engines, fire-hooks, ladders, and such otlier improve-

ments as should be deemed necessary to protect the

village against fires ; to order and direct in all matters

relating to side-walks, shade-trees, and tlie sinking of

public wells and pumps; to restrain cattle, slice)), and

geese from running at large in the public liigliways;

and to ])a.ss such by-laws and regulations, witli .suit-

able penalties attached, as might, from time to time,

be thought necessary for the attainment of tjic objects

contemplated in the charter. The officers designated

in the act of incor[)oration were a president, treasurer,

and clerk (who were in all cases to be chosen bjr'bal-

lot), a collector of ta.\es, and a number of fire-war-

dens not to exceed ten, together witli such other offi-

cers not enumerated as should be necessary to carry

the by-laws and the provisitms of the charter into

effect. In case the collector should refuse or neglect

to collect the tax according to the tenor of the war-

rant committed to him, the president must " issue his

warrant directed to the sheritfof the county of Litch-

field, or his deputy, to distrain the sums or rates ne-

glected by such collector to be collected, to be paid

• The vilhiKo of Litchfield wan changed lo borough ul LItcllflelil by

act of Leglaluturc approved March '21, IbTO.

out of the estate of said collector." The assessors

were to be appointed by the County Court.

The first meeting of the inhabitants of the borough

under the charter was held on the 17th of June, 1818,

at which the following officers were elected, viz.,

Hon. Frederick Wolcott, president; Dr. William Buel,

treasurer; and Joseph Adams, clerk. A committee

of five was appointed to prepare a code of by-laws for

the borough, viz., Selh P. Beers, Julius Deming, Asa

Bacon, Phineas Miner, and Ozias Lewis. At an ad-

journed meeting holden on the 20th of June, it was

voted to choose a bailiff by ballot, and Dr. Abel Cat-

lin was elected to that office. Benjamin Tallmadge,

Asa Bacon, and Charles L. Webb were appointed a

committee of inspection, and Ashbel Marsh was chosen

key-keeper.

At the regular annual meeting in September, 1818,

Judge Wolcott was re-elected president; Dr. Buel,

treasurer ; and Mr. Adams, clerk. Messrs. Roger

Cook, Ambrose Norton, Moses Seymour, Jr., Oliver

Goodwin, and James Trowbridge were chosen fire-

wardens. At an adjourned meeting Asa Bacon, Esq.,

was chosen bailiff; Charles L. Webb, Leonard Good-

win, Jonathan Carrington, and Ambrose Norton as-

sistant bailifls ; and Leonard Goodwin, collector.

The finst board of a.ssessors consisted of Erastus Ly-

man, Esq., Gen. Morris Woodrutf, and John N. Gunn,

Esq. The amount of the grand list of the borough,

October, 1818, as returned by the assessors, was one

hundred and twenty-eight thousand nine hundred and

thirteen dollars and sixty-five cents.

In 1820 the Hon. Uriel Holmes was elected presi-

dent of the borough. In 1824 he was succeeded by

Dr. William Buel, who held the office for twelve years.

THE PBESS.

On Tuesday, Dec. 21, 1784, was issued in this town

the first number of Thv Weekly Monitor and American

Advertiter, printed by Collier & Co|)p, "in the south

end of the court-house." It contains only three Litch-

field advertisements, viz., (1) that of William Rus-

sell, stocking-weaver from (Norwich, England), who
announced that he was ready to make " worsted, cotton,

and linen Jacket and Breeches Patterns, men's and

women's Stockings, (Moves, and Mitts;" (2) that of

/.almou Bedicnt, barber, who offers cash for human
hair, at his barber-shop, " a few rods north of the

court-house in Litchfield;" (3) that of Cornelius

Thayer, brazier, who gives notice that he carries on

business at the shop of Col. Miles Beach, in North

Street, at which shop the Jeweler's and silversmith's

business " is carried on lus usual by said Beach."

The Monitor was continued for a period of twenty-

two years, for sixteen years of which it had no rival

in the town. It was printed on a sheet about one-

third the present size of the Litchfield Enquirer, with

I

coarse type and coarse blue paper. A single com-

positor might have set the ty])e in a single day for all

' the new matter which was contained in some of the
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•weekly issues. Yet it is a most interesting epitome

of the olden times. From it we are able to glean very

many facts and events in the history of this town and

county which are preserved nowhere else. Until

after the advent of the present century both the town

and county were Federal in their politics, and the

Monitor was at once the organ and the oracle of the

Federal party in this region.

In August, 18(15, two young printers—Messrs. Sel-

lick Osborn and Timothy Ashley—came to this town

and established The Witness, a violent Democratic

newspaper. The Witness was edited by Mr. Osborn,

who, though a man of talents and energy, was a most

unscrupulous partisan and bitter satirist. Though
there was a formidable minority of Democrats in the

township at this time, Litchfield Hill was the strong-

hold of Federalism. Tallmadge, Reeve, Wolcott,

Deming, Gould, Tracy, Holmes, Allen, Aaron Smith,

Eev. Messrs. Champion and Huntington, and indeed

nearly all the leading men of the village, wore Fed-

eralists, and looked upon Jefferson as an infidel and

reprobate. Subsequent to the Presidential election of

1800 (which resulted in the choice of Jefferson to the

Presidency), the partisan sermons and prayers of

Messrs. Champion and Huntington, of the Congrega-

tional Church, had driven several of their church-

members (including Deacon Lewis) to Episcopacy.

On one occasion, after a political sermon from Parson

Huntington, his venerable colleague. Father Cham-
pion, prayed first and fervently for " thy servant the

President of the United States" (John Adams), and

concluded thus :
" And, O Lord ! wilt thou bestow

upon the Vice-President (Jefferson) a double portion

of Thy grace, for Thou knowest he needs it !" The
summary withdrawal of so many members caused the

First Church no little embarrassment. A formal ex-

pulsion was proposed ; but some of them occupied high

social positions, and others were nearly allied to re-

maining members. The matter was finally adjusted

by a simple withdrawal of the " watch and fellow-

ship" of the church from the seceders. The feeling

of hostility between Federalists and Democrats w-as

such thatpi'ominent men living in the same neighbor-

hood refused to recognize each other when they met

;

Federal ladies refused even to make formal calls at

the houses of their Democratic neighbors ; and the

children of Federalists were forbidden to associate

with those of the hated Democrats. Such was the

state of feeling on Litchfield Hill when The Witness

opened its batteries on the ranks of Federalism. At
first its assaults were treated with contempt. Osborn

grew bolder, more bitter, and more personal, gather-

ing up and parading before the public the foibles or

follies (real or manufactured) of the principal men of

the village, against whose honor no word of suspicion

had before been breathed. Charges and insinuations

of hypocrisy and crime were freely blended with the

most scathing ridicule. This was " bearding the lion

in his den." It was not long before Osborn was in-

dicted, tried, and convicted of a libel on Julius Dem-
ing, Esq. Osborn and his partner Ashley were both

subjected to a fine, in defaultof the payment of which
both were committed to the county jail. Ashley was
soon liberated, and Osborn might have been had he

complied with the terms of the court ; but as—as he

himself expressed it
—

" the only alternative offered

him was to have either his body or mind imprisoned,

of coui'se he remained in confinement." His friends

regarded him as a martyr to his political fidelity. It

was published far and wide through the columns of

the Democratic journals that his health was sinking

from confinement " in a damp and loathsome cell
;"

that a maniac charged with murder was thrust into

the same cell with him, etc. On the 4th of July,

1806, a meeting of the Democi'ats of Litchfield was

held at Phelps' hotel, at which a committee of three

was appointed " to repair to the prison and learn the

true situation of Mr. Osborn and his treatment since

his imprisonment, and to report at an adjourned

meeting." At the adjourned meeting, on the 14th, the

committee reported in substance that they had visited

Mr. Osborn at the jail ; that he was confined in the

same room with two criminals, both charged with

capital offenses ; that his room was formed of damp and

ragged stone walls, in which the air was impure,

stagnant, and offensive, and so dark that it was diffi-

cult to distinguish one's features ; that his friends

were generally denied admission to his room, and
could only have intercourse with him through the

outer grate of the prison ; that his health was failing,

etc. From this date the committee visited the prison

from time to time, and issued their weekly bulletins

through the columns of The Witness. In vain Sheriff

Landon denied the truth of the committee's original

report. The story of Osborn's persecutions went

abroad over the land. The Democracy of distant

States held indignation meetings, at which Osborn

was extolled, the Connecticut courts denounced, and

the Litchfield Federalists execrated. At length it was

resolved to have a grand ovation in behalf of Osborn

at Litchfield, and the 6th of August was fixed ujion

for the celebration. The great day finally arrived,

and with it came an immense concourse of Democrats

from this and other States. Daybreak was greeted

with the discharge of one gun at the head of North

Street, a responsive discharge on the flag-staff on the

public green, and martial music until sunrise. At
sunrise seventeen guns were fired with martial music.

At eleven the procession moved in the following

order, viz.

:

Military, commaiuled by Maj. Stephen Ranney, Lieut. Swett, United

States officer stationed at Springfield, acting as marshal, John M. Felder

as adjutant, and Chauncey Ilotclikiss as quartermaster, consisting of

Cavalry, commanded by Capt. Carter.

Band of music.

Mati-oss company from Danbury, commanded by Lieut. Ambler.
" " of tliis town, conimaoded by Capt. Bissell.

" '* composed of boys, in white uniform.

Liglit infantry, commanded by Capt. Shethar.
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lufautry, commanded by Capt. Grannis.

" " Lieut. Stone.

" " Ensign Norton.

Two of the Committee of Arrangements.

Clergy and Orator.

Gen. Timothy Skinner, President of the Day.

Moses Seymour, Esq., 1

John M'elcli, Esq., } Vice-Presidents of tlie Day.

Ozias Lewis, Esq. j

Six of the Committee of Arrangements.

Marshals of Connecticut aud Vermont.

Collectors of New Haven aud Middletown.

Citizens generally.

The procession passed under Osborn's prison win-

dow with heads uncovered, each saluting the pris-

oner with a passing bow, and the military giving him

a brigadier's salute. Notwithstanding the hatred

with which many of the CongregationalLsts regarded

Democracy, the society's committee had generously

tendered the use of their meeting-house for the occa-

sion. Thither the procession wended. The services

in the church consisted of a prayer by the Rev. Asa-

hel Morse (Baptist), of Suffield ; reading of the Dec-

laration of Independence by Jonathan Law, Esq., of

Cheshire ; an oration by David Plant, Esq., of Strat-

ford [since member of Congress and Lieutenant-Gov-

ernor] ; and an address by Joseph L. Smith, Esq., of

Litchfield.

Before the arrival of the proce.ssion at the church

an occurrence took place which created much ill-feel-

ing and comment at the time. Messrs. Champion and

Huntington entered the church, and were proceeding

up the aisle towards the pulpit, when, according to

Mr. Champion's statement, he was seized near the

shoulder by Joseph L. Smith, Esq., a member of tlie

committee of arrangements, who pulled him around,

saying, " You have no business here, antl must go out

of the house." Mr. Champion replied that he was an

old man, and wished for liberty to sit in the pulpit,

assuring him that he woulil make no disturbance.

Mr. Smith grew more boisterous, and the two clergy-

men withdrew. Mr. Smith and his friends published

a very different version of tiie story; while tlic Fed-

eralists reiterated that Smitii had at first boasted of

the exploit, and declared that he would have called

the military to his aid if it had been necessary in

ejecting the intruders. Jlr. Champion seems to have

taken the matter very seriously.

"I was much alllicted," ho wrote, "at bring cast out of the houso of

God where 1 had wonthippetl nlnuist nrty-fxur years, au<l could ox|)ect to

be there but a few days more. Theeo retloctlouH crowded Into my mliid

when ejected and reth'ing from tho place whore GoU's honor hod dwelt."

At the annual election in October, 1805, it may be

remarked, not a single Democrat had been chosen to

the Legislature in Litchfield County, and tiic Feder-

alists bad not been backward in taunting Osborn

about the " revolution," which it wits said he liad

boasted he would produce in this region. At the an-

nual election in May, ISOIJ, the tables had been par-

tially reversed by the election of two Democratic rep-

resentatives from Litchfield by a vote of three hun-

dred and fourteen to three hundred uud eight. A

portion of the Democratic enthusiasm in behalf of

Osborn is attributable to an appreciation of his ser-

vices in producing this result.

As an incident of the celebration, it is mentioned

that during the day a placard was displayed on the

door of one of the principal hotels, bearing the signifi-

cant words, " No Democrats admitted here."

Some gentlemen from a distance put up, as was their

custom when this wa}', with an intimate friend who
chanced to be a rank Federalist. He soon inquired if

they had come to attend the celebration ; and on being

answered in the affirmative, he abruptly replied,

"Then you cannot be accommodated at my house.

As old friends, I should have been glad to see you
;

as Democrats, I want nothing to do with you !" Such

was the spirit of the times.

When the services in the church were over the pro-

cession was reformed and proceeded to a large bower

which had been erected in the meadow on the south

side of East Street, nearly opposite the jail, where a

cold repast had been prepared by Capt. Phelps.

Seventeen regular toasts were drank, accompanied by

the discharge of cannon and music from the band.

Among them were the following

:

"Justice—May false witnesses, perjured judges, and packed juries bo

banished from ita courts."

"Selleck OslKjrn—Like Daniel in the lion's den, ho is teaching his

persecutors that the beasts cannot ilevour him." [Three cheers.]

" Liberty of the I'resa—Litchfield Jail its stronghold." [Three cheers.]

" The Political Clergy— If there wore twenty Gods, perhaps some one

might approve their services ; but the one God wants uu political pas-

tors." [Three cheers.]

"The memory of our departed friend, Epiiraim Kirby—His virtues

win live while our memory lasts ; his merits shall be known to pos-

terity."

" Litchfield Jail—Our votes will level it as the nim*8 horns did the

walls of Jericho." [Six cheere.]

The Wlnets complains that the name of Maj. Sey-

mour was stricken from the roll of justices of the

peace for this county by the Legislature (May, 1807)

because of his participation in the 6th of August cele-

bration.

In June, 1807, The Witness gives the following

summary of the suita against Messrs. Osborn and

Ashley, viz.

:

" Fine and costs In libel suit with J. Demlng, Esq S346.4G
For publishing case of Talmudge ,V Wolcutt r*. Gen. Ilart, with

cuninnMils Ibereon, fine and costs 606.98

For slandering Th.iu.os Collier bii.00
(Itcsldes costs of cuniphiint in favor of Mr. .\shl(<y against
Thomas U. Collier, which complaint tho county court dls-

ndsHml.) —

—

Aggregate $1474.44"

Osborn was not the only man involved in libel suits

in those days. The Hon. Tapi)ing Reeve and Capt.

Thomas Collier, of Thf Monitor, were both indicted

before the I'nited States District Court nt New Haven
for libeling President Jetlerson ; and the Rev. Daniel

Huntington, of this village, recovered one thousand

dollars from Maj. Babcock, of the Hartford Mercury,

a Democratic paper.

The Witneu was discontinued in the summer of

1S07, having been published about two years. Sel-

leck Osboru was a native of Danbury, and after leav-
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ing Litchfield published The Delaware Watchman at

Wilmington, Del. A volume of his poems was pub-

lished in Boston. He died in Philadelphia in 1826.

The LUchfield Monitor was discontinued in 1806,

having been published by Mr. Collier for twenty-two

years. Thomas Collier, son of Richard, was born in

Boston, Feb. 20, 1760, and died in P.inghamton, N. Y.,

1844. On leaving this town he resided for several

years in Troy. In June, 1799, an orphan lad of four-

teen years, named John C. Wright, from Wethers-

field, entered the Moidtor office as an apprentice, re-

mained with Mr. Collier until of age, married his

daughter Mary, and for some time published a paper

in Troy.

The Litchfield Enquirer, the oldest newspaper pub-

lished in the county, issued its first number at Litch-

field, June 20, 1826. It was owned and edited by

Stephen S. Smith, and was then called the Litch-

field County Post. Dec. 25, 1828, Smith sold the Post

to D. C. McClarey, who conveyed it to Henry Adams

less than a month afterwards, Jan. 22, 1829. Mr.

Adams changed the name ofthe paper to The Litchfield

Enquirer, and edited it very ably and successfully till

his accidental death, by drowning, in February, 1842.

The Enquirer then went into the hands of Mr. Charles

Adams, a brother of Henry Adams, and an experi-

enced journalist, founder of the New Haven Palladium,

and influential in the politics of this State and of New
York. On Oct. 2, 1845, Mr. P. K. Kilbourne suc-

ceeded as editor,—a position he held for near eight

years following. Mr. Kilbourne was the author of a

valuable " History of the Town of Litchfield," and

assisted Mr. G. H. Hollister very greatly in the prep-

aration of materials for his " History of Connecticut."

Mr. Henry W. Hyatt succeeded Kilbourne as editor

of the Enquirer, March 3, 1853, selling out to Edward

C. Goodwin, Sept. 4, 1856, who was succeeded by

Adams & Betts, April 2, 1857, Mr. Adams resuming

the editorial chair, while Mr. Betts was publisher.

On Oct. 13, 1859, Mr. James Humphrey, Jr., became

editor and proprietor of the Enquirer. He was an

extremely bright, caustic writer, and edited the paper

throughout the war till April 13, 1865, when he sold

it to Henry E. Wing and Alexander B. Shumway,

the former acting as editor, and the latter as pub-

lisher. George A. Hickox, the present editor, suc-

ceeded Wing, July 29, 1866, and became sole pro-

prietor in 1869. The Enquirer started as an indepen-

dent paper, and has been such for several years past

;

but in its intermediate period, it was a party paper,

—

first Whig and then Kepublican in politics. Its orig-

inal size was five columns. In 1845, Mr. Kilbourne

enlarged it to six columns. In 1860, Mr. Humphrey
made it a seven-column paper ; and, in 1872, Mr.

Hickox added another column, making it about

double the original size. It has always been fairly

prosperous, with a good subscription-list for a local

paper.

The Litchfield Gazette was commenced in January,

1808, by Messrs. Charles Hosmer and Oliver Good-

win, and was discontinued May 17, 1809.

Isaiah Bunce came to this town soon after, and

commenced The Litchfield Journal, the name of which

was changed to The Litchfield Republican in 1819

;

which, in turn, was succeeded by The Miscellawj, a

small quarto, in July, 1821. In September, 1822,

Mr. Bunce began the publication of The American

Eagle, which he removed to New Haven in March,

1826. Mr. Bunce was a man of enterprise, and estab-

lished a bookstore, reading-room, and circulating

library, and was for a few years a justice of the

peace.

Nov. 3, 1833, Melzer Gardner, from Hartford, com-

menced TIte Litchfield Democrat, which was discon-

tinued in September, 1834. Subsequently, while

editing a paper in Richmond, Va., Gardner was

shot on board a steamboat near that city by a man
to whom he had given otl'ense by an article which he

had published.

The L^ilchfield Sun was started by John M. Baldwin

(a native of this town) in February, 1835, who sold

out to S. G. Hayes, of New Haven, in September,

1837, who discontinued it in April, 1839.

In January, 1840, Charles E. Moss & Co. com-

menced The Mercury, which was transferred to Josiah

Giles in the following August. It was discontinued

some time in 1842. Tlie Mercury was soon succeeded

by The Democratic Watchman, also published by Mr.

Giles, which was discontinued in 1844.

In 1845, J. K. Averill commenced the New Milford

Republican, at New Milford; in September, 1846, he

removed his oflice to this village, and changed the

name of his paper to the Litchfield Republican. W.
F. & G. H. Baldwin, Albert Stoddard, and Franklin

Hull successively continued the publication of the

Republican. In 1856 the oflice was removed to Falls

Village, where it was issued under the name of

The Housatonic Republican, and subsequently dis-

continued.

Tlie Litchfield Sentinel was started about the year

1865, by S. H. Baldwin, with J. D. Champlin, Jr., as

editor. It was owned successively by Mr. Champlin,

Solon B. Johnson, and J. R. Farnum, and in 1873 the

material was purchased by G. A. Hickox, the present

proprietor of the Litchfield Enquirer.

THE LITCHFIELD LAW-SCHOOL.

This institution, the first of the kind in this country,

was established by Hon. Tapping Reeve in 1784. He
conducted it as sole principal until 1798, when the

Hon. James Gould, LL.D., became associated with

him in its management. From 1820, Judge Gould

conducted the school alone for several years, and was

then assisted by Hon. Jabez W. Huntington. In con-

sequence of the failing health of Judge Gould, it was

discontinued in 1833. The Litchfield Law-School

was a celebrated institution, and at the time of its

close the number of students had been one thousand
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and twenty-four, every State in the Union having

been represented. Of this number fifteen became

United States senators ; fifty, members of Congress

;

forty, judges of the higher State courts; ten, governors

of States ; five, cabinet officers,—Calhoun, Woodbury,
Mason, Clayton, and Hubbard ; two, justices of the

United States Supreme Court,—Henry Baldwin and
Levi Woodbury ; one, Vice-President of the United

States,—John C. Calhoun ;
and several foreign minis-

ters, among whom was Hon. John Y. Mason, minister

to France.

POST-OFFICE.

The Litchfield post-oflice was established in 1791.

The following announcement appeared in the Litch-

field Monitor in January of that year

:

POST-OFFICE ESTABLISHMENT.

"The Public, ptirticularly Gentlemen in the Town and Vicinity of

Litchfield, have some time lanietited the want of a regular and weekly

Intercourse with the City of Hartford, by a Post immediately fi-oui this

Town, are respectfully assured that a Post, in conjunction with Mr. Isaac

Trowbridge, the Rider from New York, will start from this Otfice for

Hartford regnliirly once a week, commencing on Monday next, the 3l8t

inst. Tliis Establishment has met the Sanction and Encouragement of

Mr. Trowbridge, and the Undertakers wil be subject to the same Regu-

lations and Responsibility required by the Postmaster General. Conse-

quently, every Duty annexed to the Business will be strictly and point-

edly observed.

"And that the Public may be better accommodated, and derive a sitfe

Repository for their letters, Ac., a POST-OFFICE is opened in Collier's

Pjinting Olfice, at whicli Place all Despatches to be transmitletl through

the Sledium of either Post must be deposited. During the Winter (and

till the 1st of May next) the Post from Xew York will ride once a fort-

night, and arrive on Tuesday Eveiuiig, coiiinioncing the olh of the en-

suing month. Those who have Business or Lettora are refjuested to leave

their directions at this office, for New York on Tit-siliy, for Hartford on
Saltirdfiy Evenings, preceding the days of departure, as the Post will

positively start at an Early Hour. Letters will be received at this oBico

for any part of the United States.

" LiTcnriELD, Jan. 24, 1791."

The following is a list of postma.<sters from the es-

tablishment of the office to the pre.sent time: Benja-
min Tallmadge, Frederick Wolcott, .Moses Seymour,
Jr., Charles Seymour, George C. Woodrurt', Jason
AVhiting, Reuben M. Woodruff, Leverett W. Wessells,

George H. Baldwin, It. Marsh, and H. E. Gates.

THE PHCENIX BRANCH BANK
was incorporated in 1814. The following were its offi-

cers until it was discontinued Dec. 15, 1864:

/Ve«i./<;ii(».—Benjajuin Tallmadge, l«14-20; Jaii.ea Gould, 1820-33; Am
Bacon, 183;MC, ; Thei-on Ileacli, 184ll-,'>2 ; George C. Woudruff, IHi2-(M.

Oii»;iier».—James Ilutlor, lXH-21 ; Austin Klll.mru, ls21-20; Henry A.
Perkins, 1820-28

;
Charles Spencer, 1828-:Hi ; Therun Beach, 1838-30;

Oustavls F. Davis, 1830-51; Henry R. Coil, 1851-lH.

THE FIRST NATIOXAI, BANK
was organized Dec. 22, 18tJ4. The first bonnl of di-

rectors were Edwin McNeil, David C. Whiulcsoy,
Henry W. Bucl, Frederick D. McNiil, ami Henry U.
Coit. Tiie following is a list of the ilirectors from
the organization to present time:

Edwin McNeil, 1864-76 ; Henry W. lluel, Darld C. WliltlleWT, Fr«l-
crick D. .McNeil, 1804-81

; l),,vld K. Ctwlck, 1^C«-T3; J. Penilng
Perkins, 187:1-75; Charles B. Andrews. Henry R. Colt, 1873-81.

PrMi.le.i/1..—Mwln McNeil, l8(,4-73; Henry R. Coll, 1875-81.

CWii^rt.—Henry R. Coll, 1804-73; Goorgo E. Joiici, 1873-81.

10

The capital is §200,000; surplus, Jan. 1, 1881,

$40,000 ; dividends since the organization to Jan. 1,

1881, $345,000.

TIIE LITCHFIELD BANK

was incorporated in 1856, and organized in 1857, with

William H. Crossman president, and Edward L.

Houghton secretary. It was discontinued.

LITCHFIELD SAVIXGS SOCIETY.

This society was incorporated in 1850 by Seth P.

Beers, Theron Beach, Edwin B. Webster, Josiah G.

Beckwith, George Seymour, Oliver Goodwin, Gustavus

F. Davis, William F. Baldwin, Samuel P. Bolles,

George C. Woodruff, G. H. Hollister, Ozias Seymour,

Charles S. Webb, Charles Adams, and Jason Whiting.

The first president was George C. Woodrufl"; vice-

president, S. P. Bolles ; secretary and treasurer, G. F.

Davis.

/"resi^nh.—1850-53, Georgo C. Woodruff; 1853-56, J. G. Beckwith ; 1S5G-

02, Jason Whiting; IS73-78, Edward W. Seymour; 1878, George C.

WoodrulT, still in office.

Stciv(aii.»u«(/ IVwumrers.—1830-51, G.T.Davis; 1S51-52, S. P. Bolles;

1852-75, H. R. Coit ; 1873, George E. Jones; 1876, U. R. Cidt, still in

office.

Regular semi-annii;il dividends from five to six per

cent, per annum have been paid since organization,

with extra dividends of two per cent, per year from

1867 to 1872.

The pre-sent directors arc George C. Woodruff,

George M. Woodruff, F. D. McNeil, William H.

Brainan, Jesse L. Judd.

Deposits, :f715,000; surplus, $31,000.

SPniXO HILL, ..

a home for nervous invalids, was opened in the year

1858 l)y Dr. H. W. Biiel. The design of the liome

is to afford the most thorougli medical cure and treat-

ment, combined, as far as may be, with the family

life. Under this plan tiie very best results have been

and still are attained. Connected with tlio home are

some three hundred acres of land, lying just in the

border of the village, and affording ample grounds

for recreation un<l amiiseinent. A cultivated huly

acts as matron, ami accommodations are provided for

from twenty to twenty-five ladie.-« and gentlemen,

under the personal care and supervision of Dr. Bucl

himself.

Thi: Litchfield Mitiai. Firk Issirance

Company was organized in 1833, with Phincas

Miller president, Le<inard Goodwin secretjiry, and

Oliver Goodwin treasurer.

Till-: LiT<iiKiKi.i> IlisTiiRitAL SOCIETY was or-

ganized in 1856, with Seth 1'. Beers president.

The Lin hkielh Aokk lltiual Society was

incorporateil in 1H18.

Tin: LinnFiELK (New Bantam) Vigilant

Society was organized in 1828.
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ST. PAUL'S LODGE, No. 11, F. AND A. M.

The charter of this lodge was issued by the Grand
Lodge of Connecticut, June 1, 1781, to the following

petitioners : James Nichols, John Watkins, Thomas
Phillips, Eaton Jones, Benjamin Hanks, John Collins,

Noah Blakesley, William Diirkee, Daniel Starr, John
Colvill, John Kettle, Josiah Norton, and Adino Hale.

The lodge was organized June 13, 1781. The follow-

ing is a list of Masters Irom its organization to 1881

:

Ashliel HaWwin, 1781-82; Bciijnniiu Hanks, 1TS2-8G ; Jonathan Kettle,

17Sr.-88; Julius Deniinp, 1788-90; Isaac Baldwin, Jr., 1790-93;

Epliraim Kirliy, 1793-115; John Allen, 179.5-08; Epliraini Kirby,

1798-99; Isaac liaUhviu, Jr., 1799-1801 ; Ephraini Kirl.y, lSOl-3
;

Aaron Sniitll, 1803-0 ; Peter Sherman, 1800-8 ; Aarun Smith, 1808

-12; Eoger Cooli, 1812-14 ; Lucius Smitli, 1811-15; Elijah Adams,
1815-10; Lucius Smith, 1810-19; David Marsh, 1819-22; James Win-
ship, 1832-2:i; riiiueas Lord, 182:1-24; Pliineas D. Tavlor, 1824-28;

Frederick Buel, 1828-31
; Ileman W. Cliilds, 1831-37; Samuel Bucl

(2d), 1837-43; Stephen Deming, 1843-40; Charles L. Welih, 1840-49;

I'hincas B. Tajlor, IS40-,''iO; Frcdeiick Buel, 1850-52
; Frederick!).

Becman, 1632-54; David E. Bostwick, 18.54-00
; Eli D. Weeks, 1800-

08; Ale.\audor B. Shunuvay, 1808-70; Elhert G. liobcrts, 1870-71;

Edson Staples, 1871-73
; Samuel W. Ensign, 1873-74

; William Dem-
ing, 1874-75

; Charles II, Plait, 1875-77; Walter K. Peck, 1877-79;

Jantes J. Newcomh, 1879-80.

MINER.iLS.

It was thought at one time that the mineral de-

posits in this town were of great value, particularly

copper, and companies were organized for working the

"mine." All, however, were unsuccessful. P. T.

Barnuin was at the head of one of these companies.

TU.MPERANCE IN LITCHFIELD IN 1789.

The first teinijerance organization in this State, and
probably the first in the world, was organized in

Litchfield in 1780, as follows :

" So many are the avenues leading to human misery that it is inipos-

sihle to guard them all. Such evils as are produced by our own folly

and weaUiU'ss are williiu our power to avoid. The immoderate use

which the people of this State make of Distilled Spirits is undoubtedly
au evil of this kind. It is obvious to every person of the smallest obser-

vation that from this pernicious practice follows a train of evils difficult

to lie euuiuerated. The morals are corrupted, property is e.\haustcd,and

health destroyed. And it is most sincerely to be regretted that from a
mistaken idea that distilled spirits are uecessary to laboiijig men, to

counteract the iiitluence of heat and give relief from severe fatigue, that

a most valuable class of citizens have been led to ccuitract a habit of such
dangerous tendency. Hence arises the inability to pay public ta.ies, to

discharge private debts, and to support and educate families. Seriously

considei ing this subject, and the frowns of Divine Providence in denyiu"-

many families in this part of the country the means of a comfortable sub-

sistence the present year by failure of the principal crops of the eaith, we
think it peculiarly the duty of every good cilizeu to unite his efforts to

reform a practice which leads so nniny to poverty, distress, and ruin.

AVhereupou we do hereby as.sociate, and mutually agree, that hereafter

we will carry on our business without the use of distilled spirits as an
article of refieshment, eitlier for ourselves or those wdiom we employ,
and that instead tliereof we will serve our workmen with wholesome
food and common simple drinks of our own production,

"Benj.aTnin Kirby, Archibald .McNeil,

Timothy Skiuner, Abraham Bradley,

David Buel, I, Baldwin, Jr.,

Julius Deniing, T. Reeve,

Bejijamin Tallmadge, Collier .t Adam,
Uriah Tracy, Tobias Cleaver,

Ebenezer Blaish, Amos Galpin,

Moses Seymour, Tliouuis Trowbridge,

Samuel Mai-sh, S. Shethar,

James Stone, Solomon Buel,

Samuel Seymour, Bryant Stoddard,

Daniel Sheldon, Abraham Peck,

Ozias Lewis, Frederick Wolcott,

Lawrence Wessells, Nathaniel Smith (2d),

Eli,jah W.adsworth, John Allen,

Alexander Catlin, John Welch,

Reuben Smith, Arthur Emmons."
Lynde Lord,

" By Necessity and on Principle.inconsequenceoflittleexperimentand

much observation, I have effectually adoj.ted and adhered to the salu-

tary plan herein projmsed during several months past, and am still re-

solved to persevere until convinced that any alteration will be productive

of some greater good, whereof at present I have no apprehensions whilst

Human Nature remains the same.
" LiTciiriEi.n, 9th of May, 1789. J. STRONG."

SLAVERY IN LITCHFIELD.

Slavery can hardly be said to have existed in this

town during the present century, and it has for years

been extinct. In the year 1800 only seven blacks

were accounted slaves, though some born such are

still living. During the eighteenth century, however,

it existed here in a mild form, as it did in other parts

of the State. The records of Wills and Distribution

show that a considerable proportion of the personal

estate of the most opulent of our early settlers con-

sisted of negro servants.

The following document, executed by the first Gov-
ernor Oliver Wolcott, we find on our town records

:

" Know all meu by those presents that I, Oliver Wolcott, of Litchfield,

in the State of Connecticut, in expectation that my negro servant man,
Caesar, will, by his iudustry, be able to obtain a comfortable subsistence

for himself, aiul that he will nnike a jrroper use of the freedom which I

hereby give liim, do discharge, liberate, and set free, him, the said Ca;sar,

and do Iiereby exempt him from any further obligations of servitude to

me, my heii-s, and from every other person claiming any authority over

him, by, from, or under me. And that my said servant, whom I now
nuike fi ee, as aforesaid, may be kuow n hereafter by a proper cognomen,

I hereby jiiw hiiu the name of .Tamus, so that hereafter he is to be

known and distinguished by the name of Ca-sar Jamus. As witness my
hand and seal, in Litchfield, Nov. 23, a.d. 1780.

'•OLIVER WOLCOTT. [l. s.]

"In presence of

"Mary Ann Wolcott,
" Frkdehick Wolcott."

During the latter part of the last century the blacks,

in imitation of the whites, chose for themselves a

Governor and other State officials. Their last Gov-

ernor was Will, a resident of this town, whose obitu-

ary appears in the Monitor of Wednesday, March 6,

1793, as follows :

" Died, on Thursday, of consumption, M'ill, a free negro (formerly

owned by MaJ. Seymour), governor of the blacks in this vicinity. His

integiity and faithfulness through life wilt, we hope, entitle him to the

rewards of the (jood and/aUhfvl serreui."*

" As was the case with the settlers of the New Eng-

land towns generally, the founders of Litchfield re-

garded the subject of education as a matter of primary

importance. As stated elsewhere, one-sixtieth j^art

of the township (about seven hundred acres) was

originally set apart for the support of schools. In

December, 1725, eight pounds were appropriated from

the town treasury ' for hiring schoolmasters and

school-dames' to instruct the children in reading and

* Judge Woodruff.
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writing for the year next ensuing, and a like sum was

ordered to be raised by a tax upon tlie parents or

guardians of the children, to be gathered by the

town collector. Messrs. Marsh, Buel, Hosford, and

Goodrich were chosen a school committee. Two years

later ten pounds were paid out of the public treasury

for the same object, with the proviso that four pounds

of this sum should be given for the support of a

writing-school, and the balance ' for teaching of chil-

dren by school-dames,' from which we are to infer

that the female teachers did not give instruction in

loriting. The first reference made by the records rel-

ative to building a school-house is contained in the

doings of a town-meeting held Dec. 23, 1731,—Mr.

Joseph Kilbourn, moderator,—which is as follows:

"
' Voted to build a school-lioiise in ye center of ye town, on ye Meet-

ing-Huuse Green; and Joseph Kilbourn, Jr., Ebeuezcr Marsh, and Jolin

Giiy were chosen a committee to carry on said worli.'

"

" At the same time it was voted to build the school-

house twenty feet square. The school committee were

authorized to hire a schoolmaster, and set up a school

during the succeeding fall and winter.

" Messrs. Jacob Griswold and Benjamin Gibbs were

appointed in December, 1727, to run the lines and

set up monuments 'between the school-lots and Pine

Island.'

" The question as to how the school-lands should

be disposed of to the best advantage appears to have

been very difficult to settle. On the 12th of March,

1729, it was voted to sell them for one thousand pounds,

and Jlessrs. Marsh and Bird were designated to man-

age the sale. Some one, doubtless, called in question

the right of the town to make such a sale, as a week

later the inhabitants, in general town-meeting con-

vened, appointed IVIr. Marsii their agent to apply to

the General Asseml)]y ' for liberty to make sale of the

school-lands in Litchfield.' The application was un-

successful, but the people soon found a way to evade

the letter of the law. On the 29th of November,

1729, it was ' voted that the school right in Litch-

field should be leased nut for the maintenance of a

school in said Litchfield for nine hundred iind ninety-

nine years ensuing.' Messrs. Marsh, Buel, Hosford,

and Bird, were appointed a committee to lease the

lands accordingly. As if apprehensive that even

this lease might ultimately expire and thus give

their descendants unnecessary trouble, with a far-

reaching glance into futurity, they proceeded to

bind their successors 'in ye recognizance often thou-

sand pounds lawful money, to give a new lease of said

Right at the end of said term of nine hundred and
ninety-nine years //' there shull be orcajiion.'

"

In pursuance of these votes the committee appointed

for that purpose, on the li5th of April, 1730, leased to

sundry individuals the school right for the time des-

ignated ; the grantee paying twenty-seven pounds
annually for eight years for tlie support of the school,

and the ninth year paying to the selectmen four

hundred and fifty ]>ouuds, to be forever kept for the

support of a school in Litchfield. To the lease was

annexed the following

:

" Postscript—Before signing and sealing, the above-mentioned signei-s

and sealers agreed, that whoever occupies and improves all the above

land or lands, or any part of ttiem, shall pay all rates or taxes that shall

arise upon them or any part of them during the whole term of the

lease."

In the year 1867 it was " voted to divide the money

for which the school right was sold between the old so-

ciety, the South Farms Society, and the Church of

England in proportion to the list of each part."

In addition to the law-school mentioned on a pre-

vious page, the following educational institutions

flourished here, all of which are now extinct : Litch-

field Female Academy (incorporated in 1827), the Elm
Park Collegiate Instutute, the Wolcott Institute, and

the Gould Seminary. (For present condition of

schools see Chapter VIII.)

EXECUTIONS.

It is believed that no native of Litchfield was ever

convicted of murder, and that willful murder was

never committed by or upon a white man within the

limits of this town. In 1708 an Indian, named John
Jacob, was hanged for the murder of another Indian.

In November, 17.S."), Thomas Goss, of Barkhamsted.

was executed for the murder of his wife. In these

days he would have been acquitted on the ground of

insanity. On the plea that his wife was a witch, he

split her head open with an axe. Though at times

apparently rational, he .sometimes declared that he

was the .second Lamb of God, that ho was brother of

Jesus Christ, and that he was the child born of the

woman mentioned in the Revelation of St. John,

"before whom the dragon stood ready to devour the

child ;" he forbade his counsel to apply for a reprieve,

declared the sheritf could not hang liim, etc. May 8,

1780, Barnet Davenport, aged twenty years, was ex-

ecuted for murder and arson in Washington. Resid-

ing as a laborer in the family of Caleb Mallory, he

entered the sleeping-room of Mr. and Mrs. Mallory

at midnight and heat them to death with a club, and
' their little grandchild shared the same fate. .Vftcr

rol>bing the house and setting it on fire the murderer

fled, leaving two other persons asleep who perishc<l in

j

the Hames. These persons, it is understood, were ex-

I ecuted in Gallows Lane, in this village. Other con-

!
vietions for capital crimcj have taken place before the

courts, but these are the only individuals who have

I

ever suffered the extreme penalty of the law in this

I

county.

ASSIGNED TO SERVICE FOR DEIiT.

j

Formerly, by a law of this State, if debtors had no

other means to pay their debts they were a-nsigiied in

,
service for that purpose. And it is said to have been

I

common for poor foreigners, who could not pay their

passage money, to stipulate with the captain of the

ship that he might assign them to raise the money.

;
I'ersons so assigned were called redcmptioners, uud
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several were so held in service in this town. Among
them was Matthew Lyon, a native of Ireland, who

was assigned to Hugh Hannah, of Litchfield, for a

pair of stags valued at twelve pounds. Lyon was

afterwards a member of Congress from Vermont and

from Kentucky. He was convicted under the famous

alien and sedition law, and fined. The fine was sub-

sequently remitted by Congress to him or his heirs.

BANTAM FALLS

is a pleasant village about four miles west of Litch-

field, a station on the Shepaug Railroad, situated on

the Bantam River, which here falls one hundred and

twenty-five feet in a distance of less than three-

quarters of a mile, an excellent site for manufactur-

ing, as, in addition to the great descent of the river,

it has the advantage of Bantam Lake for a reservoir.

This picturesque lake has a superficial area of about

one thousand acres, the outflow being controlled per-

fectly by a dam fourteen feet in width, about half a

mile from the lake. There are several manufacturing

establishments now in operation,—a cotton-mill, a

very complete grist- and flouring-mill, a successful

carriage-factory, also several dams and unoccupied

mill-sites. There are also two thriving stores, one of

which is owned by the postmaster and used as a post-

office. It is connected by telephone with Litchfield,

and the railroad telegraph passes through the village.

With the unfailing water-power, which has stood the

test of the severe droughts and frost of past years, the

inhabitants of Bantam anticipate a future of great

prosperity.

The west side of Bantam Lake has attracted much
notice from visitors by reason of the picturesque views

from the road, which passes along closely hugging the

water. One of Brooklyn's world-famous divines, who

is also a great traveler, declares that in all his travels

he has seen nothing more lovely than this drive.

The cotton-mill referred to above was built in 1876

-77 by Dorsey Neville & George E. Jones. Its pro-

duction has been doubled since business commenced.

The carriage-factoiy is the property of Flynn &
Doyle. The flouring-mill belongs to E. McNeill, the

gate at the outlet of the lake being owned and con-

trolled by G. E. Jones.

NORTHFIELD

is a hamlet located in the southeastern part of the

town. It was incorporated as a parish in 1794.

THE NORTHFIELD KNIFE COMPANY

was organized and incorporated in January, 1858, as

a joint stock corporation, the original stock of ten

thousand dollars being taken by some forty workmen,

only a small portion of the capital being paid in at

the start. The company then leased the buildings

and water-power of the Northfield Manufacturing

Company (organized several years previous for the

manufacture of carriages and a variety of other goods,

and which venture proved unrenumerative), and in

their factory, then nearly new, commenced the man-
ufacture of pocket-cutlery. John S. Barnes, a native

of Sheffield, England, was elected jjresident of the

corporation, and held that office for about four years.

Then Samuel Mason, the former secretary, also from

Sheffield, was chosen president, continuing in that

office for about three years, when (in January, 186.5)

the management of the business was placed in the

hands of F. H. Catlin, of Northfield, he being elected

president of the corporation, and which management
and office he has had since that time and still retains.

In 1865 this company purchased the entire property

of the Northfield Manufacturing Company, including

a good water-power, with a fall of over fifty feet,

which they have since greatly improved by the build-

ing of large reservoirs on the two streams whose waters

they control. They have also erected additional fac-

tory buildings, numerous dwellings, and a fine store,

and provided the village with an increased mail ser-

vice. Their cutlery has always ranked high for

quality, and has achieved an enviable reputation. It

received high awards at the Centennial Exhibition at

Philadelphia, in 1876, and at the Paris Exhibition of

1878, is well and favorably known in nearly every

State and Territory of the Union, and has been sold

for export to several foreign countries. The difterent

styles of pocket-knives kejjt in stock by this company
number about four hundred, while their exhibit at

Philadelphia comprised about eight hundred, and

that at Paris about nine hundred styles. The annual

business is about one hundred thousand dollars, em-

ploying about seventy-five operatives, nearly all of

whom are skilled Sheffield workmen, many of whom,
together with their families, the company has brought

over from England.

The present officers of the company are F. H. Cat-

lin president and treasurer, and J. Howard Catlin

secretary.

MILTON

is a hamlet located in the northwestern part of the

town, and was incorporated as a parish in 1795.

BIOGRAPHICAL NOTES.'?

Samuel Adams, a native of Milford and long a resi-

dent of Stratford, came to this village to reside a few

years previous to his death, which took place here

Nov. 12, 1788, in the eighty-fifth year of his age. He
had been a prominent lawyer and judge of the Fair-

field County Court. His widow, Mrs. Mary Adams,

died in this town, Aug. 29, 1803, in (he one hundred

and sLrth year of her age. " She retained," says the

Monitor, " her memory, reason, and activity remark-

ably until about two years before her death. After

she was an hundred years old she rode on horseback

thirty miles in one day." She was a daughter of Mr.

* Condensed from " Kilbourue^e History of Litchfield.'*
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Zachariah Faircliild, and was born in Stratford, May
7, 1698 ; thus having lived in three centuries.

John Allen, a native of Great Harrington, Mass.,

was admitted to the Litchfield bar in 1786, and con-

tinued to reside here as a practicing lawyer until his

death, in the year 1812. He was a representative at

seven sessions ; clerk of the House in 1796 ; member
of Congress from 1797 to 1799 ; and member of the

State Council from 1800 to 1806. He not only pos-

sessed great powers of mind, but was remarkable for

his imposing presence, having been nearly seven feet

in height, and with a proportionably heavy frame.

John W. Allen, son of the preceding, was born in

Litchfield, but left his native town soon after the

death of his father. Having studied law, he settled

in Cleveland, Ohio, where he became eminent in his

profession.

Rev. Horace Agard, son of Mr. Noah Agard, was

born in Litchfield, received a license to ])reach from

the Methodist Conference, and for some time labored

successfully in his native town. He was subsequently

presiding elder of the Susquehanna and Berkshire

districts. He died Jan. 8, 1850.

Epaphroditus Champion Bacon was born in Litch-

field in 1811 ;
graduated at Yale College in 183.3, and

settled in his native town as a lawyer. In 1839 he

was a delegate to and secretary of the National Con-

vention which met at Harrisburg and nominated Gen.

Harrison for the Presidency of the United States.

Mr. Bacon was elected a rei)resentative from this town

in 1840, and again in 1841. Wiiile traveling in

Europe, he died at Seville, Spain, Jan. 11, 1845, aged

thirty-four years.

Lieut. Frederick A. Bacon, son of Asa Bacon, Esq.,

was born in Litchfield in 1813; entered the navy in

his youth, and was attaclied to the United Statt-s

schooner "Sea Gull," of the exploring expedition,

which foundered ofl" Cape Horn, May 1, 1839, and

all on board perished. He was twenty-six years of

age.

Gen. Francis Bacon, youngest son of Asa Bacon,

Esq., was born in Litchfield in January, 1820; gradu-

ated at Yale College in 1829; stuilied law with the

Hon. O. S. Seymour, and settled ua i\ lawyer in his

native town. With the exception of two or three

years he continued to reside here until his death.

In 1847 and 1848 he was first clerk of the Hou.se;

and in 1849 he was elected to the senate of this Slate.

He was also major-gcnoral of nil the militia of Con-

necticut. He died in this town, Sept. 16, 1849.

Isaac Baldwin graduated at Yale College in 1735,

settled in Litchfield in 1742, and died here Jan. 15,

1805, aged ninety-five years. He was a representative

at ten sessions, clerk of the Probate Court twenty-nine

years, town clerk thirty -one years, ami clerk of the

Court of Common Pleas forty-two years.

lU'v. Ashbel Baldwin, son of Isaac Baldwin, Esq.,

was born In Litchfield, March 7, 1757, and gniduated

at Yale College in 1776. He was onlained deacon at

Middletown, by Bishop Seabury, Aug. 3, 1785, beinr;

the first Episcopal ordination in the United States. In

September following he was ordained priest by the

same bishop. From 1785 to 1793 he was rector of St.

Michael's Church in this town, and was afterwards

for about thirty years rector of Christ Church, Strat-

ford. He was secretary of the diocese of Connecticut,

and member of the general convention. Mr. Bald-

win died in Rochester, N. Y., Feb. 8, 1846, in his

eighty-ninth year. From his register it appears that

he had preached and performed service about ten

thousand times ; baptized three thousand and ten

persons ; married six hundred couple ; and buried

about three thousand persons

!

William B. Baldwin, son of Capt. Horac? and

grandson of Isaac Baldwin, Esq., was born in Litch-

field, Jan. 7, 1803, and for more than twenty years

was one of the editors and proprietors of the New
Haven daily and weekly Heijister.

Amos Barnes, son of Mr. Enos Barnes, was born in

Litchfield. He was an oiBcer in actual service in the

last war with Great Britain.

Lyman Beecher, D.D., was born in New Haven,

Oct. 12, 1775 ;
graduated at Yale College in 1797, and

was ordained pa.stor of a church in East Hampton,

L. I., in December, 1798, with a salary of three hun-

dred dollars per year. In 1810, at the age of thirty-

five years, he was installed |)astor of the First Church

in Litchfield, and remained here in that capacity for

a period of sixteen years. This was, as he himself

states, by far the most active and laborious part of

his life. In addition to his ordinary pastoral services,

he was probably more conspicuously identified with

the establishment of the great benevolent a-ssociations

of the day than any other country p.istor in New
England. Returning full of zeal from the first

meeting of the American Boartl of Cumniissioners

for Foreign Missions in 1812, he called together, in

this village, several clergymen ami laymen fron\ vari-

ous parts of the county, who organized the Litchfield

County Foreign Mission Society, the first auxiliary

of the American boanl. He was active in all the

reforms of that period. Hi' was three times married.

Rev. Henry Ward lleeclicr wa.s born in Litchfield,

June 24, 1813; graduated at .Vinlierst College in lS;t4;

was licensed to preach in April, 1838; and was settled

as pastor of a church in Lawrenceburg, Ind., in the

fall of the same year. From August, l«.39, to October,

1847, he was piustor of a church in Indianapolis, Ind.

;

anil since the last named ilate he has been pastor ot

the Plymouth Church, Brooklyn, N. Y.

John Bird, son of Dr. Seth Bird, was bom in Litch-

field, Nov. 22, 1768 ;
graduated at Yale College in 1786

;

practice<l law for a few years in his native town ; re-

moved to Troy, N. Y., in 1794, ami die<l there in the

year 18(Hi, aged thirty-eight years. He had been a

meml)er of the Legislature of New York, and a mem-

ber of Congress from that State. F]jc- President Van

Duron, in speaking of him, said,

—
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"John Bird I diJ not know perBonally, but have always taken much
interest in liis cliaracter ami career. lie must, according to all accounts,

have been one of the very ablest men in the State, though a very eccen-

tric one. There have been but few men among us who have left behind

them 60 many racy auecdotes illustrative of their peculiarities."

His first wife was a daughter of Col. Joshua Porter,

of Salisbury ; his second wife was Sally Buel, daughter

of Mr. David Buel, of Troy, formerly of this town.

He loft several children.

Gen. John Ward Birge was boru in Litchfield, Jan.

7, 1803, and in his youth went to reside with an uncle

in Cazenovia, N. Y. He received his medical degree

at Geneva College, and was a successful practitioner

in Utica, where, as a surgeon and oculist, he had a

high reputation.

George Beckwith Bissell, son of Mr. John Bissell,

was born in Litchfield, Sept. 12, 1823 ; entered the

United States navy in his youth. In August, 1840,

he was attached to the United States brig " Truxton"
when she was wrecked on the coast of Mexico, and
with others was seized and held as a prisoner of

war. On his release he made a visit to his native

town ; but soon rejoined the navy, and for eighteen

months was attached to the scientific department at

Washington. He joined the frigate "Cumberland"
in New York, as sailing-master, on the 81st of August,

and died at the naval hospital in Brooklyn, Sept. 10,

1848, aged twenty-five years.

Lyman Bissell, son of Mr. Hiram Bi.ssell, was born

in Litchfield, Oct. 19, 1812; was captain in the United

States army, and paymaster of the New England reg-

iment in the war with Mexico.

John P. Brace was born in Litchfield, Feb. 10, 1793
;

graduated at Williams College in 1812; and was for

some years principal of the Litchfield Female Acad-
emy, and subsequently of the Hartford Female Semi-

nary. For a long time he was one of the editors of

the Hartford Courant.

Charles Loring Brace, the celebrated traveler, is a

son of John P. Br.ace, Esq., and was born in Litchfield,

June 19, 1826. Having graduated at Yale College in

1846 and pursued a course of theological studies, he

spent several years traveling in Europe, as a part of

the fruits of which he has given to the public three

or four very interesting volumes,—viz., " Hungary in

1851," "Home Life in Germany," " The Norse Folk,"

etc. In May, 1851, during the Hungarian struggle for

independence, Mr. Brace was seized as a spy by the

Austrian authorities and imprisoned at Gross War-
dein ; but after a lapse of thirty days he was released

through the intervention of Mr. McCurdy, then Ameri-

can minister to Austria.

Abraham Bradley, son of Abraham Bradley, Esq.,

was born in Litchfield, Feb. 21, 1767, studied law, and
became a judge in Luzerne Co., Pa. From 1799 to

1829 he was first assistant postmaster-general of the

United States.

Dr. Phineas Bradley, brother of the preceding, was
born in Litchfield, July 17, 1769; m,arried Hannah
Jones, of this town, and settled here as a physician

and druggist. When the oifice of second assistant

postmaster-general was created by Congress, Dr. Brad-

ley was appointed and retained the position for about

twenty-five years. He was a gentleman of wealth, and
distinguished for his hospitality and benevolence. He
died at his beautiful seat, "Clover Hill," two miles

north of the national capital, in the spring of 1845,

aged seventy-six.

William A. Bradley, son of the preceding, was born

in Litchfield, July 25, 1794, and settled in Washing-
ton, D. C.

David Buel, Jr., was born in Litchfield, Oct. 22,

1784; graduated at Williams College in 1805; settled

as a lawyer in Troy, where he still resides. In 1821

he was a delegate to the constitutional convention of

his adopted State ; for some years held the office of

first judge of the Court of Common Pleas for Rens-

selaer County, and in 1842 he was elected a regent of

the State University. From 1829 to 1847, Judge Buel

was a trustee of Williams College.

Rev. Horace Bushnell, D.D., son of Ensign Bush-

nell, Esq., was born in Litchfield in 1802; graduated

at Yale College in 1827, and was a tutor in that insti-

tution from 1829 to 1831. For the last tweuty-seven

years he has been pastor of the North Congregational

Church in Hartford.

Julius Catlin, son of Mr. Grove Catlin, was born in

Harwinton in 1799. When he was about one year

old his parents removed to this village, and this con-

tinued to be his home for the succeeding twenty

years, though at the .age of fifteen he commenced his

clerkship in Hartford. He became a successful mer-

chant in that city, where he still resides. Many years

ago he was a director of the Connecticut branch of

the United States Bank, and was one of the commit-

tee appointed to wind up the afiairs of that institu-

tion, when the parent bank had been crushed by the

veto of Gen. Jackson. In 1846 he was appointed

commissary-general of the State, and subsequently he

held the ofl5ce of auditor of public accounts. The
President of the United States, in 1847, commissioned

Col. Catlin as a member of the board of visitors to the

National Military Academy at West Point. In the

autumn of 1856, Col. Catlin and ex-Governor Dutton

were chosen Presidential electors for the State at

large. At the annual election in April, 1858, he was

chosen Lieutenant-Governor of Connecticut, and was

re-elected.

Putnam Catlin, son of Mr. Eli Catlin, was born in

Litchfield, studied law with Gen. Tracy, and was ad-

mitted to the bar in this town in 1786. He settled in

Montrose, Pa., and there held the office of judge of

the Court of Common Pleas. He was the father of

George Catlin, the celebrated artist and historian ofthe

American Indians, who was himself educated in

Litchfield.

John Allen Collier, son of Capt. Thomas Collier,

editor of the Monitor, was born in Litchfield, Nov. 13,

1787 ; settled as a lawyer in Binghamton, Broome Co.,
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N. Y. He was a member of Congress, comptroller of

the State, commissioner to revise and codify the laws,

senatorial elector for President and Vice-President

of the United States, and delegate to and chairman of

the Whig National Convention of 1848.

Gen. James Collier, brother of the preceding, was

born in Litchiield, May 30, 1789 ; settled in the State

of New York, and was quartermaster and acting ad-

jutant at the battle of Queenstown, and participated

in that fight. In 1819 he removed to Steubcnville,

Ohio. He was a prominent citizen. .
.--

Julius Deming, an eminent merchant of Litchfield,

was born in Lyme, April 15, 1755, and about the year

1781 commenced business in this village. A gentle-

man of remarkable energy and enterprise, he soon

visited London, and made arrangements to import his

goods direct from that city, which, probably, was not

true of any other country merchant in Connecticut.

He wa.s universally recognized by the citizens as the

most thorough and successful business man who has

ever spent his life here. Prompt in his engagements,

scrupulously upright in his dealings, and discreet and

liberal in his benefactions, few men in any commu-

nity ever enjoyed more implicitly the confidence of

all. Mr. Deming had little taste for public life. He
was three times elected a member of the House of

Kepresentatives, and for several years was one of the

magistrates of this county. From 1801 to 1814 he

served in the office of county treasurer. His position

and influence were such that, had he l)een an aspirant

for political honors, there were few offices within the

gift of the people of this State which he might not

have filled. He died in this town, Jan. 2;!, 1838, aged

eighty-three years.

Miner R. Deming, son of Stephen Deming, Esq.,

was born in Sharon, Feb. 24, 1810; came to Litch-

field with liis parents in 1820, and contiiuied to reside

here for the ne.xt sixteen years. In 183C he removed

to Cincinnati; and in 1839 lie became a resident of

St. Mary's, 111. As brigadier-general he was ciiief in

command of the Illinois State troops during the fa-

mous Mormon war. Gen. Deming dic<l suddenly, of

brain fever, Sept. 10, 1845, while holding tiic ollice of

high sheritf of Hancock County.

Col. Fisher Gay, son of John Gay, Esq.. was born

in Litchfield, Oct. 9, 1733
;
graduated at Yale College,

and settled in Farmington, whore he was long n jus-

tice of the peace and representative. In the early

part of the Revolution he commanded a regiment of

Connecticut troops sent for the defense of New York,

in which city he died in 177().

Uriel Holmes, Jr., a native of Harlland, graduated

at Yale College in 1784, and settled in Litchfield as a

lawyer a few Jejirs subsequently. He was elected a

representative nine times, was a judge of the Litcli-

field County Court from 1814 to 1817, and during the

latttT year he was chosen a member of Congre.ss.

While residing in Lilclilield he was thrown from his

carriage in Canton, from the ellects of which lie died,

May 18, 1827, aged sixty-two. Judge Holmes mar-

ried a daughter of the Hon. Aaron Austin, and had

three children,—viz., Henry, M.D., a distinguished

physician in Hartford ; Uriel, who died July 4, 1818,

while a member of the theological seminary at An-

dover ; Caroline, who died young.

Charles P. Huntington, son of the Rev. Dan Hunt-

ington, was born in Litchfield, March 24, 1802
;
grad-

uated at Harvard College in 1822 ; settled as a lawyer

in Noj:Aampton, Mass. ; he filled various official

positions.

Col. Charles Kilbourn, son of Mr. David Kil-

bourn, was born in Litchfield, March 3, 1758 ; fled

to Canada in the Revolution, and finally settled near

Lake Memphremagog, in Stanstead, L. C, where he

erected mills of various kinds. The locality still

bears the name of Killbourn's Mills on many English

and American maps. In the war of 1812 he com-

manded a corps of provincial troops known as the

Frontier Light Infantry. Ho was also for many years

a magistrate, and justice of the Commissioners' Court.

Col. Kilbourn died in Stanstead, June 19, 1834, aged

seventy-six.

Ephraira Kirby, son of Mr. Abraham Kirby, was

born in Litchfield, Feb. 22, 1757; studieil law and

settled in his native town. He was often chosen a

representative; appointed supervisor of the national

revenue for the State of Connecticut in 1801, and

United States judge for the Territory of Louisiana in

1804. Willie on his way to New Orleans, whither

the duties of his office called him, lie died at Fort

Stoddard, Mississippi Territory, Oct. 2, 1S04, aged

forty-seven. Col. Kirby married Ruth, daughter of

Reynold Marvin, Esq., and left eight children. He
published a volume of law repoVts in 1789, the first in

the United States.

Maj. Reynold .M. Kirby, United States army, a son

of the |(receding, was born in Litchfield, March 13,

1790. For many years before his death he was assist-

ant adjutant-general of the army.

Col. Edmund Kirby, United States army, a brother

of the iireccding, was born in Litchfield, April 8, 1794

;

entered the army as a lieutenant in 1812; appointed

aid-de-canip to his father-in-law, Maj-(icn. Brown
;

served in the IJIackliawk, (.'reck, and Seminole wars
;

was chief of the pay department, ami ald-de-camp

to the commander-in-chief during the late war with

Mexico. He died at Avon Springs, N. Y., Aug. 20,

1849, aged fifty-five. On the election of President

Taylor, Col. Kirby was freiplently referred lo in the

publiu prints lus a probable member of the new

cabinet.

Rev. Ethan Osborn, son of Capt. John Osborn, was

born in Litchfield, Aug. 21, 1758
;
graduated at Dart-

mouth College in 1784, and was settlc<l as pastor of the

Congregational Cliunh in Fairfield, N. J., in 1789.

J.dm "S\. I'ock., D.L)., son of .Mr. Asa Peck, wiw

born in Litchiield, » let. 31, 1789, uiid became a cele-

brated Baptist preacher in Illinois.
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William V. Peck was born of Litchfield parents

in Cayuga Co., N. Y., where his father, Mr. Virgil

Peck, died during his iufanc}'. AVhen the subject of

this paragraph was three years old his mother re-

turned with him to this town, and subsequently mar-

ried Dr. Abel Catlin, in whose family he was brought

up. After spending about twenty years in this village

he settled as a lawyer in Ohio, and was a judge of the

Supreme Court of that State.

Professor William G. Peck, son of Mr. Alfred

Peck, was born in Litchfield, Oct. 16, 1820; gradu-

ated at West Point, where he was for a few years as-

sistant professor of mathematics. As lieutenant of

topographical engineers in the United States army,

he was associated with Col. Fremont in his celebrated

exploring expeditions. He has since been a professor

in the University of Michigan, and is now professor

of mathematics in Columbia College, New York.

He married Elizabeth M., daughter of Professor

Charles Davies, LL.D.

Samuel Sliethcr Phelps, son of Capt. John Phelps,

was born May 13, 1793; graduated at Yale College

and the Litchfield Law-School, and settled in Mid-
dlebury, Vt. Having been successively a paymaster

in the war of 1812, aid-de-camp to Governor Galusha,

colonel, nioniber of the Council of Censors, member
of the Legislative Council, and judge of the Supreme
Court, he was elected a senator in Congress in 1838,

an office which he held for twelve years. As a law-

yer and statesman he ranked with Clay, AVebster,

Crittenden, and Clayton. Judge Phelps died in 1857.

Col. John Pierce, son of Mr. John Pierce, of Litch-

field, early entered the jniblic service, and rose to tlie

rank of payma.ster-general in the army, and was a

commissioner for settling the accounts of the army.

Though his parents never resided out of Litchfield after

their marriage. Col. Pierce is said to have been born

at the house of his maternal grandfather, Maj. John
Patterson, in P^armington. Col. Pierce died in New
York, Aug. 6, 1788. He was a brother of the late

Miss Sarah Pierce, founder and principal of the Litch-

field Female Academy.
John Pierpont, son of Mr. James Pierpont, was

born in Litchfield, April 6, 1785; graduated at Yale
College and at the Litclifleld Law-School, and settled

in Newburyport, Mass., as a lawyer. Abandoning
the legal profession, he entered the ministry of the

Unitarian denomination, and was for many years

pastor of the Hollis Street Church, Boston.

Robert Pierpont, son of Mr. David Pierpont, was
born in Litchfield, May 4, 1791 ; studied law and set-

tled in Rutland, Vt. He was Lieutenant-Governor of

that State and judge of the Supreme Court.

John Pierpont, brother of the preceding, was born

in Litchfield, Sept. 10, 1805
;
graduated at the law-

school in this town, and settled in Vergennes, Vt.

He was a judge of the Supreme Court of that State.

Albert Sedgwick was born in Cornwall Hollow in

the year 1802; removed to Litchfield in 1830, and

continued to reside here for the succeeding twenty-five

years. In 1834 he was appointed high sheriff^ of this

county, an ofiice which he continued to hold (with the

exception of one term of three years) until 1854, when
he was appointed by the Legislature commissioner of

the school fund of Connecticut.

Horatio Seymour, LL.D., son of Maj. Moses Sey-

mour, was liorn in Litchfield, May 31, 1778
;
graduated

at Yale College and at the Litchfield Law-School, and

settled in Middlebury, Vt., where he died a year or

two since. He was a member of the State Council

from 1809 to 1816 ; and of the United States Senate

from 1821 to 1833. In 1834 he was the Whig candi-

date for Governor of Vermont, but the anti-Masonic

candidate was elected. He was also for a few years

judge of probate. Judge Seymour received the de-

gree of Doctor of Laws i'rom his alma mater in 1847.

Henry Seymour, brother of the preceding, was born

in Litchfield, May 30, 1780; settled as a merchant at

Pompey, Onondaga Co., N. Y., where he became

wealthy. Removing to Utica, he died there, Aug. 26,

1837. He was a representative, senator, canal com-

missioner, mayor of Utica, and president of the Far-

mers' Loan and Trust Company. Ex-Governor Ho-

ratio Seymour, LL.D., of New York, is his son.

Daniel Sheldon, Jr., son of Dr. Daniel Sheldon, was

born in the adjoining town of Washington in 1780,

and during the following year his parents removed to

Litchfield ; and here the subject of this sketch con-

tinued to reside until he entered public life. Gradu-

ating at the Litchfield Law-School in 1799, he accepted

a clerkship in the treasury department, and retained

it until the appointment of Mr. Gallatin as ambassador

to France, when he was nominated and confirmed as

secretary of legation to that country. AVhen the am-

bassador was recalled, Mr. Sheldon remained in France

as charge d'affaires until the arrival of Mr. Gallatin's

successor. He died in Marseilles, April 14, 1828,

aged forty-eight. His funeral was attended by all the

foreign ministers and consuls present in the city, and

the flags of all the American ships in port were placed

at half-mast.

Roger Skinner, son of Gen. Timothy Skinner, was

born in Litchfield, June 10, 1773; became a lawyer,

and removed from this town to Sandy Hill, N. Y''., in

1806, where he was elected a representative in 1810,

1811, and 1812, and a senator from 1818 to 1821. In

1820 he was a member of the Council of Appointment

;

from 1815 to 1819, United States attorney for the

Northern District of New York ; .and from 1819 until

his death judge of the United States District Court.

On being appointed judge he became a resident of

Albany, at which place he died Aug. 19, 1825. He
was an intimate friend of the Hon. Martin Van Bu-

ren.

Richard Skinner, LL.D., brother of the preceding,

w.as born in Litchfield, May 30, 1778 ;
graduated at

the law-school in his native town, and settled in Man-

chester, Vt., in 1800. He became State's attorney,
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speaker of the House, judge of probate, member of

Congress, chief justice of the State, and Governor.

He received the degree of LL.D. from Middlebury

College. Governor Skinner died in Middlebury, May
23, 1833, aged fifty-five.

Mrs. Harriet Beecher Stowe, daughter of the Rev.

Lyman Beecher, D.D., was born in Litchfield, and

married the Rev. Dr. Stowe. She i.s the author of

"The Mayflower," "Uncle Tom's Cabin," " Dred,

a Tale of the Dismal Swamp," " Sunny Memories of

Foreign Lands," etc.

Frederick A. Tallmadge, son of Col. Benjamin Tall-

madge, was born in Litchfield, Aug. 29, 1792; gradu-

ated at Yale College in 1811, and settled as a lawyer

in New York City, his present residence. From
18.34 to 1836 he was an alderman ; from 1836 to 1840,

a member of the State senate, of which body he was

elected president; from 1840 to 1845 and from 1848 to

18.53 he was recorder of the city, and chief justice of

the police court ; and from 1846 to 1848 he was a

member of Congress, etc.

Gen. Uriah Tracy, a native of Norwich, and a

graduate of Yale College, settled as a lawyer in Litch-

field in 1780, and here spent his entire professional

life. He was a representative at nine sessions, mem-
ber of Congress three years, and United States senator

eleven years, and rose to the rank of major-general of

militia. He was one of the most brilliant men of his

day. Gen. Tracy died in Washington City in 1807,

and was the first person buried in the Congressional

Cemetery.

Gen. Elijah Wadsworth was born in Hartford, Nov.

14, 1747 ; settled in Litchfield jirevious to the Revo-

lution ; was captain in Sheldon's Regiment of Light

Dragoons during nearly the entire war.

John Welch, son of Maj. David Welch, was born

in Litchfield, Sei)t. 23, 1759; graduated at Yale Col-

lege in 1778; settled as a merchant in hi.t native town,

and continued to reside here until his <leath, which
took place Dec. 26, 1845. He was successively a Jus-

tice of the peace, representative, senator, member of

the Constitutional Convention, associate judge of the

County Court, and a candidate for Congress. He was
successful in business, and left a large estate.

Henry W. Wessells, .son of Dr. Ashbcl Wessells,

was born in Litchfield, Feb. 20, 1809; graduated at

AVest Point in 1833, and entered the army as brevet

second lieutenant. He was actively engaged in the

Creek war, the Florida war, the war with Mexico, and
the late Rebellion. He is licutenant-colom-l in the

regular army, and brigadier-general by brevet.

t)liver Wolcott, Jr., LL.D., was born in Litchfield,

Jan. 11, 1760, and died in New York, June 2, 1833.

He graduated at Yale Collcgi', and was successively

comptroller of this State, auditor and secretary of the

L'nited States treasury, judge of the United States

Circuit Court, president of the Bank of America,

president of the Constitutional Convention of Con-

necticut, and Governor of his native State from 1817

to 1827. He was one of the most illustrious statesmen

of the early days of the repuljlic,—the intimate friend

and adviser of Washington, Adams, and Hamilton,

—

and, for some time previous to his decease, he was the

last surviving member of Washington's cabinet.

Frederick Wolcott, brother of the preceding, was

born in Litchfield, Nov. 2, 1767; graduated at Yale

College in 1787, and died in his native town May 28,

1837. For more than forty years he was constantly

in public life—as clerk of the courts, judge of pro-

bate, representative, member of the State Council,

senator, etc. No man ever lived in the town who en-

joyed more implicitly the confideuce of the public.

There was a dignity and nobleness in his person and

manner which left their impress on all who came

within the sphere of his influence.

Gen. Morris Woodrufl', son of Mr. James Woodruflf,

was born in Litchfield, Sept. 3, 1777 ; educated at Mor-

ris Academy, and was bred a merchant. He com-

menced his mercantile life with Messrs. David Leavitt

and Simeon Harrison; and alter his connection with

them was dissolved he prosecuted the business chiefly

on his own account for many years. He was through

life much employed as executor, administrator, and

commissioner, in settling estates, and as an arl)itrator,

auditor, and committee appointed by the courts. He
was an active and influential member of the church

and ecclesiastical society, and of the community gen-

erally to which he belonged ; repeatedly discharged

the duties of various public offices ; represented the

town of Litchfield in the Legislature fourteen sessions,

and was a magistrate of the county twenty-si.v years.

In 1818 he was ai)pointeil brigadier-general of the

Sixth Brigade ; and in 1K24 the Legislature appointed

him major-general of the Third Division. From 1829

until his death—a period of eleven years—he held

the office of a judge of the County Court, and that of

commissioner, which succeeded it; and in November,

1832, he was chosen by the voters of the State at large

an elector of President and Vice-rresident of the

United States. In all the affairs of life, Gen. Wood-

ruff' was distinguished by great activity, energy, per-

severance, accuracy, and fidelity to whatever trust he

assumed. 0( high integrity himself, he was stern in

reipiiring from others observance of its dictates.

Ready to do justice to others ; keenly alive to every

sense of wrong
;
penetrating in his scrutiny into the

conduct and niollves of others; convincing rather

than persuasive in his intercourse with men, he im-

|)ellc<l their concurrence in his views by producing"

confidence in the soundness of his judgment and the

correctness of his purposes. He wius steadfast in his

friendships, and few men retained with equal warmth

the intinuK'ies begun in early years. The associates

of his boyhood were through life his most confiding

and devoted friends. The dependence of his neigh-

bors an<l friends on him for advice and a.ssistnnce was

verv great; their confidence was never abu.'<ed, their

reliance never failed; and so his means of usefulness
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iiniong them were largo, and his influence extensive.

In his domestic relations he was aifectionate and kind,

inflexible in retaining a high standard of both filial

and iiareutal duty, and never failed to sliow that the

highest good of those who were dependent upon him
was his invariable motive in all his intercourse with

them. (Jen. Woodruff was nearly six feet in height,

stout, erect, active, and of more than ordinary physi-

cal strength. Of robust and vigorous frame and
sound constitution, his health was rarely interrupted,

and promise of a green old age seemed singularly cer-

tain. But in the spring of 1839 his system received

a shock, followed by an afl'ection of the liver, under

which he declined, and on the 17th of May, 1840, he
died, illustrating in his dying hour the peace and
consolation of the Christian's hope and confidence in

the Saviour in whose church on earth he had been

numliered for many years. His remains are interred

in our East l)urying-ground, where a handsome monu-
ment has been erected to his memory. Gen. Wood-
ruff married Candace, eldest daughter of Lewis Cat-

lin, Esq., of Harwinton. Their children were George
C, who still resides in Litclifield, and is well known
to our readers as a prominent member of tlie bar of

Litchfield County; Lucy M., who married Hon. O. S.

i?eymour,of Litchfield, ex-chiefjustice of Connecticut;

Hon. Lewis B., of New York, late circuit judge of the

Second Judicial District of the United States, embra-

cing tlie States of New York, Connecticut, and Ver-

mont; Reu))en M., M.D., a physician of higli attain-

ments, wlio died young in 1849 ; James, who died in

infancy.

Clark Woodruft', brother of the preceding, was born

in Litchfield, Aug. 23, 1791, and was educated at Mor-
ris Academy. In 1810 he left his native town, and,

passing down the Ohio and Mississippi Rivers, he soon

established himself a,s a lawyer in St. Francisville, in

the present State of Louisiana. For many j'ears he was
reputed one of the ablest, most eloquent, and successful

advocates at the bar; and in the spring of 1828 he

was appointed judge of the Eighth Judicial District

of the State of Louisiana. He also lield the office of

State auditor and commissioner, charged with the sub-

ject of public improvements in that State, in which he

took an active interest. He was also a trustee of

Louisiana College. On resigning his judgeship he re-

moved to New Orleans, where he resided until a short

time previous to his death. He departed this life at

his country-seat at Carrollton, on the IMissi.ssippi,

about six miles above that city, on the 25th of No-
•^vember, 1851. Judge Woodruff was a polished,

courtly gentleman, of fine address, pleasing manners,

and cultivated mind. He married Matilda Bradford,

of St. Francisville, a highly accomplished lady, by

whom he had three children. The only survivor,

Mrs. Octavia Besancon, now lives at Carrollton, at the

late residence of her father.

The following named citizens of Litchfield have

occupied the public stations annexed to their names

:

Adams, Andrew, chiefjustice Superior Court.

Allen, Etimn, general Revolntionary army,

Allen, John, representative in Congress.

Allen, John W., representative in Congress, Ohio.

Andrews, Charles B., Governor of Connecticut.

Beers, Seth P., oonimissioner of school fund.

Beecher, Lyman, D.P., president Lane Seminary.

Beecher, Edward, D.D., president Illinois College.

Beecher, Henry W., Plymouth Church, Brooklyn.

Bird, John, representative in Congress.

Bradley, Aliraham, jussistant postmaster-general.

Bradley, Phine.as, assistant postmaster-general.

Bnshnell, Horace, D.D., pastor and author, Hartford.

Catlin, Julius, Lieutenant-Governor.

Church, Samuel, chief justice Supreme Court.

Collier, John A., comptroller, representative in Congress, New York.

Dntton, Henry, Governor, judge Supreme Con: t.

Deniing, Julius, commissary Revolutionary war.

GonM, James, judge Supreme Court.

Gould, William T
,
judge, Georgia.

Gould, George, judge Supreme Court, New York.

Hollister, G. H., minister to Hayti.

Holmes, Uriel, judge, representative in Congress.

Hulbard, John H., representative in Congress.

Huntington, Jahez AV., representative and senator in Congress, judge

Supreme Court.

Huntington, Charles P., judge Superior Court, Massachusetts.

Kirliy, Ephraim, United States judge, Mississippi.

Lyon, Matthew, representative in Congress, Vermont and Kentucky.

Marvin, Reynold, king's attorney.

Miner, Phineas, representative in Congress.

Peck, William V., judge Supreme Court, Ohio.

Plielps, Samuel S., judge. United States senator, Vermont.

Pierpont. John, poet, pastor.

Pierpont, Robert, Lieutenant-Governor, judge Supreme Court, Vermont.

Pierpont, John, chief judge Supreme Court, Vermont.

Reeve, Tapping, chief justice Supreme Court.

Sanford, David C, judge Supreme Court.

Sedgwick, Albert, commissioner of the school fund.

Seymour, Horatio, United States senatoi-, Vermont.

Seymour, Origon S., representative in Congress, chief justice Supreme
Court.

Sheldon, Daniel, secretary of legation, France.

Skinner, Roger, United States district judge. New York,

Skinner, Richard, representative in Congress, chief justice Supreme

Court, Governor Vermont.

Smith, Joseph L., United States judge. East Florida.

Smith, Truman, representative and senator in United States Congress.

Strong, Jcdediah, representative in Congress.

Tallmadge, Benjamin, uaijor Revolutionary army, representative in Con-

gress.

Tallmadge. Frederick A., recorder New York City.

Tracy, Uriah, representative and senator in Congress.

Wolcott, Oliver, repi'esentalive in Congress, signer Declaration of In-

dependence, Governor.

Wolcott, Oliver, secretaiy of treasury. United States judge. Governor.

WoodrnlT, Clark, judge, Louisiana.

Woodruff, George C, representative in Congress.

Woodruff", Lewis B., judge Supreme Court, Court of Appeals, New York,

and United States Circuit Court.

Woodruff, George M., railroad common laws.

Wright, John C, representative iu Congress, judge, Ohio.

NATIVE AND RESIDENT GRADUATES, INCLUDING
THOSE WHO HAVE RECEIVED HONORARY DE-
GREES.

The figures indicate the year of graduation. The

t after the name indicates an honorary degree.

1848.—Edward P. and Frederick R. Abbe,* Yale, clergymen in Massa-

chusetts.

1825.—Elisha S. Abernethy, Yale, lawyer; now resides in Bridgeport.

1760.—Andrew Adams, LL.D., Yale, chief justice of Connecticut.

* Bjru in this town.
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1791.—John Allen,t Yale, lawyer an<l member of Congress.

1640.—John W. Allen,*! Yale, lawyer of Cleveland, Ohio ; member of

Congress.

1793.—Asa Bacon, Yale, an eminent lawyer; died in New Haven in 1857.

1833.—E. Champion Bacon,* Tale, lawyer, legislator; died at Seville,

Spain, 1845.

1838.—Francis Bacon,* Yale, lawyer, senator, major-general.

1850.—Leonard W, Bacon, Y'alo, present pastor of the Congregational

Church, Norwich.

1776.—Ashbel Baldwin,* Yale, formerly rector of St. Michael's, Litchfield.

1810.—Charles A. Baldwin,* Williams, lawyer in State of New York;

died 1818.

1735.—Isaac Baldwin, Yale, lawyer, legislator, clerk of the courts ; died

in 1805.

1774.—Isaac Baldwin, Jr.,* Yale, lawyer and legislator; died in Pompey,

N. Y.,183n.

1801.—Isaac Baldwin (3d),* Yale, lawyer; died io 1844. Samuel S. Bald-

win,* Yale, lawyer; died in 1854.

l7C6.-^George Beckwith, Yale, pastor uf the chnrch in South Farms.

1827.—Josiah G. Beckwith, MD., Union, a practicing physician in this

town.

1797.—Lyman Beecher, D.D., Yale, former pastor of the First Church in

this town.

1833.—Charles Beecher,* Bowdoin, pastor.

1822.—Edward Beecher, D.D., Yale, late president Illinois College, au-

thor, etc.

1828.—George Beecher, Y'ale, died while pastor of a church in ChilU-

cothe, Ohio.

1834.—Henry Ward Beecher,* Amherst, pastor of Plymouth Church,

Brooklyn.

1843.—Tliomas K. Beecher,* Illinois, now pastor in Elmira, N. Y.

1833.—William H. Beecher.f Yale, formerly pastor in Middlotown, etc.

1842.—Frederick D. Beemau, Yale, lawyer, and clerk of the courts.

1800.—Amos Benedict, Yale, lawyer; died in this town in 1810.

184G.—Andrew D. Benedict,* Kenyon, Epi'iCopal clergyman.

1847.—Samuel Benedict,* Trinity, late assiatunt rector Tiinity Church,

New Haven.

1840.-Alfred H. Beers, M.D.,* Trinity, physician in Buffalo, N. Y,

1839.—George W. Beers,* Trinity, former member of the bar, Litchfield.

178G.—John Bird,* Yale, lawyer in Litclifleld and Troy, N. Y.; member
of Congress.

1851.—Edward Bisscll,* Yale, lawyer in Fon du Lac, Wis.

1849.—Oscar Bissell,* Yale, pastor of a church in WestminHter, N. II.

1853.—William Bissell, M.D.,* Yale, physichin in Salisbury.

1833.—Noah Bishop,* Yale, pastor of a chnrch in or near Springfield,

Ohio.

1812.—John P. Brace,* Williams, teacher, author, editor.

1840.—Charles Loiing Brace,* Yale, autlior, secretary Childi-en's Aid
Society, N. Y.

1850.—Jonathan Brace, D.D.,t Yale, now pastor of a churcli in Milfortl.

1843.—John J. Bratidagee, Yale, former rector of St. Michaol'ti, Litchflultl.

1812.—Sulyman Brown,* Yale, dentist, author, clorgymaii, New York
City.

1S3G.—Frederick Buel, Yulo, agent Amotican Bible Society, Onlifornltu

182G.—William P. Buel, M.D., Yalo, i»hysician on California stonmor.

1844.—Henry W. Biiol, M.D.,* physiclau in his native town.

1805.— David Buel, Jr.,* Williauw, of Troy, N. Y., lawyer, Ju»lgo, regent

university.

183G.—Joshua D. Berry, Middlebury, Utu president Shelby College, Ken-
tuclty.

1832.—Amos U. Beach, Union, late rector St. Paul's, Bantam Falls.

1827.—Horace Bushnell, D.D..* Yalo, pastor of North Church. Hartford,

author, etc.

1833.—David Butler. D.D.f Washjnglon, former rector Si. Mlcha«l*f.

1787.—Josoidi K. Camp, Yale, pastor church In Northflold.

1822.—Albert B. Camp,* Yalo, pastor in llridgowat<>r, Ashby. Mass., etc.

1786.—Lyndo Catlln,* Yale, merchant, and president Merchants* Bank,
Now York.

1839.—John Catlin,* Yolo, teacher, etc. ; reeldot In NorthfloM.

1751.—Judah Champion, Yale, wcond pastor of the First Church in Ihti

town.

1780.—Amos Chase, Dartmouth, pa8t<»r church in Suutli Farms.
1803.—Samuel Church. LL.D., Yalo, chief Justice of Connecticut.

1844.—John Churchill,*! Yalo. f"imer pastor of a church In Woodbury.

* Born In this town.

1718.—Timothy Collins, Yale, first pastor of the First Church in this town.

1758.—Ambrose Collins,* Yale, went a missionary to the Indians, and

died.

1758.—Thomas Davics, Yale, former rector of St. Michael's.

1811.—William Deming,* Yale.

1829.—George C. V. Eastman, Middlebury, former rector of church in

Bantam Falls.

1822.—Samuel Fuller, D.D., Union, late president Kenyon College, Ohio.

1759.—Fisher Gay,* Yale, colonel Revolutionary army ; legislator, magis-

trate.

1791.—James Gould, LL.D., Yale, judge Supreme Court, principal Law-

School.

1827.—George Gould,* Yale, of Troy. N. Y., now judge Supreme Court,

N. Y.

1824.—James R. Gould,* Yale, lawyer; died in Augusta, Ga., 1830.

181G.—William T. Gould,* Yale, judge Court of Oyer and Terminer, Au-

gusta, Ga.

1839.—John BI. Grant,* Yale, colporteur in Maryland, etc.

1S44.—William H. Guernsey,* Yale, clergyman; died in Savannah, Ga.,

1850.

1849.—Luther B. Hart, Union, late pastor Baptist Church, North Norfolk.

1820.—Laurens P. Hickok, D.D., Union, now vice-president Union

College.

1851.—George A. Hicko,\, Ttinity, now a practicing lawyer in this town,

and editor and proprietor Lilchfidd Enquirer.

1840.—Gideon H. Hollister, Yale, lawyer, clerk of the courts, senator,

foreign minister; deceased.

1784.—Uriel Holmes, Jr., Yale, lawyer, judge, member of Congress.

1816.—Uriel Holmes, Jr.,* Yale, died July 3, 1818, while member Theo-

logical Seminary, Andovcr.

1784.—Lemuel Hopkins, M.P.,t Yale, poet, etc.

1794.—Dan Huntington, Yale, former pastor of the First Clnirch iu this

town.

1822.—Charles P. Huntington,* Harvard, judgo Superior Court, Boston,

Mass.

1806.—Jabez W. HuotlugtoD, Yale, lawyer, Judge, member of CongreM)

senator.

1K24.—William P. Huntington,* Harvard, pastor in Massachusetts and

Hliuois; artist, etc.

1843.—George J. Harrison, Union, now Congregational minister in

Milton.

1702.—Isaac Jonra, Yale, minister uf St. MlchaoPs parish.

1701.—Benjamin Judd, Yale, former pastor In Mllluu.

1837.—James KllWurn,* Yale, luutor in Ihidgvwalor, Bllddle Hoddam,

and HIinois.

1840.—John Kilbourn, Yalo, teacher in Slate uf Now York.

18£3.—P. K. Kilbourn,*t Union, author of " History of Litchfield.'*

1787.—Ephralm Kirby,*t Yalo, lawyer, Judge, author of '* Klrby*B Bo-

porta."

1844.—William H. Lewis, D.D.,*f Kenyon, rector of Holy Trinity Church,

Brooklyn.

1788.—Daniel W. Lewis, Ynle, lawyer; Stale's attorney.

1770.— Samuel Lyman, Yale, removod to Springfield, Mass.; member of

I
C'lngrcsii.

j

1783.—Lyodo Lord, Jr.,* Vale, diod In his native town In 1813.

' 1812.—Stephen Ma^on,* Williams, former |>asU>r in Washington.

I
1748.—Boynold Marvtu, Yale, lawyer, king's attorney; died here July

I
30, \W1.

' 1780.—Samuel Blnmh,* Yale, lawyer in his native town, and in Norfolk,

Va. Truman Mnr»h,« nttorof St. Michael's twenty-seven year*;

I

died hero in IH&I.

1775.—James Morris,* Yale, t«acher, mogUtrate, legislator, capbdn ; dlod

j

1820.

1803.—James Morris, Jr.,* Yolo, tutor Uulveralty of Georgia; die4l lo

Sunhury, Ga.

' tSiH.— Reulwn S. Morris,* Yale, lawyer; dliil In Utla^ N. Y., In 18.12.

; 1838.—Dwight Morris,* Union, lawyer In nridge|>ort. Judge of prubato,

legislator. Secretary of State, etc

177&.— Donjaoiin Oslwrn,* Darlntoutli, pastor In TlnniouUi, Yt, author

;

dleil 1818.

1770.~Isaiic OslKtrn,* Dartmouth, fanner, teacher, ile<ux>n ; died In I<itch-

tlold, 182U. Jorvniiah Ostiorn,* Dartmouth, farmer ; dUxl Iu

LUcliAeld in 1829.

1784.—Jacob Osborn,* Dartmouth, farmer and teacher; dlod In Lilcli-

* Bum In this town.
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field in 1821 ; Ethan Osljorn, Bnrtmoutli, pastor Fairfield, N. J.,

fifty-four years ; died in his hiindiirdth year.

1729.—Solomon Palmer, Yale, rector of St. Wichaers ; died in this town

ill 1771.

1750.—IJenjaniin Piilmer, Yalo; died in 1780.

185a.—John M. Peck, D.D.,*! Harvard, Bapti.'*t pastor in Illinois ; author

;

died 18.58, Williiini G. Peck,*t Trinity (also at West Point),

Professor of Mathematics, Columbia College, N. Y.

1842.—James Peck,* Union, nierchaut at La Crosse, Wis.

1807.—Amos Pettingill, Harvard; pastor church iu South Farms, 181G-

1822.

1837.—John H. Pettingill,* Yale, Distiict Secretary American Board, Al-

bany, N. Y.

1804.—John Pierpont, Yale,* clergyman in Boston, author, lecturer, poet.

1813 —Charles Perkins, Y'ale, lawyer ; died in London, Eng., Nov. 18, 185G,

aged sixty-four.

1763.—Tapping Reeve, LL.D., Princeton, chiefjustice of Connecticut.

1802.—Aaron Burr Reeve,* Yale, lawyer in Troy, N. Y.; died iu 1809.

1829.—Tupping Burr Reeve;* died in Litchfield in 1829.

1833.—James Richards, D-D., Union, was principal Elm Park Collegiate

Institute.

1858.—James Richards, Jr., Princeton, Profes.sor Ancient Languages and

Matheumtics in Elm Park Collegiate Institute.

1831.—Rollin Sauford,* Yale, merchant in Brooklyn, N. Y.; candidate

for Congress.

1797.—Hoiatio Seymour, LL.D.,* Yale, lawyer, U. S. senator from Ver-

mont twelve years.

1824.—Origou S. Seymour, LL.D.,*t Yale, member of Congress, judge

Superior Court, chief justice of the Superior Court of Errors.

1853.—Edward W. Seymour,* Yale, lawyer.

1730.—Elisha Sheldon, Yale, legislator and judge ; died in Litchfield in

1779.

1800.—Elisha Sheldon, M.D.,* Yale, died in 1832 ; buried iu Litchfield.

. Richard Skinner, LL.D.,*t Middlebui-y, Governor and chief justice

of Vermont.

1790.—Aaron Smith, Yale, lawyer, legislator, and merchant ; died in this

town iu 1834.

1806.—Lucius Smith, Yale, merchant, colonel in war with Great Biitaiu,

clergyman.

1757.—Reuben Smith, Yale, physician, magistrate, county treasurer ; died

in 1804.

1815.—Truman Smith, Yale, lawyer, member of Congress, U. S. senator.

1761.—Jedediali Strong,* Yale, member Continental Congress, legislator,

etc.

1823.—John S. Stone, D.D., Union, former rector of St. Michael's.

1838.—Benjamin W. Stone, Trinity, former rector of St. Michael's.

1857.—Storrs 0. Seymour,* Yale, rector of St. Michaers.

1822.—William Sheldon,* Y'ale, mercliant; died in France iu 182G.

1844.—Benjamin L. Swan.f Yale.

1773.—Benjamin Tallmadge, Yale, member of Congress sixteen years.

1830.—Benjamin Tallmadge, Jr.,*t Yale, lieutenant U.S.N.; died off

Giliraltar in 1830.

1811.—Frederick A. Tallmadge,* Yale, recorder New York City, member

of Congress.

1778.—Uriah Tracy, Yale, lawyer, member of Congress, U. S. senator,

general.

1778.—Joseph Vaill, Dartmouth, pastor in Hadlyme; died 1838, after a

ministry of fifty-eight years.

1824.—Hermou L. Vaill,* Yale, pastor in East Lyme ; also Seneca Falls,

N. Y.

1848.—Louis F. Wadsworth,* Trinity, lawyer iu New York City, deputy

clerk assembly.

1S37.—Charles Wadsworth, D.D.,* Union, pastor Arch Street Church,

Philadelphia.

1795.—Hullaud Weeks,* Dartmouth, pastor in Waterbury and in Ver-

mont.

1807.—William R. Weeks, D.D., Princeton; died 1848, aged sixty-six.

1778.—John Welch,* Yale, merchant, judge, legislator; died in 1844.

1805.—William Welch,* Yale, captain U.S.A.; died in the public ser-

vice in 1811.

1827.—William H. Welch,* Yale, late chief justice of Minnesota Terri-

tory.

1747.—Oliver WolcoU, LL.D., Governor, signer Declaration of Independ-

ence.

* Born in this town.

1778.—Oliver Wolcott, Jr , LL.D.,* Yale, Goveinor, Secretary U. S. Treas-

ury, etc.

1786.—Frederick Wolcott,* Yale, lawyer, legislator, judge of probate.

1779.—Ezekiel Woodruff,* Yale, lawyer, adjutant Revolutionary army.

1849.—Curtis T. Woodruff,* Yale, rector Episcopal Church in Woodburj'.

1825.—tieorge C. Woodruff,* Yale, lawyer, legislator, judge of probate,

member of Congress.

1857.—George M. Woodruff,* Yale, lawyer, judge of probate, railroad

commissioner.

1830.—Lewis B. Woodruff,* Yalo, judge Superior Court, New York City,

circuit judge U. S.

1809.—Simeon Woodrutt,* Yale, clergyman, settled at the West.

It36.—Lucius H. Woodruff,* Yale, teacher iu Insane Retreat, Hartford;

died in 1852.

1803.—Samuel Whittlesey,* Yale, pastor at Washington and elsewhere.

1851.-Julius M. Willey, Trinity, former rector of St. Michael's.-I-

Yale.

Wm. Beebe, 1873 ; Wm. B. Clarke, 1849 ; Marshall R. Gaines, 1865; John

T. Hubbard, 188U; T. Ephraim Mower, 1878; D. D, T. McLaughlin,

1834; Allan McLean, 1865; Dickinson W. Richards, 1880; George

Richards, 1872; Wm. R. Richards, 1876 ; George D. Watrous, 1879.

PHYSICIANS.

The following is a list of physicians who have prac-

ticed in this town :

Timoth}' Collins, from Guilford, the first clergyman and physician in the

town, preached and practiced here from 1721 till his death, in 1777 ;

Thomas Little, Seth Bird, Daniel Huntington, Phincas Bradley,

Samuel Catlin, Hosea Hulbert, Daniel SheldoU; Phineas Smith,

Comfort Bradley, Partridge Parsons, Robert Catlin, Abel Catlin,

John M. West, Reuben S. Woodward, Isaac Marsh, Joseph Parker,

William Bud, Samuel Buel, Alanson Abbe, Manly Peters, Norman
Landon, John W. Russell, Josiiih Barnes, Moses A. Lee, Anson Wild-

man, John S. Wolcott, Reuben M. Woodruff, Charles Vaill, Garry H.

Minor, Benjamin Welch, Jr., Caleb Ticknor, Samuel R. Childs, Wil-

liam Deming, James K. Wallace, George Seymour, A. Sidney Lewis,

Eliada Osborn, David E. Bostwick, Orson Buel (botanic), E. B. W.
Camp.

The practicing physicians at present are as follows:

Henry W. Buel, Willis J. Beach, William Deming, H.E.Gates, J. J. New-

comb, Litchfield ; J. K. Wallace, Bantam; E. L. Blake, Northfield
;

Josiah G. Beckwirh, Litchfield ; Wm. Porter was here in 1873.

PRESENT LAWYERS.
Origen S. Seymour, George C. Woodruff, Henry B. Groves, George A.

Hickox, Charles B. Andrews, Wm. L. Ransom, George M. Woodruff,

Fiank W. Wossells, Dwight C. Kilbourne, Henry H. Prescott, Ed-

ward W. Seymour.

CHAPTEK XIV.

LITCHFIELD (Continued).

CIVIL AND MILITARY.

IncorporatioD of the Town—First Town Officers Elected—Kepreseutatives

from n40-lSK2—Military History.

Under the original grant this section was called

Bantam, and was incorporated as the town of Litch-

field in 1724. The record of what appears to be the

first town-meeting has no date. At this meeting a

committee, consisting of John Buel and Nathaniel

Smith, was appointed to hire a minister.

* Born in this town.

I The above list to name of Junius M. Willey is substantially as it ap-

peared in Kilbourne's " History of Litchfield." It is impossible after

such a lapse of time to continue the pei-sonal history of each pereon.
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" The first meeting for the choice of town officers

was held Dec. 1721, and resulted as follows : John
Marsh, town clerk ; John Buel, Nathaniel Hosford,

John Marsh, selectmen ; William Goodrich, constable

and collector ; Benjamin Gibbs and Thomas Lee,

surveyors ; Eleazor Strong and Samuel Root, fence-

viewers; Daniel Culver, hayward ; Joseph Bird, col-

lector of minister's rate.

" The only person 'admitted an inhabitant' at this

meeting was Mr. Joseph Kilbourn, from Wethers-

field, who had recently purchased one-thirtieth part

of the township,—being the original rights of Messrs.

Mann and Peet.

" On tlie 6th of February, 1721-22, Messrs. Buel

and Marsh were voted ' the use of the stream of

Bantam River and thirty acres of land,' on condition

that they would erect a grist-mill and keep the same
in order ; and Messrs. Jacob Griswold, William Good-

rich, and Benjamin Gibbs were designated to lay out

the land for their use.

" On the 8th of the ensuing May, Messrs. Buel,

Marsh, Smith, and Hosford were appointed a com-

mittee, and fully empowered by the town to negotiate

a settlement of the boundary line between Litchfield

and Waterbury with a committee appointed by the

proprietors of the latter town. At the same time

Messrs. Buel and Marsh were directed to |ictition the

General Assembly, on the town's behalf, ' for liberty

to set uji a church and society in Litchfield.'

" It had been one of the conditions of the several

deeds of conveyance to the original proprietors, that

the grantees or their sons should build a tenantuble

house on each home-lot, or division, not less tlian

sixteen feet square, and personally inliat)it the same
by the last day of May, 1721, and for three years en-

suing ; and no one was permitted ' to leave or dispose

of his share for five years thereafter, without tlie con-

sent of the first planters.' This was a wise provision,

growing out of the dependent and exposed condition

of a settlement in the wilderness. Not only wius each

individual purcliaser expected to encourage the settle-

ment by his personal presence and labors, but his

a.ssistance in planning and executing the various pro-

jects designed for the promotion of the public welfare

was deemed indispensable. His proprietorship in

these ' western lands' was no sinecure, resorted to for

purposes of speculation. He must bear his full share

of the burthens and perils incident to the life of a

pioneer. For divers reasons, .several of the first pur-

chasers, as has been intimated, failed to comply with

these terms. On the 8th of June, 1722, in general

town-meeting, it was voted that the following jiersons

had ' forfeited their rights to lands in Litchtield by
not performing what they were obliged to in the

articles of the settlement mentioned in the grand
deed,'— viz., Timothy Seymour, Timothy Stanley,

Isaac Judson, Jacob (Jihhs, John Stoddard, Nath-
aniel Smith, Paul Peck, John Hart, Philip lUinip,

Nathaniel Woodruff, Thomas Griswold, John Bald-

win, and one of Ezekiel Sandford's rights. Messrs.

John Buel, Nathaniel Smith, and John Marsh were

appointed a committee to negotiate with the above-

named individuals, with power to 'prosecute the fore-

feiture to effect,' in case the claimants should neglect

or refuse to agree to the terms which might be oflered

them. Probably a compromise was effected with most

of the delinquents. Some of them became active and
useful men in the town.

" In October of this year the freemen, by a formal

vote, expressed their desire to be annexed to Hartford

County. They also voted that the tax for the support

of the minister and for building the meeting-house

should be laid ' one-half on the rights, and the other

on heads and stock.'
"

REPRESENTATIVES FROM 1740-1881.

1740.—Josepli Bii'd, Ebenezer Marsli, John Bird, John Buel.

1741.—Ebenezer Marsh, John Buel, Samuel Culver.

1742.—Ehenezer Marsh, Jacob Griswold.

1743.—Ebenezer JIarsh, John Bird, Joseph Bird.

1744.—Ebenezer Marsh, Joseph Bird, Edward Phelps.

1745.—Edward Phelps, Joseph Bird, Ebenezer Mai-sh, Isaac Buldwin.

1746.—Ebenezer Marsh, Jt>sc]>h Bird.

1747.—ThoDios Harrison, Joseph Sanford.

1748.—Ebenezer Marsh, John Bird.

1749.—Ebenezer Marsh, Joseph Bird, Thonins Ilurrison.

1750.—Ebenezer Mursh, Thomas Harrison.

1751.—Ebenezer Marsh, Thomas Harrison.

1752.—Elienezer Marsh, Thomas llurriaon, Joseph Kilbourn, BeqjamiD
Webster.

1753.—Joseph Kilbourn, Benjamin Welister, Thomas Harrison.

1754.—Ebenezer Marsh, Benjamin \Vel*ster, Thomas Harrison.

17.')5.—Peter Buel, Benjamin Webster, ElKinczer Marsh, Elisha Shelden.

176G.—Ebenezer Marsh, Peter Buel.

1757.—Ebenezer Slarsh, Peter Bnel, Slisba Shelden.

1758.—Elienezer Marsh, Elisha Shelden.

17.50 —Jiu:ob WoodrufT, Elisha Shelden, Ebenezer Mareh.

17G0.—Ebenezer Blarsli, EILilia Shelden.

17G1.—Ebenezer Marsli, Klisha Shelden, Isaac Baldwin.

17G2.—Ebenezer Marsh, Isoai* Baldwin.

ni)3.—Ebenezer Marsh, Isaac BaMwin.

17G4.—Ebenezer Mareh, Isaac Baldwin, Oliver Wnlcott,

1765.—Ebenezer Marsh, Isaac Baldwin.

17riC.— Elienezer Marsh, Isaac Baldwin, John Manh.
1767.—Oliver Wolcotl, John Mnnli, Elwnezcr Marvh.

176H.—EWnezer Marsh, John Mnrah, Oliver Wolcoll, Jacob Woodruff.

17G9.— Ebenezer Marsh, .\brahani Kill>ouni.

1770.— Havlil Welch, Abraham KilUnirn, Oliver Wolcott.

1771.—EU'iiezer Marsh, John Marsh, Je<le<liah Strvnig, Ljnde Lord.

1772.—Ji.ilediah Strong;, l.yndo I..tril, John Mamli.

1773.—,le<lo.llah Strong, llavid Welch.

1774.—JeOedUih Strong, John Marsh, David \\'elch.

1775.—Jededhili Strony, David Welch, .\brahani Bradle.v.

177*',.—JetledllUl Strong, Abraham Bnwtlcy, Andrew Adams.

1777.—Jededlui Stn>ng, Andrew Adunw.

1778.—Jeiledlah Strong, Antlrew Adams.

1779.—JeOedlah Strung, Andrew Adams.

1780.—Jeileillah Strong, Andrew Adjuno, David Welch.

1781.—Jedetliah Strong, Andrew Adama, ileialeel Beebe.

1782.—Jededlah Strong, Bezaluel Beebe, laaac Baldwin.

1783.—Jed»llali Strong, Belaleel Baebe, Abraham Bmdle.v, Iiaac Bald-

win, Jr.

1784 —Ebonezir Mamli, Isaac Baldwin, laaac Baldwin, Jr.

1785.—J(Hl|.4liali Strong, Abiaham Bivdloj, Ebeneser Manh.
1786.— Ebenezer Blaii«h, Jeiletliah Strong.

1 1787.—EU-nezer Mai^ih, Klieiier.er Benton, Jededlah 8troD(.

1788.— Eltcne/er Marsh, JtHleiliah Strong, Uriah Trucy.

I 178!).—Je<^llali String, Uriah Tnny, Ta|iping Reeve.

I 17U0.—Ebene/er Slarsli, Uriah Tracy, Julius Demlng.

I

1701 Julius Demlng, Uriah Tracy, Ephralni KIrliy.

1702.—Ephralm Kirby, Uiiali Tracy, Solomon Marak, Bnaltel Beeb*.
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1793.—Jolin Allon, Uriah Tracy, Bezalepl Bee^6.

1704—Ephraim Kirliy, John Allen.

1795.—Ephraim Kirby, John Allen, Moses Seymour, Bezaleel Beebe.

1790.—Moses Seymonr, Jolm Allen.

1707.—Moses Seymour, Ephraim Kirby.

1798.—James Morris, Julius Dcming, Moses Seymour, Ephraim Kirby.

1799.—Moses Seymour, Ephraim Kirby, John Welch.

18<W.—Ephraim Kirby, John Welch, James Morris.

1801.—Moses Seymour, Ephraim Kirby, John Welch.

1802.—James Morris, Frederick Wolcott, Moses Seymour, Ephraim
Kirby.

1803.—James Morris, FreJcrick Wolcott, Uriel Holmes.

1804.—James Morris, Uriel Holmes.

1805.—James Morris, Uriel Holmes.

180G.—Moses .'^eymour, Norman Buel, Uriel Holmes, Aaron Bradley.

1807.—Uriel Holmes, Aaron Bradley.

1808.—Aaron Bradley, Aaron Smith, Nathaniel Goodwin.

1809.—Nathaniel Goodwin, Aaron Smith.

1810.—Moses .Seytnonr, Aaron Bradley.

1811.—Aaron Smith, Mosea Seymour.

1812.—Aaron Smith, Moses Seymour, Morris Woodruff.

1813.—Aaron Smith, Morris Woodruff.

1814.—Aaron Smith, Morris Woodniff, Uriel Holmes.

1815.—William Beebe, Morris Woodruff, Jonathan Buel.

1810.-William Beebe, Jonathan Buel.

1817.—Jonatlian Duel, Ephraim S. Hall.

1818.— Stephen Russell, Ephraim S. Hall, Phineas Lord.

1819.—Jolm Wtdch, Phineas Lord.

1820.—John Welch, Seth P. Beci-fl.

1821.—Seth P. Beers, John Welch.

1822.—Seth P. Beers, John Welch.

1823.—Seth P. Beers, Phineas Miner.

1824.—David Marsh, Morris WoodrulT.

1825.—David Mai^sh, Morris Woodniff.

1S2G.—Morris WoodrutT, Reuben Webster.

1827.—Phineas Miner, William Beebe.

1828.—Jabez W. Huntington, William Beebe.

1829.—Phineas Miner, Morris WoodrulT.

1830.—Stephen Russell, Morris Woodruff.

183:.—Stephen Russell, Truman Smith.

1832.—Truman Smith, Elihu Harrison.

1833.—William Beebe, Asa Hopkins.

1834.—Stephen Russell, Truman Smith.

1835.—Phineas Miner, Elihu Harrison.

1836.—Morris Woodruff, Phineas Lord.

1837.-Morris ^^'oodrufr, Pliineas Lord.

1838.-Samuel Buel, William Ray.

1839.—Samuel liuel, William Bay.

1840.—Frederick Buel, E. Champion Bacon,

1841.—Frederick Buel, E. Champion Bacon.

1842.—Oiigen S. Seymour, Enos Stoddard,

1843.-Origen S. Seymour, Enos Stoddard.

1844.-Elisha S. Aberuetby, Dan Catlin.

1845.—Charles .\dam8, Dan Catlin.

1846.—David Mareh, George Seymour. v

1847.—David Marsli, George Seymour.

1S48.—Samuel P. Bolles, William L. Smedley.

1849.—Origen S. Seymour, Christopher Wheeler.

1850.—Oiigen S. Seymour, Christopher Wheeler.

1851.-George C. Wooilruff, Thomas M. Coe.

1S52.—Josiah G. Beckwith, William Newton.

1853.—Josiah G. Beckwith, William Newton.

1854.—Frederick Buel, Samuel P. Bolles.

1855.—Philip S. Beebe, Samuel Brooker, Jr.

1856.—Josiah G. Beckwith, Garry H. Minor.

1857.—Josiah G. Beckwith, Edward Piorpont.

1858.—Henry B. Graves, William Bissell.

1859.—Edward W. .Seymour, William Bissell.

I860.—Edward W. Seymour, Daniel Stoddard.

1861.—George H. Baldwin, Jacob Morse.

1862.—Philip S. Beebe, George A. Hicko.\.

1863.—George M. Woodruff, Everitt H. Wright.

1804.—E. H. Wright, T. R. Sedgwick.

1S66.—George M. Woodruff, D. E. Bostwick.

186G.—George C. Woodruff, T. L. Saltonstall.

1807.—Henry B Graves, Eli D. Weeks.

1868.—Henry B. Graves, T. Leander Jennings.

I860.—J. G. Beckwith, J. B. Hopkins.

1870.—E. W. Seymour, Henry Frisbie.

1.871.—E. W. Seymour, N. W. Beach.

1872.—George M. Woodruff, Ransom Newton.

1873.—Julius Deming, Charles D. Wheeler.

1874.—George C. Woodruff, James B. Newcomb.
1875.—William Deming, Garner B. Curtiss.

1876.—William Deming, Henry B. Graves.

1877.—Eli D. Weeks, Henry B. Graves.

1878.—Cliarles B. Andrews, William Bissell.

1879.—Henry B. Graves, Leverett W. Wcssells.

1880.—Gideon H. Hollister, Harry Clemens.

1881.—Origen S. Seymour, Frederick S. Porter.

MILITARY RECORD.®
Jacob Forfe, Ist Art.; enl. April 1, 1862; disch. March 16, 1865.

John K. Gordon, enl. Nov. 30, 1804.

J. Donohue, enl. April 6, 1862.

E. B. Smith, enl. May 20, 1S61; pro. to first lieutenant; res. Oct. 20, 1863.

W. Wheeler, enl. May 20, 1861 ; disch. May 22, 1804.

E. Buxton, enl. May 20, 1661 ; nmst. out Sept. 25, 1805.

W. W. Davis, enl. May 20, 1801 ; disch. Sept. 25, 1865.

J. P. Nichols, disch. May 22, 1864.

R. H. Tompkins, L. A. Terry 1, G. W. Wheeler.

0. 0. Whaides, disch. Sept. 1, 1862.

C. W. Brewer, enl. April 12, 1862.

W. W. Mathews, enl. April 12, 1862; disch. April 17, 1865.

E. Lyman, enl. Aug. 4, 1803; died Aug. 10, 1804.

Henry Wade, 5th Regt. ; enl. Nov. 29, 1804 ; must, out July 19, 1865.

John Daley, 5th Regt.; enl. Nov. 26, 1804.

H. G. West, 6th Regt. ; enl. July 22, 1861 ; wounded ; disch. May 18, 1863.

E. A. Alvord,5th Regt.; enl. July 22, 1801 ; wounded; disch. July 19, 1865.

H. S. Gooley, 5th Regt.; enl. July 22, 1801 ; died Aug. 22, 1862.

Charles Gooley, 6th Regt. ; enl. July 22, 1861 ; disch. Nov. 22, 1802.

William Somei«, oth Regt.; enl. July 22, 1861.

0. Eaghen.

John Rogers, enl. Maich 6, 1864 ; disch. April 24, 1805.

0. Dolman, 0th Regt.; enl. July 31, 1863 ; nmst. out Aug. 21, 1865,

George Landers, enl. March 3, 1864.

A. Crowe, Sth Regt. ; enl. Oct. 10, 1801 ; disch. Jan. 8, 1863.

George E. Caslle, 8th Regt. ; enl. Oct. 14, 1861 ; disch. Oct. 22, 1866.

M. Castle, died Oct. 17, 1802.

Alfonso Benza, Sth Regt.

Peter Guirard, 8tli Regt.

John Moore.

C. L. Carllo, 81h Regt. ; enl. Feb. 19, 1804 ; died Aug. 4, 1864.

1. Cohen, enl. July 29, 1804; disch. June 1, 1805.

James Kelley, enl. Feb. 23, .

Edward Wadhams, sergeant Co. E, 8th Regt.; enl. Sept. 25, 1801 ; ro-enl.

as veteran; killed May 10, 1804.

Seth F. Plnmb, sergeant; enl. Sept. 5, 1861 ; killed Sept. 22, 1864.

S. M. Clark, 81h Regt. ; enl. Sept. 25, 1861.

George F. Booth, killed Sept. 17, 1862.

S. B. Fuller, disch. March 24, 1803.

George W. Baldw in, died March, 1802.

F. E. Barber, died Jan. 30, 1802.

W. H. Cable, must, out Aug. 23, 1805.

Charles Culver, must, out Aug. 12, 1805.

R. W. Cook, enl. Oct. 0, 1861 ; disch. Dec. 16, 1864.

Thomas Mason, Sth Regt. ; enl. Sept. 25, 1801 ; killed Sept. 17, 1862.

W. D. Musson. disch. March 23, 1805.

F. A. Newcomb, died May 14, 1802.

Jerome Nichols, died Oct. 17, 1803.

Charles Perkins, disch. Feb. 14, 1861.

J. T. Peters, enl Sept. 27, 1801; disch. Deo. 6, 1802.

Alva Sterne, enl. Oct. 10, 1801 ; disch. Feb. 22, 1863.

L. E. Sweet, enl. Sept. 25, 1801 ; disch. Oct. 20, 1862.

John Tompkins, enl. Oct. Ill, 1861 ; died Sept. 7, 1862.

Joseph II. Vaille, enl. Sept. 27, 1801 ; traus. to Invalid Corps, May 16, 1864.

William Brady.

C. H. Foster, enl. Feb. 24, 1861.

F. G. Gilbert, enl. Feb. 16, 1864; must, out Dec. 12, 1805.

Charles M. Lauda, enl. Feb. 17, 1804.

John McGowan.

* For list of Nineteenth Regiment, see Chapter V. For notice of sol-

diers^ mouumeut, see Supplement,
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John Chuke, eiil. Feb. 24, 18C4; umet. out Dec. 12, 1SC5.

E. H.minia, enl. July 27, 1SC4 ; ijuist. out Dec. 12, 1804.

Jolin Kelley, enl. Feb. 24, 1SG4; trans, to navy.

John Connor.

J.inies White, 0th Eegt.

William Drown, Slth Kegt. ; enl. April 28, 1SC4.

J. Dliu-cher, 9th Kegt., enl. Nov, 20, 1864.

J. Johnson, tlth Regt. ; enl. Nov. 25, ISOi; disch, Dec. IG, 1864.

P. Giiffney, lOlli Hegt.; enl. Nov. 25, 1864; disch. Aug. 25, 1865.

James McGraw, lOtli Eegt.

Charles J. Moore, lOlli Regt.; enl. Nov. 2.3, 1864.

George Flyn, lOtli Regt.: enl. Nov. 26, 1864.

William Ryne, 10th Kegt,; enl, Nov. 20, 1864 ; disch, Aug, 25,1865.

Charles Warren, 10th Regt.; enl. Nov. 23, 1804,

William Moore, 10th Regt, ; enl. Nov. 20, 1804.

John Miller, nth Regt.; enl. Fob, 21, 1864; wounded; died Sopt, 18, 1864.

Jos, Martin, lltli Regt,; enl, March 7, 1864; disch. Dec, 21, 1865.

Charles Barber, 11th Kegt.; enl, Nov, 27, 1661 ; died May 13, 1802.

E, B. Sanford, 12th Regt,; enl. Dec. 22, 1861; disch. about May 25, 1803.

Frank Wells, first lieutenant 13th Regt.; com. Feb. 19, 1802; pro. to cap-

tain; disch, April 24, 1866,

C,C. Fisher, 13th Regt.; enl. Jan. 11, 1802 ; disch. May 20, 1802.

S, S. Tuyler, 13th Kegt.; enl. Jan. 11, 1862; pro. to secund lieutenant;

disch, April 24, 1860.

Charles Thomas, 13th Regt, ; enl, Jan, II, 1862; disch. May 20, 1862.

J. DulTs, 13lh Regt. ; enl. Jan, II, 1862.

A, Luiinell.lSlh Regt,; enl, Jan, 11,1862; disch. Nov. 25,1805.

WilliaTn Baker, 13th Regt,; enl, Jan, II, 1802; died Sept. 2, 1802.

H, Banker, 13th Regt.; enl. Jan. II, 1802; disch. May 19, 1805.

P. Banker, 13th Regt.; enl. Jan. 11, 1802; died May 0, 1805.

William Benedict, 13th Regt. ; enl. Jan. 1 1, 1862 ; disch. May 20, 1862.

C. Birge, lath Regt, ; enl, Jan 11, 1862 ; disch. Sept. 29, 1802.

And. Bronson, 13th Regt.; enl. Jan. 11, 1802,

M, Burke, 13th Regt,; enl, Jan, 11, 1862; disch. April 25, 1806.

Charles Catlin, 13th Regt, ; enl. Jan. 11, 1802 ; died Sept. 2, 1803.

A, Chapel, 13th Regt,; enl Jan, 11, 1802; died Feb, 2,1, 1803.

E, Cogswell, 13th Regt,; enl, Jan. II. 1802 ; disch. Jan. 0, 1805.

E. M, Curtis, I3tli Regt.; enl. Jan. 28, 1802; disch, Jan. 6, 1865.

I. A. Davidson, 13tli Regt,; enl. Jan. 11, 1862; disch, Aug. 12,1805.

Seth Frink, 13th Regt. ; enl. Jan. 2-', 1802.

Loreli Ilalleck, 13th Regt, ; enl, .ran. 11, 1802; disch. Jnly 15, 1802.

W. H. Harris, I3th Regt.; enl, Jun 11, 1802; disch. Jan. 6, 1805.

r, Herbert, I3th Regt. ; enl. Jan. 22, 1802 ; disch. April 25, 1800.

S, Herbert, 13th Kegt. ; eul. Jan. 22, 1802 ; disch. April 25, 186U.

L, Johnson, 13lh Regt.; enl. Jan II, 1802; disch. May 30, 1802.

J. KcllehiT, 13th Regt.; enl. Jan. 11, 1862; died.

J. M. Kinley, I3th Uegt. ; enl. Jan, II, 1802.

Heni7 Mayo, 13th Regt.; enl. Jan. II, 1862; disch. May 20, 1802.

Thonia.s McGee, 13th Regt.; enl. Jan. II, 1802; disch. April 2.'i, 1806.

0, plunger, 13lh Regt,; enl, Jan. 11, 1802; disch. May 20, 180.3.

W. n. Norris, 13tli Kegt.; onl. Jan. 11, 1802; pro. to Veteran Rcoorro

Corps.

Charles Ustrander, 13th Regt. ; enl. Jan. 7, 1802.

George Ostrander, 13th Regt, ; enl. Jan. II, 1802.

W. R. Parker, I3tli Hegt, ; onl, Jan. 11, 1802.

C. Pannehc, 13th Hegt, ; enl. Jan. 7, 1802; disch. Jun. 0, 1865.

P. Peacock, 13th Regt, ; enl, Jan. 5, 1862 ; dUch, Jan. 6, 1805.

G. J, Pond, 13th Regt.; eiil. Jun. 11, 1802; disch. Juue 10, 180».

R. Provost, 13th Kegt. ; onl. Jan. 22, 1802; diacli, Oct. .'>, 1806.

E, S, Richmond, CTil, Jan. 11, 1862; killed Nov. 7, 1802.

George Rod, enl, Jan, 22, 1802; disch. April 25, 1880.

E. 0. Thomas, enl, Jan, II, 1802 ; disch. April 20, ISflO.

George Sturks, enl. Jan, II, 1862; disch. May 30, 1802.

W. C, Wakellebl, enl, Jan. 11, 1802; disch. Sept. 29, 1803.

William liradsbaw, Hth Regt,; onl, June 25, 18C2 ; died Juno 18, 18M.
T, 11. Foster, ntli Regt.; onl. Nov. 26, 1804; discli. July 19, 1864.

Walter Hale, 20tli Regt.; onl, Aug. 18. 1804; died May 3, 186.3.

n. \. Barber, 2,id Regt.; onl. Sept. 0, 1802; disch. Aug. 31, 186).

Monn)e Thniop, 2.1d Regt.; onl. Sopt. 6, 1862; diach. Aug. 31, 1863.

W. H. Uunnell, 23d Rcgl.; onl. Sopt. 0, 1802.

Georgo Davies, 23d Regt,; onl. Sopt. 5, 1802; disch. Aug. 31, 1803.

C.J. Fish. 23d Regt.; onl. Sept. 4, 1802; disch, Aug. 31,1803.
Henry I'.iyne, 23d Regt.; onl. Sept, 5, ISO.'; disch. Aug, 31, 186.1.

Lyman Taylor, 2:id Regt.; enl. Sopt. 6, 1802; disch. Aug. 31, 1803.

A. C. Tracy, 23<l Hogt. ; onl. Sept. 5, 1802 ; disch. Aug. 31, 18G;I.

Frederick Nightingale, 25th Regt. ; enl. Oct, 20, 1802 ; disch, Aug, 20, 180.1.

Wllllum H. Yeuiiuans, 27lh Itogt, ; onl. Si-p'- 8. 1802 ; dbch. July 22, 1803.

Thomas Redding, 29th Regt. ; enl. Feb. 25, 1864 ; disch. Oct. 24, 1S65.

A. Ward, 29th Kegt, ; enl. Feb, 25, 1S64 ; disch. Oct. 24, 1865.

R, Lampman, 29th Regt.; enl, Dec. 14, 1863.

J, Edwards, 29th Kegt, ; enl. Dec. 28, 1803 ; died March 4, 1865.

C. V. Lampman, 29tli Regt.; eul. July 20, 1865; disch. Oct. 24, lf65.

John Blakemau, Co. F, Ist Cav. ; enl. J.xn. 6, 1863 ; disch. Aug. 2, 1865.

Charles Deliber, Co. F, 1st Cav.; enl. July 16, 1863; disch. Aug. 2, 1865.

M. Deviuey, Co. F, Ist Cav. ; eul, Nov. 1, 1804 ; disch. Aug. 2, 1865.

Plumb Johnson, Co. F, 1st Cav. ; enl. July 5, 1803 ; capt. May 5, 1864.

Heury Smith, Co. F, 1st Cav. ; enl. Nov. 20, 1864; disch. Aug. 2, 1805.

Levi H. Hull, Co. I, 1st Cav.; eul. Aug. 3, 1863; disch. Aug. 2, 1865.

Charles Marshall, Co. 1, 1st Cav. ; enl. Nov. 28, 1861 ; disch. Sept. 10, 1865.

N, H. Burnes, Co. L, 1st Cav.; eul. Jan. 5, 1864; disch. Aug. 2, 1865.

Charles Black, 1st Cav.; enl. April 20, 1864.

William Carnell, 1st Cav. ; enl. Nov. 23, 1864.

William Crimplc, enl. Nov. 26, 1804,

Nicholas Dinion, 1st Cav. ; enl, Nov, 23, 1864.

Jos. Dehaven, 1st Cav. ; enl. Nov. 23, 1804,

Charles Howe, 1st Cav,; enl, Nov, 29, 1864.

Charles Jones, 1st Cav.; enl. April 26, 1804.

E, Kelley, 1st Cav. ; eul. Nov. 15, 1804,

P. Mockin, 1st C.tv,; eul. Nov. 2t, 1864.

P, Slacabe, 1st Cav, ; enl, Nov. 26, 1804.

Henry Marsh, 1st Cav.; enl. Nov. 26, 1864.

Julo Parrit, 1st Cav.; eul, Nov. 28, 1864.

W. Philips, 1st Cav. ; enl. Nov. 26, 1804.

P. Kober, Ist Cav.; enl, July 27, 1863.

Jos. Smith, 1st Cav.; enl. Nov. 25, 18M.

diaries W. Wentworth, 1st Cav.; enl. April 29, 1804.

William Welch, enl. Dec. 2, 1864.

William Arnold, 2d C. Bat, ; eid. Feb. 23, 1864 ; disch. Aug. 9, 1865.

John Davis, 2d C. Bat.; enl. Feb. 24, l.'*64.

Jos. Hart, 2d C, Bat.; enl, Feb. 23, 1864; disch. Aug. 9, 1865.

W. S. Kimball, 2d C. Dat. ; onl. Fob. 23, 1864.

M. B. Lawrence, Co. A, 1st Cav. ; onl. Nov. 2, 1801 ; disch. Ang. 2, 1805.

Eli Parmolee, Co. A, 1st Cav.; enl. Nov. 2, 1801 ; disch. April 13, lsc:i.

Ezekiel Scovill, Co. A, 1st Cav. ; enl. Oct. 20, ISGl ; disch. Doc. 20, 1804.

Enos Tompkins, Co. A, lot Cav.; onl. Oct. 20, 1801 ; killed by lightning

July 16, 1802.

James O'Brien, Co. B, lot Cav, ; onl, Oct, 26, 1804; disch. Aug. 2, 1865.

Frank I'un it, Co, C, Ist Cav. ; eul, July 27, 1863 ; disch. Aug. 2, 1605.

r. C. Shumway, Co. C, Ist Cav.; onl. April 1, IStil; disch. Aug, 2, 1805.

S. A. Wheoler, Co. C, Isl Cuv.; eul. April I, 18G3; diach. June lu, 1865.

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES.

JULirs DEMIXO.

Julius Deming, an ciiiiiiciit uierclmnt of Litchfield,

was born in Lyme, Aj)ril 15, 1755. He was the fourth

in lineal descent frtmi .lohii Deininp, named in the

charter of (,'oniiecticut in 1<!(;2. Aftorserving through

the Kevolutionnrv war a.s dei>uty eoniinisisary -general

(with the rank of eaptjiiii of cavalry) under his uncle,

Gen. Epaphroditim Chaiupion, of Colchester, be com-
menced bu.sine!«s in Litchfield.

A gentleman of reniarltBhle energy and enterprise,

he soon vi.iited Lonilon, and made arrangements to

import his goods ilireet from that city, which prob-

ably was not true of any other country merchant in

Connectieut. He is universally recognized by our

citizens as the moat thorough and succi^ssful business

man who has ever spent his life among us. Prompt
in Ills engagements, scrupulously upright in his deal-

ings, and discreet and liberal in his benefactions, few

men in any community ever enjoyed more implicitly
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the confidence of all. Mr. Deming had little taste for

public life. He was three times elected a member of

the House of Representatives, and for several years

was one of the magistrates of this county. From 1801

to 1814, he served in the office of county treasurer.

His position and infiuenee were such that, had he

been an aspirant for political honors, there were few

oftices within the gift of the people of this State which
he might not have filled. He died in this town, Jan.

23, 1838, aged eighty-three years.

GIDEOX II. HOLLISTER.

Hon. Gideon H. Hollister was born at Washington,

Conn., Dec. 14, 1817. He graduated at Yale College

in 1840. He was the class poet, editor of the Yale
Lit., and first president of the Linonian Society, then

considered a great honor.

Studying with Judge Seymour, he was admitted to

the bar at the April term of the county court, 1842.

He began practice in Woodbury, but soon removed
to Litchfield, where, in 1843, he was appointed clerk

of the court, a position which he held, a single year

excepted, till 1852. In 185G he was elected to the

State Senate, where he was largely instrumental in

securing the election of Hon. James Dixon to the

United States Senate, and for many years, during

the time that Mr. Dixon was a power in Connecticut

politics, Mr. Hollister exercised great political influ-

ence in this part of the State. Both sided with An-
drew Johnson in his disagreement with Congress, and
both retired from the Repuljlican party with him.

He was a delegate to the Peace Convention which
met at Philadelphia at the close of the war of the

Rebellion, and in 1868 he was sent as Minister to

Hayti. On his return he lived for several years at

Stratford, practicing law in Bridgeport. He returned

to Litchfield in 1870, and represented the town in the

Legislature in 1880.

Mr. Hollister is best known, no doubt, as the his-

torian of Connecticut. His history, in two volumes,

was published In 1855, and he had designed and partly

written a revision of this work, which was intended

to include the war history of the State, and a volume
of historical sketches of its prominent men. Besides

the " History of Connecticut," he had written a novel,

"Mount Hope," in 1851, and, in 1866, "Thomas a

Becket, a Tragedy" (a work of unmistakable power),

and other poems. Of the latter some are very beau-

tiful, particularly the " Phantom Ship," founded on

incidents actually occurring in the early history of

New Haven, and the " Bride Brook," also founded

upon an incident of early Connecticut history.

At the bar Mr. Hollister was an uncommonly dex-

terous and forcible advocate, specially adroit in cross-

examination of witnesses. As a natural consequence

he was very powerful with a jury, often winning

verdicts where success seemed hopeless. He was the

most correct of speakers. His mere extempore speech,

always clothed in pure and powerful English, was as

elegant and complete in composition as good writing.

Hence he could easily accomplish the diflScult feat of

delivering an address part written and memorized
and part extempore, yet so thoroughly fused together,

and so excellent and uniform of structure, that no one
could separate the written from the extempore, nor

detect any flaw at the points of junction. No doubt
his thorough acquaintance with Shakspeare, Milton,

and Tennyson, with Burke and Webster, contributed

largely to the formation of a style of such unusual

excellence, but much was also due to powers and
ai)titudes such as nature has bestowed upon few.

Mr. Hollister was a most interesting man in con-

versation. His original way of treating every-day

subjects, of illuminating hard facts with irresistible

flashes of wit, and again of rising without effort into

the higher regions of fancy and poetry, as a hawk
slants up a hundred feet in the air without waving a

wing, gave him a truly wonderful power of fascination

by talk. Nor was he in the least overbearing in con-

versation, as is often the case with good talkers, but

added the force of unfailing politeness to marvelous

powers of persuasion, such as one must have felt to

have appreciated.

In 1847, Mr. Hollister married Miss Mary S. Bris-

bane, a native of Charleston, S. C, who survives him,

together with one of several children, now a member
of Trinity College, Hartford.

He was a consistent churchman, and a member of

St. Michael's Episcopal Church. He died March 24,

1881.

REV. HIRAM STONE.

The Rev. Hiram Stone was born in Bantam Falls,

town of Litchfield, July 25, 1824. He was the son

of Russell Stone, and grandson of Thomas Stone, a

non-commissioned officer in the Revolutionary war.

His four ancestral lines are traced directly to Eng-

land, one of which is known to extend back to the

thirteenth century. His parents died, leaving him in

orphanage at an early age. Supporting himself by

secular employment, he at length realized the desire,

cherished in his youth, of entering the ministry of the

Protestant Episcopal Church. After several years of

preparatory study in private, he became a candidate

for holy orders in this diocese, and in October, 1851,

entered the Berkeley Divinity School, then in its in- i

cipiency, at Hartford, and connected with Trinity
|

College. Having completed his theological course,

and in the mean time pursuing some studies in the

college department, he was ordained a deacon, Oct.
j

2, 1853, by Rt. Rev. T. C. Brownell, in Christ Church,
'

Hartford. The next six months were spent in South

Glastonbury, Conn., as assistant to the Rev. Dr. A.

B. Chapin. In April, 1854, he accepted the charge

of St. John's Church, Essex, Conn., and on the 19th

of November was therein ordained a priest by the
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Rt. Eev. John Williams, assistant bishop. April 10,

1855, he married Miss Wealthy Ann Lewis, of Had-
dam, Conn.

In answer to an earnest appeal, he accepted an ap-

pointment from the Board of Missions, New York
City, as the first accredited missionary to Kansas, his

support being assumed by St. Paul's Church, New
Haven. Resigning his parish, he left Essex May
12, 1856, for his field of missionary labor, which at

that time was convulsed with civil discord heretofore

unknown to American history. The settlement of

Kansas was just begun, which inaugurated that period

familiarly known as the "border ruflBan times." A
fierce controversy was being urged between the Free-

Soil party of the North and the Pro-slavery of the

South, each desperately determined on supplanting

the other for partisan ends. While on his journey

intelligence was received that the town of Lawrence
had been sacked, throwing the whole Territory into

the wildest alarm. Deeming it not prudent to enter

Kansas in the midst of this scene of tumult and blood,

he took temporary charge of a vacant parish in Wau-
kesha, Wis., and there waited an abatement of hos-

tilities.

In autumn, leaving his wife and chief effects be-

hind, he resumed his route, arriving at Leavenworth
City Nov. 24, 1856. He found things there in the

most dire confusion. Thousands of desperate people

had come to the territory armed with deadly weapons,

every man prepared to take care of himselfand carry

out his purpose. Some had been murdered and others

driven away, both parties inflicting vengeance with-

out stint as occasion or opportunity oflfered. Hence
the newly-organized Territory received the very per-

tinent title of "deeding Kansas." In the midst of

these surroundings an organization wa.s effected, Dec.

10, 1856, under the name of St. Paul's Church. This

was the first Episcopal parish in the Territory, which
at that time extended westward to the Rocky Moun-
tains, and out of wliicli several States and Territories

have since been erected. The wife of tiie missionary

joined him April 9, 1857. Religious services were

conducted from the outset as opportunities admitted,

sometimes in a business house or private dwelling,

and occasionally in tiic open air. After considerable

effort a church edifice was erected, and consecrated

Nov. 7, 1858, by Rt. Rev. Jackson Kemper, mission-

ary bishop. September, 1859, Mr. Stone was ap-

pointed post chaplain at Fort Leavenworth, distant

three miles from the city, and, resigning his parish, he

entered upon military service. During the four ycare

of the war he discharged duty at tliii outpost, wiiere it

wa.s greatly exposed on the border of a slave-holding

State.

October, lK(i5, he attended the General Convention,
in the city of Philadelphia, as a deputy of the Kansas
diocese. Oct. 5, 1866, a son was born, named Lewis
Iliram. June, 1808, by an order from tlio War
Department, he was transferred to Fort Sully, Da-

n

kota, arriving there after a passage of three weeks,

ascending by steamer the Missouri River. Here a

daughter was born, Sept. 28, 1869, named Carrie

Louisa. May 21, 1870, his wife died in garrison, after

a distressing and protracted illness. Soon after this

he went East on leave of absence, at the expiration of

which he was transferred to Fort Totten, Dakota.

Here he remained until June, 1872, when he was

assigned to Fort Wadsworth, Dakota, where he en-

tered on duty. January, 1876, he tendered hia resig-

nation, which was duly accepted by President Grant.

Having dissolved his connection with the United

States army, in which he had served for more than

sixteen years, he accepted the charge of St. Paul's

Church, Bantam Falls, and Trinity Church, Milton,

officiating in each of these on alternate Sundays. He
is still in charge of these churches, residing at Ban-

tam Falls, where he was born, and where his ancestors

lived for several generations.

JOHN P. BRACE.

In losing Mr. John P. Brace, who died in Litch-

field on the morning of the 18th of October, 1872,

aged eighty years, the State lost one of those men
who did, in a quiet way, so much to make Connec-

ticut honored wherever e<lucation and intelligence

are respected. His name is revered in thousands of

families throughout the land, as one of the most suc-

cessful teachers this " cradle of instructors" has pro-

duced. Mrs. Stowe—no mean authority on such a

subject—speaks of him in the life of her father as

follows (pp. 534-555) :

" iMr. Dmcu wan one of tlie nio!.t fttiniulating and inspiriting instnic.

ton I over knew, lie wua hintself widely iiifunneil, nu eiitltiitiiuit it)

botany, mineralogy, and the natnrut sciences generally, benideit being

well read in EnglUh classical literature. The conxtant cuiivonMUion

which he kept np un theite triples tended nmrc to ilovelop tlie mind and

innpire a love of literature than any mote rxuitine stutlies. The l-oys

were Incited liy hia example to set up minoralogical culdnets, and my
brother George (Beecher) tramped over tlie hilln in the train of hit*

teacher, witli hii stone hammer on his shouldem, for many delightful

hours. Alany more were spent in recounting lo me tlie stores of ulsdoui

derived (rom Mr. Bruce, who, ho told mo with pride, corres|ioiided with

geologists and botanists in Kurojw, exchanging s|Hvimens witii them.

Tills sclnsii was tlie only one I ever knew which really carried out a

thorough ciiirso of ancient and modern history. . . . Tlio interest of

tinise historical recitations, willi a professor so wiilely informed and so

foscinittitig in conversation as Mr. Brace, rxtolidrd farther tlinti hiscloss.

Much of the training and inspiration of my early days consisted, not in

the tilings wliici) 1 was sup|i^wed to li« stndyiiig, but ill hc«riug, while

seated unnoticed at my desk, tlieconversatitui of Mr. Draco with tlio older

classes. Thero from hour to hour I liHteneil with eager oars to historical

criticisms aiitl discussions, or to recitations In such works as * Palsy's

Moral Philosophy,' ' Blair's Rliolurtc,' 'Alison on Tast*,' all full of moat

awakening stiggestlons to my thoughts.

" Sir. Draco excelle«l all teachore I evor know in the faculty of teach-

ing composition. The constant excitement in which he kept tlio miiitb

of his pupils—the wide and various regions of thought into which lie led

them—formeil a pre|ianitioii for teaching comiKisition, the main miuisile

for wliicli, whatever pet>ple may think, is to liavo something Ititerrsting

to siiy. His manner Wiui to divide Ids school of aUiut a hundred Into

divisions of threo or four, one of whicli was to write every week. .\t

tlio samo time lie inspirtMl an ambition by calling for volunteers every

week, and thero were some who voluuloerud lo wilto every week.
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"I remember I could have been but Dine years old, and my handwriting

liardly formed, when the enthusiasm he inspired led nie, greatly to his

aniusenient, I believe, to write every week. The first week tlie su! ject

chosen by the class was ' The DiflFereuce Between the Natural and Moral

Sublime.' One may smile at tliis for a child nine year^ of age; but it is

the best account I can give of his manner of teaching to say, that the

discussion lie held in the class not only made me u[iderstand the subject

as thoroughly as I do now, but so excited me that 1 felt sure I had some-

thing to say upon it, and that first composition, though I believe half the

words were misspelled, amused him greatly. It was not many weeks I

had persevered in this way before I received a word of public commen-
dation, for it was hi-s custom to read all the compositions aloud before the

gcliool, and if tliere was a good point it was sure to be noticed.

"As you may see, our subjects were not trashy or sentimental, such as

are often supposed to be the style for female schools. By two years of

constant practice under bis training and suggestion, I had gained so far

as to be appointed one of the writers for the annual e-\liibition, a proud

distinction as I then viewed it. The subject assigned me was one that

had been fully discussed in the school in a manner to show to the utmost

Mr. Brace's peculiar jiower of awakening the minds of his pupils to the

higher regions of thought. The question was, 'Can the Immortality of

the Soul be Proved by the Light of Nature?'

"

Mr. Brace's acquirements were vast and multi-

farious. He was fitted thoroughly in the studies of

the three professions—law, medicine, and theology

—

and could have entered any one with honor. His

knowledge of ancient and modern history was both

wide and minute. In mineralogy he had made exten-

sive researches and collections ; in botany he was a

correspondent of De Candolle and other European
botanists, and his valuable herbarium will be found

a treasure-house of collections. Even in out-of-the-

way subjects of investigation, such as heraldry, astrol-

ogy, the deciphering of ciphers, and composing of

music, he was singularly well versed. But his great

talent and his services were in the comparatively un-

known, but most useful, field of teacher.

Mrs. Stowe, in her novel of " Old Town Folks," has

pictured some of his methods and himself under the

name of " Rossiter." His ingenuity, invention, pa-

tience, and vast memory, with his passion for impart-

ing knowledge, made him an unequaled teacher. So

busy was his useful life that he never wrote any

scientific or scholastic work, such as he easily might,

but left his record and work in the minds and lives

of thousands whom he educated, and who still love

his memorj'.

Mr. Brace was first teacher of the famous acad-

emy of Litchfield, which was for so many years

the leading educational institution for young ladies

in New England, under the superintendence of the

Misses Pierce. Subsequently (in 1882) he became prin-

cipal of the Hartford Female Seminary, which, under

his guidance, became equally celebrated. In these

two institutions Mr. Brace trained many young ladies

who have since become leading women in society,

charities, or literature throughout the land; among
them Mrs. H. B. Stowe, Mrs. Isabella B. Hooker,

Mrs. Cyrus W. Field, Mrs. Cornelius Du Bois, of

New York ; Mrs. AVilson, of Brooklyn ; Mrs. Marshall

O. Roberts; Mrs. Bliss and Mrs. Van Lennep, of

Hartford (the missionaries) ; Mrs. McCullough, the

wife of the United States secretary of the treasury,

and numerous others who became wives of ministers

or missionaries. No teacher in the United States has

ever^had so many influential and intelligent pupils.

Subsequently to these efforts Mr. Brace entered the

editorial profession, and was for a number of years

the editor of The Hartford Daily Cnurant. For the

past nine years he has been living in quiet and com-

fort on the old homestead in the village of Litchfield,

enjoying the treasures of his ample library, and the

society of friends and pupils who gratefully remem-
bered " the faithful teacher." To the last he pre-

served his exquisite feeling for nature ; birds and
flowers were his pleasure almost in his dying mo-
ments, and the last names he forgot were the botan-

ical. Even historical dates were remembered by him
when many a personal event had passed from his

memory.

He died in a genial old age, tended with unceasing

care by his devoted wife, and most sincerely mourned
by this community.

The only original literary works that Mr. J. P.

Brace left behind him were monographs on scientific

subjects, and a few poems and works of fiction.

His great work—and one never to decay or pass

away—is in the mental training he imparted to thou-

sands of youthful minds throughout the country.

His first wife was from a family well known in

Maine for talent and character. Miss Lucy Porter,

sister of Mrs. Dr. Lyman Beecher and descendant of

the Hon. Rufus King. By her his surviving chil-

dren are C. L. Brace, J. P. Brace, Jr., and Mrs. J. W.
Skinner. He married again—Miss Louisa Moreau,

of this city. He was also connected through his

sister with the Hon. Charles G. Loring, the late dis-

tinguished lawyer of Boston.

JOHN CATLIN.

John Catlin is of English ancestry, and was born in

Litchfield, Conn., May 23, 1814. His father, Levi,

was son of Thomas, and also was born in Litchfield.

He (Levi) married Anna E. Landon, and had eight

children, John being the fifth. He was a farmer, and

lived three miles southeast of Litchfield village. He
was a Whig in politics, and held several town offices.

He was born Nov. 11, 1772, and died Oct. 16, 1841.

Mrs. Catlin was born Jan. 6, 1779, and died Sept. 24,

1868. Thomas Catlin was a farmer, a soldier in the

Revolution, was captain, reared a family, and died

aged ninety-three years. The children of Levi were

Setb, Daniel, Avis, Ellis, John, Achsah, Guy, and

Levi. All save Achsah married and had children.

John Catlin received the advantages of a common-

school and academic education, and wrought as a

farmer during the summer until he was nineteen, when

he determined to delve deeper into learning. He
carried his determination into action, and was grad-

uated from Yale College in 1839. Upon graduation

he began to teach at Northfield, Conn. ; then taught at
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Litchfield, then returned to Northfield and taught a

private school, continuing there several years, work-
ing on the farm during the summer. Giving up
teaching he became a merchant at Northfield, and
continued in trade eight years. He was postmaster

of Northfield many years, and held it under Lincoln's

administration. In politics he was In early life a

Whig. From the formation of the Republican party

he advocated its principles. He was magistrate for

many yeare and school visitor. He is director and a

stockholder in the Northfield Knife Company. At
the age of seventeen years he united with the Congre-
gational Church, and is now deacon, which oflBce was
first given him over thirty years ago.

He married, May 19, 1840, Laura, daughter of Sher-
man and Polly (Tompkins) Humiston, of Northfield.

She was a native of that town, and born Oct. 1, 1813.

Their children were Frank H. (now president of North-
field Knife Company), Mary H. (died young), John
Howard (secretary of Northfield Knife Company), and
James P., a farmer on the homestead.

Sherman Humiston, son of John, was born in North-
field, Conn., Sept. 24, 1789. He married Polly Tomp-
kins, who was born May 5, 1790. He was a thorough
and successful former, and died March 1, 1828. His
wife died Jan. 6, 18(iO. John Humiston came from
West Haven or vicinity, and was among the very

early settlers of Northfield. He was a farmer. The
first house he built in Litchfield is still standing.

FRANK LI\ n. C.^TLIX.

Franklin H. Catlin, son of John and Laura H.
Catlin, was born in Litchfield, Conn., July 22, 1841.

After fair educational advantages througli boyhood,
entered the village store in Northfield sis clerk, re-

maining some five years ; then attended the Litchfield

Academy a short time, when he entered Kastman
Business College, at Pouglikeejisie, N. Y., graduating
in May, 18G2.

In January, 181)3, accepted the office of secretary
of the Northfield Knife Company, which he held two
years, wlien he was elected president and trciisurer of
the same corporation, taking entire charge of tlie

business at the most critical jieriod of ii.s history,

since which time his record has been closely identi-
fied witii that of this company, and he has continu-
ously held and still retains the office to which he was
then elected.

He married, November, 1871, Julia M. Lynum,
daughter of Uufus and Sarah Lyman, of New Hart-
ford, Conn.

Politically is a .staunch Kopublican; usually, how-
ever, not taking an active part in politics, personal
attention to the extensive detail of the cutlery busi-
ness leaving little time for other matters.

MYRON O.SBORX.

Myron Osborn is of Welsh descent. His great-

grandfather, Benjamin Osborn, came from East
Hampton, L. I., and settled in Litchfield, Conn., with

his family about 1736. He was born in 1692, and
died in 1762. He was a farmer by occupation, and
had much to do in shaping the public mind of his day.

He married Elizabeth
, and had the following

children,—viz. : Benjamin, Jr., Samuel, John, Be-

thiah (wife of Ebenezer Beebe), and Rev. Sylvanus,

who was a pastor of a Congregational Church in the

town of Warren for many years ; his widow married

Rev. Mr. Day, of New Preston, and became the mother
of Thomas and Noble Day.

Capt. John Osborn, third son of Benjamin and Eliza-

beth Osborn, was born in the town of Litchfield, Conn.

;

married Lois Peck, and had the following children

:

John, Ethan, Eliada, Heman (died young), Elizabeth,

Rebecca, Anna, and Thalia, all of whom became heads

of families. Capt. John Osborn rendereil valuable aid

to the American army during the Revolutionary war.

He and his wife were members of the Congregational

Church. After living an honorable and useful life as

a farmer, he died Jan. 4, 1814, aged eighty-four years,

and his wife died in 1819.

Eliada, son of John Osborn, was born in Litchfield,

Conn., and was twice married.

His children were as follows, viz.: Myron, John,
Rebecca, Elisha M., Nathan L., and Eliada, all of
whom grew to manhood and womanhood, and what
was more remarkable, there was not a death among
the children until after the youngest was more than

sixty years of age. Eliaila Osborn was a tiirmer by
occupation and a man much esteenie<l. He was for

many years connected with the State militia, and
was known as Capt. Eliada Osborn. In politics he
was a Federalist and Whig. He died at the age of

eighty-seven years, and his wife at eighty years. She
was a member of the Congregational Church.

Myron Osborn, the immediate subject of this sketch,

is the eldest son of Eliada, and was born on the 28th

of September, 1796, hence is at the present time (1881

)

in the eighty-fifth year of his age.

Mr. Osborn remainecl at lionie on his father's farm
receiving such educational advantagesas the schools of

his clay alfordcd. .\t eigliteen he commenced to work
for one Orin Judd, as an apprentice to the carpenter's

and joiner's trade. After three years he began to work
for himself at one ilollar a day, and the most he ever
received was one dollar and a quarter a day. I )ne of
the first houses lie built was his own, which was erected

in 1S22. He used to take contract.^ to build residences

and other buildings, and many are the substantial

hou.ses in and around Utchfield that are standing
monuments of his superior workmanship. In 1S40

he began the nuinufaclure of linseed oil at Itantam
Falls, with I'hilip S. Il«ebe, wliich he rolloHcii r.ome

twelve years, since which time he has been engaged
in agriculture.
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]Mr. Osborii has been successful iu whatever he has

undertaken. He is. hale and he.arty, genial, social,

and hospitable. He owns a good iarm west of the

village of Litchfield. In politics he is a Republican.

He married Enieline Goodwin, daughter of Capt.

Erastus Goodwin, of South Farms, Conn., Dec. 22,

1824. She was born Sept. 25, 1800. Both Mr. and

Mrs. Osborn are members of the Congregational

Church, and have been a great many years. Their

children are,—(1) Caroline M., wife of George Ken-

ney, of Litchfield
; (2) Cornelia, at home

; (3) Eliza-

beth, died at six years of age
; (4) Julia E., wife of

George William Mason, an intelligent farmer in

Litchfield
; (5) Eliada G., was a sergeant-major in

Company A, Second Connecticut Heavy Artillery,

and lost his life in front of Petersburg, March 25,

1865. He left one daughter, Katie Goodwin. His

widow married ex-Govcrnor Charles B. Andrews, of

Litchfield; ((J) Jlyron M., died young.

AMOS BIS.SELL.

Amos Bissell was born in Litchfield, Conn., July

15, 1798. He was tlie son of Benjamin Bissell, a Rev-

olutionary soldier, who settled in Litchfield more than

a century ago. He had a large family of twelve chil-

dren,—seven d.aughters and five sons. All the daugh-

ters and four of the sons grew to adult age. He was

an extensive farmer and large land-owner. He died

at the age of seventy- one years.

Amos, the immediate subject of this sketch, spent

his early life on the home-farm, and, after the death

of his tiither, took charge of the farm and assisted

his mother in the family. At her death the estate was

distributed, and Amos received two hundred acres of

land, near the old home, where he has since resided.

He has added other lands, and now has a large and

fine farm. He was married when twenty-eight years

of age to Lydia Bridgman Hall, daughter of David

Hall, of Litchfield. She died June 12, 1863, aged

sixty-one years, having been the mother of seven chil-

dren, five of whom are now living : Edward is a law-

yer at Fon du Lac, Wis. ; William is a physician in

Salisbury, Conn. ; Elizabeth died when a young woman

;

Julia is the wile of Dr. Allen, residing iu the State of

New York ; Lyman died when a child ; Dwight, who

occupies the home-farm, and has the principal care

of the family, married Elizabeth, daughter of Sey-

mour Pickett, of Waterbury ; they have three chil-

dren, and have buried one ; Mary, the youngest

daughter, is unmarried and lives at home. And now,

after a long and industrious life of more than four-

score years, we find this venerable citizen in the en-

joyment of good health and the respect of all. He
has been a consistent member of the Congregational

Church many years.

THE BISSELL FAMILY.

It is probable that the Bissell family is of Huguenot

descent, many of whom fled from France to England

to escape the persecutions which followed the mas-

sacre of St. Bartholomew in 1572. The family in

England is little known, and has but one coat of

arms, which is of a religious, rather than warlike,

character. It is thus described in " Burke's Complete

Armory" :

" Bissell, Gu. on a bend, ar. ; three escallops, sa. Crest, a demi-eagle

with wings displayed, sa. charged on the neck with an escallop shell, or."

The family of John, who came to Windsor, Conn.,

is the only one of the name known to have come

to this country. Tradition asserts that they came

from Somersetshire County, England, to Plymouth iu

1628.

John came to Windsor, where he first appears in

1640. Here he received the monopoly of the " Scantic

Ferry," was the first settler on the east side of the

Connecticut River, and the founder of a numerous,

energetic, and honorable family even to the pres-

ent day.

John Bissell, Sr., died Oct. 3, 1677, aged eighty-

six ; his wife died May 21, 1641.

Children,—John, born in England; Thomas, born

in England ; Mary, born in England, married Jacob

Drake, 1649; Samuel ; Nathaniel, born Sept. 24, 1640;

Joice, married Samuel Pinney.

SECOND GENERATION.

John, Jr., married Izrel Mason, of Saybrook.

Thomas, married Abigail Moore, 1655 ; settled on

the east side of the river, and died July 31, 1689.

Children,—Thomas, born 1656 ; Abigail, born 1658

;

John, born 1660 ; Joseph, born 1663 ; Elizabeth,

born 1666 ; Benjamin, born 1669 ;
Sarah, born 1671

;

Isaac, born ; Esther, born 1677 ; Ephraim, born

1680.

THIRD GENERATION.

Isaac Bissell, born 1673; married Elizabeth Osborn,

May 2, 1706 ; moved to Litchfield and became the

founder of the Litchfield branch of his family ; died

Nov. 6, 1744; she died June 15, 1761. He bought

one-sixtieth part of Litchfield (about seven hundred

acres) for four hundred and fifty pounds ; also bought

a lot in North Street for ninety pounds, April 16,

1730, on which he settled in 1730. The "old red

house," built by him about 1740, was at the time of

its demolition, in 1853, the oldest house in town.

The Congregational parsonage now stands (1881) on

the site of the " old red house" built in 1740.

Children,—Elizabeth, born Feb. 4, 1707, probably

died young ; Isaac, Jr., born March 9, 1709 ; Abigail,

born Jan. 16, 1711, married Thomas Catlin, May,

1732 ; Sarah, born Feb. 3, 1713, married James Kil-

bourn, Sept. 11, 1733; Joel, born Jan. 1, 1714; Ben-

jamin, born July 2, 1717; Roger, born March 24,
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1718 ; George, born March 24, 1720 ; Joseph, born

Sept. 7, 1722 ; Zebulon, born 1724.

FOURTH GENERATIOS.

Zebulon, born 1724, married Abigail Smith ; was

a soldier of the Revolution in Capt. Bezaleel Beebe's

company ;* was taken prisoner at Fort Washington

;

died at Woodbury on his way home, as was supposed

from the effects of poison given to him, previous to

an exchange of prisoners, by the British ; was the

oldest man in Capt. Beebe's company ; estate settled

in 1777.

Children,—Zebulon, Jr., born Oct. 3, 1751 ; Ben-

jamin, born Jan. 15, 1754 ; Rhoda, born April 5,

1760, married Arunah Blakeslee ; Abigail, married

John Landon.

FIFTH GENERATION.

Zebulon, Jr., married Sarah Watkins, Jan. 13,

1774.

Children,—John, born Feb. 10, 1776, married Kate

Marsh, of Litchfield ; was a merchant in Utica and

Albany ; also built a house in Litchfield, on East

Street, where he resided many years ; died in 1856

;

had children,—Samuel (deceased), John, and Edward
(lawyers in New York City).

Benjamin, born Jan. 15, 1754, married Esther

Benton, Feb. 21, 1779 ; he died Feb. 28, 1825, aged

seventy-one. She died Dec. 27, 1840, aged eighty-

three.

Children,— Rebecca, born Feb. 9, 1782, married

William Smitli, of Clienango, N. Y. ; Anna, born

Dec. 14, 1784, married Levi lloyt, of Cooperstown,

N. Y. ; Nathaniel, born Dec. 31, 1786, married, first,

Anna Smith, of Middlebury, Conn. ; second, Sarah

Marsh, of Litchfield, and had children,—Erastus S.,

Henry B., Ralph, Frederick, .Julia A., and Charles;

Benjamin married Melissa Post, of Canaan, Conn.,

February, 1822, and had children,—Oscar, Benjamin,

George, Augustus, Lawrence, and Mcli.ssa ; Eunice,

born Feb. 10, 1790, died unmarried ; Abigail, born

Feb. 19, 1792, married John (Jriswold, and had a

daughter, Cornelia (married Dr. Charles Vaill)
;

Rachel, born Sept. 18, 1793, married Jonathan North, !

of Greene Co., N. Y. ; Dotlia, born Oct. 18, 1795, mar- ,

ried John Landers, of Broome t'o., N. Y. ; Herman,
born Jan. 16, 1797, married Anna Peck, Nov. 30, 1820,

and had children,—Leonard C, David O., Julius (de-

ceased), Harriet, Frances J., Julius (2d) ; the family

removed to Fon du Lac, Wis.; Amos, born July 16,

1799, married Lydia Hall, JLircli 15, 1827, and had chil-

dren,—E;dward, William, Elizabeth, Julia, Dwight,

Mary. Julia married Lyman J. Smith.

* It is related of Cnpt. no»ileel neelie, by hia •on, the Uto Wlllliim '

Beebo, timt In nftpr-yonrH lie litui many vl»itn from tlie KoVMtutiuiiury

Mldlore formerly of his (-om|iiiiiy. Miiiiy of lliem, In RjiendlnK the Imnrv

In visiting Willi tlieir old cniitain, would recount tlie iMittlen, murrliea,

and ini|idHonniunt8 ttiey luiii gone through to^utiier. Wliilo tliey liilketi

tlie teura would roll down tlieir aged clieokfi. In tellilig of tlie liimliil)l|i«

and iirivatioiia tbey Imd endured in the camp and marclio6 of that event*

ful JHTlwI. '

Henry B. Bissell, son of Nathaniel Bissell, was

born April 10, 1814. He received a common-school

education ; married Clarissa M., daughter of Capt.

Samuel Wright, of Milton, Conn., April 7, 1841.

They had nine children, of whom six are now liv-

ing. He is by occupation a farmer. He is a member
of the Congregational Church in Litchfield, and was

chosen deacon May, 1858.

ELIADA KILBOURX.

Eliada Kilbourn is of English descent, and a lineal

descendant of the seventh generation from Thomas
Kilborne (as the name was formerly spelled), who was

the ancestor of all the Ivilbourns in Connecticut, and

most of those in other States of the Union and in

Canada. Said Thomas Kilborne was born in 1580,

during the reign of Queen Elizabeth, and with his

family, consisting of wife, Frances, and children, viz.,

Margaret, Lydia, Marie, Frances, and John, embarked

from London, England, on the 15th of April, 1635, in

the ship " Increa.se," Robert Lea master. The family

settled at Wethersfield, Conn. Thomas Kilborne died

previous to Dec. 25, 1640, as appears from tlie Weth-

ersfield Land Records, Book L, page 135.

SECOND GENERATION.

Sergt. John Kilborne, only son of Thomas and

Frances Kilborne, was born in 1625, consequently was

only ten years of age when he came to America with

his parents. His name appears on the Wethersfield

Records as early as Sept. 24, 1647, and was a land-

holder as early as May 20, 1649. Though history has

neglected to chronicle his deeds, his name, neverthe-

less, appears consjiicuous upon the "Old Colonial Rec-

ords" for a period of nearly half a century. He
seems to have been an active, energetic spirit in the

little colony, and to have possessed in no small degree

the confidence of his fellow-colonists. He married

Naomi in 16.VI. She ilied Oct. 1, 1659, leaving

three children, viz., John, Tliomas, and Naomi. He
then married Sarah , by whom he lia<l Ebcnezer,

Sarah, George, Mary, Joseph, and Abraham. He
died April 9, 1703, and his wife died Dec. 4, 1711,

aged seventy years.

TIIIKD GKNERATION.

Joseph Kilborne, third son of John Kilborne by

his wife Sarah, was born in Wethersfield, Conn., about

1672, and was married to Dorothy, daughter of Dea-

con Samuel Butler, June 4, 1696. She died Aug. 19,

1709, and he married, for his second wife, Hester,

ilaughtcr of Jacob Gibbs, of Windsor, June 29, 1710.

By his first marriage he hail the following children,

viz., Dorothy, .losepli, Jonathan, and .lames. By

his second marriage, Benjamin, Hester, Elizabeth,

and Mary. Joseph Kilborne was one of the first set-

tlers of Litchfield, Conn., and one of the founders of

the Presbvterian Church in Litchfield. On the 12th
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of December, 1721, lie was admitted an inhaliitant of

Litchfield, and on the 17th of December, 1722, he was
chosen a selectman, and on the 26th of December,

1722, he was appointed, with two others, "A commit-

tee for building the meeting-house." He filled vari-

ous offices of trust until his death, probably in the

year 1744.

FOURTH GENERATION.

Capt. Joseph Kilbourn (the 2d), son of Joseph Kil-

bourn by his wife Dorothy, was born in Wethersfield,

Conn., July 9, 1700, and emigrated to Litchfield, Conn.,

with his father in 1721, where he married Abigail

Steckwell, Nov. 12, 1723. He held nearly all the

offices of trust and honor in the town, and was a rep-

resentative from Litchfield to the Colonial Legislature

in October, 1752, and in May, 1753. On the organi-

zation of the Episcopal Society in Litchfield, he gave

to said society " one-third of an hundred acre lot sit-

uated in South Farms." He was a farmer, as his an-

cestors had been, and lived one-half mile west of the

village of Litchfield. He died in 175C, having sur-

vived his wife some eight years. His children were

as follows,—Elisha, Benjamin, Jeremiah, Kuth, Sol-

omon, Charles, Catharine, Anna, and Abigail.

FIFTH GENERATION.

Solomon Kilbourn, fourth son of Capt. Joseph Kil-

bourn, was born in Litchfield, March 1, 1736; married

Anna Palmer, April 8, 1756, and died July 30, 1806.

He was a farmer by occupation. His children were

Rachel, Hannah, Jeremiah, Solomon, Anna Olive,

AVhitman, and Sibbil (also spelled Sybbel.)

SIXTH GENERATION.

Whitman Kilbourn, third son of Solomon Kilbourn,

was born in Litchflelj^, Conn., April 12, 1772 ; married

Thala, daughter of Capt. John Osborn, April 7, 1800.

Their children were as follows : Myron, Ethan, Lewis,

Eliada, Amanda, and James. His daughter, Amanda,
married James B. Peck, of Litchfield. Jlr. Kilbourn

was a farmer by occupation and a Whig, or more
properly now (1881) known as Eepublican, in politics.

He died June 18, 1843, and his wife died May 8, 1865,

in the eighty-ninth year of her age.

SEVENTH GENERATION.

Eliada Kilbourn was born in Litchfield, Conn., Feb-

ruary, 1809. He remained at home with his parents

till their death, when he became the owner of the
" old homestead." He married Mary Ann, daughter

of Deacon Charles Dudley, of Litchfield, Conn., Nov.

1, 1843, and to them have been born four children,

viz., Myron E., born Nov. 1, 1844, married and re-

sides in Wisconsin ; Charles D., born April 22, 1847

;

Caroline, born March 25, 1850 ; and Florella M. A.,

born July 5, 1853. Caroline married Frank W. Gris-

wold, a farmer of Goshen ; Florella M. A. married

Fremont M. Grunins, a farmer in Litchfield. Mr.

Kilbourn ha.s always been a farmer, and a man uni-

versally respected. In politics a Republican. Mr.
and Mrs. Kilbourn are members of the Congregational

Church in Litchfield. His son, Charles D., has con-

trol of the home-farm, which consists of some two
hundred acres, which is in a good state of cultivation.

In politics he is a Republican, and a member of the

Congregational Church. He married Matilda E. Nor-
ton, of Norfolk, Oct. 4, 1876, and has one son, Harry N.

NOAH GUERNSEY.

Noah Guernsey was a son of Noah Guernsey, who
settled in Litchfield, near Northfield, Conn., at an

early day, and was born on his father's farm, April 10,

1793. He married Amanda Crosby, May, 1816. She
was born Jan. 29, 1795, and is still hale and hearty,

and retains much of the vigor of youth, though she

is in the eighty-seventh year of her age. Their chil-

dren were William H. (deceased) ; Julia A., wife of

Guy Catlin (deceased) ; Egbert, a prominent physi-

cian in New York City; Noah (deceased) ; and Har-
riet (deceased). Mr.- Guernsey was a farmer by occu-

pation, as his father had been before him. He took a

deep interest in political matters, and often held the

more important offices in his town. As a Whig, he

was often a selectman of the town. Mr. and Mrs.

Guernsey were members of the Congregational Church.

He died April 16, 1873. He was honest, sober, indus-

trious, and economical. He was esteemed and re-

spected by all who knew him. His widow is residing

with her only living daughter, Mrs. Guy Catlin, about

one mile northwest of Northfield, Conn.

GUY CATLIN.

Guy Catlin, son of Levi Catlin, was born Oct. 9,

1819, on the farm in Litchfield, Conn., where he con-

tinued to reside till his death, Feb. 11, 1861. His

advantages for an education were limited to the com-

mon schools of his day except a year spent in the

Litchfield Academy. On the 23d of May, 1843, he

married Julia A., daughter of Noah and Amanda
Guernsey, of Litchfield, Conn., and to them were born

Amelia G., a teacher in San Francisco, Cal. ; Alice A.,

a teacher in New York City ; and Austin H., a con-

ductor on the New York Central and Hudson River

Railroad. Mr. Catlin was a successful business man
and farmer, and although he died in the prime of life,

he left his fiimily in comfortable circumstances. He
was a staunch Republican in politics. He was a

quiet, unassuming man, courteous towards all, and

charitable to those who diflered from him. The Cat-

lin fiimily is one of the olde.st, as well as one of the

most highly esteemed families in Litchfield, and the

subject of this sketch inherited some of the noble

qualities of head and heart of his honored ancestors.
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HENRY W. BUEL, M.D.

Henry W. Buel, M.D., son of Samuel Buel, M.D.,

who was a practicing physician of eminence in Litch-

field for more than forty years, was born April 7,

1820. In 1840 entered Yale College, and graduated

in 1844, receiving the degree of A.B., and in 1847

the degree of A.M. Immediately after leaving col-

lege commenced the study of medicine, at first with

his father, and subsequently in the offices of Dr. W.
P. Buel and Dr. Gordon Buck, of New York City, at

the same time attending the courses of lectures at the

College of Physicians and Surgeons of that city.

Keceiving the appointment ofjunior walker in the old

New York Hospital he passed regularly through the

grades of junior and senior walker, one year in each
;

and finally, after receiving the degree of M.D. from the

college, was appointed house-surgeon at the hospital,

and served the regular period of one year, remaining
also a short time longer in that position, and receiv-

ing a certificate of recommendation from the governors

and surgeons of the hospital. Upon leaving the New
York Hospital, in 1849, was appointed resident physi-

cian of Sanford Hall, Flushing, L. I., which position

he occupied five years. In 1854 returned to Litch-

field; in 1856 revisited Europe; and in the year 1858

commenced the institution now known as "Spring
Hill Home for Nervous Invalids." Has been presi-

dent of the Connecticut Medical Society, of the

Litchfield Medical Society, member of the State

board of charities, and was also appointed by Gov-
ernor Hubbard one of three commissioners to ex-

amine into and report upon the need of provision for

the indigent insane of the State.

PAYNE KENYON KILBOURNE, A.M.

Payne Kenyon Kilbourne (son of Chauncey and
Hannah Kenyon Kilbourne) wa.s born in Litchfield,

Conn., July 26, 1815. He was bred a printer, in the

office of the late Nathan Wliiting, Esq., long known
as the editor of the Relif/ioun Inldligencer, the first

and oldest religious newspaper in the world. At the

age of eigiiteen years lie commenced writing for the

periodicals of the day, both in prose and verse, and
soon achieved a respectable reputation in that depart-

ment of literature. In the spring of 1836, Mr. Storer,

proprietor of The Literary Kmporium, oftered a series

of prizes for the best tales and poems that should be
written for tiiut jjaper. The committee of award
consisted of Mr. Storer (the editor), David Francis

Bacon, M.D., and tlie Rev. Oliver Ellsworth Daggett,

D.D. Young Kilbourne (though still in his minority)
determined to run his chance of success, and accord-

ingly wrote and sent in an article in Spenserian stanzaw,

entitled "New England." The committee, after due
deliberation, decided that the best poem presented for

their examination was one written by the Rev. J. H.
Clinch, A.M., of Boston, Mass., and the second best

was that from the pen of the subject of this sketch.

In December, 1837, when but little more than twenty-

two years of age, he became the editor and proprietor

of The New Havener, a weekly literary periodical.

While under his supervision it numbered among its

contributors Prof Gibbs, of Yale College, Noah Web-
ster, LL.D., Rev. J. H. Clfnch, Mrs. Sigourney, and
other writers of established reputation. During the

autumn of 1839 he removed to Philadelphia, but soon

after became associated with Mr. Naudain as joint

editor of The Delaware Sentinel, a large tri-weekly

political journal published in the city of Wilmington,

Del. Here he remained through the " Harrison cam-
paign," perhaps the most exciting one in our partisan

annals, and had the satisfaction of believing that his

services were generally acknowledged and appreciated.

In the mean time he had been a frequent and well-

known correspondent of several of the most popular

magazines and literary papers in the Union, in the

prospectuses of some of which his name had been
widely heralded as a " principal contributor."

In the summer of 1841, Mr. Kilbourne left Wil-
mington with the intention of seeking his fortune in

the West, but unforeseen circumstances changed his

destination. He soon after became connected with

E. B. Greene, Esq., in the editorship of The New
England Weekly Beriev, in Hartford, Conn., a paper
which had previously been edited by the celebrated

poets John (Jreeuleaf Whittier and George I). Pren-
tice. In June, 1842, he published a volume of one
hundred and eighty pages, entitled " The Skeptic,

and Other Poems," which was well received by the

public. "The Iron Horse," a poem, also from his

pen, soon after made its appearance in pamjihlet form.

He remained in Hartford, as one of the editors of The
Revieir and of The Columbian, until the summer of

1845, when lie returned to his native town, and became
the editor and proprietor of The Litchfield Enquirer.

During his residence in Litchfield Mr. Kilbourne
was four or five times elected a member of the board
of education. In 1847 his " Family Memorial," an
octavo volume of one hundred and fifty pages, was
published. In February, 185(i, he was commissioned
by Governor Trumbull as a notary public ; and in

January, 1851, he was appointed and sworn a.s a
commissioner of deeds for the State of Vermont.
During the year last namecl his poem entitled " Ban-
tam" was given to the public in a pamphlet form,

and Ills " Biographical History of Litchfield County"
was published in an octjivo volume of four hundred
and sixteen pages. On the 24th of August, 1852, he
was appointed by bis excellency Governor Bigler, of
Pennsylvania, pursuant to an act of the Legislature

of that State, a connnissloner, resident In Connecticut,

with " authority to take the acknowU^lgnient and
proof of any deed, mortgage, or cimveyance of any
lands, tenements or hereditaments lying or being in
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the State of Pennsylvania, or any other writing under

seal to be used or recorded therein ; with full power

and authority also to administer oaths, talie deposi-

tions, and examine witnesses under any commission

emanating from any of the courts of said State rela-

ting to any cause depending or to be brought in any

of said courts."

In consequence of too close application to business

the health of Mr. Kilbo'urne ultimately became so

impaired that, in March, 1853, he disposed of the En-

quirer office to Mr. H. W. Hyatt.

At the annual commencement of Union College,

N. Y., in August, 1853, the president and trustees of

that institution conferred upon Mr. Kilbourne the

honorary degree of Master of Arts.

In politics Mr. Kill)ourne was uniformly recognized

as a Whig. Though the life of a politician was far

from being congenial to his tastes, his position as

editor almost nece.ssarily compelled him to take a

somewhat active part in the contests of the day. He
was often a delegate to Senatorial, Congressional, and
State conventions ; frequently officiated as secretary

of these conventions, and on the committees on reso-

lutions
; and in March, 1855, he was president of the

American Senatorial Convention which convened at

Winsted, Conn.

In the summer of 1855 he took a trip to the Old
World. An account of his tour through England and
Wales, in several chapters, was published in the En-
quirer in the summer and autumn of that year, under

the general head of "Eides and Eambles in the

Father-Land."

Mr. Kilbourne was a member of the Connecticut

Historical Society ; corresponding secretary of the

Kilbourne Historical and Genealogical Society ; sec-

retary of the Litchfield County Historical Society
;

corresponding member of the Historical Societies of

Massachusetts, New York, and Wisconsin ; Fellow of

the American Statistical Association ; corresponding

member of the New England Historical and Genea-
logical Societ)', etc. Also clerk of the borough of

Litchfield ; clerk of the Court of Probate for the dis-

trict of Litchfield ; and commissioner of the Superior

Court of Connecticut.

In 1856 he published " History of Kilbourne Fam-
ily," one of the earliest and best-arranged genealogies

published ; was Governor Holley's private secretary

in 1857; published "History of Litchfield," put in

type by liimself, in 1859. This publication is a valu-

able contribution to the historic literature of the State,

and takes front rank among the standard local works
of our times. Mr. Hollister, in the preface to his

"History of Connecticut," vol. ii., gives Mr. Kilbourne

a glowing tribute, closing, "I should have been
unable to do even the little I have done without him,

and am not willing to let this occasion pass with-

out attempting to do him justice : as a genealogist, I

have never seen his superior." He died July 19,

1869.

DANIEL SHELDON.

There is no prouder or more enduring personal

record than that of a man who devotes his life-work

to the advancement of a noble profession and the

amelioration of the human race. Such a one is Dr.

Daniel Sheldon, one of the first in date and in medi-

cal skill of the physicians of Litchfield, who enjoyed

in an eminent degree the confidence and respect of

his fellow-townsmen. He was entirely devoted to

his profession, which he practiced with judgment
and sound common sense, detesting quackery and dis-

liking the heroic treatment. Threatened at one time

of his life with pulmonary consumption, his experi-

ence in his own case indicated a regimen which is

still considered the best, if not the only, method of

dealing with this dangerous disease. His reputation

extended tliroughout the State and to the city of New
York.

Dr. Sheldon's cheerful, kind, and disinterested char-

acter made him a general favorite. All his actions

were directed by a strong sense of duty. He came of

a sound Puritan stock, and was educated in those

bracing Calvinistic doctrines which produced in the

New England of his youth and manhood " a horror

of sin, an enthusiasm for justice, purity, and manli-

ness."

Dr. Sheldon was descended from Isaac Sheldon, an

Englishman, who settled in Dorchester, Mass., in 1634.

He was born in Hartford, Conn., Oct. 19, 1750 (O.S.).

Like many other New England boys his time was di-

vided between farm work in summer and the gram-

mar school in winter, where he acquired a knowledge

of Latin and Greek. At the age of seventeen he

went to reside with his uncle by marriage. Dr. Bird,

of Litchfield South Farms, and studied medicine.

He commenced practice in Washington, Conn., and

was married in 1777, to Miss Charlotte Judson, of

Washington, by the Rev. Daniel Briusmade. Mrs.

Sheldon died in 1782, leaving two children. In 1784

he remarried with Miss Huldah Stone. The cele-

brated Dr. Lemuel Hopkins, whose wife was a sister

of Miss Stone, was then practicing in Litchfield. It

was arranged between them that Dr. Hopkins should

move to Hartford, and Dr. Sheldon take his place in

Litchfield. This was in 1784. Dr. Sheldon remained

in Litchfield until he died, in April, 1840, at the age

of ninety, having enjoyed excellent health to the

end.

He had six children. His eldest son, Daniel Shel-

don, Jr., was secretary of the United States Legation

in France, and Charge d'Aifaires. He died in Mar-

seilles in 1828. His second and third sons, Frederick

and Henry, were successful merchants in New York.

His daughter, Mrs. Lucy Beach, still survives him, in

healthy, happy, and honored old age, and resides in

the house he built in Litchfield, and in which she was

born.
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SAMUEL H. DUDLEY.

Deacon Samuel H. Dudley was born in Litchfield,

June 28, 1804. He is descended from William Dud-

ley, who was an Englishman by birth, and the first of

the family who emigrated to this country. He settled

in Guilford, Conn., in 1639, and died at Saybrook,

March 16, 1684. He was twice married ; his second

wife was Mary Stow, by whom he had nine children,

of whom Joseph was born April 16, 1643. He mar-

ried Ann Robinson ; they had nine children, of whom
William was born Dec. 17, 1678 ; married Kuth Strong,

of Lyme, Conn., for his first wife, and Rebecca Fish

for his second. He raised a large family, among
whom was Medad, born Feb. 3, 1724; married Mary
Fowler ; they had nine children, one of whom was

Charles, who married Ruth Hart, of Durham ; they

had five children, viz., Susan A., Lois, Samuel H.,

Frederick, and Ruth. The mother died Aug. 27, 1808.

Mr. Dudley was again married, to Rhoda Baldwin, of

Washington township ; they had two children, Mary
Ann and Charles. Mary Ann is the wife of Eliada

Kilbourn.

Samuel H., the eldest son of Charles Dudley, re-

sided with his father in Litchfield, and worked upon

the farm until he was tliirty years of age, whore he

was married, and settled on a farm near the old home.

His wife died Dec. 22, 1873, leaving three children,

Lucrctia, Florence A., and Caroline E.

Mr. Dudley and his wife were consistent members
of the Congregational Church, where lie has officiated

as deacon tor more than forty years.

IIEMAN BEACH.

Heman Beach was born in Litchfield, June 23,

1813. He was the son of Heman Beach, who was
born on Beach Street, in the town of Litclificld, wiiere

the fiiniily Iiave lived for several gencration.s. The
Beach family trace their genealogy to their anccttors

who came from England and settled at Xew Haven
at an early day.

Heman Beach, Sr., was a farmer on Beach Street.

He married Clarissa Kilbourn, only child of Appleton

Kilbourn, who was the son of James, and grandson of

Joseph Kilbourn, one of the first settlers of Litchfield

and one of the founders of the Presbyterian Church
in that town. He was admitted an inhabitant Dec.

12, 1721 (see biography of Eliada Kilbourn ). Henmn
Beach was a farmer in Litdifield; his wife died, leav-

ing three children, two of whom are still living, viz.,

Marcia, married James C. Xewconib, a farnu'r on

the old Kill)()urn homestead; Milo is al.so a farmer.

Mr. Beach was a second time married, to Phebe
Landon.

Heman Beach (2d) came on to the place where he

now resides when eighteen years of ago, with his

father, who owned the farm. Hero he has lived for

fifty years, and is one of the substantial and respected

citizens of his town. He has been three times married.

First, to Eliza Thomas. She died Dec. 10, 1849, leav-

ing six children,—Algaman G., Thomas W., Eugene

I., Charles T., Wesley H., Eliza J.,—three of whom are

now living. Mr. Beach was again married, to Minerva

D. Goslee. She died Jan. 29, 1853, aged twenty-four

years. He was a third time married, to Mary K.,

daughter of Daniel Keeler, who came to Litchfield

when seventeen years of age with his father, from

Middlebury, and settled on a farm near the village of

Bantam ; their children are Edgar D., Frederick E.,

Oscar D., and Mary C*

CHARLES D. WHEELER.

Charles D. Wheeler was born in Stonington, Conn.,

Nov. 18, 1817. He was the son of Christopher and

Orinda (Gallup) Wheeler, who came to Litchfield in

1819, where they raised a large family of nine children,

as follows : Emeline, Christopher P., Eliza O., Charles

D., Emeline Ann, William C, Elizabeth H., Mary
Jane, and David M. The father died Jan. 24, 1858,

and the mother August 27th of the same year. Only

three of the children are now living, viz., Charles

D., Elizabeth H., wife of John Williamson, and Mary
Jane, wife of Jacoli Morse.

Charles D. Wheeler was married when twenty-five

years of age to Mary E. Guild, daughter of Albin

Guild, of the fifth generation in this country. The
family trace their genealogy to John, Samuel, and

Ann Guild, who emigrated to this country from Scot-

land in 1643.

Soon after Mr. Wheeler was married he moved
on to the farm where lie now resides, and for forty

years has pursued the vocation of agriculture. He
has large and commodious buildings, with such

surroundings as inilicate the thrifty farmer. Po-

litically Mr. Wheeler is a Democrat, and has filled

the otfice of assessor, selectman, and represented his

town in the Legislature in 1873. Mr. Wheeler and

his wife arc members of the Episcopal Church. They
have one daughter, Jennie Elizabeth, wife of Isaac

H. Hutchin.son. They have two children, Charles L.

and Carrie M.

LEVI COE.

The Goes are of English descent, but very little

is known by the historian of the ancestors in this

country. Thonuts was one of the first of the name to

settle in Litchfield County, having come from Middle-

town, Conn. Married and had children, of whom Levi

Coe, Sr., was a son, born in Litohfiehl, Conn. ; married

Deborah ^IcCall and had Ion ohildron, viz., Dyer,

Ira, Walter, Emolino. William, Elizalioth, Olive M.,

Levi, Maria D., and Tliomas ^L; the three youngest

arc living, all born mi the ohl Coo liomcstead in

Litchfield, Conn.

* Slues writing lb« >1iotii, Mr. Baub «H tokau niilJauljr III and died

March 20, ISHI
*
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Mr. Levi Coe, Sr., purchased this farm before his

marriage. He was twice married, but the children

are by his second wife. He died in 1832. Mr. and

Mrs. Coe were members of tlie Congregational Church.

Levi Coe, son of Levi Coe and Deborah McCall,

was born on the farm now owned by liim, Sept. 14,

1810. He has always been a farmer on the old home-

stead, which he bought of the heirs after the death of

his father. His farm consists of some two hundred

acres well improved; the buildings are substantial,

showing thrift and enterprise. He married Lavinia

M., daughter of Samuel and Lavinia ( Judson) McNeil,

of Litchfield, May 22, 1838. Their children were

Dwight McNeil, died at twenty-three ; Frederick L.,

married Sarah C, daughter of William Norton, and

has two children, Stanley L. and Philip F. ; and Fran-

cis M., born Jan. 22, 1852, married Marion J., daugh-

ter of Sherman Piatt, of Marbledale, Conn.

Mr. Coe is a Republican in politics. He has been

magistrate of the town several years. Mr. and Mrs.

Coe are members of the Congregational Cliurch in

Litchfield.

Samuel McNeil, son of Isaac, was born in Litchfield,

was a farmer by occupation, married Lavinia Judson,

and had eight children, viz., Isaac H., Lewis J.

(deceased), Louisa B., Lavinia M., Mary Ann, Julia

E. (deceased), Frederick D., and Charles L. (de-

ceased). Mr. McNeil died at sixty-three years of

age, and his wife survived him and died at ninety-

two.

JACOB MORSE.

John Morse, of New Haven, born in England about

1619, emigrated and settled at New Haven, 1639, and

removed to Wallingford, Conn., 1670. John Morse

was one of that noble band who founded the colony

of New Haven. His foresight, courage, and enter-

prise in embarking in the work ; his wisdom and pru-

dence; his self-denial, firmness, and perseverance in

carrying it on, are well attested by records when read

in connection with the history of his times and the

privations and trials of his situation. He lived to

honor God and do good. Of the time and place of

John Morse's birth, and the date of his arrival in

New England, we have no certain information. If he

had attained his majority when admitted a member
of the General Court, 1639-40, he was born as early

as 1619, which would have made him eighty-nine

years old in 1708, when he, as is alleged, removed

from Wallingford. But as his removal at that age is

improbable, and as none of his children or grandchil-

dren are known to have attained so great an age, he

was not probably born earlier than 1622. That he

came unattended by relatives is improbable. Francis

Morse and Christopher Morse, of Boston, were not

improbably his brothers ; and John Morse, who mar-

ried into the family of Robert Kaine, of Boston, and

owned a house in Shoe Lane, London, might have

been of the same race. Hopkins, Eaton, and Daven-

port arrived in Boston June, 1637,—too intent on

locating at New Haven to listen to proposals from

the General Court to settle in Massachusetts. John
Morse probably came in that company, and a careful

perusal of all the wills of the first planters of New
Haven establishes that fact. He was no common
youth. Without regard to the tradition which makes
him to have been a relative of the father of Bishop

Morse, Sr., he must either have been of high family

or extraordinary precocity. He doubtless arrived at

New Haven in 1638. The first record of him was dated

Feb. 18, 1639-40, when he signed a social compact as

one of the proprietors and planters, and was admitted

a member of the General Court. At this time he

was probably a minor. " Upon the formation of the

government he took an oath, July 1, 1644, to support

the same." He resided in New Haven thirty years,

when he went to Wallingford, Conn., and there re-

sided till his death.

John (2), born Oct. 12, 1650, married Martha La-

throp, Dec. 12, 1677. He died March 31, 1717. His

wife died Sept. 21, 1719. They resided at New Haven
and Wallingford, Conn.

John (3), born Nov. 10, 1682; died May 14, 1755;

married Elizabeth Hall, Feb. 25, 1708; resided at

Wallingford. His wife died Jan. 17, 1754.

Levi (4), born Dec. 31, 1722 ; married Martha

Fenn, Jan. 19, 1743-44 ; resided at Wallingford.

Amos (5), born Nov. 17, 1744; married first to

Betsey Ives, second to Esther Andrews, of Litchfield,

Conn. He died December, 1819 ; resided at Litchfield,

Conn.

Jacob (6), born March 6, 1792 ; married Lucretia

Gilbert, December, 1813. She died Sept. 18, 1818,

and he married Harriet Morse, March 14, 1821, and

had the following children, viz., Linus G., Lewis H.,

Lucretia, Jacob, and Albert (deceased). Mr. Morse

was a farmer by occupation and a man much esteemed

by all. He died Nov. 1, 1862.

Jacob Morse, the immediate subject of this sketch,

was born in Litchfield, Conn., Feb. 19, 1827. He was

reared a farmer, which honorable occupation has

been the chief business of his life. He has also

been engaged as a trader in stock. His advantages

for an education were such as the common schools

aflbrded, supplemented with a few terms at the Litch-

field Academy. On the 1st of April of 1863, he set-

tled in the village of Litchfield, on the place formerly

owned by Julius Deming. In politics he has always

been a Democrat, and as such he has been constable

and first selectman of Litchfield for more than twenty

years, and in 1861 was elected to the State Legisla-

ture of Connecticut. On the 16th of October, 1848,

he married Mary Jane, daughter of Christopher

Wheeler, of Litchfield. She was born Nov. 28, 1825.

Their children are Ella O. (deceased) ; Virginia, wife

of Truman Catlin ; Christopher W., died young ; Har-

riet E. ; Arthur J. ; and Dermont L. (deceased).





^=C^^^^-L (^V^







I

DAVID M GRANT.









LITCHFIELD. 165

Mr. and Mrs. Morse are members of the Methodist

EpLscopal Church, of which he is one of its principal

men and main supporters.

DAVID McNEIL GRANT.

David McNeil Grant was born in the house where

he now lives in Litchfield, Aug. 11, 1812. He is the

representative of one of the pioneer families of Con-

necticut. He traces his genealogy to Matthew and

Priscilla Grant, who came from Scotland on the ship

"Mary and John," and landed at Dorchester, Mass.,

in 1630. Their descendants were: (2) John and

Mary (Hull); (3) Joseph and Sarah (Cook); (4)

Increase and Ann (Herford)
; (5) Ambrose and

Hannah (Mason)
; (6) Charles and Hannah (Mc-

Neil)
; (7) David McNeil and Caroline B. (Judd).

The first Grants—Matthew and Priscilla—landed at

Dorchester, Mass., but soon went to Windsor, Conn.,

with a colony of Scotch people, where the family

resided for several generations. Increase Grant was

the first of the family to settle in Litchfield County.

He came to Torrington as early as 1730. His son

Ambrose was the pioneer in Litchfield, and settled

in the north part of the town, where he built a large

and substantial residence in 1795. Here the family

have since resided. He had a family of seven chil-

dren,—five sons and two daughters. His son Charles

succeeded him on the farm. Charles married Hannah
McNeil. They had four children,—three sons and

one daughter, Harriet Lucretia. She is unmarried,

and resides at the old home with the only surviving

son, David McNeil Grant. He married Caroline B.

Judd in 1860. She died in 1865, leaving two children,

Charles H. and Fanny L.

THE PLUMB FAMILY.

The liistorian is not in possession of any fact.s rela-

tive to the history of the Plumb family prior to thoir

settlement in Litchfield Co., Conn. They are of

Scotch origin, however, and the first of the name in

America of whom we have any knowledge was Ezra
Pluml), who was born probably somewhere in New
England, and was one of the early settlers in Litch-

field County. He had two sons,—perhaps more chil-

dren,—Ezra and Ebcnezer.

Ezra Pluinli (the second) was born in Litciifield,

Conn.; married Sarah, daughter of Nathaniel Wood-
ruff, and had a son, John. Ebenezer Plumb was born

in Litchfield, Conn., Jan. 23, 1747, married Deborah
GriswoUl, daugiitcr of Elijah Griswold and grand-

daughter of Capt. Jacob Griswold; Deborah wa.s

born May 6, 1746, and died July 2, 1836. They had
a daughter, Deborah. Ebenezer Plumb died Sept. 5,

1829.

John Plumb, son of Ezra, was born in the town of

Litchfield, Conn., July 4, 1777, and married Deborah,

daughter of Ebenezer Plumb. She was born Feb. 26,

1772, in Litchfield, Conn. They had two children,

—

viz., Frederick W. and Charlotte. Charlotte married

Asa Slade, of Kent, Conn., and is still living, and is

a widow, eighty-one years of age.

John Plumb was a blacksmith, and a man in mod-

erate circumstances. In politics a Whig. He died

in early manhood, aged thirty-four years, and his wife

died at forty-eight years of age.

Frederick W., only son of John and Deborah

Plumb, was born in the town of Litchfield, Conn.,

Oct. 28, 1801 ; married Huldah Seymour Landon,

daughter of Capt. Seth Landon, of Litchfield, Conn.

(See history of James Landon, of Salisbury, Conn.,

for history of Landon family.) Mr. Plumb was a

substantial farmer, and at his death left his family in

good circumstances. In jiolitics he was a Republican.

While he always manifested a great deal of interest

in jjolitical matters, he never aspired to official honors.

Mr. and Mrs. Plumb were members of St. Michael's

Church, at Litchfield, Conn., and he was a warden of

the same. Mr. Plumb was a man universally re-

spected. He died Sept. 25, 1877 ; his wife died July

19, 1854, leaving to her children the legacy of a

Christian character. Their children are as follows,

viz.

:

(1) John L., born Dec. 14, 1831, married Lucy
Fields, daughter of Lyman Fields, of Watertown,

Conn., and has five children,— (1) Frederick L., (2)

Anna G., (3) Edward L., (4) Willcy S., and (5) John

F. He is a farmer and Horist by occupation, and re-

sides on the old Plumb homestead.

(2) Seth F., born Aug. 27, 1836, received a common-
school education, working on his father's farm sum-

mers and attending school winters. He taught school

several winters until the breaking out of the great

civil war, when he enlisted a.s a private in Company
E, Eighth Connecticut Volunteers, July, 1861, and

was with his regiment during their tliree years of ser-

vice. He re-enlisted with rank of first sergeant, and

came home to get recruits for his regiment. Soon
after his return to his regiment he was commissioned

lieutenant by Governor Buckingham, of Connecticut.

He continued with his regin\ont, taking part in all the

engagement.s of the same, until he was killed at Chap-

in's Farm, Va., Sept. 29, 1864.

From the Connecticut war record we quote the fol-

lowing :

"Ono ottier lianio I niiint nientlnn atil'ingoiirhouurod tlcnil. Onr rolls

roconl him nnlyas an oiiltatiHl mnii, with niDk of S4)rKeniit; for RithoiiKh

having Iwvii commlMlonoil, hu had nuver Itevu miistorcd aa nontenant.

But fairur charnctor never KrnctMl a wildior's unironn, and ho live* em.

balnuMi In the alTectiiUiB of linnie nnd In the hearts of hU ct>nirHd4>(i. He
le<l In the elnsiiiK pm^'er of that loMt meeting t>efore the flght, and his

hut wordi* oi the colnnin moved for the charge were rettiMH-tlng 'that

giNhl niroling' and the prei-loniineM of ChrUt to the Mddior. Kven the

coaket in wlilt-h itnch a jewel haa l>eon carried Ifl prlzeil, and as wo write

hero in i-nnip, on the burylng-gruund of Lltchflold, Conn., weeping

fHenda aro pieparlng the gnivo of our decu- comnwif, Selli F. Plumh."

(3) Lcmira E., born June 29, 1838, and rcsiileti with

her brotluT William H.

(4) William H., born Sept. 17, 1840. He enlisted
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Aug. 9, 1862, in the Litchfield County regiment,

known as the Nineteenth, served three years, and was
honorably discharged with his regiment, July 12,

18G5. At the present time (1881) he is a farmer on

the " Old Landon Homestead," in Litchfield. He
married Emma T., daughter of Ferdinand Buell, of

Litchfield, Conn., and they have three children,

viz., (1) Ida E., (2) Anna B., and (3) Frederick B.

(5) Charles E., born March 17, 184o, married Emma,
daughter of William E. Camp, of Philadelphia, Pa.

They have two children,—William Edgar, born Au-

gust, 1870; Fanny, born September, 1873. He is

engaged in business in Philadelphia.

PHILIP S. BEEBE.

Samuel Beebe came to Litchfield in 1721, within

three years of the settlement of the town. In Kil-

bourne's " History of Litchfield" he is recorded as

one of the forty-seven " first settlers." From that

time to 18()7 one male member, and but one of each

of six successive generations resided there.

Concerning the antecedents of Samuel Beebe, until

recently nothing has been known, and the informa-

tion herein contained came quite by accident in the

way of the writer, and is on the excellent authority of

Lucius M. Boltwood, Esq.

The second volume of the probate records of Hart-

ford* contain the record of the will of John Beebe,

made at sea in the year 1650, with this preamble

:

" I, JoTin Beebye, husbandman, late of Brougllton in County of Nortli-

nmpton, being by Goii's gooil liand, brouglit on a voyage toward New
England to sea, and there smitten by the good hand of God, so that my
expectation is for my change, yet tlu'ongh mercy as yet in perfect memory
and undel-standing."

He names seven children, viz., John, Thomas, Sam-

uel, Nathaniell, Rebecka, Mary, and Jeames, and di-

vides his estate of seventy-three pounds equally

among them, and appoints the four eldest, John,

Thomas, Samuel, and Rebecka, executors, and his

loving friends, William Lewis and John Cole, over-

seers.

The maker of this will died on the voyage, May 18,

1650. His children settled in New London and Ston-

ington, Conn., and from them probably all of the

name in this country are descended.

James Beebe, the youngest son, born about 1641,

married, first, in Hadley,t Mass., Mary Boltwood, Oct.

* This book of records has but recently been accessible to the present

generation. It contains the following appended note;

" This volume, after having disappeared for many years, was discovered

by me, in the city of New York, on Friday, the Gth day of December,

1861. ChaS. J. HOADLEY."

f The probate records of Hampshire Co., Mass., show wliy James was
separated from the rest of the family. By William Lewis, overseer of his

fatlier's will, he wjis apprenticed to Thomas Stanly, of Hartfoi-d and Had-

ley, who, in his will, be<]ueathed five pounds "unt^i James Beebe, my
servant, to be paid unto him a^^ be hath p'formed that tyme of service

wch waa promised by William Lewis, Senior, that he is to be with me
until he is twenty and five years old."

24, 16G7 ; second, in Stratford, Conn., Sarah Benedict,

Dec. 19, 1679. His son by his first wife w.as Samuel,

who settled in Litchfield, born June 26, 1672, in Had-
ley, Mass., whence he removed with his father before

1678. James Beebe, several years after leaving Had-
ley, resided in Danbury, Conn., where he died in

1728. Samuel Beebe, with Hannah, his wife (of

Danbury), removed to New Milford. They are there

recorded as members of the First Church of that town.

He went to Litchfield by 1721, when the town was

first laid out. The records of the town were kept in

Hartford at the first, and he is there noticed twice,

once as assigned, with others, to the duty of building

the " West Fort" of the town, for defense against the

Indians, and once as making affidavit in behalf of

Matthew Woodruft', who petitions the Legislature for

the bounty offered for having killed an Indian. He
died between 1728 and 1734.

He had seven children, all born before he removed

to Litchfield,— viz., Mary, born 1699, married Enoch
Buck, of New Milford, whose descendants still live

in that town and Kent ; Samuel, born in 1701, settled

in Sheffield, Ma.ss. ; James, boru in 1704, married Abi-

gail Culver; John, born 1706, married Sarah Culver;

James and John both removed to Canaan; Sarah,

born 1713 ; Hannah, born 1714 ; Ebenezer, born Jan.

8, 1716, in New Milford, and removed with his father

to Litchfield, to a location near the north shore of

Bantam Lake, near which place his descendants lived

until 1867. He married (1) Rebecca Webster; (2)

Bethia Osborn, daughter of Benjamin and Abigail

(Talmage) Osborn, born in East Hampton, L. I., Oct.

17, 1722. By her he had three children, viz., Re-

becca, Bezaleel, and Ebenezer. Bezaleel married,

July 11, 1764, Elizabeth Marsh, daughter of John

Mar-sh.

The following sketch of his life is taken from Kil-

bourne's " History of Litchfield :"

Col. Bezaleel Beebe was born in Litchfield, April

27, 1741, and spent his life in his native town, except

when absent in the service of his country. At the

age of seventeen he enlisted as a soldier in the French

war and marched with Capt. Evart's company to

Fort George, where he was for some time stationed.

He was afterwards a member of Maj. Rogers' cele-

brated corps of rangers, an account of whose exploits

was published in London by their heroic commander
;

and, with Rogers, he participated in the engagement

which resulted in the capture of Maj. Israel Putnam.

During much of the succeeding year he was stationed

at Fort Miller, under Capt. Whiting. In 1700 he en-

listed in a company commanded by Capt. McNeile,

of Litchfield, and continued in the service for three

years. On the breaking out of the Revolutionary

contest he was once more summoned to the field,

having been commissioned as a lieutenant in the first

recruits raised for that service, April, 1775. He forth-

with marched with his company to Boston, and

thence, after a short detention, to Crown Point, where
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he was transferred to the quartermaster's department.

In November, 1776, a company of thirty-six picked

men were sent, under command of Capt. Beebe, to

aid in the defense of Fort Washington. Here, on

November 16th, he was taken prisoner, with all of the

garrison of two thousand six hundred men, after a

disastrous conflict in which the British lost twelve

hundred men, and the besieged about four hundred.

The honorable terms on which the garrison surren-

dered were disregarded, and the prisoners suffered in

the jirison-ships a cruelty so severe that when, on

December 27th of the same year, an exchange was

effected, only six of Capt. Beebe's thirty-six picked

men survived the effect of starvation and disease to

return home.

It was this cruelty that led Ethan Allen to make to

Capt. Beebe the well-known remark, " There ought to

be a hell for such scoundrels as Lowrie." Capt.

Beebe was allowed the freedom of the city on parole,

and was able to do much to alleviate the sufferings of

his soldiers, but he was detained as a prisoner of war

for nearly a year.

From this time onward he was in actual service

until the spring of 1781, at which time he a])plied for

and received an honorable discharge, and once more

retuj-ned home. He enjoyed in an eminent degree

the confidence and respect of his superiors in office,

as well as of the soldiers under him.

While chief commander of the coast-guard of this

State, he performed the duties and received the pay

of a brigadier-general. A commanding figure and a

peculiar dignity of character and manner, united to

an innate kindness of heart and a courage equal to

any emergency, contributed to render him an efficient

and popular officer.

He was elected a member of the Legislature for the

first time in the autumn of 17S1, and several times

afterwards, and was much employed by tlie Court of

Probate in settling the estates of persons deceased.

He departed this life May 24, 1824, aged eighty-three.

Col. Beebe had six children, viz., Sarah, died un-

married ; Elizabeth, married Joshua Garrett; Re-

becca, married Reuben Rockwell, of Cok'brook

;

Ebenezer, married Catherine Fair Knox, of New
York, was major United States army ; James, married

Abi McEwen and settled in Winchester; William,

born March 24, 1782, resided at the homestead in

Litcblicld, where he died Nov. 18, 1861.

During a long life, spent wholly in Lilclifield, he

was ideiititied with all its i)ublic allivirs. He served

it in both houses of the Legislature and in many
offices of trust. By probity of ciniracter, strengtii of

will, and earnestness of convictions, he filled a large

place in the community and in the church, of which

he was a consistent and useful member, and gained

in an unusual degree the confidence and esteem of his

associates. He bore worthily the unl)lemished name
of his ancestors, and bequeathed it i\a their chief in-

heritance to his descendants.

He married Clarissa Sanford, daughter of Joseph

Sanford, of Litchfield. Their children are :

1. Eliza, married Dr. John W. Russell, and imme-

diately after their marriage removed to Mount Ver-

non, Ohio, where Dr. Russell still (1881) resides.

2. Rebecca, married Alexander Howard, and lived

in Mount Vernon until a short time before her death,

in 1865, at Davenport, Iowa.

3. Philip Schuyler, born March 13, 1812, remained

on the homestead in Litchfield until 1866. He mar-

ried, first, Catherine E. Hall, of Newark, N. J., Oct.

10, 1838. She died Nov. 29, 1843, leaving one child,

Harriet, who married Rev. Henry S. Kejsey. She

died Aug. 4, 186-5.

Philip S. married, second, Lucy Beebe Robbins, of

Canaan, his third cousin. She died April 27, 1876,

at Vineland, N. J. Their children are

:

1. Sarah Holley, born Nov. 10, 1848 ;
married Moses

Lyman, Jr., of Goshen, and lives at Waverly, N. Y.

2. William, born Sept. 4, 1851, graduated at Yale

College in 1873 ; married Elizabeth Febiger, of NVil-

mington, Del., June 22, 1880, and lives in New
Haven.

The other children of William Beebe are: Harriet,

died in 1837, unmarried ; Olive, married Sheldon W.
Peck, resides in Beloit, Wis. ; Clara, married Joshua

H. Darling, of Warsaw, Wyoming Co., N. Y.

CHAPTER XV.

ARTINCHESTER.

Ooogmi»hical—Topogrnphical—I.mt of Prniirlctitraof Wiiu-tiwtor— Allot-

mi'iit of Lnii'ls—Survey, etc.— Iiiilian Ilistor^-—Klrst Coiiveyanco of

Land—Flnit Roails—Tlio Piom-on*—Their Lo4:ations—Incldeiitii of

rioncer Life— Initial Events—Ilc'niiiiisconccs of Mre. Swift—Thy Fii-st

Forge—Tho I'lonwr Gr1»l-JIIll—The Firat Saw-Mill—The Revolution

—Names of Soldiers, etc.—AneMnieut Roll of 1783.

Tnii town of Winchester lies in the northeast cor-

ner of the county, and is bounded a.s follows : On the

north by Colebrook, on the east by Burkhanistod, on

the south by Torrington, and on the west by Goshen

and Norfolk. It is situated in the " Evergreen district

of the State," anil is hilly and mountainous. The

soil is a coarse gravelly loam and well adapted to

grazing. The territory embraced within the limits of

this town was granted by the Colonial Legislature in

January, 1686, to the towns of Hartford and Windsor,

and subse<iuently, Feb. 11, 1732, by a dissolution of

the partnership between the two towns, itcaine under

the sole proprietorship of Hartford.

THE I'KOl'RIETOllS OF WINCHESTER.

By a law of the General Aiwenihly it was enacted

that the owners of each township should have a cor-

porate existence under the title of " Proprietors,"

; vested with authority "to survey and allot to each

' individual his pro rata share according to the lists of
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1720 of the land in the township to which he was

assigned."

The first meeting of the proprietors of this town

was held May 14, 1744, and was organized by choos-

ing William Pitkin as moderator, and Thomas Sey-

mour as clerk and register of deeds.

Tlie following is a list of the names of the original

proprietors, " with the several sums annexed to their

names by which the respective rights and shares of

said proprietors of the t(jwnship of Winchester afore-

said are to be apportioned and holden, or divided

to and amongst them, their heirs and assigns, accord-

ing as the same is sett and apportioned in the deed

of partition made of that jjart of those lands called

the Western Lands, which was sett out to and among
the inhabitants of Hartford," viz.

:

£ ». .(.

Williiim Pitkin, Esq, lieire 251 (I

Mr. Kiiliard LorJ'B lii'irs 101 U
Bev. Mr. TlKinius HuL-kingliam 100 u
William WliltiUB, Jr 21 (i

Peter I'ratt 41 U
NHllmiiiel Jones 39 10
Diiliiel Sniilli 2.1

Siiniuel Itiirnliam H {i

Tlioiiiiis IIo])kilis 97
Jacuti Merrill's hell's G4
Anroii C'uiik's heirs 171
John Pratt, Jr no 10
John Ensign XS 10
William Uuherts, Jr., heirs 29
Joseph Eftston 40 10
Timothy Phelps' heirs 71
Joseph Keeuoy 44
John Porter 3:1

William Cole 52
Capt. Thomas Sej-mour 206
Joseph Well's heirs 20 10
Samuel Chureh'sheil-S 31
Stephen Andrns 35
Henry and John Arnold 93
Wilterton Merrill 134
Thomas Burr 91
Col William Whiting 35
Capt. Joseph Wadsworth 44 10
Mr. John Whiting 12.i

John Pellett 21
William Williams 105 10
John Cole 40
Thomas Wells 79 10
Jonathan Barrett 49
Thomas Pellett 46
Joseph Keeney, Jr 49
Isaac Kellogg 48
Kichard Olmsted 73
JohnShepard 04 10
.lonathan Olcott 41
Ensign Nathaniel Goodwin 124 10
James Eusign 121 10
Edward Dodd's heirs '2'i U
Thomas Judd'shei re 01 10
Ebenezer Wohster 38 10
Thomas Day's heirs 38
James Bidwell's heirs 18
John Skinner 138
Joseph Root 10
Thomas Meekin's heirs 24
Josejdi Sedgwick 28
Jonathan Burnham 21
Richard Goodman 77
Caleb Watson 21
Lemuel Deming's heirs 15
Ohadiah Spencer 161
Thomas Dickinson's heirs 51
Aaron Cook's heirs 51 10
John Kellogg's heiis , 54
Thomas Burnham, Jr., heii-s 29
James Porter 27
Richard Gilman 58
Caleb Benton 41 10
John f'amp's heirs 2
Bev. Mr. Benjamin Coltou IPO
Thomas Burr, Jr 51 10
Joseph Gilbert 53
Samuel Hubbard 25
Thomas llosuier 193
Richard Burnham, Jr 56
Thomas Whaples 26 10
Ephraim Tucker 32
John Uazletiue 21

£ s. d.

Bicb.-ird Seymour 01 10
William Day 2:i

John Goodwin 52 10
J(din Williams' heirs 40
William Pratt 31
Jacob Webstei-'s heirs 38
Mr. John Haynes' heirs 121
John Benjamin, Jr 18
Thomas Burnham's heirs 51
Jonathan Bull 44 10
.Jonathan Ashley 52
John Baiitry 109
Caleb B. and Thomas Bunco's beire 115
Joseph Cook 77
DavidForhes 75
James Williams, Jr 43
John Burnham, Jr 30
Samuel Burr 45 10
Joseph Farnsworth 25
JohnButler 29
John Easton's heirs 00
Charles Kelsey 38
Samuel Spencer 60 10
Joseph Butler 60 10
JohnAbby '27

Phebe Russell 8

Oziae Goodwin 78
Ichabod Wadsworth 02 10
Timothy Porter tyl

JohuKilborn 51
James Pojsson 18
.lonathan Tayler 27 10
Thomas Day, Jr., heire 18

" The next meeting of the proprietors was held at

Hartford, Oct. 8, 1750, which appointed a committee

'to proceed to and view the lands and make report to

the next meeting, and to warn the Indians not to set

fire on any of the lands upon peril of suffering the

penalties of the law in case they so do.'

"The next meeting, held in January, 17.51, voted,

'That whenever twenty proprietors should signify

their wish to jiroceed to the settlement of the town-

ship, the clerk should call another meeting.' The
next meeting, held in October, 1753, appointed a com-

mittee to form a plan for dividing and settling the town-

ship, but without result. More than two years later,

Jan. 22, 1756, another committee was raised to view the

lands, survey and renew the bounds and corners thereof,

and to report to the next meeting a plan of laying out

and settling the same. The plan reported and adopted

at the next meeting, November, 1757, was to lay out

two acres on the pound to each of the proprietors in

two divisions, and that Col. Samuel Talcott, Capt.

Thomas Seymour, William Pitkin, Jr., and Mr. John
Robins, Jr., be a committee, before the next meeting,

to adjust and makeup the interests of each of the pro-

prietors, for the more speedy settling and laying out

of said two divisions ; and in January, 1758, acommittee

was appointed ' to make and draw a lot for the proprie-

tors, for their precedence and succession in laying out

the two divisions in manner and form following, viz.

:

By making so many uniform papers as there are to be

allotments, and on each of said papers write the name
of the proprietor to have his share or allotmentgoverned

or laid out by said dl-aft, and in a just and proper man-

ner cause said papers to be drafted out of some cov-

ered instrument, as Providence shall direct, the lots No.

1, 2, 3, etc., in order as they come out, and make a

return thereof to the i:)roprietor3 under their hands;'

and any proprietor owning by purchase or otherwise,

to have all his rights added together in one allot-

ment.
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" The committee was intructed to divide the town-

ship into six, tiers, running northerly and southerly,

parallel with the eastern line of the township ; the

first five to be one mile and six rods wide (including

a reservation for a six-rod highway northerly and

southerly, where it will best aecommodate), and the

sixth, or westernmost tier, so broad as to take up the

rest of the land. They were then to begin at the

southwest corner of the township and lay out the lot

first drawn by lines at right angles to the tier line.s,

and so proceed northward, in course, as the lots were

drawn (each lot containing one acre to the pound of

the proprietor's interest), not less than three and a

half miles, unless the next lot will extend more than

three and three-quarters miles northward ; and then

begin at the south end of the next tier east, and then

to proceed northward, a.s in tlie first tier ; and then to

proceed with the third tier east in the same manner.
" In laying out the second division the committee

were to begin at the northeast corner of the town-

ship, and lay out the first lot to the same proprietor

who had the first allotment in the first division ; and

then to proceed southerly, laying out lots to the pro-

prietors of the corresponding lots in the first division,

in successive tiers, of the same extent southward as

those in the first division were to extend northward.

"In the first division the committee were instructed

to locate the rights of Caleb Beach, Landlord Mott
and his son Mott, and of Ebenezer and Joseph Pres-

ton, so as to take into their allotments the lands and
buildings then occupied and improved by them. Tliey

were also to reserve in the second division two mill

lots of six acres each,—one on the Still River, embrac-

ing the Gilbert Clock Company's works, and the

other 'The Old Forge Privilege,' on the lake outlet,

now owned by the Winsted Manufacturing Com-
pany.

" On the fourth Monday of May, 1758, the com-
mittee reported their action, and exhibited a plan of

their survey and allotments of the two divisions to a

meeting of the proprietors, which was accepted and
ordered to be recorded.

" The third and final division of lands in the town-

ship was ordered in November, 17(13, and the com-
mittee reported their laying out of the same Decem-
ber 1st following, which report was accepted and or-

dered to be recorded. The undivided land in the

northwest, or Danbury quarter, was laid out in three

half-mile tiers, and one tier of one liundrod rods,

running northerly from tiie first division lands to

Colebrouk line, parallel with tiie west line of the

town and reaching easterly to the third or western-

most tier of the second division, and allotments of

one acre to the pound were made on a new drawing
of lots beginning at the southerly end of the western-

most tier and proceeding northerly to Colcbrook line

;

then beginning at tlie north end of tiie second tier

and proceeding to the south end; then proceeding

northerly on the third tier, and returning southerly '

on the one-hundred rod tier to its southerly end.

The remaining allotments were made on the west,

south, and east shores of Long Lake, so as to appro-

priate all the undivided lands of the township, except

a section about a mile square at the southeast corner

of the township afterwards taken on execution by

parties who had made the ' Old North Road' by

order of the General Assembly, and known as the
' Henshaw Tract.'

"Reservations of six-rod highways were made run-

ning northerly and southerly, ' where they would best

accommodate,' in all the tiers, and located reservations

four rods wide were made easterly and westerly, at

irregular intervals, across the tiers ; but the reserva-

tions in the aggregate fell far short of the require-

ments of the town.
" So far as the general plan and mechanical exe-

cution of this survey is concerned it seems excellent.

The tier lines—except a blunder in their bearings in

the first division—were accurately laid out and well de-

fined. The lines of marked trees between the lots

and on the tier lines are still readily found and traced

wherever the primitive forest remains. The centre

bounds, with stones containing the initials of the

original owners, are generally still to be found in .sec-

tions outside of the villages. But the system of triple

division of owners' rights operated very unfairly on

the small proprietors, and this injustice was aggra-

vated by the width of the tiers on which the rights

were laid. Tliis operation may be illustrated by

examples.

"Joseph Root had a proprietary right of one pound
on the list of 1720. It entitled him to three acres of

land. One of these was set to him unless he had sold

his right to some larger proprietor in a strip of land

in the first division one mile long and half a rod

wide; another acre in tlie second division, of tiie same

dimensions, and the third acre in a strip half a mile

long and one rod wide. John Camp's heirs had a

two |>ound interest, which in like manner was allotted

to them in two detached strips of one rod wide and a

mile long, and a thinl of two rods wide and half a

mile long. In this way all the small proprietors

found their allotments made in three detached drib-

let.s instead of in one salable plot, and only eighteen

out of one humlred and six proprietors hadallotmcnta

in parcels of one hundred acres or more.

"The reservations for northerly and southerly high-

ways could be located within each tier where the

road would best accommodate, but the located reser-

vations for ca.-*terly and westerly highways could not

be used unless the nature of the ground was adapted

to a traveled road. As a consequence of this, so hilly

and precipitous is the territory of the town, that

scarcely one of its reservations has been opened for

public travel, and not one in its whole extent. The
result is that probably no town in the State has

alforded as little encouragement to its settlers in the

matter of highways.
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"In another respect there was a meanness in the

allotment of the land which it is to be hoiaed is un-

paralleled. It had been the uniform custom of town-

ship proprietors to make a liberal reservation of lands

to aid the settlers in the support of the gospel and of

common schools. Our stepfathers gave not a rood of

land for support of schools at home or abroad, and as

to religious endowments, they allotted three hundred

acres each to two of their own resident clergymen,

who, not being subject to taxation, could not regularly

come in for their shares of the ill-gotten spoil.*

INDIANS—THOROUGUFARES.

"The Green Woods section of Litchfield County,

though abounding with game, seems not to have been

a permanent abiding place of the Indian, save along

the Tunxis or Farmington River on the east, and the

Housatonic on the western border. The Scaticoke In-

dians dwelt along the Housatonic, their chief residence

in Kent. The Weatogue.s, of Simsbury, crowded out

from the Tunxis valley by the white settlers, took

refuge on the meadows of the Housatonic in Canaan.

" On the east a small tribe, or fragment of a tribe,

probably crowded out of Farmington, took up their

abode in New Hartford, near the gorge where the

Farmington River breaks through a mountain ridge,

which spot was designated by the early settlers as

' the Kingdom,' and eventually by the specific name

of 'Satan's Kingdom.'

"A portion of this tribe moved up the Farmington

to the foot of Ragged Mountain in Barkhamsted.

Modern wiseacres assert that their council-fire was the

mythical ' Barkhamsted Light-house,' of which so

much has been said and so little known. The head

man, or the last man of this tribe, named Chauguni,

lived and reigned to near the close of the last cen-

tury. His descendants in the female line, a race of

bleached-out, basket-making, root-gathering vaga-

bonds, with high cheek-bones and bow-and-arrow

eyes, have continued to dwell on the Ragged Moun-

tain domain and kept up the council-fires until a very

recent period. A daughter of Chaugum married a

runaway servant of Secretary Wyllys, of Hartford.

They settled in the Danbury quarter of Winchester,

and their descendants are the only known representa-

tives of the aboriginal race in this town.

"Not a single mountain, lake, or river bears an In-

dian name. The flint arrow-head is occasionally

found on the intervale lands, and in considerable

numbers along the south shores of Long Lake, to-

gether with some other stone implements, indicating

a resort there for fishing and hunting. There was

also a cleared spot around a copious spring of water

on the east shore of the lake, on land of Deacon

Joseph W. Hurlbut, where numerous arrow-heads

have been found."

The oldest conveyance of land recorded in AVin-

* Boyd's History.

Chester bears date Nov. 28, 1729, by which John Kil-

bourn, of Hartford, conveys to Jonathan and David

Hills, of Hartford, " all (his) right, title, share, and in-

terest in and to a large Tract ofLand, commonly known
as the Western Lands, belonging to the towns of Hart-

ford and Windsor, as it abuts on the Towns of Wood-
bury and Litchfield, west on the Colony Land, north

on the Colony line, and east on Farmington and Sims-

bury, or however butted and bounded."

The first road through this town was the trail fol-

lowed by the settlers en route to the lands at Goshen,

Norfolk, and Canaan. Where it was located is un-

known, but for a long time it continued to be the

traveled path to the West.
" The General Assembly, at its May session in 1758,

' being advised that the road or way now often trav-

eled through the towns of Simsbury, New Hartford,

and Norfolk, to and through the northwestern parts

of Canaan, towards Albany, is in many respects ill-

chosen and unfit for use, and that some new and better

road through said towns, or some of them, or the towns

adjacent, may probably be discovered more direct and

convenient, as well for carriages as traveling, to the

great accommodation and benefit of his Majesty'ssub-

jects, and especially in time of war, occasionally trav-

eling or marching, either from the eastern or central

parts of the colony ;' therefore

" Hcsoh-ea. That Col. John Pitkin, of Hartfonl, Seth Wetmore, of Mid-

letown, Mr. Wells, of Glassenbury, aiul Col. David Whitney, of Canaan,

be aitpuinted a cnmnuttee, .is soon as convenii-'ntly nLiy be, to repair to

and through said towns (and towns adjacent if need be), and with all

care and diligence to view and observe said roads now used ; and also,

witli the utmost care to explore and find out how and where any other

shorter and better way, in whole urin part, may be practicable, and their

full description thereof, with their opinion thereon, to make report to

the Assembly at their session in October (then) next."f

" This committee," says Mr. Boyd, "at the May ses-

sion in 1759, reported a new line of road, not dejjart-

ing in any instance more than two miles from a

straight line, extending from the court-house in

Hartford to Col. Whitney's in Canaan, and a plan of

the intervening towns, with the line pricked thereon.

" The Assembly accepted this report, and directed

the committee 'to lay out and make plain and certain

the said new country road from the mansion-house of

Samuel Humphrey, in Simsbury, to Col. David Whit-

ney's in Canaan.' In May, 1760, the committee having

discharged their duty, the Assembly ordered the way
to be cleared and made passable for traveling before

Nov. 20, 17G1, by the towns and proprietors of town-

ships through which it ran, and in case of non-com-

pliance by any such towns and proprietors, the com-

mittee was to take such other measures to that end,

at the expense of the delinquents, as would without

fail accomplish the service before May 1, 1762.

" This thoroughfare, known to a former generation

as ' The North Road,' and now almost a myth, had

in its day an importance and renown which justifies

f Colonial Records, vol. ix., pp. 9J-95.
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our detailed history of its origin and progress. Ac-

cording to tradition, it was a wonder of tlie age tliat a

direct and jiracticable route could be found and opened

through the jungles and over the succession of steep

rocky hills and mountains of the Green Woods for

travel, and the movement of troops and munitions

between Hartford and Albany. It soon became, and

continued until 1800, the great and almost the sole

thoroughfare of the colony in the direction of Albany.

Continental troops passed over it for frontier service.

Detachments of Burgoyne's army, as prisoners of war,

marched over it to the quarters assigned them.
" There is a tradition that Col. Ethan Allen, while

on military service in the Revolutionary war, pre-

sumed to desecrate the Sabbath by traveling over this

road, instead of spending the day in sacred medita-

tions at the hostelry of Landlord Phelps, or Roberts,

on Wallen's Hill, or of Landlord Freedom Wright,

further westward, when a little bushy-headed grand

juror of our town emerged from his log cabin on the

roadside, seized the bridle-rein of the colonel's

charger, and attempted to arrest him as a Sabbath-

breaker. The colonel, sternly eyeing the legal digni-

tary, drew his sword, and flourishing it aloft, irrever-

ently exclaimed, ' You d—d woodchuck ! get back

into your burrow, or I'll cut your head off"!' Grand

Juror Balcomb, finding what a Tartar he had caught,

prudently abandoned his captive and retired to his

cabin.

" It should not be inferred from the amount of travel

that this road was an Appian Way. On the contrary,

direct as it was, it went up and down the highest

hills, on uneven beds of rocks and stones, and pa.ssod

marshy valleys on corduroy of the coarsest liemlock

log texture. Commencing at the North village in

New Hartford, it ran westerly up a steej) hill, then

turned northwesterly through the Bourbon region,

crossing the Green Woods turnpike a little west of

the toll-gate ; then northerly by zigzags to the top of a

lofty hill ; then over Wallen's Hill, by the northeast

school-house, down ti> Still River, near Daniel Wil-

son's; then up Dislimill Hill and onward by the Row-
ley Pond to Colebrook, and onward through Cole-

brook Centre to Pond Hill, in Norfolk, and thence by

Norfolk Centre and Canaan toward Albany.
" Another bridle-path entered the to\vnshi]i from

the vicinity of Burrville and passed northwesterly by

Landlord Mott's tavern to the south i>art of Norfidk

before any settlement was made. In 1702 a commit-

tee of the Assembly, previously appointed, reported a

highway along this route, 'beginning at a rock about

three rods west of tlie fore door of the house belonging

to Rev. Mr. Gold in Torringford, and running in a

northwesterly direction a little more than a mile to

Still Riv<'r, about a hundred rod.s south of Yale's mill

(at Burrville), thence in a northwesterly direction, by

Spectacle Pond and Mott's house, to a stake and
stones in Norfolk line.'

" This was the South road, by which emigrants

from the southeastern towns wended their toilsome

way to the western townships, in process of settle-

ment. It was so ' hard a road to travel' that good

Landlord Burr, living near the Hayden brickyard,

used, as it was said, to detain his traveling guests

until after morning worship that they might have the

benefit of his prayers in aid of their arduous efforts to

get up the old dug-way road, west of Burrville, an

aid greatly needed.
" The first of these roads was for many years the

only way of access from the east to the Winsted

section of the town. By the second, many, but not

all, of the immigrants came into the ' Old Society.'

Several of the earliest pioneers came in from Torring-

ton and Goshen, at the extreme southwest corner of

the township, and located in Hall Meadow and the

Blue Street region."

The first settler within the present bounds of Win-
chester was Caleb Beach, who purchased lands in

May, 1750, and erected the first house in the town.

This pioneer dwelling stood on the east side of the

Hall Meadow road, about one-half mile north of the

Torrington line, and near the line of Goshen.

In the proprietors' vote of January, 1758, ordering

the survey and allotment of the first and second di-

visions of laud, the committee were instructed "to lay

out to Mr. Caleb Beach, or his assignees, his share or

allotment in the division where his house now i.s, so

as to take in his house, barn, and orchard, if his allot-

ment shall be wide enough to take [them) iu." The
lot set out to him or his -assignees under the instruc-

tions is a lot of sixteen and two-thirds acres, within

Lot No. G, in the first division. He conveyed away
his right to this allotment March IS, 17"it!, and |)rob-

ably soon after moved back to Goshen, where he died

Jan. 13, 1760, age<l sixty-one years. His will was

probated and recorded in the Litchfield Probate

Court, and contaiue<l the following bequests of his

earthly possessions

:

" IiiipriniiH, to uiy present l>elo\e<l wifu, lluiitmli, I givp and boqucatli

uno cluHt iinil uDo bed , and one ^reat iiphnilng.wheel, and one double

spinning-wheel, tu Ikj lier own and at lier dispuso.

** Ileni, To my eldest tlangliter, Sunili Andnts, the m ife or Klon Androa,

or \VHllingfonl, 1 giro aiul bc'inviitli tu her, out or my etttulo, but flvo

HhllUiigT* ; she having recelvinl lirr |H>rtion of my eittutu U.forv.

" Item. Tu my suns Ciileb and lle/ekluh Beach, uf Goshen, 1 give and

b(>4ineath my plongh.lr\>ns, and lirag teeth, and pluw.c-halii(i, vl/. ; to my
oldi-itt sun, Caleb, twothlnl I^trtj, and to ilesekiah one-third part, to b«

their uivn and at their illslHiao.

*' Item, Tu my tion, Jotd Iteacli.or Turrlngt^)!!, I give and be'iuoath three

steel tni[M, with the chains belonging to them, and my shaving>knlfe, to

be his own and at hi-4 ilin|Hwe.

" Item, To my daughter, Slargit Dewch, I give and lieqaeatli three

chests, one table, sl\ piitcr plattent and plates, three puter Isl/tins, four

pnter |ioriiligent, one pair uf longs, one flre-sliuvol and one tmnnd, oDe

|vdr of andinins, one brass warming pan, one bnas skillet, a bnua ket*

tie, one iron kettle and three Iron pola, to bo her own and at her dis-

pose
•'

Mr. Beach was grandson of Thomas Beach, an

parly planter of Milford, son and youngest child of

Deacon John, of Wallingford, and brother of Deacon
John, of (toshen, from whom Beach Street took its

name. lie was born at Wallingford. iu lii'JU, whero
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he married the first of his three wives. Tiience he

first removed to Goshen, and afterwards to Winchester.

Caleb Beach was born at Wallingford in 1699;

died Jan. 13, 1761. He married, first, May 26, 1726,

Eunice Tyler. She died Jan. 10, 1733. He married,

second, Oct. 4, 1733, Margaret Thompson. He had a

third wife, named Hannah.

Joel Beach, third son of Caleb, and inheritor of his

traps and shaving-knife, came into the town with his

father at about fifteen years old, and is named as of

Winchester in the record of his first marriage, in

1757. He afterwards lived in Torrington until 1761,

when he purchased his lifelong residence on Blue

Street, a little south of the stone school-house.

He is described by a cotemporary* as "a conserva-

tive of the first water,—conservative in his dress, in

his food, and in all his habits,—six feet four or five

inches high, gaunt and erect, with a pock-marked,

weather-beaten face, large hands and feet, clothed in

butternut-colored coat, vest^ and small-clothes, gar-

nished with long jjewter buttons, stockings of black

and white sheep's wool, cow-hide shoes of enormous

size, crowned with a broad-brimmed, round-topped

hat of dubious color; his customs on week-days, Sun-

days, and training-days were always the same, from

early manhood to extreme old age. His fare was

simple, consisting of bears' meat, venison, and wild

turkey, when game abounded, and beef, i)ork, and

mutton in after-years, with toast and cider, mush and

milk, and bean porridge as his only lu.xuries."

He was, withal, a mighty hunter, never failing to

bring down the deer, fox, or wild turkey with his six-

foot shooting-iron.

He was also a fish fancier, and had stoned up a

tank around a copious spring on the side of the road

in front of his house, in which he kept a speckled

trout of great size. There is another legend that a

neighbor, with a long hooked nose, tinged at the end

with deep red, coming along the road one day stooped

down to drink from the tank. The trout, seeing the

red protuberance as it touched the water, and fancy-

ing it a gaudy insect, sprang upwards and seized it.

The nose recoiled, but too late. The fish was drawn

out of the water, and dropped on dry land. Great

was the rage of the man of the nose for a few

moments, but as he surveyed the poor floundering

fish, and reflected that he had got the worst of it, pity

superseded wrath. Looking around and seeing no

witness of his successful angling, he kindly restored

the fish to the water and went on his way a happier

man for his magnanimous act.

Mr. Beach's wife was also a dead shot. One day,

near sunset, she discovered a panther in a tree near

the house. Her husband was away, but his loaded

gun was at hand. She seized and primed it, took

deliberate aim, and lodged a bullet in its brain.

Mr. Beach died Nov. 28, 1820, aged eighty-four,

* Bev. Abel McEwen, D.D., of New Luudon.

leaving his original farm neither increased nor di-

minished by a single acre.

Samuel Gilbert, from Coventry, became a land-

owner and resident of the town in 1752.

Ebenezer Preston, from Wallingford, and .Joseph

Preston, from Farmington, became owners of an un-

divided right of land in 1754, under which they en-

tered upon and improved a small tract of land adjoin-

ing Torrington line, extending from Blue Street road

eastward to the north, and South road in the second

tier, which, under a vote of the proprietors, was

allotted to them in the division of 1758. Here was

their first dwelling-jilace. They afterwards lived, in

various parts of the town, to a good old age, leaving

sons and daughters.

Joseph Preston, Sr., died in 1774.

Joseph Preston died in' Winsted in 1824, aged

eighty-five. He is believed to have been son to Joseph,

the pioneer. He and his wife, known as " Uncle Joe"

and "Aunt Keziah," lived early in this century in a log

shanty on Sucker Brook. They were a simple-minded

couple, who lived by basket-making and renovating

splint-bottomed chairs. They once lost the day of the

week, and made Sunday a day of labor. They started

for meeting on their old pillioned horse on Monday,

and learning on the way their unintended desecration

of the Sabbath, returned home and spent the rest of

the day in penitential and devotional exercises.

Jonathan and John Preston, father and son, from

Waterbury, were here in 1767.

Samuel Preston, son of Ebenezer, owned and

occupied a part of his father's land in 1768, and after-

wards, until 1790, lived in the extreme southwest

corner of the town.

THE PIONEER TAVERX.

Landlord Adam Mott, originally from Windsor,

erected his hostelry on the bridle-path that preceded

the old South road as early as 1754. It stood oppo-

site the Hurlbut Cemetery, and on or near the site of

the house of John Neth. The building was neither

imposing nor spacious. Its walls were of unhewn logs,

its roof of hemlock bark, with an opening in the ridge

for the escape of smoke from the capacious stone

chimney which ascended to the level of the garret

floor. The landlord had two strapping boys who
slept under the roof, and occasionally worked off their

superfluous animal force by a wrestling match before

getting into bed. One cold winter night, when the

hearth was all aglow with coals and embers of the

consumed firewood, the boys, in their shirt tails,

grappled for a trial of strength. They struggled long

and vigorously. At length one of them got the dead

lock of the other at the edge of the yawning chimney.

Both of them went headlong down the crater into the

coals and embers in the fireplace. Whether the

fare of the next day was called pork or bear's meat

tradition does not say. It is presumable, however,

if it was of the last night's roast that it loas done brown.
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How a tavern could be sustained in this uninhab-

ited region is hard to conceive. Landlord Mott,

however, took courage and made the best of his

business. To an inquiry as to how he succeeded in

retailing his first keg of rum, he replied that he was

doing remarkabl)' well ; that hunters, when they came

along, would fill their bottles, and that nearly every

day he bought a glass of tanzy bitters of his wife, and

that she would then buy one of him with the same

fourpence-halfpenny.

The bark-roofed tavern, in the course of years,

gave way to a red lean-to mansion of the old Windsor

order of architecture, and this in its turn to a pleasant

modern cottage, drawing its water from the original

well.

Landlord Mott became poor, and died in his native

Windsor. He had children (as appears by deeds on

record) : Jonathan, Adam, Jr., Lent, and Eunice,

wife of Aaron Neal, of Farmington, and may have

had others.

Jonathan Mott, son of Adam, Sr., came into the

town with his father, and lived in a house on the

slope of the hill, southeast of the tavern, which has

long since disappeared. He died in 1818, aged one

hundred and three, and was buried at the town's

charge.

Adam Mott, Jr., succeeded his father in the home-

stead until 1767, and afterward lived west of the old

Everitt tavern. He went to Ticonderoga in 1775, in

Capt. Sedgwick's company ; served in Capt. Beebe's

company in 1770, at Long Island, and was in other

service during the Revolution. He removed to Ver-

non, N. Y., in liis old age, where he was frozen to

death at the age of about one hundred years.

Lent Mott, son of Adam, Sr., had land from his

father near the old Everitt tavern, on whicli he early

resided. He served in the Northern campaign, in

1775, and probably did other service.

I^oamnii Mott, son of Adam, ,Ir., married, .\pril IS,

1795, Polly, daughter of Samuel Clark, of Winchester,

and moved with his father-in-law, about 1800, to Stock-

bridge, Mass.

Ira Mott, son of Adam, Jr., owned land on the

Brooks Street road in 1784, and on Blue Street in

1788.

Moses Miller and .Toshua Merrills were here prior

to 1758, and owned land on Hall meadow.

William Filley, called in the deed "late of Tor-

rington, now of Winchester," bought in 1701 seventy

acres of land on Hall meadow, whicli included the

land and house previously occupied by Caleb Beach,

the first settler. He was drowned in a deep pool

called the tub, in the West Branch, Aug. 3, 1774, aged

thirty-nine.

Deacon Abraham Filley inherited a portion of his

brotiier William's estate, and resided in the town

most of his life. In 1772 liis homestead was a part

of the Col. Ozias Bronson farm. In 1774 he was of

New Hartford, whence he removed to Winsted and
12

had charge of Doolittle's mill ; and afterwards lived

and died in Old Winchester. He is said to have

made a wooden clock with a penknife. In his later

years he became a maniac, and was confined in a de-

tached building.

Remembrance Filley, brother of William, also lived

here, and served in the Revolutionary war. Thomas
Hosmer, Jr., came into the town soon after 1761.

Cornelius Merry and John Smith, Jr., were also here

about this time.

David Austin, Jr., built and resided in the house

adjoining the pond outlet.

Benoni Hills was born in Suffield in 1701 ; re-

moved to Durham in 1724-25 ; to Goshen about

1740; afterwards to Torrington, and finally to Win-

chester, where he died, " ripe for Heaven," June 24,

17'.i3, in his ninety-second year. Several years before

his death he selected two rough stones of mica slate,

and shaping them to his liking, engraved in rude

letters on one of them, " Benoni Hills, this is my
house;" and on the other, "O eternity, death is

come;" to which is added, "June 24, 1793, B. H. tet.

93." Working at these stones was the special enjoy-

ment of his leisure hours. He brought them with

him from Torrington, and gave special directions to

have them placed over his grave, where they now
stand, in the old Winchester burying-ground.

Sctli Hills, " of Winchester," is grantee in a deed

of Oct. 9, 1705, conveying to him fifty acres bordering

on Torrington, in the third tier, first division, which

he had probably occupied earlier. Mr. Hills was

first deacon of the church, and first representative of

the town ; a man of hardy constitution, indomitable

energy, sound, good sense, and sincere piety; his in-

tegrity without a stain. He .served as wagon-master

in the Saratoga campaign ; was present at Burgoyne's

surrender, and assisted in clearing the field of the

dead and wounded when the battle was ended. He
died at Vernon, N. Y., June 3, 1820, aged nearly

ninety years.

Capt. John Hills was here Dec. 0, 1776, and doubt-

less earlier. He lived in a house that stood in or ad-

joining the Ilnrlbut Cemetery. He was a gunsmith

by trade, and his shop stood near his house. He sold

his homestead to James .Vtkins in 1781, and after-

wards removed to Charlotte, Vt., where he died .March

15, 1808, aged seventy-si.\. He was great-grandfather

of Deacon Abel S. Wetmore, now a resident of this

town.

Bcriah Hills came into the town after 1709, and

lived on Turrinpton line on the cast side of the road,

in the third tier, second division, running north from

Fyler's. He was for several years appointed " to read

the psalm" in the old meeting-house, and died March

25, 1778, in his fifty-second year.

Jledad Hills, of (ioslicn, third son of Benoni, a

gunsmith, who made muskets for the State during the

Revolution, was a large land-owner in Winchester, and

resided at one period in the Norris Coe house. He
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had a son, Hewitt, who came into the town in 1788,

and became one of its most prominent citizens.

Jesse Hills, son of Deacon Seth, lived on the farm

recently occupied by Samuel Hurlbut (second), which

he sold to Elijah Blake in 1708.

Chauncey Hills, second son of Beriah, a noted

stammerer, lived in his father's homestead bordering

on Torrington line until aliout 1802, when he sold

out to Luke Case and William Bunnell, and removed

to Litchfield, Herkimer Co., N. Y.

Benoni Hills, oldest son of Beriah, had no real es-

tate during the life of his father.

In 17ol, Capt. Josiah Avered, of Woodbury (Beth-

lehem Society), became the owner of undivided lands

in Winchester, and was soon after disabled by the

kick of a horse, and confined to his bed until his death

in 1765. His property being almost exhausted during

his protracted confinement, his widow, Mrs. Hannah
(Hinman) Avered, or Everett, as now spelled, soon

after his death removed with her aged mother and

seven children to the wilds of Winchester while

there were as yet but three fiimilies in the central part

of the old society. They stayed in a house on the

farm now owned by Deacon Abel S. Wetmore until

a clearing had been made and a house erected on their

land about two miles north of the Centre, on the old

South cuuntry road, as it then ran toward Norfolk.

REMIXISCENCES OF MRS. SWIFT.

"It is evident," says her granddaughter, Mrs. Swift, in her remiiiis-

fences, '* that my grandmother removed from Itethlehemin 17G5; and with

her cliildren came aleiu her mutlter, Mis. Wary Xuhle Uinnian, who died

in Winchester at ninety-two years, of age. The date of her death is not

known. Her grave ia on the left hand of lier dangliter's, as you face the

headstone of the hitter.

" She is said to have been born in Northampton, and to have removed

to ohl Wilfnrd at tlie age uf sixteen, and that soon afterward, on a Sab-

hath morning, she and her sister went into the foi'est to collect thorns

with wliiuh to drees themselves in order to attend church at New Haven.

Tliis sister was ancestress of President Day.

" During the severe winters of that period the linngry wolves howled

in the Hltle enclosure of ni}' grandmother's cottage during the nights,

and were seen to jump over the fence when any one opened the door.

Many are the incidents related in my childish ears of the sufferings of

the family during the Revoltitionaiy war, particularly in the ' hard

winter' of 1783.

" No grinding could be done at the mill ; snow fell every other day for

six weeks, and the wind and drifting seemed only a continuation of the

stoi ni. Grain and corn were boiled (>jt family use. "Wood wiis drawn on

the tops of the drifts on a liand-sled by my Uncle Andrew (the youngest

sou) on snow-shoes, ami received by his sisteie through a window at the

back of the Imnse. My Uncle Noble at tliis period wasa chaplain in the

army, and my lather (Josiah) also away getting his profession, and after-

wards in cojnmand of a company on the Camxda frontier.

" During the liard winter a piece of check-woolen for soldiers' shirts

was put into the lootn, but it wiia impossible to weave it on account of

the cold; so it was all wound out in balls, then donhlt-d (one thread white

and the other bhie)'and twisted on the 'gieat wheel' ; and thus prepared,

my grandmother and her four daughters sat in a circle,—enclosed by

blankets suspended from the .joists overhead around the high fireplace

—

and knitted the yarn into stockings for the aimy. One night during

these times my grandmother and her children sat up amid the howlings

of the winter I'lasts in consultation whether tliey sliould break uphouse-

keeping and each lalse care of themselves. Afler retiring and passing

the remaining night slcejiless, grandmother arose in the morning, and

told her family that ' by tlie help of God they would keep together.'

" Wlien she was eighty-four years old she often rode on horseback

from her home, two miles, to the village, went to the, store, then stopped

at my father's to rest, and then rode home alone. She was eighty-nine

at her death.

" During the war my Aunt Diana, one Monday morning, received an

invitation to a wedding just one week from that evening; she must,

therefore, have a ' new gown.' The only store in the town was south of

the burying-ground, near Torrington line, nearly four miles distant.

My grandmother rode over the hills to the store, where she found a pat-

tern of chintz which she could have for eleven and a half yards of

checked woolen shirting for soldiers' wear; hut could not buy it with

' Continental bills.' The old lady returned about one hour before ' sun-

down' and told her story. ' We Inid,' says my aunt, ' wool, cards, wheel,

net, loom, and blue dye all in the house, but not a thread of yarn. That

night, before I went to bed, I carded, spun, washed, and put into the dye-

tub one run of yarn, and so the work went on ; the cloth was wove, the

* gown' pattern purchased, made up, and worn to the wedding at the

week's end. I have often seen this gown ; and in 1843 I slept under a

hed-quilt, made principally fiom its remains, in a good state of preserva-

tion.

" On another occasion, years afterwards (within my own memory), this

Aunt Diana, being engaged at iier cheese-tub, heard the cry of a chicken

at the open door; looking out she perceived a large hen-hawk pounced

on a poor fowl, her back towards her. With a long cheese-knife in her

hand she sprang lightly forward and sat down over the hawk, took him

by the head and. with her knife, cut it off. ' Ho acted as if he felt

ashamed wiien I was doing it,' she said, when she told me the story.

Often have I jihiyed with its great talons.'

"Aunt Diana, afterwards wife of Deacon Tlieophilns Humphrey, of

Canton, was almost ninety-one year* old at her death, Dec. 11, 1843. She

was remarkable for her piety and talents ; was educated beyond what

was common at that early period ; had spent three years at school in

New London."

Dr. Josiah Everitt was probably the first physician

in the town. He studied medicine with Drs. Bird, of

Bethlehem, and Hall, of Woodbury, and settled in

AVinchester as a physician, living first in the store

building, recently torn down, that stood in front of

Mr. Theron Bronson's new store at Winchester Centre,

and afterwards, through his remaining life, in the

house now occupied by his son. Noble J. Everitt, a

quarter of a mile south of the Centre. He served as

captain of a company of Connecticut troops in the

Northern army in the first year of the Revolutionary

war. He died, Feb. 5, 1829, aged eighty.

Andrew Everitt resided with his mother in the old

homestead until her decease, and continued to own
and occupy it until 1809, when he sold it, and re-

moved to Vernon, N. Y., where he died.

Jonathan Coe, of Torrington, purchased one hun-

dred acres of land at the south end of the third tier,

first division, lying immediately north of the farm of

Deacon Seth Hills, in 1764, which remained in his

family ninety-nine years. In 1765 he conveyed one-

half of this lot to his son Oliver, and the other half

to his son Robert.

Oliver Coe moved on to the south half of the above

lot at or soon after the date of his deed, and occupied

the same until his death, Dec. 31, 1775, at the age of

thirty-seven. He served in the Continental army,

under Capt. Sedgwick and Col. Hinman, at Ticonde-

roga, in 1775; was discharged November 20th; was

taken sick on his way home near Lake George
;
pro-

cured a horse on which he reached home November

28tli ; and was confined to his bed with the camp or

typhoid fever until his death, five weeks afterwards.

Robert Coe settled on the north half of the hun-
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dred-acre lot aforesaid, and remained until 1768, when
he sold out to his brother, Jonathan Coe, Jr.

Jonathan Coe, Jr., known as Ensign Jonathan Coe,

moved with his fiither and mother in 1768 on the farm

until then occupied by Robert Coe, where Jonathan

Coe, Sr., died. He removed to Winsted in 1796, and

resided until near his death in the house afterwards

occupied by Col. N. D. Coe. Ensign Coe may be con-

sidered the father of the Methodist denomination in

the town, having been perhaps the earliest convert

and a consistent and earnest supporter or the order

through his life.

Oliver Coe, Jr., owned and lived on the Henry
Drake farm, near Torrington line, in the second tier,

first division, from 1805 to 1814, when he moved to

Hudson, Ohio, and died there Aug. 14, 1825, aged

sixty-one. He served on several tours of duty in the

Revolutionary war, and on the breaking out of the

Indian war again enlisted for three years, and served

in Gen. Harmer's campaign down the Ohio, and was one

of seven survivors of Col. Harden's detachment which

was cut off by the Indians on the headwaters of the

Scioto in the fall of 1791. He also served as military

guard of the surveying party that surveyed the Ohio

Company's purchase ; after which he returned to the

place of his nativity and became a thrifty and wealthy

farmer, enjoying in a high degree the respect and

confidence of the communities in which he lived.

Gershom McEwen and family, consisting of Mary,

Sarah, Robert, Samuel, and Gershom, came in to this

town from Stratford, Conn., in 1766, wlien lie Ixiught

of David Austin the farm now owned by Marcus Mun-
sill, about a quarter of a mile soutli of Winchester

Centre. He was called of " Winchester" in 1773.

He owned and occupied land next soutli of Sylvester

Piatt's farm until his death, Aug. 31, 1794.

Enoch Palmer, from Farmingtou, came to Winches-

ter in 1767, and lived in the late homestead of Adam
Mott, Jr., which stood on the site of Noble J. Ev-
eritt's house, next north of the Robert McEwen house,

now owned by Marcus Munsill, until 1773, when he

removed to a farm on the old north country road, near

the Wallcn's Hill school-house, wliere lie died in

1795.

Simeon Loomis was here in 17G7.

Aaron Cook, from Torrington, purchased in 1767,

and occupied during his life, the lot at the soutlieast

corner of the second tier, first division, inimediiitely

north of the Preston reservation, and lived on tlie

south part of IMuc Street. He died May 19, 1804,

aged fifty-nine.

Eleazer Smith had a child born in Winchester in

1768, but is named of Barkhamstcd in a deed of June
22, 1770, conveying to him land at the angle of the

old road to Winchester Centre, north of Sylvester

Piatt's. He l)uilt and occupied the old house recently

torn down that stood east of tlie north and south road,

opposite the turn westward of the road to the Centre.

In 1791 he sold to Thomas Spencer, Jr., after which

his name disappears. He had ten children born in

the town.

Noah Gleason, from Torringford, bought a house

and lot of John Smith in 1769, on the east side of Blue

Street, near Torrington line, which he occupied until

about 1776.

Noah Gleason, Jr., owned and occupied land ad-

joining his father, on the west side of Blue Street,

from 1783 to 1787, and afterwards on the Brooks

road.

Daniel Grover, of Stratford, a shoemaker, bought

in 1769 a lot of laud at the parting of the Norfolk and
Brooks Street roads, in first tier, first division, which
he occupied, living in a house near N. T. Loomis, until

1785. He had six fingers on each hand, and six toes

on each foot.

Joseph Hoskin, from Torrington, came to Win-
chester probably in 1769, and lived on a road border-

ing on Torrington line, at the south end of the third

tier, first division. He served as trumpeter in the

cavalry detachment that went down from Litchfield

County to Long Island, whose gaunt appearance,

rusty equipments, and i)acing horses excited the ridi-

cule of Washington's army, until their good service

in the battle and retreat from Brooklyn Heights

made them better appreciated. He was a kind-

hearted, jovial man, as was indicated by his lifelong

sobriquet of " Uncle Joe." He died in Winsted, De-
cember, 1818, aged eighty-two.

Reuben Tucker, from Bolton, bought lands adjoin-

ing Norfolk line on botli sides of Mad River in 1769,

on which he resided after 1770 until liis death in

1811, at the age of sixty-four. He left a large family

of children, most of whom removed from the town

early. His son, Isaac Tucker, lived in the town as

late as 1830. Mr. Tucker built the first saw-mill on

the site near the Norfolk line, now owned by the

Brooks'.

Timothy Grover, brother of Daniel, owned land

south of and adjoining Daniel's, which he occupied

until his death, in 17.S().

Capt. Jonathan Alvord, of Chatham, came into the

town in 177'i, and lived in a house, long since taken

down, near the northwest corner made by the Dug-
way road where it turns west to Winchester Centre,

until he sold out to Rev. Joshua Knapp, in 1773.

Eliphaz Alvord, Esq., son of Jonathan, above

named, came to Winchester in 1770, and following

the marked trees to the land he had purchased,

cleared and planted a garden aii<l built a log house

in three weeks, and then returned and moved his

family and cflects to his new home, carrying one

child in his arms and another behind liim on one

horse, his wife riding another horse with an infant

in her arms, wliiU' their etleets were drawn on an ox-

cart. He aflerwards built, opposite his first log house,

on west side of the Dugway road, a red lean-to house,

a little north of the line of the road westerly to the

Centre, in which he resided during his remaining life.
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Both houses have long since disappeared, and no new
structures mark their sites.

He was chosen town clerk at the organization of

the town in 1771, and continued to hold the office,

with the exception of two years, until his voluntary

resignation in 1819. His records are a model of ac-

curacy and penmanship, and the vote of thanks for

his faithful services was well merited. In 1779 he

was appointed the first justice of the peace in the

town, and held the office until disqualified by age,

discharging the duties with equal ability and recti-

tude. If in doubt as to the law of any case before

him on trial, he almost invariably went to Litchfield

and consulted Judge Reeve or some other able coun-

sel before deciding the points. His cases were inva-

riably recorded at large, with great precision, and

in perfect legal form, even to the taking of recog-

nizances and administering of oaths. His records

give a better insight to the prevailing habits, customs,

ancf vices of his day than can be obtained from any

other source.

AVarham Gibbs, from Litchfield, came into the

town in 1770, and lived on the east side of a road,

now discontinued, running southerly from Winches-

ter Centre, by the first meeting-house, to the Luther

Bronson place. The road, the house of Mr. Gibbs,

and the old meeting-house, and all other traces of

civilization in that vicinity, except a few ancient

apple-trees, have disappeared for near half a cen-

tury. Mr. Gibbs was moderator of the first town-

meeting, and the first constable of the town ; also

frequently appointed "to assist in reading the psalm"

on Sundays, and to discharge other public trusts and

duties. He went to Ticonderoga and Canada in 1775

and 1776 as lieutenant and captain, and did other

service in the Revolutionary war. He removed from

the town in 1780.

Lewis Wilkinson, from New Milford, with his sons,

Jesse and Levi, came to Winchester in 1770, and lived

until 1773 on the farm on the Brooks road,—after-

wards owned by Abram Andrews,—and afterwards,

until 1784, on the farm on the west side of the Brooks

road recently owned by Nathan Tibballs.

Jesse Wilkinson, son of the above, lived on lands

adjoining his father's, in a red lean-to house.

Levi Wilkinson, son of Lewis, lived between his

father and his brother Jesse, on the west side of

Brooks road, until 1789.

Samuel Wetmore was born in Middletown, Middle-

field Society, March 13, 1692; married, June 21, 1722,

Hannah Hubbard, born July 21, 1700. He came to

Winchester at the age of seventy-nine years, in 1771,

and settled with his son, Samuel Wetmore, Jr., on the

farm now owned and occupied by his great-great-

grandson. Deacon Abel Samuel Wetmore. He died

Dec. 30, 1773, aged eighty-one, and is said to have
been the first person whose remains were deposited

in the Winchester burying-ground.

Dr. Truman Wetmore, married, Oct. 18, 1799, Sylvia

Spencer, daughter of Thomas ; she died March 27,

1800, and in her memory he added the name " Spen-

cer" to his Christian name, Dec. 27, 1800; he married

(second) Elizabeth Jarvis; she died May 7, 1844, aged
fifty-eight; he died July 21, 1861,. aged eighty-seven.

Soon after the death of his first wife he began the

study of medicine, under Drs. Woodward, of Torring-

ton, Moore, of Winsted, and McEwen, of Albany, N. Y.

Receiving his diploma in 1802, he commenced practice

in Vermont, but in 1806 returned to Winchester, and

in the following year, on the breaking out of the

spotted fever in this county, he was the first who
treated it successfully. He was a well-road and suc-

cessful physician of the old school, a poet of local

celebrity, a musical composer (some of his tunes

being still retained in the worship of the churches),

a man of genial humor and tender feelings, and a

chronicler of olden times to whom the compiler is

largely indebted. He continued in practice until the

age of seventy-five. His residence until about 1828

was on the south side of Cooper lane, about half a

mile west of the Centre, and during his remaining life

in the old parsonage house now owned by his son-in-

law, Leonard B. Hurlbut.

David Goff's name is on the petition for incorpora-

tion of the town, dated Aug. 4, 1767, but it does not

appear that he was ever a land-owner, nor is his resi-

dence ascertainable. He was an early member of the

church, and is occasionally named on the records as

holding subordinate town offices. From an affidavit

of Col. Aaron Austin, accompanying a petition of

Goff for compensation for military service, it appears

that he served as sergeant in Capt. Griswold's com-

pany, in an expedition to Canada in 1775, and that in

1776 he and his son enlisted in the company of which

Austin was captain, and that in the retreat from Can-

ada in that year he was the means of saving the army
from destruction, by devising and carrying out a plan

of getting the boats up the Chamblee rapids by means

of drag-ropes, with men on the shores to tow them,

instead of carrying them and their freight a circuit of

some miles by land, as had been the custom, which it

was impossible to do without teams, of which the army
was destitute. It appears by the same document that

he was afterwards a lieutenant in the Continental

army. It also appears by Sedgwick's " History of

Sharon" that he resided in that town during a part of

the Revolutionary period.

Capt. Benjamin Benedict, from Danbury, was here

in 1771, and was chosen a surveyor of highways at

the first annual town-meeting. He built a saw-mill

on the south side of Mad River, above the bridge,

nearly all traces of which have now disappeared.

Capt. Timotliy Benedict, from Danbury, named in

his first deed, Timothy Benedict, Jr., bought in 1771

the eastern half of the lot originally purchased by

Capt. Benjamin Benedict, lying on both sides of Mad
River, and inclosing the Danbury school-house, on

which he resided until his death. His wife, Mrs.
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Lydia Benedict, died in this town Feb. 21, 1824, aged

ninety-five. The land records show that he had three

sons, Timothy, Jr., William, and Joshua, who came

with him to Winchester and to whom he conveyed

portions of his land.

Timothy Benedict, Jr., owned land on both sides of

Mad River east of the highway and running south

from the Danbury school-house, and lived on the east

side of the road, nearly opposite the Danbury bury-

ing ground, until his decease.

Timothy Benedict, son of Timothy, lived and died

(March 29, 1820) on the easterly side of the turnpike

above the toll-gate.

Deacon Nathaniel Dutton came here from Wood-
bury in 1771. He remained two years, and then re-

turned to Woodbury.

Daniel Piatt and John Bradley were here in 1771.

Lemuel Stannard, Jr., from Saybrook, is a signer of

the petition for incorporation of the town in 1771.

He was born April 13, 1750.

Abel Stannard, supposed to be the son of Lemuel,

Sr., bought in 1779 a lot lying immediately north of

the Little Pond, and built and lived in a square-roofed

house on the road running along the east side of the

pond.

Lemuel Stannard, Sr., from Saybrook, is grantee, in

1778, of a lot in second tier, first division, near Reuben
Chase's, which he conveyed to his son William in

1789, describing it as his homestead. In 179tJ he is

alluded to in a deed as " Lemuel Stannard, late of

Winchester, deceased."

William Stannard occupied his father's homestead

until 1790, when he sold out to Col. Ozias Bronson

;

and afterwards owned land in Danbury Quarter, which

he conveyed to his father-in-law, Peleg Sweet, in 1800.

Seth Stannard married, Xov. 13, 1785, Martha

Preston.

Ezra Stannard, son to Lemuel Stannard uud Ruth,

his wife, owned in 1793 and 1794 the Humphrey farm,

on the cast side of Long Pond, south of the Pratt

farm, which he sold to Levi Ackley and Oziiw Spencer.

In 1771 all the inhabitants, with the exception of

some half-dozen families, were west of the old South

country road, a section not exceeding one-sixth part

of the township. The whole population, as stated in

the petition of April 4, 1771, is twenty-eigiit families

and one hundred and .seventy-nine soul^ witliin the

society of Winchester, and only four familio.-* without

tiie society and within the town. The "Danbury
Quarter," embracing the four half-mile tiers in tlie

northwest corner of the town, is, aa yet, nearly un-

occupied. The four families located without tlie so-

ciety are on tlic North country road, at tlie nortlieast

corner of the town, and will be again referred to.

The following new inhabitants are found on the re-

cord.s of this year in Old Winchester Society : Thomas
Spencer, Alexander Leach, John Corey, Levi Bronson,

Roswell Coe, Elisha Smith, Samuel Hurlbut, and Reu-

ben Thrall.

Thomas Spencer, from Saybrook, in 1772 moved on

to the farm recently purchased of Bronson and Mun-
sill by Rufus Eglestone, lying north of his homestead,

and bordering on the west side of the Long Pond

south of Sucker Brook. The house which he built

and occupied during his remaining life remained

standing until the winter of 18G2-63, and then yielded

to the wintry blasts. He was a prominent man of the

town, and nine of his children became heads of large

and influential families ; but of more than twenty of

his descendants now residing in this town not one

bears the name of Spencer. He was born Jan. 16,

1736, 0. S., and died May 1, 1807, aged seventy-one.

John Spencer, oldest son of Thomas, in 1784 bought

of David Austin thirty-nine acres of land in the heart

of the west village of Winsted, embracing all of Main

Street from Camp's Block southerly and easterly to

Clifton Mill bridge, and the whole of High Street,

Elm Street, the Green Woods Park, and adjacent

streets. He entered on this purchase, cleared a few

acres, and built a log house, on the flat near the corner

of Elm and Main Streets, before any bridge had been

erected across Mad River at Lake Street, or any road

opened south of the bridle-path now known as Hins-

dale Street. De.si)airing of ever having access by a

road and bridge to the civilized part of the town, and

unwilling to rear a family in this savage region, he

sold his purchase for three dollars an acre, and bought

a two-luindred-acre farm in D.mbury Quarter, lately

owned by E<lward Rujrg, then a well-populated section

of the town, on which he lived until 1799. He died

in Oneida Co., N. Y., Feb. 14, 182G.

TIIE PIONEER FORGE.

Thomas Spencer, a milhvright by trade, lived until

about 1795 in a house that stood on the east side of

the Dugway road, nearly opposite a road that turns

west to Winchester Centre village. In 1795, in com-

pany with Benjamin Jenkins and James Boyd, lie

i>uilt the first forge in the town, on the "OKI Forge

Site," on wliich the grimling works of the Winsted

Manufacturing Company now stand. He also built

a store, in which he traded in company with Hewett

Hills, on the depot grounds of the Connecticut West-

ern Railroad Company, on the north side of Lake

Street; and also the rear |)art of the tenant-houso on

south side of Lake Street, directly opposite the store-

building, in which lie lived until his removal to

Vernon, Oneida Co., N. Y., about 1801 or 1802. He
died at Vernon, N. V., about 1828.

Ca])t. Grinnell Spencer settled in Winsted, and

first lived on a high hill about one hundred rods west

of the Si)encer Street road, adjoining his original

orchard, which can bo seen from the west village of

Winsted. About 18(18 he built and occu|>ied until his

death the house on Spencer Street road now owned

and occupied by his son-in-law, Amos Pierce. He
improved more than two hundred acres of land as

a dairy-farm, and for many years spent his winters
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in Charleston, S. C.,'as a dealer in cheese. He was

an energetic, public-spirited, warm-hearted man, al-

ways the foremost to turn out and break the winter

roads, to attend upon the sick, or to relieve the misfor-

tunes of his neighbors. He died March 5, 1843, aged

seventy-four.

Alexander Leach, a Scotchman, came from New
Haven to Winchester, and owned a farm in the Dan-

bury Quarter, immediately north of the Edward Rugg
farm. He died in 1777.

Alexander Leach, Jr., lived on the homestead as

late as 1791.

William Leach also lived on the homestead for

many years, and afterwards in other parts of the

town. He served in the Continental army, and drew

a pension. He died, probably, after 1830.

John Corey, from Goshen, owned and occujjied in

1772-73 a i)art of the W. F. Hatch farm on the Little

Pond, and probably soon after left the town.

Lieut. Thomas Hurlbut, immigrant, ancestor of

Capt. Hurlbut, of Winchester, belonged to the first

company that garrisoned the fort at Saybrook in

1G3C. He served and was wounded in the Pequot

war in 1637 ; settled in Wethersfield, and is supposed

to have died soon after 1671.

Capt. Samuel Hurlbut, from Ncwington Society

(Wethersfield), came from Torrington to Winchester,

and first purchased, with his brother-in-law, Levi

Bronson, the Artemua Rowley farm, near Torrington

line, in the third tier, from whence he removed in

1774 to the Centre, and built the red lean-to house

which stood on the site of his grandson's (Samuel

Hurlbut) present dwelling, where he lived until his

death, March 23, 1831, at the age of eighty-three.

He began the world as a carpenter and joiner ; after-

wards became a tavern-keeper, at a period when
" the landlord" stood next in rank after the minister

and merchant, at the same time managing a large

farm and a saw-mill, and in later years engaged with

his sons Samuel and Lemuel in country trade.

Gen. Leonard Hurlbut, oldest son of Capt. Samuel,

lived and died in the house recently occupied by his

son-in-law, William H. Rood, about a mile northeast-

erly from Winchester Centre. He was a large dairy-

farmer.

Samuel Hurlbut, Jr., second son of Capt. Samuel,

went into trade at Winchester Centre in early life

with Chauncey Humphrey, and afterwards, in com-

pany with his brother Lemuel, continued the business

until his death, at the age of seventy-four.

Lemuel Hurlbut, youngest child of Capt. Samuel,

was endowed with a hardy constitution, a maiily per-

son, pleasing address, and a sanguine .temperament.

His perceptive faculties predominated over his intel-

lectual, and his tastes ran to fine animals and highly-

cultivated lands. Though a large trader, he was

rarely seen at the desk or behind the counter. His

department of the business of the brothers S. & L.

Hurlbut was to receive and market the cheese, of

which they were extensive purchasers, and to cultivate

and improve their lands.

Stephen Hurlbut, born Dec. 12, 1760, half brother

of Samuel, from Wethersfield, Newington Society,

came into the town about 1782 ; he bought and settled

on a lot of land south of and near Rufus M. Eggle-

ton's. He died April 14, 1807, aged forty-six.

Martin Hurlbut, from Wethersfield, came, when a

boy, to live with his half-brother, Capt. Samuel, and

continued to reside in the town until his death, April

5, 1810, at the age of forty-seven.

THE PIONEER MERCHANT.

Deacon Levi Bronson, from Berlin, married, Oct.

25, 1769, Hannah Hurlbut, sister of Samuel, and came
with him to Winchester. He built the Artemus Row-
ley house, in which he lived until about 1795, when
he moved to Catskill, N. Y. A coteraporary says of

him,

—

" Mr. Bronson was a large and prosperous farmer, and withal a mer-

chant. His goods for trade he mainly bought of Sheldon Leavitt, of

Bethlehem. He made a large amount of potash. His store was in his

dwelling-house,—the first, and for many yeal-a the only, store in the

town."

Capt.Roswell Coe came from Torrington and bought

a farm in the southwest part of the town, which he oc-

cujjied until 1789, when he returned to Torrington.

Elisha Smith, Esq., from Torrington, bought of

Enoch Palmer the Noble J. Everitt place, about a

hundred rods south of Winchester Centre, which he

occupied until 1776, when he sold to Martin North

and returned to Torrington, where he spent his re-

maining life as a farmer and trader, occupying a high

position as a magistrate and representative of the

town.

Reuben Thrall, from Torrington, bought and occu-

pied until his death. May 23, 1777, a farm immediately

north of Roswell Coe's, in the southwest part of the

town, afterwards a part of the Wade farm. He died

May 20, 1777.

The new-comers of the year 1773 were Abram An-

drews and his sons, Theophilus, Abram, Jr., Daniel,

and Eli, John Austin, Rev. Joshua Knapp, Hawkins

Woodruff", Reuben Miner, and Gideon Wilcoxson.

Capt. Abram Andrews, Sr., from Danbury, bought

a farm of eighty acres, lying north of the old Everitt

house, in the Danbury Quarter, now in part belonging

to Mr. Tibball's farm, a part of which he occupied

until his death.

TRAVELING TINKER.

Theophilus Andrews, son of the foregoing, is de-

scribed by a cotemporary as " a Yankee dyed in the

wool ; by profession a tinker, he traversed the northern

part of the county, with his kit of tools in a pair of

leather saddle-bags swung over his shoulders, mending

brass kettles and molding pewter spoons and buttons."

He continued his peregrinations as late as 1810, and

afterwards went to live with a son in Central New
York.
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Abram Andrews, Jr., is described by tlie same co-

temporary as " a Yankee diverse from ' Theof.,' but of

equal doodle. Both were wiseacres, but neither of

them added more than a cubit to his ten-acre patri-

mony." He removed to Central New York after

1805.

Ensign Daniel Andrews, third son of Abram, Sr.,

" was a man of sense, energy, industry, and upright-

ness." He built and occupied until his death, July

20, 1828, aged seventy-nine, the lean-to house a little

east of the Danbury school-house.

Eli Andrews, fourth son of Abram, Sr., lived on a

part of his father's original farm until his removal to

Central New York after 1801.

Daniel Andrews, son of Ensign Daniel, married

Sarah Piatt; she died Dec. 16, 1848, aged seventy-

two ; he died Oct. 4, 1854, aged eighty-two.

John Austin bought this year of David Austin

thirty-five acres of land within the present village of

Winsted, and sold the same to John Walter in 1779.

Rev. Joshua Knapp, from Danbury, the recently

ordained pastor, purchased and lived on a lot next

south of the homestead of Eliphaz Alvord, Esq., at

the northwest corner made by the parting of the east

and west road to Winchester Centre, from the north

and south Dugway road.

Hawkins Woodruff bought and lived a few years

on the farm now owned by Frederick Murray, ou the

old road from Winsted to Winchester.

Keuben IMiner came from New London, was a

blacksmith by trade, and first built a house and shop

near tlie original meeting-house, from wlicnce lu' re-

moved in 1775 to the centre of the township, and built

and occupied until his death the old house now owned

and occupied by Joel G. Griswold, on the old road

from Winsted to Winchester. He was a man of earn-

est piety and zeal and an e.stiniable citizen.

Jonathan Sweet first owned the B. B. Rockwell

farm, between the two ponds, and afterwards a tract

of land on Blue Street, adjoining Goshon line.

Gideon Wilcoxson, from Stratford, owned and is

sujjposed to have lived on land lying north and north-

east of the Little Pond, i)robably the Daniel Beckley

phice. He served in the Revolutimiary war, and

died while a prisoner in the Sugar-House in New
York.

The new-comers of this year (1774) were Ozias

Brownson and his sons, Ozias, Jr., Levi (second), Sal-

mon, .Vsaliel, Al)ijah P., and Isaac; Joseph Frisbec,

I'hineiis Oriswohl, Ambrose Palmer, Joel Unbert-s,

Peter Corbin and his sons, Peter, Jr., and Daniel;

Jolin Videto and his son John, Jr. ; Stoplien Wade
and his son Amasa; Ichabod Looniis, Willlani Castel,

Benjamin Prest«jn, and Gideon Smitli.

Col. Ozias Brownson lived on the farm now owned

by Reuben Chase, about a mile and a iialf southerly

from the Centre. He was a blacksniitli and a farmer,

and is described by a cotemporary as a " professor of

religion, somewhat fierce and overbearing, industrious

.and thrifty, abounding in horses. He had children,

—one daughter and six sons. These sons were of

gigantic strength, and the colonel worked the five

oldest to a great profit." He served as a lieutenant

and captain of militia in several tours of duty during

the Revolution. He died March 12, 1810, aged sixty-

eight.

Ozias Brownson, Jr., built the house at Winchester

Centre now owned by Rev. Frederick Marsh, in

which he lived until 1802, when be sold out to Rev.

Archibald Bassett, and soon after removed to Amster-

dam, N. Y. He married, Jan. 12, 1792, a daughter

(Grace) of Daniel Coe Hudson, of Torrington,* and

called his eldest son George Wa.sbington Jefferson, a

name which somewhat dumfounded Parson Robbins

at the baptism. " He could build a house, a cart, or

a plow, or any other article of wood and iron. He
worked all day at the anvil or on his land, and jour-

neyed two-thirds of tlie nights. At length he pulled

up stakes and moved to the German Flats to grow

hemji."

Levi Brownson, second son of Ozias, Sr. (known as

Levi Bronson, second), owned and occupied until his

death an extensive farm near the southeast corner of

Norfolk, living in the red house near the Norfolk

line.

Salmon Brownson, third son of Col. Ozias, lived

and died on the farm now or lately owned by his son,

Luther Bronson.

Asaliel Brownson, fourth son of Col. Ozias, lived

and died in tlie iiouse on Blue Street lately occupied

i)y -Vrcliibaid Dayton, now deceased, wlio married his

widow.

Abijah Peck Brownson, fiftli son of Col. Ozias,

lived on Brooks Street, north nf Nelson T. Loomis,

until his removal to Vernon, N. Y., about 1800. "He
was the Anak of tiie family,—a man of pleasant tem-

perament, and liriml'ul of courage and fortitude."

Many a strong wijil colt did he shoe; many a wild

steer did he yoke; and many a time ilid he bind his

neighbor, John Lucas, a respectable man, but strong

and occasionally crazy.

Isaac Bronson.t youngest son of Col. Ozias, and

the only one born in the town, built and resided until

his death in the house at the Centre now owned by his

son Theron. He was the largest land-owner in the

town. He was also a trader for many years, and a

large dealer in (hiiry products from his own farms,

and purchased from others. He was a prominent and

inllueiitial man in the town,—a justice of the peace,

' • Tlia caiu|>l1<>r lii»nl Mr. Bra»n«on niato an incident of hli murlag*

illuiitnitliiK tlin custuniMortlmt 'ln>. Ou the ni>>riilDt[ ftflor flip wpiMIiik

III) Kimrtnl fnmi Tnrrlngfunl tci Wlncln»it.T In il «lel|[li, wllli liU liriiloaiiil

« two-Knllon InitllP uf rum, ami on lil« way homo f«»innl tliu n*l foncoil

up 111 Ihrfo nuoccwlve pbu'os, »Uh gathurinpi of uelghliura at aacli (euc«

pn-iMiri'il lo Miluto liU wifo or butilo bcfura aUuwiug him a )»<•>(<>

honiuwuril.

t Tlio "w" »« rrliiliio'l lu tlio namo of Iha WlncliMliT Bniwnaoo*

uiilll nfliT ISIO,—liy aonio of tlirni, «• apjicari lijr tlieir irionlcl dgada,

aa lalo us I8'JJ.
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and three times a representative to the General As-

sembly.

Lois, daughter of Col. Ozias Brownson, married,

Dec. 9, 1779, Seth Wetmore, and iu advanced life

Maj. Benoni Bronson.

The family of Bronson, once the most numerous

with one exception in the town, has but few repre-

sentatives remaining.

Ensign Joseph Frisbie, from Torrington, first lived

on Lot 6, in the southwest corner of the town, and

afterwards, in 1782, removed to a lot opposite the

original meeting-house, with a saw-mill thereon,

probably erected by him.

Elijah Frisbie, son of .Josi'ph, in 1791 owned the

Silas Hoskin place in Winstcd, which he sold to

Benjamin Whiting in 1793, and afterwards owned and

occupied the Samuel A. McAlpin place, about a mile

south of Winchester Centre, until his removal to

Vernon, N. Y., about 1800.

Phineas Griswold, from Wetliersficld, lived until

1784 near Torrington line, on the old South country

road.

Ambrose Palmer, son of Job, of Litchfield, lived on

a part of the John J. Fanning fiirm, in the Danbury

Quarter, until 1791, when he returned to Litchfield.

Benjamin Preston, from Goshen, lived near the

Widow Everitt place on Brooks Street, in Danbury

Quarter. He was a crijjple from his birth, and lived

by making baskets, birch brooms, and splint chair-

bottoms.

Joel Roberts owned and lived on a farm now ab-

sorbed in the B. B. Rockwell, J. G. Griswold, and

Emory Coe farms until his death in 1780.

Capt. Peter Corbin, with his sons Daniel and Peter,

Jr., came from Danbury, and lived on the Asaph

Brooks farm in the Danbury Quarter. His house

stood on the east side of the way, opposite Mr.

Brooks. He removed to Colebrook in 180.5, and spent

his remaining life with his son Peter, Jr. He was

captain of the first company of the Alarm Regiment

of Connecticut in 1780.

Peter Corbin, Jr., lived in the old part of the house

of Asaph Brooks, above mentioned, until his removal

to Colebrook, about 1805.

Daniel Corbin lived on a hill, west of Asaph Brooks,

about half way to the house of Lloyd Humphrey, in

Norfolk.

John Videto, a foreigner, came from Danbury, and

lived on the old South country road, next south of

the Widow Everitt farm, until his death, Nov. 29,

1799, at the age of eighty-five years and eighteen

days.

John Videto, Jr., came with and lived in the same

house with his father until his removal to Austin-

burg, Ohio, in 1807, with his son Jasper.

Stephen Wade moved to Branford, where he mar-

ried Maria Abigail Hoadley. He came with his son

Amasa to Winchester in 1774, where they settled on

the farm recently occupied by Isaac Wade,, in the

southeast part of the town. He died Feb. 8, 1817,

aged ninety-three.

Amasa Wade resided on the same farm until his

death, Aug. 30, 1838.

Stephen Wade lived on Brooks Street, Danbury

Quarter, until his removal to Vernon, N. Y., about

1825.

Amasa Wade lived on a farm adjoining his father's,

and, in partnership with his brother Isaac, owned and

carried on the tannery afterwards owned by the El-

mores.

Ichabod Loomis migrated to this town from Tor-

rington in 1774, and died July 31, 1785. He lived

on a farm in the Danbury Quarter, lying on a road

]iarting northeasterly from the South country road, a

little south of the Widow Everitt house.

Thaddeus Loomis lived near Goshen line, north of

the Norfolk road, on land that was afterwards a part

of the farm of Levi Bronson (second). He removed

in 1802 to Salisbury, Herkimer Co., N. Y., where he

was for many years a justice of the peace, and for

four years an assistant justice of the County Court.

He married. May 26, 1789, Lois Griswold, daughter

of Phineas. She died in 1827; he died in Holley,

N. Y., June 14, 1832.

Capt. Abiel Loomis lived in Winsted, on Spencer

Street, in a house that stood on the site of Widow
Lucy Coe's residence, until about 1809, when he re-

moved to the farm now owned by William Johnson,

on the Dugway road, in Old Winchester. About 1815

he purchased the Dudley tannery in Winsted, and

removed to the house on Main Street next west of

the tannery, where he died Oct. 16, 1818, aged forty-

five.

David Alvord (brother of Eliphaz), from Chat-

ham, came from Torrington in 1774, as appears by

the records of births. In 1776 he bought the lot on

which the parsonage liouse of Rev. Mr. Booge was

afterwards erected, on which he lived until 1785.

William Castel, from Ridgefield, owned land and

resided in the old society.

Elijah Castel, son of William, owned and lived on

land south of the Edward Rvigg farm in Danbury

Quarter.

John Beach came into town this year from Tor-

rington, and lived on the farm recently owned by

Artemus Rowley, near the south end of third tier,

first division, until 1781, when he returned to Tor-

rington.

The new-comers of 1774 in Winchester Society

were Lemuel Bassett, Daniel Loomis, James Sweet,

Jonathan Sweet, Reuben Sweet, Hezekiah Elmer,

John Miner, and Elisha Wilcoxson.

Lemuel Bassett, from New Haven, first owned sev-

enty-three acres of land, embracing a considerable

portion of Winchester Centre village, which he sold

in 1777, and afterwards bought and lived on a small

lot near Col. Ozias Bronson's.

Daniel Loomis, son of Ichabod, of Torrington,
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lived on the old country road, immediately north of

his brother Ichabod, and south of Widow Everitt's.

James Sweet, supposed from Goshen, owned a lot

on Blue Street, north of the stone school-house.

Eeuben Sweet owned the lot next south of James

Sweet's, which he conveyed to Jonatlian Sweet in

1777, and moved to Wallen's Hill in Barlvhamsted,

near the first Winsted meeting-house.

Jonathan Sweet owned lands adjoining those of

James and Reuben, and also a part of the B. B. Rock-

well farm, between the two lakes, all of which he

disposed of in 1771 or earlier.

John Miner, from New London, brother of Reuben,

of Winchester, came from Torriugton, and settled

and died on the farm lately owned by Emory Coe,

deceased.

Hon. Phineas Miner, second sun of John, lived in

the old parsonage of Mr. Booge until his removal to

Litchfield in 1816. He died in Litchfield in 18.39.

Mr. Miner, with only a common-school education,

studied law under Judge Reeve, of Litchfield, and

entered on the practice in Winchester in 1798. By
close study and faithful preparation of his cases, as

well as by his ardor in trying them, he early attained

a good standing at the bar, and eventually ranked

among the ablest advocates in the county. He was

by nature unfitted for legal trickery, or for any dis-

honorable act. He repeatedly represented Winches-

ter, and afterwards LitchficUl, in the Legislature,

having served in this capacity during eleven sessions.

He was chosen to the State Senate in 18.30 and 1831

;

was elected a representative in Congre.ss during the

sessions of 1832 and 1833, and was judge of probate

for Litchfield district at the time of his death.

William Miner, third son of .lolin, owned and lived

in the Daniel Murray house, on the Dugway road,

until his removal to Ohio in 181G.

C'apt. Elisha Wilco.xson, from Stratford, was here

in 177.').

The new-comers of the yearl77G were Piiilip Priest,

Daniel Forbes, Martin Nortli and his sons, Martin,

Jr., an<l Rufus, Truman Gibbs, Joseph Agard, and

Gersliom Fay.

In 1777 the following came into the society : Na-
tlian and Peter Blackman, Samuel Clark, Joseph

Dodge, Timothy Fay, William Fay, James Stevenson,

Josepli Sweet, and Jonah Woodrufl".

The new-comers of this year (1778) were Lemuel
Stannard, Sr., Seth Griswold, James Hale, and Wil-

liam Barbour.

In 1779, Elijah Hubbard, Daniel Clark, and Chris-

topher Whiting came.

In 1780 came Stephen Spencer, Simeon Hurlbut,

Jolm Cliurcli, Thomas Cannon, Stephen Scovil, Itcn-

jamin Woodrull", William Barnstable, ami Prince

Negro.

1781.—Elijah Andrews, and his son, Elijah, Jr.,

James Adkins, Isaac Adkins, Richard Coit, Aaron

and Joseph Agard.

1782.— Daniel H. Cone, John Deer, Jonathan

Deer, John Marshall, Levi Norton, Samuel Roberts,

Chauncy Smith, Elijah Thompson, and David Ward.

The freemen admitted this year were Reuben Miner,

William Barbour, Jonah Woodruff, and Jonathan

Alvord.

1783.—The new-comers of the year were Benoni

Brownson, William Chamberlin, and William Cham-

berlin, Jr., Jedediah Coe, Timothy Cook, Joseph El-

more, and Joseph B. Elmore, his son, Isaac Filley,

Benjamin Judd, Joseph Piatt, Samuel Smith, and Be-

najah Smith, his son, Ephraim Smitli, Samuel Stan-

cliff, Josiah Wade, Daniel Ward, Hopkins West, Na-

thaniel White. The freemen admitted this year were

Capt. Peter Corbin, Levi Brownson, David AVard,

Ichabod Loomis, Stephen Spencer, Samuel Smith,

William Fay, David Austin, Jr., John Church, Be-

noni Brownson, and Levi Norton.

1784.—David Gaylord, Samuel Hawley, Didaynius

Shepard, Peleg Sweet.

1785.—Salmon Hawley, Charles Kent, Zeba Mea-

cham, Simeon Moore, Jr., Capt. John Nash, Abra-

ham Nash, Daniel Sandifouk, Nathan L. Wade, Jus-

tus Wright.

1786.—William Keyes, London, a negro.

1788.—Zalmon Benedict, John Benedict, Nathan

Broughton, Ephraim Foot, Roswell Grant, Hewitt

Mills, Jacob Kimberly, Jacob Kimberly, Jr., David

Murray, and Henian Smith. Roswell Grant joined

the Continental army when seventeen years old,

and endured hard service with characteristic forti-

tude. Wlicn Baron Steuben was selecting his corps

for special discipline, he passed in front of Grant's

company while on parade. Grant was surprised to

find himself the only man taken from the company,

being, as he said, "such a little nubbin' of a fellow, I

had no idea he would take me." While in the High-

lands, he was jiosted its guard on one of the bleakest

points in extremely cold weather; the army moved

without recalling him, but he stuck to his post until

relieved two ilays after. Going to Litchfield in his

advanced life on foot, a neighbor intrusted him with

a letter to be delivered there. He had reached witliin

a mile of his home, after dark, on his return, when he

discovered that he had brought the letter back. He
inunediately turned and walked fourteen miles to

Litchfield, delivered the letter, and came home be-

fore daylight the next morning.
]7,i<f).—Francis Bacon, John Bacon, Levi Brownson,

David Deers, John Lucas, Deacon Levi Piatt, Syl-

vester Piatt, Daniel Thompson.

1790.— Isaac Skinner.

1791.—Adna Beach, Rev. Publius V. Boogc, Nathan

Brown, Levi Coy, Sila-s Fyler, Roman Fyler, Theodore

and Rus!<ell Goodwin, Capt. Moses Hatch, Simeon

Hatch, Josiah Hull. The freemen admitted ahd

sworn this year were John Spencer, Elijah Frishce,

Levi Brownson, Salmon Brownson, Silas Hurlbut,

Roman Fyler, Jonathan Deer, Ezra Stannard, Elisha
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Hills, Peter Corbin, Jr., Noah Benedict, Zebina Smith,

Chauncey Mills, Nathan Wheeler, and Benjamin

Wheeler.

1792.—John B. Hall, Elind Taylor, Waite Hill.

1793.—William R. Case, Reuben Marshall, John

McAlpine, Jr., Samuel Wheaden, Rufus Crane, John

Joles.

1794.—Maj. Lloyd Andrews, Francis Bacon, David

Bebee, Dr. Nath. Elmore, Gillett Hinkley, Epaphras

Loomis, Deacon Lorrain Looniis, Orange Mott, Daniel

Wells, Eriistus Thrall.

1795.—Roger Coe, Joshua Beach, William Crocker,

Phiueas J. and Mathew Griswold, Luther Holcomb,

Levi Marshall, Loami Mott, Daniel Phelps, Daniel

Phelps, Jr., John C. Riley, Seth Holmes, Ezra Holmes,

Silas Taylor, D. T. S. Wetmore, Reuben Tucker, Jr.,

Miles Wilkinson.

1796.—Roger Barber, Ephraim Bowers, Levi Daw,
William Gray, Sylvester Hall, Nathaniel Hoyt,

Deacon Micajah Hoyt, George Kingsbury, David

Strong, Elijah Starkwether.

1797.—Eli Frisbie, Clark McEwen, Stephen Gay-
lord. The freemen admitted and sworn were Daniel

Corbin, Thaddeus Loomis, Daniel Wells, Sylvester

Hall, Asahel Bronson, Asher Loomis, Eli Frisbie,

Israel Douglass, Roger Coe, Amos Tolles, Seth Lucas,

and Daniel Eggleston, Jr.

1798.—Elijah Blake, Elijah Blake, Jr., Jonathan

Blake, Henry Blake, Ithnel Blake, Deacon Allen

Blake, Capt. William Bunnell, Chauncey Humphrey,
Asahel Wells. From 1810 to 181.3 he kept tavern in

the yellow store building, recently torn down, that

stood in front of the new store of Theron Bronson.

During the war of 1812 he was connected with the

introduction of British goods to the States from

Canada, a quantity of which were seized at Hartford

as smuggled, thereby reducing him to poverty.

1799.—John Breden.

1800.—Benjamin Wheadon, Eliakim Benedict, Lent

Mott, Jr., Silliman Hubbell, Josiah Cowles, Augustus

Humphrey, Caleb Beach, Arab Loomis, Isaac Wilcox,

Jr.

1801.—Richard Beckley, Roger Cook, Abel Pib-

balls, Nehemiah Bailey. The following new electors

were admitted this year : Abijah Wilson, Jr., Wil-

liam Filley, James Gilbert, Newell Haydon, Eli

Andrews, Levi Daw, Levi Filley, Jonathan Douglass,

Elijah Benedict, Lorrin Sweet, Cyrus Butrick, Anson
Cook, Reuben Rowley, Joseph Ellsworth, Levi Fox,

Joel Wright, Jesse Porter, John C. Riley, Obadiah

Piatt, Levi Hoyt, Reuben Scovill, Joseph Mitchell,

Luther Holcomb, Daniel Wilcox, David Holmes,

Ebenezer Rowley, Stephen Knowlton, Samuel Wet-

more (third), Orrin Bronson, Stephen Hart, John C.

Barber, Moses Hatch, Nathaniel Hoyt, Micajah Hoyt,

John Wetmore, Joseph Cook, Isaac Bronson, Chaun-

cey Bronson, Eden Benedict, Joseph Preston, Amasa
Wade, Andrew Pratt, Anson Allen, Lyman Doolittle,

Ozias Spencer, Zenas Wilson, Stephen Hurlbut, Abel

McEwen, Levi C03', Lloyd Andrews, Asahel Morse,

Isaac Wade, Eliphalet Mills, Nathaniel Smith, Wil-

liam Westlake, and William Chickley.

1802.—Mathew Adams, Theodore Bailey, Timothy
Bailey, Ithamar Bailey, James Barton, William

Chickley, Jonas Ellwell, Benjamin Paine, Phineas

Warren (second), Jesse Horton. The freemen ad-

mitted and sworn this year were Deacon Josiah

Smith, Nathaniel Balcom, Michael Grinnell, Silliman

Hubbell, Abel Stannard, Levi Ackley, Gideon Hall,

Asher Rowley, Levi Norton, Jr., John Wetmore, Jr.,

David Coe, Moses Camp, Samuel Camp, Salmon

Treat, Horace Eggleston, Reynold Wilson, Josiah

Apley, Arab Loomis, John Deer, Elijah Starks,

Hawley Oakley, Fisher Case, Rufus Grinnell, James
Henshaw, Ezra Rockwell, Truman Smith, Phineas

Warner, Rufus Holmes, and Roswell Grant.

1803.—John Hamilton, Jupiter Mars, Oliver Smith,

Daniel Rice. The electors admitted and sworn were

as follows: Phineas Reed, Amos Hungerford, Joel

Kimberly, Elisha Kimberly, Samuel Hoadley, Rans-

ley Bull, Ithamar Bailey, Jacob Seymour, Stephen

Wade, Stephen Gaylord, James Barton, William Phil-

lips, Nathan Potter, Timothy Bailey, and Eli Mar-

shall.

1804.—Elihu Everitt, Isa.ac Jacklyn, Seth Porter,

Isaac Sweet.

180.5.—James Beebe, Jared Curtis, Levi Hoyt, Eli-

jah Pinney, Isaac Tucker, Chauncey White.

180(>.—Wait Loomis, Daniel Murray, Roger Root,

Roger Root, Jr., Gurdon Boot, Asahel Smith.

1807.—Samuel W. Baldwin, Levi L. Hatch, Zenas

Neal, Lancelot Phelps, Sr., Roger Starkweather.

1808.—Asaph B. Brooks, Asher Case, Samuel Cone

and AVarren Cone, sous of Daniel Hurlbut Cone,

Erastus G. Hurlbut, Ammi Murray, John Storer, or

Story, George Tuttle. The electors admitted this

year were Elijah Blake, Jr., Jonathan Blake, Joseph

Coit, Jesse Clark, Elisha Rowley, Reuben Baldwin,

Asa Mallory, Lemuel Hurlbut, Eben Coe, William

Miner, Isaac Tucker, John Westlake, and Elisha

Smith.

1809.—Fisk Beach and Noble J. Everitt. The elec-

tors admitted this year were William Chambcrlin (2d),

Asher Case, Lyman Strong, Daniel Burnham, and

Roger Starkweather.

1810.-Capt. Eli Richards and William Crum.

The electors admitted this year were Ira Preston and

Riley Whiting.

The following were here prior to 1830: Apollos

Dean, Joseph Eggleston, James Bragg, Dr. Zephania

Swift, Lumau AVhiting, Moses Drake, Moses Drake,

Jr., Edward Griswold, Phineas Griswold, Jr., Lewis

Hart, Samuel D. Gilbert, Ebenezer Cowles, Joel

Clark, Henry Dayton, Benjamin Phelps, Frederick

Phelps, Jonathan Saxton, Salmon Bail, Jonathan

F. Baldwin, Randall Covey, George Chase, Dudley

Chase, Reuben Chase, Sheldon Miller, Hiram Church,

Samuel Bandle, Willard Hart, Rufus Drake, Harvey
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Ford, John M. Galagher, Archibald Dayton, William

S. Marsh, Daniel Beckley, Norris Beckley, Oliver

Loomis.

THE FIRST GRIST-MILL.

"David Austin's name first appears as grantee in a

deed from Cornelius Merry, of 1764, in which he is

described as of Winchester. He probably came from

Suffield. For thirty years or more he was, perhaps,

the most prominent and enterprising citizen of the

town. His first residence was on the Pantry lot. In

1769 he purchased the Ensign lot, extending east and
south from the outlet of the Long Pond so far as to

embrace the pond stream and all the village of Win-
sted between Lake Street Bridge and Clifton Mill,

a region then literally a howling wilderness, unap-

proachable by reason of its jagged mountain ridge,

and heavy growth of timber, shrubs, and brambles.

In 1771, he opened a cart-path through the forest,

down to Sucker Brook, and thence over the hills west

of the pond to its outlet, by which he conveyed the

materials for the first grist-mill in the town. This

mill, and a saw-mill contiguous, were erected at the

turn of Lake Street, near the summit of the hill.

The mill stood where the road now runs, a little

northeastward of the Henry Spring Company's shop

;

the road as first opened running down the hill close

to the old white dwelling now known as the Factory

House. The water of the lake was raised some three

feet above its natural level, by a frail dam of hemlock

logs and i)lank, about three rods soutli of the present

causeway, and let out by a new channel through a

bulkhead,—the decayed parts of which are still to be

seen in their place,—and conveyed across the road

nearly opposite the old stone-chimney mill-house,

and thence on the east side to the junction of Rock-
well and Lake Streets, and then again turned across

Lake Street and poured on the wheel of tlie mill.

"This mill was for about twenty years the eastern

terminus of civilized habitation towards Mad River

valley. Mr. Austin's first residence in Winsted was
in a log house nearest to the pond outlet. He subsc-

(jucntly built tlie stone-chimneyed lean-to house now
known as the mill-house already mentioned. In one

of the rooms he kept a small store of goods, at the

same time personally attending liis mill and saw-

mill and his other concerns. A cotemporary says of

him,

—

"'The deacon commoiil}' tuuiloil liia own mill. In tinion of draught,

when other nilll» fuilcd, Ijo mn his dii.v nn.l night, and had K> dl«rl|illMcd

himself Ihnt he wonid turn a grist Into the hopper, lie ilown to sleep on
a bench, with his old ttirnip wntch ticking at his head, and wake at the

precise nionient when tlio Inst kernel was running out.' **

FIRST SAW-MILL.

Sept. 2.5, 1779, it was "voted that Deacon Samuel
Wetmore, and the owners of the saw-mill l>y the

meeting-house, shall have the privilege of the dam by
Capt. Hill's, as agreed."

This saw-mill was the first erected in the town. It

originally stood near the county road, at the foot of

the hill, north of the burying-ground, and was car-

ried by means of a dam on the east side of the road,

which flooded the meadows east and northeast of the

road. It was probably at this time moved down the

stream to the vicinity of the old meeting-house, in

order to get a better head of water. It was eventu-

ally removed down to the site of the mill and cheese-

box factory recently owned by the McAlpines.

An incident connected with this mill has been

handed down, which pleasingly illustrates the char-

acters of the first two deacons of the Winchester

church. Deacon Wetmore sawed the logs of his

neighbors in regular order, according to their priority

of claim. A certain day was fixed for sawing the logs

of his bosom friend and colleague. Deacon Seth

Hills; but in the morning, before Deacon Hills had

come to draw his logs on to the logway, another neigh-

bor came, who was in pressing and immediate need of

some lumber, and prevailed on Deacon Wetmore to

let him draw in the logs he required to be sawed.

Some of the logs were drawn in when Deacon Hills

arrived. Irritated at finding himself superseded, he

made some sharp remark, which was sharply replied

to by his colleague. Both of them fell from grace to

wrath. " I'll never draw another log to your mill,"

says Deacon Hills. " And if you do, I'll never saw
it for you," says Deacon Wetmore. Other defiant

words were bandied back and forth, until their wrath,

by repeated blowing off, came down from high to low

l)rcssurc. Several world's people were listening to

their unedifying abjurations. A pause ensued. One
of the deacons beckoned the other to follow him.

They retired to a neighboring clump of bushes,

whence the voice of penitent prayer arose. Grace

prevailed over passion, and on returning to the mill,

Deacon Hills itssisted in drawing in his neighbor's

logs, cheerfully postponing his own turn until his

neighbor could be accommodated.

"THE COLD SUMMER."

The spring of 181(5 was cold and backward, and the

summer cold and dry. Frosts prevailed in every

month of the yciir. The mowing lands yielded less

than half an average crop. Scarcely an ear of corn

in the town came to maturity. Potatoes were few

anil small, an<l dairy products were ivs scant in i|unn-

tity as low in price. Much apprehension jirevailed

of a famine winter, which was mea-suralily averted by

a iirovident planting of turnijis when it was i>er-

ecived that other crops were to fail. This crop was

large, and thereby the lack of hay was partly made
good in wintering such stock as was not killed or sold

off in the preceding fall.

THE REVOLUTION.

The first record relating to the Revolutionary

struggle is under date of 1775, as follows:

"That the tniop«ra lie tnwi from paying aujrthlng fur their colom."

"To raise two<peuce half.pvuny on the List of 177A, t^i pnrchaao a loWD
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stock of powder and lead, and also to pay other necessary charges arising

in the town."

The following soldiers from this town went to Ti-

conderoga in 1775, in Capt. Sedgwick's company, Col.

Hinman's regiment

:

AVarham Gibhs, lieutenant, Charles Wright, Jr., Adam Mott, Ebenezer

Shepard, Stephen Arnold, Freedom Wright, Nathan Ralcom, Haw-

kins Woodruff, John Derby, David Goff, Teleg Sweel, Oliver Coe, Sr.,

Williiim Stannard, Lemuel Walter, Noah Gleason, Jr., Abraham

Wilkinson, Elisha Smith.

Charles Wright and Ebenezer Shepard marched to

the relief of Boston on the Lexington alarm.

Samuel Hurlbut, John Sweet, and Lemuel Stannard served in the Seventh

Eegiment in 1775.

Daniel Hurlbut Cone and William Lucas served in Col. Meigs' regiment

in 1775.

Benoni Biownson served in Capt. Hooker's company iu 1775.

Stephen Knowltou served in 5tli company. Third Regiment.

Judah West '* 8th " Second "

Gideon Wilcoxson* " 10th " Seventh "

Sliubael Cook " 4th " Eighth "

Ebenezer Rowley " 9th *'
'* "

Nathan Blackmau served in Capt. Smith's company. Eighth Regiment.

David Beebe served iu Capt. Smith's company, Kighth Regiment.

Truman Gibbs served iu Mig. Weld's company.

Benjamin Palmer served in Mnj. Weld's compan.v.

Josiah Adkins served in Capt. Arnold's company, Wooater's regiment.

John Arnold served iu Capt. Denny's company, Hosford's regiment,

in 1776.

"William Leach served in Col. Ducher's (Fourth) regiment iu 1779; also

in Capt. Convei-se's company. Seventh Regiment, iu 178(t.

Lemuel Walter, served in Capt, Alden's company. Col. Butler's regiment,

in 1780.

Samuel Roberts, served in Capt. Alden's company. Col. Butler's regiment,

iu 17S0.

John Balconi, served in Capt. Alden's company, Col. Butler's regiment,

iu 17S0.

Daniel Walter served in Col. Swift's regiment iu 1780.

Oliver Coe, Jr., served in Capt. Porson's company. Col. Butler's regiment,

in 1780.

Samuel Mott served in Capt. Porson's company. Col. Butler's regiment,

in 1780.

Peter Corbin served in Sherman's company. Eighth Regiment, in 17S0.

Daniel Wright " " " " " " "

Ebenezer Coe " " ** " *' " "

The following other men served in the Continental

army prior to 1780, as appears by a certificate of the

selectmen :

George Hudson, Peabody Stannard, Jonathan Preston. Prince Negro,

John Fay, Stephen Hurlbut, Levi Wilkinson, Stephen Schovil, Adam
Mott, Remembrance Filley, Gershom Fay, William Fay, Timothy

Fay, Seth Stannard, Jesse Wilkinson.

Of these, Remembrance Filley, Gershom Fay, and
William Fay belonged to Capt. Beebe's Litchfield

company.

Oliver Coe, Jr., and Wait Loomis also served under

Gen. Harmer, in the Indian war in Ohio.

David Austin, Daniel Corbin, and William Leach
belonged to Capt. Medad Hill's company, enlisted in

1776.

William Stannard served in Capt. Morris' com-

pany, Bradley's regiment, in 1781.

Richard Coit served in the Sixth Trooji in 1781,

and in various regiments during the war.

David Goff" and his son served in the Northern

army in 1776.

* He served in Capt. Beebe's company in 1776, and died while a pris-

oner of war in the Sugar-House, New York.

The town records refer, in 1777, to " those who went

out with Ensign Ozias Brownson last April, with

Sergt. Timothy Benedict in August, and with Lieut.

Benedict;" in 1778, "to Sergt. Freedom Wright,

and John Balcom, Jr., for doing a tour of duty last

year in the Northern army ;" in 1780, " to those

men who are or may be detailed with the army
between the 1st day of June last and the 1st of

January next." In 1781 it was voted to try to get

Dolphin's son (a negro) " to count for Winchester,"

and "to make application to Gen. Parsons, or some

other general officer, to try to procure a jjardon for

Jonathan Preston, on account of his deserting the

army," and " to raise a man to supply the place of

George Hudson in the Continental army." In 1782

it was voted " to hire the men now called for, for the

guard at Horse-Neck, and to fill the deficiencies in

the Continental army till December next."

Many other inhabitants, not named in any of the

pay-rolls or votes of the town referred to, are known
to have been in the service.

John Church served in the Canada invasion under

Arnold, and was in the battle at Saratoga.

Deacon Seth Hills served at Saratoga, and was

present at Burgoyue's surrender.

Joseph Hoskin served as a trooper on Long Island,

and was in the rear-guard at the retreat from Brook-

lyn Heights.

Capt. Moses Hatch enlisted at sixteen, and served

through the war.

A company, of which John Hills was captain and

Ozias Brownson lieutenant, served at New York while

Gen. Putnam commanded in that department.

MUSTER ROLL OF C.\PTAIN JOHN HILL'S COM-
PANY.

Capt., John Hills; Lieut., Benjamin Benedict; Ensign, Ozias Brownson;

Sergts., Elisha Wilcoxson, Jonathan Coe, Eliphaz Alvord, Joseph

Frisbee ; Corps., Samuel Hurlbut, Abel Wetmore, Josiah Smith, John

Wright; Fifers, Belah Hills, Levi Brownson; Drummers, Joseph

Dodge, Andrew Avret, John .\ustiu; Privates, Daniel Audrus, Eli

Andrus, Steven Arnold, Joel Beach, Nathan Balcom, Jonathan Bal-

com, John Balcom, Jr., John Beach, Timothy Benedick, Azariah

Bradley, Aaron Cook, Hezekiah Elmer, Remembrance Filley, Daniel

Grover, Zimri Hills, Chauncey Hills, Seth Kellogg, William Kies,

Ichabod Loomis, Samuel McCuue, Gershom McCune, Jr., Reuben

Miner, Samuel Preston, Joseph Plat, Philip Priest, William Fay,

Phineas Griswobl, Ambrose Palmer, Reuben Sweet, Peleg Sweet,

William Stannard, Reuben Palmer, Lazarus Palmer, Lemuel Stan-

nard, Jr., Jesse Wflkinson, Reuben Wilkinson, Reuben Tucker, Da-

vid Alvord, Lemuel Walter, John Walter, James Stevenson, Richard

Coit, Thomas Spencer, Amasa Wade, Joel Roberts, Timothy Fay,

Steven Hurlbut, Phineas Potter, Preserved Crissee, Abraham An-

drews, Jr., John Austin, Jr., Samuel Mott, Phineas Smith, David

Mills, Daniel Corbin, Simeon Hurlbut, Samuel Roberts, Elijah Caatel,

Benjamin Palmer, Silas Filer, Peter Corbin, Jr., Samuel Castel, Mosea

Derbye, William Leach, Isaac Filley, John Spencer, Moses Roberts,

Jacob Palmer, Daniel Loomis, Abner Coe, John Church, Palmer.

At the annual town-meeting, 1776, in addition to

the routine business, the selectmen were instructed to

provide the camp equiisage ordered by the Assembly,

viz., three tents, six pots, and nine bottles or canteens

for the town.

Sept. 25, 1777, it was " voted to provide the articles
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mentioned in the Governor's proclamation for the

soldiers at the town's cost, and to give them to them,

viz., to the soldiers," and "that Gen. Samuel Wet-

more and Sergt. David Austin be a committee to pro-

cure the above-mentioned articles and to take care of

them." It was also voted that Gershom McCune,

Jonathan Alvord, and Martin North be a committee

to provide for the families of those men that are

enlisted into the Continental army according to the

Act of Assembly.

December 1st, of the same year, Samuel Wetmore,

Gershom Fay, Capt. John Hills, David Austin, and

Jonathan Coe were appointed a committee for sup-

plying the families of such soldiers belonging to this

town, now in the Continental army, with such cloth-

ing and provisions as may be necessary for their sup-

port.

It was also voted, "that those men that went vol-

unteers to the Northward and Southward shall re-

ceive five pounds each out of the treasury ;" and "that

those men who went with Ensign Brownson last Ajiril,

and with Sergt. Timothy Benedict in August, and

with Lieut. Benedict, shiill receive five pounds for

going volunteers."

At a town-meeting, Jan. 13, 1778, the Articles of

Confederation of the thirteen United States were pre-

sented for approval, and by vote on each successive

article were accepted ; and thereupon tlie oath of

fidelity to the State of Connecticut was administered

to those present and certified in the records. Tlie

names of others who tfiok the oath afterwards were

also recorded. We subjoin tiie names in alphabetical

order, giving the dates of administration only of those

taking the oath subsequent to January 13, 1778.

DaviJ Alvuid, Klipha/. AlvorJ, .Toiiatlian Alvonl, Abnitiain Andrews,

Daniel AiulroWH, David Austin, Juliii Aufitln, Lemuel' Re^eett, Juc'l

Bcacli, Jolin Beuch (Feb. li, 17711), llvnjaniin Uiiinlict. Timotliy Bon-

eilict, Levi Bruwiioun, Ozius Iirownsun, Witliuni Cui<ti'l, Jutin Church

(July IB, 178'2), Samuel Clark, Juuutliau Cue, Kubcrt Coo, Ruanell

Coe, Daniel llurllmt Cone (Dee. 2, 17H2), Rlchanl C.iit, I'elcr Corliin,

Daniel Corliin, JoBoph Dudge, IloKekiali KImer, Nulilo Everid, .\n-

drew Evcritt, Mrs. II. Everllt (.Ian. 18, 1782), Gemliom Fay, Itemem-

brance Filley, Jusepli Frisbee, Wurham Gibbtt, riiiuoiw Griitwubl,

Bola Ilill.s([)uc. 2, 17»i'2),Seth Ilill..i, Juhu llilli, llenoni Hills, Joseph

Uuaklli, Suniiiel llurlbut, Itev. Mr. Kuapp, Willlani Koyes (Fob. Vi,

nW). David Looinis (Dec. 2, 178.'), lelittlpod Looniis, lloborl McClinc,

Samuel MeCniie, Gursliuiu McCuuo (Dec. 4, 1776), Reuben Miner,

Julin ^liner, Adam Blott, Lent Mott, Slaliiu North, Ambruue Palmer,

Joseph rirttt (Feb. .'», 177H). Kbene/.er Preston, .Siituilel rrestoii, Beu-

janiin I'reMtoii, Philip Priest, Channccy SmlHi (Dee. 2, 17B2), Klcazer

Smith, Thomas Sjiencer, William 8tunimrd (Dec. 2, 1782), Lemuel
Stnnnaril.Jr., AbelStuuuard(July25, 17s2), Lemuel SInnuard (March

10, 1782), James Sneet, John Sweet, Jonalhnii ,>i«eet, IVleg Sweet,

Reuben Tucker, John Vldeto, Jr., Annisa Wade, Samuel Wetmore,
Abel Wolmuro, Kliaha Wilcoxson, Jesae Wilkinson, Reuben Wilkin-

son, Jonah VVoudrufr.

Sergt. Freedom Wright and John Balcom, Jr.,

were allowed five pounds eacli for doing a tour of

duty the previous year in tlie Northern uriiiy.

It was voted, that if tlic committee on tritil cannot

procure a sutHcicncy of provisions for tlio families of
those men who are gone into the Continental army,
the selectmen shall be empowered to lay tlie matter

before the Governor and Council, or Assembly, and

pray them to point out some way for our relief; and

also to pray for a tax on non-resident proprietors to

support the country roads.

Ensign Ozias Bronson, Joseph Hoskin, Samuel

Hurlbut, Roswell Coe, Ambrose Palmer, Samuel

Preston, and Phineas Griswold were appointed a

committee to provide for the families of the soldiers.

ASSESSMENT ROLL, 1783.

WINCHESTER SOCIETY.
Amount of

Names. Taxable Property.
£ «. d.

Daniel Andrus 50 5

Abram Andrus 31 8 6
David Alvord 33 11 6
Theophilus Andrus 15

Abram Andrus, Jr. 26 6 6

Eliphaz Alvord 08

Isaac Adkins 49 11 o
Jouatlian Blackman..'. 38 13 9

Levi Brownson 59 15 9

Timothy Benedict 49 7 6
Capt. (Ozias) Brownson - 98 4
\Villiani Benedict 28 5 ti

Beuotii Brownson 39 2 G
Peter Blackmau 40 3

Joseph Bown 21

Lenmel Basset 2 6
Capt. lienedict 81 8 6
Timothy Beucdict, Jr 48 I

Joel Beach 44
Elijah Cmtle 22 8 u
Aaron Cook 51 7 6
Richard Colt 3 8 3
AbnerCoe 30 3
Capt. (Peter) Corbln 6G 16
John Church 35 1 6
Peter Ci>rbln, Jr 21 U
JedeillahCoe 21
Jonathan Coe 70 15
Samuel Clark 3U 14 U
Robert Coe 63 9 9
Sanuiel Castle 21 U
Daniel (one and David Ward 78 7 3
William Chamberlain 2S 16 «
Rozel Coo 91 17 S
William Castle 31 2
Timothy Cook 22 10
Daniel Clark 29 1 1

Joseph Do<lge 3^1 4 6
Jf)lin Dear ami Salmon Hu«kin - 641 6
Ell Dolphin 37 14
Andrew Event 38 10
Hannah Event 14 1 6

Joseph Elmer 42 U
Josinh Everll 3U lu U
William Fav 24 lU 6
Renib. Filley 1 18 6
Isaac Filley „ 27
Abrnham Filley 7D 1 6
J<«eph Frislde 61 2
Pnldel Utxiver 23 19 G
riilneas C.risoold 47 2 U
Selh Griswobl 61 U U
Joeeph liosklns 30 7 6
Stephen Hurlbut ~ »t 16
Elijah HubanI 2:) 16 6
Samuel Hurlbut 03 17 G
Seth Hills 8.1

Widow Mary Hills 6 7 3
James Hale 20 11

IleiOaluiu Judd „ 17 2 U
Seth KeMogK 38 2 O
Ichabod Lounis ce 13 6
Daniel IxKiDda ~ 34 6
\Vldi>w Inch - S 9 a
William Leach 12 15
Juhu Marshall 20 8
Lent Mott 32 2 6
Genthoni McCuue, Jr 6tl 1

Adam Moll - 22 «
John Minor 4:1 18 3
Samuel MeCuns «2 2 6
Gemhom McCnlie 40 13 G
Kidiert MeCiino 04 19 G
Reuben Minor .14 U G
Martin Nortli, Jr... 23 17 «
Blartin North 4* 13 «
Levi .Norton 40 8 6
Joseph Plan _ 37 8 «
lleiOamin Preston 4 10
Ambr<iS4> Palmer 61 U
Samuel Preston 60 I u
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Amount of
Names. Taxable Property.

£ ». .'.

Ebetiezer Preston 34 2

Moses Kolieits 21

Samuel Roberts 33 2

Epliraiin Smith 22

Ephiaini Smith (deaf) I'J 13

Samuel Stauclift 12

Eleazei- Smith 32 19

Lemuel Stannard 27 3 7

AbelStannard 28 2

Chauucey Smith 2.T 13 fj

Samuel Smith 14 1.) 3

Stephen Spencer 37 8 3

Thomas Spencer C'.l l.i

WilliaM] StHiolard 20 10 G

Kenbeli Tii. lior 4.i 18 II

Elijah Th.rnisou 42 4 6

John Videto 28 IC

Jonali Woodruir. 38 17 6

Nathan White 38 6
Daniel Walter 23
Christopher Whiting 48 U

Samuel Wetmoro 61 9

Elisha Wilcoxson 74 7 !)

Abel Wetmore 47
Amacy Wade CO 17 9

Lewis Wilkinson 23 7 3
Jesse Wilkinson 27 18 3

Levi Wilkinson 24 12

Hopkins West 40 n

Total, Winchester Society £4242 14 10

WINSTED SOCIETY.
Amount of

Names. Taxable Property.
£ «. it.

David Austin, Jr 3o 18 6
David Austin 45 13 3
Elijah Andrews 55 5 G

Nathan BalKim 27
Jonathan Balcani 28 U
JohnBalcam 43 4 9

Samuel Clark (2d) 21 13

Uzal Clark 28 10
David Crisse 73 18

Silaa Dunham 25

Jesse Uoolittle 64 14

Abijah Fuller 21 19 9

Comfort Golf 19 8

Samuel Hayden 46 4 3

Abel Hoskin 65 10

Stephen Knowlton 28 19 9
David Mills 70 G
Phineas Potter 30 14
Lazarus Palmer 21
Beuben Palmer 21

Eleazer Porter 36 15 3

Enoch Palmer 69 5
Benjamin Palmer 23 14
Samuel Stanclift 18

Etislia Spencer 23 10

John Sweet 23 18

Josiah Smith 84 14 6

Comfort Slanclif. 24

Simeon Rogers 32 4 9

Ebenezcr Rowlee 40 10
Zebulon Thomson 4 2

Henry Walter 37 17

Freedom Wright 42 13 3

John Wright 21

Charles Wright 34 13 3

John Wright, Jr 45 9 6

John Walter 31 1

Lemuel Walter 28 6 6

David West 47 2

Total, Winsted Society £1425 12 9

The list was made up of the following items :

£ «. J.

134 polls from 21 to 70 years, at 18

40 " " 16 to 21 " at 9

122 oxen, 4 yeare old or upwards, at 4
271 cows and steers, 3 years old or upwards, at 3

100 steers and heiferfi, 2 yeai-s old or upwards, at 2

77 " " " lyear " " at 1

120 horses, 3 yeai-s old and upwards, at 3

9 " 2 " " ' at 2
7 " 1 year " " at 10

154 swine, at 10
28 smokes or tire-place, at 7 6

92 " " at 3 9

6S6 acres of plow-lands, at lU
1027 " meadow-lands, at 8

51 " bog meadow-lands, at 5
409 " bush pasture-lands, at 2

12219 " timber-land, at 6

3 silver watches, at 3

£ s.

5 taverners assessed at 15
1 store, at 25
1 grist-mill and saw-mill, at 24 5
1 saw-mill, at 8 15
2 saw-mills, at 4
1 physician, at 10
2 shoemakers, at 5

CHAPTEE XVI.

WINCHESTEK (Continued).

Pioneers in Winsted Society— Manufacturing Interests—The Winsted

Bank—The Ilurlbut Dank—The Hurlbnt National Bank—The First

National Bank—The Winsted National Bank—The Winsted Savings

Bank—The Mechanics' Savings Bank—St. Andrew Lodge, No. 64, F.

and A. M.—Meridian Chaptei-—Tyrian Council—Orion and Union

Lodges, I. 0. of O. F.—Temperance Organizations—Palmer Post

—

Knights of Pythias—Libraries—Early Schools—The Winsted Herald

—

The W'insted Press—The Winsted News—Post-Office Difficulties—List

of Old Inhabitants—The Borough of Clifton—The Borough of Winsted

—Incorporation—First Officers Elected—Wardens from 1858 to 1881

—

Burgesses from 1858 to 1SS1—Clerks, Treasurers, and Bailiffs from

1858 to 1881—Water-Works—Fire Department, etc.—Population of

Town from 1756 to 1880.

"The opening of the old north road was soon fol-

lowed by a settlement in the northeast corner of the

town, distinct and distant from the earlier settlement

in the southwest section, to which our attention has

thus far been directed. Long Lake and the mountain

ridges extending from its north end to Colebrook

line effectually separated these communities from each

other until near the close of the last century, when
the improvement of the splendid water-power along

the Lake Stream and at the Still River Falls gradu-

ally drew settlers to the intermediate region. The
Winsted settlement began some twenty years later

than that of the old society. The records show but

four resident land-owners there in 1771, when the

town was incorporated, and none of their names are

found on the petition for the incoriroration."

The following is a list of the early settlers, etc., of

the borough of Winsted, commencing in 1770:

Lieut. John Wright, from Wethersfield to Goshen

in 1740, came thence to Winsted, it is believed, in

1769 or 1770, and settled, with his large family, on the

northeast side of the old North road, near Colebrook

line, on the site of the homestead now occupied by

Edward and Edwin Rowley. His title of lieutenant

is said to have been acquired during his service in the

French war. He had sons,—Samuel, Moses, David,

and John.

Charles Wright, son of John, Jr., probably came

from Goshen to Winsted about 1775, and lived near

his father until his removal in 1801 to Jefferson Co.,

N. Y. He served as sergeant in Capt. Sedgwick's

company on the northern frontier in 1775.

Capt. Freedom Wright became a land-holder in

1777, and lived and kept a tavern in the house, now
burned down, recently owned by Albert Kelsey and

wife, in the same neighborhood with his father and
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brothers. He was a soldier in Capt. Sedgwick's

company.

A daughter of John Wright, Sr., named in his will,

married Elijah Rockwell, Esq., first justice of the

peace, and town clerk of Colebrook, and was the

grandmother of John T. Rockwell, of Winsted.

Ebenczer Shepard, from Goshen, in 1771 bought

lands bordering on Colebrook line, on the road to

Colebrook, by way of Nelson Beardsley's, on which

he lived until 1775, when he sold out to David Cris-

sey, and moved into Colebrook. He served in Capt.

Sedgwick's company on the northern frontier in 1775.

John Balcom, Jr., from Mansfield, Windh.im Co.,

came into the town this year ; he owned and lived on

a lot of land east of Still River, nearly opposite the

Horace Rowley place, and lived in a log house on the

hill adjoining Barkhamsted line.

1772.—John Balcom, Sr., is named of Winchester

in a deed of this year, conveying to him Lot 10, second

division, next south of the Daniel B. Wilson farm.

Jonathan Balcom, son of John, Sr., lived on Wal-

len's Hill, between Roswell Smith's and Joel Meade's.

Nathaniel Balcom, son of John, Sr., lived on the

homestead of his father until 1813 or 1814, when he

removed to ^Vayne Co., Pa.

Eli.is Balcom was here in 1774. In 1770 he had

some interest in the mill-lot, and the corn-mill, saw-

mill, and dwelling-house thereon, which he quit-

claimed to Stephen Chubb, of New Hartford.

Jacob, Joseph, and Elias Cabit, sons of Elias Bal-

com, were baptized in the Winchester diurch in

November, 1775. The former is said t« have carried

on horseback the earliest mail between Hartford and

Albany.

Nathan Balcom died Aug. 7, 1808, aged eighty-four.

1773.—John Austin, Abel Hoskin, Josiuh Smith,

Truman Smith, Josiah Smith, Jr.

1774.—Stephen Arnold, Zebulon Shepard, Phineas

Potter, Sheldon Potter, Daniel Potter.

1775.—David Crissey, Preserved Crissey, Israel

Crissey.

1776. — David Mills, Chauncey Mills, Eliphalct

Mills, Daniel Mills.

1777.—Ensign Jesse Doolittle and sons, Jesse, Jr.,

Zerah, and Lyman, Samuel Hayden and sons, Seth

and Moses, John Darbe, or Derby, Henry Walter

and son John, Daniel Walter, Ira Walter, Ebenezer

Rowley, Jr., Asher Rowley.

1778.—Barzillai demons, Cyrenus Handee, Uzal

Clark, Stephen Knowlton, Jr., Simeon Rogers, Abi-

gail Fuller, Elisha Sjiencer, Ozias Spencer, Runuey
Spencer, Elisha Si)encer, Jr.

1782.—Eleazer Porter, Samuel Clark, Timothy
Cook.

1783.—Silas Dunham, Comfort Goff, Ell.sha Mal-

lory, Amasa Mallory, Elisha Mallory, Jr., Asa Mal-

lory. Comfort Stanclift, Samuel Stanelift, John Sweet,

Zebulon Thompson, David West, Jr., Judali West.

,
1783-91.—Nathaniel Russell, Daniel Russell, Ben-

jamin Russell, Giles Russell, Hamlin Russell, Benja-

min Wheeler, Sr., Benjamin Wheeler, Jr., Othniel

Brainard, Jr., Seba Brainard, William Case (of Bark-

hamsted), Nathan Hoskin, John Jopp (a native

of Sterderton, Scotland), John Jopp, Jr., Nathan

Wheeler, Anson Wheeler, Esq., Capt. Zebina Smith,

Deacon Elisha Smith, Miles Smith, John Shaw (a

Hessian soldier from Burgoyne's army, captured at

Saratoga), John Shaw, Jr., Charles Barnes, John

Allen, John Allen, Jr., Jesse Filley, David Holmes,

Isaac Wheeler, Hezekiah Woodruff, Jr., Luke Hart,

Selah Hart, Stephen Hart, Samuel Hart, Moses Darbe,

Benjamin De Wolf, Daniel De Wolf, Eleazer Kellogg,

Caleb Muusou, Jr., Norton Wright, Deacon Shubael

Cook, Urijah Cook, Reuben Cook, Anson Cook,

Lieut. Jonathan Dunham, Deacon Michael Grinnell,

Salmon Treat, William Waterman, Jr., Daniel Eg-

gleston, Jr., Daniel Egglestou, Sr., Lewis Miller, Shel-

don Miller, Daniel Marshall, John Burton, Thaddeus

Fay, Ezra Griffin, Theodore Hoskin, Roswell Hoskin,

Solomon Palmer, Jonathan Rogers, Joseph Loomis,

Jonathan Coe.

1792.—Jenkins & Boyd, the pioneer manufacturers

of Winsted, came into the society this year, and

erected the first scythe-factory in the State, and the

third in the country, on the site of the Winsted Manu-
facturing Company's Ea.st Village Works. About

1795, in company with Thomas Spencer, Jr., they

erected the first forge for making bar-iron in the

town, on the lake stream, opposite the grinding-shop

of the Winsted Manufacturing Company. In 1802

they erected another scytlie-factory on the site of the

Winsted Hoe Company's shoj), near the corner of

Lake and Meadow Streets. Benjamin Jenkins, of the

above firm, was born Oct. 15, 1705. He came to Win-
sted in 1792.

James Boyd came to Winsted, with his brother-in-

hiw and partner, Benjamin Jenkins, in 1792, having

previously learned from liim the scythe-maker's trade

at New Windsor, his native place. He first lived in

a small house that stood on the west side of North

Main Street, nearly opposite the parsonage-house of

Rev. James Beach, wliich was built by him and his

partner in 1795, and jointly occupied by them until

1802. He then built an<l moved into the house on

the east side of Main Street, West village, o|>posite

Munro Street, now owned by John T. Rockwell,

where he spent his remaining life, and died Feb. 1,

1849, aged seventy-eight years. In 1803 he dis.soIved

partnership with Mr. Jenkins, taking for his share the

joint projierty of the firm in the West village. In

1808 he built a forge and saw-mill on the water-power

opposite the Clarke House, now owned by the New
England Pin Company. In 1822 he built a drafling-

and forging-shop in rear of the Beardsley House, and

in 1828 he rebuilt the " Upper Forge," on the lake

stream, above Hulbcrt's pre.ient iron-works. He also

built, in 1810, tlie old iron-store on Main Street, next

north of Dudley's brick block.
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Deacon John Lee, Ephraim Scovill and son Eeuben,
Capt. Abijah Wilson, Capt. Zenas Wilson, Reynold
Wilson, Abijah Wilson, Jr.

1793.—Levi Ackley, Epaphroditus Bligh, Israel

Douglass, Benjamin Whiting, Jr., Guernsey GofF,

Enoch- GofF, William Merriam, Joseph Mitchell, An-
drew Pratt.

1794.—Thomas Boyd, Ananias Dearthick (a Baptist

preacher), James Frisbie, Godfrey Jones, Joel Lucas,

Zacheus Munsill, William A. Stone, Daniel Brown,

Absalom GrifBu, Timothy Cannon, David Collins,

Samuel Cummins, Josiah Curtis, James Eggleston,

Horace Higley, Asher Loomis, Seth Lucas, Truman
Seymour, Amos Tolles, Elisha Lewis.

1796.—Levi Barnes, Jehiel Burr, Eli Fox, Levi

Fox, Dr. Aaron Moore, Gideon Hall, Nathan Rose,

Samuel Westlake, Samuel Westlake, Jr., William

Westlake, John Westlake, Thomas Westlake, Ran-
dall Shattuck, Oliver White, Oliver White, Jr., Asa-

hcl Miller, Joel Miller, Timothy and William Soper

(father and son), Daniel Wilcox, Frederick Eggleston,

Samuel and Moses Camp, Moses Camp, Sr., Aaron
Marshall, Daniel White.

1798.—Merritt Bull, Cyrus Butrick, Joseph Cook,

son of Aaron and Lydia, and a native of the town, is

on the list of this year as a resident of the old so-

ciety. In 1809 he bought the Aaron Marshall place,

on the Pratt road, where he afterward dwelt until his

death, Oct. 11, 1814, aged thirty-nine. Jonathan
Douglass, brother of Israel, owned, from 1798 to 1801,

a part of the Kinney farm, on Spencer Street road,

and lived on the west side of the road, not far from

Amos Pierce's residence. Capt. George Frasier, a

Scotchman, is on the tax-list of this year as a resident

of M'insted. He was a trader near the Wallen's Hill

school-house for a few years, and probably for the

most part resided over the line in Barkhamsted. Levi

Norton (2d), Elihu Rockwell, Reuben Rowley, oldest

son of Ebenezer, and a native of the town, is on the

list of this year. In 1801 he became owner of the

portion of the East village bordered by the Holabird

property on the north. Still River east. Main Street

south, and Oak Street west, which he exchanged in

1802 for a farm in the northeast corner of the town,

recently owned by Joel Mead, now deceased, on which
he lived until his removal to Hitchcockville in 1847,

where he died, May 2, 1851, aged seventy-four. Joel

Wright, Joseph Holmes, Rufus Holmes, Willard

Holmes.

The settlers for 1799 were Isaac and Mary Bellows,

Roswell Marshall, Charles Osborn, Nathaniel Parks,

Theodore Smith, and Henry Sanford.

The new-comers of this year, 1800, were Bissell

Hinsdale, Philemon Kirkham, Josiah Apley, Elijah

Benedict, Nathaniel Smith, Solomon Lemley, Jacob
Lemley, William Davis, Gedeliah Chase.

Philemon Kirkum, Esq.,attorney-at-law, came from
Norfolk to Winsted in 1800, and built a house on the

site of Weed's Block, which was burned down March

25, 1853. He soon sold this house to Bissell Hins-
dale, and in 1807 he built the original house on the

lot next north of the Congregational chapel, which
was taken down by Dr. Welch to make room for his

present dwelling. In this house he lived until his

removal to Norton, Ohio, in 1814. He was a native

of Guilford, Conn., served for four or five years in the

Revolutionary war, afterwards studied law with Au-
gustus Pettibone, Esq., of Norfolk, and was in due
course admitted to the Litchfield bar.

1801.—Ezra Rockwell, Jacob Chamberlin, Aaron
Loomis.

1802.—Col. Hosea Hinsdale, Col. James Shepard,

Jesse Clark, Nathan Wheeler Clark, Salmon Burr,

Jacob Seymour, John Phillijis, Thomas E. Bull, Tim-
othy Persons, Alpheus Persons.

1803.—Samuel and Luther Hoadley, brothers. They
were for ton years prominent and highly-esteemed

business men, and by their ingenuity and enterprise

contributed largely to the growth and prosperity of

the village. Samuel retired from business on his ap-

pointment as major of volunteers in the war of 1812.

He was promoted to a colonelcy. Hawley Oakley.

1804.—Erastus Burr, Roswell Burr, Halsey Burr,

Luke Hayden.

1805.—Eeuben Baldwin, Eliab Bunnell, Andrew
Walter.

1806.—Rev. James Beach, Capt. Ezekiel Woodford
and son Erastus, Romania Woodford, Ezekiel Wood-
ford, Lester Woodford, Benjamin Barber Woodford,

Erastus Sterling Woodford, Lucius J. Woodford,

George Woodford, Joseph T. Gumming, Samuel
Eowley, Jr., Benjamin Johnson, Bemsley Carpenter,

Elizur Hinsdale, Elam Eockwell, Daniel Burnham,
Joseph Miller.

1807.—Benjamin Skinner, Capt. Lemuel Clarke,

Lucius Clarke, Jasper Grinnell, David Tallmadge,

Eben Coe, Deacon Elisha Smith.

1808.—Dr. Lyman Strong, Hermon Munson.
1809.—Deacon James H. Alvord.

1810.—Jesse Byington, William Goucher, Joshua

Hewitt, Isaac Johnson, Selden Mitchell, William

Murray, John Eohrabacher, John Storer, Eiley

Whiting.

Settled from 1811 to 1821.—Andrew Brusie, Russell

Page, Charles C. Caul, Eleazer Hawley, John Malt-

bie, Darius Turrell, Samuel Williams, Daniel Albro,

Nathan Champion, William Green, Christopher Lyon,

George Sage, William Caul, David Marble, Joseph

W. Hurlbut, Dr. Henry Noble, George Eoberts, Hor-

ace Reynolds, Samuel Bartlett, James C. Cleveland,

Lewis McDonald, Joel Miller, Dr. Luman Wakefield,

Lucius Clarke, Alpha Rowley, Halsey Bailey, Silas

Burton, Orrin Cleveland, Shubael Crowe, Reuben
Hall, David Munson, Ansel Shattuck, Sheldon Kin-

ney, Cajjt. Stephen Fyler, Harry Bishop, Leveritt

Bishop, Seth Bishop, Jehial Coe, Willard Holmes,

Henry B. Crowe, Riley Smith, Chester Soper, Whee-
lock Thayer, Daniel G. Tuttle, Jesse Williams, Nisus
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Kinney, Silas Hoslvins, Elias Rowley, Nelson Wilson,

Norman Spencer, Stephen Rowley, Horace W. House.

1822.—Elisha A. Morgan, William 0. Talcott,

M.D., Oliver Loomis, Alanson Loomis, Henry L.

Gaylord, Lumau Hubbell.

Among the more prominent inhabitants of the soci-

ety not already named who came in during this decade

(1830 to 1840) were Orentus Bronson, James Birdsall,

Elliot Beardsley, George Taylor, Dr. James Welch,
James Humphrey, Asa Parke, Alvin Gilbert, Am-
brose Whiting, Horatio L. Wetmore, Anson Foskett,

David N. Beardsley, Elisha Kilborn, William G.

Batcheller, Caleb J. Camp, Seth L. Wilder, Normand
Adams, Willard S. Wetmore, John G. Wetmore, and
Chester Wentworth.

THE AVIN.STED BANK
was organized Nov. 20, 1848, with the following board
of directors: George Dudley, William S. Holabird,

AVarren Phelps, Reuben Cook, William L. Gilbert,

James Humphrey, and Everit Bevins. The officers

were as follows: Presidents, George Dudley, from or-

ganization until Dec. 2, 1862; Elliot Beardsley, until

Nov. 13, 1865, when he was succeeded by Henry Gay,
who officiated until Aug. 21, 1867. Cashiers: E. S.

Hamilton, to Sept. 3, 18-50 ; William H. Hill, until

Oct. 8, 1850; John C. Tracey, until Oct. 27, 1854;
William H. Teller, to March 4, 1856 ; Henry Gay,
until Dec. 7, 1863 ; Rufus E. Holmes, to Oct. 31, 1864

;

George Dudley, Jr., until Aug. 21, 1867. Closed.

THE HURLBUT NATIONAL BANK.

The Hurlbut Bank, of which this is a successor, was
organized March 23, 1854, with the following board of
directors: William H. Phelps, Lonuicl Hurlbut, C.J.
Camp, E. A. Phelps, Aliraham Alvord,,John K. Shcp-
ard, and Gorman Adams. The first president wa.s

William H. Phelps, who remained as such ujitil his

death, Aug. 27, 1864. He was succeeded by Rufus E.
Holmes, who officiated until Jan. 19, 1874, when he
was .succeeded by William L. Gilbert, the i)resent in-

cumbent. The first cashier wa.s George Alvord, who
officiated until Nov. 28, 1S.56, when he was succeeded
by Rufus E. Holmes, who in turn was succeeded by
George W. Phelps in 1863. Mr. Phelps resigned Nov.
1, 1865, and Warren Phelps was chosen his successor.

Jan. 24, 1S66, Charles B. Holmes was appointed cash-

ier, and officiated until June 27, 1874, when lie was
succeeded by Henry Gay, the present incumbent.
The present board of directors is constituted as fol- i

lows: William L. Gilbert, George Dudley (decea.sed),

Edward Camp, Eliius E. Gilman, J. H. Norton, C. B.
Hallett, and R. E. Holmes. The original capital was :

.f 100,000, which was increased to $205,000, Sept. 15,

1857. It was organized a-s a national bank in July,
1865. Surplus, Dec. 2, 1S80, $102,-500.

Till-; WIX.STED NATIONAL HANK
was organized March 15, 1879. The first officers were
John G. Wetmore, President; Henry C. Young,

Cashier, with the following board of directors: John
G. Wetmore, Henry C. Young, Thomas M. Clarke,

Orlow D. Hunt, Lyman W. Case, Augustus H. Fenn,

Charles Alvord, and George H. Alvord, all of Wiu-
sted, and George W. Beach, of Waterbury, Conn.

The present officers are John G. Wetmore, Presi-

dent; Thomas M. Clarke, Vice-President ; and Henry
C. Young, Cashier. The present board of directors

are John G. Wetmore, Thomas M. Clarke, Henry C.

Young, Orlow D. Hunt, Lyman W. Case, Charles

Alvord, of Winsted, George W. Beach and Lewis

Beardsley, of Waterbury, and Solomon Sackett, of

Colebrook, Conn.

The bank was organized with a capital of !?50,000,

with authority to increase to $250,000.

THE FIRST NATIONAL BANK OF WINSTED

was organized in 1879 with the following directors

:

David Strong, Lyman R. Norton, Francis Brown,
Franklin Moore (deceased), Charles B. Hallett, George
S. Burnham, and Elias E. Gilman. The present (1881

)

directors are the same, except I. B. AV'oodrutt" in place

of the late Franklin Moore. The fii-st president was
Elias E. Gilman, and the first cashier Frank D. Hal-
lett. They are the present incumbents. The capital

of the bank is $50,000.

THE WIN.'^TED SAVINGS BANK
was incorporated in June, 1860. The corporators

were George Dudley, William H. Phelps, Elliot

Beardsley, C. J. Camp, Warren Phelps, Moses Camp,
E. S. Woodford, John Boyd, Lucius Clarke, Lyman
Case, John G. Wetmore, T. M. Clarke, William L.

Gilbert, N. Adams, Roland Hitchcock, (Jidoon Hall,

Edward A. Phelps, George D. Wudhams, Dwight E.

AVilllams, E. Grove Lawrence, Willard Gaylord, and
Thcron Bronson. The first officers were Warren
Phelps, President; Moses Cnmp, Vice-President ; Ly-
man I?aldwin, Secretary and Treasurer.

Warren Phelps was president from the date of incor-

poration to July, 1862 ; Moses Camp from lSl!2to 1.S74
;

.lolin T. Hockwell fropi 1874 to 1S7S; .John Hinsdale

was elected to that position in 1878, which otfice he
now holds. Lyman Bahlwin was secretary and treas-

urer from the date of incorporation to the time of his

death, in 1874; Lorenzo M. Blake from 1874 to 1875;

George S. Rowo was eloctcil to succeed him in 1875,

and is the ])resent incumbent. The i)resent amount
of deposits is $,S.54,O0O; surplus, $60,(Ml(l. The first

deposit was made by Jane Bartholomew, of Goshen,

Conn., the amount being $76.

THE .MKCHAXIC.^' SAVIXdS BANK
was organized in 1875, with the following officers:

Normand .Adams, President; Tiionuis M. Clarke,

A'ice-Presldeiit ; Elias E. (iilman, Treiuiurer ; Wil-

liam L. (iilhert, Harvey B. ."Steele, Charles 15. Hallett,

Joseph H. Norton, Harvey L. Roberts, Directors;

AVilllam L. Gilbert, Warren Phelps, T. M. Clarke,

J. G. Wetmore, Elias E. Gilnuin, H. B. Steele, J. H.
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Norton, C. B. Hallett, David Strong, N. Adams, Reu-

ben Rockwell, John Hinsdale, J. R. Cooke, Roland

Hitchcock, G. W. Phelps, C. H. Blake, H. L. Rob-

erts, H. A. Bills, I. B. Woodrult; H. P. Lawrence,

Delos Stevens, Timothy E. Williams, Trustees.

The present (1881 ) net deposits are about $300,000,

and the total deposits have been about $400,000.

ST. ANDREWS LODGE, F. AND A. M., No. C4,

was chartered in the spring of 1823, with the follow-

ing ofHcers : Josiah Smith, W. M. ; Hosea Hinsdale,

S. W.; Wheelock Thayer, J. W. ; Elisha Smith,

Treas. ; James M. Boyd, Sec.

The first lodge-room was fitted up in the old acad-

emy building, now a tenant-house, immediately north

of Forbes' cabinet establishment, on Main Street,

West village.

In 1853, on application to the Grand Lodge of

members of St. Andrew's Lodge, its charter was re-

stored, new officers were appointed, and work was
resumed in Woodford's original brick block, which

was burned down March 2'), 1853, and the lodge was

removed to the Clark & Wetmore store, then standing

on the site of the Clarke House. This store was

burned down in 1856, and the furniture, jewels, re-

galia, and all the records of the lodge were consumed.

The lodge was reopened in Chamberlin's store, now
owned by John M. Burr, and thence, in the same
year, was removed to Weed's brick block, and thence

to Woodford's new block.

The present officers of the lodge are as follows : Ste-

phen P. Goodsall, W. M. ; Edwin S. Beecher, S. W.
D. P. Kilbourn, J. W. ; Rev. G. W. Stanley, Chap.

Henry H. Drake, Treas. ; Wm. A. Warner, Sec.

Sylvester F. Rowe, S. D. ; F. J. Kilbourn, J. D. ; Harry

Howe, S. Stew. ; Florin Benedict, J. Stew. ; John Van
Ostrum, Tyler.

MERIDIAN CHAPTER, No. 15, ROYAL ARCH MASONS,

was early located at Canaan, and its charter was re-

voked by the Grand Chapter in 1839. It was rein-

stated at New Hartford in May, 1848, but not reor-

ganized. It was transferred and reorganized at

Winsted in May, 1857, occupied the same hall with

St. Andrew's Lodge.

The present officers are as follows : Edward G.

Wallis, H. P. ; Frederick M. Cooke, K. ; Stephen P.

Goodsall, S.; Edwin M. Piatt, C. of H. ; Dwight
Phelps, T. ; Henry H. Drake, Sec. ; A. P. Balch,

P. S. ; L. McDermont, R. A. C. ; Hugh Shepard,

M. of 3d V. ; S. B. Home, M. of 2d V. ; J. F. Lin-

coln, M. of 1st V. ; J. A. Bushnall, S. S. ; W. W.
Weaver, J. S. ; Rev. G. W. Stanley, Chap. ; J. Van
Ostrura, Tyler.

TYRIAN COUNCIL OF ROYAL MASTERS, No. 31,

was chartered and installed in 1858, and has occupied

the same hall with the preceding orders.

The present officers of the council are Edwin M. council.

Piatt, T. I. M. ; E. A. Nellis, I. D. M. ; F. M. Cooke,

I. P. C. ; Benj. Lawrence, Treas.; Dwight Phelps,*

Sec. ; L. D. Hart, C. of G. ; John F. Peck, C. ; E. S.

Beecher, Stew. ; Rev. G. M. Stanley, Chap.

MAGNOLIA CHAPTER, No. 16, 0. E. S.,

was organized by dispensation Feb. 24, 1875, and the

Grand Chapter 0. E. S. of Connecticut granted a

charter Oct. 14, 1875, and appointed Charles J. York,

W. P. ; Abbie A. Fyler, W. M. ; and Mariam R.

Drake, A. M. The following members have been
elected to said offices

:

1876.—C. Lyman Norton, W. P. ; Abbie A. Fyler,

W. M. ; Mariam R. Drake, A. M.
1877.—C. Lyman Norton, W. P. ; Mariam R. Drake,

W. M. ; Annie E. S. Hatch, A. M.

1878.-C. Lyman Norton, W. P. ; Mariam R. Drake,

W. M. ; Delia M. Streeter, A. M.
1879.—Henry H. Drake, W. P.; Harriet F. St.

John, W. M.; Delia M. Streeter, A. M.
1880.—Jenison J. Whiting, W. P.; Delia M.

Streeter, W. M.; Ellen A. Nellis, A. M.
The present officers are Edward M. Piatt, W. P.

;

Ellen A. Nellis, W. M. ; Roxie M. Granger, A. M.

;

Carrie A. Granger, Sec. ; Mariam R. Drake, Treas.

;

Ida Kilmer, C. ; Ella Piatt, A. C. ; Hattie B. Rosset-

ter. A.; Estella J. Plamb, R. ; Etta D. Home, E.

;

Alice E. S. Peck, M. ; Ruth C. Benedict, E. ; Lydia

J. Miller, W. ; Salvenah E. Granger, C. ; John B.

Riggs, S. The chapter has a membership of ninety.

The Odd Fellows have also had two lodges in this

village, both extinct; these were "Orion Lodge"

and " Union Lodge."

There have been several temperance societies ; all

of which are now extinct. Among these was the

" Winsted Temperance Society," organized Aug. 16,

1829, with the following members: Rev. James
Beach, Solomon Rockwell, Asaph Pease, Willard

Holmes, Salmon Burr, Austin Crane, Norman Palmer,

AVilliam S. Holabird, Anson Cook, James H. Alvord,

Lyman Case, Sidney Munson, Horace E. Rockwell,

Erastus Woodford, Josiah Smith, Leumas H. Pease,

and Eleazer Andrews. Accessions of members were

rapidly made from month to month until, in 1836,

there were enrolled two hundred and ninety-seven

males and two hundred and sixty-eight females. Other

organizations were the " Winsted Total Abstinence

Society" and the " Washington Society."

PALMER POST, No. 33, GRAND ARMY OF THE
REPUBLIC,

was chartered March 11, 1869, with the following

members: Samuel B. Home, Frederick L. Pond,

David W. Coe, Salmon A. Granger, Benjamin F.

Marsh, Robert E. Home, Charles L. Hewett, Whelock

* Past Grand Master of Grand Lodge
;
present Grand High Priest and

Worthy Grand Chaplnin; Past Worthy Past Grand Master of Grand
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T. Batcheller, John J. Home, Jeffrey Skinner, Wil-

liam F. Hilton, Paul McLocklin, Joseph H. C.

Batchelder. The first officers were Samuel B. Home,
Post Commander; Charles L. Hewett, Senior Vice-

Commander ; Stephen W. Sage, Junior Vice-Com-

mander ; Ralph Lina, Adjutant ; David W. Coe,

Quartermaster ; William H. Lewis, Jr., Chaplain

;

Paul McLocklin, Sergeant-Major ; Joseph H. C.

Bachelder, Quartermaster- Sergeant ; W. A. Wads-
worth, Officer of the Day ; William C. Dennen, Of-

ficer of the Guard.

The present officers are Charles L. Hewett, Post

Commander; Lucius Bissell, Senior Vice-Commander;
Darwin C. Andrews, Junior Vice-Commander; John
W. Fordyce, Adjutant; Benjamin F. Marsh, Quarter-

master ; Henry L. Roberts, Surgeon ; Henry W. Baker,

Chaplain
; Robert A. Cutler, Officer of the Day ; Tru-

man Hyde, Officer of the Guard ; Jeffrey Skinner,

Quartermaster - Sergeant ; John H. Thurman, Ser-

geant-Major.

Total members mustered, one hundred and twenty-

six. Of the original charter members but two have

died. Pond and McLocklin.

UNITY LODGE, No. .35, KNIGHTS OF PYTUIAS,

was chartered May 23, 1873. The first officers were

Past Chancellor Commander, W. H. C. Batchelder

;

Chancellor Commander, B. F. Marsh ; Vice-Chancel-

lor Commander, F. J. Northrop ; Prelate, J. L. Tatro

;

Master of E.xchequer, H. M. Calder; Master of Fi-

nance, Ralph Hinman; Keeper of Records and SeaLs,

S. R. Hinsdale ; Master-at-Arms, George M. Brad-

ford ; Inner Guard, E. C. Dearborn ; Outer Guard,

William H. Thorp.

The present officersare Past Chancellor Commander,
George Jessup ; Chancellor Comnuindcr, Samuel B.

Home ; Vicc-Chancellor, Hugh Shcpard ; Master of

Exchequer, Stephen Grossman ; Master of Finance,

William B. Phillips ; Keeper of Record and Seal,

Charles Rowland; Master-at-Arms, John Stacker;

Inner Guard, Gustave Newman; Outer Guard, Henry
Leversedge.

LIBRARIES.

There was a library in the old society prior to 1845

;

there was also one kept in the office of Solomon
Rockwell i*t Brothers. In 1808 one Hourisiied in tlie

west school district. " The ^Vin8tcd Historical and
Theological Library" was organized by the Congre-
gational Society about 1810. In 1812 one was
organized by some young men in the West village

and kept at tlic house of Col. Hosca Hinsdale. The
East village organized one in 1820, and the .Methodist

church subsecjuently formed one wliich was longer

lived than any of its predecessors. All of the above
are now obsolete.

BEAUDSLEY LIBRARY, WEST WINSTED.

In 1874, Mrs. Delia R. Bcardsley apj>roprintcd ten

thousand dollars to the founding of a public library

in West Winsted. This amount was committed to a

board of seven trustees, selected by herself, who were

to expend five thousand dollars for books and maga-
zines during the current year, invest the remaining

half of the don.ation, and thereafter use the income

derived from it for replenishing the library, its aflairs

remaining under their supervision. The institution

was opened to the public, with three thousand books,

on the evening of September loth, by an address from

the late Rev. Joseph Eldridge, D.D., of Norfolk,

Conn. It is open afternoon and evening, Sundays

excepted, with a librarian in attendance, and has in-

creased to four thousand four hundred volumes.

Mrs. Beardsley furnished rooms in Beardsley Block,

and gave their use for a term of years. Since her

death, in 1878, her family has generously continued

the rooms rent-free. The expenses are paid by tickets

of membership. While permanently benefitting the

people of the village, Mrs. Beardsley designed this

library to be also a memorial of her late husband,

Deacon Elliot Beardsley, and placed a portrait of him
in the rooms.

EARLY SCHOOLS.

The first recorded action in reference to schools is

found under date of Dec. 17, 1773, the year of Rev.

Mr. Knapp's settlement; it was voted "to raise two

pence on the pound of the rateable estate for the sup-

port of schonis in this |First| Society." It was also

voted " that the north district begin at the house now
owned by Mcdad Hills, and contain all the north

part" (of the society), " that the west district contain

all the inhabitants on the west road from the crotcli

of the paths and all west," and ''the eiust district to

contain all the rest of the Society ;" "that the money
raised by the tax be divided according to the list, and
that Warham (iibbs, Reuben Thrall, Ebenczer Pres-

ton, Seth Hills, Oliver Coe, Samuel McCune, Benja-

min Benedict, Abram Andrews, and Daniel Piatt be

school committee; that money [raised?] in each dis-

trict be laid out in each district as shall best accom-

modate the same, if it shall be laid out in the year;

if not laid out in the year, to be returned to the society

treasury."

Jan. 6, 1774, it was voted "to reconsider all the

votes that have been passed in this meeting concern-

ing schooling." Here the matter reste<l, so far as tax-

ation and the organization of school districts was con-

cerned, until Dec. 2, 1777, when it was voted "to rais^e

two pence on the pound on last August list, to sup-

port schools," and Deacon Seth Hills, Ensign Ozias

Brownson, Philip I'riest, Eliphaz .VIvord, Capt. (iibbs,

Phineas Griswold, Lieut. Benedict, and Eleazer

Smitli were appointed s( hool committee.

Whatever may have been done ])ursuant to these

votes, there is no record of their repeal, and at the

annual meeting in 1778 similar votes were renewed,

and a rate of sixpence on the pound was granted, and

a collector in each district appointed tu collect the

same.
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We have no means of ascertaininj; when or where

the first school-houses were erected, or what teachers

were employed, or for what length of time ; but we
have reason to suppose that schools were first opened

in private houses by voluntary associations, and that

these were aided, but not wholly sustained, by tax-

ation.

The next action appears on the society records in

1786, when a new school district was organized, "be-

ginning at Torrington line, by a stream called the

Branch, and to extend up said Branch so far as that

an east line will include Capt. Elmer [now Widow
Norris Coe], from thence down y' country road, in-

eluding Doctor Everitt [now Theron Bronson], John

Nash, and all on the north side of said country road,

and to include Phinehas Griswold's, from thence

south to Torrington line," and Jonathan Coe and Levi

Brownson were appointed district committee. This

description is not very definite, but probably is in-

tended to designate the district which built about

this time the "Two-Chimney School-house," that

stood, until burned down, in a southeast direction

from the burying-ground.

In 1788, on the petition of Eliphaz Alvord and

others, another district, to be called the Second Dis-

trict, was organized, beginning on Long Lake, at the

mouth of Sucker Brook, and extending up said brook

to the north end of the third tier, first division (near

the Dugway School-house), then to the northwest

corner of the tier, then southerly along its west line

to the southwest corner of the Gershom McCune, Jr.,

(late Sylvester Piatt's) lot, thence easterly along his

south line, direct to Long Lake, and thence northerly

along the shore thereof to the mouth of Sucker

Brook.

In January, 1790, we find the following appoint-

ment of district school committees:

Samuel Clark, who lived in the Daniel Murray

house, for the northeast district, which embraced the

east part of Danbury Quarter, and extended south to

Mr. Clark's.

Andrew Everitt, who lived in the old Everitt house,

for the northwest district, embracing the principal

part of Danbury Quarter.

Amasa Wade, for the southwest district, embracing

the territory west of Branch Brook, nearly as far

north as the Norfolk road.

Capt. Joseph Elmore, for the southeast district, em-

bracing the centre and the southern portions of the

society, lying west of Branch Brook, and southwest

of Sucker Brook.

Capt. Elisha Wilcoxson, who lived in the William

Johnson house, for the second or Sucker Brook dis-

trict.

In 1798, by vote of the town, a new district was es-

tablished, partly out of Winchester Society, and

partly out of Winsted Society, the boundaries of

which were directed to be placed on file in the town

clerk's oflSce, but, as no such file is to be found, its

limits cannot be ascertained. It probably embraced

the northern half of the present Sucker Brook dis-

trict, and extended easterly to the Austin Mill, or

Mad River, in Winsted. The committee were Deacon
David Austin, Levi Norton, and .lohn Miner.

In 1792 another district was formed, embracing

essentially the territory of the present West Winsted
district, there then being no village in existence, all

the inhabitants living on the Coe and Spencer Street

roads to Colebrook, the two roads there diverging from

the original school-house, which stood on the site

of the present West Winsted school-house, and was
burned down about 1808 or 1809.

In the records of Winsted Society, under date of

Dec. 27, 1784, we find a vote that the districts set off

for schooling by a committee chosen for that purpose

be established according to their doings, but no rec-

ord of the districts so established is to be found.

Oct. 5, 1785, a tax of " one penny halfpenny" on the

pound was laid for the " use of schooling," but was

reconsidered and annulled at an adjourned meet-

ing on the 26th of the same month. Dec. 8, 1788,

Ebenezer Rowley and Ensign Eleazer Kellogg were

appointed school committee. No further reference to

school matters is found until Dec. 8, 1794, when it

was voted to divide the society into school districts,

and a committee was appointed for that purpose, who
reported Jan. 12, 1795. The report was accepted and

l^laced on file, but not recorded, and the file is not to

be found.

The following are extracts from the early reminis-

cences of Mrs. Nelly M. Swift, daughter of Dr. Jo-

siah Everitt, born in 1786, which illustrate the school

customs and mental culture at the period referred to,

from which we extract her notice " of the great day

of examinations and exhibitions, when eight district

schools assembled in the large, unfinished meeting-

house, in the winter of 1793-94 :"

" The reading and spelling of the schools occupied the forenoon, and

the afternoon was devoted to dramas, comedies, orations, etc. One cor-

ner of the church w.is inclosed in curtains, and each school took its turn

hehind the scenes to prepare for their special exhibitions on the stage,

" The late Deacon Levi Piatt was the teacher of the school to which I

heloDged. Well do I remember the directions given by him to the little

girls as to dressing their hair fur exhibition, viz.: the night previous

our mothers were to wet our lieads with home-brewed beer, and our hair

was to be combed and braided very tightly before going to bed ; in the

morning, the last thing after we were dressed for the exhibition, the braids

were taken out, and the hair lay in waving lines all over our shoulders.

" Among the variety of things he taught us was the practice of spell-

ing a whole sentence all together, or more i»articiilarly the first class.

The Sentence to be imblicly spelled was ' Abominable Bumble Bee with

his tail cut off;' but Mr. I'latt thought best to shorten it to ' Abominable

tail cut off'

" Imagine, if you can, in soberness, a large, thoroughly-trained school

class spelling or chanting before the assembled lamilies of the town, iu

this wise

:

•'
' A

—

there's } our A.

" ' B-0^ there's your Bo, and your A-bo.

»'
' M_i— there's your 5Ii, and your Bo-mi, and your A-bo-mi.

*''N-A— there's your Na, and your Mi-ua, and your Bo-nii-na-

and your A-bo-nii-na.

'** B-L-E— there's your Ble, and your Ka-ble, and your Mi-na-ble,

and your Bo-mi-na-ble, and your A-bo-mi-ua-ble.



WINCHESTER. 193

" ' T-A-I-L— there's your Toil, and j-uur Ble-tail, and your Na-ble-

tiiil. and your Mi-na-lile-tail, and your Bo-mi-na-ble-

tail, and your A-bo-nii-no-ble-tail.

" ' C-U-T— tbere's your Cut, and your Tail-cut, and your Blo-tail-

cut, and yonrNu-ble-t.iil-cut.and your Bo-nii- ua-ble-

tail-cnt, and your A-bo-mi-na-ble-tail-cut.

"
' 0-r-F— there's your Off, and your Cut-off, and your Tail-cut-off,

and your Ble-tail-cnt-off. and your Na-ble-tail-cut-

ofr, and your Mi-na-bl«-tail-cut-off, and your Bo-mi-

na-ble-tail-off, and your A-bo-mi-na-ble—tail—cut

—off'.'

" In the afternoon eacli school had its oration, poem, dialogue, comedy,

or tragedy. One of our dialogues was called * Old Gibber,' in which the

late Abel McEwen, D.D., of New London, took the part of Old Gibber;

his wife was Charity Bronson. Oliver Mai-shall, Seth Hills, Joseph Coit,

and myself had parts.

*^First S'rne.—Old Gibber and his wife talking about the war; wife

stirring the hasty-pudding; daughter Betty (myself) setting the table;

John, the son, jnst home from the war, etc.

" Another scene is a bar-room, with such talk as we may suppose would

take place there dniing the war of the Revolution.

"The boys of this period were remarkable for their successful imitations

of every kind of business.

" The late Samuel Ilurlbut, Sr., was justice of the peace. Sanuiel

Stanley (son of Dr. Everitt's third wife, who died young) was a lawyer, also

Sylvester Griswold. Lenuiel Hurlbut was constable, etc. Mock courts

were held in my father's long kitchen. AVrits, attachluents, and execu-

tions were all m.ade out in due form. A statute book of laws was com-

piled, specifying a great variety of things contrary to law, forwhich cul-

prits would be arrested, tried, and punished by imprisonment for so many
hours, etc. Witnesses were summoned, e.xamiiud, cross-examined, and

impeached, etc.

" A newspaper was edited and published weekly by Samuel Stanley,

before mentioned. It was ruled in columns, liad editorials, news, anec-

dotes, advertisements, etc. Those boys, at that time, were none of them

over twelve yeaifl old I"

For the present condition of schools, see the Gen-

eral History.

THE AVINCIIESTER INSTITUTE.

In 1856-r)7 the hite Samuel Ilurlbut, Sr., had a

partial plan for endowing a literary institution in this

place, but (lied without making any provision for it.

Soon after, Therou Bronson, Es(|.,took uj) the matter,

and besides contributing liberally himself, collected

considerable money from others. With the.se funds

and his own private property Rev. Ira Pettibone

erected the buililiiig known as the Institute, at an ex-

pense of nearly $10,OiiO. It was first occupied for

school purposes in the spring of 18(>0, and was for-

mally set apart for educational uses in September of

the same year, with an appropriate address by Rev.

Dr. Eldridge, of Norfolk, and other suitalde services.

For some years it was successfully managed by Mr.

I'ettibone as a boarding and day school, with a large

atteiiilancc of pupils. Afterwards it was controlled

by his son. Col. Ira W. Pettibone, who had previously

been associated with him in the school. Col. Petti-

bone graduated at Yale College in 1854, was colonel

of the Tenth Regiment Connecticut Volunteers, and

resigned in November, 18C2. He remained at Win-
chester until 1871, when he became a jirofcssor in

Beloit College, where he continues to the present

time. His successor was J. Walker Macbeth, A.M.,

a graduate of Edinburgh University, who, after two

or three years, Wiis succeeded by James Cowles, A.M.,

a graduate of Yale College in 1837. He continued

teaching until 1877, when he removed from town, and

since that time no school has been kept up. In 1869

the private ownership in the Institute building and

grounds was purchased by Mrs. Jonathan Blake and

her daughter, Mrs. Mary Ann Mitchell, and by them

given to seven trustees and their successors " for the

purpose of sustaining, carrying on, and maintaining

a seminary of learning similar to the institute now
and heretofore carried on in tlje conveyed premises,

and to possess all the powers necessary for that pur-

pose."

TUE WINSTED PRESS.

THE WINSTED HERALD

was established in 1853, making a creditable debut

as a six-column folio on the 14th of May of that year.

For the first five years of its existence its title-page

bore the caption of Mountain Count;/ Herald, which,

at the commencement of the sixth volume, was

changed to that it now bears.

The Herald was founded by Thomas M. Clarke and

Stephen A. Hubbard, and for eight montiis was pub-

lished by them under the firm-name of Hubbard &
Clarke. In February, 1854, Mr. Clarke withdrew

from the paper to accept the editorship of a new

weekly journal ( The Leader) just at that time estab-

lished at Bridgeport. The editorial tripod he vacated

came into the possession of Mr. Edmund C. Stedman,

then a youthful but promising journalist, but who

at that time was compjiratiTcly unknown in the liter-

ary world. For fourteen months the Jlerald was pub-

lished by Hubbard & Stedman, at the end of which

time Mr. Clarke returned to Winsted and became Mr.

Stedman's successor, and from that time until the fol-

lowing July the names of Hubbard I'i: Clarke ajipear

as publishers. At that date Mr. Hubbard (the present

well-known managing editor of the Hartford Countnl)

retired from the paper to engage in other business,

and for the following ten years,—until November,

1865,—Mr. Clarke was sole editor and jiroprietor, when

he sold his establishment to a new joint-stock cor|)0-

ration known as the Winsled Printing Company. The

new organization called to the editorial department

Theodore F. Vaill, of Litchtield, who hadjust sheathed

his sword after a three years' service in the war of the

Rebellion as adjutant of the Second Connecticut

Heavy Artillery, popularly known as the Litchfield

County Regiment. Mr. Vaill presided over the col-

umns of the Herald nearly ten years, until his death,

which occurred in February, 1875. He wius succeeded

by his brother, J. H. Vaill (the present editor), who

sipce 18G8 had been in charge of the business depart-

ment of the paper. In 187C an additional chair was

set in the sanctum, which for about two years was

acceptably filled by F. II. (ildtliiigs,—his entree in the

journalistic arena,—from wlieiice he was culled toeili-

torial service on the Sprini/Jietd Republican, and later

to the Derkxiiire Courier anil Paper World.

The Herald started out on ita career as a six-column

folio. With its twenty-fifth issue it was enlarged t<»
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seven columns, which size it retained until December,

1866, when it was again enlarged, this time to eight

columns. Its press, liowever, refused to properly

print a sheet of that size, and after an eight months'

trial the former size of seven columns was adopted.

At the opening of 1874, a new and larger press having

found its way to the Herald office, the paper was again

enlarged, this time to a nine-column folio. A year

later, Jan. 1, 1875, still another enlargement was un-

dertaken, the style being changed from four to eight

pages, six columns to a page. This form and style

was continued until April, 1880, when the Htrahl re-

turned to its former more generally acceptable size

and style,—an eight-column folio.

During recent years the Herald has been the medium
of a greater amount of local news (of which it makes

aspecialty) than any otlier paper in the county, having

proliably a larger corps of regular local correspond-

ents than any paper in the State. Though nominally

Republican in politics, it pays but little attention to

political matters, except during regular campaigns,

believing that the best and most acceptable service

it can render is in the dissemination of local intelli-

gence and the discussion of matters chiefly of local in-

terest.
THE WINSTED PRESS.

The first number of the Winsted Press bears the date

of July 5, 187.3. The paper was started by Henry A.

Bills, a politician, and Lucien V. Pinney, a journey-

man i)rinter, and was jjublished by the firm of Bills

& Pinney until the early part of October of that

year, when Mr. Pinney bought Mr. Bills' interest in

the concern, and, as editor and proprietor, has con-

tinued the publication of the paper up to the present

writing (January, 1881). The Pce«.< began its career

as a Democratic paper, its Democracy being defined

by the Democratic State Central Committee of Con-

necticut, but at the close of the year 1874 the paper,

though still adhering nominally to the Democratic

party, began to show signs of apostasy to Democracy

as defined by the State Central Committee, and to ad-

vocate what was afterwards known as the " greenback

doctrine,"

—

i.e., government paper money as against

bank papercurrency.Mr. Pinney defending himself as

a Democrat in so doing by the action of certain of the

Western Democrats at the time. As the probability

of the adoption of the greenback policy by the Demo-
cratic party of the nation diminished, the advocacy

of that policy by the Press increased in earnestness,

until it became the leading feature of the paper.

With one exception, this was at that time the only

journal published in New England in pronounced

opposition to national banks and " hard money."

The Greenbackers of the State held their first conven-

tion at New Haven on the 9th of March, 1876, and

organized a third party, putting a State ticket into

the field. Mr. Pinney was placed in nomination for

Secretary of State, a nomination which has been ac-

corded him at each successive State convention since

that time, and the Press pulled down its Democratic

flag and hoisted the Greenback banner, under which

it is still sailing, having given vigorous support to

two Greenb.ack candidates for the office of President

of the United States,—Peter Cooper (whom its edi-

tor, as deleg.T.te from Connecticut, helped nominate at

Indianapolis, Ind.), in 1876, and James B. Weaver, in

1880. The paper has been very free in the discussion

of religious subjects, and by its pronounced opposi-

tion to the prevailing Christian sentiment of the time

and locality has earned the reputation of being " the

wickedest paper in Connecticut,"—a distinction of

which its publisher seems rather proud than other-

wise. It is peculiar in its frequent disregard of public

sentiment, and its apparent inclination, other things

being equal, to take the unpopular side of public

questions, rather than the side which has commended
itself to public favor. Started as a five-column

quarto, the Press was, after the first year, changed to

an eight-column folio, in which form it is still pub-

lished every Thursday, at the original office, in a

building on the corner of Main and Bridge Streets,

opposite the Clarke House, Winsted.

THE WINSTED NEWS

was started in 1874 by Mr. Henry A. Bills, and has

had a wide circulation throughout this vicinity as the

leading Democratic paper of the county. In Septem-

ber, 1880, it was purchased by W. A. McArthur,

formerly editor and proprietor of the Ludlow (Ver-

mont) Tribune^ and a native of Salisbury, Conn. Un-
der his management it has lost none of its political

character, and has devoted more attention to local and

vicinity news, making it more valuable as a family

paper. After its change in proprietors the office was

removed to North Main Street from its old stand on

the Flat, and has since been known as the Times and

News, each village now having a post-office and a

newspaper. It is an eight-page quarto, and has a cir-

culation of about twelve hundred.

POST-OFFICE TROUBLES.S'

In 1833, on application of inhabitants of the West

village, the General Assembly granted a borough

charter to comprehend the part of the borough of

Winsted Ij'ing west of the second tier line. Conser-

vatism again took the alarm, and at the first meeting

for choice of officers a ticket was elected not favora-

ble to the objects contemplated by the charter. A
small tax was laid for purchasing a fire-engine and

organizing a fire company. Payment of the tax was

refused by some of the tax-payers, and there was not

found sufficient vitality in the corporate body to en-

force the payment. The bantling had a paralyzed ex-

istence of two or three years, and then expired. Its

primary object was to secure an efficient fire organiza-

tion, but behind this there was a plan for securing a

* From Boyd's History.
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second post-office in place of the original office, which

had been recently transferred to the East village, the

two villages being then distinct communities, sepa-

rated from each other by a wide space of laud not

then obtainable for building purposes.

In this connection a sketch of post-office changes,

aad the almost jjerpetual dissensions growing out of

them, which have given to our community an evil

fame, seems appropriate as an element of our history.

Indeed, to ignore them would be like performing the

play of Hamlet with Hamlet himself left out.

There was a time, strange as it may seem to the

present generation, when the Post-Olfice Department

was conducted without reference to party politics
;

when the postmaster-general was not a cabinet officer;

when the ruling question in the appointment of a

deputy postmaster was, is he honest, capable, and

acceptable to the community? when the best in-

terests of the public and of the Department were the

sole considerations applied to questions of location of

oflSces. These principles were recognized and acted

on not only in the days of Washington and Jefl'erson,

but onward through the administrations of Monroe

and the second Adams.

About 1806 the only post-office in Winchester was

held by a zealous Democrat, in the Widow Hall house,

on the turnpike beyond the eastern border of the pres-

ent borough of Winsted. The West village had then

become a business centre, and also more central to the

whole town than any other point on the mail-route.

On a representation of these and other considerations

to Postmaster-General Cxranger, a removal of the office

to the West village was ordered, and a high-toned

Federalist was appointed to the place of his Demo-
cratic predecessor.

It is a rule, with scarcely an exception, that when
rival villages exist in close vicinity each to other, a

feeling ofjealous rivalry grows with their growth, and
if they are both within the same post-office delivery

this feeling is liable to become highly intensified. To
this rule Winsted has been no exception. Prior to

and during the war of 1812 the Federal element prc-

dominateil in the West village and the Democratic

in the East. Etforts were made from time to time to

cliange tlie politics of tlie postmaster and tlie location

of the office, without avail until the resignation of

the Federal incuml)ent in 1830, when, on an r.i-par/e

hearing of an application from the East vilhigc, an

unexpected appointment was made, and the location

of the office transferred to that section. A second-

class eartJKiuake could scarcely have produced a

greater sensation. The West village at once sent a

deputation to Washington, accompanied by a Hart-

ford Times editor, and, on a second ex-parte hearing,

the De|)artmcnt ordcreil the office to be reopened in

the West village; but it could not be made to stay

there. Within six months, on another rx-parlr hear-

ing, the department ordered it back to the East vil-

lage. Remonstrances flowed in so thickly that in

about a year an oily-tougued official, rejoicing in the

name of Barnabas Bates, was sent to investigate the

case. Nearly three days were devoted by him to a

public hearing of the contending parties. He re-

ported to the Department, in substance, that both

parties ought to have it, but as they could not, it had

better be located at an intermediate point, half a mile

distant from each village centre, where next to no-

body then wanted it, and, as a consequence, it rested

in the East village until after the Harrison campaign,

when, under a new postmaster, it again returned to

the West village, leaving a branch office for receiving

and delivering letters in the East. Two years after,

under Capt. Tyler's accidental reign, the office went

back to the East village, and the branch office to the

West, and so continued through the administration

of President Polk.

By this time the nomination of postmasters within

a congressional district had by usage become the

unquestioned prerogative—not to say perquisite—of

the sitting members. Our member acted honestly and

wisely by obtaining the establishment of a new office

in the West village, and leaving the old office where

it then happened to be, and api>ointing two new post-

masters. With this arrangement the land h.id rest

for some years, but in the mean time each village

had encroached on the intermediate vacant space.

The Naugatuck Railroad was opened in 1849, and the

two villages became one. But this one village had

three sections instead of two,—the East, the West,

and the Flat. The Fiat, being the central point and

the railroad terminus, naturally looked to a speedy

preponderance over the other sections. A consoli-

dated post-office seemed easy of attainment. Senator

Dixon, like Barkis, "was willin'" and ready to help

by " ways that are dark and tricks that are vain," and

Representative Hubbard was befogged, and, like a

thunder-clap in a clear sky, the announcement came

that the West office wius defunct, and the East office

was transferred to the Flat. Fearful was the indig-

nation of the outlying East- and West-enders. Their

reciprocal heart-burnings, the growth of a half-cen-

tury, dissolved into thin air. The whilom combatants

became loving friends, and turned their combined bat-

teries upon the new victor. The Department, finding

itself in a quandary, sent another political seer, named
Nehemiah D. 8perry, to look into the matter, and see

what wius expedient to be done in the premises. Ne-

hemiah heard the parties publicly and privately, by

daylight and with a ilark lantern. He, too, got into

a quandary, and betook himself to secret negotiations

and quack nostrums. The result wa.s a restoration of

the two offices, a very imperfect healing of the new

sore, and a general impression that Nehemiah was a

wonderful negotiator. The two offices remained as

they were until a new muddle grew out of the manip-

ulations of a defeated candidate for Congress in the

Fourth District, who got the Republican nomination,

but could not get votes enough to elect him. His
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successful Republican colleagues, sorrowing for liis

defeat, conceded to him the bestowment of the jiost-

offices in the district. The people, it seemed, were

not suited with his nominations for the post-offices,

and a delegation of them went to Washington and

had a hearing before Postmaster-General Creswell,

who appointed two meritorious soldiers to the places.

" It would be a wrong conclusion to draw," Mr. Boyd

continues, "from this detail of sectional squabbles,

that our community is wholly given up to them, or

that the feelings engendered are very deep or bitter.

The question at once settled, general good feeling is

soon restored, and the combatants return to their

business, and, with accustomed energy and cordiality,

unite in promoting unsectional measures of improve-

ment or benevolence."

HIGHLAND P,\RK.

Though hardly within tlic province of a merely

historical and biographical work, a distinguishing fea-

ture of Winsted, Highland Park, demands notice here,

since it is not only a remarkable spot in the topogra-

phy of the county (everywhere picturesque when less

than grand), but, touched by the hand of landscaping

art, is a rich testimonial of the march of the estheti-

cal in taste among the severe, practical progeny of

the old, still severer Puritan stock which settled

Litchfield County, and to whom, as agriculturists,

fell the duty of delving out a living among the for-

ests, and from rocks covered 'with but little fertile soil,

and who could not afford to indulge to much extent

whatever of the love of the beautiful they may have

possessed.

The Park is the glory of Winsted, the resort in sum-

mer days of throngs of its people, and is surpassed in

wild and varied beauty, and in the grandeur of the

views from its summit, by but very few spots, if any,

in the whole country. Landscape artists find here

choice pictures for tlie peucil and brush which re-

mind them of the most rrchcrcli!- places among the

Adirondacks, the White Mountains, the Alleghanies,

and the Blue Ridges of Virginia. " There is every-

thing liere which the lover of wild and beautiful na-

ture need have, or might think he would like, except

marine scenery, and that would add but little to the

grandeur one beholds from Mount Case," is the testi-

mony of an artist of extensive travel and national

celebrity ; and it well expresses the general delight of

tasteful people who visit this spot, and, though the

Park has been open to the public only since the

summer of 1879, vast numbers of people from all jiarts

of the land have visited it. It covers, with its imme-

diate adjuncts, several hundred acres of forests, open

and picturesque grounds, formerly pastures, etc., sur-

mounted by Mount Case (so named in honor of the

memory of its once owner, and the former owner of

the domain of the Park proper, the late Dr. Lyman
Case, a leading and greatly-esteemed citizen of Win-
sted), from the toj) of which, some fourteen hundred

feet above the level of the sea, the eye surveys a vast

territory of remarkable mountain peaks and pictur-

esque valleys. Well up the mountain-sides of the

Park excellent carriage-roads have been made, and
everywhere through the forests (or " woods," in New
England vernacular) romantic footpaths have been

opened and graded, and here and there vistas cut with

an exquisite art-hand, nuiking delicious effects and
surprises. The forests of the Park contain a great

variety of trees, singularly tall, beautiful, and umbra-

geous, and in consequence of that variety jiresent in

the autumn a wonderful blending of gay colors,

heightened in effect by the deep green of hemlocks,

which everywhere abound in groves, groups, and in

single majesty. Great aggregations of bowlders (some

of them of huge size), massive ledges, tall, perpendicu-

lar cliffs, flowing springs of pure water, and acres of

ferns (of fourteen species) are some of the important

features of this charming tract of land. This park

lies mainly in the town of Winchester, but partly in

the borough of Winsted, its northern gate being only

about six rods distant from the tracks of the Nauga-

tuck and Connecticut Western Railroads, making it

easy of access from Bridgeport and Hartford, and is

provided with dancing platform, ladies' parlor, various
" retreats," etc., for the pleasure and comfort of pic-

nicers and tourists, together with an astronomical

tower on Mount Observation. It is expected that in

time a considerable portion of it will be covered with

summer cottages, most delightful sites for which it

contains in great number. Winsted is singularly

blessed in its park, so adjacent to its business centres.

It requires but a few minutes to withdraw from the

busy village, witli its humming factories and bustling

railway stations, into the cozy nooks of beautiful

groves and forests. The great rocks, cliffs, and peaks,

and the pathways of the Park have all been given

classic and romantic names, and upon the toji of a

giant ledge, called, from its shape, " Tarpcian Rock,"

is posed a neat log cabin, which can be seen from

some twenty miles distant, and overlooks a delightful

valley, in which lies the eastern portion of the village

of Winsted. Within the cabin is fitted up with ap-

propriate taste, and contains many rare curiosities

and relics, and, with its books, is the rustic summer
"library" of the tasteful proprietor, and, in fact, pro-

jector and artist of the park, Mr. Lyman W. Case, a

middle-aged gentleman of rare powers and extensive

culture in science and literature, and withal, formerly

a professional man, an able lawyer in New York, an

honor to his native town, and one of those rare men
of disciplined tastes and catholic hearts of whom too

few are found in any part of the world, and who
would richly merit a high place in the history of the

county for his public spirit in opening Highland

Park, and the unsurpassed taste and skill which he

has displayed in developing it, without consideration

of his accomplishments as a scholar and polished man
of the world.
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LIST OF OLD INHABITANTS.

The following is a listof inhabitauts in the town in

1880 over seventy years of age, for which we are in-

debted to the Winsted Herald :

Diadeuia Camp 95
RnxHiana Murray 94
Mary Richards 91
Sophia Brown 90
Cliester Wcntworth 89
Mary Crocker 89
Bi-tsey Hall 88
.lerelniah Carey 88
Chester Bancroft 88
I'rusha Culver 87
Abi P. Boys 86
Alva Njisli Sfi

Warren Fhelps 86
David Lewis 85
Miranda F. Holmes 85
Mary Evers 85
Eben Johnson 84
Charlotte Austin 84
Lloyd Hunil)hrey 83
Abigail Hall 83
Julnis H. McCoy 83
Judson Wadsworth 83
Miles Davis 82
Anna K. Shepard 82
Abijah Watson 82
Miirgaret Watson 82
Roswell Smith 81
.lames NewmVin 81
.lolin Boyd 81
I'olly Spencyr 81
Amos Bcecher 81
Abigail Loomis 80
William Newton 80
Maiia Corbin 80
Reuben Cluise 80
Lucy Cleveland 80
Henry Ward 80
Catharine Ray 80
Electa Chase' 80
Huldah Marshall 79
.Toanna McCarthy 79
Mortimer McMahou 79
Sally TlHope 79
Klviru Coe 79
Mary Poole 78
Katinie Bissell 78
Ira Pettilione. 78
Sarah Ulrnsted 78
Austin Maloney 78
Anna Knapp. 78
William F. Hatch 78
Jennclte Stillman 78
Julia Shoa 78
Ruby riiilll|is 77
Deborah Strong 77
Hantnili Miirnham 77
Lnnmii ('atlin 77
Hannah Andrews 77
Harvey Wakefield 77
Mary Thompson 77
Mary Ronso 77
Selinda Bradley 77
Mary Maloney 77
Slaria Lewis 77
Ceoriro Taylor 76
Harriet F.ird 76
George l>ndley 76
Cautlice Callin 76
Ktlslia Capron 76
Joel Todd 76
Amos Pierce 76
Horace Rowley 76
Sally Rowley..'. 76
Lticy Sntith 76
Lavina Hall 70
Mcllu-rson Hul>boll 76
Joanna Ilanley 76
Roswell I'erry' 76
I'olly lloot 76
IHrani J!oot 76
Caroline Lawrence 76
Hannah Mnr|diy 76
Mary Keegari 76
Sanianlha i'hiltips 76
Marilla I'almei- 75
BridKC't Downs 76
Charles I,. Norton 75
Daniel Wilson 76

Martha Roberts 75
Mary McCarthy 75
Hilamond Fyler 75
Mary Dute 75
Catliarine Quigley 74
Annie M. Norton 74
John McAlpine 74
Pidly Leroy 74
Silas Hudbut 74
Lucy Chase 74
Norris Beckley 74
James Craigh 74
Sophia Wheelock 74
Orpha Ward 74
Lois Derry 73
Enieline Catlin 73
Noah Barber 73
Sophronia Dol[ihin 73
Lavinia Welch 73
James Welch 73
Electa Dudley 73
Thomas C. Davis 73
Peter Bullis 73
Adam Shoars 73
Amelia Davis 73
Emily W. Case 73
Isabella Barllett 73
Noimaud Adams 73
Charlotte Reynolds 73
Abigail Phell'is 73
Bennett I'aliner 73
William C. Phelps 73
Lawrence Steger 73
William L. Cllbert 73
Charles J. Hunt 73
Rufus Eggleston 73
Sarah Egglestou ji
Kate Carey 72
Adelaide Wilson 72
Lncinda Davis 72
Margaret Craigh 72
Emily Taylor 72
Mar>* Balilwin 72
Daniel S. Allen 72
.lolin Wing 72
Laura Wilson 72
Clarissa Warlsworth 72
Catharine McGuire 72
Maiia Hart 72
Etiudine Watson 72
Sally Hum|>hrey 72
Sarah Ooodsell 72
Ann Home 72
Eli/a P. Hewilt .. 72
E'hilo G. Sheldon 72
Mary I'latt 71
Ira T. Neal 71
Charles L. Norton 71
Harry Brooks 71
George W. Stroetor 71
Oi-son B. Eldridgo 71
Sophronia Cntllii 71
Eliza Capnin 71
Ell llarnos 71
Julia M. Coo 71
Eilward ('ami 71
Catlin Bills 71
Lucia Williams 71
Vlngenzo .\nglula. 71
Emily C. Hopkins. 71
Whlllng Miner 70
Annie Miner 70
Lucy Looinis 70
n, B. Rockwell 70
Wlllair Iticliunta 70
Knte Roach 70
IHrani Perkins 71)

Ann Price 70
Elijah Miinie 7U
Elvira Miller 70
Ahel H. Snow 70
Edwin AUstun 70
Asahel M. Rice 70
Sophia Dnuuet 70
Samnel S. Beach 70
KolMn L. Beecher. 70
Lncy A. Wetmore 70
Edwin Halsled 70

By the foregoing list it appears that of the one
huniirod and seventy-six persons in the town on the
1st of Jiine last over seventy years of age four, all

females, were over ninety, two were eighty-nine, three

were eighty-eight, one was eighty-seven, three were
eighty-six, three were eighty-five, two were eighty-

four, four were eighty-three, four were eighty-two,

five were eighty-one, eight were eighty, five were
seventy-nine, nine were seventy-eight, eleven were

seventy-seven, fifteen were seventy-six, thirteen were

seventy-five, ten were seventy-four, twenty-two were

seventy-three, nineteen were seventy-two, fifteen were
seventy-one, and eighteen were seventy.

Of the above list six at least have died since the

enumeration was made.

There were two hundred and sixty-four persons

between the ages of sixty and seventy, and one hun-
dred and one less than one year old.

The most numerous family is that of Carroll, forty-

eight; while the Smiths number forty-six, the John-
sons forty, and the Whites thirty-eight. The most
common Christian name is Mary, of wliieli three are

two hundred an<l twenty-four. The names of Orpha,
Sarepta, Abigail, and I'olly are apparently running
out. Of the six Pollys the average age is sixty years.

THE liOROUGII OF AVINSTED.

The borough of Clifton, which comprised what is

now known as West Winsted, was incorporated in

1832. This municipal organization was succeeded in

May, 1858, by the present l)()n)ugh of Winsted, which
embraces the East and West villages and the Flat.

The first borough-meeting was held Aug. 2, 18.')8,

when the following ottieers were elected: Win. H.
Phelps, Warden ; Rollin L. Beeeher, Edward Camp,
John T. Rockwell, Charles Cook, Charles B. Weed,
John O. Wetmore, Burgesses; John llin.sdale. Clerk

and Treasurer ; Caleb P. Newman, Bailiff.

WARDENS.

The following is a list of wardens from the incor-

poration of the borough to 1881

:

Wm. H. Phelps, 1K58-61
; John O. Wetmore, 1862-65 ; CTias. Co<ik, I8B0-

GS; Elias E. Gilmun, 18l)U; Wci. C. Phelps, 1870; Jnnies A. Buah-
nell, \H'l; llar»ey B. Steele, 1872; Blurliinor E. Dntton, 1873-74

;

David Strung, 1876-70; Alex. Waters, 1877-78; Wilbnr F. Coo,

l»79-«0.

nUKOESSES.

nollln L. Beoclior, 1848-01, 1867-08, 1871 ; EilwanI Comp, 1858-62; John
T. Rockwell. l(l.'.8-02, ISM; Chad, Cook, 185H-|'0 ; CluiB. B. Weed,
18f8-0.l, 1.866-08; John H. Wetmore, lR'i»-llI, 1871-73; Wm. II.

Phelps, 1802-04 ; Ch; «. D. llallell, ISG2
; James R, Alvortl, 18«3-(i«;

Ellas E. Gllman, UU3-06; Thomas Walson, Ikki-OO
; Allwrt N.

Beach, IKI/i ; lllrnm I'erkins, 1806-73 ; Chns. Alvord, 1860 ; Wheelock
T. Ilnlcheller, 1807-70, 187:1-74 ; Janns A. Bnshnell. 1807-70; David

S. Miller, 1867; Chas. S. Norton, 1868; Fraucli Bniwn, 1809-71;

Rnl|.h H. Moore, 1809-74; Samuel W. Pine, 1809-70; Rufus E.

Holmes, 1871 ; IliMiry G. Colt, 1872-73; Slilney F. DIckernnin, 1872-

73; Timothy lluli.ert, 1872; Gi-orgo Dudley, Jr., 1874- 7.\; Timothy
P. Skinner, 1871-76; David Slrong, 1871 ; Wm. V. Barclay, 1874-70,

1879-80; Ellzur B. Par«<in«, 1873-80; Joseph Pelllt, 1876; Jeffrey

Skinner, 187>'>; Hiram P. Lawronco, 1876-70; Samuel Greer, 1876-

78; Willard S. Welmoro, 1870; Burrall B. PInney, 1876; Jauea G.

Woodniff, 1877-78; Orlow 1>. Hunt, 1877-78; Wllhnr F. Cno, 1877-

78; Samuel S. .Newton, l»79 ; Lawrence McDermont,1K79-M); Eil-

ward 11. Welch. 1b7»; Lucien V. Pinnry, 1880; Jnmoa T. Morgan,

1880; Chas. B. Andrews, 1880.
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CLERKS AND TREASUKEKS.

John HiiisJale, 1858-06 ; Wni. B. Plielps,lSC7-08 ; tl. Hungerford Dlako,

1800-81.
BAILIFFS.

Caleb P. Newnmn, 1858-00, 1802, 1S07-70; Lamphior B. Tnttlo, 1861;

Dennis W. Stevens, 1803-05; Alex. T. Thompson, 1800; Stephen W.

Sage, 1871-80.

AVATER-WORKS.

The first move towards the construction of water-

works was an instruction to the warden and burgesses

" to ascertain wlietlier the borough has a right to draw

water from Long Lake ; whetlier tlie amount taken

through a six-inch pipe would lie iirejndicial to the

manufacturing interests of the borough, and, if it

probably would be so prejudicial, 'whether a reservoir

of sufficient capacity to meet the wants of the bor-

ough might not be constantly filled by the waste

water of the lake." A petition was presented to the

General Assembly, in 18G0, for power to take water

from Long Lake or the Little Pond, which was

granted. The jireliniinary survey was made in 1860

and 1861. The works were constructed at a cost of

one hundred thousand dollars, and at present there

are ten miles of pipe. The supply is drawn from a

beautiful sheet of water known as Long Lake, lying

partly within the westerly bounds of the borough.

The first election of water commissioners was held

Aug. 1, 1860, when the following were chosen : Ly-

man Case, John T. Rockwell, and Wm. L. Gilbert.

The present commissioners are H. Hungerford Drake,

M.D., Edward E. Culver, John E. Pine.

From 1872 to June, 1879, the works were under the

supervision of Dr. H. Hungerford Drake, under whose

supervision the improvements of strengthening the

embankments, removing the two bridges which stood

over the waste-weir and substituting the combination

waste-weir and roadway, and reconstructing the bulk-

head were made.

The fire department was organized Nov. 17, 1862,

and the borough was divided into four districts. The
first fire-warden was Francis Brown. His assistants

were John W. Rowe, Hiram Perkins, and L. C. Pal-

mer. The present organization of the department

consists of four hose companies.

The police court was established in 1864, and the

first bailiff' was Caleb P. Newman.

POPULATION.

The following figures give the population of the

town at the time specified : 1756, 24; 1774, 339 ; 1781,

688; ISOO, 1368; 1810, 1466; 1820, 1601; 1830, 1706;

1840, 1667; 1850, 2179; 1860, 3550; 1870,4102; 1880,

5085.

CHAPTER XVII.

WINCHESTEB (Continued).

MANUFACTURING INTERESTS.*

Wooden-wake.—The saw-mill was, of course, the

first utilization of water-power in this as in most

other primitive communities. The location of the

earliest of these has already been noted. Besides

supplying the home demand for lumber, they early

turned out a limited supply of white-wood boards

and clap-boards, which were sledded over winter

snows to Hartford and other distant towns. White-

ash sweeps, oars, and materials for ship-blocks were

also got out and carried to Hartford and Wethersfteld

for up-and-down river navigation of the Connecticut.

Dish-mills for making wooden bowls, trenchers,

and mortars followed as accessories to the saw-mills.

They used up the slabs from the saw-mill logs by

cutting them into disks, which wei'e centred and

turned in coarse lathes to the convex surface of the

outer dish. With a curved turning-tool, the outer

dish was separated from the disk, and then smaller

ones were turned off .successively until the disk was

exhausted. The slabs from which these disks were

made were wider and thicker than were taken from

logs when lumber increased in value. The trenchers

and mortars were turned by a similar process. The
maker or peddler of these articles packed them into

a strong bed-tick, in which they were carried on the

back of a horse, along the narrow bridle-paths, to

the earlier-settled towns, where they were bartered

for "store-pay." At least four of these mills were

located along the lake stream, and as many others iu

various parts of the town, in the last century, two of

which—one at the Meadow Street crossing of the

lake stream, and the other opposite the old lean-to

mill-house on Lake Streets-were in operation as late

as 1805.

Cheese-Boxes, Scale-Boards.—Early in this century

John McAlpine erected and carried on a shop on the

stream at the foot of the burying-ground hill, in Old

Winchester, for making scale-boards, used for sepa-

rating cheeses from each other when packed in casks

for distant markets. As he enjoyed a monopoly of

the manufacture in the centre of the dairy region of

Connecticut, the demand for his article was extensive

until the practice of packing each cheese in a sepa-

rate box was adopted. This change necessitated the

manufacture of round boxes, with covers, of sizes

fitted to the various diameters and thicknesses of the

cheese. This mode of packing went into vogue be-

tween 1820 and 1830, and was universally adopted

as early as the latter year. One of the earliest man-

ufiicturers of this article in Winchester was Silas H.
McAlpine, whose shop on the Naugatuck branch is

believed to be still in operation. Another establish-

ment on Hall meadow, now owned by Nelson D.

* Condensed from Boj'd's Ilistori*, with additions to the present time.
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Ford, has been and is still in operation. These

works were built in 1845 by Harvey Ford, father of

the present proprietor, who ran it about ten years,

and then put it into the hands of his two sons, one or

both of whom have conducted the business until the

present time. For the first five years there were from

ten thousand to fifteen thousand boxes made up each

year; since then some less, with variation from year

'to year. At present, and for the past few years, in

addition to the cheese-box business, tliere is quite a

business done in the saw-mill in coarse lumber. An-

other establishment was carried on in Winsted by

Cook & Bacon, from 1842 to about 1846, in a shop

adjoining the lake stream saw-mill.

Grist-Milh.—The two early grist-mills of the town

have been already noted. The first was built by Da-

vid Austin in 1771, near the lake outlet; the second,

supposed to have been originally built by Elias Bal-

comb about 1776, stood on the, west side of Still

River, immediately south of the stone bridge. It

was owned and operated for many years by Ensign

Jesse Doolittle, and was carried off by a flood about

1800, and was rebuilt by Samuel and Luther Hoad-

ley about 1844.

Both these mills had three run of stones and were

carried by permanent water-power. The Austin mill

was rebuilt by the Rockwell Brothers about ISIO, and

was finally burned down and abandoned in ISiJo.

The Hoadley mill was abandoned by Riley Wiiiting

about 182-'), and the brick-clock factory (burned down
in 1870) was erected on its site.

The Clifton mill was erected by Case, Gilbert &
Co. about 1836, and was operated as a grist-mill until

about 1809.

Three or more feed-mills have come into existence

witliin a few years: one owned by John G. Wetmore,

opposite the Clarke house, another owned by Wing
Persons, on Lake Street, and a third owned by Fred-

erick Woodruff, on North Main Street.

Scythe- Works.—Until the closing part of tlic la.st

century the scythe was, in this country, stri<-tly a

hand-made tool, wrought out in smiths' shops by

sledge and luunmcr, and ground on a stone turned l)y

a hand-crank, or hung on the shaft of a flutter-

wheel, without gearing or other appliances. The
Harris family, of Pine Plains and Salisbury, learned

the trade of a negro slave purchased by their imme-

diate progenitor from a former master who had taught

him the trade.

The first establishment in the country for welding,

drawing, and plating the scythe under trip-ham-

mers by water-power, and grinding it on a geared

stone, was erected by Robert Orr, of Bridgcwater,

Mass., during or after the Revolution. The second

establisliment of this nature was erected by Col.

Robert Boyd, near the west bank of tlic Hudson,

between New Windsor Landing and Newburg before

1790. Benjamin Jenkins, from Bri<igcwntcr, was

foreman, and James Boyd, of New Windsor, was an

apprentice in these works. They became brothers-

in-law, and in 1792 came to Winsted and erected the

third establishment in the country on the site of the

Winsted Manufacturing Company's present works on

Still River. In 1802 they built another establishment

on the site of the Winsted Hoe Company's plating-

shop on Lake Street, and soon after separated, Mr.

Jenkins taking the original works on Still River,

—

from whom they have passed by successive convey-

ances to the present owners,—and Mr. Boyd taking

the Lake Street works, and carrying them on, indi-

vidually or with partners, until near the close of his

life, in 1849.

77(6 Winsted Manufacturing Company was chartered

May 6, 183-5. The annual production at beginning of

lousiness was about five thousand dozen scythes, but

the present annual production is ten thousand. Thirty-

three men are employed. The present officers of the

company are John T. Rockwell, President ; Joseph

H. Norton, Agent and Treasurer; and Allen H. Nor-

ton, Secretary.

The presidents of the company have been as

follows: Aug. 22, 183.5, Theron Rockwell; 1848,

Evert Bevins; Sept. 29, 18.51, Rufus Holmes; Sept.

26, 18-53, Charles Reynolds; Sept. 24, 1855, George

Dudley ; Aug. 28, 1865, E. Grove Lawrence; Aug. 26,

1867, William L. Gilbert; Aug. 31, 1880, John T.

Rockwell.

Merrit Bull, an early apprentice of Jenkins &
Boyd, erected a scytlie-shoj) in 1802 or 1803, on the

site of the present stone-shop, at the crossing of the

lake stream by Meadow Street, which he managed

until his death, in 1824, when the works went into the

hands of S. & M. Rockwell, and formed the starting-

point of the large and prosperous establisliment built

uj) and managed by the successive tirms of Rockwell

& Hinsdale, Hinsdale & Bcardsley, Elliot Beardsley,

and the Beardsley S<-ythe Company. This company

was incorporated July 12, 1851, and the following

were the first otTicers: Francis Brown, President;

Elliot Beardsley, Agent, Secretary, and Treasurer.

The present oflicers are Philo G. Sheldon, President;

Edwaril P. Wilcox, .\gent, Secrotarr, and Treasurer.

Number of hands employed, thirty-five; ca|>acity per

month, one thousand dozen ; value of annual product,

sixty thousand dollars.

Halsey Burr, an apprentice of Mr. Jenkins, built

a scythe-shop in 1S14, near the site of F. Woodruff

i^ Sons' feed-mill, on North Main Street, which he

carried on in a small way until a few years before his

death.

In 1831, Wheelock Thayer, previously a partner

and acting manager in the scythe business of James

Boyd ife Son, erected the scythe-works on Mad River,

now owned by his daughter, and carried on by the

Thayer Scythe Company.

The process of manufacturing scythes luut been from

time to time greatly improvc<l by the invention of new

machinery. The first of these in date and importance
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was a spring die, with attachments to tlie trip-liaramer

for holding the back and setting down and smoothing

the web of the scythe,—a very slow and laborious

process when performed with the hand-hammer. The
next improvement was, by a series of light tilt-liam-

mers, to shape and tiuish the point; the next was a

machine for turning and finishing the heel ; another

was for spinning the straw rope for binding up the

scythes in dozen packages, by a machine similar to the

Dutch wheel and flyer for spinning linen. Most of

these improvements have originated in Winsted.

Scythe-making was—with the exception of wooden

ware—tlie earliest factory work carried on in Win-
sted, and has been uninterruptedly prosecuted to the

present day, little impeded or accelerated by protec-

tive tariffs. The three establishments now in operation

have a capacity for making two hundred and fifty

thousand scythes per annum, and rarely fail of turn-

ing out tliat number.

Bar Iron and Blistered Steel.—Bar iron had been

made directly from the brown hematite ores of Salis-

bury, Kent, and Amenia from time immemorial. In

Litchfield County bloomery-forges stood on most of

the available water-courses in nearly all the western

towns. Tiiey furnished iron for three rolling- and

slitting-mills,—one in Canaan, anotlier in Litchfield,

and the third in Washington, where the iron was

rolled and slit into rods for nail-making. These mills

worked up only a small portion of the iron manufac-

tured. Besides domestic uses of all kinds, it was

largely made into anchors, which were sent to the

seaboard.

Nearly all of these bloonieries, and all of the slit-

ting-mills, have long since disappeared ; and their

sites would mostly be forgotten did not the cinder-

heaps and imperishable charcoal-brays indicate their

location. i

In 1795, Jenkins & Boyd, in company with Thomas
Spencer, .Jr., erected the first forge in Winsted, on the

water-]30wer of the Lake Street grinding-works of

the Winsted Manufacturing Company.
In 1803 the Rockwell Brothers removed and put up

their Colebrook forge on the site of Timothy Hul-

bert's present iron-works on the lake stream.

In 1808, James Boyd erected another forge on Mad
River, immediately opposite the Clarke House ; and

in that or the following year the Rockwell Brothers

built another forge on the lake stream, below and
adjoining the Connecticut Western depot grounds.

In 1811, Reuben Cook, in company with Ru-ssell

Bunce and Charles Seymour, of Hartford, built the

old Cook forge on Still River, where the axle-works

of R. Cook & Sons now stand.

All of these forges manufactured refined bar iron

from the best quality of Old Salisbury Ore Hill pig

iron, for the supply of the United States armory at

Springfield, which required the best iron the country

could produce. If there was the slightest defect in

the quality, the finished gun-barrel would reveal it by

defective polish or failure to stand the proof of a

double-test charge. Only a limited portion of the

iron made could be brought up to these crucial tests

by the best-skilled workmen. Iron of a slightly in-

ferior grade was required for scythes, wire rods, and
fine machinery. A still lower grade answered for the

ordinary uses of country blacksmiths.

In the process of refining, the cinders drawn off

through the tent-plate retained a percentage of iron

nearly equal to the ordinary hematite ores. This was
worked over in a chafery or bloomery fire, and pro-

duced a strong coarse iron, which was worked into

tires, axle and crow-bar patterns, and plow-moulds, or

into heavy shafting, saw-mill cranks, etc. Each forge

had in connection with it a drafting-shop, with lighter

hammers, to draw down the bars into rods and shapes

of all kinds in demand, and especially to work up the

refuse iron by welding to each piece an equal layer of

blistered steel, and drawing the united masses into

sleigh-shoes.

The iron and scythe business constituted the staple

manufacturing business of Winsted until near 1840,

when the government had settled its policy of import-

ing its gun-iron from Norway ; the English had intro-

duced better and cheaper iron of every form and size

than heretofore; when the puddling process of iron-

making had grown up in more favored localities;

when wood and charcoal had advanced in price, while

transportation of raw material and manufactured ar-

ticles—always a heavy burden—could no longer be

endured. Under all these discouragements the iron

manufacture rapidly died out. The lower Rockwell

forge on the lake stream was converted into a scythe-

shop about 184-5. The Boyd forge, opposite the Clarke

house, breathed its last about the same time. The
upper forge on the lake stream lingered on until

about 1850. The middle forge on the lake stream

was sold by Elliot Beardsley to Timothy Hulbert in

1853, and was changed into a forge for puddling scrap-

iron, and is now conducted by the Hulbert Iron Com-
pany. The Cook forge, on Still River, about 1850

confined its operations to working scrap-iron into

axle-drafts for finishing in the Cook Axle Company's

works, of which the forge became a component part.

The consumption of bar iron in Winsted, instead of

decreasing with the decadence of its home manufac-

ture, has steadily increased. The new brands of Nor-

way iron were found cheaper and better for scythes,

hoes, and other articles than the costly home-made re-

fined iron, and came into general use in our hardware

manufactures. The scythe manufacture increased.

The hoe manufacture was introduced, and soon con-

sumed more iron than the whole scythe interest had

required in 1830, and other new hardware manufac-

tures took the place of the iron-forge.

Blistered Steel.—The first cementing steel-furnace

in Western Connecticut was erected before 1800, in

Colebrook, by the Rockwell Brothers, under the su-

pervision of Mr. Jencks, an ingenious iron and steel
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worker from Taunton, Mass., which has been perpet-

uated to the present time, though rarely operated of

late years. It was found that the Salisbury iron was

deficient in the ingredient, whatever it is, that pro-

duces an edge-tool quality in steel. The steel pro-

duced has an elastic qualit}', fitting it for carriage-

springs, hay- and manure-forks, and similar articles,

and before 1850 was largely used for these manufac-

tures, and likewise for sleigh-shoes and for general

blacksmith work. Since 1850 the steels made from

Swedish and Russian irons have nearly superseded

the domestic irons, excej^t those recently made from

spathic ores.

The second steel-furnace in this region was put up

early in this century by Col. Abram Burt, in Canaan,

Conn., and continued in operation but a few years.

The third was erected in Winsted by James Boyd &
Son, in 1832, on the site of Thompson's bakery, south

side of Monroe Street, adjoining the bridge. It was

designed for converting their own iron into steel,

which they were then largely supplying to fork-man-

ufacturers ; but was soon abandoned by reason of in-

ducements held outby the Colebrook concern, making

it more advantageous to have their iron converted

there than to do it themselves.

Ciif NaUn.—Shingle-nails were cut from old hoops

and headed by hand for the First Congregational

meeting-house in 1800. The cutting-machine is sup-

posed to have been worked by hand. Another ma-

chine for cutting shingle-nails from hammered strips

of iron, by water-power, was started by .Tames Boyd

about 18(18, and soon abandoned.

In 1810, Jesse Byington rented water-jiower from

the old Jenkins scythe-shop proprietors, and erected

a nail-factory a little south of the Winsted Manufac-

turing Company's scythe-works, in whicli he used a

newly-inventc<l macliinc for cutting nails more accu-

rate and uniform in size than \i\ the old hand ma-

chines, but without heading them. Before and during

the war of 1812 he employed more men jis cutters and

headers than were employed in any other branch of

business in the place. After the return of ])eace, in

1815, and the introduction of the combined cutting-

and-hcading macliine, Mr. Hyington's business broke

down, and lias never since been resumed in any Ibrm.

Axes,—A.\e-making as a trade, distinct from otlier

smith-work, was introduced here l)y Elizur Hinsdale

in 1804 or 1805. He first had his shop on Lake Street,

near the lake outlet, and in 18(l(i erected a shop on

the site of the Foundry and Machine Company's
works, wliicli he sul)se<|ucntly enlarged to a trip-

hammer and grinding-works adapted siieciuliy to his

business, which he prosecuted until near the close of

1819, when he failed, and the business wa.s aban-

doned.

About 1828, after the Collins a.\o-factory went into

operation at Collinsville, Natiiaiiiel B. (iaylord, tlicn

owner of the old Jenkins scylhc-works, entered into

the business of axe-making under the supervijiou of

Marcus Morgan, an original worker in the Collins

establishment. Mr. Morgan soon after purchased the

works and prosecuted the business until 1832, when
he sold out, and the Winsted Manufacturing Company
now occupy the premises.

Iron M'ire.—In 1812, Samuel and Luther Hoadley

and James Boyd erected a wire-factory on the west

wing of the clock-factory dam, the first, or one of the

first, erected in the country for breaking down iron

wire from the rod and drawing it down to any size

from a half-inch to a hair's diameter. The rods, of

the very best Salisbury iron, were hammered down to

a half-inch square, and then rounded by trip-hammer

swaging-dies, and then, after successive annealings,

were drawn down by " rippers," as they were called,

to a size whence they could be further reduced by a

continuous drawing around an upright block. It was

the ripping operation, by self-acting pincers seizing

the point of the wire at the plate, drawing it about

eighteen inches, then letting go and sliding back and

taking a new hold at the plate, and drawing another

length, which was then new in this country. At that

period there were few, if any, rolling-mills in the

country that rolled out round rods suitable for wire-

drawing.

The business was profitable, and was vigorously

prosecuted until the close of the war, when foreign

competition paralyzed it, and compelled its abandon-

ment.

Lcnther.—In the last century, tlie regular shoe-

maker—as distinguished from tlic cobbler and cat-

whii)per^was also a tanner. He had his vats, uniler

cover, in or out of doors, in which he tanned his own
and his neighbors' skins, and made them into boots

and shoes on the same premises with his tan-vats. Of
these tanneries there were in the last century three

or more in Old Winchester, to which the traveling

currier jjcriodically resorted, and curried, or smoothed

and softened, the sides of leather when taken from the

vats. The oak bark, then solely used for tanning, had

its outer surface sliaved off, and was then pounded or

crushed under a heavy circular stone attached to a ten-

foot shal\, .stationary at one end, ami rolled round a

circle by a draft-horse, the bark being distributed

along the circular track, and kept there by a man or

boy with a rake. Two of these, owned respectively

by the Wade and Blake families, continued in opera-

tion, by water-power and modern improvements, until

about IS.'iO. Both are now abandoned. There was a

like establisliment in Winsted, erected and owned by

Elias Loomis, at the close of the last century, at the

foot of " Dish Mill Hill," where the WoodrutV tannery

now stands, which was abandoned many years before

the present works were erectc<l.

About 1800 it was practically ascertained by trial

that hemlock bark pos,se.s.ted the astringent and other

properties requisite for tanning, and, in consequence,

the business was thenceforward conducted on a larger

scale in the Green Woods region.
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Col. Hosea Hinsdale and Col. James Shepard came

to Winsted in 1802, and erected a large tannery on

Spencer Street, where now is the iash-pond of Engene

Potter. The business was successfully prosecuted

here by Col. Hinsdale until 1851, when he sold out

to J. S. and J. T. Rockwell, and the business is now
conducted by the latter.

In 1807, Col. Shepard solil out his interest to Col.

Hinsdale, and, in company with Asahel Miller, erected

the original tannery, on the site of the present tannery

of George Dudley & Son. This establishment was

owned and managed successively by Shepard & Mil-

ler, Abicl Loomis, and Alanson Loomis, until pur-

chased by George Dudley in 1832.

In 1820 another tannery was erected by Horace Kan-

ney, at the corner of North Main Street and the Cook
bridge, taking its water-power from the west wing of

Cook's dam, which was successively owned and man-

aged by Kanney & Hawley, Norman S])encer, Jona-

than K. Richards, Charles B. Hallett, and others, and

was abandoneil as a tannery in 18.')7.

In 1821, Horace Ranney erected another tannery,

on the site of the present Woodrutf tannery, on North

Main Street, now owned by George Dudley & Son,

which was successively managed by Lewis & Foster

until 1834, by James A. Ayraiilt until 1841, since which

it has been owned and managed by Frederick Woodruff

until his sale to Dudley & Son, it having during his

ownership been carried away by a flood, and after-

wards rebuilt and enlarged.

The tannery business of Winsted has, since 1850,

been confined to preparing sheep- and calf-skins for

book-binding and similar purposes, and has become

one of the prominent branches of our manufactures.

The skins are imported from England, after having

been split into two or more thicknesses, salted, and

packed in hogsheads ready for the vat. The bark is

finely ground in a mill in the second story of the

building, and passed to a large receiving vat, where it

is soaked in water until the tanning principle is ex-

tracted, when the liquor or tea, as it is termed, is drawn

off into a line of receiving vats, and the exhausted

bark is thrown out. A paddle- or flutter-wheel is fixed

over each vat, and connected by gears with a line of

shafting propelled by water-power. A sufficient num-
ber of vats are filled with the hemlock tea ; the right

number of skins are thrown into each vat, and the

flutter-wheels are set in motion and operate on the

surface of the liquid, creating a current which keeps

the skins in constant movement, and perfects the tan-

ning process without hand-labor. The tanned skins

are then smoothed, trimmed, assorted, and packed for

market, the whole process requiring less than three

weeks' time.

This branch of business was originated in Winsted

by George Dudley, before 1850, in the works he pur-

chased from Alanson Loomis in 1832. In 1853 he re-

built and enlarged his works, and added two three-

story buildings for dyeing the skins when tanned. In

company with his son, George Dudley, Jr., he subse-

quently purchased the Woodruff tannery on North
Main Street.

In 1851, J. S. & J. T. Rockwell, previously engaged

in this branch of tanning in Colebrook, erected the

four-story tannery on the site of the Hinsdale prem-

ises. These works are now owned by John T. Rock-

well.

Woolen Clotlis.—Joseph Piatt is believed to have

been the first clothier in the town. He built a

clothier's shop and fulling-mill in the Danbury Quar-

ter between 1783 and 1787. The establishment had a

brief existence. It is not mentioned in any deed on

record, and its precise locality is unknown.

The first clothier in Winsted was Mr. Daniel

Marshall, whose shop stood on Lake Street, as it

then ran, nearly opposite the house at the corner of

Lake and Rockwell Streets, and the fulling-mill in

the rear on the lake stream. Mr. Marshall died in

1794, and Daniel Wilcox became the owner until his

sale of the premises to the Rockwell Brothers, in 1813.

A carding-machine was added to the establishment

about 1804. The Rockwell Brothers, in 1813, erected

additional buildings, and began the manufacture of

broadcloths and satinets. The business was enlarged

and vigorously prosecuted during the continuance of

the war of 1812, and moderately thereafter until 1830,

in the hope of making it a paying business, but with

doubtful success. In 1835 the works were burned

down, and never rebuilt.

About 1816 another clothier's works was erected

by Ansel Wilson, on the site of the Strong Manufac-

turing Company's new factory. Chester Soper pur-

chased this establishment about 1830, and a few years

after erected a woolen-mill on the premises, in which

be manufactured broadcloths until about 1838. The
works were afterwards carried on by John Thornton

and others until 1845, when the woolen business

was abandoned and the building afterwards used for

making joiners' tools.

Another clothier's works, built about 1814 on the

Naugatuck branch in Old Winchester, and carried on

by Alva Nash and others until 1828, when it was

converted into a woolen-mill for making broadcloths

and satinets by John M. Galagher, who failed within

a few years, and was succeeded by Isaac Bird, who
continued the making of satinets until the establish-

ment went into the hands of the Winchester Centre

Manufacturing Company, in 1854. This company

confined its operations to making woolen knitting-

yarn until the establishment was burned down about

1860, and was never rebuilt.

The Home Manufacturing Company, a joint-stock

concern, was organized in 1846, and the same year

erected the factory building on Mad River now oc-

cupied by the New England Pin Company, and went

into the manufacture of broadcloths and doeskins.

It labored under the disadvantage of having no stock-

holders acquainted with the business, and was unfor-
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tunate in selecting overseers of the manufacturing

department. No profits were realized, and in 1850

the concern was wound up. The establishment was

sold to Anson G. Phelps, who operated it, in connec-

tion with his woolen-mills at Wolcottville, until 1852,

wlien it was purchased by the Hartford Pin Com-

pany.

Not one of the foregoing enterprises proved success-

ful, and most of them ended disastrously.

The William L. Gilbert Clock Company.—The man-

ufacture of clocks, of which this establishment is an

outgrowth or enlargement, was commenced here in

about 1807, by Riley Whiting, for the manufacture of

wooden clocks, for which Connecticut was formerly

so famous. The manufacture of brass clocks wa.s

begun in 1825. The first company organized was that

of Clarke, Gilbert & Co., then William L. Gilbert c%

Co., later the Gilbert Manufacturing Company, and

the present company, the William L. Gilbert Clock

Company, which was organized in 1871 with a capital

of one hundred thousand dollars, with William L.

Gilbert president, and I. B. WoodrufT secretary and

treasurer.

In 1871 the works of the company were destroyed

by fire, but by the energy and enterprise of the pro-

prietors they were immediately rebuilt. The reputa-

tion of the goods of this house was such that the

demand required more extensive facilities for their

production before the works were destroyed by fire;

consequently, availing themselves of the opportunity

of making improvements in rebuilding, tiic new

premises were much enlarged, making them more

commodious and far better adapted for tiie desired

purpose. The establishment is supplied with all

modern improvements, and is complete in all its ap-

pointments. They manufacture a large variety of

clocks, and at present are making a specialty of fine

regulators, set in elaborately and richly-carved cases.

The clocks produced by this company are unexcelled

for beauty of design, style of finish, quality of ma-

terial and workmanship, and real merit as time-

keepers. The salesrooms of the company arc located

at New York City, Chicago, 111., and Gla.sgow, Scot-

land, and are under the management of Mr. tJeorgc

B. Owen, who has been connected with (and in-

terested in) this business since 1866. Mr. I. B.

AVoodruff, the secretary and trea.surer, has been con-

nected with and closely identified in the management
of the business since 1851, a period of thirty years,

during which tlie factories h.ive never been closed

except for purposes of inventory and repairs.

Car<U.—-Vt the beginning of the war of 1812, two

establishments for making hand- and machine-cards

were started, one by Coe, Miller & Co., in the Shcpnrd

& Miller tannery, and the other by the Iloadley

Brothers, in their grist-mill. Both companies used

one set of machines for cutting and bending the teeth,

and another set for pricking the leather, and tlic teeth

were inserted in the leather by children at their homes.

Other machines shaped and turned the handles, on

which the hand card-leathers were fastened by tacks.

Two causes put an end to this branch of manufacture,

—one, the return of peace in 1815 and the influx of

cheaper cards from England, and the other, the inven-

tion by Mr. Levi Lincoln of a combined machine,

which in one operation pricked the leather, cut and

bent the teeth, and stuck them through the pricked

leather.

Wagons and Carriages.—There were, doubtless,

wheelwrights and wagon-makers in Old Winchester

at an early day, but the compiler has no knowledge

of them. Randall Covey had a wagon-maker's shop

at the Centre from 1817 to 1821.

Joseph Mitchell was probably the first wheelwright

in Winsted. His house and shop, now torn down,

were directly opposite the residence of Sheldon Kin-

ney, on Main Street. He made cart-wheels and bodies

from the beginning of the century, or earlier, to about

1830.

Selden Mitchell, son of Joseph, above, made light

wagons in the basement in rear of the Kinney house

above mentioned from 1809 to about 1820.

In 1813, Shubael Crow and Ebenezer R. Hale
erected a carriage-maker's shop on the site of John T.

Rockwell's tannery, in whicli wagons and chaises were

made until after 1830 by Crowe & Hale, Crow & Ban-

die, Henderson & Ball, and others,—the premises hav-

ing been used from 1823 to 1826 for numufacturing

pails, tubs, and keelers by Hinsdale and Dimock.

Wagon-making wiis subsequently carried pn in

Winsted by James Hermance from 183S to his death,

in 1840, and by (J. W. Giuston from 1849 onward to

1872.

In 1851, Walter & Son erected a large carriage-shop

on the corner of Elm and Centre Streets, which lia.s

since been managed successively by Erwin JI. Walter,

Uriah S. Walter, W. H. Stickney, and Eranklin Lin-

coln, and is now owned and managed by Joseph F.

Lincoln.

In 18.56 the Winsted (joint stock) Carriage Com-
pany wiLs organized, and carried on a large business

in Southern wagons and buggies until the opening of

the war of the Rebellion, occui)ying the old Soper

woolen-factory. In 18(!6 the company was reorgan-

ized with a reduced capital, and Marcus Bird, Walter

Stickney, Wni. S. Holabird, and others as stockhold-

ers, and was wound up in 1867.

The (filliiuin Carriage Company was organized

with a capital of twenty-five thousand dollars in 18G7,

and purchased the factory jiroperty of the Winsted

Carriage Company; and soon after, on the burning

down of the factory building, erected a spacious es-

tablishment on the same site with facilities for a large

business. This establishment was burned down in

1870, and the operations of the company were tliereby

suspended.

Another carriage establishment was erected on

Case Avenue in 1870 by Walter Stickney, Bcunet
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Palmer, and Wilbur W. Green, with capacity for a

large amount of work. It is now conducted by Wil-

bur W. Green.

An oil-mill was erected by Bissell Hinsdale, on Mad
River, a little west of the Clifton Mill works, about

1816, which was worked only a few years, and was

removed before 1830.

Tlie spring steel hay and manure forks were intro-

duced as a substitute for the coarse and clumsy articles

previously in use soon after the war of 1812. They

were made here in numerous small shops by handi-

craftsmen, no machinery save the sledge and hand-

hammer, propelled by muscular arms, being used.

Large quantities were made, not only for supplying

the country stores, but for the New York and Phila-

delphia markets. The three Browns,—Orrin, Harris,

and Isaac,—Oliver White, Julius Weaver, and others

were engaged in this business. Establishments grew

up in other places in which the tilt-hammer came into

use for drawing out the tines, which made the hand-

labor operation uuremunerative, and the business was,

in a great measure, abandoned here about 1850.

Foundries.—The casting of iron clock bells was be-

gun in Winsted by the Hoadley Brothers, about 1810, l

as a secret process, in a detached building, from which

outsiders were rigidly excluded. The skilled founder

of the establishment ran away after some two years'

service. In 1812, Nathan Champion commenced the

same business in the Jenkins scythe-shop, that stood

ou the Strong Manufacturing Company's premises,

and afterwards built a shop near the Winsted Manu-
facturing Company's works, in which he made other

small castings.

In 1834, Nathaniel B. Gaylord erected a foundry on

the site of the Strong Manufacturing Company's

works for casting stoves, plows, gears, and general

custom-work, which he operated until 1846, after

which it was carried on a short time by Calvin But-

ler, of Canaan, and was then abandoned.

In 1847, Taylor & Whiting erected a foundry in

connection with their machine-shop, now owned and

operated by the Winsted Foundry and Machine

Company, which is now the only eitablishment in

the borough.

In 1853, John Boyd erected another foundry for

large castings in connection with his machine-shop,

adjoining Lake Street bridge, on Mad River, which

was discontinued in 1854.

Mac/iine-s/iops.—In 1831, George Taylor erected the

original building of the present Foundry and Ma-
chine Company's establishment on Main Street, for

making woolen machinery as a si^ecialty, and doing

general job-work in that line. Two years later he

associated with Ambrose Whiting as a partner, in the

name of Taylor & Whiting. They did a large busi-

ness in carding-machines and spinning-jacks for

some twenty years. After the retirement of Mr.

Whiting, in 1857, the concern was organized as a

joint-stock company, with the name of The Winsted

Foundry and Machine Company, by which the busi-

ness is still carried on.

In 1823, James Boyd and James M. Boyd began
making saw-mill cranks, mill spindles, and various

other branches of heavy forging in a shop then built

on the west side of Mad River, in rear of the Beards-

ley house. To this business James Boyd & Son added,

in 1830, the making of finished coach-axles and mill-

screws. In 1851, after the death of Mr. James Boyd,

the junior partner erected the present macliine-shop

on the site of the old shop, for the purpose of enlarg-

ing the mill-iron and axle business of the old firm,

and in 1853 built the foundry last referred to as an

appendage to the establishment. The works were

purchased by the Clifton Mill Company in 1857, and
were a few years after employed in the manufacture

of monkey-wrenches. Wing Person's feed-mill now
occupies the site.

Reuben Cook, deceased, the head of the firm of R.

Cook & Sons, began making iron in 1811, on the site

now occupied by the axle-factory, and had for a time

associated with him the late Russell Bunce and

Charles Seymour, of Hartford. The iron used was

made from the red or hematite ore from the mines at

Salisbury, Conn., which mines were worked during

the war of the Revolution. The pig iron was hauled

across the county thirty miles to Winsted, where it

was made into refined iron, which was carried thirty

miles farther to Springfield, Mass., where it was made
into guns. About one-third of the entire product,

not being quite flue enough for gun-barrels, was made
into tires, crowbars, sleigh-shoes, plow-molds, and

mill-cranks.

In 1825, over half a century ago, Mr. Cook began

making axle-drafts. At that time the arms were

forged eight-sided by a trip-hammer with a straight

die, and were made round as nearly as possible by the

blacksmith who bought them. He continued making

drafts in this manner until 1832, when he began to

swage the arms of the axle round under the hammer,

and was the first to adopt that improved method. In

the same year he built a shop in addition to the forge

already in use, and made mill-irons, cranks, etc. The
business increased moderately, and improvements

were continually made, and in 1839 the present firm

was organized and the axles were entirely finished on

the premises. This makes the firm the oldest in the

country that is still doing business without change of

name. The works have been trfice destroyed by fire,

once in 1852, and again in 1871, but were immediately

rebuilt.

The firm of R. Cook & Sons has always endeavored

to keep up with the times as its founder had done from

1811, when but a very young man he started in busi-

ness against very sharp competition from other parties

in the same town, who have long since gone out of

business life, and some of whom arc deacesed.

Charles Cook was the inventor of the case-hardened

wrought iron pipe-box, the first ever made, and it is
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now used with great success for extra fine carriage

axles.

Carpenters' Tools.—About 1828, Samuel Boyd en-

gaged in the manufacture of steel hoes and shovels,

and erected the original buildings of the Clifton Mill

Company works on the south side of Mad River. He
also manufactured in these buildings nail-hammere,

socket-chisels, aud draw-shaves until 1833, when the

business was discontinued.

The Wiiisfed Hoe Company.—In 1852, John Boyd,

Louis E. Boyd, and Daniel B. Wheelock began to

manufacture planters' hoes for the Southern market

in the brick scythe-works at the corner of Lake

and Meadow Streets. It was a new business and

encountered serious difficulties, one of them being

the anti-slavery proclivities of the first and third

partners, of which the Southern customers were duly

notified by competing manufacturers. The obnox-

ious partners withdrew from the concern, and it

became a decided success under the name of " The
American Hoe Company." The hoes became the

leading article in the market. They were sent to

England and duplicated as to the style and finish by

English manul'acturers, but their work jjroved inferior

in working quality.

The establishment was enlarged by the erection of

grinding and polishing works on two other water-

powers, and in 1855 employed more hands than any

other concern in the borough. The business waa pro-

secuted with much energy and fair success until the

breaking out of the Southern Rebellion in 1S()1. Tlie

war closed the market, and so closed tlie shops. They
remained closed until peace returned in 18G5, when
Mr. T. M. Clarke—who for twelve years previously

and from its commencement, with one short interrup-

tion, had edited and published the Winstcd Herald

—organized the Winsted Hoe Company, and as its

president and principal manager revived the business.

Under Mr. Clarke's management tlie business lias

been largely increased by the addition of new
branches,—more especially the manufacture of edge-

tools,—and in the extent of its business and in finan-

cial strength the Winsted Hoe Company now ranks

among tlie first in Litclifield County.

Thr T. C. liichardK li: Co. Iliirdware Manufacturing

Comjxini/ is also located in West Winsted. This is

one of the representative institutions of the town, and
is under the efficient management of Mr. T. C. Rich-

ards.

Bolts and Nuts.—The Clifton Mill Company, soon

after the purchase of Samuel Boyd's works on the

south side of Mad River, engaged in the inaiiufucture

of nuts and washers, and about 1855 added carriage-

bolts and nuts to its otiier manufactured articles, add-

ing for that purpose the three-story btiilding on their

premises, and also the Boyd maciiinc-shop at tiie foot

of Lake Street. On the i)urcliase of their works by
the Winsted Hoe Company, the nut and bolt manu-
facture was discontinued.

14

Another carriage-bolt manufacture was started on

the premises of B. Cook & Sons by Franklin Moore

and Edward Clarke about 1867, which is still in

active and successful operation, under the ownership

and management of Alfred E. Moore, son of Franklin

Moore, deceased.

Table Cutlery.—\n 1852 the " Eagle" works, a joint-

stock company with a capital of twenty-five thousand

dollars, was organized and put in operation under the

supervision of Albert Bradshaw, an English cutler,

in a brick factory building on the lake stream, adjoin-

ing the Connecticut Western depot grounds. The
business not proving successful, operations were sus-

pended about 1854, and in 185G the establishment was

purchased by Rice, Lathrop & Clary, under whose

ownership the brick factory building was burned

down, and a smaller wooden building was erected on

its site; and soon afterwards the auger-factory build-

ing on Mad River, near the corner of Main and Coe
Streets, was purchased. This building was burned

down and rebuilt about 18tj6. Mr. Clary died in

1861, and Mr. Rice retired from the concern in 1862.

George F. Barton came in as a partner with Mr.

Lathrop in 1864, and retired from the partnership in

1872, leaving Mr. Lathrop the sole owner.

Pocket Cutlery.—In 1853, Thompson & Gascoigne

(Englishmen) carried on a small pocket-cutlery busi-

ness in the factory of the Eagle Company, which was

soon after taken up by Beardsley & Alvord, and grad-

ually enlarged and made profitable. In 1S5G they

built their cullery-works at the lake outlet, and have

since transacted a large and prosperous business in

the name of " The Empire Kiiil'e Com|)any." In

1880 the concern was moved to the present site, for-

merly occupied by the table-cutlery establishment of

William P. Lathrop.

In 1854, C. F. Clark, an Englishman, started a

pocket-cutlery concern in the attic of the Cook axle-

factory, which was taken up by Horace I'lielps, and
after a trial of one or two years was abandoned.

Auyert.—The Winstcd (joint stock) Auger Com-
pany was organized in 1853, with a capital stock of

ten thousand dollars, and immediately after erected

the factory on Mail River, near the corner of Coe and
Main Streets, at a cost beyond their cajiital. It was
managed inefficiently by men unac(|uaintcd with the

busincMS, and was wound up before 1860.

Piiu.*—In 1852, Erastus S. Woodford, J. B. Terry,

and others organized "The Hartford Pin Company"
(joint stock), and purchased of Anson G. Phelps the

woolen-factory building on IJridge Street, opposite the

Naugutuck Railroaddepot grounds, and began making
pins the same year. The company at once cnnie into

conflict with the Howe Pin Comjiany, of Biriningliam,

in respect to a i>atented sticking-machine for sticking

the piiia on paper, which impeded operations until

• Fur lilKtorjr of K«w EogloDil IMu CompaD]-, m« blognplijr uf Juliii

a. Welmure, Ek|.
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the question of infringement was settled by litigation

in the United States Circuit Court. In 1857 the fac-

tory property and machinery of the company became

the property of James R. Keeler, who conveyed the

same to " The New England Pin Company," organ-

ized in May of the same year, and composed of said

Keeler, Hector Armstrong, C. O. Crosby, and John

G. Wetmore, stockholders, and with a capital of one

hundred thousand dollars.

The Wyoming rin Company was organized in March,

1880, with Mr. T. S. Carroll president and secretary.

The manufacture of pins was commenced in Sep-

tember, 1880. The establishment was burned in Jan-

uary, 1881, and started again in March following.

The factory emijloys twenty-two persons, and has a

capacity of one million and eighty thousand pins

daily. Mr. Carroll is also the manufacturer of a

champagne tap, upon which he has a patent now
pending.

Steel Firc-Irons.—Benjamin and Edward Woodall

(Englishmen) began making, of highly polished steel,

shovels and tongs and other fire-irons, about 1850
;

and in 1854 organized the " Winsted Shovel and

Tongs Company," under the agency of Justus R.

Loomis ; they bought the Halsey Burr scythe-shop

and water-power, and erected the factory building

now used as a feed-grinding mill by Frederick Wood-
ruff, on North Main Street. The concern lacked

capital, energy, and business skill, and was closed up

about 1857.

TIte Winsted Plane Company, organized in 1851,

entered on the manufacture of joiners' tools in the

old Soper woolen-factory building, and continued

until about 185(5, when it became insolvent and was

wound up.

The Clifton Lumber Company was organized in 1854,

and erected the building near the Naugatuck depot,

now occupied by the Winsted Printing Company, for

planing lumber and manufacturing doors, sashes, and

blinds by steam-power. The concern was wound up

in 1857.

Another company or partnership, consisting of

Ralph H. Moore, Franklin Moore, and others, in

1872 erected a factory on Case Avenue for making

plated spoons and other plated articles. This estab-

lishment was destroyed by fire in 1873.

The Borden Condensed Milk Company, consisting of

Gail Borden, Theron Bronson, and Elhanan W. Tyler,

was organized in 1863, and purchased the factory

building near the Naugatuck depot, now occupied by

the Winsted Printing Company, in which they con-

densed milk until 1866, when, not finding the loca-

tion favorable for the business, the concern was

wound up.

The Henry Spring Company, located at West Win-
sted, was organized at New Haven in 1869, and its

location was transferred to Winsted in April, 1870,

and the grinding-shop on Lake Street, erected by the

American Hoe Company, was purchased by the Spring

Company, and its machinery placed therein. The
spring made by them is a patented article, combining

equal strength and elasticity with springs of other

manufacture of a third more weight, and are in con-

stantly-increasing demand for light buggies and car-

riages.

The Winsted Paper Box Manufactory, R. L. Preston

proprietor, is the only institution of the kind in town,

and greatly merits its present success. The manufac-

ture of tin-, brass-, and copper-ware is also carried on

extra.

The Winsted Gas Company was organized Oct. 15,

1860, with a capital stock of twenty thousand dollars,

nearly half paid in, and directors were appointed as

follows : George Dudley, Erastus S. Woodford' Moses

Camp, Elliot Beardsley, Caleb J. Camp, Jabez Al-

vord, John Hinsdale, James R. Alvord, and Henry
Gay.

The directors chose the following officers: Moses

Camp, president ; Erastus S. Woodford, secretary ; and

Henry Gay, treasurer.

A small gas-works was erected in 1861 on Prospect

Street, and continued with varied success until April,

1874, when the company was reorganized with a

capital of sixty thousand dollars, the old works

abandoned on Prospect Street, and new fire-proof

brick works erected on Case Avenue, and main iron

pipes relaid, much larger than before ; also extended

to the East village (so called), and through North Main
Street to Cook's.

The directors elected at the reorganization in 1874

were Henry Gay, George Dudley, Caleb J. Camp,
Edward R. Beardsley, Edward Clarke, J. M. Loweree,

Harvey L. Roberts, Henry G. Colt, George W.
Phelps.

At a directors' meeting, held April 24, 1874, Henry
G. Colt was elected president, and Sidney F. Dicker-

man secretary and treasurer. The same efficient offi-

cers have continuously had charge of the works since

its reorganization; but time's changes have necessi-

tated changes in the board of directors, which in May,

1881, are as follows: Henry G. Colt, H. H. Tibbals,

Edward R. Beardsley, Sidney F. Dickerman, Henry

Gay, Rufus E. Holmes, T. F. Rowland, Harvey L.

Roberts, and Edward Clarke.

CHAPTER XVIIL
WINCHESTEK (Continued).

ECCLESIASTICAL IIISTORV.

First Congregatiuual Cburcb, Winchester—First Congregational Cliurcb,

Winsted—Secoiitl Congregational Clunxli—Methodist Kpiscopal Cliurch

^St. James' Church—St. Joseph's Church—The Women's Christian

Temperance Union.

CONGREGATIONAL CHURCH, WINCHESTER CENTRE.

The " Society of Winchester," which was practi-

cally the Congregational Church, was incorporated in

1768. Under the act of incorporation a society meet-
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ing was held June 29, 1768, and the following votes

passed

:

"Voatedy That John Smith should be Moderator for sd. Meeting.

" That Seth Hills should be Clark for sd. Sosiety.

" That all free agents be lawful voaters.

" That Thomas Hosmer should be fust Commety man for sd,

Sosiety.

" William Filey aecnd Commety man for said Sosiety.

" Seth Hills be third Commety man for sd. Sosietay.

" That the Sosiety will except 74 pounds of the tax yearly.''

Sept. 20, 1768, at an adjourned meeting, it was

"Voated, That the meeting on the Saboth should be continued att John
Hills til December next."

" That the Sisiety will aply to the Association fur advice."

Oct. 13, 1768,

"Voated^ Thaty* Society wil wait til weeli after next for Mr. Slills."

"Toaleil^ Tliat tfie Comity sliall try for Mr. Pitkin proid Mr. Slills don't

com."

At the annual meeting, first Tuesday of December,

1768, Thomas Hosmer, Seth Hills, and John Hills

were chosen society committee ; Seth Hills, clerk

;

and Thomas Hosmer, treasurer ; and the committee

were instructed to apply to Samuel John Mills to

supply them.

At the annual meeting, Dec. 28, 1769, the privilege

of voting extended to "all free agents by vote of a

former meeting, wa.s confined to all the inhabitants

that are of age ;" and after choice of committee, clerk,

and treasurer, the following additional appointments

were made: "John Hills, corester; Abram Filley,

corester; David AiLstin, to read the Psalm; Beriah

Hills, to assist to read the Psalm."

And it was voted

"That our anuel meeting aliall be warnld liy the Comniity by setting

up a paper on a post by the Meetittg-Hottxe at least ci^lit ilaya before y«

meeting, telling the place and time of day."

At the annual meeting, Dec. 11, 1770, after appoint-

ment of ofl[icers, the sweeping of the niecting-houso

was set up to the lowest bidder, and bid off by Jesse

Wilkinson at five shillings and si.xpcnce for the year.

The expenses of the year were rei)orted to be sixty

pounds four shillings and threepence, and of the years

1768 and 1760, sixty-nine pounds ciglit shillings an<l

ninepence, and the meeting adjourned to the first

Monday of March, 1771, at which adjourned meeting
it was

"I'oletf, That wo will send a pctillon to the .\wembly ne.tt May for

tound privileges."

"]\'le:l, TlMit Wf will send a Petition to the auembly next May for >
Tax for the Settlement of a Minister and bnllditig a flieetlng.llodic."

"Vottil, That Deriah IlilU and Warham GIbba shall assist In reading

the Psalm."

"r.(«i/, That John IIIlls and Abram Fllloy shall sett tlio Psalm."

The first mention of a meeting-house in the infant

society is made in a vote in 176!), already quoted. No
record is found referring in any way to the building of

this sanctuary ; nor is any traditionary account of its

erection, or by whom it was erected, discoverable.

No tax was laid to pay for it, and no building com-
mitte was appointed to superintend it.

On the 20th of September, 1768, it was voted that the

Sabbath meeting should be held until the next Decem-
ber at John Hills' house, which stood near the Hurl-

but Cemetery ; then follows, in December, 1769, the

vote requiring notices of society meetings to be placed

on a post by the meeting-house. These votes would
indicate 1768 as the year of its erection. It stood on

the slope of a hill, on the west side of a road long

since discontinued, coming up from the Luther Bron-

son house, and passing immediately in front of the

houses of Marcus Munsill and Noble J. Everitt, to

Winchester Centre. It was a low, steep-roofed build-

ing, thirty feet long and twenty-four feet wide, with

nine-feet posts, covered with wide rabbeted boards

one inch thick. It stood on a side hill above the road,

the rear resting on the ground, and the front supported

by sections of chestnut logs, three to four feet in diam-

eter, lying diagonally under the corners. A huge chest-

nut butt, set up perpendieularl)- at the front door, with

a series of steps cut crosswise of the timber, gave ac-

cess to the ground-floor. Opposite the door was the

pulpit or rostrum, three to four feet high. The seats

were rough planks or slabs with legs at the ends in-

serted in auger-holes. Originally there was no fioor

overhead, but as more room was required to accommo-
date the worshijjers, joists were inserted in the cross-

beams, and boards laiil down loosely ibr a floor, except

on a space of nine feet square over the rostrum. This

was the gallery. Access was gained to it by a plank

ladder outside, at one of the emls of the l)uildiiig, as-

cending to a door in the gable. The interior was

neither ceiled nor plastered.

"SABA-D.\Y HOUSE."

"Near this church edifice there appears to liavc

I

been another religious buililing peculiar to New Eng-

land in the last ami early in the present century,

called a Sabbath-day liouse, or, as spelled in the

one of the two instances in which it occurs in our re-

cords, a ' Saba-day house.' It is first mentioned in a

vote of temporary adj<iurnment of a society meeting

in December, 17til, probably by reason of the extreme

cold in the inecting-liouse. The second mention of it

is in the survey of llic road Ibrnially laid out and estab-

lished in 1772, along the line of the bridle-path which

had previously been the only means of access to the

meeting-house, in which two |irominent landmarks are

[

' a birch-tree near a saw-mill, then N. 13 E. to a Sab-

bath-day house.' Such buildings were erected by indi.

viduals living distant from places of worship for the ac-

commodation of tlicir families beforeand during thein-

I tervaU of worship in the inclement weather of winter.

They were generally long, low buildings of two apart-

ments, with a fireplace in each attachcil to one chim-

ney. \ su[>ply of fuel was provided in the fall. Some
member of the family or families owning those apart-

ments went forward early on the Sunday morning

and made up the fires, ami the rest of the parties

followed in such suusoii as to thoroughly warm them-
' selves before going into meeting. .Vt the intermission
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they returned to their rooms, warmed themselves,

and such homely fare as they had brought with

them, ate their dinners, discussed the morning ser-

mon, and returned to the afternoon exercise, at the

close of which they again warmed themselves at the

fires, and returned to their distant homes."

The church proper—as an ecclesiastical body—was

organized by Rev. Mr. Roberts, of Torrington, and

Rev. Ammi R. Robbins, of Norfolk, Oct. 30, 1771,

with the following members : Widow Mary Loomis,

AVidow Hannah Averit, Dinah, wife of Wm. Filley,

John Hills. Seth Hills, Adam Jlott, Abiah Mott, Lent

Mott, Abraham Filley, Robert Macune, Joseph Pres-

ton, Mary Preston, Amy, wife of Joel Beach, and

Elizabeth Agard.

" Aflcr y^ Cliurch was gHtlicred y fullowiiig jicrsons were admitted

members in full Cum", with the Clnircb, viz.: David Austin, Mary

Austin, Ulary Williinson, Wary Gotfe, Mercy Filley.

" The Church then proeeeded to and made choice of Robert Macune
to be the Moderator or C'leik of Ibis churcli.

"Attest,

" Nath'. Koherts, Pastor of y" Ch., Torriugton,

"A. R. RoBiiixs, Pastor of Ch., Norfolk.''

The following members were added to the church

prior to the ordination of its first ])astor, in 1772:

Nov. 3, 1771, Warham Gibbs and Eunice, his wife,

by profession. Jan. 19, 1772, Ebenezer Preston, by

letter from the church at Torrington ; Martha Pres-

ton (his wife), by letter from the church at Harwin-

ton ; Eliphaz Alvord, by letter from the church at

Chatham; Esther Alvord (his wife), by letter from

the church at Chatham. Feb. 10, 1772, Capt. Jon.

Alvord, by letter from the church at Chatham
; David

Golf, by profession. July 26, 1772, Samuel Wetmore
and Anna, his wife, by letter from Middlefield

;

Simeon Loomis, by profession.

The records of the society show that endeavors

were made, both before and after the gathering of the

church, to secure a permanent minister. Mr. Peter

Starr, afterwards the lifelong minister of Wiirren,

was invited to preach, on probation, in July, 1771. A
Mr. Hale was employed four " Saboths"

; a Mr. Potter

was invited, on probation, in September, 1771, and in

case he did not come, a call, on probation, was voted to

Mr. Judson ; and it was also voted to have Dr. Bel-

lamy, of Bethlem, and Rev. Mr. Robbins, of Norfolk,

act for them in hiring a candidate "that they think

will sute the society." Sept. 30, 1771, it was left

" with the comity to hire a candidate as they shall

think best; but not to hire one that is determined not

to settle." Oct. 31, 1771, the committee was directed

to "apply to Mr. Jonson to supply us six Saboths."

Feb. 13, 1772, it was voted " that the society will give

Mr. Sam" Jonson amedeat call for a settlement."

February 17th following, the committee were directed

to apply to Mr. Brooks to supply for three Sabbaths

;

and on the 31st of March following, an application

was \oted to Jlr. Na])p to sujsply for six Sabbaths,

and the committee was directed to go or send after

him. July 10th following, "Mr. Napp" was applied

to to preach twelve Sabbaths on probation.

Sept. 23, 1772, it was voted " that the society will

give Mr. Joshua Napp a call for a settlement in the

ministry amongst us;" and a settlement was proposed

of two hundred pounds, payable in installments, and a

salary beginning at thirty-five pounds, and increasing

five pounds annually until it should reach sixty-five

pounds, which was modified so that it should increase

in proportion to the increase of the grand levy until

it should reach sixty-five pounds. He was ordained

Nov. 11, 1772.

The ministers have been as follows: Joshua Kuapp,
1772-89; Publius V. Bogue, 1791-1800; Archibald

Bassett, 1801-6; Frederick Marsh, 1809-51; James
H. Dill, 1840-51; J. W. Cunningham, 1852-54; Ira

Pettibone, 1857-66 ; Arthur Goodcnough, present

pastor.
FIRST CONGREGATIONAL CHURCH.

In tracing the settlement of the Winsted section of

the town, we have thus far made no mention of the

Ecclesiastical Society of Winsted as an organized

body. Its religious services up to this period were

mainly held beyond the eastern border of the town.

Its first meeting-house was there erected, and the first

minister there ordained and settled. Its original

members were residents along the old North country

road and its vicinity, and a larger portion of them in

AVestchester and a considerable number in Barkham-

sted.

To modern Winsted, its origin and growth, its

struggles and dissensions prior to 1801, would seem a

myth, did not its quaint old records avouch the reality

of its history. These records begin with a society meet-

ing lawfully warned and held March 17, 1778, at the

dwelling-house of John Balcom,by a warrant granted

by Matthew Gillett, justice of the peace, dated seven

days earlier. Of this meeting John Wright was chosen

moderator and Eleazer Kellogg clerk ; Isaac Kellogg,

Josiah Smith, and John Balcom were appointed com-

mittee-men ; and it was voted that the annual meet-

ings of the society should be holden on the second

Monday of December annually, and that warnings

therefor should be set up at Austin's mill, Abram
Callers' shop, and at the crotch of the road that goes

from John AVright's to Lemuel Walter's, twelve days

before such meeting. Another meeting, held Septem-

ber 15th of the same year, voted that the money paid

to Mr. Porter and to Mr. Ausbon for preaching, and

also the money due Mr. Balcom for boarding Mr.

Ausbon, should be paid out of a tax when collected.

At the annual meeting of this year it was voted " that

a meeting be warned to see if this society are a mind

to be made a distinct town." The same subject was

brought up at various subsequent meetings, but no

definite action appears to have resulted.

At the annual meeting in 1780 the matter of locat-

ing and building a meeting-house seems to have been

first agitated, and it was voted "that we will git the
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original pliius of Winchester and Barkhamsted, and

apply to Corual Shelding to find the middle of this

society, and if he cant by them give us the senter,

then to measure the bounds of this society, the said

Shelding to measure, and that this society will pay

the cost to Comal Shelding for doing the business for

said society, and that Lieut. John Wright to see the

bisness done." The subject was resumed May 24,

1782, when it was voted " that we do try to agree to

pitch a stake for a meeting-house," and " that we
apply to the next county court for a committee to

pitch a stake for our meeting-house," and " that we
nominate Esq. Asaph Hall, of Goshen, Maj. Jiles

Pettibone, of Norfolk, and Esq. Ensign, of Hartland."

In December, 1792, Col. Sheldon was substituted for

Esq. Ensign on this committee, and at a meeting,

Aug. 25, 1783, it was voted " to establish the stake for

our meeting-house where it now stands pitched by

Col. Shelding, Maj. Pettibone, and Esq. Hall, and

that Ensign Jesse Doolittle shall go and make re-

turns to the honorable county court of our voting the

establishment of our meeting-house stake."

This looked like an auspicious beginning of the

constructive work of the society, but the appearance

was deceptive. A meeting was called, Dec. 22, 1783,

" to see if the .society will go on to bild our meeting-

house where the stake now stands," and the question

was decided in the negative. On the 2d of February,

1784, it was voted " that we chuse a comitte to go and

view the society and se if we can't pitch a stake for

ourselves ;" and December, 1784, it was voted " to go on

and build a meting-house at tlic stake pitclied liy the

committee," the house to be forty-five by thirty-five

feet and a suitable height for galleries ; and a tax of

sixpence on the pound was laid for defraying ex-

penses. This again looked hopeful ; but at a meet-

ing in January, 1785, the liopcful project was knocked

in the hea<l by a vote " that all tlie bisness voated" in

the previous meeting " be holy set aside consarniug

bilding a meeting-house in this society."

On the 9th of May, 1786, another committee, con-

sisting of Ca))t. Jo.siah Smith, Nathaniel Russell, En-
sign Jesse Doolittle, Otliniel Hrainart, Capt. Robert

Wliitford, and Sergt. Reuben Sweet, pitclied a stake

at tlie west end of Jonathan Sweet's lot, where it wa.s

voted by more than two-thirds to build the liouse. In

June following it was decided to build a liouse fifty

by forty feet, with height in proportion, and that nn

agent be sent to the county court to got tlie -stake

established. Again the project was nullified by u

vote of Sept. 4, 1786, " that we will not send an agent

to the county court."

Another stake-pitching committee was appointed

Sept. 25, 1786, whicli seems to have performed its

duty. In October following it was voted " that this

meeting 1)0 adjourned to tlie place where tlie conimil-

tee liave prefixed for to build a meeting-house;" and
it was there " voted, by more than twn-thirds, that we
will bild a meeting-house where the conimittc have

pitched the stake." Although this vote of more than

two-thirds was solemnly taken on the very ground

prefixed by the committee, yet subsequent records

show that the stake would not yet stay pitched. But,

before tracing these measures to a final result, it is

fitting to advert to other occurrences in the history of

the society.

Up to 1786 preaching was had at irregular inter-

vals, and no money raised by taxation for its support.

Individuals seem to have advanced money, and to

have found difficulty in getting it refunded. The so-

ciety, in 17S0, voted " to make up the sink of money

due individuals for advancements, according to Con-

gress scale." In 1782, May 14th, it was voted to hire

preaching, and " that the committe do advise where

to apply for a candidate," and that Lieut. Josiah Smith

be appointed to read the Psalm on Sabbath-days,

and that E. Kellogg read the Psalms when Lieut.

Smith is absent.

In 1783 it was voted to have preaching in the sum-

mer, and in the fall a tax of seven pounds was voted

"to be applied for the youse of supporting singing."

A committee was also chosen " to regulate the sing-

ing in this society on the Sabbath-day, and to intro-

duce such tunes as they shall think proper to be sung

on Sabbath-days;" and it was also voted that preach-

ing should continue during the winter.

It might be inferred that, with preaching summer
and winter, and the support and regulation of singing

under the supervision of three choristers, and a com-

mittee to introduce tunes proper to be sung on the

Sabbath, harmony and concert of action might have

been promoted ; but stakes could not be pitched and

voted on so often without moral friction. Heart-

burning and dissensions prevailed to such a degree

that in October, 1785, a mutual council, consisting of

Rev. Messrs. Taylor, of New Milford; Caufield, of

Roxbury ; Huntington, of Middlebury ; Belden, i>f

Newington ; and Smalley, of New Britain, was called

to advise witli the church and society in regard to the

subsisting difficulties. The records fail to show the

result, if any w:ls reached. Harmony, in any event,

was not restored. Jfi-etings were frequent, and contra-

ilictory in action. Votes passeil at one stage of a

meeting were not infrequently voted down before ad-

journment, and the doings of one meeting were undone

by another. The meetings were often protracted into

the night, and unfair advantages taken in carrying

measures at a late hour that could not be accomplished

in a full meeting. To correct some of these irregu-

larities a st^mding rule w:is adopted about this time,

" that no vote should be put after sunset for the futer,

except the business so drive them that they find it

necessjiry, and passeil a vote to continue the same

before sunset." Another vole required " that all ac-

counts against the society shall be lirought to the an-

nual meeting yearly, or shall be forfeit for the futer,

except it bo made to appear that it could not be done."

The following votes illustrate the way of doing busi-
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ness in committee of the whole, iiiider the new rule,

and show au example of thoroughness worthy of all

imitation

:

"Foferf, Elksina Pht-lps fl lis. 4^^ for boanling Mi'. Fowler eleven sab-

bathe.

^'Voted, Eleanor Kellogg, £9 Cs. Od. fur the youse of his house.

"Vi'tCil, Euoch Palmer fur buariling luiuistere aud house room for hold-

ing meetings sabbath-days, £1 9s,

**Votn1, Elislia Mallury for boarding Mr. Beach 1 week, 4 days, 12s.

"Vt'ted, Capt. Josiah Smith, for boarding Mr. Hitchcock and other

ministers 3V^ weeks and keeping tlieir horses, £1 Cs. 3d.

'*yoted, Ensign Doulittle for going to Torringford to get Mr. Edmund
Mills to preach hear, .Is.

"T'o(ef?. Samuel Hayden for holding meetings in his house for 28 Sab-

batlis, £2 28.

^^Vt'tt^d, Timt those that board ministers in the summer season, and

keep their horses, for the future be allowed Ts. Gd. a week."

The pitching of stakes for a meeting-house having

been played out in 1786, it was thought best to defer

the building of a meeting-house and to settle a min-
ister

; and accordingly, at the annual meeting of the

year, it was " voted, by more than two-thirds, that we
give Mr. Parsons a call in order to a settlement." It

was also voted to give him a salary of forty pounds a

year, and the use of two hundred pounds as a settle-

ment. A committee was also appointed to purchase

a place or settlement for the use of the minister of

the value of about two hundred pounds, to be holden

as the property of the society.

The church having united with the society in a call

to Eev. Stephen P.irsous to settle with them in the

gospel ministry, his reply was laid before the society

on the 12th of March, 1787 ; whereupon it was voted

to settle Mr. Parsons agreeable to his " Kitten Answer,"

which is as follows, viz.

:

"March y nth, 1787.

" To the Church and Society of IVhisled, iiishimj ijroce, mercii, and penee to

Ite multiplied unto you.

•' Having taken into consideration the call you gave me to settle with

yi>u in tlie work of tlie Gospel ministry, as it appears to me a matter of

great importance that I am lead liy the Spirit of God in the right way
to promote the genera! cause of God in the world, I thouglit it my duty

to give you some idea of my present profession and principles respecting

Chnstian fellowship and connection witli churches.

"As to my profession, it is what is called in this State a strict Congre-

gationalist, and my connections are with the ministers and churches of

that denoniiitntion, which appears to me the nearest to the rule given in

God's Word of any within the compass of my acquaintance, on which

account I can by no means renounce my connection witli them. Yet I

could heartily wish the wall of partition between the difTerent denomi-

nations was broken down, that all the true friends of Christ were united

in one army, under the glorious captain of our salvation, against the

kingdom of Satan, the prince of darkness. Wherefore, I tliink it my
duty to maintain and cultivate liberal sentiments and hold fellowship

with all those who appear to practice and love the truth ; and if I was to

receive au ordination, I should choose to apply to a number of ministers

of difterent denominations, not e.\ceeding that of my own.
" If the church and society in this place can receive me on these prin-

ciples, and there is a prospect of their being united, so that I may be

useful in this part of the vineyard of Christ, and at the same time pro-

mote the general good of mankiud, it appears to be my duty to comply

with your call. Otherwise, I have no desire to be received by giving up

my principles or renouncing my connections. I close with subscribing

myself yours to serve in the Gospel of our Lord and Saviour, Jesus Christ.

"Stephen Parsons."

Why this acceptance of the call did not result in

the settlement of Mr. Parsons does not appear. It

may have been frustrated by a conflict of views be-

tween the candidate and the consociation in regard to

church order and fellowship. It only appears on
record that the church and society, on the 18th of

April, 1787, voted " to continue the call to Mr. Par-

sons to settle with us in the Gospel ministry."

The parsonage lot, which, a few years after, became
a subject of fatal contention, w.as purchased at this

time, and a tax was laid to provide the first payment
therefor, and a parsonage-house was soon after erected

thereon, and so far finished as to serve as a place of

worship until a meeting-house should be located and

erected. It stood east of Barkhamsted line, at the

intersection of road from the clock-factory with the

old country road, was occupied successively by Rev.

Mr. Woodworth, Moses Haydon, Isaac Brown, and

others, and was torn down many years ago.

The location of a meeting-house site was again at-

tempted this year (1787). A stake was pitched, and

the society voted that they "be agreed to build," etc.;

but no building was built, and no ftirther steps were

taken in that direction until 1791.

The records during this interval show the progress

of events and the nature of the business transacted.

A better knowledge of the law of stake-pitching and
other ecclesiastical matters was provided for by the

purchase of a society law-book and a quire of paper,
" to keep accompts on." The law-book was ordered

to be kept two months at David Anstus', two months

at Nathan Wheeler's, two months at Othniel Brai-

nard's, two months at Sergt. Jonas Weed's, two months

at Enoch Palmer's, and two months at Zebina Smith's

;

and other regulations were adopted for a general dif-

fusion of legal knowledge. An application to the

Assembly was voted for a land tax, " to better enable

us to pay for the parsonage lot, and to build a meet-

ing-house ;" and then a vote was passed " that we
will build a meeting-house if we can be agreed on a

place."

In August, 1791, Rev. Ezra Woodworth prenched

in the society as a candidate, and a sharp negotiation

soon followed with reference to his settlement. No
little dii^Iomatic skill was found requisite to adjust

the terms. Mr. Woodworth wanted an absolute con-

veyance to himself of the parsonage lot as a part of

the bargain. A large portion of the society, on the

other hand, were strenuously opposed to alienating

the property to a minister, whose long stay with them

would be very precarious. The minister carried his

point, and on the 7th of November the society decided

to make the conveyance, in accordance with his de-

mand, and the compact was completed. On the 15th

of December a committee was chosen to proceed with

the ordination, and the 18th of January, 1792, was

assigned for the ill-omened ceremony.

In the mean time, deep trouble in regard to the hard

bargain of Mr. Woodworth with the society was daily

becoming more manifest. Six days before the ordina-

tion a meeting was called, and a committee appointed

" to go and see if Mr. Woodworth will make any alter-
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ations as to his settlement or not," and another com-

mittee was appointed " to appear before the ordaining

council, and oppose the opposition, if any there be,

against his ordination." Four days after, another

meeting was called " to see if the society will make

any alterations as to giving our society farm as a set-

tlement to Mr. Woodworth," and a committee of six

was appointed to converse with him, and agree on

some different plan of settlement.

The interview resulted in the following change of

terms, committed to writing :

" Wltereas, there is a dissatisfaction in some persons' minds in tlie pro-

posals made to Mr. Woodwortii in respect to his settlement, and in order

to form a better union, propose to exchange the terms of the same, aa

follows, Tiz. : to except of the yiise of said farm as a parsonage with the

bouse and barn, said farm to bo appraised by indifferent men when he

receives the same, and also when he resigns the same, and the better-

ments, if any there be, to be allowed to him or his lieirs, and the property

to be kept good, to he as a settlement in the room of receiving the property

of said farm as in the former plan ; the vallevv of said former proposals of

settlement being made equal thereto, to be determined by the judgment

of indifferent men, to be paid in neat cattle in the spring, or fat cattle in

the fall, as agreed on, and the salary to remain as in the former proposals.

" Ezra Woodwoortii,
" Nath. Crowe,

"Elkena Phelps.

" William Moore.
" Dated Wiusted, January 10, 1792."

This agreement removed all hindrance to the ordi-

nation, which took place on the day appointed. Had
the agreement been adhered to in good faith, it is more

than jirobable that harmony would have been restored,

and that the faithful ministrations of a jiastor valuing

the souls of his Hock more than their fleeces would

have strengthened the walls and enlarged the borders

of this feeble Zion.

Mr. Woodworth, now invested with the pastoral

office, had a field for eminent u.sefulness. An invio-

late adherence to the termsofadju.>4tment effected two

days before his ordination was a dictate alike of policy

and duty ; but he and his adherents seem to luive

thought otherwise. A meeting of the society was

called, April 6, 1792, which voted to reconsider the

prior vote of January IGth, by which the tenure of

the society parsonage lot was changed, and that Mr.

Woodworth .sliouhl lie put into possession of the same,

according to the terms first agreed on.

The society, though hitherto divided aa to the loca-

tion of their meeting-house, seems to have acted har-
'

moniously in other matters ; and nearly all were of the

standing order; but this breach of faith on the part

of the minister and his adherents produced irreme-

diable discord. Certificates of withdrawal began to

be handed in by seceding members, most of whom
connected themselves witli the infant Methodist and
Baptist churches in the vicinity. Endeavors were ;

made to recall members already withdrawn, and to i

prevent others from withdrawing, by an oder of tlio

minister to rcliiuiuisli a portion of his salary for tiic
1

five coming years, but without avail. Scccision went
on until many of the best and ablest members of the

church and society had identified themselves with

other denominations.

Notwithstanding this debilitated and distracted

condition of the society, the adhering members re-

sumed the project of locating and building a meeting-

house, as the only means of sustaining their position.

They voted, Sept. 14, 1792, not to build at the stake

established by law, wherever that might have been,

and " to see if the sosiaty will Be willing to Bild a

meeting-house at the senter of the land of the sosiaty,

allowing those things that ought to be considered to

draw from the same its due and proper weight ;" then

followed a vote to build on " a certain nole of land at

the west end of Mr. Woodworth's land, as near the

town line as the ground will admit of;" and then a

committee of nine men was appointed to pitch a stake

and apply to the Assembly to establish the same. The

committee thus appointed reported to an adjourned

meeting, October 2d, as follows:

" lb the TiihabUitiits of the Societi/ of Win^ted, coHveneil at the usual i>Uce

bij UR the id dull of Oiiuher, 1702:

" Whert'ta, we, the subscribers, being appointed a Com. at the last special

meting to fix a St.ake on a Sertiiin Spot of Ground near the town. line,

so-called, on the Rev. Mr. "Woodworth's lot, at Uie most convenient spot

to erect a meating-housefor the inhabitants of said society near the town-

line, in consequence of our appointment, we, on the .above said 2d ilay of

October, repaired to said place, and after taking into the mosto mature

and Deliberate consideration all those matters and circumstances that

out^ht to bo considered according to the best information gained and our

ability, we are of opinion that the Sartain spot of ground is situated

near the heighth of saitl nole upon said lot, or near the &>uth end to Beach

Stake and Stones cast up, tJi bo the most convenient and comiuodious

place for the same, and have fix the above said stake and stones,

and markotl the sjiiue on the particular spot of ground which wo havo

cstablisheil for said purfiose, llio day and date above certifyed by us, the

day and date above."

This lucid report was, by vote, " excepted," and

measures were taken to get the place established by

the Assembly. Measures were also taken to ascertain

tlie size and length of timber reiiuircd, and to see

how cheap they could get .some man to build the

house, and a tax of a shilling on the pound was laid.

The beech stake, now planted, marked, reimrted,

and accepted, was destined to stand. A day was fixed

for the peo|)le to meet for the purpose of finding stone

and laying the un(lor-]iinning. It was also voted that

the |)copU' will find cake and cheese by free donation

for refreshment at raising the mccting-house.

At this stage of the proceedings another attempt

was made to conciliate "those of the society that

think themselves agreaved as to giving away the

society's farm," etc., by submitting the matters of

grievance to arbitration ; but no conclusion was

rcachetl. The meeting-house was raised, covered in,

and floored in season for the annual meeting, Nov.

25, 1793. It stood on tho south border of a grove

near the east-and-wcst road, between the late resi-

dence of Harris Brown, deceased, and the old country

road. It was fifty feet long, forty feot broad, and two

-stories high, without tower or steeple, a very unpre-

tending and short-lived .sanctuary. No traces of it

now remain except a large stone horse-block. It was

sold and taken down when tho present house of

worship was first erected. Some of its timbers were
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worked into the original building of the East Village

Hotel.

The doings of the society have now been brought

down to 1793, a period of fifteen years. It took

twelve years of controversy to locate a meeting-house,

and it might have required a dozen years more had

not the intervening contest about the settlement of a

minister led to the withdrawal of some twenty mem-
bers. The unfinished church opened its doors to a

congregation small in numbers, disheartened by long

dissensions, and unable to sustain the burdens they

had assumed. The records of the ibllowing seven

years indicate the quiet of exhaustion rather than the

prevalence of Christian graces. Taxes were more
easily laid than collected. New names from time to

time appear on the records, but the accessions brought

no element of strength to the society as then consti-

tuted and located, for the new-comers were mainly

from the Still River valley, now filling up with set-

tlers interested in a transfer of the meeting-house to

their vicinity.

Patient endurance of the burden of supporting a

grasping minister had its limit. At the annual meet-

ing in 1797 it was voted "to choose a committee of

five to treat with Rev. l\Ir. Woodworth, to see what
measures can be come into on account of the burthen

the society is under as to paying his salary, and
whether he is willing for a dismission or not." This

vote was followed by another in December following,

" to choose a committee, with power to agree with

Rev. Mr. Woodworth on his dismission, and that said

committee allow no more than the society's former

contracts." This committee arranged with the pastor

that the existing connection should be dissolved at

the expiration of the year, and that the society should

pay and confirm all contracts with Mr. Woodworth,
and what should be found due him to be paid or

secured by notes of hand on demand. It was also

voted to call a dismissing council on the 9th of Janu-

ary, 1798. The result of this council is not recorded,

but the dismission took place at or near the date

specified. Mr. Woodworth was afterwards settled at

Whitestown, near Utica, N. Y., for several years. His
subsequent history is unknown.

In January, 1799, Rev. Salmon King, after preach-

ing as a candidate for settlement, received a call,

which he declined, and in October following a call

was voted to Rev. Noah Simons, but was not ac-

cepted.

About this time Rev. Aaron Kinney was employed,

and continued to supply the pulpit for four or five

years.

Hitherto the old North road had been the great

thoroughfare of travel for the adjoining region, and
a large portion of our inhabitants had settled along

its borders, on Wallen's Hill, and northwestward to

Colebrook line, and the location of the meeting-house

best suited their convenience. But near the close of

the century the water-power of the Still River and

Mad River valleys began to attract manufacturers to

those secluded and comparatively inaccessible reg-

ions. The Green Woods turnpike, a shorter and far

more level line of travel than the old road over the

hills, was opened in 1799. It at once diverted all the

long travel from the hill road, and opened a direct

access to the valleys. Hamlets grew up around the

Doolittle and Austin mills. The Wallen's Hill meet-

ing-house ceased to be central, and it became apparent

that the young and energetic new-comers of the val-

leys were soon to assume the lead, and take the direc-

tion of society affairs out of the hands of the dispirited

and exhausted champions on the old country road.

In July, 1799, a vote was carried for building a new
meeting-house by subscription, in one year from the

1st of October then next, where Capt. Charles Wright
and others had that day pitched a stake, and on the

7th of October following, Col. Hezekiah Hopkins, of

Harwinton, Esq. Elisha Smith, of Torrington, and
M.oj. Jeremiah Phelps, of Norfolk, were appointed to

advise as to the location, and at the annual meeting

following it was decided to build the house where

this committee had put a stake and stones, if the

County Court should establish the same.

These brief votes embrace all the preparatory meas-

ures recorded in reference to building the present

house of worship in the East village of Winsted, and

the evirtual extinction of the ancient regime on Wal-
len's Hill. New men, not identified with old contro-

versies, took the lead, and eflected an entire renovation

of the society.

The new meeting-house was raised, covered in, and

floored in 1800, and in this condition was used for

worship until its final completion in 1805. The funds

originally subscribed and contributed not being ade-

quate for its completion, .application was made to the

Legislature for a lottery in aid of the enterprise.

There were at the same time two other like appli-

cations from the societies of Preston, in New London
County, and Canterbury, in Windham County, and a

joint lottery was granted to the three societies. They

were jointly represented in the management of this

gambling scheme, and the details were so arranged

that the two drawings were allowed by the Winsted

society to be made in Preston and Canterbury, in con-

sideration of some equivalent advantages conceded to

Winsted. As a result of these arrangements, the two

eastern societies failed to realize any profit, while

Winsted secured about six hundred dollars. With

this sum, and additional subscriptions, the interior of

the house was finished and the building painted in

1805.

The pulpit of the new meeting-house wa.s first sup-

plied by Rev. Aaron Kinney, who had been for a few

years previous the minister in charge at the first

meeting-house on Wallen's Hill. He continued his

labors two or three years, and then removed to Alford,

Berkshire Co., Mass. Several candidates were then

successively employed for brief periods, the last of
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whom was Rev. James Beach, who received a pastoral

call, and was ordained on the 1st day of January,

1806, with a salary of three hundred and fifty dollars

a year, and an advance of funds to purchase a dwell-

ing, repayable in installments from year to year. His

pastorate continued until his dismission, in 1842.

Mr. Beacli was succeeded by Rev. Timothy M.
Dwight, who, after supplying the pulpit until Feb-

ruary, 1844, received a call for settlement, which he

declined ; soon after which Rev. Augustus Pomeroy,

after supplying the pulpit for two or three months,

received a nearly unanimous call to the pastorate,

and was presented to the consociation for approval

and installation in June following. After a long and

searching examination on the question of approval,

it was found that there was a majority of one in the

united body sustaining his examination ; but on ana-

lyzing the vote it appeared that there was a majority

of two of the lay delegates sustaining, and a majority

of one of tlie clerical members of the body non-sus-

taining, the examination. By one of the rules of the

body, in case of non-concurrence of either the clerical

or lay delegates,—although there should be a majority

of the whole,—in case of a call for the application of

this rule, the candidate should be rejected. The call

was made by a lay member, and the synodal body re-

fused to install the candidate.

Mr. Pomeroy continued to supply tlie pulpit for

about a year after this result, near the end of which

the church dissolved its connection with the conso-

ciation, and the call for his settlement was renewed

on the 10th of November, 1844, but tlic majority in

his favor being essentially reduced, lie declined ac-

ceptance, and withdrew to another field of labor. We
state the facts of this case in the briefest possible

form, without note or commentary, save that the

grounds of objection to Mr. Pomeroy were doctrinal

rather tlian personal, and that his Christian cliar-

acter was unciuestioncd.

After Mr. Pomeroy several other candidates filled

the pulpit, the mo-st prominent of whom, and the

longest incumbent, was Rev. John D. Baldwin, after-

wards inonibor of Congress from the Worcester dis-

trict, Massacliusetts. After his departure, Rev. Ira

Pettibone, from York Mills, N. Y., was emphiyed,

called, and settled early in 1846. He continued his

pastorate until measures were taken for the formation

of a second Congregational church in the West vil-

lage, wlieu he resigned, and engaged in teaciiing at

Cornwall. His resignation was not occasioned by

discontent or dissension in tlie congregation.

In 18.33 fifty-one members of the churcli, residing

in the West village, were regularly dismissed in order

to form themselves into a new church. They were

immediately thereafter organized as " The Second
Congregational Church of Win.sted."

In February, l.S'>4, Rev. Henry A. Russell, a gradu-

ate of Yale Theological Seminary, was called and
ordained to the pastorate of the First Church, and

continued his ministrations until his resignation and
dismissal, Aug. 25, 1858.

On the 30th December, 1859, Rev. James B. Pierson

was called ; and the call was unanimously renewed in

May, 1860, and he was ordained November 14th

following. His ministrations continued until his

dismission in March, 18G2.

Rev. M. McG. Dana, now pastor of the First Con-

gregational Church, Norwich, supplied the pulpit

from May 11, 1862, until Dec. 25, 1864 ; and during

the intermediate time a call for settlement was tend-

ered him, which he declined.

In January, 1867, a call to the pastorate was tend-

ered Rev. Walker, and accepted by him, but was

not consummated by installation. He supplied the

pulpit until April, 1869. Rev. H. E. Cooley after-

wards supplied the pulpit for one J'ear, ending Sept.

1, 1870.

On the loth of October, 1870, Rev. Thomas M. Miles

was called, and on the lOtli of November following was

installed as pastor. He was dismissed in 1879, and
was succeeded by the present pastor. Rev. Timothy
J. Lee. The present deacons are David Strong and

Hubert P. Wetniore.

SECOND CONGREGATIONAL CHURCH.

This church wa.s organized Jan. 18, 1854, with the

following members: James R. Alvord, Elliot and
Delia (Rockwell) Beard.sley, Lyman and Rebecca C.

(Mather) Baldwin, John and Jerusha (Rockwell)

Boyd, Ellen W. Boyd, Susan JL (Ashley) Birdsall,

Desire (Knapp) Camp, Miranda N. (Goodwin) Camp,
James and Eliza A. (Wright) Cone, John and Harriet

A. (Watson) Cone, Willard and Miranda (Frisbie)

Holmes, Bet-sey (Shcpard) Hinsdale, Mary P. Hins-

dale, Julia (Whittlesey) Holly, Timothy and Ruth L.

(Kelly) Hulliert, John and Amanda M. (Alvord)

Hinsdale, William F. and Hmeline (Baldwin) Hatch,

Sally (Palmer) Jaqua, Silas C. and Maria Johnson,

Miranda (Hoskins) Looinia, Sarah A. Loomis, Phelps

H. Parsons, Elizur B. and Mary A. (Catlin) Parsons,

William S. and Ellen A. (Griswold) Phillip.^*, Lucy

S. (Jaqua) Robcrt.s, James and Lavina J[. (Hub-

bard) Welch, Joel .1. and Laura E. (Walter) Wilcox,

Sophia (Goodwin) We.stlako, Reuben and Nancy
(Wheeler) Baldwin, Mary M. Holmes, Martha E.

Beardsley, Clarissa (Treat) Rockwell, Harriet A.

(Burt) Rockwell, Elizabeth H. Rockwell, Mary
(Beach) Camp, Climcna (Foskctt) Gaston, Lucy A.

(Jennings) Wilkins, Jerusha T. (Bonfocy) Juqua,

Jcnnison J. and Sarah J. (Spaulding) Whiting, Jud-

son Wadsworth.

Until the completion of the church edifice service

was held in Camp's Hall, a period of three years and

eight months. On the 10th of March, I85(i, the so-

ciety's committee were aiithorize<l to purchase a site,

and Thomius Watson, John Boyd, and Moses Camp
were appointed building committee. Tlie house was

dedicated Sept. l(i, 1857, free from debt.
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In July, 1859, Elliot Beardsley, Thomas AVatson,

John T. Rockwell, and Samuel L. Andrus were chosen

a committee, and instructed to proceed, as soon as

possible, to erect a building suitable for a lecture-

room. It was raised and covered during the autumn
and completed the following year (being furnished by
the ladies), at a cost of two thousand dollars.

Nov. 15, 1859, the bell, weighing two thousand one
hundred and ninety pounds, and costing seven hun-
dred dollars, was put in position. On the morning of

Feb. 10, 1860, by a severe gale, the spire was blown
over, carrying the bell with it, and one-third of the

roof was crushed in by its fall. Nearly a year was
occupied in making repairs and in building the pres-

ent spire, at a total cost of about three thousand dol-

lars. The chuch was re-entered for worship Jan. C,

1861.

In July, 1864, Edward R. Beardsley, on behalf of

numerous subscribers, reported that two thousand
dollars had been raised to purchase an organ, and
asked jicrmission of the society to place it in the gal-

lery. It was dedicated on the first Sabbath of Janu-
ary, 1865. The parsonage was purchased May 23,

1864, for two thousand five hundred dollars.

March 10, 1873, the society voted to make extensive

repairs upon the church, chapel, and parsonage, re-

sulting in the frescoes and carpet of the former and
the comfortable and enlarged accommodations of the

latter, at a cost of about four thousand dollars. The
whole expense, thus far, of the lots, buildings, and
improvements, is not far,from thirty thousand dollars.

I)eaeo7is.—Jan. 26, 1854, Elliot Beardsley and John
Hinsdale were chosen deacons. The former served

until his resignation, March 20, 1856, and on the 3d
of April following Thomas AVatson was elected, and
held the office until Dec. 31, 1874. Dec. 6, 1869,

Everett C. Holmes and Aaron T. Case were chosen.

Dec. 31, 1874, George M. Carrington was elected to

fill the vacancy occasioned by the resignation of Mr.
AVatson.

Pastors.—The first pastor, Rev. Charles H. A. Bulk-
ley, was installed on Tuesday, Dec. 6, 1854. After a

pastorate of four years and four months he was dis-

missed, April 5, 1859.

An interval of two years occurred, after which the

second pastor. Rev. Hiram Eddy, was installed, on
AVednesday, Jan. 9, 1861. In June, 1861, he was
granted leave of absence for two months to accept the

Governor's appointment of chaplain in the Second

Connecticut Volunteers. He was taken prisoner at

Bull Run, suffered severely in rebel prisons at Rich-

mond and elsewhere for more than a year, and at

length returned to his pulpit, which had been supplied

in his absence by the society and neighboring minis-

ters for the benefit of his family. His pastorate of

four years and eight months was closed by his dis-

mission, Oct. 16, 1865. Eight months later the third

pastor. Rev. Charles AVetherby, was installed, on the

14th of June, 1866. After a pastorate of five years

and four months he was dismissed, Oct. 18, 1871. For
a year and four months following the church was
served by Rev. M. B. Angier and others, until the in-

stallation of the fourth pastor, Rev. L. H. Hallock,

Feb. 13, 1873.

The offerings of the church for benevolent objects,

during the twenty-one years of its existence, amount
to about thirty thousand dollars.

The present officers, Dec. 31, 1880, are as follows :

Pastor, Rev. L. H. Hallock, installed Feb. 13, 1873

;

Deacons, Everett C. Holmes, George M. Carrington,

John Hinsdale, Samuel B. Forbes ; Secretary and
Treasurer, John Hinsdale.

METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH*

It is now nearly one hundred years since the first

Methodist preachers entered Litchfield County. Litch-

field circuit, which embraced a wide extent of terri-

tory, first appears in the Conference Minutes in the

year 1790. The eloquent Freeborn Garretson was the

presiding elder, and the preachers of the circuit were

Samuel AV^igton and Henry Cristie. The first preach-

ing by Methodist preachers in the AVinsted valley

was probably a few years earlier than 1790, and as no

private houses in those days were opened for the

itinerants, it is likely that here, as elsewhere in New
England, the first sermon was preached in the open

air. But the seed thus sown bore abundant fruit, and

a Methodist Church was organized, and was in active

operation several years before the existence of any

other church organization in AVinsted. In those days

the country round about was a wilderness, and the

manufacturing wealth of Winsted onl}' included two

saw-mills, a forge, a grist-mill, and a factory for turn-

ing wooden dishes and bowls. The first store-keeper

was Elisha Lewis, and the first hotel was built by a

Mr. AVheeler, and kept by him till the year 1800.

The first meetings of the Methodists were held in

private houses of the members ; then the red school-

house on Spencer Street was employed, and in 1807 a

lot near the school-house was purchased from Merit

Bull, on which was erected the first Methodist church

in Winsted. The edifice was raised and completed

under the direction of Col. Samuel Hoadley as chief

builder. That first church, the scene of many
spiritual triumphs and a Bethel to many noble men
and women, was found sufficient for the wants of the

community till 1834, when it was outgrown by the

steadily-increasing society, and the present large and

commodious church was built on Main Street.

In the early days Methodism was an unwelcome in-

truder among the pastures of Congregational ortho-

doxy in New England, and Litchfield County was not

an exception. The following extract, taken from the

church records of the AVinsted Methodist Church, not

only throws light on the spirit of those times, but also

refers to the early connection of the celebrated Coe

» Contribated by Kev. J. Pullman.
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family with Methodism: "The first Methodist meet-

ings were held in private houses, and were largely

attended by young people, often to the grief and scan-

dal of their parents. Jehiel Coe, now in his seven-

tieth year, relates that at one of those meetings

Jonathan Coe, Jr., was happily converted, but his

good mother was offended at his joining the Meth-

odists. For her sake, and that the family might be

able to hear and judge for themselves, it was planned

that the next Methodist service should be held in the

house of the young convert. At the meeting Jona-

than's grandfather, both aged and blind, .sat as a wor-

shiper and listened to the sermon. At the close of

the sermon the old man rose and said, 'This is a man
of God.' The mother was soon after converted and

joined her son, and she was followed by other mem-
bers of the family. The Coe house from that time

became tlie home of the itinerants, and the family in

its rapidly-multiplying branches became firm and

active supporters of the rising Methodist Church."

The Winsted Methodist Church has had the ser-

vices of many of the most eminent preachers of its de-

nomination, among whom the following may be men-

tioned : Jesse Lee, Freeborn Garretson, Daniel Os-

trander, and Nathan Bangs as presiding elders, and

Aaron Hunt, Laban Plark, Charles Sherman, Daniel

Smith, Davis AV. Clark, Seymour London, and Eben-

ezer Washburn as pastors.

The present condition of the church is one of pros-

perity. There are two hundred and fifty members

and a flourisiiing Sunday-school, of which Charles J.

York is superintendent. The parsonage is a commo-

dious and elegant home for its jiastors. The cliurch

also has a fund which aids in meeting current ex-

penses.

Among the prominent members of the church at

present are Edward Mancliester, C. J. York, L. C.

Colt, C. S. Foster, Lucius Griawold, S. A. Granger,

A. H. Snow, P. G. Sheldon, Eugene Potter, George

White, and J. E. Dean. Rev. Joseph Pulhnan is the

pastor.
ST. JAMES' CHURCH.

The first stated worship of the Protestant Episcopal

Churcli in Winsted was begiin in 1847, by Rev. H.

Frisbic, and some funds were then raised for a church

edifice. During the following year arrangements

were made for building a church, and a location was

agreed on. Tlic present Episcopal church was soon

after contracted for, and was completed in October,

1848; and on the 27tii day of that montli tiie parish

of St. James was legally organized by choice of Rev.

Jonathan Coe, Jr., rector ; James R. Coe and Uriel

Spencer, Jr., wardens; and Dr. John L. Wakefield,

Hon. William S. Holabird, and Alexander Durgin,

vestrymen. The church was consecrated the same

autumn. Rev. Jonatlian Coe, Jr., was succeeded in

1854 by Rev. James W. Coe, who officiated for one

year. In 185(), Rev. James R. Coe, brother of the

first rector, was chosen rector, and officiated as such

until 1860, when he was succeeded by Rev. David H.

Short, who remained about two years, after which the

parish was for some time supplied by Rev. J. D.

Berry, D.D., of Litchfield. In 1866, Rev. William

H. Williams was chosen rector and served two years

;

and was succeeded by Rev. William H. Lewis, Jr.,

who remained until May, 1870, when Rev. D. P. San-

ford took charge of the parish. The present rector is

Rev. G. M. Stanley.

ST. JOSEPH'S CHnECII.

Boyd, in his "Annals of Winchester," states that

Roman Catholic worship was instituted in Winsted

in 1851 by Rev. James Lynch, who resided at Bir-

mingham, in New Haven County, and occasionally

visited Winsted. Mass was celebrated in the school-

house of the west district. Such was the inaugural

step of what is now an extensive observation of

Catholic rites over a large portion of Litchfield

County, with Winsted as a centre. In 1852 land for

the site of a church was secured (the spot now occu-

pied by St. Joseph's Church), the most prominent site

in the borough of Winsted (eastern portion). In the

same year (1852) Rev. Thomas Quinn, a native of

Nova Scotia, and then a recent graduate of the Roman
Catholic theological seminary at Fordham, N. Y.,

entered upon pa,storal duties at Winsted, and com-

menced the erection of St. Joseph's Church. Father

Quinn was a man of fine gifts as a preacher and

orator, and soon made himself felt in the community,

and pushed on the work of church building rapidly,

enlisting more or less aid from Protestant ]>arties.

Being ai)pointed in 1853 to a more important field,

he was succeeded in that year by Rev. Philip Guillick,

a man of great resolution and of unusually fine talents

as a persuasive preacher, wlio had already, through

liis remarkable successes, won the distinguisliing so-

briquet of " the great church-builder" among the

[>riesthood far and wide. Father Guillick completed

the building of tlic church under great difficulties,

soliciting funds for it in various parts of the diocese

of Hartford (wliich then included Connecticut and

Rhode Island), and in New York.

Rev. Thomas Hen<lricksim, now bishop of Provi-

dence, succeedc<l Father Guillick in 1H54, but wa.s

transferred in 1855 to Waterbury, whereupon Rev.

Richard O'Gorman succeeded him in the pastorate of

St. Josciih's. In 1856, Rev. Lawrence Mangan suc-

ceeded Father O'Gorman, and the former was suc-

ceeded in 1860 by Rev. Daniel .Mullen, who on the

breaking nut of the war of the Rebulliun wius trans-

ferred to the chaplaincy of the Ninth Regiment Con-

necticut Volunteers. In 18(51, Rev. Philip Riordan

was appointed to the pastorate of the church, and re-

mained in charge till 1S(!4, when Rev. Father Leo da

Saracena, of the order of St. Francis d'Assisi (and

wha had succeeded the Rev. Mullen as chaplain of

the Ninth Regiment), was appointed to the pastorate

by Bishop McFarland.
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During the various pastorates above mentioned, the

Catholics of the towns of Litchfiold, Goslien, Torring-

toa (Wolcottville), Norfollv, Colebrook's Eiver, in

Connecticut, and New Boston, Mass., had been more

or less frequently, and finally regularly, served from

St. Joseph's. On the advent of Father Leo a some-

what new order of things was established, and, while

the towns mentioned continued to receive the same
service from Winsted, St. Joseph's was still more
thoroughly administered. Father Leo began at once

to distinguish his administration by greater labors for

his parish than had been bestowed upon it before.

He purchased additional lands, adjoining the site of

St. Joseph's, with building.s thereon, which were con-

verted into a school-house and residence for the si-sters

of the third order of St. Francis, by whom a school was
organized, a large number of children being in attend-

ance. In 18G6, after further purchase of land for his

order, the erection of a large brick building was com-
menced for the St. Francis Literary and Theological

Seminary, the church itself being conveyed to the

order by Bishoji McFarland in November, 1866. In
the same year lands to the north of the church, known
as "the Grove," a beautiful wooded spot, was pur-

chased, in order to erect thereon the now comely and
artistic brick structure known as the Convent of St.

Margaret of Cortona, in which an academy for fe-

males is now conducted by the Franciscan sisters.

The convent, monastery, and church occupy a com-
manding position, and are seen from all portions of
the town. The Eev. Fathers now (1881) in charge of
the theological seminary and the church are Very
Eev.' Father Leo da Saracena, late Provincial Su-
perior of the Franciscan order in the United States,

and President of St. Bonaventurc's College, iu Alle-

gany, N. Y. ; Eev. Father Edward Agoudi, O.S.F.,

of the Eoman States, Italy ; and the Eev. Beruadine
McCabe, O.S.F.

Since the advent to AVinsted of the Franciscan
order of Friars, a handsome Gothic church has been
erected and a fine cemetery laid out in Litchlield; in

Goshen a new church has been built, and the church
in Norfolk rebuilt and enlarged ; in Wolcottville the

church has been enlarged and a parochial residence

bought, and a cemetery laid out; in .the same a new
parish established. The mission work at Colebrook
and elsewhere is still vigorously prosecuted.

THE WOMEN'S CHRISTIAN TEMPERANCE UNION

is a praiseworthy organization of leading ladies of
Winsted, devoted to the temperance cause. Its pres-

ent officers are as follows: President, Mrs. S. B.

Forbes
; Vice-Presidents, Mrs. Henry Gay, Mrs. Abel

Snow, Mrs. Clarke Strong ; Secretary, Miss Mary L.

Catlin ; Treasurer, Mrs. M. A. Abbott.

CHAPTER XIX.

"WINCHESTEK (Continued).

Incorporation of the Town—First Towu-BIeeting—Officers Elected

—

Documentary History—List of Senators—Representatives—Judges of

Probate—Town Clerlis—Selectnion-Military Record.

INCORPORATION OF THE TOWN.

The town of Winchester, consisting of the societies

of Winchester* and Winsted, was incorporated in May,
1771, and July 22, 1771, the first town-meeting was
held, when the following oflicers were elected : War-
ham Gibbs, moderator; Eliphaz Alvord, town clerk;

Jonathan Alvord, Seth Hills, and Samuel Wetmore,
Jr., townsmen ; Eobert Mackune, treasurer ; Warham
Gibbs, constable; Abram Filley, grand juryman;
Oliver Coe, Noah Gleason, and David Goff, surveyors

of highways; Josiah Avorit and Joseph Hoskin,

fence-viewers ; Beriah Hills, David Austin, and Jona-

than Coe, listers ; Eobert Mackune, leather-sealer

;

Adam Mott and Benoni Hills, tything-men.

" Voted, Tliat David Austin's cow-yarj be a pound for tlio present.

Voleil, Tliat a Maple-tree near the Jleetiug-llouso shall be a sign-post.

David Austin chosen Key-keeper."

Names of settlers not a few appear on the land

records who, after a short buffeting with hardships

and discouragements, retired from the forbidding

field, and large numbers of others fled to the rich

lands of Western New York as soon as they became

accessible. Among those who participated in the

organization of the town, as far as it is possible to

ascertain, were the following: Jonathan Alvord, Eli-

phaz Alvord, David Austin, Josiah Avered, Benjamin

Benedict, John Bradley, Oliver Coe, Jonathan Coe,

Aaron Cook, Nathaniel Dutton, Abram Filley, Noah
Gleason, Warham Gibbs, David Goff, Thomas Hos-

mer, Jr., Seth Hills, Beriah Hills, Benoni Hills,

Joseph Hoskin, John Hill, Simeon Loomis, Eobert

McEwen, Adam Mott, Adam Mott, Jr., Ebenezer

Preston, Enoch Palmer, Daniel Piatt, Lemuel Stan-

nard, Eeuben Tucker, Samuel Wetmore, Jr., John

Wright, Jr., Jesse Wilkinson, Lewis Wilkinson.

DOCUMENTARY HISTORY.

In 1774, '* It was put to vote whether Lent Mott should be an inhab-

itant of this town, and it was voted in the negative."

" It was put to vote whether Widow Sarah Preston should be an in-

habitant of this town, and it was voteil in the negative."

" It was put to vote whether Benjamin Preston should bean inhabitant

of this town, and it was voted iu the negative."

" Winchester, October 9th, 178G. This may certify that I have received

from the Society's Committee in full all that was due me from the So-

ciety, from the beginning of the world to the year 1782.

** Witness my hand, JosuuA Knapp."

1791 TO 1801.

" VolP.d, That the selectmen be directed to take charge of Kemembrance

Filley, and conduct with him as they shall think most for his comfort,

and will be least expensive to the town, whilst he remains in his present

state of delirium, either to set him up at vendue to the person who will

keep liim the cheapest, or dispose of him in any other way which may
appear to the selectmen more couveuient, and for such time as they may

think reasonable, and on the cost of the town."

* Winchester Society was incorporated inl7G8, and Winsted Society in

February, 1778.



WINCHESTER. 217

The record then states that " Ensign Bronson bid

off Remembrauee Filley at eight shillings per week,

for two weeks, and at ten shillings for two weeks

after," and " Samuel Wetmore (second) bid him off to

keep him two weeks, at ten shillings per week." In

this case the step may have been necessary and justi-

fiable, by reason of the want of lunatic asylums at

that early day. Another vote of the same meeting

shows that the auctioning of paupers had not yet

been fully adopted. It was voted

" That Dauiel Looniis take the ovorsightof building the house of Ben-

jamin I'restoii, and inspect tlie hibur done, and the stuft' provided for

said house, and make return to the selectmen."

As a specimen of the economical spirit of the town

we extract the following

:

" Voted^ To sell the two Congress Laws and Kirby's Reports. Ensign

Coe bid otf one Congress Law, at ten shillings. Samuel Wetmore (second)

bid otf second Congress Law, at six and ninepcuce. Hewitt Hills hid oflF

Kirby's Keports, at thirteen shillings."

" Vute<lf Tliat not any person whatever, who shall do any service for

the town the present yeai-, shall be allowed to receive any reward there-

for until lie shall exhibit bis .account before the next annual town-

meeting, and have his account allowed by said meeting."

Another,

"To examine into the debts due to and from the town, and make out

ail exact statement of accounts respecting the town's debts and credits,

and lay tlio same before the next town-meeting."

The society this year voted a tax of threepence on

the pound, to enable the meeting-house committee to

procure glass and nails ; to be paid in beef, cattle, or

pork, or flaxseed, or one-quarter of it in butter or

cheese, at the current market price, or in cash at a

deduction of ten per cent.

The tax-list shows that there were four licensed

taverns in the town in 1795, to wit: Samuel Ilurlbut,

in the house that stood at the Centre, on the site now
occupied by the house of Samuel Hurlbut; John

Miner, in the house, between Winsted and Winches-

ter, lately owned by Mrs. Almira Coe; Zerah Doo-

little, in the old Pease house, that stood where Xortli

Main Street now runs, nearly in front of the iiousc of

Isaac B. Woodruff, in Winsted ; and Freedom Wright,

in the Kelsey house, lately burned down, near the

small pond on the old North country road.

The asses.sments of trades and professions this year

(1797) were: Josiah Everitt and Joseph B. Elmore,

physicians; Fyler i<: Marshall and Holmes & Riley,

traders ; Samuel Hurlbut, tavern-keeper ; Lloyd An-

drews and John McAlpine, joiners ; Roger Barber,

blacksmith ; Amasa Wade and Daniel Wells, tanners

and shdoniakrrs,—in old society. Isaac Wheeler and

Freedom Wright, taverners ; Hine Clemmons and

Wait Hills, blacksmiths; Jenkins & Loyd, scythe-

makers ; Asher Loomis, tanner, John Sweet and

Chauncey Mills, millers,—in Winsted.

" Voted, That every goutfo found in tho highway, if any penon shall

take up Bucli goose and drive the Bamo to the owner, or to pound, shall

bo entilhMl to receive two cents for each goose or gander."
" Viiti-it, TIntt none that shall do business fur the Iuwd, In thstown

tho year ensuing, shall hav« any wages thorofur, oxcspt ono meal uf vict-

uals a day."

SENATORS.

Elliot Beardsley, 1853; James Beebe, 1830-37; John Boyd, 1854; Lucius

Clarke, 1846 ; Samuel W. Coe, 1850 ; George Dudley, 1863 ; Gideon

Hall, Jr., 1847 ; Harry B. Steele.

REPRESENTATIVES.*

Name. First.

Adams, Matthew 1818
Adams, Norniand 1851

Alvord, Charles 1S61

Alvord, Eliphaz 1787
Andrews, Daniel 1833

Andrews, Harvey 1868

Batcheller, Whcelock F 1880
Beardsley, Elliot 1863

Beebe, James 181'.)

Beecher, Kollin L 1846
Benedict, Benjamin 1787
Bidwell, John W 18.15

Bird, David 1862
Birdsull, James 1859
Bills, Henry A 1874
Blake, Jonathan 1851
Boyd, James 1804
Boyd, John 1830
Bronson, Isaac 1823
Bronson, Isiiac A 1806

Bron.son, Tlieron 1849

Bronson, William B 1857

Brownsou, Ozias 1783
Broun, Francis 1867

Bull, Menit 1817

Camp, John 1844

Camp, IVIoses 1865

Case, Lvnian 1830
Chase, Dudley 1854
Clarke, Thomas M 1857
Cleveland, (jeorgo B 1867
Cleveland, James C 1834
Coe, Jonathan, Jr 1 8'.^2

Coe, James R 1845
Coe, Korris _. 1838
Coe, Roger „ 1814
Coe, William G 1869
Cummings, J. T 1809
Drake, Rutus 1836
Dudley, George 1847
Dudley, George 18»1
Dutton, MorlimorE „ 187S
Fanning, Jolin J I8II3

Ford, Nelson D 1878
Kyler, Floriuioud D 1872
Gaylord, Nathaniel B IHIR
Gay, lleni-y 1875

Gay, Henry 187(1

Oay, Henry , _ 1817
G»v, lionry - ~ 1879
Gilbert, Alvlu 18*1

Gilbert. William h ISM
Gilman, Kliiu K 1866

Greer, Samuel 1870

Hall, Gideon, Jr 1838
Hatch, Wiuhlngtou 1844

llitley. Horace _. 1799
Hills, Huet 1792

Hills, .Selh 1781

lliusdalo. IliMoll 1815

Hinsilalo. Ilowii 18'il

Hinsdale, TliiMdure 1837

Hoailhy, Samuel ISII

Holmes, J.wepli ISIW

Hubbard, Slephen A „ 1856

Hurlbut, Samuel 1791

Hurlbut, Samuel 1836

Hurlbut, SICHhoii 1866

Hunt, Urbiw l> 1873

Jenkins, llonjamiu 18110

Ix<onii«, Oliver 1834

Marsh, Joseph H 1871

MiCune, David nul
McCune, Uolwrl 1781

Miller, J.wph 1829

Miner, IMilneas 1809

M.H.te, lUlph H 1871

M.«.re, U. H 1870

Munsill. Marcus 1847

Niish, Alva 18'.J9

Nollls, Edward A 1881

IVIlllw.ne, Ira W 1868

i'heli*, Paniel 1818

rhellis, Warren I8t!2

riall, Sylv™ier 1860

Kol>ens, Harvey L 1871

Clarke, Thus. M ~ 1874

Huckwall, Alpha _ UU7

Last.
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Name. First. Last. No.
Rockwell, John T 18U0 1

Rockwell, Solomon 1820 1

Rowley, Artenias 1853 1

Russell, Giles ISIO 1810 3

Russell, Niitlmniel 1801 1

Sheldon, Philo G 18S0 1

Smith, Asahel 18'.i7 1831 2

Smith, Elisha 1856 1

Smith, Hemau 1795 1800 3
Smith, Zebina 1798 1802 2

Spencer, Gnnuell 1S24 1

Strong, David 1872 1

Steele, Harvey B 1873

Steele, Harvey B 1879

Tajlor, George 1853 1

Thayer, Wheelock 18:i3 1

Tolles, Amos 1812 1812 2
Wakefield, Lu man 182U 1827 2
Waters, Alexander 1878

Watson, Thomas 1804 1

Welch, James 1852 1

Wetmore, Ahel S 1848 1

Welmore, John G 18(i2 1

Wetmore, Seth 1790 1802 4
Wheelock, Daniel B 1S49 1

White, George 18(il 1

Whiting, Riley 1818 1832 2
Wilder, Seth L 18.58 1

Wilson, Al.iJHh 1798 1802 2
Woodruff, Frederick 1870 1

York, CJias.J 1869 1

York, Chas. J 1877

York, Chas. J 1880

COLLEGE GRADUATES.

Rev. Noble Everett, Yale, 1795; Abel McEwen, D.D., Yale. 1804; George

Baldwin, Yule, 1811; John Boyd, Yale, 1821; Theodore Hinsdale,

Yale, 1821 ; Edwiird Rockwell, Yale, 1821 ; Rev. Siimuel Rockwell,

Yale, 1825 ; Iia W. I'cttiboue, Yale, 1854 ; Edward R. Ueardsley, Yale,

1859; Rev. John B. Doolittle, Yale, 1803; Rev. John \V. Alvord,

Oberliu ; Rev. Ilarmou E. Burr, Oberliu ; Rev. Oniu W. White,

Oberliu; Hiram Wilson, Wesleyun Univeiisity ; John C. Holabird,

Wesleyan University; Rev. Jonathan Coe, Wesleyan University;

Seth Church, Wesleyan University; Charles F. Wetmore, Trinity;

James B. Wakefield, Trinity; Rev. Leumus H. Pease, Williams,

1S35; Rev. Henry B. Blake, Williams, 1841; George M. Carrington,

Williams, 1801 ; Benjamin W. I'ettibone, Amherst, 1800.

MILITARY RECORD, 1861-65.

The first jiereon who enlisted in this town under

President Lincoln's first call for troops during the

late Rebellion was Samuel B. Home. This is also

said to have been the first regular enlistment in the

State of Connecticut. He served out his three

months' term, and in October of the same year en-

listed as a private in Company E, Eleventh Infantry

Volunteers ; was chosen a sergeant, and rose by pro-

motion to first lieutenant and captain ; was in

twenty-five battles and skirmishes, and was three

times wounded, and at the end of his three years'

term served as provost-marshal of the Eighteenth

Army Corps to the end of the war.

The following other Winchester recruits enrolled

themselves in the squad that formed the nucleus of

Infantry Company B, first organized in this town

:

Abram G. Kellogg, Caleb P. Newman, Francis T Brown, Mason Atkins,

Daniel Bellows, George Bellows. Jr., Henry Bradley, Frederick W,

Daniels, Edward E. Day, Charles 0. Dennen, Rubert Dempsey, Fer-

nando Gale, W'estley Gale, Dennis Glynn, Charles Harris, Samuel B.

Home, George L. Leonard, James JlcCauley, Charles C. Potter,

Charles Presber, Henry Roberts, William H. Strong, Joel G. Thorpe,

Charles Vogel, Hubert A. Warner, and Henry Williams.

Two other squads of recruits having been now en-

rolled in New Hartford and Canton, together with six

individuals from Norfolk, two from Barkhamsted, and

one each from Colebrook, Salisbury, Woodbury, and

Harwinton, they were all united with the Winchester

squad as Company B of the Second Infantry, under

Abram G. Kellogg, of Winchester, as captain, and

Charles W. Morse and Charles Warren, of New Hart-

ford and Canton, as lieutenants.

The spirit of enlistment had hardly been aroused

when Company B was transferred to New Haven.

Simultaneous with its departure, the enrollment of

another company was called for and opened, and was

filled with the l:llte of the young men of the town

in a single week. The company was organized as Rifle

Company E, Second Connecticut Infantry, with the

following rank and file from Winchester

:

Captain, Sherman T.Cooke ; first lieutenant, Wheelock T. Batcheller ; sec-

ond lieutenant, Charles E. Palmer; first sergeant, Jefl'rey Skinner;

sergeants, James N. Coe, Charles L. Hosford, Lucien B. Wheelock
;

corporals, George L. Andrews, Alanson D. Bunnell, Edward Didsbury,

Jacob T. Brown; musician. Hicks Seaman (?); privates, Antoioe

Albert, Hyppolite Bluet, Albert M. Beach, Edwin Beach, Ira C. Bailey,

Decius C. Bancroft, Gustave Bernhardt, James M. Burton, Victor Clau-

det, Chauucey D. Cleveland, Daniel S. Coe, David W. Coe, William

S. Cooper, Samuel A. Cooper, William Couch, Chauucey S. Crittenden,

John M. Dennan, James Dennan, Edgar V. Doughty, Burton B.

Evitts, Philip D. Fisk, Daniel Fitzpatrick, Salmon A. Granger, Leon-

al-d S. Harris, William F. Hatch, Jr., Nelson Hodges, William S.

Holabird, Benjamin F. Hosford, George Hoskin, Orson Howard,

James N. Latliam, Frank B. Marsh, Lorenzo Martin, Alexander Mc-

Guire, Milton T. Moore, Augustus Nevins, Leander Packard, George

W. Pendleton, Charles II. Pond, Frederick II. Presber, James Price,

Hiiam C. Roberts, William E. Snediker, Orlo S. Smith, Charles H.

Stewart, Platuer S. Sweet, George M. Van Oustrom, Herbert L.

Veber, .\rthur Wadswortb, Joseph Watson, Thomas Welch, John P.

Wilbur, Marcus J. Whitehead, John Wheeler, and James G. Wood-

ruir.

Company E, on its departure for New Haven on

the 25th of April, received an ovation in all respects

similar to, but on a larger scale than, that given to

Company B on the 21st. It was emphatically a town

company, while Company B was a contribution ofthree

towns. More than half of them were mechanics, about

one-fourth were farmers, and the remainder, in about

equal proportions, were clerks and laborers. Germany

had six representatives, Ireland three, and England

one. With the exception of Private James M. Burton,

who died of diphtheria at New Haven hospital on the

day after mustering in, not a death occurred in the

company during its term of service.

A large portion of the officers and soldiers of these

companies, from time to time, re-enlisted into other

regiments, and were largely promoted to higher grades.

Among them were the following:

George L. Andrews, corporal, Co. E, 2d Inf., to sergeant, Co. F, 28th Conn.

Inf.

Mason Adkins, private, Co. B, 2d Inf., to first sergeant, Co. E, 2d Heavy

Art.

Antoine Albert, private, Co. E, 2d Inf., to private and veteran, Co. G,

12th Inf.

Wheelock T. Batcheller, first lieutenant, Co. E, 2d Inf., to major, 28th Inf.

Jacob T. Brown, corporal, Co. E, 2d Inf., to corporal, Co. B, 12th Inf.

;

killed at Cedar Creek.

Francis T. Brown, sergeant, Co. B, 2d Inf., to captain, Co. E, 11th Inf.

Daniel Bellows, private, Co. B, 2d Inf., to corporal and veteran, Co. E,

7th Inf.

George Bellows, Jr., private, Co. B, 2d Inf., to private and veteran, Co.

E, 7th Inf ; mortally wounded at Hampton, Va.

James N. Coe, sergeant, Co. E, 2d Inf., to fii-st lieutenant, Co. I, and cap-

tain, Co. H, 2d Heavy Art.
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Daniel S. Coe, private, Co. E, 2d Inf., to Bccond lieutenant, Co. E, 7th Inf.

David W. Cue, piivate, Co. E, 2d Inf., and detailed clerk to Gen. Tyler

and Mnj.-Gen. Keyes, U.S.A.; enl. on U. S. frigate "Sabine," and

served as e.\ecntive officer's clerk.

William S. Cooper, private, Co. E, 2d Inf., to corporal, Co. E, 2d Heavy

Art.

Frederick W. Daniels, private, Co. E, 2d Inf., to sergeant, Co. E, 2d Heavy

Art. ; killed at Cold Harbor, Va.

Robert Dcnipsey, piivate, Co. B, 2d Inf., to first lieutenant, Co. E, 7th

Inf.; killed at Olustee, Fla.

Salmon A. Granger, private, Co. E, 2d Inf., to first lieutenant, Co. E, 2d

Heavy Art.

Charles E. Hosford, sergeant, Co. E, 2d Inf., to captain, Co. D, 11th Inf.

Benjamin S. Ilosfoi-d, private, Co. E, 2d Inf., to captain, Co. D, 2d Heavy

Art.; killed at Cedar Creek.

George Hoskins, private, Co. E, 2d Inf., to private, Co. F, 28th Inf.

Orson Howard, private, Co. E, 2d Inf., to captain, 9th N. Y. Heavy Art.;

killed at Petereburg, Va.

Samuel B. Ilorne, private, Co. B, 2d Infantry, to sergeant, lieutenant,

and captain, Co. F, 11th Inf.

George L. Leonard, private, Co. E, 2d Inf., to private, Co. E, 2d Heavy Art.

Benjamin F. Marsh, private, Co. E, 2d Inf., to cori>ora!, Co. F, 28th Inf.;

lost an arm at Port Hudson.

Milton T. Moore, private, Co. E, 2d Inf., to sergeant, Co. F, 2Sth Inf.

Caleb P. Newman, first sergeant, Co. C, 2d Inf., to firet lieutenant, Co. F,

28th Inf.

Frederick 0. Peck, private, Co. D, 2d Inf., to private, 22d Mass. Inf.;

twice wounded at Gaines* Mill, Va.

Cliarles E. Palmer, second lieutenant, Co. E, 2d Inf., to captain, Co. E,

7th Inf. ; died at Hilton Head, S. C.

Leander Packard, private, Co. E, 2d Inf., to private, Co. E, 11th Inf.

lliram C. Roberts, private, Co. E, 2d Inf., to sergeant, Co. E, 11th Inf.;

killed at Sliarpsburg, Md.

Henry L. Roberts, private, Co. B, 2d Inf., to sergeant, Co F, 28th Inf.

Jefl'rey Skinner, first sergeant, Co. E, 2d Inf., to captain, Co. E, 2d Heavy

Art.; pro. to major and lieutenant-colonel, same regiment.

Orlo S. Smith, private, Co. E, 2d Inf., to fii-st lieutenant, Co. I, 2d Heavy

Art.

Lucien B. Wheeluck, sergeant, Co. E, 2d Inf., to captain, Co. F, 28th Inf.

Marcus J. Wbttehead, private, Co. E, 2d Infantry, to private, Co. E, 2d

Heavy Art.

John Wheeler, private Co. E, 2d Infantry, to sergeant Co. F, first and

second lieut. Co. G, 2d Heavy Art.

The first regiment of cavalry was originally a bat-

talion consisting of four companies, recruited in the

fall of 1801, and about a year after was increased to

a full regiment of twelve comiianies. The followiDg

Winchester men are found on its rolls:

Oompany A, Frank Purkunt and Goo. L. Leonard ; Company D, Wm. C.

Wakefield ; Company E, James 0. Ferrln and Nelson Proper; Com-

pany F, MJchai-I Finn ami John Glustor; Company K, Burton B.

Beach; Coiupany 31, Jobn Ro»e.

Vntiiniifttetl MubgtitHtfM.—Wm. Claiicey, Michael Calahan, Janu-ii Flynn,

James II. (>uniion, Hugh Gray, Wm. Garaoh, Charles Hull, John

Harris, Charles Earne, Richard Muonoy, John Schmidt, Julhis

Thornu, Thomas Daley, Peter Dunn, Jauien Taylor, and Aiiguatus

Weiss.

Of these, Julius Thorne alone died in the service.

TheFiftii Uegiinent Infantry was organized in June,

1861, and went into service July 20 following; fought

at Winchester, Cedar Mountain, and Chaucelloi-sville,

Va. ; Gettysburg, Pa. ; Resaca, Dalhis, Marietta,

Beach Tree Creek, and Atlanta, Ga. ; Chesterfield

Court-House, S. C. ; and Silver Run, N. C, ; and was

mustered out with distinguished honor July 19, I860.

On the rolls of this regiment we find the following

names of Winchester men :

Uarlan P. Bugg, corporal In Co. I; wounded at Cedar UountatD; pro. to

captain ; muHt. out July 10, 18(15,

Bobert Arnohl, killed at Cedar Slouutaio, Aug. 0, 1802.

Joseph Hermandy, must, out July 19, 1865.

William Murray, disch. Feb. 23, 1865.

Robert St. Clair, must, out July 19, 1865.

During the month of September, 1861, a quota of

sixteen Winchester men and about twenty men from

other towns in the county of Litchfield were recruited

under the auspices of Second Lieut. Charles C.

Palmer, late of Company E, and on the 7th of Sep-

tember, 1861, were mustered into Company E, Seventh

Infantry, commanded successively by Col. Alfred H.
Terry and Col. Joseph R. Hawley. Of this company
Lieut. Palmer was appointed captain, and Robert

Dempsey, late private of Company B, second lieu-

tenant.

The Winchester men in this regiment were sm fol-

lows :

Captain, Charles E. Palmer; first lieutenant, Robert Dempsey; second

lieutenant, Daniel S. Coe; corporals, Daniel Bellows and John G.

Rowley; privates, George E. Andrews, John Bietlerman, Albert Bur-

dick, Geiirge W. Daniels, Cliarles Gilbert, Charles L. Hewitt, Sterling

D. Milliman, James A. Pease, Patrick t^uigley, Henry H. Rowley,
James Tencellent, all of Company E.

Captain Palmer, an unassuming young man of delicate training, de-

veloped in his fii-st campaign the highest soldierly qualilics by strict and
cheerful performance of duty, and kind attention to the wants and com-
forts of his men. But it was not until ho camo into command of Com-
pany E that his endurance and bravery were fully tested. In the siege

and capture of Fort Pulaski ho commanded Battery Lincoln ; ami in the

report of the bloody battle of Secessiouville ho was highly cumpHmentod
fur bravery and couhiess. Soon after Ibis hard-fought but unsuccessful

battle ho died from exposure and exhaustion. From Colonel Terry's let-

ter to his parents, now Vtereavcd uf their last child, we quote as foUows:

"At the time of the action on James Island lie was s«.> ill that, under
ordinary circumstHUces, ho would mtt have been iu command of his com-

pany ; but prompted by the devotion to duty which always dlstinguJ«hod

lilm, he led his company tu the Held, and gave to it aud the regiment a
splendid example of courage and llruiuess under nuwt trying clrcum-

stances. The nuble puiityand uprlghtne-ss uf his nature ami his emi-

nently soldierly <iualltifs had entU-arod him tn us all, and bad led us to

look forward to a brilliant future for him ; and wo mourn his loss, not

only as ours and yours, but as a loss to the country wliloh he served bo

faithfully."

In answer to a letter to Gen. Hawley from Palmer
Post inviting Iiim to the decoration ceremonies at

Winsted, dated May 11, 1872, he writes as follows:

"The name of your po«t awakens my readlectiuns of that noble aul-

dler and man, CVipt. Palmer. Hvwt shall I forgrt that It washlaox-

trumo thielily to duty that co»t lilm his life. Hu ought to have guoe to

the huspilal, but wuuM not leave the llehl. WVII I rememlwr hbcvun-
teiiancu us I walked by the stretchi-r that carrlvd him dying ou board

the steamer."

Lieut. Demi>«i<y was wuuntled In the shoulder June 1,18C2: returned

homo uu furlough while dlMibltnl ; rrjolned his regtmeut In the full,

and wiui killed at Uluslue, Flu.. Vvh. 24. 18G4.

Privale Charles Gilbert, notud uii the niuslcr-rnlls as from Canton, had

his home reeldeuco In Whichfster, whiTi* he was t>orn and raised.

Conscientious as muM as patriotic motives Induced him to etillst.

Ills brvtluTS hiul fumllios, and he was single, and ho foil It his duty

to repreeeiit thvm hi the survlco. Ho was a ttumt worthy man and •
good soldier; was woundttl lu the hend and h>g nt SeccMlouvllle,

S. (*., litktM) prliKiiier on the ftidd, and rartli<«l to OiHrloston, whoro

he dletl of his wtmiids In the hoepilal, July 0, ISti'l, %gw\ tweiity-

ninu. lie was » sou uf S«iniu«l D. GllUrt, do<:oas«d, lato of Win-

ch rater.

Private George Btdlows served Id Cimipany D, Second Infantry.and after

lioiiurable di!w.-liarge at the end of the term, enllstiil In Comiiany E,

Sevenlh Infantry, Sept. 7, IHOI ; riMnllsteil a veteran, I»ec. :.% 1864,

and dle<l uf wounds nxH'lviHl at Hampton, Va., 0:(. 'Jit, IMOt. Ho
1 wu sou uf George Dellows, Sr., of Wiucbeetvr, and died uuwarried.
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Private Albert Burdick, Company E, died of fever at Beaufort, S. C,
July 29, 1802.

Private John Biederaian, re-enlisted a veteran Dec. 22, 1863, and waa
killed Oct. 13, 1864.

All the other members of this company were hon-

orably discharged or mustered out at the end of their

terms.

In the Eighth Regiment, recruited at Camp Buck-

ingham, Hartford, which fought at Newbern, N. C,
Fort Macon, N. C, Aiitietam, Md., Fredericksburg,

Fort Huger, Walthall Junction, Fort Darling, Peters-

burg, and Fort Harrison, Va., we find the names of

two Winchester men,—Mathew Whifler, private.

Company A, and John C. Cooley, corporal, Company
C, re-enlisted veteran,—both mustered out at the end

of their terms.

In the Ninth (Irish) Regiment we find the name of

Chaplain Daniel Mullen, at the time of his appoint-

ment pastor of St. Joseph's Catholic Church, Win-
sted, a young man of literary culture and earnest

patriotism, who served at Baton Rouge and Chacka-

loo Station, La., and Deep Bottom, Va. He was com-

pelled by ill health to resign on the 26th of August,

1862. He was succeeded as chaplain by F.ather Leo

da Saracena, O.S.F., the present pastor of St. Joseph's

Church, and President of St. Francis' Literary and

Theological Seminary.

It is not to be inferred, from finding no other names

of Winchester Irishmen on the rolls of this regiment,

that the ibreign citizens were wanting in patriotism,

for the names of Winchester men in other regiments

abundantly show that in proportion to our population

Irishmen, Germans, and Englishmen are amply rep-

resented.

On the roll of the Tenth Regiment the only name
of a Winchester man is that of Col. Ira W. Pettibone,

who was commissioned as major; served in the bat-

tles of Roanoke Island and Newbern, N. C, and was

successively promoted to lieutenant-colonel and col-

onel. The climate of North Carolina debilitated him

to such a degree that he was compelled to resign, and

he was honorably discharged in November, 1862.

The Twelfth Regiment of Volunteer Infantry was

recruited at Camp Lyon, Hartford, under command
of Col. Henry C. Deming ; was attached to Butler's

division, and sailed from New York for Ship Island,

Mississippi Sound, Feb. 24, 1862. It followed the

naval armament, under Farragut, up the Mississippi,

and witnessed the bombardment of Forts Jackson

and St. Philip ; followed the armament up to New
Orleans, where it landed and garrisoned the city on

its forced .surrender, Col. Deming assuming the office

of provisional mayor. It was encamped for a time

at Baton Rouge, and was afterwards engaged in active

service in Louisiana. It bore a conspicuous part in

the siege of Port Hudson, after which it returned to

New Orleans, and in July, 1864, embarked for For-

tress Monroe, and in August following joined Sheri-

dan's army in the Shenandoah Valley, and partici-

pated in the battles of Opequan, Fisher's Hill, and
Cedar Creek, after which, it having been reduced to

a skeleton by losses in battle and by disease, and by
expiration of the term of service of a large portion

of its men, it was reorganized under Lieut.-Col.

Lewis, and continued to serve in Virginia until its

muster out in August, 1865.

Only six Winchester men belonged to this regiment,

as follows

:

Dr. John B. Welch, second assistant surgeon, who died of scarlatina, on
shipboard, at Ship Island, Teb. 13, 1802.

Dr. John R. Cuniniing, appointed second assistant surgeon in place of

Assist. Surg. Welch, was promoted to surgeon, and was mustered out

at Savannah, Ga., Aug. 12, 186.5.

Private Solomon R. Hinsilale, Co. A, appointed quartermaster-sergeant

;

promoted to second licuteiuint; resigned Aug. 9, 1862, on his ap-

pointment as assistant-paymaster in the navy, after which he served

ou the Mississippi llotilla above Vicksburg, until prostrated by fever,

and compelled to resign by impaired health.

Sergt. Jacob T. Brown, Co. C, killed at Fisher's Hill, Va., Sept. 19, 1804.

Wliilo giving water from his canteen to a wounded lieutenant of an

Iowa regiment, on the battle-field, he Wiis shot in the abdomen by a

rebel sharpshooter, and died three hours after. He was a model of

physical Diaidiood ; a kind-hearted, unassumiug man, and a consist-

ent member of the Methodist Church, esteemed by his comrades as

a conscientious Christian soldier.

Private George W. Eggleston, Co. G, enlisted March 2, 1864, and was
mustered out at Savannali, Aug. 12, IS05.

Private Wm. II. Pool, Co. C, enlisted Feb. 24, 1864 ; discharged at New
Haven, April 29, 1865.

Private John W. Vaughn, Co. C, enlisted Feb. 24, 1864 ; nmstered out at

Savannali, Ga., Aug. 12, I860.

Second Lieut. John W. Hurlbut, of Co. G, resigned June 6, 1862.

A squad of ten Winchester men composed a part of

the rank and file of Company D, Eleventh Regiment

Infantry, consisting of

Cliarles L. Hosford, first lieutenant; Levi L. Dayton, corporal
;
privates,

Frank S. Pease, Lewis Dayton, Edward S. Fleming, Charles Hull,

George Kinney, Dauiel Lotheriugtou, AVilliam H. Slack, and Albert

M. Tuttle.

Another squad of twelve men composed a part of

Company E of the same regiment, consisting of

Francis T. Brown, fii"st sergeant; Samuel B. Home and Hiram C. Rob-

erts, sergeants ; William T. Page, Jr., and John K. Twiss, corporals
;

privates, George .\lleu, William E. Cogswell, James Dudley, Erastus

Eggleston and Rufus Eggleston (twins), Andrew M. Hurlbut, Le-

ander Packard.

The following Winchester men of this regiment

were killed or died in the service:

Private Lewis Dayton, Co. D; killed at Sharpsburg (Antietam), Md.

Private Wm. II. Slack, Co. D ; died of wounds (loss of an arm) received at

Newbern, March 22, 1S02.

Private Albert M. Tuttle, Co. D; killed at Cold Harbor, Va., June o,

1864.

Serg. Hiram C. Roberts, killed at Antietam, Sept. 17, 18D2.

Corp. William T. Page, Jr., wounded at Antietam, Sept. 17 ; disch. for

disability Oct. 25, 1862.

Corp. John K. Twiss, Co. E ; wounded and taken prisoner at Drury's

Bluff; died of wounds at Richmond, May, 1864.

Private Wm. F. Cogswell, Co. E ; killed at Autietam, Sept. 17, 1802.

The promotions of Winchester men in this regi-

ment were as follows

:

Sergt. Francis T. Brown, Co. E, to captain.

Sergt. Samuel B. Home, Co. E, to captjiin.

Lieut. Charles L. Hosford to captain, and in command as senior officer

of the regiment at tlio termination of the battle of Antietam.
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On the rolls of the Thirteenth Regiment, organized

at New Haven, Nov. 25, 1861, which participated in

the engagements of Georgia Landing, Irish Bend,

Port Hudson, Cane River, and Mansara, in Louisiana,

and Winchester, Fisher's Hill, and Cedar Creek, in

Virginia, the names of four Winchester men are found,

viz.:

Second Assist. Surg. Lucius W. Clark.

George Losaw, private, Co. D; re-eul. veteran; trans, to Co. B; must.

out April 25, 18liC.

Charles Daniels, private, Co. F
;
pro. to second lieutenant; res. Jan. 8,

1864.

Edward Skinner, private, Co. G; re-enl. veteran; trans, to Co. D; must.

out April 25, 1806.

On the rolls of the Sixteenth Regiment is the name
of Elliot Flemming, of Winchester, a private in Com-
pany G, killed at Antietam, Sept. 16, 1862.

The Nineteenth Infantry Regiment, afterwards re-

organized as Second Regiment Heavy Artillery, was

raised and organized as one of the five county regi-

ments under the call of Lincoln, on the 1st of July,

1862, for three hundred thousand men.*

The names of Winchester men in this company

originally enlisted, amounting to sixty-two, are as fol-

lows:

Captain, Jeffrey Skinner ; first lieutenant, Benjamin F. Hosford ; second

lieutenant, Cliestei- 1). Cleveland (of Winsted Society) ; sergeants'

Orlow J. Smith, Salmon A. Granger, George While, Henry Skinner,

Wm. S. Cooper, Stephen W. Sage, Blasun Adkins, Frederick W.
Daniels, Charles A. Reynolds; musicians, Wilson B. White, Myron
Ferris; wagoner, AllVed G. Bliss; privates, James U. Baldwin, Ed-

ward Beach, Patrick T. Birmingham, Alineron Bunnell, Edward F.

Carrington, Philip D.Carroll, Frederick M. Cook, Alfred Comins,

Rohert A. Cutler, Henry A. Dayton, Adam I. N. Ililley, Edwin
Downs, Lewis Downs, Bernard W. Doyle, Birdsey Gitil>8, George N.

Gihhs, James A. Green, Manwaring Green, William Hall, Luther W.
Hart, Timothy A. Hart, Willard Hart, Geo. W. Hurlhut, William S.

Ilurlbut, William K. Hubbard, Asa Humiston, Alon/.o J. Hull, Henry

C. Kent, Walter Martin, Herman P. Moore, Henry Overton, Joseph

Pettit, Charles Henry Pine, Jerome Preston, Theodore Uobbins, Ed-

mund B. Sage, William Seymour, Lucius 8. Skinner, John Srnlth,

Prosper W. Smith, Philip Stabell, Darwin S. Slarka, John M. Teeler,

Hubert A. Warner, Marcus A. Whitehead, Warren M. Wood, Jnlins

Woodford, Wallace M. Woodrnll.

To these were added, by subsequent enlistment, the

following Winchester men who died in the service, or

were honorably discharged or mustered out

:

Ernest A. Basney, Robert J. Balcroft, Samuel II. Brew, Henry Clarke,

Wells Clark, Benjamin O. t'arman, David Durand, Jared IV Kvarts,

Mathew Fitzgerald, Patrick Keegan, Jacob Le Roy, Julius lUigerv,

Henry J. Reynolds, William Il.Jlowe, Edward Ungg, Edward E.

Rowe, Philip Shelley, Henry Van Duescn, Wllltum Warner, Krastus

Woodworth, Henry Wenzell.

The killed and mortally wounded were as follows:

At Cold Harbor : Col. Elisha S. Kellogg, Sorgt. Frederick W. Daniels,

Musician Myron Ferris, Privates Jamea R. BaldwlD.t A\tni Comlna,

• See Chapter V.

t Among the names on the foregoing list were Jamea R. Baldwin and

Henry C. Kent, who were in the assault at Cold HarUir, and wore never

Boon afterwards. They were doubtless killed, and the remains buried

during some of the following nights by fatlgne-purticit, who could curry

no lights without drawing the tire of the rebel batteries In close vicinity

of the battle-field. Private Baldwin was son uf Mr. E/.ra Ualdwln, of

WInsted
;
youthful and cheery, tenderly reared nnrl religiously educated,

beloved uf his parents and comrades.
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Lewis Downs, Birdsey Gihbs, James A. Green, Willard Hart, Alonzo

J. Hull, Henry C. Kent, Walter Martin, John JI. Teeter, Jared P.

Everts,—14 of Co. E ; to these add Albert M. Tuttle, Co. D, Eleventh

Regiment,—15.

At Cedar Creek: Capt BeojaminF. Hosfoid, whose remains were brought

home for interment.

The following members of the regiment were

wounded, but not mortally, in the service

:

At Cohl Uarbnr: Privates Edward Bcich, Philip D. Carrol, William Sey-

mour, Marcus A. Whitehead, Ernest Basney, Samuel N. Brew, Jacob

Le Roy, Julius Woodford, Henry Wenzell.

At Cedar Creek: Maj. Jefl'rey Skinner, Corp. Wm. S. Cooper.

The following-named men (privates) died in the

service

:

Manwaring Green, Oct. 17, 1SG4, by railroad accident.

George W. Hurlbut, at Fort Worth, Va., March 27, 1863.

William S. Hurlbut, at regimental hospital, Oct. 25, 1863.

William R. Hubbard, at regimental hospital, Aug. 4, 1864.

Jerome Preston, at regimental hospital, Oct. 24, 1863.

Darwin S. Starks, at regimental hospital, Aug. 23, 1803.

Mathew Fitzgerald, prisoner of war at Salisbury, N. C, Jan. 6, 186.').

Julius Rogere, at regimental hospital, Sept. 21, 1S64.

Edward E. Rowe, at Warren Shition, Va., March 27, 1865.

Julius Woodford, at regimental hospital, Jan. 30, 1865.

The heroic Col. Elisha S. Kellogg, who commanded
the regiment at Cold Harbor, and there fell at the

head of his men, though a resident of Derby on en-

tering the service, subsequently removed his family

to the society of Winsted, and his remains lie buried

in the South Cemetery under an appropriate monu-
ment.

The final contribution of Winchester men for the

service was made to the Twenty-eighth Regiment of

nine months' infantry, consisting of the major of the

regiment, a captain, two lieutenants, and fifty-nine

enlisted men. The regiment encamped at New Haven
until Nov. IS, 1862, when it embarked for Pensacola,

Fla., and there remained inactive until ordered to

join Gen. Hanks' army, and, after harassing marches

in Louisiana, was actively engaged in the assault on

Port Hudson, June 14, 1863, sustaining a loss of fifty-

nine killed, wounded, and ini.ssing. The regiment

was mu.stered out of service at New Haven, Conn.,

Aug. 28, 1863.

The names of the Winchester men in the regiment

were:

Wlieeluck T. Bntcheller, miOo'; Luclen D. Wheelock, captain of Oo.

F; Caleb 1*. Kewmiin, llnl lieutenant; Jabez Alvord, second lieu-

tenant; sergeants, Gevrge L. Andrews, Sibu II. McAlplne, MiltOQ

T. Motire, and Henry L. lUdwrtx; cor|iorolB, U. Frank Marsh. Wm.
A. Wadsworth, Wro. Ojuch, Chaa. H. Bfoore, and Joseph H. Batch-

elder
;
privalos, Columbus C. Wright, Sanil. C. Barber, George Bui-

croft, Chas. iluldwin, Edward Canisell, Henry P. C<H>k, Pelar Co«,

Jaa. Dugan, Geo. N. Dewey, Henry Detert, Cornelius Dayton, Chas.

Decker, Lucius Eggleslon, Geo. W. Klmore, Paul Fonior, Correll T.

French, KdwanI Finn, Mathew M. Fitzgemld, Claudius W. S. FosCsr,

John K. Garrett, Wanl Grant, Saml. E. Grimn. Wm. Ilngue, Charles

V. HollMer, George lloskln.Eduard B. Kinney, Italph Lina, Charles

Maddru, Harvey Moore, George K. MiMjre, Silas Moore, Elbsrt Han-

cheater, Thomas Morris, James K. Maddra, Jamea McDennolt, Wil-

liam N. Pierce, t!eorge L. Pease, John Partridge, Klam E. Rlchnrdaon,

William II. Rowe, David R. Rankin, Stephen SrutI, Frank S. Turner,

Lyman Terrlll, Cnaslua Walsun, Howard 8. Wbeeler, William S.

WoudfunI, Mark II. Wheeler, Henry C. White, and Michael Hag-

garty, of Cumpuuy H,
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The following deaths occurred in the service

:

Private Columbus C. Wright, died iit Braahear City, La., May 23, 1863.

Private Samuel C. Barber, died on the Mississippi.

Private Charles Maddra, died at Great Barriugton, Mass., Aug, 23, 1863.

Private Cassius Watson, died at Braehear City, La., May 23, 1863.

Piivate Mark H. Wheeler, killed at Port Hudson, La., June 14, 18G3.

Private Howard S. Wlieeler, died eoon after reaching home, of disease

contracted in the service.

Private Michael Haggarty, of Co. H, died of wounds received at Port

Hudson, Aug. 12, 1863.

The followina: Winchester men served as officers of

the First Regiment Louisiana Colored Engineers :

Willard S. Wetmore, first lieutenant and quartermaster.

Edward Hewitt, first lieutenant.

The following Winchester men served in the navy:

Marcus Baird, ensign and acting eailing-niaster, Gulf Squadron.

David W. Coe, e.\ecutiv6 officer's cleik. United States frigate "Sabine."

Solomon R. Hinsdale, assistant paymaster on tlie Mississippi flotilla,

above Vickshurg.

Henry Overton, transferred from Second Heavy Artillerj' to tlic United

States navy.

Ansel Rowley.

The following is a list of soldiers of the town who
died in the service:

Robert Arnold, corporal, Co. I,5tli Inf.; killed at Cedar Mountain Aug.

9, 1862.

Jacob T. Brown, sergeant, Co. C, 12th Inf. ; killed at Fisher's Hill Sept.

19, 1864.

James M. Burton, private, Co. E, 2d Inf. ; died in hospital at New Haven
May 13, 1801.

George Bellows, Jr., private, Co. E.Vth Inf. : mortally wounded at Hamp-
ton, Va., Oct. 19, 18C4.

James R. Baldwin, private, Co. E, 2d Heavy Art.; killed at Cold Har-

bor June 1, 18G4.

Sanniel C. Barber, private, Co. F, 28th Inf ; died of fever on the Missis-

sippi Rivor.

Albert Biirdick, private, Co. E, 7th Inf. ; died at Beaufort, S. C, July 29,

1802.

John Biedermun, private, Co. E, 7th Inf.; died Oct. 13, 1804.

Alfred Coniin.'*, private, Co. E, 2il Heavy Art. ; killed at Cold Harbor

June 1,1864.

Wolcott Coiik, private, Co. K, 2d Heavy Art.; died at City Point, Va.,

June 10, 180.").

William F. Cogswell, private, Co. E, lltli Inf.; killed at Sharpsburg,

Md., Sept. 17, 1802.

Frederick W. Daniels, sergeant, Co. E, 2d Heavy Art.; killed at Cold

Harbor June 1, 1864.

Robert Dempsey, lieutenant, Co. E, 7th Inf.; killed at 01ustee,Fla., Feb.

20, 1805.

Lewis Downs, private, Co. E, 2d Heavy Art.; killed at Cold Harbor Juue

1, 1804.

George C. Downs, private, Co. C,13th Inf.; died on the Mississippi Sept.

13, 1S63.

Lewis Dayton, private, Co. D, 11th Inf. ; killed at Sharpsburg, Md., Sept.

17, 18(52.

James Dolphin, private, Co. G, 14th Rhode Island Col. Art.; died at

Plaquemine, La., Aug. 5, 1804,

Lucius B. Eggleston, private, Co. F, 28th Inf. ; died at Memphis, Tenn.

Jared P. Evarts, private, Co. E, 2d Heavy Art. ; killed at Cold Harbor
Juue 1, 1864.

Myron Ferris, musician, Co. E, 2d Heavy Art.; killed at Culd Harbor

June 1, 1804.

Elliott Fleming, private, Co. G, IGth Inf.; killed at Shai-psburg, Md.,

Sept. 10, 1862.

Mathew Fitzgerald, private, Co. E, 2d Heavy Art. ; died a prisoner at

Salisbury, N. C.

Birdsey Gibbs, private, Co. E, 2d Heavy Art. ; killed at Cold Harbor June
1, 1SG4.

James A. Green, quartermaster-sergeaut, Co. E,2d Heavy Art. ; mortally

wounded at Cold Harbor.

Mauwaring Green, private, Co. E, 2d Heavy Art. ; killed by railroad ac-

cident Oct. 17, 1804.

Charles Gilbert, private, Co. E, 7th Inf.; died of wounds in Charleston,

S. C, July 9,1802.

Benjamin F. Hosford, captain, Co. D, 2d Heavy Art; killed at Cedar

Creek Oct. 19, 1804.

Willard Hart, private, Co. E, 2d Heavy Art. ; killed at Cold Harbor June

1, 1864.

George W. Hurlbut, private, Co. E, 2d Heavy Art.; died at Alexandria,

Va., March 27, 1863.

William S. Hurlbut, private, Co. E, 2d Heavy Art. ; died at Fort Worth,

Va., Oct. 25, 1803.

William R. Hubbard, private, Co. E, 2d Heavy Art. ; died at Fort "Worth

Feb. 28, 1804.

Asa Iluniiston, private, Co. E, 2d Heavy Art.; mortally wounded at Ope-

quan, Va., Sept. 19,1864; died Sept. 21, 1804.

Alonzo J. Hull, private, Co. E, 2d Heavy Art. ; killed at Cold Harbor

June 1,1864.

Lewis Hazzard, private, Co. G, 29th Col. Inf. ; drowned at Plaquemine,

La., Oct. 5, 186.5.

Michael Haggarty, private, Co. H, 28th Inf.; mortally wounded at Port

Hudson Aug. 12, 1861.

Davis Uait, private, Co. A, Mass. Inf.; killed at Fredericksburg, Va.

Henry C. Kent, private, Co. E, Second Heavy Art.; killed at Cold Harbor

Juue 1, 1804.

Walter Martin, jirivate, Co. E, Second Heavy Art.; killed at Cold Harbor

June 1, 1864.

Charles E. Palmer, captain, Co. E, Seventh Inf.; died at James' Island,

S. C, July 7, 1862.

Jerome Preston, piivate, Co. E, Second Heavy Art.; died at Alexandria,

Va., Oct. 24, 1803.

Hiram Huberts, private, Co. E, Eleventh Inf. ; killed at Sharpsburg, Md.,

Sept. 17, 1802.

Edward E. Kowe, private, Co. E, Second Heavy Art. ; died at Petersburg,

Va., March, 1865.

Julius Rogers, private, Co. E, Second Heavy Art.; died at Petersburg,

Va., Sept. 21, 1804.

William H. Slack, private, Co. D, Eleventh Inf.; mortally wounded at

Newbern, N. C, March 22, 180i.

Darwin S. Starks, private, Co. E, Second Heavy Art. ; died at Ale,Yandiia,

Va., Aug. 23, 1863.

John M. Teeter, private, Co. E, Second Heavy Art.; killed at Cold Har-

bor June 1, 1804.

Albert M. Tuttle, private, Co. D, Eleventh Inf.; killed at Cold Harbor

June 3, 1S04.

John K. Twiss, sergeant, Co. E, Eleventh Inf.; died at Richmond, Va.,

May 1. 1S04.

Julius Thorne, private, Co. M, First Cav.; died at New Haven Dec.

14, 1864.

John B. "Welch, assistant surgeon, Twelfth Inf. ; died at Ship Island Feb.

13, 1862.

Howard S. Wheeler, private, Co. F, Twenty-eighth Inf; died of scurvy

at home after muster out.

Mark II. Wheelei-, private, Co. F, Twenty-eighth Inf.; killed at Port

Huilson, La., June 14, 1803.

Julius Woodford, private, Co. E, Second Heavy Art. ; died at Alexandria,

Va., Jan. 30, 1804.

William S. W'atson, private, Co. K, Second Heavy Art.; died at Alexan-

dria, Va., Aug. 28, 1863.

Columbus C. Wright, wagoner, Co. F, Twenty-eighth Inf. ; died at Brash-

ear City, La., fliay 23, 1863.

Cassius Watson, private, Co. F, Twenty-eighth luf. ; died at Brushear

City, La., May 23, 1863.

From the foregoing data we gather, as the effective

force of Winchester men, regularly mustered and en-

gaged in the military and naval service, and honorably

discharged therefrom, three hundred and fifty-two

efficient men, thirty-four of whom re-enlisted for sec-

ond terms of service early in the war, and twelve or

more re-enlisted as veterans after three years of ser-

vice. To these are to be added not less than seventy-

five substitutes, purchased by the town authorities in

the bounty-jumping shambles, who never resided in

the town, and whose names it would be superfluous to







WINCHESTER. 223

give. Of this class full forty deserted,—most of them

immediately after receiving their bounty ; twenty were

unassigned or not taken up on the rolls ; and a small

number were killed, or honorably discharged at the

end of their terms of service, and are named among

the effective men.

. SUMMARY.

Whole number of effective men 352

Men enlisting and serving second terms 46

Deserters, bounty-jumpers, and "dead beats" 75

473

The pecuniary outlay of the town in bounties, ex-

penses of filling quotas, and aid of soldiers' families,

as appears by the accounts of the selectmen, was as

follows

:

1861.—Paid volunteers and their families

1862.— " expenses of filling quotas
" bounties on enlistments

1863.— " bounties and expenses of filling quotas...

1804.— "
1806.— "

1806.— " " " "

1867.— " " " "

88.'il.63

492.59
6,500.00

16,110.00

16,481.05

14,233.4.5

300.00
e.53

864,977.26

The individual contributions, as far as ascertained,

were as follows

:

Balance of cash raised in 1801 by citizens for purchase of ma-
terials for soldiers' uniforms, and for support of their fam-
ilies, and notrefundeil by the State 8676.14

Cash puid by individuals for filling quota in 1864 664.42

Bounties of 810 each tu 100 men by Elliot Beardsley 1,000.00

Bounties paid by other citizens (estimated) 2,000.00

84,340.50

A large amount of hospital stores, clothing, bed-

ding, provisions, and cash were furnished by female

societies, only a portion of which can be ascertained,

by reason of the imperfect records made of the same.

We compile from such records and memoranda as

have been preserved the following items

:

Making up 103 uniforms from materials paid for by the State.. $412.00
" 112 shirts (cloth furnished) 84.00

200 llnon havelocks 100.00

Sent tu Christian Commission 16 boxes and barrels of clothing,
bedding, and hospital stores, valued at 668.18

Cash, proceeds of tableau exhibition 262.60

To Sanitary Coniinission, hosliitiil articles ami stores. 476.31)

Tu Mrs. Harris, Huperintotident of hospitals, Philadelphia, hos-
pital articles ami stores 370.71

Tu Freednion's and Kefugeo Aid Societies 1,660.60

To Soldiers' Aid Society 31.70
To soldiers in Connecticut regiments 06 barrels and 15 boxes

vegetables, provisions, and stores 636.00

$4,600.98

The al)ove articles, estimated below their value, and

comprising an infinite variety, were mainly furnislied

by one of our two female organizations. < )f tiie num-
ber and value of articles supplied by the otiior society

we have obtained no statement, but may safely esti-

mate them at $2081.21 ; and so estimating them, we
have the following summary of town expense

:

Town oxponses $18,977 .2.')

Cash items by citizens of the town 4,340..')6

Clothlnt;, bedding, hospital stores, provisions, «ud cash from
West Winslod Suldleni' Alil Society 4,600.98

Similar articles furnished by other societies aDd Individuals
(estimated) 2,081.'2l

Grand total $60,000.00

The contributions furnished by the female society

above named are sptcified witli great particularity

and precision, and are largely made up of the most

valuable and indispensable articles of clothing and

bedding, the cost of materials worked up and paid

for in cash making a large part of their estimated

value.

One item of hospital stores, nowhere enumerated,

was the product of ninety-five bushels of blackberries,

which were gathered in one day, mostly by females,

on a proposition of Gail Borden, Esq., that he would

convert into jam all the blackberries so gathered in

one day, at the condensed milk-fiictory owned in part

by him, the sugar and cans being paid for.

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES.

GEORGE DUDLEY.

George Dudley was born at Bloomfield, Conn., Sept.

17, 1803 ; married, at Winsted, April 28, 1831, Electa,

daughter of Samuel and Mercy (Sheldon) Camp, and

died at West Winsted, Sept. 11, 1880.

Mr. Dudley began life poor. A trivial incident

fixed his residence in Winsted in 1822, where, after a

few years as a shoemaker, he became a tanner, in the

line of bookbinders' leather. From a small begin-

ning his business grew until, at the time of his death,

he was the owner of four tanneries in constant and

successful operation. Without early advantages, he

had a native executive ability, which, with his strict

integrity, unquestioned honesty, and untiring indus-

try, enabled him to build up and maintain a largo

business and accumulate u considerable property.

His residence of fifty-eight years in Winsted covered

much the larger part of its history, with which Mr.

Dudley was closely identified, a large jiart of which

he was, and no man commamled more universal re-

spect.

He assisted new manufacturing enterprises not only

by money subscriptions, but in the unpurehasable

commodities of kind, hearty interest, words, and

counsel.

As member of the board of directors, ami fur thir-

teen years presiilent of the first bank in town, twice

postmaster, member of both branches of the Legisla-

ture, Preaidential elector, corporator of the Savings

liank, director of the Hurlbut National Bank, and

director of the Connecticut Western Railroad Com-

pany, he btitli proved his willingness to share in the

burdens of society and showed his hold on the confi-

dence of those who had important intercsl.s to bo

cared for.

His wi.sh not to have the particulars of his bene-

factions published shall be respected here, but it is

due to his memory that it should be known that he

was a fre([ueiit, open-handed, liberal giver. Being a

man of large .sympathies, he heartily enjoyed oppor-

tunities to do public or private good with his money.
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The same characteristics appeared in reference to

his relations with his employees, many of whom were

unusnally long in his service, frequently becoming in-

dependent in their circumstances ; serving him faith-

fully and well, they were standing examples of the

possibility of harmonious and satisfactory relations

between employers and employed.

An ardent and impulsive man, Mr. Dudley was

hearty and outspoken in his dislike of measures his

judgment did not approve; but his opposition was al-

ways manly, never crafty or underhanded. No one

could doubt his position on any current question of

interest.

He was equally interested in the welfare of the

church ; was a constant attendant,—nothing but ill-

ness ever detaining him from the regular services of

public worship, in support of which, during the later

years of his life, he was always foremost.

His death left a large gap.

His name is honored, his memory cherished, at

home and abroad by a wide circle of acquaintance,

and it will be many years before his j)lace in Winsted

is made good.

firmness, integrity, and marked strength of mind, and
is now enjoying his otium cum dif/nifate within the

limits of the beautiful village, which he has seen ex-

pand from a small hamlet to a thriving town of trade

and manufacture.

JOHN BOYD.

John Boyd was born in Winsted, Conn., in 1799.

May 17, 1831, he united in marriage with Emily Web-
ster Beers, daughter of Elias and Jerusha Fitch Beers.

She was born in New Hampshire, in March, 1805, and

died Nov. 25, 1842. He was married a second time

Dec. 10, 1843, to Mrs. Jerusha Rockwell Hinsdale,

widow of Theodore Hinsdale, and daughter of Solo-

mon and Sarah McEwen Rockwell. Mr. Boyd grad-

uated at Yale College in 1821, studied law, and was

admitted to the bar of New Haven County in 1825.

He has ever been an active and influential citizen,

prominent in the councils of the county and State. He
was a member of the General Assembly, Lower House,

in 1830 and 1835, county commissioner in 1840, '49, and

'50, town clerk 1829-33, 1837-11, and from 1855-77.

He was judge of probate for fifteen years, until dis-

qualified by age in 1869. In 1854 he was elected

State senator, and from 1859 to 1861 was Secretary of

State of Connecticut. He was an active business

man, and from 1827 to 1850 was a member of the

manufacturing firm of J. Boyd & Son. From 1850 to

1853 he conducted the business as sole proprietor.

Although engrossed in the multifarious duties of an

active business and public career, Mr. Boyd has found

time to indulge his taste for literary and genealogical

pursuits, and a few years since compiled and pub-

lished an elaborate history of Winchester, which is an

invaluable contribution to the historic literature of

the State, and takes front rank among the standard

local works of our times.* Mr. Boyd is a man of

* From bis interesting work much of the history of Winchester con-

tained in this volume was compiled, for which the author is under

special obligations.

DR. JAMES WELCH.

Dr. Welch was born at Norfolk, Conn., Jan. 7, 1807,

in the house now occupied by his brother, Hon. W.
W. Welch, M.D. This house was built in 1800 by

his father, the elder Dr. Benjamin Welch, and for

more than eighty years has been the home of some

Dr. Welch.

Trained up in an atmosphere of medical practice,

educated by study with his father and older brothers,

Hon. Asa G. Welch, M.D., of Lee, Mass., and Dr.

Benjamin Welch, of Salisbury, he took the prescribed

course at the Berkshire Medical Institute, at Pittsfield,

Mass., and graduated there in 1830.

For a few months after receiving his diploma Dr.

Welch was located, in the practice of his profession,

at Sandisfield, Mass., but in 1831 removed to Win-

sted, and, except an absence of about five years, while

associated in practice with his brother, Hon. Asa G.

Welch, M.D., at Lee, Mass., he has been an active

physician in this town until the present time, with a

prospect of years of usefulness still before him. It

should be said that his removal to Winsted resulted

from a meeting of some prominent gentlemen of that

place to consult in regard to a physician. After free

conversation, it was decided to ask Dr. AVelch to settle

in the village. The next day Lucius Clarke, Esq.,

went to Sandisfield, and had an interview with Dr.

Welch. The consequence was the doctor came to

Winsted, and has been a leading physician for fifty

years, having done an extensive consulting business

in the county. It is worthy of note that the doctor,

his four brothers, and their father were all practicing

physicians within an area of thirty-five miles, and so

often met in consultation.

In the winter of 1880-81, in recognition of half a

century of hard work among them, and as an expres-

sion of good will to Dr. and Mrs. Welch, a few of his

friends took occasion to present to the doctor an

elegant Elgin watch, a gold hunting-case, with all

the modern improvements, as a souvenir.

Dr. Welch was married. May 18, 1831, to Miss La-

vinia M. Hubbard, of Salisbury, and the golden wed-

ding anniversary was appropriately observed in 1881.

Mrs. Welch has borne the burdens and perplexities of

a country physician's wife with unwavering energy

and cheerfulness, and her ready sympathy and tact

have always been a help to her husband and his

patients in difficult places.

Six children were born to them,—one promising

daughter, who died in childhood, and five sons,—of

whom but three survive, viz., James H., Esq., so long

a druggist at Apothecaries' Hall ; Dr. William C, of



i



'-^^^

Cy^ir/^^'-^r />^^/£,

'/ ? i^-y-^S—er-^ e^l











Dooghtj, Fbotographor, WlDit«d, Codd.





WINCHESTER. 225

Norfolk ; and Dr. Edward H., associated with his

father in practice. Another son, Dr. John B., a young

man of sterling worth, was assistant surgeon of the

Twelfth Regiment Connecticut Volunteers, and died

at Ship Island, Feb. 13, 1862, aged twenty-four years,

in circumstances peculiarly trying to his friends.

Dr. Welch has long been a consistent member of

the Congregational Church, and has been unusually

regular in his attendance upon its public service.

With his wife, he was among the original members of

the Second Church when organized in 1854.

The doctor was a Whig, and then a Republican, in

his political sympathies, and, though not devoting

much attention to politics, has always been influential

in these matters. While decided in his sentiments

and straightforward in his course, he has so tempered

his utterances Ijy his kindness of heart and good

sense as to win the respect and affection of many of

different views.

In a word, Dr. Welch is surely deserving of the

title of the " beloved physician." Of unvarying cheer-

ftilness, quick to discriminate in regard to character,

of remarkable memory of names and incidents, of

ready sympathy and special tact, slow to speak ill of

any, thoroughly acquainted with so many families in

this and adjoining towns through several generations,

perfectly at home in his profession, and to an unusual

degree keeping abreast with the times, he has given

to the community a standard of attainments with

which every coming physician for years must be

compared.

formed a co-partnership with Dr. James Welch for

the practice of his profession. After practicing with

Dr. Welch a number of years he retired from the part-

nership, and has since continued the practice alone

and with great success. His huge and lucrative prac-

tice and the present proud position he occupies among
the physicians of this section have not been attained

without a struggle. He is not only prompt in the

discharge of his professional duties, but is a thorough

student, keeping abreast with the marvelous progress

which has characterized the realm of medicine for the

past twenty years.

June 2, 1863, he married Alice J. Hart, of Bark-

hamsted, a granddaughter of Dr. Amos Beecher, a

prominent physician in the town. They have one

child, Alice Louise.

Dr. Bidwell is a Republican in politics, and repre-

sented the town in the Legislature in 1855. In relig-

ious matters he is a Congregationalist and a member
of the Second Church of Winsted.

JOHN WELCH BIDWELL.
|

John W. Bidwell, now a leading physician in the

village of Winsted, was born in South Tyringham,

Berkshire Co., Mass., Oct. 20, 1824. He was educated

at the celebrated private school of the late Alexander

Hyde at Lee, and at the Norfolk Academy. Having
decided upon the medical profession as a life-work,

he commenced liis studies with his uncles, I)rs. Asa

and James Welch, then leading physicians and sur-

geons at Lee. For four years he continued his studies

with diligence and attention at this place, and then

passed some time with Dr. Benjamin Welch, of Lake-

ville, in this county, who was distinguished as a sur-

geon. He also studied for a brief period with Dr.

William Welch, of Norfolk. He attended one course

of lectures at Woodstock, Vt., and graduated at tlic

Berkshire Medical College at Pitt,stield.

Dr. Bidwell commenced practice in Lee, where he
i

remained one year ; and in 1849, during the mining

furore, went to California as surgeon to a government

train. He was in Portland, Oregon, when tlu-re wore

but twenty buildings on the site of that now flourishing

city. He located on Featlur River, Cal., and engagfcl

in mining, wliich he continued with success three

years, when he longed for his native New England
hills, and in the spring of 1852 came to Winsted and

ELLIOT BE.\RDSLEY.

Deacon Elliot Beardsley was born in Monroe,

Conn., Dec. 26, 1801, son of Elliot and Abigail (Pat-

terson) Beardsley. He moved from South Britain

to Winsted in 1840, and engaged in business, hi com-

jiany with Theodore Hinsdale, and after the death

of tlie latter became sole owner of one of tiie largest

manufacturing establishments in the society, and

managed it with consummate ability during his re-

maining active life. Reticent and deliberate by na-

ture and habit, he minded liis own business entirely,

yet liad an eye on all that was going on around him,

and participate<l influentially, tliough quietly, in public

affairs. No man in the town was more looked to for

advising and giving a direction to all measures for

public interest, and none more respected for purity

of life, religious example, and earnest patriotism. He
was one of the first olRce-bcarers of the Second Con-

gregational Clnirch, a director and president of the

Winsted Bank, a representative of the town, and

senator of the Fifteenth District, in the State Legis-

lature, and held various other offices. The war of

the Rebellion opened near the close of his active life,

and no citizen of the town exceeded him in energetic

and i>ersistent efforts to aid the Union cause. He
died Jan. 19, 1871.

WILLIAM II. PHELPS.

Prominent among the leailing bankers of this State,

and one of Winsted's most enterprising and honored

citizens, was the late William H. Phelps, who was

Ixirn in Colebrook, .Vpril •">, 1818. Ho married, May

28, 184<», Lucy C. daughter of Dr. Luman Wakefield.

His first business transactions were at Uivorton, in a

country store, where he remained a short time and

then removed to Winsted, and went into the mercan-
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tile business witli Normand Adams at East Winsted.

He continued there about tliree years and tlien re-

moved to Chicago, and became a member of a large

mercantile firm, and was eminently successful. After

a number of years he returned to Winsted, and was

the first president and organizer of the Hurlbut

National Bank, and remained as such until his death,

Aug. 27, 1864. Mr. Phelps manifested a lively in-

terest in municipal affairs, and was the first warden
of the borough of Winsted. He was a Democrat, and

attended the Episcopal Church. He was in all re-

spects a thorough business man, active, energetic, and
upright. Two children survive him,—George W.
Phelps, of this village, and Elizabeth N., wife of Ed-

ward L. Soule, of Boston, Mass.

Upon the death of Mr. Phelps, the directors of the

bank, by vote on record,

—

*' li&tolvat. That we are fully sensible of tlio loas to this institution of

an fttile tinaiicier, whose fiiithrnlness and diligence in managing the af-

fail's of the hank are fully apparent in its siiccess, and tlie cliaracter it

has sustained at home and abi-oad for its soundness and prosperity.

" We also feel deeply liis loss in common with this conininnity, as an

honest and cupahlo adviser, a genial companion, and highly-esteemed

citizen."

The Winsted Herald tinder date Aug. 26, 1864, in

speaking of Mr. Phelps, said,

—

" Although nuide aware through these columns of the grave nature of

his illness, it was with difticulty that our community could be made to

believe, slill more to realize, last Monday morning, that Mr. William H.

Phelps waa to be no more with us except as a sleeper in the church-

yard.

" The Ilurlbut Jiank of this village was started some ten years ago,

maiidy through Mr. Phelps" instrumentality, and it has been under his

sole niauagenient, and singularly successful to the present time.

*' In this institution he rajiidly added to a reputation already higli as a

financier; and he thus became by degrees a counselor to almost all who
have had moneys to invest, throughout a wide region.

"In tliis relation ho took pleasure and felt an honorable pride. To

his credit, be it said, the relation was never abused.

" For his advice he asked nothing, and, however trivial the applica-

tion, it was met with uniform kindness and attention.

*' The woman, anxious for the security of her single hundred, was

treated witli j>atience and consideration no less than the affluent posses-

sor of thousand.-:, and his assistance was even more cheerfully bestowed.

"In his bank management, though oft quoting and generally adhering

to the principle that ' a bank is not a benevolent institution,' he \v;is

uniformly liberal, and the Ilurlbut Bank, while it luis been riclily pro-

ductive to its stockholdei-s, has always enjoyed the favor of the com-

munity as a public benetit.

" As a citizen, tlie deceased was a man of genuine public spirit, and

had he found a co-operative disposition in other citizens equally atttu-

ent. he would have done much for Winsted.

" The beautiful park in our East village is a monument to his energy

and liberality. He has made repeated (but vain) efforts to bring about

the incorporation of a cemetery association suited to the necessities and

reputation of the town. .

" In the school project whicli came near success last winter, and fell

through only in consequence of lamentable apathy and causeless hos-

tility, he was a prime mover. And so we might mention many other

public enterprises to which he lent a liearty sympathy ; and that he did

not go forward alone in them is a mark of good judgment, and not

blamable. Had tlie usual term of life been allotted him, we know of

our own private knowledge that the proofs of his public spirit would

have been still more conspicuous. Socially, the subject of this inade-

quate notice had no vices,—not many were his faults. A varied reading,

the cultivation of travel, happy facility at quotation, and ready wit, en-

grafted upon an exceedingly social nature, rendered him the choicest of

companions.
" Success always attracts admirera ; but the immense concourse which

followed to their burial tlie renrains of William H. Phelps on yesterday

were not merely fasci nated acquaintances,—they were friends, fastened by

iioly ties; and the blow whicli severed tliem plunges a large community
in deep and abiding sorrow.

"Mr. Phelps was the son of Dr. Lancelot Phelps, of Colebrook, and
brother to Judge Phelps, of Essex, in this State. He was born in Cole-

brook in April, 1818. He commenced life as a clerk with Alpha Sage in

Iiis native town, soon after went into mercantile business for himself in

Hitchcockville, removed to Winsted, and from 1846 to 1848 carried on
business with Normand Adams. In 1848 he went to Chicago as a partner

in the extensive house of Corley, Wadsworth & Plielps. In 1851 returned

to Winsted, and in 1854 assumed the position in the Hurlbut Bank which
lie continued to hold until his death."

JOHN G. WETMORE.

There is no prouder or more enduring personal

record than the story of a self-reliant, manly, and suc-

cessful career. It declares that the individual has

not only understood his duty and mission, but ful-

filled them. The following biography is highly sug-

gestive of these facts.

John G. Wetmore, now a leading manufacturer

and capitalist of Winsted, Conn., was born in this

town April 27, 1817. He was educated at the com-

mon schools, and first embarked in business as a mer-

chant with the late Lucius Clarke, on the site of the

Clarke House. He was also at one time extensively

engaged as a builder. He subsequently commenced
the manufacture of woolen goods, and finally the

manufacture of pins, which he has continued with

great success to the present time.

The present flourishing New England Pin Com-
pany, of which he is the owner and manager, was or-

ganized in 1854 with Mr. Wetmore as general man-

ager. It started with but few machines, and those of

an old style and of but little value. At this time

large quantities of pins were imported, and what was

done in this country was monopolized by the Ameri-

can and Howe Pin Companies, for the reason princi-

pally that they held the only patent for sticking pins.

Mr. Wetmore determined to invent a new machine for

this purpose, and after two years of constant applica-

tion, and an expense of twenty thousand dollars, he per-

fected a mtichine which would do the work of ten of

those owned and operated by the old companies. From
this time the Nevp England Pin Company made rapid

strides. It purchased from time to time various com-

panies, among which were a New Jersey company, a

Boston company, the Empire Pin Company of Co-

hoes, a Montreal company, the last purchase being

the Pyramid Pin Company, a large establishment lo-

cated at New Haven. The establishment is furnished

with all the modern improvements, and has a capa-

city for the manufacture often million eight hundred

thousand pins daily.

Mr. Wetmore is a public-spirited citizen of enlarged

views, and has been untiring in his efforts to build up

that portion of the town known as the " Flat," or

what might more properly be called the "Centre Vil-

lage," which is the northern terminus of the Nauga-

tuck Eailroad. In 1872 he erected the Winsted
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Opera-House, one of the finest and most complete in

all its appointments in the State. It has seven pri-

vate boxes, and a seating capacity of twelve hundred.

Mr. Wetmore also erected and owns the fine brick

building west of the Clarke House, known as the Wet-

more Block.

Politically Mr. Wetmore was formerly a Whig, and

is now a Republican. He has held various offices

when doing so would advance the interests of the

town. Has been selectman, was one of the first offi-

,
cers of the borough, was warden of the borough in

1862, '63, '64, and '65, and was a member of the Legis-

lature in 1861 and '62.

In 1878 he organized the Winsted National Bank,

was chosen its president, and is the present incum-

bent. The bank is located in the Opera-House Block,

in a portion built expressly for that purpose, and is in

all respects a complete banking office.

Mr. Wetmore is descended from Tlionias Wetmore,

who came from the west of England to Boston, Mass.,

in 1635, in the eleventh year of the reign of Charles

I., and was among the early settlers in the Connecti-

cut Colony. His father, John Wetmore, was born in

Winchester in October, 1780, and Dec. 20, 1802, united

in marriage with Huldah, daughter of Thomas Spen-

cer. He died in 1823.

Oct. 3, 1841, he united in marriage with Eliza

Frisbe Rosseter, of Harwinton, Conn. She died March

9, 1847. Nov. 1, 1848, he married Eliza I'hd'be,

daughter of Col. Roswell Lee,* of Springfield, Mass.

They have one child, Eliza R., wife of J. E. Spaul-

ding.

Mr. Wetmore's life has been one of steady and ac-

tive devotion to business, and his great success has

been the natural result of his ability to examine and

readily comiirehend any subject presented to liim,

j>ower to decide promi)tly, and courage to act with

vigor and persistency in accordance with his convic-

tions.

WII.LI.VM L. GILBERT.

William L. Gilbert was born in Litchfield, Conn.,

Dec. 30, 1806; son of James and Abigail (Kinney I

Gilbert; the former a native of Woodbridge, the

latter of Washington, Conn. Until he was twenty-

two he spent his time mainly on the farm with

his father, attending in the winter the district or

select schools of the time. From that age he became

actively engaged in business. Beginning absolutely

without capital, and having no friends or wealthy

relatives to fidi back upon, his first venture was in

company with a brother-in-law in Bristol, Conn.,

whore they made parts of clocks for one of the lieavy

clock firms there. He ran in debt for the three hun-

dred dollars he first put into the business. It goes

without saying that his beginnings were humble.

* Col. Lee wu •iiporlntendent of the United Slalee Minorjr >t Spring-

flold trum Juno 1, 18IS, to Auguat 25, 1833.

Not until three years had gone by did this young

firm consider themselves competent to manufacture

a whole clock. Then, with a new start in the adjoin-

ing town of Farmington, they became regular clock-

makers, and bringing to this business industry and

good management, of course pro.sperity followed.

In 1835 he returned to Bristol, where, with other

partners, he did a large and increasingly successful

business, until he took up his permanent residence

in Winsted in 1841, at which time he with others

purchased the Riley Whiting clock-factory.

With a number of different partners at one time

and another, and with branches in other places from

time to time, the business has been prosecuted at

Winsted as headquarters with a constantly increas-

ing vigor and energy until the present time. Through

all the various changes in the style of the firm Mr.

Gilbert has been the leading member, and more or

less responsible in the management of the busine.ss.

In 1866 a joint-stock corporation, The Gilbert Manu-
facturing Company, was organized, and carried on

the business with largely increasing prosperity until,

after fifty years of service, the works were burned, in

1871. Rebuilding in the most approved style was at

once entered upon, and with a special charter from the

State, the William L. Gilbert Clock Company now
continues the business. Of both the latter organiza-

tions Mr. (rilbert was naturally the president, and to

botli he has given his beat etl'orts. The present cor-

poration is, an<l for years has been, much the largest

single industrial establishment in the place. For it

and its predecessors the subject of this sketch has

never ceased to feel the special Interest which one

gives to his first love. While active and useful else-

wliore, the clock company ha.s yet been his pet and

pride, and to its success he hits always contributed a

large measure of |)rudoiK'e and sagacity, although for

some of the last years the more immediate manage-

ment has fallen to others. In the course of between

fifty and sixty years the business, like nearly all

others, has become revolutionized. Brass wheels have

succeeded wooden ones ; division of labor has made

it possible to |>roduce the several parts with much
greater exactness, cheapness, and variety ; styles have

changed from the long seven-foot instrument, whose

solemn tick is now most eagerly sought by a host of

collectors, through an infinite number of varieties to

the little atliiir scarcely larger than a watch. Markets

are no longer found by the traveling Yankee peddler

selling directly to final purchiusers, but from head-

quarters at New York and elsewhere the entire globe

is supplied to a greater or less degree with Connecti-

cut clocks. This revolution conies easily within the

compass of Mr. (iilbert's lifetime, and to it-< progress

he has given his share of aid, especially by two jour-

neys to the Old World to promote markets there for

the goods of his firm.

In 1867 the Winsted Bank at West Winsted closed

its business, and was succec<lcd by the private bank-
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ing firm of Gilbert & Gay, the partners being the

subject of this sketch, and the former president of the

bank. A large banking and Western loan business

was built up by the new firm, which continued until

the election, in 1874, of Mr. Gilbert as president

(which position he still holds), and Mr. Gay as cashier

of the Hurlbut National Bank. This closed their

private banking business, but their Western loan

business continues to be carried on at the Hurlbut

National Bank, and has grown to large proportions.

Beside the banking and loan business, Mr. Gilbert

has been interested in a number of enterprises having

a greater or less connection with the growth and wel-

fare of the place. He has lent his aid where it would

do good to struggling enterprises having in them
elements of promise for building up the place of

his adoption, and perhaps a fair return for capital

invested.

Mr. Gilbert was an earnest friend from the start of

the Connecticut Western Railroad, from Hartford to

Millerton. N. Y. While in the Legislature of 1868

he gave his best eftbrts to securing its charter, and on

the organization of the company he became a director

and its treasurer, which positions he has held through

various changes in the company's organization. Al-

though not a lucrative pecuniary investment, the road

has been and is invaluable to the towns along the line,

which are greatly indebted to the efforts and capital

of Mr. Gilbert, and those like him, for the measure

of prosperity they now enjoy.

Allusion has been made to Mr. Gilbert's presence

in the State Legislature. This has twice occurred,

iu 1848 and 1868. He has not been an oflice-seeker,

nor given his time to politics. Besides the position

named he has been postmaster of Winsted. A Whig
at first, he gave his adhesion to the Republican party

when that organization was formed, and has been its

steady supporter ever since.

In 1835, Mr. Gilbert became the husband of Cla-

rinda K. Hine, of Washington, Conn., who died in

1874. None of their three children lived till 1860. In

1876 he married, as a second wife. Miss Anna E.

Westcott, of New London, Conn.

Mr. Gilbert, at the age of seventy-four, holds hi^

health and vigor to a remarkable degree. His habits

are simple and regular, his wants few, his life frugal.

He has always been a temperance man in principle

and practice. In connection with strict, careful, and
methodical attention to business he has developed a

capacity for managing and controlling affairs and men
that has secured him a large property, and fairly given

him a place in the front ranks of the active business

men of his native county.

ELIAS B. OILMAN.

Elias E. Gilman was born in West Hartland, Conn.,

Dec. 22, 1815. He remained on his father's farm until

eighteen years of age, when he went to Torringford,

Conn., and began an apprenticeship at the carriage-

making business. After remaining here about five

years he returned to his native town and established

a carriage manufactory, which he conducted until

1854. In that year Mr. Gilman came to Winsted,

and three years later, in 1857, became the agent of

the Winsted Carriage Company. He managed this

business until 1864, when it was closed out, and in

1867 a new carriage company was formed, called the

Gilman Carriage Company, of which he was the agent

until its property was destroyed by fire a few years

later.

Mr. Gilman has ever been an active business man,

and every interest looking to the welfare of the town
receives his earnest support. He was one of the in-

corporators of the Mechanics' Savings Bank in 1875,

was also its first treasurer, and has held that position

since. He has also been president of the First

National Bank of Winsted since its incorporation in

1879, and is a director in the Hurlbut National Bank
at West Winsted.

He is a Republican in politics, and has been called

to various official positions within the gift of his

townsmen. He was appointed postmaster in his

native town in 1847, and held that position six years.

In Winsted he has officiated in the various town

offices: assessor, board of relief, town treasurer, war-

den, and burgess of the borough, and in 1866 repre-

sented the town in the General Assembly. He was

also elected judge of probate in 1871, and is the

present incumbent. His popularity and the esteem

in which he is held by the people generally was

strikingly illustrated at the last election of judge of

probate, where he was nominated by both parties.

He is a consistent Christian ; is a member of the

Congregational Church, and has been over forty years.

He is prominently identified with church matters ; is

a deacon in the First Congregational Church of Win-
sted, and also officiated in the same capacity in the

church in his native town.

July 4, 1838, he united in marriage with Charlotte

Hudson, a native of Torringford, Conn., who died in

October, 1852. In January, 1854, he married Sarah

Coe, of Wolcottville, Conn.

Although Mr. Gilman has been successful in the

various walks of life, he has gained nothing by mere

luck, but everything by well-digested plans and the

intelligent appreciation of his energies to the end in

view. In social life he is gentlemanly and affable ; is

a ruling spirit in the church, and one of Winsted's

most honored citizens.

JOHN HINSDALE.

The subject of this sketch is a descendant in the

seventh generation from Robert Hinsdale, who was

one of the founders of the church at Dedham, Mass.,

in 1638. His father. Col. Hosea Hinsdale, was born

at Berlin, Conn., Feb. 15, 1775, and March 2, 1798,
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Harvey 13. Steele, the subject of this sketch, is n noble

representative of an honorable profession, which ranks

among its devotees the leading and progressive spirits

of the age. That man who devotes his life-work to the

advancement of a noble profession or to the amelioration

of the human race well deserves the pen of the chroni-

cler of passing events; and such a one is Dr. Steele,

who for over thirty years has practiced in Winsted, and

is one of the leading physicians of the State. He was

born in New Britain, Conn., Feb. 22, 1827. Ho studied

his profession in Hartford, and in 1846 received his

diploma and commenced practice in this village, where

he has since remained.

Notwithstanding the multifarious duties incident to

an active professional career, he has devoted much of

his time to the public service, having been honored by

his fellow-citizens with various official positions for

which his qualifications so eminently fit him. He was

postmaster at West Winsted under Presidents Pierce

and Buchanan. He was a member of the General As-

sembly in 1873, of the Senate in 1874-75, and again of

the Assembly in 1879-80. He took a prominent position

in both the House and Senate, and in 1873 was chair-

man of the House committee on finance, in 1874 of the

Senate committee on corporations, in 1875 of cities and

boroughs, and in 1879 on humane institutions, and en-

grossed bills, the latter one of the most important and

laborious in the House. His popularity was strikingly

illustrated in 1874, when he received a large majority for

senator in a district strongly Kepublican, his opponent

being the Hon. John T. Kockwell, one of the leading

Republicans of the State. Dr. Steele is a public-spirited

citizen, ever alive to the best interests of the town. He

has been warden of the borough ; also interested in the

organization of Company I, of the Fourth Regiment of

Connecticut Militia, which was named in his honor the

" Steele Guards." During the late Rebellion ho was sent

by the authorities of the town to the battle-field of Fred-

ericksburg, and was indefatigable in his efforts in admin-

istering to the wants of the wounded in that sanguinary

struggle. Ever ready to resjiond to the call of duty, ho

has won an enviable position in the hearts of the people

of his adopted town as well as in that noble profession

to which he has devoted his life-work. He has also

taken a lively interest in Masonic matters, and is one of

the best informed members of the fraternity in this

section. He was initiated in St. Andrew's Lodge, July

2, 1851, and in 1854 was chosen its Master. He joined

Meridian Chapter in 1859, and was High Priest of the

chapter, 1800-61. Business outside of his profession has

also claimed a portion of his time. He was a director

in the Hurlbut National Bank, is a present trustee in

the Mechanics' Savings-Bank, and was associated with

Col. Batcheller in the manufacture of scythes at Winsted,

and was also interested in the Eagle Scythe Works at

Riverton for ten years. April 30, 1861, he united in

marriage with Mary Mather, a native of this town, who
died in 1872.

Dr. Steele is every ready in debate, being a fluent and

forcible speaker. He is Democratic in politics, and an

able exponent of the underlying principles of that

ancient and honored organization. Possessed of a genial

and kind nature, affable in his intercourse with bis fel-

lows, with a personal character above reproach, he is

esteemed and honored as a private citizen no less than

as an able physician and skillful surgeon.



Henry Gay, cashier of the Hiirlbiit National

Bank, was born at Salisbury, in tlii.s county,

April 5, 1834. He entered as clerk the store

of Rol)ert B. Mitchell, in that town, in the year

1848, where he rcniaiiicd four years. He was

then employed in the Iron Bank, at Falls Vil-

lage, for two years. In 1854 he removed to

Winsted, where lie has b«cn constantly con-

ne(!ted witii tlio bankino; institutions of the

town. May 20, 1857, he marrie<l Charlotte E.,

daii};;liter of the late Deacon Thomas Watson.

They have one child, Afary W. Mr. Gay is

now in the prime of life, and has hold many

offices of honor and tru-st, and is untiring in

the performance of the duties which devolve

upon him.
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united in marriage with Elizabeth Shepard, a native
[

of Hartland, Conn., who died Jan. 26, 1861.

Col. Hinsdale came from Berlin to Winsted in 1802. ,

He was a tanner by trade, and had made arrangements

to begin the world in Western New York, but the
[

discovery at that time made of the tanning properties

of hemlock bark changed his plans, and he came here

to avail himself of the abundance of this material
[

found in our forests. I

In addition to the tanning business, he was largely

engaged in public affairs. He was for several years :

a deputy, under Sheriff Landon, who prided himself

on his selection of a staff of not only able, but portly :

and fine-looking assistants, thereby sustaining the

dignity of the county magistracy.

He closed his public life with the presidency of the

Litchfield County Temperance Society, which he filled

with punctuality and ardent zeal for seven or eight

years.

His social qualities were of a high order. His ac-

quaintance with men of the county and State was

extensive, and his memory of events accurate in a
[

remarkable degree. At ninety he could recall an
;

acquaintance or event of early days with the readi-

ness of a young man. He was a reading man, well

posted in all current events. In person and manner

dignified; fluent and attractive in conversation; he

was the chronicler and patriarch of the village, the

last of the generation of men who laid the foundations

and controlled the destinies of our community. He
died Oct. 21, 1866, aged nearly ninety-two years.

Johu Hinsdale was the seventh child of Col. Hosea
and Elizabeth Hinsdale, and wius born in Winsted,

May 10, 1817. He was educated at the common
schools, and at the New Britain High School, of

which Elijah Burritt, brother of Elihu Burritt, the

learned blacksmith, was principal. In about the year

1833 he went to Hartford lus clerk in a mercantile es-

tablishment, but the memorable panic of 1837 threw

him out of employment, when he came to Winsted

and commenced the mercantile business on his own
account. This proving uiisucce.ssful, he went into the

shop of the Winsted Foundry and Machine Company,

and learned the trade of a machinist. He subse-

quently entered the employ of tlie old firm of

Beardsley i*i Alvord, where for three years lie re-

mained its an efficient and trusted clerk. In 1K48 he

secured the agency tor this section of a number of tiie

leading fire insurance companies, and succeeded in

building up one of the largest and most lucrative

agencies in the State. He retired in 1871, and was

chosen president of the Winsted Savings l?ank in

1878, a position wliicli he still iiolds. Though not

seeking official disliuction lie iiius discliarge<l liiitii-

fully the duties of many positions which have been

literally thrust upon him by his fellow-townsmen,

such as selectman, a.ssessor, board of relief, water com-

missioner, clerk and treasurer of the borough, etc.

He is a Rejiublican in politics. He was a selectman

during the trying times of the Rebellion, and the

people still remember how faithfully and disinterest-

edly he served their interests. He is a man of first-

class business ability and sound judgment, and has

been called upon to settle various estates of deceased

persons, bankruptcy estates, etc.

Mr. Hinsdale is a leading Congregationalist, and

was one of the original members of the Second Con-

gregation.al Church, and has been a deacon since its

organization, in January, 1854. He has also been

clerk and treasurer of the church since its organiza-

tion, and has kept an invaluable statistical record.

In 1877, Mr. Hinsdale was appointed by the Confer-

ence a delegate to the National Council of Congrega-

tionalists held in Detroit, Mich.

Aug. 31, 1841, he united in marriage with Amanda
Malvina Alvord, daughter of Deacon James H. and

Lucy Cook Alvord, who was born Aug. 20, 1821, and

their family consists of two children,—Mary Elizabeth,

wife of Robert R. Noble, of Williamstown, Mass., and

John Alvord, who is a student at Phillips Academy,

Andover, Mass. Mr. Hinsdale is a public-spirited

man and one of Winsted's most honored citizens.

LYMAN BALDWIN.

Lyman Baldwin, the honored subject of this memoir,

was born in Win.sted, April 12, 1810. He learned the

machinist's trade, and for many years was an employee

in the Winsted Foundry and Machine Company shop,

and subse(|uently became one of the owners and the

manager of the establishment. He continued in this

business until about the year 18.32, when the Winsted

Building Association was organized, and he was in-

stalled as its manager. The business of this associa-

tion was sul)se(iuently closed, and Mr. Baldwin became

the first treasurer of the Wii\ste<l Savings Bank, and

officiated in that capacity with marked ability until

his death, which occurred Dec. 23, 1874, aged sixty-

four years. In addition to other positions which he

held, he wa.s also a director in the Hurlbut National

Bank for about twelve years. He held various town

oflices, and was a pronounced Republican.

lie married Rebecca C. Mather, who was born in

Daricn, Fairfield Co., Conn., .Vpril 1(>, 1S14. Their

children were Charles and Sarah G., both decciLsed.

The former was born May 10, 18.')1, and died on the

yth of the following Septend)er. The latter was born

July 14, 18r>2, and dic<l Nov. 10, 1874.

Lyman Baldwin inspired all with whom he cnmo
in contact with unbounded confidence in his common
sense and uncompromising integrity. He was a thor-

oughly practical man, possessing an indomitable will,

and when once his plans were formeil was diligent

and resolute in their speedy and complete execution.

He was an energetic, methodical, and faithful busi-

ness nnui, and one of Winsted's most honored citizens.
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DAVID STRONG.

David Strong was born in East Hampton, Conn.,

Aug. 17, 1825, and was educated at the common
schools in his native town. He worked on his father's

farm during the summer, wliile the winter seasons

were spent at school. He was also more or less em-

ployed in the bell-factories in East Hampton, which

village at that time was, and is now, the leading bell

manufacturing centre in the United States: He spent

two years with N. S. Markham, a hoe manufacturer,

occasionally traveling for the sale of the goods. Sub-

sequently he taught school several seasons, and during

one winter traveled as a book salesman through Mary-
land, Virginia, and one winter in the West.

In 1856, Mr. Strong formed a copartnership with

Alexander H. Markham, under the firm-name of

Markliani & Strong, in the business of silver-jilating

bells for the bell manufacturers at East Hampton. In

the following year tiiey commenced the manufacture

of coffin tacks and screws of white metal, then much
used by undertakers, and soon after added the manu-
facture, in a small way, of the most common kind of

coflin-handles. At the opening of the war of the Re-
bellion, Clark Strong, only brotlier of David, returned

from Fulton, Mo., and assumed the active manage-
ment of the factory while David took the management
of the farm.

In August, 1862, both David and Clark volunteered

to serve nine months in the Twenty-fourtli Connecti-

cut Volunteers, and the factory interest was then left

in care of A. H. Markham. David held commission

of first lieutenant in Twenty-fourth Connecticut Vol-

unteers, and Clark was adjutant of same regiment.

David had command of his company (C) for about

four months, covering the time of the siege and fall

of Port Hudson. Clark received a severe wound at

Port Hudson on the 3d day of the siege, the 27th of

May, 1S63, which unfitted him for service during the

remainder of his term ; were both mustered out of

service at Middletown, Oct. 1, 1863, David returning

to the farm and Clark to the factory.

In 1865, David Strong opened trade with under-

takers by sami)les, buying the goods of IMarkham &
Strong, which proved to be a growing business.

In January, 1866, arrangements were made for

moving to Winsted. A joint-stock company was
formed there, and D. Strong was authorized by that

company to buy the Markham & Strong business, and
it was done. The joint-stock company took the name
of Tlie Strong Manti/acluring Company. The original

stockholders were Wm. L. Gilbert, Normand Adams, A.
L. Weirs, David Strong, Clark Strong, C. B. Hallett,

J. H. Norton, Ezra Baldwin, and Theophilus Baird.

The stockholders met Feb. 1, 1866, and elected as

directors William L. Gilbert, A. L. Weirs, C. B. Hal-

lett, J. H. Norton, and Normand Adams, to hold until

the second Monday of June following, and these

directors elected William L. Gilbert president, C.

Strong secretary, and A. L. Weirs treasurer.

Jan. 14, 1867, first annual meeting of stockholders

re-elected board of directors without change. The
directors re-elected William L. Gilbert president, and
Clark Strong secretary and ' treasurer ; only change

being in treasurer. In 1868 and 1869 there was no

change in officers.

In 1870, N. Adams, J. H. Norton, Henry G. Colt,

David Strong, and C. Strong were elected directors
;

N. Adams was elected president, C. Strong agent, and

H. L. Roberts secretary and treasurer.

In 1871, D. Strong, C. Strong, H. G. Colt, H. L.

Roberts, and J. T. Morgan were elected directors, and

D. Strong was made president, C. Strong agent, and
H. L. Roberts secretary and treasurer.

In 1872 no change in directors was made, but it was

now voted by mutual understanding to consolidate D.

Strong's business with that of the Strong Manufac-

turing Company, he having continued up to this time

mailing his sales to undertakers, buying his hardware

of the Strong Manufacturing Company, and making
burial robes and shrouds, coffin-linings, etc., and em-

ploying traveling agents.

In 1873, L. C. Colt was made a director, and other-

wise there was no change in the management. 1874

brought no change in directors or management, except

the president. D. Strong was appointed acting agent

to relieve C. Strong, on account of his failing health.

In 1875, in consequence of impaired health, C. Strong

resigned as agent, and D. Strong, acting agent for

year previous, was elected agent, which was the only

change for the year. There were no changes until

1877, when H. G. Colt was elected to succeed D.

Strong. Mr. Colt is now agent, and has been since his

first election in 1877, and he had for three years pre-

viously the full control and care of the traveling

agents and of purchases of all material. H. L. Roberts

hiis been secretary and treasurer since his election in

1870. L. C. Colt has had charge of orders received

and shipping and invoicing goods since 1874. J. T.

Morgan has had the superintendence of the manufac-

turing in the hardware department since 1874. Clark

Strong continued to fail in health from the time he

retired from business in 1873, and he died at Winsted,

July 15, 1878, this being the only death of any one

connected with the company. He leaves a son, Lester

C. Strong, now twenty years old, and actively engaged

at the factory, and a daughter, younger.

The subject of this sketch was married Nov. 4,

1852, to Frances A. Daniels, of Chatham, who died

March 24, 1856. Sept. 14, 1857, he united in mar-

riage with Maria C. Colt, of Torringford, Conn. She

died Feb. 2, 1865. He subsequently married Emerette

L. Colt, of Torringford, a sister of Maria C, Henry

G., and Luman C. Colt, and their children living are

Frederick C, Herbert G., and Homer D. Mr. Strong

attends the Congregational Church, and, politically, is

a Republican. He is a public-spirited citizen, and

has done much to advance the interests of Winsted.

He is a stockholder and director in the First National
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SAMUEL WARD COE.

Samuel Ward Cno was born in Winchester, Conn., June ID,

ISC'). IIo was a lineal descendant of, and eighth in line fruni,

Robert Coo, born in SufToIk.shirc, Knglnnd, in ITjOfi, and who

came to Now Kngland in Ad'M, settling suecrssively at AVntcr-

town, iVIaf's., AVcthcrsfield and Sfiunford, Conn., iind Hcinp-

sload, Newtown, and Jamaica, Tj. I.

Jonathan Coo, great-grandfather of Satnuol W., purchased

lands in Torrington in 1704, which remained in the family

ninety-nine years. He was one of the first settlers of Torring-

ton, and came to Winchester when <dd, dying there, aged eighty-

four years. His son, Jonathan Coe, Jr., known a.-^ Knstgn

Jonathan Coo, moved with his parents, in 1708, to the farm

until then occupied by Robert Coo, where Jonathan Coc, Sr,

died. lie cnmo to Winstcd in 1 7110, and resided thereuntil

his death, lie married Eunice Cook, and died Aug. I, IvS24.

Knsign Coe may bo considered the father of Methodism in

Winchester, being, jierhaps, the very earliest convert, and its

consistent and earnest supporter through life. David Coe, his

son, was born Feb. II, 1781, on the above-mentioned place,

and married, March l.'t, 1SU4, Prudence Ward, who died Feb.

23^ ]HT.\, aged forty two years. Ho afterwards married Esther

Wright. He died Juno 12, I83i. He was also an earnest sup-

porter of the doctrines of his chureb and an active worker in

its oauso. He had five children, of whom Samuel W. was

oldest. About 18.^0, S. W. engaged in trade in Winsted, in

company with Luman Hubbell and E. S. Woodford, and con-

tinued this business until his death. He married Abigail B.

Sanford, Aug. 10, 18.11 ; she died Dec. 2.1, 1838. He was mar-

ried. May 10, I84I, io Julia M. Starks. Mr. Coo wom an oner-

gelif, positive man, of strong convictions, and fine personal

Hppearancu, standing about six feet high. He was interested

in public matters and always identitied with the iiitt-rests of

Winchester, filling many and important positions of trust. He
was justice of the peace from about 18.10 until his death, and

every one having a differcnco with another seemed to come to

him; and as a peacemaker he was unexampled, and was tho

one above all others chosen in an arbitration. He was town
clerk from lS:t.1 to 18.1", and from ISII to 18.il. He was judge

of Probate from 18-13 to 18;)ll, and State senator. He was very

popular with all classes; but it was not (he popularity caused

by subservience, for no man was more marked in his relentless

opposition to all wrong. He was a fluent cxiomporaneoua

speaker, and did g(M>d service by his speeches in all good causes.

He wus an Abolitionist in those days when it demanded unusual

courage and devotion to principle to be one. He was a temper-

ance worker when temperance was comparatively a new thinjc,

and in both of these, as well as in laboring for his church, ho did

good and faithful service. From early manhood he was a faith-

ful member and office-holder of the Methodist Episcopal Church.

In social n-lations and in his family ho was kind, afTeclionato,

ami beloved, and never was a case of sufTering brought to his

notice that diil not have his utmost ofTorts for relief. Possess-

ing many good i|unlitte8 and a winning magnetism, ho wielded

a powerful influence nil through his life, and nt his death, Sept.

20, 1808, ho was universally mourned.

His children by his first wife wore Charles Dctts, cashier for

the Rubber Clothing Company, of New York City; he married

(^arrie E. Atvord, and has one son. David Ward, a merchant

in Winsted; married Phebe Brnsle. His children by his second

wife were Fanny Abby ; marrieil (leorge D. Pitkin, of East

New York Shoe Company; they have five children. Wilbur

Fish, uiorchant in West Winsied; he has been warden of Win-

stcd for the past two years, was two years aide-<le-cainp on tho

stafTof (iovcrnor Andrews, is a prominent Froomnson, member
of lodge, cliapter, and council of Wiusled, and was Master of

St. Andrew's Lotlgo in 1870 and 1877 ; ho is also prominent in

military matters. He married, in 1868, Gertrude M. Koyce, of

Watorbury, Vt.
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Bank of Winsted, and also in the Winsted Real Estate

Company ; was a representative to the Legislature in

1872 ; has been selectman of the town, and was twice

warden of the boroush of Winsted.

FRANKLIN MOORE.

A record of the men conspicuous in Winsted affairs

during the growing and lively period between 1860

and 1880 would be sadly incomplete with Franklin

Moore omitted from it. His portrait is given here-

with. Sharj)-cut and angular in every feature, he

was more so in every trait of his character. But, such

as he was, Winsted was merrier while he lived and

drearier when he died.

Mr. Moore was born, and rather roughly cradled,

in Colebrook, Conn. Later, his father, Salvenus

Moore, built and resided upon the Judge Lyman
place, in Pine Meadow, Conn. Later still, when
Frank was but a little fellow of six to seven years,

the father sought to better the family fortunes by re-

moval to the distant State of .\labama. The father

was a mechanic of considerable skill, and should have

been successful almost anywhere, but his inclinations

were somewhat roving, and soon, with pocket empty

and wife suffering from malarial disease, he was again

on the slow journey—tor this was before the railroad

era—backward to Connecticut. The journey was full

of hardship for the little family,—full indeed, for the

mother died and was buried by the way. Tlie father

soon found solace in a second wife, but Frank, mean-

while, was turned over to such nurture as wa-s aH'orded

in the farm-house of Mr. Nelson Moses, a distant

relative, on a bleak flank of Canaan Mountain, in the

southern part of the town of Norfolk. We are told

that " a contented mind is a continual fea.st." Lucky
for Frank if this be so, for no other feasting had he.

The tiller of these New England hills gets brave les-

.sons in frugal and i)atient living, and these have

their value; but they are lessons to which we rarely

wish to go back, and which we graduate from with

most fervent thanksgiving.

Some four or five winters at the south middle dis-

trict school of Norfolk supi)lied Frank with hiscquij)-

ment of book-learning, and as many summers of

plowing, and hoeing, and chopping, and digging,

satisfied all his farming aspirations. They were

enough, and one day ho made out his own grailuation

pai)crs, sai<l no fiircwclls, but disappeared from the

social world of Goshen North and Norfolk South.

His rea|>pearance, now at fifteen to sLxtcen years of

age, was in Plymouth, Conn., where he bettered his

lot, to his notion, by an engagement of twelve to

fourteen liours per day in a woolen-mill for the poor

wages of board and clothes; and it is presumable that

a single Saratoga trunk would have contained the

whole wardrobe at the close of the engagement.

Later, controlled doubtless by natural but uncon-

fessed yearnings toward the home of his boyhood,

Frank sought and found employment in the then

woolen-mill in Winsted, which he left at about the

time of his majority to enter the employment of the

Clifton Mill Company,—first in the manufacture of

nuts and washers (of iron), a business subsequently

enlarged to comprehend the carriage-bolt manufac-

ture. Here Frank's tremendous energy and ready

skill soon took him to the foremanship of the shop.

Now his services began to be appreciated, now he

began to earn a man's wages, and now those frugal

principles, bred on the Norfolk farm, were put in

practice. During those earlier years never man
worked harder; never man lived more economically

;

never man bent soul and body to the task of earning

and saving more wholly. There is an old saying,

carved deep in a dead language, '" laborare est orare,"

to labor is to pray. This was the young man's style

of prayer. He dreamed of no luck, he waited for no

dead men's shoes. He simply worked and saved.

He had somehow conceived that money was a good

thing to have,—no matter whether money was power, or

honor, or content,—it was a good thing to have. And
he wrought resolutely, and manfully, and honorably.

He came to Winsted at twenty without a shilling;

he died thirty years later sole owner of one of the

largest industries in Western Connecticut, and left to

his family a generous property.

And now, what further? Was Mr. Moore a philan-

thropist, benevolent, and one who sought to connect his

name with multitudinous charities, small and great?

Nothing of the sort. There wa.s no mawkishness, no

sentiment in him. He wanted no sympathy, but

scorned it. And he gave none. But he did what

was better than to squander thousands in undeserved

charities. He showed just what a nuin, (my man, may
do in this blessed New England who has the will to

work. Every dollar Franklin Moore died possessed

of lie fought for and won with his own toil-strength-

ened arm ; and he left to the mewling crowd whose

life is one long grumble nt poor luck, a royal proof

of the old saw, that " Heaven helps those who helps

themselves."

We have remarked that Mr. Moore wius an angular

man. He wits, and every angle and facet as bright

and keen as the diamond's. Tlie way of the world is

to mass men Into jiartics for political purposes, into

churches for church purposes; the greater the mass

the greater the momentum, when in motion, and the

stronger the blow when an obstacle is met. But this

massing of men takes off all their edges and angles

and corners, and rubs and rounds and smooths them
into mere cobblestones,—all alike, alike valueless. But

Frank (there is something endearing in this " Frank,"

by which the world all called him) was no cobble.

He was himself always, individual, dear, and ilisiinct

as a light-house on a level shore. The attritions of

life shar|)<iu'd his angles: they failed to obliterate.

Discrediting utterly the dogmas of the churches,
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he scoffed with a heartiness which, while it shocked,

almost gained men's respect. A cheerless, unhelped,

unfathered life like this, in youth, teaches, irresisti-

bly, sometimes, a self-reliance which dethrones all

other help or care. He enjoyed society, for he was

the merriest of men ; but he acquired no position by

fawning or obsequiousness. Among his comrades

and chosen associates he held his jilace by divine right

at the front in every encounter of wit,—the readiest,

and keenest, and shrewdest tongue among them

all. His drollery was his own, inimitable; and when
he gave it vent, no matter if a graveyard were his

audience, it had to laugh. But beneath the fun was

shrewd insight into the ways of men, the keenest dis-

section of motive, the profoundest analysis of char-

acter. Woe to the masquerader in honor, virtue, or

religion when Frank Moore " went for his scalp"

!

But he had higher qualities than these. Oratorical

powers he had, which, with his other gifts, and a dif-

ferent sphere, would have paved his way to eminence.

He was masculine, rugged, strong, and keen withal,

in every manifestation of intellect and character.

Higher culture in those earlier years might have

made for him a more public and eminent career, but

without it his life was a success, which may encour-

age every young man, however orphaned, unfriended,

unschooled, and poor.

Mr. Moore was born in Colebrook, Conn., in the

year 1827, and was buried in the " New Burial-

Ground" in Winsted in the spring of 1879. His

wife, who survives him, was Maria Roberts, of North

Colebrook ; and she, with their only living son, Alfred

E., who came to his majority a few weeks after his

father's death, continues the business which the hus-

band and father so prosperously and profitably built

up and left to them.

CHARLES COOK.

The subject of this sketch, a leading manufacturer

in Winsted, and one of the oldest in the State, was
born in Winsted, Oct. 15, 1815. He was educated at

the common schools, and began life as a member of

the firm of R. Cook & Sons, iron and axle manufac-

turers, the firm being composed of Reuben Cook and

his two sons, Charles and John R. This business was

commenced in ISU, and the firm is the oldest in the

country that is still doing business without change of

name. (For detailed history of this establishment

see history of Winsted, elsewhere in this work.)

At the beginning of business the firm emjjloyed about

eight men, and at the present time forty are employed.

They use in the manufacture from forty to fifty tons

of iron per month, thirty to forty tons of which is

bar iron. They have received various awards for the

superior excellence of their goods, the last being from

the International Exhibition at Sydney, Australia.

Shipments are made throughout the country, and

they have lately ( February, 1881 ) received an order

for axles from Henzada, British India.

Sept. 28, 1838, Charles Cook united in marriage

with Mary Jane Lewis, of Suffleld, Conn., and has

^c^-r'^^

one son living, Rollin Hillyer. Politically he was an
Old-Line Whig, has lately voted the Republican ticket,

and attends the First Congregational Church in Win-
sted. He was warden of the borough of Winsted in

1866-68. Mr. Cook is an enterprising, public-spirited

man, and has been active in all measures tending to

advance the interests of Winsted, or the locality in

which he resides.

EUGENE POTTER.

The subject of this sketch, who is now a leading

manufacturer in the village of West Winsted, was

born in the town of Washington, Litchfield Co., Conn.,

Aug. 7, 18.38, where he remained until six years of

age, when he removed with his parents to Millerton,

Dutchess Co., N. Y. He was educated at the common
schools, and at the age of eighteen came to this town

as clerk for the old firm of Beardsley & Alvord. He re-

mained with this firm until 1861, when he removed to

Lexington, Mich., and entered the establishment of

Woods, Nims & Co. as a clerk, in which capacity he

oflioiated until 1869. He then established himself in

the mercantile business in Lexington, under the firm-

name of Potter & Wixson. Their store was destroyed
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Joseph H. Nouton washorn in Tolliind, Mjis*.,

Murcli 29, IS 14. Like many nf tlic- Ira.linj;

business men of to-day, lie was reared on a farm

and educated at tlie common seliools. At tlic

ajre of fifteen yeai-s he enu:aged as a farm laborer,

and worked six mouths, for the mea<;re compen-
sation of six dollars per month, for his uncle.

He subsequently, for four sejisous, tended a card-

ing-maehine and made linseed oil, in i'last Otis

village, with an uncle, Joseph Hunt. In 1.S35

lie went as clerk in the store of Lucius (nblffl,

at East Otis, where he remained but a short

time, and then entercnl the employ of Isaac Mil-

ler, of West ( Iranville, a.s a salesman throiiglioiit

the country for silverware and jewelry, receiv-

ing as conipens;ition one hundred and fifty ilol-

hu's per year. The following year he was jiaid

four hundred and eighty donai*s. lie subse-

quently traveled one year for another firm, and

finally went into the same business for himself,

which he condiictetl until December, 1841, when
he purchased the mercantile establishment of

Pomeroy & Norton, at New Boston. He con-

du<te<l this business about sixteen yeai-s with

markwl success. While here he served its select-

man, assessor, and for a number of veal's w;is

pustmaijter. Having been solicited by a number

of the leading business men of Winsled to come
here and take the managenu'iit of the Wiiisteil

MaiiufactiHing Company, he finally accepted.

Sept. 4, 18G2, enterwl upon his duties as agent,

secretary, and treasurer of the establisliment,

which positions he has held to the present timi-,

exi-ept thatofsLrretary, his son, Allen H., having
been secretary for the |)ast few years. This is

one of tlu! largest scythe manufactories in this

country, ami it is not too much to say that its

present prosperity is largely due to the excellent

managi'ment of Mr. Norton. He is a director

in the ilurlinit National Hank, and has Ihcii

for veal's; is also a direi'tor in tln" Met^lianies'

Savings-Hank, and president of the Wiusted
Ileal- I']state ( 'otnpanv.

Politically he is a Ilepiiblican, and \v:us for-

merly a Whig, lie attends the Congregational
( 'linrch.

March 7, 1849, he unit«xl in marriage with
Maria L. Ilawley, a native of Sandisfiehl, Ma.s-s.

They have had two children, one son and a
daughter,— Allen II., secretary of the Winste<l
Mamifacluring Company, and Mary .V.,de(vase<l.

Mr. .Norton is a publie-spirite<l citiwii, and
has done much to build up and advance the

interests of the vilhige of Winstcti.
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by fire in 1871, whereupon Mr. Potter closed out the

business and returned to Winsted, and in the year

1874 commenced the manufacture of sewing silk, under

the name of the Winsted Silk Company, which is now
in successful operation, and is the only industry of its

kind in this manufacturing town. It emjiloj's fifty

persons, and has capacity for the manufacture of

about fifteen thousand six hundred pounds annually.

Mr. Potter is one of the progressive young business

men of the town, and, in addition to the manufactur-

ing of silk, is also interested in the Empire Knife

Comjiany and the Beardsley Scythe Company.

Oct. 13, 1868, he united in marriage with Sarah H.,

daughter of the late Elliot Beardsley. A son, Law-
rence W., was born April 4, 1871. Mrs. Potter died

May 2, 1871.

Sept. 15, 1875, Mr. Potter married Florence Breck-

enridge, and they have a daughter, Louise E., born

Feb. 17, 1877. Politically he is a Republican, and a

member of the Methodist Episcopal Church.

WILLIAM FRANKLIN HATCH.

William Franklin Hatch, son of Capt. Moses Hatch
of Revolutionary fame, was born March 4, 1801, at the

south end of Long Lake. He received a common
and academic school education, both at home and

abroad. He had a decided musical talent, both vocal

and instrumental. When quite a young man was the

originator of the first band of music organized in

town, consisting of seventeen pieces, he playing the

most difficult instruments. Some twenty years

" Ho boomed tho big drum on tr&Iiiin^ days

And lod ttio Subbulh song of praise,"

He was also pupil in the first Sabbath-school organ-

ized in town, and in after-years an earnest sujx'rin-

teiident, who first carried it successfully through the

winter season.

Mr. Hatch marrieil, Sept. 20, 1832, Miss Emeline
Baldwin, of Winsted, when he purchased and settled

on a farm in Winchester Centre, where he remained

a few years, tlien sold and i)iirchased the " Little

Lake Place," near Winsted, where under his system-

atic and thorough cultivation he brought it to n con-

dition to receive the first premium at the agricultural

fair. He was long regarded a leading agriculturist

of this region ; was for nuuiy years secretary and treas-

urer of the (Jrienwoods .\gricultural Society. In the

best and most numerous varieties of choice fruit he

took the lead. Cheese was also a specialty. He waa
the first to introduce the manufacture of English

cheese in this country, which took high rank in the

markets, selling twenty-seven cents per pound; when
common, only ten cents. In every department of

agriculture hccndeavured to excel, thus elevating the

standard of agricultural science. Mr. Hatch waa the

founder of the ice business in Winsted, which he suc-

cessfully conducted as a wholesale and retail dealer

for nearly thirty years, and still has an interest in it.

In politics he is a staunch Republican ; never seek-

ing office, still, he has been chosen to fill many offices

of trust, and has discharged these duties with credit

to himself and satisfaction to all. Mr. Hatch has

been associated with all temperance movements from

his youth to the present time, and has never used

tobacco in any form. Mr. Hatch is a consistent

Christian, ever foremost in all movements tending

to advance the moral and religious interest of the

town. He has been a niember of the Second Church

of Winsted since its organization
;
previously of the

First Church. Married (2d) Miss Elizabeth Eells, of

Clinton, N. Y., Sept. 20, 1871.

Kind and considerate in all his intercourse with

his fellow-citizens, retiring in his disposition, punc-

tual and accurate in all his dealings, possessed of a

strong mind, mature judgment, and decided piety,

these, combined with energy and great perseverance,

gained for him a handsome competency, which now
at even-tide, in the full enjoyment of all his faculties,

blessed with the comforts of a happy home, where

loving hands minister to him, and the universal

esteem and respect by which he is held by the people

of his native town, make his last days his best days.

TIMOTHY HULBERT.

Timothy Hulbert was born in Paulet, Vt., Nov. 2,

1817. Soon after his ])arents removed to Crown Point,

X. Y., where they remained until young Hulbert was

four years of age. From this time until he was fifteen

years old he lived with an uncle, Mr. Benjamin Bate-

man, a resident of Rutland, Vt., receiving the advan-

tages of a common-school education only.

While yet a mere lad—at the age of fifteen—he

commenced working in the forge of .\llrf\ Panfield,

at Crown Point, where he remained three years, and

then went to Sutherland Falls, Vt., where he stayed

about one year in the forge owned by Mr. Slawson, of

Rutland. He then located in Snuth Lee, Ma^., where

he remained about ten years, and then came to New
Hartford, in this county, and two years later to Win-
sted, where he remained in active business until his

death, which occurred June 15, 1873.

Upon his removal to Winsted he established himself

in business in a forge standing on the present site of

R. Cook & Sons' axle-works, and a year or two later

in the forge now owned and operated by tho Hulbert

Iron Company.

In 1838, while residing at South Loe, ho united in

marriage with Ruth L. Kelley, of Brandon, Vt., and

their family was as follows: Laura J., Sarah L., Lu-

cindaS., Walter, and Robert S. Mr. Hulbert united

with the Congregatiomil Church in his eighteenth

year, and remaineil a devoted menilier of the church

until death. He was a man of .scrupulous integrity,

and was a consistent Christian. Politically he was a

Republican.

He always labored to advance the moral and re-
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ligious as well as the material interests of Winsted,

and was one of the most active and earnest workers

in the cause of temperance.

The following tribute to the memory of this worthy

citizen appeared in the Winsted Herald: "Probably

no man," says the Herald, " that ever lived in this

town has commanded a larger or more justly deserved

esteem than he whose death we are this week called

on to record. A prominent business man among us

for twenty years past, his name had come to be a syn-

onym for honesty,—not that selfish honesty which

contents itself with a mere compliance with human
law, but that inward and real integrity which is en-

joined by the doctrine of the Lord Jesus Christ, whose

disciple he professes to be. Active in the cause of

temperance, contributing not only of his money, but

also of his labors and example, in every good work, ,

his life has been a continual blessing to his fellow-
[

men, and his record is on high."

EDWARD MANCHESTER.

The subject of this sketch was born in Tolland,

Mass., Jan. 30, 183L He was reared on the paternal

acres in Tolland, and was educated in his native town

EDWAKD MANCHESTER.

and in Winsted. He was one of the first who at-

tended the school in the basement of the Episcopal

church, which was conducted by his uncle, the Rev.

Jonathan Coe, then rector of the parish. This was a

school of considerable celebrity at the time.

He was reared in the ennobling occupation of farm-

ing, and in 1857 came to Winsted and engaged his

services to an aunt, Mrs. Col. N. D. Coe, who then

occupied the home farm now owned by himself. In

the following year, in company with his brother

Elbert, he opened a grocery and meat market on the

site of the present store of Mr. Barnes. These brothers

continued here about one year, when they purchased

the farm mentioned above, then in possession of their

aunt, and soon after Elbert sold his interest to Ed-

ward, who has since remained there, gradually in-

creasing his possessions, until now he is the owner of

five hundred and forty acres of excellent land lying

contiguous to the thriving village of Winsted. He
became from the first a progressive agriculturist, and

has kept abreast with the rapid strides made during

the past twenty-five years in agricultural science. He
makes a specialty of milk, and of the manufacture of

a superior quality of butter.

Mr. Manchester has ever manifested a praiseworthy

interest in all matters tending to elevate the religious,

moral, and educational interests of the town, and all

just measures for the advancement of the welfare of

the people generally have found in him an earnest

supporter. He is a leading member in the Methodist

Church in Winsted, has been steward a long time,

and is at present a trustee. A strong temperance

man from youth, he has fought rum at every step.

Politically he is a Republican.

March 16, 1859, he united in marriage with Mary
Jennie Grant, a native of Norfolk, Conn., who was

born July 1, 1839, and their family has consisted of

four children, viz., Wilbur Grant, born July 29,

1860; George Elbert, born July 12, 1862; Harry

Grant, born Jan. 21, 1868; Irving Edward, July

18, 1870 ;
and Randall Coe, Oct. 7, 1876. He died

Aug. 28, 1877.

PEOSPECT HILL DAIRY AND CKEAMERY FARM.

This celebrated farm includes five hundred and

forty acres of land, and lies directly north of the vil-

lage of West Winsted. It supports at present a herd

of seventy-five milch-cows, besides horses and other

stock. The cattle are chiefly Ayrshires, and it is the

opinion of the proprietor, after a long and careful ex-

perience, that the Ayrshire for dairy purposes is best

adapted to the hilly lands of Northwestern Connecti-

cut ; however, since the establishment of the creamery

on the farm the number of Jerseys has been increas-

ing. The soil is a rich gravelly loam, with clay sub-

soil, and is adapted to fruits, grass, and cereals. The

apple yield in 1880 was over three thousand bushels.

The proprietor of the Prospect Hill farm is Edward

Manchester, whose ancestors first purchased it in 1783,

so that it has been in the family for nearly a century.

Mr. Manchester is a gentleman who unites scien-

tific agriculture to practical experience and hard

labor.

The history of this farm is a large and interesting

chapter of the history of Winsted. At the beginning

of the century it was owned by the great-grandfather
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of the present owner, Ensign Jonathan Coe, known
as the father of " Methodism" in Winchester, a man
noted for the sturdiness and integrity of his character.

That he refused to pay " the priest tax," as it was
called, for the support of the Congregational Church
pastors, and had his cows sold at auction as a penalty,

and that he lodged and fed forty guests at "Quarterly

Meeting of the Methodists," were events typical not

only of the man but of customs and laws long since

passed away. His home was the hotel of Methodists,

and especially of Methodist preachers, in those early

days. On one occasion, when an aged man, he gath-

ered about him his descendants to the number of

seventy-two, and, after having sumptuously fed them
at the farm-house, they marched, two and two, old

and young, to the Methodist church, where a sermon

was preached to them by the celebrated and eccentric

Billy Hibbard.

Daniel Coe, son of Ensign Coe, was the next owner
of the farm, to whom succeeded his son. Col. N. D.

Coe. On June (5, 1859, it was purchased by its present

owner, Edward Manchester, who is grandson of Dan-
iel Coe, and one of whose chief pleasures is that the

old homestead, now looking younger and finer than

ever before, is still a resort for Methodists and Meth-
odist preachers.

Daniel Coe was a local preacher in his denomina-
tion, and was noted for tlie humor and 2>athi)s of his

sermons and exhortations.

The Manchester I'amily is of English origin, the

surname being a local one, and derived from the city

of Manchester, England. The first representative in

this country was Thomas, who was an inhabitant of

New Haven in 1639, tlie year following tlie " plant-

ing" of tlie colony. Thomas afterwards, in 11)4.'?, settled

in Portsmouth, K. I. ion the island of Hhode Island),

where he raised a family of four boys and two girls.

Of the former was William, born 1654, who, before

the breaking out of King Philip's war, or about

1676, had removed across the bay easterly into the

present town of Tiverton, R. I., but at that time be-

longing to Massachusetts, and being within the juris-

diction of Plymouth Colony. In 1679-8(1 lie wiia one
of eight " i)roprietors" who pnrcha.sed a tract of land

containing some four hundred thousand acresof Plym-
outh Colony. William wjus a man of considerable

prominence, having filled jiositions of responsibility

and trust ofcivii and religious natures. His descend-

ants settled in Fall Kivcr and Taunton, Mass., and in

Little Compton, R. I., which adjoins Tiverton on the

south. At Little Compton, March 23, 1707, was born

John, sixtli in descent from Thomas. While a young
man he removed to Tolland, )Ias.s. In 1780 he nuir-

ried Pluebe Steadnum, of Newport, R. I. She wits

the daughter of Samuel Steadman, whose brother,

Thouuts, married Mary Perry, daughter of Ikiij.

Perry, who wa-s great-grandfather of Commodore
Oliver Hazard Perry, of Lake Erie renown. Wni.
Manchester (5), father of John (6), born 1734, mar-

ried Mary Irish, of Little Compton. She was daughter

of John Irish, who married a sister of Col. Benjamin
Church, who was prominent in King Philip's war.

John (6) raised a large family, boys and girls, and
died at Tolland, 1838, aged eighty-one years. He
was buried at Colebrook River, Conn., adjoining Tol-

land. His second son, Shadrach, the seventh in de-

scent from Thomas (1), was born at Tolland, 1798,

and is the father of Edward, of Winsted. He mar-

ried Clarissa Coe, born 1807 ; she was daughter of

Rev. Daniel Coe, born 1783, and is the eighth in de-

scent from Robert Coe, who was born iu Norfolk,

England, 1596. He emigrated to America at the age

of thirty-eight, and settled in Watertown, Mass., and
later was a resident of Stamford, Conn., having also

lived at Wethersfield. The line from him to Clarissa,

mother of Edward, is as follows: Robert (1), John

(2), John (3), Robert (4), Jonathan (5), Oliver (6),

Jonathan (7), Daniel (8), Clarissa (9), Edward (10).

The Manchesters are of tough, hardy stock, many of

them having lived to be upwards of eighty years of

age, and Edward, born 1«)95, was one hundred and
two at time of death; his wife, Anna Williston,

ninety-five.

TUERox imoxsox.

Theron Bronson was born March 20, 1809, in Win-
chester, Conn., in the southwest part of the town,

upon a farm which has belonged to the family for

eighty years. His father, I.saac Bronson (still spoken
of aa " Es<iuire" Bronson by the older people), was a

native of Winchester, and after a lifelong residence

in the town died in 1849, in his seventy-fourth year.

He was an inHuential citizen, and the largest land-

owner iu tlie towu. Alter he was seventy years of

age he made a public profession of religion, and
united with the Congregational Church. His grand-

father, Col. Ozias Bronson (or Brownson, a.s then

spelled), a native of Farmington, Conn., .settled in

this town in 1774, was eleven years selectman, and
for three years reproiented tlie town in the Ueueral
A.tsembly. " He served as a lieutenant and captain

of militia in several tours of duty during the Revolu-
tion," and was often a|ip<>inted t« attend to public

business in various ways. After a life of industrj-,

energy, anil thrift, he died in 1810, aged sixty-eight

years. He had been a member of the Congregational

Church ill Winchester for thirty-five years, and it is

worthy of remark that, of something over five hundred
members of that church since lie united with it, more
than thirty have been his lineal desceiidanttt.

In politics Col. Broiisoii wius a Federalist.

Mr. Bronson's maternal grandfather was Hewitt
Hills, for more than twenty years a prominent farmer

and trader in the community, and one of a family of

peculiar excellence, specially valued in the early

history of Wiucbestvr. Mr. Hills was an energetic
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man, of fine appearance, of unusual ability and shrewd-

ness, a little given to change, but generally successful

in his undertakings, and never yielding to discourage-

ments.

Sprung from such sturdy stock, Theron Bronson

seemed to inherit and personify the best traits of

both families, and was, in the true sense of the wird,

a representative man. His educational advantages

were such as the common schools of his time afforded,

yet he was a successful teacher for many years. He
was large-hearted, clear-headed, frank, and hospi-

table, a friend to be trusted, and an adviser to be de-

pended on. Cheerful and sanguine always, it seemed

to be a principle with him that if no way to success

could be found one could be made, and he could

make it.

In trade, in stock-dealing, and in the purchase and

shipment of dairy products, he so managed as to

benefit those who dealt with him as well as gain a

competence for himself. In every work for the public

good he was the first to enlist, and gave unsparingly

of time and money for its accomplishment. To his

energetic and judicious leadership was largely due

the success of the Winchester centennial celebration

in 1871.

In middle life he became personally interested in

the subject of religion, and united with the Congre-

gational Church in 1851. As was to be expected, he

carried his whole-heartedness into his religion, was

regularly at the prayer-meeting, consistent in his life,

never aiming at publicity, and liberal in his benefac-

tions, for many years paying one-fifth or more of the

minister's salary in his own village. His religion bore

the stamp of unswerving integrity.

He represented the town in the State Legislature

in 1849, and was for twenty years a justice of the

peace. With a mind of unusual acuteness and dis-

crimination, and an early taste for the study of law,

as well as from the experience gained in extensive

and varied business operations, he became thoroughly

versed in legal forms, and was in the habit of perform-

ing gratuitously a large amount of such work in the

community, and was always the friend and trusted

adviser of those in trouble.

He was a Democrat until Lincoln's administration,

at which time, believing that the interests of the

country demanded it, he voted with the Republican

party, and afterwards until his death, Jan. 20, 1873.

He was married July 7, 1841, to Maria R. Munsill,

of Torrington, Conn. Their children are Edward
H., born July 31, 1842 ; Henry T., born Jan. 1, 1845,

died Nov. 25, 186G ; Wilbur M., born June 9, 1848
;

Maria Louisa, born Jan. 31, 1853, died Feb. 28, 1856

;

Elliot B., born Aug. 7, 1858; Carrie M., born Jan.

17, 1863.

Wilbur M. married Susan S. Nash, June 9, 1880.

Business of sons: dealers in lumber, dairy produce,

stock, etc.

We copy from the Winsted Herald the following

:

" Died at Winchester Centre, on the 20th ofJanuary,

1873, Theron Bronson, Esq., aged sixty-three years.

"Mr. Bronson, by birth, ancestry, lifelong residence,

and active business, has been identified with all the

interests of the town, and especially with those of the

parish of his residence.

" With activity, energy, and endurance rarely

equaled, he embarked in business at an early age, and
prosecuted it in various forms, with increasing ardor,

until the very close of his useful and exemplary life.

As a farmer and stock-dealer he became by far the

largest land-owner in the town, while as a trader and

produce-dealer he contributed largely to the pros-

perity of the community around him. His manly
form and cheerful visage are indelibly impressed on

the memory of a wide-spread circle of friends and

acquaintances.

" When to these characteristics are added a kind and
generous heart and liberal hand, unquestioned in-

tegrity, large public spirit and private benevolence,

and a pure Christian life, we have a man whose mem-
ory will be greatly cherished, and whose loss will be

deplored long after his mortal remains shall have

mingled with kindred dust."

HENRY HUNGERFORD DRAKE.

Henry Hungerford Drake was born Feb. 21, 1833.

He studied medicine with Harvey B. Steele, M.D., of

Winsted, in 1851, '52, and '53, attending lectures at

the Eclectic Medical College, Cincinnati, Ohio, in

1854; was with Dr. Steele from July, 1854, to Octo-

ber, 1858. Has been mail-messenger, assistant post-

master, book-keeper for various manufactories, insur-

ance agent, clerk and treasurer of the borough of

Winsted since May, 1869, and water commissioner

since May, 1872, and elected in May, 1881, for the

fourth successive term of three years. Had the

entire charge of the water-works for more than six

successive years to June, 1879. Has held the office

of registrar of voters since the office was created in

1860, and was re-elected school visitor October, 1880,

for three years, besides various other local positions

of trust. May 18, 1862, he married Mariam Roberts,

who was born in Colebrook, Conn., Sept. 7, 1840.

They have two children,—George F. and Anna B.

WILLIAM LAWRENCE.

William Lawrence, son of Grove Lawrence, formerly

of Litchfield County, was born in Paris, N. Y., Jan.

28, 1801. His father died when he was four years old

;

he was then adopted by an aunt, the wife of Joseph

Battell, who lived at Norfolk, Conn., and was engaged

in the mercantile business. His adopted father took

him into the store when quite young, and he soon be-

came a partner. On the 18th of August, 1830, Mr.

Lawrence married Caroline Rockwell, of Winsted.
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He continued in the store until 1848, when, owing to

ill health, he was obliged to give up his business, and

removed to Northampton, Mass., where he remained

until his death, which occurred Feb. 22, 1867. Mr.

and Mrs. Lawrence had brought into their family by

adoption a nephew, William Lawrence Baker, aged

one year, born at Amherst, Mass., Oct. 5, 1839. At a

proper age lie joined the regular army as second lieu-

tenant, and soon became by promotion first lieutenant.

He was in active service during the late war, and fell

at the battle of Antietam, on the 17th of September,

1862. _

CHAPTER XX.

BARKHAMSTED.'

EARLY HISTORY.

The territory now embraced in Barkhamsted was

included in the " Western grant," made by the colony

of Connecticut in trust to the towns of Hartford and

AVindsor in 1686. After the division of these lands

between the colony and the proprietors of Hartford

and Windsor, in 1726, by a partition deed between the

two towns, dated February, 1732, Barkhamsted, Tor-

rington. West Harwinton, and Colebrook fell to the

share of the Windsor patentees. Barkhamsted, which

contained by estimation twenty thousand five hundred

and thirty-one acres, was divided among one hundred

and eight tax-payers of Windsor on the li.st of 1720.

The town was named Barkhamsted by an act of the

General Assembly in May, 1732,t and in January,

1733, the proprietors held their first meeting at " ye

old society meeting-house in Windsor," when Henry
Allyn was chosen proprietors' clerk.

During the summer of 1733 a committee of four

was sent from Windsor to view the land, and to lay

out the first division into home-lots. This division

lay between the branches of the river, and eastward

as far as Simsbury bounds, with one tier of lots west

of the west branch of the river, the |)roi)rietors reserv-

ing two fifty-acre lots near the centre of the town and
Mast Swamp. These lots were drawn by tlie proprie-

tors in July, 1733, in the proportion of one acre to

the pound on each man's list. At the same time high-

ways were laid out, one, ten rods wide, between the

branches of the river, beginning at tlie line between

Barkhamsted and New Hartford, about one liundred

and twenty rods eastward of the West Branch, run-

ning nortiiward to the boundary of the township.

From this highway several others were laid out east

and west. Tliere was also a highway four rods wide
ne.\t to the Simsbury line, and reservations for higii-

Bj Capt Hanry R. Jonaa, Uolled States (rmy, retired.

t Tliore hn« lieoii niurh <|ue«tlon lu to the origin of the name. The old

e)]elling wa» " llerkhoiiipstcd," and the tlieoT; haa been adraiiced that

eome of tlio Windsor propriotom may bare come from the Englbh town
of that name.
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ways along the banks of the river branches.' The old

North country road over Wallen's Hill was cleared

through Barkhamsted in 1760, the Farmmgton River

turnpike between 1780-90, and the Greenwoods turn-

pike in 1800.

The new township was a source of expense and

trouble, and but little revenue, to its proprietors for

forty years. Lands found few purchasers, and the

country was too rugged and barren to invite settlers.

The principal matters taken up in proprietors' meet-

ings during this interval were the prosecution of

trespassers convicted of cutting, felling, disposing of,

or carrying away wood or timber, and the defense of

the border line against encroachments from Simsbury,

in which Barkhamsted made common cause with New
Hartford. The committees who attended to these

matters were paid by sales of timber or undivided

lands of the proprietors, and the highways were cleared

by sales of the timber growing thereon, funds in the

treasury being low.

In 1753 the remainder of the lands in the township

were divided, exclusive of the convenient mill-priv-

ileges, which were to be disposed of separately, and

drawn by the original pro])rietors or their heirs, in

the same proportion as the first division. Mast

Swamp, and other spruce timber-land of equal value,

was a division by itself, in which every proprietor had

a share. The same year the proprietors appointed

Stephen Chub agent to petition the General Assem-

bly to annex Barkhamsted to Hartford County.

A tract of land remaining in the la.st division after

every proprietor had drawn his proportion was divided

j

into five lots of fifty acres each, and sold or leased for

nine hundreii and ninety-nine yca'rs to pay the com-
' mittee and otiier charges.

In 1792 a committee was appointed to sell or lease

for nine hundred and ninety-nine years, or a shorter

I

term, all mill-i)lace3 belonging to the proprietors,

"after said sail hath been advertised in Hudson &
Goodwin's newspaper three weeks."

EARLY SETTLERS.

It has been the received opinion that Pclatiah Al-

lyn was the first white settler in Barkhamsted, and

the date of his settlement has been fi.xed at 1746.

Careful study of the records of Barkhamsted and New
Hartford proves that tliis must be accepted with some

modifications. Pclatiah Allyn, of Windsor, deeded

to his son Pelatiah lands in Barkhamsted as early as

1739, but the first mention of Pelatiah Allyn as being

" of Barkhamsted" is in 17ol, when he is so designated

in an appointment from the proprietors at Windsor.

The records of New Hartford show that Pelatiah Al-

lyn was a payer of poll and land taxes in that town

from 1743to 17'>'). Hcmnrricd.in HSO, Sarah Moody,

of New Hartford, and his first child was born and

baptized in that town. The probabilities seem to be

that he came from Windsor to view Ids new estates

soon after they were deeded him by his father, but,
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thinking it a lonely outlook for a home, settled him-
,

self in New Hartford, and cleared his plantation in
|

Barkhamsted, just across tlie line, at his leisure, build-

ing himself a hut for occasional shelter, not removing

thither with his family until 1756, when his name
disappears from the New Hartford lists. He owned

several hundred acres, extending from the East to the

West Branches of the Tunxis, much of which he re-

ceived as compensation for attending to the Barkham-

sted interests of the proprietors at Windsor. He lived
'

just across the line from New Hartford, on the farm

now owned by the heirs of John Cruess ; he died in

1783, aged seventy. His sou Pelatiah, born in New
Hartford in 1755, died in 1815, and is buried in the

Centre burying-ground.

Stephen Chub purchased lands in Barkhamsted in
|

1743, and soon after occupied them, as his name is

mentioned in 1747 as being " of Barkhamsted," pre-

vious to that of Pelatiah Allyn. He removed to New
Hartford in 1755, when he purchased lands on Town
Hill, and worked at his trade of a blacksmith.

Israel Jones, I'rom Enfield, is credited with having
;

settled in the northeast part of the town in 1759, ,

where his descendant. Deacon Edwin P. Jones, now
lives. Stephen Chub having previously removed to

New Hartford, the historic claim nuiy with i)ropriety

be sustained,—that Israel Jones was the second per-

manent white settler.

There seems to have been some flaw in the early

titles and leases given to settlers, as in 1788 a com-

mittee were especially appointed to adjust claims and

proprietors' accounts. Israel Jones' earliest deed and

lease on record bear date of 1771, twelve years after

his accredited settlement in the town, where he must

have made immediate purchases or lease of land, as

he was a man of comfortable means, and an excellent

citizen, identified with promoting the interests of the

town until liis death, in December, 1798. He was

buried in the East Hartland graveyard.

Prominent among other early settlers were William

Austin, Jonathan King, and John Norton, from Suf-

field ; Amos Case, from Simsbury ; John Ives, from

Hamden ; Daniel, William, and Gad Rexford, from

New Haven ; Joseph Shejiherd, from Hartford ; and

Joseph Wilder, from East Haddam.
Most of these settled on Centre Hill ; those who

followed came from various places throughout the

State, and were thinly scattered over the diflerent

portions of the town.

Much of the unhappy spirit of discord which pre-

vailed in church and town affairs in after-years was

doubtless due to this fact,—that the first settlers were

linked together by no ties of blood or association.

Simon Baxter, who bought and sold large tracts of

land in the town, was a resident of Barkhamsted for

a few years ; he was a Tory, and during the Revolu-

tionary war joined the the army of Burgoyne.

Thomas Goss, who was executed at Litchfield for

the murder of his wife in 1785, was a resident of

Barkhamsted, where he purchased land as early as

1762.

In 1771 there were but twenty families in town.

In 1774 the inhabitants, who had increased to about

forty families, besides " sundry young men who were

freeholders," petitioned the General Assembly that

they might be incorporated and granted town privi-

leges, that they might give better encouragement to

the interests of religion, education, and good order,

and have authority to suppress vice and immorality

in their midst. This petition was negatived, and the

town was not incorporated until 1779.

In 1780 the following memorial was presented to

the General Assembly, which so graphically sets forth

the poverty of the struggling town that it is given

herewith, having been copied from the State archives

at Hartford

:

" To ye honorable General Assemhlij noto nitlimj

:

" The niemoiiulists of ye inhabitants of Barkhampstead humbly
6ho\%'etli, Tliat your Dieinorialists liave been called upon by order of

your honore to make return of their lists,

'* Wliereas they beg leave to observe that said Town has been but lately

and is now but thinly settled, that ye inhabitants are in general very

poor and low, and many of them have neither land or stock of their own,

but live entiiely upon hiie, both as to land and cattle, which yet they are

obliged to put into ye list. That said land is very rough and heavy tim-

bered ; that ye whole amount of their list is but small, a very consider-

able part of which arises from wild land. That said town (with a small

part of Winchester) is constituted into two distinct societies, in which,

by reason of ye poverly of the inhabitants, there is neither minister,

meeting-house, nor school-house. That they are now about to build

meeting-houses, etc., and settling niiuisters. That they have been, and

still are, at great expense in purchasing and makingnecessary highways.

That most of said inhabitants are in ye younger part of life, and have

numerous families of small children, which is as much as they can possibly

do to support. That there is not more than one man in said Town who
can be said with truth to be aforehand, and he is greatly burdened by

liberally relieving ye necessities of ye needy and distressed. That the

circumstances of said inhabitants are such that they are not only unable

to bear a part of ye public taxes, but even to pay their own internal

taxes, without distressing their families, and especially as there is not,

nor ever has been, a sufficient quantity of grain raised in said Town for

ye use of ye inhabitants. Wherefore they humbly pray your honors to

excuse them from ye payment of any State taxes for ye present, or in

some other way grant them relief, and they, as in duty bound, shall

pray, etc.

" Dated at Hartford this 24th day of October, 1780.

" Joseph Wilder, Ageni.

" In the Lower House—The prayer of this memorial is granted and

liberty of a bill in form, etc.

" Test—W. Williams, Clerk.

" Concurred in the Upper House.

" Test

—

George Wyllys, Sec"

Accompanying this was a true list of the polls and

estate of the inhabitants of the town :

£ «. d.

Total of residents 3100 1 7
" " non-residents *.i50 2

Sum total of foregoing list 3351 7

.. ,p^^J James Weed, Jr.,K i^,^^ „

I Eli Holcomb, 1

Resolution excusing them passed both houses, Oc-

tober, 1780.

DESCRIPTIVE.

Barkhamsted is bounded north by Hartland, east

by Canton and Granby, south by New Hartford, and

west by Winchester. It is five miles in extent from
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north to south, and about eight miles from east to

west, as surveyed for Clark's map of Litchfield County

in 1859. The surface of the town is rugged and

mountainous, intersected by two high granite moun-

tain ranges, some of the steeps and declivities ofwhich

are inaccessible. Much of the soil is stony and unfit

for tillage, but along the streams are fertile meadows,

and some excellent farms have been by enterprise

cleared on plateaus and elevated ground. There are

no mineral productions of any note; small quantities

of iron ore and strata of limestone have been discov-

ered within the town. The forests were the primeval

wealth of the town.

Wild animals—wolves, bears, panthers, and cata-

mounts—found coverts and lurking-places on the un-

frequented mountain-sides. Rev. Osias Eels, the first

minister in town, in a letter to Bev. Benjamin Trum-
bull, the historian (dated 1805), from which some val-

uable information has been gathered for this sketch,

mentions a stone hunting-lodge in the northeast part

of the town, built by huntsmen to protect them in the

night from wolves and bears. Panthers and cata-

mounts have been killed in the town at a comparatively

recent date.
INDIANS.

There was never any permanent settlement of the

Tunxis Indians in Barkhamsted, though there is no

doubt that occasional raids were made upon the early

settlers in the southern part of the town by those res-

ident in New Hartford. Apocryphal stories have

been told of Pclatiah Allyn's early adventures with

Indians, and of bloody contests between hostile, tribes

within the town, which will not bear investigation,

and have an extremely thin foundation even in tradi-

tion. About a mile south of the present village of

Eiverton was formerly a small settlement of the Nar-

ragan.sett Indians. They arc said to have gone thither

about 1779, and purchased two hundred acres of land.

Here was the fa)nous Barkhamsted light-house, con-

cerning which much that is purely imaginary has

been said and written. Perhaps the most authentic

account of the origin of the " light-liousc" is found in

the following extract from the centennial address of

Mr. William Wallace Lee, a native of Barkhamsted,

who has devoted much study to historical matters,

and has had the Ijcst of opportunity for such study :

" Jttmcs Chaiiglium was i\ Narragiuisott Imllaii, a nollvo of Block
lalauil. Wlillo yot a young man ho aitoptitd tlio mannoni and cniitnma of

the whitfH, and camo to Wt-thewflold, wliere he married a widle woman,
Molly Barker by name, who had been diiappolnted by iiureulal authority

interfering to prevent a union with the man of her choice. She gave out

that she would marry the first man that offered, while or black. . . .

I auppono they wire mnrriod aljout 17411; they left Wethenifield, came
over to Farninigton, followed up the Tunxis Ulviir until they found a

resting-place on the Hat ubdut a mile south of Kiverlon, on the east, or

ratlior northetut, side of tlio river, and there niaile a clearing and reared

quite a family. . . . Chaugliam died about 180U, and his wife In 1820,

the latter being understood to be one hundred and five years old. Chang-
ham's children moved from this vicinity at an early age.* He was a good

* We do not think Mr. Lee meant that oB of Chaugham's eight chll-

aren removed, for their descendants, by the namea of Wilson, Elwell, and
Jacklln, were long residents of this vicinity.

citizen, and lived au honest life. The talk about his being an Indian

chief in paint, with plumes, tomahawk, and scalping-knifo. is all bosh.

*' A poor road, as were most of them then, led past Chaugham's dwel-

ling; the river was forded below his house, at the south end of the plot,

and again at the north end. When the F.irmington Itiver turnpike was

laid out, it went past his log house. New Hartford was tlie end of the

route, and the stopping-place for the night. Coming from the north, the

stages would pass by his door along in the evening, especially in the fall

of the year. The drivers would recognize it at once, and so, knowing

how much farther tliey had to go, fell into the habit of using the terms,

' We are within four miles of port,—there is the light-house.' This phrase

was taken up by the traveling public, as well as the townspeople, and

carried far and wide."

From a letter of Mr. Lee is gathered an account of

the Indian burying-ground in Barkhamsted

:

*' Just a little to the south of the old light-house site, where the turn-

pike makes a sharp bend, on the left hand above the road, is a small

plateau or table-laud, where is buried Chaugham, with some forty or fifty

of what were known as the ' Light-house' tribe. There are no monuments,

but a few rough stones to mark the graves. It was quite heavily over-

grown with young pines, but within the past few years they have been

cut off, and the Indian burying-ground now looks bare and desolate."

CHAPTEE XXL
BARKHAMSTED (Continued).

MANUF.\CTURIN(1 INTEnESTi5.

The first mill-privilege utilized in Barkhamsted

seems to have been on Morgan Eiver, near Pleasant

Valley. In the old proprietors' book it is recorded

that a meeting was called in May, 1701, among
otlier purpose.s, " To see if the I'ropriotors will give

liberty to any of the Proprietors to set up a saw-mill

upon Morgan Eiver, either by sale of tiie place or by

a lease for any certain number of years." At thia

meeting it was voted to lease out this mill-place " for

the space of eleven years from the time of leasing,

whicli must be accomplished witliiii six weeks."

Capt. Benjamin Griswold and Henry Allyii were ap-

pointed a committee to lea-se out said mill-place for

said term. When this mill-place was actually leased

and tlie mill built dues not appear, but a saw-mill has

been in operation there since the memory of man.

Somewhat earlier than tlie year ISOO a saw-mill upon

this site was owned by I'elatiah Allyii and .\sa Gilbert,

of Barkham.stcd, and Jonathan Marsh, of New Hart-

ford. Whether this was the mill built under the

original lease is not certain. It is probable that it

was a second mill. Years later it was rebuilt by Capt.

Alanson Merrell, Uriel !?|)encer, anil Edward Marsh,

but it is said the wheel and power were never as good

a.s the previous one. Thi.s mill was formerly used to

a great extent by New Hartfortl people. To the

above Elias Eoot succeeded in the ownership. The
property is now owned and occupied by E. A. Eogers,

who came from Tyriiigliam, Mass., in 1877, purchased

the property, and immediately commenced the manu-

facture of hay-rakes. This industry is carried on in ad-

dition to the general saw-mill business, which is con-

tinued. Mr. Eogeni employs five bauds, and turns
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off three thousand rakes per annum, which he exports

to different portions of Europe and Australia. This

is still considered an excellent water-power.

But a few rods below this establishment is Cannon's

forge, tlie hammers of which are now kept tripping

by the fourth generation from the original founder.

About the year 1812, Elijah Cannon came from South-

wick, Mass., and built the liousc that is now, with its

surroundings, called the Cannon homestead. In 1814

he built a trip-hammer shop, located near the mouth

of Morgan River, for the manufacturing of axes,

scythes, and edge-tools of every description. In 1836

his son, Elijah C. Cannon, became interested in the

business, which partnership continued until 1850,

when they dissolved, the son purchasing the forge

property, and continuing the business solely upon his

own account. In 1843 he built himself the house

now standing near the old site. This li(?use is still

owned and occupied by his widow.

At the time of the dissolution of partnership be-

tween Elijah Cannon and his son, Mr. Cannon the

elder built another dam and shop about twenty rods

above on the same stream, and near the house built

by him in 1812. Here he continued the old business

until he died.

At the lower forge Elijah C. Cannon was succeeded

by his son, E. Dwight Cannon, who liad been em-

ployed by his father in the trade. In 1869 the latter

purchased the upper forge property and homestead,

and now continues, assisted by his son, the manufac-

ture of crow-bars, sleigh-shoes, light bar iron, and

steel. The lower shop and privilege have been pur-

chased by the Greenwoods Company of New Hart-

ford. The property having been rendered nearly

valueless as a water-power by the raising of the dam
of the latter company, a mile and a quarter below, the

shop has been abandoned, and has gone to ruin.

About a nule above the mouth of Morgan River, on

the West Branch of the Farmington River, a saw-mill

was built by Eben Woodruff in 1814. Mr. Woodruff,

who came to Pleasant Valley about this time, was a

religious man, and has been called the fiither of Meth-

odism in that locality. He was a very long-bodied

man, and people used to say he was taller when he

sat down than when he stood up. He continued

the saw-mill for many years, and then sold out to

Julius C. Pratt.

This saw-mill and property was purchased by Al-

bert Baker, of Canaan, in 1852. Mr. Baker imme-
diately added to the saw-mill a large shop, and com-

menced the manufacture of doors, sash, and blinds.

The old saw-mill was continued about three, years

after Mr. Baker purchased the property, when it was

taken down, and in its j^lace has been built another

shop, rendered necessary by the continual increase of

business. In 1867, Mr. Baker took into partnership

his two sons, George A. and John I., and continued

the business under the firm-name of A. Baker & Sons.

They now employ from six to eight men. Nov. 29,

1880, in the shop, John I. Baker was instantly killed.

While engaged in turning out an oval moulding, the

rapidly-revolving block upon which he was at work
flew into pieces, a section of it striking him in the

face. His death was a sad blow to his family and the

community.

About a mile farther up the river is situated the

little hamlet of Youngsdale. In the year 1800,

Joshua Youngs, of Farmington, purchased a tract of

timber-land on both sides of the Farmington River,

about midway between the north and south bounda-

ries of the town ; adjoining lands were bought by him
and his heirs until the tract contained some six hun-

dred and fifty acres. His three sons, Thomas, Con-

stant, and John, came into possession upon the de-

cease of their father, holding it in common and undi-

vided, and receiving very little income from it, until

1836, at which time Daniel and Constant Youngs,

sons of Constant, then deceased, and grandsons of the

first-named purchaser, removed from Farmington and

located upon the tract, about one mile north of the

bridge at Pleasant Valley. Here they constructed a

dam across the river, and built a saw-mill and shop,

for the purpose of preparing the timber for market,

making, among other things, shingles, bedsteads, chair

stock, stock for plate-locks, clothes-pins, etc., employ-

ing several men. In 1848, their brother, Edward J.,

commenced the manufacture of saw-handles in a part

of the shop, employing six to eight men. In 1851

Constant sold his interest in the business to his brother

Daniel, and afterwards removed to Norfolk, where he

died (drowned) in 1879. In 1858, Daniel and Edward

J. Youngs put their businesses together under the firm-

name of D. & E. J. Youngs, and have occupied the

premises until the present time, having extended their

business, using not only timber from their own land,

but buying largely from others.

Seth H., Hart, and Cornwall Doolittle, natives of

Wallingford, came to Pleasant Valley from Middle-

town in November, 1830, and built the carriage-factory

in that village. They were mechanics themselves,

one being a blacksmith, one a painter, and the other

a wagon-maker, and knew how to do every branch of

the business. At first they employed but five or six

men, yet these, with themselves, and all working fif-

teen hours for a day's labor, were able to turn off a

large amount of work.

April 6, 1860, the buildings of this establishment

were destroyed by fire, but immediately rebuilt on a

larger scale, and business continued. Business was

now driving, and more than twenty men were em-

ployed. A large amount of the product of this manu-

factory was sent West and South. Seth H. having

died in 1853, the remaining brothers continued the

business thereafter, under the firm-name of H. & C.

Doolittle, until early in 1869, when they sold out to

John H. Markham, of New Hartford.

Mr. Markham continued the business three or four

years, when he made an assignment, and the business
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has never been revived. The property is now owned

by the Greenwoods Company of New Hartford, and

remains unoccupied. By raising the dam of the latter

company, in 1878, the power became very much im-

paired, and may be considered of no great value as a

water privilege.

The village of Riverton until the year 1866 was

known as Hitchcocksville, deriving the latter name
from Lambert Hitchcock, who came from Cheshire in

1818. Before this time the locality had been known

as " the forks of the river." Mr. Hitchcock first

started a turning-lathe in a saw-mill where Ward's

paper-mill now stands. At this latter he turned out

chair materials, which he took to Charleston, S. C,

put together, and sold them. The next year he re-

turned, built a two-story shop twenty-five by thirty-

six feet, and a dam about thirty rods above the

present dam. Near the dam he built a small turning-

shop, where he turned and sawed chair materials,

which were put together, finished, and painted in a

two-story shop which stood near the main street. He
now employed from ten to fifteen hands, and the

place began to be called " Hitchcock's Mill," the name
by natural habit becoming Hitchcocksville. Busi-

ness increased continually until 1825 and 1826, when

he built the large brick shop now occupied by Ste-

phens & Co., and employed from ninety to one hun-

dred men, women, and children. In 1829, Mr. Hitch-

cock made an assignment of his property, but com-

promised with his creditors, and, with Arba Alford,

continued the business under the firm-name of Hitch-

cock & Alford. Afterwards, Josiah H. Sage having

taken an interest, "Co." was added to the firm-name.

April 1, 1843, Alfred Alford and Sage bought out the

business, Mr. Sage selling out in 1845 to Mr. Alford,

who continued as sole proprietor until 184S, when the

whole establishment was destroyed by fire.

The brothers Arba and Alfred Alford immediately

rebuilt, and formed a joint stock company known as

" The Alford Company," and continued manufacturing

chairs until Jan. 1, 1853, wlien the " Plueni.x Com-
pany" was formed, and the property, was converted

into a plane manufactory. Oct. 23, 1861, Alfred .\1-

ford bought out the Phcenix Company, and continued

the business alone until 1864, when he sold out the

entire establishment to Stephens & Co., rule manu-
facturers, of New Hartford.

This business was started in 1854 by L. C. Stephens

and his son, D. H. Stephens, at Pine Meadow, Conn.

Five years later, in 1859, the business was removed

to New Hartford, Conn., where it was conducted suc-

cessfully until 1864, when it was taken to Kiverton,

Conn., where it has since been carried on and largely

extended. The old firm of L. C. Stephens i*i
( "o. made

first-cla-ss goods from the start. Both parties were

thorough mechanics and inventors, ami introduced a

variety of labor-saving machines that displaced hand
labor, and their goods took a leading position in the

market at once, which they have since maintained.

For many years the senior Mr. Stephens divided

his time between the factory and the markets, and,

being an able man of pleasing address, as well as of

strict integrity, influenced large sales, and made hosts

of lifelong friends among the business men of the

country. His death occurred in 1871.

L. C. Stephens was the inventor and patentee of the

useful rule called the " Combination Eule," which

embraces a substantial brass-bound foot-rule, a square,

plumb, bevel, inclinometer, and drafting scale. This

rule is necessarily costly, but has met with a good

sale. An old man, now eighty-three years old, has

derived from the sale of this instrument support for

himself and wife for fifteen years. He was one of the

old dry-goods jobbers of Boston forty years ago, but

misfortune overtook him, and, having no relatives to

aid him in his old age, he has, as he says, " been kept

from suffering for the necessaries of life by the sale of

this instrument, which he believed was designed by

Providence to sustain him in his declining years."

The present proprietor, Mr. D. H. Stephens, became

sole ownerof the business in 1861, since which time he

has designed a great number of labor-saving machines,

many of which are models of elegance and utility.

Much of his machinery is complicated and costly,

and is, almost without an exception, the product

of his brain. He has done what can hardly be said

of any other manufacturer, for, in addition to manag-

ing the details of a constantly-increasing business at

home and abroad, he Inus, lus already said, not only

designed but made all drafts and patterns for the

fine machines that are at work in the various depart-

ments of the factory with his own hand, and had them

constructed under his personal supervision on the

premises. Many of tlu-m are patented.

Boxwood, of which rules are made, is imported from

Turkey, Russia, Persia, and India.

It is a dense, fine-grained wood, and susceptible of a

good finish. Brass. German silver, and ivory are used

in the construction of rules.

The business is com|iaratively limited when com-

pared with many branches of the hardware trade, and,

in conscfiuence of the introduction of so much labor-

saving machinery, the market is fre<iuently glutted

and i)rices are low. Who would think that a well-

made folding-rule, two feet long, one inch wide, and

accurately graduated into inches and eighths and six-

teenths, could he sold in ijuantities for ninety cents,

and even less, per do/en? When this firm began

business, in 1854, the price paid for making this rule,

not including the cost of material, was as much as it

now brings, and yet the workmen make as good wages

now as then. It is impossible to go into the details

of rule manufacturing in a short article. Every rule

undergoes thirty or forty operations in course of con-

struction, and must when finished he e.\actly United

States standard, and in this establishment all goods

that do not come up to a certain standard of excel-

lence are condemned. The goods made by this firm
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are everywhere recognized as standard goods. They
are sold in all parts of the country and Canada, and

many are exported.

About the year 1827, Edwin Sturgiss, of Lee, Mass.,

came to the village and engaged in the marble-cutting

business, which he carried on a number of years.

The business has been continued by different ones in

succession until the present time, Warren Alford

being the present proprietor. In its best days this

establishment has turned out as much as six thousand

dollars in work per annum.

John Ward and his two sons came to Riverton in

the year 1836 and built a large calico-print worlcs.

Although their factory was just over the Barkham-sted

line in the town of Hartland, it was nevertheless within

the village, and is identified with its interests. This

concern manufactured from two hundred thousand to

three hundred thousand dollars worth of goods per

year, and employed a large number of hands. In

1851 the firm dissolved, and the business of calico-

printing ceased, the ])roperty passing into the hands

of Michael Ward. From 1851 very little was done

with the property until 1878, when the sons of Michael

Ward, under the name of Ward Brothers, commenced
here the manufacture of paper, making at first about

one ton of fine manilla paper daily, but, with in-

creased facilities, are now able to make double that

quantity. They receive and ship about two thousand

tons of raw and manufactured material yearly.

The scythe-shop in the southern end of the village

was built by Williams & Burbank, of Winsted, in

1840. They ftiiled in 1851, when the property was
bought by Ezra Doolittle, Michael Ward, Hiram Good-
win, and others. Soon after the purchase of the

property a joint stock company was organized and
called the " Eagle Company," the organization being

perfected July 30, 1863, with a capital of fifteen thou-

sand dollars, since increased to twenty-five thousand

dollars. The capacity of the works in 1853 was two
thousand dozen scythes annually. In 1869 the works

were rebuilt and enlarged to their present capacity,

which is eight thousand dozen scythes, corn-knives,

hay-knives, and grass-hooks annually.

The officers of the company consist of a board of

directors, viz., Hiram Goodwin, M. Ward, E. Bevins,

J. Gould ; Hon. Hiram Goodwin is president, and

Lorin A. Cooke secretary, treasurer, and general agent.

H. Goodwin and M. Ward liave been in office con-

tinuously since the organization of the Eagle Company
in 1853. The products of this company are sold to

the jobbing trade throughout the country. The goods

manufactured are of an excellent quality. The power

used is chiefly water from Still River, but to provide

against contingencies a steam-engine of about fifty

horse-power has been put in, which, with an American

turbine-wheel forty-eight inches in diameter, drives

the works. The stock used is of Norway iron and
English cast steel, imported expressly for the Eagle

Company. The shipping-point is Winsted, four miles

distant, and the annual tonnage of the company is

about nine hundred tons.

The grist-mill directly opposite the Eagle Company's
scythe-works was built by Whitfield G. Munson.

It proved unprofitable to him, and the property,

after passing through several hands, was purchased

by Joseph Gould, the present owner, who has con-

ducted it successfully for about fifteen years. It is

said to be one of the best grist-mills in all this section.

After a saw-mill, the next thing to be thought of by
a pioneer settlement is a grist-mill. The first intima-

tion of a grist-mill in Barkhamsted is a reference in the

old proprietors' records to a grist- and saw-mill owned
by Pelatiah Allyn, which stood adjacent to land leased

to him by Capt. Israel Jones and Henry Allen, a

committee appointed for this purpose in 1772. It is

recorded, previous to this, that a committee was ap-

pointed to lease out fifty acres, upon which was lo-

cated "a convenient mill-place." This was to be

leased out to the highest bidder, who would give

bond for one hundred pounds to oblige himself to

set up a good grist-mill upon said lot within two

years, providing " that if said mill shall not be kept in

good repair for the space of one year at one time, the

leased premises to revert back to the lessor again."

The latter offer does not appear to have been ac-

cepted, hut the former lease to Pelatiah Allyn for

nine hundred and ninety-nine years seems to have

remained in force, and the saw-mill and grist-mill

kept up. This was located at the old privilege, about

one hundred rods below William Tiffany's present

mill, on Beaver Brook. The old mill is said to have

been standing forty years ago and used as a turning-

shop.

Tiffany's present mill was built in 1840. It was

carried off by a freshet some twelve years ago, and

immediately rebuilt. This is one of the leading saw-

mills in the town ; to it is attached a grist-mill and a

land plaster-mill.

One of the most important mill-places in the town

is that on the East Branch, for many years known as

" Munson's mill." Here a grist-mill was in operation

for a long period, and connected with it a saw-mill.

Its origin appears difficult to trace to a certainty,

though in 1783, at a proprietors' meeting held in Wind-
sor, Capt. Pelatiah Allyn, Capt. Israel Jones, and

Henry Allyn were appointed a committee to lease out

a mill-place on the East Branch of the river for a term

not exceeding fifteen years. This was undoubtedly

the Munson's mill site ; both grist- and saw-mill are

still in successful operation.

Another saw-mill is still running on Morgan River,

about half-way from New Hartford to Winsted, on

the Albany turnpike. This mill was originally built

about 1819, and has passed through several hands.

Some eighteen years ago a saw-mill was built in

Riverton, near the Eagle Scythe-Works, which is still

in operation and known as Hart's mill. Several

other small saw-mills are running in the town.
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At different times there have been in the town sev-

eral tanneries in active operation. Mallory's tannery,

on Albany turnpike, near the Winchester line, was suc-

cessfully carried on for a series of years. There was

at one time a tannery in North Hollow, another on

Centre Hill.

Bricks have also in former years been manufactured

in town, but these enterprises, like the many saw-

mills, have gone to decay.

In its early days Barkhamsted was heavily timbered

with pine, spruce, oak, hemlock, maple, beech, and

chestnut. Ship-builders came from Hartford, Wind-
sor, and other port towns for masts for their vessels,

and other ship timber. Tlie many streams afforded

abundant mill-privileges, and saw-mills were running

night and day for years before the town was incorpo-

rated. In this way the forests have been stripped

from the lands, which could be more profitably de-

voted to timber-raising than any other purpose. As the

forests disappeared the saw-mills became useless, and,

although there have been in the town some forty of

these mills in active operation, but about half a dozen

are now in existence.

CHAPTER XXII.

BARKHAMSTED (Continued).

RELIGIOUS DENOMINATIONS AND CHURCHES.

When a colony of pioneer settlers liave succeeded

in building houses, or dwelling-places of any descrip-

tion, they immediately set about organizing them-

selves into a religious society, and make ])repar!ition8

to build a liouse in which to meet for divine worsliip.

Exactly when the early settlers of Barkhamsted first

held religious meetings seems uncertain, but in a

letter written by Rev. Ozias Eells, tlie first settled

I)astor in the town, to Rev. Benjamin Trumbull, D.D.,

the historian, dated Dec. 30, 1805, Mr. Eells says,

"The first church that was formed in the town was in

Barkhamsted. That was April 20, 17S1." Undoubt-
edly religious meetings were held in the houses of the

inhabitants earlier than this date; but how much
earlier it seems Rev. Mr. Eells was unable, after care-

ful inquiry, to find out.

This letter, just referred to, and which will he fre-

quently quoted in the present sketch, was written by

Rev. Mr. Eells at tlie request of Dr. Trumbull, wlio

wius then prc|)aring his " History of Connecticut," and
who, for information relative to the different towns of

the State, wrote to clergymen and other intelligent citi-

zens who would be likely to know and willing to give

reliable information for the purpose. The original

letter is now in Yale ( 'ullege library, among the Trum-
bull papers, and was copied by the writer through the

courtesy of Mr. Addison Van Name, librarian.

In 1783 the proprietors in Windsor voted to give to

the society of Barkhamsted the use and improvement

of the proprietors' lot lying on or near Centre Hill, on

which the stake for the meeting-house is now set, to

be used and improved in such a manner as the society

shall see fit for the use and benefit of the first min-

ister that shall settle in the work of the ministry in

said society, and his successors in the ministry, except

so much as may be necessary to build the meeting-

house upon, and a place for a burying-yard and

parade-ground.

There was some controversy about the location of

the first church. The stake was first pitched ou the

corner opposite the house then owned and occupied

by Col. Israel Jones, and in this place, now the garden

of W. E. Howd, the first graves were made, thinking,

of course, the meeting-house would be erected there.

As late as 1840 the graves were plainly traced, but

now the plow has obliterated all trace of them, and

truly "the dead forgotten lie." The spot upon the

hillside west was, however, fixed upon, and the pro-

prietors' lot donated in the vote already quoted was

designated as the " meeting-house lot," and is so

marked in the old chart of the town, now rapidly

going to destruction in the town clerk's office.

The inhabitants of the northeastern portion of the

town were dissatisfie<l with this change in the loca-

tion of the meeting-house and withdrew, and, as

Rev. Mr. Eells states, "about a mile and a half or

two miles square was set off to East Hartland

society."

In 1784 the work of building the meeting-house

was commenced. It was an immense structure for

so poor a town ; there were not men enough in the

society to raise it. Help came from Granby, Sims-

l)ury, New Hartford, and other towns to lift the ma.v

sive timbers of white oak. As soon as it was covered,

and for eight years thereafter, it wa-s used in an unfin-

ished condition for religious worship, loose boards

placed upon rude benches being the only seats.

In 1792 a determined effort was made to complete

the edifice, and to raise funds to accomplish this re-

sult a subscription-paper was circulated. This sub-

scri])tion-list is still in existence, and is a curiosity in

its way. We herewith subjoin it:

"Whereas our in(>otliig.|ioii§L> In narkhanwUMl iwrloty, not being at

t))li« preaent tiiiio ns yet not conifortalilo to meet in for nivine worHhIp,

an<l it being In the inlndti of 8ome of the luhabttantM to forwurd tlio fui^

tlierulK-e tuwnrds the completion of the Bald tinusu by unliMdiptloD,

Therefore we, wbiMto nameH are hereunto net down, with the number,

ipmiillly, or measure of each p<irtlcular specie annexes) to his nanio,

—

weather-boards. c1ap.l>oarUs, winiiow<rranH*H. kIuss, nails, hinge*. It ts

always to im uiulerstoiHl the tluil>or to be laliun from the minister's lot,

so called, on wliirh the house standeth. Anil we, and each of us, as our

mimes lire set down with the specie nnnoxeil, there to do, upon the truth,

llilellty, anil tnist of a fatlhful mind, promise to deliver the |Mirllcular

s|N>cle, as annexed to our names, at the said nicetingdiouse, to the laU*.

faction of the coniDiiltee apiiolnted for that purjioae, by the (Irvt day ol

July next coming.
'• Baled at llarkhiimsted. Not. 12, A.n. 1792.

" Israel Joni^ Jr., 4 pound ID shillings; Solomofi Newall, i pound 10

shilling^: elatliih Allen, 2 |Miund 10 shillings (In buarrls); Ephralm

MuiiiMin, 2 pound 10 shillings (In boanls) ; Asa Jones, 2 iiuiinil; Joslah

H. Hart, 2 pound 10 shilllnga (In sashea); Joel Hexfonl, 2 i>ound 10



244 HISTORY OF LITCHFIELD COUNTY, CONNECTICUT.

shillings (in boards); James Rexford, 2 pound {in boards); Benjamin

Jones, 2 pound {in boards); Aaron Hart, 1 pound 10 shillings {in boards);

John Blerrtdl, 2 pound {bucks, nails, etc, |; Jonathan ^Vilder, 1 pound

(in labor); Caleb Hough, 1 pound 10 sliillings (in labor); Jehial Wilcox,

10 shillings (labor); Richard Adams, 10 shillings (labor); Amos Allen,

4 pound 10 shillings (labor) ; John Rockwell, 6 shillings (labor) ; Wait

Munson, 3pound (in team-work): Nathaniel Collins, 1 pound (in labor);

Charles Preston, '-i pound (in sawing) ; Charles Tnttle, 1 pound (in labor)

;

Jonathan Johnson, 1 pound (in labor); John Ives, 2 pound (in neat

cattle) ; Levi Tifl'any, 2 pound (in team-work); Ezra Case, 2 pound."

Then the house was completed, and finished in good

shape. From the recollections of those who wor-

shiped in the old meeting-house, the following de-

scription has been obtained. The house was square

and plain, though the worshipers seem to' have had

aspirations towards a steejile, as in 1828, and again in

1835, unsuccessful efTorts were made to raise money
by subscription to affix such an appendage. A
chimney was built about 1835, as is indicated by a

vote appointing a committee to "secure the stove-

pipe." This innovation received much opposition

from the older members of the society.

The meeting-house fronte<l the south, and stood

within what is now the extreme southern jjortion of

the burying-ground, which was enlarged after the

house was removed. There were three sets of double

doors, which led into the audience-room, one set each

on the south, east, and west sides. There were on the

south side nine windows, two on each side of the

door and five above. On the east and west sides were

five windows, one on each side of. the door and three

above. On the north or pulpit side were three win-

dows, a large one in the centre and a small one on

each side. The pulpit was large and high, and was

reached by steps from the west side; a plain board

seat was back of the desk for the minister's accom-

modation. On each side of the jnilpit were two pews;

the one next the stairs was appropriated to the use of

the minister's family. In front of the pulpit was the

deacon's seat, with its hanging table. There were

three aisles. On each side the broad aisle were six

square pews, with seats tm three sides. There were

two pews on each side of the east and west doors, and

two pews on each side of the south door. The stairs

were in the southeast and southwest corners. Over

each flight of stairs was a large square pew. These

were apjiropriated to the use of colored worshipers.

The galleries ran around three sides of the building.

These were protected from the gaze of the congrega-

tion below by a " breastwork," into which were driven

nails for the singers to hang their hats and bonnets

on. Front seats in these accommodated the singers,

who were all moved into the front gallery in 1823.

About this time a bass viol was introduced into the

choir to lead the singing, which greatly scandalized

some of the older members of the congregation, who
plainly inveighed against "fiddlin' in meetin'." Seats

and pews in the rear of the galleries were occupied

by boys and girls old enough to sit away from their

parents. '

After 1816 the experiment of selling the pews was
'

several times tried, but the old custom of "seating

the house according to age and property" was again

adopted after each year's trial of the modern system,

and the minister's salary was raised by levying taxes,

which, judging from the church records, were ex-

tremely hard to collect.

Jan. 24, 1787, Rev. Ozias Eells was ordained min-

ister over the church. He remained in this pastorate

until his death, which took place, according to the

inscription on his tombstone in the old Centre bury-

ing-ground. May 25, 1813, in the fifty-eighth year of

his age, and twenty-ninth of his ministry.

Rev. Mr. Eells' successors were as follows : Rev.

Elihu Mason, installed March 2, 1814, dismissed

April 24, 1816; Rev. Saul Clark, installed Jan. 13,

1819, dismissed February, 1829; Rev. William R.

Gould, installed Sept. 25, 1832; Rev. Reuben S.

Hazen, installed May 17, 1843.

Very soon after the settlement of Rev. Mr. Hazen,

the question of a new meeting-house began to be

agitated, meetings were frequently called, and various

resolutions were passed and rescinded. The society

seemed to be divided into two factions, one in favor

of repairing the old house or taking it down and re-

building on the same spot, the other in favor of

changing the location. The matter was hotly agi-

tated for nearly two years. Subscriptions were circu-

lated by both parties. Finally it was agreed that a

committee from both parties should take two papers

and circulate, allowing those interested to subscribe

such amounts as they saw fit towards repairing the

old house or rebuilding on the same ground, or to-

wards building a new house upon the hill west of the

old site. The latter scheme was the more successful,

and finally it was agreed by certain members of the

society that they would go forward and build a new
meeting-house. This was done, and the present

meeting-house on Centre Hill is the result. Those

who were devoted to the old place, adjoining the

ancient burial-place, resolved not to join in this move-

ment, but continued to worship in the first meeting-

house as long as it continued a shelter from the

weather ; but when the roof had gone to decay, and

the entire house needed repairing, it was finally

abandoned. Meetings were held for a while in the

Universalist church in the Hollow, but the society,

weak at best, could not keep up without the support

of those who had seceded. The old edifice stood, a

sacred landmark of the past, until October, 1865, when

it was purchased by the agent of the Greenwoods

Scythe Company, in New Hartford, taken down, and

its old timbers now form the frame of the scythe-shop

warehouse in that village, purchased for the purpose

on account of their immense strength.

The new society was organized July 31, 1845, and

named the " First Orthodox Congregational Society

of Barkhamsted." Thirteen articles of association

were adopted, and the roll consisted of thirty-three

original members. The slips in the new meeting-
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house were first sold Aug. 22, 1845, until the follow-

ing March 1st. The house had been commenced the

fall before, and completed about this time. The Eev.

Reuben S. Hazen, who had come from the old into

the new church, remained until 1849, when he was

dismissed.

No regular pastor was settled over the church after

Rev. Mr. Hazen until March, 1861, when Eev. John
Elliott was ordained; he remained until January,

1863. Rev. H. N. Gates, from April, 1863, to Dec. 11,

1866 ; Rev. John R. Freeman, from Sept. 16, 1868, to

Sept. 12, 1871. From the last date the pulpit has

been supplied by Revs. Henry Gidman, P. T. Holley,

and A. B. Peifers, until May 4, 1881, when Rev. J. B.

Clarke was ordained.

As early as 1787 there was an Episcopal society

well established in Barkhamsted, for on Christmas

Day of that year Rev. Jonathan Marsh, of New Hart-

ford, delivered a sermon in Barkhamsted " before the

Episcopal society and others convened on that solemn

occasion," which sermon was published at the re-

quest of his hearers. The society must have been in

existence some time before that, probably as early as

1784.

The church in the Hollow, which is still in very

good condition, was built by the Episcopalians about

1816. It was but partially finished at that time. The
ground was deeded for the purpose by Robert Wil-

cox to the society. The society was at that time

feeble, and unable to finish the building, or to sup-

port a minister; in fact, no rector was ever regularly

settled over the church. Tlie house being unfin-

ished inside, the congregation for years sat on rude

benches.
I

In 1834, by an agreement entered into at a meeting

of the Episcopalians, the Universalists, of whom
,

there were a considerable number in town, were ])er-

mitted to repair and finish tlie church, and to own tlie

building and property, in common with the Episcopal

society, in proportion to the amount of expenses of

repairs as compared with present valuation of church

property, fixed upon by a committee of appraisal ap-

pointed at said meeting. The property was appraised

at two hundred and seventy-five dolhirs. The Uni-

versalists added steeple, bell, and fitted the church

into good shape for religious exercises.

The Episcopalians have continued to liolii service

in this building from time to time, but not regularly.

The Universalists liave held meetings more regularly,

and have employed ministers, generally for a year at

a time. Revs. It. O. Williams, James Sliinglcy, W.
A. Stickney, W. A. Loveland, and others have at

intervals acted as psistors of the church.

The Episcopal Cliurch at Riverton was founded

March 2, 1829, with a membership of tliirty. It was first

called the " Union Church," wliicli name wa-i changed

to " St. Paul's" in 1876. Tlie first clergyman was Hov.

Mr. Ulaisdel, who renmincd four years. Ho was suc-

ceeded by Rev. W. H. Frisbie, who remained until '

1849. Since the latter date there were no regular

services in the church until 1872, when Rev. Carlos

Linsley took charge, and remained until 1880. At

the present time the rector at Winsted ofliciates at

one service every Sunday. July 4, 1879, being the

fiftieth anniversary of the laying of the corner-stone

of the church, a semi-centennial celebration was held.

This church, the old church at the Hollow, and a

small society at Pleasant Valley now constitute a

mission circuit, supported by the Litchfield arch-

deaconry.

Aug. 27, 1834, there was a Methodist Episcopal class

organized at Riverton, with seventeen members. A
church was built in 1840, and the society continued

prosperously until about 1869 ; the house was torn

down ten years later.

The First Congregational Church of Riverton was

organized April 19, 1842, with fifty-three members. A
meeting-house was built the following summer, and

the Rev. Luther H. Barber, of Canton, was ordained

Oct. 23, 1843, the new church being dedicated the

same day. Rev. Mr. Barber remained as pastor of

the church until March 26, 1861, when his resigna-

tion was accepted and he was dismissed. He was

the only pastor ever regularly settled over the church.

Several acting pastors have been employed by the

society, among whom was Rev. Winthrop H. Phelps,

of Monterey, Mass., who left the charge to accept the

chaplaincy of the Second Connecticut Heavy Artil-

lery during the war. The society has been self-sup-

porting since tlie first few years of its existence, wlien

it received aid from the Home Missionarj- Society.

It now liiis about the same number of members as at

its organization.

In 1845—46 a Baptist Church and ecclesiastical so-

ciety was organized in Pleasant Valley, and a neat

house of worship was erected. Rev. George B. Atwell

became settled pastor in December, 1846, and Hart

Doolittle was elected deacon. The church at this time

numbered twenty-six. In 1847 the church gained ac-

cessions, and for several years continued to grow and

prosper, although its membership never exceeded sev-

enty-five. In 1858, Rev. J. J. Bronson succeeded Elder

Atwell as pastor. In 1859 the members who rc-wdcd in

New Hartford formed a separate organization, known

us a " Branch of the PIciusant Valley Baptist Church."

The original church, although reduced in numbers

and strength, still retained its vitality, and Rev. T.

Wrinkle succeeded to the pastorate, and was ordained

in June, 1861. He remained but a few months, and

the church wius Icfl without a pastor until 1S6.'M>6,

when the remaining members united with the New
Hartford brancli, the house of worship was removed

to that ])lace, and the Baptist Ciiurch of Pleasant

Valley became merged in that of New Hartford.

The Methodist Episcopal church edifice of Pleasant

Valley wa-s built in the years 1847-48, the funds hav-

ing been raisc<l within the society. The first organi-

zation of the class and society is uncertain, but it
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must have been some years before the building was

erected. There were about thirty original members.

During the summer of 1880 the church was thor-

oughly renovated and repaired, about eight hundred

dollars having been expended for this purpose. The

society has been under the direction of a preacher,

appointed by the Conference, or presiding elder since

it was constituted. It belongs to the New York East-

ern Conference. Its present membership is about

forty. The present pastor of this church is Rev.

. Moflat.

The brick Methodist Episcopal church on Wash-

ington Hill was built about the year 1830. The

society has been able to support preaching only at

intervals. This church has at the present time a

membership of about sixty.

From the letter of Rev. Mr. Eells the following in

relation to ecclesiastical matters is quoted

:

" There is in Barkhamsted society one hundred and fifty-five heads of

families or ratable persons, as taken from the list, wlio are Congregation-

alists, thirty.seven Cliurclunen, ten Methodists, and five Baptists.

There is hut one meeting-house. In Winated society there are the

same denominations, but quite a few Cliurchnien, more Methodists and

Baptists, the exact number I am unable to learn. There has been no

sectaries ever ordained in this town. The Church of Christ in Winsted

was formed in the winter of 1783. The Rev. Aaron Woodworth was

ordained to the pastoral charge of that church Jan. 18, 1792, and in six

years from that day he was dismissed and preached his farewell sermon.

They were mutually agreed in the dismission, and the cause assigned was

they were unable to support him."

The First Ecclesiastical Society of Winsted had its

birth on Wallen's Hill, along thelineof theold North

country road. Many of the members of the society

were residents in Barkhamsted, and the first parson-

age and meeting-house were built just over the line

in this town, the former in 1787, the latter, after much
dissension and many " stake-pitchings," in 1793.

The Wallen's Hill meeting-house was sold and

taken down in 1800, and one in East Winsted was

built. Boyd's " Annals of Winchester" gives a graphic

account of the early history of this society.

CHAPTER XXIII.

BARKHAMSTED (Continued).

CIVIL AND MILITARY.

The town of Barkhamsted was incorporated in

October, 1779. If records of the early proceedings

of the inhabitants were ever kept, they must have

been lost, as we can find no account of town votes

previous to 1806. We cannot, therefore, give the

names of all of the first ofticers of the town.

Joseph Wilder was the first justice of the peace,

and for many years the only one. He came to the

town from East Haddam about 1771. He was a man
of extensive power and influence. One of his de-

scendants, now living in the town, has a quantity of

his private and public documents (cases tried, etc.),

handsomely filed, in a good state of preservation.

He died leaving a numerous posterity, many of whom
have since filled positions of trust and honor in the

town.

At the first meeting of the proprietors of Barkham-

sted, held at Windsor, Jan. 1, 1732-33, Henry Allyn

was chosen clerk, and we find no record of any change

in the office until 1772, when, at a meeting of the pro-

prietors, March 28th of that year, it was voted that

it would be more advantageous to the proprietors to

have a clerk residing in the town of Barkhamsted,

and accordingly Pelatiah Allyn was chosen. In 1795

Matthew Allyn was chosen proprietors' clerk, and we
find nothing on the subject subsequent to that time.

The first town cleric seems to have been chosen in

1790, when Israel Jones, Jr., took the ofiice, and con-

tinued until 1811. The following have since held

that position

:

1811-24, John Merrill ; 1824-30, Joseph Wilder ; 1830-35, Amos Beeoher

;

1835-51, Merlin Merrill; 1851-53, E. N. Ransom; 1853-55, James

Tiffany; 18.55-60, E. N. Ransom; 1860-G8, Sheldon Merrill; 1868-69,

A. E. Merrill ; 1869-72, Dwiglit S. Case; 1872-81, William E. Howd;

1881, Sheldon Merrill, the present incumbent.

Lambert Hitchcock, the founder of the village of

Hitcheocksville, who was so actively connected with

the business interests of the town from 1818 to 1843,

was chosen senator of the Fifteenth District in 1840,

and re-elected in 1841. He held other offices of trust.

Hon. Hiram Goodwin, the only lawyer known to have

settled in the town, was senator of this district in

1862, and again in 1864, in which year he was chosen

president of the Senate pro, tem. Judge Goodwin

went to Riverton in the fall of 1830. He is a native

of New Hartford, where he studied law with William

G. Williams, Esq. He also studied at the law-school

at Litchfield. Locating in this village at the age of

twenty-two, he has remained until the present time.

As a gentleman of the old school, as a citizen and

lawyer, he is widely known, beloved, and honored by

all who know him.

REPRESENTATIVES TO LEGISLATURE.

The town was first represented in the General As-

sembly, October session, 1796, by Israel Jones, Jr.,

and Pelatiah Allyn.

1797.—Israel Jones, Jr., Pehatiah .\llyn, Joseph Wilder, Samuel Hayden.

1798.—Joseph Wilder, Pelatiati .\llyn. Isaac Jo[ies, Jr.

1799.—Israel Jones, Pelatiah AUyu.

1.SIM).—Israel Jones, Ephi'aim Munson.

1801.—Ephraira Munson, Pelati.ah Allyn, Calvin Cone.

1802.—Israel Jones, Pelatiali Allyn, Ephraim Munson.

1803-1.—Pelatiah Allyn, Israel Jones.

1805.—Pelatiah Allyn, Israel .lones, John Merrill.

1806.—Israel Jones, Pelatiah Allyn.

1807.—Pelatiah Allyn, Robert Willcox, Robert Whitford.

1808.—Pelatiah Allyn. Israel Jones.

,
1809.—Pelatiah Allyn, Medad Munson.

I 1810.—Robert Willcox, Pelatiah Allyn, Gideon Mills, Jr.

1811.—Robert Willcox, Giileon Mills, Jr., Samuel Munson.

1812.—John Merrill, Moses Hayden, Joseph Hayden.
* 1813.—John Merrill, Josiah M. Hart, Moses Hayden.

1814.—Pelatiah Allyn, Moses Hayden, John Merrill, William Taylor.

' 1815.—Luke Loomis, Moses Hayden, Oliver Mills, Samuel Hayden.
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1816.—Josiah H. Hart, .Tolin Blerrill, Moses Hayden, Oliver Mills.

1817.—Moses HayJeii, Oliver Mills, Samuel Muuson, Amos Beecher.

ISlS.—JoliD Merrill, Oliver Mills, Zopliar Case, Zalmon Howd.
1819.—Zophar Case, Salmon Ilowd *

1820.—John Menill, Josiah Smith.

1821.—John Merrill, Elijah Jones.
'

1822.—Salmon Howd, Samuel Munson.
1823.—Samuel Munson, Elijah Jones.

1824-25.—Je.sse Ives, Elijah Junes.

1826.—Samuel Munson, Zopliar Case.

1827.—Jesse Ives, Amos Beet-her.

1828.—Henry Allen, Lester Loomis.

1820.—Elijah Jones, Mathew Allen.

1830-31 —Matliew Alk-n, George Merrill.

1832.—Lester Loomis, Joel Tift'any.

1833.-Mathew Allen, Juel Tiflany.

1834.—Mathew Allen, Lambert Hitchcock.

1835.—Elijah Jones, Chester Wentworth.

1836.—Hiram Goodwin, Elijah Jones.

1837.—Hiram Goodwin, Daniel Sanford.

1838.—Daniel Sanford, Merlin Merrill.

1839.—Merlin Morrill, Garry Upson.

1840.—GaiTy Upson, George Cornish.

1841.—Alexander Clevelaml, Timothy Hayes.

1842.—Jehiel Case, Anson M'heeler.

1843.—Warren Phelps, Richard A. Doolittle.

1844.—Warren I'helps, Daniel Youngs.

1845.—Not represented.

1846.—Sanford Allen, Hiram Buruham.

1847.—Samuel W. Pine, Linus Bliss.

1848.—Edward Camp, Salmon Howd.

1849.—Alexander P. Cleveland, Abiel Case.

1850.—H. Case, Arba Alfurd.

1851.—Orville Jones, Ezekiel Hays.

1852.—Constant Youngs, Alfred Alford.

1853.—George Merrill, James Tiflany.

1854.—Lauren Smith, Eniernoii S. Cornisli.

1855.—E. J. Youngs, G. Kellogg.

1856.—Cornwall Doolittle, Erasmus N. Uansom.

1857.—B. W. Johnson, Horace Case.

1858.—Abner Slade, G. W. Merrill.

1859.—Chester Dowd, Owen Case.

I860.—Hart Doolittle, Philamon Perry.

1861.—Rnel 0. White, Watson Giddings.

1862.—Rufue Cleveland, M. Hoyt Hayes.

1863.—Josse Dtitton, Asa L. Demming.
1864.—George D. Demming, J. W. Atwater.

1865.—H. N. Gates, Lemuel Uirhardnon.

18G6.—Lauren Smith, Ruel S. Rice.

1867.—Charles B. Stevens, Edwin P. Jones.

1808.-Albert Baker, Sliehlon Morrill.

1869.—Dr. A. E. Merrill, Calvin Altlrich.

1870.—Harvey II. St.inrmrd, William H. Pay no.

1871.—Leuniel Hurlbut, lliiain C. Brown.

1872.—Dwight S. Case. Abram Kilbourn.

1873.—Augustus Smith, Samuel H. Cimo.

1874.—Elinha Payne, Munroo Hart.

1875.—Delos H. Stephens, Frank A. Cose.

1876.— Ruel S. Rirr, Frank M. Butler.

1877.—William E. Howd. Edwin E. Ca.Ho.

1878,—William TilTany, Byron 0. Hawloy.

1879.—Arba Atfonl, Frank A. Case.

1880.—Cornell H. Tiflany, Honry P. Lane.

IKHl.—Leauder Plant, Qeorge 0. Clark.

In the your 1779 the town of Barkhamsted, tlien

being u part of Jwirmington District, was annexed to

the Probate District of f^ini.>ibury. In tlie year 182')

the towns of New Hartford and Barkhanisted were
taken from Siinabury Probate District, and together

constitnted the Probate District of New Hartford, and
80 remained until 183.'J, when Harkhamstcd was made

* After the adoption of the couiUtutJon, la 1818, the nigtilar October
eRslon waa discontinued.

a separate prol)ate district. By direction of the Gen-

eral Assembly of 1834, the records of the New Hart-

ford Probate District from 1825 to 1833 are to be kept

in the probate office for the District of Barkhamsted.

Since Barkhamsted became a distinct probate dis-

trict the judgeship has been held by the following

incumbents

:

1833-?.6, Launcelot Phelps; 1836-38, Amos Beecher, Jr. ; 1838-46, Jesse

Ives ; 1846, Amos Beecher, Jr. ; 1847, Hiram Goodwin ; 1848-50, Leis-

ter Loomis; 1850, Amos Beecher; 1851-54, James Eggleston ; 1855-

57, George Merrill; 1857-GI, Daniel Toungs; 1861-63, James Tiff-

any; 1863, Daniel Youngs; 1864-66, Merlin Merrill; 1866-70, Ed-

ward J. Youngs ; 1870, and now in office, Daniel Youngs.

Eev. Mr. Eells, in mentioning the names and con-

dition of the early settlers of the town, says,

—

"It was not before the year 1774 they had gained such a settlement as

to be called upon for military duty. The first military company was

formed Octb', 1774, and Mr. Pelatiah AUjn was chosen captain, and Israel

Jones lieutenant."

The excitement which led to the Revolutionary

war had now grown to great magnitude, and all able-

bodied men were required to perform service in the

army. The following extracts from Mr. William Wal-

lace Lee's centennial address show the state of feel-

ing at that time

:

"After the sacking of Danbury by the British in 1777 the feeling

against the Turies was so intense that many of tlieni left their homes and

settled In more remote localities, and six of these families came to Pleas-

ant Valley, in Barkhamsted; they were Gregorys, Weeds, Taylors (two

families), Wildmans, and Holconibs. A bitter feeling existed towards

tliem by the Boldicrsand their children ihiring and after the Revolution-

ary war, and no indignities were too great to l>e heaped n[Kin them.

They wouhl find their corn cut while In silk, their potatoes pulled while

in bloammi, trees mnlilaled, fence** torn down, etc. Of all tholr descend*

auta,only a few, those of Abner Taylor, remain in Cunnocticut. After

the surrender of Burgoyne at Saratoga a portion of bis army was untn-hed

through this town en rout-' for Boston, hut many deserted along the route

and remained in the countr>-. Among them wore three, Shaw, ThorDe,

and Miller, who settled 4tn a liy-nm<l near West Hill IVmd. After the in-

corporation of the town, in 177'>, thu prospect became more protiperous;

It was evident that tin* colonies were not to l>econiiuered,and nniny were

the settlem who came to the town,— the Newitlls, Collins, Humphreys,

Bakers, Flkua, Rices, Canee, AndniMeM, Moweis etc., among thorn being

Lieut. Ghleon Slillit, fnun Slnuibury, whoso oldest daughter, Kntli, wad

the mother of John Di-own, of Harper's Ferry fame."

Herewith is given a list of soldiers from Barkham-

sted who fought during the war of tlie Revolution:

Lieut Gideon Mills (gnindfather of John Brown), Lieut. Abner Slade

(served also In French and Indian war), Lieut. Abiel llosklns, Abner

Slade, Jr., Solomon Humphrey, Thoutas Wilder, Solumon Newell,

An Glll«rt, Cyprian Barker. Nathaniel CoIIIum, William Taylor (at

batUe of Monmouth), Dnnlfl Ittirwelli was ludd pritK>nerin New York

by British), John Frnzier int baltlo of Sai'Hioga and surrcndor of

Burgoyne), MarCln Musvtt, AohUd Miwe?*, David Lee (Blooti guani

oTsr MaJ- Andre the spy), Samuel Rk»\ Humphrey Case, Judo lt*il>-

erts, Nehemiah Andnnw. Amana Blalory <at defi<n»e of Now Haven

when captured by British In 177*.*), Samuel Pike, Jann?* I'lke, John

Pike, John Ives, Walt Munson, Mediul Muuson, Pavid Squlcr, Walt

Rice.
WAR OF lbl2.

Joaso Ives, Enoch Burwcll, Joseph Huru ell (served at Now London),

James Eggleston (played the Me at l>atlloof Suckott's Harbor), Jesse

Markham, ElUah Cannon, Stvphcn A. French, Newberry Merrills.

MKXK^AN WAR.

CWpt. Jnalln Hodge, t^ilrln Funi, Thonnis Shaw.

For many years after the Itevolutionan.* war the

military spirit prevailed tlironghout the colonies,
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ftspecially in Connecticut. The Twenty-fifth Militia

Regiment was made up from this locality and flour-

ished late in the last century and early in this. For

a number of years Col. Israel Jones, of Barkhamsted,

commanded this regiment, he having previously

passed through the various other grades from captain

up. He died in 1812, and was buried in the old

Centre burying-ground.

As late as 185(1 the militia law was very strict;

every able-bodied man between the ages of eighteen

and forty-five was required to perform military duty.

The Rifle Company of Winsted and the Grenadiers

of New Hartford were partially composed of Bark-

hamsted men. The Light Guard of Riverton, with

its showy uniform, was one of the model companies

of the State. It was made up almost entirely of men

from that village, and commanded by Capt. Justin

Hodge, who afterwards served in the Mexican war,

and in the war of the Southern Rebellion from the

outbreak until the disbandment of the volunteer

forces after the surrender at Appomattox. Capt.

Hodge entered the service as quartermaster of the

First Connecticut Volunteers, April 23, 1861, imme-

diately after Fort Sumter was fired upon, and from
[

that position was promoted into the United States

Quartermaster's Department, from which he was dis-

charged as lieutenant-colonel at the close of the war. I

Other Barkhamsted men did brave service during

this war, notably Capt. Edwin R. Lee, of the Eleventh

Regiment Connecticut Volunteers, who was killed at

the battle of Newbern, N, C.

The old artillery company of fifty years ago, which

belonged to the Twenty-finst Regiment, was made

up in a great measure from Barkhamsted men, sev-

eral of its captains being from this town. At " gen-

eral training" this company, with its gay uniform,

was greatly admired. After these independent com-

panies came the regular militia, whose lack of drill

and of uniformity of dress gave them a ridiculous ap-

pearance and the name of " rag-toes."

During the war of the Southern Rebellion Bark-

hamsted jjatriptism was aroused to its utmost inten-

sity. Meetings were held frequently, and patriotic

resolutions were passed. Bounties were voted to

those who would enlist in the army or navy, and

everything was done to aid the government in sub-

duing its enemies. During the year 1862, when the

government was greatly in need of troops, and some,

whose sympathies for the Union cause were not so

great as their instinct of self-preservation, were taking

themselves oft' to Canada to avoid being called upon

for service in the army, the inhabitants of the town, at

a special meeting,

" Vole<1, "Whereas a most dangerous and alarming epidemic, which,

though manifesting itself in numerous and divers forms in different sub-

jects, is still traceable in most cases to the protean cause of an enormous

and rapid increase of the white lU-er^ has recently b'roken out, and is

rapidly spreading, not only through our own town, but over this entire

section of the State, threatening, if not speedily checked or siippressed,

the total extinction of our entire able-bodied white male population be-

tween the ages of eighteen and forty-five,

"And whereas it is believed that the adoption of prompt sanitary

measures are necessary, and will speedily check, if not entirely suppress,

the further progress of said distemper, be it therefore

" Resolved, That the selectmen be directed to publish in the Winsted

Hernld the names of all persons who have, or shall present to them, any

certificate of exemption from liability to perform military duty, together

with the specified cause for which such certificate was granted."

BARKHAMSTEll VOLUNTEERS OF THE SOUTHERN REBEL-
LION OF 1801.

Justin Hodge. lieutenant, regimental quartermaster, Co. F, 1st Regt.

;

enl. April 2:!, ISGl
;
pro. Ui A. Q. M.

Alfreil Alford, Co. B, 2d Eegt. ; enl. May 7, 1S61.

John White, Co. B, 2d Regt. ; enl. May 7, 1S61.

George W. Burwcll, Co. A, 1st Squad. Cav.; enl. Aug. 8, 1861.

Jeionio Manchester, Co. A, 1st Squad. Cav.; enl. Aug. 12, 1861.

Albert E. Merrill, Co. A, 1st Squad. Cav.; enl. Aug. 8, 1861.

Lyman Doolitlle, Co. K, Ist Sqnail. Cav. ; enl. Dec. 29, 1863.

Chailes Behr, Co. B, 1st Squad. Cav. ; enl. Oct. 1, 1864.

Benjamin F. Chatfield, Co. E, 1st Squad. Cav. ; enl. Oct. 7, 1864.

PeterKarr, Co. M, l.<t Squad. Cav.; enl. Nov. 14, 18r,4.

William Allen. 1st Squad. Cnw; eiil. Nov. 7, I.S('i4; luiassigned recruit.

Thoni.is O'Niil, Ixl Squad. Ciiv. ; enl. Nov. •.'11, ltJ|'i4; ii.rt taken upon rolls.

William Smart, I^t Squad. Cav.; enl. Nov. 1.I8I14; not takeji upon rolls.

Henry Sniilh. Ut Squad. Cav. ; enl. Nov. :lli, l«(i4; not taken up on rolls.

Tiionnis White, 1st Sciuad. Cav.; enl. Oct. Ij, ISG4; not taken up on rolls.

Robert Wilson. 1st Squad. Cav.; enl Nov. 23, 1801; not taken up on rolls.

John King. Co. A. Ist Heavy Art; enl. Oct. 6,1864.

George Illmenser, Co. B, 1st Heavy Art.; enl. Sept. 1, 1863.

Daniel McGrath, Co. D, 1st Heavy Art; enl. Oct. 4, 1864.

James Marehall, Co. F, Ist Heavy Ait.; enl. Oct. 4. 1804.

George A. Root, Co. K, 1st Heavy Art. ; enl. May 23, 1861.

Shelden L. Rice, Co. K, 1st Heavy Art.; enl. May 23, 1801.

Bradley D. Lee, 1st lieutenant, regimental quaitermaster, 2d Heavy

Art; enl. Aug. 1, 1802; pro. to capt. A. C. S. March 22, 1864.

Winthrop 11. Phelps, chaplain, 2d Heavy Art.; enl. May 4, 1863.

George C. Curtis, Co. C, 2d Heavy Art. ; enl. Dec. 19, 1803.

Chester D. Cleveland, Co. E, 2d Heavy Art.; enl. Aug. 1, 1862; second

lieutenant: pro. to major.

Edwin S. Beecber, Co. E, 2d Heavy Art.; enl. Aug. 1, 1862.

Anthony B. Gurnsey, Co. E, 2d Heavy Art.; enl. July 29, 1862

Charles A. Hart, Co. E, 2d Heavy Art ; enl. Aug. 9, 1862.

Henry A. Rexford, Co. E, 2d Heavy Art.; enl. Aug. 21, 1862; killed at

Cold Harbor, June 1, 1864.

Ruel S. Bice, Co. F, 2d Heavy Art. ; enl. Aug. 14, 1862.

Walter H. Denning, Co. F, 2d Heavy Art ; enl. Aug. 13, 1862.

Henry H. Griffin, Co. F, 2d Heavy Art. ; eul. Aug. 18, 1862.

Alfred C. Alford, Co. F, 2d Heavy Art. ; enl. July 28, 1862 ; killed in action,

Sept. 19, 1S64, at Winchester, Va.

Charles Burr, Co. F, 2d Heavy Art.; enl. Aug. 7, 1862.

William Burke, Co. F, 2d Heavy Art.; enl. Sept. 2, 1862.

Wayne B. Castle, Co. F, 2d Heavy Art. ; enl. Aug. 15, 1862.

William H. Titfany, Co. F, 2d Heavy Art.; enl. Aug. 9, 1862.

Orville B. Tiffany, Co. F, 2d Heavy Art; enl. Aug. 20, 1862; pro. to

second lieutenant.

Timothy B. Cannon, Co. F, 2cl Heavy .\rt. ; enl. Jan. 5, 1864.

Franklin Andress, Co. F, 2d Heavy Art; enl. July 30, 1862; killed at

Cold Harbor, Va., .luue I, 1804.

Noah Hart, Co. F, 2d Heavy Art.; enl, Jan. 21, 1864.

Jeremiah Jennings, Co. I, 5th Inf. ; enl, July 22, 1861.

Franklin J. Atwater, Co. B, Gth Inf. ; enl. Sept. 12, 1861 ; died Aug. 19,

1863, of wounds received at Fort Wagner.

James Dunn, Co. B, 7th Inf.; enl. Nov. 16, 1864.

Joel W. Oakes, Co. 11, 7th Inf. ; enl. Feb. 16, 1864.

Perlin F. Rust, Co. C, Sth Inf. ; enl. Oct. 7, 1861.

James E. Peltou, Co. C, Sth Inf. ; enl. Sept. 2.5, 1801 ; wounded at Antietam,

Sept. 17, 1862.

Elijah White, Co. C, Sth Inf. ; enl. Sept 25, ISCI ; killed at Antietam,

Sept 17, 1862.

William A. Smith, Co. E, Sth Inf. ; enl. Sept. 1 , 1863 ;
killed at Chapin's

Farm, Sei)t. 29, 1864.

George Baker, Sth Inf. ; enl. Oct. 5, 1864.

Clayton H. Case, Band, 10th Inf. ; enl. Oct. 26, 1861.

John Murphy, Co. E, 10th Inf.; enl. Sept 30, 1861.

Henry B. F. Root, Co. E, 10th Inf. ; enl. Sept 30, 1801.

Edwin K.Lee, captain, Co. D, 11th Inf. ; enl. Nov. 26, IS61 ; kiUedat New-
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bern, N. C, March 14, ISGJ. Uo wiis buried on the banks of the

Neuse Uiver, iind aftt^rwards brunght Nortli and buried at Pleiisant

Valley. He was a yoimg man of talent and a gallant soldier.

Francis Koza, Co. E, llth Inf.; enl. Nov. 14, 18G4.

Isaac Elwell, Co. I, 12tli Inf. ; eul, Feb. 24, 1S64.

Joseph Elwell, Co. I, 12th Inf.; enl. Feb. 24, 1S64; died December, 1864.

Tlieron Barbonr, Co. D, 13tli Inf.; enl. Dec. 30, 1861.

Orville A. Eoot, Co. D, 13th Inf. ; enl, Dec. 30, 1861.

William H. Tncker, Co. D,l:ith Inf; enl. Jan. 7,1862 ; died Dec. 0,1865.

Ellsworth Case, Co. E, 13th Inf. ; enl. Feb. 27, 1862.

William Kinsella, Co. K, 1:5th Inf.; enl. Sept. 20, 1804.

Andrew Walter, Co. K, 13th Inf. ; enl. Sept. 24, 1864.

Julius F. Searle, Co. E, llth Inf. ; enl. Aug. 26, 1803 ; died Feb. 23, 1864.

Elisha S. Booth, Co. F, 14th Inf. ; enl. July 24, 1862 ; died Jan. 5, 1863,

of wounds.

Frauklin B. Davis, Co. A, 16th Inf.; enl. Aug. 14, 1862.

Thomas Murray, Co. I, 16th Inf.; enl. Nov. 23, 1864.

Abel P. Beers, Co. K, 25th Inf. ; enl. Aug. 29, 1862.

Nathan Coe, Co. G, 27th Inf. ; enl. Sept. 10, 1802.

Augustus Eggleston, Co. G, 27tli Inf. ; enl. Sept. 11, 1862.

Henry E. Cleveland, Co. F, 28tli Inf.; enl. Aug. 23, 1862.

James W. Stauuis, Co. F, 28th Inf. ; enl. Aug. 28, 1862.

George H. Goodwin, Co. F, 28th Inf. ; enl. Aug. 29, 1862.

Myron N. Hubbard, Co. F, 28th Inf.; enl. Aug. 25, 1862; died May 6,

1863, at Fort Barrancas, Fla.

Warren Alford, Co. F, 2d Heavy Art.; eul. Aug. 13, 1862; pro. to first

lieut. ; wounded Sept. 19, 1864.

Henry B. Lee, Co. F, 7th Inf.; enl. Sept. 0, 1861 ;
pro. to second lieut.

;

killed Aug. 16, 1864.

CHAPTER XXIV.

BAKKHAMSTED (Continued).

MISCELLANEOUS.

Of schools Rev. Ozias Eells, in his letter to Dr.

Trumbull, says,

—

"There are ten scliool districts in the town and part of two more,—one

in East Hartland part, two and two halves in Wlnsted part, and seven in

Barkhamsted. There is no acatlemy in the town."

There are at the present time (1881) ten school

districts in Barkhamsted,—viz., 1 , Centre ; 2, Centre

Hill; 3, Washington Hill; 4, Northeast; 5, South;

6, South Hollow ; 7, North ; 8, Green ; 9, Riverton

;

10, Pleasant Valley ; 11, Mallory. Besides these,

there are several part districts,

—

i.e., portions of this

town .set ott'to districts in other towns.

The Centre school-house, a.s it was originally built

in 1821, was a two-story building. The lower room

was finished immediately, and the first school was

taught by Dr. Knapp, of Hartland. The school-

room was filled to overflowing with scholars of all

ages from four to twenty. It was decided to com-

plete the ui)per room for a select school. The neces-

sary funds were furnished by the principal men of the

district, who were called " the proprietors of the upper

room." This " upper room," as it was familiarly

called, was also intended for religious meeting.s, sing-

ing-schools, and such other purposes as were deemed
fit by those interested. The " upper room"' was com-

pleted in 1824, and dedicated. Rev. Cyrus Yale, of

New Hartford, preached the dedication sermon, an

original hymn was composed for the occasion by Mrs.

Deacon San ford, of the northeast part of the town.

The first school was taught in the " upper room" in

the winter of 1824 by Rev. Saul Clark. For a num-

ber of years this select school was well supported, and

students from Yale and Amherst Colleges were en-

gaged as teachers. Some of those teachers are still

spoken of by their former pupils in grateful remem-

brance, viz., Dunton, Stevens, Marsh, and Schneider.

This school was called the " grammar school." In

the autumn of 187-5 the house needed repairs, and it

was thought best to take away the lower room and

convert the upper room into a district school-house,

which was accordingly done, and the house as it now
stands is neat and comfortable. For several years a

select school was taught in Pleasant Valley by Rev.

George B. Atwell. Of libraries Rev. Mr. Eells says,—
"There is a public library in Barkhamsted, consisting of seventy-five

volumes, and formed in the year 1797. There is another in Winsled

society."

About 1836 there was a public library established

in the village of Riverton. It was well kept up for six

years or more, but finally became scattered, and was

sold off at auction.

Northern Star Lodge, No. 58, F. and A. M., now
located in New Hartford (Pino Meadow), was organ-

ized in the town of Barkhamsted in the autumn of

1820. Its charter, which is signed by Oliver Woleott,

then Gr;ind blaster, as well as Governor, of the State of

Connecticut, is dated May l(t, 1820, and bears the names

of twenty-seven (27) charter members. Its first W. M.,

or presiding officer, wiis Dr. Amos Beecher. Alvin

Stpiicrand Drayton Jones were its first Senior and Ju-

nior Wardens respectively. The lodge in its early days

held its meetings at the public-house of George Mer-

rills, at the Centre, near the old meeting-house. In

those days the meetings were held in the daytime,

usually in the afternoon. Sometimes the meetings

were held in Riverton and New Hartford, for the con-

venience of its members who lived in those villages.

The declaration of the Masons of Connecticut, which

was issued in 1832, against the Anti-Masonic warfare

was signed by sixty-six of the mendiers of Northern

Star Lodge. The lodge then had jurisdiction over

Barklmmsted, Hartland, and New Hartford. It was

removed to New Hartford in 18.50. Its present pre-

siding officer is Martin Wilcox. Application was

made by the writer to the present seci'etary of the

lodge for the tiate of its organization and the names

of its charter members. The secretary replied that

the lodge would not authorize him to give the desired

data. The inlbrnmtion was therefore obtained else-

where. On the rolls of this lodge for the past sixty

years are the names of some of the most honored men
within the limits of its jurisdiction.

Dr. Amos Beecher, who wius born in the town of

Woleott, Dec. 3, 1772, stu<lieil his profession in Soulh-

ington, and from that place, where he nuirried his

wife, Mary Ltjwis, came to Barkhamsted in 1798.

Here he remained in the practice of medicine until

' Jan. 4, 1849, when he died. He is buried in the old
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Centre burying-ground. Dr. Beecher was a promi-

nent man in this town, aside from liis prominence as

tlie only physician. At one time lie was tax collector

for four towns. For a short time before Dr. Beecher

settled in Barkhamsted there was a Dr. Kincade

located there.

In Riverton the first physician was Dr. Thaddcus

K. De Wolf. He was succeeded by Dr. F. B. Gra-

ham, from Canton. The latter died in 1854, since

which time there was no physician in the village

until 1878, when Dr. L. M. Crosier located there and

has established a successful practice.

The two principal streams, which How entirely

through Barkhamsted, from north to south, are known
as the East Branch and West Branch. They come

together in New Hartford, something less than two

miles south of its northern boundary near its eastern

boundary, and form the Tun.xis River, sometimes

called the Farmington. Kettle Brook flows down
Washington Hill, and empties into Ea.st Branch some-

what south of the middle of the town. This brook

takes its name i'rom a rock about half-way up the hill,

which resembles a kettle. This rock is supposed to

have been used by the Indians in pounding or pulver-

izing their corn. Roaring Brook, which empties into

East Branch a little below Munson's mill, takes its

name from the sound it makes coming down among
the rocks. Morgan River linds its head at the outlet,

at the extreme northern end, of Lake Wonksunk-
munk, or West Hill Pond. How it obtained its

name is unknown. The Centre and Centre Hill are

so named from the fact of their being centrally lo-

cated in the town. A line drawn from the northeast

to the southwest and another from the northwest to

the southeast corner of the town will cross each other

at or very near the old Centre burying-ground.

Washington Hill was formerly known as Horse

Hill. The name was changed, it is said, about the

time the brick church (Methodist Episcopal) was

built, at the suggestion of Rev. Mr. Coe of Winsted,

who first i^reached in that church. Wallen'sHill was

named after Daniel Wallen, of New Hartford, who
owned a large tract of land in that locality. The
Bourbon District comprised the southwest corner of

the town, near I>ake Wonksunkmunk. How it de-

rived its name is not known. Rattan comprises the

southeastern corner of the town, and extends into

North Canton. The roads in that locality are hilly

and stony. The origin of its name is uncertain.

Beach Rock is an imposing object some distance to

the left or west of the South Hollow Road. Its peak

appears inaccessible from the road, but it is said the

early settlers of the town used its level, broad top as a

threshing-floor, upon which, with horses and cattle,

they trampled out their grain. Two brothers by the

name of Beach are said to have settled near this rock,

hence its name. The rocky ridge running north from

Pleasant Valley to Riverton, on the east side of West
Branch, is called Ragged Mountain.

Winsted was named from the first syllable of Win-
chester and the last syllable of Barkhamsted, the old

Winsted ecclesiastical society being made up from

portions of the two towns. The island in the upper
portion of Pleasant Valley was formerly called Sugar

Meadow, it being heavily timbered with sugar maples.

The Connecticut Western Railroad, which has about

three miles of track in Barkhamsted but no station,

was built in 1871. No other railroad touches the

town. There are at the present time four post-offices

in Barkhamsted, viz., Barkhamsted, Riverton, Pleas-

ant Valley, and Centre Hill.

In the earliest days of the town the freemen held

their town-meetings in barns, houses, or other con-

venient places. After the meeting-house was built,

for many years freemen's meetings and town-meet-

ings were held within its sacred walls, until the Centre

school-house was erected, when the " upper room"
was used for such purjioses. Not until 1867 did Bark-

hamsted have a town-house. In that year the small

town building, a few feet west of the new Centre

church, was erected.

In the year 1867 the General Assembly passed an

act dividing Barkhamsted into three electoral districts,

to accommodate the electors of the town in voting at

electors' meetings. By this act the 'electors within

the first district are required to vote at Barkhamsted

Hollow or Centre, the electors within the limits of

district number two to vote at Pleasant Valley, and

those of district number three at Riverton.

This arrangement, of course, does not aflect the

voting at town-meetings, where the inhabitants all

meet at the town-house, imd choose officers and pass

such votes as are deemed necessary to the welfare of

the town for the ensuing year.

At the first census of the colony of Connecticut,

which was taken in 1756, Barkhamsted is enumerated

at 18. As this was the year in which the first white

persons made permanent settlement, these 18 must have

included either Indians or trespassers, probably both.

In the census of 1774 the town is credited with a pop-

ulation of 250.

Emigration to the West from this town commenced

years ago. As early as 1810, Barkhamsted had a pop-

ulation of 1.500, and continued to increase until 1850,

when there were more than 1700 inhabitants. The

census of 1860 gives the town a population of 1272,

and that of 1870,- 1440. The enumeration of 1880

showed the following facts : Whole number of persons,

1300, of whom 26 were colored ; 651 were males, and

649 females ; 21 were over eighty years of age. The
town had 7 ministers, and 1 lawyer and 1 doctor, 21

manufacturing establishments, 292 dwellings, 318

families ; tilled land, 1287 acres ; meadow and

pa.sturiug, 11,883 acres; woodland, 4868 acres; unim-

proved land, 1576 acres ; hay cut previous year, 3442

tons ; shelled corn raised, 6824 bushels ; oats, 2064

bushels; rye, 1030 bushels
;
potatoes, 13,882 bushels

;

apples, 24,105 bushels ; tobacco, 24,725 pounds ; wood
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cut, 5252 cords ; lumber sawed in the six saw-mills,

500,000 feet.

The fir.st bridge across the West Branch was di-

rectly in the rear of the Henry Lee place, half a mile

above Pleasant Valley. This bridge was carried oft"

by a freshet about 1800. The site was then abandoned,

and a new bridge was built just north of where the

Pleasant Valley bridge now stands. The first bridge

across East Branch was a few rods above the present

one, near the Beecher dam. The iron bridge at Riv-

erton was built in 1875, carried away by the great

flood of Dec. 10, 1878, and rebuilt during the summer

and fall of 1879. Bridges have always been a source

of great expense to the inhabitants of Barkham-

.sted.

Sept. 10, 1879, the town of Barkhamsted celebrated

its one hundredth anniversary. An immense throng

of its sons and daughters and friends assembled to

take part in this centennial. The services were held

at the Centre meeting-house. Hon. Hiram Goodwin

was president of the day. Mr. William Wallace

Lee, of Meriden, a native of the town, delivered the

historical address, and Judge Monroe E. Merrill, of

Hartford (also a native), delivered the oration. Mrs.

Emma C. (Carter) Lee wrote a poem, which was read

by her husband, Prof. S. H. Lee, of Oberlin College,

Ohio. A poem was also read by Elisha W. Jones, of

Winsted (a native). Addresses were delivered by

Eevs. L. H. Barbour and Lemuel Richardson, and

Walter S. Carter, Esij., of New York (a native). Tlie

opening address was delivered by Hiram C. Brown,

Esq., of Rivcrton. A bountiful collation was spread

under the trees between the church and town-house,

at which the entire throng was regaled. The cliief

marshal of tlio occasion was Mr. Frank A. Ca.ie. A
mounted escort of fifty men, commanded by George

T. Carter, led the procession, which consisted of citi-

zens on horseback, in carriages, carts, and every va-

riety of vehicle, ancient and modern. Letters were read

from many natives of the town who were in remote

localities, among whom was Mr. Samuel Jones, a

grandson of Capt. Israel, wlio wa« born in Barkham-

sted, June 29, 1781. He was then living in Wayne,

Ashtabula Co., Ohio. The celebration w;is admirably

arranged, and successfully carried out in every par-

ticular. It was a day long to be rememltored with

pride by the citizens of liarkhamstcd.

Before closing this sketch tlie author desires to ex-

press thanks to all wlio have so kinilly aided liim in

procuring facts, among whom are the following, who

have put themselves to a considerable trouble to lielp

the work along: Hon. Hiram Goodwin and lion.

Daniel Youngs, of Barkhamsted; Mr. William Wal-

lace Lee, of Sleriden, to whom the peojde of the town

owe so much for his unselfish, unremuneratcd labor in

preparing the first connected record of the town's liis-

• tory, and from whose admirable historical addriw-s

many of the facts and frequent quotations in this

sketch are taken ; Rev. J. B. Clark, and Me-s-srs. Shel-

don Merrill, William E. Howd, Alfred Alford, and

John F. Simmons, Miss Harriet Atwell, Mrs. Lyman
Hart and daughter. Miss Mary L. Hart, of Barkham-

sted ; Mr. Charles J. Hoadley, State librarian at

Hartford, through whose courtesy much information

has been obtained from the State archives ; and to

Mr. Addison Van Name, librarian of Yale College.

The writer is conscious that the sketch is imperfect

and incomplete, and regrets that he could not have

had more time and space in which to have prepared

a more finished production.

CHAPTER XXV.
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This town is located in the southern part of the

county, and is bounded as follows : on the north by

Morris, on the east by Watertown, on the south by

Woodbury, and on the west by Wa.shington. The

town is hilly, but the soil is fertile and well adapted

to agricultural pursuits.

I

The grant of lands in this town was made in 1703,

I purchased of the Indians in 1710, and surveyed in

1723, but was not diviiled among the proprietors until

1734. Tlie iiiouccrs of the town located on the road

extending cast and west, a short distance north of the

present centre of the town.

Prominent among the first settlers was Capt. Ilez-

ekiah Hooker, of Kensington, Conn., a descendant of

the celebrated Rev. Thomas Hooker, of Hartford.

Ho was accompanied by his sons, Ilezekiali, Jr., and

James. From what is now the town of Woodbury

came Reuben and Josiali Avered, Francis and Joshua

Guitcau, Caleb and Ebcnezcr Lewis, Isaac Hill, Jr.,

' Isaac Hotchkiss, Nathaniel Porter, and Samuel Steele.

John Steck came from Farniington, and TliomiLs and

Elicnczer Thompson from Litchfield, and Ephraim

Tyler from New Cheshire.

The settlement of tlie town did not incretise rap-

idly. Four years after the first settlement the number

of families numbered only fourteen.

In October, 1738, the inhabitants petitioned for

" winter i)rivilege.s," and asked that they might be

relieved from paying taxes for the repairing the meet-

ing-house in the old town ; in 18."t9, from jiarish taxes,

and that they might be .set off as a distinct society,

etc. These petitions were signed by Hezekiah Hooker,

John Steel, Nathaniel Porter, Francis Guiteau, Caleb

Lewis, Joseph Clark, Josiah Avered, Ebenezcr Lewis,
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C. Gibbs, Jonathan Seley, Edmund Tomkins, Isaac

Hill, John Parkis, Reuben Avered, Ephraim Tyler,

Caleb Wheeler, Ebenezer Thompson, Beriah Dudley,

and Seth Avered. The prayer of the petition was
granted, and the town was incorporated and named
Bethlehem.

The first settlers were hardy, enterprising, self-de-

nying men, well qualified to endure the hardships of

pioneer life. The women, as well as the men, went
on foot, or on horseback, through a trackless wilder-

ness, guided by marked trees. In the midst of the

first dreary winter their provisions gave out, and the

inhabitants were obliged to thread their way through

the pathle.ss forest to the old settlement (Woodl)ury)

for food. It is related that Samuel and John Steele

went to Farmington with a hand-sled for corn to sus-

tain the little settlement. The prices of provisions in

1747 were twelve shillings per bushel for wheat, nine

shillings for rye, and seven shillings for Indian corn.

ECCLESIASTICAL HISTORY.

CONGREGATIONAL CHURCH.

As stated above, " winter privileges" were granted in

October, 1738. On the 2d of the following month Rev.

Joseph Bellamy commenced his labors among tliis

people, and he doubtless preached the first sermon
ever delivered in this society. The society was or-

ganized in October, 1739, and March 27, 1740, the

church was organized with the following members

:

Joseph Bellamy, Jonathan Filley and wife, John
Steele and wife, Joseph Clark and wife, Jonathan

Munger and wife, Ei)hraim Tyler and wife, Thomas
Thompson and wife, Ebenezer Thompson, Caleb Lewis

and wife, Nathaniel Porter and wife, Francis Guiteau

and wife, Ebenezer Lewis and wife, Isaac Hotchkiss

and wife, Josiah Avered and wife, Reuben Avered and
wife, Hezekiah Hooker, Jr., and wife, James Hooker,

Samuel Steele and wife, Isaac Hill and wife, Joshua
Guiteau aud wife, and five females.

In 1740 the society voted to build a meeting-house,

which was comjjleted in 1744. The first services held

by Dr. Bellamy were in a barn. In 1764 the little

settlement had increased to about one hundred tax-

payers, and on the 4th of January of that year it was

voted to build a new house of worship. February

28th it was voted " to begin, and go on moderately,

and little by little." May 24th, Samuel Jackson,

Archibald Kasson, and Lieut. John Steele were ap-

pointed a building committee. The church was to

be " sixty by forty-three feet, and just as high as ye

Meeting-House in ye old Society." Three years later

the society voted " to have the meeting-house raised,

and to give each man four shillings per day that shall

raise ye Meeting-House, they find all but Rhum, and

their wages shall go towards their Meeting-House

Rates." Among the votes of the society we find one

to "seat the new Meeting-House aud dignify its

Pues;" one to purchase a "good decent bell and a

Lightning-rod ;" also, " that the singers may sit up

Gallery all day if they please, but to keep to their own
seat, the men not to infringe on the women's pues."

The third and present church edifice was built in

1836.

List of Pa«^or-s.—Joseph Bellamy, from 1740-90

Azel Backus, 1791-1813; John Langdon, 1816-25

Benjamin F. Stanton, 1825-29; Paul Couch, 1829-34

Fosdic Harrison, 1835-50; Aretus G. Loomis, 1850-

59; Ephraim Wright, 1861-65; George Banks, 1866-

74; S. Fuller Palmer, 1875-79; William E. Bassett,

1879, present incumbent.

The present deacons are Joshua Bird, William R.
Harrison, and Theodore Bird.

CHRIST CHURCH.

Christ Church parish, Bethlehem, was organized in

1806, at the house of Mr. George Bloss, Carmel Hill,

by the Rev. Daniel Burham, D.D. The members
were Christopher Prentis, Benjamin Hawley, John
Speney, Leverett Judd, Abel Hard, Glover Skidmore,

Ebenezer L. Thompson, Samuel Bloss, Reuben Tin-

ker, Samuel Blackman, Daniel Skidmore, Henry Jack-

son, Amos Lake, David Polford, and B. T. Lake.

Services were holden in the district school-house in

Bethlehem Centre until the erection of the present

church edifice, which was built in 1829, and conse-

crated by the Right Rev. Bishop Brownell, Sept. 23,

1835.

Lint of Rectors.—Revs. Russell Wheeler, J. D. Wel-
ton, Isaac Jones, Joseph Scott, John Dowdney, Wil-

liam Watson, F. W. Snow, Isaac H. Tuttle, Jonathan

Goe, William H. Frisbie, J. S. Covell, J. D. Berry,

N. W. Munroe, James R. Coe, John N. Marvin, F.

D. Holcomb, D.D., A. N. Lewis, J. A. Welton, J. B.

Robinson, present pastor.

The present officers (1880) are as follows : Wardens,

G. G. Smith, George S. Guild ; Vestrymen, Samuel

L. Bloss, James Allen, Amos C. Lake ; Clerk, Leman
A. Guild.

METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH.

The first act to permanently establish Methodism

in Bethlehem was the forming of a class of thirteen

persons, Sept. 1, 1858, at the house of James Rudman,

by L. W. Abbott, then preaching at Watertown,

Conn. L. W. Abbott was appointed to Bethlehem at

the Conference of 1859, holding services at the town-

house. Over ninety children were gathered into the

Sunday-school, and the membership increased to

thirty-eight in full and twenty probationers. July

4, 1859, the first meeting for the appointment of a

board of trustees was held, and Ralph Munson, George

Guernsey, Harlow Judson, and Bernard Brisie were

appointed. Sept. 19, 1859, it was voted to build a

house of worship and provide a parsonage property.

May 15, 1860, the church was raised, and was dedi-

cated November 14th of the same year.

The following is a list of the pastors : S. W. Ab-

bott, D. Osborn, Spencer Bray, W. Goodsell, E. L.
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Bray, Ira Abbott, J. H. Crofoot, C. S. Dikeman, A.

McNichol, J. S. Haugh, and S. Kristeller.

The present otiicers are as follows : Pastor, S. Kris-

teller; Trustees, James Wheeler, John D. Waldron,

Ralph Munson, David Doolittle, Jonathan Wooten,

W. H. Taylor; Superintendent of the Sabbath-school,

Samuel Allen.

Present church membership, 87 in full
;

proba-

tioners, 13.

THE BETHLEHEM LIBRARY ASSOCIATION®

was organized March 16, 1857, with fifty-four mem-
bers, each of whom paid the sum of two dollars as a

condition of membership. Upon the subsequent pay-

ment by others of a like sum, it has now a member-
ship of one hundred and thirty-two. Its meetings

are held in the town-hall monthly, for the drawing of

books, the reading of which, for one month, is offered

at auction at two cents each volume, subject to higher

bids.

At the first meeting for drawing books it had eighty-

six volumes ; at the close of its first year, one hun-

dred and forty ; at the close of its twenty-third year,

—March, 1880,—it had on its catalogue eleven hun-

dred and seven volumes. Since its organization it

has received for membership, biddings, fines, and
lectures the sum of fourteen hundred and thirty dol-

lars and three cents. All moneys received are de-

voted to the purchase of new books, and the biddings

at the monthly meetings—which have averaged

about fifty dollars per year—are its main reliance.

The only compensation given any official is to the

secretary, who during his term of oflice has his Ijooks

free, if not bid for above two cents.

The first ofticers of the association were Theodore
Bird, President; Joshua Bird, Secretary and Libra-

rian, Henry W. Peck, Treasurer; Rev. A. G. Loomis,

John C. Ambler, Abraham Beecher, Executive Com-
mittee. The first members were Arvil Morris, Maria
T. Humphrey, Henry VV. Peck, George S. Guild,

Lewis U. Guild, John Towne, Jerome B. Strong,

Henry Davis, Rev. A. G. Loomis, Theodore Bird,

Abraham Beecher, E. O. Hubbard, George M. Kar-
son, Joshua Bird, D. B. Jackson, Samuel L. Blois,

F. D. Prentice, John 0. Ambler, Leman A. (iuild,

Benjamin T. Lake, Frederick Jackson, P. M. Crane,

H. C. Hill, M. S. Todd, Martha P. Karson, Adam C.

Karson, Samuel Wellman, W. R. Harrison, Samuel
Allen, D. L. Thompson, Stephen Hayes, William B.

Ames, Gideon Allen, Emily Bloss, C. C. Parmolec,
James W. Thomas, .lames Allen, Jr., Leverett P.

Judd, William Mnnson, W. F. Car|)enter, A. S. Ju.l-

son, H. N. Lake, Norman Lake, Edward Cowles,
Ralph Munson, Harry Jackson, E. E. Prentice,

Hermon Skidmore, Sheldon Jackson, Sidney Peck,
D. E. Doolittle, Henry C. Spencer, Francis E. Jud-
son, and Horace Fcnn.

17

• Contributed bj Hani? W. Pack.

By the sale and transfer of rights, nearly every

family in the town is now supplied, at small cost,

with good reading of every kind, and in such abund-

ance as may be desired, from the Bethlehem Library

Association, and it is believed that the plan is the

best ever devised for the use of small communities.

PHYSICIANS.

Probably the first physician in this town was Dr.

Zephaniah Hull, a native of Cheshire, Conn. He
came here about the year 17.50, and died in 1760, the

same day with his wife, during the "great sickness."

Titus Hull, son of the above, was also a practicing

physician in this town for a time. In 1805 he re-

moved to Danbury, and subsequently to New York

State.

Benjamin Hawley commenced the practice of his

profession in this town some time prior to the Revo-

lution. He died in 1813.

Physicians since Dr. Hawley have been as follows:

Parlemon Fowler, Conant Catlin, Lyman Catlin, Al-

gernon S. Lewis, Loomis North, Gaylord Bissell,

Henry Davis, Seth Hill, M. V. B. Dunham, Franklin

Booth, Henry Kurrmann, S. H. Huntington, and Ed-

ward Kurrmann.

Dr. D. B. Hurd, a native of this town, a former

practitioner in Montgomery, Ala., who for the past

thirty years has resided here, died in 1881.

Dr. E. Osborn, a botanical physician, located here

in 1860, and continued until 1879.

THE "GREAT SICKNESS."

During the month of November, 1700, a fatal sick-

ness prevailed in this town. Thirty-four persons

died. They were first taken with a cold, and then

a malignant pleurisy set in and carried them oflT.

Among others who <lied were Dr. Hull, his wife, and

two children, and a young man,—all out of the same

house. The doctor and his wife were buried in one

grave. Soon after these deaths, and while others

were sick in the house, one Deacon Strong, going by,

raised a flock of eleven quail, which flew over the

house and dropped in the garden. Immediately after

three rose and fiew into the bushes, but the other

eight were picked uj) dead, and in one hour after be-

came |)utrid, and were buried. The air in the parish

was said by doctors and others of judgment to have

been different from the air in towns and parishes

round about it. Some were inclined to call it the

plague, or something of that kind.

Bethlehem is a sinall town, with an average length

of four and one-half miles, ami a breadth of four

miles. Its inhabitiints are mostly engaged in agri-

cultural pursuits. There is one carriage manufactory,

one woolen-mill, one store, and blacksmith-shops and

saw-mills to accomniodatc the public. The land is

rolling but fertile, being very suitable for fruit-grow-

ing. There is a library in the town of nearly twelve
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hundred volumes, which is well patronized, making
an intelligent community. In the southeast part of

the town is Nonneway Falls, a beautiful cascade in a

romantic glen, deriving its name from an Indian chief

of that name whom tradition claims had his wigwam
on the banks of the stream below the falls. It is now
quite a place of resort. A female boarding-school

has recently been established there, which bids fair

to become a success. There have been in times past

schools which have gained quite a notoriety. At one

time John C. Calhoun, of South Carolina, was a pupil

in this town. Rev. Benjamin Meigs, a native of this

town, was a missionary to Ceylon for forty years.

Jlr. Burton, for many years connected with the mis-

sion in Liberia, was also a native.

" lit'mjrc<l by this Assembly, Those Inhahitance of the Town of Wood-
bury that live within the limits of said society of Bethlehem, be and they

are hereby incorporated into a separate and distinct Town by tiio name
of the Town of Uetlilehem and that the bounds and lindts, shall be the

same as the present bounds of the Society of Bethlehem with the same

rights Powers, privileges and franchises of every kind in other towns

in this State by law now have and enjoy. Excepting only that they,

be restricted to One llepresoutative only in the General Assembly.

And that said Town of Bethlehem shall hold their first Town Meeting

at the Public Electing house in said town on the 20 day of June next

at two O'clock in the Afternuou and tliat Oliver Parmlee Esq of said

Bethleliem, be and he is hereby authorized and empowered to cause

said meeting warned aiul shall receive tlie votes of the iiibabitance for

Moderator and shall preside as moderator until a moderator shall be

chosen at which meeting said town of Bethlehem, shall have liberty to

choose all their town Ollicers who shall be invested with the same powers

as similar Officers in other towns by law have, and shall continue in

Office until othere be chosen in their stead.

" A true copy of Kecord Examined by George Wyllys, Secretary of

State."

THE FIRST TOWN-MEETING.

The first town-meeting assembled June 20, 1787.

Daniel Everett was chosen Jloderator ; Moses Haw-
ley, Town Clerk ; Robert Crane, Capt. Enos Hawley,

and John Wheeler, Selectmen ; Ebenezer Bird, Town
Treasurer ; Gideon Atwood, Constable and Collector

of Taxes ; and Nathan Ranney, Constable. The
meeting then adjourned to June 26, 1787.

TOWN CLERKS.

Homer Skidmore, 1853-54; Henry W. Peck, 1855-61 ; Homer Skidmore,

1862; George C. Stone, 1863; Henry Davis, 18G4-0G; George G.

Stone, 1867 ; Abraham Beecher, 1808-72 ; Henry W. Peck, 1873
;

Franklin Booth, 1S74 ; George C. Stone, 1876-81.

TOWN-HOUSE.

Land was purchased for the site of a town-hall in

1838. Jerial Hayes contracted to build the same,
|

but, failing to complete it in the time specified, a

building committee was directed to cause the same

to be completed by June 1, 1840.

SELECTMEN FROM 1787 TO 1881.

1787.—Robert Crane, Capt. Enos Hawley, John Wheeler, Ebenezer Bird.

1788.—Robei-t Crane, David Camp, Ebenezer Perkins.

1790-01.—Ebenezer Perkins, David Leavit, Jr., James Kasson, Jr.

1791-92.—Same as 1790-91, with the addition of M. Hawley.

1793.—D. Leavit, Jr., J. Kasson, M. Hawley.

1794.—David Leavit, Jr., David Ambler, David Bellamy,

1795.—No record.

1796-lSOU.—Robert Crane, Friend Clark, George D. Kasson.

1801-3.—Friend Clark, George D. Kasson, John Steel (2d).

1804-8.—Friend Clark, George D. Kasson, Nehemiah Lambert.

1809.—George D. Kasson, Nehemiah Lambert, Nathaniel Hawley.
1810.—Same, with the addition of Jonathan Smith.

1811-12.—Nehemiah Lambert, Nathan Hawley, Jonathan Smith.

1813-15.—Nehemiah Lambert, Nathan Hawley, Nathan Burton.

1816.—Nathan Hawley, George D. Kasson, Samuel Bloss.

1817-18.—Nathan Hawley, George D. Kasson, William Kasson.

1819-20.—George D. Kasson, William Kasson, Benjamin T. Lake.

1821-22—Sheldon C. Leavit, Joseph II. Bellamy, Pliineas Crane.

1823-24.—Sheldon C. Leavit, Joseph U. Bellamy, Samuel Bloss.

1825.—Joseph U. Bellamy, Sanuiel Bloss, Levi Thompson.
1826-28.—Levi Thompson, Joseph Ambler, Adam C. Kasson.

1829.- Sheldon C. Leavit. Joseph Ambler, Adam C. Kasson.

1830.—Minot Smith, James Allen, Pliineas Crane.

1831-32.—Minot Smith, James Allen, Jerial Hayes.

1833.—Minot Smith, Nath.au Jackson, James Allen.

1834.—James Allen, Levi Thompson.

1835.—Levi Thompson, Noble Allen.

1836-37.*—Noble Allen, Jerial Hayes.

1838.—Noble Allen, Jerial Hayes, B. T. Lake.

1839-42.—Minot Smith, James Allen, Bennett Warner.

1843-44.—Minot Smith, Nicholas flloss, George L. Bloss.

1845.—Abraham Beecher, George L. Bloss, David M. Cowles.

1846.—Abraham Beedier, George M. Kasson, E. L. Thompson.

1847.—Abraham Beecher, Edwin L. Thompson, George L. Bloss.

1848.—Abraham Beecher, Getirge L. Bloss, Abner Allen.

1849-50.—Abraham Beecher, Marvin S. Todd, H. W. Peck.

1851.—Marvin S. Todd, Henry \V. Peck, John C. Ambler.

1852.—Marvin S. Todd, Humer Skidmore, George M. Kasson.

1853-54.—Marvin S. Todd, Sidney Peck, Joshua Bird.

1855.-Marvin S. Todd, Sidney Peck, Clark C. Guild.

1856-58.—Slarvin S. Todd, Sidney Peck, Henry Catlin.

1859.—Marvin S. Todd, Henry Catlin, Pliineas Crane.

1860.—Henry Catlin, Pliineas Crane, Samuel L. Bloss.

1861.—Henry Catlin, Pbineaa Crane, Walter B. Lake.

1862.—Henry Catlin, James Allen, Abraham Beecher.

1863-64.—Abraham Beecher, James Allen, Edwin L. Thompson.

1865.—Abraham Beecher, Edwin L Thompson, Samuel L. Bloss.

1866.—Samuel L. Bloss, Edwin L. Thompson, David W. Ames.

1S67-C8.—Sanniel L. Bloss, Benjanun T. Lake, Allen Smith.

1869-70.—Samuel L. Bloss, Benjamin T. Lake, George C. Guild.

1871.—Henry Catlin, Warreu N. Taylor, Theodore Bird.

1872.—Theodore Bird, Ralph Munson, John Trowbridge.

1873.—Nehemiah L. Bloss, Lewis G. Sherman, Jonathan Wooten.

1874-75,—Neliemiah L. Bloss, Jonathan Wooten, George S. Guild.

1876.—Amzi D. Bacon, Henry C. Hill, David W. Ames.

1877.—Amzi D. Bacon, Theodore Bird, George S. Guild.

1878.—Amzi D. Bacon, Henry Catlin, Theodore Bird.

1879.—Henry Catlin, Warren H. Taylor, Marvin S. Todd.

1S80.—Henry Catlin, Marvin S. Todd, Theodore Bird.

Grand list, 1880, *453,1.52.

The jiresent town officers are G. C. Stone, Town
Clerk ; Henry Catlin, Marvin S. Todd, and Warren
H. Taylor, Selectmen ; Jonathan Wooten, Town
Treasurer; Benjamin T. Lake, Town Deposit Fund
Treasurer.

LIST OF REPRESENTATIVES.

1787, David Ambler; 17S8, David Ambler, David Camp; 1789, David

Camp, Capt. Jonathan Smith ; 1790-91, David Ambler; 1792, David

Ambler, Oliver Parmelee ; 1793, David Ambler; 1794-96, David Bel-

lamy; 1797, Oliver Parmelee, David Bellamy; 1798, David Leavitt,

Jr., David Bellamy; 1709, David Leavitt, Jr.; 1800, David Leavitt,

Jr., David Bellamy; 1801, David Leavitt, Jr., Alexandria Kasson;

1802, David Bellamy, David Leavitt, Jr. ; 1803, David Bellamy, Nehe-

miah Lambert; 1804-5, David Bellamy; 1806, Nehemiah Lambert,

David Bellamy; 1807, David Bellamy; 1808, Nehemiah Lambert,

David Bellamy; 1800, David Bellamy; 1810, Samuel Church, Jr.,

David Bellamy; 1811, George D. Kasson, Samuel Church, Jr.; 1812,

Nehemiah Lambert; 1813, George D. Kasson, Leveritt Judd ; 1814,

Samuel Church, Jr., Leveritt Judd ; 1815, Nehemiah Lambert, Shel-

don C. Leavitt; 1816, Nathan Hawley; 1817, Sheldon 0. Leavitt,

* In 1837 the election was held upon the 26th of September, and not

the fore-part of December, aa heretofore.
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Nehemiah Lamljert ; 181R, Nelieniiah Lambert, Joseph H. Bellamy;

1819 * Joseph H. Bellamy ; 1820, Sheldon C. Leavitt ; 1821, Joseph

H. Bellamy; 1S22, Sheldon C. Leavitt; 1823, Nathan Barton, Jr.;

1824-25, Sheldon C. Leavitt; 1826-27, Joseph IL Bellamy; 1828,

Sheldon C. Leavitt; 1829-31, Nathan Jackson ;
1S32, Minot Smith

;

1833, Nathan Jackson ; 1834, Nathan Hawley ; 1835, Isaac S. Wads-

worth ; 1836, James Allen; 1837, Jerial Hayes; 1838, Noble Allen;

1839, Nathan Hawley ; 1840, no choice ; 1841, Charles A. Bloss ; 1842,

Abraham Beecher; 1S43, Gideon Allen; 1844, Nicholas Moss; 1845,

George T. Bloss ; 1840, Beunett Warner ; 1847, Nicholas Moss ; 1848,

Marvin S.Todd; 1 840, Edwin L. Thompson ; 1850, Sidney Peck ; 1851,

James Allen, Jr. ; 1852, James Allen; 1853, Henry W. Peck ; 1854,

Benjamin T. Lake; 1855, William A. Hayes; 1856, Henry Callin;

1857, Leonard L. Hotchkiss; 1868, L. H. Guild; 1859, Sidney Peck;

1800, Samuel L. Bloss ; ISfil , Marvin S. Todd ; 1802, Henry W. Peck

;

1863, Marvin S. Todd; 1S04, Abraham Beecher; 1865, Edwin L.

Thompson; I860, Henry Davis ; ISO", Henry J.Martin; 1808, Henry

Catlin; 1869, Marshall E. Beecher; 1870, Warren H.Taylor; 1871,

Gideon D. Crane ; 1872, George S. Guild; 1873, Marshall E. Beecher;

1874, Richard W. Bacon ; 1875, Henry C. Hill ; 1876, David W.Thomp-

son; 1877, Herbert S. Jacks jn; 1878, David W. Thompson; 1879,

George 0. Stone ; 1880, David H. Jndd ; 1881, Francis E. Judson.

THE REVOLUTION.

The following vote of the society of Bethlehem

illustrates the spirit of the people in 1776

:

" We the subscribers in Bethlehem, Considering the great Danger we are

in from our unnatural Enemies do voluntarily lugage to Equip our-

selves as soon as we can with a good Gun, Sword or Bayonet, and Caterage

Box for any Especial Emergency, for the Defense of our Invaluable

Rights and Privileges and Promise to support the same with our Lives

and fortunes as witness our hands the 18th day of July A.D. 1776."

This agreement was signed by Capt. Andrew Mar-

tin and forty-four others.

3ULITARY RECORD.

The following is the list of those who entered the

late Rebellion credited to this town :

Charles and Levi Baldwin, E. Burke, A. W. Burr, Joseph lUiyco, Felix

Clary, William B. Crane, Francis Dugan, John Duffeo, William

Flynn, John Ferry, Isaac Foot, Michael Garrey, Janien H.Gilbert,

John Hogan, Henry J. Hubbard, John Hayden, Patrick Howard,

Daniel Hunt, John Jorie, Oliver Johnson, Alexander D. anil E. N.

Kasson, Louis Le Blanc, A. J. Lownsbury, Peter Monaghor, Richard

McGee, Jr., Thomas McBride, Olin Nash, De.xter A. Ilarson, B. and

John K. Nortlirup, James Oswald, Patrick lU>urke, Theodore Stewart,

Abram B. Police, George Williams, Philip L. Waldron.

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCH.

JAMES ALLEN.

The Allen family have been identified with the

history of Betlilehein for more than a hundred years.

Amos Allen, tlie pioneer, came from AVoodliridge and

settled in the southwest part of the town, where he

raised a family of six children, five sons and one

daughter. He was a large land-owner, and gave to

each of his sons land, upon which they settle<I, in the

immediate neighborhood. James Allen was the old-

est son by a second wife. His land was adjoining the

old home on tlie south. His father died wiien lie was

nineteen years of age. When twenty-one he was mar-

• Under the coiuUtuUon.

ried to Clarissa Way. Their children were Abner,

Amos, James, George P., and Jabez. Mr. Allen was

a man of good judgment and strict integrity, and he

enjoyed in a large degree the confidence and esteem

of his neighbors ; was a Democrat in politics, and

often called to fill town offices, and was a selectman

for many years, and frequently chosen administrator

of estates and guardian of minor children. He repre-

sented the town in the Legislature in 18.36 and in 1852.

He was also a soldier in the war of 1812, for which

his widow received a pension. He died in 1858, in

his sixty-fourth year. His wife died March 10, 1881,

at the advanced age of eighty-two years.

Mr. Allen received but a small farm from his father,

to which he made additions until he had two hundred

and eighty acres, upon which he built a good and sub-

stantial house, uow the home of his third sou, James,

Jr., who received the honie-larni from his father, and,

like him, has added other lands until he has some four

hundred acres of land, with large improvements and

fine buildings (a view of which may be seen in this

work). He is one of the most substantial and successful

farmers in his town, and has Iield several town offices,

and represented the town in the Legislature in 1851.

He married Betsy L., daughter of George W. Peck,

and granddaughter of Deacon Calvin Peck, who came

to Sharon when a young man, where the family still

reside. Their children are Frank P., who is in the

lumber business in Georgia ; Charles M., is a hard-

ware merchant in Waterbury ; .T. Edward, is a farmer

in Bethlehem ; and Henry M., lives at home.

CHAPTER XXVL
BRIDOEWATER.

Geograplilcal— To|Kigm|ihlcal—Inoiriwnitlon of Town — First Town-

Meeting—Ofllcorv Elected—List of Town Clerks— Representntivee from

18fi7 to 1881 — Eoclosiaetical lll»tory— Congregational Church—St.

Hark'a Church— Methodist Episcopal Church — Baptist Chureb—

Ruuian Catholic Chureb-Grand List, 1861-Military Beconl.

This town lie.s in the southwestern part of Litch-

field County, and is bounded as follows : on the north

by New Milford, on the eiust by the town of Uo.xbury

and New Haven County, on the .toutli l)y Fairfield

County, and on the we.st l>y Fairfield County and the

town of New Milford. Its surface is iiilly, but is well

adapted to agricultural pursuits. Tobacco raising

forms a leading occupation of the inhabitants.

The early iiistory of this town is interwoven with

that of the mother-town. New Milford, and will be

found detailed in the hist<iry of that town elsewhere

in this work.

INCORPOKATION OK DHIIXJEWATKR.

Bridgewatcr formed a portion of New Millbrd until

May, 185G, when it was set off as a separate town. It

was known as the " Neck."
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The first town-meetiug was held July 14, 1856, with

Charles H. Sanford as moderator. The following offi-

cers were chosen : Sherman Peek, Glover Sanford, and

Eoswell Morris, Selectmen ; Charles H. Sanford, Town
Clerk ; Peter Wooster, Treasurer ; Eli »Sturdevaut,

Constable and Collector ; Burr Glover, Burr Mal-

let, Samuel F. Clark, and John Keeler, Constables;

Nelson D. Trobridge and Addison Beardsley, Grand

Jurors ; Samuel E. Clark, Henry C. Knight, and J.

G. Randal, Tithingmen ; Charles Leavenworth and

Alva Warner, Haywards; David Wooster, Ganger;

Harley Sanford, Sealer of Weights and Measures

;

James M. Phippeney, Packer; William P. Bennett,

Sexton; J. Piatt, Burying-ground Commissioner;

Henry B. Young, Pound-Keeper; Peter Phippeney

and S. W. Treat, Fence-Viewers ; Horace Judson,

Kegister.

TOWN CLERKS.

The following is a list of town clerks from the organ-

ization of the town to 1881

:

Ohavles H. Sanford, 1857-59 ; G. H. Warner,* 1860-62 ; .\ustin H. Gillett,

1862-09 ; Henry H. Du Bois, M.D., 1870-74 ; G. B. Wurnor.t 1875-81.

REPRESENTATIVES FROM 1857 TO 1881.

1857, Hiram Koeler ; 1858, Homer B. Sanford; 1859, N. D. Trowbridge;

1860, Jolin Pecli ; 1861, R. J. LiviTigaton ; 1802, F. S. Sanford ; 1S63,

Smith K. Weeks; 1864, George Beardsley; 1805, Eli Sturdevnnt;

1866, Glover Sanford; 1867, Alonzo Barnum; 1868, G. R. Warner;

1869, Austin H. Gillett; 1870, Daniel Keeler; 1871, Sherman Peck;

1872, Burr Mallett; 1873, Edgar L. Pock ; 1874, Darwin Keeler; 1875,

Bence B. Beach; 1876, Marcus B. Mullett; 1877, John Keeler; 1878,

Jeremiah G. Randall; 1879, James H. Keeler; 1880, George W.
Morris; 1881, Amos Northrop.

ECCLESIASTICAL HISTORY.

CONGREGATIONAL CHURCH.J

Inasmuch as the liistory of the Congregational

Church and Society was for a long time almost the

history of this section of the old town, it will be given

in extenso :

The first ecclesiastical society in Bridgewater was

organized in the year. 1803. Up to that year it was a

part of the first society in New Milford. At the ses-

sion of the General Assembly in said year action

was taken upon the petition of Truman Minor et al.,

to be set off as a district society, on " account of the

inconveniences which thej' sutt'er by continuing a part

of the New Milford Society." The petition bears date

" April 30, 1803," and was granted. The limits of the

society, as specified in the act of the Legislature, were

the same as those of the present town of Bridgewater.

Those seem to have been based originally upon what

—

as to its northern boundary—was known as the

" established military lines in said Neck" (probably

the limit of a company of the militia.)

Simultaneously with the organization there was

pledged by a subscription a fund amounting to two

* Mr. Warner resigned, and Levi M. Warner wa£ appointed.

f Vice Gillett, resigned.

I Condensed from a historical discourse delivered in Bridgewater,

July 9, 1876, by Rev. J. B. Doolittle.

thousand five hundred and seventy-seven dollars, " the

interest of which shall be paid annually, and carefully

apjjlied to the support of an able and discreet minister

of the gospel in said society." Much of the fund

subscribed was never paid, and during the first thirty

years the interest was but partially collected. Lega-

cies have from time to time been added, but consider-

able sums seem to have also been lost. The last

legacy—one thousand dollars—was from the estate of

the late Lyman Smith.

The first meeting of the society was on Nov. 17,

1803, at the house of John Canfield. At a meeting

held Feb. 1, 1804, it was voted " that we will lay a tax

of five mills on the dollar for the benefit of the society,

to be payable by April 1st." Jeremiah Canfield was
appointed collector of said tax. At the same meeting

it was voted " that the society committee be empow-
ered to hire a minister, and lay out as much of the

money to be raised by the tax as they think for the

good of the society." Also "that we will purchase

pine lumber for the purpose of building a meeting-

house." Also "that Eli Smith and Benjamin Mead
be appointed a committee to purchase said lumber."

By a vote passed Dec. 27, 1804, their purchase was

rejected, and no advance seems to have been made
until the end of 1806, December 16th, at which time

a committee of nine, of which Benjamin Mead was
chairman, was appointed to pitch a stake at the cran-

berry jjond " for the meeting-house." They were re-

quested to attend to the business " on Thursday next

at two P.M." This seems to have been done satisfac-

torily, for on Jan. 8, 1807, they voted that " we will

build a meeting-house in this society with a steeple,

this present year, on or near the place where the stake

is now pitched, south of the cranberry pond, on James
W. and Sally Smith's land. Said house to be raised

and closed." The building committee were Eli Smith,

David Merwin (2d), and Andrew Miner." The same
committee was to set a price on the lumber bought,

and also upon " all kinds of labor by the day." The
price fixed upon for the first three months of that

year was three shillings and sixpence per day (about

sixty-two cents), and seven shillings for a four-cattle

team."

The frame of the present edifice is the one which
was put up at that time, but the house has been re-

modeled twice. It seems to have been built in the

plainest manner. The first covering was of shingles

and not painted. This we infer from the fact that on

Oct. 10, 1807, they voted " to paint the steeple, all

above the deck floor, and the trimmings of the house."

The building does not seem to have been completed

before 1810.

The pioneers seem to have been fruitful in expe-

dients for meeting and conquering financial difficul-

ties, for, near the close of 1807, they appointed Andrew
Miner, as agent of the society, to petition the Legisla-

ture for a lottery to finish the house.

In the early part of 1817 the meeting-house was
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struck by lightning. Tliis was soon repaired. It un-

derwent no further extensive repairs until 1842.

It is a matter of interest to the young to know that

in those early days it would have been considered by

many a positive sin to have a fire in the meeting-

house. Our grandfathers tell us that they used to sit

patiently through two long sermons ; and if their

feet became intolerably cold they would knock them

together to stimulate circulation. The ladies have

always in this country been privileged characters.

They used to carry foot-stoves; some of which, of

more recent pattern, may still be found in the slips,

contesting the ground with the modern soapstone. I

find no record of the first introduction of stoves. It

was probably, however, not far from the year 1825.

And probably for some years the stove-pipes formed

a junction in front of the pulpit and thence out

through the roof. The first substitute for a bell was

a large triangle. This in time was replaced by a

bell.

The church was organized Aug. 10, 1809. Its rec-

ords were burned in 1830. It was organized with

twenty-nine members,—nine male and twenty female.

Rev. Reuben Taylor, the first pastor, was ordained

Jan. 24, 1810, and was dismissed April 5, 1815.

From the timeof his dismission until Feb. 15, 1824,

the church remained destitute of a preached gospel

and its blessed ordinances, except occasional supplies,

for a few weeks at a time, by itinerant preachers.

For five years succeeding 1824 the church enjoyed

the regular preaching of the gospel for one-third

part of tlie time by Rev. Fosdic Harrison, pastor of

the church in Roxbury.

Mr. Taylor was settled upon a salary of four hun-

dred dollars. But at the outset he was also given

five hundred dollars as a "settlement." This was in

accordance with the usual custom of the churches in

the settlement of pastors. This money was given

him upon the condition that, " Provided he leaves the

society within the term of ten years, and the fault

shall be his, he shall refund to the society in propor-

tion as he has not tarried that length of time." On
March 6, 1815, he was notified that his "resignation

would be accepted." He therefore saved his two

hundred and fifty dollars.

Mr. Taylor built and occupied the house which is

known as the Lyman Smith place. The magnificent

shade-trees around it, set out by him, are his most en-

during material monument. He also set out the or-

chard east of the house. He purciiased the trees of

a Mr. Sturdevant, who was to take his pay in sermons

upon the " doctrine of Election." Mr. Taylor gave

them a pretty strong one on the following Sunday,

and at tlie close of it Mr. Sturdevant said :
" Jlr. Tay-

lor, we will call the tree account square."

The period of the early history of this church was

characterized extensively in New England by the

breaking up of the old denominational monopoly; a

reaction against the " high Calvinism" which had so

prominently characterized the " standing order" dur-

ing the last half of the last century.

In 1820 one Mr. Burritt preached here. The only

allusion to him upon the records is the fact that " six-

teen united with the church under him."

The second settled pastor here was Rev. Albert

Camp. He was probably Dr. Camp's son, of North-

field. He was ordained and installed Dec. 9, 1834.

The Consociation met at that time at the house of

Stephen Treat,—Mr. Camp's boarding-place. His

salary, as voted by the society, was three hundred

and sixty-five dollars per year, and three Sundays

vacation. During this pastorate the meeting-house

was rebuilt.

March 10, 1842, the society voted to repair the

underpinning and steeple, put slips in the place of

pews, and cover the building on three sides with pine

siding; also to "paint the outside and inside," if

sufiicient funds can be raised by subscription. J. L.

Miner was appointed a committee to circulate the

same, and Lyman Smith, John Wooster, and Harmon

Treat were appointed a committee to superintend the

work.

During Mr. Camp's pastorate the parsonage was

built upon land donated by Stephen Treat, but for

interest upon which he was during his lifetime to be

paid thirty dollars annually. The parsonage was

first owned as a joint stock "affair," but was after-

wards bought in and owned by the society. Beach

Sanford and Daniel Miner were the building com-

mittee. The cost was twelve hundred and thirty-

two dollars and two cents.

A vote of the society, bearing the date of 1830, is

as follows

:

"That If Homer Trent will bo nccuiintalile to the soilely for sevenly-

flve ilollure, the auid II. T. ahull have the privilcgo to siiliclt subscriptions

from iiiillviiluftU to lulp him piiy the iialil wjventj-Bve liollais, ami he

almll have the privilopc of boanllng the minister through the year, and

no njenilwr of the sodity shall l>e allowed the privilege of having a

scholar or scholars to sliuly and recite to the minister during the year,

uitlior directly or imliroctly."

Mr. Camp was dismissed June I!, 1>*43.

Rev. James Kilbourn supplied the pulpit from

Aug. 13, 1843. He was ordained and installed Feb.

21, 1844, upon a salary of four hundred and fifty dol-

lars, incluiling aid from the Domestic Missionary So-

ciety. He was dismissc<l July 1, 1850.

Rev. Dillon Williams was acting pastor during the

two years following,—that is, until September, 1852.

The interval between September, 1852, and 1860

found Rev. F. Harrison acting as reserve, while un-

succcs-sful etlbrts seem to have been made to secure a

pastor. There were nine added to the cliureh, of

whom three were by profession; sixteen were dis-

missed.

Among tho.se who occupied the pulpit at times arc

the names of H. H. McFarland and Lester Dorman.

Rev. L. S. Potwin was ordained and installed Oct.

2, IXfiO, and wius dismissed in IKi!;?.

Rev. Henry E. Hart, was acting pastor from July,
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1863, to July, 18G6. Rev. Win. H. Dean commenced

his labors here Nov. 21, 1866, and was installed Aug.

28, 1867. His dismission occurred June 21, 1871.

Simultaneously with his coming there was developed

a revival of considerable power, which resulted in

the largest numerical accession which the church has

ever experienced. During his pastorate a new pipe

organ was put into the church. It cost eleven hun-

dred dollars, and was the gift of Lyman Smith.

Rev. John B. Doolittle commenced his labors here

July 1, 1872, and was installed on the 16th of October

following.

Mr. Harrison, of Roxbury, from his long familiar-

ity with Bridgewater, and his frequent oflicial con-

nection with this church, is remembered with sin-

cere affection by all of the older people.

Seven of the sons of this church have entered

the Christian ministry, viz. : Joseph Treat, Wm.
A. Hawley, Levi Smith, Isaac C. Beach, Julius

O. Beardsley (foreign missionary), Philo R. Hurd,

and Albert E. Dunning. The following legacies have

been received by the society : in 1847, estate of Abijah

Beach, $.300 ; in 1849, estate of Stejihen Treat, $.500
;

in 18.50, estate of Mrs. David Young, $.50; in 1873,

estate of Lyman Smith, $1000. Mr. Smith's legacy

was in addition to his gift to the society of the organ,

before alluded to, at a cost of $1100.

ST. MAllK'S CHUKCH.*

The first record of any organization of St. Mark's

Episcopal Society is of a meeting held at the dwell-

ing-house of Jonas Sanford, on Easter Monday, April

23, 1810, at which meeting William Gillett and Ju-

lius Camp were chosen wardens, Daniel Booth, Jere-

miah Piatt, and James Jesup vestrymen, William

Gillet reading clerk, Samuel Lockwood, treasurer

;

also David Merwin, Joseph Wheeler, Blackman

Jesup, Jeremiah Canfield, Treat Canfield, Jehiel

Summers, and John Treat were chosen choristers, and

Joel Sanford elected to attend the State convention

within the year.

It appears that no steps were taken at this time

towards the erection of a church edifice, but the peo-

ple received such miuistrations as the ministers of

neighboring parishes were able to offer, meeting for

worship at the dwellings of the several church-mem-

bers, but more frequently at the house of Jonas San-

ford. The society continued its existence in this way

until the year 1835, when it had so far increased in

numljcrs and strength as to warrant the undertaking

of the building of a church edifice, which was accord-

ingly erected in this same year, being located about

one-half mile south of the present village, and

afterwards a public road was laid by the town, past

the church, which led to Southville. This edifice was

used for worship until the year 1859, when the erec-

tion of a second church building, located in the cen-

* Contributed by E. Sturdovant.

tre of the village, was commenced and completed in

the following year, and was consecrated March 14,

1860, by the Right Rev. John Williams, and continues

in use as the place of public worship by the members

of St. Mark's Society.

No complete list of ministers can be given from the

first organization to the erection of a church, but

among those officiating are the names of Revs. B.

Northrop, Benjamin Benham, and Joseph S. Covell.

Since 1835 the church has been in charge of the

following named clergymen : Revs. Joseph S. Covell,

Abel NichoLs, Cxeorge H. Nichols, William Atwill,

Abel Ogden, William 0. Jarvis, H. F. M. Whitesides,

Abel Nichols, Merritt H. Wellman, William H. Cook,

James Morton, H. D. Noble, X. Alanson Welton, W.
B. Colburn, D.D., and G. V. C. Eastman, D.D., under

whose charge the church is at the present time.

The present officers of the parish are as follows :

Jeremiah G.Randall, Eli Sturdevant, Wardens; Arza

C. Morris, Albert B. Mallett, Amos Northrop, Vestry-

men ; Henry S. Frost, Collector; Arza C. Morris,

Treasurer ; Jeremiah G. Randall, Delegate to Conven-

tion ; Eli Sturdevant, Clerk.

THE METHODIST CHURCH.

In his historical address delivered in 1876, Rev. Mr.

Doolittle said,

—

"The Methodists also commenced among lis, and they, too, have had

their privileged sliare in promoting the religions work. A large number

of those who originally worshiped with us afterward withdrew, princi-

pally, I think, on accountof doctrinal differences, and united with them.

I think they never had a meeting-house here. They met in different

places. But more recently they have had a flourishing church in South-

ville, where they now have a neat place of worship."

The Baptists at one time had a church here, but it

long ago became extinct. The Roman Catholics also

at one time had a flourishing organization here.

GRAND LIST, 1881.

180% dwelling houses $71,115

9187-K acres of Land 211,328

Mills, stores, and manufactories 3,170

200 horees 8,870

987 neat cattle 20,512

Slieep, swine, and poultry 482
Carriages and wagons 3,849

Timepieces and jewelry 415

Musical instruments 1,165

Libraries 100

Bank, insurance, and manufacturing stock 43,511

Railroad, city, and other corporation bonds 500
Amount employed in merchandising , 3,225

Investments in mechanical and manufacturing
operations 1,120

Money at interest 19,847

Money on hand 100

All other taxable property 27,300

Ten l)er cent, additional 8,337

Added by board relief. 10,263

8435,269

Deductions 17,335

Grand list $417,934

Grand list, 1879 422,175

Loss 84,241

Polls, 65 ; military, 90.

MILITARY RECORD.f

A. Lecor, 8th Regt. ; eul. Nov. 18, 1864.

P, Harvey, 10th Regt.; enl. Nov, 16, 1864; disch, Aug, 25, 1865.

George Peters, enl, Dec, 12, 1864,

f For list of 19th Regiment, see Chapter V,
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D. W. Peck, sergeant, lOtli Regt. ; enl. Aug. 1, 18G1 ; disch. July 22, 18G2.

E. C. Benrdsley, 10th Eegt. ; enl. Aug. 1, 1861 ; died April 25, 1802.

Ii. Foulun, 10th Kegt. , enl. Nov. 1804; disch. June 13, 1S05.

G. Schneeweiss, 10th Regt. ; enl. Nov. 23, 1804 ; disch. Dec. 21, 1865.

J. 0. Beers, 12th Regt.; enh Nov. 23, 1801 ; diacb. Dec. 2, 1804.

E. A. Canfield, 12th Regt. ; enl. Nov. 22, 1861.

H. M. Payne, 12th Regt.; enl. Nov. 22, 1801 ; disch. June 27, 1862.

J. Collins, 15th Regt.; enl. March 3, 1804; ordered to navy.

William Doyle, 20tli Regt.; enl. March 3, 1864; disch. July 19, 1865.

Henry Hinton, 20th Regt. ; enl. 5Iarcli 3, 1864 ; disch. July 19, 1866.

A. E. Hamlin, 23d Regt.; enl. Aug. 8, 1862; died June 2,1803.

William Wilson, 1st Art. ; enl. Nov. 24, 1804.

Eugene H. Duffy, 5th Regt. ; enl. Aug. 14, 1803 ; killed July 20, 1864.

William Kanistler, 5th Regt.; enl. July 22, 1861 ; disch. Sept. 1, 1861.

W. H. Amiitage, 5th Regt.; enl. Aug. 14, 1803.

Charles Alexander, 5th Regt. ; enl. March 3, 1864 ; must, outJuly 19, 1865.

John Carr, 5th Regt.; enl. Aug. 14, 1S03; killed July 20, 1864.

J. H. Guy, 5th Eegt. ; enl. Aug. 15, 1863 ; must, out July 10, 1805.

John Youngs, 5th Eegt. ; enl. Aug. 15, 1803 ; must, out May 27, 1S05.

George Harvey, 0th Regt.; enl. Nov. 12, 1S64; must, out Aug. 21, 1805.

John Dupires, 11th Regt.; enl. Blarch 4, 1864; pro. first lieutenant.

B. Divine, 11th Eegt.; enh Dec. 1, 1864; disch. Dec. 21, 1865.

S. E. Thomson, 27th Eegt. ; eul. Sept. 4, 1862 ; died of wounds Dec. 30,

1802

George Clawson, 27th Eegt. ; enl. Sept. 15, 1862; disch. July 27, 1863.

Henry Mabie, 27th Regt.; enl. Sept. 15, 1862; disch. July 27, 1863.

James H. JIahie, 27th Regt. ; enl. Sept. 16, 1862; disch. July 27, 1863.

George Paulscraft, 27th Eegt. ; enl. Sept. 15, 1862; disch. July 27, 1863.

George D. Cummings, 28th Eegt.; enl. Sept. 10, 1862; disch. Aug. 28,

1863.

David DoTOO, 28th Eegt.; enl. Oct. 2, 1862.

James McLaughlin. 2«th Eegt. ; enl. Sept. 2, 1862.

John Wi.von, 28tli Regt.; enl. Aug. 23, 1862.

W. H. Gregory, 29th Eegt.; enl. Dec. 23, 1862; killed Oct. 27, 1864.

Benjamin Thompson, 28th Eegt.; enl. Dec. 23, 1862.

A. G. Dixon, 29th Regt. ; enl. Dec. 23, 1862 ; disch. Oct. 24, 1865.

H. Storms, 20th Regt. ; enl. Dec. 21, 1803 ; disch. Juno 19, 1865.

S. Wright, 2'Jth Eegt,; enl. Dec. 22, 1S63; disch. Oct. 24, 1865.

T. Francis, 29th Eegt.; enl. Dec. 22, 1863; disch. Oct. 24, 1866.

J. L. Wellor, 28th Regt.; enl. Aug. 25, 1862; died July 29, 1803.

Charles M. Booth, first lieutenant, 28th Eegt.; enl. Aug. 25, 1862; disch.

Aug. 28. 1803.

H. F. Erwin, 28th Eegt.; enl. Sept. 6, 1862; disch. Aug. 28, 1863.

Herman Beers, 28th Regt. ; enl. Aug. 25, 1862.

N. S. Chapin, 2sth Eegt. ; enl. Sept. 6, 1802 ; disch. Aug. 28, 1803.

H. Cole, 28tii Eegt. ; enl. Sept. 15, 1802 ; disch. Aug. 28, 1S63.

J. Oarlich, 2Sth Eegt. ; enl. Aug. ;iO, 1802; iliscti. Aug. 28, 1863.

M. Langdon, 28th Eegt.; enl. Aug. 30, 1862.

Frederick Mead, 2.Sth Eegt. ; enl. Aug. 30, 1862 ; disch. Aug. 28, 1803.

Henry Smith, 28Ch Eegt. ; enl. A\ig. 23, 1862 ; disch. Aug. 28, 1863.

C. E. Woodin, 28th Kegt.; enl. Aug. 25, 1802; died July 17, 1803.

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES.

GLOVER SAN FOR D.

The San ford family date their ancentry back to

Thomas Sanford, a descendant of Tliomas deSanford,

a follower of William, Duke of Normandy, who is

mentiinied on tlie roll of Battle Abbey, Oct. 14, 1066.

Anollier descendant, Tliomas Sanford, came to ISoston

in the year 1681, and .settled in Jlilford, Conn., in the

year 1639; died there in 1()81. From him the Con-

necticut Sanfords date their ancestry. The subject of

tlii.s sketch. Glover .Sanford, was the third son of LifTe

an<l Hiililaii Blackinan Sanford
; wils born in that

part of the town of New Milford now the town of

liridgewater, March 3, 1797. ilia falher served seven

years in the Revolutionary war, and was present at

the execution of Maj. Andre. He died Dec. 3, 1815.

After the death of his father he apprenticed himself

to his brother, John B. Sanford, in the adjoining

town of Brookfield, to learn the trade of a hatter,

being then eighteen years of age. In 1820 he com-

menced business in the town of Salisbury, Conn. In

February, 1821, he married Betsy Lake, daughter of

Benjamin and Mabel Lake, of Brookfield. In 1823

he returned to his native town, where for a period of

forty-seven years he was engaged in the manufactur-

ing of hats, having associated with him in the busi-

ness his four sons, Charles H., Homer B., Frederick

S., and Edwin G., upon their arriving at legal age,

which composed the well-known firm of Glover San-

ford & Sons. In 1870 the firm, for want of facilities,

removed their business to Bridgeport, Conn., and in

which he continued until his death, and the business

is still continued under the same firm-name. He ex-

perienced in his business career difficulties that would

have disheartened a man of less resolution and power

of will ; but with him to encounter a difficulty was to

overcome. He was self-reliant, persevering, of keen

business foresight, a public-spirited, honorable, and

upright man, ever ready to lend a helping hand to

others. In the affairs of his native town he always

had a lively interest ; was twice a representative to

the State Legislature. In politics he was a staunch

Democrat. He was the first postmaster upon the es-

tablishment of a post-office in the town, and held the

same for many years, his first commission being issued

during the administration of Andrew Jackson. He
wasoneof the original corfioratorsof the Bank of Litch-

field County, of New Jlilford, now the First National

Bank of New Milford, anil a director in the same up

to within a few weeks of his death. He was also one

of the corporators of the town of Bridgewator, upon

its being incorporated a town, in 1856, and one of its

first board of selectmen. His habits of activity kept

him from the infirmities of age, and his mental facul-

ties were in full vigor at the close of his life. He
died May 30, 1878, at the age of eighty-one.

LYMAN SMITH.

Lyman Smitli, son of Kli and Huldah >[erwin

Smith, was born in New Milford, Bridgewater Society,

now the town of Bridgewater, Oct. 14, 1795, and died

Feb. 8, 1873, aged seventy-eight. He wsus the eighth

of a family of nine children. His father died when

he wius fourteen years of age. He received his edu-

cation from the common schools and the seminary at

Cheshire, Conn. I'pon completion of his education

he went to New Haven, and entered the wholesale

grocery store of Elias Hotchkiss, remaining there for

four years. Returning to his native town, he married

Susanna Woo.ster, daughter of Peter and Betsey Can-

field Wooster, and ]iurchased the house built by the

Rev. Reuben Taylor, the first Congregational minister
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settled in the society, and entered into the business of

farming. In 1825 he went into the mercantile busi-

ness, in which he continued for about thirty years.

He was a director of the First National Bank of New
Milford for many years, and was at the time of his

death. He represented the town of New Milford in

the State Legislature. In politics he was a Repub-
lican, having previously been a Whig. He was an

active member and promoter of the Congregational

Church an<l society, having donated to the same a

fine organ, and in his will bequeathed to the society

a liberal sum. He had two daughters,—Betsey Ann
Smith, who married Smith R. Weeks, and Susan

Adeline Smith, who married Charles H. Sanford.

JAMES H. KEELER.*

James Harvey Keeler, third son of Stephen B.

Keeler, was born Dec. 23, 1807, in the townof Ridge-

/^L^>C'Co-^

field, Fairfield Co., Conn. His father removed in 1813

to that part of New Milford then known as Bridge-

water parish, and which was incorjwrated as a separate

town in 1856. At the age of eleven years Mr. Keeler

left home to enter upon a life of active and arduous

labor. He received a common-school education, and

* By Rev. W. B. CoU.iirn, Ti.V., who was for many years rector of St.

Mark's Church, Bridgewater.

at the age of seventeen years was apprenticed to a
carpenter, at which trade he worked for some ten

years. He was married to Miss Harriet Skidmore
April 20, 1836. He then purchased and cultivated a

farm for some years, after which he erected a store,

and engaged in the mercantile business for about
seven years, dividing his time between that and agri-

cultural pursuits. He then engaged in the cattle

trade, which he successfully united with farming for

a period of more than thirty years. He now culti-

vates his estate, and, in connection with this, devotes

much attention to the business of buying and pack-

ing tobacco.

Mr. and Mrs. Keeler have been the parents of six

children, of whom three sons died in early life. The
survivors are as follows: Robert, born March 8, 1841,

who married Martha Randall, Dec. 31, 1862 (their

only child is Hattie E., born Oct. 15, 1866) ; James
H., Jr., born Feb. 4, 1843, who married Rebecca M.
Sanford, Dec. 31, 1863 ; she died in April, 1872. Mr.

Keeler was married a second time to Kate Erwin, of

New Milford, Jan. 7, 1874. His children are, by his

first wife, Rebecca M., born Nov. 6, 1871, and by his

second, Alice E., born Aug. 6, 1875. The third survi-

vor is Harriet S., born Sept. 3, 1849, and married to Mr.

Frederick A. Peck, Oct. 14, 1867. Their children are

Lois S., born Dec. 15, 1868 ; De Witt K., born Oct.

25, 1870 ; Frederick A., born Sept. 16, 1873 ; and Sher-

man, born Oct. 19, 1877.

Mr. Keeler represented the town of New Milford

in the Legislature of 1856, when Bridgewater was in-

corporated as a separate town. He was elected for

the express purpose of securing the act of incorpora-

tion, and after much laborious effort the desired ob-

ject was accomplished, as we have before stated. He
also represented Bridgewater in the Legislature of

1879. He held a magistrate's commission for many
years ; was for several years in succession a selectman

;

has also been assessor and member of the board of

relief, and has, in fact, filled nearly all the town ofiices.

He has ever been generous, and personally active in

urging and sustaining every measure promotive of

the public welfare. Every scheme for the moral, re-

ligious, educational, and general welfare of the com-

munity has found in him an ardent and persevering

friend. He has long been a communicant and prom-

inent parishioner of St. Mark's Protestant Episcopal

Church, and his name, wherever known, is a synonym

for integrity and worth.

It may be interesting to state, in connection with

the above, that Mr. Keeler's father was born in Ridge-

field, Fairfield Co., May 3, 1773, married Sally Pad-

dock in 1802, and died in Bridgewater, M.ay 9, 1850.

He was the eldest son of Daniel Keeler, who married

Elizabeth Burr, a cousin of the celebrated Aaron

Burr, and who died in 1806.
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HENRY SANFORD.

The subject of this sketch is descended in this

country from Thomas Sanford, who settled in Mil-

ford in ]639. The descent is as follows: Thomas,

Ezekiel, Sr., Ezekiel, Jr., Joseph, Nehemiah, Sr., and

Nehemiah, Jr.

^^'^m^. ^:f^nA//i}

Nehemiah Sanford, Jr., father ofHenry Sanford, was

born in 1762, at Redding, Conn, (local name Umpa-
wang Hill), and with his parents (Ncliemiah, Sr., and

Elizabeth) removed to New MiUbr<l in 1773, and

located in what was known as New Milford Neck,

since incorporate^ as the town of Bridgewater. He
was the youngest son of Nehemiah, Br. Enlisted

into the Revolutionary war at the age of nineteen ;

served three months, at wiiich time the war closed.

He was an earnest supporter of the institutions of the

gospel, regular in attendance, etc. April (!, 1786, he

married Hannah IJeach, daughter of David Beach, of

Bridgewater. To them were born Robert W., May 10,

1787; Anna, May 31, 1792; Electa, Sept. 11, 1795;

Garrj', Aug. 28, 1797; Beach, Aug. 16, 1804; Henry,

Oct. 14, 1806.

Robert \V. marrieil Mabel Sipiires, June 3, 180t>;

moved to Rootstown, Ohio, 1819; had nine chil-

dren; lived to be ninety-two; wife still living.

Anna died, unmarried, at the age of forty-nine;

resided in Bridgewater.

Electa married I'hilo Carter, in Ohio, April 27, 1823;

had five children ; died at forty-one.

Garry moved to Ohio, 1819 ; married Emily Rich-

ardson, 1822 ; had nine children ; died at the age of

forty-seven.

Beach married Lucy Smith, Nov. 15, 1825 ; moved

to Rootstown, Ohio, 1842; had a family of five sons;

moved to Warren, Wis., 1860 ; died at sixty-one.

Henry Sanford, the youngest son and child of Nehe-

miah Sanford, Jr., was born Oct. 14, 1806. Educa-

tional advantages were the district school. He was

reared a farmer, and occupies, owns, and tills the

farm once owned by his father and grandfather, Nehe-

miah, Sr.

At the age of twenty-one he identified himself with

the Congregational society, to which he has ever been

a strong supporter, and held many ofiices. Ever

ready to do his part in anything that would promote

its welfare and sustain the institutions of the gospel.

At the age of twenty-two he married Anna J. Can-

field, daughter of Daniel and Rebecca Canfield, of

Bridgewater, Dec. 4, 1828. Mrs. Sanford died March

10, 1844. Nov. 12, 1845, he married a second wife,

Polly B. Piatt, daughter of Simeon Piatt, of South

Britain.

By his former wife, Anna J., he had two sons,

—

Canfield H., born July 22, 1839, who died in infancy

;

Horace N., born Jan. 4, 1841, who follows the busi-

ness of farming. His educational advantages were

district school, select school, and two years at the

Normal School, New Britain, Conn. During the late

Rebellion he joined the Nineteenth Regiment Con-

necticut Volunteers, Company H, Sept. 11, 1862, and

continued with it three years, until date of muster

out, July, 1865. Received three slight wounds, one

at Cold Harl)or, June 1, 1864, under Gen. Grant, two

at Stnisburg, Oct. 19, 1864, under (ien. Sheridan.

He was a sergeant. Nov. 28, 1867, he married Dora

M. Ka.s.son, daughter of George M. Kasson, of Beth-

lehem, Conn., to wliom were Ijorn three children,

—

Genevieve T., March 18, 1872; Henry C, April 16,

1875; Mabelle F., April 29, 1H79. United with the

Congregational Church, Nov. 4, 1860, and has since

been identified in its interest; lias been for a number

of vears one of its deacons.

MARCU.'' B. MALLETT.

Marcus B. Mallett, son of Daniel and Eunice B.

Mallctt, was born in Trumbull, Conn., March 5, 1809.

lie was the elde.it of twelve children. He enjoyed

the limited advantages for an education afforded the

children of the New England farmer of those days.

At the age of fifteen years he wivs apprenticed to his

maternal uncle, Benjumiii B. Beach, of Bridgewater,

Conn. At the end of the first year, his uncle's health

having failed, he hired Marcus to Hiram Keeler, his

brother-in-law, who was a carpenter. He remained

with Mr. Keeler until the October before he was

twenty-one years of age, working the next year for

Amos Williams, of Brookfield, Conn., at the close of
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which he purchased a farm of Hiram Keeler, paying

eleven hundred dollars in cash and agreeing to pay a

balance of nine hundred dollars at the expiration of

four years. On the Sth of March, 1831, he married

Sarah, daughter of Stephen B. and Sally Keeler.

This union was blessed with three children,—Sarah E.,

Burr, and Alvira. By industry and economy the

farm was paid for in four years, and he had four hun-

dred dollars besides. He subsequently sold this place,

and liought a farm containing seventy acres of Joseph
Bennett, which he sold to Oren Young in 1842. He
is now living on the farm he purchased of his grand-

son, B. Warner. Mr. Mallett's daughter, Sarah E.,

married Arza Slorris ; to them were born three chil-

dren,—Gertrude E., Mary A., and S. Eugenia. His
son Burr married Mary E., daughter of Grandison E.

Warner, Sept. 28, 185G, and she died, four days after

marriage, of typhoid fever, at Earle's Hotel, New
York. On Jan. 1, 1861, he married, for his second
wife, Emelia C, daughter of Frederick Boland ; their

children are Mary E., Marcus B., Montiville, and
Sarah J. He represented his town in the General
Assembly in 187G, and has held a number of other

offices of trust. Alvira married Levi, son of G. R.

Warner, on Nov. 4, 1861 ; their children are Keuben
M. and S. Eugenia.

ROSWELL MORRIS.

Eoswell Morris was born in Newtown, Fairfield

Co., Conn., May 27, 1795. His father, Amos Morris,

was one of six children, and was born in Bridgeport,

Sept. 28, 1762, and married Eunice Clark.

Roswcll Moi'ris was the second of four children,

having two brothers, Levi and Curtis, and a sister,

Martha, all born in Newtown. His parents moved
from Newtown to Bridgewater (then New Milford) in

the spring of 1800, he being then five years of age.

There they lived until 183;5, when they moved to Great

Barrington, Mass., where they spent the last eight

years of their lives, only four days intervening be-

tween their deaths. Roswell's elder brother, Levi,

married Polly H. Smith. His brother Curtis married

Abigail Curtis for his first wife, and Cynthia J. Frink

for his second wife. His sister Martha married Or-

ange Smith. Roswell Morris married Laura Can-

field, daughter of John and Fhebe-Canfield, Nov. 26,

1818
; their children were Cornelia, Caroline, Mary,

and Arza C. Cornelia married Henry B. Young

;

their children were Stanley M., Mary C, Calvert H.,

Frederick A., and Martha C. Stanley M. married

Mary L. Morrell ; they had seven children. Fred-

erick A. married Urauia E. Buck. Caroline married

Peter Wooster ; their children were Laura J., J.

Morris, Charles M., and Edward R. Laura J. married

Richard G. Randall ; they had one child, Jennie.

Mai-y, unmarried. Arza C. married Sarah E. Mallett

;

their children were Gertrude E., Mary A., and S.

Eugenia.

The Morrises are of Scotch descent.

Eoswell Morris, like many of New England's sons,

started in life with a capital consisting only of strong

arms, a stout heart, and a good common-school edu-

cation. He set out from his home in Bridgewater

(then New Milford) to seek employment, and jour-

neyed as far as New Jersey, walking much of the way.

He taught school in that State one or two years, then

returned to Bridgewater, and engaged in farming,

working for a time with his older brother, Levi. Af-

terwards he succeeded by degrees in obtaining a farm

a little west of Bridgewater Centre, on which he re-

mained until his death. After locating as described

he did not relinquish teaching, but worked his farm

and taught the Centre school for many winters, doing

most of his farm-work at the same time.

Often after school-hours he would go into the woods
with his team, and draw wood by the light of the

moon.

As a teacher he had the rare faculty of being a boj'

with the boys when at play, and master as soon as

inside the school-house. When hardly able to re-

press his mirth he could put on a stern look, and, al-

though inwardly amused at the pranks of a boy, would

give him a look that wouVd seem to pierce through his

jacket.

He was for many years constable in the town

(then New Milford), and often did sheriff's work, for

which he was well qualified, being strong of frame,

prompt, fearless, of quick perception, and sound judg-

ment.

An anecdote of his youth will serve to illustrate his

character. During the war of 1812 he was plowing

in the field, when his father came to him and repre-

sented that he had been drafted, and was wanted im-

mediately. He replied that he was ready, and quickly

unhitched his team from the plow. His father, see-

ing he was likely to get the worst of the joke, told

him he was not drafted, and asked liim to hitch up

his team and go on with his work. He said to his

father, " If you have been trying that game you will

get no more work from me to-day.".

He was always ready to do a neighborly kindness,

either to watch at the bedside of the sick or to per-

form any other personal service. Politically, he acted

with the Whig party as long as it existed, and after-

wards with the Democratic. He held at different

times most of the offices in the gift of the town (then

New Milford), and was often employed in the settle-

ment of estates.

He was one of the first selectmen elected in the

town of Bridgewater when it was incorporated, and

rendered efficient service in making an amicable set-

tlement between New Milford and Bridgewater.

He celebrated his golden wedding Nov. 26, 1868,

and a large company of his neighbors and friends were

present,with children, grandchildren, and great-grand-

children. On that occasion he was presented with a

beautiful gold-headed cane by his friends and neigh-
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bors. Decided in liis opinions, he was not unchari-

table to others. He was for many years a member
of the Episcopal Church, to which he was warmly

attached. He was warden of St. Mark's for many
years, and held that office at the time of his death,

Sept. 22, 1874.

During the last years of his life he was greatly af-

flicted with rheumatism, and suffered almost constant

pain, yet as long as crutches could help him to the

church he was in his seat.

In the prime of life he was characterized by prompt-

ness, energy, and a will to carry through whatever

he undertook. To such a man it was hard to find him-

self reduced to a state of helplessness, but he bore it

with a Christian spirit worthy of imitation.

JOHN WOOSTER.

The ancestors of the subject of this sketch were

among the early settlers of New England. His great-

grandfather, Timothy Wooster, settled in New Haven
colony, in what is now the town of Oxford.

As early as 1774 his grandfather, Jabez Wooster,

purchased land in the town of Bridgevvater (then

New Milford), and is described in the records as Lieut.

Jabez Wooster, in the fourteenth year of the reign of

George in., King of Great Britain. He seemed to

be searching for mineral lands, and laid out several

tracts on Rocky Mountain, Falls Mountain, and

Wolfpit Mountain, where he dug in several places for

iron ore, but without success. He purchased a home-

stead a little east of the Housatonic River, and about

a mile south of the Great Falls (so called), which he

leased to a company for nine hundred and ninety-

nine years, with the privilege of digging for minerals,

reserving a certain portion to himself if any were

found. He built a house, and followed farming, as

did two generations of the same family after him at

the same place. The house is still standing as it was

originally built, with the back roof extending nearly

to the ground, one of the few left to show the an-

cient style of architecture.

Jabez Wooster had two sons, Peter and Isaac.

Peter Wooster, the father of John Wooster, wsis born

in 171)2. He married Betsy Canfiehl, Jan. Ifi, 1787.

He followed farming, as his father had l)cfore him

at the same place. He died Sept. 12, 1798, leaving

two children, John and Susannah.

John was born Marcli 27, 1790. He passed his

youth like most country boys, going to district scliool

and lii'lping on the farm. He nearly lost his life

when a boy, a log rolling on him and making an in-

dentation in his skull, which affected the brain. A
piece of the skull was taken out, and a silver shilling

placed under the skin to protect the brain, which always

remained there; so it can truly be said that in after-

life lie was never without a shilling. He accpiired a

good conimon-school education, and early commenced
teaching school in winter. He .soon came to be con-

sidered one of the best teachers of his day. As soon

as he became of age he applied all his energies to

redeem his father's farm, and to buy out his sisters'

claims, farming in summer and teaching school in

winter for many years. He married Jerusha Lock-

wood, daughter of David and Sarah Lockwood, by

whom he had four children,—Mary E., Peter, David,

and Susan.

Mary E. married Harmon Treat, living in Bridge-

water; has six children, viz., Helen J., Julia A.,

Emily A., D. Allen, Susan C, and H. Wooster.

Julia A. married Charles Sanford, living in Roxbury,

Conn. D. Allen married P. Belle Meeker, and resides

in Bridgeport, Conn. The other children are living

with their parents in Bridgewater.

Peter married Caroline Morris, by whom he had

four children,—Laura J., John Morris, Charles M.,

and Edward R. John Morris died Jan. 14, 1856,

aged five years. Laura J. married Richard J. Ran-

dall ; died Aug. 29, 1880, and left one child, Jennie

C. Charles M. is a practicing physician in Tariff-

ville. Conn. Edward R. is in Bridgewater.

David married Emily C. Sherman, by whom he

had three children,—Edward S., Edith E., and John

S. Edward S. died at the age of two years and nine

months. Edith E. married Rev. George A. tiraves,

now at New Canaan, Conn. ; has two children. Carle-

ton A. and Bertha E. Jolin S. married Katie A.

Kelley ; has one child, Emily S. ; resides in Bridge-

port, Conn.

David Wooster's wife, Emily C. Wooster, died

April 17, 187;"). He married, for his second wife, Mrs.
^

Angle W. Boland, with whom and her son, Frank

W., he is now living, in Bridgeport, Conn.

Susan married Lorenzo D, Sanford ; had three

children,—Martha, Mary E., and John W. Martha

died in infancy. Mary E. married Cornelius Blakes-

ley ; resides in Brooklyn, N. Y.. and has two children,

RayniDiid I. and Jennie M. John W. resides with

his father in Bridgeport, Conn.

John Wooster was one who thought much of his

home, and seemed most hapi)y when surrounded by

his family, to which he was strongly attached, and

when enjoying the society of his friends and neigh-

bors, with whom he always lived on the best of terms.

Politically, he identified himself with the Whig
party, and was somewhat active in the councils of

that party in the town of New Milford. He once

represented that town in the State Legislature. In

the prime of life he met with an accident which in-

capacitated him for hard labor on the farm, being

thrown from a wagon and injuring one knee ; but he

almost constantly held some |)ul)lic ottice in the town

which occupied his time, and in some mea.sure com-

pensated for his inability to labor. He was correct

and methodical in business, prompt and punctual to

fullill all his engagements, and perhaps it is not too

much to say that, in respect to honesty of purpose,

correctness and fidelity in the discharge of public
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duties intrusted to him, no one in the town of New
Milford had the confidence of the people to a greater

extent than he.

He was assessor many years, and visited every tax-

payer, and wrote out every item of taxable property.

At his decease bushels of lists wri.tten with his own
hand were found carefully filed and preserved. He
held the office of constable, and was for many years

justice of the peace. He was selectman for many
years, and was often called the " Old Selectman."

He often kept the books and accounts of the town,

although living three and a half miles from the vil-

lage, and there was no item of account that could

not be found in its proper place. He was often in-

trusted with the settlement of estates. When Bridge-

water was incorporated as a town he had become ad-

vanced in years, and retired from active politics.

The old Whig party being dissolved, his sympathies

were with the Republican party. He was a firm be-

liever in the doctrines of Christianity, but, for reasons

best known to himself, never united with any church.

He T/as a regular attendant of the Congregational

Church, of which his wife was a member, and paid of

his substance for its supjiort.

A year or two before his death he left his farm

and went to live with his daughter Susan, at the

centre of Bridgewater, where he died, as he had loved

to live, with his children all around him, May 29,

1858, aged sixty-eight years.
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This town is located in the northwestern part of

the county, and is bounded as follows : on the north

by North Canaan, on the east by Norfolk, on the

south by Cornwall, and on the west by the Housatonic

River, which separates it from Salisbury. The surface

of this town is broken and mountainous. The town
is watered by the Housatonic River and its tributaries.

THE HOUSATONIC FALLS.

On this river, below Salisbury, are located the

Housatonic Falls. " The falls are formed by a ledge

of limestone rocks crossing the Housatonic River

obliquely from northwest to southeast ; the length of

the ledge is about thirty rods, its perpendicular height

perhaps sixty feet, and its front irregular and broken.

Here in a formidable mass on the western side, and
on the eastern, the water rushes from the rapid torrent

above, and descending in every variety of form, with

the mass of foam at the bottom rising in a misty

cloud, and the surrounding scenery, presents a scene

of remarkable picturesque beauty. There are falls and
rapids both above and below the river cataract, but

of much smaller size. ' The whole descent,' says Dr.

Dwight, ' is about one hundred and thirty feet, nobly

arranged and distributed, and comprehending a re-

markable variety of beauty and grandeur.' "*

FIRST MEETING OF PROPRIETORS.

The tract of land embraced within the present

towns of Canaan and North Canaan was sold at

public vendue at the court-house in New London,

Jan. 3, 1737-38. The first meeting of these towns

was held at Wethersfield, Feb. 22, 1737-38, with

Capt. David Whitney, of Plainfield, moderator, and
Humphrey Avey, of Groton, clerk. At this meeting

it was
" Volfif, That said IIum[difi'y Avi-y, said Capt. Whitney, and John

Beliee nf I.itclifielil, Samuel Bryant of Stanfoni. and Silas Belding of

said WetlicrsHidd, are a committee who are herehy fully Impowered

to Lay out Such part of the Land in said Townships, sold as afore Said,

as they Shall judge Best for the Interest of Said proprietors in Gineral,

and to Layout to Each proprietor in Equal part for Quantity and Quality

and Give Surveys of the same under tlie hands of the major part of said

committee and to Lay out Nessary High ways in Said Town. Not Less

to he Laid out to Each Propriett)r than Thiity acres and he Laid out in

one or two parts or parcels for Each Proprietor as said Committee Shall

Think fit and the Avey to have Twelve shillings per Day for his wages

Serving as Committee man and surveyor and the rest of said Committee

to Iiave Eight Shilling per Day for their wages to he paid by said Pro-

prietors according to their Interest in said Town."

Also

" Votefl^ That if any of said Committee Should he Hindered from At-

tending Said Service that in that case those of Said Committee who Do
Attend Shall appoint and employ other persons to Serve in y^ room of

Such as Shall he absetit in Every thing but Signing the Survey."

It was also

" VoU'tl, That Said proprietor shall Draw their Lots by number."
'* Voteil, That Said Committee Shall make Such .agreement with all Those

Persons who have Trespassed unto Lands in Said Town as they shall

think Best for the Interest of said proprietor in General!, and hire a

pilot."

" Vnlt'd, That the Name of Said Town Shall be C'uiiaan.^'

'* V'ited, That this meeting is adjourned to the Second Wednesday of

April next at the New Dwelling house of Mr. Peter Hogobourn in said

Town at one of y* clock after Noon ; and said proprietors to ajtpear by

themselves or Agent to Draw their Lots and pay Said Committee for y"

Service aforesaid.

."Attest: Humphrey Avey, Proprw-tors' Chrlc,^'

THE SETTLEMENT OF THE TOWN.

The settlement of the town commenced in June,

1738. Among the first settlers were Daniel and Isaac

Lawrence, John Franklin, and others.

Tlie following names appear in Book I of the town

as grantees of lands : Daniel and Amos Andrus,

James Adams, Charles Burrall, Augustin Bryan,

James Beebe, Silas Belding, Samuel Bryan, Charles

Bulkley, Abigail Belding, John Brower, Elizabeth

Burrows, Timothy Brown, John Beebe, Jonathan

* Barber.
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Bates, Jacob Bunce, Nathaniel Butler, David Bick-

nell, Joseph Beckley, Joshua Belding, Caleb Case,

John Carrier, Benjamin, Samuel, Joseph, Daniel, and

Isaac Cowles, Elijah Cleveland, John Coon, Josiah

Cleveland, John Camp, Simon Cook, Moses Copley,

Josiah Deau, Zachariali Dibble, Zebulon Deming,

Benjamin Douglass, Jonathan Dearcox, Asa Douglass,

Elizur Dickinson, H. Deming, Christopher Dutcher,

Joseph Eaton, James Egleston, William Edminster,

James Evens, Ephraim, William, and Thomas Fel-

lows, John Franklin, E. Freeman, John Forbes,

Jacob and Elijah Griswold, John Gillett, David
Holly, Abraham Holenbeck, Samuel Hall, John
Hart, Timothy Horsford, Abraham Harris, Gibson

Harris, Peter Hogeboon, Joseph Hinsdale, David
Horsford, Josiah Hurlburt, Nathaniel Howe, Ebe-

nezer Hanchet, Samuel Halloway, Isaac Hinsdale,

Charles Hewitt, Jonathan Hinsdale, Daniel Hancox,
David Holcomb, Joseph Holabut, John Horsford, C.

Hinman, B. Hogeboom, P. Holcomb, Gideon Hunn,
Samuel Jones, Isaac Johnson, Jacob Johnson (heirs),

Joseph, Bey, Martin, and Timothy Kellogg, Isaac,

Daniel, Jeremiah, and Daniel Lawrence, Jr., E. Mayo,
Anthony D. Mills, Jonas March, John Morton, Jacob,

Asa, and Elisha Merrills, Jonathan and Samuel
North, Ebenezer Norton, James Nichols, Thomas
Orton, John, Abraham, and Isaac Peck, Joseph Prin-

dle, Thomas Pierce, Daniel Phelps, Amis Pierce, Jo-

seph Phelps, Daniel Porter, Joel Prindle, Samuel

Prindle, John Palmer, William Patison, Isaac and

James Pattison, I. Palmer, George Palmer, Thomas
Pattison, Benjamin Phelps, Edward Pattison, Samuel
Robbins, Lemuel, William, and Samuel Robbards, M.
Rood, Jonathan Russel, Z. Robbins, Samuel Robbins,

Josiah Stodder, Andrew, Uriah, Thomas, Samuel,

Simeon, Zebulon, Benjamin Stevens, Isaac Sheldon,

James Slauson, John Sutliff, James Stymson, Z. Scott,

Z. Seymour, P. Smith, Giles Shiwter, Nathaniel

Spaulding, Elias Slanter, Benjamin Sedgwick, E.

Thomas, Samuel Priscott, Josiah and Eleazur Whit-

tlesey, Josiah Walker, Elisha Webster, Elizur Wriglit,

David Whitney, William Warner, William Whitney,

Aaron Webster, JosLua Whitney, Thomas Weeks,
David Waterbury, Joseph Wooster, Thomas Youngs.

EARLY BIRTHS AND MARRIAOK.-;.

The following is a record of a number of the early

births and marriages

:

" Nuah Holcoml), sou to David Holcomb uiid Sarah, his wife, wiifl Uoro
Aug. y« 12, 1750. And. Stovuiis, Ilegistor."

"Sarali Ilulc(niil>, daughter to David Holronib and Snrali, hl8 wife,

was Itoni July y^ 'H>, 1747. Kcitered pr. And". Stcvent*. Upgiotor."
" Ann llorsfonl, Uaugbtur To Timothy llorefurd and Nanicy, hi> Wifo,

waa Horn Jnno y 2.'), a. p. 1747."

"8anii. Hido, of Norwich, Married To Azubefa Lawrence, of Canaan
Oct. the M, nm:'

" Epliraim Fellows, Jr., Man led to Anno Palmor, of Sheffield, May y* t

11, 1740."
I

" Jiibii Stevens, Sou to And". Stevens and Esther, his wife, was Born
Wudiitwday, y lOth of October, 17.17."

• Gideon Lawrence, of Canaan, married to Jorusha Itichards, of Nor-
folk, the 12th day of Oct., 1749."

" Nehemiah Kellogg, son to Benjamin Kellogg and Elizabeth, his wife,

was born March 4, 1747."

The first deed of lands in this town was made to

Daniel Lawrence, under date Jan. 4, 1737.

CONGREGATIONAL CHURCH.

In Canaan, as well as in nearly all other towns in

Connecticut, almost the first vote of the inhabitants

was in regard to church matters. In December, 1739,

"Josiah Walker, Benjamin Kellogg, and Daniel Law-
rence are chosen a committee to agree with John
Hart to fit his house convenient to meet in on the

Lord's day." Under date of April 29, 1740, it was

voted as follows

:

" }'oteil, That y« town will Build a meting Hows for y* worship of god."

" Voted, That y said meting Hows shall be Built forty fots in Length

and thirty-five fots in width and twenty fot.s post."

" At y« same meting, voted, that s'' meting Howse shall Be Built at yo

East End of y first ministry Lot by ye Sixth Rod High way that gose

throw y town."

" Voted, At y same meting, Sami Prindel, Daniel Lavinia, and James

I
Beeby and P. Ilogoboom, and Silas Belding are Chosen a Comity to Sea

that s'* Hows Be built and finished."

In the following May a vote was passed to request

the General Assembly to send a committee to "stake

a place for a meeting-house for ye worship of God."
Jan. 2, 1744, it was

" Voted, That ye town will finish our Meeting-llouse So far as To Build

a Pulpit, to fiutsh y" Body of Seats, leaving a space for Pews to be Built."

The church was organized in March, 1741, with

Jacob Bacon and wife, and Isaac Lawrence and wife.

The proprietors of the town of Canaan made pro-

visions for preaching the gospel to the first settlers.

From that time down to 1818 ministers were sup-

ported by a tax levied on the town, as for other

purjioses. Persons were allowed to pay such minis-

ters as they preferred. Rev. Elisha Webster was the

first minister settled in Canaan. He was settled Oct.

1, 1740, and dismissed Oct. 14, 1752. It is stated that

Rev. Daniel Farrand wjus ordained two months prev-

ious to the dismission of Mr. Webster. Jlr. Farrand
continued in the pastorate of the church till his death,

JIarch 28, 1803, a period of more than fifty years.

The following is a list of the ])iwtors from the or-

ganization of the church to the jircsent time: Elisha

Webster, 1740-'.2; Daniel Farrand, 1752, died March,
1803; Charles Prentice, 18(14, dietl May, 1838; Edward
B. Emerson, 1841-43; Harley Goodwin, 1845-54; Isaac

De Voe, 1855-56. Rev. Henry Snyder supplied from

May 1, 1858, to May 1, 1860 ; Rev. Mr. Dickerman
from May, 1860, to .May, 1861 ; E. P'roulc Howe, sup-

ply from June 9, 1861, to Dec. 17, 1862, when he wjis

ordained and installed jiastor, (lisnii.s.sed Nov. 12, 1865;

E. N. Andrews, sujiply, l)eceml)er, 1865, to Septem-
ber, 1867; W. H. Teel, from SepU-mber, 1867, to

December, 1869; Rev. Joseph E. Swallow, from June
5, 1870, to April, 1873; Edwin Hall, Jr., from Aug. 3,

1873, to October, 1874; N. G. Bonney, from .Tanuary,

1875, to June, 1876 ; Joseph A. Tomlinson, from July

1, 1876, to May 1, 1877 ; D. M. Moore, from May 12,

1878, to present time. *
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About the year 1769 the old house of worship was
moved nearly a mile from the old site. It was occu-
pied till 1804, when the present house was built, which
has been several times repaired.

CONGREGATIONAL CHURCH, FALLS VILLAGE.!'

The Congregational Church at Falls Village was
organized Oct. 27, 1858, by the L. N. Consociation,

with the following members : Dr. Lemuel H. Aiken,

Deacon Charles Beebe, Mrs. Mary Ann Brewster, Mr.
Oramel King Brinton, Mrs. Elizabeth Brown, Mr.
Elisha Holabird Dean and Mrs. Cherry Ann Dean
(his wife), Mrs. Ann M. Miner, Mr. Uriel Holmes
Miner and Mrs. Caroline Eliza Miner {his wife), Mr.
Warren Walker and Mrs. Philena Walker (his wife).

The first named of these was received from the church
in Norfolk, the others from the church in South Ca-
naan.

The deacons of the church have been as follows

:

Charles Beebe and Lemuel H. Aiken were chosen
Nov. 5, 18.58 ; Willis Gibbs, in place of Lemuel Aiken
(resigned), Jan. 4, 18(51; W. H. Dean and U. H.
Miner (resigned July 13th), Jan. 12, 1873 ; O. K. Brin-

ton, Aug. 31, 1873; J. S. Lane, Dec. 31, 1875 (re-

signed in 1880) ; J. D. Egleston, Jan. 6, 1881.

The list of pastors, acting pastors, or stated supplies

is as follows : Rev. Henry S. Russel, stated supply

from Oct. 27, 1858, to Sept. 1, 1859; Rev. John Ed-
gar, stated supply from Nov. 1, 1859, to June 9, 18G3

(was ordained as an evangelist by L. N. Consociation

Oct. 20, 1860, and installed pastor by the same con-

sociation June 9, 1863, and served till Oct. 31, 1865)

;

Rev. L. N. Woodruff, stated supply from November
1, 1865, to March, 1867. The church had no preaching

from March, 1867, to May 2, 1869. From May to Sep-

tember it was supplied by difterent ministers. Rev.

Henry B. Mead, stated supply from Sept. 1, 1869, to

May 1, 1870 ; Rev. Joseph E. Swallow, stated supply

from June 5, 1870, to April, 1873. From April to

July supplied by students from Yale Seminary. Rev.

N. G. Bonney began labors July 1, 1873; he was in-

stalled pastor Sept. 17, 1873, and served till May 1,

1876. Rev. Joseph A. Tomlinson, acting pastor from

July 1, 1876, to May 1, 1877 ; Rev. F. J. Grimes,

stated supply from May, 1877, to May 5, 1878 ; Rev.

D. M. Moore, stated supply from May 12, 1878, to

Jan. 6, 1880 ; he was ordained to the work of the

ministry January 6th ; acting pastor from Jan. 6,

1880.

The church building was erected in 1859. The
present officers are : Acting Pastor, Rev. D. M. Moore

;

Church Committee, U. H. Miner, O. K. Brinton, J.

D. Egleston ; Deacons, 0. K. Brinton, J. D. Egleston.

THE IRON BANK

was chartered in May, 1847. William H. Walton,

Esq., the first president, was chosen in 1847. His
successors have been Lee Canfield, in 1854; A. H.

* Contributed by feev. D. M. Moore.

Holley, in 1860; W. P. Burrall, in July, 1862; Leon-
ard Richardson, in January, 1863; Augustus Miles,
in July, 1863

; Geo. W. Peet, in July, 1864. Mr. Ran-
dal], the present cashier, has held that office about
twenty-nine of the thirty-four years of the bank's ex-
istence.

THE FALLS VILLAGE SAVINGS BANK
was chartered in May, 1854. The charter members
were John Adam, Geo. W. Peet, Wm. S. Marsh, Dan-
iel Brewster, Uriel H. Miner, Jabez Brewster, David
M. Hunt, Horatio N. AVetherell, Chauncey S. Foster,

and Henry E. Wetherell. The following have been
the officers

:

Presidents.—John Adam, 1854-56 ; Wm. M. Bur-
rall, 1856-57; Daniel Brewster, 1857, present incum-
bent.

Secretaries.—XJnel H. Miner, 1854-76 ; O. M. Brin-

ton, 1876, present incumbent.

Treasurers.- R. M. S. Pease, 1854-57 ; A. C. Ran-
dall, 1857-70; Wm. H. Barnum, 1870-76; M. A.
Dean, 1876-78; U. H. Miner, 1878, present incum-

bent.

The first deposit was made by Samuel Adams, of

Cornwall, May 12, 1855, of fifty-five dollars. The
amount of deposits Oct. 1, 1880, was three hundred
and forty-three thousand dollars.

RELEASE FROM PARISH RATES.

In the early history of Connecticut the Congrega-

tional was the "State Church,"—that is, the church

and town were identical, and all the inhabitants gen-

erally were taxed to support the church, and could

only be released from said tax upon certifying their

attendance upon some other form of worship or at

another church. The following are specimens of the

certificates of inhabitants of this town

:

" Canaan, Dec. 4, 1Y87.

" To the Collector of ministers' rate or Town treasurer, or whom it may
concern : this may certify tliat Josepli Kellogg is a professor of the Bap-

tist Faith and order, and doth attend to worship God in that order, and

hath contributed for the support of the Gospel. This is, therefore, ac-

cording to law to clear him from paying taxes to support the Gospel in

any other order.
" Signed in behalf of the Church,

" Jkdathan Ghay, Elder,

" A true copy of the original certificate.

" Test : Elizur Weight, Society Clerk."

Dec. 3, 1788, Oliver, Benajah, Uriah, David, and

Isaac Dean certified that they also attended " Baptist

meeting."
" Canaan, Jan. 9, 1790.

"This may certify that Jacob Brown, Jr., belongs to the Episcopal

Church.
" Isaac Johnson, O. Clerk.

" A true copy of the original received for record Jan. 9, 1790."

"This is to certify that William Trafford, of the State of Connecticut

and Town of Canaan, is a standing hearer of the ministers and preachers

of the Jlethodist Episcopal Church, and contributes towards their sup-

port agreeable to their order. Given from under my hand this 3d day of

Tebiuary, 1790.

" FuEEBOKN Garbettson, presUlinfj miukler in said Church.

"Teat: Elizue WniGUT, Sociely Clerk.

"A true copy of the original received for record August 23, a.d. 1790."
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« Canaan, July 22, 1793.

"Thia may certify whom it may concern, that I, Ruloff Diitcher, have

annexed myself to the Episcopal Society in Canaan, and consider myself

ft membei' of the same.
"ROLOFF DUTCHEH."

METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH.

This church was organized in about the year 1792

with the following members : Elisha Horton and

wife, Rufus Landon and wife, Aaron Mills and wife,

and Nathaniel Church.

The first church edifice was erected at Battle Hill

in 1793, and present edifice in 1854.

The present stewards are Edward Ward, P. C. Ste-

vens, P. M. Jaqua, 0. M. Brinton, S. Brigner, E. B.

Gillett, Chas. Preston, N. C. White, and J. B. Owen

;

Trustees, P. C. Stevens, O. M. Brinton, P. M. Jaqua,

E. Ward, Lee French, E. W. Spurr, G. W. Hall, and

W. G. Kellogg.

The first pastor (1790) was Jno. Bloodgood. The

present pastor is J. Lee Gamble.
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INCORPORATION OF THE TOWN.

This town was incorporated in 1739. The follow-

ing is a copy of a portion of the proceedings of a

town-meeting convened in the early part of Decem-

ber, 1739, which doubtless was the first meeting held

in the town. The record begins by ottering a reward

for rattlesnakes' tails

:

BOUNTt ON RATTLESNAKKS* TAILS.

"At the same meeting, for the In Coridgment of destroying <.'f Ratol-

snakcs, that If any person shall kill uny Uatelsnake with in the IkMiu<lft

of the town i>l Curuum in the months of Murch, April, and May, ami

biiug their tails to y Select men, shall have twelve pence per tiiil.

Voted.

*'At the Hanie meting David Whitney was ChoNen town Clark.

Voted."

RELIGIOUS SERVICE.

"At y sauio meting Josiah Walker, It. Kellogg, and Daniel Law-
rouco are Chosen a Couiity to a grc-e with John hart to flt his house

Convenient to met in on the Lord's day. Vnied.

"This metiiig Is adjornd to the liuuse of M^ Chiistupher Ducher's

dwelling-house un y nineteenth duy uf this Instant Dosumbour, at

twelve of the Clock on a'* day. Voted.

" Recorded by

**£fUR0N rRLiovfii, tuum C Utrk.

"At a town meting Adjorned to y Honss of Chri»tlfer Dulcher one

y VJ of this Instant DeconiUtur, at twelve of y Clok on »'' Day,"

THE RINGING OF SWINE.

" Voted, That all swine shall be well Ringed that gooth at Largo on y
ComoDs. Voted."

POUNDS.
'* At y« same meting voted, that their shall be two iMjumh Unit fur y*

use of y« town, the one to be Buldod betwen the River south uf holln-

hick's and y" swamp, and the other to be by the Road that goeth a Crost

y« River one the North side, North of Isadc Larence's, betwen y*" River

and the road that goeth East by David Whitney's. Voted."

CHURCH SERVICE.

"At y*' same meting voted, that for y« futer, till may Next, that y«

meting on ye Lord's day shall be one day at y« hows of Isaac Lawrence's,

and the other day at y^ hows of Abraham Holinbick's or Jacob Bacon's,

as the peopel shall agree with them.

" This meting Is disolved.
" Recorded by

"Ephron fellows, tovm Clark."

EXTRACTS FROM TOWN RECORDS.

The following interesting extracts are from the

town records

:

UNWHOLESOME INHABITANTS.

"At ye same meting voted, that Josiah Walker shall request to y" gen-

eral asenibly that they will take some epedy Care to prevent unholsom

In Habitence being sent Into ye town of Canaan as agents. Voted."

FIRE-LOCKS.

"And that also y« Hunorabel ;isembly would Consider our surcom-

stances, Being fronteai-s, and grant to us a Considabel quantity of y" fire

Locks which are at New london, If it be your honers' pleshur. Voted.

" Recorded by

" David Whitney, town C/<iri."

GRISTMILL.

" Canajin, Desember 10, 1740, at a Town mealing Lawfully held by ad-

ionrument, & is now opened.

"And it is now voatcd & agreed that Inasmuch as their is a Conueniaut

place fur a Grist mill at a phice Called y gmte falls, y' y* Inhabitants of

Canaan Do Give & Granto unto Josiah Walker y Liberty of building a

grist mill at said falls, A y*" priuiledg of y« Stream, & y> priuiledg of y« U
acres of Land adiuyning thcirtu, all Excepting what y owners of y« saw

ntil hath nead of, s'* Wiilkei- hauoing y Commanding part of s"* Stream

in a Scarce lime of water, prouided lliat s'' Walker Shall Build a good

grist mill & Bolting mill at or befoio y in day of October next Ensuing

y date hcarof, & keep ff* nilN in gooil order, tit for grinding A Bolting.

These priviledgcs are granted to ti'^ Walker so Lung as ho shall keep &*>

mills in good reparo A wait ou his Custimoni to grind for them.

" Allsu then vouted, that y* Select men, with Jearns Beule, shall be as

a Comity to lake obligution of Jutdah Walker tu build a Grist mill with

a BUthchont Umils man.
*- .\llso then voated, that Jeams Bevlv, & Augnstian Dr>-an, & Slloa Buld-

ing Shall be a Commity to alter y* Drift way to y saw mill at y Grute

Falls."

NEW COUNTV.

"AllsoThen voated, that Cap*. Dauld Whitney Shall bo an agent to

Represent t>ald Town of Canaan at the Gcnomll assembly In may next En-

suing, to Request the Corte to I^y Sum pemilty on the NunreKident pro*

prieturs of v^ Uuind that may bo Sum Benlflt to tliotie pnjpriotora that Do
Rezldo til Said Tuund; an<l allsi> Requoot a New Cuunty.

" Allso Then voated, that their Shall bo a Touu Buok Bought to Becord

Deeds In s-i Tuun.
"Entered by me,

"SiiJiB BcLDiNu, Toun Clark,^*

PETITION FOR BANK.

" At n Town Meeting in Canaan, hold at y* house of Jonas Marshes, on

y Hrst Tunday of April, 174*2, Being Lawfully Warned A Conveynd.

" Voir, I, That Cap*. David Whitney Shall be Moderator for y s*

Meeting.

" VoUd, That wo win Juyn with the other Now Towns In Petlttontog

to y Gonerall Assembly to Grant us Norfolk, A that they will gmnt us a

Bank of Money U|H>n !^«no.

" rof«cJ,That Cbp<. David Whitney Shall t>o agont In y« Tuwn's Behslfo

To act In ye affaire abovfs^, To C^mfur with y* other Towns or their

Agents, and Appear in y Asoenibly ns need may Require.

" KntrcU by mo,
" And*. &TKVKNS, Ibim Clark.**

TROUBLE WITH PROPRIETORS.

"Att a Town Meeting In Canaan, Leagally warnM and ConveluM

April r nth. 174:1.
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*' Voted, That M'- Ephraim Fellows Shall Be Moderator for a^ Meetiug.

*' Voted, That we will act iti y first Article or ClauBe in y« Warning

which is Conseroing addressing ourselves To y^ Generall assembly in

May next Ensuing, for Relief upon y" Difficulty we Lahour nnder by

Reason that the Proprietors of this Town Do not Settle their Riglits Ac-

cording to yc Generall Court's Act in that Respect.

" Voted, Tliat we will Chuse an Agent To Appear in y^ Generall Assem-

bly in May Next, To Address ounselves in y« Consern afores''.

" Voted, That M"". James Bebee Shall be our Agent To Represent our

Difficulty afores'i To y« Generall assemitly in May Next.

" Voted, That we will act In Disposeing nf our School Lands By Leas-

ing them out Nine hundrel & Ninety-Nine Years.

" Voted, Tliat Cap'. David Whitney, John Cebce, & Uriah Stevens Shall

Be a Committee To Dispose of b"^ School Lauds in y" following order.

" Voted, That f^ach Lot or Division that are allready Laid out Shall be

leased Single by themselves & y Undivided Right by Whole Sale.

'* Voted, That y* Com" that are Appointed To lease out our School

Lands, Cap'. David Whitney, John Bebee, &. Uriah Stevens, are hereby

Authorized To Lease out the afores'' School Lands 990 years To y* Peraon

Persons that Shall Appear with Sufficiant Suerty or Suertys To y« Ac

ceptance of the afores'' Committee, And will Give yo Most for b'^ Lauds,

wbiuli Shall be Disposed of by way of vandue, at y Time and Place y*

afures*! Committee shall Appoint for y*' Disposing of y*^^ s"' Lands, and y"

Person or Persons that Shall Bid of a*^ Lands Shall have y" Priviledge of

yc use of y" Principal Sum of Money he Shall Be Indebted To y Town

for 8'' Lands from y«^ Day of yo Sale of s^ Lands Five yeai-s, Paying Yearly

Lawfull Intrest for y Sum ho owes to y^' Town.

" Voted, That this IHeeting Be adjourned Till Monday ye 2'i Day of May
next To the house of Ensign Dutcliers, in Canaan, at four of ye Clock in

y After Noon.
" Entred p' me,

" And*. Stevens, Town Clark.

"At a Town Meeting Held by Adjournment May y^ 2^, at 4 ofy Clock

in the after Noon, the Meeting being opened According To s^ ajourn-

ment, M"". Fellows, Mode'.

" Voted, That this Meeting shall be adjourned To y* Barn of s-i Ensign

Dutchers.

"Said Meeting is opened at y Place appointed by yc Moderator, M'.

Fellows.

" Voted, That we will Chuse a Committee To Draw up an Accoumpt, as

Near as they Can, of the Charges of yo Inhabitants of this Town have In

Clearing highways. Building Bridges, and all other Cliarges and Bunlens

which we have Born. In Convening the Town, which Propriators wliich

have not Settled their Uiglits According to y^ Court's act have not Born

their Part of, whereby the Burden of It we have bin obliged to beare

throw their Neglect.

" Voted, That M'. Samuel Prindle, Augustian Bryan, & Isaac Lawrence

Shall be a Committee To act in y affair aboves'', & make their Return To

M'. James Bebee. who is Appointed our agent to Appear In y^ Assembly

in May Instant, To act in y Town's Behalfe in y^ aflair aboves^.

" This Meeting is Desolved.
" Entred p' me,

" And". Stevens, Town Clarke

INHABITANTS ADMITTED.

" Voted, That Joseph Kellegg, Lemuel Robards. Zebulum Stevens, Wil-

liam Whitney, Jonathan North, Abraham Harris, William Warner, Josiah

Hurlbutt, Joshua Whitney, and Samuel Joues are admitted Inhabitants

in this Town, To voat and Act in Towp Affaii-s."

BOUNTY ON " StiUIRRALLS," Etc.

" Voted, That Any Inhabitant of this Town Killing of Squirralls this

year, and Bringing in their heads To any of y^ Select Men of this Town,

Shall have allowed them 4 Pence Per head from y^ Town.

" Voted, That any Inhabitant of this Town Killing and Bringing in

their heads by y Last of may Next To Either of y« Sellect Men of this

Town, of Black Birds, Jays, or Wood Peckers, Shall have 3 Pence Per

head allowed them from y^ Town."

REPRESENTATIVES FROM 1757 TO 1881.

1757.—Col. David Whitney, James Beebe.

1758.—Capt, John Beebe, Capt. Daniel Lawrence, Col. David Whitney.

1759._Capt. Benjamin Cole, Andrew Stevens, Col. David Whitney, James

Beebe.

1700.—Col. David Whitney, Charles BurrlH.

1701._Andrew Stevens, Charles Burrill, Col. David Whitney.

1762-63.—Col. David Whitney, Charles Burrill.

17G4.—Capt. John Beebe, Benjamin Stevens, Col. David Whitney, James

Beebe.

1765.—Benjamin Stevens, Timothy Hurlburt, James Bebee, Capt. Isaac

Lawrence.

1766.—Col. David Whitney, Charles Burrill, Samuel Forbes,

1767.—Benjamin Stevens, Timothy Hurlburt, Samuel Forbes.

1768.—Benjamin Stevens, Oliver Belding.

1769.—Capt. diaries Burrall, Elisha Baker, Capt. Samuel Forbes.

1770.—John Whitney, Capt. Tarbull Whitney, Maj. Charles Burrall, Capt.

Samuel Forbes.

1771.—Maj. Charles Burrall, Elisha Baker, Capt. Samuel Forbes.

177-2.—Maj. Chailes Burrall, Elislia Baker, Capt. John Ensign.

1773.—Capt. John Ensign, Capt. Samuel Forbes, Maj. Charles Burreli.

1774.—Maj. Cliarles Burreli, Capt. Samuel Forbes, John Watson.

1775.—Asahel Beebe, Capt. Samuel Forbes.

1776.—Capt. Johu Ensign, Capt. John Watson, Asahel Bebee.

1777.—Timothy Hurlburt, Capt. John Watson, Capt. Samuel Forbes,

Asahel Bebee.

1778,—Timothy Hurlburt, Capt. John Watson, Capt. John Stevens, Col.

Cliarles Burrall.

1779.—Timothy Hurlburt, Capt. Samuel Forbes, Col. Charles Burrall.

17S0.—Timothy Hurlburt, Thomas Fellowes, Jonas Lawrence, Nathan

Hale.

1781.—Capt. Samuel Forbes, Nathan Hale, Col. Charles Burrall, Timothy

Hurlburt.

1782.—Capt. John Watson, Timothy Hurlburt, Col. Charles Burrall,

Nathan Hale.

1783.—Capt. Tliomas Hosmer, Capt. Samuel Forbes, Col. Charles Burrall,

Timothy Hurlburt.

1784.—Capt. Thuniiis Hosmer, Capt. Lemuel Kingsbury, Nathan Hale.

1785-86.—Timothy Hurlburt, Col. Charles Burrall, Nathan Hale.

17y7._Cul. Charies Burrall, Nathan Hale.

1788.—Col. Charles Burrall, Nathan Hale, Samuel Forbes, Capt. Charles

Burrall, Jr.

1789.—Capt. Samuel Forbes, Capt. Charles Burrall, Jr., Nathan Hale.

1790.—Nathan Hale, Capt. Samuel Forbes, Charles Burrall.

1791.—Nathan Hale, John Adam, Samuel Forbes.

1792.—Charles Burrall, Nathaniel Stevens, Charles Burrall, Jr., John

Adam.

1793.—Cliarles Burrall, Jr., Nathaniel Stevens, John Watson, Nathan

Hale.

1794.—John Watson, Charles Burrall, Jr.

1795.—John Watson, Charies Burrall, Jr., John Adam, Jonathan Bur-

rall.

1796.—Nathaniel Stevens, Jonathan Burrall.

1797.—Nathaniel Stevens, Jonathan Burrall, Samuel Forbes, Nathan

Hale.

1798.—Samuel Forbes, Nathan Hale, Jonathan Burrall.

1799.—Nathaniel Stevens, Jonathan Burrall, Samuel Forbes, Elizur

Wright.

1800.—Samuel Forbes, Elizur Wright.

1801.—Samuel Forbes, Elizur Wright, John Hurlbut.

1802.—Samuel Forbes, Elizur Wright, John Elmore.

1803-4.—John Elmore, Jonathan Burrall.

1805.—Johu Elmore, Elizur Wright, John Adams, Russell Hunt.

1806.—John Adams, John Hurlbut, Seth Andruss, John Webb.

1807.—Azariah Smith, Mariner Rood, John Adam, John Webb.

1808.—John Adam, Azariah Smith, John Webb, Mariner Rood.

1S09.—Amos Hunt, John Elmore, John Adam, John Webb.

1810.—John Holabird, Alban Rose, John Hurlbut.

1811.—Samuel Robbins, Calvin Pease, Azariah Smith.

1812.—John Holabird, Calvin Pease, John Elmore, Amos Hunt,

1813.—John Holabird, John Elmore.

1814.—Samuel Robbins, John Elmore.

1815.—Samuel Robbins, John Elmore, Alban Rose, Joshua Cornwall.

1816.—Samuel F. Adam, Joshua Cornwall, Samuel Beckley, Jr., John

Holabird.

1817.—Jabez Brewster, Benajah Douglass, Seth Andrews, Joshua Corn-

wall.

1818.—Jabez Brewster, Nathaniel Stevens, Seth Andrews, Joshua Corn-

wall.

1819.—Samuel Robbins, Ovid Plumb.

1820.—James Fenn, Jabez Brewster.

1821-24.—Asa S. Brewster, Benajah Douglass.

1825.—Asa S. Brewster, Samuel F. Adam.

1826.—Asa S. Brewster, Nathaniel Stevens, Jr.

1827.—William M. Burrall, Samuel F.. Adams.
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1828.—Keuhen HuTit, Samuel F. Adams.

1829.—Williani M. Bnnall, Nathaniel Stevens, Jr.

1830.—William M. Buirall, Benajah Douglass.

1831.—Eli Ensign, Marvin Tanner.

1832.—Henry Post, Marvin Tanner.

1833.—William M. Burrall, Nathaniel Stevens.

1834.—Leman Church, Henry Post.

1835.—William P. Burrall, Leman Church.

1836.—William P. Burrall, Nathaniel Stevens.

1837.—Chauncey Hosford, John Elmore, Jr.

1838.—Chauncey Hosford, Fitch Ferris.

1839.—William S. Marsh, Fitch Ferris.

1840.—Miles Minor, Buleff Dntclier.

1841.—Sidney Ensign, Georp:e Hawes.

1842.—Sanford P. Stevens, Jesse Dean. ^^
' 1843.—John A. Gillette, John Watson.

1844.—Charles Lewis, Chauncey Reed, Jr.

1845.—Hiram Holconilj, John Watsou.

1846.—Frederick Watson, William P. Burrall.

1847.—Frederick Watson, William S. Marsh.

1848.—Ithami H. Smith, Milo Holabird.

1849.-William Douglass, Milo Holabird.

1850.—William Douglass, George W. Feet.

1851.—Sidney Ensign, William Watson.

1852.—Ensign Church, William Watson.

1853.—Ensign Church, Daniel Brewster.

1854.—G. W. Peet, George Church.

1855.—Jesse F. Millspaugh, E. D. Lawrence.

1856.—Charles Kellogg, Kneeland J. Monson.

1857.—E. S. Haskin, M. T. Granger.

1868.—William Douglass, George W. Peet.

1859.—Henry E. Wetherell.

I860.—Daniel Brewster.

1861.—Kussell H. Wilco-t.

1862.—G. W. Peet.

1863.—Hiram Holcomb.

1864.—Daniel Brewster.

1865.—George K. Peck.

1§66.—Nelson M. Brown.

1867.—L. P. Dean.

1868.—S. Briguer.

1869.—Lorenzo H. Hakes.

1870.—Henry Sturges.

1871.—Lee P. Dean. .

1872.—Robert Wilcox.

1873.—Daniel Brewster.

1874.—Henry Yale.

1875.—Myron M. Dean.

1876.—Jerry D. demons.

1877.—Cephas B, Cook.

1878.—Steplu'M Brigner.

1879.—Samuel W. Bradley.

1880.—Henry Brinton.

1831.—George V. Capron.

Falls Village is pleasantly located on the Housa-
tonic Railroad ; it contains two churches, two banks,

and numerous stores.

MILITARY RECORD.*

C. F. Ormaby, Ist Cav.; onl. Doc. 2, 1864.

Jos. Smith, Ist Cav.; enl. Dec. 2, 1864.

John Miller, Ist Bat.; enl. Nov. 23; ro-eul. as veteniD Dec. 19, 1863;

dlsch. June 11, 1865.

B. Potter, 2d Bat. ; enl. Doc. 1.'., 1863 ; dlsch. Aug. 9, 1866.

James Murphy, 5tli Begt.; onl. March 6, 1864.

William P. Ellsworth, 6tli Hogt.; enl. July 22, 1861 ; died June 10, 1862.

William 11. Field, 5tli Regt.; enl. July 22, 1K61 ; must, out July 14,1865.

0. B. Mattson, .Ith Begt. ; enl. July 22, 1861 j must, out July 14, 1S65.

Jaa. Richards, 5th Rogt. ; onl. July 22, 1861 ; died March 15, 1862.

J. A. Belden, 5th Begt.; onl. July 22, 1861 ; dlsch. Jan. 6, 1863.

George Howe, 6th Rogt. ; enl. July 22, 1861 ; dlsch. July 22, 1864.

John Johnson, 6th Begt.; enl. Manh 4, 18G4; dlsch. Aug. 21, 186S.

Joseph Perkins, 7tli Regt. ; enl. Nov. 30, 18C4.

Charles Rosedale, 7th Regt. ; dlsch. July 20, 1865.

E. J. Barker, 7th Begt.; enl. Sept. 7, 1801 ; dlsch. Sept. 12, 1864.

P. J. Brintin, 7th Regt. ; enl. Sept. 7, 1801 ; died Sept. 17, 1802.

Henry Brintin, 7th Begt.; enl. Sept. 7, 1861 ; disch. Sept. 12, 1864.

E. J. Hunter, 7th Begt.; enl. Sept. 7, 1861 ; disch. Sept. 17, 1804.

J. Doherty, 7th Begt.; enl. Nov. 30, 1S04 ; discli. July 2, 1805.

P. Hamilton, 7th Regt.; enl. Nov. 211, 1804; disch. July 2, 1865.

S. Cogswell, 7tli Regt. ; enl, Sept. 13, 1801 ; killed July 11, 1863.

George Ashmeod, 7th Begt.
;'
enl. Sept. 13, 1861 ; must, out July 20, 1865.

George Davidson, 7th Begt.; enl. Sept. 13, 1861.

S. Deane, 7th Regt. ; enl. Sept. 13, 1801 ; enl. United States army Nov. 14,

1862.

E. Nodine, 7th Regt.; enl. Sept. 13. 1861 ; killed May 10, 1864.

M. R. Victory, 7th Regt.; enl. Sept. l3, 1861 ; disch. Sept. 19, 1864.

Patrick Warner, 8th Regt. ; enl. Sept. 2, 1863 ; disch. Dec. 12, 1805.

George A. Caul, 9th Begt.; enl. Oct. 1, ISGl; disch. July 26, 1862.

J. Keller, 9th Regt. ; enl. Dec. 2, 18G4 ; disch. Dec. 24, 1804.

George Taylor, 9th Begt-; enl. March 7, 1864.

K. Moran, 11th Regt. ; eul. Dec. 17, 1804; disch. Dec. 21, 1865.

Thomas Harvey, 11th Regl.; enl. Dec. 10, 1861.

E. Matson, 11th Regt, ; enl, Nov. 27, ISOl ; disch. Dec. 21, 1805.

John Murray, 11th Regt, ; eul. Nov. 27, 1801 ; killed Sept. 17, 1862.

0. Parmelee, lltb Begt. ; enl. Nov, 27, 1801 ; disch. March 21, 1866.

A. Scofield, 11th Regt.; enl. Nov. 27, 1861 ; disch. Nov. 26, 1802.

A. Todd, nth Regt.; enl. Dec. 13, 1861 ; killed Sept. 17, 1802.

D. Wickwire, Uth Regt.; enl. Nov, 27, 1861 ; disch. Dec. 21, 1865.

L. Hart, 13th Begt. ; eul, Nov. 27, 1801 ; died July 9, 1.S04.

A. G. Williams, 13th Regt.; eul. Nov. 27, 1861; died Nov. II, 1862.

Peter Billings, 13th Begt.

M. Dean, 13th Begt. ; enl. Dec. 30, 1861 ; disch. Aug. 6, 1862.

J. M. De Marshy, 13th Regt. ; enl. Dec. 30, 1861 ; disch. April 25, 1865.

8. W. Erwin, 13th Regt, ; enl. Nov, 27, 1861 ; disch. Jan. 6, 1865.

E. A. Fuller, 13lh Regt. ; onl. Dec. 30, 1801 ; disch. April 25, 1865.

J. S. Judd, 13th Regt. ; eul. Dec. 17, 1801 ; disch. Feb. 14, 1863.

Jos. Parks, 2'Jth Regt. ; eul. Aug. 18, 1864 ; died Nov. 6, 1804.

W. White, 7th Begt.; enl. Sept, 13, 1801 ; disch, Sept. 19, 1864.

J. McNorny, ^th Rogt.; enl. March 8, lWi4 ; disch. Oct. 9, 1865.

David Jones, 8th Regt. ; enl. Aug, 12, 1RI14
; dlsch. Dec. 12, 1865.

Williani Ellison, 8th Begt. ; enl. Aug. 10, 1864.

Nelson Hart, 8th Regt ; eul. Sept. 21, 1861 ; disch. Dec. 12, 1805.

A. Dldier, lltli Regt.; onl. Nov. 27, 1861; killed May 16, lb04.

J. Ford, nth Regt ; enl. Nov. ^7, 1861 ; dUcll. Nov. 24, 1862.

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES.

18

* For list of 10th Bogtmont, Me Cbapttr V.

URIEL H. MINER.

Uriel II. Miner, youngest son of Joel Miner and
Anna Kellogg, of ('annaii, Coliinil)ia Co., N. Y., was
born in the town of Canaan, Conn., Feb. 10, 1819.

His cducationai rt(lvantagc.-< were siieh us the ooninion

schools of his native town atl'orded till he wa-s four-

teen years of age. During the summer of 1834 and
1835 he taugiit in the fmnily of Joseph Goddard, in

Goshen, Conn., and during the winters attended the

Askley Academy, at Canaan, Columbia Co., N. Y.

The winter following his .seventeenth year he taught

the district school, adjoining tlic academy, at Canaan,

N. Y. In the spring of 183G he went to Brookiield,

Trumbull Co., Ohio, and entered the employ of Miner
& Norton as clerk, remained that summer, taught

school at Andovor, Ashtabula Co., Ohio, the follow-

ing winter, returned to tlie employ of Messrs. Miner

& Norton the following spring, and remained with

them till 1S40, teaching school during the winters at
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Hartford, Trumbull Co., Ohio. At the age of twenty-

one, in the spring of 1840, he returned to his native

town and entered the employ of Charles Hunt, a

prominent merchant and iron manufacturer, who re-

sided at Huntsville, Canaan, Conn. Mr. Miner took

charge of Mr. Hunt's interest in the firm of Bcklen &
Hunt, merchants at Huntsville at that time. He re-

mained there three years, till the firm of Belden &
Hunt was dissolved, when he formed a copartnership

with Edmund Belden, under the firm-name of Belden

& Miner, and began business at Falls Village, where

he continued to do business till the spring of 1853,

when they dissolved partnership. In 1845, Mr. Miner

became the agent for the Housatonic Railroad at this

place, and held that position until 1855. In the spring

of 1855 he formed a copartnership with Edwin W.
Spurr, of Falls Village, under the firm-name of Miner

& Sjiurr, and were engaged in general merchandise

and lumber business. At the end of three years they

dissolved partnership, and Mr. Miner continued in the

mercantile trade till the spring of 1880, when he sold

his interest to George W. Hall. In the spring of

1869 he was appointed administrator on the estate of

Charles Hunt (the man for whom he worked as clerk

many years before), and was thus engaged for nine

years.

The Falls Village Savings Bank was organized in

1854, and Mr. Miner was one of the charter members,

and has ever since been a trustee. He was secretary

of the same till he was chosen vice-president, which

position he continues to hold. In September, 1878,

he was elected treasurer, and holds that position now

(1881). In the spring of 1880 he retired from the mer-

cantile business. In the spring of 1871 he purchased the

farm formerly owned by Deacon Charles Beebe, and

has been engaged in raising some fine Jersey stock.

The northwest corner of his farm was laid out in

building lots, which now form a large part of Falls Vil-

lage, including the depot. In politics he has ever been

a staunch Republican, but not an otfice-seeker, pre-

ferring the quiet of home to any political honors. He
has been twice married, first to Caroline E.,.daugh-

ter of Lee Canfield, of Falls Village, Oct. 9, 1843. Of

their five children one only is living, Ellen C, wife of

Milo B. Richardson, of Lime Rock, Conn. She has

two living children, viz., Lucy and Milo. Mrs.

Miner died iune 4, 1870, and Mr. Miner married his

second wife, Helen M. Nick^rson,of Cornwall, Conn.,

May 24, 1871. Mr. and Mrs. Miner are members of

the Congregational Church at Falls Village, Conn.,

and he is one of its principal su])porters. He was

one of the moving spirits in getting a new church

built at Falls Village about 1858, and a new society

was then formed.

His father, Joel Miner (2), was a son of Joel Miner,

who was born in Granby, Conn., and died in Hart-

land, Conn., May 11, 1805, aged fifty-five years. Joel

Miner (2) was born in Hartland, Hartford Co., Conn.

;

resided there till 1814, when he came to Canaan,

Conn., and purchased a farm two miles north of

Falls Village, where he continued to reside till his

death, Jan. 10, 1869, aged ninety years. During a

long and temperate Christian life he endeared him-

self to a large circle of friends, and in the full ma-

turity of a life well ripened the Master has gathered

him from earth to His home in heaven.

His children are Nancy K. (deceased), Joel, Whit-

ing G., and Uriel H.

ALMON C. RANDALL.

Almon C. Randall, son of John Randall and Laura

Beach, was born in Bridgewater, Litchfield Co., Conn.,

Sept. 21, 1817. His grandfather, Timothy Randall,

was a native of Greenwich, Fairfield Co., Conn., and

settled in Bridgewater at an early day, where he fol-

lowed the occupation of a farmer. He was a soldier

in the Revolutionary war. He lived to the ripe old

age of about eighty-seven years, leaving a family of

nine children, viz., Polly, John, Sally, Samuel,

Smith, Ezra, Allen, Epinetus, and Betsy, all mar-

ried and had children except Epinetus, who never

married.

John Randall, eldest son of Timothy, was born in

Greenwich, Conn., and settled in Bridgewater with

his parents. He was a farmer and brick-maker. He
lived an honest, industrious, unassuming life in

Bridgewater. In politics he was a Democrat. He
married Laura, daughter of Caleb Beach, of Bridge-

water, Conn., and had five children, viz., Caroline

(Mrs. Daniel Bradshaw), ofBrookfield, Conn. ; Almira

(Mrs. Oliver W. Phippenny), of Bridgewater, Conn.;

Almon C, the immediate subject of this sketch ; Flora

(Mrs. Alonzo Barnum), of Bridgewater, Conn. ; Ame-
lia E. (Mrs. Walter B. Peck), of Bridgewater, Conn.

John Randall died at the age of seventy-five years,

and his wife survived him till August, 1878, aged

eighty-six years.

Almon C. Randall received a common-school edu-

cation. He worked on a farm sunmiers and attended

the district school winters till he was fifteen, and

during the two following summers worked out by the

month on a farm, receiving six dollars a month the

first summer and seven dollars a month the second

summer. In the spring of 1835 he entered the em-

ploy, as clerk, of Lyman Smith, a prominent mer-

chant at Bridgewater, Conn., receiving thirty, forty,

and fifty dollars a year respectively. He remained

with Mr. Smith till the spring of 1838, when he be-

came a clerk for William B. Glover, of Newtown,

Conn., and remained a year, when he became a part-

ner, receiving a certain per cent, of the profits for his

services. After a few months they took in Charles A.

Peck as partner, under the firm-name of William B.

Glover & Co. Here Mr. Randall remained but a short

time, and after a few weeks entered the employ of

Dunning Babbitt, of Bridgewater, and remained there

as clerk some two or three years, or until his failing
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health compelled him to resign. During the follow-

ing year he was out of business, on account of his

health.

In February, 1845, he entered the Bridgeport Bank,

at Bridgeport, Conn., is book-keeper and teller. Syl-

vanus Sterling was president, and George Burroughs

was cashier. Here Mr. Kandall remained till August,

1849, when he came to Falls Village, Conn., and be-

came the cashier of the Iron Bank. William H.

Walton was president.

Mr. Randall remained till 185.3, when he went to

Meriden, Conn., and was there employed as cashier

in the Meriden Bank till the fall of 1856, when he

again engaged in the mercantile business at Meriden,

having Harrison Curtis as partner, under the firm-

name of Curtis & Randall. In February, 1857, he

returned to Falls Village, and became cashier of the

Iron Bank (now known as the National Iron Bank),

and continued as such till Oct. 2, 1880, when he was

elected its president. In politics he is a Republican.

He married Minerva C, daughter of Wait S.

Northrop, of Brookfield, Conn., Jan. 26, 1845. Of this

union three children have been born, viz., Carrie M.,

wife of George W. Hall, an enterprising merchant in

Falls Village, Lucy C, and George A. Mrs. Randall

was a lady much beloved by all, of remarkable mem-
ory, and esteemed for her many excellent virtues.

She died Oct. 17, 1878.

Mr. Randall is a member of the Episcopal Church

at Brookfield, Conn., but an attendant at Lime Rock,

Conn.

church, and soon afterwards his father bought a farm

adjoining, and to-day Mr. Kellogg owns an interest in

both farms. In 1880, Mr. Kellogg was made agent

for Hon. Walter A. Wood's Mowing and Reaping

Machine Company, of Hoosic Falls, N. Y.

In politics he is a Republican. Mr. and Mrs. Kel-

logg are members of the Congregational Church at

Falls Village. He takes a deep interest in the tem-

perance movement, and in all matters pertaining to

the moral interest of his town. He has one daughter,

Abbie T., born June 1, 1856, adopted into tlie Kel-

logg family, April 5, 1869.

WHITING G. KELLOGG.

Whiting G. Kellogg, son of Whiting G. and Fanny

(Dean) Kellogg, was born in Canaan, Conn., Aug. iil,

1824. His father was a son of Asahel Kellogg, and

was born in Canaan, Columbia Co., N. Y., and at

twelve years of age settled in Canaan, Conn., with his

paren.ts, where some of the descendants of the family

continue to reside.

Whiting G. Kellogg, Sr., was a farmer by occupa-

tion, a man of no small means for one of his day,

beloved and respected by all. He was twice married,

first to Clarissa Beldcn, and had two children, Asa-

hel and Betsy Ann. His second wife was Fanny,

daughter of Roswell Dean, and to them were born

two children, Emelinc and Whiting G. Mr. Kellogg

was a Whig and Republican in politics. He and his

wife were members of the Congregational Church at

South Canaan, Conn. He died Oct. 10, 1865, and Mrs.

Kellogg died Dec. 20, 1875, aged eighty-six years.

The immediate subject of our sketch received a

common-school education. He was a successful far-

mer till 1876, when he settled at Falls Village, where

he has ever since resided.

On the 19th of August, 1850, he nuirried Laura,

daughter of Samuel Becklcy, of North Canaan, Conn.

In 1866 he purchased gome land near South Canaan

CHARLES HUNT.

Among the prominent men of Litchfield Co., Conn.,

none are more justly entitled to a place on the pages

of our history than he of whom we write. He was a

son of Amos and Mary (Lowrey) Hunt, and was born

at Huntsville, Litchfield Co., Conn., Aug. 19, 1803.

He received a common-school and academic educa-

tion. His father was an iron manufacturer at Hunts-

ville, and young Charles was trained in all the details

of the business. Early in life he began business for him-

self, and by his strict attention to the same became

one of the most successful business men in Canaan.

He was in mercantile trade in Huntsville for many

years, besides, he had extensive interests in various

iron companies, among others that of Hunt's Ly-

man Iron Co., at Huntsville, Conn. ; also an interest

in Washburn & Hunt's Iron Co., at Jersey City.

He took a dec]) interest in tlie Housatonic Railroad,'

and liad considerable stock in it. He was president

of the same for nearly fifteen years, and resigned

some two years before his death. In politics he was

an uncom|)romising Republican, but never was an

aspirant fur political honors.

He was three times married, first to Lucy Beebe, and

had two children, viz., George B. and Lucy C. His

second wife was Pamela Sedgwick Bates, by whom
he had one son, Charles Sedgwick. His third wife

was Charlotte Kussell, daughter of Ely Russell, of

Canaan, Conn. ; married Oct. 4, 1849, and to them

was born one daugliter, Mary.

Mr. Hunt died Jan. 15, 1869. A friend speaks of

him thus

:

"Generosity was a marked trait in his character.

To this all his intimate personal friends bear testi-

mony, and many of his relatives and friends have

had abundant occasions to test it, and none ever

found it to fail, and what he did was done cheer-

fully, and without the least ostentation. He wils a

man of almost womanly tenderness of heart, of a

generosity which cheerfully met the claims of all

persons and causes which won his confidence, and

often led him to do more than was consistent with his

own proper interest, and, joined in singular contrast

with this, a carefulness in the mauageuient of public
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trust such as few public men exercise in these days,

and, above all else, of an humble, devout, and earnest

consecration to the service of his Master."

NATHAN MILLAKD.

Ensign N.athan Millard, father of Joel Millard, set-

tled on Cream Hill, in Cornwall, Conn. Joel married

Azubah Sherwood, and had the following children,

viz., Ebenezer Sherwood ; Submit, married Henry
Baldwin, and lived in Cornwall ; Electa, married

Ithamar Baldwin, and resided in Cornwall ; Amanda,
married Kilbourn, or Kilborn, a h.atter, and

lived in Litchfield; Melissa; John Walker, went to

New Marlboro', Mass., and thence to Illinois ; Azubah,

married Rood, of Shetlield. Mr. Millard's second

wife was Mrs. Theodore Norton, and had two chil-

dren, viz., Clarissa and Franklin.

He removed with his son, John Walker, to New
Marlboro' about 1835, having sold his farm to E. D.

Pratt.

Ebenezer Millard was born in Cornwall, Conn.,

on what is known as Cream Hill, June 6, 1791. His

life was spent on the farm. He married Mary Brad-

ford, daughter of .Tames Bradford, of Cornwall, Oct.

14, 1813. Of this union ten children were born, viz.,

Mary Ann (deceased), Mary Azubah (deceased), Joel

(deceased), William W., the subject of this sketch.

Walker S., James F., Sarah M., Nathan W. (de-

ceased), Emeline, and John B. (deceased), all born in

the town of Canaan, Conn., except the first.

Ebenezer Millard settled in Canaan, on the under

mountain road, southeast of Huntsville, soon after his

marriage, and here he continued to reside till his

death, April 22, 1873. He was considered one of the

best farmers of his day, as his son, William Wallace, is

now justly so considered. In politics he was a Whig.

Mr. and Mrs. Millard were members of the Congre-

gational Church of South Canaan, Conn. He was

a man esteemed by all, and when he passed away
Canaan lost one of her best citizens. Mrs. Millard

is still living, at the ripe old age of eighty-seven years,

and retains her faculties remarkably well for one so old.

William Wallace was born in Canaan, Conn., Sept.

23, 1819. He had such advantages for an education

as the common schools of his day afforded. He
taught school several times, commencing when he

was seventeen years of age.

He was reared oh the farm, which business he has

continued to follow successfully till the present time.

He owns the old Millard homestead, in Canaan,

where his father first settled, and another good farm

besides. Oct. 13, 1846, he married Olive J., daughter

of Lyman Howe, of Goshen, Conn., and to them have

been born three children,—viz., Sherwood F., a resi-

dent of Nichols, Iowa ; Mary J., wife of William E.

Marsh, and resides at Cleveland, Ohio ; William L.,

married, and resides on the old homestead in Canaan.

In politics Mr. Millard is a staunch Republican, and

as such has held the office of selectman. Mr. and

Mrs. Millard are members of the Congregational

Church of South Canaan, Conn., and he is one of its

liberal supporters.

MILO HOLABIRD.

Milo Holabird was born, April 9, 1810, on the place

where he now resides, in Canaan, Conn. His grand-

father, Timothy Holabird, born in 1716, a native of

Brimfield, Mass., married Abigail Charles. They
had six children. At an early day he moved to

Canaan with his family, and settled near the present

site of Falls Village. He was a large man, of great

physical strength, and had much influence in the

community. He was a tanner as well as farmer, and

a Federalist in politics. He died in 1810, aged

ninety-four years.

William Holabird was the sixth child of Timothy

and Abigail Holabird, and was born Feb. 9, 1764, in

Canaan. He remained with his father until he be-

came of age, became a farmer, and married, at the age

of twenty-five, Dorcas, daughter of Amos and Han-
nah (Swift) Bird, of Salisbury. Their children were

Amos B., William S., Julia M. (she married Chester

Monson, and had three children), Harlow C, Horatio

N., Harriet E. (she married Garrett Kellogg, of Corn-

wall, and had two children), Milo, Sophia A., and

Lucius H., who died in infancy. Milo and Sophia

are the only ones now living. William Holabird

was selectman, justice of the peace, assessor, and held

other minor ofiices. He was a Democrat in politics,

and was a staunch supporter of those principles.

Soon after his marriage he moved to the farm where

he made his home for life, and where he died, Dec.

14, 1850. His wife, born Nov. 10, 1771, died May 30,

1849.

Milo was reared on the farm ; had such advantages

for education as were given by the common schools

of his youth, supplemented by two terms of academic

instruction, at one of which he studied surveying. As
he was the youngest son, he stayed with his father,

and after his death purchased the interests of all the

other heirs but his sister Sophia, who resides with

him.

Mr. Holabird has always been a Democrat, and had

much influence in Canaan before the division of the

town, and was very prominent in local politics. H^.
was selectman for seven years, member of the State

Legislature for 1848-49, justice of the peace for several

years, and assessor two years. He strongly opposed

the division of the town, and since that was done has

not taken so active a part in town matters. He is

now hale and hearty, at the age of seventy-two years,

enjoying the fruits of a well-spent life, and enjoys the

confidence and high esteem of numerous friends.
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JONATHAN BATES.

Jonathan Bates, son of Jonathan Bates, was born

in New Haven, Conn., Feb. 17, 1794. His father was

a very successful Baptist minister, and was born in

East Haddam, Conn. ; married Mary Morse, and had

eight children, of whom Jonathan, the subject of this

sketch, was the second son. His father lived to be

eighty-two years of age, and his mother was about

ninety-three years of age.

Mr. Bates had very limited advantages for an edu-

cation, but by close application to good booka, papers,

magazines, etc., has become one of the best-informed

men in Canaan, Conn. Very early in life he was

compelled to work out to aid in maintaining the

family. At eighteen years of age he left home to

seek his own fortune. He worked by the month on

the farm, by the day, by the job laying stone wall,

—

any way, every way to earn an honest penny. May 9,

1821, he settled in Canaan, Conn., on the farm where

he now (April, 1881) resides. When he settled in

Canaan he kept public-house for some seventeen

years, in connection with farming, since which time

he has been a farmer. He has been a very large and

successful farmer, and to-day, although so very old in

years, sees to his own business. He has cared for

more than six head of cattle himself the past winter,

besides attending to many other farm duties.

In politics he was a Democrat, but of late years has

been a Republican. He has held various offices of

his town. He is very methodical in wliatever he does,

and has kept adiary since 1838. His memory is remark-

able for one so old, and it is a pleasure to talk with

one so well informed. Besides being well posted on

various subjects, he has taken a deep interest in the

study of astronomy, and is considered quite well in-

formed on that subject. He has been three times

married, first to Pamela Sedgwick, by whom he had

one dauglitcr, Pamela, who married Charles Hunt,

of Huntsville; tliey had one son, Charles S., who was

educated by Mr. Rates, and wlu) became a prominent

literary gentleman, residing in New York City, and
<lied there in early manhood. Jlr. Bates' second wife

was Eunice Dean, and his present wife is Maria,

widow of William Pendleton, and daugliter of Luther

Emmons, of Cornwall, Conn. They were married

March 8, 1869. While he is not a member of any
church, he has ever been very liberal towards all char-

itable institutions, and the poor have in him a good
friend.

HEV. I'lTKIN (OWLE.S.

Pitkin Cowles was born at Farmington (nowSouth-
ington), Conn., on April 7, 1777. He was a direct

<ii'scendant, in the sevontli generation, of John Cowles,

at one time a member of the General Court of Con-
necticut, who came to Hartford from England in

11140. He was a man of much irilhicnce, and one of

tile largest land-holders of the colony. Pitkin Cowles

was graduated at Yale College in the class of 1800.

He had a strong bent towards the legal profession, but

before taking any steps in that direction it was the

earnest wish of his father that he should pursue a

course of reading for one year, under the supervision

of the noted Rev. Dr. Smalley. To this he deferenti-

ally assented, and at the end of that period, after due

consideration, decided to commence the study of

theology, under the same reverend preceptor, as also

partly under the Rev. Dr. Charles Backus.

Having accomplished the requisitions to that end,

he was ordained pastor over the Second Congrega-

tional Church of Canaan, Litchfield Co., in August,

1805, an olfice to which he devoted himself with all

the ardor of his strong, devout, and reverent nature.

To the end of his life no interruption occurred in his

calling, with the exception of a short period during

the war of 1812, when he became chaplain of a bri-

gade under Gen. Elisha Sterling, then stationed at

New London.

While in New Haven, on a visit to his eldest son,

then a student at Yale College, he was seized with

alarming symptoms of illness, and, wending his weary

way to his old home at Southington, surrounded bv

several members of his family, who had been hur-

riedly summoned to his bedside, he soon breathed his

last in the room where he drew his first breath. His

death took place on Sunday morning, at sunrise, on

Feb. 8, 1833, in the fifty-sixth year of his age. His

remains repose in a secluded nook at the " Grove,"

the home to which he brought his bride in the month

of May, 1808. It is not difficult to delineate his

character : frank, open, crystal waters were not purer.

His mind was vigorous and comprehensive. He pos-

sessed remarkable personal and moral courage. His

syni[)athies were very tender, with a lofty sense of

honor, true and faithful in his friendships, not seldom

practically shown, and his hospitalities unbounded.

His favorite studies were the classics, natural .sciences,

and Iiistory, in which last, few of his day were so

thoroughly read. In person he was about six feet in

height, of fine physique,—a noble presence; in con-

versation graceful, and, inclined to discussion, a strong

deliater in council. In manner he was dignified, anil

to all ho was courteous. Perhaps no truer example

of the representative New England pastor of the

period could be named. The father of his people,

the shepherd of his flock, under his spiritual guid

ancc rich and poor, young and old took upon them

the imprcsn of his instruction, and the spirit of his

unpretentious piety.
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CHAPTER XXIX*
COLEBHOOK.

Geographical—Topographical—Towns Patented to Hartford and Wind-

sor—The Controversy—Survey of the Town—Ministerial and School

Lots—Initial Events—Incorporation of the Town—First Town-Meet-

ing—Highways—Early Settlers and their Locations—Tlie First Death

—The First Birth—Tlie Cliurch Controversy—Ecclesiastical History

—

Congregational Church—Representatives from 1796 to 1882—JMiiitary

Becord.

CoLEBEOOK is located in the northeastern part of

the county, and is bounded as follows : on the north

by Massachusetts, on the east by Hartford County,

on the south by Winchester, and on the west by Nor-

folk. The surface of the town is hilly. The soil is

generally fertile and well adapted to agriculture.

HISTORICAL RECORDS OF THE TOWN OF COLE-
BROOK.

The town of Colebrook is one of the seven towns

patented to the towns of Hartford and Windsor by

the colony of Connecticut in A.D. 1729. The means

by which these seven townships came into the hands

of the two towns of Hartford and Windsor may be

known by examining Trumbull's "History of Con-

necticut," vol. ii. p. 95. By this it appears that when,

in the reign of James II., Sir Edmund Andruss was

sent over by that tyrant to demand the charter of the

several New England colonies, and Connecticut ex-

pected to lose their charter, the General A.ssembly

made a grant to the towns of Hartford and Windsor,

in the words following :

"This Court Grant to the Plantations of Hartford and Windsor those

Lands on the north of Woodbury and Mattatuck, and on the west of

Farmington and Simslmry to the Massachusetts line north, to run west

to Husrttonic or Stratford Biver. Provided it he tiot u part of it formerly

granted to any particular person to Diake a Plantation or village on,"

This grant was made Jan. 26, 1686. Hartford and

Windsor subsequently claimed that this grant was

good and valid, while tlie colony on their part re-

garded the grant as nothing but a plan devised and

adopted at the time to save the lands of the colony

from the grasp of Sir Edmund Andruss, and prevent

his enriching himself and his followers by the sale of

them ; that the grant was made in a hasty and incon-

siderate manner, and at a time when the colony was

threatened with the loss of its most valuable rights

and privileges, and paid no regard to the claims of the

towns of Hartford and Windsor. The controversy

respecting these lands between the contending claim-

ants was long and violent, continuing until 1729. In

1724, Governor Talcott, Matthew Allen, and Roger

Wolcott prepared a petition to the Assembly pray-

ing that the controversy might be amicably settled,

and that a committee might be appointed by the As-

sembly for that object. Upon this application, James
Wadsworth, John Brainard,'and Hezekiah Brainard

were appointed a committee to examine the claims of

* This chapter embraces the unpublished manuscript of the late Reu-

ben Rockwell, contributed by his son, Reuben Rockwell, Esq.

Hartford and Windsor, to receive such propositions as

should be made to them, and report to the Assembly,

that the difficulties might be settled. The committee,

after laboring on the business for nearly two years,

made their report, upon which the Assembly resolved

that the lands in controversy should be divided be-

tween the colony and the two towns, the colony to

retain the western and the two towns the eastern

division. In pursuance of this resolve the Governor

and company, on the 22d of May, 1729, gave a patent

to the towns of Hartford and Windsor of one-half of

said lands, and about three years after, in May, 1732,

an act was passed empowering Matthew Allen, Roger

Wolcott, Samuel Mather, and other inhabitants of

Windsor to make a partition of the moiety of lands

then patented to the said towns, bounded north on

the line of Massachusetts, west partly on lands be-

longing to the Governor and company and partly on

the town of Litchfield, south partly on the town of

Waterbury and partly on the town of Farmington,

east partly on Farmington and partly on Simsbury

and partly on lands belonging to the Governor and

company. One-half of this tract was granted to Hart-

ford. The proprietors of the towns of Hartford and

Windsor made a partition by a deed executed Feb.

11, 1732, the townships granted to Hartford in the

division being New Hartford, Hartland, Winchester,

and the eastern half of Harwinton ; to Windsor,

Torrington, Barkhamsted, Colebrook, and the western

half of Harwinton. On the 7th of April, 1732, the

inhabitants of Windsor made a division of the three

and a half towns among themselves to a certain num-
ber of patentees or proprietors, to have and to hold the

same in severalty to them and their heirs forever.

These preparatory measures having been adopted by
the proprietors, the General Assembly passed an act

of incorporation vesting them with all powers neces-

sary for the disposing of said lands and securing them
forever to those who should purchase. The first tract

of land mentioned in the patent is Torrington, said to

contain twenty thousand nine hundred and twenty-

four acres, granted to Matthew Allen, Roger Wol-

cott, Esqs., and to the rest of the proprietors of said

Torrington. The second parcel of land is Barkham-

sted, containing twenty thousand five hundred and

thirty-one acres, to Capt. Thomas Moor, Lieut. Jona-

than Elsworth, and the rest of the proprietors of

Barkhamsted. Colebrook was granted to Capt. Samuel

Wheeler, Mr. Henry Wolcott, and the rest of the

proprietors of Colebrook, said to contain eighteen

thousand one hundred and ninety-nine acres. The
fourth parcel is the western half of Harwinton, con-

taining nine thousand five hundred and sixty acres,

granted to Samuel Allen, Daniel Berrill, and the rest

of the proprietors of Harwinton. It is probable,

though it does not appear on the proprietors' records,

that the whole of the three and a half towns were

divided to the inhabitants of Windsor on the same

list, as the names of the original proprietors of the
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different townships are not the same. The amount of

the list on wliich the township was divided was £3987

4s. 8c?., the quantity of land divided eighteen thou-

sand one hundred and ninety-nine acres, being about

four and three-fourths acres on one pound, or twenty

shillings on the list. The first meeting of the pro-

prietors was held at the meeting-house in the first

society in Windsor, Jan. 30, 1732. At this meeting

Capt. Joseph Phelps, Roger Newberry, and Thomas
Allen were appointed a committee to preambulate

with the neighboring towns the town line of Cole-

brook, to view and see the land lying in said Cole-

brook and the form thereof; and it does not appear

that another meeting of the proprietors was held until

May 22, 1756, a period of twentj'-four years. There

was a meeting Feb. 22, 1743.

The township was surveyed and laid out in 1760

into twenty-nine rights, that being the number of the

original proprietors. Sixty acres was laid out as a

ministerial lot, to be the property of the first orthodox

minister who should be settled or ordained in the

town ; one hundred acres as a parsonage for the use

of the ministry ; one hundred acre* as a school-lot for

the benefit of common schools, and ten acres as a par-

cel to build a meeting-house on.

The township was laid out in three divisions and

eight tiers. Each proprietor's number was drawn by

lot, No. 1 beginning at the southwest corner of the

town, then running northward on the first or west

tier to the Massachusetts line,—No. 52 being the north

lot on the first tier,—then turning eastward and begin-

ning the next number at the north end of the second

tier, and running down on said second tier, and pur-

suing that course through the town, the tiers being

two hundred and forty rods in width, except the cast

tier, which does not hold that width, especially at the

south end. Ton-rod highways were laid between each

tier, and a number of four-rod highways across the

several tiers. The committee who laid out the town

were Pelatiah Mills, Josiali Phelps (2d), James Rock-

well, Ephraim W(dcott, and Nathaniel Tilley. The
meeting at which this survey was accepted was held

July 16, 1760.

The first settler in the town wjvs Benjamin Horton,

in December, 1765 ; Joseph Rockwell, from Ea-st

Windsor, wlio arrive<l with his family Jan. 16, 1766;

Joseph Simons, in February or March following;

Nathan Bass, in April or May of the same year; and
Samuel Rockwell, in February, 1767, the two latter

also from East Windsor. After these, among the

early settlers, were Gideon llorton, Francis and Aaron

Griswold, David Viets, Samuel Mills, Joseph and
Eleazar Hidwcll, Ilc/.ckiah and William tjimons, John
Porter, and David Piiiney.

As the inhabitants were not experienced in the

most approved mode of clearing lands and bringing

them into cultivation, and generally poor, and the

whole town one entire forest cuvcred with heavy tim-

ber, ita transformation into fruitful fields and well-

cultivated farms was slow and protracted, though a few

individuals who had property at command advanced

the clearing and improvement of their lands with

considerable activity. The usual mode of clearing

land was to girdle the timber, and on the third year

after girdling to clear ofl' the fallen timber, sow it to

rye, seed it with herd-grass and white clover. The

average crop when well burned over was twenty or

twenty-five bushels per acre. The land when thus

partially cleared produced good pasturage, and, when

moist, good crops of grass for mowing for seven or

eight years, when, the remaining timber being princi-

pally fallen and briers, and other bushes beginning to

overspread the lands, it became necessary to clear and

fallow it, which, when well performed, produced good

crops of wheat and rye. New lands also produced

good oats, potatoes, and turnips, but Indian corn did

not usually succeed and was not a profitable crop.

Though peach-trees flourished, and in favorable situa-

tions soon came to maturity, apple- and other fruit-

trees did not succeed, but generally appeared stinted

and slow in their growth.

Various causes conspired to retard the advancement

of the population of the town ; among these were the

high price of land compared with its real value, and

the general inclination of the proprietors to keep

their lands until the prices were advanced, and the

heavy expense of clearing and improving land covered

with timber. It appears by an enumeration or cen-

sus taken Sept. 1, 1776, about ten years from the com-

mencement of the settlement of the town, that the

number of its inhal)itants amounted to two hundred

and seven ; another census was made in 1782, when
the number was two hundred and seventy-two, and

forty-eight families. The period between these two

enumerations being that of the Revolutionary war

accounts for the slow advance of population in that

period.

The town was incorporated and invested with town

privileges at the October ses.iion of the (icneral As-

sembly, 1779. The first town-meeting was held on

the 13th of December of the same year. Though the

town had not arrived to that stage of wealth and

poi)ulation which had generally been considered

rc<iuisitc to entitle new towns to a representation in

the fieneral As.seml)ly, and to subject them to the

payment of State taxes, yet the evils and calamities

of the war of the Revolution fell on them, in common
with their fellow-citizens through the country gen-

erally.

I'ortions of their militia were Irequently called into

the field. Several of their young men served in the

Continental army, and some of their valuable citizens

lost their lives in the war. Those who were oppo.sed

to the Revolution in those times were called Tories;

not a single individual in the town was of that charac-

ter. The civil ami prudential concerns of the town

were generally managed with iliscretion and economy.

The original ten-rod and four-rod highways, where
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not wanted for travel, were exchanged for necessary

roads. The expense for paupers was trifling, so that

the principal town expenses for a number of years

were for building and supporting bridges.

The early settlers deserve much commendation for

their exertions to establish and support schools.

Neighborhood schools were kept up at an early period,

and in 1781 the town was organized into two school

districts. All the inhabitants within two miles of the

south line of the town (except Mr. John Porter, who
was connected with a district in Norfolk) were to con-

stitute the south district, the remainder the north

district, and for several years ten pounds per year were

paid out of the town treasury to each of these dis-

tricts for the support of schools. As the population

of the town increased other districts were formed, and

at the organization of school societies in this State, in

1796, the society was divided into six districts, of the

following names, viz.. North, South, Southwest,

Beach Hill, River, and Forge. Three additional dis-

tricts have since been formed, viz.. Centre, West, and

North districts. The lot of one hundred acres situ-

ated on the Farmington River, laid out by the pro-

prietors as a school-lot, was sold or leased in 1795, the

interest of which is annually applied for the support

of schools.

Wheu the township was laid out, in 1760, the pro-

prietors' committee, not knowing exactly where the

colony line ran, made a line which was called the

northern line of the town, to which they laid the lots.

About the year 1795 some of the ancient monuments
made by the committee who ran the line between

Massachusetts and Connecticut in 1717 were dis-

covered, the line from one monument to another

against the town of Colebrook was run, and it was

found that between the northern lots in each tier and

the State line there was unlocated land. Though it

had not been previously known exactly where the

State line ran, yet it was known from the first settle-

ment of the town that there was unlocated land on

the north side of the town, which was called undivided

land. The proprietors, before the town was settled,
[

granted to Erastus Woloott, Esq., the undivided land

on the eighth tier, estimated at sixty acres, for build-

ing the first saw-mill in the town, that in the first

and second tiers was also granted to him for some

other consideration. At a proprietors' meeting held

at Colebrook in 1795, it was voted that the undivided

lands at the north end of the town be ceded over to

the town, be sold, and the principal kept forever en-

tire, and the interest annually arising applied for the
'

support of common schools in the town. The sum
total of the principal for which these lands sold, to-

gether with the school-lot before mentioned, amounts

to $1712.84, the amount of interest arising on which

annually is $102.77, which, together with the amount

received from the State treasury, has, on an average,

amounted to $375.69 per year. The number of per-

sons between the ages of four and sixteen, as returned

to the controller of the State in 1820, was 396. In
1829 the number was 363.

In resuming the history of the town as such, it may
be observed that nothing worthy of special note trans-

pired for several years. The town gradually advanced
in wealth and population until at the session of the

General Assembly, 1794, a resolve was passed requir-

ing the town of Colebrook to transmit to said Assem-
bly at their next session a list of their polls and rata-

ble estate. The object of this order was to ascertain

whether the town had arrived to that stage of advance-

ment in wealth and population that it would be rea-

sonable to call on them for State taxes. The people

did not wish any longer to enjoy this exemption, as in

consequence they had no representation in the Legis-

lature, and were subject to laws they had no voice in

enacting. They, therefore, chose representatives to

the Assembly, and were first represented in that body
in the October session, 1795.

The number of inhabitants in 1800 was 1004; of

families, 192. In 1810 the population was 1243; in

1820, 1276; and in 1830, 1333.

CIVIL AUTHORITY IN THE TOWN OF COLEBEOOK FROM ITS
INCORPORATION IN 1779 TO 1830.

Elijah Rockwell, 1782-1817; Samuel Mills, 1796 to his death in 1814

;

Reuben Rockwell, 1809-35; Natlian Bass, 1815-20; Seth Marshall,

1810-36; Grove Pinney, 1823-26; Lancelot Phelps, 1818-32 ; Samue'
Whitford, 1823; William S. Holabird, 1821-24.

SELECTMEN FROM DECEMBER, 1779.

1779.—Samuel Mills, David Pinney, John Porter.

1780-81.—Samuel Rockwell, David Pinney, Samuel Mills.

1782.—Samuel Mills, Samuel Rockwell, David Pinney, John Porter, Ed-

mund Howell.

1783.—Samuel Mills, Samuel Rockwell, John Porter, John Rockwell,

Edmund Howell.

1784.—Sanuiel Mills, John Porter, Edmund Howell.

1785.—Samuel Rockwell, Samuel Mills, John Porter, Edmund Howell,

David Pinney.

1786.—Samue] Rockwell, Samuel Mills, John Porter, Daniel Eno, Edmund
Howell.

1787.—Joseph Bidwell, Daniel Eno, Isaac Kneeland.

1788.—Samuel Mills, Daniel Euo, Elijah Rockwell, John Porter, Isaac

Kneeland.

1789.—Edmund Howell, Daniel Eno, Avah Phelps.

1790.—Samuel Mills, Samuel Rockwell, Elijah Rockwell.

1791.—Samuel Mills, Elijah Rockwell, Avah Phelps.

1792.—Samuel Mills, Samuel Blakeslee, Avah Phelps, Elgah Bockwell,

Ephraim Bidwell.

1793.—David Pinney, Stephen Skinner, Samuel Blakeslee.

1794.—David Pinney, Edmund Howell, Reuben Rockwell.

1795.—Samuel Mills, Reuben Rockwell, Grove Pinney.

179G.—Samuel Mills, Reuben Rockwell, Grove Pinney.

1797.—David Pinney, Stephen Skinner, Reuben Rockwell.

1798.—Reuben Rockwell, Nathan Bass, Asa Bishop.

1799.—Nathan Bass, Reuben Rockwell, Moses Wright, Jr.

1800-1.—Grove Pinney, Avah Phelps, Eleazar Bidwell.

1802.—Eleazar Bidwell, Abraham Pinney, Jacob Chamberlain.

1803.—Reuben Rockwell, Frederic Brown, Samuel Blakeslee.

1801.—Reuben Rockwell, Frederic Brown, Asa Bishop.

1805.—Asa Bishop, Nathan Bass, Moses Wright, Jr.

1806.—Nathan Bass, Moses Wright, Jr., Joshua Osburn.

1807.—Asaph Pinney, John Whiting, Samuel Whitford.

1803.—Reuben Rockwell, Seth Marsliall, Roger Stillman

1809.—Roger Stillman, Seth Marshall, Ammi R. Robbins.

1810 —Seth Marshall, Selah Trent, John Tyler.

1811.—Reuben Rockwell, Roswell Marshall, Selah Trent.

1812.—John Tyler, Selah Trent, Samuel Cowles.

1813.—John Tyler, Selah Trent, Samuel Cowles.
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1814.—Samuel Cuwles, Rubert Stillnian, Rufus Holmes.

1815.—Eufus Holmes, Klijati Grant, Daniel Stillman.

1816.—Elijah Grant, Daniel Stillman, Grove Pinney.

1817.—Grove Pinney, Samnel Whitford, Reuben Rockwell.

1818.—Grove Pinney, Timothy Babcock, Slieron Rockwell.

1819.—Grove PiTiney, Tlierou Rockwell, Samuel Whitford.

1820.—Grove Pinney, Theron Rockwell, Samuel Whitford.

1821.—Grove Pinney, Tlieron Rockwell, Henry Bass.

1822.—Theron Rockwell, Henry Bass, Thomas Concklin.

John Wright removed from Goshen to the Bellow's

place, below Eufus Holmes', in 1769. He was the

father of John, Charles, Freedom, and Lucy, the wife

of Elijah Roclcwell, Esq.

The following is a list of the inhabitants who re-

sided in Colebrook previous and at the commence-

ment of the Revolutionary war, and the time they re-

moved into the town

:

1765.—Ben.iamiii Horton and wife : died here.

1766.—Joseph Rockwell, Joseph Seymour, Nathan Basa.

1767.—Samuel Rockwell, Gideon Horton.

1768.—Francis Giiswold, Aaron Griswold.

1769.—Samuel Mills, Moses Wright, Hezekiah Simons, William SimoDB,

David Rockwell.

1770.—David Viets. Samuel Phillips, John PoHer, Jacob Ogden, Ebene-

zer Shepard.

1771.—Joseph Bidwell, Kleazar Bidwell, Daniel Hall, David Goodhue,

Joseph Langworthy, Joseph Tainter, Daniel and David Hos-

kins, William Denison, John and James Mead, John Seymour,

Dr. Asa Hillyer and James Hillyer.

1772.—Henry White, David Pinney, Thomas Feax.

1773.—Pelatiah Mills, .\ndrew Buckingham, Stephen Russell.

1774.—Aaron Simons.

Benjamin Horton, the first inhabitant, removed into

the town in December, 1765, and built a house on the

north side of the road, about forty rods east of J. E.

Hoyt's (now owned by Joseph Twinge*). Joseph

Roclcwell, the second settler, moved into the town

Jan. 16, 1766, and built a house about ten rods south-

east of Rufus Holmes' (Horace White's) present

dwelling. With him came his sons, John and Elijah

Rockwell, who were both over twenty-one years of

age, and were considered as among the earliest settlers,

although at that time unmarried. The two houses

above mentioned were the only ones on the road from

New Hartford to Norfolk. Joseph Seymour, tlie

third, came in February or Marcli, 1766. He lived

on the bank of Sandy Brook, about ten rods below

the liouse of Gen. Plielps. Nathan Bass, the fourth,

removed into the town in April or May in the .same

year. He lived on or near where his son, Nathan Bass,

Esq., lived (now Eugene Marvin). He died at New
York in 1776, while in tlie army of the Revolution.

Samuel Rockwell wits tlie fifth, and movc<l into tlie

town in February, 1767. Tlie lioiise he first built and

occupied is the back part of tlie house wliere his son

Reuben lived, and is the only house remaining which

was occupied by the first settlers (now occupied by

the family of tlie late Reuben Rockwell, and the

oldest house in the town). Of tlie above, Benjamin

Horton was from Springfield, Josc|)li and Samuel

Rockwell and Nathan Bass were from East Windsor,

• The namet Id porentheats denote pruont occnptnti.

Joseph Seymour from Windsor. After these were

Gideon Horton, who lived some thirty rods northeast

of J. E. Hoyt's (Joseph Twinge). Dr. Asa Hillyer and

James, his brother, lived on the same ground now oc-

cupied by the brick house built by Alpha Sage (now

owned by John S. Wheeler). Asa stayed there but a

short time, but his brother, James Hillyer, remained

until 1773 or 1774. Aaron Griswold lived near the

house where Lucius Holmes now lives (Eugene Bar-

ber). Francis Griswold lived on the north side of the

road, about half-way from L. Holmes' to the road

that leads to Erastus Seymour's (cross-road). Samuel

Mills lived near or on the same ground where the

house lately occupied by Arthur Howell stood (now

occupied by Edwin Simons). Moses Wright lived in

a log house near where his son Alvin now lives (Jor-

dan Smith). Hezekiah Simons lived forty rods north

of Abel Bunnell's house (Elder Thomas Benedict)

;

William Simons where A. Bunnell now lives (owned

by Benedict). David Rockwell lived about thirty

rods south of A. Bunnell, where Bildad Seymour
afterwards lived (Mr. Mahanna). Samuel Phillips

first lived on the Farmington River, where Henry
White since lived (family of Reuben White), eighty

rods southeast of Samuel Whitford's. David Viets

lived about one hundred rods west of Nathaniel

Coble's, in the north part of the town, on the road

leading from the Baptist meeting-house to Beach
Hill (Lewis Loveland). John Porter lived on the

Norfolk road, in a log house, a little east of Remas
Coy's (Harvey Coy). Eleazar Bidwell's was the

seventeenth family that removed into the town, and

lived on the ground now occupied by the Baptist

meeting-house in the north part of the town. Joseph

Bidwell lived near the North Baptist meeting-house,

on the ground now occupied as a parsonage. Jacob

Ogden lived on the place now occupied by Clark

Roberts (Mr. Lawton). In 1770, Richard Smith,

from England, who had previous to this time bought

and carried on the old furnace in Salisbury,—which

was the only one in the State,—built a forge in this

town, now known lus the "Old Forge place" (Roberts-

ville), which he carried on until the commencement
of the Revolutionary war, when he, favoring the

cau.ie of Great Britain, returned to Englan<l, and never

came buck. He left this forge and the furnace at

Salisbury without any agent to take care of them.

The furnace was through the war carried on by the

State of Connecticut, and was used extensively for

casting cannon and ball for the defense of the

country. Mr. Jacob Ogden, from New Jersey, was

employed by Smith Jis agent to carry im this forge

from 1770 till he left the country, after which Mr.

Ogden carried it on on his own account, and received

the whole avails during the war. At the close of the

war Mr. Jared Zanc, an agent of Smith's, took pos.ses-

sion i>f it, and soon after sold it to Joseph and Elisha

Buell. The workmen who lived at this place were

William Dennison, John and James Mead, John
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Seymour (who was drowned by the breaking of a

flume), Thomas Keax, and probably some others.

Ebenezer Shepard lived where Erastus Seymour now
lives (George Dolittle). Daniel Hall lived in a log ,

house a little north of the old burying-ground.

David Goodhue lived on the ground where Linus

Bidwell lately lived, west of Osborn Stillman's (heirs

of O. Stillman). Joseph Langworthy lived on the

road leading from the saw-mill near Charles Phelps'

to Norfolk, on the east side of the pond, on land now
owned by C. Phelps, where Thomas Miner afterwards

lived (Horace Phelps). Joseph Tainter first lived on

the old road leading over the hill from Arthur How-
ell's to Andrew Bailey's, and twenty rods soutli of

where he afterwards lived. David and Daniel PIos-

kins lived in the west part of the town, near the house

of Nathan Allen. David Pinney lived about fifty

rods southeast of Ira Whiting's (premises now owned
by E. S. Preston) ; Aaron Simons where Samuel
Simons now lives (H. D. Smith). Pelatiah Mills

lived where Samuel Mills, Esq., afterwards lived

(Wesley Root), about one hundred rods north of

Samuel E. Mills. Andrew Buckingham lived oppo-

site Rufus Holmes', in the house owned and after-

wards occupied by John Rockwell ; Elijah Rockwell,

Esq., where his son Theron now lives.

The first person buried in the old burying-ground,

and, it is believed, the first that was buried in the

town, was Lydia Mason Wright, wife of Mr. John
Wright, who lived in the north part of Winchester,

where Samuel Rowley now lives (Rowley family).

Removals.—Gideon Norton removed to near Rut-

land, Vt. (he was the son of Benjamin Francis), and

Aaron Griswold and Nathaniel Burn, in 1784, to Johns-

town, N. Y. ; Jacob Ogden to Hartford (died in New
Haven) ; Daniel Hall to Black River in 1800 ; Wil-

liam Denison to Goshen ; Pelatiah Mills to Johns-

town, N. Y., in 1784; Stephen Russel to Neversink

about 1800.

The quantity of land in the town of Colebrook is

not very accurately known. It was estimated in the

original patent to contain eighteen thousand one hun-

dred and ninety-nine acres. Its leng'h from north to

south on the west tier, taking for a data the width of

the lots as originally laid, is five miles one hundred

rods, on the east tier four miles two hundred and sixty

rods, and the average would be five miles and ten

rods. Provided the tiers will hold out two hundred

and forty rods in width, the town would be six miles

and seventy rods east and west. The west line of the

town, and the tier lines, of course, which run parallel

with that line, when the town was laid out in 1760,

was called to run north nineteen degrees east. The
east line, adjoining Hartland, runs south twenty

degrees west, which would make the south line of the

town shorter than the north line. The east tier is

said to fall short in width mo.st at the south end. The
northern line, to which the lots were laid, was not the

colony line. It appears that the committee who laid

out the town did not know where the colony line

—

which was run in 1717 by commissioners from the two
colonies—ran. They made a line which ran east ten

degrees fifteen minutes south, which was called the

northern line of the town, to which the lots were laid.

Calling the town five miles by six, it would contain

thirty square miles, which, at six hundred and forty

acres per square mile, would make nineteen thousand

two hundred acres ; but, as the lots do not run square

but are diamonding, unless they were overlaid in

width on the tier line, they would fall considerably

short of the quantity of land as contained in the

original survey.

There are in the town the following roads, originally

turnpike roads : Waterbury River road, six miles

;

Greenwoods, or Hartford, road, two miles; Ilartland

turnpike, six miles; Farmington River road, four

miles; Still River road, three miles; Sandy Brook,

five miles, making in all twenty-six miles.

The traveling higliways in the town contain prob-

ably about 420 acres of land. The amount of the

assessment-list for 1829 was $17,100 ; a tax of five

cents, the usual highway tax, amounts to $855. The
tax for defraying town charges has for several years

been six cents on the dollar, amounting to $1026. From
this sum ought probably to be deducted, for abate-

ments, etc., .flOO, leaving $926, which, together with

the annual State tax of one cent on the dollar,—which

after the abatements amounts to $150,—will make
$1076, which will make the sum total of town. State,

and highway taxes $1931, besides society and school

expenses. The number of cows contained in the as-

sessment-list of 1829 is 981. Of these probably 60

were not milking cows, leaving 931 milch-cows. The
number of sheep was 8007 ; of horses, 160 ; oxen, 221

;

and 440 young cattle.

CHURCH CONTBOVEtlST.

The town was not organized as an ecclesiastical

society until 1786, at which time a tract of one mile

square, taken from Winchester, on which were sev-

eral inhabitants, was annexed to the society. Pre-

vious to this period all society business was trans-

acted in town-meetings. In September, 1780, the

town voted to apply to the County Court for a com-

mittee to set a stake for a meeting-house. Capt. Uriah

Holmes, of Hartland, Col. Seth Smith, of New Hart-

ford, and Giles Pettibone, Esq., of Norfork, composed

the committee. This committee, after viewing the

town, fixed on a place near the dwelling-house lately

owned by the Rev. Chauncey Lee, now owned ifnd oc-

cupied by Mr. Allen Seymour, which was established

by the court according to law. But when the ques-

tion of building was brought forward, the people be-

longing to the southern part of the town began to

manifest a considerable degree of dissatisfaction with

respect to the location, and a desire for another com-

mittee and another trial ; and as, after the plan, as

before stated, was legally established, it became neces-
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sary to apply to the General Assembly to get the

doings of the court set aside and a new committee ap-

pointed, the southern people were about to press

their petition to the Assembly for effecting this object,

when the northern people, to give them satisfaction

and maintain the peace of the society, agreed to join

in the application for another committee, which was

accordingly voted in town-meeting. This committee

were Daniel Humphrey, of Simsbury, Hezekiah

Fitch, of Salisbury, and John Watson, of Canaan.

This committee, after viewing the town and attending

to the representations of the people, set their stake

near the place where Calvin Sager's dwelling-house

now stands. Perceiving that the Mill Brook, so called,

was the Rubicon or parting-point which neither party

were willing to pass, it seemed to be their object to

set their stake as near as practicable to the line of de-

niarkation. The southern people were dissatisfied for

two reasons: first, because it was set north of the

brook ; second, because the ground was very unsuita-

ble for a meeting-house, several declaring they had

much rather go thirty rods farther north to the place

where the first stake was set than build on a place so

unfavorable. The northern people, though not pleased

with the ground, yet, as they had again obtained one

point considered important in having the stake set

north of the brook, made no objection to the place,

and a committee was appointed and preparations

made for building the house. As a considerable part

of the lands still belonged to non-resident proprietors,

and as the value of lands would be considerably in-

creased by building a meeting-house, it was considered

just and reasonable that the owners of lands should be

taxed to a greater amount than would fall to their

share by a tax raised on the list, in the usual mode of

taxing for other objects. Application was accordingly

made to the Legislature for a land-tax, to be applied

towards building the house, a privilege which had

been usually granted to new towns, and the grant of

sixpence on the one obtained.

The committee proceeded to prepare the foundation

and frame the house, when an opposition on the part

of the southern people was manifested, a meeting

called, and, after mucli altercation and mutual crimi-

nation, it was voted to postpone for the present raising

the house. The timber was piled, and .secured from

injury. The prospects at this time were gloomy; every

appearance seemed to indicate a people ruined by con-

tention, the termination of which seemed more remote

than ever. While tiicse dillicultics were prevailing,

sectarian teachers made inroads into the town and
gained proselytes, especially in tiie northern part, and
from this unhappy controversy may be dated the rise

of the Baptist society in the northern part of the

town. Things remained in this situation for a eonsid-

able time, when, the excitement having in some meas-

ure subsided, an<l the evils resulting from the present

state of the society become more and more realized,

some person, perhaps some one inclined to speculating

and hazardous enterprises, suggested a plan which soon

became a subject of general conversation, and, as the

people were heartily tired of the controversy, they

were prepared to listen to any expedient which ap-

peared calculated to terminate their difficulties. The
plan was this, and proposed in terms like the follow-

ing:

" We are none of us pleased with the place now established,—there are

handsome and convenient sites not far distant, both north and south,—and

we and our posterity shall forever regret a result so unwise as to build

the house on a place so unsuitable and improper when good places are so

near; therefore let us affix on two places, one north and the other south

of the brook, the line of separation, and cjist a fair lot to decide on which

of the two places the house shall be built, and then forever decide the

controversy."

Strange as it may seem, a project so novel met with

almost universal approbation, was adopted, and soon

carried into effect. The plans agreed on were, on the

north part, the place near where the first stake was set,

and on the south part, on the place were Mr. Martin

Rockwell's house now stands. The lot was drawn,

and fell in favor of the southern place, and measures

were immediately taken to remove the timber and

raise the house. This was accomplished, the house

covered and lighted, the floors laid, and apparent

tranquillity and acquiescence on the part of the north-

ern people appeared for a while to prevail. But it

was not long before it became ajiparent that the

wound, though in appearance healed, was still fester-

ing, and would .soon break out and become more alarm-

ing in its symptoms than ever. The northern people

refused to join in procuring preaching, or in any meas-

ure to build up the society, and, thi>ugh there was now
a meeting-house, nearly one-half of the people would

not enter the doors. Things continued in this situa-

tion for a considerable time, and the prospects of union

seemed as remote as ever. The northern people were

called on for the reiisons of their conduct, and for

what wouhl satisfy them. The lot they considered an

unfortunate thing, which, in their desire to have some-

thing done to remove the difficulties, they had inad-

vertently agreed to. The direction of two committees

was in their favor, and nothing hut chance against

them, and nothing less would satisfy them than the

removal of the house north of the lirook.

New actors were coming on to the stage; some of

the southern jjcople began to express their wishes that

the meeting-house was north of the brook, and some

were ready to join in efforts to remove it. The princi-

pal actors among the southern people, tired and worn

out with a fruitless controversy, seemed incline<l to

withdraw and let others manage the busine.'ts as they

pleased. A vote was obtained, in the spring or summer
of 1793, to remove the house north of the brook, the

expense to be dofmyed by tax on the society. Prepara-

tions were accordingly made to accomplish this ob-

ject. The plan a<l(>i)tc(l, after due consultation and

advice, was to remove the house, standing, during the

winter sea.son with oxen. Preparations were accord-

ingly made to perform this Quixotic enterprise, and
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in the month of February, 1794, the attempt was

made. About one hundred and filty pair of oxen

were collected, and after the necessary preparation

were fastened to the liouse, and it began to move ma-

jestically forward ; but, there being a small descent

soon to pass, it was found, contrary to the confident

expectations of Capt. Watson, the man employed to

direct and superintend the moving, that it would

move forward with rajjidity without being drawn, and

as, in order to proceed, the descent necessary to pass

was much greater, it was judged utterly impracticable

to proceed, and after two days' labor, the house having

been removed about thirty rods, the prcyect was for

the i)resent abandoned. In the autumn following

another attempt was made, at the expense of sub-

.scribers, to remove the house with vessel machinery,

—pulleys and ropes ; but after a trial this plan was also

found to be attended with insuperable difficulties.

Tired, worn out, and frustrated with these fruitless

projects, the actors in this business seemed disposed

to sit down and count the cost. The delusions of

party feeling and obstinacy seemed in a measure to

vanish, and sober reason and consideration to resume

their influence, and they were led to inquire whether

the object they were with so much perplexity and ex-

pense pursuing could be accomplished, and, provided

it could, whether the southern people generally would

unite with them in building up the society. Neither

of these questions could be affirmatively answered

with correctness. It was therefore, after due consulta-

tion, agreed to open a negotiation with the southern

people, in order to ett'ect a settlement of the contro-

versy. The overtures submitted were that the house

should be placed on the nearest suitable place to where

it then was, and the expense incurred in the attempt

to move defrayed by the society. A meeting was

called, the agreement consummated, and the house re-

moved to the place where it now stands, and then,

after an unhappy controversy of fourteen years, peace

and union were restored, and all seemed disposed to

join their effi:)rts and aid in building up the society.

Measures were immediately adopted to procure preach-

ing. Dr. Jonathan Edwards, who had been recently

dismissed from a parish in New Haven, was applied

to, and commenced preaching here about the 1st of

September, 1795. After he had been with the people

a while they unanimously gave him a call to settle,

and voted him a salary of one hundred pounds per

annum. He accepted the call, and was installed

Dec. 30, 1795. Previous to his settlement a fund was

raised by subscription sufficient to pay the salary for

three years. The ministerial lot of sixty acres

granted by the proprietors to the first orthodox min-

ister would by the terms of the grant have become

the property of Dr. Edwards, but he agreed to acquit

his right to said lot to the society, which was accord-

ingly done. In the year 1797 the society agreed to

sell this lot and lease the parsonage-lot of one hun-

dred acres on a long lease, the principal sum for which

said lands sold to be a perpetual fund towards the

payment of the yearly ministerial salary. These lots

were disposed of at auction. The parsonage-lot sold for

$15.57 per acre, amounting to $1553.57 ; the ministerial

lot for $12.21 per acre, amounting to $732.60 ; total,

$2286.17, the annual interest of which is $137.17.

The proprietors, at the time they ceded the undivided

land to the town, as previously stated, for the support

of schools, also ceded such part of the original ten-

rod highways as had not been previously exchanged

for roads to the town; and at a town-meeting held

Sept. 21, 1795, the town voted to sell such part of said

highways as should not be wanted to exchange for

roads then laid out, together with that part of the

parade-lot, so called, which was not wanted for a bury-

ing-place, and that the principal sum for which said

lands sold constitute a fund for the support of the

gospel ministry, the annual interest of which to be

divided annually to the several denominations accord-

ing to their respective lists. The amount for which

these lands sold was $1678, the annual interest of

which is $100.68. Of this sum the Congregational

society, on an average, draws about $54, which, added

to the avails of the public lands, as before stated,—viz.,

$137.17,—amounts to $191.17. In addition to this

amount, the society have $100 in the Phoenix Bank,

Hartford, which was a grant from the State to the

various religious societies for the support of the gos-

pel ; so that the permanent funds amount annually to

$197.17. For a more particular account of the eccle-

siastical society, church, etc., reference may be had to

the society and church records.

During the unhappy and protracted controversy re-

specting the location of the meeting-house, a consider-

able number of the people, principally in the north-

ern and eastern sections of the town, embraced the

Baptist persuasion. When they first began to hold

meetings, one Mr. Dunlap, who then resided in Mas-

sachusetts, contiguous to Colebrook, was their preacher,

other elders of that denomination occasionally sup-

plying them, and in 1795 Elder Rufus Babcock was

ordained their pastor, his church and congregation

being composed of people in Colebrook, Norfolk, and

Sandisfleld, making a respectable congregation. Soon

after Mr. Babcock's settlement a meeting-house was

built. In 1828, Mr. Babcock, having arrived to the

age of seventy years, resigned his pastoral office, and

was succeeded by Elder Thomas Larkum.

ECCLESIASTICAL HISTORY.

CONGREGATIONAL CHURCH.

Colebrook, the last settled town in the State of

Connecticut, was surveyed and laid out by the seventy-

nine original proprietors, inhabitants of the town of

Windsor, Conn., in 1760; and the first permanent

settlements were made in 1765 and 1766.

Sixty acres were reserved and laid out as a minis-

terial lot, to be the property of the first orthodox

minister settled or ordained in the town; and one
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hundred acres as a parsonage for the use of the min-

istry. The first minister, Rev. Dr. Edwards, relin-

quished his right in the sixty acres, and this with the

hundred acres were sold for two thousand two hun-

dred and eighty-six dollars ; this sum to constitute a

perpetual fund, the annual interest to be applied

towards the payment of the yearly ministerial salary.

This fund has been increased by the avails of other

lands, granted by the town to the several denomina-

tions, according to their respective lists. Also by the

grant of one hundred dollars from the State to the

various religious societies, for the support of the

gospel. In addition to this, gifts and bequests have

been received from Mr. Luman Barber, Mrs. Lucretia

Hotchkiss, and Mrs. Lucia B. Mitchell, amounting to

two hundred and ninety dollars.

The first ecclesiastical society was organized in

1786. Previous to this the society business had been

transacted in town-meeting. In 1780 the town voted

to apply to the County Court for a committee to set a

stake for a meeting-house. The location designated

was not satisfactory, and after repeated attemjits to

effect a compromise, it was not until 1794 that it

found a permanent resting-place and was dedicated

to the worship of God. It was placed on the ground

where Reuben Rockwell's house now stands, and re-

mained there until 1842, when the church building

now occupied was erected.

The Congregational Church was organized in 1795,

with the following members: Daniel and Elizabeth

Alcox, Anna Rockwell Bass, Ejiaphras and Margaret

Bidwell, Samuel and Wealthy Allen, John Burr,

Isaac and Elizabeth Currier, Margaret Chamberlain,

Margaret Eno, Hannah Mather, Elijah Rockwell,

Lucy Wright Rockwell, Hepzibah Pratt Rockwell,

Nathan and Elizabeth Russell, Roger Stillman, Me-
hitabel Hurd Stillman, and Moses and Thankful

Norton Wright.

The following were received in 1798: Huldali Filly,

Hepzibah Merrill, Jemima Seymour, and Mrs. Suraii

Wakefield.

In 1799 the following were admitted: Lucy Ilart,

Roger Mather, Mary Mather, Sanuiel Mills, Kezia

(Filly) Mills, Ebenezer North, Jerusha (Cowle.-*)

North, Abijali Northaway, Olive (Cowles) Nortliu-

way, Hezckiali Owen, Mrs. Ilczekiah Owen, Elijah

Pettibone, Mrs. Elijah Pettibone, Reuben Rockwell,

Alpha Rockwell, Lucy Rockwell, Jr., Martin Rock-
well, Mary (Burrell) Rockwell, Bet-sey Russell, Elisha

Sage, Mrs. Elizabeth (Chamberlain) Sage, Bildad

Seymour, Truman Seymour, Mehitabel (ChamlxT-

lain) Seymour, Api)leton Stillman, Sarah (Chappel)

Stillmau, Clarissa Stillman, Amos Tolles, Mrs. Amos
Tolles, Susan Tuttle, Chloe Alcox, Polly Norton,

Noah Merrill, Abigail Phillips, Elizjibeth Phelps,

Polly Taylor, Abigail (Stanton) Lee.

Many of the early settlers of the town had been
traiiu!il under the ministry of Rev. Timothy Eilwards,

and his grandson, Rev. Jonathan Edwards, was in-

stalled as their first pastor in December, 1795. He
remained until 1799, when he was dismissed to become

president of Union College.

He was succeeded by Rev. Chauncey Lee, a native

of Salisbury, Conn. The first twenty-eight years of

the jiresent century, the period of Dr. Lee's ministry,

was probably the most prosperous in the history of

the town. There were large families of the Puritan

stock, and many accessions to the church. One hun-

dred and five was the result of a powerful religious

revival which occurred in 1815. Dr. Lee was dis-

missed in 1828, and became pastor of the church in

Marlborough, Conn. He spent the last years of his

life with his daughter, in Guilford, N. Y.

Rev. Azariah Clark was installed in 1830. He was

a native of Southampton, Mass., and had been pastor

of a church in Canaan, N. Y. His ministry in Cole-

brook was terminated by his death in October, 1832.

In March, 1833, Rev. Edward R. Tyler assumed the

pastoral care of the church. He was dismissed in

1836 to engage in the anti-slavery cause, in which he

labored earnestly for several years ; after which he

removed to New Haven, Conn., and became editor of

the New Engldiider. He died not far from 1850.

Rev.^Alfred E. Ives, of New Haven, was installed

in 1838. He remained ten years, was dismissed in

1848, and has since that time been pastor in Deerfield,

Ma.ss., and Castine, Me.

Rev. Archibald Geikie was engaged in 1854, and,

though not installed, performed all the duties de-

volving upon a pastor. He was a native of Edin-

burgh, Scotland, and settled in Toronto, Canada,

before his engagement in Colebrook. He left in 1863,

and was for a time in East Granville, Mass. He died

in 1869, at the home of his daughter, in Canaan,

Conn.

Rev. Henry A. Russell became stated supply in

1868, and renuiined until May 1, 1877, when he re-

moved to Mooers, N. Y.

Rev. Ira Pettibone, of Winchester, supplied the

pulpit the remainder of the year 1877.

Rev. Joseph B. Clarke, of New Haven, became

acting pitstor in June, 1878.

The |iresent pa.stor, Rev. J. W. Hartshorn, was

installed in June, 1880.

The list of officers is as follows

:

Pos/or*.—Jonathan Edwards, D.D., Dec. 30, 1795, to

Jan. 11, 1799; Chauncey Lee, D.D., Feb. 12, 1800, to

Jan. 20, 1828; Azariah Clark, March 10, 1830 (died

Oct. 16, 18;i2) ; Edward R. Tyler, March 16, 1833. to

January, 1836; Alfred E. Ives, Sept. 26, 1838, to May
2, 1848.

Acting I'<u(oirt, not iiulalled.—Archibald Geikie,

July, 1854, to 1863; Henry A. Rus-sell, 18»i8 to 1877;

Joseph B. Clarke, June, 1878 ; .f. W. Hartshorn, June,

1880, present piLstor.

/)eaco;M.—Moses Wright, 179(5-1811 ; Epaphras Bid-

well, 17W-1801 ; .Samuel Cowles, 1801-11 ; Reuben

Rockwell, 1811-30; Daniel Stillman, 1811-30; Wil-
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Ham Swift, 1830-45; Elijah Grant, 1830-62; Chester

Stilhnan, 1845-62; Munson Cole, 1862-69; William

F. Grant, 1862-68; George M. Carrington, 1867-69;

James M. Grant, 1868; Lorin A. Cook, 1869-73;

Eugene H. Barber, 1873 ; of the branch church at

Colebrook River (now extinct), A. Chamberlain, 1834

-57.

A Baptist Ciiurch was organized in the southeast

part of the town by persons of hi^t denomination

residing in Colebrook, Barkhamsted', and Winchester,

about 1805, and a meeting-house buiife about the same

year.

Elder Erastus Doty, who resided in the neighbor-

hood, was pastor for a long time. A new church was

built about 1844, and in 1848 the church reorganized

under the name of the South Colebrook Baptist

Church.

The following pastors have been settled: Elders A.

D. Waters, 1848; Solomon Gale, 1852; J. M. Mace,

1857 ; Edwin Bromley, 1861 ; George D. Letton, 1866;

Wallace Crocker, 1874; R. H. Maine, 1875; AVilliam

Goodwin, 1879, present pastor.

The deacons have been Daniel Doming, 1848-74;

Allen Barnes, 1848-61; Joseph H. Bass, 1861-81;

Giles M. Latuon, 1874-81.

THE NORTH COLEBROOK BAPTIST CHURCH.

The North Colebrook Baptist Church was organized

Feb, 12, 1795. Elder Rufus Babcock was ordained at

that time. The house of worship was built about

1800, near the cemetery. The present house was

built in 1845.

The following pastors have been settled over the

church : Elders Rufus Babcock, Thomas Larcomb,

Josiah M, Graves, McCarthy, Doolittle,

Hawley, father of Gen. Joseph R. Hawley,

Zalmon Tobey, • Miller, Wheeler, Dorin

AVright, J. F. Temple, T. P. Briggs, Thomas Bene-

dict, William Goodwin, D. F. Beebe, R. H. Maine,

Rufus Babcock, D.D., William Goodwin, present

pastor.

The deacons have been Ellrazer Bidwell,

Richards, Abel Bunnell, Joseph Taintor, Philo Haw-
ley, Lumau Bidwell, Homer Gleason, Amasa Camp-

bell, Jason F. Hitchcock.

METHODIST CHURCH, COLEBROOK CENTRE.

The Methodist Church at Colebrook River was

organized about 1834, and has been supplied with

preachers by the Methodist Conference. Previous to

the organization of the Methodist Church there had

been a branch of the Congregational Church estab-

lished, and preaching four Sabbaths each year was

fiirnished by the church at Colebrook. A meeting-

house was built about 1810 by Congregationalists,

Baptists, and Methodists, and called the Union Meet-

ing-House, and occupied by each as they supplied

preaching. The Methodists built a church about

1833, and have a flourishing society at the present

time.

NATIVES OF COLEBROOK WHO HAVE BEEN EDUCATED AT
COLLEGES.

Cynia Babcock graduated at Brown University, Rhode Island; studied

for the ministry ; died soon after bein^; prepared to preach.

Rufus Babcock, D.D., graduated at Brown University; studied for the

ministry; president of a Baptist college in Rliode Island, and alao of

an institution at Puughkeepsie, N. Y.

Chauncey G. Lee giaduated at Middlebury College, Vermont; preached

several years in Vermont and Connecticut; died at New Haven a

few years since.

John Juson Owen graduated at Middlebury, Vt. ; studied theology at

Andover, Mass.; was appointed secretjiry of the Presbyterian Edu-
cation Society, which office he resigned to take the presidency of

the Cornelius Institute, in New York City, designed to prepare

young men for the ministry. He acquired the title of D.D. from the

University of the City of New York.

Selah B. Treat gi aduated at Yale College, class of 1824; studied for the

ministry: was elected to succeed the Rev. Dr. Anderson as secretary

of the American Board of Foreign Missions, which office he filled

with singular efficiency till his death, in 1877.

James Wiitaun Robbins graduated at Yale, chi-^e of 1822, and from the

Medical Department in 1828; located at Uxbridge, Mass. He was

an expert in botany, and contributed valuable papers to science;

died at UxUridge in 1879.

Samuel Rockwell graduated at Yale, class of 1825; studied theology at

New Haven; settled at Plaintield, Conn., afterwards at New Britain;

retired from the ministry; was elected to the State Senate, and to

the Legislature seveial terms.

Henry Cowles graduated at Yale, class of 1826 : studied theology at New
Haven; settled in Austinburg, Ohio, in 1828; \va^ appointed Pro-

fessor of Greek and Latin at Oberlin College, Ohio, in 18:i5, and of

Biblical Literature iu 1840; editor of the Oherlin Eravjelisl several

years, and published a series of commentaries on the Prophets and

other books of the Bible, and still lives at Oberlin, pi eparing other

commentaries.

John Phelps Cowles graduated at Yale, class of 182G ; was the valedic-

torian of his class; studied theology at New Haven; settled at

Princeton, Mass. ; appointed Professor of Biblical Literature at Ober-

lin College in 18:36, and in 1841 accepted the principalghip of the

Ladies' Seminary at Ipswich, Mass.

Julius Rockwell graduated at Yale, class of 1826; studied law at New
Haven, and established himself at Pittsfield, Mass.; was elected

Speaker of the House of Representatives of Massachusetts in 1834;

elected to Congress six successive terms; appointed United States

senator to succeed Edward Everett, and is now judge of the Superior

Court of Massachusetts.

Charles Rockwell graduated at Yale, class of 1826; studied theology at

Andover, Mass.; was appointed chaplain on the United States frigate
.

"Potomac"; afterwards was settled at Cliathani, Mass., where he

now resides.

Elijah Phelps Grant graduated at Yale, class of 1830 ; studied law at New
Haven; began practice at Winsted, Conn.; afterwards removed to

Canton, Ohio; died in 1874.

James Cowles graduated at Yale, class of 1837; chose the profession of

teaching, and has been a successful teacher, and baa taught his

pupils to have ideas of their own and do their own thinking.

Joel Grant graduated at Yale, class of 1838; was appointed professor of

a cla.ss of midshipmen on board a government ship on a cruise to

Rio Janeiro ; afterwards studied theology at New Haven ; was settled

at Lockport, 111. He served as chaplain of an Illinois regiment in

the war of the Rebellion ; was appointed superintendent of colored

schools for the State of Arkansas; died in 1873.

William H. Gilbert graduated at Yale, class of 1841 ; studied theology at

New Haven; was settled in Vermont; afterwards in Granby, Conn.;

and subsequently appointed secretary of the Connecticut Bible So-

ciety, which position he holds at the present time.

John Grant graduated at Yale, class of 1845 ; was tutor at Yale, and after-

wards teacher of a private school in New York City, which was quite

successful ; died in 1878, and buried at Colebrook.

Edward Currington graduated at Yale, class of 1859 ; studied law in New
York City; enlisted in the army in 1862; was appointed major, and

served in Virginia ; was ordered to Texas, where he took the colonelcy

of a colored regiment, and was killed, March, 1865, and was brought

to Colebrook for interment.

Alfred Ives graduated at Amherst College, and is now superintendent of

public schools in Brooklyn, N. Y.
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Joel S. Tves graduated at Amherst College; Btudied theology, and is now
settled at East Hanipton, Conn.

Carriugton rhelps graduated at Yale, cla'^s of 1870; studied law at New
Haven Law-School ; commenced practice at Madison, Wis., and is

now located at St. Paul, Minn.

Besides the above-mentioned graduates, several others have taken a

part of the academical studies at college

:

Frederick A. Blown.

George Tuttle, lawyer at Warren, Ohio; judge of Circuit Court.

Valentine Chaniherlain, lawyer, New Britain,Conn.; judge of City Court.

Eufus B. i^mitli, lawyer, Madison, Wis.

Volney M. Simons, Methodist preacher, located at Woburn, Mass.

Henry G. Rockwell, secretary Fish Commission, Washington, D. C.

William T. Smith, teacher.

Lorenzo M. Whiting, M.D., located at Canton, Ohio.

KEPKESENTATIVES FROM 1796 TO 1881.

1796.—Elijah Rockwell, Samuel Mills.

17'.l7.—Elijah Rockwell, David Pinney.

1798.—Elijah Rockwell, David Pinney, Samuel Mills.

1799.—Elijali Rockwell, Samuel Mills, Reuben Rockwell.

18(iU.—Arab Phelps, Grove Pinney, Samuel Mills'.

1801.—Grove Pinney, Elijah Rockwell, Arab Phelps.

1802.—Grove Pinney, Arab Phelps, Isiiac Benedict.

1803.—Grove Pinney, Elijah Rockwell, Arab Phelps, Eleazer Bidwell.

1804.—Grove Pinney, Edmond Howell, Arab Phelps, Elijah Rockwell.

1805.—Asa bishop, Ahijah Rockwell, Samuel Mills, Samuel Blakesley.

1806.—Moses Wi ight, Jr., Samuel Blakesley, Elijah Rockwell, Reuben
Rockwell.

1807.—Grove Pinnoy, Asa Plielps, Enos North.

1808.—Asaph Pinney, Enos North, Nathan Bass, Martin Rockwell.

1809.—Nathan Bass, Marlin Rockwell, Samuel Mills, Setli Marshall.
' 1810.—Elijah Rockwell, Seth Marshall, Reuben Rockwell.

1811.—Asaph Pinney, John Whiting, Reuben Rockwell, Seth Mai-shall.

1812.—Reuben Rockwell, Seth Marshall, Martin Rockwell, Frederick
Brown.

18i:).—Slarlin R<ickwell, Samuel Mills, Nathan Bass, Seth Marshall.

1814.—Nathan Bass, Elijah Bockwell, Martin Rockwell, Frederick
Bi'own.

1815.—Roger Stiltnian, Reuben Rockwell, Nathan Bass.

1810.—Seth Maishall, Nathan Bass, Martin Rockwell.

1817.—Grove Pinney, Lancelot Phelps.

1818.—Asaph Pinney, Rufus North, Timothy Babcock.

1819.—Lancelot Phelps, Enos North.

1820.—Lancelot Phelps, Samuel Whitford.

1821.—Lancelot Phelps, Henry Bass.

1822.—Tinicilliy Babcock, Arah Phelps.

182.S.—Tin.mas Cuncklin, Asaph Pinney.

1824.—Enos N..rlli, Lancelot Phelps.

1H2S.—Nathan Ilaw, Arab Plielps.

1820—Arthur llowcll, Rufus North.

1827.-Arthur Howell, Lancelot Piiellw.

1828.—Samuel Wliilford, Lancelot Phelps.

1829.—(Samuel Wbitlurd, Arthur Howell.

1830.—Lancelot Phelps, Enos North.

1831.—Sylvester Smith, Abiram Chamberlain,

18:i2.—Sylvester Sinitli, Ailliur Howell.

18.13.—Loren Percival, Arthur Howell.

1834.—Loron Percival, Samuel Whitford.

1836.—Arthur Howell, Charles P. Pbelpa.

1836.—Samuel Simons, Jr., Gilbert Ha.\ler.

1837.—Samuel Simons, Jr., Dorrance Itarber.

1838.—John Manchester, Tberon UockwoM.
1839.—Arthur Howell, Clark H. Roberts.

1840.—Edward A. Phelps, Clark H. Roberts.

1S41.—Edward A. Plielps, William Manchester,
1842.—Dorrance Barber, William Maiichoster.

1843.—Dorrance Barber, Milton Smith.

1844.— Kupcll Frisble, Milton Smith.

1840.—Rupell Frisble, Erastus Doty, Jr.

1846.—Enos North, Erastus Doty, Jr.

lM47.^Jamea Cobb, Huiitiiigtoti Persons.

1848.—Job Spencer, L. B. Ik-nham.

1849.—George Austin, Rufus Seymour.
1850.—L. L. Lovehind, D. E. Manchester.

1861.—E. A. Phelps, H. W. Pinaey.

1852.—Henry L. Lincoln, Silas Ives.

1853.—T. R. Wolcott, Milton Smith.

1854.—John Spencer, D. C. Y. Moore.

1855.—Richard Slocum, Ralzemon Phelps.

1866.—Milton Smith, Loren A. Cook. f

1857.—Reuben Rockwell, Joseph H. Bass.

1858.—Oliver P. Loomis, Horace Skinner.

1859.—Wolcott Deming, Timothy Persons.

1860.-H. S. Sawyer, Lewis M. Terrell.

1861.—Sterling C. Newton, Harvey Deming.

1862.- Alanson D. Bunnell, 0. J. Hodge.

1863.—Albert Kelsey, George S. Ives.

1864.-H. S. Hamilton, P. Corbiu.

1865.—Asa White, Clement Thompson.

1866.—W. S. Bunnell, Hiram Baldwin.

1867.—Reuben Scovel, Harvey Deming.

1808.-Henry S. Sawyer, William M. Yale.

1809.—W. G. Kinney, John S. Wheeler.

1870.—Solomon Sackett, John P. Norton.

1871.—Levi Cooke, S. G. Hitchcock.

1872.—Lucicn 0. Bass, Giles M. Lawton.

1873.—Timothy Persons, Hiram Sage.

1874.—Timothy Persons, llirain Sage.

1875.—Harvey L. Coy, Flavell J. Bushnell.

1876.—Leonard D. Beliham, Henry Terrell.

1877.—Timothy Hart, James McCaffrey.

1878.—William G. Kinney, Uiiiitt Roberts.

1879.—John S. Wheeler, Alanson Mead.

1880.—Boswell B. Brooks, John A. Moore.

1881.-William N. Viiiiug, Edwin T. Grifliu.

MILITARY RECORD.*

Samuel E. Gibbs, Co. B, 2d Rrgt; onl. May 7, I8C1; dlsch. Aug. 7, 1801.

Joseph W. Donnelly, Co. A, l8t Cav. ; enl. Doc. 16, 1804; must, out Aug.

2, 1806.

Edgar C. Lewis, Co. A, Ist Cav.; enl. Dec. 10, 1804 ; must, out June 13,

1805.

S. Till, Co. A, 1st Cav.; enl. Dec. 10, 1864.

John Kline, (ij. C, 1st llogl.; enl. Dec. 8, 1864.

Charles Johnson, Co. K, 1st Cav. ; enl. Dec. 0, 1864 ; discb. Aug. 2, 186S.

Henry Haiuijtuu, Co. M, 1st Cuv.; enl. Dec. 8, 1804; dlsch. Aug. 2, 186S.

James Kinney, 1st Cav. ; enl. Dec. 14, 1804.

John W. Wing. I»t Cav. ; enl. Dec. 9, 1884.

J. L. Ingiahuni, Ist Art.; eul. Dec. 7, 1803; must out April 21, 1S6S.

F. Smith, Ist Art.; eul. Aug. 17, 1864; dlsch. Sept 26, 1806.

B. B. Beach, 1st Art. ; enl. April 12, 1862 ; must, out Feb. 4, 1864.

H. Britau, 6lh Itogt.

William UolTmnu, 5tli Regt.

U. McAdUln,6lh llo):!.; enl. July 22, 1861; dlach. Julj 22, 18M.
H. M. Uibbe, olli Kegl.; rnl. July 22. I8C1 ; ditch. July 19, I86S.

William Kerr, &lh Regt; enl. July 22, 1801.

£. Lalignn, 6th Regt. ; enl. July 22, l.^61.

Charles Merclieau, 6th Rogl.; enl. July 22, 1804.

Edward Illggins, 7th Regt.; onl. Nov. 11,1863; must out July 20, 1866.

C. Dewey, 7lh Regt ; enl. Sept. 7, 1801 ; must out July 20, 1806.

Thomiui Dobbyn, 7tli Regt; eul. Sept 7, I8GI ; discli. Sept 12, 1804.

8. Simons, 7lh Kegt ; enl. Sept. 7, 1»6I ; dlsch. Sept 12, 1804.

M. E. Turrill, 7th Regt; onl. Sept 7, 1801 ; discb. Sept 12, 1864.

Oeurgo Williams, 7th Regt ; eul. Sept 7, 1801 ; dlsch. July '20, 1866.

John E. Gllloll, enl. Feb. 23, 1801; dlsch. Dec. 8, 1804.

David Allen.

R. S. Cnilg, 7tli Kegt ; enl. Not. 10, 1863 ; trans, to navy.

C. B. Taylor, 7lh Regt. ; enl. Nov. 0, 1803 ; ttans. to navy.

Joseph Vogt 7tl> Kegt; eul. Nov. II, 180:1; dbich. July 20, 1866.

A. CullocI, 7lh Regt ; enl. Nov. 0, 1803 ; must out July 20, 1866.

P. Hypiiulite, 7th Kegt ; enl. Nov. 6, 1803; trans, to nary.

P. Larrire, 7tb Kegt ; enl. Nov. 9, 1863.

J. Pliiyretese, 7tb Kegt ; enl Nov. 6, 1803.

L. L. Parker, llth Regt; eul. June 23, 1862; died Nov. 12, 1802.

George Wearer, I3lh Regt.; enl. Dec. 7, 1864; dlsch. April 86, 1864.

Benjamin Bradley, I3lh Regt ; enl. Dec. 22, 1861.

H. Cary, 13th Kegt; enl. Feb. 1, 1802; diecb. April 26, 1866.

£. J. Uldwell, Co. C, 8tli Kegt; eul. Sept 26, 1-61; muit out Dec. 12,

184A.

* Vor list of lOtb Regiment, r0« Chapter T.
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John T. Bidwell, Co. C, 8th Regt. ; enl. Sept. 25, 1861 ; (lisch. June 2,

18G2.

John Gaunier.

O. M. Mitchell, Co. C, 8th Kegt.; enl. Oct. 5, 1861 ; disch. Jan. 14, 1862.

G. H. Mitchell, Co. C, 8th Regt. ; enl. Oct. 6, 1861 ; disch. June 2, 1862.

J. Parker, Slth Re^it.; enl. Dec. 16, 1864.

A.J. Balcoin, lull Regt.; enl. Teb. 24, 1864; died 1864; prisoner.

M. Roach, 11th Regt. ; enl. Nov. 28, 1864 ; disch. Dec. 21, 1865.

R. E. Corper, lltli Regt. ; enl. Nov. 26, 1801 , disch. Dec. .31, 1864.

J. Gloster, 11th Regt. ; eul. Dec. 4, 1861 ; disch. Feb. 28, 1863.

J. North, 11th Regt.; enl. Nov. 27, 1861 ; disch. July 2, 1862.

H. A. Smith, 2Sth Regt. ; eul. Aug. 25, 1862 ; disch. Aug. 2S, 1863.

Leman Pease, i;8th Regt. ; enl. Sept. 8, 1862 ; disch. Aug. 28, 1863.

J. E. Ormsbee, 28th Regt. ; enl. Sept. Ill, 1862 ; died Aug. 10, 1863.

H. L. Allen, 28th Regt. ; enl. Aug. 25, 1862 ; disch. Aug. 28, 1863.

Joseph Brown, 20th Regt. ; enl. Dec. 14, 1864 ; disch. Jul.v 10, 1866.

H. L. Allen, 28th Regt.; enl. Aug. 26, 1862; discli. Aug. 28, 1863.

A. Bote, 28tli Regt. ; enl. Nov. 14. 1802.

G. W. Cook, 28lh Regt.; enl. Aug. 26, 1802; died June 24, 1863.

0. S. Canfleld, 28th Regt. ; enl. Nov. 14, 1862 ; discli. Aug. 28, 1863.

T. D. Lincoln, 28tli Regt.; enl. Sept. 9, 1862; disch. Aug. 28, 1863.

E. Terrill, 28tli Regt. ; enl. Aug. 26, 1802.

M. O'Connor, 28th Regt.; enl. Nov. 14,1862; disch. Nov. 26, 1803.

W. A. Armuu, 20th Regt.; enl. Dec. 7, 1802 : died July 26, 1864.

E. Hicko.x, 29tli Regt.; enl. Dec. 7, 1863; killed Oct. 27, 1804.

S. Hickox, 29th Regt. ; enl. Dec. 7, 1863 ; died May 13, 1864.

C. St. John, 29th Regt. ; enl. Dec. 16, 1863 ; died Nov. 3, 1864.

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES.

GEN. EDWARD A. PHELPS.

Gen. Edward A. Phelps, only son of Avah Phelps,

a soldier in the Revolutionary war, was born in the

town of Colebrook, Litchfield Co., Conn., March 26,

1808. His father was a native of Harwinton, Conn.,

and settled in Colebrook at an early day. (See his-

tory of Colebrook, by E. Rockwell.) Avah Phelps

married Welthan, daughter of Samuel Mills, of Cole-

brook, and to them were born one sou and eight

daughters, all of whom are now (1881) dead except

their son, Edward A., and Catharine, wife of Dr.

William Carrington (deceased), of Colebrook. Mr.

Phelps was a large and successful farmer. In politics

he was a Democrat, and as such was a leading man

in his town, and held various town offices, among

others that of member of the State Legislature. He
was a captain of the State militia for several years.

He died in 1844, aged eighty-four years.

Gen. E. A. Phelps received a common-school edu-

cation, supplemented by four years of hard study at

Capt. Alden Partridge's military academy, at Middle-

town, Conn. Immediately after his graduation at

Capt. Partridge's academy, he spent the following

winter at Litchfield, Conn., studying law under the

well-known eminent judge and lawyer. Judge Gould.

In the spring of 1830, being an only son, he returned

to his native town and took charge of the "old farm"

of some five hundred acres, which is considered the

best in the town, and one of the best in the county.

Gen. Phelps has been the leading farmer of the town

for more than fifty years. His buildings are sub-

stantial, a view of which can be seen elsewhere in

this work.

Like his honored father, he is a Democrat. He has

held all the offices in the town to the general satisfac-

tion of his constituents. He was a member of the

State Legislature in 1841, again in 1851. In 1853 he

was a bank commissioner. For several years he was

a director in the Hurlbut National Bank of Winsted.

He has often been a delegate to county. State, and

national conventions. In his younger days he took

a deep interest in military affairs, and held the various

positions from ensign of a company to brigadier-

general of the Sixth Connecticut Brigade, several

times refusing to be promoted above his superiors.

He has been twice married, first to Elizabeth S.,

daughter of Henry Carrington, by whom he had three

children, viz., (1) Elizabeth, died young; (2) Edward

A., Jr., a successful wholesale grocer in New York

City; and (3) Carrington, a lawyer by profession, and

a farmer by choice, in Morris, Stephens Co., Minn.

His second wife was Charlotte G., daughter of

John Swasey or Sueaswey, and sister of Capt. Par-

tridge's wife. They were married at Capt. Alden

Partridge's, Feb. 6, 1851. She is a member of the

Baptist Church, and he is a regular attendant and

very liberal supporter of the same.

REUBEN ROCKWELL.

Reuben Rockwell was born at Colebrook in August,

1818, and has always resided in the town; was elected

to the Legislature in 1857, and to the State Senate in

1858; was appointed by President Lincoln, in 1862,

assessor of internal revenue for the Fourth District

of Connecticut.

TIMOTHY PERSONS.

Timothy Persons, youngest son of Elihu Persons,

was born in Sandisfield, Mass., Dec. 8, 1820. He re-

mained in his native town until April 9, 1849, when

he removed to Colebrook, where he has since resided.

He has always been an active business man, and until

within a few years has carried on the business of tan-

ning. Mr. Persons has been selected by his townsmen

for various positions of trust and responsibility, and

he justly merits the high esteem in which he is held

by all. He represented his town in the Legislature

in 1859 and 1873, and again in 1874; has also been a

selectman, and is a present justice of the peace, hav-

ing been elected in 1876. On Sept. 10, 1851, he mar-

ried Calista Baxter, of Colebrook, and had two chil-

dren,—Dwight B., born May 9, 1853, and Jane C,

born Dec. 2, I860,—both deceased. Mr. Gilbert Bax-

ter, father of Mrs. Persons, was an active man in the

town ; he held various town offices, and was a member

of the Legislature in 1836. He died April 12, 1876,

aged eighty-four years. Mrs. Baxter is still living at

the advanced age of eighty-three.
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JOHN S. WHEELER.

John S. Wheeler, youngest son of Philander

Wheeler, Esq., was born in Salisbury, March 5, 1830.

His father practiced law at the Litchfield County bar

for a period of thirty years or thereabouts, when he

abandoned this profession to give his attention to

mercantile pursuits, landed interests, and other busi-

ness operations. John S. was educated in the com-
mon and more advanced schools of his native town,

and subsequently enjoyed the benefit, for a term of

years, of private instructions from Rev. Jonathan Lee,

of Salisbury, since deceased, and still later, for a more
brief period, from Rev. George H. Nicholls, then of

Salisbury, now of Hoosic Falls, N. Y. He had two
brothers,—Daniel P., who now resides in the village

of Washington Hollow, Dutchess County, N. Y., and
Benjamin H., who died in Salisbury in April, 1858.

He has two sisters,—Sally A., now residing in Salis-

bury, and Irene J., widow of Ensign Church, Esq.,

late of North Canaan, whose home is in New York
City, hut who spends most of her time in foreign and
domestic travel. His mother died when he was about

two years old. A second marriage on the part of his

father secured to him one of the best of step-mothers,

and the faithful, gentle, and affectionate ministra-

tions of his eldest sister in his extreme youth are the

basis of a debt of gratitude to her which he can never

repay. He took sole charge of Iiis father's store in

Salisbury in 1845, and remained in this position till

the spring of 1850, when he removed to Cornwall
Bridge, to care for and manage certain property
owned by his father in and near that village, and, in

connection with otiier affairs, he opened a store,

which was conducted, in tlie name and style of " P.

Wheeler & Son," during a term of nearly six years.

His father's death occuring in December, 1855, he
was associated one year with his brother, Benjamin
H., in closing the estate, and in October, 1857, he
located in Colebrook, where he now resides. His
business in this latter location has been that of gen-
eral merchandising, at the stand long known as " the
Alpha Sage place," situated midway between the
villages of Colebrook Centre and North Colebrook.
He continued in tliis occupation till 1875, when poor
health forced him to withdraw. A murderous a.s.sault,

made on him one October evening in 18(;9 by a South-
ern negro for purposes of robbery, and from which
Mr. Wheeler barely escaped with life, was a severe
shock to a naturally frail organization, and no doubt
contributed materially, in its ultimate results, to bring
about a .serious and long-continued attack of nervous
prostration, the severity of which could only be miti-

gated by absolute quiet and rest. Happily, he is now
in much improved health, and antici^)atcs, with no
small degree of satisfaction, a renewed lease of
strength, which may be devoted, at a day not far dis-

tant, to the prosecution of some pleasant, fairly re-

munerative, and enjoyable business avocation. Mr.
Wheeler never seeks official station, A man of a fair

19

measure of intelligence and ability, he has received

from the good people of his adopted town repeated ex-

pressions of confidence and good-will, always without

solicitation on his part, and he has endeavored to dis-

charge the trusts confided to him conscientiously.

He represented Colebrook in the Legislature in the

year 1869, and again in 1879. He is now serving as

town treasurer for his seventh year, and as town clerk

for his fifth year. He holds other minor otfices, and
served for a long term of years as a justice of the

peace, till he peremptorily declined to serve in this

capacity longer. As town clerk and town treasurer

he is the successor of Hon. Reuben Rockwell, a gen-

tleman of opposite political affiliations, a very su-

perior man, and an exceptionally good officer. This

result Mr. Wheeler does not ascribe to his personal

popularity, nor to any special merit of his own, but

rather to changes in the relative strength of the politi-

cal parties in the town,—changes which he acknowl-
edges he has helped to foster and promote, in his

feehle way, as best he could. Once freed from the cares

belonging to this town, he will try to find what virtue

there may be in otium cum dignitate. In politics he
is a Democrat without alloy. When electoral commis-
sions are under consideration, he is a firm believer in

the gospel of " glorious old Hill Eaton." He condemns
unsi)aringly the GRE.iT Fratd of 1876, and the un-
warrantable, inexcusable defections and disaffections

among Democrats in the State of New York which
culminated in the defeat of Gen. Hancock in 1880;

but, possessing a buoyant, elastic temperament, he
looks forward to coming years and con\ing general

elections, and remembers that "truth crushed to earth

will rise again."

Mr. Wheeler married. May 5, 1855, Elizabeth,

daughter of Philo Kellogg, I':sq., of Cornwall. They
have no children.

ASAPH 0. I'INNEY.

Humphrey Pinney, born in Somerset County, Eng-
land, came to America with Rev. John Wareham,
on board the ship "Mary and John," which sailed

from Plymouth, England, March ."iO, 1630, and set-

tled in Dorchester, Mass. His son, Asaph Pinney,

was born in Simsbury, Conn., and married Betty

Willcocks; they ha<l four children,— Eliza, Emma,
Asaph O., and Harvey W. He was a farmer and
school-teacher.

Asaph O. Pinney, the subject of this sketch, was
born in Colebrook, Conn., March 9, 1805. He re-

I
ccived a common-school education. On May 17,

1840, he married Elizabeth M. Phelps; taught school

a number of years, and acted as school-visitor some
years after. He and his wife are at present living on
the old farm where he was born, in Colebrook.
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SOLOMON SACKETT.

Solomon Sackett, second son of Solomon Sackett,

was born in Sandisfield, Mass., May 24, 1823. He
was reared on his father's farm, and educated at the

common school. In about the year 1853 he com-

menced traveling as a salesman for Winsted manu-

facturers, which business he continued until about

three years ago. In November, 1847, he united in

marriage with Melissa Fargo, and they have three

children, as follows: Grove, who resides in Chicago,

in the interest of the William L. Gilbert Clock Com-

pany ; George, who has been in the Winsted Savings

Bank for seven years ; and Frank, who is employed

by the William L. Gilbert Clock Company. Mr.

Sackett has led an active life, and is one of the sub-

stantial citizens of the town. He is a present select-

man of the town, and was a representative in 1870.

LUCIEN 0. BASS.

Among the pioneers of Colebrook we find the name

of Bass, the first of that name, Nathan, having set-

tled here in 1766. Lucien 0., the subject of this

sketch, is the youngest of the following family, chil-

dren of Henry and Jerusha Bass : Sidney H., Belario,

Elvira, Lucia L., Jerusha, Joseph H., Warren A.,

and Lucien O. Lucien 0. was educated at the com-

mon schools, and remained on the farm with his

father until 1849, when he went to Summit Co., Ohio,

and served as an apprentice in the machinist business.

In 1866 he returned to Colebrook, where he has since

resided. Mr. Bass has held various town offices, and

was a representative in the Legislature in 1872. He
and his sisters, Elvira and Jerusha, reside on the old

homestead. Mr. Bass' father, Henry Bass, died in

1856, aged eighty, and his mother in the year 1869,

aged eighty-six.

WILLIAM p. LAWRENCE.

William P. Lawrence, second son of Fennel and

Laura B. Lawrence, was born in Colebrook, Oct. 31,

1833. He received the advantages of a common-
school education, and his occupation has been that of

farming and lumbering. Nov. 21, 1860, he united in

marriage with Eveline S., daughter of John Hewitt,

of Winsted, and their family consists of the follow-

ing children: Charles D., Robert W., and Russell J.

Mr. Lawrence is a useful man in the church and

community, having been for a number of years super-

intendent of the Sunday-school connected with the

Congregational Church, and is also the postmaster at

Colebrook Centre. His father. Fennel Lawrence,

died Dec. 8, 1864, but his mother is still living, at

the advanced age of seventy-five years.

LOREN DeWOLF.

Loren DeWolf, the eldest son of Daniel DeWolf,

was born in Winsted, Conn., on Dec. 23, 1792. He
was reared on a farm, and educated at the common
schools. At the age of twenty-five, in 1817, he re-

moved to Hartland, Conn., where he remained nine-

teen years, and then came to Colebrook, where he

has since resided. Mr. DeWolf has ever been an

active and energetic man, ever willing to assist all

measures tending to advance the interests of his

adopted town and county. He figured somewhat

conspicuously in military matters, having been en-

sign, lieutenant, and captain in the old militia. He
is a consistent Christian, and for over twenty years

has been a steward in the Methodist Episcopal

Church. March 11, 1817, he united in marriage with

Miranda Osborn, and their family consisted of the

following children : Harriet A., born June 10, 1818,

and Rocelia A., born Feb. 28, 1839. Harriet A. died

in 1836, and Rocelia A. is living with her father in

Colebrook.

LUTHER PHELPS.

Capt. Luther Phelps, son of Daniel Phelps, was

born in Windsor, Conn., May 22, 1781. Soon after

his parents removed to Colebrook, where his father

for a number' of years kept a hotel. He was reared a

farmer, and educated at a common school. March 19,

1816, he united in marriage with Maria Hoskins, of

Winsted, Conn. ; their family consisted of two chil-

dren, Elizabeth M. and Martin Luther. Mr. Phelps



/J!;i?^'--.

WILLIAM P. LAWRENCE.
Doiiflilj. PbotognplMr, WloiKd, Com.







L. O. BASS.



o

5

t6

Co
Co





'^^,. . Iff





LUTHKR rUELPS.









CORNWALL. 287

died Oct. 11, 1851, and Mrs. Phelps died March 4,

1862. Having been cairtain of a military company in

Colebrook, he was popularly known as Capt. Phelps.

HARVEY W. PINNET.

Harvey W. Pinney, the youngest of four children

of Aseph and Betty Pinney, was born in Colebrook,

Dec. 16, 1811. His father was one of the early set-

tlers in the town, a farmer, and somewhat noted as a

school-teacher, and particularly as teacher of the

higher branches of mathematics, which at that time

were not a part of common-school education in coun-

try places. His son, Harvey W., the subject of this

sketch, passed his boyhood days on the home-farm,

with the usual experiences of a country lad of the

time, receiving a common-school education. The
father died in the spring of 1835, leaving a moderate

property, mostly in the farm, the care of which de-

volved upon Mr. Pinney and an older brother ; but he

was not destined to long follow the farmer's occupa-

tion exclusively. Infatuated as a boy with the violin,

he had by great perseverance, and under much oppo-

sition from a father who, though a musician and

teacher of singing, entertained a poor opinion of " fid-
'

dlers" in general, become quite proficient as a player,

and eventually abandoned the farm and took up the

profession of dancing-master, furnishing with his

violin music for balls and parties, and traversing the

country in a circuit of thirty miles to attend his nu-

merous engagements. Traveling his rounds in a gig
[

drawn by a white-faced horse (almost as well known
as the driver), with tiddle-box strapped on behind,

Mr. Pinney was one of the best-known men and most
i

familiar sight of that region. He followed this busi-

ness profitably for twenty successive years, and mean-

time composed many pieces of music, some of which

were published. He was married, Oct. 23, 1850, to

Harriet A. Wakefield, daughter of Hczekiah and

Harriet B. Wakefield, of Colel)rook, the fruits of

which union were two sons, Victor Hugo, who died

Feb. 12, 1854, at the age of two and one-half years,

and Lucien Vernette, born in 1853, who at the present

writing (1881) is cilitor and publisher of the Winsted

Press. In 1851, Jlr. Pinney was sent to the State

Legislature by the Democratic party as representative

from the town of Colebrook, and afvarious times was

elected justice of the peace. lie wa.s also postmaster

at Mill Brook (an otfice in the town of Colebrook)

for about thirty years. Of late years he ha-s lived in

retirement on the accumulations of a prudent, tem-

perate, and industrious life, devoting his time mainly

to such religious studies and meditations as are en-

joyed by modern infidels, of which class he is one of

the most out-spoken, as his ocnu-fional contributions to

the public press too plainly indicate. He was one of

the early converts to modern Spiritualism, and is still 1

its sincere advocate. In illustration of his peculiar

independence of character, it may not be out of place

to say that he cast the first " Greenback" vote in Cole-

brook, voting alone, though for perhaps forty years he

had voted with the Democratic party at every election.

He lives in Mill Brook, in the southwestern part of

the town of Colebrook. An engraving of his residence

(which during the thirty years that he was postmas-

ter was also the Mill Brook post-office) will be found

on another page.

CHAPTER XXX.
COKN"WALL.

Geographical—Topographical—The Indians—"Tom Warnips"—Sale of

the Town— Its Bounds—Tlie First Meeting of Proprietors—Early Reg-

ulations—The First Settlers and their Locations—Grand List of 1742

—

Family Sketches—The old Emmons Tavern—The Whipping-Post and

Stocks.

Cornwall lies northwest of the centre of the

county, and is bounded as follows : on the north by-

Canaan, on the east by Goshen, on the south by War-
ren and Kent, and on the west by the Housatonic

River, which separates it from Sharon. The surface

consists mainly of deep valleys and high hills or

mountains. Although one of the most mountainous

sections in the State, its soil is very fertile and pro-

ductive.

The high elevation in the northwest portion of

the town is known as Hough Mountain. South of

this is Rugg Hill, farther south Walleii Hill, and

still farther Power Dale, familiarly known as " Tary-

diddle." Buck Mountain is still below this, the north-

ea.stern part of which is known as the " Cobble." The
first hill below West ("ornwall, nearer the river, was

called the Green Mountain. South and east of this

lies Mine Mountain, called so from the minerals it

was supposed to contain. Cream Hill, one of the

most beautiful localities in the State, lies in the north

middle part of the town, and receives its name from

the fertility of its soil and its picturesfjuo scenery. A
charming sheet of water, known as Cream Hill Lake,

lies at its foot.

" North from this lake is a high range called Pine

Hill. E^t of this is the Great Hollow, extending over

four miles nearly north and south ; called in the north-

ern part Sedgwick Hollow, and Johnson Hollow in

the southern. A high and steep mountain range lies

on the northwest of Sedgwick Hollow, called Titus

Mountain.
" The hill up which the road from Cornwall to

Goshen winds is named Bunker Hill, from the resi-

dence on it of Rufus Bunker, an Indian of the Schagh-

ticokc tribe, an old and horiot man, whose name is

a.isociatcd with a more enduring monument than the

]>yramids of Egy]it. North and easterly of this hill
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is situated Red Mountain, so named from the color of

the oak-leaves in the autumn wlien touclied by the

frosts. Southerly is Clark Hill, so called from a

family of that name who removed nearly one hundred

years since from Hartford to that locality. South-

easterly from Clark Hill is the most elevated land in

the State, lying mostly in Goshen, from the apex of

which is a view of Long Island Sound. This eleva-

tion is called Mohawk Mountain. Southeast of Corn-

wall Plain, forming a part of the same range as Clark

Hill and Mohawk Mountain, lies Great Hill. Three

hundred acres of land given by the General Assembly

to Yale College is located here, and goes by the name

of College land. Bloody Mountain, so named from a

bloody tragedy not enacted there, lies north of the

Old Goshen and Sharon turnpike, northwest from the

centre of the town.
" In the southeast part of Cornwall is a high range

called Woodbury Mountain. West of this, and sepa-

rated from it by a deep gorge, is Dudley Town Hill,

so called from a family of that name among its early

settlers, late the residence of Caleb Jones. North of

this elevated neighborhood is Colt's-Foot Mountain,

which rises boldly from the beautiful valley, formerly

called Pine Street, then the Plain, where is the pleas-

ant village of Cornwall.
" From the summits of many of these hills exten-

sive and magnificent views are presented, extending

west of the Hudson River, and over a large share of

Berkshire County, in Massachusetts. There are many

other minor hills, the beauty and picturesque appear-

ance of which, to be fully appreciated, must be seen.

" Cream Hill Lake, in the north part of the town,

and Mohawk Pond, in the southeast, and the Housa-

tonic River,—River of the Mountains,—forming the

western boundary, give life and character to the

scenery, which is never perfect without water views.

Small streams are numerous, the most important of

which are the North Mill Brook, having its source in

Cream Hill Lake, and flowing southwesterly three

miles to the Housatonic, with a descent of several

hundred feet; the South Mill Brook, rising in the

hills about Cornwall Plain, and flowing southwest

into the Housatonic ; the Hallenbeck, rising in the

Great Hollow, and flowing northwesterly through

Canaan to the Housatonic. These are good mill-

streams, furnishing permanent water-power, but the

Housatonic, in its whole course by the side of the

town, flows rapidly, and might form the basis of active

industry. But a very small part of the power of this

river is yet utilized in any part of its course. These

streams are all fed by abundant, never-failing springs,

so that the name of ' the sweet water country' may

more aptly be applied to this township."

Various mines—gold, silver, plumbago, nickel, iron,

etc.—at different periods have been opened, but have

never been found sufiiciently rich to warrant working.

The town is watered by eight streams, tributaries to

the Housatonic.

THE INDIANS.

There is nothing of particular interest to record

concerning the aboriginal lore of this section, as there

is no record or tradition that the Indians ever perma-

nently occupied this town, although arrow-heads and

other relics have been fouud. There was a trail across

the town, and a palisade fort erected for the protection

of the pioneers. Mr. T. S. Gold, in his " History of

Cornwall," says,

—

" One eveninj; as James Touglass was on his way to the fort from

Cream Hill, having remained at work later than usual, his family

having gone before, as he was passing through the low land,— Pratt's

meadow,—then covered with a dense growth of timber, jri a narrow

foot-path, he discovered two Indians, one on either side of the path,

awaiting his approach. As Mr. Douglass had advanced too near to re-

treat before he saw them, be assumed a bold and daring manner and

walked coolly between the two savages, who remained without motion,

being overawed by bis fearless manner, or out of respect to the courage

displayed, and offered him no molestation.

" They kept constant guard when at work in the fields, and when

James Douglass and bis sons were at work bis daughters (one my great-

giandmother—T. S. G.) often sat by the loaded guns to give the alarm.

"As a race they have passed away. The older inhabitants still re-

member several families of them, and the bravery of one gains him a

place elsewhere in these records."

The following incident was coutributed to that vol-

ume by Gen. Charles F. Sedgwick :

TOM WARRUPS.

I

" This noble old Indian warrior died in Cornwall early in the present

I
century, and wjis well known throughout the township. In his old age

I his hair became pei-fectly white, and his visits to all parts of the town

were frequent and acceptable, while bis witty pleasantries were long

remembered. He was of the Scliaghticoke tribe, but he became a resident

of Cornwall in bis early life. In the Revolutionary war he enlisted into

a company commanded by Edward Rogers, Esq., as captain, of which

Loyal Tanner was lieutenant; this company was in the battle of Long

Island, and shared in all the disastrous results in that conflict, and in the

perils attending the retreat of the army from New York. Tom was al-

ways spoken of by bis surviving comrjides as a brave and daring soldier,

ready for every duty and danger required by the service.

" Tbe following anecdote used to be told as illustrating his Indian

character ; After the retreat from New Yoi'k, the company was stationed

on the shore of the East River, and one morning a party of British went

up the river in boats on a foraging e,\pedition, and landed not far from

tbe Cornwall company. Capt. Rogere proposed that the company should

attempt their capture, as the party was small and could probably be

easily taken prisoners, and submitting the proposal to the company,

some favored and others disapproved of it. When the question was

asked Tom, be said, ' / ijaesa we had helltr kill what priaonevs we now have

before we try to get any more.* He was celebrated for bis ready wit, and

stories of it were often related in the early years of this century.

" Like tbe generality of his race, he was addicted to intoxication, and

even in tbe army he was sentenced for that offense to a ride on the

wooden horee in front of the regiment. While being thus transported

on the shoulders of his comrades, Lieut. Tanner asked him if he did not

feel ashamed to be presented to the regiment in that way. ' Tes,' said

Tom, ' I am ashamed to think that our lieutenant must go on foot while

a poor old Indian can ride.'

'*Here is another anecdote: Capt. Jeffers once, meeting him, said,

' Why, Tom, I was in hopes you were dead.' ' Why,' said Tom, ' do you

want the widow?'
'" Very few among the living can remember him, but his Revolution-

ary services, and tbe universal kindness with which he was regarded,

render it proper that his memory should be preserved."

SALE OF THE TOWN.

This town was sold at public auction at Fairfield,

Conn., Feb. 8, 1738, by the committee appointed by

the Assembly, consisting of John Burr, Edmund

Lewis, and Ebenezer Silliman. It was laid out into
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fifty-three shares, one of which was for the first niin-
!

ister, one for the support of the gospel ministry as a
j

perpetual fund, and one for the support of schools,
i

The State a'so gave three hundred acres in the south-

eastern part of the town to Yale College. The average

price per acre of these lands in the town was about

twenty cents.

Its bounds were as follows

:

"Whereas, the saM Governor and Company asseniblod at Hartford,

May, Anno. 1731, Did Order t}iat the Western Conuty Lands on the east

side of the Ousatnnuoc River, shonld be laid out into Townships, and ap-

pointed Messrs. Edmond Lewis, William Judd, and John Buel a Com-

mittee to lay out tlie same; and wliereas, in Pureuance of said Order,

the said Committee laid out the same into Two Townships, one of which

in tliis survey is called tlie township of B, now called Cornwall, Ijounded

as foUoweth : Running from the southwest corner bounds of A, now

called Goshen, W'est ninety-two Degrees North, five miles and Seventy-

two Rods, to the Ousatunnoc River, where is marked a white Oak tree,

and set the letters, E. L. W. J. J. B., ou said tree, and laid many stones

to it for a monument, at the Southwest Corner of the Township of B.

Then beginning at the White Oak Pole at the Northwest corner of the

Township of A, and run west ninety two Degrees north, four miles and a

half to the Ousatunnoc River, and made a monument for the Northwest

corner of the Township of B, and the Southwest corner of the township

of C, now called Canaan, it being Three Black Oak trees growing from

one root marked, and many stones laid to them with the letters E. L.

W. J. J. B., set on them, thus the Township of B is surveyed and hiid

out, and the lines thereof are set forth by marked Trees an<l monuments,

and is bounded south on the Township of E, now called Kent, north on

the town of C, east on the Township of A, and west on the Ousatunnoc

Kiver."

THE FIRST MEETING OF PROPRIETORS.

The first meeting of proprietors was held at Hartford,

Sept. 6, 1738. John Hall, of Fairfield, was chosen

moderator, and Timothy Collins, of Litchfield, clerk.

" One of the conditions required by the proprietors

of Cornwall was that tlie owner of each right should

erect a house sixteen feet square and seven feet in tlie

clear, and occupy the same for three years, e.xcept in

case of death of the owner. These were built of logs.

"The first meeting of the proprietors of Cornwall

was held at Hartford, in the State-house, on the (ith

day of September, a.d. 1738. Mr. John Hall, of

Fairfield, was chosen moderator, and Timothy Collins,

of Litchfield, clerk, of said meeting. He was sworn

into office as proprietors' clerk before Capt. Samuel

Chapman, a justice of the peace. The meeting was

adjourned to the house of Mr. Ehenezer Williamson

for a quarter of an hour, where the proprietors met

according to adjournment.
" At that meeting they voted to lay out fifty acres

of land to each proprietor. ^Messrs. Bcnajah Doug-

lass, Joseph Waller, Joseph Kilborn, Joseph Allen,

and Samuel Roberts were appointed a committee to

lay out said lots, also to lay out the highways in Corn-

wall. Each ])roprietor was to be at the cost of the

survey of his piece of land, and in making the survey

bill.

"At the same meeting it was voted to divide off an-

other fifty acres to each proprietor by the same com-

mittee.

"Ten shillings i>er day was voted to each of .said

committee from the time they set out from Litchfield,

they boarding themselves. At this meeting it was

voted to give to Mr. Benajah Douglass twelve pounds

ten shillings for warning the same. The privilege

was granted to Mr. Timothy Collins, and such partners

as he should take with him, of the exclusive right to

any streams on undivided lands for mill or mills, pro-

vided that he shall set up a saw-mill by the 1st of

November, 1739, and he was to have the privilege so

long as he kept a saw-mill upon the stream in good

repair.

" This first meeting was adjourned to the house of

Ensign Ebenezer Marsh, in Litchfield, on the second

Tuesday of the following November, at 9 a.m.

" At this adjourned meeting Samuel Messenger was

appointed surveyor of the lands of Cornwall, and a

tax of twenty-six shillings was levied on each pro-

prietor to defray expenses of laying out, for the col-

lection of which tax Joseph Allen was appointed.

The lots were laid out and numbered; they were then

divided by drawing for them, in the way of a lottery.

Permission was granted that such as were dissatisfied

with their lots could change them before the next

meeting of the proprietors by paying the expense of

the survey. Messrs. Osborn, Joseph Kilborn, and

Daniel Allen were appointed a committee to make

out the rate-bill on the proprietors for the tax of

twenty-six shillings, belbre named.
" The highways were to bo six rods wide (many of

which, although they may be as long in our day as

our fathers made them, have shrunk wonderfully in

breadth).

" At this meeting it wius voted to lay out a highway

from Litchfield to Cornwall, also from Kent to Corn-

wall. Mr. Messenger was empowered to expend

twenty-five pounds in surveying and opening said

highways, and Messrs. Waller, John Dibble, John

Hall, Samuel Messenger, Daniel Allen, and Joseph

Allen were appointed a committee to lay out and

clear up highways from Litchfield and Kent, as far

as they could for the twenty-five pounds, one-half

of saitl sum to be expended on each highway.

" This meeting was adjourned to the third Wednes-

day of September, 1739, at twelve o'clock, at the house

of Peter Eastman, in Cornwall.
" These meetings of the proprietors were adjourned

from time to time, and a division to the amount of

three hundred acres set to each. The one who drew

by lot the first choice was required to take the last in

the following division ; this plan was adopted to ei|ual-

izethe division of property, in which all were eipially

interested.

"The names of those who drew in the first and

second divisions were Nathan Lyon, .'Stephen Uurr,

Jonathan Squires, J. Sherwood, James Smedley. James

Dennic,* Reuben Dibble, Nathaniel Spaulding, Sam-

uel Hryant, Jo.seph Frost, Andrus Truby, Gideon

Allen, Stephen Boroughs, John Dibble, Wm. Gay-

• Spellnl in dlfTarant noonU Dtnoll, Dtonli, Dooall.
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lord, Samuel Roberts, Tim. Pierce, Ebenezer Seely,

Benajah Douglass, Samuel Hall, Peter Ea,stman,

Thomas Harris, Joseph Kilborn, Samuel Kilborn,

Timothy Collins, Joseph Allen, Daniel Allen, Eli-

phalet Seely, Jacob Patchen, Elizur Seely, Benjamin

Osborn, Isaac Bissel, Samuel Smedly, Ephraim Smedly,

Joseph Waller, Ebenezer Whitlesey, Samuel Butler,

Thomas Ballard.

" Ten of the above had two rights each, and one

three.

" Previous to the allotment of any of these pro-

prietors' rights, a di-vision of three hundred acres was

set apart and located for each of the three important

objects, viz., first, for a parsonage; second, for the

supjiort of a minister ; third, for the establishment

and maintenance of schools.

" It was also voted at this meeting empowering the

committee previously chosen to lay out the Mill Brook
land ; to lay out at the mouth of the pond at the foot

of Cream Hill what they shall judge proper for drain-

ing and damming said ])ond, as a further encourage-

ment of building mills upon tlie stream that comes
out of said pond.

" Voled, To sequester 30 acres of land on Mill Brook to encourage

building a Mill or milla on said stream to be laid out by the Committee

formerly appointed to lay out the Milt land.

"This privilege of the Cream Hill mill-stream, to-

getlier with the se<iuestered land, was given to Mr.

Mathew Millard, with lil)erty of damming and drain-

ing the pond and .stream flowing out of it, he to build

and maintain a good corn-mill upon said stream by

the 1st of August, 1741, also a good saw-mill by the

same time.

" Mr. George Holloway was chosen clerk in the

place of Timothy Collins."

At a proprietors' meeting held May 8, 1740, it was

voted to petition for town privileges and liberty to

settle an orthodox minister, also to grant a ta.\ for the

settlement of a minister. It was voted to petition for

extension of time for the payment of the rights.

TITE EARLY SETTLERS.

The first settler in Cornwall was Mr. Peter East-

man, who came in 1738. It was at his house—loca-

tion not known—that the first proprietors' meeting

was held in the town. Mr. T. S. Gold, in his valuable

" History of Cornwall," says,

—

dp to the year 1740 there probably were no other

than log houses in this town. About forty of these

rude tenements were erected, usually upon the owner's

land, and of course scattered very widely over the

different parts of the town. The occupants of the

dwellings we are enabled to learn, to a general extent,

from tradition. Samuel Abbott, who was from Dan-

bury (1792), lived near the place formerly owned and

occupied by Mr. Birdsey, now owned by Rogers White
(William Stratman, 1877). Daniel and Joseph Allen,

from Litchfield (1740) ; one lived opposite the house

of Col. Anson Rogers, and the other on the Joel Cat-

lin farm (Harvey Baldwin, 1877). Eleazar Barritt,

from Plainfield, lived near Pangman's, by Housatonic
River. David Baldwin, from Litchfield, lived on
Great Hill. John Blinn lived south of the Cotter

place, near the Housatonic River. Thomas Ballard,

from Plainfield, lived opposite Noah Rogers. John
Clothier lived near Cotter's (Shepard, 1877), at West
Cornwall. John Dibble, from Stamford, lived a little

west of the Capt. Miles place, now Edward Kellogg's

(A. Bennett, 1877). James Douglass, from Plainfield,

settled on Cream Hill. His log house was located a

few rods northeasterly from the late residence of Capt.

Hezekiah Gold, which house he afterwards built about

the year 1750, making this probably the oldest house

in town now standing and still occupied. Reuben
Dean was a celebrated hunter and doctor. He lived

near Chandler Swift's (Ira Frink, 1877). He was

from Norwalk. Woodrutt' Emmons came from Litch-

field. He lived where Dr. Joseph North lately re-

sided,—north of the residence of the late Carrington

Todd. Nathaniel Green lived near the orchard of

Capt. Miles, north of the ancient burying-ground.

He was from Stamford. Thomas Griffis, from Litch-

field. He lived on Dudley Town Hill, near the resi-

dence of the late Caleb Jones. John and George

Halloway were from Middlebury, or Pembroke, Mass.

They lived where Mrs. Ithamer Baldwin now resides.

George died in 1750. He built the house used as a

tavern in 1776, kept by Woodruff' Emmons. Benja-

min Hough, from New Milford, settled in the north-

west part of the town. Thomas Harris was from

Plainfield. He lived where the late Capt. Elias Hart

resided (George Potter, 1877). Mo.ses Harris, from

Plainfield, lived near the late Capt. Clark's (William

Bennett, 1877). Nathaniel Jewell, from Plainfield.

He lived near the present residence of Mr. Fowler

Bradford. Joshua Jewell, from the same place, lived

on the present Maj. Pierce's farm. David Jewell,

also from Plainfield, lived near the present residence

of William Hindman, Esq. (Tyler Miner, 1877).

Stephen Lee, from Litchfield, lived on Great Hill.

Matthew Millard, from East Haddam, lived opposite

the residence of the late Oliver Burnham, Esq. Sam-

uel Messenger, from Harwinton, lived near the centre

of town, now Mr. Johnson's. James Packett, from

Danbury, lived in Great Hollow. Timothy Pang-

born, from Stamford, lived a little north of Mr. Lu-

ther Emmons' place. Beuoni Palmeter lived near the

Baptist meeting-house (Elias Scoville, 1877). Thomas
Tanner, from Litchfield, lived on the hill east of the

late residence of the Hon. O. Burnham. He was

grandfather of Tryal Tanner. Ebenezer Tyler lived

in Cornwall Hollow, on the Samuel Johnson place.

Jonathan Squires, from Plainfield, lived south of the

residence of the late Riley M. Rexford. Reuben

Squires, also from Plainfield, lived near the late Capt.

Joel Wright's (T. Wilson, 1877). Phineas Waller

lived near the late residence of Deacon Samuel Ad-

ams (Judson Adams, 1877).
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These are all the residences of the first settlers of

Cornwall, on the list of 1740, that are well authenti-

cated.

In 1744 we find additional settlers :

Samuel Benedict, from Danbury, lived opposite K.

Birdsey's.

Benjamin Dibble, from Stamford, near Seth Dib-

ble's farm.

William Joyner, near R. M. Rexford's, on Cream

Hill.

Amos Johnson, from Branford, near the late resi-

dence of Earl Johnson.

Thomas Orton, from Litchfield, lived near the Sedg-

wick farm.

Joseph Pangborn, from Stamford, lived near Hart's

bridge, south of the mill, West Cornwall.

Samuel Robards, from Colchester, lived thirty rods

east of Benjamin Catlin's (Niles Scoville, 1877).

Patrick Hindman, a foreigner, settled near John

Hindman's (Tyler Miner, 1877).

Abraham Raymond, from Norwalk.

Joseph Peck lived where Stiles Peck last lived.

In 1748, Jonathan Hurlburt, east of Sedgwick's.

Jacob Bronson, from Norwalk, near the late Wil-

liam Stoddard's (Peter Fritz, 1877).

Israel Moss lived where Ezra Taylor lives ; was a

merchant.

The list for 1742 is the oldest extant, and a com-

plete copy is here given. It is written on a single

sheet of foolscap paper, having on one page C, I, K,

E, F, D, R, in water-lines, and on the other a large

shield, the design on which is not very plain. iVhole

number of polls, 52 ; horses, 43 ; cows, 52 ; oxen, 41

;

young cattle, 9 ; swine, 21.

GRAND LIST, 1742.

A.—Sam' Abbott, une liead, 18; two cows, 6; 2 3-year olds, C; one more,

3 ; one nwlne, 1.—34.

Dan^ Alloii, one head, 18; two oxen, 8; two cows, two hones, 12; one

2-yeftr oM steer, 2; one yearling heifer, 1 ; Ave swine, .").—16.

Josepii Allen, one head, 18; two oxen, 8; two cuwm, two hunos, 12; one

swlno, 1.

—

'VJ.

B.— Elen' Barrett, one head, 18; one marc, two cows, 9.-27.

Henj" Bisttoll, one head, 18; one cow, 3.—21.

Duvid Biildwin, one liead, 18; one cow, one borae, 6.—24.

John Bliiin, one hcail.—18.

Tlio* Balturd, one head, one horse, one cow.—24.

C.—Jolin Clothier, one head, 18 ; two oxen, 8 ; two honee, 6; two cows,

6.-38.

W", Chlttester, uno hcotl, IH ; two homes, one cow. It.—27.

J),—John Dihhell, one lieiid, 18; two oxen, 8; two cows, one horw,9;

one yearling, one swine, 2.—37.

Benjo Dlbhell, one head, 18; a honse lot,3; one oow, one hone, 6 ; one

yearliiig colt, I ; one HWlrio, 2.—;tO.

James DunglaiM, one head, 18 ; two oxen, 8 ; two cowe, 6 ; one hone, 3.

—.1.1.

Reuben Dean, two heads, 36; two oxen, 8; three cows, 9; three honea,

9.—«2.

E.—Wooflniff Emmons, one head, 18.

r.—David Frislde, one lieeil, 18.

G.—Nnthi Green, two polls, 36 ; one ox, 4 ; one hone, 3.—43.

Thos. GrifHs, two hitads, 3(1 ; two oxen, 8 ; two cows, two horsee, 12.—66.

H.—George lluUuway, one head, 18; Ave oxen, 20; two oowa, 0; one

homo, 3.—47.

John llultoway, one head, 18.

BoiOa" Hough, one head, 18 ; two hones, one cow, 9; one swine, 1.—88.

Thorn. Harris, two heads, 36 ; two cows, 6; one horse, 3.—45.

Moses Harris, one head, 18 ; two oxen, 8 ; one cow, three swine, 6.—32.

Samuell Horeford, one head, 18.

J,—Nathi. Jewell, one head, IG; one mare, one cow, 6.—24.

Joshua Jewell, two heads, 3G ; two oxen, 8 ; three cows, 9 ; two horses, 6 ;

one swine, 1.—60.

David Jewell, one head, 18; two oxen, 8 ; one cow, one horse, 6.—32.

L.—Bich"! Lovejoy, one head, 18 ; two oxen, 8 ; two cows, 6 ; one horse,

3.-35.

Stephen Lee, one head, 18; one horse, 3.—21= 557.

M.—Math" Millard, one head, 18 ; two oxen, 8 ; three cows, 9 ; horse, 3.

—38.

Sami Messioger, one head, 18; two oxen, 8; two cows, 6; one horse, 3;

one 2-year old, 2; three swine, 3.—40.

Peter Mallory, one head, 18; two oxen, 8; one cow, two horses, 9; one

swine, 1.—36.

N.

0.

P.—James Pickett, one head, 18 ; two horses, one cow, 9.—27.

TimJ Pangborn, one head, 18; one horse, 3; one cow, 3; two yearlings,

2.-26.

Benoni Palmeter, one head, 18.

Q.

B.—Sam' Robards, one head, 18; one cow, 3 ; one mare, 3.-24.

T.—Tho» Tanner, one head, 18; a yoak of oxen, 8; two cows, 3; one

horse, 3.—42.

Wm. Tanner, one head, 1ft.

Ebenr Tyler, one head, 18.

U.

S.—Jonathn Squler, three heads, 54; two oxen, 8; two horses, 6; one cow,

3; one swine, 1.—72.

Beuben Sqnier, one head, 18; two oxen, 8; one horse, 3,—29.

William Smiley, one head, 18 — 406.

W.—Phin' Walker, one head, 18; one ox, 4 ; one horse, 3.-25.

John Young, one head, 18; one cow, 3.—21.

The sum of the several footings 46
406
657
424

1433

The sum totall of this lUt mule by us,

Jonathan SqviRR, '\

NaTm" GBEfN, > LiaUrt.

Sam' Meminokr, j

In 1745 there were in the list two less than in 1742,

and three less than in 1744.

In 1748 there were seventy persons in the list, and

the property amounted to £3054 18*. Jonathan

Squier had the large!<t list of any one in town, being

£109 18«. Matthew Millard stood next, being £99 it.

John Dibble wiw ne.xt, VXi. Next was Tiiomas Or-

ton, £79 14*. Next was Joshua Jewell, £77. The

next was James Douglass, £68. Several were as low

as £5.

The following record of families is condensed from

Gold's " Hi.ttory "of Cornwall:"

Thk DoioLA.s Family.—One of the most active

pioneers in the .settlement of this town wii-s James

Douglas. He came here, in 17.W, from Plainfield.

dream Hill was his lot; it received this name from

the superiority of the soil and the beauty of it-s scenery.

This name was given to it, as town records show, be-

fore Mr. Douglas purchased. He bought two righta

of Timothy Pierce, of CanU-rbury, an original pro-

prietor, in 1738, for four hundred pounds; al.so, he

bought fifty acres on Cream Hill, on which his first

house was built. The fifty-acre lot was purchased of

Jonah Bierce, of New Fairfield, who had bought it of

Nathau Lyon, of Fairfield, an original proprietor.
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James Douglas was brother of Benajah, an original

proprietor in Cornwall, but who settled in North

Canaan, being the ancestor of the Douglas family in

that town, and great-grandfather of the distinguished

senator, Stephen Arnold Douglas.

James Douglas and his wife, whose family name
was Marsh, taught the first school in Cornwall, he

teaching in the winter and his wife in summer. Cream
Hill, before the woodman's axe was heard there, was

covered with lofty trees of various kinds, the surface

not being entangled with underbrush, as much of the

forest in town was. Mr. Douglas was an energetic

and public-spirited man. He expended much labor

in opening a mine one hundred and twenty feet in

dep^h for gold. Specimens of the ore were sent to

Boston for analysis, from which small sums in gold

were returned ; but the expense of obtaining it was
too great to make it a paying business. Another
mine was wrought for silver sixty feet, with like re-

sults.

He is said to have wintered the first stock in town,

—

a horse and yoke of oxen. Heavy snows caught him
unprepared. Deer were abundant; the boiled flesh

made a nutritious soup for the cattle, which, with

browse from the trees felled for the purpose, was their

support. The horse refused both, but ate hair from

the skins, and moss from the trees gathered in

blankets.

Mr. Douglas, about 1748, erected a large two-story

house, which, about two years after its completion,

was unfortunately burned down, and he built the

house now standing on the same ground, which he

occupied till his death. This is supposed to be the

oldest occupied house in town. Capt. Hezekiah Gold,

son of Rev. Hezekiah Gold, who married Rachel

Wadsworth, granddaughter of Mr. James Douglas,

purchased this property about 1790 of Mr. Joseph

Wadsworth, a son-in-law of Mr. Douglas. This house

and farm is at present (1877) owned by T. S. Gold.

Fanners were then their own mechanics. The old

tan-vat, where .Tames Douglas tanned his own leather,

was but recently filled up,—on the bank of the small

stream now called the " Gutter," near his house.

Mr. Douglas had three sons and four daughters.

The eldest of the daughters, Sarah, married Capt.

Samuel Wadsworth ; the youngest, Eunice, married

Mr. Joseph Wadsworth ; another, Olive, married for

her first husband a Mr. Johnson, and after his death.

Deacon Eliakim Mallorv. The other daughter, Mary
(or Rachel), married a Mr. Taylor, of New Marlboro',

Mass. Two sons, William and James Marsh, having

sold their property on Cream Hill, removed to Ver-

mont, where some of their descendants at present re-

side. James Marsh married Rhoda, sister of Judge
Burnham, of Cornwall. The other son, John, died

in 1763, aged fourteen.

In the old cemetery at South Cornwall we find the

tombstones of James Douglas and his wife thus in-

scribed :

" James Douglas, Died Aug. 18, 1785, ae. 74.

Mortals Awake
Tour time review, tliink on

Deatli, Kteruity is near."

" Kachel, wife of James Douglas, died April 23, 1790, je. 78.

Life how short,

Eternity how long."

The Wadsworth Family.—Rev. Samuel Wads-
worth was a minister in Killingly. He had three

sons, who came to Cornwall about 1740,—Samuel,

Joseph, and James.

Samuel Wadsworth married Sarah, daughter of

James Douglas, and had only one child, Rachel, who
married Hezekiah Gold. By her he received her

father's farm on Cream Hill, which has passed by de-

scent to the present owner, T. S. Gold. Samuel
Wadsworth died Jan. 2, 1813, aged sixty-six. Sarah,

his wife, died April 16, 1820, aged seventy-seven.

Joseph Wadsworth married another daughter of

James Douglas, Eunice, and had three sons,—War-
ren, Samuel, and Douglas. About 1800 he sold his

farm on Cream Hill to Hezekiah Gold, and removed
to Goshen, Orange Co., N. Y.

James Wadsworth married Irene Palmer, and had

a son. Deacon James Wadsworth, one daughter, who
married an IngersoU from Bethlehem, and a second

daughter, who married Hawley Reed, of Cornwall.

Joshua Pierce, the father of Joshua, .John, and

Seth Pierce, and of several daughters, belonged to

Pembroke, of Plymouth Co., Mass. He bought the

place, now occupied by Maj. Seth Pierce, May 17,

1748, consisting of three hundred and three acres, of

Joshua Jewel. Joshua Pierce was the venerable an-

cestor of the Pierce family. He was a poor boy, put

out to a hard master, who treated him with much un-

kindness and severity.

Dr. Jonathan Hurlburt came from that part of

Farmington now called Southington, having bought

of Timothy Orton one hundred and twenty acres in

1746. He is thought to have been the first that prac-

ticed medicine in the township. He was also a me-

chanic, and made plows. His son Ozias lived and

died on the same place where his father did, a little

south of the Sedgwicks. His brother Joab lived near

him, and died some years before him. Both are bur-

ied in the old Cornwall Hollow Cemetery.

Mathew Millard, from East Haddam, was one of

the early permanent citizens in Cornwall. He located

and built on the west side of the street, opposite to

the house of the late Judge Burnham. He was one

of the largest land-holders in Cornwall ; was a very

respectable citizen, and was authorized to obtain a

minister at the first town-meeting. Mr. Millard had

but one child that lived to mature age, a daughter,

Achsah. She married Elisha Steele, of West Hart-

ford, called Deacon Steele, who, after the death of his

father-in-law, occupied his house and homestead.

Samuel Messenger, of Harwinton, was one of the

first settlers, a surveyor ; a very active and useful in-

habitant. His residence was on the spot where the



CORNWALL. 293

Rev. Hezekiah Gold built and lived at the Centre.

Mr. Messenger was here in the summer of 1739. He
bought a whole right of Ephraim Smedley, of Wood-
bury, soon after the sale of the town in 1738.

According to town records, Mr. Messenger's son

Daniel, who was born March 18 (old style), 1740, was

the first birth of the early settlers of the town. Mr.

Messenger, in four or five years, sold his place to his

brother, Nehemiah Messenger, and he, in 1757, sold to

one Joseph Mather.

George HoUoway , from Pembroke, in Massachusetts,

came with his brother John to this town from New
Fairfield in the spring, 1740. He was the most prom-

inent among the first settlers in office, character, and

influence. He was directed by the Assembly to call

the first town-meeting ; was a justice of the peace,

first town clerk, captain of tlie militia, and bore the

title of Dr. Holloway.

John Clothier was one of the first settlers.

Samuel Abbott was one of the early settlers from

Danbury. He located in East Street. He &Kt

erected a log house, and afterwards a large and

commodious residence a few rods southwest of the

house of the late Ebenezer Birdsey. Mr. Abbott was

a very worthy citizen, and for several years a deacon

of the Congregational Church. His children were

Samuel, Abe^ Nathan, Seeley, and Daniel, and a

daughter, who married Jesse Jerrods, from Long
Island,

Thomas Tanner, one of the original settlers, came

from Litchfield, with his son William, being of age.

Thomas settled on the old road east of the Burnham
place, and died there ; house since occupied by John

Kellogg.

Jethro Bonney and his brother Perez came from

Pembroke, Mass., about 17G0. Jethro owned the

Beardsley place, and afterwards the Judson place.

Perez settled on Clark Hill, and had sons,—Perez,

Titus, Asa, and Jairus.

The Burnliam phice was sold in 1757 by Rev. Sol-

omon Palmer to Noah Bull, of Farmington. Judge

Burnham bought the place in 17'J2 of Jerrett Ket-

tletop, of New York City.

Oliver Burnliam married Sarah, daughter of Noah
Rogers (3d), and had children,—Oliver Rogers,

Franklin, William, Rhoda, married Victorianus

Clark; Mary A., married Rev. A. Judson; Chirissa,

noiarried Alvia North ; Emily F., married Rev. John

Clark Hart; Harriet, married Rev. (Jrove Brownell.

Ur. Russell came from Guilford ; sold the Hollo-

way house, in April, 1777, to Salmon, son of Wood-
ruff Kninioiis.

Ebenezer Sherwood, son of John Siierwood, of

Fairfield, a Baptist minister, and one of the early

proprietors, in 1770 settled on the farm afterwards

owned by Parson Stone, now (1877) the estate of

John C Calhoun. He died in 178").

Timothy Cole, from New Milford, married Rebekeli,

daughter of old Sergt. John Dibble, lived south of

Truman Dibble, and died in 1788. He was uncle of

John and David Cole, who came from same town.

Jonathan Squires, an original purchaser of two

rights, was another enterprising pioneer from Plain-

field. In 1739 he settled on Cream Hill, southwest

from Mr. Douglas' place, on the road (long since

discontinued) leading from Rexford's to the grist-

mill. He was a man of activity, and was frequently

employed in the public business of the town. But

few of the first settlers were more wealthy than he.

A daughter of his married Mr. Samuel Scovill,

grandfather of Jacob Scovill, Esq. Mr. Squires died

in this place at an advanced age.

Thomas Rugg, in 1739, came from Woodbury and

built a house on Rugg Hill, near the Housatonic

River. As the " hard winter" set in, he left his wife

and three small children and went to Woodbury to

obtain supplies, expecting to be absent but a few

days. Before he could return there came on a ter-

rific snow-storm, which lasted many days. The scanty

supply of food in the house was exhausted, and one

of the children died from starvation ; and they might

all have perished from the same cause had not Mr.

Douglas, living on Cream Hill, went on his snow-

shoes to inquire after them. Finding them in this

suffering condition, he brought them all on his ox-

sled to his house, and kindly cared for their necessi-

ties until Mr. Rugg's return. This family, disheart-

ened by their afHictions, returned in the spring to

Woodbury.

Amos Johnson removed from Branford to Cornwall

in 1742. He was accompanied by his wife and two

sons, Amos and Solomon.

Amos Johnson (2d) was a captain in the Revolu-

tionary war. He married Elizabeth Pierce, a daugh-

ter of Joshua Pierce. They iiad twelve children, of

whom nine survived childhood, viz., Amos, Elizabeth,

Timothy, Anna, Lucy, Samuel Pierce, Buckley, Urena,

and Palmer.

Solomon married Eleanor Pierce, daughter of

Joshua Pierce. Their children were Solomon, Elea-

nor, Abigail, Stephen, Setli, Lucy, and David. The

two last named died in childhood. Of the remainder

a number went West, and Eleanor married Col. Ben-

jamin F. Gold. They had several children.

Nathaniel Carter came from Killingwortli, and

bought the Jones homestead of Barzillai Duilley,

in Dudley Town. In March, 1763, he removed to

what is now Binghamtoii, N. Y.

John and Benjamin Dibble were brothers, and

among the first inhabitants of the town. They came

from Norwalk. Benjamin, who was called Dr. Dib-

ble, was a sort of u rout or Indian doctor. He had

two sons and several daught«.'rs. The sons were Israel

and George. Israel wits severely wounded during the

Revolutionary war, at White Plains, rendering him

decrepit for life. He had nine children, sons and

daughters. His youngest son, Setli, lived at liis

father's liou.se, and was an active business man.
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George, the other son of Benjamin Dibble, lived to

the age of eighty-four.

Among the early settlers, though not original pro-

prietors, were three brothers, Samuel, Stephen, and

Timothy Scoville,—spelt in the early records Scovel,

—from Saybrook.

Samuel settled where Henry Rodgers now lives,

building a house, probably of logs, just east of the

present dwelling.

Stephen settled where Sylvester Scoville now lives.

Timothy settled just above the Mills place, north

of Frank Reed's. These three lived and died where

they settled, and are buried in South Cornwall ceme-

tery.

From Stephen descended Levi, who was deaf and
dumb, and Sylvester, his son, who still occupies the

old homestead. Levi was a good farmer, a man of

remarkable intelligence for a deaf and dumb mute,

before they had any of the modern advantages of

education. He had no difficulty in communicating

with his neighbors by natural signs so apt that all

could understand. He was a regular attendant at

church, and, it was said, well knew what the minister

had to say.

Timothy's children—Iraandlthamar—moved West.

Samuel had a large family,—two sons by his first

wife, Samuel and Jacob, familiarly known as " Uncle

Jake." Both were Revolutionary soldiers, and were

taken prisoners at the battle of Long Island, and con-

fined in the terrible prison-ships, and eventually dis-

missed on parole. When they came home their

clothes were so infested with vermin that they had to

bury them.

Samuel settled on the " Cobble," and it is said that

when engaged in piling up the stonewalls which still

stand there, talking to his four yoke of oxen, he

could be heard at Cornwall Centre and down on Corn-

wall Plain.

A sketch of " Uncle Jake" is given among the
" Heroes of the Revolution." Many stories of him
are still extant. One time, while watching a redoubt,

a British soldier being in the habit of coming out

and slapping a portion of his person in contempt, he

was appointed, as the best shot in the company, to

put a stop to the performance. He watched his op-

portunity, and had the satisfaction of seeing the sol-

dier keel off the parapet before the slapping process

was half accomplished.

At one time he bet a gallon of rum that he could

outjump the company (the Connecticut), and

won it by clearing thirty-six feet at two hops and a

jump.

Oliver Wickwire came from New London County
before the time of the Revolution. He settled on the

old road, long since discontinued, running northeast

from near Chester Wickwire's. His nearest neighbor

on the south was James Douglas.

George Wheaton, Esq., came from East Haven,
where he was born, in 1790. He died Nov. 24,

1865, aged seventy-five. He studied law with Judge
Church, of Salisbury, was admitted to the bar in 1813,

and settled as a lawyer in Cornwall. Mr. Wheaton
was a well-read, exact lawyer, a prudent business

man, and a close reasoner. He was a valuable man
in town affairs, and enjoyed the respect and confidence

of his fellow-citizens.

The Rogers Family.—The pedigree of this family

is traced back by records in the British Museum to

Thomas Rogers, of Bradford, County of Wilts, ser-

geant-at-law, who died in 1485. He was great-grand-

father of John Rogers, the martyr.

Noah Rogers (3d), with his brother Edward, moved
to Cornwall from Branford in 1760.

Noah Rogers (3d), though relieved from military

duty by defect in one of his eyes, was a volunteer at

the time of the surrender of Burgoyne, and brought

home a British musket as a trophy.

Noah Rogers (4th), born 1766, married Lydia,

daughter of Rev. John Cornwall.

Capt. Edward Rogers was a lieutenant in the old

French war, having received two commissions from

George III., and an officer in the army of the Revo-

lution ; more particular mention of him is made in

that record.

Hon. Edward Rogers, oldest son of Capt. Edward,

was a graduate of Williams College; studied law at

the celebrated law-school of Gould & Reeves, of

Litchfield ; married Sally Maria Gold, daughter of

Hezekiah Gold ; settled in the practice of his pro-

fession in Madison, Madison County, N. Y. He was

a member of the New York State convention for

framing the constitution for that State; was presid-

ing judge of the Court of Common Pleas in Madison

County for many years. Judge Rogers represented

the district in which he lived in the Congress of the

United States.

Col. Anson Rogers was widely known as largely

occupied with jjublic affairs, having held almost every

important office in the gift of his townsmen. He
was drafted in the war of 1812, and served the town

as constable and collector for fourteen years in suc-

cession. It was said of him that " he never served a

writ without making a friend." He was a zealous

worker to secure the location of the church at North

Cornwall.

Noah and Edward Rogers appear on the town rec-

ords as purchasers of land in December, 1761. The
principal pieces were bought of William Gould

:

those near the church in North Cornwall, now owned
by Noah Rogers, and the estate of Anson Rogers, and

a farm of six hundred acres lying in and on both sides

of the Great Hollow
;
price twelve hundred pounds.

The family has always been one of the most substan-

tial in town, always reliable in every good word and

work. Several members have received a liberal educa-

tion, and are noted elsewhere, as Rev. J. A. R. Rogers

and Aml)rose Rogers, and in the other branch, Hon.

Edward and Hezekiah Gold Rogers.
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A family gathering was held Sept. 28, 1864, on the

farm of Noah Rogers (6th). One hundred and

twenty-five members of the family were present.

After dinner, in which all heartily engaged, a his-

torical address was given by Ambrose S. Rogers, of

New Milford, to whom we are indebted for many of

these facts. Then followed short speeches, anecdotes,

etc. One incident, related by O. Rogers Burnham,

is worthy of preservation :

" The Rev. Nathaniel Hawes, minister of the parish,

became embarrassed, and was intending to sell his

little house, when it was proposed to raise the seven

hundred and fifty dollars he needed by subscription,

in shares of fifteen dollars each. The citizens gen-

erally subscribed one share each ; but two young

girls in the bloom and beauty of maidenhood, daugh-

ters of Noah Rogers, had put down their names for

two shares each. 'And how,' he asked, 'did they ob-

tain the money ?' ' By keeping school at one dollar

a week ! and thirty dollars then was more than ten

times thirty now.' "

Anson Rogers said that his father, Edward Rogers,

was a captain in the Revolution, and as the

government script was valueless, he advanced two

thousand dollars in gold to pay his men, which

sum the government had never restored. Revolu- <

tionary relics of Capt. Rogers were presented, speci-

mens of the handiwork of the mothers ; but more
|

interesting was a Bible printed in 1575, brought over

in the " Mayflower." It had appended a " Book of

Psalmes collected into English meter by Thoma.s
[

Sternhold and John Hopkins."

By intermarriage in North Cornwall the Rogers

blood is mingled in most of the leading families that

now reside there, as the Harrisons, I'ratts, Harts, etc.

The Pratt family were among the early settlers.

The family moved to Cornwall about 1780. Among
the sons was .laaper, the third child, born in 175G, and

Minor, the youngest, born in 1768. These two sons

were the only ones of the family who became perma-

nent residents in this town.

Before the removal from Saybrook, Jasper Pratt 1

had enlisted from that town, at the commencement of

the Revolutionary war, into the Third Connecticut

Regiment, and served in the army seven years and

three month.s, or until the close of the war. For

most of the time he was stationed in New Jersey,

guarding the coast from foraging parties from New
York, who were called " Cow-Boys." In one of these

raids he was taken prisoner, and confined three months ,

in the city, when an exchange of prisoners released

him.

One winter the regiment was ordered to the banks

of the Hudson River. The weather was cold, he, with

others, was scantily clothed, their shoes were miser-

ably poor, and blood from their feet was often left

in their tracks. They suffered severely in that trip,

but they endured patiently to the end that their

country might be free.

In those days there lived on the premises now

owned by Harvey Baldwin a man by the name of

Samuel Butler. He came from Windsor, in this

State, about 1775, with a family of several daughters

and one son. Mr. Butler was in infirm health, and

did not live long after coming to Cornwall. It was

not long after Mr. Butler died before his wife was

taken with the smallpox. She died and her remains

rest under one of the old tombstones now standing in

the meadow a short distance west of the North Con-

gregational meeting-house. Three or four other per-

sons, who died of the same disease about the same

time, were also buried there.

Of the daughters, one was married to Ozias Hurl-

burt, one to Simeon Emmons, one to Samuel Dem-
ming ; and it so came about that the care of the farm

devolved upon Abigail and Thankful, the two young-

est of the daughters, and they were efficient ia work-

ing it. They sheared their own sheep, spun the

wool, and wove it into cloth. They also themselves

sowed the flax, and put it through all the necessary

processes to get it into cloth. They disposed of con-

siderable of their cloth for the benefit of the soldiers

in the army, and took their pay in Continental money.

They afterwards gave one hundred dollars of it for a

sieve. Some of the linen cloth made by Abigail in

those days was more than thirty years afterwards

worn by one of her grandihildren, and was in good

condition. Thankful Butler married a Mr. Fellows,

by whom she had one son, Ephraim. Calvin Butler,

who had a large family, and who owned a large farm

in the northwest corner of this town, and who died

about 1860, was a grandson of tlie aforesaid Samuel

Butler. Soon after the war dosed, Jasper Butler

came to his Cornwall home, which was tiion on the

south side of the road, opposite to where the founda-

tion of Elias Scovill's former blacksmith-shop now

stands, and near the Butler place. The I?utler girls

had a hog to kill. Tliey did not understand dressing

pork a» well a* they did flax, and they employed

Jasper Pratt, then just home from the war, to help do

it. On that occasion an intimacy between him and

Abigail Butler had its starting-point, which resulted

in their marriage in 178.'>,
—

" tall oaks from little

acorns grow." The Butler property was sold, and

they purchased from Noah Rogers a farm on Cream

Hill, to which they rcmcveil. He died Feb. 24, 1833,

aged seventy-seven years.

Chalker married Lydia, daughter of Deacon Noah

Rogers, and had two children,—Russell R., born Oct.

15, 1816; Helen A., born .Vug. 24, 1818, married Ste-

phen Foster, of Morristown, .\. J., who die»l March

10, 1863. She died in 1875.

Chalker Pratt was a man of influence in the com-

munity, ever ready to lend his aid to every good work,

and an active member in the Church of Christ. He
was the agent for the Cornwall Iron Company for a

number of years, until about 1840, when, as the Hou-

satonic Railroad drew near completion, he sold his
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farm on Cream Hill and removed to West Cornwall,

where he liad purchased laud and erected buildings

thereon, with reference to going into the mercantile

business. He died Aug. 26, 1851, aged fifty-nine.

Russell R. Pratt married Mary E., daughter of John
Cotter. She died May 1, 1849, leaving one child, Har-

riet C, who married Col. C. D. Blinn, of West Corn-

wall, a merchant, now residing in New Milford. The
second wife of Russell R. Pratt was Mary W. Bonney,

of Danbury, Conn., a daughter of Rev. William' Bon-
ney, of New Canaan, Conn. He was a native of this

town, and during his early years lived on the prem-
ises now owned and occupied by Edwin White, on
Clark Hill. Russell R. Pratt and Stephen Foster,

under the firm-name of Pratt & Foster, established

a successful mercantile business at West Cornwall in

1841. Upon the death of Mr. Foster, in 1863, the

business was continued by his heirs, and now Mr. R.
R. Pratt and R. P. Foster constitute the firm. Mr.
Foster was a man of pleasing manners, great indus-

try, indefatigable energy, and shrewd in his business

plans. As a railroad contractor he was the first one
in the construction of the Housatonic Railroad to

break ground north of New Milford, which was done
at the Deep Rock cut, near West Cornwall. The ma-
terial interests of the church had his especial regard.

His death, in the full vigor of life, was a serious loss

to the church and community. Mr. R. R. Pratt, as

an energetic business man, as selectman for seven

years from 1856, as representative in 1858, as deacon

of the church from 1854 to 1871, as superintendent

' of the Sabbath-school at West Cornwall since 1860,

has filled, and still holds, a prominent position in the

secular and religious interests of the town.

Widow Brewster came to Cornwall from Stratford

in 1797, with two children,—George, eight years old,

and his younger brother. Nelson. Her husband had
been lost at sea with his vessel, of which he was
owner and captain, three years before.

The Jones Family.—Caleb Jones died in Corn-

wall, Dec. 9, 1786, aged seventy-four years.

Zachariah Howe Jones, son of Caleb Jones, died

July 31, 1817, aged seventy-two years.

Caleb Jones, son of Zachariah Howe Jones, died

Aug. 3, 1854, aged seventy-two years. Jane Ann,
only child of the above Caleb, was born May 17, 1814,

and was married to John T. Andrew, Sept. 9, 1839,

and resides in the village of Cornwall.

Zachariah Howe Jones removed from Wallingford,

Conn., to Cream Hill, in Cornwall, and owned the

fiirm since occupied by the late Deacon James Wads-
worth. He afterwards removed to the south part of

the town.

On the 28th of February, 1811, Caleb was married

to Harriet Swift, daughter of Rufus Swift, and grand-

daughter of Gen. Heman Swift, of the Revolutionary

army, the friend and at one time the host of Wash-
ington.

James Beirce, father of Joseph and James, came

from Eastern Massachusetts, probably Pembroke,
about 1739, and settled on the old road east of the

Burnham place. He afterwards removed to Cornwall
Bridge. From him the late Peter Beirce, a promi-

nent business man and politician, and James Beirce,

of Cornwall Bridge, are descended.

Ephraim Clark came from England early in the

seventeenth century ; his wife came from France in

1740, and they settled in Stratford. He came to

Cornwall and bought most of the hill called, after

him, "Clark Hill." He was taken sick with the

measles, returned to Stratford, and died there. His
four sons, David, Hezekiah, Silas, and Uri, settled on
his lands. David had a son, William, who lived on
the place now occupied by his son, William L. Clark.

William was a man highly respected by his towns-

men ; had a family of six sons and six daughters,

who grew to maturity. They are now widely scat-

tered, one, William Leavitt, remaining on the old

homestead; has one son and three daughters.

Deacon Victorianus Clark was the son of Capt.

Nehemiah Clark, and brother of Pierce Clark. They
had no relationship with the other family of Clarks.

Andrew Cotter was a blacksmith by trade, and
emigrated to Cornwall from Haddam, and set up his

shop in North Cornwall.

Henry Baldwin was a Revolutionary soldier from

Saybrook, Conn. He served as a private during the

war, and returned home at its close with one hun-

dred and fifty dollars of Continental money in his

pocket. This soon depreciated in value to such an

extent that he offered the whole sum in exchange for

a bushel of wheat, and was refused. Not discouraged

by adversity, he soon after married Jane Shipman, a

native of the same town, and emigrated to Cornwall,

where he became the tenant of Deacon Noah Rogers,

on the farm now owned by T. S. Gold, in Cornwall

Hollow.

Dr. John Calhoun, son of Dr. John Calhoun, of

Washington, came to Cornwall in 1792, and in 1804

was followed by his brother. Deacon Jedediah Cal-

houn, who located as a farmer in the southwest part

of the town. Dr. Calhoun was a successful practi-

tioner for forty-six years, and had a numerous family.

John C. Calhoun went as a clerk to Plymouth in

1832, and afterwards engaged there in mercantile

business. In 1846 he went to New York, establish-

ing the firm of Calhoun & Vanderburg. The firm was

afterwards changed to Robbins, Calhoun & Co. As a

business man he was eniinentlj' successful, rapidly ac-

cumulating a handsome fortune ; but he was better

known to us as a liberal-hearted Christian gentleman.

His love for the quiet scenery of his native town in-

duced him to purchase for a summer residence the old

homestead of Parson Stone, in the village of Cornwall,

about 1866. The enthusiasm with which he entered

upon its improvement was only surpassed by his public

spirit and liberality. The adornment of the cemetery

at South Cornwall, upon which he expended one
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thousand dollars, and for the permanent care of which

he gave one thousand dollars, securely invested, and

the establishment of a town library, with a trust

fund of two thousand dollars for its annual enlarge-

ment, are examples of his judicious use of the prop-

erty committed to his stewardship. He died in New
York, Nov. 26, 1874.

Ebenezer Birdseye, residing in the south part of the

town, had a son. Victory, who received a liberal edu-

cation and became a prominent lawyer, residing in

Pompey, N. Y. He represented his district in the

Congress of the United States, and was appointed an

esjjecial attorney to prosecute the abductors of Mor-

gan. His son. Judge Lucius Birdseye, of New York,

was a graduate of Yale, 1841.

Theodore Ives, brother of Cephas Ives, of Goshen,

about 1800 came from that town, married a daughter

of Noah Kogers (4th), and set up his trade at North

Cornwall.

Rev. Mark Ives, son of Cephas, received a liberal

education, and went as a missionar}' to the Sandwich

Islands in 1836, and remained there fourteen years,

when, on account of the failure of his health, he re-

turned to this country with his family, and settled as

a farmer in Cornwall.

John Dean was an early settler.

Ensign Nathan Millard, father of Joel Millard, set-

tled on Cream Hill.

Rev. Gurdon Rexford, a Methodist minister, and

his brother, Samuel Rexford, settled on Cream Hill

towards the close of the last century.

Abiel Prindlc, who lived near Cream Hill Lake, was

the father of Warren and Joseph Prindlc. He also

had two daughters,—Alice, married Mr. Barnes, and

Anna. Warren had sons, Samuel and Harmanus,

who still survive and have families. Joseph and

Anna lived to a good old age, but remained unmar-

ried. Joseph was quite a character in his day. He
was an indulged boy, who played truant, and grew up

a slave to a hard master, even his own ungoverned

passions. In his youth he had some ambition, and

aspired to the study of Latin and to making poetry.

One stanza will suffice:

"Dr. Frank,

He ffit su crunk,

lie ilunced liko u duudy, 01

IIu jiin)]ictl HO liigh

He hit the sky,

And thought he'd got Miss FangmaD, I"

Samuel Agur .Tudson came to Cornwall in 1794,

with his sister, Sarah A., from Old Mill, Bridgeport,

and bought the farm from Mr. Thorp where Harlan

Ives now resides. He had one son, Samuel Wesley,

and several daughters. A few years since he went to

New York to live with his son, and died there in his

eighty-ninth year.

Eli Reed was a native of Fairfield County. He
was a goldsmith in the time of the Revolution, and
resided in Poughkeepsie. He went to New York, de-

signing to Remove his family there, but died, leaving a

widow and six children. Her name was Weed, and

she went back to her friends in Fairfield County,

afterwards removing with one of her brothers to

Greenfield, Saratoga Co., N. Y. Two of her sons

came to Cornwall.

Dr. Isaac Marsh was born in 1777, in Litchfield,

where his ancestors had lived. His father and grand-

father were also named Isaac. He studied medicine

with Dr. Woodward, of Torringford, but, being of

rather a nervous temperament, shrank from the prac-

tice of the profession.

William Stoddard came from Woodbury, married

Mary Willis, of Cornwall, May 27, 1809, and settled

as a manufacturer and farmer on Pond Brook, one

and a half miles from West Cornwall.

Deacon Eliakim Mallory came from Hamden near

the close of the last century, and settled where Julius

Hart now lives.

The Smiths have never been very numerous in Corn-

wall. Rev. Walter Smith came from Kent in 1819,

and in 1838 went to Ohio.

The Gold family was connected with the earliest

settlement of the State. By these first settlers, for

three generations, the name was spelled Gold, yet for

some reason portions of the family have changed to

Gould, yet most of those holding that name have no

connection with the Golds.*

Rev. Cornelius B. Everest was a son of Daniel Ev-
erest, who lived south of the village of Cornwall. He
was a graduate of Williams College; a faithful and
acceptable preacher.

The name of Harrison' has been associated with

Cornwall from the earliest period of its history.

Each generation has well sustained its part in the

history of the town, and they have spread laterally

into many families conspicuous among the i)resent

inhabitants, while their dcscendant.s are found in

many of the State.«.t

John Bradford came to Cornwall from Montville,

New London Co., about 1772; he bouglit and settled

on the farm now occupied by Fowler Bradford ; died

in 1817, about eighty years of age; married Mary
Fitch, of Norwich, Conn.; his children were named
James Fitch, Rachel, Mary, Abigail, Rebecca, and
Eleanor.

James F. Bradford was born May 1, 1767 ; was ap-

prenticed at the age of fourteen to a tanner and shoe-

maker in Montville, Conn., and serve<l seven years,

and came to Cornwall soon after the expiration of his

apprenticeship.

Coddington B. Crandall came from Goshen about

1826.

Joseph Chandler came from Danbury, Mass., in

1748, and settled where Agur Judson lived in 1845.

He lived to be about ninety years. He had sons,

—

Benjamin, who was a blacksmith, went to Fairraouth,

• S«s biography of Hoo. T. S. Gold,

t Tor dotalloil lilstory, ice biography.
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Vt., and was killed at the battle of Bennington. Ab-
ner in 1774 sold his place to Jethro Bonney, and went

to Piermont, N. H. Jonathan lived where Jabez

Baldwin lived, and went to Piermont, N. H. Simeon,

after 1754, lived at New Milford. A daughter married

Ephraim Patterson, brother of Matthew.

The Kelloggs were also early settlers. (See biogra-

phy of Frederick Kellogg.)

The name of Hart seems to be common to several

nationalities. England, Scotland, and Ireland have

their Harts. The origin of the name is not made
known, perhaps from David's beautiful animal that

panted for the water-brooks. The variety in spelling

is not great ; the prevailing is simply Hart, occasion-

ally Hartt, Harte, Heart, Hearte. Tradition has it

that three brothers came to this country early in its

settlement, and the name is prominently connected

with the settlement of various places.

" Honest John Hart," as he was called, was a sou

of one of the brothers, and was a signer of the Decla-

ration of Independence, being a member of the General

Congress from New Jersey.

John Hart, second son of Deacon John, born Octo-

ber, 1714, at Kensington, moved to Canaan, Conn., in

1740, and to Cornwall in 1763, where he became a

large land-holder. He died Dec. 18, 1773, aged fifty-

nine years.

Deacon Solomon, third son, born Oct. 1, 1724,

moved to Cornwall in 1764, making many purchases

of land on the river from Cornwall Bridge to Canaan

line, also largely in the present Hart school district.

He built the large white house which stood near the

present site of Mr. Isaac Marsh's residence, which was

called Hart's tavern, and the locality now West Corn-

wall was then known as Hart's Bridge.

Phineas Hart, of the sixth generation, third son of

Deacon Solomon, born in 1758, did valiant service for

his country in the Kevolution. He was a pensioner

of the general government. He married, and lived in

Cornwall, where he had children,—Lot, Solomon,

Mary, Experience, and Jane. He removed West,

where his children remained. He died in Cornwall

in 1728, aged seventy years.

Captain Elias Hart, fourth son of Deacon Solomon,

was born May 11, 1759. He was a brave youth, and

when the war for independence came, although scarcely

sixteen years of age, he gave his services heartily to

his country, and through seven campaigns unflinch-

ingly faced the foe and met the privations of war.

One inclement winter, when the smallpox was raging

with fatal effect in camp, he inoculated himself, and

thus came through this fearful scourge in safety. The

inkstand he used after the war was a small metal flask

taken from the enemy at Danbury. He served the

town many years in positions of trust and honor, and

received a pension till his decease, at the age of

seventy-five, in 1834.

Titus, oldest son of Solomon Hart, was born in

Farmington, June 4, 1754; came to Cornwall with

his father at the age of ten years. He married Esther

Hand, and lived in a house where Mrs. H. M. Hart's

barn now stands.

Deacon Hart was largely identified with the religious

interests of the town and Litchfield North Consocia-

tion ; a man of strong mind and good sense. H. Mil-

ton was judge of probate, justice of the peace, surveyor,

and in the winter months taught music in various

places in the State. Nathan represented the town in

the Legislature in 1860, and held many positions of

trust in the civil and business affairs of the town; was
also member of the State Board of Agriculture from

Litchfield County, and its treasitrer for several years.

Deacon Samuel Adams, of the Baptist Church, came
to Cornwall from New Bedford in 1800. He first lived

as a tenant in the Hollow ; afterwards on Cream Hill,

and finally bought a farm of Nathan Wickwire on

Waller Hill. He enjoyed little opportunity of edu-

cation, but was a man of decided opinions, and well

informed upon all public matters. He served an ap-

prenticeship as a wheelwright at Westerly, R. I. His

father was a captain of a privateer in the time of the

Revolution, and perished while in action, his vessel

being blown up by the explosion of the magazine.

The Beers Family.—England is credited with

being the fatherland of the Beers, and the genealogi-

cal records of the family trace back to the feudal age,

under the name of Beare, which was afterwards writ-

ten Bears, with a coat of arms to correspond.* The
family were represented in the English army during

the reign of Charles I., and received a grant of land

in the north of Ireland for services rendered, and a

branch of the family permanently settled in that

country in 1646. John Beers, the founder of the

family in this country, was accepted an inhabitant of

the town of Stratford, in Fairfield Co., Nov. 25, 1678.

It is supposed he was accompanied by his wife and
four sons.

Matthew Beers, youngest son of Joseph Beers, mar-

ried Sarah Curtis, of Stratford, and left a family,

—

Curtis, Silas, Menzis, Otis, Lewis, Lucinda.

Curtis, eldest son of Matthew Beers, was born in

Stratford, March 25, 1789. At the age of seventeen •

be was apprenticed to the shoemaker's trade, and three

years after purchased his time, as was customary then,

and engaged to Enoch Curtis to work at his trade in

Darien, Ga., where at the expiration of two years

he opened a boot and shoe store. In the summer of

1812 the store was consumed by fire, leaving him

penniless, and in October, 1812, he came to Cornwall,

and engaged with Capt. Nehemiah Clark in the cur-

ing of leather and the making of boots and shoes.

Married Alice Curtis, of Stratford, Sept. 22, 1817, and

in November of same year purchased, in connection

with his brother Menzis, the house now occupied by

* The coat of arms are described as follows; Anns argent (silver);

a bear rampant, " sable" (black) ; canton gules (red) ; crest on a garb

lying fipwiee
( ) "or" (gold) ; a raven "sable" (black). Motto: Bear

and forbear.
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Menzis Beers at Cornwall. For several years they

manufactured boots and shoes for the Southern mar-

ket, a brother, Lewis Beers, taking charge of the busi-

ness in Athens, Ga. In 1822 he purchased a farm

of Luman Hopkins, near Cornwall Bridge, and re-

moved there in 1826, and engaged in farming, which

occupation he followed until his decease, March 10,

1848. He left a family,—Job W. C, born July 9,

1818 ; Henry L., born May 9, 1823 ; Sarah E., born

Oct. 25, 1825 ; Victory C, born Sept. 25, 1832.

Henry L. Beers represented the town in the General

Assembly in 1872 and 1876 ; was selectman for some

years, and held many offices of trust.

Sarah E. married Hiram Pierce, of Thomaston, May
31, 1849 ; her only daughter married Dr. Edward Brad-

street, and i.s settled in Meriden.

Victory C. Beers married Sarah C. Harrison, daugh-

ter of Myron Harrison, June 2, 1862, and has one son,

George H., born July 15, 1866. He was for several

years a member of the Democratic State Central Com-
mittee ; represented the Seventeenth Senatorial Dis-

trict in the Senate of 1870 ; was selected as chairman

of the board of selectmen in 1876.

Menzis Beers, third son of Mattliew, was born in

Stratford, July 23, 1795; he permanently settled in

Cornwall in 1817, and engaged with his brothers Curtis

and Lewis in the curing of leather and the manufac-

turing of boots and shoes for the Southern market.

They opened a store in Athens, Ga., under the name
and firm of C. & M. Beers & Co. Married Laura,

daughter of Capt. John Pierce, Jan. 1, 1820, and has

two sons,—John W., born Jan. 15, 1822; Silas C,
born March 13, 1827.

In 1840, Menzis Beers engaged in the mercantile

business with F. Kellogg, at Cornwall, under the firm-

name of F. Kellogg & Co., which continued two years

;

but in 1842 the firm of J. \V. & S. C. Boors opened a

store at North Cornwall for general merchandising

and the manufacturing of gloves and mittens, wliicli

continued witli several partners till 1860, when the

business was removed to South Cornwall, under the

firm-name of M. Beers & Sons.

John W. Beers represented the town in the General

Assembly of 1857, and Silas C. was cliosen town clerk

and treasurer in 1852, which office he held continu-

ously for fourteen years, and in 1867 he represented

the town in the General Assembly.

Gen. Robert Sedgwick, one of the first settlers of

Charlestown, Mass., was the progenitor of that family

in this country. He wa.s one of the most distin-

guisheil men of his time, and, according to the record,

"was stout and active in all feats of war." This was

in Cromwell's time, and the account of his services

against tlie French and in other public positions is

very complete. He died at Jamaica, W. I., May 24,

l(i.5(;. He had five children, one of whom, William,

married Elizabeth Stone, daughter of Rev. Sanuiel

Stone, of Hartford, and had one child, Samuel, born

1667 ; died March 24, 1735, in his sixty-ninth year.

The Shepaed Family.—Allen Shepard came to

Cornwall from Newtown, with his family, in 1798. His

son, Eliphalet H. Shepard, was born in Newton, 1789

;

married, July 7, 1813, Mary, daughter of Judah Kel-

logg ; died Aug. 12, 1865, leaving four children,

—

George H., Charles N., who resided in Brooklyn,

N. Y., and died, unmarried, at West Cornwall, July 23,

1876, Elbert, and Harriett.

Elbert, born May 2, 1824, married. May 31, 1846,

Cynthia L., daughter of George Wheaton, and has

one son, George W., born Dec. 25, 1854.

Mr. Shepard is a farmer, residing at West Corn-

wall at this time (1878) ; represents the town in the

General Assembly, and has held many offices of

trust. He is a Methodist, and a prominent sup-

porter of that denomination ; but his generous dona-

tion to the chapel at West Cornwall, and especially

the gift from himself and his family of the location,

will ever remain as a testimonial of their liberal

Christian spirit.

Eliphalet Shepard was a Methodist, an earnest

worker in that denomination ; a man pure and peace-

able, and much respected by his fellow-citizens.

Dr. Joseph North resided north of the Carrington

Todd place, and practiced medicine for many years.

He died Sept. 22, 1848, aged seventy-six.

Darius Webb came from Warren in 1832, as agent

of the Cornwall Bridge furnace, where he remained

about twenty years.

John T. Andrew, a native of the county of New
Haven, was born July 19, 1811

;
graduated at Yale,

1839; studied theology in the Yale Theological Sem-
inary, and graduated in 1842 with the [lighest honors

of his class. Prevented from entering upon his chosen

profession by bronchial disease, after waiting two

years, spent partly in teaching a select school in Corn-

wall, and finding little improvement of his voice, he

turned his attention to agriculture, and in 1847 pur-

chased a farm near West Cornwall, and engaged in

his new calling with great enthusiasm and success.

Woodrntr Emmons became the owner of the Hol-

loway house, and kept a tavern there during the Rev-

olutionary war.

THE EMMUNS TAVERN.

"One hundred years ago, in the centre of the town

there was a tavern of some notoriety in its day, which

stood near the summit of a high hill, overlooking, in

u southern direction, a wide extent of country, em-

bracing a beautiful valley.

"The buililing wa-s distinguished by the peculiar

architecture not altogether uncommon at that period

in the construction of the better class of dwellings.

Large nuissive scrolls and roses of carved work orna-

mented the tops and sides of the doorways, while the

windows, of six-by-eight gla-ss, were surmounted by

heavy angular projecting caps. The doors were

wrought with curvilinear styles and panels, sur-

mounted also, like the windows, with the angular pro-
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jecting caps. The body of the house was painted a

light red, the windows and doors being trimmed with

white. The large square chimney-top exhibited,

neatly cut in a stone on its front side, the figures

1758, being the year in whicli the house was built.

Few dwellings at the present day exhibit so elaborate

a finish as appeared in its exterior. The interior was

more plain. The best rooms, however, were finished

with a dark, heavy wainscot, nearly half-way to the

ceiling above, on three sides, while on the fourth the

wood-work covered the whole. A pla.ster of lime

mortar covered the remaining portions of the walls.

On the chimney side of each of the front rooms there

was a huge fireplace, with a wooden mantel-tree

;

in the wainscoting above there was inserted au

immense panel some four or five feet in breadth.

The remaining parts of the house were done with

plain wooden ceilings, leaving the joists, which were

neatly planed, naked overhead. The wood-work was

painted either red or blue ; the latter, being considered

the most genteel color, was applied to the two front

rooms of the first story, the one being used for the

best room or parlor, and the other as the bar-room.

In one corner of the latter was a space six feet square,

parted oft" by a ceiling four and a half feet high. This

inclosure was called the bar. Around the two posterior

sides of the bar were placed several shelves contain-

ing various articles, of which the most conspicuous

were several square bottles filled with difi'erent kinds

of liquors. One was labeled " Old Holland Gin," an-

other " French Brandy," and a third " Orange-peel Bit-

ters." By the side of these stood drinking-vessels of

various kinds,.some of glass and others of pewter. A
large conical loaf of white sugar, inclosed in a thick

dark-purple jjaper, was also conspicuous, while beside

it stood a large, round, covered wooden box, contain-

ing many broken pieces of the same ready for use.

The furniture of the bar-room consisted of a large

heavy oaken table, composed of a single leaf, one or

two forms or benches, and some half-dozen splint-

bottomed chairs.

" The house here described stood upon a terrace

some three or four feet high, sustained on two sides

by a wall of unhewn stones, the entrance being up a

flight of large stone steps ; the side-hill position of

the building rendering this arrangement quite con-

venient. Just exterior to this terrace, and about

thirty feet from the building, stood the sign-post, from

the rectangular bar of which was suspended the

sign.

" In front of this tavern was an open space or com-

mon, sixteen rods in width and forty in length, called

the green ; it was nearly destitute of trees, and fur-

nished the ordinary parade-ground for the militia,

and place for town gatherings on gala days or other

public occasions. On the opposite side of the green

from the tavern, and near the northwest corner, stood

the meeting-house, a large and respectable-looking

edifice, where all the inhabitants of the town usually

met on the Sabbath. Fronting the extreme southern

part of the common or green stood the parsonage of

the Rev. Hezekiah Gold ; about half a dozen other

dwellings completed the centre village."

WHIPPING-POST AND STOCKS.

" About six rods from the tavern, and directly in

front of it, near the traveled path, stood a wooden
post about ten inches square and seven feet in height,

placed firmly and perpendicularly in the earth. Near
the ground a large mortice was made through the post,

in which were placed the ends of two stout pieces of

plank, five feet in length, lying edgewise, one to the

other. The under one was made immovable in the post,

while the upper plank was movable up and down by

a hinge-like motion. Between the edges of these

planks were four round holes, one-half of each hole

being cut from each plank; the two half-circles when
joined made an opening of the right size to embrace a

person's ankles. On the outer ends of these horizon-

tal planks were appended a stout iron hasp and sta-

ples, designed when in use to be secured in place with

a heavy padlock. The fixture here described an-

swered the double purpose of posting warnings for

town-meetings or other public notices, as well as for

a whipping-post and stocks."

CHAPTER XXXL
CORNWALL (Contmued).

CongregatioDal ChurL-li, Coruwall—Congregatioiinl Cluircb, North Corn-

wall—Cornwall and Sharon Baptist Chnrch—Baptist Cluirch, Cornwall

Hollow—Baptist Church, East CHjrnwall—Metlloilist Episcopal Church,

Cornwall Bridge—Educational—The Foreign Mission-School—Cream

Hill Agricultural School—W. 0. and Miss L. Rogers' School—Noah E.

and E. Burton Halt's School—Young Ladies' Institute—The Alger In-

stitute—Physicians—Cemeteries—Organization of Town—Representa-

tives from 1761 to 1882—Soldiers of the Revolution—Soldiers of the

Rebellion, 1851-66.

ECCLESIASTICAL.

CONGREGATIONAL CHURCH, CORNWALL.

The organization of this church is co-existent with

the incorporation of the town. The town was incor-

porated in May, 1740, and at the first town-meeting,

held on the first day of the following July, the first

vote in regard to the religious welfare of the town,

viz.

:

" VoUd, That the whole charge of Mr. Harrison's preaching amongst

us, together with the charge of bringing him here and boarding him,

we will pay out of the first tax that shall be assessed."

The Mr. Harrison mentioned had been here for a

short time previously. He was the first preacher in

the town. From whence he came or whither he went

there is no record.

The next vote in this meeting was

:

" Voted, We will send Mr. Millard to agree with a minister, and bring

him to preach amongst us."
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And also,

" Voted, That said Millard do advise the miDisters what sort of a mau
to bring to preach amongst us."

At this meeting it was also

" Votefh That we think it necessary and convenient to build a meeting-

house,"

which vote was unanimous to a man.

Mr. Millard not being successful in obtaining a

preacher, seven weeks after that first town-meeting the

inhabitants again assembled, 18th of August, and re-

newed their eiforts for a minister, appointing a com-

mittee of George Holloway, Joseph Allen, and Na-

thaniel Jewell, to secure, as soon as possible, a

preacher, to continue to them until the 1st of April,

1741,—that is, for seven or eight months. And this

committee was directed to take the advice of neigh-

boring ministers in the choice of such a preacher. At
the same meeting it was '

" Voted, That we will build a meeting-house for public worship 48 feet

in length and 3S in bresidth. and 24 feet between joints."

Also,

" Voted, That George Holloway shall be an agent to address the General

Assembly at Kew Haven, October next, to appoiut a committee to state

the place where the meeting-house shall stand,"

Also,

" Voted, That David Rugg should be the chorister till we agree other-

wise."

Also,

" Voted, That George Holloway shall read the Psalm."

Also,

*' Voted, That we will meet for public worship at Mr. Samuel Messen- :

ger's house till the town order otherwise."

When and by whom the church, the articles of

faith, and church covenant were formed are now en- !

tircly unknown ; nor is it known who were the
'

members comprising the church. Whether such or-

ganization w!w previous or subsequent to their first

minister's preaching to them cannot be ascertained.

Whether any preaclier was employed during tlie
j

winter of 1740-41 is uncertain, but the peoi)le did not
" forget the as.semblingof themselves together" in the

worship of God, and David Rugg continued their

stated leader in singing.
j

The Rev. .Solomon Palmer, of Branford, Conn., ed-

ucated at Yale College, wiio graduated there 1729, '

was in the town in the spring of 1741 as a preacher. '

On the first Thursday ofMarch, 1741, the people met
;

according to an adjournment of a meeting three

months before, and voted to liire Mr. Palmer to

preach to them until the 1st of June as a candidate

for settlement.

Ten weeks alter. May 24th, the town met at the

house of Samuel Messenger, and passed the following

vote:
I

"That, with the ailvice and consent of tlio neighboring mInUten, wo
will call the Uev. Mr. Solomon Palmer to a settlement with ua In the
goepol ministry in thin place."

j

20

They added to this call

:

"Th.it we will give Mr. Palmer the following salary, to be paid in

money equal in silver at twenty-eight shillings per ounce; For the first

year, which is to begin at the day of his ordination, two hundred pounds,

the half of which shall be paid at said ordination ; the second year, one

hundred pounds; the third, one hundred and ten pounds; and so rise

ten pounds a year till it comes at one hundred and sixty pounds, to be

paid annually so long as he continues in the work of the ministry in

this place."

Soon after, the town granted Mr. Palmer fifty pounds

additional to his settlement of two hundred pounds.

In addition to his salary and settlement, Mr. Palmer

was entitled to a whole right of land, or what was one

fifty-third share of the town, the amount of which in

land was not far from six hundred acres.

Mr. Palmer was ordained on the second Wednesday
of August, 1741.

The first deacons of Cornwall Church were Jonathan
Harris, who came from Derby and settled on Clark

Hill, near Goshen, and Phineas Waller, who emi-

grated from New Milford, and whose residence was
half a mile northwest from Deacon Nathan Hart's, on
Waller Hill.

For twelve years and seven months Mr. Palmer re-

mained peacefully with his flock, during which time

the town increa-sed in population very considerably.

No records of the church of those years are extant,

and no list of church communicants.

In March, 1754, Mr. Palmer declared, on the Sab-
bath, and to the great surprise of all his people, that

his ordination had no validity, that he was an Epis-

copalian, and that he now renounced his ministry

among them.

There were but few Episcopalians in Connecticut;

a church of that denomination had been existing in

Stratford, and in 1722 the Rev. Mr. Cutler, rector of
Yale College, became an Episcopalian. After this

there were a few more added to the number.

It is believed that several of .Mr. Palmer's parish-

ioners were at first incline<l to think favorably of his

change of opinion ; but very fvw only continued so,

for he claimed his land, whicli was granted to the first

minister, but the people resented the claim as unjust,

for h« had deserted his charge. A lawsuit wa.s com-
menced, but the matter was compromised, he giving

up a part of his demand.

This controversy, it is probable, prevented the estab-

lishment of an Episcopal churcii in this town, for the

people had held their pastor in high estimation.

Mr. Palmer went to England, was there ordained

as a pritwt, and sent back as a missionary of the

Church of Englan<l. He had an olferof a permanent
settlement at Ainboy, N. J., with an ample salary,

but, from the reluctance of his wife to go thither, he
remained in Connecticut. He preached at Goshen,

at New Milford, and itinerated in various parts of the

western section of the State.

Mr. Palmer derived no pecuniary benefit from

leaving his parochial charge at Cornwall, but experi-

enced the contrary.
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For seventeen months after this defection of the

first pastor the town had no settled minister.

Whether Mr. Palmer took away or destroyed the

records of this infant church, or they were lost by the

careless neglect of others, is unknown ; not a scrap of

such history is extant. It is not known whether any

one preached in Cornwall except Mr. Gold until his

installment. This was on the 27th of August, 1755.

The Rev. Hezekiah Gold was a native of Stratford,

a descendant from a family highly honorable, being

a grandson of the Hon. Lieutenant-Governor Nathan
Gold, and a son of the Rev. Hezekiah Gold, of Strat-

ford. His father, who was an evangelical pastor of

the First Congregational Church of Stratford, advo-

cated the cause of the revival of religion first referred

to, and was a friend to Mr. Whitefield and to his asso-

ciates. His son, who became the minister of this town,

was educated at Yale College, where he graduated in

1751. He possessed a superior mind, having talents

comprehensive and penetrating, by which he easily

obtained a thorough knowledge of human nature, and
of course able to acquire much influence with whom
he associated. Until unhappy dissensions took place,

in the latter part of his ministry, Mr. Gold's influ-

ence among the people and families of his chju-ge was
almost unbounded. In every concern, private and
public, civil, military, and domestic, the advice and
opinion of Mr. Gold was esteemed as highly impor-

tant. During the former and greater part of his min-

isterial labors, a very large assembly gathered at the

house of God on the Sal)bath, which stood nearly op-

posite to the house of George Holloway, Esq.,—the

house now owned by Ithamar Baldwin.

The following were the male members of Mr. Gold's

church, April 3, 1783 : Joshua Pierce, Caleb Jones,

Woodruff'Emmons, Amos Jones, Edward May, James
Bierce, Joseph Pangman, Jacob Brownson, John
Pierce, John Wright, Jacob Brownson, Jr., Nathaniel

Swift, Zachariah H. Jones, Seth Pierce, Nehemiah
Beardsley, Ralph Grimes, Timothy Brownson, Deacon
J. Kellogg, Ketchel Bell, Lemuel Jennings, Dar.

Everest, Ebenezer Symonds, Thomas Tanner, John
Benedict, Austin Bierce, John Jones, Josiah Stephens,

Seymour Morse, Elias Birdsey, Joel Wood, Amos
Camp. Mr. CJold, the pastor, makes thirty-three.

Pastors.—The following is a list of pastors from the

organization of the church to the present time: Solo-

mon Palmer, 1741-54 ; Hezekiah Gold, Jr., 1755-90;

Hercules Weston, 1792-1803 ; Timothy Stone, 1803-

27 ; William Andrews, 1827-38 ; Nathaniel M. Um-
ston, 1838-40 ; Hiram Day, 1844-48 ; Ralph Smith,

1851-55; Ira Pettibone,* 18.54-57; Stephen Fenn,
1859-67 ; Elias B. Sanford, 18(59-71 ; N. A. Prince,

1872-74; Samuel J. White, 1875, present incumbent.

Beacons.—John Harris, Phinehas Waller, Benjamin
Sedgwick, Samuel Abbott, date of appointment un-

known ; Thomas Porter, chosen Oct. 8, 1765 ; Elijah

* Acting pastor.

Steel, June 24, 1773 ; Judah Kellogg, Josiah Hop-
kins, June 20, 1776 ; Benjamin Gold, Abel C. Carter,

July 9, 1812; Jedediah Calhoun, December, 1819;

Victorianus Clark, March 4, 1831 ; Henry Swift, Silas

P. Judson, July 21, 1839; Marcus D. F. Smith, Jan.

5, 1855 ; Robert T. Miner, George H. Swift, Jan. 6,

1867 ; Silas C. Beers, Dec. 13, 1868 ; Harlan Ives.

The first resolutions passed by the people of Corn-

wall—in town-meeting assembled a.d. 1740—was to

get a minister, and the second was like unto it, viz.

:

to build a " meeting-house." In due time the minister

was obtained, and the house was commenced,—I will

not say built : I think it never was built.

In 1745 the town passed a resolution accepting the

house of the builders, so far as the work had pro-

gressed, and ordered that it be set apart to God for

purposes of worship.

The house was only covered with shingles and clap-

boards, and in it the people worshiped, summer and
winter, without fire, except what burned upon God's

altar. The church was located at Cornwall Centre, a

mile distant from this village.

In 1790 this church was taken down, enlarged, and

put up again in this village, near where the liberty-

pole now stands.

In 1840 or 1841 the old house was torn down
and the present one built.

In 1874 a beautiful chapel was built upon the

grounds upon which the old mission-house of the

American Board once stood.

CONGREGATIONAL CHURCH, NORTH CORNWALL.!

This church was organized in the fall of 1780J by

seceders from the South Church. The first members
were Andrew Young, Phineas Waller, Elijah Steele,

Samuel Butler, Noah Bull, James Douglass, Marsh
Douglass, David Clark, and Hezekiah Clark. Within

two years the following were added, making, in 1782,

thirteen members : Beriah Hotchkin, Noah Rogers

(3d), Ethan Allan, Jesse Hyatt, Mrs. B. Hotchkin,

Mrs. P. Waller. In 1805 the following were members
of the church: Noah Rogers, Sr. (3d), Elijah Mal-

lory and wife, Hezekiah Clark, David Clark, Jesse

Hyatt and wife, Nathan Hart and wife, Thaddeus

Cowles and wife, Titus Hart, Ichabod Howe, Silas

Meacham, Mrs. Samuel Scovill, Sr., Mrs. Samuel

Scovill, Jr., wife of Capt. Williams, Clarissa Irene

Rogers, wife of Joseph Ford, wife of Philo Hawes,

Mrs. Silas Clark, Abigail Hart, widow of John Hart,

wife of Asa Emmons, Ira Gleason, wife of Joseph

Hotchkin.

The first pastor was Rev. Samuel Bird, who re-

mained, however, but a few months. The following

is a list of pastors from the organization of the church

to the present time : Rev. Samuel Bird ; John Corn-

t Condensed from K. R. Prattle historical address and Rer. N. Fitch's

memorial sermon.

X Contributions to Eccleainstical History of Connecticut gives date of

organization 1782.
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wall; Israel Holley, 1795-1801 ; Josiah Hawes * 1805-

13; Grove L. Brownell, 1817-18; Walter Smith,

1819-38
; S. J. Tracy, 1838-39 ; Joshua L. Maynard,

1841-52 ; W. B. Clarke, 1855-59
;
Charles Wetherby,

1859-66 ; Jesse Brush, 1867-73. Charles N. Fitch, the

present efficient pastor, was installed in 1874. Mr.

Fitch is a graduate of Yale Theological Seminary,

class of '78.

The deacons of the church have been as follows

:

Beriah Hotchkiu, Phineas Waller, Hezekiah Clark,

David Clark, Titus Hart, Eleakim Mallory, Nathan

Hart, Noah Rogers, James Wadsworth, R. R. Pratt,

E. D. Pratt, T. S. Gold, Egbert M. Rogers.

The Second Ecclesiastical Society was incorporated

in 1804. The first church edifice was erected on the

site of James D. Ford's homestead. In 1785 the sec-

ond meeting-house was commenced on the site of the

present school-house at Cornwall Centre. In 1790

the finst house was taken down, and rebuilt in the

vicinity of the present church at Cornwall. The
present church was erected in 1826, and Jan. 11, 1827,

was dedicated to Almighty God.

METHODISTS.

The new Methodist church at the Centre wsis erected

in the year 1839.

Many pious and worthy ministers of the gospel

have preached their one or two years in Cornwall

since the first introduction of Methodism into the

town.
BAPTISTS.

In the summer of ISOO, Samuel Wadsworth, son of

Mr. Joseph Wadsworth, then living on Cream Hill,

and a grandson of Mr. James Douglass, was l)ai)tizcd

by a Baptist minister in the Cream Hill Lake. This

ceremony, from its novelty at the time, attracted a

large attendance of people. There may have been

Baptists here at an earlier day, but no acce.ssibJe rec-

ords furnish data of their existence in this town jire-

vious to the above date. Among the early Baptist

preachers in Cornwall were the Rev. Messrs. Bates,

Fuller, and Talmadge. Elder Fuller, the father of

Mrs. Deacon Nettleton, had not a permanent resi-

dence in this town, but often preached at the house

of Capt. Samuel Wadswortli on Cream Hill. He was
peculiarly solemn and earnest in jjrcsenting his sub-

ject to his hearers, sometimes e.xciting to tears even

the children, who would listen to him in breathle-^s

silence. His residence was in Kent, wliere some of

his descendants yet remain.

ROMAN CATHOLIC.

A small Roman Catholic church was erected at

West Cornwall al)()ut 1850.

CONGREGATIONAL CHURCH, WEST CORNWALL.

The chapel at West Cornwall was commenced in

* Between the pastornteA of Mr. Hnwc« and Mr. Bruwnell, ReT. Fnuicis

L. RobblDH nnti a Mr. Ilawley preaclioU aa candldulos.

1877, and dedicated Jan. 3, 1878. It was erected at a

cost of four thousand dollars.

COENWALL AND SHARON BAPTIST CHUECH.f

for upwards of thirty years woven into the ecclesias-

tical aft'airs of the town of Cornwall, ought not to be

overlooked in this history. The meeting-house, raised

about 1820, in North Cornwall, is still standing (used

as a dwelling, and owned by Hon. T. S. Gold). Its

membership was from forty to sixty in its best days,

and among its pastors we may mention Elders Samuel

Ambler and Asa Talmadge, both ofwhom owned farms

and supported themselves by that occupation, preach-

ing on the Sabbath purely for the good they might do.

The deacons were Samuel Adams and Elijah Nettle-

ton. The church dissolved about 1843, but was the

father of the church whose history follows this. Many
of the members were, though the property was not,

transferred. The records were burned in a fire that

destroyed the house of Deacon Holmes. But two of

the members are still living, one of whom adds to the

records here given :
" Though the books are burned

and the house disused, many names are on a book

that even the conflagration of a universe will not

reach, for whom there was prepared a mansion in the

heavens that ' faileth not.'
"

BAPTIST CHURCH IN CORNWALL HOLLOW.f

On the 13th of November, 1843 (by the advice of

Elder N. E. Shailer and Elder A. D. Watrous, mis-

sionaries under the patronage of the Connecticut

Baptist State Convention), Zebulon O. Lawton, Eliza-

beth B. Lawton, Sarali A. Nettleton, and Jane E.

Nettleton, baptized believers in Je.sus Christ, pub-

licly gave themselves to the Lord and to one another,

by His will entering into a covenant.

In tlie constitution of the church, whicli was adopted

March 25, 1844, at tlie house of Lcighton Bradley,

tlu'V adopted the name of the "North Cornwall Bap-

tist Churcli," after the old society, a name that seems

afterwards to have been changed by common consent

to Cornwall Hollow Baptist Church.

According to custom among Baptists, a Council was
convened at the house of Ranslcy Hull, .\pril 17,

1844, "to examine our covenant and declaration of

faith, and (if the Council think best) to give us pub-

lic fellowship as a church." Sermon by Rev. G. B.

Atwell from Acts xi. 26.

The house of worship, still in good repair, was

built in 1845, and dedicatcil the same year.

Wc find that discipline >vas not neglected, and from

the following example wc judge that churches at the

present time are derelict. After several churdi-meet-

ings, in which the ca.se came up, but was deferred for

further council and prayer, alter two separate com-
mittees had been appointed to confer with the offend-

ing member, wc find the following record: " Heurd

I Oonlrlbntad bj R»t. It. O. Smllh.
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the report of the committee appointed to visit

. Report accepted. On finding from the com-

mittee that she was neglecting her covenant obliga-

tions with God and the church, and that she at-

tended parties and balls, after mature deliberation,

the church voted to withdraw from her the hand of

fellowship."

Jan. 1, 1847, a number of members and others

assembled at the house of A. B. Holmes, appointed

Elder E. Doty moderator, and proceeded to organize

a branch of the Cornwall Hollow Church, and re-

ceived members. By a vote of the parent church

shortly after, these were iiermitted to become members

on the presentation of their letters.

A sad disturbance seems to have entered the church,

owing to their action in regard to the misconduct of a

previous pastor. A church-meeting was called, com-

posed of all the members " in regular travel at the

time." Confessions were sought from each as in their

judgment the Lord required, and " they proceeded to

travel onward in the capacity of a church," though

bearing scars that time reftised to heal. The resur-

rection Ijody will come up without them.

In October, 185'), the pastor. Rev. William M.

Simons, and wife and four members, withdrew to

unite, with sixteen other members residing in and

about Falls Village, in forming a separate church.

Shortly after this branch became a church (the record

does not say how long) it was beset by embarrassments,

the minister removed West, and at length the church

gave up the field, selling the property to the Congre-

gationalists, who occupy the place.

The first pastor was Rev. N. E. Shailer, from Feb.

20, 1844, to March 1, 1845. This office he combined

with that of general State missionary, preaching for

them only when providentially in that vicinity. It

was through his instrumentality largely that the

society was formed. In this work he was assisted by

Rev. A. D. Watrous, also State missionary.

The first settled pastor was John P. Barnett, who

was settled April 1, 1845, and was to be " paid two

hundred and fifty dollars for his labors." From

March 1st to April 1st he was to preach " for the con-

sideration of five dollars in money and teams to move

his goods from Northeast." We find also on the

records a document duly signed and countersigned, in

which the above Barnett stipulates, for the specified

sum, that he will "preach for the term of one year,

twice on the Sabbath and once during the week, if

requested by the committee." He was dismissed at

the end of the year, and Elder Alfred Gates was

chosen to succeed him. Jan. 13, 1849, we find his

resignation accepted by a vote of the church. He
appears to have been succeeded immediately by Rev.

E. N. Jenks, who was the next pastor, until 1850,

when they saw fit to give " Elder S. Gate a call, so

long as the church will raise the salary." That was

not long, as we find at the next annual meeting the

committee was instructed to "supply the desk" the

year ensuing. This, however, was fortunately done

by securing, some time during the year, the pastoral

labors of Elder William M. Simons, for we find at the

next annual meeting they voted to continue him as

their pastor. He was a laborious and efficient minis-

ter, and April 27, 1853, a Council ordained him to the

work of the ministry in that place.

From this time onward the records are imperfect,

but from 1854 to 1858 Rev. Thomas Benedict and

Rev. E. Doty appear to have filled successively the

pastoral office. May 22, 1859, George Pay was called

to become their pastor, after ordination, which oc-

curred on the 15th of June. He remained two

years, after which Rev. Charles Y. Swan, Rev. George

B. Atwell, Rev. A. H. Simons, and Rev. Mr. Jones

supplied the desk, but the records are imperfect at

this point. Dec. 23, 1863, the society voted to call

Rev. L. W. Wheeler to the pastorate, which he filled

two years.

From this time forward fifteen years the church

was without a settled Baptist minister, and listened

to the preaching of such men as Providence threw in

their way, sometimes the Congregational minister in

North Cornwall, and more often the Methodist pastor

at North Goshen. During this time no church-

meetings were held, many moved away, some died,

and others connected themselves with neighboring

churches. Their light nearly went out. From a

membership of over a hundred it was reduced to four

or five. Yet it was not to die.

In 1876 missionaries of the Connecticut Baptist

Convention visited the place, which resulted in some

awakening and additions to the church. This was

followed in 1880 by Rev. H. G. Smith, pastor of the

churches in East Cornwall and Bantam Falls, coming

and preaching every two weeks, alternating with Rev.

C. N. Fitch, Congregational pastor at North Corn-

wall. Now, 1881, Mr. Smith is acting pastor, preach-

ing in his two other fields during the day, and in this

place every Sabbath evening.

Before closing this history, there is one man whose

work and worth, in connection with this church,

demands more than passing notice. Deacon A. W.
Lawton was received into membership from the North

Cornwall Baptist Church, dissolved Dec. 12, 1843, and

was " appointed to take the lead of religious meetings

when there is no regular minister present." Shortly

afterwards he was elected deacon, which office he sus-

tained to the end of his life.

The following extracts are taken fi-om an article

which appeared in the Christian Secretary at the time

of his death

:

•'DEACON A. W. LAWTON.

" Deacon Amos Wells Lawton died at his residence in Goshen, Wed-

nesday morning, Feb. 16, IS'^l, in the eighty-fourth year of his age. He
was born in Hopkinton, R. I., May 1, 1797. In 1828 he moved to Goshen,

where he resided until his death.

" In the year 1843 himself and wife, with some half-dozen others, joined

in organizing the Baptist Church of Cornwall Hollow, of which he be-

came deacon, and so remained at the time of his death. As the most
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prominent of the organizers and supporters of the interest, he found and

filled a sphere most useful and honorable, his house being the home of

many of the members of the ministry of the Baptist denomination in the

northwestern portion of the State, while many can attest the spirit of

generous hospitality which always dwelt beneath his roof. He was ever

identified with Baptist interests, and took an active interest in the Litch-

field County Baptist Association, of which for many years he was the

treasurer.

*' He represented his town in the State Legislature of 1853, and held at

various times most of the otlices of trust and responsibility in Goshen,

where the most of the years of his active life were passed."

COLLEGE STREET BAPTIST CHUROH, EAST COBNWALL.*

This church was constituted in the town of Warren,

Nov. 15, 1787, under the name of the Warren Baptist

Church, with the following members : Benjamin Dun-

ning, Asahel Wedge, Samuel Sturdivant, Truman

Beeman, Ely Dayton, John Lord, Ira Wedge, Salmon

Wedge, Samuel Sturdivant, Jr., Isaac Dunning, Anna
Beeman, Hannah Wedge, Mercy Dunning, Sarah

Sturdivant, Hannah Raynold, Rachel Beeman, Abi-

gail Pratt, Jerusha Thomson, Jemima Cogswell, Abi-

gail Spooner, Anner Sturdivant, Sarah Merriman.

In 1790 the church consisted ofeighty members, who

were scattered in the town, Warren, Cornwall, Wash-

ington, Goshen, Kent, and Sharon. Jan. 28, 1793,

eighteen of the members withdrew to form a church

in Sharon. The erection of tlie first church edifice

was begun in 18.50, and on May 31, 18.51, a resolution

was passed changing the name of the churcli to the

College Street Baptist Church of Cornwall. Tlie

church was dedicated June 19, 1857. Among the

ministers who have officiated for the church were

Isaac Root, Dodge, Howard, Beecher, Daniel Bald-

win, Thomas Benedict, L. B. Hart, J. F. Jones, Rich-

ard Thomi)son, Jackson Ga Nun, C. W. Potter, J.

Fairman, D. F. Chapman. Edwin D. Bowers wiis or-

dained pastor June 21st, although lie had officiated

from the 5th of the previous February. He was suc-

ceeded in June, 1878, by the present efficient pastor,

Rev. H. G. Smith.

METHODIST CHURCH, CORNWALL BRIDGE.

It is impossible to ascertain when this church was

organized. Among the first preachers were James

Coleman, Bcnjaniin Grifiin, Samuel Cochran, Billy

Hibbard, E. P. .Jacob, J. J. Mathiiis, Natiian Emory,

and Sniith Dayton. Among the recent ministers may
be mentioned Spencer II. Bray, Edward Bray, Benja-

min A. Oilman, H. Q. Judd, Ira Abbott, L. L. Stone,

and Robert Codling. The present (March, 1881) pas-

tor is Rev. William Wake. The cliurch edifice was

erected in 18:{.5. The present board of trustees are

D. W. Manuel, John Hall, Leonard S. Whitcomb,

Wilbur F. Harrison, Sebra Wells, Charles Hall, and

Daniel Winchell.

The present board of stewards are Charles Hall,

Wilbur F. Harrison, D. W. Manuel, and Leonard S.

Whitcomb; superintendent of Sunday-school, W. F.

Harrison.!

EDUCATIONAL.

A foreign mission-school was established in this

town May 1, 1817, the object being for the educa-

tion of foreign youth, to prepare them for becoming

missionaries, schoolmasters, interpreters, and physi-

cians among heathen nations, and to communicate

such information—viz., agriculture and the arts—as

should tend to promote Christianity and civilization.

It was opened under the management of Mr. Ed-

win W. Dwight, who served one year, and was suc-

ceeded by Rev. Herman Daggett. Mr. Daggett offici-

ated six years, and was succeeded in 1824 by Rev.

Amos Bassett, who continued until the school was

abandoned, in 1827. Rev. Henry L. Vail was at one

time an assistant teacher.

"The school," says Mr. T. S. Gold, in his "History

of Cornwall," " was a decided success, as far as its

original plan was concerned, and was closed because

the opportunities of educating the heathen on their

own ground were opened, thus rendering it unneces-

sary, and from the local opposition produced by the

marriage of two Cherokee Indians with respectable

white girls residing in the town."

The number of pupils in 1822 had risen to 34, rep-

resenting the leading then known Indian tribes, and

many of the Pacific Islands. Henry Obookiah, a

Sandwich Islander, was a devoted Christian, and gave

great promise of usefulness ; but he died, while a

member of the school, Feb. 17, 181H, aged twenty-si.x.

A tablet erected to his memory in the cemetery at

Cornwall bears this inscription :

"In
memory of

Hr.NRV OilOOKlAII,

n native uf

OWYHKK.

"Hi(i arrival in ttiii countrj* (fave rii»o to the Foreign Mliwlon School,

of which he won a worthy member. He wa« once an Idolator, and woa

doMigned for a Pagan Priest ; but by the grace ofG.Kl.anil by the pruyeni

and liiatnictions of pious rrirniU, lie bei-iime a ChrUtian.

" Ho was eminent for piety and miaBioiiury ceol. When alnioat pr»-

imretl to return to his native Isle to prK>ach the Gtwpel, OoU look him to

himself. Ill hb loit elcknoM he wept and prayed for Owjiice, but waa

suliinlwive. He die<l without fear, with a heavenly Hmlle on his counte-

nance and glory In hla houI,

Fob. n, 1818,

Aged 26."

ThoiniLs H. Patoo, another converted heathen, is

interred beside liiiii. His monument bears this in-

scription :

"IB
memory of

Thomah Hammatah Patoo,

a native of the Marqiiosoa UUiids, and a meml>eruf the Foreign MImIod

School, who dh'il June in. I8-.!3, ngivl about 10 yraro.

" Ho was llo|iernllj pious, and liiul a great doalre to be qu>lllle<I to be-

come a mlwlonary to hla Ignorant oountryaten. But he died In hope of

a tiotter country.

"Thij etmie U erected by the liberality of hU Clirlallan frienill In N.

Ooveiitry, C-oiin., among whom he Ant found tlio Saviour uf slnnen."

* Condeii»e«I fnmi a historical oddreea delivered by William Q, Fennall,

Aug. u, msu. t For hiltoi7 of Mathodlil EpiKopal Church at Corawkll.M* Supploiiioul.
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There were not only Chinese, Japanese, and Portu-

guese, but the Cherokee tribe ofIndians was represented

at this school. Two members of this tribe became en-

amored with two of the young ladies of the village,

offered marriage and were accepted. This created a

good deal of feeling, and finally ended in breaking

up the school.

"Cream Hill Agricultural School was established

in May, 1845, by Dr. S. W. and T. S. Gold, at their

farm on Cream Hill, and 'continued till April, 1869,

twenty-four years. At the beginning there were but

four pupils, afterwards increased to twenty, the limit

of the school. The object was to unite, with classical

and scientific education, theoretical and practical in-

struction in agriculture,—to encourage a tiiste for the

pursuits of rural life, to develop and strengthen the

body as well as the mind. The results of the plan

were eminently satisfactory, and we look with pleas-

ure upon our pupils, scattered everywhere, in posi-

tions of honor and usefulness ; but especially is the

record of those who, in the opening of their man-

Iiood, took up arms in defense of their country our

especial delight and pride, while with tender hearts

we recall those who were permitted to offer their lives

a sacrifice that the nation might live."—T. S. Gold.

The Adelphic Institute was opened at North Corn-

wall by Ambrose S. Rogers in 1847, and continued

until 1860, when it was removed to New Milford, and

conducted until 1876. (See history of New Milford,

elsewhere in this work.)

William C. and Miss L. Rogers' school was started

by the former in 1852. He was subsequently suc-

ceeded by his sister. Miss L. Rogers. It continued

about two years.

Noah R. Hart and his brother, E. Burton Hart, es-

tablished a boys' boarding-school in West Cornwall

in 1853. It was discontinued in 1863.

The Young Ladies' Institute, or " Our Birds' Nest,"

was founded in 1852 by Mr. H. T. S. Johnson, a prom-

inent citizen of the town. This school had a success-

ful existence, and says Mr. T. S. Gold, " The memories

of ' Our Birds' Nest' are cherished by many scattered

liere and there in our land as among the brightest

and happiest associations of their lives."

The Alger Institute was established in 1848, and

named in honor of Charles Alger, of Hudson, N. Y.

It passed through various hands, and was finally

abandoned as a school.

(For present condition of schools, see County His-

tory.)

PHYSICIANS.

Most of those who have practiced medicine in Corn-

wall have been referred to elsewhere. Dr. Hollister,

from Salisbury, resided at the Centre for several years,

about 1830. Dr. John Scoville, after practicing at

North Cornwall for fifteen years, about 1845 removed

to Ashley Falls, Mass., where he now resides. Dr.

Smith, from Kent, practiced at West Cornwall about

1843, and went West. Dr. Edward Sanford, from

Goshen, resided at West Cornwall for nearly thirty

years, till 1876, when he bought the residence of the

late Dr. B. B. North, at South Cornwall, and continues

his practice there. Dr. Elias B. Heady is now prac-

ticing at Cornwall Bridge. Suflicient to say of them
that they have been faithful, and generally successful

in affording such relief to suffering humanity as comes

within the power of the physician to bestow.

In January, 1878, Franklin W. Hall, M.D., from

New Haven, took up his residence at West Corn-

wall as a physician.

CEMETERIES.

The oldest burial-ground used in Cornwall was on

the hill west of the present residence of Ozias Palmer.

Few marked graves remain, as some bodies have been

removed, and time has effaced the testimonials from

others. Its neglected condition is discreditable.

The cemetery near South Cornwall has been occu-

pied nearly one hundred and twenty years, as we find

tombstones marked 1763, and some may be earlier.

By the liberality of Mr. J. C. Calhoun, assisted by

others, not only has this ground been enlarged and

handsomely laid out, but provision has been made
for its care in the future. Mr. Calhoun left one thou-

sand dollars as a fund, the interest to be annually ex-

pended in the care of the cemetery.

Cornwall Hollow has the old cemetery on the hill,

on the road leading to Goshen, west side, and the new
one, opened early in the present century, near the

Baptist church.

About fifty years since a small burying-ground was

set apart near North Cornwall. This has since been

enlarged. There is another in the southwest part of

the town, near Cornwall Bridge, and still another in

the southeast part, on the old Warren turnpike. A
few stones still standing near the North Cornwall

church mark the graves of some who died of small-

pox. Others who died of the same disease are buried

on the old Wright farm, on the old Sharon and Go-

shen turnpike, where a marble monument marks the

burial-place of Capt. Joel Wright and family.

CIVIL HISTORY.

This town was incorporated in May, 1740. The
following is a list of the representatives from 1761 to

1881:

1701-62.—Thomas Russell, Joshua Pierce.

1763.—Thomas Russell, Joshua Pierce, Amos Johnson.

1764:-65.—Thoma8 Russell, Joshua Pierce.

1766.—Noah Rogers, Heman Swift, Thomas Russell.

1767.—Thomas Russell, Heman Swift.

17G8.—Thomas Russell, Elijah Steele, Heman Swift, Thomas Porter.

1769.—Joshua Pierce, Thomas Porter, Thomas Russell.

1770.—Joshua Pierce, Thomas Porter, Heman Swift.

1771.—Heman Swift, Thomas Porter.

1772-73.—Thomas Russell, Heman Swift, Thomas Porter.

1774.—Thomas Porter, John Pierce, Heman Swift.

177;').—Heman Swift, Thomas Porter, Edward Rogers, John Pierce.

1776.—Edward Rogers, John Pierce, Thomas Porter, Judah Kellogg.

1777.—Edward Rogers, John Pierce, Judah Kellogg.

1778.—Edward Rogers, Judah Kellogg, Abraham Payne.
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1779.—Jtidah Kellogg, Edward Rogers, Andrew Young.

1780.—Edward Rogers, Andrew Young.

1781.—Matliew Patterson, Noah Rogers.

1782.—John Sedgwick, Mathew Patterson.

1783.—John Sedgwick, Matthew Patterson, Andrew Young, Edward

Rogers.

1784.—Andrew Young, John Sedgwick.

1785.—John Sedgwick, Matthew Patterson, Heman Swift.

1786.—John Sedgwick, Samuel Wadsworth, Heman Swift, Matthew Pat-

tersou.

1787.—Matthew Patterson, Heman Swift, Rev. Hezekiab Gold, Rev. John

Cornwall.

1788.—Rev. John Cornwall, John Pierce, Samuel Wadsworth, Ebenezer

Jackson.

1789.—Ebenezer Jackson, Samuel Wadsworth.

1790.—John Sedgwick, Ebenezer Jackson.

1791.—John Sedgwick, Dr. Tiniotliy Rogere, Tryal Tanner.

1792.—John Sedgwick, Timothy Rogers, Isaac Swift.

179:3.—John Sedgwick, Isaac Swift, Samuel Wadsworth, Tryal Tanner.

1794.—Samuel Wadsworth, Isaac Swift.

1795.—John Sedgwick, Ebenezer Jackson, Isaac Swift, Samuel Wads-

worth.

1796.—John Sedgwick, Isaac Swift.

1797.—John Sedgwick, Isaac Swift, Judah Kellogg.

1798.—Elijah Steele, Jr., Tryal Tanner, John Sedgwick, Judah Kellogg.

1799.—John Sedgwick, Isaac Swift, Samuel Wadsworth, Judah Kellogg.

18U0.—Judah Kellogg, John Sedgwick, Samuel Wadsworth.

1801.—Judah Kellogg, Oliver Burnhani, Samuel Wadsworth.

1802.—John Sedgwick, Benjamin Gold, Oliver Burnham.

1803-4.—Benjamin Gold, Oliver Burnham.
1805.—John Sedgwick, Benjamin Gold, Oliver Burtiham.

1806-7.—Benjamin Gold, Oliver Buvnbara.

180y.—Oliver Burnbani, Jolni Calhoun, Benjamin Gold,

1809.—Benjamin Gold, Oliver Burnham.
1810.—Oliver Burnham, Benjamin Gold, John Calhoun.

1811-12.—John Sedgwick, Benjamin Gold, Oliver Burnham.
18l;l.—Oliver Burnham, Noah Rogers, Reuben Fox.

1814.—Noah Rogers, Benjamin Gold, Oliver Burnham.

1815.—Noah Rogers, John H. Pierce, Oliver Burnham.

1816.—Oliver BurTiham, John H. Pierce, Pbilo Swift.

1817.— Pbilo Swift, Oliver Burnham, James Ailing.

1818.—Noah Rogers, Pbilo Swift.

After this the iiew constitution began to operate,

and the reijre.sentative8 were chosen annually, not

biennially.

1819.—Oliver Burnlmm, John H. Pierce.

1820.—Oliver IbM nham, William Kellogg.

1821.—William Iteniirt, Samuel Hopkins.

1822-2:i.—Oliver Ibirjibam, Samuel Hopkins.

1824-27.— Peter Ilierci', Ilcujamin Sedgwick.

1828.—Seth Pierce, Jr., Peter Bierce.

1829.—Pelcr Bierce, John A. Sedgwick.

18:)0-C)1.—Gooriie Wbeaton, Frederick Kellogg.

1832.— Benjamin Catlin, Frederick Kellogg.

1833.—Benjamin Catlin, Victonanus Clark.

18:S4.—Vlcturiunus Clark, Pbilo Kellogg.

18:i5.—Pbilo Kellogg, Anson Rogers.

18.30.—Caleb Junes, William Clark.

1837.—Caleb Jones, Myron Hariison.

1838.—Caleb Jones, Benjamin Sedgwick.

1839.—John C. Calhoun, Isaac Marsh.

1840.—Isaac Marsb, John R. Harrison.

1841.—John R. Harrison, Freilerick Kellogg.

1842-43.—William Hindman, Edwin While.

1844.—John Scovlll, John K. Sedgwick.

1845.—Edward II. White, Joseph Essex.

1846.—Carrington Todd, William Hindman.

1847.—Chalker Pratt, John C. Calhoun.

1848.—John Scovill, Myron Harrison.

1849.—Hezekiah C. Gregory, Reuben Wilcox.

1850.—Amos M. Johnson, Charles Lewis.

1851.—Edward W. Andrews, Isaac Marsh.

1852,—Isaac Marsh, Charles Lewis.

1853.—John R. Harrison, William Hindmao.

1854.—Jacob Scovill, Henry Swift.

1855.—Sherman Barnes, Earl Johnson.

1856.—Jacob Scovill, Samuel S. Reed.

1857.—Ralph C. Harrison, John W. Beers.

1858.—Russell B. Pratt, Edward F. Gold.

1859.—Alvin B. Palmer, George H. Swift.

1860.—Nathan Hart, Jr., Rossiter B. Hopkins.

1861.—Dwight W. Pierce, Pbilo C. Sedgwick.

1862.—Stephen Foote, H. C. Gregory.

1863.—Marcus D. F. Smith, John McMurtry.

1864.—S. P. Judson, John McMurtry.

1865.—Robert T. Miner, E. Burton Hart.

1866.—Gad W. Smith, Solon B. Johnson.

1867.—Silas C. Beers, H. C. Crandall.

1868.—George L. Miner, Edward Sauford.

1869.—William H. Harrison, M. A. Nickerson.

1870.—William H. H. Hewitt, George C. Harrison.

1871.—Alanson Preston, Niles Scoville.

1872.—Henry L. Beei-s, Chester Wickwire.

1873.—Virgil F. McNiel, Robert N. Cochrane.

1874.—Luman Harrison, Smith Beach.

1875.—Myron I. Millard, George H. Cramlall.

1876.-Henry L. Beers, Ralph I. Scoville.

1877.—William L. Clark, Ingersoll Reed.

1878.—Elbert Sbepard, Amos Waterbury.

1879.—Daniel W. Manvel, James A. Cochrane.

1880.—Sebia Wells, James F. Reed.

1881.—Horace C. Hart, Russell Bierce.

SENATORS FROM THE TOWN, BEGINNING IN 1837.

18.37-38, Peter Bierce; 1844-45, Philo Kellogg; 1847, Samuel W. Gold;

1856, George A. Whealun ; 1859, Samuel W. Gold ; 1870, Victory C
Been.

MILIT.VRY IIISTOKY.

SOLDIERS OF TUB REVOLUTION.

Phineas Hart was a pensioner. He lived to about

eighty years. When over seventy he walked a jour-

ney in one week oC over three hundred miles. He
lived and died at a house on the Canaan road, a little

north of James Reed's.

Capt. P^dward Rogers, the father of Col. Anson
Rogers, was an officer both in the French and Revo-

lutionary wars. He held a captain's commission

during the latter. He was a man of good judgment,

genial manners, and kindne.ss of heart. His papers,

still in possession of his descendants, show his abund-

ant labors, and, in lack of a complete list of soldiers

furnished by Cornwall, we give a mileage list of hia

company, also an alarm list, which is marked as Capt.

Rogers' company, though the names of other cap-

tains are attached to it. Some erasures and some ad-

ditions on the list as here printed, in dill'erent ink,

indicate it as having done duty for some time. This

contains all the names on it

:
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An Abstract of the Mileage of Capt. Echcard Rogers' Company, in the late Col. F. Gay's Regiment,

returning at the end of the campaign.

Men's Names. Discharged at Returning to
Miles Dis-

tant.

Edward Rogei-s, cnptiiin Nortli Castle Cornwall 77
Nathaniel Hamlin, lieutenant " Sharon 77
Hezh. Andrews, lieutenant " Canaan 87
Joel Hinnian, ensign " Woodbury 55
Joshua Parmele, sergeant " Cornwall 77
William Avery, sergeant " Sharon 77
Jacob Williams, sergealtt *' Canaau 87
Simeon Barnes, sergeant ** Woodbury 55
Timothy Doughty, drummer Philipsborough Sharon 83
Samuel Darrow, lifer Norwatk Canaan 70
Timothy Knapp, corporal " Cornwall 60
Gershom Dormon, corporal North Castle Sharon 77
Daniel Harris, corporal Norwalk Canaan 70
John Denniin, corporal North Castle Woodbury 55
Solomon Emmons " Cornwall 77
Francis Brown " " 77
Timothy Uowley " " 77
Joseph Brown " **

, 77
Daniel Harrison '* " 77
James Wilson Norwalk " 60
John White, Sr Philipsborough " 83
James Sterling Norwalk " 60
Icbabod Brown North Castle " 77
Benjamin Carrier Philipsborough Canaan 93
Koswel Fuller North Castle " 87
Aaron Brownell " " 87
Samuel Partridge " " 87
David Whitney " " 87
William Fellows " " 87
Peter Tooley Norwalk " 70
Asa Cole " " 70
Ebenezer Pardee Dead.
Nehemiah Smith Norwalk Canaau 70
Asa Smith.
John Whitney North Castle
George White "

,

David Lawrence "
,

Uriah Williams Norwalk
John Curtice North Castle
Luke Rowland Norwalk
Jonathan Bliun "

Samuel Franklin North Castle
Elisha Forbes "

John Cusehoy Dead.
Lewis Hurd North Castle
Solomon Reynolds "

Simeon Rood Norwalk
Timothy Johnson North Castle
David Franklin Dead.
Andrew Coe North Castle
David Douglass In captivity.

John White (2d) North Castle
Samuel Lamson Dead.
Elnathnu Knapp Norwalk
Daniel Coon NolthCnslle
Cornelius Hamlin "

Thonius Hamlin Norwalk
William Robinson North f^astle

Joel Juckfion Norwalk
Asa Haintin Noith Castle

Sluman Abels Pliilipslmrnngh .

Peter Pratt N"rtli ( :,.stl.-

David Simons I'liilipshnrnugh .

Gamaliel Pardee Norwiilk
Davit! Hicock North Castle
Adam Wagner "

Daniel Potter "

Nathan Bristol "

Ephraim Herrick "

Justus Johnson "

Lemuel Gillet Dead.
James Daley In captivity.
William Jakways Norwalk
Samuel Sirdam "
Isaac Cool "
Samuel Williams North Castle

70
87
87
87
70
87
70
70
87
87

..Woodbury 55
55
40
65

..Woodbury 55

..Sharon 77

..Sharon 60

.. " 77

.. " 77

.. • 60
" 77
" 60
" 77
" 83

77
83
40

..Woodbury 65
65
55
66
65

" 56

..Caanan 70

.. " 70

.. " 70

.. " 87

s. d.

6 5
6 5
7 3
4 7
6 5
6 6
7 3
4 7
6 11
5 10
5
6 6
5 10
4 7
6 5

6 5
6 6
6 5
6 5

5
6 11
6

6
9

5 10
5 10

5 10
5 10
7 3
7 3
7 3
6 10
7 3
5 10
6 10
7 3
7 3

4 7

4 7

3 4
4 7

4 7

6 5

5

6

6

5
6
5
6

6 11
6 6
6 11
5

4
4
4
4
4
4

5 10
5 10
5 10
7 3

A List of the Number and Names of such as are of the

Alarm List who have their Abode within the Limits of

the Fourth Company, or Train-band, in the Fourteenth

Regiment in the i^tate of Connecticut:

David Lindsly,

Samuel Sawyer,

John Millard, Jr.,

Peter Rumer,

John Carter,

John Sprague,

Jesse Jerrards,

Rufus Payne,

John McHannah,
Samuel Abbott,

Jethro Bonney,

Abel Abbott,

38 in number.

33

38

Col. Reman Swift,

Capt. Thomas Porter,

Lieut. Ebenezer Dibble,

Lieut. Matt. Patterson,

Ensign Benoni Peck,

Abraham Payne,

James Barse,

Thomas Dean,

Hezekiah Carter,

Elijah Hopkins,

Jonathan Crocker,

EInathan Patterson,

Sherman Patterson,

Hezekiah Barse,

Josiah Patterson,

Samuel Sawyer,

Sele Abbott,

Job Simmons,

James McClary,

Nehemiah Barsley,

Silas Clark,

Kitchel Bell,

Samuel Bassett,

John Dibble (2d),

John Dibble (3d),

Timothy Cole,

Noah Bull,—

Cornwall, 17th March, 1777. pr.

74 Capt. Rogers'

company.

JosHiiA Pierce,

Capliim of the Company.

Capt. Rogers.

The subjoined order for teams shows that the pres-

sure of military necessity was felt even among our

hills:
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" These Lines are to Sertify all whom it may Conserne that I the Sub-

scriber was sent by Mr. Isaac Bauldwiu A. D. Qt. to Edward Rogers with

a desir for him to Procure teu teams in this Place to transport one Hun-

dred Barrels of flower to Litchfield on next Sabooth Day. If the teams

Cannot be procured no other way they must be pressed.

"pr. Jos. Gregory.
"Cornwall, April 9, 1779."

Gen. Jnhn Sedgwick was an officer in the war of

the Kevolution. He was superseded by Col. Heman
Swift, which oftended him to such a degree that he

resigned his commission and retired from the army.

He was a brave and good officer. For many years he

represented the town in the legislature. His energy

at the time of Shay's Rebellion, in 1787, saved our

county from participation in the affiiir.

Col. Ethan Allen was the son of Daniel Allen, who

resided in Cornwall, and, though it does not appear

that Col. Allen was born here, yet most of his boy-

hood was spent here, and we rightly claim some share

in the honor which attaches to his name. The resi-

dence of his father was on the corner south of the

North Cornwall church, a large old house, torn down

about 1830.

Gen. Heman Swift came from Kent about the year

1764^65, and settled on the road from Sharon to War-

ren and Litchfield, about half a mile southeast up

the hill from the residence of his son, the late Rufus

Swift, Esq. Early in life lie was selected by his fel-

low-citizens for public service, both in a military and

civil capacity. He was an officer in the old French

war, and in the Continental army, having received a

colonel's commission over Maj. John Se<lgwick, whicli

circumstance created a momentary excitement, and

the major resigned his commission and retired from

the army. But this breach of good feeling did not

long continue. Col. Heman Swift continued in active

service during most of the war of the Revolution.

He was a personal friend of Washington, by wliom

lie was held in high esteem.

Col. Swift's early education was very limited. Tliis

circumstance prevented the attainment of as liigh a

I)osition as otherwise he might have occupied. He
was for many years after the close of the war a member
of the Upi>er House of the State legislature. He pos-

sessed a noble personal appearance, and during the

later period of iiis life bore the title of "(Jeneral." He
died in November, 1814.

Capt. .John .Tetters w:is a Revolutionary .soldier in

the Continental army against the Britisli and Indians.

The military company which was under Jetfers' com-

mand, anil wliiili be often led to i)erform feats of

valor, received the gentle appelhition of "Hell-

Hounds." Wlien in 1812 war was declared by the

United States against England, Jetfers made applica-

tion to a distinguished member of Congress for a

l>rigadier-general's commission in the army; but tliis

re<|uest Wius not granted.

Few, if any, of tlie distinguished men who have

borne an active part in the transactions of Cornwall

since its first settlement would rank before the Hon.

Oliver Burnham, whose late residence still remains,

though in a dilapidated condition, about a quarter of

a mile south of the North Cornwall church. His

father, at the time of his death, was a resident of

Cream Hill. The son Oliver served, while very

young, as a soldier in the army of the Revolution,

and in consequence of a wound produced at that time

he received a small annuity from the government.

He occupied the place of county surveyor for many

years. For twenty or twenty -five years he represented

the town in the General Assembly, usually in the

House of Representatives, and served one term in

the Senate. He held the office of magistrate until

exempted by age. and served a short time as judge of

the County Court. He was a native of Farmington,

and born on Nov. 11, 1760. When he was fifteen

years of age he enlisted as a soldier in the regiment

of Col. Willis, and went in December, 1775, to join

Gen. Washington's army, then near Boston. He
served with distinguished credit during many hard-

fought battles ; was captured, and thrown into prison

in New York, but finally escaped.

As a politician. Judge Burnham possessed much
shrewdne.ss and tact. For many years he probably

held a greater influence in the afl'airs of the town

than any other individual. His vigorous intellect

remained unimpaired until he attained about fourscore

years. Although ])artial to the Episcopal Church, he

was a regular supporter of the Congregational society.

He died in the eightietii year of his age.

Among tlie residents of Cornwall who took an active

part in the struggle of the Revolution was Jacob Sco-

ville. He served as a private .soldier through most of

the war, and in his old age received the benefit of a

pension. He was a single man through his military

service, at the close of which lie married a Widow
Emmons, whose first husband died in a prison-ship in

New York.

THE WAR OF THE REBELLION.

Of the sons of Cornwall who gave their lives for

theircountry three lie buried in the Hollow cemetery
;

one alone has a monument with this short epitaph :

"MAJ.-UEN. JOHN SKI((;WICK,

Burn In Cornwall Hollow,

S«pt. 13, 1HI3.

KillMl nor SpolUylraoia C.-H., Vn., May 9, 18114."

Any attempt to do justice to the eminent services of

Gen. Sedgwick must of course be a failure. " Among
the distinguished heroes for the maintenance of the

Union none helil a more exalted position, or, dying,

left a purer record on the page of our country's his-

tory, than Maj.-Gen. John Sedgwick."

In 1832, in a letter to Gen. Ca-ss recommending

young Sedgwick for an appointment at West Point,

the late Mr. Gold wrote, " I believe, if permitted to

enjoy that privilege, he woulil do honor to the insti-

tution, and become of some service to his country."

Would that all our recommendations to public places

could be as well lionored. Graduating with honor



310 HISTORY OF LITCHFIELD COUNTY, CONNECTICUT.

in 1837, he was first engaged in the Seminole war in

Florida ; the next year, under Gen. Scott, employed

in the removal of the Cherokees to their Western

reservation ; next we find him fighting in Mexico,

under Taylor, Worth, and Scott. Vera Cruz, Cerro

Gordo, Puebla, Churubusco, El Molino del Rey, and

Mexico herself witnessed his valor.

The war of the Rebellion opened while he was on

the frontiers, beyond Pike's Peak. Called to the Army
of the Potomac, the command of which was twice

offered to him and twice declined, he fought at Fair

Oaks, Antietam, Fredericksburg, and the battles of the

Wilderness, till he met a soldier's death at Spottsyl-

vania.

Notwithstanding his familiarity with scenes ofblood

and carnage, he was as tender as a father of his men
;

and though so long in public life, and removed from

the scenes of his boyhood, his love for them, for his

ancestral acres,—for they had memories of which a

soldier and a patriot might well be proud,—his love

for the simple pursuits of husbandry, was as strong as

if he had never wandered from his native vale.

But Gen. Sedgwick was known as one who never

forgot his ancestral home. The adornment of his

paternal acres was his pride, and it was his hope and

ambition to retire from public life, here to enjoy

that quiet which his duties as a soldier prohibited.

The same qualities which made him a good officer

made him a good farmer, and his example and influ-

ence as a cultivator of the soil will be no less enduring

than as a patriot soldier.

In 1858 the old Sedgwick residence, which had been

so speedily rebuilt for his grandfather when it was

burned by the Tories in Revolutionary times, was

consumed by fire. Here Gen. Sedgwick built a noble

mansion for his own occupancy ; but it was a sad day

to his friends and neighbors gathered there, May 15,

1864, to perform the last offices to the patriot dead.

In the same cemetery, with unmarked graves, rest

Harvey Ford and Mr. Read, colored.

In the North Cornwall cemetery we find the names of

Lieut. William 11. Coggswell, died Sept. 22, 1864, aged 25 years, 2

months, and 23 days. He enlisted as private in the Fifth Regiment

C. v., June 22, 1S61, and was promoted in the Second Connecticut

Artillery for gallant services, Sept. 11, 18li2. He was in the hattles

of Peaked Mountain, Winchester, Cedar Mountain, Cold Harbor,

and Opequan, and died from wounds received in last battle.

Crawford H. Nodine, son of Kobert G. and Clara Hart Nodine, died of

wounds received at the battle of Cedar Mountain, Sept. 3, 18(i2, aged

21.

Capt. Amos T. Allen, Co. C, Eleventh Regiment C. V., only brother of

Susan Brewster, died of wounds received at the battle of Cold Har-

bor, July 6, 1864, aged 25 yeai-s. He was engaged in the following

battles; Winchester, May 26,1862; Cedar Mountain, Aug. 9, 1862-;

Fredericksburg, Dec. 12 to 15,1862-, Suflolk, April 24,1863; near

Suffolk, May 3,1863; Swift's Creek, May 9, 1864; Cold Harbor, June

3, 1864.

Charles McCormick, born Sept. 15, 1836; died Sept. 17, 1865, from disease

contracted in the service. He was a member of Co. I, Fifth Regi-

ment C. v., and in the battles of Winchester, Cedar Mountain,

Chancellorsville, and Gettysburg, and orderly-sergeant of his com-

pany, under Gen. Sherman, in all battles from Chattanooga to the

surrender of the rebels under Johnson.

William Green, died March 29, 1874, aged 46 ; born in Sheffield, Eng-
land.

Myron Hubbell, died at Alexandria, Va., Nov. 24, 1862, aged 38.

Edward Barnuni, a native of Cornwall, though he enlisted elsewhere,

died in 1875.

Edgar Ellas, enlisted in the Eighth N. Y. Regiment, and served through

the war. He died in Cornwall in 1875.

Soldiers h\tvl''d in the cemetery at Cornwall.

Rev. Jacob Eaton, chaplain of Seventh Regiment C. V. I., died at

Wilmington, N. C, March 20, 1S65, aged 32 years; a volunteer in

the war of 1861. A noble Christian patriot.

George W, Pendleton, a member of Co. C, First Connecticut Artillery;

died while in the service of his country, at Washington, D. C, Sept.

11, 1862, aged 22 years.

Corp. Henry L. Vail, died at Winchester, Va., Nov. 3, 1864, by a rebel

bullet through the neck and shoulder, aged 23.

John Hawver, died Aug. 1, 1868, aged 30.

Philo F. Cole, died Jan. 4, 1863, aged 27. '

William R., son of Rufus and Mary S. Payne, died Feb. 20, 1865, aged

33.

William B. Ninth, born June 25, 1835, died March 18, 1866.

Thomas Sherman returned at the close of the war with the Second Con-

necticut Artillery, and died in 1866.

Zina I>. Hotchkiss, a member of Co. G, Second Connecticut Artillery,

died in 1875.

The remains of live are buried in the cemetery in the southwest part of

the town.

Albert Robinson, sergeant of Co. G, Second Connecticut H. A., died at

Baltimore, Md., March 26, 1865, aged 33 years.

George Page, killed at the battle of Cedar Creek, Oct. 19, 1864, aged 25.

A member of Co. G, Second Connecticut H. A.

Lewis Sawyer, died at the city of Washington, Aug. 24, 1864, aged 24

years. A member of Co. G, Second Connecticut H. A.

Horace Sickman, a member of Co. G, Second Conn. H. A., died in Wash-

ington, July 19, 1864, aged 29 years.

Hermon E. Bonney, died at Philadelphia, June 28, 1864, aged 28 years,

A member of Second Connecticut H. A.

I am indebted to H. P. Milford, of Cornwall Bridge,

for the names of Cornwall soldiers in Company G,

Nineteenth Connecticut Volunteers, afterwards Sec-

ond Connecticut Heavy Artillery, with some incidents

of their history. Mr. Milford went as corporal, en-

tering camp at Litchfield, Aug. 21, 1862, and was

quartermaster-sergeant at the time of his discharge,

July 7, 1865.

The following-named men were residents of Corn-

wall at the time of their enlistment

:

Edward F. Gold, captain; John M. Gregory, lieutenant, lost an arm at

the battle of Cedar Creek ; Gad M. Smith became captain ; Henry

S. Dean, wounded at Cold Harbor; Henry P. Milford, Joseph Payne,

killed at Cold Harbor; Myron Hubbell, died of sickness; Albert L.

Benedict, Frederick Butler, Franklin B. Bierce, Jerome Chipman,

Nelson Clark, Philo Cole, died ; Josiah B. Corban, Patrick Delaney,

Edward Hawver, wounded at Cedar Creek ; Nelson T. Jennings,

George L. Jones, David Kimball, Sydney Lapham, John Lapbani,

Elijah C. Mallory, Ralph J. Miner, Henry Peck, killed at Winches-

ter; George W. Page, killed at Cedar Creek ; Lucien G. Rouse, died;

Charles R. Swift, Lewis Sawyer, died; Thomas Sherman, Charles H.

Smith, Elisha Soule, killed at Cedar Creek ; Patrick Troy, died from

wounds received at Winchester ; Allen Williams, died ;
Horace Wil-

liams, brother to the above ; Robert Bard.

The following joined the company from Cornwall

as recruits :

Herman E. Bonney, died ; Albert H. Bailey, George W. Baldwin, John

Hawver, wounded at Cold Harbor; John Christie, Hubert D. Hux-

ley. Zinali D. Hotchkiss, Dwight A. Hotchkiss, father and son;

Timothy Leonard, Paschal P. Nortli, died ; Nathan Payne, W. S.

Palmer, Frederick J. Pierce, Swift B. Smith, John TuUey, William

White, died ; James H. Van Buren,—this was a boy in the drum

corps: he was wounded in the leg at Winchester, had the limb am-
' putated twice, and died of the wound.
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Assistant Adjt.-Gen. Simeon J. Fox has kindly fur-

nished me the names of recruits from the town of

Cornwall from and after July 1, 1863. Those pre-

viously named have been stricken from this list.

FIRST ARTILLERY.

John Swift, Isaac Doughty.

SECOND ARTILLERY.

Newton W. Coggswell, John H. Taylor, Orville Slover, Horace Sick-

mund, William A, Slover, Norman Mauafield, Lorenzo Moseley,

Frederick Saxe, Lockwood WaUiron, John R. Thompson, George

Burton, Henry M. Marshall, Sylvester Graves, Charles C Bosworth,

Patrick Ryan, James Adiims.

FIRST CAVALRY.

Michael R. Gates, James McLane, Edward Suter, James Carey, John

Brady, John McCabe, James Flood, William H. Benton, George B.

Clark, William Rogers, Frederick Beam, James Kelly, John Boyd,

John Kelly.

FIFTH INFANTRY.

Charles McCormick,

Coons.

Hiram F. Hawver.

Tracy A. Briatol, William H. McMurtry, Adam

SEVENTH INFANTRY.

EIGHTH INFANTRY.

Cliarlea Dixon, John Williams, Peter Smith, Henry Root, Bennett Smith,

Henry C. Smith, William Petri, Hiram Allen, William Murphy,

Nelson Hart, Charles E. Dibble.

NINTH INFANTRY.
Wm. C. Wilaou.

TENTH INFANTRY.

John Martin, Andrew Hull.

ELEVENTH INFANTRY.

Thomas Quinlan, Frederick Krellmer, Francis GInnetty, Gustavo Krall,

James Amiit, Joseph Moreau* Charles Marion, Pierre A. Quy.

THIRTEENTH INFANTRY.
!

Eugene Davidson, John McGowan, George Roraback, Henry 8. Wright,

Ira A. Davidnon, Charles Richmond, Sylvester Titus, Jamee H. Bora- '

back.

FOURTEENTH INFAFTRY. I

John Buckley, John McGarrick.

17th Regt., James Mills, James McDermott; 20th Regt., L. T. Dnim-

nioiid, Charles J. Brent; 29tb Regt., John Watson, I'oter Howard,

Henry Juhnson, George H. Green, and John Lepyon. Navy, Charles

Dailey. Suhstjtnte, Jolin Mahone.

Alvln H. Hart, sergt.Co. F, 6th Regt.
; pro. to 2d Uoiit. Nov. 1, 1864.

Horace N. Mart, onl. in (Xk I, 8th Regt., Sept. 21, 18(il ; must, out ISGT*.

John Mills, enl. at the samo time with the above, and died in the icr-

vice.

Henry Fleldsein, killed.

Edwin L. Nickerauii, 15th Bogt. Thomas A. Smith, Junoa Wilton, &nd

Cliaries Falrchild.
'

Charles D. Bllnn went into the servico as captain, and returncl as

colonel.

Lieut. Nottletou died at New Orleans.

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES.

THEODORE S. OOI-D.

The Gold family was among the earliest settling; in

Connpctioiit. Mnj. Xatlum (ioUl came from St. K<1-

momlshiirg, Eiif^liind, during tht- reign of ('liarlen I.,

and wiu) a hind-liolder in Fairfield in lli40, and in

1653 the purchaser of sixteen separate pieces of land

in that town. He was one of the nineteen petitioners

for the charter of Connecticut, granted by Charles II.

in 1662, " which petition was signed by no gentleman

unless he had sustained a high reputation in England

before he came to this country." His only son, Nathan

Gold, Jr., succeeded him as member of the Council,

and held the office of lieutenant-governor for fifteen

years.

Nathan Gold, Jr., married Hannah, daughter of

Lieutenant-Governor John Talcott, one of the above-

mentioned petitioners. From this union came a

numerous family. One son. Rev. Hezekiah Gold, of

Stratford (Harvard, 1719), had a large family, mostly

daughters, who have had many descendants prominent

in the State. One son. Rev. Hezekiah Gold, of Corn-

wall (Yale, 1751), came to Cornwall as pastor of the

Congregational Church in 1755. He was a farmer as

well as minister, and, using his education to good pur-

pose, he was called " the best farmer in his parish." His

first wife was Sarah, sister of Hon. Theodore Sedgwick.

They had four f)ons,—Thomas (Yale, 1778), a lawyer

of Pittsfield, Mass. (a granddaughter was the wife of

Henry W. Longfellow) ; Benjamin, a large farmer in

Cornwall, whose descendants were so numerous that,

at the death of his wife, they numbered over one hun-

dred.

Benjamin Gold was for many years a deacon in the

First Congregational Church in Cornwall, and held

many offices of trust in the town. Two of his sons,

Stephen J. and Job Swift, were suecessftil inventors.

Five of his grandsons served in the war of the Re-

bellion, viz.:

Edward F. Gold, of Cornwall, son of Benjamin F.,

captain Company G, Second Connecticut Heavy Ar-

tillery.

Henry Martyn Gold, son of H. Sedgwick, was killed

early in the war.

Frank Boudinot, son of Harriet Gold, captain New
York Mi)Uiite<l Rides, died in (•onse(iuence of his

horse falling on him ; a bold, dashing officer, much

beloved by his men.

Theodore Freelinghuysen Vaill,son of Rev. Herman
Vaill and Flora Gold, adjutant Second Connecticut

Heavy .Vrtillery, woundeil near the close of the war;

died of typhoid fever ; author of the history of the

regiment, and editor of the Winstcd Hmilit. Joseph

H. Vaill, his brother, present e<litor of the Winsted

Heralil, was an officer in the Eighth Connecticut.

ThonuuH Rnggles (Yale, 1786), an eminent lawyer

of Whitoslioro', N. Y. He was prominent in politics,

and member of Congri'ss from New York for about

twenty years. He had several children, who sustained

the good record of the family ; Hezekiah, the youngest

son, was a farmer. He married Rachel Wadsworth,

granddaughter of James Douglas, one of the original

proprietors and first settlersof Cornwall. This branch

of the Douglas family has given many honored names

to the county. He received by his wife a fiirni, of the

original Doughis land, on "Cream Hill," where they
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settled, to which he added by purchase. His grand-

son, T. S. Gold, now owns and occupies his estate.

Dr. Samuel Wadsworth (William, 1814), only .son

of Hezekiah Gold, practiced medicine for twenty-five

years in New York State and Goshen, Conn., return-

ing to his farm in Cornwall in 1842. In 1845 he, in

connection with his son, Theodore S. Gold, established

the "Cream Hill Agricultural School." This was

successfully conducted for twenty-four years. He
was State senator in 1847 and 1859, and Presidential

elector in 1857. Dr. Gold was a thorough student of

medicine and a successful practitioner. He was a

frequent contributor to the medical and other jour-

nals of the day. As an educator, he ap|)lied to good

advantage his professional knowledge and ripe ex-

perience. As a farmer, he early recognized the

necessity of clearing his fields of rocks for successful

agriculture, and in 1823 was the first to attack the

great bowlders that crowded Cornwall forms. The
horse-rake and mowing-machine (in 1857) were first

used in Cornwall on his " Cream Hill" farm. This

was an impossibility in the original condition of the

fields.

He was persistent in his eflbrts to promote the

social, moral, and educational interests of the com-
munity, and lived to see many of his favorite i)rojects

realized. Improved roads and substantial school-

houses remain as material monuments to his energy

and gublic spirit. He died Sept. 10, 1869, aged

seventy-five years.

Theodore Sedgwick, only son of Samuel W. and
Phebe (Cleveland) Gold, was born at Madison, N. Y.,

March 2, 1818. He prepared for college at Goshen
Academy, where his father then resided : was gradu-

ated from Yale in 1838, and spent three years after

graduation as teacher of Goshen and Waterbury
Academies, and as student of medicine, botany, and
mineralogy at New Haven.

In 1845 the " Cream Hill Agricultural School" was
established, and was successftilly conducted, until

closed in 1866, by Dr. Gold and Theodore. To a

family school the household department is of the

utmost importance, and a reference to this school

would be incomplete without a passing tribute to the

memory of Mrs. S. W. and Mrs. T. S. Gold, who by

their kind interest for the comfort and welfare of the

pupils and their self-sacrificing labors secured the

afiection of those in their charge,—a remembrance
never to be effaced.

On Mr. Gold's farm of about four hundred acres it

is probable that more has been done in clearing land

from rocks, and in building heavy stone walls, than

on any other farm in the State during the occupancy

of one person. His favorite work has been the ad-

vancement of the general agricultural interests of

Connecticut. In 1842 he, with others, formed the

"Farmers' Club of West Cornwall." He has been
its secretary from the first. He originated the move-
ment in 1860 which resulted in the formation, in 1852,

of the " Connecticut State Agricultural Society," and
from its organization has held some official position

connected therewith. In 1866, at the establishment

of the " Connecticut Board of Agriculture," he wais

chosen its secretary, which position he yet holds. He
is also one of the trustees of the " Connecticut Agricul-

tural Experiment Station," established in 1877. He
was one of the editors of The Homestead, an agri-

cultural paper published at Hartford from 1855 to

1861. Mr. Gold has held the office of deacon in the

Second Congregational Church of Cornwall since

1872.

In public and private life Mr. Gold has shown
untiring energy and ability. By public lectures,

newspaper articles, and personal efforts he has kept

at work in his favorite department. During the past

fifty years the progress of agriculture has been most

gratifying, and it is sufficient honor to any man to

have been a participator and an efficient aid in this

progress. Sir. Gold's "Cream Hill" farm shows this

progrcs.s as mucli as any part of the State. The clear-

ing and drainage of fields, the planting and care of

orchards, the buildings, and, lastly, the roads and

roadsides, all tell of industry, intelligent, patient,

untiring.

In 1864, Mr. Gold, with the other corporators, pro-

cured from the General Assembly a charter for the

"Connecticut Soldiers' Orphans' Home." This was

located at Mansfield, and hundreds of orphan and
destitute children shared its privileges. During the

maintenance of the " Home," until 1877, Mr. Gold

was its secretary. In 1878, Mr. Gold published a
" History of Cornwall," an 8vo of 339 pages. He
married, in 1843, Caroline E. Lockwood, of Bridge-

port, who died in 1857, by whom he had five daugh-

ters. Of these three are now living,—Eleanor Douglas

(Mrs. Charles H. Hubbard, of Hartford City, Ind.),

Rebecca Cleveland (Mrs. Samuel M. Cornell, of Guil-

ford, Conn.), and Caroline Simons. He married for

his second wife Mrs. Emma Tracy (Baldwin), also

a descendant of the aforementioned John Talcott.

Their children are Alice Tracy, Martha Wadsworth,

Charles Lockwood, and James Douglas.

Descended from an ancestry of educated and pro-

fessional men (though never forsaking the soil, and

never forsaking rural pursuits), Mr. Gold in choosing

agriculture for a profession has yielded to his inher-

ited tastes, and has only kept apace with the times,

which now demands for the successful prosecution of

agriculture a knowledge more varied and as exact as

is required by the so-called " learned professions."

When agriculture asserts its demand for educated

men, then we shall have an education for the farm

equal in breadth to that of any other calling, and

then will end the cry, " Why do the boys leave the

farm?"

Punctuality in every engagement, persistent indus-

try, and honest purpose to do good work, and to do it

well, are leading characteristics of Mr. Gold, and have
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led to the overcoming of many obstacles, and to a

reasonable degree of success in the many duties con-

nected with the industrial and moral advancement of

the community in which he has been engaged.

THE HARRISON FAMILY.

The family of Harrisons were among the early set-

tlers of the town of Cornwall, Conn., and their de-

scendants are scattered all over the United States,

from Maine to California. We quote the following

from T. S. Gold's " History of Cornwall," Conn.

:

''The Harrisons in tlie Hollow are the descendants of two brothers,

Daniel and Noah Harrison, who removed into the town from Branford,

in 1763. Daniel lived on the hill, where tlieNettletons have since lived,

and he was the father of Daniel, Jr., Joel, and Luther Harrison. He
died when I was very young, and his was the first burial I ever wit-

nessed. Noah Harrison, the younger brother of Daniel, I remember

very well. He was the father of Ileniati Hanison, deceased, and of Ed-

mund Harrison, still living at a very advanced age * The old house

which Noah Harrison occupied is still standing, and it looks as it did

sixty years ago.t Mr. Harrison and his son Henian occujiied the farm

on which theii" de.scendant3 now reside. The father, Noah, was distin-

guished for his skill in euhiluing, taming, and breaking to the yoke wild

young cattle. Noah Harrison lived to a good old age. His son Heman,

whom I have mentioned, was distinguished for his quiet, industrious,

thrifty habits, and seemed to be a timid, basliful man, very seldom speak-

ing when he was in company, and was seldom seeti abroad. He died at

a comparatively early age.

" Daniel Harrison, the son of Daniel Harrison, of whom I have spoken,

was a mau of marked and positive character, which would make him a

leading man in any circle in which he moved. He seemed to huve been

literally biu-n to command, and his right to that precedeuce was always

acknowledged by his neighbors.

•'Those bearing the name liave been, with scarcely an exception, free-

holders and heads of families, thus becoming closely iilentifled with the

prosperity of the community « here they have resided, building up happy

homes, the secure foundation of the nation. They have been law-

abiding citi7.ens, and such has been their regard for law and the riglits

of others that it is doubted if there has ever been one of the name in

this town, or their descendants, indicted for crime. All of those now

residing in Cornwall of the name {except Myron Harrison, in the Hol-

low, who is grandson of Daniel, '.id) are ilescolnled from Ni)ah liarhson,

who came to Cornwall from Branford in 1703, In company with Noah

and Edward Rogers. His Urst purchase of land was a tlfty-acre hit, upon

which be built the house now stjimling near the present residence of

Luman Harrison, where he lived and died in 1823, aged eighty.six. He
was a nnui of great ictohition, and a great teamster with oxen. It is

said that ' the crack of his whip could he heard at a mile's distance.'

During the Kevolutiiui a troop of ilragoon horses were wintered ou his

farm, and from the nnin in charge Mr. Harrison and otbei-s learned to

braid those whip.|ashes for which the neiglitX)rhood was so fuinouH.

" Noah Harrison nuirrled Hannah, sister of Noah and Kdward Rogers,

ami had rbildren,—Kdmuiid, born May 1, 1768; Heman and Luman ; and

by a second marriage, llauiiah,mari-ied Kliaa Hart,aDd Amanda, Diarrled

Oliver Burtiham Hart.

" Edmniul Hurrisiui, as a pujiil of Oliver Bnrnham, developed a taato

for mathematical studios, and became a farmer of more than ordinary In-

telligence. He ruled his fandly well, Intth by [irecept and example; was

temperate In all things; a strict observer of the Sabbath, and of un-

blendshed moral character, and in public and private life bore the title

of an honest mau. One of his maxims was, ' What is worthy of thy re.

mark remember, ami forget the rest.' His grantlson, George C. Harri-

son, enjoyed much of the society of his grandfather in bis later year*,

and gives many reminiscences of him. In his eighty.sevi'uth year ho

* Mr. Edmund HanisoD died In 1860, agod nlnety-olght y«an and four

mcmths.—T. S. G.

t The brown house, still standing, but UDOccupIad, Dear the reeidsDce

of Luman Harrison. It is the oldest house in town.—T. S. O.

received injuries from a fall which rendered him comparatively helpless

for the remaining eleven years; yet he was always cheerful, and by

reading and conversation kept well informed in the knowledge of pass-

ing events, even to the close of life, Jan. 4, 1S67, aged ninety-eight years,

eight months, and four days. His memory held out to the last, aud his

apt quotations of poetry, from hook and of local origin, enlivened his

conversation.

" He married Ruth Hopkins, of WaiTen, and had the following chil-

dren, viz. : Rufus, Noah, Myron, Chandler, Lucretia, John R., Hannah,

and William H."

JOHN R. HARRISON.

A word in memory of John R. Harrison, who died

at Cornwall on the 31st day of August, 1880, in the

seventy-third year of his age.

The subject of this sketch was born in Cornwall,

Conn., on the 23d day of September, 1807. He was

the fifth son of Edmund Harrison, who died Jan. 4,

1867, at the advanced age of ninety-eight years, and

grandson of Noah Harrison, who came to this town

from Branford, Conn., in the year 17U3, and who lived

to the ripe age of eighty-six years.

His early educational advantages were limited, his

only opportunities of instruction being those afforded

by the common district school of the period. Reared

in a large family, whose parents were in moderate cir-

cumstances, he early learned to labor, and formed the

habits of industry and economy.

Endowed by nature in a marked degree, he pos-

sessed a spirit replete with energetic action, and a

vigorous physical manhood of prepossessing appear-

ance. At the age of nineteen years he entered tlie

world's grand arena of conflict, to do and win in life's

great contest, with no other resources but the strength

of his arm and the power of his brain. Witli willing

hands, ready to be employed in any honorable occu-

pation, for six years he laiiored, the winter season.s

being devoted to teaching and mental improvement.

In March, 1833, he married Miss Eleanor Bradford,

of Cornwall, and had the following children : Geo.

C, born May lii, 184(1; Catharine, born .\tig. 1, 1843,

married Wm. H. H. Hewett, and resides in New
Haven; Wilbur F., born Aug. 22, 184o ; and John

B., born Nov. 4, 1848, and resides in Ohio. In the

succeeding October he entered into tlie mercantile

busines.s at Cornwall Centre, that being at that time

the location of the Cornwall post-office, and the only

one in the town, excepting one very near the Goshen

town line in Cornwall Hollow (there are now six

p<ist-offices in Cornwall). He .soon became closely

identified with the business and interests of the town,

and for a period of more than forty years has taken

an active part in its councils, meriting the confidence

and e.steem of his fellow-citizens, being often called

by them to offices of responsibility and to the care of

important trusts, both of a private and public nature,

having serveil the town for seventeen years as select-

man, thrice as a representative in the General .Vsscm-

bly, fifteen years as treasurer of the town deposit

' fund, about thirty years as justice of the i)eace, and

1 as judge of probate for the diBtrict of Cornwall six

years.



314 HISTORY OF LITCHFIELD COUNTY, CONNECTICUT.

As an earnest Christian and member of the First

Methodist Episcopal Church in Cornwall, he nobly

honored his profession. He took a very active part

in the erection of the present church in 1839, and

was the last survivor of the building committee or-

ganized for that purpose. lu his faithful Christian

life, by precept and example, he has been a pillar in

the church of his choice all those years, and, like a

mother bereft of her children, a bereaved church to-

day mourns over its loss.

In a full age, after a long and useful life, he came

down to his grave " like a shock of corn fully ripe,"

not a cloud or a fear dimming his vision, as, sur-

rounded by his children and grandchildren, who will

long remember his words of parting counsel, he

closed his eyes to earth and passed to the unseen

world.

The funeral obsequies were attended by a large con-

course of relatives and friends on the 2d of September,

1880, at the First Methodist Episcopal church, and

on that calm September afternoon, by loving hands,

his remains were interred in the quiet, beautiful ceme-

tery at Cornwall, where also rest the ashes of his

fathers of two preceding generations.

As a kind father, as a loving and faithful husband,

as a true and sympathizing friend and counselor, as a

Christian citizen, his memory will long be cherished

and revered by the community in which he lived.

Geo. C. Harrison, eldest son of John K. and Eleanor

(Bradford) Harrison, was born in the town of Corn-

wall, Conn., May 19, 1840. His advantages for an

education were such as the common schools of his

town aflbrded, supplemented by several years at the

" Young Ladies' Institute," at Cornwall, Conn., and

one term at Amenia, N. Y. At nineteen years of age

he began teaching, and followed it during the three

following winters. He was reared on a farm, which

honorable business he has continued to follow till the

present time (1881). He now owns some three hun-

dred acres, which is in a good state of cultivation,

situated within one mile of the centre of the town of

Cornwall. His buildings are very substantial ; a view

of his residence and surroundings may be seen in

another part of this work.

In politics he is a Democrat, and as such is justly

regarded one of the leading men of the town. In

1867 he was elected town clerk, and held that oflBce

for twelve consecutive years, and at the same time

was elected town treasurer, and continued to hold the

same till the present time. In 1870 he was elected to

the State Legislature, and served one term. In 1876

lie was appointed judge of probate of the probate dis-

trict of Cornwall, and held the same position for four

years, and for six years previous was clerk for his

father, who was judge of probate for that time.

On the 21st of February, 1862, he married Mrs.

Eebecca White, widow of Edward H. White, and

daughter of Carrington Todd, of Cornwall, Conn.

Of this union eleven children have been born, viz.

:

Cynthia R., Eleanor H., Cieo. E., Charlotte H., Katie

J., John R. (deceased), Ruth, Gertrude, Anna, Mary
M. (deceased), and Mabel.

Mr. and Mrs. Harrison are members of the Meth-
odist Episcopal Church at Cornwall, Conn., and he is

one of the principal supporters of the same. Mr.

Harrison has always taken a deep interest in Sabbath-

school work, and he has been either teacher or super-

intendent ever since he was old enough. Mr. Har-

rison, with his interesting family, promises to rival

his ancestors as a citizen worthy of the trust and con-

fidence of his fellows.

MYRON HARRISON.

Myron Harrison belongs to a family that has been

associated with Cornwall from the earliest period of

its history. He was of the third generation in town.

Noah Harrison, grandfather of Myron, came to Corn-

wall from Branford among the earliest settlers in 1762.

Edmund Harrison, father of Myron, was born in Corn-

wall, May 1, 1768. Myron Harrison was born Sept.

25, 1800, and received such educational advantages as

the town afforded at the time. Was apprenticed at

an early age as merchant's clerk, and at the expira-

tion of his term of service formed a partnership with

Peter Bierce, at Cornwall Bridge, and engaged in the

mercantile business and the manufacture of iron.

For half a century he was well known in most of the

towns of the county for his quick perception and de-

cision, strict integrity, and careful business habits;

was appointed a justice of the peace soon after reach-

ing years of majority, which office he held continu-

ously until debarred by age. Having a natural taste for

questions of law, he soon became a celebrated justice,

and was often appointed by the courts to hear causes.

For years he was called upon to transact most of the

legal business of his section, and was ever found a

careful adviser and safe counselor, and his reputation

for drafting legal papers was such that lawyers hardly

thought it safe to attack them.

His strict integrity and business qualifications called

him in many places of trust and responsibility, all of

which he discharged satisfactorily. During his life

he assisted in the settlement of eighty-six estates.

Was selectman of the town seven years, postmaster at

Cornwall Bridge sixteen years ; elected a member of

the General Assembly in 1837, and was re-elected in

1848, serving upon important committees each ses-

sion,—that of corporations in 1837, and railroads in

1848 ; county commissioner six years, and United

States assistant assessor for eight years. For nearly

half a century he was an active and influential mem-
ber of the church at Cornwall Bridge, and was an

example of temperance and sobriety, and was ever

found ready to aid with his whole influence every

good work. Mr. Harrison was a remarkably active, as

well as genial and social, man, of dignified but unas-

J
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suming manners, quick at repartee, and always ready
with an anecdote to illustrate his position and points.

Myron Harrison married Charlotte E. Calhoun,
daughter of Dr. John Calhoun, June 2, 1830. Ealph
C, son of Myron, was horn Oct. 22, 1831, married
Juliet Waite, and has three sons ; George L. was born
May 6, 1835, and Sarah C. was born Oct. 31, 1840,

and has two sons.

• He died Sept. 19, 1872. Ralph C. graduated at the
Wesleyan University and Albany Law-School, and is

now a partner in the firm of Tarbox & Harri.^on, one
of the leading law-firms of San Francisco. George
L. is general passenger and traveling agent of the

Chicago and Northwestern Railroad; and Sarah C.

married the Hon. Victory C. Beers, and is still living

at Cornwall.

FREDERICK KELLOGG.

The Kellogg family date their ancestry in this

country to 1654, when Joseph Kellogg was made
freeman at Farmington. In 1659 he removed to

Boston. He was a weaver by trade. In 1661 he re-

moved to Hadley, Mass. He was a lieutenant in

Philip's war, and at the Falls fight he commanded tlie

Hadley soldiers. He died in 1707, then having four-

teen adult children. Of his sons, John lived at Hadley,
Martin at Hatfield and Deerfield, Edward at Brook-
field, Mass., Samuel at Hartford, Conn., Stephen at

Westfield, Mass., Nathaniel at Hadley and Amherst,
Ebenezer and Jonathan at Colchester, Conn., and
Joseph at Hatfield.

Joseph, the first-named above, seems to be the first

of the Kellogg family in this country. There was at

the .same time (1654) a Daniel Kellogg at Norwalk,
Conn. He had a large family.

Judali Kellogg, from Colchester, graduated at Yale,

1763, taught school in Stratford, where he married

Mary Tomlinson, an auntof the late (iovcrnorTomlln-

son
; came to Corn wall in 1 774, and bought one hundrc<l

and si.xty acres of land, with a small house, of Ste-

]>hen Royce. Here he lived till his death, in 1820,

aged eighty. He represented the town in the General

Assembly the first four years of his residence here,

and was justice of the peace for a long period. Was
deacon of the church. He was chosen clerk in 1776,

and held till 181(1. William, his ohlest son, succeeded

him as clerk, and at his death Frederick, the fourth

son of William, was chosen to the office, which he
held till 1845, the clerkship having been in the family

si.xty-nine years.

William Kellogg had four sons, two of whom died

young. I'hilo, the eldest son, was a farmer, and owned
and occupied the site of his grandfather Judah. He
wa.s a partner in the firm of P. & F. Kellogg for

twenty years. He represented the Seventeenth Dis-

trict in the senate of Connecticut two terms, and was
a representative from Cornwall two years. He was

appointed judge of probate at the organization of the

district, and held the office two years. He died in

1862, aged sixty-eight.

Frederick Kellogg, the youngest son of William,
was a merchant; in 1829 he succeeded his father as

town clerk, which office he held uninterruptedly for

sixteen years, and was four times elected to the same
office at various times afterwards. In 1852 he was
appointed judge of probate for the district of Corn-
wall, which office he held, with the exception of two
years, till constitutionally disqualified. In 1841 he
was appointed county commissioner, which office he
held for three years. From 1830 to 1841 he repre-

sented the town of Cornwall in the Legislature four

years. Is still living, enjoying his faculties of both
mind and body, and the fruits of his industry and
frugality.

Frederick Kellogg was married, Sept. 14, 1829, to

Ruth R., daughter of Dr. John Calhoun, of Cornwall.
Four children were the result of the union, viz. : AVm.
F., Chas. C. (deceased), Sarah F., and Mary. Wm.
F. is a wholesale grocer in Chicago,—firm of Kellogg
& Barrett,—and has resided in that city for over
twenty years.

John Kellogg, the second son of Judah, resided in

Cornwall, and died at the age of seventy-seven. He
raised a family of ten children, seven sons and three
daughters. The entire fiimily emigrated to the West-
ern States, viz., Wisconsin, Minnesota, and Kansas,
and have become prosperous citizens.

Lucius, the third son of Judah, settled at Oyster
Bay, L. I., where he became an eminent physician.

EDWIN WHITE.

Edwin White was born in North Cornwall, Sept.
21, 1806, and is seventh in line from Elder John
White, one of the first settlers of Cambridge and
Hadley, Ma-ss., and Hartford, Conn., and who came
from England in l(i32. His father, Elias White, Jr.,

born Dec. 7, 1775, came from Upper Middleton,
Conn, (now Cromwell ), to Cornwall. He was a shoe-
maker, and died Aug. 12, 1811, aged thirty-five years.
He married Cynthia, daughter of Capt. Ivlward
Rogers and Hannah Jackson, his wife. Cai>f. Rogers
wits one of the first iirojirletors of Cornwall, a lieu-

tenant in the old French wars, and a Continental
officer in the Revolution, and as Continental .scrip

was worthles,s, advanced two thousand dollars in gold
to pay his men, which amount was never restored.

He was an impetuous, active man, a sterling Chris-
tian, and made more of an impress on his town dur-
ing his life than probably any other citizen. Tliey
had four sons,—Comfort (deceased), Edward Rogers,
Edwin, and Elias (deceased). Mrs. White was horn
Dec. 8, 1782, and died Sept. 12, 1813.

Eilwin White was quite young at the death of his

parents, and was placed witli Andrew Cotter, with
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whom he stayed until he was seventeen. He then

learned the hatter's trade of Benjamin Gatlin, of North

Cornwall, remaining with him until of age. He then

worked for him about another year, when, in com-

pany with his brothers, Comfort and Edward Rogers,

he purchased the place now occupied by him in Corn-

wall, and became a farmer. Sept. 13, 1837, he mar-

ried Laura, daughter of Stephen and Abigail (Drake)

Whedon, of Winchester. Their children are Fran-

ces Abigail, Laura Isabella, Edwin Augustine, and

Cynthia Josephine. About 1854, Mr. White bought

the other interest in the farm, and has since resided

there, adding by purchase until he now owns two

hundred and fifty acres of land. He makes a spe-

cialty of manufacturing "pine-apple" cheese, and his

work in this is highly spoken of and brings a high

price. Mr. White has held the various town offices,

and represented Cornwall in the Legislature of 1842-

43. He is Democratic iu politics, and cast his first

Presidential vote for the electors on the Andrew Jack-

son ticket. He is a worthy representative of the

thrifty New England farmer,—hard-working, pru-

dent, hospitable, and held iu high esteem by his

neighbors. He belongs to that old-fashioned class

whose word is as good as their bond, and does not

believe in having a dollar unjustly acquired. Both

Mr. and Mrs. White have belonged to the Congrega-

tional Church for years, and are now members at

Goshen. Edwin A. is a college graduate, and is now
a law student.

EZRA DWIGHT PRATT.

The Pratts of Cornwall are descended from Lieut.

William Pratt, who came to America, about 1632,

from Stevenage, Hertfordshire, England. His line

r%rj^^

runs back to Thomas Pratt, who died in Hertfordshire

in 1539. With one or two breaks, bridged by tradi-

tion, the records lead, with almost certainty, to Sir Wil-

liam Pratt, who in 1191 was a favorite officer under

Richard Cwur de Lion in the Holy Land. Lieut.

Pratt accompanied Hooker's company from Cam-
bridge, Mass., in 1636, to find a home in the Con-

necticut Valley. They settled where Hartford now
stands, and Lieut. Pratt drew lots on what is now
North Main Street in that city. In 1637 he was

one of the expedition which annihilated the Pequod

tribe of Indians, and was for his services voted one

hundred acres of land by the General Court. In

1645 he removed to Saybrook, became a large land-

holder, and for thirteen years represented that town

in the Legislature. Following his line to the fifth

generation, we find David Pratt, born about 1725.

He married Jerusha Chalker, had nine children, and

removed to Cornwall about 1780. Miner Pratt, born

in 1768 (his son), although quiet and unostentatious,

was a man of untiring energy, sterling integrity, and

active in church, schools, and all public and benev-

olent objects. He married (1795) Mary Ann, daugh-

ter of Deacon Eliakim Mallory, and had four children,

—Harriet (Mrs. D. L. Rogers), Eliakim M., Ezra

Dwight, and Almon Bradley. Miner was a lad of

twelve years when his father moved to Cornwall, and
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labored hard with him and an older brother on the

new farm. On arriving at age, Miner desired to " go

West,"— (.e., to New Yorl^,—as his brother did, and

offered to sell his interest in the home for a very

small sum ; but his father felt so badly, desiring him
to remain and take care of his parents and the home-

stead, that he stayed, became a hard-worlving farmer,

and was prospered. He died in 1846, full of years

and Christian graces.

Ezra Dwight Pratt was born Nov. 26, 1810; was

educated at common schools ; began teaching when
but nineteen years old, and taught winters, with but

few intermissions, until he was fifty years old. He
has always been a farmer, and a successful one. He
married, July 1, 1846, Anna Aurelia, daughter of Dea-

con Ebenezer Rood, of Torringford. Their children

were Mary Aurelia, Dwight Jlallory, Harriette J.,

and Hubert Miner. From 1854 to the present time,

with but little intermission, Mr. Pratt has been deacon

of the North Cornwall Church, and by his Christian

character, and the co-operation of his amiable and
benevolent wife, has done much work in its service,

and is justly considered one of its pillars. Their
children show the result of true Christian training.

Dwight M. graduated at Amherst (1876), and is now
an efficient pastor of the Congregational Church at

Higganun, Conn. Blest witli a comfortable share of

this world's goods, this worthy couple have never

considered themselves aught but the trustees of part

of God's i)roperty, and, with a lavish hand, they have
always contributed to the cause of the Miister, whether
in the form of missions, education, or church require-

ments. An old acquaintance says of Deacon Pratt,

"The history of North Cornwall Cliurch would be
incomplete without a portrait and sketcli of Deacon
Pratt." Honored by his church, beloved by his family,

and esteemed and respected by his fellow-townsmen.

Deacon Pratt has the satisfaction of knowing that he
has thrown no discredit on the name he bears, and
that his descendants bid fair to kecj) its character

high.

David Pratt's third son, Jasper, liad, before coming
to Cornwall, served seven years and three months in

the Revolution, was capturc<l by the British, and
endured all the severe jirivations of a Continental

soldier. He married .Vbigail Hutler, and had three

children,—Hannah, Chalker, and Al)igail. Chalker
married Lydia, daughter of Deacon Noah Rogers,

and had two children,—Rus.sell R. and Helen A.
(Mrs. Stephen Foster, deceased). Chalker was a man
of influence, and an active Christian. He was agent
for the Cornwall Iron Company for some years, and
about 184f) moved to West Cornwall, and became
prominent there. He was a careful, methodical
man, and was much esteemed. He died in 18.51, aged
fifty-nine years. His son, Russell R., born 1810, was
educated for a merchant, and, after some trade in a
small way, with good promise, established in 1841,

with Stephen Foster, the firm of Pratt & Foster
21

'

which had for years a large and successful trade.

This firm became the centre around which all the

business of West Cornwall swung. Pratt ife Foster

headed all enterprises of business, all subscriptions

(whether for church purposes or benevolent objects),

bought all things the farmers sold, and sold every-

thing that they wanted. Mr. Foster died in 1863,

and the firm-title was continued until (through the

pressure of the hard times) it was compelled to make
an assignment. Mr. Foster was of pleasing manners,

great industry, and indefatigable energy, and made
many friends. Gold's "History of Cornwall" says of

R. R. Pratt, " As an energetic business man, as

selectman for seven years from 1856, as representative

in 1858, as deacon of the church from 1854 to 1871, as

superintendent of the Sabbath-school at West Corn-

wall from 1860, he has filled, and still holds, a promi-

inent place in the secular and religious interests of

the town.

I.SAAC MARSH.

Dr. Isaac Marsh was born in Litchfield in 1777.

His ancestors had long resided in that town. His
grandfather and father were also named Isaac. He
studied medicine with Dr. Woodward, of Torringford,

but, being of rather a nervous temperament, shrank
from the practice of his profession. He was for a
time a druggist, but temporarily took up the busi-

ness of farming, and finally followed it for life. He
married in 1803, and, in 1820, bought a farm in Corn-
wall of Rev. A,sa Talniage, located near the Housa-
tonic River. This was two miles north of llart'a

Bridge, now West Cornwall. There was then but one
house at the " Bridge,"—the "Hart House," standing

on the site of the |)resent residence of Jlrs. Isaac

Marsh. Dr. Marsh died in 1829, aged fifty-two years.

Isaac Marsh (4tli) wits oldest son and last surviving

one of a family of seven children. He was born Dec.

15, 1803, in Litchfield, and came to Cornwall with his

parents. He was educated at public and private

schools in Litchfield and Sharon, and made his home
with his father until he was twenty-si.x years of age.

Afler he wius of age he was engaged in teaching dur-

ing the winter for several years, teaching .seven suc-

cessive winters in what was then called the " West
Di.strict' of Cornwall. Shortly after the formation

of "The West Cornwall Iron Company," in 1834,

Mr. Marsh entered its employ as clerk, and remained
many years. He was afterwards book-keeper for

Pratt & Foster, merchants at Wast Cornwall. He
was appointed station-agent for the Housatonic Rail-

roa<l at West Cornwall in 184.1-44, and held that

position, first for four yean<, and afterwards, at differ-

ent periods, as his failing health would admit.

Mr. Marsh wius town clerk, and performed labors

of that office, as he did everything, with faithftilness.

He WIUS cliosen to represent Cornwall in the State

Legislatures of 1839—10, 1H51-52, and discharged that

duty to the great satisfaction of his constituents.
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He was an earnest and good Christian, although

not connected with any church organization, was an

efficient and valued laborer in the Sabbath-school,

and not found wanting in assisting any good or

charitable object. He was a man of firm convictions,

not swayed about by every popular wave of excite-

ment. Positive in his nature, he carefully considered

everything from the standard of justice, and never

from that of expediency. He was noted for his loyalty

to his friends, and never did malice or suspicion

whisper aught against his integrity. In both public

and private life he was modest and unassuming in his

manner, courteous and gentlemanly in his demeanor,

firm and unflinching in the discharge of his duty, and

energetic and indignant against any appearance of

chicanery or fraud.

Mr. Marsh married, Nov. 29, 1843, Nancy, daugh-

ter of Ransom and Lydia (Burtch) Smith, of Sharon.

Mr. Smith was son of David Smith, who was born in

Litchfield in 1752; married, in 1774, Sarah North, of

Goshen ; moved to Massachusetts, where his oldest

son, John, was born about 1775. His next son, David,

was born in Goshen about 1777, and .so were Horatio

(who became a prominent man and State senator).

Ransom, Molly (Mrs. Aaron Cartwright, of Sharon),

and Gad. Gad became a popular Methodist clergy-

man, and died young. Ransom, born Feb. 22, 1782,

had a common-school education, and became a farmer,

removing to Sharon, with his ftither, about 1800. He
married, Nov. 15, 1810, Lydia Burtch, of Goshen, and

afterwards purchased the place where D. F. Smith

now resides, and resided there until his death. He
held various town oflices, was a quiet, unostentatious

man, firm to principle, and successful in business.

He represented Sharon two years in the General As-

sembly of Connecticut. He reared a family of eight

children, all born on the same place,—John N. (de-

ceased), Nancy (Mrs. Isaac Marsh), Appleton R.,

Elbert R. (deceased), Mary (Mrs. David S. Potter, of

Thomaston), Charles C, Martha (deceased), and J.

Ransom. He died June 10, 1857, much regretted.

Mr. Marsh, at the time of his marriage, was em-
• ployed in the railroad office at Bridgeport, but re-

moved to West Cornwall as station-agent soon after,

as above stated. In 1847 he built the house where

for over thirty years he and his wife have made their

home, and where she now resides. He died Jan. 29,

1879, and the vacuum caused by his death cannot be

filled by another.

THE NOAH ROGERS FAMILY.

Noah and Edward Rogers appear on Cornwall town

records as purchasers of land in December, 1761.

The principal pieces were bought of William Gould,

and were some of the best in the town. For the past

one hundred and twenty years the Rogerses have been

among the prominent and useful people of Cornwall.

The pedigree is traced back by records in the British

Museum to Thomas Rogers, of Bradford, county of

Wilts, sergeant-at-law, who died in 1485. He was

great-grandfather of John Rogers the martyr.

John Rogers the martyr was born about 1500,

married Adigan Pratt, of Brabant, and had eleven

children,—Daniel, John, Ambrose, Samuel, Philip,

Bernard, Augustine, Barnaby, Susan, Elizabeth, and

Hester. John, the son, married Mary, daughter of

William Leete, of Everden, county of Cambridge.

Thomas, grandson of the martyr, came over in the
" Mayflower," and was the probable ancestor of the Ro-

gerses of Cornwall, although by the burning of the old

town records of Huntingdon, L. I. (where the first of

the name settled about 1640, after moving from Plym-

outh Colony), a link or two of written testimony is

lacking. Tradition, and the circumstances surround-

ing the possessors of the name, however, conclusively

bridge the chasm, and Thomas was doubtless father

of William, whose son Noah was the first to bear the

name borne continuously for six generations in the

family.

Noah' and his brother John bought large tracts of

land in Branford, Conn., and removed thither in 1667,

and were among the original proprietors of that town.

Noah' married Elizabeth, daughter of Michael Tain-

tor, a native of Wales. (Mr. Taintor belonged to the

first church organization in Branford, and the church

covenant then signed is in his handwriting.) Their

children were Mary, John, Josiah, Hezekiah, Noah,''

Elizabeth, and Ann. Noah' and Noah^ filled various

important positions in the political and religious or-

ganizations of Branford, and served their day and

generation well and faithfully. Their residence in

Branford came to be known as " Noah's Ark," their

land, " the Ark land," and the road by their door,

the " Ark road." Noah' married Elizabeth Wheeler.

Their children were Abigail, Temperance, Elizabeth,

Rebecca, Noah,' Edward, and Harriet.

Noah Rogers,^ born in Branford, Conn., May 8,

1732, married, Oct. 23, 1765, Rhoda, daughter of Dea-

con Daniel Leete, of Guilford (fourth generation from

Governor William Leete), and, with his brother Ed-

ward, moved to Cornwall in 1760, selling their lands

iu Branford, and in 1761 purchased six hundred acres

here. Noah Rogers^ was one of the leading men of

the town from his arrival ; entered into every enter-

prise for the development and advancement of Corn-

wall with a wonderful enthusiasm and energy. He
built about the first saw-mill, probably started the

first or second grist-mill, and at the same time that

they were in operation had several iron forges also

working. He assisted in road-making, bridge-build-

ing,—in everything where a resolute and indomitable

nature could find expression. He was emphatically
' a man for the times, and the impress made by him
ujion the town is felt unto this day. Exempted by

loss of one eye from military service, he volunteered

' to serve in the colonial army; was present at Bur-
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goyne's surrender, and brought home a British musket
as a trophy. Mr. Burnham, in his address at the

Rogers' gathering, says he also went to Danbury to

assist in repelling the British, and he was probably at

the battle at that place. He was one of the thirteen

original members of the Congregational Church or-

ganized in 1780. Gen. Charles F. Sedgwick, in an
address at North Cornwall, July 19, 1876, thus speaks
of him :

" I remember him as a very old man, who
was constant in his attendance at meeting, portly in

his physical dimensions, and regarded as a patriarch

of the parish. He was probably the most wealthy
man in the society, and his benefactions, and those of

his descendants here, have done much to give strength

and stability to the concerns of the parish." His
children were Sarah (Mrs. Oliver Burnham, married

Oct. 17, 1787), Clarissa Irene (Mrs. Prentice Williams,

of Stockbridge, Mass., married .Tune 8, 1808), Rhoda
(Mrs. Andrew Cotter, married Nov. 11, 1792), Noah,*

Abigail (Mrs. Asahel J. Bradley, of Stockbridge,

Mass., married June 15, 179(5), and Amanda (Mrs.

Theodore Ives, married Nov. 22, 1821). He died

Oct. 17, 1810.

Noah Rogers' was born in Cornwall, Oct. 13, 1766.

He married Lydia, daughter of Rev. John Cornwell,

for his first wile. Their children were Daniel Leete,

Abigail, Lydia (Mrs. Chalker Pratt, married Nov. 19,

1815), Rhoda (Mrs. Julius Hart, married Jan. 7, 1819),

John, Noah,» Abigail (Mrs. E. M. Pratt, married
Sept. 14, 1829). His second wife was Elizabeth, daugh-
ter of Hon. John Wilson, of Perth, Scotland. Their
children were Eliza (Mrs. Rev. Augustus T. Norton,

married Nov. 12, 18.34), Ambro.se S., Amanda (Mrs.

Rev. A. B. Pratt, married Aug. 11, 1841). His third

wife was Mrs. Abigail Whedon, of Winchester. He
died Sept. 28, 1839. He was known as Deacon Noah
Rogers, and wa.s a man of great enterprise, of wisdom,
good judgment, and prudence. He tilled at different

times the various olfices of the town, represented

Cornwall in the State Legislatures of 1813-15, and
1818. He was a man of sterling worth and true

Christianity, and no man living in his day was more
willing to help every good cause, and his plentiful

means were used lil)erally to that end and the relief

of the suffering. He i)aid a large share of the cost of
erecting the church at North Cornwall, besides fur-

nishing a large proportion of the timber anil lumber,
and always, when there was a lack of funds to pay
the minister's salary, supjilied the deficiency.

Mr. O.Rogers Burnham, in tlieadilressabovealluded

to, thus .speaks of him: "We used to call him 'Uncle
Noah,' a num who went about doing good, especially

among the poor. Unostentatious, his benevolence was
proverbial. He was a patriot and a philanthropist.

If there was a poor sick man, woman, or child in town,
he was sure to be at their bedside, and he never went
empty-handed. If lie was seen on a cold winter
morning jogging along with a Imridle under his arm,
the question was at once asked, ' Who is sick ?' I do '

not hesitate to say that he has done more, directly or

indirectly, for this society than any other man that

ever lived. Look at your beautiful meeting-house

!

Who headed the subscription-list with five hundred
dollars cash? It was he. Who gave the grounds?
It was he. AVhose groves were ransacked for the best

sticks of timber to build it with? They were his.

Look at your beautiful burying-ground ! Who gave

it, regardless of destroying two of the best building

lots in town? 'Twas he. Who fenced those grounds

with trifling remuneration ? 'Twas he. I recollect

that my father and he once represented the town to-

gether in the Legislature. I told my father I didn't

see that ' Uncle Noah' made many speeches. ' No,'

said he; 'but he made a good member. He worked
hard for his constituents, and always voted right.'

"

Daniel Leete Rogers was born in Cornwall, Feb.

13, 1791, and married Harriet, daughter of Miner
and Mary Pratt, Oct. 1, 1816. Their children were
Henry Leete, born Feb. 4, 1819; Daniel Mallory,

born Feb. 28, 1821 ; Egbert Maltbie, born Feb. 11,

1823, died Feb. 8, 1876; Mary Elizabeth (Mrs. Theo-
dore R. Ives), born Oct. 24, 1824; Miner Pratt, born
Feb. 14, 1827, died Jan. 20, 1864 ; Harriet Cordelia,

born Aug. 7, 1828, died July 10, 1831, and wa.s the

first one buried in North Cornwall cemetery ; Dwight;
Abbie, born Feb. 28, 1834, died Oct. 4, 1874; and
Harriet, born June 13, 1838.

D. L. Rogers inherited his father's executive ability,

and was frequently called to places of public trust;

he was selectman, etc. He was a model farmer. He
bought a farm which looked the poorest in the town,

and made it, by his diligence, care, and attention, one
of the best. It is now occupied by his son Dwight.

After the death of his father he became one of the

chief supporters of the church, and was ever promi-

nent in good works. In a letter to Hon. T. S. Gold,

published in Gold's " History of Cornwall," Rev. Wni.

B. Clarke, a former- pastor, has the.se pleasing words:
" My first acquaintance was with thefamily of Mr. D. L.

Rogers (' Uncle Leete,' as I became accustome<l to hear

him called), where I stayed during casual visits that

preceded my .settlement. Later my home was with

his brother, Mr. Noali Rdgirs." Highly ii-s I valued

those men at that time, my experience since has even

enhanced my estimate of their worth. They were

very free from snuill iircjudices, and could be relied

on to do their part liberally when any good cause re-

quired. I remember well one instance, which will

show how well they had maintained a generous spirit

amid the enforced frugality of a farmer's life. A Mr.

Smith, a man of small means, had a factory for tan-

ning skins, which Mr. John Beers worked up into

gloves and mittens. The tannery took fire one night

and burned down. A company of us rode down the

ne.xt morning to the scene of the disa-ster. .After a

few expressions of condolence, .Mr. Beers drew up a

subscription-paper, and headed it with one hundrL>d

dollars. This was quite proper, as Mr. Beers' own
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business was largely dependent on the factory. He
turned to ' Uncle Leete' with the question, ' What will

you do?' The answer came, in his deliberate, solid

way, ' You may copy those figures for me.' Mr. Noah
Rogers subscribed fifty dollars. A few moments se-

cured the success of the movement, and Mr. Smith was

comforted." I). L. Rogers died Aug. 11, 1SG9.

It is curious that the intermarriages of Pratts and

Leetes with the Rogerses in the present generations

have precedents away back in the early English days,

where the same intermarriages arc seen. Two of the

children of D. L. Rogers having married with the

Leetes of Guilford, it would seem not inappropriate

to show the character of the family so intermingled

witli the Rogerses.

William Leete, of Midlow, Huntington Co., Eng-

land, was bred to the law ; was a clerk in the Bishop's

Court at Cambridge; became a Puritan, gave up his

office, and came to New England in May, 11530. He
was one of the first settlers of Guilford, Conn, (and

his son John is said to be the first white child born

there) ; was one of the pillars of Mr. Whitefield's

church ; received the highest honors which the colony

of New Haven, and afterwards that of Connecticut,

could give. From 1G51 to lOriS he was magistrate of

Guilford, and one of the court of magistrates of New
Haven Colony for years. In 1658 he was chosen Deputy

Governor, which office he held to 1661, when he was

elected Governor. He held this position till 1664,

when New Haven Colony was united with Connecticut.

Upon this union he was elected magistrate, and from

1669 to 1676 held the office of Deputy Governor, at

which time he was elected Governor, which position

he held till his death, April 16, 1683. " For forty

years," says Dr. Trumbull, " he was magistrate.

Deputy Governor, or Governor of one or other of the

colonies. In both colonies he presided in times of

the greatest difficulty, yet always conducted himself

with integrity and wisdom." He secreted for sev-

eral days the judges Whalley and Goflfe. He left a

numerous family, and his descendents have occu-

pied the highest positions in various parts of the

country.

Henry Leete Rogers married Nancy Clark, Feb. 16,

1842. Their child, William Leete, was born July 29,

1846. Mary E. Rogers married T. K. Ives, May 14,

1845. Their children were Roger Leete, born Jan.

23, 1852; Dwight Williams, born April 8, 1855; Theo-

dore Bradley, born Nov. 18, 1856, died Dec. 8, 1856

;

Frederick, born Feb. 21, 1859, died Oct. 8, 1874; Mary
Eliza, born July 4, 1868. Daniel M. Rogers married

Philena Knapp, Jan. 7, 1851. Their children were

Jared Leete, born Nov. 3, 1851, died Sept. 21, 1860;

Daniel Owen, born Feb. 6, 1854 ; Mary Harriet, born

Jan. 20, 1856 ; Noah Cornwell, born Feb. 13, 1859

;

Sarah Philena, born April 10, 1861 ; John, born No-

vember, 1866, died 1867. Harriet Rogers married E.

Walter Leete, Oct. 10, 1861. Their children are

Abbie Louisa, born Oct. 20, 1862 ; Edward Rogers,

born Dec. 17, 1864; William Smith, born Oct. 22,

1867; Sarah Talcott, born Oct. 25, 1871.

Dwight Rogers, born Aug. 3, 1832, married Lucy
L. Leete, Dec. 16, 1863. She is seventh in line from

Governor Wm. Leete, the line of descent being Wra.
Leete and Anna , John Leete and Mary Chitten-

den, Pelatiah Leete and Abigail Fowler, Daniel Leete

and Rhoda Stone (these were parents of Rhoda Leete,

who married Noah Rogers'^), Ambrose Leete and

Miranda Chittenden, Miner Leete and Lucinda Nor-

ton, Edward L. Leete and Sylvia Fowler, who were

parents of Mrs. Dwight Rogers. Their children are

Dwight Leete, born Dec. 11, 1866 ; Nellie Lucretia,

born Nov. 12, 1868; Harriet Fowler, born Jan. 22,

1872; Miner Pratt, born March 19, 1874; and Sylvia

Abbie, born Nov. 11, 1877.

Mr. Dwight Rogers is truly a representative farmer.

He owns one of the best farms in Cornwall, and his

choice Devonshire cattle are a pleasure to the eyes of

all beholders. By inheritance and his own industry

he is in possession of a fine property. He is an active

supporter of all good works, and worthy the name he

bears. He is, as are nearly all the descendants of

Noah Rogers, a believer in Christianity, and a member
of the church at North Cornwall. He is thoroughly

upright in character, prompt in meeting his business

obligations, liberal to the full extent of his pecuniary

ability, and receives, as he deserves, the esteem and

confidence of the community.

Noah Rogers^ was born at Cornwall, May 12,

1803, and was the third son of Noah Rogers* and

Lydia Cornwell. He received the advantages of a

common-school education. He declined the offer of

a college course, which he felt would naturally have

taken him into some profession. He enjoyed out-door

life, and preferred to remain upon the homestead and

follow the quiet avocation of farm-life. He was very

fond of farm-life, and was never known to regret his

choice. He seemed to have a special regard for each

field through its associations. Previous to his death

there were considerable forests upon his farm, which

were his special delight. He seemed to have an ac-

tual affection for the fine old trees, etc. He had great

respect for his ancestors, and was anxious to honor

them, and endeavored by precept and example to

instill right principles upon his posterity. He was a

man of integrity and large heart, great Christian

charity and liberality. The last act of his life was

one of charity to a neighbor. His hospitality was

proverbial, and apparently boundless. He was never

more happy than in entertaining his friends, and the

humblest applicant was never turned from his door.

He never sought office, but was selectman for two or

more years ; was always found upon the side of right

and the public good. Physically he was a man of

great endurance. He died very suddenly, on the even-

ing of June 23, 1862, without ever having employed

a physician or experienced a sick day in his life. He
married, in 1829, Catharine Rebecca Clark, daughter
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SYLVESTER H. BARNUM.

Sylvester II. Barnum wns born April I!, 1803, in Kent,

Litchfield Co., Conn. (This engniving represents him

Rt fifty years of ago.) Mn was ii son of David and

Kachel ( lloyt) liarmim. Ilis fullicr was a son of David,

one of the first settlers i>f Dniilniry, and wlio afterwards

became one of the ori!;inal tliree proprietors of Kent,

moving tliither in 17'">2.

David, Jr., was born in Danbury, Conn., and moved

to Kent with his fatlicr, and bccanie one of its early

settlors. Ho had seven children,—Ebcnczer, Delilah,

Abigail, Ljdia, Sylvester, David, and Jolin, all born in

Kent. In 1811 he removed to Now York. Sylvester

was at that time eight years of age, and was bound out

to a farmer of Kent to remain until he was of age.

His life was a hard one; poorly fed, thinly clad, and

worked like a brute, the yi>ung lad twice sought refuge

in flight; the first time ho was overtaken and earricd

bock, and the last returned voluntarily and stood his

hardships until released by operation of law. During
the entire thirteen years ho received but three months
schooling. When he became of age ho went to see his

sister (Mrs. Martin Cole) at Cornwall. His entire

capital consisted at that time of the nolvery-good suit

of clothes on his back. Uo worked for Mr. Colo and
his brother, on the farm and in the sawmill, for two

years. There ho became acquainted with Lucy Ann
Stone, whom ho nuirricd Juno 29, 182C. Ucr parents

were Eli and Kunico (Crissoy) Stone, formerly of Kent.

Mrs. liarnum wa.s horn Nov. 21', 180-1, in Canaan. Mr.
Stono was born May 10, 177r>, and died Oct. !l, ISiri;

Mrs. Stono was born May 22, 1770. For the first year

after marriage this worthy young couple, commencing
life with nothing, worked at dilferent places hy the week
•nd month to gain sufficient money to provide for house-

keeping. They dill this and also earned enough to pur-

chase a small house and two acres of land in what is

now West Cornwall, then Hart's Bridge. Still working
hard, Mr. Barnun) purchased forty acres of land, mostly

woodland, on which he begun to make chanoal and

farm in a small way. These avocations he followed for

about thirty years. Ho never kejit a place long, but

bought and sold rapidly, making something on each.

At various times he was the owner of three places in

Cornwall, five in Sharon, three in Washington, one in

New Milford, and one in Canaan. During fifty-ono

years of married lift- they moved twenty-fire times, and
never but twice to places he did not own. Ho was careful,

prudent, economizing, and made money. He had an

able, practical wife, who was a true helpmate for him,

and for over half a century they worked together in

harmony, and at their golden wedding, Juno 29, 1870,

over three hundred guests participated.

Mr. Barnum would never accept public office; shrank

from making himself conspicuous, but had a generous

heart and an open hand, and more than one young nutn

now grown up received assistance for which they rever-

ence his memory.

He was a member of the Methodist Episcopal Church of

Sharon, and a liberal supporter of Christian movements
overj'wbcre. Mrs. Barnum has boon for years u member
of the Congregational Church of North Cornwall.

They had six childron,— Elizabeth, Lydia, Louisa J.,

Eli, Delia, Lucy. Mr. Barnum died April 20, 1807,

much respected. At his death but one child, Kli/.a)>eth,

was living. She was born in Cornwall, Die. 9, 1827;

married, April 0, 1817, Lewis D'Cane, of Sharon. They
now live in Canaan, and have four children,—Celin

(Mrs. Wallace Pierce), Luana (Mrs. Clias. Keoler),

Eltc, and Lonisa J. Mrs. Pierce hai one daughter,

born in PiltsHold, Muss., in 1871.
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of William Clark, who survives him, and is a woman
of strong, though unostentatious, character.

There were five children,—William Clark, Lydia

Rebecca, Harriet Eliza, Catharine Amanda, and
Noah".

William C. Eogers was born June 2, 1830. He left

his home at the age of eighteen, and went to Eliza-

bethtown, N. J., where he taught school. From there

he went to Brooklyn, N. Y., and was principal of a

public school until 1853. Then he returned home,

and April 13, 1853, married Eliza M. Scoville, daughter

of Jacob Scoville, and established a boarding-fechool

for young ladies at North Cornwall, which proved

very successful. In 1854 he was offered a position

with the Cornwall Iron Company ; so he left the school

in charge of his sisters and accepted the position of

agent for the company. In 1856 he went into busi-

ness with Pratt & Foster, West Cornwall, where he

remained until 1864. Then he removed to Norwich,

N. Y., and again engaged in the iron business. He
was also interested in oil speculations in Kentucky,

where he died, Sept. 26, 1867. He was a man of very

genial nature, great popularity, and large executive

ability ; was a man of Christian character ; was super-

intendent of Sunday-school, etc. ; stood high in the

community. Had children,—Isabel M., born at West
Cornwall, July 12, 1854, married Eugene Wickwire,

Oct. 15, 1874 ; Kate Ingersoll, was born at West
Cornwall, Sept. 21, 1857, married H. S. Andrews,

Jan. 17, 1880 ; Hattie Beecher, born at West Corn-

wall, Feb. 7, 1862, died in infancy ; Eliza Scoville,

born at West Cornwall, April 13, 1803, died at West
Cornwall, Sept. 27, 1875 ; William Noah, born at Nor-

wich, N. Y., Dec. 18, 1864.

Lydia Rebecca Rogers, born Jan. 10, 1834, married

George 1'. Bradley, of Stockbridge, Mass., April 14,

1859. Has children,—Edward Ernest Bradley, born

Feb. 8, 1862; George Irving, April 24,1864; Mary
Louise, Aug. 31, 186!). Mr. Bradley is a farmer, a

man of high standing in Stockbridgc, where he for-

merly kept a select school for boys.

Harriet Eliza, born Jan. 8, 1839, married H. B.

Crosby, of Paterson, N. J., Dec. 6, 1876. Children,—

Henry Barrett Crosby, Florence Lyon Crosby. Mr.

H. B. Crosby is a very prominent and wealthy mer-

chant of Paterson, and a man of very marked charac-

ter every way.

Catharine Amanda, youngest daughter of Noah
Rogers, born at Cornwall, Aug. 6, 1843, married John
B. Sedgwick, April 14, 1863. Had children,—Hattie

Sedgwick, born at Cornwall, .Vug. 31, 1866
; Sarah

Adam Sedgwick, born at Cornwall, Dec. 24, 1867.

John B. Sedgwick wils a man of unusual promise,

—a nephew and namesake of (ion. John Sedgwick.

He died in New Jersey, Oct. 18, 1867, leaving the two
little girls spoken of above. They were the .special

objects of love and pride for both the Rogers and
Sedgwick branch of the family. Catharine A. Sedg-

wick married, July 11, 187H, L. R. Stelle, Esq., of

Saugnoit, N. Y., near Utica. He is a prominent silk

manufacturer. Noah Rogers,* born Jan. 25, 1845,

married Ann Elizabeth Dudlej', of Bath, N. Y., Sept.

21, 1865. Children.—Noah,' born Jan. 26, 1872;

David Clark, born June 12, 1877, died in infancy

;

Harry Lloyd, born Feb. 7, 1879.

Noah Rogers* retains the ancestral homestead,

in which he takes great pride and delight, improving

it from time to time, as opportunity offers, etc. ; in

season of 1880 built a new barn, in place of the old

one, that is said to be the best in the town. In earlier

years always had a desire for business life, but his

father having died when he was only seventeen, and

his brother William being away from home, Noah re-

mained there until he was twenty-seven ; then went

with Pratt & Foster, and took charge of their pro-

duce departments. He remained with them two years,

and was then admitted a member of the firm, which

was styled Pratt, Foster & Rogers. After one year

he left them, went to Bridgeport, and established the

first produce commission house in that city, in 1875.

From very small beginning he has built up a large

business, and is now among the heavy and leading

merchants of Bridgeport. In the spring of 1881, Mr.

George Morford joined him, and the firm became
Rogers & Morford. A house like this was one of

the needs of the town, because the surrounding coun-

try is not very productive, and the bulk of the goods

consumed here must come from abroad, hence their

success. They endeavor to carry out in their busi-

ness the good principles of their ancestors,—honesty,

fair dealing, and integrity.

Mr. Rogers is of plejvsing appearance, and has a

magnetism that gains him hosts of friends. No one

in Cornwall ranks higher than he in all the qualities

of successful manhood, while in all that tends to ele-

vate, improve, or benefit society he is a foremost

worker. He may be justly called one of Cornwall's

worthiest sons, carrying the family reputation with no

tarnish from his conduct, and uj)hoUling by his

character the good name his ancestors have always

borne.

Noah' was appointed, at the semi-ccntenniul,

in 1876, of North Cornwall Church, one of a com-

mittee to arrange for the proper celebration of its

centennial day.

CHARLES N. 8IIEPARD.

Charles N. Shepard, son of Eliphalet and Mary
Shepard, wa.^ horn in Cornwall, Conn., .\pril 27, 1820.

His grandfather, .Vllen Shepard, came to Cornwall

friim Newtown in 1798, with his wife and children, of

whom Eliphalet wan one. He (Eliphalet) wa.t born

in Newtown in 1789, married Mary, daughter of Judah

Kellogg, July 7, 1813, became a farmer, and died

Aug. 12, 1865, leaving four children,—(tcorge H.,

Charles N., Elbert, and Harriet. He was a Mcthod-

dist; an earnest worker in that denomination ; u maa



322 HISTORY OF LITCHFIELD COUNTY, CONNECTICUT.

pure, peaceable, and much respected by his fellow-

citizens. George H. moved to Brooklyn, N. Y., and

married, June 3, 1840, Hannah Woolsey. They had

one child, Phebe. Mrs. Shepard died June 20, 1841,

and Mr. Shepard married again, Oct. 7, 1847, and had

five children,—Charles Edward, Jesse Woolsey, Eliza-

beth Silliman, Mary Cynthia, and George Augustus.

Elbert, born May 2, 1824, married, May 31, 1846,

Cynthia L., daughter of George Wheaton, and has

one son, George Wheaton, born Dec. 25, 1854. Elbert

is a farmer at West Cornwall, has held many offices

of trust, and in 1858 represented Cornwall in the

State Legislature. He is a Methodist, Vjut, while con-

tributing to that denomination, is still liberal to

others, and gave the site of the chapel in West Corn-

wall, which, as Gold's " History of Cornwall" says,

will ever remain as a testimonial to the liberal Chris-

tian spirit of his fiiniily. Harriet married Morris

Tuttle, Oct. 14, 1867. She still resides in Goshen.

Charles N. received an academic education at South

Cornwall, and remained on the farm until he was

eighteen, when, preferring a mercantile life to agri-

culture, he began his preparations for it by becoming

a clerk in a store at Woodbury, remaining there three

years, and familiarizing himself with the details of a

business life. From Woodbury he went to New York

City, and, after an experience of several years as clerk

and book-keeper in a wholesale house, entered into

partnership with Hudson Hoagland and established

a wholesale provision store. This was successfully

conducted, and in a few years' time passed entirely

into Mr. Shepard's possession. He was an excellent

business man ; was very successful, and accumulated

a handsome fortune. The steady and absorbing at-

tention he was forced to give to liis business in pro-

cess of time caused his health to fail to such an

extent that he relinciuished trade and returned to

Cornwall, and made his home witli I'jlbert. He never

recovered his health, and died at West Cornwall, July

23, 1876. Mr. Shepard was a very exemplary man, a

regular attendant of the Methodist Church, and,

judging from entries in his diary, kept for years, he

lived a Christian life. He was a Democrat in politics.

CHAPTER XXXIL
GOSHEN.

Geographical—Topographical—The First Settlements—The Laying Out

of the Town—New Bantam—Goshen—Trouble between the Town and

the Colony—The Mob—Committee of Investigation—Settlement of

the Controversy—The First Grant and Survey—The Surveyor—The

College Farm—Division of the Town into Rights—First Proprietors'

Meeting—Tlie First Birth—The First Meeting-House—The Pioneer

Minister—The Pioneer Taverns—Location of Early Settlers—Pioneer

Merchants—The First Saw- and Grist-Mill, etc.

The first settlement in Goshen was made in 1720,

and in 1722 individuals of Hartford and Windsor

came on and laid out the township then called " New
Bantam." It was changed to Goshen by an act of the

General Assembly in 1737. It is deemed advisable in

this connection to reproduce the admirable address of

the Rev. Grant Powers, A.M., delivered at Goshen,

Sept. 28, 1838. It is the first printed history of the

town, and is an invaluable production

:

" These individuals claimed their right under the

towns of Hartford and Windsor, which brought on a

violent conflict between the colony and these towns.

In October of 1722, while the Assembly were in ses-

sion at Hartford, some of the trespassers were arrested,

and imprisoned at Hartford, but a mob was raised,

the jail broken open, and the delinquents were set at

liberty ; and so violent was the opposition of these

towns to the acts of the Assembly that the civil au-

thority was unable to execute the laws of the land.

Finally, the Assembly, feeling the disastrous conse-

quences of a protracted warfare of this nature, did, in

the autumn of 1724, appoint a committee to investi-

gate all the claims, and report thereon, that the diffi-

culty might be amicably settled. This committee

spent nearly two years in the investigation, and then

reported that a division of this territory be made,

giving one-half to the towns of Hartford and Wind-
sor, and one-half to the colony. Hartford and Wind-

sor should have the eastern division, and the colony

the western. In May, 1726, the Assembly adopted

substantially the report of the committee, and subse-

quently secured to these towns, Hartford and Wind-

sor, by patent, all the disputed lands east of Litchfield,

Goshen, and Norfolk, and retained the western sec-

tion, viz., Goshen, Norfolk, Canaan, Cornwall, Kent,

and Salisbury ; and thus an affair was adjusted which

had retarded the settlement of these towns and threat-

ened the whole colony with disastrous consequences.

THE FIRST GEANT AND SURVEY.

"At the October session of the Assembly in 1726, a

grant of three hundred acres of land in this town was

made to James Wadsworth, Esq., of Durham, John

Hall, Esq., of Wallingford, and Hezekiah Brainard,

Esq., of Haddani. What the consideration was for this

grant does not appear : probably it was for services

rendered the colony. This survey was made by John

Hitchcock, April 28, 1731. The northwest corner of

this special grant was east of the road opposite the

brick house of Capt. Jonatjhan Wadhams, and south

of the school-house. The west line of the grant, run-

ning south three hundred rods, intersected the north

line of Litchfield thirteen rods west of the north and

south road, that passes the house of Harvey Brooks,

thence east on Litchfield line one hundred and sixty

rods. Thence north three hundred rods, and then

west one hundred and sixty rods to the northwest

bound, already described, near Capt. Wadhams. This

grant has always borne the appellation ' the Squires

Farm' because the three gentlemen to whom the

grant was made all had the title esquire attached to

their names respectively. It is said that the house

owned and occupied by the widow and heir of the
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late Isaac Wadhams stands in the central part of the

Squires Farm. But at the time of this survey the

town had not been laid out by government, and was

denominated Western Lands, or New Bantam, the

Assembly not regarding at all the laying out of the

town by Hartford and Windsor in 1722. But at their

session in May, 1731, they enacted that their Western

lands should be laid out into five townships, and ap-

pointed their committee to perform this business.

The report of this committee as it respects this town

bears date Oct. 15, 1731, describing the limits of the

same, making the south line four miles and one hun-

dred and ninety-six rods, the west line nine miles and

sixty rods, the north line four miles and eighty-six

rods, and the east line eight miles and one hundred

and forty-six rods, showing that the south line is ten

rods longer than the north line, and the west line two

hundred and thirty-four rods longer than the east

line. Soon after these towns were laid out the trustees

of Yale College applied to the Assembly for a grant

of land in aid of this institution, and in 1732 they

made a grant of fifteen hundred acres to the trustees,

three hundred acres in each of the five towns so re-

cently laid out, and in January, 1737, the College

Farm—so called—in this town was surveyed and its

boundaries established. The dwelling-houses oi

Messrs. Asa, Levcrett, and Cephsis Ives stand upon

this grant, and also the house at the turnpike gate

leading to Cornwall. On the 13th of October, 1737,

the A.ssembly enacted that the township called Go-
shen should be divided into fifty-three rights, exclu-

sive of former grants, referring to the Squires Farm
and college. Two of the fifty-three rights were to be

appropriated to the ministry, one of them to be the

property of the first settled minister, and the other to

remain for the support of the ministry in all after-

time. And a third right was to be for the support of

schools. Fifty rights would remain for the proprie-

tors of said townslii[>. The Assembly then resolved

that this township should be sold in so many rights,

at public auction, at the court-house in New Haven,

to the higiiest bidder, commencing on the first Tues-

day in December next (1737), and to be continued by

adjournment until all the riglit-s were sold. Tiie con-

ditions required of each i)roi)rietor were, that he or

his agent should, within two years from the date of

his purchase, enter ujmn Ills premises, build and finish

a house thereon, no le-ss than eighteen feet square, and

seven feet between sill and plate; clear, subdue, and

fence six acres of said land, and continue to dwell

thereon for the s|)ace of three successive years (unless

prevented by death or unavoidable Providence), com-

mencing after the expiration of the two years in which

the specified conditions were to be performed ; and,

furthermore, he must perform all orders and duties,

and pay all taxes granted. If these conditions were

performed, then his deed was valid ; but if any part

of the conditions was omitted (extraordinarics ex-

cepted), his title was void and of no effect.

" It seems that during the winter, spring, and sum-

mer of 1738 the rights were all, or nearly all, disposed

of, and that a meeting of the proprietors was called

at the house of Capt. John Buel, in Litchfield, on the

27th of September, 1738. This Capt. John Buel, or

Deacon Buel, as he is generally called, was one of the

first settlers of the town of Litchfield, and deserves

special notice in this place on account of the interest

he took in the settlement of this town, and the inter-

est his descendants have held in it to this day. He
with his wife Mary came from Lebanon, in this State,

to Litchfield in 1720, and lived on Town Hill, north

side of West Street, and seventy rods west of the

county jail. He was distinguished for his piety and

active benevolence. A brief anecdote of him will

tell the whole story. In 1740 or 1741 there came a

man from Cornwall in the depth of winter to purchase

some grain for himself and family, who were in great

need. He was directed to the house of Deacon Buel

as being the man most likely to have grain to sell.

The man called at the house and inquired if Deacon

Buel lived there, and whether he could purchase a

little grain for his family. Deacon Buel asked him if

he had money to purchase the grain. He replied that

he had some. ' Well,' said the deacon, ' I can show

you where you can procure it.' (Joing with the

stranger to the door, he jminted out to him a certain

house, and said, 'There lives a man who will let you

have the grain for your money. I have some graia

to spare, but I must keep it for those who have no

money !'

"Nearly all, if not all who bear the name of Buel,

in Litchfield and (Joshen, are the descendants of this

same Deacon John Buel. We have his grandson with

us to-day, Capt. Jonathan Buel, aged eighty-five.

"On the 27th of September, 1738, the proprietors of

this town assembled at the house of Deacon John
Buel, Litchfield, agreeably to appointment. Capt.

Joseph Bird, of Litchfield, was chosen clerk, and

Deacon John Buel was chosen moderator, .\fter being

fully organized, they adjourned to meet at the same

place at eight o'clock the next morning, one hundred

years ago this morning. Here let us pause for a mo-

ment's reflection. How eventful were the doings of

this meeting! Upon the act.s of this body were sus-

pended the settlement of this town, the mtmnrr of its

settlement, and much of its prosperity to the present

time. Nor will our descendants cease to be influenced

by these incipient steps for ages to come, and may not

to the end of time.

" Whether our fathers were sensible of the impor-

tance of their proceedings to unborn generations or not,

yet «•(• may learn that we never act for ourselves ex-

clusively, but that others are to be alfected tor good or

for evil by our influences to the latest generation, and

probably to eternity I

"The adjournnietit of tliis meeting on the 27th to

the 28tli of the month was doubtless that they might

arrange matters so as to transact busine.ns with greater



32-t HISTORY OF LITCHFIELD COUNTY, CONNECTICUT.

dispatch the next day. We understand that each pro-

prietor of one right in the town owned one fifty-third

part of the town, exclusive of the Squires Farm and

College Farm, but no man's right was yet located.

And that each might have as fair a chance as possible

in liis location, they agreed that but one hundred

acres to each riglit should be located at that time, and

that no one should select more than fifty acres until

all the others had selected their fifty acres upon their

respective rights. The method adopted to locate each

man's fifty acres was this : there were fifty-three slips

of paper cut and marked from No. 1 to 53. These

papers were put into a hat or box, and the proprietors

drew out one paper each, and according to tlie num-
ber the individual drew so he stood in the choice of

his first fifty acres. The man who drew No. 1 had a

right to select his fifty acres in any part of the town
not encroaching upon the two farms s])ecified. He
who drew No. 2 held the next choice, and so on to

5.S, an individual being designated to draw for the

ministerial and school rights. But in the choice of

the second fifty-acre lots to each individual proprietor

there was no drawing for a choice ; for it was agreed

that he who had the last choice in the first division

should have tlie first choice in the second division; so

that he who liad the first choice in the first division

had the last choice in the second division. These

preliminary steps being taken, the proprietors met on

the 28th, appointed a committee for laying out the

lots when chosen, and drew for their choice of lots.

Aaron Cook drew No. 1 and had the first choice,

Daniel Kichards the fifty-third. The meeting was
tlien adjourned to the first Wednesday of December
next, at 8 o'clock a.m., to meet at the house of Joseph
Bird, in Litchfield, and the proprietors hastened to

Goshen, each to search out and locate his future

home, and where he should repose his mortal part.

This is the day we celebrate at the distance of one

entire century from those hardy adventurers. From
this period we date the regular settlement of this

town ; and whatever degree of interest we may feel on
this occasion, we may rest assured our venerated

fathers felt far more. They had to select for them-

selves and for theirs. Their personal interest and
comfort were in a good degree involved in their

choice. The labor of converting a wilderness into a

fruitful field, and into smooth and green pastures, was
theirs. Far distant was the day in their vision when
the sun, with unobstructed rays and mellowing influ-

ences, should look down upon their soil as at this

day. For a long period they could hope for the neces-

saries of life only, with a few conveniences and no
luxuries, unless they were derived from the chase

!

They knew the toil of felling the towering trees of

the forest, of making roads, building bridges, erecting

mills, fences, habitations, barns, school-houses, and a

house for worship ; and it will appear in the sequel

that these first settlers contemplated all these things

from the commencement of their enterprise. Now,

notwithstanding this was a peculiar race of men, pre-

pared by the providence of God for bold and arduous

undertakings, yet must they not have felt an interest

and a solicitude while entering this forest for the first

time which we do not and cannot feel ? Yet they

were sustained and directed, and by the strength of

their arms, and the perseverance of their labors, we
their descendants are placed in the lap of ease and
plenty. I have stated that Aaron Cook drew No. 1,

and had the first choice in the first division of lots.

He cliose—and we honor his choice—the south part

of Town Hill, whereon now stand the brick house of

the late Col. Moses Lyman, and the house of his son,

iSamuel Lyman. Daniel Richards, who was last in

choice in this division, chose the land lying southeast

of Narshapogge Pond, now injudiciously called West
Side Pond, and it embraced the land whereon now
stands the three-story house known by the name
Hudson house. I say this pond is injudiciously called

West Side Pond, because it is entered in all ancient

conveyances by its Indian name, Narshapogge, and
because it is much more definite in its Indian name
than in its present name ; for who that was not well

acquainted with the use of terms here could decide

which pond was meant by the term West Side Pond,

whether it was this pond, or the one a little south of it?

Beside, the Indian name is a much more dignified

name ; and as it was prior to the one now in common
use by thousands of years probably, it ought to be

retained as a memorial of a mighty race that have

passed away to make room for the more civilized, but

more effeminate European ! And what is said of this

pond applies with equal force to her sister a little

south, which was called in the Indian tongue Marsh-

apogge, but is now called Tyler Pond. Who for a

moment can balance in his judgment in regard to the

euphony of these two names? Not one. We say,

then, let them bear their original names, and the

names they hold in our records, and not attempt to

filch from the poor Indian the right which God and

nature gave him, to imprint the seal of his own lan-

guage upon those everlasting hills, lakes, ponds, and

streams ! Pardon me this digression and I will pro-

ceed. I have said this day one hundred years this

town was settled by its proprietors, but these were not

the first English inhabitants within this town. I

have already spoken of the Squires Farm, and given

its boundaries at the southeasterly part of the town,

lying on Litchfield line. It is upon record that, in

February, 1734, James Wadsworth, Esq., sold his one-

third part of the Squires Farm to Ebenezer Luke and

Isaac Hill, all of Wallingford, of this State ; that in

February, 1736, there was a division of the whole

farm between the owners, and that the southern third

part fell to the share of said Hill. It appears, also,

that in 1737, Ebenezer Hill came on to the west part

of this south third of the farm, and built him a small

framed house on the ground now improved for a barn-

yard by Harvey Brooks. The house stood east of the
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road as it then rau, but west of where it now runs.

This same season, 17.37, Benjamin Frisbie bought of

Luke Hill his third of the one hundred acres, divided

between the said Hills, and built him a house a little

north of the house of Ebenezer Hill, on the same side

of the road. These two houses might have accommo-

dated some few of the proprietors of the town while

attending to the location and survey of their respect-

ive lots, but by far the greater portion must have

reposed at night on the lap of indulgent nature, and

slept under the protecting wing of high heaven. '

" I will here remark that the first English child

born in this town was called Billions Hill, son of Isaac

Hill, one of the original proprietors. He was born at

the house of Ebenezer Hill, by Harvey Brooks', as

already described.

" I shall not attempt to describe the location and sur-

vey of each lot successively as the business proceeded,

but shall advert to the fact that the proprietors held

two meetings more at Litchfield before they were con-

vened at Goshen, at which meetings they proceeded

to make further divisions of land upon the same plan

that was adopted at the first meeting. The first pro-

prietors' meeting at Goshen was on the 13th of May,

1740, at the house of Joseph Hickock, on East Street,

where Nathaniel Stanley afterwards lived. And here

we may take our leave of the meetings of the pro-

prietors as distinct meetings from the town, although

they have held occasional meetings in their corporate

capacity to the present time.

"The first town-meeting ever held in this town was

on Dec. fith, 1739. John Beach was chosen moder-

ator, and Samuel Pettibone town clerk. John Beach,

Samuel Pettibone, Nathaniel Baldwin, Samuel Tow-
ner, and Benajah Williams were chosen selectmen.

Moses Lyman was chosen collector and treasurer.

The place of this meeting not being specified, it is

supposed that it was held at their meeting-house,

standing a little east of north from the dwelling-house

of Erastus Lyman, Esq., and four or five rods south-

ea.st of the yellow building denominated Mechanic's

Hall, the spot wo have now visited in solemn and
grateful procession. This first meeting-house was

built of rude materials. The butt end of a large

white-ash tree, felled, composed the principal part of

the wall on one side, and piled logs, with a covering

of bark, completed the sanctuary. And does this

appear small in our view, almost provoking a smile?

It was great in the sight of God I It was the best

they could do, and more than many of them enjoyed

for their own shelter. It wa-s the expr&ision of their

hearts, and an earnest of what they would do in time

to come. It was saying thai the God of the Pilgrims

was their God, and should be the God of Goslien a-s

far as it might depend on them. I would that that

house now stood I How often would we .steal a soli-

tary walk thither, and in the holy stillnes.s of evening

go round her inclosurcs, think of the generation that

congregated there, their forvont devotions, their prayers

for covenanted mercies upon their posterity, and their

present rest on high ! And while thus musing would

not the fire kindle in our own hearts, and should we

not praise God that our fathers loved him, and gave

us this precious example of dedicating to him the first

fruits of their hearts and of their hands

!

" But notwithstanding our fathers had thus early a

house for God, they did not always improve it. It

was of course much open between logs, and there were

no stoves. It was, therefore, not fitted for worship in

the severity of winter. Besides, there were no roads

for the weak and tender of their congregation to

travel in from diflferent sections of the town. They

therefore adopted the plan of carrying the gospel to

the people, by appointing the public worshiji of God
in different parts of the town ; and at this first town-

meeting they passed a vote that the ' selectmen should

ascertain the places for holding the meetings for the

public worship of God.' At a town-meeting, Jan. 11,

1740, it was voted to hire a minister on probation, and

that Nathaniel Baldwin, Samuel Towner, and Samuel

Pettibone be a committee to go after a minister, with

full power to agree with him. It seems that this

committee were successful in obtaining Mr. Stephen

Heaton, of New Haven, to be their candidate; for in

April, 1740, the town voted him a call to settle with

them in the gospel ministry, and specified the settle-

ment and salary they would give him. The call was

not immediately accepted, and in September following

it was renewed to him, with some addition to the for-

mer proposed salary. This call was accepted, and Mr.

Heaton wiis ordained November, 1740, at the house of

Capt. John Beach, on East Street, east side of the

road, opposite to the present dwelling-house of Eber

Bailey.

"The town, at their meetings preparatory to the

settlement of Mr. Heaton, had voted that it was neces-

sary to build a meeting-house, and Nathaniel Bald-

win was appointed to solicit the General Assembly for

a committee, to be appointed to ilecide on the spot

where the new meeting-house should stand. It ap-

pears further, from the records, that the General As-

sembly, agreeably to the request of the petitioners,

did appoint a committee of three from the town of

Hartford tofi.v on the site for a meeting-hou.se, atid that

the said committee diil come out and set the stake

where the house should stand some time in the sum-

mer of 1740, and that after some delay and cmbar-

ra-ssmenta the tfcoml meeting-house in the town was

raised ami covered iti the year 1744. It was a hou.se

forty-six by thirty-lour feet, and twenty feet between

sill and plate. It hail two galleries, one above the

other, an<l when it was finished was painted yellow.

It stood a little northwest of this house, and a little

south of the house that was removed in 1832, the

south side of the thinl meeting-house coming within

four feet of the north side of the second house.

Tliere are some two or three present who remember

this second house, which was removed in 1770.
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"I will now, for the satisfaction of the present gen-

eration, and with a view to impress us all with the

truth that the/ashioii of this tvorld passeth iiirai/, pre-

sent you this town as it was in 1745. I am indebted

for these statistics mainly to Deacon Lewis M. Nor-

ton, of this place, whose unwearied and persevering

effort in this cause for years entitles him to the last-

ing gratitude of his townsmen and to a more substan-

tial reward. We will return, then, to the south part of

the town, where we have already been in the history,

and commence with Capt. Jonathan Buel, son of

Deacon John Buel, of Litchfield, and father of Capt.

Jonathan Buel, now of this town. His house stood

upon the line between Litchfield and Goshen, on the

west side of the north and south road, as it now runs.

In the house lately owneil and occupied by Elias

Buel, a little south of Harvey Brooks, on the east side

of the road, lived Ebenezer Hill, Jr., son of the Ebe-

nezer Hill whose house we have already located in

Mr. Brooks' barn-yard. This house of Ebenezer Hill,

Jr., lately occupied by Elias Buel, was built in the

summer of 1741, and is the oldest house in the town.

This Hill and Capt. Jonathan Buel kept tavern alter-

nately for a number of years. Buel would keep two

years, and then Hill two, for the accommodation of

those who were going to and from ' Western Lands.'

About half-way between the house of Ebenezer Hill,

Jr., and the house lately occupied by Elisha Buel, now

by Watts Brooks, stood the house of Asa Hill, another

son of Ebenezer Hill, first mentioned. A little north

of the present house of Watts Brooks, near the flat,

stood the house of Benjamin Frisbie, already described

as the second house, built in 1737, on the Squires

Farm. A little north of Frisbie's house, as we ascend

the hill, and precisely where stands the house of

Joseph Beardsley, lived John Dibble, with a numer-

ous family from Wallingford. Afterwards, John Dib-

ble, Jr., kept a store in the house for several years,

and then built him a store, about ten rods south of

his house, near the house of Frisbie, and traded there.

It was called the red store, because it was painted red.

Proceeding north until we come to within four rods

southeast of the present brick house of Samuel Ives,

and there lived Noah Wadhams, from Middletown,

the progenitor of all those who have ever lived in

Goshen bearing the name of Wadhams. He was

prosperous in business and reared a numerous family.

About twenty-eight rods north of Noah Wadhams
lived, on the west side of the road, Jeremiah Howe,

from Wallingford. He was the progenitor of all the

families by the name of Howe in Goshen, and of

many in Canaan. The next neighbor to Howe, at the

north, was Samuel Pettibone, from Sim.sbury. His

house stood a few feet north of the present brick house

of Thomas and Hiram Griswould, on the same side of

the way. He was the first lawyer in Goshen, and for

some time was State's attorney. He was much em-

ployed in the early business transactions of the town

;

but being overcome and thrust down by the strong

man from the West Indies, he terminated his earthly

existence at the old house formerly occupied by Har-

vey Brooks. About one hundred and fifteen rods

north of the house of Pettibone, on the west side of

the road, stood the house of Christopher Grimes, from

Wallingford, the old well still designating the location

of his dwelling. North of the house of Grimes, and

about sixty rods south of the house long owned and

occupied by Deacon Augustus Thomson, but now
owned by Abraham Norton and his son William,

stood the house of Gideon Hurlbut, from Wethers-

field, on the east side of the road. Hurlbut was a

substantial man, and pious. He reared a numerous

family, and has one granddaughter still living in the

town,—Lorana, the wife of Andrew Norton, Sr.

" A few rods north of Hurlbut's, and on the west

side of the road running north and south, and north

of the road then leading to Town Hill, stood the house

of Zach.Triali Curtis, from Wetliersfield. The Town
Hill mad came into West Street road at that time,

between CJideon Hurlbut's and Curtis', forty or fifty

rods south of where it now comes in. North of Cur-

tis', and opposite to the house of Abraham Norton,

on the west side of the road, stood the house of Ben-

jamin Phelps, from Windsor. He soon afterwards

sold to Timothy Gaylord, of Wallingford, father of

the late Joseph Gaylord, and grandlather of Joseph

Ives and Willard Gaylord. This Timothy Gaylord

was killed in the old French war,—was shot through

the head by an Indian as he stood behind a tree, and

was moving out his own head to obtain a shot at the

Indian. The next house north, on the west side of

the way, near where now stands the barn of Truman
Starr, was the house of John Wright, who had a

numerous family. He is the ancestor of those who
bear the name of Wright in this town. A little north

of this, on the same side of the way, and a little north

of the late Woodruff house, stood the house of Deacon

Gideon Thompson, from New Haven. This house

was palisadoed against the Indians. The manner of

fortifying a house was this : they dug a deep ditch

around the house, placed logs perpendicularly in it

all around the house, leaving a space only for a gate.

The logs were placed close together, sharpened at the

top, and extended eight, ten, or twelve feet above the

ground. The earth taken from the trench was then

returned, and beaten down until the logs stood firmly;

and this, with a gate well secured, was a tolerable

defense against a sudden attack from the Indians.

It is needless, perhaps, to say that the Indians did not

deal in artillery. At this house a town-meeting was

held in May, 1741. He was one of the first deacons

in the church, being appointed at the time of the

organization of the church, in November, 1740, before

the ordination of Mr. Heaton, or very soon after-

wards. He was the first representative from this town

to the General Assembly, 1757, and, in 1759, he died

at Hartford while a member of the Assembly. He
was the grandfather of Jonathan Thomson and Deacon

\
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Augustus Thomson. From this house of Deacon

Gideon Thomson there was no road open either north

or west in 1745, hut all was forest, with the exception

of a settlement in Canada Village, so called.

"In 1739 or 1740 the said Benjamin Frisbie, of the

south end, moved into that place, and built him a

house a few rods north of the present house of Au-
gustus Miles, Esq. In 1742 he built a saw-mill, where

stands now the woolen-factory, and soon after he built

the first grist-mill in town. This stood a little dis-

tance from the saw-mill, and occupied the ground

which is now improved as a tannery by George Miles.

Undoubtedly the inhabitants of this village are in-

debted to this same Frisbie for the name of their vil-

lage, and that the Connecticut Historical Collections

have the truth in the case. Capt. Jonathan Buel, who
can remember eighty years, says that it was called

Canada as long ago as he can remember, and he always

understood that it came by its name as stated in the

Collections, viz., that this Frisbie was ever talking

about removing to Canada, but never went. The wags

of his time being wearied with his story of Canada,

told him he should live in Canada, and if he would

not remove to Canada, they would bring Canada to

him, and from that time they called the place of his

residence Canada. West of Canada Village, in 1745,

there wa.s no road and no settlement until we came to

Cornwall. We will return, then, to Town Hill. Here

were but three families, and all southwesterly of them

in this town was wilderness. On the top of Town
Hill, on the west side of the road, and a little south

of the present dwelling of Gen. Moses Cook, stood

the house of Joseph Curtis, from Wethersfield. He
had a numerous family. He sold out in 1750 to

Daniel Cook, father of the present Moses Cook, 8r.,

who still survives. About twenty-five rods south of

Gen. Moses Cook's present dwelling, on the east side

of tlie road, stood the house of Joseph Cook, from

Wallingford, father of Daniel Cook, and grandfatlier

of Moses Cook, Sr. Joseph Cook lived here until the

time of his death, Xov. 7, 1704.

"South of Curtis', and about midway of the hill on

the west side of tlie road, stood the log house of

Deacon Moses Lyman, from Northampton, Mass.

His son, Col. Moses Lyman, afterwards built the

present brick house now owned by the Hon. Moses

Lyman, on the spot where stood the lu)use of Deacon

Lyman. This first house was built upon elevated

underpinning, and the windows were made high in

the walls of the house, to prevent the Indians from

firing into the windows in case the family were in-

vaded by tliem. Hut this Deacon Moses Lyman was

cut off in the midst of his years, and in the midst of

his u.sefulness, Jan. G, 1768, aged fifty-five. He liad

a protuberance of the bone in one of his limbs, sub-

mitted to amputation, and after one month's slow but

incessant bleeding he expired. I have seen a printed

sermon, delivered on the occasion of his death, by the

Rev. Mr. Newell, which shows that the church and

town were in mourning by this bereavement. They

felt, as did the young prophets at Elijah's removal,

that the Lord had taken away their head man from

among them. And from all that I can learn of the

aged now living concerning him, he was a great bless-

ing to the town. He came from Northampton, then

the centre of theology and active piety in New Eng-

land. He had sat under the ministry of the cele-

brated Jonathan Edwards, seen and felt the power of

those great revivals, and he was eminently prepared

to bless a new settlement. Whatever his hand found

to do of benevolence and usefulness he did with his

might ; and as a beneficent Providence had given him

the ability to bless, so he imparted. The blessing of

him that was ready to perish came upon him, and he

caused the widow's heart to sing for joy ! His rest is

undoubtedly glorious ! We have with us to-day three

grandchildren of this man, Moses, Samuel, and Eras-

tus Lyman. He has here a great-great-grandchild,

who is the tenth Moses Lyman in regular succession,

and the first son born in each successive family, and

the first-born in every family, with one exception.

It has been said that Town Hill received its name on

account of the early impression that there would be

the centre of the town. It is more probable they

thought that might be the centre of a south parish,

when the north part of the town became a parish and

the southwest part became settled. At the north side

of this Town Hill we find a collection of water called

Dog Pond. This received its name from the simple

fact that Deacon Nathaniel Baldwin, of the north

part of the town, lo.st his dog there by drowning in

1738. The circumstances are not mentioned, but it is

probable that the event occurred while the old hunter

was in the chase. Leaving Town Hill on the north

side, and passing east towards Samuel Pettibone's,

now Thomas Griswold's, and just before we reach the

bottom of the hill, we see a saw-mill, a little at our

right, on the south side of the road, which is supi>lied

with water taken by a snuill canal, from the natural

channel made by the waters which flow from Dog
Pond. This mill was built in 1742, by Benjamin

Phelps and others. Proceeding on eastwardly by

Samuel Pettibone's, and crossing the meadow pre-

cisely lus the road now runs, we shall come to the

house of Zaclieus tJriswold, from Windsor. His

house stood a very little north of the present house of

the widow and heirs of John Griswold. He was the

father of all those inhabitants of this town who have

borne the name Griswold. He lived more than one

hundred years, and his wife attained to just one hun-

dred. His daughter-in-law, the wife of his son, (illes

(iriswold, still survives, and has attained to her ninety-

ninth year. A little farther to the north and we come

tq the house of Abel Phelps, from Simsbury. It

stood a few feet southeiust from the present dwelling

of Beebe Wadhams. He and his son .\l>cl occupied

the house for many years. Proceeding north, we do

not find a habitation until we reach the residence of
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Capt. Samuel Thomson, from New Haven. His house

stood on the west side of the north and south road,

near the present store of Moses Lyman, Jr. The
road from West Street came into Middle Street where

it now does, and, proceeding east by the first meeting-

house, at the old ash-tree, proceeded directly to East

Street, and came out nearlj- opposite to the road that

comes in from Torrington. On the south side of this

east and west road, and ten rods east of Mechanic's

Hall, on Middle Street, lived Amos Thomson, from

New Haven. Deacon Gideon Thomson, Samuel
Thomson, and Amos Thomson were all brothers, or

near relatives. Proceeding north on Middle Street

till we come to the garden now improved by Simmons
Scovil, and here we find tlie site of the dwelling of

Rev. Mr. Hoaton, the first minister of the town. This

garden belongs to the house and lot now owned by

Nelson Wadhams, of Canada Village. There was no
other house between Mr. Heaton's and the second

meeting-liousc already described. At this date there

was no road directly east from tlie meeting-house, and
none directly west. There was no lionse from Amos
Thomson's to East Street, and none on Beach or

Lucas Hill. There was a road open to West side, so

called, but no house from the meeting-house till we
come to the house of Timothy Tuttle, which stood on

the east side of the road, nearly opposite to the pres-

ent house of his granddaughter, Mrs. Huldah Tuttle.

He was an original proprietor in the town, from Wal-
lingford, and reared a numerous family. Some thirty

or forty rods north of Tuttle's we come to the house of

Daniel Richards, from Hartford, of whom we have

already spoken. His house stood a little northwest

from the present three-story Hudson house. He was
the grandfather of the present Russel Richards.

" Passing onward to the northwest till we cross the

outlet of Narshapogge Pond, we come to the house of

Caleb Beach, standing near where Russel Richards'

house now does. He was from Wallingford. At the

Barnam house, south of the West-side graveyard,

lived Daniel Harris, Jr., from Wallingford. No de-

scendants in town. A little west from the last-men-

tioned place, and in the present garden of Lewis C.

Wadhams, on the east side of his house, stood the

house of Benjamin Deming, from Middletown, father

of Wait, Elias, and Jonathan Deming. Still farther

north, about sixty rods, on the east side of the road,

stood the house of Thomas Marvin, from Litchfield.

He was an original proprietor in the town, but did

not remain long here. Near the house long occupied

by Philo Collins, and now by William Miles, stood

the house of Benajah Williams, from Stonington, an

original proprietor in two rights. He did not remain

long in town, but sold his large and beautiful farm, of

more than four hundred acres, to Ephraim Williams,

of Wethersfield, whose son, Jacob Williams, came and

lived on it. Pursuing this road north until we come
to the present new house of Acros Lawton, we come
to the house of Jonah Case, from Simsbury, an orig-

inal proprietor. From this house north all was wil-

derness and no road. There was no house north of

the meeting-house and west of Humphrey's lane until

we came to West-side Street, already described. We
must return back then to the Centre, and before we go

to East Street we must visit the beautiful hill of An-
drew Norton, Jr., three-fourths of a mile southeast

from this house. On the east declivity of this hill,

on the south side of the road, and about fifteen rods

east of the old house of Andrew Norton, Jr., stood

the house of Lenus Ward, from Wallingford. In the

autumn of the year of which we are now speaking

—

1745—Ward sold out to William Walter, who brought

up a fiimily there, and from him the Walters in Goshen
have descended. At a little later date than the time

of which we are speaking came David Norton, from

Durham, and built a house on the north side of the

road, on the top of the hill, almost on the same spot

where now stands the new house of Andrew Norton,

Jr. He was a young man of unusual enterprise and
of substantial character. He was the father of David,

Kber, Oliver, John, Anna, Alexander, Andrew, Wil-

liam, and Miriam, three of whom continue to this

present time, Alexander, Andrew, and Miriam. He
was, however, taken away in the midst of life and

usefulness. He was greatly interested in the building

of the //((>(/ meeting-house in 1769. On Monday 'he

labored very hard in getting in large stones for the

foundation of that house. He was taken suddenly

ill, and died on Thursday, aged forty-four; so that,

like David of old, he was not permitted to see the

house his heart was fixed upon. Not only his family,

but the town felt their bereavement.

"At the south end of East Street we come to the

place of Cyjirian Collins, the fourth son of Rev.

Timothy Collins, of Litchfield. In the spring of this

year Rev. Mr. Collins purchased land at that place,

and some time afterwards sent his son Cyprian to

clear the land and build upon it, with the promise of

a future deed. The first house of Cyprian Collins

stood on the west side of the I'oad, near the horse-shed

of Capt. Timothy Collins. His second house was the

one now owned and occupied by Capt. Timothy Col-

lins. This Cyprian Collins had a numerous family,

and was the ancestor of all who bear the name of

Collins in this town. He had following children, Am-
brose, Triphena, Amanda, Philo, Anna, Lauranda,

Rhoda, Cyprian, Phebe, and Tyrannus, and all these

lived to become heads of numerous families. Cyprian

Collins was a frugal and an industrious man, and a

firm patriot in the Revolution. In the early period

of his life he owned the covenant, as it was called, and

brought his children to baptism, and was always a

regular attendant on divine worship. And here it

may not be inappropriate to remark, for the benefit of

the rising generation, that the practice of receiving

persons of moral life into a half-way relation to the

church had obtained extensively in New England at

that day. The applicant for this relation was required
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to profess his belief in the fundamental principles of

the gospel promise to lead a sober life, and to train

up his household in the things of religion. If he

would do this he might bring his children to baptism,

and yet not consider himself a member of the church

or come to the communion-table, and not even con-

sider himself a regenerate person. This will explain

what we have further to say of Mr. Cyprian Collins.

Notwithstanding he had owned the covenant, had his

children baptized, and ever been a regular attendant

on the instituted means of grace, yet in old age his

attention was powerfully arrested to the spiritual con-

cerns of his soul ; he realized that he was a great sin-

ner, cast himself upon the mercy of the Saviour, and,

as we trust, obtained eternal life. At the age of

seventy-five years he made a public profession of re-

ligion, and to the close of his life gave pleasing evi-

dence that he was indeed a child of God.
" I will here remark, that in 1745 there was no road

from Litchfield to meet East Street road, for I find

that at a town-meeting in 1749 a committee was

raised to ' treat with Litchfield men about their lay-

ing a road to meet our East-side road.'

" Leaving the place of Cyprian Collins, and pro-

ceeding north, we come to the house of Benoni Hills,

standing near the northwest corner of the present

barn of the late Samuel D. Street. The road then

ran west of tliis barn. Benoni Hills wa.s the father

of Zimri and Col. Medad Hills. About nine rods

west of the present house of William Lyman, the late

residence of Capt. Jonathan North, and west of the

road as it then ran, stood the house of Joseph North,

from Faniiington. He was the father of Dr. Jo-

seph North, Kzekiel North, and others. This house

was paliaadoed, or fortified, against tlie Indians. A
little farther north, and just where the barn stands

which wiis lately owned and improved by Dudley

Henderson, stood the house of Capt. Samuel Hinman,
an original ]>roprictor, from Jiitchfield. This house

was built in tlic fall of 1738. About tliirty rods north

of Hinnian's and a little south of the turnpike road,

as it conu's into Hast Street from Siiaron, stood tiic

house of Steplien Goodwin, from Simsbury. Here
Goodwin kept tavern some years. Afterwards he

built about twenty rod.s southeast, and tlierc lie kept

a tavern. Of this uian we shall hear again wlien we
come to the war of the Revolution. A few feet nortli

of the present l)ri(k iiouse of Joseph Goddnrd, built

by Birdscy Norton, Esq., stood the log house of

Deacon Ebenczer Norton, from Durham. A few

years afterwards lie built the house wliich stood a

little nortliwcst of the present brick house, and in

this he lived until liis dcceiwe. This Deacon, or Es-

quire, or Col. Norton, for he bore these several titles

at the same time, wa.s a distinguished character in his

day. No man, perhaps, with tlie exception of Deacon
Moses Lyman, was ever more loved and lionorcd by
the people of tliis town tlian he. He was a nicnd)er

of the General Assembly twenty -six sessions, in timex

that tried men's souls. And he would have been

called to discharge those duties still longer, but his

increasing infirmities induced him to decline all pub-

lic services. He married Elizabeth, the daughter of

Deacon Nathaniel Baldwin, of this town, and their

children were Miles, Aaron, Elizabeth, Ebenezer,

Rachel, Marana, Nathaniel, Olive, and Birdsey. They
have three grandchildren now living in town, Abra-

ham Norton, Deacon Lewis M. Norton, and Elizabeth

M., the wife of Joseph Goddard. He departed this

life March 15, 1785, aged seventy. She died April 16,

1811, aged eighty-nine. Their descendants at the

time of her death were two hundred and eight. Four

of them were great-great-grandchildren.

" About thirty rods north from the house of Deacon
Ebenezer Norton, and a little northeast of the red

house once occupied by Deacon Samuel Norton, and

now owned and occupied by Adam Bently, stood the

log house of Samuel Norton, from Durham. This

house was palisadoed against the Indians. Ebenezer,

Samuel, and David Norton were brethren, the sons of

Samuel Norton, of Durham.
" Proceeding north we come to the dwelling of Na-

thaniel Stanley, from Farmington. His log house

stood about two rods northwest from the northwest

corner of the pr&sent house, so long occupied by his

grandson, William Stanley, and his great-grandson,

Deacon George Stanley, but now owned by Adam
Bently. He came to this town in 1742, and purchased

the lot of Joseph Hickock. He died March 2, 1770,

attaining to more than ninety years.

"A few rods northeast of the East Street burying-

ground, on the east side of the road, stands the same
house which stood there in 1745, and is one of the

oldest houses in the town. It was originally tlie

house of Barnaba.s Beach, eldest son of Capt. John
Beach. Daniel Miles, Esq., succeeded Mr. Beach.

It was long known as the residence of Samuel Chapin,

Esq., and is now the home of widow Emily Chapin.

On the same side, about twenty rods southeast of the

dwelling of Jesse Beach, stood the house of Adim
Beach, second son of Capt. John Beach. He had a

numerous family, was once a representative to the

General Assembly, and was the grandfather of Jesse

Beach. A little north of the Iiouse occupied by Nor-

man Austin, on the same side of the way, stood the

house of Edmund Beach, the third son of Capt. John
Beach. His family was numerous. I'pon the death

of Deacon Ebenezer Norton, he was chosen to succeed

him in the office of deacon. Throe times ho was sent

a representative to the General As.scinl)ly. His house

hiLs remained until recently, ami it.s place may yet be

seen.

" A little at the north of the old house now spoken

of, on the same side of the way, ojipasite to the house

of Ebor Bailey and north of the road running east,

stood the house of Cajit., or Deacon John Beach, the

place already spoken of as the one where the Rev.

Mr. Heatoii wius ordained. This was the old hive
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where issued nearly all the families bearing the name
of Beach in this town. Deacon John Beach was from

Wallingford, an original proprietor in two rights, and
came to this town in 1738 with nine sons, Barnabas,

Adna, Edmund, Linus, Amos, Jacob, John, Roys, and
Baldwin. Being thus blessed with a quiverful of

arrov)8, he commanded respect. First and last he sus-

tained all important offices in the town. Four times

he represented this town in the General Assembly.

We may suppose that Deacon Beach, with his nine

sons, would not, in the first instance, erect a mean
cabin. This, with the considerations that there was
no meeting-house fitted to the occasion of an ordina-

tion in 1740 ; that there was no road from East to

Middle Street worthy of being called a road; and
that East Street was at that time more thickly inhab-

ited than any other section of the town, is explana-

tory why Mr. Heaton was ordained at the house of

Deacon John Beach. I will remark here, that Deacon
John Beach had a brother, Samuel, who settled in

Litchfield, and gave name to the north and south

street that is called Beach Street. He was the pro-

genitor of those families of that name in that neigh-

borhood. I will also say that Jacob Beach, the sixth

son of Deacon John Beach, was the father of the

present Francis and Julius Beach, whose joint ages

amount to one hundred and fifty-six years, and are

with us to-day.

" From Deacon John Beach's house we proceed

north till we come to the garden of Robert Palmer,

on the east side of East Street and on the south side

of the road leading eastward, and there stood the

house of Samuel Towner, from Waterbury. He was
an original proprietor, but did not remain long in

town. Just north of Towner's house, and near the

spot where Robert Palmer's house now stands, stood

the house of John North, from Farmington. He did

something as a merchant there. He built what was
called the blue house, deriving its name from the

color of its paint. It stood precisely on the spot

where now stands the house of Robert Palmer. This

house was struck by lightning in the afternoon of the

6th of June, 1767, in a tremendous tempest of light-

ning, thunder, and rain. All were struck down in

the house, and two men, James Rice and Martin Wil-

cox, were killed. This Martin Wilcox was a young
inan, pious and much beloved. The house seemed
instantly on fire in various places, and the bodies of

these men were nearly consumed before they could be
taken from the flames. The terror produced by this

Providence was so great that the ancients speak of it

with awe to the present day. About twenty rods at

the north of the blue house, on the west side of the

road, stood the house of John Thomson, Jr., from

Wallingford. His father was the original proprietor.

John Thomson was the progenitor of the Thomsons
in the north part of the town.

" North of John Thomson's, and fifty rods southeast

of the yellow house built by Asaph Hall, Esq., stood

the log house of Elkanah Hall, from Wallingford.
His fiither, David Hall, was the original proprietor in

two rights, but he never lived in Goshen. He after-

wards was killed by a ball at Fort George, in the old

French war. Asaph Hall, Esq., succeeded Elkanah
at the log house, and lived there until he built the

yellow house, and there lived until his death, about
thirty-eight years ago. Asaph Hall was a talented

man, and possessed the confidence of the people of

this town. Twenty-four times between 1773 and 1792

he sat in the General Assembly. He was then called

Capt. Hall. For many years he sustained the office'

of magistrate, and was a firm friend to his country.
" And now we come to the house of Deacon Na-

thaniel Baldwin, one of the first characters of that

day. He was originally from Guilford, but came first

to Litchfield, and at the settlement of this town he

purchased two rights and came to Goshen in 1739.

His house stood on the west side of East Street, and
on the south side of the narrow road leading to Hum-
phrey's lane, a few rods southwest from the brick

house of Asaph Hall. He was eminently a man of

God, and was highly esteemed both in the church and

in the town. Twice was he sent to the General As-

sembly. He was at first a deacon in the church at

Guilford, then at Litchfield, and as soon as the church

was organized here he was ajjpointed one of their first

deacons. He married, while yet in Guilford, Eliza-

beth, the sister of Abraham Parmele, the progenitor

of all the Parmeles in Goshen. Deacon Baldwin, his

wife, and his eight children all had a standing in this

church, and although all of them have long since

gone from this world, yet our faith sees them mem-
bers of the church triumphant and glorified, the

father saying, ' Behold, I and the children whom the

Lord hath given me!' The names of their children

were Nathaniel, Elizabeth, Samuel, Brewen, Anne,

Sarah, Lucy, and Rachel. The late Isaac Baldwin,

of this town, was the son of Nathaniel Baldwin, and

grandson of Deacon Nathaniel Baldwin.
" The late Brewen Baldwin was grandson of Deacon

Nathaniel Baldwin, and son of Samuel Baldwin. But

the late Daniel, Stephen, and Elisha Baldwin were

grandsons of Timothy Baldwin, of Guilford, brother

of Deacon Nathaniel Baldwin. On the east side of

the road, and nearly opposite to Asaph Hall's brick

house, on the north side of the road which leads to

Hart Hollow, stood the house of John Smith, from

Farmington. Here he commenced trading, and was

the first merchant in the town. After about two years

he removed to the Towner house, just south of Robert

Palmer's, and next he came to the lot on which Eras-

tus Lyman, Esq., now lives. He built a large house

between Mechanic's Hall and the house of Esquire

Lyman, afterwards called the Kettle house. He for

some years made potash on the little stream at the

foot of the hill, east of this house, and from this cir-

cumstance the stream derived its name. Potash Brook.

The little children who resort to this place in the
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summer months, when out of school, to catch tad-

poles, or porwigles, may remember how they come to

say, ' Come, let us go to the Potash.' Abigail, the

daughter of this Mr. Smith, married the Rev. Abel

Newell, the second minister in the town.
" We return to East Street, and proceeding north

from Smith's house we come to the present store of
j

Putnam Bailey. Here stood the house of Timothy
Stanley, the brother of Nathaniel Stanley, of whom
we have spoken. He came into town in the summer
of 1742, from Farmington. His descendants are nu-

"merous, but are scattered abroad in the several States.

From this house there was a highway existing in

name, a little distance north of the present house of

Collins Baldwin, but the whole country north and
east was yet in possession of the tenants of the forest.

Nature vegetated, blossomed, matured, and fell with-

out the friendly hand of culture, and without impart-

ing directly a single blessing to civilized life.

"In Humphrey's lane, as it is called, a road run-

ning parallel with East Street, south of the north

meeting-house and a little west of Ea-st Street, there

were two families. On the west side of this lane,

about ten rods from where the road ft-om the meeting-

house comes into the lane, stood the house of John
Wilcox, from Farmington. Daniel Wilcox, from

Simsbury, was the original owner. The posterity of

this John Wilcox have now become numerous. John
Flavel Wilcox is his descendant. The other family

'

in this street was Samuel Humphrey. His house was
thirty or forty rods south of Wilcox, on the east side

of the road as it now is, but on the west as it then
|

was. Humphrey was an original proprietor from I

Simsbury. He had eighteen children by four wives,

—ten sons and eight daughters,—and his posterity are

very numerous, and have ever well sustained tiie rcpu- ,

tation of their worthy progenitor. Indeed, it is
j

thought that the descendants of this Samuel Hum- '

phrey are more numerous, by far, than the descend-

ants of any other ma!i who ever lived in Goshen.
!

" We have now but one more location to notice. It

is that of Abraham Parmele, from Guilford. His

father was the original proprietor, but never came
here to live. His son came on at the settlement of

the town. His house, when built, stood about one

hundred and thirty rods northwest of Whist Pond, on
the nortli and south road running west of tiie pond,

and near where the east and west road from Robert
Palmer's comes into the Pond road. The first year

he labored on this lot all alone, but boarded with his

uncle, Deacon Nathaniel Baldwin, of East Street.

The next year he had a wigwam and boarded himself;

and he had a bed, too, for returning from (iuilford in

the spring of that year, he brought with him a bag of

gra-ss-seed, whicli was far more ela.stic and downy than

the floor of his cabin. On this he reposed at night,

secure from the wolves that howled around his tens-,

ment. It is said of young Parmele, that his axe wa.-*

heavy but lie knew it not. It fell thick and strong.

The sound thereof was from early morn until the stars

appeared, and the sturdy sons of the forest lay around

him as windfalls ! But although he was thus enjoying

single-blessedness in the stillness, grandeur, and sub-

limity of a deep forest, yet it seems he did not think

it good for man to live alone always, and believed

there must be a helpmeet for him somewhere. In the

summer of 1745 his house went up, an indication of

a revolution in his domestic establishment, and in

May, 1746, Mary Stanley, the fourth daughter of Na-

thaniel Stanley, of East Street, was legally constituted

associated head of the establishment. This was an

honorable and a happy union. They had ten chil-

dren ; nearly all of them, with the parents, became

pious, and two of the sons entered the gospel min-

istry. This was the father of our much-loved friend

and father in the town, Nathaniel Stanley Parmele,

who still survives the successive attacks of the most

formidable disease which falls upon our race, apo-

plexy. I have several times mentioned Whist Pond,

in the vicinity of Mr. Parmele's. This pond derives

its name from an old Indian of that name, who came
every year alone from Farmington, and spent the

season in hunting around the pond, and fishing and

bathing in it, but who was finally drowned in its

waters. I will here remark that Gun-Stock Brook, in

the north part of the town, derived its name from the

fact that curly maple grew plentifully upon its banks,

which wiis much used during the war of the Revolu-

tion in the manufacture of stocks for muskets.
" I have now presented you with a map of this town

as it was when the original proprietors were fairly

settled on their lots. And we can hardly fail to see

that some parts of tlie town were then as thickly

inhabited as at this day. This was tiie case with West

Street all the distance to Litclificld line. It was so on

West side from Timothy Tattle's to the house of Wil-

liam Miles, and on East Street, from Cyprian Collins'

to Putnam Bailey's store.

" Wc will now bring into view some of the civil

and ecclesiastical ad'airs of the town at the same time

of which we have been speaking, 174.'). It seems that

at an early period the inhabitants of the north part

of the town were sensible of the disadvantages they

labored under from the location of the meeting-house

in tills place, and that they commendably labored for

one of two things,—either that the second nioeting-

liouse sluiuld l)e located farther ruirtli, or that the

town should be divided into two parishes. And this

was the cause of a committee being appointed by the

General .\.s,sembly, in 1740, to come to this place and

decide where the house sliouhl st4Uid. And \fQ can

scarcely doubt but that it was in view of another

ecclesiastical society existing at the north that the

stake for the second meeting-house was placed here;

for no man in his senses could suppose that a bouse

for worship here would give equal udvantAgcs to the

nortli with those imparted to the south. Accordingly,

we find a vote passed at a public town-meeting, on the
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10th of December, 1745, expressing their willingness

for the town to be divided into two ecclesiastical soci-

eties, as soon as the north should stand fifteen hun-

dred pounds on the grand list, and the dividing line

should be through the centre of the town, running

east and west. This appears to have been satisfactory

at the time, and the north and south jiroceeded on in

their original relation ; and, indeed, nothing appears

on record to show that this subject ever alienated the

feelings of the brethren of the church, or that it ever

interrupted the community of feeling between families

naturally allied. But at this early period of Mr.

Heaton's ministry among the people of Goshen, dis-

satisfaction arose in the minds of many in regard to

him, and early in the year 174(> we find one of the

most loving, modest, and polite invitations for Mr.

Heaton to leave them that may be found, I think, on

history. The vote stands thus :
' Voted, that we will

choose a committee to treat with our reverend pastor

about some reasonable and loving terms of agreement,

so that the door may be opened, if he in his wisdom

shall think fit, to seek for an orderlj' dismission from

the work of the ministry in this place, or to treat

with him about making some suitable alterations.'

" Mr. Heaton, it seems, was not equally pacific and

loving towards his people, but retained his relation to

them as a pastor seven years longer. The reasons for

this dissatisfaction are nowhere publicly stated, but

it may be supposed that the pressure of the times,

together with their recent origin and expenditures,

contributed something to this uneasiness; for we have

arrived to that period when the inhabitants were vis-

ited with the greatest calamity they ever were called

to experience,—I mean what is termed the old Fi-ench

war.

" We will now look at some of the domestic trans-

actions of the town from 1745 to 1754. At a town-

meeting, Feb. 16, 1747, it was voted to pay Timothy

Stanley thirty shillings, old tenor, for killing a wolf

April 22, 1747, the town forbids the selectmen pay-

ing the Rev. Mr. Heaton any money. Jan. 4,

1748, the town raise a committee to lay out a road

four rods wide from the meeting-house north to Ca-

naan. Sept. 19, 1749, a conmiittee is raised to look

out a road from Deacon Gideon Thomson's (oppo-

site the present house of Truman Starr, Esq.) to

Frisbie's mills, in Canada, and to Cornwall. April

8, 1751, it was voted that Samuel Pettibone, Esq.,

be an agent to petition the General Assembly for

a county in this part of their government. I would

here remark that until 1751 these Western towns

were all included in the county of Hartford, but

this year the new county of Litchfield was created.

In June, 1753, the Rev. Stephen Heaton was dis-

missed from his pastoral relation to this church and

people, and steps were immediately taken to pro-

cure preaching. It appears that Mr. Abel Newell

was their first candidate upon Mr. Heaton's removal

;

that he received a call to settle with them in 1754,

but did not receive ordination till 1755. The town
stipulated to pay Mr. Newell fifteen hundred pounds
settlement, old tenor, within three years of his ordi-

nation,—five hundred pounds annually for three years. •

His salary for the first year was to be equal in value

to one hundred bushels of wheat, to sixty-six bushels

of rye, and to two hundred and one bushels of Indian

corn ; and then to rise forty pounds per annum, old

tenor, in the same proportion to said grain, till the

salary should amount in value to one hundred and
twelve bushels of wheat, to one hundred and thirty-

four bushels of rye, and to two hundred and twenty-

five bushels of Indian corn, and then his salary was
to remain fixed at that sum.

" There is nothing esj)ecially interesting in the

public transactions of the town from 1755 to 1765. ,

There is one vote of the town in 1762 which may be

humiliating to our present feelings, and yet it con-

firms what I have already stated in regard to the

pressure of the times in the new settlements at that

period, and shows how the views and feelings of men
will diflier at different times in regard to the morality

of things, according to the light they have on those

subjects. The vote reads thus :
' Voted to choose an

agent for said town, to prefer a prayer to the General

Assembly at their session in May next, praying said

Assembly to grant to said town liberty to raise the

sum of two hundred pounds, by a lottery, for the

making and mending highways in said town, under

such regulations as said Assembly in their wisdom
shall think proper.' Another vote, Jan. 12, 1763,

will show us the price of different kinds of grain at

that time: 'Voted to give the Rev. Mr. Newell, for

his services in the ministry in this town the year past,

for wheat, four shillings per bushel, and for rye, two

.shillings and nine pence per bushel, and for Indian

corn, two shillings per bushel.'

" April 21, 1768, ' Voted, forty-nine to twenty-two,

that a new meeting-house is needed. July 3, 1769,

Voted to build a new meeting-house for public wor-

ship at the place affixed by the County Court in said

town. Voted, that said meeting-house be sixty-four

feet in length and forty-four in breadth, and that

Ensign David Norton, Lieut. Parmele, and Zacheus

Griswold be a committee to carry on the business of

building said meeting-house.' This third meeting-

house was raised in the spring of the next year, 1770,

giving twenty-six years for the existence of the second

meeting-house, and sixty-two years for the third, as

that was removed to make way for the present house

in 1832. In the autumn of 1771, November 15th,

Ensign Elisha Blinn was ajipointed first chorister,

Fisk' Beach the second, and Miles Norton the third,

at a regular town-meeting.
" I would here stop to speak of certain appendages

to that meeting-house, and to many others in the

country at that day. They were called Sabbath-day

houses, or noon-houses. The object of these houses

was to furnish the owners of them, and such of their
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friends as they were disposed to invite, with a warm
retreat in winter, during the interval between fore-

noon and afternoon public services. And we must

bear in mind that at that day a stove in a meeting-

house was a thing unknown and unthought of. These

houses generally consisted of two rooms, ten or twelve

feet square, with a chimney in the centre between

them, and a fireplace in each room. They were gen-

erally built at the united expense of two or more fam-

ilies. Dry fuel was kept in each house, ready for

kindling a fire. On the morning of the Sabbath the

owner of each room deposited in his saddle-bags the

necessary refreshment for himself and family, and a

bottle of beer or cider, and took an early start for the

sanctuary. He first called at his Sabbath-day house,

built him a fire, deposited his luncheon, warmed him-

self and family, and at the hour of worship they were

all ready to sally forth, and to shiver in the cold

during the morning services at the house of worship.

At noon they returned to their Sabbath-houses, with

some invited friends, perhaps, where a warm room

received them, the fire having been in operation

during the morning exercises. The saddle-bags were

now brought forth and their contents discharged upon

a prophet's table, of which all partook a little, and

each in turn drank at the bottle. This service being

performed, and thanks returned, the patriarch of the

family drew from his pocket the notes he had taken

during the morning service, and the sermon came

under renewed and distinct consideration, all enjoying

the utmost freedom in their remarks. Sometimes a

well-chosen chapter or paragraph was read from an

author, and the service was not unfrequently con-

cluded by prayer; then all returned to the sanctuary

to seek a blessing there. If the cold was severe, the

family might return to their house to warm them

before they sought their habitation. Tlie fire was

then extinguished, the saddle-bags and tiie fragments

were gathered up, the house locked, and all returned

to their home. There were no less than four of these

houses standing around the third meeting-house at

once, three on the north side of the road, west of the

present blacksmith's shop, and one south, by the

town post, between the brick .school-house and H. N.

Lyman's store. The Sabbath-house that stood by the

present town post was owned by Deacon Moses Ly-

man and Capt, .Fonathan Buel, father of the present

Capt. Jonathan Buel. The one farthest east, on the

north, was owned by Deacon Ebenczcr Norton and

liis brother, Samuel Norton. The next west of them

was owned by Deacon Nathaniel Baldwin and Samuel

Baldwin, and the third was owned by Nehemiah
Lewis and Adna Beach.

" I am now in the history of the town, 1772, when
a road was laid out directly west from the meeting-

house to Elisha Tliompson's house, standing near the

present cider-mill of Ira Thompson."

CHAPTER XXXIII.*

GOSHEN (Continued).

Among those noble men and women who first

planted themselves at Boston and its vicinity in 1630,

were found some who five years later were lured away

from the Massachusetts colony by what they heard

of the rich meadow-lands lying on the banks of the

Connecticut River. In the three towns of Hartford,

Wethersfield, and Windsor they made their home.

In two years they numbered three hundred souls, and

just at this point they were compelled to fight the

sons of the forest.

Five of their men at work had been murdered by

the Pequots, and history hardly shows up more heroic

men than the ninety men, old and young, from that

little colony of three hundred, who sprang to arms,

attacked those treacherous Pequots, and almost anni-

hilated them. Doubtless there were some among

these ninety heroes whose grandchildren one hundred

years later helped to change the dense forest that

covered these hills into a fruitful field.

But we turn now to those who the following year,

1638, settled in New Haven. They were mostly

families, possessing considerable wealth, from London

and its vicinity. They were decided in their religious

character, and well fitted to found a truly Christian

colony. They were followed the next year by another

colony of similar culture, who planted themselves in

Guilford and its vicinity. To us it seems a novel

bargain that they made with the Indians in 1639,

giving them thirteen coats for the land of the seven

towns of New Haven, Branford, Wallingford, East

Haven, Woodbridge, Chcsliire, and North Haven.

These towns of Wallingford and Guilford, then set-

tled, were the towns from whence, ninety-nine years

later, came most of the fathers of Goshen.

These colonics of Connecticut posscisetl a most

liberal charter, granted them by Cliarlo-s II. ; and

while almost all tiie surrounding colonics pave up

their charters, our fatlicrs, inflexible as a rock, never

yielded up theirs to tlie hand of any tyrant. Thus

our commonwealth grew in wealtl\ and population,

governing themselves almost n.s freely as now, their

General A.ssembly meetings for two sessions each

year in Hartford and New Haven ; and the men
gathereil there in our early hist4)n,- wouhl no doubt

compare favorably with those of our own time.

In the year 1737 our native town, like most of those

anmnd it, wa.s an unbroken wilderness. It was not,

so far as wc can learn, the permanent home of the

red man, although in some sea-sons of the year his

hunting-ground. Goshen, with the six towns lying

north and west of it, were called " Western Lands," be-

longing to the Connecticut colony.

In October, 1787, the Assembly ordered that theee
* —

* This chapter WM oontributetl liy Doaciin Etlwnnl Norton, botog cou*

dniMil ftvni ui tdilreas UsIiioriHl by bliu at Oualiiu, Juljr t, 1876.
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seven townships be laid out and sold at auction, the

town of Salisbury to be divided into twenty-five

rights, and the towns of Goshen, Norfolk, Canaan,

Cornwall, Kent, and Sharon to be divided into fifty-

three rights each. Each town must reserve one right

for the first settled minister, one for the permanent

future support of the ministry, and one for the schools

;

and no permission was given to encroach upon the

three hundred acres in each town granted to Yale

College.

Eleven years before—viz., in 1726—three gentlemen

of Wallingford, Durham, and Haddam, all magis-

trates, had received for some service rendered, or

possibly as a gift, three hundred acres of land lying

in the wilderness now called Goshen. In 1731 they

surveyed it, but did not occupy it themselves. A
few years later, certainly as early as 1737, it was oc-

cupied, and there must have been two dwellings

erected upon it by Benjamin Frisbie and Ebenezer

Hill. This was called ever afterward the " Esquire's

Farm." The time for the selling of the township of
" A," or Goshen, as it was soon after called, was fixed

by the Assembly to be the first Tuesday in December,

1737.

Purchasers appeared during that winter and the

following spring and summer; and we find in our

first record that one Thomas Marvin was paid for

warning the first meeting of the purchasers the large

sum of seven pounds ten shillings. In what way he

warned it we do not know ; but perhaps he traveled

about the State, and notified them all to assemble in

Litchfield on Sept. 27, 1738.

And now let us look in upon the fathers of Goshen

assembled at the house of Capt. John Buel in Litch-

field on that September day. It was a meeting fraught

with interest not only to them, but to the thousands

of their descendants who have since been born and

reared here, and whose remains repose in the ceme-

teries of Goshen, or are scattered among the cities of

the dead in our broad land. What would we not give

to-day could we in reality look upon those men of the

pa.st ! We should gaze upon a group of thirty men
or more, fourteen of whom had wended their way
hither from Wallingford, three from Guilford, three

from SiuLsbury, and one from each of the towns of

West Hartford, Windsor, Stonington, Lyme, and New
Haven, while six of the number were already located

in Litchfield. There seem to have been sixteen ab-

sentees, whose interests were intrusted to a committee

appointed for the purpose, as well as to take care of

the three public rights. After a brief preliminary

meeting, they adjourned to the next morning at " 8

of y" clock." That was the morning of Sept. 28, 1738,

and, according to the record,

—

"T« B* meetiog was opened according to adjournment above s\ and it

Was tlien voted by said purchasers in s'l meeting, that we will proceed to

lay out Two Divisions of Land in s* township of Goshen, viz. : Two fifty-

acre Lots to Each Right or Whol share, each Lot to be equal to fifty

acres of y« Best Land, and Hee that Draws y« lust Choice in y Fii-st

Draught, shall have ye First Choice in y secoud division, and so on suc-

cessively back, according to y« Draught of Choice, until it comes to Him
who made y* first Choice, or had y First Draught."

We next find them drawing by lot their numbers
from 1 up to 53. It was a drawing in which there

were no blanks, for No. 53, as well as No. 1, drew him-
self a farm of about four hundred and eighty-three

acres. The town, nine miles in length by four and a

half in breadth, would give them fifty-three such

farms.

But, unlike the first persons who came to Litchfield

in 1715, who first purchased that town of the Indians

for the sura of fifteen pounds, and afterwards, in 1718,

hlad to pay the colony only the trifling sum of one

and three-quarter farthings per acre, or about seven-

teen and one-half shillings each for a farm of four

hundred and eighty-three acres, these fathers of

Goshen had to pay into the treasury of His Most
Gracious Majesty's colony of Connecticut the sum
of one hundred and thirty to one hundred and
eighty pounds each. It is evident that few, if any,

of them were able to pay down for their land, and
bonds with security were required of each.

We cannot surely know the value of the pound
sterling then. If we assume a pound to be the same
then that it was in the salary stipulated to be paid

the first minister two years later,—viz., twenty-eight

shillings, to be accounted one ounce of silver Troy
weight, making a pound about eighty-three cents,

—

then our fathers paid about twenty-six cents per

acre for the lands of Goshen.

But we can in imagination see them that Septem-

ber morning, after their lots were all drawn, making
their way through the wildwood to Goshen. They
would naturally pause a few moments at the two

houses already standing, near where Mr. Watts

Brooks now lives, where Mr. Hill and Mr. Frisbie

had located themselves. Another house stood on

East Street, built by Mr. Samuel Hinman, and we do

not know how many of them found a temporary home
at these three houses during the time of selecting their

future homes. Now we lose sight of them until they

next meet in Litchfield, three months later, Dec. 1,

1738, at which time they again resort to lot, and in

the same manner as before draw for choice, and lo-

cate third and fourth divisions of land. This dividing

up of their four-hundred-and-eighty-acre rights into

ten divisions, to be drawn at five drawings, gave them
more opportunity to know the quality of the lands in

the town.

Again they are hidden from our view .until they

meet in Litchfield, Sept. 26, 1739, and at this meeting

they, like Abraham of old, provide a place where

they may bury their dead. It is thought there had

been a death in the family of Mr. Hill in 1737 ; but

in our little colony, now organized, in Goshen there

had been three deaths in the July previous to this

meeting, in 1739. They were all children of Mr.

Christopher Grimes, whose home was one-quarter of

a mile south of Mr. William Norton's house. Abra-
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ham Grimes, thirteen years of age, headed a proces-

sion oh, how long !—a procession which has been

marching on ever since to the graveyards of Goshen.

He was followed by a brother, who died five days

after, and a sister three weeks afterward.

The first child born in Goshen bore the novel name
of " Billiores Hill." The date of his appearance is

not known, but it was before 1739.

At the same meeting, in October, 1739, they ap-

pointed Capt. Benajah Williams as their agent to pre-

sent a memorial to the General Assembly. This

memorial does not appear on any old record in our

town, but the following is copied from the manuscript

records of the colony at Hartford, and gives us light

in regard to the progress made in our settlement at

this date

:

" To the Hijuorable General Court of His Mnjesty'" Colony of Connecti-

cut, Sitting in New Haven in a'^ Colon}', the memorial of y« Propri-

etors of y*^ Township of Goshen, humbly sheweth

"That your Honor's Memorialists, Purchasers of B^ Township, in pur-

suance of y orders and Direction of this Assembly, have been endeavor-

ing to settle and improve y^ Lands in 8'' Township, and accordingly,

fourty of y« Proprietors are now Living in a'J Township, and y Rest are

preparing to do likewise, but for want of the authority and privileges and

favors usually granted to new places, are not able to proceed in promoting

the General good of y place as we desire. Therefore, in confidence of

the favor of Honorable Assembly towards us in these matters, we hum-

bly Uequest that you would be pleased to grant to us the fullowiug par-

ticulars, viz.:

"That we may be invested with, and have and enjoy, the priviledges

and authority of a Town, as is usually granted to other Towns in the

Government.
" 'J, that a tax of fourty shillings a year upon eacli right, for four

years next coming, may be Levyed aud collected of each proprietor for

yc supiHjrt of a minister in s'' Place, and
*';j'"y, in aa much as y" time of payment for y* s* Rights is about come,

and by Reason of y Riimours and Reports of a war, many of us are De-

feated of a method we proposed to raise money to Pay for »•' Rights, wo
humbly request y favor of this Court in Lengthening y" time of payment

for s'l Rights upon interest, either on y« present or other security, as your

Honors shall .Tudgo Just, or uthorwiso Gmnt sucli other relief and en-

couragement to us in forwarding y settlement and advancement ufy* in-

terest of 8'* place.

"and we as in Duty bound shall ever pray,

"Brnaijah Williahb,
" Agent for s* Proprietors.

" New Haven, Oct. 10, 1739."

We next come to the period of the first town-meet-

ing of Goshen, which was lawfully warned and held

in Goshen, Dec. 6, 1739. From the record of this

meeting, the fathers of Goshen seemed to have made

great progress during the sliort space of one year.

Tliey api»ointed five selectmen, two constables, three

grand jurors, tiirco listers, three surveyors of highways,

one collector of taxes, who was also treasurer (Moses

Lymun, wlio hud come from Northampton during the

year), one town clerk (Mr. I'ettihone, a lawyer), three

horse branders, whose duty it wa.s to mark all ani-

mals, .so that owners could know them in the ahsence

of fences, there being on record sixty-six different

marks in Goshen, three fence-viewers, one leather-

sealer, three men a committee to exchange land to

accommodate for highways; two men were given per-

mission to build town pounds, and the selectmen were

"instructed to ascertain the ])laces of holding the

meetings for publick worship of God."

One month later, Jan. 11, 1740, at another meeting,

they voted to "hire a minister to preach the gospel in

s'' town, and that s'' minister come among us as a pro-

bationer." They added some names to the lists of

officers appointed in December, and also appointed
" Othniel Gillett as a grave-digger," and made a red

oak-tree, which stood not far from the house of John
H. Wadhams, to be a " sign-post for the year en-

suing."

The winter passed, to some the first, the second to

others, spent in Goshen, and they met April 21, 1740,

and extended a call to Rev. Stephen Heaton to settle

here as a minister, offering him one hundred and ten

pounds as a salary, besides fifty pounds in labor, to be

worked out at five to six shillings a day. At the pre-

sent value of silver per ounce, this salary and labor

together made about one hundred and thirty-three

dollars. They also sent a committee to the Assembly
with a petition that they would send a committee to

fix the location of a meeting-house.

In November of that year Mr. Heaton was ordained

at the house of Capt. John Beach, on East Street, the

spot now marked by a tree transplanted there in 1876.

Thus was our town fairly started on its career in

two short years, and just at this point we are again

indebted to our colonial manuscript records for the

following paper, without which we might never have
known the difficulties our fathers encountered :

PETITION FOK RELIEF.
" To the Hon. General Assembly of his Mtyesty** F^ngllsh Colony of Conn.

In Now England in America, now convened and sitting in Hartfortl

in V* Colony (May, 1741).

"The Humble Memorial of Darid Whitney, of Canaan, Agent for *
Town, .Samuel PettiUine, of Goshen, Agent for s^ Town, Timothy Hatch,

of Kent, Agent of s'' Town, and George Halloway, of Cornwal, agent of

*• Town, in Indialf of themselves and the rest of the purcliasvre who have

settled, and are actually inhabiUng h<> T<iwns. Humbly Shewetli that

the Memorialists purchase<l there in the several above nanieO Towns of

the Governor and 1'ouipany of this Cidouy, orof thuMwho purchased the

same, so that either as flj-st purchiisera or at second banil, we are b«C4ime

Indebted lu many considerable sums lo the Governor and Com|iaDy, and
the Umefl of payment are expired or very near. That the setlllnguf new
Towns Is over attended with very many aU'l great dimculties ; but It liaa

happeneil in res|>ect to the ineniorialists that their M'tllement haj lioeo

atteniled with Greater Dinicultlesanil dUtnNn than there ever was known
an inslanceof In this colony, for, may it please your Hououra, the unpor^

alleled Kxtremity ami severity of the l.ast winter Iims not only totally

exhausted all the little stock of pntvlsinns and neciNHuiry supports of Life

which we hail purchascti and pn^cured from other sourCM, at great {loins

and cost, but has tKrcasionvil us to ex[ioml our money wlilrli wc had set

a|>urt and depended U|Hin to iiay our purcha»«*s ami for the sup|>ort of our

family' anil Creatures, and after all our [.awful endenvora. Divine Prorl-

donee has so fur frownotl u|H)n us that a very great part of our Stuck of

cattle, sheep, and swine are dead, and the very truth is, that many of the

settled Inhabitants amongst us, when we lay ouoelve* in tmr Iwdo, have

nothing t«i ih'itend u|N>n but the care and Gootlneos of a merciful and om*

nll>otenl ileiug for our next day's pruviniuns and sup)Hirt.

"Theo* Dinicultios an« all well known to your Honours, with nu^ny

other DifnciiltltfH anti DIslri^Ma we are under, though ytmr Hon*, wa
hollo, Imve not bail llmt fatal experimental knowlotlgo thenvif which wa
have felt. Tlieeo things, nniy It pleajte your lioiitiurs, have rendered It

utterly ini|MMsible for us lo make payment of the ilunde we have given

the ifov and Compony fur our purchoMe by the time llniJIed for ttie p«7-

nient of the some.

I

"So that If your Honours ahituld be strict to demand the HUne of oj

I which is flue, we ran have no other view hut the utter ruin, Ac, of our
' Towns and plautaUons, notwithstanding we have in Truth and Fldelltjr,
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used all Lawful and lioneet ends, and to Conform ourselves to the act of

this Colony respecting our Rights and Settlements. Moreover, we Hum-
bly observe that there were many of the first purchasers of Rights who
have made merchandise of their Rigtits to their great advantage, and

there are many large tracts of Land in our Towns belonging to non-set-

tlers, or non-resident proprietors, and tliose bearing little or no Burtlien

amongst us, but have tlie value of tlieir Lands equally increasing with

ours, casts a double Burthen upon us in respect to the settlement of min-

isters, building nieetiTig-houses, Ac, and we cannot but think it very rea-

sonable tliat the Lands of such non-settlers should be taxed Double the

Lauds of the Settlers.

" A nd we beg leave furtlier to show, that we are the Frontier Towns at

the nearest corner of the Government, nortli and west, and if it should

happen that there should be a Warr with tlie French and Indians (wliicli

God of liis mercy prevent), we shall be most exposed of any of the Towns

in the Colony. Wlierefore, we are encouraged, from the wonted Good-

ness of tliis Honorable Assembly, to pray your Hon* to grant us the fol-

lowing Things for our Relief and Redress: first, that your Hon" would

lengtlten out the time of the payment of our Bonds for our Purchases,

or forbear us of payment of the same till the time limited for our settle-

ment is expired, and that your Honoi-s would remit the interest of the

money for such forbearance.

"2ndiy. That your Honors would lay a Tax upon the Lands of non-

resident Proprietor for tlie support of the Gospel and building meeting-

houses in the above mentioned Towns, dowble the Tax of the Lands of

the settlers, or for as much per acre on the Right and as long as yo\ir

Honours in Wisdom and Justice shall think fit.

"S'lly. That your Honours would grant unto each of the s^ Towns a

Town stock of powder and Lead, as much as your Honours shall think

fit and convenient.

"4thiy That your Hon" would upon the publick charge of the Colony

Give unto each of s'' towns a full Colony Law-book.

"And your Hon' Humble aud Distressed memorialists as in duty

bound shall ever pray, &c.
' " David Whitney, Sam'. Pkttibone,

" Tim? Hatch, Geo. Halloway,
^* AijeittB.

" Hartford, May 19, 1741."

Hardly five years had passed after Mr. Heaton's

ordination before we find upon the record a most

courteous opening of negotiations with him, as fol-

lows:

*' Voted, that we will choose a Committee to treat with our Rev. Pastor

about some reasonable and loving terms of agreement, so that the door

ma,v be opened, if he in bis wisdom shall think fit, to seek for an or-

derly dismission from the work of the ministry in this place, or to treat

with about making some suitable alterations."

But the first minister had no idea of abandoning

his place, and remained pastor until 1753, when he

was dismissed, but continued to reside in Goshen until

his death in 1788.

THE PATENT.

In 174.'> the town applied to the Assembly for a

patent giving to us town privileges. It was not given

until Oct. 2, 1749, as we suppose, for the reason that

some of the fifty proprietors had failed to comply with

the conditions of their purchase. They were required

to enter upon their land within two years, and build

and finish a house eighteen feet square and seven feet

between sill and plate, and clear, fence, and subdue

six acres of land, and to remain thereon for three

successive years. Failure on the part of some to do

this, or to pay for their purchases, may have delayed

the desired patent, which bears the signature of

" Jonathan Lare, Governor," and,

*' By virtue of the power vested in him and the Colony of our late

Sovereign, King Charles 2nd, of blessed memory, it confirms to them

their possession to the woods, the timber, the trees, underwoods, lands,

waters, brooks, ponds, fishing, fowling, mines, minerals, and precious

stones within and upon said Town; to be held of his Majesty, his heirs,

or successors; or of his Majesty'" manor of East Greenwich, in the

County of Kent, and Kingdom of Great Britain, in free and common
socage, and not in capite, nor by Knight service yielding and paying.

Therefore unto our Sovereign Lord, the King, his heirs, and successors,

only one-fifth part of all the ore of Gold and Silver, which from time to

lime, and at all times hereafter shall be gotten, bad, or obtained thereon,

in lieu of all service, duty, or demands whatsoever."

The fathers of Goshen never had occasion to send

any of the gold or silver ore to his majesty, and it is

doubtful whether any of the fines due to the sovereign

for killing the king's deer in Goshen were ever col-

lected, for in April, 1741, it was voted to give Daniel

Harris, Sr., Benjamin Frisbie, and Daniel Harris,

Jr., that part of their fine for killing deer which be-

longed to the town. Five years later they voted thirty

shillings to Timothy Stanley for killing a wolf.

Frequent changes occurred in our town, and it

seems likely that about thirty of the forty-six original

proprietors who purchased the fifty rights remained

here, or were represented by their sons, during the

first ten or twenty years of our history. The others

sold their rights to men who came to reside in Goshen,

as in the case of Mr. Lyman, who came from North-

ampton in 1739 ; Ebenezer and Samuel Norton, from

Durham in 1739; John Wright, from Wethersfield in

1742; Mr. Griswold, from Windsor; Nathaniel and

Timothy Stanley, from Farmington in 1742 ; Benoni

Hills, from Durham in 1741 ; Noah Wadhams, from

Middletown in 1741 ; John North, from Farmington

in 1745 ; and soon after many others.

Passing on a few years, to 1756, our colony was

eighteen years old, and we now for the first time learn

our population from the first census. We numbered

610 inhabitants; Litchfield, 1366; Hartford, only

2926; New Haven, 5085; Windsor, 4170; while Mid-

dletown, the largest place in the colony, numbered

5446.

THE FRENCH AND INDIAN WAR.

This was soon after the commencement of the

French and Indian war, which lasted from 1754 to

1762. It is impossible to know at this distant day

the names of all who served His Majesty George III.

during those eight years. We have, however, the

names of twenty Goshen men, three of whom were

killed, four died of sickness, and one was severely

wounded and kept a prisoner five years. These eight

men, out of the little band of twenty, deserve more

than a passing notice. Of the three killed, Lieut.

Timothy Gaylord was the first to fall. He made his

will before he left Goshen, in the early spring of 1758,

and took his last look at his home cirele, among
whom were two little boys, afterwards enrolled in our

Revolutionary army. But he never saw his little son

Joseph, who was born soon after he left home (who

was the father of Capt. Willard Gaylord), and who
at the age of eighteen was fighting, with his brothers,

in our Revolution. Lieut. Timothy Gaylord fell by

an Indian's hand in the defeat of Gen. Abercrombie,
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July 9, 1758. Col. Bezaleel Beebe, of Litchfield, who
was fighting near him, and, like him, sheltered be-

hind a tree, had just spoken to Gaylord, and was look-

ing at him for a reply, when he observed a sudden

break in the skin of his forehead, and the lieutenant

instantly fell dead. A few days after. Col. Beebe and
his friends were able to come again upon that ground,

and the brave officer who had left his home in Goshen
was still there, and was buried hastily, their bayonets

being all they had with which to dig his grave.

It was the next year, July 12, 1759, that Lieut.

Daniel Lee left Goshen, and he was killed by the

tomahawk of an Indian while he was loading and
firing. The third was the son of a proprietor. His

name was Manna Humphrey, and he was killed at

the taking of Havanna, in 1762, near the close of the

war. He was one of the thousand men from Con-
necticut in that expedition under Col. Israel Putnam,
only a handful of whom lived through the sickness

and returned. His son, a lad of fourteen years, was

one of the four who died, also Elisha North and two

brothers, Moses and Thomas Wilcox. Joel Dibble

was taken prisoner, 1755, near Fort Edward, with three

others; he was fired upon from an ambush, and re-

ceived four wounds. He lay a prisoner for five years,

and, in response to a petition made by him to the

General Assembly, he received from the colony, in

consideration of his sufferings, the sum of twenty-

five pounds.

The names of the twelve who lived to return home,

some of whom we find also in our Revolutionary war,

fifteen years later, are Lieut. John Wright, Benjamin

Reeves (a half-brother of Judge Reeves, of Litchfield),

John Doud, Ashbel Humphrey, Jacob Beach, Josiah

Roys, Nathaniel Stanley, Jr., Stephen Tuttle, Mun-
8on Winchel, Charles Richards, John Wilcox, and

John Musson.

Our town was first represented in the General As-

sembly in 1757, Deacon Gideon Thompson being the

first representative. The next year, 1758, we sent two,

as we have ever since, and the second year Deacon

Moses Lyman and Deacon John Beach were sent.

Of very many who were sent many times before

1800, Asaph Hall, E.sq., served during twenty-four

sessions, and Col. Ebenezer Naton for twenty-.-iix

session.^.

We find in the record of a town-meeting, April 12,

1762, one vote petitioning the Assembly for liberty

to raise by a lottery two hundred dollars for mending
and making the highways; also, the same year,

Samuel Oviatt was released from paying his fine of

forty shillings for killing a deer, although, as they

say, he was "justly fined," but failed to get clear on

account of his " ignorance in making his defense."

We first notice in 1771 that the words " exclusive

of churchmen, Baptists, and Quakers" are introduced

into the warnings for our town-meetings. This was

continued for some years, not as showing any antag-

onism towards them, but to prevent their being called

upon to support both their own church and the Con-

gregational.

STOCKS.

In 1773 the selectmen were instructed to erect a

public sign-post, and also, near by, a " pair of stocks."

THE REVOLUTION.

But we now approach a time in the history of our

town full of interest. Our fathers assembled Sept. 20,

1774, and appointed a committee to correspond with

the committees of our county and colony in regard to

the present alarming situation of our affairs in North

America. In December following the town, in most

emphatic language, indorsed the action of the Conti-

nental Congress assembled in Philadelphia three

months before. Boston was filled with British

troops, sent over to crush out the spirit of liberty

from the hearts of men who had resolved that from

henceforth they would " call no man master."

The second census of which we have a record was

taken this year, 1774. Our little town, which num-
bered 610 eighteen years before, had increased to 1098.

At this time Litchfield had 2.509 ; Hartford, 4881

;

New Haven, 8022 ; while Philadeli)hia, the largest

town in America, had 25,000, and New York, 18,000.

The following year, 1775, witnes-sed the battle of

Lexington, the capture of Ticonderoga by Ethan Allen

and his little band,—among whom was .Vsaph Hall,

of Goshen,—and the battle of Bunker Hill. Among
the officers appointed at the May session of our Assem-

bly this year, 1775, are the names of Oliver Wolcott,

of Litchfield, colonel of the Seventeenth Regiment;

Ebenezer Norton, lieutenant-colonel; and Epaphras

Sheldon, major. In the list of appointments in .Vpril

of the same year we find placed in command of the

eighth company in the Fourth Regiment, then raised,

John Sedgwick, captain ; Wareham (Jibbs and James

Thomson, lieutenants. This was the company of men
enlisted from Goshen and Torrington, under Capt.

John Sedgwick, of Cornwall Hollow. They left

Goshen for Ticonileroga May 31, 1775, and stopped

the first night at Canaan. Capt. Sedgwick's house

was burned that night, and the company marched for-

ward the next day in charge of the lieutenants. He
returned home, and his neighbors raised him another

house in one week's time, and he joined his company,

only to be compelled to leave them by illness.

There were twenty-eight (Joshen men in this com-

pany, whose names are among our roll of Revolution-

ary soldiers. .Vbout one-half of them were very sick

with the camp distemper, and one died, Daviil

Wright; none were killed in battle, and they returne<I

at the expiration of the seven months for which they

had enlisted.

We find two or three of them re-enlisting, during

the winter after their return, in the regiment com-

manded by C(d. Jonathan Burral, of Canaan. In this

regiment, which wius to march for Quebec in the win-

ter of 1776, there were twenty-one Goshen men. In
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the company of Capt. Luther Stoddard, of Salisbury,

were Lieut. Tliomas Converse and nine men, and in

the company of Capt. Titus Watson, of Norfollc, were

Lieut. John Riley and ten men. The place of ren-

dezvous and starting for Lieut. Converse and his nine

men was the house of Daniel Miles, on East Street,

and the spot, sacred to their memory, is now marked
by an elm-tree, placed there this centennial year.

They started on their cold winter march Feb. 1, 1776,

and marched to Canaan, thence to Salisbury, and
onward to Albany. They were accompanied nearly

to Albany by Mr. Cyprian Collins, with a three-ox sled

to carry their luggage. On their way up the river and
lake they had to march through snow two feet deep,

and one, John Musson, died of pleurisy. They reached

Quebec the last of February, and there commenced
their time of suffering with the smallpox. While
still wholly unfit to march they were compelled to

retreat, and their sufferings cannot be described. The
ten men, with Lieut. John Riley, in the company of

Capt. Watson also had terrible sufferings from sick-

ness, of which four of their number died. There had
been also one more death from sickness in Lieut. Con-
verse's little band, and another, George Dear, was
killed by a cannon-ball, which cut him nearly in two.

Thus of the twenty-one men one was killed and six

died, leaving only fourteen who returned at the expi-

ration of the year for which they enlisted.

But while these twenty-one men were gone to

Canada, Goshen was called upon to send forth many
of her fathers, brothers, and sons, to suffer at New
York and Long Island. In May, 1776, Capt. Stephen
Goodwin, of East Street, was commissioned to raise a

company in Goshen and Torrington to go to New
York. Timothy Gaylord, of Norfolk, a nephew of

Lieut. Gaylord, who fell in the French war, was his

first lieutenant, and Jabez Wright, of Goshen, was
ensign. There were forty-eight men from Goshen in

the company. They lelt (ioshen about June 1, 1776,

and after reaching New York were quartered for

a while in a large brick house near the Battery. Dur-
ing the time they were there the Declaration of Inde-

pendence was read in the presence of the troops.

With their brigade, they went across to Long Island

about the middle of July, and were in view, but not

themselves engaged, in the battle of Long Island.

They were under Gen. Putnam's orders, and with

him they safely crossed over to New York under
cover of night and a dense fog.

Soon after the defeat of the American army, Au-
gust 27th, this brigade, under Gen. Wadsworth, were

placed two or three miles north of the city, and were
immediately exposed to the fire of three British ships

on East River. Succeeding after a while in escaping

from their fire behind a ledge, they gathered in an
orchard surrounded by a stone wall. Here they soon

saw a body of troops coming towards them from the

north. Their uniform was not the red coats of the

British, and their officers thought them American

troops. Maj. Willis, of Connecticut, reached out his

hand to welcome the supposed friends, but the wily

Hessian officer pulled him off his horse. Wadsworth
ordered a retreat, but the Hessian fire commenced,
aad many officers and soldiers were killed or taken

prisoners. Lieut. Gaylord had his thigh broken by a

musket-ball, and he, with seven Goshen men, were

taken prisoners. Solomon Moore, of Goshen, fell,

wounded, and was in the act of surrendering when
John Norton, of Goshen, relieved him of his gun,

and he succeeded in escaping. But the Hessian offi-

cer, too, met his fate, for while pursuing the flying

Americans he reached the west wall of the orchard,

where he overtook Sergt. Salmon Agard (an officer in

Capt. Griswold's company from Torringford). The
Hessian officer ordered him to surrender, but Sergt.

Agard cocked his gun, whirled around, and shot the

Hessian dead in a moment. Those who escaped soon

met Gen. Wadsworth, fell into rank, and recognized

Gen. Putnam coming, who ordered them to Kings-

bridge. That night the Goshen men, who had lost

almost everything in their retreat, helped themselves

to somebody's cooking utensils, and took refuge by
the side of a stack of hay. They found a rock with a

hollow in it, where they placed some flour, and brought

water from a spring in their hats, and in the bright

moonlight baked their bread over a fire, and univer-

sally agreed it did taste good.

Of the forty-eight Goshen men in this company
none were killed, but six were taken prisoners and
five died of sickness. It is supposed that the living

returned to Goshen in December, 1776, but there were

very many other men from Goshen at the same time

in our army at New York.

In August, 1776, Gen. Washington urgently re-

quested Connecticut to send him all the standing

militia west of the Connecticut River. The Assembly

of our State promptly complied with the request (our

representatives then being Ebenezer Norton and

Asaph Hall). Thus Connecticut sent to Washington

at that time fourteen regiments, numbering ten thou-

sand men, and it appears that, counting those from

the east of the river, and those at other points, there

were in the field twenty thousand men from our little

State.

All the men belonging to the two militia companies

of Goshen at that time fit for service were called out

and sent to New York. There is some uncertainty in

regard to the names of the Goshen militia who were

sent to New York. The veterans living in 1841 gave

us the names of only fourteen men, headed by Capt.

Medad Hills, Lieut. Matthew Smith, and Ensign Asa

Francis, but they also inform us there were others,

swelling the number to forty or fifty. From another _

source we have evidence that there were enough men,

in addition to the fourteen whose names appeared on

the roll, to swell the number above fifty. From the

last information in our possession, we may assume that

the militia of Goshen were sent to New York in suf-
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ficient number to show a roll of one hundred and

twenty men absent at this time in the army. This

was out of a population of ten hundred and ninety-

eight, and it was truly a dark time in our history.

In our militia company ordered to New York was

one man greatly bereaved, Ensign, afterwards Capt.,

Asa Francis. Three of his children died while he

was absent in New York. They died on the 2d, 4th,

and 7tli of September, and the poor distracted wife

and mother was at the time in a state of mental de-

rangement.

These Goshen militia were in one engagement, and

saw the Hessians in their attack upon their friends

in the orchard. They too suffered much from sick-

ness, but were all fortunate enough to return home
the following winter.

The following spring, 1777, began the enli.stment

of men for three years or during the war, and the

town of Goshen offered a bounty of ten pounds to

every soldier who enlisted as above, to be followed by

a similar bounty at the end of the first and second

years of service. They also appointed a committee

to take care of the families of absent soldiers. We
have the names of eleven who enlisted at this time,

who entered the Continental army and disappeared

from our view for some years.

In the spring of 1777 there was a small draft of

five Goshen men, whose names we have. They went

to Horse Neck (Greenwich), thirty miles above New
York, and were gone but three months. In April of

this year a draft was also made from the militia of

our town for six to ten men, who went to Peekskill,

but returned the latter part of May.

But before their return the quiet of a Goshen Sab-

bath, April 27, 1777, was disturbed by the sound of

distant cannonading. It was the heavy guns of the

British ships at the burning of Danbury. The can-

non were heard in the morning, but tiie people assem-

bled as usual for meeting, and Mr. Newell preached.

A messenger arrived at noon with tiie tidings, and

the drum was beat upon the steps of tlie cliurcli. All

dispersed to their homes, and a number started for

the scene of action. The names of fifteen who went

are preserved, but the British had left before their

arrival, and they liad only such booty as they found

in plundering the houses of a few Tories.

We have ne.xt in order a draft of fifty-nine men
and two commi.><8ionc(l officers, making sixty-one

Goshen men, ordered by Col. Epaphras Sheldon to be

ready to start at the shortest notice, under Lieutti.

Miles Norton and Isaac Pratt, of Goshen. We have

here, a.s nowhere else, the roll of names drafted in tlic

unmistakable handwriting of Epaphras Sheldon. In

this roll are thirty-two names not included in our list

of one hundred and sixty-two Revolutionary soldiers,

because we have no positive knowledge that they

served, although it is almost certain they did so the

previous year, when all our militia were sent to New
York. This draft bears date July 22, 1777, and places

the sixty-one Goshen men, with forty-two Harwinton

men, under the command of Capt. Nathaniel Copley.

In the midst of all this there was a town-meeting,

called Sept. 25, 1777, to encourage men to enlist in

the regiment of Gen. Oliver Wolcott, of Litchfield,

which was forming from several towns in this vicinity.

It was hoped that Gen. Burgoyne would be over-

whelmed with the numbers that Gen. Gates would

muster, and thus be compelled to surrender.

Some time previous there had been a draft of six

militiamen from Goshen to join Gen. Gates at the

North, and to serve three months. These six men,

whose names we have, were in the thickest of the

fight of Oct. 7, 1777, under Arnold. His attack upon

Burgoyne was most impetuous, and these men were

brought into action about noon. The fight was a

terrible one; each army was by turn victorious, but

when night came the Americans were masters of the

field. The six soldiers from our town, on the day of

the fight, knew nothing of their friends from Goshen

who had volunteered in Gen. Wolcott's regiment, and

some of whom were there and fighting in the same

battle.

Only eight of these volunteers are now known.

Among them, Capt. Asaph Hall and Lieut. Moses

Lyman arrived on the evening after the battle. Mr.

Cyrian Collins also reached the camp at nightfall,

and, searching for his son Ambrose first among the

living, but in vain, found him, as he supposed, among

the dead, and was about to remove him, when the

words " Father, father," in the well-known voice

of his son, brought such joy to his heart as rarely

comes to mortals in this world. The volunteers who

had been able to join Gen. Wolcott previous to Octo-

ber 7th were also in the thickest of that terrible bat-

tle, which did so much in deciding the destinies of

our country.

Our Goshen men witnessed the surrender of Bur-

goyne, with his seven thousand men, a few days after,

and were soon permitted to return home, with hearts

greatly cheered and encouraged.

There was another draft on Goshen to send men to

Peekskill in September of this year, the names of

only four of them being rememberetl. Still later in

the fall a band of volunteers from Goshen went to

Peekskill, under Capt. Timothy Stanley. We have

the names of only ten of their number.

There was not much call for our militia after the

fall of 1777. The quota required of our town for the

Continental army was promptly furnished to the close

of the war.

We liave on record the names of thirty, in all, who
served in the Continental army, some of whom served

seven or eight years. Tlierc was also a company called

the "Household company," composed of officers and

men who were by law exempt from military duly.

It w:i.s comnuinded by ('apt. ,\saph Hall, and held

itself in readiness for any emergency.

It was in 1778 that the massacre of Wyoming oo-
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curred,—that scene of barbarity almost without a

parallel. That beautiful valley of Pennsylvania then

belonged to Connecticut, and was settled chiefly from

our State. They had sent three hundred of their

men into the Continental army, and while in this de-

fenseless condition they were invaded by a large body

of Indians and Tories. When the little band of de-

fenders were overwhelmed, they were slaughtered and

scalped by the Indians ; many of those who surren-

dered were butchered, regardless of the rules of war;

some of the retreating were lured back by promises

of safety, and then murdered ; and the torch was ap-

plied to their houses. Those of the women and chil-

dren who escaped made their way through the wilder-

ness to their former homes in Connecticut after un-

told sufferings.

There were two families of Goshen who had gone

to Wyoming in 1774, James Frisbie and Stephen

Tuttle. Mr. Frisbie's son James was killed ; he,

with a younger son, was taken prisoner. They es-

caped the fate of many ; were taken to Canada, and

afterwards released. Stephen Tuttle is supposed to

have been killed in the massacre, as nothing was

known of him afterward. But there was one who
fell there of whom we have positive knowledge,

Ichabod Tuttle. His family were living here, and of

him we learn by some surmise that " he was last seen

flying for his life" from the merciless savages. There

is no doubt of his fate. He was nevermore to enter his

home in Goshen,—a home darkened by a sorrow so

deep that the coming of a little son, who was born a

few days after, could hardly bring light into that

household, and well was he named, like his father,

Ichabod,—" the glory is departed." Nothing in our

history moves the heart of an American more than

the mention of Wyoming, that beautiful valley we so

loved, for evermore immortalized by the poet Camp-
bell in his " Gertrude of Wyoming."
During this year (1778) Goshen promptly furnished

her quota of ten men, whose names are not known.

The system of classing came into use, and a class of

thirteen was sent in 1782, and four more recruits soon

after. The war was really ended by 1782, and the

last British soldier left in November, 1783.

During the later years of the war our town, like

other towns, was much troubled for want of salt.

The town took measures to have ox-teams started for

Boston to bring this much-needed article to Goshen :

"Daniel Miles, Capt. Beacb, & Samuel Kellogg were instructed to

transport the Salt now at Boston, provided by this State for this Town,

to this town, in the most prudent manner they can, at the expense of

the town, and distribute the same to each family in this town according

to their number, they paying said Committee the price said salt stands

the town in when delivered here."

All these toils and sufferings were cheerfully en-

dured that ours might be a free and independent

nation.

Among the many votes characteristic of these times

was one in 1752, in which they declared themselves
" uneasy under the ministerial performances of Kev.

Mr. Heaton, and requested him to desist from the

work of the gospel ministry in this place ;" and in

1771 and 1773 the selectmen were instructed to grant

to those who wished " the priviledge of building Sab-

bath-day houses and horse-houses." During one of

the most trying years of the Revolution, 1777, at a

town-meeting held in September, it was

'^Votedf that Fisk Beach be Chorister to tune the Psalm, and be head

chorister, and that Wait Hinman be assistant chorister."

Also,

"Fo/ef/, that those persons, men and women, in the galleries who are

skilled in singing psalms are desired to use the front seats in the gal-

leries, both in the front and side galleries, to carry on the divine service

of singing psalms."

At a town-meeting held in 1781 it was

" Voted, that Adna Beach sit in the hitjh peio near the pulpit stairs, and

Capt. Kdmund Beach sit in the opposite pew."

In September following this town

"Voted, To dignify the seats in the meeting-house; and that churchmen

and Anabaptists be seated according to what they agree to pay.*'

We do not know much that occurred in our native

town during the ten or fifteen years succeeding our

Revolutionary war, save that our fathers pursued the

even tenor of their way, depending chiefly for income

on the tilling of the soil.

It is worthy of mention that there were twenty-

eight blacksmiths in Goshen during the Revolution.

Not only were guns made and stocked here, but many,

if not all, our farming implements were made in our

town. There were two lawyers here, whether kept

busy by quarrels at home we cannot tell ; but we are

sure of one thing,—Goshen people never lacked in

independence of character.

We find illustration of the laws and integrity of

the magistrates of that time in the following cases

from a record of trials

:

" The King v Reuben Sweet. On Feb. 21, 1775, Reuben Sweet, of Win-

chester, in S*! county. Personally appeared, and confest himself Guilty of

Playing Cards, Contrary to the Statute law of this Colony, on the 16th

Day of March last Past, at the Dwelling House of Joseph Hoskins, in

Torriogton, in S^ County, whereupon this court gives Gives Judgement

that Sii Ruben Sweet pay a fine of % Lawful money to the Treasurer of

S** Torrington, together with one shilling cost.

" The one shilling is paid.

" Eben' Norton,
" Juttice of Peace,^*

" The King versus Oliver Griswold. Oliver Griswold, of Goshen, son

of Zacheus Griswold, Jr. (a minor), appeared in court, and Contest him-

self Guilty of breach of Law ; by profanely playing on the Sabbath, in

the time of publick Worship in the meeting-house in S* Goshen ; on the

4th Day of April last; in voUuitariaUy smiling on the Cloths of one that

was near him, and Lawfing lunl wispering ; whereupon this Court gives

judgement, for the S'l Oliver Griswold to pay a fine of 38. Lawful Money

to the Treasurer of the Town of S"" Goshen, for the use of S'' Town, and

Is. for this Judgement.
'* This Judgement is satisfied.

" Ebenezer Norton,
" Justice of Peace*

" Goshen, June 14, 1775."

It seems a matter of surprise that the population

of Goshen should have increased so much during the

Revolutionary war. From 1774 to 1782, only eight
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years, the increase was from 1098 to 1439, a gain of

341. Hartford had only reached 5313, and New
Haven had lost about 100. Middletown had lost 262,

while Litchfield had gained 509, having a population

of 3018.

We do not know the census of Goshen between

1782 and 1800, an interval of eighteen years ; but we
are surprised to find it in ISOO but 1493, a gain of

only 54 in eighteen years. This can only be accounted

for by the fact that emigration to the West had pre-

vented our increase to a great extent.

Some things surprise us if we may assume that our

early records of births, deaths, and marriages are com-

plete. Three deaths (all in one family) are recorded

during 1739, the first year of our existence, and none

the next year; in the following year, 1741, there was

one death ; then there was a period of five years in

which death did not visit our little colony, and the

sum of deaths during the first ten years is only seven.

But there are five births recorded our first year

;

the next year six, and some years twelve and thirteen,

making, in the same first ten years of our history,

seventy-eight births against seven deaths.

Then the record of marriages is a good showing.

The first couple married in Goshen were Daniel

Harris, Jr., and Abigail Fanning. Kev. Mr. Heaton

married them the first month he was here as a " pro-

bationer." One more couple followed their example

that year, the next year four couples, and during our

first ten years there were 22 marriages. Tlie next ten

years recorded 25 deaths, 45 marriages, and 173 birtlis.

This was with an average i>opulation of less than 610,

as shown in 1756. Starting at 1759 (during the French

war), the next ten years show, in a population esti-

mated at 850 (as an average number) : marriages,

42 ; deaths, 33 ; and births, 227. This must be called

our increasing period, when almost 25 per cent, were

added to our population by the excess of birtlis over

our deaths. Perhaps the next ten years, however, will

exhibit almost as rapid increase. This is from 1709

to 1779, when our population, from the census of 1774,

—viz., 1098, and that of 1782 of 1439,—wouhl justify

the estimate of 1100 as the average number of our in-

habitants. Tliis period sliows : marriages, 23; deaths,

21 ; and births, 268, making an increase of 22 per

cent. Now we will venture to suppose that our popu-

lation in 1740 was 240 souls ; in 1782 it wiw 1439.

The gain during tiie first forty-three years of our his-

tory was 1199. There had been during the forty -three

years 89 deaths and 784 births. The gain by births,

then, was 095, leaving 458 of the gain to be accounted

for by tlie coming in of outsiders ; and, of course, to

this 458 must be added enough to make up for all

who had removed from town, (^ur population at the

close of the Revolutionary war wius considerably

larger than at the present time.

Of the forty-six first ownei-s of Goshen, we find only

sixteen who remained permanently here, and those

sixteen had all passed away before 1800. Two of

them, Abraham and Andrew Parmele, had lingered

until 1795. Among the many deaths during that

century which were regarded as public calamities

were those of Deacon Moses Lyman, Deacon John
Beach, Deacon Nathaniel Baldwin, Asaph Hall, Esq.,

and Col. Ebenezer Norton, to which I might add the

names of many other noble fathers of that time.

THE FIRST MERCHANT.

If we glance briefly at the business of our town in

its early history, we find our knowledge less than we
desire. It is known that wheat and rye were raised

much more extensively than at the present time, our

families using flour made from their own grain.

The first merchant in Goshen was John Smith, who
had a store in East Street in 1745. Mr. Smith re-

moved to the Centre in 1750, where he afterwards kept

tavern, and finally failed in business. The next one

of whom we know was Mr. Uri Hill, in West Street.

In his store there we find a man as clerk who after-

wards comes to the view as the most noted merchant

of Goshen. His name was Ephraim Starr. Mr. Hill

died, and Mr. Starr married his widow in November,

1769. Mr. Starr was then twenty-four years old, and

his wife the same age. He wiis greatly prospered in

business. Daniel Miles was also a merchant in East

Street in 1778.

Mr. Starr built the Starr House, now owned by Mr.

James Wadhams, before 1770, and there can be no

doubt that there has been more money made in the part

of that house then used as a store than in any other

building in Goshen. His trade was extensive before

and during the war, but in 1783 he secured a large

quantity of goods which the Tories sold very cheap

when they were compelled to leave New York. These

he had conveyed to Goshen, and having the entire

trade of Goshen, Cornwall, Norfolk, Torrlngton, and

perhai>s half that of Litchfield, he accumulated a

large fortune, and retired from business in 1793.

Before this time, Elihu Lewis and Birdseye Nor-

ton had a store in East Street, and I^ewis & Lyman
were in partnership by the time Mr. Starr retired.

This was Mr. Moses Lyman, whom many of us re-

member, and who in after-years was in company with

his brother, Erastus Lyman. They were long in busi-

ness on the corner near the house of Mr. Mosea Ly-

man. The firm of Wadhams & Carrington, then

Wadhams & Thomson, occupied the corner near the

house of Moses Gray, and Birdseye Norton continued

to trade in a store built near his new brick hou-^e.

This house was erected in 1804, and was the most ex-

pensive house ever built in Gosheu.

During the time Mr. Starr was in business, about

1783, there was a mercantile company formed in town,

consisting of thirty-two men. One object of their

uniting was to make sale of while-nth oar». The

making of these boat-oars had become quite a busi-

ness in our town, and complaint wiu< made that Mr.

Starr would not purchase their oars. But this mor-
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cantile company was not a success, and one after

another they retired from it, leaving a large quantity

of oars unsold. But their agent in New York, Mr.

Holbrook, one of the company, was fortunate enough

to meet an old captain of a French ship, to whom he

made sale of the whole lot, much to the relief of many

people in Goshen.

While we do not follow the history of mercantile

business farther, we should glance at another business

which has long been of great importance, the mak-

ing and selling of Goshen cheese. The trade in

cheese in early times, so far as we can learn, was like

that in grain or other articles,—each man took his

cheese away from Goshen and disposed of it as best

he could. This trade in its present shape had its be-

ginning in an experiment of Mr. Alexander Norton's,

who took the first Goshen cheese to the South in 1792.

He was successful, and continued in the business ten

or fifteen years. But Birdseye Norton soon engaged

in the trade, and was followed by other merchants,

M. & E. Lyman and Wadhams & Thomson, and no

doubt some others at an early date ; but the trade

in cheese never assumed its present proportions until

it was extended largely beyond the limits of our town

by the firm of A. Miles & Son.

We have been accustomed to think that we make
more cheese now than our fathers and grandfathers

did in 1799, but this is very doubtful. There were

only one hundred and two less of horse and neat cat-

tle in our town in 1799 than in 1875, and in 1806 the

number of cows—viz., 1869—must be as large as are

now kept for cheese-making. It is noticeable that in

1798 there were 646 horses in Goshen, against the

number of 250 in 1875. The time for sheep seems to

have been 1827, when there were in town 5528 sheep.

To Goshen also belongs the notoriety of origina-

ting the manufacture of pine-apple cheese in this

country, in 1808, by Lewis M. Norton, and at a later

date, 1843, the starting of the first cheese-factory in

our country. It is believed that Goshen cheese had

attained its high reputation as early as 1800, if not

sooner. This business has added much to the wealth

and prosperity of our town. The following tribute

by Mr. Barber, in his " Historical Collections of

1836," is from one competent and impartial

:

" Large quantities of cheese are annually made, the fame of which is

widely and justly celebrated, and the inliahitants are generally in pros-

perous circuDistances. In neatness in and about their dwellings, and in

the appearance of general comfort and prosperity, they are not ex-

ceeded, if equaled, by any town in the State."

There was a furnace or forge in Canada village for

some years previous to 1813, the iron ore being

brought from Salisbury. The woolen-factory business

was started in West Goshen in 1813 by the firm Wad-
hams, Thomson, Walter & Cobb. This business was

carried on by different firms for many years, until

more recently changed to a cotton-yarn factory.

From first to last it has not proved as profitable as

could be desired.

In 1810 our population had reached 1641, a gain of

148 in ten years, while Litchfield had reached its cli-

max, 4639, outnumbering the city of Hartford, which,

without East Hartford, had only 3955, 104 less than

Litchfield, and New Haven had only 5772. Passing

to the census of 1820, Goshen had fallen off to 1586,

a loss of 55 ; Litchfield lost 29 ; Hartford had over-

taken Litchfield and showed 4726 ; and New Haven
had 7147 inhabitants. Emigration to the West must

account for this our first decrease in number.

WAR OF 1812.

We have passed 1812, the period of our last war

with England. We were not called upon for great

sacrifices at that time, but we to-day make honorable

mention of three men from Goshen who served in

that war. Their names are Harlan Humphrey, John

Wilcox, and Alfred C. Thomson. Mr. Humphrey
still lives. There are two others now residing here

not natives of Goshen who did service in that war,

viz., Thomjis Robinson and Abial R. Bragg.

In 1819 there occurred a meeting here of too much
importance to pass by without notice. It was the oc-

casion of the ordination of the first missionaries to

the Sandwich Islands, Messrs. Bingham and Thurs-

ton. It was a movement great in its results upon

those islands, now so thoroughly Christianized.

Fifty years later, on Sept. 28, 1869, a most interest-

ing meeting was also held here in memory of the one

in 1819, at which Mr. Bingham, one of the two mis-

sionaries, was present.

In 1823 our Goshen Academy was erected, and in it

was established a school of a high order, which has

done much towards giving intellectual ability to the

people of Goshen.

GOSHEN ACADEMY.
Previous to 1 823 there had been a select school in

Goshen, called some of the time an acadenJy, for in

the Litchfield Monitor, Jan. 6, 1807, a " Mr. Joseph

Edwards" advertised himself as teacher of Goshen

Academy. Our fathers, only four years after they

came here, in 1738, leased their school right for nine

hundred and ninety-nine years, and voted that the

proceeds should be used to support two schools in the

east part of the town, one in the south, and one in the

west part of the town. The next year, 1743, they ap-

.

pointed "Deacon Baldwin, Amos Thomson, and Dan-

iel Richards a committee to hire a school-master or

masters, or a school-mistress or mistresses, to teach

school."

It is not certain that any schools were taught here

during the first ten years of our history ; but from

1748 to 1800 our schools afforded a fair education in

common English branches, excepting grammar, al-

though geography was little taught; but between

1800 and 1825 the standard of education here had

greatly advanced. It is doubtful whether there has

been much advance in our common schools in Goshen

1 since 1825.
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However this may be, it is certain that the Goshen

school-boy of 1755, then at the age of five years,

looked back from his stand-point in 1825, at the age

of seventy-five, and could truly boast that he had

learned something. He remembered back seventy

years, when he first saw a stove, an open one. He
also heard then of lightning-rods, and wished we had

one on our house in Goshen. In 1760 he is surprised

to see people wear collars on their shirts, and hears

that ladies in some places ride on a thing with wheels,

called a chaise. ' In 1770 he asks his father if we cannot

have one of those wooden clocks, so as to know what

time it is in a dark day (for he knows they cannot

afford one of those expensive brass ones from Eng-

land). On the 4th of July, 1776, he starts for East

Street, to help the boys put up a liberty-pole ; but

when he comes home he sees that his mother has

been weeping, and learns in the evening that father

has made up his mind to leave them all and go to the

war. He makes up his mind that if father goes he

shall go too. In 1780, after their return home, with

his bride at church, he sees some one carrying a thing

over their head, which he learns is called an " um-
brillo." Twelve years later he tells his wife he means

to get the start of anybody in this town, and have a

carpet for their best room ; but she thinks they must

be queer things to walk on. In 1795 he tells her he

has made up his mind to lay aside his knee-breeches

and wear what they call "pantaloons." In 1807 he

hears that a Mr. Fulton ran a boat up North River

by steam. In 1815 he buys one of Terry's clocks to

regulate his old verge watch by,—a watch that has

uniformly deceived one hour a day in time, and which

he found it necessary to regulate anew every time he

wound it. In 1817, feeble and aged as he finds he is

becoming, he is glad to find a stove in the meeting-

house, so he need not go to the "Sabba-day" house

at noon. This year his son, just returned from pur-

cliasing goods in New York, tells him he has sailed

on a steamboat from New York to New Haven. He is

astonished at his son's recklessness in thus risking his

life. In 1822 his son makes him a present of a ateel

pen, which he likes, his hand having become too

tremulous to make a quill-|)on. In ]S.'?2, at the age

of eighty-two, his son tells liini of his first ride on a

railroad, and jiroduces what he insists is the greatest

discovery ever made, viz., a bo.x of matches. The
boy of 1755 is indeed astonished to see that old tinder-

box, steel, and flint laid aside nevermore to be used.

No longer a boy, but an old man, he goes to his

rest, and it is not strange that some of his children,

feeling the life and spring inspired by the world's

rapid progress, should go forth from the old home
and help to build up and people the towns and cities

of the great West.

But we have reached the timeof our greatest popu-

lation, 1830, when we numbered one thousand seven

hundred and thirty-fonr, a gain of one hundred and

forty-eight in ten years. Litchfield had decreased,

Hartford nearly doubled, and New Haven grown one-

half.

It is not strange that the people of our town in

1838 were resolved to notice in a becoming manner

the centennial of the settlement of Goshen. There

was a large and deeply-interested assemblage in this

church on that day, Sept. 28, 1838. An address was

delivered by Rev. Grant Powers, then a minister here,

—an address well worthy of the occasion and the town.

It will doubtless be preserved so long as Goshen

exists. Some few Revolutionary soldiers were then

living and present. There are none of them here to-

day. They have passed from sight in that long pro-

cession which is filing into our cemeteries,—a proces-

sion of which we form a part.

Some are with us to-day not less brave or patriotic

than our sires of old, who gave themselves to their

country in the hour of peril at a later day. Perchance

some of them may linger, with feeble step and tones

tremulous with age and emotion, and tell a touching

i storj' to our children one-half a century from now.

Glancing backward again, it was in 1830, or a little

later, that the speaker first looked upon, with a curi-

ous gaze, what he had often heard of before but never

seen, viz., an Irishman. I do not think before 1835

an Irish girl was ever seen in Goshen. The change

in this respect is striking. The sons and daughters

of an island well called the " Emerald Isle," in its

verdure and beauty, have enabled America to make
her wonderful improvements. Thoy now form an im-

portant portion of our population, and we may well

ask how America couhi have reached her present po-

sition without the aid of these her adopted citizens.

There were a few families from Ireland settled here

between 1830 and 1840, and we find from the census

of 1870 that, out of our population of 1224, 17(1 are

natives of Ireland and England ; those born in Ger-

many, 32; in France, 21 ; in Switzerland, 3 ; making,

in all, 226 born over the wave. The number of their

children (native Americans) I do not know. It seems

remarkable that during the si.^ years since 1870 more

than 350 persons have removed from Goshen.

THE WAR OF THE UEBELLION.

As we approach 1860, that time so full of deep in-

terest to us all, we pause a.Mtonished at the nuignitude

of the events through which we passed. We all re-

member how our first little band of five resolved to

rally round our flag,—a flag that had been one short

montli before de.Hecrated at Fort Sumter. On the

morning of May 24, 1S61, an they were about to leave

to join their regiment at Hartford, many friends as-

sembled to give them the parting hand and bles-ting.

These five pioneers did good service for three years or

more, and were all spared to return.

There were twenty-eight others from Goshen who
enlisted in different regiments before the v\o»v of

1861, nuiking thirty-three in all. The next year,

1862, there were forty-nine Goshen men enlisted.
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forty-seven in the company commanded liy James Q.

Price, and two otliers in anotlier company in the

same regiment, the Nineteenth ; in the company of

Capt. Rice were fifty-tliree men from Torrington,

mailing one hundred and two. This was the largest

cluster of Goshen men together during the war ; and

when they left, on Aug. 21, 1862, and marclied to their

camp at Litchfield, we found the war had become a

startling reality to us. Those men, who had left all

the joys of happy homes on these hills of Goshen, car-

ried with them our prayers and blessings. We fol-

lowed theni with anxious hearts during their eventful

career. They were called through terrible scenes of

blood, and when they who lived through were dis-

charged in 1865, their's was a sad, although a heroic,

record, for many a dear familiar face was nevermore

to be seen on earth.

During their service 9 recruits joined them from

Goshen, making 58 of our men in that company.

Of these 58 men, 8 were killed and 11 more died of

sickness, making 19 out of 58, almost one-third,—

a

record that tells its own tale.

In 1863 there were 17 men enlisted : the 9 above,

who were recruits in Capt. Rice's company, and
8 men who joined other companies. The whole

number of enlisted men, counting two who enlisted in

a New York regiment, and one who enlisted in a Ver-

mont regiment, amounts to 101. Of this number
there were killed, 12 ; died of sickness, 16; 1 killed in

an explosion on the railway, making 29 in all, or

almost 29 per cent., truly a sad record. Besides

these 101 men, there were 46 substitutes furnished by
Goshen men during tlie war. Of their ftite we have

no means of knowing.*

Goshen furnished 147 men in the war, her quota

being 122, which makes 25 men above her quota.

Large as was this number, we cannot forbear on this

occasion looking back to the Revolution, to inquire

in which struggle did we play the most important

part. There were, all told, 231,771 men in our Revo-

lutionary army ; but in the Rebellion our army num-
bered 2,688,523, eleven times as many. Connecticut

furnished in the Revolution 31,939, which was one-

seventh of the whole army, and Goshen furnished 1

man out of every 1485 in the whole army. In the

Rebellion Connecticut furnished 55,775 men, or about

one-forty-eighth of the whole army, and Goshen fur-

nished one man in every 14,278. Our country was so

much less populous in the time of the Revolution

that our little town of 1098 inhabitants had to bear

twelve times as large a share in filling up the army
as fell to her during the war of the Rebellion. But

let it be remembered that our present population is

not 200 greater than during the Revolution ; and
while in the Revolution we sent 1 man for every 6 in-

* Among the many natives of Goshen residing elsewhere who did

good service in our late war, we may mention Albert Wadhams, Esq.,

who served in a Hartford regiment, and who has, unlike any others re-

membered, returned to live in his native town.

habitants, we in the Rebellion sent 1 man for every

8] inhabitants. The term of service, too, in our late

war was much longer.

But the most significant fact is the much greater loss

of life in our late war. Of 162 men in the Revolution,

but 2 are known to have been killed, and 15 died of

sickness, which is about 10 per cent.

The sad record of our rebellion is almost three times

as great, viz., twenty-nine per cent. Alike those pa-

triots of the past and those of our own time claim

our deepest interest.

INCIDENTS.

Among the incidents of the past, the burning of the
" Blue House," as it was called, which occurred in

1767, was the most startling. It was struck by light-

ning, two young men in it were killed, the house

caught fire from the lightning in three places, and
burnt in spite of the pouring rain, almost burning

those who were struck down as well as the dead.

The hail-storm of July 15, 1799, was the most severe

ever known in Goshen. The hail-stones were the size

of hens' eggs, destroying all crops, and covering the

ground in the forests with small limbs cut off by the

stones. The large crops of grass standing were cut to

pieces, and wholly disappeared. One young man was

almost killed ; covered with blood and bruises, he at

last found a shelter.

The census of 1840 cannot be found in Washington,

but in 1850 the population was 1457, a loss of 277 in

twenty years; in 1860 it was 1381, a loss in ten years

of 76 ; and in 1870 it was 1224, a loss in ten years of

157.

It seems a matter of surprise that, while our early

fathers kept a record of births, deaths, and marriages,

their sons should have kept none, and that from about

1789 up to 1855, a period of sixty-six years of our

greatest population, there remains no record, except

for five years a partial record, from 1847 to 1852. It

is a disappointment deeply felt now, but what will it

be to those who will vainly search for that record in

the centuries to come? This long period, therefore,

remains a blank, only relieved by a private record of

deaths kept by Mr. Luther Beecher from 1803 to 1824,

a period of twenty years. Nor can we thank him as

we would to-day for his service ; and it would be

most unjust should I omit to mention that honored

father, Lewis M. Norton, who passed away in 1860,

for to him we owe very much of our knowledge of our

past history.

Our records are perfect since 1855. Looking over

these twenty-one years, to 1876, there have been dur-

ing that time 200 marriages, 612 births, and 384

deaths. The largest number of marriages was in

1856, when 23 couples were married. The largest

number of births was two years after, in 1858, when
there were 38 births ; and two years later still gives

the largest number of deaths, viz., 30.

The largest family in Goshen is thought to be that of
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one of our first settlers, Mr. Simeon Humphrey, who
had nineteen children. The family of Miles Norton

numbered eighteen children. If we may venture to

estimate our average population at 1295, it would be

safe to say that during the one hundred and thirty-

eight years since Goshen was settled there have not

been less than 1242 marriages and 3726 births, while

to our graveyards have been borne 2311 of the dead.

From the record, in the early part of this century

it appears that Goshen people lived on an average

thirty-eight years, but for the last twenty-one years

the record seems to make the period of life in Goshen

thirty-three years.

POST-ROUTES, RIDES, AND OFFICES.

We borrowed from our mother-country all our early

improvements, and one of the greatest of them, the

post-ofl3ce, did not exist in England until the time of

Cromwell, in 1656. Charles 1. had, it is true, in 1635,

established a " running-post" from London to Edin-

burgh, to go that four hundred miles and back in six

days. Not until 1784, when as a town we were thirty-

six years old, was there a general post-office in England.

And at this time William Penn had established regu-

lar posts from Philadelphia through to Maryland,

posting notices of time of starting upon the doors of

churches. But twelve years before, in 1672, a mes-

senger was started to carry letters between Boston

and New York via Hartford ; and he was required to

make the round trip in one month. Doubtless it was

through a wilderness much of the way, with no bridges

across the rivers. New York was made a general

letter office in 1711.

In 1754, Dr. Franklin was appointed in charge of

the post-office in America. During the twcnty-iive

years previous to this time, it had reiiuircd -six weeks

to go and return between Philadelphia and Boston.

Dr. Franklin reduced this time to three weeks. But

at this time, 1763, it took seventeen days for the mail-

coach to go from London to Edinburgh, and so late

as 1812 it took the mail-coaches six days to run from

Paris to Geneva, three hundred and ninety miles. In

1766, ten years before the Revolution, what were

called "flying-machines" (swift wagons) were put

upon the route between New York and Philadelphia,

which ran the eighty-eight miles in tiie time, then

astonishingly short, of two days. Just before the

Revolution, in 1775, a postmaster-general was ap-

pointed, but wo do not know how many offices had
then been established. Fourteen years after 1789,

when we were first fairly organized a-s a nation, there

were but seventy-five post-offices in all our country.

There were a few in Connecticut, but more in Litch-

field County.

In the Oourant of 1764 we find letters advertised

for persons, more (women had scarcely any letters in

those days) for men, in Salisbury, New Hartford, and
other towns in tliis county. Two years Inter, 1766,

as we learn in Mr. Kilbourn's " History of Litchfield,"

" Mr. William Stanton was a post-rider between Hart-

ford and Litchfield. It is supposed he did not go as

often as once a week, nor do we know that he brought

any letters for the Goshen fathers as far as Litchfield.

We are left wholly in the dark as to how they obtained

their mail from our post-office in Hartford. The first

notice of any post-rider going through Goshen is in

1789, when Jehiel Saxton, a post-rider between New
Haven and Lennox, passed through, as we hear, at

' stated intervals.' " But those intervals are not stated

to us. But the next year, as Kilbourn tells us, "one
of these primitive letter-carriers commenced his long

and lonely ride over the almost interminable succes-

sion of hills between Litchfield court-house and New
York, leaving each place once a fortnight. That was

a proud day for Litchfield." But a prouder day was

at hand, for a post-office was established in Litchfield

March 20, 1793, and Benjamin Tallmadge appointed

postmaster. Thus, after fifty-five years' existence as

a town, our letters and papers were in 1793 deposited

in Litchfield. The next year, 1794, we find, for the

first time in our history, the way opened for Goshen
people to receive once a week their mail. In the
" Litchfield Monitor," March 28, 1794, Mr. Ebenezer

Burr, of Norfolk, advertises himself as a " post-rider

from Litchfield, through (Joshen, Norfolk, and Canaan,

to Salisbury, and solicits patronage as such ; but re-

quests all who need his services as county surveyor

to call upon Mondays and Tuesdays, as he shall be

away the rest of the week." No doubt by tlie above,

or similar accommodation, our town was favored until

August, 1805, when the Goshen po.st-office was estab-

lished, and Erastus Lyman appointed the first post-

master.

The office was established in Norfi)lk in 1804, but

not in Torrington until April 1, 1813. The post-

office was established in Ei\st Goshen Nov. 17, 1819,

David L. Parmele postmaster, with a salary of seven

dollars, afterwards reduced to five dollars. This post-

office was discontinued Oct. 18, 1838.

The North Goshen post-office was established June

11, 1832, Putnam Bailey postmaster; and it was discon-

tinued June 12, 1838.

The West Goshen post-office was established July

10, 1849, Frederick Miles postmaster.

The seventy-five post-offices in our country in 1789

had increased in 1794 to four hundred and fifty, and

when Goshen first had an office, in 1805, the number

had risen to fifteen hundred and fifty-eight.

We may assume that Mr. Hiirr, the Norfolk post-

rider, began in 1794, and brought the mail weekly to

those who employed him. But we next find that we

had one of that primitive cla-ss of letter-carriers liv-

ing here in the Centre, Ephraim Leach, or " Pony

Leach," as he was called. He went weekly from Litch-

field to Canaan from before 18()0 (as we suppose) to

1809, or later; when another post-rider, llenjamin

Beach, brought the papers, and probably letters also,

from Norfolk through North Goshen and Cornwall
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Hollow. But we have now reached the era of turn-

pikes, although we find no evidence of any stage run-

ning on these turnpikes until the winter of 1812-13;

then, for the first time, a stage appears in Goshen,

running weekly from New Haven to Albany. But

we do not know that the mail was carried on this

stage until 1816, when it was carried once a week.

In 1817, and for two years after, it ran with mail twice

a week, and in 1820 three times a week. In 1821 com-

menced our daily stage and mail. This was in con-

nection with a daily steamboat from New York to

New Haven. And now Goshen found herself upon a

great route of travel, with a four-horse stage running

through daily, and sometimes extra stages put upon

the route, loaded with passengers from New York
City en route to Albany to attend the winter sessions

of the Legislature there. A branch route was es-

tablished through East Goshen to Norfolk, connect-

ing also with Albany there, with sometimes a four-

horse stage upon it, and both lines using four-

horse or two-horse stages as occasion required.

These stages continued up to about 1840. During

these years, much of the time, a stage ran weekly

through to Hartford from Sharon. But all these

stages were discontinued when the Housatonic Rail-

road was completed to New Milford in 1839, and

to West Cornwall in 1842, giving us almost always

since a daily mail.

Pine-apple Cheese.—Lewis M. Norton, of Goshen,

Conn., was the maker of the first pine-apple cheese

made in this country. He commenced making them

in 1809, having seen a portion of an imported one,

and obtained a patent for the process the following

year.

Continuing to make from his dairy alone until

1845, he then erected a cheese-factory, the first, it is

believed, in America. This factory still stands, and

here have been made usually from ten thousand to

fifteen thousand cheeses in number annually, weigh-

ing from five to six pounds each. While com-

paratively few pine-apple cheeses are in this county,

the number of cheese-factories erected in this country

since 1845 for making common cheese is large, and

the quantity of cheese manufactured in them is enor-

mous.

CHAPTER XXXIV.
GOSHEN (Continued).

ECCLESIASTICAL, CIVIL, AND MILITARY.

The Congregational Church—The EpiBcopal Church—The Methodist

Episcopal Church—Methodist Episcopal Church, North Goshen—The
First Town-Meeting—Officers Elected—Exti-acte from Records—Rep-

resentatives from 1700 to 1S80—Military History—The Heroes of

Three Wars—The French War—War of the Revolution—War of the

Rebellion—Names of Soldiers—Interesting Statistics.

THE CONGREGATIONAL CHURCH.

This church was organized in November, 1740, and
at the same time Rev. Stephen Heaton was ordained

pastor. The following is a list of pastors from the
organization of the church to the present time:

Stephen Heaton, 1740-53; Abel Newel, 1755-81;

Josiah Sherman, 1783-89; Asahel Hooker, 1791-

1810; Joseph Harvey, 1810-25; Francis H. Case,

1826-28
; Grant Powers, 1829-41 ; Lavalette Perrin,

1843-57; Joel F. Bingham, 1859-60; William T.

Doubleday, 1864-71 ; Timothy A. Hazen, 1873, pres-

ent pastor.

The present deacons are Marcus D. F. Smith, Ed-
ward Norton, and Francis M. Wadhams.
The first church edifice was erected in 1744, and

was used until 1770. The second was erected in 1720,

and occupied until 1832, when it was succeeded by
the present building. Before the erection of the first

church building worship was held in a house which
stood by the " old ash-tree;" So says Rev. Grant

Powers in his address. The church edifice was re-

paired in 1874.

WEST GOSHEN METHOMST EPISCOPAL CHURCH.

This church was organized in the winter of 1797-98

with the following members : Asaph Wright and
wife, Helmot Kellogg and wife, Melzar Howe and

wife, Sarah Ives (known as Aunt Sal), Pamelia Nor-

ton, Clarinda Howe, Ida Landon, and Anna Carr.

These joined when the society was first organized or

soon after. The first ofiicers were Asapli Wright,

Thomas Mun.son, and Alfred Walter.

The following is the list of pastors : 1797, Ezekiel

I

Canfield, William Thatcher ; 1798, Ebenezer Ste-

phens, Truman Bishop ; 1799, Aiigustus Jocelyn

;

1800, Aaron Hunt, Elijah Batchelor; 1801, Peter

Morraity, John Sweet ; 1802, James Campbell, Lu-

men Andrus; 1803, C. Morris, John Sweet; 1804,

Zalmon Lyon, Eber Smith ; 1805, Zalmon Lyon

;

1806, Nathan Emory, Samuel Cochran ; 1807, Aaron

Hunt, Jonathan Lyon ; 1808, Henry Eames, Andrew
Prindle ; 1809-10, Laban Clark, Reuben Harris

;

1811, James Coleman, Arnold Scofield; 1812, James
Coleman, Benjamin Griffin ; 1813, William Swayne,

Gad Smith, J. Reynolds ; 1814, Thomas Thorp ; 1815,

Samuel Cochran, Billy Hibbard ; 1816, Samuel Coch-

ran; 1817, E. P. Jacob, J. J. Matthias; 1818, Datus

Ensign, E. Canfield, T. Benedict; 1819, Datus En-

sign, Ezekiel Canfield ; 1820, Nathan Emory, Smith

Dayton ; 1821, E. Washburn, Smith Dayton, John
Nixon; 1822, J. M. Smith, David Miller, Julius

Field; 1823, Daniel Brayton, Elbert Osborn ; 1824,

Arnold Scofield, Elbert Osborn ; 1825-26, Eli Bar-

nett, John Lovejoy
; 1827, E. Washburn, F. Sizer,

A. Bushnell ; 1828, E. Washburn, Smith Dayton, J.

Nixon ; 1829, B. Sillick, W. Wolcott ; 1830, B. Sil-

lick, L. C. Cheney, D. Stocking ; 1831, Luther Mead,

Luman A. Sanford ; 1832-33, Aaron S. Hill, Orlando

Starr; 1834, Charles F. Pilton. This year Goshen

became a station ; 1835-36, A. G. Wickware ; 1837

-38, John Luckey ; 1839-40, David Osborn ; 1841-42,

Thomas Ellis; 1843-44, Joseph D. Marshall; 1845
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-46, David L. Marks ; 1847, Isaac Sanford ; 1848-49,

Eufus K. Reynolds; 1850-51, David Miller; 1852,

Charles R. Adams; 1853-54, Daniel W. Lounsbury

;

1855, Henry Burton ; 1856, William Silverthorne

;

1857-58, Alexander McAlister; 1859-60, William

Ross ; 1861, George W. Allen ; 1862-64, James D.

Bouton ; 1865-67, Samuel F. Johnson ; 1868-69, Wil-

liam H. Stebbins ; 1870-72, William Brown; 1873-75,

David S. Stevens; 1876-78, Cornell S. Dikeman;

187i)-80, Francis M. Hallock.

The first church edifice was built in 1809-10 by

Benjamin Roberts, assisted by Brace Stoddard. This

building is now (1881) occupied by George Herrold.

The "L" part is an addition situated near the Goshen

Centre Cemetery. The present edifice was erected in

1835-36, nearly on the old site.

The present otBcers are H. G. Wright, E. S. Rich-

ards, A. B. Dickinson, J. B. Thompson, H. O. Beach,

Smith Beach, Morris Luthill, and Daniel S. Beach.

The first Methodist sermon was preached in the

brick house now occupied by H. G. Wright by Eze-

kiel Canfield. After a society had been organized it

met in a school-house which stood west of the village

of West Goshen, and subsequently on the second floor

of the house now occupied by Hobart Griswold, east

of the village.

The first organized Sunday-school was established

in the spring of 1827, with David Wooster as superin-

tendent.

The Episcopal church was built in 1767, and stood

near the East Street burial-ground. It was abandoned

in 1788. The first Methodist quarterly meeting was

held in the barn of Capt. Jabez Wright, in West

Goshen. The North Goshen Methodist church was

built about 1842.

The Catholic chapel was built in 1856.

TIIK riBST TOWN-MEETIXG.

The first town-meeting in Goshen Wius held Dec.

6, 1739, when the following officers were chosen:

Moderator, John Beach ; Selectmen, .loiin Beach,

Samuel Pettibone, Natlianicl Baldwin, Samuel Tur-

ner, and Benajah Williams; Constables, Samuel Hin-

man and Gideon Ilurlbut ; Grand .Jurors, Samuel
Towner, Abel Phelps, and Isaac Hill ; Listers, Chris-

topher Graham, Timothy Tuttle, and Abraham Par-

meley; Surveyors of Highways, B. Phelps, Isaac

Hill, and Nathan Baldwin; Town Clerk, Samuel Pet-

tibone; Horse Brandcrs, Gideon Ilurlbut, Benajah

Williams, and Joseph Heacock ; Fence Viewers, Dan-

iel Richards, Benjamin Bishop, and Benjamin Phelpa.

At this meeting it was

"Voted, That tliu iHilectinen Bhall ancerlaio tliu places uf btildln^ the

mootliigs fur puMK-k worehip ot God."

EAKI.V MAKRIAGKS, IIIBTIIS, AND DEATHS.

"Mabol Diulpti, tlio iliinchtur >ir Ili-iijtuiiiii Pholpii, wiu born April the

24, I7:<!), anil dioti the 22d iluy uf Sep., 17:10.

" Illldnd, tlie nun of Ueiijiiuilii PliidpH, illcd tho 28 day of Augiut, 1730.

" E. 0. Hill and Marllia mMo won- nmrrleil Jan. 3, 1711!.

" E. 0. Hill, sun uf E. C. Hill, wiiB burn Oct. 24, 1717.

"GIdoun Hurlliut and Marj- Doming, tliu daughter of Thoa. D«mlng,

were married together in the evening after the 30th day of Becember,

1725.

*' Before Daniel Goodrich, Justice peace.

"Marriage of Timothy Tuttle and Hannah Waddams, which was Jan.

27, *.D. 1742 or 43.

" By y Kevd M'. Heaton.

"Marriage of Sam^ Norton and Mary Lucas, which was November y«

27, 1740."

LIST OF GOSHEN TIEST PBOPEIETOES AND NUMBER OF LOT

Name. No.
Capt. Stephen Lee 28
Saniupl Baker 29
William Whiiing 30
Samuel Pettibone 31
Daniel Trail 32
Benjamin Frisbie 33
Gideon Leet 34
John Beach 36
Timothy Bigelow 36
Lemuel Roberts 37
Saninel Lewis 38
Jereniiab Huw 39
Ye Minister 40
Jonah Case 41
Nathaniel Baldwin 42
David Bullulf. :.... 43
Timothy Baldwin 44
Elijah How 45
Samuel Hinman 4tf

Capt. Joseph Bird 47
Isaac Hill 48
Samuel Gaylord 49
Thomas Margin 50
Macock Ward 51
Ebenezer Hill 52
Daniel Richards 53

Name. No.
Aaron Cook (drew choice) 1

Benajah Williams 2
Stephen Lee 3
Amos Thomson 4
Ye School 5
Ye Ministry 6

Samuel Roberts. 7

John Moses 8

Abraham Parmelee 9

Stephen Goodwin 10
Capt. William Ward 11
Timothy Tuttle 12
David Hall 13
Daniel Harris 14
Joseph Cook 15
Thomas Towzer 16
No name 17
Andrew Parmelee 18
Daniel Harris 19
Timothy Baldwin 20
JolinTlKimson 21
Nathaniel Baldwin 22
Samuel Hopsun 23
Capt. John Buel 24
Samuel Humphrey 25
Thomas Adams 20
Benjamin Phelps 27

GOSHEN SOLDIERS IN THE FRENCH WAR, 1754-02.

Lieut. Timothy Gaylord, Lient. Daniel Lee, Manna Humphrey, killed;

Moses Wilcox, Thomas Wilcox, Elisha North, Humphrey, died;

John Wright, Ashltel Humphrey, Nathaniel Stanley. Jr., Stephen

Tuttle, Charles Richards, Josiah Roys, John Dond, Benjamin Reeves,

Jacob Beach, Munson Winchel, John Mussou, John Wilcux, Joel

Dibble (prisoner).

GOSHEN IN THE REVOLUTION.'

The following is a list of soldiers who entered the

army from this town during the war of the Revolu-

tion:

George Dear, Ichahud Tuttle, killed; Juhn Musson, Samuel Richmond,

Leverit Kellr>gg, Seth llaydeu, Ambruee Beach, .Abroliam Beach,

Martin Beach, Jueiah Bartholomew. Jacob Dowd, Jeremiah Ilurl-

but, Martin Nauli, Oliver Griswold, Thomas l.nrojf, Jattez Norton,

David Wright ; Captains AMipli Hall, Asa Fntncis, Stephen GtNxl-

win, Meilad Hills, Timothy Stanley ; Lieutenants 31i«4>a Lyman,
John Riley, Thomas Cunvurse, Janice Thomson, Mutliew Smith,

Isaac Pratt, Miles Norton, Theodore Parmelee, Augustus Hills, Dr.

Elisha Sill, died.

Theodore Anilrows, Kdniiind Beach, Amue Beach, Medad Beach, Israel

Beach, John Ikio h, Julius Ueacli, OU'd Beach, William Beach, FIsk

Beach, Samuel Baldwin, Brewln Baldwin, Isaac Baldwin, .As*

Brouks, Joseph Brooks, James HrtiHn, Timothy Buel, Jonathan

Buel, Joseph Butler, Abel Biillrr, Isaac Butterick, Caleb Carr, John
Carr, Nathan Carter, Thomas Castle, Muees l.'ouk, Cyprian CoIUds,

Phllo Collins, Anibroee (Vdlins, Ichatasl CliRplii, James Davis, Joel

Davis, Jtotathan Dear, George Dear, Jr., Jonathan Deniing, JtihD

Doud, David Francis, Joel Gaylord, Jueeph Gaylord, Titus Gaylord,

Stephen Goodwin, Jr., Alexamler GrUwold, .\dlno Hale, Justus

Hale, David Hart, Samuel llayden, Selh Hills, John Ilobta, David

Holmns John Hoy, Lewis Hinman, I'rl Hill, Jazanlah Howe,

Simeon Humphrey, David Humphrey, Charles Humphrey, David

llurlburt, David Ives, Je*«o Judd, Jonathan Kettle, Brailford Kel-

logg, .Samuel Kellogg, Timothy Knapp, Kphrmim Leech. Ellhu

Lewis, Neliendali Lewis, Kl>enezer Lewis, Seth Ixickwiiod, Hathew
Loekwoml, Kllsha Mayo. Jeptlia Merrlls, Noiih Merrils, Imum: Bllleo,

Caleb Mill's, Stephen Mix, lUdn'rl Morris, .Vilonion Morse, Lent

Mutt, Thomas E. Mitnson, Murray. Nathaniel Newell, Seth

North, Stephen North, Alexander Norton, Aarvm Nurtou, Kber Nor-

ton, John Norton, Joecph Norton, Medail Norton, Nathan Norton,

• i^ntrlbuted by hUlward Norton.
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Nathaniel Norton, Oliver Norton, Ebenezer Norton, N. Stanley Par-

uielee, Elislm Peck, Stephen Peck, Daniel Pickett, Thadeus Porter,

Robert Rood, Jesse Roys, Josiah Roys, Silas Richmond, John Seely,

Ebenezer Shepard, Richard Sill, Abraham Smith, Asher Smith,

Scott, Charles Squire, Justus Squire, Jesse Stanley, Timothy Stanley,

William Starr, John Thomson, Elijah Towner, Timothy Tuttle,

Jonathan Wadliams, Abraham Wadliams, John Walter, Jonathan

Wheadon, Job Wilcox, Jacob Williams, Jacob Williams, Jr., John

Willoughby, Thomas Wire, Charles Wright, Freedom Wright, and

Jahez Wright.

REPRESENTATIVES FROM 1756-1882.

1756.—Gideon Thompson, Samuel Nash.

1757.—Capt. Moses Lyman, Capt. John Beacli, Samuel Nash, Gideon

Hurlburt.

1758.—Samuel Nash, John Beach, Stephen Heaton, Gideon Thompson.

1759.—Gideon Thompson, Capt. Samuel Pettibone, Capt. Nathaniel

Baldwin.

1760.—Capt. Moses Lyman, Ebenezer Norton, Samuel Nash, Samuel
Pettibone.

1761.—Capt. Moses Lymnn, Csipt. Samuel Pettibone, Capt. John Beach,

Capt. Samuel Nash.

1762.—Capt. Samuel Pettibone, Capt. Moses Lyman, Capt, Samuel Nash,

Capt. Ebenezer Norton.

1763-64.—Capt. Mosrs Lymaii, Capt. Samuel Nash.

1765-66.—Capt. Moses Lyman, Ebenezer Norton, Capt. Samuel Nash.

1767.—Capt. Moses Lyman, Capt. Edmund Beach, Capt. Samuel Nash,

Nehemiah Lewis.

1768.—Capt. Samuel Nash, Capt. Ebenezer Norton, Stephen Heaton.

1769.—Capt. Ebenezer Norton, Edmund Beach, Capt. Samuel Nash,

Abraham Parmeley.

1770.—Capt. Samuel Nash, Capt. Edmund Beach, Capt. Ebenezer Norton,

Capt. Jonathan Buel.

1771.—Capt. Samuel Nash, Capt. Elisha Sill, Capt. Ebenezer Norton, Ste-

phen Goodwin.

1772.—Capt. Jonathan BuelI,Capt. Samuel Nash, Capt. Ebenezer Norton,

Capt. Edmund Beach.

1773.—Ebenezer Norton, Stephen Goodwin, Asaph Hall.

1774._Capt. Samuel Naah, Asaph Hall, Col. Ebenezer Norton, Capt. Ed-

mund Beach.

1775.—Col. Ebenezer Norton, Capt. Samuel Nash, David Thomson.

1776.—Col. Ebenezer Norton, Asaph Hall, David Thomson.

1777._Col. Timothy Stanley, Capt. Asa Francis, Col. Ebenezer Norton,

Capt. Asaph Hall.

1778.—Col. Ebenezer Norton, Capt. Samuel Nash, Daniel Miles.

1779.—Capt. Asaph Hall, Capt. Asa Francis, Giles Griswold.

1780.—Capt. Asaph Hall, Capt. Asa Francis, Capt. Stephen Goodwin.

1781.—Abel Newell, Asaph Hall.

1782.—Abel Newell, Capt. Elisha Sill, Capt. Asaph Hall, Daniel Miles.

1783-84.—Capt. Elisha Sill, Daniel Miles.

1785.—Capt. Elisha Sill. Daniel Miles, Capt. Asaph Hall.

1786.—Adino Hale, Capt. Asaph Hall.

1787._Samuel Hopkins, Ebenezer Norton, Daniel Miles.

1788.—Daniel Miles, Adiiio Hale.

1789.— Daniel Miles, AiUno Hale, Capt. Asaph Hall.

1790-91.—Ebenezer Norton, Adino Hale.

1792.—Capt. Asaph Hall, Adino Hale.

1793-96.—Samuel Hopkins, Adino Hale.

1797.—Birdsey Norton, Adino Hale.

1798-99.—Samuel Hopkins, Adino Hale, Birdsey Norton.

1800.—Adino Hale, Samuel Hopkins, Birdsey Norton, Timothy Hale.

1801-2.—Birdsey Norton, Timothy Hale.

1803-9.—Birdsey Norton, Adino Hale.

1810-11.—Birdsey Norton, Moses Lyman, Jr., Adino Hale.

18J2.—Adino Hale, Moses Lyman, Jr.

1813-15.—Adino Hale, Theodore North.

1816.—Timothy Hale, Adino Hale, Theodore North.

1817.-Timothy Hale, Theodore North, Julius Beach.

1818.—William Stanley, Julius Beach, Samuel Lyman.

1819.—William Stanley, Samuel Lyman.

1820-21 .—Noah Humphrey, Moses Cook.

1822-23.—Erastus Lyman, Henry Hart.

1824.—Timothy Collins, Augustus Miles.

1825.—Tr\iman Starr, Isaac Wadhams.

1826.— Giles Griswold, Isaac Wadhams.

1827-28.—Giles Griswold, Erastiis Lyman.

1829.—Augustus Miles, David Wooster.

1830.—Robert Palmer, David Wooster.

1831.—Robert Palmer, George Cook.

1832.—Jonathan North, George Cook.

1833.—Jonathan North, Eber Bailey.

1834.—Timothy Collins, Eber Bailey.

1835.—Cicero Collins, George Cook.

1836.—Collins Baldwin, William Mills.

1837.—Alpha Hart, William Miles.

1838.—Alpha Hart, Augustus Miles.

1839.—Putnam Bailey, Augustus Miles.

1840.—Putnam Bailey, William Gaylord.

1841.—Willard Gaylord, Miles Hart.

184^.—Thomas Bartholomew, Miles Hart.

1843.—Thomas Bartholomew, 0. M. Humphrey,
1844.—John M. Wadhams, 0. M. Humplirey.

1845.-John M. Wadhams, Philo Bailey.

1846.—Austin Allyn. Philo Bailey.

1847.—Austin Allyn, iSimeon Loomis.

1848.—Simeon Loumis, J. J. Gaylord.

1849.—George A. Hill, J. J. Gaylord.

1850.—George A. Hill, Moses Cook.

1851.—W. H. Brooks, S. H. Merwin.

1852.—Henry Nort4)n, D. H. Smith.

1853.—Lucius D. Allyn, A. W. Lawton.

1854.—Sterling Wooster, Abner Gilbert.

1855.—Chris. P. Wheeler, Erastus Merwin.

1856.—Milo Bartholomew, Abram Beach.

1857.—Samuel Palmer, J. P. Porter.

1858.—William Davis, William L. Griswold.

1859.—Austin Allyn, Jr., Jos. P. Bailey.

1860.—Moses Cook, Jonathan B. Thompson.

1861.—Watts H. Brooks, G. W. Humphrey,

1862.—Willard Gaylord, Moses Cook,

1863.—Joseph Wooster, Moses Lyman.
1864.—Darius Thompson, Frederick Lyman.
1865.—Obed M. Humphrey, Sterling Wooster.

1866.—Charles L. Porter, Joseph Palmer.

18G7.—Moses W. Gray. Austin Allyn.

1808.—Lyman Hall, Moses Cook.

1869.—Fred. A. Lucas, Enos B. Pratt.

1870.—Edward Norton, F. E. Hurlburt.

1871.—Edward Norton, M. D. F. Smith.

1872.—John H. Wadhams, T. W. Austin.

1873.—Truman P. Clark, Abner Gilbert.

1874.—Lyman P. Hall, John H. Wadhams.
1875.—Fesaeuden Ives, William Davis, Jr.

1876.—Frederick E. Hurlburt, Orion J. Hallock.

1877.—Watts H. Brooks, Moses W.Gray.

1878.—Henry G. Wright, Frank W. Griswold.

1879.—William L. Griswold, Lyman Hall.

1880.—Austin Allyn, John M. Wadhams.

1881.—Moses A. Wadhams, Benjamin F. Lamphier.

GOSHEN IN THE WAR OF THE REBELLION.

MILITARY RECORD.

There being no recruiting officer located in Goshen

there were no enlistments from May till September^

when Henry Fritz, Charles A. Barnum, Robert T.

Becker, Daniel Kimberly, Uriah Nickerson, Gerrit

Rinders, and Joseph N. Wooster joined the Seventh

Regiment in October. Edward N. Fanning joined

the Eighth Regiment, and John Fanning joined the

Ninth or Irish Regiment. Peter McCabe, William N.

Ford, and Henry C. Ford enlisted in the Eleventh

Regiment about the same time, that is, in October.

In the latter part of November, George W. Sperry,

Henry E. Merrvin, George W. Butler, George C.

Downs, James Hicks, and Benjamin H. Prindle, and

in December, Michael Morris, Frank E. Wadhams,
and Joseph Brady joined the Thirteenth Regiment,

under Capt, Charles Blinn, of Company C. In Jan-
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uary, 1862, Henry Mayo, Edward B. Richmond, James

Eobinson, and Frederick L. Wadhams joined Com-
pany I, under Lieut. Frank Wells, of Litchfield, also

in the Thirteenth Regiment. Up to this time no

bounties had been promised or paid, except seven dol-

lars and a half to each of those who had enlisted in

the Fourth Regiment to buy each of them a pair of

boots.

In the fall of 1861 there was apprehension that the

soldiers in the field would suflTer for the want of suffi-

cient clothing and bedding, and a pressing call was

made by the Sanitary Commission for aid. In re-
!

sponse to this call the ladies of the " Soldiers' Aid

Society" collected and sent to the commission in New
York two boxes and one barrel, containing the follow- '

ing articles, viz., forty-four woolen blankets; sixty-

one pair knit woolen socks, thirty-six bed-quilts, '

fourteen pillow-ticks, eight dressing-gowns, nine

sheets, fifty-five pillow-cases, two pillows, sixty-four

towels, seven knit wrappers, twenty-eight pair draw-

ers, two flannel bed-gowns, twelve hospital shirts, two

bars Castile soap, ten yards red flannel, fifteen rolls

linen bandages, one box pins, needles, and thread, lot

of lint, inventoried at four hundred and four dollars

and ninety-nine cents.

At the session of the Legislature in June, 1862, a

law was passed giving a bounty by the State of fifty

dollars to each volunteer, and also authorizing the

towns to pay bounties, and lay taxes to pay them or

issue bonds for the purpose. Tlie county was in great

excitement and alarm about this time. McClellan

had marshaled a heavy force and advanced towards

Richmond, but was compelled to make a masterly

strategic retreat. Under these circumstances a re-

newed effort was made to raise recruits. Governor
Buckingham went through the State and addressed

pul)lic meetings, urging tlie people to volunteer, a.s-

suring them that if tlie towns should furnish more
than their quotas that the excess should be applied

on subsecjuent calls. Under these circumstances, Mr.

James Q. Rice, who had been the principal of the

Goshen Academy for eleven years, procured enlisting

orders, and engaged vigorously in procuring volun-

teers.

At a town-meeting held on the 31st of July, 1862,

it was

*' Voteftf That t)io seloctmoii aro liercby nuthurlzed and directed to draw
an order on the treajturer of the town Tor the Hiini of one hundred dol-

lar* In favor of ouch and every iKin-t-oniniiiuioni'tl iiftlcer, musician, and
private who resided in this town, and haw enlistod (»r who may enllHt ho-

twuoa the 10th day uf July and the '20th day uf August, 18G2, in any
regiment of volunteers hehiK niiHeil in this State under the recent call

of the Presi<ient of tlie United States. Proritled, That each non-t-oni-

missionod officer, musician, and private, before he shall U'conie entitled

to tlie above l)ounty,Hliull procure a certitlcuto from the officer coDimand-
Ing the regiment into which lie has enlisteil that he has been accepted
ami sworn Into the servic e uf the Unlteii States." A tax wiw laid, and the
sum of four tliuusand six hundred dollars was cidlecteil within sixty

days and paiil to the soldiers.

Mr. Rice was very succassful in obtaining recruits,

80 that by the iruh of August he had enlisted forty-five

28

volunteers, a large proportion of them being his former

pupils. The above number not being sufficient for a

company, they united with the Torrington recruits,

which, when united, made a company of one hundred

and two. On the morning of August 21st, Mr. Rice,

with the men he had enlisted, assembled near the

Centre meeting-house, and, after a few short addresses,

proceeded to the head of North Street (accompanied

by many of their friends) in Litchfield, where they

were joined by their future comrades from Torring-

ton ; thence, united, marched to the court-house,

where refreshments were provided by the citizens of

Litchfield, and then proceeded to Camp Button, east

of Litchfield hill, where they remained until their de-

parture for the seat of war, which was on the 15th of

September, 1862. In the afternoon of the day that

the Goshen recruits left for Litchfield, those that had

been recruited in Kent, Sharon, Cornwall, Salisbury,

and Canaan met at Goshen Centre to the number of

three or four hundred, where they were supplied with

a substantial lunch by the Goshen people; thence

proceeded to Camp Button. The quotas of the towns

had not been particularly specified at this time, but

subsequently it was ascertained that the quota of

Goshen was but sixteen to satisfy all calls to this date,

so that Goshen was largely in excess. AViiile the

regiment wtis at Camp Button, Mr. Rice wa.s cho.sen

captain of Company 0, William McK. Rice, first ser-

geant; James P McCabe, third sergeant; Homer W.
Griswold, George W. Newcomb, Frederick A. Luca.s,

corporals ; and George B. Bentley, wagoner. Freder-

ick A. Cook, who had recruited a number of jnen in

the adjoining towns, was chosen first lieutenant of

Company B, and Moses Cook, Jr., was chosen ser-

geant of Company 15. On the evening of September

(ith, a fine army regulation sword was presented to

Capt. Rice liy his friends in Goshen, in the jiresence of

a goodly number of the citizens, in the vestry of the

Centre church. On receiving it, Capt. Rice made a

very appropriate and patriotic response, in which he

pledged himself that he would take it and wear it,

and return with it or on it ; the latter he heroically

redeemed.

In April, 1861, the President called on the States

to furnish seventy-five tlii)U.'<und volunteers for three

months, the quota of Connecticut being seven hun-

dred and eighty. In May, 1861, the President made

another call on the •States for five hundred thousand

men for three years, the tpiota of Connecticut being

thirteen thousand ami fifty-.seven ; in July, 1862, a

further call for three liuiidri'd tlinusand three years'

men, and three hundred Uiousand nine months' men.

The quota of Connecticut in each of these calls was

seven thousand one hundred and forty-five ; total,

fourteen thousatid two hundred and ninety. The
(|Uotas under the foregoitig calls were assigfied to

eacli town in the State in proportion to their military

rolls tnaile out by the Stttte selectfiiefi, and under

State authority. But in .<)ubsc<]ucnt calls the quotas
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were assigned in rolls made out by an enrolling officer

in each town appointed under authority of the United

States government, and the State divided into four

districts, corresponding to our Congressional districts,

and these into sub-districts, in most cases embracing

a single town. Any surplus that had been furnished

by any district was deducted from the quota of the

district, but not from the particular sub-district or

towns that had produced said surplus, so that the

large excess that had been furnished by the town of

Goshen did not avail her on subsequent calls as we
had good reason to expect.

In December, 1863, a number of persons who were

enrolled and liable to draft associated together and

raised funds sufficient to procure volunteers or hire

substitutes to fill the quota of the town and relieve

themselves from draft. Under this arrangement the

following persons enlisted and were paid the sums

annexed to their names : Newton T. Abbott, seventy-

five dollars; James Mooney, seventy-five dollars;

John Quin, fifty dollars; James Quin, fifty dollars;

James Palmer, fifty dollars ; Marccllus .1. .Judd, forty-

five dollars ; Wolcott Little, forty-five dollars ; Timo-

thy Maher, forty-five dollars; James Hicks, forty-five

dollars; William E. Albin, Charles H. Albin, Her-

bert D. Hoxley, David Treadwell, Alfred Saunders,

Samuel Hall, Jerome B. Ray ; these last seven were

paid four hundred and ninety-five dollars, being dis-

tributed among them, in the whole, nine hundred and

seventy-five dollars. The twelve first named were

recruits in the Second Connecticut Heavy Artillery,

and the four last named joined the Twenty-ninth

Colored Regiment. Nelson Lawton entered the navy

about this time. This terminated the enlistments

from this town.

In February, 1864, the President called for five

hundred thousand more men for three years. The

quota of Connecticut under the new enrollment was

seven thousand nine hundred and nineteen. John

Quain, Thomas McCowen, and George McCaul were

drafted under this call, but absconded to parts un-

known, and did not return until the close of the war.

Efforts were persevered in to make the excess of vol-

unteers in this town available, but without effect. In

August, 1864, the town appointed a committee to go

to Hartford to consult with the Governor or other

State officers, but the committee reported that there

was no remedy short of an act of Congress. In Octo-

ber, 1864, the town

"Foted, That the selectmen of Goshen confer with the selectmen of

other towns which have furnished an excess of volunteers and memo-

rialize Congress, or take some other measures to obtain justice."

In January, 1865, a convention of selectmen from

the towns which had furnished an excess of volun-

teers was held in Hartford, and such measures were

adopted as induced Congress, then in session, to pass

an act of relief, but too late to be of service to us, as

no more men were needed.

By an act of Congress it was provided that any

person being drafted might commute by paying
three hundred dollars or furnishing a substitute. In
August, 1863, William Davis, Frederick E. Hurlburt,

Andrew Bowns, Robert Palmer, and Warren Wilcox
were drafted, and furnished substitutes at a cost of

three hundred dollars each.

In June, 1864, the Legislature passed an act that

all who should volunteer or furnish a substitute for

three years or during the war should be paid a bounty

of three hundred dollars by the State, and at the

same time prohibited the town from offering bounties

or laying taxes for the purpose. Notwithstanding the

prohibition, at a town-meeting held on the 15th of

August, 1864, it was

"Voted, Tliat this town will pay to each person who haa procured or

shall procure an acceptable subst'tute for three years or during the war

as part of the quota of tliis town, under tlie last call of the President of

the United States for five hundred thousand volunteers for the military

service, and to each volunteer as a part of said quota for the same period

under said call, and to each person wlio may be drafted and held to ser-

vice as a part of said quota under said call, tlie sum of three hundred \

dollars, to be paid to them in the order in whicli they shall have pro-

cured such substitute or volunteer, or iiave been drafted and held to ser-

vice as aforesaid till such quot<L be filled; and when such substitute or

volunteer or drafted man shall have been duly accepted and mustered

into the army or navy as part of said quota.

" Also the sum of one hundred and fifty dollars shall be paid to each

of those who have been drafted and have provided substitutes which

have been accredited to this town since the 1st of August, 1863. And
the selectmen of the town are hereby directed to draw an order on the

town treasurer for the payment thereof. Provided, however, that no

greater sum shall be paid on account of such substitute than the actual

cost of obtaining the same over and above what is paid by the State."

At the session of the Legislature in June, 1865, an

act was passed confirming the votes and doings of

towns in relation to bounties that were passed con-

trary to law, and the selectmen of Goshen issued

orders on the town treasurer, dated Sept. 18, 1865, to

the following-named persons

:

Willard E. Gaylord 8300
Moses W. Gray 300
Benjamin F. Lamphire 300
Joseph C. Lamphire 300

Darius D. Thomson 300

Henry S. Wooster 300

Frederic Lyman 30O

Victory C. Hart 300

Thomas W. Griswold 300

George G. Crandal 300
William D. Whiting 300

Alvin B. Dickinson 300

William T. Carr 300

Courtland \V. Bentley 300

Austin Allyn, Jr 300

Isajic W. Brook 300

Andrew Bowns 150

William F. Davis 160

Frederic E. Hurlburt 160
Robert Palmer 150

Warrin N. Wilcox 150

At the annual town-meeting held Oct. 2, 1865, it

was

"Voted, That the treasurer of the town is hereby instructed not to pay

or indorse the town orders dated on or about the 18th of September, 1865,

in favor of the following-named persons for the amouutset opposite their

names until an appropriation shall be made by the town for that pur-

pose and the money collected by tax, viii." The names above are re-

cited in the vote.

The following-named persons furnished substitutes

previous to the draft of 1864, with the amount paid

by each exclusive of the State bounty

:
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Willaiil E. Gaylord $800
Moses W. Gray 850
Victory C. Hart 600
Benjaniin F. Laniphin 925
Joseph C. Lampliin 925
Frederic Lymau 550
Darius D. Tli.imson 940
Henry S. Wooster 900
Austin Allyn, Jr 950
Isaac \V. Broolc 650
Courtlanci W, Beutlev 960
William T. CalT .'. 940
Thomas W. Griswold 900
George G. Ciandell 940

$11,620

Drafted and furnished substitutes to fiH quota in

1864:

Hosea Crandal, for one year $750
Alvin B. Dickinson, for three years IICO
Lyman Hall, for one year 900
"William D. Whiting, three years (not entitled to

State bounty) 1100

$3910

Names of those who procured substitutes after the

quota of 1864 was filled, iu anticipation of another

draft which did not occur

:

Henry 0. Beach $325
Wokolt Pnnnell 360
James W. Babcock 345
Abraham Beach 325
Truman F. Clark 325
Orion J. Hallock 350
Stephen Ilurd 326
William D. Johnson 350
George 0. Johnson 325
Benjamin F. Lanton 350
George W. Lamphln 326
Enos B. I'ratt 3ib
Alson Sanford 326

$4366

As there were a number of Connecticut regiments

stationed in and about Hilton Head, it was reported

that they were in want of vegetables, and it was pro-

posed to send them a vessel-load. Accordingly, a vessel

was chartered and loaded at Bridgeport in season to

be presented to the soldiers at or before Christmas,

1863; there was sent from (Joshen, December 12th,

thirty-two barrels, ten boxes, and one tub filled with

vegetables, cheese, and butter, estimated at one hun-

dred and seventy-eight dollars and fifty cents.

In January, 1863, the Lodge Soldiers' Aid Society

sent to the Nineteenth Regiment, stationed at Alex-

andria, Va., one box, contents estimated at fifty-five

dollars and forty cents ; also one box sent to the Sani-

tary Commission, valued at sixty-six dollars. The
Ladies' Soldiers' Aid Society after this time expended

their efforts principally in work, making up articles

furnished by the State society. The Christian Com-
mission commenced its operations about this time, and
collections were made, by the young ladies getting

up tableaux, singing concerts, and contributions of

monthly prayer-meetings, for the soldiers, amounting

to four hundred and twenty-nine dollars and thirty-

nine cents.

Adams, William I,., onl. in Co. C, lOlh Rcgt., July 31, 18G2; dl<ch. >tth*

explrftUoii of the lime of onllfllmoiit.

Adams, Cliarlua G.. enl. In Co. C, 19th Regt., Aug, 6, 1862; chosen curp,

;

had his leg broken by the timbers of a rallromi wlille pngiigeil in de-

stroying It; discli. at the explratlou of time of enllltlnent.

Adams, Lyntan A,, onl. In Co. A, 1st Regt. Cav., Not. 2, 1H61 ; pro. to flnt

•orgeant ; discli. with the rogluient.

Albin, William E., enl. as recruit in Co. C, 2d Conn. Heavy Art., Jan. 2

1864; disch. wilii the regiment.

Albin, Charles H., enl. as recruit in Co C, 2d Conn, Heavy Art., Jan. 2,

1864 ; disch. with the regiment.

Abbott, Newton T., enl. as recruit iu Co. A, 2d Conn. Heavy Art., Jan. 6,

1864 ; disch. Jan. 16, 1866.

Allyn, Avery M., enl. in Co. C, 19th Eegt., Aug. 7, 1862; disch. with the

regiment with impaired health.

Brady, Joseph P., enl. in Co. A, 18th Kegt., Dec. 22, 1861 ; re-enl. as vet-

eran Feb. 8, 1S04.

BuUer, George W., enl. in Co. C, 13th Kegt., Nov. 27, 1801 ; disch. for

disability March 11, 1863.

Bierce, Joseph D., enl. in Co. B, 19th Regt., Aug. 11, 1862; disch. with

the regiment.

Bentley, George D., enlisted in the 1st Regt. Cav., Co. A, Nov. 2, 1861

;

chosen corporal; disch. for disability March 16,1862; enl. the second

time in the 19th Regt. ; chosen wagoner ; disch. at the expiration of

time of enlistment.

Bartliolomew, Cyrus, enl. in Co. C, 19th Regt., Aug. 6, 1862; wounded in

battle at Cold Harbor June 1, 1864; killed iu battle of Cedar Creelc

Oct. 19, 1 8U4 ; buried iu Goshen, Nov. 17. 1864, aged twenty-three

years.

Beach, William H., enl. in Co. C, 19th Kegt., Aug. 11, 1862 ; made cor-

polal 1864; killed in battle near Winchester, Va., Sept. 19, 1864;

buried in Goshen Oct. 1, 1S64, aged twenty-three yearB.

Beach, Zopher, enl. in Co. C, 191h Regt., Aug. 7, 18G2; discli. with the

regiment

Beach, Darius C, enl. in Co. C, 19th Regt., Aug. 14, 1862; chosen corpo-

ral; disch. with the regiment.

Bentley, Francis J., enl. in Co. I, 4th Regt, May 23, 1861 ; disch. for dis-

ability Dec. 16, 1861.

Bruce, John, enl. as recruit In Co. A, 6th Regt, Dec. 24, 1863.

Barnum, Charles A., enl. in Co. E, 7th Regt, Sept 17, 1861; disch. at ex-

piration of time of enlistment.

Becker, Robert T., onl. iu Co. E, 7th Begt, Sept. 7, 1861 ; diech. with the

regiment in 1;<G4.

Colby, George It., enl. in 19tli Regt., Co. K, Aug. 4. 1862 ; taken sick with

chronic diarrluea; in hospitjil at Alexandria some time; trane. to

hospital at Now Haven, where he remained until bis discharge iu

May 18, 1865.

Colby, Henry, enl. in 19th Regt., Co. K, Aug. 4, 1862 ; wounded in his

hand at battle of Colli llartior June 1, 1864 ; tnins. to Portsmouth

General Hospital, Rhode Island; sutmetiueully hail hb hauil ampu-
tated, auil dicHl In said hospital Juno 17, 1864, aged twenty-two years.

Cook, Fre<lorlc A., enl. In Co. I, 4lh Regt. May 2:i, 1861 ; disch. for disa-

bility Sept. 23, I.S61
; iu July, 1H62, priH-iired enlisting orders and re-

cruited jmrt i>f a company in the aiijoiniug towns; mustered Into the

irnli Uegl., Aug. 16, 1862, and ap|iointod flnt lieutenant of Co. B;
res. June 5, 18tU.

Cook,Moses, Jr, eul.ln 19th Regt, Co. B, Aug. 11,1862; cliuaeDsergeanl;

died iu camp at Alexandria, Va., April 18th, and burled In GcahoD

April 26, 1863, aged twenty-one year*.

Curtis, George W., onl. In Co. C, IVIli Regt, Aug. 12, 1862; dijch. with

the regiment.

Curtis, DuviJ B., enl. In Co. C, 19th Regt, Aug. 12, 18«2 ; dlech. with the

regiment

Downs, Gi^orgo I'., enl. In Co. C, 13th Regt., Nov. 24, 1861 ; died at

Sept. 13, 186.1, ag«.«l ycani.

Davis, Calvin L., enl. in Co. C, I9lh Kegt, Sept 3, 18G2 ; choaen conioral

;

sergeant
;
pro. to color-sergeulit and second lieutenant; woundoil in

the shoulder at the bailie near Winchester Oct 19, 1864; disch.

with the regiment

Eldrldge. Seymour II., enl. In Co. C, 10th Regt., Aug. IS, 1862
;
pro. cor-

poral ; he was an Invalid for some time In IS&4, but recovered and

returned to his regluient; discb. with his rogluient

Fanning, Edward it., enl. Iu the Htll Regt, Co. C, tjct 26, 1861 ; died at

Aug. 12, 1801, ugiHl .

rauuliig, John, enl. in the uth Regt., Oo. F, Oct 12, 1861 ; died at New
Orleans Nov. 13, 1863, aged twenty-eight yeara.

Fun], Henry C, enl. iu the Uth Regt., Cu. D, Nov. 14, 1863 ; diad at •••

Jan. 17. I8C2, aged years.

Ford, William N., enl. In the I Itli Regt, Co. D, Nov. 12. 1861 ; diaoh. and

entered the U. S. Army, Oct 27, 1862. (SuppuMid to be dead.)

rrlli, Henry, enl. In the 7lh Kegt.. Co. II, Sept 7, 1861 ; diKli. at expira-

tion of lime of enlistment

Gregory, Charles, ml. iu the I8lh Regt, Co. K, July M, 1863 ; diaoh. with

the regiment
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Griswold, Homer W., enl. in Co. C, 10th Regt., Aug. 2, 1862; chosen cor-

poral
;
pro. to sergeant, anil second lieutenant Feb. 4, 1865; to first

lieutenant, March 2, ISOS; declined commission; revoked March 31,

1865 ; disch. with tlie regiment.

Griswold, Robert, enl. in Co. C, ISlth Kegt., Aug. 1, 1862; disch. with his

regiment.

Huxley, Matthew H., enl. in the I'.lth Kegt , Co. C, Aug. 4, 1862 ; chosen

sergeant : died, after along sickness, at Alexandria, Va., Jan. 28, 1864

;

buried in Goshen with Masonic honora Feb. 6, 1804, aged twenty-

three years.

McHuxley, Asahel, the resident physician of Goshen and father of the

above, while at Alexandria attending upon his sick son, died in-

stantly at the dinner-table, of heart-disease, Jan. 5, 18G4; buried in

Goshen Jan. 14, 18C4, aged fifty-eight years.

Huxley, Edward C, enl. in the 19th Kegt., Co. C, Aug. 11, 1862 ;
pro. to

quartermaster-sergeant, April, 1862; to second lieutenant February,

1864 ; to first lie\itenant March 31, 1864 ; actingbrigadc quartermaster

the latter part of the time; discb. Aug. 18, 1808.

Harold, William, enl. in the 19tli Regt., Co. 0, July 28, 1862; died at

Alexandria, Va., Fel>. 20, and buried in Goshen March 12, 1863,

aged twenty years.

Hunter, Samuel, enl. in the 19th Kegt., Co. C, Aug. 2, 1862
;
disch. with

liis regiment.

Hicks, .lames, enl. in the 13th Kegt., Co. C, Nov. 27, 1861 ;
disch. for dis-

ability March 12, 1882 ; enl. second time as reciuit in 2d Heavy Art.

Jan. 1, 1864; disch. with the regiment.

Huxley, Hubert D., enl. as recruit in 2d Heavy Art., Co. A, Jan. 1, 1864;

discb. with the regiment.

Huntley, Frank, enl. as recruit in the 1st Regt. Cav., April 11, 1863;

discb. with the regiment.

Hall, Samuel, enl. in the 2'.ltb Regt. (colored), Dec. 31,186:S, in Co. I.

Ives, Henry U., enl. in the 19th Regt., Co. C, Aug. 7, 1862; disch. with

the regiment.

Judd, Marcellus J., enl. as recruit in the 19th Regt., Co. A, Jan. 2, 181)4
;

Mr. Judd being a very large, llesliy man, no clothes could be found

to fit him, and in consequence he was not required to parade, but

rendered himself useful by working at his trade (shoeraaUing)

;

disch. with the regiment.

Kimberly, Daniel, enl. in the 7tb Regt., Co. E, Sept. 7, 1861 ; re-enl. as

veteran Dec. 22, 1803; was wounded in the face, neck, and leg at

Bermuda Hundred May 2, 1864; subsequently shot in the knee

while in camp ; died of his wounds, after five weeks' suffering, in Mc-

Clellan Hospital, Fortress Monroe, June, 1864, aged twenty-flve

years, leaving a wife and two children.

Lucas, Frederic A., enl. in the 19th Regt., Co. C, Aug. 8, 1862 ; chosen cor-

poral ;
pro. sergeant March, 1864; to first sergeant April 6, 1864; to

second lieutenant Oct. 8, 1864; wounded in the thigh by a minie

ball at the battle of Cedar Creek Sept. 19, 1864; disch. with the

regiment.

Lyman, Daniel E.. enl. in the 19th Regt, Co. C, Aug. 11, 1862 ;
died at

Alexandria, Va., November 2, and buried in Goshen Nov. 7, 1862,

aged eighteen years.

Little, Wolcott, enl. as recruit in the 19th Regt., Co. C, Jan. 6, 1864;

disch. with the regiment.

Lawton, Nelson, entered the navy in 1863; subsequently discharged.

Mayo, Henry, enl. in the 13th Regt., Co. I, Jan. 11, 1862 ; disch. for disa-

bility May 20, 1862.

Miner, Orson M., enl. in the lUth Regt., Co. C, Aug. 11, 1862
;
killed by a

sharpshooter near Petersburg, Va., June 22, 1864, aged twenty-nine

years.

Miner, Avery F., enl. in the 19th Regt., Co. C, Aug. 7, 1862 ;
pro. to cor-

poral and sergeant; disch. with the regiment.

Marvin, Henry E., euT. in the 13th Regt., Co. C ; chosen corporal Nov. 27,

1861 ; disch. for disability May 12, 1863.

Morris, Michael, enl. in the 13th Regt., Co. C. Dec. 30, 1861; re-enl. as

veteran Feb. 8, 1864; still in the service April 1, 1866.

Mooney, James, enl. as recruit in 2d Heavy Art. Regt., Co. E, Jan. 5,

1864; wounded in battle at Cold Harbor June 1, 1864, and died the

next day, aged twenty years.

Mayher, Timothy, enl. as recruit in the 2d Regt. Heavy Art., Co. C, Jan.

2, 1864; discb. with the regiment.

McCabe, James P., enl. in the 19th Regt., Co. C, Aug. 31, 1862 ; chosen

sergeant ;
pro. to first lieutenant, Co. K, Feb. 6, 1864 ; was wounded

in battle near Winchester, Va., Sept. 17, 1864 ; arrived at his home

in Goshen in a feeble state on the evening of October 1st, and died of

bis wounds on the morning of the 3d, and buried on the 5th with

Masonic honors, aged forty years, leaving a wife and five children.

McCabe, Peter, enl. in the 11th Regt., Co. B, Oct. 25, 1861 ; died at Roa-

noke Island March 12, 1862, aged twenty-six years.

McElbone, Patrick, enl. in the 4th Kegt., Co. I, May 23, 1861 : disch. at

the expiration of his term of enlistment May 23, 1864.

Newcomb, George W., enl. in the 19th Regt., Co. C, Aug. 4,1861 ; chosen

corporal, and pro. to fii-st sergeant March, 1865 ; disch. with the regi-

ment.

Nichols, Carlton N., cnl. in the 19th Regt., Co. C, July 31, 1862; disch.

for disability April 29, 1S63.

Nickerson, Uriah, enl. in the 7th Regt., Co. E, Sept. 7, 1861 ; re-enl. as

veteran Dec. 22, 1863 ; disch. at the expiration of time of service.

Pendleton, Theodore, cnl. in the 19th Regt., Co. C, Aug. 4, 1862; pro. to

quartermaster-sergeant ; disch. with the regiment.

Pierce, Henry D., enl. in the 19th Regt., Co. C.July 20, 1862; disch. with

the regiment.

Prindle, Benjamin H., enl. in the 13th Regt., Co. C, Nov. 27,1861 ; disch.

Oct. 17, 1862.

Porter, Cliarles A., enl. in the 4th Regt., Co. I, May 23, 1861 : chosen cor-

poral ; disch. at the expiration of time of enlistment May 23, 1864.

Patron, Charles, enl. as recruit in the 1st Regt. Heavy Art., Co. I, April

12,1802; re-enl. as veteran April 19, 1864; disch. with the regi-

ment.

Palmer, James M., enl. as recruit in the 2d Regt. Heavy Art., Co. G, Jan.

1, 1864; wounded in battle of Cedar Creek, Va., Oct. 19, 1864, and

died in field hospital the following night, aged years, leaving

a wife and three children.

Quin, John, enl. as recruit in the 2d Regt. Heavy Art., Co. C, Jan. 2, 1864

;

discb. with the regiment.

Quin, James P., enl. as recruit in the 2d Regt. Heavy Art., Co. C, Jan. 2,

1S64; disch. with the regiment.

Rendus, Gerrit, enl. in the 7th Regt., Co. E, Sept. 7, 1861 ; disch. at the

expiration of the time of enlistment. He was among those sufferers

confined at Andersonville.

Richmond, Edward S., enl. in the 13th Regt., Co. I, Jan. 11, 1862 ; killed

by an explosion on the Opelousas Railroad, near New Orleans, Nov.

7, 1862, aged twenty years; his body was so mutilated that no part

of it was ever identified.

Robinson, Williim T., enl. in the 19th Regt., Co. C, Aug. 8, 1862; died at

Alexandria, Va., Jan. 16, and buried in Goshen Jan. 26, 1863, aged

thirty-eight years, leaving a wife and three children.

Robinson, James, enlisted in the 13th Regt., Co. I, Jan. 11,1862; sub-

sequently re-enl. in a New York regiment and died of typhus fever

at Windmill Point, Va., Jan. 7, 1803, aged twenty-one years.

Rice, James Q , enl. in the 19tb Regt., Co. C, July 2, 1862; chosen cap-

tain ; pro. to major in the 2d Regt. Heavy Art., Feb. 17, 1864; killed

in battle near Winchester, Va., Sept. 17, 1864, and buried in Goshen

with Masonic honors, Oct. 17, 1864, aged forty-one years, leaving

a wife and three children.

Rice, William McK., enl. in the 19th Regt., Co. C, Aug. 31, 1862; chosen

sergeant ; pro. to first lieutenant Feb. 6, 1864 ; died, after a linger-

ing illness, at his sister's in Washington Hill, Orange Co., N. Y.,Nov.

8, 1864, aged twenty-four years.

Reddy, Owen, enl. in the 19th Regt. Co. C, Aug. 4, 1862; disch. for disa-

bility May 29, 1863.

Ray, Jerome B.. enl. in the 29th (Colored) Regt., Co. I, Dec. 31, 1863.

Richmond, Seeley, enl. in the 19tb Regt., Co. C, Aug. 22, 1862; had his

wrist broken by being run against by an ofiicer's horse ; disch. with

the regiment.

Sperry, Albert, enl. in the 4th Regt, Co. I, May 3, 1861 ; taken prisoner

by the rebels in camp hospital, near Richmond, in 1862 ; was ex-

changed in a few days; disch. May 23, 1864.

Sperry, George W., enl. in the 13th Regt, Co. C, Nov. 27, 1861 ; chosen

corporal ; re-enl. as veteran Feb. 8, 1864; disch. in April, 1866.

Sherry, Joseph, enl. in the 19th Regt., Co. C, Aug. 31, 1862; chosen cor-

poral
;
pro. to sergeant ; wounded in the arm, just above the elbow,

by a rifle-ball in the battle near Winchester, Va., Oct. 19, 1864 ; the

only person materially disabled that enlisted from Goshen ; disch.

with the regiment.

Soudant, Charles J., enl. in the 19th Regt., Co. C, Aug. 31, 1862; subse-

quently joined the regimental band, and disch. May 16, 1865.

Stoddard, Henry A., enl. in the 19th Regt, (3o. C, Aug. 2, 1862; disch. for

disability Dec. 16, 1862.

Stewart, George C, enl. in the 19th Regt, (3o. C, Aug. 4, 1862; disch.

with the regiment.

Stewart, John H., enl. in the 19th Regt, Co. C, Aug. 6, 1862; died at

Alexandria, Va., Jan. 3, 1863; buried in Goshen Jan. 11, 1863, aged

sixteen years.



GOSHEN. 353

stone, Royal, enl. in the 19th Regiment, Co. C, Aug. 5, 1862 ; disch. with

the regiment.

Saunders, Alfred, enl. in the 20th (Colored) Regt., Dec. 28, 1863.

Vail, Henry L., enl. in the I'.tth Regt., Co. C, Aug. 17, 1862 ; chosen cor-

poral; wounded in battle of Cedar Creek Oct. 19, 18G4, a musket-

ball passing through liis shoulder and breast; died at Taylor Hos-

pital Nov. 3, 1864, buried in Cornwall Nov. 20, 1864, aged twenty-

three years.

Treadwell, David D, enl. in the 29th (Colored) Regt., Dec. 12, 1863, in

Co. D.

Wadhams, Uri, enl. in the 19th Regt., Co. C, Aug. 4, 1862 ; chosen corpo-

ral ; died at Alexandria, Va., Sept. 11, 1863 ; buried in Goshen Oct.

4, 1863, aged twenty-three years.

Wadhams, William U., enl. in the 19th Kegt., Co. C, Aug. 7, 1862 ; disch.

with the regiment.

Wadhams, Willard N., enl. in the 19th Regt., Co. C, Aug. 6, 1862 ; chosen

corporal; died at Selestia Hospital, Philadelphia; buried in hospital

burying-ground. No. 121 , aged twenty-one years.

Way, Nelson H., enl. in the Ist Regt. Cav., A, Nov. 16, 1861 ; disch. at

the expiration uf time of enlistment.

Wooster, James N., enl. in the 7tli Regt., Co. E, Sept. 7, 1861 ; re-enl. as

veteran Dec. 22, 1863, killed in battle at Bernmda Hundred Jan.

22, 1864, aged twenty years.

Wadhams, Frank E., enl. in the l:lth Regt., Co. C, Dec. 17, 1801; re-enl.

as veteran, Feb. 8, 1864 ; taken sick with swamp fever while on the

Red River expedition ; sent to New Orleans Hospital
;
joined his

regiment; attacked with pneumonia and reduced very low ; came

home on a thirty days' furlough in a very feeble state; went to New
Haven Hospital, where he remained until JVpril, 1865, when he again

joined bis regiment in North Carolina ; was subseijuently stationed

at Augusta, .\tliens, and Atlanta ; disch. in April, 1866.

Wadhams, Frederic L., enl. in the 13tli Regt., Co. I, Jan. 11,1862; taken

prisoner by the rebels at the battle of Winchester; made his escape

in a siiort time, and joined his com[)any again ; disch. at the expira-

tion of time of enlistment Jan. 7, lH6d.

Wadhums, Sidney, a resident of Goshen, but at the time of his enlist-

ment a student in the America Instltnte, Dutchess Ct>., N. Y., enl.

in the 48th Regt. N. Y. S. V., as a private under Col. Perry (of Mex-

ican war notoriety), on Sept. 17,1861
;
pro. to lieutenant; was killed

in the assault on Fort Wagner July 18, 1863, aged twenty-seven

years; his remains were not recovered.

Hallock, Dudley T., a native and resident of Goshen, enl. in the 2d N. Y.

Cav., Co. D, and died at Point Lookout ; was buried in Goshen Feb.

14, 1803, aged twenty-five years.

In November, 1861, George D. Bentley, Lyman A. Adams, and Nel-

eoo Way enlisted In the Ist Connecticut Cavalry.

Knliatnrantain 1st Regiment Cavalry S
" recruits 1
** 4th Regiment Infantry 5

Recruits 4tli RcgliJient Infantry 1

Mb " •' 1
Eulislnients in 7th Regiment Infantry 7

8th " " - 1
" 9th " " 1
" lllh " " 8

l.lth " " 13
10th " •• 49

Re<^ruiu in 2d Keglment Heavy Artillery 9

Enlistments in 29th Regiment Infantry 4

Whole number 98
Add two enlisted In Now York Regiment 2

Moking 100
Killed III battle or died of wounds 12
Died of disease 1«
Died by an explosion 1

Whole nnmlier of deaths 29

Whole numlierof enlisted men from Goshen 100
Number of subslllutes furnished previous to draft of

September, 1H64 14

Number uf siibstllutej* by persons after lieliig drafted... 9

Number of sul>sltlutes furnished after draft uf Septem-
ber, 1164 13

Number of pei-noiiH wlnieiillnted second time after b#lng
discharged f.ir disability _ 3

Number of onliMtnieiits OS veterans 7

Whole number of onllstments and sutMtitutes ftirnlahed. 1 KJ

The state of ('i)niic'ctii'tit Iuuh furiiislietl forty-one

thousand nine hundred and eighty-three enlistineiitit,

as appears by the report of the adjutant-general. The
quota of Goshen, according to population, would be

one hundred and twenty-two, so it will be seen that

this town furnished twenty-four more than its pro-

portion. It is a question whether any town in the

State has furnished a greater per cent, of excess than

Goshen.

The amount paid by the town for volunteers in 1862 was S46.37.50
Amount paid by individuals for substitutes 22,4.10.00

Bv L. S. Aid Society, for Sanitary Commission 526.00
Sent to Hilton Head 178.00

By ladies, etc., for Christian Commission 429.00

Whole amount 828,200.50

Of the evils attendant upon a war no adequate es-

timate can be made of the loss of life, impaired health,

the sacrifice of property, and in most cases the de-

moralization of those connected with an army, but

the writer would congratulate his fellow townsmen

that of those who went out from among us to

defend and sustain our and the nation's rights, have

sacrificed their lives honorably or returned to us

without a stain upon their fair characters. That they

should at once resume their former vocations with

alacrity, and particularly the younger portion of

them seem to have advanced in intelligence and

manly bearing, is surely a subject of gratulation.

The compilers of the preceding record have labored

under much embarrassment ; as no one had pre-

tended to make any detailed memoranda of the events

as they transpired, of course have had to resort to

isolated documents and personal inquiries to obtain

the few facts contained in tiie preceding pages.

The following is copied from a document purport-

ing to liave emanated from the war department,

giving the number of men comprising the Union

army, viz.

:

Number uf three months' mea » » 191,085

six " •• 19,"76

nine " " »7,5iM

one year's " 31M,959

two " " 43,113

three " " 1,960,702

four " " l.WO

Total '2,(l88,5ia

Loft the army, alioiit 2,408.103

Died In battle of wounds 96,1189

Died of dIseuM 184,331

onicers killed In battle &,2'2I

Knll>ted men killed in battle 90,868

Total deaths by killing 90,089

Otncers die<I of dln«'nse - 2,321

Knlihtcd men died of disoaae 18'^J>la

Total l'«*,:«l

Whole number of deatha 2»o,4'20

The number of deaths compared with the whole

army is equal to fourteen one-hundredtiis or fourtocu

per cent. The numl)er of dcatlis from the enlisted

men from Goshen, compared with tlic whole number

of enlisted men, is equal to twenty-nine one-hun-

dredths, or twenty-nine per cent. There i» no means

to ascertain the deaths among the substitutes fur-

nished by Goshen.
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BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES.

HENRY NORTON.

Henry Norton was born at Goshen, Nov. 10, 1815.

His father, who died in 1860, was Deacon Lewis M.
Norton, the historian of Goshen. His mother was

Laura Foote, of Canton, Conn. He married Delia

Beaeli, the daughter of John Beach, of Goshen, May
11, 1842. One daughter, Delia Hillhouse Norton,

died at Mount Holyoke Seminary in 1867. He re-

ceived his education principally at Goshen Academy,

giving considerable attention to astronomy and geol-

ogy, and was the first one in Litchfield County to

find with the naked eye tlie planets Mercury and

Uranus; and he first called the attention of the people

of this county to the wonderful marks made on the

rocks by the glaciers in the early ages, which are now
so plainly seen on the tops of our mountains. When
he was twenty years of age he commenced teaching,

and taught eight winters, working on his father's fivrm

summers until he married. Most of his teaching

was in the Winchester Centre and Wolcottville Acad-

emies. He was acting school-visitor twenty years,

between 1841 and 1875, examining the teachers and
visiting the schools.

He was a member of the Legislature in 1852. He
was appointed county surveyor by the County Court

in 1841, and after the death of Judge Burrall he was
appointed by the surveyor-general of Connecticut

deputy State surveyor for Litchfield County, and, be-

sides attending to his farm, he has practiced land sur-

veying for forty years, and is at it still. He also

holds the office of notary public. His grandfather was

Deacon Ebenezer Norton, who put stocks to the guns

manufactured here and used in the Revolutionary

war ; and his great-grandfather was Col. Ebenezer

Norton, one of the original settlers of the town. He
traces his ancestry back to the Lord of Norville, who
came over into England from France with William

the Conqueror in the year 1260, and he was his con-

stable.

From the time of the Norman conquest to the ar-

rival of Thomas Norton in Guilford, Conn., there

were fourteen generations of his ancestors in Eng-

land, and there have been six since. When he was a

small boy his father pointed to a little hollow on the

west side of the road in E Street, telling him that

there was a tradition that a liberty-pole stood there

in the Revolution. So he watched the spot for fifty

years, and in 1875 dug a hole there to erect a centen-

nial monument. He dug out a large load of stones

and pieces of the rum-bottle used when it was erected,

and found the pine wood and bark four and a half

feet below the surface, and preserved the relics. The
pole was eighteen inches in diameter. The Stars and

Stripes waved over the spot at the great centennial

celebration, July 4, 1876, and he was chairman of the

committee on relics that day.

CAPT. WILLARD GAYLORD.

Capt. Willard Gaylord is a lineal descendant of

William Gaillard (or Gaylord), who came from Eng-
land with his family and settled in Dorchester, Mass.,

in 1630. From an old record we quote the following

:

" Between 1639 and 1664 Mr. AVilliam Gaylord, the

earliest settler of that name in Windsor, was elected

a member of the Assembly at forty-one semi-annual

elections, which was one more than any other man
was thus honored in that- town." William Gaylord

died July 20, 1673; his wife died June 20, 1657.

Their children, all of whom were born in England,

were as follows : Elizabeth, married Richard Birge,

William, Samuel, Walter, and John. Walter, third

son of William, was born in England about 1622

;

came with his father to New England in 1630 ; set-

tled in Windsor. He married Mary Stebbins, daugh-

ter of Deacon Edward Stebbins, of Hartford, April

22, J 648; she died June 29, 1657, when he married

Sarah, daughter of William Rockwell, March 22,

1658. Children by first wife,—Joseph, born May 13,

1649; Mary, born March 19, 1651; Joanna, born Feb.

5, 1653, married John Porter; Samuel Benjamin, born

April 12, 1655 ; Isaac, born June 21, 1657. Children

by second wife,—Eliezer, born March 7, 1662 ; Sarah,

born April 13, 1665, married William Phelps, all

born in Windsor.

Joseph (first son of Walter and Mary Stebbins) set-

tled at Farmington, Conn.,—that part which was after-

wards the town of Waterbury, and about 1708 he re-

moved to the town of Durham, Conn.,—where his sons

Joseph and John settled. He married Sarah Stanley,

July 14, 1670. Their children were Sarah, born

1671, married Thomas Judd; Joseph, born April 22,

1673 ; John, born Aug. 21, 1677 ; William, born 1680;

Benjamin, Elizabeth, Mary ; Abigail married James

Williams; Joanna married Robert Royce; Ruth

married Stephen Hicko.\; ; Joseph Gaylord died 1742.

Joseph, first son of Joseph and Sarah Stanley Gay-

lord, married Mary Hickox in 1699. Their children

were Timothy, born Nov. 29, 1706 ; Samuel, born

July 5, 1709 ; Edward, Benjamin, Joseph, Mary,

Thankful, Martha.

Lieut. Timothy, first son of Joseph and Mary
Hickox Gaylord, married Prudence Roys, April 25,

1733; she died Feb. 7, 1746. Their children were

Prudence, born Jan. 31, 1734; Timothy, born May 3,

1735 ; Roys, born July 7, 1737. He married for his

second wife Phebe Wilton, who died in Goshen in

1777. Their children were Titus, born Dec. 24,

1749; Lois, born Dec. 22, 1751, married Samuel

Bishop ; Joel, born May 8, 1755 ; Joseph, born April,

1758. Lieut. Timothy's commission is in the posses-

sion of his grandson, Capt. Allen Gaylord, of New-
bery, Ohio. It is dated March 27, 1757. He was

killed by Indians, near Fort Ann, N. Y., in 1758.

Joseph, third son of Timothy and Phebe Wilton

Gaylord, married Eunice Ives, of Torrington, April

24, 1792. He was a soldier in the Revolutionary war,
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and was in New York when the British took posses-

sion of that city, and was carried out on a blanket,

sick. He was honorably discharged, and during the

latter part of his life received a pension. He was a

farmer by occupation, as were nearly all of his ances-

tors. He died March 25, 1838. His wife died Nov.

3, 1825. Their children were,—Joseph I., born Sept.

1783; Willard, born May 21, 1799; Alletia, born

March 4, 1801.

Joseph I., first son of Joseph and Eunice Ives Gay-

lord, married Clarissa Norton, Nov. 21, 1821. Their

children were Mary, Lorraine, and Frederick. His

second wife was Eliza M. Norton. He was instantly

killed by the roQf of his house, blown off during a

tornado in Goshen, Feb. 10, 1860.

Willard, second son of Joseph and Eunice (Ives)

Gaylord, married Amy Hooker, of Bristol, Conn.,

April 27, 1825. Miss Hooker was a niece of the Rev.

Asahel Hooker, who was settled as pastor of the

church at Goshen in 1791. Their children were Wil-

lard E., born March 26, 1827 ; Charles H., born March

27, 1833.

Willard Eliezer, first son of Willard and Amy
Hooker, married Sarah E. Wooster, May 14, 1851.

Their children are Henry C, born March 30, 1852

;

Amy C, born Feb. 17, 1858.

Charles H., second son of Willard and Mary
Hooker, married Jeannie M. Thompson, of New
Haven, June 10, '1856. Children are William H.,

born Sept. 7, 1862 ; Charles E., born March 13, 1865.

Cajjt. Willard Gaylord, as mentioned above, was

born in Goshen, May 21, 1799, son of Jo.scph and

grandson of Timothy Gaylord, who settled in Goshen

about 1738. He was the purcluiser of an original

right of land, where the family have since resided.

Willard Gaylord received a common-school and aca-

demic education. The business of his life ha.s been

that of a farmer, although he has been called to fill

many responsible positions; has filled nearly all the

town offices, and represented the town in the Legisla-

ture in 1840-41 and 1862.

Mr. Gaylord was one of the original corporators of

the Winsted Savings Bank, and a director for many
years. Was appointed State director of the Iron

Bank at Falls Village, and served as such for several

years; was subsequently ap|)ointed director, which

oflice he now holds. He has held an office in that

bank for more than twenty years.

Politically, Mr. Gaylord was formerly a Whig, and

since the organization of the lieimblican party has

acted with them. During the war of the Kebellion he

took strong grounds in support of the government.

Subsequently the town of Go.shen appointed a com-

mittee, of which Mr. Gaylord was chairman, to write

"Goshen in the Rebellion." Their report is on file

in the office of the town clerk, and is eminently satis-

factory. And now, after an active and industrious life

of more than fourscore years, we fin<l this venerable

pioneer in the enjoyment of good health, with an

erect figure and an elastic step, retaining in a marked
degree the energy and spirit of Capt. Gaylord of forty

years ago.

MOSES LYMAN.-

Moses Lyman the sixth is a lineal descendant, in

the eighth generation, from Richard Lyman, an Eng-

ILshman, who left the parish of Ongar, County of Es-

sex, England, and in the middle of August, 1631,

embarked with his wife and children in the ship

"Lion," and on 4th of November, 1631, landed in

Boston. Richard Lyman's name is on the list of the

original proprietors of Hartford in 1636. He died in

1640, leaving a family of children, one of whom was

named John, born in High Ongar, England, Septem-

ber, 1623 ; came to Boston with his father, married

Dorcas, daughter of John Plumb, of Bradford, Conn.,

and in 1654 settled in Northampton, Mass., where he

resided till his death, Aug. 20, 1690. He was in com-

mand of the Northampton soldiers in the famous

Falls fight, above Deerfield, May 18, 1676. He had

ten children, the fourth of whom was named Moses,

born Feb. 20, 1662, or 1663, and died Feb. 25, 1701.

He had eight children ; three only grew to maturity,

one of whom was Moses.

Moses Lyman is a name widely known in business

circles, and recalls men honored, respected, and be-

loved always. It has been borne by the eldest son

of this family through eight successive generations.

Capt. Moses, the second bearing the name, was born

Feb. 27, 1689 ; married Mindwell Sheldon, Dec. 13,

1712, and died March 24, 1762, aged seventy-three

years. He was the only son who left issue, and be-

came thus the ancestor of a very numerous |)osterity.

He was the great-grandson of Richard. He had a

family often children, the eldest of whom was Moses

the tiiird, born Oct. 2, 1713, and died Jan 6, 1768.

He married Sarah Hayden, or Heighton, of Windsor,

Conn., March 24, 1742.

Deacon Lyman settled in Goshen in the autumn of

1739, being one of the earliest inhabitants of the

place. He was the ancestor of a distinguished and

noble lineage, an honor to the name and the whole

Lyman family. Mr. and Mrs. Lyman were charac-

terized as religious, exemplary, industrious, econom-

ical, and liberal to the pour. He wius remarkable for

his endeavors to make peace and reconcile difficulties
;

of sound judgment, and for many years a magistrate,

he exercised a controlling influence in the town. He
was a representative of the town in the General

Assembly fourteen times. Of Deacon Lyman it was

said he was a " father to the poor, eyes to the blind,

and feet to the lame," relieving tlie fatherles.'* and

helple-ss, and making the widow's heart to sing for

joy. He had seven children, the eldest of whom was

Moses the fourth, born March 20, 1743, marrieil Ruth,

daughter of William Collins, of (iuilford. Conn. She

died June 8, 1775, and he married for his second

wife the widow of Jesse Judd, of Litchfield, Conn.,
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daughter of Capt. Jonathan Buel, of Goshen. Mr.

Lyman was a farmer, and occupied the homestead of

his father through life. In the militia Mr. Lyman
held in succession every grade of office from that of

corporal to colonel, and was known as Col. Lyman.

During the Revolutionary war he was frequently in

the army, sometimes by draft, sometimes as a volun-

teer on sudden alarms. Col. Lyman was commander

of a body of troops stationed, on the night of the 7th

of October, 1777, to watch the movements of Bur-

goyne's army, and was the first to inform Gen. Gates,

on the morning of the 8th, that they had deserted

their camp. In consideration of his important ser-

vices he was honored with the duty of conveying to

Gen. Washington personally the first intelligence of

the battle of Saratoga and the surrender of the British

under Gen. Burgoyne. He was also commander of

the guard over the illustrious and gallant captive, Maj.

Andre, at and previous to the time of his execution.

In civil life Col. Lyman sustained many offices in the

gift of the town. He was a man of strong mind, and

great energy and decision of character, of the strictest

integrity, conscientious in the observance of the Sab-

bath, and of the daily worship of God in his family.

He died Sept. 2it, 1829, aged eighty-seven years.

Moses the fifth, known as Judge Lyman, eldest son

of Col. Lyman and Ruth Collins, was born in Goshen,

Conn., April 16, 1708 ; married Elizabeth Buel,

daughter of Ira and Prudence Buel, of Litchfield,

Conn., Jan. 21, 1796. Judge Lyman had in a re-

markable degree the characteristics of his father and

ancestors,—a man of commanding influence and

foremost standing in society, a thorough and success-

ful business man, and a firm supporter of the gospel.

He engaged extensively in commercial pursuits, and

through a long course of years successively sustained

most if not all the offices in the gift of the town ; was

representative many times in the General Assembly,

and long acted as a civil magistrate. He was a man
of superior mind, polished manners, and distinguished

for politeness. He died May 22, 1844, aged seventy-

seven years. To Judge Moses and Elizabeth (Buel)

Lyman were born only two children,—Lucretia, the

eldest, was born in Goshen, Feb. 13, 1801 ; married to

Caleb Day, Esq., of Catskill, N. Y., Jan. 18, 1826;

she died at the residence of her son, Edward Lyman
Day, in Kent, Ohio, in the autumn of 1876. She was

a noble and attractive woman, inheriting many of the

characteristics of her excellent father.

Their son, Moses, the sixth of the name, was born

in Goshen, Oct. 1, 1810. He partially fitted for col-

lege with Rev. Timothy Cooley, in Granville, Mass.,

and in Goshen Academy, but student-life being neither

congenial to taste nor conducive to health, he chose

mercantile life, and at the age of sixteen years en-

tered the store of Lyman & Porter, successors to M.

& E. Lyman. From that time, to use his own words,

he "took care of himself" Engaged in mercantile

pursuits both in Goshen and West Cornwall ; during

the early days of the Housatonic Railroad through

that valley he did a large and prosperous business.

About 1844, associated with Samuel S. Robbins, of

Salisbury, Lee Canfield, and the Hunts, of Canaan,

he was one of the founders of the Hunts-Lyman Iron

Company, in Canaan. A few years later, relinquishing

mercantile pursuits, he became interested in the manu-
facture of charcoal pig-iron from the celebrated Salis-

bury and Richmond (Mass.) ores, and continued this

during all the after-years of his life. In 1867 he

visited Florida, purchasing lands in Orange County,

a portion of which he developed for fruit culture.

His charming winter home, " Ouoro," surrounded by

lovely lakes and orange-groves now in full bearing,

in the heart of a delightful and rapidly-developing

country, proves that as a pioneer in that section he

anticipated the future wisely and well. This was the

pride and pet of his latter years. Here he spent half

a score of delightful winters, and the impress of his

character is still felt in that community. In 1872 he

was one of the incorporators of the Wheel and Foun-

dry Company of Waverly, N. Y., and continued its

president until the sickness that prostrated him in

1877 removed him from connection with all active

business and the entire outer world. In politics he

has been a Republican since the organization of that

party. He has been called repeatedly to positions of

responsibility and of trust in his native town, but he

had little taste for political life, and was haunted with

no longing for office. His nature scorned the methods

by which place and power are usually acquired, and

he " would none of them." He possessed to a re-

markable degree patriotism undefiled with the scum

of politics. Mr. Lyman was a most dutiful son, an

upright man and public-spirited citizen, combining

integrity and manly virtue with great energy, prompt-

ness, and generosity. In 1833 he united with the

Congregational Church in Goshen, and has always

been one of its most liberal supporters. Christianity

has ever been his ruling principle. All that an affec-

tionate, generous husband and father could do to make

home happy he has done, and his domestic life is a

blessed memory. On the 6th of May, 1834, he mar-

ried Mary Ann, daughter of John Milton and Sally

Porter Holley, of Salisbury, Conn, (see history ofJohn

M. Holley), and to them have been born five children.

Moses, the eldest, and seventh of the name, was born

in Goshen, Aug. 20, 1836. He has been twice married,

first to Ellen Augusta, daughter of Edwin A. and Har-

riet Dexter Douglas, of Mauch Chunk, Pa., Dec. 31,

1863. Their children were Moses, the eldest, and

eighth of the name, born July 17, 1865; Isabel Doug-

las, born March 21, 1867 ; Harriet Dexter, born July

27, 1870 ; she died at her grandfather's in Florida, aged

four years and six months. Mrs. Lyman died in

Goshen, Aug. 17, 1871, aged thirty-two. It may truly

be said of her

"None knew her but to love her.

Few named her but to praise."
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Mr. Lyman married for his second wife Sarah H.,

daughter of Philip S. and Lucy R. Beebe, of Litch-

field, Conn, (see history of the Beebe family), on

March 6, 1873, in Florida. Of their four children

only one is living, Mary Alice, born July 8, 1877.

Mr. Lyman is a graduate of Brown University, Provi-

dence, R. I ; served as first lieutenant iu the Fifteenth

Vermont Volunteers in 1862-63. For a few years he

was engaged in the lumber business, and is now man-

ager of the Cayuta Wheel and Foundry Company, at

Waverly, N. Y. Mary, born Aug. 15, 1839, in Goshen,

Conn., married, June 15, 1865, to Philip Wells, of

Brattleboro', Vt. He died in Amenia, Dutchess Co.,

N. Y., Jan. 28, 1872. On the 15th of August, 1877,

she was again married to Rev. Lyman Phelps, in

Goshen, Conn. They spend the greater part of each

year at Onoro, Florida, in charge of her father's in-

terests there. Alice, born May 15, 1845, married to

Hon. J. T. Sawyer, of Waverly, N. Y., Oct. 24, 1872.

Their only child, Ellen, was born May 12, 1874.

Richard, born in Goshen, June 27, 1848, died Dec.

24, 1851 ; Holley Porter, born in Goshen, Jan. 22,

1855, died December 5th of injuries received by falling

from his horse.

ERASTCS LYMAN.

Eraatus Lyman was a lineal descendant, in the sev-

enth generation, from Richard Lyman, an Englishman,

who left the i)arish of Ongar, county of Essex, Eng-

land, and in the middle of August, 1631, embarked
with his wife and children in tiie ship " Lion," and,

on the 4th of November, 1631, landed in Boston.

Richard Lyman's name is on the list of tiie original

proprietors of Hartford in 1636. He died in 1640,

leaving a family of children, one of whom wa.s named
John, who was born in High Ongar, England, Sep-

tember, 1623 ; came to Boston with his father; mar-

ried Dorcas, daughter of John Plumb, of Branford,

Conn. In 1654 settled in Northampton, Mass., where

he resided until his death, Aug. 20, 16i)0. He was in

command of the Northampton soldiers in tiie famous

Falls fight, above Deerfield, May 18, 1676. He had
ten children, the fourth of wiioni was named Moses,

born Feb. 20, 1662, or 1663, and died Feb. 25, 1701.

He had eight children ; three only grew to maturity,

one of whom was Moses, the .necond, born Feb. 27,

1680, married Mindwell Sheldon, Dec. 13, 1712, and
died March 24, 1762, aged seventy-three years. His
wife died May 23, 1780, aged eighty-eight years.

Moses, the only son who left issue, thus Itecamc the

ancestor of a very numerous posterity. He was the

great-grandson of Richard.

Moses Lynum the second had a family of ten

children, the eldest of whom was Moses the third,

born Oct. 2, 1713, and died Jan. 6, 17(i8. He married

Sarah Hayden, or Hcighton, of Windsor, Conn.,

March 24, 1742. She was born Sept. 17, 1716, and
died in Gosheu, Conn., Aug. 27, 1808, aged ninety-

two years. Mr. Lyman settled in Goshen in the

autumn of 1739, being one of the earliest settlers

there. He was the ancestor of a distinguished and

noble lineage, an honor to the name and the whole

Lyman family. Mr. and Mrs. Lyman were charac-

terized as religious, exemplary, industrious, economi-

cal, and liberal to the poor. He was remarkable for

his endeavors to make peace and reconcile diflficulties.

Of sound judgment, and for many years a magistrate,

he exercised a controlling influence in the town ; he

was a representative fourteen times.

He had seven children, the eldest of whom was

Moses the fourth, born March 20, 1743 ; married Ruth,

daughter of William Collins, of Guilford, Conn. She

died June 8, 1775, and he married for his second

wife the widow of Jesse Judd, of Litchfield, daughter

of Capt. Jonathan Buell, of Goshen. Mr. Lyman
was a farmer, and occupied the homestead of his

father through life. He died Sept. 29, 1839, aged

eighty-seven years, and his wife died Oct. 7, 1835, aged

seventy three.

In the militia Mr. Lyman held in succession every

grade of office from that of corporal to colonel, and

was known as Col. Lyman. During the Revolution-

ary war he was frequently in the army, sometimes by

draft, sometimes as a volunteer on sudden alarms.

Col. Lyman was commander of a body of troops sta-

tioned, on the night of the 7th of October, 1777, to

watch the movements of Gen. Burgoyne's army, and

was the first to inform Gen. Gates, on the morning of

the 8th, that they had deserted their camp. In con-

sideration of his important services he was honored

with the duty of conveying to Gen. Washington per-

sonally the first intelligence of the battle of Saratoga

and the surrender of the British under lien. Bur-

goyne. He was also commander of the guard over

the illu-strious and gallant captive, Maj. Andre, at

and previous to the time of his execution. In civil

life Col. Lyman sustained many otiices in the gill of

his town. He was a man of strong mind and great

energy and decision of character, and of tho strictest

integrity.

He had six children, the fourth and last of whom
by his first marriage was named Erastus, born Nov.

1, 1773. He married .\bigail, daughter of Ej)hraim

Starr, of Goshen, Sept. «, 1803. Both united with

the church Jan. 1, 1832, and resided through life in

Goshen.

Mr. Lyman, like others of the family, was a nmn
of distinguished abilities, energetic, methodical, and

successful in businc-fs, eminently distinguished for his

piety and benevolence, and his deep interest in the

aftairs of the church ami town. In the course of his

life he filled almost all the offices of the church, the

society, and the town. Towards the close of his ac-

tive life he remarked to a friend that he transacted

more business for others than for himself. He was a

friend of the frirn<lle.-*s, the |)rotectorof the widow and

the orphan, and the ready adviser of all who sought
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his counsel. He died Dec. 20, 1854, aged eighty-one.

His wife died Jan. 22, 1855, aged seventy-seven.

Their children were Horatio Nelson, born May 2,

1804; Lucy, born Dec. 19, 1805, married. May 16,

1831, Dr. De Forest, of Watertown, a graduate of Yale

College, 1826. Slie was an exemplary Christian, and

died in the faith, Aug. 3, 1855.

Jane M., born Feb. 7, 1808, united with the church

Aug. 28, 1831, and married, Oct. 4th of the same year,

Alexander H. Holley, of Salisbury, Conn. She died

Sept. 18, 1832, in the peace and serenity of Christian

faith and hope.

Rev. Ephraim, born June 3, 1810, died Oct. 29,

1880, at Minneapolis, Minn. ; William, born Oct. 2,

1812 ; Abigail, born Sept. 4, 1814, died Sept. 21, 1879
;

Erastus, born Nov. 29, 1816, married Abigail Wade

;

Frederick, born Dec. 7, 1819, married, first, Julia,

daughter of Samuel W. and Phebe Gold, second,

Mary Talmadge; Samuel, born July 19,1829, mar-

ried Lydia Cunneer, Oct. 20, 1875.

Erastus Lyman was a man and a Christian of in-

estimable value to the community. Self-made, or

rather made by circumstances incident to a life of bold

business adventure in all parts of this country, with

more than an average amount of natural endowments,

actuated under the pressure and the promptings of an

indomitable purpose, he rose to prominence and an

influence indicative of his character. In him, as a

man, with remarkable physical energy were combined

great mental activity and a strong moral sense. He
became associated with the prominent men of this

country and State in conducting and adjusting im-

portant business matters, and enjoyed a high repu-

tation abroad as a counselor and an executor in finan-

cial affairs. We can point our young men to his

regularity and punctuality at every place where duty

called him ; to his readiness for every good word and

work ; to his promptness in saying or doing whatever

he had to say or do ; and to his ready and cheerful re-

sponse to almost every call of charity, and say to

them, " Go ye and do likewise."

THE WADDAM FAMILY IN ENGLAND.

Sir John Waddam, Knight, was one of the justices

of the Common Pleas or the King's Bench in the

county of Devonshire, and was a native of that county.

He was born at Egge (now Edge),—"so called from

that figure which the hill wherein it stands casteth

itself, in the parish of Branscombe, lying on the sea-

side in the southeastern part thereof." Botli the

house and parish were for a considerable time the

possession and habitation of a family by the name of

Branchescombe, which was of great fame, so much so

that its antiquity runs so far back that it can hardly

be traced to its origin, as asserted by an ancient

author :*

* Pied. Surv. of Dev. in BranBuombe MS.

"The parish of Branscombe was given to the church

of Exeter by Thomas de Branchescombe before the

Norman conquest (1056). Here lived Sir Richard

Branscombe in the days of King Edward, son of Ed-

ward, king of England, a person well read in the laws

of his land, and much employed in the government

of his country, as being high-sheriff thereof for several

years, and also one of the knights of that shire in

Parliament. These lands did Branscombe part with

unto Waddam in the latter end of the reign of King

Edward III." Lyson, in his "Magna Britannia,"!

says in his article under the head of "Knowston,"

that the Manor of Waddam belonged at the time of

the Doomsday survey to an old Saxon by the name of
" Ulf," who held it in demise ever since the time of

Edward the Confessor, a.d. 1042. It is possible that

Ulf might have been the ancestor of Wadham, of

whom this was the original residence. In a copy of

the "family arms" of Waddam the ancient name is

Wadeham, and may have been given, as was the cus-

tom in those times, as a designation of one of the

family of Ulf. Before the end of the year of Edward
III., A.D. 1327, it had passed to Sir John Waddam,
whose seat and dwelling-place it was and also that of

his son after him. Sir John Waddam, one of the jus-

tices of the King's Bench. This estate at Egge, after

the death of Nicholas Waddam, Esq., the founder of

Waddam College, Oxford, passed to the heirs general

of Waddam, and was a few years since the property

of the Hon. Percy Wyndham. It is also saidj

that this estate, after remaining in the Waddam
family for eight generations, passed with two of the co-

heiresses of Nicholas Waddam, founder, to the family

of Strangways and Windham, and is now the joint-

property of Earle Ilchester and of B. J. Stackey

Bartlett, Esq. In the parish church are memorials

of Joan, relict of John Waddam, a.d. 1581.

Prince, in his history entitled " Damonii Orientales

Illustres, or Worthies of Devon," says, " This ancient

and renowned family of Waddam had its priginal in

the county of Devon, and derived its name from the

place of its habitation, Waddam, in the parish of

Knowston, near the corporate town of South Molton.

William de AVaddam was a freeholder of this land in

the days of King Edward I., a.d. 1272, and both

East and West Waddam descended in his name for

three hundred and thirty-seven years unto Nicholas

Waddam, who left them to his heirs general."

As to when this family came into possession of their

noble and moated seat of Merryfield, in the parish of

Uminster in the county of Somers, but little has been

ascertained ; but it must have been some time after

they became possessed of the estate at Egge, for the

family sustained the oflSce of sherifl!' for the county of

Devon near threescore years before they did that at

Somers. We are told? that the manor, which had

+ Leyeon, vol. vi,, Part II., p. 306, and vol. viii., pp. 62, 63, 305.

X Prince's " Worthies," pub, 1701, p. 588.

g " Magna Britannia," vol. ii.. Part II., p. 450.
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been a part of the ancient demesne of the crown,

belonged at an early period to the Beauchamps of

Hache, of whose heirs it was purchased by Sir John
Waddam, one of the justices of the Common Pleas in

the fourteenth century.

William Waddam was sheriff of the county of

Devon in the twentieth year of Henry VI., A.d.

1441, and Nicholas Waddam was sheriff of Somerset-

shire and Dorsetshire in the fourteenth year of Henry
VII., A.D. 1499, showing that the office was held some
time in the former before it was the latter shire.

In the introduction of Collin Simmons' " History of

Somersetshire" the following knights and sheriffs of

that county are named: Sir John Waddam, a.d.

1485, King Henry VII.; Sir Nicholas Waddam,
A.D. 1499, King Henry VII. ; Sir Edward Waddam,
A.D. 1603, King Henry VII.; Sir John Waddam,
A.D. 1556, Queen Mary ; Sir James Waddam, A.D.

1561, Queen Elizabeth.

It is certain that the chief seat of the Waddam
family was removed from the county of Devon to the

county of Somer, as early as 1499, but both estates

were kept in the family, as may appear from their in-

terments in Branscombe churcli, wlioreof there is one

example in I he mother ofNicholas Waddam, the last of

the name who lies buried tliere, a noble monument
having been erected to her memory with tliis inscrip- 1

tion, which time hath rendered somewhat imperfect

:

" Here lieth intombM the body of a virtuous and ancient gentlewoman,

descended of the ancient House of Plantagenets, sometime of Cornwall,

namely Joan, one of the daughters and heirs unto John Trcgarthin,

Esq., in the county of Cornwull. She was first married unto Jotiii lielle-

way, who had hy her much issue. After his death she was married to I

John Waddam, of Merrylield, In the county of Somerset, Esq., and hy

him bad , . . children. She lived a virtuous and i^odly life, and died in

an honorable age, Sept. ... in the year of Christ, l.SSl."

The early sepulchral monuments of this family

may be found, 1st, at or in the parish church of

Branscombe, Devonshire
; 2d, in the parish church

dedicated to Almighty (iod, under the patronage of

the Bles-sed Virgin, at Ilmin.ster, a small town ten

miles from Taunton, in the county of Somers. The
ancient moated seat of Merry field, which for many years

was in the possession of tlie family, is in the parish of

Ilton, and five miles from Ilminstcr to the north. There
is St. Mary's cliurcli, which is one liundrcd and thirty

feet long, built with nave, tower, and aisles, and was tlie

family burial-place. Sir William's monument in St.

Mary's is older than that of Sir Nicholas'. How
long after the year 1610 this church remaineil the

burial-place is not known, but portions of the fiimily

must have been buried there lor at least one hundred

and twelve years. The north aisle of St. Murj-'s (by

which is meant the portion of the church under a

roof, distinct from the nave) is called the Waddam's
aisle, ltecau.se it is occupied with monuments, mural

and other kinds, erected to the deceivsed members of

the family. Sir William Waddam was buried, as was

the custom in Catholic times, very near the altar.
'

Sir Nicholas' tomb is also there, and bears this in-

scription :

" Pray for the Soul of Sir Nicholas Waddam, Sire of Sir Nicholas and

Captain of the Isle of Wight, who departed out of this world on the 8th

December, 1508; on whom Jesus show mercy."

There also may be found the monuments of Nich-

olas and Dorothy, his wife, co-founders of Waddam
College, Oxford. Nicholas died about the year 1609.

He was educated at Christ College, Oxford. Dorothy,

his wife, died a.d. 1618.

This honorable family possessed this seat called

Egge about eight generations in a direct line, five of

which were knights, who matched with divers daugh-

ters and heirs, and became allied to many great and

noble houses, as will appear from the following pedi-

gree :*

(1) Sir John Waddam, of Egge (now Edge), about

1380 had issue : (2) Sir John, who by Joan, daughter

of Wrothesley, had issue : (3) William, who by Mar-

garet, daughter and coheir of Chiselden, of Holcomb
Rogers, had i.ssue : (4) Sir John Waddam, also Wil-

liam, and Elizabeth, the wife of Stawel, of Codlistor,

and Mary, the wife of Gilbert Ford, of Bradley,

and Anne, wife of William Montacule, of Henligle,

near Crookham. Sir John Waddam,' by Elizabeth,

daughter and one of the heirs of Sir Stephen Pop-

ham, had issue : (5) Sir John, who by Elizabeth,

daughter of Hugh Stukely, had issue: (6) Sir Nicho-

las, who by Joan, daughter of Robert Hill, of Hale-

way, had issue, Lawrence, who died without issue.

(7) John, Giles, and Andrew, and Marj-, wife of Sir

Richard Chadleigh, and Elizabeth, wife of Richard

Bampfield, of Poltimore. John Waddam, Esq.,' mar-

ried Joan, the widow of John Kelcway, of Colump-

ton, daughter and coheir of Trcgarthin, of Corn-

wall, and had issue: (8) Nicholas and Joan, wife of

Sir Giles Strangways, and Margaret, wife of Nicholas

Martin, of Athclhampton, and Florence, wife of Sir

.lohn Windham.
Nicholas Waddam, of Edge,t niarrie<l Dorothy,

daughter ofSir William Petre, Kniglit, principal secre-

tary of state to Henry VIII.; but having no is,sue,

the issue of his sisters became heirs to his inherited

estates.

It may be further .stated of the first Sir John Wad-
dam, Knight, that he applied himself even from his

younger years to the study of the laws of the land,

and became very successful therein, so that his learn-

ing and knowledge of this kind became his profession,

which preferred iiim to great honor and reputation.

He wivs called to the degree of sergeant, and made
one of the king's sergeants at law the .same year with

AVilliam llankford, his county man, and only three

years after he wait constituted judge, which latter

* W. Pole** Dlasertalion of DeTon In BranscomiN* MS.

t A manufcript life of NldiolaA Wnddaro, in the Wailham Cullog*

library, Oxford. A1im>, " Collection!* townnla a doccripUon of Dvrun," by

Sir William Tole, p. 141, HritUh Museum.
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took place about the eleventh year of the reign ofKing
Richard II., 1388.*

" He had a large practice, and thereby made a great

addition to his estate ; among other things he joined

unto it the rich manors of Merryfield and Silferton in

this county, which yet continue in his heirs general,

the How family of Windham, of Orchard Wind-
ham."

Sir Nicholas Waddam, of Edge and Merryfield,

Esq., founder, had about three thousand pounds in-

come per annum of hereditary estate, which, partly

by his own and partly by his wife's thrift, came to be

increased by the addition thereto of eight hundred

pounds per annum in land and forty thousand pounds

in money. He was born in the reign of Henry VIII.,

and married Dorothy, daughter of Sir William Petre,

prime minister under Henry VIII., and he lived

through the reigns of Edward VI., Mary, Elizabeth,

and died during that of James I. As Nicholas and
Dorothy could not hand their name down in a regular

line, having no children, they determined to perpetu-

ate it by other means.

Fuller says that " they had great length of extract,

great breadth of estate, and great depth of liberality."

Originally they intended to found a college at Venice
for the benefit of the youth of England who might
still desire to be educated in the Catholic faith, for

both Nicholas and Dorothy were Catholics ; but finally

they consented to establish their college at Oxford,

which they did. He made purchase of the ground
for the site at an expense of six thousand pounds,
" which having done, before he laid one Stone of the

Foundation thereof he yielded to Fate, and left the

care of that matter by Will unto Dorothy, his wife."

Nor could he have left it in better hands, for soon after

her husband's death she went on with the work, and,

by great industry as well as charges, quickly brought

it to a close, expending in the building twelve thou-

sand pounds. Having raised this beautiful structure

in the northeast part of the city, in a very beautiful

place, adjoining the pleasant fields and meadows
called New Parks, she settled upon the same a very

fair endowment of eight or nine hundred pounds for

the maintenance of one warden, fifteen fellows, as

many scholars, two chaplains, two clerks, one nianci-

pee, two cooks, two butlers, and a porter, and having

obtained the royal leave of King James I. about 1612,

she sent a charter of incorporation for said warden,

fellows, etc., together with a book of statutes for the

better government of the house.

Sir Nicholas Waddam was educated at Christ Col-

lege, Oxford, and died about the year 1609, aged

seventy years, and his widow died in 1618.

THE FAMILY IN AMERICA.

In the ancient family arms the name was Wade-
ham ; in America on the early records it is written

Wodom, Wadoms, Wadams, Waddams, and Wad-
donis.

John Waddams came from Somersetshire, England,

in 1650; returned to England, and came back the

next spring, having a wife Susannah, and in 1656

there was given him " a house lot by the town" of

Wethersfield.f This John Waddams, the first at

Wethersfield, came from the same county in England
where Sir Nicholas, the founder of the college, resided,

and may have descended from the family of one of

the uncles of Sir Nicholas, viz., Giles or Andrew
Waddams.
John Waddams, son of John the first, born in

Wethersfield in 1655, married Hannah , and had

a son Noah, born in the same town in 1695, who
married, first, Elizabeth Sage, and second, Anne Hurl-

but; had ten children when he settled in Goshen,

Conn., in the spring of 1742, on a farm on the old

road direct from Litchfield to Goshen Centre, his

house being near the site of the brick house built by

his son Seth, and now owned by the heirs of the

late Samuel Ives, at which place he died in 1783, aged

eighty-eight years.

Noah Waddams, Jr., born in Wethersfield, May
17, 1726, came to Goshen when fourteen years of age,

with his father, at the time the town first began

to be settled, and when there were no privileges for

education except by private instruction. He fitted for

college, how or where is not known, entered the Col-

lege of New Jersey, was graduated Sept. 25, 1754, his

diploma being now in the custody of his great-grand-

son, Calvin Wadhams, Esq., counselor-at-law, of

Wilkesbarre ; and what is a most singular coincidence,

this same great-grandson was graduated at the same

university just one hundred years after his paternal

ancestor. Mr. Wadhams studied theology probably

with the Rev. Abel Newell, then pastor at Goshen,

and was ordained in 1758 the first pastor of the

" Church of Christ" at New Preston, Conn., and mar-

ried Elizabeth Ingersol, Nov. 8, 1758, and continued

here a faithful, successful minister for ten years,

when at his own request he was dismissed. Some of

his descendants have remained honorable members
of that community to the present time.

At that time the Susquehanna Company were ar-

ranging to effect a settlement on the lands claimed

by the State of Connecticut, on the Susquehanna

River, within the bounds of Pennsylvania, as consti-

tuting a part of Litchfield County. When, therefore,

it was proposed to send a colony of forty families to

that region, the providing of a pastor was considered

of as much importance as that of a physician, or a

person skilled in any of the mechanical branches

;

and in order that this personage might not be an in-

cumbrance upon an infant colony, the company made
provision for his support and maintenance. At a

meeting of the company held in 1768 the following

* " Chruuology of Serjeanta," fil-35. f Wetherefield Becoi'ds.
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action was taken :
" The standing committee was di-

rected to procure a pastor to accompany the second

colony, called the 'first forty,' for carrying on relig-

ious worship and services according to the best of his

ability in a wilderness country." The proceeding.s

make further provision :
" That he shall receive one

whole share or right in the purchase and such other

encouragements as others are entitled to have and

enjoy." This share amounted to some three hundred

acres, besides the perquisites which sometimes ac-

companied the grant. The company also required

the colonial adventurers to provide their pastor, when
they should become located upon the promised land,

"with sustenance according to their best ability."

When preparation was being made to start this Ply-

mouth colony on their journey into the wilderness,

the committee made choice of the Rev. Noah Wad-
hams as their pastor, and he, being then without a

parish, accepted the appointment. He was at this

time, 1769, forty-lhree years of age, and had a family

of small children. Leaving his family on his home-

stead in New Preston, he embarked with his flock in

the spirit of adventure which was almost a ruling

passion in those times to try the perils and privations

of the wilderness, on the distant shores of the Sus-

quehanna, amidst the conflicting suspicions and jeal-

ousies of the various Indian tribes.

Mr. Wadhanis proceeded with his flock to the place

of destination, where they established what is now
the town of Plymouth, on the western bank of the

Susquehanna, in Luzerne Co., Pa., and there he con-

tinued his pastoral labors and relations, interrupted

by an occasional visit to his family in Connecticut,

until the year succeeding the Wyoming massacre,

1778, when he removed them to Plymoutli. From
this time to the period of his death, May 22, 1806,

he faithfully pursued his religious duties, preaching

in Plymouth and other parts of the valley. He was

a man of considerable talents, persevering and indus-

trious, and as a mark of merit Yale College conferred

upon him the degree of Master of Arts in tlie year

1764. He left four sons,—Ingersoli, Calvin, Noah,

and Moses, the last dying of yellow fever in 1803.

Calvin and Noah were for many years prominent

business men of the town. The success of the former

wiis remarkable, he being at liis death, in 1845, the

man of the largest wealth in the town, and probably

there was not more than one other citizen of the

county who possessed more property than he. He
was a .stout, athletic man, about five feet eight inches

in height, dark blue eyes, and a florid comi)lexion.

He possessed an agreeable presence, even temper

;

wa.s strictly temperate, very industrious, and lived in

a plain, economical manner. He iio.s.scsscd sound

judgment, good health, and a strong constitution, and

having resolved to become wealthy, he succeeded by

fair and honorable methods, not being under the ne-

cessity of obtaining money by forced sal&s of the

property of his debtors. He was, in addition to his

occupation of farmer, a private banker, and being in

the habit of loaning money, it seemed to aiford him
more satisfaction to lend to the poor than to the rich.

Having accommodated such people, he would be an-

noyed when the day of payment came, and, as resort

to execution was the last remedy he employed, he

would often extend the time and receive almost any-

thing under the name of property in payment. He
was kind and indulgent to the men in his employment,

but continued to superintend the work on his farm

even when, in order to do it, he was under the neces-

sity of riding in his carriage. Living in a frugal way,

with great energy in business, he accumulated a large

estate. His old homestead farm, being only a part of

his estate left at his decease, but underlaid with a

coal-bed, was recently sold by his family for seven

hundred thousand dollars.

He was a religious man, and although educated as

a Congregationalist, embraced the Wesleyan doctrines,

to which he adhered to the end of his life. His home
was ever open to the brethren of the Methodist

Church, entertaining at quarterly meetings as many
as fifty at a time; but this was not all ; his hospitality

was not confined to his own sect ; it was broad and

general, and his home was open to all. He died at a

rii)e age and in the full enjoyment of his faculties.

Samuel Wadhams, Esq., the only son who survived

him, inherited the larger part of the estate. He in-

herited also the business qualities, the even temper

and kind disposition of his father, and being remark-

ably methodical in business transactions, he made a

wise improvement of the large estate inherited, which

enabled him to leave an ample fortune to each of his

children. He left three sons,— Elijah C, Calvin, and
Moses, and one daughter, who married Hon. L. D.

Shoemaker, afterwards a representative in Congress.

Elijah C, son of the above, is a liberally educated,

thorough business man, residing in Wilke-sbarre. Pa.,

and has the following chihlren : Ellen Hendrick,

Samuel French, Cornelia Frances, Moses Waller,

Stella Catlin, Lydia French, Ralph Halliburton.

Noah Wadhanis, Jr., third son of the pioneer at

Plymouth, was one of the early justices of the peace

of the county. He wim a graduate of the famous law-

school of Litchfield, Conn., under the management of

Judge Reeve, and was admitted to the bar of Luzerne

Co., Pa., about the year 1800, but this prof»>»sion did

not afford him any great attractions, and he settled

on his patrimonial estate in Plymouth, where he

spent the remainder of his life. He was an indus-

trious, upright citizen, anil his court decisions seldom

found their way to the appellate courts. He was a

mode! magistrate, and for many long years enjoyed

the confidence and respect of liis neighbors. He died

in 1846, in the seventy-sixth year of his age.

The Rt. Rev. Eihjar P. WAniiAMs. of Ogdens-

burg, N. Y., is descended through another branch

from Noah Wadhanis, the first of the name in (Joshen.

His grcat-gran<llather, Jonathan, son of Noah, wan
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born Oct. 18, 1730, in Wethersfield, and came to

Goslien with liis fatlier's family, wliere lie married

Judith Howe, Aug. 7, 1754, and where he spent his

life as a farmer. His children were Abraham, Moses,

Susannah, and Lucy. Abraham married Tryphena

Collins, of Goshen, Jan. 15, 1778. Their children

were Luman, born Sept. 17, 1781 ; Timothy, who died

in Goshen; Noah, who lives at North Bay, Oneida

Co., N. Y. ; and Jonathan, who lives at East Clarkson,

Monroe Co. ; Abraham died in Goshen; Myra married

J. Bartholomew; Orlando lives in Sangamon Co.,

111. ; Lucy married John Beach, of Goshen ; Elvira

married John Parker, now in Wisconsin. Of these,

Luman Wadhams married widow Lucy (Bostwick)

Prindle, and had Jane Ann, who married Benjamin

Wells, of Jay, Essex Co., N. Y.; Lucy Elvira, who
married D. S. Wright, M.D., of Whitehall, N. Y.

;

William Luman, who married Emeline , and now

lives on the old homestead at Wadhams' Mills, Essex

Co., N. Y^. ; Abraham Edmond married Sophia South-

ard, and died in 185G ; Noah Collins died young;

Edward P., born May 21, 1817.

The bishop, Edgar P. Wadhams, is a liberally edu-

cated man of good qualities, having risen, by regular

gradation, in the Catholic Church to the office of

bishop of the diocese of Ogdensburg, which he has

held a number of years ; and, in the pursuit of literary

tastes, he has given considerable time to the procuring

of historical material concerning the Wadhams family,

both at home and abroad, the results of which largely

enrich the account of the family here given. His

nephew, A. V. Wadhams, lieutenant United States

navy, of the Coast Survey office, Washington, D. C,

has rendered valuable service in the same line.

John Wappams, Se., son of Noah the first, born

in Wethersfield in 1732, came with his father to

Goshen when he was eight or nine years of age. At

the age of twenty-six years (1758) his father deeded

him a farm of sixty acres, as he says, " for the Love

and good-will I have and do bear unto my Loving

son John Waddams of Goshen." This land lay on

the east side of the road, and upon it, near the high-

way, this son built his house, which is still standing,

about eighty rods south of where the father resided

;

it being in a good state of preservation, although it

has been standing one hundred and twenty years.

He married Kuth, daughter of Isaac Marsh, of Litch-

field. She was born May 25, 1738. He was an ener-

getic, successful farmer of Goshen, and died March 3,

1816, at the age of eighty-four years. An anecdote

illustrative not only of his character but also of the

times in which he lived is still remembered. He was

remarking at a certain time, while in company, that

he could write a deed for the sale of land as well

as any lawyer in the county, to which a neighbor

standing near objected, but he persevered in assert-

ing the statement. The neighbor said, "John Wad-

hams, you lie when you say it." Such a remark being

regarded in those days as the greatest dishonor to a

man of character, John thrust out his arm, and his

clenched hand coming in contact with the neighbor's

head quite suddenly, he fell to the ground, a little

astonished at the turn of matters. Mr. Wadhams
being a member of the church was called on not long

after by a committee of the church, who urged him
to a confession of wrong-doing and sorrow for the

same; but this he stoutly refused to do, not seeing

that he had done wrong, but rather that he had vin-

dicated his own character as a man of truth. A sec-

ond committee visited him, and recommended that if

he could not go before the church and make the state-

ment, he might delegate another to do it for him ; but

all effort was unavailing, and the church, although

acknowledging that his sense of honor was perfectly

right, excommunicated him because he would not

say he was sorry when he was not.

Another item characteristic of the tinier is found in

the town order-book of CJoshen, that on the day of

the installation of the Rev. Mr. Sherman of that town,

about 1781, Mr. Wadhams furnished the cheese and

cider for the lunch for the council during inter-

mission of services.

John Wadhams, Jr., married, April 25, 1805,

Mary, daughter of Samuel Ripley, of Goshen. She

was born Feb. 14, 1776. He made his home in the

new house which his father had built on the then

new turnpike road from Goshen Centre to Litchfield,

on seventy-five acres of land that the father after-

wards deeded to this son John and his brother Isaac,

the house being now the residence of John M. Wad-
hams. John Wadhams, Jr., was a capable business

man, but never possessing good health, on account of

lung difficulty, could not endure much of the regular

labor re(iuired on a farm, yet he managed the enter-

prise successfully. He died Sept. 3, 1814.

Mary (Ripley) Wadhams possessed a remarkable

physical and mental constitution, being of a tender

and kindly disposition, but of such courageous temper

as seldom falls to the lot of a woman, being naturally

retiring and sensitive, yet equal to any emergency.

She assisted in several surgical operations of the

amputation of limbs and excisions of cancers, per-

forming important parts with perfect composure.

When a girl she worked for fifty cents per week,

never more than a dollar a week, but at the time of

her marriage had five hundred dollars of her own
earnings at interest. She survived her first husband,

and four years after his decease married his brother,

Isaac Wadhams, Nov. 26, 1818, and died Jan. 4, 1850,

having been the mother of nine children by her first,

and of one by her second husband.

Isaac, son of John Wadhams, Sr., lived with his

brother John on the farm which they owned jointly

until the year 1818, when he married the brother's

widow, Mary (Ripley) Wadhams, and continued a

successful farmer, specially thoughtful and consider-

ate to the poor and unfortunate. He accumulated

a handsome fortune. He died Feb. 24, 1832, leav-
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ing one son, Isaac, who continued to reside in a part

of the old home, with his mother and half-sister,

until his death, July 17, 1865. He was unfortunate

in suffering three severe attacks of illness when a

child, in consequence of which he never allowed

himself to take full charge of his business without

the advice and judgment of his brother, John M.,

who rendered the needed help in so efficient a man-

ner that at his death his paternal estate had doubled

once and a half.

Elizabeth, daughter of John Wadhama, Sr., be-

came the second wife of John Hatch, of New Preston,

whose first wife was the daughter of the Rev. Noah
Wadhams. She died in Goshen, Sept. 23, 1803,

without children.

Sarah, daughter of John Wadhams, Sr., married

Stephen Russell, of Litchfield, where she died of

cancer, June 25, 1818, leaving two sons, John W.
Russell and Isaac W. Russell, both of whom became

prominent surgeons in Mount Vernon, Ohio. Isaac

W. died unmarried; John W. married a daughter

of William Beebe, of Litchfield, and is still living,

having several children. Stephen Ru.ssell died at

his son John's, in Ohio.

George, son of John Wadhams, Jr., born Jan-

28, 1806, married Angeline Parmelee, at Goshen,

Nov. 26, 1836, and resided on the homestead of his

grandfather until his death, Feb. 3, 1870, leaving no

children.

Mary, daughter of John Wadhams, Jr., born Aug.

30, 1808, married Watts H. Brooks, of Goshen, and
died Sept. 5, 1872. Mr. Brooks is a successful farmer,

his home being efficiently maintained by the oversight

of his youngest daugliter, Amanda Collins Brooks;

the elder daughter, Mary E., liaving died at the

age of twenty years. This Goshen liome is well

represented in business circles throughout the State

by the two sons as bankers at Wolcottville. The elder,

John W., was trained to mercantile life some years,

when the health of his brother, Isaac W., proving in-

adequate to a collegiate course which he had entered

upon, the brothers accepted an opportunity, and con-

ducted successfully a dry-goods and produce store in

Goshen some ten years, wlien they removed and estab-

lished their banking house at Wolcottville, where the

enterprise is still prosperous. Mr. Jolin W. Brooks is

now insurance commissioner of the State of Omnecti-
cut. While these two brothers were traveling recently

in Europe, they made such collections of names and
historical matters as have rendered this account of

the Wadhams family much more complete than it

otherwise would have been.

Hon. John Maush Wadhams, whose portrait is

here given, was born at tJoshen, May 7, 1811, being

the son of John Wadhams, Jr., and his wife, Mary
Bipley. His father died when he was three years of

age, leaving him, with two brothers and two sisters and
a small patrimony, in care of his mother, who four

years later married Isaac Wadhams, her first husband's

brother. As a result of this marriage, a son, Isaac,,

was born in 1821, who died in 1865 without children.

The children of these two families were reared at the

homestead until they severally became of age, the

boy-life of John M. being occupied with work on the

farm summers and attendance on the common school

winters until sixteen years of age, after which two or

three terms at the academy completed his school days.

He early learned to " cast interest" and found it more
pleasant to receive than to pay, and from observation

concluded that three-fourths of the estates probated

did not amount to the original sum inherited had it

been left to accumulate in the savings bank ; in other

words, not one of four had supported itself by its own
exertion. Fifty-one years ago he kept a district

school in Salisbury for four months, wages ten dol-

lars a month, boarding around the district, and since

for three or four years ; about that time his stepfather

clothed him and paid him fift}' dollars per annum for

his work; he placed his forty dollars school-money at

six per cent, interest, which being compounded for

fifty-one years, gives him now over one thousand

dollars of school-money. This statement, while sug-

gestive to the young, has a logical force, since his

reckoning has never led him to change from receiving

to paying interest.

His tact and good management in financial matters

is shown to have been continued through life, as the

tax-lists of Goshen prove at this date, while his skill

in the management of the property of others, as well

as his integrity of accounting and administration, is

well known to the peopleof Goshen, and is questioned

by none. One example is given. The estate of his

half-brother, Isaac, which consisted mostly of scattered

lots of land lying in Goshen and adjoining towns,

managed by him for years as an agent, which estate,

besides supporting Isaac, made the surprising increase

from sixteen thousand to forty thousand dollars,

which for a back country town is worthy of notice.

Mr. Wadhams since reaching his majority lias been

constantly trusted and honored -as trustee, executor,

guardian, or admiiiistrator of the estates of others, as

the probate records of this district will abundantly

testify, and it Is probable that he has settled more

I

estates of deceased persons than any other man now
living in Goshen, with perhaps one exception.

He ha-s been an office-holder almost continually for

fifty years, having filled every position of trust or

profit, except one, within the gift of his townsmen,
being la.st of all for several years the town agent to

fight its battles in money, if any should occur. He
was for several years collector of internal revenue for

the district including Goshen and adjoining towns.

He served fifteen years as selectman and most of the

time as chairman of the board ; and it ha.s been a

fact, noted throughout the State, that the town atfairs

of (ioshen have for many years been most frugally

managed, and never more so than during Mr. Wad-
' hams' administration ; and many of the "old stagers"
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of the town boards outside of Goshen, from twenty to

forty years ago, will call to mind their contests with

him in which Goshen as a rule has been victorious.

By his skill as chairman of the board of selectmen,

ably assisted by competent associates, Goshen was

carried through the drafts, enlistments, and extra ex-

penses of the late Eebellion without a debt or an ob-

ligation unpaid.

He was a representative in 1844, and served on the

committee on sale of lands ; also a representative

in 1845, and served on the committee on claims as

chairman ; and again a representative in 1880, and

was chairman of the committee on forfeited rights.

He was the senator from the seventeenth district in

1858, and chairman of the committee on the State

prison.

His service in both branches of the State Legisla-

ture was characterized by the same ideas of economy

and careful financial management as is noted of his

private and other public life. He contested all bills

that had the appearance of "jobbery," and while ad-

vocating every measure which looked for " the great-

est good to the greatest number," took time to count

the cost, thoroughly investigating every measure by

the test of its merit and public demand, though not

in the spirit of parsimony, yet in such a manner as to

retain the esteem and friendship of his opponents.

The following article, taken from the New Haven Ber/-

itter of Feb. 29, 1880, a paper devoted to the opposite

political party to which Mr. Wadhams belongs, illus-

trates a little his relations to his fellow representa-

tives :
" It is hard work to properly estimate Mr.

Wadhams, of Goshen, there being in him a large

amount of dry humor with a strong tendency to inof-

fensive sarcasm. He can hardly talk on any subject

without the fun oozing out of him at every pore, and

his remarks on any subject are always as eagerly lis-

tened to as were those of P. T. Barnum, of the last

session. Mr. Wadhams is the funnier man of the

two, inasmuch as natural humor is always better than

boisterous iun. He is one of the most popular men

in the House, and has a host of friends."

He was born in and held to the faith of the

Old-Line Whigs so long as that party kept its name,

but when Americanism arose he embraced its princi-

ples and became prominent in its councils, being

greatly chagrined to see it merged in the Republican

party.

It is proper to add that the foreign population of

Goshen know no better friend, nor one they esteem

more highly than he. No resident of Goshen has

furnished the first home in this county to so great a

number of the sons and daughters of Erin, Sweden,

Switzerland, and Germany ; many of whom are to-

day honorable and successful freeholders in this

county.

Mr. Wadhams is not a member of any church, but

since his boyhood has been a constant and liberal sup-

porter of the First Congregational Society of Goshen,

contributing largely of his means and influence to-

wards its success. He recognizes the ancient teach-

ing " For ye have the poor with you always," and has

ever been mindful that " whensoever ye will ye may do
them good," as his neighbors in South Goshen and
elsewhere will bear testimony.

He is known as a man of public spirit in its true

sense, ready and willing to contribute of time and

money to all enterprises of public benefit.

He was chairman of the committee having the

management of the centennial celebration of the town

of Goshen, July 4, 1876, and has been called to hold

similar positions on many other public occasions.

He was for two years president of the Litchfield

County Agricultural Society, vindicating his standing

as a successful, practical farmer of the county.

In his early manhood Mr. Wadhams was troubled

with a lung difiiculty which incapacitated him for

severe physical labor for several years, but in his

later life he has been favored with general good

health. Although having measured the seventy

years allotted to man, with beard and hair indicative

of his stage of life, his form is still erect, and his eye

as black and piercing as ever. He is the oldest living

male representative of his branch of the Wadhams
family ; a name which numbers at this date fifty-two

representatives in Goshen.

Mr. Wadhams married Eunice W. Hodges, of Tor-

rington. Conn., Oct. 30, 1837, a descendant of one of

the first families of that town, who died Aug. 7, 1855,

leaving three children. In 1857, December 2d, he mar-

ried Mrs. Myrantha (Drake) Gillett, of Torrington,

who, although coming into a family of decided energy

and character, has so judiciously and kindly cared for

and nurtured the home as to win the decided esteem

of all, and to make it thoroughly a home of gladness.

Of the three surviving children of this family,

John Hodges Wadhams, born Nov. 30, 1840,

the eldest, resides on a farm adjoining his paternal

home. He received a common-school and an aca-

demic education at Goshen and Norfolk ; married,

Sept. 11, 1865, Mary G. Pelton, of Torrington {born

Dec. 11, 1846), and has seen considerable portion of

his native country by travel, having resided over

two years at Bloomington, 111., from September, 1865.

He is in politics a Democrat ; having been a member
of the General Assembly in the years 1872 and 1874,

and for many years chairman of the town Democratic

committee. He was also a director of the Connecti-

cut State prison from July, 1874, to July, 1876, and is

at present justice of the peace and register of voters.

His children are Julia E. Wadhams, born July 6,

1867; John Marsh Wadhams, born Sept. 14,1870;

Lucy Burr Wadhams, born April 8, 1872 ; Mary H.

Wadhams, born Feb. 21, 1876 ; and Robert P. Wad-
hams, born Jan. 10, 1879.

Sarah Jane, daughter of John Wadhams, born

July 12, 1846, married Frederick A. Lucas (born

Sept. 9, 1841) Aug. 7, 1867. They reside at West
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Goshen, where Mr. Lucas, a successful business man,

has been engaged some years as a merchant. Their

children are Frederick Wadhams Lucas, born Nov.

11, 1868 ; and John Marsh Lucas, born Dec. 14,

1870.

Julia Hinckley, daughter of John M. Wadhams,
bora Oct. 16, 1852, married, Sept. 3, 1874, Wilber

H. Wadhams (born Nov. 6, 1848), a business man
residing at West Goshen, being the owner and con-

ductor of a valuable grist-mill property at that place.

They have one child, Elizabeth Wadhams, born June

24, 1876.

Elizabeth, daughter of John Wadhams, Jr., born

Sept. 5, 1813, has always resided on the paternal

homestead, and, although not the strongest in health,

has a competency to secure the comforts of life, and

has always been the aunt of the old homestead, whom
all have delighted to honor.

Samuel Noah, son of John Wadhams, Jr., born

March 20, 1815, married, Sept. 9, 1838, Lucy Matilda

Rea, who was born March 26, 1819. He engaged for

a time as a merchant in Danbury, Conn., after a farm-

ing experience of some three years. Having trav-

eled somewhat in former years as a salesman of cut-

lery, he engaged in this capacity with the Holley

Manufacturing Company of Salisbury, in which rela-

tion he continued about twenty-five years, making
a success of the enterprise both for himself and the

company. He died Nov. 29, 1874. Their children

were Mary Elizabeth, born June 5, 1839, who mar-

ried Ephraim Starr Brewster, Jan. 20, 1859, and died

in Florida, July 3, 1869, leaving a son, Clarence Nel-

son, born April 16, 1860 ; Franklin Edward and

Francis Morris, twins, born July 17, 1844; the former

married Alice Eliza Barnuni, Nov. 25, 1875, who died

June 2, 1880, leaving no children ; the latter, Francis

Morris Wadhams, married Frances Minor Palmer,

Dec. 28, 1870, their children being Mary Palmer, born

Sept. 30, 1872 ; Noah Samuel, born May 27, 1875

;

Joseph Palmer, born April 22, 1877 ; Francis Ray,

born Jan. 22, 1880; Lucy Octavia Woodrufr, born

Feb. 27, 1848, who married Dr. John Crcgo Lester,

June 24, 1880; and Henrietta Josephine, born Jan.

9, 1851.

Solomon Wadhams, son of Noah, Sr., born June

26, 1740, in Middletown, where his father resided one

year, was two years of age when his father's family

removed to Goshen. He was graduated at Yale Col-

lege in 1762, and afterwards engaged iw a merchant

in a store half a mile north of his father's residence.

He married, in 1802, widow Abigail (Bcebe) Allen,

who had sons,—Beebc Allen and lleinan Allen. He
resided in Goshen until his decease. His children

were Beebe and Melinda. Beebe Wadhams married

Charlotte, daughter of Abner Ives, of Torrington,*

and lived a time as a farmer about a mile south of

Qoshen Centre, where his wife died, and afterwards

24

* Bm Torrington blitoiy.

he removed to Berkshire Co.. Mass., where he died.

His children, born in Goshen, were Henry, who mar-

ried Hannah Scott, of Massachusetts, and had sons,

—

Henry L., who died, leaving daughters, Charlotte and

Mary, and Lewis, who married, and resides in Pittsfield,

Mass., has son Louis ; Julius, who died young ; Wil-

lard, who was graduated at the Vermont University

when seventeen years of age, traveled and studied in

Europe, and died early in Texas; Albert, born June

25, 1819; received a diploma from Norwich Univer-

sity, Vermont ; married, first, Lucy L. Ensworth, of

Norwich, Vt., June 7, 1844, and second, Mrs. Eme-

line Perkins, of Goshen, Aug. 22, 1866, and has one

son, Charles, born Sept. 2, 1847.

Seth, youngest son of Noah Wadhams, Sr., was

born in Goshen ; married Ann Catlin, of Litchfield,

a woman of great energy of character and efficiency

;

known far and near as a practicing physician ; built a

brick dwelling-house near his father's residence, which

is now owned by the heirs of Samuel Ives, whose wife,

Polly, was his youngest daughter.

His children were Nancy, who married Timothy

Childs, ofTorrington, whose son. Dr. Samuel R. Childs,

was one of the commissioners of New York City in

the construction of the Croton Water-Works for that

city ; Anna, who married Capt. Samuel Buell, of

Litchfield ; Seth, Jr., died in Cornwall, had a son,

George D. Wadhams, a merchant of Wolcottville,

Conn. ; Jesse, who removed to Mount Morris, N. Y.,

where he died ; Heman, died in Goshen ; David, who
was for many years a merchant in (Joshen Centre,

leaving a family of fourteen children ; Norman, who
built the brick house where he lived and died, on the

new road two miles south of Goshen Centre, a quar-

ter of a mile east of his father's house.

DANIEL NORTON LUCAS.

The Lucas family came from England, the gene-

alogy having been traced back to about the year 1600.

The subject of this sketch belongs to a tiimily noted

as large land-holders in Goshen and Middletown,

reaching back to 1733. In the latter year we find

Thomas Lucas, and also his son, Thomas l^ucas, Jr.,

as residents of Middletown and owners of large tracts

of land on the w&st bank of the Connecticut River,

records of titles to same being found in " Middletown

Land Records," Lib. 7, folio 13.'),—" .3.'i l)age of Mid-

dletown, eightly book of Records," and others,—us we

copy from the old deeds now in the hands of the

family.

This Thomas, Jr., came to Goshen from Middle-

town about 1755, and bought a tract of land on what

is now known as Lucius Hill, getting his title.s from

one of the original [(mprietors of the town. He built

a log house near the big rock east of the house now be-

longing to the estate of Daniel Norton Lucas, and

from that day till now that section has remained in

the name and occupancy of this family.
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Thomas, Jr., had two sons ; the elder, also a Thomas,

Jr., was a soldier in the war of the Revolution, a

young man of great promise, but gave his life for the

new republic, dying of camp fever ten days after his

return home.

The other son, Allen, remained with his father on

Lucas Hill, married, and reared a numerous family,

some of his boys scattering into the far West, one of

his girls marrying into one of the Goshen families.

His son, Thomas Allen Lucas, remained on the hill,

as also did David, his brother, until his death.

The descendants of Thomas Allen Lucas now com-

prise nearly all of the Lucas name in Goshen, there

being one exception, a daughter (Clarinda) of David

Lucas.

Thomas Allen Lucas was killed while in the prime

of life by being thrown from a load of hay during a

thunder-shower, in 1837, while the oxen attached were

running away. He left a widow and four children,

—

Daniel Norton, Henry Augustus, Elizabeth, and Polly

Ann. His widow was the daughter of Deacon Daniel

Norton, of Goshen, and a woman of sterling charac-

ter, sound sense, and business energy. She carried

on the large farm, with the aid of her children, the

eldest being then eighteen years old, till her death

in 1840.

Sept. 13, 1840, Daniel Norton Lucas married Ma-
rilla L., one of the twelve daughters of Benjamin

Price, of Goshen, and, buying the real estate dis-

tributed to his sisters, which with his own made a

farm of one hundred and sixty-five acres, began busi-

ness for himself, being at that time twenty-two and

his wife seventeen years old, she bringing him no

worldly goods, yet rich in all other qualifications

necessary for a happy, successful farmer's life.

For thirty years they worked their farm and bought

additions to it, increasing their dairy of cows from

twenty-five to fifty, and their cattle from thirty to

sixty-five head.

At one time his real estate was one of the most

valuable in the town, and consisted of more than six

hundred acres, carrying one hundred head of cattle,

part of which was managed by his son.

Lucas was a successful farmer, and owed much to

his wife for her skill and energy in the management

of the dairy and household affairs. About 1870 he

retired from his farm to a residence in Goshen Centre,

placing his son, Daniel Norton, Jr., on the farm. The

quiet of his new house was very irksome to him, and

he rode to the old farm almost daily, and worked

with the men and directed the management until his

death.

He was a man of decided opinions and bold to de-

clare them, of an argumentative disposition, but very

fair and honorable in business. His dealings for forty

years with his neighbors were extensive in cattle,

horses, and farm produce, but he never had a law-

suit. He cared very little for politics, and held very

little public office : was a selectman one term. He

was practical, plain, made no displays, cared nothing

for fashion, and seldom went outside for business or

pleasure.

He departed this life April 25, 1880, and was buried

on his sixty-second birthday in the Centre cemetery

in Goshen, and his heirs have erected a handsome
monument to his memory.

He will long be remembered as one of Goshen's

most enterprising and successful farmers.

We place on record a few leaves and twigs from the

genealogical tree of this family.

James Lucas, in 1620, was a land-holder near Man-
chester, England, and held an appointment under the

government similar to our trial justice. His son,

Thomas James, died in Boston about 1650, and one of

his sons, Thomas Augustus, died at sea, in command
of a vessel, about 1665. This Capt. Lucas had a son

Thomas, born in Boston in 1640, who died in Mid-
dletown in 1737, and whose son Thomas, Jr., born

in 1700, near Boston, died in Middletown in 1749 ; and
it was a son of this last-named Thomas, Jr.—who was
also a Thomas, Jr.—that settled in Goshen about 1755.

This man had two sons : the elder, born in Middletown,

March 20, 1750, also a Thomas, Jr., was a soldier in

the Revolution, and died in Goshen in 1783 ; while

the other, named Allen, born in Middletown, March

1, 1753, died in Goshen, March 11, 1820. His wife was

Sarah Thompson, born in Goshen, March 1, 1789; she

died March 27, 1838. The children of Allen were

John, Ezra, Augustus, Heman, Sarah, David, Olive,

Betsy, Mary, and Thomas Allen. John and Ezra

moved to the West, married, and have descendants in

large number, which we must omit here. Augustus

died in Goshen, a young man, leaving a widow, who
afterwards married Towner. Sarah died while

a young woman, and unmarried. Mary married

Horatio N. Beach, on East Street in Goshen, and is

yet living (March, 1881) in the home she entered so

long ago, and has been a widow for fifty years. Her
son Edward, who lived with her till his death, April

3, 1871, left a widow, now living at the homestead,

Laura Johnson, and three daughters,—Mary E., born

May 7, 1861; Laura Jane, born May 9, 1864; and

Ella C, born Feb. 22, 1866. Heman was with Hud-
son, of Goshen, when he settled the town in Ohio

which bears his name, and found an early grave there,

and was the first white man buried in that town.

Olive and Betsy never married ; both lived in Goshen

until their death a few years since. David remained

in Goshen all his days, married Mary Merrills, and

had children,—Esther, who never married, and died at

home, Jan. 28, 1848 ; Jane, who married Virgil Col-

lins, of Goshen, leaving at her death Evaline, who
married Joseph Carter, of Plymouth, and afterwards

Lindley, of Waterbury ; and Mary, who married

William Hotchkiss, of Plymouth. David, Jr., who
married Eunice Davis, of Goshen, he dying Oct. 12,

1863, and his widow Aug. 25, 1867, leaving Charles,

now married in New Haven, and Alice, now the wife
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of Elihu Carlisle, of Goshen. Clarinda, still living

in Goshen, never married.

Thomas Allen Lucas was born in Goshen, Oct. 12,

1792, and died Aug. 30, 1837. His wife, Sally Nor-

ton, was born in Goshen, Jan. 28, 1793, and died Sept.

18, 1840. They were married March 19, 1817, and their

children were,—
Daniel Norton' (see sketch), born April 28, 1818.

Henry Augustus,^ born April 15, 1819, died May
19, 1875. He married Mary H. Pierson, of Eichmond,

Mass., March 27, 1844, and their children are Sarah

Baldwin, born Jan. 14, 1845, wife of Seelye Hart, of

Cornwall, Conn. ; Elizabeth Melissa, born March 7,

1848, wife of Charles Blake, of Cornwall, Conn.

;

Henry Pierson, born Nov. 21, 1850, married Mary A.

Humphrey, of Pittsfield, Mass., after whose death he

married Lillian Wolleston, of Pittsfield, and is settled

in business as a prosperous merchant in Pittsfield,

Mass. ; Joseph Allen, born Dec. 7, 1856, now living

on the homestead in Goshen with his mother.

Sarah Elizabeth,'' born July 12, 1822, died July 2,

1851, married Myron C. Gaylord, of Norfolk, Conn.,

Jan. 8, 1843, who died April 4, 1854. Their children

were Mary Louisa, born Dec. 8, 1843, died Jan. 18,

1856 ; Sarah Elizabeth, born July 30, 1845, died May
14, 1870; Myron Lucas, born July 18, 1847, died Jan.

16, 1852; Henry Norton, born July 7, 1849, now
living in Norfolk.

Polly Ann,* born Dec. 9, 1823, married Jonathan

Wadhams, Jr., of Goshen, Feb. 22, 1842, who died

Feb. 25, 1865. She married Deacon Addison Palmer,

of Torrington, Conn., Oct. 27, 1869, and they now
live on the Wadhams homestead in Goshen. Her
children are VVilliard Norton Wadhams, born March

16, 1843, died in army hospital at Philadelphia, July

22, 1865, while in the service of the United States,

and holding the position of color-guard in tlie Second

Connecticut Heavy Artillery, and he was a very fine

soldier and a brave man ; Henry Augustus Wadhams,
born Feb. 26, 1847, died in Goshen, Oct. 10, 1867;

Jonathan Edwards Wadhams, born Jan. 1, 1856,

married, Feb. 19, 1877, Lavina F. CoUough, of Morris,

Conn., and has children,—Williard Henry, born May
9, 1878; and Darwin Addison, born March 13, 1880.

The children of Daniel Norton Lucas (sketch) are

Frederick Allen' (see sketch in this history), Mary
Elizabeth,- born Jan. 25, 1843, died April 4, 1866;

Emma Lucretiii,'' born May 9, 1861, died May 1, 1871

;

Daniel Norton, Jr.,' born June 27, 1845, now a farmer

in Goshen, married Addie Wadhams Tuttle, adopted

daughter of Calvin Tuttle, of Goshen, Feb. 6, 1867,

and has children,—Franklin Calvin, born Jan. 19,

1868; Daniel Edwin, born Jan. 3, 1871; Mary Addie,

born Feb. 5, 1872; Charlie, born Oct. 2, 1873.

Benjamin Franklin,* born Aug. 24, 1847, died Feb.

6, 1875, in Goshen, married Kate L. Miles, daughter

of Philo C. Miles, of Goshen, Oct. 3, 1870, and their

children are Willis F., born July 17, 1871 ; Emma
B., born April 4, 1873.

Anna Marrilla,^ born July 22, 1851 ; married Charles

C. AUyn, of Goshen, May 23, 1876, and lives in

West Goshen, Conn.

FREDERICK ALLEN LDCAS.

Frederick Allen Lucas is the eldest child of Daniel

Norton Lucas (referred to in this history with sketch

and portrait), and is now the oldest living male rep-

resentative of the Lucas family in Goshen. He was

born in Goshen, Sept. 9, 1841.

During his boyhood, and until near his majority, he

lived at home, and worked on his father's farm in

summer, attending the common school in winter till

he was twelve years old, when he entered Goshen

Academy under the tutorship of James Q. Rice. At
seventeen he taught a school in Cornwall Hollow, and

continued to teach each winter and helping his father

summers, till July, 1862, when he enlisted as a private

soldier in Company C, Nineteenth Connecticut Vol-

unteers (afterwards the Second Connecticut Heavy
Artillery), under his old teacher, Capt. Rice.

As a boy young Lucas was a great worker, ener-

getic, and persevering ; was never beaten at hoeing,

haying, or milking ; held plow and followed the team

as soon as large enough to swing a whip, and for sev-

eral sea.sons milked the " mean ones" to the number

of fifteen, night and morning, in his father's dairy of

forty-five cows.

When the civil war broke out he was an.xious to

enlist at the first chance which ofl'ered, but his father's

protest and argument that he could not spare him

prevented him from shouldering a musket for the

Union till 1862.

At Camp Dutton, in Litchfield, he was made a cor-

poral, and when his turn came for promotion, some

months afterwards, was advanced to a sergeant.

While serving as sergeant of the guard one day at Fort

Ellsworth, Va., an order from Col. Kellogg, command-

ing, was read to the regiment on dress-parade, com-

manding every non-commissioned officer in tlic regi-

ment to pre.-<ent a specimen of his handwriting at

headquarters within twenty-four hours. Lucas did

not know of this order until after " taps," when he

went to his (luarters for supper, and the "boys" told

him. By the light of a candle stuck in an inverted

bayonet, on a half-slu-et of note-paper that was far

from clean, he attempted to obey his colonel's com-

mand. He i)laced his first thought on paper, writing

the first question and answer in " Artillery Tactics:"

" What is understood by the term artillery ?"

" Heavy piece-s of every description, with the imple-

ments and materials nece.s.sary for their use."

I

Signing his name he rushed to his captain's ient

, and handed in his specimen. Two days afterwards

he wits as much astonished as fifty other sergeants,

;
whom he "jumped," to hear himself commanded by

I a special order to report forthwith to regimental

' headquarters and assume command of headquarters
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guard, brass band, drum corps, and others, in all about

eighty-five men. Whether his penmanship had any-

thing to do with this Lucas never knew. It might

have been due to his skill as a drill-master in both

infantry and artillery tactics, as for many weeks pre-

vious he had been detailed almost constantly on this

duty, drilling the new men witli which the regiment

was being heavily recruited.

The be«t evidence we have that Lucas did his duty

well in this new sphere is that shortly afterwards

Col. Kellogg asked him if he had been home since his

enlistment, and receiving the reply that he had not,

he told Lucas to "go to Adjt. Vaill and tell him to

make out a furlough." The colonel indorsed the

paper with a few words of commendation, and an or-

derly was dispatched to Washington to get the same

indorsed by the general commanding and the Secre-

tary of War, as this was done in the days of " no fur-

loughs," except in extreme cases. The time was for

"seven days from date."

It was while home on this furlough that Lucas

was made a " freeman," and cast his first vote on the

first Monday in April, 1864.

His promptness to obey orders is shown by his re-

turn to the regimental headquarters in Virginia,

twelve hours before his furlough elapsed.

On his return. Col. Kellogg met him with, " How
are you, sergeant-major?" "Did you see your

mother?" " Did you see the f/irl f" Receiving satis-

factory replies, he added, " You want a new set of

chevrons, sir." Lucas did not know what he meant

by the last remark till, visiting the Goshen boys in

Company C that evening, and going to witness their

battalion dress-parade, he heard the special order

read making him a sergeant-major.

He served as sergeant-major on the staff of Col.

Kellogg at Fort Ellsworth and Fort Ward, and while

the regiment occupied Arlington Heights, and it was

at the latter place that he received from a messenger

of the War Department, and passed to the hands of

Adjt. Vaill and Col. Kellogg, at midnight of the i6th

of May, 1864, the order to " go to the front" for bis

regiment.

Lucas held his position on the staff on the noted

march to Spottsylvania, and in the engagement there

;

at Jericho Ford; the night-march along the Pau-

munkey ; in that Aceldama, Cold Harbor, that cost

every fourth man in the regiment; under that con-

tinuous " twelve days' fire." It was here that Col.

Kellogg was killed, and Lucas selected four men to

go with him outside, between the lines, and bring in

the dead body of their beloved commander, on June

2, 1864, and Lucas held charge of the corpse till the

team could be brought up, by which it was sent to

the rear, and thence home for burial.

He was in that noted march with the Sixth Corps

to Petersburg; helped to build the intrenchments at

Harrison's House ; was in the skirmish, so near a

battle, of June 22, 1864; that dusty march to City

Point ; the trying marches and counter-marches under

Sheridan in Maryland and the Shenandoah Valley

;

in the memorable battles of Opequan, Winchester,

and Fisher's ; the chase after the flying rebels to

Harrisonburg ; and in that most remarkable battle

of the war. Cedar Creek, in which he was severely

wounded by a minie-ball through his left thigh.

This injury sent him to the rear for three months,

but before it healed—in fact, it never healed till after

the war was over—he rejoined his regiment at Peters-

burg, just in time to go into the fight at Hatcher's

Run, where he was wounded again, but so slight as

only to confine him to his quarters about a week.

At this date he was sworn in as a second lieutenant

and assigned to Company B, Second Connecticut

Heavy Artillery, on a recommendation of Col. Mac-
kenzie, on whose stafl^ he had served since the death

of Col. Kellogg. His commission from Governor

Buckingham reached him while wounded, at Cedar

Creek. Col. Mackenzie, in writing Governor Buck-

ingham, said he "wanted Lucas commissioned for

gallantry and soldierly conduct in the battles of

Winchester and Fisher's Hill," and in this connec-

tion we copy from Vaill's "History of the Second

Connecticut Heavy Artillery," page 210.

"Sergt.-Maj. (afterwards second lieutenant) Fred-

erick A. Lucas received a wound in the left thigh at

Cedar Creek which disabled him for several months.

He returned to the regiment just in time to receive

another wound—a slight one—in the affair at Hatcher's

Run.
" He was promoted for gallantry at Winchester and

Fisher's Hill, and Col. Mackenzie told the writer,

just after those battles, that he never saw a braver

man than Sergt.-Maj. Lucas."

He was immediately placed in command of his

company, its captain being a prisoner in the enemy's

hands since Cedar Creek, and remained its com-

manding officer till near the close of the war.

In March, 1865, his old colonel, now Gen. Mac-

kenzie, who had been assigned to the command of

Kautz' cavalry division under Sheridan, urged Lucas

to accept a position on his staff, promising him speedy

promotion tlirough the general's influence with Gov-

ernor Buckingham, which offers were declined with

gratitude, a declination much regretted ever since.

Company B was then color company, and Lucas

led his men in the engagement at Fort Fisher, where

his company, with two others, were left to hold through

the night the advanced line gained in the fight that

day, Lucas in command of the advance. He had

command of the picket-line in front of Fort Wads-

worth, with three officers and one hundred and fifty

men under him, on April 1, 1865, when Grant made
his successful attempt to take Richmond and Peters-

burg, and witnessed that glorious sight of the night

cannonading, he and his men being stationed be-

tween the lines of heavy guns, about midway between

friend and foe; and as their position was on high



GOSHEN. 869

ground, they were exultant spectators of next day's

battle, where for the first time, after years of every

sort of peril and trial, as Vaill puts it, " the faithful

soldiers of the republic smv daylight."

He was in command of his company on the hard

chase after Lee's flying army; in the fight at Sailor's

Creek, where three of his men captured flags ; and at

the " great surrender at Appomattox."

He commanded the rear-guard of the Sixth Corps

on the famous march from Danville to Burkesville

after Johnston's surrender.

He was in the grand review of the Sixth Corps and

Sheridan's cavalry at Washington, June 8, 1S65 ; and

it was after this trying march that he was stricken down
with malarial fever, which malady clung to him long

after his return to private life.

Lieut. Lucas has the satisfaction of being able to

say, what few men can, that he was present with,

participated in, and by virtue of his office held a

prominent position in every engagement with the

enemy by the Second Connecticut Heavy Artillery.

He was honorably " mustered out" Aug. 18, 1865.

Upon his return to Goshen he entered the store of

Hart Bros. & Co., at West Goshen, as under clerk,

beginning at the bottom of the ladder, on small

wages, and doing the work of a green hand, building

the fires, sweeping, etc. Here he was successively

promoted until he received a salary equivalent to

twelve hundred dollars per year. In the spring of

1869 he was elected a representative to the General

Assembly, where he served on the committee on

roads and bridges, and on other minor appointments.

In September of 1869 he was solicited to become a

partner in the wliolesale grocery house of Giddings

& Co., of Bridgeport, Conn., which became (tiddings

& Lucas, but after six months an opportunity offered

to purchase the business at West Gosiien, and, pre-

ferring a country life, he withdrew from the Bridge-

port house, and associated with Frederick Vj. Hurlbut

and Wilbert M. AUyn (both of Goshen), forming the

firm of Lucas, Hurlbut & Allyn, succeeding Hart
Brothers & Co.

He is still the senior partner of the firm, which is

now Lucas & Allyn, his present associate being Eu-
gene E. Allyn, a native of Goshen, who also served

his apprenticeship and learned tlie business "from
the bottom round" in the same store.

This place of business has. for many years been

noted for its trade in English dairy cheese, which arc

made by the farmers in Goshen and towns adjoining,

and have for many years found a ready market at

this store. This trade wa.s originally conducted by

Augustus Miles, father of Frederick Miles, the present

member of Congress from this district, and later by
Mr. Miles and his son Frederick, who established the

"trade-mark" "A. Miles & rion," as well known in

its pro|)er market as " Loriliard's tobacco." The
high prices of the war caused a temporary incrciusc in

cheese-making in this section, and Hart Bros. & Co.

shipped more than forty thousand boxes from this

point in one year. The trade is still strong and flour-

ishing, and is nominally in the hands of Lucas &
Allyn, who sell direct to the West India traders.

In 1877, Mr. Lucas made extensive changes in the

old Miles homestead in West Goshen, repairing and

enlarging the house and outbuildings, and has now a

very pleasant, spacious, healthy home, finely situated,

and overlooking the village in which he lives.

By dint of pluck, energy, perseverance, close and

careful application, with the aid of competent part-

ners, he has made his business a success.

Having little taste and less time, he has meddled

but little with politics, and never sought an office, al-

though now and then called to serve his town. He
was one of the committee appointed by the town to

compile a record of what Goshen did in the Rebellion,

and furnished much valuable information. He has

been at various times a constable, grand juror, chair-

man of the board of education, treasurer of the town
deposit fund, loaning committee, etc. ; has been post-

master at West Goshen for several years, and now
holds that ofiice ; was the census enumerator in 1880

for his home district, and received a flattering letter

of commendation from the census department after

his work was examined. He was one of the commit-

tee appointed to arrange and conduct the centen-

nial celebration of his native town in 1876, and

was active and useful in making that event famously

successful, collecting and securing by his personal

efforts alone a large proportion of the funds contrib-

uted, and he was the orator of the day on that occa-

sion, and delivered an address of one and a half hour's

length to an audience filling the Centre church to

overflowing.

He also, at the request of his friends, delivered a

memorial address, as part of the ceremonies of

Decoration Day, May 30, 1874, which was an elo-

quent and instructive production.

He is not over demonstrative on the question of
" women's rights," but believes in giving woman
the credit due her in all cases and circumstances, and
we take the liberty to ])rint his closing remarks illus-

trative of this on the |)ublic occiusion bust referred to:

" And now, old comrades, I have a sentiment to

offer which all good soldiers will indorse: it is that

tribute should be paid to-day to the patriotic women

of (Joshen,—no less a tribute than which we pay the

other sex.

" It was not for woman to shoulder the musket,

wear the sword, or carry the lance. Her sphere was

at home, working, waiting, hoping, praying; to work

for the absent soldier; to wait for the glad tidings of

his success, or, it may be (and, oh, how often for

Goshen women !), news of his suffering and death ; to

hope for his return and the close of the contest ; to

pray for his safety and the success of his arms. Her
sphere to encourage by her love, strengthen by her

faithfulness to duty, and cheer by her abiding faith
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in the future. As Goshen soldiers, we pay tribute to

Goshen women, and each of us who had a loving

mother, a trusting sister, a devoted wife, or cherished

sweetheart either, are glad to-day in the memory of

her patriotism, and proud of her love, her faith, her

sympathy, and her prayers duriug the dark days of

our absence.

" To the mother and daughter, to the wife and sweet-

heart of the late war belong a large share of victories

won and laurels gained by son, brother, husband, and

lover, as, while we waited around our picket-fires

and watched with anxious thoughts our time at the

vidette-post, while we faced death in the noise and

smoke of battle, or struggled with disease and loath-

some wounds in the hospital ward, we ever knew and

remembered that she thought of us, that she prayed

for us; and whether we came home upright in stature,

as when we left, or feet foremost, whether mangled

and broken, with loss of limb and crippled for life,

we never failed to believe that she kept a ' light in

the window' burning brightly always for us; and

while we give honor to the strong arms and stout

hearts of our heroes, the dead and the living, we
divide the praises due to loyalty and devotion, and

render brave woman her share, who by her very

weakness, through love, faith, prayer, and patriotism,

made the strong stronger, the brave braver, the cause

more righteous, the end more glorious, the triumph

more honorable."

Frederick Allen Lucas married Jane, the eldest

daughter of Hon. John M. Wadhams, of Goshen,

Aug. 7, 1867, and he owes much to his wife's tact,

skill, and sympathy for his success in life. Their

children are Frederick Wadhams, born Nov. 11,

1868 ; John Marsh, born Dec. 14, 1870.

F. E. HURLBUT.

Frederick Edgar Hurlbut, son of Horace and Han-
nah Hurlbut, was born in Roxbury, Conn., Feb. 6,

1830. His paternal great-grandfather was David

Hurlbut, who died at Hinesburg, Vt., with his eldest

son, Cornelius. His grandfather, Maj. Hurlbut, was

born in 1768, and died Dec. 9, 1813, aged forty-five

years. His wife, Phebe Jackson, was born in 1776,

and died Aug. 30, 1856, aged eighty. They had four

sons,—Horace, born July 25, 1800 ; William, born

July 8, 1802, died in 1879 ; Ira, born July 4, 1806

;

George, born Oct. 14, 1809. Horace Hurlbut was

both a farmer and a shoemaker. He married Hannah,

daughter of Samuel Lee, of Dutchess Co., N. Y. They

had nine children,—George L. (deceased), Erastus J.,

William E., Frederick E., Alfred H., Phcebe J., John
(deceased), David, Roger (deceased). Mr. Hurlbut was

a man of limited circumstances. In politics was an

unswerving Democrat, and died Feb. 3, 1881, at the

advanced age of eighty-one. Mrs. Hurlbut died

April 18, 1861.

Frederick E. Hurlbut left home when eight years

of age, and commenced upon his own account the

struggle of life's battle by laboring upon different

farms in Roxbury and Washington most of the time

till he was twenty years of age, when he entered a

store in New Haven as a clerk for two years, after

which he entered into trade upon his own account at

New Haven, and continued it till 1854, when he re-

moved to Goshen and followed the business of farming,

and as a cattle-drover, till 1870, in which year he

formed a partnership with Frederick A. Lucas and
William M. Allyn, at West Goshen, under the name
of Lucas, Hurlbut & Allyn, in the well-known store

formerly occupied by Augustus Miles & Son, at which

place the subject of this sketch remained in business

till the year 1879, during which year he removed to

the village of Goshen Centre and built a house, where

he now resides.

Mr. Hurlbut, though not having the benefits of any-

thing more than a common-school education, has by

his business habits and self-culture, and a life of indus-

try and integrity, exhibited in a marked degree an

example worthy of being copied by the young men of

the county. He has represented the town of Goshen

in the General Assembly two sessions, and the Seven-

teenth Senatorial District as its senator one term,

serving one year as member of the judiciary com-

mittee. He has also served in various positions of

public trust in the town of Goshen with great accept-

ance and faithfulness.

Mr. Hurlbut married Mary E., daughter of James

E. and Esther D. (Bentley) Thompson, Jan. 10, 1853.

Mrs. Hurlbut was born Sept. 10, 1832, in Goshen.

Their children are as follows: (1) Adella F., wife of

H. S. Scoville, of Goshen, Conn. ; they have one

daughter, Alice. (2) Lizzie H., wife of Samuel Riley,

of Goshen; they have one son, Frederick C. (3)

Clara E., (4) May G.

The great-grandfather of Mrs. Hurlbut was John

Thompson, who came from Wallingford, Conn., and

was among the earliest settlers in Goshen, Conn. He
had one son, John, and three daughters. He was a

farmer by occupation. John Thompson, the second

son of John Thompson, was born in Goshen, Conn.,

married Pamelia Cowles, of Farmington, Conn., and

had three sons and two daughters, of whom one was

named James E., who was born April 7, 1792, married

Esther D. Bentley, of Stonington, Conn., and had

three children, viz., (1) Louisa D., resides in Goshen,

on the old Thompson homestead ; the second died

young; and (3) Mary E., wife of Frederick E. Hurl-

but.

I

HENRY G. WRIGHT.

Henry G. Wright is a lineal descendant of John

Wright, who came from Wethersfield Aug. 13, 1740,

and bought of one Joseph Bird a half-interest in his

land right. He was first chosen to office here as

surveyor of highways. Dec. 14, 1741, he settled at
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what is now West Goshen, and built a house some

eighty rods west of the bridge. He raised a family,

and among his sons was Jabez, born at Wethersfield,

1738. He was known as Capt. Wright; was a farmer

about one mile southwest of the village of West

Goshen, where he built the brick house where the

family have since resided. He married Martha Bald-

win, Feb. 11, 1767. Their children were Freelove,

born Jan. 1, 1768; Martha, born March 24, 1770;

Asaph, born Jan. 3, 1772 ; and Sybil, born March 4,

1776.

Asaph, the only son of Capt. Jabez Wright, mar-

ried Prudence Moore, of Torringford. Their children

were Canfield, Silas, John, Edward, Edmund, Wil-

liam, and Albert.

Edward Wright was born April 7, 1804, and died

Sept. 17, 1860. He married Phebe Way, May, 1824.

She was born Jan. 22, 1802. Their children were

Eliza, born Feb. 5, 1826, died Oct. 8, 1881 ; Celina

v., born Oct. 22, 1827 ; Asaph S., born Dec. 16, 1829

;

and Henry G., born Sept. 28, 1831.

Henry G. AVright, the youngest of the family, was

reared on the farm, and after his father's death paid

off the other heirs and took the old home, as his

father had done before him. He was married, Feb.

10, 1863, to Louisa L., daughter of Philo Howe, who
was the sixth generation from Jeremiah Howe, who
came from England and settled in Wallingford,

Conn. Joseph Howe, the grandfather of Philo, was

the first of the ftimily who came to Goshen. Six chil-

dren have been born to Mr. Wright, four of wliom

are now living,—Edwin O., born Oct. 21, 1866; Flora

E., born Aug. 8, 1868 ; Alfred H., born April 10, 1875

;

and Harry L., born Feb. 25, 1878. Henry G. Wright

is a man well known in the community wliere he

lives for his strict integrity and upriglit dealing; is

frequently called as administrator, etc. ; has held the

office of selectman for several years, is at present first

selectman ; has filled other offices in his town ; was a

representative to the Legislature in 1878.

FESSENDEN IVES.

Fessenden Ives was born in Goshen, Aug. 17, 1826,

son of Levcrett and grandson of Asa Ives, who came
to Goshen before the Revolution. He married Sally

Marks ; they had four children, three sons and one

daughter, viz., Ebcii, Luther, Leverett, and Sarah.

He died at ninety, and his wife at eighty years of age.

Leverett Ives was born 1796, and died Dec. 5, 1877. He
married Hulda Holbrook in 1822, oldest of eight chil-

dren. The Holbrooks came from Mendon, Mass., set-

tled in Torrington, where they remained some twenty

years, tlien came to Goshen. Tlie children of Leverett

were Alderman, Fessenden, Sabin, Everardus and Bo-

gardus were twins, the latter died at ten years of age;

Hubert L. (he died 1868, at thirty-five), Mary E.,

Henry II., Florence, and .\sa A.

Fessenden Ives lived with his father until he had

attained his majority. At that important crisis his

father gave him one thousand dollars, as was his

custom with all his sons. Nov. 20, 1850, he was mar-

ried to Mary, daughter of Thaddeus Cook, of Sheffield,

Mass. She was the youngest, and is the only survivor,

of ten children.

Soon after Mr. Ives was married he bought the farm

where he has since resided, some two miles south of

West Goshen. Here he ha.s diligently worked for

thirty years, and by his judicious management and

industry, aided by the wise counsels and frugal habits

of his wife, has secured an ample competency, and

the reputation of having the best-cultivated farm in

this part of the county. He has spent much labor

and money in removing the stone from his fields, and

placing them in substantial walls, which entirely in-

close his large farm. He has paid especial attention

to underdraining, and has more than five miles ol

tile-drain on his farm. His buildings are large and

well built. He has a fine herd of Alderney cows, and

his dairy has a reputation second to no other. Mr.

Ives is a Republican ; has held several offices of trust

and honor; has been selectman nine consecutive

years, and after a vacation of a few years is now serving

in the same capacity ; has frequently been called as

trustee, conservator, etc. He represented the town in

the Legislature, 1875. He has been the father of nine

children, five of whom died in infancy ; four are now
living,—Thaddeus, born 1852, married Mary H. Pratt

;

is a farmer adjoining the old home. Mary J., born

Feb. 14, 1854, wife of C. F. Ives, of Trumbull Co.,

Ohio ; George C, born Sept. 27, 1855 ; and Fessenden

L., born Feb. 12, 1868.

NORMAN NORTON.

Norman Norton, son of Andrew and Lorain Norton,

was born in Goshen, Conn., Oct. 10, 1797.

Andrew Norton, son of David Norton, an early

settler in Goshen, was a gold and silversmith by

trade, and a farmer by occupation ; in politics a

Democrat. He died Oct. 28, 1838, aged seventy-three

years. Mrs. Norton died May 27, 1S51, aged eighty-

one years. Their children were (1) Myron, a

farmer, died Nov. 26, 1853, aged sixty-five years

;

(2) Andrew, a farmer, died July 4, 1865, aged

seventy-three years; (3) Clarissa (Mrs. Joseph I.

Oaylord), she died April 22, 1843, aged forty-nine

years; (4) Norman; (5) Horace, was a merchant,

and died in Chicago, Dec. 31, 1862, aged sixty-two;

and (6) Lucretia, died young.

Norman Norton remained at home on his father's

farm, receiving such advant4ige8 for an education as

the district schools atl'orded, till he was twenty-one

years of age, when he went to South Carolina and

Georgia, where he was engaged in general merchan-

dising some seven years with his brother Horace.

At the age of twenty-eight, in 1825, he returneil to

Goshen, and built a store, where he sold goods three
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years, when he sold to a brother. At the same time

he was a farmer, which he continued to follow.

On the 3d of September, 1832, he married Lucy,

daughter of Lyman Tuttle, of Hamden, Conn. Mrs.

Norman Norton was born Jan. 26, 1806. Her father

was a substantial farmer, and a Democrat in politics.

Mr. Tuttle died in the seventy-eighth year of his age.

As soon as Mr. Norton was married he settled on

his father's farm, which he purchased. In politics,

a Democrat of the Jefferson and Jackson school,

he succeeded his brother Myron as postmaster in

Goshen, and served through Pierce's and Buchan-

an's administration. Mrs. Norton is a member of the

Episcopal Church, and Mr. Norton is an attendant

on the Presbyterian Church. Mr. Norton is now an

old man of eighty-four years, and, with the exception

of deafness, retains much of the vigor of youth. He
is esteemed wherever known, and justly takes rank

with Goshen's best citizens.

WILLIAM NOKTON.

William Norton, youngest son of Abram Norton,

was born in Goslien, May 15, 1816. His father was

a mechanic, and young William worked with his

father till he married, March 14, 1839, Sarah, daugh-

ter of Hiram Griswold, of Goshen, when he settled

on a farm formerly owned by Hiram Griswold,

one and a half miles northeast of Goshen Centre.

Here he remained sixteen years, when he settled on

the farm formerly owned by his father, near Goshen

Centre, and there he continued to reside till his death,

Feb. 19, 1880.

He was a large and successful farmer; in politics

a Republican. His town honored him with many
offices. Mr. and Mrs. Norton united with the Con-

gregational Church at Goshen Centre. As a citizen

he was regarded one of the most substantial in town.

He was a kind husband and good neighbor, and his

memory will long be cherished by those who knew
him.*

Eben, second son of Abram Norton, was born in

Goshen, June 25, 1805. He spent his early life as a

peddler till his marriage, April 29, 1834, to Clarissa,

daughter of Thomas and Lovica Griswold. Soon
after his marriage he settled on a farm on East Street,

in Goshen, remained seven years, went to Bristol,

Conn., remained seven years, and was then engaged

in the manufacture of currycombs and candle-

sticks
; then went to Cincinnati, Ohio, and remained

some time, then across the Ohio Eiver, and settled

in Covington, Ky., where he died; July 9, 1855. In

politics, a Republican. Mr. and Mrs. Norton were
members of the Congregational Church. In all be-

nevolent enterprises Mr. Norton did his part. Re-
spected at home and abroad, he enjoyed the confidence

of the people wherever he went.

J history of Goshen for further notice of his ancestors.

Thomas Griswold, born in Goshen, Conn., married
Lovica Smith, and had five children, viz. : (1) Char-
lotte, wife of Isaac Crandall

; (2) Hiram, father of
Mrs. William Norton

; (3) Harriet, wife of Hosea*:^

Crandall
; (4) Clarissa, wife of Eben Norton.

Mr. Griswold was a farmer by occupation, and
Republican in politics. He died February, 1839'!

Hiram Griswold was three times married, first

Harriet Whiting, of Torrington, and had three chill

dren, viz. : (1) Sarah, wife of William Norton (de

ceased)
; (2) Louisa, died at six years of age; andfsf

Thomas W., a farmer in Goshen.

CHARLES L. NORTON.

Charles L. Norton, son of Stephen and HannaMJ
(Coy) Norton, was born in Norfolk, Conn., Nov. 15,

1804. His grandfather, Stephen, Sr., was the first of %
the name to settle in Norfolk, and was akin to the

early settlers in Goshen by that name. Stephen, Sr.,

settled in Norfolk prior to the Revolutionary war, and

was a soldier in that struggle. He was a farmer.

Stephen, Jr., son of Stephen, Sr., was born in Nor-

folk in 1776, married Hannah Coy, and had thirteen

children, twelve of whom grew to maturity. Mr.

Norton was a farmer, and in politics Whig and

Democrat. He died in 1843, and Mrs. Norton died

May 20, 1848, having been born Nov. 25, 1773.

Charles L. Norton attended a district school win-

ters till he was fifteen years of age, working summers

on his father's farm. He remained with his father

on the farm until he was twenty-one years of age.

On the 24th of November, 1825, he married Ann
Maria, daughter of Philo Bailey and Samantha Root.

^

Mrs. Norton was born Feb. 23, 1806. Their children i

are Maria E. (Mrs. Harvey Johnson, 6f Norfolk),
'J

Mary A. (Mrs. Nelson D. Ford, of Winsted), Philo I

B., Albert C, Charles L., Jr., and Remus A.

Mr. Norton purchased a farm in Norfolk soon after

his marriage, and remained four years, when he sold

and settled in the northern part of the town of Goshen,

where he bought some four hundred and eighty-five

acres of land, which is well improved by his own

efforts. In politics a Democrat. He served in many

of the town offices, such as selectman, magistrate, etc.

Mr. and Mrs. Norton are members of the Congrega-

tional Church. In January, 1875, he settled in Win-

chester, one and a half miles east of Winsted, on a

place where he now (April, 1881) resides.

Philo Bailey, son of Andrew Bailey, a farmer, was

born in Goshen, Nov. 29, 1781 ; married Samantha

Root, of Canaan, and had nine children, who grew to

maturity, the eldest being Mrs. Charles L. Norton.

Mr. Bailey was a Whig in politics. He represented

his town in the State Legislature, besides holding

other minor offices. He died Sept. 25, 1857, a:nd

Mrs. Bailey was born Aug. 7, 1784, and died April

14, 1880, aged ninety-six years.

J
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TRUMAN PRENTICE CLARK.

Traman Prentice Clark, son of Joel and Candace
(Bowns) Clark, was born in Winchester, Conn., May
28, 1826. Joel Clark was a resident of Winchester,

Conn., married Candace Bowns, and had thirteen

children. Eleven grew to maturity, and eight of them
are living; names of children,—Emily (deceased),

Mary A., Frederick J. (deceased), Lyman L., Marilla,

Sidney H., Truman P., Henry J. (deceased), Sabra
M., Edwin E., and Amelia, all born in Winchester.

Mr. Clark was a farmer; in politics a Whig. He died

July 1, 1850, and his wife died Aug. 10, 1854.

The maternal grandfather of Truman P. Clark was
Bowns, an Englishman, who settled in America

prior to the Revolutionary war. Truman P. Clark

attended the district school winters, working on the

farm summers, till he was seventeen years of age, when
he began to learn the carpenter's trade, which he fol-

lowed seven years. March 5, 1849, he married Mary
J., daughter of Nathan Tibbals and Rebecca Green.

Their children are Mary L. and Abbie R. Mr. Clark

settled on the farm where he now resides immediately

after his marriage. His farm, which was originally

one hundred and sixty acres when he settled in

Goshen, contains now more than two hundred and
forty acres, which is in a good state of cultivation.

His buildings are good, showing thrift and enterprise.

He is a Democrat in politics, and as such has been a

leading and influential man in Goshen for many years.

He is now (1881) serving on his eighth year as select-

man, and has been a magistrate several years, besides

holding other town offices. In 1873 he was elected

to the General As.sembly of Connecticut. Mr. Clark

is about five feet nine inches in height, and weighs

about two hundred pounds. Of a genial and .social

disposition, sterling integrity, of great energy and
force of character, a good citizen, a kind husband and
father.

Nathan Tibbals, son of Abel Tibbals and Jane
Kelsey, was born in Winchester in 1787, and died

Aug. 15, 1851, aged sixty-four years. His wife dieil

April 27, 1864, aged sevcnty-sixyears. They had eleven

children, viz., Abigail, Lorain (decea.sed), Frederick,

George, Harriet N., 11 uldah R., Nathan H. (decea.sed),

Harmon (deceased), Sarah (deceased), Lyman (de-

ceased), and Mary Jane, wife of Truman P. Clark.

Mr. Tibbals was a successful farmer in Winchester;

settled in (Joshen in 1833 or 1834, on the tiirm where
he lived till his death. In politics a Democrat. Mr.
and Mrs. Tibbals were members of the Congregational

Church at Winchester, Conn.

Abel Tibbals was a farmer and drover by occupation.

Wn,IJAM h. (3RISW0LD.

William L. Griswold, eldest son of Julius Gris-

wold and Asenath Hall, was born in Litchfield,

Conn., Jan. 5, 1816. His grandfather, John Gris-

wold, wa-s probably a native of Litchfield, or went

there when a young man ; married Rhoda Wetmore,
and had the following children : Julius, John, Jar-

vis, Henry S., Rhoda (Mrs. Bradley Stewart), Almira

(Mrs. John Wright), Minerva (Mrs. Amos Wright),

Dotha (unmarried), Betsy (Mrs. John Wright), and
Melinda (Mrs. Chas. Wickwire).

Julius Griswold, son of John, born in Litchfield,

Conn., was twice married, first to Asenath, daughter

of John Hall, of Litchfield, and had six children,

—

(1) Elvira, wife of Nelson Wadhams
; (2) William

L. ; (3) Henrietta
; (4) Louisa, wife of Geo. Bradley

;

(5) Horner W.
; (6) Charlotte (deceased), wife of

Philo Cummings.
Julius Griswold was a millwright by trade, in pol-

itics a Whig, and as such was magistrate and .select-

man several years. He died at eighty-six years of

age. His wife still survives him, and is now (1881)

ninety-three years of age.

John Griswold the second married Nabbie Bissell,

and had one daughter, Cornelia, who graduated at Miss

Pierce's school, in Litchfield, married Dr. Chas. Vail,

and has two sons, Edward, a sea captain, and Charles,

a physician.

Jarvis Griswold married Susan Page, and had a

son, Horatio, a hotel-keeper, and a daughter, Cor-

nelia, who married Henry L. Coe, a farmer in Litch-

field.

Henry S. Griswold married Nancy Perkins, and
had two children,—Darius, a farmer, and Gertrude.

Rhoda (iriswold married Bradley Stewart, and had
one son, John Henry, a minister.

Betsy Griswold married John Wright, and had three

sons,—George F., an artist and journalist in Hart-

ford, Conn. ; Gustavus A., a land-agent ; and Wash-
ington I., a physician in California.

Elvira Griswold, daughter of Julius, married Nel-

son Wadhams, and they had a son, Wilbur 11., who
I married Julia H., daughter of John M. Wadhams, of

(loshen, Sept. 3, 1875, and to them wa.s born a daugh-
ter, Elizabeth, born June 24, 1877. Wilbur Wad-
hams is a merchant miller in West Goshen.

William L. (iriswold received a common-school and
academic education, and taught school when a young
man. At eighteen years of age he commenced to

learn the trade of a millwright, which he followed

some eight years. At twenty-two he went to Ten-
nessee, and spent two years at his trade ; returned to

Litchfield County ; married, Dec. 7, 1843, Harriet L.,

daugliter of Hosea and Harriet ((iriswold) Crandall.

Mrs. William L. Griswold was born Nov. 5, 1821.

They have a son, Frank William, born June 15,

1851. He is a farmer in Goshen; married Carolina

R., daughter of Eliada Kilbourn, of Litchfield, and
had two children,

—

William K. (deceased I and Wil-

liam F.

Mr. Griswold settled in Goshen soon after his mar-

riage, and has continued to reside here ever since. In

1840 he purchased his present farm, where lie now
lives. In politics a Republican ; he has been mag-
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istrate, selectman, and was member of the State Leg-

islature in 1858, and again in 1879, serving on the

committee of agriculture. He has often been called

upon to settle estates, which he has done to the gen-

eral satisfaction of those interested.

Mrs. Griswokl is a member of the Methodist Epis-

copal Church, and Mr. Griswold is a regular attendant

and liberal supporter of the same.

Homer Griswold married Mary Butler, and has

three children,—William, Louisa, and Charlotte.

He is a machinist by trade. He enlisted in the

Nineteenth Regiment Connecticut Volunteers (after-

wards known as the Second Connecticut Heavy Ar-

tillery) as a private, rose to the rank of lieutenant,

and was honorably discharged.

Charlotte Griswold married Philo Cummings, of

Litchfield, and has two daughters,—Isadore, who
married Harley Morse, a farmer in Litchfield, and

Ida Cummings.

ACORS WELLS LAWTON.

The last of the Baptist pioneers in a church which

once numbered a hundred and fifty members died

Feb. 16, 1881. The church was in Cornwall Hollow.

The deacon who was the pioneer and last pillar was
A. W. Lawton. He was a native of Rhode Island,

and brought to Goshen a good portion of Roger Wil-

liams' fire and the baptism of the spirit to guide it.

He was born at Hopkinton City, May 1, 1797, the

third son and seventh child of a family of nine, whose
average age was sixty-five years,—the family of Joseph

and Ann Lawton.

Young Lawton was seventeen years of age when
Stonington was bombarded by the British, and seven

years later his personal courage was tested in the

bloodless victory by which he won a woman for a

wife from the oldest house in Stonington,—the Cheese-

brough, abbreviated to " Cheesebro'." The first man
to settle in Stonington was William Cheesebrough.

A descendant of his was Rev. Elihu Cheesebrough,

whose niece, Mary C, was married to Lawton, Dec.

2, 1821. The newly-married couple retreated to the

hills of Hartford the same year. The great misfor-

tunes of mothers was hers, when, in giving birth to

twin sons, Joseph and Zebulon C, June, 1823, her

own life was the sacrifice. Mr. Lawton and Elizabeth

Clark, of Hartland, were married in May, 1825, by

which five sons—Ben, Wells A., Franklin, Giles M.,

and Nelson H.—were born, all but the third surviving.

In 1827, Mr. Lawton removed with his family to

Goshen, purchasing a new farm, which has been his

home ever since, and has supported him in honorable

comfort and in the exercise of a hearty hospitality to

the friends his good cheer and good works drew

around him. His son Giles retains the farm. He
was again bereaved through the loss of his wife, and
again was married to a descendant of the Cheese-

broughs— Mrs. Jane Bartholomew— in 1863. Al-

though not the mother of, she has been a faithful

mother to, his children, and rests in their confidence

until she shall be released from her scene of faithfiil

labors. In the concentric circles of his duties, Mr.

Lawton's home circle was the first and dearest. He
commanded his children in love. His memorials are

in them. In his circle of relations he was admired

for his excellent qualities. In his church circle he

was a " pillar," essential to all its interests, giving his

voice heartily to its " songs of lofty cheer," his money
for its support, and for the support of the " Christian

Secretary" from the first, 1824. He led in the or-

ganization of the Baptist Church, was treasurer of the

Widows' Fund of the Baptist Association of Litch-

field County until it disbanded, but was of too liberal

a spirit and opinions to limit his support to his own
denomination.

At his funeral a Congregational minister, Chas. N.

Fitch, oflieiated, and the deacons of two Congrega-

tional Churclies in Goshen and North Cornwall were

bearers, and the large attendance of representative

people of both parishes showed the high regard in

which he was held.

In his circle of citizenship he was selectman of

Goshen ; represented his town in the Legislature in

the year 1853, and served his town with credit and

confidence in all his places of trust.

He has " finished the work which God gave him to

do." He had a longer time in which to do it than is

allotted to most men,—eighty-three years and nine

months,—and he did it with a more spontaneous, free,

and loving spirit than is common to man ; so his

friends loved Deacon Lawton, for the life of Christ

was beautiful in him.

CHAPTER XXXV.
HARWINTON.

Geographical— Topographical— Original Proprietors—The Pioneers

—

Early Schools—Votes—The Kevolnlion—Names of Soldiers, Etc.

The town of Harwinton lies on the east border of

the county, and is bounded as follows: on the north

by Torrington and New Hartford, on the east by Hart-

ford County, on the south by Plymouth and Thomas-

ton, and on the west by Litchfield. The surface of

the town is elevated and hilly, and better adapted to

grazing than the raising of grain.

ORIGINAL PROPRIETORS.

This town originally consisted of two half-town-

ships, one belonging to Hartford and the other to

the Windsor proprietors. The several companies to

which the different parcels of land made out of Wind-

sor people's moiety had been allotted were incor-

porated May 11, 1732, and the Hartford company in

May, 1733. The original proprietors were as follows:

Samuel Allyn, John Bancraft, John Barber, Joseph
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Barnard, Daniel Bissell, Ebenezer Bissell, Thomas
Buckland, Simon Cliapman, Benjamin Colt, John

Cook, Sr., Thomas Cook's heirs, Samuel Denslow,

Nathaniel Drake, Benjamin Eglestone, Isaac Egle-

stone, Caleb Elmer, John Elsworth's heirs, Daniel

Garrett's heirs, John Gaylord, Daniel Gillet, John

Grant, Joseph Grayham, Daniel Griswold, Jr., Ed-

ward Griswold, Matthew Griswold, Pelatiah Gris-

wold, Samuel Heydon, Joseph Holcomb, Timothy

Hosford, Ebenezer Loomis' heirs, Hezekiah Loomis,

Mary Loomis, Nathaniel Loomis, Sr., Noah Loomis,

Pelatiah Mills, Amos More, John More, Jr., Koger

Newberry, Nathaniel Owen, Daniel Phelps, Samuel

Phelps, Sr., William Phelps' heirs, Josiah Rockwell,

Joseph Skinner's heirs, Noah Sparks, Daniel Stough-

ton, John Stoughton, Return Strong's heirs, Henry

Styles, Sr., John Styles, Sr., Thomas Styles, Nathan-

iel Watson, Samuel West, Daniel White's heirs, John

Andrews, Sr., Jonathan Arnold's heirs, Samuel Ben-

ton, John Bracy, Moses Bull, James Bunce, John

Bunce, Jr., Joseph Bunce, Jonathan Butler, Thomas
Butler's heirs, Joshua Carter, Benjamin Catlin, Sam-

uel Catlin, Timothy Easton, Benjamin Grayham's

heirs, Jonah Gross, Barnabas Hinsdell's heirs, Joseph

Holtom, Ebenezer Hopkins' heirs, Ebenezer Hop-
kins, Jonathan Hopkins, Thomas King, Jonathan

Mason, Daniel Messenger, Joseph Mygatt's heirs,

Thomas Olmstead, Thomas Richards, Thomas Rich-

ards, Jr., Samuel Sedgwick, Zechariah Seymour,

Joseph Skinner, Thomas Spencer, William Warren,

Abram Webster, Samuel Webster, William Webster's

heirs, John White, Jr., John Williams, Mary Wil-

liams, Hezekiah Wyllys, Esq.

THE PIONEERS.

To Daniel Messenger is inscribed the honor of

having been the first white settler within the bounds

of the present town of Harwinton. He located here

in 1730. "Whether we think of him," says R. M.

Chipman, in the " History of Harwinton," "as now
keeping more closely to his tarrying-place, whicii

must at tlie first have been so lonely, though near the

road between Litchfield and Farmington, or as now
crossing the line between the Hartford and Windsor

proprieties, he for both East Harwinton and West

Harwinton respectively, and so for us all, wjis ' the

pathfinder.' Viewed in relation with merely such

effects, consequent on his coming to Harwinton, as

here, while he lived he saw accomplished ; much
more, viewed in relation with those results thence

originating, which here since his death have been

unfolded, he appears, even aside from any of his own
purposes in the matter, to have executed a mission

from God for the good of all otiier persons who should

dwell here ; so that, without intent to utter it punning-

ly, far less profanely, one might say that to each of

such persons Providence, in effect, affirmed of him

(what wa-s said of ' one greater than he') :
' This is he

of whom it is written. Behold 1 send my messenger

before thy face, which shall prepare thy way before

thee.' As to our ' pathfinder,' literally, ' before' him,

respecting time and otherwise, was that ' way' pre-

pared which has incidentally been twice mentioned.

In the latter mention of it were quoted the words of

a record which, one other excepted, is the oldest that

Harwinton possesses.* This road which our annals

present thus early was, previously to Capt. Messen-

ger's taking his residence in the township, part of the

route traversed and incipiently ' made' by such per-

sons as, at Farmington, Hartford, and other places,

had been interested in facilitating access and acces-

sions to the plantation by them set forward at Bantam

(now Litchfield). Chiefly by this did the people of

Hartford and the other easterly towns gain entrance

into a territory which, forming at present a large part

of the largest county in Connecticut, and supplied

now with agricultural products, manufactures, vil-

lages, and well-instructed inhabitants, was at that

period a wilderness, known as ' the Western lands.'

The said road, by Capt. Messenger and other ' East

Harwinton Proprietors' put into fit condition, De-

cember, 1732, continued to be a main thoroughfare

until long after the establishment of stage-coach ac-

commodations ; so that, by means of the travelers who

used it, Harwinton had at that day, and for years

afterward, a more extensive publicity than it has now.

It was over this road that—with his suite, including

Maj.-Geu. the Marquis de La Fayette, Gen. Knox, and

several other American officers of distinction—passed

our nation's ' pathfinder,' Gen. Wa.shington. After

his party had taken here refreshments, in presenting

^liich the choicest of our young maidens honored

themselves as well a.s their fathers' and their town's

welcome guests,t the cavalcade went onward ; and

when, in its progress, it moved gracefully up the

western ascent from the valley of Lead-mine Brook,

and thus was in full view of persons assembled at the

church standing then, it presented a pageant which,

sixty years afterwards, aged citizens vividly remera-

bere<l.

" It is not probable that our pioneer resident lived for

any considerable interval wliolly alone ; but it does not

appear, with any definiteness, how soon other persons

made here their homes. Dr. Trumbull, giving of our

first settlers only the surnames, says, ' Tlie five first

were Messenger, Hopkins, Webster, Phelps, and

• » J«n., 1731-3. •• WoneKir Ilapklnm of Walerbury," btiyi Und of

(hl< undo) " Surnuol SeJgwlck, o( llartfonl." 10 Jmi , XTii-X. Kl«n-

eMr lIopkliiK, of " tlip WpKterii laiuLs near the road ItetwMn Llt-liflold

and Farmington," mIU land In " my fallier Panlul MesMnKcr. living at

tlio fanio place."—" Ea«t Ilarwllitoii" Rocurda. (22 F©I>., IT3'i-3. " An-

tliuny Uuiiktns, Jr., of Windaor," etc., Ii the earliest date noticed In the

"Woet Ilanrlntttn" Reconla.)

t Tlio rt'iMWt wan takon, ngod pcopip, my Infomianta In 1837, aald. In

the house then oi-cupieil liy a BIr. UntnMin, In which (1KI'<0) In tlip office

of ilon. AhUal) Calllii. That hullding, howevfir, wm the lint Utern*

house kept in Harwinton. Whether It was so twed at the time of Waah-

Ington's pausing throiigli Harwinton doea not appear. One of the fair

serrlton of the entertainment given was (^ndace, daughter of George

i CktllD, afterwards Uie wife of liowla Catlin, Gaf.
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Wilson. These were on the lands before the division

and sale of them in 1732.' The division which he re-

fers to is the partition made between the towns of

Hartford and Windsor of their moiety of the ' West-

ern lands ;' and the sale which he refers to is rather,

as he had previously called it, ' provisions for the

sale' of said lands. In saying 'before' 1732, he seems

to have meant the year next preceding that. The first

name that Dr. Trumbull gives. Messenger, might, in

addition to our pioneer himself, include, as found here

at the date assigned, two of his sons, Nehemiah and

Samuel. Our records show, of these sons, that the

latter belonged here in January, 1733-34, and the

former in October, 1735, certainly, in January, 1733

-34, probably. It may, from the circumstances of

their father's age and position, and of their own age,

both being then in their majority, be well inferred

that these both were here as soon as their father was,

although a Nehemiah Messenger—more than possi-

bly this same person going thither after tarrying here

and at Cornwall, and at Sheffield, Mass., for only a

short time—was, somewhat after 1750, among the

early immigrants of Egremont, Mass., the settlement

of which township some one commenced about the

same date that Capt. Messenger began to settle ours,

1730. The second name that Dr. Trumbull gives,

Hopkins, may also include more than one person,

since Ebenezer Hopkins, who, calling Capt. Messen-

ger ' my father,' was either his step-son or, which is

the more likely, his son-in-law, was a resident here in

January, 1732-33; and Hezekiah Hopkins, who, found

resident here two or three years later, took a deed of

land here in April, 1732, the month indicating he

took the deed with a cultivator's intent of putting the

land into immediate occupancy, that he might live on

it and live by working on it, rather than with a spec-

ulator's thought,— ' I have bought a piece of ground,

and I must needs go and see it.' The third name
that Dr. Trumbull gives, Webster, is scarcely more
definite in respect of the persons intended, for, though

Cyprian Webster had a deed conveying to him land

here in November, 1733, yet Moses Webster appears,

by our documents, as residing here nearly as soon as

said Cyprian Webster does. The fourth name that

Dr. Trumbull gives, Phelps, similarly ambiguous in

this regard, may apply nearly as well to two persons,

for, so far as our records disclose, Daniel Phelps and

Samuel Phelps were both resident here in 1736. Of
the five names that Dr. Trumbull gives there appears,

as having neither a double nor triple applicability to

persons, but one Wilson, yet John Wilson, in the

records that we have, comes to view not earlier than

in 1737. Conceding, however, that Dr. Trumbull

was in this case accurately informed,—as he surely

might have been, gathering materials for history at

the time in which one at least of the five, John Wil-

son, was yet surviving,—the sum of the matter is

this: Daniel Messenger ranked apart from the rest.

Since, beyond doubt, he was established in the town-

ship in 1730, there may be taken as the primary in-

habitants of Harwinton, Ebenezer Hopkins, Samuel
Messenger, Daniel Phelps, Samuel Phelps, Cyprian

Webster, John Wilson. These, and Nehemiah Mes-

senger, possibly were on their ' claims' here, settlers,

in 1731, and most probably in the previous year.

" In a memorial bearing date May 13, 1736, pre-

sented to the General Court by Nathan Davis, Daniel

Messenger, and George Wyllys, as a committee of
' the inhabitants of Harwinton,' asking, through this

their committee, permission to levy an additional tax,

in order to pay arrearages due to a gentleman who had

preached to them, and asking, also, ' authority to em-

body in church estate, and to be incorporated as a

town,' it is stated that at that time the township 'con-

tained one hundred souls, of whom twenty-one were

heads (masters) of families.' No action, as respect-

ing church embodiment and town incorporation, hav-

ing been taken by the General Court on that memo-
rial, another memorial, dated Oct. 4, 1737, signed by

Anthony Hoskins, Daniel Messenger, and Zechariah

Seymour, as agents for 'the inhabitants of Harwin-

ton,' in which said inhabitants, through their said

agents, renew their requests and gain their objects,

states that 'the place, being daily increasing,' then

numbered one hundred and sixty-one souls, of whom
' twenty-four were heads (masters) of families.' There

are not sufficient data for designating these male heads

of families with absolute certainty as to each of

them, but, as nearly as the materials obtained seem

to authorize a specification, the twenty-four such per-

sons were Samuel Barber, Deacon Jacob Benton, Sr.,

Daniel Bissell, Jr., Daniel Brown, Esq., Thomas Bull,

Lieut. Nathan Davis, Jr., Daniel Gillett (second),

Nathaniel Hatch, Amos Hinsdale, Capt. Jacob Hins-

dale, Sr., Ebenezer Hopkins, Jr. and Sr., Hezekiah

Hopkins, Ensign Jonathan Hopkins, Sr., Anthony

Hoskins, Jr., Noah Loomis, Sr., Israel Merriman,

Capt. Daniel Messenger, Nehemiah Messenger, Sam-

uel Messenger, Samuel Moody, Deacon Daniel Phelps

(second), Lieut. Samuel Phelps, Jr. and Sr., Cyprian

Webster, Sr., Esq., Samuel Winchell.
" In the latter memorial a statement is made that

at the time when it was dated there had been four-

teen children born within the territory,—a circum-

stance which, as various others do, indicates that

many of the families then here were youthful ones.

But more noticeable is the fact, seen by comparing

together what both memorials say as to the whole

population here, that in the interval between the dates

of these memorials, seventeen months, wherein only

three families were added, the sum total of persons,

instead of increasing at the same rate, or becoming,

at most, one hundred and fifteen, had increased

more than four times as rapidly, and so become one

hundred and sixty-one. This fact, accounted for by

the supposition that wives of the settlers and young

children, not previously here, had at this later period

come in, shows that the preparations made for their
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comfort were now finished, and is thus significant of

hoHses built, barns set up, harvests gatliered, stores

for the winter hiid in, and progress made on every

hand."

The following is a list of the first settlers from 1730

to 1740, inclusive, giving date of settlement and towns

from which they came :

Job Alford, 1738, Windsor.

Edmund Austin, .

Samuel Barber, 1733, Windsor.

Andrew Bartholomew, Rev., 1739, Wallingford.

Jacob Benton, Sen., Deacon, 1732, Hartford.

Daniel Bissell, Jr., 1732, Windsor.

Hezekiel Bissell,
, Windsor.

Jonathan Brace, Lieut. (Esq.), 1732, Hartford.

Daniel Brown, Esq., 1736, Mendon.
Isaac Bull, 1739, Windsor.

Thomas Bull, 1832, Windsor.

Jonathan Butler, Jr., 1832, Hartford.

Abijah Catlin, Sr., Esq., Maj., 1739, Hartford.

Benjamin Catlin, Sr., Sergt., O. P.,* Hartford.

Jonathan Catlin, Sr., 1739, Hartford.

James Cole, 1733, Wallingford.

John Colt, 1755-36, Simsbury.

Nathan Davis, Jr., Lieut., 173-1^35, Windsor.

Daniel Gillet (second), 1733, Windsor.

Nathaniel Hatch, 1732, Guilford.

Joseph Hayden, 1737, Windsor.

William Hayden, 1737, Windsor.

Josiah Higley, 1737, Simsbury.

Amos Hinsdale, 1732, Hartford.

Jacob Hinsdale, Sr., Capt., 1732, Hartford.

Ebenezer Hopkins, Jr. and Sr., O. P., Hartford.

Hezekiah Hopkins, 1732-33, Hartford.

Jonathan Hopkins, Sr., Ens., 0. P., Hartford.

Stephen Hopkins, 1738, Hartford.

Anthony Hoskins, Jr., 1732-33, Windsor.

Parmenor King, 1736, Hartford.

Joseph Lawrence, 1735, Southhold, L. I.

Noah Loomis, Sr., (). P., Windsor.

Israel Merriman, 1735, \\'allingford.

Joseph Merriman, 1740, Wallingford.

Daniel Messenger, Capt., O. P., Hartford.

Nehemiah Messenger, 1735, Hartford.

Samuel Messenger, 1733-34, Hartford.

Peiatiah Mills, Sr., Esq., Capt., O. P., Windsor.

Samuel Moodey, 1732, Hartford.

Daniel Plulps, 2d, Deacon, 1733, VV'indsor.

Samuel Phelps, Jr., Sr., Lt., 1736-37, Windsor.

Joseph Richards, 1736-37, Hartford.

William Robin.soii.

Zechariaii Seymour, .Ir., 1739, Hartford.

Jolin Stoughtoii, (). P., Windsor.

Ebenezer Tyler, 1739, Branford.

Cyprian Webster, Sr., Esq., 1733, Hartford.

Moses Webster, 1737, Hartford.

John Wilson, Jr., Capt., Deacon, 1737, Windsor.

* 0. P. •IgulSea orlgliul proprialor.

Samuel Winchell, 1734, Windsor.

George Wyllys, Capt, Hon., Hartford.

SCHOOLS.

The first reference to schools found in the town
records is under date of Jan. 20, 1741—12, as follows :

" Foterf, That: wee will: have schooling some part of the year.
" Voled^ That tlieire be three : pence upon the pound Leued upon the

Grand List in order to Maintain a School in the town.
" Voted, That Jacob Benten and Joimtlian Hopkins and Nathan Davis

Be a Comniity in order to prouide a Sofisiant School master and mistress

for the year insuing in the town.

" Voted, That the School for the Jnstructing the youth to Kight And
Kead for two months this year Be att tlie Dweling House of Jsrael Meri-
mon.

" Voted, That the Rest of the Mony Be Lett to the Discresion of the
Commity to Lay out upon School Dames
"June 9, 1743.— Vot^d, That any parson or parsons Joyning to gether

to Build a School house in the town of Harwiutou shall have Liberty to

Build a Schoolhouse Sumwliere Neer the Meeting Hous upon there one
cost.

" Voted, That Jsrael Merrimou and Daniel Bartholomew Be a Com-
mitty to determin the place wliure tlie School House Shall Stand.

"Jan, 13, 1745-6.—it was Voted that there Shold be a School house
built in Sum Convenient place near the meeting house in Said Town.

'*Feb. 17, 1745-G,—it is now Voted that y* above Said School house
Shold butt Sumwhar neare y SoutliEast corner of y R^: 5lr; Andrew
Bartholomew yt Lyetli West of y meeting house or uear there as y*
Comiitis descresion Shall Lad them.

" Voted, That y above menshoned Scliool house Shall be Eighteen feet

in length & Sixteen feet in Wedth one Story high.

" Voted, That De:" Jacob Benton A Daniel Bartholomew ,& Jonathan
Butler Shall be a Commity to order and See to y building and finishing

of y* aljove Said Schoolhouse.

"it was Voted that nil y boards & Timber 4 Stone that was Left In
finishiog of y" Loar part .)f y« meeting house Shall be made Use of So
fare as it will Go for the benlllt of the above Said School house in any
Use as sd Commity Shall See ttt about sd houso.

" Dec. 15, 1747 — tliis meeting [, begun at the Meeting-Uouso,] to

aiorned to the Scliool house in y* above Said town.

" this meeting Ijcing opncd at said School house thoy proseded uii
" Voted, That Amaziah Ashman Sluill Im a tuwn Inhabitant in this

Town.
" Voted^ That there Shall be a Rale Leued on |K>Ie8 and Ratat)el Katats

in this town of Seventy iKiunds money of the old tener to Defray tho
Charge of Building the Sclioolhonito lu this town in tliis year.

" Voted, That there Shell be Twenty pounds in money of the old tenor
Leued on polos ami iUttabele Kstats in this l*»wn in onier to maintaining
of a Schoole a mongst in this ll>wn^n the year Insuing.

" Voted, That D> Jacob Benton Adaniel Bartholomew 4 Samuel Dielps
Shall bo a Cuniniilus to Recceve and |>ay out the aliove Said money for

Sch(K)llng as there DIascreshon Shall Load them for tho Best atlvantjige

for Enducatlng yuth amonst us In tlils town for llto year Jnsuing.
" Dec. I;l, ni».— Voted, That lliero Shall be KIghty |wunds In money

of the old tenor Leved on pols ami Rataliel EntaU In this town In onler
to Gary (on) Schooling In this town the one half of il is to bo lmpruuo<l
to hire a School master as fare as It Shall Go lu this town for tho year
Insuing and the other half Is to lio ImproueU to hlr« School dojies lo this
town for y* year Insuing.

' Votett, That d* Jacob Bf^nton and Samuel Phelps and Daniel Bar-
tholomew and Daniel riiel|is and ('apt Daniel Mo8.«onger Shall b« a
t'ummittve lo ordur and a |>uint a S<-liuol muster and School mistrlses la
this town In the year Insuing anil to Receive in and pay out tho above
Sum ol money for tho use aforesaid acconling lo there Discrtulon for the
Laming of tho youth a mongst us to w(r]ight and Reode.

" Doc. 3, USO.-' Voted, That tliero be Sixty pounds leved for the hiring
a School master to touch Children lu Road A write Cypher tho one half
to bo Raised by the town and tho other half to be by the parents or mas-
tors of tho (Miildron that thay Send to Said School.

" VoUd, Tliat there Shall \h> Forty poiimls Itaysd fur the hiring of two
women to leach Children to Road the Sclnnds to l>e kept the one East
Side of the town at Such Tlwe as tho Committee that Shall be ChoaeQ
Shall a pidnt; tu U- Raised one half by tho town the other half by Iba
paronts and mnjitem of the Children tiiat tboy sand aoconUng to tha
uunibor thoy send.



378 HISTORY OF LITCHFIELD COUNTY, CONNECTICUT.

" Voted, That Ebenezer Hopkins Isaac Bull and Abijah Catling Shall

be a Curamitee to order the prudentals of the Schoola in hiring a School

master and School mistrises and disposing the money that was Voted

for School according to the true intent for what it was Granted.

"Dec. 3, 1151.^ Voted, That there Shall be one hundred pounds in

money of the old tenor Raised in this Town for Schooling of Children in

order to teach them to writ and Read the one half of s** money to be

Raised on the Ratetabel Estate of the inhabitants and the other half to

be Raised upon the pules of Such Children as Shall be Sent [to]

School the above money to be divided upon the List on Eitch Side of the

town and Improved as tlie Commitee that Sliall Be Chosen Shall order

the same in one Shool or more and to apoiut the places to keep the

Schools and git scliool masters for y^ same.

" Voted, That Ebennzer Hopkins and Abijah Catling and Lt Aaron

Cook and Israel Merriman and David Hayden and decon Daniel Phelps

Shall be a Comm[ittfe] to apoiut tlie Places for the Schools and dispose

of the School money for the Use for which it is voted for.

" Dec. 20, 1752.— Voted, That we will have a School in this town for

the year Insuiug to wit one montli on the East Side of the town and one

mouth at the School house in this town & one month on the West Side

the Town.
*' Voted, That their Shall be £00—008: 00*/ in money of the oM tenor

Leived on the one half of it Leived on the Ratable Estate in this Town
and the other half of the s'' money to be Leived on the poles of Such as

Go to School in order to maintiiin a school among u.s.

' Voted, That Cypiian AVebster A Samuel Phelps A De" Jacob Benton

Shall be a Comnietee to apoint places for Said School and to hire a School

master tor said School.

"Sept. 18, 17.*t3.— Voted, That their Shall be Seventy Founds money
Levied on the poles & Ratable Estates of the Inhabitants of this Town to

Defray the (Charges of the meeting house and of the Schouling that we
have had Done allready in this Town this year & pay tor a Cloth to

Cover the Ded that is allready provided in this town."

To the above extracts from the Town Book I.

should be added as ibllows, from the records of " the

West Proprietors of Harwinton:"

" March 20, 1753.— Voted, That the proprietore will dispose of the unde-

vided Land the interest of S^ money to Support a School in the west pro-

priety of Harwinton."*

The last entry made in the records of the " Proprietors of East Har-

winton" is under date of March 6, 1759, in these words: " ajurned to

the first muuday of march next."

The last entry made in the Records of the " Proitrietors of West Har-

winton" is under date of Apill 14, 1757 [1769 ?], in these words :
*' Voted,

That this meeting be ad.)Oi'ned to the first munday of march, 1770."

The records of the proprietors, kept first at Hartford and Windsor re-

spectively, at which places the firet meetings of said persons were hehJ,

were kept, and said meetings were held in Harwinton after the organi-

zation of the town.

—

Mayining.

THE REVOLUTION.

A number of persons from Harwinton, large as

compared with the population of the town, were sol-

diers in what New Englanders term " the old French

war," 1755-63. Some of these, as ascertained in 1837,

were Charles Goodwin, Capt. Jacob Hinsdale, Timothy

Homaston, Benoni Hough, Samuel Weston. Timothy

Homaston, who had been under command of Gen.

Amherst at the taking of Quebec, 1759, died, at a very

advanced age, in 1829.

In the time of the great struggle which event-

uated in securing our national independence, there

were, as is known, individuals in nearly all parts of

the country who took a view of that struggle differing

from that of the mass of their fellow-citizens. There

*In the records of the " Proprietors of East Harwinton," the latest

mention noticed of "undevided lauds" is under date of 1746, at which

time '* deck [deacon] thoraas richards" was allowed to " make his pitch" of

them.

is remembered but one such as having belonged to

Harwinton :

"John Marsh, 3d, of Litchfield, applied [to the Governor and Council

of Safety, 11 Feh., 1777) for liherty to take Mark Prindle, of Harwin-

ton {a tory [then] at Mansfield}, and have him before the Court at Litch-

field, in discharge of hia hail bond, given for said Prindle in another

case ; which wajs granted by the Governor and Council with their order

to return said Prindle, after his trial, to Amaiiah Williams in said Mans-

field."!

In 1781, Harwinton was subjected to a penalty of

fifteen pounds for a deficiency of one man in the

number of men required for the war. J

Incidents of a different character, as well as men
more fitly representing the town at that period, were

as given below.

While the people here were on a Sabbath morning,

Ajjril 27, 1777, preparing to leave their homes for at-

tendance on [public worship, an express arrived through

Litchfield from Danbury, announcing that Governor

Tryon with his troojas, the " Cow-Boys," as they were

contemptuously termed by the Americans, had come
from New York to tlie latter place. Mr. (afterwards

Deacon) Webster, after receiving from the messenger

the written message which was brought, gave it to

Abraham Goodwin for conveyance to New Hartford.

He ran with it, " post-haste," one mile to Lieut.

Jonathan Goodwin, whom he found strapping to his

horse a side-saddle. The lieutenant, a man who gen-

erally required ample time for deliberation on even

small matters, and who otherwise was becomingly slow

in his movements, now, catching by a glance the pur-

port of the document, exchanged his saddle in a trice,

and, urging his wonder-struck animal into no inferior

rate of speed, let something other than his " modera-

tion be known." Harwinton soldiers, with others

from this vicinity, immediately sped to Danbury,

reaching that place, distant some forty-four miles,

early on Monday morning, though not until after the

British detachment had effected the object of their

coming by the destruction of the breadstuffs and

other military stores there deposited. Mr. Abraham
Goodwin gave to the writer this account in 1837, say-

ing at that time that his age was eighty-three years.

He then resided in Harwinton :

*' In 1778, Levi Monson, of Harwinton.g a sergeant in Capt. [William]

Douglass' company, Col. [David] Wooster's regiment [made declaration

to the Legislature of this colony that he], was taken prisoner on the

Isle of Montreal, carried to Quebec, and thence, with [Amos?] Green, a

soldier, and Col. Ethan Allen, to Falmouth, in England [and that he], re-

turned from Falmouth to Halifax [N. S.], about June 29th, 1776."||

In the town records, for the years of the Revolu-

tionary contest, various details show the interest felt,

and the efforts made by this town regarding that en-

deavor. Many soldiers here died by camp sickness

and otherwise, though it has not been found that any

from Harwinton were killed while fighting in the

Continental army. In 1837 were living in Harwin-

ton, and then receiving, as Revolutionary soldiers,

t Hinman'a " War of the Revolution." J State archives.

g Hi[iman's " War of the Revolution" gives him as of Wallingford.

U State archives.
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pensions from the national government, Simeon Bar-

ber, Lyman Clark, Darius Foot, Silas Gridley, George

Jones, Benoni Johnson, John Winchell (Nathan

Barnes, of the Harwinton Church, resided at New
Hartford).

LIST OF SOLDIERS.

Benjamin Barber, Simeon Barber, Timothy Barber, Isaiah Butler, Jr.,

Solomon Butler, Abraham Catlin, Eli Catlin, Phineas Catlin, Daniel

Cook, Jonathan Cook, Jabez Frisbie, Asa Griswold, White Griswold,

Joseph C.Hemley, Allyn Haydon, George Jones, Christopher Jonson,

Samuel Jonson, Samuel Lambert, Hezekiah Leach, George Loomis,

Elijah Loomis, James Olcut, ^r., Hezekiah Phelps, Oliver Phelps,

Samuel Phelps, Jr., Ashbel Porter, Jesse Potter, Enos Scott, Zimri

Skinner, Samuel Wesson, Samuel Wesson, Jr., Abner Wilson.

The following is a list of " married men on service in

the Continental army from Harwinton," who, March

8, 1779, had received supplies from the town :

Bosswell Catlin, Ozem Cook, Caleb Klmore, Thomas Greene, Seth Grid-

ley, Joseph Ualsted, Joseph C. Hauley, Elisha Hinsdale, Samuel

Hinsdale, Lieut. Asahel Hodge, Elijah Scott, Ethel (Ithiel ?) Scott,

Timothy Stedman, James Wilcox, and Benj. Catlin, quartermaster.

The latter seems to have enlisted at some place other

than Harwinton, and was probably a son of Benjamin,

Jr., and grandson of Benjamin, Sr., of Harwinton.

—

Manning.

CHAPTER XXXVI.
HAR-WINTON (Continued).

The Congregational Church—The Episcopal Church—Incorporation

—

First Town-Meeting—Officers Elected—Representatives from 1757 to

1882—Military.

ECCLESIASTICAL, CIVIL, AND MILITARY.

CONGREGATIONAL CHURCH.

The following history of the Congregational Church

is taken chiefly from Manning's " History of Harwin-

ton," and is given in extenso, as the history of the

church for a long time was really tiie history of the

town. The first memorial asking to be embodied in

church estate was presented Oct. 4, 1737, as follows:

" The inhabitants of Harwinton, presenting by their

agents, Daniel Messenger, Zechariah Seymour, and

Anthony Hoskins, a memorial to the General Court,

in which tliey ask from that body what they had

unsuccessfully sought from it May 13, 1736, 'au-

thority to embody in church order' and ' to be incor-

porated as a town,' assign as reasons for their recjuest

that 'the place being daily increasing, it will be ne-

cessary for us not only to have a settled minister,' but
' also to build us a house' for divine worsiiip.

" Dec. 20, 1737, at the first town-meeting, it was

*• Voted, That the Eutuibitanttt of the town of Harwinton huuo uery

unailimnsly A gileed to Build A Moteing House for Diiiiiiu Worahip :

—

** Voteit, We agree thus that the Mooting House Shall besot tn theSonter

Line Between the Proprielora of Hartford and Windsor Condlshloii that

Windsor l*n)priatoi-8 give their I'roporshoti of land Agreed for the Ju-

currigeniont of our Miiinistor and Pay half the Chooet building the

Meeting House and half the: 100 : Pound Agreed to giiio the Ministor

In Labour:

"Subsequent proceedings were had, aa at the sev-

eral dates below may appear

:

"May 2, 1738.

—

Voted and unanimusly agreed to APlye our Selues to

the Generall Assembly now in there Present Sestions to A fix A Place

for the Meeting Hous for the tow town of harwinton to Stand in for

diuine worship ;

" Vnted^ That M' daniel Messinger and m' Jsreal Merriman Shall be

A Commeete to make APlication to Jenerall asseniBly att there Present

Sestions to fix de termine and asartain the Place where A house to

Meet in for the Publick worShiP of god Shall be Erectted and Built

within the Bounds of Harwinton.

" May, 1738.—Daniel Messenger and Israel Merri-

man, acting as a committee of the town of Harwinton,

present to the Legislature a request that that body will

appoint a committee to designate a place for the site

of a meeting-house in Harwinton. The request was

granted.
" Oct. 6, 1738.—The committee appointed by the

Legislature report that they have located the meeting-

house ' where the Litchfield [and Farmington] road

crosses the line of east and west proprietors.' Peti-

tions of various persons are sent to the Legislature, ex-

pressing objections to the location selected, and dis-

satisfaction with those who had chosen it. The
Legislature sustained the* action of their committee.

Harwinton takes other measures :

"Nov. 1, 17.'Jg.— Votfd, To Chuse a Commeete of unJnterrastted Par-

sons to afix or State aplace or Placses whare the jnhabitauts of harwin-

ton Shall Meet it on the Sabbath day until there is A Meeting hous Built

And Maad fit for the jnhabitauts to Meet in on Said day to worship God

in.

" VoleiL, That M' John Burd : geurge May'ch [Harsh ?] and Edward

Ph[e]lps :—Be the Men to fix or State the Place or Ptacsesahoue Nameed
—where we Shall Meet in on the Sabbath day to worship god in :

" It is now noted that M' Daniel Messinger and M' daniel I'hoIlM* Be

A Commeete to lay the Surcomstances of our coaes before those Men and

to bring there return or answer ti> the inhabitants of the town of har-

winton.

"Dec. 12, 1738.— ro(«t. That Joseph Richards and John Wilaon Be
tything men.

" Of such officers, not previously chosen in Harwin-

ton, the need in present circumstances was very ap-

parent.

" May 4, 17.19.— Voird, That M' daniel Mewlngor And Samuoll Phelpi

boa commootu to A Pile our Seliiea to the genenti Court that the Place

for A meeting Houso that was Plcht on by the general Courta Commeete
may l>o t'onflmimed *tr a New Commeete he A Poyntted to A tlxe A
Place for te said town of Harwinton for their mcetiiighouee to Stand Id

or on.

" May 10, 1739.—Daniel Messenger and Samuel
Phelps, agents in beiialf of the town of Harwinton,

make application to the Legislature for confirmation

of the location, etc. Tlie location, aa selected per

committee of the Legislature, is confirmed.

" Sept. 21, 1730 — VoIrd, That the Length of the meeting Houn for the

Kniiabltnntri of Horwlnton Shall be (KTty foot In length and forty foot

wid and the height t<i tN< twenty four foot between Juynta.

" VuleJ. That M' Jsrul MerreniaD ItenJImen Catling and Jacob llunton

Re A Commeete to onler and Caryon or lot out the Hulldlng of the SoJd

Meeting Hous .

" Voitd, That A Rale Shall Be Mad of Iweelue Pence uPon the Pouad
Jn the Lilt be granted A Moil to Caryoo the Building of the aald Meet-

ing Hous.

" I'ufcff, That Jonathan Catling and Isaac Bull be Collectors to Jather

the aboue granted rat for the Cnrying on the Building of Said Meeting

Hous.

" Sept. 27, 1739.—The Legislature are apprised that
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Harwinton have a committee chosen to direct and

'contract' for building a meeting-bouse.
" Oct. 8, 1739.—A rate of hind is referred to, prob-

ably in aid of the building.

"Dec. 14, 1739.—Joseph Merremon and Moses Webster bo tythiiig

men.
" Voledf To giue M'' jsrael merremon three Pounds for the use of his

Hous one year to met in on the Sabbath day .

" Voted, That the Meeting House as to the former width be mad fine

foot naiTOwwer than the former out was .

"May 7, 1740.—More difficulties are developed, as

Pelatiala Mills, Daniel Bissel, Hezekiah Bissel, Josiah

Higley, Ebenezer Tyler, Samuel Barber, Thomas Bull,

Samuel Haydon, Daniel Phelps, Job Alford, Daniel

Gillet, John Stoughton, and Noah Loomis petition

the Legislature that Hhey may be discharged from

paying any tax on land lying within two and one-

quarter miles from the south end of the town.' The

meeting-house was by them, it seems, regarded as

likely to be erected too far north for their conve-

nience.

" May 13, 1740.—Other dissatisfaction is manifested,

as Benjamin Catling, Israel Merrinian, Jacob Benton,

Jonathan Hopkins, Jonathan Catling, Jonathan

Brace, Ebenezer Hopkins, John Coult, Samuel

Phelps, Hezekiah Hopkins, Stephen Hopkins, Jo-

seph Richards, Joseph Merriman, Samuel Catling,
j

Nathan Davis, James Cole, Abijah Catling, Jonathan
,

Butler, Zechariah vSeymour, Jr., Nehemiah Messen-
j

ger, Amos Hinsdell, and Samuel Moody certify to the
;

Legislature that ' they had not been invited to a
i

friendly conference in regard to locating the meeting-
,

house, nor had they heard of it till after the meeting'
j

for that purpose had been held.
i

"July 3, 1740.—" Voted, That arate of Eight teen Pence uPon the
;

Pound in the list Be Made on the Ratable Estate that is in the town of
j

Harwinton Now Set down in the list and it Shall be Put to the use of
j

Garring on the nesesary Charges of finishing the Mee[t]ing House. I

" Voled^ That the glase for the meeting House shall be of the size that ;

is Called Seven Enchs and Nine,
[

" Voted^ That M"^ danjel Messinger Shall hane one Pound eleuen Shil-
!

lings and SixPence out of the town tressurorfor rum y' was found for the
,

raising of the Meting Houb.
i

" Dec, 2*2, 1740.— Vofed, This town will not meet at the house of m''

Jsrael nierremans onthe Sabbatli day under the Present Circumstances.

" Voted, That this town will meet on the Sabbath day three mouths

next ensuing at M"^ Beniamin Catlings haus and after that tomeet on

Sabbath day three months at the house of m' Jsaac bulls or m' Sanmi

Phelps.

'* Jan. 20, 1741-42.^Up to this date the town-meet-

ings had been attended * at the hous of Jacob Ben-

ton,' or ' at the Hous of Mr. Jsreal Merremons,' one

at the latter-named place so lately as Dec. 15, 1741

;

but now one is recorded as held ' att the meeting-

hous on the 20 day of January year 1742.' Three

such meetings, at least, were held thenceforward.

Public worship, though under circumstances of in-

convenience, was probably commenced there about

this time.

"July 23, 1744.—" To(crf, That wee will have But one Roo of pews

Bound the meeting Hewse
" Voted, That the Joinners works of the Said Meeting House Shall

Seace untill the auuall Meeting in Deseniber next insuing this meeting.

"Dec. 18, 1744.— Voted, That y present Commetee Shall have Lyberty

to agree with y Joyners in this Town if tliey Can agree with them in

order to tinisb y= meeting house So high as to Lay y^ Galary flooi-s.

" May 13, ms.— Voted, That we will Seat the Meeting House.

"May 2U, 1745.— Toferf, That M' Jacob Hinsdell and M^ Joseph hayden

and Cyprian Webster Shall be a Commity in order to Seat the meeting

house in the above sd Town.

"Sept. 17, 1745.—Thirty pounds in money [before voted] in order to

Git a Stock of powder Shall now be payed out to tlie Joynors to defray

the Charges of finishing said meetinghouse [other specified sums are,

by vote, appropriated to the same purpose].

" Voted, That [the building committee] Should Dignify the Seats in

Said meeting house & give Jnstrnction to the if Commity that was Clio-

sen to Sate the Meeting house in Righting.

"Sept. 25, 1745.—Report is made that 'the inside

work and the gallery are finished.'

" Dec. 17, 1745.— To(e(/, That what the Seeters that was Chosen to Seet

the meetinghous there Seeting of it Shoold be of no valu [N. P. the dig-

nifying of tlie Seets and the Jnstructions that the Commity tliat was

Chosen gave to the Seetere inorder to Seet the meeting house Sliall,be of

no Ualii or Siguifycation].

" y Town Excepted what M"" Jacob Hinsdell Did in Seeting the meet-

ing House in sd Town.
" Feb. 17, 1745-46.—It was Voted that all y^ boards & Timber & Stone

that was Left in finishing of y Loar part of y meeting house Shall be

made Use of So fare as it will Go for the benifit of the above Said School

house in any Use as sd Commity [at the present meeting of the Town
appointed, for building a School-house,] Shall See fit about sd [School]

house.

" Voted, That Ebenezer Hopkins & Jacob benten & Samuel Wesson &
John Wesson &. Asa Hoskins & Amos Catling & Timothy Stanly & Ne-

hemiah Hopkins & William Cook Shall Sit in yo pew under y Stares at

the west end of the meeting house & that Sarah Merimon & Sarah

Phelps & Ann Hinsdell &, Mary Hopkins &. Abigail Stanly & Mary Kel-

logg &. Elisabeth Webster .t Ruth Phelps & Martha Davis & Hannah
Plielps Shall Sitt in y^ pew under the Stares at y^ Kast End of the meet-

ing house.

" Dec. 3, 1750.— ro(e(/, That there shall be £iO. 00 : 00. money old tenor

Leved on poles and Ratable Estats in this town in order to pay the

Cliarges that Shall arise in Giting the Glass that is wanting for the

meeting house & y" Stops for y^ meeting house door to pay other Charges

that shall arisse in this town in year insuing.

" it was Voted that the Select men of this town for the time Being

Shall be a Commitee to Regeulate the Seting of the meeting house in this

Town for y* year insuing.

*' Dec. 3, 1751.— Voted, That the Sum of Forty Pounds in money of the

old tenor be raised on the pols and Ratabel Estates of the Inhabitane of

this town in order to Repare the meetjng House in this town at the Dis-

cresion of the Select men of this town.

" Dec. 20, 1752.— Voted, That we will take up all the Long Seats in the

meeting House Kxcepting the two fore Seats one on the Right Side the

Grate alley and the other ou the Left side.

" Voted, That there shall be 50-00-00 pounds in money old teuor

Leved on the Ratable Estate in this Town to defray the Charg of Buld-

ing of the Pews in tlie Body of the meeting house.

" Voted, That De" Jacob Benten »S; Abijah Catling and Cyrrian Web-
ster Shall be a Commetee to Look after and See that the Pews be made
in the body of the meeting house and to draw the said 50—00. 00 pounds

in money and dispose of it to the workmen that doe the work.
" Voted, That De"* Jacob Benten & Cyrrian Webster & Abijah Catling

& Lt Naihan Davis &, Lt Samuel Phelps &. Caj)! Jacob Hinsdell Shall be

Seeters of the meetinghouse after the pews are made in the Loer part of

the Meeting House in this town in the year Insuing.

*' This building stood south of the present Congre-

gational church.
" The First Preacher,—The earliest account discov-

ered of social religious worship being attended pub-

licly in Harwinton is contained in a document, pre-

served in the State archives at Hartford, bearing date

May 13, 1736,—a 'Memorial of George Wyllys, Daniel

Messenger, Nathan Davis, and the rest of the inhab-

itants of Harwinton.* After * referring to a tax,
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granted' by the General Court in May, 1735, ' of one

penny on a pound for the support of preaching, etc.,'

it relates that 'The Memorialists have thereupon

hired y" very worthy M''. Timothy Woodbridge, Jun"',

who hath for a considerable time preached to us, to

the universal content, satisfaction, and approbation of

us his hearers.' It further relates that 'they had

agreed to pay him £104 per annum,—that is, 30s. a

week and his board
;

[that] they were then in arrears

to M'. Woodbridge for the preceding year ; and [that

they therefore] ask authority to lay another tax.' Of

the last-named person, as connected with Harwinton,

our State records have no other notice and our town

records have none.
" The First Pastor.—In the State archives is a me-

morial, dated Oct. 4, 1737, addressed to the General

Court by its signers, Daniel Messenger, Zechariah

Seymour, and Anthony Hoskins, in behalf of them-

selves and of the other inhabitants of Harwinton,

—

'*' Asking authority to embody in church estate, to be incorporated as

a town, and to lay a tax for support of a minister.' Tlie uiemorialista

relate that *it will be necessary for us to have a settled minister (iu

regard to which we have applyed to a Gentleman who is well approved

of by the Ministers Jtc. in the Gov', and especially by us to preach for us

some considerable time, to great satisfaction, and have as far as was

consistent with our duty capitulated with him about a settlement) and

also,' etc.

" From this memorial, as compared with the earlier

one, it is plain that a second person as preacher is in-

tended. The votes below quoted refer to him

:

" Nov. 1, 1737.—Alt a meeting of the Proprietors of east Harwinton

held att the house of Mr. Duuiel Messenger by a Jurnment
" Voted, That the Proprietors Give to the first man that is ordained in

the work of the ministry amongst us one Hundred aCres of Land and

that he may Chuse it where it Shall best Sute Him in our undevided

Land in the manner & form as our Lotts ware Laid out in provided ho

Shall Continew in the work of the Diinistry and in Principels to wich he

is ordained.

" Vo/«t!, That m' Daniel Brown and m' Daniel Messenger be a C«im-

niitee to go to Winsor Proprietors meting .V: to im form them what wo

have done at our Proprietors meeting and to make return of what they

dow to our next meeting.

" Dec. 20, 1737.—The inhabitants of Harwinton, in

their first town-meeting assembled, to their vote ex-

pressing their unanimous agreement 'to Uuild A
Meteing House for Diuine Worship,', add an explana-

tory and restrictive one:

" Voted, We agree thus that the Meeting House Shall be set In the Senter

Line Between the Proprietoi-s of Hartford and winitsor Coridlshond that

Windsor Propriutors give their Pruporslion of land Agreed for the Jnrur-

rigment of our Minnister and Pay half the ('boost ttollding the Meeting

ing House and half the : 10U ; Pound Agreed to giuo the Mlnlfltur Jii

Labour :

" At this period the proprietors of East Harwinton

held their meetings within their propriety liere, but,

as the next cited vote show.s, the proprietors of West
Harwinton were for tlie most part non-re-sidcnts on

tlieir propriety still. Their meetings, also, were after-

wards held here."

"Feb. 7, I737-N.—In Windsor upon the .Sevncth Day of KobT: 1737-«.

"Voated, That M' Daniel llissell Jun' Mr Nathan Dnvig A Koger New-
b«ry or any two of them bo a Com"* to Dispose of to y» first onlainod

minister .In Harwinton Sixty Acres of Land Lying y* North End of y*

25

Middle Tear of Home Lots & about twenty five acres of undivided Land

Lying at y« West End of the fifty acres already Granted to y« first or-

dained minister upon such tearms as They Shall agree and Execute a

Deed thereof to Him.

"Feb. 21, 1737-8.—Whereas there is no time limitted or mentioned

how Long such Minister Shall Continue in the Ministry to be Entituled

to the sd greants &c.

" it is therefore Voted and Agreed by the proptrs that the sd One hun-

dred acres of Land Shall be Granted and the same is hereby Granted unto

the fii-st minister of the Gospel that shall be settled and ordained to the

ministry amongst us and to his heirs and assigns forever.

" Prouided Such Minister Shall Continue in the Ministry And Prienfalls

[principles] in which he shall be ordained for the full space of five years

next After his ordination without any condition or limitation.

" April 21, 1738.—Att a melting of the Jnhabitants of the town of

Harwinton legily wornied to be at the hous of Jacob Benton A Priel the

21 1738.

"Voted, That M' Antony Horskins be Moderator for this Itleeting.

"Voted And unanimusly a Greed to glue M' Andrew Bartholomew A
Call to Setel iu the work of the ministry a Mongust us.

—

"Voted, That M' Daniel Messinger Israel Merriman Jacob Benton

daniel Brown Cyprian Webster Nathan Dauis & M' Daniel Phelps Shall

be A Conimeete to treet with M' Andrew Bartholomew in order to

asettelment in the work of the Menesterry A mongst us and to Lay the

Propossels y' .\llready haue been Proposed before him and to biing his

Answer if any bemad to the next meeting for a further Confirmation

And it is farther uotcd that the said Commeete or any two of them Shall

make ther APlication to the next Association for there advice in order

to the Settelment of a minister amongst us

"May 9, 1738.—The committee appointed by the

vote last quoted made report to the town, at a meet-

ing ' Held by adjournmen att the hous of Mr. Israel

Merremon may the : 9 : 1738,' 'that M' Andrew

Bartholomew will Except of our Propossels.'

"Aug. 28, 1738.—Att. A. Meeting Ac at the Hous of Mr Jsreal Mor-

remons August the : 28 : 1738 :

" Voted. That M' Benjamin Catlin Daniel Messinger ami dauiel Ph[e]lp«

Be a Commeete to Send to the Neighbouring Ministers forthere Assist-

ancoJn Ordaining of the re"'' M' Andrew Barlholonicw and also to make

what Prouiaon Is Nossesary for the Ordainnatlon.

" In the town records. Book I., Mr. Bartholomew's

acknowledgments of salary received show tliat his

official year began and ended on October 4th. His

first acknowledgment is of, a-s he exi)re.'4sed it, ' the

Money Part on the account of My Ministry ut &
untill October the fourth, one thou-sand t<eucn Hun-

dred & thirty Nine.' The other 'part' thus implied

was labor on his land, which, as several votes of the

town show, was stiimlutcd to be given him annually

by the male members of liis flock.

" April 2, 1739.— Alt a meeling of the Proprleton) of the But Part of

Harwinton Holden by Adj.»uriiment att the house of M' Dauiel Mee-

songer Ju Harwinton on the 1st Monday of Aprill Anno Domini 1T3».

Voted y' Capf" GiHirge Wyllys, Jlr llenjamln Callln, ,1 M" Dan" Mee-

senger He » I'onimiltee J[i the Behalf of the I'ropri.tori of the East Part

ol HarwIuUui To Give a Uoo<l Jk Lawfull Deed to the UevJ M' Andrew

Bartholomew * U) His llelni A Assigns for Ever of the Itonielott that

Was Laid Out for the first Onlaiiid Mlniator that Should Settle Id the

Work of the Ministry Jii Harwinlou.

" Dec. 6, 1744—Whereas the Proprietors of East harwintou at their

Seuermll Meetings [vote.!] U> giue one hundred Acres of laud to Ibe

tlnil Ordained Minister in s'l t.)wn nisiu C^indlltlou of his Cuutlnuing

Regulariy Iu the Minisir) as at the n««iiinlng with r.»|>ecl to Prin.l-

plw for the term of flue years after his or^llnutiou A Cl»i«e A ; C«>mutlt-

teo to lay out r" Und acconllng to his Choice u niay be seen Id y« uotee-

In the Pnjprietot^ RK)k at their Particular Meellnge Dale<l Seplenilier

21 : 1731 1?) ; and fohniary : 21 : 1737' : march rl :
17;l«-whlch term

of lime was ('»inipleale.l In oc^>l)er y 4" 174S PurauanI therefore

to »> Uulos wo the Subscribers Cap' Daulell MeMen(er Ensign Jonathan

Uopklus deacou Jacob Benton : 4 : m' Cyprian wetater Being of Uie Num-
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ber of the Com'"— appointed to lay out Said Land [etc.—Said Com-
mittee find that said quantity of land belonj^a to], the Reuiii M^ Andrew
Bartholmew who was the first Ordaind minister [and they proceeded]

;

18"! of febrnary Ad 1745-G [to survey and lay out Biiid quantity] and also

12 acres 1-2 [addition] we haue allowed for RoughnesB of land.*

" Town records and proprietors' records, in the ex-

tracts above given, impart the date of tlie iirst pastor's

induction Oct. 4, 1738. Compared witli other churches

in Litchfield County, the Congregational Church in

Harvvinton has a priority, the same as to its settling

its first pastor with that before specified as to its for-

mation. Precedence or subsequence of this kind helps

no one greatly, harms no one much, is related distantly

to one's responsibleness ; but there is something

through which, as duly regarded or not, persons

within this church, and persons outside of all churches,

are sure to find chief benefit or direst injury,—it is a

matter which takes and keeps a direct hold of the

conscience, presenting there the sort of precedence

that all men are to seek for as vitally momentous to

them ; for to all men is the favor granted, on all is

the obligation imposed, of rising daily to some higher

position on that scale which exhibits the need of, as

well as measures and announces, moral worth.

" Mr. Bartholomew's pastorate in Harwinton was by

years longer than any which succeeded it there. It

left scanty historic materials. There is in the church's

possession no account of the church's condition and

proceedings in his time. The town records have sup-

plied most that is known of him. As these furnish

no grounds for a different conclusion, the inference

seems to be warranted that, until his ministry drew

towards its end, the course of things relative to him

and the church and the town moved on with a general

uniformity and smoothness. Probably no peculiar

sorrows saddened his mind, and no extra laborious

exertions prematurely broke the springs of his energy.

But these at length give way ; his relation as pastor

ceases. A year or two subsequently all his relation-

ships on earth terminate.

"Nov. 26, 1772.— Fo(e(l, To Give M' David Ely a call to preach three

or four Sabbaths on probation.

"Dec. 1, 1772.—The Committee Eeport that M' David Ely Would Not

tarry to preach on the above [not mentioned] proposals. Voted to send

for M' David Jilly to come and preach With us—Voted that Stephen

Butler Should apply To M' Ely.

"Feb. 23, ms.— roleil, That Committee Should Apply to M' Robert

Hubbard Further Voted that If B'i Committee Could Not Obtain Mr
Hubbert that they should Apply to some one Klse ... to Supply the

pulpit

"May 25, 1773.— loleil, To Give M' Robert Hubbard a call to come

And Settle In the work of the Ministry.

"Voted, To Discharge the Rev^ M^ Andrew Barthol'* From Giving in

a List During his life—Provided S** Rev^ M^ Bartholomew Discharges

The Town from paying him his Salery.

" June 1, 1773.—The proposal made in the last vote

above quoted was accepted by Mr. Bartholomew, as

appears by the agreement which in full is recorded.

" Sept. 7, 1773.— ratal, The Committee Shall apply To M' David Perry

to preach with them The Winter Comeing.

"Sept. 21, 1773.—The action, specified in the vote last quoted, was

renewed.

* East Harwinton records.

" Oct. 11, 1773.— IWerf, The Society Committee Shall apply to M' David
Perry to Settle In the work of the Ministry In the Town of harwinton.

"Jan. 10, 1774.— Voted, to Discharge The Rev" Mr. Andrew Barthol™

From paying any taxes or Rates whatsoever During Life on Conditions

He Continues in Harwinton.

" Feb. 2, 1774.—A vote was passed providing that

Mrs. Bartholomew, if she should survive her husband,

.should in like manner be exempted.
" Dismissed from his relations to the Society, by an

ecclesiastical council convened for that purpose, Jan.

26, 1774," the remnant of the first pastor's life was
here spent, where, March 6, 1776, he died.

"Mr. Bartholomew was born at Wallingford in 1714.

He graduated at Yale College in 1731. He was buried

in the ancient graveyard in Harwinton, and a slab of

gneissic stone bears the following inscription

:

" ' Here lies the Body of the

Rev<i Andrew Bartholomew

The 1* pastor of the church

of Christ in harwinton who
Witli filial regard fur the

Glory of god studiously

Labored in the vineyard

of Christ 38 years. A lover

of piety peace and good

order and zealous for the faith

he died March the 6"' AD
1776 in the 63^ year of his age.'

"The pastors since Mr. Bartholomew have been

as follows : David Perry, 1774-83 ; Joshua Williams,

1790-1822; George E. Pierce, D.D., 1822-34; R.

Manning Chipman, 1835-39 ; Charles Bentley, 1839-

50 ; Warren G. Jones, 1850-53 ; Jacob G. Miller, 1854

-57 ; John A. McKinstry, 1857-63 ; Rev. Robert T.

Searle, 186-^65 ; Rev. Charles H. Bissell, 1865 ; Rev.

George Curtis ; Rev. W. N. Meserve, 1878-80 ; Rev.

Th. Douglas, 1880, present pastor.

"There is a small chapel in the southwest part of

the town recently erected. A Sabbath-school is estab-

lished, and a Sunday afternoon preaching service.

"An Episcopal Church was organized in this town

about the year 1784. Among the early members were

Alexander Alford, Luman Bishop, Lieut. Levi Mun-
son, Mark Prindle, Capt. Eziekel Scoville."

THE HARWINTON AGRICULTURAL SOCIETY,

successor of the old society, was incorporated Feb. 28,

1878. The following were the incorporators: Charles

S. Barber, Abigail Fenn, Humphrey Wilson, Addison

Webster, Cyrus E. Cook, Cyrus L. Barber, Henry D.

Reynolds, and James M. Baldwin.

CIVIL HISTORY.

This town was incorporated Oct. 13, 1737, and the

first town-meeting was held on the 20th of the fol-

lowing December. The following is a copy of its

record

:

" Att a Meeting of the Juhabitants of the town of Harwiton Legily

Wornied to be at the hous of Jacob Bentons on december:—the: 20:

1737

"Voteil, That : M^ Daniel Messenger be Moderrator for this Meeting

"Volt'il, That Jacob Benton be town Clerk for the town of Harwinton

for the year Ensuing
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"Voted, That M' Israel Marriinouii 'M^ Cyperan webster and M^ daniel

Brown be towns men or select men for this town

"T'o^eJ, That hez liopkius bo Constobel for s^ town for the year En-

suing

"Vb(€(i, That Samuel Phelps and Nathaniel Hatch be Grandjurors for

this town for the year Ensuing

**Voted, That Ebnezer Hopkins and Antony Horskin Be Surueyors of

High ways for this Town
'To/cfi, That Jonathan Brace and thomas Bull be fence uiewers for

this town for the year Ensuing
** Voted, That Samuel Barber and John Wilson Be fence uiewers for this

town fur the year Ensuing

"7oi^(/, That Jacob Benton : Daniel Phelps and Samuel Messinger Be

Listers fur this town of Harwinton for the year Ensuing
*^ Voted, That Isral Blarremoun be brauder of horsses and of hors Kind

for the town of Harwington fur the year Ensuing

"Voted, That Jacob Benton be town treasurrer for this town and that

he Be A Commeete to receiue and Disspose of the land tax money that

the generall Court ordered : and as there act and law directs.

" Voted, That the Select Men Make the tax Rate for the Ensuing year.

"Voted, That Swine may baue there liberty to Run at Large.

"Voted, That this town joyne witli Litchfield to build A Bridge oner

Waterbnry [Naugatuc] riuer Prouided they will bee at two tburds of the

Cost—And we at but one thurd of the Cost of said Bridge.

"Voted, That Antony Horskins and Ebnezer Hopkins be A Commete

to treat with them about the Building of said Bridge.

"Voted, That tlie Euhabiteuts of the town of Harwintou haue uery

unanimusly A grieed to Build A Meteing House for Diuine Worship.

"Voted, Tiiat the Place for a Pound for the towue of Harwinton be

near to M' Israel Merriman A-Bout the Sen-terline Betweeue the Propri-

etors of Hartford And Windsor.

" Voted, That the Place for the Sine Post Shall Be att the Senter-Line

Betweene the Proprietors of Hartford And Windsor Att the Ciinterry

Road.

"Voted, We agree thus that the Meeting House Siiall be set in the Sen-

t«r Line Between the Propriutore of Hartford and Windsor Condishond

that Windsor Propriators giue their Propoi-shou of land Agreed for the

Jncurrignieut of our Minnistor and Pay half the Choost boilding the

Meeting House and half the : 100: Pound Agreed to giue the Ministor

Jn Labour.

"Voted, That if M^ JosePb larrence [returns to] liue' A' Mong us and

works Att the Smiths trade he shall be freed from Paing of All towne

and ministers rates and working att Highway for tlie S-Paco of five yearu

next EoBuiDg.

"test Jacob Benton, Clerk.'*

The earliest marriages registered in Harwinton are

those of William Robinson with Elizabeth Lawrence,

and Edmund Austin with Susannah Lawrence:

" William : Ruboson was Marreed to Elisabeth lawreuce on the : 6 : day

of January anno dom 1736.

"Edmon Austin was Marreed to Susanna Lawreuce on the: 6: day of

January Anno dimi 173G."

The earliest birth registered is that of Ruth Phelps

:

"Ruth Phelps of Harwinton the Daughter of Let Samuel Phelps &
Ruth Phelps his wife was Born the Sixth Day of Fobuurj- .\nnu. Domini
1733."

The earliest death registered is that of Dorcas Bis-

sell:

"Darcis Bisnell of Ilarwinlmi the Daughter of Jfibes Biasell ftDd Dor-

cU Blsaell Ills wife DiotI W ilay of Aprill year 1742."

The first dwelling-liouse here which merited such

a name was erected by Daniel Messenger, in 1731.

FORMATION OF LITCHFIELD COUNTY.

A petition, praying " that the towns of LitchficM,

Woodbury, New Jlilford, Kent, Sharon, Sali.sbury,

Canaan, Cornwall, Goshen, Harwinton, Torrington,

Norfolk, New Hartford, Barkhampstead, Hartland,

Winchester, and Colebrook be made a county," was

presented to the Legislature Aug. 20, 1751. Said pe-

tition has on it, of Harwinton citizens, the names

following : Dauiell Phelps, Abijah Catling, Joseph

Marrimon, Jobe Alford, Ezreal [Ezekiel] Scovil, Ben-

jamin Catling, Jr., Daniel Catling, Ebenezer Hopkins,

Jr., William Heydon, Nathan Davis, David Will-

coks, Jr., John Barbour, Jacob Benton, Jonathan

Hopkins, Amos Bull, Isaac Bull, Noah Lomes, Jr.,

Samuell Stoue Butler, Ciprian Webster, Aaron Cook,

Isral Merimon, Anthony Hoskins, Ebenezer Hopkins,

Jacob Hinsdell, Samuel Phelps, Timothy Stanly, Jr.,

John Wilson, Samuel Barbor, Thomas Bull, Daniel

Bartholomew, Jacob Peck, Noah Loomus, Samuel

Bull, Joel Catlin.

A remonstrance against the formation of such pro-

posed new county was presented to the Legislature,

Sept. 17, 1751. On said remonstrance are, of Harwin-

ton citizens, the names following : Benjamin Catling,

Ebenezer Heydon, Daniel Messenger, Jonathan Hop-

kins, Nathaniell Moody, Jacob Benton, Abraham Cat-

lin, Aaron Cook, Jr., Johnathan Catling, Samuel

Cook, Jonathan Brace, David Heydon, Joseph Hey-

don, Timothy Stanly, Ebaneser Tyler, Joseph Curtice,

Ashbel Skinner, Abiel Tyler, Samuel Messenger, AVil-

liam Elsworth, Hez. Hopkins, Daniel Gillitt, Janna

Griswold, Zechariah Scymor, John Coult, Reuben

Barbur, Ezept [Ezekiel] Scovil, David Willcoks, Elias

Wilkoks, John Still [Steele?], Samuell Wesson, Ne-

hemiah Hopkins, Amos Catling.

" The following desire that their names may be

erased from the preceding petition," in a request pre-

sented to the Legislature, Sept. 22, 1751, viz. : Sam-

uel Stone Butler, Amos Bull, Timothy Stanly, Jr.,

Jonathan Hopkins, Jr., Ebenezer Hopkins, Jr., Jacob

Benton, Jr., Jacob Hinsdell, John Barbur, Thomas
Bull, Samuel Bull.

REPKKSENTATIVES FROM 1757 TO 18*2,

1757.—Capt AMJuh Catling, Cnpl. Jacob Ilinwlale.

l^riS.—Deacon Jacob Benton, Ca|it. Jacob Hinsdale.

1750-CI.—Capl. AbUab Calling, Daniel Catling.

1762.—Capt. AbUali Catling,

nal.—Daniel Calling.

17C4.—Abijah Catlin, Daniel Catlin.

176.'>.—Cnpl. Daniel Catlin, Joel Cutlln.

1760.—AbUah Catlin, George Callln.

1767.—Ooorgo Catlin.

1768.—Abljali CalDn, I>anlel C«llin.

1769.—CapU Abyaii c ntling, John Wilaon.

1770.-MiO. Abljab Catlin, Daniel Catlin.

1770-72.-M^). Abijali Catlin. Joslab I'helpt

1773.-Jo«iah Phel|w, C»|il. John Wilson.

1774.-JoBlah I'lieli*, .Mark I'rin.llo.

1775-76.—Capt. John Wil».in, Joslab IMielpa.

1777—Jo«lah rlieliw, Cjprian Webster.

1778.—John Wilson, Daniel OUIn.

1779.—Juaeph CiK.k, Daniel Cxilin.

1780.—Jusiah l'hel|i», Joee|ib Cook.

1781-84.—Joslah l'boll», Capt. George CaUlD.

I781V-80.—Mark Prludle, Joseph Cook.

1787.-Abner Wilson, Ju«lali l'bel|«.

1788.—Joseph C.K.k, Ell WiImmi.

1789-01 .—Joeiah riiel|». Col. Abner Wllaon.

17l)2-93.^oelah riiel|«, Daniel Catlin.

17»l.—Joslah I'hel|is, Daniel Catlin, Jr.

1796 Jodoh Fhelp*, Abner Wllaon.
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1796.—JoBiah Phelps, Daniel Catlin.

1797-1800.—Daniel Catlin, James Brace.

1801.—Daniel Catlin.

1802.—Daniel Catlin, James Brace.

180.3-4.—James Brace, Timotli.v Clark, Jr.

1R05-9.—James Brace, Benjamin Griswold.

1810-11.—Timothy Clark, Joel Bradley.

1812.—Timothy Clark, Benjamin Griswold.

1813.—James Brace, Benjamin Griswold.

1814.—James Brace, Cyprian Wehster.

1815.—Cyprian Webster, Joel Bradley.

1816.—Cyprian Webster, William C. Abernethy.

1817-18.—William C. Abernethy, Uriah Hopkins.

1819.-William C. Abernethy, Enos Frisbie.

1820.—Uriah Hopkins, William C. Abernethy.

1821.—Eli Candee, Marvin Griswold.

1822.—Eli Candee, John S. Preston.

1823-24.-Uriah Hopkins, Marvin Griswold.

1826.—Uriah Hopkins, John S. Preston.

1826.—Marvin Griswold, Roswell Alford.

1827-28.—Phinehas W. Noble, Noah Welton.

1829.— David "Wilson, Marvin Griswold.

18.30.—David Wilson, Jeremiah Holt.

1831.—Jeremiah Holt, Marvin Griswold.

1832.—Gaylord Wells, Asahel Hooker.

1833.—Gaylord Wells, Abijah Webster.

1834.—Abijah Webster, Chester N. Caae.

183.5.—Augustus S. Johnson, Lyman Perkins.

1836.—Augustus S. Johnson, Andrew Abernethy.

1837.—Abijah Catlin, Andrew Abernethy.

1838-39.—Abijah Catlin, Sheldon Osborn.

1840.—Allen Birge, Abijah Catlin.

1841.—Allen Birge, Moses Beach.

1842.—Moses Beach, Asahel N. Barber.

1843.—Asahel N Barber, John Bull.

1844.—John Bull, Phinehas W. Noble.

1845.—Phinehas W. Noble, Augustus S. Johnson.

1846.—Gardner Preston, Augustus S. Johnson.

1847.—Gardner Preston, Sheldon G. Catlin.

1848.— Jeremiah Holt, Sheldon G. Catlin.

1849.—Jeremiah Holt, Philo Hall.

1850.—Daniel Hinman, Phinehas W. Noble.

1851.—David A. Wilson, Abijah Catlin.

1852.—Lewis Catlin, Jr., Samuel S. Catlin.

1853.—James Ailing, William Knox.

1864.—Charles Wilcox, Hart Barker.

1855.—Augustus S. Johnson, Alphonso Candee.

1856.—Lewis Catlin, Sr., Thomas R. Candee.

1857.—Horace Wilson, Addison Webster.

1858.—Wolcott Hinsdale, William Wilson.

1859.—Julius Catlin, Charles Hubert Barber.

I860.—Charles M. Wilson, George Gridley.

1861.—Abijah Catlin, Henry G. Birge.

1862.—Abijah Catlin, Lewis Catlin.

1863.—Henry E. Hinman, Carlis Sperry.

1864.—Joseph Fenn, Roswell Cook.

1865.—Abijah Catlin, Lewis Catlin.

1866.— I. B. Loomis, Willis Catlin.

1867.—Levi Curtis, Robert E. Ensign.

1868.—Cornelius Colt, Jerry B. Holt.

1869.—N. A. Wilson, Lyman Gridley.

1870.—Henry Catlin, David Birge.

1871.—Lucius H. Olmsted, Albro Ely.

1872.—George Curtiss, John D. Page.

1873.—M. L. Goodwin, H. S. Frisbie.

1874.—Abijah Catlin, Charles S. Barber.

1875.—Cyrus L. Barber, Delos Bristol.

1876.—Cyrus A. Wilson, George Alford.

1877.—Elijah G. Gibbs, George W. Davis.

1878.—Albert G. Wilson, John H. Scoville.

1879.—Abijah Catlin, George E. Cook.

1880.—Emerson M. Hayes, Martin Cook.

1881.—Virgil R. Barker, Ernest F. Gunn.

The probate business of Harwinton was formerly

transacted at Litchfield. The probate district of

Litchfield, established 1747, included, with Litchfield

and Harwinton, Canaan, Cornwall, Goshen, Kent (of

which Warren then was a part), Norfollc, Salisbury,

Sharon, Torrington, and " the lands on the west side

of the Housatonic River between New Fairfield and
Sharon."

Harwinton was constituted a probate district in

1835.

HARWINTON MUTUAL FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY

was organized July, 1856. Its first officers were:

Phinehas W. Noble, President; Addison Webster,

Secretary ; Charles M. Wilson, Treasurer.

MILITARY RECORD.*
Henry H. Riggs, Co. B, 2d Begt. ; enl. May 7, 1861; disch. May 7, 1865.

Francis Owens, Co. C, 1st Regt. ; enl. Dec. 12, 1864; disch. Aug. 2, 1865.

H. C. Barrett, Sth Regt. ; enl. Aug. 10, 1864; disch. Dec. 12, 1865.

Joseph Edwards, 10th Regt.

J. Hinter, 11th Regt. ; enl. March 11, 1864; disch. Dec. 21, 1866.

H. F. Castle, 11th Regt. ; enl. Nov. 12, 1861 ; disch. July 16, 1865.

S. Pratt, Ist Art.; enl. May 23, 1861 ; disch. Sept. 26, 1865.

W. Scoville, 1st Art.; enl. May 23, 1801; disch. Sept. 23, 1861.

H. W. Sauford, Ist Art. ; enl. May 23, 1861 ; disch. Dec. 22, 1862.

S. A. Woodruff, 1st Art. ; enl. May 23, 1861 : pro. to 1st lieut. ; must, out

Sept. 25, 1865.

George Rogers, Sth Regt.; enl. Aug. 11, 1864; disch. Dec. 12, 1865.

P. Prinzle.

C. C. Newbery, 13th Begt. ; enl. Jan. 11, 1862 ; disch. Jan. 6, 1865.

J. W. Keloey, 20th Regt.; enl. Dec. 12, 1864.

H. 0. Bogne, 23d Begt. ; enl. Sept. 20, 1862; disch. Aug. 31, 1863.

P. Dewire, 27th Regt.; enl. Sept. 15, 1862; disch. July 27, 1863.

C. Quin, 27th Regt. ; enl. Sept. 15, 1862; disch. July 27, 1883.

E. Barber, 28th Regt. ; enl. Sept. 19, 1862; disch. Aug. 28, 1863.

G. W. Catlin, 28th Regt. ; enl. Sept. 19, 1862 ; disch. Aug. 28, 1863.

S. R. Kirkpatrick, 1st Cav.; enl. Dec. 5, 1864.

J. McGlouglin, Ist Cav.; enl. Dec. 7, 1864.

W. Patterson, 1st Cav. ; enl. Dec. 6, 1864.

M. J. Bronson, 1st Art. ; enl. July 22, 1861; disch. Oct. 30, 1861.

H. Hubbard, 1st Art.; enl. May 22, 1862; disch. May 21, 1864.

F. A. Biley, Ist Art.; enl. May 20, 1861 ; disch. May 22, 1864.

Chas. L. Barbour, Ist Art.; enl. May 23, 1861 ; disch. Dec. 16, 1861.

C. Colt, 1st Art.; enl. May 23, 1861 ; disch. May 26, 1864.

L. A. Colt, 1st Art. ; enl. May 23, 1861 ; must, out Sept. 25, 1865.

L. E. Cooke, 1st Art. ; enl. May 23, 1861 ; must, out Sept. 25, 1866.

George E. Moran, Ist Art. ; enl. May 23, 1861 ; disch. May 22, 1864.
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This town lies on the west border of the county,

and is bounded as follows : on the north by Sharon

and Cornwall, on the east by Warren and Washington,

on the south by New Milford, and on the west by

Dutchess County, N. Y. The scenery of Kent is

charming and picturesque. The river winds through

a deep and fertile valley, while the mountains rise on

either side, presenting one of the finest views of

* For list of Nineteenth Regiment, see Chapter V.
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mountain and vale to be found in rugged New Eng-

land.

The town is watered by the Housatonic River,

which crosses it in a southwesterly direction.

There is strong reason for believing that this town

was the home of a race of beings that inhabited this

country prior to the aborigines.

" Tbere is in this town,'* says Dr. Trumbull, " convincing evidence

that it was a grand seat of the native inhabitants of this country before

Indians, who more lately inhabited it, had any residence in it. Tliere

are arrow-heads, stone pots, and a sort of knives, and various kinds of

utensils, frequently found by the English, of such curious workmanship,

as exceeds all the skill of any Indians since the English came into this

country, and became acquainted with them. These were not only found

when the town was first settled, but they are still found on the sides of

the Housatonic River."

THE INDIANS.

The Indian history of this town is not that of the

war-whoop and the scalping-knife, but of a quiet set-

tlement of peace-loving and intelligent aborigines.

It was the last home of the Schaghticoke tribe, they

having removed from the town of Dover, N. Y.

"Gideon Mowehn, the king or sachem of the Schaghticoke tribe, was
j

a Pequot Indian, and in one of his hunting expeditions came to the sum-

mit of the mountain which rises almost precipitously west of Schaghti.

coke, and, beholding the beautiful valley and river below, determined to

make it the place of his future residence. It was indeed a lovely and

desirable place; there were several hundred acres of excellent land,

covered with grass like a prairie, with some few scattering trees inter-

spersed. The river was well supplied with fish, and on the mountains

on both sides was found an abundance of deer and other wild game. At

this place Mauwehn collected the Indians and became their sachem, and

here the Moravians had a flourishing mission."*

Dr. Trumbull, in speaking of the Indians, says,

—

"Mowt»hn, a sachem, who a few years before had removed with his

Indians from Newtown to New Milford, about the year 1728 l>uilt him a

hunting-house at Scliughticoke, in the northwest part of Kent, on the

west bank of the Housatonic River.

" He invited the Indians at New Milford, from the Oblong, in the

province of New York, and from various other places, to settle with him
at Schaghticoke ; and it appears that he was a man of so much art and

popularity among the Indians, that in about ten or eleven years, about

the time when the town was settled, he could nivister an hundred war-

riors. The whole number probably was about five or six hundred.

These, tike the other Indians in this State, and in most otiier States,

have been greatly diminished. Their whole number at this time (1&19)

is not more than forty."

In 1744 and 1746 the Indians disposed of a portion

of their land, and in 1775 the Legislature, at their re-

quest, a-isumed control of this estate, and appointed

an agent to manage the affairs, whicli course lia.s been

pursued to the present time. Tlic Indians still own
about four hundred acres of land, which is occupied

by half-breeds, aa there is no pure Indian blood left

among them.

THE MORAVIANS.

A Moravian mission was established among the

Schaghticoke Indians about 1740, and a few years

later, it is said, the sacliem was baptized by them.

Here they establislied a churcli or mission, and bap-

tized one hundred and fifty of the Kent Indians, it

•Bubw.

is said that these missionaries were kindly treated by

the people of the town, but the evidence of the mis-

sionaries themselves is that they were not only ill

treated and persecuted, but imprisoned. Dr. Trum-

bull says, " But it could not be by the people of Con-

necticut."

Whither the Indians had flown who occupied this

territory first before the advent of the English is un-

known ; but they doubtless joined Philip in his war

against New England, and in the slaughter of Philip's

warriors by Connecticut troops on the Housatonic,

at the close of the war, were either slain or removed

to Canada.

THE GRANT.

The first grant of the township of Kent was made

to Joseph Fuller, Timothy Hatch, Daniel Comstock,

Joseph Pratt, Ephraim Hubball, Nathaniel Berry,

John Ransom, and others, in May, 1731, and enlarged

and confirmed in the year 1747.

FIRST PROPRIETORS' MEETING.

The first proprietors' meeting was held at Wind-

ham, March 8, 1838, at which it was

" Foted, To lay out into lots a part of said Kent, and to appoint a com-

mittee for that purpose.

"VoUil, Humphrey Avery as agent to prefer to the General Assembly

to ascertain and establish the south line of the town.

** Voted, That Ebenezer Barnum shall have the 49th lot, upon condition

that lie build a eaw-mill and a grist-miil.

"Voled, That Elisha I'erry and Jonathan Morgan shall not build mill!

on Milt Brook, to the detriment of each other."

UST OF PROPRIETORS.

The following is a list of the first proprietors, as taken

from the proprietors' records : Humphrey Avery, John

Beebe, Nathaniel Benjamin, Josiah Barse, Abel Bar-

num, Ebenezer Barnum, Nathaniel Barnum, Na-

thaniel Berry, Thomas Beman, Thomas Casson, Philip

Covcrly, Daniel Comstock, Jonathan Dunham, Fran-

cis Fenton, Joseph Hatch, Ephraim Peter, Richard

and Jonathan Hubl)cl, Philip Judd, John Knapp,

Noali Rockwell, Samuel Lewis, John Mitchei, Jolin

Mills, Jonathan and Jonathan Morgan, Jr., Mitchei

Kenell, Samuel Miner, Jolin Mills, Thomas New-
comb, John Porter, .John Smith, Thomas Skeels,

Nathaniel Slo.son, Zepaniali Swift, John Seeley, Jo-

siali Starr, Thomiw Tozer, Abel Wright, Elisha Wil-

liams, Jacob Warner.

THE FIRST SETTLEMENTS.

The first settlement.s were made in 1738, principally

by settlers from Colchester, Fairfield, and Norwalk.

The Slawsons, Canlields, and Bassetts were from Nor-

walk ; the Comstocks from Fairfield ; while Payne,

Washburn, Wright, Ransom, and Piatt were from

Colchester. The .settlement and improvement of the

town generally was rapid, as evidenced by the fol-

lowing grand list of 1745

:
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GRAND LIST, 1745.

£
Isaac Benton 28
Kiithaiiiul Berry 115
Ric)iur(l Barnum 18
Benj;innn Bronsou 62
Samuel Bates 29
Ebeiif'/er Barnum 23
Tliunias Beman 66
Amos Barnum.. 24
Daniel Beman 21

Gitleon Barnum 88

John Bentley 22

E. Beman 21

Jehial Barnum 60

Darieti Comstock 7:1

Abel Comstock 19

Daniel Comstock 75

Samuel CanfieW 89

Daniel Cross 25
Nathan Delano 36

J. Fuller 83
Barnaba-s Hatch 55
Timothy Hatch 76
Jethro Hatch 21

Benjuniin Hambleton.... 43
E. Huhl.ell 96
Philip Jidtie 41
Samuel Latteau 24
J. Lassell 68
Jolin Mills 99
J. Morgan 47

«.



HON. RUFUS FULLER.

Hon. Riifiis Fuller was born in Plymoiitli,

Litchfield Co., Conn., Nov. 13, ISflO. He was

the second son of Rufus Fuller, of Eiiston,

Mass. Rufus, Sr., had four children,—Linus

F., Rufus, Julia A. ; the fourth died in in-

fancy.

The subject of this sketch receivctl iiis edu-

cation at Union College, and graduated in

1835, receiving the degrees of A.M. and A.B.,

Dr. Knott being president at that time. He

studied law with Judge O. S. Seymour, of

Litchfield, Conn., and was admitted to tiie bar

in 1839. He practical his profession alx)ut

twenty-five years, when he retirwl from active

business life in consequence of ill health.

March 10, 1857, he united in marriage

with ^ratildii, daiigiitcr of Louis St. John, of

Sharon. They have two children,—Clarence L.

and Florence A. Clarence resides on the farm

with his father; Florence is an artist and a

memljer of tlie Art League in New York City.

Mr. Fidler, politically, is a Democrat ; has been

judge of Probate and postmaster, and was a

member of the Legislature in 1848, and sub-

sequently Wiis the nominee of his party for

State senator.

Mr. Fuller dischargetl the duties of the

various jwsitions to which he was called with

creilit to himself and to the entire sjUisfaction

of his constituents." Although having reached

the age of threescore and ten, he still retains

much of the vigor and elasticity of youth.
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The present officers of the church are as follows

:

Wardens, E. S. Peters and J. F. Gibbs ; Vestrymen,

Wellington Watson, Sr., Linus B. Winegar, Perry

Hufcut, Fitch E. Buckingham, and Wellington Wat-

son, Jr. ; Clerk, J. F. Gibbs.

ST. LUKE'S LODGE, No. 48, F. AND A. M.

The lodge was organized Dec. 1, 1806, with the fol-

lowing charter members : John Raymond, Nathaniel

Berry, Jr., Philo Mills, Hopson Pratt, Abijah Berry,

John H. Swift, Reuben H. Boothe, Lee Eaton, Jesse

St. John, and Stiles Peck. The first Master was

John Raymond ; Nathaniel Berry, Jr., Senior War-
den ; Philo Mills, Junior Warden. The charter was

revoked by the Grand Lodge in May, 1838, and was

restored May 14, 1857.

INCORPORATION.

Kent was incorporated as a town in October, 1739.

THE FIRST TOWN-MEETING.

The first town-meeting was held in Kent, Dec. 4,

1739, " at two of ye Clock in ye after noon, att which

the people attended ye bissness of Sd Meeting." Mr.

Abel Wright was chosen moderator, and Samuel

Lewis clerk. The first selectmen were Ebenezer

Barnum, Azariah Pratt, Timothy Hatch, John Por-

ter, and Abel Wright ; Constables, Mr. Slosson and

John Beebe ; Grand Jurors, John Mills and Gideon

Barnum ; Surveyors of Highways, Mathe Berry, Jo-

siah Barnum, Robard ; Fence-Viewers, Jona-

than Morgan, Daniel Comstock, Jr.

MARRIAGES, FIRST BIRTHS, Etc.

"Isaac Tiknnr and mary martin were joined in marriage April y* Ist,

A.B. 1756, by mr. white, Jtastor. Isaac tickno, Jun., Son to the above

named persons, was born feb. y S^\ a.d. 1757."

'* March y 21)"', A.D. 1758, there was Isaac Cliapman and Raiiuond

joined together in marriage by Tint"' hatch, Jnstice of peace."

The old record also says that

" moses palmer and Pbebe Bnnison were Joined together in marriage

by Cyrns marsli, pastor, Jan. y 4*'', a.d. 17.'>3."

" Jehial Bartinm and Marck Berry was married aprill, 1741."

" Kbenezer Barnum, son., departed this life of action September y*

17th, 1765."

EAR MARKS.
"Jonathan Skeel Mark Is a Whole in the Loft Ear, Febniary the 20,

1774-5."

"William Spoonor mark is a half Cross on the under side of the Left

Ear and a half penny the under side of tile same Kar, April y« 21, 1743."

Jan. 2, 1740, it was

" VoUd, To give Mr. Sillinian a Call for to be our Minister, and also

Toted to give the Gentleman one hundred pounds and twenty pounds

salary, and also voted that a Comett be appointed to treat with Mr. 8111*

man and to se upon what telrms ye Jentelman will be ower Minister."

IlKrilKSKNTATIVKS FUOM 1757 TO 1881.

1767, Jabez Swift; 17.'i8-5U, Jabez Swift, Haniel Lee; 17C.0, Jaboz Swift,

Daniel Lee, Nathan Ellut; 1701, Cyrns Marsh, Nathan Eliot; 1702,

Cyrus Marsh, Nathan Kliot, Kliplinlet Comstock ; 17G.3, Cyrus Marsh,

Nathan Eliot, Capt. John Hitchcock; 1764-6.5, t>njs Marsh, Epbnilm

ilutibol, Jr. ; 1700, John Ransuin, Kliphalet Comstock, Cyrus Marsh ;

1707, John Hanson), Kli|)lialet Comstock; 1768, John Ransom, Kllsha

Swift, DttEilel l.m; 170!!, Kphrnlni Ilubbel, Jr., Kllsha Swift; 1770,

John Kausoni, Capt. Joseph Pratt, Ellsha Swift, Capt. Moeos Avorill;

1771, Capt. Joseph Pratt, Capt. Justus Sackett, Ephraim Hubbel,

Capt. Moses Averill ; 1772-74, Ephraim Hnbbell, Jr., Nathan Elliott,

Capt. Justus Sackett; 1775, Ephraim Hubbell, Jr., Capt. Eliphalet

Whittlesey, Capt. Jethro Hatch, Capt. Justus Sackett; 1776, Capt.

Jethro Hatch, Capt. Moses Averill, Capt. Justus Sackett; 1777,

Ephraim Hubbell, Jr., Capt. Justus Sackett, Maj. Jethro Hatch,

Capt. Joseph Carter; 1778, Maj. Jethro Hatch, Capt. Joseph Carter,

Capt. Jedediah Hubbell; 1779, Maj. Jethro Hatch, Capt. Justus Sack-

ett, Capt. Joseph Pratt, Maj. Eleazer Curtiss ; 1780, Maj. Jethro Hatch,

Capt. Joseph Carter, Lewis Mills, Benjamin Ackley; 1781, Lewis

Mills, Benjamin Ackley, Capt. Joseph Pratt, Capt. Justus Sackett;

1782, Capt. Joseph Pratt, Capt. Justus Sackett, Miy. Eleazer Curtis;

1783, Capt. Joseph Pratt, Capt. Joseph Carter, Nathaniel Berry,

Nathan Elliott; 1784, Nathaniel Berry, Capt. Joseph Cartor, Nathan

Elliott; 1785-86, Capt. Joseph Pratt, Maj. Eleazer Curtiss; 1787,

Nathan Elliott: 1788, Capt. Joseph Pratt, Nathan Elliott; 1789, Na-

thaniel Perry; 1790, Nathan Elliott; 1791, Joseph Pratt; 1792,

Stephen Dodge, Nathaniel Berry ; 179:i, Peter Pratt, Peter Com-
stock ; 1794, Joseph Pratt, .John Elliott; 1795, Joseph Pratt; 1796,

Joseph Pratt, John Elliott; 1797, John Elliott, Barzillai Slosson;

1798, Barzillai Slosson, Joseph Pratt; 1799, Joseph Pratt, David

Comstock ; 1800, David Comstock ; 1801, Joseph Pratt, David Com-

stock; 1802-3, David Comstock, Barzillai Slosson; 1804, Nathaniel

Berry, Jr.; 1805, Nathaniel Berry, Jr., Barzillai Slosson; 1806-7,

Barzillai Slosson; 1808, Matliew Elliott; 1809, Barzillai Slosson;

1810-1 , Barzillai Slosson, Hopson Pratt; 1812, Barzillai Slosson;

1813, Hopson Pratt ; 1814, Hopson Pratt, Jesse St. John ; 1815, Jesse

St. John, Mathew Elliott; 1816, Nathan Elliott, Joseph Skiff; 1817,

Philo Mills; 1818, Abel Beach; 1819-20, Lewis Mills; 1821, Nathan

Slosson, Jr.; 1822, Nathaniel P. Perry; 1823, Bussell Judd; 1824,

John Mills; 1825, John S. Swift; 1820, Mills Bordwell; 1827, Alpheus

Fuller; 1828, Abel Beach; 1829, Nathaniel P. Perry; 1830, Birdsey

Beardsley; 18.!1, Philo Mills; ls,i2, Garrett Winnegar; 183.'), Ira

Eaton; 1834, Wells Beardsley; 1835, Daniel Daytou; 1836, Hiram

Converse; 1837, William T. llopsi)n; 1838. Rnisell Judd; 1839, Hub-

bell Miller; 1840, Daniel P. Lane; 1841, John M. Raymond; 1842,

no record ; 1843, John L. Stuart ; 1844, no record ; 1845, Agur Beards-

ley ; 1846, Nathan Terrills ; 1847. John L. Stuart ; 1848. Rnfns Fuller,

Jr. ; 1849, Heman Segar; 1850, Ellada Osborn ; 1851, Henry I. Fuller;

1852, Russell Stone ; 1853, George Feim ; 1854, David Vincent ; 1865,

Pethnel Mlllspaugh; 1866, Luke I. Putnam; 18.57, Edmund H. Mills;

1858, Charles J. Fuller ; 1859, Austin Morehouse ; 180O, John Spoonor

;

1861, William M. Jndd; 1862, Iteubeu Eaton; 1863, Frederick A.

Mallory; 1864, Austin St. John; 180.5, Luther Katun; 18<'>6, Peter

Skiff; 1867, Seth W. Hopson; 1808-69, F. A. Mallory; 1870, Charlee

Edwards; 1871, Walter B. Camp; 1872-73. Charlea Eilwards; 1874,

Clark Page; 1875, Cliaries K<lwanla; 1876, Samuel R. Poet; 1877,

Marshall C. GIbba; 1878, Irwin J. Ileardsley; 1879, Ira Segur; 1880,

Charles S. SmiUi ; 1881, Sherman Benedict.

MILITARY RECORD.*

Felix Dupont, Ist Art.; onl. December, IHt'A.

James McCabe, 5th Itegt.; enl. 18C:i; dlach. July 14, 186S.

J. Lee.

James Griffen, 7th Regt; enl. Nov. 29, 1804; dlach. July 20, ISlfi.

A. Seymour, 7th Regt.; onl. Not. 29, 18G4; discb. July 20, IMS.

John White, 8th Regt.; enL Aug. 12, 1864; dlich. Dec 12, 1865.

William Drom, 8tli ItegL

P. Stephenson, 8th Kegt.; onl. Sept. 21, 1861 ; disch. Jan. 9. 1883.

E. Thayer, 8th Bogt. ; onl. Sept. 21, 1861 ; disch. Selit. 2, 1804.

T. Doyle, loili Regt.

F. McArdle, lutli Regt.; enl. Dec. 9, 1864; dlKh. Aug. 25, 1865.

L. Murphy, Inih Rogl.; enl. Oct. 1, 1861.

S. C. Austin, loth Regt.; onl. Oct. 1, 1801 ; died May 8, 1862.

F. Friar, loth Uegt. ; enl. Oct. 1. 1801; disch. April 12, 1802.

O. Friar, 10th Regt. ; enl. Oct. I, 1801 ;
disch. Oct. 7, 1864.

A. L. Frink, loth Regt.; onl. Oct. 1, 1801 ; disch. April 12, 1862.

L. Hoog, loth Itogt. ; enl. Oct. 1, 1861 ; disch. Sept 30, 1864.

II. F. Johnson, loth Regt. ; enl. Oct. I, 1861 ; dlach. Aug. r>, 1865.

L. G. Lane, lOlli Regt.; onl. Oct. I, 1.801 ; died Fob. 211, 1862.

H. L. V. Marvel, loth Regt. : enl. Oct. 1, 1861 ; killed April 2, 1866.

A. Murphy, lOtb Regt.; onl. Oct 1, 1861 ; diach. Aug. 25, 1806.

(J O. 11. Odell, 1011, Regt. ; enl. Oct. 1, 1801 ; disch. Sept .Vt, 1804.

L. Souslott, 10th Regt.; enl. Oct 1. 1861 ; dlach. Aug. 26, 1866.

• For IM of Mioaleenth Reglineol, aaa ChopUr .
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H. Storry, 10th Regt. ; enl. Oct. 3, ' 861 ; disch. July 11, 1862.

H. K. Walling, 10th Rngt. ; enl. Oct. 29, 1861 ; disch. Aug. 2-5, 1865.

S. Wood, 10th Regt.; enl. Dec. 8, 1864 ; disch. Aug. 26, 1865.

W. H. Murphy, 13th Regt.; enl. Nov. 37, 1861 ; disch. Nov. 22, 1865.

E. W. Pindar, 13th Regt.; enl. Not. 27, 1861.

0. Potter, 13th Regt. ; enl. Nov. 27, 1801 ; killed Sept. 19, 1864.

Jos. H. Pratt, 13th Kogt. ; enl. Nov. 27, 1861 ; died April 13, 1866.

r. Quain, 13th Regt. ; enl. Nov. 27, 1861 ; disch. May 31, 1862.

William H. Reynolds, 13th Regt.; enl. Nov. 27, 1861 ; died May 14, 1862.

John Roach, l:!th Regt.; enl. Nov. 27, 1861; died Aug. 18, 1862.

E. P. Scott, 13th Regt. ; enl. Nov. 27, 1861 ; disch. Sept. 7, 1862.

M. H. Scott, 13th Regt.

Orange Smith, 13th Regt.; enl. Nov. 27, 1861 ; disch. Jan. 6, 1865.

V. Slowe, 13th Regt. ; enl. Jan. 22, 1862 ; disch. Aug. 6, 1862.

F. Stuart, 13th Regt.; enl. Dec. 17, 1861 ; disch. April 16, 1864.

H. Stuart, 13th Uegt. ; enl. Dec. 30, 1861 ; disch. April 25, 1866.

W. 11. Ten Eyck, 13tli Regt. ; enl. Dec. 30, 1861 ; disch. May 13, 1863.

Daniel Thomson, 13th Regt. ; enl. Nov. 27, 1861 ; disch. April 25, 1866.

r. E. Waldron, 13th Regt. ; enl. Nov. 27, 1861 ; died June 19, 1863.

H. Brown, 13tli Regt. ; enl. Dec. 30, 1861 ; disch. April 25, 1866.

John Carpenter, 13th Regt. ; enl. Nov. 27, 1861 ; disch. May 31, 1862.

John Clark, 13th Regt. ; enl. Dec. 30, 1861 ; died Aug. 6, 1862.

James H. Dingee, 13th Regt.; enl. Jan. 22, 1862.

R. H. Douglass, 13th Regt.; enl. Nov. 27, 1861 ; died Sept. 4, 1862.

E. V. Dunbar, 13tli Regt. ; enl. Nov. 27, 1861 ;
pro. to 2d lieut. ; res. Aug.

16, 1865.

E. Evetts, 13th Regt.; enl. Dec. 30, 1861.

H. Hall, 13th Regt. ; enl. Nov. 27, 1861 ; disch. March 9, 1864.

S. Hammond, 13th Regt. ; enl. Nov. 27, 1861 ; disch. April 25, 1866.

J. B. Hutchins, 13tli Regt. ; enl. Nov. 27, 1861 ; disch. May 29, 1863.

Ezra Marshall, 13th Regt. ; enl. Nov. 27, 1861 ; disch. Aug. 5, 1862.

Ira Matshall, 13th Uegt. ; enl. Nov. 27, 1861 ; disch. Jan. 6, 1866.

Charies Mitchell, 13tli Regt. ; enl. Dec. 30. 1861 ; died Oct. 11, 1804.

H. Stowe, nth Regt. ; enl. Feb. 13, 1864 ; died Dec. 9, 1864.

V. Stowe, 11th Regt. ; enl. Feb. 13, 1864 ; killed May 9, 1864.

1. F. Nettleton, 13tll Regt. ; enl. Feb. 18, 1862 ; died Sept. 26, 1862.

J. N. Duncan, 13tli Regt. ; enl. Nov. 27, 1861 ; disch. May 13, 1863.

S. Potter, 13th Regt. ; enl. Nov. 27, 1861 ; disch. Sept. 7, 1862.

H. M. Welch, 13th Regt. ; enl. Nov. 27, 1861 ; died Dec. 31, 1864.

W. H. Odell, 13th Regt. ; enl. Nov. 27, 1861 ; disch. Feb. 14, 1863.

Benjamin Walker, 13th Regt.; enl. Feb. 10, 1862; disch. May 31, 1862.

H. J. Austin, 13th Regt. ; enl. Dec. 17, 1861.

W. Barnes, 13th Regt. ; enl. June 22, 1862 ; died May 31, 1864.

H. H. Fitch, 29(h Regt. ; enl. Dec. 21, 1863 ; disch. Oct. 4, 1865.

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCH.

RUSSEL STONE.

This Stone family is of Welsh ancestry. Levi Stone

married in Danbury, Conn., Mary Wildman, July 4,

1776, thus joyously celebrating the signing of the im-

mortal " Declaration of American Independence."

His father was William Stone. He had three sons,

Daniel, Elon (?), and Levi, all of whom ultimately

settled in Kent. Levi was a captain in the colonial

array, and was detailed to take charge of a company

of blacksmiths in Danbury, where he was captured

by the British and confined in Danbury jail. Here

he was taken violently ill, and begged for a drink of

water, which was refused him. At last, after much
suffering, he crawled into the jail-yard on his hands

and knees, and from a spring there drank copious

draughts which, no doubt, saved his life. He was an

early settler of Kent, and settled finally on the place

now owned and occupied by his grandson, Levi W.
Mr. Stone had a large family, six children—Russell,

Asa, Dolly, Samuel W., Nancy, and Ezra—living to

maturity. He died Dec. 31, 1836, just as the clock

was striking midnight, on the last day of the week,

the last day of the month, and the last day of the

year, at the age of eighty-two years. He was an ac-

tive, industrious man, and the most of his life worked
at his trade as a blacksmith. His wife survived him
several years.

Russell Stone was born in Kent, Conn., May 3,

1779. He received a common-school education, be-

came a farmer, and held at various times the promi-

nent offices of his town. He was interested in public

affairs, and active and energetic in his advocacy for

what seemed to him for the public good. He was for

many years a member of the Congregational Church
of Kent, and was held in high esteem by his fellows.

He was of good judgment, was one of Kent's promi-

nent citizens, and represented his town one year in

the State Legislature, where he was the oldest mem-
ber. In politics he was first a Federalist, next a

Whig, lastly a Republican. His death occurred Oct.

5, 1864, at the age of eighty-five years. He was mar-

ried four times, first to Jerusha Hurd, by whom he

had four children,—Hiram, Mary A. (Mrs. Norman
Hall), Betsy Minerva (Mrs. Jacob Shew, of North-

ampton, Mass.), and Jerusha (Mrs. David B. Fuller).

His second wife was Mary Hurd, sister of his first.

They had five children, one dying in infancy; those

attaining maturity were Levi W., Fairchild W.,

Dolly (Mrs. John T. St. John), and Maria (Mrs. Ed-

win Skiff). His third wife was Rebecca Talcott, of

Vernon, Conn. She only lived about a year. His

fourth was Hannah Talcott, also of Vernon. They
had no children, and she survived her husband two

years. Of the eight children mentioned, only two

have died, and all lived until the youngest was nearly

fifty-six years of age.

CHAPTER XXXVIIL
MOKRIS.

Geographical—Topographical—Pioneer Settlement—Parish of South

Farms Incorporated—History of Congregational Church—The Advent

Society—James Morris and Morris Academy—Incorporation of the

Town—First Town-Meeting—Officers Elected—Extracts from Societies'

Records—Representatives from 1860 to 1882—Military Record.

The town of Morris* lies south of the centre of the

county, and is bounded as follows : on the north and

east by Litchfield, on the south by Watertown and

Bethlehem, and on the west by Washington. Its .sur-

face is very hilly, the most elevated portion being

twenty-five feet higher than the highest point of

Litchfield Hill.

The town was early known as South Farms, in the

southern part of Litchfield, and is believed to have

* Named in honor of James Morris.
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been settled prior to August, 1723. The parish of

South Farms was incorporated in 1767.

The first birth in Litchfield was a son to Zebulon

Gibbs, at South Farms.

In this part of the town, and on the spot occupied

by the barn of Mr. David Benton, was one of the four

forts built to protect the inhabitants against the incur-

sions of the Indians.

CONGREGATIONAL CHURCH.

At first the people of South Farms worshiped with

the people at Litchfield, but there was early mani-

fested a tendency to draw asunder, and in 1743,

twenty-one years after the organization of the church

at Litchfield, it was voted to have an orthodox min-

ister here for three months during the winter season.

In October, 1748, the Legislature granted them win-

ter privilege, for three months, which in 1761 were

increased one month ; and an act was passed author-

izing the inhabitants of South Farms to build a

meeting-house, and tax themselves for the purpose,

and to exercise all the powers of an ecclesiastical

society for tliis one-third of the year, at the same

time being exempted from one-third of their tax for

ecclesiastical purposes at Litchfield. About this time

they secured from the town of Litchfield a separate

burying-ground. From year to year they voted to

improve, or hold up their winter privileges, beginning

the services with January. The place of meeting was

at first movable, sometimes in a school-house and

sometimes in private houses.

In 1753 there were only thirty families in South

Farms.

Rev. Mr. Bartlett was the first minister stationed

here on record. Rev. Mr. Dickinson was here from

1755 to 1767. The following ministers seem to have

been their winters' supply : Noah Wadhams, Stephen

Heaton, Ebenezer Gauls, Andrew Rowland, John

Richards, and Jonathan Bird.

In 1764 tlie first meeting-house was built. It was

a small affair, only thirty-five by twenty-five feet, and

nine-feet posts. It was located nearly opposite the

blacksmith's shop at the Centre. With a new meeting-

house and an increasing population, they finally suc-

ceeded in being set off, and organized themselves as a

separate religious society in 1767, at which time they

had seventy families. In 1768 a church was organized

with thirteen male members. Rev. Peter Starr sup-

plied the pulpit in 1772. The first settled pastor was

Rev. George Beckwith, a graduate of Yale College in

1766. He was ordained Oct. 22, 1772. He married

for his wife a Miss Merot, of this place. He was dis-

missed in 1781. Mr. Caleb Hotchkiss, a graduate of

Yale in 1766, was employed here from May 7, 1781, to

April 1, 1784. He died in 1784.

In 1785 a new meeting-house wits built fifty-eight

by forty-two and twenty-five feet high. It was located

on the green (>p])()site Mr. S. M. Ensign's house. Rev.

Daniel Brimsmade supplied the pulpit during 1785.

Rev. Amos Chase, of Cornish, N. H., a graduate of

Dartmouth College, was ordained here June 27, 1787.

He studied theology with Rev. Levi Hart, of Gris-

wold, whose daughter Rebecca he married ; she was

a granddaughter of Dr. Bellamy, of Bethlehem. Mr.

Chase was second cousin of the late Chief Justice

Chase. He was dismissed June 15, 1814, after a

pastorate of twenty-seven years. Rev. Asahel Nettle-

ton, the revivalist, preached here for several months

in 1814. Rev. William R. Week, a graduate of

Princeton College, and former teacher in the aca-

demy here, received a call to settle in 1815, but de-

clined. Rev. Amos Pettengill was installed here

April 17, 1816; born in New Haven, a graduate

of Harvard in 1807, he was cotemporary with Dr.

Lyman Beecher, at Litchfield. He was dismissed

January, 1822. Rev. Henry Robinson, a graduate of

Yale in 1811, and of Anderson Theological Seminary

in 1816, was ordained here April 30, 1823. He was

dismissed Oct. 27, 1829. Rev. Vernon D. Taylor was

installed here Jan. 26, 1831. During his brief min-

istry of two years seventy-five were added to the

church. He was dismissed Feb. 7, 1833. He was

succeeded by Rev. James F. Warner, who was or-

dained July 31, 1833, and dismissed Aug. 12, 1834.

Rev. Ralph S. Crampton was installed here Dec. 3,

1834, and dismissed June 7, 1836. From June, 1836,

to 1837, Rev. Stephen Hubbell supplied the pulpit

here, and Rev. B. Y. Messenger from 1837 to 1838 ; Rev.

Richard Woodruff supplied the pulpit here from 1838

to 1841 ; Rev. David L. Parmelee wa-s installed here

Aug. 25, 1841, where he remained pastor for twenty-

four years, until the time of his death, which occurred

June 27, 1865. In 1844 the present meeting-house

was built at a cost of two thousand five hundred

dollars, and in 1856 the Conference room at a cost of

one thousand dollars.

South Farms was set ofT from Litchfield and in-

corporated as the town of Morris in 18.59. Rev. H.

H. McFarland, a graduate of Y'ale, supplied the pul-

pit here for two years from 1869, the church being

without regular supply for two years, Rev. Mr. I'ar-

mclce occasionally officiating. Rev. Cyrus W. Pickett,

a graduate of Yale, was employed two years. On May

1, 1867, Rev. Daniel D. Tompkins JIcLaughlin, a

graduate of Yale in 1837, and of Union Theological

Seminary, New York, 1842, was instjilled here. In

the early part of his ministrj- here the parsonage was

secured at a cost of three thousand one hundred and

twenty dollars. He wils dismissed in 1871. Rev.

Richard (iidman supplieil the pulpit here from June

9, 1872, to July 1, 1875. Rev. Edwin Leonard came

here Jan. 1, 1876. He is a graduate of Bowdoin Col-

lege in 1847, and of Bangor Theological Seminary in

•1850.

THE ADVENT SOCIETY

erected a chapel in the western part of the town in

1871, and maintain weekly services. Joseph Curtiss

was their first preacher.
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Among the old inhabitants are the names of Gibbs,

Ensign, Marsh, Harrison, Hull, Benton, Camp, Em-
mons, Ray, Pierpont, Woodruff, Farnham, and Whit-

tlesey.

JAMES MORRIS AND MORRIS ACADEMY.

James Morris was born in Litchfield South Farms,

Jan. 19, 1752, graduated at Yale College in 1775, and
soon after commenced the study of divinity with Rev.

Dr. Bellamy, of Bethlehem, Conn. In May, 1776,

while preceptor of the grammar school in Litchfield,

he received from Gov. Trumbull an ensign's com-
mission in the Connecticut troops for a six-mouths

campaign in New York, which he accepted. In

1777 he was promoted as first lieutenant. In May
he joined the army at Peekskill, and from there he
marched in September with the army, under the im-

mediate command of Gen. Washington,* to Philadel-

phia. He wa-s captured at the battle of Germantown,
and detained as a prisoner of war for a period of three

and a quarter years. He was liberated Jan. 3, 1781.

After this he accompanied the army under Washing-
ton to Yorktown. At the close of the war he re-

turned to Litchfield South Farm.s, and here spent the

remainder of his life. In 1795 he was elected deacon
of the church. He was often elected as representa-

tive to the Legislature of the State, and held other

important offices in the town. In 1790 he commenced
a school in South Farms, which gradually extended
its representation and influence until Morris Academy
became celebrated throughout the country. While
under his care more than sixty of his pupils entered

college, and nearly fifteen hundred children and
youth had been members of it, from twelve different

States of the Union, and from the Islands of St.

Thomas and Bermuda. The academy was incorpor-

ated in 1819, and between 1790 and 1812 had more
than fourteen hundred pupils of both sexes. He was
assisted by able instructors, and many men of mark
graduated here, among whom were John Brown, of

Ossawatomie and Virginia fame. Rev. Dr. Edward
Beecher, Rev. John Pierpont.

President Dvvight, of Yale College, in his "Trav-
els," gives the following interesting facts relative to

this parish and the academy :

" Immediately above Watertown lies South Farms, tlie southern part

of Litchfield. This parish is principally a collectiun of hills, which are

high, moist, and excellent grazing-ground. The surface is pleasant, the

liouses good farmers' dwellings, of which a little village is formed around

the church. The inhabitants are industrious and thrifty, and distin-

guished for good morals, good order, and decency of deportment. A
flourishing academy has been raised of late, almost solely by the efforts

of James Morris, Esq., who is at once its founder and preceptor. This

gentleman, soon after he had finished his education at Yale College, be-

came an officer in the American army, in which he continued through-

out the Revolutionary war. After the peace, his parents and his patri-

mony being in this place, he was induced to establish himself here for

life. At his return he found the inlialiitants less enlightened and less

refined than those of many other parts of the State. What in this coun-

try is perhaps singular, tliey regarded him, both as a man liberally edu-

cated and as an officer, with suspicioti and alienation. At the same time

he perceived, with not a little mortification, that they were in many in-

stances ignorant and vicious. As lie had been absent from his early

youth, his influence among them was to be created. With a disposition

which cannot be enough commended, he determined to commence in

form the work of a general reformation. After various exjieriments,

sufficiently discouraging, among those wlio had arrived at middle age,

he turned his attention to their children, and hoped, by comnuinicating

to them the advantages of a well.ilirected education, to furnish their

minds with both knowledge and virtue, and thus to transform their

character into amiableness and worth. For this benevolent purpose he

founded the institution which I have mentioned. In this academy it

has from the first been the comnmnding object to inculcate the best

principles of morality and religion, and to require of the students unex-

ceptionable deportment. The youths of both sexes usually assembled

here, from various parts of the country, are in number from forty to

seventy. Mr. Morris has had the satisfaction of seeing his expectations

more than realized. Not only were the benefits of his design realized

by the inhabitants of South Farms, but they are spread also through

most parts of the country, and extensively through this and the neigh-

bonng States. This is one among the proofs furnished by experience of

the power possessed by an individual of spreading around him, if prop-

erly disposed, the best blessing of society."

Morris has an underlying strata of rock, cropping out

continually at the surface. It is almost entirely free

from low, swampy land ; the air is pure, and free

from all malaria, with good soil and excellent water,

and very healthy, as the following statistics, compiled

for the last five years, indicate. During this time but

.55 persons have died in town ; average number per

year, 11. During these five years but 6 persons have

died of consumption contracted here. In five years

deaths into which paralysis entered as a factor were

8 ; deaths from old age, or into which old age was a

factor, 7; casualty, 4; cancer, 4; heart-disease, 3;

dropsy, fever, diphtheria, and pneumonia, each 2; all

other diseases, each only 1 ; average age at time of

death, 55 years ; 3 were over 90, viz., 91, 92, 93 ; 11

were 80 or over; 13 were 70 or over; 8 were 60 or

over ; 4 were 50 or over ; 2 were 40 or over ; 8 were

30 or over; 4 were 20 or over.

INCORPORATION OF THE TOWN—FIRST TOWN-
MEETING.

Morris was incorporated in 1859, and the first town-

meeting was held June 27, 1859, when the following

officers were elected: Phineas McCary, Moderator;

William H. Lawrence, Town Clerk ; W. L. Smeddley,

Treasurer; Alanson J. Pickett, David Benton, George

A. Smith, Selectmen ; Joseph C. Peck, Daniel W.
Waggoner, Frederick B. Hand, Constables ; Alvah

Clark, David Benton, C. H. Alvord, Grand Jurors

;

William M. Ensign, Samuel W. S. Sh^lton, William

B. Ames, School Visitors ; Nelson Edmonds, Henry

Steel, Assessors; Ezra Judd, Charles A. Ensign,

Bateman Smith, Board of Relief; Newton Smith,

Garry H. Miner, Henry R. Ray, Justices of the

Peace ; Alanson J. Pickett, First Representative.

EXTRACTS FROM RECORDS.

The following are extracts from the records of South

Farms society : March 14, 1759, the society voted

" to pay Charles Woodruff six shillings for bears, to

carry ye dead." In 1769 it was voted, " that we think

the sealing ordinances are equaly sacred, and any

person that is qualified for one is qualified for both."

In 1770, " voted that we approve of the church vote,



DAN THROOl'.

Dan Throop was a son of Benjamin and graiulson of

Joseph Throop, who was one of the first settlers of

Litchfield County. Joseph Throop was of Scotch de-

scent; was born in 1715; married Deborah Biiel, sister

of John Buel, one of the original proprietors of Litch-

field ; they camo from Lebanon, where he lived until

1747, when he purchased land in Ijitchfleld (South

Farms), now Morris, where he raised a large family,

several of whom emigrated to the Western States, lie

was identified with many of the early improvements of

Litchfield. Soon after he camo ho erected a saw-mill on

a stream running through his land, which is said to have

been the first in Morris. The present mill, which is the

fourth on that site, is using the dam ho built. Some

time later ho bought land on the Bantam Kiver, near

where the Morris station of the Shepaug Railroad now

is, and built a grist-mill, which was also one of the first

mills in the county. Tho first mill ho built was on a

stream running by his log house, where he put up a

small water-wheel which furnished power to drive the

flax spinning-wheel of his wife. This pioneer couple

lived to a good old age. Ho died Oct. 4, 179!l, aged

eighty-four; and bis wife Feb. 11, 1811, aged ninety-

four. Their children wore Deborah, born April 22,

1741 ; Joseph, born April 22, 174i!; William, born Dec

26, 1745; Elizabeth, born Jan. 10, 1747; Dan, l)..rn

Nov. 18, 1748; Benjamin, born Sept. 13, 1752; Martha,

horn July 12, ITir); Rhoda, born June 10, 1758; Samuel,

born Nov. 8, 1700.

Benjamin married Mary Burgess, and remained on

land given him by his father. He was a " Minute- Man,"

and was called to Danbury at tho time that place was

burned by tho British. Their children were Samuel,

born Aug. 12, 1770; Irona, born Jan. 14,1778; Calvin,

born Sept. 19, 1779; Polly, born Doc. 8, 1782; Benja-

min, born Dec. 19, 1784; Joseph and Deborah, born

Ajiril 8, 1788; James, born Jan. 19, 1791 ; Julina, born

Nov. 29, 1793; Dan, born April 2.S, 179(!; Abigail, Ixirn

Junes, 1798.

Dan Throop, whoso portrait accompanies this sketch,

married Olive Smith, Jan. 1, 1818, daughter of David

Smith. Ho served in tho war of tho Revolution

;

was brought home sick to his fathor's, in Litchfield.

Dan Throop was a farmer, a man highly respected

for his upright character and integrity. He lived

and died upon tho old liomo.-teail of his grandfather,

and whoro his widow now rosidos with bor ton Uoorgc.

Monroe, tho oldest son, lives upon tho adjoining farm.

They arc carriage-makers and miU-wright-i, and are

among the most respected and reliable men of the

town.

The rhildriMi of Dan and Olive Smilli Throop were

Monroe, Altha, KliKabelh, Charles, Uforgn, Mary, Mor-

ris, and Amelia.
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viz., that conversion should not be a term for admission

for churcli communion." In 1776 the town granted

to Thomas Waugb, and his heirs forever, the right to

use a certain burying-ground in South Farms for pas-

turing, " provided lie or they shall keep up and main-

tain convenient bars for the people to pass and repass

for the purpose of burying their dead." In 1785 a

new and commodious church was erected. In April of

that year the society voted that " the raeeting-house

committee shall have good right to furnish rum,

grindstones, and ropes sufficient for framing the

meeting-house according to their best discretion
;"

and in June an overseer was ajipointed to direct the

issue of liquor at the raising, and a vote at the same

time was passed that said overseer " shall give two

drams a day to the spectators, one a little before

noon, and the other a little before night."

REPRESENTATIVES FROM 1S60-81.

1860-61, William B. Ames; 1862, \. J. Pickett; 1863, Horatio Benton;

1864, Garry H. Miner ; 1865, Sidney Peck ; 1866, Alvah Clark ; 1867,

Chauncey H. Alvord ; 1868, William Deniing; 1869, Sidney Peck;

187U, Samuel M. Ensign; 1871, Phineiis B. Itendel; 1872, D. W.
Waggoner; 1873, Garry H. Miner; 1874, Andrew W. Marsh; 1875,

Nelson Edwards ; 1876, Homer Stoddard ; 1877, A ndrow W. Marsh
;

1878, James M. Benton ; 1879, Frank H. Turkingtou ; 1880, Henry

H. Wangh; 1881, Lucius E. Munson.

MILITARY RECORD.*

Barlow Marshall, 8th Regt; enl. Feb. 23, 1864; died Aug. 2, 1864.

Elijah Marshall, 8tli Regt. ; enl. Feli. 23, 1804 ; must, out Dec. 12, 1865.

Leander Marshall, 8th liegt. ; enl. Feb. 23,1864; died Aug. 25, 1864.

P. Gray, 8th Regt.; enl. Nov. 17, 1864.

E. Gleason, 9th Kegt.; enl. Feb. 17, 1864; disch. Aug. 3, 1865.

A. Rueggur, 10th Regt.; enl. Dec. 18, 1864; disch. Aug. 26, 1865.

W. Luughlin, lltli Regt. ; enl. April 21, 1864; disch. Dec. 21, 18G5.

M. Laughlin, nth Regt.; enl. April 21, 1864.

C. Foster, 11th Regt. ; enl. April 22, 1864; disch. Dec. 21, 1865.

E. L. Green, 13th Regt.; enl. Feb. 20, 1862; disch. Oct. 28, 1862.

J. M. Pierpont, 11th Regt.; com. Nov. 27, 1861, firBt lieutenant; pro. to

captain; disch. Nov. 12, 1862.

J. L. Hine, 11th Regt.; enl. Oct. 26, 1861; disch. Jan. 26, 1863.

Charles Curtis, ^id Regt. ; enl. Sept. 15, 1802; disch. Aug. 31, 1863.

William Scofleld, 23d Kegt.; enl. Sept. 2, 1882; drowned March 8, 1803.

L. SDllth, 23d Regt. ; enl. Sept. 15, 1862; disch. Aug. 31, 1803.

A. K. Taylor, 23d Regt. ; enl. Sept. 16, 1862 ; disch. Aug. 31, 1863.

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES.

PllINEAS W. CAMP.

Phineas W. Camp was born June 9, 1809, on the

farm whore he now resides, in the town of Morris

(formerly Litchfield South Farms). His father, Abel

Camp, was born at the same place. This was the

original settlement of the family in Litchfield, and

WH.S made by Abel ('amp, the grandfatlier of Phineas

W., who came from Watcrliury, where lie waa born,

July 11, 1748. He came to Litchfield when a young

man ; married Sabra Marsh. Their children were

Rebecca, born March 24, 1769; Sabra, born June 6,

* For Hat or Nineteenth RoglnienI, lee Chapter V.

1771 ; John, born March 19, 1773 ; Eunice, born Jan.

30, 1775 ; Phineas, born June 11, 1777 ; Lydia, born

June 9, 1780; Susan, born May 8, 1782; Abel, born

Dec. 28, 1787. Mr. Camp was a carpenter by trade,

a man of good judgment and strong common sense
;

he commenced poor ; raised a large family. Phineas

died when a young man. Mr. Camp lived to see all

the other children married and well settled in life.

He died May 8, 1825, leaving a good name and an

ample competency for his family. His father's name

was also Abel, and in his old age came to Litchfield

to live with his son, where he died at an advanced

age.

Abel, the youngest son of Abel Camp, received

such educational advantages as were afforded by

the common schools and Squire Morris' academy.

When a young man he began teaching school win-

ters ; he became quite famous as a teacher. Was a

member of the Congregational Church, and took an

active part in all church work, and was a deacon for

many years; a man highly respected for integrity and

personal worth. He married Deziah Pease, Feb. 22,

1808. Their children were Phineas W., born June 9,

1809; Harriet Mariah, born April 15, 1811 ; Augustus

P. P., born March 31, 1818. Abel Camp died Aug.

26, 1826, and his wife Aug. 26, 1876, on the farm

where he was born, which has passed to the posse-ssion

of their oldest son, Phineas W. Camp, who married

Louisa B., daughter of Samuel McNeil, of Litchfield,

March 18, 1835. The McNeils are of Scotch-Irish

descent, and trace their genealogy to three brothers,

—Archibald, Alexander, and Adam, who came to

America previous to 1737. Archibald was a captain

in the French war. He married Sarah John.son, of

.\ntrim, Ireland, of a noble family. They had four

sons : the eldest was Archibald, born July 17, 1738

(as per town book of Litchfield); Isaac, tlic second

son, was the father of Samuel, and grandfather of

Mrs. Camp.
Phineas W. Camp is a farmer by occupation, an

active and consistent member, a Sunday-school

teacher, and deacon in the Congregational Church.

His children are Lewis .\., born April 15, 1836, mar-

ried Lizzie James; Samuel P., born Sept. 18, 1839,

married Mary E. Kenney ; Cornelia L., born Feb.

14, 1841, married Virgil H. McEwen. All live in

Seymour, Conn.

LYMAN L. (iRISWOLD.

Lyman L. (Jriswold, son of Jonathan (iriswold and

Betsy Barnes, was born on the farm where he now
' resides, in the town of Morris, Litchfield Co., Conn.,

June 20, 1818. His grandfather, Jonathan tiriswold,

was a resident of Hiuldam, Conn., and came to

i

Washington, Litchfield Co., Conn., where he married

Elizabeth Weeks, of that town. Soon alter their

marriage,, anil before the Revolutionary war, they

settled in LitchfieUI, now known as Morris. They
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were farmers by occupation, as the most of their de-

scendants have been. He was a teara.ster during the

Revolutionary war, and his eldest son, Midian, was a

soldier in the same. Mr. Griswold died in March,

1821, and his wife survived him some two years.

Their children were as follows, viz. : Midian, Mary,

Nabby, Adda, Lottie, and Jonathan, Jr.

Jonathan, Jr., was born in Morris, formerly Litch-

field, Conn., June 10, 1775; married Betsy, daughter

of Amos Barnes, and to them were born the following

children, viz. : Mary A., wife of Samuel Catlin
;

George W., John O., Horace B., Lyman L., and

Frederick A. ; all are dead except three. Mr. Gri.s-

wold was a farmer in limited circumstances; in

politics he was a Whig and Democrat. Mr. and

Mrs. Griswold were members of the Congregational

Church of South Farms. She died Sept. 7, 1846, and

he died March 27, 1861.

Lyman L. Griswold, the immediate subject of this

sketch, was the home boy. His advantages for an

education were such as the common schools of his

day afforded. Soon after the death of his father he

came in possession of the home farm, which consisted

of eighty-four acres, to which he has kept adding

from time to time until to-day he owns some one

hundred and eighty-eight acres. He married Rachel

Prindle, daughter of Warren Prindle, of Cornwall,

Conn., March 25, 1844. She was born Sept. 28, 1823.

They have six children, viz. : Dwight, William (both

farmers), Caroline M., Matilda, Phebe A., and Bertha

E. In politics he has always been a strong defender

of the old Democratic principles as taught by Jeffer-

son and Jackson. He has held nearly all the offices

in his town, with credit to himself and satisfaction to

his constituents. He is a man of great energy and

indomitable perseverance. He has always practiced

the most rigid economy, and resides still on the farm

of his ancestors. He is a man esteemed by all. As
a citizen and farmer, he is regarded one of the leading

men of Morris.

as to take rank among the substantial and influential

men of his town. The business of his life has been

that of a farmer. He has a fine farm, with pleasant

surroundings ; this has been secured by his own exer-

tions. His first money was earned by working at

thirty dollars per year. When twenty-five years of

age he had saved seven hundred and fifty dollars. At
that time he purchased the farm where he now resides,

and with that money made the first payment ; has

since added other lands, erecting fine buildings, etc.

Mr. Tracy has been twice married, first to Caroline

M. Bowns. She died June 2, 1858, leaving six chil-

dren,—Morton, George, Edward (who died at eleven

years), Cornelia, Cornelius, and Frances. Mr. Tracy

was again married, to Lucia E., sister of the first wife.

They were daughters of Jerry Bowns, who was the

son of Joseph Bowns, who came from England before

the Revolution and settled in Torrington, where the

family still reside.

Politically Mr. Tracy is a Republican ; has held

several offices of trust and honor in his town, among
them assessor, selectman, etc. In all public matters

he takes a deep interest ; contributed liberally towards

the construction of the Shepaug Railroad. During

the war of the Rebellion he took an active part to

sustain the government. He enlisted in the Twenty-

third Regiment Connecticut Volunteers, and served

for one year; was honorably discharged with the

regiment in 1863.

ABEL C. TRACY.

Abel C. Tracy was born in the town of Washington,

Litchfield Co., Conn., Jan. 15, 1820 ;
grandson of

i

Capt. Silas Tracy, who kept a public-house at New
Preston at an early day.

His father, Francis Tracy, married Clarissa, daugh-

ter of Abel Clemens, who lived and died on " Mount
Tom," in Litchfield. Abel C. Tracy was the youngest

of six children, and less than three years of age when
his father died, leaving the family in limited circum-

stances. By the energy and courage of the widowed

mother the children were kept together until they

were old enough to earn their living.

At the age of eleven years Abel C. left the maternal

home to earn a livelihood for himself, and from that

time has been entirely upon his own resources. He
has by industry and sagacity so managed his affairs

WILLIAM H. FARNHAM.

William H. Farnham is a lineal descendant of John
Farnum (as the name was formerly spelled), who
emigrated from England and settled in Dorchester,

Mass., at an early day. The Farnum coat of arms is

still in possession of the family. He was made a

freeman in that town May 13, 1640. At the organi-

zation of the Second Church of Boston he was a

member, and was made a deacon at that time. His

children were Henry, Jonathan, Hannah, and Joanna.

Henry Farnham was born 1636 ; he married Joanna

Rutke ; he came first to Windsor, then to Killing-

worth, Conn. Their children were Peter and Eliza-

beth. Peter married Hannah Wiliuxen ; their chil-

dren were Joanna, Peter, Hannah, Nathaniel, Josiah,

Phebe, John, Graves, and Loftus Newell. John was

the first of the family in Litchfield County. He mar-

ried Hannah Crittenden ; moved to Gilford, Conn.,

from there to Litchfield South Farms (now Morris),

about 1740. His children were John, born Nov. 24,

1726 ; Lucy, born Aug. 1, 1727 ; Ruth, born Sept. 12,

1731 ; Seth, born Sept. 28, 1733 ; Gad, born Aug. 10,

1736 ; Nathan, born June 19, 1738 ; Joseph, born

Sept. 10, 1740; Benjamin, born March 1, 1742; Han-

nah, born Jan. 4, 1746. Seth, fourth child of John

Farnham, married Dinah Gibbs, Jan. 23, 1766. Their

children were Louis, born Dec. 13, 1766; Benjamin,

born March 31, 1768; John, born November, 1770;





=~fvfs^

^/^^. ^^.Uu \^



ABEL C. TRACY





NEW HARTFORD. 393

•Joseph, born July 10, 1773 ; Leman, born May 8, 1775;

Seth, born May 17, 1777 ; Joseph, born Aug. 10, 1779
;

Lenian, born May 8, 1781 ; and Sally, born Oct. 10,

1786.

Seth, son of Seth Farnham, married Asenath Brad-

ley, Nov. 25, 1802. Their children were Emily C,

born Dec. 10, 1803 ; Phebe M., born Dec. 22, 1805

;

Harriet B., born Sept. 8, 1809; William H., born

Aug. 22, 1811. William H., only son of Seth Farn-

ham, married Marinda H., daughter of Rufus Pickett,

Sept. 8, 1837. She was born Dec. 17, 1811. Her father

came from Danbury to Litchfield in 1816, settled at

South Farms, where he raised a family of eight chil-

dren,—four sons and four daughters ; all grew to adult

age, and were respected and influential citizens.

Deacon Farnham is a farmer by occupation, and re-

sides on the farm where he was born, and where his

father settled soon after he was married. He received

such educational advantages as were offered by the

common schools and a boarding-school at Bethel,

Conn. He united with the Congregational Church

at Morris in 1831, and has been an active and con-

sistent member since that time ; has held several

important offices in the church, among them clerk,

trea.surer, superintendent of Sunday-school, and dea-

con for many years. Deacon Farnham has always

taken a deep interest in educational matters ; was a

member of the school board of education for several

years. He has three children, all of whom have re-

ceived liberal educations. The children are Rosetta

M., Seth T., and Edwin P. The sons graduated at

Brown University in 1876, and at Rochester Theologi-

cal Seminary in 1877; both are Baptist ministers.

Seth T. married Julia M. Austin, of Suffield, Conn.

They have two children,—Mabel A. and Mary C.

He is pastor of the First Baptist Church of Malone,

N. Y. Edwin P. married J. Adelaide Mather, of

Providence, B. I. They have one child, J. Alice. He
is pastor of Friendship Street Church, Providence,

R. I.

CHAPTER XXXIX.
NEW HABTFORD.'

INTRODUCTION.

. In 1878 the writer of the following sketch became
greatly interested in the early liistory of New Hart-

ford, concerning which no compilation had ever been

made. At that time proposals were received from a

journal in the State to furnish for its columns a series

of historical articles. With that object in view, care-

ful study was given to the matter, and material col-

lected for carrying the history of the town to the be-

ginning of the present century. The pressure of other

cares and duties prevented tlie completion of the

* By Sarah L. Jobm.

articles for publication, though the matter collected

received additions from time to time.

Since consenting to prepare the sketch for the Litch-

field County compilation the material has been newly

digested, and research carried down to the present time.

That portion treating of the " Early Settlement of the

Town" remains substantially as first written ; in the

others it has been the aim of the writer to condense

the information given into the fewest possible words,

with no attempt at elaboration or literary effect. A
history of such limited proportions must necessarily

be the bare skeleton of facts, with but little filling and

embellishing of anecdotes and supplementary inci-

dent. Some material has been held in reserve, but

nothing which could be ascertained has been omitted

that was necessary to a reliable outline history of the

town. Every care has been taken to verify dates and

statements, that a true narrative might be presented.

The writer acknowledges courtesies and assistance

received from Messrs. Charles J. Hoadley, State libra-

rian, and Addison Van Name, assistant librarian of

Yale College, from Rev. William H. Moore, of Me-
morial Hall, from Hon. John Boyd, of Winsted, and

from the custodians of tlie Connecticut Historial

Library. Much that is valuable concerning his

native town has been gleamed from the MSS. of Rev.

Frederick Marsh, late pastor of the Congregational

Church at Winchester, kindly loaned by Messrs. Ed-

ward Marsh, of New Hartford, and George M. Car-

rington, of Winsted.

Grateful acknowledgments are due to those who
have furnished church records, to Deacon J. C. Keach,

the courteous town clerk of New Hartford, to Mr.

Ashbel Marsh, whose recollections have been in-

valuable, to Messrs. Wait Garrett, Darius B. Smith,

Edmund Watson, and to all others whose personal

recollections or family records have in any way con-

tributed to this history.

The public will pardon an acknowledgment to one

within the writer's own family circle, to Capt. Henry
R. Jones, without whose assistance and encourage-

ment these pages could never have been compiled.

To the descendants of the pioneer settlers, to whom
trust in God and love of country were vital principles

of life and action, who with persevering iiuhistry

planted the seeds of civilization on tlie.se rugged

hills, and to all who are now reaping in the beau-

tiful town of New Hartford the harvest sown in toil

and privation a century and a half ago, this sketch is

hereby dedicated. S. L. J.

Nr.w llABTrOBD, April, 1881.

EARLY SETTLEMENT OF THE TOWN.

We were wandering one bright autumn day in the

old cemetery on Town Hill, when a friend remarked,

pointing to a moss-grown slab, " There is the grave of

the first white person ever buried in New Hartford."

Interest and curiosity were at once aroused, and
kneeling before the ancient brown stone, which had
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preserved its perpendicular while others of more

modern appearance had yielded to frost and storm,

with but little difficulty the following inscription was

deciphered :

Here

lies the

Body of Mr
Stephen Kelcy who

died April 2 1745 in

y 71 Year of his Age

as you are so was we
as we are you must he.

The " we" in the couplet doubtless included " Mrs.

Dorothy," his wife, who lay beside him, hut upon

whose tombstone the inscription was so nearly effaced

that little was legible but the name and year of her

death, 1746.

The adjoining plot of ground seemed to have been

• the family burying-place of the Kelcys, or Kelsey, as

the spelling occasionally varied, for three generations

of the name here rej^ose side by side. Curiosity and

interest deepened, and would not rest without some

information concerning this pioneer tenant of the

silent city. Who was he? Inquiry was made among
the oldest inhabitants, but no one knew aught con-

cerning him, and no representative of his name is

now a resident of the town. Trumbull's " History of

Connecticut" disclosed, among a few scanty bits of

information, the name of Stephen Kelsey in a par-

tial list of the first settlers of the town ; meagre but

encouraging was this, and the web which romance

had begun to weave about the old man fastened on an

ancient copy of the town records. On the very first

page within the time-darkened parchment covers was

the name of Stephen Kelsey as moderator of the first

recorded town-meeting in New Hartford, Dec. 19,

1738, and the first business of the meeting constituted

him one of three selectmen ; the others were Deacons

Martin Smith and Jonathan Marsh. Farther on, he

was named, with others, a committee to secure a min-

ister to settle in New Hartford,—church and town

business went hand in hand in those days. The old

manuscript held us with a spell, like a voice from the

buried past; we read on and on, then, following out

a train of investigation, we begged a sight of the old

proprietors' book, a ponderous volume with the corners

of its heavy pages thumbed into rags. One link led to

another still farther back in the chain of events, until,

to use a well-worn simile, Stephen Kelsey proved the

pebble which we had at first somewhat aimlessly

dropped into the stream of research, but around

which the circles had widened and widened until

they reached Plymouth colony and the " Mayflower,"

and, could we follow them so far, might have spread

into the great ocean of history until they touched

Christopher Columbus himself.

In 1686, when King James II. of England had de-

termined to annul the colonial charters of New Eng-

land, the General Assembly of Connecticut, fearing

that Sir Edmund Andross would sequester all the un-

occupied lands of the colony, made a hasty convey-

ance in trust to the proprietors of Hartford and
Windsor of the lands " bounded north by the prov-

ince of the Massachusetts Bay, east by Farmington

and Simsbury, south by Woodbury and Mattatuck,

and butting west on the Ousatunnack River." No
need to repeat the familiar story of the " Charter Oak,"

where the charter of the colony was secreted when Sir

Edmund came to Hartford in person to demand it, in

1687. In 1689, Andross was forced by the inhabitants of

Boston to seek the safety in flight which had been forced

upon his tyrannical master, King James, across the

sea. The colonial government was again established,

but, possession being nine points in law, after holding

these western acres for a term of years, the Hartford

and Windsor proprietors were loth to give them up,

and after much litigation and trouble in the matter,

in May, 1726, the General Assembly, wishing as far

as possible to preserve the public peace, made a com-

promise, by which the lands in controversy were di-

vided between the colony and the towns, the former

to have the western portion and the latter the eastern

portion. The eastern division had the advantage in

location, and embraced the following towns, given in

order of settlement: Harwinton, 1731; New Hart-

ford, 1733; Torrington, 1737; Hartland, 1753; Bark-

hamsted, 1746 ; Winchester, 1758 ; Colebrook, 1765.

Deeds of partition between Hartford and Windsor,

in 1732, gave to the former the territory now em-

braced in Winchester, New Hartford, Hartland, and

the eastern part of Harwinton. At a meeting of the

proprietors of these " four parcels of land, lying in

that tract of land commonly known as the Western

grant," at the State-house in Hartford, April 6, 1732,

a valuation was placed upon them, as follows : The
southeast portion, now New Hartford, containing

by estimation twenty-three thousand nine hundred

and forty-two acres, was placed in the list at fifteen

shillings an acre; Winchester and East Harwinton

were valued at ten shillings, and Hartland at only

seven shillings and sixpence per acre. Each tax-payer

of Hartford on the list of 1720, or his heirs, was pro-

prietor of an undivided share in some one of these

townships in proportion to his -list. New Hartford

fell to the share of one hundred and eighty-two pro-

prietors. A committee was appointed to set off lands

to such as wished to settle thereon, and all who en-

tered their names for settling were obligated, " in two

years next ensuing their agreement with the commit-

tee, to build a tenantable house of sixteen feet square

on said land, and break up two or three acres of said

land, and in one year more after said two years are

expired personally to inhabit by themselves or family

on said land, and to be obliged to continue inhabiting

on said land for the space of three years longer after

the first three years are expired."

A committee appointed to view the land in the

southeast part of the four parcels and report how it

would be best to lay it out to form a township, reported
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that a "certain hilly piece of land, northerly of a

mountain called the Yellow Mountain, which is

about a mile in width and between two and three

miles in length, was the most suitable land in the

whole tract to lay out home-lots to accommodate the

proprietors, and that what land might be wanted more

than said hill contained to lay out home-lots was near

said hill, enough to accommodate the whole of the

proprietors." According to this recommendation, sur-

veys were made, and home-lots laid out half a mile

in length and twenty rods wide on the easterly and

westerly sides of a highway sixteen rods wide ; also

short lots, eighty rods long, where suitable land could

be found as near as possible to the hill. In May,

1733, a committee appeared for the proprietors before

the General Assembly, praying for some action to en-

courage and promote the settling of the township,

and that a name might be given it, when an act was

passed calling it New Hartford. In December, 1733,

the home-lots were drawn by the proprietors at the

State-house in Hartford ; the rest of the land was laid

out in divisions, and the proprietors took up or lo-

cated their second, third, or fourth pitches in the

same way after the home-lots were appropriated, the

last division being drawn in 1742.

According to the records, highways were laid out,

taxes levied, and lands surveyed with as great dis-

patch as possible, considering that the country was

an unbroken wilderness infested by wild beasts and

Indians. The summer of 1734 probably saw the set-

tlers busily at work breaking ground and building

their " tenantable houses," six feet square. New
Hartford wa.s the only one of the four townships

colonized by the original proprietors. The pioneers

of the town were, with very few exceptions, either

proprietors or sons of proprietors, members of re-

spectable and well-to-do families in Hartford, hence

the peculiar propriety of the name New Hartford.

The first settlers, as accurately as can be ascertained,

were sixteen heads of families, as follows: Stephen

Kelsey, .Jonathan Marsh, Martin Smith, Zebulon

Shepherd, Samuel Douglass, Eleazer Goodwin, Cyp-

rian Watson, his son Zacliariah, John Watson, Thomas
Olcott, Noah Merrill, Joseph Merrill, John Merrill,

John Andrus, Israel Loomis, Matthew tiillet, John
Seymour.*

These pathfinders were soon followed by Elijah

Flower, Isaac Kellogg, Joseph Gilbert, Daniel Per-

sons, Samuel Wells, .Tolin Spencer, Samuel Bcnham,

Jonah Richards, David Ensign, William Steel, John

Edgcconil), Thomas BidwcU, Daniel Shepherd, Jona-

than Merrill, and others.

The proprietors in Hartford took a fatherly interest

in the little colony. They gave them a very liberal

highway grant, most of which was sold from time to

time for the benefit of the town, or exchanged for

more convenient highways ; also eighty acres for the

support of a " gospel minister," and eighty more for

the support of a school ; also twenty acres as a gift to

the first minister who should settle in town, and a

grist-mill privilege.

To return to Stephen Kelsey, he purchased property

in the town to the value of one hundred and nineteen

pounds, forty-five pounds right of which he deeded

to his son Ebenezer, of Waterbury, who came to

occupy it at an early day. During the few years of

his stay with them all the settlers deferred to Stephen

Kelsey ; he was moderator of almost every town- and

society-meeting, agent to present the town interests

to the General Assembly, and member of all com-

mittees, whether to covenant with a minister or to

settle the town boundary. In December, 1743, one

pound was " voted to Stephen for perambelating the

line between New Hartford and Farmington." This

is the last mention of his name upon the town records.

In March, 1745, the town voted " to purchase a decent

cloth for a burying cloth ;" and as Stephen Kelsey

died on the 2d of April, we can but infer that it was

in view of his approaching end that such an appro-

priation was made.
" Perambelating" the boundary line mentioned must

have been too much for the old man of seventy in the

severe weather of December, and for more than a year

previous to his death he was laid aside from the service

of his fellow-townsmen, in which he had been so

active, and in which his zeal had overrated his powers

of endurance. We have no record of his funeral, the

first in the little settlement,! but we can picture the

mournful procession, the coffin covered with the "de-

cent burying cloth." followed by the bereaved colony,

perhaps one hundred adults in all, to its final resting-

place when the snows were beginning to melt on the

thickly-wooded hillside.

INDIANS.

There are on record but few deeds or conveyances

of lands from Indians to the first settlers of New Hart-

ford. A portion of this territory was probably in-

cluded in that sold by Sequas.sen, or SunccjuiLsson,

sachem of Suckiage, now Hartford, in a deed of sale

' to the English settlers, which embraced "the whole

region westward, including the territories of the

Tunxis, as far as the country of the Mobawks."t

]

Prior to 1750 the territory now embraced in New
I
Hartford was used rather as an occasional resort ftir

fishing and hunting than a permanent dwelling-place

by the Tunxis Indians.

• Tnimbull'a htotory girn Jogoph Gillet; be vu an oriKlnal proprie-

tor, father uf Mnttliew, loit tlio earliest town reconis indlcnto thnt lio

liiUHt very bodii tiave rotiirned to Hurtfonl, while ciirofvit Kenreli inakeH it

ovitlunt ttiat Jusepli hikI .h>hii Morrill, Isruot Luuuiitf, and Juliii ik>>niour

wore pluneerH, John Seymour brought with him four mods,—William,

Urial), Hozeklali, and Bllua.

t Noah Merrill died In 173D; bbdcecondantsin towooreof theoploloo

that htfl n^nioini were carried to Hartford for burial, but that mmim
hardly prohaltle in the 8lAte of the country at that time.

( The original deed Is luet, but this sale lit conllruiod In a runuwol deed

given by thosucceoMraorSequuMU In IBTO to the white aetllen of Uort-

ford.
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In a note-book of Rev. Jonathan Marsh is an entry

to the effect that in 1739 there were but three families

of Indians living in the town. These were probably

families who were sufficiently civilized to come under

Christian influences.

Among the Trumbull papers in Yale College library

is a letter, bearing date 1813, from which Mr. Trum-

bull gained information for the sketch of this town

contained in his " History of Connecticut." The

writer, Asa Goodwin, Esq., long town clerk of New
Hartford, says,

—

" Tlie Indians iu Kew Hartfuid when it was settleil were not numer-

ous, probalily eiglit or ten families; but from its being a frontier town

aitpreliensions were entertained by the inhabitants of being surprised by

other Indians, so mm'li so that several liouses were fortified witli pali-

sades, to which the inhabitants used to resort for safety in the night,

particularly the houses of Rev. Mr. Marsh and Deacon Smith.* There

are to be seen to this day several caverns or pits from which the Indians

used to dig cotton-stone, with which they made dishes or pots, in which

they used to boil succotJish and other food."

The house of Cyprian Watson, in the southwestern

part of the town, was also fortified, and the early

settlers carried firearms when at work in the field

during the day.

Historical reminiscence locates the earliest settle-

ment of the Tunxis Indians in New Hartford about

half a mile southeasterly from the present " Kingdom"
bridge, on the west side of the Albany turnpike, at

Indian Hill (formerly in New Hartford, set off to

Canton in 1806), so called to this day. This village

embraced at one time perhaps eighteen or twenty

wigwams, the sites of some of them having been visi-

ble within the memory of the present generation ; the

meadows in the vicinity were cleared and planted

with corn and other crops. Articles of aboriginal

manufacture have been found here,—pots, arrows, and

hatchets, all of stone.

Another Indian settlement also grew up on the west

side of the river, not far from Indian Hill, and this,

after a time, was so recruited by negroes and renegade

whites that, tradition says, it was the most populous

portion of the town about 1780, and an asylum for

criminals and evil-doers of all grades. From the law-

lessness of its population, who lived by hunting, fish-

ing, and stealing, this locality was called " Satan's

Kingdom," which name it still retains. Such a com-

munity, containing an indiscriminate mixture of the

blood of three races, could not long thrive, and by

deaths and removals it was so rapidly diminished that

in 1800 but two or three wigwams were left, and a few

years later nothing but the ruins of the village re-

mained. De Forest, in his " History of the Indians of

Connecticut," says, " At the present time (1850) they

(the Tunxis) have all disappeared from their ancient

home. One miserable creature, Mossock, still lives,

perhaps the sole remnant of the tribe." This Henry

Mossock, sentenced to imprisonment for life at Weth-

ersfield for participation in the murder of Barnice

White, of Colebrook, was a descendant of Solomon

* Town Hill and Hotel Coruer, North village.

Mossock, a Farmington Indian, who married the

daughter of Chogham, chief of the Kingdom clan,

and with others formed a small settlement about a

mile above the gorge, near the confluence of the east

and west branches of the Tunxis. A few Mohegans
and Pequots came hither also. Among the former

was one Oliver Delvon, whose wife, Mary, died some
thirty years since, aged one hundred years or more.

Rev. Samson Occom occasionally preached to his

brethren in New Hartford, and it is said that several

were converted through his labors to the Christian

faith.

Early in the present century the Indians began to

disappear from this settlement also. Humphrey Quo-

mone, the last of the tribe, died years ago, and a few

negro and mulatto squatters later on gave the locality

its present name of " Niggertown."

There are on record deeds of sale of a portion of

this property, one, in 1844, to the town of New Hart-

ford, by heirs of Huldah Delvon, of thirty acres, for

the consideration of ten dollars ; another, in 1850,

by selectmen of New Hartford, to Wilson B. Spring,

of sixty acres, including the above-mentioned thirty,

the other thirty having been taken by the town for

the support of Mary Delvon in her old age.

ECCLESIASTICAL HISTORY.

As soon as the town was organized sufficiently to

proceed to any business, at tlie first recorded town-

meeting, Dec. 19, 1738, a committee was appointed to

secure a minister to settle in New Hartford in the

work of the ministry, and four candidates were named

to whom application should be made,

—

" Mr. Baulden, ami if the s^ Mr. Baulden refuse to except of their caul,

then to Mr. Robords, and if y^ s'* Mr. Robords Refuse then to Ml-. Marsh

sun to ye Rev. m'. Marsh of Windsor, and if he refuse then to Mr. Tim"

"Woodbridge."

At the second town-meeting an agent was appointed

to apply to the General Assembly for a committee to

settle the place " for building a meeting-house for

divine worship." Immediately following came in-

structions to " treat further with Mr. Marsh concern-

ing settling in the work of the ministry." So zealous

were these pioneers to see a tabernacle arise in the

wilderness that they could not wait the pleasure of

the General Assembly, but voted, " It is needful to

proceed, and we will proceed to build a meeting-house

in the town of New Hartford for Divine worship ;"

and again an agent was appointed to petition the au-

thorities to settle the place for the meeting-house.

We get some insight into the money matters of the

little colony from the vote, after still further propo-

sals to Mr. Marsh, that " if he accepts the caul, to give

him one hundred pounds for his salary for four years,

and then advance five pounds a year until it amounts

to one hundred and forty pounds ;" also, " To give Mr.

Marsh two pounds five shillings for each Lord's day

that he sh.all preach in said town until he serve us,

he to board himself." Probably the reverend gentle-
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man thought that the increase of salary might not

keep pace with his increase of family, for soon after a

resolution was passed to " give Mr. Marsh one hun-

dred pounds a year for three years, then advance ten

pounds a year until it amounts to one hundred and

fifty pounds, then advance according to his necessity

and our ability."

In July, 1739, the committee settled the question of

a building- spot,* and it was immediately voted to

" proceed to build a meeting-house, the length of said

house to bee fifty foots and the bredth forty foots."

But " by further and betor consideration," it was

thought best to add " five foots" to the length of the

building.

Mr. Marsh having accepted terms of settlement, the

time for his ordination was fixed for October, 1739 ; an

appropriation was made to defray expenses of the or-

dination, "to caul ministers and messengers," and a

committee appointed to provide " liquer" for the

occasion. An old manuscript in Mr. Marsh's own
hand, now in Memorial Hall, Hartford, states that he

was not ordained until December 5th of the same

year, the church at that time numbering twenty-nine

members, and the population of the town being about

one hundred and fifty souls in all, who were com-

prised in twenty-four families, including three fami-

lies of Indians. The early records of the church being

lost, it is difficult to give the exact date of its forma-

tion, but from Rev. Cyrus Yale's MSS. it is known

that Mr. Martyn Smith wa.s chosen deacon in the latter

part of1738
;
probably the church was then organized.

t

In February, 1740, it was voted "to hire a carpenter

from out of town to frame the meeting-house, and

that the timber be got so it may be framed by March."

In May came the "raising," for which also "sutabel

preparation of liquer" was made. There were not

able-bodied men enough in town to raise the massive

timbers, and a number of persons came from Hart-

ford to assist at the raising.

During the year 1741 some calamity seems to have

befallen the settlers; we know not whether they suf-

fered from depredations of hostile Indians, or disea-ie,

or contentions among themselves, there is only the

simple record that they applied to the neighboring

ministers for advice, and to ap])oint a day for huuiil-

I

* The report of the committeo to fix the spot for buililing the meeting-

house 18 uot ill the records ofNew Hurtford, but in 1735 the proprictoniorthe

town purehoMoit of Klea/.or Guildwin tlve acron three rowls of laud, huundt»l

wvet and south by liighways on Town Hill, and soqiiestred it to the pub-

lic use of the town. Two acres of this purchase was laid out for a burial*

place, which survey is recorded ; and on the same page t\H9) of the old

proprietors' book Is the followint; vote: "That the piece ur jtarcel of land

belouKing to the proprietors of New Hartford be sequestred for commons

forever,** which would soeni to inilicate that tlie ground on which the

old nieetinK'house stands, with the land atU'dning, is a legacy to the

^lwn from the fathers, which, with the burial-place, should be cared for

and kept from encroaclimeut forever.

t lu August, 1737, at tlie tlrst soclety*B meeting of which tliere is any

reconi, it was voted to hold meetings at private htuisee on the SnblMith,

one-half the time at Town Hill, the other half one Salibath at Jonah

Richards', the titlier at Jonathan Merrill's, tlieae piai-es to lie changf<l at

each society's meeting.

•JO

iation, fasting, and prayer " for deliverance from

present circumstances."

Solomon's temple in all its magnificence was only

seven years in building, but it was nearly ten years

after the much-longed-for meeting-house in New Hart-

ford was raised before it was completed. During those

ten years the brave settlers worked perseveringly on,

never losing sight of the end to be attained. They

appointed committee after committee, they levied a

tax to purchase laths, and another for glass,—a luxury

dearly paid for in those days. They cut, scored, and

hewed timber, and here we quote from the records an

item as to wages :

** PereoDS wiio have worked scoring timber for the meeting-house shall

have six shillings a day, those wlio liave hewed sliall have seven shil-

lings, and those who have worked at framing, seven shillings."

Dissatisfaction with workmen sometimes arose, as

the following record shows

:

" If the committee cannot agree with Asa Hopkins about labor that he

undertook to do towards the meeting house, we will defend said commit-

tee in tlie hiv\* against said Asa Hopkins."

It seems to have been a hard matter to raise ye Rev.

Mr. Marsh's salary during this period, and numerous

are the records of taxes levied and votes passed con-

cerning the expense of the " ministerial charge."

There was some discussion on the silver question also,

and a committee had to settle the price of silver per

ounce with Rev. Mr. Marsh.

In September, 1749, the meeting-house was so

nearly completed that Rev. Mr. Marsh was given a

choice of pews for his family to sit in on the Lord's

day.

December, 1749, the town reluctantly granted " lib-

erty for building a pue in the galery for the Indian.s

to sit in, provided it be built on perticuler men's

cost," and in Uril the Indians were allowed to sit in

the " pue" named " only during the town's pleasure."!

These sturdy Puritan.-*, as uncompromising in religion

as in politics, classed the red men with the Moabite

and Ammonite, who, their Bible declared, " should

not come into the congregation of Uod forever."

In December, 1749, we may safely conclude that

the rejoicing congregation were found worshiping

under the roof which they had built at such cost of

time, labor, antl sacrifice; it is then recorded that ten

shillings were paid to Joseph Merrill for sweeping the

t meeting-house, and a sexton's fees would imply that

the house was in use at that time.

Jlrs. Abijah Looiiiis, the oldest resident in town

(1881), has in her pos.Hession a plan of the original

meeting-house, drawn for the convenience of the

seating committee. This house, the site of which

cornered on that of the present structure, was farther

.south and wi>st, and, consc<iueiitly, nearer the angle

! made by the highways. It wius set by the compass, and

fronted the south, a door on that side opening directly

I Rev. t^ynis Yale says, lu his ceuteunlal sermon, that the pews In th%

galleries were Dot niaile until the house had been used about thirty yean;
' io the Indian pew was an Isolated aittlng for that length of time.
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into the audience-room. There were three aisles, or

alleys then called,—one in the centre and one each

side, with a row of narrow pews next the wall. There

were also doors,—one on the east and one on the west

sides,—which led by short passages into the side-aisles.

The high pulpit with its overhanging sounding-board

fronted the south door ; on the right of the pulpit

was the pew for the minister's family, on the left the

widows' pew, while the deacons sat just under the

droppings of the gospel on the left of the centre

aisle. Two immense square front pews, one on each

side of the broad aisle, were occupied by prominent

citizens and their families, while the rest of the con-

gregation were accommodated in pews of various size

and shapes. Two inclosed pews near the centre of

the house, which could be reached only by narrow

passages from the side-aisles, were irreverently called

" eel-pots." The galleries were on the east, west, and
south sides, the latter being the singers' gallery, and
the stairs were in the southeast and southwest corners

of the audience-room.

There was not lacking instrumental music to ac-

company the singing, for Isaac Kellogg, presumably

the chorister, was given "permission to appoint Seth

Smith to tune the psalm (probably with a pitch-pipe)

when he playeth." The town had previously voted
" that we will sing Dr. Watts' psalms on the Lord's

day, and that David Ensign read the psalm in time

of Deacon Martyn Smith's absence." Books being

scarce, the deacon read two lines of the psalm, the

choir singing it after him, and so on through all the

stanzas. In 1751 appears the first record of a com-

mittee to seat the meeting-house, which seems to have

been very precious in the eyes of the community, who
did not intend that it should be destroyed by fire if

precautionary measures could avert that catastrophe.

An " inspector of stoves" was appointed among the

public functionaries,—perhaps it should be explained

that his duties were confined to foot-stoves,—and the

following resolution was passed in town-meeting

:

" If any person presume to leave any stove in the meeting-liouse with

fire in it, or empty it within twenty feet of the meeting-house, he (ur

she) shall forfeit the stove to the inspector and pay a tine of 10 shillings."

Strict and punctual attendance on public worship

was insisted on, and a fine rigorously enforced upon
all delinquents. Some persons, however, appear to

have produced sufficient excuse for absence, and the

authorities occasionally passed a vote like the fol-

lowing:

"To abate Sam Douglass' tine for not attending publick woi-ship on

Lord's day."

In 1761 liberty was granted " any inhabitant to set

up a Sabbath-day house not nearer to the meeting-

house than ten rods," and a rough but comfortable

building containing two rooms was soon erected by
the joint contributions of .several families who came
from a distance, and needed a warm place to thaw
feet and fingers after a long ride, and to spend the in-

termission between services. One room was arranged

with conveniences for cooking; here lunch was eaten,

j

tea made, children cared for, and a decorous sort of

Sunday picnic held.* In 1762 one hundred pounds
were expended on the meeting-house, and soon after

fifty pounds more, and it was " voted to do something

! to secure the meeting-house from racking." The
first appropriation for " colouring" the house was
made in 1784, and persons who worshiped there some
sixty years ago remember the prevailing interior

' color to have been green, and the outer a " brindle

brown."

During the one hundred and twenty years from the

ordination of the first minister to the di.sbanding of

the church on Town Hill, it had but four settled pas-

tors; these were Rev. Jonathan Marsh, from 1739

until his death, in July, 1794; Rev. Edward D. Grif-

fin, DD., from June, 1795, to August, 1801, when, on

acfcount of failing health, he resigned the pastorate ;

Rev. Amasa Jerome, from August, 1802, to December,

1813, when he also resigned, his health being unequal

to the labor of the parish, but continued to reside in

New Hartford until his death, in 1832, at the age of

fifty-seven. Mr. Jerome lived on the place now
known as " Esperanza," the summer home of the

authoress, Mrs. Julie P. Smith.

The fourth pastor was Rev. Cyrus Yale, who was

settled over the church in October, 1814, and remained

until December, 1834, when he resigned and preached

in Ware, Mass., until 1837, when he was recalled to

the scenes of his early labors, and died in office in

May, 1854. During the interim of Mr. Yale's min-

istry the pulpit was supplied by diff'erent individuals,

one by the name of Case remaining with the church

a year. Mr. Yale, or " Father Yale," as he was often

called, was a tall, portly man, of much dignity of

manner and suavity of address. He lived in the

house now occupied as a summer residence by his

children, Cyrus Yale, of New York, and Mrs. H. Pit-

kin and Mrs. E. R. Beadle, of Philadelphia.

There is extant no sketch or memorial of the first

minister, whose term of service extended over more

than half a century, and the value of whose lifetime

influence on the pioneer settlers of this town can

never be measured. With gleaning here and there a

scattered fragment, the following brief sketch has

been woven together, that the fast-fading memory of a

good and useful man may not be wholly lost.

Rev. Jonathan Marsh was the son of Rev. Jona-

than Marsh, long the honored pastor of the church at

Windsor, and of Margaret Whiting, his wife, who
came of an eminent colonial family. He was born at

Windsor, 1714. He graduated at Yale College in

1735. After completing his theological studies he ac-

* Before the old church was taken down there were no less than three

of these structures adjacent to it, one of wliich was moved to the North

cross-road, on Town Hill, and is occupied as a dwelling-house by Hiram

Harris, having been renovated and somewhat enlarged by its present

owner. A chimney was never built in the old church, but a few years be-

fore it was removed two box-stoves were put in to warm the congrega-

tion, and the pipes were conducted out of doors in an improvised fashion
.
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cepted the call to New Hartford, where he was or-

dained, December, 1739, where he spent his life, and

where he died, in 1794, aged eiglity years. He was

twice married, first to Elizabeth Sheldon, of Hart-

ford, Feb. 26, 17-10-41, who died, after bearing him

six children. May 20, 1749. On May 27, 1751, he

married Mariana Keith, a young widow with two

daughters, sister of John Lawrence, treasurer of the

colony, a lady of many accomplishments, whose

friends opposed her burying her graces in the wilder-

ness of New Hartford. This wife, who survived her

husband, was always called "Madame Marsh" by his

parishioners; she also bore him six children. From
MSS. of Mr. Marsh, the inference is that. he was of

an affectionate nature, fond of home, and charitable

towards all men. The stricter tenets of the Calvinis-

tic theology were too harsh for his gentle soul, and

that may be the reason why he mingled no more

freely with his ministerial brethren in those times of

religious controversy between old and new divinity.

The records of Hartford North Consociation during

the fifty-five years of his ministry show that he never

attended any meetings of that body. The following

pen-portrait of him is from Rev. Frederic Marsh's

recollections

:

"Mr. Marsh was above the medium height and size of meD, well pro-

portioned, grave and venerable in appearance, of a social turn of mind,

and accustomed to wear a large wig. He was settled on the half-way*

plan; was Arniinian in his theological views. In his preaching, as I re-

member him when about fourteen years old, was not animated, and, as

it seemed to me, never earnest and rousing. I remember to have teen

seriously affected on seeing and hearing him address the people on

funeral occasions."

Of Mr. Marsh's twelve children, seven daughters

and five sons, all but one, Jonathan, lived to attain

maturity. The daughters all married, only one of

whom, Elizabeth, wife of Jerijah Merrill, settled per-

manently in New Hartford. Tiie oldest son, Joseph

Whiting Marsh, was the first graduate of Yale Col-

lege from New Hartford. He died at the West Indies,

aged twenty-one. Daniel settled in New Hartford;

Isaac, at Tyringham, Mass. It is not known to the

writer where John Lawrence, the youngest sou, located.

So far as can be ascertained, none of Mr. Marsh's

descendants are now living in New Hartford. In 1761

Mr. Marsh's note-book gives the number of church-

members as 85, and in 1793 chronicles tliat 17 were

admitted to the church and 52 baptized.

At the commencement of Dr. Gritlin's ministry, in

1795, there were 92 members of the church, and in

the powerful revivals which attended his earnest la-

bors there were 153 additions to the number. Under
the pastorates of Mr. Jerome and Mr. Yale there were

also, from time to time, seasons of special religious

interest ; under the latter, large additions to the mem-
bership of the church.

As the facilities for manufacturing began to be de-

veloped along the Tunxis, the dwellers in the north-

* Half-wny cuTouant, which slluwed baptiim to children of ooD-oom-

munlcantii.

ern part of the town became more numerous, and

felt the need of a place of worship nearer home than

the old meeting-house on the hill, and in December,

1828, a colony of 62 members from the mother-church

organized the North Congregational Church of New
Hartford. The ground for the new building was

given by Capt. Sylvester Seymour, and the present

brick church was built the same year. This was a se-

rious blow to the society on the hill, but, taking

heart from Rev. Mr. Yale's encouragement, they laid

plans for a new house of worship, which resulted, in

1829, in the building of the church now standing on

•Town Hill.

The old meeting-house was, at the expense of the

town, moved farther back on the green, repaired, and

used as a town-house for the transaction of public

business until November, 1848, when it was voted in

town-meeting to sell it and put the avails in the treas-

I ury. It was purchased for fifty dollars by John C.

Smith and Maj. Sanford Brown. Its massive wliite-

oak timbers, seasoned by the suns and storms of more

than a hundred years, were used in the building of

looms for the Greenwoods' cotton-mill; and it is said

that portions of its frame-work are still in existence

j

among the outbuildings appertaining to the late resi-

dence of Maj. Sanford Brown.

Much dissatisfaction with the location of the new
Town Hill church was felt by the members resident

at South End, who naturally wished to have it placed

midway between the two settlements, waiving all at-

tachment for the old site. This discontent gradually

j

increased until, in 1848, the South Congregational

I Church of New Hartford was organized and the

present church edifice built at Nepaug.

A second time depleted in numbers and strengtii,

the old church organization struggled on until the

death of Mr. Yale, in 18.54, when public worship was

suspended, and it disbanded in October, 1859, after an

existence of one hundred and twenty-one years.

The deacons of this church were Messrs. Martyn

Smith, Noah Kellogg, Joseph Merrill, Aaron Austin,

Stephen Pitkin, John Brown, John Marsh, Elijah

(Joodwin, George Adams, Jame» D. Tliorp, James
Merrill.

Religious services have been occasionally held in

the church since that time. In 1860, Messrs. Cyrus

and Richard Yale, son.s of the former pastor, pur-

cha.sed the building from the surviving members of

the old ecclesiastical society, and regard it as a filial

duty to keep it in repair,—a fitting monument M their

father's faithful and earnest life-work in New Hart-

ford.

THE NORTH CIIDRCII,

organized in 1828 with sixty-two members, lia.s now, in

1881, a membership of one hundred and eighty. The
fluctuations of a manufacturing population prevent

many who are regular »ttcndnnt.s on public worship

from joining thcm.selves to any religious organization,

hence, in part, the disproportion of membership to
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attendance in all the churches of New Hartford vil-

lage. This church has had ten settled pastors, viz.

:

Revs. Burr Baldwin, 1829-33; Wyllis Lord, D.D.,

1834-38 ; J. Woodbridge, D.D., 1839-42 ; Alexander

Leadbetter, 1844-49; J. A. Saxton, 1850-52; F. A.

Spencer, 1853-63; J. B. Cleaveland, 1863-67
; Alpheus

Winter, 1868-69; S. S. Martyn, 1870-74; F. H.

Adams, 1875, present pastor.

At different times since the building of the church,

repairs and renovations have been made at an ex-

penditure, in all, of about three thousand dollars. It

is now a substantial brick building, with bell-tower,

in thorough order, capable of seating four hundred

persons. Five deacons have been ordained, as fol-

lows: John Brown, 1829; Charles B. Richards, 1833

;

Roger H. Mills, 1849 ; Jason 0. Keach, 1849 ; Howell

W. Brown, 1859. The semi-centennial was celebrated

Dec. 25, 1878, by a memorial sermon by the pastor.

Rev. F. H. Adams, addresses, music, and a collation

in the portion of the adjoining building known as

Academy Hall, now handsomely fitted up by the

ladies of the society as lecture-room and church

parlors, for religious, social, and literary gathering.

THE SOUTH CHURCH,

organized in 1848 with fifty-six members, has now on

its rolls a membership of one hundred and twenty-

one. It has been served by the following pastors:

Revs. J. C. Houghton, 1851-54; Edwin Hall, Jr.,

1854-69 ; J. WoodruflT, 1870-71 ; Stephen A. Loper,

1872-74; Merrick Knight, 1875-79; Richard Scoles,

April 21, 1880. The church edifice is of wood, with

a tower and bell. It has a basement containing a

lecture-room, where town-meetings have been held on

alternate years. During the year 1880 about six

hundred dollars were expended on the building, which

is now in thorough repair. It will seat about two

hundred and fifty persons. The deacons of this

church have been Messrs. Selah Woodruff, George

Adams, Edmund Watson, Andrew Clark, and James

Lyman.
BAPTIST AND METHODIST.

The Baptists organized in the southwestern part of

the town, and built the church in Bakerville as early

as 1830. It was used by them, with the interior in a

rough state, until about 1835, when, with the assist-

ance of the Baker brothers, Methodists, and members

of the Watson family, Congregationalists, it was

neatly finished and called a union church, being

open to religious services by clergymen of all de-

nominations. Some years after, Mr. Anthony Baker

repaired and thoroughly renovated it at his own ex-

pense, since which time services have been held with

more or less regularity by ministers of the Methodist

Conference.

THE NEW HARTFOKD (NORTH) BAPTIST CHURCH

/ was organized in August, 1859, by twenty-two mem-
/' bers resident in this town, formerly belonging to the

Pleasant Valley f^hijrch. Until 1862 meetings were

held on the Sabbath in the Greenwoods District

school-house, but, objections having been made to that

arrangement by persons in the district, the society

soon after purchased the Baptist meeting-house in

Pleasant Valley (then unused), brought it in sections

to New Hartford, and rebuilt it on the hill overlook-

ing the village, on the east bank of the river. This

was done by the efficient aid of the late Rev. William

Dennison, Baptist State missionary, himself a prac-

tical builder. The house was dedicated Jan. 30, 1867.

It is pleasantly furnished in the interior, and has a

tower and a bell. The church now numbers about

forty members. Of the original membership, one, B.

G. Loomis, alone remains ; nine have been dismissed

to other churches, and twelve are dead. The pastors

have been Revs. S. S. Carter, installed August, 1859

;

N. R. Bennett, August, 1861 ; C. N. Nichols, August,

1862 ; L. H. Wakeman, January, 1867 ; Joseph Bur-

nett, December, 1869 ; Ralph H. Bowles, May, 1878.

PROTESTANT EPISCOPAL CHURCH.

In November, 1849, Rev. J. H. Betts was sent by

Bishop Brownell to take charge of a Protestant Epis-

copal mission in Pine Meadow. For lack of a suit-

able place of meeting, services were not held on the

Sabbath until June 9, 1850, after which time they

were regularly held in Chapin's Hall until the com-

pletion of the church. St. John's parish was organ-

ized Nov. 20, 1850. The corner-stone of a house of

worship was laid the following day, and the finished

edifice consecrated as St. John's church, by Bishop

Brownell, June 4, 1851. This church, which stood at

the southern extremity of Church Street, was de-

stroyed by fire Dec. 23, 1859, and with it a valuable

pipe-organ, the gift ofHerman Chapin, Esq. Services

were again held in Chapin's Hall until the present

church, which fronts the triangular park at the

northern end of Church Street, was completed. Di-

vine service was first held in the new edifice Christmas

Eve, 1861. The church is of wood, in the Gothic

style of architecture, with a bell-tower and spire; the

interior is neatly and tastefully furnished. The rec-

tors of the church have been Revs. John H. Betts,

from Easter, 1851, to July, 1857 ; Enoch Huntington,

from April, 1858, to May, 1860 ; Myron A. Johnson,

from November, 1861, to October, 1862 ; T. S. Judd,

from November, 1862, to March, 1863 ; De Lancy G.

Rice, from May, 1863, to April, 1865; J. C. Heald,

from 1866 to July, 1868; John H. Betts, recalled

April, 1869, to May, 1880 ; Theodore Porter, ordained

December, 1880, now pastor of the church.

ROMAN CATHOLIC.

The Roman Catholic form of worship was first ob-

served in New Hartford in March, 1849, when Rev.

Luke Daly, of New Britain, was sent by the bishop

of this diocese to hold services among the members of

that communion. For a period of two years. Rev.

Father Daly came once in three months to celebrate

mass, after which time he was succeeded by Rev.
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Thomas Quinn, Rev. Fathers Gilleck, Gorman, and

Thomas Hendrickon, pastors at Winsted.

The church was then placed under the care of the

resident priest at Collinsville, since which time it has

been attended by Revs. P. J. O'Dwyer, John Fagan,

Lawrence Walsh, and the present pastor. Rev. Ber-

nard O'R. Sheridan, who has presided over the parish

since 1870, with the following assistants : Revs. Michael

O'Brien, John Russell, John Creadon, Thomas Mul-
vany, and the present associate. Rev. Luke Fitzsim-

mons.

The places of meeting were first at private houses,

thenatthebrickmachine-shop and Chapin's Hall, Pine

Meadow, and then in the upper village, at the school-

house now occupied by Miss Chloe Lankton, and at

Academy Hall. The " Church of the Immaculate

Conception," at the North village, was commenced in

1868, during the pastorate of Rev. John Fagan, and
finished during the pastorate of Rev. Lawrence

Walsh. It is the largest church edifice in town.

There has never been a priest resident in New Hart-

ford, but mass is celebrated every Sunday morning by

one of the reverend fathers from Collinsville. The
Roman Catholic population in town is estimated by

the present pastor at one thousand souls.

SCHOOLS.

The school-house followed closely upon the meet-

ing-house. In December, 1753, it was voted in town-

meeting to build a school-house twenty-five feet long,

sixteen feet wide, and seven and a half feet between

joints, to be set within twenty rods of the meeting-

house. A second vote of the same meeting provided

for two school-houses,—one at the south part of the

town,—which vote was afterwards revoked. The
school-house on Town Hill was not completed until

1756, and the one at the south part of the town was

delayed some years longer. It stood about a half-mile

southwest of Judge Wait Garrett's present residence.

Previous to this time appropriation had been made
year by year for "scooling" the children in New
Hartford ; at one time twenty-four pounds were voted
" to hire a master." The schools were taught in dif-

ferent private houses designated by a committee ap-

pointed for the purpose.

Those who smile at the peculiar spelling of the old

records, and the primitive manner of keeping account-

books, should consider the limited advantages of the

schools in those early days, and admire rather than

wonder.

An old citizen, whose memory goes back to the be-

ginning of the present century, says there were no arith-

metics introduced into the schools of New Hartford

until 1812, when Harold Wyllys came from Hartford

to teach a grammar school on the Moody place, now
owned by the heirs of Timothy Buckley, where the

town poor are kept. Slates and blackboards were un-

known; the multiplication-table was orally drilled

into the children, who were taught to make figures in

their copy-books ; Dillsworth's speller, Dwight's geog-

raphy, the " Columbian Orator," and the " New Eng-

land Primer" were the text-books. The school-houses

were warmed (?) by open fireplaces, .supplied with

wood furnished by the parents of the children in pro-

portion to the number sent. The wages of male teach-

ers averaged not more than ten dollars a month, and

those of female teachers from three to six dollars

per month, besides board, which was furnished by the

parents, like the wood, in proportion to the number
of children, the teacher going from house to house, or,

as it was commonly phrased, "boarded around."

The female teachers also gave instruction in needle-

work.

In 1770 the town was divided into five school dis-

tricts,—two at South End, and one each at North

End, West Hill, and Town Hill. Mr. Goodwin's let-

ter of 1813, before mentioned, says, " There are nine

district schools, and for several seasons past there has

been a school where the higher branches of literature

have been taught," probably referring to Mr. Wyllys'

school at the Moody place. In this connection

another quotation from Mr. Goodwin's letter may be

in order: "There are at present but two public librar-

ies, containing from one hundred to one hundred

and fifty volumes each." In the annual report of the

Connecticut Board of Education for 186M is published

a letter from Prof. William C. Fowler, of Durham,
from which the following is a short extract:

** In reply to your fuvor, in wlijcli you request me to furnish some in-

formation concerning the town and village lihmricH, which in various

parts of the State were tlio eilueatoni of our futhors, 1 have to say . . .

these liltraries are now numborod with the things that were, but for

fifty or a liuudreil yoaiu they were a living power in liie commonwealth,

aa We may still learn in tile fast-fading liglit of tradition. Books wore

for a long time s^'ane in CV>nnccticut, as elsewliere in New England, ex-

cept In tlie liltniries of some of the eminent clergymen. . . .

•' These Iwolt coni|)anies were rolunlary associations of por8<^n8 In the

several towns who wt-ro desirous of establishing a library. A number

of the intelligent men of the town would meet together, ap|Kiint a com-

mittee of four or five |>ersoti8 and a clerk, who was often the library-

keeper. Kach memltcr contributed a certain sum, say twenty shillings,

as an entrance fee, and an annual tax, say one shilling. The liooks were

drawn out by the members, or by some of their fumtlios, to Ire returned

in a fortnight or at some longer time. The question what lMH>ks should

be purchased was considered Ut be a very ImiKirtant one. . . . 'The

Unlveraal History,* Josepbus* ' History of the Jews,* Watts' works,

some of the ]H)ctical works of Millon, I'olw, Thomson, Gohlsmith, the

serntuns of s^'Uie of the ablest Kngllsli divinew, some of ilio works of

rreaident Kdwards, 'The Spectator,' ' The Vicar of WakeAeld,' nud

many others, became familiarly known to more or less readers in many
towns. The good influence of those librnries upon every class of the

pi>puhition, from the highest to the lowest, cannot be measnretl."

There are now three public libraries in town, largely

composed of works of fiction, from which books may
be drawn on yearly subscription or by payment of a

small fee at each drawing. The Pine Meadow Li-

brary Association has a collection of some six hundred

volumes, the Circenwoods Company Library hiia four

hundred and fifty volumes in constant circulation, and

the Roman Catholic society also sustains a small but

well-selected library.

There arc in New Hartford at the present time no

schools of a higher grade than district school, where
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are taught the ordinary English branches. There
have been efforts from time to time among the citizens

to support academies and private schools, but such

enterprises have never been for any length of time

.successful. In 18.37 a number of gentlemen in the

North village interested in the education of youth

erected at private expense the building adjoining the

Congregational church, long known as the "Acad-
emy," and sustained for a number of years a most ex-

cellent select school therein. The second floor of the

building was used by the Congregational society for

religious meetings, and was also leased for entertain-

ments and town-meetings, hence the name Academy
Hall. Subsequently the North End School District

enlarged the building one-half, the Academy associa-

tion taking the entire upper half, or hall, and the dis-

trict taking the two school-rooms on the first floor.

The gentlemen who composed the Academy associa-

tion are nearly all dead, and the hall has come,

partly by gifts of shares, partly Ijy tacit consent, into

the custody of the Congregational society.

An academy once sustained at Nepaug was years

ago converted into a dwelling-house, and one built by
.subscription at Bakerville about 1835 is now used for

a district school.

Efforts, so far unsuccessful, have been made to secure

the establishment of a good high school, which is

greatly needed in the town.

There are now nine school districts in New Hart-

ford, designated as follows, with the number of pujiils

in attendance on each in 1880: North End (2 teach-

ers), 105; Pine Meadow (2 teachers), 174; Green-

woods (4 teachers), 375; West Hill, 23; Southeast,

20 ; Bakerville, 26 ; Henderson, 26 ; Town Hill, 27
;

Merrill or Nepaug, 32. The second school-house on

Town Hill was built in 1785. The first school-house

at North End village stood about ten rods above the

house now occupied by H. H. Stone. The second

was the house formerly owned by old Mrs. Simons.

In 1815 this was too small to accommodate the grow-

ing district. It was therefore sold, and the house now
occupied by Miss Chloe Lankton* was built and used

for a school-house until the rooms under Academy
Hall were fitted up for the purpose.

The Greenwoods District school-house was built

about 1850. A few years ago it was raised and other-

wise enlarged and improved, making itthe best school

building in the town.

HIGHWAYS.

The home-lots for the first settlers of New Hartford

were laid out on the east and west sides of a highway

sixteen rods wide and three miles in length, running

north from the foot of Yellow Mountain over Town
Hill. Tradition relates that when Rev. Jonathan

Marsh's house was raised, about 1740, he told his par-

* Miss Lanktun lias been an invalid for nearly fifty years. A sketch

of her life, written by Miss Harriet Atwell, of Tleasant Valley, lias been

widely read, and brings her correspondence and visitors from all over

the country.

ishioners before they had anything to eat or drink

they must cut down the white birches in this high-

way, so that he could see Mr. Loomis' house.f This
first highway has been encroached upon from time to

time, and its former generous width is constantly nar-

rowing. Rev. Mr. Marsh's house stood on the line of

the original highway, a little to the south and in the

rear of Daniel Royce's present residence. About the

year 1800 the town took action in the matter of high-

way encroachments, and gave those who had robbed
the public the choice of paying for the land or remov-

ing their fences ; but for some reason the money Was
never all collected, nor is there a probability that

many fences were removed.

The necessities of the town demanded cross-high-

ways, of which there were at first three, eight rods

wide, running from Town Hill towards East Moun-
tain. Two of these still remain,—the one running east

from Town Hill Street, near the meeting-house and
burial-place (which, continued, was the South country

road), the other, farther north, intersecting the Steele

road near the residence of Grove S. Marsh. The third

came into Town Hill Street nearly opposite the resi-

dence of the late Isaac P. Steele, and was of great

convenience to the farmers going to and from their

lands at East Mountain.

In September and October, 1734, a survey was made
of two country roads in New Hartford. The South

road ran from Town Hill south-southeast until it in-

tersected " the path leading to Litchfield," near the

southeastern boundary of the town. The North road

ran towards the river, and then mainly followed its

course to the Simsbury boundary ; the road, " so far

north from the meeting-house as there are any in-

habitants," was made passable in 1742. J

The present line of highway from Town Hill to

Spruce Brook was purchased of Pelatiah Allyn and

Sarah (Moody) Allyn, his wife, in 1757. It runs

through what was once the Moody farm. This road

was again altered, within the memory of old inhabit-

ants, from the house of H. H. Stone. It formerly

described a southerly curve, avoiding the steep hill

above the brook. In 1738 application was made to

the County Court for a convenient country road from

the town of Simsbury to the two country roads in New
Hartford, which the appointment of a surveyor to

keep it in order in 1742 indicates was granted. In

1744 the town " voted to view to see if we can have a

road at the south end ofWongsunkmaug^ pond, to come

t This stood where the present Loomis house now stands on Town

Hill, fast crumbling to decay, its stone chimney rising like a tower

among the ruins. The " L" portion of this house, built by the pioneer

Israel Loomis, is said to be the first building ever erected on Town Hill.

X This was probably as far as the hotel corner at the North village,

where settled Deacon Martyn Smith. Matthew Gillet also lived in this

part of the town : his house stood west of Mrs. Howard P. Marsh's house,

on a highway now discontinued.

§ Wonksuukniunk, as the spelling varies, was the Indian name for

West Hill pond, long known as Shepherd's pond, from Daniel Shepherd,

the first settler on its banks in 1748, when he sold his Town Hill prop-

erty and removed thither.
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into the Town Hill road in that highway on the north

side of Israel Loorais' lot." There is on record no re-

port of this committee, but the highway " north of

Israel Loomis' lot" was sold in 1756, and the one

which comes into Town Hill road south of Mrs. Julie

P. Smith's farm was purchased in its stead. An old

resident remembers that this was formerly the only

way for the " West Hill folks to come to meeting."

The year 1756 shows quite a highway record. Votes

were passed to clear a road from the river to Jonathan

Merrill's house (now Mr. Abram Chidsey's), also one

in the Pine Meadow, and a road to Barkhamsted, the

latter with the proviso, " if they can do it with poot-

ing the town of New Hartford to but a little caust."

This road was made the following year from " the east

side of the river, by Deacon Martyn Smith's, to the

highway in Barkhamsted, near the dwelling-house of

Pelatiah Allyn." In 1758 highways were opened to

Torrington and Harwinton, and also a highway to

Kellogg's mill, on the Nepash, South End.

In May, 1758, the General Assembly having been

advised of the great need of such action, appointed a

committee to examine the country and report on a

new and better road or way through Simsbury, New
Hartford, Norfolk, and Canaan, on, towards Albany.

In May, 1759, a new line of road from the court-house

in Hartford to Col. Whitney's, in Canaan, was re-

ported. The result of this report was that the com-

mittee were directed " to lay out and make plain and

certain the said new country road from the mansion-

house of Samuel Humphrey, in Simsbury, to Col.

David Whitney's, in Canaan." In May, 1760, the

survey having been made, the road was ordered

cleared and made passable for traveling before Nov.

20, 1761, by the proprietors of the towns through

which it ran. This rugged thoroughfare, known as

the " old North country road," entered the tovyn at

the Simsbury line, crossed the river at "Satan's King-

dom," ran through Pine Meadow and North End, about

on the line of the present road, and at the corner near

the hotel it ran westerly up the steep hill, past the resi-

dence of William Cook, and crossed the Greenwoods

turnpike a little west of the old toll-gate, then on

over Wallen's Hill, through Winchester, Colebrook,

.Norfolk, and Canaan, to Albany. Until 1800 this

road wius tiie great thoroughfare of the colony in the

direction of Albany. Gver it passed the troops and
munitions of war of the Continental army, and the

captured detacliment,s of Burgoyne's soldiers, wlio

encamped at New Hartford, near Charles Maxfield's

new residence. The first mail from Hartford to Al-

bany i.s said to have been carried over this road, on

horseback, by Jacob Balcom, of Winchester.

The first turnpike through New Hartford ran " from

the dwelling-house of ('apt. Dudley Case (who kept

tavern where Mrs. Glive Pike now lives) to the

Massachusetts line, on the east side of the river," and
was called the Farmington River turnpike. The
company was incorporated May, 1780, and their first

meeting was held at " the house of Aaron Richards,

inuholder in New Hartford," he being a member of

the corporation. The act of incorporation authorizes

a toll-gate within fifty rods southward of the house

of Aaron Richards,* and specifies the rates of toll,

from which were exempted " persons traveling on the

Lord's day, and other public days, to attend public

wor-ship, society-, town-, and frcemen's-meeting, funer-

rals, people in town attending to farm business, also

going to mill with horse, and militia going to attend

reviews and exercises."

The town records show that in 1771-72, by a me-

morial to the General Assembly, the town vigorously

opposed the report of a committee who had been ap-

pointed to view the land on the ea.st side of the river

with reference to a highway between New Hartford

and Colebrook, and the probabilities are that this

turnpike was the final outcome of the matter agitated

at that time.

The Talcott Mountain Turnpike Company was in-

corporated in 1798, the road to run " from the west

line of the city of Hartford to the house of Eldad

Shepherd, in New Hartford." This was the hotel at

North End, purchased of Seth Smith's heirs about this

time. The most ancient part of this hotel, as it now
stands, was built by Deacon Martyn Smith, who lived

here at an early period in the history of the town. In

1799 the Greenwoods turnpike, a continuation of the

same route, was opened from Eldad Shepherd's house,

in New Hartford, to Sheffield, Mass., by a new route

which followed, as far as practicable, the courses of

the streams and avoided the high hills. Starting

from the hotel, it diverged from the present road near

the scythe-shop, and pa.«sed through the swamp near

the old Jopp house, some rods to the east of the pres-

ent thoroughfare. J, I

In May, 1801, the Torrington Turnpike Company
was incorporated, and the first meeting was held at

the house of Moses Kellogg, innholder of New Hart-

ford, in July of that year. This road passed through

the villages of Bakerville and New Hartford Centre,

now Nepaug, and followed, for the most part, the line

of the old Torrington country road. It was generally

called by New Hartford residents the Litchfield road,

because used in going to and from the county-seat.

Moses Kellogg, anil afterwards his son, Col. Norman
Kellogg, were for many years keepers of the tavern

at the south |>art of the town, and the building so

long kept by them as a public-house is still in good

repai r, and occupied by their descendants as a dwcl ling.

About n mile west of Bakerville. on the Torrington

road, Levi Watson, son of Cyprian Wat.son, a pioneer

settler of the town, kept tavern in the old colonial

days. Two of his sons did brave service in the Revo-

lutionary struggle, and one of his descendants relates

.that during the years of the war his house was often

* Now known u Uic MtiM Richards piftco, OD the oornar of BarkbROi

AloU aud KlchoitU' ruaiii.
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so filled with officers and soldiers traveling to and

fro on duty that it was impossible to give them other

accommodations than the floors, where they were glad

to stretch their wearied limbs for a night's repose.

The highway from the North vilhige to South End,

known as the "Steele road," was opened about 1808.

The " New road," from the forks of the West Hil^nd
Town Hill roads to the stone grist-mill at StubTiol-

low, was laid out by county commissioners in 1830,

costing the town a tax of five cents on a dollar. In

1848 the road was opened from the highway, past the

Greenwoods Company's saw-mill and grist-mill, and

in 1850 that running from Marquis Richards' place to

Pine Meadow, known as " Black Bridge road." In

1853 it was voted to build a road through " Satan's

Kingdom," one-half to be at the expense of individ-

uals. In 1870 the road was opened from the bridge

at the lower end of North village to the Steele road,

coming out near the residence of E. R. Carter, and in

1871 the road over the hill, past the house of Henry

M. Gates. In 1871 a sidewalk was made between

North village and Pine Meadow.

In 1878 a new road was made to Barkhamsted town

line, west of the river, the old one being dangerous

by proximity to the Connecticut Western Railway

track.

Keeping the highways in order has always been a

great expense to New Hartford on account of the

roughness of the country. In 1806 scrapers were first

purchased by the town for use on the highways, and

in October, 1843, keeping the roads in repair was first

let out to the lowest bidder for five years. Previous

to that time the town was divided into districts, and

surveyors appointed for each district, who were re-

sponsible for the actual labor performed, or its equiv-

alent in money, of each citizen's road-tax.

BRIDGES

have also been a great item of expense to New Hart-

ford. The first mention of any bridge in the town

records is a vote passed in 1756 to build a bridge

across the Nepash near Samuel Douglass' (southeast

part of town). There is on file at the State Library

a memorial from citizens of New Hartford, dated May,

1763, presented by Capt. Isaac Kellogg, praying for a

lottery to assist them in building a bridge across the

" Great River," in said town. This memorial sets forth

that this river is a swift stream, about twelve rods wide,

with a very rocky bottom, that it is at times impossi-

ble to cross this river at the place where the new road

has recently been laid out at the expense of the colony,

and that, as the traveling yearly increases on said road,

persons have been from time to time drowned in at-

tempting to cross for want of a bridge. The njemo-

rial also states that the petitioners are a poor people,

very unable to pay their public taxes, that they have

recently borne half the expense of erecting a bridge

across the river at Suffrage, in Simsbury, and pray for

a lottery to raise one hundred and twenty pounds to

build the desired bridge. This was negatived by the

Assembly, but another petition praying for a land-tax

for the same purpose was granted, and the bridge was
built, the first across the Farmington in the town.

This bridge, and another built by the aid of a lottery

in 1778, were probably carried away by freshets, and
for a time there was a ferry at the " Kingdom" crossing.

In 1784 the town applied to the General Assembly for

aid in building a third bridge, and in 1796 it was sub-

stantially built with stone piers, but not until the

matter had been considered of opening a road to Suf-

frage, on the west side of the river, and an effort made
to turn over to the Talcott Mountain Turnpike Com-
pany the building of the bridge. In 1799 this bridge

was repaired. An old citizen, Mr. Ashbel Marsh, re-

i

members that his father carted timbers for a new bridge

built in 1803-4, and the town voted in 1812 to repair

;
the hard-worn structure and give it a new top and

! cover of plank. In 1832 another was built, and in

1856 the present one, which, repaired in 1880, has thus

far withstood the destructive elements. The first

bridge across the Farmington at the North village

was built in 1786, the second in 1799, the third in

1810, and the fourth in 1823. A double-track bridge

was built in 1850, to which a footwalk was added in

1871. The present riveted iron bridge, with a track

twenty feet wide, and a footwalk six feet in width,

was put up in 1878, at a cost to the town of ten thou-

sand dollars. The Farmington was bridged at a third

place when the highway was opened from Pine

Meadow to the Marquis Richards place, in 1850. The
first bridge did service until 1873, when the one was

built which is yet in substantial order.

In 1783 five bridges were built in the town, four

across the Nepash, which are not located in the

records, and one across Spruce Brook near its outlet

(between North village and Pine Meadow). This is

the first mention of a bridge at this place. In 1802

two bridges were built across the Nepash, " one on

the turnpike at the southeast part of the town, near

a grist-mill formerly owned by Zebulon Merrill, the

other on the turnpike in the east part of the town,

near Uriah Edgecomb's."

In the spring freshet of 1866 much damage was

done to the bridges in town, the one between North

Village and Pine Meadow being carried away.

The flood of December, 1878, unequaled on the

Farmington for forty years, carried before it the Canal

railroad-bridge, piers, abutments, and spans, the tem-

porary structure and trestle at North village, where

work had commenced preparatory to building the

new iron bridge, and the bridge over the East Branch,

besides other lesser damages. It was only by the con-

tinued exertions of a large force of workmen, who

were on guard one whole night, that the Greenwoods

Company's dam was kept from giving way, the road

along the side of the pond being four feet under water,

and the top of the abutments nearly reached by the

flood.
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RAILROADS.

In 1870 the Collinsville branch of the Canal Rail-

road was extended as far as Pine Meadow, a tempo-

rary depot being fitted up near the entrance to the

dugway, at the upper end of that village. In 1877 the

road was again extended as far as the Greenwoods

Company's mills, and commodious brick passenger-

and freight-depots built on the east side of the river

a little below the factory village. The Farmington

was first crossed on a trestle-work, which gave place

to a handsome iron bridge, carried away by the flood

of 1878. A temporary trestle was again put up, and

used until the present fine iron bridge was completed

in 1879. The old station-house in Pine Meadow has

been moved away, and a brick depot built at the south

end of Church Street. The Connecticut Western

Railway, which passes through the villages of New
Hartford and Pine Meadow, was built in 1871, and

the first engine passed over the road December 21st

of that year.* The upper depot is located near the

foot of Cemetery Hill, where the track crosses the

Town Hill road, with freight-depots, coal-sheds, and

water-tank farther south. The lower depot is oppo-

site the residence of C. W. Oilman, in Pine Meadow.

Tlie track of this road runs on an elevated embank-

ment above the highway between the two villages,

entering the upper on a substantial wooden trestle

some thirty feet in height. The Connecticut West-

ern Railway has an iron bridge across the Farmington

at "Satan's Kingdom" crossing, and the appearance

of the gorge has been materially changed by tunnel-

ing for the road-beds of the two lines (Canal and Con-

necticut Western), one on each side of the stream.

TOWN-HALL.

After the removal of the old town-house on the hill,

in 1848, the voters of the town were without a home
on town-meeting days. They met one-half the time

at the basement of the duirch at Nepaug, and the

other half sometimes in the scliool-house, sometimes

at Academy Hall, at North village. The "lock-up"

of the town was a tumble-down, mouldy old building,

formerly used by Wilson B. Spring as a carriage-shop,

which stood just west of the Connecticut Western

Railroad track, on the Town Hill road, an eyesore to

the public, torn down the present year (1881).

From time to time the subject of building a town-

hall was agitated, but every project liad opponents,

as was natural in a town where there are several little

villages, with the princijial business and manufacturing

interests in one corner, instead of at a common centre.

In 1872 it was voted in town-meeting to build, buy, or

hire a suitable building or rooms for a lock-up and

• The town (»r Nt!W llurlford Imil Jnat Itcpii heavily titxeJ by liberal

suliHcriptfons to tht^ ('iirittl Rjiflway oxteiiHion when the roiiiiecllnit

Wwtern wan projected, ami Tor that reason ilid not nttbRcri))0 to the Block

of the latter niad, which occasioned much feelliiK for a time among those

Intercftcd iu the Connecticut Wetdnrn enterprise, 80 much so that It woj

propoaod to "go around" New llurtfdrd, until suiTeyom round that Im-

practicable,

court-room for the trial of criminals and other cases

before a justice of the peace, to be located in the

North village. The site of the present building (a

little above the hotel corner, on the east side of the

Greenwoods turnpike) was purchased, and the sub-

stantial foundation laid, when, in June, 1873, other

counsels prevailed, and the selectmen were instructed

to sell the building lot and foundations, with the brick

and building materials already purchased. The con-

sequence was that the cellar and building materials

lay exposed on the main street of the village for more

than two years, until, in October, 1875, a vote was

barely carried to instruct the selectmen to build a

town-hall at a cost not to exceed ten thousand dollars.

The present building, one of the chief ornaments of

the town, was immediately erected on the foundations

laid three years before. The building is of brick, with

granite foundations and brownstone cappings and

trimmings, forty feet front by seventy feet deep, two

stories and a basement, with gables and a clock-tower.

The basement-floor has a court-room, two cells, and a

room now rented for a tailor's work-shop. The first

floor has a handsome store in front, entrance-hall,

ticket-office, town clerk, and probate offices, with

vault, and two offices for rent. The town-hall, fitted

up with stage and dressing-rooms, occupies the entire

second floor.

The building was dedicated, with a grand centennial

celebration, July 4, 1876, when the town records were

removed in state to their new depository. A special

feature of the occtision was thfe singing of the "Star-

Spangled Banner" by Clara Louisa Kellogg ; Judge J.

B. Foster and others delivered addresses, and Capt.

H. R. Jones read the Declaration of Independence.

CIVIL AND MILITARY.

The town of New Hartford was incorporated by

act of the General Court, October, 18;W. At the May
session of the (iencral Assembly in 1751 an act wtis

pas.sed removing seventeen towns in the northwesterly

part of the colony from the counties of Hartford,

New Haven, and Fairfield, and constituting them a

separate county, to bo called the county of Litclifield,

with the town of Litchfield as the county -.scat. This

was a grievous affliction to the inhabitants of New
Hartford, who could not become reconciled to being

set off" from Hartford County, and there is something

pathetic in the language of the petitions which year

after year they presented to the General Assembly,

praying to be released from Litchfield County. That

august body continued unmoved by the ofl-repeatcd

appeals setting forth the difficulties to the town by

reason of the " roughness of the way" to Litchfield,

and that, " as trade was mainly in Hartford, when any

person went to court, other business could be trans-

acted at the same time," which was no small consider-

ation in those days of poor roads and unbridged

streams. Col. Aaron Austin, of New Hartford, was

I judge of Litchfield County Court for many years

—
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family history says for twenty-five years—previous to

his disqualification liy age in 1816. The County

Court, now a thing of th-e past, is in some part super-

seded by the District Court of Litchfield County. The
judgeship of this district was held by Jared B. Foster,

of New Hartford, from 1874 to 1877.

Col. Aaron Austin was for twenty-three years (1795

to 1818) one of the twelve assistants to the Governor

of Connecticut, a body corresponding to the present

Senate. Other senators from the town have been Roger

H. Mills, in 1848 ; Henry Jones, in 1861 ; Edward M.
Chapin, in 1872. Roger H. Mills was Secretary of

State in 1849, and candidate for Lieutenant-Governor

on the first Prohibition ticket put forward in the

State. He removed to Beloit, Wis., in 1853, where

he died in 1880.

The first justice of the peace in New Hartford was

Capt. Isaac Kellogg, appointed by the General As-

sembly, on petition of the town, in 1745.

The town was first represented in the General As-

sembly in 1776 ; the representatives were Capt. Isaac

Kellogg and Capt. Matthew Gillet. The town had
previously been too poor to send deputies to the Gen-

eral Assembly,—all expenses of such representation

being then borne by the towns,—but during the war

of the Revolution, when the safety of this and sister-

colonies was at stake, patriotism demanded represen-

tation in council at any cost.

Previous to 1808, New Hartford belonged to Farm-
ington probate district, from which it was taken at

that time and annexed to Simsbury district. Col.

Aaron Austin, of New Hartford, was appointed judge

of Simsbury probate district in October, 1813, and
continued in oflice until disqualified by age, May,
1816. In 1825 the towns of New Hartford and Bark-

hamstead were taken from Simsbury district and con-

stituted the probate district of New Hartford. Capt.

Isaac Kellogg* was appointed judge, and served until

1833, when Launcelot Phelps, of Barkhamsted, suc-

ceeded him. The same year, 1833, New Hartford was

constituted a separate district at its own request.

The list of probate judges since 1833 is as follows:

Isaac Kellogg, 1834-36; Teilius Wadsworth, 1835-38; Roger H. Mills,

1838-42; Wait Garrett, 1842^4; Roger H. Mills, 1847-53; Jared B.

Foster, lS5:i-57; Henry Jones. 1857-03; Orrin Goodwin, 1803-00;

Fitch W. Burwell, 1800-78; Jason C. Kcach, 1878-80; Henry R.

Jones took otiice January, 1881.

Judges Henry Jones and Orrin Goodwin died in

office, and F. W. Burwell and Jason C. Keach were

disqualified by age before the expiration of their

official terms of service.

TOWN CLERKS.

The first proprietors' clerk was John Austin, of

Hartford, chosen in 1732, who served a year, when
Nathaniel Hooker was chosen, and served from 1733

to 1739. Noah Merrill, of New Hartford, was the

first town clerk appointed, but diedbefore taking the

oath of office. The proprietors then appointed Mat-

* Great-grandson of the original settler of that name.

thew Gillett, who served the town faithfully in that

capacity for nearly forty years, from April, 1739, un-

til 1778. His successors have been :

Joseph Merrill (2d), 1778-83; James Steel, 1783-86; Joseph Loomis,

1789-1805; Asa Goodwin, 1800-48; J. C. Keat-h, 1848-81, exclnsive

of 1854, when the office was held by Dr. Jerry Burwell, and 1855-58,

when it was held by Norman B. Merrill.

The military history of New Hartford begins with

a vote of the town in 1743 to expend twelve pounds

to purchase colors (and a brand). In 1744 twelve

shillings were j^aid to Matthew Gillett for warning a

training, and in 1745 it was voted to purchase a town
stock of ammunition. In May, 1752, the General

Assembly confirmed Mr. Matthew Gillett, who seems

to have been a knight of the sword as well as of the

pen, captain of the company or train-band in New
Hartford, and ordered that he be commissioned ac-

cordingly. The town records of this period, punctil-

ious in giving titles, show that Israel Loomis was

lieutenant and Thomas Olcott ensign of this company.

Military organizations were kept up in New Harford
until the disbanding of the Lafayette Guards, not

long since. Great pride was taken in the drill and

appearance of these troops on parade- and training-

days. A history of these military companies, from

Capt. Matthew Gillet's time, would be of great interest

to New Hartford readers ; at some future time it

may be written, but it would be too extended for

these pages.

In 1739, New Hartford was designated as one of the

towns in which the First Regiment of militia should be

located. In 1774 the troops from New Hartford,

Simsbury, Hartland, Barkhamsted, and Colebrook

constituted the Eighteenth Regiment of militia, of

which Abel Merrill, of New Hartford, was commis-

sioned major. In 1820 the New Hartford troops be-

longed to the Twenty-first Regiment of militia.

The first record pointing to active service by New
Hartford troops is a reference to powder taken from

the town stock by Israel Loomis at the time of the

expedition against " the fort at Lake George," fi'oin

which it is gathered that a detachment of men under

Lieut. Loomis were at the attack on Ticonderoga in

1758. The town records also mention the death of

Nathaniel Seymour at Crown Point, Oct. 20, 1760

;

there were probably others who served at the same

time who lived to return.

A detachment of sixteen young men from New Hart-

ford went in the expedition against Havana, under

Gen. Lyman, in 1762, only one of whom, Benjamin

Merrill, lived to return. The records at the State

Department of Capt. John Patterson's (afterwards

Roger Enos') company, in which these men served,

are incomplete, so that only a portion of the names

can be found ; these are Michael Merrill,! Eliakim

-j-, Michael Merrill was the eldest son of Joseph Merrill, a pioneer of

the town, who afterwards married the widow of David Chapins. Joseph

Merrill gave to another son, horn about this time, the name of Michael

;

he was a physician in New Hartford, familiarly called " Dr. Michael."
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Merrill, David Chapins, Zebulon Shepard, Joseph

Watson, Nathaniel Wilcox, Gideon Smith, John

Miller, Joseph Whiting Marsh.*

This expedition, which reached Havana in the

month of August, was fatal to more than two-thirds

of the men who composed it, chiefly by reason of

sickness incident to the climate at that season. Of a

regiment numbering August lOtli eight hundred and

two men, but thirty-four were reported fit for duty

October 2d, and part of those who lived to embark

for home died on the voyage or suffered shipwreck.

In May, 1774, after the issue of the Boston Port

Bill, and other hostile demonstrations of Great Brit-

ain, Governor Trumbull, of Connecticut, in view of

the general peril which threatened the colonies, issued

a proclamation enjoining a day of fasting and prayer.

This was soon followed by an order to all towns to

double their quantity of powder, ball, and flints.

At a town-meeting of the inhabitants of New Hart-

ford, held Sept. 5, 1774, it was " voted to purchase

two hundred pounds of powder, and flints answer-

able." Joseph Cowles, Capt. Seth Smith, Eldad Mer-

rill, and Aaron Austin were appointed " a committee

of correspondence to open subscription for the poor

people of Boston and Charlestown," and spirited reso-

lutions were j^assed, which were entered in the town

records and published in the Connecticut Vouranf.

These resolutions, after declaring that late acts of

Parliament " were of dangerous tendency, and strike

immediately at the foundation of the civil and relig-

ious rights and i)rivileges of all British colonies in

North America, and directly contrary to the English

constitution," also expressing sympathy with the in-

habitants of Boston, " now sufi'ering under the cruel

hand of tireny and oppression," and resolving to con-

tribute to their relief, and to concur with and ajjprove

all measures adopted by the Congress at Philadelpliia,

close with the following sentiment:

" Aleo it is tlie opiiiiuii of tliis meeting that if any jieraon hIiiiII, from

any sinister views whatwnever. counloracttlie furegoiiig resolves, Iio sliull

be treated, not witli oiten violence on liia person or i)roi)perty, but willi

all the neglect, discstecni, and contempt which his chanu-ter deserves

and his conduct shnll merret."

New Hartford at this trying season contributed her

full share to the glorious record of Connecticut, which,

out of a population of one hundred and ninety-eight

thousand, furnished nearly forty tliousand troops and

militia for service during the war of the Revolution,

—

more in number than any other State except Massa-

chusetts. Tliougli the fifth in size of the original

thirteen, she furnished more salt beef, pork, and cattle

for the army than any sister-State. It was to her that

Washington looked for help in the disheartening

winter of 1778, when ten tliousand soldiers lay naked

and hungry at Valley Forge. Nor did the " Provision

State" fail him then, but sent her commis.sary, in the

* The last-named young man was eldest son of Uuv. Jonathan Marali.

His conncctioo with thin expedition |jt gMhored from mftiiiiscript funjiy

hlBtory,

dead of winter, through unbroken forests, to the relief

of the suffering army. Capt. Phineas Merrill, of New
Hartford, was with Col. Jeremiah Wadsworth, com-

missary of the State, in this branch of the service,

and underwent many hardships while traveling with

supplies from Connecticut to the army at different

stations.

The following are but a few of the recorded votes of

the town during the eight years' struggle

:

March, 1777.—" Foted, That we will give ten pounds lawful money to

each soldier belonging to New Hartford that shall inlist into the Conti-

nental Battalions."

September, 1777.—" Voted^ That we will provide clothing for the sol-

diers that are inlisted and gone into the Continental army that belong

to New Hartford."

" Voied^ That the committee appointed by the town to make provision

for soldiers' families that are gone into the Continental army, agreeable

to the law of this Slate, do make mnple provisioh for said families, and

that the town of said New Hartford pay the overplus."

Jan. 7, 1777.—" Voted, That we do e.xcept of the articles of confedera-

tion and perpetual union between the states of New liampshire, Massa-

chusetts bay, Rliode Island and Providence Plantations, Connecticut, New
York, New Jersey, l*ennsylvania, Delaware. Maryland, Virginia, North

Carolina, South Carolina, and Georgia."

The taxes levied at this time, which called for money,

were mostly paid in cloth, stockings, beef, pork, corn,

and oats.

Beside those who enlisted for a term of service in the

Continental army, the militia were repeatedly called

out from Litclifield County to the frontier and sea-

coast of Connecticut, and to Horse Neck, Peekskill,

and other points on the Hudson, during the long and

tedious struggle for the possession of the Highlands.

Probably not an able-bodied man in town but was

called out, some of them many times on this service.

Owing to scanty and incomplete records, it is im-

possible to ascertain the names of all New Hartford

men who served during tlic Revolutionary struggle.

Among the State archives at Hartford is a pay-roll of

eighty-two men who marched under Capt. Seth Smith

at the Lexington alarm, in .\pril, 1775, and also five

mounted men under Lieut. Uriah Seymour. Probably

most of these saw other service.

The following are known to liave served in the

Continental army or State troops for a longer or

shorter period

:

Col. Aaron Austin, entered the service as a subaltern, and rose to the

rank of lleutonant-colonel.

Col. Seth Smith, appointed by the General Assembly llealeuaiit<olo-

nel of one of the battalions ralsinl for the defense of the Stute, or sea-coast

and frontier, in 1777; also a^ain comntissioncil for the lanic service in

1778, Col. Smith als<» niarclietl with troops to Peekskill at the call of

Gen. Waflhlngtun in 1777.

Capt. Abrani Pottibone, iorTed on frontier anil In Now York.

Capt. Phlneaa Merrill, conductor of commissary teams under Col.

Wadsworth.

Lieut. Charles Goodwin,

('apt. Elijah Flower, entered as a prlTato; was Imprisoned at Halifax
;

promoted for good service,

Cyrenius Austin, tiled In senrlco,

John Garrett, Levi Wat^ion, Isaac Watson, Thomajt Watjon, Cyprian

Morrill, Jesse Steel, Josei>h Gilbert, Theodon* Gilbert, Aaron Stephens,

Kllslia Uoborts, K/.ru Andrns, Cyprian Merrill, Aaron Merrill, John

Taylor, Danlol Hnralt. J«M Steal, William Cook, Ashbal Monb. Caleb

WatMD.
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WAE OF 1812.

During the last war with England, in response to a

call for troops for the defense of the State, a company

was organized in New Hartford and Barkhamsted, of

about equal numbers from each town. They left New
Hartford in July, 1813, under orders for New London,

where they served until September, 1814. The Sun-

day before their departure the company, dressed in

uniform, attended church on Town Hill, where Rev.

Mr. Jerome delivered to them an appropriate address.

The records of this company are lost, and the fol-

lowing facts concerning it were furnished by Judge

Wait Garrett, of New Hartford, the sole survivor, now

In failing health and memory. The captain of the

company was Moses Hayden, of Barkhamsted. The

names of New Hartford men, as far as can be ascer-

tained, were

:

Lieut. George McNary, Kiisitin Merrill, Riverins lluiiplnss, Ira Sey-

mour, Jesse Markliiuii, Samuel Slarkliani, Pcbuj-Ier Hulcolub, Jesse

Steel, Segur Steel, lle/.ekiali Woodruff, Asa Woodnift", Martin Good-

win.

Maj. John Meigs, of New Hartford, also saw service

during this war and the war of the Revolution, though

not a resident of New Hartford until 1794.

THE WAR OF THE REBELLION.

On Saturday, April 5, 1861, news of the bombard-

ment of Sumter flew over the electric wires, and

loyal hearts were stirred to action, as were the Revolu-

tionary fathers at the tidings of Bunker Hill. New
Hartford rose to the emergency. The first of her

sons to respond to the call for seventy-five thousand

volunteers for throe months enrolled themselves, with

recruits from Winchester and other adjoining towns,

as Company B, Second Connecticut Infantry. The

officers were Abrara G. Kellogg, captain ; Charles W.
Morse, first lieutenant; Charles Warren, second lieu-

tenant ; all of New Hartford. The company left for

New Haven April 21st, where they were encamped

and drilled until May 27th, when they left for Wash-

ington and the scene of action. They were at Fairfax

Court-house and Bull Run, but lost no member by

death.

April 29th a special town-meeting was held to

make provision for the families of soldiers who had

or should enlist for the support of the government.

In July, 1861, in response to a second call for men

to defend the government. Company C, Eighth Con-

necticut Infantry, was orgauized, composed almost

wholly of New Hartford men. The officers who first

commanded it were Charles W. Nash, captain,

Samuel Glasson, first lieutenant, Robert Burnside,

second lieutenant. This company, during their three

years' service, were in twelve hard-fought battles. At

the battle of Antietam they went into action with

nearly fifty men, and came out with less than twenty,

thirty having been killed, disabled, or taken prisoners.

Aug. 2, 1862. after Litchfield County had deter-

mined to raise an entire regiment in response to

Lincoln's call for " three hundred thousand more,"

the town of New Hartford, at a special meeting,

oflered a bounty of one hundred and twenty-five dol-

lars " to all who may volunteer from this town to crush

the existing wicked rebellion." New Hartford's offer-

ing to the " Mountain County Regiment" (the Nine-

teenth Infantry, afterwards Second Heavy Artillery)

was a squad of thirty men, who were consolidated with

recruits from Canaan and Colebrook to form Com-
pany F, of which Edward W. Jones, of New Hartford,

was appointed captain, and afterwards promoted major

of the regiment, and breveted lieutenant-colonel for

bravery in action. This regiment also saw hard and

bloody fighting; they were in thirteen engagements,

and lost heavily in killed and wounded. Beside these

companies, there were New Hartford men in almost

every regiment from the State,—some thirty being

distributed among the different companies of the Thir-

teenth Infantry,—in all, two hundred and sixty-seven.

In September, 1863, the selectmen of the town were

authorized to pay a bounty of three hundred dollars

to men drafted into the army, and the following was I

passed by the citizens

:

" limtlvcd. That we, the citizens of Now Hartford, will spend our

money, and our lives if necessary, for the support of our government."

When the call came in August, 1864, for five hun-

dred thousand men, when the patriots who were wil-

ling to risk their lives were already in the field, and

volunteers were few and hard to find, yet the quota

of the town was fifty-two, and must be raised, the

authorities voted " a bounty of four hundred dollars

to every volunteer or man drafted under said call."

At the close of the war, in 186.5, came the return of

the volunteers to their homes, to take up again the

peaceful avocations left at the country's call. But

not all returned : New Hartford's list of " killed in

action or died in service" was forty-two; and who

shall number those who came to their homes wounded

or diseased, to find an early grave, or to carry through

life the scars of the conflict?

MANUFACTURING AND BUSINESS INTERESTS.

In 1733 the proprietors of New Hartford seques-

tred for the benefit of the town two water-privileges,

one for a grist-mill, the other for a saw-mill. The

grist-mill privilege was a^ what is pow known as

" Stub Hollow,"* on or near the site of the present

stone grist-mill, which was built by Lot Seymour

about 1825. The saw-mill privilege was on Spruce

Brook, on the southern slope of Cemetery Hill ; but

this was found to interfere with property already

chosen by a proprietor, and was relinquished, with an

injunction upon the inhabitants of the town that they

should provide a suitable place for a saw-mill. j

The first water privileges (except grist-mill above '

mentioned) improved were at "Satan's Kingdom" and

Nepaug. There were both grist- and saw-mills at the

* First 80 called by the workmen who cleared the ground for Royal I.

Watson's house in 1822, from the stumps of the trees left in the clearing.
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*' Kingdom" very soon after the settlement of the town.

The date of building the dam is not known, but in

1751 Thomas Walling purchased of Jonathan Merrill

both mills, with property adjoining ; and the list of

1753 taxes Thomas Walling with a saw-mill valued

at twenty pounds, and a grist-mill valued at fifteen

pounds. The gorge at the "Kingdom" is about three-

eighths of a mile in length, and the banks at the

highest points are one hundred and twenty feet above

the water, and in some places perpendicular or over-

hanging. The river flowing through this gorge, before

it was obstructed by the two railroads which have

narrowed its channel, was some twelve rods wide.

The dam was near the Connecticut Western Railway

bridge, and the mills were on the west bank of the

river. Capt. Dudley Case, who came from Simsbury

in 1784 and kept tavern on Mrs. Olive Pike's place,

was the next proprietor of these mills. In 1753, Pe-

latiah Richards, and later Col. William Goodwin and

his son, Caleb C. Goodwin, had a fulling-mill near

Case's grist-mill, and a shop near by where they

dre.ssed the cloth spun and woven by the housewives

of New Hartford.

Until 1832 the " Kingdom" bridge is mentioned in

the town records as " the bridge near Case's mills,"

when the designation is changed to " near Salmon

Merrill's." About this time Col. Salmon Merrill

purchased the grist- and saw-mills, with property

adjoining, and carried them on until the great flood

in the winter of 1839-40 swept away the grist-mill,

which was never rebuilt. The clothing-mill was

carried away by the same freshet. In addition to the

mills. Col. Merrill also had a turning-shop and bed-

post-factory near the bank of the river. The saw-

mill, with an occasional change of hands, continued

in operation until it was carried away by flood, about

the year 18G9, after which the dam was demolished.

The property at this time was owned by D. B. Smith,

of Pine Meadow, who sold the right of way to tiie

Canal Railroad, which destroyed the water-privilege.

In 1847, Messrs. Darius Camp and Caius C. Man-
clie.ster built a puddling-furnace, for making cast iron

into wrought iron, just above Wilcox's tavern, about

three-quarters of a mile north of the "Kingdom"
bridge, with a dam of but slight elevation on the river

above the works. Tenement-houses were put up for the

employees of the comi)any, forming a little village,

which has since borne the name of " Puddletown."

The Connecticut Western Railroad track is laid in

what was once the street through this settlement.

The expense of transjmrting iron from Salisbury was

80 great that the business was not successful, and in

1852 C. C. Manchester, who had become sole pro-

prietor, made aii assignment for the benefit of credi-

tors, and the ])roperty passed into the hands of Her-

man Chapin, who conducted the business until 1863,

when the furnace was l)urned. The business was

never revived, as the improvement of the water-privi-

lege had caused extensive litigation between the

owner and D. B. Smith, whose large manufacturing

interests lay farther up the river.

About 1845, W. McNary, a wheelwright by trade,

had a turning-shop and melodeon manufactory on the

east bank of the river, near the " Kingdom" bridge.

These works were afterwards purchased by Caleb C.

Goodwin, who fitted them up for a blacksmith's shop,

which purpose they served for a number of years.

INTERESTS AT NEPAUG.

The first mention of the Nepash water-power being

utilized for the benefit of the town is on the tax-list

of 1753, when Zebulon Merrill is rated at fifty pounds

for a grist-mill and one-third of a saw-mill. The
other owners of the saw-mill were Ephraim Andrus,

Abram Kellogg, Elijah and Abel Merrill, each one-

sixth, valued at five pounds. These mills were not

far from the site of the Henderson Manufacturing

Company's works, near the place where the turnpike-

bridge crosses the Nepash. They were kept up for

many years; an old resident remembers that Noah
Seymour owned the grist-mill about 1800. The prim-

itive saw-mills often had, as accessories, rude facilities

for making wooden bowls and trenchers, which util-

ized the .slabs of the logs. New Hartford kitchens

were no doubt supplied in the olden time with these

and kindred articles of wooden-ware from the saw-

mill manufactory.

In 1850, A. S. Atkins <fe Co. were running tiie Ne-

paug Wood-Turning Works, and J. V. Green a lock-

factory, near the site of the old mills ; and about a

quarter of a mile to the east, where the turnpike

again crosses the stream, L. H. & L. Burnham carried

on an iron foundry, in which they were successors to

Bates Brothers, who built the dam and started the

business in 1832. All of these are now discontinued.

About a mile to the southeast, on a tributary of the

river, was J. M. Clements' turning-shop, near which

Elbridge Curtis now has a saw-mill. Still farther on

the Nepash was a saw-mill, now owned by John

Healcy, who has recently built a new dam and a

small grist-mill.

In 1869 the Henderson Manufacturing Company,

James F. Henderson president, was organized for

the manufacture of fiirtiiture-casters, bed-fustenings,

and general hardware, having purchased and enlarged

tlie buililings and water-|)rivilege of the .\tkiiis' Ne-

paug Works. This business was afterwards purchased

by Forbes & Clark (liev. S. B. Forbes and Edward
Clark), of Winsted, who carried it on a short time,

when the shops of the company were burned, Sep-

tember, 1875, and the personal property and interest

of the concern purchased by D. B. Smith, who re-

moved them to his own establishment in I'ine Meadow.

Thus passed away tlie last nuinufacturing interest of

Nepaug, which one hundred years ago was the busi-

ness centre of the town.*

* Uutil a recent date the poetofflce nt ttiU place wu New Ilartibnl

Centre, now changed to Nepailg.
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The first store of any note in New Hartford was

opened at Nepaug, or Soiitli End, by Col. Aaron

Austin, who took as partner Elias Kellogg, in 1789.
^

The store was connected with Col. Austin's house,

wliich stood a little west of the Congregational church,

and directly opposite Col. Norman Kellogg's taveni.

In connection with the mercantile business, they

also carried on a potash manufactory. Successors to

Austin & Kellogg were Nelson Brothers, who did not

remain long in the business. In 1824, Messrs. Tertius

Wadsworth and Harvey B. Elmore built a store some-

what to the west of Col. Austin's old stand, and car-
1

ried on mercantile business until 1826, when they

sold out to James F. Henderson, who continued for

many years a prosperous merchant. At his death the

bu.siness was taken by his son, James M. Henderson,

who carried it on until the store was burned in 1806.

Since that time different individuals have done trading

in a small way, and the present postmaster, E. R.
^

Merrill, keeps a few groceries and articles of house-

hold nece.ssity to accommodate the neighboring fam-
|

ilies, who are mostly farmers or persons of independ-

ent means of living.

PINE MEADOW.

In April, 1806, Roger Sheldon, who kept tavern in

what is now the " old boarding-house," bought of

Chauncey Sadd a water-privilege in Pine Meadow,

and built the dam across the Farmington River at

that place. Mr. Sheldon also dug the raceway about

half its present width, and built a grist-mill on the

site of the building now occupied by A. N. Bragg &
Co. Through pecuniary embarrassments, Mr. Sheldon

was unable to hold the property. He left town in 1809,

and it passed into the hands of Isaac and George C.

Kellogg, who purchased of his creditors four hundred

acres of land, comprising all of what is now Pine

Meadow, from C. W. Oilman's farm (formerly Col.

Wells') to the old carriage-shop, and from the top ofthe

mountain on the west to the hills on the east, includ-

ing the " Forks," which they cultivated. The Kellogg

brothers added to the buildings, and put in machinery

for the manufacture of woolen goods, and also an iron

foundry. Previous to these purchases the brothers

had been engaged with their father, Ebenezer Kellogg,

in the manufacture of carding-machines ; their shop

is said to be now a part of Mrs. Lemley's house. In

1833 the Kellogg brothers divided their property,

Isaac taking the foundry and the southern portion,

and George C. the northern portion, and sold out one-

half of their water-right to the New Hartford Manu-

facturing Company, who built a new mill for manu-

facturing woolen goods. In this business the Kelloggs

retained a controlling interest, George C. Kellogg

being president of the new corporation. The woolen

business was carried on until 1844, when the factory

was burned, after which George C. Kellogg built a

machine-shop for the manufacture of cotton-pickers

principally, and carried it on successfully, associating

his son Edward with him in bu.siness, under the firm-

name of E. Kellogg & Co.

After the fire of 1844, Smiths & Brown (John C.

and Darius B. Smith and Sanford Brown) bought out

the woolen-works property, rebuilt, and put in a cot-

ton-mill. This firm was dissolved at the death of

Maj. Sanford Brown, in 1857, and succeeded by D. B.

Smith & Co., D. B. Smith eventually buying out the

other partners (J. C. Smith and T. Polhemus) and

becoming sole projjrietor. In May, 1875, the cotton-

mill of D. B. Smith was burned, but immediately re-

built on a more extensive scale. In the latter part of

1875, his factories being then partially rebuilt, Mr.

Smith purchased the personal property of the Hen-

derson Manufacturing Company's Caster-Works, re-

moving them to Pine Meadow, and carried on this

business until 1877, when, having completed his build-

ing arrangements, cotton machinery w'as again put in,

and his son, George W. Smith, associated with him,

under the firm-name of D. B. Smith & Co.

The business now embraces the manufacture of

cotton-duck, furniture, hardware, brass and iron

foundryj and saw- and grist-mills. The firm employ

about one hundred and seventy-five hands in all

branches of business, and in the cotton factory three

thousand spindles are in operation.

About 1845, Freeman Graham, formerly an appren-

tice to the Kelloggs, and for a short time engaged in

the manufacture of pistols both at the North village

and in the old Kellogg machine-shop, bought out the

iron foundry of Isaac Kellogg's heirs, and carried on

machine and foundry business in Pine Meadow until

1851, when he failed in business, and in 1852 his

property was purchased by Herman Chapin.

After the death of George C. Kellogg, in 1847, his

son, Hiram B. Kellogg, took his father's share of the

machine business, which continued under the same

name until May, 1865, when Edward Kellogg, the

senior partner, sold his interest to Philip E. Chapin,

when the firm became H. B. Kellogg & Co. In 1866,

H. B. Kellogg sold his interest to Philip E. Chapin,

who became sole proprietor, and so continued until

the Chapin Machine Company, a joint-stock corpora-

tion, was organized in 1870 for the manufacture of

knitting-machines, machinery, and all branches of

foundry business. This company, of which P. E.

Chapin was president and held controlling interest,

enlarged the brick machine-shops formerly occupied

by Freeman Graham, using the Kellogg foundry, and

continued in operation until 1878, when they went

into bankruptcy. In April, 1878, the Chapin Manu-

facturing Company, P. E. Chapin principal stock-

holder, was organized, taking the buildings and

machinery of the original concern. This soon went

into insolvency, and the buildings, purchased by Ed-

ward M. Chapin, are at present writing unoccupied.

In 1826, Messrs. Copeland & Chapin purchased a

water-privilege and building in Pine Meadow of the

Kellogg brothers, and opened an establishment for the
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manufacture of planes, rules, levels, etc. The senior

partner remained in Hartford to attend to the sales of

the planes, which were at first their sole products,

Herman Chapin, the junior member of the concern,

locating in Pine Meadow to superintend the business.

In 1828, Mr. Chapin bought out his partner's interest,

and soon after erected the present factory, which was

then ninety feet front, with a one-story " L" twenty

feet long. Extensions have been built from time to

time until the building has now a frontage of two hun-

dred feet, with three hundred feet in " L's," all two

stories high, with all modern improvements as to

heating, fire-pumps, etc.

In 1835, Mr. Chapin commenced the manufacture

of rules, and was the first manufacturer who applied

machinery to the making of these articles, by which

improved facilities they are now sold for less than

was paid the workmen for their labor forty years ago.

The present proprietor, Edwin M. Chapin, came
into the ownership of the property and business in

1860, when the firm became H. Chapin's Son. After

an exceptionally successful business career, Herman
Chapin died in 1866 at Savannah, Ga., whither he

had gone for the benefit of his health. About eighty

hands are now employed, and about three thousand

dozen rules per month are manufactured, besides

planes, hand-screws, levels, gauges, handles, etc.

About the year 1848 a brass foundry was started by

Philemon Allen in a frame building which stood near

the Kellogg foundry. After carrying on the business

a short time, Mr. Allen sold out his interest to his

brother Sanuiel, who continued the foundry in opera-

tion about fifteen years, when the firm became Allen

Brothers, Anson J. Allen having become a partner.

This firm continued in business some four years, when
their foundry was discontinued.

In 1854, L. C. Stephens & Co. commenced the rule

business in Pine Meadow. In 1859 the business was

removed to tlic North village, to a building erected for

the purpose on the west bank of the river, to which
power was carried from the lower Greenwoods mill

by a cotton-rope band. In 1864 the business was re-

moved to Riverton, where it is still in successful

operation.

The firm of A. N. Rragg and Co., manufacturers of

saddlery hardware,—snaps, bits, buckles, etc.,—was or-

ganized in 1878. The business, which now gives em-
ployment to thirty hands, male and female, began
with two, and rooms were rented in a wooden build-

ing bch)nging to D. B. Smith. In May, 1880, the firm

purchased a water-privilege and the old Kellogg ma-
chine-shop, fitted it uj), and removed thither August,

1880. Trailing interests were established at Pine
Meadow some thirty years ago. The village now han

two stores, kept by Allen Brothers and George Chapin.

NORTH VILLAGE.

Water-power was first used at the North village for

a tannery in 1772, and a bark-mill in 1774, located

near the outlet of Spruce Brook by Messrs. Webb &
Denney, formerly of Wethersfield, who were by vote

of the town exempted from taxes for seven years, or

until their business should pay the cost of building.

The inhabitants had heretofore been obliged to carry

skins out of town to be dressed, and were pleased in

this way to encourage the business of tanning in their

midst. In 1797, Joseph Webb, who had returned to

Wethersfield, sold the property ; after passing through

several hands, it was purchased in 1805 by Elisha

Case, of Simsbury, who set up the business of tanning

in the buildings erected by Mr. Webb, and carried it

on until a short time before his death in 1824. Mr.

Case's tannery was said to be the best establishment

of the kind in the State. It had connected with it a

large currying-room, which is now the dwelling-house

of his daughter, Mrs. Maria Jones. It was purchased

and removed about 1840 by H. H. Bartlett, who fitted

it up for a pistol manufactory, and used it for that

purpose a number of years ; it was renovated for a

dwelling-house by Deacon John Brown. The tan-

nery, a large building, was used as a livery stable and

barn until about 1850, when it was burned.

In 1786, Messrs. Ashbel Marsh, Sr., and Roger

Sheldon built a grist-mill on Spruce Brook, on the

southern slope of Cemetery Hill, a little west of the

house now owned by Martin Driggs. The miller was

Benjamin Skinner, who lived where William Cook
now does. The mill continued grinding until it fell

into decay. In after-years the water-privilege was

used to run a turning-lathe by Whitehead Howd, who
was thought by the last generation of boys to owe
his name to the hoary locks which crowned his head.

In 1808 there stood a turning- and cooper-shop

under the bank nearly opposite the junction of Brook

Street and the Steele road. This was built and used

by Mr. Howd, above mentioned. Here, also, Guy
Miner, who built the first house on the Steele road,

made tubs, pails, and other articles. In 18(19 a black-

smith's shop stood on the site of Mrs. John C Smith's

present residence. In the rear of this was a lumber-

yard, and still farther back a cider-mill and dis-

tillery, which furnished liquor for the hotel bar, of

which Theodore Cowles was jjroprietor. Gordon W.
Cook, who built the house now occupied by Dr. E.

D. Curtis, had a blacksmith's shop just south of his

house. A potash maiuifactory and a shoe-shop stood

on the site of the Roman Catholic church, and Maj.

John Meigs, who lived where Mrs. Dr. Hazen now
does and made hats for the town, had his hatter's

shop just south of his residence.

In March, 1816, Martin Driggs sold to Michael

Kellogg the privilege of taking the water from Farin-

ington River, " at or near the riffles in said river,

about thirty rods above Mast Swamp Hill, so called,"

and of erecting a dam sufficient to carry a saw-mill,

grist-mill, aiul any other water-works he should choose

to erect, also land for buildings. This property ex-

tended from the old dam, which was about eighty



415 HISTORY OF LITCHFIELD COUNTY, CONNECTICUT.

rods above the present one, to " Sheep Rock," on which

the lower cotton-mill of the Greenwoods Company
now stands. Mr. Driggs reserved a right to put in a

bark-mill, which he did. Hi.s tanneries were located

near the iron bridge across the Farmington at North

village. With his sons Andrew and Hiram, he car-

ried on the business of tanning and shoemaking* suc-

cessfully until 1844, when Archibald Ralston bought

out the establishment. In 1844, Hiram Driggs again

took the tannery, and, assisted by his son Martin, car-

ried it on until 1850, when it was discontinued. The

old tan-house was used as a barn until 1878, when it

was torn down by Thomas C. Wilber, the present

owner of the property.

Michael Kellogg erected the first dam on the river,

at the upper village, on the privilege purchased of

Mr. Driggs, and built grist- and saw-mills, but ap-

pears to have soon failed, for Kellogg, Brown &
Chapin (George C. Kellogg, Sanford Brown, Herman
Chapin) bought out the property, except bark- and

grist-mills, and had a large machine-shop thereon

until 1833, when the New Hartford Manuhicturing

Company succeeded to their interest and built a

cotton- factory. This corporation tailed, and the

business went into the hands of the New Hartford

Joint-Stock Company, organized in April, 1839, under
I

the same management, viz. : George C. Kellogg, presi-
\

dent; H. Chajiin, Isaac Kellogg, directors. This

company also failed, and in 1841 leased the cotton-

factory to Smiths & Brown, who carried on the cot-

ton manufactory until April, 1845, when the mill was

destroyed by fire. After this fire Maj. Brown sold

his interest in the concern to John C. and Darius B.

Smith, who sold the property to the Greenwoods

Company, in October, 1845, which was organized

with a capital stock of fifty thousand dollars, Ed-

mund G. Howe, of Hartford, president ; David F.

Robinson, of Hartford, and John C. Smith, of New
Hartford, directors ; and John C. Smith, resident

agent. This company made extensive purchases of

real estate on the east side of the river, and immedi-

ately rebuilt the cotton-factory, and commenced the

manufacture of cotton duck. In 1848 they received

a special charter from the Legislature. In 1849 the

present dam and new mill were built. The buildings

then consisted of a brick mill, one hundred and fifty

by fifty feet, five stories high, known as the sheeting-

mill, and the lower mill, a frame building, one hun-

dred and thirty-five by thirty-five feet, three stories

high, with attic ; also a saw-mill, since burned, and

about twenty-five tenement-houses. Additions and

improvements to the buildings of the company have

been made from time to time. Another saw-mill has

been erected, and the number of tenement-houses is

* The Bhoemaker, as distinguished from the cobbler, was also a tanner.

The cobbler in town at this time was Thomas Gleason, who, with his

bench and tools, went from house to house, making, mending, and re-

pairing. He built the first house on Greenwoods turnpike above the

hotel, now owned by Mrs. Howard P. Marsh.

now increased to seventy-five. In 1878 the dam was

raised six feet. The number of persons employed

varies from six hundred and fifty to seven hundred,

and the number of spindles in operation is twenty

thousand. The capital stock of the company is now
three hundred thousand dollars. The president is

J. E. Turner ; treasurer, Elbert Brinkerhofl^, both of

New York. Robert R. Smith, son of John C. Smith,

to whose energetic management for twenty-five years

much of the success of the company is due, succeeded

his father as agent in 1871. Howell W. Brown, of

New Hartford, has been for thirty years secretary of

the company.

Space will permit but a brief mention of the difFer-

ent manufacturing and industrial interests which

have sprung up in the North village of New Hart-

ford during the last fifty years. The manufacture of

tinware has been carried on continuously since it

was begun by Tertius Wadsworth, some sixty years

ago. His successor was Henry Jones, whose shop

was just .south of Mrs. Frazier's present dwelling-

house. He carried on an extensive business, and sent

peddlers South with goods. Virgil S. Abbott and

Henry T. Smith in turn succeeded to the business,

the latter commencing as apprentice for Mr. Abbott,

then as journeyman manager for the tinning-works of

the Greenwoods Company, and finally proprietor of

the establishment which he now manages, which em-

braces, besides the manufacture of tinware, plumb-

ing and dealing in general hardware.

Carriages and wagons were made forty years ago by

Wilson B. Spring, first near the lower end of the vil-

lage, and afterwards in a shop, torn down this year,

which stood at the foot of Cemetery Hill, on the

Town Hill road. The New Hartford Carriage Com-
pany was organized in 1867, William Steele, presi-

dent ; Watson Giddings, H. M. Gates, directors.

Their manufactory was on the south bank of Spruce

Brook, where it enters the Farmington River. This

business was in operation but a short time before it

went into the hands of a receiver. Henry M. Gates,

who has been a prosperous blacksmith in town for

fifteen years, has a carriage manufactory in connec-

tion with his smithy, and employs a number of

workmen. His shops are at the lower end of the vil-

lage, directly opposite the New Hartford Carriage

Company's works.

About 1840, Henry Jones and Isaac P. Frisbie (of

Harwinton) started a clock manufactory near the

dam built by Webb & Denney on Spruce Brook, and

made clocks for the Southern market. Owing to

heavy losses the business proved unprofitable, and

was given up after about four years. In 1845, H. B. &
S. Alvord, who came to town to keep store, rented the

clock-shop, and carried on a wood-turning business.

It was afterwards rented to difterent parties, burned,

and rebuilt, and used in turn for a sash- and blind-fac-

tory, and for the manufacture of planes and gauges.

It was a second time burned, and never rebuilt.
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A broom-factory and shook-shop for making sugar-
[

hogsheads for the West Indies was started by William

Steele, E. E. Clark & Co. in 1866, in the old clock-

shop building. In 1S67, Mr. Clark retired from the

business, the shook manufacture was discontinued,

and in 1874, on the death of Mr. Steele, George B.
;

Bancroft, previously in the employ of the concern,
j

became sole proprietor. Mr. Bancroft built a factory,

fronting on a road opened in 1870, near his own resi-

dence. This was burned in 1876, but immediately

rebuilt on the same site. The business gives employ-

ment to ten persons, and one hundred to one hundred
and twenty-five dozen brooms are made per week, be-

sides brushes, etc.

The manufacture of corset-springs was carried on
from 1865 to 1869 by Messrs. Thompson & Purinton,

in the building previously used by L. Stephens & Co.,

opposite tlie Greenwoods lower mill.

The Greenwoods Scythe Company was organized

in 1864 for the manufacture of scythes, edged tools,

and agricultural implements. The works of the es-

tablishment wer^ at. the upper end of the village, near

the western abutment of the Greenwoods Company's
dam. This continued in operation until the company
was dissolved, in 1871-72, the water-power proving

insufficient for the necessities of two large manufac-
turing establishments. The tools, machinery, and
real estate of the concern were purchased by the

Greenwoods Comjiany.

On Trout Brook, a tributary of the East Branch of

the Farmington, is a saw-mill, built by Capt. Aaron
Eichards about the year 1800; this has been en-

larged, kept in excellent repair, and continuously

running since that time. It is now owned and used

for general sawing by John Richards, a grandson of

the original i)roprietor.

West of the village were two old water-privileges,

one, formerly used for a saw-mill, about ten feet above
the bridge over Spruce Brook, where the new road

diverges from the West Hill road ; the other, just

below the same bridge, where the site of a dam is

still plainly visible. This dam, and a shop for the
manufacture of saw-handles, were built by Samuel
Judd about 1835, and used for that purpose some
fifteen years. On East Brook was a good water-priv-

ilege, imi)r()vcd as early as 1800 by Jonathan Marsh
(3d) for the manufacture of cider-mill screws. After
this Edward Strong built a shop at the same place,

where he made saw-handles. In 1849, Jeremiah Hal-
lock bought the property and started a shingle-mill,

which he ran for twenty years or more. A few years
since, this privilege, with the grounds adjoining, wore
purchaised by Mr. Nicholas S. Seleninolf, wiio has
erected a residence upon it, and has an ornamental cas-

cade in the old wheel-pit.

The first store at the North village was kept by
Eliphalet Austin, probably built by him about 1780.

This store stood on the site of the brick house at the
cross-roads of the village, and was moved olf when

27

that house was built in 1818. Eliphalet Austin was

succeeded in business by his nephew Montgomery,

son of Col. Aaron Austin. Montgomery Austin was

unsuccessful in business, and the property passed into

the hands of the Seymour family.

Messrs. Thomas Lee and David Lusk came from

Farmington about 1798, and set up the dry goods and

grocery trade in a wooden building where the "brick

store" now stands. They continued in business for

many years.

The " brick store" was built by Tertius Wadsworth
in 1823. This has been a trading stand since that

time, and is now occupied by the firm of Smith &
Spencer. There are at present in this village three

stores for the sale of general merchandise, two drug-

stores, a tailoring establishment, a harness-shop, two

jewelry-stores, a meat-market, a fish-market, a livery

stable, three millinery establishments, and four shoe-

makers' shops.

B.\KERVILLE.

In January, 1752, the following vote was pa.ssed in

town-meeting

:

" Voted, That Dutis Ensign may build a dam for a fulling-mill on his

own land.*'

This has not been located with certainty, but, pre-

vious to 1752, Elii)halet Ensign, the father of Datis,

purchased land on both sides of the brook, corre-

sponding to the site which tradition gives to an old
fulling-mill in Bakerville, near the building now oc-

cupied by Asa Goodwin ils a dwelling-house, wliich

was used some fifty years ago as n clotliicr's shop,

where cloth was dressed by Lyman.
Bakerville, at one time a prosperous manufacturing

village, in the southwestern ]>art of the town, may be
said to have been founded by Scott Baker, who came
from Bridgeport in 1804. On coming to town he
lived for a short time near the Harwinton line, then
moved to what is now known as the "Spencer place,"

whore ho worked at his trade of shoomaking, and
commenced tlie business of tanning in a tub. About
1S12 be settled permanently on the bank of the stream,

in what is now the village of Bakerville, in a house
built by Cy|<rian Watson, a pioneer of the town,
which was inclosed by a log fort, a relic of Indian
incursions in tlie early history of tlie place. Here
Jlr. Baker built a tannery, and carried on the tanning

and shoomaking business for the romaindcrof his life.

His sons—Beach N., .Vnthony, and Garrison Baker

—

enlarged tlioir father's tanneries, built a turning-

shop and a clothing manufactory, opened a store,

and built up a prosperous village at Hakorville. John
S. Baker, the s<m of Anthony, put up a steam saw-

mill ami turning-shop in 1859. A condensod-milk

manufactory was for a time in operation at Baker-

ville, of which the proprietor was Julius R. Pond.
With the death of Anthony Bakor, in 1855, the manu-
facturing intorrst of the plaro iloolinod

; the tannery

wiw burned in 1856, and only the turning-shop and
saw-mill are now in operation.
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About a half-mile northeast of Bakerville, iu what

is locally called "Stub Hollow," the brothers Edmund
and Royal I. Watson erected a paper-mill about

1830. This establishment for the manufacture of

printing-paper employed about thirty hands, and the

machinery and buildings were valued at ten thousand

dollars. After it had been in successful operation for

about three years the mill was burned, but imme-

diately rebuilt. After running for two years longer

the mill was again burned, when the business was

discontinued.

A clock manufactory was started in this locality

about the same time by Deacon Elisha Neal, of the

Bapti.st Church in Bakerville, who sold out to one of

his workmen by the name of Matthewson, afterwards !

an Advent preacher. About 1845 this business was

given up, and the buildings rented to John S. Burwell,

who made baby-carriages and hand-sleds. It is now '

used by Orvis Griggs as a turning-shop. ,

In 1850 there were two saw-mills in this part of the ;

town, and members of the Watson family had a brick-
|

yard near the Torrington line. .

In the year 1800, Michael Kellogg built a saw-mill

nearly opposite the present residence of Frederic

Merrill, on what is now the "New road;" this was

reached by a cart-path from the West Hill road, and

afterwards owned by Capt. Norman Merrill. In 1832,

Ashbel Marsh built a saw-mill on the Steele road

above the residence of Grove S. Marsh. Both of

these are now gone to decay, but are still traceable.

Besides the twenty-two mauuAicturing establish-

ments, there were in town in 1880 one hundred and

ninety-nine improved farms. The .soil of New Hart-

ford is well adapted for grazing, and in some sections

it produces very superior crops of wheat, corn, pota-

toes, and tobacco.

In addition to those who represent the professional,

agricultural, and industrial interests, there are many
persons of leisure who, attracted by the beauty and

healthfulness of the town, have located within its

limits, whose beautiful homes contribute much to the

attractiveness of its streets.

GROWTH OF THE TOWN AND MISCELLANEOUS
ITEMS.

New Hartford lies twenty miles northeast of Hart-

ford ; it is six miles in length, and about the same in

average breadth. Its eastern boundary was originally

determined by Kimberly's line, but when the town of

Canton was incorporated, in 1806, a strip about three

miles in length and something over a mile in width,

north and east of the Farmington River, was taken

from New Hartford, and, with the western part of

Simsbury, now forms the town of Canton. This strip,

which is called in the old records " the east tier of

lots," was annexed to the ecclesiastical parish of West

Simsbury in 1762, for the convenience of the settlers,
[

to whom the crossing of the river was a great barrier

to attendance on public worship. The Simsbury '

boundary was always a matter of trouble to the early

settlers of New Hartford, and numerous are the

records of appeal to State authority, "perambula-

tions," and " actions at law" in regard to it. Sims-

bury, which was settled some seventy years before

New Hartford, did not take kindly to a well-defined

limitation of privileges on her western border.

The town is hilly and mountainous, containing a

mountain range of considerable elevation, of granite

and other primitive formations. Ratlan Mountain, on

the eastern boundary. Town Hill, in the centre of the

town. West Hill, Yellow Mountain, and East Moun-
tain are a few of the most important elevations. The
Greenwoods, or evergreen region of Connecticut, be-

gins in the northern part of the town ; these forests

are now mostly cleared by the march of civilization,

but some of the highways in the sparsely-settled por-

tions of the town are still bordered with the original

growth of hemlock, beech, ash, and chestnut, with a

dense undergrowth of kalmia or mountain laurel.

White-oak and pine-trees have here attained enor-

mous size. The natural scenery of the town is of

romantic beauty and diversity. The Farmington or

Tunxis River waters the northern portion of the town,

and turns the huge wheels of its manufacturing inter-

ests. The Nepash or Nepaug, with its tributaries,

flows through the southern part of the town. In the

northwestern corner is a beautiful lake, called by the

Indians " Wonkjunkmunk," now generally known as

Shepherd's or West Hill pond. The northern shores

of this lake, which is a little more than a mile in

length, and a quarter of a mile in average width, lie

in the town of Barkhamsted. Its banks are bordered

with picnic groves, and it is a favorite fishing-resort

for parties from this town and elsewhere. The Green-

woods Company have recently put in a bulkhead at

the northern end of this lake, and raised the water

for a reserve to draw from when the Farmington River

and Otis pond reservoir are not sufficient for their

manufacturing necessities.

The Greenwoods pond, at the upper end of the

North village, one-half mile long and nearly one-

quarter of a mile wide, overflowing the lower portion

of what was formerly Mast Swamp, is an ornamental

sheet of water, much frequented by the angler and the

boating-club.

In the southeastern part of the town is a sulphur

spring, said to possess excellent medicinal qualities,

and visited every year by invalids, who drink the

water at the original fountain or carry it away in

bottles for future use.

The gorge at " Satan's Kingdom," referred to in a

former chapter, is one of the natural curiosities of the

place, where the scenery is wild and grand in the ex-

treme. The town, though curtailed in its original

geographical limits, has been of steady growth, and

has colonized two other towns. New Hartford, Oneida

Co., N. Y., was settled by Phineas and Solomon Kel-

logg, who emigrated thither with their families in
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1788-89. They were soon followed by others from

this town, and the new home was named for the

native place of its settlers.

Austinburg, Ohio, received its name from Eliphalet

Austin, of New Hartford, who removed there with

his numerous family in 1800. Ma:ny others from

New Hartford followed him to Austinburg, and were

among the influential citizens of the new town. From

1780 to 1820, New Hartford, like other towns in

Litchfield County, was retarded in its growth by the

emigration of its citizens to the more fertile lands of

New York and Ohio. The records of some of the

old families—Kellogg, Watson, Marsh, and Austin

—

are a continued history of emigration to these then

Western States.

In 1756 there were in New Hartford 260 white in-

habitants. In 1701 the population was 674. In 1774

it was 1001. In 1870 it had increased to 3078, and in

1880 to 3303. Of these, 1670 are residents of the

North village and 514 of Pine Meadow. The tax-

list of 1739, the first on record, rates the ta.xable

property and polls of the inhabitants at £1564 12s.

An extract from this list may be of interest

:

"Mattliew Gillet.

£ <.

1 head 18

2 oxeu 8
2 horses 6

3 swine 3
2 acres and a half of i)astur land 1

2 acres and a half of bush pastur 5

Total 36 5"

In 1799 the tax-list had increased to $44,334, and

in 1880 the amount of property in the town was

entered on the grand list as $1,042,976.

In 1809 there were only fourteen dwelling-liouses

in North village, two of which were taverns, and ten

in Pine Meadow, from tlic pine-tree to the " Kingdom"
bridge. On the east side of the river there was but

one house between the bridge and the Miles Richards

place. Matthew Gillet, Jr., had a house on the hill

where Carlos Holcomb now lives. Cottage Street was

a military parade-ground. In 1K()7 there was a regi-

mental training in Pine Meadow, when all the fences

were tjiken down from Carloton Seymour's present

residence to C. W. Oilman's farm. In 1776 there

were but two ox-carts in town, owned by Jonathan

and Ashbel Marsh. The son of the latter, of the

same name, relate.s that his fiither was offered twenty-

five acres of land lying on the north cro.ss-road on

Town Hill for his cart, which he refused. About the

year 1800 wagons were first brought into town ; for a

number of years there were but two of these, owned
l)y Capt. Wni. Cook and David Lusk, which were

rented far and near to the citizens for aconsiderati<m.

The first mention of a physician in New Hartford

is in the town records of 1766, when an " account for

doctoring" is allowed to Dr. KIdail Merrill. Dr.

Michael Merrill also practiced in town at some time

during the last century. The practicing physicians

in town since 1790 have been Drs. Thomas Brins-

made, Roswell and Andrew Abernethy, Adam Kas-

son, J. P. Root, Calvin Cook, Sylvester Willard, My-

ron Hubbard, Geo. B. Elliot, Jerry Burwell, John H.

Welch, and Thomas G. Hazen.

Dr. Burwell is still, and has been a practitioner in

town since 1847. Besides these gentlemen, who were

all regular practitioners of the old school, there have

practiced in New Hartford the following eclectic phy-

sicians : Drs. Sidney Newton, Belden, E. D. Curtis,

Theodore Brockway, Philip Chouinnard. The three

latter are now practitioners in town.

The first practicing attorney in New Hartford of

whom the writer has any knowledge was Uriel

Holmes, Esq., in 1786. Mr. Holmes remained in

town about eleven years, when he removed to Litch-

field, and Joshua Heushaw, Esq., succeeded to his

practice in 1797. Calvin Pease, Esq., was a lawyer

here in 1800. Roger Mills came to New Hartford

and commenced the practice of law in 1801. He died

in 1844. His partner was Wm. G. Williams, who

came in 1809 ; died 1837. Roger H. Mills was born

in town, and succeeded to his father's practice ; re-

moved to Beloit, Wis., in 1853. Jared B. Foster came

to town and commenced the jiractice of law in 1849.

Nathan Morse, who came in 1875, and John B. Betts,

a native of the town, are, with Judge Foster, the

present representatives of the legal profession.

The veteran soldiers and sailors resident in town

sustain an organization called the " New Hartford

Veteran Association," which takes charge of Decora-

tion-Day ceremonies and soldiers' reunions.

The Masonic order is represented in New Hartford

by the " Northern Stjir Lodge of Free and Accepted

Masons." There are also in town a " Temple of

Honor," a temperance organization, and St. Mary's

Total .Vbstincnce and Benevolent Sticiety, the purpose

of whicli is inilicated by ita name. For lists of Revo-

lutionary soldiers, soldiers who volunteered during

the Southern Rebellion, and representatives from New
Hartford, see below.

There are four j)ost-o(liccs in town,—New Hartfurd

(at North village), Pine Meadow, Ncpaug, and Haker-

ville. For many years after the settlement of the

town, bears, panthers, catamounts, wolves, and deer

were killeil within it.t bounds. The old records show

that fre<iuent rewanls were paid for the killing of

wolves, and fines imposed for killing deer contrary to

law.

The following is a list of those who marched from

New Hartforil for the relief of lioston in the Lexing-

ton alarm, April, 1775:

" iVvn'a y<ttn«f ami QtittWi/,

" CipUln. S<ilh Sndlh; IlKiilelialil, Aliiara Milln ; cnnUn, Thomaj ni<lwell

;

cl«rk, Aaron Aiintln ; HorKonnln, n«iijMi)lii Adaliw*. A'tior IlinDinn,

Iktnjanitn MMIm. VMjnU ('as**, Mi«t« shepani, Kenton Durnhnm; pri*

vatt^N, Sto|ilirii Itanii'ti, AnhlH't SiH^nciT. Kliiui It4>n)iNin./4<c)iarlah Wat.

on, I>«ihl ('.•rllle.Tlmolhjr llarnxs Jr., Jona» WcMi, Jcrljali Mrrrlll,

Pblunu Merrill, Klljah Merrill, Jrhlrl llvnhani, ('«lrb ritkin, Mi>-

M Kellngit, Khaklni Merrill, Jr., Abraham C'u«, Jr., Olilonu Mllla,

JaDim Androwa, William Caae rM\ K|>lirmlm Hllla, Ollrrr lliiinphrejr,

Jr^ Qeorgo Nortlmay, Daniel Uwyer, Solomon Humphrey, Jr., /.ao-
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'
1- Privates.

cheus Case, Isaac Tullpr, Jr., Theopliilus Humphrey, George Hum-

phrey, DiiDiel Hill, Jr., Joseph Shepanl, Jr., William Steele, Jr.,

"William Pease, Thomas Olcott, Jr., Asa Wilcox, Daniel Fisher, Lev-

erett Kellosg, Roderick Hopkins, John Gilbert, Daniel Muryh, Solo-

mon Merrill, Jo.siah Hurlburt, Eli Andruss, Jesse Payne, Joseph

Gilbert, Nathan Weltster, Roderick Steele, Cyprian Merrill. Asa

Gilbert, Joshua Klwell, James Austin, Jonathan King, Nathaniel

Collins, M'illiam Rexford, Ehenezer Crane, Thomas Goss, John Ives,

John Wilder, Gamaliel Wilder, Phineas Hates, Ephraim Wilder,

John Treat, Timothy Tiffany, Obed Crosby, Child Taylor, Nathan

Barr, Francis Gripwold, Samuel Mills, John Rockwell, David Pinney,

William Simon, Levi Hull, Charles Wright, Ehenezer Shepard.

"New Hartforp. inth Aug., 1775, certified.

"TlIOMAS BALDWINa,1

"Benj. Merrill, r Per Selectmen,

" Noah Kkllogg,

" Uriah Seymour, Lieutenant.

"Elijah Seymour, Corporal.

" Stephen Chubb,
]

"Eliphalet Austin,

" Gabriel Flowers,

" Isaac Steele, J

"£ 8. d.

" 4. 9. 3.

*' New Hartford, Aug. 29, 1775.

"This may certify that Uriah Seymour, with five men, and each ahorse,

marched in the Lexington Alarm its far as Tui-key Hills, Twenty miles

on their way to Boston, and were absent three days.* Certified.

" Seth Smith, ) Si'lf-clmen,

"Noah Kkllooo,^ Netr JIfil.

"Sept. G, 1775. Received an order in full of this account.

"Uhi\h Seymour."

REPRESENTATIVES TO THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY.

1776.—Capt. Mathew Gillett, Cai)t. Isaac Kellogg.

1777.—Capt. Aaron Austin, Col. Seth Smith.

1778.—Col. Seth Smith, Miij. Aaron Austin.

1779.—Col. Seth Smith, Maj. Aaron Austin, Capt. Mathew Gillett, Capt.

Noah Kellogg.

1780.—Capt. Mathew Gillett, Levi Watson, Maj. Aaron Austin.

1781.—Josiah Moore, Elijah Merrill, Col. Seth Smith, Col. Aaron Austin.

1782.—Capt. Mathew Gillett, Josiah Moore, Col. Aaron Austin.

1783.—Capt. Mathew Gillett, Amos Miller, Ehenezer Moody.

1784.—Amos Miller, Ebenezer Moody, Col. Aaron Austin, Josiah Moore.

1785.—Col. Aaron Austin, Capt. Thomas Bidwell.

1786.—Josiah Moore. John Henderson, Col. Seth Smith, Capt. James

Steele.

1787.—Josiah Moore, Col. Seth Smith.

1788-90.—Col. Aaron Austin, Josiah Moore.

1791.—Aaron Austin, Ebenezer Moody, John Henderson.

1792.—Aaron Austin, John Henderson, Uriel Holmes.

1793.—Aaron Austin, Uriel Holmes, Jr., Seth Spencer.

1794.—Aaron Austin, Seth Spencer, John Henderson.

1795-96.—Seth Spencer, John Henderson.

1797.—Jonathan Mai'sh, Jr., Ahram Kellogg, Jr., Seth Spencer.

1798.—Seth Spencer, Jonathan Marsh, John Henderson.

1799-1800.—Seth Spencer, John Henderson.

1801,—Seth Spencer, John Henderson, Chauncey Seymour.

1802.—Seth Spencer, John Henderson.

1803.—Seth Spencer, John Henderson, Riverius Bidwell.

1804.—Riverius Bidwell, John Hendeison, Jonathan Marsh.

1805.—Riveiius Bidwell, Jonathan Marsh.

1806.—Riverius Bidwell, Jonathan Marsh, Asa Cowles.

1807-9.—Jonathan Marsli, Asa Cowles.

1810.—Jonathan Marsh, Chauncey Seymour, Asa Goodwin, Joseph

Wells.

1811.—Asa Goodwin, Eliaa Kellogg, Plato King.

1812.—Asa Goodwin, Chauncey Seymour, James Lee.

* It is probable that these men were met by couriers who informed

them that tlie British had retreated, and the necessity for imme-

diate action had passed, and that most of them returned home after

three or four days' absence. The names indicate that Capt. Smith's

company had a few volunteers from adjoining towns,—\Vilder, Tiffany,

and Goss from Barkhanieted, possibly two or three from Farmington.

—

Ed.

1813.—Chauncey Seymour, James Lee, William Cook.

1814.—William Cook, Levi Watson.

1815.—William Cook, Levi Watson, Amasa Jerome.

1816.—William Cook, Thomas Lee.

1817.—Asa Goodwin, William Cook, Jonathan Marsh.

1818-20.—Aaron Austin, Asa Goodwin.f

1821.—Asa Goodwin, James Henderson.

1822.—Roger Mills, Asa Goodwin.

1823.—Asa Goodwin, James Henderson.

1824-25.—Asa Goodwin, Isaac Kellogg.

1826-27.—Absalom Wells, Jr., George C. Kellogg.

1828.—Absalom Wells, Norman Merrill.

1829.—John Spencer, Eli/.ur Curtiss.

1830.—John Spencer, Norman Merrill.

1831.—John Spencer, George C. Kellogg.

1832.—James D. Thorp, George C. Kellogg.

1833.—James D. Tliorp, Joseph Wells.

1834.—James D. Thorp, George C. Kellogg.

1835.—Norman Merrill, Henry Jones.

1836.—Richard B. Cuwles, Benadam Kasson.

1837.—Isaac Kellogg, Thomas Watson, Jr.

1838.—James Merrills, Harvey B. Elmore.

1839.—Roger H. Mills, James F. Henderson.

1840.—Samuel S. Bates, Abiram Wilcox.

1841.—Orrin Goodwin, Norman Kellogg.

1842.— Riverius Douglass, Freeman Graham.

1843.—Isaac Kellogg, Gordon Henderson.

1844.—Gordon Henderson, Sanford Brown.

1845.—Henry Jones, Norman Merrill.

1846.—Ira Merrill, Edward Gaines.

1847.—Roger H. Mills, Timothy G. Jerome.

1848.—Truman Curtiss, Maldin Marshall.

1849.—Samuel Hotchkiss, George B. Adams.

1850 —William S. Bates, Orrin Goodwin.

1851.—James Trowbridge, Gordon W. Henderson.

1852.—James Merrill, J. B. Foster.

1853.—Dr. Jerry Burwell, Edward Kellogg.

1854.—Roswell M.Seymour, Orrin Goodwin.

1855.—Joseph P. Root, Samuel Allen.

1856.—Fitch W. Burwell, S. D. Hurlbut.

1857.—James Trowbridge, Luman Catlin.

1858.—H. H. Stone, Roman M. Butler.

1859.—Hezekiah II. Stone, David S. Miller. .

I860.—David S. Miller, William Warner.

1861.—Fitch W. Burwell, Andrew Clark.

1862.—Hiram B. Kellogg, Andrew Clark.

1863.— Oliver P. Mills, Edmund Watson.

1864.—Wait Garrett, Richard Pratt.

1865.— Richard H. Wheeler, William Watson.

1866.—Edward Kellofrg, J. B. Foster.

1867.—William Steele, H. Curtis.

1868.—Edward M. Chapin, James F. Henderson.

1869.— S. K. Priest, Frederick Merrill.

1870.—Edward M. Chapin, S. N. Pettibone.

1871.—Norman B. Merrill, James H. Ryder.

1872.—Chester W. Gillman, Norman B. Merrill.

1873.—Jason C. Keach, Warren N. Jones.

1874.—Charles W. Nash, Chester H. Barber.

1875.—William E. Thompson, Stephen H. Mason.

1876.—Carleton Seymour, W. H. Henderson.

1877.—Shubael M. Henderaon, O. S. Thompson.

1878.—John Richards, Orvis Griggs.

1879.— 0. L. Thompson, Elijah C. Spencer.

1880.—Geo. W. Smith, Frankhn Watson.

1881.—John F. Smith, George F. Douglass.

NEW HARTFORD VOLUNTEERS.

Loomis, Benjamin G., drum-major, 2d Begt.; enl. May 7, 1861; after-

wards in 13th Begt.

Cruess, John, Co. D, 2d Regt. ; enl. May 7, 1861 ; also Co. F, 2d Heavy Art.

Dowd, Marshall W., Co. D, 2d Regt. ; enl. May 7, 1861.

Kellogg, Abram G., captain, Co. B, 2d Regt. ; com. May 7, 1861 ; captured

June 21.

t After the adoption of the constitution, in 1818, the regular October

session was discontinned.
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Morae, Charles W., fii-st lieiiteoant, Co. B, 2d Regt. ; com. May 7, 1S61

;

pro. to captain IGtli Regt.

Warren, Charles, second lieutenant, Co. B, 2d Regt.; com. May 7, 1861.

Goodwin, Frank, musician, Co. B, ^d Regt. ; enl. May 7, 18G1.

Alford, Joseph W., Co. B, 2d Regt. ; enl. May 7, 1861.

Bailey, Frank, Co. B, 2d Regt.; enl. May 7, 1861.

Birney, Robert, Co. B, 2d Regt.; enl. May 7, 1861.

Burnside, Robert H., Co. B, 2d Regt. ; enl. May 7, 1861 ;
pro. to second

lieutenant 8th Regt.

Cone, William H., Co. B, 2d Regt.; enl. May 7, 1861 ; also 8th and 16th

Regts.

Gerald, Guy C, Co. B, 2d Regt.; enl. May 7, 1801.

Glasson, Frederick, Co. B, 2d Regt. ; enl. May 7, 1861.

Graham, Thomas H., Co. B, 2d Regt. ; enl. May 7, 1861.

McCahe, Luke, Co. B, 2d Regt. ; enl. May 7, 1861 ; also 13th Regt.

Morrison, Joseph F., Co. B, 2d Regt. ; enl. May 7, 1861.

Mygatt, Henry N., Co. B, 2d Regt.; enl. May 7, 1861.

Perry, Joseph S., Co. B, 2d Regt.; enl. May 7, 1861.

Robinson, George W., Co. B, 2d Regt. ; enl. May 7, 1861 ; also 8th Regt.

Smith, William C, Co. B, 2d Eegt.; enl. May 7, 1861.

Strong, William H., Co. B, 2d Regt.; enl. May 7, 1861.

Gragen, Conrade Co. B, 3d Regt.

Wright, John E., Co. E, 3d Regt.

Hemmingway, Howard, Co. A, 1st Cav. ; enl. Aug. 9. 1861.

White, George W,, Co. A, 1st Cav.; enl. Aug. 12, 1861.

Jones, Leroy W., Co. B, 1st Cav.; enl. Aug. 19, 1801.

Brown, Nelson, Co. B, 1st Cav. ; enl. Aug. 21, 1861 ; re-enl. in a New York
company, Jan. 1, 1864.

Moses, William A,, Co. C, 1st Cav.; enl. Nov. 14, 1861.

Campbell, Ale.xander, Co. B, 1st Cav.; enl. Oct. 1, 1804.

Gilbert, Wilbur F., Co. G, 1st Cav.; enl. Sept. 20, 1864; killed at Cedar

Creek, Va., Nov. 12, 1804.

Brown, John, 1st Cav. ; enl. Nov. 23, 1864 ; not taken up on rolls.

Cook, James, 1st Cav.; eul. Nov. 22, 1864; not taken up on rolls.

Davis, John, Ist Cav. ; enl. Nov. 2J, 1864 ; not taken up on rolls.

Dickinson, John, Ist Cav.; enl. Nov. 26, 1864; not taken up on rolls.

Foley, Francis, 1st Cav.; enl. Nov. 28, 1864; not taken up on rolls,

Forrest, John, Ist Cav.; enl. Nov. 28, 1864 ; not taken up on rolls.

Graham, William, 1st Cav. ; enl. Nov. 28, 1864 ; not taken up on rolls.

King, John, Ist Cav. ; eul. Nov. 26, 1864 ; not taken up on rolls.

Murray, James, 1st Cav.; enl. Nov. 19, 1864; not taken up on rolls.

Miller, John, 1st Cav. ; enl. Nov. 23, 1864 ; not taken up on rolls.

McCann, William, 1st Cav. ; enl. Nov. 28, 1864 ; not taken up on rolls.

O'Brien, John, Ist Cav.; enl. Nov. 22, 1864; not taken up on rolls.

Olliver, Charles, 1st Cav. ; enl. Dec. 8, 1864 ; not taken ui) on rolls.

Ryan, Charles, 1st Cav.; enl. Nov. 28, 1S04 ; not taken up on rolls.

Tweed, Samuel, 1st Cav. ; eul. Dec. 8, 1864 ; not taken up on rolls.

Wilson, William, 1st Cav.; enl. Nov. 19, 1804 ; not taken up on rolls.

Roberts, John, 3d Independent Bat. ; enl. Sept. 16, 1864 ; must, out June

23, 186.i.

Goodwin, Jiw.W., musician, 1st Heavy Art. ; eul. July 22, 1861; must. out.

Hart, Leonard, nuisician, 1st Heavy Art. ; enl. July 22, 1861.

Martin, Jiidah S., musician, 1st Heavy Art. ; enl. July 22, 1861.

Osborn, Burton S., musician, 1st Heavy Art.; enl. July 22, 1861.

Dean, Lewis, Co. A, 1st Heavy Art.; enl. Dec. 0, 1863.

Gorman, John, Co. A, Ist Heavy Art. ; enl. Sept. 6, 1864; dnifte<l.

Fanning, Lucius M., musician, Co. B, Ist Heavy Art.; enl. May 22, 1861.

O'Brian, Patrick, Co. 11, Ist Heavy Art.; enl. May 22, 1861.

Tuttle, Karl, Co. B, 1st Heavy Art. ; enl. May 22, 1861.

Tyler, John, Co. B, lat Heavy Art.; enl. May 22, 1801.

Thayer, Nathan I',, Co. U, 1st Heavy Art.; enl. May 22, 18«l.

Koyco, Peter, Co. C, 1st Heavy An.; enl. Oct. 4, 1864.

Eggleston, Philander, Co. E, 1st Heavy Art.; enl. May 23, 1861; tlao Co.

F, 2d Heavy Art.

Barrett, George, Co. H, 1st Heavy Art.; enl. May 22, 1861.

Lynch, Patrick H., Co. K, lat Heavy Art.; enl. May 23,1861; pro. to

second lieutenant U. 8. C. T.

Bollln, Thomas H., Co. K, Ist Heavy Art.; enl. May 23, 1861.

Andrews, Leroy, Co. L, 1st Heavy Art.; enl. Nov. 18, 1863.

Holcomb, Beni^ab E., Oi. L, 1st Heavy Art.; enl. Nov. 18, 1863.

Carter, Chas., Co. A, 2d Art.; enl. Doc. 22, 1863; wounded June 1, 1864.

McDonough, Juhu, Co. E, 2d Art.; eul. Dec. 14, 1863; killed In action

Oct. 19, 1804.

Jones, Edward W., Co. F, 2d Art. ; enl. Aug. 7, 1862 ;
pro. to mi^or and

brevet lieuteuant-coluuet.

Alford, Warren, Co. F, 2d Art. ; enl. Aug. 13, 1862; pro. to flnt litutan-

ant; wounded June 1, 1804.

Seymour, Carleton, Co. F, 2d Art.; enl. Aug. 7, 1862; pro. to firet lieu-

tenant U.S. C. T.

Wheeler, John E., Co. F, 2d Art.; enl. Aug. 8, 1862; pro. to first lieu-

teuant; wounded Sept. 19, 1864.

Benham, Roswell G., Co. F, 2d Art. ; enl. Aug. 9, 1862.

Rust, Norman M., Co. F, 2d Art. ; enl. Aug. 13, 1862; V. S. C. T.

Merrill, John L., Co. F, 2d Art. ; enl. Aug. 16, 1862.

Baker, C. Abernathy, Co. F, 2d Art.; enl. Aug. 19, 1862.

Bancroft, Elisha L., Co. F, 2d Art.; enl. Aug. 8, 1862.

Barrett, Augustus E., Co. F, 2d .\rt. ; enl. Aug. 13, 1302 ; died Deo. 30,

1862, near Alexandria.

Beckwith, Albert, Co. F, 2d Art.; enl. Aug. 12, 1862; died Jan. 1,1863,

near Alexandria.

Benham, Hopkins J., Co. F, 2d Art. ; enl. Aug. 9, 1862.

Butler, Henry C, Co. F, 2d Art. ; enl. Aug. 9, 1862.

Colt, William H., Co. F, 2d Art. ; enl. Aug. 8, 1802 ; killed near Peters-

burg, Va., June 22, 1804.

Dowd, Alfred M., Co. F, 2d Art. ; enl. Aug. 13, 1862.

Eggleston. Horatio G., Co. F, 2d Art.; enl. Aug. 7, 1862; died March 7,

1864, at Fort Ellsworth, Va.

Fairchild, George L.. Co. F, 2d Art.; enl. Aug. 9, 1862.

Henderson, AIgern..n 0., Co. F, 2rl Art.; enl. Aug. 12. 1802.

Henderson. William C, Co. F, 2d Art.; eul. Aug. 13, 1802; died May 4,

1863, at Fort Worth, Va.

Jones, Ini D , Co. F, 2d Art.; eul. Aug. 15, 1S62; wounded; disch. June

4,1865.

Marsh, .loseph M., Co. F, 2d Art. ; enl. Aug. 7, 1862.

McManns, Joseph, Co. F, 2d Art.: eul. Aug. 19, 1802.

Memll, Henry C, Co. F, 2d Art.; enl. Aug. 13, 1862.

Munger, Moriis E., Co. F, 2d Art.; enl. Aug. s, 1862 ; wounded Oct. 19,

18«.

Ryan, Patrick, Co. F, 2d Art. ; eul. Aug. 20, 1862.

Tucker, Ephraim, Co. F, 2d Art.; enl. Aug. 7, 1862; wounded Sept. 19,

1864.

Tucker, Harvey, Co. F, 2d Art.; enl. Aug. 7, 1862.

Turner, Jesse, Co. F, 2d Art.; enl. Aug. 8, 1862; wounded Oct. 19, 186*.

Warren, George W., Co. F, 2d Art. ; enl. Aug. 7, 1862.

Weeks, John C, Co. F, 2d Art. ; enl. Aug. 7, 1862.

Bclden, Stanton S., Co. F, 2d Art. ; enl. Dec. 22, 1863.

Cruess, John, Co. F, 2d Art.; enl. Dec. 22, 186;!.

Case, Dwight, Co. F, 2d Art.; enl. Dec. 1.1, 1863; wounded Oct 19, 1864.

Cleveland, John R. M., Co. F, 2d Art.; eul. Jan. 6, 1804; dlach. for dla-

ability Feb. 8, 1864.

Eggleston, Philamler, Co. F, 2<l Art. ; «d1. J«d. i, 1864 ; disd Sept. 10, 1864,

Blackwell's Islan<l.

Kelley, Timothy F.. Oo. F, 2d Art. ; enl. Dec. 23, 1S63 ; wouDded Sept 19,

1864.

Kelley, John, Co. F. 2d Art.; onl. Jan. B, 1804.

Mitchell, Oscar M., Co. F, 2d Art. ; enl. Doc. 2, 1863.

McNary, George F., Co. F, 2d Art. ; enl. Doc. 28, 1863.

McMahon, Thomas, Co. F, 2d Art. ; enl. Jan. 6, 1864.

McMahon, Michael (lit), Co. F, 2d Art ; enl. Jan. 5, 1864; wounded Aug.

2,1864.

Buat, Roliert H., Co. F, 2d Art. ; enl. Dec. 28, 1863.

Wilcox, Martin, Co. F, 2d Art.; enl. Dec. 28,1863.

Cook, Aildison, Co. I, 2d Art. ; enl. Dec. 20, 1863 ; killed In action Oct 19,

1864, near Stnuburg.

Kregan, Bernard C, Co. K, 2<1 Art; enl. Aug. 9, 1862; wounded June 1,

18M.

Cliapln, Philip E., com. flrat lleuteuant Co. I,, 2il Art. ; enl. March 5, 1864

Lyont, Thomas, 2d Art.; enl. Nor. 19, I8IH; not taken upon rolls.

Lane, David F., com. captain, Co. D, ftth Regt ; enl. July 22, 1861 ; pro. lo

nii^Jur; wounded Aug. 7, 1K62.

Grahnin, Thomas, Co. 1, &tli Regt. ; enl. July 22, 1801 ; wounded ; dlach.

for disability Sept. 8, 1864.

McMahon, Michael, Vo. I, Sth Regt. ; enl. July 22, 1861.

Woutlull, KilwanI, Co. K, 5lli Regt ; enl. July 22, 1861 ; tr*na. (o Veteran

Reserve Cor|>s Jalt. 2, 1804.

Oltrum, WnianI, CV>. D, 7lh BegL; enl. Oct 30, 1863; died at St Helen*

8. C, Oct. 2K, 1864.

Stodard, Albert H., Co. F, 7th Regt. ; enl. Sept 9, 1861.

Nicole, Charlee, Co. F. 7th Regt. ; enl. Nor. 3, 1863 ; truu. lo U. S. navy

April 24, 1864.

Hnrah, Wolcott P., aeoond lieutananl, Oo. A, Sth Begt ; enl. Sept. 15, 1861

;

pr^>. to captain Oo. P.

Pyrom, Frederick, Co. A, Sib Regt ; enl. Aug. IS, 1864 ; caplarwl Sept

18,1804.
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Birney, William, Co. B, 8th Begt.; enl. Feb. 2, 1864; died at Fort Mon-

roe, Feb. 25, 1864.

Nash, Charles W., captain, Co. C, 8th Eegt.; enl. Sept. 26, 1861.

Glasson, Samuel, Co. C, 8th Regt.; enl. Sept. 2.% 1861 ;
pro. to captain.

Burnside, Robert, second lieutenant, Co. C, 8th Regt.; enl. Sept. 25, 1861.

Jones, Henry E., first sergeant, Co. C, 8tli Eegt. ; enl. Sept. 25,1861; pro.

to second lieutenant; wounded at Autietam; captain Veteian Re-

serve Corps and U. S. army.

Strickland, Henry E., Co. C, 8tli Eegt. ; enl. Sept. 26, 1861 ; killed at Au-

tietam.

Cone, William H., Co. C, 8tb Eegt. ; enl. Sept. 25, 1861 ;
pro. to second

lieutenant.

Bust, Cyprian H., sergeant, Co. C, 8th Eegt. ; enl. Sept. 26, 1861 ; killed

at Autietam.

Seber, Frederick, Co. C, 8tb Eegt. ; enl. Sept. 25, 1861.

Andrews, Charles F., Co. C, 8tli Regt.; eul. Sept. 25, 1861; pro. to first

lieutenant.

Buch, Seba, Co. C, 8th Regt.; enl. Sept. 25, 1861 ; wounded.

Clapp, George W., Co. C, 8th Eegt.; enl. Sept. 25, 1861.

Elmore E. Harvey, sergeant, Co. C, 8th Eegt.; eul. Sept. 25, 1861 ; killed

at Autietam.

Jones, Julius C, Co. C, 8tli Eegt.; enl. Sept. 25, 1861.

Brockway, Theodore, Co. C, Stli Regt.; eul. Sept. 25, 1861.

Bancroft, George C, Co. C, 8th Eegt. ; enl. Sept. 25, 1861.

Baker, Albert H., Co. C, 8th Eegt. ; eul. Oct. 5, 1861 ; died May 21, 1862.

Birney, James, Co. C, 8th Eegt.; enl. Sept. 25, 1861; trans, to Veteran

Eeserve Corps.

Bulkloy, John, Co. 0, 8th Eegt. ; enl. Sept. 25, 1861; died at Hatteras

Jan. 31, 1862.

Burns, Patrick, Co. C, 8th Regt. ; enl. Sept. 25, 1861 ; wounded at Au-

tietam.

Caghans, Wni., Co. C, 8tli Eegt.; enl. Oct. 7,1861 ; woundnd at Antietam,

Case, Dwight, Co. C, 8th Regt. ; enl. Sept. 26, 1861.

Carpenter, Edward D., Co. C, 8tli Eegt.; enl. Sept. 26, 1861; died of

wounds Oct. 1864.

Castle, Wilburn, Co. C, 8th Regt.; eul. Oct. 5, 1861.

Clark, Henry, Co. C, 8th Eegt. ; eul. Sept 25, 1861 ; wounded May 24, 1864.

Clark, Thomas C, Co. C, 8th Regt. ; eul. Sept. 25, 1861 ; died at Hatteriis

Jan. 28, 1862.

Cooley, Samuel M,, Co. C, Sth Eegt.; enl. Sept. 25, 1861.

Cooley, Zadoc F., Co. C, Sth Regt.; enl. Sept. 25, 1861.

FoBtei-, John, Co. C, 8tii Regt.; enl. Sept. 25, 1861 ; trans, to Signal Corps,

U. S. A.

Hackney, Ebenezer, Co. C, Sth Regt. ; enl. Sept. 26, 1861.

Hackney, Joseph, Co. C, 8th Regt.; enl. Sept. 25, 1861.

Hart, Samuel B , Co. C, Sih Regt. ; enl. Oct. 1, 1861.

Hodge, Chauucey, Co. C, 8tli Eegt.; enl. Sept. 25, 1861 ; died at Newborn,

N. C, March 29, 1862.

Holcomb, Hubert F., Co. C, Sth Eegt; enl. Sept. 25, 1861.

Kenney, Patrick, Co. C, 8tli Eegt. ; enl. Sept. .;5, 1861 ; wounded at An-

tietam.

Knight, William H., Co. C, Sth Eegt. ; enl. Sept. 25, 1861 ; killed at An-

tietam.

McWilliams, Henry, Co. C, Sth Eegt.; enl. Sept. 25, 1861 ; rejected.

Nighting, John, Co. C, Sth Eegt.; eul. Oct. 7, 1861; killed at Autietam.

Eemington, Napoleon B., Co. C, 8tb Regt.; enl. Sept. 25, 1861; wounded

at Autietam.

Eice, Robert, Co. C, 8th Regt. ; enl. Sept. 25, 1861 ; wounded at Freder-

icksburg; died Dec. 11, 18G2.

Randall, Henry, Co. C, 8tb Eegt. ; enl. Sept. 25, 1861 ; wounded.

Robinson, George W., Co. C, Sth Eegt.; enl. Sept. 26, 1861 ; killed at An-

tietam.

Boot, Orlow, Co. C, 8tb Eegt. ; enl. Sept. 25, 1861.

Seymour, Albert A., Co. C, Sth Kegt.; enl. Sept. 25, 1861; pro. to first

lieutenant.

Skinner, Charles A., Co. C, Sth Kegt.; enl. Sept. 25, 1861 j died July 17,

1864.

Smith, William A., Co. C, Sth Regt.; enl. Sept. 25, 1861; wounded.

Spellman, James, Co. C, Sth Regt.; enl. Sept. 25, 1861; wounded at An-

tietam.

Taylor, Jonas, Co. C, Sth Eegt. ; enl. Sept. 25, 1861,

Wentworth, Jonas, Co. C, Sth Eegt. ; enl. Sept. 25, 1861.

Dougherty, John, Co. E, Sth Eegt.; enl. July 14, 1864; died at Bermuda

Hundred, Aug. 2, 1864.

Duffy, Edward, Co. I, 9th Eegt.; enl. Oct. 16, 1861.

Roberts, John F., Co. I, 9th Eegt.; enl. Oct. 30, 1861 ; died at Carrolton,

La.,Sept. 29, 1862.

Smith, John, Co. I, 9th Eegt.; enl. Oct. 16, 1861 ; died at New Orleans,

La., Sept. 7, 1862.

McLaughlin, John, 9th Regt.; eul. Nov. 26, 1864; not taken up on rolls.

Stephenson, James, Co. E, 10th Eegt.; enl. Sept. 30, 1861.

Hicox, John H., Co. E, 10th Regt. ; enl. Nov. 20, 1863.

Smith, Henry, Co. E, 10th Regt. ; enl. Nov. 22, 1864.

Cleveland, James J., Co. K, loth Regt.; enl. Oct. 16, 1861; wounded.

Edwards, Eaton, Co. K, lOth Regt.; enl. Oct. 16, 1861; wounded.

Jones, Thomas, loth Regt. ; eul. Nov. 22, 1864.

Coe, Francis E., Co. D, 11th Regt.; enl. Nov. 12, 1861.

Forbes, James, Co. A, 12th Regl.; eul. Nov. 23, 1861.

Hackney, George, Co. F, 12th Regt.; enl. Nov. 19, 1861.

Green, William F., Co. F, 12th Eegt.; enl. Nov. 26, 1861.

Gray, William D., Co. F, 12th Eegt. ; enl. Dec. 2, 1861 ; died July 28, 1863,

at New Orleans, La.

Sullivan, Hugh, Co. I, 12tb Begt. ; enl. Dec. 12, 1861.

Smith, Jas. T., Co. C, 13th Regt. ; enl. Jan. 7, 1862 ; trans, to 1st La. Eegt.

Mooney, John, Co. C, 13th Eegt.; eul. Sept. 23, 1864.

Owen, Lester E., sergeant, Co. D, 13th Eegt. ; enl. Jan. 22, 1862.

Strong, William II., sergeant, Co. D, 13th Regt.; enh Jan. 7,1862.

Looniis, Benjamin G., musician, Co. D, 13th Regt.; enl. Dec. 22, 1862

;

trans, to 1st La. Regt.

Barber, Henry M., Co. D, 13th Regt.; eul. Feb. 1, 1862.

Bragg, William B., Co. D, 13th Regt. ; enl. Dec. 30, 1861.

Donnivan, James, Co. D, 13th Regt. ; enl. Dec. 22, 1861.

French, Eidiraim L , Co. D, I3tli Regt.; enl. Dec. 30, 1861.

Gilmore, William, Co. D, 1.3th Regt.; enl. Dec. 22, 1861; died July 6,

1863, at New Orleans, La.

Geer, James, Co. D, 13th Regt. ; enl. Dec. 17, 1861

.

Hopkins, Roswell E., Co. D., 13th Regt.; enl. Jan. 7, 1862; killed June

14, 1863, at Port Hudson, La.

Kibbee, Setli M., Co. D, 13th Regt. ; enl. Dec. 22, 1861.

Martin, Frank, Co. D, 13tli Kegt.; enl. Dec. 22, 1861.

McCabe, Luke, Co. D, 13th Regt.; enl. Jan. 22, 1862.

McManus, Edward, Co. D, 13th Regt; enl. Dec. 22,1861; killed June 14,

1863, at Port Hudson, La.

Quinn, Mathew, Co. D, 13tb Eegt. ; enl. Dec. 22, 1861.

Root, Watsou R., C:o D, 13tli Regt; enl. Dec. 22, 1861.

Tyler, Martin W., Co. D, 13th Regt. ; enl. Jan. 28, 1862.

Welch, Patrick, Co. D, 13th Regt. ; enl. Dec. 30, 1861 ; died March 7, 1862.

Weldon, Edward J., Co. D, 13tli Eegt. ; enl. Feb. 5, 1862.

Wilcox, George D., Co. D, lath Kegt. ; enl. Dec. 22, 1861.

Welch, Jobn, Co. D, 13tb Eegt; enl. Feb. 10, 1862.

Beaton, Charles H., Co. E, 13th Begt.; enl. Dec. 22, 1861; pro. to second

lieutenant.

Beatou, Norman W., Co. E, 13th Regt. ; enl. Dec. 22, 1861.

McMaun, Mark, Co. E, 13th Regt. ; enl. Dec. 22, 1861 ; wounded April 23,

1864.

Mabome. Jobn, Co. E, 13th Regt; enl. Dec. 22, 1861.

Bailey, Manin, Co. F, 13th Eegt ; enl. Jan. 7, 1862.

Begley, Patrick, Co G, 13th Regt. ; enl. Dec. 22, 1861 ; musician.

Horan, Mathew, Co. G, 13th Eegt. ; enl. Dec. 22, 1861.

McGrath, Walter, Co. G. 13th Eegt.; enl. Dec. 22, 1861.

Moore, Daniel, Co. G. I3tb Eegt. ; enl. Dec. 22, 1861.

Lymau, Merritt, Co. H, 13th Kegt.; enl Sept. 23,1864; died July 20,

1865, at Savannah.

Brown, Eoland C, Co. K, 13th Eegt; eul. Sept 23, 1864.

Barber, Elam, Co. K, 13th Eegt. ; enl Sept. 23, 1864.

Hayes, William R., Co. K, 13th Eegt; enl. Sept. 23, 1864.

Pawlik, Andrew, Co. K, 13th Eegt.; enl. Sept 24, 1864.

Case, Orville J., Co. A, 16th Regt. ; enl. Aug. 7, 1862 ; died Oct. 22, 1862,

near Antietam, Md.

Hook, John B., Ck). A, 16th Regt;

White. John J,, Co. A, lOtli Eeg

at Baltimore, Bid.

Clark, John, Co. B, 16th Regt. ; enl. July 17, 1862.

Glasson, Theodore, Co. B, 16th Eegt.; enl. July 17, 1862.

Goodwin, Frank, Co. E, 16th Regt. ; enl. July 18, 1862
;
died May 25, 1863,

at Newark, N. J.

Beatty, John, Co. E. 16th Regt; enl. July 24, 1862; died July 20, 1864,at

Andersonville, Ga.

Cowan, William, Co. E, 16th Kegt ; enl. July 19, 1862 ; died Oct. 22, 1862,

of wounds received at Antietam.

Hull, Martin, Co. E, 16th Regt; enl. July 25, 1862; died Aug. 27, 1864,

at Andersonville, Ga.

Bailey, Frank, Co. E, 16th Regt.; enl. Feb. 22, 1864; died Sept. 2, 1864, at

Andersonville, Ga.

enl. Aug. 8, 1862.

enl. July 14, 1862; died Feb. 13, 1863,
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Perry, Joseph S., Co. 1, 10th Regt.; enl. Aug. 18, 1S62.

Fanning, Grove, Co. I, 10th Hegt.; enl. July IS, 1862.

Clark, Gustavus, 17th Regt. ; enl. Nov. 19, 1864.

Johnson, William H. H., Co. C, 20th Regt.; enl. Aug. 21, 1862; pro. to

second lieutenant.

Colton, Henry C, Co. A, 29th Regt. ; enl. Dec. 2, 1863.

Smith, George, Co. C, 29th Regt.; enl. Nov. 26, 1863.

Adams, Henry E., Co. P, 29th Kegt. ; enl. Dec. 24, 1803 ; died June 9,

1864, at Beaufort, S. C.

Adams, James B., Co. F, 29th Regt. ; enl. Dec. 24, 1863.

Rogers, William H., Co. F, 29th Regt.; enl. Dec. 19, 1863; died Aug. 20,

1804, on James River, Va.

Percy, William, Co. G, 29th Regt. ; enl. Dec. 26, 1803.

NATIVES OF NEW HARTFORD NOT ACCREDITED.

Charles M. Jones, ensign, U. S. navy.

Hubert S. Brown, captain, and assistant adjutant-general.

Hiram C. Cook, Co. D, 2d Iowa Regt. ; died in service, March 2-5, 1862.

Andrew M. Driggs, Tlst N. Y. Regt.

Isaac Newton Steele, Co. G, 1st Illinois Cav. ; died at Nashville, Tenn.

[The article contributed by Mrs. Jones ends here.]

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES.

Aaron Fox, of that place. She is now in her seven-

tieth year, has raised a family of seven children, five

of whom are now living, and is a lady of rare excel-

lence and personal worth.

Mr. Smith was a man of fixed principles and marked
character. All the public local enterprises of his

day have felt the influence of his capital and the

;
benefit of his advice. His employees were his wards,

and in devising plans to get through the "dry times"

and the "dull times," their best interests were taken

into account. He was charitable to the poor, and

foremost in all enterprises that looked to the improve-

ment of the village.

JOHN COTTON SMITH.

John Cotton Smith, one of the prominent business

men and manufacturers of New Hartford, was born at

East Haddam, Conn., March 12, 1810. Was of a

family of fourteen children,—seven sons and seven

daughters. All of the sons and six of the daughters

lived to adult age. His father being a cotton manu-
facturer, John C. was trained to the same business.

In early manhood he left his native place to reside at

Housatonic, in Great Harrington, Mass., where he en-

gaged in the manufacture of cotton goods. From this

place, in the spring of 1841, he removed to New Hart-

ford, entering into partnership with Maj. Brown, who
was proprietor of a small cotton-factory.

In less than a year this structure was destroyed by

fire, robbing Mr. Smith of nearly all his earnings ; but

by dint of self-reliance and courage he set out anew
with a brother at Pine Meadow, where they estab-

lished a prosperous business.

In 1845, Mr. Smith conceived the plan of organiz-

ing a large manufacturing company and erecting spa-

cious buildings on the site owned by him and Maj.

Brown at the North village. Capitalists of New York
and Hartford, at his solicitation, incorporated them-

selves into the "Greenwoods Manufacturing Com-
pany," with a capital of two hundred and eight

thousand dollars, making him their agent. He man-
aged the affairs of the company with signal ability

and unswerving integrity. On one occa-sion the di-

rectors manifested their appreciation of his services

by presenting him a thousand-dollar silver set. Sub-

sequently they elected him president of the company,

and re-elected him agent on a salary of five thousand

dollars a year. Tiiis position Mr. Smith occupied to

the day of his death, which occurred Jan. 7, 1870.

He was married at East Huddum, Nov. 11, 1832, to

Ellen C. Fox, youngest of nine children of Capt.

HON. HENRY JONES.

The subject of this sketch was born in Barkhamsted

on the 24th of May, 1800. He was the second child

of Col. Israel Jones, of Barkhamsted, and his second

wife, Lois Wadsworth, of Farmington. On both sides

his lineage was of pioneer Puritan stock. His grand-

father, Capt. Israel Jones, came from Enfield to Bark-

hamsted in 1759, and was the second white man to

make permanent settlement in that town. He was

the son of Thomas Jones, whose father, Benjamin

Jones, went from Enfield to Somers in 1706, and was

the first settler of that town.

His mother was the daughter of Hezekiah Wads-
worth, Esq., of Farmington, a descendant of William

Wadsworth and Timothy Stanley, who were among
the first English settlers and land-holders of Hartford.

William Wadsworth had two sons,—John and Joseph.

John, the grandfather of Hezekiah, settled in Farm-

ington. He was a member of what is now the senate

when his brother, the daring Capt. Josepii, secreted

the charter of Connecticut in the historic oak.

Col. Israel Jones was eighteen times elected repre-

sentative to t"lie General .\ssembly. He was also

town clerk and justice of the peace for a series of

years, and for several years lieutenant-colonel com-

mandant of the Twcnty-fiflli Regiment Connecticut

Militia. He died Sept. 1, 1812, at the family home-

stead in Barkhamsted, which is still stan<ling, and lo-

cated very near the geographical centre of the town.

His wife kept the family together for a year, until her

death in 1813, when the children, Milo, Henry, Israel,

Louisa, and Edward, found homes in Farmington

among their mother's relatives.

It was necessary that Henry should earn his own
livelihood, and after attending school a few terms he

was apprenticed by his guardian, Mr. Thomas Youngs,

to a jeweler in Farmington. That trade being dis-

tiisteful to him the indentures were canceled, and he

was apprenticed to a tinner in the same town, with

whom he remained until nearly of age, when, with

money earned by working over-hours, he purchased

his time and started out for himself. At first he en-

gagcfl in business, tinning and mercantile, at Cole-

brook River, but not liking that locality, after about
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a year he removed to New Hartford, where he estab-

lished himself in business in 1821. Jan. 2."), 1826, he

married Catherine, the oldest child of Roger Mills,

Esq., a lawyer who came to New Hartford from his

native town of Norfolk in 1800. Mrs. Jones' mother

was the daughter of Capt. Phineas Merrill, son of

Joseph Merrill, a pioneer settler of New Hartford.

Mr. Jones and his wife Catherine had five children,

—

Charles Mills, Ann Eliza, Henry and Harriet Louisa

(who died in infancy), and Henry Roger. The eldest

son, Charles, for many years followed the sea. He served

as ensign in the navy during the Southern Rebellion,

and is now in the postal service of the government in

New York City. Ann Eliza married Mr. James B.

Crowe, who was a merchant both in New Hartford

and Hartford. Mr. Crowe died in 1864, and his widow

and daughter now reside in New Hartford. Henry

E. left the study of law in 1861 to enlist in the vol-

unteer army ; he was promoted through the various

grades to the rank of captain. In 1866 he was ap-

pointed in the reguhir army, and is now an officer on

the retired list for wounds received in battle. His

residence is New Hartford, where he holds the offices

of justice of the peace and judge of the Probate Court

of that district.

From the time of Mr. Jones' first arrival in New
Hartford he was a prominent figure in the business

interests of the town. As sole proprietor of a large

tinning business, he sent out peddlers to the West and

South. As a buyer and seller of real estate scarcely

a name is more frequently to be found upon the land

records of the town. He was for a number of years,

in addition to his other interests, one of the mercantile

firm of Brown, Jones & Elmore, whose place of busi-

ness was in the store now occupied by Woodruff &
Betts, near the corner leading from Main Street to the

Congregational church. In the autumn of 1840 he

organized in New Hartford a clock manufactory, in a

shop owned by him on the south bank of Spruce

Brook, in the lower end of the village. This con-

cern—Jones & Frisbie—employed a large number of

hands, carried on a prosperous business, but owing to

heavy losses at the South, after a career of nearly five

years, was discontinued. In 1841 he purchased a farm

of thirty acres on the east side of the river. This

farm, in addition to a large tract on the north side of

Bare-spot Mountain, in sight of the village, and other

tracts, he continued to cultivate until his death, and

whenever called upon to state his occupation gave it

as that of a farmer.

In 1829 he purchased the house and lot just above

the hill in the south end of the North village, nearly

•pposite the house which his son, Capt. Henry R. Jones,

built in 1874 and now occupies. Here he continued

to dwell until 1853, when he purchased of his brother-

in-law, Hon. Roger H. Mills, the Mills homestead,

immediately north of Capt. Jones' residence. Into

this larger house he removed with his family, where

he resided until his death

April 4, 1837, an overwhelming loss befell him,—the

death of Catherine, the wife of his youth, leaving to

his care three young children, one an infant eleven

days old.

Feb. 5, 1839, he was married to Aurelia, daughter

of William G. Williams, Esq., a lawyer, and partner

of the father of his former wife. Esquire Williams

was grandson of Col. Thomas Williams, a distin-

guished officer of the Revolution, and grandnephew

of Col. Ephraim Williams, founder of Williams Col-

lege. By his second wife Mr. Jones had two sons,

—

Edward Wadsworth and Frank Williams. The former

served as major of the Second Connecticut Heavy
Artillery, and brevetted lieutenant-colonel during the

war of the Rebellion, and is now engaged in mining

operations in Idaho. The latter is superintendent of

the Telephone Company of Brazil, and resides at Eio

de Janeiro.

Although a successful mechanic, manufacturer, mer-

chant, and farmer, Mr. Jones was chiefly known among
his fellow-men as a public officer. From the year

1822, when he was first admitted to the freeman's oath,

until his death his name was continuously identified

with the interests of the town. He was for many
years judge of the Probate Court of his district. As

justice of the peace he tried most of the cases in town

during a long term of office. He was repeatedly sent

to the Legislature, and in 1861 was senator from the

Fifteenth District. To him his fellow-citizens applied

for advice on all questions, and through his arbitra-

tion many family and neighborhood difficulties were

settled to the satisfaction of all concerned. He died

very suddenly of angina pectoris, on the 14th of Feb-

ruary, 1863, beloved and lamented by all who knew

him.

A fitting close to this sketch will be an editorial

notice of his death published in the Winsted Herald

of Feb. 20, 1863. Similar notices were printed in

Hartford papers and journals throughout the county

and State

:

"We chronicle to-day with sincere sorrow the death of Henry Jones,

Esq., of New Hartford. He died suddenly on Suturdiiy last witliout a mo-

ment of illness, or the slightest warning of the approaching change. He
had been in usual good health during the winter, as he had been through

the day on which he died. Previously to retiring on Saturday evening

he wound his clock as usual, and then put wood into the stove ; while

engaged in this he was observed to fall over upon the floor, and before

aid could be called almost in the same moment he ceased to breathe.

Mr. Jones was widely known through the county, and was one of its

best men. Modest and retiring, in his manners, he was observant and

shrewd; seeking no public position, he was rarely allowed by a commu-

nity which knew his worth an interval outof its service. Either ob select-

man, justice, judge, member of the Legislature, county or court commis-

sioner, or in some other capacity, he has almost always been in the

public service. He filled every position honorably and well. He was a

man of rigid integrity ; in politics, when the severest morality too often

relaxes, he was a man of the same firm convictions and unalterable pur-

poses. His private life was equally amiable and exemplary, and Irom

the school-boy to the patriarch, all the community in which he lived

mourn his decease almost as a personal affliction. His loss is irreparable

in New Hartford. Mr. Jones' funeral, on Wednesday last, was one of

the most numerously attended in the town for several yeare, attracting

SB it did many from a distance, who gathered to pay their last tribute of

respect to one they loved. His age was sixty-two."
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CALEB CROSWELL GOOUWIN.

THE GOODWIN FAMILY.

Ehcnczcr (Joodwin was the son of Tsanc Oooilwin, and born

in Hartford (now Wost llartfurd) aliout 17-i:i; died May IS,

1810, aged sixty-seven. His widow survived him Moino Iwunty-

five years. He is supposed to bo the desccmlant of Ozins

(Hosca) Goodwin, \vho came with his brother, Will in in (Jnudwin,

from IJraintrec (other authority says Ksscx), KnKliind. in the

sliip "Sinn" (Zion). Sept. Ifi, \Cy?>2, tn Newtown (CaiiiliridgtOp

Ma.«.i. In in;J5-;iO they came to Suckiaug(c), the Indian name
of Hartford, <'onn. William had but one child, Elizabeth, who
married John Crow. Oziaa was born in li'Jfi, and the numer-
ous family of Goodwins in Hartford and vicinity and in the

country are supposed to have descended cliielly from hini ; in

fact, some families trace their lineage direct from him. The
children of Kbcnezor Goodwin were Kuth, born June I'., 17*U.

Ebcnezer, born June 10, ITHG; he married Ilutli (iondwin, si.«tor

of Asa Goodwin, of New Hartford. Lucy, born July IH, ITliS.

Jamos, born Sei)t 4, 1770. Seth, born Aug. \2, I77-*. William

(1st), born Jan. .^», 1775; died in infancy. Col. William Good-

win, the father of the writer (Kev. William (ioodwin), horn Oet.

15, 177(». Nurman, born Jan. \i\, 177H. Pitts, born Jan. 28,

1771». Horace, born Feb. 12, 17SI. Tolly, born Oct. S, I7S2,

Amanda, born Oct. 15, 17S.'*. (If these chililren, Kbenc/.er settled

on a farm adjoining the old homet'tcad on West Hill, which Ins

8on, Horace Goodwin, has since occupied. ('<)1. William Good-
win became a chttliior, and settled on the Karmington Uiver.

two miles below the village, at the southern extremity of I'ine

Meadow, or in the suburbs of the so-called Sntan's King<lom,

near the briilge. Soon ofter he was comfortably e.'<tabtished in

his new home, his dwelling and shop, and the bridge standing

near, were borne downword by the maddened waters in tho great

Jefferson flood of March, 1801 ; and <iecasionaIly since then

he has lust his works, wholly or in part, by the nngry Hoods of

this turbulent stream. He marrietj Abigail Croswell, .sij^ter of

hiu brother Sotli's wife, who were sisters to I>r. Horry (Vofiwell,

for a long time rector of the Kpiset>pal Church in New llavon.

Tho children of Col. William and Abigail <ioudwin were as

follows

:

Uev. Harlcy Goodwin was born in New Hartford, March
10, 1707, graduated at Middlcbury College, Vt.. and was or-

dained as pastor of tho Congregational Church in New Mnrl-

borough, Mass., a eolhu«guo with Hev. Jacob Catlin, l>.l>. The
council convened Jan. .'i, lS2ti, and the sermon whs preached by

Kov. Cyrus Yale on tho following doy, January Ith. Hero lio

remained for some years. His next settlement was in Wurren,
Litehlielil. <'u., Conn., where ho rcniiiined but a short time. He
next became the pastor of the Congregational Church in South
Canaan, where be renmined till his death, Jnn. '.i\, |Sj.'», aged
nearly lifty-eight years.

Orrin was bom Sept. .T, 1709. He followed his trade as a
harness-maker in the village of New Hartford, where bo died
Dee. 14, Ifsii.'i. nge«l above sixty-si.x.

Hannah was born Oct. 14, ISOl. She spent most of her life in

New Hartford, where her husband, William Warner, still lives.

She died at Winsted, July ;ii). IS5I, aged nearly tifly three.

Amanda was born Feb, 1 1, ISO.'l. After marrying Carlo

Smith they moved to Sidney Plains, on the Susquehanna River,

in tho State of New York, where they remained a few years;

theit returned to New Hartford. The widow, in a good old age,

still lives in I'ine Meadow.
Jennetto was born July Ifi, 1800; died April 27, 1827, aged

less than twenty-one years.

Caleb Croswell Goodwin, whoso portrait aecompnnies this

sketch, was burn Feb. II, 180S. Ho is still living on his farm
which he purcbnse<l on the east and op|Hmite side of the river

from the old homestead, while he yet retjiins pf>ssession of the

old house and adjoining binds.

Horatio Nelson Gootlwin was born Jan. 27, 1SI2. He learned

the trade of harness-maker of his brother Orrin. in New Hart-

ford, an<l still follows this calling. For mnny years ho has

filled the office of deacon well in the Congregational (Church in

Collinsville. where he still lives.

Uev. William Goodwin was born Jan. I, IS14. He entered

Williams College, Massachusetts, in |M:{S, gra<luated in 1HJ2,

and finished his theological course in 1845 at the Theulogieal

Seminary in Fast Windsor, Conn.: finee removed to Hartford.

He roeeivod a lieeiise tu preach, with other lucmhers of his class,

at an Association in Ware Vilhigo, Mass., in ISI I. The convic-

tions on tho suitjeet of baptism which he entertained before

entering college grew stronger, so ihnt early in his ministry ho

became a Haptirt. .After various pastorates in Connecticut and
Massachu>'etts, he was invited, in the spring of 1870, to retutn

to his former tiebl <if labor, the Itnptist Church in North Cole-

brook, where Khler liubeock lalwired so earnestly and effectually,

and almost griituititusly. and left behinil him iiotunly tho savor

of his giMtd name, but one of the best |iarsoniigoa in hitohfleld

County to the church and society.
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E. M. CHAPIN.

E. M. Chapin, son of Herman and Catharine Mer-

rill Chapin, was born in New Hartford, Sept. 5, 1833.

He attended school in Litchfield in 1847 and '48,

in Winsted in 1849, and at the Connecticut Literary

Institution at Suffield in 1849, '50, and '51.

In 1851 he began business as superintendent in his

father's plane- and rule-factory, which was established

by H. Chapin in 1826, and continued until 1860, when
a partnership was formed, consisting of H. Chapin,

E. M., G. W., and P. E. Chapin, under the firm-name

of H. Chapin & Sons, E. M. Chapin having the entire

management. In 1865, E. M. and G. W. Chapin

having secured the factory and business, a new part-

nership was formed under the name of H. Chapin's

Sons. In 1868, E. M. Chapin purchased the entire

interest of G. W. Chapin, and has since conducted

the business under the name of H. Chapin's Son.

Mr. Chapin is an enterprising and public-spirited

citizen. In 1868, and again in 1870, he was elected

to the Legislature, lower house, and in 1872 was

chosen to the Senate from the Fifteenth District. In

1856 he united in marriage with Mary E. Pike, and
has two sons living.

CHARLES FRANK MAXFIELD.

Charles F. Maxfield was born in Winsted, Conn.,

July 13, 1853. He was educated at the Winchester

Military School, the Cheshire Military Institute, and
at the private select school of the Rev. Mr. Upson, in

Washington, Conn. His school-days terminated be-

fore he was twenty years of age, and he then went to

Brooklyn, and entered the mercantile establi.shnient

of T. K. Horton & Co. as clerk. Here he remained

about three years, and then went traveling extensively

in Great Britain and throughout Continental Europe.

Upon his return he entered the employ of T. J.

Briggs, manufacturer of fine decorations and wall-

paper, and subsequently engaged with .1. S. Warren
<& Co., the largest manufacturers of wall-paper in this

country, as traveling salesman, and though the

youngest of a large force of experienced salesmen in

the employ of this firm, during the first year his sales

amounted to over one hundred thousand dollars,

strikingly illustrating his business tact and go-ahead-

ativeness.

Nov. 20, 1878, he united in marriage with Georgctta

Robbins, of Brooklyn, N. Y., youngest daughter of

the late Daniel A. Kol)bins, a large builder and en-

terprising business man of that city.

In 1879, Mr. Maxfield i>urcliascd the -old Maxfield

homestead at New Hartford, and the year following

negotiated for the place known us the old Hart place,

formerly owned by Maj. Sanford Brown, on the hill

north of the village, and immediately commenced the

improvement of tlie locality by cutting off tlie forest.

He carried forward the improvements with energy,

graded, laid out walks and drives, etc., and began the

erection of a residence which when completed will be

one of the finest in interior and exterior decorations

in Connecticut. It is charmingly located on a high

eminence, commanding a beautiful view of the Farm-
injgton River and the valley, the village of New Hart-

ford, and the hills beyond. It is an elegant country-

seat, and reflects much credit upon the iesthetic taste

of its owner.

Mr. Maxfield is an enthusiast in the breeding of

fancy stock, particularly that of Swiss cattle, and has

carried oft' numerous diplomas and sweepstakes at

competitive exhibitio'ns. He is the owner of the fa-

mous bull Conrod Tell, now considered the best bull in

the United States by the best judges. He is a breeder

of a high class of poultry, and has more than fifteen

distinct varieties. He is a leading representative of

a class of wealthy experimental and progressive agri-

culturists.

Politically he is a Democrat, and a member of the

Church of the Redeemer, of Brooklyn, of which the

Rev. William A. Leonard is rector.

Mr. Maxfield is about the average height, and his

face shows intelligence, foresight, and decision as the

chief elements of his character. He is a public-

spirited citizen, of a genial and social nature, and very

popular with the masses.

CHESTER W. GIL.MAN.

Chester W. Gilman wa.s born June 8, 1818, in Hart-

land, Conn., son of George C. Gilman. His early life

was spent on his father's farm until he was twenty-one

years of age, when he commenced for himself. His

first business enterprise was peddling clocks in Ohio,

where he was engaged some ten months, when he re-

turned to Hartland with two hundred dollars saved

from his earnings, with which he pureha-scd cows to

stock a farm near the old home, which he contracted

for at three thousand one hundred ami fifty dollars.

Mr. (tilman remained on this farm until 1854. At
that time he had paid for the farm and built a good

house and barn. Thinking he could better his con-

dition, he exchanged for the large farm in New Hart-

ford, where he has since resided, and which under his

management has become one of the finest farms in

that part of the country. His specialty being dairy

and blooded stock, he has a fine herd of Alderney

cattle and a good grade of horses.

Mr. Gilman was married when twenty-eight years of

age to Antinett Smith, of Ea-st Iladdam, Conn.,

youngest of fourteen children,—seven .sons and seven

daughters ; all the sons and six of the daughters grew

to adult age. Mrs. <<ilnmn died in 1870, leaving five

children, one daughter having previously died at eight

years of age. Of the five children that survived their

mother three arc now living,—Jennie, married David

W. Meeker, of Florida; Mary E., ninrrird George

S|)cncer, a merchant of New Hartford ; Henry lives

at home. Two sons—Chester W. and Elias E.—were
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killed by a railroad accident at Tariffville, Jan. 15,

1877.

Mr. Gilman was a second time married,—June,

1872, to Julia A., daughter of Allen Jewett, of Win-

sted.

Politically Mr. Gilman is a Republican ; has served

several terms as selectman, and represented the town

in the Legislature in 1872.

Mr. Gilman and his wife are active and consistent

members of the Congregational Church. He has

been superintendent of the Sunday-school, and is one

of the substantial representative men of his town.

CHAPTER XL.

NEW MILFOED.

Geographical—Topographical—Indian History—Documentary History

—

Original Indian Deed, etc.

This town is located in the southwestern part of the

county, and is bounded as follows : on the north by

Kent, on the east by Washington, Roxbury, and

Bridgewater, on the south by Bridgewater and the

town of Brookfleld, in Fairfield County, and on the

west by the towns of New Fairfield and Sherman, in

Fairfield County. The surface is hilly and broken,

and the soil generally good. It is well adapted to

agriculture, and the raising of tobacco forms one of

the chief occupations of the inhabitants. It is watered

by the Housatonic River and its tributaries.

INDIAN HISTORY.

When Litchfield County was first settled at Wood-
bury, in 1672, the Potatuck tribe of Indians was the

only and largest tribe in this part of Connecticut;

and its existence h.ad been known by the Connecticut

colonists for more than thirty years. As civilization

appeared, advanced, and caused the most powerful

tribes of Southern New England—the Narragansets

of Rhode Island, the Mohegans and Pequots of West-

ern Connecticut^—to disappear, the section not yet

reached by the white man became the home of the

aboriginal inhabitants. The Wepawaugs inhabited

Milford when that town was settled, and the Po-

quassets resided at Derby, where their principal village

was located. As Milford was settled in 1639, some

fifteen years before Derby, those of the Milford In-

dians who did not go West to the Six Nations, or

remained in the town, joined the Poquassets, and re-

mained there till the white settler made his appear-

ance, when the Indian seems to have immediately

made preparations to leave for some wild and secluded

locality where he could enjoy the solitude his nature

so much craved. Thus the Poquassets, most of them,

united with the Potatucks, whose principal village

was in the present town of Southbury, on the Housa-

tonic River, where they reserved a large tract of land

in all their deeds to the first settlers of Woodbury, as

also in the confirmatory purchase of the inhabitants of

that town in 1706. At the time New Milford was set-

tled Nomwag was their chief. That the tribes formed

from the original powerful tribes found here by the

first settlers of Massachusetts Bay, Rhode Island, and
Connecticut were less powerful, and that the growing

disintegrating clans therefrom became of less conse-

quence a.s the country became settled, may, perhaps,

be true to a certain extent.

The fierce spirit of the Pequots was broken at the

last battle at "Shoco Swamp," and they never after-

wards were a terror to the whites. As was natural,

the broken tribes would rally, if possible, after being

driven back again and again into the shades of the

primeval forest, and make a stand like a defeated

army hotly pursued by a victorious enemy. History

has recorded the acts of cruelty and deeds of daring

and bravery exhibited by the natives when opposed

by the first English footsteps on our shores; but, as

the great tribes have been broken and scattered, they

have had less power of resisting the advance of the

white man, and the incidents of more local history

have not been recorded. This probably accounts for

the remark of De Forrest in his " History of the In-

dians of Connecticut," where he says of the Pota-

tucks, "Their insignificance is sufficiently proved by

the almost total silence of authors concerning them,

and by their noiseless disappearance."

The Potatucks were a i)owerful tribe, with whom
the white settlers never had any difficulty ; but as the

neighboring settlement of Woodbury increased in

population they longed for some more congenial re-

treat, and in time most of them joined the clan at

New Milford.

When the Weautenaugs of New Milford first be-

came a distinct clan is not known. That they occu-

pied lauds here opposite the village prior to 1671 is

quite evident ; but how long before that we have no

positive proof. That they were then an insignficant

clan is evident from the fact that they were unknown
in history and in song, only as the name of the place

would indicate some knowledge of the locality by the

colonial authorities. Afterwards, however, they be-

came of more importance, probably as early as 1650.

At the time of the settlement of New Milford there

were probably small clans along the Housatonic River

northward, refugees from larger tribes, and, if not

making any permanent place their residence, roamed

over the vast expanse of wilderness for purposes of

hunting and fishing. There was, undoubtedly, quite

an extensive clan in the southern part of Berkshire

Co., Mass., on the Housatonic River; which had

been there many years among those grand old moun-

tains, the natural home of the red man, springing

from the Mahikanders or River Indians, who lived on

the east side of the Hudson River below Albany.

But all these small tribes or clans were very insignifi-

Cotreu'B History, p. 29,
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cant and weak in comparison witli that large and

powerful tribe of Northern New York, the Mohawks,

who claimed jurisdiction over all the territory of

Western Massachusetts and Connecticut, and came

down annually to collect tribute from them, which

must be satisfied or a fierce army of blood-thirsty

Mohawks would soon appear among them to enforce

their demands. They were compelled to pay for

fear of death or captivity. The cry, " A Mohawk !"

caused all the signal-fires to be lighted on the

mountain heights, and drove the peaceful Indians

along the Housatonic River into their forts, or to the

settlements of the whites for protection. The New
Milford Indians had forts on both sides of the Housa-

tonic River, probably in the vicinity of the Steep

Rock, about six miles above the village, as appears

from an ancient map of Weautenaug, found when
the town was first settled. And there was also a fort

somewhere in the locality of the residence of E. T.

Brewer, from which circumstance the place has always

been called "Fort Hill."

The Rev. Stanley Griswold, in a " centennial ser-

mon" delivered in 1801, says,—

•

"The natives bad sundry fortresses, or military stations, in and abont

tliis town to guard against attacks from distant tribes. Some spots in

tile town bear an allusion to them to this day, as Fort Hill, Giuirding

Mountain, etc. It has been said that all the tribes along the river, from

its source to the sea, were in strict alliance and friendship, and that by

means of certaiii sounds made on the guarding heights au alarm might

be spread within the space of three hours through the wliole line of the

tribes, a distance of near two hundred miles.'*

Guarding Mountain, spoken of by Mr. Griswold,

is on the west side of the Housatonic River near
" Conetia Park," the grounds of the New Milford Agri-

cultural Association. There has been some doubt

expressed whether these Indian forts and guarding

heights were of Indian or colonial origin. But it

seems that there should be but little doubt that they

were means of defense, and signals establishod by the

Indians themselves, principally against the incursions

of the Mohawks. The Western Massachusetts and

Connecticut Indians were friendly with the white

settlers, who almost invariably made satisfactory pur-

chases of their lands, and the natives were never

engaged in wars among themselves. There were

mountains used for guarding heights in Woodbury
and Litchfield, and all along up the Housatonic River.

These forts and signal-stations were in existence and

use when the whites first settled here. The first

white settlers in New Milford never had any fears

from the Moliawks, neither is there any historical

account or tradition of any depredations upon the

white settlements up the river. When the Moliawks

came to punish our Indians for not paying tribute,

they would Uy to their forts, and, if they could not

reach them, to the houses of the English for shelter.

Sometimes their enemies would ])ursue them so

closely that they would enter the houses with them,

and kill them in presence of the family. If tiiere was

time to shut the doors tiiey never forced an entrance,

nor did they on any occasion do the least harm to the

English, always being on the most friendly terms

with them."* The garrisons authorized to be erected

by the colonial government of Woodbury, Danbury,

and Weautenaug in 1708, and also the Committee

of War for the frontier towns in Fairfield County, and

of New Miliord in 1709, against the assaults of the

enemy, were all independent of the efforts of the

natives for their own defense before these acts were

passed, and before the town was settled. The early

colonists had fears of attacks from the Indians, and

there were occasional alarms ; but time proved that

these alarms were generally groundless, and the forces

sent for defense were soon removed.

Later, however, in 1722, the Eastern Indians and

the Province of Massachusetts Bay were at war, and

it was felt in Connecticut ; and in 1723-24 there was

a considerable excitement and alarm, when the Eng-

lish and French wars were prevailing and the frontier

settlers were exposed to danger by the French inciting

the Indians to attack them ; but the excitement soon

subsided.

From the ferocious and treacherous character of

the Indians it is no wonder that the early settlers of

the country should have fears of hostility and war

from them. In 1675, at a meeting of the Council of

the colonial government, they came to an agreement

with our Indians here in New Milford, " who engaged

to continue in friendship w"" us, and to be enemies

to o' enemies, and to discouer them timely, or de-

stroy them ; that they would do no prejudice to the

English." They never manifested a disposition of

hostility to the colonists, and were always friendly

to them after the town was settled.

t

The colony was also suspicious of our Indians

during the French and Indian wars; as, perhaps,

they well might be, altiiough subsequent events

proved that their fears were groundless ; although

about five years before tiie settlement of our town

the terrible border wars broke out in all their fury.

A treaty of peace having been entered into between

the government of Canada and the Five Nations in

New York, the whole weight of the war fell on

New England. Many towns on the frontier had been

burned by the Indians,^ and the colonial government

at Hartford had fears that the enemies and Indians

were preparing to make a descent upon the frontier

towns of New England, by information which had

been received from Col. Schuyler. At a council at

Hartford, in February, 1706-7, a letter was read from

Ca[)t. Jolin Miner and Mr. John Sherman to the

Deputy Governor signifying their suspicion that tlio

Potatuck and Weautenaug Indians were invited to

join with the enemy. "J There was, in the opinion of

the government, danger that our Indians woulil be

* Oortren'a lllit. Ancieat Woodburjr, Tol.L ^ tl.

t Col. Reconis, 1665-77, p. 3«0.

J Fn>«l, p. W).

] Out lUcanli, I7an-I0, p. 16.
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allured from their former agreement of comity and

friendshij), and be induced to join our enemies.

Writings were presented relative to the matter, and

the Indians were examined relative to the induce-

ments held out to them to become the enemies of the

settlers. For the preservation of the small frontier

towns, and to prevent their revolt, the honorable the

Governor and Council ordered Capt. John Minor and

Mr. John Sherman, of Woodbury, " with all conveni-

ent speed to remove the said Indians down to Fairfield

or Stratford, or both, as shall be judged most con-

venient." Provision was made that "if by reason of

sickness prevailing among them they cannot at pres-

ent be removed, then to take two of their principal

persons and convey them to Fairfield, there to be

kept safely as hostages to secure the fidelity of those

that remain at those inland places."* But it does not

appear that the tribes were removed by the direction

of the Council, though hostages may have been taken

to carry out the object of the order.

The only time when the Weautenaug Indians mani-

fested a warlike spirit was about the year 1725, when
it was reported to the Governor and Council at Hart-

ford, that they and the Potatuck Indians bad "lately

had several dances, and sundry of them have painted

themselves, as is usual for Indians to do that design

war." In consequence of this act, and because paint-

ing was the badge of war used by the Indians that

were then engaged in war with the English, an order

was made declaring that if any Indian shall be seen

painted after the 21st day of August, 1725, they shall

be taken for enemies and provided against as such.

It was supposed that there was a secret understanding

among the Indians of the colony, and that they had

been incited to acts of cruelty and murder by the

English. Soon after the New Milford Indians had

painted themselves and had had dances, the shepherd

of Stratford was taken by two Indians, painted, and

carried captive and stamped till he was breathless, and

buried as dead, and David Lane, a child of Stratford,

barbarously murdered and mangled. In consequence

of these hostile developments, the Indians were re-

strained within certain bounds, to be considered as

enemies if found without those limits, and could be

summoned before any authorized English persons to

give account of their rambles and business.

The planting fields of the Indians were on the west

side of the river, opposite the village, and have to this

day been known as the " Indian Fields." These fields

were reserved in their deed to Milford gentlemen of

Feb. 18, 1702-3, which appears in a former chap-

ter. There were several Indian burying-grounds in

the town, and it was in this reservation that the

largest one is found. It was on Fort Hill, south of

the residence of E. T. Brewer. The Rev. Mr. Gris-

wold states that their graves were of a circular form,

and that they were buried sitting up, as in a natural

posture upon the ground. There were two other

burying-grounds on the east side of the river,—one,

the bluff", in the vicinity of West Street, in the vil-

lage, and the other was, on the authority of the Rev.

George S. Bennett, after crossing the Aspetuck River,

on the river road which passes through it, where

skeletons have from time to time been unearthed. A
few years since, while digging the cellar of a dwelling-

house on West Street in the village, the workmen
found some parts of the skeleton of an Indian, where

the second burying-ground spoken of was located,

and near by were the relics buried with their owner,

which might be needed in the fair hunting-grounds

to which the departed had gone when he reached the

spirit-land. There was a beautifully-formed toma-

hawk, a finely-modeled pipe, some well-preserved

dishes, and several nicely-wrought arrow-heads and

stone hatchets. Some years ago some of our citizens

made excavations in the largest cemetery in the In-

dian fields on Fort Hill, and found many graves as de-

scribed by Mr. Griswold, containing the implements

of war and necessary utensils in their journey beyond •

the setting sun. The probability is that at one time

they had quite a village on Fort Hill, near Guarding

Mountain. They did not long retain possession of

their planting-field. In 1705, John Mitchel, of Wood-
bury, purchased the Indian fields, and at the date of

the settlement of the town their principal village was

at the Trout Falls, on the Housatonic River, about

two miles below the village, to which the natives had

given the name Mitichawon. This is one of the most

inviting places of residence for the red men that can

well be imagined in this section of the State. The
river seems to have broken through the mountain,

leaving a deep gorge, of perhaps a quarter of a mile

in length, through which the water descends quite

rapidly, affording one of the best fishing-places on the

river. Here were plenty of salmon, and in the spring

of the year shad and lamprey-eels were found in

great abundance. The Potatuck Indians of Wood-

bury finally sold a large part of their lands, and

many of their' leading men joined with others in

forming the Weautenaug tribe.f It was not, however,

till 1733 that they sold about three-quarters of their

reservation in the southwestern part of Southbury,

when they seemed to have all removed to New Mil-

ford. When they commenced coming to the Great

Falls is not definitely known, but it must have been

some time before the town was settled. The greatest

man of the tribe was Wereaumaug, who came about

1715, and was soon chosen their chief. He had been

a sagamore of the Potatuck tribe. There has been

much speculation as to the size of this tribe. Mr.

Griswold, in his "Century Sermon," states that when

the town was settled there were about two hundred

warriors connected with them. President Stiles, ofYale

College, thought that there were three hundred war-

* Col. Eecords, 1717-25. t Ciortren's Hi8t. Ancient Woodbury, pp. 86-104.
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riors, while Mr. De Forrest, in his " History of the In-

dians of Connecticut," discredits both the above state-

ments, on the ground that " tradition is always unsafe,

and always exaggerates ; and even our recollection,

when it refers to events which happened in our youth,

inclines us often to extend the truth, never to under-

rate it." Making all allowances for the uncertainty

of tradition, it will probably be safe to say that they

had one hundred and fifty warriors at the time to

which these writers referred. It is quite probable that

Wereaumaug brought many of his old trilie with him,

and that about that time the tribe became more
powerful, as it must have also been increasing quite

rapidly before that time. It would be within the

range of probability to place the number of warriors

in 1715 at two hundred. At this time, and for a few

years afterwards, it must have been larger than at any

previous period. It would seem that at the time this

great chief came here the tribe must have numbered
one thousand population, one-fifth of whom were to

be considered warriors.* I am, however, inclined to

believe that there were that number here when the

town was settled, as Mr. Griswold conversed with

people whose memory extended back to the period,

and the tradition, not coming .second-handed, must

have been more reliable.

Soon after Wereaumaug came to this tribe he built

a " palace" on the bluff near the Great Falls, wliich

was his residence. As this was tlie capital of the tribe,

this house of their chief was a native resort. Accord-

ing to all accounts, nothing like it had before been seen.

The Rev. Mr. Griswold says that "on the inner wails

of this ' palace,' which was of bark with the smooth
side inwards, were pictured every known species of

beast, bird, fish, and insect, from tlie largest down to tlie

smallest. This was said to have been done by an
artist, whom a friendly prince at a great distance sent

him for tliat purpose, as Hiram to Solomon."

The Rev. David Boardman, the first minister, was
held in high esteem by Wereaumaug, and had a high

opinion of "liis great abilities and eminent virtues."

The "distinguished sachem," as he termed him,

seems to have been favorably impressed with the

doctrines of the Cliristian religion under the instruc-

tions of the minister. Although the sachem's wife

and all his tribe were not in sympathy with the re-

ligion of tlie first settkirs, yet in his last sickness he
desired to see Mr. Hoardiiuin, who lie felt would give

him some consolatinii of elieer and hope in his rapid

flight towards the river of truth.

Hon. David S. Boardman, a grandson of the first

minister, treasured an anecdote, which was related to

Mr. Jolin W. De Forrest upon his visit to New Milford,

and first imblisheil in his " History of the Indians of

Connecticut." He says that "once in |)artieular,

while Mr. Boardman. was at the sachem's bedside, the

latter a.sked him to pray, to which he of course as-

• Da Varraat, p. 47, not*.

sented. It happened that there was at this time in

the village a sick child, whom a pow-wow had under-

taken to cure by means of the usual writhings, gri-

maces, and hallooing. As soon as Mr. Boardman
began his prayer, Wereaumaug's wife sent for this

Indian clergyman, stationed him at the door, and

bade him commence his exercises. The pow-wow im-

mediately set up a prodigious shouting and howling.

Mr. Boardman prayed louder, so that the sick man
might hear him above the din. Each raised his voice

more and more as he went on. The Indians gathered

round, anxious for the success of their champion.

The pow-wow was fully determined to tire out the

black-coat, and Mr. Boardman was equally resolved

that he would not be put to silence in his duty by this

son of Belial. The indomitable minister afterwards

declared that, according to the best of his belief, he

prayed three hours without stopping before victory

declared in his favor. The pow-wow, completely ex-

hausted with his efforts, gave one tremendous yell, by
way of covering his retreat, then took to his heels,

and never stopped till he was cooling himself up to

his neck in the Housatonic."

Wereaumaug died about 1735, the la.st chief sachem
of the tribe, which was now destined to very soon

disappear from the earth. He was buried on the

mountain, near the place where he had resided so

long. A pile of stones on an open plot of ground
marks the place where his remains repose. The In-

dian customs were observed on his burial. The war-

riors, now few in number, painted their faces, and all

that belong to the tribe deposited a stone upon the

grave. The custom of placing a stone on the grave

is kept up by the Indians when they visit the grave

afterwards.

DOCUMENTARY HISTORY.
" Nkw HiLrosi) Feb'. 23, ITM-t.

"An auountof }-• gottils ilelivorod to Taiiinr llonliimn nt lier Uftrrio^
one Bml £12, four CuvorletU £9, one clieft of ilniwcra £2 l.^«. one imir of

Une Slie«tii £4 two pnir of Now Shet'ta £.3 fiiur |iair of half worn .Slieeta

£3 four pair of iillloM-casee £1 12*. one dialwr Tnble ('lont)i mid )> UHp-

klns £4 4ii. two liarreU t'x. one Pnll 5«. two trowels two |»alr of liamliroufl

one pair of tongs one itoal one rofling lioolc one llefli fork tliree tines

one bread tray 12«. two krot dif ties une milk tray tN>.

" To nil People to whom these presents shnll come : Greeting.

"Know ye, that I Sherman Ihiardnian of New MllfonI in LttcliAeld

County Jt Sltito of Connecticut, for the consideration of surtnin service*

Done and |K>rfornied and l»y nio Received to my full Siitlsfuction of

Eilicant; a lllucknian wlio was born a Slave in my llunso iV who 1 thia

day sot free nccortling to Iaw; I do givi- grant bargain sell anil ixintlnn

unto the said Kiiward tlic two fotluwiiig<ii>s<-rll>«il plccee of Land Situate

in tlio township of New Slilfont afnre said on the Kjut side of the (iroat

River at the North end nf niy Kami; the tlntl Jdece lieing calletl the

ItiiKik Lot containing nUiut two A a half Acres of Land be the same ntor«

or lofs, lionnded on all sides by lligliway K\cept a small part on the nurth-

oast corner is lioundml on Elijah Roanlman's Lands. The aeciinil pleco

lim soutbwani of the flrvt piece A wpstwanl of tlie Highway and at^uiu-

Ing the Great River lieing a (Hiiiit at the north end and Kxtending south-

wanl n<Uiiliiiiig to tlie highway A (treat River so farsoiitliwani as to moke
four Acriw of Land the linen to bo of ei|iial Length by the Highway A
Groat River Ihnuiiiod Snitliward by my own Land >Uuitward by the High-
way WMitwanI by the Great River.

'* To have and to hold the above granted and Ivrgalned premise* with
the appurtenances thereof, unto him the said Jf^imin/, Ills lielr« and
AftJgna forever; to his & their own piv|ior use and behoof. And alao I
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the said Sherman Boardman do for myself my heira Executors and ad-

miniftratore, covenant with the said Edward his Heirs & afsigns ; that at

and until the enfeallng uf these presents I am well seized of the piem-

ifes, as a good indefeasible estate in fee-simple, and have goud right to bar

gain and sell the same in manner and form as is above written, and that

the same is free of all incumbrances whatsoever. And furthermore I

the said Slierman Boardman du by these presents, bind myself and my
heii-8 forever to warrant and defend the above granted & bargained prem-

ifes, to him the said Edward his Heirs & afsigns agains all claims & de-

mands whatsoever. In witness wlieieof I luive hereunto set my hand

and seal the 11''' day of April Anno Domini 1808.

*' Signed, sealed and delivered " Sherman Boardman.

in Presents of

"Jeremiah Canfikld.

"ElISHA BOSTWICK.

*' LiTCHPiKLD County m.

" New Milforb lit*" April 1808.

" Personally appeared Sherman Boardman signer & sealer of the fore-

going instrument and acknowledged the same to he his free act and deed

before me,

"Elisha Bostwick, Justice of Pecuie."

COPY OF ORIGINAL INDIAN DEED, Etc.

The following interesting matter is taken from the

old records of the town of Milford:

"At a Tuwn meeting of Milfurd lield JauJ 5"> 1701-2 Voted to par-

chase land at Wiantinogue of the i/^-ni/feii. And if any freeman not pres-

ent have a mind to cume iu for a share, they have liberty tu do so; & if

any person have a mind to exempt himself from a share, he has liberty

to do so.

" Voted, That a Committee be chosen to gain or purchase land at Wian-

tinogue, to treat with the Indians, & to secure the town's interest there

to the best of their skill.

" Voted, That s"* Committee shall consist of Col. Robert Treat, Ensign

George Clark, Ensign Joseph Treat, Mr. Tho" Clark, Kusign Joseph Peck,

Sergt Jonathan Baldwin, & Searg' Tiniotliy Baldwin.

"A company was formed the .Tune following of tlmse persons who had

a desire to purchase land at Wiautiuogue, as Ibltows, viz.:

Shillings. Sliillings.

Robert Treat ^0 Samuel Brisco 20
Thomas Cook 40 Thomas Tibballs Jn'
Ensign George Clark Henry Bottsford 6

Mr. John Fisk Barnnbivs Baldwin 20
Sergt Jonathn Baldwin 20 Searg' Sam''' Northrop
Rich"* Bryan Ebenezer Pringle
Sam-^i Camp Seg"" John Merwin.
Sergeant Nath" Baldwin 40 William Nathans
Thomas Bassett Josepli Cump 20
Lieu' Joseph Piatt 20 Jolin Clark 25
Lieut' Sani«i Camp 30 Tho" Buckingham 20
Mr. Robert Treat 40 Tho" Canfield 6

Mr. Jonathan Law Jn'.. 20 Josiah Piatt Seg"" 20
Samuel Beard W" Lydia Newton
Samuel Buckingham 30 ' " "
Ensign Joseph Treat 40
Sergt Benj'n Fenn.. 40
Tho" Clark Es^

John Roach..
William Wheeler..
Josliua Lobdell
William Roberts...,

Gideon Allen 12 Samuel Pruddon
Stephen Miles...;. James Beard
James Wright Serg^ Tim? Baldwin
Zecliariah Whitman Samuel Nettleton 15
James Terrill Hugh Stilson

W" Mary Baldwin Delivennee Downs
John Terrill Daniel Downs
James Prime 20 Stephen Hine
Sylvanus Baldwin Ricli<* Biddwin
Samuel Miles Jn"" Joseph Wheeler 16
John Smith (at the West End). 20 Eleazer Pringle
James Fenn Gideon Allen 10
James Baldwin John Camp
Samuel Camp Sn' 10 Thomas Welch
Samuel Hein Josiah Piatt Jn'
John Smith Jn' John Woodruff. 20
Thomas Smith 10 Mr. Sam^i Clark 50

|

John Buckingham 20 Sam«' Lobdell 20
Sam"^! Pingle Ensign Joseph Peck 40

"Names with the am* left blank to be filled afterwards, with such

sums as the Subscribers shall see proper.

" The purchase of Wiautiuogue was made by the Committee of the In-

dians ; & a Deed recorded of them on the S'*" of Febj 17U2-3. The con-

sideration for the tract was £60 current money & £20 in goods at money
price. It was bounded in the Deed (Milford Records Lib. Z^, page 135)

Easterly by Woodbury, and a parallel line lunning into the Country,

Westerly with the mountains, Northwesterly with Wemeraug a small

Brook, running into the Housatonic, & from the head of the brook by a

line running Easterly till it comes to the above s-^ parallel line ; with

Danbury line on the Southwest, & Woodbury line Southeast.

" In this tract the Indians reserve tlieir planting field on the west side

of the River, opposite the town, and the right of fishing at the Falls.

" Tlie Deed was signed by
" Shopack, Papesopo,

" Wewinapowk, Pasnicoto,

" pobcenaus, tuwecomis,
" Paramkshe, M'^ompooto,

"CH^SQUMAG, Nl'NPOOTO,

" Papibein, Haowamis,
" yoncomis.

" In presence of

"John Miner, Interpreter (allowed by both the English & Indians),

" Ebenezer Johnson,

**J0HN DL'RAND,

"Tanoreste,

"Nonowak.
"The above-named Indians, the Subscribers, personally appeared in

Milford the 8'h day of Febr, 1702-3, and acknowledged this Instrument

to be their free act & deed before me,

"Ebenezer Johnson,
" Justice.

"Here follows upon the Record a diagram of Wiautiuogue as drawn

by the indians marking their reservations.

"The Committee obtained a Patent of the Gov' & Company which is

dated the 2'i year of Queen Anne, 1703, and signed l>y John Winthrop.

" It appeares that the settlement of the Town was not commenced till

about 4 yeai-s after the above purchase was made. The 1" Division of

Land was made in Dec, 17U6.

"An additional purchase of a tract of lard on the North of the first

purchase was made by the Inhabitants in 1722."

CHAPTER XLI.

NEW MILFOKD (Continued).

Early Explorations—Purchases—Indian &Iap of the Town—The Patent

—The First Settlement—First Proprietors' Meeting—List of Original

Proprietors—Initial Events—The North Purchase—Names of Proprie-

tors—Biographical Notes of Some of the First Settlers—Town Hill and

Town Street.

EARLY EXPLORATIONS AND PURCHASES.

It is quite probable that very soon after the set-

tlement was commenced at Windsor, in 1633, the colo-

nists became somewhat familiar, under the spirit of

exploration and adventure, with the territory now

comprising the township of New Milford, although it

was seventy-four years from that time before the first

settler came to the locality. Woodbury, the nearest

town, had been settled thirty-five years before a white

man had made his home in these solitudes, and they

were familiar with the locality. The attention of the

people of Fairfield and Stratford was turned to

Weautenaug, the Indian name of New Milford, in

1670, when, upon the petition of Capt. Nathan Gold,

Mr. Jehu and John Burr, the General Court at Hart-

ford granted them liberty to make the purchase of

the place, " and the lands adjacent, of the Indians, to

make a plantation, if it be capable for such a thing."

Mr. Gold, Mr. Jehu Burr, Mr. Hill, Mr. Thomas

Fayrechild, and Mr. Thomas Fitch were appointed a

committee " for the well ordering of the planting of

the same, and also to entertain inhabitants." And it

was declared " that any ofthe honest inhabitants ofthis
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colony that are in want of land, may have liberty to

be entertained there till the place is filled, provided,

if the place bo not planted in four years, it shall re-

turn to the court's disposal again."*

Whether the committee found it incapable of

making a plantation or not we do not know, or

whether the attempt ever was made. There was,

however, no settlement made under this authority

from the General Court.

In 1775 the General Court appointed Lieut. Joseph

Judson, Mr. John Burkes, Edward Worenston, and

William Judd "to view the lands of Derby, Wood-
bury, Mattatuck, Pootatuck, and Wyantenuck,t and

the distances between place and place, and to consider

what may be suitable bounds for each town, and pre-

sent the same to the court in October next."

In 1679 the General Court ordered the committee

appointed in 1675 "to attend the said service as soon

as may be, and make report thereof in May next; and

that no farm be layd out within eight miles of either

of those places till the committee have made their re-

turn."

The seeds of a controversy are now sown which

resulted in a conflict between the Indian and colonial

title to the lands of Weautenaug, which was not

settled for nearly ten years after the patent of the

town from the colonial government was obtained, and

which caused several years' tedious delay in the settle-

ment of the place. Henry Tomlins, a freeman of

Stratford, had purchased land, it is said, of thieves in

a private way, to the prejudice of the Indians. Two
deeds were given to Tomlins "of an island in, and
of lands on either side of, Oautenock River, extend-

ing more than seven miles in length and six in

breadth ; one of these deeds was given in April, and
the other in July, 1671, t by Pocono, Ringgo, Quocon-

ecoe, and Whimta, and by Pcrainos and Cawkapo-
tons," who professed to be the Indian proprietors.

In 1677, Scanteinung, tlie first chief .sachem of

Weautenaug of whom we have any knowledge, made
complaint to tlic General Court, then in session at

Hartford, of tlu'sc purchases, and of the trespasses

upon the rights of his tribe. The whole matter in

controversy was referred by the court to the Fair-

field County Court. The ultimate decision was
against Tomlins and those who came here from

Stratford under their pretended Indian deeds, and
they were obliged to ipiit the occupation of the lands

of which they had taken possession, and make way
for the claimants under the colonial patent and title.

Other efforts were soon made to establish a planta-

tion at Weautenaug. In 1678 the General Court, at

Hartford, granted the Honorable Dei)uty Governor,

Maj. Robert Treat, with Mr. Bryan, Sr., or Jr.,

* ColoDlal Records.

1 1 Iiave adoptod tlu' following lu the best orthogrn|*liy, viz., Wiuin-

tonaug, allhniiRli it \a H|ielU>d lut iiliovi! und u number of other dilTfreDt

vfayv, nil of which muy bo considt-rod correct,—" Oautenock."

; Colonial Bocord of Lands, i., 421.

Capt. John Bird, Lieut. Samuel Eells, " liberty to

view and buy convenient land for a plantation in

those adjacent places about Pootatuck, Wiantenuck,

or thereabouts ; and when the said land is purchased,

it shall remain to be disposed as the court shall see

cause and reason to order for the planting of it." But

it is to be twenty-five years more before the people of

Milford take a decisive step towards the settlement of

the town and actually secure a patent, and hold pro-

prietors' meetings for ordering and regulating the new
settlement.

In 1694 the wilds of Weautenaug were penetrated

by white people from a distance, when commissioners

of Massachusetts, Connecticut, Rhode Island, New
York, and New Jereey and the Five Nations of In-

dians met at Albany. Capt. Wadsworth, of Hartford,

commanded a guard of sixty dragoons which accom-

panied the party from Boston to Albany. The Rev.

Benjamin Wadsworth, afterwards president of Har-
vard College, was one of the attendants, and from his

diary it appears that they returned through Weau-
tenaug to Hartford, by way of Woodbury. He says,

" About noon came to Ten-Mile River, called so from its

distance from Wyantcnuck,—runs into Wyantenuck,
—by ye side of which we rode, I believe, six or seven

miles, and passed ye same a little after sundown.

Wyantcnuck River is ye same yt pa.sseth thro' Ouse-
tonnuck ; it is Stratford River also." He also speaks

about some parts of the way being thrimgh "a hideous

j)rowling wilderness," and that some parts of their road

was " not so extreme bad." In August, 1696, Capt.

Whiting came from Hartford to Wiantonock, and the

General Court allowed five shillings per horse in cash

for their hire thither.

It was seventy years after William Holmes erected

the first frame house at Windsor, in 1633, before a

patent was received from the General Court of New
Milford. Woodbury, adjoining it on the east, had
been settled twenty-one years, and Danbury, the

nearest town on the -soutliwest of it, had been .settled

nineteen years, and the remaining part of Litchfield

County, as it is now divided, was a dense solitude,

and known as the " Wilderne.'w." The people of Mil-

ford, the town from which our town derived its name,
had some years before taken steps to purchase the

territory of the Indians, and had .secured the author-

ity from the (iencral Court.

The time had now come for them to take hold of

the matter in earnest, and sufficient numbers of their

leading citizens were found ready to form a company
to purchase the colonial title. The matter was agi-

tated in tlieir town-meetings, and Jan. 1, 1701-2, it

was voted " to purcliiuse Weautenaug of tlie heathen.

And if any freeman not present have a mind to come
in for a share, they have liberty to do .so, and if any
present have a mind to excni|)t himaelf from a share,

he likewise ha.s liberty to do so." A committee was
chosen, consisting of Col. Robert Treat, Ensign
George Clark, Ensign Joseph Treat, Mr. Thomas
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Clark, Ensign Joseph Peck, Sergt. Jonathan Baldwin,

and Sergt. Timothy Baldwin, to gain or purchase the

land, to treat with the Indians, and to secure the

town's interest there to the best of their skill. From

this first practical cflbrt made to commence the set-

tlement, eighty individuals were soon obtained who

were willing to hazard the doubtful experiment of

opening up these dark wilds to become the abodes of

civilized men.* It was the home of the aborigines,

on one of the most beautiful streams of water in the

State, where, at the Falls of Mitichawon, a most

wild and romantic gorge through the mountains, the

salmon sparkled in the sun as he was taken from the

water, punctured by the dart of the savage, and

where the red man had his council-fires, and was a

strong and powerful nation. Its dense forests were

full of wild game, and the panther, the bear, the Wolf,

and the deer roamed unmolested through its wild

wastes. The committee made the purchase of the

Governor and company, and received a patent of the

tract, which is- as follows, viz.

:

" Srepaug, his

'Wewinapowk, hia

'* Chasquemag, his

"WoMPOTOO, Ilia

" ToWECOMis, hia ^^J^

"ToucOMis, Ilia -^^m^^

A A, Indian forts ; B, a line representing Housatonic River; C, Indian

planting-field ; D, Indian reservation for fishing at the fields.

The above ia a reduced copy of a map or sketch of Wiantinogne as

drawn by the Indians.

PATENT, AND NAMES OF THE PURCHASERS.

The bounds of Weautenaug, by this patent, com-

menced at a small stream that empties into the Hou-
satonic River at Gaylordsville, and is the present

dividing line, in part, between the present towns of

Sherman and New Milford, and from that northwest

corner the line struck the Rocky River, and followed

that river, and left it at the small brook, from which

the line extended to the northeast corner of the town

of Danbury, which point has never been changed.

In running from that point to Woodbury, a portion

of the town of Brookfield was included in the bounds

of the patent. The north line was a straight one

from the mouth of the brook, on the west side of the

Housatonic River, at Gaylordsville, to the Bee Brook,

as is supposed, in the present town of Washington, and

then, following that stream, to the Shepaug River.

There can be but little doubt where the east boundary

line of New Milford ran upon an examination of the

* Lambert's History of the Colony of New Haven.

patent of the town of Woodbury, which was granted

by the General Courts in 1686, and also a reference

to the five Indian deeds of Woodbury, and the con-

firmatory purchase from the Indians of May, 1706,

which covered all the former Indian grants. The
west boundary line of Woodbury, by its patent, is

very indefinite when it says " upon Potatuck River

(the Housatonic), the middle of the stream, and the

commons on the west." It is quite clear that it was

west on the Potatuck till it came to the Shepaug

River, before it reaches the New Milford patent. The
only way to determine the commons on the west is

by a reference to the Indian deeds. The first Indian

deed of Woodbury, in 1659, does not give a clear idea

of the west line, as it comprises a large tract in Litch-

field County. The Shepaug purchase of March 17,

168.5-86, which covered two-thirds of the present

town of Roxbury, extended only to the Shepaug

River on the west. By the confirmatory deed of

May, 1706, seven miles, by estimation, at the north

end, between Waterbury and Milford, " late pur-

chase, about fourscore rods west of Shepaug River,

at ye Steep Rock, and so running on ye west side of

sd. river of ye same breadth westward to ye mouth of

sd river to ye great river ( Housatonic )."t This refers

to the New Milford patent, but does not affect the

west line of New Milford, on the Shepaug River,

north of the point fourscore rods west of the river at

Steep Rock. At the time the New Milford patent

was granted, in 1703, the east bounds of the town,

upon a comparison of the two patents and the Indian

deeds, was mostly on the Shepaug River. The lines

between the two towns have since, however, been

perambulated and fixed where they are now.

According to the best estimate that can be made of

the territorial area covered by the colonial patent,

eighty-four square miles of territory were granted to

the one hundred and nine original first purchasers

and proprietors of New Milford. The price paid by

each proprietor for his right was twenty-four shil-

lings, or four dollars. A half-right cost twelve shil-

lings, or two dollars. There were ninety-nine whole

or twenty-four-shilling rights, and ten half or twelve-

shilling rights. The number of whole rights, by

making the ten half-rights into five whole rights,

would have been one hundred and four. The whole

rights then would amount to five hundred and six-

teen acres and a small fraction of land, at four dol-

lars for the whole, which shows what civilization does

to affect the price of real estate.

The first Indian deed which the colonists received

of Weautenaug was dated Feb. 8, 1702-3.

There seems to have been no action taken by the

inhabitants of Milford under the authority granted

by the General Court in May, 1702, and further au-

thority was obtained at the October session in 1703,

when the following act was passed

:

t Cothren's History of Ancient Woodbury, chap. ii. pp. 66-66.
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"This Court doe grant to tlie towne of Jlilford, purchaserB of a tract

of land of the ludialis (which hind Heth at Wiantcnnck) for a township,

liberty according to their purchase to take out a pattent signed by the

Govern' and Secretary under the seal of the Colony : always provided it

be not an infringement to any former legall purchases or proprieties, as

also that they doe make a settlement upon said laud within five years

under the conduct of a comittee for tlie stating of the town plott and

laying out the lotta The name of the said town to be New Milford.

"This Court doe appoint the Hon"i Colon" Robert Treat, Mr. Thomas

Clark, Ensign tieorge Clark, Ensign Joseph Treat, Ensign Joseph Peck,

Serj't Jonathan Baldwin, and Serjeant Timotliy Baldwin, they or any

five of them, a comittee for the regulation of the township purchased by

the inhabitants of Milford lying at Wiantanuck, they bearing the

charges."

THE FIRST SETTLEMENTS.

The time had now come for the Milford proprietors

to endeavor to settle the territory which they had

purchased. Most of them did not probably expect

to remove from their favorable location on the Sound

to the wild region of the red man, some distance from

there, in the wilderness, but were ready to enter into

any speculation that might offer in the rights they

had purchased. They had bought a large tract of

land for a very small consideration, which some day

they expected would be developed into rich and pro-

ductive farms, supporting an increasing population

of people of sturdy industry and valor. Most of them

were from among the leading business men of Milford,

and some were men of note in the colony, possessing

great talents and indomitable energy of character.

FIRST PROPRIETORS' MEETING.

The first meeting of the proprietors and purchasers

of New Milford was held at Milford, April 17, 1706,

when the following votes were passed

:

"Agreed and voted that the town jilat and home lots of New Milford

shall be speedily pitched & laid out by the committee chosen ii established

by the General Court according to & by the rules & orders that the Pro-

prietors shall agree upon and prescribe for their direction.

"That there be but two ranks or sorts of lots, one a four and twenty

shilling lot, and the other a twelve shilling lot, and that alt the lots be

laid out in twelve shilling lots. That what is wanting in the quality of

the land in the several lots be made up in quantity. That there be two

twenty four shilling lots more than the number of the Proprietors, laid

out for the use of the Proprietors, to be disposed of by two thirds parts of

the Proprielois. That those only who first go to settle there at Now
Milford shall draw lots anil they shall take therein lots together, and

they shall have liberty to begin where they please, A they that come af-

terwards, either by themselves or assigns shall take their lots as they

come to settle there, next lot to him that went before him, ho that hath a

four and twenty shilling right to take the two next lots lying together.

Under these simple directions of the projjrietors,

the committee, consisting of Samuel Eell.s, Edward
Camp, Joseph Treat, and Joseph Peck, after going to

Woodbury to determine how they commenced tlicir

settlements and laid out tlieir lioiiie-lots, made a re-

port of their doings to a meeting of the proprietors

held at Milford, Dec. 9, 1707, in which they say,

—

"After the best advice wo could come at or obtain fn>m Woodbury
men, have pitched the town plat on Asopetuck hill and have there lalil

out 16 homo lots, sevon acres and a half to a homo lot for two half tlmrpB,

In onler to proceed according to the order and agreement of tho prt>-

prietora."

It was also voted " that there be a division of ten

acres of land laid out under the same rules as have
been agreed upon about tlie home-lots."

28

Aspetuck Hill is the hill north of the present vil-

lage, now called Town Hill. The Town Hill of the

early days was what is now called Prospect Hill, where

was quite an extensive park or common, laid out for

the purpose of having sufficient pathways to the high-

ways that might run out from it in the future.

In consequence of the conflicting claims between

the Indian and colonial titles, arising from the Indian

deeds given to Henry Tomlins in 1671, the proprietors,

probably to encourage settlers to come to New Mil-

ford, at their meeting in December, 1707, decided,

—

" That if any person or persons that claim not under us, shall presume

to molest or disturb any person that settles there orderly, it is agreed that

all the proprietors will defend him from those that shall molest him in a

course of law, and that all the charges shall be born equally according

to their proportions, that is of tho charges in tryal of the title of the land

in a course of law, and no further."

In 1708 an eftbrt was made to settle these conflict-

ing rights, and Mr. Samuel Clark, Jr., Ensign Joseph

Peck, and Jonathan Law were chosen by the pro-

prietors " to treat with the Stratford men about the

lands which they claim at New Milford, and to agree

with them fully and Anally ;" but this attempt to come

to an understanding with them was unsuccessful, and

the proprietors, in April, 1709, decided that " we

will pay the charges that may be expended in mana-

ging the cause between Capt. Eels, Capt. Treat, En-

sign Peck, and Sergt, Camp, and Mr. Read, Tomlins,

Shelton, UlackUech, as tliere sliall or may be occa-

sion."

In March, 1707-8, the proprietors levied " three

shillings upon every twenty-four-.shilling right, and

proportionally on a twelve-sliilliiig right, for the de-

fraying tlie diargcs aforesaid," and December, 1709,

the powers of the committee for agreement witli Mr.

Read and liis partners were continued. It wa.s not,

however, till after the termination of tlic litigation

in reference to the title of the territory covered by

the colonial patent, about the year 1712, that settlers

conimenceil in any numbers to take po.sse.-<sion of their

lot.s and erect their dwellings. The lirst white settler

who made this town his permanent residence was

John Noble, of Westfield, Mass., who came in the

year 1707. Col. John Read, one of the parties to the

legal controversy as to the title of the Milford pro-

I prictors, came herc<|uite early to defend his title from

the natives; whether before .Mr. Noble or not is un-

known. He erected a dwelling-house in the town,

northwesterly from the present residence of Dr. (icorgo

Tavlor, which was used n.s u church after the adverse

decision of the lawsuit and his removal from the

town, till the first meeting-house was erected, in 1720.

.Ml we know of him is that he jireached the first ser-

mon in the town, having once lieen a candidate for

: tlie ministry, and a (ew years alter his removal from

I the town liecame an eminent attorney in the city of

Boston. It is supposed tliat he resided in Reading,

Conn., a short time after he left New Milford.

In December, 1710, Miij. Samuel Eells, Cajit. .losrph

Treat, Lieut. Joseph I'eck, Sergt. Samuel Clark, Jon-
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athan Law, John Noble, John Bostwick, and Sergt.

Zachariah Baldwin were appointed a committee, any
five of whom could act, " for ordering the settlement

of New Milford, dividing the lands, considering how
many families may be accommodated in and about

the place where the town-plat is already pitched,

leaving suitable commons, highways, etc."

This committee were all of them among the first

proprietors and purchasers of the town, except Messrs.

Noble and Bostwick, who were then residents of the

town, all of whom were well calculated to perform

the duties assigned them in a satisfactory manner.

They "met and took a view of the land and situation

of the same," and made a report of their orders to a

proprietors' meeting held at Milford, May 29, 1712.

A better scheme for dividing the lands and making
the allotments to each one could not well be devised.

They confirmed the division of seven acres and a half

for a home-lot taken up, fenced, or built upon, and
ten acres for a pasture, made Dec. 9, 1707, and made
two new forty-acre divisions to a whole share, and
twenty acres to a half share, and provided that one

of the forty-acre divisions should be upland, and that

they should be taken up in one entire piece.

For the purpose of getting a clearer idea of the

method adopted for making choice of the different

divisions, it may be well to insert several of the

orders of the committee, as follows

:

"That in the second division of 40 acres, the liberty of pitching or

making cliuise shall be directly contrary to the pitch or choise in the first

forty acre division, the last proprietor in the fii-st choise shall have the

first choise in the second division, and so on till the first proprietor in the

first division cometli to the last in the second division ; as also in the third

division, and in the fourth, if any hereafter shall be, the liberty of choise

shall be as in the fii*st division.

" That in the firet 40 acre division, the liberty of choise shall be first to

those who have already settled or built here, witli this limitation that

they shall not make their pitch further Southward than an east and west

line across the fishing falls, nor further northward than an east and west

line half a mile above tlie mouth of Aspetuck Eiver, excepting only Mr.

John Nobles, who has already improved land at Rocky river, who has

liberty to take his pitch in that place.

" The next thirty proprietors tliat shall here come to settle shall have

liberty as they come, to take their home lots of 7 and 3^ acres, on Aspe-

tuck hill or plain northward, also tlieir proportions of the 10 acre divis-

ions, and their 40 acres to an whole share or half so much to an half

share in order as they shall come to settle here, anywhere between the

southermost line before mentioned & an east and west line one mile

southward of the great monntaiu.

"Tliat the rest of the proprietors as they shall hereafter settle their

several properties, shall take up their home lots, and their ten acre divis-

ions, and make their pitch for their first division anywhere within the

whole bounds."

At this time there were but twelve families in the

town ; but under these rules and regulations, and

after the legal victory they had achieved, settlers be-

gan to come here to make their permanent residence.

The twelve families were John Noble, Sr., John
Bostwick, Sr., Roger Brownson, Zachariah Ferriss,

Benjamin Bostwick, John Noble, Jr., Josiah Bartlet,

Samuel Brownson, Samuel Griswold, John Bostwick,

Jr., John Weller, Thomas Weller, sixty persons in

all, none of them of the original purchasers and

proprietors.

LIST OP ORIGINAL PROPRIETORS.

The following were the original first

and proprietors of New Milford, with

each one paid for his right

:

purchasers

the amount

Col. Robert Treat
f Mr. Thomas Clark
Ensn Geo. Clark

Committee, < Lieut. Joseph Treat
Ensn .Joseph Beck

[ Jonathan Baldwin
Samuel Baldwin, wheelwright
Lieut. Jos. Piatt
Sergt. Miles Merwin
Samuel Sanford, Sr
John Bruun
Capt. Samuel Eells

Sergt. Edward Camp
Rev. Ml'. Andrews
Thomas Welch
James Prime
Stephen Miles
Barnabas Baldwin
John Woodruff
Mr. Ricliard Bryan
Daniel Terrill

'

Samuel Brisco
Timothy Botsford
Sergt. Daniel Baldwin
Mr. Robert Treat
Mr. Robert Plum
Deacon Piatt

Thomas Clark
Mr. Samuel Clark, Jr
Samuel Buckingham
Thomas Buckingham
John Buckingham
William Wheeler

,

Nathaniel Farrand, Sr
George Allen
Samuel Camp, mason
John Smith, Jr. (4th)
Samuel Clark, Sr
Epbrahin Bunnell
Joseph Brunt
Joseph Camp
Samuel Camp Lunsend
Nathaniel Farrand, Jr
Thomas Tibballs
Thomas Canfield
John Merwin
Mr. Samuel Andrus, Jr
George Clark, Sr
Joseph Clark
Joseph Peck, Jr
John Camp
Sergt. John Smith
Jonathan Law, Jr
John Allen
Hugh Gray
Josepli .\sbburn
Jolin Simons
James Kenn
Zachariah Whitmer
William Adams
Joseph Rogers
Samuel Stone
Jonathan Baldwin, Jr
Jesse Lambert
Samuel Prudden
Henry Summers „
Samuel Smith Watten
Sergt. Zachary Baldwin
Benjamin Smith
John Clark
John Smith, Jr
John Piatt
Josiah Piatt

,

Richard Piatt
"William Kowler
Samuel Prindle
Sergt. Samuel Bland
Sergt. Samuel Northrup
George Clark, Jr
Samuel Coley
Samuel Merwin
Lieut. Samuel Burwell
Samuel Miles
James Bland
Samuel Smith
William Gold
Joseph Wheeler
Job Prince
Andrew Sanford
Samuel Camp, son of Edward Camp
Ebenezer Pratt
Lieut. Camp
William Scone

,

Widow Mary Baldwin

4
4
4
4
4
4
4
4
4
4
4
4
i
4
4
4
4
4
4
4
4
4
4
4
4
12

4

4
4
4
4
4
4
4
4
4
4
4
4
4
4
4
4
4
i
4
4
4
4
4
4
4
4
4
12
4
4
4
4
4
4
4
4

12
12
4
4
12
4
4
4
4
4
12
4
4
4
4
4
4
4
4
4
4
4
4
12
4
4
4
4
12
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f s. d.

James Baldwin 12

Nathaniel Baldwin, cooper 12
Samuel Nettletou 14
Joseph Treat, son of Lieut. Treat 14
Jeremiah Caufield 14
Thomas Smith 14
Nathaniel Baldwin, Sr 1 4
Jeremiah Brown 14
Bethuel LangstafT 14
Andrew Sanford, Jr 14
Natlianiel Sanford 14
Jolin Merwin. Jr 14
Joseph Tilihalls 14
Billian Baldwin, in right of her father, Timo-
thy Baldwin 14

Mr. Samuel Mather 14
Col. Eobert Treat, the first of the original first

purchasers of the town, was one of the most eminent

men of the colony. He became a colonel of the

Connecticut troops in 1674. In 1683 he was chosen

Governor of the colony, to which office he was re-

elected for fifteen years. He married a daughter of

Edmond Tapp, Esq., and there is the following tra-

dition concerning the match : While making a call at

Mr. Tapp's, he took the girl upon his knee and

commenced trotting her. "Robert," said she, "be
still that. I had rather be treated than trotted."

He then proposed marriage, to which she immedi-

ately consented.* He never came to the town, and

died in July, 1716. Upon a dispute with the Rev.

Mr. Andrew, as to the title, by his last will, of his

twenty-four-shilling right at New Milford, his four

grandchihlren—Joseph, Robert, Samuel, and Jona-

than—deeded their interest in the New Milford house

to Mr. Andrew in 1730-31. Samuel, Col. Robert

Treat's son, deeded his interest to Joseph Treat, son

of Lieut. Treat, in July, 1716. The home-lot to this

right was laid northward from the town-plat, in the

vicinity of Park Lane. Mr. Thomas Clark had a

home-lot laid out on Long Mountain in 1723, but he

did not come here to reside, and his right went into

the hands of his sons, Thomas, Jr., and Jured.

Thomas, Jr., deeded his interest to his son Thomas
(4th) in 1761. They did not come here to reside.

Among those who ultimately owned their riglit were

John Warner, Thomas Noble, and Roger Sherman,

who resided here.

Ensign (icorge Mark sold his entire riglit to Nathan
Talcot, who came here to reside, probably after 1720.

He deeded a home-lot and dwelling-house to Ebene-

zcr Fisk, situated northeasterly of the common, on

Town Hill, and eastward from the meeting-liousc,

which stood on Aspotuck Hill, a little northwest of

the residence of the hite John P. Treadwell. This

.same Jioniestead afterwards pa.ssed into the hands of

Kli Roberts, of Wallingford, abont the year 17")0, who
afterwards removed here.

The whole of the original right of Lieut. Joseph

Treat pa.ssed into the possession of his son .loliii, who
removed here probably alter 1721. Where lie resided

wlien he first came is not known. As mo.st of his

land wius laid out at the Shcpaug Neck, the present

town of Bridgewater, some of it near Hawley's Park,

* Lambert'a History of tho Colony of New Uafen, p. 137.

and some near Treat's Park, it is evident he must

have resided there, as he owned a dwelling-house

there in 1750.

The home-lot that John laid out in the right of his

father must have been near the present residence of

Stephen G. Beecher. He sold it to Eleazar Beecher

in 1732, who came here to reside about that time, and

it has remained in the Beecher family from that time

to the present.

Ensign Joseph Peck's twenty-four-shilling right

was owned by Enoch Burk in 1715, who came here

to reside. His home-lot was the farthest one at the

north end of Town Street, one of the sixteen on Aspe-

tuck Hill.

James Flinn became the owner of the whole of the

right of Jonathan Baldwin, and had his home-lot and

all his divisions laid out in the Shepaug Neck, near

the " planting-field."

The rights of Capt. Samuel Eells, Sergt. Edmund
Camp, and Rev. Mr. Andrew passed into other hands,

and there were no home-lots laid to them. Capt.

Samuel Eells was a man of influence in the colony,

having been a justice of the quorum and an assistant.

The Rev. Mr. Andrew was at the time of the pur-

chase and settlement of New Milford the third pastor

of the church at Milford, where ho continued in the

pastoral office fifty-two years, dying in 1738, aged

eighty-two years.

f

Thomas Welch was an extensive operator in real

estate about the time the New Milford purchase was

made. He bought a thou.sand-acro right for eleven

pounds, and also owned a large tract of land in

Hebron.t Paul Welch became the owner of his

father's right after |)urchasing the interests of his

two sisters, after his father's decease. His house was

at Park Lane, near the old Thomas Wills' place.

In the earliest times the village, or Centre, was on

Aspetuek Hill, as it was then called, north of the

present Centre, now known :is Town Hill. There

were no dwelling-houses on Main Street lower down
than the residence of Walter Bostwick, on the west

side of the street, and of the residence of the late

Deacon (i. W. Whittlesey, now the Episcopal church,

on the cast side of the street. The lower part of the

present Main Street was a very miry swamp of trees

and thick bushes, where, trailition says, the Indiana

caught their wild horses by driving them into it and

surrounding them there.

It may be interesting to know who made this beau-

tiful hill their home at this early period in our his-

tory, an far back as 1712, and exactly where their

places of residence were. Of the twelve families who
lived in the town in 1712, four of them tlien lived at

the foot of Aspetuek Hill, on the town street or plat.

Their names were John Noble, Sr., John Bostwick,

Sr., Zachariah Ferri.ss, and John Weller. Benjamin

I
Bostwick resided on Town Hill, now Prospect Hill;

I tR>><L
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John Bostwick, Sr., resided in the vicinity of where

John R. Bostwick now lives ; Samuel Brownson lived

the next place south ; Roger Brownson the next south

of his brother ; John Noble, Jr., lived at the South

Farms, now the iron-works, Brookfield, near Gallas

Hill ; Samuel Prindle lived on the west side of the

run ; Thomas Weller lived on west side of Great

River; Jonah Bartlett; Samuel Griswold.

The tendency of the early settlers to build their

villages on some sightly hill is clearly shown in New
Milford, although there were many houses on low

ground. The inhabitants of Town Hill could have

a fine view of the houses on Aspetuck Hill, and im-

agination carries us back to tlie time when from

either of these hills all the dwelling-houses of the

people in the town could be seen with one sweep of

the eye. The home-lots on Town Street (Main Street)

were generally about twenty rods in breadth on the

street. The Town Street, " beginning at John Noble's,

Sr., home-lot shall extend so far northward as shall

be necessary for building lots to be 20 rods wide, as it

is to run up the hill against the front of Saml. Clark's

home-lot, and in no place less than 14 or 15 rods

wide, except where lots are taken up ; and from John

Noble's home-lot to extend southward, from thence

winding as ye lots are already laid out on the westerly

side till it comes to Samuel Holbrook's home-lot, to

be 20 rods wide, when the circumstances of the place

allows of it."

I will now name the first owners and occupiers of the

houses on the west side of Town Street, commencing

at the foot of the hill. The first dwelling-house was

that of Stephen Noble, and was about where the man-

sion of Walter B. Bostwick stands. He received a deed

from his father, John Noble, of one-half of the original

right of Samuel Merwin, one of the first purchasers

and proprietors of the town, who did not come here to

reside. The second house was that of John Bostwick,

Sr., which stood in the vicinity of the residence of Mrs.

Frederick Boardman, and must have been erected at

a very early date, soon after the lots on Aspetuck Hill

were laid out. He was one of the twelve inhabitants

who resided here in 1712. The third place was

that of Samuel Clark, and stood near the brick

house of William D. Black. This was the second lot

laid on the west side of the street after the proprie-

tors' meeting of Ajiril, 1706, when they decided to

speedily pitch the town-plat. The next lot north was

also owned by Mr. Clark, but there was no house built

upon it for many years at least. The fourth house was

the parsonage, the residence of the Rev. Mr. Daniel

Boardman, which was about opposite the first meet-

ing-house erected in the town. It was a home-lot

laid out for the minister. The fifth residence was

that of Jacob Griswold, and it stood in the vicinity of

the lot of William D. Black. The sixth house be-

longed to David Griswold. The seventh residence

was that of Benoni Stebbins, and his home-lot was

laid out in 1713. William Gaylord owned a home-

lot next north of that of Mr. Stebbins, which was
afterwards owned by Benjamin Burrell. Mr. Gay-
lord bought this of Thomas Canfield, an original pur-

chaser. The next house belonged to Roger Brown-

son, and was one he built himself. He was one of

the twelve families here in 1712.

The first house on the plain at the foot of Aspetuck

Hill, on the east side of the Town Street, belonged to

John Noble, Sr., and was situated down as far as the

residence of the late Deacon G. W. Whittlesey. He
removed from his log hut under Guarding Mountain
here. He was one of the twelve persons here in 1712.

The next house was that of John Weller, who leased,

and finally bought, the original right of Thomas
Smith. The lease was for twelve years from Dec. 28,

1710, and one of the stipulations of the lease was that

Mr. Smith should procure one hundred and fifty

apple-trees from Woodbury for Weller to plant. It

is believed they were set out, etc. His house proba-

bly stood in the vicinity of the first house south of

the Congregational church, now owned by S. G.

Beecher, lot of Thomas Smith.

The third house on the east side of the street was

that of William Gaylord, where he resided. He
bought the place of Thomas Canfield, one of the first

purchasers of the town, in 1723, but had built his

house and resided there before he received his deed.

This house was on the corner lot of the residence

of Dr. George Taylor.

The next place of residence was that of Zachariah

Ferriss, of three acres and three-quarters. Where he

lived when he first came here is unknown, but it is

evident he finally built here on this place. His lot

was twenty rods wide on Town Street, and seventeen

rods wide on the east side. This was the place occu-

pied by Col. John Read.

The next place of residence was that of Caleb Mal-

lory, and stood about opposite the first. This origi-

nal right was Richard Bryan, who was a merchant

and a great speculator. The meeting-house was on

the north of it, and the next lot was a parsonage lot.

The next lot north was that of Jonathan Buck, and

was twenty rods wide on the street. The next house

on the east side of the street was that of Theophilus

Baldwin, an original proprietor. The next house be-

longed to John Welch, who received the title of the

whole original right of Sergt. Daniel Baldwin in

April, 1715, and had the lot laid the next day after

he made the purchase. Enoch Burk's house was the

farthest one at the north end of Town Street, on

Aspetuck Hill. James Prince, Jr., had a lot on As-

petuck Hill.

Stephen Miles, one of the first purchasers, did not

come here to reside.

The interests of Barnabas Baldwin, one of the first

purchasers, came into the possession of John Noble,

AVm. Kellogg, and Joseph Ruggles in 1734. It was

situated at the iron-works at Brookfield, where a

smelting-furnace was afterwards erected.
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The right of John WoodruflF was sold to John

Noble, Jr., of Westfield, in 1706, who came here to

reside, and was one of the twelve heads of families

here in 1712. The original home-lot to this right

was laid near the north bounds of the town, on the

West Aspetuck River.

The home-lot to the right of Daniel Turrill, one of

the first purchasers and proprietors, was in the Still

River Neck. Samuel Brisco, one of the first pur-

chasers, came here and lived on Second Hill about

1725 ; also Timothy Botsford, who resided at the She-

paug Neck about 1730.

The home-lots to the original rights of Mr. Robert

Treat and Joseph Rogers were on the west side of

Second Hill, on the highway, about opposite the vil-

lage. Neither of them came here to reside, and their

places passed into other hands.

The right of Mr. Robert Plum, who did not come

here to live, was sold, and no home lot ever laid.

Deacon Piatt's lot was laid to Theophilus Baldwin, on

Aspetuclc Hill. Thomas Clark sold his interest in

New Milford to his son, and the home-lot was laid to

Samuel Clark. Samuel Clark, Jr., had no home-lot

laid.

Samuel Buckingham, home-lot laid on chestnut

land.

Thomas Buckingham, home-lot laid on Second Hill,

east from town, probably where B. W. Buckingham

now resides.

John Buckingham's home-lot was laid to the wife

of Joseph Treat, Jr., son of Lieut. Treat, in Shepaug

Neck.

Wm. Wheeler did not come here to reside. He
died soon after the purchase.

Nathan Farrand's, Sr., interest passed into the pos-

session of Zachariah Ferriss.

Geo. Allen did not remove here. The home-lot to

this right was in the Still River Neck, near Danbury

bounds.

Samuel Camp's (mason) interest went to John Bost-

wick, Sr. Home-lot on Town Street, etc.

John Smith (4th) and Samuel Clark, Sr., did not

come here to reside, and their lots were laid out to

others.

Ephrahim Burwell's home-lot was in Shepaug

Neck, near Samuel Hrisco's.

Josepli Beard had a homo-lot laid out on the west

side of Town Street.

Joseph Cami)'s home-lot was laid in Still River

Neck, by the patii towards Newtown, and was sold to

David Luke in 1725.

Samuel Camp's (Land's End) home-lot was just

north of Paul Welch's, Park Lane.

Nathaniel Farrand, Jr., and Thomas Tibbals had

no home-lots laid out to their right.

John Mcrwin. The lots to this right were laid on

Second Hill.

Wm. Gold's home-lot, where he resided, was on the

Poplar highway which went north of Town Street,

just above the village. Samuel Adkins lived near

Mr. Gold.

The right of Joseph Wheeler came into the pos-

session of Rev. Mr. Boardman.

John Prime's right was sold to Thomas Gushing, of

Boston, and the home-lot was laid on West Aspetuck

River, at south end of Great Mount Tom. Neither of

them came here.

Andrew Sanford's home-lot was laid to Andrew

Tuttle, on the northeast end of Bound Hill.

Samuel Camp's (son of Edward Camp) lot was laid

to Joseph Garnsey, north of the village, on Poplar

highway, since discontinued.

Eleazar Prindle's home-lot was laid to Ebenezer

Fisk, son of Doc. Fisk, on ea.st side of Town Hill.

Wm. Scone, Widow Mary Baldwin, and Nathaniel

Baldwin, cooper, had no home-lots laid to their rights.

Samuel Baldwin, wheelwright, had a home-lot laid

on Still River Neck.

Lieut. Joseph Piatt had no home-lot.

Sergt. Miles Merwin's home-lot was laid on Bear

Hill, east from Wolf-Pit Mountain.

Samuel Sanford's, Sr., right was finally the Rev.

Mr. Boardman's.

John Beard's home-lot was on the east side of She-

paug Neck. The whole interest came into the pos-

session of Joseph Ruggles in 1733.

Mr. Samuel Andrew's, Jr., home-lot was on south

end of Bear Hill, on both sides of Cross Brook.

Geo. Clark and Joseph Clark had no home-lots

laid.

Joseph Peck had a home-lot laid near Danbury

line.

John Camp and Sergt. John Smith had no lots laid.

Sold.

Jonathan's Law's, Jr., home-lot on Strait's Hill,

west side Great River.

John Allen died, and Henrj- Allen, his brother,

sold his interest to Samuel Clark in 1710.

Joseph Ashburn. This right was bought by The-

ophilus Baldwin, and the home-lot was laid to Samuel

Burwell, who owned it.

John SuniMiers had no lots laid out.

James Finn had his home-lots laid in Shepaug

Neck, at the planting-field.

Zachariah Whitman had no home-lot.s laid.

Wm. Adams. The home-lot to this right wius laid

to Peter Peritt and Roger Brownson, north of Samuel

Brownson's home-lot, west on (Jreat River in part,

and in jmrt on Joseph Bostwick's land, west on Town

Hill.

Joseph Rogers, home-lot on east side, Second Hill.

Samuel Stone's home-lot was laid to John Stone,

and was northeast from Round Hill, on the east side

of East Aspetuck River.

, Jonathan Baldwin, Jr. There were never any home-
' lots laid to this right, and he never came here.

Jes.se I.,anil)ert's right or hi)nie-lot was laid to his

' sons Jesse and David, at Shepaug Neck.
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Jesse Lambert came to Boston and New Milford

from England, where he settled about 1080. He had

been an officer in the British navy. He was great-

grandfather to Edward R. Lambert, author of a his-
j

tory of the colony of New Haven, giving a descrip-

tion of Milford, published in 1838.

Samuel Prudden had a home-lot in Still River

Neck, near the south end of the bounds, but did not

come here to reside.

Henry Summers and Samuel Smith Walter did

not come here, and hail no lots laid.

Sergt. Zachariah Baldwin. He did not come here;

his son, Ebenezer B.aldwin, resided here, and his

father's home-lot was on Town Street.

Benjamin Smith, Sr., did not come here, neither

did John Clark.

John Smith, ,Tr., had a home-lot in Still River

Neck.

Josiah and Richard Piatt had no lots laid to their

rights.

William Fowler sold a portion of his land to Samuel

Prindle and Joseph Bostwick, who came here to re-

side. Joseph Bostwick had a lot on Town Street,

near Great Brook.

Samuel Prindle had his home-lot where he lived, on

Town Street, near Great Brook.

Sergt. Samuel Northrop's right was deeded by his

sons to John Turrill in 1714, and John deeded to his

son Nathan in 1717. His home-lot was Town Hill

probably.

George Clark, Jr., had no home-lots.

Samuel Coley laid to William Gaylord.

Samuel Marwin had no home-lots laid.

Lieut. Samuel Burwell's home-lot was on Aspetuck

Hill.

Samuel Miles. Samuel Brownson had this lot, and

it was north on lot John Bostwick, Jr., had built up,

south on lot Roger Brownson had built upon.

James Beard had a home-lot laid on road to chest-

nut-land.

Samuel Nettleton did not come here, but his home-

lot was laid out to his sons, John and Samuel, in She-

paug Neck.

Joseph Treat, son of Lieut. Treat, married a daugh-

ter of John Buckingham, and there were two home-

lots laid in Shepaug Neck, one in the original right

of each.

Jeremiah Canfield's home-lot was on the plain by

the Round Mountain. His whole right went to his

son, Jeremiah, Jr.

Thomas Smith, Sr., John Weller, etc.

Nathaniel Baldwin, Sr., Jeremiah Brand had no

home-lots.

Buthuel Langstaft's home-lot was on Second Hill,

on Woodbury road. Joseph Manning owned one-half

of it.

Andrew Sanford, Jr., had no home-lots laid.

Nathaniel Sanford's right was sold to Benjamin

Hurd, of Woodbury, in 1724.

John Marwin, Jr., had no lots.

Joseph Tibball's home-lots were laid in Shepaug
Neck to Daniel Collins.

B. Baldwin's home-lot was laid in Shepaug Neck.

Samuel Mather had no lot laid.

The meetings of the proprietors were held at New
Milford after 1723-24. In 1714 the town voted that

there "should be a grist-mill set up and maintained

for the benefit of the town," and in 1715 the proprie-

tors voted that they should " agree with some person

to build and maintain a grist-mill on some part of

Still River or elsewhere," and that the committee
" execute any instrument or instruments for the grant-

ing the stream and some land, in the name of the pro-

prietors." John Griswold came, on the invitation of

the committee, and built the mill on Still River, but

did not long survive. The proprietors, however, car-

ried out their agreement with his heirs by granting

them a house-lot and other lands as a recompense for

building the mill.

The early settlers also saw the necessity of having

a blacksmith among them, and eighteen of them

agreed with James Hine that, if he " do become our

smith and faithfully endeavor to do our work for rea-

sonable satisfaction for four years," they would give

him a certain number of acres of land. He came.

It was not till 1728 that the effort to secure a cooper

was successful. Jonathan Buck, Jr., was an appren-

tice to Benjamin Bunnell, of Milford, and about ten

of our leading citizens,—such men as the Rev. B.

Roger Brown, Benoni Stebbins, Nathan Talcot, and

Paul Welch,—upon his desire to come here, made him

a contribution of land, money, and labor, upon con-

dition that he " settle in this town as soon as his time

is out with his master, Bunnell, and also be obliged to

supply the town with needful cooper-work,—viz., set

work and rhine work,—at a reasonable price, so long

as there shall be an occasion for his work, or while

there is not another or others of his trade sufficient to

supply said town, or while he shall have life and abil-

ity so to serve the town." Some gave land and some

ten shillings in work, some two days' work, and his

father, Jonathan Buck, agreed to give " considerable

labor;" and so he came, and carried on his trade, the

first cooper in the town.

The town charges, at the commencement of man-

aging the affairs of the proprietors town-wise, were

paid either in money or in grain, the price of which

was fixed in town-meeting. At the annual town-

meeting of December, 1715, it was voted " that grain

should pass for paying town charges as follows

:

wheat at four shillings per bushel ; rye at two shil-

lings and eightpence per bushel ; Indian corn at two

shillings per bushel ; oats at one shilling fourpence

per bushel, and flax at sixpence per pound." These

prices varied by vote of the town from year to year.

In 1718 the price was fixed for Indian corn at three

shillings per bushel (50 cents) ; wheat, six shillings

per bushel ($1 )
; rye, four shillings per bushel (66s
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cents) ; oats, at one shilling per bushel
;
pork, three-

pence per pound (4 cents) ; flax, 7 cents per pound

(9if cents).

Every public matter in these early times was done

either in the meetings of the proprietors, the town-

meetings, or the meetings of the proprietors of the

common fields. One of the hardships of pioneer life

would have been the necessity of inclosing their di-

visions of land by proper fences, which would have

caused a great amount of labor and expense. To
avoid this difficulty in a measure, the earliest settlers

had meetings of the proprietors of the common fields,

as they were called, and decided to co-operate, under

such rules and restrictions as might be agreed upon,

in supporting common fences to inclose certain por-

tions of their lands. These meetings were held from

time to time, as might be necessary, called by a per-

son designated for that purpose, either under his own
or the direction of the meeting. Fences were thus

established, and built under the direction of commit-

tees appointed for that purpose, and each of the pro-

prietors paid his share of the expense. The length

of fence was set in rods to each proprietor, for which

he was liable to pay a pro rata share of the expense

incurred.

The east side of the Great River, from the Great

Falls to Aspetuck River, some ways back from the

river, was thus inclosed by a general line of fence,

and the west side of the Great River, from Rocky

River, by the mountains, to Wood Creek, and north

of the Still River meadows to the Great Falls, were

all inclosed in one common line of fence, built and

supported by votes in the meetings. In these meet-

ings it was decided where the gates should be, at

what time of the year or week the common fields

should be open for pasturage of horses and cattle,

and to make regulations about planting, etc.

In October, 1717, the proprietors decided "that the

fields should be opened for cattle and horses upon

Saturday, Oct. Sth, at sunset." They generally or-

dered that the fields should be opened from Saturday

sunset till Monday morning or Sunday night, and

some years they voted to keep them closed entirely.

Cattle, sheei), or horses found in the fields at any

other time than designated wore to be considered

" damage frusant," and were liable to be impounded.

Sheep and swine were sometimes allowed in the

fields.

As a result of thus allowing their cattle, sheep, and

swine to run together, and from the necessities of

these early timftf, the town established marks on the

ears of the cattle, slieci), and swine, called ear-marks,

which were made for each owner or proprietor, so

that he could distinguish his animals from tho.se of

his neighbors. These marks were described and re-

corded in the town records to the individual. As

early as 1728 this metiiod of identifying animals was

put into |)ractical operation, and all the proprietors

had their peculiar ear-mark made and recorded.

THE NORTH PURCHASE.

About the year 1721 the inhabitants of the town be-

gan to agitate the subject of enlarging the northern

frontier, and the suggestion was received with such

favor by the citizens that it was finally agreed in

town-meeting, June 12, 1722, " that if in case we can

purchase any of the land northward from our town,

that we will divide equally to each man above twenty-

one years of age; and also that we agree that every

man that hath a son under age shall have liberty to

purchase for one son that is under the age of twenty-

one years, and no more, and that those so purchased

for shall be equal sharers with the rest of the pur-

chasers." A few days after this meeting a meeting

was held to determine how many of the inhabitants

of the town would agree to make the purchase, and

sixty-four persons subscribed their names to a paper,

which was entered on the town records, " that they

would proceed to purchase one mile and a half across

the north end of New Milford bounds." None of

the purchasers were to have a share or interest in the

land but those who paid the purchase money within

two months after June 22, 1722, the date of the meet-

ing. The purchase of this strip of land was made of

a committee of Hartford and Windsor by Samuel

Brownson, William Gaylord, and .Stephen Noble,

agents for the inhabitants of New Milford, for thirty

pounds, on the 23d day of June, 1722, in the eighth

year of the reign of King George I. Hartford and

Windsor obtained a grant in KiSCi from the colony of

Connecticut of all the land on the north of Wood-

bury and Mattatuck, and on the west of Farmington

and Simsbury, to the Massachusetts line nortli, and to

run west to the Housatonic River, which covered the

north purchase. The native right of the Indians,

also, of this tract had been purcluLsed by Hartford

and Windsor before the New Milford purchasers re-

ceived their deed.

NAMES OF PURCHASERS.

The names of the original |)urchasers of the " North

Purchase" were Zachariah Ferris, John Ferris, Benja-

min Bostwick, John Wellcr, Sr., Obadiah Weller,

Thomius Weller, Enoch Buck, Lemuel Bostwick,

Thomas Picket, Thomius Brownson, Daniel Board-

man, Samuel Camp, James Camp, Abraham Bost-

wick, Ebenczer Bostwick, Benjamin Bunnell, Sr.,

Benjamin Bunnell, Jr., William Corns, Ebenczer

Washburn, George Corns, John Bostwick, Jr., John

Bostwick (;{d), James Prime, William Prime, John

Bostwick, Sr., Ste|)lion Noble, Jonathan Noble, Paul

Welch, Tlieophilus Baldwin, Benoni Stebbins, Eben-

czer Picket, Samuel Brownson, Roger Brown.son,

Samuel Prindle, John Welch, Sr., John Welch, Jr.,

David Noble, Daniel Noble, Robert Bostwick, Nathan

Bostwick, Samuel Hitchcock, Sr., Samuel Hitchcock,

Jr., Jonathan Hitchcock, John Hitciicock, Samuel

Prindle, Jr., Roger Brownson. Jr., John Weller, Jr.,

John Noble, Samuel Atkins, (Jamaliel Terrill, Jona-
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than Buck, John Noble, Jr., Nathaniel Bostwick,

Joseph Buck, Robert Bostwick, Jr., Nathan Terrill,

Ebenezer Buck, Joseph Bostwick (2d), Henry Gar-

lick, Ebenezer Baldwin, Sr., Ebenezer Baldwin, Jr.,

William Gaylord, Benjamin Gaylord, Joseph Bost-

wick, Sr.

July 25, 1726, the proprietors of the north pur-

chase commenced to hold meetings, and at that meet-

ing Ensign William Gaylord and Roger Brownson

were chosen a committee to assist the surveyor to run

the lines in bounding out the proprietors' land, and a

rate of twelvepence for each proprietor was raised to

defray the expenses, which was afterwards raised one

shilling and sixpence on each right.

The land was laid out and surveyed by Edward
Lewis, Esq., surveyor of the county of Fairfield, on

Aug. 1, A.D. 1726.

It was not, however, till December, 1730, that the

proprietors took steps to have the land laid out, and

they then decided " that the lots should run but half-

way through the tract ; or thus, one lot on the north

side and the other on the south side." In 1731 the

proprietors had laid out the greater part of the tract

into sixty-four lots, making .suitable allowances for

highways. There were thirty-two lots laid out on the

north tier, the first to Benoni Stephens and the last

to Mr. David Boardman. The other lots were laid

out on the south tier, in accordance with the votes

pa.ssed in proprietors' meetings.

The proprietors thought it would be to their ad-

vantage to secure the annexation of their purchase

to the town, and thus have it under one government.

They could then discontinue their separate meetings.

The General Assembly was finally memorialized by

Samuel Brownson and David Boardman in behalf of

New Milford, and in October, 1731, a patent of the

north purchase was granted, signed by Joseph Talcot,

Esq., Governor, and it thus became a part of the town

of Nev.' Milford. It is bounded in the patent " west

on the Great River, one mile and half of a mile in

breadth, from thence to run a parallel with the north

bounds of New Milford, unto the land sequestered for

the use of Wereaunaug." The remaining unsettled

lands north of this tract in the wilderness were then

claimed by the towns of Hartford and Windsor.

BIOGRAPHICAL NOTES OF SOME OF THE FIRST
SETTLERS.

John Noble was born in Springfield, Mass., March

6, 1662, and was the first settler of New Milford,

having made this town his place of residence in 1707.

When he emigrated to this town he was an inhabitant

of the town of Westfield, Mass., to which place he

came with his father in childhood. His father,

Thomas Noble, the emigrant ancestor of the largest

family in the United States bearing the name of

Noble, was born in England about 1632, and died at

Westfield, Mass., at the age of at least seventy-two

years. The names of his parents, the place of his

birth, and the year in which he came to this country

are unknown, but it is supposed he came to Boston in

1653. He came to Westfield about the year 1669.

John was the oldest of ten children. His first wife

was Abigail Sacket, daughter of John and Abigail

Sacket, of Northampton and Westfield, Mass., who
died in 1683, aged nineteen, four days after the birth

of his first child; and in 1684 married Mary Good-

man, daughter of Richard and Mary Goodman, of

Hadley, Mass., who was one of the first original mem-
bers of the first church organized at New Milford, in

1716. He had eleven children.* "When he first

came to New Milford he brought one of his daugh-

ters, then about eight years of age. He built his hut

under what is called Fort Hill. It deserves to be

mentioned to the credit of the natives, that he once

left his daughter, when eight years of age, with the

natives for three or four weeks, while he was absent

from the town, and found on his return that she had

been well cared for.f He had joined the First Congre-

gational Church in Woodbury, Conn., in 1710. He
was a very active and energetic man, serving faith-

fully in all the various capacities in which he was, of

necessity, called upon to act in this new and undevel-

oped country. He was very active in securing town

privileges; but in the midst of his greatest usefulness

in the new settlement, and before his plans had been

carried out, he was called away by death, which oc-

curred Aug. 17, 1714. He was only fifty-two years of

age.

The inventory of his estate amounted to one hun-

dred and seven pounds, three shillings, sixpence.

John Noble, Jr., son of John, Sr., was born at

Westfield, Mass., Feb. 15, 1685. He had three wives

:

1st, Hannah Picket; 2d, Abigail Buck, of Wethers-

field, Conn. ; 3d, Sarah Slaughter, of Ridgefleld,

Conn. He had three children by his first wife, six

by his second, and four by his third. He lived six or

seven miles below the village of New Milford, next

south of Gallows Hill, on the Danbury road, where

he built a house and lived and died. He was one of

the pioneers of the town, coming here to live soon

after his father. He became a member of the Con-

gregational Church in 1720. He was captain of the

train band in New Milford in 1732. He died, 1783,

at the age of seventy-one. His oldest son, Thomas,

built the first house north of Gallows Hill, in New
Milford, near his father, where he resided. He was

for many years the owner of the iron-works known

by that name, now in the town of Brookfield, then a

part of New Milford. He was a member of the Gen-

eral Assembly five sessions, and filled many offices of

trust. He died in the summer of 1773, aged eighty-

eight years. Most of the facts in this sketch are

taken from Boltwood's history of the family of

Thomas Noble.

* Boltwood's History and Genealogy of the Family of Thomas Noble.

f Stanley Griswold's Centui-y Sermon, 1801.
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Capt. Stephen Noble, son of John, Sr., was born in

Westfield, Mass., Aug. 15, 1686, and died in New
Milford at the age of sixty-nine. He was a black-

smith by trade, and an extensive land-holder in the

town, to which he probably removed as early as Jan.

24, 1714. He was a very influential man in the town,

and was selectman fifteen years, and justice of the

peace. He was one of the first representatives to the

General Assembly, none having been chosen prior to

1725, and afterwards sent sixteen times.

He was the captain of the only military company
in the town for twenty years after its organization.

He joined the Congregational Church at New Milford

in 1727. He married Abigail Morgan, Feb. 16, 1683,

daughter of Isaac Morgan, of Enfield, Conn. He had

seven children. The facts contained in this brief

sketch of Capt. Noble are taken from Boltwood's
" History of the Family of Thomas Noble," of West-

field, Mass., loaned ine by Russell B. Noble, town

clerk, and a representative of the seventh generation

from the first settler of the town.

John Bostwick was the second person who settled

in New Milford, and came in the year 1707. He was

one of three brothers of Scotch extraction, Arthur and

Zachariah being the other two, who came about 1668.

He was one of the two persons who represented the

town in the General Assembly, the first time in 1725,

from the town of Cheshire, England, and located at

Stratford, Conn. His seventh, and youngest son,

Daniel, was the first white male child born in the

town, and kept a public-house in the village for

many years. Maj. John Bostwick, the oldest son of

John, the second settler, was born in the year 1686.

He married Mercy Bushnell, of Danbury, Conn., in

1712, and had five children.

Zachariah Ferriss was the third settler of New
Milford, and came about 1709. He married Sarah

Read, and had eight children. Sarah, the fifth, wjus

the first female child born in the town, the date of

her birth being Nov. 10, 1710. She married Stephen

Noble.

Samuel Brownson was the fifth settler of the town,

Samuel Hitchcock being the fourth. He was one of

the first deacons of the Congregational Church ; town

clerk for years.

—

Boxtwick Gcnfulogij.

William Oaylord was born in 1680. He married

Joanna Minor, of Woodbury, Conn., the sixth daugh-

ter of Capt. John Minor. They were both members

of the Congregational Church, and removed to New
Milford about 1712, from Woodbury, where, as one of

the first settlers, his services were always in great

demand. He sprang from a long line of illustrious

ancestors, commencing in Normandy, France. The
Chateau Gaillard wjis begun and finished in one year,

by Richard Ctjeur de Lion, for the defense of the

frontier of Normandy. It was entire at the beginning

of the seventeenth century, and was then considered

one of the most magnificent specimens of military

architecture in Europe. Henry Quatre caused its

destruction in 1603, for fear that it might fall into the

hands of some more powerful enemy. The name can

be traced back prior to 1250. Some of them were

knights, and one. Lord Dunfort, an admiral in 1475;

one a distinguished Protestant minister in 1659; one

a provincial bishop from 1634 to 1695 ; one a histori-

cal writer of the seventeenth century ; one an engraver

in 1752 ; and one a distinguished composer of music

and sporting songs, " which were the delight of every

play-house and public place in the kingdom."

The Gaillard refugees, from whom have sprung all

of that name in England and the United States, re-

moved from France to Glastonbury, England, about

1550 ; and about 1630, William Gaylord, as it was

now spelled in England, a native of Exeter, county

of Devonshire, emigrated to New England, and was

one of the pioneer settlers of Dorchester, Mass. He
settled in Windsor. Conn., about 1638, which town

he represented at forty-one semi-annual elections in

the General Assembly. William, of New Milford,

was the fifth son of Walter, the third son of William,

of Dorchester. He removed to Gaylordsviile, in New
Milford, on the home-lot of the late David Gaylord,

deceased, in 1720, and was the pioneer settler of that

part of the town. The Schatacoke Indians, a few

miles north, were very friendly, and he carried on

an extensive fur-trade with them. He cleared up a

dense forest, and lived in this secluded section until

his own descendants gave him some social life. Some
of the seventh generation of his descendants are now

living near together in that part of the town where

he settled. He died Oct. 25, 1753, aged seventy-three

years. The facts contained in this sketch were taken

from the history and pedigree of the sons of Gaillard,

or Gaylord, in France, England, and the United

States, by Wm. Gaylord, of Cincinnati, Ohio.

Samuel Brownson was the first town clerk here, and

held the office till 1733, when, at a special town-meet-

ing held in November of that year, Roger Brownson,

Sr., was chosen to fill his place.

He was also a deacon of the church ; he was also a

representative in the General Assembly in the year

1726.

John Bostwick was born in . He was

selectman many times, and representative in the

General A.sscmbly eighteen different times, the last

in 1740.

Stephen Noble was also one of the moat prominent

men of the early times. He took a very prominent

part in the alfairs of the town.

John Noble, Paul Welch, and Wm. Gaylord were

also early settlers.

TOWN HILL AND TOWN STREET, Etc.

In the earliest times there was a highway from

about where Jeremiah B. Brown.son resides to the vi-

cinity of the residence of H. W. Booth, or west of it

probably, an<l it was in the vicinity of the ilwelling-

house of H. W. Booth, Es<i.,or the place where Watts
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lives, that Tliomas Picket built his house about 1715.

From Picket's home-lot land was sequestered for a

common. This common was east of the town street,

which passed by Picket's house south, twenty rods

wide. Nathan Talcot and Ephraini Fisk lived north-

east of Mr. Picket's, on the north end of the hill,

—

Prospect Hill now called. Nathan Bostwick and

John Griswold had home-lots and dwelling-houses

on the hill south, on the east side of the town street,

and Benjamin Bostwick's dwelling-house was at the

south side of the common. James Hinds, the black-

smith, had a lot and shop on Town Hill.

In 1719, Samuel Hitchcock had a dwelling-house

between the path that crossed the Great River, where

the railroad bridge is, and William B. Stilson's.

Roger Bronson had a house, where he resided, north

of Mr. Hitchcock's. The next one was Samuel Bron-

son's. The next one was John Bostwick's, Jr.

CHAPTER XLII.

NEW MILFOKD (Continued).

Home-Lots of Original Purchasers—Proprietors of Common Fields

—

Proprietors' Meetings—Kecurd of Highways.

HOME-LOTS OF ORIGINAL PURCHASERS.

Col. Robert Treat. The home-lot to this right was

recorded to Rev. Mr. Andrew, and was northward

from the town plot, butting south upon Ebenezer

Baldwin, westward upon Sergt. Zachariah Baldwin's

land, eastward upon his own land. Laid May 4,

1724.

Mr. Thomas Clark. In one entire piece on Long
Mountain.

Ensign Geo. Clark. Nathan Talcot and wife deeded

seven and a half acres, with a dwelling-house, to

Ebenezer Fisk, of Milford, partly on west side Town
Hill, south by John Weller, west liy Nathan Gaylord.

Second pieces north of home down by the brook,

bounded north by Caleb Mallory, west on burying-

yard, east on Ebenezer Washburn. E. Fisk sells to

Eli Roberts his home-lot, with dwelling-house, lying

eastward from meeting-house.

John Treat, of New Milford, was a son of Lieut.

Joseph Treat, and had laid in his father's right one

home-lot, west upon highway, March 2.3, 1721.

Lieut. Joseph Treat. Joseph Treat deeded, for

love, etc., to his son, John Treat, of New Milford, one

hundred and three acres at Shepaug Neck, between

the Great River and the west end of Waweco's

Brook, with a dwelling-house thereon, with fruit-

trees, etc., Jan. 1, 1749-50. Laid to John Treat eleven

acres at Shepaug Neck, on both sides of Waweco's

Brook, the east branch of said brook near Hawley's

Park. Laid in Shepaug Neck, on west side of Treat's

Park, east by his father's land, west by Joseph Bene-

dick's land, south by his father's land. The home-

lot was laid out to John in right of his father, and

was sold to Eleazar Beecher, 1732.

Ensign Joseph Peck deeded laud to Enoch Buck,

Feb. 21, 1714-15. Enoch Buck deeded three and a

half acres of land to said Buck, to Zachariah Ferriss,

March 10, 1721. Enoch Buck's north line was north

end of Town Street.

Jonathan Baldwin. The home-lot of James Finn,

who juirchased this right and all the divisions then

laid, were laid in Shepaug Neck, at the " planting-

field." Laid Sept. 21, 1727.

Capt. Samuel Eells.

Sergt. Edward Camp sold half to Samuel Camp, of

New Milford, the other half to Paul Welch.

Rev. Mr. Andrew.

Thomas Welch. Paul Welch, Esq., finally owned

this right by deeds from his two sisters, and had his

home-lot at Park Lane.

James Pride deeded to his son, James, Jr. His

home-lot was on the east side of Town Street, south

on Theophilus Baldwin. April 20, 1716.

Stephen Miles deeded his right to John Johnson,

Jr., of New Haven, in 1709-10 ; and John Johnson,

Jr., deeded to Samuel Clark, of East Haven, in 1713-

14.

Barnabas Baldwin. Land was deeded the iron-

works, Brookfield, on deed John Noble and William

Kelly, 1733.

John Woodruff'. Sold to John Noble, Jr., of West-

field, 1706. Home-lot on both sides West Aspetuck

River, 1723.

Mr. Richard Bryan. Sold to John Noble, Sr.,

March 4, 1717. Home-lot laid March 28, 1717, to

said Noble, west upon Town Street, north upon

Thomas Smith's home-lot, south upon Zachariah

Ferriss' home-lot, east on said Noble, March 28,1717.

Daniel Terrill, seven and a half acres in Still River

[

Neck, May 25, 1723.

! Samuel Brisco's home-lot was laid out to him on

the east side of a hill called Second Hill, Oct. 20,

1721.

Timothy Botsford had a home-lot laid out in She-

paug Neck, May 17, 1722.

Sergt. Daniel Baldwin deeded to John Welch, April

I

7, 1715. John Welch's home-lot was laid on Aspe-

tuck Hill.

Mr. Robert Treat. The home-lots on this right

—

his own and the right of Joseph Rogers—were laid in

1721. Two hoiue-lots, lying upon the east side of
' Second Hill, laid May 26, 1721.

Mr. Robert Plum.

Deacon Piatt. His meadow deeds were recorded

to Theophilus and Hezekiah Baldwin, and Theophilus

Baldwin's home-lot was laid out, west on Town Street,

,
south on a home-lot laid to Caleb Mallory, east on

highway, north on John Welch, April 8, 1715.

Thomas Clark deeded his right to Samuel, his son,

1710, one home-lot east upon Town Street, south upon

his own home-lot, north upon Mr. Daniel Boardman's
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lot, west on his own. The above taken out of the

records at Milford. This was laid to Samuel Clark,

Dec. 24, 1720.

Mr. Samuel Clark, Jr.

Samuel Buckingham. His heirs had a home-lot on

the eighteen-rod-wide highway to chestnut land, Dec.

25, 1724.

Thomas Buckingliam laid to Thomas' heirs fifty

acres, a home-lot, lying on Second Hill, and east-

ward from the town, May 18, 1722.

John Buckingham. One home-lot to Joseph Treat,

Jr., Joseph Treat, son of Lieut. Treat, wife in right of

John Buckingham, her father, in Shepaug Neck, May
7, 1724.

William Wheeler. His heirs, Samuel and Sarah

Bears, sold their one-quarter interest in the estate of

their father, William Wheeler, to Samuel Clark, April

9, 1714.

Nathaniel Ferrand, Sr. Zachariah Ferriss' home-
lot, north on John Norse, April 28, 1715.

Gorge Allen. A home-lot in Still River, June 13,

1722.

Samuel Camp, mason. John Bostwick, Sr., had a

home-lot laid seven and one-half acres, and a five-

acre pasture, east on Town Street thirty-four rods,

south on Stephen Nohle's, west on highway, north on

Mr. Samuel Clark's land, Dec. 24, 1725.

John Smith (4tli).

Samuel Chirk, Sr.

Ephraim Burwell. A part of his home-lot in She-

paug Neck, and on north side of Samuel Brisco's land,

Feb. 18, 1724.

Joseph Beard had a home-lot laid out, bounded

east on highway, or Town Street, south upon James
Beard's home-lot, west and nortli on undivided land,

Nov. 3, 1721.

Joseph Camp had liis home-lot laid out in Still

River Neck, by the path towards Newtown, north of

the north meadow, etc.. May 25, 1723. Sold to David

Luke, of Stratford, May 14, 1725.

Samuel Camp (Land's End). Home-lot on cast side

of highway called Poplar highway, south on Paul

Welch's home-lot, Oct. 30, 1718.

Nathaniel Farrand, Jr.

Thomas Tibbal Is.

Thomas Cant'ulil. William Gaylord's home-lot, laid

on the hill called .Vspotiick Hill, east side i.son Town
Street, south side by lienoiii Stebbins' home-lot, north

side on undivided land twenty rods wide, Jan. 8, 1713.

John Merwin to John Merwin, Sr., and John Mer-
win, Jr., two Iiome-lots lying on eastward side of

Second Hill, south of tlie road to Woodbury, Oct.

19, 1722.

Samuel Smith (West End). John Griswold had a

home-lot laid out east of Town Street, northward of

the highway running eastward from Samuel Bronson's

hou.se, and soutiiward from a highway running up
ea.'itward from Benjamin Bostwick's house, Dec. 11,

1718.

William Gold. Home-lot north of Samuel Adkins'

home-lot, south on Poplar highway, twenty and one-

half rods wide, Dec. 31, 1717.

Joseph Wheeler sold his lot to Mr. Daniel Board-

man, May 7, 1714.

Job Prince. Thomas Cushing had laid one home-

lot by that stream called West Aspetuck, on the west

side of the south end of Great Mountain, April 4,

1723.

Andrew Sanford. Andrew Tuttle, grandson of An-

drew Sanford, had a home-lot for a pasture northeast

of the Round Hill, on the falling land nest Aspetunk,

March 19, 1723-24.

Samuel Camp, son of Edward Camp. To Joseph

Garnsy one home-lot east of Poplar highway, west on

said highway, south upon a highway which is laid out

between the home-lot, Oct. 7, 1718.

Eleazar Prindle. Ebenezer Fisk, had a half home-

lot laid out, etc., oh east side of Great River, on east

side of hill called Town Hill, May 9, 1723.

Lieut. Camp.
William Scone. Samuel Buckingham has a home-

lot.

Widow Mary Baldwin.

James Baldwin.

Nathaniel Baldwin, cooper.

Samuel Baldwin, wheelwright. A home-lot seven

and a half acres, laid to said Samuel, in Still River

Neck, north of the long meadow, and on the east rise

of the hill that lieth east from the Still River, by the

road to Newtown, May 25, 1723.

Lieut. Joseph Piatt.

Sergt. Miles Merwin had his one-half home-lot laid

out on Bare Hill, east from Wolf-Pit Mountain, Feb.

11, 1724.

Samuel Sanford, Sr., sold to Wakefield Dibble, who
sold to yir. Daniel Bounlen.

John Beard. To John Beard one home-lot, in ona

entire piece, in Shepaug Neck, towards the east side of

the neck, and |)artly on a hill, Oct. 27, 1721.

Jonathan Arnold and wife sold John Beard's right

to Joseph Rugglcs, Nov. 28, 1733.

Mr. Samuel Andrew, Jr., laid hi.s home-lot, in one

entire piece, on south end of Bare Hill, on both sides

of Cross Brook, Dec. 20, 1722.

George Clark, Sr.

Josejjh Clark.

Joseph Peck, Jr., laid out a home-lot near Danbury

line, Jan. 27, 1722.

John Camp.
Sergt. John Smith.

Jonathan Law, Jr. To J. Law, Jr., a home-lot, in

one entire piece, on west side Great River, on Strait's

Hill, the southwest corner on a highway, Aug. 7,

1722.

John Allen. Henry Allen, brother of John Allen

(deceased), sold his brother's right to Samuel Clark,

merchant, 1710.

Hugh Gray laid to Jacob Griswold home-lot on
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Aspetuck Hill, east upon Town Street, south upon the

minister's home-lot, north upon David Griswold's

home-lot, west on his own, June 12, 1716 ; also a

home-lot east on street, south on minister's, Nov. 17,

1713.

Joseph Ashburn. Theophilus Baldwin bought this

right, and had his said Baldwin home-lot laid to the

right of Samuel Burwell, which he also bought.

John Summers.

James Finn had his home-lot and other divisions

laid, in one entire piece, in Shepaug Neck, at the

planting-field, Sept. 21, 1727.

Zachariah Whitman.
William Adams.

Peter Perritt sold one-half his 249-acre right to

Roger Brownson, March 26, 1727-28.

A home-lot was laid to said Perritt & Brownson in

partnership, with pasture in part, east on highway,

or Town Street, north on Samuel Brownson's home-
lot, west part on Great River, and part on Joseph

Bostwick's land, south on land of heirs of Samuel
Hitchcock, deceased, April 4, 1728.

Joseph Rogers laid to Mr. Robert Treat, in his

own right and the right of Joseph Rogers, two home-
lots on east side of Second Hill, north of the highway

running on north side of Samuel Eells' land, Oct.

26, 1721.

Samuel Stone. A home-lot to John Stone, in right

of Samuel Stone, laid near northeast from Bound
Hill, on the east side of East Aspetuck, Jan. 18,

1724-25.

Jonathan Baldwin, Jr. Ephraim Sanford sold one-

half his lot, bought of J. Baldwin, Jr., to George

Allen, May 21, 1718.

Jesse Lambert. A home-lot laid to Jesse and

David Lambert, in right of their father, Jesse, in

Shepaug Neck, partly between two hills, and on both

•sides of Waweco's Brook, Nov. 1, 1722.

Samuel Prudden. A home-lot to Samuel Prudden,

in one entire piece, laid in Still River Neck, towards

the south end of the bounds, April 20, 172.3.

Henry Summers.

Samuel Smith Walter.

Sergt. Zachariah Baldwin. A home-lot, east side

Town Street, laid to his sons. May 6, 1722. He
deeded his one-quarter interest to his son Ebenezer,

May 15, 1722.

Benjamin Smith, Sr.

John Clark. Half home-lot.

John Smith, Jr. Home-lot in Still River Neck,

on the westward side of the hill, by the path to New-
town, north upon Canfield home-lot, south upon

Samuel Baldwin, November, 1722.

John Piatt. David Griswold had a home-lot laid

on Aspetuck Hill, east on Town Street, south of

Jacob Griswold's home-lot, north on Benoni Steb-

bins' home-lot, twenty rods wide, June 6, 1726.

Josiah Piatt. David Griswold had a home-lot laid

on street twenty rods wide.

Richard Piatt.

William Fowler. Samuel Prindle had four and a

half acres laid, as it is by sizing, lying in Indian field,

north on Stephen Noble, south on Robert Bostwick,

east on swamps, west on hill. It is to be understood

that the above Samuel Prindle is to be allowed a way
cross his lot for riding and carting, so that his neigh-

bors may come at their land. April 16, 1722.

Samuel Prindle and Joseph Bostwick agreed to a

parting of the land they bought of William Fowler

in these towns. Joseph Bostwick is to the eastward

part of the home-land, as hereafter described, begin-

ning at a landmark made by the highway upon the

side of the hill, a few rods south of the Great Brook,

one bound on Robert Bostwick's home-lot, etc.,—the

lot Robert Bostwick lives upon, etc. It is agreed that

Joseph Bostwick shall have two acres of the forty

acres, but of Samuel Prindle's part, to make up what

is wanting in the home-lot, March 26, 1721-22.

Two and one-half home-lots laid to Samuel Prin-

dle, one-half home-lot in said Prindle's right, and

the other in William Fowler's right, all in one entire

piece, beginning at a post two lengths of fence within

the common gate, then running to a place by the river,

by the river till it comes to Robert Bostwick's home-

lot, then, west of the Great Brook, up the brook till it

comes to a place where a spring runs into said brook,

up the spring, then eastward, or northeastwardly, to

the North or Town Street, from thence, by the North,

till it comes to the place first mentioned. May 25,

1721.

Samuel Prindle.

Sergt. Samuel Beard.

Sergt. Samuel Northrop. John Turrill deeded to

his son, Nathan Turrill, a lot, June 10, 1717. A home-

lot laid to Nathan Turrill, west on Town Street, south

on Samuel Camp, north on a highway eight rods

wide, running eastward from Town Street, March 4,

1720.

George Clark, Jr.

Samuel Coley. William Gaylord's home-lot was

laid out on Aspetuck Hill,—the east end is on Town
street,—south on Benoni Stebbins' home-lot, etc.,

Jan. 8, 1713-14.

Samuel Merwin.

Lieut. Samuel Burwell. A home-lot to Theophilus

Baldwin, west on Town Street, south on a home-

lot laid to Caleb Mallory and Benjamin Bunnell,

east on a highway, north on John Welch, April

8, 1715.

Samuel Miles. Samuel Brownson, by Miles' order,

a home-lot, east on Town Street, or North, twenty-

five rods wide, seven acres of the ten acres deeded,

west on Great River, north upon lot of John Bost-

wick, Jr. ; built upon, and south upon the home-lot

Roger Brownson had built upon, Jan. 20, 1714-18.

James Beard. Home-lot laid to James Beard, ten

acres deeded, south on William Gaylord, north on

Joseph Beard, east on highway, Nov. 6, 1721.
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Samuel Nettleton. A home-lot to John and Samuel

Nettleton, in right of their father, in Shepaug Neck

near William Beard's land, over Waweco's Brook,

Nov. 3, 1722.

Joseph Treat, son of Lieut. Treat. Two home-

lots on a hill between Waweco's and Woodbury
bounds, in Shepaug Neck ; one home-lot, in his own
right, and one home-lot, in the right of John Buck-

ingham, his wife's father. May 7, 1724.

Sir John Buckingham.

Jeremiah Canfield. Five acres, part of the home-

lot, to the original right, lying on the plain by the

Eound Mountain, north on Theophilus Baldwin's

lane on the side by undivided land. May 29, 1727.

Jeremiah Canfield, Sr., deeded his interest to his

son, Jeremiah, Jr., March 27, 1717.

Thomas Smith. Thomas Smith deeded his right to

John Weller, June 18, 1722.

John Weller deeded to his son, John, Jr., four acres

off the north side of his home-lot, bounded upon

William Gaylord, northwest with the highway, east

on land of his own, called the " ten-acre," south on

the other part of the home-lot, Jan. 14, 1722-23.

Thomas Smith's home-lot, west on Town Street,

south on John Noble's home-lot, north on William

Gaylord's home-lot, Aug. 10, 1719.

John Weller bought said Thomas Smith's right.

See his deed to his son, April 10, 1733.

Nathaniel Baldwin, Sr.

Jeremiah Beard.

Bethucl Langstaff deeded some land to his daughter

Jane in 1723, east of town-plat. Jane Langstaffdeeded

it to Samuel Tilibuls, .July 9, 1725. Bethuel Lang-

staff had a home-lot laid,—in one entire piece, on

Second liill, south of Woodbury road, Feb. 2, 1721-

22. Bethuel Langstaff deeded one-half his rights in

New Milford to Joseph Murry, Nov. 8, 1723.

Andrew Sanford, .Tr.

Nathaniel Sanford sold his right to Benjamin Ilurd,

of Woodbury, 1714.

John Merwin, Jr.

Josei)h Tibbals. Daniel Collins had laid home-lot

in Shepaug Neck, Nov. 1, 1722.

B. Baldwin, in right of her father, Scrgt. Timothy

Baldwin, late of Milford, deceased, laid to Billin Bald-

win a home-lot lying in Slu'|)aug Neck, south side of

Timothy Botsford, May IS, 1722.

Mr. Samuel Mather.

Buriiinij-plavf licconl.—The town of New Milford,

considering that it was necessary that a suitable

burying-place be reserved for the said town, made
choice of John VWdlcr and /achariah Ferriss to lay

out tlie same, whiili, being done, A'noic d/l men whom
it miiij i-onreni, tliat the place pitched ujHin is upon

the south side of Caleb Mallory's land, cither home-

lot or ten acres deeded, and on the east side of the

highway running towards I'oplar Swamp, and on tiie

north of a highway running upon tlie north side of

William (iaylord's lot, which burying-place contains

two acres, butting west and north upon highway,

north upon the above Mallory's land, and east upon

land of Zachariah Ferriss.

Record made Dec. 11, 1718; burying-lot laid out

Oct. 11, 1716.

James Hine. Laid out to James Hine part of the

land given him for encouragement to settle here,

eastward from the town, near Town-Mill Brook, on

the northeast side of said brook, south on John Gris-

wold's, Jan. 30, 1724-25.

Deed to Hurd, March 9, 1723-24.

HOME-LOTS OF OTHER THAN ORIGINAL PURCHASERS.

William Gaylord was from Woodbury. His home-

lot, a half home-lot, and his ten acres deeded, which, by

deed of Thomas Weller, is three acres and three-quar-

ters ; his home-lot, and five acres added to his home-

lot, makes eight acres and three-quarters. There

being a considerable hill, steep and poor, we have

allowed him one acre and one-quarter, which makes

ten acres in ye whole, northwest on ye street, south

on John Weller's home-lot, northerly on Mr. John
Read, or a highway, Sept. 13, 1712.

Daniel Griswold. Home-lot on ye hill, cast on

street twenty rods wide, Nov. 17, 1713.

Thomas Picket. Home-lot north on Zachariah

Ferriss, west on highway, June 14, 1718.

Also six acres, five acres for his fourth division,

and one acre for his Iiome-lot, on Town Hill, April 4,

1726. Land was laid to the heirs of Caleb Mallory

and Thomas Picket.

John Priddon. A home-lot in Still River Neck,

May 1, 1723.

Timothy and Joseph Smith. A liome-lot in Still

River Neck, north of John Priddon, April 20, 1723.

Thomas Cushing. A lionie-lot on West Aspetuck,

west side of the south end of Great Mount Tom, 1723.

John Fowler, deed from William Scone. A home-

lot southward from Great Falls, cast side of Great

River, Jan. 2, 1722-23.

John Griswold. l^and agreed to be laid out in con-

sideration of said John G. building a grist-mill, and

to carry out said agreement laid out a home-lot to

John Griswold, Nov. 30, 1724.

David Noble. Half home-lot west side of Great

River, northward from mouth of Rocky River, Jan.

3, 1723-24.

Andrew Tuttle. Home-lot northward of Hound Hill.

The parsonage land, west of West Aspetuck, on

Long Brook, a little below the Middle Wolf-Pit,

Dec. 30, 1724.

Stephen Noble. Wanipoes Island, three and a half

acres, all laid by river, as a recompense for a highway

through his lands at Rocky River plain, 1724.

Stephen Noble. A home-lot on west side of Town
Street, thirty rods on street, the scuth side upon a

highway fifty-four rods, the west end fifty-six rods

on his own land, the north side thirty-»i.\ rods on

undivided land ; a home-lot and half, Dec. 24, 1725.
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John Bostwick. Home-lot west on Town Street

thirty-four rods, south on Stephen Noble's, north on

Mr. Samuel Clark's, Dec. 24, 172.5.

Zachariah Ferriss. A home-lot nortli with John

Noble, west and south upon the way partly, and

partly on Thomas Picket's home-lot, east on his own
land. It is understood that it is to run,.with a bow-

ing line, from John Noble's corner till it comes to the

brow of the hill, descending towards the brook, and

from thence a straiglit line to the east end. This is

the first home-lot he had laid. April 28, 1715.

Daniel Boardman. A home-lot on Aspetuck Hill,

east on Town Street, thirty-two rods wide, west on Mr.

Samuel Clark, his thirty rods, and upon said Board-

man's land one rod, south on Mr. Samuel Clark's

home-lot, north on home-lot laid out for the minister.

When the Indians deeded to Milford gentlemen,

they referred to their former planting-field, bounded

easterly by the Great River, and bounded westerly,

beginning thirty or forty rods above the then common
ferry-place, and to run .south, taking in the place

where their fort stood upon the steep bank, and so

continuing till they took in their then burying-place,

and from thence southeasterly, rounding as the steep

bank goes till it comes to the Great River, comprising

all the lowland within this bounds; and the land

within this bounds was not purchased from the Indi-

ans by Milford gentlemen in their general purchase,

June 6, 1715. See Indian deed of Nov. lo, 1714.

At a proprietors' meeting, April 3, 1717, voted that

ten acres should be reserved for the benefit of the

miller,—five acres on Still River and five acres on

Wood Creek.

John Noble. A home-lot twenty rods wide, west

on Town Street, north on Thomas Smith's home-lot,

south on Z. Ferriss' home-lot, March 28, 1717.

Joseph Garnsey. A home-lot east of highway

called Poplar highway, Oct. 7, 1718.

Ministry lot. A home-lot on easterly side of As-

petuck Hill, west on highway on said hill, south on a

highway running oast and west, north on lot formerly

Jonathan Buck's, Jan. 23, 1720.

William Gaylord and John Welch. A home-lot at

the Strait's, lying on the plain northward of Strait's

Brook, eastward on land laid out for meadow-lots, and

in part on Great River ; eighty rods north of meadow-

lots is on the river. This belongs to a right Gaylord

& Welch purchased of Richard Bryan, which right

Bryan bought of Thomas Tibbals, March 18, 1721.

Theophilus Baldwin. Home-lot on Aspetuck Hill,

west on Town Street twenty rods, south on Jonathan

Buck's home-lot, north on James Priu's home-lot.

July, 1721.

Daniel Collins. A home-lot in Joseph Tibbals'

right, in Shepaug Neck, 1722.

Thomas Oviatt's home-lot was on the east side of

Town Hill, Jan. 6, 1730.

Samuel Atkin's home-lot is next to William Gold's,

on west side Poplar highway.

Daniel Boardman, Roger Brownson, Theophilus

Baldwin, Benoni Stebbins, John Terrill, James Luke,

Nathan Terrill, Paul Welch, Zachariah Ferriss, and
Nathan Talcot each deeded certain land to Jonathan

Buck, Jr., if he would come to settle in the town, and

set up and keep up the trade of a cooper in said town,

both for work according to the obligation which we
have signed. Feb. 25, 1729-30.

Peter Hubbell deeded to John Fairweather one-

third iron-works, dam, houses, instruments in making
iron, and whatsoever else has been built there by

Hubbell relating to said iron-works, being in New
Milford, at the Half-way Falls, so called, on Still

River, Dec. 19, 1732.

William Gaylord deeded certain land on Strait's

Brook, etc., to his son Aaron,—ten acres, where the

saw-mill now stands, etc.—Jan. 9, 1782-33.

The island in Great River, below Great Falls, be-

longs to John Wescot and John Seeley. Wescot sells

to Jonathan Hitchcock.

There was a saw-miU on East Aspetuck before 1733.

See record of highways. May 23, 1733.

See Elisha Williams' deed of iron-works. Brook-

field, to Alexander Wolcott, 1736, for four hundred

pounds; Moses Knapp's deed to Elkanah Bobbits, in

1736 ; Indian Corkshure's deed.

Zachariah Baldwin's home-lot, on east side of

Town Street, south on John Simons' home-lot, north

on Samuel Buckingham's home-lot.

Samuel Buckingham's, L. Baldwin's, and John

Simons' home-lots, on or near Town Street.

Robert Bostwick, Joseph Bostwick, Samuel Prinder

have home-lots near Town Hill, or Great Brook.

Nathan Turrill's home-lot was on east side Town
Street, south on Samuel Camp.

John Bostwick, Ji-., Roger Brownson, and Samuel

Brownson had lots east on Town Street, west on

Great River.

Town Hill was what is now known as Prospect

Hill and the hill east of it, and there were quite a

number of residences there and in the vicinity.

Aspetuck Hill was just north of present village.

Benjamin Bostwick's home-lot was at the south

side of this sequestered common, on Town Hill.

Samuel Hitchcock's home-lot was at the end of the

twenty-rod highway laid out in 1714.

Thomas Picket's was bounded south on this seques-

tered common, and west on a highway that ran from

about where Jeremiah B. Bronson's house stands to

this common (H. W. Booth's place).

Peter Perit and Roger Bronson had a home-lot,

land bounded north on Samuel Brown's home-lot.

Samuel Bronson's home-lot was probably this way

from that of Samuel Hitchcock.

Roger Bronson's was the next lot north of Samuel

Bronson's.

John Bostwick, Jr., was north of Samuel Bron-

son's. This was where John Bostwick now lives

(Jared Bostwick's place).
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The above were not on Town Hill, but south by

the river.

Nathan Talcott was on north end of Town Hill

and eastward of the meeting-house.

Ephraim Fisk, son of Dr. Fisk, was on Town Hill.

John Griswold.

Benjamin Bostwick was at the south end of Town
Hill (Prospect Hill), laid south of the common. See

record of first highway laid (Town Street).

John Griswold's home-lot was northward of the

old mill lane highway, which runs up the hill from

William B. Stilson's, and southward from the high-

way running up eastward from Benjamin Bostwick's

home-lot.

Nathaniel Bostwick's home-lot on east side Town
Street, and west side of highway running to Wood-
bury.

PROPRIETORS OF COMMON FIELDS.

*' Nov. 24, 1715.— T'o/etZ, That there should be a general line offence

from the great falls, along up the front of all the improved land &
home-lols until we come to north side of Jacob Griswold's house-lot, &
then upon the north side untill it comes to the west end of s'^ Griswold's

10 a. d., & then running at the rear of the other 10 a d., till it come 6"^

fence, & then running in the most convenient place to the rock over

west aepetuck, &. the line of fence to be proportioned by all lands laid

out within the fields & by all lands improved, thougli not laid out, from

that place called the Straits down to Dibles' meadow, except home-lots

& ten a. d.

"A committee was chosen to lay out & proportion ad fence, and that

it be laid &. completed by the 15tli day of April next after this meeting.

Nov. 24, 1715 {April 1,1710).

"Oct. 3, 1717.—Agieed that the fields should be opened fur cattle A
horses upon Saturday, Oct. 5, at sunset. At same nu*eting Jonathan

Burk wiLS cliosen t') warn proprietors' meetings of the common fields A
to lead in tlie meeting.

" Jan. 9, 1717-lS.—Agreed that the general line of fence for the com-

mon field should atill run where it was formerly agreed upon, when it

was altered fn>m the north side of Jacob Griswold's to the north side of

David Griswold's home-lot, so to ran to the west end of David Gris-

wold's.

" Committee to settle sucli part of tlio fence as is not yet orderly fast-

ened upon, ikc.

" Agreed that the general field sliu\ild be cleared of all sorta of cattle

by Ihe 1"' Marcli.

"Sept. 21), 1718.—Agreed that the field should be opened for feeding

cattio next Saturday come 7 night, whic is 11"' Oct.

"March 12, 17U).—Agreed that tlie common fields should be shut up,

& the fence should be made up arc. to law by last of March, that crea-

tures may be kept out.

"Oct. 1, 1719.—Agreed that field should be opened for feeding of neat

cattio & liorees next Saturday come 7 night, the loth Oct.

" Dec. 2:{, IVl'.t.—Agreed thatt all the land within the Ibdd from rocky

river southwiird nIuiII be fenred, namely, all 40 a. d. A 'JO a. d's., A all

meadow land tliut is improved or shall bo improved by any of the pro-

prietors of sd fii.'!ds, excepting liinise-lotM .t ID a. d's.

" Voted, That all the land tiDm the muuth of Itocky River to Danbury

fence, and frum the Great Uiver to the Mountains westward, nhall bu

esteemed a field, uud all creturei^ found within this compact shall bo con-

sidered tintnatje /I'tiBitnt.

"March 21, V2iK— Voted, Thatt all the land laid nut f..r meadow be-

longing to the inhabitants shall bo fenced, and all those moaduw lots

belonging tci uthrr pruprietors, which shall bo tmpi-uvod by any of tho

intiabitants, shall bu fenced.

"Agreed that tho field should bo cleared of all sorta of cattle by next

Saturday night, and all gates k bars shall bo shut up & kept up from

that time, for the security of the field."

And SO from time to time the proprietors voted to

open the fields, and to keep them closed, for cattle,

horses, etc. ; and they had meetings, Oct. 11, 1720,

8cpt. 21, 1721, Oct. 1, 1722, and Jiiu. 13, 1723-24.

Then comes an account of the general line of farms

for the common fields, each man his proportion :

Rods. Feet. lu.
To Benoni Stebbins 17 1 6
" \Vm. Gould 9 4 3
" James Adkins 6 6 9
" Sam I. Camp 21 6
" James Prinn 7 6
" Nathan Terrill 6 6
" Saml. Parnille 6 6
" Josiah Terrill 6 6
" Gamaliel Terrill 6 6
" E nock Burk 2 2 9
" John Welch 37 1 9
" Paul Welch 33 7 9
" T.Baldwin 34 8 6
" John Weller, Sr &c. &c. &c.

"April 14, n-ll.— Voted, That the common field should be fenced all

round, and that all the land laid out within the limits of this field shall

be proportioned upon to fence upon.

" Feb. 5, 1722-23.—Agreed that from the mouth of Rocky River to the

mouth of 4-miIe brook, from Great River to Rocky River, where it is so

called, and up the same River where it is called Wood Creek, shall be
esteemed a field called a general field, and all creators found therin to be
damage feasant.

Rods. Feet. In.
Zachariah Farrins 20 12
Roger BrowiiHon 15
Stephen Noble 15 o
Thomas Picket 35 7

"Oct. 1, 1725.—Agreed that no cattle be put in field before Oct. 16, but
working oxen A those upon their owners' land.

March G, 1726-27, states where west line of fence

shall be completed, and where the north line shall be
put.

"Oct. 4, 1727.—Several votes were passed at this meeting making of

fences & alterations paid for by tho proprietors of the common field ac-

cording to the perfect valuation by a comity.

" A committee was cIkwou to nuike a rate upon the proprietors for de-

fiaying the preparatory charge for repairing tho fence.

"Oct. 6, 1729.—All fence should bo complotoO by Ist of Nov. next.'*

If any of the proi)rietors of common fields sold,

they generally liad a certificate of the sale or ex-

change made and recorded, stating the length of
fence the purchaser was to take and maintain

; either

in place of the seller, or on his own account.

Lieut. John Bostwick, reconled Jan. 20, 1729-30.

John Noble, recorded Jan. 20. 1729-30.

Daniel B>»urdnian, recorded Fob. 17, 1729-30.

Dorolha Holsford, recorded March 2K, 1735.

Joseph Waller.

Juhn Niible, recorded March 2, 1729-lii.

Capt. Stephen Noble, recttrded March 17, 1729-30.

Paul Welch, recorded Jan. 20, 1730-31.

John Soely, recorded May 28, 1733,

John Se*?ly, recorded Sept. 3, 1734.

John S*'ely, recorded Jan. 7, 17;i5-36.

" Man h 2, 1721MJ0.— I'.Wr*/, That no |ieraon whatsoever ehall bait any
cattle, horBco, or other creatures from the loth of Oct. to the 10th of

April, other of their neighbont' land.

" Vxii'd, To ftUow \0». to Dene. Prime or to tho fence riewers for warn-
ing Ridiert Bodtwick to do up his ft-nco.

" InfM, That the common field Hhall stand good for 7 yearv, and that

tho fence shall stand whore it Is without any altoratiuo or new propor-

tioning till tho 7 yean t)o out.

" MaiTh 1. 17:t0-3I.— IWtfd, That the field shall be kept shut up for the

year onHuing.

" Vnted, That the land laid out alnc« the field fence was proportloneil

shall Ik> uB>itwH<d to make the fence upon the river hank at the north

end of tho field, whi* h wjm not formerly proporthined, because the bank
of the river was a^couuted n fence, but proved not to be.

" March A, 1731-32.— Voted, That the common field shall be kept atiut

up for tho year ensuing.

"March A, 1732-:i3.— I'o/rd, That the field shall b« opened eighteen

(18) days at the fall of this prcevut year and uo more.
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"March 4th, 1733-34.— To^cd, That the common field shall not he

opened the year ensuing.

"En.H. Joseph Bostwick & Samuel Canfield & Zacliariah Ferriss wiis

chosen to order tlie prudentials of the commun field for tlie year en-

suing.

"Voted, That David Prindle should have liberty to remove the field gate

from the place where it now is, to his house.

" March 3, 1734-35.— Voti-il, Tliat the field should be kept shut the year

ensuing.

" Voted, That there should be a committee chosen to send to the next

county court, to endeavor to attain liberty to set up a gates a cross the

country road through our comniDU fields. Thomas Picket, Saml. Can-

field & Jacob Brownson, Committee to urder the prudentials of the com-

mon field for year ensuing.

"New Milford, Dec. 31, 1733.-This may signifie to all, whereas Sam-

uel Adkins was collector for minister's rate in N. M. in tlie year 1731,

that he hath collected sd. rate, and is actiuitted. Given by me, Daniel

Boardman, Dec. '^1, 1733.

*' At a meeting of the civil authoritya. Select men and grand jurors of

N. M., liolden in N. M. on the 5th day of Jan. 1735-30, Cap. Stephen No-

ble was chosen Comissioner of Excise for the year ensuing, and sworn to

a faithful discharge of tbiit office,

" March 1, 1735-30.-Field kept shut for year. A conmiittee to deter-

mine where the gate by Daniel Prindlo's A the gate at Aspetuck, should

he removed or let them stand. Committee ap. to make new proportion

of field fence."

An account next comes of the new proportion of

the field-fence in the common field, beginning at the

rocks of the Fishing Falls, on east side of Great

River, March 22, 1736, as follows:

£ 8. d.

E. Ferris 20

John Silsby 38
Thomas Picket 34
Jacob Brownson 44 U

Benj. Bostwick G4

Deacon John Bostwick 34

N. Bostwick *25

Daniel Bostwick 21

Nathan Gaylord 10 15 8

PROPRIETORS' MEETINGS.

"April 17, 170G.— ro/^</. That town-plot & home-lots of New Milford

shall be spedily pitched A laid out. Tliat the Committee having taken

the best advice of they can of Woodbury men to pitch the Town-plot ac-

cording tu their best judgment. That the home-lots be laid out in

quantity as they shall judge most commodious and agreeable to the

circumstances uf the plan. That there he 2 ranks or sorts of lots,-one

a 24s. lot, and the other a 12s. lot, & that all the lots be laid out in 12^.

lots. What is wanting in quality of the laud in the secontl lots shall be

made up in quantity.

" That there be twu 24s. lots more than the number of the proprietors,

laid out for the use of the proprietors, to be disposed of by % parts of the

proprietors.

"That those only who first go to settle tlieie at N. M. shall draw lots,

& Ihey shall take their lots together, and they shall have liberty to begin

where they please, and they that come afterwards, either by themselves

or assigns, shall take their lots as they come to settle them, next lot to

him that went before him, he that hath a four & '20 shilling right to take

the two next lots lying together.

" Dec. 9, 1707.—We whose names arc underwritten, after the best ad-

vice we can come at or obtain from Woodbury men, have pitched the

Town-plot on Aspetuck hill,—have there laid out 16 home-lots, 7 acres

and 14 to a home-lot, for two half-shares, in order to proceed according

to the order and agreement of the proprietors.

"Saml. Eells, l

*' KnwARD Casip,

" JosKi'ii Treat,

" Joseph Peck. J

" Grant of a 248. lot to Mr. David Boardman, upon condition he shall

become their minister for 20 years, or during his natural life."

RECORD OF HIGHWAYS,

••Record of highways, Jan. 11, 175?.—At a meeting of t''^ inhabitants

of N. M. for to consider what highways should be necessary for the

benefit of the town of N. M., we therefore have agreed that the highway

beginning at John Noble, Sr., house-lot shall extend so far northward

i- Com.

as shall be necessary for building-lots, and his highway to be 20 rods

wide,a.s it is to run up the hill against the front of Sam' Clark's liome-lot,

and in no place less than 14 or 15 rods wide, except where lots are al-

ready taken up, and so by that means it cannot be. and this highway

from John Noble's house-lots to extend southward from thence winding

as y** lots are already laid out on the westwardly side, till it comes to the

south side of SmhiI Hitclicock's house-lot: and this liighway to be 20

rods wide whei'etlie circumstances of the place will allow of it.

" And from tlie south side of Thomas Picit's lot, wo order that there be

a peace of land sequestered for common, that so there may be sufficient

passway to tliose highways which are to run out farther, and their com-

mon land is appointed to be from the hill east to tlio highway westward,

and to extend so far south till it comes against Benjamin Bostwick's

house-lot by known marked trees.

"And from the northeast corner of this sequestered land a highway

running up the side of the hill called the town hill, of 10 rods wide,

maiked on the westerly side till it come to the top of the hill.

" And a highway to run cross from the highway against Saml. Brown-

son's & Roger Brownsoii's house-lots to the highway running up the

town hill of 8 rods wide, marked on the north side.

" And one cross highway between Wm. Gaylord's house-lot & John

Read's house-lot, being G rods wide at the west end & 12 rods wide at the

brook, and this highway to run up to the hill.

"And another highway of G rods, and running from this cross way south

along by tlie foot of the liill till it comes to this sequestered land, on the

south side of Thomas Pickit's lot, and from this cross highway between

Wm. Gaylord's land & Mr. Jolin Reed's house-lot. We appoint another

highway of 8 rods wide, to nin northward up to the Poplar Swamps, and

from thence, in the most convenient place, to run up to the chestnut

land. Signed by Saml. Brownson, Saml. Hitchcock. Zachria Ferriss, Se-

lectmen.

" June 4, 1715.—Laid through Samuel Hitchcock's houae-lot.or 20-acre

division a drift way from the front to the river, 22 rods wide; and from

this place at the river, to run 20 rods up the river, this also 4 rods wide.

*' June 4, 1715.—The highway or town street was by the Select men,

laid out from the south side of Caleb Mallory's house-lot to the south

side of Zach. Feriiss' half house-lot, 20 rods wide, and from the south

side of sd. Ferriss' house-lot to the north side of Benj. Burwell's house-lot,

24 rods wide.

"From Esqr. Welche's to chestnut land, is from the one from Wm.
Gaylord's to Poplar Swamps, as above.

" Laid March S, 1718.

" Laid a highway on south side of Thomas Picket's house-lot, begin-

ning at a highway that rnneth up the hill by John Griswold's. The

higliway is 20 rods wide. This road turns out of the Woodbury road.

"Laid May 15, 1718.

"An 8-rod highway beginning at Town Street, on north side of Enoch

Buck's homedot, running east till it comes the foot of tlie first bare hill

along by Enoch land, till it comes to Zachariah Ferriss' land, being at

the east end between s^ Ferriss' land and Stephen Noble's land, butting

upon another highway running along by the foot of the bare hill.

" Another highway, beginning at that cmss-highway running on the

north side of Wm. Gaylord's home-lot, or at the highway along by the

foot of the hill at the rear of the 10 a. D., this highway to be 16 rods

wide, running northward by the rear of the 10 a. D. till it comes to meet

with the highway above mentioned running E. & W. on the north

side of Enoch Buck's land, and from this highway at the rear of the lots

a highway Ifi r. to run np the south Bear hill on .S. side of Wm. Gay-

lord's 20 a. joining to the highway above mentioned. Both above laid

JIarch P.I, 1720.

"Laid out a highway or Country road towards Woodbury, beginning

upon the hill called Town Hill, at the end of the former highway, against

that highway, running down the hill to Samuel Brownson's house, or at

the corner of Griswold's fence, then winding over the hill, &c., &c.

January 19, 1721-22.

"A highway on west side of town hill, Begining at a highway that

is at the east end of Zach. Ferriss' house-lot, by the north side of Mal-

lory's land & running northeasterly up the hill to s'* Ferriss' 40 a. D., 8

rods wide. Oct. 12, 1730.

"IG-rorl highway beginning at Town Street, at south side of Samuel

Adkins' house-lot or lU a. D., run West to the west end of his 10 a. D., <fe

so westward over aspetuk, taking in the hollows, Ac. March 18, 1718.

" A highway on S. side of Thomas Picket's house-lot, beginning at a

highway that runeth up the hill by John Griswold's (20 r. wide), and

runs through Z. Ferriss' 40 a. D., for which the town gave him 21 rodB

wide on E. end of his GO a. D. as recompens, runs N. Easterly by the

N. side of Cap. Hin's h. 1., the Ferriss 40 a. D. May 15, 1718.
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" Iligliway laid out on west side Town Hill, bt-giiuiiug at the Cuuutry

road at the S. W. co. of Jeanies Hinde home-lot by his shop, then mn-
niiig N. E. by E. end of b^ Hind's h. 1. till it comes to top of the hill, 10

r. wide. Aug. 28, 1728.

" There is a highway from the river to the place where there is now a

way over the brook to go on to the island to Zachariah Ferriss his lot,

which highway is between Roger Brownson lot & Bnj. Bostwick. Feb.

26, 1714-15.

" A highway beginning at the highway running up by the Great river

through Aspetuck Neck, and running northerly through a 40 a. d., laid

out to John Weller & Joseph Pecks right ; from there to the S. E. corner

of W'm. Gaylord's 40 a. d., then running upon the E. of this 40 a. d.

(This highway is to Esq. Hine's farm, over Aspetuck, which was Nathan

Gaylord'8.) Jan. 30, 1716-17.

" Highway on westrley side of Great river, beginning at river-bank at

the path that goes over the river at Samuel Hitchcock's home-lot till it

conies up the hill to the east end of Thomas Picket's 40 a. d., and then

southward by s'* Picket's land till it comes to liis corner, 2 r. wide; then

further west till it meets the highway on E. side John Noble's land.

May 15, 1718.

"A highway beginning at the highway at the south end of Samuel

Hitchcock's home-lot, then running down to the great falls; and this

highway to be so wide as the place will allow, that it against Roger

Brownson's 40 a.; nil the land between the liver and s'' 40 a., and from

thence downward to be 30 rods wide where it can be alowed, and it can-

not by reason of land already taken up, to be of less breadth, but to take

up all the land that is not laid out between John Bostwick's 40 a.'s and

Benj. Bostwick's land down by tlie river, and from s^ Bostwick's land to

but upon the river down to the falls. Laid March 30, 1719.

"A higtiway from Wm. Goold home-lot northward to a brook called

Woolf-pit brook, beginning at the northeast corner of Wm. Goold home-

lot, running on west side of plank swamps & so along; this highway to

take in the highway formerly laid on the eastward of plank swamp, till

it comes to highway running to chestnut land. March 19, 1720.

" From town Street there is a highway laid out over Aspetuck, begin-

ning at a tree, Ac, running northwestwardly np the hill, then to Aspe-

tuck river, and over the river a little below Mount Tom meadows 20 r.

wide to Aspetuck river, then 24 rods wide up the hill. Laid March 23,

1720.

"A highway running northward along by Stephen Noble's land lying

upon the great brook at E. end of the 10 a. d., and marked on the west.

Tills highway over the Cross brook, IC r. wide ; and from the above Cross

brook to run np the 2nd bare hill, where the cart-way now is, IG r. wide,

if that be the most convenient place; if not, to be in that jilace most

suitable and acomedable lor the town benetlt. March 10, 1720.

" A highway from the highway to Chestnut land at David Gris-

wold's S. W. corner, running N. till it come to s'" Griswold'H land 10 r.

wide, ruiuiing through s'' Griswold's land, and through Ebenezer Bryan's,

ending at Sunnitd Camp's land. Dec. 7, 1720.

" A highway beginning S. end of M' Tom, near Woolf-pit, then North-

ward to uper end of plain, after crnssing over Deep Brook, over East

Aspetuck, then by west side of s'' river to our north bounds. March 17,

1722.

"At flame time, a highway from highway to M' Tom meadows, begin-

ning at north side of swamps, near old Woolf-pit, then southward 20 r.

wide Vi Ganutliel Turril's 40 a. lot, then ruiHiing to the hight of the great

hilt.

"A highway or Country road, beginning at Rocky River, at the end of

the former highway, through Stephen Noble's A David Noble's 40 o. d.,

4 r. wide, near the path nuw through s'MO a. d., then through rest of

plain, 6 r, wide, partly thmu^h common and partly thruugh Wm. Gay-

lord's land, till it ciunes to the uper end of David Griswold's 40 a. d., then

running westward to tho font of the hill, then running 10 r. wide to the

top of the hill before we come to the Strait's Brook, from tlionco 20 r.

wide down the hill to the brook, then running 8 r. wide by tho marked
trees to the Brook railed Whemeserk. Jan. 18, 1721-22.

"A highway beginning on town hill, upon tli(< hight of h>i hill, run-

ning K. from tho highway running to /, Ferristt' 40 a. d., to Sam. Prin-

dle's 40 a. d., on 2iid hill, on north side uf /. F. 10 a. on tho towD'hlll

brm»k, tlien running to Woodbury bounds. Itlarch 23,1722.

"A highway on top of 2'»t hill, beginning at the highway on north

side of John Bostwick's 40 a. d., and running southward & wcntwunl, &
southward again, to the highway niiiulng towards Woodbury. March
23, 1722.

" .\ highway to turn out of Danbury nmd, &c. March 28, 1722.

"A highway In CheMtinit land, turning out at north end of Nathan
Turrlll'slOa. lol.ovor tho brook (oGouhl's cleared laud. March 2)1,1722.

29

"A highway beginning at the highway that runs to the great falls,

and running Eastward, then South East, then southerly, then Eastward.

Another highway to run northward, thence Northeast till it conies to

the hight of the hill. April 5, 1722.

" A highway beginning at the Country road, east side of town hill, at

N. E. cor. of land laid out to Mr. Dan'l Boarden, to run southward upon

east side of town-hill brook till it comes to a small lot on town-hill

brook. April 5, 1722.

" A highway on west side of little M*. Tom to long mountiin.

"A highway down side of Falls Mountain to the Cove, then down the

River to Hitchcock's farm. March 25, 1726.

"A highway beginning at Cross Brook, at former highway, then run-

ning on Paul Walch, Sph. Camp, to highway north of Camp's, and all

the way partly oq Great Bare hill. March 23, 1726.

CHAPTER XLIII.

WE-W MILFORD (Continued).

EXTRACTS FROM TOWN RECORDS.

" Shal be a well dug and stoned on minestory home-lot, Jan. 8, 17^3-

"Saml. Brouson, John Weller, & John Nobl, committee to lay outy^

minestory land, y* is to say one home-lot, with lO-acre division for a pas-

ture-lot, & a 40-acre lot, it is y* that y" proprietors did agree to give Mr.

Daniel Boardman if he becomes a settled minister at N. M. March 4,

ITIJ.

*' Com imi>owered to view & pitch home-lot, 10«acre division for a pas-

ture, 40-aciu division up land, & order it to be measured for ministory

lot. March 12, 171}.

"There shall be a sufliclent gate made and maintaiue<I in the lino of

fence at the common high way over the river. Oct. II, 1714.

"58. & 6cl. (92J cents) allowed for the minister's board per week. Nov.

29, 1714.

'* David Noble allowed 6«. (SI .00) per year for beating the drum upon

all publick meetings. Nov. 21>, 1714.

"Snml Bronson A Stephen Noble, Committee to make upaccountBof

former collectors of tho 12t. tax granted, & to »ee thut the money l>e

brought in that it nuiy be disix^sed of in order to the nmintainanco of

the ministry amongst iis. Nov. 20, 1714.

"Select men apiwinted to agree al>ont tho Kiard of the minister (same

meeting), »]m that the der>d of the Indian Field shall bo rocordod.

" At the same meeting it was agreed that a iK'tltlou should bo carried

to tho proprietors to try if they would gmnl a streum for the use of the

town, with suitable accomuiotlutionx of html, that so there might t>e n

grist-mill set up and maintained for tho buneAl of the town. Nov. 2!>,

1714.

"John Bosttck, Sr., and Suml. Bronson app. to agroo with Mr. Daniel

Boardman for next half year for to preach the wonl unto ns, tt what

shall lie his wugcH for half u year's work. Dec. 23, 1714.

"rn/«d, That nil the latnl lying on tho west side of the Great River>

from the uper end of iho plan over rocky river down to the mouth of tho

still river, shall bo etiiemed a common fleld, and all rattle, horseflf A
swine l>elng found there after the Ituh of this month shall U' deemed
W<ifH.i;/f /fn'ui/, and to In* lm|Hiuiido<l atconling t*» law. April 1, 171'».

*' Agreed, that a petition should bo sent to the GonI Court to see

whether we ndght attain lilwrty for the settlement of tho worship mnil

ordlneuces of God amongitt us. May 5, 1715.

" Mr. Daniel Boardman elected tu settle In the work of the ministry-.

Juno 10, 1715.

" And a committoe nppointod to treat with him.

" A comndlteo appolntetl to carry Mr. Boanlnian's proposals to Mil*

ford to hoar what they will do In ordor to the setllenient of a minister

amongnt us hero.

"Committee ap|)ointoil to hire a man to liounl Mr. Boardman. July

29. 1715.

"Town declared tlioy wouM accept of some of Mr. D. Boardnnin'H

pni|>o«iitions In order to a nottlemont, namely that conci*rning his Nahiry,

and that concerning the lut In the Imlum ^li^M.the fencing the laud, and

also plowing so much as in pni|iu«ed. AugUKt 10, 171:).

" Agree<l, that a petition Iw i-nrrleil tt> tho Genl. Ct. to try the matter

whether we can not obtain lll*erty to roiito a tax fur Che iUpiH>rt of the

ministry, Oct. 21, 171ft.
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" Shall be a general line of fence from great falls to east or west aspe-

tuck. Nov. 24, 1715.

" Grain shold pass for paying town charges is as follows : wheat, 4s. per

liushel {67 c), rye, 2«. 8<l. per bushel (about 45^ c), Indian corn, 2s. per

bushel (34^ cents), oats at Is. 4J. per bushel (23g cents), flax, 6rf. per lb.

(9 cents). Dec. 19, 1715.

"VntefJ, That the ministry should be fenced, etc. Dec. 19, 1715.

"We pitch upon the 3 Wednesday in October for ordination of Mr.

Boardnian, in case our way may be clear. August 20, 1716.

"Agreement with Mr. Dauitd Boardrnan accepted.

" 1 : its supposed that y" town shall we y*" sd Boardnian paid y^ 78. upon

each right not settled according to y agreement made with Mr. Samuel

Clark at Blilford = and as for the remaining part of ye salary which lies

upon the inhabitants = we covenant and agree that it shall be paid as

follows; 1: that every present inhabitant may have the liberty to pay

one-third part of his or her minister's rate in grain,—that is to say.

Wheat, rye, & Indian corn. Wheat at Ss. G<L per busliel (58^ c), as

money, rye at 2s. & 4'/. (39 c.) per bushel, & Indian corn at 20d. (28 c),

all as money.

"The other 2 parts or two-third parts: I will alow to be paid in the

several species or kinds, viz.: flax = or labor ^ or pork = or linniii

cloth = if not these then money = these two latter parts you may pay

some of every sort ; or the whole in either of them, this agreement shall

stand as long as sliall consist with peace & prosperity = and I do oblige

myself to sell to the inhabitants graine at the same price what I liave to

spare. Oct. 11, 171G.

"John Bostick, Sr, and Saml Bronson was chosen committee to sign

letters to the elders & mesengers, and to provide for the entertaining the

gentlemen above named when they came. Oct. 11, 171G.

" Petition to Genl. Cuuit that all necessary charges may be raised upon

land or upon nil the proprietors, Ac. April 6, 1711).

"Zachariah Ferries & John Weller, Sr., Conn., to lay out a bnrying-

place of 2 acres, and to make return thereof, as that it may be recorded.

Oct. 11, 1716.

"Agreed that there should be 1 pound two shillings raised forthwith

to purchase a drum for the use of the town, & Johnathan Buck chosen to

gather the money. Oct. 11, 1716.

"Stephen Noble appointed to represent the town at the ordination,

and John Bostick to see the miuistei-s well furnished. Oct. 11,1716.

"Zachariah Ferris, Tavern Keeper

"Samuel Prindle. to dig graves.

"Tlie inhabitants should every one help Mr. Daniel Boardman one

day work a pace toward a barn, upon consideration that that article of

breaking up land in the former agreement be released. Dec. 14, 1716.

" Agreed tliat John Weller &. Sti-phen Noble should have 10s. for beat-

ing drum, upon public meeting, and other necessary times. Dec. 14,

1710.

" Grain pass for town rates same as former meeting {same meeting).

FIRST BOOK OF TOWN-MEETINGS.

" Meeting of proprietors of Common fields. Fences should be repaired,

and have fences laid where necessary either upon the Mountain or to

mn to the great river nortlnvard. March 25, 1717.

"David Giiswold chosen to call upon those that have not done their

share of fence about the Minister's home-lot. March 25, 1717.

"Agreed the fields should be opened for cattle & horses, upon Satur-

day Oct. 5, at sun set. Oct. 3, 1717.

"I'o/erf, To give David Griswold 4 pounds to supply the minister, Mr.

D. B., with wood for the year. Dec. 16, 1717.

" Select men to agree with some person for bulls to supply the town.

(Same.)

"Swine shall be free commoners, or go free upon the common. Dec.

16,1717.

"Agreed that there should be glass provided to furnish the windows

in the house that we meet in upon the Sabath. Dec. 26, 1717.

"Fencing Mr. Boardman's home-lot. March 17, 1717-18.

"The town provided upon the price of provisions: Indian corn, 3s.

per bushel (50 c.); wheat, 6s. (SLOG); rye, 4s. per bushel (60^ c.) ; oats,

Is. (167<i c.) ;
pork, Zd. (4 cents per pound) ; flax, Id. per pound (9% c).

"Swine to be free coranionei-s. Dec. 15, 1718.

"Committee to gree with Mr. Boardman as to salary, &c. (Same

meeting.)

"2s. Oti. (41% c.) paid per load for fetching Mr. Boardman's wood.

" Agreed tliat the towns men should pay the town debts all excepting

that one wolfe that was killed in the town b^ Benj. Bostick & John Mil-

ler, sen. Dec. 15, 1718.

" Voted, That there should be a meeting house built of 40 foot in length

and 30 in breadth, & 20 foot in hight between girts, with other suitable

proportions. Feb. 23, 1718: 19.

" And that it (s"! meeting house) should be set np in the high way in

the most convenient place between the house that is called Mr. John

Reed's & that which is called Caleb Mallory's house. Feb. 23, 1718: 19.

"There should be 10,000 IS-inch shingles, 3^ of an inch thick at the

lower end and otherwise suitably proportioned, and of such breadth as

may run 5 inches; and also that there shall be 2500 of good clabboards

of white oak, being 4 foot & 4 inches in length & 6 inches in breadth,

and not less Ilian ^^o ii^ch thick, well and even dressed, gotten for cover-

ing a meeting house. (Same meeting.)

" And that they shall be brought to the place by the middle of June

next, & that every man forfeit 12*/. a hundred for their right. (Same

meeting.)

"2 pounds 10s. a thousand for clabboards brought to the place.

"258. a thousand for shingles brought to the place, Ac.

" Committee to make a rate on above work by the present list, David

Griswold, John Welch.

"Jonathan Buck to be excused from this rate. Feb. 23, 1718: 19.

"Committee, John Welch, to Milfurd for assistance as to ministry.

Mar.Ii 18, 1819.

"Ind. corn, 'Jn.; wheat, 5s. ; oats. Is. 6d.; rye, 3s. 6d.

"As to timber for meeting house. Dec. 17, 1719.

"Wheat, 5s. (83^3); rye, 3«. Gd. (58i/iC.); oats. Is. 6r?. (25 c.); Indian

corn, 2a. (33^). (Same meeting.)

"Grain for minister's i-ate: Wheat, 4s. Gd. (75 c); rye, 3s. (50 c); Ind.

c, 2s. (33J^); pork, 1 pound 4s. per hundred.

"5 pounds to provide Mr. B. with wood for the year. Dec. 17, 1719.

'25 pounds allowed for getting and drawing meeting bouse timber.

Jan. 8, 1719.

" As to general line of fence of common fields. Also voted that all

the land within the field from rocky river southward shall be fenced for

namely all 40 acre divisions & 20 acre divisions & all meadow land that

is improved or shall be improved, excepting house lots & 10 acre

divisions.

" Also that all the land from the mouth of rocky river to the Danbury

fence, & from the great river to the mountains westward, shall be es-

teemed a field, and all creatures found within this compas shall be

counted danimje fcamuU. Dec. 23, 1719.

"An account of the general line of fence for the common field. Each

man his proportion as hereafter is mentioned :

Rods. feet. in.

To BenonvStebins 17 1 6

William Gould 9 4 3
Kami. AdkiuB 6 6 9

April 16, 1720.

"The town impowers Saml. Brownson, Wm.Gaylord, Roger Brownson,

Zachariah Ferris, & John Bostwick, Junr., a Com. to set up the meeting

house, and to see it covered and closed & the door set up at town charge.

At same meeting it was agreed that there should be boat built & the

charge to be paid by pols. Dec. 7. 1720.

" All land now lying in common and not laid to any particular proprie-

tor, shall be free for getting wood and timber of all sorts, and stone for

all manner of work (for any inhabitants) untill such time as they shall

be fined, etc. March 20, 1721.

"Town authorizeil warning of proprietors meeting. Proprietors that

are at Milford to be warned. Feb. 22, 1720-21.

" Agreed that there should a school maintained for four months this

winter following, and that the town should bear half the charge of sd

school. Sept. 21, 1721.

" Committee to draw lot for choice ; and voted, that the first man that

hath his first pitcli shall bring it in by next Monday night, and so to

proceed to allow but one day for one man to bring in his pitch, extraor-

dinary casualties excepted, as sickness, or foul weather, and when any

man hath brought in liis pitch lie shall notify his next neighbor,—that

is, he who is next in pitch,—who shall proceed the next day, except

what is excepted, untill they have voted that he who shall, by his pitch,,

shall enteifare upon any other pitch shall have liberty to bring it in tlie

next day, or afterward, so soon as they see cause. March 15, 1721-22.

**^Voted, That if we can purchase any of the land northward from our

town that we will divide it equally to each man above 21 years of age.

June 12, 1722.

" Voted^ That the wall of meeting-house should be walled up to girts now
before winter, and that the walls shall be silled in between the studs,

that is to say, by nailing lath upon the floors and then to sill in between

the sill timber and morter,and that the floor shall be Joynted and drove

up. Oct. 8, 1722.
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"Petitiou to Geul. Court to try if our north purchase of land above

bounds of N. M. might be iidded to N. M. Same meeting, Oct. 8, 1722.

" Committee with Woodbury to run a north Hue from "Woodbury old

northwest corner till it comes to our head line to make a corner. March

11, 1723.

" Prayer to Genl. Assembly to raise a tax upon liglits equally for 10

years for the maintain of the ministry here. Marcli 11, 1723.

" Same subject T. M., April 23, 1724, at a meeting those that did agree

to purchase the lands north of our town, being in breadth 1 mile & 12'.

"Samuel Brownson,

" Zachariah Ferriss,

"John Nuble.

"Voled, If we can purchase the land northward from our town we will

divide equally to each man above 21 years of age, and every man being

even under 21 shall liave equal shares northwest. June l:i, 1722.

" Agreement of purchasers of the north purchase. June 22, 1722.

" Names are all recorded on old record. Record of Communication

from Milford proprietors to com. of New Milford. March 1, 1720-21.

" Lay out of 3d lot Kast side town street. April 21, 1713.

"Paul Welch should have 6 pound 10s. so to provide Mr. Boardman

with wood for ensuing year, being 7 June. Dec. 11, 1721.

" Committee to hire a school master. Dec. II, 1721.

" Voted, Granted to John Bostwick, Sen., tlie liberty and privilege of

the highway acros Aspeturk river at lower end of mountain meadow in

case he erect a good grist-mill suthcient to grind the town corn well and

reasonably. Dec. 11, 1721.

" Committee to hire school master or mistress, etc. Dec. 10, 1722.

"Prayer to Gen. A. to abate 2 years longer County rates. Dec. 10,

1722.

"The scholars in school to find themselves wood in equal proportions.

(Same meeting.)

" Committee to provide lime & lath to do the walls of meeting bouse,

& to plaster house & to lay the floor. Dec. 10, 1722.

"Window to be provided to finish meeting house. Dec. 11, 1721.

" Children from 7 to 12 years of age shall pay to the school here in N.

M. Dec. 11, 1724.

" Children over 12 & under 7 shall pay to the school according to the

time they go in equal proportion with other scholars for the time they

go. Dec. 22, 1724.

" Mr. Boardnian's wood should bo got by the inhabitants according to

their proportion in the list. That 40 cords should be got. Dec. 9, 1725.

*' School 3 m. in winter, 3 m. in summer. Dec. 9, 1725.

" See whether highway south of parsonage lot should be removed to

north side of ud. lot. (Same meeting.)

" Voted, That there should be a school house built this next spring to

be 20 feet long, 10 feet wide, 7 between joyata. Jan. 14, 1725-2C.

"Schools 3 m. in winter &. 3 m. in summer. Dec. 7, 1726.

"Seating meeting house. (Same.)

"IW.vJ, That Mr. Daniel Boardman, min. of the Gen. N. M. should be

allowed by tlio town 9i» jiounds a year for the time to come, he finding

himself fire wood, & to take grain at the town price, and other species

also, or in bills of credit for G years. Dec. 30, 1726.

" Mr. Boardnian's proposition of accepting 9n iJounds salary won by the

town excepted, except that clause in it concerning the towns taking

care about provtdhig hia firewood, which is due and not to be excepted.

Jan. 2, 1726-27.

"Jan. 2, 172fi, Mr. B. accepting for peace by a certificate recorded on

old records.

" Mr. B.*s sallery shall begin and end the Ist of Hay annually. Jan.

16, 1726-27. Signed.

" Ab to dividing line between Newtown A N. M. Aug. 2«, 1727.

"Committee ap. to prevent inrroachments upon highways & common
lands. Dec. 19, 1727.

" Owners to yoke swine, etc. Dec. 10, 1728.

" Agreed to leave the form of the — of placing the pulpit A the seat**

in the lower part of the house to the committee and the workmen. July

11, 1729.

" Ear marks recorded next after this meeting & for pages.

"Seats Ui bo made on both sides of the broad allej In the meeting-

house. Dec. 2, 1729.

" Voted, That there sInuiM be timber provided for the making the gal-

lery & the stairs at the door, and thi- Mtairs to be miulu as aood iu may be.

" Also Comniilloo to Meat the nieoting-houso, who shall seat occtu-dlng

to age, di^tiUy, A rafale ; the pew nearest the pulpit is the highcttt in dig-

nity, & the 2 pew A the first long seat to bo equal in dignity.

"IW«</, That Monic other women shall be seated with Mr. l)4>ardman

according to the dignity uf their place. Dec. 2, 1720.

" Voted, That there shall be a drum beat for a sign to go to meeting,

Dec. 2, 1729.

" A rate of 8 pounds, by last list, for to defray the charges of the pros-

ecution of Newtown at the County Court.

"A prayr sent to Gen. As. to obtain a county rate for finishing our

meeting house and defraying charge of tlie school. Dec. 2, 1729.

"Voted, That they will chose a town marshall to warn town meetings

and cut brush days. Dec. 7, 1730.

"Voted, That there shall be a pound built at the town charge, ou the

west side of great river. Dec. 7, 1730.

" Committee for finishing galleries to m. h. (Same meeting.)

"Shall be a dium beat upon sabbath & other times of public worship,

to notify people of the time of going to meeting. Dec. 13, 1731.

"Persons upward of '»0 years of age shall be allowed 2s. per year for

their age. Dignity is always allowed.

"Grades of seats according to dignity in the meeting house. Dec.

13, 1731.

"Voted, That the widdows shall keep their seats, Ac. Voted that there

shall be 8 men set in each pew, and in each seat in square body 8. Jan.

11, 1731-2.

" Agreed to let action with Newtown fall ; each pay their own charge.

March 24, 1731-32.

"Committee to agree with Mr. Boardman as to his sallary, Ac. Dec.

11, 1732.

" Voted, That Mr. B.'s sallary shall be 80 pounds a year in money, also

30 cord of wood, lOs. a cord, for 4 years, Dec. 12, 1732.

" Mr. B. accepts 30 cord wood, 95 pounds salary, Ac. Dec. 12, 1732.

"Record of those who got wood for Mr. B.

" Wm. Drinkwater, of N. M., is Deputed to serve all writs in N. Havea

County. Samuel Mansfield, Sherift" N. Haven Co. Aug. 14, 1739.

" Then comes a li.st of New Jlilford freemen, 2 pages read. T. M. G.

" Voted, Southward farms to keep a school on west side of great river.

Dec. 9, 1734.

"Joseph Benedick A Mr. Ephraim Hawley shall bo freed from paying

miniriter's rate for 4 months in winter season for this year in case thoy

pay to a minister at Shepaug, in Woodbury. Dec. 9, 1734.

"Deacon John Bostwick, Capt. Stephen Noble, Saml. Cunfleld wore

chosen coms. to onh-r all the pnulentials in Iniilding a bridge ovei G.

River at Now Milford, in the place that Itis. Edmond Lewis hath pitched

upon, to agree with workman, Ac. May 4, 1T36.

" Corns, appointed to see what can get to the building of the Bridge.

(Same meeting.)

" A Memorial to Gon. As. for liberty to gather money by a Brifl* for

the building a bridge over Great Klver. May 4, 1730.

" Building bri<lge at placi* town halh agreed upon, Ac. Oct. II, 1736.

" Nathan Gaylord com. to gather money. (Sumo meeting.)

" Mr. B4iardman'8 salary 120 iH>und!i per year. Dec. 13, 1736.

"Committee on Bridge. (Same meeting.)

"Select men ap|Hiinted to take care of Bridge. Doc. 12, 1737.

" I'o/fr/, That Deoc. John ItoHtwick xhnll lie allowed ton shillings for

tho use of hid law Uxik for town mcetlngit, and for the use of particular

persnnfl, as they shall have iiccuslou. Dei*. 12, 1737.

" Wheru certain men shall bo seated In moeUug-houso. (Same meet-

ii>g.)

"Grave Digger, Saml. Prlndle A J. Nobery. (Same meoting.)

"Com. for building Bridge allowe<l 20<i. each. (Sanio meeting.)

"Mr. n.'n salary raJNud to Vi^ \i*mud». Dec. II, 1738.

" Deacon J<d> HarriMH wife is seate<l in the corner pew In the meeting

house. (.Same meeting.)

"Commlttco to repair s<'hoo1 house. Sept. 10, 1730.

"V»trd, That a memorial be sent to Genl. .VsKembly for libeily for

making a toul bridge over tho great river. April 13, 1741.

" Petition thiit North purchase bo oecuple<l to N. Bl. (Same meeting.)

" Will rrfialr bridge If general Ass. will grant a liberty of a tole bridge.

(Same nioetiiig.)

"Mr. n.'it salary 140 pounds. 1)00.14,1741.

"Mr. B. and family can cross the bridge without paying tolc: also

some otiiont.

"Voltil, That Mr. Saml. CanfleM shall !•« removed from the seat where

now placed In tho uio<>ting house A placed in first itew."

PETITION FOR NKW COUNT?.

" May 10, 1742.— ]'->(^«*. That KWnoior Itoetwick. of Danbunr, and his

family shall have free lilwrly to iwm A reiMise ott^r our t<dr hriit.jr tolo

fre<>, ho (Miying 12 shillinK« money Into the town treasury so lung as said

bridge fituill Mland. Oct. 2.'<. 1742.

" Mr. Buurdnuui's salary 146 pounds. Dec. 13. 1741£.
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" School at South farms. Dec. 13, 1742.

" School house at South farms. Marcti 17, 1743,

'• Liherty granted certaiu petitionere fur land to build a Church of

England and situated eastward of Samuel Prindle's house, GO foot in

length & 40 f. in width, for the worship of God. Marcli 17, 1743.

" Agreement between New Milford and New Fairfield as to boards.

March 14, 1743.

"Voted, That the inhabitants of the South farms in N. M. shall be set

of for a religious society, according as the committee. Sept. 20, 1743.

" No tole on Sabbath to all going or returning from church or meeting.

Dec. 12, 1743.

" Mr. Roger Sherman have liberty to pass over tole bridge, paying 10s.

Feb. 6, 1743-44.

"Committee to confer with Mr. Boardman to call in the incoming

minister, Ac. June 6, 1744.

'* Rev. Mr. White, of Danbury, & others desired to come to preach here,

&c. June 6, 1744.

"Votpil, That those of us who are of the Church of England shall be

freed from paying any charge for hiring any minister for 1 year, pro-

vided Mr. B. shall bo taken away, Ac; otherwise if we have to settle a

minister. June 6, 1744.

" Agreement between New Milford & New Fairfield dated March

13, 1744.

" Tliose of Church of England freed from paying any charge that shall

arise by bringing any minister to come into town, Ac. Adjourned

to Jan. 18,1744.

" Voted, That a person sliould be hired to preach the gospel for 6 sab-

baths. .

*' Voted, Tliat Ebenezer Fisk should have £2 8s. for his time, & 20j«. for

expenses, and 20«. for his house, which is for fetching in a minister.

Jan. 18, 1744.

" A committee appointed to hire a minister or ministers, as they shall

find occasion, for to supply the pulpit in New Milford till next annual

meeting. Jan. 18, 1744.

"Committee appointed to attend General Assembly at Meriden, Wal-

liugford.

"Perambulate the line with New Fairfield. March 13, 1744.

" Report of the select men of both towns. Dated Marcli 20, 1744.

"General Association at Meriden as to ministers. Sept. 18, 1744.

*^ Voted, That all our foimer meetings & votings respecting our sending

for a minister shall be null & void, & we conclude to set apart a day of

prayer & fasting, humbly to implore heaven's blessing, &c. Oct. 15, 1744.

"To call a minister to preach on i)robation, &c. Oct. 19, 1744.

"Money of tole bridge shall be divided according to the act of the

Generel Court, Ac. Dec. 10, 1744.

"Stephen Williams hired to preach 6 sabbats if committee sees fit.

January, 1744-45.

"Voted, That the committee send a man to conduct Mr. Noah Wells to

New Milford. Jan. 18, 1744-5.

" Votes in reference to the sallary of Mr. Noah Wells. July 2, 1745.

"A protest or count was entered against the settlement of Mr. Wells.

Christopher Newton called to preach on probation. July 2, 1745.

" Joseph Ruggles and others to have a school at their farms.

"Joseph Ruggles' request for a school at their farms. Nov. 12, 1745.

" Voti'd, That tliere shall be a school house erected & north end A south

end of town, and tliat a line sliall be drawn dividing the schools. Dec.

9, 1745.

"Tliis runs the removal of the house. I think are now three school

houses in town.

"Voted, That any of the former families inhabitants of N. M. shall

have liberty to build a small house to repair to on the Sabbath in the

common land. Dec. 9, 1745.

" With the consent of the selectmen of the town, the committee ap-

pointed by the town erected the school house at the south end of the

town, on the top of the first rise of the hill against Samuel Canfield's

house-lot. Dec. 10, 1745.

" Upon the request of Mr. Paul Welch, et. al. praying the civil au-

thority and Selectmen for liberty to erect a school house. After liberty

given, the committee located it in the highway southward from David

Camp's house lot, into the north end of plank swamps, about 6 rods

northward from sd. swamps. Dec. 10, 1745.

"The school house at the south end of the town was erected near to

Joseph Ruggles' house, northward from his house aboutthe middle of the

highway. Dec. 12, 1745.

" Pursuant to a grant of ed. town we, Ac, have set out unto Can-

field, Japeth Collins, etc., a certain piece of land to sit a house thereon,

whereunto they may repair on the Sabbath day, lying noi-th of the

meeting-house on the side of the hill ajoining to Sperris' land, that is 18

foot in length, 12 foot in breadtli. Dec. 10, 1745.

"Voted, Tff give Mr. Stephen Johnson £6 as a minister, & if he sliall de-

viate from the established order which he shall engage into according

to the Seebrook platform that no land I'evert to town. Feb. 17, 1745-56.

"Voted, That Mr. Noah Wells and Mr. Stephen Johnson be settled in

gospel ministry. Feb. 24, 1745-46.

" Mr. Johnson's reply. April 4, 1746.

" Taken up in a suffering condition, by Samuel Hitchcock, of N. M., a

Red steer, one year old, with white hind feet, Ac, Nov. 6, 1745.

"Steer appraised by Joseph Benedict & Nathan Hawley. May 29,

1745, Ac.

"Then comes the description of all the ear-marks of different persons

for cattle, Ac, covering more tlian 7 pages. Their names are, Abel Hine,

Ebenezer Buck, Wm. Prime, Abnitlia Buck, James Ferris, Ebenezer

Booth, Gilead Sperry, John Comstock, Arthur Bostwick, George Merwin,

Sherman Boardman, Joseph Ruggles, Nathan Bostwick, Jonathan Bene-

dick, Stepen Hawley, Guiles Orcutt, Abraham Dalomy, Daniel Nobles,

Abiel Baldwin, Justus Miles, Justus McKiuus, Samuel Smith, Jonathan

Meker, Peter Brownlow, Hezekiah Hawley, Samuel Bostwick, Daniel

Picket, Abel Hawley, Pitman Beuedik, Ebenezer Hope, Amos Northrop,

Jolin Pickeiing.

" The committee of the great bi idge shall have power to admit any

persons that are not inhabitants, while in the town, of the town of New
Milford, to be free passengers, & to take their proportion of the tole,

provided they pay their portion of the cost of rebuilding the Bridge.

" The town conveyed to Jonathan Meker the benefit of the East As-

petuck where he hath a Grist mill
;
provided the sd. Meker shall never

hinder any person that shall build any mill or dam up sd. stream for a

public use anywiiere between the mouth of sd. river and within 60 rods

of the mouth of the Mast, where the sd. river comes out.

" Voted, That there shall be a man chosen to keep the records of the

marks of the sheep within sd. town. Dec. 14, 1747.

*' Voted, That the committee shall apply thursdays to Mr. Taylor A trie

him to come A preach the gospel with us. Dec 14, 1747."

Then comes a record of cattle, etc., taken up and

their marks, etc.

"Voted, To give Mr. Nathaniel Taylor a call to settle in the work of

the gospel ministry. April 11, 1748.

" Voted, ThatZerubable Canfield shall collect the monpy subscribed for

the repairs of the bridge over great river.

" Voted, Mr. Taylor £400 for his settlement A £300 for his sallery.

April 11,1748.

" Mr. Taylor's ordination shall be June 29, 1748.

" Voted, Where the seats of Mr. Enoch Buck, Wm. Judd, Widow Sarah

Baldwin, Cap. Nathaniel Bostwick, Paul Welch, Samuel Picket, Eben-

ezer Baldwin, Lewis Wilkinson, N. Collins, Mr. Roger Sherman place

shall be in the — seat in the front galery. June 7, 1748.

" Voted, That Nathan SilUman shall be admitted a proprietor to pass

and repass over the Great Bridge for 10 shillings. Dec 12, 1748.

" Voted, That every person that shall kill any Ratell Snake for ye year

ensuing from April 1st shall be allowed 3 shillings for each snake, &c.

Dec. 12, 1748.

" Voted, That 12 pounds shall be paid for repairs of meeting house upon

yo prespeterian order.

" Enoch Bucks aunt shall be in the fore seat. July 10, 1749.

" Seats in meeting house. Dec. 11, 1749.

" Fo(ed,That people of North purchase shall have £15 to build a school

house, Ac. Dec. 11, 1749.

"Mr. Royce Sherman was chosen Leather Sealer, Dec 10, 1751.

" Voted, That the School Committee shall divide the interest of ye

School as Com money to each A every school within the limits of N. M.

that are set up in a lawful manner according to ye list of the inhabi-

tants of each particular school year. Dec. 10, 1750.

" Voted, The Com. shall divide the interest or Cone money to each

school &c. Jan. 1750-51.

'* Voted, That all those pdi-sonsof the Church of England & ye friends

shall be freed from paying any dues towards ye building or repairing

any meeting house.

" X''oted, That they would build a new meeting-house in New Milford.

Feb. 14. 1750-51.

" Voted, That the inhabitants of such parts of sd. town as shall obtain

liberty of ye Hon. G. A. of this C. to be a society by themselves, at or

before the expiration of 4 years next ensuing, that then they shall have

paid to them by sd. town towai-ds the building a meeting house within
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their societies so much money as was paid on their lists towards the

meeting house now to be built for sd. town. Feb. 14.

" Voted, To build a new meeting house ; 52 for and 24 against.

" Meeting house to be 66 feet in length 44 feet in breadth, 30 years

2 m.
" Voted, That a rate shall be raised of 12 pence per pound and put list

in preparation to build meeting house.

" Voted in affirmative that they would chouse to continue under the

jurisdiction of New Haven County rather tlian annexed so far northward

as Litchfield or Cornwall.

" Votedy That N. M. sh(>uld not oblige Woodbury to build a bridge on

Shepaug River near ye month of sd. river. Dec. 9, 1751.

" Voted, That the inhabitants below Thoma-s Noble's, on both sides Still

River be freed from paying to ye minister in ye town or to Mr. Taylor

for ye apace of 3 months, in case they hire a minister with them.

"Rev. Mr. Taylor salary, £500, paid in my. or wheat, 30s., rye, 208.,

Indian corn, 15s.

" Meeting-house shall be GO ft. long, 44 ft. wide, 27 ft. parte.

" Voted, That the shingles shall be 18 in. long, 5 In. wide, % of an in.

thick. '

'* Voted, That the clapboards shall be white oak, 4 in. wide, J^ in. thick

on the back, the sap being taken out.

" Voted in negative that N. M. is not willing that the Northwest corner

of N. M. shall be set off to Newfuirfield.
'* Voted, Tbat the town shall apply to County Court, holden at Litch-

field, to reijuest for a new committee to affix a place for erecting and

setting up a meeting-house in sd. town.

" Voted, That ye town will be at ye charge of laying out highways,

that ye proprietors' committee shall lay out in sd. town, provided ye pro-

prietors shall be at ye charge of making a recompense for any land that

may be taken away on that account.

" Voted, To allow of a burj ing-place to be laid out in N. Milfd. north

purchase.

" Voted, That the inhabitants of N. M. shall cut brush on ye public

highways one day this year in ye month of Nov. nxt.

"Committee shall have power to give liberty to any person that shall

come to deal in tliis town to go over the bridge tole free. Each person

so paying 1 pound to town.

" The Select men sliall have power to warn any one to cut brush ex-

cep those who are exempt frum inonding higliways.

*' Voted, That since the town is divided into 2 societies, that the in-

habitants of th9 Ittt society shall have the benefit of tbat part of sd.

rate raised on their lists towards building the meeting-house, and the

inhabitants of sd. town witliin tlie limits of Newburry & Newpreston

societies shall have their rates revised on their lists remitted, such as are

not already collected and paid, and such of them as have paid them '

shall have them repaid by the treasurer.

"Dec. 8, 1755.— Voted, That each society in tlie town of N. M. shall

support their own schools within their lawful limits for the future.

" Voted, That toll of great bridge shall be leturned into tt)wu treasury,

and that cost of repairs shall be drawn out of town treasury.

*' Voted, That the town-rate shall be one-third part of a penny on the

pound, lawful money, to be paid in lawful money, or bills of credit of

this colony, of the late impressions, or equlvilent in old tenor bills, the

rate of exchange to be determined by the town treasurer, or In good

merchantable wheat at 3n. iid. pr. bush., or rye at '2». 4d. pr. b., or In-

dian corn at !«. 9</., ur oats at 9(/., or tlax at On. 4d. pr. pound.
" Voted, That there whall be no money drawn out of tlio town treasury

to pay for bulls for the year ensuing.

" Voted, That the rate shall be }/^ part of a penny on the pound.
" Voted, That all bridges, except the great bridge shall be built Jt re-

pali'od by way of highway work.

*' Voted, Tliat the old meeting-house shall be disptised of for the benefit

of the town in general.
i

" Voted, That Saml. Canfleld, John Hitchcock, & Saml. Bostwlck a 1

comniitteu to take money out of T. Treasury sufllcient to buy paper & to

make a new bo«>k A to legnlato the ear-murks.

" Voted, That the bridge to Samel. Bruwusou's Mill shall be like Still

river Iron- works bridge.

"Dec. 12, nrn.— Voted, That there shall bo a bridge built over the

mouth of AHpetuck rivor in the highway.

" Vot^d, That John DaveniHirt shall )>o admitted an inliabitant.

" Voted, That Select-men shall have power to apj>oint Surveyon of

highwayM their particular districts, when to waru the Inhabiluiitji to

Work the highways.

"A vote A argument as to rebuilding the bridge over great river, car-

ried ftway by an Ice-Moo. Those who wouhl rebuild should have the tole,

Ac, provided they should pay for the lumber remaining, &c., if they took

it, at the approval of the select-men.

"March 1, 1758.— Voted, That the town will build a small house for

Paul, the Frenchman, to dwell in, on the town cost, & land for a garden

place, not exceeding J-^ an acre.

" Voted, That the house shall be 16 fot sq., 1 story high, for him to live

in, till peace be made between the French & English ; then it is supposed

sd. Patil will be returned to his native habitation, & then sd. house is to

be returned to the town.

" A committee appointed to see to fencing the burying-place in l^*

Society of town.

"James Huis & wife and Thomas Clark & wife admitted inhabitants.

" Dec. 11, 1758.— Fote(/, That Saml. Clark shall be paid 14s. 5(1. for con-

veying a neutral french man from New Milford to Newtown.
" Voted, That the select men shall draw money out of the T. T. to hire

a house for Paul, the frenchman, that is one of the neutrals among us for

year ensuing.

" Voted, That S. men shall prosecute any person who has brought any

inhabitant into town, &c.

" Vot£d, That N. M. shall preambulate with N. Fairfield.

" Voted, That the Seperatrs, so called, shall have liberty to erect a con-

venieut house for their public worship, in the highway as shall be thought

proper in N. M.

"April 9, 1759.—Abel Hine being chosen to gather the rate for year,

and has now gone into the war in the government service, Saml. Corn-

stock is chosen.

"Dec. 8, 1760.— Voted, That if the authority and selectmen think

proper, they may have liberty to set up inoculation for the smallpox,

" Voted, That no person or persons shall cut or fell timber adjoining

the Great River, on penalty of 10s. for each otTense.

" Voted, tliat 288. 2(1 shall be abated to Amos Collins & Isaac Deforest

on the amount of their misunderstanding about their license to sell

spirituous li(piors the year past.

" Voted, Tbat those tliat went into the inoculation for the smallpox

shall pay their equal proportion of charge to the owner of the house Jfc

the town. Doc. 14, 1701.

" Voted, That there be a committee to divide the books called saybrook

platform according to the sundry seats, Ac.

"Ga. for killing a wild cat allowed from town.

"Daniel Hurrit, Slnu-un Baldwin, Satul. Summers, Ephrahm Buck,

John Peet, Aaron Gaylord, Jr.. A David Ilawley, Sextons.

" Voted, That the inhabitants of Now Preaton Society may have liberty

to erect a School-house on the highway near Capt. Nathl. Boswortirs

shop, so as not to incomtuode the highway.

" Voted, That a comm. ap. to enquire and find whether the sum of

money raised f»r the sale of Country lands in Norfolk, a proiKtrtioneil

part of which is allotted to N. M., is in Litchfield or Wooilbury, and in

whose hands, Ac.

"Jan. 24, 17G3.— IVi/,»i, That He/eklah Baldwin be exempt from the

fine for selliiiK freeh«d<l estate to Bishop.

" Voted, That Saml. Raymond bo exempt fh)m the floe for selling free-

hold to Zobulon Palmer.

" ro/»'</. That the highway SurveyorH shall from time to time warn

out men to erect A maintain a bridge across Asiu'tuck river, by Mr.

Taylor's Grist-mill.

" Dec. K, ncC).— lolrd. That the select men are her«by Impowored to

set out a place for Wm. James to set up a shop Tor his carrying on thd

trade of a (itdd itmith, In such place ns they think proper.

" Voted, That the town shall keep in repair the Great Bridge orer

great rivor, against the middle of the town, with plank, Ac.

"Same as voted concerning the bridge at Great Falls.

"Doc. 14, MGl.— Voti-d, That the town will pay £14 lOi. to the church

of England for the old chunh for Town-House.

" Voted, That Daniel Taylor's fine for breaking the peace, before Samuel

Bostwlck, K(|., Hhull bo rtdini|utshed.

" Voted, That the town itay lo. for killing red fox catched hi sd

town.

"Dec. 12, ViW.— Voted, That Phineas llurd's fine of 12*., taxad by

Paul Welch, (^i., for his breach of Sabbath, shall t>o reroltleO, A not

rocovorable from him.

"Dec. 20, nao.— Voted, To build a bridge over Aspelack near Mr.

Booth's Iron works.

" Vt>led, Tlint the united dlitrlL-t shall or may keep a schtNil In the

Town-House the year uiisuin, they i«ylnR all dauioge If any 1*0 done

thereby. Jan. 10, 1770.

"Dec. 0, m\.— Voted, That a black bonnet, a red woman's ch«k, A

all wosted gown, belonging to the eetale of Hannah Beaman, uf Derby,
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be kept for and given to her daughter, Hannah Beanian, under age, and

if she die under age tlie town to have them.

" VoU'd, Tliat the town relinquisli & rebigu what interest they have in

or unto the bridge acrost the great river, at the great falls, to the original

biiildera or proprietors tliereof.

"Det-.. 13, 1773.— Voted, That the select men are hereby inipowered to

tiike money out of the town treasury sulticient to purcliase decent cloths

to supply each of the hurying-places in sd town to cover the coffins that

need to be thus resjicctfully intered."

KEVOLUTIONARY WAR.

" Voted, That they will chose a committee of correspondence (by the

majority, only one nep:ative).

" Voted, That they chose a committee to draw up a draft to lay before

the meeting.

"Saniuel Cnnfield, Wni. Cogswell, David Eiiatt, Ac, lie a comittee of

conference.

"Dec. 12, ll"4.— Voti'd, That the select men shall dispose of the grain

now iu the custody of the Town Treasniy, to the best advantage accord-

ing to their discretion, and account uith the Treiisurer for tlte loss of

srinliing A also ye loss in ye changing of tlie price.

"Anios Northrop, Isaac Hitchcock, Ibishnel Bostwick, Nathaniel Boz-

woith, Kpenotns Pratt, Isaac Uostwick, Saml. Canfield, Reuben Booth,

Sherman Boardnmn, Elizar Warner, Geo. Smith, Giliiid Sperry, was

chosen a committee of inspection, according to the Congress advice, and

also according to the concurrence thereto by the Hon. General Assembly

holden at New Haven in Oct. last past.

"Dec. 9, 177n.— Rlr. Sand. Comstock, Mr. Israel Baldwin, Capt. Ab".

Camp, Daniel Everitt, Kq,, Capt. James Terrill, Mr. John Cornstalk, Mr.

Geo. Sniitli, Doct. Jonah Todd, Joseph Rnggles, Eij,, Corpo. Bushnel

Bostwick, Saml. Boslwick, Eq., Col. Saml. Cantield, W"". Cogswell, Eq.,

Abel Hine, Eq., Mr. Amos Nortliup, Capt. Slierman Boardnmn, Mr.

Reuben Booth, Mr. Asahel Nol>Ie, Deiic. Benj". Gaylord, BIr. Oliver

Warner, Mr. Caleb Bennit, Mr. Saml. Warner, A Deac. Ebenezer Hotch-

kisB was chosen a cuuimittee of inspection and corrisjmndence.
!

"March 10, 1777.— I't'/ef/, That tlio regnlations contained in the late

act of Assembly respecting the laying of Embargoes and the stating of I

prices now in force, are gnod and wholsimie, and, as such, ought to be
,

strictly adheared to, and that it is the indisputable duty uf nil inform-
I

ing and executive officers to prosecute in the juost effecting manner all
|

violations of sd regulations, & that it is the duty of the inhabitants of
,

this town to give all the assistance in their power to such officers in the

discliarge of their aforesaid duties.

" March 31, 1777.— Voted, That a committee be appointed, according to

the advice of his Honor, the Gov., &c., for the purpose of furnishing the

quota of eobliers in the continental service for sd New Milfnrd.

'* Lieut. Ziidoch Noble, Capt. Joseph Rnggles, Jr., Ensi. Geremiah Can-

field, Mr. Ethiel Stone, Dea. Israel Baldwiu, Mr. Thomas Brownson, A

Mr. Zachariah Sanford was chosen for a Com for the purpose men-

tioned in 2nd vote.

" Voted, That the town of N. M. will give £12 lawful money, bounty,
j

for the 1st year's service in addition to all encouragement already given,

to such inhabitants of this town as shall enlist into the Continental ser-

vice for 3 yeai-8, or during the present war. ,

" That for the 2d & 3d years, the sd soldiers who shall so enlist shall
|

have £6 lawful money pr. year, to be paid out of the T. T.

" Tliat if money be wanting in T. T. to pay the s who shall enlist

within lU days, ace. to 4th vote, that the T. T. is herby imp. to give notes

of hand to such inlisted soldiers, payable by the let Sept next, with in.

until paid. Sept. 30, 1777.

"That the town will procede to transport home Salt which belongs to

the town.
" Wm. Cogswell, Eq., Capt. Ebenezar Couch, to be a committee to pro-

cure sd. salt & fetch it to New Milford.

" That the Com'" shall apply to the select men for money to bear the

expense of getting & transporting sd, from Boston to sd. Town.

"Capt. Sherman Boardman, Mr. Saml Warner, Mr. Simeon Baldwin,

Capt. Benj" Brownson, Capt. Ebenezer Couch, Mr. Ethiel Stone, & Dea.

Ebenezer Uotchkiss appointed a Coni't<-o to procure clothing for the srd-

diers in Continental Service & Select-m. to give an order on T. T. fur

money.
" That a Com''"' be appointed to purchase for the benefit & supply of

the families of the soldiers in the Continental Army, & also to supply

jthe necessaries of the other poor of the Town. A quantity of wheat, Itye,

Corn, & other articles & necessaries of life at the prices now stated in a

vote posted iu this meeting, provided that sd. regulations shall not take

place, then each pei"son selling s''. articles shall be entitled to each

article tlie most common & general price n''. articles pass for insd. N. M.

"Voted, That £12 : 0: be granted to Daniel Trowbridge out of the T.

T. to replace money sd Trowbridge reed, for his son (out of b'^ T.), who is

in service & unfortunately lost the same out of his pocket. Aug. 5,1778.

"The articles of Confederacy as proposed by Congress, Stiled the

United States of North America, was reed, in T. M. and taken into

seiions consideration, by articles seperately & in succession, & no ob-

jection made to sd. Articles, except some part of ye 5th Article, which

respects ye mode of cbooseing our delegates in Congress; Voted,Ti\a.t the

freemen will alwa.^s hold the prerogatiou & sole power of changing our

delegates in Congress by vote, said articles of confederacy was approved

as good and adopted in full by the members of s*^. meeting without one

dissenting voice. Eeb. 10, 1778.

" Inoculation for the small pox may be carried on in T. untill Mar. 20,

next, under direction of select men; & that no person be admitted to

have the small pox except tliose persons who are exposed to be drafted &
serve in the army & some few families who may be exposed to the in-

fection by keeping tavern.

" Mr. Simeon Baldwin, BIr. Ebenezer Hotchkiss & Eng. Cogswell was

chosen a Committee to provide clothing for our soldiers in Continental

service.

" Capt. Elizur Warner, Lieut. Isaac Deforest, Lieut. Benj. Seeley, Capt.

Reuben Bostwick, Capt. Paul Yeats, Mr. Daril Emmitt, Capt. James Tur-

rlll, Mr. Amos Northrop, Mr. John Paten, Mr. Nathan Gaylord, & Saml.

Mcrwin, Jr., was chosen as a Committee of Corrispondence & inspection

foi the year ensuing.

"Capt. James Ferri&s, Mr. Reuben Booth. Lieut. David Smith, Mr.

Simeon Baldwin, A Capt. Benj. Brownsun was chosen a committee for

the purpose ot purchasing supplies for the families of the soldiers in the

Continental army.
" Ensign Jeremiah Canfield, Mr. Elionezer Hotchkiss, Simeon Baldwin,

& Ashael Noble was chosen a committee to provide clothing for soldiers

in the Continental army. Dec. 28, 1778.

"That the T. T. be authorised to pay to those Soldiers who were in-

listed under Lieut. Israel Burritt the sum of £12 : : each, on receiving

a certificate from the officer they now serve under in the Continental

Army, that they were good soldiers, and were inlisted within the limits

provided by a vote of this T., March 31, 1777.

" Voted, That the Town inhabitants of N. M. shall be divided into 12

districts, by authity of select men A Conim"« for purchasing. And that

the sd. districts shall furnish thir respective quotas as shall be assigned

to them as aforesaid, & on the failure of each or either of sd. districts in

furnishing the clothing allotted to them a aforesaid, then in case a war-

rant for dispui-sing clothing be granted, it sliall be directed to the dis-

tricts that are deficient in propoilion to their deficiency.

" Voted, That the select men shall be and are inipowered to deliver

back tliose guns to such disaffected persons of this town as have been dis-

armed according to their diTectiou,

" Ichobnd Williams, a soldier of the 7th Co. Regiment, having served

with reputation three years, the full term for which he enlisted, is dis-

charged the service of the United States.

" Phil. B. Bradley, CoL Cont'd.

"Camp, 12th Feb., 1780."

" New Milford has always been loyal to the cause of

freedom. In 1779 the town voted four bushels of

wheat a month to every man who volunteered for

six months, and three bushels a month to the militia-

men who marched when ordered; but if they failed

to report within eight days after marching orders,

they forfeited this premium. The town also sup-

ported the families of men while absent in the Con-

tinental army. In 1778 the Articles of Confederacy

proposed by Congress, styled " The United States of

North America," were adopted in town-meeting, ex-

cept part of the fifth article, which respects the mode

of choosing delegates to Congress. It was " Voted^

That the Freemen will always hold the prerogative

and sole power of choosing our delegates in Congress

by vote." Subsequently "said Articles of Confed-

eracy were adopted in full by the meeting without a
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dissenting voice." In 1783 it was voted, and a com-

mittee was appointed to enforce tlie resolution, that

all refugees, or " skedaddlers," as they would now be

termed, as well as all who had voluntarily gone over

to the enemy during the war, should be prohibited

from returning and settling in the town.

"And yet these men of the past were not all saints

and patriots. In 1776 there were some bitter Tories

here. One of these was compelled by a company of

riflemen to walk before them from New Milford to

Litchfield, carrying one of his own geese the entire

distance. At Litchfield they tarred him, made him
pluck his own goose, bestowed the feathers upon him,

and drummed him out of the place, after obliging

him to kneel down and thank them for their leniency."

CHAPTER XLIV.

NE-W MILFOBD (Continued).

Congregational Cliiiicli, New Milford—Methodist Episcopal Church,

New Milford—Metlindist Episcopal Church, GaylordsviUe—Baptist

Church, Ntirthville—Baptist Church, Gaylordsville—Joniiuia Wilkin-

son, the Universal Friend—Quaker Society—Roman Catholic Cliurch.

ECCLESIASTICAL HISTORY.

CONGREGATIONAL CHUKCH.*

This church was organized Nov. 21, 1716, with

thirteen members. The first sermon was preached

here by Col. John Reid, who had studied for the min-

istry in his youth. Mr. Daniel Boardman, a preacher

of the gospel, came here in 1712. The next year it

was voted that the inhabitants should pay all the ex-

pense that had been incurred in obtaining a minister,

also to lay out a pastor's lot, to dig and stone up a

well for Mr. Daniel Boardman, if he became a settled

minister in New Milford. Jlcanwhile, the town al-

lowed five shillings sixpence a week for the minister's

board. In 1715 the town agreed to petition tiie (.ien-

eral Court to " attain liberty for the settlement of the

worship and ordinances of God among us." This wa.s

the subject that then came up at every meeting of the

inhabitants. It was not until 1716 that they made
arrangements for laying out a burying-grouiid of two

acres, but for four years before that they had been

contriving and planning for the religious instruction

of themselves and families. The poverty of the people

appears in the resolution adopted as to Mr. Board-

man's salary, one-tliird of which was to be paid in

grain, two-thirds in labor, linen, or pork,—the estab-

lislied ))riceof wheat was then four shillings a bushel

;

rye, two shillings eiglitpenee; corn, two shillings;

and oats, one shilling,—part of the agreement being

that Mr. Boardman should sell the grain which he

itad to spare at tlie same prices to the inhabitants.

• Condonflt-il from memorial discourse delivered by Rov. James B.

Iluuar, July U, 187C.

In accordance with a vote of the town, Mr. Board-

man was ordained Nov. 21, 1716.

There was no ecclesiastical society until after 1750.

Until then the town was the society. It was the town

that provided for the supply of the pulpit, for the in-

stallation of ministers, the erection and care of build-

ings, and all expenses connected with public worship.

The church held meetings for the election of deacons,

the discipline of members, and the spiritual interests

of the people, but the town managed everything

that now belongs to the society. It was the town that

invited Mr. Daniel Boardman to labor here, and that

settled him as a pastor, making all the arrangements

for his installation ; the town did the same in the

case of Mr. Taylor. So far as the records show, the

church took no separate action in calling its pastors

until the invitation to Mr. Griswold, in 1790, when it

formally voted, as has been the custom ever since, to

concur in the society's action. From 1713 to 1750 a

large part of the business in town-meeting was in re-

gard to ecclesiastical affairs.

The first meeting-house, " forty feet long, thirty feet

wide, and twenty-four feet between ' gists,' with suit-

able proportions," was built in 1718-19, but not opened

for worshi]) until 1720, and then it was in a very un-

finished condition. In 1720 it was voted to wall up

the "gists" before winter, and fill in between the laths

and studs with timber and mortar. The floor was not

laid until 1723. This building stood on the highway

on Town Hill, a few rods north of the present resi-

dence of Mrs. J. P. Trcadwell. The second house of

worship, "sixty-four feet long, forty-four feet wide,

and twenty-seven-feet post.s," nearly twice the size of

the first, was erecteil in 1754, the town applying to the

General Assembly for power to sell the old meeting-

house, and to tax non-resident land-holders for build-

ing the new one. This building stood on the village

green, nearly opposite the present residence of Mr.

.Solomon K. liostwick. The present edifice was erected

ill 1S;!;{, an<l, though iiiucli larger than the former, for

several years persons wishing slips have been unable

to obtain them. It would be a good centennial work
to enlarge the buihling.

The "8abbath-<hiy house" was an institution that is

unknown to the present generation. In 1745 the

town voted "that any farmei-s inliahllants have leave

to build a small house to repair to on .Sal)bath-day, on

the common land, provided the public in not damni-

fied thereby." This building was located " north of

the meeting-house, on the side of the hill." After the

erection of the church on the green, the "!^abl)ath-day

house" was built on the s|>()t were now stands the house

so long occupied by the Uev. Mr. Acly. It is de-

scribed to me by a liuly still with us (Mrs. Kli My-
gatt), who went through it more than seventy years

ago, as a long, low building, with four large rooms,

regarding which frightful stories were tohl of the

ghosts that inhabited it. In this bnildlng farmers

whose homes were distant stored loads of wooti and



452 HISTORY OF LITCHFIELD COUNTY, CONNECTICUT.

barrels of cider, and here they warmed their bean-

soup, replenished their foot-stoves, and regaled them-

selves in the hour between services. Until 1870 the

services were held morning and afternoon ; since 1870

the second service has been held in the evening.

The chapel was built by individuals, with permission

of the society, in 1838-39. The meeting-houses were

not heated until 1823-2.5, when two box-stoves were

put in the second meeting-house. In November, 1833,

the society voted to obtain " 2 of Dr. Nott's stoves

and one ton of anthracite coal for the winter." Fur-

naces were put in in 1860, when the church was im-

proved at a cost of five thousand two hundred and

twenty-five dollars, and land for sheds was bought.

The organ was obtained in 1860, at a cost of twelve

hundred dollars.

The parsonage was bought in August, 1870, at a

cost of six thousand dollars, paid for by subscription,

and presented, with certain conditions attached, to

the society. Originally the people were called to

worship, as to all public meetings, by the beat of the

drum, for which an appropriation was made in 1716.

For many years after the first church building was

occupied the town annually appointed a person to

beat the drum, and voted him pay for his services. A
church clock which hung in the steeple of the second

meeting-house must have been bought about a century

ago. In 1780 the liabilities of the society are thus

stated :
" Arrears yet due on account of clock £7 Ss.

5d., and due Widow Prudence Collins, for sweeping

the meeting house, £1 10s."

Until 1745 this was the only society, aud every

person in town was taxed for its support. From 1750

to 1790 persons who aided in supporting other socie-

ties were by vote relieved from the tax for the support

of this society.

From 1752 until 1796 all the educational and re-

ligious affairs of the town were under the control of

this society. It located the schools, fixed the tax,

collected it, and superintended the schools through

committees annually ajjpointed. It was, in fact, the

school society for the town, and as such received

Benoni Stebbins' legacy. It fixed and collected the

tax for the salary of the ministers, " for the sweeping

out of the meeting-house." It also, in some measure,

managed the financial affairs of the Episcopal so-

ciety, for in 1771, after appointing Ichabod Bostwick

to gather the minister's rate, it appointed "Solomon

Hodkiss to gather a rate for Mr. Clark." And in

1772 this society issued a notice " to warn all the

church people to meet together on Monday, the 13th

day of instant April, at St. John's Church at 8 of the

clock in the morning, then and there to consult such

measures as they shall think proper to procure a

Glebe house for the Rev. Mr. Clark, and to do such

other business as shall be thought proper." The
minutes of the meeting thus warned are recorded as

" a meeting of the inhabitants of the 1st Ecclesiastical

Society—holdeu by the Church of England." This

was doubtless done, in a fraternal spirit, to give legal

efficacy to the action of the Episcopal society in dis-

posing of one glebe and purchasing another. This

shows the kindly feeling that then, as now and al-

ways, has governed the members of this society. The
C/iurch Review* states that

" Certain churchmen in New Milford were fined for refusing to attend

the meetings of the Established Cliurch. Tliese fines were, by recom-

mendation of Mr. Beach, paid, and copies of the proceedings talceii, to be

forwarded to the King and Council. The fact becoming known, tlie au-

thorities refunded the money, and granted permission to build a church,

which before had been refused."

"I do not know," says Rev. Mr. Bonar, "the au-

thority of the Church Review for this statement, but I

do know that there is no warrant for it in town or so-

ciety's books. There is no record of any refusal to

permit churchmen to build, nor of the remittance of

a fine upon any person for being absent from the

worship of this church, yet the books contain records

of scores of votes remitting fines for breach of the

Sabbath and other minor offenses. From 1752 to

1819 this society had all the legal rights in its own
hand, but in all the records there is no instance of

anything like intolerance, or a disposition to throw

obstacles in the way of others, while there are nu-

merous instances of its generosity and readiness to

aid those who entertained a faith different from its

own."

The list of pastors is as follows : Daniel Boardman,

ordained here Nov. 21, 1716, and died Aug. 25, 1744;

Nathaniel Taylor, was ordained pastor here June 29,

1748, and died here Dec. 9, 1800 ; Stanley Griswold,

was ordained pastor here June 20, 1790 ; became a

Unitarian, threw open the sacraments to all, and was

censured by Consociation. He left town in 1802, and

edited a political paper in New Hampshire. In 1805

he was appointed secretary of Michigan Territory.

In 1809 he was sent to the United States Senate, was

afterwards chief judge of the Northwest Territory,

and died at Shawneetown, 111., Aug. 25, 1815, aged

fifty-two.

Andrew Elliot was ordained pastor here Feb. 24,

1808, and labored most successfully until his death,

May 9, 1829 ; Heman Rood, from 1830 to 1835 ; Noah

Porter, from 1836 to 1842 ; John Greenwood, from

1844 to 1849; David Murdoch, from 1850 to 1874;

James B. Bonar, 1870, present pastor.

During the last century the church was sensitive as

to the character of its deacons. Instead of electing

brethren at once to the ofBce, it chose them to serve

during the church's pleasure. If acceptable after

one or two years' trial, they were by vote " established

as deacons ;" and in 1750 the church voted that one

brother, who had thus been on trial for two years,

" should not be established in the office of deacon."

Twenty-one persons have so far served the church in

this office, viz. : Samuel Brownson, James Prime, John

« Vol. ii. p. 317. See "Hollister's History of Connecticut," vol. ii. p.

545, note.
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Bostwi'ck, Job Terrill, Samuel Canfield, Bushnell

Bostwick, Roger Sherman, Benjamin Gaylord, John

Hitchcock, Sherman Boardman, Elizur Warner, Jo-

seph Merwin, Dobson W. McMahon, John Beecher,

Micanor Stilson, George W. Whittelsey, Geradus

Roberts, Seymour B. Green, William Hine, John J.

Conklin, and Ethiel S. Green. From 1716 to 1808

the Lord's Supper was administered four times a

year; since 1808, every two months.

Nineteen men from this church have entered the

gospel ministry, viz. : David Bostwick, Joseph Treat,

David Brownson, Benjamin Wildman, Whitmon
Welch, Gideon Bostwick, David Saudford, John

Stevens, David Baldwin, Daniel Marsh, Nathaniel

W. Taylor, Charles A. Boardman, Orlo D. Hine,

Merrit S. Piatt, Elizur Beecher, Asahel Bronson,

John Treat Baldwin, George Todd, George Sterling.

At least four men in this town have been active in

national affairs. The most distinguished was Roger

Sherman, a native of Massachusetts, who came here

in 1743. He was clerk to this ecclesiastical society

from 1753 to 1761, and established in the office of

deacon in 1757. Here he wrought as a shoemaker,

aided his brother in the store, and in 1745 was ap-

pointed land surveyor for the county. Removing to

New Haven in 1761, he became judge of the Court of

Common Pleas, a member of the Upper House in the

Legishiture, and judge of the Superior Court. In

1774 he was appointed a member of the first Congress,

in which he continued until his death, at whicli time

he was in the Senate, to which he was elected in 1791.

He was a member of the Governor's Council of Safety,

and mayor of New Haven from 1784 to his death,

July 23, 1793. In the Congress of 1776 he was a

member of the committee appointed to draft the Dec-

laration of Independence, as well as of many of the

other most important committees ; and he was also a

member of the board of war, and of the board of

treasury. His services to the country were invalua-

ble, and few of his contemporaries left their impress

more clearly ujion American institutions.

Elijah Boardman, third son of Deacon Sherman

Boardman, and grandson of the first pastor of this

church, was born March 7, 1760. In 1821 he wa.s

elected to the United States Senate ; he died Aug. 18,

1823. Mr. Boardman's earlier years were in connec-

tion with this society, but, having married a daugh-

ter of the aforementioned Dr. Wliiting, a zealous

Episcopalian, who engaged in a pamphlet controversy

with Dr. Billamy, he afterwards identified himself

with the Episcopal Church, and died in its commu-
nion.

Perry Smith, who died in 1852, was elected to the

United States Senate in 18.36, and served one term.

He was connected witli the Episcopal society.

Orange Merwin, born here July 3, 1776, was in

Congress in 1826-27, during the administration of

•lolin (^uincy Adams; lie died Sept. 5, 1854. He waa

a member of this society.

METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH.*

In 1822 a permanent preaching-place was fixed at

Pleasant Valley, now Lanesville. Rev. Laban Clark

and Rev. Eli Barnet, preachers of the Stratford Cir-

cuit, preached here. In 1833 the name of New Mil-

ford for the first time occurs as a preaching-place in

the Conference Minutes. In 1850 the present church

was built, under the pastorate of Rev. William McAl-

ister. The church was dedicated by Bishop E. S.

Janes, LL.D. The following ministers of the New
York East Conference have been appointed to the

church since 1850 : A. B. Pulling, W. H. Russell, Ira

Abbott, S. J. Stebbins, William Silverthorn, William

Ross, George W. Allen, William R. Webster, A.

Booth, E. L. Bray, James H. Crofut, James H. Light-

bourne.

In 1826, at Northville, a church was built, and in

1828 a church was built at Lanesville. These churches

have been superseded by the New Milford church,

the membership having coalesced.

The present official members are Rev. William

Hill, Presiding Elder; Rev. James H. Lightbourne,

Preacher in Charge ; Henry Hartwell, M. L. Delavan,

Orange Pepper, Nelson Knowles, W. Green, Charles

A. Way, Edwin L. Osboru, D. M. Marsh, Trustees

;

Charles A. Way, A. J. Parcells, William Green, Lewis

Hamlin, John S. Colebrook, W. O. Mallet, Stewards.

METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH, GAYI,0BD8VILLE.t

This church was organized in 1824, by Rev. C. Sil-

liman, with the following members: Benjamin B.

Soule, Homer Waller, Martha Waller, Peter Gaylord,

Elizabeth Gaylord, Truman Gaylord, Jolin Gaylord,

Spencer Ward, Patty Ward, Herman Stone, Laura

Hendrix, Polly Paine, Clarissa Judd, Sally Judd,

William Terry, James A. Hungerford, Patty Hunger-

ford, Rufus Burnan, David Jones. The church build-

ing was erected in 1826. The following is a list of

pastors: John Reynolds, William Juett, Fitch Reed,

Samuel Cochran, Uriah Fisher, .\aron S. Hill, Francis

Donoly, J. O. Worth, Charles Stearns, Alonzo Sellick,

William H. Barnes, David Nash, D. T. Littlewood,

John H. CJaylord, Frank Lockwood, G. S. Gilbert,

Samuel Weeks, Benjamin Rcdford, William Ross,

Frederick Brown, Seth W. Scotield, Alexander Mc-

Alister, Josciih Hcnson, H. M. ( Jeiiung, Uriah Simons,

William A. Dalton, R. F. Elsden, Robert Kay.

The |)rescnt officers are: Trustees, Charles I'omeroy,

Clinton H. Pomeroy, James Paine, John Flynn, A.

H. Barlow ; Stewards, John Gaylord, S. C. Ferriss,

John Flynn, C. H. Pomeroy, W. J. Buckingham,

Sherman Benedict, H. O. Ward, John T. rnderhill,

Ezra Barnum. Present membership, eighty-eight.

Originally this charge was n part of the large

Amenia Circuit. When the New York East Confer-

ence wa-s formed by a division of the New York Con-

ference, Gaylordsville fell to the New York E^t Con-

* Ctitltribilte*! Iij Rrr. Janint H. Llghtlvume.

t Conlrilutcd b; K<iv. Hubert K*j.
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ference, but a few years ago it was connected to the

New York Conference, where it now belongs.

BAPTIST CHURCH, NOBTHVILLE.*

On the 7th day of January, 1814, a company of

believers holding Baptist principles met at the house

of Asabel Baldwin, in the western part of the town,

and after free deliberation,

" Voledt 1st.—To organize Iheniselves into a society to be known as the

New Milford Bap. Cli.

" Voleil, 2-1 .—To invito a coniicil from Sister Ch^ to meet with them

on the 9"' ilay of Feliy to consider tlie propriety of recognizing tliem as a

regular Bap. Ch."

Feb. 9, 1814, the Council met at the same place,

composed of pastors and delegates from the churches

in Newtown, Litchfield, and Roxbury, and, after ex-

amining their articles of faith and covenant, voted

unanimously to recognize them as a sister-church in

the Lord. The following are the names of the con-

stituent members : Eleazar Beeclier, Dorcas Wright,

Nathaniel Terry, Lydia Thillips, Martha Terry, Patty

Phillips, Mary Baldwin, Betsy Davenport, Elizabeth

Baldwin, Leman Garlick, .John Ferris, Mrs. Garlick,

Sally Ferris, Elijah Caufield, Mary Canfield, Mrs.

Canfield, Phebe Hallock, Esther Baldwin, A. Titus,

Isaac Wooster, Mrs. Jackson, Mrs. Wooster, Asahel

Baldwin.

February 19th the church voted to license Eleazar

Beecher, a man of the people, to preach the gospel

to them, and on the 15th of September of the same

year he was ordained to the work of the ministry,

and assumed the pastoral care of the church, and

served them in that capacity till 1821. The Rev.

Seth Higby was then ctilled to the pastorate, and re-

mained with the church one year. During that and

the following year their present house of worship

—

located in Northville, four miles from New Milford

village—was built; and in 1823 another house of

worship was built in Merryall, four miles distant.

In 1822, Elder Beecher .again took charge of the

church, preaching alternately at Northville and

Merryall, and so continued till about the year 1832.

During his pastorates over one hundred members

were added to the church. Their next pastor was

Rev. Nathan D. Benedict, who settled with them in

1832, and remained two years. Twenty-eight mem-
bers were added during that time. In 1835, Rev.

Elijah Baldwin moved into the place, and the church

voted to invite him to take the pastoral oversight du-

ring his stay with them. The invitation was accepted,

and he served the church until the spring of 1840.

From 1840 to 1850 the church had no settled pa,stor,

but the pulpit was regularly supplied by Rev. E. N.

Jenks, Rev. L. Atwater, E. C. Ambler, and others,

all non-residents.

Under the labors of Rev. Mr. Jenks, in 1841, there

was a very interesting revival, and eleven were added

to the church by baptism. In the winter of 1850

* CoDtributcd by Rev. E. Beardsley.

another revival was enjoyed, and eleven more were

admitted to the fellowship of the church.

From 1850 to 1866 there were no additions by bap-

tism, and none by letter that proved of any lasting

service to the cause of Christianity. During that

period the church enjoyed the pastoral labors of Rev.

H. M. Barlow two years, Rev. J. F. Jones two years,

Rev. J. Hepburn three years, and then Mr. Hepburn
supplied the pulpit two or three years after moving
from the place.

In 1S68, Rev. C. W. Potter accepted a call from

the church, and continued with them about three

years. A very extensive revival was enjoyed during

that time ; ten were added to the church as a result

of it, while other churches received their full share of

the converts. From 1871 to 1875 the church had no

pastor, the pulpit being supplied a part of the time

by Rev. Arthur Day and others. In the spring of

1875, Rev. E. Beardsley accepted a call to the pastor-

ate of the church, and is with them at present.

During its early hi.story its members were scattered

over three or four townships, and meetings were held

at different times in localities that best suited the con-

venience of the worshipers, but gradually out-stations

were abandoned, the congregation in Merryall dwin-

dled, the house of worship was sold aud for a number

of years their meetings have all been held in the

meeting-house in Northville.

The church litis never been strong, either in num-

bers or wealth, but, to its praise, it may be said that

it has been a united and peace-loving church. Only

one serious division has marred its history, and that

was of short duration. Its location, being in the

country, where the population is gntdually dwindling,

has always been unfavorable to its growth in num-

bers. Besides this, its pastor.ates have all been short,

the result, probably, of never having owned a par-

sonage.

Several of its members have been licensed to preach

the gospel, among the number Rev. N. M. Baldwin,

DD., for a number of years pastor in New York and

Philadelphia.

Synopsis: whole number received by baptism, 195;

by letter, 73 ; total, 268. Present number, 40 ; con-

stituent members, 23.

The Baptist Church at Gaylordsville was organized

in about 1830. The Universal Friends, between 1780

and 1785, the followers of Jemima Wilkinson, who is

described as a remarkably comely woman, with dark

hair and sparkling black eyes, built a house in what

is now the old cemetery, on the hill on the road to-

wards New Preston. They soon sold this building to

the Episcopalians, and moved to Yates Co., N. Y.,

where Jemima lived and died.

The Quaker society was organized in 1831, with

twenty persons. They built a house iu 1742, and have

continued their worship from that time until the

present, though at this date there is but one family of

them residing in the town.
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St. Francis Zavier's Church is a flourishing ecclesi

astical body, under the charge of Rev. Father Gleason.

For history of Episcopal Church, New Milford, see

Supplement.

CHAPTER XLV.

NEW MILFOKD (Continued). •

The Press—Tlie New Jlilford Ropulilicaii—Tlie New Milford Journal—

The Housatonic Ruy—The New Milford Gazette— Fii-st National Bank

-Savings Bank—Library—St. Peter's Lodge, No. 21, F. and A. M.—
Ousatonic Chapter, No. :i'i, K. A. M.—Good Shepherds' Lodge, No. G'l,

I.O. 0. F.— Fire Department-Adelphic Inslitnte—Old Advertisements

—The Tobacco Interest—Grand List, 188(.)—Incorporation of Town

—

Kepresentiitives from 1725 to 1881-Probate Judges from 1787 to 1881

—Military History.

THE PRESS.

The first paper established in this village was the

New Milford RcpuMican, in 1845, by J. K. Averill,

who continued until some time during the following

year, 1846, when it was removed to Litchfield.

THE HOUSATONIC BAY.

In 1872, Messrs. Bailey it Donavan, publishers of the

Danbury News, deeming New Milford one of the best

localities in Connecticut for the establishment of a rural

newspaper, began the publication of the New Milford

Jourital there. They sent one of their workmen,

named E. W. Addis, to this village to secure local
,

items, and supplied him with suflicient type to set

the items up ; but they made up the balance of it,

and printed the paper in Danbury. After about a

a year they disposed of it to J. R. Johnson, wlio put

the whole inside in type, but carried tlie forms to

Danbury every week, and the original owners worked

them off,—that is, the inside forms, the outside of

the paper being " patent," and supplied by New York

parties. Mr. Jolinson publislicd it about one year, when
it passed into tlie hands of Mr. M. L. Delavan, its pre;*-

ent editor and jiroprietor, who changed its name to

Tlie Houmlniiic liiuj, under which it still lives, and it

has met witii a degree of success wholly unexpected

at the outset. The Raij aims to be not neutral but

independent in tlie expression of its opinions, and

allows nothing to interfere with their expression. It

has a feature—that of iiuestions and answers—which

is wholly unknown to the otiicr papers of tlie State,

and which has been pronounced by eminent men a

very important feature, which, for tlie information

imparted, should be adopted by all other newspapers.

It \» able to say that since it has appeared under its

present name not a sentence has been |iublished

which could give otlense to modesty. It alms to be

thoroughly trutliful and reliable, and under the able

editorial management of Mr. Delavan has taken front

rank among the leading local journals in the State.

TIIK NEW MILFORD GAZETTF.

wa.s established by tree & Hale in January, 1877, by

whom it was published until August, 1877, when it

passed into the hands of Robert Erwin, who has since

been its editor and publisher. It is a lively local

journal, and justly merits its present prosperity. It

is Democratic in politics.

THE FIRST NATIONAL BANK OF NEW MILFORD

was originally a State bank, called the Bank of Litch-

field County, with a capital of one hundred thousand

dollars. The first meeting of stockholders was held

Dec. 6, 1852, and the following board of directors was

chosen, viz. : F. Chittenden, Eli Mygatt, George

Taylor, Walter D. Sperry, Solomon G. Bostwick,

Noble S. Bennitt, Daniel Marsh, George Briggs, and

Glover Sanford. The banking-house was the small

brick building now standing next door south of the

residence of Jlrs. Harriet Boardman, on Main Street.

A. McAlister, of Bridgeport, was the first cashier, and

held the position until the appointment of George W.
Whittelsey. of New Milford, April 25, 1853. Mr.

Chittenden was compelled to resign April 7, 1853,

and thereupon Eli Mygatt was elected, and at the

same time Henry W. Booth was chosen a director.

Mr. Mygatt voluntarily retired from the presidency

in 1855, and Henry W. Booth was chosen as his suc-

cessor. Jlr. Booth was succeeded by Daniel Marsh,

who continued in said office until Jan. 1, 1878.

In March, 18tj5, the Bank of Litchfield County was

converted into a national bank, with a capital of one

hundred and twenty-five tliousand dollars. Daniel

Marsh wa.s continued in the presidency, with the fol-

lowing directors, viz. : Daniel Marsh, Glover Sanford,

George Taylor, John Ilopson, John G. Noble, Henry

W. Booth, Lyman Smith. S. (J. Bostwick, (ieorge

Briggs. In 1858, John J. Conklin was maile cashier,

to succeed Mr. Whittelsey, and remained in office

until October, 1867, when Henry Ives, the present

casliier, was ajipointed.

The present officers of the bank are A. B. Mygatt,

President; Henry \V. Booth, Vice-President; Henry

Ives, Casliier; Henry S. Mygatt, .Vssi.stant Cashier;

Charles C. Barlow, Clerk.

The following is a statement of the condition of the

bank Dec. 18, 1880:

c«.

Tapltal •tuck.- ll2A,liao.OO

Snrpliia fund.... i'..0«l0.00

I'ndlYlilml pninn 1N.7.VM7
('iniiliilloli UA^W'OO
Unluilil dlvldouaL l.'ill.MI

l)t-|K»ltl 17ll>43,OB

('rrlinoii™ 0,!>61.tl7

Balitncii due lonki 7,:ui8.ue

Da.

Bllla discounted t24n,l!<i7.77

OvenlrnOi :M1.M
I!. S Lwndu IJft.CKlO.np

Other aloi'kl ind lainds 'il,:iU9.7.'>

Men-niiin« .Votloiuil

Bank, New York 3,'i,71M,74

Flak ,V Hiilih

Itanklng-house
Ftxpeiiiw accuunt
Ued.atauip acoiunt
Nun.reHitlelit tux
Five |M'r cent, redomp-

tlvin fund
Ciuh

:mii.l.H

7,(»II1IKI

4IW.0U
4o.bU

S,l!M,no

27,*».:il

«4e6,(i74.:i.'> MlHl,U74JS

While a State bank, and vcrj' soon after its organi-

zation, the Bank of Litchfield County sustained heavy

losses on account of the mi.sdoings of its pretddent,

Frederick G. Chittenden. It nccesnarily became the

chief care and ofVort of the next president, Eli My-
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gatt, and the board of directors, to repair tlie damages,

as far as possible, occasioned by the mismanagement
of Chittenden. Slowly but surely, under their ad-

ministration, they began to regain a comparatively

sound and satisftictory condition. Under the admin-

istration of the third president, Henry W. Booth, the

bank was well and judiciously conducted, and be-

came a prosperous institution, and paid satisfactory

demands. He left the bank on a sound basis, possess-

ing the confidence of the public, and with a rapidly

augmenting business. This state of affairs continued

while Mr. Marsh held the jjosition of president, until

the close of his term of official and most honorable

service, Jan. 1, 1878. In 1867, John J. Conklin

proved to be a defaulter to the amount of about

$40,000. The bank wys able to bear it without any

very serious embarrassment, and is now in a very

strong and jirosperous condition, doing an active and

constantly increasing business.

THE NEW MILFORD .SAVINGS BANK

was organized in July, 1858, with the following board

of trustees : Eli Mygatt, David C. Sanford, Silas Er-

win, Gerardus Koberts, Albert N. Baldwin, James
Hine, William J. Starr, Andrew B. Mygatt, Sheldon

Blackman, Jehiel Williams, Noble S. Bennitt, Al-

bert Pickett, Daniel Marsh, William B.Green, Charles

H. Booth, John S. Turrill, Isaac Hine, Levi S. Knapp,

and Charles Randall. The first officers were Eli My-
gatt, President ; Silas Erwin, Vice-President ; Charles

Randall, Sheldon Blackman, James Hine, Noble S.

Bennitt, Gerardus Roberts, Directors; John S. Tur-

rill, Secretary and Treasurer. The presidents have

been as follows: Eli Mygatt, Silas Erwin, and James

Hine. The first secretary and treasurer was John S.

Turrill, who was succeeded by Charles Randall, the

present incumbent.

The present board of trustees are Albert N. Bald-

win, James Hine, William J. Starr, Andrew B. Mygatt,

Daniel Marsh, William B. Green, Charles H. Booth,

John S. Turrill, Levi S. Knapp, Charles Randall,

William Roberts, Cyrus A. Todd, Ralph E. Canfleld,

Van Renssalear Giddings, Isaac B. Bristol, Turney

Soule, Charles M. Beech, and George W. Anthony.

The present officers are James Hine, President

;

Ralph E. Canfield, Vice-President; Charles Randall,

Secretary and Treasurer; Isaac B. Bristol, Charles

H. Booth, Van Renssalear Giddings, Levi S. Knapp,

and John S. Turrill, Directors.

The first deposit, 139, was made Aug. 23, 18,58.

The amount of deposits Oct. 1, 1880, were $566,646.-

97.
AGRICULTURAL SOCIETY.*

The first meeting for the formation of an agricultu-

ral society was held in Wright's Hall, New Milford,

July 3, 1858. The society was organized under the

name of " The Housatonic Agricultural Society."

At first the fairs were held on the lot to the rear of the

* Contributed by Robert Erwio.

present residence of Dr. James Hine; afterwards

the society rented grounds of F. S. Richmond, about

one mile south of the village of New Milford, on the

west side of the Housatonic River.

At a meeting of the society held March 3, 1879, it

was voted to merge the society into a joint-stock or-

ganization, and at a meeting March 22d a temporary

organization was effected. At a meeting June 21st,

two-thirds of the stock having been subscribed for

the organization, under the name of the " New Milford

Agricultural Association," the organization was com-

pleted by the election of a board of directors, as fol-

lows: William D. Black, Nicholas Staub, Noble Ben-

nitt, George W. Squires, Turney Soule, Samuel

Thornhill, J. Leroy Buck, Homer L. Wanzer, Walter

B. Bostwick, George A. Barnes, H. O. Warner, Charles

E. Beenian, and Burr Mallett. W. D. Black was

elected President: J. Leroy Buck, Vice-President;

W. B. Dayton, Secretary ; Charles Randall, Treas-

urer. Subsequently Mr. Dayton resigned his posi-

tion, and Robert Erwin was elected to fill the vacancy.

At the annual election in 1880 the old board of

directors and officers were re-elected. In 1881, Messrs

F. J. Turrill and Charles N. Hall were elected direc-

tors in place of George A. Barnes and Charles E.

Beeman. At a meeting of the board of directors

held May 7, 1881, Col. C. D. Blinn was elected secre-

tary in place of Erwin, resigned.

The grounds of the association are to the west of

the village, about a mile distant, and are well located.

The track is a good one, and suitable buildings for

the exhibition of goods have been erected. In 1880

a grand stand was put up. For the two fairs held so

far the association has been quite successful, each

year leaving a surplus after paying its premiums in

full. In 1879 the attendance at the fair and the

j

articles entered for premiums were double those of the

I
old society. There are also stables for the accommo-

I

dation of owners of horses. No liquors are allowed

I to be sold on the grounds. So far the association has

not allowed gambling in any form. In consequence

of improvements the association is somewhat in debt.

The capital is ten thousand dollars, and nearly all

the stock has been taken.

LIBRARY.

The Union Library of New Milford was established

in the Centre of New Milford, Feb. 18, 1796. The
first meeting of the proprietors of said library was

held at the dwelling-house of William Clark, and

the following are the names of the original ^b-
scribers : Sherman Boardman, Elijah Boardman,

David B. Boardman, Mathew Brownson, Nathan B.

Buckingham, Samuel B. Buck, Clark Blackney, Ben-

jamin Bostwick, Elijah Bostwick, Samuel Bostwick,

Reuben Booth, Gerardus Booth, Asa Brownson, Daniel

Camp, William Camp, Samuel Bostwick, Ithamer

Canfield, Herman Canfield, William Clark, Stephen

Chittenden, Jr., William Doan, Daniel Everitt, Stan-
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ley Griswold, Ebenezer Gaylord, William Gaylord,

Nathan Gaylord, Daniel Gaylord, Abner Gunn,
Epinetus Gunn, Abel Hine, Noble Hine, Beebe Hine,

Solomon Hill, Abraham Hayes, C. Lowry, J. Lock-

wood, Daniel Lines, Truman Marsh, N. S. Masters,

Stephen Miles, John Miles, Stephen Merwin, Noadiah

Mygatt, Jonathan Mygatt, David Noble, Jeremiah

Piatt, Daniel A. Pickett, Joseph Ruggles, John Rob-
erts, Philo Ruggles, John Sjjcary, Bennni S. Sanford,

Isaac Stone, Eli Starr, Nathaniel Taylor, Nathaniel

Taylor, Jr., William Taylor, Gideon Treat, Thomas
Wells, and Philip Wells.

ST. PETER'S LODGE, No. 21, F. AND A. M.,

was reorganized Nov. 23, 1863. A number of the fra-

ternity met at Lewis Allen's hotel, in New Milford,

on the evening of said day. Jarvis PoUey was ap-

pointed chairman and F. Richmond, Jr., secretary.

The brethren then proceeded to ballot for officers,

with the following result : Jarvis Polley, W. M. ; T.

Richmond, Jr., S. W. ; F. N. Allen, J. W. ; Geo.

Lockwood, Treas. ; H. Hertz, Sec.

The lodge-room was first located in the post-office

building, on Bank Street, and on their first regular

communication, Jan. 4, 1864, the remaining officers

were chosen, as follows : Chas. M. Booth, S. D. ; Oliver

S. Hartwell, J. D. It was voted to hold the regular

communications on the first and third Tuesday even-

ings in each month. The charter members were
Jarvis Polley, F. Richmond, Jr., L. N. Jennings, F.

N. Allen, Frederic Percey, Robt. Town.^jend, Lewis
Allen, Isaac Newman, Chas. M. Booth, Oliver S.

Hartwell, H. Hertz. March lOtli the first death oc-

curred.

The following are the Worthy Masters in regular

succession: Albert S. Hill, Dec. 19, 1865; C. M.
Booth, Dec. 15, 1868 ; H. O. Warner, Dec. 20, 1870

;

A. H. McMahon, Dec. 15, 1874; S. C. Landon, Dec.

18, 1877 ; T. M. Trowbridge, Dec. 17, 1878.

The present officers are T. M. Trowbridge, W. M.

;

Nicholas Staub, S. W. ; Geo. S. Beers, J. W. ; T. T.

Marsh, Treas. ; Geo. H. Jackson, Sec. ; J. A. North-
rop, 8. D. ; Henry Adams, J. D. ; Albert Turrill,

Tyler.

Albert Turrill has held tlie position as Tyler since

the organization of the lodge, with tlie exception of

one year, <luriiig which time he has not been absent
from his post but three or four times.

At the dedication of the Masonic Temple in Phila-

delphia, April 25, 1873, the lodge sent G. M. Booth to

witness the ceremony and report to the lodge. On
his return Mr. Booth gave the lodge an interesting

account of the dedication, with a description of tlie

building, and also [iresented to tlie lodge photographs
of the Tciii])le. Jan. 1, 1870, the lodge was removed
to Schoverling's Building, on Railroad Street, near the
depot, and Oct. l] 1879, it was again removed to its

pre-sent rooms, on Bank Street.

I'rcsent membership, ninety-four.

OUSATONIC CHAPTER, No. 33, R. A. M.

This chapter was organized as Weantinaug Chap-

ter, March 3, 1870. May 19, 1870, it was legally con-

stituted as Ousatonic Chapter, under warrant of John
H. Barlow, G. H. P. The charter members were

Jarvis Polley, G. W. Anthony, T. T. Marsh, Chas. D.

Blinn, D. W. Knowles, A. H. McMahon, A. H.

Kuapp, Eli Hamlin, Ira Keeler, and John E. Knowles.

The first officers elected were Jarvis Polley, M. E. H.

P. ; D. E. Knowles, E. K. ; A. H. McMahon, E. S.

;

M. L. Frost, C. H. ; S. C. Landon, R. A. C. ; H. O.

Warner, P. S. ; T. T. Marsh, Treas. ; Geo. W. An-
thony, Sec. ; Wm. Schoverling, G. M. 3d V. ; John
E. Knowles, G. M. 2d V. ; Oliver S. Hartwell, G. M.
1st V. ; Albert Turrill, Tyler.

The following is a list of succeeding M. E. H.
Priests: A. S.Hill, Dec. 28, 1871; S. C. Landon,

Dec. 28,1876; A. S. Hill, Dec. 27, 1877.

The present officers are A. S. Hill, M. E. H. P. ; T.

M. Trowbridge, E. K. ; S. C. Landon, E. S. ; T. T.

Marsh, Treas. ; G. W. Anthony, Sec. ; W. F. Bennett,

C. H. ; J. G. Foster, P. S. ; G. S. Beers, R. A. C.

;

Alex. Levy, G. M. 3d V. ; F. A. Bennett, G. M. 2d

v.; J. A. Northrop, G. M. 1st V. ; Albert Turrill,

Tyler.

The chapter held its meetings at first in the Ma-
sonic Hall, on Railroad Street, but removed, with St.

Peter's Lodge, F. and A. M., to its present rooms, on
Bank Street.

Present membership, forty-five.

GOOD SUEPIIEKDS' LODGE, No. 65, I. 0. 0. F.,

was instituted July 2, 1X77, with the following charter

members : John F. Williams, Nathaniel A. Williams,

John B. Boughton, Tlios. D. Barlow, Geo. S. Beers,

and James R. Ferris. The officers chosen were Thos.

D. Badow, N.G. ; John B. Boughton, V. (}. ; .Tius. R.

Ferris, Sec. ; John F. Williams, Trea.s. The place of

meeting was Beach's Hall, corner West and Bridge

Streets. On July 1, 1878, it was moved to Mii.sonic

Hall, on Railroad Street, near the depot. Oct. 1,

1879, it was again moved to New Ma.sonic Hall, on

Bank Street, where it now remains.

The Noble Grands have been as follows : John B.

Boughton, January, 1878; Nathaniel A. Williams,

July, 1878; Clia-s. B. Botsford, January, 1879; Geo.

E. Eddy, July, 1879; Geo.S. Beers, January, 1880.

The pre.sent officers arc Lewis W. Moslier, N. G.

;

Cha.s. Planz, V. G. ; T. M. Trowbridge, Sec; John
B. Sharpe, Treas.

Nov. 13, 1877, Schuyler Colfax delivered a lecture,

under the ausi>ices of the lodge, to a large audience,

from which the lodge received a handsome profit, a

part of which was donated to the yellow fever suf-

ferers in Memphis, Tenn.

Since its organizatiim the lodge has lost but two by
death. The present membership is forty-six, with an
average attendance of sixteen.
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THE FIKE DEPARTMENT.
The first fire company in this town was organized

May 8, 1830. The old company was finally dis-

banded, and in February, 186.3, Water Witch Engine

Company, No. 2, was organized. The foremen have

been as follows : P^redcrick Boardman, L. N. Jen-

nings, S. L. Erwin, and N. Staub.

THE WATER WITCH HOSE COMPANY

was organized May 1, 187G. The ])resent officers are

as follows : N. Staub, Foreman ; Charles Edwards,

First Assistant; Philip Planz, Second Assistant; T.

M.Trowbridge, Secretary; R. B. Noble, Treasurer;

H. E. Bostwick, Chief Engineer ; A. H. McMahon,
First Assistant; S. L. Erwin, Second Assistant.

THE ADELPHIC INSTITUTE.

The Adelphic Institute was opened at North Corn-

wall, by Ambrose S. Rogers, in 1847, and continued

there until 1860, when it was removed to New Mil-

ford, and taught there until 1876, a period of twenty-

nine years. This institution was highly prosperous,

and had a patronage extending to all parts of the

United States, the West Indies, and South America.

It had over five hundred different pupils, and during

the whole period of its continuance not a student

sickened and died. The locality is one of the most

healthy and beautiful in New England. During the

civil war it was a military school, having the best-

drilled teachers to drill the young cadets. Several of

its pupils became officers in the United States army.

The institution was a great benefit to the town of

New Milford, bringing there several thousand dollars

yearly. The students had ground allotted them to

cultivate, and they were required to furnish some of

their best productions for the press, and to take part

in a debate once a week. Some of the highest posi-

tions in the country are now filled by them.

OLD ADVERTISEMENTS.

The partnership of

DANIEL AND ELIJAH BOAl^iDMAN,

Merchants m Netv-Mil/ord,

IS to be dissolved, by mutual agreement, on the first day of March

next, at which time all unsettled accounts will be put in suit—an

alternative we so an.\iously wish to avoid, that we shall readily attend

at all proper times, to the adjustment of accounts with our customers ;

and for their accommodation, will receive all kinds of country produce

usually taken for merchant's debts, at their full value, either on book,

or note, if delivered previous to said first of March.

DANIia, BOARDMAN,
ELIJAH BOARDMAN.

.(S"They are furnished (as usual) with an extensive assortment of

European and India Goods,

Suiuble for all seasons, which are to be disposed of on the lowest

terms.

New-Mil/ord, Oct. lo, 1792. 38 12

INOCULATION.

THE Hospital in New-Milford, wdl be opened for the reception of

patients, on the first day of September next, where Inoculation

for the Small-Pox, will be continued through the fall, winter and spring

months, by
LEMUEL THOMAS.

New-Milford, July 23, 1792. 26

THE TOBACCO INTEREST.

As early as 1852, George McMahon commenced the

raising of tobacco and manufacturing cigars in a small

way. In 1868, E. A. Wildman erected the first to-

bacco warehouse in the town, and in that year five hun-

dred cases were packed. In 1869, Schoverling & War-
ner also erected a large and commodious warehouse.

These two concerns were the pioneers of the present

immense business. The business is at present (Octo-

ber, 1880) represented by the following firms, and

during the past year about five thousand cases were

packed : Warner & Myers, W. M. Schoverling, E. A.

Wildman & Co., P. Soule & Bro., Bristol & Staub,

N. Lachenbruck & Bros., Hall & Friedman, Robert

Irwin, B. J. Stone, F. S. Richmond, Martin L. Hun-
gerford, and Duane Gaylord.

T. Soule & Bro.—This business was commenced in

the fall of 1866, under the firm-name of T. Soule &
Bro., doing the first year about six thousand dollars

of contract building, besides some day-work. The

business rapidly increased, and for eight years prior to

1879 the contract-work amounted to thirty-five thou-

sand dollars annually. The firm until this time had

consisted of Turney Soule and Daniel E. Soule. They

had also for the last eight years been packers and

dealers in leaf tobacco, packing annually from four

hundred to seven hundred cases. In January, 1880,

the firm sold out a half-interest in the building and

lumber, flour, feed, etc., to George H. Lines and

Frederic A. Lines, changing the firm-name to Soule

Bros. & Co. The old firm still continued the tobacco

business, under the firm-name of T. Soule & Bro.

They built in New Milford village, during fourteen

years, some seventy-five dwelling-houses, ranging from

one thousand to eight thousand dollars each, besides

several large tobacco warehouses, store blocks, etc.

GRAND LIST, 1880.

10 per cent, additional St5,.316

797 dwellings 617,446

34,7261.^2 acres of land ,774,3S4

90 mills, Btures, and tnannfactories 81,72-5

881 horses 39,980

3304 neat cattle 70,.'>07

Sheep 2,048

281 carriages 11,630

Time-pieces and jewelry 8,180

Musical instruments 8,690

Household furniture aud libraries 4,975

Bank, insurance, and manufacturing stock 167,272

Kailroad, city, and other corporation bonds 76,320

Amount in merchandising and trade 53,100

Amount in mechanical aud manufacturing opera-

tions 28,600

Money at interest 80,768

Money on hand 6,953

Other taxable property 25.671

$1,973,471

Deductions 27,617

Grand list $1,945,8.54

1879 1,932,217

Gain $13,637

Polls, 382 ; military, 421.

PROBATE JUDGES.

The following is a complete record of the judges

of probate for the district of New Milford from its

formation to the present time

:



NEW MILFORD. 459

Samuel Canfield, from June, 1787, to June, 1790; Daniel Everett, from

June, 1700, to May, ISUJ ; David S. Boardman, from May, 1805, to May,

1821; Jchiel Williams, from July, 1821, to June, 1832; Nathaniel

Perry, from June, ls:!2, to July, 1835 ; Perry Smith, from July, 1835,

to July, 183G ; George Taylor, from July, 1830, to July, 1838 ; Na-

thaniel Perry, from July, 1838, to July, 1842; George Taylor, from

July, 1842, to June 20, 1S44; Nathaniel Perry, from June, 1844, to

June 22, 1846; Thomas B. Lacy, from June, 1840, to June, 1847;

David C. Sauford, from July 1, 1847, to July, 1849; Julius B. Harri-

son, from July, 1849, to July, 1851; David C. Sauford, from July,

1851, ti July, 1852; Frederick Chittenden, from July, 1852, to July,

1853; James Hine, from July, 1353, to July, 1854; John S. Turrill,

from July 4, 1854, to July, 1855; George Taylor, from July, 1855, to

July, 1857; Samuel D. Orton, from July, 1857, to May, 1864; James

H. McMabon, August, 1864, now in ofSce.

REPRESENTATIVES FROM 1725 TO 1882.

1725-26.—John Bostwick, Capt. Steph. Noble, Samuel Branson.

1727.—Capt. Steph. Nol.le, John Bostwick, John Welsh.

1728-31.—No record.

1732.—Stephen Noble, John Bostwick.

1733.—Stephen Nol.le, William Gaylord.

1734.—Stephen Noble, John Bostwick.

1735.—Stephen Noble, John Bostwick, Theophilus Baldwin, Samuel Can-

field.

1736.—Theophilus Baldwin, John Bostwick.

1737.—Capt. Stephen Noble, John Bostwick.

1738.—Capt. Stephen Mnble, Nath. Bostwick, John Bostwick.

1739.—John Bostwick, Capt. Stephen Noble, Capt. Theophilus Baldwin.

1740.—Maj. John Bostwick, Paul Welch, Capt. Theophilus Baldwin.

1741.—Capt. Nathaniel Bostwick, Samuel Canfield, Capt. Theophilus

Baldwin.

1742.—Nathaniel Bostwick, Samuel Canfield.

1743.—Paul Welch, Samuel Canfield, Capt. Nathaniel Bostwick.

1744.—Patll Welch, John Warner.

1745.—Paul Welch, Ebenezer Fisli, David Noble.

1740.—David Noble, Samuel Canfield.

1747.—David Noble, Samuel Canfield, Paul Welch.

1748.—Paul Welch, James Hind.

1749.—John Warner, Paul Wi-lcli. John Hitchcock.

1750.—John Warner, liushnell Bostwick, Thomas Noble.

1751.—John Hitchcock, Samuel Canfield, Reverius Carringtiui, Bushuel

Bostwick.

1752.—John Hitchcock, Bushiicll Bostwick, Nathau Botsford.

17.53.—Daniel Bostwick, Bushuelt Bostwick, Gebiel Hawley.

17.M.—John Ililchi'ock, Samuel Canfield, Bushuell Bostwick, Daniel

Bostwick.

1755.—Enos Camp, Bogor Slienuan, Daniel Bostwick.

1756.—Gchiel Ilawley, Aiinis Northrop, Capt. John Warner.

1757.—Capt. .lohn Ilitclii'ock, Amos Northrop, Benjamin Ruggles, John

Comstock.

1758.—.lolin Hitchcock, Roger Sherman, Gehiel Ilawley.

1759.—Bushnell Bostwick, Roger Sberuian, Partridge Thatcher.

17tlO.— Ben.jainin Gaylord, Roger Shornnm, Bushnell Bostwick.

17G1.—Gehiel Ilawley, Roger Sherman, Daniel Bostwick, Bushnell Bust-

wick.

1702.—Amos Northrop, liiislinell Bostwick, Nathan Gaylord.

1763.—Samuel Bostwick, Itnslinell Bostwick, Nathan Gaylord,

1764.—Nathan Gaylord, llu.shnell Bostwick.

1765.—Capt. Samuel Canfield, Bushnell Bostwick, Partridge Thatcher.

1760-CK.—('apt. Samuel Canfield, Bushnell Bostwick.

1760.— Maj. Bushnell llostwlck, Capt, .'ianiuel Canfield, Abel Hine.

1770.—Maj. Bushnell B..»t»ick, Capt. Samuel Canfiehl.

1771.—Thonois Nolile, Capt. Sherman Boarilinan, Samuel Comstock.

1772.—Thomas Noble, Capt. Slicrmau Boardman, Col. Bushnell Bostwick,

Capt. Samuel Canfield.

1773.—Ccd. Bushrull Bostwick, Capt. Snmuol Canfield, Copt. Sherman
Boardman.

1774.-Thonuui Noble, Joshih Starr, Capt. Samuel CAnfleld, Capt. Sherman
Boartlman.

1776.—Miy. Samuel Canfield, Capt. Shonnan Boardman.

177G.— Maj. Samuel Canfield, Capt. Sherman Boardman, Abel Hine.

1777.—Suuiuel CoinstocU, (lllver Warner, Col. .'<iiniuel Canfiehl.

1778.— Reubet] Booth, Samuel Comstock, .lonah Todd.

1779.—Capt. Slierriiau Boardman, Abel Hine.

1780.—Samuel Comstock, Capl. Noble Ulno, Uanlel Everett

1781.—Col. Samuel Canfield, Abel Hine.

1782.—Capt. Elizur Warner, Abel Hine.

1783.—Capt. Elizur Warner, Daniel Everett, Col. Samuel Canfield.

1784.—Col. Samuel Canfield, Abel Hine.

1785.—Capt. Timothy Ruggles, Capt. Timothy Bostwick, Col. Samuel Can-

field, Capt. Sherman Boardman.

1786.—David Northrop, Capt. Shermrm Boardman, Reuben Booth.

1787.—Abel Hine, Col. Samuel Canfield, Capt. Sherman Boardman.

17g8.—Capt. Sherman Boardman, Col. Samuel Canfield, Capt. Noble Hine.

1789.—Capt. Sherman Boardman, Col. Josiah Starr.

1790.—Daniel Boardman, Col. Josiah Starr, Sherman Boardman.

1791.—Josiah Starr, Elisha Bostwick, Sherman Boardman.

1792.—Nicholas S. Masters, Elisha Bostwick, Daniel Boardman.

1793.—Josiah Starr (2d), Noble Hine, Elisha Bostwick, Angus Nicholson.

1794.—Nicholas S. Masters, Noble Hine, Josiah Starr.

1795.—Josiah Starr, Noble Hine, Elisha Bostwick.

1796.-Josiah Starr, Elisha Bostwick, William Taylor, Philo Buggies.

1797.^osiah Starr, Philo Buggies, Elisha Bostwick.

1798.—William Taylor, Sherman Boardman, Abel Hine, Elisha Bostwick.

1799.-Philo Ruggles, Elisha Bostwick, Abner Gunn.

1800.—Elisha Bostwick, Abner Gunn, Sherman Boardman.

1801.—Elisha Bostwick, Josiah Starr, Philo Ruggles.

1802.—Philo Ruggles, Josiah Starr.

1803.—Elijah Boardman, Saiuuel Comstock, E. Warner, Jr.

1804.—Elijah Boardnuin, E. Warner, Jr., Samuel Lockwood.

1805.—Samuel Lockwood, Elijah Boardman, Homer Boardman, Eli Todd,

1800.—Elijah Boardman, Samuel Comstock, Beebe Hine, Abel Merwin.

1807.—Beebe Hine, Abe! Merwin, Andrew Miner.

1808.—Beebe Hine, Elisha Bostwick, Riverius Camp.

1S09.—Beebe Hine, Jared Lane, Ebenezer Smith.

1810.—Beebe Hine, Jared Lane, William Taylor, Reuben Warner.

1811.—Beebe Hine, Jared Lane.

1812.—Beebe Hine, Jared Lane, David S. Boardman, Reuben Warner.

1813.—David S. Boardman, Reuben Warner, William Taylor.

1814.— Reuben Warner, William Taylor, David S. Boardman, Ithamar

Canfield.

1815.—Elisha Bostwick, David S. Boardman, Gerardus Bo<»th, Jehiel Wil-

liams.

1816.—Elijah Boardman, Ithamar Canfield, Orange Merwin, William

Taylor.

1817.—Orange Merwin, Joel Sanford.

1818.—Orange Slerwiu, Homer Boardman.

1819.—Orange Merwin, Eli To.ld.

1820.—Orange Merwin, Ualiiel A. Pickett.

1821.—Eli Toil.l, Daniel A. Pickett.

1822-23.— Perry Sniilh, Samuel Canfield.

1824.—Daniel Gajb.rd, Abel Hine.

1825.—Reuben Warner, Jr., Kli Mygntt.

1826.- Ellhu Marsii (2d), Kll .Mygall.

1827.—Elihii Manih I2d), Dnvlcl S. Doartlman.

1828.—Clark Hine, Kavbl S. Iloanlnian.

1829.-Clark Hine, Davi.l S. Boarxiniau.

1830.—Benjamin B. Sonle, Joel S^tnford.

I83l.-,Iehbl Williams, Walter lljoth.

1832.—Nalhnniel Perry, Walter Booth.

183:1.—George Taylor, heujamin B. Soulc.

1834.—George Taylor, Sherman Peck.

1835.—Perry Smith, Sherman Peck.

18:16.—Perry Smith, Lynuin Hine.

1837.—ElUur Warner, ftanlel Mareh.

1838.—Orange Merwin, John Wooster.

1839.—O. Warner. Anson Sipilres.

1840—Jehiel Williams. All«rt N. aiUlwin.

I 1841.—Alb<Ml N. Ilaldwin, Letl Mortis.

1842.—Oninge Warner, Lawrence Taylor.

I 1843.—Frederick Gunn, Abijah Tliomi«on.

1 1844.—No record.

I

184&.—Albert M. Ilnblwiii, William Roberta.

i
1846.—Henry Merwin, Hora. e Judmin.

1847.—Henry Merwin, Henry S. Mygalt.

1848.— L. n. Hamlin, M. Morehouno (2d).

1840.- L. II. Hamlin, Lyman Smith.

I860.—George Taylor, Glover Sanford.

1861.—Jehiel Williams, Albert N. Baldwin.

1862.—John C. Smith, John Pi-ck.

1863.—Daniel Mamli, J. O. Noble.

1864.—John U. Noble, O. 11. St. John.
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1855.—K. J. Canfield, Sherman Peck.

IS.'ie.—R. J. Canfield, .lamen H. Keeler.

1857.—Rile.Y Peek, Horace Blerwitl.

1858—Horace Merwin, John S. Turrill.

1859.—Carr Hine, Jolin S. Turrill.

1860.—Carr Hine, Isa-'ic Reynolds.

1861.—Silas Erwin, Isaac Reynolds.

1802.—Silas Erwin, Josiah Beardsley.

1863.—Albert N. Baldwin, George Taylor.

1864.—Earle BuckinKliani, 0. H. St. John.

1865.—G. H. St. John, A. B. Mygatt.

1866.—Albert G. Ferris, Harry Buckingham.

1807-69.-Albert S. Hill, Isiiac B. Bristol.

1870.—Monroe L. Frost, W. W. Wells.

1871.—George Taylor. John S. Turrill.

1872.—George Taylor, B. W. Buckingham.

1873.—Edward Hunt, Jr., J. H. McMahon.

1874.-George Taylor, Albert N. Baldwin.

1876.—James H. McMahon, Oliver S. Hartwell.

1876.—Albert N. Baldwin, Nicholas Staub.

1877.—Albert N. Baldwin, B. W. Buckingham.

1878-79.—Charles Taylor, Noah W. Hatch.

1880.—Henry W. Evans, Edwin S. Wells.

1881.—Albert S. Hill, Marshall Marsh.

MILITARY RECORD.*

Charles Purdy, 8th Regt. ; enl. Sept. 21, 1861 ; disch. April 4, 1864.

A. Roberts, 8tli Regt. ; enl. Sept. 21, 1,S01 ; died March 8, 1862.

H. M. Roberts, 8lh Regt.; enl. Sept. 21, 1801 ; died April 6, 1802.

Myron Sheltz, 8th Regt.; enl. Sept. 21, ISOl ; must, out Feb. 24, 1863.

E. Sparks, 8th Regt.; enl. Sept. 21, 1801 ; must, out March 16, 1864.

R. J. Wordon, 8th Regt.; enl. Sept. 27, 1861 ; killed May 7, 1864.

J. Q. Thayer, 8th Regt.; enl. Sept. 21, 1861 ; disch. Dec. 12, 1865.

J. J. Brown, 8th Regt. ; enl. Feb. 29, 1864 ; must, out July 28, 1865.

J. Burde, 10th Regt.; enl. Dec. 12, 1,S64.

J. Headly, 10th Regt.; eul, Nov. 2.3, 1K64; must, out Aug. 25, 1865.

Thomas Lawrence, 10th Regt. ; enl. Nov. 17, 1864 ; must, out Aug. 25,

1865.

A. Lefevere, 10th Regt. ; enl. Nov. 18, 1864 ; must, out June 24, 1865.

0. Nichols, 10th Regt.; enl. Nov. 19, 1864; must, out Aug. 25, 1865.

John Monroe, 11th Regt.; eul. Nov. 23, 1864; must, out Nov. 11, 1805.

E. Karge, 11th Regt. ; enl. Nov. 25, 1864; must, out Nov. 21, 186,"i.

Alfred Buckingham, llth Regt. ; enl. Nov. 27, 1861 ; disch. Oct. 26, 1862.

K. K. Hine, llth Regt.; enl. Nov. 27, 1861.

Eli Ruby, 13th Regt.; eul. Dec. 22, 1861; disch. March 17, 1862.

George M. Ruby, 13th Regt.; enl. Dec. 22, 1801.

Charles E. Tibbetts, second lieutenant, 13th Regt.
;
pro. to first lieutenant

February, 1802; res. May 11, 1804.

C. H. Gaylord, 13th Regt. ; enl. Dec. 12, 1861
;
pro. to second lieutenant;

disch. April 25, 1866.

J. D. Moshire, 13th Regt.; enl. Dec. 12, 1861; died Aug. 6, 1863.

J. H. Evans, 13th Regt. ; enl. Nov. 27, 1861 ; disch. April 25, 1866.

E. T. Camp, 13th Kegt. ; enl. Nov. 27, 180T ; disch. Feb. 17, 1863.

John Ferriss, 13th Regt.; enl. Dec. 22, 1861; disch. Jan. 6, 1865.

John Odell, 13th Regt.; enl. Nov. 27, 1861 ; discli. April 25, 1866.

Joseph Taylor, 13th Regt.; enl. Dec. 17, 1861 ; disch. April 25, 1866.

Heury S. Turrill, second assistant surgeon, 17th Regt.; com. Jan. 22,

1864; disch. July 1.4, 1865.

W. E. Benedict, 17th Regt. ; enl. August, 1862 ; died Nov. 7, 1863.

M. Hunt, 28th Regt.; enl. Aug. 2.5, 1862; disch. Aug. 28, 1863.

J. P. Cumniings, 28th Regt.; enl. Sept. 1, 1862; disch. Aug. 28, 1863.

William Lamson, 28th Regt. ; enl. Aug. 25, 1862; died July 21, 1863.

Thomas Burr, H. F. Jackson, H. J. Franklin, George A. Green, Richard

Heacock, C. Phillips, 11. J. Randolph, and E. L. Nichols volunteered

in the 29th Colored Regt.

R. R. Hurd, 1st Art. ; eul. May 23, 1861 ; re-enl. March 11, 1863.

R. J. Loveridge, 1st Art.; enl. Sept. 8, 1862 ; disch. April 8, 18B5.

J, Lapoint, 0th Regt.; enl. Nov. 14, 1864; disch. Aug. 21, 1865.

George Stevens, 6th Regt. ; enl. Nov. 14, 1864 ; disch. Aug. 21, 1865.

0. F. Lathrop, 6tli Regt. ; enl. Sept. 7, 1861 ; disch. Sept. 11, 1864.

D. Wenzerger, 8th Regt.; enl. Aug. 11, 1804; killed Sept. 29, 1864.

J. McLoy.

A. E. Bartram, 8th Regt.; enl. Sept. 21, fsol ; disch. Aug. 23, 1865.

* For list of 19th Begiment, see Chapter Y.

W^ J. Roberts, first lieutenant, 8th Regt.; pro. to captain; disch. Jan.

31,1861.

Charles U. Irwin, 8th Regt. ; enl. Sept. 21, 1861 ; killed Sept. 29, 1864.

Davi.I Lake, Sth Regt.; eul. Sept. 21, 1861 ; killed Sept. 17, 1862.

Henry Disbrow, 8th Regt. ; enl. Sept. 21, 1861 ; disch. Jan. 8, 1863.

Charles Ford, 8th Regt.; enl. Sept. 21, 1861; disch. Dec. 5,1862.

Charles Allen, 8th Regt.; enl. Sept. 21, 1861 ; discli. May 12, 1862.

0. S. Bartram, 8tli Regt. ; enl. Sept. 27, 1861 ; disch. Miiy 11, 1862.

D. A. Baldwin, Sth Regt.; enl Sept. 27, 1861; pro. to first lieutenant

Dec. 12, 1866.

James Binde, Sth Regt.; enl. Sept. 27, ISOI ; killed Sept. 17, 1862.

Joseph Brush, Slh Regt. ; enl. Sept. 27, 1861 ; must, out Sept. 20, 1864.

A. N. Buck, Sth Regt. ; enl. Sept. 21, 1861
; must, out May 11, 1862.

David B. Disbrow, Sth Regt. ; enl. Sept. 21, 1861 ; must, out Jan. 15,

1863.

W. P. Dutcher, Sth Regt.; enl. Sept. 21, 1861; disch. July 15, 1865.

n. Ferris, Sth Regt. ; enl. Sept. 21, 1861 ; died July 27, 1862.

Robert Ferris, Sth Regt. ; enl. Sept. 21, 1861 ; killed Sept. 17, 1862.

Charles Gailey, Sth Regt. ; enl. Sept. 21, 1801 ; disch. Sept. 4, 1864.

P. H. Jaclilin, Sth Hegt. ; enl. Sept. 21, 1861 ; died Sept. 23, 1862.

A. Jennings, Sth Regt. ; enl. Sept. 21, 1801 ; disch. Sept. 21, 1864.

Jay Jennings, Sth Regt. ; enl. Sept. 21, 1861 : disch. Dec. 10, 1862.

George E. Logan, 8tli Regt.; enl. Oct. 1, 1861 ; died March 5, 1862.

F. G. Lamson, Sth Regt. ; enl. Oct. 10, 1861 ; disch. Feb. 2, 1863.

INFANTRY COMPANY D.f

David D. Hoag, captain ; New Milford ; com. Aug. 23, 1862 ; killed at Port

Hudson, La., June 14, 1863.

Stephen C. Ferris, sergeant: New Milford ; enl. Aug. 2i, 1862; disch. for

disability Feb. 28, 1863.

Henry Shove, sergeant; New Milford; enl. Aug. 28, 1862; disch. Aug.

28, 1863.

Levi E. Curtis, sergeant ; New Milford ; enl. Aug. 30, 1862 ; disch. for re-

enlistment Feb. 28, 1863.

Henry A. Soule, corporal ; New Milford ; enl. Sept. 6, 1862 ; disch. for re-

enlistment July 23, 1863.

Charles B. Gregory, corporal ; New Milford ; eul. Aug. 25, 1862 ; died July

30, 1803, at Baton Rouge, La.

Decatur D. Marsh, corporal ; New Milford ; enl. Aug. 28, 1862 ; died April

12, 1863, at Barrancas, Fla.

Titus Clark, corporal ; New Milford ; enl. Aug. 26, 1862 ; disch. Aug. 28,

1863.

Alfred E. Fuller, musiciau ; New Milford ; enl. Aug. 25, 1862 ; disch.

Aug. 28, 1863.

Aaron N. Ford, musician ; New Milford; enl. Aug. 25, 1862; died May
22, 1863, at Btashear City, La.

Allen, Charles, New Milford; enl. Aug. 25, 1862.

Bailey, Joseph A., New Milford; enl. Aug. 25,1862 ; disch. Aug. 28,1863.

Baitrani, Charles E., New Milford; enl. Aug. 28, 1862; disch. Aug. 28,

1863.

Bemus, Charles F., New Milford ; enl. Aug. 28, 1862 ; killed at Port Hud-

son, La., June 14, 1863.

Booth, Henry, New Milford; enl. Aug. 28, 1862; disch. Aug. 28, 1863.

Bronson, William N., New Milford ; enl. Aug. 2.5, 1862; died July 28,

1863, at Baton Rouge, La.

Cl'onkwriglit, Alex., New Milford; enl. Aug. 23, 1862 ; died July 13,1863,

at Barrancas, Fla.

Camp, Edwin, New Milford ; enl Sept. 8, 1862; disch. Aug. 28, 1863.

Dodge, Robert, New Milford; enl. Sept. 8, 1862; disch. Aug. 28, 1863.

Ferris, Jay, New Milford; enl. Sept. 25, 1862; died June 1, 1803, at New
Orleans, La.

Goodsell, Jerome, New Milford; enl..4ug. 23, 1862.

Hoyt, Dennisou, New Milford ; enl. Sept. 1, 1862; disch. Aug. 28, 1863.

Judson, Charles, New Milford; enl. Sept. 1, 1862; disch. Aug. 28, 1803.

Lathrop, William, New Milford ; enl. Aug. 30, 1862; disch. Aug. 28, 1863.

Mentzh, John L., New Milford ; enl. Aug. 28, 1862; disch. Aug. 28, 1863.

Morehouse, Frank, New Milford; enl. Aug. 25, 1862; disch. Aug. 28,

1863.

Noble, Andrew B., New Milford; enl. Aug. 25, 1862; disch. Aug. 28,

1863.

PUie, Luther M., New Milford; enl. Aug. 25, 1802; disch. Aug. 28, 1863.

Plumb, Alonzo, New Milford ; enl. Aug. 25, 1862; disch. Aug. 28, 1863.

Schultz, Myron, New Milford ; enl. Aug. 23, 1862; disch. Aug. 28, 1863.

Sherwood, Asahel, New Milford ; enl. Aug. 25, 1862 ; disch. Aug. 28, 1863.

f Mustered into United States service Nov. 15, 1862.
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Stevens, Henry L., New Milford ; enl. Aur. 25, 1862; disch. Aug. 28,

186:).

Treat, Frederick M., New Milford ; enl. Aug. 28, 1862; disch. for re-en-

listment July 24, 186:).

Van Anden, William, New Ililford ; enl. Aug. 28, 1862; disch. for re-en-

listment July 23, 186:).

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES.

AMBROSE S. ROGERS.

Ambrose S. Rogers, principal of the " Adelphic In-

stitute," was a native of Cornwall, Conn., and was

graduated at Union College, under Dr. Eliphalet

Nott, in 1840. Records in the British Museum trace

the Rogers family to Thomas Rogers, sergeant-at-law,

of Bendford, county of Wilts, England, who died in

1485. He was great-grandfather of John Rogers the

martyr. The Rogers family was cradled in Bendford,

and the name Noah has been handed down in direct

line for seven generations. Noah (3) and Edward,

his brother, came to Cornwall in 1760. They were

men of sterling worth, of whom their descendants are

justly proud. Noah Rogers (3) was the sixth genera-

tion from the martyr, and was one of the most active

pioneers of Cornwall, and first in every enterprise.

He was engaged not only in agriculture on five farms,

but in everything else that would advance civilization

or the town, running two forges, a grist-mill, and two

saw-mills. Although exempt from military service,

he yet volunteered and served as a soldier in the

Revolution. His son. Deacon Noah Rogers (4), had

four sons—Daniel, John, Noah, and Ambrose—and

five daughters,—Lydia, Rhoda, Abigail, Eliza, and

Amanda,—all of whom attained maturity, married, and

had children. (In 1864 there were three of the sons,

the five daughters, thirty of their children, and thirty-

three of their grandchildren living.) For several

years the four sons owned farms adjoining in Corn-

wall. Deacon Rogers wa.t a man of good judgment,

of great enterprise, like his fatlier, and filled often

the various town offices, and represented Cornwall

in the Legislatures of 1813-14-15-18. He was in

every respect a noble and upright man. He gave his

children good educational advantages, and there was

no man who was more willing to help every good

cause, and his ample fortune was used for the benefit

of the needy and unfortunate. He paid a large share

of the original cost of the church in North Cornwall,

besides furnishing a large amount of timber and lum-

ber. He was a man of deals, not words, a character

fit for his age and generation. And right well did he

do his work. So well that when, at the age of seventy,

he was stricken with apoplexy, a "shock," as it was

called, it w!is said by one of the town's best citizens

"that the society had received a 'shock.'" We are

happy to add that his sons, Daniel, John, and Noah
(Ambrose being then at college), most honorably

30

filled the vacuum caused by their father's death.

They were worthy sons of a worthy sire, true to

society, true to their church, true to their God.

Their father invariably, on the failure to raise funds

for the minister's salary, always paid the deficit.

They, following his example, did the same, and

during their lives the minister of North Cornwall

could safely rely on his full salary being paid.

Since the martyrdom of John Rogers, there has not

been a period when some of his lineal descendants

have not stood forth to battle boldly and strongly

for the right, by the pen or in the pulpit, in the

courts of justice or the halls of legislation. They

have filled not only positions of highest trust in the

British government, but in America they are occu-

pying places of trust and honor, and at the bar and

in the pulpit are earnestly following the martyr's

spirit, and are more in number probably than can

be traced to any other stock. Ten nobler women

than the five daughters of Noah Rogers (3), Sarah,

Abigail, Rhoda, Irene, and Amanda, and the five

daughters of Deacon Noah Rogers, named above, were

never reared in New England.

Mrs. Ellen (Thompson) Rogers is twin daughter of

the late N. F. Thompson, New Haven, Conn. He
was for many years director of the Mechanics' Bank

in that city ; afterwards he was for over fourteen

years its president. He was ever true to this posi-

tion of trust, and in his deatii tlie bank lost a man
of strict integrity and remarkable business capacity,

whose opinion was of great weight, and whose judg-

ment was unerring in all financial matters. His na-

ture was kind and atlectionate, true to his family,

true to liis cliurch, and true to his God. He was

born in 1803, and in 1876 he pa.ssed triuini>hantly

away to the shining iicights beyond. His wife, Jane

Caroline Street, preceded liim to the tomb a few years

previous. She was granddaughter of Rev. Nicholas

Street, wiio was for fifty years pastor of the church in

East Haven. She was connected back througii gen-

erations of clergy to the associate first minister of

New Haven, and iniiorited their noble traits of char-

acter, blended with the most gentle and unobtrusive

piety. Grandly gifted with an intellect that delighted

itself in art, a heart thoroughly allied to the beautiful

in nature, her genius found fit expression in transfer-

ring the varied tints of wood and sky, or delighting

with grai>hic pen by her ciuaint originality of thought.

She reared a family of nine children, who were wisely

governed, and whose spiritual training brought all

into the fold of Clirist. She kci>t herself well in-

formed of the political, .social, and religious i.ssues of

the day. Her kindred esteemed her highly for her

many virtues. "Her children rise up and call her

blessed, her husband and lie praiseth her." Although

eventually Mrs. Rogers left the "home-nest," none

realized the gap it made in her life, when, with the

exception of two beloved sisters and one bmther, the

Thompson family had at the writing of this sketch
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gone to their eternal home. Her twin sister, Lottie,

" fell asleep" June 28, 1880. The sisters, so closely

allied from birth, were similar in personal appear-

ance, taste, and spiritual aspirations, which made the

bond very close and strong, when New Milford be-

came the home of both. To give an adequate idea of

the picturesque surroundings of their residence, it

seems desirable to allude to the high estimation in

which it was held by such an enthusiastic lover of

the grand and sublime in nature as Miss Thompson.
When shadows came so unexpectedly in the form of

sickness not a murmur escaped the sufferer's lips, and
she still manifested an interest in family details, in the

children so tenderly loved, and in the rural charms

of her adopted home. As an artist, she possessed an

inherited talent and a brave industry, giving more
than medium value to her labors of love in the art of

painting. Her mind was enriched by study and travel,

which gave vigor and originality to her facile pen,

while her choice social qualities made her inex-

pressibly dear to a large circle of friends. Gifted

with a rich voice, she was never weary of singing gos-

pel songs, or indulging in the study of elocution. But,

more than all, her deep-toned piety showed itself in

the daily exercise of the Christian graces. The poor

were succored by her, the bereaved comforted by her

prayers and sympathy, and the wandering guided by

her to the Master's feet. Shortly before the dark

shadow of death came, this ardent lover of nature was

raised in her bed to behold once more the beauty of

one of lovely June's closing days, through the opened

windows of that " upper chamber," her own loved

room. It seemed a picture fit for paradise. She gazed

through a vista of living green beyond to the placid

river (Housatonic), supplemented by mountains smil-

ing down upon her, as they seemed to touch the clouds

which reflected in the mirrored surface of the river a

gorgeous sunset, presenting a scene of unsurpassed

loveliness, with their blendings of amethyst blue and

deep tints of crimson and gold. In this sweet tran-

quillity, her mind at perfect peace dwelt on the Scrip-

ture text, "I swear unto thee I will glorify the earth."

As the clouds were again bathed with their summer
glory, her happy spirit passed to the fairer world of

endless day.

- The residence of A. S. Rogers, of New Milford,

Conn., is located on an eminence one hundred and
twenty feet above the road, and commands a fine

view of the Housatonic River. Surrounded by adorn-

ments which nature has prepared with a lavish hand,

it is admirably adapted for what it was at first de-

signed (a private school for boys), but for several

years the owner and his family have been the sole

occupants. We do not j>ropose to describe all the

advantages of this locality by its beauty and health-

fulness, but give a brief sketch of its artistic attrac-

tions. The main building, with its north and south

wing, is perfect in symmetry, with a broad veranda

extending three sides, which constitutes a pleasing

addition, with its trellis-work adorned with climb-

ing roses, which in the "leafy month" contribute to

the floral kingdom their wealth of fragrant blossoms.

Among the flowering shrubs that beautify the north

piazza, the " Garland Deutzia," with its abundantblos-

soms, aflbrds a pleasing screen and ornament. In the

late autumn these are superseded in the background
by the coral berries of the gorgeous " Burning Bush,"

adding cheer by their brightness and abundance.

Introducing the visitor when the earth is robed with

her summer verdure, let us approach from the front

entrance, and ascend about a hundred stone steps,

resting a moment at " Cozy Nook," on the rustic seat

which invitingly tempts one to pause and take breath.

If on entering we failed to admire the rows of gigantic

maples which line the fence, and which, if possessed of

the power of speech, could unfold the tale of the fate

of their companions when the crackling sound of

the axe, laid vigorously at their huge trunks, had

caused banishment. The view from this point, no

longer obstructed, gives a glimpse of the cars as they

rush onward, sending the echoes of their shrill whistle

sounding over hill and valley. Here, with nature's

carpet, dotted with wild-flowers, at our feet, beneath the

shadow of the evergreen fir-tree, with its rustic hang-

ing-baskets well supplied with gracefully-drooping

plants, and surrounded by clumps of trees and snarled

trunks, with a thick growth of vines festooning their

mossy sides. The dark urns, standing firm on their

marble bases, retain their floral treasures lovingly

within, gladdening the eye with their cheerful beauty.

A few steps and the lawn is exchanged for the broad

graveled walk leading to the house, and bordered on

either side by evergreen fir-trees, which justly entitle

it to the name of " Evergreen Avenue."

So ornamental in appearance, it presents a cheerful

aspect even when locked in the icy grasp of winter,

and at that season affords, in its stifi" green branches,

both food and shelter to the blue-jays who resort

hither, giving cheer by their sweet and exhilarating

warbles. These favorite winter-trees, loftily standing

in tasteful arrangement, fairly look down upon the

old chestnut-tree. This ancient celebrity stands, the

pride and glory of the mansion,

—

" Come rest beneath its grateful shade,

The grand old chestuut-tree;

The beauties of yon hill and glade

Are not so dear to me.

" Majestic in thy grandeur, tall,

Well hast thou done thy part;

By poet.loved, admired by all,

Grand imagery of art.

" Gay, happy childhood loves to seek

Thy nuts, wliich strew the ground,

Or climb to yonder lofty seat

In iutertwining crown.

" Dear, cherished tree ! long may'st thou live.

Be loved as now thou art

;

And inspiration ever give

Its impress on the heart."
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We may tarry beneath its grateful shadow, or

receive ample compensation for the labor of ascending

the steps by finding a second seat in readiness within

its green branches. Now, seated high in air, a peace-

ful feeling steals over the heart,—of gratitude, in the

devout mind, to the Giver of all good for his endless

tokens of love in the gifts of nature. Even the birds

catch the enthusiasm, and, clearing their tiny throats,

lead off in glorious songs of praise to their Maker.

Having paid our respects to this venerable tree, let

us descend and turn our steps southward towards the

apple-orchard, which in bloom is surpassingly lovely,

and produces abundant harvests of luscious fruit,

which well rewards for its cultivation. With no in-

tention of slighting the pear-trees and other varieties

of fruit, we pass on near the boundary of the kitchen-

garden, rather prosaic in appearance, but deserving

honorable survey of those who have an eye for utility

and a relish for fresh vegetables. To please the " lit-

tle folks," we proceed through "tangled juniper, beds

of weeds," down impromptustepping-stones, where the
" weeping willows" grow, to the tiny streamlet, which
is navigated only by miniature boats on account of

its circumscribed limits, but is an unfailing source of

pleasure for tlie bright eyes and busy hands of child-

hood. Perhaps a lesson of industry is taught by the

busy bees (to whose hives we come by a side-path),

who yearly afford " nectar sweet," as well as prove a

standing monument of rebuke to all idlers. We now
come to what was formerly the school building, and
which possesses the qualification of being transformed

to a gardener's lodge. Directly in front is a graceful

maple of tender growth, called the "Thompson cen-

tennial tree," from the fact that it was planted by the

sisters bearing that name in the centennial year.

The ceremony was sujierintended by A. S. Rogers, tiie

worthy head of the family, and by the noble youtli

at that time members of the institution. The address,

expressing gratitude that our country liad enjoyed tiie

blessings of freedom for a hundred years, and that

the tree might grow, Hourish, and live to witness a

second centennial year, was given by Miss Lottie

Thompson, who now beholds the " Tree of Life," whose
" leaf shall not wither." The maple now stands, a

living monument to her memory, around which clus-

ter tender reminiscences of her worth and excellence.

In the rear of this building is " Molly" pasture, a

fertile, sloping meadow, where the meek-eyed cows

are quietly grazing, seemingly content to live and
die on the broad acres. At noonday in midsummer
they never fail to seek the shade of the accommo-
dating trees for slielter from the heat and glare of the

sun. Let our noble steeds come to the front, and show
their willingness to vacate tlie liarn buildings, to re-

ceive the attention bestowed upon them. They are

pronounced a most valuable addition to the comfort

and enjoyment of the owner and family. The beau-

tiful pony " Fannie," .so intelligent and docile, is

noted for her adaptation to saddle or harness, and her

partiality for the juveniles of the household. Pro-

ceeding onward to the north, through the gateway, we
may enjoy a stroll through " Home Avenue," the drive-

way of which is ornamented with maple-trees of vig-

orous growth. We may stand at some favorable point

and witness one of the finest views in Litchfield

County, and when bathed in the lights and shadows

of a glorious summer afternoon it presents a picture of

charming magnificence. On retracing our steps, we
may tarry a moment on the north side and explore

the " Rockery," a grotesque and romantic little nook,

which the combination of art with nature renders

attractive. Various specimens of stone from Mine
Hill have been utilized by an arrangement, piled

together in the form of a pyramid, so placed as to

give foothold to the potted plants which adorn its

sides. Graceful ferns delight in the damp earth at

the base, while soft green mosses cling lovingly to

the interstices, where many a protruding wild-flower

grows spontaneously. Within its brilliant coronal of

green is secured a pot of ivy, with its creeping vine

of polished leaves, which find support on the trees in

close proximity. We may inhale the exquisite fra-

grance emitted from the delicate blossoms which em-
bellish the spot while enjoying the repose ofl'ered by

iron chairs of durable construction, or seek yon vine-

clad bower as we emerge from the labyrinth of rural

beauty. Leaving the grounds, not yet fully explored,

we adjourn to the house to take observations from its

upper windows, which is, perhaps, the crowning joy

of all. The dazzling glories of summer's closing day

heighten the beauty of the land-scape. Openings
through the dense drapery of green foliage reveal

glimpses of the thickly-settled village, with its chureli-

si)ires pointing towards the azure sky, which looks

smilingly down on woody dell, waving fields, and
verdant meadows. The river curves silently and
gracefully onward, its banks bordered by trees and
shrubs, which shower their leaves into its smooth sur-

face or on nature's carpet of riciiest green. The
artistic eflcct is completed by the encircling hills,

which stand in dignified grandeur, like silent sentinels

guarding the lonely scene, while their summit-< seem

to touch the clouds, and harmonize witli their richest

tints of amber and gold, blended with violet and
crimson. As the liquid stream of light gradually

fades from the enrajitured vision, these soft shadows

lengthen over the valley, and the dim twilight as it

descends spreads its mantle of gray over the glowing

earth in solemn benediction.

DR. QEORQE TAYLOR.

George Taylor, M.D., was born in New Milford,

j

Conn., Aug. 24, 1802, and died Jan. H, 1881, aged

seventy-eight years. His nmternal great-grandfather,

Rev. Daniel IJoardnum, was the first ordained clergy-

man of New Millord, and his grandfather. Rev. Na-

thaniel Taylor, was the second. The emigrant, John
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Taylor, who was the first American ancestor of Dr.

Taylor, arrived at Windsor, Conn., Aug. 17, 1639.

He was a person of property, character, and influence,

and was lost at sea in 1645, while on a voyage to Eng-

land. His will, made before his departure, was not

probated till 1694. The history of ancient Windsor

has an account of him and the land he owned.

Thomas Taylor married Rebecca Ketchum, of Nor-

walk, where he lived till he was forty-one years old,

when he moved to Danbury as one of its seven first

settlers. He was a worthy man, and represented his

town in the General Assembly a number of years.

His son Daniel married a Benedict, by whom he had

two daughters, and then a Hoyt ; they had two sons,

Nathaniel and Daniel. Nathaniel was born at Dan-

bury, Conn., Aug. 27, 1722. He married Tamar Board-

man in 1749, having graduated at Yale in 1745. For

more than twenty-six years, from 1774 until his death,

Dec. 9, 1800, he was a member of the board of trustees

of Yale College; had the management of the college

farms, and in various ways rendered important ser-

vice. He was a zealous advocate of the American

Revolution, and during that contest remitted one

year's salary, and also served as chaplain to a regi-

ment of Connecticut troops. He came to New Mil-

ford to preach, Jan. 3, 1748, and was ordained on the

29th of June following, and faithfully, for over fifty-

two years, exercised the duties of his sacred calling.

He was in his seventy-ninth year when he died, and

his family is exceptional in point of longevity. This

inscription, which he designed for a monumental tab-

let over his grandfather's grave in Danbury, but which

was never completed, is worthy of preservation

:

" Marble may tell Pusterity that Mr. Thoniaa Tajlor, a first settler in

Danbury, died Jan. 17;jr), uRed 92. He had Ten children by one wife.

The eldest, Thomas, died aged 90; Joseph, 90; John, 70; Daniel, 94
;

Timothy, 56; Nathan, 100; Tlioo|ihilu8, 90 ; Duborali, 80; Rebecca, 98;

Eunice, 98 ; in all 8o8. This stone erected by Rev. Nathaniel Taylor,

son of Daniel."

Col. William Taylor was youngest child of Rev.

Nathaniel Taylor. He was born in New Milford,

March 20, 1764, and married Abigail Starr, of Dan-

bury, Dec. 3, 1786. He was an eminent citizen, and

died, universally mourned, Feb. 24, 1841. Dr. George

Taylor was their youngest child. His early educa-

tion was acquired at private schools in Litchfield,

Sharon, and Salisbury. When but a small boy he

accidentally cut one of his eyes with a knife, per-

manently destroying its sight. He was graduated at

Yale in 1824, and commenced practice as a physician

in New Milford at once. He practiced allopathy un-

til 1837, when, through Dr. Vanderbergh, ofNew York

City, he was converted to homceopathy, and became

its first practitioner in Connecticut. He conducted

a very large practice over a very wide circuit for

more than half a century, and, until disabled by age,

with great skill and great success. He won, as he de-

served, the perfect confidence and warm love of all

his patients, for he put forth his strongest efforts and

wisest skill for rich and poor alike.

Dr. Taylor was much in public affairs. He was

sent to the State Senate in 1832. This was his first

public office. He represented New Milford many
years in the Assembly, and was sent again to the

Senate. He was judge of probate for a long time,

and town treasurer for many years. Democratic in

politics, he was one of the pillars of that party in this

section of the State. He was nominated for member
of Congress in 1847, and defeated by Hon. Tru-

man Smith. He was at one time a candidate for

Lieutenant-Governor. In 1864 he was sent as del-

egate to the National Democratic Convention at

Chicago, which nominated Gen. McClellan for Presi-

dent. In 1876 he was chosen member of the Electoral

College, and cast his vote for Samuel J. Tilden.

Perhaps no man in Litchfield County was more

widely known in social, political, or professional

circles, and surely none ever stood higher in esteem

and confidence than he.

His children are Charles Taylor, M.D., for years

a homceopathic physician in New Milford, and Mrs.

Thomas E. Stewart, of New York City.

Nothing can more faithfully portray the estimation

in which the citizens of New Milford hold his mem-
ory than the following extracts, the first from an

article contributed to the Bridgeport Farmer by

Henry S. Sanford, Esq., and the second from an obit-

uary in the Housatonic Ray

:

" Born in New Milford, the son of an eminent citi-

zen. Col. William Taylor, and the lineal descendant

of the two first settled Congregational clergymen of

that town, he was in every respect a son of the soil,

a product and an exponent of the Housatonic Valley

in its calm repose, and of its high hills, which guard it

in their silent strength. ... In politics, during many
years, Dr. Taylor stood forth as the main manager

and foremost factor of the Democratic party in New
Milford. Nay, he often seemed not merely the leader

there of the Democratic party, but almost its verit-

able and living embodiment. In council, in caucus,

and in convention his advice, discreet, temperate and

honorable, was always listened to and followed. All

my early life was spent in New Milford, and it was

my fortune, as that of my father befo're me, to act

always with the party opposed to Democracy, and

I take the greater pride and the more pleasure in

bearing witness to the manly manner in which Dr.

Taylor invariably conducted political contests. His

integrity was white as the snow, his fairness plain as

the day. He scorned all treachery, trickery, and base-

ness. Firm in his fealty to his party, he yet respected

the opinions of others who differed from him, and

blended no bitterness with the strife. He said once

that my father, the late David C. Sanford, and him-

self had lived opposite to each other, across the vil-

lage green, for many years, and had always and at all

times opposed each other strongly in politics, and all

matters allied to politics, but that no unpleasant word

.and, he believed, no unpleasant look had ever been
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exchanged between them. The truth is the doctor

believed steadfastly in his political principles, and

was at bottom, and at heart, an ardent patriot and a

public-spirited citizen. He believed his party to be

in the right in the main, and in most points ; so he

adhered to it, and honored it, and it honored him.

But he has gone. His noble, commanding figure,

crowned with snow-white locks, standing and sitting

like a Prime Minister, will no more adorn the village

and the valley, yet love for the man, and respect

and tender regard for his memory, shall remain while

the river flows and the valley smiles for us who knew
him and are left behind."

" He occupied from early manhood a prominent

place in this community, including various positions

of honor and trust. His record has been one of per-

fect integrity; his public career has been without a

stain of venality. In the conduct of personal affairs

he was just and true in his intercourse with his fel-

low-men ; indeed, he was faithful and true in all the

relations of life. He had a kind and sympathizing

disposition, and was exceedingly gentle, and pains-

taking in the discharge of his professional duties;

and during his long career he answered thousands of

calls from the poor and the afflicted, from whom he

could expect no other recompense than gratitude.

The cliaracteristics to which we have alluded ran

like golden threads through his life, and inspired in

a marked degree the respect and confidence of all

who knew him."

DAVID E. SOULE.

is yet in the prime of life, and so conducts his business

as not only to furnish employment to a goodly number

David E. Soule was born on Long Mountain, in the

northwestern part of the town of New Milford, and

lived tiierc with his father, John Soule, until he wjis

nearly seventeen years old. Having received a com-

mon-school education, he now began tlie world for

himself. After having served an apprenticeship of

three years as cari)enter and joiner, he set out at New
Milford and vicinity, working at his trade until August,

1862, when he enlisted as a jjrivate soldier in Capt.

George Williams' Co. H, of tlie Nineteenth Connecticut

Volunteers; served as color-l)earer in several battles,

—namely, Hanover Court-house, Cold Harbor, before

Petersburg, Weldon Railroad, etc.,—after which he

was promoted to the rank of lieutenant; was in the

Army of the Potomac and Shenandoah Valley ; was

engaged in eight diH'erent battles, besides several skir-

mishes, and wa-s never wounded. When discliargcd,

after the close of the war, he returned home and en-

gaged in building, in connection with the lumber busi-

ness, with his brother, T. Soule. He is also extensively

engaged in the tobacco business. In January, IStKi,

Mr. Soule married Sarah M. Sullivan ; they have three

children,—Frank E., Florence A., and Willie W. His

wife is a native of New Milford. From his labor and
,

skill Mr. Soule has amassed a comfortable fortune. He

DAVID E. SOULE.

of men, but ornamenting his town and the surround-

ing country with beautiful designs of architecture.

A view of his residence may be seen elsewhere in this

work.

HON. A. N. BALDWIN.

Albert N. Baldwin was born in New Milford, Conn.,

Sept. 28, 1811. He is descended from an old Saxon

family often mentionc<l in early English history, and

traces his ancestry in an unbroken line to John Bald-

win, of Aylesbury, England, who was sole inheritor

of his brother Richard, who died in 1480. Sylvester

Baldwin, the emigrant, came to Milford, Conn., in

lt)32, there settled, and reared sons and daughters.

The family has ever been a reputable one, possessed

of industry, integrity, and liberality. Tlieophilus

Baldwin came from .Milford to New Milford in the

early part of the eight<?enth centurj', and his son

Isaac, born in New Milford, in 173.'), was grandfather

to A. N. Baldwin. He married Hannah Davis, Jan.

2, Ur,r>, and died Dec. 1(!, 1811. They hail ten chil-

dren, eiglit attaining maturity. At twenty years of

age he settled on the same place now occupied by hi*

grandson, and thereafter, for fifty-six years, made it

his home.
,

Noble Baldwin, his third .son, was born on the old

homestead, Dec. 2"), I77'.l. He lived there over ninety-

two years, anil ilied, much regretted, March 2;?, 1872.

He was a man of strong physiiiue, a quiet agricul-

turist, caring nothing for public places or honors, but

was prominently connected with the Baptist Church
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of which he was a zealous member for years. He
married Mary Hinman, of Oxford, Sept. 17, 1803.

Their children were Norman, Elmer, Albert N., and

H.srriet E. (Mrs. F. G. Bennet, of New Milford).

Mrs. Baldwin died March 9, 1859.

Albert received a common-school education, and

taught winter terms of district school from the age of

sixteen to twenty-nine, working on the farm in sum-

mer. He has never moved from the old homestead,

which, nicely located in the beautiful valley, has been

a pleasant home for several generations. Oct. 20,

1836. he married Eliza, daughter of Jeremiah and

Sarah E. (Merwin) Baldwin. She was born in New
Milford, April 8, 1816. Their son, Francis G., born

Fob. 27, 1840, now resides in New Milford.

Mr. Baldwin is a man of extended public service.

He has been called to fill nearly every position of

trust and responsibility in his town; has represented

New Milford many years in the State LegisUiturc,

was member of many important committees ; was

State's prison inspector, and largely instrumental in

establishing the reform school. Always deeply en-

gaged in education, he has been for years a member
of the board of education. He was formerly a Whig,

but on the breaking up of that party he became a

Democrat, and has always acted with its leaders, be-

lieving that in a close adherence to the Constitution

existed the perpetuity of the republic. His local at-

tachment makes him largely interested in New Mil-

ford. His economy, business qualities, prudence,

and success have placed him in good financial cir-

cumstances.

Both Mr. and Mrs. Baldwin are consistent and

valued members of the Baptist Church, joining it in

1850.

GEORGE II. NOBLE.

The Noble name is of great antiquity in England,

from which country Thomas Noble, the first American

ancestor, probably came about the middle of the seven-

teenth century. He was a resident of Boston in 1653

;

became one of the early settlers of Springfield, Mass.,

and afterwards removed to Westfield, Mass., where he

died, Jan. 20, 1704.

His son John was born in Springfield, Mass., March

6, 1662, and died in New Milford, Conn., Aug. 17, 1714,

aged fifty-two years.

The same spirit which led Thomas Noble, Sr., to

brave the dangers of the ocean and the wilderness

inspired his eldest son to become the first white settler

in the rich valley of the Housatonic, at New Milford,

Conn. June 22, 1706, John Noble, then of Westfield,

purchased land at New Milford, Conn., of John Wood-
ruffe, of Milford, an original proprietor, and moved
thither in 1707. The incidents concerning his settle-

ment appear in their proper place in the history of

the town. He was one of the committee chosen in

1710 by the proprietors to divide the lands of the

settlers, and the same year joined the First Congrega-

tional Church of Woodbury, and was one of the pe-

titioners to the General Court for an organization

of a church in New Milford, which was organized in

1716, two years after his death.

Ensign David Noble, son of John, was born in West-

field, Mass., Jan. 25, 1696 ;
joined the Congregational

Church in New Milford in 1720, and died about 1760.

He was selectman 1736-37, representative to the Gen-
eral Assembly for six sessions, and was chosen, Oct.

11, 1743, ensign of the North military company, in

New Milford. He married for his second wife Su-

sanna, daughter of Hon. John and Elizabeth Sher-

man, of Woodbury.

Their oldest child, Zadock, was born in New Mil-

ford, Sept. 17, 1723, and died Jan. 13, 1786. In 1761

he vas selectman. Under date of March 31, 1777, the

records of New Milford show that it was " Voted, 2d,

That a committee be appointed, according to the advise

of his Hon' the Governor, etc., for the purpose of

furnishing the Quota of Soldiers in the Continental

service of s'* New Milford," and Lieut. Zadock Noble

was chosen first on said committee. Dec. 8, 1777, he

was chosen one of the New Milford committee of in-

spection and correspondence. He married Freelove

Dibble, of Danbury, Conn., and had numerous chil-

dren.

Their son, Ezra Dibble Noble, was born in New
Milford, Conn., Jan. 3, 1749 ; was a farmer, and died

March 26, 1808. He was twice married, and had

many children. His son Ezra was born July 9, 1779,

in New Milford
;
passed his life and died there, June

1, 1855. He was selectman 1815-17, and justice of

the peace from 1825 to 1849. He was a man simple

in his habits, of great modesty and sterling integrity.

He died, probably of heart-disease, while sitting in

his chair. He married Amelia, daughter of Benjamin

and Rachel Hickok, of Danbury, Conn. They had

two sons— Hiram B. and George H.— and four

daughters.

George Henry Noble was born in New Milford,

Conn., March 12, 1814, and was seventh in direct line

from Thomas Noble, of Westfield, Mass., and sixth

from the first settler of New Milford. He was en-

gaged as clerk in New Haven from 1828 to 1838,

where he married, Jan. 6, 1835, Henrietta, daughter

of Abel and Henrietta (McCracken) Burritt, of New
York City. She was born in New Haven, Conn.,

June 25, 1816. After about four years passed in

merchandising in New York City and Augusta, Ga.,

Mr. Noble returned, in 1842, to New Milford, and be-

came associated with his brother in the manufacture

of boots, under firm-name of H. B. & G. H. Noble.

They made a specialty of goods for California trade,

and did an extensive business.

Mr. Noble was extensively known and respected

throughout the State, and at various times during his

long and prosperous business career occupied positions

of public responsibility and trust. He was postmaster

of New Milford from 1853 to 1856; acted with the Be-
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publican party from its formation, and was a delegate

to the Republican National Convention in 1860, which

nominated Abraham Lincoln for President. Previous

to this he was for several years bank commissioner

for Connecticut, and filled the position with credit

and ability. He was for nearly ten years (1862-71)

assessor of internal revenue for the district where he

resided, and was for several years a director of the

Housatonic Railroad. He was a member of the Con-

gregational Church of New Milford, a constant attend-

ant at the sanctuary, and a valued member of the

society. His death occurred Dec. 10, 1872, after a

long and wasting illness.

His two surviving children are Alfred Henry and

George Belden. They are, engaged in the manufac-

ture of buttons in New Milford, with firm-name of

Noble Bros. Alfred was born June 3, 1841, in

New York ; married, Oct. 27, 1864, Eleanor Dacy,

daughter of Rev. Charles Gardner and Elizabeth C.

(Elting) Acly, of New Milford; they have two chil-

dren. George was born in New Milford, Oct. 25, 1848.

He married, Dec. 19, 1878, Caroline L., daughter of

Dr. James and Catharine (Northrup) Hinc, of New
Milford.

HORATIO GILEAD SPERRY.

Horatio Gilead Sperry was born in New Milford,

Conn., Sept. 5, 1806. He was oldest child of Wilniot

and Dolly (AveriU) Sperry. The Si)erry family is of

Welsh extraction, and the original s])elling of the

name, which was continued till about one hundred

years ago, was Speary. Deacon Sperry 's great-grand-

father, Gilead, came from Wales to New Haven with

his father and family. He was a splendid meciianic,

and wlien about twenty-one years old came to New
Milford to superintend the building of the Congre-

gational church, became acquainted witii Mercy,

daughter of Rev. Daniel Boardman, married lier, and

became a lifelong resident of the town. Jared, his

only son, was born Dec. 25, 1750, on the farm pur-

chased by his father, in the north part of the town;

lived there as a farmer all his life, and died April 12,

1812, in his si.xty-sccond year, a victim of the terrible

epidemic which devastated New Milford in that year.

He was an Episcopalian. He married Mrs. Amy
Wheaton, whose maiden name was Stone. His only

son, Wilmot, was her child. He afterwards married

a Widow Cam]), by wliom he had one daugliter, Hen-
rietta, who married Hon. Stephen B. Leonard, of

Owego, N. Y., and wliose children occupy lilgli finan-

cial and social positions. Wilmot Sperry was born on

the same farm as his father; was educated for an

Episcopal clergyman, but became attached to the

Congregational Church, and settled as a farmer on
the home farm. He was an active business man; was
a tanner and currier, and for several years was mer-

chant in Merryall, with Elijah Bennett as partner,

under firm-name of Bennett & Sperry. He steadily

refused to accept public oflice, " preferring," as he

said, "to attend to his own business rather than that

of others." He was a Democrat of the old school.

He married Dolly, daughter of Col. Perry Averill, of

Washington. Their children were Horatio G., Amy
M. (Mrs. John Angevine, of New Preston), Flora

(Mrs. Harvey P. Turrell, deceased), and Dolly M.
(Mrs. Harvey Whittlesey, of Farmington, deceased).

He afterwards married Anna, daughter of Capt. Jo-

seph Whittlesey, of Washington, by whom he had
four sons and one daughter,—Jared, Orlo, Walter D.,

George (deceased), and Harriet P. (Mrs. C. W. Ben-

nett, of Bridgeport).

Horatio was brought up on the old homestead ; was

educated at common schools, supplemented by a long

course of instruction under that veteran and able

teacher. Minor Turrell. From about his majority,

for several years, Horatio was engaged during the

winter in teaching, and went to New Jersey also as a

teacher. Returning to Connecticut after some time,

he commenced merchandising at Marbledale, where

he remained over ten years. Here he married, Oct.

20, 1834, Eliza, daughter of Rev. Abijah Tomlinson.

Her mother's maiden name was Betsy Tomlinson.

She was of good old Puritan stock, that has ever oc-

cupied important positions in Connecticut and else-

where from tlie early days of tlic Commonwealtii. In

tlie spring of 1841 they moved to the old place so

long occupied by Mr. Sperry's father, and from which

he was just called by death, and here they have lived

a long life of usefulnesw, and grown old together, and

have the .satisfaction of knowing tliat their life has

been one of content. Their children are Anna H.
(Mrs. John C. Ackley), Caroline Averill (Mrs. George

B. Ackley), Jared Boardman, Charles Tomlinson,

Eliza T. (Mrs. Irwin J. Beardsley, of Kent).

Both ^Ir. and Mrs. Sperry have been members of

the Congregational Church for over half a century,

and arc among the most valued and active members.

Mr. Sperry has been deacon since 1854, and clerk of

the society from 1854 to 1879.

Deacon Sperry has been unambitious of public dis-

tinction, but has consenteil to take various town

oftices, among them justice of the jieace. lie has, as

was his father before him, often been called to ad-

minister and settle estates. In politics he was a

Henry Clay Whig, and is now a Rejmblican, joining

that party on its organization. His sons and sons-

in-law are all of the same political faith.
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This town lies in the north part of the county, and
is bounded as follows : on the north by Massachu-

setts, on the east by Colebrook and Winchester, on

the south by Goshen, and on the west by Canaan and
North Canaan. The surface of the town is elevated

and mountainous, and the soil is a gravelly loam.

Blackberry River, which is formed by the junction

of two rivers at Norfolk, and flows west into the

Housatonic, affords an excellent water-power for

manufacturing purposes.

This town belonged to what was known as the Con-
necticut colony, and was appointed to be sold at Hart-

ford on the second Tuesday in April, 1738. The sale,

however, failed, and in 1742 it was again offered for

sale, when a portion of it only was disposed of. In

May, 1750, an act was passed by the General Assem-
bly ordering the remainder to be sold at public vendue
at Middletown in the December following, and to con-

tinue the sale until the lands were disposed of, which
was effected in 1754.

In 1758 there were but twenty-seven families residing

in the town. There were fifty proprietors of the lands,

and as it was a condition among them that each should

settle one family upon his respective right within five

years, the population rapidly increased, and in 1761

numbered about seventy families.

THE PIONEERS.

Among the pioneers were George Palmer, William

Barber, Jedediah Richards, John Turner, Ebenezer

Knapp, Cornelius Brown, Aaron Aspenwall, Samuel
Gaylord, Ezra Knapp, Isaac Pettibone, Edward Strick-

land, Samuel Cowles, Ebenezer Burr, Elijah Barber,

Ebenezer Pardia, Cornelius Dowd, Joseph Mills, Gid-

eon Lawrence, Ashbel Case, Justis Gaylord, Rufus

Lawrence, Eli Pettibone, Samuel Mills, Thomas
Knapp, Ebenezer Knapp, Jr., James Hotchkiss, Sam-
uel Ransom, Abraham Knapp, James Benedict,

Stephen Baker, Joshua Whitney, Jacob Spalding,

Stephen Comstock, Jedediah Turner, Samuel Strick-

land, Jabez Rood, Samuel Monross, Luther Barber,

Timothy Gaylord, Elisha Richards, Giles Pettibone,

Jonathan Strickland, Ainariah Plumb, and David
Turner.

The second sale of the town was effected through

the agency of John Turner, who was appointed by
the town to make application to the Assembly for its

sale. He was a determined and energetic man, and
at the same time the application was made secured its

incorporation
; also a land-tax, to continue two years,

to assist in defraying the ecclesiastical expenses.

The population of the town rapidly increased, and
upon the breaking out of the Revolution it was one
of the most prosperous settlements in Litchfield

County.

FIRST PROPRIETORS' MEETING, Etc.*

The first meeting of the proprietors of the town of

Norfolk, under a warning by Benjamin Hull, Esq.,

assistant, was on the 18th of December, 1754, at the

house of Jonathan Humphry, Simsbury. At said

meeting John Huin])hry was chosen proprietors' clerk.

At said meeting it was voted to lay out one hundred
acres on a right, there being forty-nine individual

rights, one school right, one right for the first minister

that should settle, and one right to be appropriated

for the support of the ministry. The hundred acres

were to be laid in tsvo fifty-acre lots, and to be called

first and second divisions, the fifty-two best lots num-
bered first division, the others the second division. A
committee was appointed to size the lots, so as to make
the first fifty-two lots as nearly equal as they could

by adding the number of acres, and so with the

second division. The committee to lay said lots were

first to lay convenient highways. The committee were

William Willcockson, Jonathan Pettibone, John Pat-

terson, David Phelps, Daniel Lawrence, Jr., Benajah

Douglass, Joshua Whitney, Cornelius Brown, Samuel
Gaylord.

" Votedf To adjourn this meeting to first Wednesday in May next, to

meet at the House of Cornelius Brown, in Norfolk."

The second proprietors' meeting was held in Nor-

folk on May 7, 1755 :

" Voted, Whereas, John Turner, Jun', Samuel Gaylord, Cornelius

Brown, Ezra Knapp. Ebenezer Knapp, William Barber, George Pal-

mer, James Hotchkiss, and Samuel Monross are now in the improvement

of lands, and are residing in this Town, And by purchase have become
proprietors of rights, shall, if they chuse, hold the lots on which their

improvements are made, and not draw for their lots.

*' Voted^ To now proceed to draw for our lots."

The following are the names of the persons : Sam-
uel Flagg, Hartford ; John Beebe, Esq. ; Gideon

Thompson ; John Humphry, William Willcockson,

Michael Humphry, Simsbury ; David Phelps ; Jona-

than Pettibone, Simsbury ; Timothy Hosford ; Wil-

liam Barber, Simsbury ; Joshua Whitney, Canaan

;

Ezra Knapp, Ebenezer Knapp, Danbury; Cornelius

Brown, Samuel Gaylord, Samuel Monross, James
Hotchkiss, James Lusk, William Warner, Benjamin

Phelps, John Turner, Jr., Hartford ; George Palmer,

Isaac Pettibone, Simsbury ; Daniel Lawrence, Jr.,

Benajah Douglass, Canaan ; Bavel Seymour, Jere-

miah Case, Daniel Willcockson, Jonathan Humphry,
Noah Humphry, Simsbury ; Edward Griswold, Wind-
sor; Samuel Butler, Phinehas Lewis, John Patter-

son, Hartford; Joseph Phelps, Jr. ; William Walter,

Goshen ; John Beach, Noah Griswold, David Gris-

wold, Windsor.

*From unpublished manuscript by the late Michael F. Mills.
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The lots were designated on the records as lot No.

1, first division, first going over; lot No. 1, first divi-

sion, second going over.

A meeting was held May 21, 1855

:

" Voted, To lay Que hundred acres on each right iu two fifty-acre lots,

called second division, first aud second going over.

" Feh. '22, 1757.— Voted, To lay one hundred acres on each right, to he

called the third division, in two fifty-acre lots, first and second going

over.

" May 24, 1758.—" Voted, To lay out the white-pine timber land, &c.

•'Sept. 5, 17.59.— Voted, T<> muke a further division of our common
land; that each pereon holding a riglit sliall have a right to pitch sixty

acres in two thirty-acre pitches, and the proprietors to draw for the day

of pitching, beginning on the first day of October, and continuing until

the fifty-two days expire. The person drawing No. I has the first day,

and so on. No person has but one d.-iy to make hi'* first thirty-acre pitch.

Then reversing, so tliat the last shall be first and the first last, they

make their second tliirty-acre pitch. Tliey are to make a survey bill to

he signed by two committee men and a surveyor.

"June 9, 170-2.— Toted, To lay forty acres on a right by pitching."

Since that time they have passed several votes giv-

ing right to make further pitches :

" Dec. 18, IIH.— Voted, We lay a tax or rate on the forty-nine rights

purchased, of eight pounds a right, to he paid lu bills ol credit of the

old tenor, to defray expenses. Sec.

" May 21, 1755.— Voted, To lay a rate or tax of £9 on each of the 49

rights, &c., payable in bills of credit of the old tenor.

" Nov. 29, 1757 Voted, Our Committee for laying land, &c., shall bo

allowed 3«. 6d. a day, chain men 2«. Gd., and work on the road from 1

May to 1 Ocf, 28. 3d. a day. Tliat we will lay out 150 days' work on the

road the coming season.

"Feb. 22, 17.i7.— Votett, To appropriate a piece of ground for the

burial of the dead, being the same now used for that purpose, about half

a mile North of the Centre.

" Voted, To give the mill privilege, about a quarter of a mile North of

the centre Meeting-IIouse, and a certain number of acres of land to the

person who would build a grist-mill and have the same ready for Grind-

ing by the first day of Sept' next, and keep said mill in good repair."

Joshua Whitney accepted the offer, and began to

build, but it was not completed for some time, and was

finished by Abel Phelps about 1760.

" May 2, 1759.— Voted, To give 8 at-res of land to the person or per-

sons who would build an Iron work a few rods North of the grist-mill,

and liave it ready to make Iron within four years."

Daniel Lawrence, Jr., Thomas Day, and Samuel

Ransom accepted the offer, and began to build, but the

works were not completed until 17<J().

TIIK WAU OF THE REVOLUTION.

The sympathies of the people here were from the first

strongly with tlic patriots, and against the Ministerial

usurpations, and June 30, 1774, the town ratified by

vote the resolves pa.ssed by the representatives of the

colony at Hartford tlie previous May. At the same

time they voted to send relief to their " poor and dis-

tres.sed brethren at I5oston," which was tiien under

blockade. Sei)tember .'{0th a rate of one luilf-penny

on the pound was laid to procure a town stock of

powder, and on December 26th they accepted with

equal readiness the articles of agreement passed by

Congress the previous September, and voted to abide

by them, " not one appearing in the negative."

These resolves were oliieHy to abstain from importing

any articles from (Jreat Britain, or exporting to them,

to discontinue the slave trade, and to encourage in

general frugality, economy, and industry. Promi-

nent among the items was the agreement to abstain

from that execrable herb, English tea, on which

a duty had been paid. A committee of faithful men

were charged by the town with the duty of seeing

that the resolves were not broken.

When the English fired the first shot of the war at

Lexington, in April, 1775, the militia all through New
England started for the scene, and remote Norfolk

was not behind the rest,—Capt. Timothy Gaylord with

twenty-four men started for Boston. They were needed

but a short time, and were soon sent home. These vol-

unteer eftbrts, before the army was organized, showed

the temper of the people. One other deserves men-

tion : everybody has heard of Col. Ethan Allen's

famous surprise and capture of Ticonderoga and

Crown Point,
—" in the name of the Lord Jehovah

and of the Continental Congress,"—but not all are

aware that that expedition was originated by Con-

necticut men at Hartford, most of whom were in the

Legislature, aud still fewer know that Norfolk was

represented in it, not indeed by a man, but by a horse.

Capt. Edward Mott, of Preston, was sent with sixteen

men from Hartford to take these forts, and ordered to

gather more among Warner's men in Berkshire, and

among the " Green Mountain Boys" under Allen at

Bennington. Of course speed was essential to insure

success. Norfolk was directly in their path to Berkshire,

and when they reached the town one of their horses

gave out, and Mott applied to your selectmen for an-

other. Samuel Knapp, grandfatiier to the present

justice of the peace, was the prompt and patriotic

man who complied with their request. His horse was

loaned, being first appraised at sixteen pounds ten

shillings, Mott paying fifteen shillings ctish down.

On the return of the animal, a few weeks later, bear-

ing ample evidence of having been to war, the ap-

praisers judged that the owner ought to receive five

pounds, " the horse being so much damnified." The

bill was sent into the colony trea.surer, with the fifteen

shillings honestly deducted, and was promptly paid.

Knapp's receii)t for four pounds five shillings is still

extant at Hartford.

But more extensive war measures were now on foot.

Wliilc Washington wa.s investing Boston, after the

battle of Bunker Hill, an expedition to Cana<la was

also i>lanned, and placed under (iens. Schuyler aud

Montgomery. To this Connecticut sent two regi-

ments, aud one of them, under Col. Hinman, was

recruited from this part of the State, in which the

first regular Norfnik soldiers were enlisted, in May,

177.'), lor seven months. Their captnin was John

Watson, of Canaan. We have the names of at least

twenty of his company who were from this town, and

there were probably more. They participated in

the siege of St. John's, and in a variety of other ac-

tions. Three of them were with Ethan Allen in his

brave, though irregular and foolhardy, attempt t<i

take Montreal by surprise, September 25th of that
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year, and were taken prisoners with him. Their

names were Peter Noble, Ebenezer Mack, and Levi

Barnum.

Peter Noble was a sharer of Ethan Allan's priva-

tions. They were kept in irons during much of their

captivity, and experienced constant indignity and

insult from those who had tlie care of them. They

were shipi)ed from Quebec to England, and thence to

Ireland, and were kept there some time, being con-

stantly threatened with hanging. They were finally

sent back to this Country as prisoners of war, in a

fleet which anchored in Cape Fear Harbor, North

Carolina. Noble, either by nature or by association

with Allen, was a plucky fellow, and embraced his

first chance to escape from his vessel, the " Sphynx,"

while at anchor, and, by wliat Allen describes as " ex-

traordinary swimming," reached the shore in safety,

and thence made his way home as best he might, and

was probably the first to give information concern-

ing the harsh treatment received by the prisoners.

Through his affidavit, Daniel Mack, father of Ebene-

zer Mack, above mentioned, was enabled to draw his

son's back pay ; and on learning, at a later time, that

the latter was still a prisoner at New York, sent him

on a portion of the money, by the aid of which he

made his escape and reached home in safety, after

fourteen months' imprisonment.

Meantime, the Canada campaign was vigorously

prosecuted ; but the difficulties were great, the troops

poorly disciplined and ill fed, suffering much from

smallpox and dysentery, and many a Norfolk boy in

this first campaign lost his health or his life from these

causes. Montreal was taken, but the attack on Quebec,

late in December, foiled, and the gallant Montgomery's

death sent a thrill of discouragement through the

land. The British troops in Canada, however, were

few, and early in 1776 the work was pushed again, in

order to reduce the province before reinforcements

could arrive from England. The Norfolk men had

been discharged, with the other Connecticut troops,

when their time was out, in December, but their

ardor was not cooled. A new regiment was enlisted

in this part of the State, to serve in Canada for a

year from Feb. 1, 1776, of which Charles Burrall

and Nathaniel Buel, of Salisbury, were made colonel

and lieutenant-colonel, and John Sedgwick, of North

Cornwall, major. Titus Watson, of Norfolk, who
had been lieutenant the previous year, was made
captain, and gathered a company largely composed

of Norfolk men, and many of them his old comrades.

This was a large contribution for the town to make,

and, crowning the whole, Mr. Robbins was given up

to become chaplain for the regiment. He was earn-

estly patriotic, but the controlling motive which led

him to go was his desire to advance the moral and

spiritual interests of the men while exposed to the

demoralizing influences of the war. His diary dur-

ing the campaign, which has been published, reveals

this very clearly. His work among the sick and

wounded, his manner of alluding to the preaching

services he held, his sadness at the numerous excesses

that passed before his eyes, his discouragement at see-

ing i^etty rivalries and animosities among the officers,

burdened his mind quite as much as his anxiety for

the result of the conflict. He was not at all a " fight-

ing chaplain,"—indeed, some of his contemporaries

appear to have considered him somewhat deficient

in the strictly soldierly qualities,—but he was faithful

to his duties so long as he continued in the service,

and was respected among his brother officers. Lieut.-

Col. Buel was a specially intimate friend, and they

tented together much of the time.

This campaign was a disastrous failure, and entailed

unusual hardship, as well as discouragement, on the

soldiers. This regiment suffered greatly from small-

pox, camp fever, bad generalship, and poor accommo-

dations on their way to the iront. When they reached

Dechambalt, within forty miles of Quebec, the arrival

of the English fleet with reinforcements turned the

whole army back on the 7th of May, and the utmost

that could be done was to cover the retreat so that it

would not become a rout. This disorderly falling

back of a dispirited and sickly army increased the

hardships of all. They withdrew from point to point,

making a stand occasionally and skirmishing with the

enemy, but were finally obliged to retire up Lake

Champlain, and were defeated in two naval actions

in the autumn, and were barely left with force enough

to hold Ticonderoga and Crown Point during the

winter. The Norfolk men suffered greatly during

these events, and Chaplain Robbins, utterly unused

to such hardships, was soon worn out, and was obliged

to return home twice during the summer to recruit

his strength. On his second furlough, about August

1st, he wrote as follows, which indicates at once his

patriotism and his piety

:

**Iain peculiarly unfitted for the duties of a chaplain on account of

my bilious constitution. I envy Mr. Avery (u brother chaplain) his

health. He will go through the hospital, when pestiferous as disease

aud death can make it, with a face as smooth as a baby's, and afterward

an appetite as healthy as a wood-chopper, /cannot. After inhaling such

diseased breath am sick and faint ; besides, their sorrows take hold of

me. I would not shrink from the work. Our war is a righteous war;

our men are called to defend tlieir country ; whole congregations turn

out, and the ministers of the gospel should go and encourage them when

doing duty, attend and pray for and with them when sick, and bury

them when tliey die. I hope to return to my work."

He did so, but soon gave out again, and was dis-

charged November 1st, as being unable to continue.

The following spring a radical change took place in

the conduct of the war. No more short enlistments

were made, but the Continental line was organized,

for which each State was required to furnish a certain

quota, and they were enlisted for three years or the

war, bounties being offered by Congress, and often by

the States also. Upwards of thirty enlisted for that

term from Norfolk in the early part of 1777, and a

large share of them were in the regiment of Col.

Heman Swift, of South Cornwall, and served under

Washington in the battles of the next three years, in
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the vicinity of New York and New Jersey. Norfolk's

number for the Continental line was kept up till the

close of the war. But besides these there were oc-

casions of special alarm, when the militia were called

out and served for short terms, as in the burning of

Danbury, and especially when Burgoyne marched

from Canada and sent terror into New England byre-

taking Ticonderoga and Crown Point, in July, 1777.

The plan was to sever New England from the rest of

the country by a march down the valley of the Hud-
son, to form a junction with Gen. Clinton from New
York. Litchfield County, being so near the line of

march, was thoroughly roused, and Norfolk sent her

militia along with the rest, who were present at the

famous surrender of Burgoyne's army at Saratoga in

October. More traditions now remain in the town

concerning that battle and its consequences than con-

cerning any other during the war. A portion of the

surrendered army passed through here on their way
to Hartford, and were encamped for a time on the

green. There were among them both English and

Hessians. It is said that Mr. Robbins and other citi-

zens gave the soldiers liberty to sleep in their barns.

Two Hessians remained behind when the rest left.

One was sick, and was kindly cared for by a good

mother in Israel, Mrs. Michael Mills, until he died.

The other married and settled here.

After this battle New England was at quite a re-

move from the scene of active operations, and Nor-

folk's soldiers were at a distance from home until

peace was concluded. The sending of soldiers, how-

ever, was not the only contribution of the town to the

war. Besides all the indirect privations of hard

times, heavy taxation, and an irredeemable currency,

the home department of the service was not a sliglit

one. A special committee was appointed to take cure

of the families of the three years' men, and, moreover,

individuals made great sacrifices in bringing home
and caring for their sick and wounded relatives. The
work of keeping their quota full was not easy, and

required constant attention from the town officers.

During tlie winter of 1777-78, Wa.shington's army, in

camp at Valley Forge, was in distress for sufficient

clotliing, and C'ul. Ilcnian Swift wrote to the towns of

Kent, Sharon, Canaan, Cornwall. Norfolk, and Goshen,

from which his regiment was recruited, asking for

help for the men at once. Norfolk moved promptly,

and gathered a quantity of woolen clotliing, a.s fol-

lows: ;i2 pairs overalls, .32 i>airs shoes, .')!) pairs stock-

ings, 3."> pairs mittens, 32 tianncl shirts, 2 frocks. The
whole were valued by the government at £162 Co. 9(/.,

and were sent on at once to the great relief of the sol-

diers.

The fnrnace at Salisbury furnished the government

with cannon and ball and other army supplies, the

transportation of which often gave employment to

the townspeople. Nine Norfolk men, with their

teams, were engaged in the autumn of 1770 in carry-

ing cannon and ball from Salisbury to Hartford. In

1781 the town, according to an order from the Legis-

lature, gathered a quantity of commissary stores for

the army, and deposited them at a convenient place

for safe-keeping. The next year it was found that

for some reason these provisions were damaged in

keeping, and the loss was estimated at fifty pounds.

A heavier loss than this, however, was occasioned in

1777-78, when the camp fever, now called dysentery,

became prevalent and carried many to the grave.

The number of burials in town—recorded by Mr. Rob-

bins—for 1777 is 56, for 1778 is 37, against 12 in

1776 (besides 8 in the army) and 9 in 177-5, while

there were but 6 in 1779 and 9 in 1780.* Verily those

years, which were called the midnight of the Revolu-

tion, were also years of domestic darkness at your

fathers' firesides.

Of individual prominent men in the home depart-

ment of the Revolutionary service. Col. Giles Petti-

bone deserves mention, who was the leading spirit in

carrying out all the measures required. He held sev-

eral offices in town during the whole eight years, and

was put upon most of the committees raised upon

matters pertaining to the war, besides serving as rep-

resentative at four sessions of the Legislature. He
was also himself at dilferent times in the service at

the front. He is mentioned only as captain, and

finally major, during the Revolution ; his title of

colonel would therefore seem to have been obtained

at a later period as an officer of the militia.

Jacob Spaulding, the ancestor of the present Spaul-

ding families here, did perhaps more still. " He had

himself been in the French war, and was jiresent at

the taking of Quebec by Gen. Wolfe. His two sons,

Isaac and Daniel, his only children, were Revolution-

ary soldiers ; but, not content with that, he hired a

man at eight dollars per month all through the war,

and took care of his wife and two children. He once

collected one hundred and twenty cattle and took

them to the army, five of which were his own con-

tribution. His house was also a retreat for sick and

wounded soldiers ; thirty were sent to him on one oc-

casion to be kept for the winter, and were so well

cared for that twenty-eight went back to the army in

the spring." Such was the spirit of the town in the

Revolution.

A complete list of the Revolutionary soldiers of the

town it is impossible to prepare at this distant day,

yet one hundred and twelve names have been found

of those who are tiiowii to have been in the service,

though this includes some who served for short terms

as militia only. The pay-rolls have in some ca.ses

been lost, and it is particularly regretted that that of

Capt. Titus Watson's company, who went with Mr.

• Dr. Rojt, In hia litelory, irtalM that M wan awept off fcy Ikt camp di—

Umprr In 1777, and 38 liy thp winip iHtonler In 1778. Ai theaa flgnrra

correapond «lnio«t exactly wiOi the vhoU mtmhrr wlium Mr. Robbiua

burloil 111 tluiau yean<, Dr. ll»>'i( would appear to havo fiilli'n Into ernir,

for It In next to lmiio«>U>k> lliat rvrry ilvatli in town fur two yaan aliouM

haTo t>con t:aiuo<l \>y dywntory.
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Robbins to Canada in 1776, has not been found.

After the return of the first three years' men in 1780,

the town sent, at the requisition of the colony, thirty-

one additional men in the Connecticut Line, besides

at least fifteen as militia for a short time. The names

of these have not been found, and many of those who
previously enlisted are unknown. It is safe to infer,

therefore, after making all due allowances for re-en-

listments, that the town furnished one hundred and

fifty men for the service. Now the population of the

town in 1774 was nine hundred and sixty-six, in 1782

twelve hundred and forty-three; taking the average

for the period as eleven hundred, which includes

women and children, we have the fact that one-sev-

enth of the whole population were Revolutionary

soldiers for longer or shorter periods. This was a

very large proportion.

REVOLUTIONARY SOLDIERS.

This list has been gathered from a variety of sources,

and is by no means complete. It does not follow that

a given man served only during the term given below.

It has been thought best to record what is actually

kno'w?i, and leave the rest for further investigation by

any who are interested. Of some it is only known
that they were afterwards pensioners. The two sons

of Jacob Spaulding do not appear here, as they re-

sided over the line, in Massachusetts, and therefore

do not count for Norfolk.

Kev. A. R. Robbius, chaplain in Burrell's regiment from March 18, 1776,

to Oct. 31, 177G, in Canada.

Ozias Bingham, served in Canada May, 1775, to Sept. 3, 1775; waa put

in jail at Litchfield fur debt the next winter, and in order to be re-

leased enlisted in Col. Heman Swift's regiment Feb. 2, 1776, and on

application to the Legislature was permitted to leave jail and join

the regiment upon his giving a note for the debt.

Levi Barnum, in Canada in the campaign of 1775; was taken prisoner

with Ethan Allen, and sent to England in irons, and returned only

after great hardships.

Peter Noble, enlisted in May, 1775, in John Watson's company, Hin-

man's regiment, and was taken prisoner with Allen, as above.

Ebenezer Mack, of same regiment, was also taken prisoner with Allen,

and remained in close continement nineteen months, was sick much
of the time, lost all his baggage, was carried to Quebec, to England,

and Ireland, thence to Cape Fear, S. C, Halifax, and finally New
York, whence he escaped, and came home in April, 1777.

Jesse Tobey, sergeant, Hinuian's regiment. May, 1775, to Sept. 28, 1775.

Samuel Hotchkiss, private, Hinman'a regiment, May, 1775, to Sept. 28,

1775.

Roger Orvis, private, Hinman's regiment, May, 1775, to Nov. 20, 1775.

Jasper Murray, private, Hinman's regiment, May, 1775, to Nov. 20, 1775.

Daniel Pettibone, private, Hinman's regiment. May, 1775, to Nov. 20,

1775.

Andrew Lester, private, Hinman's regiment, May, 1775, to Nov. 20, 1775,

besides answering Lexington alarm.

Nathaniel Field, private, Hinman's regiment. May, 1775, to Nov. 20, 1775,

and Lexington alarm.

Freedom Wright, private, Hinman s regiment, May, 1775, to Sept. 4,

1775, and Lexington alarm.

Abraham Beach, private, Hinman's regiment, Slay, 1775, to Sept. 6,

1775, and Lexington alami.

Jehiel Hull, private, Hinman'a regiment. May, 1775, to Nov. 20, 1775;

also served five months in 1780, in Swift's regiment, Capt. Converse's

company, at the Highlands.

Amariah Plumb, answered Lexington alarm ; was private in Canada

campaign, May, 1775, to Nov. 20, 1775, during which he was wounded

at the siege of St. John's and his thigh-bone broken, was captured,

and held as a prisoner tliere a few days, till the fortress surrendered,

then made bis way home with great difficulty; received twenty-five

pounds special grant from the State, and died March 1, 1778.

Jotham Parker, served under Hinman from May, 1775, to Nov. 20, 1775,

as private; re-enlisted as captain of teams in 1777, in the commissary

depailment, and served a long time.

Darius Phelps, served May, 1775, to Sept. 7, 1775.

Eden Mills, served in latter part of the war.

Jedediah White, pensioner.

Ephraim Coy, served some time, and afterwards deserted.

Charles Walter, in Connecticut line three years, Bradley's reg^meDt,

Eleazar Holt, present at Burgoyne's surrender.

Nicholas Holt, enlisted in 1775 in Watson's company; took smallpox in

crossing Lake George and leaped into the water, which caused the

disease to settle in his hip and made him lame for life.

Stephen Holt, present at Burgoyne's surrender in October, 1777, and also

at burning of Danbury.

Thomas Curtis, enlisted Febmary, 1776; took smallpox in the army,

died, and was buried at Stillwater, N. Y.; also had marched after

Lexington.

Hupestill Welch, probably in French war, a^ well as Revolution.

Salathiel Dunbar, May, 1775, to March 19, 1776.

Josiah Hotchkiss.

Solomon Curtis, a short term, when under age, in latter part of war.

Titus Watson, lieutenant in Jolin Watson's company, under Hinman, in

1775; cjiptain in BurrelTs regiment, February, 1776, to February,

1777 ; and afterwards was captain in Col. Heman Swift's regiment for

three yeai^s; also marched after Lexington.

John Trowbridge, private, May, 1775, to Nov, 26, 1775, in Hinman's regi-

ment ; afterwards enlisted in Connecticut line for three years, where

he was corporal.

Moses Turner, corpoi'al, Connecticut line, waa in service three years,

April, 1777, to April 0, 1780.

Elijah Knapp, corpoial, Connecticut line, three years.

Aaron Aspinwall, private, Connecticut line, three yeai-s.

Asahel Adams, private, Connecticut line, three years.

Caleb Aspinwall, private, under Hinman, May to Sept. 6, 1775, iu

Canada, and inarched after Lexington, and in Connecticut line

three years.

Joel Hambliu, private in Connecticut line three years.

^athan Tubbs, private in Connecticut line three years.

Levi Norton, private in Connecticut line three years.

Reuben Stevens, private in Connecticut line three years.

Samuel Orvis, private in Connecticut line three years.

Caleb Sturtevant, private in Connecticut line three years.

John Walter, private in Connecticut line three years.

Elnathan Seward, private in Connecticut line three years.

Abraham Knapp, private iu Connecticut line three years.

Rufus Tnill, private iu Connecticut line three years; also five months

and nine days, in latter part of 17So, at Highlands.

James Benedict, Jr., a minor, enlisted iu May, 1777, for three years, in

Titus Watson's company, Heman Swift's regiment; marched to

PeeUskill, taken sick, suflVred much, tried to march, reached Wliite

Plains and Rye, sick again ; no friends to help him there, and was

finally brought home to Norfolk at his father's expense with a

broken constitution; Assembly granted him special relief.

Hiland Hall, in Connecticut line for three years; was deputy commis-

sary.

Bates Turner, in Connecticut line April, 1777, to April, 1780, and after-

wards in short levy, five and a half months, at Highlands, July to

December, 1780.

Silas Cowles, iu Connecticut line for three years.

Edward Fuller, in Connecticut line three years.

William Turner, in Connecticut line three years.

Jonas Hubbard, in Connecticut Hue three years.

Lemuel Speriy, in Connecticut line three years.

Eliezer Orvis, enlisted fur three years in 1777, but died Nov. 15, 1778.

Nathan Sturtevant, also enlisted for three years in 1777, but died Oct. 1,

1777.

Daniel Huskins, was in service four months.

Thomas Tibbals, first was drummer in Theodore Woodbridge's company,

Wooster's regiment, from Nov. 18, 1775, to Feb. 29, 1776; then was

drum-major in the Northern Army, in Col. Elmore's regiment, from

April 15, 1776, to April 27, 1777 ; afterwards re-enlisted more than

once as teamster in the quartermaster's service, and was out, in all,

nearly four years ; spent one winter at Fort Stanwix, one at Mount
Independence, and one in Canada.

Samuel Tibbals, an older brother of Thomas, was captain of teams in
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the quartermaster's service for a year from March, 1777, and was

then discharged on account of broken health.

Elizur Hunger was a teamster.

Keuben Munger was sergeant; time of service unknown.

Aria! Lawrence served two short terms in special calls on the militia;

was at Saratoga on a four months' term when Burgoyne surren-

dered; was a man of great physical endurance; is said to have

walked from a point six miles beyoud Troy, where he was dis-

charged, to Norfolk in one day.

Daniel Canfield, pensioner.

Abiatbar Rogers, pensioner.

David Heady, pensioner.

Jedidiah Richards, Jr.

Josiah Hotchkiss.

Ebenezer PInmbly.

Jeremiah W. Phelps, a short term.

Asher Smith.

John Beach.

Giles Gaylord, served in New York in 1782; also under John Wataon,

May to November, 1775, in Canada.

Lieut. Phelps, served in New York in 1782; possibly was the same as

Elijah PJielps, mentioned below.

Simeon Mills, was in Burrell's regiment with Rev. Mr. Robbins in 177G ; i

had smallpox, not properly cared for, and it became chronic, pro-

ducing large, fuul ulcers, which remained a long time; was sent

home in September, 1776, and was confined to his bed and chair till

autumn, 1779 ; Assembly of Connecticut voted him then three hun-

dred pounds to pay his bills, of which two hundred pounds was

doctor's bill.

Isaac Butler, five months at Highlands, 1780, Swift's regiment.

William Leach, five months at Higlilands, 1780, Swift's regiment.

John Minor, five months at Iliglibinrls, 1780, Swift's regiment.

James Sturdivant, five moutlis at Highlands, 1780, Swift's regiment.

Silas Seward, five and a half nmntlis at Highlands, 1780, Swift's regi-

ment.

Samuel Taylor,five and a half months at Highlands, 1780, Swift's regi-

ment.

Abraham Barden, four months at Highlands, 1780, Swift's regiment.

Roswell Grant, five months at Highlands, 1780, Swift's regiment.

Giles Thrall, four and a half months at Highlands, 1780, Swift's regi-

ment.

Luther Lawrence, four moulbs and twenty-one days at Highlands in

1780, in Philip B. Bradley's regiment.

Arial Strong, five months, July to December, 1780, at nigblaiuls.

Deacon Samuel Cowles, ensign, was in skirmisii at White Plains, and

perhaps also in the Canarla campaign : he marched after Loxlogtun

also.

Noah Cowles, son of Samuel, entered service very young as musician,

probably a dnimmer ; was at Burgnyne's surrender at Saratoga.

Jared Abernathy, marclu-d at the Lexington alarm; was in Bnrroll's

regiment, 1770-77, a full year in Canada; had hospital exp«nMe,

seven pounds eight shilHngs.

Ludd GaylonI, son of Justis, enlisted at the age of seventeen, in wliat

portion of the army is unknown; there were many who cont^plred

together to ilwiert, anil in the jinpor drawn up wrote their nanieH in

a circle so that the leatlers might not be knuwn; the plot waa dis-

covered, and all were searched; one wlio ha'l the jiaper slipped It

into Ludd's pocket; In- was offered pardon if he would reveal the

leaders' names; on his icfu^al he was condemned to die; liia fricudfl

obtained a pardon from AVashington, whicli had almost reached the

boy when ho was executed.

Ambrose Oaylord, another son of JiistfH, was In tlio C^)utlnental lino In

the latter part of the war.

—— Gaylord, a third ft)n of Justis Gaylord, wiu m ith Anibroeo at the

same time.

Elijah Phelps, was In Northern Army in 177G.

Andrew Moor, lietitennnt, went to Canada In February, 177G, and died

June 9th following.

Eli Pettibono, woa In Col. Warner's regiment In 1770.

Qlles Pettibono, was captain nf the Norfolk mllllla company when the

war opened ; besides hitt home-work for the service, ho led his com-

pROy to Saratoga lu the alarm of 1777; probably all thoeo hero nieii-

tioned as present at that fight were under him, boMldes many olhera;

with the same conipany be served one or two ternitt a little later

under McDongal, vu the Hudson bolow West Point, keeping a ItM.k-

otit between tht* Aini-rlrun and Hriiish lines, a work n-tiulring pecu-

liar vigilance and skill; at the end of his term ho received public

approbation from his commander in the presence of the army; he

obtained the rank of major before the war closed.

Samuel Pettibone, served in Canada and other parts.

The following (besides those already mentioned)

marched towards Boston immediately upon the Lex-

ington alarm, in April, 1775. It is not known how
far they went before they were sent back ; the time

during which some of them served would indicate

that they reached Boston. Their pay was sixteen

pence per day.

Capiaiu Timothy Gaylord, fifteen days.

William Hewet, fifteen days.

Ephraim Parker, sixteen days; also in French war.

Elijah Pettibone, sixteen days.

Samuel Hotchkiss, Sr,, sixteen days.

Jeffrey Murray, fourteen days.

Ebenezer Hoyt, five days.

Titus Brown, four days.

Brotherton Seward, forty-seven days.

Timothy Gaylord {2d), thirty-two days.

Phineaa Norton, thirty-two days.

Benjamin Tuttle, tbirtj'-two days.

David Orvis, thirty-two days.

Michael Mills, captain, at West Point, eleven days in June, 1780.

Joseph Jones, served from May to Nov. 26, 1775, and afterwards three

yeara in the Connecticut line.

In October, 1780, Norfolk Avas required to furnish

twenty-two more men for the Continental service, and

in November following tliree men were sent as quota

to cavalry company. It also furnished six recruits

for the guard at Horseneck, in May, 1781. Capt.

Michael Mills* company of Col. Hutchins' regiment

was ordered to West Point in June, 1780, and re-

mained there eleven days, of wliich company fifteen

were Norfolk men. The names of none of these

have been found, though some of tliem may be the

same who appear above in other enlistments.

A boy, Stephen , was servant to Mr, Robbins

in the campaign of 177i>, and was probably from Nor-

folk.

With regard t<t the last war, it in of interest to note

that John Brown, the famous leader of the Harper's

Ferry insurrection, came from an old Norfolk family;

his grandparents lived in South End district, as also

his i)aronts, for a time. He was him.self born in Tor-

rington, but is said to have spent a portion of his

early years in Norfolk.

The work tlonc by the ladies of the church for the

" Boys in Blue" was no slight item. It was done chiefly

by furnishing or making shirts, socks, drawers, quilts,

and siieets for the use of the Sanitary Contmission.

The whole amount done by them in the two years

from June, lS(i;{, to June, 180r), was valued at $«>80.18.

C(>ntributions in aid of the freedmen at the South

have been regular ever since that charity came before

the churches, and not seldom have the ladies sent

boxes of elotliing for them, chiefly through the Amer-

ican Missionary Association.

LABOR RKGUhATION OF 1778.

In 1778 the General Assembly ordere<l each town

in the State to appoint a committee vested with full

power, and directed to establish a uniform price
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through the State for labor per day, the price of pro-

duce, etc. The committee for this town consisted of

Giles Pettibone, Michael Mills, Titus Ives, and Tim-

othy Gaylord. Labor per day was fixed at 3s. 6d.,

4s. 4]d., and 5s. 3(/., specifying the difl'erent seasons

of the year or the kind of labor; a good narrow axe

and scythe, each lis. 3rf. / a good broad hoe, 7s. 6d.;

joiners, per day, 5s. 3rf. and Gs. li d. ; carpenters, 7s. /

masons, 7s. lOJd. ; tailors, 5s. 3rf. / tailoresses, 2s. 2d. ;

tavern-keepers, for a good meal of victuals. Is. 2(7.;

for a mug of cider, Td. ; good West India rum, per

gill. Is./ New England rum, 8d. / a mug of flip, made

of good West India rum, 2s. 4d. / other rums, Is. 8d.

SCHOOLS.

In 1839 an academical school was opened in this

town, with Rev. John F. Norton as teacher. In the

following year a building was erected at a cost of two

thousand dollars. It was dedicated Aug. 31, 1840.*

THE FIRST POST-OFFICE.

The first postmaster in Norfolk w-as Michael F.

Mills, who received his appointment from President

Jefferson in 1812 or 1813. At that time the mail

only arrived twice a week, and only two newspapers

were received at the office ; these were the Connecti-

cut Courant and the Litchfield Monitor.

THE RAILROAD.

Norfolk was truly an " inland" town before the

building of the Connecticut Western Railroad. Stage-

coach drives of a number of miles were necessary to

bring the people of the charming "hill town" into com-

munication with the outside world. It was ten miles

to the Naugatuck Railroad on the east, and ten to the

Housatonic ou the west. But the building of the rail-

road changed all this, and Tuesday, Sept. 12, 1871, was

a memorable day in the history of Norfolk,—the cele-

bration of the laying of the track of the railroad to

that place. A large concourse of people from adjoin-

ing towns were present, and the event was celebrated

in an appropriate manner. Addresses were made by

the late Dr. Eldridge, John K. Shepard, E. T. Butler,

the " father of the road," George H. Browne, of

Dutchess Co., N. Y., and others. A happy event was

the presentation, on behalf of the citizens, of a su-

perb gold watch and chain to Mr. E. T. Butler. On
the outside of the case was engraved the monogram

"E. T. B." and a train of cars, while the inside of the

case bore the following inscription: "Presented to

E. T. Butler, Esq., by the citizens of Norfolk, in

recognition of his services in the originating and

completion of the Connecticut Western Railroad."

Ten years previous to this time the idea of proposing

a road through Norfolk would have been deemed

Quixotic, but now six passenger-trains pass through

the town daily.

* For present condition of schoolB, see Chapter Vlll.

ECCLESIASTICAL HISTORY.

The rude cabin of the pioneer had scarcely been

erected ere a movement was started for the purpose of

securing the preaching of the gospel ministry. In

the memorial asking for the incorporation of the town,

Sept. 1, 1758, the one reason given for desiring town
privilege was, " so that we may have power to set up

the order of the gospel among us." Inasmuch as the

history of the church for nearly half a century is

largely a history of the town during that period, that

of the Congregational Church will be given in extenso.

THE CONGREGATIONAL CHURCH.

The Congregational Church of Norfolk was organ-

ized Dec. 24, 1760, with twenty-three members, by the

Rev. Daniel Farrand, pastor of the Congregational

Church at South Canaan. Previous to this, however,

Dec. 20, 1758, an itinerant clergyman named Treat

preached the first sermon ever delivered in this town.

The church had occasional preaching until Jan. 8,

1759, when they hired a Mr. Peck. On the 26th of

the following November the Rev. Noah Wetmore was

invited to preach on probation, and March 31, 1760,

the inhabitants united in giving him a call to settle.

For some reason, which does not now appear, he was

rejected, and Rev. Noah Benedict, who was subse-

quently called, was not obtained.

June 21, 1760, the Rev. Jesse Ives was invited to

preach on probation, and December 24th of the same

year he was called as their minister. He was offered

the ministerial lot, with a salary of sixty-two pounds

ten shillings annually for three years, and after that

time seventy pounds per annum. Some trouble sub-

sequently arose, and Mr. Ives was not settled.

In January, 1761, Mr. 'Ammi Ruhaniah Robbins, a

young man who had graduated at Yale College the

year previous, and who had been studying at that ia-

mous school of the prophets in Bethlehem, under Dr.

Bellamy, was invited to preach here. He was in-

vited, by unanimous vote, to become pastor of the

church September 16th. On the 28th of October,

1761, the ceremony of ordination and installation

took place for the first time in this town. Without

doubt that was a great day here. However much the

ceremony may have lost its meaning with some in

our time, it had a great deal of meaning then. Not-

withstanding the special difficulties of traveling, peo-

ple came up from neighboring towns, and from those

that were not so very neighboring. The meeting-

house then was only partially finished, but it had on

that day, we may be sure, a very deeply interested

audience. Dr. Bellamy was present to help introduce

his young student into the pastoral office in the new set-

tlement. He offered the ordaining prayer, and gave

the young pastor his charge. His relation made it

eminently proper that he should take this part in the

services, and he doubtless did his part well. Rev. Mr.

Champion, of Litchfield, the youngest pastor officiat-

ing, having been settled eight years, gave the right
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hand of fellowship. The father of Mr. Robbins, pas-

tor of the church in Branford, preached the sermon,

which was published.

He was at that time twenty-one years of age, having

been born in Branford, Aug. 25 (O. S.), 1740. His

father. Rev. Philmon Robbins, was pastor of the

church in that place from 1733 until his death in

1781. He entered Princeton College at the age of

sixteen, but at the deatli of President Burr, about

two years afterwards, he took a dismission from that

institution and joined Yale College, where he gradu-

ated in 1760, under the presidency of President

Clapp. He evinced superior scholarship, which he

found of good use to him in after-years, not only in

his ministerial studies, but also in the instruction of

young men, of whom he taught a large number

;

among them was the late Dr. McEwen, of New
London. Of him, in early years. Dr. Lee, of Cole-

brook, who preached his funeral sermon, says, " In

the tender years of childhood he discovered that

sprightliness of genius and sweetness of temper and

manners by which he was distinguished through life."

In October, 1811, he preached his half-century sermon,

which was jjublished. At that time all the ministers

who took part in his ordination had died, and but

two persons were living who were tlien members of

the church. In this sermon he stated that the wiiole

number of church members from the first was 549,

that he had bajjtized 1277 persons, had attended 760

funerals (about 15 each year), had married 276 cou])les,

and had preached about 6500 sermons. He liad taken

"texts from every book in the Bible except the

Epistle to Philemon anil the Second Epistle of Joiin."

That venerable warrior had looked the armory pretty

thoroughly over for diU'ercnt weapons. If his experi-

ence was like most, he was less at a loss for a text at

the last than at the first. The more he gatliered tlic

more he found to gather from the wonderful treasury.

Mr. Robbins [jreached a great deal out of town, and

is reported to have preaclied in every town in the

State except three. He also did not a little missionary

work. In the years 1794-96, by the appointment of

the General Association, he made five tours of mis-

sionary service in tlie new settlements of Vermont
and New York, two of them in com])any with his

brother-in-law, Rev. Peter Starr, of Warren. In

these lie gathered three churches, assisted at three

ordinations, baptized thirty-eight children and adults,

and preached one hundred and forty-five sermons,

besides doing a great deal of visiting. This wa-s al-

most at the very beginning of home missionary labor.

He was a chaplain in the Rcvohitionary army in

1776, during the Nortliern campaign, where he en-

dured liardships whicli undermined his health for a

time, and compelled a resignation of his chaplaincy.

He began to grow feeble under the effects of age

about the time he preached his half-century sermon,

but continued his labors for two years. His last ser-

mon was preached the first Sabbath in May, 1813,

when he administered the Lord's Supper for the last

time. He was with his people again three weeks

later. This (May 23d) was to be the last day for the

occupancy of the old church. Not being able to enter

the pulpit, he stood in his pew, and made an address

to the people appropriate to the occasion of their

leaving the sanctuary which had been so long their

endeared place of worship. That night a tumor be-

gan to show itself upon his face, which resulted in his

death on the 31st of October, at the age of seventy-

three.

Says Dr. McEwen, in an address upon the ministers

of Litchfield County, given at Litchfield in 1852,

—

" It would be difficult to select a minister iu Conuecticut who has been

more popular with bis people, or liiia exercised over them a more com-

plete and useful control, than Mr. Robbins."

He was a member of the corporation of Williams

College, and greatly interested in education. He
married, soon after his ordination. Miss Elizabeth

Le Baron, daughter of Dr. Lazarus Le Baron, of

Plymouth, Mass., and granddaughter of Governor

Bradford. He had thirteen children, five of whom
died young. His widow, with six sons and two daugh-

ters, survived him. Three of his sons were educated

at college, of whom two became ministers. One of

his daughters was the wife of Joseph Battell, Esq.

It was nearly two years before his succes.sor was

.secured. Mr. Ralj)!! Emerson, born in Hollis, N. H.,

Aug. 18, 1787, a graduate of Yale College, with its

first honors, in 1811, under the presidency of Dr.

Dwight, and at that time a tutor in that institution,

was unanimously called to the pastorate of this church

in 1815. His grandfather was a clergyman, his father

I

a deacon. His early life, as has been the history of

so many other strong men, was spent upon the farm,

i which he left when he was nineteen years of age,

when he fitted for college in one year's study. After

graduation he became connected with .Vndover Theo-

logical Seminary in the study of theology. After

that he Wiis tutor in Yale College two years. His

ordination and installation took place on the 12tli of

, June, 18U). At that time a revival of great power
' was in |>rogres.H among his people, into which he en-

tered with all his heart, and which resulted in an in-

gathering of one hundred ami twenty-six. In 1821

there was another .sea.son of especial intere.st, and one

still more marked in 1827, the former ailding fifty-five,

and the latter one hundred and eleven, to the member-
' ship of the church.

' It seems unfortunate that a pastorate which was

being so greatly l>les.sc<l sliould be broken od'. In

1828, Mr. Emerson was invited to the presidency of

Western Reserve College. To his acceptance of this

app<jintment his people made earnest opposition, and

I

the Consociation thought it best that he should de-

cline it, which he did, and continued on in his labors

here. The year following he waa called to a profes-

sorship in AndoverTlieologiial Seminary. Thesame

unwillingness to release him from his pastorate here
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was felt as before, and the Consociation declined at

first to dismiss him, but afterwards yielded.

Mr. Emerson filled the chair of history and pastoral

theology at Andover, Mass., for twenty-five years

with great honor and usefulness. He then resigned,

and removed to Newburyport, in the same State,

where he remained five years, preaching occasionally,

and occupying his mind with such studies as he was

most interested in, growing old gracefully. He re-

moved to Eockford, 111., in 1859, where he remained

until his death, May 20, 1863. Dr. Emerson was suc-

ceeded by Rev. Joseph Eldridge. (See biography.)

The present pastor. Rev. John F. Gleason, was settled

Sept. 5, 1876.

Until 1814 there was no ecclesiastical society here,

but, as was common then, the externals and finances

of the church were managed by the town. Before

preaching was established by the town the settlers

attended church chiefly in Canaan, of which church

some of them at least were members.

CHURCH BUILDINGS.

The heaviest financial burden these men had was,

of course, the building of their meeting-house. We
have seen that they voted to build in less than a

month after the first town-meeting. At the same

time they summoned a committee of the County Court

to set a stake for the house. The carrying out of this

vote was evidently delayed, or else failed altogether,

for nothing appears to have been done about it till

Sept. 18, 1759, when the following vote was passed,

which is a curious illustration of the method em-

ployed in those times to designate a spot of land

:

**Fo((><?, TJiat we judge it necessary to build a meeting-house iu said

Norfolk, . . . and do agree that the place shall be at the east end of the

Seventh Lott, iu first Division, tirst going over, and that on the hill

where Mr. Sam'l Munross formerly laid up sundry loggs in order for a

barn place, and said vote was had and obtained by more than two-thirds

of the inhabitants assembled in public town-meeting."

This would seem to be a mere general locating of

the house, for they immediately applied to the court

to fix a stake at that place, and on October 8th ap-

pointed a committee to ascertain the centre of the

town, and lay the true state of the town before the

committee appointed by the County Court in Septem-

ber for this purpose. This was done, and the town

accepted their decision in December, and then voted

to build " a meeting-house of forty feet wide and fifty

feet long, a suitable heighth for gallering."

The building committee were Abel Phelps, Isaac

Holt, Samuel Gaylord, Isaac Pettibone, and Samuel

Mills. The timber was prejjared and drawn that

winter and the following spring. On June 3, 1760,

the town voted to move the location to a point about

fifteen rods westward from the stake, because the

town had bought a piece of land there convenient

for the purpose, and they sent to the County Court to

have the alteration indorsed. Only three voters ob-

jected to the change. A committee of six was ap-

pointed " to prouid victals and drink for the hands

that raise the meting-house," who were to " consult

among themselves and make so much provision as

they shall think necessary, on the town's cost." The
house was raised a few days after, and we can easily

imagine with what enthusiasm and satisfaction the

townsmen must have gathered from far and near to

do that work. Tradition speaks of some difference

of opinion between the northern and southern sec-

tions of the town as to the location, but after that

point was settled there is no evidence that any ill-

feeling prevented their hearty co-operation with each

other; therefore we may assume that the raising was

a hearty and joyous occasion, and that the " victals

and drink" were not deficient, either in quality or

quantity. As this house was on the same spot with

the present one, the original stake was evidently set

in the eastern part of what is now the green.

A town-meeting of June 24, 1760, held a portion of

its session at the meeting-house frame, and there

voted that the committee " should go on to cover the

same as soon as may be conveniently." This was

done, but no entire session of town-meeting was held

in it till a year later, June 29, 1761. Underpinning

and flooring for the lower part were added about the

time of Mr. Robbins' ordination, October, 1761, and

apparently temporary seats were provided at the

same time, and thenceforward the house was in use

for public worship. The building committee was
discharged, and nothing more was done towards com-

pleting it for five or six years.

Up to this time one-half the proceeds of the land-

tax before mentioned had furnished the means of

building. This ceased, by limitation, in 1763, and

the finishing, which was performed at intervals from

1766 to 1772, was provided for as follows: A vote

would be passed in town-meeting specifying what

work should be done, and laying an extra tax on the

grand list suflicient for that purpose, and made pay-

able " in good and merchantable pine-boards, or in

good bar iron, to be delivered at the meeting-house"

by a certain date, and sometimes other " species"

were allowed. The appointment of a committee

would follow " to receive said boards and iron, and
improve them for the above said use." In this way
the gallery-floor was laid in 1767, the pulpit made,

and the lower part of the house finished by building

permanent pews in 1769, the galleries finished in

1771, and in the latter part of that year a final rate

of " one half-penny on the pound" put on the last

touches. April 8, 1771, it was voted "that the

selectmen shall consult Mr. Robbins, and procure

a sutable cushen to lye on the pulpit on the town's

cost."*

There is no record or tradition that any formal

dedication of this building took place, and that it

was first occupied for worship in the autumn of 1761

is only a probable inference. Yet there is no doubt

* This cushion, the only extant relic of the old church, was preserved

by Mrs. Julia Pettibone when the building was taken down.

^.
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that a house of this size, built by a young, struggling

town, and requiring about twelve years for its com-

pletion, received the Christian endeavors and fervent

prayers of all the members. The process of digni-

fying the house and seating the people was appar-

ently a more perplexing problem than the building

itself It was done as soon as the seats were made,

in the latter part of 1769, and involved more than

three months' time, five town-meetings, three rival

committees, and not a little dissatisfaction before it

was completed. Yet in this, as in everything else,

the fathers were able to differ without any perma-

nent breach.

Stopping work on the meeting-house while it was

yet barely inclosed did not proceed from lack of

interest, but from the desire to distribute the heavy

burden over a series of years, and also from the need

of attention to another but equally important work,

—the providing a house for the newly-ordained min-

ister. The lot of land set apart by law for the first

minister was deeded to Mr. Robbins, and he pro-

ceeded to erect his house upon it. This was, of

course, to be his own, and was paid for by him ; but

the work of erection took the time of his people from

their work, and the accounts wc have make it evident

that not a little of what they did was generously done
without pay. His diary shows that they worketl long

and cheerfully, getting out the timber during the

winter of 17G1-62, and the building wsis raised April

22, 1762, on which occasion the whole town was pres-

ent, and a great entertainment provided. May 16th

following the young minister married, at Plymouth,
Mass., Elizabeth Le Baron, daughter of a physician

of that i)lace, a very gifted young lady. He brought

her to his father's, in Branford, where she spent the

summer, apparently waiting for the house to be fin-

ished. This was ready in October, and Mr. Robbins
went for his bride. A three days' tedious ride on
horseba,ck brought them from Branford. Dr. Bel-

lamy, who had l)oen Mr. Robbins' theological in-

structor, entertained the young couple at dinner, in

Bethlehem, the second day. Concerning the arrival

in Norfolk, Mr. Robbins' brief entry suggests far

more than it tells, and makes us anxious to complete
the picture

:

" Oct. 20, 1762.—Bodo to Norfolk ; It mined Tlolentlj- ; wo wot ; tho

people mot us; n great stipitor and congratulations."

The second church edifice was dedicated Aug. 30,

1814. It was repaired and improved in 1846, and in

1880. The first boll lasted until 1829, and the second
until 1874. The present one was placed in the steeple

Dec. 22, 1874. The quarter bell was* hung June 22,

187.'), and e.xcluingod for the present one Aug. 1, 1876.

The following is a list of the deacons:

Michael Humphrey, chosen Nov. 19, 1761 ; died in

office, January, 1778.

Abraham Camp, chosen Feb. 6, 1765.

Joseph Mills, chosen Feb. 27, 1772, "in room of
81

Deacon Camp, removed from town." He died in

oflice, July 25, 1792.

Abraham Hall was made a third deacon March 13,

1777. He resigned in January, 1797, being about to

leave town.

Samuel Mills, chosen the latter part of 1792, or

early in 1793, accepted in February, 1793 ; died June

22, 1804.

Jared Butler, chosen the same day with Samuel

Mills, accepted at once ; died in office, June 4, 1822.

David Frisbie, chosen Sept. 10, 1790 ; removed to

Winsted in the latter part of his life, where he died

in 1837, aged eighty-seven.

Edward Gaylord, chosen Jan. 16. 1805 ; resigned

formally Jan. 9, 1817, on account of advanced age,

having stated this intention the November previous.

Noah Minor, chosen Nov. 24, 1816, accepted April

80, 1817 ; resigned Nov. 23, 1843, on account of age

and infirmities.

Sylvanus Norton, Jr., chosen Nov. 30, 1821 ; re-

moved to Ohio, without resigning, in 1824.

Amos Pettibone, chosen Oct. 19, 1824, accepted

April 27, 1825 ; resigned Nov. 17. 184,5.

Samuel Cone, chosen May 2, 1826 ; resigned on ac-

count of bodily infirmities, March 13, 1835.

Darius Phelps, chosen March 20, 1835 ; removed
from town in 1852.

Dudley Norton, probably chosen in Deacon Minor's

place in 1843, and removed from town about 1845.

Warren Cone, chosen Nov. 17, 1845; died in office.

May, 1852.

Jonathan Kilbourn, chosen Jan. 9, 184<! ; removed
from town, without resigning, in A|)ril, 1864.

Dudley Norton, re-elected June 18, 1852, having re-

turned to town ; accepted the position July 2d ; died

in office, 18.57.

Asahel (i. Phelps, chosen .Tune 18, 1852, accepted in

the autumn following; resignefl Nov. 5, 1875, on ac-

count of ill health.

Amos Pettibone, re-elected Feb. 4, 1859, accepted

February 11th ; resigned .Vug. 12, 1864, on account of

age and impaired health.

James M. Cowles, chosen July 1, 1864; died in

office, Dec. 11, 1871.

James Humphrey, chosen Sept. 2, 1864.

•Toseph N. Cowles, chosen Nov. 5, 1875, accepted

Jan. 7, 1876.

Frederic E. Porter, chosen Nov. 6, 1876, accepted

March, 1876.

From the death of Deacon James M. Cowles,

Abijah Hall, by invitation of the church, acted iis

deacon till choice wa.i made, November, 1875. He
had formerly been a deacon of the church in Sandis-

field, Mass.
TIIK SOCIETTS TOND.

The " Norfolk Ecclesiastical Fund" was established

in 1817. Previous to that time the " Parsonage

Fund," so called, existed. This wa.M derived from one

of the original fifty-three proprietary town righto re-
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served for the support of the gospel. One right was

also reserved for the support of schools, and one was

set aside to be given to the first settled minister.

Eev. Mr. Robbins received this right. The laud

located under it he exchanged for the land he occu-

pied and upon which his house was built. The

amount of the parsonage fund in 1817 was $869.67.

This then became a part of the ecclesiastical fund.

The fund derived from the right reserved for schools

has been kept distinct, and is now in amount $1442.50.

In 1816 there was added to the ecclesiastical fund

the sum of $145.11, which was received from the State,

under an act of the Legislature passed at the October

session, 1816, entitled "An act for the support of

literature and religion." The following persons

made early subscriptions to the fund : Joseph Bat-

tell, Rev. Ralph Emerson, Moses Cowles, Mrs. Jeru-

sha Spaulding (legacy).

In the year 1834, Mr. Ephraim Coy died, and in

his will bequeathed a large residuary legacy to the

ecclesiastical society, to become a part of the fund.

On the 6th of June, 1844, when by the conditions of

the legacy the income from it became availatile,

it amounted to $4821. The accumulating fund at

the same time had reached the amount of $4885.37.

These amounts combined, $9706.37, from that time

constituted the princiiJal of the ecclesiastical fund.

As by the constitution of the fund the principal must

be invested in stock of incorporated banks or stock in

the funds of the United States, the value varies some-

what with the market value of the securities in which

it is held. The present value is over $10,000. A loss

to the fund of $1000, by the failure of the Eagle Bank

of New Haven, was made up to the fund by a sub-

scription of the same amount by Mr. Battell.

METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHtJECH.

This church was organized in 1840 with the fol-

lowing members : Franklin Bramble, Mrs. Amanda
Bramble, Russel Pendleton, Alwina Pendleton, Anson

Gaylord, Almeda Gaylord, Sheldon Tibbals, Jenuette

Tibbals, Aaron Tibbals, and doubtless others. The

pastors have been Revs. A. Bushnell, Daniel Coe,

Thomas Lodge, Mr. Gunn, J. Horton, L. Warner,

G. C. Bancroft, T. Hollister, A. Vail, M. Jerolds,

J. Robinson, I. Lent, A. Davies, W. E. Hill, J. Croft,

D. Lyman, J. Elliott, E. B. Pierce, B. Wilson, G. C.

Esray, W. E. Clark, P. Gemond, T. Elliott, S. R.

Free, C. Sagar, J. Millett, and S. S. Vail.

TEMPERANCE SOCIETY.

In 1829 a branch of the Litchfield County Temper-

ance Society was organized, auxiliary to the State

Society, of which all the members agreed as follows

:

" We wiU abstain from the use uf distiUed spirits, except as a medicine

in case of bodily liurt or sicldiess, and we will not allow the use of thera

in our families, nor provide them for tlie entertainment of our friends,

or for persons in our employment, and in all suitable ways we will dis-

countenance the use of them in the community."

This agreement was taken by a large number, the

list being headed by the pastor, deacons, and other

prominent men in the town. In 1831 the number of

names was three hundred and forty,—one hundred

and forty- four men, one hundred and thirty-six

women, and sixty in the juvenile department.

CIVIL HISTORY.

The town was incorporated in 1758, and December
12th of the same year the first town-meeting was held.

The following is a list of representatives from 1777 to

present time

:

1777.—Giles Pettibone, William Walter.

1778.—Giles Pettibone, Hosea Wilcox.

1779.—Dudley Humphrey, Michael Mills.

1780.—Giles Pettibone, Joseph Mills, Titus Ives, Asahel Case.

1781.—Hosea Wilcox, Isaac Hoyt.

1782.—Michael Mills, Nathaniel Stevens, Elijah Grant.

1783.—Elijah Grant. Michael Mills, Giles Pettibone, Ephraim Guiteau.

1784.—Giles Pettibone, Dudley Humphrey.

1785.—Michael Mills, Dudley Humphrey.

1786.—Michael Mills, Asahel Humphrey.

1787.—Titus Ives, Hosea Humphrey, Asahel Humphrey.

1788.—Asahel Humphrey, Michael Mills, Dudley Humphrey, Giles Pet-

tibone.

1789.—Dudley Humphrey, Giles Pettibone.

1790-91.—Dudley Humphrey, Giles Pettibone, Michael Mills.

1792.—Dudley Humphrey, Giles Pettibone, Asahel Humphrey.

1793.—Giles Pettibone, Asahel Humphrey.

1794.—Asiihol Humphrey, Giles Pettibone.

1795.—Giles Pettibone, Nathaniel Stevens.

1796.^Asahel Humphrey, Nathaniel Stevens.

1797.—Asahel Humphrey, Giles Pettibone, Nathaniel Stevens.

1798.—Giles Pettibone, Nathaniel Stevens, Eleazar Holt.

1799.—Giles Pettibone, Eleazar Holt, Nathaniel Stevens.

1800.—Giles Pettibone, Eleazar Holt, Nathaniel Stevens, Augustus Pet-

tibone.

1801.—Giles Pettibone, Nathaniel Stevens, Augustus Pettibone.

1802-3.—Nathaniel Stevens, Augustus Pettibone.

1804.—Augustus Pettibone, Eleazar Holt.

1805.—Augustus Pettibone, Nathaniel Stevens, Jr., Nathaniel Stevens.

]806.—Jeremiah W. Phelps, Nathaniel Stevens, Jr., Nathaniel Stevens.

1807.—Augustus Pettibone, John Dickinson.

1808.—Nathaniel Stevens, Benjamin Welch, Augustus Pettibone.

1809-10.—Nathaniel Stevens, John Dickinson.

1811.—Benjamin Welch, Joseph Battell, Elizur Monger.

1812.—Augustus Pettibone, Nathaniel Stevens, Eleazar Holt.

1813-14.—Eleazar Holt, Augustus Pettibone.

1815.—Eleazar Holt, Nathaniel Stevens,

1816.—Nathaniel Stevens, Elizur Munger.

1817.—Nathaniel Stevens, Elizur Munger, Augustus Pettibone.

1818-19.—Nathaniel Stevens, Augustus Pettibone.

1820.—Augustus Pettibone, Joseph Battell.

1821.—Lawrence Mills, Elizur Munger.

1822-23.—Augustus Pettibone, Benjamin Welch.

1824-25.—.\ugustus Pettibone, Joseph Battell.

1826.—Joseph Battell, Amos Pettibone.

1827.—Amos Pettibone, Joseph Rigga.

1828.—Amos Pettibone, Joseph Battell.

1829.—Ainos Pettibone, Thomas Curtis.

1830.—Michael F. Mills, Amos Pettibone.

1831.—Michael F. Mills, Edmund Brown.

1832.—Jedediah Phelps, Harvey Grant.

1833.—Michael F. Mills, Harvey Grant.

1834.—Thomas Curtis, Warren Cone.

1835.—Thomas Curtis, Elizur Dowd.

1836.-Benjamin Welch, Jr., Darius Phelps.

1837.—Asahel E. Case, Levi Shepard.

1838.—Warren Cone, Thomas Curtis.

1839.—Hiram Mills, Elizur Dowd.

1840.—James Shepard, Hiram Gaylord.

1841.—Eden Kiggs, David L. Dowd.

1842.—Thomas Curtis, Dudley Norton.

1843.—No appointment.

1844.—William Lawrence, James M. Cowles.
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1845.—E. G. Lawrence, Silas Burr.

1846.—Harlow Roys, Horace B. Knapp.

1847.—Oliver B. Butler, J. K. Shepard.

184S.—Solomon Curtis, W. W. Welch.

1849.—Anson Gaylord, John Humphrey.
1850.—W. W. Welch, Samuel D. Northway.
1851.—Hiram Gaylord, James M. Cowles.

1852.—Bobbins Battell, Austin 11. Baldwin. '

1853.—John Humphrey, William J. Norton.

1854.-0. J. Wolcott, William K. Peck.

1855.—Jeremiah Johnson, Levi P. Gaylord.

1866.—E. T. Butler, F. A. Spaulding.

1857.—J. K. Shepard, Plumb Brown.
1858.—RobbiDS Battell, James Humphrey.
1859.—Henry J. Holt, Asahel G. Phelps.

^^

I860.—Bobbins Battell, Thomas S. Curtis.

1861.-J. H. Welch, Henry Pendleton.

1862.—John P. Hawley, Ralph Brown.
1868.—Aaron Keyes, John A. Shepard.

1864.—W. K. Peck, Jr., Robert A. Geer.

1865.—Erastus Burr, Samuel S. Vaill.

1866.—Egbert T. Butler, .John Dewell.

1867.—Abel Camp, Ralph I. Crissey.

1868.—R. P. Pendleton, D. P. Mills.

1869.—W. W. Welch, William E. Phelps.

1870.—William K. Peck, Joseph N. Cowles.

1871.—Harvey Johnson, J. K. Shepard,

1872.—L. L. Whiting, Hiram H. Riggs.

1873.—Oliver L. Hotchkiss, Edward Y, Morehouse.
1874.—Philip E. Curtis, Charles M. Ryau.

1875;—Miles Riggs, Charles M. Ryan.

1876.—Levi P. Phelps, Henry J. Holt.

1877.—Austin Wooster, Henry G. Smith.

1878.—Moses F. Grant, Horace A. Stannard.

1879.—George R. Bigelow, Abel H. Pendleton.

1880.—Bobbins Battell, Edward G. Gaylord.

1881.—William W. Welch, George Wooater.

THE NORFOLK SAVINGS BANK
was incorporated in 1860. Its present officers are

as follows: Robbing Battell, President; Joseph N.
Cowles, Treasurer; William W. Welch, Vice-Presi-

dent
; A. A. Spaulding, J. K. Shepard, Plumb Brown,

H. H. Riggs, F. E. Porter, H. J. Holt, Abel Camp, L.

Dunning, and Eraatus Burr, Trustees. Total dei)osit»,

$115,653.30; surjilus account, $3369.66; interest ac-

count, .$627.86.

PHYSICIANS WHO PRACTICED IN NORFOLK.

John Miner, Kpliraim Guitcau, Philo Guiteau,

Hosea Huniphroy, Daniel Lyman, Benjamin Welch,
Benjamin Welch, Jr., Benjamin Calhoun, William
W. Welch, John F. T. Cockey, William C. Welch,
and H. P. Stevens.

SOLDIERS' MONUMENT.

On the 28th of September, 1868, a monument com-
memorative of the patriot dead who fell in the late

war of the Rebellion from this town was erected in the

I)ublic park. It bears the following inscription :

"To the memory of the Holtllers from this town who died for tholr

country in the war of the Kobotlion."

The following names are inscribed on the monu-
ment:

" George Andrews, died June 22, 1864; Albert H. Bailey, died April 7,

1862; George Barden, died Juno 15, 1863; Benjamin J. Bench, Sept
17, 1862 ; C'hriKtian Bitjonlson, Juno, 1864 ; Leaiider Campbell, June
3,1864; Geo. W. Cobb, Oct. 2:i, 1862; Michael Donahue, Doc, U, 1804;
Wlllard Evari». Jan. 12, 1802; Edward J. Humphrey, dioil April 22,

1862;£dwunl Hine, died July 18, 18U4; Chu. E. Keyee, died Dec. 83,

1862 ;
Elizur Maltbie, July 2, 1864 ; Samuel J. Mills, died Sept. 5, 1861

;

Russell A. Murphy, died 1864 ; Theodore Pariett, died Sept. 1^, 1862;

John W. Peck, died Feb. 9, 1862; Ensign Prince, Adjt. Samuel C.

Barnum, died Jan. 15, 1804; Lieut. Hiram D. Gaylord, died Nov. 18,

1863; Corp. Theodore S. Bates, died Sept. 17, 1862; Corp. Damon S.

Pendleton, died March 24 ; Corp. George H. Pendleton, died Sept. 3,

1863."

MILITARY RECORD.®
Alexander McDonald, Co. 1, 1st Cav. ; enl. Aug. 6, 1863; disch. June 12,

1865.

S. Gasus, Ist Cav.; enl. Nov. 17, 1864.

J. Randall, 1st Cav. ; enl. Nov. IS, 1864.

Charles Smith, enl. Nov. 16, 1864.

William Smith, enl. Nov. 18, 1864.

Charles Williams, enl. Nov. 18, 1864.

J. T. Mason, 1st Art.; enl. May 23, 1861 ; disch. May 22, 1864.

Lewis W. Curtiss, 1st Art. ; enl. May 23, 1861 ; disch. May 22, 1864.

L. R. Curtiss, 1st Art.; enl. May 23, 1861; disch. May 22, 1864.

F. Barber-, 1st Art.; enl. Dec. 2, 1864; disch. Sept. 25, ISUo.

E. E. Bettis, 1st Art. ; enl. May 22, 1861; must, out Sept. 24, 1865.

Thomas Smedley, 1st Art. ; enl. Feb. 7, 1862 ; must, out Sept. 25, 1865.

J. D. Barden, 6th Regt. ; enl. July 22, 18C1 ; must, out July 19, 1S65.

George M. Lewis, 5th Regt. ; enl. July 22, 1861 ; disch. July 22, 1864.

George Martin, 5th Regt.; enl. July 22, 1801 ; disch. July 19, 1865.

John McDonald, 5th Regt. ; enl. July 22, 1801 ; disch. July 21, 1864.

E. M. Downer, 6th Regt. ; enl. Sept. 4, 1861 ; disch. Sept. 12, 1864.

W. J. Downer, 6th Regt. ; enl. Sept. 4, 1861 ; disch. March 9, 1862.

H. Russell, 7th Regt. ; enl. Sept. 7, 1861 ; disch. Sept. 12, 1864.

E. B. Sage, 7th Regt.; enl. Sept. 7, 1801 ; killed May 14, 1864.

Francis Steep, 7th Regt.; enl. Sept. 7, 1801; captured June 17, 1864.

Char lea N. Decker, Co. E, 2d Regt. ; enl. May 7, 1861 ; disch. Aug. 7, 1861.

Snrrruel C. Barnum, Co. E, 2d Regt. ; enl. May 7, 1861 ; disch. Aug. 7, 1861.

,E. C. Morehouse, Co. A, 1st Cav. ; enl. Aug. 12, 1861.

K. A. Murphy, Cu. A, Ist Cav.; enl. Aug. 12, 18G1.

D. S. Peirdleton, Co. B, 2d N. Y. Cav.; enl. Aug. 12, 1861; died March 25,

1804.

George J. Karmann, Co. E, 2d Regt. ; enl. May 7, 1861 ; disch. Aug. 7, 1861

.

Calvin N. Sage, Co. E, 2d Regt.; enl. May 7, 1801 ; disch. Aug, 7, 1861.

Johir M. Walker, Co. E. 2il Regt. ; enl. >lay 7, IK6I ; disch. Aug. 7, 1861.

The lollowlirg enlisted in Co. B, 2d Regt., May 7, 1801, and were dliH

chargeil Aug. 7, 18U1 : Eilwin Adalrrs, I'liilo Blake, William J. Dowues,
Cliurlee A. I.ewi8, Timothy Ryan.

Willis II. Terrill, Co. A,:id Regt.; enl. May 11, 1861 ; dlech. Aug. 12, 1861.

William Allen, 91h Kegt. ; enl. May 7, 1864.

Samirel Biyarr, 9th Regt.; enl. May 7, 1864.

H. Clemorrs, 9tlr Regt. ; enl. Oct. 1, 1801 ; diech. Jan. 8, 1863.

Willianr Mason, 9lli Regt.; enl. Oct. I, 1801 ; disch. Aug. 3, 1865.

F. W. Lewis, 9lh Regt. ; oul. May 20, 18(H; disch. Aug. .1, 1865.

John IloMUesy, 9lh Regt.; enl. Nov. 10, IBM; disch. Nov. 13, IS«5.

Thomas Kerrigan, 9th Kegt. ; enl. Nov. 17, 1894; diach. July 22, I860.

Henry Murphy, 9th Regl.; enl. Nov. 16, 18(14.

0. Labliuns, llth Regt.; enl. May 10, 1864; died of wonnds July 4, 1864.

A. Liinhol, llth Begt.;onl. May 19, 1804 ; died of wounds Aug. 21, 1864.

Jean Paul, Ulh Regt.; enl. May 18, 1804; killed July 2U, 1804.

H. Clemens, Ulh llegt. ; enl. Dec. 2, 1803; disch. Dec. 21, 18flS.

IraClenreiiB, llllr Regl.; enl. Feb. 6. 1804; dir>ch. Dec. 21, 1885.

K. I'ock, Ulh Regt.; enl. Dec. '4 1803; disch. Dec. 21, 1865.

I'OMPANY E, KLKVENTII RKOIMKNT.
John II. Dewell, cnplalii, Norfolk; com. Nov. 27, 1801 ; ret. June 16, 1862.

Sannrel C. Barirum, second lleuteuaiil, Norfolk ; com. Not. 27, 1801
;
pro.

ti> Unit lieutenant: died June 1,5, 1804, of wounds.
Egbert J. Uuller, sergeant, Norfolk; enl. Oct. 25, 1861; pro. to second

lleuteUHirt; disch. Jan. 5, 1863.

Stephen Barden, corporal. Norfolk; enl. Oct. 2.'., 1861 ; r»-enl. as veteran;

must, out Doc. 21, 186.'., at City Point, Va.

William Humphrey, corp<iral, Norfu.lk ; enl. Oct 25, 1861 ; diicb. Oct. 24,

1804, term expired.

Orl.i II. Woh .itl, cori«.ial, Norfolk ; enl. OcL 25, 1861 ; trans, to loTalld

Corps March 16, ISB4.

Tho.K|ore S. Italeo, corporal, Norfolk ; enl. Oct. 25, 1861 ; killed Sept. 17,

1802, at Shar|<aburg, Md.

Philo Blake, c»r|>ural, Norfolk ; eol. Not. 14, 1861 ; dlicharged ; enl. C. 8.

army Oct. 24, 1802.

Francis J. Burgen, Norfolk
; enl. OcL 25, 1861 ; re.«nl. •• retoran; mutt.

oul Dec. 21, 180.5, at City Point, Va.

• For lilt of Ike 19tli Boglment, leo ChapUr T.
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;
enl. Nov. 23, 1801 ; died April T, 1862, at

Oct. 26, 18G1 ; discli. for disability Sept. 18,

enl. Oct. 2S, 1861 ; killed Sept. lY, 1862, at

enl. Oct. 25, 18G1 ; Killed June 3, 1864, at

discli. for disability July 18,

,
1801 ; discharged ; enl. U. S.

Bailey, Albert H., Norfolk
;

Newbern, N. C.

Barden, Seth, Norfolk ; enl.

1862.

Beach, Benjamin J., Norfolk

Sharpsburg, Md.

Campbell, Leander, Norfolk

Cold Harbor, Va.

Camp, Hiram, Norfolk ; enl. Oct. 25, 1801

1862.

Carman, Edward, Norfolk; enl. Nov. 20,

army Oct. 23, 1862.

Celestian, Devantry, Norfolk; enl. Nov. 27, 1861; re-enl. as veteran;

must, out Dec. 21, 1865, at City Point, Va.

Charlton, Havior, Norfolk; enl. Oct. 26, 1861; discharged; enl. U. S.

army Oct. 23, 1802.

Clarke, Jimies, Norfolk; enl. Nov. 20, 1801; disch. for disability Feb. 6,

1803.

Daniels, George, Norfolk; enl. Oct. 25, 1861; re-enl. as veteran Dec. 13,

1863; must, out Dec. 21, 1806.

Demare, Peter, Norfolk ; enl. Oct. 25, 1861 ; disch, for disability June 28,

1862.

Evans, Willard, Norfolk ; enl. Oct. 26, 1861 ; died Jan. 12, 1862, at Annap-

olis, Md.

Filean, Joachim, Norfolk ; enl. Oct. 25, 1861 ; disch. for disability Oct. 1,

1862.
.

Flaherty, Michael, Norfolk ; enl. Oct. 26, 1861 ; disch. Oct. 27, 1864, term

expired.

Gallagher, Michael, Norfolk; enl. Nov. 14, 1861; re-enl. as veteran; must.

out Dec. 21, 1S63, at City Point, Va.

Hall, Moses J., Norfolk ; enl Oct. 25, 1801 ; re-enl. as veteran Dec. 13, 1863.

Humphrey, Edward J., Norfolk ; enl. Oct. 26, 1861; died April 22, 1862,

at Newbern, N. C.

Kuapp, Isaac, Norfolk; enl. Nov. 27, 1861; disch. for disability Feb. 28,

1863, at Alexandria. Va.

Laber, John, Norfolk ; enl. Nov. 14, 1861 ; wounded; re-enl. as veteran;

must, out Sept. 10, 1865.

Miller, Job 11 B., Norfolk ; eiil. Nov, 14,1801 ; re-enl. as veteran ; wounded;

pro. to second lieutenant; must, out Dec. 21, 1865.

O'Brien, John, Norfolk ; enl. Nov. 23, 1861 ; disch. for disability April 29,

1864.

Theodore Parrett, Norfolk, enl. Nov. 17, 1861; killed Sept. 17, 1862, at

Sharpsburg, Md.

Roberts, Halsey, Norfolk ; enl. Oct. 25, 1861 ; died Feb. 6, 1802, at Annap-

olis, Md.

Root, Charles, Norfolk; enl. Oct. 26, 1861; discharged; enl. U. S. army
Oct. 23, 186J.

Slater, James J., Norfolk ; enl. Oct. 25, 1S61 ; re-enl. as veteran ; trans, to

U. S. navy April 20, 1864.

Spaulding, Charles S., Norfolk; enl. Oct. 25, 1801; re-enl. as veteran;

wounded and captured ; disch. June, 1805.

Spcllman, Charles, Norfolk ; enl. Oct. 26, 1861 ; died May 26, 1862, at

Newbern, N. C.

Spellman, George W., Norfolk; enl. Oct. 25, 1861 ; re-enl. as veteran Jan.

5, 1864; must, out Dec. 21, 1865.

Suglinie, John, Norfolk ; enl. Nov. 23, 1861 ; died April 20, 1862, at New-
bern, N. C.

Tyrrell, Willis H., Norfolk; enl. Oct. 26,1801; wounded; died Aug. 26,

1863, at Portsmouth, Va.

Watrous, Lucius, Norfolk ; enl, Oct. 25, 1861 ; disch. for disability Jan-

uary, 1862, at Annapolis, Md.

George Barden, 28th Rcgt. ; enl. Oct. 23, 1802; died June 16, 1863.

M. Green, 2Stli Regt. ; enl. Sept. 19, 1802 ; disch. Aug. 28, 1803.

A. Freeman, 2'Jtli Regt.; enl. Dec. 8, 1803; disch. Oct. 28, 1805.

H. Freeman, 2yth Regt. ; enl. Nov. IS, 1803 ; disch. Oct. 28, 1805.

Schuyler B. Pendleton, died Sept. 3, 1863.

Sherman A. Apley, died June 1, 1864.

Joseph Robinson, died Sept. 17, 1864.

Halsey Roberts, died Feb. 0, 1862.

Timothy Ryan, died Aug. 2, 1862.

Edmund B. Sage, died May 14, 1864.

John Sughrue, died April 20, 1S62.

aiarles Spellman, died May 25, 1862.

Francis Steck, died in 1866.

Willis H. Tyrrell, died Aug. 25, 1863.

Auguste Dider, Benton £. Knapp.

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES.

REV. JOSEPH ELDRIDGE.

In presenting a sketch of one whose activity in life

was SO remarkable, and whose career of usefulness

extended over so long a period, a detailed narrative

would be impracticable in a work of this character ; but

it is proposed to give the salient points in the life of

one who was so long identified with the moral and
religious interests of the territory treated in this work,

the late Eev. Joseph Eldridge.

He was born in Yarmouth, Mass., July 8, 1804.

He was prepared for college at Phillips Academy, in

Andover, and in September, 1825, entered Yale, and
graduated, with the second honors, in the class of 1829.

He immediately entered upon his professional studies

in the Theological Seminary of Yale College, and
Ajiril 2.5, 18.32, was ordained as a Christian minister,

and installed as pastor of the church in Norfolk, in

which capacity he ofticiated until Nov. 1, 1874, when
impaired health demanded his resignation.

Dr. Eldridge was a man of marked individuality

and strong intellect. He looked every subject and
question squarely in the face; his mind was eminently

comprehensive, and his judgments were sagacious

and penetrating. Next to theology, history and poli-

tics interested him most. Whatever was curious in

human nature, and touched upon the singular and

humorous, awakened his responsive sympathy. As a

preacher he was characterized by simplicity, good

sense, and manly strength. He was powerful in ar-

gument, and says Dr. Noah Porter, " It might be

said very truly of him that in natural gifts and tastes

he was better adapted to the bar or the forum than to

the pulpit and the prayer-meeting." But these tastes

by no means disqualified him for the profession which

he had embraced, but rather increased his power and

influence. He was a man of strong and ardent feel-

ings, eminently social,' kind, generous, and sympa-

thizing, tender-hearted towards the suffering, and in

all respects a truly generous man.

Dr. Eldridge also manifested a decided interest in

educational matters, and there are not a few young
men now in the ministry and other professions whom
he has a.ssisted, by his counsel and sympathy and con-

tributions, to begin and persevere in a course of study.

His interest in education, and his loyal affection for

his Alma Mater, made him a zealous and most useful

friend to Yale College, of whose corporation he was

for more than twenty-seven years an honored mem-
ber.

What Dr. Eldridge was to his parish they do not

need to be told. " The forty years and more," says

Dr. Porter, in a discourse on his life and character,

"which he has given to this parish have not been

without abundant blessings. The simplicity of his

aims, the constancy of his labors, the wisdom of his

counsels, the fidelity and tenderness of his exhorta-
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tions, and the integrity and spirituality of his life,

have formed the characters and strengthened the faith,

have cheered the lives and hlessed the deaths and

saved the souls of many who will forever rejoice in

the pastor who led them to Christ, and guided their

feet in the ways of Christian living. The influences

of this long and successful pastorate will remain for

more than another generation, as the name of this

beloved and honored servant of Christ shall be re-

peated with love and thankfulness."

At the time of his resignation he was the oldest of

the pastors in active service in the State of Connecti-

cut. He died March 31, 1875.

The Religious Herald, in speaking of Dr. Eldridge,

says, " A wise counselor, a genial companion, a dili-

gent student, a cogent reasoner, always an instructive,

and often a thoroughly eloquent, preacher, he proba-

bly came nearer to the true ideal of a gospel minister

than some who are more widely known and more

loudly proclaimed."

The New York Tribune says, "The Rev. Joseph

Eldridge, D.D., of Norfolk, was one of the ablest and

most prominent of the New England clergy," and the

following, from the New York Independent, is a just

tribute to this worthy man, " A man of fine culture,

keen wit, and sound sense, his influence in the whole

region has been commanding, and his home has been

the centre of all beautiful and gracious ministries

for many a year."

ing and stock-raising. He has many times held the

position of selectman and other town offices ; was a di-

rector in the old Norfolk Bank, was also appointed as

AUSTIN A. SPAULDING.

Austin A., youngest son of Austin Spaulding, was

born at New Marlboro', Mass., Feb. 18, 1819. His

father died Nov. 4, 1818. At the age of eleven

years young Austin was apprenticed to an uncle who
was a farmer living in Norfolk. He remained with

the widow of this uncle, who died in 1830, until

1834. When he was seventeen years old he went but

a short distamo f'nnii his uncle's home to live with his

oldest brother. AVhon of age he began the world for

himself. Mr. Spaulding married Louisa J., daugliter

of Truman Hart, of Norfolk. He purchased a farm

in the soiitiiern portion of Norfolk, where he now re-

sides. Their children were Sarah E., Adelaide E.,

William A., and Frederick S. Sarali E. married

James L. Bragg, of Winchester, Conn.; they have

one daughter, Louisa. Mr. Spaulding represented

his town in the Legislature in 1852. In 1854 he con-

nected himself with a company manufacturing ma-

chinery. In 1858 the comi)any reorganized, and began

tiie manufacture of hoes, doing an extensive business

in the Southern States until the beginning of the late

war, when they became [)rostrated. The comimny
then began making Springfield muskets for the gov-

ernment ; in this they were successful. At the end of

one year of the latter business, Mr. Spaulding with-

drew from the firm and turned his attention to farin-

ACJSTIN A. SPAULDING.

one of the receivers of the same. He is at the present

time a trustee in the Norfolk Savings Bank. Has

held numerous offices in the church. A view of his

residence may be seen elsewliere.

EGBERT T. BUTLER.

Egbert T. Butler, son of Calvin Butler,* was born in

Plymouth, Conn., Dec. 21, 1813. He was educated at

the common sdiools in his native town, and in about

the year 1841 removed to Norfolk, where he has since

resided. Mr. Butler has ever been a leading citizen

of the town, and all measures tentling to advance its

interestt have found in him an earnest advocate. He
has at various times represented Norfolk in the Legis-

lature, and while a representative, in 18.")G, secured

the charter for the Norfolk Bank, of which he was

tlie first president, and Asa Pettibone cashier.

As mentioned above, Mr. Butler ha-s ever been alive

to the development of this section of the State, but the

crowning act of his life may be written in three words,

" Connecticut Western Railroad." He has justly been

styled the " father" of this road. He wits the first to

agitate the subject, and it was chiefly through his in-

domitable will that the building of the road was com-

menced and carried to successful completion. After

succeeding in getting the survey, in the spring of ISfiti,

he was sent to the Legislature to secure the charter,

and during that session was made chairman of rail-

* Sm hliu»7 of " B«Doh (ltd Bar," Chap. 11.
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road committees on the part of the House. In referring

to this road and the active part Mr. Butler had talcen

in its inception and completion, the Hartford Times,

under date of Dec. 14, 1871, says,

—

"In February, 1800, Mr. E. T. Butler, of Norfolk, wliile Bitting with liis

wife aiul funiily one evening:, started up and said lie must write tliatarti-

'cle about the railroad through the northern part of the State, and, suit-

ing the action to the word, he wrote a communication to the Winsted

HeriLhl, which waked up an interest in the project, which many thought

ridiculous. Meetings were subsequently held in Norfolk and Winsted,

and Mr. Butler set about the work of raising a sum for a survey of the

proposed road from Collinsville to Canaan. 'The raising of this money,'

he says, ' was the hardest work of all.' Men of wealth refused to give

him a dollar, and one who said he had no money to throw away is now

a large owner of the stock of the road. Mr. Butler soon after presented

bis plans to some of the rich men of Hartford, but met with little en-

couragement from them. He suggested that it would be for their in-

terest to start a survey and secure a charter from this city, but this waa

objected to. In .Tune, 1866, the road was surveyed from Collinsville to

the State line in East Sheffield, the cost of the survey being paid by

private subscription secured on the litie of survey, and the same year a

charter was granted for the ' Connecticut Western Railroad,' a name

given it by BIr. Butler.

" Ground for the road was broken in Winsted on the 20th of October,

1869, by Mr. E. T. Butler, of Norfolk, and on Thursday last, Dec. 7, 1871,

the same gentleman drove the last spike in Canton."

The Hartford Courant of Dec. 14, 1871, says,

—

" The credit of first suggesting plans for the road belongs to Mr. E. T.

Butler, of Norfolk, now a director of the road, and always one of its most

earnest friends. Early in 1860, Mr. Butler wrote an article for the Winsted

ffenild, unfolding his plan. Soon after meetings were held in Norfidk

and Winsted to discuss the jiroject, and about the same time Mr. Butler

met a few Hartford citizens at the oflice of Howe & Mathers, and laid

the subject before them ; said he shonld take steps to secure a survey

from Collinsville to Canaan, and apply for a charter, and suggested that

it might be well to ask for a charter from Hartford. But no encourage-

ment was proffered from this quarter.

'* Work on the road was commenced at Winsted Oct. 20, 1869, and the

last rail was laid on Thursday of last week, December 7th, at Canton,

Mr. E. T, Butler throwing out the first spadeful of earth and driving the

last spike."

In this connection the Winsted Herald of Dec. 15,

1871, says,—

"The last spike was driven on Thursday last, at Canton, by E. T. But-

ler, he who shoveled the first shovelful of earth, at Winsted, on the 20th

of October, 1869, than whom no man was more worthy so to shovel and

so to drive."

The citizens of Norfolk appreciated the services of

Mr. Butler, and at a railroad celebration held here

Sept. 12, 1871, he was presented with a superb gold

watch and chain. On the outside of the watch-case

was engraved the monogram " E. T. B." and a train

of cars, while the inside of the case bore the follow-

ing inscription

:

" Presented to E. T. Butler, Esq., by the citizens of Norfolk, in recog-

nition of his services in the originatiug and completion of the C. W.

Railroad."

May 1, 1839, Mr. Butler united in marriage with

Jennett Porter, of Norfolk, who died Dec. 23, 1862,

leaving a son and daughter,—Egbert J., who resides

in Buffiilo, N. Y., and Harriet R., who died Nov. 17,

1877. Jan 17, 1864, Mr. Butler married Celia E.

Hall, of Sandislield, Mass., and their children are

Jennett P. and Charlotte.

The residence of Mr. E. T. Butler is considered one

of the finest farm residences in Litchfield County. It

stands near the line of Berkshire Co., Mass., at an

elevation of fourteen hundred feet above the sea, com-

manding a fine view of the village of Norfolk and the

many picturesque hills and valleys in the vicinity.

It was erected about the year 1790 by two brothers

named Jedediah and Jeremiah Phelps, who occupied

it with their families as long as they lived. Capt.

John Phelps, the father of the two brothers above

named, settled on the farm in 1762, and it has always

been held in the family since that date, Mr. Butler

now owning it, being the grandson of Jedediah

Phelps.

During the life of Jedediah and Jeremiah Phelps

they worked the farm in common, with no division of

farm or crops. The room now used for dining-room

was formerly the kitchen, and in it the two families

did their ordinary work by the same fire. On one

side of the kitchen was a large fireplace, two large

brick ovens, and two pantries. In the fireplace were

three andirons, and a crane for hanging pots and ket-

tles was hinged on each side of the fireplace. The

family of Jedediah Phelps cooked their meals on the

south side of the middle andiron, and set their table

in the south end of the kitchen ; and the family of Jere-

miah Phelps set their table in the north end of the

kitchen, and cooked their meals on the north side of

the middle andiron ; and in this kitchen, as was the

custom in those days, the two families reared their

children, three daughters and four sons. The main

house, standing in front, being forty by thirty-six feet,

is constructed with a large hall three yards wide run-

ning through the centre of the house on both first and

second floors, and on each side of the hall above and

below are two rooms five yards square ; and open fire-

places are now in use in the four lower rooms and the

two front chambers. A never-failing spring of pure,

soft water supplies the premises. For several years

past Mr. Butler, in addition to his farming, has made

his home a pleasant, resort for many city families

during the warm summer months.

CHAPTEK XLVIL
NORTH CANAAN.*

Geographical—Topographical—Incorporation of the Town—The Revo-

lution—Incidents—The First Town-Meeting—Officers Elected—Select-

men from 1859 to 1882—Clerks from 1859 to 18S2—Probate Judges

from 1847 to Present Time—Representatives from 1869 to 1882—Eccle-

siastical History—Congregational Church—Christ Church—Methodist

Episcopal Church—Connecticut Western News—Villages—Military
Record.

This town lies in the northwestern part of the

county, and is bounded as follows: on the north by

Berkshire Co., Mass., on the east by Norfolk, on the

* The early history of this town, including the record history, has been

given in detail in the history of Canaan, of which North Canaan formed

a p.art until 1858. Names of the early settlers, proprietors' meetings,

early rules and regulations, etc., will be found in the history of the

mother-town.
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south by Canaan, and on the west by the Housatonic

Kiver, which separates it from Salisbury. The surface

of the town is hilly.

THE REVOLUTION.

Canaan had many noble representatives in the war

of the Eevolution. " Among these was Nathaniel

Stevens, who enlisted in 1775, and served as com-

missary-general until the dissolution of the commis-

sary department in 1782, and Capt. John Watson, a

native of Canaan, who raised a company in Norfolk,

and did good service in the war.

" Capt. Gershom Hewitt served under Col. Ethan

Allen when he surprised and captured Fort Ticon-

deroga. May 10, 1775. Capt. Hewitt, acting as a spy,

entered the fort and reconnoitred its condition pre-

paratory to the assault. Assuming the dress and

manners of a simple-minded man in search of an old

aunt, of ' Varmount,' Hewitt so successfully person-

ated the character as to awaken no suspicion on the

part of the garrison. He was permitted to enter the

fort and to wander about at his pleasure ; indeed, he

was rather hospitably entertained. Pretending never

to have seen a cannon before, he inquired what those

long iron things with holes in the end were for.

Having gained the necessary information, he left the

fort and returned to the camp of Col. Allen, who se-

lected him to lead the assaulting party. When Col.

Allen demanded of the commander of the fort a sur-

render, he was asked by what authority he made the

demand, and replied, ' In the name of the Great Je-

hovah and of the Continental Congress.' Hewitt was

told by the captain of the guard of the fort that if

he had known who he was when he entered the fort

the day before he would have shot him. Jonathan

Gillette, eighteen years of age, was, while on military

duty at Horseneck during the Revolutionary war,

taken prisoner, in company with several others, and

carried to New York, and confined for ten months in

a sugar-house, where he suffered severely from hunger

and disease.

" A small fortress on the St. Lawrence, called the

'Cedars,' was garrisoned by about three hundred men

;

this fortress, by the treachery of their commanding

officer, was delivered into the hands of the English,

who kept the garrison close jirisoners, employing a

force of Indians to guard them, the prisoners being

treated with all the indignity and cruelty which the

savages could devise.

"A force of Americans were sent to their relief,

but on their approach they were met by a flag from

the British commander, stating that if the Americans

should fire upon thom the wliole of their i)risoners

would be massacred, and proposing terms of release

for the prisoners. The terms were most humiliating

to the Americans, but they were obliged to accept

them in order to save their imprisoned comrades from

a terrible death.

" When the British were ready to release them the

Indians refused to let them go, being determined to

set on fire the building in which they were confined,

and thus destroy them all, and they only consented

to release them by the exchange of cattle for the

American prisoners. Thus the ancestors of many of

us were literally exchanged for cattle, for this garrison

was composed in part of a company raised in Canaan,

their captain being John Stevens. Oliver Stevens,

Jedediah Smith, and Benjamin Stevens were mem-
bers of this company." *

Among the early settlers in this town was Isaac

Lawrence. Soon after coming he built what is known

as the old Lawrence tavern-stand, a large house near

North Canaan depot, still in excellent repair, and

owned by Mrs. Wm. Adams, whose wife was a de-

scendant of Isaac Lawrence.

INCORPORATION OF NORTH CANAAN.

The town of North Canaan was incorporated in

1858, and on October 14th of the same year the first

town-meeting was held, when the following oflicers

were chosen : Moderator, M. T. Granger ; Assessor,

Harvey Lawrence ; Board of Relief, Dennis Prescott,

Fredk. Watson, and Hiram Briggs ; Selectmen, Henry

Ives and Harmon Rockwell ; Town Clerk and Treas-

urer, William Dougla.ss ; Register of Births and Mar-

riages, William Douglass; Constable and Collector,

I. P. Stevens ; Grand Jurors, Wm. C. Lawrence,

James Briggs, Fredk. Watson ; School Visitors, Henry

Ives, Wesley Prescott, Klisha M. Rood ; Highway-

men, Harvey Lawrence, Solomon Wright, Sherman

Austin, Lorenzo Lardam, Walter Warner ;
Haywards,

PhineasHunt, D. R. Spaulding, Edwin Barnes, Orvin

Rockwell, and David (). Rood; Sealer of Weights

and Pleasures, James Briggs; Pound Keeper, E. W.
Foster; Surveyors of Highways, E. P. Allen, Asahel

Kellogg, Wesley Prescott, Jonathan Donalds, and

Hiram Briggs.

LIST OF SELECTMEN FROM 1840-81.

Jonnlhau n.iliiiW8, 18J0-0O; Sanliil Root, 1860-«1 ; Henry C. Storaiu,

18CI ; Wllllnni DoiidlaM, l»C2-ia; Ini S. nunneM, ll<62-«4; Fred-

erick Wnlnoii, 1804-011 ; Wm. J. FnrgMOD, 1808-07,1872-78; Gilwant

8. Botwrts, 1808; Fnxlorick llronaon, 1809-71, 1879-80; R.J. Luke,

1809; Kdimind U. Lnwrouco, 1870-71; Joaoph W. Poet, 1872-70;

Liimnii Foot, 1S77-78; Samuel A. Ilennetl, 1879; Potrick Fltzgemld,

18WI; Jolin B. Becd, 1879-80.

CLERKS.

The following is a list of the clerks from 1858 to

1881:

Wlllliuii Douglan. 1858-69; Charlea Olllelt, 1880-01; Joseph W. I'eet,

1802-71 ; JacoL II. Ilardenliorgh, 1872-80.

LLST OF PB0I1.\TK JUPGES.

Wm. M. Burrnll, 1847; Wm. li. Pierce, 1847-18; Mllin T. Clmnger, 1819-

51, 18.^3-ni, 1«04-(U1 ; Wnltor 9. Cowlee, 1852 ; Geori;* W. Peel, 1M3

;

Frwlerlck Wnlxin. 1807, 18711-71; Jacob D. HardeDtMrgh, 1874-81.

HEPRESENT,\TIVES FROM 18.')»-«2.

1859, Levi W. Ilecklry ; 181.11, Williaoi I>i>ugli>a»; 1801, Daniel L. Pierre;

1802, Aldermiui Ivee; 180.^, Freilerick Biunaon ; 1864, Weeley Pre*-

colt; 1806, Nathaniel C. WunI ; 18(UI, J. K.Crunu; 18i)7, Harmon

• BtT. J. Kidrtdci, DJD.
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Peet; 18G8, Samuel A. Bennett; 1869, James A. Koot; 1870, J. B.

Hardenlnirgh ; 1871, Ira S. Bunnell; 1872, George W. Cowdrey

;

1873, Elisha M. Rood; 1874, JosBph W. Peet; 1875, Edward I. Kob-

erts; 1870, Wesley Trescott; 1S77, Hiram Briggs; 1S78, Charles H.

Briggs; 1879, Joseph W. Peet; 1880, Theodore F. Watson; 1881,

Lewis L. Cartwriglit.

ECCLESIASTICAL IIISTOKY.

CONGREGATIONAL CHURCH*

This church was organized in 1769 by a colony

from the Congregational Church in the south part of

the town, then under the pastoral charge of Eev.

Daniel Farrand. It appears from the records of that

church that a request to be dismissed from that church

for the purpose of being formed into a separate church

was made by the following persons: Capt. Isaac Law-

rence and his wife, John Franklin, Jared Huxley

and his wife, Samuel Hobart and his wife, Simon

Tubbs, Elisha Baker, Andrew Bacon and his wife,

Samuel Forbes and his wife, and James Adams. This

request was granted Dee. 1, 17G9, and on the 5th of

the same month the male persons mentioned above,

together with Allen Curtiss, Jedediah Richards, Ste-

phen Rice, Ebenezer Mudge, Justice Gaylord, Nehe-

miah Lawrence, and Abiel Fellows, adopted a con-

fession of faith and articles of church government,

and were organized into a church, Rev. Daniel Far-

rand presiding. The church was organized by the

men ; after organization the women were admitted by

vote, viz. : Mrs. Stephen Rice, Mrs. Jared Huxley,

Mrs. Samuel Hobart, Mrs. Isaac Lawrence, Mrs. An-

drew Bacon, and Mrs. Abiel Fellows.

The first pastor was Rev. Asahel Hart, who was in-

stalled March 14, 1770, and died June 28, 1775. After

his decease the church had no pastor for seven years,

it being during the troublesome times of the Revolu-

tion. In 1770, Elisha Bucar and Andrew Bacon were

chosen deacons.

The lirst church building was erected in 1768, a

wooden structure forty by fifty feet, and twenty-four-

feet posts. It was built by Capt. Isaac Lawrence.

The present house of worship was erected in the year

1822, and has been subsequently repaired.

In June 8, 1782, Rev. Amos Thompson was installed

pastor of this church. Mr. Thompson was from Vir-

ginia, and brought North several slaves. During his

pastorate he and his wife spent a winter at the South.

Previous to leaving they deposited their silver and

various delicacies in the parlor, under lock and key,

and had also taken with them the key of the wine-

cellar. On their return they found that the slaves

left in charge of the establishment had found means

to gain access to these apartments, and had without

scruple made free use of their contents for their own

enjoyment and in liberal entertainments given to

their friends.f After all the difficulties connected

* Condensed from a centennial sermon delivered at North Canaan,

July 28, 1869, by the late Rev. Joseph Eldridge, D.D., of Norfolk.

t At the time Mr. Thompson was South, he left his house in care of

Jupe and Fan, when they broke open his wine-cellar and made a dinner-

party, and, being seated, began to help themselves. Jupe stopped them,

with the Revolutionary war had subsided, Mr. Thomp-

son and his wife were disposed to return to their

Southern home, and they desired to take their slaves

back with them ; but they refused to go, fled to Nor-

folk, and lay in concealment, and had to be left

behind. It does not appear that Mr. Thompson was

formally dismissed from his pastoral relation to this

church. Before leaving Canaan, Rev. Mr. Thompson

manifested a practical interest in this church and

society by presenting to the ecclesiastical society his

house and farm, worth then about eighteen hundred

dollars, on condition that they should raise enough to

make five thousand dollars, to be held as a permanent

fund, the interest of which should be appropriated to

the support of the minister. This sum was raised,

and thus originated the permanent church fund.

In 1791, Rev. Joshua Knapp was ordained as pastor

of the church. How long his ministry continued is

not recorded.

In 1798, August 24, Rev. Solomon Morgan was in-

stalled. He died Sept. 3, 1804, aged sixty years, after

a pastorate of six years. His successor. Rev. Pitkin

Cowles, was ordained Aug. 29, 1806. During his

pastorate five deacons were chosen ; in 1806, Jacob

Hinsdale, Abiel Fellows, and Anson Lawrence ; 1821,

Rufus B. Dunning; 1822, William Pierce. In the

war of 1812, Rev. Pitkin Cowles served for a time as

chaplain, under Gen. Sterling, stationed at New
London. Deacon William Pierce was drafted at the

same time, and appointed sergeant ; also Gersham

Hewitt, Jr., and Nathaniel Dean. In 1820, Rev. Mr.

Cowles organized a Sabbath-school, among the first

in this State. He presented to each member of the

school a Bible. A branch Sabbath-school was organ-

ized at the Corner, under the direction of Miss Maria

Gillette. Maria I. Watson, now (1869) Mrs. John

Lawrence, was one of the pupils. Rev. Mr. Cowles

was pastor of this church between twenty-seven and

twenty-eight years. He was dismissed a few months

previous to his death, which occurred Feb. 3, 1833.

Mr. Cowles labored here in the ministry much longer

than any other pastor of the church during the cen-

tury of its existence.

In 1833, Oct. 23d, Rev. H. H. Woodbridge was or-

dained pastor of this church. He sustained the rela-

tion of pastor here till 1842, when he ceased to be a

minister of the gospel. During his pastorate, in the

year 1836, Dennis Rood and Sereno B. Gillette were

appointed to the office of deacons. After his removal

the church was without a pastor about three years,

when Rev. D. D. Francis was installed, June 4, 1845.

He was dismissed in 1850. While he was pastor the

church appointed, in 1848, Amos Pierce and George

K. Lawrence deacons.

saying, he " Must first ask a blessing like Maesa Thompson. Oh, Lord,

good a bittle on a table, a bean and a quash, meat in a pot, tunder in a

heaven, ligbty on a gospel, knock down a dry tree, ebermore. Amen."
" Jupe," said one of the guests, " I tink you pretty able." He replied,

" Oh, I dunuo; I tink 1 say him putty much as Massa Thompson do."
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On June 4, 1851, Rev. Elisha Whittlesey was or-

dained pastor of the church, and after filling the

office about two years resigned, his health demanding
a respite from labor and a milder climate. In the

interval between his dismission and the settlement of

his successor, and while the church was without a

settled pastor, but supplied by Eev. Hiram Eddy, oc-

curred a powerful revival of religion. Thirty-nine

were received at a single communion season, April

6, 1856.

Rev. Hiram Eddy was installed June 25, 1856, and
remained pastor of the church four years. He was
dismissed in 1860. In 1858, A. A. Wright and Charles

Kellogg were appointed deacons.

Rev. H. M. Grant succeeded Mr. Eddy, after an

interval of about three years. He was ordained Nov.

17, 1863, and was dismissed in 1866. Horace B.

Stevens was chosen deacon in 1865. Rev. Isaac P.

Powell was installed pastor of the church July 28,

1869, having previously supplied the church one year.

He resigned May 25, 1874, since which time the

church has had no settled pastor. The present sup-

l)ly is Rev. Hiram Eddy.

CHRIST CHURCH*

The parish of Christ Churcli, North Canaan, was

organized about the year 1846. The church building

was erected in that year, and was consecrated by
Bishop Brownell, Sept. 22, 1847. The work was
originated by Rev. Mr. Fash, a missionary supported

by the Litchfield County Missionary Association, and
has been of a more or less missionary character ever

since. The old law did not recognize the term " par-

ish" or the organization which it designates, the

usual name for an ecclesiastical body or corporation

being " society."

The persons who associated tliemselves together to

form the legal corporation or society were Fitch Fer-

ris, Harman Peet, Edward Thorp, Oliver P. Root,

John P. Camp, Jonathan C. Stevens, Abraham Thorp,

Alfred C. Ishani, and R. S. Potter.

The parish being weak, and partially dependent on

missionary aid f(irsu|)port, has been served in connec-

tion with otlier points, and not unfrequeutly vacant.

The mission was begun, and parish was organized by

Rev. Mr. Fash, succeeded by George L. Foote and
William Atwell in 1847. These two held services

every other Lord's Day until Easter, 1850. From tliis

date until Easter, 1854, the Rev. G. H. Nichols, of

Salisbury, ministered to the i>arish. From Easter,

1854, to Ea-ster, 1855, Rev. H. V. Gardner was the

rector. The Rev. H. S. Atwater liad charge for the

greater part of the two succeeding years, in connec-

tion with St. Andrew's Church, Kent.

Since 1858 the following have been in charge:

1860-61, Rev. Clayton Eddy ;
1X6:{, William Wil-

liams ; 1865, H. C. Stowell ; occasionally, C. I. Pot-

ter. In 1871, Rev. Elisha Whittlesey became rector,

• OoDtrlliuUid by Rev. H. I.. B<xlle7.

and during the six years of his rectorship he rejuve-

nated the whole work and renovated the church

building, making it both comely and comfortable.

In July, 1877, he was succeeded by Rev. Harry L.

Bodley, who is rector at the present time.

Only one of the original signers of the articles of

association remains with the parish, Mr. Oliver P.

Root. The others have died or removed. The pres-

ent wardens are Joseph W. Peet, Senior Warden

;

Miles T. Granger, Junior Warden. The vestrymen are

Watson, Samuel A. Bennett, Jacob B. Harden-

bergh, and Henry G. Williams, Clerk and Treasurer.

METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHnRCH.

The origin of the Methodist Episcopal Church of

Canaan, Conn., should be dated as far back as the

pastorate of Rev. David Phillips, in the year after 1866.

He is properly the founder, though the church build-

ing was not commenced until the year after his removal.

Under the administration of his immediate successor.

Rev. M. E. Lent, the building of the edifice was begun

and completed. It was dedicated on the 16th day of

January, 1868, and cost eleven thousand and fifty

dollars. The present trustees are D. P. Strong, J. S.

Corbit, N. C. Ward, E. S. Roberts, and J. L. Bragg.

The present membership is one hundred and fifteen.

The following is a list of the pastors: Revs. David

Phillips, 1866; Marvin R. Lent, 1867-68; William

Hall, 1809-71 ; John II. Lane, 1S72-74; Robert Hunt,'

1875-77; E. H. W. Barden, 1878; W. A. Mackey,

1879-81.

THE CONNECTICUT WESTERN NEWS

was established at Salisbury, July 14, 1871, by Joseph

L. Pease, as a neutral journal devoted to local inter-

eats. In October, 1876, it was moved to North Ca-

naan, as being a better business location in point of

accessibility. The editor and founder, Mr. Pease,

died on July 150, 187H, and his widow retained pro-

prietorship of the paper, intrusting the management
to John Rodemeycr, Jr., until its purchase by the

l)re8ent owner, Hon. J. B. Hardenbergh, a prominent

lawyer and cx-Statc senator, which was effected Dec.

1, 1878. The AVws ha.s a circulation far in excess of

the average country journal, and ranks among the

first throughout the county. It publishes each year

a daily edition during the week's session of camp-
meetings at Pine Grove, in the vicinity of Canaan,

having establishe<l the custom in 1877.

Canaan is a pleasant village, with churches, numer-

ous stores, two hotels, and a newspaper, and is an im-

portant station on the Housatonic and Connecticut

Western Railroads.

ICast Canaan is a small hamlet in the eastern part

of the town, and a station on the Connecticut Western

Railroad.

THE NORTH CANAAN SAVINGS BANK
was incorporated in 1S72. The first ollicers were M.
T. Granger, President ; F. Watson, James A. Uniler-
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wood, N. C. Ward, J. W. Peet, Trustees. The present
j

officers are F. Watson, President ; P. C. Cummings,

Vice-President; N. C. Ward, James A. Underwood,

George W. Cowdry, J. W. Peet, Trustees. Amount
of deposits, seventy thousand dollars.

HOU8AT0NIC LODGE, No. 61, F. AND A. M.,

was organized in May, 1869. The charter members

were William L. Twiss, R. Van Deusen, George H.

Cook, Edward D. Norton, H. Root, S. C. Beckley,

J. B. Hardenbergh, J. A. Underwood, C. A. Morris,

H. H. Cogswell, H. J. Mead, Benjamin Benedict, W.
Mclntyre, A. E. Yale, S. A. Bennett, Nelson Clark.

The first officers' of the lodge were W. M., J. B. Har-

denbergh ; S. W., Samuel C. Beckley ; J. W., Hiram

H. Cogswell ; Treas., Robert Van Deusen ; Sec,

Theodore F. Watson ; S. D., Samuel A. Bennett ; J.

D., P. Kilburn Cogswell ; S. M. C, Henry J. Mead;

J. M. C, Warren Mclntyre.

The present officers arc as follows: W. M., Henry

J. Mead ; S. W., William Walter ; J. W., H. Macrae

;

Treas., J. A. Underwood ; Sec, R. Van Deusen ; S.

D., L. Lindsey ; J. D., J. F. Homan ; S. S., D. L.

Peirce ; J. S., A. T. Roraback ; Tyler, S. Mallory.

MILITARY RECORD.

Canaan responded promptly to the call for troops

during the late Rebellion, and the following is the

list of volunteers

:

Kev. James Deaiie, Isaac F. Daboll (died), William Twiss, Edward D.

Lawrence, Albert P. Briggs, Miles H. Day (died), Amos L. Ives (died),

Edward H. Roys, Samuel S. Beach, Henry Sims, Sydney Hart, Frank

A. Cummings, P. C. Cummings, Eugene Decker, Philander Em-

Dions (died), William Gorman, Bennet Hines, James Mullen, John

W. Coon (died), Walter D. Hoag, John Lemley, John Rodemyer,

John Carrol, Abram Coons (died), William Liiuihan, Henry Root

(died). Ensign Butts, Fred Reill, Robert Gardner, Alfred June (died),

William Hart, Heman II. Coons, Charles Long, Neziah Demars,

Patrick McGrath, Thomas Noonan, Edward Morton, Alexander

Waters, Allen B. St. John, James Keith, Gen. H. Morgan, Charles

Thompson, John Warner, Samuel T. Rowlson, William II. Morris,

James Linahau, Charles Morris, James Reill, Ira C. Bailey, Burton

B. Everts, John Hillyer, Edward Fuller (died), Jacob Scamerhorn,

James F. Bigelow, surgeon.

Col. David S. Cowles, a native of the town, son of

Rev. Pitkins Cowles, entered the service a.s colonel of

the One Hundred and Twenty-eighth Regiment New
York State Volunteers, and was killed at the assault

on Port Hudson, May 27, 1863. At the breaking out

of the Rebellion he was a lawyer in Hudson, N. Y.

He was a grandson of Ebenezer Smith, a captain in

the army of the Revolution, a right-hand man of Gen.

Washington, in whom he reposed so much confidence

that he placed Maj. Andre after his capture under

his charge.

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCH.

WILLIAM BENNETT.

William Bennett, of North Canaan, Conn., is a son

of Samuel and Lydia (Paine) Bennett, and was born

on the farm where he now (1881) resides, in North

Canaan, Conn., Dec. 27, 1809. The grandfather of

William was Abijah Bennett, who was born in New
Milford, Litchfield Co., Conn., married Abby

,

and had children, one of whom was Samuel. The
father of Abijah was an early settler in Milford, Conn.,

and a farmer by occupation.

Abijah Bennett was a blacksmith by trade and a

Revolutionary soldier. He settled in Canaan (now

North Canaan), Conn., in April, 1S0(), with his family,

and continued to reside there till his death.

Samuel Bennett, son of Abijah and Abby Bennett,

was born in New Milford, Conn., Oct. 15, 1778 ; mar-

ried Lydia, daughter of Barnabas Paine, for his first

wife, and had the following children, viz.: Jarvis

(deceased), Susan (deceased), Harriet (deceased),

wife of J. W. Bostwick, of Syracuse, N. Y. ; William,

and Charles F. Mr. Bennett married for his second

wife Falley Griswold, and to them were born one son,

Samuel, an enterprising and respected citizen of

Canaan,. Conn., and a soldier, an officer, in the great

civil war. Samuel Bennett, Sr., settled in Canaan,

Conn., in April, 1806, where he owned a very large

tract of good land on the Four Corners, within the

present limits of North Canaan village. He was a

Whig and Republican in politics, and died, October,

1865. His wife died in 1841.

William Bennett received a common-school educa-

tion, supplemented with a few terms at an academy.

He was reared a farmer, which business he has con-

tinued to follow successfully. He has been quite

extensively engaged in buying and selling stock,

which, added to his farming interest, has made him

independent, and justly entitles him to be numbered

among the most prosperous of Canaan's citizens. He
owns the old homestead, which is beautifully situated.

In politics a Republican.

He has been three times married, his last wife being

Adeline Kellogg, widow of Charles Kellogg, and

daughter of Maj. Peck, of Canaan, Conn. They were

married Jan. 23, 1868.

CHAPTER XLVIII.*

PLYMOUTH.

The settlement of New England dates from the

landing of the Pilgrims at Plymouth, Mass., in 1620.

The first settlement in Connecticut was made in 1634

and 1635, at Wethersfield, Windsor, and Hartford.

In 1640 people from Hartford came over the moun-

tain, and commenced a settlement at Farmington,

being the first in the State, away from navigable

waters, and before we reach the thread of Plymouth

history.

The original proprietors of the territory of the

town were the Tunxis or Farmington tribe of In-

* Contributed by Rev. E. B. Hillard.
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dians. As early as 1657 some of the inhabitants of

Farinington, on hunting excursions, had penetrated

the wilderness .west as far as the Naugatuck Valley,

and had discovered what they thought to be a mine

of black lead, and applied to the Indian owners for

the right to work it, which right was conveyed to

them by the following deed, which is recorded in the

Farmington records:

" This WitnesBeth tliat Wee, Kapaquamp & Queninius & Mataueage

have sold to William Lewis and Samuel Steele, of fTarniington, A psell or

A trackt of Land called Matetacoke, that is to say, the liill from whence

John Stanilley & John Andrews: brought the black lead & all the

Laud within eight: myle: of that hill : on every side: to dig: & carry

away what they will & To build on y' for y" vse of them that labor there

:

& not Otherwise To improve : ye Land In witness whereof wee
:
have

hereunto Set our : hands : & those : Indians above mentioned must free

the purchasers from all claymes: by any other Indians:

" William Lewis,
'• Samuel Steele,

" The mark of Kapaqi'AMP,

" The mark of Qukbrimus,

" The mark of Mataueaqe.

"Witness: John Stkele.

" febuary : y« 8»> 1667."

This is believed to be the earliest title of white

men to the region. It embraces the entire territory

of the town of Plymouth, the traditional site of the

lead-mine being a little north of the Harwinton line,

on the east side of the highway running pa.st the

house of Alfred Cleveland, in the woods, about half

a mile back of his house. The marks are still appa-

rent of rock-blasting, which could only have been

for mining purposes. There is a spring which from

time immemorial has borne the name of the Lead-

Mine Spring.

No immediate settlement seems to have resulted

from this discovery. The anticipations of wealth to

be derived from the mine were not realized, and it was

abandoned,—one of the earliest of the many mining

delusions that have left their traces on the New Eng-

land liills. The original settlement of the valley wa.s

begun down the river, at what was first known as Mat-

tawuck, and afterwards as Waterbury. The interval

on which that city stands seems not to have been dis-

covered by white men till some sixteen years after

the lead-mine deed was given, the first recorded re-

port of it bearing date of Oct. 6, 1673.

At the October session of the General Court in that

year the following petition was presented from twenty-

six citizens of Harwinton :

" Octob' 9, 73.

" To THE HoNOKEi) General Coiirt now sittino in IIartpobd;

" Ho.NOHED Gentlemen and Fathers,—Wo, beingHenslblcof our ^ont

need of a oumfurtuble subsistence, doe hereby make our atldrcss to your-

selfs In order tu the Same, not Questioning your care A rolthfulneos In

y premises: also hoping of your freeness & readyuews to aconiidateyour

poor Huplicants with y< whicli Judge to be: In your hands: aconling tu

an orderly proceeding, we, tlicrofore, whose names are hereafter Inserlotl

Ut hnmlily petition your honors to take cognisance: of our state who

want Land to Labor upon : for our siibsistunce. Si now having found out

a tnick at a place culled by y Indians Matitaciioke : which wo aprihend

may susfetlently aci)lnidato to make a smoll plantjitiuu : wo are there-

fore bould hereby to petetion your honors to grant vs y» liberty of plant-

ing y" same, with as many others as yt may be: capoble comfortably to

entertain Jk as for the purchasing of y* nativefl with your atowanco wo

shall take care of: & so not to trouble with farther Inlargements, only

desireing your due consideration & a return by our Loving ffriend John

LanktoD."

This petition to the General Court was based on

the report of a committee of their number whom they

had sent to view the place, which report is as follows

:

"We whos names are here under written, partly for our own satis-

faction & for the satisfaction of some others, have been to uiew Matita-

cooke in refarans to a plantation, do jud^e it capable of the Same.

"Thomas Newell, Sr.

"John Warner, Sr.

" Richard Lemar.
"Octtober: the 6: 1673."

Of the signers of this report, the second, " John

Warner, Sr.," was the ancestor in direct line of the

Warners of Plymouth, being the great-grandfather of

John Warner, the third deacon of the Northern

Church. The third signer, " Richard Lemar," was

the leader of the first company that went over the

East Mountain from Farmington in 1686, and made

the settlement at the Great Swamp, now Berlin. Of

him the following singular incident is recorded in

the old Farmington Church record, in the handwriting

of Rev. Samuel Hooker, first pastor of the Farming-

ton Church, illustrative of the hardships and perils of

those early times. It is in the form of a note ap-

pended to the entry of the baptism of his daughter

:

" On the same day that this child was born, the father, viz., Richard Le-

mar, went early into the woods to look for htu-sea six or seven miles off;

found and followed them homeward, but had liked to have perished ore

he got home; was so feeble that ho remembered nothing of comi[ig down

the East Mountain, his sight and memory and strength in a manner gone.

But God, who leadeth the blind in a way that we know not, directed him

to John Norton, Jr., who was thrashing in his barn, and he took him In,

put him to lied, called friends about him, who were diligent in the way

and means for his relieving. After some time spent betwixt hope and

foar m not knowing whether he would die or live—he lay iu a sad man-

ner, grating his teeth, and eyes rolled In his head— it pleased God that

he revived and came to rights again. The day iu which this followed

wiut June 8, 18*2.3, a snowy Saturday, especially the latter part of it. Had

the man not l>een directed home, in all likelihood he had perished iu

the wlltlernesM, and pcrha|w have been so for covered with snow as not

to have bceil found till wiltl fowls or boosu had preyed on him."

In response to the above-named petition, the Gen-

eral Court ap|)ointed a committee to view the lands

at "Mattjitock," ami report " wlietlier it be judged fit

to make a plantation." This committee reported to

tlie General Court at the next or May session, de-

scribing favorably the lands, and concluding with the

expression of their " appreliensions that it may ac-

commodate thirty families." It provetl to be eijual to

the accommodation of several more than that number.

The committee in their estimate of the t-apahilities of

the valley took into account only the land, the river

being reckoned an obstruction and a |)eril rather than

a resource. In the result, Mattatuck, like most of the

manufacturing towns of New England, has been saved,

as wiLs Noali and his family, "by water" rather than

by land. Tlie present population of the city of Water-

bury is upwar<ls of twenty thousand.

The early history of the town of Waterbury, in

which Plymouth was originally included, has been

fully written and need not be repeated here. Suffice
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it to say that the General Court, upon the report of

its " viewing" committee, granted the petition of the

Farmington people, authorized " the settling of a

plantation at Mattatuck," and appointed a committee

"to regulate and order it." This the committee pro-

ceeded to do. Articles of association and agreement,

bearing date of June 6, 1674, were drawn up and

signed Ijy the proposed settlers. A site was selected

for the village ; and after a delay of three years,

caused by the great Indian war of New England,

known as " King Philip's war," in 1677, a settlement

was begun.

At the outset the "Grande Committee," as the com-

mittee of the General Court appointed to superintend

the settlement was called, ordered that, " for benefit

of Christian duties and defense against enemies," the

inhabitants of the new plantation " should settle near

together." Accordingly, prior to the year 1700, all

the inhabitants lived in the town centre or its imme-

diate neighborhood. But as the lands at the Centre

were taken up, the new settlers had to find room in

the remoter parts of the town. It is not till 1725 or

1730 that we get trace of settlers in the northern part,

and here the history of Plymouth as a distinct com-

munity begins.

The first settler of the town, so far as known,

was Henry Cook. He came with a family about

1728, and had a farm on the west bank of the river,

not far from the Litchfield boundary. He was the

great-grandson of Henry Cook, of Plymouth, Mass.,

before 1640. He had a grandson, Samuel, who was

one of the last pensioners on the roll of the Revolu-

tionary war, and who lived to be over one hundred

and five years old. John SutlifT appears to have

been the next settler. He came with a family from

Branford about 1730, and built on the west side of the

river on what is known iis the West Branch. These

two men are mentioned in a vote of the town of Can-

terbury, Dec. 14, 1730, providing outside schools, as

living at " Wooster Swamp," a term by which all the

northern and northwestern part of the town was de-

signated. Mr. Sutlift' was a leading man in all the

early history of the new community. After him came

Thomas Blakeslee, Northbury's first " captain," an

ofiice in that day second in rank and honor only to

that of minister ; Isaac Castle, from Westbury ; Bar-

nabas Ford, the chief land-owner, from Wallingford

;

Gideon Allen, from Guilford ; John Humaston, from

North Haven; Ebenezer Richason, from Westbury;

Lieut. John Bronson, from Canterbury ; Samuel

Towner, Ebenezer Elwell, Jonathan Foot, and others.

These were called " up river," or " northern people,"

by the inhabitants at the centre of the town, and they

soon began to organize as a distinct community.

In all the early New England towns the first move-

ments towards distinct organization were in the direc-

tion of church privileges. The earliest organization

was ecclesiastical. The first i)ublic body organized

was the church. The first public building erected

was the meeting-house. The first public officer pro-

vided for was the minister. As an old writer says,

—

"In the first Settlement of New England, wlien-the people judged

their number competent to obtain a Minister, they then Surely seated

themselves, but not before, it being as unnatural for a right New Eng-

land man to live without the niiuister as for a Smith to work his iron

without fire."

The earliest history of the town, therefore, is the

history of the church. This is true of the early his-

tory of Plymouth. No sooner had the "northern" in-

habitants become numerous and strong enough to do

something independently for themselves than they

began to move for independent religious provision,

independent of the church at the centre of the town,

to which, by law, they were required to pay taxes for

the minister's support. At first, in 1732, they joined

themselves with the " northwestern" inhabitants, now

Watertown, in the endeavor to obtain independent
" winter privileges,"—that is, the privilege of hiring a

minister to preach among them during the winter

months, with exemption, during the period, from

parish rates at the Centre. But soon after the settle-

ment west of the river, settlers began to locate on the

hills east, and before long the west-side settlers found

it for their advantage to combine with their east-side

neighbors, and the united sections began to act to-

gether as one community.

In 1734 they opened their campaign for independ-

ence. In October of that year Henry Cook, Ebenezer

Elwell, and Samuel Towner, on the ground of their

living so far from the meeting-house, requested the

town to allow them and others to hire preaching the

ensuing winter, and to abate their parish rates while

they should thus hire. The town curtly voted " to

do nothing in the case." Two years later, Sept. 27,

1736, Thomas Blakeslee, Henry Cook, Jonathan Cook,

John How, Jonathan Foot, John Sutliff, John Sut-

liff, Jr., Samuel Towner, Samuel Frost, Barnabas

Ford, Ebenezer Elwell, Gideon Allen, Isaac Castle,

Daniel Curtis, and John Humaston, fifteen in number,

united in the following touching appeal to the town

:

"To the inhabetance of ye town of "Waterbary, convened in town-

meting, Sept. 29, 1736.

" Whair as it is well known to you all that we, whose names are

heiirunto affixed, have our place of abode at such a distance from ye

fixed place of publique worehip in this town, and that ye circum-

stances of ye way are such as yt it is with difficulty yt we come to ye

house of god at any time of ye year, and eapecaly in ye winter season is

extreamly dificult and sumtimes wholy imposable, and being much con-

sarned for our poor cliildren, yt they also might have ye opportunity of

atending ye publick worship of god more conveanantly, and nothing

douting of your readiness to shew ciudness to us and to our children, we

do therefore hearby pray and ask ft>r yor wilingness consent and appro-

bation, yt al those who live within Bounds hearafter mentioned,— that is

to say, begining at Deep reuer and runing westrly to ye line stated by

ye town for ye northwest society, as may appear of record in Waterbeary,

and from ye said Deep reuer eastwardly to ye north end of John War-

ner's farm, at hancock's brook, from thence a northeast line to farming-

town line, and by farmingtown line to ye north end of Waterbary

bounds, and then by ye line of said bounds to lichfeald bounds, and fur-

tlier westwardly by lichfeahl bounds to ye west branch, may at our own

cost and charg have ye preaching of ye word of life among ourselves in

ye three winter months of desember, ionewary, and febenary, and be

freed from paing ministeriel charg with ye town for ye said three
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montbs {being wiling to pay our proprotien and ministeriel dues fur ye

otber nine months of ye year), whicb privilidg to be enjoyed from year

to year, and every year for sucb term of time as ye lionourable generel

asembly in their wisdom and goodness sliall grant and determine,

wherby you will much oblige your christian brethren and neibours."

It would seem that such an appeal must have pre-

vailed. But it did not. The original petition is in

existence in the possession of B. B. Satterlee, Esq.,

through whose favor we are able to present it here.

It is signed by each of the petitioners in their own
handwriting ; is inscribed on the back " Appeal to ye

town."

"The within petition negatived att a town-meeting in Waterbury,

Sept. 29, 1Y36.

" Attest, John Southmayd,

"Town Clerk."

But the petitioners did not give it up. Indeed, it

seems, from some after action, that the town at this

meeting did take some action in their favor. But
whatever it was, the town either recalled or denied it,

and the privileges asked for were refused. A month
later, Oct. 26, 1736, the request was repeated, in

writing as before, signed by twelve persons, asking

that all living " within two and a half miles of Bar-

nabas Ford's new dwelling-house" be allowed the

privilege of hiring a minister for three years three

months in each year, — December, January, and
February,—with exemption from ministerial rates

at the Centre for the time. The town voted to grant

the request. But, as before, either through mis-

understanding or change of views on the part of the

town, the proposed exemption was denied, and the
" up-river" people were back where they were be-

fore. At a town-meeting, the next spring, April

18, 1737, " it was asked whether tho said northern
,

inhabitants shall be exempt from ministerial charge

by the town for so much time as they shall hire a gos-

pel minister among them, in addition to a grant made
them, September 29th," and an answer was given

by vote in the negative. Still the northern people

did not give it up. Despairing of the consent of the

town, they now, at the May session, 1737, applied by
petition direct to the General Assembly, which in

those days was supreme in affairs of church as well as

State. They state they live " on a tract of land about

five miles square, whereof Barnabas Ford's dwelling-

house is the centre;" that "the town vote<l, Sept. 29,

1736, that they might have a minister for three months
for throeyears, with exemption from ministerial charges

the said term ;" that they had supplied a preacher,

and now are obliged to pay rates. They asked winter

privileges, and the usual exemption from taxes. The
petitioners are seventeen in number, the same as

those who signed the petition to the town, on Septem-
ber 29th, except that three new names, those of Amos
Mathews, Ebenezcr Richardson, and Phineits Hoyce,

appear, and Jonathan Cook's does not. The town re-

sisted the application, and it was denied. At the ( )c-

tober session of the same year, however, the petition

was renewed, John Branson, Obadiah Warner, and

John Garnsey being new signers, and the General

Assembly granted it, and so the new community scored

one in their effort at independence. The following is

the act of the Assembly, as recorded in the colonial

records

:

" Upon the memorial of Henry Cook, Barnabas Ford, and others, in-

habitants of the towu of Waterbury, showing to this assembly the diffi-

culty that they lye under in attending the public worship in said town,

& that said town, in their meeting in said Waterbury, Sept. SQ'*", 1736,

upon application made to them, granted to the memorialists liberty

for themselves k others that should live within two miles and a half of

the dwelling-house of s'* Barnabas Foi-d to hire a gospel minister in the

months of Dec, Jan., A- Feb., witti e.xemption from any ministerial

charges in the town Soc. in said time, & said liberty was granted by said

town for 3 years next after said meeting,—praying tins assembly that

the vote of said town might be confirmed with them, &c. Whereupon
the assembly order and enact that during s-^ three months granted by the

town of Waterbury lo the memorialists in the three years then next en-

suing, the memorialists shall be e.\cmpted from paying any charges to

the support of the minister in said town society, provided they maintain
a gospel minister amongst themselves.

"George "Wyllys, Sec
" Oct. Session, 1737."

This act of the General Assembly was the first

charter of the town of Plymouth. It was the first

official recognition of it ,as a distinct community, and
from it all the rest of its fnll investment as a town
naturally follows. The dwelling-house of Barnabas
Ford, here specified as the centre and landmark of
the new community, stood on the street leading past

the academy, in what is now Thomaston, on the west
side of the road, about where the academy stands.

There was a spring of water near it by the roadside,

which doubtless determined the site of the house, as

it did the location of the dwellings of many of the
early settlers, before they had time to dig wells, at

which spring the boys who went to church in later

years on "The Hill" used to drink, as they footed it

back and forth from Thomaston Hill, in the hot sum-
mer days.

Mr. Ford was the first clerk of the society when it

came to be organized, and appears, from the many

[

deeds bearing his name, to have been an extensive
' owner of lands in the vicinity. His body lies in the
old burying-ground (in Thonuiston). His tombstone
bears this inscription :

I " Here lyeth yo Body of Bnrnahaa Ford ; he dyc<l Mnrcli yo 10, 1740, Id

I
yo 63 year uf his age."

Encouraged by this initial success, the northern

[

people petitioned the General Assembly at the next .May
session (1738) for exemption from ministerial cliarge.s

" for such time only as they had the word dispensed."

The petitioners represent that they live, the nearest

seven miles, the greater part eight, and many nine or

ten miles from the meeting-house, on the way to which
they were obliged to cro.ss the river, often doej), and
dangerous, nine times. The signers number nineteen.

The names of Jeremiah Peck (afterwards first deacon
of the church), Caleb Thoma.ston, afterwards one of
the most prominent members of the society, and who
gave the name to Thomaston Hill, and others, ap-

pearing for the first time. This application was de-
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nied, but at the October session following it was re-

newed, twenty-three signing. They say that the

three years' privilege which liad been granted them

expires the February ensuing, and ask that it may
be extended for two years. They allege that they

have a population of one hundred and thirty-nine

;

that to get to meeting at the town centre they have

to remove bars and open gates at ten different places.

At this time the only road to Waterbury from the

northern quarter was a path through the fields,

guarded by bars and gates between the different in-

closures. The present river road was not constructed

and opened as a public highway till 1802, and was

considered a great undertaking in its time. A cart

bridge—the early settlers had no other vehicles

—

was built across the river in Northbury in 1747-48,

the town voting twenty-two pounds in money, old

tender, to be paid when the bridge should be com-

pleted. The last-mentioned petition was granted by

the General Assembly at the October session, 1738.

The following is the act of the Assembly :

" Upon the tiiemoriiil of John Sutlif and othei"s living in north or north-

eastern l)art of Waterbury, showing that they live at a great distance from

the pnlilick worship in said town and their difficulty in attending there-

on by reason thereof, and praying for liberty to hire tlie gospel preached

among them for the space of two years, to be computed from February

next, with exemption from paying ministerial charges to said town for

such time only as they are able to hire the gospel preached among them,

Rmolved, By this Assembly that the memorialists shall thereby have

granted unto them the liberty of hiring the gospel preached among
them for the space of two years, to commence and be computed from

February next, with exemption from paying ministerial charges to said

town for such time only as they hire the gospel preached among tliem.

"OkoroK WyLLVS, Secretary.

" October session, 17.S8."

This act, it will be noticed, designates the me-

morialists as "living in the north or northeastern

part" of the town. Hitherto it has been north or

northwestern, indicating the movement of the settle-

ment to the east side of the river.

At this session of the General Assembly, October,

1738, the society of Westbury, now Watertown, was

constituted. Already in 1686, at the May session of

the General Court, Waterbury had been invested with

town privileges and given its present name by the fol-

lowing act:

" This court grants that Mattuck shall be and belong to the county of

Hartford, and the name of the plantation shall for the future be Water-

bury." May 13, 1680.

Encouraged by their past successes, and influenced

doubtless by the example of Westbury Society, the

northern people the next year (1739) again move on

the General Assembly ; this time to be constituted an

independent ecclesiastical society, with the rights and

privileges of the same. At the October session of

that year they send to the General Assembly, by John
Sutliffand Moses Blakeslee, agents, a memorial repre-

senting that the people are

" Desirous of being made a society, with the privileges of a society, that

they may settle a gospel minister among them and have God's Word
preaclieil and ordinances administered; and having prayed said old so-

ciety in said Waterbury to give them certain bounds, and obtained a vote

that the said old society will not oppose them, etc., as by the vote may
appear. Sept. 18, 1739.

" Whereupon the memorialists humbly pray that the honorable As-

sembly would appoint a committee and send them to view their circum-

stances, and state the line between said old society and said inh: bitants

and make return," etc.

Appended to the memorial are the following names

:

John Sutliff, William Reddington, Moses Blakeslee,

Amos Mathews, John Bronson, Noah Dangborn, John
Warner, Matthew Reddington, Daniel Potter, Bar-

nabas Ford, Samuel Curtis, Jos. Clark, Jr., Joseph

Clark, Jacob Blakeslee, Henry Cook, Daniel Curtis,

Obadiah Warner, Thomas Blakeslee, Zachariah San-

ford, Gideon Allen, Caleb Humaston, Samuel Frost,

John Garnsey, John How, John Sutliff, Jr., Jeremiah

Peck.

The town, evidently tired of resisting those so de-

termined to be an independent community, makes no

opposition to the application, and it is granted. A
committee of the General Assembly, consisting of

Capt. Thomas Miles, Mr. Stephen Hotchkiss, and

Capt. Jonathan Thompson, all of Wallingford, was

appointed

"To come and view their Circs, and state a line between Said inhab-

itants and the first Society in said Waterbury; to hear fully all parties

concerned on the premises, as well the first Society in said Waterbury

as the said inhabitants living in the northerly parts of said town, and

report to this assembly."

This committee came and heard the parties, and

decided on the bounds, and on their report to the

General Assembly the following act of incorporation

was passed

:

" Whereas upon the memorial of the Northern inhabitants of the town

of Waterbury, in Now Haven County, representing to this Assembly

their great distance from the publick worship in said Waterbury, and

praying to become a distinct parish, and for a committee to fix and ascer-

tain their parochial bounds, the Assembly did appoint Messrs. Thomas

Miles, Stephen Hotchkiss, and Joseph Thompson to be a committee to

view the circumstances of said memorialists, to ascertain their parochial

bounds, and to make their report in the premises to this Assembly ; and

whereas the said committee hath now reported to this Assembly that

they, having viewed and duly inquired into the circumstances of the

said inhabitants, do find them able and sufficient to bear parish charges

and become a distinct parish, or Society, within the following limits

(Viz.): Beginning at the North West corner of the First Society in said

Waterbury and the North Easterly corner of Westbury Society at two

White Oak trees known by the name of Two Brothers, then running

South Easterly by the West Branch until it comes into the river; then

by the river until it conies where Spruce Brook emptyeth itself into the

river a little below Upson's Island. Then from the mouth of said brook

a straight line to the falls of Hancock's Brook, and from thence a

straight line to the South side of Mr. Noyes' farm, lying partly on a hill

by the name of Grassy Hill; and from thence a due East line to Farm-

ington line; then North by said Farmington line to Harwinton bounds;

then by Harwinton bounds and Litchfield bouuds to the bounds first

mentioned; bounding. South on said Waterbury First Society; East on

Farmington bounds; North, part on Harwinton and part on Litchfield

bounds; and west on said Westbury Society; as by their report on file

dated October 25"', 1739."

" liesoleetl by this Assembly that the said memorialists within the lim-

its above specified and described be and become a separate and distinct

Society, or Parish, and that they shall have and be invested with all tlie

powers and privileges wherewith other parishes within this colony are

endowed, and shall be known and called by the Parish of Northbury.

" Oct. session, 1739.

" Geo. Wyllys, Sec.*^

And so, after four applications to the town, and

five to the General Assembly, the new community at
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last gained its end, and Northbury went on the roll

of the ecclesiastical societies of Connecticut.

The society was thus authorized, but it did not yet

exist. The inhabitants themselves alone could give

it existence. The General Assembly had built the

ship, but left it on the stocks. Those who were to

sail in it alone could launch it. This they proceeded

to do. In accordance with the law for parish action,

three of the inhabitants—viz., John Sutlift', Ebenezer

Richason, and Barnabas Ford—made application to

Thomas Clark, one of the justices of Waterbury, who
issued his warning to those living within the specified

bounds, in the following form

:

"Whereas the law provides that when parishes or any three of tlie in-

habitants of the society applying to any assistant or justice of the peace,

shall by a warrant by him issued out warn all the inhabitants within

the hounds of the society, &c.

"These are therefore in his majesty's name to warn each and every

pei-son within the bounds ot Waterbury, known as Northbury, the third

society in said Waterbury to attend a society meeting, and have them

elect and choose a moderator and society clerk and other necessary busi-

ness as they shall have need of, to appear upon the 20th of this instant

November, at eight of the clock in the morning, at the house they meet

in. Dated in said Waterbury, this 10th day of November, Anno Domini

1739.

" Signed, per Thos. Clark,
" Justice of the Peace.

" John Sutlipf,

"Ebenezer Richardson,
" Barnabas Ford,

"Inhabitants of said society."

In response to this warning, the inhabitants met on

the day designated, and organized the society by the

choice of John Sutliff, Moderator ; Barnabas Ford,

Clerk; and Mo.ses Blakeslee, John Sutlift', and Eben-

ezer Richason, Society Committee. The place where

they met, designated in the warning as " the house

they meet in," was a building which several of the in-

habitants had built the year before by subscription for

common public uses, and which they jointly owned as

"proprietors." It stood on a knoll, since leveled,

about in the centre of the park in Thomaston. The
land on which it stood was given by Rev. Mr. South-

niayd, and deeded to John Sutliff, Ebenezer Rich-

ason, John How, Thomas Blakeslee, Barnaba-s Ford,

and the rest of the inhabitants living within two miles

and a half of Barnabas Ford's new dwelling-house.

It is described in the deed as "One acre near saiil

Ford's dwclling-liouse in Waterbury, on wliicli in-

habitants have already set up a house under tlie de-

nomination of a said house for the said inhabitants

to meet in to carry on the public worship of God on
the Sabbath." The building was a very plain one,

and was known in later years as the " church house."

The widow of Rev. Luther Hart remembers attend-

ing meeting in it in her girlhood, and that her brother,

on coming home, told one of the family that " he had
been to meeting and it was in a barn."

The original record of the first meeting of the

society is in existence, with the other early records of

the society. It is in the handwriting of Barnabas

Ford.

The society thus organized, the next thing was to

choose a minister. This it did not take long to do.

At the meeting at which the society was organized,

after appointing ofiicers and providing for "y° cost of

y' commeete." "Att y' same meeting," the record

continues, " we maid choise of Mr. Saml. todd to be

our minister." The choice was by a " major," not a

" universal" vote. The call of the society does not

seem to have been conveyed immediately to Mr.

Todd, as in March following, at a meeting of the so-

ciety, Moses Blakeslee, Jeremiah Peck, and Daniel

Curtis were appointed a committe " carry y' societies

call to Mr. Samuel Todd, in order to reseve his an-

swer." On this call, Mr. Todd returned the follow-

ing answer

:

" Northbvrv, March y« 3, 1739-40.

"Mr. Jeremiah Peck, Moses Blaslee, Daniel CrRTiss, Comita,

having reseeved your call & proposals in behalf of ye sosiate to settle

with you in ye work of ye ministry, .t having waid & considered them,

I declare myself willing upon them to settle with them in y« work of ya

ministry, provided they proseed to a regular ordination upon or before

ye eight day of May next, & pray God you may be a blessing to me and

I to you.

"Saml Todp."

The spelling of this record is probably to be cred-

ited to the recording clerk rather than to the minis-

ter. The society, which had adjourned till afternoon

to receive Mr. Todd's answer, meeting again at half-

past one, voted :
" To prosed in y" ordination of Mr.

Samuel Todd upon y" 7th day of May next, ensuing

y' date hereof," and Mr. Jeremiah Peck, Daniel Cur-

tis, John Warner, Moses Blakeslee, and Thomas
Blakeslee were chosen a committee " to prosecute y'

design, in order to an ordination." Accordingly, on

the 7th of May, Mr. Todd was ordained first min-

ister of the northerly society, as by the following rec-

ord entered in the records of the New Haven Ea^t

Association

:

" At a Cotincll of Eldeni A MessengorB regularly convened at North-

bury, the third society of Waterbury, May 7, 1740, for the ordination of

Mr. Suinuol Todd to the work of tlie Gospel Minlitry there.

" Elders present,

" The RovJ Mee». Samuel WhlttleMy, Walllngfonl.

"The ReT<> Mrsii. Samuel Hall, I'healilro.

" The Rev* Mess. Isaac Stiles, North Haven.

"The Rev' Mess. Mark Lfavwnworth, Waterbury.

"Messengers fn)ni tlio churches:

" Mr. Jacob JulinHon, Wallingtord.

" Mr. John Cailord, Clirshlre.

" Deacon Todd. North Haven.

"Timothy Hiijikius, Esq.. Waterbury.

" Deacon John Warner, Westbury.

"At which con ncil^lr. Whittlesey waa chosen moderator, Mr. Leaven-

worth scribe. Then Mr. Todd was examined and approved. Then voted

that Blr. Hall should preach; Mr. Whittlesey inlnNtuce the affair by

taking a vote of the church, etc., end atfk> should make the prayer before

the charge and give the charge; that Mr. Stiles should make the prayer

after the charge, and Mr. Leavenworth glve4ho right hand uf fellowililp.

According to which, Mr. Todd was ordalnod wltli impoalUon of the hands

of the Presbytery.

"Teat: Mark Liavinwobtu, fi<-ri(i>."
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CHAPTER XLIX.

PLYMOUTH (Continued).

Congregational Church, Plymouth—Congregational Cliurch, Terryville

—St. Peter's Cliurtli, Plymouth.

ECCLESIASTICAL HISTORY.

CONGREGATIONAL CHUUCH, PLYMOUTH.

Thls church was founded May 17, 1740. Mr. Todd,

its fir.st pastor, was born in North Haven, March 6,

1716-17, the seventh child and fifth son of Samuel

and Mary (Tole) Todd, and grandson of Christopher

and Grace Todd, early immigrants to the New Haven

colony. The early records of the North Haven Church

are imperfect, but Mr. Todd doubtless united with it

during the pastorate of Rev. Isaac Btiles, father of

President Stiles, of Yale. His family were of a reli-

gious character, as is proved by preserved relations or

memorials of its members, in the days when each

church member wrote out his or her confession of

faith ; that of his sister Susannah, afterwards wife of

Caleb Humaston, recounts the wickedness of her re-

bellion against God, and how, when awakened to a

sense of her sin, the counsels of Rev. Mr. Stiles and

the death of an aunt were blessed to her conversion.

Mr. Todd graduated at Yale, under President Wil-

liams, in 1734, at the age of seventeen, six of the four-

teen in his class becoming ministers. A lately dis-

covered document shows that he received and rejected

a call to another church before he was ordained at

Northbury, May 7, 1740. Eight months before he

had married Mercy, daughter of Peter Evans, of

Northfield, near New Haven, and he brought her on

a pillion behind him, or on another horse, into this

wilderness, where there was a small, feeble, scattered,

but devoted flock, situated somewhat similar to the

first Pilgrims at Plymouth, Mass. There were only

bridle-paths through the woods then, and the streams

had to be forded, the first cart bridge across the Nau-

gatuck, at Thomaston, not being built till after 1747.

The forests were hardly broken by the scattered clear-

ings, and the impending war with Spain and France

might bring down the Indians at any moment on the

frontier settlements. Within the memory of most of

the settlers they had so descended thirty years before

and killed a man named Hall on Mount Toby, John

Scott and his two boys being captured on Hancox

meadow about that time and carried to Canada ; Mrs.

Scott's own mother, sister, and brother's family had

been previously slain in the Deerfield massacre in

1704. Even so late as 1722 one Harris had been shot

and scalped by Indi^ans while working in a field at

Litchfield, and in 1730 five houses in that new settle-

ment were surrounded with palisades, while soldiers

guarded the people at their work and Sabbath wor-

ship.

Mr. Todd's promised home was not begun on his

arrival, and he set up his house on Town Hill, where

the cellar hole is now seen in the lot near Elam

Fenn's, and where three old apple-trees are pointed

out as of an orchard set out by him ; this was near

his good deacon's, Moses Blakeslee, who had lately

arrived from New Haven with his fourteen children.

A spring flows near the old cellar hole, where tradi-

tion says Mr. Todd's first child, little Alathea, was
drowned ; Mr. Hillard has found the tombstone of

her sister Lucy, who died June 9, 1752, and an un-

marked grave near it is doubtless the little Alathea's,

said to be the first person buried there. After two or

three years' delay, the society built Mr. Todd a house

in Thomaston, which stood at the top of the hill where

Mrs. Williams built later, on the old road running

north, which turned off from the river road at Mr.

Grillcy's corner. One living remembers the house,

afterwards called the old maid's house, as three maiden

sisters lived there. It is not known how long he lived

there, but he moved on the hill when the church was

there and the people lived here ; he had moved before

1746-47, for Barnabas Ford's will, dated Jan. 27,

1746, disposes of twenty-three acres on Bear Hill which

he had of Mr. Todd, and in the deed of this green,

Dec. 3, 1747, it was described as butting east on Mr.

Todd's laud. His house here was in the garden this

side of Riley Ives' house, and is remembered by the

old people as the Evans House, where Eli Terry, the

father of clock-making, began housekeeping with one

chair apiece for himself and wife, and one cup and

saucer. Mr. Todd's second child was Mary, who

married Obed Foot, of this parish, and, on his death,

Rev. Jonathan Leavitt, of Heath, Mass. Mr. Todd

had eleven children, there being two Alatheas and

two Lucys.

The great revival under President Edwards roused

the New England churches from the cold formalism

that grew out of the union of Church and State and

other causes, and Mr. Todd went to study it at Stock-

bridge, probably by the advice of Joseph Bellamy,

settled two years before at Bethlehem, a great friend

of Edwards, and then in the midst of a religious re-

vival, in which every man, woman, and child in the

parish was under more or less religious concern.

When Mr. Todd returned, established prayer-meet-

ings, and labored with souls, many of his congrega-

tion rebelled against him, and abandoned his preach-

ing. There was also temporal trouble. Two years

before the society was organized a building had been

built for public purposes, by subscription, west of the

river, and owned by subscribers, in which the society

was allowed to meet for public worship. That was

never the society's meeting-house, for they never

owned it; it was built and owned by proprietors, and

occupied by the society for a time by their consent.

The society's movement to build a meeting-house was

not caused by their being voted out of this building;

the society, instead, being voted out of it because it

had resolved to build a meeting-house.

The society had been organized Nov. 20, 1739, and

a minister installed May 7, 1740 ; not satisfied with
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the west-side house, the society voted, Oct. 6, 1740, to

get the Legislature to set a stake for a meeting-house,

as it liad none of its own. This was not because, as

Bronson says, the churchmen liad obtained a majority

of the votes and tools exclusive possession of the house

of worship. A protest of the proprietors of that build-

ing to the Legislature has been found in Mr. Satterlee's

possession, in which they say that their obligations

to Mr. Todd are as much as they can meet ; therefore

they ask that the meeting-house be not built at present,

but tliat their house be established as the place for

public worship, which is sufficient for the present

wants of the society, and is freely offered for its use.

The protest is dated Oct. 8, 1740, two days after the

vote of the society to build, and is signed by William

Ludingtun, Jonathan Cook, John Sutlitf, Sr. and Jr.,

Barnabas Ford, John How, Isaac Castle, Thomas and

Jacob Blasle, Ebenezer Richason, Samuel Jacobs,

Caleb Huraaston, Phineas Royce, Daniel Curtiss,

Gideon Allen, Jeremiah Peck, Sr. and Jr., Ebenezer

Elwell, and Samuel Frost. The protest was never

sent to the Legislature, but the next May, John Sutliff,

Barnabas Ford, and John How, on authority of the

proprietors, sent one, saying that they were behind

with Mr. Todd's settlement and salary, and praying

that further charges respecting a meeting-house be

prevented at present. It is evident that the occupa-

tion of the west-side house was merely temporary and

provisional, the society chancing to be organized there,

iis there was no other public building in the parish

limits ; it was not regarded as the meeting-house, nor

did they intend to remain in it permanently. It was

not the society of Wooster Swamp, but of Northbury,

which mainly lay east of the river, where it proceeded

to build as soon as it was in fair working order.

The west-side settlers naturally objected to the

building, because tliey saw it would be done east of

the river, and they tried to persuade the society to

remain in their scliool-house. But when they saw

that the society was determined to build and on the

east side, a majority (not of the society, for that would

have controlled it and defeated the project of building

on the east side) of the proprietors of the west-side house

(eleven of the nineteen) voted the society out of doors

till it should have completed its own house; then this

majority of the ])roprictors, knowing that the l^egisla-

ture would not organize an opposition Congregational

Church west of the river, formed an Episcopal society.

The minority of the proprietors of the west building,

though opposed to building a mceting-hou.se east of

the river, yet remained loyal to the .society, and were

its pillars,—Jeremiah Peck, first deacon, John Sut-

liff, Sr. and Jr. (the junior being si.xth deacon), Caleb

Huniiuston, and Phineas Koyce. The society had it-s

first home on the hill, and here it has always been,

nor would an Episcopal society have been formed in

Thomaston then if the church had been built there.

The conflict wius prinuirily of locality and only sec-

ondarily of ecclesiastical order.

32

The secession weakened the society, leaving half

the number to do double the work,—to build Mr.

Todd's house and a meeting-house ; there were only

a handful of members left, and they were poor, just

building their own houses and clearing their farms.

But they did not break down under the heavy burden,

and established the society on firm foundations. But

Mr. Todd's house was built slowly, and his first year

he gave in twenty pounds of his salary towards it

;

but it was finished by December, 1742, for then the

society, turned out of the school-house in the hollow,

voted to meet there part of the year, he having, mean-

while, been living on Town Hill. The disruption of

the society hindered it in building a meeting-house,

and put a temporary end to society meetings and to

its organization. But in May, 1741, in response to

the appeal of John Bronson, Moses and Thomas
Blakeslee, the Legislature directed Benjamin Hall

and Capt. John Riggs, of Derby, to go to Northbury,

warn a society meeting, and see that it chose proper

officers. They were also to direct them where and

how long to meet for Sabbath worship, and to see

where and when it was best to build a meeting-house.

At the meeting they warned for June 10, 1741, Joseph

Clark was chosen clerk, Daniel Curtiss collector of

the minister's rate, and Deacon Moses Blakeslee,

Lieut. John Bronson, and Sergt. John Warner pru-

dential committee .to fix a place to build a meeting-

house, and, meanwhile, they were directed to meet in

the west school-house ten months, and in Joseph

Clark's house in January and February, when it was

difficult for those this side to cross the river.

The society applied to the Legislature for a com-

mittee, as directed, and, notwithstanding the protest

of those on the we-st side, Capts. John Rogers and John
Fowler were sent to select the meeting-house site at

the society's expense, and set a stake twenty rods west

of One Pine Swamp, and thirty rods soutli of the road

running east from the river. The society voted to

build there Dec. 3, 1744, having before this been

turned out of the west side school-house, and meeting

on the Sabbath in the houses of Joseph Clark, Sr.

and Jr., and at Mr. Todd'.s seven months, including

winter, on the east side, and five months on the west.

Jan. 9, 1745, it was voted to ask the Legislature for a

tax on the land to licl|> build a meeting-house, and at

a meeting helil the next 24th of September, it was

asked to confirm the middle stake, which the court's

committee had set as its site ; it was then requested

that the land tax be not imposed on members of the

Church of England, Barnabas Ford, Thomas and

David Blakeslee having protested against the taxa-

tion of their land. John Warner, the society's agent

in this matter, repre.><cnts in his niemcirial tiiat about

one-third of the society have become Episcopalians,

and at his request the middle stake was nnide the site

for the church.

The next December Deacon Moses lUakesIee was

appointed to fix the site of the troublesome building

;
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at this time they met this side of the river the whole

year, at Caleb Weed's in March and April, and at

Joseph Clark's the rest of the time, the latter being

voted twelve shillings in winter, and ten shillings in

warmer weather. The church was not begun in Octo-

ber, 1746, for then it was voted to get and draw tim-

bers for it. December of that year it was voted to

meet each side of the river half the time, in the houses

of Phineas Royce and Caleb Weed. Sept. 22, 1747,

it was voted to allow the people to build Sabbath-day

houses on the green, outside a line drawn by the so-

ciety's committee ; it was also voted to cut and clear

the brush from the green. This green was given the

society for a place of parade, a burying-ground, and

a place to build the church on by the town of Water-

bury, which bought eight rods south of the meeting-

house stake, eighteen rods north, and sixteen rods

west of it, of John Brinsmade, of Milford ; he pre-

sented an acre besides, and others gave four-tenths

of an acre, making four acres in all, which was deeded

to the society, through Caleb Humaston, Dec. S, 1747,

and was described as butting west on Brinsmade's

land, north on Humaston's, east on Mr. Todd's, and

south on the highway, showing that the road ran

there where it does now. In 1825 arbitrators decided

that the green belonged to the society, and the town's

only right, acquired by usage, was to bury in the

burying-ground. The green was then an alder swamp,

and when the second church was built, it was still so

wet that some wanted the church at the head of the

street, that proud Madam Ballany and Mrs. Wright

might occasionally wet their feet going to meeting, as

more common people had had to do.

The Northbury society grew through much tribu-

lation. First it petitioned the town four times,—in

October, 1734, September 29, and October 26, 1736,

and -April 18, 1737, and the Legislature five times,

—

in May and October, 1737, May and October, 1738,

and October, 1739. Then it was seven years after the

society was organized before it began to build, and

twenty-two years after that before its meeting-house

was done. It was dignified Dec. 7, 1753, at which

time David Potter gave the society a funeral cloth,

which was kept at Mr. Todd's. In December, 1761,

it was voted to floor the gallery, and the next Decem-
ber to glaze the house, liberty being then given to

dig a well on the southwest corner of the green. In

December, 1763, a committee was chosen to carry on

work on the meeting-house, and to set a " horse

house" partly on the green and partly on the high-

way. The final vote to complete the meeting-house

was on Dec. 5, 1768, in the third year of Mr. Storrs'

ministry. Mr. Todd never preached in it as finished,

and all through his ministry the burden of it was on

him and his people. This was a struggle on which

the destiny of the society turned, and it made effort

and sacrifice till the work was done. Mr. Todd's

ministry was full of perplexity and trial, a divided

people, an overwhelmed society, disturbance in church

and State, a depreciated currency, and an increasing

family. First, he could not get into his house, nor

then into his meeting-house ; the people were too

poor to pay his salary, which was often changed, and
thrice he changed his home. He bore it nobly and
unselfishly, surrendering twenty pounds of his salary

the first year, and in 1745 he offered to give up all

rates and contracts and live on what might be volun-

tarily contributed.

Finally, Feb. 12, 1756, he addresses the people, re-

ferring to the difficulties between them, which he

traces to the trouble of his support, to meet which
he offers to live on what the deacons may gather from

a jjublic contribution taken once in two months at

the close of evening service on the Lord's day, besides

a grant of the ministry money to him if they please.

The society accepted the offer, and they struggled on

a few years longer. But the case was hopeless, and,

on application, a committee of the Association of New
Haven County,—Daniel Humphrey, John Trumbull,

of Westbury, Benj. Woodbridge, of Woodbridge, and

Mark Leavenworth, of Waterbury, lamented the diffi-

culties and alienations between them and their pastor,

which there was no hope of accommodating, and

which they left with the judge of all the earth for

decision. They recommended that a council be called

to settle the matter or dismiss the pastor, and the lat-

ter was done in August, 1764. Mr. Todd was the

apostle of Plymouth, and did pioneer work and es-

tablished the society by wisdom, patience, endurance,

humility, and self-sacrifice. He lived in advance of

his time, believing in revivals, the voluntary support

of the gospel, and the free fellowship of the churches,

and much of the free, advanced character of the later

town is due to the influence of his ministry. He was

expelled from the New Haven Association for assist-

ing at the ordination of Rev. Jonathan Lee, of Salis-

bury, in 1744, on the principles of the Cambridge

platform, but his people did not reject him on that

account. Like Moses he led his people to the border

of the land of promise, but did not enter in himself,

Mr. Storrs coming to find the people united and the

church built. His last communication to the society

was Dec. 24, 1764, where he acknowledged that his

salary was settled to his full satisfaction. Like other

pastors then, he kept the records of his own ministry

and doubtless carried them away with him, so that

but little is known of the details of his labors.

Research has brought to light in B. B. Satterlec's

possession the original constitution of the church in

Mr. Todd's handwriting, the four following rules for

church discipline, creeds, and articles of iiiith being

then unknown

:

" That in order to a person's admission into tbe church, there shall be

a major vote of tlie church then present.

" Tliat a complaint against an offender shall not be esteemed valid be-

fore the person offended hath attended the gospel rule.

" That a minister shall not be obliged to prosecute an offender, before

the person offended brings in the complaint in writing and signed by his

own hand, with substantial evidence.
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" That a Christian who prosecutes his hrother in the civil law for an

injury doue him, before he hatli attended the gospel rule with him, shall

be esteemed an offender and shall be dealt with as such an one."

After a pastorate of twelve years in Adams, Mass.,

and serving as chaplain in the Eevoliition, Mr. Todd
died in Oxford, N. H., June, 10, 1789, aged seventy

years.

Rev. Andrew Storrs was ordained and installed

Nov. 27, 1765, and died while in office, March 2, 1785,

after a pastorate of nearly twentj' years. He was

born in Mansfield, in this State, Dec. 20, 1735, to

Samuel and Mary (Warner) Storrs, and was great-

grandson of the Storrs who came from Nottingham-

shire to Barnstable, Mass., in 1683. The family was

strongly imbued with Puritan principles, and his

parents were eminently godly persons. Rev. Dr.

Richard Storrs, of Brooklyn, and Judge Storrs, of the

State Supreme Court, are of the same stock. After

a little more than a year of preparatory study, doubtless

under Dr. Richard Salter, second pastor at Mansfield

(who fitted young men for college, and at one time took

twenty barrels of cider to pay for tuition), Andrew
entered Yale, Oct. 24, 1757, and graduated with the

class of 1760, so that he must have entered in advance

or gained a class in the course; but little more was

then required to graduate than is necessary now to

enter college. From a diary of his found this spring

in Milton, it transpires that he had poor health, which

interrupted his studies and made him pay repeated

vi.sits to Oblong, west of Sharon, in New York, and

his trips there made him acquainted with this region,

and he probably passed through Northbury. The
year after his graduation Mr. Storrs united with the

Mansfield Church, and was licensed to preach by

Windham Association, May 18, 1762. A year after

he married the widow of Rev. Freegrace Leavitt, of

Somers, who married Dr. Bellamy, of Bethlehem,

after his death.

Mr. Storrs' diary shows that he preached here first

May 2G, 1765. In July of tliat year he made a trip to

Eastern Massachusetts, and received the degree of A.M.
at Harvard, a proof of his sui)erior scholarship. Dur-

ing the summer of 1765, Mr. Storrs continued preach-

ing here, and on the first Monday in July the society

decided unanimously that they wished him to preach

for them. The first Monday in August they voted to

give him a call to preach the gospel among them as a

probationer, in order for settlement in the work of

the ministry. On the 30th of September the society

gave Mr. Storrs a call to settle, which he accepted.

He brouglit Mrs. Storrs here on the 20th of Novem-
ber, and tlie next day wa.s observed as one of public

fasting preparatory to the ortlination, which took

place on the 27th ; Rev. Messrs. Leavenworth, of

Waterbury, Bartholomew, first pastor at Harwiulon,

Newell, of Goshen, Champion, of Litchfield, and Pit-

kin, of Farmiiigton, were present. In personal ap-

pearance Mr. Storrs was large, of commanding pres-

ence and grave and dignified demeanor; though

never in robust health, he had a look of strength, and

made a fine appearance in his new leathern breeches,

with buckles at the knees and on his shoes. His

voice was full and powerful, and one remembers that

his grandmother told him he could be heard in the

Sabbath-day houses. A fine marksman, he could

bring down a squirrel from the top of the tallest tree,

and his gun and elaborately marked powder-horn are

still in the possession of the Stoughtons. He was of

a calm and even temperament, and moved sei'enely

through the Revolution, which his ministry covered.

He built the house where Mr. Kelsy has lately lived,

on laud bought of Caleb Humaston, putting it up in

1766. He set out the buttonballs and elms now
standing there.

The only entry on the society records indicative of

the Revolutionary struggle was a vote, Dec. 7, 1778,

in consideration of provision running to an extrava-

gant price, to furnish Mr. Storrs certain articles at

specified prices. In 1774, when Congress resolved on
non-intercourse with Great Britain, Phineas Royce
was moderator of a special town-meeting in Water-
bury, a mark of his prominence. At that meeting

Nathaniel Barnes, Dr. Roger Conant, and Jesse Cur-

tis, of Northbury, were on the committee to see tliat

no tea, molasses, sugar, coffee, spices, etc., were
brought into town and sold. At another meeting

held January 12th, Stephen Seymour, Randal Evans,

and David Smith, of Northbury, were on a committee

to receive donations contributed for the relief of the

poor in Boston, whose port was then closed by the

British fleet. Northbury sent Deacon Camp, father

of Deacon Camp, lately of Plainville, through the

wilderness of Maine with Arnohl, to besiege (.Quebec

in the winter of 1775. Daniel Rowe, grandfather of

A. Markham on his mother's side, was at the battle

of Saratoga, and was the first to reach Arnold after

he was wounded. David Smith, who lived where the

Quiet House now is, attained tlie rank of major, and
when tiie several Waterbury companies were formed

into a regiment in 1778, Jesse Curtiss, of Nortlibury,

was nnijor. In the successful campaign in the French
war, too, when Ticonderoga and Crown Point were
taken, Waterbury furnisiicd a company, in which
John SutlilT was lieutenant; in that war Daniel

Potter wijs ensign, and Asher Blakeslec, Euos Ford,

and others were engaged.

But this parisli was a stronghold of Toryism in the

Revolution, a majority of the leading men west of the

river holding fast to their British allegiance. Bitter

enmities were engendered and violent acts committed,

but we are to judge leniently ; the Tories were con-

nected by ties of religious a.-<sociation and support

with the mother-country, and their pastors, sincere

men, taught them that the colonial cause was treason

against government and God. While all the action

against Tories was not justifiable, it was not to be

wondered at as human nature is constituted. A Tory
was hung up till almost dead on the green, and u hook
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was shown in an old tavern, which stood where An-

drew Buel lives, where others were so hung. Devil's

Lane was near that tavern, and County Sheriff Lord,

of Litchfield, afterwards made arrests there, so that

they said " the Lord came down from Litchfield and

took the devil out of Plymouth," though he soon re-

turned. One man from this parish was arrested for

high treason, and executed at Hartford, March 19,

1777, though he was honest in his convictions and

offered to voluntarily confine himself to his farm.

This is the only one learned to have been executed

in the colony, and the death j^enalty against treason

was afterwards repealed. When this man was arrested,

his father offered to furnish hemp for a halter to hang

him with. This was about the middle of Mr. Storrs'

ministry.

March 2, 1785, Mr. Storrs died (and now lies in this

yard), two years after peace had been declared with

Great Britain. Five years before, in 1780, Westbury

and Northbury had been incorporated as a new town,

named Watertown, and transferred to Litchfield

County. These parishes were then the richest part

of Waterbury, the grand lists of the several societies

standing in 1749, Waterbury first, £12,181; West-

bury, £13,427; Northbury, £10,070. One of the

richest men in this society in the early times was

Jeremiah Peck, first deacon, whose property inven-

toried at £3702 when he died in 1752. Earlier than

that Barnabas Ford, the great land-holder, was one of

the wealthy men. He owned all Thomaston when it

was Fordton, his rule seeming to have been to buy all

land joining his; he bought all Mr. Todd's land in

the hollow before 1746, as appears by his will.

The only church record of the first five years of

Mr. Storrs' ministry are three votes,—admitting mem-

bers of the Church of England, in good standing, to

occasional communion, forbidding the pastor to re-

ceive complaints against members, unless presented

in writing and signed by two witnesses, and appoint-

ing Sergt. Jesse Curtis to tune the psalm. The

church had seventy-seven members when Mr. Storrs

began his ministry, and one hundred and seventy-eight

united with it while he was pastor. When Mr. Hart

had been here twenty years, he said of him that the

aged people remembered him with affectionate rever-

ence as a wise man and faithful pastor. Mr. Hart him-

self had formed a high opinion of his understanding

and heart, and said that he was distinguished by good

sense, wisdom, and prudence. Rev. Mr. Champion,

of Litchfield, preached his funeral discourse, and said

of him that, having lived greatly beloved, he died

equally lamented, and quitted this benighted world to

the inexpressible sorrow of his disconsolate surviving

partner, and to the universal grief of his church and

congregation. He says that he was endowed with

a good natural genius, improved by a liberal educa-

tion, and refined by divine grace. Descended from a

reputable family, his personal appearance was august

and venerable ; his eye betokened sensibility, uncom-

mon composure, and mildness of temper. Blessed

with a commanding voice, his delivery was graceful,

solemn, and affecting. Sound judgment, singular

prudence, great stability, and Christian candor en-

tered deep into his character.

Besides his pastoral labors, Mr. Storrs fitted many
students for college, and instructed young men for the

ministry, after the custom of the times. Mr. Storrs

had no children, and Oliver Stoughton, a nephew of

his wife, lived with him, doing chores and going to

school. He came into possession of the place on Mr.

Storrs' death, lived in it during Mr. Waterman's min-

istry, and sold it to Mr. Hart on his marriage, moving
himself to Town Hill ; his son, Andrew Stoughton,

thirteenth deacon of this church, was father of the

late and present deacon of that name.

Some time before Mr. Storrs died he was taken with

a pain in his left side, which extended down to the

foot, as well a.s to the shoulder and neck and across

the body, contracting the whole left side, so that his

body bent to the left. • He was also troubled with a

cough and fever, and could get no relief from phy-

sicians. The course of his disease was so serious that

he desired to have a post-mortem examination of his

body, which was had. The left lung was found con-

tracted to the size of a goose-egg, full of knotty hard

parts, lying in the upper part of the breast, to which

it was fast at the back. The left side of the breast

below it was filled with five pints of watery matter.

The ribs on that side were very brittle and the flesh

hard, and full of horny kernels from the size of a pea

to that of a nutmeg, not connected with one another

or with the bones of the body. One bone of the size

of a chestnut was found in the cavity of the breast,

and the bowels adhered fast to the left side, but no

corrupted matter was found, nor were any of the other

organs of the body apparently affected.

Simon Waterman, the third pastor here, was born

in Norwich, Jan. 17, 1737, to a family that originally

came from Norwich, in England. He was brought

up in Bozrah, where he doubtless joined the church,

though there are no church records of that time. He
graduated at Yale in the class of 1759, the year before

Mr. Storrs, whose friend he was in college, and who

probably mentioned him to his people as his successor

before he died. The first church in Wallingford

called Mr. Dana, of Harvard, without applying to the

Association for advice or to the Consociation for ordi-

nation. A minority applied to the New Haven Asso-

ciation, which had excommunicated Rev. Messrs.

Todd, Leavenworth, of Waterbury, and Humphreys,

of Derby, and which now excommunicated the Wal-

lingford Church, recognizing the minority as the

church, which called Mr. Waterman as its first and

only pastor. Being unable longer to support him, he

was dismissed May 3, 1787, by his church, which

threw up its organization and returned to its old fel-

lowship, a- result which Dr. Bacon regards as to his

credit, as some men would have exasperated the quar-
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rel and made it incurable. While at Wallingford, in

1774, Mr. Waterman was the first missionary sent out

by the Congregational Association to the back settle-

ments in Vermont and Northern New York, largely

settled from this State. This was the iirst missionary

movement in the colony, and Mr. Waterman was one

of the first three home missionaries. During his pas-

torate here, in 1797, he went on a similar mission, and

made a third trip to Central New York ; thus this

church had an early part in the work of home mis-

sions.

Mr. Waterman was settled here Aug. 29, 1787, the

year the adoption of the federal constitution opened

a new era of consolidated national life. He brought

Eunice, his wife, to whom her father, Benjamin Hall,

a magistrate, had married him July 26, 1764, and six

children, two having died in Wallingford: Eunice,

who married Dr. Wells, of Berlin, was nineteen

;

Amanda, who married Aaron, son of Gen. David Smith,

fourteen ; Philomela, who married Maj. Wright's

nephew Benjamin, and went to Rome, N. Y., then an

Indian wilderness, eleven ; Mary, who married Gen.

David Smith's nephew Walter, eight; Simon, six;

and Joshua, three. It was a pretty family, welcome

in a parish where the minister's family had been

childless twenty years. Mr. Waterman lived in the

Warner house on South Street, next to Mrs. Smith's,

and set out the great elms now towering before it.

His home life was pleasant, with happy gatherings of

young folks, with courting in the parlor as the years

went on. Not one of that family is now alive. Mr.

Waterman stood well with the ministers in the State
;

he was considered an able support of orthodoxy, and

the Litclifield County Association regarded it a favor

to receive him as a member. He preached the funeral

sermon of Rev. John Trumbull, of Watertown, and

at Dr. Bellamy's funeral was .assigned the distinction

of walking with his widow. He was dismissed in

1809, and resided here till his death in 1813, three

years after Mr. Hart came here.

Mr. Hart says that Mr. Waterman came hero to do

good, and the first Sunday after his installation, the

state of piety being low, the covenant and confession

of faith being reail, he prevailed on the members to

stand before the congregation and testify their a.ssent

to it. Mr. Hart says, also, he was a man of active

habits, a good preacher, and truly devoted to the spir-

itual interests of his people, being ready, even at his

advanced age, to discharge parochial duty in fair

weather and foul, by night and day. One powerful

revival occurred during Mr. Waterman's ministry,

and one or two sea-sons of less interest. He received

two hundred and twenty members, one hundred and

seventy-one by profession. Of medium height, he

was thin, very straight, of active motions, nervous

temperament, and an excellent horseman
;
graceful

in bearing, elegant and courtly in manner, a master

of ceremony, he wa.s one of the most stylisli of the

pastors of this church. He used to walk up the broad

aisle bowing and smiling on either side, the people

rising and bowing to him as he passed. Reaching

the pulpit, he first turned and bowed to the bass on

his right, who filled the front gallery seat on the

south side, and rose to bow in return. This parade

was repeated with the treble in front, and with the

counter and tenor on the left. The dignity and cour-

tesy of this old-time style told with benefit on char-

acter and life. This was carried to -exce-ss by the

president of Yale, small in stature but great in dignity,

who, in passing into the chapel between two files of

seniors, ranged outside the door according to custom,

slipped and fell flat on his back in the mud. The

students were overcome with laughter. Rising and

casting a withering glance upon them, the prex burst

out, "Young gentlemen, do you not know how awful

a thing it is to laugh in the presence of God, and

much more in my presence?"

Traditions of Mr. Waterman's masterly horseman-

ship are numerous, and he made a very fine appearance

on horseback. He rode a sorrel marc, and went " like

a streak," erect as a ramrod, wearing his three-cornered

hat, and with his pipe in his mouth. He was a true

and high type of the old colonial minister and gentle-

man. His lot was caiit here in the stormy political

times of Jeff'erson and Adams, when the feeling be-

tween Federalists and Republicans divided members

of the same church. Mr. Waterman, in common with

the clergy and most educated men in New England,

feared that the triumph of the infidel Jefferson would

prove the downfall of religion, and his strong expres-

sion exasperated the Jeli'ersonist.s in his congregation

and caused trouble. One of them gave him ten dollars

to allow him to publi.sh one of his political sermons,

thinking its strong tone would react on him ; but the

publisher would not take it, saying that it was so

strong it could not be answered, and would hurt Jeffer-

son. Some seceded from the congregation on account

of this political preaching, which was then usual. An
election .sermon wa.s preached at the time of the State

elections, sometimes when town-meetings were held,

and always on public fa.sts, when the clergy were al-

lowed and exi)ectcd to discuss public ((uestions. When
the news of the election of Adaois as President and

JetVerson as Vice-President reached Litchfiehl in 1796,

Rev. Mr. Champion, an intense Federalist, in his

Sunday morning prayer implored the blessing of the

Holy Spirit on the President, and a double portion on

the Vice-President, " for thou kiiowest, (> Lord, that

he needs it."

The second nipcting-hnuse was built during Mr.

Waterman's ministry, and was a source of trouble.

The vote for a survey to find the middle of the town

was passed March li, 1 783, during the last of M r. Storrs'

ministry, and it was found to be on Town Hill, where

the .stake for the meeting-house was stuck in front of

Nathan Beach's house. M r. Storrs' sickness and death

interfered with liuilding then, but when Mr. Water-

man was .settled the enterprise was renewed, though
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there was trouble about the site at first. Jan. 11,

1790, it was finally voted to build the meeting-house

on a rock a little southeast from the house where

Samuel Lewis then lived, at the head of the road

leading from the old meeting-house eastward. The

23d of the next December it was voted to build a

steeple, and the 22d of October, 1792, it was voted to

dispose of the old house; on the 2d of the following

December liberty was granted to erect horse-sheds.

Dec. 7, 1806, a committee was appointed to confer with

Mr. Waterman regarding his uneasiness, with satis-

factory results, for no further trouble was had until

March 16, 1807, when another committee saw him in

reference to a communication of his to the society.

Sept. 25, 1809, it was finally voted to dismiss Mr.

Waterman, and he was dismissed by a Council on the

14th of November, he to retain the whole salary for

that year, and the society to pay him seven hundred

and fifty dollars in three annual installments.

Mr. Waterman died after a short illness, while on a

visit to a bachelor son in New York, who had left

home at the age of fifteen to serve a mercantile ap-

prenticeship with Messrs. Cutler & Smith, in Water-

town, and later in life did business in New Orleans

and New York. Mr. Waterman's remains were brought

to Plymouth, where his wife had died on the 10th of

the previous March ; a son, Simon,' having also died

in Berlin on the 7th of the previous September.

The present pastor is Rev. E. B. Hillard.

CONGREGATIONAL CHnBCH, TEBBYVILLE.

This church was organized Jan. 2, 1838, with the

following members, who had previously been con-

nected with the church at Plymouth : Philo Lewis,

Warren Goodwin, Mrs. Elvira Goodwin, John C.

Lewis, Mrs. Ann P. H. Lewis, Anna D. McKee,
Ezekiel Montague, Mrs. Janett Montague, William

E. McKee, Mrs. Adaline A. McKee, Milo Blakes-

ley, Mrs. Dorcas Blakesley, Daniel Beach, Mrs.

Sally Beach, Thaddeus Beach, Frederick H. Kel-

logg, Elam Fenn, Mrs. Lydia Fenn, Sherman Guern-

sey, John A. Warner, Mrs. Semantha Warner, Silas

B. Terry, Mrs. Maria W. Terry, Andrew Fenn, Mrs.

Rhoda Fenn, James Hunter, Hannah Goodwin,

Robert Johnson, Mrs. Wealthy Johnson, Linus

Blakesley, Abram S. Hemingway, Mrs. Ora Kim-
berly, Mrs. Polly Hemingway, Nathaniel Humiston,

Phineas Hitchcock, Mrs. Patty Hitchcock, David

Atkins, Mrs. Mary Fenn, Mrs. Keturah Fenn, Han-
nah Cook, Eli Terry, Jr., Mrs. Samantha Terry, Ju-

lius P. Bonney, Gains F. Warner, Mrs. Harriet War-
ner, Eli Curtiss, Mrs. Emeline Perkins, Mrs. Heph-
zibah Cook.

Mr. Charles H. Porter, then a junior in Yale Col-

lege, spent the month of January in the place, and

by the blessing of God upon his labors Christians

were greatly revived, and many persons were hope-

fully converted. Two young ministers—viz., C. S.

Sherman and David Dobie—followed up the labors of

Mr. Porter, and in the six months between the organ-

ization of the church and the settlement of the first

pastor thirty-nine persons were added to the mem-
bership by profession of faith in Christ.

Aug. 8, 1838, was a great day with this people. In

the forenoon the completed house of worship was

dedicated, and in the afternoon three young men were

ordained to the gospel ministry, one of whom, Na-
thaniel Richardson, was installed (first) pastor of this

church. The preacher upon this occasion was Rev.

Dr. Noah Porter, of Farmington. The ministry of

Mr. Richardson extended to July 2, 1840.

Rev. Merrill Richardson was the second pastor. He
came to this field with the experience of a year's pre-

paratory labor in Salisbury, Vt. He was installed Oct.

27, 1841, and was dismissed July 1, 1846. He was in-

stalled pastor of this church a second time. May 16,

1849, and was dismissed Jan. 18, 1858. His entire

term of service was thirteen and a half years,—a period

nearly three times as long as that of any other pastor

of this church. He died Dec. 12, 1876, being at that

time pastor of the First Congregational Church of

Milford, Mass., and, in accordance with his own de-

sire, his body was brought here for burial.

During the time between the periods of Mr. Rich-

ardson's labors. Rev. Judson A. Root was nominally

pastor. He was settled Oct. 7, 1846, and dismissed

May 16, 1849 ; but ill health had incapacitated him

for the performance of the duties of his oflBce after

April 30, 1847, at which time he resigned the pastoral

charge. He continued to decline until his death.

During a portion of the time in which Mr. Root was

pastor. Rev. Samuel J. Andrews was employed as a

supply. He acted in that capacity about six months.

After the last dismissal of Mr. Richardson, Edward

A. Walker, a student from Yale Theological Semi-

nary, supplied the pulpit. In connection with his

labors an extensive revival began, which continued

under the efforts of his successor. There had been an

increase of solemnity in the parish before the depar-

ture of Mr. Richardson, who was confident the church

was on the eve of a revival. Mr. Walker was instru-

mental in the great enlargement of the Sabbath-

school, and in the resuscitation of the female prayer-

meeting.

John Monteith, Jr., was ordained pastor Oct. 27,

1858. His ministry is a memorable era in the history

of the church ; a great accession of converts was re-

ceived,—sixty-four in 1858, seven in 1869, four in 1860.

Following upon Mr. Monteith, who was dismissed

July 31, 1860, the dismissal to take effect the first

Sabbath in September, came another minister di-

rectly from a theological seminary, A.Hastings Eoss,

who supplied the pulpit for six months.

His successor was Rev. Edwin R. Dimock, whose

labors covered a period of eighteen months.

After Mr. Dimock, Rev. H. H. McFarland sup-

plied for six months, and was succeeded by Rev.

Franklin A. Spencer, who was installed pastor June
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24, 1863, and was dismissed May 1, 1865. A revival

attended his labors, and upwards of thirty were added

to the church by profession of faith.

Rev. E. M. Wright began labor as acting pastor,

March 11, 1866, and resigned April 17, 1870, broken

down in health and spirit by the sudden death of his

wife.

Henry B. Mead was ordained June 7, 1871, and dis-

missed May 12, 1874. During his ministry there was

an accession of thirty-three by profession of faith.

Rev. Leverett S. Griggs began labor as acting pas-

tor Oct. 25, 1874, and is the present incumbent.

In addition to the foregoing, Rev. A. C. Baldwin

has preached to this people many months in the ag-

gregate.

Of the seventeen ministers named, six have already

cease to live and labor among men, viz. : Messrs.

Porter, Merrill, Richardson, Root, Walker, Dimock,

and Wright.

The following figures exhibit in part the growth of

the church. Starting with a membership of forty-five

in 1838, it had an enrollment Dec. 31, 1850, of one

hundred and twenty-eight; Jan. 1, 1858, one hundred

and forty-nine ; Dec. 31, 1860, two hundred and nine-

teen; Dec. 31, 1865, two hundred and thirty-one;

Feb. 1, 1879, two hundred and seventy-seven.

During the forty-one years of its existence it has

had the privilege of furnishing four candidates for the

gospel ministry, viz. : Edwin Johnson, lately pastor of

the Second Congregational Church of Bridgeport;

Linus Blakesley, pastor of the First Congregational

Church of Topeka, Kan.; Horace R. Williams, pastor

of the Congregational Church of Almont, Mich. ; and
Mosely H. Williams, engaged in the work of the

American Sunday-School Union, Philadelphia.

The Sabbath-school preceded the organization of

the church, being first held in the old red school-

house in 1834. There were four classes, taught by

Milo Blakesley, Philo Lewis, Miss Rhoda Swift (now

Mrs. James Hunter), and Mrs. Sherman ({uernsey.

The session was at nine o'clock in the morning, giv-

ing an opportunity to attend the morning service at

Plymouth.

After this Bible classes were held at private houses

until the new church edifice wa.s occupied.

From that time until 1857 the school was organized

every year in the spring, and closed in the fall.

There were no records kept during those years, but

it is remembered that Deacon Milo Blakesley was first

elected superintendent, followed by Warren Goodwin,

Phinehas Hitchcock, James Ednuinds, witii Mi.ts

Hannah Goodwin as assistant. Deacon S. B. Terry,

with Miss Eliza Bunnell (Mrs. Carpenter) as assistant,

Warren Goodwin, X. C. Boardman, Gaius A. Norton,

and perhaps others, each serving one or more years.

In May, 1857, R. D. H. Allen was elected, and it was

decidcil in the fall to continue the school through tlie

winter. Tiie .school had numl)ered about forty in 1845,

and forty-five in 1849, as we learn from private memo- '

randa. During the revival of 1858, and under the min-

istry of Rev. E. A. Walker, the school received a new
impulse, calling into its membership nearly the entire

congregation. The school was reorganized, R. D. H.

Allen was again elected superintendent, B. S. Beach

chorister, which position he has since filled with little

or no intermission, and A. H. Beach was elected sec-

retary, acting also as assistant superintendent, to

which position he was elected in 1859. Mr. Allen

continued to hold the office of superintendent until

February, 1865, with the following assistants : O. D.

Hunter, appointed Oct. 26, 1860; W. H. Scott, Feb. 1,

1863 ; and A. H. Beach, Feb. 8, 1864. During all

these years Mr. Allen had charge of a class of

young men, and at his request A. H. Beach acted

(perhaps with .the exception of one year) as an extra

assistant by relieving him of many of the details of

the superintendent's office. During one year, also,

Miss Margaret McClintock assisted, having the ar-

rangement and oversight of the younger classes.

Feb. 10, 1865, James C. Mix was cliosen superintend-

ent, and M. D. Holcomb assistant. Both having re-

moved from the place, J. P. Crawford was elected su-

perintendent, Oct. 29, 1865, and selected W. H. Scott

for assistant, who has served in that capacity ever

since.

Mr. Crawford was succeeded in 1866 by James

Hunter for five successive years, and he by N. T.

Baldwin for two years. F. W. Mix, appointed in

1873, has held the office until the present time. Since

18.58 the numbers on the roll have varied from two

hundred and forty to three hundred and fifty, and the

average attendance from one hundred and thirteen to

two hundred and twenty-eight. Of the entire num-
ber (three hundred and ninety-two) received into the

church by profession since its organization, two

hundred and forty-three were from the Sabbath-

school. The school has succeeded remarkably in re-

taining the interest of our people of every age and

iwsition. It has received the earnest, active co-oper-

ation of our most prominent business men. It has

done much to mould and guide the religious thought

of our coninuinity, and ha.4 turned the minds of many
to Christ and His salvation.

The house of worsliip was erected with funds se-

cured by a subscription bearing date Sept. 13, 1837,

which amounted to ^3.558. A small additional sum
was raised sulxsequently to complete the building.

The chairman of the building committee was Wyllys

Atwater, and the builder wa.s Riley Scott, who is still a

member of this church.

The parsonage wa.s donated to the ecclesiastical so-

ciety, Aug. 26, 1841, by Ell Terry, Sr.

In 1853, in the period of the ministry of Rev. Mer-

rill Richardson, an enlargement of the capacity of the

house of worship became neccs.Hary, and the galleries

were introduced, for which the sum of four Inindrcd

and sixty-seven dollars wiw provide<l by subscription.

In 1878 the building was raised up and thoroughly
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renovated, and the lecture-room and ladies' parlor

constructed underneath. The total outlay was some-

thing more than eight thousand dollars, including the

cost of the organ, which was contributed by the Sab-

bath-school. The chairman of the building com-

mittee was O. D. Hunter. Services of rededication

were held Nov. 6, 1878.

The deacons of the church have been as follows

:

Milo Blakesley, Eli Curtis, Silas B. Perry, Gains A.

Norton, R. D. H. Allen, and Ira H. Stoughton.

The present officers of the church are as follows

:

Pastor, Leverett S. Griggs ; Deacons, R. D. H. Allen,

Ira H. Stoughton ; Standing Committee, pastor, dea-

cons, clerk, Sunday-school superintendent, N. Taylor

Baldwin, James Hunter, George H. Plumb ; Sabbath-

school Superintendent, F. W. Mix ; Assistant Super-

intendent, Walter H. Scott; Treasurer, Deacon Ira

H. Stoughton ; Clerk, W. T. Goodwin.

ST. PETER'S CIIUKCH.

This church was organized in 1740, in Plymouth

Hollow, now Tliomaston, where the first church edi-

fice was erected. The rectors previous to the war of

the Revolution were Theophilus Morris, James Lyon,

Richard Mansfield, James Scoville, and James Nichols.

The society was reorganized after the Revolution

with the following members : Solomon Collins, Abuer

Blakeslee, Titus Barnes, Asher Blakeslee, Eli Blakes-

lee, Hosea Blim, Moses Blakeslee, Samuel Blakeslee,

Philo Bradlee, Amos Bronson, Ebenezer Bradley,

Noah Blakeslee, Jude Blakeslee, Ebenezer Bradley,

Jr., John Brown, Thos. Blakeslee, Joab Camp, Abishai

Castle, Zadok Curtis, Amasa Castle, Ezra Dodge,

Samuel Fenn, Ebenezer Ford, Jesse Fenn, Lemuel

Funcher, Cephas Ford, Barnabas Ford, Isaac Fenn,

Enos Ford, Daniel Ford, Amos Ford, Cornelius

Graves, Benj. Graves, Simeon Graves, Zacheus Howe,
Eliphalet Hartshorn, Eliphalet Hartshorn, Jr., Jesse

Humaston, David Luddington, Zebulon Mosher,

Chancey Moss, Jacob Potter, Samuel Peck, Jr., Sam-
uel Potter, Gideon Seymour, David Shelton, Ezekiel

Sanford, Jr., Abel Sutlift', Jr., Samuel Scoville, Jr.,

Jesse Turner, Wm. Tuttle, Thos. Williams, Eli Wel-

ton, Thos. Way, Ogrius Warner, Thos. Williams, Jr.,

Samuel Way.
After its reorganization, the church to 1792 was

supplied by Ashbel Baldwin, Philo Shelton, Pillotow

Branson, and Chauncey Prindle.

The present church edifice was erected in 1796, and

consecrated Nov. 2, 1797. The rectors from that

time have been Nathan B. Burgess, Roger Searle,

Rodney Rossiter. After Mr. Rossiter the following

officiated about six months each : Robert W. Harris,

Joseph T. Clark, Gurdon S. Coit, Norman Pinney,

and Allen C. Morgan.

In 1831, Rev. Dr. Burhans became pastor. His

successors have been as follows : 1837, Rev. Mr. Wa-
ters (supply). Rev. William Watson; 1851, Rev. Mr.

Denison ; 1854, Rev. A. B. Goodrich ; 1856, Rev. S. H.

Miller; 1859, Rev. Dr. Berry; 1862, Rev. Mr. Lums-
den; 1864, Rev. B. Eastwood; 1869, Rev. Porter

Thomas; 1873, Rev. L. M. Dorman; 1874, Rev. S.

B. Duffield
; 1877, Rev. Mr. Bates ; 1879, Rev. J. D.

Gilliland.

There is also an Episcopal Church,—St. Matthew's,

—located in the northeast part of the town, but has

no settled rector.

CHAPTER L.

PLYMOUTH (Continued).

MANUFACTURIN(3 INTERESTS.—CIVIL HISTORY.

THE MANUFACTURING INTERESTS OF TERETVILLE.*

A SMALL stream rising in the northwestern part of

Terryville still bears the old Indian name, " Pequa-

buck." This receives before it leaves the village the

Poland River and a- small tributary coming from the
" Old Marsh," so called. Under this name the Pequa-

buck unites with the Farmington River at Farming-

ton, and thence flows into the Connecticut at Windsor.

These three streams have been utilized since the first

settlemcntof the country for sawing lumber, grinding

grain, and various other local purposes.

In or about the year 1824, Eli Terry (2d) re-

moved from tlie western part of Plymouth (Thomas-

ton), and built a shop on the Pequabuck, for the

manufacture of clocks, where the shop formerly

owned and occupied by the Lewis Lock Company
now stands, which shop was burned in 1851, and re-

placed by the present one. He was the eldest of

four sons of Eli Terry, who came from Windsor, Conn.,

in 1793, and established the clock business in Ply-

mouth Hollow, then Northbury, now Thomaston.

His father had been thoroughly educated by the best

English clock-makers of the country, and in his ex-

perience of more than thirty years had not only placed

the business on a solid foundation, but made it for

himself a financial success. He trained his three

eldest sons to the same trade, and furnished them

capital to commence, each for himself, in different

parts of the town. Eli Terry (2d) was at this

time about twenty-five years of age, and evidently

possessed the elements of character which command
success : he was energetic, ambitious, industrious,

and economical.

As this was then only a farming community, he was

under the necessity of providing houses for himself

and his employees. He took great interest in the so-

ciety he gathered around him, and was a man of large

influence for good. The methods of business were

very different from those of the present. It will be

remembered that there were then no railroads to the

market, and goods were carted to the nearest water-

conveyances, and thence shipped to the cities, or they

* Contributed by E. D. H. Allen.
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were distributed by peddlers to all parts of the coun-

try. Money was scarce, and a cash trade was the

exception. Many clocks were exchanged for goods

of every kind,—everything that was needed in such a

community,—hence the necessity that the manufac- I

turers keep a store for the distribution of these goods.

Sometimes, if shrewd, he thus made two profits, but

perhaps quite as often the skillful manufacturer failed
{

to be qualified for a merchant, and made a loss instead

of a profit. The peddlers sold at high prices to parties

who would buy and give their notes in payment, and
these notes often proved worthless. The system of

barter, too, extended to the pay of the workmen.
Very little cash did they get, but orders on the store

instead, and at the settlement at the end of the year

for which each one was hired, he received a note for

the balance due. These were the serious drawbacks
to business of every kind at that time.

On the other hand, there were some favorable cir-

cumstances for Mr. Terry. The demand for clocks

was large, only limited by the limited means of the

people who wanted them. They were almost an ar-

ticle of necessity, but the extreme high price at which
they had necessarily been held in the market forbade

their use to those whose means were moderate

;

but by the introduction of machinery in place of

hand-labor, and especially by the invention of the

shelf-clock, which had been introduced by the elder

Terry in 1814, they were placed within the means of !

a large class of people of more moderate incomes.
[

Moreover, by this same reduction in cost the manu-
facturer was placed beyond the reach of foreign com-
petition, while, protected by letters patent, it was
too early to be afl'ected by the home competition.

During the later years of his life Mr. Terry sufl'ered

much from the disease which terminated by his death

in 1841, at the age of forty-two. In his business life

of seventeen years he had accumulated what was
then accounted a handsome property, which was dis-

tributed to hi.s wife and six children. The clock

business was then sold to Hiram Welton & Co., who
continued it to 1845, when, upon the failure of the

company, caused in part by the failure of a party

whom they had underwritten, the business was closed

out.

Silas Burnham Terry, a younger brother of Eli

Terry (2d), in 1821 erected a shop for the manufac-

ture of clocks at the confluence of the Pequabuck
and Poland Rivers. He was less a managing man
than his brother, but a man of unusual and varied in-

i

telligence, a sui>erior mechanic, ingenious, and sur-

passed by no one iti his knowledge of the mechanism
of a clock. His limtlicr Henry says of hiiu, in an

obituary notice published by the Waterbury American

of May 30, 1876,—

"After proHeciitiiiK tho liiiNinoiM many yrHrs.niKl nmklnK, f»r ttio muttt

part, costly clockn, Btnifi;gling tlirungli tliu fliiaiKHfil tnniMoit of 1H37 anil

I8:i0, when most men not firmly efttubtisliud in ItuolnoM and capital were

bruken iluwn, lio tou bc4.'al»e a Hunorer, yet atniggleU ou until lie runnit '

no way of emancipation from tlie burden of debt fastened upon him hut

to relinquish a business not only not ren^unerative, but to him dis-

astrous. He had, however, during these years of business adversity in-

troduced new machinery, from wliich others derived more beneiit than

iiimself, and had introduced newly-arranged clocks, which have since

proved the best in the market. The clock known as the Seth Thomas

Regulator, Nos. 1 and 2i.is one. It is a pei-fect time-keeper, and is as

reliable, even for astronomical purposes, as the more showy clocks cost-

ing ten times as much. The same clock is also made at Winsted, and

by the Waterbury Clock Company. He had also made a new gravity

escapement regulator, of wliich we propose to speak farther on."

Farther on, after speaking of the three-legged

gravity escapement invented by E. B. Dennison,

LL.D., and described in a treatise written by him, he

claims that, though different in several respects, the

one invented by his brother antedates the former, and

says,

—

" This regulator, when put in its present locality, was kept running

four years steadily, during which time its rate of running was very per-

fect, requiring the use of observatory instruments to ascertain the varia-

tion at the end of four years. The perfecting of this gravity escape-

ment we therefore claim as an American invention. It has been run-

ning tive years longer than the Westminster clock described in the trea-

tise referred to, and may be seen at the late residence of the deceased iu

this city."

About 1852 he invented the " torsion balance clock,"

so called. It was designed for a cheap clock. The
movement was carried by a spring, as in other marine

clocks, but the balance was a flattened wire stretched

from top to bottom of the clock, to which was attached

a horizontal rod or wire with a small ball at each end,

which by their vibrations served to regulate the mo-

tion of the clock, and took the place of the hair-

spring. A joint-stock company was formed for the

manufacture of this clock, and a new factory was built

a short distance below the depot, utilizing the dam
built by Eli Terry, Sr., in tlio later years of his life,

after he had retired from business. The directors of

this company were James Terry, William E. McKee,
Theodore Terry, and S. B. Terry. The former was

president and financial manager, and the latter super-

intendent. The clock did not prove a success, owing

to the extreme delicacy of tlie balance, which ren-

dered it difficult to regulate. As a consequence the

company relinquished the business. Mr. Terry, how-

ever, always insisted that the difficulties were not in-

superable, and in the later years of his life, when
doing business for himself, contemplated taking it up

again and perfecting it. Many will remember the

clock, and the beauty and delicacy of its movement.

Mr. Terry was afterwards in the employ of William

L. Gilbert, at Winsted, and of the Waterbury Clock

Company, and then, with his sons, organized the Terry

Clock Company, in which he was engaged till near

the time of his death, in May, 18"(!.

Origin and Ili-nlori/ nf Ihr Kaijle Lock Company.—In

1832, Stephen C. Bueknell, a locksmith, cunie from

England and settled in Watertown. He was taken

under the patronage of a man of small capital, and
commenced the manufacture of cabinet locks. He
proposed to copy the finer ijualities of English locks,

and to prepare, as soon as possible, a stock of one
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hundred different varieties for tlie American market.

As he followed the English methods of hand-labor,

his progress was very slow, and his patron found that

his funds were likely to prove insufficient. He there-

fore sold out to Lewis, McKee & Co., of Terryville, a

company formed for that purpose, and consisting of

John E. Lewis, William E. McKee, and Eli Terry (2d),

then engaged in the clock business. They removed

the concern to Terryville, into a building standing

where the principal works of the Eagle Lock Com-
pany now stand. This building was burned in the

summer of 1859, and replaced by a larger and more

commodious one. The progress of this comp.any was

very slow, as the business was first to be learned and

the facilities were few. The only man who had had

any experience was the Englishman referred to, and

he knew nothing of the wants of the trade or of the

use of machinery. Machinery adapted to clock-

making had been invented and used, but this was,

very little of it, adapted to the making of locks. The
equipment of any manufactory of that day was very

crude as compared with the present, and the income

of this company for many years did not seem to war-

rant any outlay not absolutely necessary. They had

no engine-lathe for many years, and no planer for

nearly thirty years. Their dies were forged by hand,

and faced by hand-files. Hand-presses were used for

cutting out the parts of locks, and the power-press,

invented and first applied here, was not introduced

till a much later period. Lock-plates were imported

with selvages already bent, as they could be bought at

cheaper rates than the raw material.

But the difficulties of manufacturing were by no

means the most serious. When they attempted to

sell their locks they encountered obstacles still more

formidable. Trade of almost every kind was in the

hands of importers, and they were, or thought they

were, interested to discourage American manufactures,

hence they rudely repulsed the agent or officers of

the company who wished to show up their locks. As

a consequence they found themselves stocked with

goods upon which they could not realize, and could

only work them off slowly through commission houses.

In 1841, Mr. Terry, the president of the company, died,

and the concern was sold to Lewis & Gaylord (John

C. Lewis and Sereno Gaylord) for six cents on the

dollar of the capital stock. They profited by the ex-

perience of their succession, adding new and improved

machinery, introducing styles of goods better suited

to the trade, and gradually overcoming their preju-

dice. In 1849, on the death of Mr. Lewis, the Lewis

Lock Company was formed, a joint-stock company,

whose stock was taken by the surviving partner, the

heirs of Mr. Lewis, and a few others.

In the mean time, Bucknell, McKee & Co. had

started the first manufactory of trunk-locks in thi.s

country. They availed themselves of the experience

gained in making cabinet-locks, but failed to make
the business pay. About 1840 they sold out to War-

ren Goodwin, who removed to Wolcottville, was burnt

out, and returned to Terryville. Meanwhile, Williams,

McKee & Co. had commenced the business anew at

Terryville, where they continued till 1846, when they

were bought out by James Terry—who had just closed

out an unsuccessful venture in the manufacture of silk

—and William E. McKee, under the name of James

Terry & Co. They added to the business the manu-

facture of carpet-bag frames, which they conducted,

principally at Newark, N. J., with no small degree of

success. They also made a small assortment of cheap

cabinet-locks.

In 1854 the two companies were consolidated under

the name of Eagle Lock Company, retaining the

former managers and most of the workmen. James

Terry was made president and financial agent, Sereno

Gaylord superintendent of the shop formerly owned

by the Lewis Lock Company, E. L. Gaylord super-

intendent of the other factory, Joseph H. Adams
secretary, and R. D. H. Allen treasurer. The New-
ark branch was sold to Cornelius Walsh. The capital

stock of the consolidated company was eighty-five

thousand dollars, distributed almost entirely among
the stockholders of the two former companies. This

stock was increased from its surplus at six successive

times, to accomplish some desirable new arrangement,

and now stands at three hundred and seventy thou-

sand dollars. Three times have colonies gone out

from the original hive, but they have all returned, and

are now under one management.

The original directors were James Terry, William

E. McKee, Sereno and Ansel Gaylord, Joseph H. Ad-

ams, E. L. Gaylord, and R. D. H. Allen. The finan-

cial managers have been successively James Terry,

Joseph H. Adams, Nathan G. Miller, R. D. H. Allen,

N. G. Miller, and M. C. Ogden. Of the original

board of directors four have died, viz.: James Terry,

William E. McKee, Ansel Gaylord, and Joseph H.

Adams ; two have removed and ceased to be stock-

holders, viz. : Sereno and Edward L. Gaylord ; and the

remaining two are still on the board, which is rein-

forced by M. C. Ogden, D. C. Wilcox, N.T. Baldwin,

and F. W. Mix.

The careful management of its first president,

James Terry, fully established its financial footing,

which it has always maintained undoubted. It is

now fully equipped with the best general and special

machinery, and manned by the finest workmen in

their line of work. The variety of goods made is

increasing every year, and embraces everything de-

sirable in cabinet- and trunk-locks, from the very

simplest and cheapest to the most elaborate and

stylish.

The 3Ialleable-Iron Works.—khont 1847, Andrew

Terry, the second son of Eli Terry (2d), built the

foundry a little above the depot for the manufacture

of malleable-iron castings. The business was then

comparatively new in this country, there being but

few establishments of the kind. He had been a mer-
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chant for a. few years, and labored under the disad-

vantage of not being bred to the business of his

choice, and having almost no experience in any kind

of mechanical employment. He was therefore largely

dependent on his employees, who thought their inter-

est lay in secreting from him the little knowledge they

possessed. The processes peculiar to this class of

castings were kept a profound secret by all engaged

in the business, and covered by a variety of intricate

manipulations wearing the veil of mystery, but for

the most part of no importance whatever; hence he

was obliged to keep his eyes open, and learn to dis-

tinguish the true from the false, and to learn by ex-

periments expensive, unsatisfactory, and often dis-

astrous. Though confessedly naturally averse to any

long-continued application to any one line of busi-

ness, he had the determination to win, the pride to

dread the disgrace of failure, and the grit necessarj'

to succeed. He labored indefatigably in every de-

partment, wormed out the secrets of the business,

established a reputation, secured customers, and put

the business into working order. In 1860 he asso-

ciated with himself O. D. Hunter, who had learned

the business in his employ, and R. D. H. Allen, who
had been in the office of the Eagle Lock Company,
and formed a joint-stock company, having a capital

of sixteen thousand dollars, under the name of An-
drew Terry & Co.

In 1861 he enlisted in the army, leaving the finan-

cial management to Allen, and the superintendency

of the work to O. D. Hunter, and after his return had

little to do with the executive management of the

concern. In 1871, Mr. Terry sold out his interest to

his former partners and went to Kansas. They ad-

mitted N. Taylor Baldwin and I. W. Clark, who (the

latter) had been trained to the business in their em-
ploy. In 1875, R. D. H. Allen returned to the lock

business, and N. T. Baldwin succeeded to the finan-

cial management, which position he still rctjiins.

The success of the company—for it has been reason-

ably successful—has been largely due to the fact that

it has been for the most part under the immediate

supervision of its stockholders, who have carefully

watched every department, and kept it entirely under

their control. It enjoys a good reputation, and has a

fair share of custom.

In 1877, Mr. Terry died, at the age of fifty-three

years, in Bristol, where he had established the gray-

iron business soon after his return from Kansa.-*.

About the year 18()2, Eli Terry (3d), youngest son

of Eli Terry (2(1), manufactured clock-springs for a

few years in the shop built by S. B. Terry, and, though

the business paid reasonably well, sold out to Seth

Thomas Clock Company, who removed it to Thomas-
ton.

Soon after this the Inventors' Manufacturing Com-
pany, managed by A. C. Felton, of Boston, with

S. W. Valentino resident agent, bought the factory

above mentioned and manufactured shears, but, owing

to some financial irregularities on the part of the

principal manager, it failed, and was wound up.

Since then the property has been owned by Wm.
Wood, and used for the manufacture of shears, and it

is now partly occupied by Ryals Brothers for that

purpose.

About 1865 the Eagle Bit and Buckle Company was

formed, and occupied the shop built for the clock

business, below the depot, for the manufacture of har-

ne.ss trimmings. They bought and removed here a

Newark concern then in that business; but the time

was unfavorable, as after the close of the war the

United States government threw upon the market an

immense amount of harness material at ruinous prices,

thus greatly demoralizing the business. The com-

pany, therefore, went out of the business.

The above is a concise history of the principal suc-

cessful and unsuccessful attempts at business in the

village of Terry ville, which, we trust, will not be

without interest to the public, giving a lesson of

caution or cheer, as may be needed, to those who
shall come after us.

REPRESENTATIVES FROM 1795 TO 1882.

1705-98, l.«01-5, 1811-12, David Smith; 1709-18111, 1809-11, Daniel Pot-

ior; lSllO-8, 1812-13, Luke Potter; 1814, ISIG-IS, Calvin Butler;

1815-18, Jacob Ht-mingway ; 1S17, Frederick K. Stanley; 1818,

Calvin Butler, Jacob Hemingway ; 1810, Jacob Hemingway
; 1820,

Gideon Woodniff; 1821-22, Calvin Bntler ; 1823-24, Thomas Mitchell

;

182.'), Elijah Warner, Jr.; 182fi-27, Hansom Blakcsley; 1828, Calvin

Butler; 1829-30, Samuel Guernsey ; l«:tl, Klijuh Warner, Jr. ; 1832,

Silas Ilondle.v; 18:B, Elijah Warner, Jr.; 18.T4-.1(;, Eli Potter; 1837,

Silas Iloailley; 18:)g-.10, Tortius P. Potter; 1840-41, Apollos War-

ner; 1842, John S. Warner; 184:1, Ilermon Welton; 1844, Henry

Terry; 1845, Bariiiibaa W. Boot; 1846, Silaa B. Terry; 1847-48,

Levi Ileaton; 1849, John C. Lewis; 1,8.10, Sereuo Gaylord ; 1851,

Amml Giddings; 1«.'<2, Rlwanl Thomas; 185.1, !!|liui Hoadley ; 18,^4,

K. D. H, .Mien ; laW, Lewis K. Grunt; ISSfi, Animl Giildlngs; 1857,

William E. McKeo; 1S58, Noah A. Norton; 1859, George Lang-

don; 1800, James Terr)- ; I8f.l, Hiram Pierce; 1802, S, T, Salisbury;

ISia, Gains A. Norton; 1804, S<'th Thomaa; 1805, Henry Sturglas;

1800. N. Taylor Baldwin ; 1807, Seth Thomas ; 1808, Aaron P. Fenn ;

1809, Edward Dsiley ; 1870, Tlionn.B J. Dntdstreet; 1871, L B. Bald-

win; 1872, N. Tayh.r Baldwin; 1873, George A. Stonghlon ; 1674,

K. T. Andrews; 187.\ Alkali W. Welton; 1870, Walter H. Scott;

1877, 1 yman D. Biilwin; 1878, Rollln D. II. Allen; 1879, Lyman
U. Baldwin ; 18«0, Jason C. Fenn; 1881, N. Taylor Baldwin.

MILITARY RECORD.*

Peter Jnncs.Co. G, 1st OaT.; enl. August, 1864; ilisch. Aug. 2, 1805.

John Allen, Co. H. 1st Car.; odI. Dec. 10, 1863; died Sept. 27, 18M.

0. C. Boycc. Co. K. Isl Cav. , enl Jan. 4, 1804 ; dlsch. Aug. 2, 186.').

Henry Bradley, Co. M, 1st Cav.; enl. Dec. 11, 180.1; dlsch. Jan. II, 1886.

William (lark, 1st Cav.; enl. Nov. 18, 1804.

John Gorman, 1st Cav. ; enl. Nov. 17. 1804.

John Garily, 1st Cav. ; enl. Nov. 18, 1801.

John Lauton, 1st Cav. ; enl. May, I8ik); dlsch. Hay 27, 1863.

John .Murphy, let Cav.; enl. Nov. 12, 1864.

S. O'llrl Ist Cav.; enl. Nov. 18. 18(H.

J. B. Andrews, 2d Light Bat.; enl. Feb. 20, 18«4; dtach. Aug. 9, 18«S.

M. Carmen. 2d Light llat. ; enl. Feb. 20, 1804.

L. Mallet, id Light Bat ; enl Feb. 23, 1804.

C. A. BInkesley, Ist Art. ; enl. July 22, 1801 ; must, out July 17, 1882.

('. I'aterB'U, Ist Art.; enl. Dec. 1.1, 1864; must, out Sept 2S, 1865.

II. Kmskoy, 1st Art.; enl. De. . 0, IWA.

0. Laliel, 1st Art. ; enl. Vm. 0, 1804.

F. Meyer, Ist Art. ; enl. Dec. 0, 18(14.

A. Bunnall, Ist Art.; enl. May 22, 1801 ; diich. May 21, 1804.

• For list of loth Iteglment, see Chapter V.
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M. Aylward, Ist Art.; enl. Nov. 24, 1.S04; mnst. out Sept. 25, 1865.

H. C. Pond, 1st Art. ; enl. Dec. 1, 18r,:i; must, out Sept. 25, 1S65.

Andrew Terry, Ist Art.; sergeant; enl. May 23, 18G1 ; disch. Sept. 23,

1861.

W. B. Ells, 1st Art. ; sergeant; enl. May 23, 1861
;
pro. to corporal, Co. D,

19th Hegt., Aug. 1, 1862.

Williiini Shadwall, 1st Art.; enl. May 23, I8G1 ; disch. May 22, 1864.

W. B. Atwooil, 1st Art. ; enl. May 23, 1861
;
pro. to first lieutenant ; must.

out Sept. 25, 1865.

E. H. Atkins, Ist Art.; enl. May 23, 1861 ; disch. May 22, 1864.

F. I,. Giant, 1st Art.; enl. May 2!, 1861 ; died Dec. 29, 1861.

W. E. Gnrnsey, 1st Art.; enl. May 23, 1861; pro. to first lieutenant, Nov.

25, 1865.

E. Join, Ist Art. ; enl. May 23, 1861 : disch. Jan. 2U, 1863.

Henry F. Michael, 1st Art. ; enl. May 23, 1861 ; mnst. out Sept. 25, 1865.

Henry Mather. 1st Art. ; enl. May 23, 1861 ; killed June 27. 1862.

Riley Marsh, 1st Art.; enl. May 23, 1861 ; must, out Sept. 25, 1865.

W. R. Mott, 1st Art. ; enl. May 23, 1861 ; must, out May 22, 1864.

C. McElhone, 1st Alt.; enl. May 23, 1861; nuist. out May 22, 1864.

L. E. Nichols, 1st Art.; enl. May 23, 1861 ; must, out Sept. 25, 1805.

George D. Oliver, 1st Art.; enl. May 23, 1861 ; must, out Sept. 25, 1865.

Edwin Post, Ist Art. ; enl. May 23, 1861
;
pro. to second lieutenant; res.

1863.

F. L. Pond, 1st Art. ; enl. May 23, 1861 ;
pro. to second lieutenant ; must.

out 18(;4.

A. J. Seymour, 1st Art. ; enl. May 23, 1861 ; died Jan. 1, 1864.

A. B. Smith, 1st Art.; enl. May 23, 1861 ; disch. May 22, 18' 4.

J. Simpson, Ist Art. ; enl. May 23, 1861 ; disch. May 22, 1864.

N. F. Stoughton, 1st Art. ; enl. May 23, 18(31; discli. Sept. 25, 1865.

E. P. Snrith, 1st Art.; enl. May 23, 1861; died Dec. 10, 1861.

H. P. Saul, 1st Art.; enl. May 23, 1861 ; disch. May 6, 1862.

D. Schatzman, 1st Art. ; enl. May 23, 1861 ; disch. May 22, 1864.

J. L. Wiltrim, 1st Art. ; enl. May 23, 1861 ; disch. May 22, 1864.

W. Wright, 1st Art. ; enl. May 23, 1861 ; discli. Sept. 25, 1S65.

0. B. Walter, enl. April 1, 1862; must, out May 10, 1865.

George Rogers, enl. Aug. 17, 1864; must, out Sept. 25, 1865.

M. C. Wedge, 5tli Regt. ; enl. July 22, 1861 ; disch. Jan. 31, 1862.

John Wilson. 5th Regt.; enl. Aug. 20, 1863.

John Keene, 5tll Regt. ; enl. Aug. 22, 1863 ; must, out July 19, 1865.

John Jones, 5th Regt. ; enl. Aug. 27, 1863 ; must, out July 19, 1865.

P. Marcus, 5th Regt. ; enl. Aug. 28, 1863.

P. Kelley, 5th Regt. ; enl. Aug. 28, 1863 ; must. out. July 19, 1865.

William Hewley, 6th Regt. ; enl. Sept. 12, 1861 ; disch. Jan. 4, 1862.

S. Fenn, 6th Regt. ; enl. Sept. 4, 1861 ; disch. Sept. 3, 1864.

Eugene Atwater, first lieutenant, 6th Regt.; pro. to captain ; must, out

Aug. 21, 1865.

E. C. Hine, surgeon, 7th Regt.; com. Sept. 17, 1861.

E. C. Blakesley, 7th Regt. ; enl. Sept. 5, 1861 ; died Aug. 8, 1863.

0. Pole, 7th Regt; enl. Nov. 30, 1864; disch. Aug. 18,1865.

Andrew Perry, Sth Regt.; com. Oct. 5, 1861, major; pro. to lieutenant-

colonel ; res. March 28, 1862.

Lewis Maths, Sth Regt. ; enl. Sept. 25, 1861 ; captured May 16, 1864.

P. Marlileffety, 8tli Regt.; enl. Aug. 8, 1864; must, out Dec. 12, 1865.

William Garvin, 8th Regt.; enl. Feb. 4, 1864; trans, to navy.

Stephen Nelson, Sth Regt.; enl. Feb. 20, 1S64; disch. Dec. 12, 1865.

M. Alfonse, Sth Regt. ; enl. Nov. 18, 1864; must, out Dec. 12, 1865.

Charles H. Dingwell, Sth Regt.; enl. July 11, 1862; trans, to navy.

John Green, 9th Regt.; enl. Oct. 4, 1861 ; died Aug. 17, 1862.

Albert Blakeslee, 9th Regt. ; enl. Oct. 4, 1861.

C. W. Alcott, 9th Regt,; enl. Oct. 1, 1861 ; must, out Aug. 3, 1865.

John Allen, 9th Regt. ; enl. Oct. 16, 1861 ; must out Dec. 1, 1862.

D. H. Cowles, 9th Regt. ; enl. Oct. 2, 1861 ; must, out Oct. 26, 1864.

E. T. Johnson, 9th Regt.; enl. Oct. 9, 18'.1 ; mnst. out July 3, 1863.

G. T. Scott, Jr., 9th Regt.
;
pro. to captain Oct. 1, 1861 ; must, out Aug. 3,

1865.

A. L. Smith, 9th Regt.; enl. Oct. 16, 1861 ; must, out Aug. 3, 1865.

Le Grand Todd, 9th Regt. ; enl. Oct. 9, 1861 ; died Oct. 1, 1862.

John Conklin, 10th Regt.

William House, 10th Regt.

Charles Lohman, loth Regt. ; enl. Nov. 21, 1861 ; must, out Aug. 25, 1865.

George Jones, 10th Regt; enl. Nov. 18, 1864; must out Aug. 25, 1865.

T. Bleecher, 10th Regt. ; enl. Nov. 24, 1864 ; disch. Aug. 25, 1865.

Frank Peck, 10th Regt.; enl. Nov. 18, 1864.

P. Quin, loth Regt.

J. R. Bassett, 11th Regt.; enl. Feb. 20, 1864; died Jan. 6, 1865.

William Taylor, 11th Regt; enl. Nov. 21, 1864; disch. Dec. 21, 1865.

H. Horner, 11th Regt; enl. Feb. 20, 1864; disch. Dec. 21, 1866.

Edward Johnson, 11th Regt. ; enl. Feb. 20, 1864; disch. June 19, 1865.

William Lacy, 11th Regt ; enl. Feb. 20, 1864; disch. Dec. 21, 1865.

Hiram Griggs, 12th Regt.; enl. Dec. 22, 1861 ; disch. April 4, 1863.

J. C. Ryan, 12(h Regt. ; enl. Dec. 22, 1861 ; disch. May 24, 1862.

F. SutlifT, 12th Regt; enl. Dec. 22, 1861 ; died April 11, 1864.

E. R. Weed, 12th Regt. ; enl. Dec. 22, 1861 ; died May 27, 1863.

George Wright, I2th Regt; enl. Dec. 30, 1861 ; disch. Jan. 27, 1863.

M. L. Andrews, 13th Regt; enl. Jan. 8, 1862; disch. May 30, 1862.

Philo Andrews enl. Jan. 8, 1802; died Dec. 23, 1864.

A. Martinson, C(}. D, 2d N. Y. Cav. ; enl. Aug. 13, 1861; pro. to second

lieutenant ; killed June 7, 1863.

W. A. Bishop, Co. D, 2d N. Y. Cav.; enl. Aug.J21, 1861; died Nov. 28,

1862.

D. Atwater, Co. D, 2d N. Y. Cav. ; enl. Aug. 19, 1861 ; captured Feb. 29,

1862.

Erastus Blakeslee, adjutant. Ist Cav. ; com. Nov. 26, 1861 ;
pro. to colonel

;

must, out Oct. 26, 1864.

L. P. Goodwin, major, 1st Cav. ; com. Dec. 16, 1864 ; disch. June 26, 1865

;

enl. in Co. A, Oct. 26, 1861.

M. Smith, Co. A, 1st Cav. ; enl. Oct 26, 1861.

H. M. Beecher, Co. A, 1st Cav.; enl. Nov. 19, 1861 ; disch. Aug. 25, 1862.

L. H. Dunbar, Co. A, 1st Cav.; enl. Oct 26, 1861 ; disch. Feb. 13, 1862.

E. H. French, Co. A, Ist Cav.; enl. Oct 26, ISOl
; disch. Aug. 2, 1865.

Charles H. Page, Co. A, let Cav. ; enl. Dec. 6, 1861 ; disch. Dec. 5, 1864.

William J. lienlVee, Co. A, 1st Cav.. ; enl. Oct. 26, 1861 ; re-enl. as veteran

Jan. 1, 1864; disch. Aug. 2,1865.

S. W. Beranc, Co. D, Ist Cav. ; enl. Nov. IS, 1861 ; re-enl. U. S. A. Nov. 7,

lS6i

Warren Briggs, Co. D, 1st Cav. ; enl. Nov. 21, 1861 ; missing.

Orvill Bryant, Co. D, 1st Cav.; enl. Nov. 21, 1861.

Ira Hough, Co. E, Ist Cav.; enl. Nov. 24, 1863; died April 6, 1865.

W. W. Smith, 13th Regt; enl. Jan. 11, 1862; disch. Sept 7, 186.5.

H. Alexeit, l.Sth Regt.; enl. Aug. 8, 1864; disch. July 20, 1865.

E. H. Mi.\, loth Itegt; captain; com. Aug. 1, 1862; drowned March 7,

1864.

William Cooper, 17th Regt. ; enl. Nov. 17, 1SG4 ; disch. July 12, 1865.

A. Walker, 17th Regt.; enl. Nov. 17, 1864; discli. July 12, 1866.

J. Hoyle, 20lh Ragt ; enl. Aug. 26, 1863; disch. July 12, 1865.

H. Adams, 25th Regt ; enl. Sept 13, 1862; disch. Aug. 26, 1863.

A. A. Curtis, 25th Regt.; enl. Sept 13, 1862; disch. Aug. 26, 1863.

H. D. Hunt, 25th Regt ; enl. Sept. 13, 1862; disch. Aug. 20, 1803.

C. W. Hurlburt, 26th Regt; enl. Sept 13, 1862; disch. Aug. 26, 1863.

H. D. Saul, 2.'ith Regt.; enl. Sept. 13, 1862; disch. Aug. 26, 1863.

George Johnson, 29th Regt; enl. Feb. 8, 1864; died April 18, 1865.

Jesse King, 29th Regt ; enl. Feb. 11, 1864.

T. Mott, 29th Regt. ; enl. Feb. 9, 1864 ; disch. Nov. 7, 1865.

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES.

-^"
JAMES TERRY.

James Terry, son of Eli Terry (2d), and grandson

of Eli Terry, was born July 5, 1823, in Plymouth

Hollow (now Thomaston), Conn., where his father

and grandfather then resided. His grandfather came

from Windsor, Conn., in his early manhood, and

established the manufacture of clocks, by which he

acquired a large property and laid the foundation for

an extensive business in that place, as well as else-

where. He was the inventor and patentee of the

mantel clock, as distinguished from the tall corner

clock of our forefathers. He had very little capital,

and his first thousand dollars, which he soon made

from the improvement, was a perfect surprise to him.

He said he didn't know " what to do with it." He
soon learned its use, however. He was a man of

intelligence, having a vigorous mind, public-spirited,
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and much interested in the welfare of the community

in which he lived. He removed to Terryville late in

life, 1838; subscribed liberally for the building of the

church in Terryville, and added to his subscription,

" If my health will permit, a clock for the steeple."

This he was able to complete and present to the so-

ciety, as well as a large and commodious parsonage

which he built for it.

He was twice married. By his first marriage he

had four sons and three daughters. Three of the

sons were settled and engaged in the clock business

in Plymouth, two—Eli and Silas B.—in the village of

Terryville. The fourth is a patent broker in New
Haven, making a specialty of patents for chemical

inventions. His first wife dying in 1839, he married

the second time, and had two children,—Stephen, who
is a lawyer in Hartford, and Edwin, who died at the

age of thirteen years in Terryville. Eli Terry died

in 1852, at the age of eighty years.

His son, Eli Terry (2d), was born in Plymouth,

and removed to Terryville not long after the birth of

his son James, and commenced the manufacture of

clocks, which he continued with success till his death.

He was the founder of the village of Terryville, and

built many of its houses in its early days, and it was

named for him. He was an active member of the

church on Plymouth Hill till 1838, when the church

was organized in Terryville. In this he was very

much interested, and for its welfare had great anxiety.

He assisted in building the church by liberal con-

tributions, and was very liberal in its support. He
was a thorough business man, and left a handsome

property to his children. He died in 1841, at the age

of forty-two years. He married Samantha McKce,

a native of Bristol, Conn., and left a family of six

children,—three sons and three daughters,—of whom
the oldest was James, the subject of this sketch.

James received his education at the common schools

of the town, sui)pleniented by two or three years at

the select school of Mr. Simon Hart, of Farmington,

Conn., for whom he always entertained the highest

regard. He made diligent use of his opportunities.

He was never a lover of the sports and games of boy-

hood, and seldom engaged in them. It would i)rol)-

alily have been better for him if he had. He applied

all the energies of his active mind to the acquisition

of knowledge in the direction of his business or his

tastes. His general information was good, and in-

creased both by his reading and his intercourse with

men of education and culture. He had a remarkable

faculty of eliciting from others what information they

could give him on any question of interest, often

taking, with much apparent zeal and sincerity, wiiat

he knew to be the wrong side of an argument for tlie

sake of informing himself more fully on the subject-

matter of his tlioughts. Though somewhat bru.sque

in manner, and decided and outspoken in his opin-

ions, he seldom failed in gaining the respect and

esteem of those with whom he came in contact, which

was sure to increase with increasing acquaintance.

His reading, aside from the papers of the day, was

mostly confined to scientific works in the line of the

absorbing subject of his thoughts. His method of in-

vestigation was exhaustive. He confined himself to

a certain line of investigation till he had exhausted

his sources of information, which were somewhat

limited by the deficiencies of his early education. His

researches were not confined to his business. He was

fond of music, though not himself a musician in any

department. In pursuance of this taste, he read up

on the subject of pipe-organs, which were his favorite

instruments, and about the beginning of the war of

the Rebellion he ordered a large and expensive one

made for him by a competent maker, and he had so

informed himself thati he could give clear specifica-

tions of what he wanted, and had it made by con-

tract ; at the same time he had an addition inade to

his house for it,—a room sufficiently high to take in

the sixteen-feet pipes. To this he added a water-

motor, carried by water from the service-pipes of his

house.

In this connection, as incidentally illustrating an-

other characteristic of his nature, when he found that

the contractor for his organ, who was a poor man,

had taken the contract at a ruinous rate,—^a fact

which he ascertained only by diligent impiiry,—he,

to the unsi)eakable relief of the poor man, assured

him that he should be fully remunerated for all his

time and expense, which proved to be nearly a thou-

sand dollars more than the price contracted.

Mr. Terry was trained to habits of business in his

early life, Ui which he was naturally by no means

disinclined. His father's health was such during his

later years that he needed his assistance, and he was

left, before the age of eighteen years, to settle his

father's estate, with the aid of his uncle, William E.

McKee. He had learned the art of land surveying

in his school-d.ays, which was valuable to him in lay-

ing out and selling the lands which his father had

left.

He was much interested, too, in steam-engines, par-

ticularly in their application to travel on our common
roads, and he built a working model of one that would

walk on four legs like a horse. He also built a sta-

tionary engine of some ten horse-power, which was

used for some years to carry on the works of the lock-

factory of S. Terry & Co. His father, in his later

years, had turned his attention to the raising of silk-

worms, and had in mind to commence the manufac-

ture of silk. James, in pursuance of this plan, put

up a factory, and made a commencement of the busi-

ness, which, not proving remunerative, he soon aban-

doned.

In 1846 he forme<l a copartnership with his uncle,

William E. McKee, under the name of James Terry

& Co., for the manufacture of locks. They purchased

the trunk-lock business of Williams, McKee & Co.,

of Terryville, and added to it, little by little, the
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manufacture of cabinet-locks, in competition with

Lewis & Gaylord, who had succeeded to that business

on the death of Eli Terry (2d). They also made
carpet-bag locks and frames, the former at Terry ville,

and the latter, after a short time, at Newark, N. J.

This latter business proved quite profitable, and put

the concern on a good financial footing.

In 1854 the competing concerns united their inter-

ests under the name of the Eagle Lock Company, a

joint-stock company with a capital of eighty-five

thousand dollars, of which James Terry was made
president and financial manager. The capital was

afterwards increased to one hundred thousand dol-

lars, where it remained till after his death. Suffice

it to say that its success in the years that have fol-

lowed is largely due to the wise and prudential man-

agement of Mr. Terry in its beginning.

The prominent characteristics of Mr. Terry as a

business man were strict honesty, method, caution

almost extreme, and untiring diligence, united with

that indefinable but very important qualification which

we call tact.

His sterling honesty and justice showed itself in his

dealings with his employees. They knew he could be

depended upon to fulfill all his agreements, and to give

them what he thought was a fair remuneration for

their labor. He was a man, to use a homely but ex-

pressive phrase, that " you could tie to." He de-

spised trickery and underhanded dealing, and took no

advantage of these arts. He was, nevertheless, shrewd

in the sense of foreseeing and keenly discerning the

results of his doings, and not allowing himself to be

overreached in any business transaction. He pur-

sued a uniform method in his daily duties, and nothing

was left at loose ends or neglected because he had

overlooked it. His supervision extended to every de-

tail of the business, and nothing escaped his eye.

In his caution he attempted nothing that he could

not reasonably anticipate the means of carrying out.

In those early days business was done lai'gely on

credit, very few concerns having the capital to invest

in uncertain speculations, or even to follow their

legitimate business to its best results. Uulike many,

he preferred to defer even desirable improvements till

they could be undertaken with reasonable safety.

The years 1857 and 1858 were very trying ones, as

the panic following the failure of the Ohio Life and

Trust Company found most houses deeply involved

and the wheels of business completely blocked. This

naturally gave Mr. Terry no little anxiety, but he had

the confidence of the community and of the banks,

and weathered the panic with very little loss to the

company. The men were allowed to continue their

work on short time, trusting to the future for their

pay, and they were not disappointed, and the company

was able in a few months to sell advantageously the

goods that would not have been made except for the

benefit of the laboring men.

Mr. Terry was a very diligent man, putting in an

appearance at the office at the stroke of the bell, and

continuing at his work, with the exception of short

intervals for his meals, into the evening, when he

looked over the night mails and read his daily paper.

Undoubtedly this unceasing application to business

shortened his life, as he took no time for recreation,

and the constant strain broke down his system before

lie knew it, and led to the terrible disease which ended

his days.

In politics Mr. Terry was a Republican, and repre-

sented his town in the State Legislature. He was

twice married, first to Elizabeth Hollister, of Glas-

tonbury, by whom he had four children,—Jane, Mary,

E. Clinton, and one who died in infancy,—all of

whom were born in Terryville. Mrs. Terry died in

1852, and he married for his second wife Valeria,

daughter of William Treat, Oct. 20, 1853. By this

union three children were born,—Lerria F., who died

at the age of eleven years; Nellie, who resides with

her mother in Terryville ; and an infant.

Mrs. Valeria Terry was born in Euclid, Ohio. Her
father was a native of Glastonbury, Conn., and went

to Ohio when a young man, where he was engaged as

a farmer, and more especially as a ship-builder. He
died at his residence at Topeka, Kan., at the age of

seventy-seven years.

Mr. Terry was a member of the Congregational

Church in Terryville. He was very liberal to the

church, and charitable to the poor. He was consid-

ered one of the best business men in his town, and

his judgment was always sought on matters of public

interest. He died April 19, 1871, of paralysis, from

which he had long been suffering.

ANDREW TERRY.

Andrew Terry was born in Terryville, Conn., Dec.

29, 1824, at the old homestead, still standing, on the

south side of the road, west of the upper lock-shop.

He was the second son of Eli Terry, Jr., and Samantha

McKee. At the famous boys' school kept by Deacon

Hart, in Farmington, Conn., he pursued classical

studies almo.st to the point required for entering col-

lege. Soon after his father's death, and before be-

coming of age, he went to Washington, Pa., and

became clerk in a store. In that place he made the

acquaintance of Susan Orr, whom he married Oct. 16,

1844, and who is still living. They had two children,

—Gertrude, who died April 10, 1856, and Margaret,

who married C. S. Treadway, cashier of the Bristol

'

National Bank, and died Sept. 17, 1880.

Returning to Terryville immediately after his mar-

riage, he established himself as a country merchant

in " the store," which all Terryville boys remember,

and remained there for two years.

Nov. ,24, 1847, the first ground was broken for a

foundry for the manufacture of malleable iron. The

business was then new to this part of the country, and

the difficulties to be surmounted were very great. By
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his energy and courage the obstacles arising from Urn- '

ited capital and inexperience were overcome, and the

business was established on a paying basis. He con-

tinued the same under his own name until Feb. 2,

1860, when a joint-stock corporation was formed, to

which his name was given, and of which he contin-

ued as president and principal owner until April 26,

1871, when he disposed of his entire interest therein.

The business is still carried on under the old name of

A. Terry & Co.

In 1868, Mr. Terry removed to Waterbury, still

continuing to give his attention to the Terryville

business. In the summer of 1871 he took up his res-

idence in Lawrence, Kan., where he engaged in

private banking and real estate operations. Remov-

ing to Bristol, Conn., in July, 1875, in connection

with G. J. Bently, the enterprise known as the Bristol

Foundry Company was organized in the summer of

1876, and Mr. Terry was actively engaged in it until

his last sickness.

As a citizen he realized his responsibilities, and

tried to discharge them faithfully. Upon all ques-

tions of public policy he held decided opinions, and

did not hesitate to express them. Office he never

cared for. When the civil war broke out he gave

his time, money, heart, and body to the support of

the government. He enlisted as a private in Com-
pany I, First Regiment Connecticut Heavy Artillery,

and went out as orderly sergeant. A severe illness

rendered him unfit for duty, and he received his dis-

charge, for disability, Sept. 23, 1861. On the 5th of

October he was commissioned as major of the Eighth

Regiment Connecticut Volunteers, and was soon pro-

moted to the lieutenant-colonelcy. He took part in

Gen. Burnside's expedition to North Carolina, and

[larticipatcd in the capture of Roanoke Island, and in

the battle of Newbern. His commission was resigned

March 28, 1862. In the list of those uniting with

the Congregational Church in Terryville in 1842 oc-

curs the name of Andrew Terry ; he was then eighteen

years of ago. In 1868 he removed his connection

to the Second Congregational Church in Water-

bury. On his removal to Kansas, he took a letter of

recommendation to the Plymouth Congregational

Church in Lawrence. A marked era in his religious

life began with the death of his little daughter Ger-

trude. Tlic revival of 1857-58, which brought "all

Terryville" into tlio church, found a most helpful la-

borer in him. He was not only active in the prayer-

meeting, but held personal conversation with individ-

uals, the result of wliicii will only be known in eter-

nity. He taught a class of boys in the Sunday-

school, and had the jjleasurc of seeing nearly every

one l)rouglit to Christ. .\t AHcntowu a mission Sun-

day-scliool was sustained for a considerable time under

his supcrintendency, witii very encouraging results.

Theological questions then had for him a fa.scinating

interest; late into the night he would talk with

ministers and others interested in such tliinking. His

library was well selected and well read. Many min-

isters shared the hospitality of his home, and were

assisted by him in substantial ways. Among the

number were the Rev. M. H. Williams, of Philadel-

phia, and the Rev. J. C. McClintock, of Burlington,

Iowa.

AUGUSTUS C. SHELTON.

Augustus Canby Shelton, the founder and senior

member of the firm.of Shelton &Tuttle, carriage man-

ufacturers in the town of Plymouth, Conn., was born

in Plymouth, Feb. 7, 1816, and died in that town,

Aug. 27, 1880, at the age of sixty-four years.

He was of the fifth generation in descent from

Daniel Shelton, the founder of the New England

branch of the family, who came to this country from

England about 1687, and settled in Stratford, now
Huntington, in this State. The original home of the

Shelton family was Norfolk, England. In 1504, Sir

John Shelton, Knight of the Bath, was high sheriff of

Norfolk and Suffolk. His son John served in the

same olEce, which was also held in 1570 by Sir Ralph

Shelton. At an earlier date the family was distin-

guished. Sir Ralph de Shelton having been knighted

at the battle of Cressy in 1346, and Nicholas De Shel-

ton being one of the barons who rebelled against King

John and wrested from him " Magna Charta."

In the village of Shelton, Norfolk Co., England,

there is an old cliurcii with tiie remains of stained

glass windows, on wliich were blazoned tlie heraldic

tokens signifying tluit one of the race had been a pil-

grim to the Holy Land. One of the family accompa-

nied the Prince of Orange in his invasion, being a

captain in the army wliich he led against James II.,

and was at tlie battle of the Boyiie, July 1, 1()90.

Daniel, the original ancestor of the New England

families bearing the Shelton name, came from the

townof Rip])on, Derbyshire Co., England, from which

town the ])arisli of Rippon took its name, lie is

described in the Stratford records lus " nieriliant."

His tombstone bears the inscription, "Saint Daniel

Shelton." He was an extensive land proprietor, own-

ing large tracts of land in Stratford, Stamford, Far-

niington, Oxford, Woodburj", Darien, Rippon, and

Derby.

He was one of the non-resident proprietors of Wa-
terbury, as appears by the grant of Governor Sal-

tonstall, bearing date of Oct. 28, 1720. He had nine

children, seven sons and two daughters. His fourth

son, Samuel, was born in 1704. He had fourteen

children, eight sons and six daughters. His third son,

Daniel, was born June 16, 1741. He had nine chil-

dren, five sons and four daughters. His fourth son,

Joseph, was born Oct. 20, 1783. He had eleven chil-

dren, five sons and six daughters. Of these sons

Augustus Canby was the second, being the fourth

child. His middle name he took from his mother,

whose maiden mime was Martha Canby.
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The original proprietor of the Shelton estate in

what is now the town of Plymouth was David Shel-

ton, the grandson of the original Daniel, and the

grandfather of Augustus C. His estate lay in what is

now called Todd Hollow, and was an extensive one,

comprising some three thousand acres. He also

owned land in Stamford and Kent.

Joseph Shelton, the father of Augustus, was a mer-

chant and farmer. Augustus' early years were passed

on his father's farm, wliere he acquired those habits

of industry which characterized him through life.

At the usual age he went to Harwinton t(j learn the

trade ofwheelwright, serving his time there with Lewis

Smith. From there he went to New Haven, where

he worked three years in the carriage establishment

of George Hoadley. He then returned to Plymouth,

and in 1837 entered upon the business of carriage-

making on his own account. For the first three years

he worked in a small building now occupied as a

dwelling-house. He then erected the first building

of the present establishment, which is now the engine-

room. In 1843 the building in which the office is

was built.

At that time the trade was mainly Southern. In

1855, Mr. Shelton took in as partner Mr. Byron Tut-

tle. For several years the business was prosperous.

For six years all the carriages made by the firm went

West. The Southern business was broken up by the

war, while the Western trade was improved. This

continued till 1868, when the business began to wane,

and in 1870 the company sold out the Chicago estab-

lishment, and the partnership, so far as the business

of manufacturing was concerned, was dissolved, the

partners still holding the i)ro])erty together. From
that time till his death Mr. Shelton carried on the

business in a limited way.

Mr. Shelton was married, Nov. 19, 1858, to Ellen A.

Crook. His children are John Canby, born May 14,

1860, died Sept. 13, I860; Mary Jane, born Sept.

29, 1862; Frances Pauline, born June 9, 1865; Ellen

Augusta, born May 20, 1870 ; Milla Canby, born Aug.

6, 1876.

The immediate occasion of Mr. Shelton's death was

a slight wound in the finger, the inflammation of

which proved fatal. His death was unexpected, and

gave a great shock to the community, where he had

been regarded as yet in the fullness of health and

strength. In character Mr. Shelton was a man whom
all who knew him admired and loved. He was up-

right in business, honorable in spirit, of great indus-

try and perseverance, never surrendering a purpose

once formed, but by persistent endeavor carrying it

into execution. Positive yet candid, not to be co-

erced by argument, but yielding finally to the force

of just considerations, not as quick in making up his

mind as some, but coming to right conclusions with

time for reflection, industrious and successful, he

was a man of an eminently generous spirit, living not

to himself but to aid others, responding cheerfully to

all worthy appeals ; a friend of the poor, and thor-

oughly enjoying doing good, he was a man who
thanked you for bringing to him a subscription-paper

for a worthy object, as though you had done him a

favor.

He was interested in the public welfare, though he

declined public oflice. All the interests of the villages

where he lived found in him a friend, and in the parish

with which he was connected he was the main stay.

He had a tender heart towards children, and not long

before his death gave the schools in the village, at his

own expense, a common ride. In his home he was most

loving and kind, both as a husband and a father, and
his death leaves there a group of deeply mourning

hearts. The life of such a man is not only an honor

to himself, it elevates and ennobles the idea of life

in those who witness it, and the memory of it relieves

the gloom of death.

Such a life does not end in death ; in its influence

it lives on after death, inspiring those who survive it

to strive to imitate it.

BYRON TUTTLE.

The Tuttle family came from Devonshire, England,

and were probably of Welsh descent. In 1528, and

again in 1548, William Totyl was recorder of the

ancient city of Exeter, the capital of Devonshire, and

then the second city in England, being next to Lon-

don in population and importance. William Totyl

was high sheriff of Devonshire in 1549, and lord

mayor of Exeter in 1552. William Totyl had a son

Jeffrey, who was recorder in 1563. Jeffrey Totyl

bought a fine estate, called "Pearmore," in the neigh-

borhood of Exeter. This estate had belonged to

Gray, Duke of Sussex, who was executed for treason,

and his estate confiscated by the crown, of whom
Jeffrey bought it. Jeffrey had a son, Henry Tottle,

who was high sheriff in 1624, and from him William

Tuttle and three brothers descended. William Tuttle

and his three brothers came to America in the ship

" Planter," and landed in Boston in 1635. The bro-

thers were Richard, who settled in Boston ; John, in

Dover, N. H. ; Simon, in Ipswich, Mass. ; and Wil-

liam, removed to New Haven in 1639, and was a man
of wealth and consequence, and much employed in

public affairs. William Tuttle married Elizabeth

, in England, and had twelve children, eight

sons and four daughters. Elizabeth Tuttle, daughter

of William, married Richard Edwards, and had five

daughters and one son. Rev. Timothy Edwards,

D.D., minister at Windsor, Conn., sixty-four years.

Rev. Timothy Edwards had ten daughters and one

son, viz., the famous Jonathan Edwards, president

of Princeton College. He had eight daughters and

three sons,—Pierpont, Hon. Timothy, and Rev. Jon-

athan, president of Union College, Schenectady,

N. Y. The eldest of Rev. Jonathan Edwards' eight

daughters was Esther, who married Rev. Aaron Burr,
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president of Princeton College, and was the mother

of Aaron Burr, Vice-President of the United States,

and the mother of Sarah Burr, who married Tapping

Reeves, afterwards judge of the Supreme Court of

Connecticut. A daughter of Tapping Reeves married

Timothy Dwight, and is the mother of Timothy

Dwight, President of Yale College. The descendants

of William Tuttle are numerous and distinguished,

most of the clergymen in the United States of the

name being descendants of William Tuttle, of New
Haven, among which are Joseph F. Tuttle, president

of Wabash College ; Daniel S. Tuttle, Bishop of Mon-
tana ; Isaac H. Tuttle, D.D., New York City ; Rev.

J. M. Tuttle, Rahway, N. J. John Tuttle, the eldest

son of William Tuttle, was born in England, being

three and a half years old when he landed in Boston

with his father; married Catharine Lane, Nov. 8, 1653

;

had a son Samuel, who married Sarah Newman in !

1684; had a son Daniel, born Aug. 23, 1702, who mar- '

ried Mary Mansfield, April 26, 1726 ; had a son Sam-
[

uel, born Feb. 12, 1727, who married Chloe Todd ;
'

had a son Lemuel, born in 1760, who married Lydia

Bassett, of North Haven, Conn., June 12, 1788, and

moved to Plymouth. He had three daughters and

one son,—Philenda, Lua, Lydia, and Nelson. Phi-

lenda married Seth Thomas, died May 12, 1810. Nel-

son Tuttle, born Nov. 21, 1798, married Hila Norton,

of Wolcott, Oct. 22, 1820; had five children,—Jaiie

H. (deceased), Byron, Mary A., Martha A., and

Birney L.
j

Byron Tuttle, the second child and eldest son of

Nelson and Hila Tuttle, was born in Plymouth, Conn.,

Aug. 23, 1825. His early years were spent at home
in that best of training, the life of a New England

farmer's son. The winter before he came of age he

taught school in the Buck's Hill District, in the town
'

of Waterbury.
j

On the 26th of August, 1847, he entered the carriage

establishment of Augustus C. Shelton, the senior mem-
ber of the firm of Shelton & Tuttle, whose i)artner

Mr. Tuttle afterwards became. Commencing work

for thirteen dollars per month and his board, at the

end of three months he made a new engagement with

Mr. Shelton for three years at a dollar a day and his

board. At the expiration of this time he went out to

Milwaukee, Wis., to superintend the sales of tlic estab-

lishment at that place, thus laying the foundation of

the Western business of the firm. Returning, he re-

sumed work in the shoj) till, on tiie 1st day of Janu-

ary, 1855, he became Mr. Shelton's partner in the

business. In 18.'>4 he went out to Chicago and estab-

lished a carriage repository in that city, leaving Har-

low B. Hill in charge of the sales. Mr. Tuttle re-

turned to direct the jireparation and shijjment of

the goods, fre(|iieiitly visiting Chicago in person to i

look after the business. The venture proved very

successful, and the firm made money rapidly. In

1864 they built a repository on Madi.son Street, which

they occupied until April 1, 1870, when, the business

83

declining, it was disposed of, and Mr. Tuttle began to

withdraw his interest from the business of manufac-

turing, the partners still holding the shops together.

In 1872, Mr. Tuttle disposed of his interest in the

shops to his partner and retired from the business,

though still retaining the care of Mr. Shelton's finan-

cial affairs, and holding his power of attorney till his

partner's death, Aug. 27, 1880.

Mr. Tuttle was married, April 10, 1853, to Candace

D., daughter of Oliver Smith, Esq., of Plymouth.

They have two children,—Harriet A. and William B.

Aside from his private business, Mr. Tuttle has oc-

cupied a prominent place in the affairs of the town,

having been elected a justice of the peace in 1864 and

selectman in 1878, which ofl5ce he has since held. He
has also for a number of years been the agent of the

town, having filled this position with ability and

efficiency before the Legislature and in the courts in

cases where the interests of the town were involved.

Mr. Tuttle's characteristics as a business man are

energy, promptness, thoroughness, and integrity,—

this is the secret of his success in life. In what-

ever he engages he does his part, and that in the

style in which his business afiairs are conducted.

Nothing in his charge is left to sufter through inat-

tention or neglect. He is judge of probate in the

district where he resides, and in every respect is a

prominent member of the community, and among the

leading men of the town.

In politics Mr. Tuttle is a Republican, and is one

of the active men in his party. He is a member of

the Congregational society, the office of whose com-

mittee he hius filled with advantage to the society and
credit to himself. -\s the surviving member of the

former firm of Shelton & Tuttle, he is engaged in

settling the affairs of his late partner and life-long

friend, thus concluding the history of one of the most

well-known and successful business establishments in

Plvmouth.

OKOROE PIEIIPONT.

George Pierpont is of English descent, from James
Pierpont, who settled in Massachusetts at a very early

day, and died at Ipswich, Mass. One of his children

was named John, who was born in London in 1619,

admitted a freeman in Massachusetts in 1652, repre-

sentative to the colonial Legislature in lt)72. He
married Thankful Stjirr, and had five sons, viz. : Ben-

jamin, Joseph, Ebenezer, James, and John. Mr.

Pierpont died Dec. 7, 1682.

James Pierpont, son of John Pierpont, was born at

Roxbury, Mass., in 16.">9, graduated at Harvard in ItiSl,

and was ordained at New Havon in 16.S(i. Descended

from an illustrious family, and gifted to a high degree

with intellectual endowments, eloquent of speech, a

graceful person, handsome features, and manners the

most courtly ami winning, he appears to have been

from early youth too intently occupied with the mission

of saving the souls of his fellow-men ever to think of
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himself. I suppose, of all the clergymen whose names

belong to the early history of New England, Pierpont

was the most lofty and pure in his aspirations, and of

the most spiritual temper, with none of the sternness

of Davenport, without the despondency of Wareham,
and free from the im])etuous moods that proved such

thorns in the ])illow of Hooker. His words, like the

live coals from the altar in the hand of the angel,

" touched and purified the lijjs" of those who listened

to his teachings. His moral nature was so softly dif-

fused over his church and people that they appeared

to lose themselves in the absorbing element, as dark

forms seem sometimes in pleasant summer days to

dissolve in an atmosphere of liquid light. This James

Pierpont was one of the founders of Yale College,

and died in 1714. His daughter Sarali was the wife

of the noted divine, Jonathan Edwards.*

One of the children of Rev. James Pierpont, D.D.,

was named James, who was a minister also. He was

a native of Connecticut, married, and had several

children, one of whom was James Pierpont, who was

born in New Haven, Conn., and early in life settled

in Litchfield (now Morris), Conn. He was engaged

for a number of years in the manufacture of woolen

goods, but later in life was farmer. He was twice

married, first to Elizabeth Collins, granddaughter of

Rev. Timothy Collins, of Litchfield, Conn., by whom
he had the following children, viz. : Sherman, John,

Elizabeth, Sarah, Abby, and James M., all of whom
were born in Morris, Conn. His second wife was the

widow of Rev. Mr. Crossman, of Salisbury, Conn.,

by whom he had one son, Leonard.

Mr. Pierpont was a member of the Congregational

Church of Morris (known then as South Farms). He
died in 1840, aged seventy-nine years.

Sherman Pierpont, eldest son of James Pierpont,

was born in Litchfield (now Morris), June 27, 1783,

married Sidney Humiston, daughter of Jesse Humis-

ton, of Plymouth, Conn., Dec. 1, 1807. They had

two children, viz., Minerva (who married Sherman

P. Woodward, a farmer; she died in 18.37, leaving

two daughters) and George, born May 21, 1819.

Mr. Pierpont was a farmer during the earlier part

of his life, but later he was engaged in the manufac-

ture of screws at Unionville, in Hartford Co., Conn.

He was an enterprising business man, of cheerful

disposition, and a man universally respected. In

politics he was a Whig. He was lost on Lake Erie,

May 7, 1836, while on a voyage from Put-in-Bay to

Sandusky City, Ohio. His wife died May 18, 1841.

George Pierpont was reared on the fiirm till he was

fourteen years of age. He received a common-school

and academic education at Farmington, Conn. At

eighteen years of age he commenced to work for Dan
Catlin, of Litchfield, as a clerk in a dry-goods store,

where he remained two years, when he came to Plym-

outh, Conn., and entered the store as clerk of Stephen

* Extract from HoUister's History of Connecticut

Mitchel, and remained one year. On the 20th of

April, 1840, he married Caroline E. Beach, daughter

of Isaac C. Beach, of Plymouth, and began farming

in Plymouth (now Thomaston), and continued two

years, when he removed to South Farms (now Mor-
ris), and was engaged in the mercantile business in

company with William L. Smedley, under the firm-

name of Smedley & Pierpont. After one year he

went to Northfield, and engaged in the same business

with Samuel A. Merwin, where he remained two

years, when he settled at Plainville, Hartford Co.,

Conn., and was a book-keeper in the employ of H. M.
Welch & Co., merchants and lumber-dealers, where

he remained two years. Thence he went to Forest-

ville. Conn., where he continued to reside, and was
then engaged as a merchant till 1861, when he re-

moved to Watertown, Conn., and was engaged as a

farmer. In 1865 he settled in Plymouth, Conn.,

where he has continued to reside.

In politics he is a staunch Republican, and as such

has held various offices of trust and honor. In 1861

he was appointed United States assistant assessor, and

continued to hold that position for eleven years, or

until the ofiice was abolished. In 1857 he was a

member of the State Legislature from Bristol, Conn.

Since his settlement in Plymouth he has been select-

man, magistrate a number of years, judge of pro-

bate several years, town clerk several years. He was

elected by the Legislature county commissioner in

1877, and re-elected in 1880. His wife died Jan. 18,

1874, and he married for his second wife Nellie T.

Hazen, widow of Howard N. Hazen, and daughter of

J. Sherman Titus, of Washington, Conn., Jan. 19,

1875. By this union two children were born, George

Sherman and Flora (deceased).

Mrs. Pierpont is a member of the Congregational

Church, of which Mr. Pierpont is an attendant.

LYMAN D. BALDWIN.

Lyman D. Baldwin is of English origin. His an-

cestors settled in New England at a very early day,

and farming was their chief occupation for many gen-

erations.

The great-grandfather of Lyman D. Baldwin wa,s

named Ebenezer Baldwin, who came from old Milford

and settled in the town of Plymouth, Conn. He was

a farmer by occupation. He had a family of children,

of whom Thaddeus Baldwin was one, who was born

in Plymouth and married Thankful Alcock, and had

the following children, viz. : Polly, Thankful, Hannah,

Thaddeus, Lydia, Lyman, David, and Nicy, who died

at twenty-one, and all the remainder of this large

family lived to be old people. Thaddeus Baldwin,

Sr., was a farmer. He died far advanced in life, and

his wife lived to be ninety years of age. Lyman Bald-

win was born near where his son, Lyman D., now re-

sides. He married Polly Ailing, of Terry ville. Conn.,

and had four children, viz. : Hiram, Mary P., Lyman
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D., and Hannah, all of whom were born on the old

homestead, now in the possession of Lymau D. Mr.

Baldwin was a farmer by occupation, and a dealer in

lumber, which he manufactured. In politics he was a

Whig, and held some minor town offices. He was a

captain of State militia, and was known as Capt.

Baldwin. He received a severe injury, which, after

lingering seven months, caused his death, March 6,

1859. His wife died Aug. 29, 1860.

Lymau D. Baldwin, second son of Lyman and Polly

Baldwin, was born on the old Baldwin homestead, on

the 19th of January, 1825. He was reared on the

farm, receiving such advantages for an education as

the district schools of his day afforded. At nineteen

he commenced teaching school winters, which he

followed for seventeen years, in which he was very

successful. He is a farmer by occupation, and in

connection he owns and runs a grist- and saw-mill.

He has been " acting school -visitor" of Plymouth for

eleven years, and a member of the school board for

twenty years. In politics he is a staunch Kepublican.

He has been assessor five years, and member of the

State Legislature during the years 1871-77 and 1879,

serving on the committees of constitutional amend-
ments, temperance, and education. Mr. and Mrs.

Lyman D. Baldwin are worthy members of the Con-
gregational Church at Plymouth, of which he is at

the present time a deacon. He is liberal towards the

church, and charitable to the poor.

On the 14th of May, 1854, he married Emily,

daughter of Erastus Fenn, of Plymouth. She was
born April 14, 1825, in Plymouth. Their cliildren

were as follows, viz. : an infant son; Edward F., born

Dec. 16, 18.")9, died May 20, 1864; Minnie E., born

Dec. 24, 1864, and died Dec. 6, 1875.

WILLIAM B. FENN.

William B. Fenn, third son of Aaron and Sabra

Fenn, was born where he now resides, one and a

quarter miles north of Plymouth, Litchfield Co.,

Conn., .Inly 11, 181;^. His grandfather, Aaron Fenn,

Sr., settled near by the same place, and had a large

family of children, viz. : Aaron, Lyman, Erastus,

David, Jeremiah, Sarah, and Polly, all of wliom were

born here ; all married and had children except Polly.

Aaron Fenn, Sr., wa.s a .successful farmer for tho.se

days. He died at an advanced age; his wife survived

liim many years.

Aaron, Jr., eldest .son of Aaron, Sr., was born in

1774, and died in the fall of 1818. He married Sabra

Fenn, and had six children, viz.: Isaac, Burr, Uosetta

(Mrs. Joseph S. Peck, of Burlington), Xancy K. (Mrs.

William L. Gaylord), William Benuct, and Abijah,

all of whom were born in the house where William

B. now resides. Of this large family all grew to

maturity, married, and all except Burr have children.

Aaron Fenn, Jr., wius a farmer by occupation. He
was a Federalist, and held some minor town oflices.

He taught school many years, and was successful.

Mr. and Mrs. Fenn were members of the Congrega-

tional Church at Plymouth. Mrs. Fenn died July,

1867, aged eighty-eight years.

William Bennet Fenn remained at home on the

farm till he was sixteen years of age, attending the

district school. At sixteen years of age he commenced
working for Seth Thomas, Sr., in the ornamental de-

partment of the Seth Thomas Clock Company^ which

he continued to follow, in connection with farming,

until 186.3, since which time he has confined his time

to agriculture. He owns a fine farm of one hundred

and fifty acres, which is in a good state of cultivation.

He has been quite largely engaged in dealing in fat

cattle for home market. In politics he is a Democrat,

though formerly he was a Republican. He has held

several town offices to the general satisfaction of his

constituents. He was married to Mary, daughter of

A. Y. Culver, of Burlington, Conn., June 8, 1864.

She was born Nov. 28, 1839, in Burlington, Conn.

They have two daughters, viz. : Rosa Bella and Mary
Eloise.

AARON PECK FENN.

Aaron Peck Fenn, eldest son of Jeremiah Fenn
and Polly, only daughter of Hezekiah Peck, of Wood-
bridge, Conn., was born in the town of Plymouth,

Conn., Jan. 29, 1822. His paternal ancestor was
Benjamin Fenn, an Knglishman, who came to Amer-
ica and settled, with the New Haven Company, in

New Haven in 1637. His maternal ancestor was
Henry Peck, who settled at New Haven with Gover-

nor Eaton and his company in 1(!37. The grand-

father of Aaron P. Fenn was Aaron Fenn, who was
born in Milford, Conn , Dec. 1, 1746, and settled in

Plymouth (then called Northbury) in 17<!7, about one

and a quarter miles north of Plymouth Hill. The
country was then an unbroken wilderness,—not a sign

of any improvement near liis log cabin. Tlio wife of

Aaron Fenn w;i.s Mary Bradley, of Woodliridge.

Their children were :i.s follows: Lyman, Sally, .\aron,

Era.stus, Polly, David, and Jeremiah, all of whom
were farmers, every one of the sons receiving a farm

from his father. Jeremiah Fenn marrie<l Polly Peck,

and reared three sons, who grew to numhood, viz.

:

Aaron P., Stephen, and Horace.

Stephen was born Oct. 6, 1H24, graduated at Yale

College in 1849, studied theology at New Haven and

Andover. He was pastor of a Congregational Church
at Torringford three years, of the Congregational

Church at Cornwall nine years, and of the Congrega-
tional Church in Watertxiwn four years. He died in

South Windham, Conn., in 1S7.5.

Horace wa-s horn on the old homestead in Plymouth,
.\ug. 3, 1833. Ho has been town treasurer of Plym-
outh for the last twenty consecutive years, and post-

master for nineteen years. In politics a Kepublican.

Aaron P. Fenn was born and hius always lived

within a few feet of the place where his honored
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grandfather settled in 1767. He was educated in the

public schools, and taught school several years. He
has been a member of the board of education for

the last twenty-five years, and for ten years acting

school-visitor. He has been the leader of the choir

of the Congregational Church of Plymouth for the

last thirty years, and has taught singing-school in

most of the adjoining towns. In politics a Republi-

can, he has been first selectman of Plymouth for

eight years, and assessor eleven years. In 1868 he

was elected by the Republicans to the State Legisla-

ture. In 1880 he was appointed census enumerator.

On the 5th of October, 1864, he married Florence,

youngest daughter of Alva Wooding, of Bristol, Conn.

Their children are Clara, Kate, Aaron W., and Flor-

ence J.

OLIVER SMITH.

Oliver Smith, son of Theophilus M. and Salome
Smith, was born in Milford, Conn., Sept. 1.5, 1800,

and settled in Plymouth with his parents in the spring

of 1808. His father was a native of Milford, Conn.,

and was a shoemaker and farmer by occupation. He
was twice married. By his first marriage he had two
children,—Nathaniel and Abigail,—and by his second

marriage seven children,—Miles, Theophilus, Oliver,

Samuel B., Edwin, Thaddeus, and Salome, who mar-

ried Chauncey Jerome, a celebrated clock-maker of

Plymouth. Mr. Smith settled in Plymouth in 1808,

where he continued to reside till his death, Sept. 10,

1849. He was a soldier in the Revolutionary war,

and a captain of State militia for many years. His
v/ife died Dec. 3, 1849. Oliver Smith was reared on
the farm, which honorable business has been his chief

occupation. He has been engaged somewhat as ^
tanner, and worked for a while at joinering. He has

been successful at whatever he has undertaken, and
is esteemed by his neighbors as an upright, honorable

man. He married Harriet, eldest daughter of Allen

Bunnel, of Plymouth, Oct. 16, 1822. She was born

Jan. .31, 1801. Her father was a son of Titus Bunnel,

who settled in Plymouth, Conn., in an early day, and
was a farmer. Allen Bunnel married Clarissa Alvord,

and had five children, of whom Mrs. Smith is the

eldest.

Mr. Smith had the following children, viz. : Lyman,
born Feb. 5, 1824, and died in California Aug. 10,

1862 ; Edwin, who died young ; Can dace, born June 14,

1830 (married Bryon Tuttle, an enterprising business

man of Plymouth, Conn., and has two children, viz.

:

Hattie A. and William B.) ; James E., born March 11,

1833 (married Angeline Wadsworth, of Hartford,

Conn., and had three children, viz. : Fannie W., Ed-
ward L., and James E.). James E., Sr., died Sept. 24,

1872.

Mr. Smith is a staunch Republican in politics. He
has held various town offices, such as selectman twelve

years and magistrate several years, to the general sat-

isfaction of his constituents. Mr. and Mrs. Smith

j

have been members of the Congregational Church
for more than sixty years. They have been married

more than fifty-eight years, yet they are hale and
hearty, and do their own work. As a citizen, hus-

band, and father, Mr. Smith is one of the best in old

Plymouth, Conn.
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This town lies in the southern part of the county,

and is bounded as follows : On the north by Wash-
ington, on the east by Woodbury, on the south by
New Haven County, and on the west by the towns of

Bridgewater and New Milford. Its surface is hilly,

and the soil is fertile. It is watered by the Shepaug
River, which flows southerly through the western part.

A little more than two centuries ago its territory

had been unexplored by white men. Along these

hills and through these valleys roamed, in all their

native freedom, the red men of the forest, possessors

of the .soil by rights primordial. The unbroken forest

had not as yet resounded with the strokes of the

woodman's axe, nor the reverberating echo responded

to a lisp of the white man's dialect. Nature, rude

and uncultivated, supplied the daily wants of her sav-

age children, and the necessity for physical exertion

in order to obtain the necessaries of life was with them
almost totally unknown. Of this wild race, which has

now passed away, we know but little. They have

left us no sculptured monuments inscribed with their

deeds of valor, no written records which will enable

us to remove the veil which conceals the past. Tra-

dition informs us that from the top of Pulpit Rock,

on the east side of the river, and a little northerly

from the railroad station in this place, prominent

chiefs were wont to harangue their dusky followers

with rude eloquence, and stimulate them to deeds of

bravery. The name of the beautiful river Shepaug,

and the occasional finding of a stone axe or arrow-

head, are all that now remain to remind the dwellers

of to-day of the existence of a race rude and bar-

barous, yet possessing many ennobling traits of char-

acter.

THE FIRST EXPLORATION.

The first exploration of this region of which we
have any account was early in the spring of 1673,

when a party of fifteen persons, under the guidance

of Capt. John Minor (a surveyor and interpreter of

the Indian language), started from Stratford on a tour
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of exploration. They proceeded up the Pootatuck or

Housatonic River as far as the moutli of the Shepaug,

thence up the Shepaug to a point near Mine Hill,

and proceeding eastwardly across the country, they

encamped for the first night upon Good Hill. Capt.

John Minor, the leader of the expedition, was a man
every way calculated to take charge of that little band

of pioneers who were seeking for homes in the then

wild region of Northwestern Connecticut. Educated

as a missionary to the Indians, he was thoroughly

versed in the dialects of the different clans inhabiting

these valleys, and his services to the early settlers

were invaluable. From the top of Good Hill he

oflered up that memorable prayer that his posterity

through all coming time might be a God-fearing and

God-serving people, and invoked the blessing of

heaven on all their undertakings. Capt. Minor and

his party afterwards settled at Pomperaug, now Wood-
bury.

THE FIRST SETTLEMENT.

The first settlement in this section was made about

the year 1713, by a man by the name of Hurlbut.

He located on the spot a few rods north of the resi-

dence of the late Treat Davidson, and a little south-

easterly from the house once occupied by Peace Minor,

where they built a small fort for security again.st the

Indians. This section was called " the Upper Farms."

At about the same time a family of Hurds erected a

house or fort on Good Hill, eastwardly from the pres-

ent residence of Mr. John Minor. These forts were

probably nothing more than log houses, surrounded

by palisades, or logs set thickly in a vertical position,

and, being thus protected from Indian invasion, they

afforded security at night. About the year 1715,

Lieut. Henry Castle settled a little southerly from

where the school-house in the Warner's Mills District

is now situated. This location was called "tlie Lower
Farms." Each of these settlements provided itself

with a cemetery, which accounts for the location of so

many places of burial within the town limits. Dr.

Ebenezer Warner, the progenitor of five generations

of physicians, and the grandfather of Col. Seth War-
ner, removed here from the Pomeraug settlement, and

commenced the practice of medicine. Soon after a

number of Ciustle families settled upon what was

called " the lower road."

THE W.\K OF THE REVOLUTION.

The American Revolution may justly be considered

as one of the most thrilling and interesting of any of

the events in our history. On the 3d of September,

1774, the people of this vicinity were iilarmed by the

report that Hritish ships-of'-war were cannonatling

Boston. The people flew to arms, and many joined

in the march towards the supposed scene of conflict.

Counter intelligence was received on tiie way, and

the troops returned peaceably to their home.s. The
honor of the first con(|uest made by the united colo-

nies during the war of the Revolution belongs chiefly

to Roxbury. This was the capture of Ticonderoga,

May 10, 1775, one of the most brilliant exploits of

the war. Sixteen men were collected in Connecticut,

who were joined by forty or fifty volunteers from

Massachusetts. At Bennington, Vt., this force was

augmented by nearly one hundred volunteers. Col.

Ethan Allen, a native of Roxbury, was appointed

commander of the expedition. Col. Seth Warner and

Capt. Remember Baker, both natives of Roxbury,

were appointed officers in the expedition. A part of

this small force having been sent in another direction,

Allen, with only eighty-three men, assaulted the fort,

and captured the garrison without the loss of a man.

Subsequently, Col. Seth Warner captured Crown
Point, and in both these forts were found cannon and

military stores, which were greatly wanted. One
thousand men were afterwards sent from Connecticut

to garrison these forts. The remark has often been

made by aged men residing in this vicinity that, "three

men, born in Roxbury, and within a stone's throw of

the Shepaug River, contributed more than any others

towards the achievement of our national independ-

ence, because they struck at a time when 'hearts

were faint,' and when their achievements tended to

give the people courage to hope for the ultimate suc-

cess of the colonial arms." These three men were

the heroes of Ticonderoga. Roxbury was also repre-

sented at Bunker Hill. In that memorable engage-

ment, on the morning of June 17, 1775, was Philo

Hodge, another citizen of Roxbury. He assisted in

making up the scanty ammunition possessed by the

Americans into the form of cartridges, and in the

final charge of the British forces stood firm as a rock,

clubbing them with his musket until Gen. Warren
gave the signal for retreat.

Gen. Ethan Allen was born in Roxbury, Conn.,

Jan. 10, 1737-38. He married Mary Brownson, of

Roxbury, June 23, 1762. He emigrated with the first

.settlers to Vermont, and was a prominent member of

the social and political compacts into which the in-

habitant.s formed themselves. The territory com-

I)rising the present State of Vermont was comprised

within the New Hampshire grants; it was also

granted to the Duke of York. A controversy arose

relative to the title which culminated in a valorous

defense on the part of tiie early settlers, nearly all of

whom favored the New Hampshire grants. Vermont
is indebted to Roxbury for the spirited defense.

Ethan Allen, Seth Warner, and Remember Baker

were all |>rominent in resisting the encroachments of

New York, the Governor of which first offered twenty

pounds, and afterwards fifty pounds each, for the

arrest of these persons, .\llen and the others oflered

a reward for the arrest of the officers of New York.

He was bold and courageous, and even went so far as

to go to Albany and take a bowl of punch in presence

of his enemies on a bet. He drank the punch, and,

giving a " Huzza for the Green Mountains!" de|iarted

unharmed. He was iu many of the engagements of
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the Revolution, and at one time a prisoner. He died

at Burlington, Vt., Feb. 12, 1789. His epitaph is as

follows :

*'Tlie corporeal part of Gen. Ethan Allen rests beuealh tliis stone.

He died the 12th da.v of February, 1789, aged 50 years. His spirit tried

the mercies of his God, in ^vhom he believed and strongly trusted."

Col. Setli Warner was the son of Dr. Benjamin

Warner, and grandson of Dr. Ebenezer Warner,

one of the first settlers of Roxbury. He was over

six feet in height, and was courageous and command-
ing. Engaged in the controversy with New York,

he was fully prepared to engage in our Revolution-

ary struggle. He was personally present in many
of the engagements in the Northern colonies, and it

has been reported that Gen. Washington relied espe-

cially upon Allen and Warner, considering them as

among the most active, daring, and trustworthy of his

officers. Col. Warner died in Roxbury, Dec. 26,

1784. His place of residence at that time was in a

small house situated on the west corner of the high-

way leading northerly, near the present dwelling of

Hon. H. B. Eastman. From this humble cottage his

remains were carried by hand (as hearses were then

unknown) to the place of burial. His funeral was

attended on the 29th of December, when Rev. Mr.

Canfield preached a sermon from 2 Samuel, i. 27

:

" How are the mighty fallen, and the weapons of war

perished !" A detachment of military, consisting of

thirty men, guarded his body after his decease until

his burial. By a law of the colony at that time, the

body of an individual could be attached after his de-

cease and sold to satisfy his creditors. Col. Warner
had expended all his estate in the war, and his family

were destitute, hence the necessity of a guard to pro-

tect his body after his decease is apparent. The mili-

tary fired a volley over his grave and retired. Some
years since a statement appeared in the papers to the

eftect that Gen. Washington visited Col. Warner's

widow, and relieved her from pecuniary embarrass-

ment. This has been doubted by some, but when we
take into consideration the facts that Washington

visited Woodbury more than once, that Col. Warner
was his especial favorite, and that he left his family

in straitened circumstances, have we not reason for

believing that the " Father of his Country" actually

visited and relieved the family? The following in-

scription was on the old tablet placed over the grave

of Col. Warner

:

" In memory of Coh Seth Warner, Esq., who departed this life Decem-

ber 26th, A.D. 1784, in the forty-second year of his age.

"Triumphant leader at our armies' head,

Whose martial glory struck a panic dread,

Thy warlike deeds, engraven on this stone,

Tell future ages what a hero's done.

Full sixteen battles he did tight

For to procure his country's right.

Oh ! this brave hero, he did fall

By death, who ever conquers all.

When this you see, remember me."

On the 20th of October, 1858, the remains of Col.

Warner were removed from the " old burial-ground

on the hill" to the Centre of Roxbury, and on the

30th of April, 1859, a monument was erected over his

remains by the State of Connecticut and the citizens

of Roxbury.

Capt. Remember Baker was born in Roxbury in

June, 1737. He removed to Bennington, Vt., in 1764,

and was engaged, with Allen and Warner, in the con-

troversy with New York. He fell at the opening of

the Revolution, near St. John's, Canada, by the hands

of hostile Indians, being shot through the head. Al-

though we can never point to fields of carnage or to

victories won within our town limits, yet there are in the

eastern part of Roxbury, about half a mile eastwardly

from the residence of Mr. Henry H. Fenn, the re-

mains of an old encampment, where a detachment of

the army of the Revolution, the brigade of Gen. Nixon,

passed the winter. It extended nearly a quarter of a

mile, and a few years since mounds of earth and stone,

and rude wells for obtaining water, marked the lo-

cality. But the plow, that great leveling instrument

of civilization, has obliterated many traces of its ex-

istence, and only a few of the mounds, and but one of

the wells, now remain. A complete list of the soldiers

from this place can never be obtained. In 1776 all the

able-bodied men in Western Connecticut between the

ages of sixteen and sixty years, were by order of Gen.

Washington marched to New York. This wholesale

conscription divested the parish of Roxbury of the

best portion of its male population. Just eight years

after the battle of Lexington, Great Britain proposed

peace and hostilities terminated.

WAR OF 1812.

In the war of 1812 many citizens of Roxbury were

marched to New London for the defense of that place,

which was menaced by the British. It is said that

fifteen men were drafted from the infantry company
here, and that a number of others volunteered. The
company raised in this vicinity was marched through

Roxbury on a Sunday, with drums beating and colors

flying, and was quartered for the night in the Congre-

gational church in Woodbury. Dr. Curtis Hurd, of

Roxbury, went as surgeon, and was stationed for some

time at New London. A complete list of the men
cannot be obtained. In the war with Mexico, Rox-

bury, true to her former patriotism, furnished three

soldiers,—Col. Justin Hodge, Hiram Curtis, and John

J. Squier. In the last, the great Rebellion, the

number of soldiers from this place was sixty-three.

Capt. Cyrus E. Prindle and Capt. Lewis Judd each

raised a company of volunteers and went to the scene

of conflict. The total amount paid by the town for

the last war was $16,057.25 ; by private individuals,

about $4000.

SCHOOLS.

At an early period schools were established here.

Among the teachers of those times the names of

Thomas Canfield and Timothy Talman may be men-

tioned. Mr. Canfield was the son of the Rev. Thomas
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Canfield. It is said that lie was very eccentric, and
that he always made it a rule to punish corporeally

his whole school on every Saturday afternoon, in order

that those who had offended during the week might

receive merited punishment. About 1834 or 1835,

Mr. A. B. Campbell established a private school in

this place, and later still another was established

and continued for several years by the Eev. George

L. Foote. The reputation of these schools was ex-

tensive, and pupils from other places were frequently

found here. Many now living can attest to the thor-

ough training received in these institutions, and the

remark was frequently made by persons from abroad
" that our young people, collectively, were better edu-

cated than those of other localities." Roxbury has

within its limits seven public schools. Roxbury con-
''

tinned to be a parish, attached to the town of Wood-
bury, until October, 17!>6, when, after a long and

arduous struggle, it was incorporated as a separate

town. The ancient name of Roxbury was Shepaug,

a Mohegan word signifying the Rocky River. On
the west of the Shepaug River is Mine Hill, celebrated

for its large deposits of spathic iron, for its chalyljeate

springs, and for its stone quarries, which furnish a

large quantity of excellent stone for various purposes.

A railroad was constructed through the Shepaug val- '

ley in 1870 and 1871. A telegraph was soon after con-

structed contiguous to the railroad. In the easterly
!

part of Roxbury is Tack's Brook, so named from a

native African who committed suicide upon its banks.

He pined for his native land, and was thoughtlessly

told by others that when he died he would return to

his beloved Guinea. He was buried by the highway,

southwesterly from Pulford's Swamp. Several years

since an ancient relic, representing a human figure, of

sculptured stone, was found in the northeastern part

of Roxbury. With a superstitious fear that it might

be worshiped, it was placed low down in the wall of a

well, where it now remains.

PROMINENT CITIZENS, PHYSICIANS, Etc.

Gen. Ephraini Hinman, a native of Southbury, re-

moved to Roxbury in 1784. He erected the large

house now occupied by the Rev. Mr. Jones and Mr.

Gillett. He was a man of great eccentricity of char-
;

acter, and many of his original expressions are still

quoted by the people of Roxbury. Hon. Royal R-

Hinman, for nniny years Secretary of the State of
j

Connecticut, was his son. He was an attorney, and I

practice<l his profession here for nearly twenty years.

Hon. Nathan Smith was born in Roxbury in 1770. 1

As an attorney he became eminent in his profession,
|

holding many important places of trust. In May,

1832, lie wa.s elected a senator in the Congress of the

United States, and died some three years, while hold-

ing the position.

Hon. Truman Smith was a native of Roxbury.

Prominent among the leading men of that day, he

was for several terms elected a member of Congress.

In 1849 he was elected a senator of the United States

for the term of six years.

Hon. John Sanford was a native of Roxbury. He
removed to Amsterdam, N. Y. ; he was elected a

member of Congress from the State of New York.

Mr. Sanford died some years since.

Hon. Henry Booth was the son of Ely Booth, of

Roxbury. He graduated at Yale College, and main-

tained for some time a law-school in Pennsylvania.

He removed to Chicago, and was elected a judge of

the Superior Court of Illinois, which office he now
holds.

Lieut. Thomas Weller was a recruiting officer in

the war of 1812. He was killed in an altercation

with Archibald W. Knapp, May 16, 1814.

Charles K. Hodge was the son of Chauncey Hodge,

of Roxbury. He was a young man of great promise,

and was appointed a cadet at the United States Mili-

tary Academy at West Point. He died suddenly,

while on a visit to his parents, at Roxbury, on the

31st of August, 1839, aged nineteen years, nine

months, and four days. His classmates erected a

monument to his memory in the cemetery here, on

one panel of which is this inscription :

'* Called from us in the tmoyancy of youth and tlie brightness of hope,

earth's eares ha'I not chiltod, nor litems viciusitudejs clinngeU, the warm
current of his feelings."

The following clergymen were natives of Roxbury

:

Revs. Charles Thomas, Burtis Judd. David Davidson,

Charles Norton, Charles Bradley.

The graduates from Roxbury were Hon. Truman
Smith, Hon. Nathan Smith, Phineius Smith, Henry
Booth, Charles S. Minor, Rev. David B. Davidson,

Hervey ^f. Booth, George W. Warner, Rev. Charles

F. Bradley, Naainan Shepard.

State Senators : Hon. Neliemiah C. Sanfonl, Hon.

Frederick W. Lathrop, Hon. Hermau B. Eastman,

Hon. Frederick Hurlbut.

The following physicians were residents of Rox-

bury : Drs. Ebenezer Warner, Azariah Eastman,

Silas Ciustle, Josiali R. Ea-stman, Azariah Shipman,

William Blakeman, Curtiss Hurd, Henry Whittlesey,

Reed, Theodore Hurd, William Williams, Amos
Williams, Philander Stewart, Myron Downs, Aaron

W. Fenn.

William Hull, ])rofcs.sor of elocution in Pennsyl-

vania, also was a resident of Roxbury.

ECCLESIASTICAL HISTOUV.

CONOREOATIONAI, CHURCH.

This church was organized on the 22d of August,

1744, when the first minister, the Rev. Thomas Can-

field, was installed. At that time twenty-seven per-

sons subscrilied to the covenant. In 1732 or 1733

the first Congregational church was erected, near the

old graveyard, on the hill a little southwesterly from

the present residence of Mr. R. B. Patterson. This

building being small, in 174(i another was erected on

the same location. The vear 179") dates the removal
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from the hill, and the erection of another church in

the present Centre of Roxbury. Many now living

can remember its lofty spire, and the two huge stone

horse-blocks near by for the accommodation of the

worshipers, many of whom came to church on horse-

back. The present churcli edifice was erected in

1838. On a weather-beaten stone standing near the

centre of the old burial-ground is this inscription

:

•' Here lies the relics of the Rev. Tho. Canfield, who diedJan. 16, A.D.

1795, iu the 75th year of his age, and in the 51st of his ministry.

"O, what is man, poor feeble man,

Whose life is hut a narrow span.

" Here lies, intomhed in earth and dust,

The Reverend, meek, the mild and just."

The following clergymen succeeded Mr. Canfield

in the ministry, with the date of ordination and dis-

mission of each :

Rev. Zephaniah Swift, ordained July 5, 1795 ; dis-

missed April 1, 1812.

Rev. Fosdic Harrison, ordained June 2, 1813; dis-

missed June 30, 1835.

Rev. Austin Isham, ordained June 5, 1839 ; dis-

missed June 1, 1863.

Rev. Oliver 8. Dean, ordained July 6, 1864; dis-

missed Dec. 17, 1867.

The Rev. David E. Jones, the present pastor, was

ordained and installed, June 21, 1871.

The present deacons are Dr. A. W. Fenn and Shel-

don Camp. Dr. Fenn is also superintendent of the

Sunday-school, and has been since 1860.

EPISCOPAL CH0RCH.

The Episcopal Church in Roxbury is probably the

oldest in the county of Litchfield, dating its organiza-

tion as far back as the year 1740, a period earlier

than that of any other parish of which we have the

written records. It was organized by the Rev. Mr.

Beach, of Newtown, and was for a considerable time

the only parish in the town of Woodbury, of which,

at that time, Roxbury formed a part. The first

church edifice was erected on the hill, contiguous to

the old cemetery, in 1763. At the time the Rev.

Thomas Davies, a missionary for the propagation of

the gospel in foreign parts, preached in Litchfield

County. He occupied this pulpit one-fifth of the

time. At that time there were twenty-eight commu-

nicants. A new church edifice was subsequently

erected in the present Centre of Roxbury, which was

rebuilt in 1861. The present rector is Rev. William

C. Cooley.

THE BAPTIST CHURCH,

A Baptist Church, of which certain citizens of Rox-

bury composed a part, was constituted at South Bri-

tain, Jan. 21, 1790. That part of the church com-

posed of people from other places soon withdrew,

. leaving the people of Roxbury in an organization by

themselves. On the 30th of December, 1800, the so-

ciety voted to build a meeting-house twenty-five feet

by thirty, with ten-feet posts. This church stood a

little northwesterly from the dwelling-house of Mr.

George W. Smith, and was used until 1825, when it

was turned into a school-house, reserving the right to

hold meetings in it. Rev. Mr. Fuller was ordained

May 18, 1803, at the meeting-house in Roxbury.

Seventy members were admitted to the church pre-

vious to Mr. Fuller's ordination, and forty-one since.

THE METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH.

There have been a few Methodists in Roxbury for

the last forty-five years, with at diiferent periods

occasional meetings, but it is believed that no church

was organized until about the year 1847, when, under

the ministry of the Rev. George B. Way, a small so-

ciety was formed, which continued in existence for a

few years, enjoying meanwhile the ministry of Rev.

Messrs. Wells, Redford, Curr, and otliers. Efforts

were made at this time to build a church edifice, but

for some reason were unsuccessful, and the society

became practically extinct. In the spring of 1862

the Rev. Spencer H. Bray commenced preaching

once in four weeks, in the house now occupied by

Rev. Mr. Jones. In the following autumn Mr. Shel-

don Leavenworth purchased the building now occu-

pied by Mr. H. W. Trowbridge as a wagon-shop, and

the upper room was fitted up for meetings, which were

held regularly in this place until the present church

edifice was erected in 1867. The society at its or-

ganization consisted of fifty-five members. The pres-

ent pastor is Rev. Sylvester Smith.

For the accommodation of the Roman Catholics

residing here, mass is celebrated once in four weeks

by Father Gleason, of New Milford.

CIVIL AND MILITARY.

The first vote of the society in relation to its or-

ganization as a town was taken Oct. 2, 1786, but it

was not until 1796 that its incorporation was effected.

The struggle was long and severe, as Woodbury was

vigorous in its opposition.

LIST OF REPRESENTATIVES.

The following is a list of representatives from 1797

to 1881

:

Phineas Smith, 1797 ; Abraham Bronson, 1798-99, 1805; Ephraim Hin-

man, 1798, 1800-9; John Trowbridge, 1800-2, 1811, 1843; Elihu Can-

field, 1799, 1802, 1804, 1806, 1808-10, 1812-13 ; Abner Wakelee, 1803;

David Hammond, 1803; Wells Judson, 1804; Adna Mallory, 1805

;

Gideon Leavenworth, 1806; Amos Sijuires, 1807; Samuel Weller,

1807; D. L. Painter, 1808; E. Burritt, 1811; Asaliel Bacon, 1812,

1816; Miles Bishop, 1813: Royal R. Hinnian, 1814, 1825, 1831 ; Silas

Minor, 1815-17, 1821 ; Josiah R. Eastman, 1818, 1823, 1833 ; Eli M.

Smith, 1819, 1827 ; Samuel Patterson, 1820 ; Stephen Sanford, 1822,

1835; Isaac B. Hawley, 1824 ; Elisha Patterson, 1817-18, 1826; Eli

M. Smith, 1827; Z. W. Weller, 1828; David Brothwell, 1829-30,

1836; Wm. Pierce, 1832; David Weller, 1834 ; Went Leavenworth,

1837; H. L. Randall, 1838, 1866; Charles Beardsley, 1839; Daniel

Botsford, 1840; A. Ward, 1841 ; Chauncey Hodge, 1842; I. G. Bots-

ford, 1844; George Hurlbut, 1845; E. A. Weller, 1846; Charles

Thomas, 1847 ; E. Beardsley, 1848 ; B. S. Preston, 1849 ;
Stephen San-

ford, 1850; Myron Downs, 1851 ; Lacey Higgin, 1852; A. S. Hodge,

1853 ; Harvey Thomas, 1854; J. T. Davidson, 1855 ; Charles Burrows,

1856, 1867; H. B. Eastman, 1857; Eli Sperry, 1858; David Pierce,

1859; Chas. Beardsley, 18G0; George W. Morris, 1861 ; Elliot Beards-

ley, 1862, 1869 ; E. E. Prlndle, 1863 ; Albert L. Hodge, 1864-65 ; George
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A. Northrup, 1868 ; C. A. Beers, 1870; C. E. Trowbridge, 1871 ; C. E.

Prindle, 1872: George W. Hurlbut, 1873 ; Henry S. Hurlbut, 1874
;

Albert L. Hodge, 1875 ; Orlando Lewis, 1876 ; Merritt P. Beers, 1877
;

George Thomas, 1878 ; John S. Smith, 1879 ; Samuel Thomas, 1880;

John H. Leavenworth, 1881.

JUDGES OF PROBATE.

The Roxbury Probate District was set off from the

Woodbury District in 1842. The following is a list

of its judges

:

Harmon B. Eiistman, 1842^5 ; Aaron W. Fenn, 1845^6 ; Henry L. Ran-

dall, 1846-47 ; Aaron W, Fenn, 1847-49; H.B. Eastman, 1840-51 ; itfj'-

ron Downs, 1851, 1857; Charles Beardsley, 1857-60; H. B. Eastman,

1S60-78 ; Lyman P. Eastman, 1878, present incumbent.

MILITARY EECORD.

The following is a list of those who enlisted from

this towu during the late Rebellion :

William Allen, Setb H. Addis, Edson Bradley, Ira S. Bradley, F. W.

Beach, Harmon Beers, Jeremiah P. Bronson, Charles F. Booth, Henry

A. Booth, Oliver Camp, Daniel Carrans, Jeremiah Donovan, David

Dickson, Henry Deacons, R. L. Fenn, James Glenn, R. L. Hurlbut,

Charles H. Hurlbut, James B. Holland, E. E. Hubbard, John D.

Hull, Capt. Lewis Judd. Charles Jackson, George Lake, David Lewis,

Israel Lucas, David, Frank, and Pelr-r Miller, Lieut. Wm. E. Mor-

riso, Michael Madigan, Fred May, John McKenney, Henry Meirs,

C. F. Nicholson, John Neeson, John M. Oviatt, James O'Neil, Capt.

C. E. Prindle, Lewis Ruche, John Rueck, Henry Sniidt, John J.

Squire, Jeremiah Sullivan, Henry Smith, Wni. H. Smith, Fred

Thompson, James Percy, James Tracey, C. F. Terrell, Albert Vander-

beck, Peter Wessels, John Williams, John Wright, Charles Wright,

John and Henry Wells, William and George R. Walker, George W.

and Scth Warner, Botsford Whitehead, and John Woodruff.

The total amount paid by the town for the war

was $16,057.25 ; by individuals, $4000.

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCH.

CHARLES BEARDSLEY.

Charles Beardsley, the subject of this sketch, was

born in Roxbury, Conn., Aug. 24, 1807. He was the

eldest son of Hunting Boardsley, of Roxbury, who

married Clarinda Hurd, daughter of Curtiss Hurd,

Esq., of Roxbury. He received a good common-

school education, and for two seasons attended a pri-

vate school taught by the Rev. Fosdic Harrison, of

Roxbury. At the age of eighteen he was apprenticed

to his uncle, Hcman Beardsley, of Roxbury, to learn

the trade of a carpenter and joiner. After he became

twenty-one he continued with his uncle for a time,

and then commenced business for himself, continuing

in the same to the present time. He married .Terusha

Ann, daughter of Capt. Ely Booth, of Roxbury, Jan.

26, 1881. She died April 14, 1862, leaving no chil-

dren. Married, secDiid, Eliza, widow of the late Sam-

uel Smith, Esq., of South Britain, Conn., Sept. 24,

1863.

Soon after attaining his majority he became a

member of the Congregational society of Roxbury,

and has ever been active in its sujiport, and zealous

for its prosperity. In 1837, the old meeting-house

becoming dilapidated, the society decided to build

anew. Mr. Beardsley, being a builder, was called

upon to take an active part in the building, was ap-

pointed one of the building committee, and employed

to go forward and build the house, commencing in

the autumn of 1837, and in 1838 he completed it to

the satisfaction of all interested. In 1874, thirty-six

years from its completion, it became necessary to

make some general repairs and remodel tiie interior.

Mr. Beardsley gave liberally for the object, was again

appointed building committee, and employed to assist

in the work. He has always been liberal in his

charities, as well as prudent and economical in his

business. Mr. Beardsley united with the Congrega-

tional Church in Roxbury, in the month of May,

1843, and has continued an active member up to the

present time, a period of thirty-seven years. He says

his religious life is far from being perfect, but the

writer would say that, from his own observation, and

from public sentiment, we are convinced that there

are many—yea, very many—whose religious attain-

ments are decide<lly of a lower order, and who.se lives

as Christians do not as nearly reach the standard of

perfection as Mr. Beardsley's.

He early manifested an active interest in public

affairs, and before he was thirty years of age was

elected one of the selectmen, his colleague being

James Trowbridge, Esq. As an evidence of the con-

fidence reposed in him by the people of Roxbury,

the records show that he has been elected, and has

served, as selectman for the period of thirty-two years.
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He has also held the office of justice of the peace

more than a quarter of a century, and was holding

said office on his seventieth birthday, when the con-

stitution of the State deliarred his further action. He
was appointed judge of probate three years in succes-

sion, but, feeling unqualified to judiciously perform

the duties of the office, he requested that some other

person be appointed to fill his place, and H. B. East-

man, Esq., was appointed. He was elected town

treasurer of Roxbury in October, 1865, and has held

the office to the present time, a.d. 1881, a period of

sixteen years.

In 1839 he was elected to represent the town in the

General Assembly of the State, and was appointed

one of the committee on contested electors. In 1860

he was again elected, aud for a second time represented

the town in the General Assembly. During the war

of the Rebellion he was holding the office of select-

man, a position of much responsibility, on account of

the excitement, turmoil, and many new enactments

at special sessions of the Legislature, rendering it

necessary that all jiapers relating to town-meetings

should be legally drawn, in order to avoid litigation.

Any one examining the records of the town will be

satisfied that the drawing up of warnings, votes, and

resolutions during that period will compare favora-

bly, for legal ability and talent, with those of any

other town in the State ; and no man in the town had

more responsibility resting upon him during the war,

and no one did more to secure the greatest good of the

whole community, than Mr. Beardsley. He also

took an active part in the building of the Shepaug

Railroad, subscribing liberally for its stock, according

to his means, and in order that it might be successful,

used his influence, as far as proper, to induce others

to favor the project, conscientiously believing that,

although pecuniarily it might prove a failure, yet it

certainly would be a great convenience to the people

of Roxbury, and time has fully demonstrated that

the views which he entertained were correct.

GENE.'^LOGT OF THE BEAltDSLEY FAMILY.*

William Beardsley, aged thirty years (by trade a

mason), with his wife Mary, aged twenty-six, and

daughter Mary, aged four years, and sons John, two

years, and Joseph, six months, embarked from Lon-

don for Massachusetts in the ship " Planter," in

April, 1635. At the settlement of Stratford, Conn.,

in 1639, he was among the first settlers, and one of

the original proprietors. He was a deputy of the

General Court of Connecticut in 1645, and for seven

annual sessions from 1649. He is mentioned in a

committee of that body as "Goodman Beardsley," a

title at that time frequently applied to persons of solid

worth and respectability. In his " Early Puritan

Settlers of Connecticut," Hon. R. R. Hinman says,

"This has been a respectable family from the first

settlement at Stratford."

* By Eev. E. E. Beardsley, D.D.

Children of William : Mary, born in England in

1631 ; John, born in England in 1633 ; Joseph, born

in England in 1634; Samuel, born in Massachusetts

in 1638; Sarah, born in Stratford in 1641; Hannah,

born in Stratford ; Daniel, born in Stratford in 1644. ,

Joseph, second son of William, had Joseph, Jr.,

born June 10, 1666; John, born Nov. 1, 1668; Han-
nah, born April 13, 1671; Elizabeth, Thomas, Eph-

raim, Jonathan, Josiah.

Josiah married Mary Whittemore, Dec. 24, 1712.

Children : Katharine, born 1713 ; Hannah, born Feb-

ruary, 1715 ; Josiah, born December, 1716 ; Samuel,

boru June, 1719 ; Israel, born March, 1721 ; Benjamin,

born July, 1723, died 1726; Isaac Judson, born Octo-

ber, 1725 ; Benjamin, born February, 1727 or 1728.

Benjamin, son of Josiah, had Whittemore, Thomas,

born Nov. 28, 1764; Dunning, Benjamin, Mary,

Nancy, Ephraim.

Thomas, son of Benjamin, married Mabel, daughter

of Nathan Thompson, of Stratford. He was a private

of cavalry during the war of the Revolution. In

1776 was stationed in New York City ; was in the

battle on Long Island, Aug. 27, 1776, and in the en-

gagement at Danbury, Conn., April, 1777; was hon-

orably discharged, and received a pension for life of

fifty-four dollars and sixteen cents annually. In 1800

he purchased the old homestead, on the west side of

Good Hill, in Roxbury, now occupied by his grand-

son, Minott L. Beardsley, and removed with his

family from Stratford. He was appointed selectman,

and held other positions of trust and responsibility,

and died March 28, 1842, aged eighty-seven years.

Children of Thomas Beardsley : Hannah, born 1777

;

Abby, born 1778 ; Aner, born 1780 ; Hunting, born

1783; Ezekiel, born 1785; Heman, born 1788; Na-

than, born 1790.

Hunting married Clarinda, daughter of Curtiss

Hurd, Esq., of Roxbury. Children : Charles, Julia

Antoinette, Minerva, Grandison.
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The town of Salisbury is located in the northwest

corner of the county and State, and is bounded as fol-

lows: on the north by Berkshire Co., Mass., on the

east by Canaan and North Canaan, on the south by

Sharon, and on the west by the counties of Columbia

and Dutchess, in the State of New York. The sur-

face of the town is broken, consisting of elevated hills

and deep valleys. The valleys are generally lime-

stone, while on the hills granite predominates.



COL. GEORGE HURLBUT.

The subject of this sketch was born at Rox-

bury, Litelifield Co., on the 14th of October,

1809. His family was one of the earliest col-

onial stocks that came to Connecticut. Early

in life he learned the hatter's trade of Col.

William Odell, of Washington.

On the 7th of January, 1833, he married

Miss Thalia A. Merwin, of Brookfield. Their

children were Caroline S., born Oct. 22, 1833;

Thalia M., born Feb. 9, 1836; Emily E., born

May 7, 1839; George W., born March 10,

1841 ; Samuel W., horn Dec. 29, 1843; Wil-

liam H., born March 11, 1846; Charles W.,

born June 8, 1849 ; Adelaide A., born June

12, 1851; and Frank W., born Sept. 20,

18ri3.

Col. Ilurlbut was engaged in the manufac-

ture of hats in his native town from 1840 to

1860, and durini^ tiiat time acquire<l a hand-

some property, which, by good management,

has grown into a fine estate.

In 1845 he was elected a mcmhcr of the

Legislature of Connecticut. He was apjiointcd

postmaster at Roxbury on the election of Presi-

dent Lincoln, and has held that office until the

present time.

Col. Hurlbnt has lived a very quiet life, and

has kept himself within the sphere which he

originally marked out,—to live on terms of

charity with all men, to help the needy, and,

so far as lay in his power, to do no wrong, nor

suffer any to be done. It is believed that few

men in Litchfield County will leave behind

them a more unsullied record for honesty and

purity of character. Certainly no one ever

exhibit('<l a more steadfast fidelity to his friends.
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THE INDIANS.

Upon the advent of the white settlers many of the

aborigines still remained, clustered in the valleys

along the streams and lakes, but the fearless inde-

pendence and noble bearing of the Indian character

were gone. They had been too long within the reach

of the enervating influence of the whites, and were

peaceable, harmless, and servile.

" There seems to be much plausibility," says the

late Judge Church, "in the conjecture that the race

of Indians found here by our fathers was not the orig-

inal tenantry of this region, but had come in as wan-
dering tribes or bands from other forests, driven,

perhaps, by wars to take the place of an earlier and
more noble people. The tradition is, with much
probability, authenticated that King Philip, the last

of New England's proud sachems, and the relentless

foe of the Puritans, extended his ravages on this side

of Connecticut River, and that he burned, or other-

wise broke up, some settlements of English and
friendly Indians in the present town of Simsbury,

and particularly an Indian village there called Wea-
togue, the name of which still remains ; and these

Indians, flying from Philip, settled down upon the

banks of the Housatonic, within the present limits of

Salisbury and Canaan, giving the name of their

former home to their new residence."

Hubbard, in his " History of Indian Wars," affirms

it that the Indians as far west as Hudson's or Dutch
River were concerned in Philip's wars, and Bancroft,

speaking of the Indians of New England, says, "The
clans that disappeared from the ancient hunting-

grounds did not always become extinct: they often

migrated to the North and West. The country be-

tween the banks of the Connecticut and tlie Hudson
was possessed by independent villages of tlie Molie-

gans, kindred with the Manhattans, whose few smokes

once rose amidst the forests of York Island." The
Indians of these villages spoke the same language,

the Mohegan or Pequod dialect, and which was, with

perhaps some variation, the language common to the

Indians of New England. The Indians here were

probably connected in some relation with tiie Stock-

bridge or Moheaconnuc tribe, and perhaps made
part of the tribes or clans lower down the river, at

Kent and New Milford, and connected in amicable

relations with the Indians who acknowledged tlie

sachem Wyantenock as tlieir common protector. This

chief resided near tlie (ireat Falls, in New Milford.

I have myself, when a child, conversed with old men
who could recollect the remnant of tribes considerably

populous in Wcatogue, near the former residence of

the White family, and on the northern margin of

Wonunscopomuc Lake (now called Furnace Pond),

and also on the eastern shore of Indian Pond, in

Sharon.

There was, upon the lirst arrival of the Dutch

settlers here, a well-defined Indian trail or path lcn<l-

ing from the Stockbridgc tribe, along the valley of

the Housatonic, through Weatogue, to the Scaticoke

settlement of Indians in Kent. Apple-trees had
sprung up, and were growing along that path through

its whole extent at unequal distances, accurately

enough marking its course. Many of these were stand-

ing when I was a youth, and some, I believe, remain to

this day. Tradition has pointed out the spot, on the

easterly side of Wonunscopomuc Lake, upon which
the Indians held their councils and pow-wows. It is

in the grove, a little west of the road leading from

Furnace Village to Town Hill, and near a tall pine-

tree, now standing, overlooking the lake. Frequently,

when I have stood upon that interesting spot, I have
attempted to call up before me the groups of savage

men who congregated on that ground. I have, in

fancy, there looked upon the grave, stern face of the

counselor, the fierce visage of the impatient warrior

in his listening attitude, and the encircling group of

women and children around. It was, and still is, a

plat of romantic beauty, well fitted to call forth the

innate religious feeling of those men of nature. This

spot was frequently visited by wandering Indians in

after-days, and the stately pine which then nuirked

the place was long known to the white inhabitants as

the Indian tree.

Although the Indians of this neighborhood were
friendly, yet such was the well-known treachery of

the Indian character, and so frefjuent were the causes

ofdisturbance among the Northern and Western tribes,

and so dreadful were the tales of savage cruelty, that

the early white settlers were cautious in their inter-

course with them, and were constantly on their guard

against surprise and attack. A supply of ammunition
was always on hand, furnished at the expense of the

town, forts or block-houses were erected for defense

and refuge, and the house first erected for the min-
ister, and which was improved as the house of relig-

ious worship, was constructed with a view to defense,

and with port-holes, through which a fire of musketry

could be kept up against assailing Indians. Our
fathers itssembled to worship ( iod with arms in their

hands; unlike us, their children, who have none to

molest or make us afraid.

" One of these block-houses was erected at the junc-

tion of the roads opposite the late dwelling-house of

Nathaniel Churdi, at Weatogue, and its stone foun-

dations have been visible in my day. Another, a

little southerly from the present dwelling-iiouse of

William P. Russell, Es(]., the first location of the

Dutcher family, nearly then inclosed by deep covea

and dense thickets; and still another, on the north-

erly side of Wonunscopomuc Lake, not far from the

present residence of Newman Holley, I'^sq." (1841.)

There is a tradition that a large body of Indians

were defeated in the northerly portion of the town

before the settlement by the whites. In the year

1676, and just before the death of the proud chief

King Philip, Maj. Tallcott, of the Connecticut forces,

pursued, from Westfield towards Albany, a Hying
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body of Indians, who, after their defeat in King
Philip's war, were flying for safety among the war-

like and powerful Mohawks. These fugitives, under

the commaud of saehem of Winnimissett, or Brook-

field, were surprised on the Housatonic River, at the

fording-place, a short distance south of the State line,

and about fifty of their number, including their sa-

chem, were either killed or taken prisoners.

There were several Indian burying-grounds in this

town.

"One," says Judge Church, in his address, in 1841,

" was on the eastern side of the north pond, another

on the east aide of the road leading through Weatogue,

and a little southerly from the old burying-yard on

mv late father's farm, and still another on the bank

of the Housatonic, on the old White farm. This

probably belonged to an earlier race than the Indians

found here by our fathers. The annual encroachment

of the river by the spring freshets upon the banks

frequently exposed the bones of the buried Indians,

which upon exposure became dust."

THE FIRST PURCHASE OF LANDS.

The first purchase of the Indians of lands lying

within the present bounds of this town was made by

William White and Abraham Vandusen, Dutch emi-

grants from the province of New York, supposing

this section to lie within the boundaries of that prov-

ince. This tract was located about two miles south of

the falls.

The second purchase was made in January, 1720,

by John Dikeman and Lawrence Knickerbocker, of

Livingston's Manor, New York, of a tract lying on the

west side of the Housatonic River, " beginning at the

Upper Falls, south of Wootauk (meaning Weatogue)

;

thencQ, running along the side of a hill called Wooto-

wanche, now called Sugar Hill, two miles to the land

purchased of the Indians by White and Vandusen

;

thence, with a straight line, to a mile above the falls of

a brook called Wachocastinork (probably the falls at

Lime Rock); thence south three miles, thence east

to the forks, etc."

Before the charter of the town was granted, Thomas
Lamb, in behalf of the Governor and Company of

the Connecticut colony, purchased certain Indian

rights of land in the present town of Sharon, and in

Weatogue, " for the consideration of eighty pounds

and divers victuals and clothes." This deed was

signed by the marks of many Indians, who described

themselves as of the Indian nation belonging to Mut-

tapacuck. The name of one of the signers of this

deed was Tocconuc. Soon afterwards the Indians

complained to the General Court that they had been

defrauded by Lamb in this purchase, and a committee

was appointed to investigate the alleged causes of

complaint. Lamb afterwards received a grant of land

from the colony for his services and expenses in the

negotiation.

Thomas Knowles and Andrew Hinman, of Wood-

bury, about the same time, made a very extensive

Indian purchase, including, as they probably sup-

posed, nearly all the feasible land of the town, de-

scribed in their deed as lying on the river, six miles

in length north and south, and four miles wide east

and west. These grants, however, were afterwards

all relinquished to the colony, the Indian's right

being considered then, as now, only as a right of

occupancy, not of sale, the right of pre-emption being

solely in the colony. All these grantees, however,

as a compensation for their expenses, received grants

of land from the colony. After the charter of the

town was granted, and as late as 1742, the Indians

made claim to lands here ; and in October of that

year Daniel Edwards, of New Haven, was appointed

to purchase of the Indians two miles square, at the

northeast corner of the town, and to deliver to one

Toccunus two blankets to resign his claim.

THE FIRST GRANT.

The territory now including the towns of Salisbury,

Sharon, Canaan, and Norfolk, before the survey of

these towns was made, was known as the " Western

Lands." The first grant made of lands in this town by

the General Court was made to William Gaylord, of

New Milford. This grant embraced nearly the whole

of the Weatogue intervals. Many other grants were

subsequently made before the sale of the town to pro-

prietors ; among these were Woodbridge's,

Lamb"s, Fitch's, Knickerbacor's, Bissell's, Dutcher's,

Wadsworth's, Whiting's, Hinman's, Stiles', Lewis',

Newtons', Knowles', and perhaps some others.

The General Court made no grants of land here to

Yale College, although in all the other towns embraced

within the "Northwestern Lands" a grant of three hun-

dred acres in each was made to that institution ; but

as early as 1730 the trustees of the college received a

deed of six hundred and twenty-eight acres of land

from Rev. John Fisk and James Leavens, of Killingly,

in exchange for land of equal value in that town.

This land was located southeasterly of the centre of

the town.

Fisk and Leavins had received from the colony a

grant of this land in October, 1729.

THE FIRST SETTLEMENTS.

Settlements of white people commenced within the

present limits of this town several years before the

public sale of the lands. Three Dutch families from

Livingston's Manor, in the province of New York,

commenced the settlement in Weatogue. Their lands

were purchased of William Gaylord and Stephen

Noble, of New Milford, by deeds dated Aug. 29, 1720.

These were the families of William White, Abraham

Vandusen, and Kulufl' Dutcher. They probably took

possession of their lands the same season. White

was by birth an Englishman, but had long before

been connected with the Dutch inhabitants of the

New York province. He married a Dutch wife, and
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had reared a family. He located himself upon a

farm subsequently owned by Nathaniel Church, and

a few rods north of the small stream which flows east-

wardly across the highway to the cove below. White
had several sons, who settled around him,—George,

on the west side of the road, opposite his father's

house ; Benjamin, a little south of the brook ; Joshua,

still farther south, and near the river; and Isaac, who
resided with his father. Benjamin was a man of con-

siderable repute. He afterwards returned to the

province of New York, where he died. I'he other

sons of William White lived and died here.

The Knickerbacor family came into the town soon

after White and others. John Knickerbacor occu-

pied the Knickerbacor grant at the mouth of Salmon

Kill River. Cornelius Knickerbacor, a brother of

John, settled at Lakeville about the same time that

John came here. Cornelius Knickerbacor's was for

some time the only white family in that section of

the town. He afterwards removed to Sharon.

Thomas Lamb was the first New England man who
settled in this town. He emigrated from Springfield,

but the precise time of his settlement here cannot

be ascertained. He received several grants of land

before the sale of the town. He located a tract of fifty

acres at Lime Kock, upon a grant made to a Sergt.

Tibbals for services in the Pequod war. He received

another grant of one hundred acres on the northeast

side of tlie Furnace pond, and after the sale of the

town he became the owner of four and one-half

rights. He secured the water-privileges at Lime
Rock, at the outlet of the Furnace pond, at the falls

west of the Centre, a.s well as the outlet of the pond

on the mountain. He was the distinguished specu-

lator of his day. His place of residence was prob-

ably first at Lime Rock, but he afterwards resided on

the hill southea-sterly of Lakeville. He left the town

about the year 1746, and became a mariner, and re-

sided successively in New Jersey, Maryland, and

North Carolina.

Mr. Caleb Woodworth was the first white man
who settled with a family in the neighborhood of the

Ore Hill. He came into the town as early as 173H.

Thomas Baylis settled at the Centre as early as 1740.

John-Weldon came into the town in 1740, and Isaac

Vosburgh in 1742. Both located themselves in tlie

north part of the town, near where the late Col.

Elijah Stanton lived and died. Samuel Beebe settled

near the Upper or Little Falls of the Housatonic about

the year 1740. Within one year after the incorpora-

tion of the town there were forty-five tax-paying

inhabitants here. Tiie ore-bed, tlie iron-works of

Thomas Lamb, at Limo Rock, and tlie various water-

privileges discovered here, probably invited emi-

grants, though the appearance of the land wa.s at first

uninviting: the hills appeared barren, and with little

wood to cover them,—the frequent Indian fires had

nearly destroyed the timber,—and the valleys were

covered with a tall and useless gra.ss called bent-grass.

EARLY HIGHWAYS.

" Previous to the act of incorporation," says Judge
Church, " there were no public roads here, yet there

were some well-defined paths. The most prominent

among these was the one leading from Butcher's, in

Weatogue, and following, as I suppose, the general

direction of the present highway, to Furnace Village,

and thence along nearly to the Ore Hill, and down
through Sharon valley to Sackett's farm, in Dover,

nearly west of the southwest corner of the town of

Sharon. Another path led from the Ore Hill, and in

the vicinity of what we call the Under Mountain road,

to the iron-works at Ousatonic, now called Great Bar-

rington. This was called the Ore path, and iron ore,

in leathern bags, was transported on horses over this

road from the Ore Hill to the forge. Another path

connected the Ore Hill with Lamb's iron-works, at

Lime Rock, and another extended from Lamb's works
to the fording-place, about one^half mile below the

present Falls bridge."

In the division of the town by the proprietors an
allowance for roads was made over nearly all the lots,

but none were actually located by them, unless it was
the six-rod highway over the first division lot.s, across

Town Hill. The first recorded survey of a highway
was made Nov. d, 1744, from Gabriel Dutcher'.s, in

thenortheast section of the town, to Benjamin White's;

another, the same year, from Cornelius Knickerbacor's,

at the Furnace, to Samuel Bellow's, at the eastern foot

of Smith's Hill ; another, in 1746, from White's, in

AVeatogue, westerly to the foot of the hill, called by
us Frink's Hill. This road has been discontinued.

Another, the same year, from Furnace Village to the

colony line ; and another, the same year, from the

centre easterly to the foot of the mountain near

Chauncey Reed's, the late, and thence southerly to

Lamb's iron-works. These were among the first le-

gally established highways.
" The first bridge erected across the Housatonic

River was the Falls bridge, for many years known iis

Burrall's bridge. This bridge was built about the

year 1744. Dutclicr's bridge was erected in 1760. A
i bridge at the south i)art of the town, about one-half

mile below the pre.seiit bridge, was erected about the

year 1790. It was built by funds raised by a lotterj'

granted by the General As.sonibly, and was long

known as the Lottery bridge. It was discontinued

upon the opening of tlie |)rescnt road, called the

Johnston road, leading from the late Nathan Icl

!
Green's to South Canium, in the year 1808. Before

the erection of these bridges, access to this town was
ditlicult from the east. There were but few fording-

places upon the river, and these could only be im-
proved jvhcn the river was very low, in the summer
or fall. Indeed, I believe no more than one tbrding-

place was improvetl, which was about one-half milo

below the Falls bridge. The river could be forded

I

with some difficulty near William Sardain's. Caiiom
were used for the transportation of persons, and I
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have not been able to learn whether any ferries were

at any time established ; I believe there were none.

Horses and cattle could cross the river only by swim-

ming.
" In investigating some titles, some years ago, of

[

lands in Weatogue, I found the prominent description
,

of one corner of a tract to be ' Christopher's canoe-

place.' I infer, therefore, that this was a well-known

crossing, and near to the present residence of Ruloff

Dutcher, in Canaan, whose ancestor was Christopher

Dutcher.
" Perhaps there is not an ancient highway in the

town which can now be accurately defined. We can

depend only upon the practical location, or the dedi-

cation of the highways by usage, as the legal evidence

of their existence and extent.

" Rev. Mr. Grossman, in his sermon, says that

the charter of this town was granted in 1745, and

signed by Governor Law. This is an error. Mr.

Grossman has confounded the charter of the town

with the deed of confirmation, which deed was exe-

cuted in May, 1745, and signed by Governor Law.
" This town was originally attached to the county

of New Haven, and remained a part of that county

until the county of Litchfield was constituted in

1751."

THE PIONEERS.

Thomas Ncwcomb resided here before the sale of

the town, and was a large land-holder, and a prominent

inhabitant. He presided at the first town- meeting,

and was the first selectman chosen in the town. His

place of residence was on the road leading from Lime

Rock to Town Hill.

Cyrenus Newcomb, the first town clerk, was the son

of Thomas Newcomb.

The Chipman fiimily was numerous and highly

respectable. Thomas Chipman, the ancestor, and

who was the first officiating justice of the peace in

the town, emigrated from Barnstable, Mass., to Groton,

in this State, and from Groton he came here in 1741.

He settled near Lamb's iron-works, and was a pro-

prietor in the saw-mill and grist-mill there. He was

a member of the first church organized here. He was

appointed an associate judge of this county, but died

in the summer of 1752, at the age of sixty-five, be-

fore he entered upon the duties of the office. His

sons were Thomas, John, Samuel, Amos, and Jona-

than. Thomas, the eldest son, was one of the first

elected members of Assembly. He died a bachelor

here at an advanced age. John also died in this

town. The other sons removed to Vermont before

the Revolution.

Capt. Samuel Beebe was the first treasurer of the

town. He emigrated from Litchfield ; was a large

land-holder in the eastern part of the town.

Benajah Williams was a selectman in 1743 ; he re-

moved from Goshen here in 1742, and settled near

the Furnace pond, and was one of the first eleven

members of the church.

John Smith was one of the first elected selectmen,

and a gentleman of considerable estate and respect-

ability. He removed from the town, and settled at

Beekman's patent, in the province of New York,

about the year 1746.

Thomas Austin, the first constable of the town,

was a bloomer at Lamb's iron-works, and resided in

that neighborhood, and was an ancestor of the late

Hon. Aaron Austin, of New Hartford.

Nathaniel Skinner was a selectman in 1743, and

one of the first members of the church. He was the

son of Nathaniel Skinner, Esq., of Sharon.

Deacon John Hutchinson came here from Lebanon

in 1743. He was for several years one of the justices

of the peace in the town. He was the third town

clerk, and was elected in 1747, and held the office

thirty-one years, and was succeeded in the office by

his .son, Asa Hutchinson, who held the same office

thirty-eight years. Deacon Hutchinson was one of

the first deacons of the church here.

Josiah Stoddard emigrated from Litchfield in 1743.

He was the second town clerk, and for several years

a member of the General Assembly. He was the

father of Major Luther Stoddard, of the Revolution-

ary army, and ancestor of Hon. Josiah J. Johnston,

senator of the United States from Louisiana.

Samuel Moore came originally from Southold, on

Long Island, to Litchfield, and from thence to this

town in 1743. He settled at the foot of Barack-Ma-

tiff', near Deacon Hutchinson. He was for many years

treasurer of the town.

The Landon family in England was located in

Nottinghamshire, on the Welsh border. That branch

of it which settled here came from Southold, on Long

Island, to Litchfield, and settled about one-half mile

north of the village. James and John Landon,

brothers, came to this town in 1749. James settled in

the south part of the town, near the small pond

called by the Indians Non-Cook. He was one of the

first magistrates in the town, and for many years a

member of the General Assembly. His descendants

were numerous. John Landon settled on Sugar Hill,

in the east part of the town. He married a grand-

daughter of William White, the first settler.

The family of Gamps was an early and respectable

one. Deacon Hezekiah Gamp, the ancestor, came

from New Haven, now East Haven, in 1746. The

sons of Deacon Gamp were Hezekiah, Abial, Luke,

John, and Samuel.

The Chapin family for many years was numerous

in this town and highly respectable. The brothers

Charles and Reuben Chapin emigrated from Enfield

in 1746.

Of the Binghams it was once said that they and

their kindred constituted half of the population in

the northern section of the town. Jabez, Silas, and

Daniel Bingham came from Windham in 1750. They

were the sons of Jabez Bingham, formerly of Leb-

anon.
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John, Nathaniel, and Sylvanus Everts, from Guil-
j

ford, settled in the vicinity of the Furnace pond in

1749. John was the first representative in the Gen-

eral Assembly. i

Thomas Chittenden, the first Governor of Vermont,
]

and Capt. Timothy Chittenden, sons of Ebenezer

Chittenden, of Guilford, settled here in 1750.

Noah Strong was the ancestor of the Strong fam-
j

ily, once numerous here, but now nearly gone. He
removed from Coventry in 1747, and settled on Town
Hill.

Joseph Bird removed from Litchfield in 1748.

Lot Norton (1st) was a native of Farmington, the

son of Thomas Norton, one of the original proprietors

of the town. This gentleman was long a respectable

magistrate, and one of the most prominent of the

early inhabitants.

EARLY SCHOOLS.

In New England the church and the school were

equal objects of care, and, although our Salisbury

ancestors professed as their first object a desire to be

gathered into church estate, yet this estate was un-

derstood by them to include the school as a con-

sequence.

In 1743, and before the settlement of a minister,

the town voted to procure a schoolmaster for one

year, and directed a school to be kept, under tlie

superintendence of a committee, three months at

Wcatogue, four months near Cornelius Knickerbac-

or's, at Lakeville, and three months in the Hollow

or Lime Rock. Robert Wain was probably the first

schoolmaster in the town, but his services wore con-

fined to the Dutch population at.Weatogue. In De-

cember, 1743, the town ordered the building of two

log school-houses, one at Weatogue, and one at

Lime Rock. Dr. Wilson, or Williams, was the first

schoolmaster employed under the authority of the

town.

In January, 174.5, five school squadrons, as they

were then called, were established, and tlic public-

school money was distributed to tliem, in jiroportion

to the number of scholars in each. At that time

money for the support of the schools was raised by a

general tax upon the inhabitants of the town, and

also from the rents of the scliool lands.

In 1743, Thonuis Ncwcomb, Henajah Williams,

Thomas Laml), lienjaniiri Wliite, and Samuel licliows

were appointed a committee to lease the lands on the

school right for nine hundred and ninety-nine years,

taking security for tlic avails.

In 176() tlic nuiiil)er of scholars receiving instruc-

tion in the common schools was four hundred and

eiglity. Reading, writing, arithmetic, and the As-

senilily's catechism constituted tlie full course of

school instruction for many years.

In the winter of 18(14 the town was highly excited

by a collision between the school visitors and the in-

structors, occasioned, as the instructors claimed, by

an unwarrantable interference with the religious opin-

ions of some of them. Many of the schoolmasters

were dismissed from their schools, and their school-

houses closed a while. But harmony was restored

again, and no evil abiding consequences resulted.'*

LIBRARY.

Before the Revolutionary war successful measures

were adopted to establish a public library in the

town. Mr. Richard Smith, an English gentleman of

respectability, was a proprietor of the Furnace, and

felt a deep interest in the welfore of the town.

Through his agency, and from funds raised by several

public-spirited individuals a library, consisting of

•about two hundred volumes, was procured from Lon-

don, and received the name of " Smith Library."

In January, 1803, Mr. Caleb Bingham, of Boston,

a native of this town, influenced by a generous re-

gard for the youth here, presented a small library of one

hundred and fifty volumes to the town, for the use of

the young, and appointed a board of trustees for its

management, consisting of Rev. Joseph W. Grossman,

Samuel Lee, Luther Holley, Asa Hutchinson, Peter

Farnam, Phineas Chapin, Timothy Chittenden, Elisha

Sterling, Lot Norton, Jr., and Bcnajah Bingham.

These trustees had power to fill vacancies in their own

board. At that time, when books especially useful to

youth were comparatively scarce, this donation was

of peculiar value and gratefully received by the town.

The lil)rary received tlie name of the " Bingham Li-

brary for Youth." It was a small i)eginning, but it

infused into the youthful population a new impulse,

and a taste for reading, before unknown, was soon dis-

coverable among the young. Tlie books were sought

for and read with avidity. The town from time tA

time, by grants* from it.s treasury, has contributed to

its enlargement, and generous individuals too have

made to it valuable additions. Among the benefac-

tors of this cherished institution have been the late

Profes.sor Averill, of Union College, and the lat€ Dr.

Caleb Ticknor, of New York, a nephew of its founder,

and both natives of this town, and who, in common
with many others, have acknowledged their obliga-

tions to this library for much of their success and dis-

tinction in after-life. The generous and unwearied

efforts of our respected friend, Mr. John Whittlesey,

in aid of the "Bingham lyibrary for Youth" will be

long reiiiombcred. The present number of well-

selected volumes is about five hundred.

In 1810 there were received by subscribers through

the post-office in this town only eighteen newspapers

weekly.

The following persons have received academical

literary degrees from American colleges while inhab-

itants of tliis town, viz., Hon. Nathaniel Chipman,

James Hutchinson, Samuel Camp, Jonathan l>ee (2d),

Elisha Lee, Chauncey Lee, Gen. Peter B. Porter,

* For praaant condiUoD of kIiooIi, m* Qeneral Hiiloiy.
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Caleb Bingham, Thomas Fitch, William L. Strong,

Myron Holley, Horace Holley, Samuel Church,

Thomas G. Waterman, Jonathan Lee (3d), Orville

L. Holley, Isaac Bird, Lot Norton, Jr., John M.
Sterling, John M. Holley, Jr., Eli Reed, Graham H.

Chapin, George A. Calhoun, Chester Averill, Albert

E. Church, Caleb Ticknor, Roger Averill, George B.

Dutcher, Edward Hollister, Gurdon Spencer, Charles

A. Lee, Edmund Reed, Churchill CofBng, Joseph

Pettee, Amos B. Beach, Josiah Turner, William G.

Sterling, Eliphalet Whittlesey, Jr., Charles Whittle-

sey, George Bartlett, Samuel P. Church, and Jona-

than Edwards Lee.

The State of Vermont owes something to the men
of Salisbury for its present position among the States

of this Union. As early as 1761, John Everts, the

same gentleman who was our first representative to

the General Court of this colony, procured from Gov-

ernor Wentworth, of New Hampshire, the charters or

grants of the towns of Middlebury, New Haven, and

Salisbury, in the former State. The first proprietors

of Middlebury were almost all of them inhabitants of

this town ; and these proprietors held their first meet-

ing at the house of Landlord Everts, in Salisbury, and

elected Matthias Kelsey, Ebenezer Hanchett, and

James Nichols to be the first selectmen of Middle-

bury.

Some of the most energetic and resolute of the

Green Mountain Boys emigrated from this town; and

among these boijs were Thomas Chittenden, Ethan

Allen, Ira Allen, and Jonas Galusha. Thomas Chit-

tenden was Governor of Vermont, with the exception

of one year, from 1778 to 1797. In the early disputes

between the Province or State of New York and the

settlers of the New Hampshire grants, no man was

more active than Ethan Allen. He defied the admo-

nitions and the threats of the Governor of New York,

contained in a proclamation addressed to the settlers,

and says, in a manifesto signed by himself and others,

on the 5th day of April, 1774, "We flatter ourselves

we can muster as good a regiment of mark,-<men and

scalpers as America can afford, and we give the gen-

tlemen (of New York) an invitation to come and view

the dexterity of our regiment," etc. Ira Allen was

for many years the treasurer, and Jonas Galusha the

Governor, of Vermont.

The history of the Western Reserve, in Ohio, is

familiar with us. That tract of country was surveyed

into townships by Augustus Porter, son of our distin-

guished townsman, Col. Joshua Porter, assisted by

other gentlemen, among whom was our late excellent

and much-lamented friend, John M. Holley, Esq.

Among the original purchasers and proprietors of the

towns of Canfield and Johnston, in Trumbull Co.,

Ohio, and some other towns in that reserve, were

James Johnston, Daniel Johnston, Nathaniel Church,

David Waterman, and Timothy Chittenden, of this

town. Many of the earliest settlers of the town of

Canfield were our inhabitants, viz.. Champion Min-

ard, James Doud, Aaron Collar, William Chapman,
Ziba Loveland, Hon. Elisha Whittlesey, Ensign
Church, and some others.

There has been a manufacturing interest in Salis-

bury from the beginning, and yet we have been, pre-

eminently, an agricultural people. There have been
but few places in which the agricultural facilities have
been more diversified than this, although the commit-
tee which first exploretl our territory had some doubts

whether it could sustain a sufl5cient population to sup-

port a minister.

Formerly there were not more than three well-es-

tablished mercantile concerns in the town,—Holley's,

at the Furnace ; Moore's, at the Centre; and Chapin's,

at Camp's Forge.

IRON INTERESTS.

The iron ore, the forests, and the frequent water-

power found here at a very early jjcriod introduced

the manufacture of iron, and we have had but few

other manufactories. The first forge was erected by
Thomas Lamb, in the Hollow, as it was formerly

called, now called Lime Rock, before the charter of

the town, and before its sale at Hartford, in 1738.

Lamb's iron-works are referred to as existing in the

earliest conveyances. They were probably erected

as early as 1734. Soon afterwards a grist-mill and
saw-mill were built just below, upon the same fall

of water, by Lamb and others. The Lime Rock forge

and furnace of Messrs. Canfield & Robbins now oc-

cupy the sites of these ancient works. Iron ore was

first taken from the Hendricks ore bed, now called

the Davis ore bed, to supply Lamb's iron-works.

Lamb was a proprietor of that ore bed. These works

have subsequently been occupied by Thomas Starr,

Martin Hoffman, Joel Harvey, Thomas Chipman,

Jr., Ebenezer Hanchett, Thomas Austin, and James

Johnston, and for many years were known only as

Johnston's forge.

riKST BLAST-FUBNACE.

Thomas Lamb, who owned the outlet of the Fur-

nace Pond, conveyed it in 1748 to Benajah Williams,

Josiah Stoddard, and William Spencer. These per-

sons soon after built a forge, near where the remains

of the old furnace now are. Afterwards, Moor-

house, Caleb Smith, John Dean, John Pell, Gideon

Skinner, Joseph Jones, Eliphalet Owen, John Cobb,

and Leonard Owen were at diff^erent periods its pro-

prietors. It was called Owen's iron works. In 1762,

Leonard Owen conveyed this property to John Hasel-

tine, Samuel Forbes, and Ethan Allen. These gen-

tlemen erected the first blast-furnace ever built in this

State, as I suppose. Charles and George Caldwell,

of Hartford, purchased this property in 1763, and

they conveyed it to Richard Smith, of Boston, in

1768.

Thomas Lamb was proprietor of the water privi-

lege on the mountain, since called Riga, and had con-

trol of the stream flowing therefrom. Very early he
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erected a saw-mill and grist-mill on that stream, about

one-half mile northwest of the Centre village, at or

near the falls upon which Clark's mills now stand,—as

early as 1744. This property was soon afterwards

owned by Joel Harvey and Joseph Parke, and from

them has been transmitted through various proprietors

to the present owners.

Nathaniel Jewell, in 1753, built a grist-mill on

the northern line of the town, near Sage's present

works.

No business was done at the great falls of the

Housatonic before the erection of the paper-mill, in

1783. That manufactory was established by the late

Samuel Forbes, Esq., and Nathaniel Church, and for

several years was an active and prosperous concern.

Paper was then made exclusively of linen rags, and

by the slow process of the hand mould. A saw-mill

and fulling-mill were erected there about the same

time. An extensive lumber business was prosecuted.

Pine timber, in large quantities and of excellent

quality, was by the spring freshets annually drifted

down the river from the towns above.

About the year 1797, Charles Loveland erected an

extensive manufactory of gun-barrels there. The

entire works, except the saw-mill, were destroyed by

fire in February, 1800, and never rebuilt. For several

years thereafter no active business was done in that

neighborhood.

Abner or Peter Woodin erected a forge at Mount

Riga about the year 1781. Daniel Ball succeeded,

and the forge was for many years known as Ball's

forge. Scth King and John Kelsey commenced build-

ing a furnace there about 1806, but were not able

to complete it. The entire property in the forge and

furnace came into the hands of Coffing, Holly & Pet-

tee in the year 1810, who the same year finished the

furnace, and for many years prosecuted a very exten-

sive and profitable business. Pig iron, anchors, screws,

and various kinds of manufactured iron were made

there. This establishment, including the works at

Lime Rock, was incorporated in 1828, by the name

of the Salisbury Iron Oom|)any.

The i'urnace near the Falls bridge was built by

Lemau Bradley in 1812. It was burnt in 1814, and

immediately rebuilt. The refining forge there was

built by Caiificld, Sterling & Co., in , and the

neighborhood, al)out that time, received the name of

Falls Village. The iron-works there and at Lime

Rock are now the i)ropo"rty of Messrs. CanficUl &
Robbins.

The iron-works at the upper or little falls of the

Housatonic were built in 1833, by Kddy Ames &
Kinsley, but have since that time been much e.\-

tended.

The ore-bed in the west part of the town, called

by way of distinction the Old Ore Hill, is a tract of

one hundred acres, originally granted by the General

Court in October, 1731, to be laid out by Daniel Bis-

sell, of Windsor. It was soon after surveyed and located

84

by Ezekiel Ashley and John Pell. The descendants

of Ashley are at this day proprietors of the ore-bed.

From this mine the most abundant supplies of ore

have been furnished. For many years the mineral

was easily obtained and with little excavation.

The Chatfield ore-bed, so called from its original

proprietor, Philip Chatfield, lies in the vicinity of the

old ore-bed.

Hendrick's ore-bed, now called the Davis Hill,

was at a very early period owned by Thomas Lamb,

the Salisbury speculator, and ore was taken from it to

supply his forge at Lime Rock. This ore-bed is sit-

uated about a mile southwest of the Centre village.

The Bingham ore-bed, since called the Scoville ore-

bed, lies about three miles northwest of the Centre

village. Still farther north is Camp's or Chapin's

ore-bed. In the extreme southwest corner of the

town is the Bradley ore-bed. On the Sharon side of

the town line ore in considerable quantities is taken

from this mine. The ore from our mines yields from

forty to forty-five per cent, of iron. The ore is of the

brown hematite variety.

Copperas, or sulphate of iron, has been found on

Barackmatiff Hill, and at a place called Samuel

Moore's mine, on Sugar Hill.

ATTORNEYS.

For many years Salisbury had the reputation of

affording a successful field for gentlemen of the legal

profession. This was not the result of a litigious

spirit in the people, nor of any unusual propensity of

the lawyers, but rather of the active and business-like

enterprise of the population. The first lawyer who

settled here was Jabez Swift, Esq., a native of Kent.

Upon the breaking out of the war of the Revolution

he joined the army in Boston, and there died. The

late Adonijah Strong, Esq., was a pupil of Mr. Swift,

and succeeded him in practice. Col. Strong was a

man of vigorous mind ; had a large practice, but pos-

sessed none of the graces of eloquence. For many

years he was an efficient magistrate, and a member of

the General Assembly. He died in Fel)ruary, 1813.

Joseph Canfield, Esq., commenced his professional

studies with Col. Strong, and finislied them at the

Litchfield law-school. He commenced his practice

at Furnace Village, about the year 1789. Mr. Can-

field was a gentleman of graceful numners and good

talents; he died in September, 1S03, having been

several times a member of tiie Assembly.

Gen. Elisha Sterling wils a graduate of Vale Col-

lege, and a member of the law-school at Litchfield.

He commenced his professional life in this town in

1791, and he prosecuted his profession with great in-

dustry and success until the year 1830, when he re-

tired to his farm at Furnace Village, where he died,

Dec. 3, 183t). Gen. Sterling was a well-read lawyer,

[

and possessed a discriminating mind. Twice he rep-

resented the Seventeenth Senatorial District in the

' senate of this State, and for several years represented
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this town in the General Assembly. He was many
years a magistrate, nine years a judge of probate for

the district of Sharon, and for a considerable period

State's attorney for this county. The name of no

other citizen appears more frequently upon our town

and society records than his.

Hon. Martin Strong was the eldest son of Col.

Adonijah Strong. He commenced the practice of

law here in 1801. Several years before his death he

exchanged the legal profession for agricultural pur-

suits. Judge Strong was for many years one of our

most active magistrates, and an associate judge of the

County Court. He had been a member of both

branches of our Legislature. The following also

commenced business in this town, and subsequently

removed to other places: Chauncey Lee, Myron Hol-

ley, Hon. Ansel Sterling, Ezra Jewell, John M. Ster-

ling, Edward Rockwell, Churchill Coffing, and Norton

J. Buell.

PHYSICIANS.

The first physician was Dr. Solomon Williams, who
emigrated from Lebanon. He died in the year 1757,

and in the same year was succeeded by Dr. Joshua

Porter, from the same place. Dr. Porter graduated

at Yale College in 1754. His place of residence was

at Furnace Village, on the farm originally occupied

by Cornelius Knickerbacor. For half a century his

professional practice was very extensive, and he was

esteemed as one of the most skillful physicians of his

day. But his profession did not engross his whole

attention. He was much in public life, both civil

and military. For twenty years he was a selectman,

a justice of the peace thirty-five years, and associate

judge of the County Court thirteen years, chiefjustice

of the same court sixteen years, judge of probate for

the district of Sharon thirty-seven years. In the

year 1764 he was first elected a member of the As-

sembly, and was a member of that body fifty-one

stated sessions.

Col. Porter was not attached to the Continental

army in the Revolutionary war, but was an eflicient

militia officer. As a colonel of mititia, he was in

service with his regiment at Peekskill, and again at

Saratoga, at the capture of Burgoyne. This venerable

and much-esteemed gentlman died on the 2d day of

April, 1825, aged ninety-five years.

Dr. Lemuel Wheeler commenced practice here

about the year 1765. He too was a public man, and

several times a member of the General Assembly.

Dr. Samuel Cowdray settled near Chapinville;

subsequently he was attached to the navy of the

United States. He was a surgeon on board of the

unfortunate frigate " Philadelphia," when that vessel

was captured by the Barbary pirates, and he was a

long time detained as a slave in Tripoli, and until

reclaimed by his government.

Other physicians have been Drs. Jonathan Fitch,

Darius Stoddard, John Johnston, William Wheeler,

Samuel Lee, William Walton, the elder, William

Walton (2d), John P. Walton, Samuel Rockwell,

Joshua Porter, Jr., James R. Dodge, Abiram Peet,

Benajah Ticknor, now of the United States navy,

Perry Pratt, John J. Catlin, Caleb Tickor, and Moses

A. Lee.

EPIDEMIC.

The geographical features of the town ti-uly indi-

cate a healthfl.ll climate. For the last twenty years

the annual average number of deaths has been from

thirty to thirty-five, or about one and a half per cent,

of our pojiulation. Yet, in common with most other

healthful localities, we have been occasionally visited

with fatal pestilence. About the year 1784 a fever of

uncommon mortality raged in the north part of the

town, and in the vicinity of the ponds, called then

the pond fever, and supposed to have been produced

by the unusual accumulation of water in the ponds.

Many names, before frequent and prominent upon our

civil and ecclesiastical records, ceased thereafter to be

any more seen. Again, in the years 1812 and 1813,

a fever, called, from its general prevalence, 77*6 Epi-

demic, swept over this and some neighboring towns

with fearful mortality, uncontrolled by medical skill.

During the first of these years there were about eighty

deaths, and in the latter nearly .seventy, and chiefly

from that disease. Indeed, all other maladies seem

to have fled before it, and to have given place, that it

might rage and conquer alone. It was the pneumonia

typhoides of the books, or a typhoid pleurisy.

Samuel Moore was the first land-surveyor in the

town, and was the eldest son of the first emigrant

here of that name,—Sergt. Samuel Moore. He was a

distinguished mathematician of his time, and was

the author of a valuable and extensively-circulated

treatise upon surveying, which I believe was the

first American work on that branch of mathematical

science. He died in the year 1810, aged seventy-three

years.

PROMINENT CITIZENS.*

" It is a just occasion of pride in any community

that it has sent forth from its numbers to other re-

gions men of eminence and usefulness ; and perhaps

this town has furnished other sections of our con-

federacy its full proportion of distinguished men.

Hon. Thomas Chittenden, though a native of Guil-

ford, was for many years a resident here, and repre-

sented this town many times in the General Assembly.

He emigrated to Vermont before the war of the Rev-

olution, and was Governor of that State for many

years. His son, Hon. Martin Chittenden, also Gov-

ernor of Vermont, and a member of Congress from

that State, was born here.

" Col. Ethan Allen, the hero of Ticonderoga, resided

in this town some years before his emigration to Ver-

mont, and was one of the original proprietors of the

old furnace.

* This list is talten from Judge Churcli's address. Tor additional names

see Governor A. H. Holley's address elsewliere in tbis work.
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"Hon. Jonas Galusha was one of our citizens. He
was the son of Jacob Galusha, who removed from Nor-

wich to this town in 1771, and settled on the north

side of the north pond. Jonas Galusha, for several

years, was a very popular Governor of Vermont.
" Hon. Nathaniel Chipman, late chief justice of the

State of Vermont, and a distinguished member of the

senate of the United States, was born and educated
j

here. He was the son of Samuel Chipman.

"Hon. Daniel Chipman, youngest brother of Judge

Chipman, for many years one of the most prominent

members of the Vermont bar, was also a native of this

town.
" Hon. Ambrose Spencer, late chief justice of the

State of New York, was born here on the 13th of De-

cember, 1765. He was the sou of Philip Spencer, Esq.,

whose place of residence was near the western ex-

tremity of the town. The character of Judge Spencer

is extensively known as one of the most accomplished

members of the judiciary department of the State of

New York.
" Gen. Peter B. Porter was the youngest son of Col.

Joshua Porter. Soon after he completed his colle-

giate and professional studies, he, together with his

elder brother, Hon. Augustus Porter, emigrated to the

county of Ontario, in the State of New York. Gen.

Porter was a member of Congress, and very early laid

before that body the great national importance of the

Erie Canal. In the late war, 1812, with England, he

took a conspicuous part, as commander of the New
York volunteers, upon the northern frontier. He
was actively engaged against the enemy at the cele-

brated sortie from Fort Erie and other important oc-

casions. During a part of the administration of John

Q. Adams as President of the United States, Gen.

Porter was Secretary of War.
" Hon. Augustus Porter, second son of Col. Porter,

was equally useful and respected in civil life.

" Hon. Josiah S. Johnston, late of Louisiana, and a

much valued member of the senate of the United

States, was the son of Dr. John Johnston, of this

town. He removed, when a child, with his father to

Kentucky. He fell a victim to a fatal explosion of a

steamboat on the Mississippi River.

" Among the members of Congress from other

States who were born or reared in this town appear the

names of Hon. Elisha Whittlesey, of Ohio, and Hon.

Graham H. Chapin, Charles Johnston, and Theron

R. Strong, of New York.
" Rev. Horace Holley, D.D., a distinguished scholar

and eloquent divine, president of tlie Transylvania

University, was the son of the late Luther Holley.

"Rev. I.saac Hird, a devoted missionary in Asia, a

descendant of Joseph Bird, Esq., one of the earliest

settlers and tirst magistrates, was born and educated

here.

"Myron Holley and Orville L. Holley, E.sqs., sons

of the late Luther Holley, distinguished as scholars

and gentlemen, and by various responsible employ-

ments in public life, were nurtured and educated, if

not born, here.

" Chester Averill, late Professor of Chemistry in

Union College, who died in 1836, just as he began to

give certain promise of extensive usefulness and high

literary distinction. He was the son of Mr. Nathan-

iel P. Averill, of this town.

" As no colony tax was assessed and collected of the

people of this town before the year 1756, so we were

not, until that time, entitled to a representation in the

Colony Legislature. Previously, however, the town,

on special occasions, appointed and paid special

agents to the General Court.

" In 1743, Samuel Bellows was appointed an agent

to attend the Assembly at its October session for that

year to get a land tax for the town.

"In the following October, Benajah AVilliams and

Thomas Newcomb were appointed agents to get an

explanation of the ta.x of the previous year.

" In January, 1745, Samuel Bellows was appointed

an agent to procure a patent, or deed of confirmation,

of the lands in the town.
" In February, 1747, Thomas Chipman, Esq., was

appointed an agent to procure a location of a site for

the meeting-house."

THE r.RAND LIST FOIl 1742.

The following is a copy of the grand list of the

town for the year 1742

:

" The List of the Ratahle Estate of Erery Person Id y Town of Salis-

bury III The County of Now Haven In The Colony of Connecticut for

the Year 1742, as they Brought Us the suhecribera:

£ a. i(.

Thonins Nowconiti 137
John Smith 112
.losepli KniL'kerbaker 83 (10

Thomas Uiiylys '.. 61 10
Tliomas l.amh 6G 10
Nath'l Buell 62
Tlioe. SUIT 47
Cnleh Wooilworth 34
CalehSniith _ 136
Nath. Gellet 49
Siini'l. Goodrich _ 48
Snm'l. Welch 48
Tlio. Ansliu 49
Anthony Wolilln 36
Anson Austin 46
Zachrlu Eddy 41

Timothy Kdwards 41
Zc|iliahlah Iloir 32
Saniiiel Towslcy _ ~ 18

.Talniw Iturton 18

Matthew Towsley 18 U

Snm'l Clark 48
iMuic White 46
Jmoh Vanihlsen 48 10
Henry Dutcher 49
CliriaU>pher Dutcher 9 S
llnlurr D\itchcr 60 14
Jolin Dutcher 74 18 <
r.ahrli'l Dutcher «, 74
Cornelius Dutcher 84 8

Ahralnim Vattduson » 62 10

John Weldin 41
John l.andon 21
n.ibert Name 18

Henry Vandusen 117 10
James Viinduaen 30
Widow Dutcher 42 10
William Wliite 60
John Challenger 24 O
George White 69
Joshua V. White 68 10

Boixiam. While 88 10
Samuel Ileeho - 63 10
Samuel Bellowcs V7

Sum total £2279 10
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" The Within is a True List According as is was Given to Us.

" Test

" Cyrenius Newcomb,
" roluff dutchee,
" Samuel Bellews.
" Assessors for .v« Year 1742.

" Entered pr. C. Newcomb,
" Jieijister,

" The rate that was Made Upon Sd. List Amounted to £28 836. 8d."

MARKET-PL.\CE.

In laying out the first division lots a green and

market-place was reserved in Town Hill, but was

never appropriated to that use. In 1785, however,

the General Assembly established a public market

upon the meeting-house green, which had been orig-

inally designed for a parade, and the selectmt* were

empowered to make by-laws and regulations for the

market, and to design its limits. Twice in each year

it was made lawful for all merchants, handicraftsmen,

dealers, and voters to resort to the market with their

vendible commodities. Such fairs were then common.

THE FIRST POST-OFFICE.

Although this town had for many years previously

been a centre of importance, it was not until 1792

that the first post-oflSce was established. This was at

Lakeville, then called Furnace Village, and Peter

Farnum was the postmaster. There are now five

offices, as follows : Salisbury, Donald P. Warner,

P. M. ; Lakeville, Thos. L. Norton, P. M. ; Ore Hill,

Homer A. Gibbs, P. M. ; Chapinville, John G. Lan-

don, P. M. ; and Lime Rock, James H. Barnum, P. M.

PIONEER MILLS.

The first privilege for a saw-mill was reserved on

the Great Falls of the Fellkill, and also " at Succo-

nup's brook, near the place where the same runs out

of the southermost of two large ponds, lying almost

close together." The first of these locations was near

the Lime Rock furnace, and the latter a short dis-

tance below Chapinville. Thomas Lamb, however,

soon after procured a privilege of erecting a saw-mill

at Lime Rock.

A grist-mill was built at the Upper or Little Falls

of the Housatonic as early as 1742 by Capt. Samuel

Beebe, and in 1746, John Corbit erected a grist-mill

in the southwestern part of the town. In 1748, Jacob

Bacon and Daniel Park built a grist-mill and forge

on Succunop's brook, in Chapinville.

The first bridge erected across the Housatonic

River was the Falls bridge, for many years known
as Burrall's bridge, in 1744. Dutcher's bridge was

erected in 1760, and one in the southern part of the

town in 1790. The latter was built by funds raised

by a lottery, and was long known as the Lottery

bridge. It was discontinued in 1808. Previous to

the erection of these bridges access to the town

from the east was very dilEcult, as there were but

few fording-places upon the river, and these could

only be improved when the river was very low, in

the summer or fall.

"An incident worthy of relation occurred at the

Great Falls of the Housatonic in the spring freshet

of 1837. Two of the men employed by Mr. Ames at

his iron-works attempted to cross the river in a boat

;

such was the force of the current that they were pre-

cipitated over the cataract. One of them, David

O'Neal, an Irish laborer, was killed ; the other, Wal-
ter HoUey, almost miraculously escaped with little

injury.

" The late Dr. Dwight, in one of his volumes, speaks

of the moving rocks in the North or Washington

pond, in this town. There are several rocks, and one

of considerable size, near the .southern margin of that

pond, which appear to have been propelled by some
powerful force towards the shore, leaving deep trenches

or gutters behind, anti accumulating mud and gravel

before them. Such appearances alone would not per-

suade me, uncorroborated by the credible testimony

of observers, that these rocks had changed position.

But I am compelled to yield my assent upon evidence

of the actual observation of men of respectability,

whose means of knowledge have been accurate. I

am not sure that these are unusual phenomena; and

perhaps they are the result of the immense pressure

of the ice upon the rocks, connected with what may
be the peculiar state of the earth or bottom upon
which they rest."

INDIAN NAMES.

Housatonic signifies "Over the Mountain," or "the

River of the Hill." The Furnace pond was called

Wonurascopomuc. The two lakes in the northeastern

part of the town (Twin Lakes) were called Washniee

and Washining. The long pond in the southeast

part of the town was called Wononpakook. The
stream flowing through the Centre village was called

Wachocastinook. The stream flowing through the

pond at Chapinville was called Succunop's. The
eastern range of hills, parallel with the Housatonic,

were called Wotowanchu.

THE REVOLUTION.

" In the war of the Revolution this town was not

inactive. Few towns in the State of only equal popu-

lation contributed more efficient means in the prose-

cution of that eventful struggle. An embarrassment

severely felt at the commencement of the war was

the want of a cavalry force. Sheldon's regiment was

the first body of cavalry of considerable efiiciency

which joined the army. That regiment was raised

in this town and this vicinity. Col. Elisha Sheldon,

Lieut.-Col. Samuel Blagden, and Maj. Luther Stod-

dard were attached to it.

" The services of Sheldon's regiment are frequently

alluded to by writers of American history. In 1780

malicious charges were preferred against Col. Shel-

don ; he was tried by a court-martial, of which Col.

Hazen was president, at Fishkill, on the 25th day of

October of that year. He was acquitted ' with honor
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and full approbation,' and his accuser, Dr. Darius

Stoddard, of this town, severely censured.

" The enthusiasm and excitement occasioned by the

aggressive acts of the British Parliament can hardly

be appreciated by us of this generation. There was

an electric spark communicated to the extremes of

the colonies, producing a simultaneous action every-

where. In this town a meeting was called on the

22d day of August, 1774, to deliberate upon the

threatened state of the colonies. Spirited resolutions

were adopted, accompanied by a preamble of the fol-

lowing tenor:

"After reading and deliberating upon tiie several acts and laws, de-

nouncing dangerous exertions of Parliamentary power, as well as a par-

tial, absurd, and self-confuted spirit of punitive malevolence, particu-

larly leveled against the Province of the Massachusetts Bay; and being

deeply impressed with the visible declension of the virtue and rectitude

of British administration, which threaten insupportable convulsions to

the whole empire; and willing, as far as in us lies, to ward off the im-

pending ruin, and revive the expiring liberties of the country; We re-

solve," &c.

The resolutions which followed denounced the

acts of Parliament, especially the Boston Port Bill

;

approved the proposed call of a General Congress, and

pledged the contributions of the inhabitants for the

relief of their suffering brethren of Boston " from

their plentiful harvest;" and concluded by appoint-

ing a committee to take up subscriptions, consisting

of Hezekiah Fitch, Esq., Capt. Elisha Sheldon, Luke

Camp, Lot Norton, and Samuel Lane ; and also con-

stituting Col. Joshua Porter, Hezekiah Fitch, Abial

Camp, Dr. Lemuel Wheeler, and Josiah Stoddard a

committee of correspondence.

On the 5th day of the succeeding December the

town expressed its acquiescence in the tiien recent

resolutions of the Congress, and appointed Col. Joshua

Porter, Luke Camp, Lieut. Nathaniel Buell, Lot Nor-

ton, Dr. Samuel Lee, Capt. James Bird, John Camp,

Samuel Lane, William Beebc, Hezekiah Fitch, and

Capt. Elisha Sheldon a committee to carry them into

eflFect. At the next meeting of the town, a committee

of inspection was appointed, and a committee of the

same character was constituted annually during the

war. Tlic duties of this committee were various, such

as to look well to disatlected i)crsons, to approve of

substitutes for drafted men, to inspect all provisions

intended for the army, etc.

The spirit of the people did not waste itself in reso-

lutions and the appointment of patriotic committees.

What was expressed was intended, and was carried

out in calmer moments by continual and etnciciit

action. Every re<iuisition of the General Assembly

was complied with,—men were raised, supplies were

furnished on all occiisions when the emergency of

the war demanded tliem, and to an extent much be-

yond the requisitions of the General Assembly.

On the 7th day of April, 1777, Col. Nathaniel

Buell, Lot Norton, Abial Camp, Daniel Bingham,

and George Marsh were appointed a committee to

encourage enlistments into the Continental army, and

to furnish the families of such as should enlist with

necessaries during their absence. A similar commit-

tee was annually appointed while the war continued.

On the 6th day of January, 1778, the town, by

resolution, approved the Articles of Confederation of

the Thirteen United States, and instructed their rep-

resentatives in the General Assembly to confer upon

the delegates from this State, in Congress, sufficient

authority to ratify them.

In the spring of 1780 the General Assembly

ordered the raising of five regiments for the Conti-

nental service, and in June of the same year the

town levied a tax of threepence on the pound, to be

paid to the non-commissioned officers and soldiers

who should enlist into the regiments. In January

following the town voted to lire six men to serve for

one year, and appointed Luke Camp, Joshua Stanton,

Timothy Chittenden, Nathaniel Buell, Lot Norton,

and Capt. James Watrous a committee for that pur-

pose.

In June, 1781, Governor Trumbull issued his

proclamation, offering a bounty to encourage enlist-

ments. This town forthwith authorized a grant of

three pounds to every non-commissioned officer and

private who should enlist liere for every three

months' service, in addition to the offer made by the

Governor; and previously, in February, 1781, Col.

Nathaniel Buell and the late Samuel Lee, Esq., had

been constituted a committee to hire the enlistment

of four men for the defense of the Western frontiers.

And again, in February, 1782, six men, in addition,

were raised, with an extra pay of twenty shillings

each per month, and a pair of shoes for each man,

upon his marching to join the army. And on many
subsequent occasions necessary supi)lies for destitute

soldiers serving in the Continental army were raised

here and forwarded to the suffering trooi>s.

Yes, men, a-s well as money and sui>plies, were

found here, ready to serve the country and the cause,

both in the army and at home. Many of the most

prominent, wealthy, and influential citizens joined

tiie troops, cither in tlie militia or Continental ser

vice; and young men, sons of our best inhabitants,

sought no exemption, but left cliccrfully the endear-

ments of home in exchange for the privations of the

camp and the dangers of the battle-field.

Among the officers were Cols. Elisha Sheldon,

Samuel Blagden, Joshua Porter, and Nathaniel Buell,

Majs. Luthor Stoddard and John C'hipman, Capts.

Roger Moore, James Claghornc, James Holmes,

Joshua Stanton, Nathaniel Everts, Timnthy Chitten-

den, James Watrous, Jesse Sawyer, Samuel Lane,

and Ebcnezer Fletcher, and Licuts. Nathaniel Chip-

man, Richard Bignall, Adonijah Strong, Daniel

Brinsmaid, and James Skinner.

Me.><8rs. John Russell, Joseph Hollistcr, and Archi-

balil Campbell enlisted and served before they became

residents of this town. Mr. Russell was a sergeant of

artillery in the New York Line of the army, and was
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for some time attached to the military family of the
commander-in-chief. Mr. Hollister was a sergeant
from Glastonbury, aud commanded a guard upon the
Hudson Eiver, attached to Gen. Putnam's command,
which captured a British agent, supposed to be a
messenger with dispatches from Gen. Burgoyne to

Gen. Clinton.*

It is not to be denied that among the inhabitants
were some who doubted the propriety of opposition
to the demands of the mother-country, and who be-
lieved themselves restrained by their oaths of alle-

giance from taking part in the contest, or who con-
sidered armed opposition as premature and hopeless.
But none here gave aid to the enemy, nor did any
oppose the efforts of the Whigs.
At length, in 1783, the battle ceased, the victory

was achieved, and the war-worn soldier returned to
his home. The gratitude of the people was expressed
in rejoicings and thanksgivings. On the 6th of May,
1783, this town appropriated thirty pounds of powder
" to congratulate the Continental soldiers belonging
to this town upon their return and discharge." A
day of rejoicing was set apart, and Col. Nathaniel
Buell was appointed "to address the returned Conti-
nentals, and [iresent them with the thanks of the
town for their generous and spirited exertions in the
cause of their country."

In May, 1783, the people, in town-meeting, gave
what they called instructions to their representatives
in the General Assembly. They declared it "to be
their indispensable duty to use their influence, and
make the most reasonable efforts, for the security both
of their interests and rights, and early to have a stop
put to injustice and oppression." They say, moreover,
that " we are sensible, when you come to act in your
public characters, you will be under the obligation
and solemnity of an oath, and we mean not to desire
or request anything that shall infringe on your con-
science or judgment." The true relation between the
representative and the constituent is here expressed.
The town proceeded to recommend the following

particulars

:

1. That our public accounts may be settled, so that
a reasonable account may be rendered of the expen-
diture of such vast sums of money as have been
granted and collected in this State since the com-
mencement of the late war.

2. That eflfectual care be taken to prevent such per-
sons as have been known to be inimical to these
States from being admitted to be free citizens of this

State.

3. That the recommendation of Congress respect-
ing pay to the officers of the army for a number of
years after the war be wholly rejected as unjust and
oppressive upon the people.

4. That a suitable address be made to Congress to

suppress, prevent, and remove such placemen as hold

* Dwight'a History of Connecticut, 376.

trifling offices with large and unreasonable salaries,

which must ultimately be drawn from the people.
These instructions were addressed to Hezekiah

Fitch and Elisha Fitch, Fsqs., who were at that time
our representatives in the General Assembly. They
breathe the true spirit. They recognize no submission
to cliques or caucuses,—the tyrants of the present
day; and they dare to rebuke even the Congress
itself

Elisha Fitch, Esq., for many years had been a
distinguished and popular man, and frequently repre-
sented the town in the General Assembly. In the
spring session of 1787 he made a very active opposi-
tion to the proposed call of a convention to revise the
Articles of Confederation. This opposition destroyed
his popularity, and extinguished him as a public man.
The Articles of Confederation were revised, and the
jjresent Constitution of the United States was recom-
mended to the people of the respective States for

adoption. The convention of this State assembled to

deliberate upon the Constitution at Hartford in Jan-
uary, 1788. The delegates who represented this town
in that convention were Hezekiah Fitch and Joshua
Porter, Esqs., both of whom voted for the adoption of
the Constitution.

The Revolutionary struggle had imposed impov-
erishing burdens upon the country. The times in

prospect were gloomy, and the hearts of many were
desponding. An immense debt had been contracted,

commerce annihilated, the currency depreciated, the
public faith distrusted. In this state of affairs a town-
meeting was called on the 11th day of March, 1785,

by which it was

" Besoh-ed, That we will continuo to maintain harmony, good order,

and unanimity among ourselves, as well as the good and wholesome
laws of society."

WAR OF 1812.

In the war of 1812 several non-commissioned offi-

cers and privates enlisted from this town, although it

is not known that more than one of them was slain in

battle. John O'Kain was killed in the battle of

Bridgewater. It is said of him that while lying upon
the ground, after receiving his mortal wound, he twice

discharged his musket at the enemy.

THE IRON INTEREST.

The three principal mines from which the celebrated

Salisbury iron ores are obtained are called respectively

the " Old Hill," " Davis," and " Chatfield" ore-beds,

and are situated on the eastern slope of the Tacconic

range of hills.

The Old Hill ore-bed is a tract of land of one hun-
dred acres, originally granted by the General Court

in October, 1731, to be laid out by Daniel Bissell, of

Windsor. It was soon after surveyed and located by
Ezekiel Ashley and John Pell. The descendants of

Ashley are still proprietors in the mine. The supply

of ore from this mine has been very abundant, and
for many years was easily obtained, but latterly the
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cost of mining has been greatly increased. Up to

about 1840 the average yield was estimated to be

about four thousand five hundred tons per annum.

The production has gradually increased until the

average yield at present is estimated at fifteen thou-

sand tons annually. The largest production in any

one year was about twenty thousand tons. The pro-

prietors of the mine were incorporated many years

ago under the style of " The Salisbury Ore-Bed Pro-

prietors."

The Davis ore-bed is so called from a gentleman of

that name who at one time owned it. It was origi-

nally called Hendricks ore-bed, and was owned be-

fore the organization of the town of Salisbury, by

Thomas Lamb, one of the first settlers in the town.

The ore was mined in this bed as early as 1730 or

1731, and was taken by Lamb to supply his forge at

Lime Rock. It was in early days transported in

leathern bags on horses. This mine has been worked

almost constantly since first opened, showing an in-

creased production. The average yearly yield at

present is estimated to be about fifteen thousand tons.

The property has passed through several different

ownerships, and the proprietors are now incorporated

under the name of " Forbes Ore-Bed Company."

The Chatfield ore-bed was originally owned by

Philip Chatfield, from whom it takes its name, and

was opened about the same time with the other beds

or soon after. It has been steadily worked since first

opened, showing, as do the others, an increased pro-

duction. Its annual yield at present is estimated to

be twelve thousand tons. Notwithstanding the fact

that these mines have been so long and so constantly

worked, the supply of ore is still abundant, and is

apparently inexhaustible.

There has been no special effort made to increase

the production, as these ores are not in the market,

and it is only desired to raise a sufficient supply for

the furiuices in the immediate vicinity of the mines.

The ores are all of the brown hematite variety, and

of the same general character, yielding about forty-five

per cent, of iron. The proces.s of raising the ore and

making it ready for the furnace has been much im-

proved within the past twenty years, and the ore now

goes into the furnace as free as possible from refuse

matter of all kinds. It is now crushed and washed

by machinery before leaving the mines. The ore is

raised entirely by open mining, and the beds are now
being worked at a depth of fronj seventy-five to one

hundred feet.

In addition to the mines mentioned above, this

company is working mines at Amenia and Riga, both

on the New York and Ilarlcm Railroad, just over

the New York State line, and on the western slope of

the Tacconie Hills, referred to. These mines produce

ores very similar in character and value to the ores

first described.

The first forge in this vicinity was erected on Lime

Bock by Thomas Lamb as early as 1734. He took

his ore from the Hendricks (now Davis) ore-bed,

which he then owned in part. Several different

parties succeeded to the ownership of this property,

and among those who occupied it longest and operated

it most successfully were James Johnston and Messrs.

Canfield & Robbins, who succeeded him. The last-

named parties owned and operated a forge and blast-

furnace on this site for many years, and also had a

forge and blast-furnace, which was built by Leman
Bradley in 1812, on the Housatonic River, just below

the Canaan Falls, using at both places the Salisbury

ores. The Lime Rock property came into the pos-

session of its present owners in 1863, and in 1864 a

new blast-furnace was erected, which has been in

operation up to the present time. About the year

1748 a forge was erected in the present village of

Lakeville (then called Furnace Village), and in 1762,

John Haseltine, Samuel Forbes, and Ethan Allen

purchased the property and built a blast-furnace.

This is supposed to be the first blast-furnace built

in the State. This property, in 1768, came into the

possession of Richard Smith, of Boston, who, being

a loyalist, returned to England upon the breaking

out of the war. The State took possession of the

works, and appointed Col. .Toshua Porter their agent

in its management, and upon orders of the Governor

and Council large quantities of cannon, shot, and

shell were made during the Revolutionary war for the

general government. John Jay and Gouverneur Mor-

ris were often there, superintending the casting and

proving of the guns, and it was there that the supe-

rior quality and strength of this iron wan proven.

The cannon were intended chiefly for the navy, and

after tlie war the navy, to a considerable extent, was

supplied with guns made from this iron. The ship

of Commodore Tru.xtun, the " Constellation," and the

popular ship "Constitution,"
—"Old Ironsides,"

—

were supplied witli Salisbury cannon.

This furnace was afterwards owned and operated

for many years by Mes-srs. Holly & Coffing, who also

operated a forge and furnace at Mount Riga. The

forge on Mount Riga was built about the year 1781,

by Abner or Peter Woodin. Daniel Ball succeeded,

and tlie works were for many years known iu« Ball's

Forge. Seth King and Jolin Kelsey commenced

building a furnace liicre about 1806, but were not

able to complete it, and in 1810 it came into posses-

sion of Messrs. Holly & Coffing, who the same year

finished the furnace, and for many years carried on

an extensive and ])rofitable business. Pig iron,

anchors, screws, and various kinds of manufactured

iron were made there.

These works and the ones at Lakeville were aban-

doned many years ago, and the property at Mount

Riga, including the water-privilege, which is very

valuable, and arc the finest in the State, is now owned

by Barnum, Richardson & Co., and used by them to

supply water-power in part to the furnace and foun-

dries at Lime Rock.
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There were also built at East Canaan two blast-

furnaces for the manufacture of pig iron from Salis-

bury ore,—one about 1840, by Samuel Forbes, and one

about 1847, by John A. Beckley.

The first foundry for the remelting of pig iron was

built in Lime Rock about the year 1830, and soon

after came under control of Milo Barnum, who was

the founder of the present company.

Milo Barnum was born in Dover, Dutchess Co.,

N. Y., July 16, 1790 ; married at twenty-three years

of age, and in the spring of 1820 settled in Lime
Rook, and engaged in business as a merchant. Soon

after getting possession of the foundry he associated

with him his son-in-law, Leonard Richardson, and
within a few years his son, William H. Barnum, was

taken into the partnership. The foundry business

was carried on in a small way, in connection with the

store (the firm-name at this time being Barnum,

Richardson & Co.), their production consisting chiefly

of clock- and sash-weights, plow castings, and other

small work. The business gradually increased until

about 1840, when they began the manufacture of

railroad work. The first railroad work made was

chains, frogs, liead-blocks, etc., for the Boston and

Albany Railroad, then being built from Springfield to

Albany, and the castings were transported by teams

to Springfield and Chatham, a distance of about fifty

miles. The great tensile strength and natural chill-

ing qualities of the Salisbury iron proved it of great

value in the manufacture of cast chilled car-wheels,

which naturally followed in a few years the making
of smaller railroad castings. The iron early obtained,

and has still held, the reputation of being the best

known for this purpose.

In about 1852, Milo Barnum retired from active

participation in the business, and the firm-name was

at that time changed to Richardson, Barnum & Co.,

and the business rapidly increased. In 1858 they

obtained possession of the Beckley furnace, at East

Canaan, and in 1862 purchased the Forbes furnace,

at the same place. They also, about this time, pur-

chased the foundry at 64 South Jeflferson Street, Chi-

cago, and organized a joint-stock company, under the

name of the Barnum & Richardson Manufacturing

Company, for the continuance of the foundry business

at that place. Leonard Richardson died in January,

1864, and in the May following the Barnum-Richard-

son Company, a joint-stock company, was organized,

with William H. Barnum as president and general

manager, the heirs of Leonard Richardson retaining

their interest in the business. The new company
succeeded to all the iron interest of Richardson, Bar-

num & Co., and since that time have largely increased

their works by building, and have from time to time,

as occasion afforded, acquired further interest in

mining companies and in furnace companies already

established. They built a third furnace at East

Canaan in 1872, with many improvements upon the

old method of construction, and in 1870 built a second

foundry at Lime Rock. A new wheel-foundry was
built in Chicago in 1873 by the company there. The
foundries at Chicago use the Salisbury iron, and have

a capacity in the two shops of three hundred wheels

per day. The company use at their Lime Rock works
Salisbury iron also, and have a capacity of two hun-

dred wheels per day.

In 1840 there were in this vicinity four blast-fur-

naces in operation, using an average of six hundred
bushels of charcoal and producing three tons of pig

iron per day to each furnace. There are now eight

blast-furnaces, of which Wm. H. Barnum is president

and general manager, using an average of twelve

hundred bushels of charcoal and producing eleven

tons of iron to each furnace per day. The new fur-

nace at East Canaan at its last blast ran one hundred

and four consecutive weeks, making an average of

eighty tons of iron per week, this being the most

advantageous blast known to have been made in a

charcoal furnace.

The eight furnaces are located within a radius of

eight miles from Lime Rock, and are situated as fol-

lows: three at East Canaan, one at Lime Rock, one

at Millerton, one at Sharon Valley, one at Cornwall

Bridge, and one at Huntsville, in connection with

which latter furnace is a car-wheel foundry at Jersey

City, having a capacity of one hundred and fifty

wheels per day, and using the iron exclusively from

this furnace. The Salisbury iron shows a tensile

strength of about thirty thousand pounds to the

square inch, and besides being valuable for ordnance

and railroad purposes is extensively supplied for mal-

leable and machinery uses. The wheels made from

these works have been largely used in the United

States, Canada, and foreign countries, particularly in

South America, and have the hearty indorsement of

competent engineers and practical railroad men as to

their superior quality. They are not afl^ected by

extremes of heat or cold, as is instanced by their

large use in South America and Canada, while the

chilling of the tread gives a wearing surface about as

durable as steel. A test was made of the strength of

the wheels before a number of prominent English

engineers and railway officials in August, 1875, at the

machine-works of Mr. Horn, Millbank Row, West-

minster. The wheel was struck with two sledges,

weighing twenty-eight pounds and thirty-one pounds

respectively, and it was not until the three hundred

and sixty-seventh blow that the iron partially gave

way. The opening of the Connecticut Western Rail-

road has brought these mines and furnaces within

easier access of each other, and has also enabled the

furnace companies to procure a portion of their supply

of charcoal from a distance, most of it being brought

from "Vermont, and the companies own the ore- and

coal-cars used for this business.

In the various departments of this business, from

the mining of the ore 'and so on, including the labor

of colliers, teamsters, furnace-men, foundry-men, and
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common laborers, the companies, of course, furnish

work for a great number of men and horses.

The different companies are as follows :

Barnum-Richardson Company, owners of three fur-

naces at East Canaan and foundry at Lime Rock.

President, Hon. William H. Barnum ; Treasurer,

Hon. William H. Barnum ; Assistant Treasurer, Milo

B. Richardson ; Secretary, Charles W. Barnum ; Agent
at East Canaan furnaces, Nathaniel C. Ward.
Lime Rock Iron Company, owners of furnace at Lime

Rock. President, Samuel S. Robbins ; Treasurer, Wm.
H. Barnum; Secretary, Milo B. Richardson.

Hunts-Lyman Iron Company, owners of furnace at

Huntsville. President, George Church ; Treasurer,

Wm. H. Barnum ; Secretary, Samuel W. Bradley.

Sharon Valley Iron Company, owners of furnace at

Sharon Valley. President, Wm. H. Barnum, Treas-

urer, Charles W. Barnum ; Secretary, Milo B. Rich-

ardson.

Cornwall Bridge Iron Company, owners of fiirnace at

Cornwall Bridge. President, Wm. H. Barnum ; Sec-

retary and Treasurer, James A. Bierer.

Millerton Iron Company, owners of furnace at Mil-

lerton, N. Y. President, Wm. H. Barnum ; Secretary

and Treasurer, George S. Frink.

Old Hill Ore-Bed.— Owners, proprietors of the ore-

bed in Salisbury ; Miners, Brook Pit Mining Com-
pany.

Davis Ore-Bed.—Owners, Forbes Ore-Bed Company

;

Miners, Davis Digging Company.

iStar Pit.—Owners, heirs of John M. Holley and

John C. Coffing ; Miners, Davis Digging Comjiany.

. Chatfield Ore-Bed.—Owners, Barnum-Richardson

Company, Cornwall Bridge Iron Company, Adams-
Chatfield Company, heirs of John M. Holley and

John C. Coffing, heirs of Hon. John H. Hubbard,

heirs of Josiah M. and Chauncey Reed ; Minors,

Chatfield Mining Company.

CHAPTER LIII.

SALISBURY (Continued).

HISTOUrCAL ADDRESS OF EX-GOV. A. H. HOLLEY.*

"Mr. Moderator and Fellow-citizens,—We
have gathered here to-day with patriotic hearts, I

doubt not, warmed with a deepening devotion to the

interest and honor of our beloved country. We meet

under the influence of the better impulses of our na-

tures, with broader charities towards each other, and

towards our fellow-men everywhere, and with a full

purpose to fraternize cordially in celebrating another
|

anniversary of the nation's birth. i

" With deep thankfulness for the innumerable

* By general rccjueat, tlio publislierB reproduce tlie fullowing tuldrew*,

wMcli was (lolivoreii July 4, 1870. It is uii Inviiiuitblo additiun to tlio
|

historic literature or this section. The closing remarks, which are liot '

strictly liistorical, are omitted. '

blessings which have been so abundantly bestowed

upon us as a people, we would acknowledge with un-

feigned gratitude our obligations to the Giver of all

good.
" We have met on similar occasions in years past to

celebrate the day which gave us liberty as well as

birth and national life. We met then, as we meet

now, to revive our recollections of the noble men and

the glorious deeds through which our independence

was achieved,—to reinvigorate our own hearts with a

truer appreciation of the perils which were encoun-

tered and overcome to accomplish our emancipation

from one of the mightiest nations of the earth. A
just appreciation of these events should now lead us

to a firmer purpose of maintaining in its integrity

this glorious inheritance bequeathed to us by an hon-

ored ancestry.

" Fellow-citizens, it is good for us to be here. It is

wise for communities, as well as nations, to commem-
orate peculiar events in their history by some appro-

priate demonstration that shall fix in the minds of

men the eras which mark their progress through the

centuries, and which shall serve as landmarks from

which to date subsequent history. Such events are

the birthdays of nations, the founding of states, the

incorporation of towns, the organization of churches

and schools, the establishment of hospitals and kin-

dred institutions. A due consideration of such acts

will enable us to determine whether we are discharg-

ing our whole duty to those who are to come after us.

" It is eminently appropriate, therefore, that we
should, on this more than ordinarily interesting occa-

sion, renew and perpetuate the history of our own
town ; revive our recollections of those heretofore

among us, native-born or long resident, who have oc-

cupied prominent positions in our own or other com-

munities ; to refer briefly to the progress of our fel-

low-citizens in the arts and improvements of civilized

life ; to recur to some of the reasons which have given

us an honorable position among surrounding commu-
nities, and to leave such data as will enable the future

historian to make up the record of the century

through which we are passing, and at the dose of

which so few of us will be able to present personal

reminiscences.

"More than a third of a century and an entire gen-

eration of our race have passed from the earth since

those of us who arc still living, together with multi-

tudes of others who have gone down to honored

graves, assembled uinler the ancient roof of yonder

Congregational church to celebrate the first centen-

nial anniversary of our existence a.s an incorporated

community. Your venerated predecessor, Mr. Mod-
erator,—the two honorable gentlemen who addressed

us on that occasion,—the reverend father and his

younger legal friend, wlio together composed the

hymns that were sung on that day, and four of the

committee who made the arrangenienta for the cele-

bration, all now sleep in the dust.
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" To those of us who remember the high social en-

joyments of our own citizens, and the kindly meet-

ings and greetings of friends and kindred whom we
welcomed from far-off homes to their native town on

that hallowed day, pleasant memories come to warm
our liearts anew

;
yet they are shadowed by the con-

sciousness that most of those friends have passed from

our midst, and from all the cares and enjoyments of

earth to the purer enjoyments, as we hope, of a higher

life. We may turn, however, from thoughts saddened

by their departure to brighter scenes and incidents,

that should cheer and encourage us as we move along

in our progress through our second century.

" The historical sermon which was delivered by the

Rev. Joseph W. Grossman on the fiftieth, and the one

subsequently delivered by Judge Church on the one

hundredth anniversary of the organization of the

town, leave but a comparatively brief history to be

added since 1841.

" Referring first, then, to individuals, as indicated

above, I may, I think, appropriately speak more at

length of those to whom allusion has already been

made, as our record commences with that notable day.
" The venerable and much-resi)ected chairman of

that meeting. Lot Norton, Esq., was a native-born

citizen, who, after a useful and honorable life, in

which he served the town in various public capaci-

ties, as its records will show, died in 1847, on the es-

tate long occupied by his ancestor. The historian of

the day, Hon. Samuel Church, also native born, con-

tinued to reside among us a loved and honored

citizen until, in the course of the practice of his pro-

fession, he was elected a judge of the Supreme Court,

when his duties called him to the county-seat in 1847,

where he made his residence for the remainder of his

life. Judge Church was for eleven years judge of

probate for this district,—from 1821 to 1832,—and
State's attorney for Litchfield County from 1823 to

1832. In 1847 he was elected chiefjustice of the State,

which ofHce he filled acceptably until his decease in

1854. Judge Church also delivered a county centen-

nial address in 1851. Having recently looked over

both of these addresses, I commend them most earn-

estly to the men now conducting our public affairs,

not only on account of their historical reminiscences,

but for the suggestions they contain of the best meth-

ods of perpetuating an honorable history, and also of

maintaining our good name and standing in the State.

The gentleman who supplemented with a short ad-

dress that of Judge Church, in relation to his native

town, and on behalf of the emigrant friends who were

then our guests, Hon. John M. Holley, died in Flor-

ida in 1848, while a member of Congress from a west-

ern district in New York. He had also represented

the district of his residence in the State Legislature.

The Rev. Jonathan Lee (already referred to) com-

posed two of the hymns that were sung on that anni-

niversary, as did Churchill Cofiing, Esq., two others,

which were also sung on the same occasion. Mr. Lee

died in Salisbury in September, 1866, and Mr. Cof-

fing in Chicago in 1873. Both of these gentlemen

were writers of considerable ability, and both were

native-born, educated, and cultivated gentlemen.

"Of the committee of arrangements for that day, six

in number, Eliphalet Whittlesey, Esq., died in 1859,

John C. Cofflng in 1847, Jared S. Harrison in 1864,

and Samuel C. Scoville in 1865. These four gentle-

tlemen all died in their respective homes, Mr. Whit-

tlesey and Mr. Coffing in this village, Mr. Scoville

on his farm in the northeast part of the town, and Col.

Harrison at his pleasant home in Lakeville, on the

old home of the Chittendens. All of them had served

the town acceptably in various public capacities,

having honorable records, as will subsequently ap-

pear; their descendants still dwell among us. Of
the two living members, it does not become me to

speak, only to state the historical fact that both of

them became Lieutenant-Governors of the State,

and one of them Governor also. Mr. Coffing be-

queathed to the town by his will a fund designed to

promote the comfort and the welfare of all such as

may become inmates of the town asylum, as well as

in aid of our religious societies, and some minor ob-

jects. It may be proper to mention in this connec-

tion that Messrs. Moore and Timothy Chittenden

each left funds in aid of the Congregational society

worshiping in this village. It gives me pleasure, also,

to state that our esteemed young friend, Henry Clark,

who died in 1872, left funds in aid of the Episcopal

society worshiping here. Mr. Clark's bequest to that

society, making such a provision for the support of

religion while engaged in the active duties of middle

life, does honor both to his judgment and his memory.
" Of the gentlemen of the legal profession who have

deceased since 1841, or who have gone out from

among us into other communities, I may mention

the Hon. Thomas G. Waterman, son of David Water-

man, who lived in town, and was once associated with

Ethan Allen in. the ownership of the furnace at Lake-

ville, many years ago. Thomas G. taught school in

Lakeville, studied law with the late Gen. Elisha Ster-

ling, and left town more than half a century since.

He delivered, it is said, the first Fourth of July ora-

tion ever delivered in this town. He became a prom-

inent member of the bar in Binghamton, N. Y., and

was twice elected to the senate of that State. He
died in Binghamton in 1861.

" Hon. Peter B. Porter, alluded to in Judge Church's

address, was born in Lakeville, and died at his home
at Niagara Falls in 1844. He was in Congress in

1810, and also Secretary of War under President J.

Q. Adams.
" Campbell Bushnell studied law in Hudson, N. Y.,

practiced there several years, and then removed to

New York City, where he continued to practice until

his death, which occurred in 1839.

" Orsamus Bushnell practiced in New York City

during the whole of his professional life, and died
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there in 1868. Both of these gentlemen were born in

town, near the New York State line, and were promi-

nent lawyers.

" I cannot refrain from giving an extract from a

letter recently received from Pope Bushnell, Esq., the

oldest of the many brothers of this Bushnell family,

in which he says, ' I am now in my eighty-eighth

year, and think I am devoutly grateful for a com-

fortable measure of health. Bruised and battered in

a conflict of more than four and a quarter score of

years, I am in almost childlike feebleness, leaning on

my staff, patiently waiting for those better days to

come.'

Hon. Theron R. Strong, son of Hon. Martin Strong,

was born in town, 1802, practiced law in Palmyra and

Eochester, N. Y., was elected to Congress for one ses-

sion in 1839, and also to the Supreme Court of that

State for seven years from January 1, 1851, and was

one year in the Court of Appeals. He died in New
York City in 1873, leaving an honorable record.

" Hon. Graham H. Chapin was born in Chapinville

in 1800, studied law in Canandaigua with John C.

Spencer, removed to and practiced law in Lyons,

Wayne Co., N. Y., was elected to Congress from that

district in 1836, and served one term, and died at

Mount Morris in 1843. Mr. Chapin was for some

years surrogate of Wayne County. He, with other

respected members of that family, were born on the

estate now owned by Horace Landon, Esq.

" Orville L. Holley, Esq., lawyer, editor, and author,

was born in Lakeville in 1791, and died in Albany in

1861. He was for several years surveyor-general of

the State of New York.
" Hon. Norton J. Buel and his brother, Theodore,

were both born in the Harrison District, both prac-

ticed law in Waterbury, and lioth died there, the

former in March, 1864, and the latter in 1872. Nor-

ton J.'s professional career was one of considerable

eminence. His practice was chiefly in New Haven
County. He represented Waterbury, the place of

his residence, in the General Assembly in 1856, and

was, during one session, a member of the State senate

;

also a judge of [(robatc for five years.

Hon. John M. Holley was born in Lakeville in

1802. He died in Florida while a member of Con-

gress from the Twenty-seventh Congressional Dis-

trict of New York. He has already been alluded to.

" Hon. George Bartlett, son of the late Loring

Bartlett, was born near the Twin Lakes, practiced

law in Binghaniton, N. Y., and died there. Mr.

Bartlett represented his district in the New York

Legislature.

"Hon. John H. Hubbard was born on Town Hill,

practiced law in Lakeville for several years, wa.s a

member of the State senate from this Seventeenth

District in 1847 and 1850, removed to Litchfield in

1855, where he died in July, 1872. Mr. Hubbard

was elected to Congress in 1863 and 1865. He was

also States' attorney from 1849 to 1854. His record

testifies to his ability and standing among his fellow-

men.
" Churchill Cofflng, Esq., son of the late John C.

Cofling, was born in the Centre District, practiced

law in Peru, 111., and died in Chicago in 1873.

" Luther T. Ball, son of the late Eobert Ball, was

born in the Chapinville District, studied law with D.

J. Warner, Esq., and subsequently at Ballston, N. Y.,

and was admitted to the bar in this State in 1854.

Mr. Ball removed quite early from town, and finally

located in Keithsburg, 111., where he took a high

stand, both as a lawyer and a citizen. At the com-

mencement of hostilities on the part of the South,

Mr. Ball and his partner raised a company of volun-

teers, of which he was chosen first lieutenant. This

company was attached to the Eighty-fourth Illinois

Regiment. He fell in the defense of his country at

the battle of Murfreesboro', in December, 1862, and,

in obedience to a previous arrangement, was buried

on the field hallowed by his blood.

"John H. Russell, Esq., was born in Canaan, prac-

ticed law in this town, and died on his farm in Lake-

ville in 1871. Mr. Russell represented the town in

the Legislature, as will appear from the record, in

1853 and 1854.

" Charles Whittlesey, Esq., was born in the Whit-

tlesey District, graduated at Williams College in 1840,

practiced law in Middletown and Hartford, and from

the latter city went into the war in 1862 as captain of

Co. I, Twenty-second Regiment of Infantry, and was

honorably discharged in 1863. He died in Alex-

andria, Va., in 1874, while in the practice of his pro-

fession there.

" John G. Mitchell and Philander Wheeler, Esqs.,

both practiced law in Lakeville, but neither of them

were born in town. The former died in Chicago in

1863, and the latter in town in 1852.

" All the above professional gentlemen to whom I

have alluded are in their graves.

"John M. Sterling was born at Lakeville in 1800,

graduated at Yale College in 1821, practiced law in

Lakeville several years, and then removed to Cleve-

land, Ohio. I believe Mr. Sterling gave less attention

to the law than to land speculations in Ohio, where

he acquired a considerable fortune, and is still living.

" The attorneys at present practicing in town are

Donald J. Warner, Esq., and his son Donald T., both

located at the Centre, and Hubert Williams, at Lake-

ville. Donald J. represented this town in the Legis-

ture in 1848 and 1866.

"William G. Sterling, son of W. C. Sterling, E«q.,

was born in Lakeville, commenced the practice of

his profe.s-sion in New York City in 1841, is still in

practice there, and is, or has been, a judge of one of

the city courts.

" Among the living lawyers who had their birth or

education in town, and who are now practicing else-

where, I recall readily the names of Hon. Roger

Averill, who was born in the Wetaug District, prac-
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ticed law in this town some twelve years, during

which period he held several important positions, and

in 1843 represented the town in the Legislature. Mr.

Averill removed to Danbury about 1850, held the

office of probate judge for that district three years,

was elected Lieutenant-Governor four consecutive

years, from 1862 to 1866, and represented that town

in the General Assembly in 1868.

" Lyman D. Brewster is a graduate of Yale College,

is now practicing law in Danbury, has held the office

of judge of probate there several years, was judge of

the Court of Common Pleas for that county four

years, in 1870 was representative in the General As-

sembly, and is now a member of the State Senate.
" Charles B. Dutcher, born in Wetaug District,

practiced law in Spencertown, N. Y., from whence he

removed to New York City, and is now a resident of

White Plains, N. Y.
" Jared F. Harrison, Esq., son of the late Jared S.

Harrison, of Lakeville, was born in the Harrison Dis-

trict, studied law with Hon. J. H. Hubbard, at Lake-

ville, and subsequently with Hon. T. R. Strong, in

Palmyra, where he commenced practice, but is now a

practitioner in New York City.

" Charles C. Barton, Esq., son of Hon. Pliny L.

Barton, was born in Salisbury, graduated at Trinity

College, and is now practicing in Boston, Mass.
" George W. Peet, Esq., born in the house now oc-

cupied by Hon. P. L. Barton, in 182.5, commenced
practice with the Hon. William M. Burrall, of Canaan,

and represented that town in the Legislature four ses-

sions, was elected president of the Iron Bank in 1864, i

and now resides in North Canaan.
" Judson S. Landon was born in the Lime Rock

District in 1832, received his education chiefly in

the State of New York, was employed as a teacher

of mathematics and natural sciences at Princetown,

N. Y., for two years ; subsequently attended the law-

school at Yale College, was admitted to the bar, and

commenced practice at Schenectady in 1856. The
same year he was elected district attorney of that

county, which office he held six years; he also held

the office of county judge for that county two terms.

In 1874 he was elected justice of the Supreme Court

of the Fourth Judicial District of the State of New
York, which office he now holds.

" Charles B. Landon, brother of Judson S., was also

educated in the State of New York, commenced the

study of law with D. J. Warner, Esq., of this town,

in 1859, was admitted to the bar in 1862 ; the same

year entered the army as a chaplain in the Twenty-

eighth Regiment Connecticut Volunteers ; returning

from the army late in 1863, he commenced the prac-

tice of law in Columbia County, N. Y. In 1867 he

entered the ministry in the Methodist Episcopal

Church, and is still a member of the New York Con-

ference.

" It will appear from our history thus far that the

legal profession has been numerously, and often with

eminent ability, represented both at home and abroad,

and chiefly by native-born citizens.

" Of clergymen,* whose history is more or less con-

nected with our own, but who now sleep in their

graves, having died since 1841, 1 may repeat the name
of Jonathan Lee, who has already been alluded to.

" Rev. Leonard E. Lathrop, who preached thirteen

years in the Congregational church in this village,

removed to, and preached in Auburn, N. Y., several

years, returned in July, 18.54, to Connecticut, was set-

tled in Sharon, and died there in 1857. Dr. Lathrop

was an able and eloquent divine.

" Revs. W. L. and Henry P. Strong, brothers, were

born on Town Hill, and went abroad in early life to

preach as Congregational clergymen. William L.

died in 1859, and Henry P. in 1875.

"Rev. Edward Hollister and Rev. Edwin Holmes
were sons of our soil, but I have been unable to trace

their history.

" Rev. Edwin Janes, born in Sheffield, Mass., was

educated among us, became a valuable member and

preacher in the Methodist Episcopal Church, and

died in .

" Of the living clergymen, born or educated here, I

recall the names of the venerable and Rev. Isaac Bird,

born in the west part of the town in 1794, who was

for some fourteen years a missionary, residing at dif-

ferent periods in Palestine, at Beirut, and Mount
Lebanon, and subsequently became the principal of a

flourishing school in Hartford. Mr. Bird is now a

resident of Great Barrington, Mass., at the advanced

age of eighty-three years.

" Rev. Edmund Janes, a prominent and much
valued preacher in the Methodist denomination, was

born in Sheffield, but came early to Salisbury, and

secured his education while a resident here. He was

elected bishop. The duties of his office required

or induced him to travel extensively, both in this

country and in Europe. His varied and extensive

acquirements have rendered him an honored and

much loved member of the clerical profession, irre-

spective of denominational distinctions.

"Revs. Eliphalet and Elisha AVhittlesey, sons of

the late Eliphalet Whittlesey, Esq., were both born in

the Whittlesey District. The former was a missionary

for some ten years at the Sandwich Islands, from

about 1844 to 1854. The latter is now a resident of

North Canaan, and the rector of the Episcopal Church

in that place.

" Rev. Joseph Pettee graduated at Yale College in

1833, studied with Dr. Lathrop, preached for a short

time as a Congregational clergyman, and subsequently

became a Swedenborgian minister. Mr. Pettee is

* Salisbury has given birth or education to several ministers of tbe

gospel, among whom have been James Ilntchinson, Samuel Camp,

Chauncey Lee, D.D., William L. and Henry P. Strong, Horace HoUey,

D.D., Isaac Bird, Jonathan Lee (3d), George A. Calhoun, Edward HoUis-

ter, Edwin Holmes, Josiah Turner, Joseph Pettee, Edmund and Edwin

Janes.
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highly esteemed among his brethren, and is an excel-

lent man.
" Kevs. Peter M. and Alexander Bartlett, both born

in the Whittlesey District, and both at present resi-

dents of Tennessee. The former is president, and the

latter professor, in Marysville College in that State.

"Rev. Albert Bushnel, son of the late Albert Bush-

nel, was born in the Ore Hill District, and is now, I

believe, preaching in a Congregational Church in

Sterling, 111.

"Of the living clergymen who have been rectors of

the Episcopal Church at the Centre I am enabled to

give the following names : Eev. Charles Devins was

rector in 1841 ; William Warland's rectorship com-

menced in 1842 ; George H. Nichols' in 1846 ; Ruel

H. Tuttle's in 1855 ; Samuel Jarvis' in 1860 ; J. A.

Wainwright's in 1865 ; William A. Johnson's in 1871.

"Mr. Johnson is much esteemed not only for his

earnestness in preaching, but for his faithfulness in

the discharge of his pastoral duties.

"The Episcopalians in town have recently acquired

a new and beautifiil church edifice at Lime Rock, of

which Rev. Millidge Walker is rector.

"The requirements of itineracy in the Methodist

Episcopal denomination have rendered it difficult for

me to ascertain who, among those that have been

stationed in town, are now among the living. The
more recent incumbents have been Oscar Haviland,

Q. J. Collins, Nathan Hubbell, Clark Wright, William

S. Bowton, William Stevens. The latter was trans-

ferred in April last, and John G. Oakley is his suc-

cessor.

" The Congregational society worshiping in this

village has been subjected to no change in its pulpit in-

cumbent since 1841. Its present (1876) able and beloved

pastor, Dr. Adam Reid,* is now in the fortieth year of

his pastorate, and is proliubly the oldest clergyman

having but a single settlement in the State. In 1836

he was engaged to preach for a single year, at the

close of which he was settled as permanent pastor.

Frequent efforts have been niiide to obtain liis services

in other localities, notably at Boston, Hartford, and

Brooklyn. Dr. Ucid delivered the centennial address

of his church in 1844.

" Prominent among our medical practitioners who
have decea.sed since 1841 was Luther Ticknor, who
had an extensive practice in tiiis town and vicinity.

He wa-s at one time president of the State Medical

Society, before whicli lieilclivered the annual addre.«s

in . He also represented the town in the General

Assembly, iis its record shows.
" Henry Fish, born in New York City, married in

Salisbury, came here to practice about 1820, remained

about twenty-five years, removed to Lee, Ma.ss., about

1845, and died there in 1850, aged sixty-two years.

He was a graduate of Yale College, and was a sur-

geon in the war of 1812.

* Dr. Held died Novemtwr 2, 1878.

" Asahel Humphrey came into town from Norfolk,

was both physician and druggist, and died here in

April, 1852.

" Ovid Plumb, born in Canaan, came into this town

in 18.30 from Dutchess Co., N. Y., practiced exten-

sively in the vicinity until 1856, when he died at his

home near the Twin Lakes.
" Chauncey Reed was born in Salisbury, practiced

in Sharon, was a much respected citizen there, as

well as an intelligent physician. He died in Sharon

in 1856.

" Professor Charles A. Lee was born in the Ticknor

District, practiced some years in the city and vicinity

of New York, but was more extensively known as a

medical lecturer, having for several years lectured in

five different States.

" Ferdinand F. Fish, son of the late Henry Fish,

was born in New York City, but came to Salisbury

when quite young, studied medicine, but did not prac-

tice. He spent some years in New York and be-

came quite an eminent chemist. He removed to Wa-
terbury, in this State, was twice elected mayor of that

city, and died in Lee, Mass., in 1868.

" Benajah and Caleb Ticknor, brothers of Dr. Lu-
ther, were both eminent practitioners, the former as

surgeon in the Uniteil States navy, and the latter as

a liomoeopathist in New York. Caleb wrote several

medical works. He died in New York in 1840.

" William J. Barry came into town from Hartford,

located in Lakeville in 1835, practiced there eleven

years quite successfully, and then returned to Hart-

ford, where lie died in 1847, much lamented.
" William Worden came from Richmond, Ma.ss.,

located at the Centre village, practiced here about

seven years, and died in 18.">3. Dr. Worden had se-

cured a strong hold upon the jieoplc here, and was in

full practice up to the time of his death.

" Benjamin Welch, a native of Norfolk, Conn.,

commenced practice in Lakeville in 1845, and re-

mained here until his decease in 1874. He, too, was

highly esteemed in his profession, and was much
beloved, especially by tiie poor, wliom he cheerfully

attended.

"The preceding physicians are all dead.

"Adonijah Strong, son of the late Hon. Martin

Strong, born in Salisbury, studied with the late Dr.

Luther Ticknor, and is now in practice at Ilonesdale,

Pa.

"J. (). Nilcs practiced in Salisbury about eight

years, went into the army (for a few years) about

1861, returned to Salisbury, from whence he went to

Schenectady, N. Y., and from thence to Chatham,
N. Y.

"Samuel P. Church, son of Judge Samuel Church,

was born in Salisbury, commenced i>ractice in Derby

in 1847, removed to Newburgh, N. Y., in 1857, where

he is still actively engaged in his profession.

" Elisha W. Cleveland went from Lakeville to New
York City in 1826, practiced there thirty years, and
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returned to Lakeville in 1856, and still resides among
us, at the age of seventy-eight.

" George Sterling, son of George W. Sterling, of

Sharon, practiced in town a year or two about 1864.

" Dr. J. H. Blodgett practiced in town from 1866

to 1873.

"The venerable moderator, William H. Walton,

first chosen to preside over this meeting, was once, I

believe, a medical student.

" The medical gentlemen now in town are William

Bissell and John L. Orton, located in Lakeville, and

Bradford J. Thompson, at Salisbury Centre.

" Henry M. Kniglit* came into town from Stafford

Springs, and commenced practice in 1851 with Dr.

Benjamin Welch.

[The only physician in town not named in Gov-

ernor Holley's address is Robert Phelps Knight,

M.D., son and successor to the late lamented Henry
M. Knight, M.D., the organizer and eflBcient head of

the "Connecticut School for Imbeciles," at Lake-

ville.]

" The political interests of the town have been rep-

resented in the State senate at five different sessions

since 1841, viz. : by Hon. John H. Hubbard, in 1847

and 1851 ; by Charles E. Botsford, in 1857 ; by George

Cofiing, in 1861 ; and by Pliny L. Barton, in 1873.

"Among gentlemen who have held honorable posi-

tions in our own and other communities who have

not already been alluded to in one or the other of the

professions, and who had their birth in Salisbury, I

may mention Prof. Albert E. Church, son of the late

Hon. Samuel Church, who was educated at the United

States Military Academy at West Point, where he was

graduated in 1828. In 1838 he was appointed pro-

fessor of mathematics, which position he still holds

after nearly forty years of service,—proof beyond ques-

tion of the value of his services. Prof. Church has

published four mathematical works. He still claims

to be a citizen of Salisbury,—having from his major-

ity been in the service of the government, he has

gained no residence elsewhere.

"George W. Holley, educated in part at West
Point, but unable to continue his duties there on

account of his deafness, has been a member of the

New York Legislature, is the author of a work on

Niagara, and has written extensively for the public

press. He is a resident of Niagara Falls, where he

has resided for many years.

" Hon. W. H. Barnum, though not a professional

gentleman, has not only represented the town in the

General Assembly, but has also been a member of

the House of Representatives in Congress for some
nine years, and was a member of the United States

Senate one term.

" The following gentlemen, natives of this town,

have represented other towns in this State in the

General Assembly since 1841

:

* See biography.

] 860-58-62.—George W. Peet, for Canaan.

1862.—Chimncey Keeil, for Sharon.

1867 and 1804.—Fitch Landon, for Sharon.

1805.—F. N. Holley, for Wolcotlville.

1S05.—N. E. Wood, for North Canaan.

1800.-N. M. Brown, for North Canaan.

1869.—E. J. Reed, for Sharon. '

1809.-J. S. Wheeler, for Colehrook.

1860 and 1868.—Egbert Bartlett, for Derby.

1870.—Lyman Brewster, for Danbury, present senator.

"The list of town ofiicers for a generation past is,

of course, too numerous to record here. The magis-

trates who have been most frequently called upon as

trying Justices, so called, have been Robert N. Fuller

and John H. Russell, both deceased, and Lorenzo
Tupper, James Ensign, and Andrew J. Spurr.

"James Ensign has been county surveyor for some
years past, and is still in ofiice. Since 1841, John G.

Mitchell, Robert N. Fuller, Albert Moore, and Silas

Moore have each held the ofiice of judge of probate

in the order named ; the latter still holds the ofiice.

Daniel Pratt has held the office of town clerk since

1863, and still acts in that capacity. His predeces-

sors since 1841 have been Roger Averill, for five years;

Robert N. Fuller, for one year ; D. J. Warner, for

eight years; Newton L. Dexter, for four years; Henry
J. Reed, who died soon after his appointment, and D.

J. Warner was appointed to fill his place. Henry
Hubbard filled the ofiice four years.

" The manufacture of iron in various forms has

been one of the leading industries of the town from

its earliest settlement, and without going back to the

period of our Revolution, when cannon were cast

here for the service of both the army and navy of the

United States, and without referring again to iron-

masters, who have been particularly alluded to in our

Centennial history, I may and do refer with pride and

pleasure to some of those who have given an impetus

to our prosperity as a town in this department of in-

dustry since that period. Of those who have passed

from among us within the last generation I recall the

names of John C. Cofiing, Milo Baruum, Lee Can-

field, Leonard Richardson, Nathaniel Church, New-
man Holley, Samuel C. Scoville, Robert Bostwick,

George Cofiing, Horatio Ames.
" Among those who are still living, but who have

retired from this branch of business, the names of A.

and S. Moore, William C. Sterling, and John H. Cof-

fing occur to me. Mr. Albert Moore and Mr. Sterling

have passed respectively the ages of seventy-eight

and eighty-two, wliile our respected townsman, Hor-

ace Landon, Esq., remains in active business at the

ripe age of nearly eighty years.

" Others of our townsmen actively engaged in this

industry in town and elsewhere are Hon. William H.

Barnum, Samuel S. Robbins, George Landon, George

Church, J. and C. Scoville, and Frederick Miles.

Among their products are car-wheels. These, of a

superior quality, are extensively manufactured by the

Barnum Richardson Company, at Lime Rock. They

are so extensively used in the country that there are
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but few of us who travel that do not find ourselves

borne along over almost any part of our railway sys-

tem on Salisbury car-wheels.

" Our iron-masters of the present day, however, are

chiefly makers of pig iron.

" The manufacture of wrought iron in its various

branches, once so important a business in town, has

become, I believe, entirely extinct, or nearly so, with-

in a comparatively few years. Anchors, chain-cables,

and musket-iron, car and locomotive axles, heavy

screws for cotton and other presses, and a great

variety of merchant and machinery iron were manu-
factured at Mount Riga, at the Centre, Lime Kock,

and Falls Village. Very large and superior wrought-

iron cannon were made at Ames' works at Falls Vil-

lage during the late war, and were sold to the War
Department. The great anchors that were furnished

for the two war frigates built in New York for the

Greeks, in their struggle for independence in their

war of 1821, were made at Mount Riga. The musket-

iron and railroad axles of various kinds, so extensively

manufactured a few years since, have been nearly su-

perseded by the use of Bessemer steel. The manufac-

ture of this steel has been largely introduced into this

country by a Salisbury engineer, who learned the

process in England, and who has built some of the

most extensive steel-works in this country.* He is

now president of the American Association of Mining

Engineers, and is still actively engaged in his pro-

fession.

" The principal improvement that have been made in

our manufactures within the period since 1841 have

been the extension of tlie car-wheel business and the

works of the Barnard Hardware Company, both lo-

.cated at Lime Rock, the erection of cutlery-works by

A. H. Holley in Lakeville in 1844, and now carried

on by the Holley Manufacturing Company, and the

manufacture of woolen and other fabrics by the

Washinee Company, at the Centre. These establish-

ments have all accomplished their purpose in pro-

ducing excellent work, but they have not all been

equally successful in a pecuniary point of view.

" Our agriculturists have not fallen behind the sur-

rounding communities in their various occupations,

and have contrilmted tlieir efforts towards maintain-

ing the reputation of tlie town as one of the best

farming towns in the county, if not in the State.

" The committee appointed by the General Assem-

bly in 1732 to examine ' the colony lauds west of the

Ousatonic River,' and lay out a townsliip in the

northern section thereof, reported six lakes estimated

to contain two thousand acres, and a rough waste

mountain in the northeast corner of said township

estimated to contain four thousand acres, tlie re-

mainder they thought would accommodate a sufficient

number of inhabitant-i for a town.

" Our mining interests were greatly extended during

• Alaxander L. Hollef.

the war of the Rebellion, and were sources of wealth.

But for the past few years they have experienced the

depressing influences of previous excessive produc-

tion, although they are still wrought to a very con-

siderable extent.

" The Salisbury Savings Society, located at Lake-

ville, is another of our institutions brought into ex-

istence since our centennial history was written, and
has proved to be as beneficial as it is popular. It was
organized in 1848, and Walter R. Whittlesey was
elected its first treasurer. He was succeeded in 1865

by Thomas L. Norton, who still holds the oftice.

" A banking firm has also been established at Lake-

ville, under the nanieof Robbins, Burrall & Co., which
has proved to be a source of great convenience to our

business community.
" The Iron Bank,t which was chartered in May,

1847, is virtually a Salisbury institution, although it

is located on the Canaan side of the Housatonic

River.

" The first newspaper established in town, and which
is still successfully conducted, was started by J. L.

Pease, who came into town from Lee, Mass. The first

number of the paper, the Connecticut Western News,

was issued July 14, 1871.};

" The construction of the Connecticut Western Rail-

road, one of the most important contributions to the

business interests, as well as to the facilities for com-
munication ever established in this vicinity, not only

for Salisbury but for all Northwestern Connecticut, is

more indebted for its organization to Salisbury than

to any other town on its line. We concede to other

towns active and efficient aid in the procurement of

its charter and in liberal subscriptions to its stock,

but the efficient work of its organization began here.

The contract for its construction was made in 1869,

and the first train over the road (except construction

trains) was an excursion to Poughkeepsie from Hart-
ford, in December, 1871.

"Our educational interests have kept pace with
those of surrounding communities, and are decidedly

in advance of what they were five-and-thirty years

ago; more pains liavc been taken to secure edu-

cated and efficient teachers; greater facilities have
been furnished for the acquirement of an education,

and our i)ul)lic schools are not only free but attend-

ance is compulsory. We have no institutions for ed-

ucation higher than the common school, except two
or three select schools, of which favoralile reports are

given. Our school-houses are a great improvement
upon those of even a quarter of a century since, and
arc generally a credit to the town. On the whole,

Mr. Moderator, I think that our children are better

taught in the district schools than those adults are

whom we endeavor annually to instruct in reading in

our town-room.

1 8«« history of town of Gu»u>.

{ Now publlihed al Caoaao.
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" The Roman Catholics in this vicinity have erected

a beautiful and convenient church edifice at Lake-

ville within the past eighteen months, which does

credit to their taste, and which we hojje and trust will

have a healthful influence upon all who worship there.

The temperance reform which they have instituted

has already been productive of good.

"The order of 'Good Templars,' established at

Lakeville, numbers about one hundred members, and

is in a flourishing condition; T. L. Norton, Esq., is

the presiding officer. The object is the promotion of

temperance.*

"The war of the Rebellion was not an institution of

Salisbury origin. As it occurred, however, within the

lifetime of the present generation, and as it was one

of the most gigantic and causeless of modern times,

and having been suppressed also by as brave and

j)atriotic a people as ever drew the sword in defense

of liberty and law, of home and country, it is proper

that it should be referred to even here in our limited

community. It demands a record indeed if for no

other reason than to testify to posterity the efforts

and sacrifices which were made on our part to trans-

mit to them an unimpaired Union. Salisbury did its

full share in the accomplishment of this work, having

sent to the army three hundred and fifty-three men,

of whom fifty-three laid down their lives either on the

battle-fields of Olustee, Petersburg, or Drury's Blufl^,

Port Hudson, Murfreesboro', Deep Bottom, and

Cold Harbor, or died of wounds or disease contracted

in the service. As far as this feeble effort of mine

will avail, the names of these patriotic men shall be

preserved in the archives of the town, and transmitted

to coming generations, who will follow our example,

and forever hold in grateful remembrance their deeds

and their memories. Their names alone, however, do

not constitute the entire roll of honor for our town,

but they are the only persons whom we know that

sacrificed their lives in the service; other noble men,

equally patriotic and devoted, who escaped with their

lives, merit and will receive equal honor with those

who fell on the battle-fields. Their names already

form a part of our recorded history.

" The following is a list of the dead referred to

above :

Grin H. Knight, Charles Caul, P. Ostrander, James Ostrander, Adam Os-

trander, Monroe Whiteman, Amos Woodin, Kobert W. Bragg, Kd-

mond Rickey, Ezra B, Morris, Walter C. Sparks. Reuben R. Speed,

Henry Volker, Jacob F. Rapp, Chester A. Johnson, Jolin Laphani,

G. W. Mansfield, Guerdon Davidson, Daniel Glaren, John W. Suruer,

Henry S. Wheeler, Joseph Hooper, Barnard Woodhead, Aaron E.

Babcock, S.W. Wolcott, H. Pitt Bostworth, X. E. Barnes, Peter Fin-

kle, Orville D. Owen, Elisha Cleveland, Owen McNeil, Alfred De

Bois, Joseph B. Bond, Egbert F. Nott, Ovid P. Shaw, Orville 0. Blake,

Andrew Bull, Andrew W. Durrall, Renslaer McArthur, Egbert

Eowe, J. W. Speed, D. Owen, Eben P. Wolcott, Henry S. Wright, J.

Meltfjn Bishop, J. Harper Smith, Cornelius Turner, John Brant,

* The present (February, 1S81) officers in the Templars' lodge are John

Cleveland, W. C.T.; Miss Lillian Bundy, W. V. T. ; George Bundy, S.;

Ella Wood, F. S. ; F. Wheeler, T,; Henry Wilson, C. ; Henry Beers, M.

;

Mrs. James Miller, G. ; Will White, S.

Peter Burns, John Donohue, Jourdan Brazee, Henry Surriner, John
S. Addison, Charles Brown.

" The following persons were elected or promoted

to the offices named

:

Rev. Samuel S. Jarvis, chaplain, First Regiment Heavy Artillery.

James Hubbard, brigadier-general by brevet. Second Heavy Artillery.

Orin II. Knight, captain, Second Heavy Artillery.

William A. Bailey, chapl.ain. Twenty-eighth Regiment.

Milton Bradley and Wilfred Matison, quartermasters; Charles B. Lan-

dou, captain; Joseph Bostwick, first lieutenant; Warren C. Daily,

second lieutenant.

E. Lewis Moore, adjutant. Seventh Regiment.

Edward S. Hubbard, second lieutenant. Nineteenth Regiment.

Joseph Slater, second lieutenant. Eleventh Regiment.

Admatha Bates, second lieutenant Co. L, Second Heavy Artillery.

"This reference to our late war reminds me of some
facts regarding the French war of 1756-67, that were

not referred to particularly by Judge Church in his

address. As Salisbury has the credit of furnishing

its full share of aid in all the wars that have occurred

in our country since its settlement, the fact should be

stated that at the early period of 1756, one hundred

and twenty years ago, we had in this town two well-

organized military companies, from which ' enlist-

ments and impressments' were made from time to

time, and requisitions were also made upon captains

to hold their men in readiness to go into service at a

moment's notice, who were called ' Minute-Men.' I

have in my possession orders issued chiefly by Col.

Marsh, of Litchfield, to Capts. Moore and Landon,

ordering them from time to time to send men to the

northern frontier. They did so not unfrequently, but

I do not know in what numbers. The Capt. Moore
referred to was grandfather of Messrs. Albert and

Silas Moore, and Capt. Landon was the ancestor of

Messrs. Horace and James Landon. .

" There is abundant evidence, I believe, to establish

the fact that several of the regiments surrendered by

Gen. Burgoyne at Saratoga, in our war of the Revo-

lution, were quartered for several days in this town, a

part of them at Lakeville, and a part of them on the

farm of the Messrs. Moore. One of those soldiers

(John Lotz) deserted from one of those regiments,

and was for many years an inhabitant of Salisbury,

and served as a miller for my grandfather and my
father.

" Rev. Edmund S. Janes and his brother came from

Sheffield with their parents in 1812. They attended

the district schools of this town for a few years, and

subsequently advanced their education, each of them,

by teaching some six years. Edmund S. entered the

Christian ministry in 1830. In 1840 he was elected

financial secretary of the American Bible Society,

and in 1844 was elected bishop of the Methodist Epis-

copal Church. In the course of his ministry he re-

ceived the respective degrees of Doctor of Medicine,

Law, and Divinity.

" David Lyman was born near the Centre, was ad-

mitted to the bar of this county in 1841, practiced

law some five years, and then entered the ministry of
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the Methodist Episcopal Church, in which he still

remains.

"Jonathan T. Norton, son of Henry S. Norton,

studied law with D. J. Warner, Esq., was admitted to

the bar in this county, practiced a short time in Corn-

wall, and then removed to Brooklyn, N. Y., where he

now resides.

" William Norton, brother of the above, is now prac-

ticing law with Judge Treat, of Bridgeport.

" J. Newton Dexter read law in Salisbury with D. J.

Warner, Esq., entered the army during the late Rebel-

lion, subsequently resumed the study of the law, was

admitted to the bar in this county, and is now prac-

ticing in Waverly, N. Y.
" Milton J. Warner, son of Noadiah Warner, grad-

uated at Williams College, read law with D. J. Warner,

and now practices in Waverly, N. Y.

"James L. Orr was born in Hudson, N. Y., came

into town quite young, and was educated by the late

Albert Bushnell. He read law with the late Hon.

John H. Hubbard, was admitted to the bar in this

county, and practiced a few years in Sharon, from

whence he removed to Michigan City. After a few

years' practice there, returned to, and died in, Salis-

bury.
" John G. Reid, son of Rev. Adam Reid, read law

with D. J. Warner, admitted to the bar in this county,

practiced a short time in Kent, in this county. He
entered the army during the Rebellion, where he dis-

tinguished himself as a brave soldier. He is now in

practice in Chicago.
" George L. Hubbell read law with D. J. Warner,

Esq., practiced in New Haven, removed to Davenport,

Iowa, where he is now in practice.

" Henry and Daniel Smith, sons of Samuel Smith,

were botli born in Salisbury. Both were able preachers

in the Methodist Episcopal Church. Henry, the elder,

still lives in Canaan, Columbia Co., N. Y. Daniel

filled several important stations in some of our prin-

cipal cities, and was quite an author. He died some

years since.

" Alanson Reed, son of the late Merwin Reed, was

also a preacher of considerable ability in the Metho-

dist Episcopal Church.
" Dr. Gordon C. Spencer, born in town in 1789,

practiced in Jefterson Co., N. Y., and died in Water-

town, in that county, in 1859.

" Natives of our own soil, or gentlemen trained

among us from early life, have occupied many promi-

nent positions in our own and other States, wiio have

done honor to themselves and to their country.

Among the positions thus occupied I recall those of

one secretary of war, three United States senators

and seven representatives in Congress, three eminent

chief justices of three different States, four Governors

of States at home and abroad, two I>ieutcnant-Gov-

ernors, many senators in our own General Asiiembiy,

two presidents and several profe-ssors in colleges, one

bishop of the Methodist Episcopal Church, military

86

and naval officers, and several lawyers and clergymen

of high repute.*

" In contemplating this array of worthy names, a

pertinent inquiry suggests itself to my mind in this

connection. Shall we continue to send forth men

from our town who will dignify the positions they

may occupy, and do equal honor to the town with

those who have preceded them ? Shall we prove to

the world that in education and refinement, in social

culture, political integrity and sagacity, far-reaching

and wise plans for the future of our country, we may

be able to controvert the oft-repeated assertion that

we are degenerating; that our ancestors were wiser

and better than the later generations of men ? Have

we no reason to apprehend that the corruption and

extravagance of the age, the bitterness of party spirit,

the want of charity towards each other, the malig-

nity with which candidates for and incumbents of

exalted political and social positions are pursued and

traduced, will compel the future historian to verify

and emphasize tlie charge of degeneracy?
" In connection with this subject, I cannot refrain

from giving a short extract from Judge Church's

' Centennial Address.' He says,—

"
' This is not tlie time nor tlio proper occasion to indulge in political

reflections, but I cannot discharge a duty which I owe to the young men

of my native place—the persons with whom, in part, the destinies of the

country are soon to be intrusted—without entreating them to tlivest

themselves of party antt political prejudices. What is prejudice but an

opinion formed without impartial examination ? This is a crime, and in-

excusable in this age and country. My young friends, never be afraid

of bringing preconceived opinions to the test of a patient and disinter-

ested inquiry.'

"
' He being dead, yet speaketh,' and speaketh

wisely."

CH.M'TER LIV.

BALIBBUBY (Continued).

Congregational Cliurclit— St. Juhn'a Church—Trinity Church, Lime Bock

—Methodist Kpiscopal, I.akeville—Hetbodlat Eptsoopal, Lime Rock

—

Catholic, Lakeville.

ECCLESIASTICAL HISTORY.

" As one of tlie most prominent purposes to be ac-

complished by corporate privileges was the support

of the gospel ministry liere, so the earliest efforts of

tlie town were directed to that object. As early as

January, 1742, a committpe was ai)pointed 'to seek

out for a minister to preach to us three montlis.' As

yet there was no esfablislicd phice of public worship

in the town, and no building wiiidi could accommodate

even the then few iiihabitant«, ami tlierefore the town

* SecretAfy of War, Peter II. Porter; Unitod States S«natoni, Nathaniel

Chlpman, J. S. Johnston ; Kepn«ontatlvps In Congrees, Peter It. Porter,

M. Chittenden, Q. II. Cliapln, T. II. Stmng, J. M. Ilolley, J. II. Hubbard,

W. II. Ilarnum; Oovornom, niltlenden, Oalusha, Skinner, Ilolley ; Lieti-

tenant'Oovernore, Ilolley and Averlll ; Prealdoutlof Oullegcs, Ilolley anil

Bartlett ; Ulshop, Janee.

t From Judge Church'i oddreM.
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designated places of worship in its different sections,

that all might be alternately accommodated. The
house of Henry Van Dusen, at Weatogue, of Corne-

lius Knickerbacor, at Lakeville, and of Nathaniel

Buell, at Lime Rock, were established as places of

meeting; and this system was pursued until after the

call of Mr. Lee.
" In June, 1742, a gentleman whose name was Hes-

terbrook was employed to preach three months. In

April, 1743, an unsuccessful attempt was made to call a

minister. In tlie succeeding month the effort was re-

newed, and Mr. Thomas Lewis was invited to preach

on probation. He preached seventeen Sabbaths, but

not j>roving acceptable to the people, no call for set-

tlement was given. On the 3d day of January, 1744,

Mr. Jonathan Lee, of Lebanon, received a call for

settlement, which was accepted. The letter of accept-

ance was as follows

:

" * Salisbury, Aug. 19, 1744.

*' * To the inhabUants of the tovm aforesaid

:

'"Gentlemen and Brethben,—1 liavo again carefully considered

your call to me to labor witli you iu the sacred work of the gospel min-

istry. 1 have endeavored to hear and discern the call of God, which is

my only rule to act by. I have considered your proposals for my maiu-

teuance and support, among which, as I understand them, are as follows

:

You have voted annually to give me £40, lawful money, which, in Old

Tenor money, amounts to £160; and for the fourth year of my ministry

you have voted to add 50s., lawfully money; and for the fifth year, you

have voted to add 50s. more of the same tenor, and so to continue, which

amounts to £180 of Old Tenor bills, being £45 of lawful money. And

having received encouragements of other needed assistances and helps,

and, as far as I can discover, I being called not only of you, but of God,

I therefore do hereby testify mine acceptance of the call and your pro-

posals, and hereby profess my willingness to labor for your good in the

work of the gospel ministry, according as I may be assisted by the grace

of Almighty God; and hoping and trusting in his goodness, and depend-

ing upon a continual remembrance in the fervent prayers of the faithful,

I give and devote myself to Christ, and my services to you for his sake,

who am your friend and servant.

"'Jonathan Lee,'

" He had preached on probation for a short time

before. Previous to Mr. Lee's call the town had

voted to erect for the minister a log house thirty feet

long and twenty-four feet wide. This house, too, was

intended, and used temporarily, as the meeting-house.

The terms of Mr. Lee's settlement, aside from the right

of land appropriated to the first minister, were forty

pounds, lawful money, with an annual increase until

it should amount to forty-five pounds, or one hundred

and eiglity pounds in old tenor bills, as appears by

his letter of acceptance.

"The log house erected for the minister was not

finished when Mr. Lee came here with his family, and

his first dwelling-place was an apartment temporarily

fitted up in the end of a blacksmith's shop, with stools

for chairs and slabs for tables ; and the poor minister

was often compelled to carry his bushel of wheat

upon his back to Lamb's mill for grinding.

" Mr. Lee, having accepted the call to settle here,

he and Thomas Chipman, Esq., were requested by

the town to fix upon the time of ordination, and
' agree upon the men to do the work.' On the 23d day

of November, 1744, Mr. Lee was ordained by a select

ordaining council,

—

the men agreed upon to do the work

at the log house which had been erected for his use.

Why a select council was called to perform this ser-

vice, instead of the Consociation to which the town be-

longed, we are not informed. The proceeding was

afterwards condemned as irregular, and as a depart-

ure from the Saybrook canons ; and several of the

council were censured for participating in the ordina-

tion without the advice of the Association. No evil,

however, resulted to the town from this procedure,

nor was Mr. Lee at all implicated in its irregularity.

The connection of Mr. Lee with this people was long

and successful, and attended, perhaps, with as much
harmony as was usual in those days of acquiescence in

ecclesiastical measures.
" Mr. Lee continued to be the sole settled minister

here forty-four years. He died Oct. 8, 1788, and was

interred in the old Centre burying-yard. He was a

graduate of Yale College, of the class of 1742. The
family of Mr. Lee was numerous, and some members

of it in after-life distinguished.

" It was not until the 23d day of April, 1746,"

says Judge Church, " that the town voted to build a

meeting-house, and the place first designated for

this purpose was the elevated ground north of John

C. Coffing's dwelling-house. This location was op-

posed by the people at the north part of the town, and

in May, 1747, a committee, consisting of Ebenezer

Marsh, Joseph Bird, and Joseph Sanford, was ap-

pointed by the General Court to designate the place

for the meeting-house. The committee designated

two places : one where the town had by its vote fixed

it, and another a little north of Joseph Lee's dwell-

ing-house. Joseph Lee dwelt where William Bush-

nell now (1841) lives, nearly opposite this house.

The General Court directed the house to be built near

Mr. Lee's, and that the sills of it should inclose the

stake placed by the committee exacttij in the centre.

Measures were immediately taken to build the house

;

the time of the raising was fixed, and the town voted

that Ensign Samuel Bellows should procure sixteen

gallons of rum, and Sergt. Samuel Moore eight bushels

of wheat, to be made into cake, for the raising. The

meeting-house was raised on the 24th and 25th days

of March, 174'9, on the spot where the hotel now
stands, opposite this house. The town had no title

to the land on which they erected their meeting-

house ; but Mr. Robert Walker, of Stratford, one of

the original proprietors of the town, by deed dated

29th May, 1750, gave to the town a small triangular

piece of land, on the west side of the highway, in-

cluding the meeting-house, for a burying-yard. This

piece of land extended from the south line of the old

burying-yard northerly along the highway, forming

an acute angle on the highway, nearly opposite the

present school-house.

"At the same time Mr. Walker conveyed to the

town, for a parade, a piece of land on the east side

of the highway, on which the Congregational meet-

ing-house now stands. It was bounded south by the
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highway, then open and running easterly, through

Stiles and College grants, to Lamb's iron-works ; it

was six rods in width, and extended north from the

aforesaid road twenty rods. The old meeting-house

continued to be used as such fifty year.s only, and until

the present Congregational meeting-house was finished,

in the year 1800. It was used for town and society

meetings until the year 1813, when, by lease dated

the 19th day of January, 1813, the town conveyed it

to the late Simeon Granger, on condition that he and

his assigns should at all times furnish the town with

a convenient room for town and society purposes,

public libraries, etc. The lease included, also, the

vacant lands derived from Mr. Walker, on the west

side of the highway, which had not been before dis-

posed of nor included within the burying-yard. A
considerable portion of this was then used as a public

highway, extending westerly up the hill, and has

never been discontinued as such, but still remains

open and used as the only practicable way to the

burying-yard.
" In 1789 the parsonage committee was directed to

apply to Mr. Chauncey Lee, son of the deceased min-

ister, to preach here on probation.

"In November, 1790, a call was given to Rev. Wil-

liam F. Miller, and in 1791 a call was given to Rev.

John Elliott to settle here in the ministry ; but both

invitations were declined. On the 2d of October,

1792, a call was unanimously given to Rev. James

Glassbrook to become the minister of this people,

under restrictions and conditions such as I suppose

the ecclesiastical authorities could not have approved.

The call was accepted. It was a mere hiring for an

unlimited time, with liberty to either town or minis-

ter to dissolve the connection upon a previous six

months' notice. Tlie assent of the Association was

neither asked nor given. Mr. Glassbrook was a

Scotch gentleman of popular talent.s, but for some

cause, not now very well defined, his popularity waned

fast, and before the expiration of his first year's ser-

vice the town gave him notice to quit. Mr. Glass-

brook did not long survive this event, but died at his

residence, where Mr. Kevilo Fuller now lives, on the

8th day of October, 1793.

"The Rev. Timothy Cooley was invited to settle

here on the 30tii day October, 179/5, but refused. On
the 27th day of March, 1797, Rev. Joseph Warren

Grossman, of Taunton, Ma.ss., accepted a call here,

and was soon after ordained, and continued a success-

ful ministry until his deatii, on the 13th day of Decem-

ber, 1812. Mr. Grossman was a graduate of Brown

University, Rhode Island. Of this good man we have

not yet ceased to speak. He was a man of great ex-

cellence of character. As a preacher, many excelled

him ; as a pastor, he exhibited a model worthy of

all imitation. Prudence was i>rominently displayed

in all his intercourse with this people. The religion

he preached was exemplified in himself. He loved

his fellow-men, not because they bore the same sec-

tarian name with himself, but because they were his

fellow-men. He was the minister of a denomination,

but he was the friend of all. His piety was not

spoiled by prejudice, and he could joyfully recognize

a disciple of his Master, as well among the ministers

as the people of other denominations.
" The ecclesiastical concerns of the Congregational

parish, in conformity with the general usage of this

colony and State, had been managed by the town

previous to the year 1804, in which year a Congrega-

tional society, distinct from the town, was organized,

and succeeded in all the property and interests which

the town had managed in its ecclesiastical capacity.

" After the death of Mr. Grossman no minister was

settled here until the year 1818.

" On the 5th day of April, 1813, the society, by a

divided vote, called Mr. John B. Whittlesey to become

its minister. This was an occasion of much subse-

quent excitement. The friends of Mr. W^hittlesey

were numerous and respectable, and his opponents

influential and determined. For a time the perma-

nent union of the society seemed to be in danger.

Mr. Whittlesey at first accepted the call ; the opposi-

tion to him continued and increased ; he doubted,

then declined. His friends persisted, and again he

accepted the call, but finally declined altogether.

During this strife much exasperated feeling was

manifested. But new candidates begat new prefer-

ences, so that harmony w;is again restored, and the so-

ciety, by a united vote, on the 26th day of July, 1815,

invited the settlement of Mr. Chauncey A. Goodrich,

later professor in Yale College, but without success.

Again another unsuccessful call was given, and on

the 29th day of November, 1816, Mr. Federal Burt,

I
of Southampton, Ma.«s., was solicited to become the

minister.

" But in November, 1817, a call was given, under

some opposition, to Mr. Lavius Hyde, of Franklin,

j
which wiis accejited, and Mr. Hyde was ordained on

the 18th day of March, 1818. Soon, however, in-

creased opposition appeared, and the harmony of the

society was once more broken up. Councils were

called for consultation and advice, and at length,

after a faithful but unliapi>y service of about four

years, Mr. Hyde was dismissed from his charge.

i "The society remained destitute of a settled minls-

I
try until Rev. Leonard K. Latlirop wiis installed on

the 2d day of February, 1825. Mr. Lathroj) was a

distinguished graduate of Middlebury College, Ver-

mont, and had been ordained as a rrcsbyterlan min-

ister, and had been settled as the pastor of a I'resby-

terian parish in Wilmington, N. C. Few clergymen

po.s.He.ss to such an c.ttent the confidence of the entire

community, as did Mr. l..athrop the respect of all

cliLs.scs and denominations in the town. The regret

at parting was deep and mutual. Mr. Lathrop, at his

own .solicitation, was dismissed from his society here

on the 25th of October, 1836, and was soon after set-

I tied in Auburn, N. Y."
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He was succeeded by Rev. Dr. Adam Reid, who
died Nov. 2, 1878. He was one of the most eloquent

and effective clergymen that ever preached in Litch-

field County, if not in the State. He came from

Scotland, his native country, in 1835
;
preached one

year in Amenia, Dutchess Co., N. Y. ; was then in-

vited to supply the pulpit of the Congregational

Church in Salisbury for one year, which invitation he

accepted. At the close of that year, in 183G, he was

settled as pastor. His pastorate continued for forty

years, when, on the 23d of September, 1877, his res-

ignation was reluctantly accepted by a saddened con-

gregation. Strenuous efforts were made during the

first twenty years of his settlement to induce him to

accept calls from churches at Boston, Hartford, and

Brooklyn, N. Y. But he had become attached to the i

people of his charge, and he chose to spend his life

in Salisbury. Members of his society furnished him

with the means of visiting his native country on three

different occasions. The society also continued his

salary and supplied his pulpit in his absence. His

successor, Rev. Cornelius Ladd Kitchel, was installed

on the 20th of December, 1877, and is the present in-

cumbent, April, 1881. The church edifice was erected

in the year 1800, and in its exterior presents the same '

general appearance that it did when first completed.

Several interior alterations have been made.

ST. JOHN'S CHURCH.*

Of the early introduction of the Church of Eng-

land into Salisbury we have but traditional informa-

tion. Settled principally from the neighboring prov

ince of New York by persons of Dutch descent, there

is reason to infer that, in common with many of their

co-religionists in other localities, the deprivation of

the services of the National Church of Holland led

them to look kindly upon those of the Established

Church of England. At least traces of this leaning

towards Episcopacy are found at an early period

;

and, doubtless, but for the loss of records and docu-

ments, the introduction of the Church of England in

this town might be antedated by a number of years.

Of this we are certain, that in 1764 the number of

church families in Salisbury was sufficient to attract

the notice and enlist the pastoral care of the Ret.

Thomas Davies, A.M., the faithful and successful

missionary of the venerable Society for the Propaga-

tion of the Gospel in Foreign Parts in Litchfield

County. In a letter addressed by this excellent

missionary to the secretary of the society under date

of this year, after mentioning " Litchfield, Cornwall,

and Sharon" as the places " where a missionary will

officiate on Sundays," Mr. Davies proceeds,

—

"There are a number of towns more in this county which wiU natu-

rally be included in tliat part of the mission, viz., Goshen, Torrington,

Harwiuton, New Hartford, Norfolk, Salisbury, and Canaan, in which

places are a few church people who desire to come under the society's

protection."

* Contributed by Rev. William Allen Johnson.

Nor was Mr. Davies content with merely represent-

ing this desire on the part of the "few church

people" in Salisbury. His " Notitia Parochiales,"

a fragment of which has been preserved, has the fol-

lowing entries, noting the dates of his visitations of

the town, the names of those he baptized, and even

the texts of the sermons he preached to the little

gatherings of Episcopalians who assembled at his

coming

:

"1764, July 15, Salisbury, 2 Tim., ii. 19; 2 Peter, i. 10. August 19th,

Salisbury, Ezel(., xviii. 31 ; Phil., iv. 13. September 23d, Salisbury, Titus,

ii. 11, 12; Hebrews, xl. 6. Baptized Sarah Jeffreys, daughter of Ebenezer

Jeffreys. October 23d, Salisbury, Hebrews, xl, G, 7. Baptized Sarah

Charity and Ilyman, children of Ilyman Bozrough ; Samuel and Eliza-

betli, of Lawrence, and Molley and Jane, of Abraham Knickerbocker;

Elisha, Josiah, and Bartholomew, of Elisha Hurlbut; Solomon, of Wil-

liam Whitney
; Hannah and Charity, of Ruluff Dutcher."t

No further entries or sermons or baptisms at Salis-

bury are found in these interesting memoranda, and

their sudden cessation would appear to strengthen

the statement of Judge Church in his " Centennial

Address" that

" Before the war of the KeTolution there were so many families be-

longing to the Church of England in this town that some efforts were

made at organization, but nothing effective."

At the same time the fact that Mr. Davies made
four visits, and baptized fourteen individuals within a

space of three months, and the allusion to this por-

tion of his mission in his correspondence with this ven-

erable society, together with Chief Justice Church's

later statement in his Litchfield centennial address,

that a congregation " worshiping with the Liturgy of

the English Church" was "soon found" in Salisbury

" in common with other towns where organized par-

ishes are known to have existed from time to time,"

lead us to infer that the Salisbury congregation, if not

a parish organization, was undoubtedly of older origin

than even Mr. Davies' earliest visit, and that it either

grew out of the love of the original settlers for the

church, or sprang from the same causes that induced

the change of ecclesiastical relation by the Rev. Sol-

omon Palmer, of Cornwall, from the "Standing

Order" to Episcopacy, full ten years prior to the

date of these " Notitia." Besides, the application

of the churchmen in Salisbury to the venerable

society through Mr. Davis, already referred to, was

of itself a sufficient " organization." By this act the

Episcopalians in Salisbury became legal parishioners

of the Church of England in Litchfield County, and

would be recognized as such by him. This applica-

tion and recognition freed them from the taxes laid

by town-vote for the support of the Congregationalist

establishment, and turned their assessments into an-

other channel. The examination of the town-records

of Salisbury would doubtless afford evidence of the

number and wealth of the Episcopal community at

this time, and might, if done, add much to our knowl-

edge of the strength of Episcopacy in the town. In

f Mr. Dutcher was buried at New Milford, where his tombstone may
be Been.
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any event this little band of churchmen did not die

out. Though there are no records extant of any min-

istrations in Salisbury by the Rev. Mr. Palmer, who
was again appointed to the Litchfield mission after

the death of Mr. Davies, tradition recalls the occa-

sional services of the Rev. James Nichols, both be-

fore and subsequent to the war of the Revolution,

and the following extract from the register of the

Eev. Gideon Bostwick, of Great Barrington, Mass.,

communicated to the writer by the Rev. A. H. Bailey,

D.D., of Sheldon, Vt., are evidences of the life of

this little band of churchmen, and gave good promise

of a better day to come :

"1780, Salisbury, July 9th.—Baptized Harriet, daughter of Josiah

Hawley and Hannah, his wife; Mary, daughter of Timothy Chitenden

and Rebecca, his wife; Giles Bird, son of Giles Hall and Electa, his wife.

"1783, June 22.—Baptized Ursula, daughter of Jacob Bogardus and

Patience, his wife."

This register, showing official acts performed in

Litchfield, Canaan, Salisbury, Norfolk, and Cornwall,

from 1773 to 1785, is a noble attestation of the mis-

sionary spirit of this excellent clergyman, while these

laborious services seem in one sense a graceful recog-

nition of the establishment of the Great Barrington

parish by the Rev. Mr. Davies years before. And
this kind oversight on the part of the few clergymen

in this section of the State was shown by occasional

ministrations rendered by the Rev. Ashbel Baldwin,

of Litchfield, the Rev. Daniel Burhans, of Newtown,
and the Rev. Truman Marsh, of Litchfield. A ser-

vice held in this town by the Rev. Mr. Baldwin is

thus noticed in the Litchfield Monitor, Vol. IV., No.

191:

"Salisbury, Sept. 6, 1788.—Died in this town, on the 2d inst., Mr.

George Marsh, In the si.\ty-third year of his age. On the 4th his funeral

rites were performed, arid a sermon adapted to the occasion was preached

by the Eev. Ashbel Baldwin, of Litchfield."

Other notices of these visits from the neighboring

clergy might, doubtless, be found on a further exami-

nation of tlie files of this venerable repository of town
and county items.

Land was purchased for parish use in 1792, and
from this time for a iiumlter of years, lay reading was
regularly kci)t \x\t by Capt. Timothy Chittenden. At
the convention of the diocese in 1801, Capt. Chitten-

den was in attendence as a delegate, and at the clerical

convocation iield at the same place and time the Rev.

Caleb Ciiilil, of Massachusetts, who appciirs to have

been for a time in charge of this parish, though only in

deacon's orders, was tried, on a deposition of Mr.
Beriah Chittenden, of Salisbury, for doctrinal defec-

tion and error in life, and was deposed from the

ministry.

At the convention in 1808 the committee " ap-

pointed to ascertain the bounds of the several cures

in the diocese" report "Salisbury and Canaan" aa

vacant, thus recognizing the continued existence of

the parish, which had doubtless suffered bitterly in

consequence of ministerial unfaithfulne.'is, »uccceded

by utter want of pastoral care. The following year

Rev. Sturges Gilbert, who had himself but lately been

admitted to the diaconate, was assigned to the care

of the " churches in Kent, Sharon, and Salisbury,"

and reported from his associated parishes to the con-

vention of 1809 forty baptisms and three funerals.

In later reports the name of Salisbury is dropped,

and nothing more appears of this " little flock" till

the mention of their visitation by the Rev. Aaron

Humphreys, missionary of the Society for the Promo-

tion of Christian Knowledge, appended to the con-

vention journal of 1820. Mr. Humphrey, after stat-

ing that he had " visited in his missionary capacity

Canaan and Salisbury," proceeds as follows :

" At Salisbury there are also a few Episcopalians, destitute of the means

of procuring the services of a clergyman and deprived of the regular ad-

ministration of the ordiiiauces of the gospel. The aid of the society ex-

tended to these congregations might be productive of great usefulness."

A brighter day had dawned for the church in this

town. The appointment of the Rev. George B. An-
drews to the care of the " church of Sharon, Kent,

and New Preston" brought into the vicinity of this

struggling parish an earnest-minded and devoted mis-

sionary ; and in 1823 the convention journals, long

silent as to this portion of the diocese, have reference

to the erection of " a new brick church," and report

fifty-five families as comprised in the parish. The
bishop, in announcing this and other proofs of fruitful

labors, adds,

—

"These exertions, so honorable to the church and so animating to the

cause of piety, have been stimulated in no small degree by the zealous

labors of the Rev. Mr. Andrews."

At the next convention, that of 1824, held in Litch-

field, the name of Daniel Landon appears as represent-

ing the parish in Salisbury. In 1824, Samuel Church,

afterwards chief justice of the State, and long a

prominent member of St. Michael's Church, Litch-

field, was associated with Mr. Daniel Landon as

deputies to the convention ; the Rev. Stephen Beach

is reported as " missionary at Salisbury and parts ad-

jacent," and sixteen is given as the number confirmed

at the first Ejiiscopal visitation since the days of

Bishop Scabury. In his annual address the bishop

thus notices the completion of the chun-h :

" During my visit U* the paridh of Salisbury, on the Ifith of S«pCemb«r

last, I coDsecnilcil the new church in that place by the name of St. John's

Church. This edifice Is constructed of brick, in the Gothic style of archi-

tecture. It is neatly furnished, and Its accommodations are judiciously

arranged. The expense of Its erection, though pressing heavily on in-

divuluals, has been borne with cheerfulness, and It is trusted that no one

feels inipi'vurishod by his exertions. The seal and liberality which this

parish has evinced affunl au encouraging promise of its future prua-

parity."

The Rev. Mr. Beach reports to this convention 5.5

families, 18 communicants, 4 marriages, .3.5 Sunday-

school scholars, 7 infant and ("> adult baptisms, and 7

funerals, as the summary of the year's work.

Rev. Stephen Beach resigned the rectorship in the

year 1833. Rev. Lucius M. Purdy was called to suc-

ceed him, and continued in his office until May, 1S37.

From 1837 to 1846 there were four brief pastorates, of

the Rev. C. W. Bradley, Rev. S. T. Carpenter, Rev.
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David L. Dains, and Rev. William Warland. Rev.

George H. Nichols became the rector in April, 1846,

and remained until Easter, 1854. Rev. Revel H.

Tuttle succeeded him the same year, and remained

five years. He was followed by Rev. Samuel F.. Jar-

vis, who was rector for three years and a half. Dur-

ing his ministry the parish church was altered and

much improved. Rev. Jonathan A. Wainwright,

M.D., became rector on March 29, 1861-!, resigning in

the fiill of 1871, when he was succeeded by the pres-

ent incumbent. Rev. William Aller Johnson.

From the accession of Rev. Mr. Beach, in 1824, to

the beginning of the rectorship of Rev. J. A. Wain-
wright, in 1868, 247 persons were baptized and 156

were confirmed, the average number of communi-

cants reported being 50. During Mr. Wainwright's

rectorship 06 persons were baptized and 58 confirmed,

the communicants numbering over 70.

In October, 1874, Trinity church. Lime Rock, a

costly and beautiful edifice, was opened within the

old limits of the parish, and now organized as a sep-

arate parish, St. John's losing by this friendly divi-

sion a large number of the families who had hitherto

worshiped in Salisbury.

Since the close of Mr. Wainwright's rectorship there

have heen 141 baptisms and 51 confirmations, the

communicants last reported being 68.

TRINITY CHURCH, LIME ROCK.-*

The parish of Trinity Church, Lime Rock, was the

natural outgrowth of the Episcopal Church in the

old parish of St. John's, Salisbury. The distance

from the old church in Salisbury was long felt to be

a great burden by those people of Lime Rock who,

week after week, toiled through mud and snow to at-

tend the worship of the house of God. Occasional

services held in the village fostered a desire long en-

tertained of having a church of their own close at

hand. This desire took definite shape in the spring

of 1873, when means were procured, chiefly through

the liberality of the Hon. William H. Barnum, to

justify the undertaking. Accordingly, on the 10th of

July the corner-stone of the present handsome edifice

was laid by the Right Rev. John Williams, D.D.,

Bishop of Connecticut, assisted by a number of cler-

gymen, including the rector of the parish (the Rev.

William A. Johnson).

The building, which was constructed of a light

brown stone from plans by an architect from New
York, was completed during the fall of the following

year, and was consecrated, by the name of Trinity

Church, to the worship of Almighty God, according

to the rites of the Protestant Ejiiscopal Church in

the United States, on the 5th of November, 1874, by

the same bishop who laid the corner-stone.

In order that a rector might be called to the charge

of the new church, it was necessary to have a parish

* contributed by Rev. Millidge Walker.

organization separate from the parish of St. John's,

Salisbury. This was effected on May 3, 1875, the

original incorporators being as follows : William H.
Barnum, W. A. Crowell, J. H. Hurlbut, C. H. Row-
ley, J. H. Barnum, G. Wiesing, G. S. Burrall, J. L.

Richardson, ll. T. Levi, M. B. Richardson, W. A.

Dean, L. Astrum, F. Hanger, H. Arnold, R. Winter-

bottom, G. Thorpe, S. P. Ensign, L. A. Bulman. In

the meanwhile regular services were maintained by
the Rev. A. S. Clarke and other clergymen until the

beginning of 1876, when a call to the rectorship was
extended to the Rev. Millidge Walker, and was ac-

cepted by him, the charge being assumed on the 27th

of February. Since that time no changes have been

made, the work of the ehurch has prospered in the

community, and now, after a lapse of five years from

the time when the present rector took charge, the list

of communicants has been doubled.

METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH, LAKEVILLE.f

The first Methodist preacher who visited the town
of Salisbury was Samuel Q. Talbot, who held meet-

ings here in the fall of 1788. The following year, in

the month of .lune, the first class was formed at Ore

Hill. In the same year a society was organized by
John Bloodgood, and connected with Columbia Cir-

cuit, on which John Bloodgood and Samuel Wigton
were the traveling preachers.

The circuit preachers visited the place and gave

week evening lectures, generally in private houses,

once in four weeks. The number of original mem-
bers and their names are now unknown. The society

seems to have been attached to Columbia or Dutchess

Circuit until the Rhinebeck Circuit was formed in

1816, when it was connected with that. In the latter

year (1816) the church at Lakeville was built, and

dedicated to the worship of Almighty God by Na-

than Bangs, D.D., then presiding elder of the Rhine-

beck District. The church edifice was erected princi-

pally through the efforts of John Brimsmode, Eli-

akim Smith, Abiathar Wolcott, Josiah Woodworth,

and Nathaniel Everts. The house of the latter had

long been the preaching place of the society. In

1838 the church was repaired, modernized, and pewed,

and from that time the society raised money to meet

its current expenses by the annual renting of the

pews. In 1869 the church was thoroughly renovated

and enlarged by the addition of a vestibule at a total

cost of five thousand two hundred dollars. The par-

sonage was built in 1832.

This society has raised up several ministers of the

gospel; among them, E. S. Janes, D.D., elected a

bishop of the Methodist Episcopal Church in 1844;

Edwin Janes, a twin-brother of the former ; Ezekiel

Canfield, of the New York Conference; Daniel Smith,

of the New York Conference ; and Henry Smith, his

brother, now of the Troy Conference.

t Contributed by Bev. S. F. White.
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The society is at present (1880) in a flourishing

condition. It numbers one hundred and eighty full

members, and eighteen probationers.

There is a Methodist Church in Lime Rock, but we
have been unable to secure its history. It is supplied

by the resident pastor of the Methodist Episcopal

Church at Falls Village. There is also a flourishing

Roman Catholic Church located at Lakeville.

CHAPTER LV.

SALISBUBY (Continued).

CIVIL AND MILITARY.

First Proprietors' Meeting—iDcorporation of the Town—The First Town-
Meeting—OfficersElected—Documentary—Origin of the Name of Town
—Representatives from 1757 to 18S1—Military History.

In May, 1733, Nathaniel Stanley, Esq., and Capt.

John Marsh were appointed by the General Court to

take in subscriptions for the lands in township M,
and the avails of the sales were to be appropriated

for the support of schools in such towns as had before

been settled. Probably nothing was ever done under

this appointment. But at the October session of the

Assembly (then called the General Court), in the

year 1737, the lands in this town were ordered to be

sold at Hartfor<l on the third Wednesday of May,

1738, with a reservation of former grants. For this

purpose the lands were divided into twenty-five

rights. One of these rights was appropriated to the

first settled minister; one for the use of the ministry

forever, settled according to tiie constitution and or-

der of the churches e-ttahlished by law in this colony

;

and one for the support of schools. Here is the origin

of the ministerial and school funds of the town. The
remaining rights were purchased by individual propri-

etors. The original proprietors were Thomas Lamb,
Thomas Fitch (afterwards Governor of tiie colony),

Christopher Dutchcr, Elias Reed, John Becbe, James
Beebe, Daniel Edwards, Joseph Tuttle, David Allen,

George White, Joshua White, Titus Brown, Edward
Phelps, Tiiomas Pierce, Thomas Newcomb, Benjamin

White, Eleazar Whittlesey, Richard Seymour, Robert

Walker, and Thomas Norton.

FIRST MEETING OF PROPRIETORS.

The following is a record of the first meeting of the

proprietors of the town of Salisbury :

"At a Meeting of y Proprietors of the Township of Sallshitry, In y»

County of Now Haven and Colony of Connecticut, in Now England, laM--

ftilly Convened, anil at sd Sallitbury liulden on Thursday, y» l'.;th Day of

April, Anno Duinlni 1739. Anuogs Regui Rogin Gcorgil Secund, Doclnio

Secondo.

"Personally present, Thoi. Walkor, Thos, Lamb, TIiok. Nowcomb,
Bidman Soymuur, Joseph Tuttle, Jr., Christopher Dutcher, lUuiJamln

White, James Beebe, Daniel K<lwards, Titus Itrown, EllM Reixl, Jtdii)

Bebee. Also were present Mr. Kllea/er Whiltleaey by his attorney,

the laid Mr. Daniel Edwards, and Mr. Thomas Norton by his attorney,

7" ad Mr. Lamb, who wore both likewise proprietors.

**Tlios. Fitch was chosen cliairman of the flrat meeting, and Daniel

Edwards dork."

INCOEPOKATION OF THE TOWN.

The following is a literal copy of the act incorporat-

ing the town of Salisbury :

" Att a General Assembly, holden at Newhaven on the 2d Thirsday of

October, Anno Domi : 1741.

" Upon the Memorial of the Inhabitants of the Township of Salisbury,

praying for Town Priviledges, and Libei-ty to Imbody in Cliurch Estate.

"Besolved and Enacted by this Assembly, that the Inhabitants of the

said Township of Salisbury bo and they are hereby Erected, Constituted,

made, and Imbodyed into a Town by the name of the Town of Salis-

bury, and that they and Such others as Shall become Inhabitants there-

of, and their Successors, shall have, Exercise, and Enjoy the authoritys,

Powers, and Privledgs, and be Under the Regulations that the Other

Towns in this Colony by the Laws of this Government have, Exercise,

Enjoy, and are Under, and that the Brand for Said Town bo the same
as is provided For Weatang, viz., this figure, f; and Liberty is hereby

granted To the Inhabitants of said Town to Imbody into Church Estate,

According to the Laws of this Government, and Liberty is also hereby

granted to the Inhabitants of said Town to meet and Assemble in The
Month of November next for the Electing proper Town officers for Said

Town, which being Done the Said officers Shall F.e Estenmed as Lawfully

Elected, and Shall continue the year next Ensuing as the Elected in the

Month of December next : and this Assembly authorizes and appoint Mr.

Benjamin White, of Said Town, to Warn the Said Inhabitants to meet

and Assemble att Some place by him to be appointed in Said Town Some
time In November or December next, for the purposes aforesaid.

" A True Copy.

"George Wylly, SucreUirij.^

THE FIRST TOWN-MEETING.

The first town-meeting was held Nov. 9, 1741, when
the following officers were chosen : Selectmen, Ben-

jamin White, Thos. Newcomb, and John Smith

;

Town Clerk, Cyrenus Newcomb ; Treasurer, Samuel
Beebe ; Constable, Thomas Austin. Thomas New-
comb was chosen moderator of the meeting.

EXTRACTS FROM EARLY RECORDS.

At a town-meeting held Jan. fl, 1742, it was

**Voted, That Thomas Nowcomb Shall Iw ModoDitor of Said Mooting,
" Voled, That their Shall bo a Sign post Erected Within fourty Rods of

the house of M' Thomas Dallss.

" I'ofrrf, That there Shall be a iKiund Erected and built Within fourty

Rods of the house of Mr. Thomas Bayloe."

On the 16th of the following February it was

"Folnl, That We Call a Minister To preach to Us three Months."

The following votes were also taken at this meeting:

" Voird, That We Shall have a Committee To Seek out for a Minister

to preach to Us.

" Voird, That Meas" John Smith, Samuel Brobo, And Thomas Newcomb
be a Committee to Look Out .\n<l to agree with a Minister to preach to

Us for the Term of three Months."

April 20, 1742, it wius

" Votoi/, That We Send a pellllon to ye Gonoral Assembly, With the

Rest of the Now Townships, that their be a County Sot olT In the Norlhey

Part of the government, and that Litchfleld lie the County Town."

Among the early records of births arc the following

:

" Areonchee Vanduten, daughter of lleudrick Vandnseu and Nelcha

his wife, was born April 3, 1740.

"Yockameucho Vandusen, daughter of the same parents, was bom
March 3C, MM.
" JaclmiUo, daughter of Henry Dutcher and Eleanor bis wife, bom

Sept. 15, 1730.

" Jamai-a, daughter of the same parents, born Aug. 3, 1741."

This town was originally known by the Indian

names of Weutog and < )u»atonic, and subsequently,
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after it was located, and before the charter was given,

as town M. It is said to have taken its name from

an early settler named Salisbury. Rev. J. W. Cross-

man, in a discourse delivered in 1803, says, " It is

currently reported, and by good authority, that this

Mr. Salisbury, after moving from here, had an unruly

servant girl who had run away from him ; that he

went after her, bound her with a rope, and tied her to

his horse ; then rode so as to pull her down, and

drawed her in such a cruel manner that she died in

consequence of the abuse. The matter was taken up

in the State of New York, and he, then in old age,

was sentenced by the court to be hung when he should

be a hundred years old. About four years ago he

arrived to this age. A reprieve was granted him for

a certain time, and if he has not died lately he is liv-

ing to this day." Hon. Samuel Church, in an address

delivered Oct. 20, 1844, in referring to this, says,

" There is much reason to doubt the authenticity of

this tradition ; some parts of it are incredible, and I

am disposed to reject it altogether."

This town was originally attached to the county of

New Haven, and remained a part of that county until

the county of Litchfield was constituted in 1751.

REPKESENTATIVES FROM 1757 TO 1881.

1767.—Jolin Everts, Thomas Cliipman, .lueiali Stodilard.

1758.—James Landon, John Everts, Joaiah Stoddard, John Hutchinson.

1759.—James Landuu, Samuel Moore, Jusiah Stoddard.

1760.—John Everts, Josiah Stoddard.

1761.—John Everts, Josiah Stoddard, Timotliy Brownson.

1762.—John Everts, Josiah Stoddard.

176.3.—John Everts, James Laiidon.

1764.—James Landon, Amos Fuller, Thomas Chittenden, Joshua Porter.

1765.—Thomas Chittenden, Joshua Porter, James Landon, Samuel Moore.

1766-67.—Thomas Chittenden, Joshua Porter.

1768.—Thomas Chittenden, Joshua Porter, James Bird.

1769.—Thomas Cliittenden, Josliua Porter.

1770.—Joshua Porter, James Landon.

1771.—Joshua Porter, Thomas Chittenden, John Everts.

1772.—Thonuis Chittenden, John Everts, Joshua Porter, James Landon.
1773.—Josliua Porter, James Landon.

1774.—Joshua Porter, James Landon, Hezekiah Fitch.

1775.—Joshua Porter, Abinl Camp, James Bird.

1776-77.—A bial Camp, Joshua Porter.

1778.—Joshua Porter, Hezekiah Fitch.

1779.—Timothy Chittenden, Josliua Stanton, Hezekiah Fitch.

17?0-81.—Joshua Porter, Hezekiah Fitch, Abial Camp.

1782.—Joshua Porter, Elisha Fitch, Hezekiah Fitch.

1783.—Hezekiah Fitch, Elisha Fitch, Joshua Stanton, Lot Norton.

1784.— Lot Norton, Hezekiah Fitch, Joshua Porter.

1785.—Hezekiah Fitch, Josliua Porter.

17.86.—Elisha Fitch, Lot Norton, Lemuel Wheeler.

1787.—Elisha Fitch, Lemuel Wheeler, Hezekiah Fitch.

1788.—Lemuel Wheeler, Hezekiah Fitch, Samuel Lee.

1789.—Lemuel Wheeler, Adoiiijah Strong, Hezekiah Fitch.

1790.-Hezekiah Fitch, Joshua Porter.

1791-92.—Hezekiah Fitch, Joshua Porter, Adonijah Strong, Samuel Lee.

1793.—Hezekiah Fitch, Adonijah Strong.

1794.—Joshua Porter, David Waterman, Hezekiah Fitch.

1795.—Hezekiah Fitch, Joshua Porter, Samuel Lee.

179G.—Joshua Porter, Adonijah Strong, Samuel Lee.

1797.—Joshua Porter, Samuel Lee, Elisha Sterling.

1798-99.—Joshua Porter, Joseph Canfield, Jr.

1800.—Samuel Lee, Jeremiah Dauchy, David Waterman.
1801.—Joshua Porter, Jeremiah Dauchy, Samuel Lee.

1802.—Jeremiah Dauchy, Nathaniel Church, Adonijah Strong.

1803.—Timothy Chittenden, Jr., Phineas Cliapin.

1804.—Phineas Cliapin, Elisha Sterling, John Whittlesey, Lot Norton, Jr.

1805.—James Johnston, Jeremiah Dauchy, Timothy ChittendeD, Jr.,

Phineas Chapin.

1806.—Phineas Chapin, Stephen Reed, Samuel Lee.

1807.—Phineas Chapin, Nathaniel Everts, Samuel Lee.

1808.—Elisha Sterling, Lot Norton, Jr , Peter Farnam.
1809.—Lot Norton, Jr., Phineas Chapin, Samuel Lee.

1810.—Silas Moore, Peter Farnam, Lot Norton.

1811.—Luther Holley, Lot Norton.

1812 —Timothy Chittenden, Peter Farnam, Lot Norton, Luther Holley.

1813.—Peter Farnam, Lot Norton, Martin Strong, Eliphalet Whittlesey.

1814.—Lot Norton, Eliphalet Whittlesey, Elisha Sterling.

1816.—Elisha Sterling, John C. Cofflng, Lot Norton.

1816.—Elisha Sterling, Jonathan Scoville.

1817.—Daniel Johnston, Ahijah C. Peet.

1818.—Daniel Johnston, Abijah C. Peet, Silas Reed, Alexander Lamb.
1819.—Daniel Johnston, Abijah C. Peet.

1820.—Silas Reed, Samuel Church.

1821.—Samuel Cliurch, Newman Holley.

1822.—Martin Strong, Thomas N. Smith.

1823-24.—Samuel Church, Parley Hubbard.

1825.—Seneca Pettee, Newman Holley.

1826.—Silas Reed, Newman Holley.

1827.—Newman Holley, Robert Ball.

1828.—Phineas Chapin, Thomas N. Smith.

1829.—Samuel Church, Robert Ball.

1830.—Abijah C. Peet, Jared S. Harrison.

1831.—Samuel Church, Lot Norton.

1832.—Jared S. Harrison, Luther Tick nor.

1833.—Luther Ticknor, Nathaniel Benedict, Jr.

1834.—Nathaniel Benedict, Jr., Frederick Plumb.

1835.—Jared S. Harrison, Frederick A. Walton.

1836.—Frederick A. Walton, John Ensign.

1837.—John Ensign, William P. Russell.

1838.—Nathaniel Benedict, John Russell, Jr.

1839.—William H. Walton, Thomas B. Bosworth.

1840.-Thomas B. Bosworth, Nehemiah Clark.

1841.—No choice.

1842.—William P. Russell, Wm. H. Walton.

1843.—Samuel C. Scoville, Roger Averill.

1844.—No choice.

1845.—Robert N. Fuller.

1846.—Horace HoUister, .\Ibert Moore.

1847.—Amos L. Patterson, Wm. H. Walton.

1848.—Donald J. Warner, Horatio Ames.

1849.—William Buslinell, Leonard Richardson.

1850.—Horatio Ames, Schuyler Pratt.

1851.—Nathaniel Benedict, Wm. H. Barnum.
1862.—Milton Hubbard, Pliny L. Barton.

1853.—James S. Ball, John H. Russell.

1864.—John H. Russell, Wm. A. Crowell.

1865.-Chiirles E. Botsford, Henry M. Knight.

1856.—Peter P. Everts, James Landon.

1867.—Lot Norton, IMartin Harris.

1858.—Charles E. Botsford, James Ensign.

1869.—James Landon, James H. Barnum.
1860.—George Coffing, Horace Landon.

1861.—Wm. P. Burrall, Silas B. Moore.

1862.—Silas B. Moore, George Wood.
1863.—Leonard Richardson, Peter FriBS.

1864.—Lorenzo Tupper, Albert Sellick.

1866.—Frederick A. Walton, George Landon.

1S66.—D. J. Warner, John Wardwell.

1867.—Norman Spurr, Goodrich N. Gibhs.

1868.—Jonathan P. McNeil, James Van Deuzen,

1869.—Phiny L. Barton, Erastus D. Goodwin.

1870.—J. G. Laudon, Sidney P. Ensign.

1871.—Wm. H. Walton, Jr., Henry Woodworth.

1872.—John B. Ward, H. P. Harris.

1873.—Daniel Pratt, George B. Clark.

1874.—Blartin Harris, Milo B. Richardson.

1876.—John P. Walton, C. R. Morris.

1-76.-Robert Ball,0. Benjamin.

1877.—Horace Landon, Charles H. Bissell.

1878.—Goodrich S. Gibbs, Charles E. Graves

1879.—Wm. B. Perry, George N. Clark.

1880.—Wm. A. Crowell, Edward Ward.

1881.—Gibson Gillette, Edward Barton.
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iMILlTAllY RECORD*
M. Flanagan, Ist Art. ; enl. May 23, 1861.

C. Bram, 1st Art. ; enl. Dec. 0, 1804 ; disch. Sept. 25, 1865.

M. Carlo, Ist Art.

G. Cella, 1st Art.

M. Carnellis, 1st Art.

J, H. Sherwood, 5th Regt. ; enl July 22, 1801 : must, out July 19, 1805.

D. A. Ayres, 5th Regt.; enl. July 22, 1861 ; must, out July 22, 1804.

F. F. Callendar, 6th Regt.; enl. July 22, 1801 ; must, out Aug. 1, 1863.

J. Carrington, 5th Regt.; enl. July 22, 1861 ; must, out July 21, 1864.

M. Gnghens, 5th Regt.; enl. July 22, 1801.

J. A. Sherwood, 5th Regt; enl. July 21,1861; must. out July 22, 1864.

H. \V. Simmons, 5th Regt. ; enl. July 22, 1861 ; must, out July 22, 1864.

S. B. Sfiuires, 5th Regt. ; enl. July 22, 1801 ; must, out July 22, 1864.

E. Van Dergan, 5th Regt.; enl. July 22, 1861.

John Woodin, 5th Regt. ; enl. July 22, 1861 ; must, out July 22, 1864.

B. Woodhead, 5th Regt. ; enl. July 22, 1801 ; died June 23, 1862.

I. H. RoBsell, 5th Regt. ; enl. March 15, 1804.

John Smith, eol. March 9, 1864.

A. E. Babcock, 6th Regt.; enl. Sept. 12, 1861 ; died Sept. 20, 1861.

Michael Dunn, 0th Regt.; enl. March 9, 1864; disch. Aug. 21, 1865.

Henry Morris, 0th Regt.; enl Dec. 6, 1864; disch. Aug. 21, 1865.

J. Pennet, 61h Regt.; enl. Dec. 0, 1804; disch. Aug. 21, 1805.

M. Maloy, 0th Regt. ; enl. March 9. 1864 ; disch. Aug. 21, 1865.

Peter Turner, 7th Regt.; enl. Sept. 7, 1861 ; disch. Sept. 12, 1804.

A. E. Barnes, 7th Regt. ; enl. Sept. 7, 1801 ; died Dec. 17, 1863.

II. P. Bosworth, 7th Regt. ; enl. Sept. 7, 1861 ; killed Feh. 2(1, 1864.

George Bundy, 7th Regt. ; enl. Sept. 7, 1801 ; disch. Sept. 12, 1865.

J. H. De.\ter, 7th Regt.; enl. Sept. 7, 1861 ; disch. Sept. 6, 1804.

A. Landon, 7th Regt. ; enl. Sept. 7, 1861; disch. Sept. 12, 1864.

V. G. McNeil, 7th Regt. ; enl. Sept. 7, 1861 ; disch. Sept. 12, 1864.

Ezra L. Moore, 7th Regt, ; enl. Sept. 7, 1861
;
pro. to adjutant ; muBt. out

Nov. 22, 1864.

P. L. Norton, 7th Regt.; enl. Sept. 7,1861; disch. Sept 12, 1864.

George W. Olin, 7tli Regt. ; enl. Sept. 7, 1861 ; disch. Sept. 12, 1864.

W. D. Reid, 7th Regt.; enl. Sept. 7, 1801 ; disch. Sept. 19, 1864.

John H. Sweet, 7th Regt. ; enl. Sept. 7, 1801 ; disch. Jan. 3, 1862.

George L. Wells, 7th Regt. ; enl. Sept. 7, 1801 ; disch. Sept. 12, 1864.

S. Judsou, 7th Regt.; enl. Sept. 7, 1861; disch. Sept. 17, 1804.

Henry McLean, 7th Regt. ; enl. Sept. 7, 1861 ; disch. July 20, 1806.

A. Dupont, 8th Regt.; enl. Aug. 15. 1864.

E.J. Fnnk, 8th Regt.; enl. July 30, 1864; must, out Dee. 12, 1866.

M. J. Kilmer, Slh Regt. ; enl. Aug. 12, 1804; must, out Dec. 12, 18C5.

A. Columbo, 8tli Regt.; enl. Aug. 8, 1861.

M. Ostrander, '.Ith Regt.; enl. Jan. 13, 18C4; disch. Oct. 26, 1864.

J. Silrernail, 9th Regt. ; enl. Jan. 13, 1804 ; disch. Oct. 26, 1864.

A. T. Breed, 9th Regt.; enl. Oct. 1, 1801; disch. Oct. 26, 1864.

Peter Finkle, 9th Regt. ; enl. Oct. 1, 1861 ; died July 14, 1862.

F. Tyler, 9lli Regt. ; onl. Oct. 3, 1861 ; disch. Doc. 1, 1862.

George E. French, loth Regt. ; enl. (let. 1, 1861 ; disch. Oct. 7, 1804.

W. E. Jones, loth Regt. ; lUil. Oct. 9, 1801 ; disch. Oct. 7, 1804.

H. Brazic, lOtlj Regt. ; onl. Oct. 1, 1801 ; disch. Aug. 25, 1K65.

W. Fish, loth Regt. ; onl. Oct. 1, 1801 ; disch. Nov. 2.1, 1803.

Judsun P. Ham, Kith Regt; enl. Oct 3, 1861; disch. Aug. 12, 1862.

X. S. Huliliaril, inth Regt.; enl. Oct 3, 1861
;
pro. to Kcond lieutenant;

disch. Aug. 22, 1803.

J. 11. Haldsled, loth Regt ; enl. Oct 3, 1861.

G. W. Newell, loth Bogt. ; enl. Oct. 1, 1801 ; disch. Dec. 25, 1865.

D. Owen, 10th Regt; enl. Oct 1, 1861 ; disch. June 6, 1865.

0. D. Owon, loth Regt.; enl. Oct 1, I86I ; died Feb. 17, 1862.

B. 0. I'alnmtor, loth Regt ; enl. Oct 1, 1801 ; disch. July 12, 1862.

Alex. I'ulnnitor, loth Regt; onl. Oct. 9, 1801.

E. Rowe, loth Regt. ; onl. Oct 3, 1801 ; died June, 186;).

K. R. Speed, Ifllh Regt; enl. Oct. 10, 1861 ; disch. Dec. 18, 1862.

J. \V. Speed, loth Rogt; enl. Oct. 16, 1801 ; died March 17, 1863.

E. Uobsun, 11th Regt.; onl. March 22, 1864; must, out Dec. 21, 186S.

Thos. Jones, 1 Ith Regt

Owen McNeil, Uth Regt. ; enl. March 21, 1864 ; killed May IR, 1864.

C. Must, Uth llegt; enl. April 30, 1864; disch. Dec. 21, 1805.

A. Hrun, lltli Regt.; enl. Aj.rll 30, ISlH; disch. Dec. 21, 1868.

M. Doherly, Uth Regt; enl. March 20, 1804.

Alfrod Ilul«ilse, Uth Regt ; onl. April 30, 1804; killed June 18, 18M.

Clmrles Allen, lltli Regt; enl. April 5, 18M.

M. Green, Uth Rogt; enl. Feb. 27, 1804; disch. Dec. 21, 1809.

• For lilt of lotli Regiment, see Chapter V.

Henry Mann, Uth Regt. ; enl. April 8, 1864; disch. Dec. 21, 1865.

G. Brelleman, Uth Regt; enl. March 9, 1864; disch. Dec. 21, 1865.

Jas. Burns, Uth Regt; enl. April 5, 1804; disch. Dec. 21, 1865.

A. Day. 11th Regt ; enl. Dec. 13, 1861 ; disch. Dec. 21, 1865.

A. Fowler, Uth Regt. ; enl. Nov. 27, 1861 ; disch. Nov. 1, 1864.

J. McElroy, 11th Regt. ; enl. Nov. 27, 1801 ; disch. Dec. 21, 1805.

George Arnold, Uth Regt ; enl. Nov. 27, 1861 ; disch. Oct. 26, 1862.

C. Arnold, Uth Regt; enl. Nov. 27, 1861 ; disch. May 30,1802.

H. Brazee, Uth Regt. ; enl. Nov. 27, 1801 ; disch. Nov. 10, 1864.

C. W. Hai-vey, Uth Regt; enl. Nov. 27, 1801.

A. N. White, Uth Regt. ; enl. Dec. 3, 1801 ; disch. Dec. 21, 1865.

W.Morehouse, Uth Regt; enl. Feb. 27, 1S04; disch. Dec. 21, 1865.

John Murphy, 1 Ith Regt. ; enl. April 5, 1864 ; disch. Dec. 21, 1865.

John Masner, 11th Regt.; enl. April 17, 1804; disch. July 12, 1865.

W. Ostrander, Uth Regt; enl. Feb. 27, 1804; disch. Dec. 21, 1865.

George Riley, Uth Regt. ; enl. April 5, 1864 ; missing.

W. H. Wooden, lllh Regt. ; enl. April 7, 1864 ; died Sept. 4, 1864.

J. Cable, Uth Regt; enl. March 21, 1804.

John Hughes, Uth Eegt; enl. April 22, 1864.

John King, Uth Regt; enl. April 14, 1864.

E. Longley, Uth Regt.; enl. April 14, 1S64.

J. Lopez, Uth Regt; enl. April 14, 1804.

C. Warrington, Uth Regt; enl. April 8, 1804.

C. R. Wright, 13th Regt; enl. .Ian. II, 1862; disch. Jan. 6, 1865.

J. McLowan, l.Stli Rogt.; enl. J,in. 24, 1805 ; disch. July 20, 1865.

A. W. Starr, istli Kegt; enl. April 22, ISO! ; disch. July 21, 1865.

N. Robinson. I'.th Regt; enl. Dec. 29, 1803; ilisch.July 20, 1865.

A. W. r)ii«'..ll,20th Regt; enl. March 14, 1.101; disch. July 14,1865.

J. S. Addi.sun, 29lh Regt.; enl. Dec. 23, 1803 ; died April 23, 1864.

diaries Brown, 29th Kegt.; enl. Jan. 4, 1804; .lied June 18, 1864.

S. M. I).- Witt. 29th Regt ; enl. Dec. 21, 1S03 ; disch. Oct 24, 1865.

S. H. Foote, 29th Regt. ; enl. Dec. 23, 1863 ; disch. Oct 24, 1865.

J. W. Davis, 29th Kegt ; enl. Jan. .^ 1804 ; disch. Oct 24, 1865.

C. Brown, 29th Regt. ; enl. Dec. 23, 186:1 ; disch. Feb. 29, 1865.

S. Lyons, 29th Regt. ; enl. Dee. 30, 1803 ; disch. Oct 24, 1665.

A. Wethington, 29th Regt. ; enl. April 8, 1804 ; disch. Nov. 7, 1866.

M. J. Brailley, 2Sth Rogt; quartomiaslor ; enl. Sept 1, 1862; resigned

March 5, 1803.

Rich. Wheatley, 28th Regt; chaplain; enl. Mot. 12,1862; diech. Aug.

28, 1863.

W. H. Matson, 28th Regt ; quartermaster's sergeant ; enl. Aug. 16,1862;

pro. to qtiartermastor ; disch. Aug. 28, 1863.

L. 8. Clomus, 13th Regt ; enl. Nov. 27. 1801 ; disch. Aug. 6, 1862.

C. H. Dauchy, 13tli Kegt. ; iid. Nov. 27, 1861 ; disch. Dec. 9, 1862.

N. Manslleld, 13th Regt; enl. Dec. 17, 1801 ; disch. Oct 12, 1862.

P. E. Hurter, Uth Kegt ; enl. Oct 25, 1861 ; disch. Dec. 25, 1865.

COMPANV E, TWENTY-EIGHTH REGIMENT.

Mustered Into United Slates service Nov. 15, 1802.

Charles B. Landon, captain ; com. Aug. 16, 1862; disch. Aug. 28, 1803.

Joseph Bostwick, Arst lieutenant ; com. Aug. 16, 1862 ; disch. Aug. 28,

1803.

Warren C. Dalley, eeoond lieutenant; com. Aug. 28,1802; disch. Aug.

28, iHia.

Calvin N. Sago, sorgepnt ; enl. Aug. 25, 1862 ; disch. A\ig. 28, 1863.

Eilwaril rilkln, sergeant; enl. Aug. 29, 1862; diKh. Aug. 28, 186;!.

Ward W. .Sweet sergeant ; enl. Aug. 18, 1802 ; diech. Aug. 28, 1803.

John Drant, sergeant ; enl. Sept 2, 1862 ; diech. Aug. 28, 1863.

Smith Scrihner, sergeant ; enl. Aug. 2S, 1862 ; disch. Aug. 28, 1863.

Egbert F. Knott, curpoml ; enl. Aug. 25, 1802; killed June 14, 1863, at

Port HinUon, l.,n.

Frederick Cleveland, car|iural ; enl. Sept. 2, 1802 ; diech. Aug. 28, 1843.

Judsun T. Ileni, corporal ; enl. Sept. 1.'., 1802 ; dieih. Aug. 28, 1863.

Morgan Tyler, corporal ; enl. Sept 2, 1862 ; lilecli. Aug. 28, 1803.

Waller NIvor, conwral ; enl. Aug. 29, 1802 ; diech. Aug. 28, 1803.

(;. Martin Turner, corpomi ; onl. Aug. 29, 1802; disch. Aug. 28, 1803.

Waller Turner, corporal; onl. Aug. 30, 1802; disch. Aug. 28, 1803.

Henry R..wland, corporal ; onl. Aug. 2<l, 1862 ;
disch. Aug. 28, 186.3.

Ovid I>. Shaw, musician; enl. Sept 3, 1862; killed June 14, 1864, near

I'etoraburg, Va.

Whiting L. Ayres, wagoner ; onl. Aug. 21, 1882 ; diech. Aug. 28, 1803.

Hall, HarvoT L., enl. Sept 5, 1802; diech. Aug. 28, 1801.

Ball, Anilrew, enl. Sept 0, 1802 ; disch. Aug. 28, 1803.

Blake, Orvlllo o., enl Sept 0, 1802 ; dle<l Aug. 2, 1803, at Port HodMIl, L*.

Blake, George II., enl. Sept 8, 1802 ; dlech.%ug. 28, 1803.

ilrnedlcl, John, enl. Sept II, 1802.
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Bishop, J. Milton, enl. Sept. 13, 1262 ; disch. Aug. 28, 18G3.

Bragg, Robert W., enl. Aug. 26, 1862; disch. Aug. 28, 1863.

Briggs, Nicholas 0., enl. Sept. 2, 1862 ; disch. Aug. 28, 1863.

Brodenck,Thomas,enl. Sept. 3, 1862; disch. Aug. 28, 1803.

Bushnell, George, enl. Sept. 3, 1862; disch. .\ug. 28, 1863.

Burns, Peter, eul. Sept. i, 1862; disch. for re-eulistment July 23, 1863.

Braize, Jourdin, enl. Aug. 22, 1802 ; died June 28, 1863, at Baton Rouge,

La.

Coon, Robert A., enl. Sept. 12, 1802 ; disch. Aug. 28, 1863.

Decker, George, enl. Aug. 19, 1802; disch. Aug. 28, 1863.

Donahue, John, enl. Sept. 10, 1862 ; disch. Aug. 28, 1803.

Dunbar, Harlan, enl. Sept. 13, 1802 ; disch. Aug. 28, 1863.

Dutton, Joseph, enl. Sept. 3, 1802.

Duvall, Daniel W., enl. Sept. 11, 1802 ; died July 23, 1863, of wounds re-

ceived at Port Hudson, La.

French, Sanford W., enl. Aug. 30, 1862 ; disch. Aug. 28, 1863.

French, Calvin N., enl. Sept. 2, 1862 ; disch. Aug. 28, 1863.

Fuller, William H., eul. Sept. 6, 1862; disch. Aug. 28, 1803.

Jewell, Augustus L., enl. Sept. 3, 1802 ; disch. Aug. 28, 1803.

Jones, Nelson, enl. Sept. 2, 1862; disch. Aug. 28, 1863.

Jones, John I)., enl. Sept. 3, 1862; disch. Aug. 28, 1863.

Knickerbocker, M. H., enl. Sept. 6,1862; disch. Aug. 28, 1863.

Knickerbocker, G. A., enl. Sept. 0, 1862 ; disch. Aug. 28, 1863.

Mason, Elijah F., enl. Aug. 29, 1862 ; disch. fur disability March 17, 1863.

Masuer, John, enl. Aug. 25, 1862 ; disch. Aug. 28, 1863.

McArthur, Rensler< A., enl. Aug. 20, 1802; died July 12, 1803, of wounds
received at Port Hudson, La.

Morgan, William H., eul. Sept. 2, 1802; disch. Aug. 28, 1803.

Moore, Dwiglit, enl. Sept. 8, 1862 ; disch. Aug. 28, 1863.

Newberry, Stephen, enl. Sept. 2, 1862 ; disch. Aug. 28, 1863.

Niver, Elias D., enh Aug. 22, 1802; disch. Aug. 28, 1803.

Orton, Thomas B., enl. Aug. 28, 1802; disch. Aug. 28, 1863.

Oviatt, David F., enl. Sept. 16, 1862 ; disch. Aug. 28, 1863.

Ostrander, Myron, enl. Sept. 3, 1862.

Ostrander, Walter, enl. Sept. 3, 1862; disch. Aug. 28, 1863.

Palmer, Smith, enl. Sept. 3, 1862 ; died Sept. 27, 1S04, at New Orleans,

La.

Rosseter, Reuben, enl. Sept. 2, 1862; disch. Aug. 28, 1863.

Smith, Dwight, enl. Aug. 18, 1802 ; disch. Aug. 28, 1863.

Surener, Henry E., enl. Aug. 21, 1862 ; disch. Aug. 28, 1863.

Smith, J. Harper, enl. Aug. 20, 1862; disch. Aug. 28, 1863.

Schlittenhart, Michael, eul. Aug. 29, 1802; disch. Aug. 28,1863.

Stuppulbeen, Henry M., enl. Sept. 2, 1862 ; disch. Aug. 28, 1863.

Speed, Reuben R., enl. Sept. 2, 1802.

Speed, Andrew, enl. Sept. 6, 1862; disch. Aug. 28, 1863.

Speed, Bradford, enl. Sept. 15, 1802 ; disch. Aug. 28. 1863.

Storms, Peter 0., enl. Sept. 3, 1862 ; disch. Aug. 28, 1863.

Scutt, Jerry, enl. Sept. 8, 1862; disch. Aug. 28, 1863.

Sherman, Jeremiah P., enl. Sept. 6, 1862 ; disch. Aug. 28, 1863.

Silvernail, Sihis, enl. Sept. 15, 1802; disch. Aug. 28, 1863.

Silvernail, John, enl. Sept. 15, 1862.

Turner, Cornelius, enl. Sept. 2, 1862 ; died July 30, 1863, at Baton Rouge,

La.

Tyler, Gordon, enl. Sept. 2, 1862; disch. Aug. 28, 1863.

Thornton, Henry, enl. Sept. 15, 1862.

Tallardy, Seneca, enl. Sept. 6, 1862.

Wright, Henry V., enl. Aug. 20, 1862; disch. for re-enlistment July 23,

1S63.

Woodworth, Charles, enl. Aug. 25, 1862 ; disch. Aug. 28, 1863.

Wike, Leopold, enl. Aug. 30, 1862 ; disch. Aug. 28, 1803.

Wolcott, Eben P., enl. Sept. 2, 1862 ; disch. Aug. 28, 1803.

Welch, John, enl. Sept. 3, 1862 ; disch. Aug. 28, 1863.

Williams, John, enl. Sept. 2, 1862 ; disch. Aug. 28, 1863.

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES.

JOHN MILTON HOLLEY.

John Milton Holley, son of Luther Holley, was the

oldest son of a brotherhood of six remarkable men

;

remarkable for the manly beauty and perfection of

their physical organization, for marked mental vigor

and vivacity, combined with most genial and attrac-

tive social qualities, and unusual conversational gifts,

which were aided by an extraordinary compass, har-

mony, and flexibility of voice. Each of them was
more than six feet in height and finely proportioned.

All of them received the rudiments of their education

at the then good common schools of their native town,

in which their honored father had been in early life

a successful and popular teacher.

John M. finished his studies at Boston and Wil-

liamstown, Myron and Horace at Yale College,

Orville at Cambridge, and Newman at a popular

academy nearer home. John M. was born at Salis-

bury, Conn., on the 7th of September, 1777, and died

there Nov. 14, 1836. In 1798 he took charge of one

of the corps of surveyors that ran out the "Connecti-

cut Fire Lands," as they were then called, now called

the " Western Reserve," in Ohio, and before leaving

the State he laid out the city of Cleveland. Soon
after his return to Salisbury he embarked in the for-

warding business at Poughkeepsie, with Livingstone

& Bogardus, of New York. A few years later, his

father having purchased the old furnace property at

Salisbury, where so many of the cannon and shot were

made that were used in the war of the Revolution,

he returned to Salisbury and joined his father in the

manufacture of pig iron.

In 1814, Luther Holley having purchased the beauti-

ful farm on the shore of the Lake Wononscopomue,

in Salisbury, on which he afterwards lived and died,

was succeeded in the iron business by John C. Cofiing,

thus forming the long and well-known firm of Holley

& Coffing,—a firm which, for extended business en-

terprise, active public spirit, and high iutegrity of

character, ranked among the foremost of the time.

Their manufacturing operations in cast and wrought

iron for government and private armories, and for

general uses, were extended into Massachusetts and

New York, and were uniformly and largely successful

for that early period.

In January, 1800, J. M. Holley married Sally Por-

ter, the youngest daughter of Col. Joshua Porter, of

Salisbury (whose life has been more particularly al-

luded to in a sketch of his grandson, Alexander H.

Holley). She became the mother of John M. Holley,

Jr., who was a graduate of Yale in 1822, where he

acquitted himself with honor, and subsequently mar-

ried a daughter of Gen. Joseph Kirkland, of Utica,

N. Y.
;
practiced law in Western New York, repre-

sented his district twice in the General Assembly of the

State, and died in Florida while a member of Congress.

She was also the mother of Alexander H., a sketch of

whose life appears in another part of this work, and

of George W. Holley, of Niagara Falls, all of whom
were born in Salisbury. George W. was educated

chiefly at Capt. Patridge's military school in Vermont,

and at West Point. He also represented his district

in the General Assembly of the State, and is the

author of works on the geology of the country about



^=y-



I





1i

t^ ^U^.C^] l-£/J/^ ^
(7f

•/C/^f/t



SALISBURY. 551

Niagara. He was for several years the agent of Gen.

Peter B. Porter, his uncle, and after the general's

death was guardian of his children.

Luther Holley's grandfather was the first of the

family to settle in Litchfield County, he having re-

moved from Stamford, Conn., to Sharon, where Luther

was born July 12, 1751. The following extracts from

a letter of his to his son Horace will give some ac-

count of his earlier life: "After I had advanced to-

wards manhood, say at the age of sixteen or seven-

teen, my father was ill for several years. My two

older brothers were of age and had gone from home.

It fell to my lot, therefore, to carry on the farm. I

worked hard during the day, and at night had to go

after doctors and medicine, sometimes riding eight or

nine miles, and often becoming so weary that I have

fallen asleep on my horse. My father continued ill

for years after I was of age ; but, by my own exertions

and the persevering industry of my mother and sisters,

we lived in good style for that day, and punctually

paid every demand." A practice for which he was

quite remarkable through his whole life. " When at

work on a plow one day I cut my knee, and lay for

ten or twelve weeks under the care of doctors, expect-

ing to have my leg cut off. Meantime I studied hard

to qualify myself to teach school, and succeeded so

well that I obtained a small school the next winter,

and gave so much satisfaction that I was engaged for

the next year. I agreed for six months for seven dol-

lars and fifty cents per month, which was then a great

price. I continued to keep school for three years,

the salary being raised from time to time until it

reached five pounds." Wearying of teaching, he em-

barked in trade. " I then formed a partnership with

William Davis, of Sharon. We made a large pur-

chase of goods of Richard Smith, of New London,

who, being in Holland, had assisted our government

in its struggle for independence to procure a quantity

of gunpowder. For this service the Legislature of

Connecticut granted him the privilege of bringing

into the country thirty thousand dollars' worth of

goods. This purchase of Richard Smitli was made
just before the news of peace reached the country ; the

price of goods fell ; Mr. Davis became discouraged,

sold out, and quit business; I carried it through, paid

Smitli, and made some money." Subsequently he en-

gaged in business in Redhook, on the Hudson, and

in Dover, Dutchess Co. He represented one of tlic

districts in tlie latter county in the General Assembly

of the State. Soon after he removed to Salisbury,

where he engaged in business as above stated. He
also represented the town of Salisbury during three

sessions of the General Assembly of the State of

Connecticut.

Myron llolley, the second son of Luther, engaged

in business in Western New York in early life, repre-

sented the district of his residence during several

sessions of the Legislature, and with voice and pen

wiis very efficient in advancing the Krie Canal project.

When its construction was decided upon he was made

one of the commissioners to carry forward the work,

and devoted his best energies to it until it was made

available for use.

Horace Holley became a popular preacher in Bos-

ton, where he remained about eight years, and from

whence he removed to Lexington, Ky., to accept the

presidency of Transylvania University.

At his decease, in 1827, Professor Caldwell, of Lex-

ington, pronounced a funeral oration, from which the

following extract is taken. Referring to his decease,

he says,

—

" It announces to you that Holley, who lately presided in this institu-

tion with unrivaled lustre, to whose peerless eloquence this temple has

so often resounded, whose jndgment and taste were standards by which

to decide on excellency both iu literature and arts, whose soul, as if obe-

dient to an impulse of prophecy, often sprang forward into future times,

and bodied forth the thick coming glories of his country, with a potency

of reason, a richness of color, that gave to them the charm of existing

realities ; wliose hospitality knew no limit but that of his means and op-

portunities to extend it ; who was a finished model of elegance in man-

ners and refinement of breeding, and whose manly beauty and graceful

deportment were as attractive to the eye as the mellifluent tones of his

voice in conversation were delightful to the ear."

Orville L. Holley spent most of his life in the cities

of New York and Albany, practiced law in both, be-

came editor and author for many years, and for several

years was surveyor-general of the State. He died in

Albany, in March, 1861.

ALEXANDER HAMILTON HOLLEY.

Alexander Hamilton Holley was born in Salisbury,

Litchfield Co., Conn., on the 12th of August, 1804.

His fiither, John Milton Holley, was also bom in Sal-

isbury, 7th of September, 1777. His father, Luther

Holley, was born in Sharon, Conn.. July 12, H/il.

Luther's grandfather wii-s the head of the family in

this county, having moved into Sharon from Stamford,

Conn., and was one of its earliest settlers. A more

detailed sketch of Luther's life may be found in con-

nection with that of his oldest son, John Milton. The

grandfather of Alexander on his mother's side was

Col. Joshua Porter, who was the first of his family in

this county. He was born in Lebanon, Conn., in

1730, was a graduate of Yale College, removed to Sal-

isbury in 1754 or 1755, and made the town his place

of residence for the remainder of his life, which was

terminated in April, 1825, at the age of ninety-five

years. He wa.s a marked man, and spent many years

of his long life in the public service. He was elected

to the General Assembly of the State fifty-five times,

was a judge of the County Court twenty-eight years,

judge of probate over thirty years, and held minor

offices in town from ten to forty years. He was also

colonel in the army, and wa-s with his regiment at the

surrender of Gen. Hurgoyne at Saratoga. He was

for si.x years agent of the State, superintending the

making of cannon in the Salisbury furnace during

the Revolutionary war. 'His .sons, Augustus and

Peter B., became very distinguished men. They were
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both born in Salisbury, and soon after the graduation

of Peter B. at Yale College the brothers botli re-

moved into Western New York as pioneers, and be-

came extensive land-holders. Both represented their

respective districts in the General Assembly of the

State, and Peter B. was twice elected to Congress, in

1809 and 1812. He was also Secretary of War during

a portion of John Q. Adams' administration. Augus-

tus was agent for the Holland Land Company for sev-

eral years, and was also a judge of Common Pleas.

Sally Porter was the youngest daughter in this family,

and was married to John M. HoUey in January,

1800, at Salisbury. She became the mother not only

of the subject of this sketcli, but also of John M.

Holley, who graduated at Yale College in 1822, prac-

ticed law in Western New York, represented his dis-

trict during two terms of the General Assembly, was

elected to Congress in 1847, and died in Florida in

1848, and of George W. Holley, now a resident of

Niagara Falls, who married a daughter of the late

chief justice of our State, Samuel Church. Mr.

George Holley has also represented his district in the

General Assembly, and is the author of works on the

geology of the country iu the vicinity of the Falls.

It was the design of the father of these gentlemen

that the subject of this sketch should also receive a

classical education at Yale, but the plea of ill health,

interposed by himself and his mother, and the desire

of the former to enter upon an active business life,

finally induced the father to excuse him from the

further pursuit of academical studies at the age of

sixteen ; not, however, without the prediction that

the rejection of the jiroflered education would be

deeply regretted in future life,—a prediction that has

since been fully verified. The educational advantages

enjoyed previous to that date were under the tui-

tion of Rev. Orville Demy, of Shefiield, Mass., and of

Rev. Daniel Parker, of Ellsworth, in Sharon, whose

son, Hon. A. J. Parker, was then a school-fellow. In

1820, Mr. Holley entered as clerk in the business

of his father and his pai'tners, who were then among
the most extensive iron-masters in the State. They

were makers of pig iron in Lakeville, at Mount Riga,

Lime Rock, and Falls Village, all in Salisbury, and

at Vandeusenville and Richmond, in Massachusetts.

They were also extensive manufacturers of wrought

iron for the government armories at Springfield and

Harper's Ferry, as well as for private armories, and also

of cotton-screws, anchors, steamboat machinery, etc.

In the business connected with these establishments,

as clerk, agent, and partner, together with the estab-

lishment of cutlery-works at Lakeville on his own
account, he was actively engaged for more than forty

years. The only relaxation of any consequence in-

dulged in in early manhood, except six months spent

in Western New York for the benefit of impaired

health, was in occasional military service. Before

the militia system of Connecticut became demoralized,

when the regiments numbered from seven hundred to

a thousand men at annual muster, he filled the re-

spective offices of adjutant, brigade inspector, and di-

vision inspector, and found an annual tour of a week
with pleasant companions a more agreeable relaxation

from business cares than many subsequent visits to

sea-shore or watering-places.

In October, 1831, Mr. Holley married Jane M. Ly-

man, daughter of Hon. Erastus Lyman, of Goshen,

Conn. She became the mother of Alexander Lyman
Holley, who was born in Salisbury, July 20, 1832,

graduated at Brown University, R. I., in 1854, subse-

quently became a civil engineer, and was also honored

with the title of LL.D., conferred by his Alma Mater.

He introduced into this country the process of man-
ufacturing Bessemer steel, and has also published a

number of scientific works. His mother died in his

infancy. In September, 1835, he married Marcia Cof-

fing, daughter of his father's partner, John C. Coffing,

Esq. With her he lived nearly twenty years. She

became the mother of John Coffing Holley, who grad-

uated at Yale College iu 1859 with an honorable rec-

ord. He was a genial gentleman and cultivated

scholar. He died in San Francisco in 1865. Mrs.

Marcia Holley was also the mother of Mrs. William

B. Rudd, now residing with her husband at Lake-

ville. In November, 1856, he married Sarah Coit

Day, daughter of Thomas Day, of Hartford, who was

for twenty-five years Secretary of State, by annual

election.

In 1854, Mr. Holley was nominated and elected Lieu-

tenant-Governor on the ticket with Hon. Henry Dut-

ton, of New Haven, as Governor. In 1857 he was

elected Governor, Hon. A. A. Burnham, of Windham
County, being elected Lieutenant-Governor on the

same ticket. During his term of office, Mr. Holley made
several official visits into other States, in which he

formed many pleasant associations, which have con-

tinued as among the most agreeable of his life. Not-

able among the visits were one to Bunker Hill, to

participate in the ceremony of unveiling the statue

of Gen. Warren, of Revolutionary memory. Among
the visitors from the Southern States at that time

was James M. Mason, of Virginia, who admonished

the assembled multitudes from the North of their duty

to adhere to the union of the States, a union which, in

less than three years thereafter, he attempted, with his

associates, to overthrow, and who, with his associate

Slidell, were suhsequently captured on board of a

British vessel on their way to Europe in behalf of

the cause of the Confederacy.

Another was to Richmond, Va., to witness the same

ceremony of unveiling Crawford's statue of Washing-

ton. Other chief magistrates were present on the oc-

casion, and all were cordially received and hospitably

entertained ; nevertheless there were then slight

breathings of discontent, which finally culminated

in the great Rebellion.

Mr. Holley was not an exclusive devotee to his own

private business, but was an earnest promoter of pub-
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lie improvements, taking a lively interest in the con-

struction of the Housatonic, Harlem, Dutchess and

Columbia, and Rhinebeck and Connecticut Railroads,

notably in the Harlem and the Connecticut Western.

He spent many months in 1851-52 and 1853 in aiding

and urging forward the extension of the Harlem road,

and was efficient in aiding to organize the Connecti-

cut Western, of which he has been a director from

the commencement. He was also one of the origin-

ators of the Iron Bank at Falls Village, Conn. ; was for

twelve years a director, and for two years president of

the same. He was also warmly engaged, with officers

of other New England banks, in the establishment of

the Bank of Mutual Redemption, in the city of Bos-

ton, and was for several years one of a committee to

make semi-annual examinations of its condition.

Having withdrawn somewhat from the active busi- '

ness of life, Mr. HoUey indulged himself in visiting

various parts of his own country, and made three

voyages to Europe, the first in 1862, with his son, the

engineer, who has recently crossed the ocean for the

twenty-sixth time, the second with his family, for a

year, and the third, with his valued and esteemed

friend, H. M. Knight, M.D., who was the founder of

the " Connecticut School for Imbeciles." His im-

paired health rendered a voyage necessary, and on

Mr. Holley's part it was undertaken for the doctor's

sole benefit. All of them were enjoyed, and were no

doubt promotive of his own health, as he is now liv-

ing, at the age of seventy-seven years, in vigorous

health, at his pleasant home at Lakeville, on the

banks of one of the most beautiful lakes in the State,

evidently enjoying the respect of his fellow-citizens,

having made his native village his home for his en-

tire life.

MOORE FAMILY OF SALISBURY.

Thomas Moore during the sixteenth century came
from Wales to Southold, Suffolk Co., Long Island,

then the province of New York, and settled there.

Two or three generations of Moores have existed

there, dispersed, and died ; as many as four Thomas
Moores have lived tliore.

The records of Southold as early as 1698 show that

the families of Moores wore numerous.

Samuel Moore, son of Thomas, was born at South-

old in 1715. Leaving there in early life, as tradition

says, for a locality where firewood could more easily

be obtained, he located in Litchfield, Conn., wiierc lie

purchased land, as appears by deeds, in 1735, 1736, and

1737, and was nuirried Oct. il, 1735, at Litchfield, to

Rachel Landon, by Rev. Nathaniel Marther; com-
menced housekeeping there, and continued in the

capacity of a farmer from 1735 to 1743. Two of their

sons, Samuel (2d) and John, were born here. During
the year 1743 Samuel Moore disposed of his real

estate at Litclificld and removed to Salisbury, where
he purchiised the property of Aaron Austin, where

Silas B. Moore resides.

Samuel Moore was made a resident and an inhab-

itant of Salisbury, by taking the oath of allegiance,

Dec. 24, 1744, in the eighteenth year of the reign

of our sovereign lord, George the Second, of Great

Britain, and was appointed one of the town officers

that year.

Was appointed town treasurer in 1748, and held

the office consecutively until 1776 ; represented the

town in the General Court in both sessions of 1759 and

1765. When Samuel Moore first settled here there

were but nine English families in this section of the

town. Dutch families from the province of'New York
had settled in Weatogue and along the Housatonic

River; the population being sparse, the Indians at

times became warlike and troublesome. Block-houses

were built about the town for protection of the fam-

ilies; one of these block-houses was built southeast of

the centre of the town, on Stiles' grant, so called.

Samuel Moore's wife and children were occasionally

taken there nights for protection.

Samuel Moore in. early life was made a sergeant,

and finally captain, of a military company. Military

supplies were kept at his house during the French

war of 1756-57. The war then existing was a war
between England and France in relation to the Can-

adas.

Capt. Moore was ordered from time to time to im-

press men for soldiers into His Majesty's army, of

which the following is one of said orders :

"Snlielmry, Ang*8, A.D.17'»7. ToEtijah Kussel), Greeting: Ton are here-

by Cuniniauded in liis Majt^stie's imnio Tu ioipress Lttiuan Surdam and
Ruliifr Dntcher. Son of John Dntcher and Cornelius Dntcher, and Kuluff

Dntclior, lid, Torthwilh to procede for the relief of Fort WilUnm Menry,

&c., with nrniB and Hnininnition coniploto, anil provision for tlie march,

to be nnder the conintand of Capt. Jotm Mareh, of Litchfield, who will

join them on the road or at Fort Kdwardit.

" By order of Sami'kl Hoouk, Captain.

The children of Samuel Moore and Rachel Lan-
don, his wife, were born and died iis follows

:

Samuel Moore (2(1) was born in Litchfield, Oct. 27,

1736; was an eminent mathematician of his day.

Judge Church, in his centennial addre-ss, in 1841,

speaks of him as follows :

"In connection with the profowion al gentlemen who have been our

inhabitants I ought not to omit the name of the late Samuel Moore (2d).

He waa the flrst of our inliabitantjt who practiced the science of land

snrToylng. and was the oldciit B«m of the flrst emigrant hero of that

name. Ho was a diittinguished mathematician of his time, and was th«

autlior of a valuable and exteusivcdy circulate*! treatise upon sur^-eylng,

which, 1 believe, was the flrst American worti on that branch of mathe-

matical science. He died in the year 1810, aged seventy-five years."

John Moore was born in Litchfield in 1739, and
died at Salisbury, May 6, 1802, aged sixty-three years,

married Mary Bingham, of Salisbury, March, 1762.

Mary, daughter of Samuel and Rachel, born Jan.

28, 1748, and married Capt. Nathaniel Evarts, Dec.

12, 1770; died March 9, 1841, aged ninety-two years.

Hannah, daughter of Samuel and Rachel, born

Nov. 15, 1751, and married Samuel Lee, Esq., Oct. 12,

1779.

Phebe, daughter of Samuel and Rachel, born Jan.
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17, 1766, and married Hon. Joseph Ketcham, attorney-

at-law, Plattsburgh, N. Y.

David, son of Samuel and Eachel, born Sept. 2,

1758; died at Salisbury, aged twenty-four years.

Single.

Silas Moore, son of Samuel and Eachel, was born

Sept. 9, 1762, and married to Marville Brewster, June

24, 1798, in the brick house built by Governor Chit-

tenden, on the Brewster farm, so called now, owned

by Alexander Surdam ; was a farmer by occupation

the principal part of his life, represented the town in

various capacities, was a member of the General As-

sembly for both sessions of 1810, lived and died in

the same house in which he was born, Jan. 21, 1830,

aged sixty-seven years. Marville Brewster, his wife,

was born at Preston, New London Co., Conn., Jan.

31, 1771. The late Joseph Brewster, of New Haven,

says that she was of the fifth generation in a direct

ancestorial line of Elder Brewster, of the Pilgrims,

and died at Salisbury, Aug. 28, 1855, aged eighty-four

years.

Albert Moore, son of Silas and Marville, was born

at Salisbury, May 12, 1799; followed agricultural pur-

suits principally, was treasurer of the town from 1833

to 1847, represented the town in the General Assem-

bly at its session, May, 1846, and succeeded the late

Hon. Robert N. Fuller, in 1861, as probate judge for

the district of Salisbury, which office he occupied

until relieved by the limitation of statute, having

arrived to the age of seventy years, and died at his

residence after a .short illness, Feb. 3, 1877, aged

seventy-eight years.

Albert Moore married for bis first wife Jane W.,

daughter of the late Dr. Bradford Hubbard, of New
Haven, June, 1833, and died at Salisbury, March 26,

1866, aged fifty-seven years. No heirs exist from this

marriage.

Albert Moore married for his second wife Mrs.

Cordelia P. Hulbert, of Great Barrington, Mass.,

June 4, 1868, who survives her husband.

Silas Brewster Moore, son of Silas and Marville,

was born at Salisbury, Oct. 21, 1808; commenced the

business of merchandising at Falls Village, May,

1832, with Asa S. Brewster, the surviving partner of

the firm of J. & A. S. Brewster, and continued in that

occupation until 1835, returning to Salisbury that

year in connection with his brother and others en-

gaged in the manufacturing of wrought iron of fine

quality, which was then extensively used by the na-

tional armories for arms and other uses, also in the

manufacturing of pig metal with others at Chapin-

ville ; was made town treasurer from 1849 to 1855,

and town treasurer again in 1863, which office he con-

tinues to hold to the present time (1881) ; represented

the town in the Legislature of 1861, the year of the

Rebellion, witnessed the first soldiers passing through

Connecticut on their way to the seat of war in the

Southern Confederacy, and was returned the next

year to the General Assembly of 1862. Succeeded

his brother in the office of probate judge from 1869

to 1876, and arriving near the age of seventy, law re-

quired him to retire, and Hon. Lorenzo Tupper suc-

ceeded him in said office, which he continues to hold.

Silas B. Moore was married to Cornelia, daughter

of Horace Landon, Esq., and Cornelia, his wife, June

15, 1864, at Chapinville.

Samuel Landon Moore, son of Silas B. and Cornelia,

his wife, was born Sept. 20, 1865, and died Dec. 1,

1865, aged two months and eleven days.

Hattie Landon Moore, daughter of Silas B. and

Cornelia, his wife, was born June 11, 1869.

In the early part of this century the family name
was quite numerous, Samuel Moore (1st), having a

number of grandchildren living in Salisbury and

married,—John, Luther, Calvin, and William, each

of them respectively having families of eight and ten

children. The name has become nearly extinct,

—

cannot recall but one male member bearing the name
in town, and his sands are fast running out, and the

glass is nearly empty.

FREDERICK MILES.

The ancestry of the Miles family is traced in this

country to one Richard Miles, who emigrated from

England, landing at Boston in 1635, subsequently

settling in New Haven.

Hon. Frederick Miles was born in Goshen, Conn, in

1815. He received a common-school and academic

education, and in 1832 entered a dry-goods store in

New Haven as clerk at thirty dollars per year and

board. In the fall of 1833 he returned to Goshen,

and entered his father's store as clerk, in which ca-

pacity he remained until 1838, when he became a

partner in the establishment. He continued in this

business until 1857, when he removed to Twin Lakes,

Salisbury, and engaged in the iron business, which he

has continued with success to the present time.

Mr. Miles is an enterprising and popular citizen.

In November, 1877, he was elected to the State

senate from the Seventeenth Senatorial District, and

in November, 1878, was elected member of Congress,

and in November, 1880, was re-elected, representing

the Fourth Congressional District, composed of Litch-

field and Fairfield Counties.

HENRY M. KNIGHT, M.D.

Henry Martyn, fifth child of Joseph and Reuba

Knight, was born Aug. 11, 1827, at Stafford, Conn.,

where his father was then settled as pastor of a

Congregational Church. Mr. Knight was a divine of

the old school, sound in Calvinistic theology, revered

in later years by younger men in the ministry, who

affectionately termed him " Father Knight." During

his long ministry he suffered from the effects of a

fever sore, which, however, did not prevent his faith-

ful discharge of all pastoral duties, though rendering



ALBERT MOORE.







^=gb==5



/



I



SALISBURY. 555

him almost a cripple. It is said that this faithful

mau of God, when absolutely unable to walk, preached

frequently from a seat in his own house, packed with

his congregation, while his wife in her lap held the

aching limb. This quality of steadfast discharge of

duty at no matter what cost of physical suffering

was fully transmitted to his son. Henry's boyhood

was passed in the pure and healthful atmosphere,

moral and physical, which surrounded the home of

the good old minister at Staftbrd and at Granby, and

Peru, Mass., later on.

As the boy grew up he was subjected to that best of

all disciplines, the practice of a rigid economy. A
country minister with a family of eight children on a

salary of five hundred dollars per annum could barely

afford even the necessaries of life, and luxuries were

unknown at the j)arsonage, the father's mantle doubt-

less descending in a literal way in divers forms upon

Henry and the other boys, and spending money being

unheard of in the youngsters' pockets. So, when
the grand idea of obtaining an education began to

develop itself in the boy's capacious brain, he knew
well that his own energy, his own denials, his own
frugality must win for him the coveted prize. At
the age of sixteen then we find him a student in

Easthampton, at the already celebrated Williston

Seminary, building upon the good foundation laid at

the common schools of Stafford and Granby. His

vacations were occupied in teaching, and this led him
one season to Norfolk, where he became acquainted

with his future wife, Miss Mary Fitch Phelps. His

want of time and means did not permit liim to grad-

uate at Williston, and, having decided upon the study

of medicine, he entered the office of Dr. Smith, at

Monson, Mass., in 1S47, at which place, and also at

the office of Dr. Minor, in South Braintree, afterwards,

he obtained sufficient medical knowledge to qualify

him for a course at the Berkshire Medical College,

from whence he graduated in 1849. He was married

in October, 1850, and began to practice medicine at

Staflbrd Sjirings, Conn., having charge also of the

post-office and a drug-store. In November, 1850, he

removed to Lakoville, entering into partnership with

Dr. Benjamin Welch, then a noted surgeon and gen-

eral practitioner.

In 1855, while a member of the State Legislature, he

was appointed by that body one of a committee to

ascertain how many imbecile children there were in

this State. His previous reading and observation,

and the knowledge acquired while serving on this

commission, inspired him with the idea of founding

thatschool which is his best monument and memorial.

In 185() he presented his [ilaiis to the Legislature and
asked that Connecticut should establish a school for

imbeciles similar to those already conducted by Mas-

sachusetts, Pennsylvania, and other States. The
measure, after passing the House, was defeated in

the Senate by one vote. Defeated but not discour-

aged, the doctor in 1858 retired from general practice

and opened his own house for the reception of feeble-

minded patients.

In due time, with meagre aid from the State, and
more from his friends, he was enabled in 1863 to

erect a more suitable building, which has since been

enlarged, and at the time of his death, 1880, about

eighty of this unfortunate class of all ages were

gathered into an orderly, comfortable, and happy

community. The school from 1861, when Dr. Knight

was appointed superintendent of the " Connecticut

School for Imbeciles," has been nominally a State

institution. The State has never been very liberal

in its support, although from time to time aid has

been given towards construction of buildings and for

indigent pupils. Legislative committees have annu-

ally visited the school from that time, and have uni-

formly recommended its support by the State. Dr.

Knight published annual reports of the condition

of the inmates and the results of education among
them, and lavished upon his school a tenderness and
force of character which, evinced in other direc-

tions, would have assured him of a jirominent place

in political or professional life. Cunningly, tenderly,

in the care of his pupils, the doctor would feel about

all the dull gateways of their minds, until at last, in

every case, some way of approach, however slight,

could bo found, and then, with intelligent individu-

ality, he would enlarge and develoi) it. This was
his life-work, and he brought into its service all the

strength, firmness, decision, benevolence, charity,

and hope of a nature possessed of these qualities in

a much more than ordinary degree.

Dr. Knight was a member of the " Connecticut

Medical Society," " American Medical Association,"

and honorary member of the " New England Psycho-

logical Society," " New York State Medical Society,"

and " California State Medical Society." Endowed
by nature with a splendid physiciue, which is in itself

the promise of great length of days, he also |)ossessed

that nervous, ardent, imi)etuous temperament which

I

lavishes it.self on the moment, and consumes itself be-

;
fore its time. In 1874 he was deeply interested in tem-

perance, and delivered in many places a lecture, illus-

trated with colored plates,showiiigtlieclfectof alcohol

1 on the human stomach, (ireatly exhausted, and suttier-

ing from violent pains in the head, he still insisted

on keeping an engagement at New Britain, though

unable, while he spoke, to see his audience, so se-

vere was his agony. There followed this an attack of

cerebro-spinal meningitis, from whicli he never fully

recovered. Near the 1st of .January, 1880, he (bund

that, while at home, he could not resist the demands
maile upon him, not only by his institution, but by a
multitude of causes in which he was deeply inter-

ested, and, also, that his strength seemed steadily

j

ebbing away, and left home to spend a few months at

Onovo, on the upper St. John's, in Florida. Seized

by a chill between Savannah and Fernandina, his

disease became so aggravated that after four days'
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illness he died at Fernandina, Jan. 22, 1880. He
left two children, Robert P. and George H.

In his chosen field Dr. Knight had a national

reputation, and his help was sought by other States

in forming similar schools to his. In England he

was known even better than in America. His loss is

felt in many places. In the church, where he gave

the service of an earnest Christian, in the community,

among the whole extent of a large circle of tenderly

attached friends, in every enterprise of benevolence,

reform, or spiritual endeavor, there is no one to lift

his mantle or occupy his place. As deacon of the

Congregational Church for a long time, as superin-

tendent of the Sabbath-school for many years, as citi-

zen, physician, and friend, he won the ever-widening

love of all who knew him, and had an influence be-

yond the expression of words. We cannot better

close this sketch than by publishing the following

from the proceedings of the General Assembly of Con-

necticut.

Mr. Colyer, of Darien, introduced the following

resolutions

:

"That in the death of Dr. H. M. EDiglit, late superintendent of the

Connecticut School for Imbeciles, tlie State lias sustained a great loss,

humanity is deprived of one of its noblest benefactors, and science will

miss an earnest disciple.

"Tliat as a mark of respect to his memoi-y a committee, consisting of

one senator and two representatives, be appointed to attend liis funeral,

and that these resolutions be placed upon the journals, and an engrossed

copy, signed by the President of the Senate and Speaker of the House,

be forwarded to the family as an assurance of the deep sympathy of the

State Legislature."

Mr. Colyer, of Darien, said,

—

"These resolutions give but a faint expression to the profound soixow

felt by many hearts within these halls to-day. This State, as well as

humanity at large, has sustained a great loss in the death of Dr. Knight,

of Lakeville. For over twenty years, in his quiet retreat among the

hills at Lakeville, he has labored with a self-denying devotion to which no

words of mine can do justice.

*' Selecting as the objects for his benevolence the poorest, most despised,

and forsaken of liis heavenly Father's cliildreu, the wretched imbeciles,

he lifted them out of their degraded helplessness and made them, in a

large degree, self-sustaining and objects of respect.

" Peace, Mr. Speaker, peace has its triumpiis as well as war, and there

are other fields of human activity worthy of honor besides the field of

battle. To labor unseen by the admiring eye of man, and unceasingly

to ameliorate the condition of the neglected and the outcast of the earth,

is an occupation only undertaken by the noblest natures and the most

unselfish among men. We justly honor tlie soldier who lays down his

life on the battle-field for his country ; to-day let us honor the hero who,

in the quiet, retired halls of the asylum, sacrifices liis life for the eleva-

tion of humanity. Thus died Dr. Knight, following the sublime example

of his Master, the Saviour of mankind. There are many in this hall who

knew him and loved him. The duties of his office called him annually

to the capital, and always on the one errand,—the care of the poor people

whose care he had undertaken ; but in these balls, Mr. Speaker, we shall

see his manly face, note his eager, intelligent look, or hear his pathetic

appeals no more. He always got what he asked for, because he always

asked for that which was reasonable. We know all about bis pleasant,

unpretentious home, a plain, neat wooden building, so charmingly located

by the side of the beautiful Twin Lakes in Nortliwestern Connecticut. We
knew of his economy, and, better, we knew of his splendid success; up-

wards of thirty-five per cent, of his pupils were changed from being a

burden to their friends to a blessing to those around them.

" BIr. Knight was born in Stratfoi-d, the son of a Congregational clergy-

man, and studied for the medical profession. It is over twenty years ago

since he began this benevolent work on which rests a fame which has

reached the farther side of the civilized world. In England, a land

famous for its organized benevolence, he was even better known than in

this country. Minnesota had just invited liim to help her organize an
institution similar to the one at Lakeville, and other fields were opening

to him, when be was suddenly called home. All honor to his memory,
for in honoring him Connecticut but honors herself."

Mr. Hollister, of Litchfield, said in sukstance,

—

"Mr. Speaker, I rise with pleasure to second the passage of the reso-

lutions offered by the gentleman from Darien. I do it, sir, because I

have known Dr. Knight long as a citizen, a friend, and a scholar. He
was a man who devoted his life to the care of those who could not take

care of themselves. In the adoption of these resolutions the Assembly

will give a fitting recognition to the honorable BerriceB of one of its best

citizens."

The resolutions then passed unanimously, and were

immediately transmitted to the senate.

PETER POWERS EVERTS.

Peter Powers Everts was born in Salisbury, Conn.,

July 17, 1811, and has always resided in said town.

He is descended in the seventh generation from John
Everts, the emigrant, who was one of the early settlers

of Massachusetts Bay colony. In 1638 we find him
at Concord, Mass. ; about 10-19 he moved from thence

to Guilford, Conn. July 29, 1651, he purchased the

home-lot on State Street now owned by John Benton.

He is the ancestor of ex-Secretary of State Wm. M. Ev-

arts, and all bearing that name who have come to our

knowledge. One hundred years after his settlement in

Guilford ( 1749), four of his great-grandchildren, broth-

ers andchildren of Nathaniel Everts (1st), came to Salis-

bury. John settled on the place now the residence of

Samuel S. Robbins. He kept a public-house, was one

of the king's magistrates, and the first representative

from this town in the General Assembly, which honor

he received in eleven sessions of that body. He pro-

cured from Gov. Wentworth, of New Hampshire, the

charters for the towns of Middlebury, New Haven, and

Salisbury, in Vermont. The proprietors of Middle-

bury, mostly of this town, held their first meeting at

his hotel, and elected their first selectmen. He died

in 1786, and he and his wife are buried south of the

highway, near their former residence. Silvanus settled

near the southwest corner of the town. He married

the sister of Thomas Chittenden, the Governor of Ver-

mont from 1778 to 1797, and removed to Vermont
before the Revolution.

Nathaniel (2d) settled on the place now the estate

of Esther Everts Bradly, his granddaughter, who
died Jan. 8, 1879. He was a large, powerful man^

^vtighing more than three hundred pounds. He was

an ofiicer in the French and Indian war, and was

under fire at Lewisburg, Cape Breton, where they say

the bullets flew as thick as hailstones. He traded

swords with an English officer, getting two shirt-

cloths in the bargain. The sword is shown by his

great-grandson, Peter P. Everts. On his return he

had sent for his son Nathaniel, then about eight

years old, to meet him on horseback, which he did

at Spencertown, N. Y., after resisting several eflferts

' of returning soldiers to get the horse away from him.
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Capt. Nathaniel Everts (3d) was brought from

Guilford, Conn., on horseback, in his mother's arms.

Mrs. Lemon Bradley, his granddaughter, has a rose-

bush that was brought from Guilford at the same

time, now one hundred and thirty-two years old. He
possessed the homestead and the large landed estate

of his father, nearly all of which is still in the family.

He possessed great physical strength and dexterity.

He was a proprietor in the Old Hill ore-bed and the

forge at Mount Eiga from 1783 to 1816. He was cap-

tain of militia, and served with Gen. Putnam at Horse-

neck. He and his widow were Revolutionary pen-

sioners. He and his father were active supporters of

the Congregational Church. But when the Methodists

came around, his daughter Hannah, his wife, and soon

himself became zealous Methodists, and his house ever

after was the preaching-place and home of the Method-

ist itinerant. His name is on the bell of the Methodist

Episcopal church at Lakeville as one of the build-

ing committee in 1816. His daughter Hannah was

a member of the first class organized in town. His

wife, Molly, as she was called, was the daughter of

Capt. Samuel and Rachel Moore, of this town. She was

noted for her gift and power in prayer. In her family

devotions she always prayed for her children and

her children's children down to the latest generation.

Nine of her ten children became heads of families,

and her descendants are numerous and highly re-

spectable. Bishop C. T>. Foss, of the Methodist

Episcopal Church, married her granddaughter. She

died in 1841, aged ninety-five.

Silas Everts, oldest son of Capt. Nathaniel Everts

(3d), inherited the sterling character of his fathers.

He was a zealous Methodist, active in social meetings,

and very seldom absent from the regular services of

the sanctuary. He was a staunch Democrat. He
was a frugal farmer and husbanded well his inherit-

ance. He was a man whose advice was sought, and

was universally esteemed, and strictly temperate in

his habits. His first wife was the mother of his chil-

dren. His homestead was at the Corner, just west of

his father's. His youngest son, the subject of this

sketch, received a common-scliool education. When a

young man he was noted for his agility. Wliile yet a

boy he drove ox-team, drawing ore from the Old Hill.

When of age he commenced life for himself as an

ore-digger, which business he has followed in some

capacity ever since. For several years life wiw a

struggle almost unaided, but he was successful. He
has owned and worked various mining claims in the

Old Hill bed, and luis boon longer than any other

person connected with the working of this mine. In

1848 he bought one-sixteenth of the proprietors' right

of Thoma.s Chittenden, wliich he still retains. In

1849 he was appointed agent for the proprietors, to

look after their interests at the mine. This position

he retained until 1871, when he was succeeded by his

son Charles. He was active in forming the Brook

Pit Mining Company, and was appointed its first

86

superintendent, also secretary and treasurer. He
owns about one-seventh of the stock, and has been

a director and ofiicer of the company since its incor-

poration in 1864. He married Tryphene Barnett,

daughter of John and Amelia Knapp Barnett. His

mother-in-law celebrated her eighty-ninth birthday

a few days since. A few months after his marriage

he bought (1835) the homestead where he resides,

near the east boundary of the ore grant. He has

added to his estate till he now owns his father's and

much of his grandfather's landed estate. He is sur-

rounded by his children and their children with one ex-

ception. His youngest son, William P. Everts, is in

the office of the Michigamme (iron) Mining Com-
pany, Marquette Co., Mich. He represented his

town in the Legislature in 1856, and has been a

Republican since the organization of the party.

He has held various town offices, and has often been

intrusted with public business, and is known as a

reliable business man. He and his wife are members
of the Methodist Church at Lakeville, of which he

has been an official member some thirty years. He
always contributes liberally to the church, and has an

open hand to encourage every public enterprise in his

native town. His son. Col. Charles Everts, who has

to a certain extent superseded him in the mining

business, was in 1879 appointed aide on Governor

Andrews' stall'.

FAMILY GENEALOGY.

John Evarts, the emigrant, was born about 1620,

and died May 10, 1669. Had children,—Elizabeth,

James, Daniel, John, and .Judah. His son John was

born Feb. 29, 1640, married Mary French, Sept. 14,

1665; also Mary Bow, second wife; died Dec. 28, 1692.

Had ten cliildreii,—Mary, John, Hannah, Sarah, Na-

thaniel, Mehitabel, Ebenezcr, Silence, Elizabeth, and

Patience.

Nathaniel (1st) wius born July 24, 1675, married

Margaret Hastings, May 11, 1707, died June 13, 1739.

Had five ciiildrcn,

—

John, Margaret, Elijah, Na-

thaniel, and Silvanus.

Natlianiel (2d) was born May 9, 1718, married

Esther Jone.s, died June 2, 1792. Had seven chil-

dren,—Nathaniel, l-isther, Eber, Abner, Sybil, Silas,

and Mabel.

Nathaniel Everts (3d), born June 17, 1748, married

Mary Moore, Dec. 12, 1770, died May 17, 1835. Had
ten children,—Mary, Silas, Hannah, Sarah, David,

Nancy, Betsy, Orra, Piiebe, and ICsther.

Sil.T.s, his son, born (Jet. 1, 1773, married Betsy

Warner Underwood; also Betsy Lee, second wife;

died March 10, 1859. Had three children,—Milan,

Electa, and Peter P.

Peter P. Everts, born July 17, 1811, married

Tryphene Barnett, Dec. 28, 1834. Tiiey had seven

children, viz. : George, born March 22, 1886, died

April 2, 1851 ; Joaiincttc, born May 10, 1838, mar-

ried Elias F. Sanford, July 3, 1867 (one child,

Mary Dalzell, born May 6, 1871); Charles (colonel),
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born Dec. 20, 1840, married Mary C. Gibbs, Jan. 22,

1873 (has two children,—Peter P., (2d ), born in 1874
;

Arthur M., born July 29, 1877) ; Frederick B., born

Feb. 28, 1844, married M. Emma Dauchy, April

6, 18G9 (one child, William F., born Dec. 17, 1875)

;

William P., born Jan. 4, 1849, married S. Jennie

Knox, Oct. 23, 1879 (one child, George B., born Nov.

5, 1880) ; Emma Julia, born March 27, 1857.

NEWTON J. REED.

Newton J. Reed, son of .Tosiah M. Reed, was born

in Salisbury, Litchfield Co., Conn., April 13, 1817.

The Reed family is scattered through various parts

of the adjoining towns, and, in fact, throughout the

entire West. We have no date at hand telling us

when or where the first of the name settled in Litch-

field County. Joshua M. Reed, a worthy man of

Salisbury, had a large family of children, all of whom
were among the most highly respected citizens that

ever lived in the county.

Newton J. Reed was a farmer by occupation. He
had also an interest in the " ore-bed" at Ore Hill,

where he always resided. He married Mary, daugh-

ter of Charles McArthur, a son of a Scotchman, Dec.

29, 1838. She was born Oct. 24, 1817, in Hillsdale,

N. Y. Of their three children, one only, Sarah A., is

living. In politics he was a Republican, in religion

a member of the Methodist Episcopal Church. He
died Feb. 3, 1860. Mr. Reed had gathered around

him all the conveniences of life, and w;\s just prepared

to live and enjoy life, when, lo !
" He was not, for God

had taken him." The estimate placed upon him by
the community in which he lived was indicated by
one of the largest funerals witnessed in the place for

many years. His loss will be long and severely felt,

as well by the church and community as by the

family he left.

COL. HARLO P. HARRIS.

Col. Harlo P. Harris is a lineal descendant from

John Harris, who emigrated from Wales, and settled

in Columbia Co., N. Y., at an early day. He was a

farmer, and had a son John, born there, who became
a farmer also, and was in comfortable circumstances.

This John had six children,—John, David, Daniel,

Milo, Luther, and Olive, all born in Alford, Berk-

shire Co., Mass.,—and died at a good old age. Milo,

born in 1797, married Abigail Sugdan, whose ances-

tors came from Holland, and was father of eleven chil-

dren,—Eleanor, Orra, Miles, Martin, Abigail, Milo,

Susan, Calista, Llewellyn, Harlo P., and Hannah D.

They were all born in Salisbury, Conn., but Milo and
Susan, whose birthplace was Canaan. Mr. Harris

was a farmer and charcoal-burner. He held several

town offices, and died in 1875.

Harlo P. had very limited advantages for edu-

cation, never attending school in the summer-time
after he was eight years, and never but one term at

an academy. He began at the early age of eight

years to work in the "coal bush," and continued
burning charcoal (in various States) until he was
thirty-three years old. At that time he bought his

father's farm of one hundred and sixty acres, in Sal-

isbury, east of the Twin Lakes, and owned it until

1867.

In 1865, Mr. Harris became superintendent of the

"Richmond Iron-Works." Holding that position

two years, in 1867 he became book-keeper for the
" Davis Digging Company," and remained there one
year. With other parties, he formed a land company
in the spring of 1868, and purchased twelve thousand
acres of land in Iowa. He passed the winter of

1868-69 in Vermont, and in September, 1869, again

returned thither, in the interests of the "Millerton

Iron Company," and Barnura, Richardson & Co.,

and superintending the opening of coal-kilns until

April, 1871, when he returned to Salisbury. He was
connected with the construction of the Connecticut

Western Railroad as foreman, remaining in this posi-

tion till January, 1872, and during the same time

built seventeen miles of fence under contract. From
1872 until the present (April, 1881), Col. Harris has

been superintendent of the " Chatfield Mining Com-
pany," at Ore Hill. Col. Harris has always been

active in everything in which he became interested.

Business, politics, local improvements, all were

"pushed" by the main strength of an active and
vigorous nature. He was a Democrat in politics

until 1865, when he joined the American or "Know-
Nothing" party. In 1856 he became identified with

the Republican organization, just formed, and voted

for the Fremont electors. He continued to act with

that party until 1872, when he supported Horace

Greeley for President, and has since been a Demo-
crat. He was a candidate for member of Legislature

in 1860 and 1865, and again in 1872, when he was
elected. In 1868 he was commissioned by President

Johnson assistant assessor of the Thirty-second Dis-

trict of the State of New York, and performed the

duties of that office for a short time. Jan. 27, 1877,

he, Guernsey S. Parsons, of Waterbury, and Charles

M. Joslyn, of Hartford, were appointed by Governor

Richard D. Hubbard "aides-de-camp," with rank of

colonel. He is assistant quartermaster on the staff of

Maj.-Gen. F. M. Brown, of the " Putnam Phalanx,"

receiving that appointment in 1878. Col. Harris has

never been a candidate for local office, with the single

exception of member of school board, which position

he has held since 1879.

Col. Harris married, April 2, 1854, Margaretta A.,

daughter of L. B. Sweet, of Copake, N. Y. They have

had two children,—Maggie (born in 1863, and died in

1865) and Harlo, Jr., born Aug. 12, 1866.

Mrs. Harris is a member of the Congregational

Church, and Col. Harris is a supporter of the same.
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DANIEL B. COOK.

Daniel B. Cook, second son of Henry and Hannah
(Bowen) Cook, was born in Harwinton, Conn., Marcli

26, 1808. His fatlier was son of Jonatlia-n Cook, of

Harwinton, wliere Henry also was born, and where

he (Henry) married Hannah, daughter of Bazeliel

Bowen, and where his six children were born. He
moved to Salisbury about 1819, brought all of his

children with him, and settled permanently at Ore

Hill. He was actively engaged as a farmer all his

life, and died at the age of fifty-seven years. His

wife survived him several years, and was at her death

seventy-six years old.

Daniel B. Cook commenced life poor, but by his

industry, economy, and careful management he has

made money. He was brought up a farmer, and a

farmer he has continued to be through life, although

he has dealt more or less in real estate, and been con-

cerned in several mining companies at Ore Hill. In

politics Mr. Cook has, from the organization of the

Republican party, been a supporter of it. He has

been called to the office of selectman by his fellow-

townsmen, and discharged the duties faithfully and

well.

Mr. Cook married Harriet, daughter of Alexander

McAllister, of Northeast, N. Y., on April 11, 1839.

Her grandfather, Archibald McAllister, was an emi-

grant from County Antrim, Ireland, and settled in

Northeast before the American Revolution, and be-

came a farmer. He had several children, one of whom
was the father of Mrs. Cook. He was a farmer and

miller, and was a well-to-do person, and had the

characteristics of the Gaelic nature,—intelligence, in-

dustry, frugality, and honesty,—and the impress of

that nature is stamped on all its descendants.

Mr. and Mrs. Cook are both members of the Meth-

odist Episcopal Church, and both have been liberal

in its suj)port, as well as all good works. Their chil-

dren are Edward D., George, Cassius, and Henry A.,

all married, and settled near their parents.

ROBERT LITTLE.

Robert Little, son of Ralph Little and Maria Fox,

his wife, was born in Sheffield, Mass., Oct. 5, 1822.

His father was a good business man, and combined

the avocations of merchant and farmer. Robert was

early inducted into the i)ractical details of farming,

and his advantages for education were only those

derived from attendance at the district schools of

Sheffield, until ho was fifteen years of age, when he

became a clerk in tlie store of his brotlior, Lucius

Little, where he remaiiu'<l until lie was of age.

In the spring of 1844 he married Cornelia M.,

daughter of Erastus Eidred and Maria (Ball), his

wife. Mrs. Eidred being a widow, Mr. and Mrs.

Little commenced their married life on Mr. Eldred's

former place, in Salisbury, where they have since re-

sided. Mr. Little's farm consists of about four hun-

dred acres of land, beautifully situated in the pleasant

valley of the Housatonic, and the buildings on the

farm are the best to be seen in Salisbury. In politics

Mr. Little is a staunch Republican, and earnest in his

support of the principles of that party. He is a di-

rector of the " National Iron Bank" of Falls Village.

Both Mr. and Mrs. Little are attendants at, and lib-

eral supporters of, the Congregational Church. Mr.

Little is one who stands high in the estimation of all,

and one who is in full accord with all things tending

to improve, advance, or elevate humanity, or develop

the resources of his town.

Erastus Eidred, father of Mrs. Little, was born in

Warren, Conn., and settled in Salisbury when a young

man, became a farmer and merchant, and died Nov.

13, 1830, at the early age of thirty-nine years, leav-

ing two children,—Elizabeth (deceased) and Cornelia

M., now Mrs. Little. Mrs. Eidred survived him

nearly fifty years, dying Jan. 25, 1880.

Minnie, the only child of Mr. and Mrs. Little, was

born Feb. 7, 1857. She married, Oct. 23, 1879, Mr.

E. J. Hornbeck, and after only seven short months

of married life died. May 30, 1880. Although tread-

ing only the flowery paths of life's morning, she had

already made many warm and loving friends by the

many beautiful traits of her lovely character. Her
kind and loving ministrations to the poor and needy,

her tender regard and solicitude for her friends, her

kindly feelings towards all, had won for her that uni-

versal esteem which is enjoyed by comparatively few

of her years. When but nineteen she united with

the Congregational Church of Sali.sbury, and was

devoted to iier church. Sabbath-school, and all re-

ligious things. She seemed set apart a-s one too pure

and delicate for the harsh scenes of life, and so, ere the

way grew rough, and ere the meridian heat of life's

noontide could scorch her fragile form, she wsis called

away, leaving a whole community wrapped in gloom.

In this we cannot enumerate all the influences which

caused her lussociates to feel such regret for the de-

parted, or such a great heart-throb of sympathy for

the bereaved. From an article in the Connecticut

Western A^eirs, shortly at^er her death, we extract the

following: "An only child, reared in luxury, in love,

in indulgence, the idol of her tender parents' hearts,

just beginning life, with everything that Mi.i world

can give to bind her here. . . . Seldom have we seen

80 few dry eyes as in the a-ssemblage which attended

her funeral. Her remains were arrayed in her bridal

robes, unfolded for the first time since her marriage,

placed in an elegant ciisket, surrounded by lovely

flowers, and all that wealth and affection could do.

Prayer wa.s offered at the house of her father, after

which the funeral cortege, consisting of some sixty

carriages, proceeded to the Congregational church.

The services commenced by the singing of the hymn
'Thou art gone to the grave, but we will not ilejjlore

thee.' A|>proJ)riatc selections of Scripture were then
I read by the pastor, Rev. C. L. Kitchel, after which
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was sung that touching piece of music, 'Watching

and Waiting,' a favorite of our departed friend. Then
followed the sermon, by Mr. Kitchel, from the text,

' She is not dead, but sleepeth.' The services closed

by the singing of the hymn, ' My Jesus, as Thou

wilt,' and the long line of weeping friends proceeded

to the cemetery, where all that was mortal of the

loved one was committed to the dust, whence we are

sure she will come in the resurrection morning, far

brighter and more beautiful than ever, to a blissful

immortality."

JAMES M. SELLECK.

James M. Selleck, son of Albert and Celina (Mor-

gan) Selleck, was born in that part of Salisbury

known as Selleck Hill, Nov. 27, 1836. His paternal

ancestor. Bethel Selleck, was a native of Darien, Fair-

field Co., Conn., and settled on Selleck Hill, Salisbury,

Conn. Tradition says the first of the name to settle

here was John Selleck.

Bethel was a farmer ; died in 1818, in the eighty-sixth

year of his age. He had five sons and five daughters.

Samuel Selleck, son of Bethel, was born on Selleck

Hill; was always a farmer, and a member of the Con-

gregational Church. He married Olive Andrews, and

had seven children, viz. : Saraantha, Harmon, Albert,

Harvey, Sarah A., Maryette, and Phebe. Mr. Selleck

died Jan. (5, 1840, aged eighty-one years.

Albert Selleck, son of Samuel and Olive (Andrews)

Selleck, was born on the " old Selleck homestead,"

on Selleck Hill, Conn., June 29, 1802. In his younger

days he was engaged in the manufacture of cloth. At

the age of thirty, in 1832, he turned his attention en-

tirely to farming, which he followed till his death,

Jan. 11, 1868. In politics a Democrat. He was a

member of the State Legislature, besides holding

minor town offices. He married Celina Morgan,

daughter of James Morgan and Sally Booth, of New
Milford, Feb. 7, 1829. Mrs. Selleck was born July

21, 1802. Their children are as follows :

(1) Samuel H., deceased at thirty-three, was a

merchant at Lakeville, Conn.

(2) Laura A., wife of Edmund Conklin (deceased),

of Salisbury.

(3 and 4) James M. & George Booth, twins.

George was a farmer with his brother, James M.

;

died Nov. 19, 1873, leaving a wife and four children.

(5) Maryette (Mrs. George Bower, of Salisbury).

(6) Phebe S. (Mrs. James E. Eggleston, a merchant

miller in Salisbury).

Mrs. Selleck is a member of the Congregational

Church, and Mr. Selleck was an attendant of the

same.

James M. Selleck has always been an enterprising

farmer. He received his education at the district

schools of his native town. He has dealt more or less

extensively in cattle, and stock generally, and has

been successful. In 1874 he entered into partnership

with his brother-in-law, James E. Eggleston, and
purchased the Salisbury Flouring-Mills, the firm being

known as Eggleston & Selleck. He is one of the

largest farmers in Salisbury, and a man who has the

confidence of his fellow-townsmen. In politics a Ee-

publican, and as such has been assessor and select-

man. On the 20th of December, 1866, he married

Mary P., daughter of Charles A. and Maria (Pierce)

HoUister.

ERASTUS D. GOODWIN.

Ozias Goodwin, an Englishman, born in 1596, set-

tled in Hartford in 1636, and died in 1683. He was

a Eevolutionary soldier, and settled in Sharon after

the close of the Eevolution ; became a farmer and

public man, and reared a large family. He was the

first American ancestor of Erastus D. Goodwin.

Hezekiah Goodwin, son of Hezekiah, was born in

Sharon, March 21, 1796, married Harriet Deming

Feb. 13, 1819. He served an apprenticeship to the

combined trades of tanner and currier in his younger

days ; went to Central New York and followed that

business for several years, when he returned to Sha-

ron, and after remaining a short time settled in Salis-

bury, where he was an agriculturist until his death,

Nov. 27, 1848. He was a modest, unassuming man,

never aspiring to political positions; was an active,

enterprising, accommodating business man, and very

successful. He served as soldier in the war of 1812.

His wife died Oct. 11, 1829. Their children were

Laura A., wife of John E. Ensign, of Tennessee;

Charlotte G., wife of Henry Daball, of Onondaga

Co., N. Y. ; Erastus D. ; Julia G., wife of James En-

sign, now residing on the old homestead ; and Har-

riet, who died, aged twenty-three. By a second mar-

riage, to Fanny Lowrey, he had one child, Frances

(deceased), wife of Joseph Hallock, a prominent citi-

zen of Catskill, N. Y. Mrs. Fanny L. Goodwin

survived her husband many years.

Erastus D. Goodwin was born in Sharon, Jan. 7, 1823,

and was conveyed by his parents to Salisbury in April

of the same year ; came up under his father's instruction

on the farm ; was educated at common schools and

academy ; became a farmer, and is truly a representa-

tive of the better class of agriculturists, owning a

farm of several hundred acres. He is a Democrat

in politics, and, elected by that party, represented

Salisbury in the Legislature of 1869. He was select-

man of Salisbury for two years. He married, Nov.

29, 1865, Julia, daughter of Samuel Emmons, of New
Marlboro', Mass. Their children are Julia E., Heze-

kiah, Martha E., and Mary E.

JAMES LANDON.

James Landon, of Salisbury, is a lineal descendant

from one James Landon, who was a native of Wales,

and who emigrated to America and settled in the

vicinity of Boston, Mass. ; married and had a family
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of children, one of whom was named , horn in

Boston in 1685, and removed to Southold, L. I., where

he married Nancy Vaill, and had the following chil-

dren, viz. : Joseph, James, Daniel, David, John, Mary,

Rachel, and Lydia. There is no record of his name

or death.

Daniel Landon, grandson of James Landon, who

came from Wales, was born at Southold, L. I., in 1714

;

married Martha Young, daughter of Rev. John Young,

a Presbyterian minister of Southold, May 22, 1736. He
was the first of the name to settle in Litchfield, Conn.,

and was numbered among her early settlers. He was

very zealous in working for the welfare of St. Michael's

Church, at Litchfield, Conn. From records we quote

the following :
" Capt. Daniel Landon oflBciated as

lay-reader, being always anxious to promote the wel-

fare of the church ; all his family attended with him,

through honor and dishonor, through good report and

evil report." The war coming on, the salary ceased.

Churchmen became unpopular. They were persecuted

throughout the war of the Revolution. The church

of St. Michael, in Litchfield, was a mark for the ma-

liciously disposed, and its windows stood as shattered

monuments of the vengeance of adversaries. When
Gen. Washington passed through Litchfield in the

Revolutionary war, the soldiers, to evince their at-

tachment to him, threw a shower of stones at the

windows; he reproved them, saying, "I am a church-

man, and wish not to see the church dishonored and

desolated in this manner."

Capt. Daniel Landon died suddenly, July 11, 1790,

aged seventy-seven years. The following Is the in-

scription on his monument in the West graveyard at

Litchfield, Conn.

:

" Sacred to the memory of Daniel Landon, of Litchfield, who died

July 11, IT'.lO, aged 77 yearn; who served as clerlt to the Kpiscopal

Church In Litchfield forty years.

'* His God he served with pious zeal,

The sacred dome was his delight;

Far dii^tjint from his holy hill

He took his everlasting tlight.

Lo! here I leave this earthly clay,

And lly beyond the ethereal blue.

Unchained into eternal day,

• To sing the praise of God anew."*

Seth Landon, son of Daniel Landon, was born in

Litchfield, Conn., Dec. 18, 1749; married Anna Beach,

Dec. 26, 1771. Ho was a. gentleman of good mental

powers, ainial)lc in tlie relations of life, of strict hon-

esty, unbending integrity, and exemplary piety. He
died Feb. 4, 1832, leaving children; one, Seth, Jr.,

born April 13, 1777, married Sally Catlin, March 11,

1802, and died Oct. 18, 1843, leaving children ; one,

Huldali Seymour Landon, married Frederick W.
Plumb, of Litchfield.

t

James Landon, an extensive fanner in Salisbury,

is a son of Ashbel Landon, and grandson of James

Landon, the first of this family to settle in Salisbury,

Conn., before the Revolutionary war, on the place

known as " Tory Hill." Said James Landon, Sr.,

was a Tory during the Revolutionary war, and a firm

adherent of the old Episcopal Church, as his ances-

tors had been. He had eleven children, of whom
Ashbel was the tenth, born Aug. 7, 1773, on the farm

now owned by his son James.

James, Sr.'s, conduct during the Revolutionary war

cost him his real estate during his lifetime. He was

a member of the Colonial Legislature in May, 1759,

and took an active part in everything that had for

its object the building up of society. He was a farmer

by occupation, and died at a ripe old age.

Ashbel Landon married Lorain Chapman, April 3,

1783. She was born June 3, 1764. Their children

were Betsey, Letty, Edmund, William, Horace, and

James.

Mr. Landon was a well-to-do farmer, and a man re-

spected by all. He was a warden in the Episcopal

Church, and held various town offices. He died Sept.

11, 1846, and his wife died Oct. 11, 1835.

James Landon, son of Ashbel, was born on the old

Landon homestead, at Tory Hill, Salisbury, Conn.,

Oct. 2, 1804. His advantages for an education were

very limited, yet, by that same indomitable energy

which is a very marked characteristic of his nature,

we find him able to teach school ere he had reached

manhood's years. This he followed several winters;

but as his father desired him to remain at home with

him on the farm, he did so, and upon the death of

his father, in 1846, came in possession of the old home-

stead by paying the other heirs.

To his once small farm he has kept adding little by

little, until now (1881) he and his only son own

some twelve hundred acres of as good land as there

is to be found in old Litchfield County. He has dealt

extensively in stock, and in that way has made money.

In polities a Republican.

In the May se.s.sion of the State Legislature of IS-iO,

just one hundred years after his honored grandfather,

James Lan<lon, had occupied a place in the iialls of

legislation, we find him there, serving as a member

on the bank committee. He also has filled many

town offices to the general satisfaction of his constitu-

ents.

He ha.s been twice married, first to Jane K. Heath,

daughter of Stephen Heatli, March 6, 1833. Their

children are Jane L., wife of George B. Clark, of

Salisbury ; and James H., a large farmer in Sharon.

.Mrs. Landon died March 24, 1836. Mr. Landon's

second wife wa.s Mary Darrow, whom he married Oct.

10, 1838. She died June 11, 186S.

James H. Landon was born March 14, 1836; married

Mary Barton, daughter of L. Barton, of Salisbury, and

to them have been born three children, viz.: Harriet,

Albert, and Edith.

* Oompowd by himaeir. t 8m hItfoTj of Plumb funlly.
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CHARLES H. BISSELL.

Charles H. Bissell, son of William and Ann Eliza

(Loveland) Bissell, was born on the farm where he

now resides, in Salisbury, Conn., Oct. 24, 1829. His

great-grandfather was Col. George Bissell, who came

probably from Litchfield, and settled on the farm

above mentioned long before the Revolutionary war.

He settled on "Tory Hill," and his property has

always been in possession of the family. He had

brothers and sisters, and married for his first wife a

Gay, for his second, a Hoskens. He at the Revolu-

tion swore allegiance to George III. ; was drafted,

and fled ; was pursued and captured, and was released

by his sons. His children were Joseph, George,

Azubal, Elizabeth, and John. This John was a cap-

tain, married a Kilbourn, of Litchfielil, and died, a

farmer, at an old age. Their children were Charles,

Milo, Monrovia, Benjamin, Charlotte, William, Her-

man, Mary, John, and Lucy. Benjamin enlisted in

the war of 1812, was wounded, and drew a pension

for his services. Lucy married a Meigs, an army

oflBcer. Milo was killed by a horse. Monrovia was

drowned. Herman died in the island of Cuba.*

William Bissell was born March 30, 1794, and died

April 5, 1S(>9. He settled on the homestead, and

married Ann Eliza Loveland, by whom he had

children,—Marion, Mary, Maria, Charles H., Jane,

William, and Ann Eliza. He afterwards married

Roxanna Nobles. Their only child, Frank, died,

aged nine years. All are now (1881) living but Ann
Eliza and Frank.

William Bissell was a farmer, and did well his part

among the people. He was selectman, and held other

town oflices. He was a Democrat in politics.

Charles H. Bissell was reared to a farmer's life, and

entered into his work, and is to-day, with his two

hundred and thirty acres of fertile land, one of Salis-

bury's substantial and representative farmers. He
married, Oct. 27, 1859, Thankful Ann, daughter of

John Cleveland, of Salisbury. Their son Frank

died young.

Mr. Bissell believes in the Democratic principles of

government, and is a supporter of the candidates of

that party. He has been selectman, member of board

of relief, assessor, and represented his town in the

Legislature of 1877. Mr. and Mrs. Bissell are sup-

porters of Christianity, and attendants on its services.

During all his life Mr. Bissell has walked among

the people of Salisbury, and has won many friends.

He is deeply interested in everything tending to ad-

vance the interests of Salisbury, and is respected and

honored by a large circle. He is a true type of the

genial New England farmer, whose local attachment

is strong, and who, with intelligence, industry, and

economy, is making those improvements and advance-

ments which are the wonder of the world.

* Fur furtlier history of Bissell family, see biography of H. B. Bissell,

Litchfield.

JOHN F. CLEAVELAND.

John F. Cleaveland, son of Bradford and Eunice
(Farnum) Cleaveland, was born in Copake, N. Y.,

Feb. 18, 1802. His fiither was a son of P. Cleaveland,

and was born in Canterbury, Conn. ; married Eunice
Farnum, of Salisbury, and settled in Copake, N. Y.,

where six of his seven children were born, viz.

:

Elisha W., Mason, John F., Bezaleel (deceased),

Cyrus, Mary J., and Frederick F. (decea.sed), born in

Salisbury. In 1810, Bradford Cleaveland settled in

Salisbury, Conn., with his family, where he continued

to reside till his death, April 21, 1849. His wife died

the same day, and was buried in the same grave with

her husband. Mr. Cleaveland was a cooper by trade

while a resident of Copake, N. Y., but after his set-

tlement in Salisbury, Conn., he followed the occupa-

tion of a farmer, and in connection owned and ran a

saw-mill.

John F. Cleaveland removed to Salisbury with his

parents when but eight years of age, and with the

exception of three years which he spent in the mer-

cantile business in Livingston Co., N. Y., has resided

in Salisbury. Mr. Cleaveland worked four years by

the month at eleven dollars a month for his wife's

uncle, Thomas N. Smith.

About 1826 or '27, Mr. Cleaveland went to Living-

ston Co., N. Y., where he was engaged in the mercan-

tile business some three years. July 1, 1829, he mar-

ried Mary S., daughter of Thaddeus and Hannah
(Curtis) Smith. Mrs. Cleaveland was born Jan. 27,

1805, sind at five years of age went to live with her

uncle, Thomas N. Smith, and continued with him till

her marriage. In March, 1830, Mr. Cleaveland re-

turned to Salisbury, and took Mr. Thomas N. Smith's

farm on shares, which he continued to work till the

death of Mr. Smith (March 1, 1857), when he pur-

chased the same of the heirs, his wife receiving about

the half interest as a munificent gift from her uncle.

Mr. Cleaveland now owns some five hundred acres of

well-improved land on Town Hill, Salisbury, Conn.

In politics a Republican. He has held various town

oflices. Mr. and Mrs. Cleaveland are regular attend-

ants and supporters of the Congregational Church.

Their children are Thankful A., wife of Charles H.

Bissell, and Smith, who resides at home, unmarried.

THOMAS N. SMITH.

Thomas N. Smith, son of Jared Smith and Dorcas,

daughter of Ebenezer Beecher, was born in Southbury,

Conn., Sept. 10, 1768. He settled in Salisbury, Conn,

(that part known as Town Hill), some time previous

to the year 1800, where he owned some three hundred

acres of good land, and where he followed the occu-

pation of a farmer. He was twice married, first to

Thankful, daughter of Aaron Page. She died in

1837, and he married for his second wife Susan Hin-

man, of Southbury, Conn. She died in 1867. In

politics a Republican, he was a prominent man in
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Salisbury, having been selectman fourteen years, mem-
ber of the State Legislature three terms, besides hold-

ing many other town offices. He was often called

upon to settle estates, which he did with credit to him-

self, and generally to the satisfaction of the parties

interested. He was a member of the Congregational

Church, and a liberal supporter of all religious insti-

tutions. He died March 1, 1857, aged nearly eighty-

nine years. He lived respected and died regretted.

Thaddeus Smith was born in Southbury, Conn.

;

married Hannah Curtis, and had four children, viz.

:

Ira D., Maria, Harriet, and Mary S., wife of John F.

Cleaveland. Mr. Smith settled in Salisbury about

1803, and continued there till he was killed by a horse,

in June, 1805.

CHAPTER LVI.

SHARON.*

' GeogTHphical—Topographical—Conflicting Claims to Territory—Survey

of the Town—Line Between New York and Connecticut Defined

—

Indian History—The First Settlement—Richard Sackett—Sale of the

Town—List uf Original Purchasers—Patent of the Town—The Settle-

ment in Distress—The First Death—The First IJirth—First Marriage

—The Moravians—The Revolutionary War—Shay's Rebellion—List of

Early Settlers.

This town is located in the western part of the

county, and is bounded as follows : on the north by

Salisbury ; on the east by the Housatonic River, which

separates it from Cornwall, on the south by Kent,

and on the west by Dutchess Co., N. Y. The surface

of the town is hilly in the eastern part, while the

western portion forms a part of an extensive valley.

" The northwestern part of Connecticut was sold

and settled at a much later period than any other

portion of the State. As early as the year 1686 nearly

all the lands in the colony had been dis])osed of, ex-

cept those lying north of Waterbury and Woodbury
and west of Simsbury. Under the charter of Charles

II., obtained in 1662, the colony of Connecticut,

though nominally dependent on the crown, enjoyed,

in fact, a strictly republican form of government, the

only service they were required to render to the crown

of England being the one-fifth part of the produce of

such mines of gold and silver as should be discovered.

Charles was succeeded by his brother, James II., a

prince of very arbitrary and vindictive propensities,

and no sooner was he firmly seated on his throne

than he began to manifest his tyrannical disposition

by causing the charters which had been granted by

his predecessors to be vacated, and by assuming to

him.self the right of appointing Governors for the

different colonies. It wivs feared by the people tliat

these royal Governors would seize upon all the public

lands which had not been sold and granted by the

* Gondenwd, by pernilsston, from Hod. Cbarlw F. Sedgwtck*s excelleut

" Hlitory of Sharon."

colony, and measures were taken to prevent such un-

justifiable proceedings. It was believed that if the

public lands were sold, and the title to them guaran-

teed by the Governor and Company of the colony, they

could not be seized for the king, and under this im-

pression the lands within the limits just mentioned

were, on the 26th day of January, 1686, conveyed "to

the towns of Hartford and Windsor. The grant,

however, did not include the lands west of the Ousa-

touic River, the Assembly probably supposing that,

on account of their great distance from the settled

parts of the colony, they were beyond the reach of

the royal Governor's rapacity. In October, after the

grant just mentioned, Sir Edmund Andross came into

the colony, and, by virtue of a commission from King

James, took upon himself the administration of the

government, and continued in it about two years, or

until the deposition of King James, when the people

quietly resumed their ancient form of government

under the charter.

" The lands above mentioned being deemed of little

value, and the more fertile parts of the State being

but thinly populated, it was more than thirty years

before any attempts were made to settle them. About

I

the year 1722 the public attention was turned to the

j

'Western Lands,' as they were called; and as they be-

gan to rise in value the towns of Hartford and Wind-

i
sor laid claim to them, under the ancient grant which

had been made to them under the circumstances which

have been mentioned. This claim created a strong

excitement throughout the colony, and a long and

bitter controversy en.sued, which resulted in a division

of the .lands between the towns and tlie colony, the

towns taking the eastern portion and the colony the

western.

" This contention witli Hartford and Windsor had re-

tarded the sale of the ' Western Lands,' but that diffi-

culty w!is now adjusted, and tlie A.ssembly took meas-

ures, soon after 1730, to effect tliis object; and for this

purpose they wore surveyed, and laid out into town-

ships of suitable dimetisions. At the session in May,

1732, Edmund Lewis, Esq., Capt. Stephen Noble, and

Mr. William Gaylord were appointed a committee to

view the colony lands west of tlie Ousatonic River,

and to lay out a township in tlie northern section of

them. They were nlxn en<lowcd with di.tcretionary

power to lay out a townsliip on the south of the one

just mentioned, if, upon viewing tlic lands, they siiould

be of opinion tliat tliey were of such a quality as to

render them a desirable place for a new settlement.

This committee entered promptly upon their (hilies,

and by their report, dated at New Milford, Oct. 9,

1732, it appears they laiil out both townslii|>9. The

north township, now Salisbury, they denominated

'the township of JI,' and the south township they

called N. S. The remainder of the country lands

west of the Ousatonic River were afterwards annexed

to Kent. The boundaries of the second township are

thus described by the committee:
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" ' Then, having taken a view of the whole tract, we proceeded and laid

out a second township, which begins at the southwest corner of tlie

aforesaid township of M, it being a stake set in the ground, and many

Stones laid to it, standing on the eaat side of a pond, as above set forth

;

and from thence the line rune 12}4 I>. ^V^, with the line of partition be-
;

tween said province of New York and the Colony of Connecticut, nine
j

miles to aheap of stones laid on a rock, in the aforesaid line of partition, i

and is about two miles east from Captain Sackett's dwelling-house, which i

is the southwest corner bounds of said second township,—from thence we '

run tlie south line of said second township E. 9J^ D, south four miles and

a half and 115 rods, to the Ousatonic Kiver, where we marked a white-

oak tree, and laid many stones to it, for the southeast corner bounds of
i

Baid second township, and we have marked many trees and made many

monuments in the said south line. Thus we have surveyed and laid out
j

the township of N. S., and it is bounded north on the township of M.,
,

south on the country lands, west on the aforesaid line of partition between

the province of New York and the Colony of Connecticut, and east on

the Ousatonic River.' The above work was completed October 7, 1732.

"It would seem that the way was now prepared for

the sale and settlement of the township, but the Hart-

ford and Windsor lands, being nearer the settled por-

tions of the colony, probably afibrded a more desirable

field for the enterprise of new settlers, and the colony

lands were neglected. Other circumstances also ex-

isted which produced a serious delay in bringing the

lands in Sharon into market. The line of partition

between the colony of Connecticut and the province

of New York was defined and established in May,

1731. The commissioners to settle the boundaries

between the different jurisdictions on the part of Con-

necticut were Samuel Eells, Roger Wolcott, and Ed-

mund Lewis; on the part of New York, Cadwalader

Colden, Vincent Mathews, and Jacobus Bruyn, Jr.;

and the articles of settlement are dated Dover, May
14, 1731.''

INDIANS IN SHARON.

" There was a somewhat numerous tribe of Indians

in Sharon before its settlement by the white inhabit-

ants. Their principal village was on the eastern

border of Indian pond, in the northwest corner of the

town, where they had considerable clearings. The

Indian name of this pond was Weequagnock. There

were numbers of them, too, on the borders of the

other pond, and in the valley of the Ten-Mile River.

The Indian name of this stream was Webotuck.

They were never sufficiently numerous to prove dan-

gerous to the safety of the settlers, but their dissatis-

faction because of the refusal of the proprietors to

acknowledge their claims to a certain quantity of land

which they insisted was reserved to them in their sale

to Thomas Lamb, and the agitation of that matter for

nearly fifteen years, was a cause of fear and anxiety to

their immediate neighbors during that period. The

matter was brought before the Assembly by a joint

memorial of the proprietors and Indians, presented

in 1742, which will at once give an explanation of

the pending troubles, and which was in the words

following:

"To the Honorable, the General Ast^emlly of the Colony of Connecticut in

General Court axsemhled, at Hartford^ in said Colony^ on the second Thurs-

day in May, A.I). 1742.

"'The memorial of Peter Pratt, Nathaniel Skinner, and Jonathan Ihni-

ham, agents for said town, and Stephen Nequitimangh Nanhoon, and others

of the Indian nations, residing in said Sharon, humbly showeth—

"
' That they, the said Stephen NequUimaiujh Nanhoon, and others of the

Indian natives, residing in Sharon, were the proper owners of the lands

contained in the said township of Sharon and Salisbury, adjoining to

said Sharon, and that a considerable part of said lands was honorably

purchased of said Indians, and paid for by Thomas Lamb of said Salis-

bury, and that he, the said Lamb, in negotiating the said purchases of

said Indians, did take advantage of their ignorance, and as they have

since understood, did obtain a deed or deeds from them or some of them

for more of said land than ever they sold or intended to sell to said

Lamb, and particularly the place at the northwest corner of Saitl Sharon,

where the said Indians live and improve, and always designed to re-

serve to themselves for a settlement, besides several other parcels that

have never been sold to the English ; that the Government's Committee

have obtained the rights purchased by said Lamb of the Indians, and

have sold all the lands in tiie townships of Salisbury and Sharon to the

proprietors of said Towns, who are now improving and are entering on

the said lands still claimed by the said Indians, which has aroused a

great deal of uneasiness among the Indians, they looking upon them-

selves as defrauded of their rights.

"'That many of the Proprittors of Sharon are likewise inclined to

believe that the said Indians, who were the proper owners of said land,

did never, to this day sell to the said Lamb or to this government, all

tlie lands in said Sharon or Salisbury, but that they have still an honest

right to that said tract where the said Indians now live, as also to one

mile in width across tlie south end of said town of Sharon, and that they

are willing the said tract where the Indians now live should be restored

to them and confirmed to the said Indians, though the Proprietors have

purchased the same of the government, Provided they can have it made

good to them by other reasonable satisfaction.

* " Whereupon your Honors' memorialists humbly pray that the Hon-

orable Assembly would take the case into their consideration and would

appoint a Committee to repair to Sharon to hear and examine and to en-

quire into the claims of the said Indians, and purchases that have been

obtained from them either by the said Lamb or others, with power to

agree, settle, and determine all matters of difference and controversy

relating to the premises, and for the quieting the said Proprietors and

the said Indians, or that your Honors would in some other way, as in

your wisdom you shall think fit, find a remedy.

"'Your memorialists further show that their is a very considerable

number of said Indians, living at said northwest corner of said Sharon,

and others not far from them, that are desirous of being instructed in

the Doctrines of the Gospel; to be taught to read the Holy Scriptures,

and be informed of the way of salvation therein revealed
;
and that their

children may be educated according to Christianity ; which your memo-

rialists also recommend to your Honors consideration, hoping that your

Honors will be inclined to do something towards their encouragement;

and your Honors' memorialists as in duty bound shall ever pray. Dated

in Hartford this 13th day of May A.D. 1742.'

" Upon this memorial a committee was appointed,

consisting of the Hon. Thomas Fitch, afterwards

Governor of the colony, Daniel Edwards, Esq., of

Hartford, afterwards a judge of the Superior Court,

and Robert Walker, Esq., of Hartford, who was a

large proprietor of the lands in Salisbury, whose duty

it should be to investigate the subject matter of the

memorial ; and they met the parties in Sharon on the

nth day of October, 1742, and heard t?hem by their

interpreters and witnesses.

" They made a long and elaborate report, in which

they gave a history of Lamb's purchase, and, believing

that the Indians had misunderstood the bargain, rec-

ommended that a certain quantity, not exceeding fifty

acres, should be set off* to them, that some equivalent

should be allowed the proprietors, and that some pro-

vision should be made for the religious teachings of

the Indians.

"The Assembly approved the views of the com-

mittee, and requested Mr. Pratt, the minister of

Sharon, to devote some time to the advancement of
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the spiritual interests of the tribe, but, as they made
no provision to remunerate tlie proprietors, no final

adjustment of the difBculty was effected. The Indian

improvements contained some ninety acres, and, be-

sides this, they demanded a large tract on the adjoin-

ing mountains for firewood. To this the proprietors

would not consent without a compensation from the

government, and the old troubles returned with in-

creased acrimony.
" In 1745 another effort was made to call the atten-

tion of the Assembly to these Indian troubles. The
proprietors of Sharon advised their honors that the

Indians were uneasy and restless, in view of the state

of their affairs, and they added :
' We can't but think

needful for some proper care, in this difficult time, to

be taken.'

" This memorial was continued in the Assembly till

1746, when William Preston, of Woodbury, and Sam-

uel Canfield, of New Milford, were appointed a com-

mittee to lay out the Indian lands by metes and

bounds. This committee, in the prosecution of their

duties, employed the celebrated Roger Sherman, then

a humble shoemaker at New Milford, to lay out the

Indian lands, in his capacity of county surveyor, and

to mark out definitely their boundaries. All this was

accomplished by Mr. Sherman, but nothing was done

to remunerate the proprietors, and both parties were

left to contest their rights as best they could. The

Indians were stimulated in their quarrel by certain

disorderly persons, who made them believe they were

their special friends, whose counsels were prevalent

in shaping their course. Under the guidance of those

persons they were emboldened to resistance, and gave

great uneasiness and trouble to the proprietors. One
Van Arenan, a Dutchman, pretended to make a new
purchase of their lands, and it became necessary to

take strong measures to prevent open and forcible col-

lision. This state of things portended so much danger

that Governor Law found it necessary to i.ssue a for-

mal proclamation to the intruders, warning them that

their Indian titles were worthless, and that the rights

of the proprietors would be protected at all liazards.

"About the year 1750, Thomas Barnes moved into

the town from New Fairfield, in Fairfield County,

and purchased a large tract of land in the neighbor-

hood of the Indian territory. In the course of a year

or two he persuaded the Indians to sell out their lands

to him, and took a formal deed of their possessions

from two of their cliicfa, Ncquitimaugii and Bar-

tholomew. It was contrary to law to take deeds of

the Indian proprietors in that way, but the Legis-

lature, on the petition of Barnes, confirmed his title,

and he took po.ssession of the disputed territory, the

Indian.s having gone to other i)arts. Tliey carried

with tliem, iiowever, a deep sen.se of tlie wrongs they

had sufferd, and some of them were often back among
the inhabitants, complaining that they had been over-

reached, and often giving significant hints of the re-

sentment which was rankling in their bosoms. The

old French war commenced about this time, and the

stories of Indian atrocities which were borne on every

breeze filled the whole country with terror and alarm.

Four persons were murdered about this time between

Stockbridge and Lenox, and this, with other alarming

incidents, produced a very general consternation in

Sharon.
" In 1754 one Thomas Jones had purchased a tract

of land near the Indian pond which had been claimed

by the Indians, and built a log house upon it. His

family were frequently disturbed in the night season

by what they supposed to be the noise of Indians

about the house, and an armed guard was kept there

during nights for several weeks. A memorial was

presented to the Assembly detailing the cause.s of

danger from the Indians, by which the settlers were

alarmed, and the statements of the memorial were

fortified by the depositions of some half-dozen per-

sons who kept the guard, detailing with minuteness

the incidents of one night. The testimony of one

witness was as follows:

"'
Juliii PHliner, of Itiwfiil age, tesUfieth and saitb, that some time ago

I cunio to <l\vetl, ixs II hired man, with the above named Mr. Thomas

Jones, iitid have been ii nienilter of liis ritniily in tlie time of tlio late di8-

tlirbanees, uliicli he has testified about, but have nut seen any Indians but

one night, wlien I was upon the wiiti:li witli seveml otlier men, but have

frequently heard their whoops antl wliiatles near Itis house, whicti noises

of the Indians I am well acquainted with, having been a considerable

time a eaptive among them and released from them last May. The time

when I saw the Indians near Mr. Jones' was the latter part of the Sab-

bath day night before hist. He caino and put his head partly in at the

door-way, against a bhinket that hung before the door. This he did

twice. A niati near mo proposed to shoot, but I prevented him, hoping

for a fairer shut, but be not cttmiiig there again, I went to the side of the

house and looked through a <-rack between the logs of which the house

was made, and saw an Indian but a few ro<lN from the house, it tieing

clear m<Min light. I then put my gun tliruugh the crack huiI shot, but

not having advantage to tjike giHxl sfglit, suppose I did ni»t lilt him. I

then went to a place cut out for n window and saw lilni clearly, and shot

again with a gun that was put into my hanits, and sup|iosed 1 had killed

him, for I tlioiight ho fell down, upon wliicli I took another man's gun

and went out to see what I could discern, but not t^nillng him at the

place, scouted some time for him, at length dlscovoreil him at a small

distance beblnd a tree. 1 endeavored to shout again, but my gnu missed

fire. I called to know if any one of the company was near me when

one mall came to nie. lie went further In search of lilm, anil presently

bud a slirht of him, when the other man presently shot. Afterwards I

sliot at him again, but don't know that we hit lilui, except my second shot.

I supposed him to be much wounded then, for ho walkoil very poorlj,

stooping near the ground, his left band holding up his blanket to Ills right

side and his right arm hanging as if it was broken. Itut the men all

coming out of the house after I hrnl shot the lost time, I run (o the bouse,

fearing lc>st sumo other Indians might get Into the house in our al«elice

and kill the women and children, mi I saw the Indians no more. I saw

no more Indians, but one of the company sahl he saw anollior, whictl

by his account I believe be did. I have since seen no more, but heard

their whoo|« and whistles as aforesaid. Dated October 14, 1764, and

sworn before John Williams, JusUce of the Peace.'

"Such is a specimen of the exciting ineidentn of

the early years of tlie liistory of tlie town. The peace

between Knghind and France in 17i)l put an end to

nil Indian claims.

" There is no tradition or record hearing upon the

history of the town which has any reference to the old

French war other than these Indian alarms, except

tlie simple fact that Col. Elmore, of the war of the
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Eevolution, was a lieutenant in the service of the pre-

vious war."

THE FIRST SETTLEMENT.

"Several years before the settlement of the bound-

aries one Richard Sackett had located himself at

the place now called the Steel-Works, in the beautiful

valley of the Ten-Mile River, about seven miles south

of the now village of Sharon. The whole region was

a wilderness, and, it being in the time of Queen Anne's

war, he was exposed to imminent peril from hostile

savages. He acquired large possessions of land, and

his settlement is spoken of in contemporary docu-

ments and records as Sackett's Farm. He had been

a sea-captain in early life, and, in connection with

wealthy individuals in the city of New York, he com-

menced at ail early day to purchase the Indian title

to the lands near him. The colony line not having

been established, he probably availed himself of his

knowledge of astronomy, acquired in the study of

navigation, and made experiments and observations,

based upon a treaty of partition made in 1683, but

which had never been carried out by actual survey,

and persuaded himself that the boundary line, when
surveyed, would run within about two miles of the

Ousatonic River. In this belief he purchased of Me-
toxon, the great chief of all the Indian tribes in that

region, whose residence was probably at Copake Flats,

N. Y., about twenty-two thousand acres of land, more
than seven thousand acres of which the survey of the

boundary line showed to be in Connecticut. The
boundaries were definitely traced in the treaty of pur-

chase, but in general terms they were as follows

:

" The east line commenced at a place which the In-

dians called Wimpeting, at the western base of a range

of mountains, about seven miles south of Sharon vil-

lage, and from that point it tbllowed the western base

of the mountain-range northerly to a point in Salis-

bury a little east of Town Hill, so called. From that

point the line ran northwesterly to the base of the

mountain north of the Ore Hill, which in the Indian

deed is called Ponsumpsie, thence southwesterly to

the foot of the mountain west of Spencer's Corner,

then, following that range, southerly through the Was-

saic valley to Sackett's other possessions. Looking

at this territory, in all its characteristics and resources,

we can hardly conceive of any other which exceeds

it in rural beauty or sources of wealth.

"He, believing that the whole tract was within the

territory of New York, obtained a confirmation of his

title from the provincial government, and from Queen

Anne's Most Excellent Majesty. He exercised acts of

ownership in different parts of the territory. He
built a dwelling-house in what is now called Sharon

Valley, which stood west of the Ten-Mile River,

a little west of the malleable-iron works, and just

within the territory of Connecticut. There he settled

a tenant by the name of Baltus Lott, a Dutchman.

There can be no doubt that the house occupied by

this individual was the first house built by a white

man in Sharon, and that he was the first white in-

habitant of the town. Sackett also made other im-

provements in various portions of the lands claimed

by him ; but the running of the boundary line in

1731 showed him that a large and valuable portion of

them were within the jurisdiction of Connecticut, and

that so much of them would be lost to him unless he

could obtain a confirmation of his title from that

colony.

" He immediately commenced petitioning the Gen-
eral Court of Connecticut for the recognition of his

title, and prosecuted his suit for nearly seven years.

He urged, from time to time, his claims to the land for

the reasons that he had expended large sums of money
in the purchase of it, in the full belief that it was in

New York ; that he had braved many dangers during

a long residence in the wilderness, encountered perils

and privations of various kinds, had built a grist-

mill for the benefit of the neighboring inhabitants,

and in various other ways urged a confirmation of his

title. His petitions were uniformly rejected by the

Legislature, and he, after several years of effort, satis-

fied that a further prosecution would be useless, aban-

doned it forever ; but his tenant, Baltus Lott, held

on to his possession for several years after the town

was settled, despite the many efforts of the proprietors

to dislodge him, and finally compelled them to pay

him a liberal price for his improvements.

"The colony of Connecticut ever made it a prac-

tice to deal justly by the Indian claimants before

they attempted to dispose of its land by settlements.

Treating Sackett's purchase as a nullity, the Governor

and Company employed Thomas Lamb, who lived at

Lime Rock, in Salisbury, to buy up the Indian title

to the lands in Sharon, and in October, 1738, he

effected a purchase from the tribe claiming title to

them for about four hundred and fifty dollars. The
indefiniteness and uncertainty of this contract with

Lamb as to how much, if any, land was reserved to

the Indians afterwards, as will be seen, caused no

little trouble to the settlers.

" It will be observed that the committee who laid

out the township mention in their report to the Leg-

islature that there had been laid out in country grants

about four hundred acres of land. This was the des-

ignation given to lands patented by the colony to

individual purchasers. The land thus described was

near Hitchcock's Corner. It was laid out in two par-

cels,—one, of three hundred acres, to Samuel Orvis, of

Farmington, and another, of about dne hundred acres,

to Jonathan Bird, of the same town. Both pieces

were surveyed by Mr. Lewis about the time of the

original survey of the town. This grant included

lands of the very first quality, and extended as far

north as to include the farm of the late Southard

Hitchcock, Esq. Orvis and Bird never occupied

their lands, but before 1734 sold them to one Daniel
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Jackson, and the patent was taken out in Jackson's

name, and the land for many years was called Jack-

son's patent. Daniel Jackson was the first New Eng-

land man who lived in Sharon. His house stood

where the house lately owned by the Sharon Manu-
facturing Company stands. He was originally from

Newtown, in Fairfield County, but at the time of his

purchase he resided in Dover, N. Y. His son, Jehiel

Jackson, who once lived where George Maxam now
lives, in the Great Hollow, was the first white child

born in Sharon. Mr. Jackson lived but a few years

in town. In February, 1739, he sold his patent to

Garret Winegar, and removed to Great Barrington,

Mass."

THE SALE OF THE TOWN.

"The town was divided into fifty-three rights, and

sold at public auction at New Haven, in October,

1738. The following is a list of the original pur-

chasers: Nathaniel Skinner, Thomas Skinner, Na-

thaniel Skinner, Jr., Samuel Calkin (two rights),

Sanjuel Gillet, Joshua Lyon, Joseph Skinner, Icha-

bod Foot, Stephen Calkin, Samuel Hutchinson, Tim-

othy Pierce (tliree rights), James Smith, Ebenezer

Mudge, John Sprague, John Pardee, Niles Coleman,

Matthew Judd, Jabez Crippen, William Goodrich

(two rights), Jonathan Petit, Zephaniah Swift, Joseph

Parke, Joseph Holley, Caleb Chappel, Josiah Gillet,

Jr., Samuel Beach, Joseph Monroe, Eben Case, Sam-
uel Butler (three rights), Benjamin Johns, James

Talmadge, Daniel Hunt, Thomas Spafford, John
Goold, Benjamin Owen, Ebenezer Norton (three

rights), Samuel Comstock, Jonathan Peck, Jonathan

Case, Moses Case, John Woodin.
" These purchasers formed a legal corporation,

whose designation was and is 'The Proprietors of

the Common and Undivided Land in the Township

of Sharon.' The clerks of the cor|ioration have been

Nathaniel Skinner, John Williams, Daniel Griswold,

Samuel Canfield, Samuel E. Evcritt, and Eben W.
Chatlee. The corporation had power to set out to

each proprietor in severalty his share of the lands,

and at different times they have been thus deeded,

and each right has furnished to its owner nearly

seven hundred acres of land. Tlie average price of

eacli riglit was about one thousand dollars, and each

deed to the purchaser contained the following condi-

tion, which would insure the speedy occui>ancy of

the lands

:

*"AlwuyH pi-ovi[]cil, uiid tlietfu preHenta aro upon this condition, that

if tlie said , hIhiI] liy hiumtflf or liiti agent, within tlio space of two
full yoai-H next after tlio dale tiereuf, enter npon tlio said grauteil prem-

ises, Iniild and niiisli itii lionttc tliereon not letut Itiun ei^liteon feet square

and seven feet stud, suliliie, clear, and fence six acres of saiil land, and
cotitinne thereon for tliu wpafe tif tliree succoiwivo years, couinionclng

after tile two years iiforesiiid < unless prevented by death or iiievilahle

Providences), and do perform all duties aii<i ordei's, pay ait taxes tluit

Bliall tie granted, then the aforesaid deed sintll ronniin in full force and
virtue.'

"The records do not show how much, if any, of

the purchase-money was paid on the sale, or that any

other security than the personal bond of the purchaser

were required before giving the deeds.

"Of the original proprietors the following became

inhabitants of the town : Nathaniel Skinner, Nathan-

iel Skinner, Jr., Joseph Skinner, Stephen Calkin,

Samuel Hutchinson, James Smith, Ebenezer Mudge,

Joseph Holley, John Sprague, John Pardee, Jabez

Crippen, William Goodrich, Jonathan Petit, Joseph

Parke, James Talmadge, and Daniel Hunt.
" Many of the original purchasers sold their rights

to those who were also among the first settlers of the

town. Some of them were as follows : John Williams,

Ebenezer Jackson, Jonathan Dunham, Caleb Jewett,

Obadiah Chapman, Caleb Strong, John Corbet, Caleb

Curtice, Ebenezer Frisbie, Benjamin Fuller, John
Gay, David Hamilton, Thomas Hamlin, Bartholomew

Heath, Samuel Hurlburt, Jonathan Lord, John Mar-

vin, Jonathan Rowley, Matthew St. John, John Tick-

ner, Bezaleel Tyler, George Way.
" Immediately after the sale of the township a

number of the purchasers came on for the purpose of

exploring, and to determine in what part of the town

the settlement should be made. After exploring the

lands and viewing their situation, it was found that

the centre of the township was very unfavorably situ-

ated for the town-plot. It was on a high ridge of land,

where the face of the country was forbidding and un-

comfortable. After mature deliberation it was deter-

mined to fix the settlement on a street, laid out from

Jackson's patent to Salisbury line, and the place de-

signed for the centre, or site of tlie public buildings,

was laid out in squares of a half-mile each.

" All the individuals who came on to explore in the

fall of 173S returned to their families, except one,

who was William Goodrich. He brought his family

with him and spent the winter, which w;is a very

severe one, with no other neighbors than the Indians

nearer than the Dutch settlements in the oblong.

The next spring, however, brought a large accession

to the number of inhabitants, and from that period

the settlement of the town may be said to have com-

menced.

"The first division was into lots of about eighty

acres each, which was to furnish the home-lot, or resi-

dence, of the jiroprietor. A committee wa-s appointed

to hiy out a lot of eighty acres, which was called the

standard lot, and all the other lots were made to con-

form to this in value, the quantity to be more or less

according to the (piality. Some of the home-lots

were laid out wholly on one side of the street, and

some on both sides, according to the situation of the

land. The standard lot wa-s the one adjoining Jack-

son's patent, owned by the late Charles T. Lovell.

The settlers principally located on the main street lead-

ing from Jackson's patent, now Hitchcock's Corner,

to Salisbury. Some, however, settled on the moun-
tain and stime in the valley, and in the course of a

year or two nearly the whole territory of the first

society was occupied. A large proportion of the first
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inhabitants of Sharon were from Lebanon and Col-

chester, in the county of Windham ;
some few were

from Norwalk and Stamfor<l, in Fairfiekl County, and

several families were from the old Plymouth colony.

As they removed into the town they located them-

selves upon the several home-lots which they had

taken up, and by the next fall were all comfortably

provided with homes and other necessaries."

PATENT OF THE TOWN OF SHARON,
" The GovEnNODB and Company of the English Colony of Connecticut, in

New Englayid, in America : Tu till to whom these presentjf ahull come.

"Greeting: Whereas, The said Governour and Company in General

court assembled, at Hartford, on the 11th day of May, a.d. 1732, did

order that a township sliould be laid out in the Southwest parts of the

country lands, on the west side of the Ousatonic River, ami appointed

Messrs. Edmond Lewid, Steplien Noble, and William Gaylord a commit-

tee to lay out the same.

"And, Whercan, In pursuance of said order, the said committee laid

out the same, anil bounded it as follows, viz. : Beginning at the South-

west corner of the townsliip of M, it being a stake set in the ground and

many stouea laid to it, standing on the east aide of a poud ; from thence

the line runs south 12 degrees :iO minutes west, with the line of partition

between tlie rmviuce of Now York and the Colony <>f Connecticut, nine

miles to a heap of stones laid on a ruck, being in the aforesaid line of

partition between the Province of New York and the Colony of Connec-

ticut, and is about two miles east of Captain Sackett's dwelling-house,

which is the southwest corner bound of said township; and from thence

the south line runs E. 1U°30 S. four miles and one-half and oue hundred

and fifteen rods, to the Ousatonic River, where they marked a white-ash

tree and laid many stones to it, for the southeast corner bounds of said

township, and marked many trees and made many monuments in the

said south line, which township in their survey is called the township

of N. S., and is bounded uortli on the township of M., suutli on country

lands, west on the aforesaid lino of partition between the Province of

New York and Colony of Connecticut, and east on the Ousatonic River,

as by the return of said committee bearing date October 7th, a.d. 1732,

entered on the records uf said colony Liber. 4th for patents. Deeds and

survey of land, folio 472-3, in the Secretary's office, reference thereto

being had more fully and at large may appear.

"And, ]\'herem. The said Governour and Company in General Court

aseembled, at Hartford, on tlie 10th day of May, a.d. 1733, did enact that

said townsliip, among the townships then lately laid out, should be dis-

posed of and settled according to such time and regulations as the said

assembly should order. And, Where is. The said Governour and C-ompaoy

in General Court assembled, at New Haven, a.d. 17:17, by their act did

order that township should be divided into fifty-three rights, of which

fifty-three riglits one should be for the use of the ministry that should

be settled in said town, according to the regulation in said act provided,

one for tlie first gospel minister settled as aforesaid, and one other right

for the support of the school in said town, and ordered that fifty of said

rights should be sold, and that the other three riglits should be for the

uses aforesaid ; and that the committee by said act appointed should sell,

and, in the name of the Governor and Company aforesaid, execute deeds

of conveyance of the said several rights to the purchasers thereof re-

spectively, with conditions to such deed annexed according to the direc-

tions in the said act contained. And, Wherens, The said committee, in

pursuance of and according to said act, have sold, and by their several

deeds under their hands and seals, have granted unto Samuel Hutchin-

son, Nathaniel Skinner, John Sprague, John Pardee, and to the rest of

the original purchasers of rights in said township, fifty rights or fifty-

third parts of said township, upon condition as aforesaid, which town-

ship is now called and known by the name of Sharon. And, Whereas,

Mr. Peter Pratt is settled in the ministry in said town, according to the

directions aforesaid, their heirs or assigns having performed the condi-

tions in the said deed expressed, and new moving for a more full confir-

mation of the said lands sold and granted them as afoiesaid.

"Now know ye, that the said Governour and Company, by virtue of

the powers granted and derived to them by His late majesty. King

Charles the Second, of blessed memory, in and by his Letters Patent,

under the great seal of England, bearing date the three and twentieth

day of April, in the fourteenth year of his reign, and in presence of the

several acts and orders of assembly before in these acta referred to, have

therefore given, granted and confirmed, and by these presents do fully,

freely, and absolutely give, grant, ratify, and confirm for themselves and

their successors unto, to the saM Samuel Hutchinson, Nathaniel Skinner,

John Sprague, John Pardee, and to the rest of the original purchasers

aforesaid, and to their heirs and assigns and such as legally represent or

hold under them, in proportion to their respective purchases, and in

such proportion as their assignees and legal representatives do hold un-

der them as aforesaid, the said fifty rights or fifty-third parts, and to the

said Peter Pratt, the said settled minister, the said one right or fifty-third

part of all the lands in the township of Sharon aforesaid, and the said

two rights ordered for the use of the ministry and school in said town,

which two rights are hereby granted and confirmed unto the said pur-

chasers and the said Peter Pratt, their heirs and assigns to and for the

use aforesaid, and all and singular the lands, trees, woo<ls, underwoods,

ponds, rivers, fishings, fowlings, huntings, mines, minerals, and precious

stimes within the said township, and all the rights, royalties, powers,

privileges, profits, and services to the premises belonging. To have and

to hold the said granted, or hereby intended to be granted, premises, to-

gether with the privileges and appurtenances thereof, unto the said

Samuel Hutchinson, Nathaniel Skinner, John Sprague, John Pardee,

and Peter Pratt, and to the rest of the said purchasers, and to their heirs

and assigns and such as legally represent and hold under them in man-

ner as aforesaid, and to their only use, benefit, and behoof as aforesaid

forever, as a good, sure, and indefeasible estate in fee simple to be holden

of our Sovereign Lord the King, his heirs and successors as of his ma-

jesty's manor of East Greenwich, in the County of Kent and Kingdom

of England, in fee and common socage, and not in cupile nor by Knights

Service, yielding and paying therefor to his nuijesty King George the

Second, his heirs and successoi-s only the fifth part of all the ore of gold

and silver that shall be there gotten or obtained, in lieu of all other ser-

vices, duties, and demands.

"In witness whereof the said Governour and Company have caused

these presents to be signed by the Governour and Secretary, and the

public seal of the said Colony to be afBxed. Dated in Hartford, the 26t.h

day of May, Anno Domini, 1747.

"J. Law, Governor.

" By order of the Governour and Company of the Colony of Connec-

ticut in General Court assembled. May, Anno Domni, 1747.

" George Wyllys, Secretary.

" Received May 30tli, 1747, and here recorded.

" Test, George Wyllys, Secretary. ""^

THE SETTLEMENT IN DISTRESS.

"The first year (1739) was one of great promise

and prosperity. The popuLation rapidly increased

and the productions of the soil richly rewarded the

toil of its cultivators, but the month of May, 1742,

was marked by the commencement of a wasting sick-

ness which overwhelmed the settlers with distress and

threatened the entire breaking up of the enterprise.

This calamity put it out of their power to comply

with the condition of their bonds, and in their ex-

tremity they made application to the Assembly for

relief. The following is a copy of their memorial,

drawn up by the Rev. Mr. Pratt, which is a remark-

able specimen of suppliant eloquence. It was ad-

dressed to the Assembly in the usual way, and pro-

ceeded to say,

—

"'That notwithstanding the smiles of Divine Providence upon us at

our first settling in tliis place, io which we thankfully encouraged our-

selves, yet so numerous have been the frowns, and so heavy the strokes

of the Almighty in the year past, and so dark is the countenance of our

present state, that we have not only been brought to uncommon con-

tinued distress, but even to despair of future prosperity unless relieved

by your Honors' favor. In May hxst it pleased the Almighty to send a

nervous fever among us, which continued eleven months, in which time

more than one hundred and twenty persons were long confined with it;

some have lain more than one hundred days, some eighty, many sixty,

and few have been capable of business in forty days after they were seized

with the distemper, by reason of which many were unable to plow for

wheat in the year past, many who had jilowed wero unable to sow, and

some who had sowed unable to secure it by fence, and much wheat that
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was ripe rotted on tlie ground. By reason of the sickness of the people,

which was not only exceeding expensive to the persons and families sick,

but also to those who were in health, their time being taken up in tend-

ing those that were sick, many of whom were obliged to suffer for want

of help. Twenty are dead, many widows and fatherless children are left

among us, not a man but that has sustained loss; many who were more

than level with the world are impoverished. The distress of the winter

has been exceeding great and impoverishing. Our cattle are so destroyed

that there is not a cow left to half the families in the town, and now many

men are obliged to leave their business at home and go twenty miles to

labor for bread and corn, and so must continue to do until harvest; so

that we are not now able to take up our bonds without being wrecked

in our estates, some torn, others quite broke, so that not above three-

quarters of us can save our home-lots and pay our purchase. Neither

can we maintain our minister or build our meeting-house, but must quit

the place or become tenants, we and our children, to neighboring rich

merchants who are seeking our lands, but at their own price.

"'Therefore we, a withering branch of this commonwealth, and the

poor of this colony, would now humbly pra.v for your Honors' assistance

and gracious notice. And as our industrious improvements have been

the admiration of all who have beheld our settlement, and far exceeding

any other instance of late plantation, we trust we may not, after three

years' toil, sickness, and want, be turned off from our lands, become ten-

ants, or seek another settlement under worse circumstances than when

we settled in this place, which, that your Honors would take into your

wise consideration, and upon it gruciuusly act towards us, is the earnest

and necessary prayer of your Honors' dutiful and humble memorial-

ists.'

" The second application was successful to this ex-

tent, that the time for the payment of the bonds was

extended some two or three years, and thus the set-

tlers were able to meet their payments without ftirther

embarrassments.
" These memorials explain how Philip Livingston

and Martin Hoffman became large owners of real es-

tate in Sharon at an early day, a fact which before

was obscure. They were, undoubtedly the rich neigh-

horing merchants referred to in the memorial. The

representatives of Philip Livingston are still proprie-

tors of the common land in Sharon.

"The first death recorded of those residing in Sha-

ron is that of Miriam, the wife of William Goodrich,

Jr., which occurred on the 22d of April, 1740. The
following persons also, as appears of record, departed

this life during the same season, viz. : Asa Rood, Da-

vid Skinner, M.aTy, wife of Nathaniel Skinner, Esq.,

Deacon Hezekiah King, Benjamin Fuller, .Jonathan

Dunham, Jr., Daniel Bouton, Daniel Bouton, Jr.,—in

all, nine persons.

" The first person born in the town after Jchiel .lack-

son, before mentioned, was Sarah Bates, daughter of

John and Anna Bates. She was afterwards the wife

of John Randall, and lived to a very advanced age.

The first marriage in the town was that of Elnathan

Goodrich to Elizabeth Showers. It was celebrated

on New-Year's Day, Jan. 1, 1740."

THE MORAVIAN MISSIONS.

"The diligent and successful labors of the Mora-

vians for the conversion to Christianity of the Indians

in Sharon is an item in the history of the town well

worthy of record. This body of Christians established

a mission among the Indians in this region as early as

1740. Their special fields of labor were at Shekomeko
(Pine Plains), in New York, and at W'equagnock

(Sharon) and Schaghticoke (Kent), in Connecticut.

The first minister who labored here and established

the mission was the Rev. Christian Henry Rauch.

He was succeeded in 1742 by the Rev. Gotlieb Buet-

ner, who labored in the mission until his death, in

1745, at the age of twenty-eight years. He was buried

in the field of his labors, and his memory is well pre-

served by an enduring monument and an appropriate

epitaph. If the fact were not well authenticated as a

matter of history, it would scarcely be credited now

that the mission was broken up in 1745 by the gov-

ernment of New York from the belief that the mis-

sionaries were Jesuits and Papists, and emissaries of

the Pope and the French king. On the occurrence

of this event many of the Chri-stian Indians of Sheko-

meko joined the tribes of Sharon. Several clergymen

labored here at stated periods up to 1749. In that

year David Bruce, then the missionary here, died, and

was buried iu the beautiful field of his labor, on the

eastern shore of the Indian pond. He was a Scotch-

man from Edinburgh. He was not a clergyman in

the Moravian sense, but an assistant. He acted rather

as a teacher or catechist. He labored in the mission

at Sharon but a few months. As everything relating

to his history is interesting, a more extended notice of

him is copied from Loskiel's ' History of Moravian

Missioners
:'

" • Brother David Bruce was now api>ointod to the care of theChriHtiau

Indians at Schaticook and Woquagnock, who since the forementioned

visit of the bishop had formed a regular settlement. He resided chiefly

in a bouse at Wequagnock, belonging to the brethren called Gnadunsoe

(Lake of Grace), but sometimes resided at Schaticook, whence he paid

visits to Westeulunik, by invitation of the head chief of the Mohtkan

nation, so^^ing the wwU of the gospel wherever he came; but aa lie waa

not ordained, Bliilnip Camerliofl' with Brother Boyold, went again to Wo-

quagnock to strengthen the brethren and to administer the Bacnuuenta

there. Twenty Indians were added to the church by baptism. Brother

Bruce remained in this station till his happy departure out of time,

which, to the groat grief of the Indian congregation, took place this

year, lie was remarkably cheerful during lila illnces, and his converaa.

tluu edified all who saw him. Perceiving that his end approached, he

called the Indian brethren preaent to bis bodaldo, and, proOBing their

hands to his breast, K-aought them fervontlj to'remoin foiUiful unto the

end, and immediately fell asleep in the Lord. His femoral waa com-

mitted to one of the tutaistjinta, who delivered a powerful discourao upon

the solemn iKcasion to the comjian.v present, among whom were many
white people, who hail often heard our late brother's teatlmony of the

trutli Willi blessing.'

"So reads the book, and so died the missionary.

The exact date of his death was July 9, 1749. The
missionary at Schaghticook in 1752 wrote as follows:

"'They have permitted me to put a stone ou Drotlier DaTld'i gruTe,

and then incloeo It with a fence.'

"The stone was in good preservation in 1825, bat

has since been broken into many fragments. What
remains of it is in the poasession of the Moravian His-

torical Society of Nazareth, Penn. It contained the

following epitaph :

*" David Bat'cit,

From Eilliihurgh In Scotland.

MIniater of

The Brethreu's Church,

Among the Indtaua.

Deported 1741).'
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" The Indians of Sharon having sold their lands in

1755, and dispersed to different parts of the country,

the mission was then abandoned by the brethren ; but

a congregation of white peojde built a meeting-house

on the western border of the Indian pond, on land

now owned by Col. Hiram Clark, and retained the

services of one of the missionaries, the Rev. Joseph

Powell, until his death in 1774.

" It will lie observed that all the missionaries who
labored here were under the direction of the Moravian

authorities at Bethany, Pa., from whom they received

their appointments. After the breaking up of the

mission here, and the death or removal of the mis-

sionaries, missionary stations were established in j^arts

of the country west of Bethany, and for nearly a cen-

tury the scene of the labors and jilaco of the graves

of the faithful and devoted missionaries in this region

had passed from the knowledge of the Moravians at

Bethany ; and it was owing to investigations made by

the Rev. William J. McCord and the Rev. Sheldon

Davis, of Dutchess County, that this field of mission-

ary labor, so interesting in Moravian history, was

brought to their knowledge. The Moravian Histori-

cal Society, at Nazareth, Pa., on the 11th day of July,

1859, determined to mark the resting-places of the

missionaries by the erection of suitable monuments,

and thus to revive and jierpetuate their memories, so

long neglected and forgotten. These monuments

were set up under the direction of the Rev. Mr.

Davis, and of Benson J. Lossing, Esq., and a single

monument over the remains of David Bruce is for a

memorial of him and of the Rev. Joseph Powel. The

inscriiitions on that monument were as follows

:

" On the north side:

"
' Joseph Powel,

A Minister of tlie Gospel,

iu the

Cliurch of the United Brethren.

Born in I71II,

Near White Cliurch, Shropshire, England.

Died Sept. 23, 1774,

At Sicheni in the Oblong,

Dutchess Co., N. Y.'

" On the south side

:

"'David Bruce,

A Minister of the Gospel,

in the

Church of the United Brethren,

from

Edinburgh, iu Scotland.

Died July 9. 1749,

At the Wechquadnock Mission,

Dutchess Co., N. Y.'

" On the east side

:

" ' How beautiful upon the mountains

Are the feet of him that bringeth

good tidings, that publisheth peace.

That bringeth good tidings of good,

That publisheth salvation.

Isaiah IU. 7.^

" On the west side

:

"
' Erected by the

Moravian Historical Society,

October 6, 1859.'

" Solemn and impressive, as well as instructive, ser-

vices, performed by the Moravians from Bethany,

were rendered at the dedication of that monument,
on the 6th day of October, 1859. As the remains of

the missionaries had been committed to the grave

without the performance of the cherished rites of that

body of Christians, it was deemed appropriate that

those portions of the Moravian ritual which relate to

death and the resurrection should be emjiloyed in the

ceremonies. For the same reason, the Easter Morning
Litany, which is prayed annually on Moravian bury-

ing-grounds, and th^ choral music of trombonists, a

characteristic element of Moravian obsequies, were

added to the programme of religious exercises. The
services were held iu the open field in which the

monument stands, and were performed by the bishop

and several Moravian clergymen, with a select Ijand

of trombonists and choir of singers, in the presence

of some seventeen hundred people. The venerable

Bishop Wolle had the principal charge, and his white

locks, his clerical costume, and his solemn and delib-

erate utterances, with a slight German accent, of the

various portions of the Moravian funeral ritual, with

the earnest and solemn responses from the people, and

from the trombonists, gave an indescribable interest to

the ceremonies. After a historical discourse by the

Rev. Mr. De Schweinitz, in which a minute history of

the mission and missionaries was given, the following

stanzas from the Moravian Hymnal were sung by the

congregation

:

"
' How sweetly these our brethren sleep.

Enjoying endless peace

!

The grave in which their Saviour lay

Is now their resting-place.

" * Naught can disturb these heirs of life,

—

All earthly cares are fled,

—

To be with Christ was their desire.

And now they're perfected.

"
' To Father, Son, and Holy Gboat,

One God, whom we adore,

Be glory as it was, is now,

And shall be evermore.'

" And thus ended the solemn burial services."

THE REVOLUTIONARY WAR.*

" We have now arrived at the period of the com-

mencement of the Revolutionary war. The citizens

of Sharon, almost without exception, partook largely

of the feeling which pervaded the whole country at

the commencement of the struggle. Parson Smith,

like the other clergymen of the day, was a most

ardent and decided Whig; and his personal in-

fluence contributed not a little to lead the public

mind in the right channel. In his public minis-

trations, too, there was mingled much of the stirring

patriotism of the times. In the prayers which were

ofiered, and in the praises which were sung, there

were interspersed many allusions to the tyrannical

edicts of the British king, and to the degraded

* From Sedgwick's " History of Sharon,"
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and suffering condition of the colonies. Hymns
were written, and music was composed, which were

used for public worship on the Sabbath, the effect of

which would seem to be to stir up martial rather than

devotional feelings, and to excite in the worshipers

the deepest hatred of their oppressors. The following

stanza was the commencement of one of the hymns
which was frequently sung for Sabbath worship :

*'
' Let tyrants shake their iron rod,

And slavery clank their galling chains,

We fear them not, we trust in God,

—

New England's God forever reigns.'

" The intelligence of the battle of Lexington was

brought to Sharon on the Sabbath, and Mr. Smith, at

the close of the morning exercises, announced it from

the pulpit, and made some remarks tending to arouse

the spirit of the congregation to firmness and to re-

sistance. Immediately after the congregation was

dismissed, the militia and volunteers to the number

of one hundred men paraded on the west side of the

street, south of the meeting-house, and prepared to

march immediately to the scene of action. David

Downs, Esq., was captain, James Brewster lieutenant,

and David Gould ensign. After further deliberation,

however, it was determined to send Lieut. Brewster

to Litchfield, to inquire more fully into the accuracy

of the intelligence, and whether the service of the

militia would be required immediately. Lieut. Brew-

ster* performed this mission, and learning that the

British had returned to Boston, and that no pressing

necessity existed for further military aid, it was deter-

mined not to march until further hostile movements

on the part of the enemy should render it necessary.

" The General Assembly was forthwith convened,

and a large military force raised. One company was

raised in Sharon and its vicinity. Samuel Elmore

received a ma-jor's commission, and also had the com-

mand of this company. Amos Chappell was the lieu-

tenant.

" The last survivors of this company were Thomas
Heath and Adonijah Maxam. Deacon Isaac Cham-
berlain, Capt. Sylvanus Gibbs, and Mr. Ebe Evcritt,

lately deceased, were also members of this company,

as were William Gray, Samuel Lewis, Jr., and David

Goti'. This company was attached to a regiment

which marched to the Northward in 1775 for the con-

quest of Canada, under (ion. Montgomery.

"Before St. John's was taken it was determined by

Cols. Allen and Brown to make an attempt upon the

city of Montreal with a few volunteers, if tliey could

be obtained. The troops were paraded, and Allen

marched in front of the Connecticut Line, and invited

voluntecr.s to join him. ( )f the soldiers who belonged

to Sharon, Adonijah Maxam, David Golf, William

Gray, and Samuel Lewis stepped forward and ofTered

* " Thli yuunK gentleman wiut at tlilH time a clerk In Col. Gay's i«toro.

lie was orJKinally froii] Wltiilhain, and canio to Sharon In A.n. 1770, wUli

his niotiivr, who wiw the second wife of Capt. Caleb Jewitt. Ho died,

much lamented, of a cuuauniption, ou the 22d dajr of February, 1777."

to share in the perils of the expedition. It was ar-

ranged between Allen and Brown that the latter

should land on the island, below the city, while Allen,

with about eighty men, should land above the city,

and there wait until they should hear the firing from

Brown's party, when they were to rush on to the at-

tack. Allen crossed the river St. Lawrence with his

detachment on the evening of the 24th of September,

on a raft, and waited in the expectation of hearing

the firing from Brown's party through the whole

night, but he waited in vain. For some reason the

expedition on Brown's part had failed, and the morn-

ing light found Allen altogether in the power of the

enemy. This ra.sh adventurer, however, determined

to defend himself to the last extremity against the

seven or eight hundred men that were brought

him, and he fought until twenty-five of his men were

killed and seven wounded, when he and his brave as-

sociates, including Maxam, Goff, Gray, and Lewis,

from Sharon, and one Roger Moore, of Salisbury, were

compelled to surrender. They were loaded with

irons and sent to England, for the avowed object of

receiving the sentence and puni.shment of traitors.

The threat of retaliatorj' measures, however, on the

part of the Americans, i)revented such summary pro-

ceedings against them, and after being kept in close

confinement in England and Ireland during the

winter, the prisoners just named were brought back

to New York in the spring of 1776. They were con-

fined in an old church, with a large number of others

who had been taken during the campaign at Fort

Washington and other places. From this place the

persons above named contrived to make their escape

within a few days after they wore put into confine-

ment. The old churcli in which they were confined

was surrounded by a high fence, and thus a little

daily out-door exercise was allowed the prisoners.

While enjoying this liberty, William Gray managed
to loosen one of the long planks of whicli the fence

was made, but did not remove it, and the ap|)earance

of things were so little disturbed by the act of Gray

that it escaped tlie observation of the officers in charge

of the prisoners. Through the opening in the fence,

thus made practicable, the five soldiers above named
matlc their e»ca|)e as soon as it was sufficiently dark

to conceal their oi)erations. Tiiey had been habited

in sailors' ciotiies during their captivity, and on this

account they were less liable to be detected. They
divided into two parties, Maxam and Moore forming

!
the one, and Gray, Goff, and Lewis the other. The
tiiroe latter very soon found means to land on Long
Island, and from thence pa.ssed over the Sound to the

continent, and returned to their friends in Sharon.

Maxam and Moore had more difficulty. They were

two or three days in tiie city before they found it pos-

sible to leave it, and after landing on Long Island

they suffered much from hunger. After traveling

several days they found means to embark in a boat

' ou the Sound, and to reach Saybrook. Their return
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to Sharon astonished their friends, who, having

learned from Gray and his comrades the circumstance

of tlieir escape from confinement, and having heard

nothing further from them, had concluded that they

had been retalcen by the British. The last survivor

of this band of sufferers was Mr. Adonijali Maxam,
who died at the age of ninety-seven years.

" In the campaign of 1775, Parson Smith went with

the army to the Northward as chaplain to Col. Hin-
man's regiment, and spent several months in the

service.

" There was one soldier from Sharon who joined

the expedition led by Gen. Arnold through the wil-

derness of Kennebeck to Canada, whose name was
Alexander Spencer. He died, however, on the march,

from sickness.

"The exigencies of the times calling for a large

army at the commencement of 1776, a large number
of men, more than one hundred, enlisted from the

town of Sharon. One company marched for Canada.

It was commanded by Capt. David Downs, already

mentioned. The first lieutenant was Adonijah Gris-

wold, and the second lieutenant was David Doty.

The last survivors of this company, which was a large

one, were Joel Chaffee and Adonijah Pangman, of

Cornwall. Charles Gillet, another member of the

company, was killed near the ' Cedars,' so called, by a

party of Indians in ambush, as he was riding along

the road, having gone on some business connected

witli his duty as commissary. The other soldiers

raised in Sharon for the campaign of 1776 were dis-

tributed among three other companies, and all

marched for New York, against which an attack by
the British was now api:)rehended. Of one company
Dr. Simeon Smith was captain, of another Elijah

Foster was captain, and of the third, Nathaniel Ham-
lin was lieutenant. These companies were in the

campaign of 1776, under Gen. Washington, on Long
Island, and in the vicinity of New York, and shared

in the fatigues and perils of that disastrous period.

David Wood, Nathaniel Buel, Josiah Coleman, Jabez

Jennings, Asahel Somers, John Randall, Jr., and
Thomas Ackley were taken prisoners at Fort Wash-
ington, of whom Wood and Ackley died during their

captivity, and Buel and Coleman on their return.

The British having obtained possession of New York,

Gen. Washington determined to make an effort to

dislodge them during the winter which followed the

unfortunate campaign of 1776. For this purpose a

large military force was raised in the fall of that year

for two months' service, and one company was enlis-

ted in Sharon. William Boland was captain, Heze-

kiah Frisbie lieutenant, and Azariah Griswold en-

sign. As the period of enlistment was so short, there

was no diflBculty in filling the company. The survi-

vors of this company were Messrs. Adonijah Maxam
and Thomas Heath. New York was not attacked,

and the company was discharged at Kingsbridge at

the expiration of their term of service.

"The forces that had hitherto been called into the

service were raised on the authority of the State. To
provide for the campaign of 1777, Congress undertook

to raise an army, which was called the Continental

army ; and of this army, two regiments. Swift's and
Bradley's, were raised in the western part of Connec-

ticut. Of one company David Strong was appointed

lieutenant, and he enlisted a number of recruits, one
of whom, David Goodrich, was killed at the battle of

Brandywine, in the suljsequent campaign. Of another

company Reuben Calkin was lieutenant, and a number
of men enlisted under him.

" A large depot of provisions and military stores

had been established at Danbury, and in the month
of April an expedition was sent out from New York
to destroy tliem. It was commanded by Maj.-Gen.

Tryon, of the British army, and consisted of two
thousand men. They landed at a jilace called Compo,
in the southwest part of the town of Fairfield, and,

proceeding through the towns ofWeston and Redding,

reached Danbury, and effected their object, which was
the destruction of the stores. The most active meas-

ures were taken to spread the alarm through the ad-

jacent country, and to collect the militia to repel the

invaders. On the evening of the 26th of April a

messenger arrived in this town bringing the intelli-

gence, and requiring the immediate marching of such

forces as could be collected to meet the enemy. The
bell commenced tolling, and it was kept tolling through

the night, and it was a night of great terror and so-

lemnity. Col. Ebenezer Gay, who then commanded
the militia in this vicinity, gathered together as many
troops as could be collected on so short notice, and
marched for the scene of action ; and on the morning of

the 28th reached Danbury, and, finding that the British

had retreated, pursued them. The route which the

British had taken on their retreat brought them on the

westside oftheSaugatuck River, which empties into the

Sound a mile or two west of Compo, wliere their fleet

lay. They were intercepted in their attempt to reach

the bridge over this stream by Gen. Arnold, who was

then in command of a few regular troops, and were

guided by some Tories to a regular fording-place a

little higher up, and it was while they were marching

up on the west side Of the stream to reach this fording-

place that they were first observed by the troops from

Sharon, who were endeavoring to reach the bridge,

and to join the corps under Arnold. As the British

marched by them on the low grounds which bordered

on the river, Adonijah Maxam, who had not forgotten

the injuries which were heaped ujion him while a

prisoner in England, begged permission of the com-

manding ofiicer to steal down the hill from the left

flank and shoot a few of them. He was strictly for-

bidden, however, to execute this perilous undertaking.

The British marched by unmolested, and our troops

took undisputed passession of the bridge. The enemy

came down on the east side of the river, and, having

taken ground a little to the east of the bridge, fired
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upon our men who were stationed there. Arnold,

perceiving the danger to which his men were exposed,

brought his artillery to bear upon the new position

of the enemy, and firing upon them over the heads

of such of his men as were upon the bridge, soon

drove them beyond the reach of his cannon. They

took new ground a little to the southeast of their

first position, and it was determined to attack them

there with small-arms. A few regular troops, under

Arnold, commenced the action with great bravery,

and our men at the bridge were ordered to join them.

They marched up the hill with a good degree of reso-

lution to sustain the regular troops. As they came

within the reach of the enemy's musketry, however,

some one, and it was never known who, cried out ' Re-

treat /'. As this word was uttered, Lieut. Samuel Elmer,

Jr.,* perceiving the effect it was producing, and the

trepidation which was taking hold of his comrades,

stepped up on a stone wall, and cried out, ' For Ood's

sake, men, don't retreat, don't run, march up the hill

and drive them off/' He had barely uttered these

words when he was shot through the body. The
only words he spoke afterwards were addressed to liis

uncle, Mr. George Pardee, who was near him :
' Uncle

George,' said he, ' I am a dead man.' A general re-

treatof our men then followed, and the British, being

left unmolested, marched to their shipping, and sailed

for New York.
" A large dejjot of provisions had been established

in this town early in the war. The store-house stood

a little west of the Messrs. Goodwin's, on the old road

that formerly ran through their land, before the present

turnpike-road was established, and a guard was con-

stantly kept at the depot during the war. The fate

of the stores at Danbury caused much apprehension

for the safety of those here. There were frequent

alarms, and the citizens frequently collected in arms

to defend the public property at the store-house. On
one Sabbath day, during the sermon, Jonathan Gillett,

who lived directly opposite the meeting-house, came
out of his house during the public service, and pro-

claimed with a loud voice that the British were coming.

A dense smoke was seen rising beyond Tower Hill, a

mountain in the State of New York, a few miles

*" This bravo young officor was a son of Col.SamQel Elmer, and a Ilea-

tenant in t)iu New York Line of tlie Continental army. Uo had returned

home on a aijort furiongti tlio very <iuy tlie intelligence of the Invasion

of Daubnry was received in Sharon, and was one of the first to volun-

teer to drive utf the enemy. He was burled on the spot where ho was

killed by two of his comrades soon after the battle. His body was after-

wards removed to the burying-yard ut Green's Farms, where it reposes to

this day.

EPITAPH.
'* * Lieut. Samuel Elmer, eon to Col. Samuel Elmer of Sharon, was killed

at Fairfield, fighting for the liberties of his country, April 28th, 1777, in

the 26tb year of his ago.

*"Our youthful hero, bold in arms,

His country's caUhto his bosom warms;

To save tier rights fond to engage.

And guard her frvni a tyrant's rage,

Flies to ye field of blood and death,

Aod gloriously reelgna bJ« breath.'
'*
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southwest of Sharon, and the belief was general that

the enemy was at hand. Parson Smith was foremost

in exhorting the people to firmness and resistance,

and he entreated them to stand firm, not only as sol-

diers of the cross, but as soldiers of their country and

of liberty. The alarm, however, proved groundless,

" The approach of a large British army from Can-

ada, under Gen. Burgoyne, and the expedition up the

North River, under Gen. Vaughan, filled the whole

country with terror and despondency, and frequent

alarms were spread, requiring the constant and active

duty of the militia. The Tories, too, in Dutchess Co.,

N. Y., where they were numerous, took courage from

the prospect of success which the progress of the

British arms aflbrded, and embodied themselves into

a formidable force. Information was brought to this

town during the summer that four hundred of them

had assembled at Carpenter's, as it was then called,

now Washington Hollow, and that they were threat-

ening destruction to all the Whigs in the neighbor-

hood. An expedition was immediately set on foot to

break up the gang. Volunteers to the number of

fifty or sixty immediately assembled. They marched

immediately for the Hollow, and were joined by others

in their progress, so that when they arrived at Bloom's

Mills, which is about four miles north of the Hollow,

their numbers amounted to two hundred men. There

they encamped for the night, and marched tlie next

morning to attack the Tories. They found them

paraded in the meadow just north of the public-house,

and, marching up with spirit, fired upon them. The
Tories fled immediately, and as many as could made
their escape. About thirty or forty of them, how-

ever, were made prisoners and brought to this town,

and locked up in the old church at the hcail of the

.street. They were taken to Exeter, in New Hamp-
shire, where they were kept in close confinement for

two years. This proceeding broke up the gang, and

no further trouble was had from this class of persons

during the war.

"A company of light-horse, which belonged to

Sharon and its vicinity, were kept on duty during the

whole summer of 1777, on the North Kiver, watching

the motions of the enemy in that quarter. It was

commanded by Capt. Dutcher, of Salisbury, and

David Boland, of Sharon, was the cornet of the com-

pany. The smoke of burning Kingston was distinctly

seen from our mountain wiien it was destroyed by the

Hessian troops. Adonijah Maxam belonged to this

company.
" A large number of men marched from this town,

under the command of Col. Gay, to the Northward to

oppose the progress of Hurgoyne's army, and shared

in all the conflicts which |)receded its surreuder.f

f" The following Is the record of an B4JourDod charch.meetlng, holden

on the 2:M of Si-ptemlior, 1777: 'Mot acconling to a^Joummont, but by

reason of a great number being called ufT into ye service of their country,

and but a few members met, a4JourDed to tlie 4th Tueeday of NoTombw
next ensuing.'"
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John Hollister, one of the soldiers from this town,

was killed at the battle of Stillwater, on the 7th of

October.

"The intelligence of the surrender of Burgoyne's

army was received here under circumstances which

produced a deep impression. Nothing had been heard

respecting the state of affairs at Saratoga, excepting

that two severe battles had been fought without any

very decisive result. This state of uncertainty pro-

duced extreme anxiety regarding the issue of the

campaign, and many trembled at the prospect of

defeat and disgrace to the American arms. The
firmness and confidence of Parson Smith, however,

never forsook him, and he did everything in his

power to rouse the drooping spirits of his people.

On Sabbath, the day of October, he preached a

sermon from Isaiah xxi. 11 :
' Watchman, what of

the night? the watchman saith the morning cometh.'

The discourse was entirely adapted to the condition

of public affairs. He dwelt much ujwn the indica-

tions which the dealings of Providence afforded, that

a bright and glorious morning was about to dawn
upon a long night of defeat and disaster. He told

the congregation that he believed they would soon

hear of a signal victory crowning the arms of America,

and exhorted them to trust with an unshaken and

fearless confidence in that God who, he doubted not,

would soon appear for the deliverance of his people,

and crown with success the efforts of the friends of

liberty in this country. Before the congregation was

dismissed a messenger arrived bringing the intelli-

gence of the surrender of Burgoyne's army. Parson

Smith read the letter from the pulpit, and a flood of

joy burst upon the assembly.

" During the next year a large part of Burgoyne's

army was marched through this town on their way to

the South. They were met here by a regiment of Con-

tinental troops, under the command of Lieut.-Col.

Jameson, who was afterwards somewhat conspicuous

in the affairs connected with the capture of Major

Andre, and who here took charge of the prisoners.*

One of Burgoyne's soldiers, by the name of Robert

Gibbs, a Scotchman from Dundee, who was wounded

and taken in the battle immediately preceding Bur-

goyne's surrender, was here left by his comrades. He
died at the age of ninety-four.

" After the campaign of 1777, the seat of the war was

removed to so great a distance that no further call was

made for the militia of the town, except for the pur-

pose of keeping guard on the sea-coast. The burdens

and privations of a pecuniary kind, however, which

are incident to a state of war, were borne by the peo-

ple of this town without a murmur, and the almost

* "A large proportion of the prisoners of this detachment were Hessians.

They were subjected to the most severe discipline, and were entirely

offensive. Each regiment was furnished with a chaplain, and divine ser-

vice was frequently performed. They encamped here over-night, and

when they started in the morning, the whole body sang devotional music

on the march. Governor Smith informed the author that he, then a lad,

followed them some miles to bear their singing."

unanimous feeling in favor of the cause which marked
the commencement of the war continued with un-

abated ardor to the close of it.

" The records of the County Court show that several

of the citizens of Sharon were delinquent in respond-

ing to the calls for temporary service in the army, but

it does not appear that their neglect was owing to any

want of fidelity to the cause of the country ; but it

was probably for some reasons which were deemed
satisfactory to themselves, but which were not deemed
sufficient by the court. Abner Curtice, David Hol-

lister, Elijah Pardee, and Apollos Smith were each

fined ten pounds and costs of prosecution ' for refusing

to muster and march to the assistance of the Continen-

tal army,' about the time of the apprehended inva-

sion of this part of the country by Burgoyne's army.

"Stephen Sears was fined ten pounds for not march-

ing to the relief of Peekskill. Theodore Elmer,

Thomas Hamlin, Jr., Joseph Barrows, Jesse Good-

rich, Amasa Hamlin, Robert Whitcomb, David Hol-

lister, James Henry, and Nathaniel Curtis were prose-

cuted for the same oft'enses, but were able to show good

reasons why they had not reported for muster, and

were discharged."

The following list of names of soldiers of the

Revolution belonging to Sharon, who served in 1775,

were taken from the controller's books, in Hartford

:

Reuben Cartwright, David Manning, Keuben Calkin, sergeant, Jehiel

Jackson, Jude Bill, Zenas Goodrich, John Hollister, Isaac Chamber-

lain, Solomon Goodrich, Southard Swetland, Aaron Swetland, Syl-

vanus Gibbs, William Goodrich, corporal, EbeEveritt, John Tickner,

Jesse Calkin, Asa Rogers, David Ackley, Elisba Calkin, Thomas

Heath.

SHAY'S REBELLION.

In the spring of 1787, during the existence of the

insurrection under Shay, in Massachusetts, Dr. John

Hurlbert, who resided in the town of Alford, Berk-

shire Co., Mass., and who was an active partisan of

Shay's, came to Sharon for the purpose of awakening

a similar spirit in this vicinity, and of producing an

efficient co-operation. Having received his medical

education here, and possessing qualities calculated to

give effect to his representations, Hurlbert soon suc-

ceeded in organizing a considerable number of men,

under the guidance of one William Mitchell, who was

constituted their captain, and who, in as private a

manner as possible, and chiefly in the night season,

trained and drilled them for service. Hurlbert,

Mitchell, and two others were arrested, and taken to

Litchfield for examination. Hurlbert was prosecuted

under the act against "vagrants, vagabonds, and

common beggars," but on his solemn promise to leave

the State forthwith he was suffered to depart. The

others, being charged with treasonable practices, were

bound over to the next term of the Superior Court.

The following account of these proceedings is copied

from a Litchfield paper of May 21, 1788

:

" Last Thursday evening arrived in this town from Hartford Col. Sam-

uel Canfield and Uriah Tracy, Esq., with orders from the General Assem-

bly to repair to the town of Sharon and put a stop to the insurrection
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that appeared to be raising in that town. The same evening they set off,

accompanied by the sheriff and one of liis deputies, and arrived at Slia-

ron about daybreak, and soon after arrested five persons wlio were sup-

posed to he the principal actors and abettora in tlie insurrection. They

were conducted to and safely lodged in our gaol on Saturday last, in or-

der for examination. It is hoped the early and spirited exertion of our

Assembly will prevent further disturbance in that town. JIuch praise

is due to the gentlemen employed on that occasion for their prudence,

humanit.v, and judicious proceedings."

The insurrection in Massachusetts was soon after

suppressed, and the prosecutions against Mitchell and

others were discontinued.

LIST OP EARLY SETTLERS.*

David Abel was from Lebanon, and came to Sharon

in 1760.

Thomas Ackley, from Chatham, came to Sharon

in 1768. He had three sons,—Thomas, David, and

Abraham. Thomas entered the Revolutionary army
in 1776, was taken prisoner at the capture of Fort

Washington, and died in captivity.

James Atherton was an early settler from Coventry.

William Avery was from Lyme in 1777.

Jacob Bacon was from Canaan in 1741.

Zebulon Badcock was from Coventry, and came in

1745.

Joseph Bailey was from Lebanon, and came to

Sharon in 1774.

Thomas Barnes was an early settler in the north-

west part of the town, and lived near the present

residence of Mr. Roswell H. Hazzard. He came into

the town in 1750. He had three sons,—Thomas,

Dan, and Jonah. Jonah, the youngest son, was a

physician, and a man of great wit and shrewdness.

He lived at what is now called the Evertson place,

west of the Governor house.

David Barrows came from Mansfield before the

Revolutionary war.

Amos Barrows was a brother of the preceding, and

lived many years where Stephen White lately lived,

in the tircat Hollow. He kept a tavern, and was

accidentally killed by falling from the hay-loft in his

barn, on the 5th day of December, 1779, at the age

of fifty years.

Scth Harstow was from Rochester, Mass., in 1771.

He lived at the lower end of Abel Street, where his

grandson, Seth B. St. John, now lives. He iiad five

sons,—Allen, Samuel, Scth, Gamaliel, and Charles.

Samuel was a physician, who formerly lived in Great

Harrington, Ma.ss., and who died tliere in 1813. Gama-
liel was also a physician, residing in Broome County,

N. Y. He was a mcnibcrof Congres.s, and a member
of the Senate and treasurer of the State of New York.

John Bates was one of the Qrst settlers of the town.

He lived a little below Henry Reed's present resi-

dence. His daughter Sarah, who was born on the

26th day of February, 17.31), was the first white child

born in Siiaroii, except Jehiel Jackson.

Nathan Beard was from Milton, in Litchfield. He

* Condeiued fhiin S«dgwlck'a excellent " Hlitory of SIiudd."

came to Sharon in 1779. He for several years carried

on the forge in Hutchinson Hollow.

John Beardslee was from Newtown in 1760.

Capt. Edmund Bennet was from the parish of Co-

lumbia, in Lebanon, and came to Sharon soon after

the Revolutionary war. He was a blacksmith by

trade. One of his sons, Hon. Milo L. Bennett, was

a judge of the Supreme Court of Vermont.

James Betts was from Norwalk, and came to Sharon

at an early day.

Dr. Simeon Blackman was from Newtown, and

came to Sharon in 1789, and settled on the moun-

tain, where John Jackson, Sr., now lives. He studied

medicine with Dr. Shepherd, of Newtown, and here

acquired eminence and distinction in his professional

career. He enjoyed a large share of the public con-

fidence, and represented the town in the Legislature

at five sessions. He left no children.

Benjamin Boardman came to Sharon in 1742.

Jacob Bogardus, merchant, came from Amenia,

N. Y., in 1764.

David Boland was from Woodbury in 1767.

Ephraint Botsford was from Newtown, and came to

Sharon in 1765.

Daniel Bouton was from Stamford, and was the first

settler on the lot owned by the late Cyrus Swan, Esq.

He died Nov. 14, 1740, at an early age.

Walston Brockway, tiie first of the Brockway family

in Sharon, came from Branford in 1752. He settled

in the southwest part of the town, near the line of

Kent, and died there in 1813, at the age of ninety.

His son, the late Asa Brockway, was a soldier of the

Revolution, and a pensioner.

Eliphalet Buol was from Salisbury, and was brother

of the late Col. Nathaniel Buel, of that town. He
came to Sharon in 1767, and settled where Homer
Pardee lived. He died of the smallpo.x, on the 5th

of February, 1777, aged forty-nine. His only son,

Nathaniel, died a prisoner in New York, a short time

before, and his wife soon after, of the same disesuse.

Walter Burr was from Fairfield. He lived at what

is called the Burr place, in the valley.

Lieut. Stephen Calkin was from Lebanon, and was

an original proprietor of the town. He drew the

thirty-first home-lot, and lived wiiere Abraham Weed
lately lived.

Abel Camp, from New Milford, came to Sharon in

1769.

Hon. John Canfield was a son of Samuel Canfield,

of New Milford, who wa-s one of the judges of the

County Court for Litchfield County, and a deacon of

tlie church in Now Milford. Mr. Canfield was born

at New Milford in 1740, and graduated at Yale Col-

lege in 1762. He studied law, and establisiied him.self

in the practice of his profession in this town in 1765,

being the first lawyer that lived here. He purchased

of Parson Smith the lot ne.xt south of Judge Ster-

ling's, and built the old brick house owne<l by that

gentleman. Mr. Canfield enjoyed au enviable repu-
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tation, and was held in high estimation by his

fellow-citizens. He represented the town in the Leg-

islature at ten different sessions. He was a professor

of religion, and enjoyed the reputation of a sincere

and humble Christian. In 1780 he was elected a

member of the Continental Congress, and had he

lived to take his seat in that body, would probably

have been a distinguished member. He died, how-

ever, on the 26th day of October, 1786, at the age of

forty-six. The grief of the community at his death

was general and deep, and the old men in after-years

spoke of him with unbounded confidence and attach-

ment. He left but one son, John M. Canfield, Esq.,

who resided at Sackett's Harber, N. Y., and a number
of daughters. The Hon. John C. Spencer, Secretary

of War, was his grandson.

Hon. Judson Canfield was a son of Col. Samuel

Canfield, of New Milford, and a nephew of Hon.

John Canfield. He graduated at Yale College in

1782. He came to Sharon in 1787, and commenced
the practice of law. He was a member of the House

of Representatives at seventeen sessions, and for

several years a member of the Council. He was also

a judge of the Court of Common Pleas. He left

Sharon in 1815, and removed to the State of Ohio,

where he died in 1839, at the age of more than eighty

years.

Col. Samuel Canfield was a brother of the preced-

ing, and came to Sharon in early life. He was an

assistant commissary of issues in the war of the

Revolution, and towards the close of his life drew a

handsome pension. He was for many years a mer-

chant of extensive business, and was town clerk from

1792 to 1815, having succeeded Daniel Griswold, Esq.,

in that office. He was a member of the Assembly at

several sessions. He died while on a visit at Pough-

keepsie, N. Y., on the 1st day of October, 1837, at the

age of eighty-three.

Deacon Timothy Carrier was from Colchester in

1747. He was appointed a deacon of the church in

1766, which office he held until his death.

Nicholas Cartwright was the common ancestor of

the Cartwright family, which have been numerous in

the town. He was originally from Barnstable, Mass.,

and lived a short time on Philip's patent, now South-

east, N. Y. He came to Sharon in 1756. He died

in May, 1782. He had three sons,—Reuben, Christo-

pher, and Samuel. Christopher, in 1775, joined the

army under Gen. Montgomery, and was in the battle

of Quebec, in which Montgomery fell. He died of

the smallpox, in the American camp, on the island

of Orleans, before the retreat from Canada. Samuel

was also in the army with his brother Christopher,

but escaped his untimely end.

Joshua Chaffee was from Mansfield, and came to

Sharon in 1755.

Deacon Isaac Chamberlain was born in New Marl-

boro', Mass., and came to Sharon with his step-

father, Jlr. John HoUister, in 1756. He was a car-

penter and joiner by trade. He entered the army
early in the Revolutionary war, and was sergeant of

artificers. He was appointed deacon of the Congre-

gational Church in 1799, which office he held till his

death.

Obadiah Chapman was from Colchester, and came
to Sharon in 1741. He settled in the south part of

the town. He had four sons,—Obadiah, Pelatiah,

Matthias, and Robert. Robert, the youngest, was a

soldier in the old French war.

Samuel Chapman was from Colchester. He came
with the first settlers, and settled on the forty-sixth

home-lot.

Amos Chappel was a son of Caleb Chappel, of

Lebanon, one of the original proprietors. He came
to Sharon in 1760, and settled in Ellsworth where

Charles B. Everett lives.

Jehiel Church was from Great Barrington, Mass.

He died May 1, 1819, at the age of seventy-seven.

He had nine children.

Samuel Cluxton was originally from the old Plym-

outh colony. He came to Sharon in early life. He-
was a faithful soldier in the Revolutionary war, and

died in 1820.

Caleb Cole was from Norwalk, and came to Sharon

in 1748.

Josiah Coleman came from Hebron in 1771. He
was a practical surveyor, and was considerably em-

ployed in that business. He was a member of the

General Assembly in October, 1783, and in May,

1784, and again in May, 1788. He was also a

delegate to the convention which ratified the Consti-

tution of the United States, to the adoption of which

he was very strongly opposed. One of his sons,

Josiah, was taken prisoner at Fort Washington, in

1776, and on his return died at Milford, Jan. 8, 1777,

of disease contracted in the British prison-ships.

Samuel Comstock was from Lyme, and came into

Sharon with the first settlers.

Capt. Benjamin Conkling was from Norwalk, and

lived for many years where Charles Van Dusen lived,

in the valley. He was often appointed selectman of

the town, as well as to other offices.

John Corbet was from Lebanon in 1743. He built

a saw-mill at an early day near Abel Benedict's.

Jabez Crippen was from Colchester, and was an

original proprietor of the township. He drew the

twenty-first home-lot, and his house stood on the

ground now occupied by the Grosvenor house, so

called, nearly opposite Governor Smith's. He was

the first selectman ever chosen in the town. He had

sons Jabez, John, Samuel, Thomas, and Joseph.

Oliver Crocker was from Lebanon before the Rev-

olutionary war.

Caleb Curtice was from Hebron, and was an origi-

nal proprietor. He drew the thirtieth home-lot, and

lived where Ezra H. Bartram, Esq., now lives.

Seth Curtis was from Danbury, and came to Sharon

in 1782.
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Thomas Day was from Colchester, and came to

Sharon in 1755.

Jonathan Davis was from Rutland, Mass., and came

to Sharon in 1746. He purchased of Jacob Bacon

the sixth home-lot.

Deacon Thomas Delano was from Wareham, Mass.

He lived a short time in Tolland, and came to Sharon

in 1759.

Daniel Deming was from Saybrook, and came to

Sharon in 1782.

Capt. Ebenezer Dibble was from Salisbury in 1776.

Ebenezer Dibble was a son of Eev. Ebenezer Dib-

ble, of Stamford, formerly Episcopal missionary in

Sharon. He was a merchant, and owned the brick

house now known as the Taylor house.

Capt. Samuel Dotey was the ancestor of the Dotey

family. He was from the old Plymouth colony, and

came to Sharon in 1747. He had a son David, who
was a physician and lived near Hitchcock's Corner,

and was for a while a captain in the Revolutionary

service.

David Downs, Esq., was from New Haven, and

came to Sharon about the year 1768. He was a tailor

by trade. He was captain of a company in the Rev-

olutionary service, and was, with his company, taken

prisoner at the " Cedars," in Canada, in 1776. He was

for many years one of the magistrates of the town,

and one of its representatives in the Assembly at

eleven sessions.

Capt. Jonathan Dunham was from Colchester, and

was a leading man in the first settlement of the town.

He lived opposite Richard Smith's, and there kept the

first tavern in the town. He was the agent to the

Assembly to procure the incorporation of the town-

ship, and was appointed to call the first town-meet-

ing. He was standing moderator of all the town-

meetings held during his lifetime, and selectman

of the town during the same period. His race, how-

ever, was a short one, as he died on the 28th day of

February, 1745, at the age of fifty-nine.

Samuel S. Elliott was from Killingworth, and came
to Sharon in 1780.

Deacon Jonathan Elmer wjis from Norwalk, and
came to Sharon in 1746.

. Martin Elmer was a son of the preceding, and was a

cooper by trade, and a Baptist by religious profession.

Col. Samuel Elmer was a son of Deacon J. Elmer,

and was a brave oflicer in the Revolutionary war. He
was appointed a major in Col. Uinman's regiment in

1775, and was engaged in active duty in the campaign
j

of that year. The next year he was appointed a col-

onel in the New York Line, and continued in command
of a regiment while he remained in the army.

Ebenezer Everett was from Hebron in 1745, and

settled where Adolphus Everett lived. He luid throe

sons,—Isaiah, Ebc, and Eliphalet, the two latter of

whom, were Revolutionary soldiers. Eliphalet was
for several years the steward of Gen. Washington's

military family.

John Everett was a brother of Ebenezer Everett,

and came to Sharon from Windham in 1757. He was

a blacksmith by trade, and lived on the road which

formerly led north from Joel Whitford's, now discon-

tinued.

David Foster was from Lebanon in 1750. He was

a leading man in the affairs of the town for many
years. He was a member of the Assembly at the Oc-

tober sessions in 1763 and 1764, and selectman eight

years.

Elijah Foster was a son of the preceding, and was

a highly respectable man. He entered the Continen-

tal army as a lieutenant in the campaign of 1776, and

was in active service till the close of the year.

Deacon Ebenezer Frisbie was from Branford, and

was the first settler at the place occupied by the late

Benjamin Bailey, on the Ellsworth turnpike. He
came to Sharon with the first settlers, and, being a sur-

veyor, he was much employed in laying out lands in

the early location of the township. He was town

clerk from December, 1743, to January, 1746, and one

of the deacons of the church nearly the whole of the

time of his residence in the town.

Benjamin Fuller was from Colchester, and came

with the first settlers. He was among the first who
died in the town.

Dr. Samuel R. Gager was born at Norwich, May
23, 1763, and was an assistant surgeon in the navy in

the Revolutionary war. Soon after the close of the

war he visited England. He established himself in

Sharon in the practice of surgery in 1788. He was

long celebrated in his profession, and was much re-

spected as a citizen. He represented the town in the

Assembly in the years 1821-22 and 1829. He was

also for many years a justice of the peace. He died

Aug. 4, 1835.

Joseph Gallow was from Hud.son, X. Y., in 1785.

John Gay, Esq., was born in Dedham, Mass., and

in early life settled in Litchfield, and was among the

first white inhabitants of that town. In 1743 he came

to Sharon, and purchiiscil of Israel HoUey the thirty-

ninth home-lot, which was in the north part of the

town. He had sons John, Ebenezer, Fisher, and

Perez. John was the father of the late Capt. Daniel

Gay. He died Jan. 1, 1776, at the ape of forty-eight.

Ebenezer was a merchant, and built the brick house

lately owned by Reuben K. Hunt. Hewii-s a colonel

in the militia, and frciiuently cdmniaiided detach-

ments in the Revolutionary war. He was the father

of the late Mr. David Gay.

Job Gibbs wivs from Wareham, Ma.ss., and came to

Sharon in 1747. His house was the one next south

of the Governor's mansion. Mr. Gibbs was a mer-

chant, and did a large business for those times. IIo

had three sons—Sylvanus, Ileman, and Job. Capt.

Sylvanus Gibbs, the eldest, was an otticer in the

Revolutionary war, and died on the 19th of June,

1834, at the age of eighty-one.

Jonathan Gillett was from Colchester in 1745 He
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was representative to the Assembly at the May and

October sessions in 1788, and a delegate to the con-

vention called to ratify the Constitution of the United

States.

Charles Gillett was a brother of the preceding, and

came to Sharon from Colchester in 1755. He was a

blacksmith by trade. He was town treasurer from

1760 to 1771. He enlisted into Capt. Downs' com-

pany, and marched to the Northward in 1776. While

the army lay at the "Cedars," in Canada, he was killed

by a party of Indians lying in ambush, as he was

riding out on business connected with his duty as

commissary. He left several children, one of whom
was the wife of the late Capt. Edmund Bennett.

Eleazar Gillson was from Goshen, Orange Co.,

N. Y., and came to Sharon in 1784. He had been a

soldier in the Revolutionary war, and settled a little

north of Elijah Juckett's. He was one of the first

emigrants to Ohio, and the first mail-carrier on the

post-road between Pittsburgh and Cleveland. He
carried the whole mail in his pocket on foot. He
died at the age of nearly ninety years.

William Goodrich was the ancestor of the Good-

rich family, which has been quite numerous in the

town. He was originally from Wethersfield, and first

moved to Litchfield, where he remained ten years.

He afterwards removed to Sheffield, Mass., and when

the township of Sharon was sold he became the pur-

chaser of two rights. He brought his family to the

town in the fall of 1738, and built a hut near the out-

let of Mudge pond. Here he spent the winter, with

no neighbors, except Indians, nearer than the Dutch

settlements at Leedsville. He went to mill on foot

during the winter, once to New Milford, and once to

Red Hook, N. Y., on snow-shoes, and carried his

wheat on his back. That he was a sincere Christian

we may well believe from the introductory clause in

his last will and testament, the first recorded on the

probate records for the district of Litchfield. After

speaking of the uncertainty of life as a reason for

making his will, he says, " Wherefore, committing

my body to the dust from whence it was taken, and

my soul to the bosom of my dear Lord Jesus Christ,

hoping and believing that he will raise me up with

all his saints at the glorious morning of the resurrec-

tion, I give, etc." Mr. Goodrich died on the 31st day

of March, 1743, at the age of fifty-six. He had sons

Samuel, Jared, William, Elnathan, David, Elisha,

and Solomon, and their descendants have been very

numerous.

John P. Goodwin was from Hartford, and came to

Sharon in 1784. He was a corporal in the Continen-

tal army, and was eight years in the service. His dis-

charge, under the hand of Gen. Washington, spoke

highly of his merits. He was a representative to the

Assembly in May, 1818. He was killed at the raising

of a small building belonging to Benjamin Hollister,

Esq., on the 15th of May, 1833, and his untimely end

was deeply lamented.

John Gould was an original proprietor from Hebron,

and drew the thirty-fourth home-lot. He was grave-

digger for many years.

Job Gould was from New Milford in 1768, and pur-

chased of Deacon Jackson the place on the mountain

lately owned by his grandson. Major David Gould.

John Gray was from Scotland, and came to Sharon

in 1743. He first settled in the valley, and his house

stood on the bank, a little east of the valley store.

Joseph Gregory was from Norwalk in 1759. He
was a merchant for many years.

Ephraim Griswold was an early settler. He had

three sons,—Azariah, David, and Jabez. Azariah was

a subaltern ofiicer in the Revolutionary army.

Daniel Griswold, Esq., was from Norwich in 1756.

He lived where Richard Smith, Esq., now lives. He
was a physician, and pursued the practice of his pro-

fession for many years. He was appointed a justice

of the peace at an early day. On the death of Col.

Williams, in 1774, he was appointed town clerk,

which oflice he held till his death. He also succeeded

the latter gentleman as deacon in the church.

Francis Griswold was a brother of the preceding,

and came to Sharon in 1762. He was a tanner and

currier.

Capt. Adonijah Griswold, another brother of Daniel

Griswold, Esq., came to Sharon in 1762. He was a

lieutenant in Capt. Downs' company in 1776.

David Hamilton was from Lebanon, and was the

first settler on the place owned by Judge Sterling.

He afterwards lived opposite Governor Smith's. He
appears to have been the great land speculator of the

day, his name appearing on the records as the grantor

or grantee in deeds more frequently than any other.

He was also for a time deputy sheriff. He died in

1781, leaving sons Dudley, John, and Joseph. Joseph

was a physician, and practiced medicine in the town

for several years. Dudley formerly lived where Wil-

liam Marsh now lives. Mr. Hamilton disposed of

most of his real estate in town previous to his death.

He was largely interested in land in Vermont, and in

what was called the Susquehanna purchase.

Cornelius Hamlin was an early settler from Ware-

ham, Mass.

Deacon Ebenezer Hamlin was also from Wareham.

Deacon Benjamin Hamlin was son of Deacon Ele-

azar Hamlin, of Fredericksburg, now Carmel, in

Putnam Co., N. Y. He came to Sharon in 1780, and

lived at different places in the northwest part of the

town. He was elected deacon of the Congregational

Church in 1798, and held the oflice till his death.

Sylvanus Hanchett was from Salisbury in 1769.

He is celebrated as being the first person who formally

invited the Methodist preachers into Sharon, in 1788.

It was at his house that the first Methodist society

was formed by Rev. Freeborn Garretson, and where

public worship was celebrated for several years. He
removed to the State of New York many years since,

where he died.
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Joel Harvey was from New Milford in 1742, and
settled in the valley. He built a grist-mill, which

stood more than sixty years. He also built the stone

house in the valley in 1747. He was a large land-

holder, and had a very numerous family.

Capt. Ebenezer Hatch was from Kent in 1768.

Bartholomew Heath was from Lebanon, and was
among the first settlers.

David Hide was from Lebanon in 1748. He was
appointed constable in 1750, and served in that capac-

ity, and as collector, ten years. He was also a deputy

sheriff for several years.

William Hide was from Lebanon in 1759.

Samuel Hitchcock was from Norwalk in 1752. It

was at his house that the first Methodist sermon

preached in the town was delivered.

Israel Holley was an early settler from Stamford.

Joseph Holley was from Stamford, and was the

original owner of one-half of the thirty-sixth home-
lot, the same on which the late George Bissell after-

wards lived.

Josiah Hollister, from Glastonburj', was the com-

mon ancestor of the Hollister family which resided

in the south part of .the town.

Samuel Hollister, from whom the family of that

name in the southea,st part of the town are descended,

was from the parish of Kensington, in Farmington,

now Berlin. In 1744 he purchased of Dr. George

Holloway, of Cornwall, one hundred acres of land on
[

the Ousatonic Elver, which had formerly been laid

out by Joseph Skinner. There he settled and died.

Rev. Aaron Hunt, who for the last thirty years of

his life was a citizen of Sharon, was a Methodist cler-

gyman of high standing in that denomination of

Christians, and whose reputation is eminent among i

the early lights of the church. Ho commenced
preaching in 1791, and for more than fifty years was

an able, active, and efficient itinerant minister.

Daniel Hunt was from Lebanon at the earliest set-

tlement of the town. 1

Phineas Hunt, a brother of the preceding, was from

Lebanon in 1747.

Jonathan Hunter was from Wareham, Mass., where

he had been deacon of the church. He came to Sha-

ron in 1747, and purchased of Benjamin Richmond
the farm on wliich Benjamin Sears lived.

Lbenezer Hunter was from Norvvicii about the year

1760. His son, Nathaniel Hunter, was a soldier in

the Revolutionary war.

Capt. Samuel Hurlburt was from Lebanon in 1743.

Samuel Hutchinson, Esq., was one of the first set-

tlers, and the second magistrate in the town. He was

from Lebanon, and drew the tenth home-lot, the same
on which the stone house owned by Anson Bohind

stood.

Deacon Ebenezer Jackson was from Norwalk, and
settled on the forty-second home-lot, now owned by

John Jackson, on the mountain. He was an early

deacon of the churcli, and was a useful man.

Capt. Caleb Jewett was from Norwich, now Lisbon,

in 1743. He was selectman of the town twelve years,

and representative to the Assembly at eleven sessions.

Joseph Jennings was from Fairfield in 1771.

Benjamin Johns was an early settler in the valley,

and lived ou the Burr place.

Evans Jones was the first settler upon the place

owned by Deacon William M. Smith, which was the

old parsonage of Parson Smith.

Elijah Juckett was originally from old Plymouth

colony, Mass. He served faithfully and honorably

through the Revolutionary war, and was a sergeant in

the light infantry under Gen. Lafayette. He was in

the severe conflict at Stony Point when that post was

taken by Gen. Wayne, as well as in several other

battles. He was a pensioner under the act of 1818.

He died in 1839, at the age of seventy-eight.

Oliver Kellogg, Esq., was from Sheffield, Mass.,

and settled in Sharon in 1788. He was a clothier by

trade, and lived at Hitchcock's Corner. He was a

highly respectable and influential citizen, and was a

representative to the Assembly at sixteen sessions.

He was also for many years one of the magistrates

of the town. He died Sept. 17, 1830, at the age of

seventy.

Elihu Ketchum was the first settler on the Bates

place, so called.

George King was from Windsor in 1784. He had

previously been connected with the commissary de-

partment of the army, and at the close of the war

established himself as a merchant in company with

Eli Mills.

Rev. Ebenezer Knibloe. Some account of this gen-

tleman is given in a foregoing )>art of this work. It

may here be added that he liad three sons,—William,

Elijah, and John P.,—all of whom were cut off

within a lew weeks of each other by the epidemic

which swept over the town in 1812.

Cornelius Knickerbacker was one of the early

Dutcli inhabitants of Salisbury, and lived at the Fur-

nace village.

Joseph Lake was a soldier in the old French war

and in the war of the Revolution. He came to Sha-

ron from Stratford in 1772.

Josei>h Landers was from Wareham, Mass., in

1748. He bought of Caleb Chappell the eighth home-

lot.

Joseph Landers, Jr., was a son of the preceding,

and lived with his father on the eighth home-lot. He
was appointed a deacon of the church in 1781, in the

place of Deacon Frisbie, resigned, which office he

retained till ills dcatli. He was a representative to

the As,si'inbly at the May session in 1782.

Samuel Lewis was from Hebron in 1743. He was

the first settler on the ninth lot in the first hundred-

acre division in Ellsworth. He continued in town

about thirty years, and then removed to New Ashford,

Mass. His son, Samuel Lewis, Jr., was a soldier in

the early part of the Revolutionary war, and a history
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of his captivity in England and his escape is given

in the former part of this vt'ork.

David Lillie was from Windham in 1765.

Nathaniel Lockwood was from New , Canaan in

1784, and purchased the farm on the mountain known
as the Lockwood place, near Mr. Jewett's.

Jonathan Lord was from Colchester, and was one

of the first inhahitants of Ellsworth, where he settled

in 1743.

Joseph Lord, Esq., was a son of the preceding, and

came to the town with his father in 1743. He was

for many years the only justice of the peace in Ells-

worth. He was for several years a selectman, and

member of the Assembly in October, 1777. He was

the first person buried in the burying-yard now used

in Ellsworth.

Baltus Lott. This individual appears to have been

a squatter upon the public lands before the township

was sold. He was probably a Dutchman, and had

taken possession of a considerable tract of land in

Connecticut and New York, and had erected a house

and barrack, and made considerable clearings. His

territory embraced what is now called the Burr farm.

The projjrietors made many eftbrbs to remove him, but

he resisted them all until March, 1742, when Joseph

Skinner purchased his possessions for three hundred

pounds, old tenor, and lie went away. He afterwards

lived in the north part of Ameuia, N. Y.

John Lovell came to this part of the country from

Rochester, Mass., in 1745.

Joseph Lovell was from Rochester, Mass.

Joseph Manrow was from Norwalk in 1744.

Noah Manrow was for more than forty years an in-

habitant of Mudgetown. He came from Salisbury in

1751.
i

Amos Marchant, from Newtown, came to Sharon in

1773.

Capt. Ephraim Marriner was from Colchester in

1765. He was a member of the Assembly in May,

1787, and in May and October, 1788.

Pelatiah INIarsh was from Lebanon in 1764.

Eliphalet Martin was from Windham in 1786.

John Marvin, Jr., was from Norwalk in 1748. He
bought of Elihu Ketcham the farm called the Bates

place, about one mile easterly from the meeting-house,

and lived there. He was also a part owner in the

iron-works at the mouth of Mudge pond. Mr. Mar-

vin was a member of Assembly in May, 1756, and

1768.

Adonijah Maxam was from the old colony in 1748-

The name in the early records is spelled Muxam, and

is so pronounced by elderly people at the present day.

Mr. Maxam settled where Orrin Abel lived, on the

Ellsworth turnpike, where he died in 1760. He left

four sons,—Samuel, Benjamin, Adonijah, and Jacob.

The third son, Adonijah, after having gone through

the active and perilous services of the Revolutionary

war, died at the age of ninety-seven years. ,

Joshua Millard was from Cornwall in 1768.

Henry Miller was from Branford in 1750.

Deacon Gain Miller was born in Ireland in 1716.

Ebenezer Mudge was one of the original proprie-

tors of the town, and was from Colchester. He drew
the twenty-fifth home-lot, lying on both sides of Town
Street.

Capt. Thomas North was from Wethersfield in 1743.

He was one of the first proprietors of the iron-works

in the Hollow. He lived on the twenty-sixth home-lot.

Calvin Noyes was from Lyme, and was a direct de-

scendant of the Rev. Mr. Noyes, the first minister of

that town. He came to Sharon in 1792, and pur-

chased a large and valuable real estate in the neigh-

borhood of Benedict's mill, where he resided. He
was distinguished for his public spirit, and for his

many acts of private charity. He lived a bachelor,

and for the last few years of his life was entirely

blind. By his last will he gave the greater part of his

estate to the Congregational society in Sharon, the

American Education Society, the Connecticut Mis-

sionary Society, and the Connecticut Bible Society.

Each of those societies has received nearly seventeen

hundred dollars from his estate. He died at the resi-

dence of his brother, Deacon Moses Noyes, in Poult-

ney, Vt., Jan. 22, 1831, at the age of eighty.

Selden Noyes was a younger brother of the pre-

ceding, and came with him from Lyme in 1792.

John Orton was from Litchfield in 1764.

Lieut. John Pardee, the patriarch of the numerous

family of Pardee in Sharon, was from Norwalk, and

was an original proprietor. He was a shoemaker and

tanner by occupation, and settled near the stone

bridge, north of the meeting-house. He was a lead-

ing and prominent man in all the affairs of the town,

and was a very large land-holder. He was one of the

first representatives of the town in the Legislature,

being elected such in October, 1755, when the town

was first represented in that body; and he was chosen

to that office at six sessions. He died July 13, 1766,

aged sixty-nine. He had six sons, who settled in the

town, and whose descendants are very numerous.

Joseph Park was from Middletown, and was the

first settler on the place owned by the heirs of the late

Samuel Beecher.

Capt. Enoch Parsons was from Newtown in 1763.

He was a carpenter by trade, and settled where his

great-grandson, Frederick L. Parsons, now lives.

Being a man of more than a common education for

those days, he was appointed for many years to

" line the psalm," agreeable to the ancient manner of

singing in public worship. He served as selectman

and constable for several years, and was member of

the Assembly in October, 1795.

Abel Patchen was from Welton in 1783. He pur-

chased of Zebulon Badcock the south half of the

twenty-sixth home-lot, originally Deacon Skinner's,

and kept a public-house during his life. He was a

representative to the Assembly in October, 1798, and

May, 1799.
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Dr. Abner Peck was a physician, and came to

Sharon in 1751 from Salisbury. He purchased a

place of Luke St. John, a little south of Joel L.

Whitford's. He died of smallpox, Oct. 11, 1756,

leaving a widow and two daughters.

John Pennoyer came from Stamford in 1742. He
purchased a part of the twenty-second home-lot,

originally owned by Samuel Calkin, being the place

where the late Gen. Augustine Taylor lived.

Jonathan Petit was from Stamford, at the earliest

settlement of the town. He owned the thirty-second

home-lot, and he lived on the road, which is now dis-

continued, leading north from Joel C. Whitford's.

He was much employed in public aflTairs. He was

constable nine years. He died in 1772, at an advanced

age.

Samuel Petit was a son of John Petit, of Stamford,

and a nephew of the preceding. >

Joel Petit was a brother of the preceding, and was

for many years an inhabitant of Sharon. He lived to

a very advanced age. His son, Joel T. Petit, Esq.,

was a young gentleman of great promise, who was

educated for the law, and settled in the town. After

a short professional career he died of consumption,

Sept. 13, 1807, aged thirty-two. '

Jonathan Pratt was originally from the old Plym-

outh colony, and came to Sharon in 1753. He first

lived in the Hollow, near the outlet of Mudge pond,

and was a partner in the iron-works.

Capt. Abraham Pratt was from Saybrook in 1783.

Abner Quitterfield is supposed to have come from

Norwalk in 1752.

John Randall was from Wareham, Mass., in 1753.

His wife, who was the daughter of John Bates, was

the first female, and the second child, born in the

town.

Daniel Raymond came from Woodbury in 1748.

Moses Reed was the first settler on the place lately

owned by Capt. Abraham Pratt.

Arthur Rexford was from Wallingford in 1757.

Asa Rice was from Wallingford, now Meriden, in

1774.

Nathaniel Richards was from Norwich in 1744, and
settled on the lot lately owned by Samuel Bcechcr.

Benjamin Richmond was one of the first proprie-

tors and settlers, and came to Sharon in 1742.

Nathaniel Roberts wiis from Salisbury in 1759. He
lived in Abel Street, a little north of Stephen Tick-

ner's. He died July 15, 1761), at the age of fifty-five.

He left sons John, William, Lebbeus, and Amos.

Samuel Roberta, Esq., was from Windsor, and came
to Sharon in 1784. He wa.s at one time a magistrate

of tlie town, and twice its representative in the Gen-
eral Assembly.

Dr. Samuel Rockwell wjls born in East Windsor,

Feb. 18, 1759. While he was young liis father re-

moved to Colcbrook, and was one of the first settlers

of that township. In 1776 he was in the army, for

which he drew a pension after 1831. He entered

Yale College in 1779, but soon left that institution,

and commenced the study of medicine under the

celebrated Dr. Lemuel Hopkins. He settled in Sharon

in 1784, and, except about five years, when he lived

in Salisbury, remained here till his death, which oc-

curred on the 24th of June, 1836, at the age of seventy-

seven. He represented the town in the Legislature at

the session in 1815.

Jonathan Rowlee was from East Haddam in 1741,

and lived near Richard Woodward's.

Deacon Matthew St. John was from Norwalk in

1745. He bought of Samuel Comstock the thirty-

second home-lot.

Timothy St. John came from Norwalk in 1756.

Daniel St. John was a brother to the preceding,

and came to Sharon in 1761. He was a blacksmith

by occupation.

Silas St. John was also a brother of Timothy and

Daniel St. John. He lived in Ellsworth. He was

the first deacon of the church in Ellsworth, and was

for several years town treasurer. He died Sept. 21,

1805, at the age of sixty-four.

Amos Sanford was from Newton in 1768.

Capt. Stephen Sears was originally from Barnstable,

Mass., and came to Sharon in 1760.

Dr. Asher Shepherd came from Hartford in 1772,

and was a partner with Dr. Simeon Smith in the

druggist business.

Benjamin Skirt' was from the town of Chilniark, on

the island of Martha's Vineyard, and came to Sharon

in 1774. He lived in Ellsworth.

Samuel Skiff was a cousin of the preceding, and

came from the same place.

Nathaniel Skinner, Esq., was from Colchester, and

was one of tlie first and i)rincipal proprietors of the

townsliip. Ho drew tlie twenty-sixth liome-lot, known
as the Patchen place. He was the first magistrate,

first town clerk, and first deacon of the church. He
remained in town until 1760, when he removed to

Salisbury, and wjis an owner of thc'niill now known
as Benedict's mill.

James Smith was from Bolton, and was one of the

original proprietors. He drew the eighteenth home-

lot, which lay on both sides of the Town Street, and

bounding south on the highway leading by Dwight

St. John's. Mr. Smith wils the first person ever chosen

constable in the town, and was elected to that office

for three successive years.

For sketch of Hon. John Cotton Smith, see Chapter

IL
Theophilus Smith wa.s a brother of the preceding,

and first lived near where Dr. Deming now lives. In

1749 ho bought of Mioa Mudge the grist-mill known
as Gay's mill, which stood near Merrills McLean's

present ro-^idonco.

Samuel Smith was from the Great Nine Partners,

N. Y., and came to Sharon in 1754. He was a black-

smith by trade, and lived on the Burr place, in the

valley. He was a selectman for several years.
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Dr. Simeon Smith was a younger brother of the

Eev. Cotton Mather Smith. He came to Sharon

about 1756, and was a physician of extensive practice.

He kept a large store of drugs and medicines, import-

ing his articles direct from London. In 1776 he com-

manded a company of six montlis' men, and was on

service in the vicinity of New York. He was a large

land-holder, and built the large stone house now known
as the Governor's house. He represented the town

in the Legislature at several sessions. He went to

West Haven, Vt., in 1787, and there resided till his

death, February, 1804. He left no children. He
was a man of great activity and enterprise.

Paul Smith was the youngest brother of Rev. Cot-

ton M. Smith, and came to Sharon in 1770. He lived

in the house originally built by Job Gibbs, next north

of Jay S. Caufield's, now demolished. He was a con-

stable of the town for a great number of years. He
died March 28, 1825, at the age of ninety.

Dr. Phiueas Smith was a son of Dan Smith, an

elder brother of Rev. Cotton M. Smith. He came to

Sharon when young, and resided with his uncle. Dr.

Simeon Smith, by whom he was educated as a physi-

cian. He relinquished the practice, and engaged in

mercantile pursuits. He built the house owned by

the late Cyrus Swan, Esq. He died June 4, 1794, at

the age of forty.

ApoUos Smith was a younger brother of Phineas

Smith, who came to Sharon in early life, and resided

with his uncle. Dr. Smith, by whom he was assisted

in establishing an extensive pottery before the Revo-

lutionary war, which proved a profitable business.

Deacon Paul Smith, Jr., was a son of Paul Smith,

and was born in Suffield in 1763. He came to Sharon

with his father, and resided here until his death. He
was elected a deacon of the church in 1793, and dis-

charged the duties of that office with great fidelity

and acceptance for forty-six years.

David Smith was from Litchfield, and came to

Sharon in 1801.

Thomas Spafford was an original proprietor from

Lebanon, and drew the thirteenth home-lot, on which

Samuel Beecher lived.

Alexander Spencer was one of the first settlers from

East Haddam, and he lived opposite Dwight St. John's

present residence.

CajJt. John Sprague was from Lebanon in 1739.

Hon. Ansel Sterling was born in Lyme, and settled

in Sharon as a lawyer in 1808, where he spent his

life. As a lawyer his forensic ability was of a high

order, nor was he deficient in legal science. His lan-

guage flowed readily and rapidly, and sometimes his

appeals to the jury were very effective. He held a

seat in Congress for two terms. He died Nov. 5,

1853, at the age of seventy-three years, leaving a

large estate to his numerous family.

Robert Stedman was one of the first settlers, and

came to Sharon in 1743.

Caleb Strong was from Colchester in 1743.

Josiah Strong was originally from Colchester, but

lived a while in Litchfield. He came to Sharon in 1747.

Josiah Strong, Jr., was a son of the preceding, and

was born in Sharon, June 16, 1758. His life was

eventful as illustrating the dangers and sufferings

of a Revolutionary soldier in the course of two

years' active service. He enlisted into Capt. Downs'

company in 1776, and marched to Canada. He was

taken prisoner, with the rest of the company, at

the "Cedars," on the 19th of May following. They
were released by Gen. Arnold on his return from

Quebec, and Mr. Strong returned to Sharon. He im-

mediately enlisted into Capt. Smith's company, and

joined the army under Gen. Washington. He was in

the battles of White Plains, Trenton, Princeton,

Brandywine, and Germantown, in which last action

he was so severely wounded in the leg as to render

amputation necessary. He was, of course, compelled

to leave the army, but he carried with him an honor-

able discharge from Gen. Washington. He was placed

upon the roll of invalid pensioners. He died at Ge-

neva, N. Y.

Joshua Studley was from Hanover, Mass., in 1771.

He settled in the south part of Ellsworth.

John Swain was from Branford in 1745.

Cyrus Swan, Esq., was born in Stonington in 1770.

He was in early life engaged in mercantile pursuits

in the district of Maine. He afterwards pursued the

study of law, and established himself in the practice

in this town in 1798. He was a successful practi-

tioner, and acquired a respectable standing at the

bar. He died Aug. 20, 1835, aged sixty-five.

Rowland Swetland was the first settler on the place

where Lyman Merwin lives.

Gen. Augustine Taylor was from New Milford in

1784. He purchased of Robert C. Livingston, who

had come to Sharon during the Revolutionary war,

the place now called the Taylor place, where he re-

sided until 1815, when he left the town. He rose to

the rank of major-general in the militia, and for

a while commanded the troops which were stationed

for the defense of New London, during the late war

with England. He died soon after he removed.

Amos Thurston lived in the Great Hollow, near the

school-house. He came to Sharon in 1768.

William Tickner was from Lebanon in 1739. He
drew the thirty-eighth home-lot, next north of Mr.

Spragues', in Gay Street.

John Tickner was a brother of the preceding, and

came from Lebanon in 1749.

Elisha Tobey was from the old Plymouth colony.

Bezaleel Tyler was from Branford.

Cyprian Waldo was from Windham in 1770.

Lieut. James Warren lived on the place now owned

and occupied by Edwin N. Hartwell.

George Way was from Lyme.

George White was from Wareham, Mass., and was

the first settler on the place owned by Chesterfield

Chapman, He came to Sharon in 1747.



SHARON. 583

Israel White was from Danbury in 1775. He set-

tled in the Great Hollow, where he purchased a large

and valuable farm of David Wood.
Capt. John Wilson came to Sharon, after the Kevo-

lutionary war, from Westchester Co., N. Y.

Col. John Williams was originally a physician, and

came to Sharon in 1743 from Lebanon. He was for

many years a very distinguished inhabitant of the town.

He lived nearly opposite Judge Sterling's, and the

house which he occupied was standing sixty j'ears

since. He was elected town clerk in the fall of 1745,

which office he lield twenty-nine successive years, till

his death. Previous to his appointment the records

had been badly kept, and a good part of them are

very unintelligible ; but from the time they passed

into his hands they were kept with great accuracy. It

would seem that for nearly thirty years he wrote

almost every deed which passed title to real estate in

Sharon, judging from the fact that they were nearly

all witnessed by him and acknowledged before him

;

and it is interesting to observe witli what remarkable

accuracy and strict legal propriety they are all ex-

pressed. He held the office of selectman seventeen

years, and was chosen member of the Assembly at

twenty-seven different sessions, being the first ever

chosen to that office in the town. When the county

of Litchfield was organized, in 1751, he was appointed

one of the judges of the County Court, and in al)out

five years afterwards was made chief judge. He was

also the first judge of probate for the district of

Sharon, which was established in 1755, which ofiice

he held while he lived. He also went througli sev-

eral military grades, and for several years commanded
a regiment of colonial militia. He was a man of tall

and slender frame, but of great gravity and very dig-

nified deportment, and his word was law. He was a

deacon in the church from June, 176G, till his death.

He died on Sunday, March 14, 1774, at the age of

sixty-eight, and as it was in the exciting times which

immediately preceded the Revohition, and he had been

a military cliaractcr, he was buried with military

honors. His sword was borne upon lii.s coffin, and

volleys of musketry were fired over liis grave. The
funeral services were performed under the direction

of Capt. David Downs.

Abel Wood was from Wareham, Mass., in 1748.

David Wood was from Ridgefield, and was the first

settler upon wiiat is called the White phice, in tiie

Great Hollow. He came to Sharon in 1754.

Elias Woodruff was from Southampton, L. I., in

1768. He purcliascd a part of tiic nintli home-lot of

Amos Tyler, and lived on it till his death, June 17,

1807, at tlie age of seventy.

CHAPTER LVIL
SHARON (Continued).

Congregational Churcli, Sbaron—Congregational Church, Ellsworth

—

Episcopal Church—Methodist Episcopal Church—Incorporation of the

Town—First Town-Meeting—Officers Elected—Representatives from

1755 to 1881—Membei-s of the Governor's Council—Senators—Judges of

the County Court—Justices of the Peace—Town Clerks—Attorneys—
Physicians—College Graduates—Military Record.

ECCLESIASTICAL HISTORY.

CONGREGATIONAL CHURCH.

At the first town-meeting a committee consisting

of Nathaniel Skinner, Jonathan Dunham, and John
Sprague was appointed " to go after a minister."

The committee made application to Mr. Peter Pratt,

of Lebanon, a candidate for the ministry, and a grad-

uate of Yale College of the class of 1736, and on Jan.

8, 1740, the town called him " upon trial for some con-

venient time," and laid a tax of fifteen shillings on a

right for the payment of his services. His labors

were acceptable to the people, and on the 14th day of

March following he was invited to settle over the

church and congregation in the work of the ministry.

The town voted him a salary whicli would amount to

about two hundred dollars per annum.* Mr. Good-

rich and Mr. Sprague were appointed to treat with

Mr. Pratt, and to present to him the offers of the

town. These were accepted by him, and the time

fixed for the ordination wjis the last Wednesday in

April. It is supposed that it took place at that time,

and that the services were performed in a private

dwelling, as no place of public worship had been pro-

vided at that time.

The records of the Congregational Church in

Sharon for the first fifteen years are lo.st. The exact

date of the organization of the church cannot, there-

fore, be determined. At a meeting of the church in

Winchester, a parish of Colchester, Conn., on the

28th day of April, 1740, Nathaniel Skinner (deacon),

.lonatlian Dunham, Jabez Crippen, Benjamin Fuller,

Nathaniel Skinner, Jr., Thomas Skinner, David Skin-

ner, .Jonathan Skinner, Jabez Crippen, Jr., Samuel

Mudge, Micah Mudge, Cornelius Hamlin, Alexander

Spencer, and Josiah Skinner "received letters of rec-

ommendation, in order to be embodied into a church

at Sharon, where they have for some time resided."

At a meeting of the .same church on May 18, 1740

(al)out three weeks after the former meeting), Jere-

miah Foster, Mary Foster, Mary Skinner, Content

Fuller, Elizabeth Skinner, Abigail Mudge, Mary

Hampton, Mary Dunham, Mary Skinner, Jr., Eunice

Mudge, Elizabeth Dunham, Lydia Crippen, Deborah

Crippen, Thankful Crippen, Waitstill Heath, Abigail

Skinner, Patience Fuller, Hannali Dunham, and Mar-

tha Mudge received a letter of recommendation " to

* " Hanh in, 174U.— I'o/'./, Tu Mr. Prall for his lUltHl aalar; 31« pcnimll

a y<«r in mtint*y, whlt-h it* a» titlver at 20 hlllln)^ |i«r ounci*. and fur IhU

year 140 pounds, nnd to rfso ten |x>iiiidti a yi-ar until 11 comes to tho 210

pouudo, and tboro to ttajid durtu^ tho Umo of hla oiioljtry amuDgat ua.'*
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the church in Sharon," which indicates that this

church was organized between the meetings of the

church in Wincliester.

Mr. Pratt was dismissed in 1747, and after a num-

ber of candidates being heard, the Kev. Jolin Searl

was chosen, and in August, 1749, was ordained. He
was dismissed June 4, 1754, and in the summer of

the same year the Rev. Cotton Mather Smith, of Suf-

field, was employed by the town to preach as a can-

didate for settlement. He came upon the recom-

mendation of Matthew St. John, who had been an

inhabitant of Sharon, but who had now removed to

Suffield, where he became acquainted with Mr. Smith.

Mr. Smith was a descendant of the Rev. Henry
Smith, the first minister of Wethersfield, who came

from England in 1638. The mother of Mr. Smith

was a daughter of Atherton Mather, a cousin of the

celebrated Cotton Mather, and she died in this town

at a very advanced age. Mr. Smith was born at Suf-

field, Oct. 16, 1731, and graduated at Yale College in

1751. He spent the year previous to his visiting

Sharon at Stockbridge, Mass., with the very cele-

brated Jonathan P^dwards, engaged in the benevolent

duties of instructing the Indians. Mr. Smith preached

as a candidate for more than a year, and in the mean
time boarded with John Jay, Esq., at the north part

of the town. He was ordained minister of Sharon

on the 28th day of August, 1755.

"He purchased the place which was owned by his

predecessor, Mr. Searl, the same which is now owned

by his great-grandson. Dr. Robert W. Smith. He
was married soon after his settlement to Mrs. Tem-

perance Gale, widow of Dr. Moses Gale, of Goshen,

N. Y., and daughter of Rev. William Worthington,

of the parish of Westbrook, in Saybrook. Mr. Smith

was the minister of Sharon for more than fifty years,

and during the whole of that period occupied a large

space in public affairs. Probably no minister ever

had in a greater degree the confidence and afiection

of his people. He was never spoken of by those who
knew him but with the most unqualified respect and

veneration.

" During the early years of the history of the town

ecclesiastical affairs were the subject of business in

the town-meetings. Churches were built, pastors set-

tled, and taxes laid for their support in the same

manner that all other public expenses were provided

for. This method of the support of religious insti-

tutions was continued long after the dissenters had

become numerous, and after they had been relieved

from taxes levied for the support of the standing

order. Before the close of the last century the in-

convenience of conducting ecclesiastical and civil

business by one organization had become so great

that a law was passed authorizing the formation of

ecclesiastical societies in the difi'erent towns, from

which all secular business was to be excluded and

turned over to the towns in their corporate capacity.

The law required that, on the application of a certain

number of the principal inhabitants of a society thus

proposed to be organized, a warrant might be issued

by a justice of the peace, summoning the members to

meet at the place of holding town-meetings, to organ-

ize the society, and assume the charge of ecclesiastical

affairs in the town. Tlie warrant in this case was

issued by David Downs, Esq., a justice of the peace,

on the application of Pelatiah Pierce, Paul Smith,

Jr., Nathaniel Lowrey, David Gay, Silas St. John,

Thomas St. John,' Eliphalet Martin, and Edmund
Bennett.

" At this first meeting of the society. Deacon Isaac

Chamberlain, Mr. Pelatiah Pierce, and David Downs,

Esq., were chosen society's committee, to act in society

matters in the same capacity as selectmen act in the

town afi'airs. Col. Samuel Canfield was chosen soci-

ety's clerk, which office he held till 1805, when Dr.

Samuel Rockwell was chosen clerk, which office he held

till 1836. Richard Smith, Esq., was then chosen clerk.

Parson Smith, when in the maturity of his powers,

was deemed one of the best preachers of his time in

the ministerial circle with whicli he was connected.

Other elements of character combined to make him
very strong in the affection and respect of his people,

and when old age with its attendant infirmities came

upon him, it does not appear that the parish enter-

tained any desire for a change of its clerical relations.

The first movement in that direction was from Parson

Smith himself At a meeting of the society held

on the first Monday of March, 1802, the following

communication was laid before the meeting

:

'"To THE Church and First Society in Sharon:

"'Bklovkd Brethren and Friends,—The fifth of October last com-

pleted a period of seven and forty yeara since 1 first came into this town

to labor witli you in tlie worl< of the gospel ministry ; however, I was not

ordained to that sacred work until the 28tli of August following. Dur-

ing this length of time I have labored with you by night aud by day, in

season and out of season. I could have wished that my labors might

have proved more successful, but this was not in ray power to command,

however sincerely desired and ardently prayed for; aud now, at length,

worn down with age and bodily infirmities, I find myself unable to dis-

charge the duties of that sacred office in such a manner as would be most

useful and beneficial to yon. The support of the gospel ministry will

richly compensate for the good derived to society, as it respects the life

that now is; but if we take eternity into view, it becomes an object of

infinite magnitude and importance.

'" It is, therefore, brethren, my sincere desire that you would invite

and call in some suitable person to take part with me in the evangelical

ministry, as a colleague and fellow-laborer in this vineyard of our com-

mon Lord ; and I shall always be ready to afford you my assistance, so

far as my strength and abilities will permit. And that the burden of

support might not be too great I olfer to resign my salary, e-\cept the

parsonage money, which is about twenty pounds ten shillings, aud nine

pounds ten shillings in addition, which will amount to one hundred

dollars, whenever another minister shall be settled in this place.

"'This small compensation you will not think unreasonable to grant

towards my support and comfort du ring the remainder of my days, which

iu all probability will be but of short continuance. And if any other

method can be devised which will be more agreeable to the church and

society, it shall meet with my hearty concurrence.

" ' May the great Ileild of the Church guide and direct you in this im-

portant affair, and that the result may be for the honor of God, the inter-

est of the Redeemer's kingdom, your present peace aud future tranquil-

lity and happiness, is the most devout wish and fervent prayer of your

sincere friend and aged pastor and teacher,

'
' Sharon, Feb. 9, 1802.'

'Cotton M. Smith.
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"The only action taken by the society at its first meet-

ing called to consider the application of Parson Smith

was a vote directing the committee to hire some per-

son to assist him in preacliing, but at a subsequent

meeting, held April 12, 1802, the society voted to

comply with his request. During the two years

which elapsed before the settlement of a colleague,

Mr. Smith must have preached for a considerable

portion of the time, as the society paid him two

hundred and twenty dollars for his services for the

first year, and two hundred and eighty-seven dollars

for the second."

Oct. 3, 1803, the society voted a call to Eev. David

L. Perry, as an assistant to Rev. Mr. Smith, which he

accepted, and was ordained June 6, 1804. Rev. Mr.

Smith continued in the ministry until his death, which

occurred Nov. 27, 1806. The following epitaph is in-

scribed upon his monument

:

"The Rev. Cotton Mather SMiTir,

Born in Suffield, Oct. 16, 1731, ordained in Sharon,

Aug. 28, 1755, died Nov. 27, 1806, in tlie 76th year of

his age and 52d of his ministry.

Sonnd in the faitli, in life and conversation as becometh the

Gospel, in doctrine incorrupt; in manner forcible and persuasive;

A fond husband; a tender father; an unvarying friend;

Having for more than///// yearn earnestly contended for the

faith once delivered to the saints, he is gone to render his

final account to tlie great captain of his salvation.

People of his charge, he still speaks to you in a voice

awful as death, solemn as the grave,

Prepare to meet your God."

Mr. Perry continued in the ministry until his death,

Oct. 25, 1835.

The following-named gentlemen have been pastors

of the church since Mr. Perry's death for the times

indicated : Rev. Mason Grosvenor, installed Sept. 28,

1836 ; dismissed May 14, 1839. Rev. Grove L. Brow-

nell, installed May 20, 1840 ; dismissed Aug. 1, 1848.

Rev. Thomas G. Carver, installed Oct. 1, 1851 ; dis-

missed Aug. 6, 1853. Rev. Leonard E. Lathrop, in-

stalled July 18, 1854; died Aug. 20, 1857. Rev.

Daniel D. T. McLaughlin, installed Jan. 18, 1859;

dismissed June 7, 1865. Rev. Alexander R. Bullions,

D.D., installed May 28, 1868 ; dismissed in 1878.

Rev. John C. Bourne is the present pastor.

The following is a list of the deacons in the church :

Nathaniel Skinner, Ebenczer Jackson, 1739 ; Matthew
St. John, 1745 ; Jonatlian Elmer, 1746 ; Ebenezer

Frisbie, 17.55; John Williams, Timothy Carver, 1766;

Daniel Griswold, 1774; Gain Miller, Joseph Landon,

1781; Benjamin Hamlin, Paul Smith, Jr., 1793;

Isaac Chamberlain, 1799; Aaron Read, 1812; 'William

Mather Smith, 1828; Charles Sears, 1854; John Cot-

ton Terrett, 1864; Abel C. Woodward, Edward F.Gil-

lette, 1874.

Services were first held at the houses of Capt. Dun-
ham and Mr. Pardee, and in the milder seasons of the

year in Mr. Pardee's barn. The first meeting-house

was a log structure thirty-six by twenty feet, erected

in 1741. This, however, was used but a short time,

as the erection of a new house forty-five feet by

thirty-five, with twenty-feet posts, was commenced in

1742, and in October of that year services were held

in it, although it was not completed until five or six

years later. A new church building was commenced
in 1767, and completed in the following year. This

was occupied until 1824, when the present brick

church was erected. This structure was remodeled

and beautified in 1863, and was dedicated March 2,

1864.

CONGKEGATIONAL CHURCH OF ELLSWORTH.

In May, 1800, a new society, named Ellsworth, was

incorporated in the southeastern part ot the town, em-

bracing a part of Sharon and a small portion of Kent,

and two years later, March 15, 1802, the Congrega-

tional Church of Ellsworth was organized with the

following members : Samuel and Martha Young,
Ebenezer and Lucy Everett, Timothy St. John, Anna
Rice, Silas Newton, Bathsheba Newton, Enoch Par-

sons, Abigail Parsons, Stephen Skis', Dennis Skiff,

Mary Chaffee, Anna Studley, Phinehas Benjamin,

Jemimah Benjamin, Benjamin Young, Mehitabel

Young, Joel Chaffee, Dolly Chaffee, Calvin Peck,

Betty Peck, Rebecca Foster, Prudence Friuk, Heph-
zibah Swift, Esther Skiff, Silas St. John, and Abigail

St. John.

The following-named clergymen have been pastors

of the church : Daniel Parker, ordained May 26, 1802

;

Orange. Lyman, ordained Aug. 26, 1813 ; Frederick

Gridley, ordained June 7, 1820 ; John W. Beecher,

installed Dec. 1, 1841 ; William J. Alger, ordained

Feb. 4, 1852 ; Robert D. Gardner, installed June 9,

1858; John D. Stevenson, ordained Oct. 26, 1875.

The following is a list of the deacons: Silas St.

John, July 1, 1802; Abel Woodward, May 3, 1805;

Amos Seymour, Sept. 6, 1806; Jabez Swift, Jan. 17,

1812; Calvin Peck, July 3, 1829; Nathan Dunbar,

June 2, 1839; Abel C. Woodward, June 2, 1839;

William Everett, June 2, 1839; Gibbs W. Skiff,

March 4, 1859.

The first meeting-house was located near the ceme-

tery, on tlie Ellsworth turnpike, but it was subse-

quently removed to its present location. A new
house was erected in 1838, which was destroyed by
fire in 1S47. The present church edifice was erected

during the following year.

A boarding-school was established by the Ilev.

Daniel Parker, which attained to considerable celeb-

rity, and was continued by him for some time after

his dismission. Several men who have risen to emi-

nence are said to have been members of this school.

A fund was raised by subscription about the time of

the organization of the church, amounting to one thou-

sand pounds (to which was added two thousand five

hundred dollars in 1H13), the subscription payable in

farmers' produce or bar-iron, at the market price,

with provision that it should be loaned on mortgage

for double the amount, and in case of any loss it was

to be made good by the society, under the penalty of

the incomes reverting to the subscribers, or to their
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heirs, until the conditions are complied with. A
similar penalty is annexed to a failure to provide

preaching for the term of a year, either by a pastor
1

or candidates for settlement.

Another religious society was formed at an early

day at the south part of the town, embracing inhabit-

ants of both colonies. The meeting-house stood near

the colony line, and was known for many years by

the name of the Round Top meeting-house. The

Rev. Ebenezer Knibloe was its minister for more

than twenty-five years. The Round Top meeting-

house was built previous to 1755, and in 1786 was re-

moved to the present site of the Oblong Presbyterian

church.
EPISCOPAL CHURCH.

From the first settlement of the town there had been

several families of the communion of the Church of

England, as it was called, before the Revolutionary

war, but they were never sufficiently numerous to

form a separate congregation, or to maintain public

worship, until about the year 1755. On the 14th day

of April of that year leave was given by the town

to those of that communion " to erect a church at

the corner of the highways that come from the upper

end of the town and the Iron-works Hollow." This

was at the head of the street, near Capt. King's. This

building was erected, and stood for nearly forty years.

It is mentioned as a singular circumstance, in regard

to its construction, that its external covering was a

coat of mortar. Public worship was maintained in it

for a number of years, the desk being supplied by

missionaries sent out by the " Honorable Society for

Propagating the Gospel in Foreign Parts." The first

of the missionaries who labored here was the Rev.

Ebenezer Dibble, whose permanent residence was at

Stamford, but who had the care of many of the

churches in the western part of the colony. After

Mr. Dibble, the Rev. Solomon Palmer and the Rev.

Thomas Davies had the charge of the church, in con-

nection with those at New Milford, Roxbury, New
Preston, and New Fairfield. The leading churchmen

in the town were Messrs. Joel Harvey, Job Gould,

Elnathan Goodrich, John Pennoyer, Simeon Rowley,

Samuel Hitchcock, Solomon Goodrich, and perhaps

some others. At one time during his ministry Mr.

Davies reported the number of families belonging

to the parish to be twenty-two, and the number of

communicants to be nineteen. During the Revolu-

tionary war the church building was deserted, turned

into a barrack, and never afterwards occupied as a

place of worship. Mr. Richard Clark succeeded Mr.

Davies in the mission, and resided in New Milford

until the close of the war. It would seem that there

was perfect harmony and good feeling between the

two denominations. At the annual town-meetings

for a great number of years Charles Gillett was ap-

pointed key-keeper to the meeting-house, and John

Pennoyer key-keeper to the church ; and this prac-

tice was continued as long as the church was used for

public worship. For many years after the Revolu-

tionary war the Episcopalians in Sharon had no reg-

ular stated worsiiip. There were several families in

the town who conformed to that church, but they

were never organized as a legal ecclesiastical corpo-

ration until the formation of the present society in

1809. In 1809 the number of Episcopal families in

Sharon had increased to about twenty, and it was

deemed expedient that they should be organized into

a legal corporation, under the laws of the State, so

that they could be empowered to hold property, lay

tax, and enforce other legal rights. A legal warrant

was issued on the 18th day of May, 1809, by Gen.

Augustine Taylor, a justice of the peace, command-

ing him to summon sundry persons named in the

warrant to meet at the academy in Sharon on the

27th day of the same month, " to form and regularly

organize themselves as an ecclesiastical society of the

order and denomination called Episcopal, and to

choose the proper oflicers for the society."

At the meeting thus warned the society was duly

organized according to the ritual of the Protestant

Episcopal Church of the United States. The follow-

ing-named persons were the first members of the so-

ciety : David Lambert, Samuel Jarvis, Jr., Asa Hitch-

cock, Barnabas Tobey, Luther Gay, Thomas S. Bar-

num, Simon Beebe, Isaac Daw, Samuel R. Gager,

Simon Blackman, David Parsons, Israel Camp, Wil-

liam Chapman, Daniel Patchen, Peter W. Smith,

Abel Hall, John Griswold, and Rufus Wright.

The following were the first officers elected, May 5,

1810 : Israel Camp, Clerk ; Thomas S. Barnum, David

Lambert, Wardens ; Thomas S. Barnum, Treasurer

;

Dr. John Sears, Collector; Samuel R. Gager, Isaac

Daw, Asa Hitchcock, Samuel Jarvis, Vestrymen

;

David Lambert, Delegate to Conventions.

The Rev. Sturges Gilbert was employed soon after

the society was organized to perform clerical services,

in connection with a like engagement at Kent, where

he resided ; he conducted public worship at each

place on alternate Sundays. The place of worship

here for two or three years was at the academy, which

stood on the present site of the Sharon Hotel. The

upper room of the building was fitted up for the pur-

pose, and was sufficiently large to accommodate the

worshipers.

In 1812 the first steps were taken towards the erec-

tion of a church building. Ebenezer Dibble, of Pine

Plains, N. Y., Col. Reuben Warner, of New Milford,

and Moses Seymour, Esq., of Litchfield, were chosen

by this society to establish the sitej and such progress

was made in raising funds that at the close of 1813

the present commodious building had been erected,

and temporary interior accommodations furnished, so

that public worship was celebrated in the churcli early

in 1814. It was not furnished within until 1819, when

it was completed in a neat and comfortable state. It

has undergone several modifications since, to conform

to the conditions of public taste in regard to church
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architecture. It was dedicated by Bishop Brownell,

witii solemn ceremonies, on the 24th day of Novem-

ber, A.D. 1819.

Rev. Ebenezer Dibble served liere as a missionary

from the venerable society in England, commencing

in 1754 ; Eev. Thomas Davies from 1763. The fol-

lowing clergymen have served as rectors of the

church in Sharon from the dates indicated : Rev.

Sturges Gilbert ; 1818, Rev. George B. Andrews; 1833,

Rev. Lucius M. Purdy ; 1837, Rev. Charles W. Brad-

ley ; 1839, Rev. S. T. Carpenter ; 1844, Rev. Martin

Moody; 1849, Rev. Alonzo G. Shears; 1852, Rev.

Ezra Jones ; 1856, Rev. Louis French ; 1857, Rev.

John V. Striker ; 1866, Rev. Henry R. Howard ; ,

Rev. David N. MacDonald; 1871, Rev. Joseph W.
Hyde ; 1873, Rev. Edwin J. K. Lassell ; 1877, Rev.

P. H. Whaley.

In 1866 the parish erected a commodious parson-

age, and its close contiguity to the church makes it a

very convenient residence for the rector.

METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH.

Methodist services were first held in this town in

1788 by a Mr. Cook, an Englishman, who preached

several times at Samuel Hitchcock's, in the south part

of the town, and also in the ball-room at Gallows

Tavern. The celebrated Freeborn Garretson also held

services in this town.

" Mr. Alpheus Jewett, father of the late Eev. Wil-

liam Jewett, of the New York Conference, and of the

late Hon. Judge Jewett, of Skaneateles, N. Y., and

his wife were the first persons who joined the Meth-

odi.st Church in this State.

"The young society in Sharon was supplied with

preaching once in two weeks, in the afternoon of a

week-day. Mr. Jewett was a farmer, and in the sea-

son of haying and harvest employed a number of ex-

tra laborers. He always invited his workmen to ac-

company him to the preaching, and they usually went.

One day a Mr. Maxam, a poor man, declined thus

going for the reason that he was poor and could not

afford to lose the time. On Mr. Jewett's offering to

pay him for the time thus spent lie went, was awak-

ened and converted, and lived to extreme old age, a

faithful and useful member of the church."

As the Methodist society in Sharon is located con-

tiguous to the State of New York, it has always been

connected with circuits and districts in tliat State.

Meetings were held at private houses, and the preach-

ing-place in Sharon was at Mr. Jewett's. The old

gentleman used to speak with great satisfaction of the

largo number of Jlethodist ministers, including Bishop

Asbury, whom he had entertained at his house. The
society has never been destitute of regular preaching

since its formation.

THE FlIUiT CAMP-MEETING IN CONNECTICCT.

The first camp-meeting in Connecticut was held

in the summer of 1805, in a grove near the road lead-

ing north from Austin Cartwright's, and such success

attended the proceedings that another was held the

next year near the house of Mr. Jewett.

The first house of worship was erected in 1808 in

Calkinstown, so called.

The church was reorganized in 1835 with the fol-

lowing members : Zaccheus W. Bissell, Ira Williams,

Elijah H. Williams, John Williams, Daniel G. Mil-

ler, Samuel Roberts, Jr., Samuel Fenn, John Senigo,

Ely Rowley, Frederick A. Hotchkiss, Henry Wil-

liams, David H. Cole, James Calkin, Horace Reed,

Merrills McLean, James R. Jenkins, Ezra H. Bar-

tram, Hector W. Roberts, Edgar J. Reed, Jr., Miles

B. Lewis, Alden Bryan, Dennis Brusie, Gilbert Bryan,

and D. Gibson.

The following is a record of the proceedings of the

first meeting of the society :

"At a meeting of the Methodist Eiiiscopal Society of Sharon, holden

on the 13th day of January, A.D. 1835, in pnrsnance of a warrant nnder

the hand of Cliarles F. Sedgwicli, Justice of tlie Peace for the County of

Litchfield—

"Rev. Julius Field was chosen moderator.

" Zaccheus W. Bissell clioseu clerlv pro tern, and duly sworn.

"Horace Reed was chosen clerli for the year ensuing of llie Society.

" Elijah Williams was chosen treasurer for the year ensuing.

"Zaccheus W. Bissell, Ii-a Williams, Richard Clark were appointed a

Society committee for the year ensuing.

" Richard Chiik, Ira Williams, Zaccheus W. Bissell were appointed

trustees of the Society.

"Virgil B. Roberta, Horace Reed, Zaccheus W. Bissell, Ira Williams,

and Elijah H. W'illiams were appointed a building committee.

" VoU-d, That the church about to be erected by this Society shall be

located in Sharon Village, on such piece of land as may bo purchased by

this Society for the erei'tion of sttid church, and of which a deed shall be

executed by the owner of said land to the Society, for tlio purpose afore-

said."

The new church building was erected and fin-

ished in 1836, anil in the spring of 1837 was dedi-

cated by the Rev. Nathan Bangs, D.D., an eminent

clergyman of the denomination. The house lias since

I

been altered and improved, and is now one of the

finest churches of that denomination in the county.

The following is a list of the jiroacliers who have

supnlied the pulpit in Sharon since 1828: David Mil-

ler, Phineas Cook, Billy Hibbard, Aaron Pearce,

Theodore Clark, T. Sparks, Julius Fields, J. B.

Wakely, Richard Wymond, Sanford Washburn,

George D. Sutton, Fitch Reed, D. Holmes, William

\

K. Stopford, Hart F. Pease, Fitch Reed, S. N. Vail,

William S. Stillwell, Lucius H. King, M. R. Lens, D.

B. Turner, Benjamin JL .\dams, Elbert Osborne, Joel

Croft, Ja.son Wells, Clark Fuller, D. Gilwon, William

! S. Stillwell, G. Daniels, H. B. Mead, Ira Ferris, Wil-

liam Stevens, Clark Egglcston, S. J. Mc<.\itcheon, H.

C. Humphrey, and J. C. Hoyt.

I CIVIL.

1
INCOnPORATIOS OK THE TOWN-FIB.ST TOWN-MERTINO.

The town was incorporated Oct. 31, 1739. Dec. 11,

1739, the first town-meeting was held, and the follow-

ing is a copy of the proceeilings

:

"The Inliabttnnco of Sharon nplying ThonwolTM to tlio GonnU u-
Mmbly III Octolier Lai«t Past fur Town PrivllodKn Cup Dunham wan mad
Choice of to R«preeeut the town tt> the Aiumbly, and having oblainod
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the Desiar of the town be being ordered by the Assembly to Warn the

Inhabitance in order To Chuse town officers which Being* Dune the In-

habJtance being met on the 11 day of December Id ye yeare 1739 at tlie

house of Nath 11. Skinner In Sharon And then opened the meeting as

the Law Dricts

"Cap Dunham Was Chosen moderator

"Leu Jabez Creppen John Sprague and Cap Jonathan Dunham Was
Chosen Select men for the year insewing

"Nath Skinner Was Chosen town Clark

"James Smith was Chosen Constable and Sworn as the Law Directs

" George Way was Chosen Granjuery and sworn as the Law Directs

"Ebenezer Mudg William Tickner Ebenezer flrisbie and Cornelius

hamlin Was Chosen Surveys of high Ways and Sworn as the Law Di-

rects

"Jeremiah foster Samuel Mudg and Thomas Creppen Was Chosen

fence vewers and sworn as the Law Directs

"Samuel Comstock Was Ciiosen Colector

" Nathl Skinner Jun Was Chosen Leather Sealer

"Nathl. Skinner Jonathan Dunham and John Sprague Was Chosen a

Com'tt. to go after a Minister

" Nathl. Skinner and Lew Jabez Creppen chosen a Com'tt. to Lay out

a Beuriiig Place

" It was further voted that a Note or Warning In writing set up at

The house of John Sprague and Nathl. Skinner and at Garrit winegars

mill Six Days before a town meeting Given Reasons of Said Meeting,

Shall be a Lawful Warning for a town meeting

"farther voted, that Swin haven a Ring in their Noses Shall be ac-

counted an orderly Greater."

REPRESENTATIVES FROM 1755 TO 1881.

The following is a roll of the representatives from

the town of Sharon to the General Assembly, com-
mencing in 1755, when the town was first repre-

sented :

1755.—John Willinms, John Pardee.

1756.—John Marvin, John Williams, John Pardee.

1757.—John Williams, Josiah Strong,

1758.—John Williams, Samuel Dunham, John Pardee.

1759.—No record.

1760.—Samuel Dunham. John Par<lee, Josiah Strong, Caleb Jewitt.

1761.—Caleb Jewitt, John Gay, John Williams, John Pardee.

1762,—John Williams, John Pardee, Caleb Jewitt.

1763.—John Williams, Caleb Jewitt, David Foster.

1764.—John Williams, Caleb Jewitt, David Foster.

1765.—John Williams, Caleb Jewitt.

1766.—John Williams, Caleb Jewitt, Jeremiah Day.

1767.—John Williams, Jeremiah Day, Simeon Smith.

1768.—John Marvin, Thomas Pardee, John Williams.

1769,—John Williams, James Pardee, Thomas Pardee.

1770.—Simeon Smitli, Thomas Pardee, John Williams, Caleb Jewitt.

1771-72.—John Williams, Simeon Smith.

1773.—John Williams, James Pardee.

1774.—James Pardee, Ebenezer Gay, Thomas Pardee,

1775.—Ebenezer Gay, James Pardee, John Cantield, Caleb Jewitt.

1776,—John Canfleld, Caleb Jewitt, Ebenezer Gay, James Pardee.

1777.—John Canfield, Simeon Smith, James Pardee, Joseph Lord.

1778,—Ebenezer Gay, James Pardee, David Downs.
1779,—John Canfield, Samuel Elmore, Ebenezer Gay.

1780.—Samuel Elmore, James Pardee, David Downs,

1781.—Samuel Elmore.

1782,—David Downs, Joseph Landers, John Canfield.

1783.—Simeon Smith, David Downs, Ebenezer Gay, Josiah Coleman.

1784.—Ebenezer Gay, Josiah Coleman, John Canfield, Simeon Smith.

1785-86.—John Canfield, Simeon Smith.

1787.—Jonathan Gillet, Ephraim Marriner.

1788.—Ephraim Marriner, Josiah Coleman, David Downs.

1789.—David Downs, Isaac Pardee.

1790.—David Downs, Isaac Pardee, Augustine Taylor, Phineas Smith.

1791.—Phineas Smith, Augustine Taylor, Judson Canfield.

1792.—Phineas Smith, Judson Canfield, Augustine Taylor.

1793.—Judson Canfield, John C. Smith, David Downs, Samuel Canfield.

1794,—Samuel Canfield, David Downs.

1795.—David Downs, James Pardee, Samuel Canfield, Enoch Parsons.

1796.—Samuel Canfield, John C. Smith, Augustine Taylor.

1797.—John C. Smith, Oliver Kellogg, Samuel Canfield.

1798.—John C. Smith, Oliver Kellogg, Abel Patchen.

1799.—John C. Smith, Abel Patchen, Isaac Pardee.

1800.-John C. Smith, Oliver Kellugg, George King.

1801.-Oliver Kelloirg, George King, Augustine Taylor, Isaac Pardee.

1802.—Judson Canfield, Augustine Taylor.

1803.—Judson Canfield, Daniel St, John.

1804,—Judson Canfield, Isaac Pardee.

1805.—Judson Cantield, Isaac Pardee, Daniel St. John.

1806.—Judaon Canfield, Isaac Pardee, John C. Smith.

1807.—John C. Smith, Judson Canfield, Daniel St. John.

1808.—John C. Smith.

1809.—John C. Smith, Judson Canfield, Isaac Pardee, Simeon BlackmaD.
1810.—Simeon Blackman, Oliver Kellogg, Cyrus Swan,

1811,—Simeon Blackman, Oliver Kellogg, Samuel E. Everitt.

1812.—Oliver Kellogg, Samuel E. Everitt, Isaac Pardee.

1813-14.—Oliver Kellogg, Samuel E. Everitt, Cyrus Swan.

1815.—Oliver Kellogg, Ansel Sterling, Samuel Rockwell, Daniel St.

John.

1816.—Oliver Kellogg, Samuel Rockwell, Cyrus Swan, Israel Camp.

1817.—Oliver Kellogg, Israel Camp, Thomas St. John.

1818.—Hezekiah Goodwin, Tliomas St. John, Oliver Kellogg, Ansel

Steiling.*

1819-20.—Oliver Kellogg, Ansel Sterling.

1821.—Ansel Sterling, Samuel R. Gager.

1822.—Samuel R. Gager, Samuel Roberts.

1823.—Samuel Roberts, Horatio Smith.

1824.—Horatio Smith, Cyrus Swan.

1825.—Ansel Sterling, Cyrus Swan.

1826.—Ansel Sterling, Horatio Smith.

1827-28.—Cyrus Swan, Calvin Gray.

1829.—Ansel Sterling, Samuel B. Gager.

1830.—Charles F. Sedgwick, Clark Chapman.
1831.—Charles F. Sedgwick, Israel Camp.

1832.—Israel Camp, Samuel E. Everitt.

1833,—Clark Chapman, John C. Smith, Jr.

1834,—Horatio Smith, John C. Smith, Jr.

1835.—Ansel Sterling, Ralph Deming.

1836,—Ansel Sterling, Zaccheus W, Bissell.

1837.-Ansel Sterling, Elmore Everitt.

1838,—Elmore Everitt, Alauson Wheeler.

1839.—Alanson Wheeler, Ralph Deming.

1840.—Elmore Everitt, Horace Reed,

1841,—Zaccheus W. Bissell, Richard Smith.

1842.—John Cotton Smith, Jr., Eleazar Jenkins.

1843.—Lorenzo D. Smith, William Everitt.

1844,—No choice.

1845.—Charles Sears, William Knibloe.

1846.—John P. Goodwin, Elmore Everitt.

1847.—John P. Goodwin, Charles Sears.

1848.—Ransom Smith, John Woodruff.

1849.—Ransom Smith, James Orr.

1850,—David S, Cartwright, Southard Hitchcock.

1851.—John S. Jewitt, Gibbs W. Skiff.

1852.—George D, Goodwin, Chauncey Reed, Jr.

1853,—John C. Smith, Zaccheus W. Bissell.

1854.—John C, Smith, George B. Bates.

1855.—Norniau E. Wheeler, Horace Dunbar,

1856,—Henry V. King, Henry St. John.

1857.—Fitch Landon, James A. Bierce,

1858.—Erastus A. Deming, Charles M, Parsons.

1859.—Myron Dakin, Seth B. St. John.

I860.—Henry T. Finch, Chesterfield Chapman.

1861.—Reuben K. Hunt, Joel S. Chaffee.

1802.-Asahel A, Hotchkiss, John H. Per Lee.

1863.—Harry Lockwood, David F. Lambert.

1864.—Nathan Dunbar, Fitch Landon.

1865.—Edwin N. Hartwell, Miles B. Lewis.

1866.—Zaccheus W. Bissell, David F. Smith.

1867,—George D, Goodwin, Ralph Deming,

1868.—Walter M, Patterson, Isaac N. Bartram.

1869,—Edgar J. Reed, David L. Smith.

1870.—John C. Smith, Baldwin Reed (2d).

1871,—Hilau Middlebrooks, Charles E. B. Hatch.

* Prior to 1819 representatives were elected semi-annually for May
and October sessions. The two latter in each year of the above list were

for the October session.
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1872.—George D. Goodwin, Isaac N. Bartram.

1873.—John Boyd, Robert D. Livingston.

1874.—Hermon C. Rowley, Icliabod S. Everitt.

1875.—William E. Marsh, Baldwin Eeed (2d).

1876.—John Cotton Smith, Isaac N. Bartram.

1877.—Seymour A. Frayer, George M. Walton.

1878.-John B. Smith, Gilbert L. Smith.

1879.—Erastus A. Deming, Clark M. Juckett.

1880.—Robert Goodwin, Daniel Hall.

1881.—George D. Goodwin, Myron F. Whitney.

MEMBERS OF THE GOVERNOR'S .CODNCIL.

Judson Caniield, John Cotton Smith.

SENATORS.

Ralph Deming, Charles F. Sedgwick, Horatio Smith.

JUDGES OF THE COUNTY COURT.

John Williams, Cyrns Swan, Judson Canfield, Ansel Sterling.

JUSTICES OF THE PEACE.

Nathaniel Skinner, Samuel Hutchinson, John Williams, Daniel Griswold,

Joseph Lord, John Gay, Jolin Caniield, David Downs, Isaac Pardee,
Augustine Taylor, Judson Canfield, .John Cotton Smith, Daniel St.

John, Calvin Gay, Samuel E. Everitt, Oliver Kellogg, Cyrus Swan,
Ansel Sterling, Samuel Rockwell, Horatio Smith, Samuel Roberts,

Stephen Deming, Stephen Heath, Israel Camp, Charles F. Sedgwick,
Oliver Kellogg, Jr., Jacob Chamberlain, Ebenezer Blackman, Joshua
B. Chaffee, Richard Smith, Benjamin Hollister, Alanson Wheeler,
John W. McKoy, Ransom Smith, Zaccheus W. Bissell, Samuel Rob-
erts, Jr., Silas A. Gray, William Everett, Daniel Parsons, Ralph De-
ming, Zalmon S. Hunt, Orrin Hutchinson, Andrew Lake, John
Williams, Southard Hitchcock, Amos Priudle, James Orr, Eliakim
S. Stoddard, Jr., Eben W. Chaffee, Harry Lockwood, Norman E.

Wheeler, John T. Andrew, Fitch Landou, Garry S. Morey, Samuel
Elliott, Cyrus W. Gray, William Stone, Horace Dunbar, Samuel S.

Woodward, Ezra H. Bartram, Thomas N. Lucas, Hebcr Knibloe,
Walter M. Patterson, Judson St. John. Charles E. B. Hatch, Philo
Juckett, Edgar J. R. Reed, George Chamberlain, Robert D. Living-
ston, Charles L. Prindle, Daniel Hall, Chauncey W, Morehouse.

TOWN CLERKS.

Nathaniel Skinner, Ebenezer Frisbie, John Williams, Daniel Griswold,
Samuel Canfield, Israel Camp, George King, Jr., Henry H. Quintard
Erastus H. Winchester, James Orr, Harry Lockwood, James E. Wat-
son, Aaron B. Smith, Samuel L. Guger, Robert E. Goodwin, Charles
C. Gordon, J. Wade Hughes,

LAWYERS.

The following attorneys and counselors-at-law have
practiced in the town :

John Canfield, Judson Canfield, John Cotton Smith, Cynis Swan Joel
T. Pelit, William G. Williams, Ansel Sterling, Charles B. Brown,
Chauncey Sniitb, Ebenezer lilackman, Charles F. Sedgwick, Fred-
erick J. Fenn, Richard Smith, James Orr, Waller M. Pattsrson, J.

Wade Hughes.

PHYSICIANS.

John WlllianiH, Abner Pock, John Lee, Daniel Griswold, Simeon Smith,
Josepli Hamilton, Asbol Gocidrkh, David Doty, Jonah Barnes!
Plilneiw Smith, Samuel R. Giigor, Samuel Rockwell, Simeon Black-
man, Nathaniel Lowrey, John W. Smith, John Sours, Curtiss J.

Hurd, Elmore Everitt, Milo L. North, Ebenezer H. Conklln, Jehiel
Abbott, Russell Everitt, Ralph Deming, Horace A. Buttolpli, Nathan
S. Perry, Chauncey Reoil, Jr., William W. Knight, Charles 11. Seani.

GRADUATES OF COLLEGES.

The following are tlio graduates of colleges who
have been citizens of Sharon :

Yuk ColUyc.—Vftor Pratt, 1736; John Soarle, 1745; Jonathon Elmer,
1747; Daniel Griswold, 1747; Cotton Mather Smith, 17ol ; Jeremiah
Day, 17.'i6; Thomas Duvic-s, 175»; Fisher Gay, 17.59; John Canfleld,
1762; Augustine Taylor, 1770; Judson Confleld, 1782; John Cotton
Smith, 1783; Daniel Parker, 1798; Alanson Hamlin, 1709; William
A.Taylor, 1803; Willijiiu M. Smith, 1805; Henry J. Canfield, 1806

;

Milo L. Bennett, 1811; William R. Gould, 1811 ; Milo L. North, 1813

1

Ebenezer Blackman, 1817; William Rockwell, 1822- Milton P Or-

88

ton, 1824; Richard Smith, 1825; John M. S. Perry, 1827; John Cot-

ton Smith, 1830; Milo N. Miles, 1831; Robert D. Gardner, 1833;

David C. Perry, 1833; Daniel D. T. McLaughlin, 1834; John T. An-
drew, 1839 ; George T: Pierce, 1843 ; Henry Roberts, 1866.

Williams CoHfje.—Vinton Gould, 1797; David L. Peri-y, 1798; David

Beecher, 1804; Cyrus W. Gray, 1809; Orange Lyman, 1809; Charles

F. Sedgwick, 1813 ; Chauncey G. Smith, 1814 ; Judah Ely, 1820 ; John

Cotton Territt, 1833; William It. Territt, 1871.

Union College,—Alexander B. Bullions, 1842.

Unifersity of the State of Vermont.—Grove L. Brownell, 1813.

Harvard CoUeije.—John Williams, 1725.

FORMATION OF NEW COUNTY.

In 1751 the town passed the following vote in re-

gard to the formation of a new county

:

"Sept. 2, 1751 — Voted, That we do desire a new county in this part of

the government.

" Voted, That we apply to the honorable assembly in May next for

that end.

" Voted, That we do desire, with submission to the pleasure of the

assembly, that the limits or bounds may be, on the south, the south

bound of the government's land on the west side of Ousatonic River, the

north bounds of New Milford and the south bounds of Litchfield. The
east line, the east bounds of Litchfield and of Torrington, and from

thence northward to the Jla^sacliusetts line; the north Hue, the line

between us and the Massachusetts; the west line, the line between this

government and the government of New York, and that Cornwall be the

county town.

" Voted, That John Williams, Esq., be our agent to go to the Honor-
able General Assembly upon said business in October ne.xt.

*' Dec. 17, 17.31.—Put to vote whether we will send an agent or agents

to Kent, to meet some gentlemen from Woodbury to consult upon the

affairs of the county. Voted in the negative."

MILITARY RECORD.

The town of Sharon responded promptly to the call

for troops during the late Rebellion, and at different

times more than two hundred of her citizens or their

substitutes were in the field. The following is a list

of those credited to Sharon in the adjutant-general's

office:

John Anderson, Thomas U. Albro, Stephen B. Allen, Paul August, Wil-

liam Abbott, Lewis R. Ashman, Samuel J. Alexander, Bratlford B.

Brown, George M. Bennett, William H. IViwen, Daniel Buxton,

Richard Beebe (killed in battle), Charles Barley, Myron Buttolph,

Samuel Beeman, Charles Bayard, Harry Belmont, George Brown,
Edward Baker, Nelson Bush, William Bush, Henry Bush, E. J.

Brazce, Seymour Buckley, John Brown, Henry Burke, Enoch B,

Benedict, Frederick S. Becbo, Ix)renzo C. Buttt.dph, William Brazes,

John Batea, Richard Booth, Jiweph Belnre, Charles Brown, Williajn

Bartlett, Newton Bowen, N. Chupnuui, Edward H. Crosfi, John Chase,

John Curtin, Michael Curley, William Clinton, James B. CapruD,

Charles F. Cain, Ge<jrgo I, Conklln, Henry Cain, Jerome Chapman,
Edwin Cain, John Colder, Angevine Ctxik, Henry A. Chapman,
George Cllnt4>n, Jnmes Carl, Joshua B. Cliaffee, Charles E. Cole, Wfl-

Ifam Chapman (died in hospital), Julius N. Cole, William Clark,

Gustln Chumplln, Charles ('lutpnmn, Michael Cullen, George Cook,

Thomas Coliby, Henry .'^. Dean, Jnmes Doyle, James H. Divine, Ed-

mund Divine, John Dunl>ar, John B. Dorich, Thomas Doty, E<lniund

Dean, Everitt Dunbar, Garrett Deun, James Doty, William Frazier,

Peter Foster, Newell P. Fool, John Fmwley,Carl Freldland, Michael

Frawloy, William FKzgerabl, Peter Gimlet, Thomas Gar\-in, William

H. Gaul, Clmunccy Griffin, George Gaston. Horace R. Griswold, John

Grady, Frederick D. Holmes, Charles F. HInman, Edward £. UolT-

man, N. L. Holmes, Michael Henry, John Hevley, Charles H. Ham-
lin, David Hector, George W. Hall, Joshua B. Hoxle, Peter Honey,

William H. Ingrahani, Charles Ingerstdl, Nathan H. Jewitt, William

Johnson, Henry Johns, Harvey Johns, Gilbert Ingraham, Andrsw
Jackson (killed In battle), James B. Johnson, Thomas Jones, Wil-

liam C. Jacotie, James R. Jenkins, Galls Juaus, El^ah Johns, KU
more F. Jonks, Martin B. Jenkins, Michael Kelly, Charles King,

Frederick King, Patrick Kinney, Julin Kelly, Henry Kelly, Gilbert

E. Lake, Wolsteln Loundsbury, William H. Logan, John Lynch,



590 HISTORY OF LITCHFIELD COUNTY, CONNECTICUT.

Charles Loretta, Jos B. Loper, Stephen Mclntyre, Oakley Middle-

brooks, William Mooiiey, Joseph Marline, James McMaster, Chris-

topher MuUer, Cyrus Mitchell, Jolin H. Mitchell, Andrew Morehouse,

Carlo Mosier, Jose Mayor, August Mitjen, John Mentin, William

H. Norton, Smith Olaw, George D. Palmer, Jolm F. Peck, John

Palmer, Miles Pedro, Shephard Packhard, Sanford B. Palmer, Shel-

don F. Prout, John Qninn, Albert Eobinson, Dayton Reed, Charles

J. Reed, Isaac L. Reed, Ralph Rowley, Charles E. Reea, John Rogers,

John Ryan, Thomas Redding, Milo Reynolds, Jolin Rowley, Robert

A. Sedgwick, William Shephard, Dwight D. Studley, George W.

Studley, Elisha Soule, John Stevenson. Edward Saunders, Josiah

Starr, Lewis H, Stan-, James Sullivan, James Sintun, George C.

Skiff, James Savoy, Chester Slover, William A. Smith, William

Smith, Almond Slover, Robert Shea, William Smith, Lyman Teator,

Charles P. Traver, Charles H. Treadway, John Tuttle, David Taylor,

Johu Taylor, Jolin Thompson, John Tracy, Henry Tohoff, Henry

Valentine, William Waldion, Elmore E. Waldron, Henry Wheeler,

Joseph Wheeler, Benjamin Wilson, Peter Welch, William Waters,

Charles Witham, Ransom Welton, Lockwood Waldron, Thomas

Wilson, Horace C. Warner, Charles L. Wardwell, Edmund Whitney,

James Wilton, George Williams, Frederick White, and Napoleon

Wilson.

The following were drafted in 1862

:

Gordon J. Peet, Cyrenus Hunter, Albert F. Roberts, William E. Brown,

Albert Scott, Daniel P. Griswold, Newton Bump, Aaron H. Dunbar,

George W. Birdsell, William E. Marsh, Frederick Northrup, Charles

P. St. John, Charles B. Everitt, Joshua B. Chaffee, Ezekiel S. Whit-

ney, John Van Dusen, George D. Williams, Charles W. Reed, Rich-

ard Woodward, Asa Smith, Chesterfield Chapman, Hilan B. Eggles-

ton, Richard F. Everitt, Elias B. Reed, Henry Bush, William Bush,

William Chapman, Baldwin Reed (2d), James Kelly, and Charles

Hotchkiss.

All of the above named procured substitutes except

William Chapman, son of the late Lovell W. Chap-

man, who died in the hospital in Washington within

a few weeks after being mustered into the service.

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES.

JOHN C. JACKSON.

Jolin C. Jackson was born in Sharon, June 3, 1813.

He is a direct descendant of Deacon Ebenezer Jack-

son, who came from Norwalk and settled in an early

day on the same lot on Sharon Mountain now in

possession of his descendants. Deacon Ebenezer was

early chosen deacon of the church (the second who

held that ofiice in Sharon), and was a highly-esteemed

and useful citizen. He had six sons, most of whom
settled in the eastern part of Sharon. An uncommon

interest attaches to the place on which he settled,

from the fact that it has been held by only two fam-

ilies from its settlement to the present time.

John C. was eldest son of Calvin and Mary (Wil-

liams) Jackson, and has resided during his whole life

within half a mile of his birthplace. His education

was confined to such attendance at the primitive

schools of Sharon as could be obtained by a hard-

working farmer's boy, and that acquired by practice

with the axe and plow. He was brought up to thor-

oughly understand farming, and has never desired to

change his avocation. Nov. 18, 1840, he married

Jane, daughter of James Jarvis and Mrs. Lucy

Sandford, his wife, whose maiden name was Piatt.

They have six children, one other dying in early life;

they are Helen (Mrs. Hannon Fairchild, of Corn-

wall), Julia (Mrs. Martin Hungerford, of Gaylords-

ville), John C. (who married Fanny, daughter of

Nelson Landon), Frances (Mrs. Levi Blydenburgh, of

New Haven), Florence (Mrs. William Hawley, of

Sherman), and Charles Sedgwick, who lives with his

parents. Mr. Jackson has never wanted to attract

public attention, has never taken office, but patiently,

steadily, and unostentatiously has pursued a quiet

life, and has been highly favored with success in his

calling. In politics is a Republican ; before that party

was formed a Whig.

We add some further facts of the early family here.

Ebenezer Jackson's grandson John settled where

John Jackson, Jr., now lives. He was a thoroughly

unselfish man, and would always disoblige himself to

accommodate a neighbor. It was a common saying,

quaint but expressive, " He always took hold of the

butt end of the log." He was particularly noted for

his strict honesty, which trait was also prominent in

his descendants, and strongly manifested in his son

Calvin, father of the present John Jackson. The
Jacksons were peaceable men, attending strictly to

their own business, yet always ready to extend a help-

ing hand to any one in time of need.

The Jarvis family, to which Mrs. Jackson belongs,

is one of the oldest and proudest families in America.

They are found in nearly every one of the United

States, and consequence of th e firm loyalty to the crown

of some of those living in the Revolutionary days, in the

British provinces as well. It is generally conceded

that they are of English extraction, coming to England

from Normandy at the time of William the Conquer-

or. The Norman spelling of the name was Gervais.

The first name found is Jean Gervais, resident at

Bretagne about 1400. The changes of the name
from Gervasius, or Gervais, to Jervis, Jarvie, Jarvis,

have by no means clouded or in any way thrown

doubt upon its identity. It has been strikingly the

same through all its variations, as well as the features

and peculiar characteristics of the people. In every

generation have been found men of talent and exalted

worth. Probably a greater number of the name have

been professional men—clergymen, lawyers, judges

—

than of any other family now resident on this conti-

nent. "The name has given dignity to the bench

and bar ; it has graced the professions of medicine

and surgery; it has adorned the pulpit and the stage;

it has entwined its garlands of poetry with music and

painting ; it has thundered its deeds of daring over

the ocean wave, and among the distant isles of the

sea."

Mrs. Jackson is a lineal descendant, in the sixth

generation, from William Jarvis, of Huntingdon, L.

I., whose sons, William and Samuel, and daughter,

Mary Seymour, settled in Norwalk, Conn., in the early

part of the eighteenth century. It is a pleasing task
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to record the virtues and excellences of the brave men
and loyal women who have borne the name of Jarvis,

and to find the same characteristics in the present as

in the oldtime generations, showing the same dis-

tinctive qualities of integrity, honor, and love of coun-

try. To show the atmosphere in which Mrs. Jarvis

was reared, we quote the following from a letter writ-

ten by her brother, David S. Jarvis :

" On the breaking out of the Rebellion I was on a

visit to my parents, whom I never failed to visit once

a year. I told them it was a critical time for our

country (this was in 1862), when both became much ex-

cited. They hoped I could give them some good news

;

but I could not. My mother exclaimed, ' David, you

have three good boys, Abram, Charles, and Howard:

go yourself, with them, to the war, and I will go, as 1

can take care of the sick, or make lint for the

wounded,—this government must be preserved ! Your
forefather was of Revolutionary stock, and the coun-

try must live!' My father also added that he hoped

to live long enough to see the Rebellion crushed,

when he would be willing to die. He wanted to feel

that he had left a country untorn by civil war, and as

it was designed by the founders of the republic."

All three of the sons mentioned went to the war,

and one of them died in Charleston. The mother,

above alluded to, was then over seventy years old, and

the spirit she manifested would have honored many a

younger woman. It is a pleasure to add that both

she and her husband lived to see the long, dark night

of war succeeded by the sunshine of peace and the

triumph of the Union.

JOHN S. JEWETT.

Capt. Caleb Jewett was from Norwich, now Lisbon,

in 1743. He first purchased the lot on which George

Smith lived, but sold it in 1744 to Deacon Elmer,

and bought the farm now in possession of his great-

grandson, Simeon B. Jewett. He was selectman of

the town twelve years, and representative to the Gen-
eral Assembly at eleven sessions. He was a man of

energy, and useful in his day and generation. He
died Jan. 18, 1778, in the sixty-eighth year of his age.

He had sons,—Caleb, Nathan, Thaddeus, and Alphcus.

Alpheus married Abigail Sears, Feb. 1.5, 1781, and

in Rev. Fitch Reed's " History of Methodism in

Sharon" occurs the following: " Mr. Alpheus Jewett

(father of Rev. William Jewett, of New York Con-
ference, and of Hon. Judge Jewett, of Skaneatcles,

N. Y.) and his wife were the first persons who joined

the Metliodist Ciiurch in Connecticut. Freeborn

Garretson was tlie first Methodist preacher who visited

tiiat section." Mr. Jewett had a long life of much
public employment and of great usefulness, and died

Oct. 5, 1841, at tlie advanced age of eighty-six years.

He liad the great satisfaction of seeing his children

filling some of the most responsible positions with

credit to themselves, and to the thorough training of

their Christian parents.

John S. Jewett was born in Sharon, Sept. 19, 1806.

His years of childhood were passed on the homestead,

which has been for four generations in possession of

the family. He was educated at the public and

private schools of Sharon, and always resided on the

place where he was born. He was twice married,

first to Julia Ann Stephens, April 15, 1832, by whom
he had two children,—Mary W. (Mrs. John Sears, of

Cornwall, 111.) and Julia A. S. (Mrs. V. G. Sears, of

East Bloomfield, N. Y.). She died March 8, 1835.

March 10, 1838, he married Caroline, daughter of

Henry Johnson, of Norwalk, Conn. They had four

children,—Nathan H., Simeon B. (born June 22,

1846), Rebecca G., and William. Simeon is the only

one surviving. When he was of age, Mr. Jewett as-

.sumed the management of his father's farm, and was

ever after identified with the farming interests of

Sharon. About 1835 he engaged in manufacturing

at Sharon Valley, and continued for several years

making goods of malleable iron. After selling out

this business he remained a farmer only until his

death. He was a good and shrewd business man, was

often chosen to hold the various responsible offices of

the town, represented Sharon in the Legislature, and

was a railroad commissioner for the State of Con-

necticut. He died Oct. 13, 1878, of an apoplectic

stroke.

RALPH DEMING, iM.D.

The first ancestor of Dr. Deming in this country

was John Deming, who settled at Wethersfield, Conn.,

as early as 1635. He was a prominent man, often a

member of the colonial Legislature from 1641 to

1661, and his name appears in the cliarter of 1662.

His wife was daughter of Richard Treat, an early

settler of distinction, and sister of Governor Robert

Treat, well known for his civil and military record,

and for fifteen years the chief magistrate of the Con-

necticut colony.

Dr. Dcming's father, Daniel Deming, came from

Saybrook to Sharon in 1782, and here liulph was

born, Oct. 19, 1798. From a very early age he mani-

fested the traits of thoroughness and energy which

marked his whole life, and by his own exertions

obtained a good academic education. He studied

medicine under the instruction of Dr. John Sears,

att€n<ling medical lectures at the Medical Department

of Yale College, New Haven, where he was gradu-

ated J'eb. 25, 1824. Returning to Sharon, he com-

menced his ])rofe8sion«l life, which li(^ted for more

than half a century, during which time he attained a

profeswional standing second to none in tlie State.

One who knew him well says, " He possessed a

thorough knowledge of disease, its points of differ-

ence from other diseases, its symptoms, their relations

to each other, and to the state of the different organs

and functions of the body, generally comprehended

under the title of diagnosis iu works of medical re-
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search. He carefully studied the constitutions of his

patients, and adapted his treatment to the varied

temperaments of different and opposite physical or-

ganizations. This insured him wonderful success in

cases often of extraordinary delicacy of system."

While Dr. Deming wa.s moderate and conservative in

his theory and practice, he at the same time studied

with attention the works of the great writers, and was

often called in council by the ablest of the profession,

and his advice was heeded as that of a wise and safe

counselor. He was a good thinker, a careful ob-

server, and a close reasoner. His motives were right,

and Jie thoroughly believed in the power of con-

scientious action in the ministrations of his profes-

sion. " Character, Christian character," he used to

say, "adds to the ability and power of the physician."

Dr. Deming was an active member of the Connecticut

Medical Society, often a fellow of the State Society,

and for years a permanent member of the American
Medical Association, and was a delegate from Con-

necticut to a meeting of the last-named body at Chi-

cago.

Dr. Deming married, June 5, 1827, Miss Mary T.

Cornwall, of Paterson, N. Y. Two children, Erastus

A. and H. Eliza, survive him, and now reside in

Sharon.

Dr. Deming was as strong and prominent in politics

as in his profession. Believing, with Andrew Jackson,

that Democracy gave the " greatest good to the

greatest number," he was unswerving in his allegiance

to its principles. He represented Sharon in the Legis-

latures of 1835, 1839, and 1867, and his district in the

State Senates of 1853 and 1854.

Dr. Deming commenced life with absolutely noth-

ing, acquired a large landed estate, was fond of agri-

culture and its improvement, and when he died left a

handsome property to his descendants. From early

manhood he was connected with the Episcopal

Church, and was for twenty-seven years a warden,

and contributed liberally to its support.

A wise physician, a cherished neighbor, a worthy

Christian, a kind and loving husband and father, he

died July 21, 1877, universally mourned, at the ad-

vanced age of seventy-nine years.

GAMALIEL H. ST. JOHN.

Gamaliel H. St. John was born Sept. 2, 1804, on

the same place, in Sharon, as his brother. When
about seven years old he had a severe attack of the

terrible epidemic which then raged in Sharon, and

never fully recovered. Being thus left weak, and not

fitted for the rough work of the farmers of that day,

he applied himself to study diligently at the district

schools, and under instruction of Kev. Mr. Gridley,

then pastor of the Congregational Church. He was
an apt student, and made good progress. He read

medicine with Dr. Clark Chapman, attended medical

lectures at Yale College, and was graduated from

that celebrated school as M.D. about 182G. Shortly

after he commenced the practice of his profession at

Gaylord.sville, and by his attention to his patients,

and the skill manifested by him, he soon acquired

a large practice, which he held many years. He
worked hard, never sparing himself when suffering

humanity called for his aid. He was prospered finan-

cially, and at his death (as he was never married) he
was able to give (and did do so) substantial tokens of

remembrance to his near relatives. In 1873 he re-

moved to Sharon, retiring from practice, and made
his home with his sister, Mrs. Gibbs W. Skiff, of

Ellsworth. His death occurred Aug. 15, 1877, and a

handsome monument in the little cemetery of Ells-

worth, bearing his name and the inscription, " The
Beloved Physician," testifies to the general belief of

his worthiness.

THE PECK FAMILY.

William Peck, the first of this family in America,

arrived in Boston, from England, June 26, 1637, with

his wife Elizabeth and son Jeremiah. He was born

in London or vicinity in 1601, and was there married,

about 1622. In 1638 he became one of the original

proprietors of New Haven, Conn., and his signature

is affixed to the agreement or constitution for the gov-

ernment of that colony, dated June 4, 1639. He was

made a freeman of the colony Oct. 20, 1640, and was

evidently a man of means and high social standing.

He was a merchant, and was also trustee, treasurer,

and general business manager of the " Colony Colle-

giate School." In the old records he is recorded as

" Mr.," then a title of honor and distinction. From
1659 until his death, Oct. 4, 1694, at the advanced age

of ninety-three years, he was a deacon of the New
Haven Church. His four children, Jeremiah, John,

Joseph, and Elizabeth, all children of his first wife,

Elizabeth, survived him. His grave is in that part

of the old burial-ground now under the Centre church,

in New Haven.

Jeremiah was born in London or vicinity in 1623.

He had a classical education, and had been preaching

or teaching school at Guilford, Conn., for some time,

when, Nov. 12, 1656, he married Johanna, daughter

of Robert Kitchell, a prominent man, and one of the

founders of Guilford. He continued in the same

calling until 1660, when he was invited to take charge

of the collegiate school at New Haven, Conn., insti-

tuted by the General Court in 1659 as a classical

school for the colony. It was not supported properly,

was temporarily suspended, afterwards revived, and

comes down to the present generation as " Hopkins

Grammar School." After a few years' settlement as

pastor at Saybrook, he became one of the first settlers

of Newark, N. J., and finally was settled at Elizabeth-

town, N. J., about 1670, as their first minister. After

numerous calls to pastorates in divers places, in Octo-

ber, 1678, he accepted one from Greenwich, Conn.,
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and became the first settled minister in that town.

His pastorate was a useful one, but, owing to differ-

ences in views about baptisms, he resigned his charge

in 1689. He theu commenced preaching in Water-

bury, Conn., received and accepted the unanimous

call of the residents of that town to settle with them
in the ministry, removed thither in 1690, and became

the first settled minister in that town also. He was

then nearly seventy years of age, was always pos-

sessed of much energy and ability, and did much
good, both as teacher and minister. He continued,

with failing health, to discharge his official duties

until his decease, in Waterbury, June 7, 1699. His

wife survived him twelve years. Their children were

Samuel, Ruth, Caleb, Anne, Jeremiah, and Joshua.

Samuel,' eldest son of Eev. Jeremiah, was born in

Guilford, Conn., Jan. 18, 1659; came to Greenwich,

Conn., with his father, in 1678; was well educated;

married, Nov. 27, 1686, Ruth, daughter of Peter, and

granddaughter of Jeffrey Ferris, of Stamford, Conn.

;

became a man of large wealth and influence ; for fifty

years was justice of the peace, held other prominent

positions, and was the progenitor of the numerous

Peck families of Greenwich, where he died, April 28,

1746, leaving children,—Samuel, ^ Jeremiah, Joseph.

David, Nathaniel, EHphalet, Theophilus, Peter, and

Robert.

Samuel Peck^ was born in Greenwich, March, 1688

;

married in 1715 ; was a carpenter, and also a farmer.

He lived in Greenwich during his life, and died in

December, 1733. (His widow married John Clogston

in 1735, soon removed to Redding, Conn., where she

died, leaving two daughters, born in Redding, one of

whom, Abigail, married Capt. Enoch Parsons, and

died in Sharon, June 6, 1807. Betsy, their daughter,

was the wife of Deacon Calvin Peck, spoken of far-

ther on in this sketch.) The children of SamuePand
his wife Elizabeth were Mary, .John, Samuel', and

Ruth.

Samuel Peck' was born in Greenwich, Conn., in

April, 1720, and married Mary, daughter of James

Ferris, of tlie same town. Mr. Peck resided in old

Greenwich, was a valuable citizen, a man of great

force and decision of character, and for years was

deacon of the First Congregational Church in Green-

wich. His death occurred Jan. 29, 1793. He left

nine children, of wliom Calvin was seventh child and

fourth son.

Calvin Peck was born in Greenwich, Dec. 4, 1764,

and married, as above stated, Betsy, daughter of

Capt. Enoch Parsons. Mr. Peck became a resident

of Sharon about 1788. He was a soldier in the Rev-

olutionary war, a carpenter by trade, and deacon of

the Congregational Church in Sharon. He was an

honest, industrious man, and held in high esteem by

his fcllow-townsnicn, and was intrusted with numer-

ous public trusts. He had nine children, of whom
Enoch P. was eldest son, and died Sept. 1, 1837.

Enoch Parsons Peck was born in Greenwich, Nov.

14, 1787, and came in infancy with his parents to

Sharon. He early learned the carpenter trade of his

father, and continued that avocation until about forty

years of age, earning by it the money which pur-

chased the place now owned and occupied by his son,

Augustus L., and after the death of his father he

bought the interests of the other heirs in the old home-

stead. He afterwards purchased the Tanner farm,

and became the owner of about four hundred and

forty acres of land in Sharon. He was married, Nov.

7, 1815, to Mary, daughter of Ebenezer and Hannah
(Lockwood) Peck, of Greenwich, and had three chil-

dren,—Augustus L., Elias R., and Charles W. He
at various times held important town offices, was a

lifelong member of the Congregational Church, and

for many years was connected with that of Sharon.

He was an " Old-Line" Whig, as was his father, and

none of his sons have ever deviated from his princi-

ples. He died Aug. 24, 1858, in the same house that

his father built on his settlement in Sharon, and

where he also died. Mrs. Peck survived him, dying

March 28, 1866.

Augustus L. Peck was born in Sharon, Sept. 8,

1816. He spent his boyhood with his father on the

farm ; had common-school advantages ; stayed with

his father until his marriage to Mary, youngest daugh-

ter of Freeman W. Parsons, Jan. 6, 1841,* when he

moved to the place where he now resides. He always

has been a farmer, and has taken pride in his calling.

He has particularly devoted himself to producing fine

cattle, and has received very large prices for them. He
has never accepted office, but has been a hard-working,

energetic citizen of independent thought and action.

Knowing the secret of taking care of property, as well

as acquiring it, he is to-day in the front rank of Sharon's

representative agriculturists, and possessed of a liand-

some projicrty. He has been an active Republican

from the organization of that party.

Elias R. Peck was born Oct. 10, 1824. He was ed-

ucated at public and private schools in Sharon,

worked as a farmer at home till lie was thirty years

old, when, Oct. 28, 1854, he married Miss Euphemia

E. Nodine, and soon moved to Stamford, Conn., and

entered into trade as a merchant in company with

Hiram Reynolds. He afterwards moved to South

Norwalk, was a merchant there a few years, but the

salt air not agreeing with him, lie returned to Sharon,

and after his father's death occupied a portion of the

old homestead, where he died, Oct. 21, 1864, leaving

no children.

Charles W. Peck wius born Dec. 18, 1831. He
always lived with his father, working the farm for the

two years previous to his father's death in 1858. He
had tlie instruction given at district schools, and also

attended a private school taught in Cornwall by a Mr.

Howe. He married, Nov. 3, 18.")8, Julia JI., daugh-

ter of Austin and Thirza D. (Jackson) Cartwright.

* Sm biographical ik^tcb of ChirlM M. and F. I.. PIsnaii.
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This family is one of Sliaron's old families, and Mrs.

Peck is a distant relative of tlie celebrated Kev. Peter

Cartwright. Mr. Peck is a successful farmer, attend-

ing strictly to business, and by inheritance and dili-

gence, economy and industry, he is now in posses-

sion of a fine property. While a strong Republican,

he is not a politician, and voted for Horace Greeley

for President in 1872. Mr. and Mrs. Peck have but

one child now living, Ella M., who was born Sept.

29, 1873.

LEMUEL PECK.

Julius Peck, son of Amiel Peck, was born in

Brookfield, Conn. He was a tanner and currier,

and also a farmer. He married Sarah Dunning, and

had nine children,—Polly (deceased), Amiel, Betsy

(deceased), Lemuel, Sarah (deceased), Amanda (de-

ceased), Harriet, Julius B., and Cyrenus H.

Amiel now resides in Ohio, Julius B. in Illinois,

and Cyrenus H. in Brookfield, Conn.

Julius Peck settled in Sharon, on the farm now
owned by his son Lemuel, and where all the family,

save the eldest, were born. He died March 23, 1823,

aged fifty-eight years. Amiel, Sr., was a tanner and

currier, and shoemaker and farmer. He died far ad-

vanced in life.

Lemuel Peck was born July 25, 1802. He had no

other educational advantages than those secured by
' attendance at the common schools of Sharon, and

about 1819 he began to learn the trade of country

cloth-dressing, and had finished it in 1822. For three

or four seasons he has worked at his trade, but farm-

ing has been his principal business. He was the

eldest son, and by his father's death the responsibil-

ity of "head of the family" devolved on him, and

faithfully did he discharge this duty, changing for

this the whole tenor of this life. His infirm mother

and maiden sisters have never lost his care nor ceased

to experience his affectionate solicitude.

In politics Mr. Peck has been a lifelong Democrat,

and has been called to fill various town offices. He
has been frugal, and is in possession of a handsome

property.

CHARLES M. PARSONS AND F. L. PIERSON.

Stephen Pierson (called Parsons), whodiedin Derby,

Conn., May 14, 1739, aged ninety-four years, is the

oldest ancestor that can be traced of this family.

His will was dated Sept. 2, 1733. He married Mary
Tomlinson, of Stratford, Conn., who died Sept. 25,

1715. His second wife, Esther, survived him. He
had six children (perhaps more),—Stephen, Abraham
(called Sergeant), John, Mary, who married Josiah

Baldwin, Sept. 19, 1700; Sarah, married to John

Twitchell, Jan. 21, 1679; Bathsheba (Mrs. Adam
Blackman, of Stratford). Mary Tomlinson was

daughter of Henry Tomlinson and Alice, his wife.

Tliey removed from Watertown, Mass., about 1644,

to Milford about 1652, to Stratford about 1665, where

he died, March 16, 1681. His widow married John
Birdsey, under a contract of Oct. 8, 1688.

Stephen Pierson was born in England about 1645,

was apprenticed by his mother, probably a widow, to

Thomas Mulliner, of Branford, Conn., to learn the

carpenter's trade, and came to New Haven about

1654. The colonial records say he testified in court

at New Haven on a case of witchcraft, June 30, 1657.

He was a resident of Derby, then Pangasset, on

March 15, 1667, and was probably there in 1666.

The reservoir in Derby covers a part of the home-lot

of four acres where Stephen first resided in that town.

Abraham Pierson and Sarah, his wife, resided in

Derby, and had six children,—Sarah, Abraham, Mary,

Hannah, Stephen, and Bathsheba. His list in 1717

was forty-eight pounds ten shillings. His will

was dated April 26, 1750, and he died about 1773.

His son Stephen was born March 4, 1720, and mar-

ried Hannah Munson, June 15, 1738. She was born

in Derby, March 7, 1721, and was daughter of John

and Elizabeth Munson, of Derby, and granddaughter

of John and Hannah Munson, of Brook Haven, L. L
Their children were Enoch, Elijah, Rachel, Daniel,

and Eli. Mr. Pierson's will was dated Feb. 2, 1753,

and he died in Derby about 1754. His widow mar-

ried Elijah Davis, of Derby, survived him, and died

in Alford, Berkshire Co., Mass., Nov. 19, 1815. (The

spelling of the name was by this time almost uni-

versally Parsons.)

Enoch Parsons was born June 18, 1739, in Derby,

and after the death of his father, being then about

fifteen years old, went as servant of a British officer

to Canada, in the French and Indian war of 1755.

After he returned he learned the carpenter's trade,

and worked in Newtown, Conn., where, Feb. 11, 1761,

he married Abigail, daughter of John Clogston and

Elizabeth, his wife, widow of Samuel Peck, Jr., of

Greenwich, Conn. She was born in Redding, March

22, 1738. They had two children born in Newtown,

Betsy and Mary Wakeman, and removed to Ells-

worth society, Sharon, April 9, 1764. There Abi-

gail, Amarillis, Stephen, Enoch, Freeman W., and

Amideus were born. Mrs. Parsons died in Sharon,

June 6, 1807. Capt. Enoch, as he was called, bought

the homestead where he settled of John Jackson, son

of Deacon Ebenezer Jackson, and it is in the posses-

sion of his great-grandson, F. L. Pierson, and his

present home. Capt. Enoch was a man of more edu-

cation than most of his day, and was appointed to

" line the psalm," agreeable to the ancient manner of

singing in public worship. He became a large land-

owner, and was a man of great energy, prominent in

I public affiiirs, represented Sharon in the Legislature

of October, 1795, and was selectman, assessor, etc.,

several terms. For his second wife Capt. Enoch

married Abigail, widow of Deacon Silas St. John, of

Ellsworth, Oct. 8, 1809. She died Nov. 12, 1823. He
died Oct. 1, 1827, at the hale old age of eighty-eight

years.
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Amideus was born April 29, 1780. He married

Aurelia Miles, and had several children. Charles M.,

his son, was born March 12, 1812, in Ellsworth parish,

Sharon. He had a common-school education, and

never left his parents, but became a farmer, and lived

with his father until his death in 1866. He had the

management of the farm after he was thirty years,

and specially devoted himself to stock-raising, and

was very successful. Charles was a prominent man
in town affairs and local politics. He was selectman

for years, judge of probate, and represented Sharon

in the Legislature of 1858. He was an old-fashioned

Whig, but acted with the Republican party from its

formation. He was a generous and public-spirited

man, responding promptly to every call for aid,

whether in church matters, town improvements, or

individual charity. His health failed so that he dis-

continued farming for the latter part of his life. He
never married, and died at Norfolk, Aug. 2, 1872.

His mother died Jan. 13, 1871. Mr. Parsons was a

man who bad an unusual number of friends, and at

the time of his death had probably not a single

enemy. " The memory of his deeds lives in pleasant

remembrances."

Freeman W. Parsons was born March 16, 1776, and

was not named when the news came that the " Declar-

ation of Independence" was signed, and the patriotic

parents, to testify their joy and commemorate the oc-

casion, named him Free-man Washington. He was

born, lived, and died on the place in Sharon where

his father settled. He married Mary Skiff, in October,

1797, who was born in Ellsworth, Sept. 23, 1774. She

was daughter of Samuel and Mary Skifl', from Mar-

tha's Vineyard. (See biography of Samuel Skiff.)

They had five children.^John, Betsy, Daniel, Pau-

lina, and Mary L. (Mrs. A. L. Peck.). Mrs. Parsons

died Nov. 18, 1846, and he married Anna Maria

Boardman for his second wife. Mr. Parsons was

selectman and constable several times. He was a

good scholar, and was fond of an argument. His oc-

cupation was farming. He died July 21, 1861.

John, his son, was born Nov. 6, 1799, on the old

homestead, and married, in Greenwich, Conn., Nov.

30, 1821, Sarah, daughter of Frederick and Deborah

(Reynolds) Lockwood, of that town. She was born

Sept. 19, 1799, in Greenwich. Her grandparents

were Jonathan and Mercy (Finch) Lockwood, and

Nathaniel and Sarah (Lockwood) Reynolds. They
had children,—Frederick Lockwood, Mary Eliza-

beth, Harriet Louisa, John Albert, Caroline (Mrs. F.

A. Hotchkiss, deceased), Sarah Augusta, Frances

Aphelia, Cordelia, and Augustus. Both Mr. and

Mrs. Pierson are living at this writing.

Frederick Lockwood Pierson was born on the old

homestead, in Sharon, Sept. 23, 1822, in the same
house where he now resides, and which was built by

his grandfather. Freeman W., about 1800. Frederick

had a common-school education, and began to teach

district schools when eighteen years old. He taught

ten winters and two summers, and between his terms

of school was employed in farming. He married

Susan, daughter of Herman and Caroline (Whit-

comb) Skiff, in Ellsworth, Feb. 2, 1851. Their chil-

C/W^^djUiA^-Qyfi CO ^^^^AJLyiA-r\^
dren are Mary, Edward, Eliza, and George. Mr.

Pierson is an active man of good judgment, and oc-

cupies a high position in the estimation of his fellow-

citizens. He is an ardent advocate of education, and

a supporter of all things tending to the advancement

and betterment of society. He has steadily refused

office, and devotes himself fully to his " profession,"

farming, and were all farmers to take the pride he

takes, and strive as he strives, to advance the dignity

of agriculture, it would not be long before it would be

really a " profession" to all, instead of a drudging

employment.

SAMUEL SKIFF, JR., AND GIBBS W. SKIFF.

The Skiff family was originally from England,

James Skiff and two brothers residing in Londcm at

the time of the " (Jreat Plague" ( 1(;65). The brothers

fell victims to the epidemic, and James emigrateil to

Martha's Vinyard, settling there, or on the mainland

near by. The branch of the family of whom we
write are his descendants.

Samuel Skiff, Sr., was born in Martha's Vinyard,

Mass., Jan. 23, 1744. In early life he wn.s a fanner,

afterwards, becoming a sailor, went on four whaling

voyages. He married Mary, daughter of Benjamin

Skill", and moved to Sharon, Conn., in 1774, when

it was almost a wilderness, and purchased the place
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so long in the family when but one-half acre had

been cleared of the original forest. He was an

active, energetic man, well fitted to endure the hard-

ships of pioneer life. He had six children,—Arvin,

Gibbs, Mary (Mrs. Freeman W. Parsons), Asa, Eliza-

beth (Mrs. James Woodward), and Samuel, Jr. The
last four were born in Sharon. He and his wife died

within two days of each other, and both were eighty-

one years of age. He died Dec. 27, and she Dec. 29,

1824.

Samuel Skiff, Jr., was born in Sharon, Sept. 21,

1781, on the place now owned and occupied by his

son, Gibbs W., in the house built by his father. He
had a common-school education, became a farmer,

married, April 28, 1808, Jerusha, daughter of Abel

Woodward, of Watertown, and always resided where

he was born. They had three sons,—Gibbs W., Clark

S., and George L. ; the last two are dead. Mr. Skiff

was a quiet man, a good citizen, a consistent Chris-

tian,—a man who said but little, but who was esteemed

a worthy man in his day and generation, his actions

speaking louder far than words of a well-ordered life.

His word, when given, was as good as his bond, and

neither were ever repudiated. In the home circle he

was kind and affectionate, and enjoyed its society

more than that of any other place. He never cared

for office, but was a quiet voter of the Whig ticket.

He was much respected in his neighborhood and

church. He died March 2, 1862; Mrs. Skiff died

March 13, 1844.

Gibbs Woodward Skiff was born July 13, 1810, in

Sharon, in the house built by his grandfather on the

place where he first settled. He passed his early life

in the customary employments of a farmer's boy, was

educated at the public and private schools of Sharon,

and commenced teaching winter terms of district

school when but seventeen years of age. He con-

tinued teaching for twelve winters, working on the

farm in summer. Jan. 1, 1834, he married Abigail

E., daughter of Silas and Olive (Barstow) St. John,

of Sharon.* She was born Nov. 8, 1811. For four

years the young couple lived at the old homestead,

for six years more on the place adjacent, where Gibbs

Skiff now resides. After his mother's death, Mr.

Skiff moved again to the old homestead, and assumed

charge of the farm. For nearly fifty years this worthy

couple have walked hand-in-hand the pathway of
j

life, for forty years have belonged to the Congrega-

tional Church of Ellsworth, and in all ways have *

given their best efforts to the advancement of every

good and Christian enterprise. For over twenty

years Mr. Skiff has held the honorable position of

deacon in his church. In politics he was formerly a

Whig, and is now a Republican. He has been select-
I

man, assessor for many years, and represented Sharon

in the State Legislature of 1851. His only child,

Lucy M., was married, April 4, 1835, to Giles Skiff,

* For fuller Bketch of her family, see history of the St. John family,

on another page.

and lives close to the old home. They have two sons,

Clark E. and Francis S.

Mr. Skiff is justly entitled to take rank as one of

Sharon's leading and successful agriculturists, he
and his son-in-law having about three hundred and
seventy-five acres of land in their possession.

SETH B. ST. JOHN AND HENRY ST. JOHN.

It is with pleasure that the historian records on
the pages of history a few words to tell to coming
generations something of the men engaged in the

work of the first century of civilization in Sharon.

In this welcome task perhaps no one family deserves

more notice, from their numbers, than that of St.

John. The branch of this family settling in this

town has borne the family characteristics, and its

members have been intelligent, industrious, reputable

citizens. Timothy, Daniel, and Silas St. John, broth-

ers, came from Norwalk, Conn., to Sharon,—Timothy
in 1756, Daniel in 1761, and Silas during the Revo-

lution. Silas purchased land in Ellsworth parish,

near where his grandson, Henry St. John, now re-

sides. He was the first deacon of the church in Ells-

worth, and was for several years town treasurer, and

died Sept. 21, 1805, aged sixty-four years. Silas St.

John, Jr., was born in Ellsworth, Sept. 11, 1772. He
learned the mason's trade, but became a farmer, and

married Olive, daughter of Seth Barstow, of whom
Gen. Sedgwick's "History of Sharon" says, "Seth

Barstow was from Rochester, Mass., in 1771. He
lived at the lower end of Abel Street, where his

grandson, Seth B. St. John, now lives. He had five

sons,—Allen, Samuel, Seth, Gamaliel, and Charles.

Samuel was a physician, who formerly lived in Great

Barrington, Mass., and who died there in 1813. Ga-

maliel was also a physician, residing in Broome Co.,

N. Y. He was a member of Congress and a member
of the Senate, and treasurer of the State of New
York. Mr. Barstow, the father, died in 1822."

Mr. St. John was selectman for many years. In

politics he was a Federalist in early life, and after-

wards a Whig. He was highly esteemed by his fel-

low-townsmen, and noted for his conscientiousness

and strict honesty. He died Oct. 22, 1848. He left

three sons,—Seth B., Gamaliel H., and Henry.

Seth Barstow St. .lohn, his oldest son, was born

July 19, 1798. He passed his early life on his father's

farm, and became a diligent farmer. From the time

he was of age until he was twenty-nine he worked

farms on shares. He was economical, as well as in-

dustrious, and was prospered. Nov. 27, 1827, he

married Henrietta, daughter of Aaron and Polly

Dunbar. They had four children,—Beriah B., Melissa

(Mrs. Leavitt Mills, of Bristol), Alvah R., and El-

more C. She died Sept. 16, 1837. He married for

his second wife Emily Cartwright, March 12, 1839.

Her death occurred Oct. 10, 1852. They had one
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child, Henrietta. He subsequently married Marilla

S. Lyman, of New Hartford. Mr. St. John has

had an uncommonly vigorous constitution, and has

labored hard. He has been a successful agricul-

turist, and has amassed a good property as the result

of his skill. He has held many positions of tru.st,

has served various terms as selectman, has been asses-

sor many years, and represented Sharon in the Legis-

lature of 1859. At the first election by the people

for justice of the peace, Mr. St. John was elected, but

never qualified. He has been a member of the Meth-

odist Episcopal Church in Ellsworth since 1865, and

has been treasurer and trustee of that society for

years. He is a man of positive convictions, and a

strong Democrat, ever clinging to the Constitution as

the bulwark of American liberty, and steadily oppo-

sing any departure from its teachings.

Henry St. John was born on the old homestead,

in Sharon, Oct. 10, 1806. He passed his early years

at home, received a common-school education, and

when about twenty-one years old commenced teach-

ing winter terms of district school. This he continued

for several years, working on the farm in summer.

From the time he was of age he had a share in the

products of the farm, and worked with his father

until 1848, when, on the death of his father, he pur-

chased the interests of the other heirs, and now occu-

pies the old home, one of the pleasantest places in

Sharon, a view of which may be seen on another

page of this history. He also is one of Sharon's

leading farmers, owning about two hundred and thirty

acres in Ellsworth. He has been prominent in local

matters, is always progressive, and ready to aid all

things tending to improve ox elevate the community

or town. His fellow-citizens have often called him

to offices in their gifl. He has been, at different times,

selectman, assessor, member of board of relief, and

represented Sharon in the Legislature of 1856. He
was first a Whig, afterwards a " Know-Nothing," but

from the formation of the Republican i)arty ha-s been

an active member of that organization. He lias been

twice married, first, June 10, 1835, to Catharine A.

Wheeler, of North East, N. Y. Their only child,

Catharine, married Richard F. Everett, and now re-

sides at Galva, 111. Mrs. St. John died Jan. 3, 1837.

His second wife was Almira C, daughter of Amideus

and Aurclia (Miles) Parsons, of an old Sharon family.

They were married Nov. 1, 1838. She was born

March 6, 1815. Their children are Charles P., Aurelia

M. (Mrs. William Marsh), Cordelia M. (deceased),

Pluma B. (Mrs. H. A. Stanard, of Norfolk), and
Belle. _

SAMUEL DEAN.

Daniel Dean was a resident of Cornwall, Conn., n

weaver by trade, and moved to Ellsworth, afterwards to

Amenia, where he died in April, 1850. He had five

children,—Joseph, Samuel, Ira, Clorinda, and Daniel.

Samuel was born in Cornwall (Great Hill), Nov. 21,

1812. His early life was passed with his father, with

common-school advantages. He became a farmer,

living with and supporting his parents until his

marriage, Nov. 19, 1840, to Jennette, daughter of

-^?- -"!(» ivl

SAMUEL DEAN.

Elijah Knibloe, of an early Sharon family. She

died Feb. 22, 1848. He then purchased the place,

of about one hundred acres, where his son, E. K.

Dean, now resides. The children of this marriage

were Ira, Edward K., and Clarinda J. Samuel Dean

was a quiet and retiring man, but acccptoil such town

offices as grand jurors, etc. He was an industrious,

law-abiding citizen, and early a member of the Meth-

odist Episcopal Church, of which lie was a trustee

and steward. Feb. 20, 1850, he nuvrrled Lucy E.,

daughter of Austin and Lucy (Morgan) Allen, of

Goshen, who survives him. His death occurred

Nov. 7, 1864. Edward K. Dean was born July 30,

1843. He had common-school education, supple-

mented by one term'.s instruction at "Fort Edward

Collegiate Institute." He has always lived on the

place of his birth, has been, and is, a progressive

farmer, using science as well lus practice in his voca-

tion. He married Frances E., daughter of Henry

and Mary Calkins. She was born in Milton, Conn.

Mr. Dean hius been selectman, and been elected to

other town offices, but refused to qualify, i>referring

to attend to his own atVairs rather than to public

matters. Mr. and Mrs. Dean have hail si.\ children,

—Lizzie, Samuel (deceased), Daisy, Wilbert, Harvey,

and Hurton.
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ASA EVERITT.

On the Everitt monumental stone in Ellsworth

churchyard is this historic inscription :

" Ebenezer Everitt, died July 24, 1810, aged 88. Lucy Moulton, hie

wife, died Sept. 28, 181^, aged 85. ' Weeping may endure for a night, but

joy Cometh in the morning.' They came from Hebron in 174,'i, and were

the ancestors of the nunieroua Everitt family of Sharon. Of nine chil-

dren, eight settled within one and a half uiileB of the paternal residence.

Their youngest and last surviving child died in 18.M, one hundred and

Dine years after they came to Sharon. This monument is erected as a

tribute of respect by their grandchildren and great-graudcliildren."

The names of the children of these worthy pio-

neers were Isaiah, Ebe, Eliphalet, Olive (Mrs. John
Lord), Lois (Mrs. Thomas St. John), Irene (Mrs.

Caleb Chapman), Lucy (Mrs. Avery), Sylvia

(Mrs. David Marvin), and Mehitabel. Isaiah was
twice married, first to Deborah Lord ; their three

children were Martin, Cynthia (who married a Rex-
ford), and Adolphus. His second wife was Elizabeth

Chaffee; they had nine children,— Asa, Deborah
(Mrs. Gillet), Betsy (Mrs. Beardsley), Roswell, Rus-

sell, Gamaliel, Lovina (Mrs. Joseph Lord), Ruth
(Mrs. Alpha Carrier), and William. Isaiah was a

farmer ; in politics a Whig ; was reputable and re-

spected, and died Aug. 4, 1834, aged eighty-two.

Asa Everitt was born on the farm now owned by

Eben Chaffee, nearly opposite the present residence

of his son Joshua, in September, 1780. He always

was a farmer, and a plain, unassuming man. He was

three times married. His first wife was Mary Ann,
daughter of Joshua Studley ; their only child was
Joshua. His second wife was Anner Hatch ; his

third, Mary, daughter of William Kellogg, of Corn-

wall, Conn. Mr. Everitt began life in humble cir-

cumstances, and by prudence became a well-to-do

farmer. He, like his fiither, was a Whig, but had
little taste for oflice, yet held some of the minor ones

of Sharon as his part of public service. He died,

respected and mourned, March 2, 1857. His wife is

still living (1881), hale and hearty, at the age of

seventy-seven, and retains much of the vigor of ma-
turity.

Joshua Everitt, son of Asa, was born March 19,

1811, on the old farm, now in his possession. He,

too, has always been a farmer. He married, Feb. 12,

1834, Elinina, daughter of Walter Skiff, of Sharon.

She was born April 15, 1811. They have two chil-

dren,—Charles W., born May 3, 1841 (married Jane,

daughter of Horace Dunbar, and has one child,

Hattie L.), and Elizabeth A., born April 17, 1850

(married Edward Per Lee, a farmer in Sharon).

Joshua owns about three hundred acres of land in a

good state of cultivation, and erected his present

residence (on the place formerly owned by Charles

Parsons) in 1870-71. He is a useful and honorable

citizen of Sharon, doing faithfully and well the duties

of his station ; is a regular attendant and liberal sup-

porter of the Congregational Church, of which Mrs.

Everitt is a, consistent member. In politics Mr.

Everitt has been a Republican.

ICHABOD S. EVEEITT.

Ichabod S. Everitt, grandson of Isaiah, and oldest

son of Adolphus Everitt, died in 1867, aged 88 ; and
Lydia Studley, his wife, was born Jan. 22, 1808, on
the farm where Ebenezer settled. His father was
born on the same farm. Adolphus had nine children

;

the seven attaining maturity were Thomas A. (de-

ceased), Ichabod S., Ruby R. (deceased), Russell A.

(now of Ohio), Abby C. (Mrs. John Tichnor, deceased),

Betsy A. (deceased), and Caroline (Mrs. D. P. Gris-

wold, deceased). The advantages of young Ichabod
for learning were only those of the common schools of

Ellsworth. His political education was acquired from

his father, a Democrat, and he has never swerved

from those teachings. At the age of twenty-one he

commenced life for himself, and became noted as a

layer of stone walls. These he constructed with skill

and rapidity, and his services were in demand in all

parts of the town. To a greater or less degree he has

been engaged in this all his life, and enjoys the repu-

tation of making the be.st wall in Sharon. His char-

acter is, like one of his stone walls, of solidity and

worth, and whatever has fallen to his lot to do in life

lias been done thoroughly and well. He has held the

office of selectman several times, has been assessor,

and in 1874 was member of the Legislature. He oc-

cupies no unenviable place among the farmers of

Sharon, and is one of the pillars of society in that part

of his town. He settled on his present place in 1854.

He has been twice married, first, to Emily, daughter

of Thomas St. John, of Sharon, Nov. 28, 1836. Their

only child, Mary L., was born May 27, 1843, and

married David L. Smith, of West Cornwall, Conn.,

Feb. 26, 1879. Mrs. Everitt died July 20, 1870. Mr.

Everitt, for his second wife, married, Sept. 6, 1876,

Louisa L., daughter of Erastus Lord, of Sharon. She

is a very intelligent person, and many of the younger

generation can testify to her skill and adaptation as a

teacher. Thus, in tracing the Everitt family from

its settlement in Sharon to the present time, we find

them to bear the same characteristics of defense to law

and order, devotion to principle, honest industry, and

prudent thrift, supporters of what tends most to im-

prove the town, its institutions, and its people, always

reputable citizens and law-abiding, a quiet, unosten-

tatious family of sterling worth, much appreciated by

their contemporaries, and of value to the community.

AUGUSTUS EVERITT.

Ebenezer Everitt was from Hebron, settling in

Sharon in 1745. He had three sons,—Isaiah, Ebe,

and Eliphalet, the last two of whom were Revolu-

tionary soldiers. Eliphalet was for several years

steward of Gen. Washington's military family. Isaiah

died Aug. 4, 1834, aged eighty-two, leaving five sons,

—Adolphus, Asa, Gamaliel, Russell, and William.

Ebe Everitt was born in Ellsworth parish, in Jan-

uary, 1754, was a farmer, and purchased the place
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now the residence of his grandson, Samuel E. Everitt.

He was an ardent patriot, serving in the Revolution.

As his first son was born on this place in 1781, Ebe

must have settled here shortly after his return from

his service as soldier. He married Mabel Elmore,

who was born Jan. 14, 1756, and died Feb. 15, 1831.

They had seven children,—Samuel E., Augustus,

Ami (Mrs. Clark Pardee), Elmore, John, Polly, and

Hovey,—all born on the same place. Mr. Everitt

died Jan. 6, 1840. He was a plain, unostentatious

farmer, but a man of fixed principles, a good type of

the man who endured patiently the toils, marching,

suffering, and bloodshed of the conflict from which

emerged the American republic.

Augustus Everitt was born May 17, 1783. When
nine years of age a white swelling came on his foot,

drawing it into such a shape as to make him lame for

life. When fourteen years old he was apprenticed to

a tailor in Warren, who, selling out and removing to

Troy, N. Y., was accompanied by Augustus. After he

became of age, Augustus went to New York City, and

for a short time worked at his trade as journey-

man. He then returned to Sharon, where he mar-

ried, June 12, 1815, Abigail, daughter of Joel and

Dolly (Hyde) Chaflee, of Sharon. She was born July

17, 1790, and died Dec. 5, 1845. Their children were

Dolly Hyde (Mrs. Cyrus W. Gray), Mary Elmore,

Samuel E., Mabel (Mrs. Benjamin F. Barlow), Mary

L. (Mrs. R. K. Woodward), and Julia A. After his

marriage Mr. Everitt purchased a small place near

the old homestead, and, moving thither, pursued his

trade. He cut and made the first suit of clothes, it is

said, that Amasa Parker, afterwards judge of the

Court of Appeals of the State of New York, ever

wore. During the latter years of his life he suffered

much from his lame leg, which he endured with

Christian patience. He was a member of the Con-

gregational Church of Ellsworth from 1839, and died

Aug. 23, 1867, much respected by all who knew him.

Samuel E., his son, wa.s born Dec. 15, 1822. He
was educated at the district schools, was brought

up a farmer, and always has continued one, com-

mencing life for himself when of age, by not only

working out by the month, but taking his uncle's

(Samuel, from whom he was named) land "on

shares." He married, Jan. 12, 1854, Ann Eliza,

daughter of George and Cornelia H. (Beecher) Can-

field, of South Britain, Conn. Both her father and

mother were of old Connecticut families, and she was

a niece of Rev. John W. Beecher, at one time pa-itor

of the Congregational Church of f^llswortli. They

have two cliildren,—Mary Cornelia (Mrs. F. E. Buck-

ley) and George Augustu.s. Mr. Everitt cast his first

Presidential vote for Henry Clay electors, and lia.s

since been Whig and Republican. Both Mr. and

Mrs. Everitt are members of the Congregational

Church. Mr. Everitt is an honest, hard-working far-

mer, a good citizen, and a charitable man.

BENJAMIN S. REED.

Benjamin S. Reed was a lineal descendant of the

fourth generation from John Reed, an Englishman,

who came from England at the time of the restoration

of the Stuarts, and settled in Norwalk, Fairfield Co.,

Conn., and became the ancestor of a very numerous

and highly respectable family. It is said that all the

Reeds of Connecticut are descendants of him. Ben-

jamin Reed, father of Benjamin S., was probably born

in Norwalk, Conn., was a surveyor by occupation,

married, and removed to Sharon, where he had a

family of children, among whom was Benjamin S.,

born March, 1810.

Benjamin S. was a farmer by occupation. In 1840

he removed to Fairfield County, and settled in the

town of Darien, where he continued to reside till his

death, Oct. 4, 1864. In politics a Republican, and as

such held many town oflRces, such as assessor, magis-

trate, selectman, and member of the State Legislature

several years. He took an active part in religious

matters, and was a member of the Congregational

Church. He was twice married, first to Elizabeth

Johnson, of Norwalk, Conn., and to them were born

three children, viz.: (1) Angeline, who died at

eighteen; (2) Benjamin F., and (3) Henry, both of

whom are farmers and reside at Hart, Mich.

Mr. Reed married for his second wife Mary J.,

daughter of Bradford and Eunice Cleveland, of Salis-

bury, Dec. 21, 1853. No citizen was more universally

respected and trusted than was Mr. Reed. He was a

good citizen, a kind husband and father, liberal to

the church, and charitable towards the poor. Hi3

widow now (1881) lives with lier brother, John F.

Cleveland, of Salisbury, and inserts this brief biogra-

phy and the accompanying portrait of Mr. Reed in

memory of him.

CHAPTER LVIII.

THOMASTON.

Oeograplilcal—Topographical—Thomaiton In 1828—Seth ThomM—Th»
Sotli ThoniM Cluck Compnny—EcclonlMtlciil lliitory—Civil Hlntorjr—

Inconwrntioii of tlto Town—First Towti'Meellng—Offlcore Elected

—

Proseut Town Offlcera—RepreiontatiTM.

The town of Thomaston, the youngest town in the

county, is located in tiie southeastern part of Litch-

field County, and is bounded as follows : on the north

by Litchfield and Harwinton, on the east by Plym-

outh, on the south by Watertown and Now Haven

County, and on the west by Watertown and Litch-

field. The surface of the town is hilly, and soil gen-

erally fertile. The early history of the town has been

given in detail in the history of Plymouth, of which

this town formed a part until 1875. Names of the

early settlers, proprietors' meetings, early rules and

regulations, etc., will be found in the historj' of the

mother-town.
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THOMASTON IN 1825.

The section occupied by the village of Thomaston

was originally known as Plymouth Hollow, and fifty-

five years ago consisted of about thirteen dwellings,

located as follows : Ou East Main Street, on the site

of the Plume & Atwood office, stood a dwelling occu-

pied by Lyman Fenn, and on the premises now oc-

cupied by John H. Wood was also a house, but its

occupant is unknown. There was a house standing

on North Main Street, where Dr. B. W. Pease now
resides, and Junius Blakesley lived in a dwelling

which stood near the present residence of Henry R.

Warner. On the property now owned by Miles Morse,

on Main Street, stood a hotel. Bela Blakesley lived

on the premises now occupied by the Bradstreet

Block and the widow of Edward Thomas, and the

property now owned by Aaron Thomas was in the

possession of the Ford family. The premises now
occupied by T. J. Bradstreet and Mrs. Blakesley were

owned by Mica Blakesley, and on the place now occu-

pied by Mrs. George Reynolds was a tannery. The
next location on the north side of the street belonged

to Seth Thomas, and was occupied by him a number

of years ; it is now covered by the clock-shop. The
next place below has been occupied by the Blakesley

family a long time. One of the oldest buildings in

the village stood on Centre Street, and was occupied

by Levi Castle. The " farm-house" of Seth Thomas,

so called, was also standing at the time of which we
are writing.

But all this is changed. The quiet little hamlet of

less than a score of buildings has grown to one of the

loveliest manufacturing towns in Connecticut, and is

due chiefly to the enterprise of one family, Seth

Thomas and sons. Seth Thomas, Sr., commenced
the manufacture of clocks in 1809, in company with

Eli Terry and Silas Hoadley, at what is now Hancock

Station, on the New York and New England Rail-

road. Here he remained until 1813, when he came to

Plymouth Hollow, now Thomaston, and purchased

the site where the case-shop is now located, and com-

menced the manufacture of clocks.* He gradually

increased the business, and in 1853 the Seth Thomas
Clock Company was organized under the joint-stock

laws of Connecticut. At the beginning of business

about twenty persons were employed, and the annual

product amounted to about ten thousand dollars. The
manufacture rapidly increased, until now the cor-

poration employs about nine hundred workmen, with

a monthly pay-roll of over thirty thousand dollars,

and a yearly production of about one million dollars.

About four hundred thousand clocks are manufactured

annually, and one hundred and seventy different

styles. The most expensive clock was manufactured

in 1876 for Independence Hall, Philadelphia, costing

six thousand dollars. The building covers about

twenty acres. The Seth Thomas clocks have obtained

* See biography.

a world-wide reputation, and shipments are made to

every civilized country on the globe.

The present ofiicers are Aaron Thomas, President

;

Seth Thomas, Secretary ; and Seth E. Thomas, Treas-

urer.

THE THOMASTON WATER COMPANY.

The act incorporating the Thomaston Water Com-
pany was approved March 25, 1879. The incorpora-

tors were Aaron Thomas, William G. Woodruif,

George B. Pierpont, George A. Stoughton, Randal T.

Andrews, Bennett E. Osborn, James E. Bishop,

Chauncey Bidwell, Berry Piatt, Edwin P. Parker,

Noah A. Norton, Nelson Bennett, Israel B. Wood-
ward, Ralph S. Goodwin, and Byron W. Pease.

THE THOMASTON EXPRESS

was started by three young men, April 1, 1880, as a

joint-stock concern, with a capital of five thousand

dollars. After running it a few months the company

became embarrassed financially, and sold the property

to C. James, who had a few months before sold the

Wolcottville Reporter to its present owner. C. James

took possession Oct. 12, 1880, and is the present editor

and proprietor. The paper is an eight-column folio,

and has already a circulation excelled by but two pa-

pers in the county.

THE THOMASTON WEEKLY NEWS,

the youngest paper in the county, was established in

March, 1881, by C. R. Smith & Co.

ECCLESIASTICAL HISTORY.

METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHUKCH.f

The following we gather from Nehemiah GriflBn, who
was identified with the church from its earliest his-

tory. He came to Plymouth in April, 1818, soon after

Aschel McKee and Alfred Myrich came. A Metho-

dist was a curiosity at that time. Lockwood Dickin-

son was the first local preacher. He preached in the

school- house near where the band-stand is now lo-

cated. That was in June or July, 1818. Rev. Cyrus

Silman preached in the door-yard of Herman Clark

about the middle of July. In the fall of 1820 the

first class was formed, with Amos Andrews leader.

The class consisted of Amos Andrews and wife, Nehe-

miah Griffin, Aschel McKee, and others. Since the

2d of June, 1833, Sabbath preaching has been con-

tinued in the Hollow, unless we except a short time

they were held in a school-house near Bennett Hib-

bard's. The ministers that have preached are as fol-

lows : 1843-44, Charles Bartlett; 1845, George Kerr;

1846-47, Henry J. Fox ; 1848-49, Moses Blydenburgh

;

1850-51, T. B. Chandler; 1852, John Pegg, Jr.; 1853,

William Silverthorn ; 1854, William F. Smith ; 1855,

supplied by Joseph Smith ; 1859-60, Daniel Tracy

;

1861, A. v. R. Abbott; 1862, John S. Breckinridge;

1863, Moses Lyon ; 1864, supplied by Beach and San-

t Contributed by C. E. Uorse.
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ford, from university ; 1865-67, Elias B. Sanford ; 1868,

Alexander Graham ; 1869, Friend W. Smith. During

the year 1866 the society built a new church edifice,

and sold the old one to the Episcopal society. In the

spring of 1857, E. B. Sanford, having served his time

of three years as pastor, left the Methodist Church and

united with the Congregationalist. 1870, Frank W.
Lockwood ; 1871-72, William Make ; 1873-74, C. P.

Corner; 1875, David Nash; 1876, Henry S. Still;

1877, Josiah K. Bucklew; 1878-80, Horace L. Judd
;

1881, William H. Barton.

The stewards are William Bickley, William B. Fos-

ter, Henry O. Wood, Luther J. Holt, John N. Wat-

rous, C. H. Cables, Ambrose A. Curtiss, Daniel E.

McKinley, Charles E. Morse ; Trustees, Joshua H.

Wood, George W. Baldwin, William W. Lees, Wil-

liam Bickley, William C. McKinley, Warren M.

Wood, Watson N. Smith, Bishop Smith, Charles E.

Morse; William Bickley, President; C. E. Morse,

Clerk ; Lines C. Bushnell, Superintendent of the Sun-

day-school.

For many years previous to the erection of a house

of worship by the Methodists in this place it was

favored with circuit preaching by the New York Con-

ference. During these years the tide of opposition

was strong against this small band, which finally

eventuated in their being prohibited the use of the

school-house, which for some years they had occu-

pied.

The members here at the time, though small

and feeble, now felt the need of a house of worship.

The subject of building soon became agitated, which

in the course of two or three years resulted in the

erection of a very neat and commodious church.

This church was erected in the year 1842, principally

through the influence and labors of Bennett Hibbard,

a leader and steward in the charge. The house being

finished in the early part of the winter, was dedicated

by the Rev. L. D. Ferguson. During the winter they

were favored by the great head of the churcii with a

most gracious revival, which resulted in adding strength

and members to the society. After having these ac-

cessions to the church, and being under the strong

impression that it would be best for them, jis individ-

uals and as a society, to be set off as a station, a pe-

tition expressing their desires to be thus set off was

sent to the Conference.

The first jiastor was Charles Bartlett. The first

officers were sis follows : Bennett Hibbard, Nathan A.

Daniels, Leaders ; Bennett Hibbard, Hiram S. Turn-

ing, Stewards; Bennett Hibbard, Samuel Coley, Sher-

man Lines, Trustees.

The following is a list of the members in the year

1842: Bennett Hibbard, Laura Hibbard, William

McAliston, Hiram Turiiey, Jenett Turney, Ruth A.

Dunning, Emily Smith, Julia E. Thomp-son, Jane M.
Thompson, Mary Fuller, Fanny Mungcr, Lucius Al-

cott, Emily Aloott, Caleb Austin, Louisa Austin,

Abijah A. Dunning, Maria Fuller, and Lucy Yale.

CONGREGATIONAL CHURCH.

This church was organized Dec. 7, 1837, with the

following members : Josiah Warner, Thomas Sutliff,

Abel C. Judson, Abel Judson, Hiram Pierce, William

P. Judson, Samuel Beach, Silas Hotchkiss, Edward
Nettleton, James Cargill, Seth Thomas, Joseph P.

Mansfield, P. D. Potter, Lafayette Comstock, Mun-
son Adkins, Nathan Cook, Fanny Warner, Nancy

Sutliff, Huldah Sutliff, Ruby Judson, Sabrina Hart,

Sally C. Northrop, Mehitabel Booth, Ruth Bush,

Harriet Nettleton, Martha Marsh, Chloe Boardman,

Eunice Cargill, Mary M. Judson, Hannah M. Com-
stock, Clarissa E. Cook, Laura Thomas, Martha

Thomas, Amanda Thomas, Mary E. Blakesley, Esther

Potter, Amanda Adkin. The pastors have been as

follows : Harvey D. Kitchell, Joseph D. Hull, James

Averill, J. B. Pearson, R. P. Searle, J. W. Backus,

H. C. Hitchcock, S. M. Freeland, present pastor. C.

B.. Gilbert is present deacon, and A. E. Nettleton

clerk and treasurer. The present church was erected

in 1837, but has since been repaired and improved.

TRINITY CHURCH, THOMASTON.

Trinity parish sprang from St. Peter's, Plymouth.

The Rev. Benjamin Eastwood commenced holding

evening services in the Academy Hall, but in 1866

Academy Hall was sold to the school district. It was

then thought be.st to purchase the old meeting-house

of the Methodist society, and in March, 1867, it was

deeded to Randal T. Andrews, Edwin Welton, and

Robert Alcott, to be held by them in trust until such

time as a parish might be organized. In the fall of

the same year the building was enlarged by adding a

vestibule and belfry, and a bell in memory of Mrs.

Hannah Williams. The parish organization was ef-

fected Jan. 2, 1869. The names of the first members
were Robert Alcott, Augustus E. Blakeslce, Jerry M.

Curtiss, Herman D. Saul, David S. Plume, Richard

Chapman, George G. Alcott, Harvey Sperry, Alfred

J. Winton, Randal T. Andrews, John Chapman,
Hugh Lawton, Edwanl T. Gates, William C. Gates,

Thomas Chajjman, George W. Canfield, Martin L.

Judd, Augustus Merrill, and Daniel H. Stevens.

The first rector was Rev. David Bishop ; first clerk,

Robert Alcott; first treasurer, R. T. Andrews; first-

wardens, Edward T. Gates, George G. Alcott ; first

v&strymen, David S. Plume, Randal T. Andrews,

Robert Alcott, Augustus E. Blakeslee, Jerry M. Cur-

tiss, William C. Gates, Hugh Lawton, Isaac R. Castle,

and John Chapman. The present church edifice was

erected on the site of the old one in 1871.

Rev. David Bishop resigned Feb. 1, 1874, and was

succeeded by the present rector, Rev. Thomas S. Ock-

ford, Feb. 10, 1874.

The pre.sent church was enlarged, at an expense of

three thousand dollars, in the fall of 1879, and a fiftcen-

hundred-dollar organ placed therein in memory of

George W. Bradley, a former organist of St. Peter's,

Plymouth. The present officers are Robert Alcott,
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Clerk ; Frank H. Hotchkiss, Treasurer ; Wardens,

Edward T. Gates, Kandal T. Andrews ; Vestrymen,

Dwight L. Kenea, Edwin Alvord, Garwood B. Judd,

Homer W. Welton, Fred H. Ridpath, Jonathan

Brown, Daniel H. Stevens, James S. Eastwood, James

White, Frank W. Filley, Augustus Merrill, and Au-

gustus E. Blakeslee.

CIVIL HISTORY.

The act of the General Assembly incorporating the

town of Thomaston was approved July 6, 1875.

THE FIRST TOWN-MEETING.

The first town-meeting was held July 19, 1875, with

Miles Morse as moderator, and Albert P. Bradstreet

clerk joro tern., when the following officers were chosen :

Selectmen, Frederick E. Warner, Nelson Bennett, and

Morris Hummiston ; Grand Jurors, Albert P. Brad-

street, Michael Ryan, David S. Potter, James E.

Bishop, Thomas D. Bradstreet, and William Barber

;

Constables, W. B. Gilbert, Wm. I. Judson, P,

Clyton, Edwin Alvord, Henry F. Bradibrd, James
B. Blakeslee, and John H. Taylor; Assessors, Israel

B. Woodward, Charles C. Potter, and E. Stevens

;

Board of Relief, Miles Morse, Benj. Piatt, Randal

T. Andrews; Town Clerk, Albert P. Bradstreet;

Registrar of Births, Marriages, and Deaths, AlbertP.

Bradstreet ; Town Treasurer, George P. North ; Town
Agent, Miles Morse ; Agent of Town Deposit Fund,

George A. Stoughton ; Registrar of Voters, Horton

Pease and A. E. Blakeslee ; School-Visitors, Thos. J.

Bradstreet, Joseph W. Backus, Thomas S. Ackford,

Elias B. Sanford, Eugene Gaffney, and Daniel C.

Churchill.

Selectmen : 1875-76, Frederick E. Warner, Nelson

Bennett, and Ashbel N. French ; 1877, Benjamin

Piatt, Morris H. Guernsey, and Frederick E. Warner

;

1878, Frederick E. Warner, Franklin B. Taylor, and

G. Perry Bennett; 1879, Frederick E. Warner, G.

Perry Bennett, and Aaron Thomas ; 1880, Aaron

Thomas, Thomas H. Newton , and Frederick E. Warner.

The present town otficere are as follows : Select-

men, Aaron Thomas, Thomas H. Newton, Morris Hu-
miston ; Grand Jurors, Thomas H. Newton, Samuel S.

Lamb, Alfred B. Smith, Gilbert I. Wooster, Joseph

K. Judson, Peter Duff"; Constables, William B. At-

wood, Joseph Wolf, Edgar W. Bennett, Edwin A.

Bradley, Robert B. Codling, William W. Morton,

Thomas Gotsel; Assessors, Israel B. Woodward, Jo-

seph K. Judson ; Board of Relief, Benjamin Piatt,

Edward P. Parker ; Registrar of Births, Marriages, and

Deaths, Albert P. Bradstreet ; Town Clerk, Albert P.

Bradstreet ; Town Treasurer and Treasurer of Town
Deposit Fund, George P. North ; Town Agent, George

P. North ; Registrars of Voters, Augustus E. Blakes-

lee and Horton Pease ; Collector of Taxes, George

H. Stoughton ; Auditors, James S. Eastwood, D. S. Pot-

ter; Agent of Town Deposit Fund, George H.

Stoughton ; School Committee, to fill vacancies for

three years, George A. Stoughton, Abel W. Smith,

Eugene Gaffney ; Justices of the Peace, A. P. Brad-

street, T. H. Newton, G. I. Wooster, J. E. Bishop,

George A. Stoughton, Franklin B. Taylor, W. T.

Woodruff, Henry F. Bradford, Edgar Blake, R. T.

Andrews, Miles Morse, D. S. Potter.

LIST OP KEPRESENTATIVES.

187G, Benj,-imin Piatt; 1877-78, Albert P. Bradstreet; 1879, Israel Wood-
ward; 1880, Benjamin Piatt; 1881, Aaron Thomas.

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES.

SETH THOMAS.

Seth Thomas, son of James and Martha Thomas,
was born in Wolcott, Conn., Aug. 19, 1785. His ad-

vantages for education were very meagre, consisting

of a very few days' attendance upon a distant public

school. He served an apprenticeship to the trade of

a carpenter and joiner; a considerable portion of the

time was spent in the construction of Long Wharf, in

New Haven. Leaving at his majority, with a small

kit of tools and a very small amount of money, he

was strongly inclined to avail himself of water-power

to facilitate his business, and entered into negotiation

for a site on Mad River, in Wolcott. Needing a short

piece of road the better to get to the site, he petitioned

the town to lay out and construct the same, which
petition in town-meeting was defeated, upon which
he abandoned the project and came to Plymouth.

He associated with Eli Terry and Silas Hoadley,

under the firm-name of Terry, Thomas & Hoadley,

in the southeast part of the town, now known as Han-
cock Station, on the New York and New England
Railroad, and commenced the manufacture of clocks.

After one year, in 1810, Mr. Terry sold his interest,

and the firm continued two years—viz., 1811 and 1812

—as Thomas & Hoadley.. At the expiration of two
years he sold his interest to Mr. Hoadley and came to

Plymouth Hollow (now Thomaston), and purchased

the site where the case-shop is now located, and com-
menced the manufacture of clocks on his own account.

He was twice married, first to Philena Tuttle,

daughter of Lemuel and Lydia Tuttle, April 20, 1808.

She died March 12, 1810. He was married, second, to

Laura Andrews, daughter of William and Submit
Andrews, April 14, 1811, who survived him. She
died July 12, 1871. He was the father of nine chil-

dren, issues of these marriages, three of which, and
all then living, died in SejJtember, 1815, in the year

memorable as the one of the dysentery scourge.

The business at that time was small, employing

about twenty operatives, which has steadily increased,

until the corporation now employs about nine hun-

dred, with a monthly pay-roll of over thirty thousand

dollars, and a yearly production of about one million

dollars.
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In 1853, feeling the infirmities of years coming upon

him, in order to avoid the stoppage of the works con-

sequent upon his decease, he organized the Seth

Thomas Clock Company, under the joint-stock laws

of the State of Connecticut. He died Jan. 29, 1859.

He built during these years a cotton-mill and brass-

rolling and wire-mill.

The building now used for the manufacture of pen-

dulum movements was originally built for cotton

sheetings, and part of the present brass-rolling and

wire-mills, now occupied by the Plume & Atwood

Manufacturing Company.

The village, which the writer remembers as contain-

ing thirteen dwellings, has grown to quite a respecta-

ble town, consequent upon the business founded by

the tact and energy of Seth Thomas.

Politically he favored the Whig party ;
religiously

he was a Congregationalist, and contributed largely

to the building of the present Congregational church

edifice of Thomaston.

3ETH THOMAS, JR.

Seth Thomas, Jr., eldest son of Seth and Laura

Thomas, was born in Plymouth Hollow (now Thom-
aston), Dec. 31, 1816.

His educational advantages were such as were af-

forded in the common schools of those days and one

year at the Plymouth Academy and a little more than

one year at Farmingtou Academy, under the instruc-

tion of Deacon Simeon Hart.

He was engaged in mercantile pursuits in his native

place between twenty and thirty years.

He was commissioned postmaster under Francis

Granger, Marcli 1, 1841, which ofiice he held upwards

of twenty years.

He was appointed justice of the peace for several

years, and twice elected to represent the town of Plym-

outh in the Legislature.

He married Charlotte D. Parker, of Belchertown,

Ma.ss., Marcli 7, 1838.

Politically he is a Republican, and a member of

the Congregational Church.

He is secretary and assistant treasurer of the Seth

Thomas Clock Company.

Walter A., now connected with the clock company,

and one of its directors, Martha B., and Laura A.

Mr. Thomas was elected representative of the town

of Plymouth in the Legislature of 1852.

Politically he was allied with the Whig and Re-

publican parties, and was a member of the Congre-

gational Church at Thomaston.

Mr. Thomas was diligent and efficient in business,

and the company suffered a great loss in his waning

health and early departure, but the community in

which he lived hold him in tender remembrance for

that uniform kindliness of manner which he wore as

a garment.

AARON THOMAS.

Aaron Thomas, third son of Seth and Laura

Thomas, was born in Plymouth Hollow (now Thom-

aston), March 13, 1830. His educational advantages

were in the public schools of the day.

He was engaged in the manufacture of clocks and

teaming until January, 1859, when he was chosen

president of the Seth Thomas Clock Company, Jan.

17, 1859, which position he holds to the present time.

A new clock company was started in October, 1865,

named Seth Thomas' Sons & Co., and Aaron Thomas
was chosen president, and held that position until

the company consolidated with the Seth Thomas
Clock Company, Jan. 31, 1879.

He married Phebe A. Hine, Oct. 4, 1848. They

have three children now living, viz. : Edson Thomas,

Minnie, and Aaron Thomas, Jr. He was elected

representative of the town of Thomaston for 1881.

Politically he is a Republican, and religiously he is

a member of the Congregational Church at Thomas-

ton, Conn. A friend being iL-»ked what arc some of

his leading traits replied, " Untiring devotion to busi-

ness, an indomitable will, with high and generous

impulses, ready, with a long and strong pull, for any

and all improvements."

EDWARD THOMAS.

Edward Thomas, second son of Seth and Laura
Thomas, was born in Plymouth Hollow (now Thom-
aston), May 28, 1824.

His educational advantages were in the public

schools of the day and two years in the Farmington
Academy.

He wivs engaged in tlie manufacture of clocks until

the founding of the corporation, in 1853, when he was
chosen secretary, whicli office he continued to hold

until his decease, Feb. 10, 1862. He married Clarissa

Marsh, Dec. 3, 1846. Their children are as follows:

THOMAS JEFFER.SON BRADSTREET.

Thomas Jellcrson Bradstreet, now a resident of

Thomaston, Conn., traces his ancestry back eight

generations to a Non-conformist minister, who died

in 1617, leaving a son, Simon Bradstroet, who was

born at Horbiing, Lincolnshire, England, in 1603.

Young Simon, soon after the death of his father, was

taken under the patronage of the Earl of Lincoln-

shire, by whom he was i)robably sent to Cambridge

for his education. His name i.s found entered on the

books of Emanuel College, Cambridge, in 1617 ; his

matriculation in 1618; and his admission, in due

course, to the regular degrees, the first in 1620, and

the second in 1()24. .Vttor leaving the university he

was employed for several years as steward in the

household 6f his kind and generous patron. Here

he probably became acquainted with the family of

Thomas Dudley, who was also in the earl's employ,
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and whose oldest daughter, Anne Dudley, he married

in 16:28. For reasons common to many of tlie emi-

grants at that period,
—

" the constraints of the English

laws and the severities of the English hierarchy,"

—

Simon BraJstreet, Thomas Dudley, with many others

with similar feelings and purposes, came over to this

country, to the young settlement at Massachusetts

Bay, in 1630. Dudley and Bradstreet both took a

prominent part in the affairs of the new settlement,

and held many positions of trust and honor in

the Massachusetts colony,—positions, it should be re-

membered, very onerous in the establishment of a

new form of government that should give to all the

greatest freedom consistent with security and needed

protection. Thomas Dudley was one of the distin-

guished Governors of the colony. He died July

31, 1653, aged seventy-seven years. His virtues are

portrayed in an epitaph written in poetry by his

daughter Anne. His wife died Dec. 27, 1643, aged

sixty-one; and her character, in all her family and

social relations, her benevolence and piety, is also

commemorated by her daughter in verse.

Simon Bradstreet first settled in Cambridge, and

remained there for several years ; afterwards he was

for a short time a resident of Ipswich, Mass., then of

Andover, Mass., and also of Salem, Mass., as most

convenient, probably for the discharge of his public

duties. In 1639 he received from the court a grant of

five hundred acres of land. He was the first secretary

of the colony. In 1641 he traveled on foot, with the

famous Hugh Peters, from Salem, to New Hampshire,

with a commission from Massachusetts to learn the

cause of a quarrel among the people in that colony.

When the confederacy of the colonies of New Eng-

land, formed in 1643, and its aflairs were intrusted to a

board of commissioners, Bradstreet was appointed one

of the two from Massachusetts; and in 1653 his inde-

pendence and conservatism appear in his successful

opposition to his fellow-commissioners, who were

anxious to declare war first against the Dutch, and

then against the Indians.

In 1662 the Massachusetts colony, alarmed at the

apparent intentions of Charles II., commissioned

Bradstreet and Norton, a highly-esteemed and popular

minister, to proceed to England and plead their cause.

This was regarded as a perilous mission, for which

they were promised indemnity in case of detention or

loss. This mission was reasonably successful, but did

not secure all the people desired. A storm of abuse

arose, too severe for the delicate sensibilities of Nor-

ton, who was overwhelmed by the unreasonable

charges, and soon died of grief. Bradstreet, more

experienced in the inconsiderate charges of political

opponents, with his usual balance, outrode the storm,

and again rose to public favor by his strenuous op-

position to the arbitrary measures of Andross, and

was elected Governor of Massachusetts in 1689, an

oflice he had previously held. This office he held till

Sir William Phipps arrived with a new charter, 1692,

when Bradstreet retired from public life, in his nine-

tieth year, and died at Salem, 1697, aged ninety-four

years. By annual election he is said to have been in

public office for more than sixty years. He is credited

as having been one of the first of the magistrates of

the colony to come out for toleration
; and in the case

of Elizabeth Morse, of Newbury, condemned by the

court in 1680 to die for witchcraft. Governor Brad-

street, by his prudence and firmness, undoubtedly

saved an innocent victim from the violence of that

popular delusion. Simon Bradstreet had several sons

and daughters ; his fourth son, John, settled in Tops-

field, on a portion of the land granted to his father.

He was succeeded by his son Simon, who married a

daughter of Kev. Joseph Oapen, of the same town.

Their son John, the grandfather of T. J. Bradstreet,

also a farmer, married Elizabeth Fisk, of Wenham,
Mass., March 2, 1718. They had several daughters

and one son, Dudley,—a name that has been well

preserved among the Bradstreets, while Simon has

ceased to be a family name. Dudley Bradstreet was

born Oct. 8, 1765 ; he married Mary Porter, of Dan-

vers, Mass., Sept. 29, 1789. When young, Dudley

Bradstreet commenced the study of Latin, with the

intention of going to college ; but his father, who
was forty-seven years older, and now well advanced

in years, needed him at home on the farm. By these

considerations he was induced to relinquish the higher

object of his ambition to follow in the humbler but

more independent employment of several generations

of his ancestors ; he, however, retained a great fond-

ness for reading—besides his weekly newspapers—the

standard works of the best English authors.

As a politician, he was of the Jefferson school. As
soon as he was of sufficient age he joined a cavalry

company of the State militia, in his native town, and

was early promoted to its highest office, and ever after

went by the name of " Captain Dudley." He was not a

professor of religion, and had not much respect for a

profession that was contradicted by practice
;
yet he

was very familiar with the Bible, believed in it, and

made it the text-book of the family, and was regu-

larly in his seat on the Sabbath, in the Congrega-

tional church, with a well-filled pew. In 1809, Dud-

ley Bradstreet left his farm in Topsfield—which he in-

herited from his father, still retaining the ownership of

the same, and which has been in the Bradstreet family

from the time of the grant to Simon Bradstreet to the

present time (1881)—for a larger farm in the adjoin-

ing town of Danvers. Here he remained, an indus-

trious and successful farmer, where his large family

of seven sons found plenty of room and labor so long

as they remained at home. In April, 1813, his wife,

Mary P., died,—a much-loved wife, mother, and friend,

—leaving, besides her seven sons, four daughters to

lament their loss. After a few years, Mr. Bradstreet

married Hannah Prim, a maiden lady of Marblehead,

Mass., who survived her husband for several years.

He died April 23, 1833.
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Thomas G. Bradstreet, the sixth son of Dudley '

Bradstreet, was born April 7, 1807, on the old farm at

Topsfield, and removed with the family to Danvers

in April, 1810. As soon as old enough to be of any

service on the farm, he worked summers and went to

school winters until he reached his eighteenth year;

he then worked for his father until well advanced in

his twentieth year, when he entered the academy at

East Bradford, now Groveland, for the purpose of

better qualifying himself for whatever might be his

future condition and fortune. In the following spring

he returned to the homestead and its toils. The next

autumn he again went to the same school for one

term. During this term an aged physician invited

him to his house, and during the interview advised

him to go to college. The subject opened a new and

more advanced view of life. It looked like an up-

hill journey ; and then there was that large farm and

that aged father, his strength and vigor diminishing

year by year, his sons all gone from him but one

:

how could he leave him ? Not only was his consent

to be obtained, but from him the means must come to

pay his way. He left the academy, and took a school

for the winter ; went home in the spring, laid the

subject of going to college before his father, and

urged his motives for so doing. He was nearly one

and twenty : an education was what he wanted. His

course of life depended upon the decision ; the con-

ditions of a farmer's life were not very inviting to him.

His father, now passed sixty years, offered him one-

half of his farm if he would remain with him so long

as he lived. To this proposition it was replied "that

that would be an unequal distribution of property,

and would justly entail upon him the ill-will of the

rest of the family." The interview resulted in the as-

sent of his father, the son promising to help him

through his haying season, which he fulfilled till the

season he entered college. In the fall of 18!iO, Mr.

Bradstreet entered Yale College, with the intention of

studying law on the completion of his college course.

During the winter of 1830 and 1831 he became inter-

ested in the subject of religion, changed his plans,

and after graduating in 1834, he entered the theolog-

ical seminary in New Haven to study for the minis-

try. At the close of the usual term of three years he

received an invitation to preach to a church and soci-

ety just organized in that part of Plymouth that is

now Thomaston. After laboring here for about two

months his health began to fail, and he left for sev-

eral weeks, after which he returned and renewed liis

labors, assisted for a short time by a young man who
had supplied his place during his absence. These

two men, fresh from the seminary, full of hope, en-

couraged by the earnest co-operation of many of the

members of this young church, prosecuted their la-

bors with ardor. A powerful revival attended them,

and in due time large numbers were added to the

church. Mr. Uradstreet's licalth again failed, and he

spent the following summer in trying to restore his

89

strength. Having partially recovered, he engaged to

supply the pulpit of the Congregational Church in

Meriden for four months. At the close of this engage-

ment he found himself about as he was the previous

spring, and spent most of the summer in the same

struggle for health, attended with about the same

success. The following winter—1838 and 1839—he

preached in the Second Congregational Church, in

New London, Conn. These labors, with the confine-

ment of the study-room, were followed in the spring

by enfeebled health. By this time the subject of

health began to assume a serious aspect ; stern neces-

sity suggested a more stirring life as the only hope of

recovery. After much deliberation, with many re-

grets, he gave up his chosen profession. The next

autumn, Nov. 4, 1840, he was married to Amanda
Thomas, daughter of the late Seth Thomas, and en-

gaged in his employ the next spring as superintend-

ent of his cotton-factory. In this occupation he con-

tinued for fifteen years, when he gave up his position

to travel for the Seth Thomas Manufacturing Com-
pany. In this employment he continued till the

commencement of the late civil war. Since then he

has been engaged in various kinds of business for

himself: improving land near the village, conducting

farm-work, doing such business as is usually connected

with house-building, running a saw-mill, grist-mill,

feed- and flour-store, etc.

Mr. Bradstreet has not been much of a politician,

but his sympathies on all public questions have been

on the side of Whigs and Rei)ublicans, and he has

uniformly voted for their nominees. For one year he

has been a member of the board of selectmen of the

town of Plymouth, and represented that town in the

House of Representatives for one term, and has served

on the board of education in tiie towns of Plymouth

and Thomaston for thirty-seven years. In the educa-

tion of the young for many years he has taken an

active part; served several years as chairiuan of the

district school committee, chairman of a private

school association, and president of an academical

association till merged in a public high school. In

the Congregational Church at Thonia.ston, of which

he is a member, he has been connected with the Sab-

bath-school most of the time for nearly forty years,

—

twenty-five years as superintendent. He has also for

a few years been a member of the board of directors

of the Connecticut Home Missionary Society.

Mr. Bradstreet has reached his seventy- fourth year

with such a degree of strength and vigor that he feels

authorized in recommending to health-seekers regular,

lanperalc habits, plenty of out-door exercise, and an

open fireplace in winter.

DR. WIMJAM WOODRUFF.

Dr. William Woodruff i.t the third and youngest

son of Dr. Gideon Woodruff and Sarah Hcation, of

Plymouth, Conn. He was born in New Haven, and
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traces his lineage to Matthew Woodruff, who came to

Farmington from Hartford in 1641 ; was one of the

original proprietors of the town, and is the ancestor

of the various branches of the Woodruffs of Connec-

ticut. The names Woodruff, Woodroffe, and Wood-
row (originally the same) first appear in English

history early in the fourteenth century, in the reign

of Edward III. In his infancy the parents of Dr.

Woodruff returned to Plymouth, where they had

previously resided, and remained till the death of the

elder Dr. Woodruff, who for many years was a medi-

cal practitioner in the town. The subject of this

sketch, after completing his academical studies, be-

came the pupil for several years of the late Rev.

Luther Hart, and enjoyed the benefits of his training

and scholarship. About the year 1824 he commenced
the study of medicine under the care of Dr. Jonathan

Knight, and subsequently of Dr. Nathan Smith,

names known and honored by all who hold medical

science in esteem. He was graduated from the Med-
ical Department of Yale College in 1826, and began

professional life in Waterbury, but was soon and ur-

gently invited to return to Plymouth, where for many
years he controlled a large practice. In 1838 he mar-

ried Martha, the oldest daughter of Seth Thomas, an

extensive manufacturer, by whom he had four chil-

dren, of whom but one survives. About ten years

ago he relinquished the profession to a large degree,

and in travel sought to restore the health of an inva-

lid daughter (since deceased), visiting Europe, Cali-

fornia, and the various latitudes of our own country

and Canada, from Montreal to Jacksonville, Fla.

The variable, and to an invalid the most trying, seasons

of the year have been spent at various sanitary re-

sorts South,—St. Augustine, Aiken, and others. At

present he is enjoying the otium of life, without much
of the dignitate, and, with such philosophy as favor-

ing circumstances will permit, rests from the more

exacting labors of the profession, and in trusting

patience awaits the twilight.

GEORGE W. GILBERT.

George W. Gilbert, son of George Gilbert and

Sylvia Colton, and grandson of John Gilbert, of Bel-

chertown, Mass., was born in Belchertown, Ma.ss.,

March 3, 1821. His father was a practical farmer,

and was born in Hebron, Conn., and at seventeen

years of age settled with his parents in Belchertown,

Mass., where he married Sylvia Colton, and had six

children, four sons and two daughters, only two of

whom—Charles and George W.—are living.

George Gilbert and wife settled in Thomaston

Sept. 8, 1859, and lived with their son, George W.,

till their death. He died Aug. 27, 1862, and she died

March 20,1865. Mr. Gilbert was a captain in the war

of 1812, and was familiarly known as "Captain Gil-

bert."

Mr. and Mrs. Gilbert were members of the Congre-

gational Church. John Gilbert, the grandfather of

George W. Gilbert, was a farmer by occupation, and
a lineal descendant of the Gilberts, who were among
the earliest settlers of Hebron, Conn. He was born
Feb. 26, 1749, and died April 16, 1817. He was the

father of sixteen children. He was a major in the

Revolutionary war, and a member of the Congrega-

tional Church.

George W. Gilbert remained at home, working on
his father's farm summers and attending school win-

ters, until he was nearly eighteen years of age.

On the 20th of October, 1838, he came to Thomas-
ton and entered the employ of Seth Thomas as clerk,

and soon after was clerk for Seth Thomas & Sons,

and remained nine years, during which time he mar-

ried Elizabeth, daughter of Seth Thomas, Dec. 3,

1845. They have had two children, viz. : Mary E.

(deceased), who married Dr. A. G. Heaney and left

one son, Harry Gilbert ; George Colton, married Eliza

W., daughter of Garwood Judd, and is a farmer.

After the death of Seth Thomas, Jan. 28, 1859, the

Thomas Bros. Cotton Company was formed, with G.

W. Gilbert as its agent till the war of the Rebellion

put an end to their enterprise, and the factory was

changed to the Seth Thomas Clock Company, of

which he was its secretary and treasurer for a short

time, and at one time one of its directors. Since the

war he has not been very much engaged in any kind

of business. He owns a fine farm, which is in a good

state of cultivation. In politics he is a Republican.

He has been selectman of the old town of Plymouth.

Mr. and Mrs. Gilbert are members of the Congrega-

tional Church.

MARCUS PRINCE.

Marcus Prince, son of Truman Prince and Phebe

Thomas, sister of Seth Thomas, Sr., w'as born in Plym-

outh, Litchfield Co., Conn., Dec. 11, 1808. His father

was a native of Woodbridge, Conn., and settled in

Litchfield Co., Conn., when a young man. He was

twice married, first to Emma Lounsbury, and had one

son. Castle ; second to Phebe Thomas, by whom he

had three children, of whom Marcus Prince was the

second.

Truman Prince was a farmer and teamster by occu-

pation. In politics he was a Democrat. Mr. and

Mrs. Prince were members of the Baptist Church.

He died May 23, 1840, aged fifty-seven years. She

died on the 3d of March, 1869, aged eighty-eight

years.

Marcus Prince worked on his father's farm summers,

attending the district school winters, till March, 1829,

when he settled in Thomaston, which has ever since

been his home. He immediately commenced to work

for Seth Thomas as an apprentice to the manufacture

of clocks, and after some fifteen years of close appli-

cation, having become thoroughly acquainted with his

trade, and having made in 1842 the first brass clock, he
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assumed the entire control of the manufacture of the

movements of Seth Thomas' clocks, in 1844 or 1845,

and was made superintendent of this department of

the clock-factory, which position he held for more

than twenty-five years, since which time he has con-

tinued to work in the factory till the present time,

January, 1881. During these years he has made
many valuable improvements in the way of better

tools to use in the manufacture of brass clocks. He
was one of the earliest stockholders in Seth Thomas
Clock Company, and for several years one of its di-

rectors. He is decidedly Republican in his political

convictions. He has been twice married, first to

Harriet W., daughter of Austin Blakeslee, of Plym-

outh, April 29, 1835. They had three children, viz. :

(1) Charlotte D., who was the first wife of Geo. B.

Pierpont, and to them were born two daughters, viz.

:

Mary E. and Lottie P. Mrs. Geo. B. Pierpont died

Jan. 23, 1867. (2) Phebe T., who is the second wife

of Geo. B. Pierpont, of Thomaston. (See sketch of

his life.) (3) Truman, who died at fifteen years of

age, April 15, 1854.

Mrs. Prince died Oct. 22, 1841, aged twenty-eight

years. She was a fine Christian lady, and a member
of the Episcopal Church. Mr. Prince married for his

second wife Sabra E., daughter of Otis Parsons, of

Granville, Mass., Jan. 2, 1844. Mr. Prince has been"

a member of the Congregational Church of Thomas-

ton for many years.

making models for the company, which is his principal

business at the present time. Is known as a master-

mechanic, and has been a stockholder in the company

for many years. He is also one of the directors in

the savings bank at Thomaston. In politics a Demo-
crat. He has been selectman two years, and member
of the State Legislature, besides holding other town

offices. He is a member of the Episcopal Church,

has been a vestryman many years, and at present is

junior warden. Mr. Andrews is ingenious, industrious,

patient, cool, and calculating, and is well fitted for his

particular business.

RANDAL T. ANDREWS.

Randal T. Andrews, only son of Randal T. Andrews
and Philena Blakeslee, was born in Thomaston, Conn.,

May 13, 1831. Randal T. Andrews, Sr., was a son of

Luther Andrews, who was of English descent, and was

born in Wolcott, Conn., in 1797, and died at his resi-

dence in Plymouth, Conn., Jan. 28, 1830. His wife

was a daughter of Micah Blakeslee. Their children

are as follows: Pliilenda, Harriet, and Randal T.

Mr. Andrews settled in Plymouth, now Thoma.s-

ton, when a young man, and was engaged in the

manufacture of clocks for Seth Thomas till hi.s death.

Although he died in the prime of manhood, he wa.s

very proficient as a workman.

Mrs. Andrews wiw a member of the Episcopal

Church at Thomaston. She died in 1S7(), aged seventy-

six years.

Randal T. Andrews received the advantages of a

cotnmon-school education till he was fourteen years of

age, when he commenced as an apprentice for Seth

Thomas, in the manufacture of clocks, with Marcus

Prince as foreman. In 1853 or 1854 he went to Cin-

cinnati, and wiin there engaged a.s a clerk in a clock-

store for an uncle by the name of Garret Blakeslee.

He returned in about a year, and was again engaged

for Seth Thomiis as an engineer, and upon the organi-

zation of Thonuis' Sons & Co. he had charge of the

setting-up department, and was chiefly engaged in

BENJAMIN PLATT.

Benjamin Piatt, second son of Benjamin Piatt and

Nancy Bristol, of Milford, Conn., was born in Pros-

pect (formerly Waterbury), Conn., Feb. 22, 1806.

His father was born in Milford, Conn., in 1782, and

died Aug. 3, 1870, in East Hampton, Mass. He mar-

ried Nancy Bristol, and removed to Prospect in 1805.

They had seven sons and five daugliters, all of whom
except one grew up to be men and women. Names
of children are as follows: Mark, Marj' A., Benjamin,

Nancy B., Henry, Henry P., Adelia, Harris, William

B., Jane E., John R., and Augusta A. Benjamin

Piatt, Sr., was a farmer and drover by occupation.

His wife died in Prospect, October, 1862, aged eighty-

two years.

Benjamin Piatt, the subject of our sketch, had very

limited advantages for an education. He remained

at home, working on his father's farm, till he was

twenty-one years of age, when lie removed to Water-

bury, Conn., and wiw there engaged in the employ of

Mark Leavenworth & Co. as a teamster for six years.

In 1828 he settled in Thonui.ston and entered the

employ of Sctii Thomas, and continued for more than

forty years, performing faitiifuUy whatever he had

to do. Some twenty years of tiie forty he had cliarge

of the packing department, and a portion of this

time he worked on contract. He hius been a stock-

holder in the Seth Thomas Clock Company, and at

the present time (December, 1880) he owns an inter-

est in the Cheshire Manufacturing Company. In pol-

itics a Republican, he has l)een a nieml>er of the board

of relief for many years, and is at tlie prc-sent time.

During 1876 and 1880 lie was a member of the

State Legislature. He married Agnes, daugliter of

Willard Welton, of Hamilton, N. Y., May 1, 1839.

Their children are as follows:

(1) William Benjamin, born May 23,1841; was a

.soldier in the I'nion army, of the Fourteenth United

States Infantry band ; served some two years, sickened,

and died Nov. 27, 1863, at Mine Ford, Va.

(2) Helen E., born Sept. 7, 184'), married Jonathan

M. Peck, a farmer of Bristol. They have three chil-

dren, viz. : Mary C, Arthur B., and William J.

Mr. and Mrs. Benjamin Piatt are members of the

Congregational Church of Thomaston.
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GEORGE B. PIERPONT.

George B. Pierpont, second son of Edward Pier-

pont, and a descendant of the Rev. James Pier-

pont, one of the founders of Yale College, was born

in the town of Plymouth, Nov. 1, 1818. While very

young his parents removed to the town of Litchfield.

He received a good common-school education, and at

the age of twenty-one engaged in teaching, in which

occupation he was employed a greater portion of the

time until 1850, when he purchased an interest in the

American Knife Company and returned to his native

town (that part now lying within the limits of the

town of Thomaston), where he has since resided. In

1851 he was chosen secretary and treasurer of the

American Knife Company, which position he held

until the following year, when he was chosen president

and treasurer. These offices, as well as that of active

manager of the company, he has continuously occu-

pied up to the present time. Mr. Pierpont has held

several positions of public trust in his town ; for six

years he has been a member of the board of educa-

tion, and in the general interest which he has taken

in all matters jiertaining to the welfare of the town,

has made himself a respected and much-valued citizen

in the community where he has so long resided.

MILES MQKSE.

Miles Morse, second son of Miles and Charlotte

(Wood) Morse, was born in the present town of

Thomaston (formerly Plymouth), Conn., Sept. 22,

1816. His father was a native of Litchfield, Conn.,

and settled in Plymouth, Conn., where he continued

to reside till his death, October, 1847. He was a

farmer and manufacturer. He married Charlotte,

daughter of James Wood, of East Windsor, Conn.

Five of their children lived to grow up, four sons

and a daughter, of whom Miles Morse is the second

son. Mr. and Mrs. Morse were members of the Con-

gregational Church of Plymouth. Mrs. Morse died

June, 1862. Miles Morse, Jr., worked upon his father's

farm summers and attended school winters until he

was sixteen years of age, when he commenced pre-

paring for college, entering Yale in 1839. He taught

school while obtaining his education. In the fall of

1841 he began the manufacture of brass clocks where

the American Knife Company now do an extensive

business, with .Jeremiah Blakeslee as his partner,

under the firm-name of Morse & Blakeslee. They
continued till 1849, when the factory was transferred

to the American Knife Company for the manufacture

of pocket-cutlery.

In 1850, Mr. Morse built, in connection with Gen.

Thomas A. Davies, of New York City, a clock-factory

on the West Branch of the Naugatuck River. Here

they manufactured clocks, under the firm-name of

Morse & Co., till they were burnt out, in January,

1855, when Mr. Morse became the general agent for

the American Knife Company (in which he had a

large interest), and traveled some ten years through .

various parts of the United States. He held his gen-
eral agency till 1874, when he retired from active

business. In his political convictions he is a Demo-
crat, and as such is one of the leading men in his

town. He has held various oflSces of trust and honor
with credit to himself and satisfaction to his constitu-

ents. He has been justice of the peace many years,

and in 1874 was a memberof the State Senate, serving

on a number of committees, of which he was chair-

man. He is often a delegate to county and State

conventions. On the 25th of October, 1871, he mar-
ried Laura A., eldest daughter of Seth and Charlotte

(Parker) Thomas, of Thomaston. He built his present

beautiful residence during the years of 1869-70, and
settled here immediately after his marriage. Mr.
and Mrs. Morse are members of the Congregational

Church at Thomaston.

ISR.\EL B. WOODWARD.

Israel B. Woodward is a lineal descendant from

Henry Woodward, an Englishman, who settled at

Dorchester, Mass., about 1650 ; thence he removed to

Northampton, Mass., thence to Westfield, Mass., and,

in consequence of Indian troubles there, finally settled

at Lebanon, Conn.

The great-grandfather of Israel B. Woodward was

named Capt. Israel Woodward. He served faithfully

through the French and Indian war, and was famil-

iarly known as "Captain Israel." Hiswife was Abigail

Bayard. They had seven sons and two daughters.

One of these was named Abel, who married Lucy
Atwater, and had several children, viz. : Reuben S.,

Abel, James, David, John, Russel, Jerusha, and Eu-

nice.
,

Abel Woodward was a captain in the Revolutionary

war. He died at eighty-five years of age. His son

David was born in Watertown, Conn., and married

Lydia Welton, of Watertown, Conn. They had six

children, viz. : Samuel W., died at twenty, David,

Abby, Lydia, Israel B., and Andrew E. Mr. Wood-
ward was a successful tanner and shoemaker. He
was a captain of the State militia. He died Decem-

ber, 1822, aged forty-eight years, and his wife died

March, 1872, aged ninety-one years and six months.

Israel B. Woodward was born in Watertown, Conn.,

on the old homestead, March 12, 1814. He received

a common-school and academic education, spending

his leisure months in his father's tannery. At seven-

teen years of age he began to work for his brother

David in the tannery, and worked four years. In

1835 he went to Chicago, spent some time in travel,

and returned. In 1838 he went West the second

time, returned to Watertown, and in 1840 entered into

business with his brothers, David and Andrew, having

an interest in tanneries at Watertown and Thomaston.

In April, 1846, h« settled in Thomaston, where he has

since continued to reside. For more than forty-five
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FREDERICK E. WARNER.

Frederick E. Warner, son of Randal

and Electa (Marsh) Warner, was born in the

town of Thomaston, Conn., March 7, 1827.

His father was born in Plymouth, Conn., Sept.

18, 1781, and died Nov. 25, 1853. He was

twice married : first, to Ruth Atwater, and had

two children who grew to maturity ; second, to

Electa, daughter of Jonathan Marsh, of New
Hartford, Conn., and had four children, three

of whom are living,—viz., Jonathan M., Ruth

A., Frederick E., and Horace, who died at

fourteen years of age. Randal Warner settled

on the farm now owned by his son F. E. when

a young man. He was a successful farmer.

In politics a Democrat. His wife died Feb.

12, 1860, agetl seventy-five or seventy-six.

Frederick E. worked on his father's farm sum-

mers, and attended the district school winters.

He also went a few terms to an academy. He

is one of the successful farmers and business

men of Thomaston. He is quite extensively

engaged in dealing in horses and cattle, in

which he has been successful. On the 19th of

November, 1860, he married Sarah R. Lnm,

daugliter of Beunet Lum, Esq., of Oxford,

Conn. They have four children,—viz., Addie,

Henry R., Wilbur L., and Nellie. In politics,

Mr. Warner is a Democrat, and as such he has

been a selectman of Thomaston ever since the

organization of the town.
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years Mr". Woodward was successfully engaged in the

tanning business. Nov. 20, 1844, he married Caroline

M., daughter of Charles Everett, by whom he has had

three children, viz. : Samuel W., died young ; David
Arthur, died at ten years of age ; and Emma A., wife

of Henry K. Warner, of Thomaston. Mrs. Wood-
ward died March 10, 1876, and Mr. Woodward married

for his second wife Mrs. Adeline E., widow of Samuel

E. Hotchkiss, and daughter of J. Blakeslee, of Thom-
aston, Oct. 7, 1880. In politics Mr. Woodward is a

Republican. He has been an assessor in Thomaston

ever since the organization of the town, selectman in

Plymouth two years, magistrate several years, mem-
ber of the Legislature in 1879, serving on the committee

of State-house and grounds. Mr. Woodward retired

from active business in 1879. Mr. and Mrs. Wood-
ward are members of the Congregational Church at

Thomaston.

HENRY F. REYNOLDS.

Henry F. Reynolds is of Scotch-Irish descent

;

very little is known of his early ancestors. His

great-grandfather was James Reynolds, who was one

of the first settlers of Watertown, Conn., where he

married and had a family of children, one of whom
was Samuel, who was born in Watertown, Conn.,

married Sarah Foote, and had the following children,

viz.: Jonathan, Abigail (Mrs. Fenn), Russel, Char-

lotte (died young), Sarah (Mrs. Caleb Humiston),

Charlotte (the second), Samuel, and Polly (Mrs.

Abijah Painter). Mr. Reynolds settled in Plymouth

(now Thomaston) in 1795, with his family, on the

farm now owned by his grandson, Henry F. He was

a member of the Congregational Church. He died at

sixty-three years of age, and his wife died at seventy

years of age. Russel Reynolds, son of Samuel, was

born Jan. 25, 1781, in Watertown, Conn., and re-

moved to Plymouth with his parents in 1795. He
married Mary Castle, daughter of Amasa Castle, of

Plymouth, in January, 1800. Their children are as

follows : Pamelia, Clarissa, Emeline, George, and

Henry P., all born where Henry F. now resides,

and all are living. Russel Reynolds was a successful

farmer. In politics he was a Jackson Democrat.

He held various town offices, and was a member of

the Episco|)al ('liurch. He died May S, 1869, aged

eighty-eigiit years, and his wife died in September,

1868, aged eiglity-eight.

Henry F. Reynolds was born on the farm where he

now resides, in Tliomiuston, Dec. 4, 1820. His ad-

vantages for an education were confined to the com-

mon schools of his day, working on tlic farm sum-

mers. At nineteen years of age he left school and

commenced to work by the month for his fatiicr, and

continued till he was thirty years of age, wiien lie

assumed control of the farm. In 1847 he built a

saw-mill, and lias been extensively engaged in lum-

bering ever since. He owns a farm of tliree hundred

acres, which is in a good state of cultivation. In all

his business relations as a farmer or manufacturer of

lumber he has been moderately successful. He is a

lover of good music, and in 1839, at twenty years of

age, he was mainly instrumental in organizing a

brass band in Thomaston, called '' Reynolds' Band,"

and for more than twenty-four years he was its fa-

vorite leader. In politics he is a Republican. He
has been selectman two years, and assessor several

years.

Sept. 24, 1842, he married Lorinda, daughter of

David Edwards, of Ware, Mass., and has one daugh-

ter, Elizabeth C, born Feb. 24, 1848, married to

Charles F. Williams, a druggist of Thomaston, Conn.,

Nov. 5, 1868. They have one son, Charles Henry.

Mr. and Mrs. Reynolds are members of the Con-

gregational Church at Eagle Rock. Mr. Reynolds

was principally instrumental in the building of the

Congregational church at Eagle Rock. He is very

liberal in all matters which have for their object the

advancement of society, and the poor have in him a

true friend.

WILLIAM p. JUDSON.

Deacon William P. Judson, of Thomaston, Conn.,

was a son of Joseph Judson, of Cornwall, Conn., and

a lineal descendant of the Judsons, who were among
the first settlers in Stratford, Conn. He was born in

the town of Cornwall, State of Connecticut, Oct. 8,

1799, and remained there, working on his father's farm,

till he was sixteen years of age, when he went to

Watertown, Conn., and learned the cabinet-maker's

trade with one David Pritchard. During a portion of

this time he worked on the fiirni summers. In 1823

he settled in Thomaston, and immediately entered

the employ of Seth Thomas, and was with him and

his successors forty-nine successive years. During

more than thirty years of tiiis time he wa.s superin-

tendent of the C!i.se department. He retired from an

active and busy life some two years before his death,

which occurred Sept. 19, 1872. Early in life he made

a profession of religion and united with the Congre-

gational Church, of which he was ever a consistent

and worthy member. About 1835, through his per-

sonal efforts, assisted by Seth Thomas, Sr., and some

others, he organized, and was nuiinly instrumental in

building, the Congregational Church at Thomaston.

He was a deacon in the church for more than forty

years, and was always liberal to the church and char-

itable towards the poor.

In his political convictions he was decidedly a Re-

publican. He held various town offices to the satis-

faction of his constituents, but the main bent of his

mind led him to the church, and in it we learu ho

worked with a will, ever trying to do his whole duty.

He married Mary M. Bancroft, of South Windsor,

Conn., Nov. 5, 1828. She was born in South Wind.sor,

Conn., Nov. li, 1798, and died June 14, 1862.

Their children are Hiram P., born Feb. 17, 1833;



610 HISTORY OF LITCHFIELD COUNTY, CONNECTICUT.

Mary P., born Nov. 19, 1835, married Nathan F.

Smith, and resides in Willianistown, Mass. ; Eliza-

beth H., born Aug. 25, 1837, married John M. Gross,

and resides in Providence, R. L ; Joseph K., born

Feb. 18, 1840, married Eunice M. Fenton, and has

two daughters, Helen S. and Mary M. ; and Wil-

liam S., born Aug. 8, 1843. All the sons are at home,

and are good farmers, and are quite extensively en-

gaged in growing fine Jersey cattle. In politics they

are Republicans.

HIRAM PIERCE.

Hiram Pierce, born in Cornwall, Conn., Dec. 27,

1800, died Oct. 17, 1875. He was the son of John

Pierce, who was the son of Capt. .Joshua Pierce, both

of Cornwall. Hiram received a common-school edu-

cation, his boyhood days being occupied with the du-

tie.s of farm-life, afterwards teaching in the district

schools of his native town. Subsequently he learned

the trade of a joiner and cabinet-maker, living in

Waterbury for a time, removing to Plymouth about

the time of his majority to engage in the business of

making clock-cases for Seth Thomas, and, in connec-

tion with Deacon W. P. Judson, for some years made,

under contract, all the cases for the Thomas clocks,

the work at that time being done almost entirely by

hand. In 1828 he married Miss Charlotte S. Ban-

croft, of East Windsor, Conn., afterwards purchasing

a farm in that town and removing thither, where he

resided about two years, when he returned to Ply-

mouth, at the solicitation of Mr. Thoma.s, to take

charge of his office as accountant and correspondent.

In addition to the clock business, Mr. Thomas also

carried on the manufacture of cotton goods and farm-

ing operations on a large scale, the details of which

all passed through the office. He possessed a good

constitution, and was a most indefatigable worker,

and in looking after the varied interests of his em-

ployer, outside of the ofiice as well as in, carried bur-

dens that but few men are able to do.

On the formation of the Thomas Manufacturing

Company for the manufacture of brass he was made
secretary of the company, and in the early develop-

ment of that business had an active part. Of his rela-

tion to the educational and religious interests of the

town, it is but just to say that he bore a prominent

part, and helped to carry the burdens and develop the

best that circumstances present and prospective ren-

dered possible.

In 1830 he united with the Congregational Church

at Plymouth Centre, Rev. Luther Hart then the pas-

tor. He participated in the movement for the organi-

zation of the Congregational Church now in Thom-
aston, and on its organization transferred his mem-
bership to it. For more than forty years he was jus-

tice of the peace, and by long practical experience,

and having a mind fitted to judicial consideration,

became a trusted adviser and counselor for a wide

circle. In matters of law and business he represented

the town of Plymouth in the Legislature in 1861,

and at various times served the town in an official

capacity as assessor, selectman, etc. His character

was that of a man without fear and without reproach,

unostentatious, yet always felt in every effort for the

improvement of the moral, religious, or political wel-

fare of the people. In politics a Whig, an ardent ad-

mirer of Henry Clay ; in later years a Republican.

He buried his first wife in June, 1848, being left with

five children ; was married again, about a year after,

to Miss Sarah E. Beers, of Cornwall, Conn., by whom
he had one child. In later years he withdrew from

the more active duties that had occupied his business

life for half a century, and calmly awaited life's de-

cline. Among his last efforts for the improvement of

the place was the planning and securing of the sub-

stantial addition to the beautiful cemetery on the hill-

side, where he sleeps, awaiting the resurrection of the

just. After his death the remains of his first wife were

removed from the old bury ing-ground and reinterred by

his side. His children are all married, and reside as

follows : William J., married Elizabeth A. Capron, of

New Britain, Conn., resides in Hartford; Joseph B.,

married Sophia A. Boardman, of Hartford, resides in

Hartford ; Charlotte S., married Horace A. Potter, of

Thomaston, resides in Thomaston ; S. Maria, married

Alexander Hamilton, of West Hartford, Conn., died

March 17, 1863 ; Edward H., married Susan C. Beers,

of Stratford, Conn., resides in Brooklyn, N. Y. ; Alice

E., married Dr. E. T. Bradstreet, of Thomaston, re-

sides in Meriden, Conn.

CHAPTER LIX.

TOBKINGTON.*

Geographical—Topograpliical—Naming the Town—List of Proprietors-

Grand List, X733—Division of Lots—Tlie First Settlers and their Lo-

cations—Initial Events—First Deeds of Conveyance—The Indian Fort

—The First School-house—Pioneer Taverns—War of the Revolution

—

Proceedings of the Town—Names of Otficei-s and Soldiers—Taxes

During the Revolution—The Whipping-post—A Prosecution for Pro-

fanity-T-Slavery—Organization of County Anti-Slavery Society at Wol-

cottville—The Convention Routed by a Mob—" Nigger Pew" in Tor-

riogton and Ton ingford Churches—Emancipation of Slaves in Tor-

rington—John Brown.

TOREINGTON lies in the eastern part of Litchfield

County, and is bounded as follows : on the north by

Winchester, on the east by New Hartford and Har-

winton, on the south by Harwinton and Litchfield,

and on the west by Goshen and Litchfield. The sur-

face of the town is uneven, and its soil is fertile. It

is watered by the Naugatuck River and its tributaries

and Still River.

The territory embraced within the limits of this

* Condensed from Rev. Samuel Orcutt's excellent and exhaustive

" History of Torrington."
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town was allotted to the Windsor proprietors by the

Legislature, and it was named Torrington at the May
session of the General Court in 1732, by the following

enactment

:

" Be it enacted by the Governor, Council, and Representatives, in Gen-

eral Court Assembled, and by the Authority of the same

:

*' That the first Or parcel of land mentioned in said instrument of par-

tition containing 20,924 acres, and bounded south partly in Litchfield

and partly on land belonging to said patentees in Windsor, called the

Half Township ; east and north, by land belonging to the Governor and

company of the colony of Connecticut, is hereby named, and shall ever

hereafter be called and named Torrington."*

In 1732 the taxable inhabitants of Windsor were

divided into seven companies, each owning a town-

ship, takingtheireompany names after the towns they

owned. The Torrington company are specified as

" Matthew AUyn, Roger Wolcott, and Samuel Mather,

Esqs., and others, of the town of Windsor, patentees

of Torrington." The number of these persons was

one hundred and thirty -six, and their names and tax-

list were as follows

:

£ ». d.

Matthew Allen, Esq 74 6
Roger Wolcott. Esq 123 6
Capt. Thomas Stoughton 165
Ale.xander Allyn 47 19 6
Benedict Alford 35 6
Abiel Abot 41
Daniel Bi8sell,Jr 32 16
David Bissell 115 10
Nathaniel Barber 37 12
Josiah Barber 124
Joseph Barber 82 8
Nicholas Buckland 61 7
Ephraim Bancroft, Jr 66
Benjamin Barber 4^1 18
Natlianiel Barber 21
Benoni Bissel 37 12
Jeremiah Birge » 47 11
Jonathan Bisael 41
John C. Cross 53 6 tf

William Cook 34
Nathaniel Cook 55 1

John Cook, Jr »>J 19
Mai-y Clark 32
Edward Cliupman 6
Jacob Drake, Jr 3
Abraham Dibble 38 16
Joseph Drake 81 10
Isaac Duvice 30
Joseph Elmor 4S 9
Joseph Elsworth 21
Joseph Elgar 26
Thomas KKclston, Jr 18
Abigail Euo 25 7

John Kgel»ton 77
Mr. John Elliot 28 10
Benjamin Kgelston, Jr 37 16
Joseph Elsworth 24 IS 6
James Egolston „ 7
Mr. John Fvler 77 7 6
Samuel FItcl 18
Thomas Fyler 67 2
Stephen Kyler 52 2 6
Ebonezcr Fitch 41 6
Matthew Grant „ 180 10
JoBlah Gaylord 52 14
Junalhan Gillot 38
Isaac Gillet 27
Francis Griswoid 52
Daniel Griswoid „.. 82 5
John Orayham _ 47 10
Samuel Glhbs. _ 30
Nathaniel Gaylord 53
Henry GiWis 23
Joseph Griswoid » 119 10

Eleayjir GaylonI 36 15

Thonins Grant's heirs .• 30
Thomns Grant 19 4
John Grlawold 62 6
Nathan Olllet.Jr 18

* Torrington was a hamlet on the hill called Cookbury Black, in the

outhern part of Devonshire, the southornmoflt county In Engluud. It

WM also the name of a village on the Torridge River, a few mllee north

of Cookbury Block.

£ «. if.

Benjamin Gibbs 45 5
ThomasHoskins 40 5
Anthony Hoskins 40 Q
Ebenezer Haydon 63 16
MaryHosUins 37 5
Elezer Hill 11
William Haydon 16 10
Martha Holcomb 30 5
Daniel Haydon 100 10
Zebulon Hoskins 26
Ichabod Loomis 39 15
Zachariah Long 41 5
Timothy Loumis 61
Stephen Luomis 38 8
Joshua Loomis 46
Isaac Loomis 29
Moses Loomis, Jr 26
Job Loomis 72 8
Abraham Loomis 23 2
Eebekah Loomis 72 4
Jonathan Loomis 31
Dea. Thomas Marshel 100 7 6
Mr. Eliakim Marshel 94 12
John Mansfield 41 12
John Morton « 24 4
Edward Moore 55 2
Josiah Moore 54 17
David Marshel 43 1
Mr. William Mitchel 74
JJathaniel Moore 24
Hannah Newbi-rry 30 o
Benjamin Newberry 25 5
Ruth Newberry "on
Joseph Newberry 71 .'» It

Jar..l. Usborn 44 10 li

Benjamin Oslmrn 21 10 O
Samuel Osburn, Jr 71
John Porter 4 14 6
William Phelps 91 12
Joseph Porter 98 .1

Sanuiel Pinney 50 10
John Phelps, Sr 11

Nathaniel Pinney _ 107 10
He/. Porter 91 0'

David Phelps 26
Joseph Phelps 87
Sergt. Isasc Pinney 29 7
Thomu Phelps 45 16
Hannah Porter — 6 IS
Jamea Pasco 24
Jonathan Paico „_ 21
Samuel Rockwell 76 18
Nathaniel Stonghton - 2
Ehene/.cr Styles 23
Jacob Strong 79 15
Remembrance Sheldon 61 13
Thomas Stoughton, Jr 30
Mary Sledmon 3 10
John Styles 22 16
Isaac Skinner 40
Samuel Strung „ _ » 46 13 2
Henry Styles 71 12 6
Ell7jibelli Thrall 16

Amnil Trnnible 39
John Thrall 126 IS

Simon Wolcott, Jr 21

Jed. Wutwm 72
Stephen Wmchel - 4
John Wolcott 81

John WInchel „ _ 53 10
Hubert Westland 61 10
Samuel Wilson 29 9
John W.Kid .la

John Williams 36 14
Ebenezer Wataon 72 10
John Wilson 56

" Rerortled, Manli the 4th, Anno. Dam., 1733-34, by me, Tmomv Loo-

Hlfl, clerk for sd. Torrington pn>prieture.

*'The sum total of Torrington list la £6431 9<. 5iJ."

"The vote to lay out a proportionate amount of

land to eacli proprietor was pa-ssed on the 10th of

September, 1732, and on the IStli of the same month

the committee appoiiiteil fur the purpose proceeded to

draw tlie lots for tlic pn>[>rietors.

"The lot-s were laid half a mile in length, and

therefore every rod in widlli made one acre of land.

In the first and second divisions there wa-s appropri-

ated one acre to the pound of each owner's list ; in

the third there was not (|uitc that amount.
" In the first division there was laid out five acres
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as a meeting-house plot, and one hundred acres as a

ministry lot, and these were said to he near the cen-

tre of the town.
" The lots for the proprietors, wheir completed,

were all laid in thirteen tiers, except those in the

swamj), one, on the south side of the town, running

east and west, the other twelve running north and

south, and, with the highways, covering the whole

area of the town except the pine-timber. The swamp
was laid in three tiers of lots running north and

south.

" The first division was completed in November,

1734, Eoger Newberry, Joshua Loomis, and Nathaniel

Pinney being the committee. The second, voted to

be made in March, 1736, was not completed until

October, 1742, John Cook (2d), Joshua Loomis, Roger

Newberry, and Daniel Bissell, Jr., being the com-

mittee.

"The third division was voted in October, 1742,

and was completed in December, 1750. In this di-

vision two hundred and twenty acres were appropri-

ated for the use of schools in the town. Samuel
Messenger, surveyor, Thomas Marshall, and Aaron
Loomis were the committee, and Rev. Nathaniel Rob-
erts drew the numbers for the lots.

" Ebenezer Lyman, Jr., was the first permanent
resident of the town. In January, 1735, his father,

Ebenezer Lyman, Esq., of Durham, bought of Job
Loomis lot 108, containing seventy-two acres. This

lot constituted a part of the farm known ever since as

the Lyman place, and upon it was built the fort, in

the western part of the town. In June of the same
year Ebenezer, Jr., bought the half of three acres,

lot 109, on the corner, and adjoining lot 108 on the

north, and erected a dwelling, undoubtedly a log

house. In this house was born, June 16, 1738, so far

as known, the first child born in the town, it being a

daughter, and was named Lydia.
" Jonathan Coe, of Durham, married Elizabeth

Elmer, of Windsor, Sept. 23, 1737, and brought his

bride to Torrington, the second woman in the town.

Mr. Coe had worked in the town two summers. This

house must have been a log house,* and stood about

eighty rods south of Ebenezer Lyman, Jr.'s, their

farms adjoining. Here were two dwellings in the

wilderness,—wilderness in every direction, and almost

without end in every direction. The nearest place

that looked like civilization was Litchfield, about six

miles distant, and but few houses had been erected in

that town before this time, and some of these were at

considerable distance from the centre of the town,

one or two being near the southern boundary of Tor-

rington. At this time there were no families residing

in Goshen, a few were in Harwintou, a few in New
Hartford, none in Winchester.

" Abel Beach, of Durham, bought land in company
with Jonathan Coe, lot 123, containing thirty-one

* Tlie lumber for making framed houses in 1740 must liave been

brought Uiiough tlie forests from Litchfield or New Hartford.

acres, in 1735, where the second church was built, at

Torrington green.

"In June, 1739, Daniel Stoughton bought of Abel
Beach lot 82, with a dwelling-house on it, and made
his home in the town, probably in that house. Joel

Thrall became a settler during the summer of 1739.
" Thus did the work begin and go forward, so that

in October, 1739, in their petition for religious priv-

ileges, the petitioners say there 'are nine families in

the town.' It is impossible to say who all these fam-

ilies were. The petition, signed by twenty-five names,

says tliese names represent ' inhabitants and proprie-

tors.'

"The oldest deed recorded of Torrington lands was
dated at Windsor, June 14, 1728, given by Daniel

Griswold, to his ' dutiful and obedient son,' Nathan
Griswold, for a right in undivided ' Western lands.'

From this time to the spring of 1735 sixty deeds of

rights were recorded in the Windsor company's book.

Soon after the survey was made and the lots located

the sales became more numerous, and were mostly to

persons residing in Windsor, but in a few cases to

persons residing in other parts of the State. These

sixty deeds include nearly, if not all, the land sales

by the Torrington company previous to the rendering

of the re2wrt of the committee on the first division,

in November, 1734.

" The first land cleared and cultivated in the town
was located according to the following description :

" ' At a meeting of the proprietors of Torrington. lield in Windsor, Feb.

10, 1734, voted Lieut. Roger Newberry be a committee, and lie is hereby

fully empowered in the name of the proprietors to rent out to Josiab

Grant, of Litchfield, about four or five acres of land lying in said Tor-

rington, which is already broken up, as it lieth bounded south on Litch-

field and east on Waterbury River, until such time as said proprietors by

their vote shall see cause to call it in.'

" One deed, given by Joseph Ellsworth, of Litch-

field, dated March 21, 1734, says lot 77 was a home-
lot, which meant that it had a dwelling-house on it,

and had been the home of somebody. This lot joined

Goshen on the west, and was about one mile north of

Litchfield line.

" In October, 1744, the town voted thirty-five pounds

six shillings and sixpence, as one-half of the cost of

building a fort. It was located near Ebenezer Ly-

man's dwelling, on the west side of the present road

at that place, and was built of chestnut logs split in

halves and standing in the ground, rising to the height

of about eight feet. The object of the fort was pro-

tection to the inhabitants from the ravages of the In-

dians, especially the raids of the Mohawks, which

were made for the one only purpose of pillage and

destruction. The Connecticut Indians had learned,

many years before, to make little trouble for the set-

tlers. Various narrations are still repeated about the

fright of the people, the haste with which they fled

to the fort, leaving nearly everything in their homes,

and remaining over-night, and sometimes several days,

in great anxiety as to their own lives, and also the

safety of their homes; and for a time the settlers
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sought homes near this fort. Several of them owned

lots on the east side, but sold them and bought on the

west side, and then brought their families iuto the

town near the fort; and others lived on the west side,

while the)' worked their lands on the east ?ide.

"This fear of the Indians was the greatest disturber

of the peace of the people in the new settlements.

The dread of the wild beasts, though no inconsider-

able matter, was of little weight compared to the ter-

ror produced at the report of the coming of the Mo-
hawk Indians. The alarm at the approach of the

Indians was given by lighting signal-fires on the hills

from Albany eastward as the party advanced ; hence

if an accidental fire occurred in the direction of the

Hudson River it was taken as an alarm-fire, and the

people hastened to the fort to wait until information

could be obtained of the cause of the fire. This state

of society came to an end soon after the close of the

French war in 1760. The old fort served its purpose

as a refuge in time of need, was a number of times

occupied by the frightened inhabitants for several

days at a time, then gradually tumbled down, leaving

nothing but a mound seventy-five feet by one hundred,

which still marks the place of its once warlike stand-

ing. There is said to be another mound about three-

fourths of a mile westerly from the site of this old

fort, which marks the place of some fortification,

either of the Indians before, or by the first settlers of

the town.
" A school-house was built within the fort in 1745,*

the first institution of learning in the town. In this

house religious services were held several years.

"So fiir as ascertained, the first settler in Torring-

ford was Abraham Dibble, or his son Daniel, in 1744

or 1745, on the second lot laid out from Harwintou

line, the place still known as the Dibble place. Tlie

next settler was Benjamin Bissell, a little north of the

Shubael Griswold place, on the east side of the street,

where Mr. Bissell kept a tavern a number of years.

He came probably in 1745. - Tiie third settler was

John Birge, on the present Roswell Birge i)hu-c.

Nehemiah Oaylord made his home opposite Benjamin

Bissell's, a little north, in a log house first, probably

in 174(). Elijah Gaylord settled on a farm that in-

cluded the site of the present Torringford churcli and

the bury ing-ground—his log house standing in the lot

southeast of the present church—in 1747. Shubael

Griswold built his house a little south of Nehemiah

Gaylord's, in 1754, and made his home there. He
lived on the west side of the town a year or two before

this house was completed, and before he was married.

In 1752 or 1753, John Burr settled on the place long

known by his name, and Benjamin Matthews came

about the same time, with Mr. Burr, from Karmington
;

the others were from Windsor. Soon alter this came

Deacon Jonathan KeUey and his son Nathan from

• Rev. J, A. McKliistr)', in " Mnnuft! of the First Church;" T>i<ncoii L.

Watmore, iii " Wolcottvillo Beginter," 1875.

Woodbury. Between 1753 and 1760 came Joshua,

David, Daniel, and Aaron Austin from SufHeld, some

of whom settled on West Street, and Aaron Yale

from Wallingford, and some others from Windsor,

and Samuel and Ephraim Durwin from Waterbury."

FIRST TAVERNS.

" One of the first taverns was erected and kept by

Epaphras Sheldon, a little north of Ebenezer Lyman's,

on the east side of the road. Mr. Sheldon having

received quite a farm from his father, and having pur-

chased several pieces of land, made his home here

about 1760, and was of considerable importance as a

new settler, and for thirty years he was as prominent

as any man in the business transactions of the town,

and in social, military, and political positions. His

tavern was the headquarters for most doings of the

town. The road running north and south past his

house was the race-course for running horses, and the

fields near his house were the parade-grounds for mil-

itary drill until after the centre of the town became

established at the green, after the building of the

second meeting-house.
" Ephraim Bancroft lived a little north of Mr.

Sheldon's, and also kept a tavern.

"Capt. Abel Beach kept a tavern, beginning some

time before the Revolutionary war, but at what time

he opened his house for public entertainmeut cannot

be definitely a.scertained.

"John Burr, of Farmington, bought in 1751, and

in 1752, land amounting to over four hundred pounds

money, and settled in the town in 1753, on the farm

known many years as the Burr i>lace, east of Burrville,

on the hill. Here Mr. Burr Wiis keeping a tavern in

1762, and may have opened such a house some years

earlier.

"Shubael Griswold built his house on the corner

of Torringford Street and what wivs afterwanls the

Torrington turnpike, in 1754, and o|iened it a-s a

tavern about 1757. His son, Tliaddeus Griswold, con-

tinued it a-s a public-house many years.

"Benjamin Bissell's tavern stood a little north»of

Shubael Griswold's, and wits kept as a public-house

some years before the Revolution ; and still later

David Soper kept a tavern on Torringford Street,

west side, near this first meeting-house."

WAR OF Till-: REVOLUTION.

" The number of inhabitants in Torrington in 1774

was eight .hundred and forty-three, of which there

were only one hundred and thirty-two men and one

hundred and thirty-four women over twenty years of

age, leaving five hundred and seventy-seven ])erson9

under twenty years of age, and in a great measure

dependent on the older people for sustenance, care,

and protection. Besides this, the country wa.s new,

and the obtaining of food and comforts wius much
more difficult than it would have been under other



6U HISTORY OF LITCHFIELD COUNTY, CONNECTICUT.

circumstances. It is important to bear these things

in mind as we attempt to estimate the struggle through

which the inhabitants passed in order to obtain their

political independence.

**The two military companies in 1774 included one

hundred and sixty-nine men, or all the men in the

town over twenty years of age, and thirty-seven under

that age. When hostilities commenced at Concord,

in this same year, these companies were not called on

to go to Boston, but were notified to be in readiness

at a minute's warning. In the autumn session of the

Assembly of that year an act was passed offering a

sum of money to every member of the military com-

panies of the Stiite that would train twelve half-days

in the spring of the next year, and the officers were

required to report to the justices of the town, and they

to the Assembly and draw the pay. The following

are the reports made from Torrington. The report

was made by the clerk of the company, and addressed

:

"* To Captain Amos Wilsun.Stli Company of the 17th Regiment in the

colony of Connecticut; and to John Cook and Epaphras Seldon, Esqrs.,

Justices of the peace, etc.

'"This may certify that the following persons, in pureuance of the

late act of law of the colony, passed October last, respecting the mili-

tary, each one has trained in his own person, according to order, as fol-

lows :

"'THE TORRINGFORD COMPANY.
" * To Capt. John Strong, of the 9th Company of the 17th Regiment.

Half- Days.
Lieut. Epaphras Loomis 12
Sergt.Wait Beach 12

" Noah Wilson 2
" Eli Loomis 7
*' Benjamin Beach 12
" Joseph Blake 8

Corp. Abijah Wilson 12
" Elijah Barber 11
" Caleb Lyman 12
" Ariel Brace 10

Dr. Ebenezer Smith 12
Private William Wilson 12

" Aslibel Bronson 7
" Joshua Leach 8
" Ashbel North 12
" Abel Beach, Jr 12
" Asahel North 12
" Asahel Wilcox 10
" Benjamin Eggleston 8
" Caleb Leach 12
" Ebenezer North, Jr 12
" Ebenezer Lyman 12
" Abel Thrall 7
" Anibros Marshall 12
" Asahel Strong, Jr 12
" Epaphras Sheldon 12
" Elijah Loomis 12
" Ephraim Loomis 12
" Epaphras Loomis, Jr.... 12
" Elisha Smith 12
" Ephraim Bancroft 12
" Friend Thrall 12
" George Miller 12
" GeorgeAllyn 12
" Joseph Eggleston 11
" Joseph Thrall 9
" John Cnrtiss 11
" John Beach 12
" Josiah Whiting, Jr 5
" Israel Averitt, Jr 12
" James Leach 12
" John Youngs 12
" James Beach 12
" Joseph Beach, Jr 7
" Levi Thrall 12
" Noah North 11
" Noah Fowler 12

Half-Days.
Private Noah Thrall 12

" Noadiah Bancroft 12
*' Noah Beach 12
" Roawell Coe G
" Roger Wilson 12
" Samuel Bejich 12
" ShubaelC-ouk 12
" Thomas Marshall 10
" Timothy Barber 12
" Urijah Cook 12
" William Grant, Jr 11
" John Cook, Jr 7
'• OHverCotton 11
" Daniel Benedict 12
" Daniel Loomis 12
" Jacob Johnson 7
" Joseph Thompson 12
" Lott Woodruff. 12
" Noah North, Jr 12
" Isaac Hull 12
" Isaiah Tutlle 12
" Oliver Bancroft 12
" John Whiting. Jr 12
" CbriBtopher Whiting.... 12
" Joel Miller 12
*' Benoni Loomis 12
" Abner Loomis, Jr 12
" Charles Thrall 12
" Abel Stannard 3
" John Miner 12
" Ephraim Loomis, Jr 12
" Joseph Drake, Sr 12
" Solomon Agard 12
" Roger Loomis 12
" Ebenezer Leach '6

" David Alvord 9
" Joseph Holmes 12
" Daniel Murray 4
" Pardon Thrall 4
" Keniembrance Loomis... 4
" Aaron Marshall 4
*' Richard Loomis 4
" John Richat-ds 4
" Joseph Taylor 4
*' Daniel Grant 12
" Joel Roberts 8

"' JoHv Cook,
*** EpAPHRiS Sheldon

'Amount £24 6s. 6d.

"'Received payment, Hartford, July, 1775,

"'Daniel Grant, Clerk.

> Justices of the peace.

' Capt. Amos Wilson.
' Epaphras Sheldon.'

Half-Days.
Private John Birge, Jr 11

" Stephen Taylor 12
" Isaac Austin II
" Nathaniel Barber 5
" Elisha Kelsey 12
" Asaph Atwater 9
" David Norton 9
" Daniel Wlnchell 12
" Return Bissell 12
" John Marsh 11
" Je6se Spencer 12
" Ebenezer Rood 9
" Hezekiah Bissell 11
" Jonathan Kelsey 10
" Ichabod Stark, Jr 3
" Levi Austin 11
" Samuel Averitt 9
" Thomas Matthews 12
" Timothy Kelsey 12
" John Standcliff. 12
" Oliver Bissell 12
" John Spencer 12
" Selh Coe 12
" Simeon Birge 12
" Joseph Loomis 12
" Samuel Kelsey, Jr 12
" Andrew D. Austin 10
" Daniel Kelsey 12
" Benjaiuiu Gaylord 12
" Job Curtiss 8
" Amos Miller 6
" John Squire 3
" Samuel Austin (2d) 7
" Abnerlves 6
" David Soper 3
" Michael Loomis 12
" Nehemiah Gaylord 12

Justices of the Peace.

Half-Days,
Sergt. Jesse Cook 12

" Charles Mather 11
" Augustus Haydon 12
" Isaac Goodwin 12

Clerk Zacliariah Mather 12
Corp. DanielStow 12

'* Daniel Hudson 10
" Daniel Dibble 10
" Roswell Olmstead 7
" John Giilett 4

Musician Timothy Soper 11
" Abraham FiUey 4
" Ulisus Fyler....'. 11
" Nathaniel Frisbie 10

Private Benjamin Bissell, Jr 12
" Samuel Austin 12
" Cyreiius Austin 12
" Joseph Gaylord 12
" Elisha Bissell 11
" Nathaniel Austin 12
" Abel Clark 12
" Comhirt Standcliff, Jr... 12
" Asa Loomis 12
" Joseph Austin 12
" Thomas Goodman 9
" Dan Austin 12
" Sihis White 10

Timothy Giilett 10
" Timotliv Loomis 12
" John Burr, Jr 12
'* Cuttun Mather 9
" Ebenezer Bissell 11
" Eliphas Bissell 12
" Ezekiel Bissell, Jr 12
" Roger Sheldon 12
" Reuben Burr 12
" Enos Austin 12

"'John Cqok,
"' Epaphras Sheldon

"'Amount £19 Gs. 6d.

'"Received payment,
"' John Cook,
"

' Epaphras Sheldon.'

" Capt. Shubael Griswold, as captain, was in the

war of the Revolution as early as 1775, in the North-

ern campaign, as the following receipts will show.

These receipts are preserved in the pocket of the

book in which he kept his journal in the French war,

and which he used many years afterwards, as an ac-

count-book.

" 'Crownpoint, July 4, 1775.

"'Elisha Andrus: Sir. Please to let Benjamin Gaylord have five

shillings, lawful money worth of your stores.

'"Shubael Griswold, Capt.

" ' Crownpoint, July 26, 1775.

*" Mr. Andrns, Sutler, Sir: Please to let Edward Fuller have of your

stores three shillings, lawful money, by order of

" 'Shubael Griswold, Capt.

" ' Crownpoint, August 4, 1775.
"

' To Mr. Bemus, Suttler ; Please to let Edward Fuller have of your

stores six shillings, lawful money.
"'Shubael Griswold, Capt.

"
' Crownpoint, Sept, 28, 1775.

"'Received of Mr. Jotliem Bemus sixteen shilling and three pence,

york money, which I desire Capt. Griswold to pay out of my wages, and

you will oblige. Sir, Your's
'" Bushniel Benedict.

"'To Capt. Shubael Griswold : Sir. This is your order to pay ^lisha

Frisbie, of Torrington, two pounds money, out of what is due to me for

my wages in last year's campaign, it being for value received.

''Dated, Farmington the 13th day of March, 1776.

'"David Haydon.
"'James Cowles.'

"It is quite evident that a number of Torrington

men were in this campaign with Capt. Griswold.

"The following paper, found in the State Library,

explains itself, to the credit of Torrington :
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"*To John Lawrence, Esq.. Colony Treasurer for the State of Connec-

ticnt : Sir, tliese are to certify tliat there were forty-one soldiers that went

into the service out of the town of Torrington in tlie year 1775, whose

heads were all put into the common lists and county rates made thereon,

ISs. per head, which by a late act made and provided, they are all abated
;

therefore, Sir, we desire that the same may be credited to our collector,

Elisha Smith, the whole thereof amounts to the sum of thirty-six

pounds, ISs. lawful money, etc.

"
' These from your most humble servauts.

"'Dated, Torrington 7th of April, 1777.

'"John Cook, 1

*"Epaphras Sheldon, r Justices of (he Peace.

" ' John Strong, J
"

' Amos Wilson,
"

' EPHRAiM Bancroft,
Selectmeti^

"In 1775 Goshen sent thirty-nine soldiers, New
Hartford fifty-five, Cornwall twenty-nine, Harwinton

thirty-two.

" Early in August, 1776, the aspect of affairs at New
York was so threatening that, at the urgent request

of Gen. Washington, the Governor and Council of

Connecticut ordered the whole of the standing militia

west of the Connecticut River, with two regiments on

the east side of the river, to march to New York

City. This order took two companies from this town.

"For the comfort of the militia when they should

go into the service, the Assembly directed that each

town should provide one tent for every thousand

pounds on the list, and Torrington, standing five

thousand eight hundred and sixteen pounds fifteen

shillings, was required to provide five, if not si.\, tents

;

hence Deacon John Cook, then town treasurer, paid

one order to the Widow Mary Birge by the hand of

her son, John Birge, for tent-cloth, amounting to five

pounds and six shillings, and also paid Capt. John

Strong, one of the selectmen, seven pounds and six-

teen shillings lawful money for tent-cloth.

"In December, 1776, to raise an army for the fol-

lowing two years, ten pounds were offered as a pre-

mium or bounty, and the same pay continued ; and

in 1779 the authorities of this town paid as high as

thirty pounds for one soldier for three years or during

the war.

"Capt. Epaphras Sheldon, of this town, was ap-

pointed captain in the second of the six battalions

ordered in June, 1776, to be ' raised and marched

directly to New York, and there join the Continental

army.' The other ofiiccrs of this company were : first

lieutenant, John Rockwell; second lieutenant, Abni'r

Wilson; ensign, Charles Goodwin. In this company

were probably two of the sons of the captain, viz.

:

"Epaphras, aged twenty years, served his time, re-

turned home, and after many years removed to Han-

nibal, Oswego Co., N. Y., where he died in 1850,

ninety-four years of age.

"Remembrance, nineteen years of age, was taken

prisoner by the British at Fort Washington; was

poisoned by the water, and died in January, 1777.

" Wait, son of Capt. Epaphras, served in the war,

and must have entered the army when fourteen or

fifteen years of age; returned, lived in this town, and

died in 1849, aged eighty-four years.

" The captain lived in this town until 1809, when

he removed to Winchester, where he died in 1812,

aged eighty years.

" Elijah Loomis, son of Ichabod, was probably in

this company, and died a prisoner.

" Capt. Shubael Griswold was appointed captain in

December, 1776, with the following officers in his

company : Jonathan Mason, first lieutenant ; Theo-

dore Catlin, second lieutenant; Jesse Buell, ensign.

The men were enlisted from Torringford, Litchfield,

and Cornwall. The pay-roll of this company is re-

ported in the State library as lost, yet Capt. Gris-

wold made an extra roll, which he placed in the

pocket of his journal, where it remained to the pres-

ent, in spite of three generations of children, and

more than a hundred years of wear and tear. It is

well preserved, and beautiful to behold, except some

hawk-eyed pictures, which have been scribbled on it

either by soldiers in the army or those of the house-

hold.

" The company marched to Sawpits, where it joined

the army.
" The marching roll of Capt. Griswold's company,

March 4, 1777:

"From Torrington: John Burr, Seth Coe, Charles Roberts, Ambrose

Fyler, Jonathan Miller, Asaph Atwater, John Birge, Isajic Filley,

Timothy Loomis, Ebenezer Bissell, Return Bissell, Paniel Winchell,

Frederick Bigelow, Cotton Mather, Benjamin Frisbie, Thomas

Skinner, Nathaniel Barber, Timothy Kelsey, Thomas Matthews,

Stephen Rossiter, Klislia Kelsey.

" From Litchfield : Stephen Snntli, Gideon Phillips, Abel CaUin, Simeon

Ross, Timothy Gibbs, Benjamin Stone, Ashbel Callin, Calvin Bissell,

Benjamin Palmer, John Way, Abner Baldwin, Philemon Wil^ox,

Solomon Linsley, John Woodrutf, Enoch Sperry, Dyer Cleaveliind,

Enos Baines, Solotuon Ilurson, Harris llopkint, Timothy Ltosloy,

Joel Taylor, John Bissell, Solomon Woodniff. Philo Woodniff, Sim-

eon Giblw, Belah Benton.

"From Cornwall: John Mcbblns, Samuel Burton, Joeiah IIopkin8«

Asahel Leet, Solomon Johnson, flonry Phllemor, Samuel Knimons,

Israel Dibble, Thomas White, Elisha Damon, Jernas Wadsworth,

Joshua Hartshorn, Noah Harrison, Asa Emmons, Jonathan Bell,

Simeon Nortli.

"The Torringford and Cornwall men marched

eighty-five miles, and the Litchfield men seventy-five,

before reaching tiie army, on which account the

former received seven shillings and onepence each,

and the latter si.x shillings and threepence, as travel-

ing expenses. Tradition says this company was in

the Northern campaign, going to Crown Point and

Montreal, taking Fort St. John's, and returning in

the winter ; and this agrees with the reports preserved

by the State.

"Capt. Medad Hills was appointed captain in De-

cember, 1776, and raised his company from CJoshen,

Torrington, and Winchester, with the following offi-

cers: Timothy Stanley, lieutenant, and John Dowd,

ensign. Capt. Hills resided in Goshen, near the

Torrington line, and is celebrated for the guns which

he made during the war more than for the battles he

fought ; for the reason that his guns have been seen

more than his battles have been heard of, although

he was a brave and honored soldier. He is said to
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have been in command of two companies at the taking

of New York City by the British, and to have con-

ducted himself and men to the honor of his country

in that perilous time.

''The several volunteer companies of the State this

year were put into one regiment, and the Assembly

appointed Noadiah Hooker colonel, James Boot

lieutenant-colonel, and Medad Hills major, Mr.

Hills was afterwards appointed colonel.

"The following persons being detached [drafted]

in 1777, paid their hues, each five pounds of money:

" Aaahel Wilcox, Joseph Taylor, Isaiah Tuttle, Moses Looniie, Jr., Epa-

phras LoomiB, Jr., Roger Wilson, Ephraim Loomia, Thomas Mar-

shall, Nuali Fuwler, Arial Brace, Samuel Beach, William Wilson,

George Baldwin, Moses Loomis (for liis son, second time), George

Baldwin (second draft), Noadiah Bancroft, Pardon Thrall, Aelibel

North, [Samuel] Cummiiigs, Benjamin Beach.

" In addition to these, Capt. Epaphras Loomis re-

ported the fines of nine others in 1777. Twenty-

three others gave their notes for these fines, and paid

the notes in 1779, one hundred and fifteen j>ounds,

amounting, in all, to two hundred and sixty pounds.

These funds were used by the town in giving extra

pay to those who did go and in hiring other soldiers.

Capt. Epaphras Loomis' company received of this

forty-six pounds.

"Benjamin Phelps, in January, 1779, 'paid two

hundred dollars for a fine for his son Jonathan ; being

detached and not going, sixty pounds.*

" In 1779 the town treasurer j)aid the following

sums for men as soldiers :

**'Paid Samuel Roherts for his service in the army, £6 10s. Paid an

order in favor of Noah North for his hiring a man in the seiTice, £10;

to Capt. Amos Wilson for his hiring a man, etc., £10 ; to Urija)i Cook for

his hiring a man, etc., £10; to Eheiiezer Leach for his service in the

army, £10 ; to Daniel (Jrant for money paid for clothing, £43 Is. Gd. ; to

Samuel Kelscy for his service in tlie army; to Bushniel Benedict for

cartouch-box, £4 4s. ; to Daniel and Abraham Loomis for their hiring a

man into the army, £10; to Jahez Gillett for two soldiers' blankets, £lrS;

to Daniel Waller for his hiring a nnui, etc., after he was detached, £10;

Dea. Miller for two blankets for the soldiers, £IG ; to Daniel Dibble for

a soldier's blanket, .£9; to Ambrose Fyler, a Continental soldier, £13; to

Jabez Gillett for a pot detached for the State use, £12 V2s.; to Abner

Loomis to hire John Dear to go into the service in Phelps' boy's room,

who paid his fine, £60.'

"In 1780 the treasurer received fines as follows: by

Col. Sheldon, from Ulysses Fyler, Samuel Clark,

Clement Tuttle, William Wilson, and James Fer-

guson, two hundred and sixteen dollars; by Maj.

Strong, a fine from Stephen , two hundred and

forty dollars.

"In 1781 the following moneys were received: by

several notes given for fines by those who were de-

tached, £5 each, £35; also by Ebenezer Bissell, as

fine, £10; sundry other notes, £5 17s.

" In 1781 the treasurer of the town paid the fol-

lowing for services in the army :

£ s. d.
" ' To Jesse Whiting for three months' tour 10 8

" George Baldwin for clotli blankets, pork, etc... 4 9 6
" Neheraiali Gaylord, Jr., for hiiiug Brigadore

Loomis a tour 34 10
" Elisha Kelsey for a six montlis' tour 34 10
" Eliphalet Hough six months' tour for Sam.

Cummings 29 5 6
" Roger Marsliall for six months' tour 10 8

£ 8. d.
" Timothy Loomis for hiring a man asix months'

tour 20
" Andrew Ely for six months' tour 37 4
" Benjamin Gaylord for a six months' tour 20
" Asahel Strong, conductor of teams 18
" Stanley Griswold for part of three months' tour. 10
" Capt. Noah Wilson for wheat for soldiei-s 2 5
" John Ellsworth for service as a soldier 5 14
" Nathan Sanders for his apprentice in service

one summer 37 4
" Barber ftlooie for asix months' tour 30 12
" Elijah Bissell for six months' tour 36 (»

" Ebenezer North for one imn pot for service 18
" Nathaniel Kelsey, Jr., for part of three months'

tour 10
" Elisha Smith and Samuel Austin, receivers and

packers of beef and other provisions 38 2
" Zucbariah Mather, Wait Beach, and Abijah

Wilson for clothing and transporting to New
Milford 25 3 6

" John StandclifF for a six months' tour 20 9
" Juhn Ellsworth for partof a six niontlis' tour.. 20
" Jared I'almer for part of a three months' tour,. 5 14 8
*' Noah North for liii'ing a six inontlis' tour 20
" Ensign [Benj.] Whiting for part of three

months' tour 8 8
" Daniel Benedict was voted 20 0'

"The following are some of the actions taken iu

town-meeting in support of the Revolution:

"' Dec, 1777.— ro(t'<Z, That Abner Marshall, Capt. Noah Wilson, Mr.

Ebenezer Coe, Sergt Aaron Austin, and Capt. Shubaid Griswold shall be

a committee to lo(»k into the matter, in respect to fines, and to do jus-

tice and equity to them that were fined.'

'
' Voted, That Capt. Abel Beach, Capt. Ebenezer Coe, Capt. Noah Wil-

son, Mr. Aaron Austin, Cai)t. Benjamin Bissel, and Lieut. Nehemiah

Gaylord sliall be si committee to get clothing for the Continental soldiera,

according to an act of Assembly, and tliat the committee give prizes as

tiiey judge just and reasonable.'

"At a meeting of the town held Jan. 6, 1778, 'to

try the minds of the town, whether they would ap-

prove and adopt the Articles of Confederation,'

—

" ' Voted article by article, and adopted the 1st, 2d, 3d, 4th, 5th, 6th, 7th

articles, and approved tlie same by a very clear mjijority.'

"' Voted, That tlie selectmen let those families whose husbands are in

the service have what salt they judge reasonable.' 'That the widow

Preston have given to her gratis one bushel of salt, when it comes, as a

free gift from the town.'

"^ Voted, That Nathaniel Barber, Jr , Samuel Kelsey, Jr., Clerk Rob-

erts, Ambrus Fylei', El)enezer Scovill, Ebenezer Leach, who are now in

our service to fill onr quota, and all those men who will enlist or are

detached, have given them twenty shillings a month for each month they

are in the seivice, until the first day of Janmiry next, except those who
take the benefit by law proviiled to support their families.'

"* Voted, Tbat Lieut. Ebenezer Miller and Ensign Elijah Gaylord,

Capt. Abel Beach, and Mr. Caleb Lyman be a committee to divide to

each family the town salt according to the number of inhabitants in the

town.'

" In March, 1778, they

•" Voted, That Capt. Noah Wilson, Capt. Abel Beach, Capt. Ebenezer

Coe, Capt. Benjamin Bissell, Mr. Aaron Austin, and Lieut. Nehemiah

Gaylord shall be a committee to provide for those families that are left,

and whose husbands are in the army, as the law directs.'

"' Voted, To appoint a committee to provide the clothing for our

quota, and that the committee divide into six districts, and that each

district provide their equal propoition, and that Lieut. Ebenezer Miller,

Mr. Daniel Hndsun, Mr. Asaliel Strong, Mr. Abner Loomis, Ensign

Daniel Grant, and Mr. Ashbel Noitli be a committee to divide and pro-

cure their equal proportions of cKithing.'

'* In December, 1778, another committee was ap-

pointed to procure clothing, consisting of George

Baldwin, Dr. Elkanah Hodges, Ensign Benjamin

Whiting, John Wetmore, Ezekiel Bissell, Jr., and

John Birge.

" In September, 1779, a special town-meeting was

called for the purpose, and they directed the select-
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men, with the committee, to borrow money, if neces-

sary, to provide clothing and provisions for soldiers'

families.

" In the next December, at the regular meeting,

they decided that ' Daniel Dibble, Eeuben Burr, Noah
Wilson, Jr., and Ensign Wait Beach be a committee

to take care of the soldiers' families the year ensuing.'

And at the same time they appointed Nehemiah Gay-

lord, Jr., Michael Loomis, Elisha Smith, Caleb Ly-

man, Hewit Hills, and Eli Richards a committee to

procure clothing for the soldiers for the year ensuing.

" On Dec. 4, 1780, when war matters were looking

gloomy, and further call had been made for soldiers,

the town appointed Lieut. Jesse Cook, Ensign Daniel

Grant, Lieut. John Burr, Sergt. Benjamin Beach, Mr.

David Soper, and Mr. Ashbel North a committee to

procure men for three years or during the war, to fill

our quota of the Continental army ; and to leave the

matter with the committee now appointed, to get the

men as reasonable as they can, and for whatever they

do the town will be reponsible, and will satisfy their

contract with those they hire, and satisfy all reason-

able expenses.

" In this year, and in 1781, it required a great effort

to procure the number of men required of the town,

and the votes passed were of a very stringent and

thorough character, so as to meet the demands made;

extra taxes were levied, authority to borrow money
given ; Daniel Grantwas kept in the saddle collecting

taxes almost the year round ; three special town-

meetings were held in 1781 ; the town was divided

into classes or districts, and every district must fur-

nish the men adjudged to be its proportion ; and the

very language in which the acts are expressed indi-

cate the extremity to which they were driven. Their

town-meetings were like councils of war rather than

anything else, and on one occasion continued (June

2d) in the old Torrington meeting-house until after
]

dark, and they adjourned to the house of Ephraim
|

Bancroft to have light to see to record tlie transac-

tions. The great question was how to get men with-

out oppression and injustice, for they say to the com-

mittee ' to make out the town quota in tiie most

equitable way and manner as they possibly can to do

equal justice,' for the drafts fell so heavy that there

was danger of rebellion, and, if not, who could he

found to arrest a man, take him from his already suf-

fering family, and drag him into the army ? One reso-

lution has the ring of defiance:

"'Voted, T)mt if the militia oflicers neglect to detach three weeks
(against the order), the town will defend from cost tlmt may arise thcre-

*'roDi.*

" Tiiat is, they must and would have a little time to

do the work assigned. This was not all : when the

men were procured, the demands for provisions must

be met.

"*rof«rf, That ttio civil authority and selectmen divide tlio town into

four equal c1iu4m<>s liy the lists, and draw lota which olaas shall pay the

first month 'tt hoof, and so on for the four months.'

" This means that the authorities took a man's ox

or cow whether he would or not, and sent it to the

army, that those sons and fathers already there might

not starve. For any such thing taken the town al-

ways paid a full price ; but every ox and cow was

wanted in the town, and were not for sale.

"The year 1782 came, and with it another call for

men from this town, the number being eleven.

"
' Voted, That the four classes as set out last year be assigned to pro-

cure eleven men for one year, as follows, viz.: That the first class be

divided into three classes, each to procure one man ; the second class

remain as they were last year, to procure two men ; the third class to

be divided into three classes, each to procure one man ; the fourth class

to remain together to procure three men ; and that the selectmen first

divide and set out by the list of 1781 into four classes or equal parts, as

set out last year, and then divide as aforesaid.'

"These eleven were State men, and others must be

procured.

" • ro/e(/. That the committee above mentioned be a committee to hire

what men are wanted to fill our quota aforesaid of the Continental army,

as well as the State men.'

" This was the last draft they had to meet, and well

it was, for they could not have procured many more
soldiers, unless the women had volunteered.

" In all the votes of the town there appeared no

hesitancy, but great cheerfulness in meeting all re-

quirements as to the army and the care of the soldiers'

families at home, in hope of final and lasting success

in freedom.

"Not an intimation is given on the town records

of any person being disloyal to the American cause,

and, as far as can now be judged, those who took the

oath of fidelity to this cause, beginning in 1777, in-

clude all the voters in the town at that time, and
onward si-s they became of age or came into the town.

That list is a noble showing for the town.

" Epaphnis Sheldon, as colonel, entered complaint

against Matthew Grant, Sr., in May, 1777, as an officer

in the militia, that he neglected and hindered in the

exercising of the militia, and he was summoned be-

fore the Assembly ; but he took the oath the next

September."

TAXES lUIBINO THE REVOLUTION.

" They were very high, and, on account of the

scarcity of money, extremely difficult to pay ; and the

actual suffering consequent was very considerable.

"The town tax in 177"> amounted to £'27 Id. 7jrf.

for the west side, and £14 3s. 2il. for the east side, or,

both, £41 4«. 9W. In 1777 the two assessments made
amounted to £181 12». lOrf., or more than four times

that of 1775. In 1779 they amounted to £308 4«. 3d.

In 1780 the amount in figures was £3054 1». lOrf.,

which they could not have paid if the figures repre-

sented hard money, but they meant Continental

money, wliich wa.s abundant, but worth very little.

In 1781 the two assessments amounted to £506 6*.

3id. in State money, which money was then be-

coming the reliable currency, gold and silver being

almost unknown practically.
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" In the collection of these taxes Daniel Grant be-

came a celebrated and almost indispensable man, be-

cause of his success in obtaining the money, and also

in making it as easy as possible for the people.

"There was a company of troopers, or soldiers on

horseback, formed in this town in 1799 or '80, who
took active part in the Revolutionary service, as the

records show that they received pay for such service

in the same proportion as the other militia companies.

Two horse-pistols are still preserved, and are in the

hands of Mr. George Allyn, that were a part of the

equipment of this company. They were made by

Medad Hills, and bear his inscription."

OFFICERS AND .SOLDIERS.

"Gen. Epaphras Sheldon was lieutenant under Col.

Oliver Wolcott, and afterwards was made major, colo-

nel, and general after the war.
" Capt. Shubael Griswold was lieutenant in two

cam])aigns in the French war, in 1758 and '59, and
was captain in two campaigns in the Revolution.

" Capt. John Strong was captain of the militia, and
was probably in two or three campaigns.

" Capt. Amos Wilson enlisted a company, went to

the war, but was taken ill by sunstroke, and returned

home.
" Capt. Epaphras Loomis, probably, was elected to

Capt. Amos Wilson's position in the commencement
of the war, and as captain of the Torrington company
was in several campaigns with the militia, and was
afterwards appointed captain of an enlisted company.

" Capt. Noah Wilson was the first captain of a

military company in the town, and he resigned, and
his brother Amos was elected in his place, and, as

near as can be ascertained, Amos resigned soon after

the commencement of the war, and was not in the

service long.

"Noah Wilson may have gone in the call for the

militia in 1775.

" David Lyman served in the army some time, and
was honorably discharged to run a grist-mill in New
Hartford for the supply of the Revolutionary troops;

resided in Torringford a number of years before his

death. He is said to have been known by the name
of Gen. Lyman.

" Capt. Jabez Gillett was in the service.

" Dr. Isaac Day, of Torringford, was appointed sur-

geon's mate in the regiment of Col. Webb in 1777.
" Dr. Oliver Bancroft was in the army.
" Dr. Elkanah Hodges was probably in the army

with the militia two or three terms when they were
called out, as he received pay as others.

"Dr. Samuel Woodward was in the army, but
probably with the militia.

" Capt. Seth Coe was a soldier in the Revolution,

enlisting when but seventeen, and remaining through
the war, and was probably made captain in the war.

" Levi Watson was at Danbury when it was burned
by the British.

" Thomas Watson was in the State service, which
he entered at the age of fifteen, and joined the Conti-

nental army when but nineteen.

" Shubael Griswold, Jr., was an officer in his

father's company in the Revolution, and afterwards

became general of the militia at East Hartford.
" Pardon Abbott, from Rhode Island, was a soldier

in the Revolution ; drew a pension many years ; lived

in the old house on the little hill below the nickel-

furnace in Torrington Hollow.
" Asahel Strong was conductor of teams.

" The following persons are known to have been in

the Revolution for various lengths of time, some
in the militia, and some of them in the regular

army

:

"Oliver Coe, Oliver Coe, Jr., Dr. Oliver Bancroft, Natluiniel Barber, Jr.,

Biisliuiel Benedict, Daniel Benedict, Simeon Birge, Elijah Bissell,

John Dear, Noah Drake, Sr., Andrew Ely, John Slandcliff, John
Ellsworth, Ebenezer Scoville, Amhi-ose Fyler, Benjamin Whiting,

Benjamin Gaylord, Jesse Whiting, Stanley Gliswold, Henry Whiting,

Shubael Griswold, Jr., Eliphalet Hough, Joseph Hoskins, Sr., Samuel
Kelaey, Elislia Kelsey, Nathaniel Kelsey, Samuel Kelsey, Jr., David

Lyman, Epaphras Loomis, Jr., Wait Loomis, Elijah Loomis, Richard

Leach, Ebenezer Leach, Roger Marshall, Barber Moore, Jared Palmer,

Abel Roberta, Samuel Roberts, Clerk Rubei'ts, William Williams,

Stephen Rowley, John Williams."

THE WHIPPING-POST.

" This method of penalty was continued to a later

day in Torrington than in some other towns, but was
resorted to largely in cases of stealing. Mr. Israel

Coe, as constable, whipped two men about the years

1817 and 1818,—one for stealing a piece of broadcloth

at the woolen-mill, the other for stealing a silver spoon

at Capt. Samuel Bradley's.

"'At a justice court holden at Torrington, in the county of Litchfield,

on the 15th day of January, 1830, in presence of II. C. Abernethy, justice

of the peace for said county holding the same. Nelson Fyler, of said Tor-

rington, was brought 1 efore said court by virtue of a warrant issued by

the said R. C. Abernethy, . . . on complaint of Luther Cook, grand juror

of said Torrington, charging the said Nelson Fyler that on the 14tli day ,

of Jiinnary, 1830, at Torrington aforesaid, did feloniously take, steal, and

carry away one certain gold finger-ring, with a stone set therein, of the

value of tive dollare, tho proper estate of Ransom Hine, of said Torring-

ton, against the peace and contrary to the form of the statute in such

case made and provided; and the said Nelson Fyler, being put to plead,

for plea says he is not guilty in manner and form as in such complaint

is alleged. And this court having heard the evidence, as well on the

part of the State as of tlie said Nelson Fyler, find that the said Nelson

Fyler is guilty in manner and in form as in said complaint is alleged,

and also find tliat the said ring was, when stolen, of the value of two

dollars fitly cents. It is therefore considered and adjudged that the said

Nelson Fyler pay a fine of five dollars to the treasurer of the town of

Torrington, together with the costs of the prosecution, taxed at nine

dollars and thirty cents, and also pay to the said Ransom Hine seven

dollars and fifty cents, being treble the value of said ring stolen, as afore-

said ; and the said Nelson Fyler, neglecting and refusing to pay said fine

and costs, shall be punished by whipping four stripes on liis naked body

and pay the costs of prosecution, and stand committed till this judgment

be complied with.

" * Russell C. Abernethy, Justice of the Peace.*

" The warrant for execution was granted, and de-

livered to William Leach, constable, the same day

;

but tradition says the prisoner was whipped, but on

his way to prison escaped from the conscable.

" This is said to have been the last case of whipping

in the town."



TORRINGTON. 619

A PROSECUTION FOR PROFANITY.

"'To Ebenezer Norton, Esq., his majesty's justice of the peace for Litch-

fielil County, in Connecticut:

" * Benjamin Whiting, grand juror for said county of Litchfield for tlie

time being, and otlier informing oflficers for said town and county, on

their oath, in the name and behalf of our sovereign lord the now king,

complaint and information make against Matthew Grant, of Torrington,

in said county, for breach of law, for tliat he, the said Matthew, being at

the dwelling-house of Epaphras Sheldon, Esq., and at Mr. Ebenezer

Coe's, in Torrington, on or about the 21st day of January last past, and

several of his majesty's subjects being present, the said Matthew did at

the aforesaid place, in a very tumultuous and angry way and manner,

did with a loud voice swear by God vainly, rashly, and in a passion and

profanely, and used those vain words following: viz., "The south end of

Torrington is as bad as liell, and that the Wilsons would all go to hell,

and that they would go to the devil," and many other rash and profane

words did then and there express in a very wicked way and manner,

all which the complainers say was contrary to the peace of our sovereign

lord the king and the law of this colony, and pray that the said Matthew

Grant may be proceeded with as the law directs, made and provided in

euch cases.

"
' Dated at Tprriugton this 5th day of March, 1773.

' Joseph A
'Joseph Ta:

' Benjamin

LLLEN, \

Wanted, r

N Beach, J

}

Evidence fur the Jang.

" ' Benj. Whiting,
"

' Noah Wilson,
"

' Isaac Goodwin,

'* * Ephraim Bancroft, ^

"
' Jabez Gillf.tt,

Grand Jury.

Constables of Torrington*

" On the back of this paper is written the order for

Mr. Grant's arrest, dated Sept. 23, 1773, or six months

after the complaint was made, by which time the hot

excitement had probably cooled down a little."

SLAVERY.

In January, 1837, a number of the citizens of this

county met in Wolcottville for the purpose of organ-

izing a county anti-slavery society ; but when they

" began to look around for a place for the meeting of the

convention," says the Rev. Mr. Orcutt, " they found

every church and public and private hall closed against

them, and heard whisperings of threatenings against

any who might have the noble daring to encounter the

pro-slavery element of the village and of the town. At

this juncture a barn was offered for the use of the con-

vention, and it was promjitly accepted, and fitted for

tlie occasion. It was not the first time that strangers

found the shelter in a barn, ' because there was no

room in the inn.' In that barn the friends of impar-

tial liberty and justice gathered in goodly numbers,

some of them the most reliable and resjiectable citi-

zens of Litchfield County. The barn was filled,—the

floor, scaffolds, hay-mow, and stables. It was an in-

tense cold day in January, and there was much suffer-

ing from the severity of the weather. The conven-

tion was called to order, and Roger S. Mills, of New
Hartford, appointed chairman. The Rev. Daniel

Coe, of Winsted, offered prayer. After appointing a

committee to nominate permanent officers, the con-

vention wiis addressed by the Rev. Nathaniel Colver,

agent of the American society, and otiiers. The county

society was then organized, and the following officers

appointed: President, Roger S. Mills; Vice-Presi-

dents, Erastus Lyman, of Goshen, Gen. Daniel B.

Brinsmade, of Washington, Gen. Uriel Tuttle, of Tor-

ringford, and Jonathan Coe, of Winsted ; Secretary,

Rev. R. M. Chipman, of Harwinton ; Treasurer, Dr.

E. D. Hudson, of Torringford. While thus peace-

fully engaged, though suffering with the cold, and

counseling together for the relief of the oppressed

and the elevation of humanity, a furious mob was col-

lecting in the village, and elevating their courage for

their deeds of violence by the intoxicating cup. A
class of men from the adjoining town, as well as from

Torrington, had gathered for the very purpose of dis-

turbing this meeting, if it should attempt to exercise

the liberties of religious and civil citizens. This mob,

after parading the streets, making hideous and threat-

ening noises, gathered around the barn, and by their

deafening shouts, the blowing of horns, and the ringing

the alarm of fire by the bell of the Congregational

church, and the display of brute force, broke up the

meeting, which hastily took an adjournment. Then

the old Puritan spirit was manifested by the Torring-

ford people, who offered the use of their meeting-house

to the convention, and it repaired to that j)lace, and

continued the session two days. The opposition in Tor-

ringford, though violent, was undemonstrative, for lack

of the mob element and rum, and partially from the

fact that the fury of the mob had run its race in Wol-

cottville. When the convention left the barn, the

shouts, thumping of i)ans and kettles, and the furious

ringing of the church-bell characterized pandemo-

nium broken loose. When the people were leaving

Wolcottville in their sleighs, the entire village seemed

to be a bedlam. That good man. Deacon Ebenezer

Rood, was set upon in his sleigh, to overturn him and

frighten his horses. This excited his righteous indig-

luition, and in a voice of defiance he shouted to them,

' Rattle your i>ans, hoot and toot, ring your bells, you

pesky fools, if it docs you any good ;' then put his

horses on a run and cleared himself from the gang.

" When the meeting assembled in Torringford it

was inspired with new life, energy, and courage. The

beacon-fires of liberty and freedom blazed much

higher than tliey would but tor the violence mani-

fested in the village. Deacon Rood's spirit of defiance

to the mob took possession of the whole company,

and every man and woman enlisted in the cause glo-

rie<l in the name of Abolitionist, and felt anointed for

the work of preaching ' deliverance to the captives in

chains.' t^uch was the beginning of anti-slavery

agitation and times in the town where John Brown

—

' Ossawattomie Brown'—was born.

I

" This society, moved now as well by the sense that

despotism ha<l come to their own doors and threatened

the very sacredness of church and homes as by the

thought of freedom for the slave, proceeded to hold

monthly meetings throughout the county. These

meetings were held in barns and sheds, in groves and

houses, and anywhere that the people would a.ssemble

for such a purpose. It raised funds by systematic
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method, distributed tracts, books, and papers. The <

State Charter Oak Society was organized in 1838, and i

employed lecturing agents, who besides lecturing so-

licited subscribers to the anti-slavery papers and

scattered anti-slavery literature.

" They were opposed everywhere, and yet moved on

in their work as though everybody knew they wi re

right. They were called all sorts of opprobrious

names; were proscribed and derided as ' nigger friends,'

disturliers of Israel.' Some were unceremoniously ex-

communicated from the churches for no crime but

speaking against slavery,—the very thing that many of

the fathers had done for a hundred years without ob-

jection having been made. All argument with anti-

slavery men started with the Bible, where the Quakers

started nearly one hundred years before, and this

brought the question into all the churches as well as

committees. Some withdrew from the churches be-

cause they deemed it sinful to hold fellowship with

those who voted to uphold a system acknowledged to be

guilty of more crime than any other system in the land.

" The opposition had but one argument, namely, it

offended the South ; slavery was for their interest.

This argument had been gradually obtaining adher-

ents from the time the Constitution of the United

States was adopted. Before that some of the Southern

States were as much anti-slavery as any in the North.

When the South changed the spirit of proscription

began to rise in the North, hence in the first meet-

ing-house in Torrington there was no slave pew nor

nigrjer pew, but in the second one there were two.

These pews were located in the gallery over the stairs,

boarded up so high that when the colored people sat

in them they could see no part of the congregation,

and could be seen by no one in the assembly. Jacob

Prince, after being made a freeman by his master,

Abijah Holbrook, joined the church in Goshen, and

then, being placed in such a seat, and treated in other

ways by the same spirit, refused to go to church, be-

cause, as he said, he was not treated as a brother, and

thereafter held prayer-meetings in his own house on

the Sabbath, whereupon the Goshen Church pro-

ceeded to and did excommunicate him for neglect of

duty. This same Jacob is said to have been as fine a

looking man, head and features, as nearly any one in

the town, except the color of his skin.

" Two such pews were in the old church in Torring-

ford, but the Kev. Samuel J. Mills (whether as a re-

buke to the spirit of caste or not is not known) always

seated Henry Obookiah, Thomas Hooppo, and other

tawny brethren of the Sandwich Islands, when they

visited him from the Cornwall mission-school, in his

own pew, in the front of the congregation, quite to

the dissatisfaction of some even of that congregation."

ABIJAH HOLBROOK'S LETTER OF EMANCIPATION.

"Know all men by these presents, that I, Abijah Holbrook, of Torring-

ton, in the county of Litchfield and State of Connecticut, being influ-

enced by motives of humanity and benevolence, believing that all man-

kind by nature are entitled to equal liberty and freedom ; and whereas

I, the said Holbrook, agreeable to the laws and customs of this State, and

the owner and possessor of two certain negroes which are of that class

that are called slaves for life, viz., Jacob Prince, a male negro, and

Ginne, a female, wife of said .Jacob; and whereas the said negroes to

this time have served me with faithfulness and fidelity, and they being

now in the prime and vigor of life, and appear to be well qualified as to

understanding and economy to maintain and support themselves by their

own industry, and they manifesting a great desire to be delivered from

slavery and bondage,

" I therefore, the said Abijah Holbrook, do by these presents freely and

absolutely emancipate the said Jacob and Ginne, and they are hereby

discharged from all authority, title, claim, control, and demand that I,

the said Holbrook, now have or ever had in or unto the persons or ser-

vices of them, the said Jacob and Ginne, and they, from and after the

date hereof, shall be entitled to their liberty and freedom, and to trans-

act business for themselves in their own names and for their own benefit

and use.

*' To witness whereof I have hereunto set my hand and seal this 18th

day of August, a.d. 1798.
" Abijah Holbrook."

JOHN BROWN.

John Brown, known to history as " Ossawattomie

Brown," was born in this town,—in the house an en-

graving of which is herewith shown,—May 9, 1800.

HOUSE WHEEE JOHN BROWN WAS BORN.

The history of this in some respects remarkable man
is so well known that no extended notice is deemed

necessary in this connection. Sufliceth it to say that

he carried his Quixotic attempt to liberate the serfs

of American bondage into the heart of slavedom, and

met his tragic fate by hanging at Charleston, Va.,

Dec. 2, 1859.

CHAPTER LX.

TORKINGTON (Continued).

Wolcottville—Its Inception—United Movements—The Village in 1819

—

In 1836—In 1881—Seneca Lodge, F. and A. M.—Wolcottville Savings

Bank— Brooks Brothers' Banking-Office— Physicians— Attorneys

—

Torringford—Holbrook's Mills— Hart's Hollow—Torrington Hollow

—

Wrightville—Burrv'ille.

VILLAGES AND HAMLETS.
WOLCOTTVILLE.*

" The first business transaction that led the way of

all others in building Wolcottville as a village was

* Name changed to Torrington in 1881.



TOREINGTON. 621

the purchasing by Amos Wilson of the proprietors

of the town the mill-privileges on Waterbury River,

west branch, in March, 1751,—the site known since as

that of Wilson's mill. He was then twenty-five years

of age ; had been in the town less than a year ; was

the owner of fifty acres of land given him by his

father; and by this transaction started himself in

business for life. His brother Noah had been in the

town seven or eight years, and was the owner, at this

time, of two or three hundred acres of land. The next

step of progress was the formation of the stock com-

pany, and the building of the mill soon after, prob-

ably the same year. The company bought at difl'erent

times various portions of the pine timber-land, and

Noah and Amos Wilson bought for their individual

possession strip after strip, as the owners were willing

to sell, until a considerable part of the pine-timber was

under their control. In October, 1752, Amos Wilson

married Zerviah Grant, daughter of William Grant,

one of the proprietors of the mill,—a transaction with

a foresight to business as well as domestic felicity,

—

and made his home west of the mill, near the present

residence of Mr. Burton Patterson.

" The next enterprise of Amos Wilson was a store

and a shoe-shop. His account-book, still preserved,

reveals the extent of this department of usefulness, as

well as the work done at the mill. The earliest date

in this book is 1759, and the book shows that there

had been another previous to this, kept by Amos
Wilson.

" It was this saw-mill that was to clear the pine-

timber from the swamp and open the way for a beau-

tiful village. This timber was valuable. Mast Swamp
has been represented as a worthless piece of territory,

so much so that the committee, in laying out the town,

could scarcely devise a plan to dispose of it, wherciis

it was reserved during all the other divisions, for the

reason that it was of such value that every proprietor

demanded his share in proportion to the amount of

his list. For twenty years the proprietors, by various

committees, protected the pine-timber, and ordered

prosecutions in court, even at large expense, upon

any person who should cut it, and for what reason?

Because it was so worthless? Any of the old pro-

prietors would have laughed at the idea. They had

houses and barns to build ; and they knew that pine-

lumber was far preferable and more durable than

hemlock for such purposes, and to suppo.sc to the

contrary is a dis]iaragement of the keen-sighted cal-

culations of the fathers of Torrington. Many of the

farmers cut tliis timber as they needed it; hired the

use of Wilson's mill to saw it, and worked at the mill

night and day to that end, and then used it at their

homes; and after this process had been going on fifty

years and more, they sold their lots with what re-

mained on them, .some of them, as the deeds show,

for sixty dollars and over per acre. Between 1790

and 1800, Roger Wilson and Roswell Wilson bougiit,

in company and separately, between twenty and
40

thirty of these lots, paying the above prices for a

number of them.

"A highway through the swamp was laid at the

time of the first division, in 1734, half a mile north of

and parallel with the Litchfield line, and crossed the

West Branch some distance above Wilson's mill, pass-

ing eastward a little north of the present Congrega-

tional parsonage, and was a traveled road very early.

It was, indeed, the only road through the swamp for

twenty or more years. In 1752 a highway was laid

through the swamp, near the middle, from north to

south, twenty feet wide, which is now Main Street.

In the same year another one was laid from the mill-

place ' east, twenty feet wide, until it comes into the

other road.' That is now Water Street. The other

highway, known now as South Main Street, was made

at a later date. The first road leading to Waterbury

began at the west end of the bridge above Wilson's

mill, and passed down on the south side of the river,

crossing the brook below the park, and was called the

New Haven road. The old Litchfield road came down

the ravine into the New Haven road near this brook.

On the east side of the river a highway was laid in

1762, from the Litchfield line ninning north as far as

the pine-timber division of land. This road was ex-

tended south into Litchfield, and became a traveled

road quite early, and several dwellings were standing

on it before 1800.

" On the New Haven road there were settlers long

before any houses were built in Wolcottville. Paul

Peck had his hermit's house near this road some time

before 1776. Samuel Brooker owned his hundred

acres of land in this vicinity, and built his house near

the site of Mr. Charles F. Church's present dwelling,

about 1785. Below this dwelling resided a Mr. Elwell

and Solomon Morse. Capt. Perkins lived in a house

on the site of Mr. Frederick Taylor's present home-

stead. On the Litehfield road, some distance west

from the New Haven road, were the homes of Thomas

Coe, Asahel Wilcox, Chester Brooker, and otiiers.

Some of the land along this New Haven road and

near the river has been under cultivation longer than

any in the original town of Torrington. It was in

this vicinity or up the Litchfield road that Josiah

Grant resided in 1734, when he hired four or five

acres of land then 'broken up on Waterbury River,'

within the territory of Torrington. A carding and

cloth-dressing mill was built opposite Wilson's saw-

mill, on the river, at an early period. Joseph Blake

dressed cloth at this mill many years, and is said to

have come to the town for this purpose. Amos Wil-

son's account with Mr. Blake begins in 1769, and

therefore it is probable that the mill was built before

that time. This mill was gone in 1794. It is likely

that when it began to decay, .To.seph Taylor built the

one that stood near the rock on the south side of the

river, some fifty rods below Wilson's mill, and that

Joseph Blake continued to work for Mr. Taylor at

this second carding-miJl, which became a flax-mill,
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then a turning-mill, and was finally consumed by

fire.

" Wilson's new grist-mill was built in 1794, below

and adjoining the saw-mill, where now the Messrs.

Hotchkiss' planing-niill stands ; and the old saw-mill

continued some years until rebuilt.

"Several dwellings were built very early on the

road east of Waterbury Eiver, opposite the present

Valley Park, and in one of these John Brooker and

his wife Jerusha began housekeeping after their mar-

riage in 1783. They afterwards lived a number of

years in the house said to have been built by Ambrose

Potter, a little east of the foundry, now owned by

Turner, Seymour & Company. Mr. John Brooker built

a house where Mr. L. W. Coe's dwelling now stands

in 1803, which was the first frame raised in Wolcott-

ville. Benoni Leach built a house the .same summer
opposite Mr. Brooker's, east side of the Waterbury

road, there being a strife as to which house should be

raised first. Mr. Brooker won the day by about a week.
" The night after Mr. Brooker's house was raised, a

large company of men engaged in raising a high pole

ornamented with ranis' horns and the like, and named

the place 'Orleans Village.' This is the name used

in most of the deeds for ten or fifteen years afterwards.

After Mr. Brooker finished his house, he made it his

home for a few years only, keeping it as a tavern.

" Daniel Potter, of Johnstown, N. Y., bought in

1804, of Mr. Brooker and his wife, land where the Coe

furniture-store now stands, and built a store building

on it and a dwelling, which buildings were occupied

by his brother, Ambrose Potter. When this dwelling

was raised one of the sides fell, killing one man and

hurting a number of others, which fact was indelibly

fixed upon the mind of a young girl, and hence re-

membered to the present day. Mr. Potter sold this

property to Ephraim Sanford, of Newtown, Conn.,

who took possession and went on with the store, and

also bought the tavern, and about a year after Mr.

Sanford was on his way to New Haven with a load of

cheese, when the horses ran away and he was killed.

His executors sold the store to Russell Bull and Fred-

erick Bobbins, of Wethersfield, in 1808. Mr. Bull,

soon after, bought Mr. Robbins' half, and continued

the store a number of years. Ambrose Potter built

the tavern on the site of the American House for his

brother Daniel, and afterwards owned and occupied

it several years as a tavern. Between 1804 and 1812

a number of dwellings were erected in the village,

and in 1814 the school-house, which stood on the east

side of Main Street, where the present Register print-

ing-office stands.

" When John Brooker was making plans to build

his house, which liecame a public-house, Joseph Tay-

lor was arranging to build a tavern where the Allen

house now stands. His sudden decease in 1802 de-

layed the enterprise for a time, but about 1819, Mrs.

Taylor and her son, Uri Taylor, completed the house,

and thereafter kept it as a public-house for a number

of years. In the winter of 1813, Joseph Allyn, Jr.,

bought the water-power and privileges from Wilson's

mill to the flax-mill of the following persons for two
hundred and eighty dollars : Roswell Wilson, Ben-

jamin Phelps, Norman Wilson, Lemuel North, Sam-
uel Beach and his wife, Keziah Beach, Joseph Allyn,

Jonah Allyn, Roger Wilson, and Guy Wolcott. He
sold it in the spring for the same price to Frederick

Wolcott, of Litchfield, and Guy Wolcott, of Torring-

ton ; deed dated May 3, 1813. The Wolcotts pur-

chased another plot, below the first, at the same time;

and upon this they erected that year the woolen-

mill. They purchased several other pieces of land,

giving the owners until the next September to remove

the timber. On the day of the raising of the woolen-

mill, the Rev. Alexander Gillett being present, as

well as a large number of the people of the town, pro-

posed that the name of the place be changed ; in re-

sponse to which a call was made :
' What shall we

call it? Name it.' He answered, ' Wolcottville,'

and to this all agreed, and Wolcottville it is.

" In 1813, Nathan Gillett, who married a daughter

of Deacon Guy Wolcott, was residing in the house

north of the bridge, on the west side of Main Street.

This house he built about 1808 or 1809, and occupied

it until 1817, when he removed West.
" There were two or three houses built on the north

side of the river between 1806 and 1810. At the

northwest part of the village there were probably

but two or three dwellings before 1800 within the

territory now regarded as Wolcottville.

" In the Gazetteer of the States of Connecticut and

Rhode Island, printed in 1819, we have the fpllowiiig

description of this village

:

" ' Wolcottville, a village of eighteen houses, has been built principally

since 1802, and is an active, flourishing place. Its growth has been chiefly

owing to the establishment of an extensive woolen-factory, which now
is owned principally by His Excellency Oliver Wolcott. It is one of the

largest establishments of the kind in the State, employing about forty

workmen, and manufacturing from twenty-five to thirty-five yards of

broadcloth daily, of an average value of six dollars per yard. The cloths

made have a substantial texture, and are manufactured in a style scarcely

inferior to the highest finished English cloths.*

" Barber's ' History of Connecticut,' published in

1836, says,

—

'"Wolcottville, the principal village in the town of Torrington, Ib

situated in a valley near the southern boundary of the town, at the junc-

tion of the two branches of the Waterbury or Naugatuck River, twenty-

six miles from Hartford, forty from New Haven, and seventeen from the

New Haven and Northampton Canal at Avon. The village consists of

about forty dwelling-houses, a handsome Congregational church, a three-

story brick building used as a house of woi-sbip bj' various denomina-

tions, and also as an academy, four mercantile stores, two taverns, a

post-office, and an extensive woolen-factory. The Congregational church

stands at the northern extremity of the village, but, owing to the limited

extent of the engraving, it could not be introduced. The brick building

used for a house of worship is on the left, over which is seen the Litch-

field turnpike, passing over the heights westward. The woolen-factory

is the large building with a spire. This factory went into operation in

1813. One of the principal owners was the late Oliver Wolcott, Esq.,

formerly Governor of the State ; the village owes its rise principally to

this establishment. A short distance westward of the factory an estab-

lishment for the manufacture of brass is uow erecting: it is believed to

be the only one of the kind at present in the United States.'
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" Wolcottville now contains thirty stores of all va-

rieties, two hotels, four churches, a town-hall, a town

clerk's office, a graded school building, the granite

block, containing Wadam's Hall, a large hall for

public assemblies, one bank, two daguerreian gal-

leries, a post-office, one printing-office, issuing a weekly

paper, and eight copartnership manufacturing com-

panies, employing acapital of seven hundred thousand

dollars.

" Its professional men are four settled pastors, five

practicing physicians, and two lawyers. The graded

school has a gentleman as principal, and six lady

teachers."

SENECA LODGE, F. AND A.M.

This lodge was chartered June 13, 1817, with the

following members: Chauncey Humphrey, Samuel

and Leonard Hurlbut, Drake Mills, Henry Palmer,

Aaron Smith, Amos Bradley, Hugh Kearney, William

Crum, Lemuel Hurlbut, Truman S. Wetmore, John

McAlpin, Daniel Phelps, Jr., William Bunnel, Ste-

phen Fyler, Joseph D. Humphrey, Charles Andrus,

John Wetmore (2d), Elisha Hinsdale, Raphael Mar-

.shall, Eussell C. Abernethy, Asahel Smith, Edward
Taylor, Samuel Bradley, Norman Wilson, Lsrael Coe,

Christopher Pierce, James Green, Miles Beach, George

Lyman, Norman Fowler, Alanson H. Kimberly, Jo-

seph R. Judson, Phineas Reed, Ichabod Loomis. The
lodge met at the dwelling of Stephen Fyler, at New-
field, until 1823, since which time it has been located

at Wolcottville. There was no communication of the

lodge from June, 1833, to December, 1836, after which

they renewed and continued them until 1840, and

then surrendered the charter to the Grand Lodge. In

1860, upon the petition of the following persons, the

charter was returned : Samuel Burr, Russell C. Aber-

nethy, Rev. J. F. Covell, Allen G. Brady, Henry J.

Allen, Sr., William H. Moore, George B. Fish, Uri

Taylor, James Palmer, Isaac C. Palmer, Edward Pier-

pont, James Ashborn.

The first officers were Truman S. Wetmore, W. M.

;

Russell C. Abernethy, S. W. ; John McAlpin, J. W.

;

Aaron Smitli, Treas. ; Daniel Phelps, Sr., Sec. ; Carl-

ton Humphrey, S. D. ; Alanson Kimberly, J. D.

;

Ichabod Loomis, Tyler.

The present officers are J. W. BrothwcU, W. M.

;

Charles Alldis, S. W. ; James Bell, J. W. ; James

Alldis, Treas. ; O. R. Luther, Sec. ; John D. Bishop,

S. D. ; Herman W. Huke, J. D. ; Albert L. Tuttle,

Tyler.

THE WOLCOTTVILLE SAVINGS BANK

was organized in 18()8, with Francis N. lloUey, Presi-

dent; Joseph F. Calhoun, Vice-President ; and Frank

L. Hungerford, Secretary and Treasurer. Tlie present

officers arc lus follows : Joseph F. Calhoun, President

;

Isaac W. Brooks, Trca.surcr ; Joseph F. Calhoun, Ran-

som Holley, Bradley U. Agard, Lyman W. Coe, Elisha

Turner, and Isaac W. Brooks, Directors.

BROOKS BROTHERS' BANKING-HOUSE.

This is a bank of discount and deposit, established

by John W. and Isaac W. Brooks in 1872.

PHYSICIANS.

The following physicians have practiced in this

town :* Erastus Bancroft, William Bostwick, Stephen

E. Calkins, Adelbert M. Calkins, Jarvis Case, Isaac

Day, Penfield Goodsell, Edward M. Hatch, Thatcher

Swift Hanchett, Elkanah Hodges, Erasmus D. Hud-

son, Geo. O. Jarvis, Elijah Lyman, Jeremiah W.
Phelps, Bela St. John, Joel Soper, Samuel Wood-

ward, Elijah Woodward, L. H. Wood, Gideon H.

Welch, Edward A. Kunkle, and Cole. The

oldest settled physician is Dr. T. S. Hanchett, who

was born in Canaan, Conn., Nov. 8, 1838. He com-

menced the study of medicine with Dr. Homer Dar-

ling, of East Douglass, Mass. He subsequently at-

tended at the Medical Department of Harvard, and

after remaining there one year entered the L^nited

States navy as hospital steward on the " Wamsutta."

After leaving the service he returned to Harvard,

later spent one year with Dr. A. W. Bennett, of LTx-

bridge, Mass., and in 1864 graduated from Bellevue

Hospital, New York. He was an assistant of Dr.

Wm. Welch, of Norfolk, one year, and in 1865 settled

in Wolcottville, where he has since resided.

TORKING FORD.

"Shubael Griswold's tavern was probably the first

institution of a ])ublic character in Torringford. It

is possible that it was something more than a tavern,

for he may have kept articles of merchandise answer-

ing to a store, such as teas, indigo, sugar, and farm

productions, as did Amos Wilson, John Whiting, and

Noah North, on the west side of the town. Not long

after Mr. Griswold's tavern became established, Ben-

jamin Bi.ssell opened a house of entertainment a little

farther north, on Torringford Street, east side of the

road, which was in full operation in 1776, for it is

stated that during the Revolution the women of the

eastern part of the town, wliose husbands anil sons

were in the army, iLsscmliled at this tavern at certain

times to obtain information from or concerning the

soldiers and the army. Afterwards David Soper kept

a tavern near the First meeting-house, which he con-

tinued a number of years. Another tavern was kept

near the Greenwoods.
" William BattcU, of Woodbury, bought ten acres

of land, adjoining Rev. Samuel J. Mills' house on the

south, on the iHh of October, 1783, giving for it three

hundred and five pounds. On this land he erected a

store building, and in it kept a store for many years.

Mr. Battell was about thirty-five years of age when

he settled in Torringford, and entered upon his mer-

cantile business with energy and good judgment, us

is indicated by the location he chose for himself.

There was but one store in the town at the time, that

* Tli« flat b glTen In alphatxtlal older, not In order of Mttluinik
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being Dr. Hodges', on the west side, and Torringford

was fast becoming a populous region by immigration

and the growing up of the young people of the fami-

lies of the first settlers. Dr. Samuel Woodward had

recently established his home here as a practicing

physician, and the place needed just such a store as

Mr. Battell opened to the public ; and although he was

under the necessity of transporting his merchandise

to Hartford and New Haven at first with ox-carts,

yet he succeeded well, and his store became the place

of a large amount of business transactions. He
bought and shipped all kinds of farm produce,

—

grains, butter, cheese, pork, beef, eggs, and flax,—and
brought in return all the articles usually sold at coun-

try stores in those days,—dry-goods, including silks

and satins, imported broadcloths of costly style, gro-

ceries, hardware, drugs, shoes, and leather. All the

various kinds of mercantile goods that at the present

day are found by visiting a dozen stores were then

crowded into one and called a country store. Such a

store was not complete without a choice variety of

wines, brandies, and liquors of all kinds, imported

and of home manufacture ; and this was not all : the

people drank liquors by the gallon and barrel, and
some of them made themselves drunk, and wallowed

in the mire like beasts, as well as at the present day.

The familiar pretense that persons did not become in-

toxicated and stagger in the streets, swear and fight

and run horses and carouse, just like drunken men,

is too shallow to be repeated by intelligent people.

It may go for par a thousand years hence, but not

quite yet. It was not a peculiarity of one store nor

of one community to sell and use intoxicating drinks,

but was the practice of a great portion of both stores

and communities throughout the United States be-

fore and many years after the year 1800. Mr. Battell

had also a manufactory of potash, which was an article

of extensive sale in those days.

" He sold his store and the ten acres of land and
the potash-works to his sons William and Joseph ; the

latter being in Norfolk in 1808, and probably retired

from business life. His son William continued the

store until about 1830.

"Nathaniel Smith, of Milford, and later of Beth-

lehem, came to Torringford a young man, and was
clerk in the store of William Battell three years,

when he engaged in the mercantile business for him-
self in a store at Griswold's Corners, where he con-

tinued until his death, in 1854, a period of forty-six

years. He married Harriet, the daughter of Daniel

Winchell, and built and resided in the brick house

on the west side of the street at that place. He was
appointed postmaster in 1812, and held the office with-

out interruption forty-two years, a case probably with-

out a parallel in this country, and was a very upright

and careful business man, and highly esteemed among
business men generally, his credit in New York and
elsewhere being of the highest kind, and for a number
of years he did a large business ; but Wolcottville began

to be the market for farmers' produce, and hence also

of mercantile trade, and especially after the railroad

was established. Therefore Torringford, as to com-
mercial life, must decline, while the valleys sur-

rounding it should increase. Mr. Smith's son,

Charles B. Smith, came to Wolcottville as a mer-
chant, and the business at the old store was not great

during the last few years that it was continued.
" Quite an extensive tannery and shoe-shop had

been conducted in the early time of Torringford, on
the corner whefe Nathaniel Smith built his brick

house, and here also he set up, in the rear of his

dwelling, a leach for the making of potash.

" The brick building a short distance south of the

church was used some years, beginning about 1860,

by Darius Wilson, as a wagon- and blacksmith-shop.

He removed to Wolcottville, and then West. An-
other wagon-shop stood half a mile east, and was a

busy place a number of years, several men being reg-

ularly employed in making wagons, some of which

were for the Southern market. This shop was started

about 1840."

HOLBROOK'S MILLS.

" Abijah Holbrook came from Bellingham, Mass., to

Goshen, and in July, 1787, bought, in company with

Fisk Beach, land of Daniel Mills, of Goshen, at the

place on Naugatuck River afterwards known as Hol-

brook's mills, and later as Appley's mills. When
Mr. Holbrook and Beach made the purchase there

was a forge or iron-works on the land, an attempt

having been made to obtain iron from the ore found

in this region, but the quantity obtained was not

sufficient to encourage this kind of enterprise. Mr.

Holbrook and Beach built a grist-mill and saw-mill,

and Mr. Holbrook erected the building that is now
falling to the ground a little south of the mill. Its

ruins show that it was once more than an ordinary

house. Mr. Holbrook was a man of wealth, and a
' polished gentleman, far in advance of his generation

in that particular.' Elijah Pond, being brother-in-

law to Mr. Holbrook, removed from Grafton, Mass.,

about 1790, and engaged in the mill and other enter-

prises with his brother-in-law, and it is thought they

had a purpose or intent to work the foundry, in con-

nection with the iron mine on Walnut Mountain.

Sylvanus Holbrook, a nephew of Abijah, came from

Massachusetts very early in the present century, and

resided some years in the vicinity of his uncle, and

removed to Goshen, where he died. He did a mer-

cantile business in Baltimore, which required his ab-

sence from home some months of each year.

" About the year 1800, Capt. Elisha Hinsdale came

from Canaan to this place and engaged in the manu-

facture of scythes and axes and general blacksmith-

ing. Here were made in large quantities for those

days the celebrated ' clover-leaf scythe and axes, and

were carried in wagons to water transportations.

Soon after, or about the time the Hinsdales came to

this place, Josiah Appley became a resident, and
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finally the owner of much of the property of the

place. He built a grist-mill a little north of Hol-
brook's, on the Hall Meadow brook.

" Abijah Holbrook died in 1812, and in 1814 his

widow, Mary, sold the homestead, grist-mill, and saw-

mill to Erastus Lyman and Thearon Beach, of Goshen,

for two thousand one hundred and fifty dollars, and
removed from the place to Western New York. In

1816, Elisha Hinsdale sold his lands to his brother.

Deacon Abel, and removed West, and from that day

all business interests in that locality have taken the

down-hill course until only one old mill building is

left, and that looks as if ready to tumble down any
day. There are two dwellings that are occupied,

which are the only things that show signs of life ex-

cept the trees, which grow with a thrift almost sur-

prising to Connecticut people. The little graveyard,

filled with graves, stands on the bank of the river,

and is very beautiful, because of its quietness, in its

almost unbroken solitude, where the tumult of the

great city will never disturb the ashes that rest there,

while the wild birds of the woods will sing their mar-

velous songs above the dust of some of the noble sons

and daughters of the honored pilgrims."

HAKT'S HOLLOW.

" About a mile above Holbrook's mills, at a place

called Hart's Hollow, in the edge of the town of Go-

shen, quite a business was conducted in making clocks

about 1820 ; a number of buildings were erected, and

for a time the place assumed considerable importance,

and as the natural outlet of the place was through

Torrington, the place seemed a part of Torrington,

and the inhabitants usually attended Torrington

church.

TORRINGTON HOM-UW.

" This locality was originally known as Poverty

Hollow, subsequently Cotton Hollow, and. finally Tor-

rington Hollow.
" In February, 1813, Elijah B. Loomis, of New York,

and Elisha Loomis and Abner M. Warriner, of Tor-

rington, entered into partnership, and built a mill or

factory for the purpose of manufacturing cotton,

woolen, and other goods at this place. The factory

was located near the bridge on Goshen turnpike, and

was built in 1813. The next January other persons

entered the partnership, under the name of the Tor-

rington Manufacturing Company, and the firm con-

sisted of Elisha Loomis, Elijah B. Loomis, Abner M.
Warriner, John W. Walker, Christopher Pierce, James
Green, and William Dexter, the stock being eight

thousand dollars.

"In the next September it was mortgaged to David

Wudharns and David Thomas, of Goshen, to procure

capital to in.sure success in the making of goods. This

business enterprise, like tlie first woolen-mill at Wol-

cottville, does not appear to have had any great success

in making money, for it struggled along some years

under disadvantages, yet with much apparent ettbrt,

but did not prosper. The cotton was spun in the mill,

then sent abroad among the farmers to be woven, and

although it brought new work to many homes, it is

doubtful if every one who undertook to weave made
a success of it, and with all the dLfficulties attending

the work, there would have been no success but for

the high price of the cloth, which sold from thirty to

forty cents per yard.

"A store was also put up in connection with the

factory, or about the same time, and was conducted

by Mr. Green.
" In 1827 the cotton-factory was sold for debt, and

changed hands several times until it came into the

hands of Erastus Hodges, and as he had found success

in nearly every enterprise he had undertaken, he

pushed forward this with money and much energy,

and he also interested himself largely in the making

of clocks about the same time. Norris North engaged

in the clock business about 1820, and Mr. Hodges be-

came interested with him, if he was not a partner.

The clocks were made at first in Harvey Palmer's old

carding-machine, then in a part of Ormel Leach's

grist-mill, and after that in a building called the clock-

factory. Mr. Hodges also took the store of James

Green, placing his sons in it and in the mill, to giye

them a start in business life. The store was removed

to Wolcottville previous to 1834, and continued some

time by these sons, with the aid of their fiither.

" In 183.1 the brass-foundry was started by Mr.

Hodges and others, and the buildings were located

below the bridge on the east bank, where they are

now in a falling condition. This business was started

with the {)urpose of making brass kettles by the bat-

tery or hammering process ; the preparations for the

work were quite ample, and an agent was sent to Eu-

rope to procure men and machinery, and considerable

quantity of machinery was shipped from Europe, but

the vessel was wrecked and all was lost. Calamity

and disaster attended nearly every effort in this under-

taking, and after a little time the bra-ss business at

this place was purclia.sed by Israel Coe, then of Wol-

cottville, engaged in the same enterprise.

" After some years these buildings were fitted for

smelting ore, in hope of obtaining nickel ; but the

metal was not found to exist in sufficient quantities,

or the process of separation was too costly to make it

profitable to continue the work.

"After the business of making clocks was discon-

tinued, a lock-factory was established, in which

George D. Wadhams, Mr. Goodwin, and Edmund
Wooding were interested and engaged. When the

lock business was closed, the building was used for

making skates until the skate company removed. ,

" In 1869, Chester L. Smith, from Litchfield, pur-

cha-sed this property, which the skate company had

vacated, and commenced the manufacture of toys.

After one year he began the making of sleds for chil-

dren, which business he continued with success until

his decease, in August, 1876. Since then his sons,
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Ealph R. Smith and Chester L. Smith, have con-

tinued the same business.

WEIGHTVILLE.

" Wrightville, a cluster of a dozen houses, was the

outgrowth of the scythe-factory, organized in 1852 as

a stoclc company, mostly of farmers, for the purpose

of manufacturing scythes and hoes, with a certified

stock of six thousand dollars, the stockholders being

Uri L. Whiting, Robert Wright, Albro AV. Cowles,

Rodney Brace, George W. Loomis, Daniel A. Grant,

AVilliam A. Grant, Augustus Grant, Daniel Brown,

Charles Hotchkiss, Frederick A. Griswold, Phineas

North, Rodney Pierce. The officers were Phineas

North president, with Rodney Brace, Albro W.
Cowles, Charles Hotchkiss directors. A commodious

building was erected of stone, and machinery for con-

ducting the work in an advantageous manner was

placed in the building. The company subsequently

failed."

BDRBVILLE.

This hamlet is located in the northeastern part of

the town, and its history is thus given in Orcutt's

" History of Torrington":
" Elias Gilbert, of New Haven, bought land at this

place of David Soper in 1812, on the west side of the

river. This he sold the next year to Isaac Gilbert,

with 'bark-house and tan-vats' on it. In 1816,

Newton Rossiter bought land of David Soper, on the

east side of the river, and in 1817 he bought of
]

Chester Loomis a hammer-shop, which had been i

owned by Isaac Gilbert, and was probably built by

him. In 1818, Mr. Rossiter bought Isaac Gilbert's

tannery, and engaged in the tanning and shoe busi-

ness extensively, and hence the name Rossiterville,

by which the place was known a number of years.

" In about 1828 or 1829, Mr. Rossiter, having ex-

changed with the State of Connecticut his property

at this place for 'Western lands,' removed West. The
old tannery is now owned and used by Mr. J. M.
Burr as a grist-mill and shingle-mill.

" Bricks were made at first on Torringford Street,

near the old Burr tavern, and afterwards two or three

kilns were established between that place and the

Hollow, one of which, near Burrville, is still contin-

ued by Mr. John M. Burr. The Haydens, also on

Torringford Street, made large quantities of bricks.

"While the tannery was in successful progress, Mr.

Milo Burr entered upon the work of reducing the

pine-timber then covering the valley at this place to

lumber. For this end he had three saw-mills in full

operation a number of years, and the larger part of

his success in life resulted from this lumber trade.

Other enterprises he pursued with much energy, and

for the hope of public good, the enlarging of the

place ; but most of these efforts were to his own dis-

advantage, while the pine-timber brought some com-

pensation of comfort.

" In 1851 he built a dam on the mountain west of

the village, and constructed what is well known as

Burr's reservoir, a most beautiful sheet of water, in

the woods among the rocky hills. The place and
scenery are as wild and lonely as any civilized crea-

ture could wish, except as to extent. Once the dam
gave way, and the rushing waters came down the

mountain gorge with such a noise as to give warning,

and no lives were lost except one little child. The
water in the reservoir is as clean and clear as is ever

secured for family use, and the people of Burrville

can have water with a hundred feet pressure in their

houses at very little cost. On the brook leading from

the reservoir to the village, near the latter, Mr. Milo

Burr built in 1854 a large building to be used as a

manufactory. This was occupied some time by Mr.

Gale, under the first patent for putting up condensed

milk by preserving with sugar. He began this work

at Wolcottville, but removed to this place, as one

reason, because of the purity of the water here ob-

tained. He removed to Dutchess Co., N. Y., where

his enterprise is in most successful operation, it hav-

ing become of great importance to the people of large

cities.

"On Saturday, May 12, 1877, this building was con-

sumed by fire.

" Newton Rossiter, while conducting the tannery,

kept a small store, probably in his own dwelling.

Afterwards Capt. Milo Burr and Beach Baker removed

the store building once used at Greenwoods Street for

a people's store to Burrville, and Mr. Baker kept a

store for a short time. Nelson Roberts took this store

in 1848, and conducted it fourteen years, and then

sold it to Lewis Johnson, who remained in it two

years, and sold to Mr. E. S. Minor, who is still the

merchant and railroad agent at the place. There is a

post-office at the place, Mr. John M. Burr, post-

master.

CHAPTER LXL
TOEEINGTON (Continued).

Congregational Church, Torrington—Congregational Church, Torring-

ford— Wolcottville Congregational Church — Methodist Kpiscopal

Church, Wolcottville— Trinity Church, Wolcottville— St. Francis*

Church, Wolcottville—Baptist Church, Newfield—Methodist Episcopal

Church, Newfield.

ECCLESIASTICAL HISTORY.*

CONGREGATIONAL CHURCH, TORRINGTON.

The first movement towards the organization of

this church was a memorial presented to the General

Assembly by Daniel Stoughton in October, 1739,

asking to be organized into a society, and that taxes

might be imposed for the "support of a gospel min-

istry." This memorial was signed by the following

names : Jacob Strong, Jr., Ebenezer Lyman, Jr., Wil-

liam Grant, Jonathan Coe, Daniel Thrall, Isaac Hig-

* Condensed from Orcutt's " History of Torrington."
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ley, Joseph Beach, Joel Thrall, Abel Beach, Ebenezer

Coe, Nathaniel Barber, William Cook, Amos Filley,

John Cook (2d), Hezekiah Griswold, Daniel Stough-

ton, Joshua Loomis, Thomas Stoughton, Jr., Jacob

Strong, William Bartlett, Samuel Bartlett, Abraham
Dibble, Jr., Joseph Phelps, Aaron Loomis, Samuel
Phelps.

Torrington was made a town, with town privileges,

in October, 1740, and thereby became an ecclesiastical

society, and a tax of twopence on the pound for the

support of preaching was granted.

In the next spring another tax of twopence was

granted, but in the autumn it was changed to three-

pence on the pound, for the purpose of raising a fund

towards building a meeting-house.

An extra tax to raise five hundred pounds for the

settlement of a minister was also ordered by the As-

sembly, which was a much larger amount than many
ministers received, if the money was anywhere near

par at that time. Another tax was granted in 1744,

and one in 1750, for the support of the gospel in the

town. These taxes seem burdensome in repetition

and amount, but the people were quite willing to pay

them. The first petition states that some of the sign-

ers lived in Windsor, " but, being desirous of having

their lands improved as fast as possible, they were

willing to be taxed."

No information is given as to the success of this

effort to secure the preaching of the gospel before

October, 1741, but as Nathaniel Roberts was gradu-

ated in 1732, and was probably through his theologi-

cal studies before 1739, he may have preached here

some time before lie was settled as pa.stor.

The only records of the organization of the church

are those written by Mr. Roberts, the first pastor. He
introduces the matter and gives the record thus

:

" Here I shall observe some things concerning the church iu Torring-

ton in y county of Hartford.

" iHt. It was first planted October 21, 1741, by Mr. Oritliam, Mr. Hum-
piiroy, Mr. Leavenworth, Mr. Bellamy.

*'2d. Tilt) flret deacon that was chosen was Kbonezor Lyman (Sen'r.),

and was set apart to the office by pntycr, and laying on of the hands of

the pastor of said church, January 1, 1742.

"3d. The first sacrament that ever was administered in the cliurch

was January ."i, 1742, and the communicants wlio were then members of

the said church ; the number was seventeen ; I>ea. K. Lyman nnd his

wife, K. Lyman, Junr., and liis wife, K. North and Ids wife, J. Coe and

his wife, Jacob Strong and his wife, Abel Ileach and his \vife, Nathaniel

Barber and bis wife, John Cook and his wife, Asahel Strong."

In regard to his own marriages, he docs not tell what
his wives' names were before marriage, nor wliere they

resided, though he gives the number of the day of

the week on which the marriage occurred. He calls

himself Mr., and not Kcv., as lie does also Mr. Hum-
phrey and Mr. Bellamy, never using Rev. to a min-

ister. Mr. was then the aristocratic class name, ap-

plied to persons only in certain stations in life.

According to this record, the first marriage cere-

mony he performed was July 8, 1747, over six years

after he was ordained, and the next one occurred two

years and a half afterwards, and tiierefure, to all ap-

pearance, marriages were not numerous in Torrington

in those days.

The record of baptisms runs in the same style

:

"January ye 3, 1741-2, I baptized a child for Isaac Hygly, and her

name was Susannah."

"August 29, 1742, I baptized a child for Nathaniel Barber, and liis

name was Nathaniel."

The church was organized at the house of John
Cook, the house yet standing and known as Deacon

John Cook's. Tradition says that Mr. Roberts was

ordained in Deacon Cook's house. Mr. Roberts says

the church was organized Oct. 21, 1741, and that he,

as the pastor of the church, ordained the first deacon,

Jan. 1, 1742, or two months after the organization of

the church. It is not probable that two meetings of

such a nature, one to organize the church and another

to ordain the minister, would be held within so short

a time, and therefore it is quite clear that the ordina-

tion took place at the time of the formation of the

church, and that the meeting was held in John Cook's

house, and the services conducted in a regular form

by the ministers named by Mr. Roberts. It is also

probable that Mr. Roberts, being unmarried, was

residing with John Cook at the time, and remained

there until his marriage, two years afterwards.

The first recorded act preparatory to the building

of a meeting-house was the increase of the tax from

two to threepence on a pound, in 1740 ; the surplus,

after paying the minister's salary, was to be placed in

the hands of Capt. Joseph Bird, of Litchfield, to be
" improved by him as best could be" until the in-

habitants should engage in building the house, when
it was to be used for that purpose.

In May, 174G, the Assembly appointed Ebenezer

Marsh and Joseph Bird, of Litchfield, and Nathaniel

Baldwin, of (ioslu'Ti, a committee to locate a site for a

meeting-house, and report to the next session of that

body. Upon that report, rendered October, 1746, the

Assembly
** Itaoktft, That tbo place to build a meeting-house in said town, shall

be alxiut thirty rods northwani of the house of Kbenezer Lyman, Esq.,

iu the cross highway, which runs east and wc«t, where said committee

have set up u aX&ke with a largo heap of stones about it, Uie sills of said

house to inclose sold heap of stones."

In the following winter a frame was erected on this

site, thirty feet s(]uaro, with eighteen-fect posts, under

the directions of a committee appointed by the town.

.\t this stage of the house somebody thought the house

too high, and this committee was dismis,-<ed and an-

other appointed, who cut down the posts to eight feet

in height. A memorial was then carried to the As-

sembly, which stopped tlic proceedings of the town,

restored tlie first committee, and ordered the house to

bo built with eiphteen-IVet posti. An execution was

granted against the persons who cut down the posts

of the house, and a fine of twenty-one pounds six shil-

lings and fivepencc imposed upon them. These pro-

ceedings delayed the building of the house more than

a year.

A new memorial was presented in October, 1748, for
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a change of the site ; a committee was appointed to

look into the matter and report, which they did in

May, 1749, and the place was established at a stake

within the south line of a lot belonging to John Whi-
ting, between sixty and seventy rods northward of the

place which was heretofore affixed for a meeting-

house, so as to include the said stake within the sills

of the said house.

The meeting-house was built at the place last desig-

nated, and was standing there in October, 1751, when
the road was laid running northwest from the meet-

ing-house. It was a framed building, eighteen-feet

posts, and thirty feet square. How it was covered is

spoken of as a mystery, as something about the house

gave it the name of the Hemlock church. It was

built and seated, in the gallery and below, in the

simplest manner. It is said that the seats were made
of slabs, flat side up, with sticks for legs. This is tra-

dition. Deacon John Whiting's account-book, still

preserved, tells us that he was engaged at diiferent

times for many years to 1781 in repairing the seats

to the meeting-house. Therefore it is probable that

the seats were not stationary, and for that reason were

soon out of repair.

During the summer of 1786 a meeting-house was

built as individual property, and was thus owned about

sixteen years, when it was made over to the Congre-

gational society, then the established legal body. It

was located a little north of Capt. Abel Beach's tav-

ern, at the place known for many years afterwards as

Torrington green. It was two-story, having two rows

of windows on each side ; one side of the house faced

the south. The belfry, built a few years after, with a

high steeple, was on the west end of the building, jut-

ting out from the body of the house so far that the

west door was on the south side of the belfry. There

was a door on the south side of the building, and one

on the east end. One of the conditions on the part of

the society when Mr. Gillett settled here, in 1792, was

that this meeting-house should be finished inside. In

the " Church Manual," by Kev. J. A. McKinstry, we
are told that this steeple was built in 1797, and the

bell put in and the house thoroughly repaired. As to

this bell, tradition says that the inhabitants contrib-

uted one hundred silver dollars, which were sent to

the maker and the silver put into the bell.

The following have served thi„ jhurch as ministers

from its organization to present time : Rev. Nathaniel

Eoberts, ordained October, 1741 ; died March 4, 1776.

Rev. Noah Merwin, ordained Oct. 25, 1776 ; dismissed

Nov. 26, 1783. Rev. Alexander Gillett, installed May
23, 1792; died Jan. 19, 1826, iged seventy-seven.

Rev. William Ripley Gould, installed Feb. 28, 1827
;

dismissed Feb. 12, 1832. Rev. Milton Huxley (sup-

ply), 1833 to 1842. Rev. John A. McKinstry, or-

dained Oct. 5, 1842 ; dismissed 1857. Rev. Charles

B. Dye (supply), one year. Rev. Sylvanus Marvin

(supply), four years. Rev. Jacob H. Strong (supply),

Nov. 12, 1865, to 1869. Rev. Michael J. Callan (sup-

ply), one year and a half. Rev. Samuel Orcutt,

(supply), one year and a half. Rev. Charles P.

Croft was a supply in 1876.

Ministers raised.—Rev. Timothy P. Gillett, Rev.

James Beach, Rev. Luther Hart, Rev. Abel K. Hins-

dale, Rev. Miles Grant.

Beacons.—Ebenezer Lyman, chosen in 1742, died

in 1762, aged eighty ; John Cook, chosen in 1755, died

in 1779, aged sixty-one ; John Whiting, chosen in

1764, died in 1820, aged ninety-two ; Wait Beach,

chosen in 1794, died in 1810, aged sixty-four; Abel
Hinsdale, chosen in 1802, died in 1851, aged eighty-six;

Dr. Elijah Lyman, chosen in 1814, died in 1819 ; Guy
Wolcott, chosen in 1821, dismissed ; Marvin Barber,

chosen in 1822, died in 1840, aged forty-four ; Giles

Ward, chosen in 1838, died in 1845, aged seventy-six

;

Rodney Pierce, chosen in 1846 ; Lorrain Hinsdale,

chosen in 1850, removed ; Frederick P. Hills, chosen

in 1869 ; Lyman R. Pond, chosen in 1877.

CONGREGATIONAL CHURCH, TORKINGFORD.

Preaching services were held by Rev. Nathaniel

Roberts, on the east side of the town, six Sabbaths in

1744, and also in 1755, and the next year the preach-

ing was measured by the amount they paid to the

society. The town vote, however, gave them the

privilege of having preaching four months that year,

and released them from paying for the support of

Mr. Roberts. The meetings at this time were held

in the house of Nehemiah Gaylord and Shubael

Griswold.
" In 1757 a petition was sent to the Assembly,

signed by nineteen persons, asking the liberty to have

preaching such part of the year as they were able,

and to be released from supporting Mr. Roberts.

The number of families in that part of the town at

that time is stated to have been about twenty. The
following were the petitioners : Abraham Dibble,

Jonathan Kelsey, Jonathan Gillett, Joshua Austin,

Shubael Griswold, Benjamin Matthews, Nathan Kel-

sey, Nehemiah Gaylord, David Birge, Ebenezer Win-

chell, Charles Mather, Aaron Yale, John Burr, Jane

Loomis, Benjamin Bissell, John Birge, Samuel Dur-

win, Thomas Dibble, Ephraim Dibble.

" At a meeting, held in Oct. 27, 1757, a committee

was appointed to hire a minister, and a vote was

passed to raise ten pounds for defraying the expense

in so doing.

" In April, 1759, the town expressed its willingness

by vote that four tiers and a half of lots in the eastern

part should be made into a society, and in May next

the people asked the General Assembly to incorpor-

ate a society to include these tiers and the western

tier in New Hartford ; and if this could not be granted

they asked that the people might be exempt from

paying in New Hartford, and be allowed to support

preaching in the eastern part of Torrington. They

entreated for the privileges of a society, though they

were scarcely able to support preaching in an honor-
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able manner, if the privilege was granted them.

This request was denied.

" In October, 1759, they presented another petition,

which was denied, and the next spring they renewed

this petition, which met with the same result.

"In 1761, New Hartford gave its consent that four

miles of the west tier of lots might be annexed to

East Torrington for the support of the gospel. After

this full consent of both towns, and their earnest en-

treaties heretofore, they were under the necessity of

petitioning the Assembly at four successive sessions

before they obtained their request.

"The society was incorporated in October, 1763,

under the name of Torringford ;* the territory in-

cluded four and a half tiers of lots on the eastern

side of the town and the western tier in New Hart-

ford, four miles in length. The half of another tier

was afterwards added, and thus the society continued

for many years.

" At the first meeting after the incorporation they

say: 'The inhabitants of " Torringford" (using the

society name for the first time) being convened to-

gether, holden Dec. 21, 1763.' They seem to use that

name with satisfaction, and well they might, for they

had petitioned long enough to obtain it ; and then

they proceed to make arrangements for regular meet-

ings and to elect officers for the year, who were as fol-

lows : Deacon Jonathan Kelsey,t Moderator ; Nehe-

miah Gaylord, Clerk of the society ; Deacon Jona-

than Kelsey, Samuel Austin, and John Birge, Society

Committee ; Jabez Gillett, Society Collector.

" When the first meeting-house was jiroposed for

the west side of the town, an agreement was made
between the inhabitants that those on the east side

need not pay towards the building of the house, pro-

vided they would relinquish all right as to the loca-

tion or site, and a record of this agreement was en-

tered among the deeds of land dated in 1748. The
names of persons thus agreeing stand as follows : East

side, Abraham Dibble, Benjamin Bisscll, Nehemiah

Gaylord, Elijah Gaylord, Gideon Loomis, .Fohn Birge,

Thomas Dibble. These names probably represcMt

nearly all the families east of the swamp at that time.

Westside, Noah Wilson, Israel Avered, Moses Loomis,

Aaron Loomis, Jacob Strong, Ebenezer Nortli, Wm.
Grant, Joel Thrall, Asahel Strong, Ebenezer Coe,

Isaac Higley, Zebulon Curtiss, Thomas Stougiiton,

Joel Loomis, Ebenezer Lyman, Thomas Curtiss,

Aaron Loomis, Jr., Beriah Hills, Jonathan Coe, Na-

thaniel Barber, Abel Beach, Joseph Fowler, Joseph

Beach, Thomas Marshall, Ebenezer Lyman, Jr., John
Whiting.

" Why the names of John Cook, Noah' Wilson,

and Abel Beach were not on this paper is not

clear, for the agreement was such as to which none

seemingly could object, and, therefore, when the east

* Madn fntni tho names of the two towns.

t Mr. KolBoy had bocu deacon In Woodlxiry, and hence is called deacon

before any church was organized In Torringford.

side began to build they had no claim on the old

church for assistance, because of aid previously

rendered.

" The Torringford society, having made some pro-

vision towards building a meeting-house in 1763,

voted in December, 1764, to ' add two feet to the

length and breadth,' and arranged to obtain a com-

mittee to ' pitch the stake for a site which would ac-

commodate the whole society.' In June, 1766, they

voted to ' proceed to build a place of worship.' In

April, 1768, they agreed to ' raise the house as they

could conveniently,' and in September of the same

year they ' voted that the annual meeting of the so-

ciety should be held in the church ;' therefore the

house was built in the summer of 1768. In October

of the same year they presented a petition to the

General Assembly, showing that the territory of the

society embraced about ten thousand acres of land, of

which about seven thousand belonged to non-resi-

dents ; that they had erected a church, which was

covered, liad doors, a floor, convenient benches, and
glass windows for the lower story ; that tliey desired

to settle a minister as soon as they could ; and that

the list of the present inhabitants is only two thou-

sand and eight hundred pounds, and they pray that

the Assembly would grant a tax of threepence per

acre for three years on all tlie land in the society, to

provide a settlement for the first settling minister,

and if any surplus remains it should be used to-

wards completing the church. The petition was

granted. This house stood on the highway, on the

west side, some fifty rods south of the present church

edifice.

" In December, 1783, a committee was appointed to

consider and decide wiiether tiie ciiurch stands in

the right place, and, if it did not, to pitch a stake

where it ought to stand, and at the same time they

voted to raise means to procure material to finish

the inside of the meeting-house. These acts were re-

scinded afterwards, but in January, 1785, a tax was laid,

]>ayable by the 1st of June, to finish the house. In

obedience to this movement, considerable work was

done that summer on the inside of the house, but it

was not plastered. In March, 1788, a committee was

ajipointcd to settle with David Sopor for plastering

tho church. In Doccmbor, 1788, a seating com-

mittee was appointed, and the appointment there-

after was made annually while they worshiped iu that

house.

"The house was painted in 1792, having neither

bell nor steeple. Repairs went on thus until 1818,

when a stove was placed in the house. In 1828 lib-

erty was given to alter the front gallery for the sing-

ers. In 1835 the thanks of the society were voted

unanimously to Uriel Tuttic, for the use of his organ

tor the time past, showing that in instrumental music

they were in advance of many churches of that day;

and Charles B. Smith and Frederick Pliol|>s were com-

plimented for their services at the organ by a vote of
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thanks from the society, and thereby, probably, re-

ceived a larger salary than tliey expected.

The present church edifice was erected in 1838 and

1839, and in 1874 the interior was remodeled.

The following is a list of the ministers : Rev. Mr.

Heaton (supply), in the autumn of 17(50, some months.

Rev. Ebenezer Devenport (supply), from summer of

1764, one year or more. Rev. Samuel John Mills,

ordained June 28, 1769; died May 11, 1833. Rev.

Epaphras Goodman (associate), March 6, 1822 ; dis-

missed Jan. 12, 1836. Rev. Herman L. Vaill, July

5, 1837; dismissed Sept. 29, 1839. Rev. Brown Em-
erson, July 21, 1841 ; dismissed Sept. 24, 1844. Rev.

John D. Baldwin (supply), a .short time, and received

a call. Rev. William H. Moore, Sept. 30, 1846 ; dis-

missed Sept. 26, 1854. Rev. Stephen Fenn, Nov. 16,

1854; dismissed Sept. 4, 1857. Rev. Charles New-
man, May 18, 1858; dismissed Oct. 28, 1862. Rev.

Spencer O. Dyer (supply), one year. Rev. Franklin

Noble, June 7, 1865; dismissed Nov. 30, 1866. Rev.

Joseph F. Gaylord (supply), two years. Rev. Dana
M. Walcott (supply), one year to 1871. Rev. Her-

rick Knight (supply), from 1872 to 1874. Rev.

George R. Ferguson (supply), 1875 to 1877; went to

Africa as a missionary preacher.

Ministers Raised in Torrin<iford.—Rev. Luther Ros-

siter, son of Newton Rossiter, a tanner at Burrville,

became an Episcopal minister, and his life has been

spent at the West ; Rev. Orange Lyman, Rev. Samuel

J. Mills, Jr., Rev. Jonathan Miller, Rev. Harvey

Loomis, Rev. David Miller, Rev. Stanley Griswold,

Rev. Erasmus D. Moore, Rev. Lucius Curtiss, Rev.

Warren H. Roberts, Episcopal, in 1857.

Deacons.—Jonathan Kelsey, at Woodbury and here,

died in 1792, aged eighty-nine years ; Nehemiah

Gaylord, died in 1801, aged eighty years; Abraham

Filley ; Ebenezer Miller, died in 1814, aged seventy-

nine years ; Job Curtiss, died in 1807, aged sixty-two

years; Ebenezer Miller (second), appointed in 1807,

died in 1842, aged seventy-eight years ; Elizur Cur-

tiss, appointed in 1808, resigned in 1843, died in 1868,

aged eighty-five years ; Ebenezer Rood, appointed in

1826. resigned in 1843, died in 1851, aged seventy-five

years ; Thomas Watson, appointed in 1843, resigned

in 1855, removed to Winsted ; Thomas A. Miller, ap-

pointed in 1843, died in 1861, aged fifty-five years ; Har-

vey L. Rood, appointed in 1855 ; William Watson,

appointed in 1861 ; Giles L. Gaylord ; Chester H.

Barber.

THE CONGREGATIONAL CHURCH, WOLCOTTVILLE.

This church was organized June 11, 1832, with the

following members : David Baldwin, Mrs. Sarah

Baldwin, Sarah Ann Baldwin, Elizur Barber, Mrs.

Polly Barber, Mrs. Lucy Bissell, Ruth Brooks, Re-

becca Goodman, Sarah Hungerford, Mrs. Charlotte

Hungerford, Mrs. Elizabeth Eno, Mrs. Ursula Frost,

Nancy S. Goodman, John Hungerford, Abigail

Taylor, Lyman Wetmore, Mrs. Betsey Wetmore, Lor-

rain Wetmore, Mrs. Frances Wetmore, Louisa Wet-

more, Amanda Wetmore, Leverett Scott, Mrs. Leverett

Scott, Sarah Wilcox, Lydia Kimberly, Maria S. North,

Ruhama Smith, George D. Wadhams, Mrs. Lucy

Wadhams.
Rev. L. Perrin, in his centennial sermon, in 1876,

says,—
" During all the years of effort by the people of

Wolcottville to insure its rapid growth as a business

place, a little band of thoroughly earnest Christians

were watching, working, and praying, with a long-

tried patience and a wrestling faith, for the establish-

ment of a church of Christ, and for such help of the

Holy Ghost as would lift up a standard eSectually

against the abounding wickedness of the place.

While Christopher Wolcott, the devout and eflicient

agent of Frederick Wolcott, in managing the mill,

and other kindred spirits which his position enabled

him to bring to his aid, were trying to sow some good

seed, tlie Methodists were contending nobly for truth

and righteousness as well ; and the older members

of this church speak with becoming respect and af-

fection of their fellow-disciples of the common
Master.

" From the organization of the church the mutual

action of the church and society has been harmonious,

and a commendable zeal, prudence, and liberality has

marked their efforts to sustain the ordinances of relig-

ion. Without zealous stickling for mere points of order

in their mutual work, they have accomplished much

toward the civil, social, educational, and religious cul-

ture of this community, and their outlook upon the

opening future is full of hope and promise. But since

the church is an institution of divine appointment,

and since it is by inspiration called the body of Christ,

it is meet and proper that in its relation to other

agencies it should always have the precedence, with-

out regard to numbers, wealth, or earthly distinctions.

Any society that does not choose to have this rule ob-

served is radically defective in its character as an eccle-

siastical society ; and any church that does not make

the fitness of this rule apparent fails to execute its

high commission."

The settled pastors have been Hiram P. Arms,

Stephen Hubbell, Samuel Day, Samuel T. Seelye,

Ralph Smith, Edward W. Bacon, and Lavalette

Perrin, and the following have been stated supplies

:

E. S. Clark, R. M. Chipman, W. L. Adamson, George

B. Newcomb, and others. It will be seen that during

the forty-four years of its history this church has

had a settled pastor about twenty-eight and one-

half years, and acting pastor about six and a half

years.

" The benefit of the Home Missionary Society in

this State is realized to some extent in the aid this

church received for several years from its commence-

ment, making it possible to have a settled pastor when

otherwise it could not, and giving it strength until

it acquired strength of its own.
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" The membership of the church has slowly though

steadily increased in numbers, although its forty-four

years of eftbrt and labor have been amidst great na-

tional struggles and calamities.

"The Sabbath-school, under different forms, with

such intervals as circumstances have made inevitable,

has been sustained from the first. Indeed, before there

was pastor, church, or society, Mrs. Charles Hunger-

ford maintained such a school on Sabbath morning,

and she attended service after it at Torringford.

From that time forward the school has steadily in-

creased until the numbers in it are nearly equal to

the numbers in the regular service of the congrega-

tion.

" The membership of this church has steadily

though slowly increased in numbers from the first.

There have been seasons of special religious interest

in the community, but no very remarkable times of

refreshing, such as are on the records of other churches,

have been experienced by this church. The following

are the years in which ten or more persons were added

to the membership of the church : 1834, thirteen

;

1843, fifteen; 1852, thirty-four; 1858, twenty-one;

1867, thirty-nine; 1873, ten ; 1874, ten ; 1876, ten.

"Other years of its history have indicated more or

less of spiritual vigor, but it has not been equipped

and furnished as some churches are for aggressive

work. From its membership of twenty-nine at the

start it has increased to one hundred and seventy-five

at the present time.

"All the ordinary means of grace have been sus-

tained, and for a number of years the plan of Sab-

bath offerings has been successfully maintained, and

thereby tlie benevolent institutions of the times re-

ceive monthly attention to the noted credit and honor

of the congregation ; the average amount is about eight

hundred dollars annually.

"The service of song has quite uniformly been ren-

dered, to the edification and quickening of all true

worshipers, and from the beginning of its history this

society has been favored with a specially competent

choir, wlio have cheerfully and faithfully sustained

this important service.

"This church and society have occupied two, and

in a qualified sense three, houses of worship. This is

a matter usually controlled by the society, and from

the first there have been a few men of sound wisdom

and high-toned morality worshiping with the church,

though not members of it, who have infused energy

into all the movements of the society, and enriched

its records with many wise and liberal acts."

The first church edifice was erected by Capt. Uri

Taylor. This was occupied until 1844, when exten-

sive repairs were made.

In 1864 the iiuestion of reconstructing the meeting-

house and building, or fitting up a conference-room,

was brought before the annual meeting, and this

proved to be the beginning "of that protracted, per-

plexing, and nobly sustained effort of the society.

which, after long-continued struggles, resulted in the

solid, chaste, and truly beautiful granite edifice now
standing as a Sabbath home. Though the vicissitudes

of the enterprise were many, and made doubly bur-

densome by the failure of the contractors in the early

stages of the work to fulfill their engagements, yet it

was carried to completion by the force of unyielding

purpose and resolution, to the general satisfaction of

those interested. The contract was taken by a New
York firm for the sum of nearly nineteen thousand

dollars, and when the last bill was paid the sum had

increased to over thirty-two thousand dollars; and, as

in all such cases, those who do most at the commence-

ment are quite certain to do most in the final closing

up of indebtedness, so in this case ; the first were last.

It is, therefore, a beautiful monument of earnest, wise,

and well-directed energy in the accomplishment of a

noble Christian object."

Ministers.—Rev. Hiram P. Arms, D.D., installed

Feb. 7, 1833 ; dismissed July 6, 1836. Rev. Stephen

Hubbell, installed Feb. 29, 1837; dismissed Sept. 29,

1839. Rev. Samuel Day, installed Sept. 23, 1840 ; dis-

missed June 4, 1845. Rev. Samuel T. Seelye, D.D.,

installed June 17, 1846 ; dismissed March 21, 1855.

Rev. Ralph Smith, installed March 25, 1856; dis-

missed Sept. 29, 1857. Rev. George B. Newcomb
(supply). Rev. Edward \V. Bacon, installed Sept. 29,

1869; dismissed Oct. 31, 1871. Rev. Lavallete Per-

rin, installed July 31, 1872; present pastor.

Minhiirs Jiaiscd.—Rev. Edward Huugerford, Con-

gregational ; Rev. John Barbour, Ei)iscopal.

Deacons.—Lorrain Wetniore, Dec. 22, 1822; Silas

Humphrey, March 10, 1836 ; Amasa Scoville, June

29, 1837 ; Victorianus Clark, Nov. 7, 1841 ; Leonard

Blakeslee, Oct. 31, 1845; Darius Wilson, July 5,

1846; Addison Palmer, 1851 ; Nelson Alvord, June,

1857 ; Charles Hotchkiss, JIarch 3, 1861 ; Henry S.

Barbour, Feb. 15, 1868; Samuel J. Stocking, Feb.

15, 1868.

THE METHODIST EPISCOPAL CIIURCn.

The first sermon in this town preached by a Meth-

odist was about the year 1787, by a Mr. Bloodgood, at

the house of Abijah Wilson.
" It is very probable," says Rev. Mr. Orcutt, " that

there was a Metliodist cla.ss in existence here not only

as early as 1807,* but possibly twenty years before, in

this immediate neighborhood ; for it is difficult to con-

ceive of two or three such families as Abijah Wilson's

and Ca|>t. Frisbie's living in a community such as was

in this vicinity Iwenty-one or more years without a

class-meeting. Methodists were not of that kind in

those days. It would have been as easy for old Paul

Peck, if he had lived, to have entrapped an alligator

in the Pine swamp as to have caught a Methodist

living twenty years without a class-meeting in those

early day8. It is therefore more than probable that

* Seo a memorial xormnn, by Rot, T. V. Llttlewood, tn tlio BriHgc^rt

Skimtard, May Hi ID'-.
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class-meetings were held at Abijah Wilson's and Capt.

Frisbie's and other places some years before 1800.

Eegular preaching by this denomination may have

been established at the school-house in the village in

1809 or 1810, and from that time greater improve-

ments in congregations and church enterprises may
have been experienced. In 1808 a Methodist camp-

meeting was held in Canada, in Goshen, which se-

cured a more prominent influence to that denomina-

tion throughout this region.

" The ministers who preached at Mr. Coe's, and

afterwards at Newfield, doubtless preached here also.

A Mr. Sweet is mentioned as one of the early ones.

Mr. Laban Clark, celebrated for more tlian fifty years

in his denomination, preached here in 1810. Samuel

D. Ferguson and Elbert Osborn were among the early

ones, and two by the name of Hill, and Gad N.

Smith, Mr. Canfield, Mr. Beach. Col. John H. Perry,

a man of military education, became a minister, and

preached here ; became a very influential minister in

New York and Brooklyn ; went as a colonel of a

regiment into the army against the late Rebellion

;

was promoted to a general's commission ; returned in

safety to his home in Brooklyn. Rev. Ebenezer

Washburn is also mentioned prominently in regard

to the prosperity of this denomination in this com-

munit}'.

" The real pastors, however, of Methodist churches

in early days were the local preachers. The circuit

ministers were preachers, traveling on tours that re-

quired their absence from each preaching-place two,

three, and four weeks ; and hence the real pastoral

work, or care for the local churches, fell, in a great

measure, on the local ministers and class-leaders.

Such men as Daniel Coe, of Winsted, and David

Miller, of Torringford, were the men who preached

many funeral sermons, visited the sick, and supplied

vacant places with preaching at no cost to any one

but themselves.

"A number of families came into Wolcottville

soon after the woolen-mill was started, and united

with the Methodist congregation and church, who
proved themselves true and faithful witnesses, and

were of much value to the denomination and to the

community in religious things. But the progress of

the enterprise of making woolen cloths was not an

even course of prosperity, and therefore the forward

movement in the church was impeded for a number
of years."

The ministers who had preached here to that time

are mentioned in the following order :* Laban Clark,

James Coleman, in 1810, Arnold Scoville, Benjamin

Griffin, William Swayne, Gad Smith, Samuel Coch-

rane, Cyrus Culver, E. P. Jacobs, J. J. Matthias,

Datus Ensign, Ezekiel Canfield, Nathan Emery,

Smith Dayton, Ebenezer Washburn, John Nixon,

James M. Smith, David Miller, Julius Field, Daniel

* Mr. Littlewood's Bennon.

Brayton, Elbert Osborn, Eli Barnett, John Lovejoy,

Bradley Silleck, Milo Chamberlain, David Stocking,

John Lucky, Richard Hayter, Morris Hill, David

Osborn, S. W. Law, George Taylor, John M. Reid,

George A. Hubbell, Robert Codling, William B.

Hoyt, S. C. Keeler, C. T. Mallory, Otis Saxton, A.

V. R. Abbott, Benjamin Redford, C. W. Powell, B.

T. Abbott, J. Vinton, L. W. Abbott, S. H. Bray, T.

D. Littlewood, H. L. Judd, S. K. Smith, George L.

Taylor, Burns, and Rev. Mr. North.

The first church edifice was erected in 1843. The

present building, which is one of the finest Metho-

dist churches in the county, was erected in 1866,

and is an honor to the self-sacrificing spirit of all

who have aided in making it what it is.

TRINITY CHURCH.

Trinity parish was organized in February, 1843,t

with the following members: Samuel Bradley, James

Gaunt, M. W. Fyler, Henry B. Richards, Rodney

Brace, James Ashborn, Samuel Workman, Charles B.

Smith, Nelson Alvord, James R. Coe, Benjamin H.

Morse, James H. Seymour, Edward Atkins, Charles

Cooper, Demas Coe, Janna B. Phelps, James Ogleby,

Allen G. Brady. The oflicers of the parish elected

on the day of its organization were James Gaunt and

Benjamin H. Morse, wardens; James R. Coe, Charles

Cooper, Samuel Bradley, vestrymen ; Demas Coe,

treasurer ; Benjamin H. Morse, clerk. This society

continued to worship in the brick academy during

the summer of 1843, and until their house of worship

was completed in 1844.

This edifice is located on the corner of Water and

Prospect Streets, and was consecrated by Bishop

Thomas C. Brownwell, Dec. 4, 1844.

Jan. 6, 1845, Rev. Henry Zell was elected rector of

the parish. At Easter, 1848, he resigned, and during

the succeeding year the rectorship remained vacant.

Revs. Enoch Huntington, Abel Nichols, and George

L. Foot officiating. Rev. David P. Sandford became

rector on Easter Day, April 8, 1849, there being then

forty families in the parish, and eleven communi-

cants. This relation Mr. Sanford held one year,

when he resigned, and Rev. S. V. Berry was in tem-

l)orary charge of the parish a little more than a year.

In August, 1851, Rev. J. S. Covell became rector, and

continued until October, 1855. Rev. Ezra Jones and

C. B. Seymour officiated nearly a year each in suc-

cession, when the parish was united with Christ

Church, Harwinton, as one cure, for one year. Rev.

James Morton being the rector. On Oct. 10, 1858,

Rev. J. S. Covell was recalled to the rectorship, and

remained until 1863, when he removed to Hunting-

ton, Conn. Rev. David P. Sanford served his second

term of oflice in this church, commencing in April,

t Occasional services had previously been helil by the rectors of St.

Michael's parish, at Litchfield, and Christ parish, Harwinton. At the

time of the organization of the church, Kev. Henry Zell was holding

l-egular services here.
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1864, and resigning Sept. 13, 1868. During this time,

the house of worship was considerably improved : a

vestry-room was added, stained glass put into the

windows, and other improvements were made upon

the buildina;. In 1868, Rev. Benjamin Eastwood be-

came the rector, and remained until 1874. In June,

1874, Rev. Henry B. Ensworth became rector-elect,

but resigned in the next December. He was suc-

ceeded, Sept. 1, 1876, by the present rector. Rev.

Henry M. Sherman.

ST. FRANCIS' CHURCH.

Mass was first said in this village by Father James

Fitten in 1835. Since that time the following priests

have conducted services here as missionaries : Revs.

John Brady, Fathers Lynch, O'Niel, James Lynch,

Sillic, Quinn, Thomas Hendrickson, Richard O'Gor-

man, Michael Mangin, Daniel Mullen, Philip Sheri-

dan, and Father Leo, O.S.F., the present pastor at

Winsted. The first resident pastor was Father Isaiah,

the present incumbent. The church edifice was com-

menced in 1859, and completed in 1860. It was en-

larged in 1866, and beautified and improved.

BAPTIST CHURCH, NEWFIELD.

A Baptist Church was organized at Newfield, or

"Noppet," as it is sometimes called, Sept. 17, 1788.

Among the original members of the church, and those

who united with it soon after, were Stephen Shepard,

Aaron Marshall, Silas Fyler, Gideon Smith, Esther

Beach, Chloe Marshall, Bethesda Brunson, Rhoda

Agard, Joseph Drake, Ashbel Bronson, Remembrance

North, Julia West, Sabra North, Esther Fyler, Jane

Loomis (2d), Hannah Bronson, Olive Agard, Noah
North, Levi Marsliall, Norman Shepard, John Fyler,

Lemuel Loomis, Elizabeth North, and Elizabeth

Macomb. The first pastor was Stephen Shepard.

The first church edifice was erected in about 1800 or

1804. It was subsequently improved and repaired,

and July 5, 1875, was destroyed by fire. It has been

unused for a number of years.

METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH, KEWFIELD.

The first Methodist services were held here in about

1816 by Rev. Daniel Coe, of Winsted. These servi-

ces were held in the Baptist church. Soon much in-

terest was manifested, meetings were multiplied, and

quite a number of persons were baptized in the brook

north of Harlow Fyler's residence. A church was

organized, and Capt. Levi Munsill was appointed

da-ss-leadcr. Tlie church increased until it numbered

about fifty members, and the interest became so gen-

eral that the school children held prayer-meetings in

the grove during the intermi.ssion of .school exercises.

Capt. Stephen Fyler and his sons, Harlow and Juba,

the Munsills, Loomises, (irants. Thralls, Daytons, and

Capt. Asaliel Smith and Amasa Wade, of Winches-

ter, and a number of other families, warmly espoused

this cause, and for some years a thriving society ex-

isted. Besides Daniel Coe, who always manifested a

fatherly interest in this church, David Miller, of Tor-

ringford, was a frequent early preacher. Afterwards

several other ministers are remembered as having

preached here, viz.: Mr. Canfield Cochrane, Billy

Hibbard, John Nickerson, Morris and Aaron Hill,

Washburne, Samuel D. Ferguson, John Beach,

Gad N. Smith, Col. James Perry, Josiah Toy, Miles

N. Olmstead, and Henry J. Fox. Some of the pre-

siding elders were Nathan and Heman Bangs, Laban

Clark, John Luck}', Washburn, Martindale,

Ferguson, and Griswold. Among the class-

leaders after Capt. Munsill were Augustus Grant,

Archibald Dayton, and Chauncey Riggs.

Several of these ministers resided in Newfield, the

circuit being at first, and for many years, a four weeks'

circuit, with two ministers, each preaching in the

same place once in four weeks, the other minister

living in Burlington ; the four preaching-places being

Burlington, Newfield, Canada village (in Groshen), and

Cornwall.

The Methodists and Baptists occupied the old meet-

ing-house on alternate Sabbaths until a Methodist

quarterly meeting occurred on the Baptists' Sabbath,

and was conducted with closed doors, according to

the custom of those days. Some young men insisted

on going into this meeting, and finally broke down
the door to effect an entrance. Much excitement fol-

lowed. The next quarterly meeting was held in Har-

low Fyler's wagon-house, and a great company gath-

ered for the occasion. This occurred in the autumn

of 1832. A meeting of the members of this church

was held Nov. 26, 1832, when the Rev. Heman Bangs,

presiding elder, was chosen moderator, and Rev.

Charles Sherman, the pastor, was chosen scribe, and

they voted that " we deem it expedient to make an

effort to build a meeting-house." They appointed a

committee, consisting of Levi Munsill, Harlow Fylor,

Archibald Dayton, Eliliu Barber, and Aniasa Wade,

to fi.x on a site and forward the movement as trustees

of the society. The house was built in 1833, and

seated with slips instead of the box-pew.

In November, 1833, a subscription of one hundred

and ninety-five dollars was raised, and a bell purchased

at Medway, JIiuss., and ordered sent by water to Hart-

ford; but, navigation closing, Mr. Harlow Fyler sent

his team to Medway for the bell, which had been

shipped to Boston to come by water, and the team

went to Boston, and brought the bejl in time for the

dedication. After a few years of full meetings and

general interest the cause began to decline; families

were removing from the community almost yearly,

some of them going to the far West. A debt of four

hundred»dollars remained on the meeting-house prop-

erty, which continued to increase, although several

efforts were made to pay it, until about 1S50, when it

j

was sold to the Advent society, and a series of meet-

ings were held by Elders Miles Grant and Matthcw.son.

' For a time there was much interest manifested ; the

' meeting-house was filled on the Sabbath, and some
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meetings were held in the Baptist house also, and a

Second Advent Church was organized with thirty

members; but after ten or twelve years the meetings

ceased, most of the members went to Wrightville, and

the meeting-house stood unused until 1876, when it

was sold and taken down.

CHAPTER LXIL
TOKEINGTOW (Continued).

The Coo Brass Manufacturing Conipiiiiy—The Coe Furniture Company
—The Union Manufacturing Company—The Turner & Seymour
Manufacturing Company —Tlie Excelsior Needle Company — The
Hardware Company—C. H. Ilotclikiss & Sous—The Alvord Blanu-

facturing Company—The Hardware Manufacturing Conipauy—Tlie
Heudy Machine Company, Etc.

MANUFACTURING INTERESTS.*

The Coe Brass Manufacturing Company.—The first

effort to make brass kettles in America by the battery

process was commenced in Wolcottville in 1834. The
old Wilson mill-privilege and property was purchased,

and other lands on the south and west side of the river,

for a dam and a raceway, and for the location of build-

ings. The business was conducted in the name of

Israel Coe, then of Waterbury, but who removed to

Wolcottville. Anson G. Phelps, of New York City,

and John Hungerford were associated with Mr. Coe,

each owning one-third of the stock. The late Israel

Holmes, of Waterbury, had an interest in the business,

and removed to this village, and was the principal

manager of the manufacturing part of the business.

The enterprise included the rolling of brass in connec-

tion with the making of brass kettles. Christopher

Pope, an Englishman, was the prime mover in regard

to the making of brass kettles, although he was of no

benefit in the end to the business as introduced here.

Mr. Holmes went to England for the purpose of

procuring machinery and workmen. His eftbrts in

this respect were hindered by every possible ingenuity

and power of those interested in the same kind of

manufacturing in that country, but after a time he

sent two battery-men to Philadelphia, one of whom
died the next day after his arrival. Subsequently he

procured others, and thirty-eight men, women, and
children, in one vessel, arrived in New York. Con-

siderable trouble was experienced in transporting them
without a railroad to Wolcottville. When they were

landed here the mill was not ready for operatives, and
thereby the troubles were multiplied. The men re-

ceived their pay, and, having nothing to do, most of

them gave themselves to dissipation and disquietude

of disposition. In the mean time, Mr. Pope bargained

with other parties for a rival concern, and took three

of the men with him. This was at first thought to be

an injury, but eventuated in advantage, as these men
proved to be worthless in this business. However,

* Priucipally from Orcutt'e " History of Torrington."

some of the workmen remained, and the quick eye

and ready hand of Wolcottville Yankees soon secured

experts in the making of brass kettles.

The next difficulty which arose was the proportion-

ing or mixing of the metal so as to form a compound
that could be subjected to the hammering and anneal-

ing without cracking, and for some years the company
were under the necessity of importing the metal

ready cast for this purpose. In 1842, Mr. Coe went to

England and obtained the right materials and mix-

ture, and thereafter this difficulty was overcome.

From this time the business in this form would have

been a great success but for the invention by Hiram
Hayden, of Waterbury, of a new process, called the

rolling or spinning process, by which a smoother sur-

face and uniform thickness of the kettle was secured.

This new method soon superseded the battery business,

and hence this part of the Wolcottville enterprise was

not very profitable thereafter.

The rolling-mill part of the business was a success

until 1837, when by the general suspension of business

throughout the country, many who were indebted to

the concern being unable to pay, the company were in

a strait place, and for a time nearly suspended work

in the mill ; but finally all claims were paid in full

and business resumed, and continued with success.

On the 19th of May, 1841, the special copartnership

of Israel Coe was dissolved, and a joint-stock company

formed under the name of the Wolcottville Brass

Company, with a capital of fifty-six thousand dollars,

of which Israel Coe, Anson G. Phelps, and John Hun-
gerford were the stockholders, each owning one-third.

Israel Coe was appointed president, and Lyman W.
Coe secretary and treasurer, and Israel Holmes the

general manufacturing manager. In 1842, Mr. Coe

went to Europe, and Mr. Hungerford was appointed

president. In 1843, Mr. Holmes retired from the com-

pany. In February, 1844, Israel Coe and L. W. Coe

sold their interest in the company to Anson G. Phelps,

and Mr. I. Coe then retired from the brass business.

L. W. Coe remained as secretary and treasurer until

1845, when he resigned, and subsequently was elected

secretary and treasurer of the Waterbury Brass Com-

pany, of which Israel Holmes was president. Mr.

L. W. Coe then removed to Waterbury, where he re-

sided until 1863, when he purchased the property of

the Wolcottville Brass Company, and formed a new

company under the name of the Coe Brass Company.

While Mr. Coe was at Waterbury, in March, 1848,

Mr. Phelps sold his interest in this mill to Mr. Hun-

gerford, and Mr. Hungerford, at different times, trans-

ferred portions of the stock to C. P. Marks, John Da-

vol, J. H. Bartholomew, and Albert A. Mason, and

others. About 1853, Marks and Davol, being large

owners, sold their entire interest in this property to

J. Hungerford, and he and his family became the

owners of nearly all the stock.

Until 1852 the company had been moderately suc-

cessful, but from that period to 1863 the property
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steadily declined in value. This decline was owing

in part to the decline of the battery process in making

kettles and the great commercial panic of 1857, in

which the company were large losers by the failure

of their customers, from which they never fully re-

covered.

In April, 1863, L. W. Coe purchased the entire

capital stock, paying forty thousand dollars, and

thereby became possessed of all its franchise and

liable for all its debts. The Coe Brass Company was

formed, with a capital of one hundred thousand dol-

lars, and the mill property and real estate of the old

company transferred to the new.

The new company immediately took its position in

the front ranks of the brass wire and German silver

business, and has steadily increased its business until

at the present time it is producing more pounds of

metal than any mill of the kind. It has attained its

former reputation as a water-mill of about one hun-

dred and fifty horse-power, but has now in addition

four steam-engines with a capacity of four hundred

horse-power. Their buildings cover an area of about

three acres ; the whole mill property includes nine-

teen acres.

For the past five years it has made a specialty of

brass for small-arms, cartridges, and has had exten-

sive dealings with foreign governments for such metal.

The aggregate of this foreign trade has constituted

two-thirds of the production of the mills.

The annual aggregate of the business of the com-

pany now e.xceeds one and a quarter million dollars.

Its present capital is three hundred and thirty-five

thousand dollars. It employs directly from two hun-

dred to two hundred and fifty men, and indirectly

sustains a large proportion of the population of the

town. During the last three years of financial de-

pression in the country this mill has been under full

operation, and some of the time working over-time,

which fact has not only kept Wolcottville alive, but

growing at the rate of nearly fifty dwelling-houses per

year.

The annual consumption of wood at this mill is

two thousand cords, and of cliarcoal fifteen thousand

bushels, and of anthracite coal two thousand tons.

The present officers are L. W. Coe, President ; Klisha

Turner, Vice-President; Charles F. Brooker, Secre-

tary ; Edward T. Coe, Treasurer.

The Coe Furniture Company.—This business was

commenced in about 1840 by a company consisting

of Henry P. Coe, Henry P. Ostrum, and IScnjamin

Smith, in a shop about forty rods east of Main Street

bridge, on the north side of the river. After a short

time Mr. Smith sold his share to the two others.

About 1850, Mr. Ostrum sold to his partner, Henry
P. Coe, who continuoil the business with succe.-«

several years. When his sons, A. W. Coe & Brothers,

took the enterprise, before 1800, tliey took possession

of larger buildings on the soutii side of tlic river, and

began to add the improvements in machinery by

which their products and sales were greatly increased.

This prosperity continued until 1870, when the Coe

Furniture Company was formed, with a capital of

twenty thousand dollars, for the purpose of making

household furniture.

Tlie Union Manufacturing Company.—This company

was organized Feb. 18, 1845, with a capital of ten

thousand dollars, and the same day purchased the

brick building and water-privileges which had been

used as a finishing-house by the old woolen mill com-

pany, and entered upon preparations for the manufac-

ture of woolen goods, the stockholders being John

Hungerford, president, and William R. Slade, superin-

tendent and secretary, and from this time forward

this mill appears to have been moderately successful.

In 1849 this mill was burned, and a building much
larger than the former was erected, and the business

conducted by F. N. Holly and William R. Slade as

the stock-owners, and success rewarded the eflbrts

and skill with which they conducted it. In 1856 this

building was burned, and all that was in it, leaving a

mass of ruins unseemly and discouraging. Another

one was soon erected and fitted for the same business,

and the work started anew. The business was pros-

perous, and in 1859, Jesse B. Rose, Samuel Workman,
and Ransom Holly became stock-owners, and the

owners thus continued until 187.3, when the Messrs.

Holly retired, and others became members of the

company in 1867.

The present owners are Jesse B. Rose, Samuel

Workman, George D. Workman, Albert Tuttle, and

James Iredale. Mr. Rose came fnmi Plymouth in

1850, and engaged with this company as foreman of

the carding-room, and continued in that relation

nearly fifteen years, when he became a stock-owner

and superintendent of the manufacturing work.

Mr. Sanuiel Workman came to New York, and

thence in 1X.30 to this i)lace, having been employed

to work in the wool-sorting apartment in Wolcott-

ville Manufacturing Company, and has continued in

the same work ti) the present time. When the Union

Company started he engaged with them, and has be-

come largely interested in the business.

Mr. George I). Workiium, son of Samuel, is the sec-

retary, treasurer, and agent of the company, and be-

came stock-owner in 1867.

Mr. Tuttle came from Woodbury in 1858, and was

employed as finisher of cloth, in which relation he

still continues. He became stock-owner in 1865.

Mr. Iredale, formerly from Kngland, came from Mas-

sachusetts in 1865, and became overseer in the " gig-

room," or one department of cloth-dressing. He
became st»ck-owner in 1867.

This company commenced with a stock capital of

ten thousand dollars, which Wius incrensetl to fifty

thousand, where it has remained. The sales of the

company amount to two huiiilre<l thousand dollars

annually, which indicates prosperity even in moderate

times. The capacity of the mill is much greater than
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that usually attained. The main building is one

hundred and twenty-two feet by thirty-five, six stories

high, and has an " L" part thirty-five by forty feet,

three stories high. There is also a wing attached to

the main building that is eighty-five by thirty feet, one

story. The second building is one hundred by thirty-

eight, two stories and a basement, and is used for a

drying-house. The third building is eighty by thirty-

five feet, three stories high, and is used for office and

storage room ; and besides the large water-power,

they have three steam-boilers, with an engine of one

hundred horse-power.

At first this company manufactured only plain

black doeskin cloths, and from this they have varied

but little until later years. They now make black ;

doeskins, ribbed and diagonal goods, — all single

breadth. Seventy-five persons are regularly employed

in the mill, producing on an average about five- hun-

dred yards of cloth per day.

Jesse B. Rose, President; George D. Workman,

Secretary, Treasurer, and Agent ; Directors, Jesse B.

Rose, Samuel Workman, George D. Workman, Albert

Tuttle, and James Iredale.

The Turner & Seymour Manufacturiiui Company oc-

cupy the privileges of the first woolen-mill in this

village. This woolen-mill was built in 1S13 by Fred-

erick Wolcott. It passed through various hands, and

in 1844 was burned. A cotton-mill was soon after

erected on its site, which passed through various vi-

cissitudes, being known successively as the Wolcott-

ville Manufacturing Company, the Torrington Manu-

facturing Company, and the Wolcottville Knitting

Company. Before 1863 this property stood idle for a

time, which fact being known to the Waterbury Hook

and Eye Company, they began to consider the feasi-

bility of removing their business to Wolcottville. At

the same time the Wadhams Manufiicturing Company

had stopped work, and the buildings were standing

idle. This latter was a company of more than twenty

years' standing. In 1838 it was first organized, under

the title of Wadhams, Webster & Co., " for the pur-

pose of manufacturing gilt and other buttons, or any

articles composed of brass, copper, or other metals,"

and the officers were Russell C. Abernethy, Presi-

dent, and George D. Wadhams, Martin Webster, and

Laurin Wetmore, Directors, the capital stock being

fourteen thousand dollars. In 1851, after apparently

a successful term of twelve years, a new organization

was effected under the name of the Wadhams Manu-

facturing Company, taking the property of the old

company, and adding stock so as to make twenty

thousand dollars. The stock-owners were George D.

Wadhams, Phineas North, Demas Coe, Samuel T.

Seelye, H. P. Ostrum, J. F. Calhoun, Albert A. Ma-

son, Samuel J. Stocking, William S. Steele, Ebenezer

Wilson, and William De Forest. The building of the

old company was called the button-shop, and it stood

east of Main Street, on the old road to Torringford,

on the East Branch, at what is now called the iron

foundry. After 1851 it took the name of the papier-

mache shop, which indicated the character of an

additional part of the business of the firm,—the mak-
ing of daguerreotype-cases, work-boxes, writing-desks,

and other articles made in part or wholly of paper.

In the beginning of the war this company closed its

business.

Some of the members of the hook and eye com-

pany at Waterbury formed a company in 1863, called

the Seymour Manufacturing Company, to be located

at Wolcottville, and these persons were F. J. Sey-

mour, E. Turner, L. W. Coe, S. L. Clark, and J. S.

Elton. Tlicy, with a capital stock of twenty thousand

dollars, purchased the Wadhams property, or papier-

mache shop, and continued some of the kinds of

work which had been done there, and added others.

They made a specialty of brass window-trimmings,

including a variety of articles for hanging window-

curtains and ornamenting windows.

In 1864 the Turner & Seymour Manufacturing

Comi)any purchased the knitting-mill, or the old

cotton-mill property, the building standing on the

site of the old or first woolen-mill, and transferred

their hook and eye business from Waterbury to this

mill.

In 1866 these two firms consolidated under the

name of Turner & Seymour Manufacturing Com-

pany, retaining possession and continuing work in

both mills. After a short time an iron foundry was

erected adjoining the papier-mach6 building, where

they have continued to cast a variety of articles,

mostly for household use, including American scis-

sors of several classes or sizes, ends or fixtures for

window-curtains, and many other items, varying their

work according to public demand or invention and

use. Their illustrated catalogue covers one hundred

and twenty pages, many of which pages are a con-

densed schedule of articles of the same name, but

varying in size or style or adaptability.

The capital stock is one hundred thousand dollars,

and their sales run from two to three hundred thou-

sand dollars a year. They are now selling goods at

half the price they sold the same article seven years

ago. The wholesale store of this company is at 81

Reade Street, New York City.

The present officers are Elisha Turner, President

;

L. W. Coe, Treasurer; L. G. Turner, Secretary.

Tlie Excelsior Needle Company.—This company was

organized March 2, 1866, with twenty thousand dol-

lars capital, and the following persons as directors:

Achille F. Migeon, President; Charles Alvord, Sec-

retary ; and Elisha Turner, James Wooding, George

M. Isbell. The superintendency of the work devolved

upon Mr. Isbell until 1869, since which time that posi-

tion has been filled by James Alldis.

This company has for its customers all sewing-

machine companies except those who make their

own needles. The Wheeler & Wilson Company, of

Bridgeport, purchase their needles here, the contract



TORRINGTON. 637

with them for several years having been one hundred

and fifty thousand needles per month.

The company have at the inventory of every year

between four and five millions of needles, or, in other

words, they carry about forty thousand dollars' worth

of stock the year through. The capacity of the shop

is twenty-five thousand per day. The amount of

sales per year is about one hundred thousand dollars.

The Hardware Company.—This company was organ-

ized Jan. 1, 1864, with a capital of twelve thousand

dollars, and the stock-owners were George B. Turrell,

Franklin Farrell, and Achille F. Migeon. They com-

menced work in the old lock-shop in Torrington Hol-

low, formerly occupied by Edmund Wooding, where

they continued one year and a half, during which

time they purchased laud- and water-privileges half a

mile down the Naugatuck, and erected commodious

buildings about one hundred and fifty feet long, and

removed into them in the autumn of 1865. The lead-

ing work at this time was the making of skates of all

sizes and various styles. In February, 1870, the cap-

ital stock was increased to fifty-two thousand dollars,

and in October of the same year they bought of

George B. Turrell, of New York, a patented beer-

cooler, and increased their capital to one hundred

thousand dollars. The work of making this beer-

cooler has constituted a considerable portion of the

business of the company since that time, being one

important branch of business.

On Feb. 13, 1872, they bought the skate-manufactur-

ing business of Frederick Stevens, of New York, and

increased the capital to one hundred and fifty thousand

dollars, and erected a new three-story building one

hundred feet long by forty wide, thus greatly increas-

ing the manufacture of skates, and many other arti-

cles have been added to the goods produced of iron,

wood, and leather.

The company employ in good times about one

hundred men, using both water- and steam-power,

and their sales amount to about one liundred and fifty

thousand dollars a year. Their buildings are located

at the northwest corner of Wolcottville, and have
been the occasion for the erection of a number of fine-

appearing dwellings in that i)art of the village. This

is one of the largest parlor-or roller- skate manufac-
turing establishments in the world. The present

officers are George B. Turrell, of New York, Presi-

dent; Achille F. Migeon, Secretary; and J. F. Cal-

houn, Treasurer.

C. lIolchkh.'< ((• Sons.—In 1857, Deacon Charles

Hotchkiss and his .son, Edward C, purchased what
was known as the Wilson mill property and fitted it

for their work as builders, under the name of C.

Hotchkiss & Son. This name was changed afterwards

to C. Hotchkiss & Sons, in which form it still stands.

Mr. Hotchkiss had been engaged in building pre-

vi«ms to this, in Wolcottville and the country around,

more than ten years, Imt his mill was two miles north

of Torrington Hollow and inconvenient; now he se-

41

cured this mill property, and arranged it for all the

various parts of a complete business of building dwell-

ings, meeting-houses, mills, and the like throughout

the region. During the twenty years this firm have

been engaged in this business, with what Mr. Hotch-

kiss had done previously, they have put up a large

proportion of the buildings in the village, besides

doing much work at distances from five to twenty

miles.

The Alvord Carriage Manufactory was founded in

1831, and was a large concern. Its officers were Nel-

son Alvord, president; and among the directors were

Henry Hopkins, A. G. Bradford, Charles B. Smith,

and B. R. Agard. It closed upon the breaking out of

the late Rebellion.

The WolcottviUe Hardware Manufacturing Company

was organized with the following stockholders : Wol-

cottville Brass Company, Norman Cady, Gordon

W. Quinby, Elezur D. Harrington, Nelson Alvord,

George D. Wadhams, Henry Hopkins, Charles G.

Pond, George N. Pond, Virgil C. Goodwin, N. B.

Lathrop, Darius Wilson, Edwin W. Moseley, and

George P. Bissell.

TheHendy Machine Company was started in 1870 by

Henry J. and Arthur Hendy, and is in successful

operation.

THE WOLCOTTVILLE REGISTER

was established by Henry Bolton in August, 1874,

by whom it was continued about three years and then

sold to C. James, A.M. Mr. James published it three

years, when it was sold to Mr. E. A. Hayes, the present

proprietor. It is an excellent local journal, and justly

.merits its present prosperity. Independent. It is now
called the Torrington Jiegister, to conform to the

change of name of the village.

CHAPTER LXIII.

TOKRINQTON (Continued).

CIVIL AND MILITARY HISTORY.

Incorpurntlnii of Town— Repreneiitntives frum 17(12 lo ProMnt Time

—

Milllttry Record, 1861-85.

Tins town was incorporated in 1732.

UEPRKSENTATIVES FROM 1762-1882.

1702.—John Cook, Jonatlian Coo.

1763.—John Cook, Kpuphnu Sheldon.

17G4-G5.—John Cook, Junnthiut Co*.

1766-70.—Jolin Cook, Ni>ah Wll*>n.

1771.—John Cook, Noah MHrahall.

1772.— Kphrtiini Itaiicrori, CH|>t. Antoa Wilson, John Cook.

177:V—Eimphrnj* Sheldon, John C^ook.

1774-75.—John (VM>k, K|iul>hrn)i Sheldon, Noah Mnnihall.

1776.—Ephraini Bancroft, CVipt. Shubael Qriawold.

1777.—Oil. E|in|dinu Sheldon, Capt. Shubael Orbwold, Abuar Marihall,

John (Viok.

1778.—Ahner Manttiall, .\ar(in Au!«Un, Capt. Shubael Griawohl.

1770.—Noah Norlh, Abner Maraball, ad. Epapbnu Sheldon.

17811.—Col. Epuphnw Sheldon, Noah North.

1781 —Noah North, Capt. ShiiUel Qrlswuld, Col. Epaphraa Sheldon.

1782.—Col. E|tapbraN Shehloii, Abner Mamhall, Aaton Austin, Darld

Grant, Ellphalet Eno.
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1783.—Nonh North, Elipliak-t Eno, Col. Epaphras Sheldon, Samuel

Woodward.

1784.—Col. Epaphras Slieldon, Samuel Woodward, Eliphalet Eno, Noah

North, Capt. Jabez Gillett.

1785.—Daniel Grant, David Soper, Gen. Epaphras Sheldon, Samuel

Woodward.

1786.—Capt. Amos Wilson, Samuel Woodward, Elisha Smith.

1787.—Noah North, Eliphalet Eno, Capt. Amos Wilson, Capt. Shubael

Griswold.

1788.—Gen. Epaphras Sheldon, Eliphalet Eno, Elisha Smith,

1789.—Elisha Smith, Eliphalet Eno, Capt. Shubael Griswold, Dr. Samuel

Woodward.

1790.—Elisha Smith, Dr. Samuel Woodward, Eliphalet Eno.

1791.—Epaphras Sheldon, Shubael Griswold, Eliphalet Eno.

1792.—Dr. Elkanah Hodges, Eliphalet Eno, Elisha Smith, William Bat-

tell.

1793.—Elisha Smith, Shubael Griswold.

1794.—Seth Wetmore, William Battell.

179S.—Elisha Smith, William Biittell.

179IJ.—Elisha Smith, Jabez Gillett, Epaphras Sheldon.

1797.—Elisha Smith, Jabe/. Gillett.

1798.—Elisha Smith, Jabez Gillett, Wait Beach, Ebenezer Miller.

1799.—Elisha Smith, Jabez Gillett, Nathaniel Austin.

1800.—Wait Beach, John Gillett, Phineas North, William Battell.

1801.—Elisha Smitli, William Battell.

1802.-Elisha Smith, William Battell, I'hinoas North, Jabez Gillett.

1803.—Elisha Smith, Jabez Gillett.

1804.—Phineas Nortli, William Battell, Jr., Elisha Smith.

1805.—Phineas North, Willjajn Battell, Eliiiha Hinsdale.

1806.-Elisha Hinsdale, William Battell, Jr.

1807.—Elisha Smith, Norman Griswold, William Battell.

1808.—Elisha Smith, William Battell.

1809.—Elisha Smith, William Battell, Lyman Wetmore, John Gillett, Jr.

ISIO.—Lyman Wetmore, John Gillett, Jr., Tliaddeus Griswold.

1811.—Elisha Smith, Norman Griswold, William Battell.

1812.—Elislia Smith, Tliaddeus Griswold, Lyman Wetmore.

1813.—Eiastus Hodges, Thaddeus Griswold, John Gillett, Jr.

1814.—Lymau Wetmore, William Battell, John Gillett, Jr.

1815.—Lyman Wetmore, John Gillett, Jr., Abel Hinsdale, Uriel Tuttle,

Uussell C. Abernethy, William Battell.

1816.—Rvissell C. Abernethy, Thaddeus Griswold.

1817.—Lyman Wetmore, Wdliam Battell, John Gillett, Jr.

1818.—Lyman Wetmore, John Gillett, Jr., Abel Klnsdale, William Bat-

tell.

1819-20.—Elihu Cook, John Gillett, Jr.

1821.—John Gillett, Jr., Abel Hinsdale.

1822.-Matthew Grant, Samuel Woodward.

1823.—Levi Munsell, John Gillett, Jr.

1S24.—Levi Munsell, Isaac H. Dibble.

1825.— Kussell C. Abernethy, Isaac H. Dibble.

1826.—Erastus Hodges, Uriel Tuttle.

1827.—Erastus Hodges, William Battell.

1828.-Enssell C. Abernethy, William Battell.

1829-30.—Noah Drake, Jr., Horace Gillett.

1831.—Asaph Gillett, Griswold Woodward.

1832.—Erastus Hodges, William Battell.

1833.—Martin Wel.)ster, Levi Munsell.

1834.—Noah Drake, Cicero Hayden.

1835.—Ralph Deming, Noah Drake, Jr.

1836.—Zaccheus W. Bissell, Giles Whiting.

1837.—Giles Whiting, John Gillett.

1838.—Lorrain Thrall, Israel Holmes.

1839.—Elkanah H. Hodges, Auson Colt, Jr.

1840.—Luman Munsell, .\nson Colt, Jr.

1841.—Uri Taylor, Luman Munsell.

1842.—Uri Taylor.

1843-44.—Griswold Woodward, Asaph Gillett.

1845.—Lyman W. Coe, Dennis Coe.

1846-47.—Lorrain Hinsdale, Nelson Roberts.

1848.-Jannah B. Phelps, Frederick P. Whiting.

1849.—Jannah B. Phelps, Homer F. Thrall.

1850.—Albert Bradley, Heury S. Barbour.

1851.—Lewis Whiting, John \V. Cooke.

1852.—Edmund A. Wooding, Leverett Tuttle.

1853.—Noah Drake, L. Thompson.

1854.—Noah Drake, Henry Hopkins.

1855.—N. Roberts, C. A. Wiuship.

t

1856-67.—George P. Bissell. Lewis A. Thrall.

1858.—Thomas A. Miller, Samuel J. Stocking.

1859.—Thomas A. Miller, Andrew Roberts.

I860.— Harlow Fyler, Francis N. Holley.

18CI.—Harvey L. Rood, George L. Whiting.

1862.—B. R. Agard, Roderick BisBell.

1863.—Alonzo Whiting, Henry G. Colt.

1864.—Lauren Wetmore, James Ashborn.

18G5.—Henry S. Barbour, Elijah Woodward.

1866—0. R. Fyler, W. H. Barber.

1867.—Roger C. Barber, Elisha Turner.

1868.—Josei)b F. Calhoun, Thomas A. Starks.

1809.—Charles Hotcbkiss, Edward B. Birge.

1R70.—J. W. Phelps, Luther Bronson.

1871.-E. C. Hotchkiss, John M. Burr.

1872.—F. J. Seymour, Wait B. Wilson.

1873.—Charles McNeil, James Alldis.

1874.—Charles McNeil, Charles F. Church.

1875.—Charles F. Brooker, Edward C. Hotcbkiss.

1870.—Charles McNeil, John W. Gamwell.

1877.—Levi Hodges, Achille F. Migeon.

1878.-Jesse B. Rose, Heury J. Allen.

1879.—Bradley R. Agard, Achille F. Migeon.

1880.—Charles Alvord, Avery F. SUner.

1881.-Gideon H. Welch, Wibur W. Birge.

MILITARY RECORD, 1861-65.

FIRST REGIMENT HEAVY ARTILLERY.

Sanford H. Perkins, captain, Co. I ; com. May 23, 1861
;
pro. to major 14th

Regt. June 7, 1862.

Albert F. Brooker, first lieutenant, Co. I ; com. May 23, 1861 ;
pro. to cap-

tain Co. B May 23, 1802.

Edward H. Mix, second lieutenant, Co. I; com. May 23, 1801; pro. to first

lieutenant Co. C; res. Feb. 0, 1802.

Collis S. Hough, sergeant, Co. I ; enl. May 23, 1861 ; re.enl. as veteran

Dec. 17, 1863.

David W. Smith, corporal, Co. I ; enl. May 23, 1861 ; disch. May 23, 1864,

term e.\pired.

King Walbridgc, corporal, Co. I ; enl. May 23, 1861 ; discb. May 23, 1864,

term exjiired.

Charles Huxford, corporal, Co. I; enl. May 23, 1801 ; disch. May 23,1864,

term expired.

Frank B. Brooker, Co. I ; enl. May 23, 1861 ; disch. May 21, 1864, term

expired.

Wilbur W. Birge, Co. I; enl. May 23, 1861 ; disch. for disability Sept. 23,

1801.

Edward C. Castle, Co. I; enl. May 23, 1861; disch. May 23, 1864, term

expired,

Clement Griffin, Co. I ; enl. May 23, 1861 ; died Nov. 23, 1862.

Asabel C. Johnson, Co. I; enl. May 23, 1861 ; re-enl. as veteran Feb. 5,

1864.

James H. Mott, Co. I; enl. May 23, 1861 ; disch. May 23, 1864, term ex-

pired.

Hayden D. Palmer, Co. T ; enl. May 23, 1861 ; re-enl. aa veteran Dec. 30,

1863.

Eher N. Stocking, Co. I ; enl. May 23, 1861 ; disch. for disability Sept. 23,

1861.

Elisha J. Steele, Co. I ; enl. May 23, 1861; reenl. as veteran Dec. 30, 1863.

Charles W. Smith, Co. I ; enl. May 23, 1861 ; re-enl. as veteran Nov. 16,

1863.

Henry M. Stocking, Co. I ; enl. May 23, 1861 ; re-enl. as veteran Nov, 16,

1863.

Lambert W. Steele, Co. I ; enl. May 23, 1861 ; re-enl. as veteran Dec. 10,

1803.

Company /, Recruits.

John Keaton, Co. I ; enl. April 12, 1862 ; re-enl. as veteran April 19, 1864.

SECOND REGIMENT HEAVY ARTILLERY.

Dr. Jeremiah W. Phelps, first assistant surgeon ; com. Sept. 5, 1862; res.

Sept. 15, 1862.

Jonathan A. Wainwright, chaplain ; com. Sept. 8, 1862 ; res. Jan. 20, 1863.

Wilbur W. Birge, sergeant-major; enl. July 28, 1862; pro. to flret lieu-

tenant Co. F Feb. 6, 1864.

William T. Spencer, first lieutenant, Co. 0; com. July 22, 1862; pro. to

captain of Co. K Aug. 11, 1803.
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Morris H. Sanford, second lieutenaut, Co. C; com. July 21, 1862; pro. to

first lieutenant Aug. 11, 1863.

George K. Hyde, sergeant, Co. C; enl. Aug. 25, 1862; pro. to second lieu-

tenant Cu. G Fell. 6, 1864.

Orsamus K. Fyler, sergeant, Co. C; enl. Aug. 9, 1862
;
pro. to second lieu-

teuaut Co. I Feb. 6. 1864.

David C. Slunson, corporal, Co. C; enl. Aug. 4, 1862.

Albert P. Newberry, corporal, Co. A ; enl. Aug. 4, 1862 ; died in Virginia

April 14, 1864.

David J. Thorp, corporal, Co. C ; enl. July 28, 1862 ; killed at Cold Har-

bor, Va., June 1, 1864.

Martin L. Judd, corporal, Co. C; enl. Aug. 11, 1862.

William II. Hyde, corporal, Co. C; enl. July 24,1862: disch. for disability

Aug. 8, 1863.

John Wilcox, Co. A ; died from wounds June 16, 1864.

Audrew J. Brooker, Co. A; died from wounds Oct. 8, 1864.

Hicks Seaniau, musician, Co. C; enl. July 28, 1862.

Andrew E. Workman, musician, Co. C ; enl. Aug. 4, 18G2.

Milo F. Barber, Co. C; enl. Aug. 11, 1S62; disch. for disability April 18,

1864.

Anson F. Balcom, Co. C; enl. Aug. 11, 1862; died from wounds in Vir-

ginia Sept. 19, 1864.

Edward M. Balcom, Co. C; enl. Aug. 11, 1862.

John R. Blakeslee, Co. C ; enl. July 28, 1862.

Virgil R. Bissell, Co. C ; enl. Aug. 11, 1862.

Giles A. Come, Co. C; enl. Aug. 11, 1862; died in Alexandria, Va., April

1, 1863.

Orrin H. Cooke, Co. C; enl. Aug. 11, 1862.

Alfred Calkins, Co. C ; enl. Aug. 11, 1862 ; died at Lome from disease

contracted in the army.

Edward M. Dunbar, Co. C ; enl. Aug. 11, 1862.

Joseph Durocher, Co. C; enl. Aug. 11, 1862.

Orlando D. Evans, Co. C ; enl. Aug. 11, 1862 ; died Feb. 28, 1863.

John Friend, Co. C ; enl. Aug. 6, 1862.

Cornel A. Hammond, Co. C ; enl. July 24, 1862; disch. Nov. 9, 1862.

Frederick O. Hills, Co. C; enl. Aug. 11, 1862.

William H. Hart, Co. C; enl. Aug. 11, 1862; died in hospital in Virginia

June 24, 18G4.

Harlow S. Johnson, Co. C ; enl. Aug. 11,1862; died at Baltimore, Md.,

Sept. 23, 1864.

James Jukes, Co. C; enl. Aug. 11, 1862.

John Do Lowry, Co. C; enl. Aug. 11, 1862; discharged.

Dennis Murphy, Co. C; enl. Aug. 11, 1862.

McKenzie Millard, Co. C; enl. Aug. 4, 1862.

James Moran, Co. C ; enl. Aug. 7, 1862.

Charles E. Morse, Co. C; enl. Aug. 11, 1862.

Carrel F. North, Co. C; enl. Aug. 14, 1862.

Alonzo Smith, Co. C; enl. July 25, 1862.

David J. Thorp, Co. C ; enl. July 25, 1862 ; killed at Cold Harbor Juno

1,1865.

George C. Thompson, Co. C; enl. July 23, 1862.

Wright Watorhouse, Co. C; enl. July 28, 1862.

Hcury M. Woodruff, Co. C; enl. Aug. 11, 1802; died in hospital at New
Havon July 22, 1864.

Luclen N. Whiting, Co. C; enl. Aug. 4, 1862.

Harrison Whitney, Co. C ; enl. Aug. 4, 1862.

Milo Young, Co. C; enl. Aug. 11, 1862 ; died in hospital May 14, 1865.

Charles G. Mason, Co. B; enl. July 30, 1862.

Hubbard E. Tuttle, Co. K; enl. Aug. 6, 1802.

Lant Ryan, corporal, Co. K ; enl. Aug. 12, 1802.

Asahol N. Perkins, Co. K ; onl. Aug. 7, 1862; died from wounds.

Patrick Fanell, Co. K ; enl. Aug. 7, 1862; disch. Juno 1, 1864.

Enoch 0. Warhnret, Co. K ; onl. Aug. 6, 1862.

Patrick Peacock, Co. K; enl. Aug. 6, 1862; discharged.

Ckympany C, RtcruUt.

Newton A. Calkins, enl. Dec. 9,1863.

John Dohiwry, enl. Jan. 2, 1864.

William II. Hart, enl. Dec. 28, 1863.

Audrew Harris, enl. Dec. 23, 1803.

Janios M. Hayes, enl. Dec. 15, 1863 ; died in Virginia July 24, 1864.

Patrick Kenedy, enl. Feb. II, 1804.

Lewis A. Luddirigton, enl. Jan. 6, 1864,

Jeremiah McCarthy, enl. Dec. 28, 1863 ; killed in Virginia S«pt. 10, 1864.

Patrick O'Cojinor, enl. Doc. 15, 1863.

Henry W. Ostrum, enl. Dec. 28, 1863.

Owrge W. Pierce, onl. Dec. 16, 1863 ; killed at Cold Harbor JuD* 1, 18«4.

Albert M. Scoville, enl. Dec. 28, 1863 ; died in Virginia Oct. 19, 1864.

Horace A. Thompson, Co. M ; enl. Feb. 12, 1864.

George H. Wheeler, Co. M ; enl. Feb. 12, 1864.

SECOND REGIMENT INFANTRY.

Henry G. Colt, enl. May 7, 1861 ; disch. Aug. 7, 1861.

George M. Evans, enl. M.iy 7, 1.S61 ; disch. Aug. 7, 1861.

THIRD REGIMENT INFANTRY.

Allen G. Brady, lieutenant-colonel ; com. May 14, 1861 ; disch. Aug. 12,

1861.

William G. Brady, sergeant-major ; enl. May 14, 1861 ; disch. Aug. 12,

1801.

Joseph P. Reed, Rifle Co. F; enl. May 14, 1801; disch. Aug. 12, 1861.

George M. Evans, Cav., Co. D; enl. Nov. 2, 1801; re-enl. as veteran Dec.

17, 1863.

FIRST REGIMENT CAVALRY BECKUITS.

Nelson Hodges, enl. Nov. 30, 1863.

Cornelius Horgan, enl. Dec. 22, 1863.

EIGHTH REGIMENT INFANTRY.

Henry H. Riggs, corporal; enl. Sept. 25, 1861.

Thomas J. Hubbard, corporal ; enl. Oct. 5, 1861; re-enl. as veteran Dec.

24, 1863.

William H. McCarty, enl. Sept. 25, 1861 ; disch. for disability March 4,

1803.

John Collins, Co. F ; enl. Sept. 4, 1863; substitute or drafted.

James Churchill, Co. I ; enl. Sept. 4, 1863 ; substitute or drafted.

John Hern, Co. F; enl. Sept. 4, 1863; substitute or drafted.

William Matice, Co. I; enl. Sept. 4, 1803.

Frank Miller, Co. A; enl. March 29, 1864.

Henry C. Woodward, Co. I ; enl. Feb. 25, 1864.

TENTH REGIMENT.

Simon Lathrop, Co. A ; killed in North Carolina, Dec. 14, 1862.

ELEVENTH REGIMENT INFANTRY RECRUITS.

John C. King, enl. March 30, 1864; not taken upon the roUa June 30,

1864.

Lewis Dayton, Co. D; killed Sept. 17, 1862.

Thomas Lackey, Co. H ; enl. March 30, 1864.

James McGrath, enl. April 1, 1804.

George Sinclair, Co. K ; enl. April 1, 1864; trans, to U. S. navy April 29,

1864.

Michael Welch, Co. K ; enl. March 30, 18C4.

Henry Williams, Co. K ; onl. April 1, 18&t.

Lewis E. \Valling, Co. E; died during the war.

THIRTEENTH REOIMKNT INFANTRY.

Hurlburt C. Hayes, corporal, Co. B; onl. Jan. II, 1862.

Charles F. Cleaveland, Co. D ; enl. Dec. 22, 1861 ; died April 8, 1862.

Edward M. Dunbar, Co. B; cnl. Doc. 2, 1861; dlacb. for disability Jnna

30, 1862.

Edward A. Foot, Co. B.

Frederick E. Hawley, Co. B ; onl. Dec. 22, 1801 ; disch. for dliablllly Feb.

28, 1863.

Dennis Hegany, Co. B; enl. Doc. 22, 1861; re-oul. as veteran Feb. 8,

1864.

George E. Hewlett, Co. B; enl. Doc. 22,1861; trans, to 1st Louisiana

Regt., Aug. 8, 1862.

Edwaril Murphy, Co. B; died April 7, 1802.

Michael lligany, Co. B ; re-enl. as veleran Feb. 29, 1H61.

Henry A. Uurlbut, Co. G; dlsclmr^ml.

FOURTEENTH REGIMENT INFANTRY.

William Bradshaw, Co. A ; died Aug. 16, 1^64.

Edward Carroll, enl. July 8, 1862.

FourtetHlh Ut^imtttt Ii^antrjf BtcruiU.

Frederick Clieover. Cu. D; enl. Sept. 17, 1863; substitute or drufled.

Nicholas Deano, Co. C; onl. Sept. 7, 1863; sabaUtuto or draft«d; sap-

posed prisoner. Fob. 6, 18G4.

Ferdinand OroaalolT, Co. D; enl. Sept. 17, 18G3.

John Filzpatrick, Co. E; enl. Sept. 17, 1861; discharged.

Thomas Rumblo, Ou. A ; enl. Sept. 11, 1863; supiKMed prisoner, October,

186:1.

Goorgo Smith (2d), Oo. H ; enl. Sept. 8, 1863.

John SulTaug, Co. 0; eul. Sept. 8, 1803.
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SIXTEENTH KEGIMBNT.

Christopher C. Johnson, Co. E; died in Andersonville prison.

SEVENTEENTH KEGIMENT INFANTRY.

AUen G. Brady, mtyor; com. Aug. 29, 1802; discli. for disability Oct. 21,

1863.

TWENTY-SECOND REGIMENT INFANTRY.

Riley Dunbar, enl. Sept. 20, 1862; disch. July 7, 1863.

TWENTY-THIRD REGIMENT INFANTRY.

Henry Barber, Co. A ; discharged.

John Deloury, Co. A; enl. Aug. 30, 186^; disch. Aug. 31, 1862.

Andrew Bnrrott, Co. H ; enl. Aug. 22, 1862; disch. Aug. 31, 1863.

TWENTY-EIGHTH REGIMENT INFANTRY.

Lucius E. Bissell, corporal, Co. F; enl. Sept. 1, 1862.

Lafayette Bailey, Co. F; enl. Aug. 21, 1802; disch. Aug. 28, 1863.

Erwin W. Curtiss, Co. F ; enl. Sept. 1, 1862 ; died May 27, 1863.

Lewis E. Dailey, Co. F; enl. Sept. I, 1802 ; disch. Aug. 28, 1863.

TWENTY-NINTH KEGIMENT INFANTRY.

Henry S. Freeman, Co. H ; enl. March 2, 1864.

Edward Freeman, Co. C; died in Texas Oct. 13, 1865.

George Wright, Co. I ; enl. Dec. 31, 1863.

THIRTIETH REGIMENT INFANTRY.

Thomas W. Browue, Co. F; eul. March 28, 1864; not taken on the rolls

June 30, 1864.

COLORED DRAFTED MEN AND SUBSTITUTES, ASSIGNED TO
FOURTEENTH REGIMENT R. I. HEAVY ARTILLERY.

Richard Harrison, Co. D ; enl. Sept. 9, 1803.

Nelson Harrison, Co. D; enl. Sept. 9,1863.

Hannibal Randall, Co. D; enl. Aug. 22, 1863 ; died, place unknown.

John N. Suiith, Co. B, 21st Mass. : died during war.

Harvey F. Bellamy, Co. B, 21st Mass.

Russell P. Fellows, enl. at Bristol in Co. K, 16th Regt., early iu the war

;

was taken prisoner April 20, 1864.

Harvey Fellows, enl. in Co. C, 25th Regt. ; was taken prisoner, but was

exchanged.

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES.

MILO BURR.

Mile Burr was born at Torrington, Conn., Jan. 1,

1797. He was a lineal descendant of Benjamin Burr,

who settled in Hartford in 1639, and was one of the

original proprietors of that town. John Burr was the

first of the family who settled in Litchfield County.

He purchased land in Torrington, Torringford parish,

in 1747, where he kept a public-house, which is now
standing. His second son, Reuben, was a farmer,

and resided about a half-mile east of the present vil-

lage of Burrville, where he raised a large family, of

whom Milo, the immediate subject of this sketch, was

the youngest son. His early life was spent on his

father's farm, with limited educational advantages.

His only capital was his strong arm and resolute will.

He first went to work by the month, and soon pur-

chased land where the village of Burrville now stands,

and commenced the task of making a home and for-

tune for himself By his energy and judicious man-

agement he soon took rank among the leading busi-

ness men of his day. He purchased a large tract of

timber-land, and engaged in the lumber business. At
one time IMr. Burr had three saw-mills engaged in

the manufacture of lumber. He erected a dam, and
constructed what is known as the Burr reservoir, west

of the village. Other enterprises he pushed with

much energy and vigor for the public good and the

enlargement of the village. There were no sudden

accessions of wealth, but year by year the improve-

ments were made and other branches of business

established. As the timber was taken from the land

farms were made, houses erected, etc. In the loca-

tion and construction of the Naugatuck Railroad Mr.

Burr took an active part, with other leading men
along the line. Upon the completion of the road a

.station and post-ofiice were established, under the

name of Burrville. Mr. Burr lived to see quite a pre-

tentious village, bearing his own name, and of which

he was the principal owner. He died in his seventy-

sixth year, respected by all. He married Mary Skin-

ner, of Winsted, by whom he had four children, of

whom John M. is the only survivor. He was born

March 8, 1833, and resides in his father's homestead,

which was erected in 1827, and to which he has made
substantial improvements, a view of which may be

seen in this work. John M. Burr inherited not only

the estate of his father, but in a large degree the en-

terprise and sagacity exhibited by him, and continues

the improvements, in harmony with the spirit of the

founder. He has held several town offices, and rep-

resented the town in the Legislature of 1871; has

been postmaster of the village for more than twenty

years, and is one of the active representative men of

Litchfield County. He married Lavinia A., daughter

of Samuel Hurlbert, of Winchester. They have one

son, John Hurlbert, born Sept. 17, 1860.

JESSE B. ROSE.

Jesse B. Rose, son of Bela and Mary (Brockett)

Rose, was born in the town of Wolcott, Conn., Jan.

10, 1821. The grandfather of Mr. Rose was from

Branford, Conn., and his ancestors were from Massa-

chusetts, where they were among the early settlers and

influential people. Jesse B. Rose worked on his

father's farm until he was sixteen years of age, when
he went to Bristol, where he was employed in a

woolen-mill until he was twenty-one. Soon after

that he was employed in a woolen-mill at Naugatuck

as foreman in the carding-room. He served in the

same capacity in other mills until 1849, when he came

to Wolcottville in the employment of W. R. Sladt,

of the Union Manufacturing Company. Here Mr.

Rose occupied the position of foreman of the carding-

room until 1859, when he became a stockholder and

superintendent. In 1873 he was chosen president of

the company, which position he still occupies. Mr.

Rose has been connected with the Union Manufac-

turing Company through all its changes, from its or-

ganization to the present time. He is also inter-

ested and is a stockholder in other manufacturing

enterprises of the town. Politically, Mr. Rose is a
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Republican, and has been since the organization of

the party. He has held several town offices, and rep-

resented the town in the Legislature in 1877. He has

been twice married ; his first wife was Perlina Hart,

by whom he had three sons, two of whom are now

living, Edwin E. and Willis A. His second wife was

Mrs. Harriet E. Griswold, formerly Harriet E. Hum-
phrey, of Goshen. She has one son, Frederick H., by

her former husband.

FREDERICK P. HILLS.

Deacon Frederick P. Hills was born Sept. 1, 1808,

in Goshen, and died at his residence in Torrington,

April 10, 1881, where he had resided since 1846. He is

descended fromBenoni Hills, who was born in North-

ampton, Mass., in 1700. He moved to Suffield, thence

to Durham, and settled in Goshen about 1740, where

he raised a large family, of whom Medad was the fourth

child. He was known as "Colonel" Medad Hills;

was a Revolutionary soldier, and a man of note ; was

a large land-owner in Winchester, where he resided.

He raised a family of five children, of whom Miles

was the youngest. He was born Aug. 31, 1766 ; was

twice married, first to Abigail Wilcox. After her

death he married Anne Butrick, by whom he had nine

children, viz. : Levi, born May 29, 1795 ; Medad,

born June 17, 1797 ; Abigail, born July 17, 1799

;

Eben, born Oct. 8, 1801 ; Mary A., born Sept. 2,

1804; Frederick P., born Sept. 1, 1808; Lucy A.,

born March, 1810; Elisha, born May 23, 1812; Roxy,

born Oct. 6, 1814.

Deacon Frederick P. Hills, the immediate subject

of our sketch, married first Lucy E., daughter of John

Wetmore, of Winchester, Sept. 11, 1833. She died

Dec. 26, 1858, leaving one daughter, Lucy A., born

Sept. 7, 1841. She married Leroy Wetmore, and died

Aug. 24, 1871. Mr. Hills was a second time married,

Dec. 7, 1859, to Mrs. Harriet B. Bailey, formerly Har-

riet B. Frisbe, oldest daughter of Levi Frisbe, a

prominent farmer of Litchfield.

Deacon Hills was a man well known in this part of

the county for his upright character and strict integ-

rity ; he wa.s slow in coming to conclusions, but when

once established he was as firm as the granite hills of

(Connecticut. His word was unquestioned, and his

character above reproach. He was an active and

consistent member of the Congregational Church, and

a deacon for many years. He was called to fill many

positions of trust and honor, especially as trustee to

settle estates, and enjoyed the confidence and esteem

of all who knew him.

ORSON BARBER.

Orson Barber was the youngest of five children of

Elihu Barber, and the only survivor of the family.

His grandfather was Joseph Barber, an early settler

in Windsor, Conn.

Elihu Barber was born April 19, 1765. He came

to Torrington when a young man ; married Jemima

North, April 19, 1787. Their children were Mary,

born June 22, 1793 ; Elihu, born Feb. 24, 1798 ; Je-

mima, born April 16, 1800 ; Elkanah, born June 25,

1803 ; Orson, born Nov. 6, 1806. When Elihu Barber

came to Torrington his only capital was his strong

arm and his resolute will. He became a large land-

owner, and was a man of considerable property. He
gave to each of his sons a farm, and to the daughters

an equivalent in other property. He was a man of

great physical strength and endurance. He is said

to have been drawing a load of rye from the field

with a yoke of oxen, and, going down a steep hill, the

yoke dropped from one of the oxen, whereupon he

took up the yoke and carried it, in place of the ox,

down the hill safely. Orson, the youngest of his

children, received the home-farm in Newfield, where

he now resides. He is a man of strong common
sense and good judgment, and commands the respect

of all who know him. Has always taken a deep in-

terest in the schools of his district, and for more than

thirty years has held some office on the school board.

Has been for more than forty years a member of the

Methodist Church. Mr. Barber has been twice mar-

ried, first to Roxy Ann Eggleston, in 1829. She was

born May 16, 1811 ; died June 29, 1840. He was

again married, Dec. 4, 1842, to Martha, daughter of

Roger Starks, of Winchester. She was born Aug. 9,

1823. Children are: by first wife, Elihu D., born

Aug. 28, 1831, died May 27, 1839; Louisa R., born

May 15, 1840, married Carlton C. Fyler, Aug. 15,

1861 (children are Carlton C, Sheridan B., and

Walter S). By the second wife Mr. Barber has one

daughter, Frances M., born April 29, 1854, married

John W. Gamwell, Nov. 23, 1874; children are Louis

J., Charles W., and Carrie F.

CHAPTER LXIV.

WARREN.

Ooogrnphlcal—Topograpliical—Tlie Firet Scttlementa—Nnmes of S«ttlen

—Early Marriageu—Organi/atlou uf I'arisli niid Town—The Flr*t

Town-Meeting—Officora Klecleil—Documentary History—Eccleslaa-

tical lUetiTy—Itepreiicntallvea from 178C to 1881.

The town of Warren lies near the centre of the

county, and is bounded as follows : on the north by

Cornwall, on the east by Litchfield, on the south by

Wiushington, and on the west by Kent. The surface

is hilly and mountainous, and is better adapted to

grazing than the raising of grain. The town is

watered by the Shepaug River, a branch of the

Housatonic. Lake Waramaiig, a beautiful slieet of

water, and a popular place of resort, is located partly

in this town and partly in Washington.
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THE FIUST SETTLEMENTS.

The first settlements were made in about the year

1737. Among the pioneers were Eleazar Curtis,

Joseph Carter, Nathaniel Swift, John Brown, Benoni

Carter, Ward Eldred, Gershom Holmes, Joseph An-

drews, John Browuson, Silas Curtis, B. Carter, Sam-

uel Whitlock, Jr., Judah Eldred, Silvester Finney,

Thomas Beeman, Philo Strong, Jr., Joseph Peters,

Ei)hraim Tanner, Asahel Wedy, Justus Sackett, Sol-

omon Carter, Piatt Starr, Homer Sackett, Miltin Cur-

tis, Daniel Hendrick, Nathan Hopkins, Barzallia

Carter, John Finney, Lysander Curtis, William Stone

(2d), 1787, Capt. Peter Porter, A. Beeman, C. Strong,

U. Hunt, Timothy Beeman, Justice Sackett, Gershom

Holmes, Eli Spooner, Peleg Holmes, Dr. Cyrus Berry,

Elias Taylor, D. Kent, Stephen Hoit, Jabez Swift,

Bey Saunders, Lewis Swartland, Reuben Beach,

Homer Sackett, and H. N. Comstock.

EARLY MARRIAGES.
" Benj. Hopkins, Rebeckah Gooilricli, Joined in Marage May 8, 1788.

*' Samuol Hopkins, eon to tlie above Parents, Born Apl 5, 1789.

" Ephraim Hubbell & Arus Carter Joined iu Marriage Oct. 15, 1789,

by Peter Starr, Pastor.

" Jonathan Hart & Lucia Clark Joined in Marrage May 2, 1790.

"Isaac Hawcs & Ilaiinali AVliitock Joined in Marrage May 14, 1772.

*' Limaa Hawes, sou to the sd Parents, born Apl 6, 1773."

The first white child born in the town was Rhoda,

daughter of Stephen Paine, who came from Canter-

bury and located near the lake, on Potash Hill.

ORGANIZATION OF THE PARISH AND TOWN.

Warren originally comprised a portion of Kent, and

was organized as the Society of East Greenwich in

1750. It remained as such until 1786, when it was

constituted a town and society by itself, and was

named in honor of Samuel Warren, who fell at

Bunker Hill.

THE FIRST TOWN-MEETING.

The first town-meeting was held June 27, 1786.

The following is the record :

"At a Town meeting legally warned & held in Warren on the 27 Day

of June, A.D. 17SG, In pursuance of a Resolve of the general Assembly

holden at Hartford on the '^d Ihursday of May, 17SG, Incorporating tlie

Eastern part of Kent into a Distinct Town by tlie name of Warren, and

appointing Jedediah Hubbel, Esq"", Moderator, to lead the inhabitants of

Warren to the Choice of necessary Town officers, who preceded as fol-

lows (viz.), and the people

*' Made Choice of Elea/.er Curtiss, Town Clerk.

"Made Choice of Capt. Joseph Carter first Selectman.

"Made Choice m'. Natha" Swift & John Brownson 2^ & 5^ do.

"Made Choice Benoni Carter, Town Treasurer.

" Made Choice of Ward Eldred, first Constable, and Gerehom Holmes 2**.

"Surveyors of Highways for the year insiiing, Benoni Carter, Joseph

AndrouB, John Brownson, Silas Curtis, Bradock Carter, Samuel ^Vhit-

lock, Ju'', Judah Eldred, Silvester Finney, Thomas Beeman, and Philip

Strong, Jur.

" Fence viewers, Benoni Carter, Joseph Peters.

" Leatlier Sealer, Cap'. Joseph Carter.

" Sealer of weights and measures, Benoni Carter.

"Key keeper, Ephraim Tanner.

" Voted, that Eph™ Tanner's East Barn be a Pound.

"Listers, Major Curtiss, Garshom Holmes, & Benoni Carter.

" Grand jourers, Nath" Swift, J'., Ashel Wedg.
" The above is a true Eecord.

" P"^ Eleazer Curtiss, Register.

" Tithing men, Ebenezer Tanner, Luther Comstock.

" At a Town meeting held in Warren on the 27th of June, 178G,

" Voted, that the Select men Settle the line of premblerlation Between

tliis Town and the Town of Kent according to the original agreement of

the Committee appointed by this Town. Kent to ascertain the Dividing

line Between said Towns whenever the Select men of the Town Kent

shall call for a prembulatlon.

" The above is a true Record.

" Eleazer Curtiss, Register."

EXTRACTS FROM TOWN RECORDS.
I

I

"At a Town meeting holden on the 19 day Sep*. 178G, Cap'. Justus

I
Sackett, Moderator.

' Vulcd, that Cap'. Joseph Carter, Cap'. Justus Sackett, and M^or Elea-

I

zer Curtiss, Be a Committee to Settle all Company accounts with Kent &

i
Del'ts that had accrued while the Tow Towns were one, and Divide all

I Joint Stock upon the List agreeable to the Bill in form Constituting War-

I
ren iuto a distinct Town.

" Voted, that the Select men go & Lay out a Road from near Abel

Page's in Litchfield till it intcrceps that from Marsh Forge, and make
such other alterations from there to W"". Spooners iu the Road as they

Shall think necessaiy at their own Discreseion and Defend against Meyer

Welch's suit for s'^ Road in the best manner.

" Voted, that the Select men be instructed to take care of the Town's

Poor at their own Discression,

" Votedy that Sheep Rams be confined from the 20 of Sep*, to the lO^h

of November from runing at Large on pain of the owners paying a fine

of Six Shilings L. m. to the Town Treasurer.

"P'' Eleazer Ci'rtiss, Register.

" At a Town Meeting Legaly warned & held the Eleventh Day Decem-

ber, A.i>. 178G, Voted & made Choice of Eleazer Fjnney, Town Clerk.

" Voted, that Cap'. Joseph Carter be Moderator And Adjourned to thirs-

day the 14 day of Instant December at ten o'clock in the morning. De-

cember 14't' Meet according to AUjuurnnient, Reconsidered the vote

making Eleazer Finney Town Clerk and made Choice of Eleazer Curtiss

Town Clerk for the year insuing.

" Voted, that Cap'. Joseph Carter, Leiu'. Nathaniel SwiP, and John

Brownson be Select men for the year insuing.

" Voted, that Ephraim Tanner be lirst Constable & Gershom Holmes 2*.

" Voted, that Benoni Carter be Town Treasurer.

" Voted, that the Surveyors of Highways for the year insuing be Eleazer

Curtiss, Ju^., Piatt Starr, Ward Eldred, Ebenezer Tanner, Cap'. Carter,

M. Luther Comstock, Joseph Hopkins, Benjamin Duning, Samuel Lettle*

field, Salmon Sackett.

" Voted, that Isaac Haws & James Robins be fence viewers.

** Voted, that Cap'. Joseph Carter be Leather Sealer.

" Voted^ that Ephraim Tanner be Ganger, Packer, Key keeper, and

Sealer of Measurs.

" Voiedt that Gershom Holme, Ebenezer Tanner, & Ward Eldred be

Listers.

" Voted, that Howard Fuller & Ebenezer Hye be gran jourers.

'• Voted, that John Thomas & Alexander Sackett be Tythingmen.

" Voted, Ilia Piatt Starr be Sexton.

" Voted, to Raise three pence on the pound on y^

" Voted, that Gershom Holmes be Collector of

" V' Eleazer Curtiss, Register.

" At a Town Meeting held at Warren on the 12 Day of November, a.d.

1787, for the Purpose of Chosing a Delagate to meet in Convention at

Hartford for taking into Consideration the new proposed Constitution,

Made Choice of Cap'. Sackett, Moderator, and after having Largely De-

bated the matter, the question being put whether they would addopt s''

Constitution or not, & Passed io the affirmative, 40 to 19, after wich they

made Choice of Major Eleazer Curtiss to Represent the Town in said

Convention and adjourned to a day without Date.

"Test, Eleazer Curtiss, Register.

" At a Legal Town Meeting held in Warren on y* 3"* Day of December,

A.n. 1787, for the purpose of (Abusing Town officers, After haveing Chose

Cap'. Joseph Carter, Moderator, Proceeded as follows and Chose the fol-

lowing gentlemen to the following offices in their order (viz):

" Major Eleazer Curtiss, Clerk Cap'. Joseph Carter, 1 Select man ; M'.

Samuel Carter, '2'i Do.; M^. Ebenezer Tanner, 3"* Do.

"M'. Benoni Carter, Treasurer and first Constable.

"Nathaniel Palmer & Reuben Beach, Grandjours.

"Eleazer Curtiss, Ju', & Elisha Eldred, Tythiug men.

"Ebenezer Tanner, Cap'. Curtiss, & John Talniadge, Listers.

" Surveyors of Highways, Alexander Sackett, Truman gilbert, Samuel
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Weston, Samuel TVhitlock, Solomon Carter, Prince Hopkins, John Fin-

ney (3»i), Natb" Johnson, W^* Spoone, Ju', Natli" Spoone, Reuben Beach;

fence viewera, Joseph Peters & Benoni Carter.

" Leather Sealer, Cap'. Carter ; Sealer of measurs, Eph™ Tanner; Key

keeper, Eph"* Tanner; Sexton, Piatt Starr.

" Voted, to Leave the Destricting of the Surveyors and the Care of the

poor at the Discressiou of the Select men.
" Test, Eleazer Cuktiss, Register.

" At a Town Meeting held in Warren on the 20 day uf March, 1788,

Esq' Sackett, Moderator.

" Voted, that Every Surveyor of Highways in the Town of Warren Shall

go out with all the men in His District on the Road from Abel Page's till

it Intersects the Road that Leads from Warren to Marshes Iron Works

one Day this Spring as soon as may be Conveniant.

" Voted, that Cap'. Carter be an Agent to Carry the Town Vote to Major

Welch & See if he will withdraw bis action against the Town, if not, to

take Care of it at the Court.

" Voted, to abate on Elezer Finney's Town Rate Bill, Nathan Wheeler's

Rate of 3«. 6d., & Daniel Page's of 4s. 3d.

"And to rectify two Mistakes with the Town of Kent with Respect to

the Kents Bates, & James Hucorn & amiriah Lion's Bate being an over

Charge.

"Test, Eleazer Curtiss, Register.

" At a Town meeting legally warned & held in Warren on the 13th

Day of October, 1788,

" Voted, & made choice of Cap*. Joseph Carter, Moderator. Also

" Voted, & made Choice of Gershom Holmes, Town Clark.

" Also Voted, that James Robens & Ezekiel Palmer & Pebody Smith A.-

Daniel Comstock's Town Bates be Abated.

"Also Voted, that this meting be Desolved.

"Test, Gershom Holmes, Register.

"At a Town meeting legally warned & holden in Warren on the first

day December, A.n. 1788, Captain Joseph Carter, Moderator of s*' Meeting.

" Voted, made Choice of Cap*. Gershoui Holmes, Town Clerk.

^' Voted, to raise one penny half penny on the pound on the list 1788,

Peleg Holms to collect s** Rate.

"Then proceeded & made choice of the following Gentlemen for Town

Officers for the Insuing year (viz.)

:

"Select men, Cap*. Joseph Carter, M'. Samuel Carter, M'. Bubon Sack-

ett; M'. Epbraim Tanner, Town Treasurer; Joseph Peters, first Consta-

ble; Ward Eldred, 2^-^ Do. Also Voted, & Made choice of the following

Gentlemen for surveyors of Highways (viz)

:

"Misters John Brownson, Amos Fuller, Augiistin Curtis, Pebody Smith,

Gershom Holmes, Peleg Brownson, Samuel Carter, Jun*^, Ward EUtrud,

Elijah Hopkins, Tninian Beemau, Isaac Wedges, Cap". Joseph Carter,

William Stone, Jun'.

" Also Made Choice of Cap'. Joseph <'artor, Leather sealer.

"Also Made Choice of Homer Sackett, Epbraim Tanner, fence Viewers.

"Also Voted, made Choice of John Tallmade, Ward Eldred, Phinehaa

Catlin, Peleg Sturtavant, Natlianiel Swift, Gr* Listers.

" Also made Choice of Asael Weilges, Josiah Webb, Grand Jurj-rs.

"Also Ephraim Tanner, Kee keeper, & John Tallmadge, sealer of Waits

& Measures; Kliaha Eldred, Packer; Eli.is Taylour, Sylvester Finney,

Tithing men. Also Tniman Beeman, Tithing man for the Baptist Society.

"Also Made Choice of Peleg Holmes, Town Collector.

"Also Voted, to Raise a penny halfpenny on the pound on the List 1788.

" Also Voted, that there be a sign-post Erected Near the House of Elno-

than Mitihel, in Warren, iu Order to set up warnings for Town A Free-

man's Meetings.

"Also Vot'-d, that the Selectmen act Discretionary In Districting the

surveyors of Highways.
" Also mode choice of Nathaniel Swift, Jnn', Peleg Sturtavant, Joseph

Potors, Benoni Carter, Beiij. Duning, Cap'. Carter, Gershom Holmes a

committee to District tlie Town for Schooling.

" Vot^d, that this Meting be Adjourned to the next Freeman's meting

day after Freeman's Meting is over immediately.

" Test, GRB8II0U Holmes, Beglslcr.

"At a Town Meting Holden by Adjournment lo Warren '£2^^ of De-

cember, 1788, Cap'. Joseph Carter, Moderator.

" Voted, made Choke of Nathaniel Swift, Jun', Pelog Sturtavant, Jos«ph

Potere, School Cummlttoo.

" Vottd, thot the Select men act discretionary with Regard to the Town

Poor.

" Voted, that a B^ite of one penny on the pound on the List of 1788 bo

rftlwd, i>ayablo In Wheet, Kye, Indian Corn, Buck wheot, St Bard Iron,

to be Delivered at the House of M'. Ephraim Tanner, Beceiver of s** Bate,

to be paid in January, a.d. 1790, at the prices Affixt to those Articles by

Mess. Joseph Peters, Peleg Sturtavant, & Nathaniel Swift, Ju', Committee

for the purpose.

" Voted, Ephraim Tanner be Store keeper to Beceive the above s^ Rate.

" Voted, Joseph Carter be Collector for the special tax for the Town.
" Voted, to Except the doings of the committee for Districting the Town

for Schooling.

" Voted^ that the Money Drawn from the State Treasurer in order for

Schooling be divided According to the number of Schoolars in Each

Destrict.

" Voted, that Simon Newcom's Rate be abated on the Pool tax on Elea-

zer Finney's Bill.

" Voted, that this Meeting be Desolved.

"Attest, Gershom Holmes, Register.

" At a Town meting holden at Warren on Monday the 7th of December,

1789, Cap'. Joseph Carter, Moderator of s<i meting, Gershom Holmes, Clerk.

Voted, & made choice of the following Gentlemen: Select men. Mess.

Samuel Carter, Buben Sackett, John Brownson.
" Voted, Made Choice of M^ Ward Eldred, first constable ; M'. Ephraim

Tanner, 2^ Constable.

"Surveyors, Mess. Jolin Tallmadge, Peleg Sturtavant, Samuel Carter,

Sylvester Finney, Joseph Peters, Abel Beeman, Peleg Holmes, Josiah

Webb, Eleazer Curtis, Phinehas Catlin, Levy Palmerly, William Stone.

"Fence Viewers, M'. Joseph Peters, M'. Homer Sackett.

" Listers, Mess. Phinihas catlin, Joseph Peters, John Tallmadge, Peleg

Holmes, Benjamin Carter.

" Made choice of Cap'. Joseph Carter, Leather sealer.

"Grundjurers, Decon Ebenezer Tanner, M'. Phinehas Catlin.

"tithing men, Buben Beath, Nathaniel Johnson, M. Luther Comstock,

Joseph Carter.

" Elisha Eldred, Packer; Joshua P. lies, sealer of Measures.

"M'. Ephraim Tanner, Uee keeper. Voted, that M'. Samuel Carter

shall have the state money that is now in the Treasurer at five shillings

on the pound in cash. Except what the Town Owes the e^ Carter, that to

be six shillings on the pound.

" Voted, to raise one penny on the i>ouiid on the list 1789, Payable In

Jenuary, 1701, in the same species that the tax Is to be paid in the year

1790. V'o(«i,that the tax raised on the Ratable Estate of Samuel Morris,

now Deceased, be Abated on Eleazer Finney's Bill.

" Voted, to a(\journ this Meting to a day with out date.

" .\tiest, Gershom Holmes, Register.

"At a Town meting Legally Warn'' & holden In Warren at tlie Meting

on April the 12 doy 1791.

" Made Choice of Capt, Joseph Carter, Moderator.

" Votett, made choice of Mem. Nathaniel Swift, Peleg Sturtavant, Jo-

seph Peters, Committee to Draw the School Money. Po/ed, to pay out

the School Money According to the l\dl. Vote^t, to Dissolve sd Meting.

"Attest, Gershom Holmes, Clerk.

" At a Town Meting Legally warned & Holden In Warren, September

14*h, 1790, Made Choice of Cap'. Joseph 4'arter, Moderator.

" Vottd, to Direct the Select men of the Town of Warren to act Dis-

cretionary with the Town of Kent With Regard to Alice Yong.

" Voted, to Dissolve Said Meting.

" Att A Town Metiog Legally warn-* A Holden Id Warren, Octolier 21'*^

A.D. 1790.

" Capt. Joseph Carter, Moderator.

*' Voted, to A4JourD s^ Meting to a day without date.

"Gershom Hoijies, T. Clerk.

" At a Town meting legally warn* A Holden in Warren, December 6'^,

A.D. 1790, CopV Joseph Carter, Moderator. Proceadcd made Choice of

Gershom Holmes, Town Clork.

" VoUd^ made Choice of Ephmim Tanner, Treasurer.

"Made Choice of the following Jentlenieu Seloctmeo (vU) : Cap*. Jo-

seph Carter, M"». Samuel Carter, Huwunl Fuller.

"Conslablce, Made Choice of U"*. Benoui Carter, Na*. Spooner, la

room of Ward Eldred, Excused.

" VoUd, made choice of Joseph Peters, Nathaniel Juhnsoo, Grand

Jurors.

" Voted, made choice of EHsha Eldre<l, Salmon Sackett, Tlthingmen.

" Surveyors of Highways, Mwr. Anion Swan, Thomas Iterman, Truman

Gill>crt, Elisha Kldred, Klius Taylor, Judar Eldred, James Roldns, Na*.

Spooner, Pebody Smilh, Ebin Strong, Jowjph Carter, Elnatbau Palmer.

' " Vottd, that the Select Men District the Surveyors.
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" Voted, made choice of Joseph Peters, BeiijamiD Carter, James Robins,

Isaac Hawes, Peleg Holmes, Doc. El(° Beeman, Listers.

" Made Choice of Nathaniel Swift, Esq^ Joseph Peters, School Com-

mittee.

"Capt. Joseph Carter, Leather Sealer; Joseph Peters, Homer Sackctt,

fence Viewers; HI^ Ephraim Tanner, keeper.

" Voted, that there be a District formed for Schooling Called by the

name of Town hill District, taking in Wido Pandos East line to Thad.

Peels, then to Kents, then to Isaac Wedges, then to Augustin Curtises,

then to the fii-st Bounds.

" Voted, to Recnnsider the penny rate Raised on the list 1789, payable

in January, 1791.

" Voted, to Direct the Select men to lay out a Highway from James

Bobbinses to Plat Starrs.

" Voted, to Adjourn said Meting to day without date.

"At a Town Meting Legally warnd and llolden in Warren on Monday
the Eleventh day of April, 1791, Made choice of Joseph Carter, Moderator.

*' Voted, to prefer a Mcmoral to the General Assembly to see if the As-

sembly will giv liberty to the Town of Warren to Tax them selves, in

order to do their Highway work.
'* Voted, to send Esq. Swift as agent to transact the Business of said

MeDiorat.

" Voted, to giv liberty to Doc*. Syrus Berry to Bet up anoculation under

the Direction uf tlie Athority & Select men of the Town of Warren.
*' Voted, to DisBolve this Metiug.

" Gkhshom Holmes, Town Clerk.

" At a Town Meting Legally warn'd & holden in Warren the 5^^ day of

December, 1791.

"Proceaded to Business & Made Choice of M'. Samuel Carter, Modera-

tor. Also made Clioice of Gershoni Holmes, Town Clerk ; said Holmes

being absent, BI'. Ephraim Tanner was chosen Clerk Protemry.

"Then proceaded & made choice of Joseph Carter, Samuel Carter, &
Howard Fuller, Select men.

" Voted, to Excuse M^ Samuel Carter from Ser\'ing on his own Desire

as Select man; then made choice of M^ Eben'' Tanner for the Third

Select man.
" Voted, & made clioice of Ephraim Tanner, Town Treasurer. Also

made choice of Ephraim Tanner A Na'. S[>uoner, C-onstables.

*' Voted, A made choice of the following Persons for surveyors of High-

ways (viz)

:

"Isaac Hawea, M. Luther Comstock, Milton Curtis, Benoni Carter,

Salmon Brownson, Augubtin Curtiss, Adonijah Carter, Asael Wedge, Jo-

Bflph Carter, Ju% Na^ Junson, Joseph Bunoel, Ti'uman Beeman, Isaac

Wedge.

"Made choice of Alexander Sackett, Thomas Beeman, Grand Juror*.

"Made choice of Josipli Peters & Homer Sackett, Fence Viewers.

" Voted, & made choice of the following gentlemen for Lysters (viz):

Beuoni Carter, James Robins, John Brownson, Peleg Holmes, Benjamin

Carter.

"Made choice of Joseph Carter, Leather sealer.

" Voted, made choice of Phinihas Peck, Ebenf Tanner, Silas Curtiss,

Asael Wedge, Tithingmen.
" Made choice of John Tallmadge, sealer of waits and Meaaurs, & Eph™.

Tanner, kee keeper.

" Voted, to raise A Rate of one penny on the pound on the list 1791 and

made choice of Mr. Na'. Spooner, Town Collector. Made choice of Peleg

Sturtavant, Nathaniel Swift, & Joseph Peters, Committee to Draw the

School money from the State Treasurer. Also,

"Made choice of Elijah Hopkins, Wm. Hitchcock, Amos Swan, Piatt

Starr, Peleg Sturtavant, Na'. Swift, Elias Taylor, Peleg Holmes, Committee

to Draw the Money for Each District. Also made choice of the Last

mentioned Conmiittee to Regulate the Several Districts for Schooling

& to Report to the Meting their Doings Monday next Insuing.

*' Voted, that Samuel Whitlock he anext to the North West District for

Schooling. Voted, to adjourn this Meting to Next Monday, to be At-

tended Immediately after Society Meting.

"Gershom Holmes, Town Clerk.

"Attest, Ephraim Tanner. Clerk Protemry.

"Town Meting Opened Acording to Adjournment.

"Voted, made choice of Piatt Starr & Daniel Beeman, nextons.

"Voted, to Desolvc this meeting.

"Gershom Holmes, Town Clerk.

**Eph™. Tanner, Clerk Protemry.

"At a Town Meting Hold":" in Warren, December S'"*, A.n. 1792.

" M'. Samuel Carter, Moderator; Gershom Holmes, Town Clerk.

"Cap'. Joseph Carter, Mrssrs. Howard Fuller, Ebenr Tanner, Select

men. Made choice of M'. Samuel Spooner, first Constable; M"". Piatt

Starr, 2""^ Constable.

"Listers, Mrssre. Peleg Holmes, Lysander Curtiss, John Tallmadge,

Judah Eldred, Eben' Beeman.
" Grand Juriman, IV^rssrs. Benj. Carter, Truman Beeman ; Tithingmen,

Mrssrs. Samuel Ehlred, Ehen Strong, Park Beeman.
"Capt. Eph™ Tanner, Treasurer. Voted, to Excuse Cap*. Tanner on his

Own Request. Made choice of Gershom Holmes, Treasurer, in room of

s'l Tanner, Excused.

" Surveyors, Mrssrs. David Taylor, Homer Sackett, Lysaunder Curtiss,

Berzillia Carter, Samuel Carter, Ju', Na*. Spooner, Samuel Morriss, Nathan

Aulgar, Elias Taylor, Luis Sweatland, Derius Kent.

"Keykeeper, Cap^ Ephn> Tanner.
" Sealer of Leather, Cap^ Joseph Carter.

" Fence Viewers, Homer Sackett, Abel Fuller.

"Sealer of waits, Joseph Peters.

"Sealer of Measurs, John Tallmadge.

"Voted, that the Select men be Authorized to act Discressionary with

Regard to the Town pool". Also to Destrict the Surveyors of Highways.

"Made choice of M'- Elisha Eldred, packer.

"Committee to draw School Money, Mrssm. Ephraim Tanner, Na*. Swift,

Na*. Spooner.

" Made clioice of M'. Piatt Starr, Town Collector. Voted, to abate M'.

Benj. Saunders' Town rate of two shillings & \d.,—2«. Id.

" Also Voted, to Abate A rate against Peter Fleming of Is. 0.

"Voted, to give Doctor Heman N. Comstock Liberty to set up a pest

House where & under the Direction of the Select men.
" To(ec/, to give James Rubins fourteen Dollars in order to pay Doctor

Crouse, & then Voted to Reconsider said Vote, & Voted to Leve it with the

Select men to settle the matter at Discression.

"Voted, to leve it Desci'esionary with the Select men to Lay out a road

Acrose Town Hill to Pratt's Iron Works.
" Voted, to Dissolve said Meting.

" Gershom Holmes, Town Clerk.

" Att a Town Meting Legally Warn"* & Holden in Warren on Monday
the Eighth day of Apnl, a.d. 1793.

" Made Choice of Joseph Carter, Moderator of s^ Meting.

" Voted, made choice of Messrs. Ruben Sackett, Peleg Sturtavant, How-

ard Fuller, Na'. Swift, Joseph Peters, Samuel Carter, Committee to Agree

with Rev*. Peter Starr for a piece of land in front of the Meting House in

way of Exchange. Voted, to Adjourn s^ Meting for ten minutes. Opened

according to Adjornment.

"Voted, to Except the doings of s<* Committee.

" Voted, to adjourn s^ Metiug to a day without Date.

"Gershom Holmes, Town Clerk.

"At a Town Meting Legallj' Warn*' & Holden in Warren on Monday

the e'l" day of May, 1793.

" Cap'. Joseph Carter, Moderator.

" Voted, to Discontinue the Small pox Till further orders.

" Attest, Gershom Holmes, Town Clerk.

"At a Town Meting legally warned & holden in Warren, September

16">, 1783.

" Made Coice of Joseph Carter, Moderator.

"Voted, to Establish the road that was laid out a crose Town hill, bo

called, in December, 1792.

"Voted, to Dissolve s*^ Meting.
" Gershom Holmes, Town Clerk.

" M'. Nathan Holmes Agrees to give, in way of exchange, a new road

from M'. Saunders to bis House & so past his house till it comes in to the

old road. Done in Town Meting.

" Attest, Gershom Holmes, T. Clerk.

"At a Town meting Holden in Warren, December 2»»*', 1793, Nathaniel

Swift, Esq', Moderator; Gershom Holmes, Clerk.

" Made choice of Mrssrs. Joseph Carter, Howard Fuller, Ebenezer Tan-

ner, Selectmen.

"Voted, Made choice af Piatt Starr, Lysaunder Curtis, Constables.

"Grandjurors, Eben Strong, Samuel Eldred.

"Listei-s, Mrssrs. Juder Eldred, Lysaunder Curtis, Nathaniel Spooner,

Luther Comstock, Samuel Hawes.

"Tithingmen, Augustin Curtiss, Benjamin Sackett, George Thomson.

"Fence viewers, Samuel Weston, Benjamin Sackett.

" Voted, made choice of Cap'. J. Carter, Leather sealer ; Cap*. Tanner,

Kee keeper, made choice of Elisha Eldred, packer.
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"Sextons, Daniel Beeman, Piatt Starr.

"Voted, to adjoin s"* Meting to Wednes day the 11th Day of Ins'. De-

cember.
"Gf.rshom Holmes, Clerk.

"December IT***, Town meting Open'' according to Adgournment.

Proceaded & made choice of Gershom Holmes, Town Treasurer.

"Voted, & made clioice of Na*. Swift, Esqr, Mrssrs. Eph™. Tanner, Piatt

Starr, School Committee; M"". Lysaunder Curtis, Town Collector.

"Surveyors of Highways, Mrssrs. Ward Eldred, Ruben Beach, John

Tallmadge, Cyrus Berry, Elijah Hopkins, Angustin Curtiss, Eben Strong,

Austin Bishop, Isaac Wedge, John Cummins, Josiah Webb, Caleb Towrys,

Nathaniel Johnson, Theral Gilbourn.

"Voted, to Authorise the Select men to Destrict the Surveyors.

"Voted^ to raise three farthings on the pound on the List one thousen

seven Hundred & Ninty three, to Defray Town charges the Insuing year,

then

" Voted, to dissolve s* Meting. "Gershom Holmes, Reg''.

"September 15'>>, 1794.

"At a Town Meting Holdon in Warren, Opened Immediately after

Freeman's Meting, According to the Warning on s"* Day, Made Choice of

Cap*. Joseph Carter, Moderator, then Adjuurn'is^ Meting to A day without

Date.
" Gershom Holmes, Town Clerk.

" At A Town meeting Legally "WarnM & holden in Warren on Monday
the 1" day of December, llHi.

" Cap'. Joseph Carter Chosen Moderator.

"The following persons W^re then Chosen by the freemen to the sev-

eral offices, as followith, viz.:

" Mess". Joseph Carter, Judah Eldred, & Juseph Peters, Select Men.

"John Tallmadge, Town Clerk & Town Treasurer.

"Mess". Lysaiider Curtis, Samuel Eldred, Constables.

"Mess". Benjamin Sacket, Ephraim Tanner, Asahel Fuller, Asahel

Wedge, John Finney, Samuel Eldred, Abuer Everitt, Stephen Strong,

Cyrus Herry, Benjamin Hopkins, Nathan Algar, Jacob Cumings, Stephen

Wedge, for Surveyors of Highways.

"Mess". Benjamin Sackett & Samuel Weston, Fence Viewers.

"Mess". Martin Luther Conistock, Nathaniel Spooner, Samuel Uawa,

Reuben Beach, Alux^ Sacket, Listei's.

" Samuel Eldred, Collector of the Town Rate.

"Cap*. Joseph Carter, Leather Sealer.

"Piatt Starr & Peleg Holmes, Grand Jurors.

" William Ilitclicock, M. Luther Comstock, Isaac Wedges, Tithing men.

"Elishu Eldred, Packer.

"Joseph Burnet, Sealer of Weights.

"John Tallmadge, Sealer of Measures.

" Ephraim Tanner, Key keeper.

" Piatt Starr, Sexton.

" Voted, To raise a Town Rate of Three Farthings on the pound on the

List of one thousand seven huuiH & Ninety four, toilefray Town Charges.
*' Voted, That the Select Men take Charge of the Burying grouud near

the meeting House, fur the purpose of pnting it in fence i repair, the

front next to the Strt-ot to have a pine lK>urd fence, with Sills & Braces.

" Voted,T\iat the old Highway leading from M'. Joseph Bennot's to

M'. David Taylor's, from a few Rods North of s"^ Bennot's until it comes

to a point where the New Road, leading by Jabe/. Swift's, Joins to a'l old

Highway, Be Sold liy the Select Men, The avails to pay for the u"' New
Road, or be for the Benefit of the Town.

" Voted, That Daniel Page's Town Rate on Lysandor Curtls's Rate bill

be Abated.

" Voted, That Nathaniel Swift, Ebenezer Tanner, & Piatt Starr bo a

Committee to draw the School money.
*' At^joumed Sini Dei.

"Test, John Tallmadok, Reg'.

"At a Town Meeting Legally Warn'd and holden in Warren on 'Mon-

day the 4*'' day May, nor^.

" L* Samuel Carter Chosen Moderator.

" Voted, that all the Votes passed last December respecting the burying

ground be recorisiUer'd.

" Volt'il, that the Select Men bo directed (o apply for and obtain a Deed

of the burying ground, near the meeting house, of the ownorH of tlio

8amu, and give a lease of the improvement of the Same to the Rev' Peter

Sturr, his beire nii<l Attsigns, upon obtaining b'' Deed, I'lidor such ro^trlc-

lions as shall be agreed on by the Revi Peter Starr A the s^ Soloctmon,

A when this buslne»s is so finlsh'd, the Selectmen bo directed then to

build a icoud Stone Wall iu front of s'l Burying ground.

" Adjouru'd.
"Test, John Tallmapoe, Town Clerk.

" At a Town Meeting Legally warn'd and holden in Warren on Mon-

day the Seventh day of December, 1795.

" Samuel Carter Chosen Moderator,

" Voted, To purchase the highway through William Spooner's Land as

appris'd by Mess''^. Eli Thompson and Daniel Beebe, viz., at £8 0.

"The following appointments were made :

"Mess". L*. Samuel Carter, Cap*. Peleg Sturtavant, &. L*. Ebenezer

Tanner, Select Men.

"John Tallmadge, Town Clerk & Town Treasurer.

"Samuel Eldred, Reuben Beach, Constables.

"Nathaniel Spooner, Milton Curtis, Grand Jurors.

"Cyrus Berry, Alexander Sacket, Abel Fuller, William B. Spencer,

Levi Shove, Seth Kent, John Thomas, David Webb, Benjamin Carter,

Eben Strong, Asa Turney, Josiah Webb, Nathaniel Lyon, Jeremiah Giles,

Surveyore of Highways.

"Samuel Weston, Benjamin Sacket, Fence Viewers.

"Nathaniel Spooner, M. Luther Comstock, Samuel Haws, Reuben

Beach, Alex*^ Sacket, Listers.

"Reuben Beach, Collector of Town Taxes.

" Cap*. Joseph Carter, Leather Sealer.

" Salmon Brunson, Joseph Bennet, Benjamin Saunders, Tithing men.

"Elisha Eldred, Wheeler Gillet, Jun% Packers.

"Cap*. Josepli Carter, Key keeper.

" Piatt Starr, Daniel Beeman, Sextons.

" Voted, that Cap'. Joseph Carter's Barn Yard be considered as a Pound

for the Current Year.

" Voted, To lay and Collect a tax of half a penny on the pound on the

list of 1795.

" Voted, To authorize & empower the Authority & Selectmen to make

the Necessary Abatements on Samuel Eldred's Rate Bill.

"Adjourned.
" Test, John TALLMAnoE, Register.

"At a Town Meeting Legally waru'd A holden at Warren on Slonday

the 11th day of April, 1796.

"Nathaniel Swift, Esq'', Moderator.

" Voted, That Moses Eldred be apiMiinted a Surveyor for the North Dis-

trict, in the Lieu of John Thomas, Removed.

"Justus Sacket, Es<l^ Reuben Sacket, Joseph Peters, Samuel Caiier, &
John Tallmiidgo are request to Confer with Jabez Swift respecting the

Highway by his House.

"Adjourn'd. Test, John Tallmadok, Reg'.

"At a Town Meeting held in Warren by Legal Warning on Monday

the lO*** day of Sept', 1790, Cap*. Joseph Carter, Sloderator.

" Voted, That L*. Samuel Carter, John Tallmadge, and Adauljah Carter

be a Committee tu exuniinu into the propriety o( Laying out a Rt-iml from

from this place through Washington to Derby A New Haven, A Report to

the Select-Men; if in fav of «<' Road's bring Laid out, thou tlio Select-

men are Requested to Cull on the Select-men of Washington tu Lay out

S'l Road where It passus through S'' Town.
" Voted, That the Above S** Committee be requesteil to View the Road

Leading from John Finney's to Stephen Strong's, & Report to the Town

meeting whether alterations iu S<* Koad are nocosBarj or nut.

" Adjourn'd.
"Tost, John Tallhaimk, Register.

" At a Tow n Meeting Legally Warn'd & holden at Warren, October 31,

1796.

" Cap*. Joseph Carter, Moderator.

" Voted, tn iwstiwne t!ie further contiMemtlon of the propriety A expe-

diency of laying out a Road through the South East part of this Town,

from College farms to Washington line, I'ntil the Annual Meeting In De-

cember Next.
" Adjourn'd.

"Test, John Tallmadok, Register.

"At a Town Meeting Legally Warn'd A holden at Warren on the b^

day of December, 1706.

"Cap*. Joseph Carter, Modenit*>r.

"The following apiiointnients wore made:
" L*. Samuel Carter, Cap*. Joseph Carter, Judah Eldred, Select-men.

"John Taltmadge, Town Clerk and Town Tronsurer.

" Homer Sacket, Piatt Starr, Constables.

"David Taylor, Josiah Webb, Salmon Sackett, Amos Swan, Nezlali

Bliss, Augustine Cunifl.Samuel Weston, Stephen Blake, John Tallmadge,

Peatiody Smith, Ebon Stmng. Levi Palmorlo«, Surveyoreof lllghunys.

"Samuel Weston. ltpnj> Sacket, Fence View ere.

"Samuel Haws, Salmon Sacket, Samuel EldrtHl. Joseph Bennet, .\bner

Everett, Listen.
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"Piatt Starr, Town Rate Collector.

"Cap*. Joseph Carter, Leather Sealer & Key Keeper.

"Solomon Carter, Samuel Carter, Jun', Grand Jurors.

"Lysauiier Curtis, Tlieral Kilborn, Tything-meu.

"Tibbels Baldwin, Packer.

" Voted, To Allow the Widow Green Twelve Dollars in full for the Dam-
age she sustainM in her furniture & KflFecIs at the Bridge Neare Moses

Hawley 'a.

'* Voted, That Benjamin Satket, Nathaniel Spooner, Thomas Beeman,

& Joseph Peters be a Committee, with the Authority & Select men to Dis-

trict the Town for Highway work, to remain until revoak'd by the Town.
" Voleil, To Raise or Lay a Tax of one penny on the Pound ou the list

of Augt.

" Voted, To Abate David Hitchcock's Rate of Is. & William Hitchcock's

Rate of Is. Id. on Reuben Beach's Ralebill.

*' Voted, To pay M^ Samuel Eldred for Warning a Meeting of the School

Society, the demand to l>e Li<iuidatod & Allowed by the Select-men.
" Voted, To Accept of the Road lately laid out by Samuel Carter, John

Tallmadge, & Adanijah Carter, as Committee, near Stephen Ferris', as

an Highway.
"Test, John Tallmad ;e. Register.

"At a Town meeting Legally Warn'd & holden in Warren, Feb'y 9">,

1797.

"Samuel Carter, Moderator,

" Voted, To give Nine pence for every Crow that is Killed within tJie

limits of this town, from this time to the first day of July next, & the

Head thereof dolvJ to the Town treasurer.

" Test, Ebenezer Tanner, Clerk Pro Tem.

"At a Town meeting Legally warn'd &. holden at Warren, Api-il lO'h,

1797.

" Samuel Carter, Moderator.

" Voted, That this Town will lay out a Road from the Forks of the

Road Eastwardly from Cap*. Abnor Averitt's, on the South Side of the

Swamp, Near Hea biooU, to Washington line.

" Voted, To ApointElenezer Tanner a Surveyor for s"! Road, & to super-

intend the laying out the work on b*" Road, included in a Subscription for

that purpose.

" Voted, to Refer to the Selectmen the propriety of Abating the Rates

of Joseph Crofut on Piatt Starr's Rate bill.

" Voted, To give Liberty to the Widow Sarah Fuller to build an House
on the High Way, the East Side of the Road, about Nortiieast from John
Bruneon's Dwelling house, where the Ceasar house stood.

" Voted, to Adjourn.
" Test, John Tallmadge, Clerk.

" At a Towii meeting Legally warn'd and holden in Warren on the 2°^

day of May, 1797.

" Voted, That they will Reconsider the Vote that was pass'd in Town
meeting the lO"* day of April last, which Vote was to lay out a Road from

the Forks of the Road Eastwardly from Cap'. Abner Everett's to Wash-
ington line.

" Test, Nath' Spooner, Clerk Pro Tem.

" At a Town Meeting Legally Warn'd & holden at Warren un the 25'h

day of Sept% 1797.

" Justus Sacket, Esq"", Moderator.

" Voted, to Direct the Select Men to make Such alterations in the Road
between Cap*. Everitt's & the four Roads East of s'* Everitt's as tliey shall

think best, provided the same can be dune without Expense to the Town.
" Voted, To direct the Select Men to lay out a Road from the Crotch of

the Road below Joseph Peters' House, thence Southerly through s<* Pe-

ters' & Asaliel Widg's Land, & by s** Widg's House through the College

land to the Road leading by W'™. B. Spencer's.

" Adjourn'd.
"Test, John Tallmadge, Clerk.

"At a Town Meeting Legally warn'd & holden at Warren, Dec. 4ti>, 1797.

"Samuel Carter, Moderator.

" The following persons were appointed to office :

" L'. Samuel Carter, Judah Eldred. Peleg Holmes, Select Men.
"John Tallmadge, Town Clerk & Town Treasurer.

" Piatt Starr, Josiah Finney, Constables.

"Joseph Burnet, Augustine Curtis, Grand Jurors.

"Samuel Carter, Jun'', Nathaniel Swift, Esq', Benjamin Sacket, Daniel

Hines, Solomon Carter, Theral Kilborn. Nathaniel Johnson, Nathan Al-

gar, John Williams, Asahel Widge, Benjamin Swan, Jehiel Kilborn, Ly-
sander Curtis, Abner Everett, Neziah Bliss, Isaac Wedge, Surveyor of

Highways.

"Samuel Weston, Benjamin Sacket, Fence Viewers.

"Samuel Eldred, Joseph Bennet, Abner Everett, Howard Fuller, An-
thonj' P, Hopkins, Listers.

"Josiah Finney, Collector Town Rate.

" Howard Fuller, Leather Sealer.

"Amos Strong, James Beardslee, Tything Men.
" Tibbels Baldwin, Packer,

" James Beardslee, Key keeper, & his Barn-Tard & Stable a Pound.
"Phttt Starr, Daniel Beeman, Sextons.

" Voted, to Abate Six Shillings for Sam' Eldred.

" Voted, To Raise a Rate of Five Mills on the Dollar on the List of 1797.

" Voted, to Direct the Select Men tn lay out a Road to the Mill Across

Cap'. Tanner's & M"-. Andrus's Land, from the Highway East of Cap*.

Tanner's, If they think it expedient.

" Voted, to give Liberty to the Inhabitants of the Town to Erect Sab-

bath Day Houses, or Horssheds, on tlie Sides of the Highway Near the

meeting House, under the Direction of the Select Men.
" Adjourn'd Sine Dei.

" John Tallmadge, Clerk.

" At a Town Meeting Legally Warn'd & holden at Warren on Monday
the 12t'' day of March, 1798.

" Samuel Carter, Moderator.

" Voted, To appoint a Committee to examine the ground & Report the

Practiliility & propriety of laying out a Ruad from the Centre of this

Town, or Near Parson Starr's, to the Southerly part of the Town, so as to

accomodate the Road leading to New Milford <t Washington, & Report to

this Meeting at the time to which it may be adjourn'd.

" Voted, That Nathaniel Swift, John Tallmadge, Joseph Peters, Adanijah

Carter, Ebenezer Tanner, Ashel Wedge, Cyrus Berry, Abner Everett.

Ward Eldred, & Piatt Starr, With the Select Men, be a Committee for the

purposes above exprees'd. (Meet the 1*' thursday, April next, at Piatt

Starr's.)

" Voted, To give Liberty to the Physicians of this Town to inoculate for

the Small Pox any of tlie Inhabitants that may wish to take it, under

the direction of the Autliority & Select-men, for one year from this Date.

Also tlie Inhabitants of any other Town, who may obtain permission

therefore from the Select-men.

" Voted, To adjourn until Freeman's Meeting day, in April next, to be

Open'd immediately after Freeman's Meeting.

" Test, John Tallmadge, Town Clerk.

"At an adjourn'd Town Meeting April ^'^, 1798.

" Voted, that Jacob Comings be a Surveyor highways the insueiug year

in the lieu of Benjamin Swan, who has Sold his farm & expects to leave

this Town.
" Voted, to discontinue the Small Pox in this town from this date.

" Adjourn'd Sine Dei

" John Tallmadge, Town Clerk.

" At a Town Meeting Legally Warn'd &. Holden at Wa^iTen on Monday
the 3''*' day of December, 1798.

"Nathaniel Swift, Esquire, Moderator.

'John Tallmadge chosen town clerk.

" Voted, to appoint

"Samuel Carter, Judah Eldred, Peleg Holmes, Select Men,
" John Tallmadge, Town Treasurer.

"Josiah Finney, Benj" Carter, Constables.

"Samuel Weston. Adanijah Carter, Fence Viewers.

" Darius Carter, Joseph Tayloi-, Arnold Saunders, James Kidney, Jacob

Cumins, Jun'', Timothy Palmerlee, Matthew Algar, Jun', Joseph Bennet,

Josiah Finney, Nath' Spooner, Peabody Smith, Stephen Strong, Anthony

P. Hopkins,.Joseph Peters, Newton J. Morris, Milton Curtis, Surveyors

of Highways.
" Joseph Peters, Anthony P. Hopkins, Piatt Starr, Josiah Finney,

Arnold Saunders, Listers.

" Benjamin Carter, Collector Town Tax.

"Howard Fuller, Leather Sealer.

"Salmon Sacket, Jabez Swift, Giand Jurors.

"Samuel Carter, Jun', Joseph Taylor, Tithing Men.
" Piatt Starr & Danrel Beeman, Sextons.

"
• Haward, Reconsider'd.

"Tibels Baldwin, Packer.

"Solomon Carter, Key-keeper, & his Barn Yard a Pound.

"Isaac Wedge, Key-keeper, & his Barn Yard a Pound.

" Benjamin Carter & Eben*^ Tanner are appointed a Committee to Draw

the school money of the State.

" Voted, to Raise a Tax of three Mills on the Dollar on List of 1798.
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" Voted, That one Sett of the Laws of the United States, & one of the

Statute Law of tin's State, he circulated in the Town for the use of tlio

Inhabitants, to be drawn out, one Vol. at a time, by one person, & re-

turned within one montli from the Drawing.
'* Voted, to Adjourn'd until Freeman's Meeting in April Next, then to

be openM at this place after s^ Meeting.

"Test, John TALLMAnoE, Clerk."

CONGREGATIONAL CHURCH.*

. "Six years previous to the organization of this

church an ecclesiastical society was formed here, in

July, 1760, called the Society of East Greenwich. It

was a part of the town of Kent. In fact, it is said

that the town of Kent was first settled in this part in

1737, and that the first white child in that town was
born within our limits. This first child, born in 1738,

seems to have been quite a historical character. Her
father, Mr. Stephen Paine, came from Canterbury

and located near the lake, on Potash Hill. His
daughter Rhoda was not only the first in point of

time, but she was also one of the first in the order of

strength, being, as the story goes, ' able to lift a barrel

of cider into a cart.'

"This society remained a part of Kent until May,
1786, when it was constituted a town and society by
itself, receiving its name after Gen. Warren, who fell

so valorously in the battle of Bunker Hill.

"The church was organized in 1750, with a mem-
bership of eighteen, twelve males and six females.

The first pastor, ordained on the 29th of June, 1757,

at which time the church was admitted into the

Litchfield Consociation, was Rev. Silvanus Osborn, a

graduate of Princeton College in 1754. He is spoken

of by his succe.ssors as being an orthodox, plain,

sensible preacher, and a man of eminent piety. He
married Miss Abigail, the daughter of Mr. Stephen

Noble, of New Milford. His widow married Rev.

Jeremiah Day, of New Preston, and was tlic mother
of four sons and one daughter. The daughter died

young. The illustrious President Day, of Yale Col-

lege, was one of the sons. Mr. Osborn's salary was
to be thirty pounds for the first year, to increiise, until

the fourth year it was to be fifty pounds, payable in al-

most anything.

"This churcli had no house of worship until eleven

years after Mr. ( )sliorii's settlement. In the mean time

they met for worship in private houses, and especially

in a school-house, then standing on the hill beyond
Deacon F. A. Curtiss'. The first meeting-house was
raised in May, 1768, and com|)lcted the next year.

It stood a little to the east of the ))re.sent building,

with doors on three sides, and was a very plain struc-

ture, as became the times. It had no steeple and no

chimney and no paint. It had a high pulpit, with

the mysterious sounding-board still higher. The
seats were in the pew form, and the occujjants faccil

one another, us in a modern omnil>us. The building

of such a house, plain as it was, was a great work for

such a people, few in number and very limited in rc-

* Cundcnued from a historical addreaa delivered at Warren, July 23,

1876, by Rev. William Klliott Unsselt.

sources, with everything to do. The fathers had no

church-building societies to call upon for help. They
must help themselves, and they did, and the Lord
blessed them.

" Mr. Osborn was succeeded by Rev. Peter Starr,

who was ordained pastor March 18, 1772. The church

was then composed of fifty-two members. Mr. Starr

was the youngest son of Samuel and Abigail Starr

;

he was born in Danbury, September, 1744, and gradu-

ated at Yale College in 1764. He studied theology

with Rev. Mr. Brindsmade, in Washington, and Dr.

Bellamy, in Bethlehem, and was licensed by the

Fairfield East Association in 1769. Before coming
to Warren he preached (as a ' candidate,' it may be)

in Danbury, New Canaan, Roxbury, New Milford,

Greenfield, Winchester, and Morris. He was heard

here first Sept. 21, 1771, and preached twenty-two

Sabbaths previous to his ordination.

" Mr. Starr," says Mr. Bassett, " left behind some
manuscripts, which I have had an opportunity to look

over. Among them is a book in which he kept an
account of his expenditures during the years preced-

ing his settlement, and which is interesting as show-

ing very marked changes to have taken place since

that day. While ministers of our time have someex-

I)enditures which the fathers were saved from, we
have some advantages in this respect over them. For
example : this young candidate for the ministry in

1770 charges himself with having paid ' one pound
and fifteen shillings (about nine dollars) for a wig.'

Not only was this wig a pretty expensive article to

purchase, it also cost a good deal to keep it in order.

Quite occasionally he puts down in the debtor column,
' For dressing my wig, fourpence.' Quite likely,

however, the dignity gained well compensated for the

ex|)endituro. We find other charges still more fre-

quent. For example: 'One quart of rum, one shil-

ling twopence;' 'one quart of rum, eightpence;'

'one quart of rum, tenpence.' Whether the ' rum'-

in these cases varied in quality with the price, or the

young preacher took his refre.'<hmciit at a more fash-

ionable bar at sometimes than at others, does not

appear. As he traveled about with his horse he

would stop and feed, and then there would be a

charge ' (or oats and fiip, fivepence.' This use of

liquors was no peculiarity of Mr. Starr's, as we all

know. Everybody in those days used them, ns we
use tea and coHiee. They were among the prominent

things always provided for every jiubllc entertain-

iiK'ut. It may bo doubted whether an ordination

took place in the last century without a free use of

such drinks. This habit continued through about

one quarter of this century, when a more excellent

way was learned. When Mr. Starr built his house in

1786, which is still standing, a cupboard wn.s provided

for the keeping of liquors (as can now be seen). He
lived, however, to see the time when that cupboard
could be at liberty for other purposes, and to do very

brave battle in the cause of temperance.



648 HISTORY OF LITCHFIELD COUNTY, CONNECTICUT.

"Mr. Starr died July 17, 1S29, aged eighty-five.

" He had lived to preach his half-century sermon,

and to sustain the sacred office seven years after

that. Fifty-two years its undivided responsibilities and

labors rested upon him. He outlived every one of

those who were members of the church when he

came among them.
" Mr. Starr's first wife was Sarah Robbins, daughter

of a clergyman in Branford, and sister of Mr. Rob-

bins, fifty-two years pastor in Norfolk. Four of their

children preceded him into the other world ; five sur-

vived him and lived honored and useful lives. He
was a member of the corporation of Yale College from

1813 to 1817. He made three missionary tours into

Vermont in 1794 and '95, twice with Mr. Robbins,

of Norfolk, and once Mr. Hooker, of Goshen, accom-

panied him. He married, for his second wife, the

widow of Rev. John Stevens, of Massachusetts, daugh-

ter of Elijah Smith, of Vermont."

THE REVOLUTION.

" Early in the ministry of Mr. Starr the struggle of

the Revolution came on. While no utterances of his

have come down to us, that he gave to it his warm
.sympathy we need no other evidence than his own
training and character. This town was largely repre-

sented in the activities of that holy strife. Eleazar

Curtiss was a major in the service ; Joseph Carter

and Peleg Sturtevant were captains ; Deacon Ebene-

zer Tanner, Samuel Carter, and Nathaniel Swift were

lieutenants. Besides them, Augustine and Lysander

Curtiss, Deacon Fowler, Philip and Eben Strong,

George Batterson, William James (colored), Chaun-

cey Dennison, and John HoUoway are known to have

been connected with the army, and there were doubt-

less others. Of the particulars of this service I have

learned but little. Maj. Eleazar Curtiss was in the

battle at Danbury, and caught Gen. Wooster as he

fell from his horse in that battle. No one that

knows to what hardships those fathers had accus-

tomed themselves will doubt that they did good ser-

vice in those days that ' tried men's souls.'

" The house of worship, which was pretty new when

Mr. Starr first preached here, showed signs of age be-

fore he did. It became, in process of time, very much
dilapidated, occasioning the remark of one that he
' had heard often of the Lord's house, but never be-

fore of the Lord's barn!' The aged pastor urged to a

rebuilding. His text on one occasion was the one so

often used in similar circumstances, Haggai i. 4:

' Is it time for you, O ye, to dwell in your ceiled

houses, and this house lie waste?' As a result, in

1818 the present edifice was commenced, and was fin-

ished in 1820. It was patterned after the church in

Norfolk, which had been recently built.

" While speaking of this new house, I will notice

a very interesting memorial of that day which has

come to us. The cushion and connections in that

new church were furnished by the ladies, and they

sewed up in the cushion, for the benefit of posterity,

a paper, of which the following is a copy':

" * In tlie year of our Lord 1820, under the Presidency of Monroe, the

Governorship of Oliver Wolcott, who was the first toleration Governor

of Connecticut, and the 48tli year of the ministry of Peter Starr, was

bviilt a new cliurcli in Warren, and tliis cushion made and placed in it

on the first day of June, tlie day of dedication. When tliia cushion shall

have turned into rags, tlieu shall this paper lie discovered, which is de-

signed to excite in the hearts of tlie grandchildren and great-grandcbil-

dren of those who, to their laud be it spoken, unitedly subscribed $:J0,

and purchased therewith this cushion and branches for the pulpit.

Then, too, will it be known that this cushion was made by the hands

of three young virgins, whose names will be had evermore in tender

remembiance; P. and F. Talmadge, and S. Saunders.'

"The first two of these 'virgins' afterwards had

husbands whose labors had to do with ' pulpit

cushions,' one being the wife of Dr. John Marsh,

the apostle of temperance. The third lived single.

All are counted with the dead.

"The good spirit showed in 1820 was followed

afterwards, and we find in our cushion another paper,

written by one who is remembered as the lamented

wife of Dr. White, of New Orleans, who died in 1863:

"*In the year of our Lord 1845, under the Presidency of James K.

Polk, and the Governorship of Roger S. Baldwin, and in the second year

of the pastoi'ate of Hev. John R. Keep, the ladies of Warren observed

that this pulpit cushion, under the influence of twenty-five years of

sound orthodox preaching, had, in the language of our predecessors,

•turned to rags.' Subscriptions were accordingly made by the ladies,

and a new cover purchased to conceal the ravages of time. On Tliurs-

day, the 7th of August, assembled, for the purpose of re-covering the

cushion, Mrs. Jane Sackett Hine, Mrs. Emily Sackett Comstock, Misses

Laura Taylor, Lucy C. Sackett, Marion B. Bradley, Evelyn Starr, Sarah

Robbins Starr, Helen Talmadge, and Mr. Henry J. Taylor. Upon open-

ing the cushion the paper of 1820 was, to our great gratification, discov-

ered. Trusting that the design of that paper is answered in the renewed

zeal with which it has animated us, we follow the example of those

gratefully remembered ladies whose skillful needles preceded us, and

deposit this paper, hoping that the generations who come after may be

encouraged to like laudable efforts.

"
' Evelyn Stare, Scribe.

"
' Warren, Conn., Aug. 7, 1845.'

" There is laid away in the cushion still another

paper, of a later date :

'"In the year of our Lord 1859, under the Presidency of James Bu-

chanan, the Governorship of Wm. A. Buckingham, and the first year of

the ministry of Rev. Francis Lobdell, the members of the Ecclesiastical

Society of Warren saw fit to remodel the church, which for forty years

had served as a place of worship, and to give to it a modern style. After

due deliberation, the work of repairing was commenced on the morning

of August 1st. The ladies of the church, wishing to give expression to

their generosity, met at the Town.House for consultation upon the beat

method of procuring funds for the purchase of carpets, cushion, and pul-

pit fixtures, Aug. lOth. After much deliberation, Mrs. Jane Carter

Starr, Mrs. Maranda Curtiss Strong, Miss Huldah Everitt, and Miss

Mai-ia Gilbert were chosen solicitors to visit each family who are in the

habit of attending our church, and ask of them a gift for the Lord's

house. The work was entered upon, and to our great surprise the hand-

some sum of S120 was secured, every lady giving of her substance as

she felt disposed, which by unanimous vote was appropriated to purposes

aforesaid. The work progressed in all its parts till Saturday, October 1st,

when it was pronounced complete, and ready for our assembling on the

morning of Oct. 2d, for diviue worship. Having completed our work in

behalf of the house of God, we would follow the example of our beloved

predecessors, and deposit a record of our doings, hoping that their ex-

ample, with ours, may serve as a stimulus to greater efTort on the part

of those who come after. When these geuei'ous hearts and active hands

that have contributed so liberally of their substance and their labor
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are mouldering in tlie dust, mny our words be held in grateful remem-

brance by those who are next called upou to rebuild the house of the

Lord.

"'M. C. Strong,
"

' III hehalf of ihe Ladies of tlie Chuvclt and Society of Wan-en,

"'Oct. 1st, '50.'

" At the time spoken of in the last paper, eight

hundred dollars were raised by subscription for re-

pairs upon the church. The pulpit and the pews

were brought nearer to a level by putting the new

pulpit lower, and also by raising the floor of the sanc-

tuary. The house was new-seated.
" Other expenses to be spoken of are the purchase

of the parsonage, in 1864, by a subscription of one

thousand eight hundred dollars, and the organ, in

1872, for nearly rne thousand three hundred dollars.

' Liberty' was given by the society ' to put up stoves'

in 1833. Previous to that time people had kept

warm as they could.

" The fund of the society was raised by subscrip-

tion in 1790, amounting to three thousand eight hun-

dred and eighty dollars, from one hundred and two

subscribers. Miss Miriam Buck left to the society, by

will, one hundred and ten dollars and ninety cents,

which was received July 15, 1840. Mr. John Eyles

and Mr. Abner Welch added to the fund. In 1875 it

amounted to four thousand six hundred and sixty-

five dollars and seventy-nine cents.

"Nineteen persons have served here in the office of

deacon, including those now in office. Of the two first,

Deacon.s Smalley and Lee, I have been able to learn

nothing except the date of their appointment. Dea-

cons Abel Comstock and Jonathan Hitchcock prob-

ably removed to Vermont, as Mr. Starr spoke of

visiting persons of those names there in one of his

mi.ssionary tours. Deacon Salmon Sackett removed

to Talmadge, Ohio, and Deacon Joseph A. Tanner to

Waverly, 111. Deacons Justus Sackett, Kbenczer

Tanner, Amos Fowler, John Talmadge, .Jonathan

Reynold.s, and Gu.stavus Rouse lived and died

among us.

" Resides these deacons at home, Warren has raised

up deacons for other churches not a few. I am able

to name Deacons Ralph C. and Tiieodore Curtiss,

Waverly, 111. ; Eldred, of Janesvillo, Wis. ; Myron
and Moses Sackett, Canfield; Ei)hraim M. Sturtc-

vant, Cleveland ; lionjamin Carter and Ethoil Strong,

Edinburgh; Hnidfordand Isaac Sturtevant, and Har-

vey Sackett, Ruggles; Clarke Sackett, Talmadge,

Ohio ; George Sackett, Cuyahoga Falls ; Rufus C.

Swift, Cooperstown, N. Y. ; George Starr, LL.D.,

Middlel)ury, Vt. ; and George Starr Humphrey, New
Preston, Conn.; besides Elders Frederick Starr,

Rochester; Myron P. Hopkins, Medina, N. Y. ; and
Wm. H. Swift, Vineland, N. J.

" This is also the mother-church of many clergy-

men, some of wliom are as distinguished as any in

the country. Their n.ames are Revs. Josiah and
Prince Hawcs, Reulien Taylor, Natlianicl Swifl,

Urban Palmer, Charles G. Finney, D.D., Seth Sack-

ett, Alanson Saunders, Julian M. Sturtevant, D.D.,

John S. Griffin, Lucius S. Rouse, Julius Reynolds,

John L. Taylor, D.D., Myron N. Morris, and George

Edward Stone. Two of these, in their positions as

presidents of colleges and preachers of great power,

have had influence second to very few of this day.

It will ever be a marked thing in the history of this

town that it was the birthplace of a Finney and a

Sturtevant. This may well be a stimulus to the

young.
" And here I am reminded of one thing of which

this church and community have reason to be proud,

and that is the character of the people raised up here.

Whatever Warren has failed to do, it has not failed

to give birth and training to men and women. Not to

sjjeak of those now among us, concurrent testimony

assures us that the men of the last and former gen-

erations were, many of them, of marked excellence.

The late Dr. McEwen, of New London, related the

following incident in an address at Litchfield in 1852

:

'" A Dr. Thompson, of New London, was traveling, and spent a Sab-

bath in Warren, at the public-house. lie atteiuied chuix-h. and, without

making himself known, observed what occuriod. A well-dressed, dig-

nified person ascended the pulpit, and in good style performed the ordi-

nary service of that place. Prayers, sermon, and psaliuta came forth as

from a workman that iieedeth not to l>e asbanioil. The stranger observed

tbat [irayer was otfereii for the aged pastor of the church in his absence

for his health. In the afternoon the pulpit wjis occupied by another,

'

who, like the former occupant of the desk, was happy in the perform-

ance of all the duties, ho also remembering the absent piisti>r. Dr.

Thompson, upon returning to his lodgings, retnarkeii to his lu'St,"You

have an abundance of clergy in this town,— two pi'esent to-day and one

absent." " ot^" was the reply, " those whom you have beard to-day are

our two deacons."'

" An aged friend of mine remembers being specially

interested in the remarks of the Warren delegate at a

conference of churches held in another county nearly

fifty years ago. If Deacon Talmadge was that dele-

gate, as he doubtless wa-s one of the deacons just re-

ferred to, no one wiio knew him will be surprised at

the testimony. If it was not he, there were others

who could meet the ca.se."

The following is a list of the pastors from tlic or-

ganization of the church to the present time : Silvanus

Osborn, installed June 29, 1757 ; died May 7, 1771.

Peter Starr, installed March 18, 1772; died July 17,

1829. Hart Talcott, installed May 11, 182.'); died

March 27, 183(i. Harlcy (loodwin, installed June 27,

1838 ; dismi-sscd Dec. 12, 1843; died January, 18.J.5.

John R. Keep, installed June 12, 1844; dismissed

Nov. 5, 1852. Montgomery M. Wakeman, instjilled

Sept. 27, 1854; dismissed June 24, 185t). Francis

Lobdell, installed Nov. 3, 1859; ilismi.ssed April 7,

18G3. Wm. Elliott Baasett, installed Oct. 12, 18G4;

dismissed Nov. 15, 1875. Willis S. Colton, present

pastor.

The list of deacons were as follows : Joseph Smal-

ley, Daniel Lee, Abel Comstock, Justus Sackett,

Jonathan Hitchcock, Ebcnezer Tanner, Salmon Sack-

ett, Amos Fowler, John Talmadge, Joseph .\. Tanner,

Jonathan Reynolds, Gustavus Rouse, John Taylor,
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Clark S. Swift, William Hopkins, Benjamin E. Carter,

Franklin A. Curtiss.

There is a Methodist church also in this town, but

we have been unable to secure data for its history.

KEPRESENTATIVES FROM 1786 TO 1881.

1786-87, Nathaniel Swift, Jr. ; 1788, Sanuiel Carter; 1789-91, Nathaniel

Swift, Jr.; 1702, Nathaniel Swift, Jr., Justus Sackett; 1793, Nathaniel

Swift, John Talmadge; 1794, Nathaniel Swift, Elienezer Tanner;

1795, Julin Talmadge; 1796, Natlianiel Swift; 1797, Samuel Carter;

1798, John Talmadge, Judah Eldred; 1799, Judah Eldred, Ebenezer

Tanner; 1800, Ebenezer Tanner; 1801, Nathaniel Swift, Homer
Sackett; 1802, John Talmadge; 1803, Jolin Talmadge, Nathaniel

Swift; 1804, John Talmadge; 1805, Nathaniel Swift, John Talmadge;

1800, John Talmadge, Ebenezer Tanner; 1807, John Talmadge, Ben-

jamin Carter; 1808, Nathaniel Swift, Ebenezer Tanner; 1809, Eben-

ezer Tanner, Benjamin Carter; 1810, Nathaniel Swift, Orrin Sacket;

1811, Benjamin Carter; 1812, John Talmadge, Eben Tanner; 1813,

Homer SaeUett, Solomon Bronson ; 1814, Benjamin Carter, Homer
Sackett; 1815, Judah Eldred ; 181C-17, Judah Eldred, Homer Sackett

;

1818, Homer Sackett, Augustus Curtis; 1819, Judah Eldred; 1820,

Benjamin Carter; 1821, Homer Sackett; 1822, Sherman llartwell

;

1823, George Starr; 1824, Sherman Hartwell ; 1825, George Starr;

1826, Samuel Weston; 1827, Daniel Carter; 1828-29, George Starr;

1830, Elijah Hayes; 1831, Justus Sackett; 1832, William Battel!,

Daniel Carter; 183.3-34, Elijah Hayes; 1835, Daniel Carter; 183C,

Elijah Hayes; 1837-38, Rupell Carter; 1839, Elijah Hayes; 1840,

Lamin Chapman; 1841, George P. Talmadge; 1842, Laurin Chap-

man; 1843-44, Henry W. Carter; 1845, Benajah Mallory ; 1846,

Charles Everett; 1847-48, Clark S, Swift; 1840, Benajah Mallory;

1850, Myron S. Hine; 1851, Jarvis C. Howard; 1852, George Hayes;

1853-64, E. M. Kellogg; 1855, Elijah Hayes; 1850-67, E. P. Moul-

throup; 1858, G. P. Talmadge; 1859-60, T. L. Jennings; 1861-62,

Augustine T. Peck; 1S03, Elijah Hayes; 1864, George W. Grannis;

1865, Noble B. Strong ; 1800, Elijah Hayes: 1867, Josiah Jennings;

1868, John E. Grannis; 1869, Augustine T. Peck; 1870, Beecher Per-

kins; 1871, C. E. Beeman; 1872-73, M. B. Strong; 1874, Edwin R.

Beenian; 1875, George Wells; 1876, Austin R. Humphrey; 1877,

Miner A. Strong; 1878, Evastns Bates; 1879, Henry E. Shove; 1880,

Buel Carter; 1881, William F. Curtiss.

MILITARY RECORD.*

Charles N. Beeman, 8tli Regt. ; enl. Sept. 25, 1861 ; disch. Nov. 16, 1862.

B. G. Page, 8th Regt. ; enl'. Sept. 25, 1864; disch. May 31, 1865.

George Brown, 8th Begt.; enl. Aug. 10, 1864; disch. July 16, 1866.

E. F. Prague, 10th Regt.; enl. Oct. 1, 1861 ; disch. Feb. 7, 1863.

W. D. Collins, 11th Regt. ; enl. Dec. 9, 1864; disch. Dec. 21, 1866.

J. N. Lyman, 13th Regt., second lieutenant; com. Nov. 27, 1861 ; disch.

June C, I860.

William Beeman, 13th Regt. ; enl. Dec. 30, 1S61 ; disch. Nov. 20, 1865.

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCH.

DEACON WILLIAM HOPKINS.

William Hopkins was born Sept. 10, 1803. His

father, Anthony P. Hopkins, was a victim of the ter-

rible epidemic of 1813, leaving William, at the age of

ten years, the oldest son of a family of five children.

From his earliest years his Christian mother instilled

into his heart .steadily, constantly, and successfully

the principles of fidelity to right and of a broad Chris-

tian charity. She lived to see the germ she had planted

come to perfection and its fullest growth, and had the

satisfaction of knowing that he was known and hon-

ored by his townsmen for his tender sympathy for the

* For list of Nineteenth Begiment, see Chapter V.

suffering, benevolence towards all worthy objects, and
his sterling Christian integrity. In the fullness of

years, like a shock of corn fully ripe, she passed away
to the better land, April 18, 1865, aged ninety-seven

years.

Mr. Hopkins early joined the Congregational Church,

i and while yet a young man was appointed deacon,

and for over half a century he walked among the peo-

, pie of Warren, and malice and suspicion never dared

whisper aught against his honor or his Christian char-

I acter. By the death of his father he was, while yet a

child, withdrawn from the advantages of school, and
this loss he always deplored. It may have been a

valuable discipline for him to have thrown upon him
so early the headship of the family, for if it was his

lot to pass but a very few years in school buildings,

he was always a student, never idle. He read much
and thought more, and as he grew in years, and the

circle of his acquaintance became larger, his mind
became more and more enriched by his close associa-

tion with many cultivated people, and as he received

it he assimilated the knowledge by the very act of im-

parting it to others. He used what he had, and more
was given him. The richness of his instructions to

his Bible-class never tired of listening, his conversa-

tions on any and all subjects, and the easy illustrations

to point a moral, testified to a well-furnished mind
unusually acute and vigorous. He was never an

idler. Possessed of a healthy and vigorous physical

nature through youth and middle life, he enjoyed

labor, and could and did begin his work before the

sun appeared in the morning, and yet, untired, be

busy long after it had sunk behind the western hills.

Kev. Mr. Bassett, in his memorial sermon, preached

June 15, 1879, says, " Nor can I leave this part of my
subject without saying a word as to the beauty of

Deacon Hopkins' physique. I know not how it was

with him in the early period of life, but he had a

charming beauty in his old age,—his abundant sil-

very hair, lying in graceful curls ; his large forehead,

overhanging his bright, sparkling eyes, which could

not have been brighter when the fires of youth shone

through them ; a mouth holding the impress of the

kind words it had uttered; his whole countenance

lighted up with kindliness and cheer, radiated very

frequently by intelligent smiles, preceding and fol-

lowing the sharp witticisms which were as natural

to him as his very breath. Altogether, he presented

a look that charmed us all. Such was he among ua

physically." He was an earnest and a willing worker.

On the farm, in society, or the church, where anything

reasonable and right was to be done, there was no fear

of his failing to respond. Social gatherings ofa benev-

olent character were sure to be enlivened by his pres-

ence. A subscription-paper for a good object would

always bear his name with a generous sum affixed.

If work was to be done about the grounds of the

church, he would be among the first to come, and

stayed until the last. He was in the world for work.
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and that he did nobly and well all through the years

of his life of seventy-five years, until his death at his

life-long home, "Lakeside," March 17, 1879. We
can no better conclude this sketch than to take the

following from the discourse already alluded to

:

" Deacon Hopkins was what he was because of his

connection with Christ. His ' life was hid with Christ

in God.' It was in connection with this that he had

his grandest thoughts, his noblest impulses, his most

manly purposes and achievements. Not only did his

life blossom in his religion, it was rooted in his re-

ligion. So he lived and so he died : a man among
us. Nature was liberal in her outfit of him, equip-

ping him well for a manly career ; and by grace he

was led to a manly use of his powers in a life charac-

terized by honesty, helpfulness, self-control, forti-

tude, willing to bear a man's part in life's burdens,

and in the service and love of God. As such we
knew him, as such we loved him, as such we will

cherish and honor his memory."

CHAPTER LXV.

WASHINGTON.

Geographical—Topograpliical—Judea and New Preston Societies—The
First Settlements—Names of Pioneers— Organization of Judea Society

—Ecclesiastical History—The Congregational Church, Washington

—

Congregational Clnircli, New Preston—Congregational Churcli, New
Preston Hill—St. John's Church—St. Andrew's Church—Rising Sun

Lodge, No. 27, F. and A. M.—Physicians—Revolutionary Incident

—

Gunn's Seminary—The .Shepaug Railroad—Lake Weroamaug—Civil

and Military Iliatory—Organization of the Town—The First Town-

Meeting—Ofhcers Elected—Documentary History—List of Selectmen

from 178G to ISSI- List of Representatives—Probate Judges—Military

Becord.

The town of Washington is located south of the

centre of the county, and is bounded ius follows: on

the north by Kent, Warren, and Litchfield, on the

east by Morris and Bethlehem, on the south by Wooil-

bury and Koxbury, and on the we.st by New Milford

and Kent. Its surface is rolling and soil fertile.

The town consists of two ecclesiastical societies,

Judea and Now Preston. The former embraces the

territory taken from Woodbury and Litchfield, and

the latter that from Kent and New Milford.

The first settlement in the town was made in Judea

society, by Joseph Hurlbut, in 1736. Among the

other early settlers were Increase Moseley, Nathaniel

Durkce, John Barker, Friend Weeks, Joseph Oillett,

and Samuel Titcher.

ORGANIZATION OF JUDEA SOCIETY.

Tlie little settlement increased in numbers, and five

years later twenty persons jirescnted a petition to the

General Assembly for " winter privileges,"—that is,

the privilege of supporting a minister of their own
distinct from the old society. They also a.sked that

they might be relieved " from paying ta.xes for a new
school-house just built in the First society, and also

from parish taxes, that they may build a school-house

of their own." The petition was granted, to continue

two years, and they were released from one-half of the

parish taxes, and from taxes to build a new meeting-

house, provided they were " in no ways Active in

the Affairs of Building a new Meeting-House in said

first Society."

In October, 1741, a petition was presented, signed

by twenty-six persons, praying to be organized into

an ecclesiastical society, and appointed " Our Trusty

and well-beloved friend. Friend Weeks, agent and

attorney to prosecute our petition." The signers of

this petition were Nathaniel Durkee, John Baker,

Joseph Gillett, Joseph Chittenden, Elisha Stone,

Samuel Pitcher, Jr., James Pitcher, Increase Moseley,

Lemuel Barker, Daniel Castle, Samuel Branton, Ezra

Tyrrill, Jr., Ebenezer Allen, Zadock Clark, Elijah

Hurd, Joseph Hurd, Joseph Hurlbut, Benjamin In-

grahams, John Royce, John Hurd, Jr., Jedediah

Hurd, and Benjamin Hinman.

The petition was granted in October, 1741, and the

society erected with the following boundaries

:

** Beginning att Colo Johnson's line at New Milford bounds, and from

thence Running Eastward in s*! line untill it Conies to the line Dividing

Between Bethlehem and the West part of the North Purchase, aud

tbence to Extend North to the north line of s-t purchase, and thence

Westward to New Milford Line, and thence Southward to the first.men-

tioned place, at tlie End of Coll. Jobnaon's line at New Milford bouDds."

At the same session twenty-four persons petitioned

for a land-tax of thirty shillings per lot, which was

granted for four years.

The matter of the church was immediately pro-

ceeded with, and in May, 1742, twenty-six petitioners

stated that they had " Unanyinously and Lovingly

Agreed upon A Place for to set a Meeting-House."

It was built during the same year.

WEROAMAUG.

The reservation of Werf)amaug, or Raumaug, was

in the parish of New Preston, adjacent to the reser-

vation of the Bantam Indians, over whom his juris-

diction extended. He was a true friend of the whites,

and in his last years professed to have become a con-

vert to Christianity. The Rev. Daniel Boardman,

who was ordained as the minister at New Miltbrd in

1710, became much interested in him. In a letter to

a friend he calls him "that distinguished .sachem,

whose great abilities and eminent virtues, joined with

his extensive dominion, rendered him the most po-

tent prince of that or any other day in thi.? colony;

and his name ought to be remembered by the faithful

historian as much as thatofany crownctl head since his

was laid in tlie dust." During Raumaug's last illness

Mr. Boardman constantly attended him, and endeav-

ored to confirm his mind in the vital truths of the

Christian faith. It was a sad place for the dying

chieftain, for a majority of his people, and even his

wife, were bitter opponents of the while man's relig-

ion, and used all their inHiieiice against it. One day,
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when the good pastor was standing by the sachem's

bedside, the latter asked him to pray, to which he as-

sented. It liappened tliat there was a sick child in

the village, and a pow-wow was in attendance, who had

undertaken to cure it with liis superstitious rites.

As soon as the clergyman commenced his prayer,

Eaumaug's wife sent for the medicine-man, and or-

dered him to commence his exercises at the door of

the lodge. The pow-wow at once set up a hideous

shouting and howling, and Mr. Boardman prayed

louder, so that the sick man might hear him above

the uproar. Each raised his voice louder and louder

as he went on, while the Indians gathered around,

solicitous for the success of their prophet. The pow-

wow was determined to tire out the minister ; and he,

on the other hand, was quite as fully resolved not to

be put to silence in the discharge of his duty by the

blind worshiper of Satan. The invincible minister

afterwards gave it as his belief that he prayed full

three hours before he was permitted to come off con-

queror. The pow-wow having completely exhausted

himself with his efforts, gave one unearthly yell, and

then, taking to his heels, never stopped till he was

cooling himself up to his neck in the Housatonic.

Raumaug died about the year 1735, or some fifteen

years after the first settlement of Litchfield.

THE CONGIIEGATIONAL CHUItCH.

The history of the Congregational Church is really

the continuation of that of the parish or society as re-

lated above. The church was organized Sept. 1,

1742, with the following members: Rev. Reuben

Judd, Joseph Gillott, Benjamin Kurd, Deacon In-

crease Moseley, Allen Curtis, Timothy Hurd, Deacon

Joseph Hurd, Joseph Chittenden, John Royce, John
Baker, Elijah Hurd, and Samuel Bell. On the 5th

of the following September the following females

were received into the new church : Deborah Moseley,

Ann Hurd, Rachel Weeks, Jerusha Baker, Abigail

Hurd, Mary Hurd, Tabitha Hurd, Dorcas Royce,

Mary Durkee, and Esther Durkee.

The following is a list of the pastors of this church

from its organization to the present time : Rev. Reu-

ben Judd, a graduate of Yale, was ordained the same

day the church was organized, and the ceremonies

took place in a grove near the residence of the late

Daniel N. Brinsmade. He was dismissed May 6,

1747. Rev. Daniel Brinsmade, a graduate of Yale,

was ordained March 9, 1749. He died April 23, 1793.

Rev. Noah Merwin was installed as colleague with

Rev. Mr. Brinsmade in March, 1785. He died April

12, 1795. For a number of months after the death of

Mr. Merwin the church was supplied by the neigh-

boring ministers, and by Mr. Piatt Bassett and

Amasa Porter, candidates for settlement. Rev. Eben-

ezer Porter began preaching in 1795, and in the fol-

lowing year was ordained. He was dismissed Dec.

18, 1811, having been elected professor of Andover

Theological Seminary. He died in 1834. Rev. Cy-

rus W. Gray was installed in April, 1813, and dis-

missed Aug. 18, 1815. He was succeeded by Rev.
Stephen Mason, who was installed in February, 1818,

and was dismissed Dec. 17, 1823. Rev. Gordon
Hayes served from Oct. 28, 1829, to June 1, 1852.

He was followed by Rev. Ephraim Lyman, who was
installed June 30, 1852, and was dismissed June 3,

1863. Rev. Willis S. Colton was installed Aug. 21,

1866, and was dismissed in 1876, since which time
Rev. George L. Thrall has been its minister.

During the interval between the pastorates of Revs.

Lyman and Colton, Rev. William H. H. Murray for

some time supplied the pulpit.

THE FIRST CHUBCH IN NEW PRESTON.

In October, 1748, twenty persons obtained leave of

the General Assembly to hire a minister for six

months in the year, on the ground of their living from

seven to ten miles from their places of worship in

Kent and New Milford. In May, 1752, the following

persons petitioned the General Assembly for a new
ecclesiastical society : Samuel Averill, Caleb Rude,

Samuel Lake, Moses Averill, Henry Davis, Jehial

Murray, Isaac Averill, Joseph Carey, John Guthrie,

Daniel Averill, Zebulon Palmer, Jacob Rinney, Sam-
uel Cogswell, Thomas Hodgship, Thos. Morse, Benj.

Darling, Samuel Waller, Nathaniel Dewine, Enoch
Whittlesey, Jolmjah Jons, Stephen Bosworth, Thos.

Beeman, John Benedict, Stephen Noble, Gillead

Sperry, Elnathan Curtis, John Bostwick, Benajah

Bostwick, Nathan Beale, John Cogswell, Zepheniah

Branch, Edward Cogswell, Josiah Cogswell, James
Terrill, Jos. Miles, Nathan Hawley, Samuel Cogswell,

.Tohn Cobb, and Benjamin Capuen. The societies of

East Greewich (now Warren), Kent, and New Milford

opposed the application mentioned above, and it failed,

but was granted in October. In December, 1753, it was
voted to lay a tax of twelvepence on the pound to hire a

minister for a season, and to build two school-houses

by subscription for the use of the society. November,

1754, it was voted to build a meeting-house, thirty-six

by twenty-six feet, with five windows of twelve lights

each, one hundred rods west of the present stone

meeting-house. December, 1766, it was voted to build

another meeting-house, fifty by forty feet. This house

was inclosed three years later, but was not entirely

finished until 1798. In 1806 a permanent fund of

five thousand dollars was raised. In 1824 a third

meeting-house was built of stone, fifty-four by forty-

four feet. In 1853 a majority of the church, with a

minority of the society, upon their own responsibility,

built a fourth meeting-house in the village of Wara-

maug, sixty by thirty-nine feet, at an expense of about

six thousand dollars, 'and the church, by a majority

vote, on the 27th of January, 1854, voted to remove

their jjlace of worship to this house.

The pastors of the church have been as follows

:

Noah Wadhams, 1757-68 ; Jeremiah Day, 1770, died

in 1806 ; Samuel Whitlesey, 1807-17 ; Chas. A. Board-
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man, 1818-30
; Robt. B. Campfield, 1831-34 ; Columbus

Shumway, 1834-35; Merit S. Piatt, 1836-37; Benj.

B. Parsons, 1839-42 ; Hollis Read, 1845-51 ; Samuel

F. Bacon, 1851-53; Chas. S. Smith, 1853-55; Jacob

H. Strong. The only installed pastor since Mr. Strong

was the Rev. H. Upson. Rev. D. Moses supplied the

church one year, and Rev. Henry Lancashire has

been acting pastor since 1877.

CONGREGATIONAL CHURCH AT NEW PRESTON HILL.

An unhappy division arose in New Preston in

1853-54, on account of a disagreement about the place

of worship. The majority of the society and the

minority of the church claim the original organiza-

tion, though the Consociation decided that the major-

ity of the church, who removed, are to be considered

the original church, while the minority retain the

records and communion service, and the society with

them have the funds for the support of the gospel.

The old house has since been extensively repaired.

The pastors have been as follows : Levi S. Beebe,

John A. Hempstead, Noah Coe, Williams H. Whit-

tlemore, George Tomlinson, Leonard Bacon, Lewis

R. Williams, J. A. Woodhull, Henry Upson, and

Rev. A. Isham, the present pastor.

ST. JOHN'S CHURCH.

In about the year 1762 a few families of the Epis-

copal order resided in this vicinity, and services were

occasionally held in private dwellings by the Rev.

Thomas Davies, A.5I., rector of St. Michael's parish,

Litchfield. After the separation of what was Icnown

as Davies' Hollow from Litchfield, the Davies family,

one of influence, and zealously attached to the church,

withdrew from its Litchfield parisli and erected a

churcli edifice in Davies' Hollow. The land upon
which the churcli was built was deeded by Mr. John
Davies, father of Rev. Thomas Davies, to the new-

parish, and a condition of the deed required the pay-

ment of one peppercorn annually on the feast of St.

Michael, if demanded. The church building was
erected principally .at the expense of the honored

churchman Jolin Davies, and it is related of iiim

that, aged and infirm, seated in an arm-chair in the

door of his house, he witnessed the raising of the

structure. He survived about three years, and died

at the age of eighty-six years. The cliurch edifice

was removed to its present site in 1813, and received

the name of St. John. In consequence of the defect-

ive state of the records, it is impossible to give a com-

plete list of the rectors.

ST. ANDREWS CHURCH, NEW PRESTOJf.

The first services according to the rites of tlio Epis-

copal Church in New Preston were iiold by Rev.

Thoniius Davies, A.M., in 1764. The church edifice

was erected prior to tlie Revolution, but during that

period was rarely used, and was finally abandoned.

In 1796 the churclimcn in tlie vicinity purchased

the building formerly occupied by Jemima Wilkin-
42

son, the Friend, and her followers, in New Milford,

in which structure they worshiped until 1822, when

the present edifice in Marbledale was erected.

Among the rectors who have officiated for St. An-

drew's are mentioned the names of Clark, Baldwin,

Bersham, Marsh, Jones, Andrews, Kellogg, Lucas,

Atwater, Huntington, Gordon, Hitchcock, Sherman,

Long, Scott. James L. Scott resigned the charge on

the 8th of December, 1867. The Rev. Henry C. Ran-

dall became rector on the 2d of August, 1868, and

resigned on the 17tli of November, 1869. He was

succeeded some time in 1870 by the Rev. Charles

Husband, who died while rector, on the 20th of De-

cember, 1871. He was succeeded, in 1872, by Rev.

John N. Marvin, who died in charge, on the 17th of

May, 1874. Rev. William L. Peck became rector

June 28, 1874, and is the present incumbent.

RISING SUN LODGE, F. AND A. M., No. 27.®

The history of JIasonry in Washington must neces-

sarily be divided into two periods, the first extending

from the establishment of Rising Sun Lodge, No. 27,

to the rise of that great persecution and humbug,

Anti-Masonry ; the second period embracing the time

from the restoration of Rising Sun Lodge to the

present time. During the long interval between the

suspension of the lodge and restoration of its charter,

two full volumes of records were lost, and its jewels

were purloined, so that all that remained to us who
were active in its restoration were its third volume of

' records, of six years' use, and some six old brethren,

who, though over threescore years and ten, joyfully

assisted us in its restoration. A portion of the Grand

I
Lodge records have also been unfortunately lost, and

we are left without any certain evidence when and

by whom the lodge was chartered. I was told by one

of our old l>rethreu that it was instituted near tlie

close of the war of the Rcvohition.

In the long past Washington was a centre of Ma-
sonic importance, for, in addition to Rising Sun

Lodge, No. 27, there were also located here Fidelity

Chapter, R. A. M., Tvrian Council, No. 13, R. and S.

M., and Clinton Encampnient, No. 3, K. T. ; and at

the head of these several Masonic bodies stood that

Masonic veteran, Daniel B. Brinsmade, also Grand

Master of Connecticut. Clinton Encampment was

removed to South Norwalk, the Rising Sun Lodge

was restored, while tlie Chapter and Council have

ceased to exist.

I

From both records and tradition, the old lodge was

rich in mcriil)ers, botli as regards numbers and char-

acter. The Worshipful .Masters of it from 1823 to

1829, when its records close, were Daniel B. Brins-

made, Daniel A. Ryon, John (toodyear, and William

Jloody. Its last record was made June 15, 1829.

In November, 1864, upon the petition of Guy C.

Ford, Henry J. Church, R. W. Ford, of St. Paul's

' • Contributod bf Om. C. Ford.
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Lodge, No. 11, Litchfield, Robert Black, G. H. Black,

of King Solomon's Lodge, No. 7, Woodbury, and R.

M. Fowler, Leverett Allen, Joel Bishop, and John

Goodyear, members of the old lodge, M. W. David

E. Bostwick, Grand Master of Connecticut, issued a

dispensation to the aforesaid brethren to resume labor

as Rising Sun Lodge, No. 27, restored, appointing

Guy C. Ford Worthy Master, H. J. Church Senior

Warden, and R. W. Ford Junior Warden, which dis-

pensation was confirmed by a restoration of the charter

by the Grand Lodge the following JLay. The lodge

since its restoration has been in a uniformly prosper-

ous condition, and although death has sadly deci-

mated our ranks, and severed many a link from our

golden fraternal chain, while many from force of cir-

cumstances have been led to affiliate with otlier

lodges, still we number eighty members,—a goodly

number for a rural lodge.

Its Worshipful jMasters since the restoration have

been Guy C. Ford, Samuel H. Clark, Charles H.

Mason, Albert L. Hodge, Frederick N. Galpin, and

William J. Ford, present incumbent.

Its first officers were Guy C. Ford, W. M. ; Henry
J. Church, S. W.; R. W. Ford, J. W.; Leverett

Allen, Treas. ; Orestes Hickox, Sec. ; A. M. Steele,

S. D. ; Robert Black, J. D. ; J. N. Frost, S. S. ; E.

N. Moore, J. S. ; James Black, Tyler.

Its present officers are William J. Ford, W. M.
;

George B. Calhoun, S. AV. ; Simon D. Piatt, J. W.

;

A. G. Baker, Treas. ; P. M. Guy C. Ford, Sec; P. M.

Samuel H. Clark, S. D. ; William Mayhew, J. D.
;

Earl Abbott, S. 8. ; N. W. Hull, J. S. ; John Rora-

back, Tyler; P. M. A. L. Hodge, Marshal, P. M. G.

C. Ford, Chaplain.

PHYSICIANS.

Amongthe physicians who have practiced inAVash-

ington are mentioned the names of Drs. John Cal-

houn, Warren R. and Remus M. Fowler.

Dr. Calhoun, in addition to his practice, was also

much engaged in the public business of the town.

Dr. Warren R. Fowler studied his profession with

Dr. Sheldon, and commenced practice in Judea so-

ciety about the year 1810, and continued until his

death, in 1826. In 1816 he received from Yale Col-

lege the honorary degree of Doctor of Medicine.

Remus M. Fowler studied medicine with his brother,

Warren R., and commenced the practice of his pro-

fession here, where he continued it until his death.

In 1834, Yale conferred upon him the degree of M.D.

Dr. Orlando Brown has been the resident physician

since Dr. Fowler.

REVOLUTIONARY INCIDENT.

During the Revolution a few persons opposed to

the war were assembled at Davies' Hollow, and the

Whigs in the town, desiring to dislodge them, had
assembled at the house of John Logan. While they

were in council, young Logan went to a neighbor's

and returned with a musket. His sister, seeing him

in a warlike mood, asked him what he was going to

do with it. He replied, " Shoot Tories." " You
shoot Tories !" she replied ;

" you haven't pluck

enough to fire the gun." He said he had, when she

playfully remarked, "Then shoot me," whereupon
he fired, killing her instantly.

Gunn's Seminary and Boarding-School for Boys has

done much to promote the material prosperity of the

town, and is one of the celebrated institutions of its

kind in New England. The sons of many of the

leading men of our age have attended school at this

place, among whom may be mentioned those of

Henry Ward Beecher, Mrs. Stowe, John C. Fremont,

Senator Carpenter, etc.

The Shepaug Railroad passes through the town,

having stations at Romford, New Preston, and Wash-

ington.

Lake Waramaug, located in Washington, Warren,

and Kent, is celebrated as a place of resort, and is

one of the most picturesque bodies of water in New
England. It takes its name from an Indian chief.

CIVIL HISTORY.

The town of Washington was organized from por-

tions of New Mil ford, Woodbury, Litchfield, and

Kent, " at a general assembly of the Governor and
Company of the State of Connecticut, holden at

Hartford, by adjournment, on the seventh day of

January, a.d. 1779."

THE FIRST TOWN-MEETING.

The first town-meeting was held Feb. 11, 1779,

with William Cogswell as moderator. The following

officers were chosen : Selectmen, Enos Mitchel, Na-
than Hickox, William Cogswell, Joseph Guthrie, and

Thomas Parmelee, Jr. ; Register, Daniel N. Brins-

made ; Treasurer, Jonathan Farrand ; Constables,

Ebenezer Couch, John Whittlesey, Abner Moseley,

and Nathan Hickox, Jr. ; Surveyor of Highways,

Amasa Dutton, David Royce, Elizur Curtis, Solomon

Hurd, Thomas Canfield, Nathan Leavenworth, Enos

Baldwin, Elijah Hicok, Joseph Hulbut, Ebenezer

Burgess, Ephraim Guthrie, Isaac Camp, Perry Av-
erill, Gideon Morgan, Pearle Kinnie, and Mason Cogs-

well ; Fence-Viewers, David Calhoun and Michael

Bryan ; Listers, Gideon Hollister, George Calhoun,

Ebenezer Clark, Jr., M. Whittlesey, Ebenezer Couch,

Thomas Parmelee, Jr., and Moses Averill ; Leather-

Sealers, Amasa Dutton and Jared Bassett ; Grand

Jurors, AVilliam Hopson, Silas Beardsley, J. Clark,

and J. Durkee ; Tithingmen, Pearle Kinnie, Joseph

Calhoun, and Seth Hastings ; Packer, Jonathan

Hine ; Branders, Charles Bailey and William Cogs-

well ; Pound-keeper, Thomas Parker, William Cogs-

well, Thomas Parmelee, Jr., and Nathan Hicok;

Committee to Provide for Soldiers' Families, Mat-

thew Logan, Brinsmade Gibson, and William Guth-

rie; Committee for Providing Clothing for the

Soldiers, Ebenezer Clark, Jr., Perry Averill, 0.

Titus, David Whittlesey, and Amasa Parker.
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The meeting closed with the following vote:

"Voted, That the Town-meeting be adjourned till the freeman's meet-

ing in April next, at Two of the Clock in the afternoon.

"Recorded the 11^'' day of Fehruary, 1779.

" Pr. Danl. N. Brinsmade, Register.''^

OATHS OF ALLEGIANCE.

" March 17"', 1779.—These certify that Thoa. Armstrong, Jr., Simeon

Mitchell, Jr., Nathan Hicok, Jr., Henry Cramer, & Aaron Smith took the

Oath of Allegiance to the States of America before me.
" I. MOSELET, Jh.

" Received & recorded the 17 Day of March, 1779.

"Pr. Daniel N. Bbinsmade, Register.

" The Oath of Allegiance was given to the Rev. Daniel Brinsmade, and

to Daniel N. Brinsmade, by T. Moseley, Jr., March 3, 1779.

"Recorded March 3, 1779.

" Pr. Daniel N. Brinsmade, Register.

" April the 12'^, 1779.—The following Persona took the oath of Alle-

giance to the States in Open Freemen's meeting, viz.:

"Samuel Averill, Jr., Nathan Bryan, Rich. Bryan, Samuel Bryan, Eooa

Baldwin, Judah Baldwin, Samuel Bell, Ephraini Baker, Jr., Daniel

S. Brinsmade, Chas. Bailey, Jos. Calhoun, James Calhoun, David

Calhoun, Jno. Calhoun, Ebez' Calhoun, George Calhoun, E. Baker,

E. Couch, Gideon Camp, Ebez' Clark, Ebez^ Clark, Jr., Jed'h

Clark, D. Crampton, Elizur Curtis, Josliua Curtis, Thos. Canfield,

Amasa Dutton, Thos. Dutton, Nath'l Duttou, Bery. Durkee, Jona-

than Farrand, Jos. Ferry, Ebezr. Ferry, Benj. Galpin, Timothy Good-

sell, W". Gibson, B. Griffin, Nathu. Hicok, Nathn. Hicok, Jr.,

Elijah Ilicok, Thaddeus Hicok, Jr., Seth Hastings, Samuel Hurlbnt,

Gideon HoUister, David Judson, David Lacy, Prince Moseley, E.

Mitchel, James Pitcher, Thos. Parke, Jr., Amasa Parke, David

Royce, Mark Royce, O. Titus, Saml. Durand, Joliu Woodruff, Jr.,

Noah Woodward, J. Weeks, Jno. Whittlesey, Martin Whittlesey,

Thos. Knapiug, J.Warner, Mason CogMwcU, Samuel Barnes, Seth

Kent, Benj. Adams, Thos. Avery, E. Guthiie, E. Finney, Stinson

Mitchel, Andrew Hine, Samuel Copely, Sulunion Mnrry, Thos. Good-

sell, Thos. Parnielle, Jr., Reuben Hicok, Thadd. Hicuk, Jonathan

Hine, Jos. Hurlbut, W"*. Hopson, SamuebHull, Sulomon Hurd, Mat-

thew Logan, E. Lacey, I. Moseley, Abner Musek-y, Enos Mitchel,

David Mitchel, Tlios. Parker, Abel Parker, David Royce, Jno. Royce,

Jno. Smith, D. Slieldon, E. Hazzcn, Jno. Frary, Jos. Warner, Jno.

Woodruff, Jr., Jos. W'oodruff, A. Woodward, Sauil. Meeker, Noah

Titus, E. Whittlesey, D. Whittlesey, Benj. Fowler, W"". Parker, Jos.

Clark, Wra. Cogswell, J. Durkee, Isaac Camp, Junah Camp, M. Aver-

Ill, P. Kinney, Jacob Stanton, Perry Avorill, Jus. Guthrie, Gidu.

Morgan, Geo. Baldwin, Caleb Curtis, Aaron Foot, Caleb Hitchcok,

Oliver Olds, Lyman Kinne, Stiles Beardsley, 8amuul Prindle, Thos.

Parmele, Isaac Plumb, X>avid Howes, Daniel Smith, and Abel MotL"

LIST OF SELECTMEN.

The following is a list of selectmen from 1775 to

1881:

John ^Vlilttlesey, Joseph Clark, Joaepli Gutbrie, Richard Bryan. 1786-

87; Jahoz Wliittlofley, 1787; Jonutimn Furrmiil, Matthew Logan.

1788; Diiiiiel N. nriiinnmile, 1780-87, 17'J0, 1792-1802, ISWi, 1807-16
;

David JiKlsou, Niitliaiiiiil Il.i8wolth, Jr., 1790, 1792-93; Elijah Ila-

zon, 1780-87, 1790, 1792-94, 1799-1801, 180J-5, 1807-14; Isaac Swift,

Saniuel Wadsworth, John Sedgewick, 1791; Martin Whittlesey,

1788, 1794-95, 1798-1800; Simeon Mitchel, 1775, 1778-79, 1782-84;

Peter Sherman, Wni. Coggswell, 1770-77; Jno. Smith (2d), 1777;

Joseph Whiltlesoy, 1801-2, 1810-14; David Whittlesey, 18oa-5; A.

Baldwin, 1807-8, 1818 ; Orange Wheaton, 1809, 1815-17 ; Daniel Cal-

houn, 1816-10,1819; Johnson Logan, 1817; Samuel Frishoe, 1817-

18 ; Johnson Logan, 1818, 1820-27
; Perry Averill, 1818 ; Phllo Clark,

1819; Nathan Newton, 1820-24; E.Moody, 1820-21, 1826-27; Her-

man nine, 1820-25; John N. Guun, 1822-25, 1831 ; Elijah Meeker,

1820-28; Gei-shom Fonn, 1828-30; Matthew Logan, 1828; Chester

Ackloy, 1829-31 ; David W. Norton, 1829-32 ; Goo. Lewis, 1832 ; Wm.
Moody, 18.12-34 ; Samuel Leavitt, 183:1-40; David C. Whittlesey, Iler-

man Baldwin, 1833, 1835 ; Nathan Brown, 1834 ; Charles Lonmion.

1830; Norman Ilaien, 1830-;i7; Samuel Averill, 1837; Wm. Pool,

1838-39; Joseph Titus, Jr., 1838^0 ; Ilufns Smith, 1840; I. Ilickox,

1841-43 ; Nathan Newton, 1841-45 ; Edward J. Poml, 1841-47 ; John

W. Titus, 1844-46; David Whittlesey, 1840-48; Samuel A. Baker,

1846-48, 1857 ; Gregory Seeley, 1848-50 ; Samuel J. Averill, 1849-50

;

John B. Newton, 1849-56; A. C. Lemmon, 1851-66; Nelson Ford,

1851-53, 1857 ; Powell Hickox, 1854-56 ; R. A. Brj'an, 1850; Geo. C.

Hitchcock, 1857-58 ; Seth S. Logan, Byron Hickox, 1858 ; B. G. Fenn,

Eufus Smith, Charles L. Ford, 1859-00 ; Orestes Hickox, 1801-64,

1871-74 ; James D. Barton, 1861-64; Garry Newton, 1861-62; Henry

H. Morehouse, 1863-66 ; Frederick Bcardsley, 1865 ; William Odell,

1865-67 ; Ralph Buckingham, 1866-70 ; Nelson Ford, 1868-70 ; Frank-

lin S. Titus, 1808-70; Samuel H. Clark, 1871-74 ; George K. Logan,

1872; Henry S. Wheaton, 1873; Orestes Hickox, 1874-79; Henry A.

Wheaton, 1875-70 ; Samuel H. Clark, 1874-75 ; George C. Cogswell,

1874; Samuel T. Hoilister, 1877; James D. Barton, 1877-79; George

W. Cogswell, 1877 ; Charles S. Mason, 1878-79.

EEPKESENTATIVES FROM 1770 TO 1881.

1779.—Capt. Increase Moselej', Capt. Wm. Cogswell, Capt. Eben'r Clarke.

1780.—Capt. William Cogswell, Capt. Ebenezer Clarke, Capt. Gideon Hoi-

lister.

1781.—Capt. William Cogswell, Capt. Gideon Hoilister, Capt. Nathan

Hicock, John Whittlesey.

1782.—Capt. Nathan Hicock, John Whittlesey, Mnj. Wm. Cogswell, John

Calhoun.

1783.—John Whittlesey, Capt. Nathan Hicock.

1784.—John AVhittlesey, Capt. Nathan Hicock, Daniel N. Brinsmade.

1785.—John Whittlesey, Matthew Logan, Capt. Jonathan Farrand.

1780.—John Whittlesey, Capt. Jonathan Farrand, Capt. Nathan Hicock.

1787.—John Whittlesey, Rev. Daniel Brinsmade, t^apt. Nathan Hicock.

1788.—John Whittlesey, Capt. Jouathan Farrand, Peter Sherman.

1789.—Capt. Jonathan Farrand, Peter Sherman, John Whittlesey, Capt.

David Judson.

1790.—John Whittlesey, David Jndson, Jonathan Farrand.

1791.—David Judson, John Whittlesey, Simeou Mitchell.

1792.—Peter Sherman, David Jndson, Daniel N. Brinsmade.

1793.—Daniel N. Brinsmade, David Whittlesey.

1794.— David Judson, Peter Sherman, Daniel N. Brinsmade.

1795.—Daniel N. Brinsmade, Peter Sherman, David Whittlesey.

1790.— Daniel llrinsniade, David Whittlesey.

1797.—Daniel N. Brinsnnido, Elijah Uazen, William Cogswell.

1798.—Daniel Biinsmade, Elijah Ha/.un.

1799.— Daniel N. Brinsmade, William Cogswell, Elijah Uozeo.

1800.—Daniel N. Brinsmade, Klijali Uozen.

1801-2.—Daniel N. Brinsnmde, William Cogswell. Simeon Mitchell.

1803.— Daniel N. Brinsnjado, Elijah llazen, William Cogswell.

1804.—Daniel N. Brinsmade, Elijah Ilazen, llavid Whittlesey.

1805-6.—Daniel N. Briniininile, David Whittlesey.

18U7.— Elijah llazen, David WhittleM-y, Daniel X. Brinsmade.

1808.— Daniel N. Brinsmade, Elijah Ilazen, Wliiiam Cogswell.

1809.— Daniel N. Brinsmade, N..ble Day, Joseph Whittlesey.

1810.—Warren B. Fowler, Nohle Day, Daniel S. Bilnamado, DovldWhlt-

tleoey.

1811.—Evetts Slood}, Noble Day, Daniel N. Brinsmade, John NowIod.

1812-14.— Daniel N. Ihlunniade, John N. Gunn, Juaoph WblttleMjr.

1815.—Samuel Leavitt, Noble Day.

1816.—Samuel Leavitt, Daniel B. Brinsmade.

1817.— Daniel It. Briusnnule, William Cogvwell, Constantino Mc3Iahon,

1818.— Daniel B. Biinswode, Joseph Whittlesey, John N. Gunn, Noble

Day.

1819.—Samuel Leavitt, Josepli Whltllwey.

1820.— Daniel B. Brinsmaile, Jtmpli Whittlesey.

1821.—Curtis llicox. Ensign Buslinell.

1822.—Timothy Mitchell, Philo Clark.

182:).- EvetU Sloudy, William t^gswell.

1824.—Cuustuutlne McMahon, AhUah Tomllnson.

1825.—No choice.

1826.—Samuel Leavitt, Jr., Nathan Newton.

1827.—Constantino .McMuhon, Samuel Leavitt, Jr.

1828.— Daniel D. Oriiisniaile, Abijuh Tomlinsuu.

1829.—John Newton, Chester Ackley,

1830.—Samuel Leavitt, Jr., Daniel U. Ilrinsmodo.

1831.—Johnson C. Hatch, Joseph Titus, Jr.

1832.—Youngs Elliot, David C. Wliltllrsey.

1833.—David C. Whittlesey, Youngs Elliot.

1834.—Samuel Filsbie, George Lewis.

1835.—Samuel Leavitt, Daniel Wheaton.

1830.—Joseph Titus, Jr., Charles Lemon.

1837.—Daniel D. Brlnimade, Charles Voll.
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1838.—Jobn Newton, Tninian Baldwin.

1839,—John N.Foril, William Pond.

1840.—Cliester Ackley.

1841.—No choice.

1842.—Frederick Cliittenden, Daniel Frisbie.

1843.- George Steele.

1811 45.—No choice.

1840.—Ithiel Hico.\, David Wliittlesey.

1847.—Piatt Bryan, Nathaniel H. Carey.

1848.—Daniel B. Brinsmade, Abijah Tomlinson.

1849.—Sheldon H. Calhoun, Daniel Burnbani.

18^t0.—Abiel C. Lemon, Johnson L. Tomliuson.

1851.—Arvin Bnrnham, IMoseley V. Bronson.

1852.—Knasell W. Frisbie, Leander Odell.

1853.—Sheldon W. Jleeker, Frederick Newton.

1854.—Cynis E. Sterling, Knfus Smith.

1855.—Cny C. Ford, Joel Morehouse.

1850.—Powell Hicko.t, Samuel J. Averill.

1857.—George W. Cogswell, Powell Hickox.

1858.—Garry Newton, George C. Hitchcock.

1850.—Joseph E. Hatch, George K. Logan.

1800.-Isaac D. Patterson, Robert B. Limburner.

18G1.—Orestes Hickox, Sidney H. Lyman.

1802.-Joseph Watson, Nelson Ford.

1803.-Seth S. Logan, Charles C. LemoD.

1804.—Seth S. Logan, Willington Watson.

1805.-EomuUis W. Ford, Abel Bristol.

180G.—Henry J. Church. Levi Morehouse.

18G7.—Wm. Beardsley, B. P. Beach.

1868.—William Odell, James D. Burton.

1809.—lolin B. Newton, Henry S. Wharton.

1870.—S. H. Welton, Samuel H. Clark.

1871.—Joseph N. Frost, George S. Humphrey.

1872.—George S. Cogswell, Sherman Piatt.

1873.—S. F. HoUister, John M. Ford.

1874.—George S. Cogswell, Samuel F. Hollister.

1875.—George S. Cogswell, Samuel Frisbie.

1870.—Ezra B. Beebe, James D. Barton.

1877.—Joliu 51. Ford, Franklin S. Titus.

1878.—John M. Ford, Charles H. Mason.

1870.—Edward P. Lyman, Walter A. Newton.

1880.—Curtis A. Titus, Sheldon J. Logan.

18S1.—Seymour II. Welton, Earl Buckingham.

MILITARY RECORD.

This town responded nobly to the call for men and

money to put down the late Kebellion, and expended

twenty thousand and forty dollars, and sent the follow-

ing soldiers

:

John Ames, Wm, Allen, George H. Abcrton, Henry Armstrong, John

Bailey, John Benedict, Wm. Black, G. H. Black, R. T. Barnum, Ed-

ward F. Ryan, Henry A. Barton, B. N. Brice, Robert Bennett, James

Elauvelt, Charles Basliley, Wm. C. Barney, John Bemus, Watson,

John J., and Robert Cogswell, Henry A., Simeon H., and E. W.

Calliouu, Matthew Crow, Jeremiah Collins, Wni. Culler, Alfred CoUe,

Sheldon Clark, Wni. U. Cone, David Churchill, J. W. Crane, Charles

Dickerhuff, John Darzin, Richard and Wm. H. Davis, Charles Duskey,

John Dewey, Charles Duggan, Wm. Ellis, Christian Eiche, J. Flesor,

J. A. Ferris, Lucius Fox, Sheldon Fox, Wm. P. Fearn, Jos. Francis,

Michael and James Flynn, John Farley, John Foster, P. Fitzgerald,

Remus F. Ford, Charles Goodyear, Charles E. Galpin, J. A. Glover,

Calvin B. Hatch, Edward Hull, John G and Thomas Hall, Alex.

Holyendorf, Olotf Hawser, Dwiglit, Fit?. G., and Lewis Hollister,

Levi A., Piatt A.,John BI., Lewi^,and Lewis G.IIandin, John Jones,

Peter Johnson, J. P. Knowles, Enion C.and Nixon E. Kenney, Frank

Libunr, J. S. Lewis, R. C. Loveridge, John H. Logan, Truman, Mal-

lory, Charles, and John Morse, Wm. McNally, Robert McCarty, Dan-

iel McMahon, Wm. Marks, J. W. Maramhle, James Man, C. Muller,

A. W. Mitchell, Wm. E. Mallon, Charles Noble, J. T. Nettleton,

John Nizzer, Franklin Nichols, Harley Perkins, Jesse Purdon, John

T. Reno, August Ross, John Riley, Edmund and James Smith, Jerry

Sullivan, Jerome Titus, James Thompson, George E. Taylor, Burr,

Charles, John (Sd), and Philip Williams, H. G. Worden.T. J. Wes-

ton, Timothy and Alfred N. Whittlesey, C. L. Warner, Frank War-

ner, Jr., D. B. Wright, Wm. J. Watrous, George Ward, and John

B. Whitehead.

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES.

HON. DANIEL N. BRINSMADE.

Hon. Daniel N. Brinsmade, of Washington, the

son of Rev. Daniel Brinsmade, second pastor of the

Congregational Church in Washington, was born in

1750, graduated at Yale College in 1772, read law in

Sharon, and practiced his profession in his native

place until his death, in 1826. In 1787 he was a dele-

gate to the convention at Hartford which ratified the

Constitution of the United States. He was justice of

the quorum, and assistant judge of the County Court

for si.xteen years, ten of which he sat on the bench.

He represented his town in the Legislature during

forty-three sessions, and was at one time clerk of the

House of Representatives.

DANIEL B. BRINSMADE.

Gen. Daniel B. Brinsmade, son of Hon. Daniel N.

Brinsmade, was born in Washington, Conn., Oct. 15,

1782. He was twice married,—first to Irene Merwin,

by whom he had one son. His second wife was Mary
W. Gold, of Cornwall, Conn. Their family consisted

of four children,—two sons and two daughters,

—

Thomas F., William B., Abigail Irene, and Mary M.
Thomas F. married for his first wife Silence, daughter,

of Samuel Leavitt, and for his second Elizabeth Lea-

vitt, sister of Silence. William B. married Charlotte

Chapin, of Springfield, Mass., who is still living in

Washington. Abigail Irene married F. W. Gunn, of

Washington, where they reside ; and Mary M. mar-

ried George L. Brown, and resides in the city of

Brooklyn.

Gen. Brinsmade was one of the leading spirits of his

day. He succeeded his father, Daniel N., as town
clerk, and ofliciated in that capacity over forty years.

He also represented the town in the General Assem-

bly for the years 1816, 1817, 1828, 'l837, and 1848, and

was a faithful and efficient official. He manifested an

interest in military matters, and in 1817 was made
colonel of the Fifth Regiment of Connecticut Cav-

alry, and subsequently promoted to be general in the

State cavalrj'. He was president of the day at the

Litchfield centennial, held at Litchfield, Aug. 13 and

14, 1851, on which occasion he exhibited the epaulets

and scarf which were worn by Gen. La Fayette during

the war of the Revolution. These historic souvenirs

of the gallant Frenchman, who risked his life in the

defense of American liberty, are heirlooms in the

possession of the Brinsmade family.

Gen. Brinsmade was a man of sterling integrity and

sound judgment, and was a recognized power in the

councils of the town, county, and State. He died

Nov. 3, 1862.
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F. ^y. GUNN.

F. W. Gunn, youngest son and child of Capt. Jolin

Gunn and Polly Ford, was born in the town of Wash-
ington, Litchfield Co., Conn., Oct. 4, 1816.

His father was a native of Washington, Conn., and

was a farmer by occupation. He was deputy sheriff

of Litchfield County for many years, during the time

the laws of the State imprisoned for debt, serving with

credit to himself and satisfaction to his constituents.

He married Polly Ford, and had eight children,

—

three sons and five daughters,—and all but two are

now (1880) living.

F. W. Gunn worked on his father's farm summers,

receiving such advantages for an education as the

schools of his own town and those of neighboring

towns afforded. At seventeen years of age (in 1833)

he entered Yale College, from which he graduated in

1837.

Among the most distinguished members of his class

are Chief Justice Waite, Wm. M. Evarts, Profs. Lyman
and Silliman, and Edwards Pierrepont. We quote the

following from the pen of a personal friend:

"Mr. Gunn's long career and marked success as a

teacher are deserving of something more than a mere

passing notice. Shortly after his graduation from

college he started an academy school at his native

place, in 1839, which, with a few years' interval, he

has kept up ever since. Of the character of so old

and well-established an institution it is hardly neces-

sary to speak. ]\Ir. Gunn is a born teacher. With

that remarkable faculty for interesting pupils in study,

which normal schools may improve but cannot give,

he has excellent methods of play, as well as study for

young folks, and early recognized a fact now becoming

generally understood, that the development of boys'

bodies is as much a part of the teacher's duty as the

development of their minds, taking into consideration

also the most important fact that witli him the boy

finds a home as well as a school. We are not sur-

prised at the evidence of increasing prosperity that

strikes us at each return to the old institution. One
fact we can hardly pass by without due reference.

From the outset Mr. Gunn was an outspoken Aboli-

tionist. At that time the Abolitionist was distrusted

and disliked, if not persecuted, as a disturber of the

peace. The effect on the school was for a time disas-

trous. The number of pupils diminished, and for ii

year or two Mr. Gunn taught at Towandn, Pa. On
his return from Towanda he started a boarding-scliool

in Washington, which for tlie past ten or fifteen

years lias been well known as the 'Gunnery.' Dr.

J. G. Holland has introduced it as the ' Birds' Nest'

into his novel ' Arthur Bonnycastle,' while it appears

as the ' Snuggery' in ' Pastoral Days,' a book writ-

ten and illustrated by Mr. W. Hamilton Gibson, an

old scholar of Mr. Gunn's."

Some of Mr. Gunn's characteristics are untiring

energy, devotion to his professional duties, liberal

with his means, charitable towards those who diflVr

from him in politics or religion, and first and fore-

most in his town in all enterprises having for their

object the best interest of society.

He married Abigail Irene, daughter of Gen. Daniel

B. Brinsmade, of Washington, Conn. She is a lady

of culture and refinement, and universally respected.

They have one daughter, who married John C.

Brinsmade, a graduate of Harvard College. They

are associated with Mr. Gunn in the school.

REV. HEXRY UPSON.

Kev. Henry Upson was born in Wolcott, Conn.,

May 21, 1831 ; was twin brother to Arabella Harriet

Frances Upson, and the youngest of the thirteen

children of Thomas and Jerusha (Upson) Upson, a

grandson of "Esquire" Charles Upson, whose mother

was a sister of the famous Dr. Samuel Hopkins, of

Newport, K. L His early school-days were spent in

the Centre district school of Wolcott, of which he

gave some reminiscences at the centenary meeting

there in 1873. In 1837 the family moved to Berlin

(Kensington parish), where was his home till his

majority. Here he was " a farmer's son," fond of all

domestic animals, his favorite then, as ever since,

being the horse. With such education as the com-

mon school attbrded, in his teens he became a teacher,

and exercised his gifts first in the South District in

his native town, near the place that had been the

home of his grandfather, Isaac Upson. He after-

wards taught in Southington, and received kind

words of praise from his friend Isaac Burritt, brother

of the learned blacksmith. During these years lie

was occasionally engaged as clerk in the store of his

uncle Lucas and brother Samuel Upson, and later,

in the store of his brothers Samuel and John Upson,

in Southington.

Here, in March, 1850, he became a member of the

Congregational Church, under the preaching of Rev.

E. C. Jones, for whom he h.nd the highest respect,

and to whom he has ever felt himself greatly in-

debted for good counsel and timely encouragement.

Becoming a member of the church involved in tlie

mind of the subject of this sketch another important

stej), viz., a liberal education in preparation for the

work of the gospel ministry.

Filial duties to his mother, however, who became

a widow in 1848, led him to spend most of the two

succeeding years on the farm in Kensington. Re-

leased from these labors on his twenty-first birthday,

he became a member of Lewis Academy in Southing-

ton, and learned his first Latin lesson tlie next day.

He began his warfare at his own charges and without

money. By hard work and economy he entered Yule

College in 18.55, with a small sum of money at com-

mand. College-life was congenial and delightful. In

Freshman year ho wa.s chosen deacon, and at the

meeting there were no more votes cast than were

persons present, which, it has been said, has not al-
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ways been the case in electing such officers. He was

often called the "jolly deacon."

Though diverted from study by teaching in term-

time, and by other emploj'ments in vacations for filthy

lucre's sake, he stood well as a student, never got a

tardy mark, and graduated with honor in 1859. In

the .autumn of that ye.ar he became a member of An-
dover Theological Seminary. A part of the next year

he spent there, and then joined the Yale Theological

Seminary. Here, June 16, 1862, from Governor Wil-

liam A. Buckingham he received a commission as

chaplain of the Thirteenth Regiment Connecticut

Volunteers. He was ordained June 22d, and subse-

quently joined the regiment in New Orleans.

Col. Homer B. Sprague, in his history of the regi-

ment, speaks of him as an earnest and eloquent

preacher, but one who in his care for the soul did not

forget the bodj-, as many a load of chickens, turkeys,

pigs, sweet potsitoes, and the like brought into camp
and distributed by him to the half-starved soldiers

testified. He says, also, intimeof battle "he displayed

great courage, and rendered invaluable service in com-
municating orders and dispensing refreshments and

consolation to the wounded." He adds further that

"the chaplain had a vein of fun in his composition,"

and others have thought of the same thing before and

since. He stood by the regiment in every march and

battle and siege till Port Hudson fell. Then he re-

signed his commission, and on Aug. 7, 1863, left the

service of his country to return to Connecticut and

become pastor of the Congregational Church of New
Preston, from which he had received a unanimous

call before he went to war. He was installed Sept.

23, 1863. Oct. 13, 1863, he was married to Abbie A.

Piatt, daughter of Professor Meritt and Abbie A.

(Merwin) Piatt, of Milford. They have had no chil-

dren. For several years after his settlement he was

almost constantly chosen moderator of ecclesiastical

meetings on account of his unusual knowledge and

tact in parliamentary usages. He continued in this

pastorate longer than any one else since 1830. He
preached here till Nov. 23, 1872. From Jan. 1, 1873,

he supplied the pulpit of the old church on the hill

for five years. In 1869 he first received some students

into his family for special instruction and training.

His success in eradicating bad tendencies and instill-

ing good principles was so marked that applications

increased, till, in 1878, he gave up preaching regularly

and devoted his whole time to his school, which then

had become widely known as " Upson Seminary."

Having, in 1865, assisted in purchasing the old Eli-

phaletTomlinson place for a parsonage, when he gave

up preaching in the village those who owned a ma-
jority of the stock were willing to sell it to him that he

might remain and continue his school in the parish.

So the place came into his possession, and the house,

in 1877, he greatly enlarged and improved, making it

both convenient and pleasant for a family school.

His school has been a great pecuniary and social

blessing to the place. From the first it has had the

patronage of persons of national fame and great

wealth. Hon. J. D. Cameron and Maj.-Gen. H. W.
Birge were among its early patrons. A son of Rear-

Admiral A. H. Foote was there, and from Chili a

lineal descendant of Governor Jonathan Trumbull.

Some Japanese students have been in the school, who
have since occupied with honor high stations in the

educational institutions and governmental offices of

Japan. Among his later patrons have been Gen.

Thomas J. Brady and Rev. Dr. T. L. Cuyler. For
one so small in numbers the school has been remark-

ably cosmopolitan in character. Students have come
from the East and the West in our own country, and

from Porto Rico, Chili, Japan, and Germany.

Upson Seminary is peculiar in having no vacations.

Boys make it their home, those going away at the

request of friends for occasional visits. The range of

studies has been wide enough to fit for Yale College

or scientific school, for West Point Academy, or for

business.

The school, from the first day until now, has

steadily grown in popularity, prosperity, and useful-

GREGOKY SEELEY.

Three brothers by the name of Seeley emigrated

from Wales—in what year perhaps no record can be

found—and settled in Fairfield Co., Conn., near Long
Island Sound, one in Stamford, one in Newfield

(now Bridgeport), and the other in West Stratford.

Samuel Seeley, a descendant, lived in Stratfield parish,

and had a family of about twelve children, one of

whom, Ezra, lived in Fairfield, Stratfield parish, and

married Mary Sherwood. They had six children, viz.

:

Anna, Elijah, Aaron, Ezra, Eunice, and Sherwood.

Their son Elijah, born Nov. 27, 1769, and Patience

Gregory, born March 17, 1774, were married March

3, 1793. He died at his home in Easton, Fairfield

Co., March 9, 1851. His wife died at the same place,

Feb. 2, 1863. Their children were Paulina, born

Dec. 18, 1794 (now deceased, and was the wife of

Benjamin Nichols, of Southeast, Putnam Co., N. Y.);

Eunice, born Jan. 8, 1797, died May 9, 1861 ; Gregory

(who is the subject of this sketch, and whose por-

trait may here be seen) was born in the town of Eastoni

Fairfield ^o.. May 14, 1799, and died in the town of

Washington, Litchfield Co., Jan. 28, 1867; Elijah,

Jr., born Jan. 27, 1803, died Oct. 5, 1816 ; Calvin,

born Jan. 13, 1806, and now living in Sandy Creek,

Oswego Co., N. Y. ; Harriet (wife of Titus A. Bryan,

of Washington), born Oct. 19, 1814, died Feb. 19,

1836.

Gregory Seeley, born as above stated, and Polly

Sherwood, born Dec. 24, 1803 (daughter of Walker

Sherwood, Esq., of Easton), were married Nov. 28,

1820. In the spring of 1821 they commenced house-

keeping in their native town, where their eldest son,
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"Walker Sherwood, was born, Aug. 27, 1821 (now a

farmer residing in Woodbury, Conn.).

In the spring of 1822, Mr. Seeley, with his family,

removed to a farm which he had purchased in the

town of Southeast, Putnam Co., N. Y. Here they

lived for thirteen years, during which time five of

their children were born, viz. : Jane Ann, born April

22, 1823, died Oct. 8, 1860 (wife of Daniel S. Baker,

of Washington) ; Calvin, born Sept. 15, 1825, died

Dec. 15, 1842; Marriette, born May 31, 1828, died

March 12, 1878 (wifeof Ethiel S. Green, of New Mil-

ford); Henry Warner, born Feb. 18, 1830, now a

farmer, living in the town of Washington ; Sarah

Elizabeth, born Feb. 3, 1833 (wife of Richard A.

Bryan, of Washington).

During the thirteen years that Mr. Seeley had

lived in Southeast with his family he had been en-

gaged, more or less, in the droving business, and had

frequently gone into the southwestern portion of

Litchfield Co., Conn., to purchase stock, where the

cheapness of the land and its adaptation to grazing

purposes led him to believe that he could better his

lot by selling his farm in New York and buying in

Connecticut. This he accordingly did, moving his

family in the spring of 1835 to Washington, locating

on a farm of nearly four hundred acres which he

had purchased.

Here he commenced a system of farming altogether

new in this section of country, and pursued it till his

death. He devoted his farm especially to grazing

purposes, and discovering that plaster was exactly

suited to the soil he used it plentifully, and was boun-

tifully rewarded.

As an omen of success, in the fall of 1835 (Novem-

ber 1st) there was added to the family a pair of twin

boys, named Edwin Gregory and Edson Elijah,—tlie

former, a farmer, now living in lloxljury. Conn. ; the

latter, a farmer, living in Washington. Benjamin

Nichols, tiie youngest son, was born April 24, 1839,

and now owns and occupies the farm first purcluised

by his father in Washington. Harriet Bryan, the

tenth and youngest cliild, was born Jan. 13, 1845,

and is the wife of Andrew G. Barnes, of New Mil-

ford.

As a man, Gregory Seeley was highly respected,

being social and genial in his nature, and noted for

his hospitality, his " latch-string being always out."

As a farmer, he was energetic, persevering, and

practical, consequently successful. He believed that

to be a good farmer was as much of a trade or pro-

fession as any other, and required as good judgment

and close application. Often told his boys that "the

theologian, physician, and lawyer could consult their

books, the mechanic his square and compass, but the

farmer must weigh and measure with his eye."

His sons all became farmers, and his daughters all

became farmers' wives. Soon after his removal to

Wiishington he purchased a small farm adjoining his

laud, and lying on the main road from Washington to

Woodbury, repaired the buildings, and made it his

home while he lived. His widow owns and occupies

the old homestead, and around the old hearthstone a

large and happy group of children and grandchildren

meet from time to time as the years roll by.

SAMUEL J. AVERILL.

The exact date of the Averills coming to this coun-

try is not known, but a record in the town of Ipswich,

Mass., in 1648, recognizes their presence. Isaac and

his son Samuel (2), who was born in Preston, Conn.,

in 1715, and settled in New Preston in 1748, locating

upon a portion of the Werauraaug Reserve. Samuel

Averill bought the Indian title of Chief Weraumaug

in 1749. The Averills continue to own and live upon

the same to the present time, December, 1880. Perry

(3), born 1754, upon the Averill homestead, was a sol-

dier of the Revolutionary war, attached to Gen. AVash-

ington's army in New York City, and afterwards a col-

onel in the Connecticut militia. Samuel (4), born

1787, a farmer upon the homestead, where he built a

substantial stone house, now occupied by his son,

Samuel J., and his family. The widow, Betsey

Averill, survives him, and was ninety-three years

of age May 5, 1880, hale and vigorous in body,

mind, and spirit. Samuel Averill was a zealous

temjierance and Christian worker, and performed a

great amount of labor on the homestead, gathering

out the stones, making walls, and smoothing it for

permanent use, especially for mowing. Samuel J.

(5), born Feb. 25, 1819, married Laura P. Piatt, of

South Britain, Dec. 4, 1844. Their children are

Ellen M., Heman O., and Julia. They are the sixth

generation living uijon the Averill homestead. Sam-

uel J., the subject of our sketch, was a diligent stu-

dent and a good scholar in the school and academies

of his youth, and taught school one winter. He has

continued his i>ractical education by reading not only

the current news of the day, but also in the line of

moral, religious, and scientific subjects, with a good

degree of interest and intelligence. He brought a

mowing-machine upon the farm Aug. 4, 1853,—prob-

ably the first thoroughly successful one in the county,

—and many more rocks and stones were removed for

its free use and for other purposes upon the farm.

The cai)acity of the farm to i)roduce gras.s has been

thoroughly developed in connection with fatten-

ing cattle. He has learned how to make two spears

of grass grow instead of one, and how to use that

grass for practical purpase. The .Vverill homestead

is a practical proof of the great capacity of the Litch-

field County hills to produce grass and hay. He was

one of the rei)resentatives of the town of Washington

in the State Legi.slature in 1850. He is a deacon in

the New Preston Congregational Church, and is

known as an active Christian and temperance worker

iu the vicinity. He has the courage of holding his
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own convictions, and while lie holds strict allegiance

to mere human creed and dogmas, considers it the

duty of every one to execute loving obedience to all

true law, and fulfill the deeper obligations towards

God and man. In politics he is a Republican.

CHAPTER LXVI.

WATEKTO'WN.

Geographical—Topograpliicnl—The First Settlements—The Pioneers

—

Org.anization of tbePiirisli of Westbury—Incidents—Reminiscences of

Hon. F. J. Kingsliuiy—Pliysicians—Men of Prominence—Lawyers

—

War of 1812—Yules—Evergreen Cemetery—Mortality List—Agricnl-

tural—Summer Resort—Railroad—Reminiscences of Mrs. Rev. Fred-

erick Holcomb.

Wateetown is located in the southeastern jiart of

the county, and is bounded as follows : on the north

by Morris and Thomaston, on the east by Thomaston

and New Haven County, on tlic south by New Haven
County, and on the west by "Woodbury and Bethle-

hem. The surface is hilly and the soil fertile.

THE FIRST SETTLExMENTS.

The first permanent settlements within the bounds

of the present town of Watertown were made in about

1721, by Jonathan Scott, Sr., and Ebenezer Richason,

son of Thomas Richason, one of the pioneers of

Waterbury. The former located on Scott's Moun-
tain, and the latter on the road loading to the moun-

tain and near Steel's Brook.

John Warner, the first physician in the town,

located in about 1723 near Steel's Brook, on the road

leading to Scott's Mountain and Wooster's Swamp.

Two years later, Isaac Castle and Samuel Thomas,

son-in-law of Dr. John Warner, and Joseph Hurlbut,

son-in-law of Jonathan Scott, Sr., joined the settle-

ment, locating at Wooster Swamp. Jonathan Kelsey

also settled during this year.

The beauty of location and fertility of the soil soon

attracted others, and not many years elapsed ere this

became one of the flourishing settlements in this part

of the State.

Among other pioneers, besides those mentioned

above, were Jonathan Scott, Jr., Gersham Scott,

Ebenezer Warner, Joseph Nichols, Abraham Utter,

John Sutlift", Henry Cook, David Scott, Obadiah

Scott, Samuel, James, and Elam Brown, Lieut. J.

Fulford, Capt. N. Arnold, Stephen Judd, Thos. Ham-
mond, James Doolittle, Thomas Judd, Dr. Thos.

Foot, Thos., Capt. Samuel, and Amos Hickox, George

and James Welton, Thomas Matthews, Jonathan

Gurnsey, Israel AVoodward, Joseph Gurnsey, William

Andrews, AVilliam Scovill, Samuel Frost, David

Strickland, Thos. Dutton, Jonathan Prindle, Jeremiah

Peck, Samuel Reynolds, Nathaniel Merrills, Abraham
Andrews, John Judd, John Scovill, Edmund Scott,

Joseph Hickox, John Welton, Obadiah Richards, and

Daniel Porter.

The pioneers were industrious and enterprising,

and as early as 1727 a road was laid out through the

town.

ORGANIZATION OF THE PARISH OF WESTBURY.

The population increased rapidly, and in 1732 they

presented a petition to the General Assembly for

" winter priviledges." " Winter priviledges" meant the

privilege of hiring a minister for themselves during

the winter months, and being exempt during the time

from the old parish rates. This petition was signed

by thirty-two persons. The town appointed a com-

mittee to appear before the Assembly and oppose the

petition ; but, notwithstanding, the privilege was

granted for four years.

In 1733 the " northwest inhabitants" presented a

memorial to the General Assembly, asking to be set

off' as a distinct society, but it was not granted. The
question of the new society came before the Legis-

lature in 1734, and again the town resisted the move-

ment. In 1736 another petition was presented, pray-

ing to be set oft' as a distinct society, representing

that the settlement numbered forty-five families.

This prayer of the petitioners was also refused, but

five months' " winter priviledges" were granted for

two years. Another attempt was made in May, 1737,

but was alike unsuccessftil. In the following October,

however, a vote was passed by the town signifying a

willingness that a Legislative committee should " come

to view all the circumstances of the town."

A committee, consisting of Capt. John Riggs, Capt.

Isaac Dickerman, and John Fowler, was sent by the

Assembly, who reported, in May, 1738, in favor of

the petition, and recommended a division line. The
society at that time contained two hundred and thirty-

five inhabitants. The report of the committee was

adopted at the October session of the General Assem-

bly, and the society incorporated by the name of

Westbury.

The following reference to the early settlement of

the town is taken from the Connecticut Historical

Collection

:

" The first settlement within tbe limits of Watertown was made about

the year 1729, by a family of the name of Garnsey, from Milford, on

what is now the farm owned by Andrew Darrow. It was considered

such an undertaking at that period that prayei-s were offered for their

safe arrival, etc. This town has been noted for the size of its forest-trees.

It is said that one of the first settlers, having no shelter for tbe night,

peeled off tbe bark of one of the trees which lie had felled, and laid down

upon tbe inside. In the morning, when he awoke, he found the bark

rolled up BO closely tliat it was with some diflBculty be could extricate

himself. It is also related that one of tbe firet settler's, by the name of

Brown, was so straitened in bis circumstances that he sold one of his

children (a son) to one of his neighbors for a barrel of pork, in order to

obtain something for the rest ot his children to subsist on."

Bronson, in his " History of Waterbury," says,

—

"The first house wliich was erected in the northwest section of the

town appears to have been built near what was afterwards called ' the

Tillage,' about 1701, by John and Obadiah Richards, son of Obadiah.

The Indian disturbances at that period probably prevented its perma-

nent occupation. Richards' bouse and buildings are occasionally re-

ferred to in the laying-out and conveying of land. In April, 1704,

Abraham Andruss sold two acres on a hill westerly from Richards' land,
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where their house aiitl barn is, west of 'Wooster Swamp. The house is

again meutioned in 1T09.

" Tlie ' village' (so called) mentioned in the last paragraph was a tract

of land in the northwest corner of the town, bordering on Woodbury and

Litclifield, the fertility of which had been discovered at an early period,

and which at an unknown date had been sequestered to prevent its

being taken up in the ordinary land divisions. In November, 1722, the

proprietore agreed to have a division of this sequestered land. At the

same time land was reserved for roads and provision made for a village."

The following is an extract from the records

:

" It was agreed by vote, that in dividing of the sequestered land at the

North West corner, there shall be three tears of Lotts,"—viz., a highway

ne.\t Woodbury of Two Rods wide, and then half a mile wide of Laud to

be paid out in lotts, and then a highway of eight rods to run north and

south, and then a nother tear of lotts a half mile, and then a highway

on the east side of eight rods (&c.), and the committee in laying out the

lotts to leave a four- or si-v-rod highway every half mile or there abouts

through the tears,—no lott to be divi^Ied.

"Several divisions were afterwards made of the village lands, but no

settlement seems to have been begun there for some time. They were

regarded as so much more valuable than the other undivided lauds that,

in some of the divisions, one acre was equal to five acres (or at a later

period, to two and a half acres) in the other parts of the town. The

'village' is now called Gernseytown, from the name of its early settlers,

Jonathan Gernsey and his sons and John Gernsey."

REMINISCENCES.

The following reminiscences of the town are taken

from an address delivered by the Hon. F. J. Kings-

bury at the centennial celebration at AVatertown,

June 17, 1880

:

" By about 1810 the new town might fairly be said to

have outstripped the old ( Waterbury ). Several enter-

prising merchants had established themselves here.

Mr. Wait Smith, wlio was succeeded by his son,

Gen. Genit Smith, Sir. Younglove Cutler, and the

brothers John and Benjamin De Forest, were among
the leading merchants whose enterprise materially

aided in buikling up tlie young town. Tiiey received

the produce of tlie farmers, and tliereby stimulated

production and introduced various new branches of

industry. Chee.se-and butter-making were largely

entered into; tlie raising of stock also, and the pack-

ing of beef and pork. From 1810 to 1830, Watertown

as a commercial centre was a place of more import-

ance than Waterbury, and tliere are numy people still

living who well remember when Waterbury people

came to Watertown to do their shopping, much as

Watertown goes to Waterbury now.
" Early in the century Gen. David Humphreys, a na-

tive of Derby, a man of genius, a soldier of the Revo-

lution, who had been an aide of Washington, became

the representative of this government at the Court of

Spain. He there conceived the idea of importing

into this country the fine-wooled Spanish merino

sheep. He embarked his own fortune in the enter-

prise. To forward his plans lie built a factory for the

manufacture of fine wool goods at Rimmon Falls,

afterwards known a.s Humphreysvillc, and now Sey-

mour, but which should have retaine<l the name of

its founder. He was not pecuniarily successful

;

nevertheless the country owes him a debt of grati-

tude, and the enterprising business men and farmers

of Watertown were among the first to engage enthu-

siastically in his plans. The merino sheep were

brought and bred here, and to this day the name of

Watertown and the flock of Stephen Atwood is cele-

brated wherever merino sheep are known.
" A gentleman who has made agriculture and fine

cattle a study, and who has traveled all over the

world, once told me that he had seen more fine teams

of working oxen in the streets of Watertown than he

had ever seen in any other place in all his travels.

These, of course, were the famous ' Connecticut Reds,'

of which Watertown may be said to have been the

birthplace, and in tlie breeding of which Mr. Jacob

Blakeslee and others have borne a conspicuous part.

" I have been anxious to present some personal

sketches of the men who were most active during this

period in building up the young town. I have only

been able to get two or three, but perhaps others may
be added later. Among the business men of the town,

Younglove Cutler was one of the first to open a store

in the settlement. Whether he preceded Wait Smith

or no, I am unable to say, but they are the two pio-

neers in the business of merchandising. Mr. Cutler

was born in Killingly, Conn., in 1750. Having a

stepmother, he was induced at the age of ten years

to pack all his possessions in a handkerchief, and,

without one cent in his pocket, to strike out and .seek

his fortune, adopting as his motto, ' Go West, young

man,' selecting Westbury as his future home. He
worked about for the farmers for a while as he could

find employment, but I soon hear of him trading in

a small way as a peddler. Next opening a small

store in the south i>art of the house now owned by

Dr. John Dc Forest, where he traded evenings and

worked out through the day, which house must liave

been built not far from 1783, since that is the year in

which he bought the land on which the house stands.

The large show windows can now be seen under the

verandah. Afterwards he built a wood store, where

he traded for many years. The building was after-

wards removed and the brick store built on its site by

Mr. Benjamin De Forest, now occu|>ied by Mr. Mc-

Neil. He was successful in business, being, as I un-

derstand, industrious, energetic, temperate, frugal,

and accjuired, for those days, a handsome estate, a

considerable part of which was lost toward the close

of his life by indorsing. He became a large land-

owner and stock-breeder, and was particularly inter-

ested in the S|)anisli merino sheep, procuring his

flock from Gen. Hum|)hreys, whose importations date

1802. Mr. Cutler sold one ewe for one tliousand dol-

lars, and her unborn lamb for five hundred dollars

more. To his great chagrin the ewe dropped twins,

thus involving to him a loss of five hundred dollars

as he always claimed. From his flock it is said sprung

the ' Stephen .\twood slieep,' now so celebrated through

the countr)'. He died in 1816.

"John H. and Benjamin De Forest, brothers and

natives of Huntington, Conn., came to Watertown

and entered into mercantile business in 18l»3, first in
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a small way in tlie northeast corner room of the house

now occupied by Mr. Lewis, but soon moved to the

store owned and formerly occupied by Mr. Cutler,

which stood on the ground where the brick store now
stands, occupied by Mr. McNeil. There they suc-

cessfully pursued the business of country merchants

till 1817, when the partnership was dissolved. The
business in those days was principally a barter trade;

but little money was in circulation. No cash was

paid out directly for produce; contracts were made
with a few of the larger farmers to bring in their pork,

butter, cheese, and grain, which were the principal

products of the farm, and receive on the 1st day of

April in each year one-quarter to one-third cash, the

remainder to be taken in ' store pay.' The pork, but-

ter, cheese, and grain were all sent by teams to New
Haven. No Waterbury market in those days.

" During the time of their partnership the older

brother, John, went several voyages to sea as .super-

cargo and part owner. On one of these voyages he

visited Sj^ain and brought away a lot of merino sheep,

among the earliest of the kind ever introduced into this

country, which proved both profitable to the owners,

and of immense value to the farming interests of the

United States. A while after the introduction of

these slieep the speculation in them ran so high that

single merino bucks and ewes were sold for fifteen

hundred dollars and sixteen hundred dollars each. On
another voyage, during the war of 1812, and while

England and France were also at war, he sailed for

France with a cargo of codfish. Had they arrived

safely the vessel would have netted a large profit to

her owners, but just as they sighted port the vessel

was cut out by a British privateer, the vessel and cargo

confiscated, and the crew thrust into the celebrated

Dartmoor prison, where they were confined several

months. After a while Mr. De Forest, who was noted

as an adept with the pen, wrote a very plausible letter

to the British admiralty, and so ' pulled the wool'

over the eyes of the officers as to his intentions and

destination that they liberated him and the crew.

"During his residence in Watertown, John H. was

much interested in politics and civil affairs. He was

the principal trying justice for many years, and repre-

sented the town in the State Legislature for five ses-

sions, from 1809 to 1815. About the year 1819, John

H. went to Humphreysville (now Seymour) and pur-

cha-sed the principal water-privilege there, and the

old mill foundry built and occupied by George Hum-
phrey as a woolen-factory, converted it into a cotton-

mill, where he successfully pursued the business of

cotton manufacture till his death, in 1839.

"After the dissolution of partnership in 1817, Ben-

jamin continued the business till 1825, when he gave

it up to Eli Curtiss, who had been his clerk. During

this time, while on a trip to New York to purchase

goods (there being no di'ummers in tho.se days), he saw

abundle of palm-leaf lying on the wharf. The thought

occurred to him that a hat might be made of it similar

to the Panama. He purchased a bundle of palm-
leaf, and also a Panama hat, and brought them home.
He ofl!ered a prize of fifty dollars to any one who would
find out how to braid them. Mr. Anson Beebe. of

Northfield, and lately of Westville, took the prize. He
came to Mr. De Forest's, and for weeks instructed

large numbers of women and girls in the art of braid-

ing. The manufiicture progressed slowly for want of

material. So difficult was it to obtain the plant in

New York that an agent was finally sent to the West
Indies to procure it and to arrange for a future supply.

The manufacture became a success, and large numbers
of women and girls in this and the neighboring towns

made it their principal business, much to their profit.

This branch of manufacture, begun here in Water-

town in this small way, is now extensively prosecuted

by machinery in various parts of the country, and a

hat that once cost two dollars or three dollars is now
sold for fifty or sixty cents.

" A short time before Mr. De Forest left the mer-

cantile business he united with Aaron Benedict and

others in forming a company for the manufacture of

gilt buttons, with a capital of six thousand five hun-

dred dollars, which was the commencement of the

Benedict & Burnham Manufacturing Company of

Waterbury. Mr. De Forest became salesman of the

new company, principally in New York and Boston,

till 1837, when he retired in consequence of ill health,

and died in 1859.

" During the period covered by the sketches just

given the town had g»own in wealth and refinement.

Elegance, and even luxury, as luxury was then

counted, was found among its inhabitants. The peo-

ple were able to give their sons and daughters all the

advantages of education which the country afforded,

and many young men went forth from the old town

who made names for themselves in all parts of the

country.
" So long as agriculture was the principal interest

of the State the young town steadily gained on the

old one in wealth, enterprise, and importance. For

some reason which I have not had time to investigate,

the old town seems to have held its own in population

somewhat remarkably,—perhaps it had that prolific

gift for which poverty is proverbial.

" During the twenty years from 1815 to 1835, Con-

necticut passed from an agricultural to a manufactur-

ing State. The opening of the wheat-lands of the

West, and a variety of other causes which I have not

time to enumerate, wrought this change ; and the in-

habitants of the old town of Waterbury, who had

been compelled by the poverty of their soil to exer-

cise their wits in order to live, now found use for

them in a profitable direction. Very soon the tide

was turned, and the ambitious young men of Water-

town began to look to the lower valley as a place to

exercise their gifts. The current of emigration was

reversed, and the De Forests, Eltons, Buckinghams,

Merrimans, and many others uow brought their cap-
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ital and enterprise back to the older town. There the

farmers soon began to find a market for their produce,

and a place of investment for their surplus gains.

There their sons became captains of industry ; and

where the sons went there went the daughters also."

PHYSICIANS.

The first physician in this town was Dr. John War-
ner, one of the earliest settlers. Others have been as

follows : Thomas Foot, Benjamin Hull, James Elton,

John Elton, Samuel Elton, Keuben S. Woodward,

Norman Bull, John De Forest, Garwood H. Atwood,

Allyn M. Hungerford, Samuel Catlin, Jr., Henry H.

Hart, Walter S. Hunger, and Rev. F. B. Woodman.*

MEN OF PROMINENCE, Etc.

The following persons, born in Watertown, have

distinguished themselves as men of talent

:

John Trumbull, poet ; died in Detroit, Mich.

Ebenezer Foote, attorney; died in Albany, N. Y.

Samuel A. Foote, attorney, Geneva, N. Y.

Samuel W. Southmayd, attorney, Watertown ; died

in Watertown, 1813.

Matthew R. Dutton, professor of mathematics, Yale

College ; died in New Haven, July 17, 1825.

Henry Dutton, attorney, New Haven, and Governor

of Connecticut in 1854.

William E. Curtis, attorney. New York City.

The oldest person who has ever lived in Watertown

as a permanent resident was Mrs. Rebecca Prindle,

widow of Mr. Noah Judd, and granddaughter of

Jonathan Prindle, one of the first settlers. She was

baptized by the Rev. John Trumbull a few days after

his ordination, being the first child baptized in the

place. She died March 19, 1838, aged ninety-nine

years.

In the winter of 1800 a Mrs. Clark, who for a time

had lived with her friends in this place, was carried

to Cornwall, Vt., in a sleigh, being then one hundred

years of age. Siie was known to have lived three or

four years after.

The first male child born in Watertown wa.s Mr.

James Wcltou, who died May 18, 1812, aged eighty-

nine.

Thomas Matthews, Esq., who died Sept. 6, 1798,

aged ninety-eight, was the person who trimmed with

a pocket-knife the tree known as " The Large Elm."

The first one-horse wagon ever owned in Water-

town was purchased by Rev. Chauncey Prindle, in or

about 1805.

The oldest house in this town is the one owned and
occupied by Mr. Andrew Darrow, supposed to have

been built between 1730 and 1785. The next is the

one known as the "Trumbull House," in which John

• Of the phyfilclans mentioned above, Dr. John Klton wni In prnclico

twonty-foiir years, ftn<l Dr. Sainiiel Klton flfty-clKlit yenrs. Tlio Inlter

died Due. 8, 1868. Dr. Juliii l>e Forest practiced fifteen ycara, and Dr.

Allyn M, Uuugorford luis been in active practice gioce 1844,Dearly forty

years.

Trumbull, the celebrated author of " McFingal," was

born, April 24, 1750.

LAWYERS.

The following sketch of the lawyers of Watertown

is taken from an address delivered by the late Hon.

William E. Curtis, of New York, at the Watertown

centennial celebration, June 17, 1880:

" Eli Curtis, who graduated in the class of 1777 at

Yale College, and who lost an arm in the war of the

Revolution, was the first member of the legal profes-

sion that settled in Watertown. Tradition speaks

favorably of his courage and services as an officer of

the Revolutionary army, of his merits as a lawyer,

and the public positions which he held indicate his

appreciation by his fellow-citizens. In the brief list

of subscribers to Kirby's ' Law Reports,' published

at Litchfield in 1789, the first, or among the first, pub-

lished in America, his name appears ; also that of

Samuel Southmayd, the father of Samuel W. South-

mayd, the lawyer; also the name of Thomas Fenn,

Esq., the ancestor of Amasa J. Parker, and other

lawyers of eminence and sterling merit ; and also the

names of Daniel Potter, Esq., and David Smith, Esq.

This subscription-list, both here and over the country,

is worthily represented to-day in the third and fourth

generations of the subscribers. Hon. Eli Curtis re-

moved from Watertown, and died in 1821. Samuel

W. Southmayd was born in this town in September,

1773. He was the great-grandson of the Rev. John

Southmayd, of Waterbury, who himself was the

great-grandson of Sir AVilliam Southmayd, of the

county of Kent, England. He studied law at Litch-

field, and was admitted to the bar in 1795. In 1809

he received the honorary degree of A.M. from Yale

College. He early acquired the esteem and confi-

dence of his townsmen, whom during his brief life he

represented seventeen times in the Legislature. He
soon rose to eminence in his profession. His law

library, much of which came into my father's posses-

sion, contained most of the valuable English reports

and treatises of his day, which, enriched by notes and

addenda in his beautiful handwriting, indicate to this

day how accomplished and learned he was as a law-

yer. He died March 4, 1813.

"The anecdotes and traditions of his career have

almost faded away, but his example as a patriotic

citizen, a kind-hearted man, and a learned ami hon-

orable lawyer, may exert an influence when his name

even is forgotten. He was a bachelor, but died, sur-

rounded by the kindred of relatives awaiting the

change, lus the late Dr. Samuel P. Elton described it

to ine, with the calmness of a philosopher and the

resignation of a Christian. Soon after the death of

Mr. Southmayd a committee was appointed at a meet-

ing of citizens to invite Mr. Holbrook Curtis, then

practicing law in Newtown, to remove to Watertown.

He accepted this invitation, and remained until hia

death, in 1858. He was in 1813 twenty-six years of
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age, having graduated from Yale in 1807. During

his long period of practice he had the respect and

confidence of the community. He was many times a

member of the Legislature, a judge of probate, and

also a judge of the County Court, Cultivated and

scholarly in his tastes, he possessed that rare gift of

memory that apparently placed at his command for

any occasion the Bible, Shakspeare, Hudibras, Black-

stone's * Commentaries/ and Chitty's ' Pleadings,' and

a mass of tradition and anecdote. But his life is so

fresh in your memories that it is unnecessary, perhaps

not becoming, that I should say more of him, yet I

cannot refrain from saying, as his son, how grateful I

shall ever be lo his friends and neighbors, who, in the

weary hours of his declining life, watched over and

cheered and comforted him, and whose kindness, ever

extended to me and mine, makes the very sight of

these hills dear to me."

The present resident lawyer is Curtis B. Atwood.

THE WAR OF 1812,

In the old town records, under date of May 20, 1811,

is recorded the following:

" A circular loiter from tlie Chamber of Commerce in tlie City of New
Haven, and alBo a Letter from the Selectmen of the Town of New Haven

lieariiig sundry resolves of Iliat town was Receivd and Re'd, after which

the fullowiiig were unanimously adopted by Yute (viz.)

:

*' Itesohedy That as Freemen under a free Government, we have a Con-

stitutional right to address our Rulers, stute to tlieni our grievances, and

in Respectful Terms request a Removal of Them.
" Jiesnlved, As sense of this Meeting, that the restrictions on Commerce

adopted and improved by the General Government of the United States

for a number of yeare Past is the principal Cause of our Present em-

barrassment.

" liefiolif'd, Tliat the restrictions heretofore laid on our Commerce have

been Tested by Experience and Prove that as Coercive Measures upon

the great Beligerants of Europe they are futile. That instead of injuring

they are benelitial to them, wliilst the injury is felt only by ourselves,

and that as Perseverance in those measures serves only to weaken our

own strength and disgrace us in the eyes of other Nations.

" /^e-so/vef/, That we Consider the General Assembly of this State tlie

Guardian of our Rights and Liberties, and that a Petition be presented

to their Honorable body now in Session, praying them to make use of

such means as tliey, in their wisdom, shal Tliink best to prevail upon the

General Government to repeal and abandon the restrictive Anti-Com-

mercial System so injurious to the interest of this State.

" Resolved, That we approve of the opinion expressed in the Circular

letter from the Selectmen of the town of New Haven, and of the Cham-

ber of Commerce of the City of New Haven.
" lieaohed. That the Select Men in behalf of the Town Sign the Peti-

tion to the General Assembly, which has been Red and approved in this

Meeting, and that the Representative from this town be requested to

present the swrne."

EVERGREEN CEMETERY.

In 1854 some of the citizens of Watertown united

in an association to procure and arrange another

place of burial besides the one which had been used

from the earliest settlement of the town. A piece of

land containing four and a half acres, a short distance

north of the Centre, was purchased for twelve hundred

dollars, and in part graded and laid out into lots. On
Monday, Sept. 4, 1854, it was dedicated with appro-

priate services, and an address delivered by Hon.

Samuel A. Foote, of Geneva, N. Y.

The ground has since been planted with evergreens,

and the chaste and elegant family monuments and

stones, reared by affection to perpetuate the memory
of the departed, have greatly beautified this place of

the dead.

The first interment in this cemetery was that of

Miss Sarah B. Atwood, daughter of Mr. Hinman At-

wood, who died Aug. 28, 1854, aged twenty-one years.

LIST OF DEATHS.

The following is a list of deaths in Westbury and

Watertown from March, 1741, to 1800:

1741.—Hannah, wife of William Scovill; daughter of Jonathan Foot;

daughter of Nathaniel Arnold; son of Ebenezer Richards;

daughter of Ebenezer Richards; child of James Bellamy; son

of Obadiah Scott.

1743.—Son of Mr. Millard, of Cornwall.

1744.—Stephen Scult; Hannah, wifeofJonatlian Scott; Abigail, daughter

of Stephen Scott ; Mary, wife of Richard Seymour; wife of Tim-

othy Judd; chilli of Timothy Judd.

1745.—Mary, daughter of Samuel Hicox, Jr.; Daniel Howe; Elizabeth,

daughter of Daniel Howe; Jonathan Scott; Mary, daughter of

Ebenezer Warner; James, son of James Brown, Jr.

1740.—Naomi, wife of Samuel Frost; child of Jonathan Scott, Jr.; Zadoc,

son of David Scott; Ellen, daughter of Jnlin Warner, Jr.

1747.—Margery, wife of Stephen Judd; child of Rev. John Trumbull;

Ebenezer, son of Ebenezer Warner; Mary, wife of Ebenezer

Warner; Patience, daughter of David Scott; Widow Sarah

Scott; wife of James Smith.

1748.—Natlian, son of David Scott; Sarah, daughter of Samuel Weed;

Rebecca, wife of Deacon John Warner; Lydia, daughter of

Jonathan Foot; child of Thomas Doolittle.

1749._Wife of Mr. Rice, of Wnllingford; David, son of David Scott;

Elizabeth, daughter of Rev. J. Tnimbull ; David, son of Thomue
Doolittle; Tliomas, sou of Thomas Doolittle; Sarah, daughter

of Jonathan Prindle; Abigail, daughter uf Thomas Cole; Amos,

eon of Amos Hicox ; Daniel, son of Stephen Judd; Mary, second

wife of Stephen Judd ; Mary, daughter of David Andrus; James,

son of Thomas Hickox ; Mary, daughter of Samuel Hickox, Jr.

;

Lois, wife of Caleb Clark; Sarah, daughter of Stephen Scott;

Eunice, daughter of Phineas Matthews; Betsey, daughter of

Edmond Tompkins; Elihu, son of Silas Johnson.

1750.—Dinah, daughter of Nathaniel Arnold, Jr.; Sarah, daughter of

Nathaniel Arnold, Jr. ; Ebenezer Warner; Bethuali, daughter

of Samuel Thomas; Stephen, sou of Ebenezer Warner; Widow
Terrill, of Woodbury; Elizabeth, wife of Nathaniel Arnold;

Widow Hannah Judd; Thomas Wood; David, son of David

Scott; David Scott's colored woman; Martha, wife of William

Andrus; John, son of Ebenezer Warner.

1751.—Deacon John Warner; Daniel Stow; Rachel, daughter of Joseph

Garnsey ; Abigail, daughter of Peter Welton ; George, son of

Peter Welton ; son of James Brown, Jr. ; wife of Capt. William

Judd.

1752.—Wife of Ezra Terrill; child of Ezra Terrill; Elizabeth, wife of

William Scovill; Phebe, wife of John Thomas; Mercy, daughter

of Amos Hickox ; Hannah, daughter of Caleb Clark.

l753._Child itf Samuel Frost; Hannah, wife of Samuel Frost; Bede,

wife of Nathan Bronson; Andrew, colored man of Solomon

Morse; child of Daniel Tyler; child of Josiiih Wetmoro; Na-

thaniel Arnold; Stephen, son of Stephen Matthews; Daniel,

sou of Stephen Welton.

1754.—Samuel, son of Rev. John Trumbull; Jonathan Foot; Hannah,

child of David Scott ; David Strickland ; Moses Bronson ; David,

son of David Andrus.

1755.—Elizabeth, wife of John Welton ; William Scovill ; child ofJames

Brown; Sarah, daughter of Ebenezer Judd.

1756.—Child of Edmond Tompkins, Jr.; child of Amos Hickox; Levi,

son of John Judd; Millicent, daughter of Jonathan Garnsey,

Jr.; Huldah, daughter of Richard Seymor; Joanna, daughter

of Richard Seymor; Abigail, daughter of Deacon Jonathan.

Garnsey ; child of Ebenezer Seymor.

1757.—Child of Benjamin Stillwell; child of John Painter; wife of Ben-

jamin Wetmore ; child of Thomas Button ; child of Josiah Wel-

ton ; son of Thomas Hammond ; child of Elam Brown i child
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of James Doolittle; twin child of Eliphaz Scott; Dinah, wife

of James Doolittle
;
twin child of Eliphaz Scott; wife of John

Cole.

n58.—Josiah Weltou ; child of John Strickland; Noah Arnold; Asa,

son of Ebenezer Richards; child of Stephen Matthews; James
Hammond, John Adkins, both drowned together; child of Na-
than Woodward ; Ebenezer Richards.

1759.—Ezekiel Scott; Hagar, colored girl of Bev. Mr. TrumhuU ; child

of Wait Scott ; Keuben, son of Thomas Dutton ; Phebe, daughter
of Nathan Coles ; Olive, danghter of Ebenezer Foot ; Luther,

son of Benjamin Richards
; Martha, daughter of Daniel Scott;

Giles, son of Deacon Timothy Judd ; Elizabeth, daughter of

Daniel Scott.

1760.—Wife of Moses Cook ; child of Daniel Clark ; child of Ebenezer
Judd; James Browu ; colored boy of James Doolittle; Grace,

daughter of Nathan Woodward; Thomas Richards; Thankful,

wife of Thomas Hanmioud
; wife of Thomas Doolittle; Bethel

Garnsey; Widow Sulliff; Widow Doolittle.

1761.—Child of Thomas Hickox, Jr. ; child of Josiah Stow ; colored boy
of Deacon J. Garnsey

; child of Rev. John Tninihull ; wife of

Samuel Garnsey ; child of Nathaniel Edwards.

1762.—Child of Ebenezer Foot ; Dr. Daniel Scott ; Daniel Scott ; Timothy,
son of Timothy Foot; colored woman of Amos Hickox ; Milli-

cent, daugliter of Timothy Judd; William, son of James Reyn-
olds ; Frederick, son of James Reynolds.

1763.—Child of Timothy Williams ; colored boy of Capt. E. Scovill ; child

of Noah Giiggs; Millicent, second wife of Timothy Judd ; Pruce,

daughter of David Scott; wife of David .\ndrus ; Timothy, sou

of Timothy Judd; child of David Andrus; child of James Reyn-
olds; child of James Fancher; child of Dorcas Fulford ; Gideon,

son of Ambrose Hicko.x ; Ebenezer Foot; Phineas Slalthews.

1764.—Lois, wife of Thomaa Hicko.\, Jr.; Roswelt, son of David Turner;

Joseph Garnsey; Sarah, daughter of Thomas Hamuioml ; Molly,

daughter of Allen Lake; Abel Doolittle (of smallpox).

1765.—Wife of Noah Griggs ; Widow Conklin ; daughter of Gideon Peck
;

Capt. Samuel Hickox ; wife of Jonathan Ri.bbarfs ; Joseph, son

of Thomas Hammond: wife of Samuel Garnsey; sou of Daniel

Clark; child of John MeiTiam.

1766.—Colored hoy of EInathan Judd; child of William Mancer; colored

chihl belonging to EInathan Judd; Josepli Richards; Daniel,

sou of Stephen Matthews; child of Daniel Drown; chihl of Amos
Garnsey

; child of Edmond Locliwood ; Abigail, wife of Kdmond
Lockwood; child of Daniel Bishops; child of Jonatlian Bob-
harts; child of Joshua Morse.

1767.—Negro chihl belonging to B. Richards, Jr.; Dr. Benjamin Hull;
child of James Doolittle; child of Noah Murray; Widow Stow;
child of Samuel Stricklaml ; Lucy, daughter of Samuel Foot

;

colored child belonging to Joshua Morse; child of Lot Oshorn;
John Andrus; child of Samuel Doolittle.

1768.—Ebenezer, son of John Foot; Nathaniel Edwards; Mary, daughter
of Samuel Foot; Lyclla, third wile of Stephen Judd; Sheldon,

son of William Judd; David, sou of David Mattuon ; child of
Josiah SUiw; Caleb Clark; Diana, daughter of Asn Judd ; child

of Samuel Doolittle, child of Samuel Doolittle (twins) ; child of

Asa Leavenworth
; Widow Lydia Foot.

1769.—Child of William Andrus, Jr.; twin child of Thomas Ilnmniond
;

child of Amos Fenn; Esther, wife of John Foot; negro child

belonging to David Scott; Josiah. sou of Daniel Tyler; child of
Wulsey Scott; Jaiues Parker; Stephen, son of Stephen Scott;

Lncinda, cblid (»f Itenjamiii Richards; Dutiorah, daughter of
Jonathan R.tl.barts; i:bild of Jacob Foot.

1770.—Child of Abel Woo.lward; child, daughter of Thomas Dutton;
child, daughter of Kliab Parker; child, sin of William Man-
cer; Agnes, wife of Samuel Smith ; Ueujamin Wotniore; Gllee,

son of John Judd, Jr.; John Edwanis; chihl, son of Samuel
Southmnyoil; child, thiughter of Stephen Slatthows.

1771.—Child of Wolscy Scott; child of Jorenuuh Meard; child of Jamee
Doolittle; Gideon Richards; child of Joshua Morse; child of
Amos Fenn; wife of Daniel Tyler; MartliK, <Uughtcr of
Whiow Haiuuih Si-ott; l.ucretla, wife of Gershom Scott, Jr.;

Benjandu, son of Jonathan Robbalds ; chihl of Thomas Fenn
;

child of Joinithan Rohliards; .Sarah, wife of Nalimn Woodward;
negro chihl belonging to Josiah Slow ; Mercy, daughter of Ed-
mond Tompkins, Jr.; child, daughter of John Merrlam; child,

daughter of Joseph Foot; Jack, colored man; daughter of Jacob
Dowdc; child of John Judd, Jr.; Reuben Snillli; child of Sam-
uel FroBt (3d; ; child of Josoirh Browu ; child of Auuua Weltoo

;

Margaret, wife of Joash Seymor; wife and child of Joel Hun-
gerford.

1772.—Capt. William Judd; child, daughter of Daniel Hickox; child,

daughter of Joash Seymor; cliild, daughter of William Hickox;
child, son of Widow Eunice Smith; John, son of John Frost:

Lydia Seymor; John, son of Asa Leavenworth ; Rachel, wife of

Jedediah Turner; Nathaniel Merrills; child of Thomas Oshorn;
Mercy Porter.

1773.—George Welton; Asenath, danghter of Abram Andi-us; Jamea
Otis; child of Ephraim Robbards; child, son of Thomas Foot;

child of Eliphaz Scott; child of Samuel Stow; Lucy, daughter
of Timothy Richards; child of David Bryan; child of Amos
Belden

; Amos and Jacob, sons of Josiah Hubbard ; Jeremiah,

son of Jeremiah Peck, Jr.; Samuel, son of Thomas Hammond;
child,daughter of Thomas Hammond; Content Peck; Abigail,

wife of Noah Richards
; Sarah Jemima, daughter of Jeremiah

Peck, Jr. ; Margaret, daughter of Barnabas Scott; Luther, son

of William Andrus, Jr. ; danghter of Joel Hungerford ; Roger,

son of Thomas Dutton ; Uri, son of Joel Judd ; Elizabeth, wife

of Capt. Nathaniel Aruold; Hannah, daughter of Noah Judd;
Keziah, daughter of Thomas Dutton ; Amy, daughter of Jona-

than Robbards: Miles, son of Richard Seymor; Widow Eliza-

beth Welton : child of William Mancer.
1774.—David and Elijah, sons of Isaac IMerriam ; Elizabeth, daughter of

William Scovill; Abiah, daughter of Jacob Foot ; Amy, daugh-
ter of Jonathan Robbards; Da\id Scovill; Justin Daily (leg am-
putated January 13th) ; Ab^'ah Garnsey (leg amimtated Febru-
ary oth); child of Joseph Hickox : child of Samuel Stow; child

of William Mancer; Sybil, wife of Dauiel Hickox; child of

Daniel Brown (lid) ; Lorain, wife of William Mancer; Isaac,

son of Thomas Buckingham; Hannah, wife of Eliphaz Scott;

child of Joel Hungerford; child, daughter of David ManTil;
David, son of David Manvil ; Mary, daughter'of Samuel Doo-
little ; Indian woman belonging to I. Woodruff; child of Jame6
Doolittle; rliilJof Brewster Judd; Obadiah Richards; children

of Samuel Welton (twins); child of David Pnndei-son.

1775.—Wife of Theophilus Baldwin; ncgress belonging to Joseph Garn-
sey ; David Maltoou; Wealthy, daughter of Ephndui How;
Mary, daughter of Henry Wooster ; Bethel, sou of William
Scovill; Lot*, daughter of Nathaniel Edwards; Timothy
Arnold; daughter of Ambrose Hickox; sou of Elijah Wood-
ward; sou of Titus Dutton; Jonathan Robbards.

1776.—Mehitahel, wife of Daniel Tyler, Jr. ; Hannah,wlfeof Darid Garn-
sey ; Abigail, wife of David Clap; child of William Ilickox,Jr.;

Widow Fninces Wotmoro; Samuel Foot; Deacon Jonathan
Garnsey; child of Jacob Foot; Ephraim Robbards; Abigail,

daughter of Eber Scott ; Dr. James Elton, at Kensington
; Capt.

Michael Dayton ; Aaixin, son of Eber Scott ; Widow Phebe Slat-

toon
; Sarah, wife of Suniuol Hickox (3<1); Jonathan Williams;

Ellas Welniore; Isaac, son of Joel Hungerfonl; Sena, daughter
of Darius Scovill ; Ablnini Slmhlurd ; Benjamin Peck ; daughter
of Darius .<covlll; Abigail, wife of Stephen Welton; son of

Timothy Fo<il; Comfort Peck
;
granddaughter of Thomas Mer-

chant ; Lydia, wife of Timothy Williams; two children ofHuu-
lel Tyler, Jr. ; Dr. Thomas Fool.

1777.—Sarah, s^'coml wife of Thomas Hammond; EInathan Judd; child

of Josluh Hubbard, Jr. , Mary, wife of William Judd; James
Smith ; Sandi, second wife of Ntiali Richards ; Ruth, wife of

Edward Scovill ; Abel D.Kdlttle ; Nathaniel Welt.>n; Montgom-
ery, son of Daniel Pemllelon ; Surah, wife of Capt. Benjamin
Richards; Widow .Margaret Edwanls; Capt. Nathaniel Arnold;

child of Ira Scovill; Samuel, s«in of Santuel Brown; Copt.

Thonuia Richards; Kbcnczer Wetuiore; son of John Hendrick;
Putty, daughter of John llemlrick; Eunice Btaltoun ; Daniel,

son of Thomas Judd; daughter of Jocthua Hone; Ebenezer,

sou of Ami Porter; Silas, son of Asu Porter; Abraham, son of

Sanniel Foot ; Olivia, daughter of Brewster Judd ; Stephen Judd

;

Sural), wife of Timothy FiKit; sou of Timothy Andrus; Rebecca,

daughter of David Feiiu; Jonathan, son of David Fenn; Dio-

dema, daughter of William Andnis; son of Davhl Dayton.

1776.—Son of Samuel Strickland; Pede, daughter of Capt. Thomas Cole;

Gershom Scott, Jr.; coloretl man of Joshua Morse; child of

Alexander Douglass; Edward Scovill, Jr.; child of Mr. Tread-

well ; child of Thounis Merrlam ; son of Elijah WoodwanI

;

twodaughtefs of Daniel Pendleton (twins); John, son of Justin

Daily; child of Daniel Seymor; Rebecca, secoDd yrlti of Joel

Uuugerfonl ; Samuel Ulckox (3d),
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1779.—Thankful, wife of Seth Mattoon ; Elizabeth, wife of John Jiidd,

Jr. ; Benjamin, son of Ambrose Hickox, Jr. ; child of Kiclmrd T.

Reynolds; Asa, son of Asa Porter; Joel Judd ; Susanna, wife of

Sampson Stoddard; Grigg, colored man of Rev. Mr. Trumbull

;

child of Marilly Mallory; Capt. Edward Scovill; child of Joel

Hungerford; son of William Scovill.

1780.—John Welton ; child of Samuel Smith ; Merriam, wife of Deacon

Thomas Hickox; daughter of John Woodruff; Gershom Scott;

wife of James Williams; child of Isaiah Jones; Esther, daugh-

ter of Amoa Garnsey; William, son of John Trumbull, Jr.;

Sarah, daughter of John Foot; child of Amos Garnsey, Jr.

1781.—Sou of Eldad Andrus; child of Eli Hickox; daughter of Amoa

Garnsey, Jr.; child of Demas Judd; Hannah, third wife of

Noah Richards ; Seth Blake.

1782.—David Scott; first wife of Thomas Matthews, Esq. ; Mary, fourth

wife of Timothy Judd, Esq.; Eleazar Scott; Isaiah Jonea;

Thomas Doolittle.

1783.—Elam Brown; Abigail, wife of Jodas Hickox.

1784.—Child of Samuel Seymor; Matthew Dutton ; Isaac Woodruff;

Comfort Woodruff; Hannah, wife of John Nettleton, Jr.

1785.—Child of John Mattoon; child of Joseph Edwards; Samuel, son

of Samuel Seymor; Mr. Johnson; Wait, Obadiah, and David

Scott.

[Watertown bell first Jmng in August, nfi5, funeral tolU beginning as foUowa :]

1785.—Child of Daniel Hickox.

17yG.—Child of Eliphalet Smith ; Merriam Judd; Jeremiah Peck ; Mary,

wife of Samuel Judd; child of Stephen Scott; Chloe Kenny;

Hannah Lockwood; Josiah Hickox; Esther, wife of Ebenezer

Stow; child of Ebenezer Stow; child of Joseph Nettleton, Jr.;

child of Abijah Oshorn; child of Eliphaz Scott; Polly Scott.

1787.—Child of Widow Phu.'be Hickox ; wife of Charles Collins, Jr. (L.

Farms) ; Rebecca, wife of Eliphalet Smith ; son of Gideon Matthews

;

child of Eli Osborn ; child of Eliphalet Smith ; child of John Wood-

ward ; wife of Samuel Judd, Jr.; Mercy, wife of Amos Hickox;

Daniel Goodiich ; Widow Juhuson ; Currence, second wife of Samuel

Garnsey; child of Reuben Andrus; John Nettleton; wife of Amos

Stillson; Rev. John Trumbull; Sarah, wife of Simeon Peck; Capt.

Enoch Davis; Deacon Thomas Hicox.

1788.—Senah, wife of Charles Dayton; Widow Eunice Higgins; Polly

Bassett ; child of David Manvill ; child of Isaac Scott ; Eli Hickox

;

Sarah Southmayd; eon of Amasa Mattoon; Widow Joanna Porter;

children of R. T. Reynolds, twins; Lucy Davis; Susanna, second

wife of E. Lockwood; Benjamin Richards {3d).

1789,—Child of Simeon Peck; Jehiel Saxton ; Widow Childson ; child of

Michael Judd; Widow Abigail Smith; Anna, wife of Eleazer Prin-

dle; child of Joel Merriam; child of Josiah Hubbard, Jr. ; Joseph

Frost; Joseph Foot; son of Chauucey B. Garnsey; child of Ephraim

Andrua; Widow Elizabeth Foot; child of Joash Seymor; Lydia

Hickox.

1790.—Peter Welton; son of Asahel Merrills; child of R. T. Reynolds;

Jonathan Johnson ; child of Ri(-hard Treat ; child of Samuel South-

mayd; Widow Mary Buckingham; Anna, wife of Daniel Welton;

daughter of Reuben Welton; Widow Rebecca Smith; Esther, wife

of Jacob Foot; child of Simeon Peck; daughter of T. Hotchkiss

(drowned); Abigail, wife of Gershom Fulford; son of Josiah Sey-

mor; daughter of Samuel Judd, Jr.

1791.—Charlotte, daughter of S. Reynolds, Jr.; Gershom Fulford;

daughter of Abigail Northrop; child of R. T. Reynolds; child of

Richard Frost; child of Joseph Whitmore; Widow Martha Scott;

Dorcas Fulford; child of David Hull, Jr.; child of Abel Dayton;

child of David Garnsey ; child of Hezekiah Hubbard; Mary, wife of

Uri Scott; Anna, colored girl of Titus Hotchkiss; child of Jacob

Bidwell, Jr.; Martha, wife of Daniel M'Donold ; daughter of David

Baldwin: Hannah Cook; Chandler Judd.

1792.—Widow Thankful Foot; Widow Elizabeth Robertson; child of

Amos Titus; son of Thomas Fenn, Jr.; child of Hnldah Perkins;

child of Ezra Fields; Mercy, wife of Eben Beardsley; Gideon Beards-

ley ; Ambrose Hickox; Hannah, second wife of T. Matthews; child

of Isjiac Edwards; Daniel McDonold ; daughter of Samuel Rey-

nolds, Jr.; child of Thomas Fenn, Jr.; son of Widow Molly Hickox;

child of Joash Seymor ; Lilla, wife of Pomp Freeman ; Mary, wife of

Jonathan Scott.

1793.—Child of Zadoc Osborne; child of R. T. Reynolds; Samuel Judd;

Uriel, son of Rev. Uriel Gridley; child of Simeon Peck; child of

David Prindle; Molly, wife of Ambrose Hickox; child of Pomp

Freeman; Samuel Hitchcock; Mary, wife of Ebenezer Porter;

daughter of Demas Judd ; Asahel Edwards ; two daughters of Amasa
Preston; child of M. Robbanls, Woodbury ; daughter of Ira Tolls;

Asaph Welton; Oliver Clark; James, son of Isaac Humphrey;
Nancy, daughter of Y. L. Cutler; daughter of James Williams;

Margaret, wife of Kichard Miles; Martha, wife of Ethel Porter;

child of John Nettleton; Laura Woodward; son of Enoch Davis;

Hannah, daughter of Jonathan Robbards ; Isaac, son of Peter Bene-

dict; child of Olive Bronson; John Judd.

1794.—Rebecca, wife of C. Merriam ; child of John Eggleston ; child of

Charles Merriman ; child of Isaac Garnsey ; child of David Edwards
;

eon of David Hubbard ; Elijah, son of Elijah Birge ; Rebecca, wife of

Daniel Matthews; Jacob Bidwell; child of Pomp Freeman ; Rhoda,

wife of T. Leavenwurth ; Richard Miles; Hannah, daughter of Jo-

seph Fenn; Abigail Ferris; Polly Judd; Abigail Smith; James

Fayette; child of Jared Bradley; Widow Frances Peck; Samuel

Belden; child of Charles Merriman; Wolsey Scott; son of Noah
Judd.

1795.—Widow Desire Garnsey; Joseph Griffin; John Stoddard, of Hai^

winton; child of William Scovill, Jr.; child of Salmon Parker;

Jerusha, wife of Thomas Davis; child of Edmond Lockwood, Jr.;

James Foot; Mary Daily ; Widow Esther Merrills; Lydia Williams;

Sarah, wife of Nathan Scott; child of R. T. Reynolds; Anna, daugh-

ter of Nathan Kellogg; Capt. Joash Seymor.

1796.—Mehetable DeForest; Thomas Buckingham ; Ezra Howe, colored;

Huldah, wife of James McDonold; child of Demas Judd; child of

Pomp Freeman ; Susanna, wife of Rev. U. Gridley ; Hannah, wife of

Capt. S. Matthews; child of Dr. R. S. Woodward; child of Stephen

Scott, Jr. ; Widow Sarah Bryan; Widow Jerusha Pitcher; Parthena

Welton; Seth Bartholomew; Voadice, wife of Samuel Williams;

Abigail, wife of Josiah Hubbard; Kichard Seymor; child of Amoa
Griggs; Patty, wife of Ashbel Loveland; child of Joel Merriam;

child of Reuben Foot; Harriet, daughter of Aner Bradley; Sarah,

second wife of Thonuis Merriam ; child of Eleazer Judd; Susanna,

wife of David Manville ; Eber Scott; Kesiah, wife of Jonathan

Garnsey.

1797.—Mary, second wife of Thomas Davis; son of Thomas Davis; Mar-

tin Kellogg; Ethel Porter; Margaret Seymor; Abi Foot; John

Judd; child of James McDonold; child of Daniel Garnsey; Mercy

Edwards; daughter of William Watson; child of Samuel Woodruff;

Tabitha, wife of Henry Skilton ; Chester Dutton.

1798,—Children of Stephen Porter, twins; Jenny, Jonathan Scotfs col-

ored girl; Sarah, wife of Stephen Porter; sou of David Bunnel, of

Oxford; Olive, wife of James Merriam; Irena Ferris; Widow Ra-

chel Priudle; Widow Mary Griffin; Widow Thankful Punderson;

Pathene Merriam; child of Samuel Martin; Ebenezer Andrua;

Widow Mary Scott; sou of Erastus Cadwell; Sam (colored man);

David Andrus; daughter of William Scovill, Jr.; Thomas Matthews,

Esq.; son of William Scovill, Jr. ; Jared Bradley; Widow Martha

Scovill.

1799.—Samuel Hough (Salem, N. Y.) ; Selah, son of Isaac Barns; Polly,

daughter of Aner Bradley ; HemanMunson; Rebecca, wife of Thos.

Foot; Sarah, wife of Eber Scott; Eunice, wife of Martin Kellogg;

Sarah, wife of Capt. S. Reynolds ; Merit N. Woodruff, drowned while

bathing; Joseph Nettleton; Anadine, wife of S. Beardsley; Capt.

Israel Woodward; Thomas Merchant; Capt. John Woodruff; child

of Theodore Garnsey; child of James Garnsey.

In the ordinary course of events many of the citi-

zens of Watertown have removed their residence to

other places, but they carry with them pleasant and

fragrant memories of past days, and take a just pride

in the growth and advancement of their native place.

To come back and revisit their old homes, to greet

the friends and companions of youthful and maturer

years, is an ever-fertile source of pleasure; to speak

of changes that have come to each during days of

separation fills the mind with sadness. The ceme-

teries sliow where to find those who are missed among

the living, and their ever-open and increasing vol-

umes give a faithful record of familiar names. As a

beautiful rural place for the repose of the dead, Ever-

green Cemetery is.seldom surpassed. The old ceme-
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tery affords a cherished resting-place for those who
desire to be laid beside kindred and friends whose

graves were made long ago.

AGRICULTURAL.

As an agricultural town, Watertown stands among
the first in Litchfield County. Its farmers are widely

known for their thrift and enterprise, and the products

of their farms are not often excelled. The Agricul-

tural Association of the town, formed in 1867, is flour-

ishing and increasing in interest, and offers at its an-

nual autumnal fair as great attractions as those which

have had a longer existence. The present oflicers of

the society are as follows : Henry E. Scott, President

;

G. S. Atwood, AVm. G. French, C. A. Warner, Vice-

Presidents ; Alanson Warren, Secretary ; George

Woodward, Assistant Secretary ; F. B. Hand, Treas-

urer; Executive Committee, O. B. King, C. T.

Hickox, C. L. Dayton, M. Hemminway, Jr., George

Warner, Jacob Blakeslee, S. H. Peck, W. H. Atwood.

SUMMER RESORT.

As a healthy and attractive summer resort, also,

Watertown has a just repute. Its fine and well-kept

residences, churches, and other buildings form a prom-

inent part in the landscape. The AVarren House,

which affords accommodations for a large number of

guests, is an elegant structure, with fine grounds hand-

somely laid out.

RAILROAD.

Railroad communication with seaboard and adja-

cent places, which has long been desired, is now af-

forded. A branch road, connecting with the Xauga-

tuck Railroad at Waterbury, was opened a few years

since.

We subjoin the following reminiscences of Water-

town, written by Mrs. Rev. Frederick Holcomb, and

read at the centennial celebration, June 17, 1880.

" I have been requested by some friends whom I

highly esteem to say a few words, through my pen, on

this interesting occasion,—a strange request to make
to one of my years, and to one so unused to address

an audience. There is no conceivable reason for it,

except it be that my memory reaches back through

eighty years of the past century. Acting on this sup-

position, you shall have some of my childish reminis-

cences, for you can expect none other from one who
has reached the years of second childhood. The first

thing that I distinctly remember is being led across

the street to look at the lifeless remains of Dr. John
Elton. He was highly esteemed as a physician, but

died in 1800, at the age of forty-five years, and leaving

his son Samuel as his successor. He educated this

son from early childhood to be a physician, and he

commenced practice, in company with his father, at

the early age of eighteen years. He soon won the

confidence of the wiiolc community, and his attend-

ance and advice was sought from the adjacent towns.

Perhaps his success may be attributed more to his na-

tive strength of mind, his ingenuity in devising ways

and means to relieve distress, and his avoidance of

powerful medicines except in extreme cases, rather

than from knowledge derived from medical books.

He said once in my hearing that medicine was good

for nothing but as an auxiliary to assist nature in

throwing off disease. He once told me that when he

had nervous, fidgety persons who could not be paci-

fied without some medicine when he thought they re-

quired none, that he had manufactured some pills of

pure bread for his patients, specifying the number to

be taken, and charging them not to take an overdose.

He added that the patient would afterwards speak of

the wonderful curative properties of those pills, and

the sudden relief obtained from their use.

"I will next speak of the days of military exercise,

called ' training-days.' On the morning of those days

the_ children of the village were on the alert, watching

for the hoisting of the national flag to the summit of

the liberty-pole. This pole was erected a few rods

westward of the residence of Mrs. Eli Curtiss. They
(the children) made a hasty breakfast, and dressed in

their Sunday .suit, and, their pockets lined with cop-

pers, were ready to proceed to the scence of action.

These coppers were designed to purchase gingerbread

of a venerable old lady who lived near the liberty-

pole, and always kept in readiness for such occasions.

Oh, the flavor of that gingerbread on youthful lips!

methinks I taste it yet, and see the shining lustre of

its glossy surface. The train-band were in readiness

by nine o'clock to perform their evolutions, their

marches, and countermarches, all the children fol-

lowing in their wake to the music of fife and drum,

unless the troopers appeared and scattered the little

girls in wild dismay to find some place of security,

for the troopers presented quite a formidable appear-

ance, wearing fiery retl coats, black bearskin caps,

and riding furiously on prancing steeds, the musicians

blowing vigorously on trumpets, and the others occa-

sionally firing off their pistols. Oh, the tired little feet

at the close of those days, and the welcome rest on the

downy pillows!

" A vivid remembrance comes up before me. It was

Saturday evening, just after sunset, and I was passing

the residence of a neiglibor, in which dwelt an aged

pair. There was a little porch in front of the house,

in which were seated this venerable couple. Oh, the

silence, the stillness, the holiness that seemed to per-

vade the atmosphere ! Even tiie zephyrs dared not

play with his hoarj- locks. Their Sabbath had com-

menced with Saturday's setting sun, and they seemed

to be holding secret communion with their God. Awe-

struck and silent, I passed along, but the imi)ression

remained. Had any one pa.sscd tiie house on Sunday

evening at the same hour, possibly they might have

found the people all astir making preparations for

the labors of the following week, as their Sabbath

ended at sunset.

" Some of you may remember the little red school-
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house on the village green, surrounded by highways.

There was a large fireplace at either end ; there was

a swing pai-tition, which could be let down and form

two rooms, or be raised, and, by the aid of a platform,

make a fine place for the display of oratorical powers.

Oh, these long pages in Morse's geography, without

the aid of globe or map ! One kind te.acher used to

carve apples in various devices to brighten our dull-

ness about the division of the earth and the first prin-

ciples of astronomy. But more distinctly than all is

remembered the shape and size of his ferrule, and

very vividly the peculiar tingle left in the palm of

the hand when administered as a punishment for

whispering. There were a class of young people older

than myself who had the benefit of the instructions

of Mr. William J. Puuderson, who were said to be

the best readers and the most intelligent, enterprising

class ever raised in Watertown. Some of them emi-

grated, and became distinguished in other places;

others remained to benefit their native place. Two
of these persons I would briefly notice. The one was

a lady of commanding form and presence with an

intellectual and lovely face, pleasing powers of con-

versation ; in short, in her were combined all the

loveliness of the female character. She died in 1862,

at the advanced age of eighty-seven.

" You will anticipate that I speak of Mrs. Young-

love Cutler. Oh, how I loved her while living, how
I venerate her memory still ! The other lady still

lives, though now in her tenth decade. I make an

annual pilgrimage to look into her gentle face and

listen to her lively, interesting conversation, as she

speaks of the happiness of the past, the mercies of

the present, and the bright hopes in the future. I

allude to Mrs. Deacon Allen Hungerford. I would

not omit honorable mention of our worthy fellow-

citizen, Capt. Merit Barnes. He resembles the sturdy

oak which has breasted the storms and winds of

nearly a century, still remaining hale and vigorous,

imparting shade and shelter to all around it.

" You shall next have my recollections of the old

Congregational church, then called the ' meeting-

house.' It was situated a little north of the present

post-office, the steeple end at the west, near the public

highway. Drawing near, you would discover a huge

stone horse-block for the convenience of equine wor-

shipers. Tliere was a little square room at the en-

trance for the convenience of bell-ringing. Here
might usually be found the stalwart form of Mr. Jere-

miah Peck tugging at the bell-rope. It is said that

this old gentleman for eight or ten years rang that

bell every evening in the week, Saturdays excepted,

precisely at nine o'clock, to warn the good people that

it was time to be at home. Saturday evening being

holy time, it was taken for granted they were at home
and at their devotions. From this little room there

was a door of entrance into the main building. There

was also a door at the eastern extremity. The descent

of land was so great that it required a very high un-

derpinning
; so they built a double flight of steps, one

from the north, the other from the south, to bring

them on to a platform on a level with the door of en-

trance. Possibly to avoid all imitations of poperj', or

even of churchmanship, the main door or entrance

was placed directly in the side of the building. The
broad aisle led across to the opposite side, where was

a flight of stairs leading up to an elevated pulpit,

about on a level with the singers' gallery. There was

a huge piece of architecture built on the wall behind

the pulpit, projecting over the minister's head, called

a sounding-board, said to assist the minister in making
himself heard. Beneath the pulpit was the deacon's

seat, a long, straight pew, with the back to the pulpit.

The audience-room was divided into pews resembling

pens, with the door of entrance on one side, and seats

running around the other three sides. In these little

pens the good people rose up to pray, and sat down to

praise. The singers' gallery was cqmposed of two

straight rows of slips, extending around three sides of

the building. The leader sat directly in front of the

pulpit, with his tenor on his left hand, his counter on

his right. The treble occupied the seats on the east

side of the building, the bass on the west. They were

arranged in single file. Behind the singers' seats there

was an elevated platform, extending quite around the

gallery, and between this platform and the walls of

the building was a row of pens, similar to those below,

elevated one step. These were designed for the younger

members of the society. They then had a tithingman

appointed, whose duty it was to watch over the con-

duct or misconduct of these youngsters, and woe be to

them if they saw him marching towards them in all

the pride of office. The Rev. Uried Gridley was the

minister at that time. He was a man of more than

ordinary size, and beautifully proportioned. I shall

never forget, aud language would fail me to describe,

his majestic dignity and easy grace as he walked,

bowing reverently, up the broad aisle, ascended the

steps to the pulpit, and turned his placid, benign face

towards the audience. No doubt the good man enter-

tained some of the prejudices of that age against forms

of prayer, but some of his sentences are indelibly en-

graven on the memory from their oft repetition. The
minister then read a psalm or hymn. The choir rose;

the leader produced an immense pitch-pipe and blew

upon the key-note ; every singer responded to bring

their voices in unison. Then commenced the singing,

the leader beating time the full length of his arm to

keep them all up to the mark. They frequently sang

fugue tunes, the parts responding back and forth till

the walls seemed filled with melody. I remember

how majestically it sounded to my infant ears when
they sang

"
' On cherubim and serapIilDi

Full royally he rode,

.\nd on tho winj^s of mighty winds

Came flying all abroad.'

"There was a bald-headed old gentleman, small in

stature, with spindling limbs, who frequently took his
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stand beside Mr. Gridley in the pulpit, or rather be-

neath him, and held up in the direction of his face a

large fuunel-shaped ear-trumpet, to catch the words

of wisdom as they fell from his lips. On one occasion

he seemed rather dissatisfied with his trumpet. He
removed it from his ear, applied its orifice to his lips

and blew into it, as if to remove some real or imag-

inary obstruction. The trumpet responded with a

loud blast. The children had a great veneration for

Parson Gridley. If he entered the school-room, we
all rose en masse to show our respect. If we saw his

portly form advancing on the highway, we ranged

ourselves on the side of the path and made him a low

obeisance as he passed. The good man, with true

civility, always returned the salute.

" There was a building erected for the convenience

and comfort on Sundays for those who lived at a dis-

tance. They called it a 'Sabba-day house.' It stood

on the ground near the present residence of Mr. Day
Woodward. I think there was a shelter in the rear

for their horses. In front was a room with a large

fireplace, which in winter was filled with a roaring

wood-fire, with hot, burning coals on the hearth. Into

this comfortable room the good people used to bring

their luncheon, and, it is said, a small wooden bottle

filled with cider, to refresh them at noon. They then

left for church, some of the more delicate of the

females filling little foot-stoves with burning coals.

There was no smell of fire in any house of worship

in those days, save what came from those little foot-

atoves. No one thought of staying at home on that

account, but our sufferings were at times almost un-

bearable. It has always remained an unsolved prob-

lem how the minister could perform the duties of the

sanctuary with such frosty feet and chattering teetli.

" There was one worthy old pair whom no extremes

of cold or heat could prevent attending public wor-

ship. They were always to be seen at the regular

hour, each mounted on a pacing horse. At length

came the era of the onc-horac wagon. The old gen-

tleman procured one, together with a harness to fit

his wife's horse, and after adjusting tilings to his own
satisfaction, gave the whip and reins into her hands,

after inviting a widow of the neighborhood to take a

seat by her side. He then mounted his own pacer,

and, with John Gilpin civility, rode ' on horseback

after we.' Tiiey reached the cliurcli in safety, and
passed a most enjoyable day; but on their return,

just an they were passing our dwelling, the veiiicle

suddenly capsized and threw its occupant.s witli much
force on to the dusty pathway. They rose with

smashed bonnets and garments filled witli dust, and
moved towards the Jiouse. We hastened to meet
them, and soon discovered that the driver's nose was
minus a large piece of skin, and the widow had
sprained her wrist. The driver washed the blood

from her face, procured a piece of white paper, wet
it, and laid it carefully over the bruised member, then

mounted her spectacles over the whole, and taking
43

up a Bible that lay near, calmly proceeded to read in

it, while the widow, some hurt, but more frightened,

could not suppress her sighs and tears. The gentle-

man, after attending to the welfare of his horses, came

to the house to ascertain the situation of his wife.

In a state of high nervous excitement he kept crying

out, ' You pulled the wrong rein : why didn't you pull

t'other rein "?' The old lady, calm and serene as the

surface of an unruflled lake, pursued her reading.

She of the sprained wrist groaned audil)ly, while my
young eyes opened widely that any man should speak

thus testily to his wife, especially when she was

smarting under the sharp twinges of such a skinless

nose. But don't draw any wrong inferences. He
was truly a good man. This little episode was the

natural result of having passed through such a new

and unlooked-for experience.

" My parents, in their more youthful days, were at-

tendants at the Congregational Church. They con-

formed to the Episcopi\l Church before my recollection.

As the parish was small, and unable to support preach-

ing but one-third of the time, we all went to 'meet-

ing' (as it was called) the other two-thirds. This may
be one reason, among others, why to this day I enjoy

their services, and when present always feel myself to

be among friends.

"My first recollections of the Episcopal Church is

being led in one day before service to hear the choir

practice music. The singers' seats were arranged

very much like those at the other church. They sat

in single file, extending round the gallery. They had

the same formidable pitch-pipe and three tenor sing-

ers beating time, to the imminent danger of dislo-

cating their shoulders. The treble sang alone. It

sounded sweet to my childish ears

:

'" From pleasant trees timt sliailo the brink,

Tlie lurk and linnet like to drink.'

Surely this poetry was not found in the prayer-book

or hymnal. The Rev. Chauncey Prindle, rector, soon

walked up the aisle in his clerical robes, and passed

through the chancel into the reading-desk. I recol-

lect little except being awe-struck as he read the com-

mandments. But never can I forget the impressions

received as he pa.sscd through the old cemetery at the

head of a funeral procession, reading the service for

the burial of the dead. !?urely never language fell on

human ears so sublime as that. It seemed a voice

from another world, and it seems so still. Indeed, 'all

the prayers and services of the Episcopal Church have

become, from lifelong use, a part of my being. They

never tire, are ever fresh and new, and, as is said of

old wine, the longer kept the richer the flavor. Par-

don me, my friends, but if you place an old lady on

this spot you must allow her to show her colors.

" My first recollections of the Methodists) in this

place is that of a few people who were peculiar in

excluding all bows and trimmings from their dress,

denied all necessity for human learning in the prepa-

ration for the ministry, depending on immediate di-
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vine inspiration, and were said to be loud and demon-

strative in their manner of conducting public worship.

Truth and candor compel me to confess that these

peculiarities were then considered a fit subject for

ridicule. But what a change hath time wrought

!

They now have colleges and seminaries of learning all

over the land to educate their ministers, and no out-

ward garb or custom to distinguish them from others.

In this town they have a neat little house of worship,

a flourishing congregation, in whose male and female

members are numbered some of our most esteemed

citizens, and with a leader and guide at their head
' whose praise is in all the churches.' This confession

is due to them from one who, in her thoughtless days,

laughed with others at their peculiarities. She now
wishes them all success in ' whatsoever things are law-

ful and of good report,' but must confess to a lurking

desire, a secret hope, that they will yet return to the

mother they have deserted, and, bringing their zeal

with them, warm us all up to more zeal and devotion

in the cause of the Master.

" There is an element in our society formerly un-

known. In olden days we seldom, if ever, looked into

the face of an Irishman, but now they swarm in all

our borders. Like bees, they are industrious, loading

themselves with honeyed sweets to carry home to their

hives ; but, like bees, if trampled on or crowded into a

corner, beware of their sting! Kind-hearted and

sympathetic, they are true to their friends. They

came from their mother-country to better their condi-

tion, and, judging from appearances, they have found

what they sought. Look at their nice church edifice,

and at the large congregation of well-dressed people

that attend their services. Look at the full employ-

ment they all find, at the comfoi'table homes they

own, and at the opportunity their children have for

acquiring an education. The intelligent Irish child

is not a whit behind the keenest little Yankee. They

are rather exclusive in their notions of church fellow-

ship, and are honest about it; but my faith looks for-

ward to the day (either in this world or the next)

when all who truly love the Lord Jesus shall see eye

to eye.

" Our colored inhabitants, who a century ago had

not the right to call themselves their own, now enjoy

all the privileges of others, whether civil, educational,

political, or religious. Must we not all thankfully

exclaim, ' What hath God wrought !'

" A few words about our two cemeteries and I will

close. The first record of an interment in the old

cemetery was in March, 1741. It continued to be the

only place until August, 1856. Perhaps as many
persons lie buried there as are now living in Water-

town. There repose in death the two first Congrega-

tional ministei-s of the gospel, and with them nearly

all their people ; there sleep our ancestors, and many
of the friends of our youth. They sleep the sleep that

knows no waking. Not even the tramp of the iron

horse, or the rattling roar of the cars dashing through

their midst, can arouse them from their slumbers

;

but the last trumpet of the Archangel can, and will,

and of what a rising that will be of priests and people

!

The first interment in our beautiful Evergreen Ceme-
tery was in August, 1854, of Miss Sarah B. Atwood,

a few days before its dedication. It seemed sad to

turn from her grave and leave her alone in that field

;

but how soon is she surrounded by numbers ! Most
of our families can say, ' There lies one of our heart's

chief earthly treasures.' There sleeps the kind phy-

sician, Dr. Elton, who would cheerfully rise at mid-

night and breast the storm to alleviate the sufferings

of his poorest patient; and near him lies the good
lawyer, Holbrook Curtiss, who was himself so averse

to angry litigation that he trained our people to such

habits of peaceful ness that to this day they scarcely

need a lawyer to settle their diff^erences. And here

rest from their labors three ministers of the gospel.

The first of the three was the Rev. Frederick Hol-

comb (Episcopal). He was the person that offered

the opening prayer at the dedication of the cemetery.

It becomes not his widow to speak of him in terms of

unmeasured praise. She leaves the record of his long

life of patient eflbrt to advance the best interests of

Watertown and its inhabitants to the memories of

those who survive him. In the home which his love

and kindness so cheered and gladdened there must,

while life lasts, remain a sad vacancy, and a grief in

the heart of the bereaved one, ' with which a stranger

intermeddleth not.' The second interment was the

Rev. Dr. Lewis (Episcopal). Who that ever listened

to his godly teaching, or witnessed his truly Christian

example, can ever cease to mourn his loss ? He was

a teacher who convinced himself. The third was the

Rev. Franklyn Tuxbury (Congregational). His so-

journ amongst us was short, and as I was not a mem-
ber of his flock, of course had few opportunities of

listening to his preaching ; but he gave a course of

scientific lectures which I attended, and came to the

deliberate conclusion that no man had ever labored

more earnestly to elevate the literary, moral, and re-

ligious character of this people than did Mr. Tux-

bury. It gives me pleasure to bear this public testi-

mony of my appreciation of his worth of character,

and am confident that many, with me, are thankful

that his remains rest in our pleasant cemetery, where

we can occasionally visit his grave."

CHAPTER LXVIL
WATERTOWN (Continued).

ECCLESIASTICAL HISTORY.

CoDgregational Church—Christ Church—Methodist Episcopal Church

—

Methodist Episcopal Church in North Part of Town.

THE CONGBEGATIONAL CHURCH.

This church was organized soon after the incorpo-

ration of the society or parish of Westbury, in 1738,

and among its founders were the following : Deacon
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J. Garnsey, Daniel Scott, Lieut. Thomas Richards,

Nathaniel Arnold, William Scoville, George Welton,

Thomas Matthews, Deacon Thomas Hicox, Deacon

Timothy Judd, Deacon John Warner, Ebenezer Por-

ter, Amos Hicox, Jeremiah Peck, Joseph Garnsey,

Thomas Cole, Ambrose Hicox, Stephen Scott, Thomas
Buckingham, Thomas Hammond, John Stoddard,

Richard Seymour, Timothy Williams, Elnathan Judd,

Thomas Fenn, Samuel Reynolds, Michael Dayton.

The first church edifice was erected in 1741, near

the southwest corner of the old cemeterj-.

" The place for a meeting-house being determined,

the Westbury people applied to the town to provide

the ground and the necessary public green. Accord-

ingly, the town directed their committee laying out

highways at the northeast quarter (it should be north-

west) to widen the highway, so as to accommodate

said house with a suitable green, according to their

discretion, and to award satisfaction to the owners of

the land. This was the 24th day of December, 1739,

and in the February following the committee, John

Judd and John Scovill, laid out the land, as follows :

"'Beginning at the southwest corner, a heap of

stones, then east ten rods to a heap of stones, then

ten rods north to a heap of stones, then west eleven

rods to a heap of stones, then south eighteen rods to

a heap of stones, where we began, butting west on

land left for a highway, north on Eleazar Scott's land,

south on Stephen Scott's land, east on Eleazar Scott's

land, or common land, as set out by us.'

" The land included in these lands amounted to

nearly one acre, belonging to Eleazar Scott, and as a

remuneration for the same the committee awarded him
' three acres of land, to lay out in the undivided laud,

or fifty shillings in money.' "

The first pastor of the new parish was Rev. John
Trumbull, who was born in Suflield in 1715. He was

very popular with the people, and acquired great in-

fluence by generosity, hospitality, and kindness. It

is said that " if one of his parishioners liad lost a cow,

or had met with a similar calamity, he would interest

himself in the matter, head a subscription for his re-

lief, and persuade others to sign the same."

It was also said of him " that if one of his people

turned Episcojjalian he would buy his farm." lie

was a wealthy man, and a large land-holder.

The following reminiscences are related of liim in

Bronson's "History of Waterbury" : "Mr. Trumbull

was not a tall, but a stout, athletic man. He was
sound, shrewd, and humorous. Horses he was fond

of, and bought and sold them frequently with success.

On this account he was sometimes irreverently called

'Jockey Trumbull.' He loved innocent sports, and
had once been a great wrestler. A story is told of

him which, though it may not be wholly true, is prob-

ably not a pure invention. At any rate i# illustrates

the manners of the times

:

"The Waterbury and Westbury people were in the

habit of meeting at some half-way place, in the long

autumnal evenings, to contend as wrestlers. They
met around a fire, and the sport was commenced by

the second-rate athletes. When one was thrown,

the vanquished called in another from his own side,

the object being to vanquish the victor. Then the

experts were called out in succession, and he who re-

mained last on his legs was the bully of the night.

In several of these contests, at the time of which I

am speaking, Waterbury had proven too much for

Westbury. Mr. Trumbull heard of the defeat of his

boys, and partook of their mortification. On occasion

of the next contest he disguised himself, and went

down unknown, except to two or three, to give ' mate-

rial aid,' if necessary. The wrestlers were called in

one after another till Westbury was again ' thrown

out,' the Waterbury champion having grounded the

last of the rival party. At this period, when the

signs of exultation on one side and chagrin on

the other were becoming manifest, a stranger was

dragged in from the outer circle of the ring to con-

tend for the Westbury boys. The parties placed

themselves in position, and began, by ' playiu' 'round,'

to find each other's qualities. After a little time the

stranger, watching his opportunity, caught his antag-

onist's foot and threw him upon the fire. Shouts

filled the air, and the victor disappeared. Great was

the exploit, and great the mystery of the affair, but

the secret finally leaked out.

" The story reached the ears of Mr. Leavenworth,

pastor at Waterbury, and the next time he met his

brother, Trumbull, he rebuked him for his levity, and

censured him particularly for throwing his rival upon

the fire, by which his clothes and fle.sh were scorched.

Trumbull agreed that he had been guilty of levity,

but a.-i for the scorching, lie thought it his duty to

give his (Mr. Leavenworth's) parishioners a foretaste

of what they might expect after sitting under his

preaching I"

In his will he be<iueathed to his widow his " negro

wench Lemmon," and to his son, John Trumbull, of

Hartlbrd, gave his negro girl " Mabel," also his knee-

buckles and powder-horn. To his daughter Sarah,

wife of Dr. Caleb Perkins, of Hartford, he bequeathed

his negro girl " Peg," and another daughter, Lucy,

wife of Rev. Mr. Langdon, of Danbury, received a

negro girl " that was now in her possession."

Among the early deacons of this church were Joha
Warner, .Jonathan Garnsey, Timothy Judd, Thomas
Ilickox, Samuel Hickox, Thomas Fenn, and Thomas
Dutton.

The .second church. edifice was erected in 1772, and

was located a few rods ea-st of the present one, on

lands purcha-seil of Mr. Wait Scott. Services were

held in the building until January, 1840. In 1839

the present church edifice was built on lands pur-

chased of the heirs of David Woodward, and was

dedicated Jan. 29, 1840.

The pastors from the organization of the church to

the present time have been as follows : John Trumbull,
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1739, died in 1787; Uriah Gridley, 1784, died in 1820
;

Horace Hooker, 1822-24; Darius O. Griswold, 1825-

35; William B. Deforest, 1835-37; Pluto E. Hurd,

1840-49; Chauncey Goodrich,* 1849-56; George P.

Prudden, 1857 ; Samuel M. Freeland, Benjamin S.

Parsons, Stephen Fenn, G. P. Gilman, Franklin

Tucksbury, and C. P. Crofts.

CHRIST CHURCH.

The first movement towards the formation of an

Episcojial parish in Westbury was in 1764, when the

following persons agreed to hold public worship in

Westbury on those Sundays when there was no

preaching in Waterbury, and also to make arrange-

ments to erect an Episcopal church in Westbury.

They met in the house of James Doolittle in the

winter, and of Ensign David Scott in the summer.

Their names are as follows : Asahel Beach, Seth

Blake, James Doolittle, Noah Judd, Joseph Priehard,

Edward Scovill, Jonathan Garnsey, Samuel Brown,

Daniel Brown, Jonathan Fulford, Asa Judd, Eleazar

Prindle, Samuel Scovill, Joseph Hicox, Joseph

Brown, Thomas Doolittle, John Judd, John Hicox,

Gershom Scott, William Scovill.

In 1765, under the agency of Capt. Scovill, the

first Episcopal church was erected on a piece of

ground donated for the purpose by Capt. George

Nichols, of Waterbury, a few rods southwest of the

first Congregational church, the business part of the

town being then near the locality of the churches.

The second, in 1793, on a piece of ground pur-

chased of Mr. Samuel Southmayd, south of Mr. Tim-

othy Judd's, and near where is now the residence of

Alanson Warren, Esq. It was consecrated Nov. 18,

1794, by Right Rev. Bishop Seabury, and last used

for divine worship on Sunday, Oct. 28, 1855. Soon

after it was purchased by George P. Woodruff, and

removed to its present location. None of the con-

tributors for the erection of said church are now

living. In February, 1846, valuable real estate, which

had been previously purchased by J. N. Blakeslee,

Esq., was offered to and secured by this society, on a

portion of which an academy was erected in 1846, a

rectory in 1851, and in 1855 a new church edifice, the

corner-stone of which was laid by Right Rev. Assist-

ant Bishop Williams, on Monday, May 29, 1854, and

the church consecrated by him on Thursday, Nov.

15, 1855.

The rectors of the church have been as follows

:

James Scovill, 1759-85; Chauncey Prindle, 1788-

1804; Russell Wheeler, 1805-14; Frederick Hol-

comb, D.D., 1814-38; N. S. Richardson, D.D., 1838-

45; Frederick Holcomb, D.D., 1845-50; Horace H.

Reid, 1850-57 ; Benjamin W. Stone, D.D., 1857; Wm.
H. Lewis, D.D., S. D. McConnell, and James Stod-

dard.

The church edifice was repaired and beautified

* Father of the late Samuel G. Goodrich, funiiliarly known as ** Peter

Parley."

in about the year 1870, and few country churches

are more pleasing than this in its proportions and

style of architecture.

METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH.

The first services according to the rites of the

Methodist Episcopal Church in Watertown Centre

were held May 29, 1853, in a room kindly offered for

the purpose by M. Heminway, Esq., and in the fol-

lowing July the church was organized. The chapel

belonging to the Congregational society was their

place of meeting from the winter of the same year

until October, 1854, when they occupied the lecture-

room of their new church, which had been erected

during the previous summer on an eligible lot pur-

chased of Miss Lydia Woodward. It was dedicated

Dec. 13, 1854, the sermon on the occasion being

preached by Rev. Dr. Kennedy.

The pastors of this church have been as follows:

Joseph Smith and Larmon W. Abbott officiated once

in two weeks until May, 1857 ; Mr. Abbott remained

until 1859 ; A. V. R. Abbott, 1859-60; Seymour Lan-

don, 1861-62 ; A. C. Eggleston, 1863-65 ; T. A. Love-

joy, 1866-67, till June; W. S. Bell, latter part of

1867; David Osborn, 1868-69; Benjamin Pillsbury,

1870-71 ; Thomas N. Laine, 1872-74 ; Horace Q.

Judd, 1875-77 ; Sidney K. Smith, 1878-80.

There is an old Methodist church standing in the

north part of the town, but was long since abandoned

as a place of worship.

CHAPTER LXVIIL
"WATEBTOWN (Continued).

CIVIL AND MILITARY.

Incorporation of Town—First Town-Meeting—Officers Elected—Extracts

from Town Records—The Revolution—Division of the Town—Repre-

sentatives from 1780-1881—Town Clerks—Prohate Judges—Military

Record, 1801-65.

INCORPORATION OF THE TOWN.

This town was formed from Waterbury in May,

1780, and incorporated as Watertown, which included

the present towns of Plymouth and Thomaston.

THE FIRST TOWN-MEETING.

The first town-meeting was held, with Phineas

Royce as moderator, in the present town of Water-

town, June 19, 1780, when the following officers were

elected : Town Clerk, Timothy Judd ; Selectmen,

Thos. Fenn, Thos. Dutton, Stephen Mathews, Na-

thaniel Barnes, and Jesse Curtis ; Constables, Samuel

Hickox, Thos. Dutton, Noah Richards, John Fancher,

and Samuel Lewis ; Grand Jurors, Josiah Hubbard,

Samuel Southmayd, Theophilus Baldwin, Thomas
Cole, Joseph Curtice, Amos Dunbar, Samuel Sutliff,

and James Warner ; Listers, Samuel Hickox, Samuel

Southmayd, Jonathan Scott, Asa Porter, Jathan Cur-
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tice ; Moses Frost, Isaac Fenn, and Zachariah Hitch-

cox ; Tithingmen, John Merriam, Samuel Reynolds,

Wait Smith, Timothy Tuttle, Benj. Upson, and Gid-

eon Seymour ; Surveyors of Highways, Thos. Hickox,

Jr., Amos Hickox, Jr., Allyn S. Judd, John Wood-

ward, John Nettleton, Jr., Jehiel Saxton, David

Foot, Jonas Hungerford, John Judd, Jacob Foot, Asa

Darrow, Benjamin Upson, Jr., Moses Foot, Benj.

Barnes, Edmund Todd, Jason Fenn, Lazarus Ives,

David Bartholomew, Abraham Wheaton, Aaron

Fenn, Abet Sutliff, Jr., John Warner, Jr., Thaddeus

Baldwams ; Branders, Amos Mathews, Thos. Fancher

;

Leather-Sealers, Jedediah Turner and Asa Darrow

;

Treasurer, Timothy Judd ; Collectors of Poor Rate,

Job Garnsey, Samuel Seymour, Younglove Cutter,

and Aaron Fenn ; Town Agent, Capt. Samuel Hickox
;

Inspectors of Provisions, Lieut. Peter Welton, Capt.

Isaac Merriam, Jonathan Scott, Joseph Foot, David

Turner, Capt. John Sutliff, Capt. Jotham Curtice, and

Capt. Moses Foot.

EXTRACTS FROM THE TOWN RECORDS.

Capt. Samuel Hickox, Edmund Lockwood, Col.

Benjamin Richards, Younglove Cutter, Maj. Jesse

Curtis, Capt. Stephen Seymour, and Lieut. Thomas

Dutton were appointed a committee at the first town-

meeting "to hire men to fill up the town quota in the

Continental army."

"At the same Meeting Granted A Rate of two pence on tlie Pound, to

be paid by Tlie first day August Next, and to bo paid in liard Money or

In Bills Emitted by this Slate Since February Laat.

"At the same meeting made choice of Thos, Hiclto.x, Jr., David Hickox,

Capt. Benj. Richards, Israel Woodward, Jr., Tlioa. Foot. Younglove Cut-

ter, Samuel Todd, Lazarus Ivea, Isaac Fenn for a Comuutteo to Provide

for the Continental Sonldier's Families.

"It was also voted that Every Person Shall have a Suitable time to

remove his Mark from Waterbury Town Records to this Town Records.

" The m etiug then adjourned to the Second Monday of July ucxt, at

one of the Clock in the Afternoon, iu this Place.

" And tlio meeting met accorditig to adjournment untl Voted that their

Representatives that shall attend the General Assembly in Oct. next,

shall prepare a Memorial to said Assembly for Liberty to set up a Sign

Post in or Near the Middle of the Societies of Westbnry and Northbury,

in tills Town.
" At ttie same Jleeting, voted to Erect a Sign Post at or Near the Mcct-

ing-House in Northbury, and to Affix a Pair 0/ Stock* at or Dear the

Meeting-IIouse in Westlmry.

" Voted, Tliat the Committee appointed to hire men Into the Continen-

tal Service are Inipowered to act Discretionary, and thoy are to Continue

until the Town-Meeting in Doc. next."

In December, 1780, a committee was appointed to

" view or reconnoitre a road from Torrington bounds

to Woodbury bounds."

" At the same Meeting Granted a Rate of three ponce on the Pound,

to be Paid in states Money, or Silver Money, or Continental Money, and

to b« made on tliu List of 1780, and to be paid by the flrst day March
next.

"At the town-meeting held Apl 19, 1781, a rate waa granted of one

penny hnlf-penny on the Pound, to be paid on the List of 1780, tu ho

paid In Wheat at Gt. per Bushel, Rye at 4«. per bushel, and Indian Corn
atSff. per Bushel, or iti Silver Money at Six and Eight pence per Ounce,

Bd. Rate to be paid by the ilrst Day of August Next.

"At the same meeting made choice of Cap. John WoodnilT, Noah
Richards, Jotham Curtice, John Fancher, and Joeeph Curtice fur a Cum-
mittoo to hire Bonldiors to Enlist to go tu horse nock (Oreeuwich, Conn.)

for the term of one year.

"The same meeting made Choice of Lt. Amos Hickox, Jr., for a Con-

ductor of the Temes that are to Cart the Continental Provisions the

Current Year.

" At the same meeting gave Liberty for any Number of Persons or

Person to build a Howse or Howses for those Soldier's families that are

Entitled for the term of three Years or During the war, on the Eigli-

ways, taking the Direction of the Encroaching Committee."

At a special town-meeting, held June 25, 1781,

" Voted, To Class the Town into Seven Classes, in Order to raise Seven

men or Souldiers for the Continental Service."

At the same meeting

" Passed a Vote Desiring the Selectmen to use their Endeavors to

Catch those men that Belong to this Town that have Deserted from the

Continental Service and take them to the Camp."

At a meeting held February, 1782, choice was made
of Edmund Lockwood, Jesse Curtice, Allyn S. Judd,

and James Warner for a committee to hire a man, or

men, for the Continental service ; also

" Voted, That if any Person that shall take up a Cattel and any Sonl-

dier belonging to this Town that has Descried from the Continental

army and Deliver him to an olticer in said aimy and take his Receipt

therefore, shall receive the sum of £15, Lawful Money (viz.), if Listed

three yeai-s or During the War."

May 2, 1782, Capt. Moses Foot and John Wood-
ward were appointed a committee to take the Conti-

nental soldiers to Wallingford in order to be mustered,

and take receipts of the muster-master thereof.

The first town-meeting held in that part of the

town then called Northbury, now the town of Ply-

mouth, was on Sept. 18, 1781, and the second in De-

cember, 1782.

£ •. d.

John Merrill's rate for the year 17S1 Is to the amount ot 239 13 8
Credit by rates turned the sum of...,. 10 18

Timothy Foot's order 7 13 10

A rate-bill for provisions to Col. Benj. Richards 34G 19 6

Ditto Capt. Isaac Merrlam's 317 16 9

John Nettleton, Jr *'i 14 18

DIVISION OF THE TOWN.

The first vote in reference to the division of the

town, and the setting oti'of Nortltbury (now Plymouth

and Thomaston), was made at a town-meeting held

Sept. 25, 1786, and waa as follows:

" Voted, That This Town have a mind to bo Divided Into Two Towno

and Maid Cliolce of Capt. Soniuel Illrkox, Col. Darld Smith, Samuol

Southmay, Capt. James Warner, Walt Smith, Capt. Daniel Potter, John

Woodwanl, Abuer Blakeslee, Lt. Aaron Iluckley, and Aaron Dunbar, a

Committee To agree U|>on Terms of a Division and Make Report to Each

Society By the Second Monday of Oct. Next."

TOWN CLERKS.

Timothy Jndd, 1780-K); A. Bradley, 1784-80, 1788. 1790-92, 1804-'J3;

Allyn Wright, 1787, 1789, 1793-M ; Ell Curtis, 1795-1801 ; Samuel W.

Southniayd, 1802-4; Timothy C. Stub, 1»24-'2G; E»r« rield>,1827;

Holbruok Curtis, 1827-44; Lcnian W. Culler, 1850-81.

PROBATE JUDGES.

The Watcrtown Probate District was organizcil in

1834, and the following is a list of the judges from

tliat time to tiic present

:

llulbrook Curtis, Judge, 1834-35; Benjamin De Foreal, 18:)0; Merit llem-

inway, IKH; llolbrook Curtis, 18.'lg-45; Charlee S. Woodward, 1846

;

Ilolbrook Cunia, 1847-40; Allyn M. lluDgerford, 1850-51 ; Leniau

W. Culler, IW>m 1862 to the prewnt time,—a period of nearly Ihlny

yean.
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REPRESENTATIVES FROM 1780 TO 1881.

1780, Capt. Thomas Fenn, Maj. Jesse Curtis; 17S1, Capt. Thomas Fenn,

Maj. Jesse Curtis, Capt. Pliineas Royce; 1782, Capt. Samuel Hicox,

Capt. Pbineas Royce, Capt. Thomas Fenn, Capt. Nathaniel Barns

;

1783, Capt. Thomas Fenn, Capt. Nathaniel Barns ; 1784, Capt. Samuel

Hicox, Capt. Nathaniel Barns, Maj. David Smith : 1785, Capt. Thomas
Fenn, Maj. David Smith : 1786, Capt. Thomas Fenn, Col. David

Smith, Capt. Daniel Potter; 1787, Capt. Thomas Fenn, Capt. Daniel

Potter; 1788, Capt. Thomas Fenn, Col. David Smith; 1789, Capt.

Thomas Fenn, Wait Smith, Col. David Smith, Capt. Daniel Potter;

1790, Thomas Fenn, Col. David Smith; 1791, Thomas Fenn, Col.

David Smith, Elijah Woodward ; 1792, Elijah Woodward, Col. David

Smith, Daniel Potter; 1793, Thomas Fenn, Joseph A. Wright; 1794,

Thomas Fenn, Joseph A. Wright, Elijah Woodward, David Smith

;

1795, Aner Bradley, Joseph A. Wright, Thomas Fenn; 1796-97,

Thomas Fenn. Aner Bradley; 1798-98, Thomas Fenn, S. W. South-

mayd; 180U, Thomas Fenn; 1801-3, Thoma.^ Fenn, S. W. South-

mayd; 1804, S. W. Southmayd ; 180.';, Thomas Fenn, Samuel W.
Southmayd ; 1800, Samuel W. Southmayd ; 1807, Thomas Fenn,

Samuel W. Southmayd, Samuel Hulburt; 1808, Samuel W. South-

mayd
; 1809, John H. De Forest, Pliineas Miner; 1810, Garrett

Smith; 1811-12, Samuel W. Southmayd; 1813, Garrett Smith ; 1814,

Garrett Smith, John H. De Forest; 1815, John H. De Forest; 181G,

David Baldwin; 1817, Samuel Elton; 1818. Amos Baldwin; 1819,

Daniel Hicox ; 1820, Amos Baldwin; 1821-22, Holbrook Curtis; 1823

-24, Samuel H. Nettlelon ; 1825, John Buckingham ; 1826, John Mor-

ris; 1827, John Buckingham; 1828-29, Jumes Bishop ; 1830, Samuel
H. Nettleton; 1831, Benjamin De Forest; 1832, John Morris; 1833,

Holbrook Curtis; 18:14, Joel Hungerford; 1835, William H. Merri-

man; 1830, Leman W. Cutler; 1837, Holbrook Curtis; 1838, John De
Forest; 1839, Holbrook Curtis; 1840, Leman W. Cutler; 1841, Alan-

son Warren; 1842, no record; 1843, Holbrook Curtis; 1844, Lucius

Woodward; 1845, Holbrook Curtis; 1846, Samuel H. Nettleton; 1847,

Edward Hickox; 1848, David Mattoon;.1849, George F. Mernman;
1860-51, A. M. Hungerford; 1852, C. T. Hickox; 1853, George P.

WoodruCf; 1854, Daton Mnttoon ; 1865, William B. Hotchkiss; 1866,

Rupell H. Beera; 1857, A. B. Everett; 1858, Truman A. Warren;

1859, Caleb T. Hickox ; 1860, S. P. Woodward; 1861, Eli Curtis; 1802,

Chester Hurd; 1SC3, David Wclton ; 1864, George Mallory; 1866,

Amos M. Judd; 1866, John H. Woodruff; 1867-68, George Wood-
ward : 1869-70, Charles A. Warren ; 1871, E. M. Smith ; 1872, Dayton

Mattoon; 1873, George A. Woodruff; 1874, George A. Woodruff;

1875, William G. French; 1876-78, Leman W. Cutler; 1879, Charles

A. Warren; 1880, David Welton; 1881, Merritt C. Skilton.

MILITARY RECORD, 1861-65.

The following persons enlisted from Watertown
for three years in different Connecticut regiments,

under the call of the President for five hundred thou-

sand men in 1861

:

Robert B. Atwood, corporal, Co. G, 4th Regt.*

Mark 0. Patterson, corporal, Co. G, 4th Regt.

Levi B. Downs, Co. 1, 4th Regt.

Augustus Lane, Co. I, 4th Regt.

William D. Noble, Co. I, 4th Regt.

William W. Scovill, Co. I, 4th Regt.

William Gridley, Co. D, 5th Regt.

William H. Malloiy, captain, Harris Light Cav.

George Castle, Harris Light Cav.

McHenry Stone, Harris Light Cav.

Lewis J. Welton, Harris Light Cav.

Eugene Mclntire, Co. E, 6tli Regt.

Frederick H. Welton, sergeant. Co. B, 7th Regt.

Theodore Welton, Co. B, 7th Regt.

J. Shelton Branson, Co. E, 8th Regt.

Sylvanus M. Clarke, Co. E, 8th Regt.

George H. Baker, Co. E, 8th Regt.

Adolph Hoffenmeyer, Co. C, 11th Regt.

Albert S. Frost, Co. E, Uth Regt.

Henry G. Scott, Co. I, lat Conn. Heavy Art.

Hubert Scott, Co. I, Ist Conn. Heavy Art.

J. J. Fischer, Co. I, lat Conn. Heavy Art.

* Changed from infantry to 1st Connecticut Heavy Artillery, Jan. 2,

1862.

Chester Russell, Co. 1, 1st Conn. Heavy Art.

H. W. Loomis, Co. I, 1st Conn. Heavy Art.

Bronson Welton, Co. C, 1st Conn. Heavy Art.

William H. Norris, Co. 1, 13th Regt.

H. A. Pratt, quartermaster-sergeant, lat Conn. Heavy Art.

The following persons enlisted in August, 1862, for

three years or during the war, in Company D, Nine-

teenth Regiment Connecticut Volunteers, and re-

ceived the town bounty of one hundred dollars each

as residents of the town of Watertown

:

William H. Lewis, Jr., recruiting officer; William C. Atwood, John S.

Atwood, Joseph Atwood, Charles L. Bryan, Norman W. Barnes,

Harvey Bronson, James McCormick, Simon O'Donnell, Jr., Theo-

dore C. Glazier, Samuel D. Hine, Edward C. Hopson, Albert J.

Hotchkiss, Edgar B. Lewis, Matthew Lusk, John A.Ludford, Hiram
Mattoon, Timothy Malone, James H. Pritchard, Andrew J. Tuite,

William H. Whitelaw, Charles Warner, Thomas Wheeler.

The following persons enlisted for three years, and

received the town bounty of one hundred dollars each

:

Heman A. Morris, 14th Kegt.

Charles E. French, Uth Regt.

Nathan B. Abbott, Co. H, 20lh Regt.

George S. Guilford, Co. H, 20th Regt.

William H. Guilford, Co. H, 20th Regt.

Merit B. Woodruff, Co. H, 20th Regt.

Peter Duffy, Co. H, 20tli Regt.

The following persons enlisted September, 1862, for

nine months, and received the town bounty of one

hundred and fifty dollars each :

Com]i(n>}j Ay Twentiz-third Regiment Connecticut Volunteers.

John A. Woodward, second lieutenant; George W. Andrews, Russell W.
Ayres, Charles F. Blackman, Marvin Brouet, John Brouet, John H.

Bryan, John J. Beecher, Ezra E. Bassett, George Clark, John N.

Ensign, George B. French, Frederick S. Fairchild, John Fitzpatrick,

Edgar Gibson, Henry F. Gibson, Lyman F. Guernsey, David M. Hard,

Amos G. Hull, Thomas B. Hotchkiss, Frederick Nichols, Charles

Nightingale, William M. Parke, George J. Porter, Julius J. Pope,

William Root, Charles VV. Scott, Cyrus Thomas, George A. Wright

(substitute for T. Jackson).

Coniponti H, Ttcenty-third Regiment Connecticut Volunteers.

Richard Barker, Marcus Dayton, Edward S. Doolittle, Benjamin H. Mai-

lett, Sherman Guei'nsey, Charles Taylor.

The following persons were drafted August, 1863,

under the call of the President for three hundred thou-

sand men, and furnished substitutes for the amount

affixed to their names, agreeable to the town vote:

George Smith, Bennett Judd, Henry Dayton, William Mallory, EnoB

Bradley, Frederick J. Woodruff, Henry S. Frost, William F. Lewis,

Frederick R. Hickox, Romulus J. Potter, Wallace Atwood, H. Clay

Skilton, Lucius Woodward, ^00; Henry C. Percy, Andrew A. Nor-

ton, $297.60; Samuel Decker (colored), $290; Joel E. Hawley, Fred-

erick Bryan, William Markell, James Loveland, William S. Ben-

ham, Harrison Atwood, $280; Reuben Barnes, $275.

List of Deceased Soldiers.

William Giidley, Co. D, 5th Regt., died of disease, and was buried in

Frederick, Md., Dec. 18, 1861, aged seventeen.

McHenry Stone, member of Harris Light Cavalry, died in the hospital in

Georgetown, D. C, and was buried there Jan. 14, 1862, aged nine-

teen.

William M. Parke, Co. A, 23d Regt. of nine months' volunteers, died in

Watertown, Conn., and was buried there Nov. 12, 1862, aged twenty-

two.

Edward L. Doolittle, Co. H, 23d Regt. of nine months' volunteers, died in

Brasbier City, La*., July 24, 1863, aged nineteen.

Egbert D. Reed, Co. E, 11th Regt., died at Hatteras Inlet, N. C, April 14,

1862, age not given.
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Williftm D. Noble, Co. I, 4th Regt., died of disease near Richmond, Va.,

J»iue 28, 1862.

Sylvanus M. Clarke, Co. E, 8th Regt., died at Roanoke Island, N. C,

March 14, 1862.

George H. Baker, Co. E. 8th Regt., died in Annapolis, Md., Jan. fi, 1862.

Joseph S. Bronson, Co. E, 8th Regt., died in Annapolis, Md., Nov. .30,

1861, aged twenty-six. Buried in Waterbury, Conn.

Edward C. Hopson, corporal, Co. D, 19th Regt. (afterwards 2d Conn.

Heavy Art.), killed at the battle of Cedar Creek, Va., October, 1864

;

buried in Poultney, Vt.

Edgar Bartow Lewis, sergeant, Co. D, 19th Regt. (afterwards 2d Conn.

Heavy Art.), died of diphtheria at the house of a friend in Alexan-

dria, Va., Sept. 6, 1863, aged nineteen ; buried in Greenwood Ceme-

tery, N. Y.

Philo A. Fenn, Co. D, 19th Regt. (afterwards 2d Conn. Heavy Art.), shot

in the head at Cold Harbor, Va., by a sharpshooter, while on duty as

a sharpshooter, June 12, 1864, aged twenty-four.

Hiram Mattoon, Co. D, 19th Regt. (afterwards 2d Conn. Heavy Art,),

shot in the knee at the battle of Cold Harbor, Va., June 10, 1864;

his leg was amputated; died in Washington, D. C, and was buried

there June 14, 186+, aged twenty.

James H. Pritchard, bass drummer, Co. D, 19th Regt. (afterwards 2d

Conn. Heavy Art.), died of brain fever in the hospital at City Point,

Va., July 1, 1864, aged twenty-one.

Charles L. Bryan, Co. D, 19lh Regt. (afterwards 2d Conn. Heavy Art.),

was severely wounded in the leg at the battle of Cedar Creek, Va.,

October, 1864, but took part in the final battles of the war; he died

in Watertown, Conn., March 16, 186G, from the effects of chronic

diarrhcea contracted during the war, and was buried there, aged

twenty-two.

Charles Reed, Co. K, 19th Regt. (afterwards 2d Conn. Heavy Art.), died

of wounds received in the battle of Cold Harbor, Vn., June 2, 1864.

Marvin Brouet, Co. A, 23d Regt. (nine months), died in Watertown,

Conn., March 24, 1864, aged twenty.

John Brouet, Co. A, 23d Regt. (nine months), died in Watertown, Conn.,

Oct. 23, 1867, aged twenty-six.

Edgar Gibson, Co. A, 23d Regt. (nine months), died of consumption io

Watertown, Conn., May 7, 1869, aged twenty-aix.

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES.

I,EMAN W. CUTLER.

Leman W. Cutler, the youngest son of Younglove

and Anna (Woodward) Cutler, was born in Water-

town, Conn., Dec. 12, 1807. Younglove Cutler was

born in Killingly, Windham Co., Conn.; was a son of

Jesse Cutler, the fourth son of Capt. Isajic Cutler,

who came from Salem, Mass., to Killingly about

1712, being one of the early settlers, and a prominent

man in Windham County.

Mr. Cutler graduated at Yale College in 1829, but

never studied a profession.

His three sisters had all previously died of con-

sumption, and his only brother fell a victim to a lung

disease about that time. He resolved that if an out-

door life would equally promote his happiness and

give him a longer lease of life, he would follow the

occupation of a farmer, and seek good health rather

than great riehc*, in which he wa.s eminently succcMsful.

He married, in 1831, Mary Elizabeth, eldest daugh-

ter of Kev. Frederick Holcomb, D.D. They have no

children. He ha.s always resided in his native vil-

lage, and has been highly honored with the respect

and confidence of his fellow-citizens.

Politically a decided Kepublican, he has been

twice called to represent the Sixteenth Senatorial

District in the State Senate, and five times sent by

his townsmen to the House of Representatives. For

six years, through the late war, was State comptroller

of public accounts, for fourteen years town treasurer,

and for twenty-four years judge of probate for the

district of Watertown, when the constitutional limit

compelled him to leave that office. He is at present

town clerk and registrar of births, marriages, and

deaths, having held both offices for the last thirty-

two consecutive years. He is a member of the Con-

gregational Church.

GEN. MERRIT HEMINWAY.

Merrit Heminway, son of John and Hannah
(Thompson) Heminway, was born in East Haven,

Conn., March 23, 1800.

His father was the only child of John Heminway,

and was born in East Haven, Conn., about 1774. He
was a miller, farmer, and dealer in live stock. He
was twice married, and had five children by his first

wife. Three are living, of whom Gen. Heminway is

one.

He had three children by his second wife, one of

whom is living. He was a member of the Episcopal

Church. He died in 182G, leaving his family in good

circumstances for those days.

Mr. Heminway remained at home, working on his

father's farm and in a carding-factory summers, at-

tending school winters, until he was si.xteen years of

age, when he went to New Haven as clerk in the gro-

cery-store of N. & H. Oaks, where he remained two

years.

He was then employed by E. & J. Shipman, who

were engagcil in trade with the West Indies. He
remained with them two years. In December, 1821,

he came to Watertown, Conn., and in March, 1822,

commenced mercantile busine-ss in the basement of

t!ie old Bishop Hotel, with .lames liishop as part-

ner, under the firm-name of Hishop & Heminway.

They continued in business seven years, when they

took in as third partner Josiah Hicko.x, and removed

to the store now occupied by Mr. Mattoon. Said store

was built in 1828 by the firm, and is now owned by

Gen. Heminway.

After two years the firm dissolved, and Messrs.

Rishop & Heminway continued in trade till about

1837, when they dissolved, and Gen. Heminway con-

tinued until 1842, having with him as i)artner Charles

Partree, Heminway being a silent partner. In 1842,

Gen. Heminway a.ssumed control of the business,

continuing alone until IS.')."), when his sons became

l)artners, and the firm continued for a number of

years as M. Heminway & Sons.

In 1849, Gen. Heminway fitted up a building which

had been occupied by Nathaniel Wheeler, who was

engaged at that time as a wagon-maker, and began

the manufacture of silk. In a few years he took
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in his sons as partners, under tlie firm-name of M.
Heminway & Sons, and a few years later changed

tlie name to M. Heminway & Sons' Silk Company.
This firm consists of Mr. Heminway, his four sons,

and daughter, thus representing the entire family in

a joint-stock company. They represent one hundred

and fifty thousand dollars of capital, employ from one

hundred to one hundred and twenty-five persons,

mostly females, and their silk is to be seen in all parts

of the United States, also in South America and

Europe. They manufacture the very best sewing-silk

of all kinds.

Their factory is large and well situated. A view of

it may be seen in another part of this work. They
have a store in New York City for the sale of their

goods, in charge of Homer Heminway.
Gen. Heminway was engaged for some time, with

Nathaniel Wheeler, in the manufacture of slides and

buckles.

He commenced keeping public-house in 1840, in

the old Bishop Hotel, where he remained about

twenty years. He has also managed a farm, which

he purchased in 1840.

In politics he is a Democrat. He has been justice

of the peace, judge of probate, and postmaster for a

number of years. He never sought political distinc-

tion, preferring the quiet of home to any official

honors.

Gen. Heminway and all his family are members of

the Episcopal Church, and he has been vestryman.

He has been a prominent military man in his town.

He was a quartermaster-sergeant for Col. Chauncey
Craft, of Woodbury, in the Twelfth Regiment Con-

necticut Militia, and after serving five years resigned,

never expecting again to be called upon ; but, at the

earnest solicitation of some of the prominent men in

town, he was induced to accept the position of captain

of the First Rifle Company, which was being formed

for the first time. He rose through various ranks to

colonel of the Twelfth Connecticut Regiment State

Militia, and finally was appointed general of the Sixth

Brigade.

On the 7th of March, 1832, he united in marriage

with Mary Ann, daughter of Jonathan Buell, of

Litchfield, Conn., and by this happy union five chil-

dren have been born, namely, John, Homer, Mary
Ann (who married Henry Merriman, of Waterbury,

Conn.), Buell, and Merritt, all of whom were born in

Watertown and reside there at the present time, and

are numbered among Watertown's most highly re-

spected citizens.

DR. JOHN DE FOREST.

Dr. John De Forest, son of Benjamin and Alma
(Southmayd) De Forest, was born in Watertown,

Conn., March 31, 1806. Educated at Yale College, in

the academical and medical departments; commenced
the practice of medicine in the spring of 1829, in

j

Goshen, Conn. ; thence came to Watertown, in Octo- '

ber, 1830, where he pursued his profession closely and
with reasonable success until 1845, when he was
obliged to retire in consequence of ill health. From
that time to the present he has not been engaged in

any active business, but has led a quiet and unosten-

tatious life. May 16, 1831, he married Lucy S.,

daughter of Erastus Lyman, of Goshen, Conn. She
was an invalid and sufferer for more than twenty

years, which she bore with Christian fortitude and
resignation, and died Aug. 3, 1855. They had two

children ; the eldest died in infancy, and the youngest,

Erastus Lyman, born June 27, 1834, was educated at

Yale College, in the academical and scientific depart-

ments, and is now engaged in scientific pursuits.

DR. SAMUEL ELTON.

The name of Elton has been a historic name in

Watertown for more than a century. For a period

of ninety years three individuals of that name filled

the responsible position of family physician among us.

Dr. Samuel Elton, the subject of this sketch,

watched at the bedside of the suffering for sixty

years ; his father. Dr. John Elton, for twenty-four

years ; and his uncle. Dr. James Elton, for seven

years. Thus we see the name became a " household

word" in this community.

John Elton, the first of the Elton name of which

the writer has information, came early to this country

from Bristol, England, and settled in Middletown,

Conn. His son Ebenezer located in Branford; the

time of his death is unknown,—he was lost at sea.

His son, Ebenezer, Jr., was born in 1712, and set-

tled first at Middletown, but subsequently removed to

Harwinton, Conn.

His eldest son by a second wife, Dr. John Elton,

was born Oct. 6, 1755, and it is presumed studied with

his half-brother. Dr. James Elton, since on the death

of James, John succeeded him in practice at West-

bury, now Watertown, dying Oct. 9, 1800.

Dr. Samuel Elton, of whom we wish particularly

to speak, was the only son of Dr. John, born Sept. 6,

1780. He studied a short time with his father, who
purposed to give him the best possible medical edu-

cation, but death defeated his plans, and at the early

age of eighteen years, with little knowledge of medi-

cal works, he commenced active practice, which was

never relaxed until old age and disease enforced it, .

dying Dec. 8, 1858.

What most acquire by the experience of others,

through books, lectures, etc., he seized, as it were, by

intuition, and retained by personal practical experi-

ence. He was never rash, never attempted hazardous

experiments, but waited and watched, frequently say-

ing, " No doubt physicians have saved the lives of

some people and prolonged those of others, but nobody

knows how many lives they have taken."

His conclusions were so uniformly correct that he

early grew into an extensive practice as consulting
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and advisory physician in all neighboring communi-

ties. He was kind and tender in feeling, but never

profuse in expressions of sympathy; plain, almost

blunt, in language ; stern in outward demeanor, but,

when occasion permitted, jovial and playful as a boy.

No one was ever more endeared, or more perfectly

secured in the confidence of his patients, than was

Dr. Samuel Elton to the end.

He acquired a handsome estate, which might have

been doubled had he chosen to enforce the collection

of very reasonable charges for his labors. He never

took legal steps to collect a debt. He visited and

cared for the poverty-stricken patient with all the

assiduity he gave the most wealthy. As has been

well said of him by another: "Honesty, temper-

ance and economy were with him cardinal virtues.

He was the friend of good order, of wholesome laws,

and whatever else was calculated to promote the best

good of the community."

He married Betsy, the eldest daughter of Mr.

Charles Merriman, of Watertown, who bore him

seven children, one of whom alone survived him,

viz., John P. Elton, who was very successful as a

business man, and one of the most highly respected

citizens of Waterbury,

ALLYN M. HUNGERFORD, M.D.

Allyn M. Hungerford, M.D., eldest son of Deacon

Joel Hungerford, was born in Watertown, Aug. 16,

1810. His father was a lineal descendant of Thomas
Hungerford, of Hartford, Conn., an English emigrant,

and land-hohier there in 1G38.

Deacon Hungerford died in 1858, at the age of

seventy-five, and his widow, Rebecca Merriam, is still

living at the age of ninety-four. Her father, Chris-

topher Merriam, died in Watertown in 1838, aged

eighty-seven, and his father, Joel Hungerford, Sr.,

in 1814, at the age of seventy-two. They were men
of integrity and influence, and served as citizen-sol-

diers in the Revolutionary army, the former at tlie

burning of Danbury, and the latter at the siege and

capture of New York. His father, David Hunger-

ford, from Iladdam, Conn., settled in Westbury about

1750, and a few years after died while in the English

army, near Lake Chaniplain.

Dr. A. M. Hungerford graduated from the Medical

Department of Yale College in 1838, and represented

Watertown in the State Legislature in 1850-51. He
was judge of the Probate Court for the district of

Watertown in 1851-52, and for the district of Water-

bury in 1851, also for the Watertown district during

the years 1S77-78. Mrs. Emily P. Hungerford, liis

wife, died July 15, 1880, aged sixty-six. She was a

daughter of Joseph Piatt, Esq., of Prospect, Conn.

The only daughter, Sarah A. Hungerford, died March

17, 1870, at the age of twenty-four. The only son,

William A. Hungerford, of New York, survives her.

The following address to the Putnam Phalanx, of

Hartford, and other invited guests, present at the cen-

tennial celebration of Watertown, June 17, 1880, was

written for the occasion by Dr. Hungerford :

Men live but once, a noble life lives on

Down the uncounted years, through victories won,

Deathless and crowned, for aye. This very day

Heroes who perished in that bloody fray

Where Putnam fought and gallant Warren fell

Are in these scenes around us, living well.

Their lives were thoughty wrought out in deeds sublime,

And still their footsteps press the shores of time.

Our fathers came here from beyond the sea,

Gave us this heritage, and left us free.

A few years &ince the Indian roamed these hills,

And reared his wigwam by our busy rills;

To-day these homes, with cheerful beauty crowned.

Invite to us the eager world around.

Green isles behind him, and his father's grave,

Erin comes, spellbound, o'er the yielding wave,

To gain a broader manhood when he wills,

And own the sod his hardy muscle tills.

And why that stranger boy from fur Cathay,

Satchel in hand, his household gods away ?

What but to learn the great, the good, the true

Freedom has taught hor generous sons to do?

WTiat they have done I pause not to relate,

Since firet the colony became the State,

And States united made the nation free

To rule this heritage of land and sea ;

But while our Hag is waving in the breeze

Of tropic, torrid, and of polar seas.

Fair Freedom was and is by heaven designed

To rule the greater empire of the mind.

To raise the fallen, make the sick nmn whole,

And rouse to fultb and life hia sluggish soul.

There are some things that Freedom will not do :

She cannot make the false to bo lYia true ;

She may inspire the poet's loftiest song,

Dut fuita to dignify the flagrant wrong.

We tried it once when growing proudly great.

And In the txisom of a soveri'ign State

Kept an ilt-gutteu treasure, mode to bring

A pleasure often, oftener a sling.

'Twas feared, yet cherished, hated, too, yet loved,

Detested, honored, scorned, admired, approved,

Till once sworn brothers deadliest foomen stood.

And dropped that burden in a sea of blood.

Hence to y<mr homes, and on our natal morn

CiiroU those baltle-flags through Dixie tiorne;

Gaze the bravo reals of Minle-buU and shell.

Oh ! read their lesson once, but read it well,

Nor vainly strive to carry hoary ills

lip Freedom's sacroil heights and heaven<rowoed hills.

In the sure kingdont that is yet to come,

Where lovo reflnee and puriHes (he home.

Woman supreme, yet loyal In her sphere.

Her wrongs redressed, her Intuitions clear,

tier brilliants richly sot, her Jewels rare

And regal, nt of old Cornelia's were,

That home a glimpse of Eden's bower, revealed,

Ere sorrtiw entered it or shnnie concealed,

—

A bright Atirura, leading In the morn

To kludreils and to |>ooplcs yet unborn,—

Shall be where'er our standard is unfurled,

A power to bless ami purify the world.

Our fathers llve<l for us, and shall we then

He in these coming ages living men?
Live noble lives, whole, manly lives and true.

Anil God will guard and guide the nation, too,

Till on earth's darkest realms the light shall rtle,

And Freedom's gracious baldric arvh their sklra.



678 HISTORY OF LITCHFIELD COUNTY, CONNECTICUT.

ELI CURTISS.

Eli Curtiss was born at Huntington, in this State,

June 16, 1804, and died Feb. 27, 1878. He came to

Watertown when sixteen years old, as clerk for Ben-

jamin Do Forest, and when he was twenty-two he took

Mr. De Forest's store, remaining there until 1850. In

Watertown Mr. Curtiss built up an extensive trade,

employing many clerks, and engaging in the " plant-

hat" business, as it was called. He procured the ma-
terial for the hats, which was taken by women from

all the adjoining towns, cut into strips, and braided

into hats. The ladies from Bethlehem, Morris, Wood-
bury, Middlebury, Plymouth, and all the surrounding

country profited by this employment, returning the

hats to Mr. Curtiss, and receiving their pay in goods

from his store. In this way he became the most ex-

tensive and successful merchant in all these parts,

people coming from Waterbury to trade with him, as

they now go from Watertown to trade at Waterbury.

Here Mr. Curtiss laid, strong and deep, foundations for

his future prosperity, beginning business with an

empty pocket, but with a head full of good common
sense and enterprise, balanced by a benevolent heart.

In 1850, Mr. Curtiss went into the New York store of

the Scoville Manufacturing Com])any, remaining in

New York eighteen years, and retiring from active

business in 18G8. He was postmaster of his town for

several years, and represented Watertown in the

Legislature in 1861, and ten years later became State

senator and a fellow of Yale College, assisting in

electing Professor Porter president of Yale. He was

very fond of military matters, and held various posi-

tions, from that of sergeant to that of colonel of the

Twelfth Regiment State Militia. For many years he

was connected with the Congregational Church in

Watertown, and was always interested in church and
society matters. One of his last gifts was a handsome
donation to the church, in which he occupied the

same seat, when at home, almost every Sunday for

over twenty years. His generous soul kept his purse

ever open to the calls of charity, and his prosperity

never exalted him above his own townsmen, for he

had a kind word for every one of whatever rank or

station. Feb. 20, 1878, he was suddenly struck with

a shock of paralysis, being at the Gramercy Park

House, in New York, where he had gone, with his

wife and two daughters, to spend the winter. After

two hours he became unconscious, and lay in that

state until he passed away a week later. Mr. Curtiss

was twice married, first to the sister of Dr. John De
Forest, who left five sons to survive her when she

died, five other children having preceded her to the

other shore. Mr. Curtiss' second wife, her two

daughters, and four of his sons by the first wife now
remain to mourn the loss of a kind and loving hus-

band and father.

BENJAMIN DE FOREST, ESQ.

The following was written by a friend, and published

soon after his death :

" The character ofthis gentleman, recently deceased,

is worthy of public notice, as it possesses features

which may profitably be commended to the imitation

of others, especially men of business.

" The outline of his life may be given in a few

words. He was born in Huntington, Conn., in June,

1780, the son of Benjamin and Mehitabel De Forest.

At the age of sixteen years he went to Watertown to

learn the trade of a hatter. After serving a regular

apprenticeship at that business, he entered the store

of Mr. Leavitt, of Bethlehem, as a clerk. He left that

position after a few months to enter into mercantile

business in Watertown with his brother, John H.
De Forest, who afterwards became a manufacturer in

Humphreysville, now Seymour. In that business he

continued from 1803 to 1825, when he became con-

nected, as a stockholder, and by active personal agency,

with manufacturing in Waterbury, though still hav-

ing his home and residence in Watertown. About

twenty years since, in 1838, on account of impaired

health, he retired from active service in business,

though he was for a long period after connected as

stockholder, and a director whose counsel was always

valued, with the Benedict & Burnham Manufacturing

Company. Twenty-seven years ago, in 1832, he

united with the Congregational Church in Watertown

by profession of his faith in Christ, and he has ever

since honored that profession by an exemplary Chris-

tian life. Of the ecclesiastical society connected with

that church he had been for many years previous an

active member, and a steadfast, judicious, and reliable

friend.

" The most prominent feature in Mr. De Forest's

character was his inflexible and incorruptible integ-

rity,—he loved righteousness ; he hated iniquity. He
loveil to do right himself, exactly right, and was

exceedingly careful to learn it and do it. His con-

scientiousness was very active and very just. His

devotion to the right and the true in his own conduct

was remarkable ; and he loved, also, to have others

do right, and he did what he wisely could for that

end, though he was no busybody in other men's mat-

ters, and was not lacking in charity for their failings.

The same trait of character made him in all public

affairs the firm and ardent friend of righteousness,

and the steady and unswerving opponent of wrong

and oppression. On all questions of right and wrong

men knew where to find him, and how to rely on him.

" As a man of business, he had unusual sagacity,

—

he made himself thoroughly acquainted with all mat-

ters pertaining to his business, and with respect to

them was quick-sighted and far-sighted,—and with

this sagacity he united equal prudence and caution,

though it was not prudence or caution of that sort

which partakes of moral cowardice, or ever compro-

mises right and truth. His accuracy was most exact,
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and his punctuality was proverbial among all who

knew him. It is not too much to say that during the

more than sixty years in which he was more or less

connected with business he was never one moment

too late. No man or company of men ever lost a

minute's time by his neglect to meet an appointment

in season ; and this punctuality he carried into every

department of his life : at bank, or counter, or con-

vention, at church or prayer-meeting, he was never

tardy.

" In his speech he was a man of few words, but

they were always pertinent, luminous, and unequivo-

cal words. He never spoke till he had something

suitable to say, and then he spoke plainly, briefly,

and decidedly. He was as downright in his language

as he was upright in thought and conduct.

" Mr. De Forest was a liberal man. By the blessing

of Divine Providence on his industry and skill, he

possessed a handsome competence for many years,

and he made good use of it during his lifetime, as his

contributions to many objects of benevolence have

for a long period testified. He was quiet and unos-

tentatious in his manner of giving, but many are the

plans of heavenly charity, and many the persons in

trial and necessity, that testify to the compassion of

his heart and the openness of his hands.

" On the whole, it may be truly said that in a good

degree Mr. De Forest obeyed the comprehensive rule

of human duty as it is given in the Divine Word,

—

' To do justly, to love mercy, and to walk humbly with

God.'
" In his domestic life Mr. De Forest had much of

joy, and an unusual degree of bereavement and sor-

row. The wife of his youth was Alma Southmayd

(daughter of Samuel and Dorcas Skinner Southmayd,

sister of Samuel W. Southmayd, before his early de-

cease an able lawyer at the bar of Litchfield County,

and descendant of Rev. John Southmayd, the second

minister of the first church in Waterbury), whom he

married in Watertown, June, 1805. With her he

lived in tlie hap|)iest relations till December, 1850,

when he followed her to the grave, sorrowing, but

sorrowing not as those without hope, in the full as-

surance of her faith in Christ and of her infinite

gain. They had before followed, in united grief, to

the grave seven out of ten children. These afflictions,

througii divine grace, were borne by him with Chris-

tian patience and meekness, and had a manifest etlVct

in mellowing his character and ripening it for

heaven."

He died suddenly, Feb. 2, 1859, with diseaiie of the

heart. Three children only survive him, viz. : John,

born March .'il, 1806; Alma, first wife of Eli Curtiss,

born May 28, 1813 ; and Uenjaniin, born Aug. 7, 1818.

*• why weep yu then for him whti, hnviiiK won

The huuiid uf iiiiiira appuiiitei] years, at hist,

Llfo'ii hU'twlnpt litl ciijoyud, life's Inbon tlulio.

Serenely to his t\i)al rest lioji passed,

While tlio H*)ft meniiiry of his vliiiies yet

Lingers, like twilight hues wlien the bright sun is set."

EDMUND B. DICKKRMAN.

Edmund B. Dickerman was born in New Haven,

Conn., Nov. 29, 1810.

His early life was passed with his father, a farmer,

and his education acquired at the schools of New
Haven. While still a youth he entered the employ

of Durrie & Peck, booksellers, as clerk. Here he

remained until he was twenty-one, when he went to

Natchez, Miss., and engaged in trade. After twelve

years of life as a merchant in Natchez, Mr. Dicker-

man removed to Milwaukee, Wis., and became much
interested in the early growth of that city. His real

estate transactions there having proved successful, in

June, 1871, he retired from active business, and took

up his residence in Watertown, Conn., where he passed

the remainder of his life.

Mr. Dickerman married, July 2, 1844, Margaret G.,

daughter of Elam Hull, Esq., of New Haven, Conn.

Of their three children, only one, Edwin H., attained

maturity. He received a liberal education, was

graduated from Columbia (N. Y.) Law-School, and

is now a successful lawyer of Westfield, N. Y. Mr.

Dickerman had all the qualities necessary to success

in business, and he was eminently successful. His per-

sonal magnetism won him hosts of friends, and his ster-

ling worth and integrity, with his warm, social nature,

continued the friendship for years. He was esteemed

and honored wherever he was known, and his counsel

earnestly sought and heeded in critical times. His

ear was ever open to the calls of charity, and his heart

and his purse were ever quick to respond, either to

aid the suffering or the promotion of public im|)rove-

ments. He was a man of remarkable energy, prompt-

itude, and perception. In business, in society, in

considering public interest.s he always wore the same

pleasant smile, used the .same far-seeing judgment

and quick, unerring decision.

Mr. Dickerman had much leisure for travel, and

did travel extensively in this and in foreign lands.

His ardent temperament, literary taste, and powerful

memory made him one of the most agreeable of travel-

ing com|)ani(>ns, and many who enjoyed his society

will long cherish the memory of the intercourse.

On the 14th of September, 1871, he married Mrs.

Jane B. Woodruff, widow of John H. Woodruff, and

daughter of William Bronson, of Middlebury, Conn.

Mr. Dickerman's death was sudden, but hardly un-

expected. His nervous system was too sensitive to

withstand a difficult surgical operation which became

necessary, and he passed quietly away, Feb. 22, 1877.

" Beyond the parting and the ine«Ung

Wo shall he soon

;

Beyond tlie farewell and the greeting,

Boyonil the pulse's fever beating,

We shall bo soon."
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ALANSON WARREN.

Alanson Warren, of Watertown, Conn., was the

son of Edward and Mary Steele Warren, of Water-

town, and was born May 16, 1796, at their home, on

the farm called the Warren place, located about three

and a half miles easterly of Watertown Centre. The
farm-house is now standing, in a good state of pres-

ervation, and liable to for generations to come, for

many of its timbers and beams of hard wood are of

huge size, being twelve to fifteen inches in diameter.

He was the youngest of six children,—five sons and
one daughter. His father died Dec. 10, 1814, aged

fifty-three years. Alanson at this time was about

eighteen years and six months of age. His mother
died Feb. 26, 1849, aged eighty-five. His father was

a Revolutionary soldier, and but eighteen years old

when he entered the service. He was engaged in the

capture of the fortress of Stony Point by Gen. Wayne,
in 1779, and, as he used to relate the account of it, was
the third man to go over the wall or embankment into

the fort. The widow drew a pension during her life.

At the age of sixteen Alanson went to learn the

hatter's trade with Joel P. Richards, in Watertown,

and when he became twenty-one bought out the

business of his employer, and, with a capital of

six hundred dollars, embarked in the business for

himself, employing from ten to twenty apprentices

and journeymen. At the age of twenty-two he was

married to Sarah M. Hickox, Christmas, Dec. 25, 1818.

She was the daughter of Caleb and Ruth Hickox, who
lived upon their farm, one and a half miles east of the

village of Watertown.

In the year 1833 he formed a copartnership with

William H. Merriman and son, C. B. Mcrriman, mer-

chants, and united the two concerns, under the name
of Merrimans & Warren. After three years he with-

drew from the company, and alone resumed his old

business, and, in addition thereto, commenced the

manufacture of cloth and fur caps and fur goods of

various kinds. His manufactured goods he sold to

the country merchants in Connecticut, Massachusetts,

and New York States, carrying them in a large two-

horse wagon built especially for that purpose. In

1843 a company was formed for the continuance of the

same business, under the name of Warrens & Beers,

composed of A. Warren, his son, T. A. Warren, and R.

S. Beers, who for many years had been with Mr. War-
ren, acting as foreman, attending chiefly to the manu-
facturing. In 1847, A. Warren withdrew from the

business, which was thereafter carried on by Mr.

Beers and T. A. Warren, under the name of Beers &
Warren.

Besides his other business, Mr. Warren for many
years carried on farming to quite an extent, having at

times from one to three large farms and other lands,

the care of which was in a measure- intrusted to his

elder sons, with hired men more or less, according to

the season of year. About the year 1845 he formed a

copartnership with his son-in-law, George P. Wood-

ruff, for merchandising, and manufacturing ofbuckles,

buttons, slides, and metal trimmings for hats and caps,

occupying the store then standing on what is now the

east end of the Warren House park, and was popu-
larly known as the " Corner Store," but has since, at

the time of building the hotel, been removed to a lot

south of G. A. Warren's residence. The manufac-
turing was carried on in other buildings on the same
premises for several years, until about the year 1848,

when they formed a copartnership with Nathaniel

Wheeler, who was then also engaged in the manufac-

ture of similar goods in Gen. M. Heminway's factory,

now his silk-factory, but very much enlarged. The
tools and machinery of Warren & Woodruff were now
removed to this factory, and the two concerns con-

solidated, operating under the firm-name of Warren,
Wheeler & Woodruff^. They now added to their pre-

vious business the manufacture of suspender-buckles.

The business so rapidly increased that early in 1849

they found the room and water-power too limited for

their business and that of Mr. Hemingway, and there-

fore purchased the water-power on which the Leverett-

Condee satinet-factory, that was burned, had formerly

stood, about one and a half miles south of the Centre,

and erected a large factory. Here, with their greatly

increased facilities, the business was very much en-

larged and successfully carried on.

About this time the idea of sewing by machinery

began to agitate the minds of a few inventors, and

late in 1850 the company contracted to build some

two thousand of the Wilson first patented shuttle

sewing-machine for a New York company, then the

principal owners of that patent. Early in 1851, A. B.

Wilson, the patentee, came to the factory to assist in

building these machines. He, who has since attained

such a world-wide reputation as a sewing-machine in-

ventor, had at this time, in his head, on paper, and in

models, still another idea of a sewing-machine on a

different principle,—that of a rotary hook,—which

was brought out after much study and labor, and

patented in 1851, but was not considered quite satis-

factory until his second invention, patented in 1852.

This improvement being a success, the copartnership

of Wheeler, Wilson & Co. was now formed, and com-

posed of A. Warren, N. WEeeler, G. P. Woodruff", and

A. B. Wilson, each having equal shares in it, and

without any specified amount of capital, which con-

sisted in real estate, patents, machinery, etc., valued

probably at not less than eighty thousand dollars. It

was about this time, when the sewing-machine busi-

ness was in its infancy, that Mr. Warren remarked to

one of his sons that he would probably live to see the

day when they would make and sell twenty-five ma-

chines a day. This was considered an extravagant

remark at that time, as no one could then foresee

the magnitude to which the sewing-machine busi-

ness would in the future attain, and would hardly

have been justified in making a larger estimate. The

most visionary mind did not anticipate, or even ven-

(
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ture to predict, that they would ever come up to their

present capacity of turning out from four hundred to

six hundred a day, and witli sucli a demand for them

tliat, even at this rate of production, in November,

1880, they fell some eighteen thousand machines be-

hind their orders, and from a machine that could per-

haps take but fifty to seventy-five stitches a minute,

have so improved as to now produce machines that

will take fifteen hundred stitches per minute.

The business was successfully continued under this

firm-name for about one year, when it was thought

desirable to enlarge the business, introducing more

capital. They then organized the Wheeler & Wilson

Manufacturing Company, Oct. 5, 1853, with a capital

of one hundred and sixty thousand dollars. Alanson

Warren was elected its president, and George P. Wood-
ruflf secretary, Waterbury capitalists and others taking

part of the increased stock. In 1855, Mr. Warren re-

signed the presidency, and N. Wheeler was elected

president, and William H. Perry secretary, and have

been re-elected every year since to said offices, and

may continue to be for life.

It was soon found that the room and power of this

factory was not sufficient for their rapidly-increasing

business, and in June, 1856, they removed to Bridge-

port, into more commodious quarters. They have

continued to prosper under the wise management of

its officers, increasing its capital stock from time to

time by stock dividends to its present capital of one

million dollars, with a very large surplus, and in the

mean time have paid liberal cash dividends to its

stockholders. Their extensive manufactory now covers

from eight to ten acres of ground, and employ.s from

nine hundred to eleven hundred hands, according to

the business. But for the engagement of Messrs. War-
ren, Wheeler and Woodruffwith each other in business

this great and prosperous concern might never have

existed.

Mr. Warren was president of the Warren & New-
ton Manufacturing Company, organized Feb. 5, 1846,

for the manufacture of suspenders, with a capital of

twelve thousand dollars, which was by the earnings

of the company increased to sixty thousand dollars.

Their factory was at Oakville. Tliey also carried on

a store for general merchandise at Watertown Centre,

—the" Corner Store." In 1857 the store was sold to the

Phoinix Company,—a new company , with Mr. Warren
as president,—and continued as a country store. Tiie

factory property and suspender business was sold to

the American Susj)ender Company, at Waterbury,

—

a new company, formed by the union of three sus-

pender companies, viz., Cheshire Company, Hotch-

kiss & Merriman Company of Waterbury, and the

Warren & Newton Manufacturing Company,—and

the business continued on a much larger scale, under

a capital of three hundred thousand dollars.

Mr. Warren was also interested in various other

manufacturing companies,—that of the American
Knife Company of Plymouth, Waterbury Brass Com-

pany, Oakville Pin Company, Union Leather Com-

pany, A. Warren & Co., for buckles, etc., at the

Wheeler & Wilson Manufacturing Company's factory,

after their removal, 1856, and the Beers, Woodruff &
Co., Watertown, for shirts and linen goods, from 1853

till the death of Mr. Woodruff', 1857, then R. S. Beers

& Co., till the death of Mr. Warren, 1858, when, T. A.

Warren taking his father's interest in the company, it

continued, with some changes, till 1870.

Mr. Warren always took an active and lively in-

terest in the aff'airs of the town, and was willing to do

his full share for its general improvements. He rep-

resented the town in the General Assembly of 1841.

In politics was a Whig. He was a member and com-

municant of Christ Church parish (Episcopal), and

for many years its senior warden, and contributed

liberally to its support, also to the building of its new

church edifice, the corner-stone of which was laid

May 29, 1854, and the church consecrated Nov. 15,

18.55, by the Rt. Rev. Assistant Bishop Williams.

The church was built on grounds across the park or

church green, east of and facing the residence of Mr.

Warren. The old church, now removed, then stood

north of his residence, between it and the highway.

He was one of the building committee for the new

church, and was greatly interested in the building

of it.

He was one of the incorporators of the Evergreen

Cemetery in 1854, and took a deep interest in the

laying out and beautifying of these grounds, in which

his remains were so soon to be deposited.

He died Oct. 20, 18-58, aged sixty-two years.

His widow, who survived him about eight years,

died April 20, 1866, aged sixty-seven years.

Their family consisted of ten children,—five sons

and five daughters,—of which but four sons are living

at this date (January, 1881), two of whom reside in

Watertown.

FREDERICK lIOLCOiMB, D.D.*

Rev. Frederick Holcomb, D.D., was the third son

of Jesse and Louisa Holcomb. He was born in

Granby, Conn., Oct. 13, 1786. Hi.s parents, by relig-

ions profession) belonged to the Episcopal Church,

and had their children baptized in infancy. At the

early age of thirteen himself, with two brothers and

a sister, received the apostolic rite of confirmation by

the Rt. Rev. Bishop Jarvis. At about the age of six-

I

teen his parents, albeit in moderate circumstances,

I maile him the ofl'or of a collegiate education, though
' there was no decided indication on his part at that

time of a desire to enter the ministry. He eagerly

accepted the offer. His preparatory studies began

under the Rev. David Waldo, of West Suffield, and

were completed ufidcr the Rev. Mr. Clinton, of South-

wick, Mass. la 1805 he entered Williams College,

* CuDipileil froDi a wrnioD preachod bj Rot. William II. LcvrU, D.D.,

Juno i, mi.
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Massachusetts, graduating in 1809. Soon after that he

was led, under the providence of God, to realize the ne-

cessity of due preparation for the life to come, and he

resolved on a course of theological reading, and entered

upon it at once. His first examination was passed under

the Rev. Dr. Tillotson Bronson, of Cheshire, and his

second under the Rev. Dr. Kewley, of Middletown.

He was ordained as deacon, with license to preach and

baptize, in Trinity church. New Haven, June 23,

1811, by the Rt. Rev. Abraham Jarvis, D.D. A call

was soon received from St. Mark's Church, Harwinton,

and Trinity Church, Northfield society, to take charge

of them both, and to divide the time equally between

them. He removed to Harwinton, with his wife and

one child, on the 17th of December, 1811. At his

ordination to the priesthood, it being necessary to

have three |)re.sbyters to lay on hands, with the bishop,

the venerable Dr. Mansfield, of Derby, then about

ninety years of age, Wivs brought to act, with the Rev.

Dr. Bronson, and the Rev. Mr. Whitlock, of Trinity

Church, New Haven, and the ordination was in that

church, by Bishop Jarvis, Sunday, Dec. 20, 1812.

It was the last ordination performed by that prelate,

and for some years Dr. Holcomb was not only the last

presbyter ordained by him, but the only survivor of

those admitted by him to holy orders. He soon after

received a call to Christ Church, Watertown, and

removed his family there Dec. 14, 1814. He remained

as rector of that parish until 1838, when he resigned

its care, but was recalled in 1845, and continued as

rector until 1850, when the infirmities of old age

prompted him to surrender the cares of a parish for-

ever. Nevertheless, he preached for feeble and desti-

tute parishes, whenever his health would allow it,

during the remainder of life. He died May 26, 1872.

His first wife, Mary Pinney, died Nov. 15, 1825,

leaving two daughters, Mary E., wife of Leman W.
Cutler, and Martha M., wife of Orrin Starr. These last

both died before his demise. His second wife, Nancy

Merriman, widow of Ed. E. Porter, survives him.

Dr. Holcomb was a man of fine personal appear-

ance, of great physical strength, and until the decay

of nature, in old age, always favored with robust

health. He was a man of great prudence, never stir-

ring up strife by word or deed of his own,—truly a

peacemaker. He was firm in his churchmanship,

and yet courteous and kind to those of other religious

names, so as always to have been on terms of kindly

Christian intercourse with them.

CAPT. E. CARRINGTON BOWERS, U.S.N.

Capt. E. Carrington Bowers, U.S.N. , was born in

Middletown, Conn., June 7, 1809. On his paternal

side he is a descendant from Governor Bradford, of

Massachusetts, and on his maternal side he is a de-

scendant of the Hamlins, of Middletown, Conn., one

of whom, Jabez, was the first mayor of Middletown.

His father, Caleb Bowers, was born in Rhode Island,

married Sarah A., daughter of Gen. Ebenezer Sage,

of Middletown, Conn., and had four children, of whom
the subject of this sketch is the third.

Caleb Bowers was for many years a merchant in the

Indies; returned to the United States, where he died

in 1815. Young Bowers remained at home until he

was thirteen years of age, receiving the advantages of

a common-school education, when he went to sea in

the ship " Fame" as a common sailor before the mast,

making a voyage around Cape Horn. After remain-

ing a year, he entered the Peruvian service as mid-

shipman, when he saw the Spanish flag hauled down
at the Castle of Callao, the last of all of Spain's

vast possessions in South America. He soon returned

to the United States, and entered Capt. Partridge's

military school at Middletown, Conn., where he re-

mained some time, until he received an appointment

to enter the Greek service in her war for independence

against Turkey. He set sail from New York in the

Greek frigate " Hope," but soon returned to New
York, when he was attached to the old steamship
" Fulton," that being the first steam man-of-war ever

built. He left her only a short time before she was

blown up, and entered the merchant service, making

a long voyage to the East Indies.

In 1835 he passed a very satisfactory examination

in a class of over one hundred, standing next to Ad-

miral Porter in scholarship. Among other members

of his class were the late Commodore Decatur and the

present Rear-Admirals Strong and Almy.

He received an appointment as master-mate on

board of the United States sloop-of-war "St. Louis,"

and sailed for the Pacific. Soon after his arrival in

those waters he received an appointment as midship-

man, bearing date Feb. 2, 1829, since which time he

has been identified with the United States navy,

having faithfully filled every position from that of a

common sailor before the mast to that of captain

in the United States navy.

He served through the Seminole and Mexican wars,

rendering eflicient service, and, with his four sons,

—

who went forth with muskets but came back with

swords,—served through the great civil war with

credit to himself and an honor to his country. He
was for thirty-three years in active duty on board ship,

a period longer than any other man in the same kind

of service.

After the close of the Rebellion he was for a short

time engaged in the Boston navy-yard, and at the

conclusion of his .services there he was retired, and

now (December, 1880) resides in the village of Water-

town, Conn., in one of the most attractive little Italian

cottages, called "Bowers' Villa," anywhere to be seen.

It consists of ten acres, well improved, being orna-

mented by trees and shrubbery generally, which re-

ceives the captain's personal supervision.

Captain Bowers married Miss Coffin, of Boston,

Mass., a cousin of Sir Isaac Coffin, an admiral in the

British navy.
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DAYTON MATTOON.

Dayton Mattoon, son of William Mattoon and Sa-

rah Hungerford, daughter of Deacon Jonas Hunger-

ford, was born in Vienna, Oneida Co., N. Y., Aug.

20, 1811. His boyhood till he was six years of age

was passed there, and by his father's dying request,

in 1817, he came to his grandfather's, Amasa Mat-

toon, of Watertown, and remained one year; then

lived with his grandmother on his mother's side, and

his uncle, Thomas Hungerford, till he was sixteen

years of age, when he began to work on the farm by
the month until he was twenty years of age. During

all this time he received only limited advantages for

an education. He married, Feb. 23, 1831, Ruhamah
Wakeman, daughter of Eli Wakeman, a farmer in Wa-
tertown. She was born in Watertown, Dec. 19, 1812.

By this union they have had six children, viz. : (1)

Sarah E., who married George R. Baldwin, of Wa-
terbury, Conn. ; (2) William B., who died at twenty-

three; (3) Amelia J., and (4) Alson, twins, the last

of whom died while an infant, and Amelia J. married

Deacon Henry T. Dayton, of Watertown
; (5) Helen

G., who died at five years of age
; (6) Charles B., mar-

ried Alvin M. Kellogg, of Baraboo, Wis., and resides

at home.

Immediately after Mr. Mattoon's marriage he set-

tled where he now resides, taking care of his grand-

mother and uncle as long as they lived. He has

made all the fine improvements on his farm, which
now consists of about one hundred and ninety acres

of well-improved land, which is in a good state of cul-

tivation.

In politics he is a Republican. He has been con-

stable and collector two years, selectman, assessor,

magistrate, and member of the Legislature during the

years 1854 and 1872, serving on the committee of ag-

riculture both times.

At the age of thirty-eight, in 1849, he joined the

First Congregational Church at Watertown, of which
he was a deacon from 1855 till 1871. He has always

been one of the main supporters of the churcii, and
the poor have in him a true friend. He has been

Sunday-school superintendent for several years. Mrs.

Mattoon is also a member, joining the church with

her husband in 1849. He was connected for twelve
years with the State militia " Rifle Company," occu-

pying every jjosition in it to captain. Gen. Hemin-
way was the first captain of said company, after which
he was promoted to general of the Sixth Brigade

Connecticut State Militia.

CALEB T. HICKOX.

The subject of this sketch was born in the town of

Watertown, Conn., Feb. 5, 1817. His fatiier, Daniel
Hickox, Wiia also a native of Watertown, Conn. ; was
twice married, rearing three children by his first wife,

and one (Caleb T. Hickox) by his second. His second
wife was the daugiiter of Mathew Dutton, of Water-

town, Conn., dying at the age of eighty-two years,

July 28, 1865. Mr. Hickox was a successful farmer

by occupation, and was one of the most esteemed cit-

izens of Watertown. He held nearly all the impor-

tant town offices, such as selectman, justice of the

peace, and member of the State Legislature. He died

Oct. 21, 1823, at Royalton, N. Y., and was interred in
,

the cemetery in Watertown, Conn.

Caleb T. Hickox was " brought*up" on the home-
farm by his widowed mother, as his father died when
he (Caleb T.) was only six and a half years old. He
remained at home, working on the farm summers and

attending the district school winters, until he was six-

teen years of age, when he went to Seymour, Conn.,

and entered as clerk in the dry-goods store of E. Gil-

bert & Co., where he remained three years, when he

went to Burton, Ohio, and remained some six months,

spending his time in traveling and visiting. He re-

turned to New Haven, Conn., and entered the em-
ploy, as book-keeper, of McCrackan & Merriam,

and remained one year, then came to Watertown,

Conn., at twenty years of age, and commenced farm-

ing, which he successfully followed until he retired,

October, 1867, at which time he settled in the village

of Watertown, where he continued to reside till the

present time (December, 1880).

In politics he was a Whig until the Republican

party was organized, when he became a staunch Re-

publican, and as such has held nearly all the offices

of his town with credit to himself and satisfaction to

his constituents. He has been selectman for twenty-

one years, town treasurer since 1871, justice of the

peace for more than thirty years, secretary of the

Watertown Agricultural Association twelve years,

and treasurer for many years. He has been elected

twice a member of the State Board of Agriculture,

and during the years 1852 and 1859 represented his

town in the State Legislature. On the 8th of May,
1839, he married Emily H., daughter of Abram Haw-
ley, a fanner of Watertown, Conn. Mr. Hickox is a

regular attendant anil liberal supporter of the Con-

gregational Church of Watertown, Conn., of which

his wife is a member. He has always been successful

in whatever he has undertaken, and he justly holds a

warm place in the esteem and confidence of his fellow-

townsmen.

WILLIAM O. FRENCH.

William G. French is a descendant of the ancient

line of the Frenches of Essex, England, being of the

eighth generation in lineal descent from William

French (first generation), his earliest ancestor in

America, who came in the " Defense" from London

in 1635, with his wife Elizabeth, his eldest child,

Francis, aged ten years, and three other children, all

from Essex, England, as shown by the record in the

custom-house.

William French wa.s one of the original .settlers of

the beautiful town of Billcrica, eighteen miles north
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of Boston, where he died, aged seventy-eight, having

had ten children born in America. He was the author

of the celebrated tract entitled "Strength out of

Weakness," published in London, and reprinted by

the Boston Historical Society.

Francis (secondgeneration), son of William French,

came toMilford,in this State, in 1650, and in 1654 set-

tled in Paugasuck, now the town of Derby, then almost

awilderness. ApriH0,1661, he married LydiaBunnel,

of Milford, and brought her to his home, which con-

stituted the third or fourth family in the plantation.

He died Feb. 14, 1691, aged sixty-six years.

Francis, Jr. (third generation), son of Francis

French, was born Feb. 11, 1677. He was high sheriff

of the town, and stood high as a Royal Arch Mason.

He (lied on his father's homestead, April 11, 1751.

Israel (fourth generation), son of Francis French,

Jr., was born Oct. 8, 1709, and was among the early

settlers of Seymour.

David (fifth generation), son of Israel French, was

a patriot of the Revolution, going to Boston after the

battle of Bunker Hill, to assist in resisting the en-

croachments of despotism. He was trial justice of

the north part of the town of Woodbridge many
years. He represented the town in the General As-

sembly twenty successive years. He was for many
years a deacon of the First Congregational Church

of Bethany. He died Aug. 4, 1821, aged eighty

years.

Luther (sixth generation, grandfather to William

G. French), son of David French, married Sarah

Miles, and settled on land he inherited from his

father, in what is now the town of Beacon Falls. He
and his wife both died young, leaving four children,

among whom was Smith Miles (seventh generation), a

lad of six years, the father of William G. French

(eighth generation).

Smith Miles French was taken by an uncle living

in Bethany until he was sixteen, then apprenticed to

learn the blacksmith trade.

The maternal great-grand father of Wm. G. French

was Capt. James Wheeler, who came to Derby, Conn,

(probably from Stratford, Conn.), May 19, 1736. He
owned considerable land where the village of Derby

Narrows was afterwards built, and was a prominent

man of the t(5wn.

James, (2d), Jr. son of Cajrt. James Wheeler, mar-

ried Mary Clark, of Milford, June 13, 1767. They
had twelve children, one of whom was David Wheeler,

who was a farmer and carriage manufacturer, mar-

ried Phebe De Forest, and had several children,

among whom we mention Natlianiel Wheeler, of

Bridgeport, and Mary A.

William G. French, son of Smith M. French and

Mary A., daughter of David Wheeler, was born in

Watertown, Conn., Jan. 8, 1844.

His father. Smith M. French, was a native of Beth-

any, New Haven Co., Conn., and married Mary A.

Wheeler, April 23, 1830. She was born Aug. 26,

1814. They have two children, viz. : Sarah J. and
William G. Mr. French was a blacksmith by trade,

making dies and tools and manufacturing wagons.

In politics a Democrat. He died on the 17th of Au-
gust, 1870, in his sixty-first year.

William G. French received a common-school and
academic education at Watertown, Conn., spending

his summer vacations on his father's farm. He is one
of Watertown's enterprising farmers, and takes a deep

interest in the agricultural society of his town, having

served on the executive committee several years, and
at the present time is second vice-president.

In politics he is a Democrat. He has been one of

the selectmen of the town since October, 1872, and
for the past five years first selectman, which posi-

tion he now holds. In the spring of 1875 he was

elected to the State Legislature, and served on
the committee of engrossing hills, having been the

first Democrat elected from Watertown since the elec-

tion of Samuel H. Nettleton, in 1846.

It is perhaps not too much to say that to Mr. French

more than to any other man is due the credit of the

Watertown centennial celebration, which occurred on

the 17th of June, 1880.

He is a member of Christ's Episcopal Church, at

Watertown, Conn., and at the present time is one of

the vestrymen. Mr. French is of a social disposition,

and popular in his town,—a man in whom the people

have confidence.

FREDERICK J. PARTREE.

Frederick J. Partree, son of John and Manorey
(Welton) Partree, was born in Watertown, Conn.,

March 29, 1827.

His grandfather, John Partree, was a native of

Nova Scotia, and came to New England when a boy,

where he continued to reside through life. He mar-

ried a Miss Piatt, and had six children—two sons and

four daughters. He was a practical farmer, and died

at a ripe old age. One of his sons was named John,

who was born in Old Milford, Conn. ; was twice mar-

ried, and had one daughter. Alma (Mrs. Joseph

Tomilson), by his first marriage, and seven children

by his second marriage, of whom Frederick J. is the

fourth. John Partree was a successful farmer; in pol-

itics a Whig, and both he and his wife were members

of the Congregational Church. He died Feb. 25, 1855,

aged sixty-six years, and his wife died April 29, 1874,

aged seventy-eight years.

Frederick J. worked on his father's farm summers,

attending the district school winters. At the age of

twenty-one he began teaching school winters, work-

ing on the farm summers. On the 12th of November,

1857, he married Elizabeth, daughter of Seabury

Scoville, and to them have been born three daugh-

ters,—viz., Cora, E., Ella M., and Bertha S.,—all of

whomare now (December, 1880) at home.

Mr. Partree settled on his present farm in April,
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1855, and has made nearly all the fine improvements

on it.

In politics he is a Republican. During the great

civil war he was a selectman, and for the years 1872-

74 was first selectman. He has been an assessor for

many years. Mr. and Mrs. Partree are members of

the Congregational Church of Watertown, Conn.

CHAPTER LXIX.

WOODBUKY.*

Introductory—Six Purchases from the Pootatucks—First or Pomperaug

Purchase—Kettletown Purchase—Fourtli, or Nounewaug Purchase

—

Fifth Purchase—Sixth, or Confirmatory Purcliase—Keservution, or

"Purchase"—Indian " Marks"

—

\ Buried Race.

INTRODUCTION.

A LITTLE more than two hundred years ago the

pleasant hills and sunny valleys of Woodbury, now
teeming with life, intelligence, and happiness, were

one vast solitude, unvisited by the cheering rays of

civilization, everything betokening that the silence of

nature had been unbroken by human voices since

those early days " when the morning stars sang to-

gether," save by those of nature's own uncultivated

children, the red hunters of the forest. Nature in all

its great magnificence met the enchanted view of the

pale-face in these sweetly fertile plains and mountain

fastnesses. The grim chiefs of the woody wilds alone

roamed over these retired solitudes, save the wild

beasts that growled upon a thousand hills. Every

year had the Indians set fire to the fallen leaves, thus

denuding the trees of the lower branches, and de-

stroying the underbrush, so that the dense woods pre-

sented a most magnificent and enchanting appearance.

Thus the " eye was allowed to rove witli delight

from ridge to ridge, and from hill to hill, which, like

the divisions of an immense temple, were crowded

with innumerable pillars, the branches of whose

shafts, interlocking, formed the arcliwork of support

to that leafy roof which covered and crowned the

whole." On the meadows by our noble river were

scanty patches of maize, beans, and tobacco, the

results of the rude husbandry of the untutored savage

of the forest. The whole face of nature was one vast

solitude, uncheered by the benign rays of civilization.

From Wyantenuck to Mattatuck, and fmm I'ootatuck

to Bantam, were heard the dismal howl of the wolf and
the war-cry of the red man. Amid these secluded

wilds, and by the silvery waters of the Qiiassapaug,

sported the timid deer, and coy doves built their lovely

nests. Here dwelt a race groping in the shadow of dim
imaginings, faintly led by the light of nature. Here
desperate fights and deadly ambuscades were planned.

Here did the prisoner of war sufi'er the extreme tor-

tures of his enemies. Here the romantic lover

* By William CotliroD.
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" wooed his dusky mate" with presents and silent at-

tentions, in primitive simplicity. Here, too, the pow-

wow held his dread incantations, and, if tradition is

to be believed, offered human sacrifices to appease the

wrath of Hobbamocko, the spirit of evil, the author

of all human plagues and calamities. Here, too, in

the golden djiys of the Indian summer, the poor sav-

age mused of the Great Spirit, the benevolent Kich-

tau, giver of his corn, beans, and tobacco, who lived

far away to the southwest, in whose blest dominions

he hoped at death to find his happy hunting-grounds.

Everything now is changed. The desert waste that

met the first gaze of our pioneer forefathers has been

made to bud and blossom as the rose. Where once

were but the scattered huts of the former race are

now enterprising and busy villages. The ceaseless

hum of machinery, giving employment, competence,

and happiness to hundreds of families, is now heard

in our valleys, which in those early days but echoed

the growl of the bear or the cry of the panther. In-

stead of the wretched orgies of the pow-wow, and the

inhuman sacrifices of the midnight of barbarism, are

churches dedicated to the service of the living God,

where prayer and praise are wont to be made. Where
once were cherished the savage instincts of men and

a taste for war now are cultivated the arts of peace

and schemes for the happiness and advancement of

mankind. Intelligence and enterprise now take the

place of ignorance and sloth. The liills and vales

that groaned with scenes of violence and blood have

been made vocal with the praises of the great Creator.

Instead of a race groping in the shadows of pagan-

ism we find one filled with the hopes of a rational

and glorious immortality. Our fathers found a howl-

ing wilderness; we behidd to-day, as the result of

their labors, from which they long have rested, some
of the most happy and beautiful of New England's

many lovely villages. An upright and honored race,

they wrought well, and their works do follow tliem.

The simple, unfortunate race of the early days has

departed, faded from the view, and almost from the

memory of men. In their lowly, unnoticed, and un-

known graves they sleep well. " The chiefs of other

times are departed ; they have gone without their

fame. Anotiier race has arisen ; its people are like

the waves of the ocean. Like the leaves of woody
Morven, they pass away in the rustling blast, and

other green leaves lit't their heads on high."

How did our fathers come by their title to this now
blooming territory ? How did they accpiire tiie fee to

the soil, and the right to dominion? How did tiiey

obtain rights which civilized nations ever fight for

and wade through rivers of blood to secure? The
answer to these questions is ready, and is honorable

to our fathers' sense of right and justice. Those who
represent the founders of Wootlbury can look upon

their landed possessions as having come down to tliem

by fair, honest, and legitimate titles. They not only

purchased their lauds of the Indians, but in some
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instances they purchased them several times over

from conflicting claimants and dishonest pretenders.

They were very particular in procuring title-deeds

and alienations, executed in legal form, and with great

solemnity. They were extremely careful, that they

might in this manner more vividly impress on the

minds of the Indians the binding nature of their con-

tents. Those children of nature, the former lords of

the forest, took great interest in the proceedings, and

fixed their uncouth, though often ingenious, "marks"

of a snow-shoe, a fish, a bow and arrow, a war-club,

a snake, or some wild animal, to the deeds that were

conveying away forever their paternal hunting-

grounds to the pale-faced strangers within their an-

cient borders. They often stipulated in their convey-

ances that the " marked trees," or bounds, should be

made " ckre and Jfayre" and that they should be care-

fully kept from obliteration.

The date of the first Indian deed given to the ex-

plorers of this valley is April 20, 16-59, and is signed

by T.autaunimo and other Derby Indians. They en-

couraged our fathers to purchase by saying, in their

quaint language, that this valley was "a good place

for many smokes of the white man." It was so

proved, and no complaint, in this regard, can be

made against the grantors. The bounds in this deed

are :
" Polateuk River South-west, Naugatunck River

North-east, and bounded on y" North-west with trees

marked by me (Tautannimo), and other Indians."

This includes a territory in Litchfield and New Haven
Counties nearly as large as Litchfield County itself

It extended from the Naugatuck to the Housatonic,

and from the southernmost point of Southbury to

Bantam Lake, in Litchfield. It does not appear that

the pioneers made use of this purchase, except, per-

haps, for hunting-grounds, till thirteen years later, at

whicli time they planted corn upon the river meadows
in company with the Indians. The next year, April

26, 1673, they made their first, or Pomperaug, pur-

chase of the Pootatuck Indians, the real occupants of

the soil, covering the whole town-plot from the eastern

hills to " Wecuppeme," and from the north end of

East Meadow to the " Bent" of the Pomperaug River

at South Britain, taking in " transilvania and rag-

land." By this purchase a large part of the most

fertile and arable lands of the town were obtained.

The second purchase of lands from the Pootatucks

was made March 17, 1685-86. This was the Shepaug
purchase, comprising two-thirds of the present town

of Roxbury and a part of Southbury. On the 18th

day of May, 1700, the inhabitants of the town, hav-

ing become numerous for those days, made their fourth,

or Nonnewaug purchase. Till this time it seems that

the sagamore of that name had retained his po.sses-

sions in the valley of the Nonnewaug, in East Sprain

stream. But now it came his turn to make room,

and it seems that he and his counselors did it with a

good grace, as the deed informs us the sale was made
" For valid considerations moving thereto, besides y"

desire y' is w"'in us of a friendly correspondency w""

y'' English inhabitants of s'^ Woodbury." At a very

early day that part of Southbury, known as Kettle-

town, had been purchased of the Indians for the con-

sideration of a brass kettle. It had been bought the

second time seven years after the settlement of the

town ; and on the 25th of October, 1705, it became
necessary to purchase it the third time. Something
more than a quarter of a century had passed since the

last sale, and by this time it is probable that they

again felt the need of the " consideration." This

was the fifth regular purchase of the Pootatucks. On
the 28th day of May, next year, the town bought the

sixth, or confirmatory purchase. This covered and
confirmed all former grants and purchases, together

with a considerable tract of land in Roxbury, and a

piece eighty rods wide, from Steep Rock, in Wash-
ington, to the mouth of the Shepaug, on the west side

of that river. In this deed the Indians reserved a

large tract of land in the southwest part of South-

bury, called the Pootatuck Reservation. This was

bounded on the north by a line drawn from Shepaug

Falls to the " Bent" of the Pomperaug, east by that

river, or by a line drawn parallel to, or a few rods

east of it, from the " Bent" to its mouth, south by the

Pootatuck, and west by the Shepaug River. This

reservation, now called "The Purchase," contained

the principal Indian village, located on the Pootatuck

River, south of South Britain village. After this sale

the Indians continued to convey portions of their land,

from time to time, till 1733, when there was left to

them only a remnant of their possessions at the south-

west corner, in which was located their remaining

village, called the " Pootatuck Wigwams." They
retained their title to this last resting-place for a

quarter of a century longer, when, reduced to a mere

handful in numbers, in May, 1759, they sold their

cherished Pootatuck, and the "remnant that re-

mained" took up their abode with the "Scaticook

Indians" at Kent, where a few of mixed blood remain

to this day. In all their later sales they reserved the

right to take game on the lands forever,—a right which

was always religiously respected by our fathers when-

ever a straggling Pootatuck revisited the graves of

his ancestors, or wandered in his once wide do-

minions !

The " marks" with which these Indians signed their

deeds were unique and interesting. Nonnewaug's

mark was a snow-shoe; Wecuppeme's, a snake; Mo-
mauchewaug's, a rude drawing of the face of a pros-

trate foe; Punhone's, the uplifted arm of a warrior;

and that of Tummasseete, the owner of the first

orchard in this territory, was a bow and arrow. A
part of this orchard still exists, and bore apples last

season. These " marks" were as truly signatures as

our own, and as readily identified.

It is many years since the last Pootatuck, an old

squaw, came back to the Pootatuck village to revisit

the graves of her ancestors. Looking up to the place
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where still stand the few remaining trees of " Tum-
masseete's old orchard," she said, " There is Poota-

tuck, the home of the buried braves." What a world

of sad associations cluster around that simple outbur.st

of nature ! After lingering among the graves of her

people a few days she returned to Scaticook, and the

light of the pristine race in this territory went out

forever

!

Let us pause a moment to drop a tear over the

graves of a buried race. With as great care, or per-

haps greater, than our own, the Indians marked the

graves of their fathers. By the romantic falls of his

own ever-murmuring stream is the grave of Nonne-

waug. In his own orchard at Pootatuck, near the

Housatonic, is resting the remains of Tummasseete.

Within the fertile meadows of Wecuppeme reposes

the brave of that name, in his last quiet sleep. And
in the very midst of our village they buried Pompe-

raug, who gave his name to our beautiful river.

So far as the Indians of this town were concerned,

they were always the friends of our fathers, and main-

tained with them a perpetual peace. There were

some Indian conflicts here, but they arose from the

incursions of the Mohawks, who, previous to the ar-

rival of the white settlers, held the Indians of this ter-

ritory as tributaries by superior prowess. As early as

1675, during King Philip's war, they made a treaty

with the first settlers, in which they covenanted to

continue in " friendship with the white settlers, and

be enemies to their enemies, and discover them timely,

or destroy them." This treaty was ever kept, as a

perpetual league, with entire good faith by both the

contracting parties, and many were the mutual offices

of kindness they performed for each other.

CHAPTER LXX.

WOODBURY (Continued).

Cliiirch Dissensions in Stratford tli© Cause of tlie Settlcmctit of Wood-

bury—Action of tlio General Court in 1GG7, 1GG9, IG70—Poinponiug

Granted and Settlement Coutnienred in 1G72—Krosli Arrivals Next

Year—Poniperanj; made a Town and Called Woodbury in 1G74—Sig-

nification of the Name.

The settlement of Woodbury was tlie result of dif-

ference in religious opinion among the inhabitants of

Stratford. It was accomplished by one of the most

remarkable and brilliant mental conflicts that ever

occurred in planting a New England town. There

were giants in those days, girded for the defense of

what they believed to be religious truth. The usual

reason for settling a new town had been that the pa-

rent town had become too full to accommodate all its

inhabitantsi, and that it was necessary to seek new lo-

cations lor extending the church of (!od and ad-

vancing the interests of religious freedom. No idea

of mere worldly advantage entered the minds of the

stern and eatnest men who founded our town. The

first ministers of the colony being dead, and a new

generation coming on the stage of action, alterations

in respect to church membership, baptism, and the

mode of church discipline were earnestly demanded.

Great dissensions on these subjects accordingly arose

in the churches at Hartford, Windsor, Weathersfield,

and other places, and continued in various parts of

the colony from 1656 to about 1670. It is difficult for

us, at this distance of time, fully to understand the

merits of the controversy. The system in dispute was

called the "Half-way Covenant" system of church

membership. Upon this question there was the

gravest difference of opinion among the most learned

and pious men in New England.

By this plan a person of good moral character, who

had been baptized in infancy, might own or renew

the covenant of baptism which had been made for

him by his parents, confessing the same creed as

members of the church in full communion, and,

affirming his intention of becoming truly pious in

heart and life, have the privilege of presenting his

children, grandchildren, adopted children, and even

his slaves, for baptism by giving a pledge for their

religious education. Persons thus owning the cove-

nant were considered members of the church to all

intents and purposes, except that they were not ad-

mitted to the communion-table. For conduct unbe-

coming church members they could be, and were,

dealt with and punislied in the same manner as mem-
bers in full communion. Consequent on this prac-

tice baptism followed closely upon birth, generally

in from one to eight days, and if the child was iu

danger of "non-continuance" it was baptized at

once.

In those early days the choice of pastors was con-

fined exclusively to members of the church, though

every frecliolder was taxed for their support, and

nearly all the offices ami honors of the colony of Con-

necticut, to whicli Stratford belonged, were distributed

to professors of religion, who alone, in the colony of

New Haven, possessed the right of suffrage in meet-

ings of a political character. During the lives of the

early colonists little trouble liad arisen on these points,

nearly all of the first immigrants having been church

members. But this generation had passed away and

a new one had succeeded, many of whom, on account

of their not belonging to the church, were excluded

from their proper influence in the community. Most

of them had been bai>tized, and by virtue of this it

was claimed they might own their covenant, have

their children baptized, and thus perpetuate the

church and themselves attain the rank of perfect

freemen. Hence it may be readily seen why our

forefathers, being excluded from their proper posi-

tion in the affairs of the town and colony, desired

such a change in church government as would over-

come this unjust inequality. All New England be-

came interested in this controversy, and in 1657 it

was decided by a council of the principal ministers
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of the colonies, convened in Boston, that it was the

duty of those who had come to the years of discretion,

baptized in infancy, to own the covenant; that it was

the duty of the church to call them to do it, and if

they refused, they might be censured by the church.

In consequence of this decision many owned their

covenant and presented their children for baptism,

but did not unite with the church in the celebration

of the Supper, nor in most other duties of members in

full communion. Hence it was termed the "Half-

Way Covenant System."

The church at Stratford, notwithstanding the Bos-

ton decision, would not adopt this practice, although

a large and influential part of its members were in

favor of it, together with a majority of the voters of

the town who were not church members. Rev. Israel

Chauncey, son of President Charles Chauncey, of

Cambridge, Mass., who was opposed to this practice,

was settled over the church in 1666. On account of

this difference a large part of the church and town

was opposed to his ordination. It was, therefore,

agreed that if, after hearing Mr. Chauncey a certain

time, they should continue to be dissatisfied with his

ministry, the dissenting party should be at liberty to

call another minister, and have the same use of the

meeting-house as the other party. After hearing Mr.

Chauncey the time agreed on, and continuing to be

dissatisfied with his ministrations, they invited Rev.

Zachariah Walker to preach to them, and finally chose

him to be their pastor. Both ministers conducted pub-

lic worship in the same house, Mr. Chauncey at the

usual hours, and Mr. Walker two hours in the middle

of the day. But it was difficult to confine the services

to the exact time allowed, and it soon happened that

Mr. Walker exceeded the time limited, one day to

such an extent that Mr. Chauncey and his hearers,

becoming impatient, retired to a private house and

held their afternoon services. They were, however,

so much displeased that next day they went over to

Fairfield and made a complaint against Mr. Walker
to Maj. Gold, one of the magistrates. The major,

upon hearing the case, advised pacific measures, and

that Mr. Walker should be allowed three hours for

his public exercises. Then began that remarkable

conflict of master-minds, conducted on the one side

by Rev. Mr. Chauncey and Philip Grove, and on the

other by Rev. Mr. Walker, Capt. John Minor, "the

learned and pious scribe," Hon. Samuel Sherman,

and Lieut. Joseph Judson, men of worth and might.

Space forbids that I should give full details of this

remarkable contest. The dissentients had a majority

in the town-meeting, and Deacon John Minor, one of

their leaders, was town clerk during the whole time

of the controversy and for several years afterwards.

This written controversy has been preserved on the

town and colony records and in the history of Wood-
bury, and is a model of Christian courtesy and mod-
eration.

After Mr. Walker had been called to preach by the

dissentient party there was an effort, on the part of the

Walker party, to have joint meetings, each minister

taking a part. But this plan, as might have been ex-

pected, failed.

In September, 1668, the church refused to hear the

two ministers in joint meeting, and refused to con-

sider the disputes between them till Mr. Walker's

party had " procured the approbation of the General

Court and the consent of neighboring churches." In

November of the same year Mr. Walker, for his people,

replied to this communication, and informed the

church that they had concluded, " God willing," to

occupy the meeting-house a part of each Sabbath,

beginning with the next Sabbath. He closed the

communication with the desire that the " God of

Peace" would guide the parties to such a course of

action as would be for their " mutual peace and com-
fort." The result of this notice was a compromise, by
which Mr. Walker was allowed two hours each Sab-

bath for his services in the meeting-house, in the

middle of the day, between the two services of Mr.

Chauncey, till the meeting of the General Court in

May, 1669. At that session both parties presented

petitions in relation to their disagreements, particu-

larly in regard to the manner in which they should
" enjoy the meeting-house." The court took the case

into consideration as requested, confirmed the choice

of Mr. Chauncey, ordered both parties to choose
" some indifferent persons of piety and learning to

compose their diflTerences," and gave Mr. Walker's

party liberty till the October session to occupy the

church three hours each Sabbath, in the middle of the

day, between the two services of Mr. Chauncey. They
could not, however, agree upon the points to be sub-

mitted to the arbitrators, and at the October session,

1669, a resolution was passed by the General Court

advising the First Church to comply with the desire

of Mr. Walker's party to have union. services, allow-

ing Mr. Walker to preach one part of each Sabbath

to the united congregation. Some communications

passed between the parties relative to this advice, but

Mr. Chauncey's party, instead of granting them this

privilege, which they had so long sought, excluded

them from the house entirely, after which they met

for public worship in a private house during the re-

mainder of their stay at Stratford.

It was at this juncture that Governor Winthrop

advised that Mr. Walker and his people should re-

move, and that a tract of land for the settlement of a

new town should be granted. Accordingly, the Gen-

eral Court, on the 9th of May, 1672, granted to Samuel

Sherman, William Curtiss, Joseph Judson, and John

Minor, the leading members of Mr. Walker's church,
" liberty to erect a plantation at Pomperoage," pro-

vided that " any other honest inhabitants of Strat-

ford" should have liberty to join them in settling

there, and provided that they should " entertain so

many inhabitants as the plantation would conve-

niently entertain."
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Thus ended a controversy that had agitated the

minds of the early fatliers for about eight years. Dur-

ing the whole of that long period of excited discussion

it will be found, by a careful examination of the de-

tails, that the founders of our town ever maintained a

Christian tone and temper. They ftirnished a model

course of action to us on all occasions of conflict of

interests and opinions.

It was in the midst of this controversy, early in

1668, that Mr. Walker was called to perform pastoral

labors among the people of the Second Church at

Stratford, now the First Church in Woodbury. For

two years he had preached to them without ordina-

tion. Among the other difficulties under which his

people labored they had found no opportunity to

have him ordained in the desired ecclesiastical au-

thority. But now, being taunted by the First Church

on account of their unorganized State, being informed

that they would hold no further communication with

them till they were duly organized, and there being

no longer any hope of arrangement, they took the

steps necessary to " embody in church estate." This

they accomplished May 1, 1670, with the approval of

the churches of Fairfield, Killingsworth, and the

" new church at Windsor." Mr. Walker was or-

dained on the 5th of May, 1670, when twenty male

members again publicly owned their covenant, the

gathering of the church having been made by them

in private, on account of the great opposition to them.

This fact is most thoroughly set forth on the first page

of our First Church records, in the handwriting of

Mr. Walker, now before me. Seven more male mem-
bers were admitted a few days after, and ten more,

six of whom were females, were added previous to tbe

removal to Pomperaug, in 1672,—a number fully equal

to that of most other churches at their commence-

ment in this wilderness land.

The initial point from which dates the settlement of

Woodbury was the grant of the General Court, in ac-

cordance with Governor Winthrop's recommendation,

in 1672. As this grant was not made till the May
session, it was too late for our forefathers to move
their families into the wilderness that year; but the

preliminary arrangements were immediately com-

menced, and it is related that a few of the proprietors

came here and raised some corn, which they stored in

log cribs, but when they returned the next spring with

fifteen families, they found that the wild bea.sta or In-

dians had rifled them of their contents. By some
mistake, which even at this distance of time seems

singular, as the founders had known the territory

since 1659, the pioneer families, in following the

Housatonic, passed the Pomperaug in their journey,

and went u|> the Shepaug valley some miles, till they

discovered they must be on the wrong route, when
they made the best of their way over the hills to this

valley. They encamped the first night on (lord Hill,

west of our village. The next day they proceeded

to the valleys to examine and take possession of their

lands, and encamped the second night beneath a

large white oak just below the present line of our town

in Southbury. The location still bears the name of

"White Oak." They finally decided to make their

principal location in the lower part of the present

principal village of the town. By the colony records we
learn that the intervales on the Pomperaug River had

been deprived of the trees by the annual fires kindled

by the Indians, and had been by them cultivated be-

fore our fathers moved here. So the land was in

some measure prepared for their occupation. Their

first dwellings were built of logs, but these habita-

tions passed away with the first generation, and com-

fortable frame dwellings took their places. The first

framed house was located in Judson Lane, a few rods

west of the Congregational church. The houses were

built in a substantial manner, in the old lean-to style,

the back roof running nearly to the ground, and were

covered with rent oak clapboards. They were rude

dwellings, but sufficed the wants of the pioneers.

Among the preparations which our forefathers made
for their removal hither was a code of laws, or arti-

cles of agreement for their government, quite as care-

fully drawn as that written covenant entered into by

the Pilgrims before they left the "Mayflower" to land

on Plymouth Rock. This model constitution, con-

taining all the elements of civilization, justice, and

religious liberty, is still preserved to us. It is a leg-

acy of which we are proud. It is a perfect model for

our republican form of government; also provid-

ing for the exigencies of a settlement in the woods.

It provided that as many persons should be admitted

into the i)lantation as could be comfortably ac-

commodated, and that all public charges, civil and

ecclesiastical, should be borne in proportion to the

size of their home-lots, the largest being twenty-five,

and the smallest ten, acres, while the allotment to a

bachelor was only five acres. It was further provided

that considerable tracts of land should be set apart

for the support of the preaching of the gospel; and

al.so, in the quaint language of the original instrument,

"a parsell of land for y" Incouriging a Schoole, y'

learning may not be neglected to children." Each

inhabitant was obliged to pay his pro rata share of

the expense of the imrchase of the territory from the

Indians, the expense of removal, and all other public

charges, within ten months after his home-lot waa

laid out to him, in wheat, peius, and pork, in equal

proportions. Lastly, and above all, it was stipulated

that for the purpose of remaining in the " peaceable

enjoyment of that way of church discipline which

they were persuaded is according to God," they en-

gaged, each for himself, not to disturb the peace of

the i)laiitation, but to subject themselves, persoiuilly,

"to that ecclesiastical government that should lie

there established or practiced agreeably to y" Word
of God."

These articles were subscribed by Samuel Sherman,

Sr., Joseph Judson, Sr., John Minor, Israel Curtiss,
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John Wheeler, John Wyatt, John Sherman, John

Judson, Jonathan Curtiss, Samuel Styles, Titus Hin-

man, David Jenkins, Moses Johnson, Samuel Munn,
Roger Terrill, Eleazur Kuowles, and Thomas Fair-

child. These are the ancestors of a large number of

the most distinguished men now administering the

aifairs of the nation, or who have been most distin-

guished in our history. Among these are ex-Presi-

dent Grant, Gen. W. T. Sherman, Secretary of the

Treasury John Sherman, Secretary of State William

M. Evarts, Hon. Chauncey M. De Pue, of New York
City, and many others honoring their country in

every part of the Union.

A moment's examination will show the wisdom of

this first solemn governmental covenant. The com-

mittee of principal men composed a court to judge

between man and man, doing justice according to the

letter of "God's written word," until a town should

be organized under the jurisdiction of magistrates,

" who are appointed of God." This court had the

power of life and death over their brother colonists

till the incorporation of the town.

From these articles we learn that here, as in all other

early New England towns, the settlers had a particu-

lar regard for the establishment of religious institu-

tions. It was their design to erect churches in strict

conformity to Scripture example, and to transmit

evangelical purity, in doctrine, worship, and disci-

pline, with civil and religious liberty, to their pos-

terity. So great was the attention paid to this matter

that they not only made provision for the minister

first settled, but they also sequestered lands for the

future support of the ministry, which were called the

" parsonage lands."

Another truly New England feature in this their

first solemn agreement is seen in the ample provision

made for a school, "that learning might not be neg-

lected to the children." Our fathers were republi-

cans, rejecting with abhorrence the divine right of

kings. Upon republican principles they formed their

civil institutions. They thought the church should

be accompanied by the school-house. In this way they

judged intelligence and good morals could best be

propagated.

It is interesting to notice, also, the poverty of our

ancestors at this time. All the expenses growing out

of the purchase and settlement of the plantation were

to be paid in wheat, peas, and pork, in equal propor-

tions as to value, and if any settler was so poor that

he could not obtain a surplus of these beyond the

wants of his own family, then he was to pay in other

articles to the satisfaction of the committee having

charge of the expenses of the settlement.

In our times we fail to appreciate the difficulties

attending the founding of a new town in New Eng-

land. The first signers to the covenant to found a

new town at Woodbury were but seventeen, but there

were as many founded most other towns in New Eng-

land. The territory of our town comprised a whole

county, and the number of noble men who founded it,

and removed their families here during the first two

years after its settlement, was fully equal to that of

most New England colonies at the date of their set-

tlement. There were but forty-one signers to the

articles on board of the " Mayflower," on the 11th

of November, 1620, for the founding of the cele-

brated colony of Plymouth. The first grant of the

entire colony of Connecticut was made to eleven

persons, and the first three towns, in 1635, were

settled by about sixty persons, men, women, and

children, or twenty to each town, a much smaller

number than that which first colonized Woodbury.
Roger Williams pitched his tent at Providence,

founded Rhode Island, and formed a body politic for

the advancement of religious freedom when his fol-

lowers only numbered seventeen. Massachusetts Bay
Colony had a still smaller beginning. At first it was

nearly a failure, and for a considerable time was held

only by Roger Conant and three other " disheartened

companions," and yet, in his lofty trust, he believed

that " God would make this land a receptacle for his

people." Let it not be considered, then, that the

founding of Woodbury was an inconsiderable or trivial

affair. The history of an early Connecticut town is

the history of a colony, or State, or the Union in

miniature. In no way can we form so accurate an

estimate of the dangers and difficulties that beset our

fathers, the hardships borne, and the labors performed

to secure the liberty and unnumbered blessings which

we now enjoy as by a perfect history of the events

and struggles of such a town.

In our day, surrounded by the comforts, conveni-

ences, and luxuries of life, we can little estimate the

hardships encountered by the men and women who
first trod these now smiling valleys. They had no

covering for their heads but the overarching heavens,

no lodgings for their weary, travel-worn bodies but

camps made of evergreen trees. There were no pub-

lic roads and no vehicles. The first females, as well

as the males, went on foot or on horseback through a

trackless wilderness, guided by marks upon the trees

or feeling their way wherever they could find room to

pass. In the midst of the first drear winter their pro-

visions gave out, and some of the settlers were obliged

to make their way through the pathless forests to the

older settlements for food to sustain them during the

remaining winter months. Some of those sturdy

men went to Stratford, a distance of thirty miles,

with hand-sleds, and returned laden with corn for

their pressing necessities. We can have but a faint

idea of the dangers that surrounded those early found-

ers on such a journey, exposed to all the perils and

privations of those interior forests. Added to their

lack of bread, the pioneers had neither dwellings nor

clothing sufficient to prevent suffering. Should any

emergency happen, they were cut off from any suc-

cor or effective retreat. What a sad beginning had

this now fair and opulent town on the Pomperaug

!
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It was necessary to erect and fortify houses, to

make roads, and to spend much time in watching,
training, and preparation for defense against the In-

dians of New York. Everything was to be con-
structed from rude materials or brought from a great

distance and procured at a dear rate. They were
obliged, with little previous knowledge of the art,

to break ground on bare creation, drawing their sub-
sistence from an unwilling soil. That fifteen families

in the wilderness, before they had time to provide for

their own pressing wants, should undertake to support
a minister of the gospel shows the abiding confidence,

the lofty trust of those men of iron nerve. Every-
thing must be manufactured by themselves or they
must go without the indispensable necessaries of life.

They, being only tillers of the soil, must become
their own blacksmiths, carpenters, shoemakers, cloth-

iers, and tailors. " The grim present was lowering
upon them with all its sharp and angular realities."

But they accepted the chances with a firm reliance

upon Providence.

How did our forefathers dress ? What were their

costumes and fashions? All the garments of both
sexes were of homespun, of their own manufacture,
from the raw material to the perfected garment. The
small-clothes, and even the coats of the men, were
often made of deer-skins and leather. Nothing is

more commonly mentioned in the early inventories
of estates. And yet, amid all this rigid simplicity,

the General Court, four years after the settlement of
Woodbury, passed an act against the excess of ap-
parel among the people, as " unbecoming a wilder-
ness condition and the profession of the gospel ;"

ordering that any person who should wear any cloth-
ing that should be "apparently beyond the necessary
end of apparel for covering or comeliness," should,
on due conviction, forfeit ten shillings for every of-

fense. How great a commotion would be caused by
the passage of such a law in the present days of fool-

ish extravagance

!

So numerous had the arrivals of our ancestors be-
come in the new plantation of Pomperaug during
the year 1()73, that at the May session of the General
Court, in 1074, it was made a town, called Woodbury
(meaning a "dwelling-place in the wood"), and ex-
empted from taxes for four years. In May, 1G75, a
committee was api)ointed to lay out a road to Derby,
and Stratford was ordered to construct a road to the
same place. This committee did not report till May,
l(i77

;
and it is probable that it was not completed

under several years, so that the settlers remained
secluded from all the world for many years.

CHAPTEE LXXI.

WOODBUKT (Continued).

King Philip's War iu 1075—Inliabitants of Woodbury go back to Strat-

ford—Orders of the General Court—Rev. Mr. Walker's Letter—Inhab-
itants Beturn in 1677—The First Three Corn Mills—Town First Rep-
resented in the General Court in 1084—Patent Granted to the Town
in 16S6—General Court grants the North Purchase to the Town in
1703—Same Purchased of the Indians iu 1710.

But far more serious evils awaited the adventurous
pioneers in this " dwelling-place in the wood."
In June, 1675, King Philip's war broke out, and

filled this and the neighboring colonies with the
gloom and terror which always accompany Indian
warfare. The startling intelligence of a general
combination of all the Eastern tribes for the utter

extermination of the white race fell with a sad
cadence on the afflicted ears of the settlers. Philip,

with his fierce band of relentless warriors, appeared
suddenly on the scene of action, and misery and de-

struction followed in his trail. Every portion of the
colony suffered from the predatory excursions of the

savages and continual alarms. The frontier towns,
like Woodbury, were particularly exposed to destruc-

tion. The General Court, deeply affected with the

apparent dangers, enacted military regulations of the
most careful and rigorous kind. It w;is eiiuivalent to

putting the whole colony under martial law. Sixty
soldiers were to be raised in each county, places for

refuge and defense to be immediately fortified in

every plantation, disobedience of orders in time of
attack to be punished with death, and no male be-

tween the ages of fourteen and seventy to be suffered

to leave the colony without permission. Each plan-

tation W!is to keep-a sufficient watch from suaset to

sunrise, and to keep one-fourth of the town under
arms every day, taking regular turns. The watch
was directed to call up every man in the town an
hour before day, and each one wa.s directed to arm
himself, repair to his apjioinled ward, and there stand
guard, ready to repel any attack till half an hour
alter sunrise, when the " warders" again took their

places. Scouts on horseback were also sent into the

woods each day to look for the foe, with directions to

go only so far as to enable them to return by nightfall.

These orders were carried out with alacrity by our
town. This was then the most remote northwestern
town in the colony, and one of the most exposed.
It was known both by the whites and Indians that

persons sleep soundest just before the dawn, and
hence the order that every inhabitant should be
awakened by the watch, and called to arms an hour
before day. Guards were stationed on Lodge, Ore-
naug, and Castle Rocks to watch for the enemy and
protect the inhabitants. Fortified houses were erected
on Lodge Hock, on the location now occupied by the
house of Mr. Horace Hurd, in West Side, and near
Widow Natiian Warner's dwelling-house, in Jud-son

Lane, to receive the .settlers in case of assault. It u
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more than difficult, at this distance of time, to real-

ize the trials and alarms which must exist in such

feeble communities, reminded each hour of their

desperate condition by regulations of such severity

as those that had been adopted. Every effort was

made for the public safety, but the dangers thick-

ened so darkly around them that the settlers were

obliged, early in the summer, to remove their wives

and little ones to Stratford, " a place," as stated in

their characteristic language, " of more hopeful se-

curity." This was rendered the more necessary, be-

cause their men, as often as they went to the "seaside

towns," or their necessary business, were pressed into

the service, so that, as we learn from an autograph

letter of Rev. Mr. Walker, in October, 167(5, a greater

number of men from Woodbury, proportioned to its

population, was engaged in King Philip's war than

from any other town in the colony. Notwithstanding

all these discouragements and dangers, our fathers,

after having conducted their households to Stratford,

returned to Woodbury, raised and secured their crops,

and carried them to Stratford in the autumn.

But the plantation was by no means given up.

During the year 1677 the inhabitants slowly returned

to the new settlement. In May, 1678, the General

Court ordered the remainder to return by the 1st of

November, on pain of forfeiting their lands in the

town. Immediately after this the town passed a vote

that the order of the court should be strictly enforced,

and requested the town clerk to write a letter to those

who neglected to return, urging them to come back to

their lands. In writing this letter, the clerk, Capt.

John Minor, urged them to return, saying, " Friends,

it is far from our desire that any of you should be

abused by this act of ours. We covet not your lands,

but your company. We desire not to displease any

of you, but if we cannot please you upon lower terms

than by undoing ourselves, we assure you that we can-

not come to that price." This action of the court and

town brought the wandering children home. In

June of this year Mr. Walker came with his family

to reside, permanently, with his people at Woodbury.

Previous to this time his family had resided at Strat-

ford, and he had ministered at both places, as occa-

sion required. The householders at this time prob-

ably numbered about sixty. It is known that there

were as many as that four years later. This would

show the whole population to be about three or four

hundred.

Previous to this date they had had no corn-mill,

and had no flour or meal, except what they could get

occasionally at Stratford. Even on wedding occasions

—those times of great interest among all nations

—

the principal dishes at the marriage feast were bean

porridge for soup, and for the other courses an enor-

mous plate of pork and beans, with bread made of

pounded corn. How would such a wedding entertain-

ment suit our lady friends of the present day ? This

deprivation was too great to be borne by our fathers, and

accordingly they procured a set of small mill-stones at

Stratford, so diminutive in size that they brought them

here on horseback. This was probably in 1674, and

they were the only ones used till 1681. They prepared

mill-gearing, built a small shed on Middle Quarter

Brook, a few rods easterly from the house of the late

Deacon Eli Summers, and set their mill in operation.

It is said that when it was in complete running order

one could grind a bushel of grain per day. Each

settler, in turn, carried his grist to the mill in the

morning, set it in motion, and went for his meal at

night. One of these mill-stones is still in existence,

and is fastened to the base of the fathers' monument.

Traces of the old dam, also, exist.

But the inhabitants had become so numerous before

1681 that the old mill was entirely inadequate to the

wants of the town. It had, therefore, granted " mill

accommodations" of land, and other considerations,

on the west side of the river, to John Hurd, to " en-

courage" him to take upon himself the responsibility

of building a " corn-mill" of sufficient capacity to do

all the grinding required by the town. The date of

this agreement is Aug. 28, 1681. He erected his mill

about fifty rods westerly from his dwelling-house,

which stood where the Hon. N. B. Smith's now
stands. It was erected immediately under the hill,

and the water for its accommodation was brought in

a ditch—faint traces of which remain—from the Pom-
peraug River, about one hundred rods distant, and

discharged into the river again about fifty rods below,

the mill nearly in rear of " Parson Stoddard's house."

The dam was built across the river west of the mill,

the bed-sills of which are to this day in a good state

of preservation, though it is just two hundred years

since they were placed in the river, and can be seen

at low water. Hurd and his heirs carried on the mill

for ten years, but the floods carried away the dam so

often that they gave up the contract. The town then,

Feb. 15, 1691, made a contract with John Mitchell

and Samuel Stiles to carry on the mill. There was a

stipulation that if after further trial the dam could

not be made to stand at the present location, then

they might build it " elsewhere with the consent of

the town." For the " encouragement of the miller"

thirty pounds were granted, and a ten-acre accom-

modation was entailed to the " Mill and Miller" that

should do the grinding power, so that it could not be

conveyed away. This " accommodation" was laid

out in Ragland, and has been owned by the owners

of the mill to this day. On the part of the miller it

was stipulated that he should "well and seasonably

grind from time to time, and at all times, all such

corn as each and every of the inhabitants of Woodbury

shall bring to said mill to be ground." It being found

impossible to maintain the dam at the first location,

the " millers" .soon established the mill near the pres-

ent mill and factory of Daniel Curtiss' sons, in which

place a corn-mill has ever since been kept up in ac-

cordance with the terms of the entailment.
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At the May session of the General Court in 1684,

Capt. John Minor and Lieut. Josepli Judson appeared

as members. This was the first time the town had

been represented, and at that session the court granted

that the " Woodbury sallery for their deputies shall

be fifty shillings a session." There was a previous

regulation, by which each town was to furnish the

use of a suitable nag, upon which its representatives

might be carried, in proper state, to the place of

legislation.

About the same time uneasiness began to arise in

the minds of the inhabitants in relation to the title

by which they held their lands. The territory of the

town had originally been granted to the committee

of the Second Church at Stratford, under the injunc-

tion or proviso that they should receive as many in-

habitants to rights and privileges in their lands as

the plantation would conveniently accommodate.

The extent of territory was large, and it was a much
more desirable place for habitation than most other

inland towns. Under these circumstances many per-

sons offered to be admitted to the privileges of pro-

prietorship in the plantation, and the authorities did

not see fit to admit all of them. It was very natural

for these persons to question the rights of those al-

ready located there, and to threaten to have the title

by which they held their lands inquired into. It is

possible that this was the particular moving cause

that induced the town to send deputies to the General

Court this year, when it had rested quietly without

representation for ten years after its legal organiza-

tion as a town. Previous to this the people had re-

mained content with the measure of law and justice

meted out to them by their committee of the princi-

pal men of the place, who ruled in accordance with

the " written word." At the May session of the Gen-

eral Court, May, 16Sr>, the citizens petitioned for a

patent, and at the May session, 1680, it wa.s granted
^

in ample form. At the May session, 1703, this patent

was confirmed, and the town during the same year

confirmed all the grants of land it had previously

made.

At the same session the court granted an addition

to the north side of the town, containing seventeen

thousand four hundred and eighty-two acres and

sixty rods of land. This was called the North Pur-

chase, and covered the present town of Bethlehem

and Judea Society in Washington.

The town having obtained this grant of the court

in 1703, commenced negotiations for the jmrchase of

the same of the Indians, but did not complete the bar-

gain till June 23, 1710, when a deed was executed by

Nunawague, Chesguneage, Cocksherry, Wussutta-

nunckquet, and Sasaw. The town had now full and

undispnted title to its entire limit.s, both from the

General Court and the native proprietors.

CHAPTER LXXII.

"WOODBtJEY (Continued).

Character of tho Fii-st Settlers—Capt. Jobti Minor—Capt. William Cur-

tiss—Hon. Samuel Sherman—Hon. John Sherman—Lieut. Joseph Jud-

son—Lieut. Israel Curtiss—Col. Joseph Minor—^Hackaliah Preston—

Hon. William Frestou.

The original signers of the fi^indamental articles, as

we have seen, were seventeen in number. Fifteen of

these, undoubtedly, removed to the new plantation

during the first year. It is not certain that the two

aged planters, Samuel Sherman, Sr., and Joseph Jud-

son, Sr., ever resided here, although they had larger

" accommodations" than most of the other proprietors.

First among the settlers, men of note in Woodbury,

and foremost in all diflicult undertakings, was John
Minor, an interpreter to the Indians, a justice of the

quorum among the magistrates, a captain in the militia,

and a deacon in the church. He was also a surveyor,

a necessary and important character in a new country.

All the Indian deeds in this region were executed be-

fore him, from his being able to act as an interpreter.

Early in life he acquired a good knowledge of the

Indian dialects, and conversed in them with fluency.

To perfect him in this knowledge, the magistrates of

Connecticut sent him to school and college two or

three years, wishing to iirepare him lor a preacher of

the gospel to the Indians. He lived with Rev. Mr.

Stone, of Hartford, for several years, and acted as

interpreter for him when he preached to the Indians.

He was town clerk of Stratford for ten years from 1666,

with the exception of a year, and held the same office

for thirty years from its beginning. He w:is also, for

twenty years, almost always a member of the General

Court, lield an influential position there, and was ap-

]iointed on committees for the composing of serious

difterenccs and the solving of difficult (piestions. He
died at an advanced age, and was buried in the south-

west part of the ancient burying-ground, but no stone

remains to mark the spot.

Capt. William Curtiss was another early founder of

Woodbury, of high standing in the colony, and one

of the grantees in the plantation. He was from Rox-

bury, Mass. His name was usually spelled " Curtice."

It does not appear that he l)ought an interest in the

plantation himself, but he wa.s its fit«t friend, and sent

two of his sons, Lieut. Israel and Joshua, with the

first settlers. He was a member of the General Court,

ten or twelve years, from Stratford; often a commis-

sioner, or justice of the peace ; and from year to year

ap|)ointeil by the court on ini|)ortant committees in

various parts of the colony. He was appointed, Nov.

23, 1673, captain of the forces raised in Fairfield

County to serve against the Dutch at New Amsterdam
(New York). In October, 1675, he was appointed, by

the General Court, captain of the sixty men to be raised

in Fairfield County to serve in King Philip's war, with

power to appoint his inferior officers. In May, 167i!,

when the people of Woodbury were at Stratford on
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account of this war, he and Mr. Samuel Sherman were

appointed commissioners for "Stratford and Wood-
bury."

Intimately assQciated with the last named in all

that related to the welfare of the town, was the Hon.

Samuel Sherman. He was, at the date of its settle-

ment, undoubtedly the most distinguished man con-

nected with the enterprise. He was from Dedham,

Essex Co., England. Came to this country in 1634,

and previous to the date of the new plantation had

been a leading man in the colony. He had assisted

in the settlement of several other towns in the colony,

and now undertook the same for Woodbury. He had

been a member of the Court of Assistants, or Upper

House of the General Court and Supreme Judicial

Tribunal, for five or si.x years from 1663, and held

various offices of honor and trust. He is referred to

in ancient deeds and documents as the " WorshipM
Mr. Sherman." In 1676, as stated above, he was one

of the commissioners for " Stratford and Woodbury."

It is not certain he ever resided here, although he took a

first-cla-ss " accommodation" in the grant of the Gen-

eral Court. If he did not remove personally to Wood-
bury, he evidently caused his lands to be improved in

accordance with the articles of the settlement. They

are " recorded to" him May 26, 1675, and on the 22d

of June, 1679, it is further recorded that "Mr.

Sherman having enjoyed and improved his accommo-

dations to this 22d of June, 1679, according to the

grant of y* town," has now an " absolute and positive

record to him of the same according to law." He
deceased previous to October, 1684, and his sons,

Matthew and John, agreed on a division of said lands.

He may have resided here, but it is probable that,

being advanced in years and comfortably settled in

Stratford, he continued to reside there till his death.

He furnished one son (John) for the first company,

and subsequently two other sons, Samuel and Mat-

thew, for other companies. His son, Hon. John Sher-

man, was one of the first company, and his farm is

more particularly the property of the town than the

last two. He was distinguished not only in his town,

but also in the colony. He was a justice of the quo-

rum, or Associate County Court judge for forty-four

years from 1684, a representative of the town for sev-

enteen sessions, and speaker of the Lower House in

May and October, 1711, and May and October, 1712.

He was town clerk twenty-five years, and captain in

the militia, a high honor in those days. He was the

first judge of probate for the district of Woodbury
from its organization in 1719, nine years. This dis-

trict then comprised all the settled portion of the

present county of Litchfield, and Waterbury, in New
Haven County. He was also an assistant (or senator)

for ten years from 1713.

Lieut. Joseph Judson, Sr., another subscriber to the

Fundamental Articles, was a man of note before the

removal to this town. He came from Concord, Mass.

He was deputy to the General Court there some six

years, and otherwise distinguished. After the settle-

ment of Woodbury he was sent as a deputy, with

John Minor, to the session of 1684, being the fir.it

time the town had been represented, and continued

to represent the town for four sessions afterwards.

He was one of the leaders of Rev. Mr. Walker's party

at Stratford. He had a first-class "accommodation,"

but it is not certain that he lived here till the close of

his life, as a part of his land was afterwards sold to pay

a ministerial rate. His son, John, another "original

signer," was a prominent individual in the town and

colony. He died Jan. 12, 1709-10, aged sixty-three

years.

Lieut. Israel Curtiss, son of Capt. William, was an-

other of the "original signers," and took a prominent

part in the settlement of the town. He was a lieu-

tenant in the militia, and represented the town at

the May session, 1689, and for seventeen sessions after-

wards.

Col. Joseph Minor, son of Capt. John, was not

one of the " original signers," but was one of the

early settlers, and for eiglity years afterwards held a

prominent position. He attained the greatest age to

which any inhabitant of the town has ever arrived,

save one, since its settlement. He was born March 4,

1672-73, and died Oct. 20, 1774, being nearly one hun-

dred and two years old. He was born sixteen days after

the signature of the " Fundamental Articles," came

to Woodbury a child, and spent a long life in its ser-

vice. He passed through the several grades of the

military service to the rank of colonel, and was very

efficient in preparing men for service in the French

and Indian wars. He was representative thirty-two

sessions, town clerk twenty-eight years, justice of the

quorum fourteen years from 1725, and judge of pro-

bate thirty years. He lived under the hill in rear of

Horace H. Minor's present dwelling-house. He in-

herited the homestead and other land from his father,

which said Horace, one of his descendants, now owns;

and it is a remarkable fact that it has never passed by

deed since the deed from the Indians, two hundred

and twenty-one years ago. It has passed from father

to son through the Probate Court.

Another early settler, but not an " original signer,"

was Hackaliah Preston. He was a native of Wales,

but came to Stratford from Turkey. Tradition says

the Turks for some reason sought to kill him, and

that he fled to save his life. He married Emma
Fairchild, daughter of Thomas Fairchild, of Strat-

ford, one of the principal planters and first magis-

trates of that town, who had come thither directly

from England. He soon removed to Woodbury, in

one of the companies of the first settlers.

Hon. William Preston, son of the above, was born

at Stratford, March 21, 1676, just before his father's

removal to Woodbury, and was, therefore, in one

sense, a son of the soil, having spent his entire life in

the town, and rested from his labors, Sept. 5, 1754, in

the seventy-eighth year of his age. He was a leading
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man in the town, county, and colony. He was a

member of the General Court thirty-five sessions, and

stood high in the militia, having attained the rank of

colonel. He was justice of the quorum eleven years

from 1740. On the formation of the new county of

Litchfield, in 1751, he was appointed its first judge,

which office he held three years till his death, per-

forming its duties to the credit of himself and the in-

terests of the people. He was a man of fine talents

and commanding influence, of sterling integrity, and
unflinching determination. He was active and effi-

cient in all the walks of life, and died much lamented.

Such was the character of the early men of Wood-
bury.

CHAPTER LXXIII.

"WOODBURY (Continued).

Home-Lots—Rev. Z. Walker's House—Palisaded Houses—First School-

House—Second, or Stoddard Parsonage—First Bleeting-House—First

Birth, Marriage, and Death—First Clothier—First Physician—First

Blacksmith—First Divorce—Parson Stoddard Kills Two Indians

—

Wood Creek Expedition—Slavery.

The settlers laid out their home-lota in quantities

of from two to five acres, with narrow fronts, which

were arranged on both sides of the Main Street, or

" Indian trail," from East Meadow two miles, or the

whole length of the present street. The " home-lot

division," four times as large as the home-lot, was

laid out in rear of it, and extended back one mile

from the street, "that," as the record says, "run
through the middle of the town from end to end of

the town." This rule for building the houses close

together was in pursuance of an order of the general

court to all new towns, for protection against the In-

dians. Next came the "meadow division," or low-

land, which was laid on the intervales, or plain lands.

After this came the " upland division," laid out on the

irregular, hilly grounds. At the same time tlie " pas-

ture division" was laid out for the accommodation of

their cattle. In process of time came the " woodland

division," after they had cleared their other divisions,

and a provision for fuel became necessary. Still later,

when they had subdued and brought under cultiva-

tion their other lands, came the "Good Hill division"

and the " Wliite Oak Plain division," wliich desig-

nate their own localities. All these divisions were

assigned or laid out to tlie settlers in proportion to

the size of tlieir home-lots, and that was determined

by the amount paid in under the original articles.

The house of Rev. Zeohariali Walker, tiie first min-

ister, or " first parsonage," stood where Mrs. Levi S.

Dougla.s8 now lives, and covered a part of the present

cellar. Isaac Judson built his house in Judson Lane,

and was one of those surrounded with palisades as a

protection against the Indians. Another palisaded

house stood on the site occupied by Horace Hurd's

dwelling-house. Capt. John Minor's, under the hill,

below where Horace H. Minor now lives, was an-

other. Another of the fortified houses was that of

one of the Bronsons, in Transylvania. It had a look-

out on its top, by the chimney, for observation. The
reservation of land for a school, as agreed in the

"fundamental articles," was laid out north of the

cranberry pond before 1700, and the first school-

house stood where George Hitchcock's wagon-shop

now stands. In 1700 some change was made, when
Rev. Anthony Stoddard was settled in the ministry,

and his home-lot was laid on the 12th of May in this

place, then called Foot's Neck. It was a part of the

contract of the town with him to build him a house

of certain dimensions on this lot. It was immediately

commenced and finished, so that he could move into

it late in 1701. It was surrounded with " palasadoes,"

was the most strongly fortified house in the planta-

tion, and could receive more people than any other

in case of an alarm. This old house was pulled down
in the fall of 1880, and a fine modern dwelling is now
erected on its site by Walter S. Curtiss, Esq. This

was the oldest house in the State, except the old

stone house in Guilford, and it was a pity that the old

landmark was removed.

After the settlers were in some measure located,

and began to have some of the comforts and conve-

niences of life, their thoughts naturally turned to the

prime object of all the plantations in New England,

—

the establishment of public worship, and tlie location

and construction of a suitable house in which to enjoy

the ministrations of the gospel. From their first set-

tlement hitherto they had worshiped in each other's

houses in the inclement months of the year, and in

the summer months had convened, in the stillness of

the Sabbath morn, in a beautiful and retired spot on

the east side of the Oronaug Rocks, between the cliffs,

with their sentinels placed on the tops of the adjacent

rocks to guard against surprise from savage foes, and

there made the " surrounding aisles of the dim woods"

vocal witli the high praises of God. In a rude pulpit

of stone, still landing in that lonely dell, we may, in

imagination, see the faithful Walker addressing his

attentive hearers, and delivering to them the words of
" truth and soberness." This spot received the name
of Bethel Rock from this circumstance, and has ever

been held as a consecrated place by the descendants

of those early Christians, whither they have at times

repaired for meditation and prayer to tlie present day.

The unsettled state, produced by King I'hilip's war,

having pitssed away, and the inhabitauti) become quite

numerous for a new town, they resolved to build a

house for public worship. As has ever been the case

in such matters, they did not readily agree on a loca-

tion. They tried various ways to solve the difficulty.

Among other methods they " cast lots," tlius showing

us a glimpse of the superstition of the age in which

they lived. But although they had " solemnly left

the matter to God" for a decision, vague suspicions of

some human agency in the result obtained arose in
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the minds of many. They, therefore, in a peaceable

and orderly manner submitted the question to the

arbitrament of Deputy-Governor Robert Treat, Sr.,

Maj. Nathan Gold, who chose Nicholas Camp as the

" third man," and they fixed the site where Hon. N.

B. Smith's carriage-house now stands, July 5, 1681,

about twenty rods from the first parsonage, five from

the school-house, and twenty-five from the second

corn-mill. The work pf building immediately com-

menced. It was of large size for those times, and was

used for public worship till the erection of the second

meeting-house in 1747. The people were called to

church on the Sabbath by the beating of a drum upon

the rock on which the Masonic lodge now stands.

The same instrument was used to call the people to-

gether on other days in the week for other i)urposes.

It was beat for town-meetings, for the assembling of

the train-band, and in cases of alarm in times of war.

There was a particular beat for each of these occa-

sions, but what was the difference in the roll of the

drum ecclesiastic, the drum military, and the drum
civil is not now known. During the perilous times

of the French and Indian wars, guards were placed on

Lodge Rock, Orenaug Rocks, and Castle Rock, while

the people, who worshiped within the church, also

carried their arms. After the dedication of the second

meeting-house, the old one was used for a town-hall

for many years, and also by the Episcopal Society for

their service. Still later it was used by Mr. Tallman

for a slaughter-house. But it was taken down many
years ago, and a portion of it now constitutes a part

of one of Hon. N. B. Smith's outhouses.

The first female born in Woodbury was Sarah,

daughter of Samuel Sherman, Jr., and the first male,

Thomas, son of John Wheeler. They were both

born in 1673, and baptized in Stratford. The first

marriage that appears on record is that of Benjamin

Hinman and Elizabeth Lumm, July 12, 1684. The

first death recorded on record or tombstone was in

1683. The first wheelwright was Samuel Munn, who
came in 1681.

Dr. Trumbull, in his " History of Connecticut," says

that in 1713 "there was but one clothier in the

colony. The most he could do was to full the cloth

which was made. A great proportion of it was made
without shearing or pressing." If this assertion is

correct, Woodbury was the location of that first

clothier, and Abraham Fulford was his name. His

home-lot was laid out next to that of Samuel Stiles,

the town miller. The fulling-mill was on the East

Sprain, near " East Meadow Rocks." The first phy-

sician was Dr. Butler Bedient, and Dr. Ebenezer

Warner, Sr., settled about the same time. The first

blacksmith in Woodbury of whom the records speak

was Deacon Samuel Bull, of Farmington, who was

granted a ten-acre accommodation on condition he

would carry on the blacksmith trade in town for ten

years. He married the only daughter of Mr. Walker,

the first minister. So it seems the blacksmith was

"settled" like the minister. The first divorce was

granted to Jonathan Taylor from his wife by the Gen-

eral Court, at its October session, 1708. The grounds

were that his wife endeavored to " take his life by

her violence, deserting him, and living with Joseph

Allen, a negro, at Sackett's Farm, N. Y.,"—the Bible

cause somewhat aggravated.

It is related that during the Indian war of 1708,

one Sabbath evening, after the conclusion of services

at church, while the Rev. Anthony Stoddard was

walking in his garden near Cranberry Pond, he dis-

covered an Indian skulking in the bushes. He quietly

re-entered his house, and took his gun. After watch-

ing for a while, Mr. Stoddard obtained a fair view of

him, fired, and the Indian fell. He dared not inves-

tigate further that night. Early in the morning he

discovered another red foe near his companion, whom
he also dispatched.

Beginning with King Philip's war, in which it

furnished more than its just share of men, being then

but little more than two years old, Woodbury has

always furnished its men liberally for all the wars

that have arisen in whicli our country has had a part.

In that fruitless and fatal expedition to Ward Creek,

under Gen. Nicholson, of the royal service, to assist

in the reduction of Montreal and Quebec, in 1709,

Connecticut furnished her full quota, of which Wood-
bury's part was nine. Two of these, Sergt. Thomas
Skeel and John J. Johnson, died a few days after

their return home, of disease contracted by exj^osure

in the service.

It is difficult now to conceive that slavery ever ex-

isted in Connecticut. Yet it was only in 1848 it was

formally abolished by the Legislature. It is more

than ninety years, however, since the institution in

this State had even a " name to live." We can hardly

believe that our honored forefathers could be slave-

holders, and yet such is the fact. All the leading

men of property in the early days owned slaves.

Nothing was more common in the early inventories

than the item' of slaves, nor in distributions than

whole or fractional parts of slaves divided to the heirs.

It is true that they were treated kindly, educated,

their religious interests cared for, presented in bap-

tism as members of the household, treated more like

children than slaves, yet they were such, bought and

sold at the will and pleasure of their owners. During

the whole of the eighteenth century the institution

flourished here, though in a mild form. They became

attached in many instances to the places where they

were brought up, and some of them lingered around

the " old homestead" long after they were entitled to

go free by virtue of law. In the war of the Revolu-

tion, freedom was granted to all slaves who would en-

list and serve through the war. To avail themselves

of this provision, some twenty-five of their number

in town enlisted at various periods of the war, and

made good soldiers, fighting valiantly for the liberty

of the country.
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CHAPTER LXXIV.

WOODBUKY (Continued).

ECCLESIASTICAL HISTORY.

Character of Eev. Zechariah Walker—Rev. Authony Stoddard Settled

—

Kev. Noah Benedict Settled—Half-Way Covenant Abolished, 1700—

Rev. Samuel R. Andrew Settled—Remaining Pastors of the Church

— Recapitulation — Strict Congregational Church — Rev. Grove L.

Brownell Settled—Kev. John Churchill Settled—W. L. R. Wychorf

Settled—Episcopal Church—Methodist Church—Catholic Church.

We have already stated the causes which led the

second church of Stratford to settle in Woodbury and

the circumstances attending the building of the first

meeting-house. Within the walls of this edifice Mr.

Walker continued to labor till his death, Jan. 20,

1699-1700, or Jan. 31, 1700, according to new style.

He was a man of solid attainments, a fervid and pow-

erful preacher, greatly beloved by the people of his

charge. He conducted the affairs of his church with

commendable discretion, and both that and the in-

fant town flourished during his administration.

Under him the church had secured a firm foundation,

notwithstanding all the trials and hardships that

beset its earlier years. After a life of usefulness " y"

faithful, worthy, beloved Minister of the Gospel, and

much lamented Pastor of ye Chh. of Christ," was

gathered to his fathers, and his remains repose in the

southern part of the ancient burial-ground, where the

present fathers' monument now stands. He sleeps

amid the faithful flock to whom he ministered in life.

In 1700, Rev. Anthony Stoddard commenced
preaching to the people, and in 1702 was ordained

over the church. Rev. Israel Chaunccy, of Stratford,

having forgotten all former difficulties, was one of the

ofBciating clergymen on the occasion. The town in

1700 built him a house, as has already been stated.

The ministry of Mr. Stoddard was remarkable for its

duration and the prosperity whidi attended it. From
the date of iiis first sermon as a candidate to his last,

immediately preceding the brief illness which ternii-

nated his useful labors, he numbered more than si-xty

years in his holy calling, and great peace and har-

mony ever prevailed under his administrations. The
number of communicants was always large, notwith-

standing four large societies were taken from his

limits during his ministry. These were Soutlibury

in 1730, Bethlehem in 1739, India in 1741, and Ro.x-

bury in 1743. The good work seemed constantly to

grow under his hands with a steadiness rarely etjiuiled.

The whole number by him admitted to full commu-
nion was 474; to the half-way covenant, 142; and

1540 received ba|)tisni at his hands.

To his ministerial labors he joined those of lawyer

and physician. Like many of the early ministers, he

prepared himself for the practice of medicine that he

might administer to the wants of the body a.s well as

those of the mind. In this cai)acity he was often

called. He acijuired a very good legal knowledge for

those early days. This was the more necessary, as at

the beginning of the eighteenth century there were

but four lawyers in the colony, and as late as 1730

an act was passed limiting the number of lawyers

that might practice to three in Hartford County, and

two in each of the other counties. He was clerk of

probate for forty years, during which time he drew

most of the wills of his townsmen and did the greater

part of the business of the oflice, the judge for the

time being approving his acts. All the records of the

court during the time he was clerk appear in his

handwriting. He was also one of the largest farmers

in town. After a life of arduous and successful labor

the second pastor, at a good old age, entered into his

rest. He died Sept. 6, 1760, in the eighty-third year

of his age and the sixty-first year of his ministry, after

a severe illness of " about two days' continuance." He
lived and died enshrined in the hearts of his people.

He was buried in the central part of the old burial-

ground, and there reposes surrounded by a numerous

congregation slumbering in death, very many of

whom he himself had followed to the grave. As in

life he was ever united to his people, so in death they

are not divided.

Previous to Mr. Stoddard's death, early in 1760,

Rev. Noah Benedict had been called to be settled as

his colleague, but he died before the day fixed for Mr.

Benedict's ordination, which was Oct. 22, 17(iO. The
ordination took place that day as arranged, but it was

to the work of the ministry as sole pastor.

At the time of the death of Mr. Stoddard the half-

way covenant system had not been abandoned. He,

as well as his father. Rev. Solomon Stoddard, was an

advocate of the system, though Rev. Mr. Edwards,

the grandson of the latter, had done so much to over-

throw it wherever it existed. The system was not in

accordance with Mr. Ben.cdict's views, and within two

weeks after his ordination it was, by a vote of the

church, abolished. The half-way covenant members

were invited, if they had owned their covenant in

sincerity, to the Lord's table, which invitation they

accepted, and the practice ceased forever. At the

same meeting a covenant and profession of faith were

adopted by the church, which, with slight verbal al-

terations, is the one now in use.

Mr. Benedict spent a long and useful life among his

people. Few controversies arose among tliein during

the long period of his ministrations till near its close.

This was a controversy in regard to the location and

building of the third meeting-house. That constant

source of bitter animosity, the location of public

buildings, wius the only thing that disturbed the

serenity of a jK/riod of pastoral labor extending

through a period of more than half a century. But

he lived not to see the heat of the battle, having died

about three years before the final disruption of his

church. He died April 20, 1813, in the seventy-

sixth year of his age and the fifty-third year of his

ministry. Under his administration the church was

prosperous. The number admitted to it was two
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hundred and seventy-two, and seven hundred and

fifty-eight persons were by him baptized. Mr. Ben-

edict was a man of sound piety, and of great dignity

and amiability of character. He held an honored

place in the affections of his people. Thus we see

that three ministers served this church for the long

period of one hundred and forty-three years.

Rev. kSamuel R. Andrew was settled, by unamimous
call, over the church Oct. 8, 1817. He preached his

farewell discourse Jan. 4, 1846, having been dismissed

on account of failing health. The division in the

church, caused by the disagreement about the location

of the new meeting-house, had ended in the forma-

tion of another church before his installation, and

the church, under his care, for nearly twenty-nine

years enjoyed uninterrupted peace and prosperity.

Two hundred and sixty-three members were received

into the church, and two hundred and forty-three

persons were by him baptized. The present church

edifice was dedicated Jan. 13, 1819, seventy-two years

after the dedication of the second. Thus we see that

this church was led for one hundred and seventy-two

years by three ministers.

Mr. Andrew was the only son of Samuel Andrew,

who was grandson of Rev. Samuel Andrew, of Mil-

ford, one of the founders of Yale College, a fellow,

and, pro tempore, a rector of that institution, and for

fifty years pastor of the First Church in Milford. Mr.

Andrew was born at Milford, May, 1787, and grad-

ated at Yale College in 1807. He studied law for a

year or two, and spent a few years at the South in

editing a newspaper and in teaching. He studied

theology with Rev. B. Prince, of Milford, and was

ordained over this church in 1817. He was chosen fel-

low of Yale College in 1837, which office he resigned in

1847, on moving out of Litchfield County to New
Haven, and was at the same time appointed secretary

of the college, which oflice he held till his death,

May 26, 1858, at the age of seventy-one years. In

1848 he was chosen a member the Connecticut Acad-

emy of Arts and Sciences.

Mr. Andrew's intellect was strong, clear, compre-

hensive, and discriminating. His judgment was pre-

eminently sound and wise. His taste was pure and

classical. His sensibilities were exquisitely suscep-

tible to beauty in nature, in literature, and in char-

acter. His thoughts were always just, and often rich

and original. He was a laborious student, and a close,

independent, and comprehensive thinker in theology.

His sympathies were as tender as his intellect was

strong. His heart was warm to the suffering and sor-

rowing. He was true to his friends and loved them

well. His piety was the very beauty of holiness, it

was so unaffected, so symmetrical, so honest, and so

tender.

He died as few men die. He had arranged to make

a visit to his old friends in Woodbury, and had dis-

patched a more than usually cheerful letter to an inti-

mate friend there. That letter was received after he

had been some hours dead. In the morning he woke
at his usual hour, and, apparently, in his usual health.

He spoke of being slightly chilled, adjusted the cov-

ering of his bed, breathed twice audibly, and in an

instant was gone. Such a death had been pronounced

by him to be beautiful and desirable, and his thought

was fulfilled. " Mortality was swallowed up in life."

" He walked with God, and he was not, for God took

him."

The remaining pastors of this church are all living.

Rev. Lucius Curtis was installed July 8, 1846, and

resigned on account of ill-health Jan. 22, 1854. Rev.

Robert G. Williams was installed Jan. 29, 1855, and

resigned Jan. 15, 1859. Rev. Charles E. Robinson,

D.D., began to supply the pulpit early in 1861, was

installed June 10, 1861, and resigned Jan. 27, 1864,

on account of ill-health. Rev. Charles Little sup-

plied the pulpit from the summer of 1865 to the fall

of 1867, without installation. Rev. Horace Winslow

supplied the pulpit for a year from January, 1868.

Rev. Gordon W. Noys was installed over the church,

Dec. 8, 1869, and continued his ministrations for ten

years, when he resigned. For the past year and a

half the pulpit has been supplied by Rev. A. W.
Colver.

From its origin, two hundred and eleven years ago,

this church has received into its fold sixteen hundred

and twenty-six persons, administered the rite of

baptism to three thousand one hundred and two, and

ordained twenty-five deacons, four of whom are now
living. Its present membership is about two hundred.

Six churches have been formed entirely out of it, two

others have received a good number from it, to say

nothing of its contributions to other denominations

within its ancient limits, and to the churches of its

own faith in the cities of the East and West.

In 1810 another large and flourishing church was

formed out of the First Church, and was incorporated

under the name of the " Strict Congregational So-

ciety," with the same territorial limits as the first

society. This was about one hundred and forty-six

years after the gathering of the First Church in Wood-
bury. The first minister was Rev. Grove L. Brownell,

who was ordained over the church July 27, 1817, and

continued his ministry about twenty-three years. He
was a very capable and faithful minister of the gospel.

Two hundred and thirty-eight joined the church by

profession during his ministry, and fifty-eight by let-

ter, which, added to the original forty members, make

the whole number of persons connected with the

church during his service three hundred and seventy-

five. The number of children baptized by him was

one hundred and eighty-eight.

On the dismission of the first pastor. Rev. John

Churchill was, by unanimous call, installed over the

church April 22, 1840, and presided over it for a period

of twenty-seven and a half years, closing his labors

on the last Sabbath in September, 1867. Mr. Churchill

was a logical and forcible preacher, and very success-
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ful in his labors. One hundred and ninety-seven were

added to the church during liis ministry, and at its

close almost the entire congregation were members

of it.

The church remained without a settled pastor till

1874, when the Rev. W. L. R. Wychorf, of New Jersey,

commenced his labors, was settled over it, and still

continues his ministrations to the acceptance of his

people, and with marked success.

For nearly seventy years after the settlement of the

town there were no churches within its limits, except

those of the Congregational, or "Standing Order."

Our fathers emigrated to this country to enjoy their

religion, not only free from persecution, but without

interruption from Christians of different sentiments.

They were desirous, as all churches had been before

them, of maintaining a uniformity of doctrine and

worship. Correct views of religious liberty had not

then been held in any Christian country, and tolera-

tion was not a virtue of that age. But our fathers

were far in advance of the rest of the world in learn-

ing and adopting that truly Christian virtue. By the

very first code of laws ever published in the colony,

in 1672, all denominations of Christians were allowed

to worship God in their own way, provided they did

not commit a breach of the peace. It is true that

all were obliged to contribute to the regular minister

;

but this was but carrying out a contract on the part

of the people, for the only price they paid for their

lands consisted in bearing their pro rata share of the

amount paid the Indians, the joint expenses of re-

moval, the expense of building roads, bridges, school-

houses, church buildings, and the support of that

mode of worship unanimously established by the first

founders of the several towns. New-comers, who, as

Boou as they arrived, were admitted to all the privi-

leges of the original planters, had no right to com-

plain of the necessity of bearing the same burdens as

the rest. But at a very early day even this provision

was changed, so that every one paid his tax to the

pastor of his choice.

A short time previous to 1740 some few families in

this town adopted the sentiments of the Church of

England, and at that date were occasionally supplied

by the ministers of the "Society for tlie Propagation

of the Gospel in Foreign Part'*." Soon after this a

church edifice was erected in the town, on the hill

between Transylvania and Roxburj' Centre. After

the erection of the Second Congregational church, in

1747, on the site now occupied by the Soldiers' Mon-
ument, the old first church was used by tlie Episco-

palians for public worship till the erection of their

present church, in 1785. In 1771, Rev. John R. Mar-

shall a-ssumed the charge of the parish, having been

ordained by the Bishop of London the same year.

The parish flourished under his administration, and by

his piety, devotion, address, and perseverance he laid

the foundations deep and sure of this now flourishing

church.

A most important and interesting event in the his-

tory of the Protestant Episcopal Church of Connec-

ticut, and indeed of the United States, occurred in

Woodbury soon after the declaration of peace in

1783. The priesthood of this church were under an

oath of allegiance to the sovereign of Great Britain.

But America had been acknowledged as an independ-

ent nation. Of course there was no bishop then for

the United States. Under the rules of the church

this was a matter of prime necessity, and how to ob-

tain one, with the proper ecclesiastical consecration

and appointment, was the great question which en-

gaged the attention of the believers in this form of

church government. It was necessary to select, and

get the consent of some one to go to Great Britain

and seek consecration. Previous to this time all

those who desired to enter the Episcopal ministry

were obliged to go to the old country for holy orders.

Rev. John Rutgers Marshall, of Woodbury, was the

last but one of those candidates who went from Con-

necticut on the perilous and expensive voyage across

the ocean for holy orders. He had been reared in the

city of New York. For a time he was a merchant in

Stratford ; but in the summer of 1770, when he was

more than twenty-seven years of age, we find him

studying divinity with Dr. Johnson of that town, pre-

paring to come to AVoodbury to preach the gospel.

He was gradu.ited at Kings, now Columbia College,

of New York, as Bachelor of Arts, in 1770. His di-

ploma, in beautifully written Latin on parchment, is

before me as I now write. He received the degree of

Master of Arts in regular course two years subse-

quent to his ordination, he having returned from

England in the autumn of 1771, "licensed and au-

thorized," by the Bishop of London, " to perform the

office of a minister or priest at Woodbury, or else-

where within the province of Connecticut, in North

America." He settled here, and preached to the

members of his persuasion in all this region.

It was in the bust week of March, 1783, just after

the publication of the articles of peace, that ten mis-

sionaries of the E|)iscopal Church met in Woodbury,

at the house of Rev. Mr. Marshall, far away from the

centres of infiucnce and observation, to select some

one to proceed to England for consecration as a bishop.

The meeting was "kept a i)rofound secret, even from

their most intimate friends of the laity." The meet-

ing, of course, was informal, but they nominated Rev.

Dr. Samuel Seabury for the office, and he was conse-

crated at Aberdeen, Nov. 14, 1784.

Mr. Marshall's old house, in which this event, so

important to the Episcopal Church of this country,

occurred, is still standing in the midst of our village,

and in a good state of preservation. The church

here should purchase it, and preserve it as a memorial

of the important event which occurred in it.

As early as 1790 services of the Methodist Church

were held in Woodbury, at first in the oi>en air, under

Lodge Rock, by Samuel Wigdon, and afterwards, for
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about twenty years, in the dwelling-house of " Father''

Elijali Sherman, till the ereotion of a church edifice,

which has within a few years been modernized and

rendered commodious and convenient. This church

has been a prosperous one.

For quite a number of years priests of the Catholic

Church from Waterbury, Naugatuck, Ansouia, and

New Milford have held services in the Town Hall

about once in two weeks. The congregation is now
quite large, and they have bought a site for a church

edifice, and are raising a fund to build it.

Thus have we traced our way through the long

years of the dim and dusty records of the early

fathers, and we cannot leave these communings with

the pa.st without regret. We part with the actors as

from old friends with whom we have journeyed long.

There is an interest lingering about the history, say-

ings, and doings of those iron-hearted men which

belongs to no later generation. The most trivial de-

tails in regard to them seem important, and we gather

them up with ever-increasing admiration.

CHAPTER LXXV.
WOODBUKY (Continued).

MILITARY HISTORY.

French aud Indian "Ware—War of the Revolntion—War Convention at

Litchfield in 17CG—Town-Meetings in 1774—Boston Alarm—Commit-

tee of Observation—Capture of Ticonderoga and Crown Point by

Woodbnry Men—Woodbury tlie Birtliplace of Col. Etiian Allen, Col.

Seth Warner, and Capt. Remember Baker—Tories—Events of 1775

—

Events of 1776—Events of 1777—Events of 1778—Sliadraoh Osborn—
Commissary Snppliea—Events of 1779—Events of 1780—Volunteers

till New York Should be Taken—Events of 1781 and 1782—Conclu-

sion.

Ancient Woodbury has ever been a military town

from the time of King Philip's war, in 1675, where,

as we have seen, it had a larger num'oer of soldiers in

the service than any other town in the colony in pro-

portion to the number of its inhabitants, through the

French and Indian wars, the war of the Revolution,

when it sent more than sixteen hundred men to the

field, the last war with Great Britain, when it fur-

nished more than two hundred men, down to the war

of the great Rebellion, when it furnished more than

its quota, and more than two hundred and sixty men.

In every war, and on every " alarm," the men of

Woodbury have been found at the post of duty per-

forming feats of valor. For that fruitless and fatal

expedition under Gen. Nicholson, for the reduction

of Montreal and Quebec, in 1709, Woodbury, still the

frontier forest-town, furnished its full quota of men,

being nine, two of whom died from exposure at Wood
Creek. Among the forces under the American com-

mander, who was obliged to execute that most un-

righteous and cruel decree for the dispersion of the un-

happy inhabitants of Acadia among the New England

colonies, tearing the uuoflfending and peaceful people

from their loved and beautiful firesides, were soldiers

from our old Puritan town, and nine of those sorrow-

ful victims of England's gross injustice were sent into

exile upon the outskirts of our town, to be kept at la-

bor under the direction of the selectmen. From 1744

to 1759 our town freely furnished her sturdy sons for

all those ill-managed and desolating wars between

Great Britain and France. Col. Benjamin Hinmau
and Capt. Adam Hinman greatly distinguished them-

selves in these campaigns, although the regular troops

constantly domineered over the provincials. As soon

as the drum at the "alarm-posts" in our peaceful

shades sounded the note of preparation for the relief

of Fort William Henry, near Lake George, that

beautiful sheet of water once so peacefully resting

between its rampart of highlands, the gallant cap-

tains Wait Hinman and Ebenezer Downs, the former

at the head of his company of ninety-six men, and

the latter leading his company of eighty, marched at

a moment's warning, and made their rapid way
through many a trackless and weary solitude to suc-

cor their English brethren. In Hinman's company
marched Hezekiah Thompson, the first regular lawyer

in the village, and Dr. Joseph Perry, one of its most

distinguished physicians. And in that final, glorious

campaign, conducted under the administration and
auspices of the energetic, brilliant, and renowned

Pitt, in those important victories resulting in the

capture of Forts Niagara, Ticonderoga, and Crown
Point, and in the more glorious event, the surrender

of Quebec to the victorious army under Wolfe, who
met his death in the battle-field, and whose "spirit

escajied in a blaze of glory," in all these celebrated

engagements the men of Woodbuiy, both officer and

soldier, stood in the first rank. Valuable, indeed, was

this school of military services, which closed with

this campaign, to our fathers, who were so soon to

engage in a life-and-death struggle for their own lib-

erties. Great was the rejoicing in Woodbury when
the news of the last great victory arrived, not un-

mingled with sorrow at the loss of the slain, three of

whom had gone forth from our hearth-stones. Like

demonstrations of joy were everywhere shown. In

the eloquent words of Bancroft, "America rang with

exultation ; the towns were bright with illumination;

Legislatures, the pulpit, the press, echoed the general

joy
;
provinces and families gave thanks to God."

But in a far more glorious chapter of our country's

history the patriotic sons of Woodbury acted a noble

and distinguished part. It was the chapter of the

war for independence. It had been generally known

that at the end of the war with France new regula-

tions would be introduced into the government of the

American colonies. Connecticut, in particular, was

said to be but " little more than a mere democracy, most

of them being upon a level, and each man thinking

himself an able divine and politician ;" and to make its

inhabitants " a good sort of people, it was supposed

all that was necessary was to take away its charter
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and crush its energies." The mother-country had

forgotten its experience in the Charter Oak affair, hy

which it should have learned that this would not be

so easy a thing as might be desirable. So she, in the

magnitude of her towering pride, said, " Let the col-

onies be taxed, and let there be no representation."

What a world of interests was affected by that stern

and unjust decision! Little dreamed he who spake

it that it would inflame a continent, and rend from

old England her fairest possession. But the word had

been spoken, the decree gone forth. With a fatal

madness, an unaccountable folly, she took her furious

course. Her children, driven by her intolerance into

the savage wilds of a distant continent, were pursued

with a ruthless barbarity. She little knew, and little

cared, if far away over the mighty Atlantic her arbi-

trary acts were creating " the land of the free and the

home of the brave." From this came the war of the

Revolution, to blast the dearest hopes of the people

of the new world. Yet from its gloomy shades

gleamed forth the light of liberty, which to-day

shines with such dazzling splendor.

The passage of the Stamp Act aroused the most in-

tense excitement, alarm, and indignation throughout

the colonies. Absolute resistance to this measure

everywhere appeared, and as early as February, 1766,

a convention of Litchfield County was held, in which

the noble men of Woodbury were leading spirits.

This body of men, feeling within them the true spirit

of freedom, "Resolved, That the Stamp Act was uncon-

stitutional, null, and void, and that business of all

kinds should go on as usual." The paramount and

immediate cause of the great struggle of the Revolu-

tion was the passage of the Boston Port Bill. This

outrageous and malicious act excited universal sym-

pathy for that town throughout the colonies, but no-

where was it shown in a more lively or effective

manner than in Connecticut. The universal spirit of

resistance broke out in Woodbury, and in September,

1774, a town-meeting was held, at which resolutions

of sympathy with the affected people of Boston and

Charlestown were passed, and a considerable amount

of donations was collected and forwarded to Boston

with all possible dispatch. This meeting was held

just after the " great Boston alarm," caused by a

report that ships of war were cannonading Boston.

During this alarm a large number of the patriotic

sons of Woodbury had marched in mad haste, and

made a part of that glorious twenty thousand from

Connecticut, who, completely armed, put themselves

on the route to Boston to relieve their brother sufferers.

It was soon a[)paront that war with the mother-coun-

try was inevitable, and the great object of our Revo-

lutionary sires was to form public o})inion in favor of

a contest with England. This was best effected in that

day of scarcity of newspapers by holding town-meet-

ings, in which they could publicly read such news-

papers as treated upon tlie subject of common interest,

and discuss their rights and grievances. In this way
45

the people became excited and exasperated, and pa-

triotism glowed in the coldest hearts. The fathers

of Woodbury were fully up to the spirit of the times,

and held frequent meetings to advise concerning the

public weal. In November, 1774, Woodbury held a

town-meeting, and appointed a committee to observe

the acts of the inhabitants in relation to the non-

importation and non-consumption agreement of the

united colonies, with directions to publish in the

Gazette the names of all violators of that sacred agree-

ment, to the end that all such persons might " be

publicly known and universally contemned," agree-

ing to break off all dealings with such persons as

should be guilty of such violation.

There can be no better way of appreciating the

trials, dangers, and difficulties of achieving our inde-

pendence than by carefully noting the labors and

struggles of a single important town. One furnishes

a type of the whole. In that great contest Connecti-

cut was one of the foremost, if not the very first. States

in the confederacy to resist the tyranny of Great

Britain, and to lavish her blood and treasure in sus-

taining the conflict with her oppressors. Her soldiers

were frequently applauded by the commander-in-chief

of the American army for their bravery and fidelity.

The honor of the first conquest made by the united

colonies during the war belongs chiefly to Connecti-

cut, and in a distinguishing manner to the sons of

Woodbury. It was the cajiture of Ticonderoga, May
10, 1775, without the loss of a man or the firing of a

gun, one of the most brilliant and daring feats of the

war. At least one-half of that little patriotic band

of eighty-three men who entered the fort were natives

or inhabitants of Woodbury. They were led by Col.

Ethan Allen,* Col. Scth Warner, and Capt. Remem-
ber Baker, cousins and natives of Woodbury, then re-

siding in the " New Hampshire Grants," and on the

demand of the former, in the " name of the Great

Jehovah and the Continental Congress," the com-

mander of the fort rubbed his eyes in astonishment

and yielded tiie fortre-ss. Neither the demeanor of

the man, the boldness of his message, nor the nature

of his authority could be gainsaid for a moment.

This post, and that of Crown Point, which was imme-

* 111 pliuitig tlio iiitiiiu or KttiHii Atlon In the lUtuf n<t/ir<>«of Wood-

bury, tlio wtiter Id wi-ll iiwiii'o thiit tlio honor uf having Loon his birth-

I'laco Inw boon chiinicO by Bi-vi-ml uthur towns, I.ItohfloUl, Cornwall, iiud

Sallxliury linvo boon couilHlilon) In tlila content. It lo very certain, ft-om

an I'Xauiiiuillon of every Hi-rn|> of uvltleuco that hafl ever boon found,

that thero can bp no coni|ietltor with Wootlbury, exce|it LllL'htleM, and

Lllcliflehl hiia only thia loshi.w, Ihut on the firat jwinoof the Hmt volnmo

of lis town records, thirteen yeura after the birth of Goneral Allen, itt

date la recoriled, with i.Ibur Allen entiiea. All there la of thIa conaiala

in llic fuel that A lion's gmndniolhor, with aolne children, had reuioviHl from

the country to Lilihllehl, hia father, Joaeph, Included. Joseph married

Mary Ilakor, of Wooilbury, at Woodbury, March 11, 1730-37, nearly four

yearn after ho had aolU hia laat rod of hind In Lltchflchl ; and lien. Kthan

mairled Mary Urownaon, of Woodbury, at Woodbury, June 1i, 17ri'>,and

waa Iho ow iier of land In Wootibury aoino yeura after Ihla For a careful

alalemelit of the proof as tolien. Allen'a place of birth, the writer refem

to Iho Hmt volnmo of hia " Ilialory of Ancient Wooilbury," |>agea 411 to

410. Ill view of the facta there Blatcd there can ba no doubt that Wood-

bury was AlloD'a birthplace.
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diately taken by Col. AVarner, being thus acquired,

Connecticut was obliged to garrison, and in 1775 sent

one thousand men for this purpose, eight companies

of whom were from the limits of this ancient town,

containing at least one hundred and fifty men, eighty

of whose names are still preserved. The garrisons

were placed under the command of Col. Hinnian, of

Woodbury. Is it then vainglorious in her sons if to-

day they claim it to be essentially a Woodbury affair ?

Truly to her brave children must be awarded the

palm for securing this opening victory to the Ameri-

can arms.

Woodbury was noted for the vigilance with which it

watched the movements of the Tories within its

borders, of whom it had a few, as well as for its active

co-operation in everything necessary to carry on the

great struggle, which had now begun in good earnest.

A committee of inspection and observation of the

conduct of the inhabitants of the town was apjiointed,

consisting of thirty of its chief men, and undoubted

patriots, which exercised its functions during the

whole war, vacancies in the board being filled from

time to time by the town. The duties which this

committee were obliged to perform were of the most

delicate and difiicult nature, and constituted such an

oversight and interference in men's private affairs as

could only be justified by such a case of emergency

as wa.s then existing. But they were men in whom
all had confidence, and upon whom entire dependence

could be placed in times of difficulty and danger.

During the first two years of the war the larger

part of the militia, which comprised all the able-

bodied men from the age of sixteen to fifty, had been

called to serve at various posts and on various expedi-

tions a great part of the time. Early in 1777 enlistments

for three years or during the war were called for, and

the quota for each town was established. It was a

severe levy on the already weakened state of the town.

But it met the call with a ready zeal and undaunted

perseverance. Large bounties were offered to those

who would enlist, and heavy taxes were laid on the

inhabitants who were not liable to do duty or did not

enlist in the army. Another arrangement, besides

increased wages, held out by the town to induce men

to enlist, was a provision which required it to support

their families during their absence in their country's

service, and committees were annually appointed to

carry this provision into effect. From a report to

the General Assembly at the close of the war, in 1783,

we learn that nearly three thousand pounds worth of

provisions had in this manner been furnished to

soldiers' families during the war. Woodbury was

also a prominent point for collecting supplies of pro-

visions for the army. The streets of the village from

the First Congregational church to the soldiers' mon-

ument were often piled high on either side with bar-

rels and hogsheads of pork, beef, lard, flour, and other

military stores for the use ofthe army. Nor was the sup-

ply of clothing of every kind less profuse in quantity

for the wants of the soldiers of the town. In March,

1778, clothing to the value of more than one thousand

dollars was forwarded to them at one time. Besides

the provisions thus furnished by the town for the

army during the war, large quantities were purchased

of the inhabitants by Shadrach Osborn, of Woodbury,
who was assistant commissary of purchases, and also

issuing commissary. From his accounts and other

sources we learn that more than half a million dollars'

worth of supplies was furnished by this town towards

the grand amount necessary to achieve our country's

independence. This is a showing of which any town

may be justly proud.

Such was the care of the town to support and de-

fend those nearest and dearest to the brave men who
were manfully fighting the battles, and consecrating

with their blood every battle-field of their country.

Such was the anxious care for the soldiers them-

selves. Those who went forth to war suffered extreme

hardships, in common with their brethren from other

parts of the country ; and those who remained at home
suffered hardships hardly less severe, in the heavy

taxes necessary to pay for the soldiers' bounties, and

for the support of their families, while their own busi-

ness was crippled and nearly ruined.

All this was accomplished under the pressure of

most unparalleled financial difficulties. The Conti-

nental money, by means of British counterfeiting and
the unavoidable loss of credit, arising from so long

and sanguinary a struggle, constantly dejireciated,

and at last became nearly valueless. So great was

the depreciation that, when the soldiers of the Conti-

nental army were discharged, after the peace of 1783,

many of them were forced to beg their way home,

their wages for a service so long and weary being

scarcely sufficient to purchase them a dinner.

But Woodbury, in a far more important manner,

contributed towards a successful issue of the dispute

with Great Britain. This was accomplished by send-

ing large numbers of her best sons to the field of bat-

tle. In the number and valor of her troops it is

believed that few towns of similar territorial and nu-

merical strength can vie with her. Their heroic deeds

should grace a bright page of our country's history.

During the course of the war more than sixteen hun-

dred of her patriotic sons went forth to " do battle for

their country." At the commencement of the war.

Col. Hinman's, or the Thirteenth Regiment of mili-

tia, comprised only the three towns of Woodbury,

Kent, and New Milford, and all these were within

the limits of the original Indian deed. Ancient

Woodbury furnished eight out of the twelve com-

panies that composed it, and the number of soldiers

furnished from them for the Continental army, in

1775, exclusive of the company that marched in the

" Lexington alarm," was at least one hundred and

fifty, as that was the number whose " poll-taxes"

were abated that year by the General Assembly on

account of their service. At least an equal number
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between the ages of eighteen and twenty-one must

have been in the ranks, who had no poll-taxes to be

abated.

The sun of 1776, although our armies had been suc-

cessful the preceding year, arose clouded and in gloom.

"The note of preparation" was sounded through the

land. There was a " hurrying to and fro" throughout the

country on business of the most solemn import, affect-

ing the dearest interests in life. In June one-fourth

of the able-bodied men between the ages of sixteen

and fifty years in the territory were drafted or en-

listed. In August, after the evacuation of Boston and

the occupation of New York by the British, the entire

militia of Connecticut, west of the river of that name,

at the request of Gen. Washington, was ordered to

New York. The Woodbury companies were called

out on the 10th, mustered on the 11th, and marched

on the 12th for their place of destination. The num-

ber of officers and soldiers on the military rolls at this

time was five hundred and sixty-four, all of whom but

thirty-nine marched at the call of their commanders,
j

Besides these there were two hundred and eighty-four

men in the Continental army by enlistment, making

the number of men in actual service, from this single

town, at that time, eight hundred and seventy-three.

The entire population of Ancient Woodbury, by a

census taken that year, amounted to only five thou-

sand three hundred and twenty-five souls, so that

nearly one-fifth of the population, counting men,

women, and children, were fighting for the freedom

of their firesides. This " raw militia" was present in

the unfortunate operations on Long Island, towards

the close of this year, and in Washington's retreat

from New York, soon after which the men were dis-

charged. One would think that it would be impossi-

ble to arouse and lead forth to battle, at a moment's

warning, all the able-bodied men in the militia of a

town in such a manner as this, but the interests at

stake were great, and the most prominent and popu-

lar men in the coninuinity were in the movement

heart and hand. The ofticers addressed the soldiers

in the most urgent and patriotic language, and even

the pulpit lent its powerful aid to the cause by prayers

to the Almighty, by volunteering to go with them on

their campaigns in the capacity of chaplain, as did Mr.

Wildman, of Southbury Society, on one occasion.

Besides these infiuences, another aided the Revolu-

tionary fathers of this town. Previous to the action

at White Plains, the soldiers of Woodbury had been

remarkably fortunate. Scarcely one had been killed

or wounded, insomuch it had become a common re-

mark, "the enemy's bullets could not hit the Wood-
bury boys." In consequence of this feeling of security

enlistments went on briskly, and to it, in part, is to be

attributed the large number of soldiers who volun-

teered to go into the service. In that scene of misery

at the " Sugar-House" in New York, and the inhuman
cruelties there inflicted, Woodbury had some rcprc-

aentatives. With so large a number of men in the

service, it could not fail to be represented in every

field of battle of the eventful struggle in which our

freedom w.as secured and the mother-country hum-

bled in the dust.

The campaign of 1777 opened with an invasion of

Connecticut ou the part of the enemy, an event long

feared by our people. Troops were called for to de-

fend the coasts, and Col. Moseley's regiment marched

to Fairfield. In April there was a sudden call for

troops to go to Danbury, as the British were burning

the houses and destroying the property of the inhab-

itants. The alarm-lists and militia of Woodbury were

put in motion, and some of the soldiers, including

Hon. William Edmond, afterwards a judge of the

Superior Court, and one of the greatest geniuses this

State has ever produced, were wounded. Col. Joel

Hinmau was also wounded at the same moment in

which Gen. Wooster received his mortal wound, at a

little distance from him. The ball remained in the

groin of Col. Hinman for the long period of thirty-

three years, when it was extracted by Dr. Anthony B.

Burritt, Sr.

One of the guns used on this occasion is still in ex-

istence, which, as is seen by the manufacturer's date

on the barrel, was made in 1G24, two hundred and

fifty-seven years ago. It has been handed down from

father to son from Capt. John Minor, the pioneer, to

Horace H. Minor, the present owner. It was used in

the Pequot, and all the French and Indian wars, and

in the war of the Kevolution. It is said to have

caused, first and last, the death of forty red men, and

from this circumstance has been familiarly known as

the " forty-Indian gun."

It was during this attack, as the British were ap-

proaching the village, that .Mr. Luther Ilolcond), en-

tirely alone, rode up on a hill in front of the enemy,

i and waving his sword and turning his head as though

he was addressing an army behind him, gave, in a

voice of thunder, the somewhat imposing command,
" Halt, the whole univerte .' Break off by kingdoms .'"

As this was rather a formidable force to encounter in

battle array, and more especially its it had the advan-

tage of position, the enemy halted, brought forward

their cannon, and sent out flanking parties to make

discoveries. Upon this the "Kingdoms of the uni-

' verse" quietly subsided, and Mr. Ilolcomb made good

1
his retreat. He did not deem it prudent to see

whether "one man could chase a thousand, and two

put ten thousand to flight."

j
In May one-fourtii of the Thirteenth Regiment was

ordered to Horseneck, numbering about one hundred

and fifty men. In the battle of Bennington, under

the brave Col. Warner, of Woodhury, his friends and

neighbors did good service. Two hundred and forty

men answered to Gen. Washington's draft for Peeks-

kill. In September, the regular army being called to

reinforce Gen. Washington, one-half of the militia

was drafted to go to Peekskill, under Gen. Putnam.

Not far from three hundred men marched from Wood-
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bury on this occasion, exclusive of the entire com-

pany of "Light-Horse" under the command of Maj.

Thomas Bull, which was also ordered to the same des-

tination. The attentive student of history will see at

a glance how much greater was the number from

Woodbury than from other towns, when he considers

how small was the whole number in the service. The

exact number of the three years' enlistments is not

known, but is believed to be at least three hundred.

At the glorious and memorable victory of Saratoga,

Woodbury had a large body of men, who fully sus-

tained the high character for skill and bravery which

they had previously earned.

In the early part of 1778 it became necessary to

draft one hundred and five men to fill the town's

quota of three years' men. The fear of the smallpox,

which prevailed at all of the military posts, and other

causes, had retarded enlistments. It was not strange,

under the painful circumstances and sad reverses of

the close of 1777, when the troops under Washington

had worn out their shoes and clothing, and could be

tracked in their marches by the blood of their feet,

that new recruits were obtained with ditticulty. It

was emphatically the midnight of the Revolution.

But the States having, at this juncture, framed and

accepted " articles of confederation," and being aided

by the French, the war was vigorously prosecuted in

all directions.

In February, 1779, the whole militia under Col.

Moseley, and the regiment of " Light-Horse" under

Maj. Bull, were ordered to Norwalk, and in May one

hundred men from the Thirteenth Regiment were

ordered to Horseneck, fifty-seven of whom were from

Capt. Leavenworth's company. It was during these

occurrences that Gen. Putnam made his famous " es-

cape" at Horseneck, by spurring his horse, when hotly

pursued, down a steep precipice at full gallop.

During the winter of 1780 the troops had suff'ered

greatly in their quarters for want of food and clothing.

They were paid off in Continental money, and with it

they could buy neither food nor clothing. In this

emergency the town, in its great solicitude, offered

a bounty of forty-five pounds in silver for each recruit,

and dispatched to the suffering soldiers in the " Con-

necticut line" nearly seven thousand articles of

clothing of which they had the mo.^t pressing need,

among which were about two thousand pairs of shoes.

At this period of the war the prospects of the country

were gloomy in the extreme. Only the most hopeful

could see relief in the dark aspect of the forbidding

future. Successive defeats and rampant toryism dis-

heartened the people at the South, and the treason of

Arnold, the uninterrupted drain of men and money,

producing poverty and distress, chilled the hopes of

the patriots at the North.

Yet in August of this year Washington conceived

the plan of taking New York from the enemy, and

consequently desired a force that would not be con-

stantly leaving him by expiration of service. He

therefore suggested the enlisting of a body of " vol-

unteers to serve expressly till New York should be

taken," and to be called on for no other service. In-

stantly twenty-two men from this town left their

labors, enrolled themselves for this purpose, and re-

ported themselves to their captains. Three of them

were cousins of Col. Ethan Allen, of the Revolution-

ary stock. The names of those noble, fearless pa-

triots, who could forget the call of all other duties,

the ties of affection, the sacred delights of their cher-

ished firesides and household joys, to go to the aid of

their country, are still preserved. Many times before

during that year had they responded to the call of

their beloved chief, and only a few days before this

they had returned from an arduous tour of service.

Four hundred and forty out of four hundred and

eighty, the whole number in the regiment, had been

on duty. But nothing could crush the indomitable

energies of those sturdy, unselfish men, unselfish in

the highest sense of the term. History does not show

a brighter example of lofty and sublime devotion to

the country's weal

!

In 1781 thirty men were added to the Continental

line, and in 1782 twenty-eight more. This proved to

be the last time the town was called upon to show its

devotion to the interests of the country during the

war for independence. It has been seen that the

efforts of the town to subserve the good cause began

to grow weaker and weaker, as the strength of its

soldiers wasted away before the pestilence and the

deadly struggle in the field of battle, and its wealth

disappeared under the ever-fresh levies of supplies for

the army. It would seem that, overwhelmed with debt

as the country then was, it could hardly have held out

much longer. But, however that might have been, it

seems that a kind Providence had designed, in His

wisdom, to spare them the trial. To Him " who tem-

pers the wind to the shorn lamb" it seemed good to

say to pride, power, and oppression, " Thus far shalt

thou go, and no farther."

Early next year, just eight years after the battle of

Lexington, Great Britain made propositions for peace,

and hostilities terminated. Many soldiers of Wood-

bury were present at the surrender of Lord Cornwallis,

which virtually closed the war. The eyes of these

survivors of a ruthless warfare beheld a glad sight on

the morn of the 19th of October, when in solemn

silence, not amid the smoke and carnage of the

battle-field, they saw the brave Gen. Lincoln receive

the sword of Lord Cornwallis,—the strength and glory

of the British army on this side of the ocean broken

and destroyed. Well might the news of this auspi-

cious event spread universal joy, as it did, throughout

the country. Well might all hearts unite in praise

and thanksgiving to God for this signal blessing, which

was to successfully terminate our struggle for inde-

pendence. It was not inappropriate that Washington

ordered divine service to be performed throughout the

army, and that Congress proceeded in solemn proces-
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sion to the house of God to acknowledge its grateful

sense of this special favor.

But this great boon had been obtained by dangers,

and toil, and miseries, with scarcely a parallel in the

annals of mankind. The blood of the dwellers in

these fair vales, and in each town and hamlet in our

land, was shed like water on every glorious battle-field

of our country, from the skirmish at Lexington to the

ever-memorable siege of Yorktown, from the sad mas-

sacre of the fair and poetic vale of Wyoming to the

field of honor on the heights of Saratoga. Their

worldly goods, so dearly earned, were freely offered

on the altars of their country's good. Hunger, cold,

privation of every sort, were cheerfully endured

;

every tie which nature holds dear, and which binds

the hearts of men in conjugal, paternal, or fraternal

bands to the familiar hearth-stone, were sundered at

the call of our suffering country in her hour of need

and of peril. They went forth with bounding hearts,

and athletic, manly forms. Many of them found

honored graves in various parts of our land, and many
more returned with dire diseases, mutilated frames,

and shattered health, the merest wrecks of what they

were, to the firesides that had missed their presence

for months and years. But the result of their labors

was glorious beyond expectation, or even the dreams

of the most hopeful. They wrought well. A re-

deemed and widely extended people now rejoices in

the result of their toils and sufferings. Many long

years have rolled their slow course away since the

thrilling scenes of the Revolution were enacted, but

they live engraved on the hearts of a grateful and

happy posterity. The heroic events of that important

period, the immortal deeds of our fathers, shall live,

too, on the brightest page of history, while thought

shall endure, or the recollection of human greatness

remain. If there be " a recompense of reward" for

those who do well, surely our patriot sires have long

since entered on a bright fruition 1

CHAPTER LXXVI.
WOODBUBY (Continued).

List of Public Officers in Ancient Woodbury— Repre«ontative»i, 1084-1881

—List of Soliiiore in Fort Willlani Uoury Atarni— List of Sobtient in tlie

Revolutionary War—List of Solitiors in the War <»f 1812—Woodbury's

Rolinf Honor, Warof the Itcbellion, 18U1-CS—Alpliabelical List of the

Soldiers of Woodbury In the War of the Rebellion.

PUBLIC OFFICERS OF WOODBURY.

MEMBER OF CONGRESS.

Nathaniel Smith, ns)&-00.

JUDGE or THE Sl'PKRIOR COURT.

Nathaniel Smith, 18UC-19.

JUDGES OF THE COUNTY COURT.

Col. William Preston, 1751-64 ; Daniel Sherman, 1786-91 j Chorlea B.

Phelps, 1851>-M.

COUKTY COMMISSIONERS.

William Cotbren, 1851-52 ; Josiah G. Minor, 1805-71 ; Alfred Birch,

1874-77.

ROLL OF ASSISTANTS AND SENATORS.

Assistants were magistrates, who constituted the

upper house of the Assembly, and, in early times,

were the Supreme Court of the State. They were

the leading men of their times.

John Sherman, 1713-2.1; Nathaniel Sniitli, 1799-1805; Noah B. Bene-

dict, 181G-1S.

SENATORS.

Nobemiah C. Sanfonl, 18:3-34; Matthew Minor, Jr., 1837; Charles B.

Phelps, 1843; William Cothren, 1855;* Daniel Curtiss, 1860; James

Huutirrgton,lS77-79.

JUSTICES OF THE QUORUM.

John Minor, 1084-1710; John Sherman, 1084-1728; Col. Joseph Minor,

1725-39; Col. William Preston, 1740-51; No.xh Hinmau, 1754-59;

Increase Moseley, 1755-JO; Daniel Sherman, 1761-86.

JUDGES AND CLERKS OF PROB.\TE FOR THE DISTRICT OP
WOODBURY.

From the first settlement of the colony of Connec-

ticut to 1606, probate business was done by the Court

of Assistants and the General Court. In 1666 County

Courts were established, and probate business was

done by them till October, 1698, when Probate Courts

were first established. There were but four counties

in the State till 1726, viz., Hartford, New Haven,

New London, and Fairfield. The probate districts,

corresponded in name and extent to tlie counties, till

October, 1719, when three new districts were consti-

tuted, viz., Guilford, Windham, and Woodbury. The

probate districts, including the original four, now
number eighty-seven. The first court in Woodbury

District was held Feb. 2, 1719-20. It included all

the settled part of the present county of Litchfield,

and Watcrbury, in New Haven County. Litchfield

district was set off in 1742, Waterbury in 1779, New
Milford in 1787, Washington in 18.32, and Ro.xbury

in 1842. The district now includes Woodbury, Soutii-

bury, and Bethlehem.

JUDGES.

Capt. John Shoramn, 1719-28; Col. Joseph Minor, 1728-58; Daniel Slur-

man, Esq., 1758-95 ; Nathan Preston, Es<|., 179.V1805 ; Noah B. Dono-

dlct, Esq., I.'05-IO; John Strong, Jr., Esq., 1S16-I8; Nathan Preston,

Esq., 18l«-22;+ Cliarles 1). Pheliw, Esq, 182:)-;i4; John Strong, Jr.,

liiq., IKM.t CInirles B. Phel|»), Hiq., 1835-38; Nathaniel B. Smith

Vj»t\., 1838-42; Cliarlcs D. Phelps, Esq., 1842-14; Leniau B. Sprague,

Esq., 1844-4.1; Thomas Bull, Esq., 1845-10; Charles B. rhel|>s, Esq.,

18-10-47; Thomas Bull, K»q., 1847-19 ; Charles B. Phelp*, Es.!., 1849-

• Hr. Cuthren's Utio to hl> out waa canles(e<l daring the Beasion by

Abraham Beecher. SIxty-fnur Imperfect ballots were caat. that were

iii/rit^frd for Blr. Cothren, which he offered t»» prove. But the Senate re-

fused to heor evidence of the mttnlion of the voters, which gave the seat

to Mr. Beecher by si.xteen majority. Since then, it Is lwlieve«l that the

practice in the several Statoa ami in Congreas tios been to allow tlio in-

Unti»u of votera t»» g<»vern. The Inst ele<-tion of Qovemor Jewell waa

deleimlned by taking the testimony of all the voters of one of the wards

In New Haven. In 1877 the rule of iiilrntinn was allowe^l In the caae of

Senator Hilla, of Hurlfor^l, and gave him the seat.

t Tlie duties of probate judge were l>erforme<l from this time till May,

1823, by John Kiugabury, Esq., of Waterbury district, by statutory pro-

vision.

I llolbrook Curliss, E»|., of Watertowu iliitrlct, held JutiMllclloo till

May, 1835.
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58;* Lewis Judd, Esq., 1S58-GO; Thomas Bull, Esq., 1S60-61; James

Huntington, Es.]., 1861.

CLERKS.

Kev. Anthony Stoddard, 171G-59 ; Gideon Walker, Esq., 1759-78 ; Danie!

Shemian, Jr., 1778-94: Nathan Preston, Esq., 1794-95; Noah B.

Benedict, Esq., 1795-180.j; Matthew Minor, Jr., Esq , 1805-10; Jud-

Boii Blacknian, 1816-18; Nathan Preston, Jr., 1818-^:i; Edwurd M.

Phelps, lS:i:i-34; Thomas Bull, Esq., 1834-45; William Cothren,

184.J; David S. Bull, 1845-5S
; Alonzo N.Lewis. Charles B. Phelps,

1858; Thomas M. Thompson, 1859; James Huntington, 1859-60;

Charles Betts, 18G0-61; George 11. Peck, 18G1-65; Lucien Parker,

1865-07; Fredoiick A. Walker, 1807-69; Arthur D. Warner, 1869-

73; Joseph J. Brothnell, 1873-76; Frederick A. Walker, 1876-78;

George F. Shelton, 1S7S.

STATE'S ATTORNEY FOR LITCHFIELD COUNTY.

James Huntington, from June, 1875, to .

REGISTERS, OR TOWN CLERKS OF WOODBURY.

Capt. John Minor, 1672-1702; John Sherman, Esq., 1702-27; Col. Josepli

Minor; 1727-55; Gideon Walker, Esq., 1755-80; Peter Gilchrist,

1780-82; Nathan Preston, 1783-1822; Leman Sherman, 1822-31;

Matthew Minor, Jr., 1831-3'J; Lewis Judd, 1839-40; Elijah Sher-

man, 1846-47; Lewis Judd, 1817-51 ; Elijah Sherman, 1851-52 ; Lewis

Judd, 1852-58; Robert Peck, 1858-67; Willis A. Strong, 1867-72;

William A. Gordon, 1872-76 ; Anson A. Root, 1876.

In the year 1797 the post-office was established.

POSTMASTERS.

Dr. Daniel Huntington, 1797-18H ; John P. Marehall, 1814-17 ; William

Perry, 1817-22 ; Leman Sherman, 1822-31 ; Charles B. Phelps, 1S31-

41; Andrew Root, 1841-44; Charles H. Webb, 1844-49; John Mar-

vin, 1849-50; Charles B. Crafts. 1850-53; Gilead II. Smith, 1853;

George P. Allen, 1853-01; William E. Woodruff, 1861-07; Frederick

A. Walker, 1807; Stanley E. Beanlsley, 1867-09; William E. Wood-

ruff, 1869-77 ;t Frederick A. Walker, 1877.

MEMBERS OF THE CONSTITUTIONAL CONVENTION, AUGUST,
1818.

Daniel Bacon, Esq., Nathaniel Perry, M.D.

MEMBERS OF THE CONVENTION OF CONNECTICUT, JAN. 3,

1788, FOR THE RATIFICATION OF THE CONSTITUTION OF
THE UNITED STATES.

Hon. Daniel Sherman, Woodbury.

Dr. Samuel Oiton, Woodbury.

Benjamin Hinman, Esq., Southbury.

John Whittlesey, Esq., Washingtou.

Daniel N. Brinsmade. Esq., Washington.

Moses Hawley, Bethlehem.

All the above voted in favor of ratifying the con-

stitution.
REPRESENTATIVES, 1084^1881.

AVoodbury was settled in 1672, made a town in 1674,

but was not represented in the General Court till

1684. The following is a roll of the representatives

to the present time.

1G84-SG.—Capt. John Minor, Lieut. Joseph Judson.

1G67.—Capt. John Minor.

1688.—Andross' usurpation.

1689.—Capt. John Minor, Israel Curtis.

1G90.—No choice.

1691.—Lieut. Israel Curtis, Capt. John Minor.

1692-93.—Lieut. Israel Curtis.

1694-96.—Capt. Joliu Minor, Lieut. Israel Curtis.

1697.—Capt. John Minor.

1698.—Thomas Minor, John Minor.

* Judge Phelps having become disqualified by age to hold the office,

Mr. Lewis Judd, who was not a lawyer, was elected, with the under-

standing that Judge Phelps should continue to discharge the duties of

the otfice during his life, which bo did.

t William Cothren had charge of the office as bondsman from Mr.

Woodrufl'a death to Mr. Walker's appointment.

1099.—Israel Curtis, John Sherman.

1700.—John Sherman.

1701.—No choice.

1702.—Samuel Jenner.

1703.—John Blinor, Israel Curtiss.

1704.—John Sherman, Israel Curtisa.

1705.—John Sherman, Lsrae! Curtiss, John Minor.

170G.—John Minor, John Sherman.

1707.—John Sherman.

1708.—John Minor, John Sherman.

1709.—John Mitchell, John Minor, John Sherman.

1710.—John Sherman.

1711,—John Slierraau (Speaker), Benjamin Hinman.
1712.—John Sherman (Speaker), Joseph Minor, Titus Hinman.

1713.—Joseph Minor, Titus Hinman.

1714.—Titus Ilinnian, William Preston, Joseph Minor.

1715.—Joseph Minor, John Curtisa, Thomas Judd, John Hoskins.

1716.—Capt. Titus Hinman, Joseph Minor.

1717.—Joseph Slinor, William Preston, John Curtiss.

1718.—Joseph Minor, Stephen Curtiss, Capt. Thomas Judd, Timothy

Stanley.

1719.—Capt. Titus Hinman, Joseph Minor, John Judson, Benjamin

Hickock.

1720.—Joseph Blinor, Zachariah Walker, Capt. Titus Hinman.

1721.—William Preston, John Judson, Joseph Minor, John Curtiss.

1722-23.—Joseph Minor, Thomas Knowles, William Preston, Ebenezer

Warner.

1724.—Capt. William Preston, Ephniim Minor, Capt. Joseph Minor.

1725.—Joseph Judson, Andrew Hinman, Capt. Joseph Minor, William

Preston.

1726.—Capt. Joseph Minor, Adino Strong, Capt. William Preston.

1727.—Capt. Joseph Minor, Henry Castle, William Preston, Andrew Hin-

man.

1728.—Capt. Joseph Minor, Capt. William Preston, Andrew Hinman.

1729.—Joseph Minor, William Preston, Henry Castle, Andrew Hinman.

1730.—Joseph Minor, William Pieston, William Judd.

1731.—Joseph Minor, Noah Hinman, William Preston.

1732-33.—Josepli Minor, William Preston.

1734.—John Curtiss, Ephniim Minor.

1735.—John Curtiss, Ephraim Minor, William Preston, Noah Hinman.

1736.—Joseph Judson, Andrew liinman, Joseph Minor, Noah Hinman.

1737.—William Pi-cston, Noah Hinman.

1738.—Capt. William Preston, Andrew Hinman, Joseph Minor.

1739._^Villium Preston, Noah Hinman, Capt. Thomas Knowles, Andrew

Hinman.

1740.—Capt. William Preston, Capt. Andrew Hinman, Knell Mitchell,

Richard Bronson.

1741.—Noah Hinman, Knell Mitchell, William Preston.

1742.—Samuel Minor, Daniel Curtiss, Noah Hinman.

1743-44.—William Preston, Noah Hinman.

1745.—Cul. Joseph Minor, Col. William Preston.

1740.—Col. William Preston, Noah Hinman.

1747-48.—Cul. William Preston, Noah Hinman, Caleb Martin, Bei^'amiu

Hicox.

1749.—William Preston, Noah Hinman, Samuel Minor, Eleazur Hinman.

1750.—Noah Hinman, Samuel Minor, Benjamin Hicox.

1751.—Samuel Minor, Benjamin Hico.\, Increase Moselej-.

1752.—Noah Hinman, Samuel Minor, Increase Moseley.

1753.—Samuel Minor, Increase Moseley.

1754.~Daniel Sherman, Increase Moseley.

1755.—Daniel ShermaTi, Benjamin Stiles, Increase Moseley.

1756.—Increase Moseley, Benjamin Stiles, Samuel Minor.

1757.—Daniel Sherman, Elisba Stoddard, Benjamin Hinman.

1758.—Daniel Sherman, Benjamin Hicox.

1759.—Daniel Sherman, Benjamin Hicox, Col. Benjamin Hinman.

1760-61.—Daniel Slierman, Col. Benjamin Hinman.

1762.—Daniel Sherman, Cul. Benjamin Hinman, Benjamin Stiles.

1703-06.—Daniel Sherman, Increase Moseley.

1767.—Increase Moseley, Daniel Sherman, Benjamin Hinman.

1768.—Daniel Sherman, Benjamin Hinman.

1769-71.—Daniel Sherman, Benjamin Stiles.

1772,—Daniel Sherman, Increase Moseley.

1773.—Daniel Sherman, Edward Hinman, Increase Moseley.

1774-76.—Daniel Sherman, Increase Moseley.

1777.—Daniel Sherman, Increase Moseley, Benjamin Hinman.J

J Five sessions this year.
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1778.—Daniel Sherman, Increase Moseley, Andrew Graham, Benjamin

Hinnian.

1779-80.—Diiniel Sherman, Increase Moseley, Benjamin Hlnmau.

1781.—Daniel Sherman, Increase Moseley.

1782.—Increa3e Moseley, Hezekiah Thompson, Daniel Sherman.

1783.—Daniel Sherman, Increase Moseley.

1784.—Hezekiah Thompson, Increase Moseley,

1785-86.—Daniel Sherman, Benjaniin Hinman.

1787.—Benjamin Hiuman, David Ambler, Daniel Sherman.

1788-89.—Daniel Sherman, Hezekiah Thompson, David Hurd,

1790.—Daniel Sherman, Nathaniel Smith.

1791.—Daniel Sherman, Nathan PreBton, Nathaniel Smith.

1792.—Nathaniel Smith, ShaJrach Osborne, Nathan Preston.

1793.—Nathaniel Smith, Nathan Preston.

1794.—Samuel Orton, Curtiss Hurd, Nathaniel Smith, Shadrach Osborne.

1795.—Nathaniel Smith, Shadrach Osborne, Nathan Preston.

1796.—David Tallman, Phineas Smith, Noah B. Benedict.

1797.—Nathan Preston, Elijah Sherman.

1798.—Elijah Sherman, Noah B. Benedict,

1799.—Garwood H. Cunningham, Reuben Mitchell.

1800.—Reuben Mitchell, John Clark, Noah B. Benedict.

1801.—Nathan Preston, John Clark, Ganvood H. Cunningham.

1802.—Natlian Preston, John Clark, William Hawley, Elijah Sherman.

1803.—John Stroug, Reuben Mitchell.

1804.—Elijah Sherman, Reuben Mitchell, Noah B. Benedict.

1805.—Nathaniel Perry, Samuel Walker, William Hawley.

1806.—Nathan Preston, Elijah^Slierman, Reuben Mitchell, John Strong.

1807.—Elijah Sherman, Nathan Preston, John Strong, Noah B. Benedict.

1808.—John Stroug, Matthew Minor, Noah B. Benedict.

1809.—John Strong, Noah B. Benedict.

1810.—Noah B. Bendict, Matthew Minor, Nathaniel Bacon, Nathaniel

Lamson.

1811.—Nathaniel Lamson, Noah B. Benedict, Nathaniel Perry, Daniel

Bacon.

1812.—John Strong, Nathaniel Bacon.

1813.—Nathaniel Bacon, John Strong, Jr., Nathan Preston, Nathaniel

Perry.

1814.—Daniel Bacon, Reuben Martin.

1815.—Nathaniel Perry, Philo Murray, Daniel Bacon, Elijah Daily.

1816.—Nathan Preston, Reuben Martin, Daniel Bacon, Nathaniel Perry.

1817.—John P. Marshall, Elijah Sherman, Jr., Nathaniel Perry, Jesse

Minor.

1818.—Nathan PreBtou, FUilo Murray, John P. Mnrehall, Elijah Sher-

man, Jr.

Vuder the CoitsUtution,

1819.—Reuben Martin, Nathan Preston.

1820.—Null 1an iel Perry, Daniel Bacon.

1821.—Daniel Bacon, Samuel Steele.

1822.—Daniel Bacon, William Drakeley.

1823.—William Drakeley, Channcey Crafts.

1824.—William Drakeley, Samuel Steele.

1825.—John Strong, Jr., Jeremiah Peck.

1826.—Jolin Strong, Jr., Peter F. Peck.

1827.—Noah B. Benedict, Daniel Bacon.

1828.—John Brush, Nathaniel B. Sndth.

1829,—Harvey Morris, Samuel Steele.

1830.—Nehcmiah C. SamlforJ, Matthew Minor, Jr.

1831.—Charles B. I'liolps, Treat Camp.

1832.—Matthew Minor, Jr., Gideon B. Botsford,

1833.—Matthew Minor, Jr., Jeremiah I'etk.

1834.—Gideon B. Butdforil, Trent Camp.

1835,—Harvey MorrisH, John Judeou.

1836.— Peter F. Peck, Wm. H. Bacon.

1837.—Charles B. Phelps, Elmore Jiidson.

1838.—Harvey Morriss, Nathaniel Preston.

1839.—Hurnion Stoddurd, Farnham Patcbea.

1840.—Juhn Jndaon, Charles Booth.

1841.—No choice.

1842.—Phineas S. Bradley, Lewis B. Candee.

1843.—Daniel Curtiss, Stephen Atwood.

1844.—Daniel Curtiss.

1845.—Thonuw Bull, John Abornothy.

1846.—Danitd Bacon, Charles P. Strong.

1847.—Nathaniel B. Smith. Reuben H. Hotchklss.

1848.—William B. Ilotchkiss, Barlnw Uussetl.

1840.—Willys Lambert, Silos Clark.

1850.—Monroe C. Sherman, Jason Parker.

18ol.—Bennet A. Sherman, Josiah G. Minor.

1852.—Reuben H. Hotchklss, Charles B. Phelps.

1853.—Solomon Strong, Alexander Gordon.

1854.—Truman H. Judson, David S. Bull.

18.'>5.—Lewis Judd, Truman Minor.

1856.—Asahel W. Mitchell, Benjamin Fabrique.

1857.—George B. Lewis, Elijah D. Judson.

1858.—David H. Curtiss, Walker S. Seeley.

1859.—Anthony C. Strong, David C. Bacon.

18G0.—Charles Millard, Philo M. Trowbridge.

1861.—Nathaniel B. Smith, Josepli F. Walker.

1862.-Charles H. Webb, Willis A. Strong.

1803.—Benjamin Fabrique, Thomas Root.

1864.—Timothy C. Bacon, Benjamin Fabrique,

1865.—Daniel Curtiss, John Abernethy.

1866.—David C. Porter, Henry S. Curtiss,

1807.—Nathaniel Smith, John Churchill.

1868.—John Churchill, Horace D. Curtiss.

1869.—Edwin Roberts, Robert Peck.

1870.—George P. Crane, Joseph T. Capewell.

IgVl.—WalterS. Cuitiss, Charles Isbell.

1872.—Charles C. Mitchell, Nathan Warner.

1873.—William Smith, A. V. R. Abbott.

1874-75.—James Huntington, Willis A. Strong.

1876.—Grandison Beardsley, Asahel W. Mitchell.

1877.—James G. Curtiss, John W. Judson.

1873 —Charles II. Percey, John T. Salmons.

1879.— Hurace H. Minor, Homer S. TomHtison.

1880.—James H. Linsley, John T. Salmons.

1881.—Robert I. Drakeley, George F. Morris.

FORT WILLI.VM HENRY ALARM.

Capt. Ebenezer Down** Compaui/.

In August, 1757, there was an alarm for the relief

of Fort William Henry, near Lake George. The

persons named below marched for that fort on this

occasion, and were gone about three weeks.

Capt. El)enezer Downs, Lieut. Gideon Stoddard, Lieut. Alatthew Mitchell,

Surgt. Jo. Hicock, Sergt. Return Stn>ng, Jededlah Hurd, Thonuis

Kuowles, Josttph Washburn. Daniel King, Gideon Tuttle, Gideon

Curtiss, KolwTt Potter, John Calhoun, Selah Strong, Thoddoua Lacey,

Gideon Hollbter, Joseph Reny, Khiad Klng,Obadiah Wheeler, Tim-

othy .\llen, Ite[iajah Hawley, John Stoddard. Timothy Walki-r, Na-

than Uine, Benjamin Warner, Carpenter Sandford, Samuel Hurd,

Samuel Knowlcs, Abner Mallory, Reuben Hurlbut, BeniOah King,

Nathan Hurd, Tilley Blakeslcy, Nathaniel Minor, Bunhnell Bene-

dict, Timothy Tunvll, Daniel Shornmn, Tliadduus Curtis, Gideon

Hicock, Benjamin S:nidfurd, Iteiilten rjutle, Reuben Ilinnian, Sam-

uel Minor, Daniel Ilicuck, Enos Hawley, Peter Castle, Ebrnczcr

Hurlbut, Daniel Judson, James Durkeo, Jesse R<h>Li, Samuel Uto-

nian, William Ho|«on, Puleg Stone, Thomas Roots, Benjamin Prime,

tfk'tli Minor, James Mi»rey, David Criasey, John Reynulds, Joeoph

Burch, Noah Frisblo, Ezekiel Baker, John Hunt, Jouiah Basst-tt, Jo-

sfuh Jnd»in, John Basselt. Siunuel Galpln, Daniel Hurlbut, Gideon

Bristol, Phineas Potter, Gideon Bronson, Edward Smith, Aner Upon-

son, Davhl Ulcock, David Johnson, Klisha Stoddard, Robert Edmond,

Matthew Dutton, David Hurd, Gideon Squire.

Oij»/. Wait //iiimrtH'i Cbm/Kim/, in the Same Alnrm.

C*pt. Wait Hinnmn, Lieut. John lllnman, Lieut. Ephrulm Baker, David

Martin, Elijah Hurlbut, Joseph Perry, Bemijah Ilhinmn, David

Pouter, Samuel Wheeler, Elizur MUeholl, Amos Hicock, Daniel

Wheeler, Edward Ijiko, Edword Frloble, John Hurlbut, Slitchcll

Horn, Lemuel Caath', Timothy Fuller. Ephralm Bal<l%«iu, Gideon

Holley. John Jacki^.n, Nathaniel .Sandford, Timulhy Judwiu. /och-

Uriah Walker, lUmjanilii Eastman, Gideon Munn, Ismel Sumner,

Noah Tutlle. Samuel Castle, William Baldwin, Dellvemnco Kulno,

William Black. Suouiel Judson, Amos Blartin, Ablel Tomliiison,

Dunlol Minor, David Baniuni. Abroham Bniwnson, Clmrles Smith,

Daniel Crossoy, Etihu Smith, Ju«oph Gilbert. Bvnjamlu Calpiu,

David Slilos, Elijali Brownson, Gruham Lake, John Atwell, Nouli

Hurlbut, Titus Beo^h, William Edmond. Ichabod Tuttle, Gitl.s.n

Walker, John Conlay, lUmember Baker, Timothy Cn*f, Abl«ha

Moeole), Isaac Bush, Jebiul PiMt, Ju«cpU Uurlbut, liobcrl Thumw,
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Thomas Minor, Ziichariah Weller, Hezekiah Noble, Charles Strong,

David Durlicp, Daviil Hinman, Daniel Wlieelcr, Hezekiah Thomp-
son, Antliony Stoddard, David Foot, Danitd Read, Abiel Mitchell,

Judali Dnrkee, David Calhoun, David Leavenworth, Eliphalet Clark,

John Walker, Joseph Guthrie, Richard Roiulen, Thaddeus Judson,

Philemon Way, Israel Canfield, Ehenezer llurll>ut, Jonathan Boyce,

Saniuel Logan, William Youngs, Sannud Koine, Nathan Martin,

Justice Blakeley, Justice Gihhs, Samuel Curtiss, ThumaH Durkee,

James Nichols, Cole Weller.

LIST OF SOLDIERS IN THE REVOLUTIONARY WAR FROM
WOODBURY.

It may be safely asserted tliat no town in Connec-

ticut, or in New England, furnished a greater number
of men in the war of the Revolution, in proportion

to the number of its inhabitants, than the town of

Woodbury. In 1776 every able-bodied man in this

and the other western towns of Connecticut, between

the ages of sixteen and sixty years, was marched to

New York, by order of Gen. Washington, and Wood-
bury was during the entire war the headquarters of

the recruiting service in Western Connecticut. No
complete list of soldiers can be obtained. The fol-

lowing is the best that can now be had. It contains

nearly one thousand names. A few in this list may
have come here from other towns to enlist. Probably

not far from fifteen hundred men went from this town
during- the course of the war.

Armstrong, Stephen.

Armstrong, James.

Allen, Capt, Tarmely.

Allen, Nathaniel.

Arthur, James.

Avery, Benjamin.

Avery, Nathaniel.

Avery, Roger.

Arnold, Stephen.

Adge, Aner.

Atwood, Asa, shot in New York.

Atwond, Benjamin.

Ahernethy, James,

Allien, Samuel.

Alfred, Samuel.

Avered, Reuheo.

Ayer, Peter.

Austin, Caleb.

Aspinwal, Caleb.

Ambler, David.

Audrus, Lieut. Benjamin.

Andrus, Thomas.

Atwood, Elijah, Jr.

Averill, Col. Perry.

Baker, Phineas.

Baker, Lovewell.

Baker, Eldad.

Baker, Edward.

Baker, Nathan.

Baker, Thaddeus.

Bnker, John.

Baker, John, Jr.

Baker, Capt. Remember, killed at

St. John's by the Indians in

1775 ; his head was cut off and

Bet upon a pole, and our people

gave them a guinea to take it

down, that they might bury it.

Bull, Maj. Thomas.

Brace, Joseph.

Bond, William.

Bassett, Samuel.

Bell, N.

Bell, Andrew.

Bell, Benjamin.

Bacon, Josiah.

Bacon, Gould.

Bacon, Jabez, Jr.

Blakesley, James.

Blakesley, Capt. Tilley.

Blakesley, Isaac.

Blakesley, Jonathan.

Blakesley, Ezra.

Blakesley, Samuel.

Blakesley, Joseph.

Bedeau, William, ruptured in ac-

tion Oetober, 1778.

Brinsmade, Hon. Daniel N.

Barney, Fi'ederick.

Brinsmade, Zechariah; he was con-

fined, with others, Jit Halifax iu

177C, in a room, "among felons,

thieves, and negroes," having

been tiiken prisoner with Cut.

Ethan Allen, the preceding 25th

of September, 1775, and lodged

for a time in Halifax jail before

transportation to England.

Bellamy, Jonatlian. ottorney ; died

of smallpox in 1777, in New Jer-

sey.

Beemont, Friend.

Beemont, William.

Booth, Capt. James.

Booth, Abijab.

Booth, John.

Booth, Amos.

Booth, Joseph.

Booth, Aaron, taken prisoner; car-

ried to England, and kept sLx

years and eight months.

Banham, John.

Barlow, John.

Barlow, David.

Bunce, John, sick at Ticonderoga

in 1775.

Bunce, Isaiah.

BrowuBon, Luman.

Brownson, Abel.

Brownson, Capt. Gideon.

Brownson, Ensign Cornelius.

Backus, Electus.

Brownson, Sergt. Abijah,

Brownson, Thomas.

Brownson, Abraham.

Brownson, Abraham, Jr.

Brewster, Jonas.

Brewster, Gideon.

Brewster, Morgan.

Burns, John.

Bird, Ebenezer.

Beardsley, Nathan.

Beardsley, John.

Beardsley, Henry.

Beardsley, Tbeodorus.

Beach, Curtiss.

Beacli, John, was at first a Tory,

and enlisted into the British ser-

vice ; was arrested, and tried at

Derby ; convicted, and pardoned

on condition of enlisting to serve

during the war.

Beach, Ambrose.

Bunnell, Frederick.

Bailey, Jonathan.

Brown, Asahel.

Brown, James.

Brown, Elijah, died at New York.

Buel, Benjamin.

Blois, Edward.

Bullard, Isaac.

Burton, Ensign Judson.

Burton, Robert.

Burton, Ephraim.

Burton, Jeremiah.

I

Burton, Asahel.

Burton, Daniel.

Burton, David.

Bondy, William.

Baldwin, Enos, Jr.

Baldwin, John, died in the North-

ern army.

Baldwin, Judah.

Baldwin, Nathan.

Baldwin, Asahel.

Barnes, Abraham, died in the army,

1781.

Barnes, Samuel.

Barnes, Simeon,

Barnes, Frederick.

Barnes, John.

Beers, Lieut. Nathan.

Beers, Zachariah.

Beers, Stephen.

Beers, Abner.

Beers, Silas.

Beers, Josiah.

Beers, Philo.

Beers, Lewis.

Belden, Asahel.

Belden, Enos.

Bates, Elias.

Bates, Ephraim.

Burritt, Samuel.

Burritt, Dr. Anthony.

Bristol, Nathaniel.

Bristol, Gideon, Jr.

Bannister, George.

Balcomb, Nathaniel.

Butler, Abel.

Beecher, Abraham.

Bradley, Zuar.

Bradley, Jehiel.

Benedict, William.

Bostwick, Andrews.

Blenney, Barnabas.

Botsford, Samuel.

Blaisdell, Roger.

Backus, Delucena, afterwards col-

onel in United States army.

Brothwell, Joseph F.

Burchard, Daniel.

Bulford, John.

Bloom, Isaac.

Burr, Sergt. William.

Coles, James.

C-oles, Amos.

Crammer, John,

Chitman, Thomas.

Cutler, Joseph.

Carter, John.

Chatfield, Yarmouth.

Churchill, Oliver.

Churchill, Moses.

Curtiss, Lieut. Ephraim.

Curtiss, Elihu.

Curtiss, Edmund,
Curtiss, Robert.

Curtiss, Andrew.

Curtiss, Jabez.

Curtiss, Lewis.

Curtiss, Ebenezer.

Curtiss, David.

Curtiss, Isaac.

Curtiss, Jeremiah.

Curtiss, Henry.

Curtiss, Reuben.

Curtiss, Abner.

Curtiss, Daniel.

Curtiss, Phineaa.

Curtiss. Aaron.

Curtiss, Capt. Agur.

Curtiss, Asa.

Curtiss, Wait.

Curtiss, Israel, Jr.

Curtiss, Capt. Eleazar.

Crissey, Solomon.

Crissey, Truman,

Canfield, Thomas.

Canfield, Elisha.

Collins. Ensign Edward.

Chittenden, Daniel.

Case, John C.

Crosby, .

Cogswell, Capt. William.

Cash, Africa.

Corbran, Samuel.

Clark, Benjamin.

Clark, Isaac.

Clark, Amos.

Clark, William.

Clark, John.

Clark, Phineas.

Clark, Robert.

Clark, Josiah.

Carpenter, William H.

Couch, Capt. Ebenezer.

Cliilson, Thomas.

Crowfoot, James.

Castle, John.

Castle, Timothy.

Castle, William.

Cole, Phineas.

Cole, Simeon.

Church, Ebenezer.

Church, Moses.

Church, Nathaniel, wounded by a

grape-shot at White Plains and

disabled for life.

Coflin, Samuel.

Camp, Phineas.

Camp, Ensign David.
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Chapman, Cnpt. Nathan.

Chapman, Israel.

Chidsou, John, wounded in left

arm at Wliite Plains, Oct. 28,

1776.

Calechan, Thomas.

Crow, Elias.

Paveuport, Jonathan.

Davenport, John.

Dudley, George.

Dudley, Buel.

Dudley, Benjamin.

Dudley, Elizur.

Dudley, Nathan.

Dimonds, John.

Dimonds, David.

Davis, Amos.

Dally, Obadiah.

Dixon, David.

Dixon, Archibald.

Dixon, Jared.

Doolittle, Thomas.

Doel, Shem.

Dunning, Capt. Eliaa, commissary.

Dunning, Christopher.

Dunning, David.

Dunning, Phineaa.

Davidson, John.

Durkee, Benjamin.

Durkee, Asa.

Durbey, Ephraim.

Durbey, John.

De Forest, Joseph.

Dunbar, Joseph.

Downs, Etiphalet.

Downs, Daniel, killed at White

Plains.

Eastman, Benjamin.

Eastman, Azariah.

Easton, Eliphalet.

Easton, Norman.

Easton, Julian.

Easton, Elijah, enlisted in 1777 for

three years; was taken sick at

Mud Fort, Novemhor, 1777, and

transferred to the hospital at

Trenton, N. J. At the time the

hospital was removed seventy

miles, the wagonere employed to

transport the invalids ran off with

the wagons, leaving him to make
Ills way on foot. IIo afterwanls

petitioned the General Assembly

for relief, and (he sum of £-30

was granted him.

Eldoikin, Jedodiah.

Edmond, William, afterwardsjudge

of the Supnior C^lnrt. He was

wounded iu the right thigh in

the "Danbnry alarm," April 27,

1777; was also at Ticonderoga.

Edwards, Corp. John.

Elgur, Abner.

Eastburn, Deliverance.

Elwood, .

Ellas, Jonas.

Friable, Jonathan.

Frisbie, Asnhel.

Frisbio, Noah.

Frisbio, Noah, Jr.

Frisbie, Ablol.

Frisbio, David.

Frisbio, James.

Foot, Joseph, lived to 98 years.

Farrand, Capt. Juniithan.

Fitth, Nathan.

Fluwora, Natluiu.

Flowers, Natlianiel.

Fall, Patrick.

Field, Francis.

Field, George.

Field, Nathaniel.

Fields. George.

Fields, John.

Fielor, George.

Filets, Francis.

Frost, Joseph.

Fales, Francis.

Fieldsley, Francis.

Franklin, Jehiel.

Fenn, Daniel.

Fisher, Darius.

Goodrich, Wait, commissary; pay-

table allowed him £:J000, Dec. 18,

1780, for purchasing pork for the

army.

Goodrich, Timothy.

Galesley, Thomas.

Gideons, Joshua.

Grant, Elisha.

Gillis, Tint.

Goodsell, Isaac.

Graham, Isaac G., M.D. ; surgeon

under Gen. Washington.

Graham, Dr. Andrew, surgeon.

Graham, Rev. Chauncey, chaplain.

Gardiu, John.

Gilchrist, .

Gilfs, Timothy.

Garnsey, Joseph.

Gould, John.

Gould, John W.
Garnet, John.

Gilbert, Corp. Isaiah.

Gilbert, Elnathan.

Gorham, Benjamin.

Garret, Jolin.

Garret, John.

Green, Ezra.

Green, Eleazar.

Greon, Samuel.

Galpin, Joseph.

Galpin, Stephen.

Gulpin, Samuel, died in Northern

army.

Gage, Thumns.

Guernsey, Itichard.

Guernsey, Solomon.

Gillett, Eliphulet.

Gillett, David.

Gridley, Asahul,

Gi'i8wc>ld, Kbcnezer.

Gear, Ezra.

Glazier, Jiuob.

Gordon, Kolwrt.

Gillis, Abraham.

Gibbet, Timothy.

Glazier, John.

Green, Freeman.

Illnnum, Col. Benjamin.

Ilinman, ('apt. Elijah.

Hinman, Capt. Ephraim, commfs-

Bary.

Ilinman, MosM.
Hinnian, Lieut. Asa.

Ilinman, Ens. Joel.

Ilinman, Walt.

Ilinman, Silas.

Ilinman, Nathan.

Ilinnnin, Jonas.

Ilinman, Enos.

Ilinnnin, Michael.

Ilinnuin, IiMiiiih.

Ilinman, James,

Hinman, Francis.

Hinman, Capt. David.

Hinman, Daniel.

Hinman, Capt. Samuel.

Hinman, Lemuel.

Hinman, Capt. Truman, commis-

sary.

Hinman, Enos.

Hinman, Timothy.

Hinman, Benjamin (3d), returned

a deserter in 1780 by mistake, he

having gone heme, on account of

sickness, by advice of his captain,

Hinman, Capt. Elisha, commander
of a government ship called the

"Alfred," which sailed out of

New London.

Hinman, Ens. Titus, in Col.Zebulon

Butler's regiment. He was killed

in the bloody massacre of Wy-
oming, July 3,1778.

Hicock, Asa.

Hicock, Silas.

Hicock, Reuben, taken sick at Ti-

conderoga in 1775.

Hicock, Thaddeus, Jr.

Hicock, Ebenezer.

Hicock, David.

Hicock, Elijah.

Hicock, Ephraim.

Hicock, Benjamin.

Hicock, Johnson.

Hicock, Nathaniel.

Hull, Ebenezer.

Hull, William.

Hull, Dr. Titus, surgeon.

Hull, Steiihen.

Hall, Ebenezer.

Hall, Thomas.

Hall, Thomas, Jr.

Hall, Aaron.

Hall. L.

Hawley, Cnpt. Enoe.

Ilawley, James.

Hawley, Moses.

liawloy, David.

Ilanistod, David.

IIuws, Samuel.

Hows, George.

Humphrey, Capt. Elijah.

Ilerrick, John.

Hllliard, William.

Ilulibell, Ebenezer.

Hilt, Abrahnm, died lu Northern

army.

Hill, Billlam.

Hill, Reuben.

Hill, Solomon, sick at Ticonderoga

in 177.5.

Hlgley, Nehemiah,

Hazen, Wllliain.

Hnzeu, Elijah, sorgoanL

I!urd,.Capt. Thaddeus.

Uunl, Lieut. A«ahel, killed lu the

war.

HunI, Simeon.

Hunl, Capt. David.

Hurd, David, Jr.

Ilurd, Daniel.

Hurd, Capt. Adam.

Hurd, Stephen.

Hurd, fjovewell.

Hunl, .Snmuol.

Iliird, Isaac.

Hurd, Solomon.

Hurd, Noah.

Hurd, Moses,

Hurd, Calvin.

Hurd, Curtiss.

Hurd, Lewis.

Hurd, Gideon.

Hurd, Gideon, Jr.

Hurd, Simeon, Jr.

Hurd, Abner.

Hurd, Abraham.

Hurd, Graham.

Hurd, Joseph.

Hurd, John, sick at Ticonderoga in

1775.

Hurlbut, Truman.

Hurlbut, Robert.

Hurlbut, Joel.

Hurlbut, Noah.

Hurlbut, Wait.

Hurlbut, John.

Hurlbut, Amos.

Hurlbut, Elisha.

Hurlbut, Gideon.

Hurlbut, Gideon, Jr.

Hurlbut, Thomas.

Hurlbut, Squire.

Hurlbut, Joel.

Hurlbut, Capt. Adam.

Hurlbut, Astthel.

Hurlbut, Zula.

Hurlbut, Jubilla.

Hurlbut, Aaron.

Hurlbut, Asaph.

Hurlbut, Capt. Samuel.

Uurlbut, Abraham.

nine, Capt. Nathan.

Hine, Jonathan.

Hino, Adam.

Hine, Lewis.

Hitchcock, Benjamin.

Hitchcock, David.

Hitchcock, James R.

Hitchcock, Benjamin, Jr.

Hunt, William.

Hunt, Jiilin, Jr.

Hunt, Isaac.

Hunt, Simeon.

Hunt, Isaac, Jr.

Hooker, James.

Hooker, Thaddeus.

Hostings, Dr. Seth, surgeon.

Hand, Elios.

Hannah, Alexander.

Hannah, James.

Hannah, Robert

Hawkins, Mitses.

Hawkins, ZtDlock.

Hawkins Zudock, Jr.

Hayes, .

Hodgo, Gullolmus.

Hodge, Philo.

HuntingtAtn, Elwnezor.

llotchkiss, Reulwn.

Ilobert. Elisha.

Hobert, John.

Hudson, John.

Hungerfonl, James.

HungorfunI, Lieut. Itonjamtn.slck

at Ticonderoga in 1775, and died

8i>on after.

Hostians, Samuel.

Hannayed* William.

Holt, Nicholas, had smallpox la

Canaila. 1770.

Henries, Zailock,

Hulliiter, Preston, killed In the ex-

pedition to (^nailo.

Ingraham, Nathaniel.

Ingraham, Henry.
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Ingraliam, Willinni.

Ingrabam, Eleazar.

Indian Tom.

Ives, Asahel.

Ives, Abner,

Ives, Daniel, Jr.

Isbell, Senida.

Johnson, Isaxic.

Joliiison, Anioa, stood next to Dan-

iel Downs, whose brains were

spattered upon him at "White

Plains.

Johnson, .John.

Johnson, William.

Johnson, Isaiah.

Johnson, Hiram.

Jolinson, Justus, wounded in the

left arm in the action near Nor-

walk. His arm was an]putated.

State allowed liim ^12 per Dionth

in consequence.

Johnson, Peter.

Judd, Daniel.

Judd, Freeman.

Jackson, Samuel,

Jackson, Tbeujihilus.

Jones, Benjamin.

Jewett, Isaac.

Jewett, Caleb, hod smallpox, and

was disabled by it in his sight, in

Canada, 1776.

Jordan, John.

Jordan, William.

Judson, Gen. David, A.M. ; was
captaiu in tlie Continental army.

Judson, Capt. James.

Jndson, Ens. John.

Judson, Josepli.

Judson, Ens. Amos.

Judson, St. Joseph, died of small-

pox, April 2G, 1777.

Judson, Elijah, sick at Ticonder-

oga, 1775.

Judson, Chapman, sick at Ticon-

deroga, 1775.

Judson, Chapman, Jr.

Judson, Agur.

Jndson, Timothy, captain.

Judson, Aaron,

Judson, Joel.

Judson, Elihu.

Judson, William,

Judson, James.

Judson, Abel.

Judson, Joshua.

Jenks, Thomas,

Jennings, Charles, had smallpox

and fever in Canada.

James, Thomas.

Kimberley, David.

Kimberley, Thomas.

Kellogg, Samuel.

Knapp, Eleazar.

Knapp, Moses.

Keeney, Levi.

Kelly, John.

Kasson, James.

Kasson, Alexander.

Kasson, Archibald.

Keeler, Hezekiah.

Kellis, Peter.

King, David.

Keenie, John.

Kid, Jeremiah. *

Lewis, Capt. Ezekiel.

Lewis, George.

Lewis, Asa.

Lewis, Abraham.

Lewis, Nathaniel.

Lewis, James.

Lewis, Elihu.

Lewis, Eben.

Lacey, Capt. Thaddeus, died in ser-

vice at Castleton, Oct. 3, 1775.

Lacey, Ebenezer.

Lacey, Ebenezer, Jr.

Lacey, Ezra.

Leavenwoith, Capt. David.

Leavenworth, Lieut. Eben, died of

smallpox 18th March, 1778, aged

44.

Leavenworth, David, Jr.

Leavenworth, Amos.

Leavenworth, Moree.

Leavenworth, Lieut. Ebenezer.

Leavenworth, Gideon,

licavenwoi til, Capt. John.

Lake, Edward.

Leavitt, Samuel.

Leavitt, Jonathan.

Leavitt, David.

LadiJ, Benajah.

Ladd, David.

Lee, Abner.

Lee, Samuel.

Linsley, Abiel.

Linsley, Abiel, Jr.

Linsley, Braiuard.

Lines, Abraham.

London, Pomp.

Lamfear, Samuel.

Logan, JUIatthew.

Logan, John.

Laslin, John.

Lusk, Samuel.

Liberty, Jeff, formerly slave of Jon-

athan Farraud, made free by en-

listment.

liyon, Isaac.

Lynch, Michael.

Long, Robert.

Lincoln, Patrick.

Liberty, James.

Martin, Joel.

Martin, Joseph.

Martin, Solomon.

Martin, Ezekiel.

Martin, David.

Martin, Tsaiah.

Martin, Capt. Andrew,

Martin, William.

Martin, Gideon,

Martin, Amos.

Martin, Samuel.

Minor, Adoniram.

Minor, Simeon, taken prisoner at

Danbury.

Minor, Elisha.

Minor, Sergt. Israel.

Minor, David.

Minor, Daniel.

Minor, Titus.

Minor, EInathan.

Minor, Timothy, sick at Ticonder-

oga, taken prisoner at Danbury,

and carried to New York.

Moseley, Increase, Esq., commis-

sary,

Moseley, Col. Increase, Jr.

Moseley, Capt. Abner.

Manville, Simeon.

Manville, Ira.

Manville, John.

MacDaniel, Thomas,

Meigs, Jesse.

Mott, Lyman.

Mills, Curtis.

Mills, Samuel, Jr., liad the small-

pox in Canada, 1770.

Mills, Alexander.

Moody, Zimri.

Moody, Gideon.

Morgan, Lewis.

Mansfield, Clement.

Moltrope, Judo.

McKinney, John.

Mitchel, Beniah.

Mitchel, Nathan.

Mitchel. Daniel.

Mitchel, David.

Mitchell, Thomas.

Mitchell, Capt. John.

Mitchell, Jehiel.

Mitchell, Simeon.

Mitchell, Seth.

Mitchell, Capt. Nathaniel.

Mitchell, Abijah.

Mitchell, Capt. Eleazar.

Mitchell, Brier.

Mallory, Aaron, three years aide to

Gen. Washington.

Mallory, Daniel.

Mallory, David.

Malloiy, John.

Mallory, John, Jr.

Mallory, Simeon.

Mallory, Eli.

Mallory, Capt. Abner.

Mallory, Walker.

MuiTay, Samuel.

Murray, Noah.

Murray, Hugh.

Meramble, John.

Mix, Joseph,

blasters, N.S.

Moiris, Matthew.

Muun, Dr. Ebenezer, surgeon.

Munn, Corp. Samuel.

Munn, Justu*.

Mclntir^, Henry.

McGraw, John.

Merchant, Job.

My, Ebenezer.

Mulatto, Michael.

Mulatto, Job.

Munger, Jonathan.

Norton, Issachar.

Norton, George.

Norton, George, Jr.

Norton, William.

Norton, John Austin.

Norton, David.

Newton, Ezekiel.

Nettleton, Josiah.

Northrop, Amos.

Nails, John.

Nichols, Elisha, killed at New
York.

Nichols, James.

Nichols, Andrew, died at Boston.

Negro Robbiu.

Negro James.

Negro Titus.

Negro Peter.

Negro Toney.

Negro Gumming.

Osborne, Shadrach, purchasing and

issuing commissary during the

war.

Osborne, Samuel.

Osborne, Nathan, wounded in sev-

eral parts of the body at Horse-

neck, June 8, 1779, and carried

to New York ; was there three

mouths.

Olcott, John E.

Olds, Oliver,

Olds, Aaron.

Peck, Abijah.

Peck, John.

Peck, Josiah.

Peck, Jiulson.

Piatt, John, taken prisoner at Fort

Washington, June 5, 1777 ; was

released on parole, and came

home with the smallpox.

Pitcher, Ebenezer.

Pease, William.

Patterson, Sherman.

Patterson, Ensign William.

Pierce, David.

Pierce, Samuel.

Post, Abraham.

Penny, Joseph.

Penny, James.

Parks, James.

Pislie, Elijah,

Pilndle, Enos.

I*arker, Gamaliel.

Parker, Peter.

Parker, Thomas.

Parker, Amasa.

Prentice, Zachariah.

Peters, Galloway.

Peet, Daniel.

Peet, Richard.

Parry, Daniel.

Pollard, Isaac.

Palmer, Phineas.

Porter, Capt. David.

Porter, John.

Porter, William.

Porter, Benjamin.

Pritchard, Nat.

Potter, Sheldon.

Potter, David.

Potter, Daniel.

Phelps, Charles.

Phelps, Darius.

Phelps, Samuel.

Parmely, Thomas.

Perry, Elisha.

Perry, Eli.

Preston, Nathan, paymaster, and

issuing commissary of supplies.

Pain, Justus.

Reynolds, Blatthew.

Reynolds, Sergt. James.

Reynolds, William.

Reynolds, James Blakesly.

Reynolds, Justus.

Reynolds, Hezekiah.

Reynolds, Simeon.

Reynolds, David.

Reynolds, Solomon.

Reynolds, Solomon, Jr., sick at Ti-

conderoga.

Roots, Isaac.

Roots, Solomon, died at Crown

Point.

Roots, Joseph.

Roots, Col., sick at Ticonderoga,

1775.

Royce, Matthew.

Rill, Edward.

Rice, Edward.

Rumsey, David,

Rumsey, Nathan.
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Bumrill, Freileiick.

Richards, Amos, sick at Ticouder-

oga.

Busco, Stephen.

Kusco, Benjamiu.

Kanney, Solomon.

Kowe, Abrnliam.

Kanney, Stephen.

Rogers, Ebenezer.

Robinson, Solomon.

Robinson, Duvjii.

Robinson, William.

Robin, Michael.

Reat], Jonathan.

Read, Matthew,

Rood, Simeon.

Rood, John, shot throngh tho

thigh with a ninsket-ball at

White Plains, Oct. 28, 1776.

Ramsdell, Ezra.

Stoddard, , killed iu battle of

Bennington.

Stoddard, Anthony.

Stoddard, Eli.

Stoddard, Amos.

Stoddard, Thomas, killed in the

war,

Stoddard, Abiram, died of bloody

flux in the army.

Stoddard, Capt. James, died in the

sen-ice, 1777.

Stoddard, Capt. Nathan, killed at

Mud Fort, on the Delaware,

Nov. 15, 1777, by a cannon-ball,

which entirely severed his head

from his body. Lieut. John
Strong related that he was 8tand-_

Ing near him when it occurred,

and that for a moment after he

was standing without a head be-

fore he fell.

Stoddard, Curtiss.

Stoddard, Abijah, died at Crown
Point.

Stoddard, Cyrenius.

Stoddard, Luther.

Stoddard, I'hilo, wounded in tho

arm in the Germantowa actiou.

Stoddard, Adj. .

Stoddard, Ichabod, sick at Ticon-

deroga.

Strong, Samuel.

Strong, Lieut. John, while in the

sorvico he went out one day to

view the j^osiiion of tho enemy.

He found La Fayette ou tho

ground befiui* him for the same
purpose. When they wished to

retire they found themselves cut

off from camp by some Biiilsh

soldier's. Tliere was no escape

except by fording a creek. Lieut.

Strong, being larger and stronger

than liis companion, took him
upon his shoulders uud crossed

the creek in safety.

Strong, Adino.

Strong, Uriel.

Strong, Anthony.

Strong, Daniel, teani6ter.

Strong, Charles.

Strong, Jusiiih, shot through the

leg tn the derniantown action,

and was obliged t>) have it ampu-

tated.

Strong, Benjantln.

Btroug, Deujamln, Jr.

Smith, DanieL

Smith, Capt. Ebenezer.

Smith, Capt. Richard.

Smith, Hon. Nathaniel.

Smith, Samuel.

Smith, Stephen, sick at Ticonder-

oga.

Smith, Phiueas.

Smith, Abraham.

Smith, Jeremiah.

Smith, Elisha.

Smith, Robert, was a sergeant un-

der Col, Seth Warner; was tom-

ahawked and scalped by the In-

dians on '* Four-Mile Island," in

Lake George, a small party to

which he belonged having been

surprised in the night. He lay

four days, when he was found

and taken care of. He recovered

and survived many years after.

Speri-y, Ambrose.

Sperry, Enoch.

Savage, Joseph.

Savage, Seth, died at New York.

Stiles, Joseph.

Sharp, James.

Sheldon, Charles.

Sheldon, Dr. Daniel, surgeon's

mate.

Slauter, John.

Steele, Serpt. John.

Steele, Luke.

Steele, Sergt, Elisha.

Sanford, Capt. J,

St, John, Adonijah,

Seymour, Capt, Moses.

Sharj), Peter.

Seelty, John.

Squire, Capt, Gideon.

Squire, Abiatlnir.

S»inire, Joseph.

S'luire, Thomas (3d).

Squire, Thonme, Jr.

Skeels, Adoniram.

Stratton, Th.)mae,

Starr, Elisha.

Stevens, Aaron.

Stevens, DanieL

Sedgwick, Benjamin.

Sedgwick, Archer.

Sedgwick, Joseph.

Sherman, David, commissar}'.

Sherman, Elijah.

Sherman, James.

Sliernum, Lieut. John.

Sherman, Taylor, expressman.

Sherman, Daniel, member of tho

council of saft^ty four years.

Southworth, William.

Summers, Asahet,

Simons, David.

Simons, Cnmmcy.
Stannard, Samuel.

Seeley, Kphralm.

Strickland, Mosea.

Standcliri, Wllliftm.

SturgcsA, Aquila.

Stewart, William.

Saxton, Jo., died at New York.

Scars, John.

Sperry, Ell.

SjHjrry, Amhn»se.

Sklllon, D r . Henry
^

Torrance, 'fliomiis, wnuudml In tho

" Haiibury alarm," April 27,

1777, in tho tbigh.

Torrance, Corp. Joseph.

Torrance, Capt. Samuel.

Torrance, Samuel, Jr.

Torrance, Ezra.

Torrance, William.

Torrance. Joseph.

Tona, Jethro.

Twiss, Jonathan.

Turrill, John.

Turrill, Samuel.

Tall man, Ebenezer, Jr.

Tallman, Peter.

Tomliuson, , commissary.

Tomlinson, Timothy.

Tomlinson, Henry.

Tomlinson, William.

Thompson, Juhn.

Tomlinson, Thomas.

Tomlinson, David.

Tomlinson, Lieut. .

Tongue, Jonathan.

Tossel, John.

Thorp, David.

Taylor, Simeon.

Taylor, Josiah.

Taylor, John.

Taylor, Joel, killed at New York.

Titus, Joel.

Touseley, Nathaniel.

Thomas, Lieut. Ebenezer.

Thomas, John, taken sick at Fort

Ann ; came home by advice of

his captain, lust his wages, and

was returned a deserter in con-

sequence.

Thomas, Isaac, wounded in tho

knee at White Plains, Oct. 31,

177G, by a cannon-ball; was re-

moved to Woodbury by Asahel

Thomas, and died Dec. 9, 177G.

Thomas, Jacob.

Thomas, Charles.

Thomas, Charles, Jr.

Thomas, David.

Thomas, S.

ThuniAs, Jeremiah.

Ttiomns, Joseph.

Thomas, Enoch.

Tuttle, Aaron.

Tnltle, Capt. NuthauteL

Tuttle, Ichobod.

Tutllo, Andrew.

Tuttle, Thomas.

Tucker, Daniel.

Trowbridge, Lieut. EIlliu.

Trowbridge, Philemon.

Tiff, Maj.

Tiff, John.

Tyler, Lerl.

Ufford, Ji)b.

Vnudyke, Peter.

Warner, Col. Seth,

Warner, Capt. John.

Warner, Daniel, killed at tho but-

tle of Bennington.

Warner, Thomas.

Warner, Saul.

Warner, Samuel.

Warner, Capt. KlUur.

Warner, Lieut. Kbenezer.

Warner, Kllphaz.

Wakeloy, Ablel,

Wakolcj, Henry.

Wakeley, AUd, wa» a wddlor

through the whole length of the

war of Independence, Joining

the army In his vlxtoouth yew;

was with Washington at Valley

Forge ; at West Point under

Arnold, and saw the traitor es-

cape; with La Fayette in his

memorable retreat before Corn-

walli^, and with him stormed the

redoubt at Yorktown ; received

an honorable discharge from

Washington ; died at Greenville,

Greene Co., N. Y., April 13, 1850,

in the ninetieth year of his age.

Wheeler, Capt. Seth.

Wheeler, Dr. Lemuel, surgeon.

Wheeler, Capt. John.

Wheeler, Benjamin.

Wheeler, Benjamin, Jr.

Wheeler, Silas.

Wheeler, Adam.

Wheeler, Elnathan.

Wheeler, Agur, sick at Ticonder-

oga in 1775.

Wheeler, Archelaus.

Wheeler, William, commissary at

the north end of Lake George.

Wheeler, Nathan.

Washburn, Edward.

Washburn, Edmond.

Wayland, John.

Whipple, Joseph.

Wilkinson, Abrabam.

Wott, Adam,

Woodruff, Hawkins.

Woodruff, John.

Weeks, John.

Wildinan, Rev. Benjamin, chap-

lain.

Walker, Abel.

Walker, Zechariah.

Walker, Elisha.

Walker, Capt. Joseph.

Walker, Isaiah.

Walker, Samuel.

Walker, Nathan.

Walker, Peter.

Walker, Juseph, Jr.

Walker, Jimiah.

Walker, David.

Walker, Simeon.

Watson, Hun. James, afterwards

seuAtor In Congress.

Watson, Capt. John, wounded la

the I'ack at St. Johny Canada, In

177J, ami the State gnintod him

a pension of Sl8 per niontli.

Whittlesey. Slartin. lost the use of

his limbs by sickness at Now
York.

Whittlesey, David.

Whittlesey, Asaph, killed at Wyo-
ming July 3, 1778.

Wallace, Thomas.

Waugh, Duel.

Wlscott, JoMOph.

While, John.

White, J»woph.

Woodwunl, Noah.

Wo<idward, Nooh, Jr.

Welch, Sergl. Luke.

Weller, Benjamin.

Welch, Ilhuol.

Welch, Mhhael.

Wagner, ]>anlel.

Wagner, David.

WllftoH, Samuel.

Wiiy, Irn.

Way, Isaao.

Woostor, niumaD.
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Woodman, Samuel.

Wells, David.

Wells, John,

Wells, Benjamin.

Wilcoxsou, Ephraira.

Ward, Samuel.

Whitney, John.

M'heaton, Jonathan.

Wbeaton, Roswell.

Wright, Charles, Jr.

Wright, Freedom,

LIST OF SOLDIERS

AtwooJ, Washington H.

Allen, James (B.).

Allen, Sti^phen.

Burton. Oliver (B.).

Bates, Richard (R.).

Bryant, Samuel (Wa).

Blackman, Beecher.

Bunnell, Sheldon.

Barnum, Eli (B.).

Beehoe, Isaac (B.).

Barlow, Elisha (Wa.).

Bishop, Miles.

Booth, Aaron.

Brown, James (S.).

Brown, Daniel (S.).

Baker, Henry (Wa.).

Bishop, Auios.

Bassett, Nathaniel.

Bryant, Ira.

Baldwin, Amos (B.).

Beecher, Lyman (B.).

Botsford, Samuel.

Barto, Jnnah.

Castle, Bethel S.

Castle, John.

Coe, Daniel (B.).

Church, Samuel (B,).

Canfield, Austin (B.).

Curtiss, John.

Cunningham, William (Wa.).

Eastman, Daniel E. (R.).

Fairchild, David (B.).

Frisbie, Benjamin (B.).

Frisbie, Samuel (Wa.).

Fowler, Robert B. (Wa.).

French, Ezra (B.).

Forbes, Robert (Wa.).

Farrand, Cupt. N. (Wa.).

Gordon, Junathan.

Griswold, Harvey,

Griswold, Asa S.

Glazier, John.

Galpin, Stephen F.

Galpin, Sergt. SamueL
Galpin, Pettit.

Gibbs, Spencer (B.).

Howe, William.

Hannah, George (B).

Hine, Austin (B.).

Hine, Elijah (B.),

Hyde, Abijah (B.),

Hubbell, Zalmon (B.).

Hatch, Joseph.

Judson, Henry.

Jackson, Joel.

Jackson, Levi.

Jackson, Samuel.

Jackson, Levi (B.).

Knapp, Capt. Seymour (B.).

Wright, David.

Watei-s, Joseph.

Wentworth, G.

Warden, Joseph.

Waller, Thomas.

Waller, DauieL

Ward, Macock.

Wood, James.

Williamson, Joseph.

Youngs, David.

IN THE WAR OF 1812.*

Knsson, Lieut. Adam C. (B,).

Kimball, Horatio (B.).

Kimball, Horace (B.).

Luddington, Fred (B.).

Lewis, Jabez (B.).

I owis, George (R.).

Lewis, Elisha (R.).

Leavenworth, Pln'lo (B.).

Lum, Austin (B.).

Lambert, Fred.

Murray, David.

Murray, Alexander.

McCoy, Hugh.

Moody, Samuel,

Monies, Edward.

Mitchell, Nathaniel (R.).

Muuger, Harmon (B.).

Masters, Dr. Samuel S.

Kichols, Jolin.

Olds, David.

Osburne, Daniel.

Parker, Willis,

Parker, James.

Parker, Lieut. Thomas C. (Wa.).

Parker, Philo (Wa.).

Patterson, Charles (R.).

Peck, Capt. Joseph.

Peet, Ashbel.

Price, Sheldon (B.).

Reynolds, Joseph.

Ryan, Marcus,

Sanford, Thomas (R.).

Stiles, Lyman.

Spring, Isaac (B.).

Seymour, John H. (B.).

Squire, John A. (R.),

Stevens, Jeremiah (B.).

Sperry, Moses.

Smith, Ensign Theodore (B.).

Strong, Daniel (B.).

Stone, Norman (B.).

Seeley, Freeman H. (B.).

Steel, Joseph (B.).

Skidmore, James B. (B.).

Titus, Stiles (Wa.).

Turrill, Asahel (R.).

Turrill, Roswell (R.).

Tuttle, Preston.

Tuttle, David.

Waller, Capt. Thomas, killed by

Warner Knapp, who had been

drafted, when he went to notify

him.

Webb, Joseph (R.).

Warner, Capt. Elizur.

Williams, William R. (B.).

Wilcox, Linus (B.).

Wakeley, Harry.

*B. denotes Bethlehem ; Wa., Washington ; R., Roxbury; S., South-

bury. This list is not complete. Those without any letter are from
Woodbury.

WAR OF THE REBELLION, 1861-65.

ROLL OF HONOR.

First Lieut. Samuel C. Barnum, A. A. A.-G., died June 19, 1861.

First Lieut. Henry Melzar Dutton, died Aug. 9, 1862.

Second Lieut. Henry S. Conrad, died Jan. 9, 18G3.

Second Lieut. Frederick Whitloek, died Jan. 24, 1863.

Com.-Sergt. Walter J. Oiton, died Oct. 7, 1864.

Sergt. Myron G. Bishop, died July 28, 1865.

'* Andrew B. Candee, died Sept. 30, 1863.

" Oliver B. Chatfield (colored), died Dec. 12, 1809.

" George E. Judson, died Oct. 31, 1864.

" Charles A. Srjuiro, died June 22, 1864.

" Timothy F. Walsh, died Feb. 6, 1865.

Corp. Edward Bell, died Oct. 17, 1864.

" Patrick Brady, died Nov. 1, 1864.

" Charles F. Flushmen, died Sept. 21, 1864.

" John T. Glazier, died Oct. 19, 1864.

" Henry F. Hard, died Dec. 15, 1863.

" Frederick Holmes, died Jan. 4, 1865.

" Horatio S. Thomas, died Feb. 20, 1864.

" John S. White, died Nov. 13, 1862.

Privates.

Patrick Allen, died March 8, 1865.

Dwight^. Atwood, died Oct. 19, 1864.

James L. Atwood, died June 5, 1863.

Charles Barney, died Sept. 19, 1864.

Isaac Briggs, died June 23, 1864.

Ferdinand Bubser, died Dec. 31, 1864.

Joseph Bunnell, died Oct. 7, 1864.

Matthew M. Castlo, died March 28, 1864.

Weston Cogswell, died March 30, 1S64.

Owen Crommey, died July 30, 1864.

Harvey H. Fox, died Feb. 4, 1863.

Henry F. Fox, died Nov. 27, 1863.

John B. Freeman (colored), died April 1, 1864,

Peter Flannagan, died Dec. 27, 1866.

Almond D. Galpin, died June 1, 1864.

Hugh S. Gosley, died Aug. 22, 1862.

Edgar Gibson, died May 6, 1869.

Friend F. Kane, died June 1, 1864.

George W. Locklin, died Oct. 20, 1864.

John McDivitt, died June 1, 1869.

Samuel M. Mallory, died Apiil 17, 1867.

Joseph Wilier, died Aug. 24, 1868.

Charles Patterson, died March 14, 1862.

Arnold Peterson (colored), died Aug. 15, 1865.

Frank J. Percey, died Dec. 13, 1862.

Seth W. Percey, died Aug. 2, 1864.

James C. Policy, died Nov. 19, 1862.

Thomas Rice (colored), died April 15, 1865.

George H. Richardson (colored), died Oct. 27, 1865.

Joseph F. Root, died Oct. 9, 1862.

Gardner Stockman, died May 28, 1864.

Charles L. Thomas, died Jan. 16, 1864.

Thomas Tracey, died May 29, 1863.

John E. Tuttle, died Sept. 17, 1862.

Abram A. Warner, died Aug. 12, 1862.

Joseph Wellman, died July 23, 1863.

Curtiss Wheeler, died June 14, 1864.

Leman Phillips, died Feb. 20, 1872.

Roderick Freeman, died April 24, 1875.

Philo M. Trowbridge, died Jan. 11, 1875.

Abiram A. Atwood, died May 2, 1872.

Edgar Gibson, died 1869.

Nathan B. Munger, died 1875.

Lieut.-Col. Nathaniel Smith, died Aug. 26, 1877.

Andrew Harwood, died Oct. 19, 1878.

Daniel E. Leach, died Sept. 30, 1880.

COMPLETE LIST OF WOODBURY SOLDIERS.

Abernethy, William J., Co. II, 15th Conn. Vols.; enl. July 28, 1862; pro.

to corporal; fought in all the battles of his regiment; was never

wounded ; must, out at the end of the war at Newbern, N. C.

Addison, David E. (colored), Co. A, 29th Conn. Vols.; enl. Nov. 30, 18G3;

must, out Oct. 24, 1865.
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Allen, Chaiincey F., Co. D, 13th Conn. Vols. ; eul. Dec. 17, 1861 ; discb.

for disability July 29. 1802.

Alvord, Edgar A., eiil. ivt Woodbury April 27, 1861 ; must, olit at Hart-

furd July 22, 1861, in Co. E, 5th Conn. Vols. ; re-enl. as veteran Dec.

21, 18G3; pro. to corporal; must, out July 19, 18G5; was slightly

wounded in the left thigh at Resaca, Ga., but was never in hospital

;

WHS titken prisoner at Cedar Mountain, the " Aceldema" of our

forces, Aug. 9, 18G2; confined in the Libby prison and on Belle Isle,

and was exchanged in November, 18G2.

Atwood, Abinim A., Co. H, 23d Conn. Vuls. ; enl. Sept. 2, 1862; was made

prisoner at Biashear City, La. ; was exchanged Sept. 4, 1863, nearly

three months after the expiration of his term of enlistment; must,

out with his regiment, thougli still in captivity, Aug. 31, 1863.

Atwood, Eugene, Co. A. loth Conn. Vols. ; enl. July 14, 1862, at the age

of fifteen; was taken prisoner March 8, 18C5, and kept in Libby

prison till the close of the war; must, out at Newbern, N. C, June

27, 1865.

Atwood, James L., Co. F, 12th Conn. Vols. ; enl. Nov. 19, 1861 ; died of

chronic diarrhoea at Marino Hospital, in New Orleans, La., June 5,

1863; bulled in Monument National Cemeterj- at Chulniette, La.,

si-x miles below New Orleans, on the old New Orleans battle-ground,

war of 1812.

Atwood.DwightS., Co. D, 2d Conn. Heavy Art.; enl. Feb, 1, 1864; killed

at the battle of Cedar Creek Oct. 19, 1864.

Atwood, Oliver W., 133d New York Vols. ; served the period of his enlist-

ment and was discharged.

Avery, Walter W., eul. at Woodbury April, 1861 ; must, in at Hartford

July 22, 1861 ; re-enl. jir veteran in the field Dec. 21, 1863; wounded

at the battle of Gulp's Farm, Ga.; must, out July 19, 1865.

Allen, Patrick, Co. E, 15th Conn. Vols.; mnet. as a substitute Aug. 25,

1864 ; killed at the battle of Hatcher's Bun, Va., March 8, 1865.

Bacon, J. Knight, assistant surgeon on board of a ship of war, aud for a

long time medical cadet in the Kuight Geueral Hospital at New
Haven, Conn.

Bacon, William T., Jr., Co. 1, 12th Conn. Vols.; enl. Nov. 23, 1861 ; disch.

for disability at New Orleans July, 1862.

Baldwin, Charles N., Co. I. 2d Conn. Heavy Art.; eul. Oct. 13, 1862;

must, out at Washington, D. C, Aug. 18, 1865.

Banks, Daniel C, Co. G, 1st Conn. Heavy Art.; enl. May 22, 1861 ; disch.

for disability Oct. 7, 1862.

Barnum, Samuel C, enl. in tlio three months' troops May 7, 1861, and

was in the battle of Bull IIuu; re-enl. in Co. E, 11th Conn. Vols.,

Nov. 27, 18GI; for good conduct in battle he was promoted succes-

sively to second lieutenant Oct. 1, 1801, and fii-et lieutenant and ad<

jutant June 16, IHG2; fur a time he acted as A. A. A.-G. of brigade;

was wounded at Culd Harbor Juno 3, 1864, aud died at Washington,

D. C, June 19, 18G4.

Barney, Charles, Co. I, 2d Heavy Art.; on!. Aug. 18, 1862; was killed at

the battle of Winchester Sept. 19, 1864.

Bassett, Edwin W., Co. E, 8th Conn. Vols. ; eul. Sept. 25, 1861 ; rt^enl. as

veteran Dec. 24, 1SC3.

Boy, Charles, Co. 1, 13th Conn. Vols.; enl. Jan. II, 1862; disch. Jan. 6,

1865, on expiration of term of service.

Barry, William C, Co. I, 2d Heavy Art.; enl. Aug. 18, 1SC2; disch. at

Alexandria, Va., for disability Jan. 31, 1SG3.

Boll, Edward, Co. E, 6lli Conn. Vols.; enl. Sejit. 4, 1862; disch. for dis-

utility the latter part of 1862; re-enl. in Co. I, 2d Heavy Art.. March

7, 1863
;
pro. to corporal ; died at Martinsburg, Va., Oct. 17, 1864.

Bell, Robert, Co. C, Oth Conn. Vols.; must, in as a subatitulo for Saniuvl

B.Scott Aug. 17, 1863; wounded July 20,1861; must, out at Alex-

andria, Va., July 19, 1865.

Belmont, William It., Co. H, 12th Conn. Vols.; eul. Feb. 10,1804; trans.

to Co. A.

BetlB, Gcorgo E., Co. I, 2d Heavy Art. ; onl. July, 1802
;
pro. to MCODd

lieutenant August IKih; res. on account of diiuibillty Nov. 2a, 1802.

.Betts, UiU>ert .S., Co. I, 14th Conn. Vols.; enl. Juno 11, 1862; eul. under

the name of Frt>derick Gilbert, for bounty, Oct, 21, 1862, in Co. O,

24tli Conn. Vuls. ; disch. March 21, 186^t, tu rc-eul. In arcgiaieutur

Massachusetts cavalry.

Beuham, Willis M., 2d Conn. Battery ; onl. July 29,1862; pro. to wjr-

gvant ; mu^^t. out at New Haven Aug. 9, 1805.

Bishop, Myron G., " Woo<lbury Heds," Co. K, 5th Conn. VoU. ; enl. April

22, 1801 ; must, out July 22, IKGI
;
pro. to sergeant; rt-enl. as veteran

Dec. 21, 18G3; wounded July 20, 18G5, at battle of KcnoKiw Moun-

tain, Ga., otherwise called the battle of Foach-Trco Creek ; loft teg

amputittud at the hip, aud died of bis wounds at Clialtauuoga,TenD.,

July 2ct, 1865.

Bishop, Edwin, Co. E, 5th Conn. Vols. ; enl. April 21, 1861 ; must, out at

Hartford July 22, 18G1 ; re-enl. as veteran Dec. 31, 1863; must, out

July 19, 1865.

Black, John, Co. B, 5th Conn. Vols, ; must, as substitute of Albert C.

Peck Aug. 18, 18G3; must, out at Hartford June 19, 1^65.

Blackman, Cliarles F., Co. A, 2d Heavy Art.; eul. Aug. 26, 1864; must,

out at Washington, D. C, Aug. 18, 1865 ; he had previously enl. in

Co. A, 23d Couu. Vols., Sept. 1, 1862, and was must, out Aug. 31,

18G3.

Blackman, Chades G., Co. D,17th Conn. Vols.; enl. Aug. 13, 1862; must,

out at Hilton Head, S. C, July 19, 1805.

Bottsford, Chailes, Co. I, 2d Heavy Ait.; enl. Aug. 12, 1862; wounded in

the thigh at the battle of Winchester, Sept. 19, 1364; must, out at

New Haven May 18, 1865.

Bottsford, Edward, Co. E, 5tli Conn. Vols. ; enl. April 22, 1801 ; must. July

22, 1861 ; disch. for disability Dec. 17, 1862.

Blackman, George, Co. L, 2d Heavy Art.; enl. Feb. 1,1864; must. out at

Washington, D. C, Aug. IS, 1865.

Bennett, Thomas H., Co. H, 10th Conn. Vols.; enl. as a substitute Nov.

1, 18G3.

Bradley, James Monroe, Co. I, 2d Heavy Art.; enl. Aug. 5, 1862; pro. to

sergeant; disch. Nov. 5, 1863, for the purpose of accepting a first

lieutenancy in the 4th Regt. United States Colored Troops; pro. to

major.

Bradley, George C, Co. I, 2d Heavy Art. ; enl. Aug. 5, 1SG2
;
pro. to cor-

poral and to sergeant; must, out at New Haven July 12, 1865.

Brady, Patrick, Co. I, 2d Heavy Art. ; enl. Aug. 6, 1862
;
pro. to corporal;

thigh was fractuied at the battle of Cedar Creek Oct. 19, 18G4; died

at Mai-tinsburg Nov. 1, 1864; buried in the National Cemetery at

Winchester, Va.

Briggs, Isaac C, Capt. Eli Sperry's Co., 2d Heavy Art.; enl. July 25,

1802, being thefiret volunteer of that company; wounded in the foot

by a shaii>3hooter at Cold Harbor, Juno 5, 1804, as ho was lying in

his tent, and died June 23, 1864.

Bronson, Purnett, Co. B, Ist Conn. Art. ; enl. May 22, 1861 ; disch. May
21, 18(»4, at expiration of term.

Buell, Charles S , Co. E, 8th Conn. Vols.; onl. Sept. 25, 1861 ; disch. Oct.

21, 1804, at expiration of term.

Buell, Frederick G., Co. A, 2d Heavy Art.; enl. Aug. 20, 1864 ; must, out

at Washington, D. C, Aug. 18, 1805,

Bubsor, Foidinand, Co. I, 8th Conn. Vols. ; must, as substitute Aug. 11,

1804; died Dec. 31, 1804, In the rebel prison at Salisbury, N. C.

Bunuell, John B., Co. E, 8ih Conn. Vols. ; enl. Aug. 11, 1802; trans, to

Vet. Res. Corjw Sept. 30. 1804 ; must, out Aug. 1, 1805.

Bunnell, Joseph, Co. K, 6th Conn. Vols.; enl. Sept. 4, 1801; re-eul. as

veteran Dec. 24, lK6;i; died of wounds Oct. 7, 1804.

Bunnell, Wesley, Co. E, 8lh Conn. Vols. ; enl. Sept. 25, 1861 ; wounded
at battle of Autietani, Sept 17, 1802; disch. for dhuibillty March 17,

1803.

Burton, Jame«, Co. I, 2d Heavy Art. ; enl. Aug. 20, 1862.

Burnham, Walter, Co. II, 2d Heavy Art.; com. Aug. 7, 1802; pro. to cap-

tain of Woodbury Co. I; woundtnl Oct. 19, 1804, at Cedar Creek

-

disch. Feb. 8, 1865; was brovotted mi^jor for gallantry in action.

Cady, Arrah Bcecher, Co. F, 27lh Conn. Vols.; onl. Oct. lu, 1802, as sub-

stitute for John I. Fowler; taken prisoner at Chancellorsville, and
paroUnl at Uicliniond; disch July 27, 1803; re-enl. S«pt.3, 1803, un-
der hi)t firet two names, Anah Beccher, fearing if again taken pri»-

onor Ills parolu might give him trouble.

Candor, Andrew B., Co. A, 23<l Conn. VoU.; onl. Aug. 27.1862; diach.

with liiH regiment Aug. 31, 1803, although ho had t>ceu k-a behind

sick at Mattoon, 111., where he died of chronic dlarrhu-a Sept. 30
1863.

Cam, Marsliall, Co. C, 29th Conn. Vols. (culor«d); onl. Dec. 14, 18C3-
disch. for disability Manrh 15, 1865.

Cam, Tnimnn, Co. G, 29th Conn. Vols, (colored) ; enl. Jan. 6, 18G4; must
out Oct. 24, 1805.

Callender, Levi. Co. E, nth Conn. Vols. ; onl. Juno fi, 1801 ; disch. Feb. 24,

1863, for dlsiiblllly; re-enl. Jan. 5, 1804; wounde«l at Cedar Crvek
Oct. 19, 1864; most, out Juno, 1805, at Hartford.

Castio, Matthew BI., Co. I, xth Conn. Vola.; onl. Sept. 27, 1861 ; dl«d of

typhoid fever Blarch 28,1802, at Newbern, N.C.; buried la Newbero
National Cemetery.

Cogswell, Weston, Co. I, 8th Conn. Vols.; onl. Sept. 21, 18CI ; diod at

Newborn, N. C, of typhoid fever March 3it, 1802.

Cosier. Charlcn, Co. K, 8lli Conn. Vols.; enl. Si'pt. 25, 1861 ; wounded at

Fort llnrrisun Svpt. 29, 1804 ; ri'-enl. as veteran l>ec. 24, 1864; iraus.

to VuU Bee. Corps June 1, 1803; must, out at oud of the war.
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Comber, James, Co, T, 2d Conn. Heavy Art. ; enl. Jan. 2, 1864; must, out

at "Washington, D. C, Aug. 18, 1865.

Cone, William 11., Co. E, 5th Cunii. Vols. ; enl. April 22, 18G1 ; must, out

July 22, ISM, at Hartford; re-eiil. ns veteran Dec. 21,1863; must,

out July li), 1865.

Cockfur, Horace, Co. H, 8th Conn. Yuls.; enl. Feb. 10, 1864; must, out at

Readville, Mass., May 18, 18G5.

Condon, Richard, Co. E, 5th Conn. Vols.; enl. April 22, 1861; must-

out July 22d ; re-enl. as veteran Dec. 21, 18G3; must, out July 19,

18G5.

Counay, Patrick, Co. H, 12th Conn. Vols.; enl. May 27, 1862; disch. for

disability Jan. 6, 1864, at New Orleans.

Conners, Edward, Co. H, r.ith Conn. Vols.; eul. June 1, 1862; must, out

at New Orleans June 1, 1865.

Conrad, Henry S., Co. B, 13tli Conn. Vols. ; enl. Dec. 22, 1861; pro. to

corporal and seigeant; trans, to 1st Uegt. Louisiana Vols., and made

quartermaster sergeant ; received liis commission as second lieuten-

ant wliile sick in the Iiosiiital, but died before muster at Donaldson-

ville, La., Jan. 0, 1863 ; buried in Monument National Cemetery, at

Cbalmette, La., nix miles below New Orleuus, on the site of tlie battle

of New Oi leans.

Chatfield, Oliver B., Co. B, 20th Conn. Vols, (colored) ; eul. Dec. 5, 1863

;

pro. to seigeant; must. out at Brownsville, Texas, Oct. 24, 1865; died

of disease contracted in tbo army Dec. 12, 18G9.

Cramer, Everton, R., Co. E, 8th Conn. Vols. ; enl. Sept. 25, 1861.

Crane, Gideon D., Co. I, 2d Heavy Art.; enl. Aug. 12, 1862; pro. to first

lieutenant ; res. and disch. for disability Dec. 26, 1862.

Crommey, Owen, Co. K, 2d Ht-avy Art.; enl. Dec. 30, 1863; died of

wounds received in battle at Alexandria, Va., July 30, 1864; buried

iu the National Cemetery at Alexandria, Ya.

Dawson, Henry M., Co. E, 5th Conn. Vols.; enl. April 22, 1861; must,

out July 22, 1861; re-enl. In a Massachusetts regiment, under an-

other name, and served out his time.

DeForest, Charles P., wagoner, Co. I, 2d Heavy Art. ; enl. Aug. 18, 1862;

disch. for disability at Now Haven April 8, 1865.

DeForest, George A. (son of above), Co, I, 2d Heavy Art. ; enl. Aug. 22,

1862; pro. to corporal.

Dibble, Elliot B., Co. I, 2d Heavy Art. ; enl. Aug. 2, 1862.

Doian, Barney, Co. A, 5th Conn. Vols. ; must, as a substitute for William

S. Isbell Aug. 18, 1SG3; must, out at Alexamliia, Va., July 19, 1865.

Downs, John F., eul. and served out his time in a Rhode Island regi-

ment.

Dunham, Henry, Jr., Co. I, 2d Heavy Art. ; enl. Aug. 13, 18G2 ; disch. for

disability at Furt Worth, Va., Feb. 12, 1863.

Duttun, Henry Melzar, " Woodbury Keds"; enl. April 29, 1861, at Wood-

bury ; niuat. into Co. E, 5th Conn. Vols., July 22, 18G1
;
pro. to orderly

sergeant
;
pro. and com. fiist lieutenant Co. C. 5th Conn. Vols. ; killed

at the battle of Cedar Mountain Aug. 9, 1862; buried on the field,

aud still lies among the "unknown dead," though his failier, Ex-

Goveruor Dutton, went to the battle-field and made diligent efforts

to recover h's remains.

Flanuagan, Peter, Co. I, 9th Conn. Vols. ; enl. Oct. 9, 1861 ; re-enl. in Co.

K, 1st Loui-siana Vols., under the name of Peter Breene, his wife's

surname having been Breeue ; served faithfully to the end of the

war, and discharged.

Flushmen, Charles F., Co. I, 2d Heavy Art.; enl. Ang. 4, 1802; pro. to

corporal ; died Sept. 21, 1864, from wounds received at the battle of

Winchester on the 19th of September, 1864.

Frank, Charles, Co. F, 8th Conu. Vols. ; must, as a substitute Aug. 7,

1864; must, out at City Point, Va., Dec. 12, 18G5.

Frehrig, M'illiam, Co. F, 8th Conn. Vols.; must, as a substitute Nov. 17,

1864; must, out at City Point, Dec. 12, 18G5.

Fogg, Charles H., Co. I, 2d Heavy Art.; enl. Aug. 10, 1862; pro. to ser-

geant ; must, out at Wasliiiigton, D. C, July 7, 1865.

Fowler, De Grass, Co. E,5th Conn. Vols. ; eul. April 22, 1861 ; must. July

22, 18GI
;
pro. to second lieutenant at muster; res. Sept. 2;J, 1864.

Fox, Henry F., Co. D, 13th Conn. Vols; enl. Dec. 22,1861 ; died Nov. 22,

1863, of chronic diarrlma, at Thibodeaux, La.

Fox, Harvey H., Co. 1, 2d Heavy Art. ; eul. Aug. 1, 1862; died of typhoid

fever at Fort Worth, Alexandria, Va., Feb. 4, 18G3; buried at Wood-

bury, Conn.

Freeman, Crosby B., Co. C, 29th Conn. Vols, (colored) ; enl. Dec. 14, 1SG3

;

umst. out at Brownsville, Texas, Oct. 24, 1865.

Freeman, John H., Co. A, 29th Conn. Vols, (colored) ; enl. Nov. 20, 1863

;

must, out witli the regiment Oct. 24, 18G5.

Freeman, John R. (Rod's brother), enl. in a Rhode Island regiment, and

died at Annapolis, Md., April 1, 18G4.

Freeman, George (Rod's brother), enl. in the navy and served on a gun-

boat,

Freeman, Reussellaer (Rod's brotlier), etil. iu tlie navy and served two
years on board a gunboat.

Freeman, Roderic (colored), served during the wai* as cook and waiter to

companies, or to the regimental officers; he was in tlie special em-
ploy of Adj. S. C. Barnum while he lived, and accompanied his body

to Connecticut for burial; he was principally connected with the

11th Regt., and was very faithful iu all his duties.

Galpin, Almond D,, Co. I, 2d Heavy Art.; enl. Aug. 25, 1862; he was

killed at the battle of Cold Harbor, ten miles north of Richmond,

June 1, 1801, falliug dead by a wound iu the head.

Galpin, Daniel B., Co. I, 2d Heavy Art. ; enl. Aug. 12, 1862 ; wounded in

the ankle at the battle of Cold Harlioi-, June 1, 1864, and at the bat-

tle of Winchester, Sept. 19, 1864, in the leg; disch. for disability

June 3, 1865.

Galpin, Thomas C, Co. C, 8th Conn. Vols. ; enl. Oct. 10, 1861; wounded at

the battle of Antietam Oct. 17, 1862; didch. Nov. 4, 1864, at expira-

tion of term of service.

Gilbert, William IL, Co. H, 8th Conn. Vols.; enl. as a substitute Sept. 5,

1863 ; must. out. at City Point Dec. 12, 1865.

Groat, Henry, Co. B, 2d Conu. Vols, (tliree months) ; eul. May 17, 1861

;

disch. Aug. 7, 18G1.

Glazier, Thonuis T., Co. B, Gth Conu. Vols.; enl. Sept. 12, 1801; pro. to

corporal ; re-enl. as veteran Jan. 4, 1864; died Oct. 19, 1864.

Gordon, George, Co. E, 5th Conn. Vols.; enl. April 22, 1861; must. July

22, 1861 ; re-enl. as veteran Dec. 21, 1863; wounded ; disch. Jan. 28,

1865.

Gosley, Charles, Co. E, 5th Conn. Vols. ; enl. April 22, 1861 ; must. July

22, 1861; disch. for disability Nov. 22, 1862.

Gosley, Hugh S., Co. E, 5th Conn. Vols. ; enl. April 22, 1861 ; must. July

22, 1861 ; died at Andersonville prison, Aug. 22, 18G2.

Gibson, Edgar, Co. A, 23d Conn. Vols. ; enl. Aug. 25, 1862; disch. Aug.

31, 1863; died of disease contracted in the service 3Iay 0, 1869.

Gibson, Henry F., Co. A, 23d Conn. Vols.; eul. Aug. 25, 1862; disch.

Aug. 31, 1863.

Hall,Jolin S., Co. I, 2d Heavy Art.; enl. Aug. 6, 1862; pro. to corporal

;

must, out at Washington, D. C, July 7, 1865.

Hall, John T., Co. I, 2d Heavy Art. ; enl. Aug. 16, 1802; disch. for disa-

bility Nov. 20, 1863.

Harwood, Andrew, Co. H, 14th Conn. Vols, ; must, in as substitute Aug.

8, 1803; had three fingers shot off iu battle, and was discharged for

disability March 11, 1865.

Hayes, Samuel D., Co. I, 2d Heavy Art. ; enl. Aug. 6, 1862; must, out at

Hartfui-d, May 22, 1865.

Hard, Henry F., Co. I, 2d Heavy Art. ; enl. Aug. 6, 1862
;
pro. to corpo-

poral ; died of diphtheiia at Woodbury while on recruiting service

Dec, 15, 1863.

Hard, Frederick R., Co. I, 2d Heavy Art.; enl. Aug. G, 1862; wounded

in the leg at the battle of Cedar Creek Oct. 9, 1864; disch. for disa-

bility May 27, 1865.

Heins, Peter, Co. C, 1st Conn. Cav. ; eul. Aug. 27, 1804; must, out at

Washington, D. C, Aug. 2, 1865.

Hawley, Aaron (colored), Co. C, 29th Conn. Vols. ; enl. Dec. 14, 1863;

must, out witli the regt. Oct. 24, 1865.

Hawley, Orrin (colored), Co. C, :i9th Conn. Vols.; enl. Dec. 14, 1863;

must, out Oct. 24, 1805.

Hensgean, Frederick, Co. B, 5th Conn. Vols.; must, in as substitute for

William Smith Aug. 18. 1803.

Hilmer, Frederick, Co. B, 5th Conn. Vols. ; must, in as a substitute Aug.

18, 1803.

Holcomb, John W., Co. E, 5th Conn. Vols.; enl. April 22, 1861; must.

July 22, 1861 ; re-enl. as veteran Dec. 21, 1803 ; must, out July 19,

1805.

Holmes, Frederick, Co. II, 1st Conn. Vols.; enl. for three months April

23, 1801 ; was nn'ssing in action at battle of Bull Run, but came in

safely July 21,1861 ; re-enl. in 2d Conn. Light Battery Aug. 5, 1862;

pro. to corporal; died Jan. 4. 1865, in his tent, at White River

Landing, Arkansas; buried in the Mississippi River National Ceme-

tery, near Blemphis, Tenn.

Holdridge, David E., Co. E, 13th Conn. Vols. ; must, in as a substitute

December, 1863.

Hotchkiss, Hubbard A., Co. I, 2d Heavy Art.; enl. Aug. 6, 1862; pro. to

sergeant; wounded in the scalp and baud at the battle\)f Winchester,

Sept. 19, 1864; must, out at Washington, D. C, July 7, 1865.

Hotchkiss, Levi H., Co. I, 2d Heavy Art.; enl. July 25, 1802; severely

wounded in the hand and arm, and entirely disabled, at the buttle
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of Cold Harbor, June 1, 18G4; must, out for disability April 20,

1865.

Hubbard, Calvin A., Co. E, oth Conn. Vols. ; eiil. April 22, 1S61 ; must, in

at Hartford July 22, 1861 ; re-enl. as veteran Dec. 21, 1863; wounded

in the hand in battle near Dallas, Ga., May 25, 18G4, and in the foot,

severely, June 22, 1864; must, out July 19, 1865.

Hull, Amnii F., Co. G, 1st Heavy Art. ; enl. Oct. 22, 1861; re-enl. as vet-

eran Dec. 17, 1863; pro. to corporal and ordnance officer for good

conduct in battlu
;
piust. out at Washington. D. C, Sept. 25, 18G5.

Herriugton, George F., Co. C, 5tli Conn. Vols. ; must, in as substitute for

Walter S. Curtiss, Aug. 7, 1S63.

Hull, Ulysses A., Co. E, 12th Conn. Vols.; enl. Feb. 16, 1864; must, out

at New Haven, May IS, 1805.

Jacobi, Philip, Co. K, 'JOth Conn. Vols.; must, in as substitute for Omar
E.Norton, Aug. 25, 1863.

Jackson, George (colored), Co. H, 29th Conu. Vols.; enl. Dec. 30, 1863;

must, out Oct. 24, 1805.

Jackson, George P., served in the navy, on the war-ship "Winona."

Jackson, Henry F. (colored), Co. C, 29th Conn. Vols. ; enl. Dec. 14, 1803;

pro. to corporal ; must, out Oct. 24, 1805.

Jackson, Lot N. (colored), Co. C, 29tb Conn. Vols. ; enl. Dec. 14, 1863;

must, out Oct. 24, 1865.

Jackson, Philo (colored), enlisted and served in the 11th Regt. of U. S.

colored troops, and was honorably discharged at the close of the war.

Jones, Thomas, 28tli Conn. Vols. ; must, in as the substitute of Sheldon

B. Castle.

Judd, Charles (colored), Co. A, 30th Conn. Vols. ; enl. Jau. 11, 1S64 ; must.

out Nov. 7, 1865.

Judson, George E., Co. T, 2d Heavy Art. ; enl. Aug. 15, 1862 ;
pro. to ser-

geant; wounded in the left hip and thigh at Cedar Creek, Oct. 19,

1804; removed to Patterson Park Hospital, Baliiuiore, Md., where

he died of his wounds, Oct. 31, 1864.

Kane, Friend F., Co. I, 2d ileavy Art. ; enl. Aug. 9, 1862; was instantly

killed at the battle of Culd Harbor, June 1, 1864.

Kerner, John, 14th Conu. Vols.; received as a substitute Feb. 19, 1864,

and not a-^signed or not taken up on the rolls.

Kock, F. W., Co. I), loth Conn. Vols. ; must, as a subetituto Aug. 24, 1864

;

trans, to 7th Conn. Vols. ; must, out July 20, 1S66, at Guldsboro', N. 0.

Knickerbocker, Edward, Co. E, 5th Conn. Vols.; enl. April 22, 1861;

must. July 22, 1861 ; disch. for disability June 4, 1802.

Kregan, William, 27th Conn. Vols. ; must, as a substitute fur John Gulpiu,

October, 1862.

Lake, Perry W., Co. G, let Heavy Art.; enl. May 22, 1862; diuch. for dis-

ability Nov, 22, 1862.

Laury, John, 2d Light Battery; must, as the sulmtituto of Lewis H. At-

wood Feb, I'.i, 1SG4, but never reached the regiment.

Leach, Alvali A., Co. E, 8th Conn. Vols.; enl. Sept. 25, 1861 ; di^ch. to

enlist in the regular army, Oct. 25, 1802.

Leach, Daniel E., Co. I, 2d Heavy Art.; enl. Aug. 12, 1802; trans, to

Veteran Reserve Corps May 1, 1865 ; must, out July 1, 1865.

Lochlin, Charles A., Co. I, 2d Heavy Art. ; enl. Jau. 2, 1804 ; must, out at

Washington, D. C, July 8, I860.

Locklin, Davis A., Co. I, 2d Heavy Art. ; enl. Jan. 2, 1864; must, out at

Washingtun, D. C, Aug. 18, 1805.

Locklin, George W., Co. I, 2d Heavy Art.; enL Jan. 2, 1804; wounded in

the thigh at the battle of WinchcMer, Si'pt. 19, IKUl ; died of wounds

and fever at the military hosi'ital in Hultlmore, Md., Oct. 20, 1804;

buried in Winchester Naliunnl Cemolory.

Locklin, Isaac W., Co. I, 2d Heavy Art.; enl. Jan. 2, 1804; must, out at

Washington, D. C, Aug. is, 1«65.

Lordwin, Tlionuis, enl. Sept. 20, iau3, as substitute for Oliver Cowles.

Lucas, Ami'S A., Co. I, 2d Heavy Ait.; enl. Aug. 22, 1802; wounded nt

the battle of Winchostor, June 1, 1864 ; dlsch. (or disability Due. 18,

1864.

Lum, Charles H., Co. 1, 2d Heavy Art.; enl. Aug. 12, 1862
;
pro. tocoriioral.

Ledger, John, C^». F, 5th Conn. Vcds. ; enl. July 22, 1*<61 ; truns. to the

Signal Corps .\ug. 0, 1803; discluirgud.

Mallury, Samuel M., Co. I, 2d Heavy Art.; enl. Aug. 7, 1802; dlsch. for

dbability May 8, 1863, at Fort Worth ; died In coiisti|ucnie of illscaso,

contracted with former chronic diseases, at Woodbury, April 17, 1867,

aged forty-wi.v.

Mollory, Willis J., Co. 1, 2d Heavy Art. ; eul. Aug. 9, 1802 : foughthi almost

every battle of the regiment, up to the flnal Initio of Sailor's Itun,

April 7, lH(i:>, when Gen. Ewidl waa taken, nnd some 6O00 other pris-

oners.

Manchester, Oscar A., Co. I, 2d Heavy Art. ; enl. Aug. 6, 1802; dlicb. Fob.

8, 1863, at Alexandria, Va.

Mayne, George A., Co. H, 1st Conn. Vols., three months; enl. April 23,

1861; disch. July 31, 1861 ; re-enl. in the 13th Conn. Vols., and waa

trans, to, and became captain in, the Ist Louisiana Vols.

Manville, James H., served in the navy ; was second captain of a 11-inch

gun on board of U. S. ship "Savannah," and was in the Newport

News engagements.

Martin, Frank, Co. D, 13th Conn. Vols. ; enl. April 22, 1861, at Woodbury
;

must. December 22d; must, out May 19, 1862.

Meramble, George B., Co. E, 5th Conn. Vols. ; enl. April 22, 1861 ; must.

July 22, 1862; disch. Feb. 12, 1802, at Hancock, Md.; re-enl. in Co.

I, 20th Conn. Vols., Aug. 11, 1862; must, out at Washington, D. C,

June 13, 1805.

McKay, William H., Co. E, 5th Conn. Vols. ; enl. April 22, 1861 ; must.

July 22, 1861, at Hartford
;
pro. to corporal ; disch. for disability Feb.

12, 1862.

McDermott, Charles A., Co. E, 5th Conn. Vols. ; enl. Aug. 8, 1863 ; must,

out at Hartford, Coun., June 23, I860 ; a short time after this he en-

listed in the regular army of the United States for three years, under

the name of Charles E. Ellsworth.

McKinney, Henry S., Co. I, 2d Heavy Art. ; enl. Aug. 2, 1862
;
pro. to sec-

ond lieutenant Feb. 6, 1804; to first lieutenant Nov. 30, 1864; to cap-

tain of Co. D March 2, 1865; must, out Aug. 23, 1865.

McDivitt, John, Co. I, 2d Heavy Art.; enl. Jau. 5, 1864; must, out at

Hartford, June 1, 1865; died of disease contracted in the army June

1, 1869.

McCan, George, Co. E, 5tU Conn. Vols.; enl. July 22, 1861 ; wtmnded at

Cedar Mountain Aug. 9, 1862; disch. for disability Nov. 15, 1862.

Meyer, Charles, must. September, 1803, as a substitute for Edgar Galpin.

Myers, Charles, Co. E, 5tli Conu. Vols. ; eul. Aug. 27, 1863 ; must, out May
3, 1865, at Madison, Ind.

Miller, Jacob, Co. C, 5th Conn. Vols. ; must, as a substitute for Samuel F.

Peck, Aug. 17, 1803 ; wounded July 20, 1864 ; must, out at Alexandria

July 19, 1865.

Miller, Joseph, Co. I, 2d Heavy Art. ; enl. Aug. 20, 1862 ; must, out July

7, 1865, at Wasliingtou, D. C. ; died at Woodbury, Aug. 24, 1808, of

enlargement of the spleen, a disease whlcli lie contracted in the ser-

vice.

Minor, Frederick M., Co. I, 2d Heavy Art.; enl. Aug. 7, 1862; disch. for

disability nt New Haven, Conn., June 5, 1865.

Mitchell, John, Co. I, 8th Conn. Vols. ; must, in as a substitute Feb. 10,

1864,

Mitchell, William U. (colored), Co. B, 29th Conn. Vols.; enl. Nov. 30,

180:j ; must, out Oct. 24, 1805.

Munroe, John, must, as a snistituto for Natlinnlel D. Minor in Septem-

ber, 1863, but faileil to refiort for service.

Muiiger, Nathan B, Co. L, 1st Conn. Cuv.; eul. Jan. 6, 1864; must, out

Aug. 2, 18t)5, at Wafihiiigtoii, I>. C. ; aflorwanls enlisted in the re|[-

ular army.

Munger, Trueworthy, Co. I, 13th Cuiin. Vols. ; onl. Juno 11, 1^62 ; waa

woundeil in taking the rebel gunUiat "Coltun," on the Red River

expedition, ami discharged hi cunsei|uunce May 26, 1863.

Morris, Thoma.s, must, as a Nubstituto Feb. 19, 1864.

Morrbtou, Wllllitm, Co. A, 5th Conu. Vols.; must, as a sul«tituto for

Henry C. Juds.ui July, isW.

Morgan, ThonuiM, Co. H, luth (Jouu. Vols. ; must as a sululltute Nov. 21,

1804.

Multiguii, Joseph, Co. I, Gth Conn. Vols. ; must, as a sul«tllute Dec. 3,

1804.

Monroe, Chauncey F., Co. E, 8th Conn. Vols.; eul. Sept. 25, 1801 ; ro-eol.

an vulcraii Di>c. 24, 1803; must, out Dec. 12, 1866.

Meln, Charles, muat. us a tiulistitute, to bo sent tu the " Woodbury Reds/*

Co. E, 5th Conu. Vols., Aug. 27| 1803, but failed to put in an appear-

ance.

Newey, Arthur D., Co. I, 2d Heary Art. ; enl. Aug. 8, 1862.

Newton, Franklin, Co. E. &th Conu. Vols.; eul. April 22d; must. July 22,

1861; pro. tu corporal.

Orton, Waller J., Co. I, 2d Heavy Art.; enl. Aug. 5,1862; pro. to ser-

geant and comuiiasAry-iH.>rg('unt; wounded ut the battle uf Win-

cliuotor, Huiiietiiues called OiH*<|uan ; was carried to Taylor Hotel,

in Wiucheater, where he diwl Oct. 7, 1864.

ranii'-lce. Cornelius, Co. I, 13tli Conn. Vols. ; enl. Jan. 7, 1802; dlsch.

Jan. 0, 1865.

Parmclep, George D., Co. D, 7tli Conn. Vols. ; enl. Sept. 9, 1861 ; rv-enl. at

veteran Jan. 2, 1864 ; must, out Sept. 2, 18t^.

Patterson, Charles, Co. I. 8th Cunn. Vols.; eul. Sept. 21. 1861; died

March 14, 1862. uf wounds rtn-clved while charging a rebel l<attor3r

when NoM-bern, N. C, ivas taken.
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Percey, Frank J., Co. C, 14th Conn. Vols.; enl. Aug. 9, 1862; killed at

the battle uf Fredericksburg, Va., Dec. 13, 1862.

Percey, Seth AV., Co. C, Ist Conn. Vols.; enl. Aug. 2, 1862; wounded

Sept. 17,1862; trans, to Invalid Corps ; drowned Aug. 2, 1864, at Hart-

ford, iu Connecticut River.

Peterson, Arnold (colored), Co. B, 29th Conn. Vols; enl. Dec. 3,1863;

died at Brownsville, Texas, Aug. 15, 1805; buried in the national

cemetery near Old Fort Brown, Brownsville, Texas.

Petson, Tbonias, must, as a substitute Feb. 19, 1864.

Phillips, Leman (culored), Co. I, 29th Conn. Vols.; enl. Jan. 1, 1864;

must, out Oct. 24, 1805.

PoUey, James C, Co. I, 2d Conn. Heavy Art. ; enl. Aug. 15, 1862 ; died of

typhoid fever at ret^imental hospital at Alexandria, Va., Nov. 19,

1862.

Polley, Henry E., Co. D, 13lh Conn. Vols. ; enl. Dec. 22, 1861 ; re-enl. as

veteran Feb. 8, 1864; trans, to Co. B; must, out April 25,1866.

Prentice, William P., Co. D, 13th Conn. Vols.; enl. March 5, 1862; disch.

Jan. 6, 1865.

Potter, Cliarles E., Co. K, 11th Conn. Vela.; enl. Feb. 16, 1864; must, out

atCily Puint I>ec.21, 1865.

Potter, Bela, Co. I, 2d Heavy Art; enl. July 29,1862; pro. to corporal;

wounded iu the leg at Cedar Creek, Oct. 19, 18G4 ; must, out at

Washington, D. C. July 7, 1865.

Proctor, William H., Co. C, Ist Conn. Heavy Art. ; enl. May 23, 18G1
;

re-enl. as veteran Nov. 16, 1803; enlisted after war was over iu the

regular army.

Quinn, John M., Co. E, 5th Conn. Vols.; enl. July 22, 1861.

Reymer, Peter, Co. B, 5th Conn. Vols.; must, as a substitute of David

Cowles Aug. 18, 1863.

Reynolds, William H., Co. I, 2d Heavy Art. ; enl Aug. 11, 1862 ; wounded

throngh the knee at the battle of Winchester, Sept. 19, 1804, render-

ing him a cripple for life; must, out at Washington, D. C, July 7,

1865.

Richardson, George H. (colored), must, into Co. H, 29th Conn. Vols.;

must, as substitute for Dr. Herman W. Shove Aug. 5,1SC4; must,

out with the regiment at Brownsville, Texas, Oct. 24, 18G5; died Oct.

20, 1865.

Renneis, Jacob, Co. C, 6th Conn. Vols.; enl. Feb. 7, 1865; must, out at

Gohisboro', N. C, July 20, 1865.

Robinson, James, Co. 1,0th Conn. Vols. ; must, as a substitute Nov. 15,

1804 ; must, out at New Haven, Aug. 21, 1865.

Rogers, Henry C, Co. I, 2d Heavy Art. ; enl. Aug. 22, 1802; pro. to cor-

pural ; was severely wounded iu the baud nt the battle of Fort Fisher,

March 25, 1865; must, out at Washington, D. C, July 7, 186.5.

Rogers, John J., Co. I, 2d Heavy Art.; enl. Aug. 6, 1862; must, out at

Washington, D. C, July 7, 1865.

Root, George W., Co. I, 2d Heavy Art. ; enl. Aug. 23, 1862
;
pro. to cor-

poral ; wounded iu the leg at the battle of Winchester, Sept. 19,

1804; must, out at Frederick, Md., May 26, 1805.

Root, Edward A., eul. at Woodbury April 22, 1861 ; must, out July

22, 1861; re-enl. as veteran Dec. 21, 18G3; must, out July 19,

1865.

Rnymaker, Arnold, enl. at Woodbury April 22,1861 ; must. July 22,1861

;

trans, to Invalid Corps May 6, 1863.

Root, Joseph F., being in the West at the outbreak of the war, enl. in

Co. L, 2d Wisconsin Cav. ; died of chronic diarrba-a at Helena, Ar-

kansas, Oct. 8, 1862; buried on removal after tlie war, in Misssis-

sippi national cemetery, near Memphis, Tenn.

Roswell, George, Co. I, 8th Conn. Vols. ; enl. Sept. 27, 18G1; disch. for

disability at Washington, D. C, Dec. 24, 1862.

Rowley, Charles M., Co. I, 2d Heavy Art.; enl. Aug. 12, 1862; pro. to

corporal ; must, out May 18, 1865, at Hartford.

Robeits, James, 2d Conn. Light Battery ; must, as a substitute Feb. 19,

18G4.

Rice, Thomas (colored), enl. Feb. 19, 1864 ; died April 15, 1805, at Peters-

burg, Va. ; buried in Hampton, Va., national cemetery.

Sehindler, Jacob, Co. C, 1st Heavy Art.; enl. Dec. 15, 1863; must, out

with his legiment at Washington, D. C, Sept. 25, 1865.

Sellick, Joel F., Co. E, 5th Conn. Vols. ; enl. at Woodbury April 22, 1861

;

must, at Hartford July 22, 1801 ;
pro. to regimental commissary -ser-

geant July 23, 1861 ; disch. June, 1802.

Shaw, Thomas, Co. I, 2d Heavy Art.; enl. Aug. 28, 1862
;
pro. to ser-

geant; wounded in the arm at Cold Harbor, and again severely

wounded in the arm at Cedar Creek ; disch. in consequence of his

wounds June 1, 1865.

Simpson. John, must, as a substitute Feb. 19, 1864; forgot to report for

assignment.

Smith, Marcus D., Co. I, 2d Heavy Art.; enl. Aug. 6, 1802; pro. to

orderly sergeant; severely wounded in the forearm at Winchester,

Va., Sept. 19, 1804, while advancing under heavy fire to take a rebel

battery; must, out July 7, 18G5.

Smith, Nathaniel, must, in as major of the 2d Heavy Art., then the 19th

Conn. Vols., Aug. 23, 1802
;
pro. to lieutenaut-colouel ; res. on ac-

count of ill health May 0, 1864.

Soutill, Thomas, Co. I, 2d Heavy Art.; enl. July 30, 1862.

Soramei-3, WHliam, enl. in Woodbury April 22, 1861; must, at Hartford

July 22, 1S61.

Smith, Joseph, Co. H, llth Conn. Vols. ; must, as substitute Feb. 19, 1SG4.

Sperry, Eli, must, in as captain of Co. 1, 19th Conn. Vols., afterwards

known as 2d Heavy Art., July 24, 1862 ; Jan. 1, 1864, be was seriously

wounded in the left foreai'in by the accidental discharge of a re-

volver, in consequence of which he resigned March 20, 1864.

Slade, Frederick C, Co. I, 2d Heavy Art. ; eul. Aug. 15, 1862; must, out

at Washington, D. C, July 7, 1805.

Spring, Richard, Co. E, .5th Conn. Vols.; enl. April 22, 1861; must. July

22, 1861 ; re-enl. as veteran Dec. 21, 1863 ; wounded iu the side near

Dallas, Ga., May 25, 1864, and again, June 22, 18G4, in foot, at Kene-

saw Muuntain ; must, out July 22, 1865.

Stammer, Warden, Co. G, 28th Conn. Vols.; enl. Nov. 18,1802; disch.

Aug. 28, 18G3 ; re-enl. iu Co. I, 2d Heavy Art., Jan. 2, 1864
;
pro. to

sergeant ; wounded in the leg at Cedar Creek, Oct. 19, 1804 ; must,

out at Washington Aug. 18, 1865.

Starr, George (colored), enl. iu Co, H, 127 th Regiment of United States Col-

oied Vols., and served to the end of the war ; his true name is George

Jackson, but from mere freak he chose to serve under the above

name.

Stockman, Gardiner, Co. E, 5th Conn. Vols.; enl. at Woodbury April 22,

1861 ; must. July 22, 1861 ; was soon after trans, to Co. A, same regi-

ment; disch. by order of the Secretary of Wai", for disability, Nov. 5,

1863; died May 28, 1804, before bis regiment was discharged.

Squire, Charles A., " Woodlniry Reds," afterwards Co.E, 5th Conn. Vols.;

eul. at Woodbury April 22, 1801 ; must. July 22, 1862; pro. to ser-

geant; re-enl. as veteran Dec. 21, 18G3; be was killed at the battle of

Kenesaw Mouutain, Ga., sometimes called Gulp's Farm, June 22,

1864.

Taber, Daniel D., Co. G, llth Conn. Vols.; enl. Dec. 1, 1861; served his

time out and was discharged.

Taylor, Daniel S., Co. I, 2d Heavy Art.; enl. Aug. 6, 1862; wounded iu

the leg at Cedar Creek, Oct. 19, 1804; must, out June 1, 1865.

Taylor, James K. Pulk, Co. I, 2d Heavy Art.; enl. Jan. 2, 1804.

Taylor, William, Co. I, 27lh Mass. Vols.; en!. Jan. 2, 1864; taken pris-

oner at Kingston, N. C, March 7, 1865; must, out of the regiment

(technically) while yet in captivity June 26, 1865.

Thomas, Charltjs L., Co. I, 2d Heavy Art.; eul. Aug. 11, 1862 ; died of

lung fever iu the regimeutal hospital Jan. 16, 1S64; sent home and

buried iu Woodbury.

Thonias, Horatio S., Co. I, 2d Heavy Art. ; eul. July 25, 1862
;
pro. to cor-

poral; died of Congestion of the lungs at the regimental hospital at

Alexandria, Va., Feb. 20, 1864; sent home aud buried in Woodbury.

Thomas, Ira, Co, I, 2d Heavy Art. ; enl. July 28, 1862, at the age of sixty-

tliree years ; Walter J. Oitun dyed bis whiskers, alter which his ap-

pearance was that of a man ot about thirty yeai's; be, with other

Christian men in his compuny, instituted a piayer-meeting in his

tent, which became well attended, and was the means of great good

to the attendants; must, out lor disability March 4, 1864.

Tierney, Amirew, Co. I, 2d Heavy Ait. ; enl. Aug. 4, 1802; wounded at

the battle of Cedar Creek, Oct. 19, 1864, and bad bis arm fractured.

Tracy, Thomas, Co. B, ]2tli Coun. Vols.; enl. March 2U, 1861 ; killed at

Port Hudson, La., May l9, 180.i, aged twenty-one.

Trappell, Frederick, Co. G, 8th Conu. Vols.; must, as a substitute for

Roderick Atwood Aug. 12, 1864; must, out at City Point, Va., Dec*

12, 1865.

Tuttle, Elisha, Co. I, 28th Conn. Vols.; must, as the substitute of John

Galpiu Aug. 28, 1802; must, out Way 31, 1803.

Tuttle, Charies A., Co. A, 8th Conn. Vols.; enl. Sept. 25, 1861 ; disch. for

disability March 5, 1803, at Washington, D. C.

Tuttle, John E., Co. E, 8th Conn. Vols.; enl. Sept. 25, 1801; shot through

the breast at the battle of Antietam and killed, Sept. 17, 1862.

Vogelli, Frederick, Co. K, 2Uth Conu. Vols.; must, in as a substitute for

Ambrose II. Wells Aug. 25, 1S63.

Wakeman, Daniel P., Co. I, 2d Heavy Art.; enl. Jan. 2, 1864; must, out

at Washington, D. C, Aug. 18, 18G5.

M'alker, William P., Co. I, lid Heavy Art.; enl. Jan. 2, 1864; must, out

at Washiugtou, D. C, Aug. 18, 1805,
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Walker, Joseph, must, as a substitute for Henry C. Buckingham Aug-

20, 1863.

Walsh, Timotliy F., Co. I, 2d Heavy Art.; enl. Aug. 5, 1862; pro. to ser-

geant; wounded at the battle of Winchester Sept. 19, 1864; killed

at the battle of Hatcher's Run, Va., Feb. 6, 1865.

Warner, Abrain A., Co. I, 9th Conn. Vols.; enl. Nov. 1, 1861; died at

New Orleans general hospital Aug. 12, 1862; buried in Monument
national cemetery, at Chalmette, La., six miles below New Orleans,

on the site of Cien. Jackson's battle-ground in the war of 1812.

Warner, George, Co. C, 20th Conn. Vols.; must, in as a substitute Aug.

25, 1864.

Warner, James L., Co. G, 5th Conn. Vols. ; enl, July 29, 1861 ; re-enl. as

veteran Dec. 21, 1863; disch. for disability June 19, 1865.

Warner. Newton J., Co. B, 13th Conn. Vols. ; enl. Dec. 22, 1861 ; trans, to

Veteran Keserve Corps April 30, 1864; must, out at the end of the

war.

Wellman, Benjamin, Co. I, 2d Heavy Art.; eol. Aug. 11, 1861
;
pro. to

corporal and quartermaster-sergeant; wounded at Cold Harbor June

1, 1864 ; must, out in July, 1865.

Wellman, Joseph, Co. D, 28tlf Conn. Vols.; enl. Sept. e, 1S62; died at

Port Hudson, La., July 23, 1863.

Welch, William, Jr., enl. in the regular army in the spring of 1865, at

New Haven, Conn.; was sent to the fort at New London.

Wells, Philip, Co. E, 5th Conn. Vols.; enl. at Woodbury April 22, 1861;

must, at Hartford July 22, 1861; re-enl. as veteran Dec. 21, 1863;

must, out July 19, 1865.

West, Thomas, Co. E, 1st Conn. Cav.; enl. Aug. 21, 1864; must, out at

Hartford, Conn., June 23, 1865,

Whitlock, Frederick, Co. I, 20th Conn. Vols. ; enl. Aug. 15, 1862
;
pro. to

corporal, and while he lay sick and insensible at Washington, D. C.,

io a government hospital, his commission as second lieutenant ar-

rived from Governor Buckingham; but he never knew of his pro-

motion; he died Jan. 24, 1863; his remains were embalmed and
buried at Greenwood Cemetery.

Whitlock, Walter B., Co. G, Ist Heavy Art. ; enl. Oct. 21, 1861 ; re-enl. as

veteran Jan. 26, 1864 ; must, out Sept. 25, 1865.

Whitlock, William, Co. G, Ist Heavy Art.; enl. Oct. 22, 1861 ; disch. for

disability Oct. 18. 1862.

White, John S., Co. I, 2d Heavy Art.; enl. Aug. 6, 1862 ; died of typhoid

fever, Nov. 13, 1862, at the regimental hospital at Ale.xaiidrio, Va.;

buried in Woodbury.

White, Daniel, must, as a substitute for Newell Osbom Sept. 3, 1863.

Wheeler, Curtis, Co. I, 2d Heavy Art.; enl. Aug. 8, 1862; wounded at

Cold Harbor through both thighs by the same bullet; removed to

Armory Square Hospital, Washington, D. C, where he died Juno 14,

1864; buried in Arlington national cemetery.

Williamfl, George, Co. F, 28lb Conn. Vols. ; enl. as a aubetituto for Fred-

erick Ward at New Haven Sept. 10, 1802.

Wilsey, .\nibrn8e H., Co. I, 2d Heavy Art.; enl. Aug. 12, 1862; dlscb.

Aug. 17, 1863, by order nf the Secretary of War.
Winton, Albert B., Co. E, 6th Conn. Vols.; onl. April 22, 1861 ; must, at

Hartford, July 22, 1861 ;
pro. to corporal ; re-enl. as veteran Dec. 21,

1803 ; must, out July 10, 1 865.

Winton, Eugene, Co. F, 6th Conn. Vols.; enl. Sept. 7, 1861 ; dlscb. Sept.

11, 186-1, at expiration of term.

Winton, Jnred B., Co. I, 2d Heavy Art.; enl. Aug. 6, 1862; most out at

Washington, D. C, July 7, 1866.

Wordell, William, Co. I, 2d Heavy Art. ; enl. Jan. 2, 1864.

Woodruff, Roderick Steele, Co. A, 23d Conn. Vols.; eul. Aug. 20, 1862;

pro. to hospital Hteward ; taken prisoner at Lafourche Croesing Ho»> !

pital, La., Juno 25, IH&t; must, out Aug. 31, 1863. I

Wyant, Wilson, enl. April 22, 18G1, at Woodbury; must. July 22, 1861,
I

at Hartford, as cnpUiln Co. E, 5tb Couu. Vols.; reeigned for dis-

ability Jan. 31, 1863.

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES.

40

STILES CDRTISS AND HIS SONS, JOHN AND
HENRY S.

Stiles Curtiss was born in Stratford, Conn., April

13, 1771. He was the son of John Curtiss and Mary,

his wife, and belonged to the Stratford branch of the

Curtiss family ; the earliest record of which in that

town is in 1652, and is of widow Elizabeth Curtis,

mother of Jt)hn and William. From her children

have descended all of that name claiming origin in

Stratford. The family is of English origin, having

the right to bear arms as knights from about the

Norman conquest. During the reign of Charles I.,

their right to their coat-of-arms was confirmed by

Parliament. Mr. Curtiss emigrated to Woodbury im-

mediately after his marriage ; became a farmer on

Good Hill, and resided in town all of his days. He
was actively interested in church and public matters,

and was one of the town's representative farmers.

He had nine children, eight of whom attained ma-

turity. He lived to be seventy-eight years of age,

and died, Jan. 20, 1850, much respected. His wife

survived him twelve years, living with their youngest

son, Henry, and dying at the advanced age of eighty-

eight. She was a good Christian woman, and with

lier husband belonged to the Congregational Church.

JOHN CUKTISS.

John Curtiss, second son of Stiles andSarah (Beard)

Curtiss, was born in Woodbury, Conn., July 31, 1797.

He was educated at tiie schools of Woodbury, and,

at tlic age of nineteen, taught the winter term of Rox-

bury school, and was continued as teacher for several

winters. When he arrived at age he received a por-

tion of the old homestead, consisting of about fifty

acres, and afterwards became owner of one hundred

more, all on Good Hill. He married, Oct. 18, 1818,

Maria, daughter of David Gilbert, of Woodbury.

She was born in Kent, Conn., Nov. i», 1797. For

sixty-two years this worthy couple walked life's path-

way together, performing its duties faitiifully, and

helping to bear each other's burdens in the spirit of

true atfection. They had two diildren,—Sarah H. and

Harriet M. Sarah married Benjamin S. Kus.soll, of

Woodbury, and still resides in the town. Harriet

married James H. Linsley, of Woodbury, and died in

June, 1879. After his marriage Mr. Curtiss taught

the district school of Woodbury during several winter

terms, and those who remember him jis teacher sj>eak

of his marked ability in tliat profession. But he was

a farmer, and as a farnuT had a pride in having all

his surroundings neat, thrifty, and convenient, and

his crops equal to his brother agriculturists. He never

sought position save in one direction. About 1813 he

enlisted in the Woodbury Independent Company be-

longing to the Twelfth Regiment of Connecticut

militia, and step by step was steadily advanced to its

captaincy. He was appointed sergeant Oct. 25, 1814;
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commissioned lieutenantby Governor Oliver Wolcott,

April 26, 1823, and captain by Governor Gideon Tom-
linson, Aug. 23, 1827. Mr. Curtiss had positive po-

litical convictions; was first a.Federal, then a Whig,

then a Kepiiblican, and has voted at every election

held in the town since he became a voter. About

1860, Mr. Curtiss sold his farm on Good Hill, and pur-

chased the pleasant home where he now resides, and

where Mrs. Curtiss, after nearly twenty years' enjoy-

ment of its pleasures, died, Feb. 18, 1880. Both Mr.

and Mrs. Curtiss were members for many years of the

South Congregational Church of Woodbury.

HENBT S. CUKTISS.

Henry S. Curtiss, youngest son of Stiles and Sarah

(Beard) Curtiss, was born in Woodbury, Feb. 24,

1814. He passed his early life with his father; re-

ceived his education at the schools of Woodbury, and

became a farmer on the old homestead. He was a

man who shrank from notoriety, and preferred the

quiet retirement of home to any other society, and

although he represented Woodbury one term in the

State Legislature, preferred that the matters of pub-

lic interest should be attended to by those who had

more desire for them than he.

Mr. Curtiss was especially characterized by modest

and unassuming manner, strong social feelings, frank-

ness and honesty of purpose, to which may be added

a firm belief in Christianity. Both he and his wife

were long connected with the South Congregational

Church of Woodbury. In the domestic relation Mr.

Curtiss was an affectionate husband and father, and his

friendships were warm and lasting. His marriage to

Miss Elizabeth L., daughter of Gamaliel and Abigail

(Warner) Benham, occurred June 10, 1840. She was

of an old Connecticut family, her ancestors settling

at Benham Hill, West Haven, in the first days of the

commonwealth. She was born in South Britain, Nov.

22, 1814. Their only child, Henry B., was born Feb.

24, 1842. He gave promise of an active manhood, but

died suddenly after an illness of only one week, Oct.

19, 1853.

Mr. Curtiss died at his residence in Woodbury, Oct.

23, 1869. Mrs. Curtiss still survives, patiently waiting

till the summons comes for her to join her husband

and son in the " better land."

HON. DANIEL CURTISS.

Of an old and honorable family, famed for chivalric

deeds in the days of knighthood in the earlier times

of " Merrie England," the historian can find no

worthier character to point a moral on the pages of

the history of Woodbury than Hon. Daniel Curtiss.

The energy which marked the possessors of the name
in the olden days appeared intensified in him, and

whatever his hand found to do was done with all his

might, and he has made an impress on the town

second to none of its various residents.

Mr. Curtiss was a lineal descendent of Capt. Wil-
liam Curtiss, of Stratford, Conn., one of the original

proprietors of Woodbury (1672), and who probably

came from England in early manhood, with his

mother and brother John, about 1650, as the first

record of them in Stratford " town records" is of
" widow Elizabeth Curtis, mother of John and Wil-

liam." The Curtiss coat-of-arms is used by " Daniel

Curtiss' Sons" as their trade-mark on their manufac-

tured goods, and is thus described in heraldry :
" Az.

a fess dancettee betw. three crowns or. Crest, a lion

in his pp. colors, issuing forth of his colors or and

azure, thereon a fess dancettee ; or maritted gules

doubled argent. Motto, Sapere aude." Their right

to bear this coat-of-arms was confirmed during the

reign of Charles I. "by grant under the Great Seal,

reciting that search having been made in the register .

and records for the true and antient armes belonging

to the Curtis name and family, and the same appear-

ing by ould scales and records and other good testi-

monie and proofes in the custody and keeping of

Richard St. George, Clarencieux, King of Armes, to

be the proper and antient armes thereof, and which

they did theretofore bare, they were, to them, and their

issue and posterity, in memory thereof, forever ratified

and confirmed, according to the laiy of armes and cos-

tome of England."

Hon. Daniel Curtiss was fifth child of David S.

and Sybilla (Huntington) Curtiss, and was born

in Woodbury, Conn., Sept. 18, 1801. In education

he had only the advantages of the public schools of

that day, when the student graduated oftener with

knowledge of axe and scythe than that of books, but

acquired sufficient knowledge to enable him to teach

two or three terms of winter school, in Middlebury

and Litchfield, before he became of age. Then going

to New Jersey, he peddled for some time for a New
Jersey firm, both on foot and with a horse. Return-

ing to Woodbury, he established himself as a dry-

goods and grocery merchant, and continued in trade for

years. In connection therewith he commenced the

manufacture of silver-ware,—spoons, thimbles, specta-

cles, etc.,—and was the pioneer in this branch of man-

ufacturing in this part of the State. He was the in-

ventor of " German silver," and was the first person

to manufacture goods made of this article. These

goods were sold by peddlers, who traveled through the

country for that purpose. Of these Mr. Curtiss had

sometimes seventy-five employed at one time. About

1840, he disposed of this manufacturing interest, and

it was carried to Waterbury. Soon after, or about

that time, he commenced manufacturing woolen

goods, with which he was ever after connected, and

which is now carried on by his sons under firm-name

of " Daniel Curtiss' Sons." Selling out his mercan-

tile interests in 1845, he thereafter gave his attention

to manufacturing and farming.

Mr. Curtiss married, Jan. 27, 1837, Julia F., daugh-

t^ of Hon. John Strong and his wife, whose maiden
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name was Flora Preston. She was born in Woodbury,

Feb. 9, 1812. Her grandfather was a lieutenant in

the colonial army throughout the Kevolution. Their

children are Walter S., Emily A. (Mrs. Homer Tom-
linson), Ellen C. (Mrs. Perry Averill, of Jackson,

Mich.), Horace D., Cordelia S. (Mrs. George C. White,

Jr., of Brooklyn, N.Y.), Edward J., Frances J., Eliz-

abeth S. (Mrs. Edward F. Cole, of Waterbury, Conn.).

About the time of his marriage Mr. Curtiss pur-

chased the Jabez Bacon place, where he resided until

his death, which occurred May 16, 1878. Mr. Curtiss

was prominent and active in public affairs, W£is often

called to take public trusts, was selectman, represent-

ative for Woodbury three years, and senator for this

district in the State Senate one year. In politics he

was a Whig in early life, and a Republican from the

organization of that party. He was active during the

Rebellion, and gave largely in time and money for

the preservation of our free institutions.

In 1851, the Woodbury Bank was established, and
Mr. Curtiss was chosen its president. He always com-

manded the esteem and confidence of the citizens of

the town for which he has done so much. He was

essentially a self-made man, and his life was one of

steady and active devotion to business. His great

success, which built up a large fortune, was the nat-

ural result of his ability to examine and readily com-
prehend any subject presented to him, power to decide

promptly, and courage to act with vigor and persis-

tently in accordance with his conviction.

STANLEY E. BEARDSLEY.

Stanley E. Beardsley, son of (Jrandison and Mary
A. Beardsley, was born in Woodbury, Aug. 4, 1841,

and died Feb. 23, 1879. He wa.s educated in the

common schools and in the Woodbury Academy, then

conducted by Mr. P. B. Hul.sc. He made a rapid

advance in mastering the English branches of educa-

tion taught therein. At an early age he showed a

decided aptitude for mercantile business, and his

father took him into his store, where he soon became
familiar with all the branches of trade carried on

therein. He became the leading salesman and book-

keeper, and in a few years relieved his father princi-

pally from the purchasing of goods in the market.

During the bust few years of his young life lie super-

intended the entire i>urchases and sales, and had the

sole care of the hooks. He was a rapid accountant

and an excellent bookkeeper. He possessed indefat-

igable industry,—never on any occiLnion leaving his

post of duty when there was business to be done. He
never attended public gatherings in town, deeming

it his duty, then of all other times, to be in his place

of business to attend to the wants of the public. He
was always active, attentive, and polite to his custom-

ers. It was his rule to let none go away dis.satisfied.

In con.sequence of this attention to business, and his

tact in its management, the firm of G. Beardsley <&

Son secured a larger trade in its line than any other

firm in all this part of the county. He was absolutely

a man of no recreations and no holidays. He had no

taste for and did not go into general society. Perhaps

this utter engrossment in business, and excessive labor

in it, were the principal cause of his early death. It

may have weakened his constitution so that he was

less able to bear the shock of the final blow upon the

head which carried him off. Human endurance can-

, not last forever,—though in this case he had been re-

markably well for three or four weeks preceding his

death.

His decease was sudden and untimely. On Sunday

morning, the 23d of February, 1879, as he did not go

home to breakfast at the usual hour, his parents be-

came alarmed for him, and his father went to the

store, in the chamber of which he slept at night to pro-

tect the property, and on trying to open the door of

the store found that he was lying against it. On
gaining an entrance the father assisted the son to sit

up on a bale of cotton. He was weak, and put his

fingers under the fastenings of the bale to support

himself. He told his father that he had stumbled

upon the bale and fell, hitting his head violently

against the door. A load of goods had arrived the

evening before, and this bale had been left in the way.

He had arisen, dressed himself, gone into the store

below, taken the coal-hod to go for some coal, and

fell, as before stated, the store being dark on account

of the shutters being closed. Help and a physician

were called, and he was borne to his home a little

distance away, where everything possible was done to

save his life, but he gradually failed and breathed his

last about four hours after he was found, dying of

concussion of the brain.

He was a young man of genial and kindly disposi-

tion, warmly attached to his friends, and devoted to

his parents. A strong and liustiug attaciiment existed

between him and the writer, such as will sometimes

s])riiig up between persons of a considerable disparity

of age. As the survivor he feels a personal loss, and

[

will never cea.se to regret his early death.

He was thoroughly self-reliant, though modest and

I
retiring in his demeanor. He was very reticent in

his intercourse with others, and was much more likely

to divine your secret than to disclose his own. He
was careful in speech. Xo vulgar or prolime word

escaped his lips. He wa.s thougiitful of the wants of

others, and liberal and kind to the poor. He was for

a number of years town treasurer and justice of the

peace, and was postmaster from Get. 19, 1867, to

April, 1869, when he resigned the office.

In his death his parents, the community, and espe-

cially the business community, sntlered a very great

loss. A prominent business man remarked at his de-

cease, that by his death and that of his neighbor, the

late William E. Woodrutf, the pillars of business

seemed to have fallen, and there were none to replace

them. Such removals are providences we cannot uo-
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derstand, but we must reverently believe that the

Ruler of the universe knows what is for the best, and
" doeth all things well."

THOMAS BULL.

It is with pleasure that the historian stops the nar-

ration of events, for the purpose of sketching the

character and life of one who has for so many years

been identified with the history of Woodbury, and

who has done so much in his way for its improvement

and advancement, that coming generations may read

and take example from its teachings.

Thomas Bull, son of David Samuel and Elizabeth

(Mitchell) Bull, was born in Woodbury, Conn., Dec.

29, 1801. His father was brought up in New London,

and often, in early life, went as supercargo to the

West Indies. He afterwards became a merchant in

Woodbury, and in the latter part of his life was a

farmer. He died in October, 1810. Thomas Bull,

grandfather of the subject of this sketch, and from

whom he was named, was a major of cavalry in the

Revolutionary war, and died in February, 1804.

The first settlers of the Bull family came from Farm-

ington, and were originally from Hartford. Deacon

Samuel Bull settled on the place now occupied by

Mr. Bull, and it has been in the possession of the

family ever since.

Mr. Bull was educated at the best schools of Wood-
bury, has been trying justice of Woodbui-y for forty

years, was judge of probate for several years, and has

always been a man known and prized for his frank-

ness, acumen, and sterling integrity. As a justice,

he carefully weighed the evidence, and decided with

such good judgment as to give justice, and never

was a decision of his reversed by a higher court. He
was brought up a farmer and always was a farmer,

but through his financial ability was often enabled

to extend aid to his townsmen, and by many of them

was considered a private banker. He was in posses-

sion of a handsome competency, the result of inherit-

ance, business ability, and prudence. He was a man
of no common intellect, and his reasoning powers and

memory are far better now than many much younger

than he. He is respected, esteemed, and honored.

On the last portion of a long and useful life he can

look back and see a life that will be pointed to with

pride by his descendants, and from which he need

not wish to erase a single line. He married Jan. 15,

1824, Susan, daughter of Aaron and Anna (Curtiss)

Sherman. Their children are Elizabeth A., David S.,

Julia E., and Susan J. (Mrs. Dr. Shove). Both Mr.

Bull and wife have been for many years members of

the Congregational Church.

BENJAMIN FABRIQUE.

Benjamin Fabrique is of French ancestry. His

grandfather, John Fabrique, emigrated from France,

and settled in Newtown, Fairfield Co., Conn., at an

early day, where he raised a large family, of which
Bartimeus, the father of Benjamin, was the youngest.

He was born in 1751, was apprenticed to and learned

the carpenter's trade, and settled in Southbury, mar-

rying Lucy, daughter of Nathan Judson, of Wood-
bury. He had three children that attained maturity,

—Betsey, who married Nathaniel Tuttle, of South-

bury ; William L., and Benjamin, and died at the

good old age of seventy-eight years.

Benjamin Fabrique was born in Southbury, Conn.,

Oct. 26, 1799. He received such advantages of edu-

cation as were afforded by the common schools of

that period, and, after arriving at manhood, engaged

as farm hand on a farm in Woodbury. For twenty-

six years he followed this labor, by economy and

thrift gradually laying up a capital for future years.

When about fifty-four years of age he was called to

attend to the business of a sick nephew, a resident

of New Haven, and for two years he was absent from

Woodbury. Returning here in 1855, he has ever

since devoted himself to the care of his business in-

vestments, and the business which others have con-

fided to his careful attention.

Mr. Fabrique is a man who has taken care of him-

self, and consequently is possessed of youthfiil ap-

pearance. He is possessed of correct habits; is a

man of unusual regularity, carefiil, painstaking, and

accurate in everything. He does not jump at hasty

conclusions, but weighs every side before he forms

his judgment, which, once formed, he rarely finds

occasion to change. For years he has been familiar

in his dealings, and his " comings and goings," to the

people of Woodbury, and none to-day have aught to

say of him but words of respect and esteem. He
has been chosen at various times selectman of the

town, and the last time he held that ofiice was con-

tinued in it for several successive years. He also rep-

resented Woodbury in the Legislature in 1856, 1863,

and 1864. He has been for years an auditor and a

corporator of Woodbury Savings Bank. In politics

was formerly a Whig, but a Republican from the

organization of that party. He is a member of the

First Congregational Church of Woodbury.

HORACE HURD.

Among the inhabitants of Meriden, Conn., who went

to Stratford, John Hurd went so early as to represent

the town in 1649. His brother, Adam, was residing

there at the same time. Both married and had chil-

dren, each a son named John. From this has arisen

some trouble to genealogists, as the greatest pains has

to be taken in order not to confound the two Johns.

John Hurd, son of Adam, came to Woodbury in its

pioneer days, and the family has been an industrious,

honorable, and respected one in Woodbury from that

day to this. Those who desire to trace the long line

of lineage with its numerous ramifications, will find
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the work well done in Cothren's " History of Ancient

Woodbury."

Isaiah Hurd was probably born in Woodbury

before the Eevolution, and grew up, married, and

lived there till about 1805. He married Eunice,

daughter of Seth Minor, of Woodbury, in 1794-95,

and had children born in Woodbury, as follows:

Gideon, Marcus, Horace, Burr, and Diah. He then

moved to the " Hurd Settlement," Bethel, N. Y.,

and passed the rest of his life in that State. There

his son Seth and a daughter, who died in infancy,

were born. Mr. Hurd was a hard-working farmer all

of his days, and died about 1850.

Horace Hurd was born in Woodbury, March 15,

1801. He went to New York with his father when

but a mere child, and remained until he became of

age. He then came to Woodbury and resided with

an uncle—Seth Minor—for several years. He mar-

ried Koxa, daughter of Wait and Susan Minor, of

Woodbury, and commenced housekeeping. Already

his industry and economy had given him a small cap-

ital, and he purchased a farm of about sixty acres, on

which he erected a house the next year after marriage.

To this farm he added by purchase about one hun-

dred acres more. Mrs. Hurd died Oct. 3, 1863. Of
their children, only their oldest—Marcus A.—lived to

grow up. He married Eunice Warner, of Woodbury,

and resides on the place first purchased by liis father,

who, about 1852, removed to the pleasant home he

now occupies, which formerly belonged to Seth Minor,

his uncle, and which he had purchased some time

previously.

Mr. Hurd has been all his life a hard-working,

practical farmer, and is in all respects a true repre-

sentative of that class. His fields, his plowing, his

sowing, all were models, which others would have

done well to imitate. He has never sought office, and,

although often solicited to do so, has steadily refused.

He is justly considered one of Woodbury's estimable

citizens. He united with the "South Cliurcli" in

1836, and has held his membership from that date.

He is a man of positive convictions, and, having once

formed a course of action, is slow to cliange. For ex-

ample, when a youth ofthirteen, lie took a stand against

li(luor and tobacco, and has never indulged in the use

of either during his long life, even abstaining from

cider that had fermented, and he says his health has

been as good, and, in fact, better than those who have

used these articles. Mr. Hurd is a Republican in

politics, and was an "Old-Line Whig" in former days.

He was married. May 14, 1856, to Mrs. Clarinda

Barnes, daughter of Pliiio and Grace (Nichols) Tou-

sey, of Newtown, Conn. She was born in Perrington,

N. Y.

GEORGE B. LEWIS.

George B. Lewis, second son and third child of

Abijah and Sally (Fairchild) Lewis, was born in

Roxbury, Conn., Dec. .'i, 1820. His grandfather,

John Lewis, emigrated from Stratford to Roxbury in

the latter part of the last century, and located there

permanently as a farmer. He died in Roxbury, leav-

ing a large family of children. Abijah Lewis was

the oldest son of John Lewis, and was born prior to

the Revolution. He became a farmer also, passed

his life in Roxbury, living to a hale old age, and

dying about 1852, at the age of eighty-one. His chil-

dren were three girls and two boys.

George B. Lewis spent his early years at home,

but, when about ten years of age, went to work for

farmers in the neighborhood, and from that time

returned only at intervals to his father's. When
about sixteen he came to Woodbury, and served" an

apprenticeship at the tinning business with Tuttle

Dayton. And right here we will make a singular

statement in these days of workmen of unsettled and

roving disposition and habit. Mr. Lewis, after his

apprenticeship, worked at his trade for a time for

Mr. Dayton, and, after his death, purchased his in-

terest and continued the business. For thirty-five

years he continued in the same trade and occupied

the same buildings. He was ever thorough in his

business, careful, economical, and a good investor of

funds. He is frank, social, and pleasant in his inter-

course with others, and his relations with his fellow-

townsmen have ever been agreeable. His business

qualities have been appreciated by them, and he has

been chosen to administer many estates. He has

been first selectman for five years, and has repre-

sented Woodbury in the State Legislature. He has

been president of Woodbury Savings Bank from its

incorporation. His industry and attention to business

have brought him a fine property and enabled him

to retire from active life in 1871. He has a beau-

tiful home in Woodbury, where he has resided since

he closed his business. He has traveled much, visit-

ing nearly every State in the United States. He is a

Reiiublican in politics, and has been one from the

organization of the party. He married. May 19,

1848, Miss Charlotte L., daughter of Capt. Judson

and Charlotte (Leavenworth) Hurd, also of Roxbury.

His success is a lesson to every young man, showing

what steadiness, industry, and proper attention to

business will accomi)lish for anyone under our Amer-

ican institutions and laws.

DR. HARMON W. 8H0VE.

The "Shove" family has long had a place in the

annals of Connecticut. Rev. Seth Shove, the great-

grandfather of Dr. Shove, was the first settled pastor

of the First Congregational Church in Danbury. His

sons, Seth and Levi, came to Warren shortly after

marriage, and settled permanently there as farmers.

They both reared large families, and were reputable

citizens. The only son of Seth was Cyrus. Ho mar-

ried Saloma Young, by whom he had seven children.
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He was always a farmer, and died, much respected,

when comjiaratively a young man. His son, Har-

mon W., was born in Warren, Litchfield Co., Conn.,

July 30, 1823. He remained at home until he was

fifteen years old, and then for three years attended

Howard's Academy, in Warren, after which he went

to New Jersey, and taught school for four years. He
then taught two years in New York and two in Con-

necticut. About 1849 he, commenced the study of

medicine at Litchfield, in the ofiice of Drs. Beckwith

and Seymour. He attended one course of lectures at

Yale Medical College, and two at the College of

Physicans and Surgeons in New York, and was gradu-

ated at Yale in the spring of 1852. For two years,

while pursuing his studies, he held the appointment

of surgeon's steward in the United States navy. This

was, both in experience and pecuniarily, of great as-

sistance to the young student. Immediately after

graduation. Dr. Shove removed to Woodbury, where he

has since resided. For the past twenty-eight years he

has steadily devoted himself to his profession, work- i

ing hard and never relaxing his student habits, but

keeping pace with all medical progress, and availing

himself of all the improvements and advancement of

the healing art, at the same time gathering rich ex-

perience from an extended practice, and his long and
successful labors have been productive of a handsome

competency. He is a member of the Litchfield County

Medical Society, Connecticut State Medical Society,

and the American Medical Association, and has been

examiner for pensions since 1861.

Dr. Shove is a careful, deliberate man, of fine phy-

sique, pleasing in personal appearance, and with a

fund of quiet humor which makes his conversation

entertaining. He has never received any assistance

from any one but himself, and is a good example of

what may be accomplished by steady application,

self-denial, and patient resolution. In politics he

has been a Republican from 1856.

Dr. Shove married, July 30, 1861, Susan J., daugh-

ter of Thomas and Susan (Sherman) Bull, of an old

and honorable Woodbury family.



SUPPLEMENT.
The following additions were received too late for

Insertion in the body of this work

:

JOSEPH BATTELL.

Joseph Battell was born in Milford, Conn., July 21,

1774. He was the second of twelve children of Wil-

liam and Sarah (Buckingham) Battell, of whom five

sons and five daughters lived to adult life. He was

of the fifth generation in descent from Thomas Bat-

telle, who became a townsman of Dedham, Mass., in

1648, and in the same year married Mary Fisher,

daughter of Joshua Fisher, of Dedham. This Thomas
Battelle spelled his name as here written. The name,

with different spellings, is an old one in England,

and from the prevailing forms would seem to have

been of Norman origin.

William Battell, the father of Joseph Battell, re-

moved from Milford to Woodbury, and soon again

to Torringford, while the son was yet a lad. At the

age of eighteen the son commenced business for him-

self in Norfolk, upon a small capital furnished by his

father, which was afterwards refunded. Here he

passed the remainder of his life, for forty-six years of

which he was actively engage3 in mercantile business.

The following extract from a sermon delivered at

Norfolk the Sabbath after New Year, 1842, is be-

lieved to be a just estimate of the character of Mr.

Battell

:

"The character of his intellect was elevated, com-
bining qualities which we do not often meet ; he had
comprehension of mind to embrace the largest sub-

ject, and at the same time did not overlook the details

of any matter. His mind was wonderfully active,

and capable of great and long-continued effort with-

out any signs of exhaustion or weariness. In the

most active and busy period of his life, when his cares

would have seemed sufficient to overwhelm and crusli

a mind of ordinary vigor, so far was he from being

oppressed or overburdened that at that very period ho
was a great general reader. Most of the books of his

large and select library were purchased during those

years, and were read, too. Standard authors in lit-

erature, history, morals, and religion were perused

amid the intervals of business. His tjiste was just

;

his criticism ujwn authors and intellectual perform-

ances indicated nice discriminntioii, a full apprecia-

tion, and high enjoyment of whatever jjossessed lit-

erary merit. He was a friend of education, and a lib-

eral patron of literary institutions in different parts

of our land.

" Of his business character I will not .say much

:

most of you have had opportunity to judge for your-

selves. His plans were characterized by enterprise,

by sagacity, and by caution. But he was not a mere

schemer. He was, beyond any man I ever knew, dili-

gent and persevering in the execution of his plans.

Without any parade of method, he attended to every

matter in its season, and never left anything to which

he put his hand till he had seen it through and fin-

ished, then, the very next moment, he was ready to

turn to anything else that might arise. Tliis habit of

doing things in the proper season, of carrying through

matters undertaken, was, I imagine, one great secret

of his success. His business never became confused,

nothing was overlooked. He was ever ready to attend

to any person who called, or to any subject that might

be presented, thus everything was kept in order. His

natural disposition was uncommonly amiable, and

thus business never perplexed or fretted him. On this

account he was always in good humor, and ready to

attend to your concerns.

" Need I add that, as a merchant and a man of

business, he was scrupulously honest. His integrity

was i)erfect. Those who knew him best, who had

most dealings with him, and the best opportunities to

understand his princi|)les, were most implicit in their

confidence ; indeed, many considered him fastidious

on this point.

" In speaking of him in relation to business, I

ought to add that his own affairs, extensive and

various a.s they were, constituted but a small part of

that which received his attention. How many went

to him for advice? and he must draw their contracts,

and adjust the whole matter for them.
" With what interest would he enter into your

affairs I how disinterested his counsel, how prompt

in rendering you his personal assistance! He was

guardian for many an orphan, treasurer of various

corporations ; and how easily he seemed to sustain

these burdens, how cheerful and pleasant and social

!

" In his character as a citizen he was public-spirited

and liberal. He was an intelligent and interested

observer of public affairs, both in our own land and

in the world. His circle of ac(|naint;ince and friends

was as wide as that of any nuin I have known who
was not in public life, yet he felt a special regard

for this place. Here he had spent the greater part of

his life, transacted a vast amount of business, made

his property, enjoyed much happiness, formed many
728
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intimate friendships ; here lie expected to be buried.

I have never known him give a stronger manifestation

of injured feeling than wlien any one spoke dispar-

agingly of this place or its population.

" He rejoiced in your prosperity, was always grati-

fied in the well-doing of your children who live else-

where, and is it too much to say that he himself con-

tributed much to the prosperity of this town during

the half-century lie has been here?
" In declaring that he did I only repeat what has

been frequently said to me by those among you. Cer-

tainly everything of a public nature received his most

cordial and liberal support; it was expected by every

one, and he seldom disappointed such expectation.
" This leads me to speak of his charities. I will

but just allude to them. I think those bestowed

in private far exceeded in amount his public dona-

tions. For some years I have been in a situation to

know something in regard to these matters, and am cer-

tain that his lieart was full of compassion for the poor

and distressed ; that he thought of them, and provided

for their relief when they were forgotten by others.

A single remark now on this point : his charities

arose, not from indifference to the value of property,

—

he appreciated it according to its worth,—but benevo-

lence overcame his desire to retain it. He was a

thoughtful, a judicious, a considerate benefactor."

Mr. Battell married, July 24, 1805, Sarah Robbins,

daughter of Rev. Ammi R. and Elizabeth (Le Baron)

Robbins. There were nine children of this marriage,

four sons and five daughters, who lived to adult age.

Mr. Battell died Nov. 30, 1841, aged sixty-seven

years.

THE COE FAMILY.

The Coe family came to this country from Suffolk-

shire, England, where they had resided for many
generations. The earliest notice of them which can

.

now be found is in Fox's " Book of Martyrs," which

speaks of Roger Coe, of Milford, Suffolkshire, in

1.555. Little is known respecting the family till the

removal of Robert Coe to this country. In the au-

thentic family record he belongs to the first genera-

tion.

Robert Coe* was born in Suffolkshire, England, in

1596. With his wife, Anna, born in 1591, and their

three sons, he sailed from Ipswich in the ship " Fran-

cis," John Culling, master, April 10, 1634. They
reached Boston in the following June, only six years

from the date of the first settlement in the Massachu-

setts colony. Robert Coe settled with his family in

Watertown, near Boston, and was made a freeman

* " In Fox's ' Book of Martyrs' the orthography is Coo ; in the records

of tlie custom-house in Westminster Hall, London, tlie name is written

Cooe; in many of the early records of New England it is Co. The old-

est original signature whicli I have found is in the town records of Ja-

maica, L. I., and is written Feb. 14, 1663. The name is Robert Coe ; but

a signature written March, 1663, is Robert Co."—From a " Record of the

Coe Family,"' by Rev. David B. Coe.

there Sept. 3, 1634. In 1635 or '36 he removed to

Wethersfield, Conn.

Oct. 30, 1640, Mr. Andrew Ward and Mr. Robert

Coe, in behalf of themselves and about twenty other

planters, purchased Rippowams (Stamford) of New
Haven colony for thirty-three pounds, and com-
menced a settlement there. At the General Court in

New Haven, April 5, 1643, a court having the same
powers as that at New Haven was established at

Stamford, and Robert Coe was appointed one of the

assistant judges.

In the spring of 1644, Robert Coe and several others

formed the first English settlement at Hempstead,
L. I. In 1652 he removed to a place called Westport,

and aided in establishing a settlement, which was
named Middleburg (now Newtown, L. I.). He was a

magistrate during his whole residence there, and took

a leading part in all the affairs of the town.

Early in 1656 he, with several others, commenced
a settlement in Jamaica. The first town-meeting was
held February 18th, when a house-lot was given to

Robert Coe, and another to his son, Benjamin Coe.

He continued to be one of the most active and prom-

inent men in public affairs till about 1672, at which
time he was seventy-six years old. The time of his

death is not known.

SECOND GENERATION.

Robert' and Anna had three children, viz., John^,

Robert^, and Benjamin^. Robert^ was born in Eng-
land in 1627, and accompanied his father to Water-

town, Wethersfield, and Stamford. He removed

thence to Stratford, Conn., married Hannah
,

and died in 1659, aged thirty-two.

THIRD GENERATION.

Robert' and Hannah had one child, viz., John",

born May 10, 1658, spent his early life in New
Haven, returned to Stratford in 1680, married Mary
Hawley, December 20, 1682, and died April 19, 1741,

aged seventy-eight, leaving ten children, viz. :

FOURTH GENERATION.

Robert*, born Sept. 21, 1684 ; Joseph-*, born Feb. 2,

1686 ; Hannah*, born April 14, 1689 ; Mary*, born Aug.

11, 1691 ; John*, born Dec. 5, 1693 ; Sarah*, born

March 26, 1696 ; Ephraim*, born Dec. 18, 1698 ; Kath-

arine*, born Sept. 23, 1700 ; Abigail*, born March 11,

1702 ; Ebenezer*, born Aug. 18, 1704.t

Robert*, son of John and Mary (Hawley) Coe, mar-

ried Barbara Parmele, and settled in Durham, and

afterwards in Middlefield, Conn. He was commis-

sioned as ensign in train-band in 1718. His wife,

Barbara, died in Bristol, Sept. 26, 1774, in her eighty-

sixth year. Children

:

FIFTH GENERATION.

John's, ^,Qj.n in 1710 ; Martha', born March 21, 1713;

Ebenezer^, born Aug. 21, 1715; Mary^, born April

f The above record is taken from "Record of the Coe Family," by Rev.

David B. Coe.
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11, 1717; Robert", born June 11, 1719, died young;

Hannah', baptized April, 1721 ; Robert^ (2d), baptized

June, 1723 ; Thomas", born May 18, 1727 ;
Reuben",

baptized Dec. 22, 1728 ; William", baptized June 7,

1730 ; Rachel", baptized Oct. 22, 1732.

Thomas'', son of Robert* and Barbara (Parmele) Coe,

married Mary , and .settled in Litchfield, Conn.

;

died Feb. 23, 1810, in the eighty-third year of his

age. His wife, Mary, died Sept. 10, 1812, aged

eighty-flve years. Children :

SIXTH GENERATION.

Zachariah", baptized Dec. 11, 1757; Abigail", bap-

tized Jan. 15, 1759 ; Levi", born July 3, 1760 ; Lois",

baptized June 6, 1762; Mary", baptized June 23, 1765;

Eunice", baptized Aug. 31, 1766 ; Thomas", Jr., Sept.

11, 1768.

Levi", son of Thomas* and Mary Coe, married De-

borah McCall, of Lebanon, Conn., Sept. 8, 1789. He
purchased the homestead in Litchfield in 1785, which

is still in po.ssession of his son Levi'. Levi" Coe died

Feb. 28, 1832, aged seventy-one years. His wife,

Deborah, died April 29, 1843, aged seventy-three

years. Children

:

SEVENTH GENERATION.

Dyer', born June 2, 1794 ; Ira', born April 9, 1796

;

Walter', born Feb. 10, 1798 ; Emeline', born Feb. 2,

1801; William', born Nov. 28, 1802; Elizabeth', born

Jan. 18, 1805 ; Olive' M. W., born Oct. 29, 18f»6 ; Levi',

Jr., born Sept. 14, 1810; Maria' D., born July 10,1812;

Thomas' M., born Jan. 4, 1815.

Levi', son of Levi" and Deborah (McCall) Coe, mar-

ried, May 22, 1838, Lavinia, daughter of Samuel and

Lavinia (Judson) McNiel, of Litchfield, born Sept. 30,

181.5. Children:

EIGHTH GENERATION.

Dwight" M., born March 6, 1840, died Dec. 3, 18()3;

Frederick" L., born Sept. 20, 1842, married Sarah C.

(born Jan. 1, 1851), daughter of William Norton, of

Litchfield, Dec. 8, 1875. Children:

Stanley" L., born Sept. 3, 1876 ; Philip" F., born

Nov. 20, 1878.

Franci.s" M., born Jan. 22, 1852, married, March 18,

1880, Marion I. Piatt (born Oct. 10, 1852), daughter

of Sherman Piatt, of Marbledale, Conn.

Levi' Coe and his family are all members of the

Congregational Church, Litchfield.

REV. RUFUS BAI5C0CK, D.D.

The Rev. Rufus Babcock, D.D., a native of Cole-

brook, Litchfield Co., (Jonn., was one of the most

))r()miiient and learned men who have been l)orn in

the town of Colebrook, Conn. His father. Elder

Rufus Babcock, was the founder and first pastor of

the Colebrook Baptist Church. He was born in

North Stonington, Conn., .\pril 22, 1758, and was of

the eighth generation from .Tame.s Bal)Cock, of E.s.sex,

England. As a Puritan, Junies Uubcock migrated to

Leyden, Holland, and thence went to Plymouth col-

ony, Mass., where he arrived in June, 1623. Elder

Rufus Babcock was ordained at Colebrook in 1794,

and was the first minister of any denomination in the

town. He continued to serve the Baptist Church at

Colebrook as its pastor until be was seventy-three

years of age, with good success, maintaining his fam-

ily by carrying on the business of a farmer. In the

same way he was enabled to give a liberal education

to his two younger sons, Cyrus G. and Rufus, at Brown

University, Providence, R. I. After resigning as pas-

. tor he continued to nurse the church with fatherly

care, and gave to it a parsonage. Without any great

advantages of early culture, without fluency of speech,

or any of the graces of oratory, Elder Babcock had

such native soundness and vigor of mind, coupled

with good sense and indefatigable industry, that he

was highly and deservedly esteemed, not only in his

own community, but by learned and intelligent min-

isters of other denominations.

During the Revolutionary war he was twice called

out as a .soldier, and served in Capt. Timothy Moses'

company. Elder Babcock was twice married, but

left issue only by his first wife, who was a daughter

of Capt. Moses, all being sons, named, respectively,

Timothy, Cyrus Giles, and Rufus. He died Nov. 4,

1842, aged ne.irly eighty-five years. His youngest

son, Rufus, in writing of him, describes him as being

"one of the best of fathers."

Rufus Babcock, Jr., was born in North Colebrook,

Conn., Sept. 19, 1798, and passed his early years on

his father's form, wliere he formed habits of indus-

try which never forsook him as long as life lasted.

Having obtained such rudiments of education as a

country tosvn atfordeil, he was sent to Brown Uni-

versity, then the only Baptist college in America,

where he devoted himself with untiring energy to

study, and from which he was graduated in 1821. As

was the custom in those days with students in the

various colleges, young Babcock devoted his vaca-

tions to teaching, and took charge of a school in the

town of Barrington, R. L, on the shores of the beau-

tiful Narragansett Bay, where in after-years he was

accustomed to spend many weeks each year, amidst

the friends whose aciiuaintance he had formed in

early life. While at college, by his consistent dc-

[mrtment and steady habits, he made many warm

friends, and among them was Nicholas Brown, whose

friendship continued until death severed the ties

which bound them together.

The natural ability of the young .student soon at-

tracted the attention of distinguished men in the Bap-

tist denomination, and before his class had graduated

he was offered a tutorship in Columbian College (now

Columbian University), a Baptist college, which had

then been chartered by Congress, in the District

of Columbia, under the special auspices of the cele-

l)rale<l Luther Rice. It was in 1815 that he united

with the Baptist Church at Colebrook, and, having
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been licensed to preach, he spent several months
after his graduation, in 1815, in supplying churches

in Massachusetts and Connecticut.

In 1821 he went to Washington City, and assumed
the position of tutor in the college of which the Rev.
William Staughton, D.D., was president. He re-

mained here until 1823, when he resigned to take

charge of the Baptist Church at Poughkeepsie, N. Y.,

where he was ordained, and the same year was mar-
ried to Miss Olivia Bicknell Smith, daughter of Na-
thaniel Wait Smith, of Barrington, R. I. It was
while here that he formed his habits of personal

visitation among his flock as pastor, and devoted

himself to his studies, which soon placed him among
the best preachers of his denomination. While at-

tending one of the large conventions of his church
he met with Dr. Lucius BoUes, of Salem, Mass., who,
although pastor of the flourishing church at that

place, was likewise engaged as corresponding secre-

tary of the Baptist Triennial Convention, now known
as the American Baptist Missionary Union. Such
was the impression created by Mr. Babcock that he
was invited by Dr. Bolles to become his associate

pastor at Salem, and in 1826 he moved to that city,

and at once assumed such a position that his learning

and graces as a speaker made him prominent among
the Baptists of New England. He found here a loving,

intelligent people, and after a lapse of fifty years, refer-

ring to his settlement at Salem, he wrote of them as fol-

lows: "A happier settlement, all things considered,

I have never seen ; and I have ever since been accus-

tomed to think and speak of this as the model church."
But his fame had gone forth as a teacher and preacher,

and Waterville College, in Maine, being without a
president, he was in 1833 invited to that high and
honorable place. Accordingly, in that year he as-

sumed the duties of president of that college, and so

continued until 1836, when failing health compelled
him to resign and seek a more congenial clime. He
accordingly removed to Philadelphia, Pa., and became
pastor of the Spruce Street Baptist Church.
While at Waterville the degree of Doctor of Divin-

ity was conferred upon him by Bowdoin College, and
while at Philadelphia he was invited to the presi-

dency of the State University, at Bloomington, Ind.,

of Alton (now Shurtleft") College, Illinois, and of

Columbian College, District of Columbia, all of which
positions he declined, as he afterwards did the presi-

dency of Burlington University, Iowa. Few young
men were more sought after at this period than was
Dr. Babcock.

His subsequent pastorates were at New' Bedford,

Mass., Paterson, N. J., and again at Poughkeepsie,

N. Y., which he always regarded as his home. For
some years Dr. Babcock was president of the Amer-
ican Baptist Publication Society, and corresponding

secretary of the American and Foreign Bible Society

;

he was also interested in the Pennsylvania Coloniza-

tion Society and the American Sunday-School Union.

While at Poughkeepsie one of his most prominent
parishioners was Matthew Vassar, the founder of Vas--»

sar College, who conferred with Dr. Babcock in all

tlie initiatory steps which led to the organization of

that grand institution of learning for young women.
During all his career Dr. Babcock was a most in-

defatigable student and worker. From his early life

he wrote much for the press, and while at Pough-
keepsie projected, and for five years edited, the

Baptist Memorial, which soon acquired great popu-
larity. When Dr. Sprague began his great work,
" The American Pulpit," and was gathering materials

for his sixth volume, containing sketches of Baptist

ministers, he secured the aid of Dr. Babcock, to whom,
in his preface, he offered his best thanks, and said

that to him the public were indebted for no .small

degree of the interest that pertains to that department

of his work. He was likewise a frequent contributor

to the Christian i^evteai of extended articles, as well as

literary notices, and he wrote much for the various

Baptist newspapers. His published works are "Claim
of Education Societies," 1829; "Review of Beck-

with's 'Dissuasive from Controversy on Baptism,'"

1829; "Making Light of Christ," 1830; "Life of

George Leonard," 1832; "Abraham Booth and Isaac

Backus;" "History of Waterville College," 1836;

"Tales of Truth for the Young," 1837; "Adoniram
Judson, D.D.," 1851; "Personal Recollections of

John M. Peck, D.D.," 1858; and "The Emigrant's

Mother," 1859. Dr. Babcock's attachment to his

birthplace, and his love for the church of which his

father was the founder, were remarkable. Towards

the close of his life, when he had withdrawn from the

duties of the pastorate and was living at Poughkeep-

sie, surrounded by a loving circle of friends, and in

the midst of an attached family, having heard that

the little church was without a pastor, he separated

himself from all home comforts, andjourneyed to Cole-

brook. There, even in the winter, he remained for

many months, and ministered to the little flock, trying

to infuse new life and energy into the church. While

thus laboring he was cheered by the hearty support

of his warm and devoted friend. Gen. E. A. Phelps,

who had been his playmate, though several years his

junior, in "days lang syne," and who still survives,

and often speaks of his friend, Rufus Babcock.

As already stated. Dr. Babcock was devoted to lit-

erary pursuits, and his ability as a scholar was recog-

nized by those with whom he was associated in the

various benevolent and educational organizations of

his church. For nearly half a century he was a

trustee of Brown University,—his Alma Mater,—and

he was one of the original trustees of Vassar College,

Poughkeepsie, N. Y. Dr. Babcock died at Salem,

Mass., on the 4th day of May, 1875, in the seventy-

seventh year of his age. He had gone there appa-

rently in excellent health, and on the last Sunday of

April preached twice, his last sermon being delivered

at the First Baptist Church, of which he had once
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been the pastor. His text was from Mark vii. 37:

" He hath done all things well." The effort was too

much for him, and he was attacked with typhoid

pneumonia, and died after a brief illness. His re-

mains were taken to Poughkeepsie, N. Y., and interred

in the beautiful cemetery near that city. The esti-

mate of his character has been truthfully portrayed

by the Rev. Dr. F. B. Wheeler, pastor of the Pough-

keepsie Presbyterian Church, in the following words

:

" Affectionate and sunny in his disposition, all were

won to him ; courteous and gentlemanly in his bearing,

all respected him; a man of warm Christian spirit, all

revered him. His memory is precious in many hearts.

He was pre-eminently a peacemaker, always ready

to conciliate and turn away wrath. In all the inter-

course of life he was kind and true, a friend upon

whom one could always rely. As a preacher he has

been a po.sitive power in his denomination, persuasive

in oratory, and thoroughly evangelical in his doctrine.

While he was warmly attached to the principles and

faith of the Baptist Church, there was no narrowness

in his spirit, but a catholicity of feeling and action

that was delightfully refreshing to all with whom he

came in contact. Honored by his brethren and his

church, he has entered into rest, like a shock of corn

fully ripe into the garner."

Dr. Babcock left but two children to survive him,

viz., Caroline Vassar Babcock Jones, wife of Horatio

Gates Jones, Esq., of Philadelphia, a member of the

bar, and a senator in the Pennsylvania Legislature
;

the other, Harriet Shepherd Weeks, wife of James
H. Weeks, Esq., a member of the Poughkeepsie bar,

in Dutchess Co., N. Y.

UNITED STATES SENATORS ELECTED FROM LITCH-
FIELD COUNTY.

First choBOQ. No. years.
Uriah Tracy, Litchfield 1790 11
Elijiih Dciiinlnian, NewMilford 1821*
Perrv Sinilli, Ntw Jlilford 1836 6
TruMuui Siuith, Litchfield 1849 6

MEMBERS OF CONGRESS ELECTED FROM LITCH-
FIELD COUNTY.

Fii-Kt choBOD. No. yeare.
Uriah Tincy, Litchflold 1793 3
NAtliHiiifl Smith, \Vu(nlhnry 170.5 4
John AUiii, Utchfiolil 1797 2
John Oiiton Smith. Sharon 1800 6
BeltjaniinTullmadgo, LitchHeld 1801 15
Uriel IK.lrnw, Litclifleld 1817 1

Ansel Stoiling, Sharon 1821 4
Orange Mcirwin, New Mlirord 182S 4
Jabez W. Huntington, Lilchtlcld 1829 S
Phlneas Miner, Litchfield 18.34 1

Lancelot I'helps, Colehroolt 1835 4
Truman Sndth, Litchfield 1839 8
Origun S. Seymour, Litchfield 1R51 4
William W. Welch, Norfolk 1866 2
OeorneC Wnodrufl, LItclilleld 1801 2
John II llul.l.ard, Lltihfield 1803 4
William II. llurnum, .Sallabury 1867 10
Kroderlik Miles, Salisbury 1879 4

SOLDIERS' MONUMENT, LITCHFIELD.
The matter of erecting a monument to the mem-

ory of the patriot dead of Litclifield who fell during

the war of 1861-6.5 was undertaken by the ladies

of the town in 1868, and a committee, consisting of

Mrs. L. W. Wessells, Mrs. Kufus Smith, Mrs. H. D.

Kilborn, Mrs. E. E. Wadhams, Mrs. H. E. Coit, and

Mrs. C. Hinsdale, were appointed to attempt raising

the necessary funds. This was done by individual

subscriptions of one dollar, and the balance by means

of fairs and entertainments of various kinds, and was

placed in the East Park, in the centre of the village, in

June, 1871. It was made by H. F. & G. E. Bissell,

of Poughkeepsie, N. Y., and cost something more

than two thousand dollars.

It is of white marble, about twenty feet high, and

of fine workmanship.

Three sides of the base contain the names of those

who were killed in action or died in service, and the

fourth represents very handsomely a cavalryman and

infantryman, with cannon, muskets, flags, etc., and the

column is inscribed with the various battles in which

the soldiers were engaged.

The following are the inscriptions :t

On the west

:

EOLL OF HONOR.

KILLED IN ACTION.

Cold Harbor, Va., June 1, 1864.

Luman Wadhams, Capt., Co. A, 2d C. V. H. A.

Joseph Parks, Firet Sergt.

Albert E. Jones, Corp.

George W. Potter.

Charles Adams, Jr.

Apollos Morse.

Robert Watt.

Lyman J. Smith, Jr.

Aniirew J. Brooker.

John inland.

Patrick Ryan.

Altuon J. Bradley.

WiUard H. Paruuilee.

Joseph E. Camp, C^. K.

North Anna, Va., Man 26, 1864.

Henry W. Wadhams, Lieut., Co. C, 14th C. V. I.

Ptlvnhurg, Va.

George B. Hoinpstcd, Lt, Co. B, 2d C. V. H. A., June 22, 1864

E. Goodwin Osborn, Sergt., 2d C. V. II. A., March 25, 1805.

Fort Harruon, I'n.

Thos. McKinloy, Lieut, Co. D, 29tli C. V. I., Juno 3, 1865.

Seth Plumb, iBt Sergt., Co. E, 8th C. V. I., Sept. 29, 18M.

On the north

:

ROLL or HONOK.

KILLEO IN ACTION.

rUhtr't urn, Va., Htfl, 22, 1864.

DaTid D. Wooater, Q. M.-Sergt., 2d C. V. II. A.

ChaiiceUomittt, Va.

Walter Hale, Co. C, 20th C. V. I., May 3, 18S3.

Wiiu-haltT, Va., Sept. 19, 1864.

William 8. Bulkley, Lieut., Co. A, 12th C. V. I.

Horace Hubbard, Co. H, 2d C. V. II. A.

Hiram T. Cooley, Co. D.

Franklin Bunnell, Oo. A, Sept. 26.

' Died In office.

t The Nineteenth Connecticut Volunteer Tnfahtry and Second Con-

necticut Volunteer Heavy Artlllerj- are the same, the Nineteenth being

tranaromied into the Second Connecticut Volunteer UeaTy Artillery.
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Fori Darling, Va., May 16, 1864.

Edward Wiidhams, Ist Sergt., 8th C. V. I.

AntieUitn, Md., Sept. 17, 1862.

George Booth, Corp., Co. E, 8tli C. V. I.

Morton W. Castle, Co. C.

Thomas Mason, Co. E.

DIED.

AUxandriit, Va.

Frederick B. Webster, Corp., Co. D, 19tli C. V.'I., Nov. 5, 1862.

Watson Parmalee, Co. A, Nov, 11, 1802.

Albert P. Newberry, Co. A, April 18, 1863.

Henry W. Minor, Co. A, Feb. 14, 1803.

Edwin F. Perkins, Co. A, 2d C. V. H. A., Aug. 25, 1864.

David M. Candee, Andersonville.

On the east side :

DIED.

Barwinton, Conn., Oct. 12, 1803.
'

Norman L. Barber, Co. A, 19th C. V. I.

Hatlerat Inlet, Jan. 30, 1862.

Francis Barber, Co. E, 8th C. V. I.

Neiiihem,

Ueorge W. Baldwin, Co. E, 8lh C. V. I., March 22, 1862.

Francis A. Newcomb, Co. E, 8th C. V. 1., May 14, 1802.

Sylvanns M. Clark, Co. E, 8th C. V. I., March 14, 1802.

Georgetown, D. C,

John Tompkins, Co. E, 8th C. V. I., Sept. 7, 1862.

Jerome Nichols, Co. E, 8th C. V. I., Oct. 17, 1803.

Charles L. Castle, Co. C, 8th C. V. I., Aug. 4, 1804.

New Orleaiw, La,

Kufus M. Bissell, Co. F, 12tli C. V. I., Aug. 31, 1862.

Charles Catlin, Co. I, 13th C. V. I., Sept. 2, 1863.

Enos Tompkins, Co. A, Ist C. V. C, July 16, 1802.

James B. Beach, Corp., Co. K, 23d C. V. I., Aug. 22, 1863.

Hunter^e Clixipel, Va.

Elliot Barse, Co. E, 4th N. Y. C, Jan. 9, 1862.

Beaufort.

Luman Lampman, Co. I, SOtli C. V. I., Aug. 21, 1864.

Bermuda Hundred.

Thomas Dickinson, Co. D, 30th C. V. I., Aug. 22, 1864.

.4i7i:en's Landing,

James Edwards, 30th C. V. I., March 4, 1865.

BrownsciUe, Texas.

Henry H. Bunnell, Sergt,, Co. A, 29th C, V. I.

The following were also killed, but their names do
not appear on the monument:

Capt. Luman Wadhams, killed June 1, 1864.

Lieut. Henry W. Wadhams, killed May 26, 1864.

First Sergt. Edward Wadhams, killed May 16, 1864.

The above were brothers, sons of a widow, and fine

soldiers.

METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH, CORNWALL.

Methodism in New England was founded, under
God, by the bold evangelist, Jesse Lee, in the year

1789, he being the first preacher appointed to the

State of Connecticut by the New York Conference of

that year. He arrived at Norwalk on the 11th day of

June, 1789, and preached his first sermon on the 17th

of that month, by the roadside, under the shade of an
apple-tree, to about twenty hearers, from John iii. 7

:

" Ye must be born again."
" Litchfield Circuit was founded about the begin-

ning of the year 1790, and comprehended all the

northwestern portion of Connecticut," says Stephens'
" History of Methodism," " and Samuel Wigton and
Henry Christie were the first preachers appointed by
the Conference to travel this circi it, during the eccle-

siastical year of 1790-91. Cornwall was for many
years embraced within its boundaries."

So far as we have any authentic information, the

first Methodist sermon preached in Cornwall was by
Freeborn Garrettson, who " entered the northwestern

angle of Connecticut at Sharon, on the 20th of June,

1790," and on the 22d, "after riding fifteen miUs,
preached in a Presbyterian meeting-house to some
hundreds" from " If the righteous scarcely be saved,

where shall the ungodly and sinners appear?" The
meeting-house referred to was undoubtedly the one

which stood on the ground now occupied by the school-

house at Corwall Centre. He preached again in Corn-

wall on Saturday, July 24, 1790, and found, he says,

"that the Lord had begun a blessed work in this

town." These were among the first of the sowing of

the seeds of Methodism in Cornwall.

It is said, on good authority, that Edward Eogers,

Esq., one of the leading spirits of his ige, and i man
greatly respected, invited the first Met'iodist rr> lister

to preach here, because he preached " a full salvi Jon,"

in opposition to the strong Calvinistic doctrines so

universally preached at that time, and which were re-

pulsive to the Rogerses. His wife and two daughters

be(^me ardent Methodists; one of thsm, Elizabeth

W., married Henry Christie, one of the first preachers

that traveled the circuit, who afterwards located and

lived in Cornwall more than twenty years, much of

the time at the place now occupied by William W.
Baldwin, where he continued to assis liis " itinerant

brethren" as a faithful local jireacht , sharing' their

trials.

It is related of him " that he was summoned early

one morning, before he was out of his 'ed, with a writ

by a sheriff for marrying a couple and was saved

from a lodgment in jail only by the iinely bail of a.

Christian brother." He removed tr Ohio in 1817,

" where he continued to preach witl increased fre-

quency." His health now gave way, and in 1826 he

sank into the repose of the grave, joy il in the hope

of the first resurrection. On his d -ath-bed, being

asked how he was, he replied, " I am r ear my Father's

house."

It is recorded of him " that his last hours were full

of special con.solations and triumjdis." Another

daughter of Edward Rogers, Lucreti.-i, married John

Ward, whose son, John R. Ward, li' ed in Salisbury,

Conn., recently deceased, and was si well kn< wn as

a prominent man in the town, and in the Methodist

Church, of which he was an exemplary membi •.

"The apostolic bishop of Methodism, Fran 'is As-

bury, entered Connecticut on the 4th of .lune, '91,

—

a man whose ministerial labors have scarcel' been

paralleled since the days of St. Paul."

On the 23d day of July, 1791, this great evangelist
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" traveled by a rocky, mountainous way to Cornwall,

and preached to about one hundred and fifty hearers."

He tarried in the place over the night ; tradition says

that he was entertained at the home of Capt. John
Peck.

The nucleus of a society thus founded was soon

strengthened by the immigration to this place of Capt.

John Peck, " who was the first man to join the class

founded by the Rev. Jesse Lee in Stratford, Conn. He
purchased the farm, and lived on the place now
owned by the heirs of B. P. Johnson, at Cornwall

Centre. In 1793 his house was opened for preaching,

and uutil his removal to the West continued to be

the place of meetings, aud the itinerants' home. In

1794 further accessions were made in Samuel Agin

Judson and family ; and in 1796 he bought the farm

now owned by M. Beers and son of Abel Thorp, and

by a residence of over fifty years he sustained by

precept and example the cause of the church. In

1798 the society was further strengthened by the arrival

of Allen Shepherd and his family. He purchased

the farm now owned by Mrs. C. Todd, and after the

removal of Capt. Peck his bouse became the place

for meeting.

Rev. Gendon Rexford, a Methodist minister, settled

on Cream Hill, in the north part of the town,, towards

the close of* the last century.

A class-paper of date " Cornwall, Feb. 23, 1805,"

records the names of Zalmou Lyon and Eben

Smith as preachers on Litchfield circuit, Henry

Christie as local deacon, Samuel A. Judson as class-

leader, and Allen Shepherd as class steward, with

thirty- one names following: Samuel A. Judson, Abiah

Judson, John Peck,' Mary Peck,* Holly Reed, Selah

Reed, George Dibble, Huldah Hartshorn, Daniel A.

Dean, Clarissa Dean, Lois Wickwire, Allen Shepherd,

Anna Shepherd, Henry Reed, Sarah A. Reed, Eliza-

beth Christie, Enos Northrop, Anna Northrop, Rusha

Lewis, Rebekah Bishop, Nancy AVright, Rebekah

Shepherd, Lucina Bishop, Jonah Dibble, John Tous-

ley, Rachel Hull, Sarah AVadsworth, Sarah Ward,

James Wadswortli, Hannah Rogert.

The land on wliich the firet Methodist Episcopal

church in Cornwall was built was given to Samuel

A. Judson, Allen Shepherd, John AVard, trustees,

and to their successors in oflice, by Edward Rogera

and Henry Christie, by deed bearing date May 4,

1808. The building now occupied as a dwelling by

Anna Kaler was soon after erected, and served as a

meeting-house for about thirty years.

In 1839 the society was reorganized, as expressed in

the following declaration of purposes- and desires:

"ConmrALL, March 19, 1839.

" AVe, the subscribers, being desirous of forming

ourselves into a legal ecclesiastical society, for the

purpose of enjoying and promoting the public wor-

ship of God, and in pursuance of a statute law of this

* Moved away.

State, do hereby unite and form a society to be known
and called 'The First Episcopal Methodist Society

in Cornwall,' with all the powers and immunities

given to religious societies by the laws of this State.

"Samuel A. Judson, John Kellogg, Holly Reed,

John'R. Harrison, Luther Miner, C. B. Crandall, Eli-

phalet H. Shepherd, Clark Marvin, Julius Beardsley,

John Bradford, Carrington Todd, John AVhitcomb."

The present church edifice was erected in 1839.

The trustees at that time were Eliphalet H. Shep-

herd, Luther Miner, Carrington Todd, Julius Beards-

ley, and Samuel A'. Judson.

The building committee were Eliphalet H. Shep-

herd, Luther Miner, Julius Beardsley, George AVhea-

ton, and John R. Harrison.

Below are given the names of some of those noble

men of God who traversed these hills and valleys to

preach the glad tidings of the gospel :

1791-92.—Mathais Swain, J^mes Cood.

1792-93.—Philip AVager, James Coleman.

1793-94.—Lemuel Smith, Daniel Ostrander.

1794-95.—Fredus Aldridge, James Cood.

1795-96.—Jesse Stoneman, Joseph Mitchel.

1796-97.—Daniel Dennis, AVesley Budd.

1797-98.- Ezekiel Canfield, William Thatcher.

1798-99.—Ebenezer. Stevens, Freeman Bishop.

1799-1800.—Augustus Joselyn, Aaron Hunt.

1800.—Elijah Batchelor.

1801.—Peter Moriarjy, John Sweet.

1802.—James Campbell, Lennan Andress.

1803.—Caleb Morris, John Sweet.

1804.—Zaimon Lyon, Eben Smith.

1805.—Zaimon Lyon.

1806.—Nathan Emery, Samuel Cochrane.

1807.—Aaron Hunt, Jonathan Lyon.

1808.—Harry Fames, Andrew Pridille.

1809.—Laban Clark, Reuben Harris.

1810.—Laban Clark.

1811.—James Coleman, Aaron Scolefield.

1812.—James Coleman, Benjamin Griffirtl

1813.—AVilliam Swayze, Gad Smith, J. Reynoldy.

Many noble men of deep piety, consecrated to the

work of the Master, and filled with the Spirit of God,

have preached their one, two, and three years in

Cornwall since Methodism became established here,

and well and nobly they have performed their self-

denying labora. They were men of more than ordi-

nary ability, and believed the calling of a Methodist

circuit-rider to be the highest on earth. Below will be

found the names of some of these men

:

P. Cook, Cyrus Culon, Nathan Emery, E. AVash-

burn, Seth Cronell, Gad Smith, Henry Hatfield, Ste-

phen L. Stillman, Samuel D. Ferguson, Ji/lius Field,

Elbert Osborn, Eli Barnett, John Lovejoy, A. Bush-

nell, Luther Mead, L. A. Sauford, Laban Clark, A.

8. , Hill, David Osborn, R. R. Reynold, Weeks M.
BIydenburg, Isaac Sanford, Wm. McAllister, S. H.

Piatt, T. C. Youngs, Henry Burton, R. 1). Kirdy,

David Nash, C. W. Powell, J. D.Bouton, S. F. John-
I
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son, Wm. H. Stebbins, Win. Brown, D. 8. Stevens,

C. S. Dikeman, F. M. Hallock, James Robinson.

Many of tbem, with tiiose to whom they preached

the word of life, have long since gone to their reward.

The deeds and incidents of their lives are to a great

extent forgotten.

George Clark came from Woodbury to Cornwall in

1800, and became identified with the first Methodist

Episcopal Church ; was an exhorter, a great Bible

reader, and very zealous in holding meetings and

other labors for Christ.

Many unassuming men and women have lived and

labored and performed their life-work as members

of the Methodist Episcopal Church at Cornwall whose

names will never appear, and whose graces will not '

be alluded to by the histoiians of earth, but they are
|

all recorded in the great record book on high.

This church has truly been a vine of the Master's

jjlanting. Its influences for good cannot be deter-

mined in time. Its children and representatives

have gone out into other and various fields of Chris-

tian duty, many of these worthily honoring them-

selves and their mother-church.

EPISCOPAL CHURCH IN NEW MILFORD.

There must have been Episcopalians in New Mil-

ford earlier, but the first allusion to them occurs in

" the record of a town-meeting in 1744, just previous to
|

the death of Mr. Boardman :
" Voted, That those of

us who are of the Church of England shall be free
j

from paying any charge for a minister for one year, if .

circumstances remain as they now are; but if in the I

providence of God our reverend pastor should be

taken away, then the said churchmen to be under

the same regulation as the rest." The Rev. James

Beach, of Newtown, visited New Mil ford occasionally

between 1740 and 1745, aiid a lay reader read service

for some time. The first Episcopal clergyman who

resided here was Rev. Solomon Palmer, who came in

1754. This society continued feeble for many years,

but under the twenty yeare' pastorate of the Rev.
Charles G. Acly it grew strong and healthy. It is

how in a flourishing condition.

THOMASTON.

There is also a Congregational Church at Beynolds-

ville, organized a few years ago, and the present pas-

tor is Rev. Mr. Sanford.

Reynolds' Bridge is a liamlet in the southeastern

part of the town. Here is located the American Knife

Company, a flourishing institution.

ST. JAMES' CHURCH, WINSTED.

The Rev. D. P. Sanford, D.D., took charge of the

parish in May, 1870, and remained nearly four years.

Rev. F. S. Jewell, Ph.D., was chosen rector in 1874,

and remained in charge nearly four years.

Rev. F. W. Harriman was his successor, and he re-

mained a little over one year, and was succeeded by

the Rev. George M. Stanley, the present rector.

JOHN H. HUBBARD, LITCHFIELD.

John H. Hubbard was twice married, first to Miss

Julia Dodge, of Salisbury, who died in 1851 (two

children of this marriage died in infancy) ; the second

time to Miss Abby J. Wells; of Litchfield, who, with

four children, still survives.

ERRATA.

Page 395, line 32, "six feet square': 'should read

" sixteen feet."

The history of Barkhamsted is copyrighted, and all

rights reserved by Capt. Henry R. Jones; and the his-

tory of New Hartford is also copyrighted, and all

rights reserved by Sarah L. Jones, 1881.
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